

Comprehensive Coordination Chemistry II

FROM BIOLOGY TO NANOTECHNOLOGY

Ion A McCleverty Thomas J Meyer

Edited by A.G. Wedd

Volume 4 Transition Metal Groups 3 - 6

Introduction to Volume 4

In the 20 years since 1982, there has been, of course, an avalanche of activity in the coordination chemistry of the early transition metals, Groups 3–6. This has been driven by further fundamental study but also by strategic work in reactivity and catalysis (including biological chemistry) and in solid state and thin film technologies.

Chapters 1–8 cover mononuclear systems, together with polynuclear species in which intermetallic bonding is not important or which have particular connections to the mononuclear systems. Highlights include the new area of metallofullerene chemistry (Chapter 1), intensive development of the aqueous chemistry of vanadium (Chapter 4) and the spectacular performance of the Group 6 elements chromium, molybdenum, and tungsten, driven by technological and biological aspects. Group 6 chemistry accounts for nearly half of the present volume, when the polynuclear systems of Chapters 9–12 are included.

Chapter 9 covers binuclear metal-metal bonded systems and acts as a link between the mononuclear species and the cluster chemistries of Chapters 10–12. The rapid evolution of the latter aspects is another highlight of development of the chemistry of Groups 4–6.

> A G Wedd Parkville, Australia April 2003



COMPREHENSIVE COORDINATION CHEMISTRY II

From Biology to Nanotechnology

Second Edition

Edited by

J.A. McCleverty, University of Bristol, UK

T.J. Meyer, Los Alamos National Laboratory, Los Alamos, USA



Description

This is the sequel of what has become a classic in the field, Comprehensive Coordination Chemistry. The first edition, CCC-I, appeared in 1987 under the editorship of Sir Geoffrey Wilkinson (Editor-in-Chief), Robert D. Gillard and Jon A. McCleverty (Executive Editors). It was intended to give a contemporary overview of the field, providing both a convenient first source of information and a vehicle to stimulate further advances in the field. The second edition, CCC-II, builds on the first and will survey developments since 1980 authoritatively and critically with a greater emphasis on current trends in biology, materials science and other areas of contemporary scientific interest. Since the 1980s, an astonishing growth and specialisation of knowledge within coordination chemistry, including the rapid development of interdisciplinary fields has made it impossible to provide a totally comprehensive review. CCC-II provides its readers with reliable and informative background information in particular areas based on key primary and secondary references. It gives a clear overview of the state-of-the-art research findings in those areas that the International Advisory Board, the Volume Editors, and the Editors-in-Chief believed to be especially important to the field. CCC-II will provide researchers at all levels of sophistication, from academia, industry and national labs, with an unparalleled depth of coverage.

Bibliographic Information

10-Volume Set - Comprehensive Coordination Chemistry II Hardbound, ISBN: 0-08-043748-6, 9500 pages Imprint: ELSEVIER Price: USD 5,975 EUR 6,274 Books and electronic products are priced in US dollars (USD) and euro (EUR). USD prices apply world-wide except in Europe and Japan.EUR prices apply in Europe and Japan. See also information about conditions of sale & ordering procedures -http://www.elsevier.com/wps/find/bookconditionsofsale. cws_home/622954/conditionsofsale, and links to our regional sales officeshttp://www.elsevier.com/wps/find/ contact.cws_home/regional GBP 4,182.50 030/301 Last update: 10 Sep 2005

Volumes

Volume 1: Fundamentals: Ligands, Complexes, Synthesis, Purification, and Structure

Volume 2: Fundamentals: Physical Methods, Theoretical Analysis, and Case Studies

Volume 3: Coordination Chemistry of the s, p, and f Metals

Volume 4: Transition Metal Groups 3 - 6

Volume 5: Transition Metal Groups 7 and 8

Volume 6: Transition Metal Groups 9 - 12

Volume 7: From the Molecular to the Nanoscale: Synthesis, Structure, and Properties

Volume 8: Bio-coordination Chemistry

Volume 9: Applications of Coordination Chemistry

Volume 10: Cumulative Subject Index

10-Volume Set: Comprehensive Coordination Chemistry II



COMPREHENSIVE COORDINATION CHEMISTRY II

Volume 4 Transition Metal Groups 3 - 6

Edited by A.G. Wedd



Contents

Scandium and Yttrium (K. Fisher) Titanium (D.W. Stephan, S.B. Smith) Zirconium and Hafnium (D.W. Stephan, E. Hollink) Vanadium (D.C. Crans, J.J. Smee) Niobium and Tantalum (M. Ziolek et al.) Chromium (P.A. Lay, A. Levina) Molybdenum (C.G. Young) Tungsten (N. Ueyama, Taka-aki Okamura) Dinuclear Metal-Metal Bonded Systems (J. Eglin) Polyoxo Anions: synthesis and structure (M. Pope) Polyoxo Anions: reactivity (C.L. Hill) Chalcogenide-containing Metal Clusters (G. Sykes et al.)

4.1 Scandium and Yttrium

K. J. FISHER

University of New South Wales and University of Sydney, NSW, Australia

4.1.1 INTRODUCTION	1
4.1.2 COORDINATION NUMBERS	2
4.1.3 ⁴⁵ Sc AND ⁸⁹ Y NMR	6
4.1.4 BOROHYDRIDES	6
4.1.5 CARBON LIGANDS	7
4.1.5.1 Endohedral Fullerene Compounds of Sc and Y	7
4.1.6 NITROGEN DONOR LIGANDS	9
4.1.6.1 Amido Complexes	9
4.1.6.2 Bidentate Ligands	10
4.1.6.3 Amidines	10
4.1.6.4 Polydentate Nitrogen Ligands	12
4.1.6.5 Porphyrin Compounds	12
4.1.7 PHOSPHORUS DONOR LIGANDS	14
4.1.8 OXYGEN DONOR LIGANDS	14
4.1.8.1 Phosphine and Arsine Oxide	14
4.1.8.2 Alkoxides	15
4.1.8.3 Fluorinated Alkoxides	17
4.1.8.4 Mixed Metal Alkoxides	17
4.1.8.5 Siloxides	18
4.1.8.6 Triflate	19
4.1.8.7 Bidentate Oxygen Ligands	20
4.1.8.8 Crown Ethers	21
4.1.9 SULFUR DONOR LIGANDS	21
4.1.10 HALIDES	22
4.1.11 MIXED DONOR ATOM LIGANDS	22
4.1.12 REFERENCES	24

4.1.1 INTRODUCTION

The chemistries of scandium and yttrium are often reported together (although yttrium is also often grouped with the lanthanides) so in this section they will be discussed together. Reference, where appropriate, will be made to the first volume in this series, *Comprehensive Coordination Chemistry: The Synthesis, Reactions, Properties and Applications of Coordination Compounds* (*CCC*, 1987). Volume 3 of *CCC* (1987) contained a chapter entitled *Scandium, Yttrium and the Lanthanides*,¹ and this chapter is designed to follow part of that chapter. The articles reviewed will cover the period 1982–2001 although earlier work may be cited. Volume 2 of *CCC* (1987), devoted to ligands, will also be referred to in this chapter.

Scandium and yttrium are almost exclusively observed in the +III oxidation state in condensed phase compounds, but there are some cluster and sandwich compounds that may be regarded as the metal having a reduced oxidation state; these compounds will be discussed in the relevant sections. Although the ionic radii of Sc^{3+} (0.68 Å) and Y^{3+} (0.88 Å) are significantly different

their general coordination chemistries are similar. A whole range of coordination numbers from 3–12 are observed in the chemistry of scandium and yttrium and, in general, similar compounds of each element have similar coordination numbers with yttrium occasionally having a higher coordination number. Low coordination numbers are observed with very bulky ligands and the highest coordination numbers are observed where the metals are coordinated to small atoms such as hydrogen. These two elements are typical Chatt–Ahrland Class A metal ions and show ready coordination with ligands having oxygen and nitrogen donor atoms and also halides.

Since CCC (1987) was published there has been a greater use of X-ray crystallography resulting in a larger proportion of papers of these two elements containing structural data. The emphasis in the coordination chemistry has shifted away from simple monodentate and bidentate ligands, with the exception of the triflate ($-O_3SCF_3$), alkoxide (-OR), and amide ($-NR_2$), to polydentate ligands, particularly ligands having bulky groups. The triflates, particularly of scandium, have become important Lewis acid catalysts in synthetic organic chemistry and will be discussed in a later section. The alkoxides have strong M-O bonds and where volatile compounds can be made they are potentially useful in surface chemistry, particularly the MOCVD process. The alkoxides are also viewed as alternatives to cyclopentadienyl compounds (or other organometallic compounds) in solubilizing or stabilizing molecular precursors for materials applications. The amides are used in the same manner, to provide stable, volatile, or soluble precursors for use in producing materials. The yttrium compounds are used as precursors in the production of high-temperature superconductors.

Many of the macrocyclic ligands have been prepared so that the catalytic properties of metal complexes may be fine tuned by minor changes in the ligand design. Recent developments, that will continue to attract attention, have been the ability to bind metal complexes to surfaces so that they may be used in heterogeneous catalysis. The reactive alkoxide and amide groups are particularly useful in allowing the metal to form a bond with the surface (generally a M—O bond). The other groups attached to the metal influence the heterogeneous properties of the surface.

A whole new area of carbon chemistry has been developed since the publication of *CCC* (1987). This is fullerene chemistry and the related metallofullerene chemistry. Scandium and yttrium have featured prominently in metallofullerene chemistry as along with lanthanum these metals are easily encapsulated in the carbon cage. Later developments have allowed metal clusters and metal compounds to be trapped inside the carbon cage. The emphasis in this chemistry is now shifting to modifying the metallofullerenes by attaching groups to the outside of the carbon cage. The development of metallofullerene chemistry is being held back by the poor yields and difficult separation of pure products. This chemistry will be discussed in a following section.

Numerous reviews of the chemistries of scandium and yttrium (often with the lanthanides and actinides) have appeared since 1982. The Chemical Society Annual Reports on the Progress of Inorganic Chemistry contain a section on scandium and yttrium surveying the literature of selected years. These surveys by S. J. Lyle,^{2,3} covering the period 1982–1983, J. D. Miller,^{4–8} covering the period 1984–1988, C. J. Jones^{9–11} covering the period 1989–1991, and S. A. Cotton^{12–20} covering the period 1992–2000 have a separate section on scandium and then group yttrium with the lanthanides. Specific reviews on scandium and yttrium by E. C. Constable,^{21,22} C. E. Housecroft,^{23–32} and Z. Pikramenou^{33,34} have been published in *Coordination Chemistry Reviews*. An article entitled *Scandium, Yttrium and the Lanthanides: Inorganic and Coordination Chemistry*, was featured in the *Encyclopedia of Inorganic Chemistry* that appeared in 1994.³⁵ More recent advances in the chemistry of scandium have also been reported.³⁶ This report highlights the aqueous chemistry, complexes with O-, N-, and P-donors and also the use of scandium complexes in synthetic organic chemistry.

The structural chemistry of scandium(III) has been reviewed³⁷ with emphasis on the coordination number and geometry of coordination complexes. This review covers the period 1926–1998.

4.1.2 COORDINATION NUMBERS

Coordination numbers from 3 to 12 have been observed in solid compounds of scandium and yttrium and some specific examples are given in Tables 1 and 2. Some discussion of these properties will be introduced in individual sections. The structural chemistry of scandium(III) has been reviewed with coordination numbers from 3 to 9 being highlighted.³⁷

Compound	Coord. No.	References
$Sc[N(SiMe_3)_2]_3$	3 [pyramidal(solid)planar (gas)]	1,42
$Sc[N(SiHMe_2)_2]_3(thf)$	4 (distorted T_d)	47
$Sc[N(CH_2CH_2NR_2)_3[ClLi(thf)_3]$	5 (distorted trigonal bipyramid)	48
$[Sc{(CF_3)_2CHO}_3(NH_3)_2]_2$	$6(O_k)$	49
$Sc(Ph_3AsO)_3(NO_3)_2$	7	50
$Sc(12-crown-4)_2^{3+2}$	8	51
$Sc(terpy)(NO_3)_3$	9	52
$Sc(BH_4)_3(thf)_2$	10	53

 Table 1
 Coordination numbers of scandium compounds.

Compound	Coord. No.	References
$Y(OC_6H_5Bu_{2}^{t}-2,6)_3$	3 (trigonal planar)	54
$Y(OSiPh_3)_4(CuPMe_2Ph)$	$4(T_d)$	55
$Y[N(SiHMe_2)_2]_3(thf)_2$	5 (distorted trigonal bipyramid)	47
$Y(Ph_2PO)_3C)_3$	$6(O_h)$	56
$YCl[N(SiMe_2CH_2PMe_2)_2]_2$	7	57
$Y(H_2O)_8^{3+}$	8 (distorted dodecahedron)	58
$Y[C_6H_3(COO)_3(H_2O)_6]$	9	59
$[Y(BH_4)_2(thf)_4]^+$	10	60
$[Y(BH_4)_3(thf)_3]$	11	61
$[Y(BH_4)_4]^-$	12	60

 Table 2
 Coordination numbers of yttrium compounds.

A search of the Cambridge Structural Database $(CSD)^{38}$ for Sc—O bond lengths is shown in Figure 1. As the database only includes compounds having a carbon atom present in the molecule, some data from hydrated scandium halides^{39,40} and hydroxylammonium sulfate have been added.⁴¹ Sc—O bond lengths show a bimodal distribution centered at 2.07Å and 2.17Å. There are a few Sc—O bonds shorter than 2.0 Å with the three-coordinate [Sc(OC₆H₂Me-4-Bu^t₂-2,6)₃] having a very short bond of 1.869Å. Variation of Sc—N bond lengths are shown in Figure 2. The gas phase structure of the three-coordinate Sc[N(SiMe₃)₂]₃⁴² has a short Sc—N bond length of 2.02Å. Many more structural studies of yttrium compounds have been reported and this is revealed in Figures 3 and 4. Figure 3 shows the Y—O bond lengths, the data from the CSD³⁸ has been supplemented with data from the structures of Y(HSO₄)₃, Y(HSO₄)₃·H₂O,⁴³ Y(H₂O)₃[IO₄(OH)₂], Y(H₂O)₂(IO₃)₃,⁴³ YCl(SiO₄)₂, Y₆Cl₁₀(Si₄O₁₂),⁴⁴ and YF₃(Si₃O₁₀).⁴⁵ The Y—O bond lengths show a normal distribution centered at 2.34Å with short bonds in the low-coordinate compounds such as Y(OC₆H₃Ph-2,6)₃,⁴⁶ which has a Y—O bond length of 2.05Å. Figure 4 shows the broad distribution of Y—N bond lengths with the median at 2.44Å. The Y—N and Y—O bond lengths.

There have been several studies of coordination numbers in solution. These experiments generally involve the use of X-ray absorption fine structure (XAFS) or large-angle X-ray scattering. Seven water molecules with an average bond length of 2.18 Å are coordinated to the Sc³⁺ ion.⁶² A more recent study also concludes that seven coordination occurs in solution.⁶³ A Raman study of scandium perchlorate solutions suggest that the coordination number six occurs in aqueous solution.⁶⁴ The hydrated Y³⁺ ion has eight coordination with an average Y—O bond length of ~2.4 Å.^{65,66} In nonaqueous solvents such as dmso and dmf the complexes [YL₈]³⁺ exist. These solutions have been studied by XAFS and large angle X-ray scattering. Comparing the solution measurements with solid-state measurements leads to the conclusion that there is an increase in the ionic radius of Y³⁺ as the coordination number increases from 6 to 8.⁶⁷ Solution measurements must take account of hydrolysis of the M³⁺ ion. The comparative hydrolysis of yttrium and the lanthanide ions has been measured:⁶⁸

$$M^{3+} + H_2O \rightarrow MOH^{2+} + H^+$$



Figure 1 Variation of Sc—O bond lengths (x-axis) with the number of observations taken mainly from the CSD.



Figure 2 Variation of Sc-N bond lengths (x-axis) with the number of observations taken from the CSD.



Figure 3 Variation of Y—O bond lengths (x-axis) with the number of observations taken mainly from the CSD.



Figure 4 Variation of Yc–N bond lengths (x-axis) with the number of observations taken from the CSD.

4.1.3 ⁴⁵Sc AND ⁸⁹Y NMR

⁴⁵Sc and ⁸⁹Y both have 100% abundance with spins of 7/2 and 1/2 respectively. ⁴⁵Sc has a sensitivity of 0.3 compared with 1.0 for the ¹H and an NMR frequency of 24.29 MHz at 2.3488 T (100 MHz for ¹H). ⁸⁹Y has a much lower relative sensitivity of 1.18×10^{-4} and an NMR frequency of 4.899 MHz at 2.3488 T.

 45 Sc NMR chemical shifts, linewidths, and relaxion rates of scandium chloride and sulfate have been studied in aqueous solution.⁶⁹ Results in acid and basic solution are presented, as is the H₂O–D₂O isotope effect. 45 Sc NMR data of solutions of ScCl₃ in H₂O saturated with HCl indicate the formation of [ScCl₄(H₂O)₂]⁻ whereas [ScCl(H₂O)₅]²⁺ is present in 4M HCl and [ScCl₂(H₂O)₄]⁺ is present in 7M HCl.⁷⁰ The interaction of alanine and small peptides with scandium nitrate has been investigated by 45 Sc NMR.^{71,71} The complexes are labile but the oligopeptide complexes are shown to be more stable than the alanine complex. 45 Sc NMR data of ionic and covalent compounds, relative to external 1.5 M aqueous ScCl₃, has been presented.⁷³ The binding of Sc to a protein (chicken ovotransferrin) has been studied by 45 Sc NMR.⁷⁴

There have been very few solid state NMR studies of scandium and yttrium compounds. A comparative study of the acetates and hydrated nitrates of scandium, yttrium, and lanthanum by magic angle spinning solid state ⁴⁵Sc, ⁸⁹Y, and ¹³⁹La NMR has been carried out.⁷⁵ The nuclear quadrupole coupling constant and the asymmetry parameter of the electric field gradient tensor for the scandium and lanthanum compounds was determined. Other compounds such as the hydrated chlorides and the oxides of scandium and yttrium were also measured. ⁸⁹Y magic angle spinning NMR has shown that the Y³⁺ ion in the oxide ion conductor $(Bi_2O_3)_{1-x}(Y_2O_3)_x$ (fluorite structure) is surrounded by six anions.^{76 89}Y magic angle spinning NMR has also been used to investigate the incorporation of paramagnetic ions in rare-earth pyrochlores $Y_{2-x}Ln_xM_2O_7$ (Ln = Ce, Pr, Nd, Sm, Eu, Yb; M = Sn, Ti).⁷⁷ The paramagnetic ions decrease the ⁸⁹Y relaxation time allowing spectra to be obtained in relatively short times and the paramagnetic shifts are proportional to the number of lanthanide ions substituted for yttrium.

magnetic shifts are proportional to the number of lanthanide ions substituted for yttrium. ⁸⁹Y solution measurements of simple yttrium salts have shown that the ⁸⁹Y chemical shift is dependent upon covalent interactions and solvent effects.⁷⁸ The long relaxation times were shortened by the addition of 1% (mole ratio) of gadolinium nitrate. Exchange processes in ions such as YCl_6^{3-} were also investigated. ⁸⁹Y chemical shifts are normally measured relative to YCl_3 in D_2O (the concentration varies between 1M and 3 M) and the range is large as shown in Table 3. Generally the ⁸⁹Y chemical shifts vary with the donor ligand and the coordination number. The ranges are as follows: oxygen ligands from +270 ppm to +60 ppm, nitrogen ligands +570 ppm to +100 ppm, carbon ligands +40 ppm to -370 ppm, and halides from +10 ppm to -30 ppm.⁷⁹ These are only approximate and mixed donor ligands can be outside the normal ranges as shown by the last entry in Table 3.

4.1.4 BOROHYDRIDES

The scandium borohydride thf complex was mentioned in *CCC* (1987).¹ There have been more developments in the borohydride chemistries of scandium and yttrium and so some literature prior to 1982 has been included in this section.

Both scandium and yttrium form borohydride complexes $[M(BH_4)_3(thf)_n]$ with thf coordinated to the metal.⁵³ In each compound two borohydride groups are bound through three hydride bridges and one borohydride is bound through two hydride bridges. The scandium compound is

Coordination number	Compound	δ (ppm)	References
3	$Y(O-2,6-Bu^{t}-4-C_{6}H_{2})_{3}$	171	79
3	$Y[N(SiMe_3)_2)_3$	570	79
4	$Y[N(SiMe_3)_2)_3$ (OPPh ₃)	544	79
4	$[Y(OSiPh_3)_3]_2$	263	79
5	$Y_5O(OPr^i)_{13}$	223, 219	80
6	$Y(OSiPh_3)_3(thf)_3$	157	79
6	$Y_3(OBu^t)_9(Bu^tOH)_2$	167	81
6	$[Me_2Si(NBu^t)(OBu^t)]_2YCl(thf)$	458	82
5	$[Me_2Si(NBu^t)(OBu^t)]_2Y[CH(SiMe_3)_2]$	645	82

 Table 3
 ⁸⁹Y chemical shifts of compounds with oxygen and nitrogen donors.



Figure 5 ⁴⁵Sc NMR spectra of [Sc(BH₄)₃(thf)₂].⁸⁷ (A) normal spectrum; (B) ¹H decoupled spectrum; (C) ¹¹B decoupled spectrum; (D) ¹H and ¹¹B decoupled spectrum (reproduced by permission of the American Chemical Society from *Inorg. Chem.*, **1984**, *23*, 1072–1078).

trigonal bipyramidal coordinating two thf molecules and is 10-coordinate.⁸³ A doubly bridged borohydride also occurs in the tetrahydridoboratometallocene [Sc{(SiMe₃)₂Cp}₂BH₄].⁸⁴ The yttrium compound [Y(BH₄)₃(thf)₃] coordinates three thf molecules and has a coordination number of 11.⁶¹ There is also a second ionic form of the yttrium borohydride [Y(BH₄)₂(thf)₄][Y(BH₄)₄].⁶⁰ In the ionic compound [Y(BH₄)₂(thf)₄][Y(BH₄)₄] the yttrium is 10-coordinate in the cation and 12-coordinate in the anion. The scandium and yttrium borohydrides have also been prepared solvated with dimethoxyethane.^{85,86} Solution multinuclear NMR studies⁸⁷ of the scandium and yttrium borohydrides have been carried out, including ⁴⁵Sc and ⁸⁹Y measurements. Figure 5 shows that [Sc(BH₄)₃(thf)₂] exhibits a broad ⁴⁵Sc resonance which is sharpened with ¹H and ¹¹B decoupling. Coupling constants were $J(^{45}Sc, ^{11}B) = 15.5$ Hz and $J(^{45}Sc, ^{1}H) = 30$ Hz. [Y(BH₄)₃(thf)₃] shows no hydrogen or boron coupling to ⁸⁹Y and this is attributed to the increased ionic bonding in the yttrium compound relative to the scandium compound.

4.1.5 CARBON LIGANDS

Organometallic compounds are not specifically discussed in this section.

No carbonyl chemistry of scandium and yttrium has been reported yet and there is also no cyanide chemistry of these two elements although thiocyanato complexes of scandium $[Sc(NCS)_6]^{3-}$ (bonded through nitrogen) are known.⁸⁸ The important developments involving scandium or yttrium with carbon have involved the fullerene derivatives of these elements. There have been some scandium carbide systems prepared but these will be highlighted in the chemistry of the halides.

4.1.5.1 Endohedral Fullerene Compounds of Sc and Y

The fullerenes were first discovered by laser ablation cluster ion formation in a mass spectrometer.⁸⁹ Soon after the identification of C_{60} as a "magic number cluster," $[LaC_{60}]^+$ was also identified.⁹⁰ Later, macroscopic quantities of fullerenes were produced by the carbon arc method⁹¹ soon followed by the macroscopic production of the lanthanum endohedral fullerenes.⁹² Fullerene chemistry has developed rapidly since the preparation of macroscopic quantities of these compounds. The development of the metallofullerenes has been hampered by the low yield of these compounds in conventional syntheses. Newer and better synthetic routes to metallofullerenes will probably be found in the near future speeding up the investigation of the properties, particularly of the scandium and yttrium metallofullerenes. Laser vaporization and the arc method of metal-doped carbon have been used to produce endohedral Sc and Y compounds and a recent review has details of these methods.⁹³ The initial studies of metallofullerenes involved gas phase laser ablation, used to observe the ions by mass spectrometry.⁹⁴ Macroscopic quantities of scandium metallofullerenes are prepared by the arc method and although laser desorption of the soots formed in the preparation show the presence of $[ScC_{60}]^+$ and $[ScC_{70}]^+$ the extractable compounds typically give only one monoscandium fullerene ScC_{82} .^{95,96} Di-, tri- and tetrascandium fullerenes such as Sc_2C_{84} , Sc_3C_{82} , and Sc_4C_{82} , are extractable. The extractable yttrium fullerenes are less extensive than the scandium counterparts and only YC_{82} and Y_2C_{82} have been recovered in small quantities.^{97,98}

The endohedral (metal trapped inside the carbon cage) nature of the metallofullerenes has been questioned, but gas phase photofragmentation experiments of ions^{99,100} and solid-state measurements indicate that the metals are endohedral not exohedral.¹⁰¹ Exohedral metallofullerenes have been prepared in the gas phase but they have different properties to the endohedral metallofullerenes prepared by the arc or laser methods.^{102–104} The symbol @ has been used to denote a species inside the fullerene cage and this symbol will be now used to denote endohedral metallofullerenes.

The solids produced by the arc method are often complex mixtures of fullerenes and metallofullerenes and an important part of this chemistry has involved the purification of the individual metallofullerenes and even isomers of a particular species. In general a two-stage HPLC method has been used to separate the metallofullerenes from the empty fullerenes and purify individual metallofullerenes.^{105,106}

Sc@C₈₂ and Y@C₈₂ have both been investigated by synchrotron X-ray diffraction¹⁰⁷ and in each case the metal is inside the carbon cage; not in the center but close to one of the six-membered rings of the cage. The scandium atom in Sc@C₈₂ is shown to have 18.8 electrons and so the ion may be formulated as Sc²⁺C₈₂²⁻; this agrees with UPS measurements.¹⁰⁸ The Y atom in Y@C₈₂ is also close to one of the six-membered rings of the cage and at room temperature the Y is stationary with respect to the cage. This stationary state for the metals Sc and Y differs from lanthanum where the metal atom appears to be in motion. ESR and XPS measurements suggest that the formulation of Y@C₈₂ is best described as Y³⁺C₈₂³⁻.^{97,98}

Y is stationary with respect to the cage. This stationary state for the metals Sc and Y differs from lanthanum where the metal atom appears to be in motion. ESR and XPS measurements suggest that the formulation of Y@C₈₂ is best described as $Y^{3+}C_{82}^{3-}.^{97,98}$ The discandium endohedral fullerenes Sc₂@C₇₄, Sc₂@C₈₂ and Sc₂@C₈₄ have been isolated and three isomers of Sc₂@C₈₄ have been separated. ⁴⁵Sc NMR of Sc₂@C₈₄ isomers indicates that the scandium atoms are separated and that motion of these atoms is restricted.¹⁰⁹ This is supported by theoretical and structural studies.¹¹⁰ Synchrotron powder X-ray studies indicate that Sc₂@C₈₄ is best represented as $2(Sc^{2+})C_{84}^{4-}$. The Raman scattering and infrared absorptions of Sc₂@C₈₄ differ from Sc₂@C₆₆ that has since been characterized.¹¹² In this endohedral metallofullerene the two scandium atoms appear to form a dimer. The scandium atoms sit close to two pairs of fused fivemembered rings in the C₆₆ cage. This indicates that the size and structure of the fullerene influences the trapped species. The compound may be regarded as $(Sc_2)^{2+}C_{66}^{2-}$.

The triscandium endohedral fullerene $Sc_3@C_{82}$ has been isolated and studied by ESR.⁹⁶ Synchrotron X-ray studies indicate that the three scandium atoms form a triangle and this trimer has a formal charge of three allowing formulation of the compound as $(Sc_3)^{3+}C_{82}^{3-.113}$ The temperature-dependent metal cluster position inside the C_{82} cage has been studied.¹¹⁴

One area of development of metallofullerene chemistry has been the synthesis of adducts by addition to the carbon cage.¹¹⁵ Another advance in the endohedral metallofullerene area has been the identification of metal compounds inside the carbon cages. Introducing nitrogen (pressure, 1–3 mbar) into the arc process using a scandium-doped graphite rod results in the isolation of $Sc_3N@C_{80}$. Structural characterization of this endohedral fullerene has been accomplished by X-ray crystallography of a crystal formed when the endohedral fullerene co-crystallized with cobalt octaethylporphyrin.¹¹⁶ A similar method has been used to crystallize $Sc_3N@C_{78}$.¹¹⁷ The latter compound studied by synchrotron X-ray crystallographic analysis shows the Sc_3N as a planar group with nitrogen at the center bonded to three scandium atoms. There has also been an EPR study of $Sc_3N@C_{80}$ radical anions.¹¹⁸ Recently $Sc_3N@C_{68}$ has been prepared and this compound has been studied by ¹³C and ⁴⁵Sc NMR.¹¹⁹ It is postulated that the Sc_3N group is planar and is inside a C_{66} cage of D_3 symmetry. The structure of a scandium carbide endohedral metallofullerene: $Sc_2C_2@C_{84}$ has been investigated by ¹³C NMR and synchrotron X-ray diffraction on the powder sample.¹²⁰ The carbon atoms in Sc_2C_2 unit are shown to be equivalent by ¹³C NMR. The diffraction study indicates that the Sc_2 unit has a C—C bond intermediate in bond length



Figure 6 Schematic representation of $Sc_2C_2@C_{84}$ showing the planar Sc_2C_2 ring. The scandiums are shown in black and the carbons of the C_2 unit are stippled.

between a single and double bond. The scandium atoms are on opposite sides of the C—C unit and the Sc_2C_2 ring is planar. The structure is shown in Figure 6 along with the planar Sc_2C_2 ring.

4.1.6 NITROGEN DONOR LIGANDS

4.1.6.1 Amido Complexes

The simplest amide of yttrium $Y(NH_3)_2$ has been prepared by the reaction of $Y(SCN)_3$ with KNH_2 in liquid ammonia.¹²¹ The amidometallates $K_3Y(NH_2)_6$ and $Rb_3Y(NH_2)_6$ may be prepared by dissolving the metals in supercritical ammonia.¹²²

The volatile metal amido compounds $M(NR_2)_x$ are potential precursors for solid-state materials such as metal nitrides. The metal amido compounds have also become very important synthetic starting materials for many types of compounds. The low coordination of these compounds often allows addition of molecules with suitable donor ligands. The relatively weak M—N bond allows the NR₂ group to be replaced by other groups and in the case of scandium and yttrium the M—O bond is much stronger than the M—N bond.

As previously reported¹ the three-coordinate $Sc[N(SiMe_3)_2]_3$ has been known since 1972 and the similar yttrium compound $Y[N(SiMe_3)_2]_3$ was reported in 1980.¹²³ The scandium compound was reported to have ScN_3 with pyramidal geometry in the solid state, but the gas phase structure determined by electron diffraction⁴² has a ScN_3 with planar structure. There is no significant change in the Sc—N bond length in the solid and gas phase and the Sc—N bond length is shorter than most other Sc—N bond lengths. The difference in configuration is attributed to the crystal packing forces in the crystalline state that are absent in the gas phase. The $M[N(SiMe_3)_2]_3$ compounds of scandium and yttrium have proved to be good starting materials in the preparation of coordination compounds of the two metals. Similar to all transition metal dialkylamino compounds, they may be used in alcoholysis or aminolysis reactions to form alkoxides or other Sc—N systems.

The reaction of ScCl₃(thf)₃ with Sc[N(SiMe₃)₂]₃ gives the dichloro complex [ScCl₂{N(Si-Me₃)₂}(thf)₂] which when heated to 400 °C is converted to scandium nitride ScN, with loss of thf and ClSiMe₃.¹²⁴ Sc[N(SiMe₃)₂]₃ undergoes deprotonation (and loss of HN(SiMe₃)₂) when

reacted with NaN(SiMe₃)₂ in thf,¹²⁵ forming the complex [Na(thf)₃Sc(CH₂SiMe₂NSiMe₃)-{N (SiMe₃)₂}₂]. The reaction of M[N(SiHMe₂)₂]₃ (M = Sc or Y) with a substituted bis-benzenesulfonamidocyclohexane (1) results in the replacement of two N(SiHMe₂)₂ groups.¹²⁶ The yttrium compound appears to have a coordinated thf molecule that is absent in the scandium compound. The ¹H and ¹³C NMR are complex and a monomer–dimer equilibrium is suggested, complicated by the presence of *cis*- and *trans*- isomers. The yttrium compound is desolvated under vacuum to yield a less soluble compound that may be crystallized. The crystal structure reveals a dimer structure with unusual bridging S=O groups.

 $Y[N(SiHMe_2)_2]_3$ has been used to attach a YNR_2 group to the surface of the mesoporous silica MCM-41. The NR₂ group may be replaced by other ligands. The catalytic reactivity of these modified surfaces in the Diels–Alder reaction has been investigated.¹²⁷

The reaction of YCl₃ with KNPPh₃ and Baysilon paste, $(OSiMe_2)_n$, gives a dimer with a Y₂O₂ bridge in the compound [Y(NPPh₃)₂(OSiMe₂NPPh₃)]₂ (2).¹²⁸



4.1.6.2 Bidentate Ligands

A useful compound for the preparation of organoscandium compounds is (β -diketiminato)scandium dichloride. This compound is prepared from the lithium salt of the aryl- β -diketiminate and ScCl₃(thf)₃; the product retains a thf ligand and is five-coordinate in the solid state. ¹H NMR shows that the compound is fluxional in solution.¹²⁹ The chlorides are easily replaced and alkylation with organolithium compounds has been investigated. Reaction of bis-trimethylsilylmethylscandium aryl- β -diketiminates with a phosphine telluride yields bis-tellurate complexes (3).¹³⁰ These complexes decompose to bridged Sc–Te–Sc species and the type of bridging is dependent upon the substituents on the aryl- β -diketiminates.

The bis(oxoazoline) ligand (4) acts as a bidentate ligand with yttrium.¹³¹ The reaction of 2,2'methylene-bis[(4S)-4-*tert*-butyl-2-oxazoline with Y[N(SiHMe₂)₂]₃(thf)₂ gave the mono or bisoxoazoline complexes, [(oxoazoline)Y{N(SiHMe₂)₂}₂] or [(oxoazoline)₂YN(SiHMe₂)₂]. The bidentate ligand guanidine has been discussed in *CCC* (1987).¹³² A guanidinate anion

The bidentate ligand guanidine has been discussed in *CCC* (1987).¹³² A guanidinate anion $(Me_3Si)_2NC(NPr^i)_2$ has since been used to prepare a dimeric yttrium complex, $[{(Me_3Si)_2NC-(NPr^i)_2}_2YCl]_2$.¹³³ This complex has proved to be a useful starting material for the preparation of hydrocarbomyl and amide compounds that retain the guanidinate ligand. A similar ligand Bu^tC(NPrⁱ)_2 has also been used to prepare yttrium compounds.¹³⁴

Eight-coordinate yttrium compounds having three pyrazolato ligands and two thf or two pyridine ligands may be prepared by the reaction of yttrium metal with $Hg(C_6F_5)_2$ and 3,5-Bu^t₂C₃N₂H.¹³⁵ The potential of using these compounds for chemical vapor deposition was investigated. The pyridine compound could be sublimed without visible residue whereas the thf complex sublimed as the tris-pyrazolato-yttrium(III), $Y(Bu^t_2C_3N_2)_3$ that appeared to be polymeric.

4.1.6.3 Amidines

Amidines are nitrogen compounds of the general form RC(NR')(NR''H) that can act as bidentate ligands. They have been discussed in *CCC* (1987).¹³² Some of these ligands (5) have been used to stabilize unusual scandium and yttrium compounds. Much of the chemistry involving amidines



and group 3 elements has been directed towards finding alternatives to cyclopentadiene in the preparation of potential Ziegler–Natta type catalysts.

The coordination chemistry of the N-silylated benzimidines has been reviewed.¹³⁶ Many transition metal halides, acetates, and alkoxides react with silylated benzimidines or the anions $[RC_6H_4C(NSiMe_3)_2]^-$ to produce chelate complexes containing planar four-membered MNCN rings.

The reaction of ScCl₃(thf)₃ or YCl₃(thf)₃ with the sodium or lithium adduct $[RC_6H_4C(NSi-Me_3)_2]M(Et_2O)_n$ yields $[RC(NSiMe_3)_2]_2MCl(thf)$ which may be used to prepare other derivatives (BH₄, NHR) by substitution of the chloride shown below (6).

Yttrium triflate may also be used as a starting material to produce the derivative $[RC_6H_4C(NSiMe_3)_2]Y(thf)OSO_2CF_3$.¹³⁶ A similar complex having a coordinated Li(tmeda) species may also be prepared. One important derivative is the hydride $[{RC(NSiMe_3)_2}_2SCH]_2$ prepared via the trimethylsilylmethyl derivative $[RC(NSiMe_3)_2]_2SCCH_2SiMe_3$ by reaction with H₂. The hydride has two Sc—H bridges with each Sc having distorted octahedral symmetry. The Sc—H bond lengths vary from 1.87 to 2.00 Å.

The coordination chemistry of the aminotroponiminates has been reviewed.¹³⁹ A homoleptic aminotroponiminate complex of yttrium has been prepared and studied by X-ray crystallography and density functional theory calculations.¹⁴⁰



4.1.6.4 Polydentate Nitrogen Ligands

The classical tridentate ligand terpyridyl (terpy) forms a nine-coordinate complex with scandium nitrate $[Sc(terpy)(NO_3)_3]$.⁵² This compound with chelating nitrates exhibits a relatively rare high coordination number for scandium.

1,4,7-Triazacyclononane is a tridentate ligand which may be converted to a hexadentate ligand by the addition of pendent amide groups to the nitrogens. One such ligand 1,4,7-tris(carbamoyl-methyl)-1,4,7-triazacyclononane (tcmt) forms a complex with yttrium, $[Y(tcmt)(CF_3SO_3)_2 (H_2O)]CF_3SO_3$.¹⁴¹ Yttrium is nine-coordinate in this complex, bound to the hexadentate tcmt, one water molecule and two triflate ions. 1,4,7-Triazacyclononane may also be modified by reactions with phenols to produce other hexadentate ligands. These ligands have been used to prepare scandium phenoxyl radical complexes.¹⁴²

The bis(iminomethyl)pyrrolyl ligands (R-pyr) (7) are tridentate and these compounds react with $Y[N(SiMe_3)_2]_3$ to give five or nine-coordinate complexes depending upon the steric size of the aryl groups attached to two of the nitrogens.¹⁴³ When the *ortho* groups are large (e.g., the diisopropyl derivative), the pyrrolyl ligand is bidentate and the compound (R-pyr)₂Y[N (SiMe_3)₂] is formed, where Y has square pyramidal geometry. When the *ortho* groups are methyl the compound (R-pyr)Y[N(SiMe_3)_2]₂ is formed, where the pyrrolyl ligand is tridentate and Y has a distorted trigonal bipyramidal geometry. When the *ortho* groups are hydrogen a nine-coordinate species (R-pyr)₃Y is formed.

The quadridentate triamidoamines $[N(CH_2CH_2NR)_3]^{3-}$ (R = SiMe_3) form complexes with scandium and yttrium.⁴⁸ These complexes are prepared by the reaction of the lithium triamidoamine thf complex with $MCl_3(thf)_n$ initially giving a lithium chloride adduct $M[N(CH_2CH_2NR)_3]$ -LiCl(thf)₃. The adduct when heated at 140 °C at 10⁻⁶ mbar leads to the distillation of pure $M[N(CH_2CH_2NR)_3]$. The structure of the Y[N(CH_2CH_2NR)_3]LiCl(thf)_3 complex has been determined and the yttrium is bound through a chlorine bridge to the Li(thf)_3 unit.

4.1.6.5 Porphyrin Compounds

Porphyrins, hydroporphyrins, azaporphyrins, phthalocyanines, corroles, corrins, and related macrocycles were discussed in *CCC* (1987).¹⁴⁴ The octaethylporphyrin complexes of scandium were also previously mentioned in *CCC* (1987).¹ The octaethylporphyrin (oep) scandium chloride complex (oep)ScCl, prepared by the reaction of the dilithium porphyrin with ScCl₃(thf)₃, has proved

Scandium and Yttrium

to be a good starting material for the preparation of a wide range of organometallic compounds.¹⁴⁵ This result contrasts with an earlier report that an oxide dimer $[Sc(oep)]_2O$ was produced by the action of H₂O on (oep)ScCl.¹ The reaction of the dilithiumoctaethylporphyrin with YCl₃(thf)₃ gives a yttrium octaethylporphyrin complex having an ethoxide group attached to the yttrium.¹⁴⁶ The ethoxide group is assumed to have been present due to the cleavage of thf.

Double decker complexes involving yttrium with a porphyrin and the 2,3-naphthalocyaninato (nc) group (8) have been prepared by the reaction of yttrium acac, porphyrin, and naphthalonitrile in the presence of 1,8-diazabicyclo[5,4,0]undec-7-ene (DBU).^{147,148} These complexes have been studied spectroscopically and electrochemically and in the case of the Y(nc)(oep) complex the crystal structure has been determined. In Y(nc)(oep) the yttrium is eight-coordinate and sits between the two ligand planes that are separated by 2.7 Å. The complex Y(nc)₂ has also been prepared by the reaction of yttrium acac and naphthalonitrile in the presence of DBU.¹⁴⁹



The tetraphenylporphyrin scandium complexes were previously reported and now crystal structures have been determined for the *p*-toly derivatives (ttp). Both scandium and yttrium form (ttp)MCl complexes^{150,151} but whereas the scandium compound is five-coordinate the yttrium compound coordinates solvent molecules forming seven or eight-coordinate complexes. Reaction of (ttp)ScCl with water forms an oxide dimer [Sc(ttp)]₂O,¹⁵¹ whereas for yttrium the cation [Y(ttp)(H₂O)₃]⁺ has been observed.¹⁵² The structure of [Sc(ttp)]₂O is shown in Figure 7, the bridging oxygen is disordered over two sites with 50% occupancy of each site. The reaction of



Figure 7 The structure of [Sc(ttp)]₂O. The bridging oxides are disordered over two sites at 50% occupancy for each site (reproduced by permission of Elsevier from *Inorg. Chim. Acta*, **1988**, *144*, 47–51).

 $Y[N(SiMe_3)_2]_3$ with ttp in coordinating solvents such as thf or bis(2-methoxyethyl)ether (9) give complexes in which the yttrium lies well above the N₄ plane of the porphyrin.¹⁵⁰



The porphyrin precursor octaethylporphrinogen (oepg) (10) has been used to form a yttrium complex $[\text{Li}(\text{thf})_2][(\text{oepg})Y(\text{OEt})\text{Li}(\text{thf})]$. The ethoxide group, which is believed to arise from cleavage of thf, acts as a bridge between the yttrium and one lithium cation.¹⁴⁶



4.1.7 PHOSPHORUS DONOR LIGANDS

Phosphorus, arsenic, antimony, and bismuth ligands have been discussed in *CCC* (1987).¹⁵³ Complexes containing bonds between scandium, yttrium, and phosphorus or arsenic have been reviewed,¹⁵⁴ as have complexes with neutral phosphorus ligands.¹⁵⁵ Many of the complexes described in these reviews contain organic substituents such as cyclopentadienyl or alkyl groups.

Vaporized Sc atoms have been reacted with Bu^tC \equiv P to give two unusual compounds, a triple decker sandwich compound of Sc^I, Sc₂(P₂C₃Bu^t₃)₂(P₃C₃Bu^t₃)¹⁵⁶ and a sandwich compound of Sc^{II} [Sc(P₂C₃Bu^t₃)₂].¹⁵⁷ The P₂C₃Bu^t₃ and P₃C₃Bu^t₃ molecule are diphospacyclopentadienyl and triphosphabenzene molecules respectively (11).



The reaction of scandium triflate with Li[C(PMe₂)₂SiMe₃] gives a six-coordinate complex with a trigonal prismatic environment (**12**). There is an unusual ScP₂C four-membered ring in this compound.¹⁵⁸

4.1.8 OXYGEN DONOR LIGANDS

4.1.8.1 Phosphine and Arsine Oxide

CCC (1987) contains a section on sulfoxides, amide, amine oxides, and related ligands that have sections on phosphine oxides and arsine oxides.¹⁵⁹ Phosphine and arsine oxide complexes of yttrium and the lanthanides were highlighted in *CCC* (1987).¹ Scandium and yttrium phosphine oxide complexes have been reinvestigated and characterized by multinuclear NMR and X-ray



crystallography.¹⁶⁰ Three phosphine oxides have been used, Ph₃PO, Ph₂MePO, and Me₃PO and four types of compounds of both scandium and yttrium prepared: $M(R_3PO)_2(NO_3)_3$, $M(R_3PO)_3(NO_3)_3$, $[M(R_3PO)_4(NO_3)_2]NO_3$, and $M(R_3PO)_2(EtOH)(NO_3)_3$. Scandium also forms a fifth complex $[M(Me_3PO)_6](NO_3)_3$. ⁴⁵Sc, ⁸⁹Y, and ³¹P NMR have been used to characterize species in solution and these show a range of complexes having variations in M and R₃PO. The crystal structures of $[Sc(Ph_3PO)_2(NO_3)_3]$ and $[Sc(Ph_2MePO)_4(NO_3)_2]NO_3$ show that the scandium is eight-coordinate with bidentate nitrates. The yttrium complexes $Y(Ph_3PO)_2(EtOH)(NO_3)_3$ and $Y(R_3PO)_3(NO_3)_3$ (R₃PO = Ph₃PO, Ph₂MePO, and Me₃PO) all have nine-coordinate yttrium.

Arsine oxide complexes of scandium and yttrium nitrate have been synthesized and characterized by NMR and X-ray crystallography.⁵⁰ Me₃AsO produces one type of complex [M(Me₃-AsO)₆](NO₃)₃ and the crystal structure shows six coordination at the metal. ⁴⁵Sc and ⁸⁹Y NMR indicates that the major species in solution is $[M(Me_3PO)_6]^{3+}$ but there are also the species $[M(Me_3AsO)_{6-n}(NO_3)_n]^{(3-n)+}$. Ph₃AsO forms $[Sc(Ph_3AsO)_2(NO_3)_3]$, $[Sc(Ph_3AsO)_3(NO_3)_2]NO_3$, $[Y(Ph_3AsO)_4(NO_3)_2]NO_3$, and $Y(Ph_3AsO)_2(EtOH)(NO_3)_3$. The crystal structure of $[Sc(Ph_3AsO)_4(NO_3)_2]NO_3$ shows the metal to be seven-coordinate and the crystal structure of $[Y(Ph_3AsO)_4(NO_3)_2]NO_3$ shows the metal to be eight-coordinate.

4.1.8.2 Alkoxides

The syntheses, physical properties, and molecular structures of alkoxides and aryloxides have been discussed in *CCC* (1987).¹⁶¹ The alkoxides of scandium and yttrium were reviewed in *CCC* (1987).¹ There have been more recent developments in this area and the impetus for this chemistry has been the developments in materials research. Metal alkoxides and β -diketonates can be used as precursors for oxide and nonoxide thin films.¹⁶² The stable M—O bond and the volatility of the metal alkoxides are important features of this area of chemistry. This has lead to more research in this area particularly in synthesis, NMR, and X-ray crystallography.

The three major preparative methods used to obtain the alkoxides of Sc and Y are:

- (i) the reaction of the anhydrous metal halide with an alkalis metal alkoxide,
- (ii) alcoholysis of a scandium or yttrium alkoxide, and
- (iii) the reaction of the metal dialkylamides, principally the hexamethyldisilylamino compounds $M[N(SiMe_3)_2]_3$.¹²³

The simple alkoxides of scandium $Sc(OR)_3$ (R = Me, Et, or Buⁿ) prepared by alcoholysis of $Sc_5O(OPr^i)_{13}$ or anodic oxidation of scandium in alcohols are polymeric and do not contain the oxo ligand.¹⁶³ Attempts to prepare the simple iso-propoxides of Sc or Y always produce the oxoalkoxides [$M_5(\mu_5-O)(\mu_3-OPr^i)_4(\mu_2-OPr^i)_4(OPr^i)_5$] that are volatile crystalline solids.^{80,164,165} The stability of the $M_5O(OR)_8$ core is shown by the partial alcoholysis of $Sc_5O(OPr^i)_{13}$ by alcohols to produce $Sc_5O(OPr^i)_8(OR)_5$ compounds.¹⁶³ Metal oxoalkoxides have been reviewed¹⁶⁶ and included in the review are some scandium and yttrium alkoxides (such as the iso-propoxides) and mixed metal alkoxides (such as the yttrium barium oxoalkoxides).¹⁶⁷ $Sc_5O(OR)_{13}$ compounds have been prepared using an electrochemical synthesis.¹⁶³ In a variation of the normal reaction of the metal halide with sodium iso-propoxide, $Y_5O(OPr^i)_{13}$ may be prepared using anhydrous (NH₄)₃Y(NO₃)₆.¹⁶⁸ Two ⁸⁹Y solution NMR studies of $Y_5O(OPr^i)_{13}$ have been undertaken.^{79,80}



Figure 8 ⁸⁹Y NMR of $Y_5O(OPr^i)_{13}$ showing the presence of two inequivalent yttrium atoms in the molecule (reproduced by permission of the American Chemical Society from *Inorg. Chem.*, **1992**, *31*, 1262–1267).

The ⁸⁹Y solution spectrum (Figure 8) of $Y_5O(OPr^i)_{13}$ shows that there are two distinct yttrium sites, which is consistent with the solid-state structure. Figure 9 shows these sites are very similar, with the yttrium atoms being coordinated to six oxygens, showing the sensitivity of ⁸⁹Y chemical shifts to slight structural variations.⁷⁹

Trimeric alkoxides of yttrium are formed where the R group is larger than Pr^{i} , e.g., $R = Bu^{t}$ or $CH_{2}C(CH_{3})_{3}$ giving compounds such as $[Y_{3}(OBu^{t})_{9}(Bu^{t}OH)_{2}]$ and with even larger alkyl groups such as CEt_{3} dimers are obtained.⁸¹

Well characterized "simple" alkoxides of scandium and yttrium $M(OR)_3$ are rare. Three coordination about the metal requires a sterically large ligand such as the 2,6-di-*tert*-butylphenoxide, which does form both a scandium and yttrium monomeric alkoxide.^{54,169} $Y(OC_6H_4Bu_{2}^t)_3$ has been used as an initiator in the polymerization of L-lactide.¹⁷⁰ The 2,6-diphenylphenoxide also forms a monomeric yttrium alkoxide⁴⁶ although thf adducts have been prepared for substituted 2,6-diphenylphenoxides of scandium and yttrium.¹⁷¹ The sterically smaller 2,6-dimethylphenoxide does not form three-coordinate yttrium species and allows coordination of donor ligands such as thf in the yttrium compound $Y(OC_6H_3Me_2)_3(thf)_3$.¹⁷²

Many other alkoxides show a tendency to polymerize, thus a toluene solution of $Y(OC_6H_3-Me_2)_3(thf)_3$ produces a dimeric compound $[Y(OC_6H_3Me_2)_3(thf)_2]_2$ which when dissolved in thf reverts to the monomer $Y(OC_6H_3Me_2)_3(thf)_3$. This shows the facile interconversion of the two alkoxides.¹⁷² The interconversion of yttrium alkoxides is also shown in the *tert*-butoxide compound $Y_3(OR)_7Cl_2(thf)_2$ which polymerizes in toluene solution to give the Y_{14} complex $[Y_7(OR)_{14}Cl_5O(thf)_2]_2$.¹⁷³ Substituted alcohols with potentially coordinating groups such as HOCR₂CH₂OMe react with the metal or $Y[N(SiMe_3)_2]_3$. A decameric yttrium alkoxide $[Y(OR)_3]_{10}$ is formed by the reaction of 2-methoxyethanol with yttrium metal.¹⁷⁴ The compound has a cyclic structure where the alkoxy groups act as bridging bidentate ligands. More highly substituted alkoxy groups such as OCEt₂CH₂OMe form dimeric compounds.¹⁷⁵



Figure 9 Structure of $Y_5O(OPr^i)_{13}$ showing only the yttrium atoms (black) and the oxygen atoms. (open circles) The structure shows the similarity of the yttrium atom environments (reproduced by permission of Wiley from *Mag. Res. Chem.*, **1991**, *29*, 1191–1195).

4.1.8.3 Fluorinated Alkoxides

The reactions of alcohols with $Sc[N(SiMe_3)_2]_3$ or $Y[N(SiMe_3)_2]_3$, may be used to prepare alkoxides but if excess alcohol is present the amine reacts to produce ammonia, which can act as a neutral ligand with the metal alkoxide:

$$(Me_3Si)_2NH + 2R'OH \rightarrow NH_3 + 2Me_3SiOR'$$

The scandium compounds $[Sc{OCMe(CF_3)_2}_3]_2$ and $[Sc{OCH(CF_3)_2}_3(NH_3)_2]_2$ have been prepared using the above method.⁴⁹ A more extensive series of yttrium compounds having fluorinated alkoxy ligands have been prepared. The compounds $[Y(OR_f)_3]_n$ (where $OR_f = OCMe(CF_3)_2$ or $OCMe_2CF_3$) appear to be trimers. Monomeric compounds $Y(OR_f)_3L_3$ are formed in the presence of neutral ligands such as thf, NH₃, diglyme, or Bu^tOH. $[Y{OCH(CF_3)_2}_3(NH_3)_2]_2$ has been prepared by the reaction of YCl₃ with hexafluoroisopropanol in the presence of anhydrous ammonia.¹⁷⁶ The alcoholysis of $Y_5O(OPr^i)_{13}$ with hexafluoroisopropanol has been used to prepare $[Y{OCH(CF_3)_2}_3L_3]$ where L = thf or Pr^iOH .¹⁷⁷

4.1.8.4 Mixed Metal Alkoxides

The stability of the $M_5O(OR)_{13}$ structure is shown by the nonreactivity of the scandium compound with Al(OR)₃ whereas Sc(OBuⁿ)₃ reacts with Al(OBuⁿ)₃ to form Sc[Al(OBuⁿ)₄]₃. Sc[Al(O-Prⁱ)₄]₃ may be prepared by the reaction of ScCl₃ with KAl(OPrⁱ)₄.¹⁶³ Alkalis metalate complexes $M'_xY(OR)_yL_z$ (where M' = Na or K and L = neutral ligand, generally having an oxygen donor atom) are formed where R = aryl or fluorinated group.^{178–180} Examples of these complexes include [(dme)Li]₂[Y(OAr)₅]¹⁷⁸ shown in Figure 10, [(thf)₃K][Y(OAr)₄(thf)₂] (where Ar = 2,6-Me₂C₆H₃),¹⁷⁸ [NaY(OAr')₃Cl] and [NaY₂(OAr'')₆Cl] (where Ar' = C₆H₂ (CH₂NMe₂)₂Me, Ar'' = C₆H₄(CH₂NMe₂).¹⁷⁹ The sterically large ligands afford compounds with one yttrium atom but the smaller alkoxide OC₆H₄(CH₂NMe₂) with only one ortho substituent allows selfassembly of a dimer structure. The fluorinated alkoxides Na₃Y[(OCH(CF₃)₂]₆(thf)₃ and Na₂Y[(OCH(CF₃)₂]₅(thf)₃ have six-coordinate yttrium atoms and are sublimable with loss of the thf ligand.¹⁸⁰

Interest in barium yttrium alkoxides stems from metal organic vapor deposition experiments for the preparation of superconducting thin films. The compound $[Y_4Ba_2O(OEt)_8(dmp)_6]$ (where $dmp = Bu^tC(O)CHC(O)Bu^t$) has been prepared by the reaction of $Y_5O(OPr^i)_{13}$ with $Ba(OEt)_2$ (PrⁱOH)_y in the presence of dmpH.¹⁶⁷ The structure contains seven-coordinate yttrium atoms with



Figure 10 The structure of $[(dme)Li]_2[Y(OAr)_5]$ (where $Ar = 2,6-Me_2C_6H_3$) (reproduced by permission of Elsevier from J. Organomet. Chem., 1998, 553, 141–148).

an unusual six-coordinate oxygen atom (coordinated to 4 Y and 2 Ba atoms) at the center of the molecule. The reaction of barium chips with $(CF_3)_2CHOH$ in thf and YCl₃ produced a volatile heterometallic species YBa[OCH(CF₃)_2]₇(thf)₃.^{181,182} The reaction of YBa[OCH(CF₃)_2]₇(thf)₃ with Y(dpm)₃ produced a compound Y₂Ba[OCH(CF₃)_2]₄(dmp)₄. The latter compound was purified by sublimation to produce the structure shown in Figure 11.

The reaction of anhydrous YCl₃ with KTi₂(OPr^i)₉ in molar ratios 1:1 and 1:2 gave two compounds, Cl₂YTi₂(OPr^i)₉ and ClY[Ti₂(OPr^i)₉]₂, respectively.¹⁸³ The molecular structure of Cl₂YTi₂(OPr^i)₉ consisted of a six-coordinate yttrium bound to two chlorines and four oxygen atoms from the Ti₂(OPr^i)₉ ligand. Other mixed metal alkoxides are known including the yttrium copper compound with the alkoxide from 2-hydroxypyridine (Opy), [Y₂Cu₈(Opy)₁₂(Cl)₂(O)₂ (NO₃)₄(H₂O)₂·2H₂O]¹⁸⁴ and the yttrium aluminum compound Y(OBu)₃(AlMe₃)₂thf.¹⁸⁵ Other yttrium copper alkoxides are known including the siloxy bridged compound [(Ph₃SiO)₂Y(μ -OSiPh₃)₂CuPMe₂Ph]⁵⁵ and the β -diketonate alkoxides YCu₂(thd)₂(OR)₄ and YCu(thd)₃(OR)₂ (where thd = 2,2,6,6-tetramethylheptane-3,5-dionate and OR = OC₂H₄NMe₂).¹⁸⁶

4.1.8.5 Siloxides

The synthesis, structure, and applications to catalysis of metal–siloxide complexes has been reviewed.¹⁸⁷ The preparation and NMR properties of $[Sc(OSiBut_3)_3NH_3]3NH_3^{188}$ and $Y(OSiPh_3)_3$,¹⁸⁹ was included. Structural details were also presented for the thf and the Bu_3^nPO adducts of $Y(OSiPh_3)_3$,⁷⁹ as well as the structure of a four-coordinate yttrium siloxide $[Y(OSi-But_3)_2]_2]$ where $Ar = OC_6H_4(CH_2NMe_2)$.¹⁹⁰ One of the nitrogens attached to the aryl group coordinates to the yttrium making the siloxide a bidentate ligand. Further coordinates.



Figure 11 The molecular structure of $Y_2Ba[OCH(CF_3)_2]_4(dmp)_4$ (where $dmp = Bu^tC(O)CHC(O)Bu^t$) (reproduced by permission of The Royal Society of Chemistry from *J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun.*, 1993, 1556–1558).

The reaction of a cyclopentadienyl scandium acac complex $[(C_5Me_5)Sc(acac)_3]$ with tetraphenyldisiloxanediol $(Ph_2SiOH)_2O$ results in displacement of the cyclopentaidiene group and the formation of a siloxane complex, $[{(Ph_2SiO)_2OSc(acac)_2}_2Sc(acac)]^{191}$

A combination of ⁸⁹Y and ²⁹Si has been used to observe the fluxionality of some yttrium alkoxides, siloxides, and adducts. Large ⁸⁹Y chemical shift changes have been observed on changing the coordination number of the yttrium.⁷⁹

4.1.8.6 Triflate

One of the major developments in scandium chemistry has been the use of scandium salts, particularly scandium triflate, in organic synthesis. Kobayashi^{192,193} found that scandium triflate was stable in water and acted in aqueous solution as a Lewis acid, which could activate carbonyl and related compounds. This activity in water contrasts with most Lewis acids and scandium triflate is a reusable catalyst. In general Sc(OTf)₃ acts as a better catalyst than Y(OTf)₃ or the lanthanide triflates. A brief review of the Lewis acid catalytic activity of scandium triflate¹⁹⁴ has appeared. Sc(OTf)₃ has now been used as a catalyst in numerous synthetic reactions including aldol reactions,¹⁹⁵ Meerwein–Ponndorf–Verley reductions,¹⁹⁶ glycosidation,¹⁹⁷ Friedel–Crafts,¹⁹⁸ and Michael additions.¹⁹⁹ Sc(OTf)₃ in CD₃OD is a very active catalyst for deuterium exchange of the aromatic hydrogens in 1,3,5-trimethoxybenzene.²⁰⁰ An arylscandium species is postulated as an intermediate in the reaction. The use of scandium triflate in organic synthesis is now extensive and has been reviewed.¹⁹³ One more recent development has been the preparation of polymer supported scandium triflate catalysts.^{201–203} This development of supported catalysts aids easy recovery, and is quantitative in many cases. A supported catalyst has been tested on the reaction of carbonyl compounds with tetraallyltin²⁰² and was shown to be most active with water as solvent.

Other scandium perfluoroalkanesulfonates such as the pentafluoroethanesulfonate and nonafluorobutanesulfonate have also been shown to be good catalysts.²⁰⁴ Scandium salts such as the perchlorate and alkylsulfates²⁰⁵ are also active catalysts. The crystal structure of the hydrated scandium triflate has been determined. Nine water molecules surround the scandium ion and the triflate anions are hydrogen bonded to the water molecules.²⁰⁶ A structural analysis of anhydrous scandium triflate, using X-ray powder diffraction and IR spectroscopy, indicates that the triflate acts as a bidentate ligand with scandium in an octahedral environment.²⁰⁷

Scandium triflate has been used as a cross-linking agent for dendrimers producing a heterogeneous catalyst with Lewis acid properties.²⁰⁸

A related compound scandium tris(trifluoromethylsulphonyl)methanide, $Sc[(F_3CSO_2)_3C]_3$ (scandium triflide) has been prepared and used as a catalyst in the nitration of *o*-nitrotoluene.²⁰⁹ Scandium triflide has proved to be a better catalyst than scandium triflate for the aromatic nitration of the electron deficient *o*-nitrotoluene.

4.1.8.7 Bidentate Oxygen Ligands

The reaction of a methanide ion $[(Ph_2PO)_3C]^-$ with the chlorides or nitrates of scandium or yttrium produce stable six-coordinate metal species (13) where the metal is coordinated to six oxygens in the form of three bidentate ligands.⁵⁶



(13)

Many of the early reports of complexes with bidentate oxygen ligands involved acac complexes and the β -diketonate and related ligands were discussed in *CCC* (1987).²¹⁰ The β -diketonate complexes of scandium and yttrium and the lanthanides were also discussed in *CCC* (1987).¹ Many reported systems contained adducts formed by the metal β -diketonate complexes. In solution some of the complexes with bidentate ligands can expand their coordination number to seven by coordination to a suitable donor ligand. A solvent extraction method has been used to show that Sc(acac)₃ does not form an adduct with trioctylphosphine oxide but tris(tropolonato)scandium(III) and tris-(ethylmatolato)scandium(III) do coordinate with trioctylphosphine oxide.²¹¹

In a search for volatile scandium and yttrium compounds, as precursors for the MOCVD production of new materials such as high-temperature superconductors, acac type compounds with bulky end substituents have been investigated. Substituted β -diketonate complexes of scandium have been used in a liquid-injection MOCVD method to produce thin films of Sc₂O₃.²¹² The vapor pressure of 2,2,6,6-tetramethylheptanedionatoyttrium, Y(C₁₁H₁₉O₂)₃ has been measured over a range of temperatures (361–387 K) and the molecular weight data indicate that the saturated vapor consists mainly of monomers.²¹³ A methylpivaloylacetate, Bu^tCOCHCO-(CH₂)₃OMe(mpa), complex of yttrium has been prepared by reaction of mpa with Y[N(SiMe₃)₂]₃.²¹⁴ The complex [Y(mpa)₃]_n is moisture sensitive and nonvolatile but reaction with Lewis bases gives two air-stable sublimable solids, [Y(mpa)₃](tmeda) and [Y(mpa)₃](bipy). The bipy complex has been structurally characterized by X-ray crystallography showing that the yttrium is eight-coordinate, bound to six oxygens and two nitrogens.

Not all substituted acac type complexes have simple structures. A nonanuclear clusters involving yttrium and the bidentate ligand allyl acetoacetate $[MeC(O)CHC(O)OCH_2=CH_2]$ has been

observed.²¹⁵ Yttrium β -diketonate complexes have been reacted with mono-, di-, tri-, and tetraglyme resulting in eight and nine-coordinate yttrium complexes.²¹⁶

Glycine (gly) can act as a bidentate ligand with the carboxyl groups bridging metal atoms. This occurs in the six-coordinate scandium complex $[Sc_2(gly)_6(ClO_4)_2]_n$ where an infinite chain of dimeric units with three bridging glycines per dimeric unit is formed.²¹⁷

4.1.8.8 Crown Ethers

Crown ethers and the lanthanide complexes were extensively covered in CCC (1987)²¹⁸ but complexes of scandium and yttrium were not mentioned with the exception of $[Y(NCS)_3(18-crown-6]^1]$

Several scandium chloride crown ether complexes $[ScCl_2(crown)]^+X^-$ have been structurally characterized. These include $[ScCl_2(15\text{-}crown-5)]_2[CuCl_4]$,²¹⁹ $[ScCl_2(benzo-15\text{-}crown-5)][SbCl_6]$,²²⁰ $[ScCl_2(18\text{-}crown-6)][SbCl_6]$,²²¹ $[ScCl_2(dibenzo-24\text{-}crown-8)(H_2O)][SbCl_6]$,²²² and $[ScCl_2(dibenzo-30\text{-}crown-10)(H_2O)_2][SbCl_6]$ or $CuCl_2$. The $ScCl_2^+$ unit is generated by the abstraction of a Cl⁻ ion by the Lewis acceptor SbCl_5 or CuCl_2. The removal of further chloride ions is effected by the addition of both SbCl_5 and SbCl_3 to ScCl_3 in the presence of 12-crown-4. This reaction produces a sandwich type cation where Sc^{3+} is bound to two 12-crown-4 molecules.⁵¹ There are two anions, one antimony(V) ion, $[SbCl_6]^-$, and one antimony(III) ion, $[Sb_2Cl_8(MeCN)_2]^{2-}$. Although single-crystal X-ray structural determinations were the major characterization tool, ^{45}Sc NMR has been used to study most of the compounds in solution.²²³ There is usually a Cl–Sc–Cl unit that fits within an embrace of five oxygen donor atoms forming a seven-coordinate pentagonal bipyramidal arrangement around the scandium. For the small crown ethers such as 15-crown-5 and related aza-crown ethers the ^{45}Sc resonance is a sharp singlet at room temperature. With the larger crowns such as dibenzo-24-crown-8 the scandium may bind to the crown in inequivalent positions. This results in more than one ^{45}Sc resonance and fluxional behavior in these molecules has been demonstrated by variable temperature ^{45}Sc NMR measurements.²²³ The ^{45}Sc chemical shift of the eight-coordinate [Sc(crown)_2]^{3+} ion differs from that of the [ScCl₂(crown)]⁺ complexes.

A novel scandium complex formed from scandium triflate in the presence of 18-crown-6 and p-sulfonatocalix[4]arene has been investigated.²²⁴ The crown ether resides in cavities created by two calixarenes from adjacent polymeric sheets. There are two types of scandium ions in the complex, one type is bound to the phenolic oxygen of the calixarene and the second exists as the hydroxide bound dimer ion $[Sc(OH)_2(H_2O)_{10}]^{4+}$. A similar complex may also be prepared without the crown ether.

There are several examples of crown ether complexes where yttrium is not bound to the crown ether. $[Y(H_2O)_8]Cl_3 \cdot (15\text{-}crown\text{-}5)$ has a $[Y(H_2O)_8]^{3+}$ cation (distorted dodecahedron) with the crown ether and chloride hydrogen bonded to the coordinated water molecules.^{58,225} An aqueous solution containing yttrium triflate and 18-crown-6 produces crystals of $[Y(CF_3-COO)_2(H_2O)_6](CF_3COO) \cdot (18\text{-}crown\text{-}6)$ which have the crown ether hydrogen bonded to the coordinated water molecules.²²⁶ The complex $[Y(NO_3)_3(H_2O)_3] \cdot (dibenzo-24\text{-}crown\text{-}8)$ has a nine-coordinate yttrium formed by bonding to three bidentate nitrate groups and three water molecules. The crown ether is hydrogen bonded to the water molecules.²²⁷

4.1.9 SULFUR DONOR LIGANDS

There has been very little recent work on scandium or yttrium sulfur compounds. Only one system has been structurally characterized, $[Y(SCEt_3)_3(py)_2]_2$.¹²¹ This compound was prepared by the reaction of yttrium amide $Y(NH_3)_2$ with Et_3CSH in pyridine. Poorer yields of $[Y(SCEt_3)_3(py)_2]_2$ could be prepared from yttrium metal, Et_3CSH and pyridine in the presence of ammonia. The crystal structure of $[Y(SCEt_3)_3(py)_2]_2$ has two six-coordinate yttrium atoms with distorted octahedral geometry bridged by two SR groups.

The reaction of $Y[N(SiMe_3)_2]_2Cl(thf)_2$ with LiSBu^t in thf gave the compound $Y[N(SiMe_3)_2]_2Cl(thf)_2$ (SBu^t)₂²²⁸ Although this compound was not structurally characterized crystals of the similar gadolinium compound were reported.

4.1.10 HALIDES

Complex halides of scandium and yttrium have been discussed in CCC (1987).¹ Most halides and halide complexes reported are of Sc^{III} and Y^{III} but there are some reduced halide species such as the diiodide.²²⁹

The hexafluoroscandium compounds $(NH_4)_3(ScF_6)$ and $[Cu(NH_3)_4]_3(ScF_6)$ have been prepared by the action of ammonium fluoride on scandium in a copper tube heated to 330 °C or 400 °C.²³⁰

The structure of solid ScCl₃ has been refined from high-resolution powder neutron diffraction data. ScCl₃ has a BiI₃ structure with two-dimensional ScCl₃ layers and each ScCl₆ unit has a slightly distorted octahedral geometry.²³¹ The gas phase structure of ScCl₃ has been investigated by electron diffraction and density functional theory (dft) calculations. The electron diffraction favored a C_{3v} structure with Sc—Cl bond lengths of 2.291 Å whereas the dft calculations optimized the structure to D_{3h} symmetry with Sc—Cl bond lengths of 2.285 Å.²³²

Hydrated scandium chloride is a heptahydrate that is isomorphous with the scandium bromide whereas the iodide is an octahydrate.³⁹ Dehydrated forms of scandium chloride are important in many synthetic reactions. Scandium chloride hydrate may be dehydrated by thionyl chloride in the presence of thf to yield ScCl₃(thf)₃.²³³ This compound is an important precursor for many scandium compounds, particularly organometallic species. Controlled hydrolysis of ScCl₃(thf)₃ results in the replacement of one thf by a water molecule.²³⁴ The complex ScCl₃(thf)₂(H₂O) has been structurally characterized and the scandium atoms are six-coordinate being bonded to three chlorines and three oxygen donor atoms in a *mer*-octahedral configuration. Me₃SiCl may also be used to dehydrate hydrated scandium chloride and if this is carried out in the presence of diglyme the adduct ScCl₃(diglyme) is formed. Hydrolysis of ScCl₃(diglyme) produces a hydroxide bridged dimer [Sc₂(OH)₂ (H₂O)₁₀]Cl₄·2H₂O. The crystal structures of ScCl₃(diglyme) and ScCl₃(dme)-(MeCN) show that the scandium is six-coordinate with a distorted octahedral geometry. In the hydrolysis dimer [Sc₂(OH)₂(H₂O)₁₀]Cl₄·2H₂O scandium is seven-coordinate.²³³

An unusual bimetallic oxychloro compound of scandium $[(thf)_3ScOCl_5Li(thf)]_2$ has been prepared by the reaction of $LiC_6H_3(C_{10}H_7)_2$, [lithium 2,6-di(1-naphthyl)phenyl] with $ScCl_3$.²³⁵

The reactions of $ScCl_3(thf)_3$ and $YCl_3(thf)_3$ with $SbCl_5$ give different products. Scandium chloride gives $[ScCl_2(thf)_4][SbCl_6(thf)]$ whereas yttrium chloride gives $[YCl_2(thf)_5][SbCl_6(thf)]$.²³⁶ Anhydrous YCl_3 in thf yields a solid of formula YCl_3 3.5thf.²³⁷ Recrystallization of this solid in thf gives a crystalline solid which has a *trans*-YCl_2(thf)₅ cation and a *trans*-YCl_4(thf)₂ anion. When this ionic compound is dissolved in CH₂Cl₂ a polymeric bis-thf $[YCl_3(thf)_2]_n$ adduct crystallizes. The polymer has seven-coordinate Y¹¹¹ centers linked by double chlorine bridges. Scandium forms a diiodide by the reaction of ScI₃ with Sc metal.²²⁹ Reduced scandium iodides LiScI₃ and NaSc₂I₆ have been produced by the reactions of Sc metal with ScI₃ and LiI or NaI.²³⁸

Scandium forms a diiodide by the reaction of ScI₃ with Sc metal.²²⁹ Reduced scandium iodides LiScI₃ and NaSc₂I₆ have been produced by the reactions of Sc metal with ScI₃ and LiI or NaI.²³⁸ These compounds contain chains of ScI₆ octahedra. The scandium halides form a series of compounds with an interstitial element strongly bonded within the scandium halide cluster. Compounds such as Sc₄Cl₆B,²³⁹ Sc₅Cl₈C,²⁴⁰ Sc₅Cl₈N,²⁴⁰ Sc₆I₁₁C₂,²⁴¹ Sc₇Br₁₂C,²⁴² Sc₇I₁₂B,²⁴² and Sc₇I₁₂Co,²⁴³ have been prepared.

The periodates of Sc and Y, $M(H_2O)_3[IO_4(OH)_2]$, have been examined by ⁴⁵Sc and ⁸⁹Y NMR, and the crystal structure of the yttrium compound determined.²⁴⁴ In the crystal eight water molecules surround the yttrium atom.

4.1.11 MIXED DONOR ATOM LIGANDS

Aqueous scandium chloride reacts with picolinic acid at pH 4.5 to yield a dimeric compound $[Sc(C_5H_4NCO_2)(OH)(H_2O)]_2 \cdot 4H_2O$.²⁴⁵ The structure of an edta complex of scandium has been determined.²⁴⁶ The compound NH₄[Sc(edta)(H₂O)₂] \cdot 3H₂O has scandium bonded to four oxygens and two nitrogens from the edta and also to two water molecules, making the scandium eight coordinate. The structure around the scandium is a distorted square antiprism.

Pyrazolylborates $H_2B(pz)_2$ and $HB(pz)_3$ were described in CCC (1987),²⁴⁷ they act as tridentate ligands, the dihydrobis-pyrazolylborate binding through the two nitrogen atoms and hydrogen bonding to the metal forming a B—H—M bridge. The complex $Y[H(\mu-H)B(pz)_2]_3$ has six nitrogen donor atoms arranged in a trigonal prism around the metal atom.²⁴⁸ A bridging three centered B—H—Y bond shown in Figure 12 caps the rectangular faces of the prism. This bonding survives in solution as shown by the B—H stretching frequency and the inequivalence of the BH₂ atoms in low temperature NMR spectra. The hydrotris-pyrazolylborate forms complexes with yttrium,^{249,250} including the aquobis[hydrotris(pyrazolyl)borato]chloroyttrium, which has an



Figure 12 Yttrium surrounded by six nitrogens in a trigonal-prismatic arrangement with each rectangular face capped by a bridging B–H interaction in the compound, Y[H(μ-H)B(pz)₂]₃ (reproduced by permission of the American Chemical Society from *Inorg. Chem.*, 1988, 27, 1890–1896).

eight-coordinate yttrium where the pyrazolyl rings are inequivalent. ¹H and ¹³C NMR show that at room temperature the pyrazolyl rings are equivalent but at low temperature they become inequivalent.²⁵⁰

Aza-18-crown-6 reacts with $Y(CH_2SiMe_3)_3(thf)_2$ to produce a compound with yttrium bonded to the nitrogen and three oxygens of the aza-crown. The other two oxygens are ~0.5 Å more distant from the yttrium,²⁵¹ and the CH₂SiMe₃ group is almost vertical to the Y-crown plane. This compound reacts with CO, by insertion into the Y–C bonds forming two Y–O–C(CH₂)(SiMe₃) groups. Reaction is favored by forming strong Y–O bonds.

The (alkoxysilyl)amido ligand [Me₂Si(NBu^t)(OBu^t)] acts as a bidentate chelating group that is useful in stabilizing coordinatively unsaturated metal complexes.⁸² The compound [Me₂Si(NBu^t) (OBu^t)]₂YCl(thf) has been used in the preparation of several yttrium compounds.^{82,252} Schiff base and acyclic polydentate ligands have been discussed in *CCC* (1987).²⁵³ The salen ligand may be prepared with a variety of substituents and so the steric properties are easily tunable. There have been many studies of lanthanide Schiff-base complexes but few studies in nonaqueous media. YCl₃(thf)₃ reacting with the dipotassium salt of a bulky di-*t*-butyl substituted salen gave a chloride bridged dimer [(salen)YCl(thf)]₂, with each yttrium having seven coordination.²⁵⁴ Yttrium compounds with a bulky salen ligand have also been prepared by the silylamide route.²⁵⁵ The reaction of the salen with Y[N(SiMe₃)₂]₃ gave a polymeric compound where the salen group is coordinated to two yttrium atoms whereas reaction with Y[N(SiHMe₂)₂]₃(thf)₂ gave a monomeric compound, Y(salen)[N(SiHMe₂)₂](thf). The yttrium is six-coordinate in a distorted trigonal-prismatic geometry.

A bulky salicylaldiminato ligand, where the *ortho* positions on the benzene rings have *t*-butyl groups, reacts with the organoscandium or organoyttrium compound $M(CH_2SiMe_2Ph)_3(thf)_2$ to produce a compound where two of the organo groups have been replaced by the bidentate

salicylaldiminato ligand (salen)₂MCH₂SiMe₂Ph.²⁵⁶ The scandium and yttrium compounds react with H₂ by elimination of Me₃SiPh but give different final products. The scandium compound interacts with one of the Bu^t groups on the phenyl group attached to a nitrogen of one salicylaldiminato group, whereas the ytrium forms a hydrogen bridged dimer (14).







The bis(amidophosphine) ligand $PhP(CH_2SiMe_2NSiMe_2CH_2)_2PPh$ (P₂N₂) is tetradendate, bonding through two nitrogens and two phosphorus atoms. Reaction of the P_2N_2 ligand with $YCl_3(thf)_3$ gives a dimeric chloro bridging complex $[(P_2N_2)_2Y]_2(Cl)_2$.²⁵⁷ $[(P_2N_2)_2Y]_2(Cl)_2$ has been used as a starting material for the production of a variety of aryl complexes by reactions with aryllithium compounds. Interestingly the reaction with aryl Grignard bromides does not result in the replacement of the chlorides by aryl groups but the production of halide dimers $[(P_2N_2)_2Y]_2(Br)_2$ and $[(P_2N_2)_2Y]_2(Cl)(Br)$.

The imidodiphosphinochalcogenido ligand $[N(EPPh_2)_2]^-$, where E = S or Se, can act as a tridentate or bidentate ligand.²⁵⁸ The reaction of $Y[N(SiMe_3)_2]_3$ with $HN(SPPh_2)_2$ gives a ninecoordinate complex $Y[N(SPPh_2)_2]_3$ (15) where each ligand coordinates through two sulfurs and a nitrogen. A similar reaction with $HN(SePPh_2)_2$ gives a seven-coordinate complex $Y[N(SePPh_2)_2]_3$ (16) where one ligand is tridentate bonding through two selenium atoms and nitrogen and the other two ligands bond only through the two selenium atoms. These complexes have been examined in solution by ⁸⁹Y, ⁷⁷Se, and ³¹P NMR. The D₃ symmetry of the sulfur compound $Y[N(SPPh_2)_2]_3$ is maintained in solution whereas the selenium compound $Y[N(SePPh_2)_2]_3$ shows fluxional behavior.

4.1.12 REFERENCES

- 1. Hart, F. A. Scandium, Yttrium and the Lanthanides. In Comprehensive Coordination Chemistry; Wilkinson, S. G., Ed.; Pergamon, Oxford, 1987; Vol. 3. pp 1060-1116.
- 2. Lyle, S. J. Annu. Rep. Prog. Chem., Sect. A: Inorg. Chem. 1982, 79, 359-381.
- 3. Lyle, S. J. Annu. Rep. Prog. Chem., Sect. A: Inorg. Chem. 1983, 80, 305-343.
- 4. Miller, J. D. Annu. Rep. Prog. Chem., Sect. A: Inorg. Chem. 1984, 81, 325-347.
- 5. Miller, J. D. Annu. Rep. Prog. Chem., Sect. A: Inorg. Chem. 1985, 82, 347-370.
- 6. Miller, J. D. Annu. Rep. Prog. Chem., Sect. A: Inorg. Chem. 1986, 83, 357-379.
- 7. Miller, J. D. Annu. Rep. Prog. Chem., Sect. A: Inorg. Chem. 1987, 84, 285-305.
- 8. Miller, J. D. Annu. Rep. Prog. Chem., Sect. A: Inorg. Chem. 1988, 85, 245-266.
- 9. Jones, C. J. Annu. Rep. Prog. Chem., Sect. A: Inorg. Chem. 1989, 86, 77-115.
- Jones, C. J. Annu. Rep. Prog. Chem., Sect. A: Inorg. Chem. 1990, 87, 75–104.
 Jones, C. J. Annu. Rep. Prog. Chem., Sect. A: Inorg. Chem. 1991, 88, 211–246.
- 12. Cotton, S. A. Annu. Rep. Prog. Chem., Sect. A: Inorg. Chem. 1992, 89, 243-265.
- 13. Cotton, S. A. Annu. Rep. Prog. Chem., Sect. A: Inorg. Chem. 1993, 90, 251-275. 14. Cotton, S. A. Annu. Rep. Prog. Chem., Sect. A: Inorg. Chem. 1994, 91, 295-315.
- 15. Cotton, S. A. Annu. Rep. Prog. Chem., Sect. A: Inorg. Chem. 1996, 92, 267-290.
- 16. Cotton, S. A. Annu. Rep. Prog. Chem., Sect. A: Inorg. Chem. 1997, 93, 269-290.
- 17. Cotton, S. A. Annu. Rep. Prog. Chem., Sect. A: Inorg. Chem. 1998, 94, 289-310.

- 18. Cotton, S. A. Annu. Rep. Prog. Chem., Sect. A: Inorg. Chem. 1999, 95, 239-260.
- 19. Cotton, S. A. Annu. Rep. Prog. Chem., Sect. A: Inorg. Chem. 2000, 96, 317-343.
- 20. Cotton, S. A. Annu. Rep. Prog. Chem., Sect. A: Inorg. Chem. 2001, 97, 269-292.
- 21. Constable, E. C. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1985, 62, 131-143.
- 22. Constable, E. C. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1986, 71, 383-388.
- 23. Housecroft, C. E. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1993, 124, 51-62. 24. Housecroft, C. E. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1993, 127, 131-137.
- 25. Housecroft, C. E. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1993, 127, 139-154.
- 26. Housecroft, C. E. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1995, 138, 27-37.
- 27. Housecroft, C. E. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1995, 142, 147-152.
- 28. Housecroft, C. E. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1995, 146, 37-41.
- 29. Housecroft, C. E. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1995, 146, 155-165.
- 30. Housecroft, C. E. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1996, 152, 467-472.
- 31. Housecroft, C. E. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1997, 162, 241-254.
- 32. Housecroft, C. E. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1997, 164, 183-188.
- 33. Pikramenou, Z. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1997, 164, 189-201.
- 34. Pikramenou, Z. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1998, 172, 99-110.
- 35. King, R. B. Scandium, Yttrium and the Lanthanides: Inorganic and Coordination Chemistry. In Encyclopedia of Inorganic Chemistry; King, R. B., Ed.; Wiley: Chichester, UK, 1994; pp 3595-3616.
- 36. Cotton, S. A. Polyhedron 1999, 18, 1691-1715.
- 37. Meehan, P. R.; Aris, D. R.; Willey, G. R. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1999, 181, 121-145.
- 38. Allen, F. H.; Davies, J. E.; Galloy, J. J.; Johnson, O.; Kennard, O.; Macrae, C. F.; Mitchell, E. M.; Mitchell, G. F.; Smith, J. M.; Watson, D. G. J. Chem. Inf. Comput. Sci. 1991, 31, 187.
- 39. Lim, K. C.; Skelton, B. W.; White, A. H. Aust. J. Chem., 2000, 53, 875-878.
- 40. Ilyukhin, A. B.; Petrosyants, S. P. Zh. Neorg. Khim. 1994, 39, 1517-1520.
- 41. Mirceva, A.; Golic, L. Acta Crystallogr. C 1995, 51, 175-177.
- 42. Fjeldberg, T.; Andersen, R. A. J. Mol. Struct. 1985, 128, 49-57.
- 43. Wickleder, M. S. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1999, 625, 1707-1711.
- Hartenbach, I.; Schleid, T. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 2001, 627, 2493–2498.
 Schleid, T.; Müller-Bunz, H. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1998, 624, 1082–1084.
- 46. Deacon, G. B.; Feng, T.; Forsyth, C. M.; Gitlits, A.; Hockless, D. C. R.; Shen, Q.; Skelton, B. W.; White, A. H. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 2000, 961-966.
- 47. Anwander, R.; Runte, O.; Eppinger, J.; Gerstberger, G.; Herdtweck, E.; Spiegler, M. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1998, 847-858.
- 48. Roussel, P.; Alcock, N. W.; Scott, P. Chem. Commun. 1998, 801-802.
- 49. Bradley, D. C.; Chudzynska, H.; Hammond, M.; Hursthouse, M. B.; Motevalli, M.; Wu, R. Polyhedron 1992, 11, 375-379
- 50. Levason, W.; Patel, B.; Popham, M. C.; Reid, G.; Webster, M. Polyhedron, 2001, 20, 2711–2720.
- 51. Willey, G. R.; Meehan, P. R.; Drew, M. G. B. Polyhedron 1996, 15, 1397-1399.
- 52. Arif, A. M.; Hart, F. A.; Hursthouse, M. B.; Thornton-Pett, M.; Zhu, W. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1984, 2449-2454.
- 53. Marks, T. J.; Kolb, J. R. Chem. Rev. 1977, 77, 263-293.
- 54. Hitchcock, P. B.; Lappert, M. F.; Smith, R. G. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1987, 139, 183-184.
- 55. Coan, P. S.; Huffmann, J. C.; Caulton, K. G. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 4207-4201.
- 56. Grim, S. O.; Sangokoya, S. A. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1984, 1599-1600.
- 57. Fryzuk, M. D.; Haddad, T. S.; Rettig, S. J. Organometallics 1991, 10, 2026-2036.
- 58. Rogers, R. D.; Kurihara, L. K. Inorg. Chem 1986, 116, 171-177.
- 59. Daiguebonne, C.; Guilloa, O.; Gerault, Y.; Lecerf, A.; Boubekeur, K. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1999, 284, 139-145.
- 60. Lobkovskii, E. B.; Kravchenko, S. E.; Kravchenko, O. V. Zh. Strukt. Khim. 1982, 23, 111-114.
- 61. Segal, B. G.; Lippard, S. J. Inorg. Chem. 1978, 17, 844-850.
- 62. Yamaguchi, T.; Niihara, M.; Takamuku, T.; Wakita, H.; Kanno, H. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1997, 274, 485-90.
- 63. Cotton, S. A. Comments Inorg. Chem. 1999, 21, 165-173.
- 64. Rudolph, W. W.; Pye, C. C. J. Phys. Chem. A , 2000, 104, 1627-1639
- 65. Lindqvist-Reis, P.; Lamble, K.; Pattanaik, S.; Persson, J.; Sandstrom, M. J. Phys. Chem. B, 2000, 104, 402-408.
- 66. Diaz-Moreno, S.; Munoz-Paez, A.; Charboy, J. J. Phys. Chem. A., 2000, 104, 1278-1286.
- 67. Lindqvist-Ries, P.; Naslund, J.; Persson, I.; Sandstrom, M. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 2000, 2703-2710.
- 68. Klungness, G. D.; Byrne, R. H. Polyhedron, 2000, 19, 99-107.
- 69. Haid, E.; Koehnlein, D.; Koessler, G.; Lutz, O.; Messner, W.; Mohn, K. R.; Nothaft, G.; Rickelen, B. V.; Schich, W.; Steinhauser, N. Z. Naturforsch., A 1983, 38A, 317-321.
- 70. Kirakosyan, G. A.; Tarasov, V. P. Koord. Khim. 1982, 8, 261-262.
- 71. Rehder, D.; Speh, M. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1987, 135, 73-79
- 72. Rehder, D.; Hink, K. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1989, 158, 265-271.
- 73. Bougeard, P.; Mancini, M.; Sayer, B. G.; McGlinchey, M. J. Inorg. Chem. 1985, 24, 93-95.
- 74. Aramini, J. M.; Vogel, H. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 1988-1993.
- 75. Thompson, A. R.; Oldfield, E. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1987, 27-29.
- 76. Battle, P. D.; Montez, B.; Oldfield, E. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1988, 584-585.
- 77. Grey, C. P.; Smith, M. E.; Cheetham, A. K.; Dobson, C. M.; Dupree, R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 4127-4130.
- 78. Holloway, C. E.; Mastracci, A.; Walker, I. M. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1986, 113, 187-191.
- 79. Coan, P. S.; Hubert-Pfalzgraf, L. G.; Caulton, K. G. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 1262-1267.
- 80. Page, C. J.; Sur, S. K.; Lonergan, M. C.; Parashar, G. K. Magn. Res. Chem. 1991, 29, 1191-1195.
- 81. Bradley, D. C.; Chudzynska, H.; Hursthouse, M. B.; Motevalli, M. Polyhedron, 1991, 10, 1049-1059.
- 82. Duchateau, R.; Tuinstra, T.; Brussee, E. A. C.; Meetsma, A.; van Duijnen, P. T.; Teuben, J. H. Organometallics 1997, 16, 3511-3522.

- 83. Lobkovskii, E. B.; Kravchenko, S. E.; Semenenko, K. N. Zh. Strukt. Khim. 1977, 18, 389-391.
- 84. Lappert, M. F.; Singh, A.; Atwood, J. L.; Hunter, W. E. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1983, 206-207.
- 85. Lobkovskii, E. B. Zh. Strukt. Khim. 1983, 24, 66-73.
- 86. Makhaev, V. D.; Borisov, A. P.; Lobkovskii, E. B. Zh. Neorg. Khim. 1984, 29, 1160-1163.
- Mancini, M.; Bougeard, P.; Burns, R. C.; Mlekuz, M.; Sayer, B. G.; Thompson, J. I. A.; McGlinchey, M. J. Inorg. Chem. 1984, 23, 1072–1078.
- 88. Mullica, D. F.; Kautz, J. A.; Farmer, J. M.; Sappenfield, E. L. J. Mol. Struct. 1999, 479, 31-39.
- 89. Kroto, H. W.; Heath, J. R.; O'Brien, S. C.; Curl, R. F.; Smalley, R. E. Nature 1985, 318, 162–163.
- Heath, J. R.; O'Brien, S. C.; Q. Zhang, Y. L.; Curl, R. F.; Kroto, H. W.; Smalley, R. E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1985, 107, 7779–7780.
- 91. Krätschmer, W.; Lamb, L. D.; Fostiropoulos, K.; Huffman, D. R. Nature 1990, 347, 354-358.
- Chai, Y.; Guo, T.; Jin, C.; Haufler, R. E.; Chibante, L. P. F.; Fure, J.; Wang, L.; Alford, J. M.; Smalley, R. E. J. Phys. Chem. 1991, 95, 7564–7568.
- 93. Shinohara, H. Rep. Prog. Phys. 2000, 843-892.
- 94. McElvany, S. W. J. Phys. Chem. 1992, 96, 4935-4937.
- Yannoni, C. S.; Hoinkis, M.; Vries, M. S. d.; Bethune, D. S.; Salem, J. R.; Crowder, M. S.; Johnson, R. D. Science 1992, 256, 1191–1192.
- Shinohara, H.; Sato, H.; Ohkohchi, M.; Ando, Y.; Kodama, T.; T. Shida, T.; Kato, T.; Saito, Y. Nature 1992, 357, 52–54.
- 97. Shinohara, H.; Sato, H.; Y. Saito, Y.; Onkohchic, M.; Ando, Y. J. Phys. Chem. 1992, 96, 3571–3573.
- Weaver, J. H.; Chai, Y.; Kroll, G. H.; Jin, C.; Ohno, T. R.; Haufler, R. E.; Guo, T.; Alford, J. M.; Conceicao, J.; Chibante, L. P. F.; Jain, A.; Palmer, G.; Smalley, R. E. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1992, 190, 460–464.
- 99. Wakabayashi, T.; Shiromaru, H.; Suzuki, S.; Kikuchi, K.; Achiba, Y. Surf. Rev. Lett. 1996, 3, 793-798.
- 100. Suzuki, S.; Kohno, M.; Shiromaru, H.; Achiba, Y.; Kietzmann, H.; Kessler, B.; Gantefor, G.; Eberhardt, W. Z. Phys. D. 1997, 40, 407-409.
- 101. Beyers, R.; Kiang, C.-H.; Johnson, R. D.; Salem, J. R.; de Vries, M. S.; Yannoni, C. S.; Bethune, D. S.; Dorn, H. C.; Burbank, P.; Harich, K.; Stevenson, S. *Nature* 1994, 370, 196–199.
- 102. Huang, Y.; Freiser, B. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 9418-9419.
- 103. Huang, Y.; Freiser, B. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 8186-8187.
- 104. Roth, L. M.; Huang, Y.; Schwedler, J. T.; Cassady, C. J.; Ben-Amotz, D.; Kahr, B.; Freiser, B. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 6298–6299.
- 105. Shinohara, H.; Takata, M.; Sakata, M.; Hashizume, T.; Sakurai, T. Metallofullerenes. *Mater. Sci. Forum* 1996, 232, 207–232.
- 106. Kikuchi, K.; Suzuki, S.; Nakao, Y.; Nakahara, N.; Wakabayashi, T.; Shiromara, H.; Saito, K.; Ikemoto, I.; Achiba, Y. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1993, 216, 67–71.
- 107. Takata, M.; Umeda, B.; Nishibori, E.; Sakata, M.; Saito, Y.; Ohno, M.; Shinohara, H. Nature 1995, 377, 47-49.
- 108. Hino, S.; Umishita, K.; Iwasaki, K.; Miyamae, T.; Shinohara, H. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1998, 300, 145-151.
- 109. Miyake, Y.; Suzuki, S.; Kojima, Y.; Kikuchi, K.; Kobayashi, K.; Nagase, S.; Kainosho, M.; Achiba, Y.; Maniwa, Y.; Fisher, K. J. Phys. Chem. 1996, 100, 9579–9581.
- 110. Nishibori, E.; Takata, M.; Sakata, M.; Inakuma, M.; Shinohara, H. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1998, 298, 74-84.
- 111. Krause, M.; Hulman, M.; Kuzmany, H.; Kuran, P.; Dunsch, L.; Dennis, T. J. S.; Inakuma, M.; Shinohara, H. J. Mol. Struct. 2000, 521, 325–340.
- 112. Wang, C. R.; Kai, T.; Tomiyama, T.; Yoshida, T.; Kobayashi, Y.; Nishibori, E.; Takata, M.; Sakata, M.; Shinohara, H. A. *Nature*, **2000**, 408, 426–427.
- 113. Takata, M.; Nishibori, E.; Sakata, M.; Inakuma, M.; Yamamoto, E.; Shinohara, H. Phys. Rev. Lett 1999, 83, 2214-2217.
- 114. Bartl, A.; Dunsch, L. Synth. Met., 2001, 121, 1147-1148.
- 115. Akasaka, T.; Nagase, S.; Kobayashi, K.; Suzuki, T.; Kato, T.; Kikuchi, K.; Achiba, Y.; Yamamoto, K.; Funasaka, H.; Takahashi, T. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1995, 34, 2139–2141.
- 116. Stevenson, S.; Rice, G.; Glass, T.; Harich, K.; Cromer, F.; Jordan, M. R.; Craft, J.; Hadjull, E.; Biblell, R.; Olmstead, M. M.; Maitra, K.; Fisher, A. J.; Balch, A. L.; Dorn, H. C. *Nature* **1999**, *401*, 55–57.
- 117. Olmstead, M. H.; de Bettencourt-Dias, A.; Duchamp, J. C.; Stevenson, S.; Marciu, D.; Dorn, H. C.; Balch, A. L. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 2001, 40, 1223–1225.
- 118. Jakes, P.; Dinse, K.-P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 8854-8855.
- Stevenson, S.; Fowler, P. W.; Heine, T.; Duchamp, J.; Rice, G.; Glass, T.; Harich, K.; Hadjull, E.; Biblell, R.; Dorn, H. C. *Nature*, 2000, 408, 427–428.
- 120. Wang, C. R.; Kai, T.; Tomiyama, T.; Yoshida, T.; Kobayashi, Y.; Nishibori, E.; Takata, M.; Sakata, M.; Shinohara, H. A. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 2001, 40, 397–399.
- 121. Purdy, A. P.; Berry, A. D.; George, C. F. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 3370-3375.
- 122. Jacobs, H.; Kockelhorn, J. J. Less-Common Met. 1982, 85, 87-95.
- 123. Lappert, M. F.; Sanger, A. R.; Srivastava, G.; Power, P. P. Metal and Metalloid Amides. 1980, Horwood-Wiley: Chichester, UK.
- 124. Karl, M.; Seybert, G.; Massa, W.; Dehnicke, K. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1999, 625, 375-376.
- 125. Karl, M.; Harms, K.; Seybert, G.; Massa, W.; Fau, S.; Frenking, G.; Dehnicke, K. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1999, 625, 2055–2063.
- 126. Gorlitzer, H. W.; Spiegler, M.; Anwander, R. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 1009-1014.
- 127. Anwander, R.; Gorlitzer, H. W.; Gerstberger, G.; Palm, C.; Runte, O.; Spiegler, M. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1999, 3611–3615.
- 128. Anfang, S.; Grob, T.; Harms, K.; Seybert, G.; Massa, W.; Greiner, A.; Dehnicke, K. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1999, 625, 1853–1859.
- 129. Lee, L. W. M.; Piers, W. E.; Elsegood, M. R. J.; Clegg, W.; Parvez, M. Organometallics 1999, 18, 2947–2949.
- 130. Knight, L. K.; Piers, W. E.; McDonald, R. Chem. Eur. J. 2000, 6, 4322-4326.
- 131. Gorlitzer, H. W.; Spiegler, M.; Anwander, R. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1999, 4287-4288.

- 132. Mehrotra, R. C. Oximes, Guanidines and Related Species. In Comprehensive Coordination Chemistry; Wilkinson, S. G., Ed.; Pergamon, Oxford, 1987; Vol. 2. pp 269-291.
- 133. Lu, Z.; Yap, G. P. A.; Richeson, D. S. Organometallics 2001, 20, 706-712.
- 134. Bambirra, S.; Brandsma, M. J. R.; Brussee, E. A. C.; Meetsma, A.; Hessan, B.; Teuben, J. H. Organometallics 2000, 19. 3197-3204.
- 135. Pfeiffer, D.; Ximba, B. J.; Liable-Sands, L. M.; Rheingold, A. L.; Heeg, M. J.; Coleman, D. M.; Sehlegel, H. B.; Kuech, T. F.; Winter, C. H. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 4539-4548.
- 136. Edelmann, F. T. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1994, 137, 403-481.
- 137. Hagadorn, J. R.; Arnold, J. Organometallics 1996, 15, 984-991.
- 138. Duchateau, R.; van Wee, C. T.; Meetsma, A.; van Duijnen, P. T.; Teuben, J. H. Organometallics 1996, 15, 2279-90.
- 139. Roesky, P. W. Chem. Soc. Rev. 2000, 29, 335-345.
- 140. Dehnen, S.; Burgstein, M. R.; Roesky, P. W. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1998, 2425-2429.
- 141. Amin, S.; Marks, C.; Toomey, L. M.; Churchill, M. R.; Morrow, J. R. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1996, 246, 99-107.
- 142. Adam, B.; Bill, E.; Bothe, E.; Goerdt, B.; Haselhorst, G.; Hildenbrand, K.; Sokolowski, A.; Steenken, S.; Weyhermüller, T.; Wieghardt, K. Chem. Eur. J. 1997, 3, 308-319.
- 143. Matsuo, G.; Mashima, K.; Tani, K. Organometallics 2001, 20, 3510-3518.
- 144. Mashiko, T.; Dolphin, D. Porphyrins, Hydroporphyrins, Azaporphyrins, Phthalocyanines, Corroles, Corrins and Related Macrocycles. In Comprehensive Coordination Chemistry; Wilkinson, S. G., Ed.; Pergamon, Oxford, 1987; Vol. 2. pp 813-898.
- 145. Arnold, J.; Hoffman, C. G.; Dawson, D. Y.; Hollander, F. J. Organometallics 1993, 12, 3645–3654.
- 146. Jubb, J.; Gambarotta, S.; Duchateau, R.; Teuben, J. H. Chem. Commun. 1994, 2641-2642.
- 147. Jiang, J.; Bian, Y.; Furuya, F.; Liu, W.; Choi, M. T. M.; Kobayashi, N.; Li, H.-W.; Yang, Q.; Mak, T. C. W.; Ng, D. K. P. Chem. Eur. J. 2001, 7, 5059-5069.
- 148. Jiang, J.; Liu, W.; Cheng, K. L.; Poon, K. W.; Ng, D. K. P. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 413-417.
- 149. Jiang, J.; Liu, W.; Poon, K. W.; Du, D.; Arnold, D. P.; Ng, D. K. P. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 205–209. 150. Wong, W.-K.; Zhang, L.; Xue, F. g.; Mak, T. C. W. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1999, 3053–3062.
- 151. Sewchok, M. G.; Haushalter, R. C.; Merola, J. S. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1988, 144, 47-51.
- 152. Wong, W.-K.; Zhang, L. L.; Wong, W.-T.; Xue, F.; Mak, T. C. W. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1999, 615-622.
- 153. McAuliffe, C. A. Phosphorus, Arsenic, Antimony and Bismuth Ligands. In Comprehensive Coordination Chemistry; Wilkinson, S. G., Ed.; Pergamon, Oxford, 1987; Vol. 2. pp 990-1066.
- 154. Nief, F. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1998, 178-180(Pt. 1), 13-81.
- 155. Fryzuk, M. D.; Haddad, T. S.; Berg, D. J. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1990, 99, 137-212.
- 156. Arnold, P. L.; Cloke, F. G. N.; Hitchcock, P. B.; Nixon, J. F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 7630-7631.
- 157. Arnold, P. L.; Cloke, F. G. N.; Nixon, J. F. Chem. Commun. 1998, 797-798.
- 158. Karsch, H. H.; Ferazin, G.; Kooijman, H.; Steigelmann, O.; Schier, A.; Bissinger, P.; Hiller, W. J. Organomet. Chem. 1994, 482, 151-167.
- 159. Goggin, P. L. Sulphoxides, Amide, Amine Oxides and Related Ligands. In Comprehensive Coordination Chemistry; Wilkinson, S. G., Ed.; Pergamon, Oxford, 1987; Vol. 2. pp 487-503.
- 160. Deakin, L.; Levason, W.; Popham, M. C.; Reid, G.; Webster, M. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 2000, 2439-2447.
- 161. Chisholm, M. H.; Rothwell, I. P. Alkoxides and Aryloxides. In Comprehensive Coordination Chemistry; Wilkinson, S. G., Ed.; Pergamon, Oxford, 1987; Vol. 2. pp 335-364.
- 162. Hubert-Pfalzgraf, L. G. Appl. Organomet. Chem. 1992, 6, 627-643.
- 163. Turevskaya, E. P.; Belokon, A. I.; Starikova, Z. A.; Yanovsky, A. I.; Kiruschenkov, E. N.; Turova, N. Y. Polyhedron **2000**, *19*, 705–711.
- 164. Bradley, D. C.; Chudzynska, H.; Frigo, D. M.; Hammond, M. E.; Hursthouse, M. B.; Mazid, M. A. Polyhedron **1990**, *9*, 719–726.
- 165. Poncelet, O.; Sartain, W. J.; Hubert-Pfalzgraf, L. G.; Folting, K.; Caulton, K. G. Inorg. Chem. 1989, 28, 263-267.
- 166. Mehrotra, R. C.; Singh, A. Chem. Soc. Rev. 1996, 1-13.
- 167. Miele, P.; Foulon, J. D.; Hovnian, N.; Cot, L. J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Commun. 1993, 29-31.
- 168. Gradeff, P. S.; Yunlu, K.; Deming, T. J.; Olofson, J. M.; Doedens, R. J.; Evans, W. J. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 420-424.
- 169. Hitchcock, P. B.; Lappert, M. F.; Singh, A. Chem. Commun. 1983, 1499-1501.
- 170. Stevels, W. M.; Ankone, M. J. K.; Dijkstra, P. J.; Feijen, J. Macromolecules 1996, 29, 6132-6138.
- 171. Deacon, G. B.; Fanwick, P. E.; Gitlits, A.; Rothwell, I. P.; Skelton, B. W.; White, A. H. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 1505-1514.
- 172. Evans, W. J.; Olofson, J. M.; Ziller, J. W. Inorg. Chem. 1989, 28, 4308-4309.
- 173. Evans, W. J.; Sollberger, M. S. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 27, 4417-4423.
- 174. Poncelet, O.; Hubert-Pfalzgraf, L. G.; Doran, J. C.; Astier, R. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1989, 1846-1848.
- 175. Anwander, R.; Munck, F. C.; Priermeier, T.; Scherer, W.; Runte, O.; Herrmann, W. A. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 3545-3552.
- 176. Mazdiyasni, K. S.; Schaper, B. J. J. Less-Common Met. 1973, 30, 105-112.
- 177. Labrize, F.; Hubert-Pfalzgraf, L. G. Polyhedron 1995, 14, 881-888.
- 178. Evans, W. J.; Ansari, M. A.; Ziller, J. W.; Khan, S. I. J. Organomet. Chem. 1998, 553, 141-148. 179. Hogerheide, M. P.; Ringelberg, S. N.; Grove, D. M.; Jastrzebski, J. T. B. H.; Boersma, J.; Smeets, W. J. J.; Spek, A. L.;
- van Koten, G. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 1185-1194.
- 180. Laurent, F.; Huffman, J. C.; Folting, K.; Caulton, K. G. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 3980-3985.
- Labrize, F.; Hubert-Pfalzgraf, L. G.; Daran, J.-C.; Halut, S. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1993, 1556–1558.
 Labrize, F.; Hubert-Pfalzgraf, L. G.; Daran, J.-C.; Halut, S.; Tobaly, P. Polyhedron 1996, 15, 2707–2718.
- 183. Veith, M.; Mathur, C.; Huch, V. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 2391-2399.
- 184. Wang, S. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 2252-2253.
- 185. Evans, W. J.; Boyle, T. J.; Ziller, J. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 5084-5092.
- 186. Guillon, H.; Hubert-Pfalzgraf, L. G.; Vaissermann, J. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 1243–1252.
- 187. Marciniec, B.; Maciejewski, H. Coord. Chem. Rev. 2001, 223, 301-335.

- 188. Covert, K. J.; Neihamer, D. R.; Zonnevylle, M. C.; LaPointe, R. E.; Schaller, C. P.; Wolczanski, P. T. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 2494–2508.
- 189. McGeary, M. J.; Coan, P. S.; Folting, K.; Streib, W. E.; Caulton, K. G. Inorg.Chem. 1989, 28, 3283-3284.
- 190. Shao, P.; Berg, D. J.; Bushnell, G. W. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 6334-6339.
- 191. Lorenz, V.; Fischer, A.; Jacob, K.; Bruser, W.; Edelmann, F. T. Chem. Eur. J. 2001, 7, 848-857.
- 192. Kobayashi, S.; Hachiya, I.; Araki, M.; Ishitani, H. Tetrahedron Lett. 1993, 34, 3755-3758.
- 193. Kobayashi, S. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 15-27.
- 194. Longbottom, D. Synlett 1999, 2023.
- 195. Kobayashi, S.; Wakabayashi, T.; Nagayama, S.; Oyamada, H. Tetrahedron Lett. 1997, 38, 4559-4562.
- 196. Castellani, C. B.; Carugo, O.; Perotti, A.; Sacchi, D. J. Mol. Catal. 1993, 85, 65-74.
- 197. Yadav, J. S.; Reddy, B. V. S.; Chand, P. K. Tetrahedron Lett. 2001, 42, 4057-4059.
- 198. Tsuchimoto, T.; Hiyama, T.; Fukusawa, S. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1996, 2345-2346.
- 199. Nakajima, M.; Yamaguchi, Y.; Hashimoto, S. Chem. Commun. 2001, 1596-1597.
- 200. Castellani, C. B.; Perotti, A.; Scrivanti, M.; Vidari, G. Tetrahedron, 2000, 56, 8161-8166.
- 201. Kobayashi, S. Top. Organomet. Chem. 1999, 2, 285-305.
- 202. Nagayama, S.; Kobayashi, S. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 2000, 39, 567-569.
- 203. Gu, W.; Zhou, W.-J.; Gin, D. L. Chem. Mater. 2001, 13, 1949.
- 204. Kobayashi, S.; Tsuchiya, T.; Komoto, I.; Matsuo, J. J. Organomet. Chem. 2001, 624, 392-394.
- 205. Kobayashi, S.; Wakabayashi, T. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 5389-5392.
- 206. Castellani, C. B.; Carugo, O.; Giusti, M.; Sardone, N. Eur. J. Solid State Inorg. Chem. 1995, 32, 1089-1099.
- 207. Hamidi, M. E. M.; Pascal, J.-L. Polyhedron 1994, 13, 1787-1792.
- 208. Reetz, M. T.; Giebel, D. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 2000, 39, 2498-2501.
- 209. Waller, F. J.; Barrett, A. G. M.; Braddock, D. C.; Ramprasad, D.; McKinnell, R. M.; White, A. J. P.; Williams, D. J.; Ducray, R. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 64, 2910–2913.
- 210. Siedler, A. R. Diketones and Related Ligands. In *Comprehensive Coordination Chemistry*; Wilkinson, S. G., Ed.; Pergamon, Oxford, 1987; Vol. 2. pp 365–412.
- 211. Narbutt, J.; Krejzler, J. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1999, 286, 175-180.
- Fleeting, K. A.; Davies, H. O.; Jones, A. C.; O'Brien, P.; Leedham, T. J.; Crosbie, M. J.; Wright, P. J.; Williams, D. J. Chem. Vap. Deposition 1999, 5, 261–264.
- 213. Colominas, C.; Lau, K. H.; Hildebrand, D. L.; Couch-Baker, S.; Sanjurjo, A. J. Chem. Eng. Data 2001, 46, 446-450.
- 214. Guillon, H.; Daniele, S.; Hubert-Pfalzgraf, L. G.; Bavoux, C. Inorg. Chim. Acta 2000, 304, 99-107.
- 215. Hubert-Pfalzgraf, L. G.; Miele-Pajot, N.; Papiernik, R.; Vaissermann, J. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1999, 4127-4130.
- 216. Pollard, K. D.; Vital, J. J.; Yap, G. P. A.; Puddephatt, R. J. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1998, 1265-1267.
- 217. Yan, C.; Zhang, Y.; Li, B.; Li, T.; Xu, G. Polyhedron 1996, 15, 2895-2899.
- 218. Mertes, K. B.; Lehn, J.-M. Multidentate Macrocyclic and Macropolycyclic Ligands. In *Comprehensive Coordination Chemistry*; Wilkinson, S. G., Ed.; Pergamon, Oxford, 1987; Vol. 2, pp 915–957.
- 219. Strel'tsova, N. R.; Bel'skii, V. K.; Bulychev, B. M.; Kireeva, O. K. Zh. Neorg. Khim. 1992, 37, 1822-1827.
- 220. Willey, G. R.; Lakin, M. T.; Alcock, N. W. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1993, 3407-3411.
- 221. Willey, G. R.; Lakin, M. T.; Alcock, N. W. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1992, 1619-1620.
- 222. Willey, G. R.; Meehan, P. R.; Rudd, M. D.; Drew, M. G. B. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1995, 811-817.
- 223. Meehan, P. R.; Willey, G. R. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1999, 284, 71-75.
- 224. Webb, H. R.; Hardie, M. J.; Raston, C. L. Chem. Eur. J. 2001, 7, 3616-3620.
- 225. Rogers, R. D.; Kurihara, L. K. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1987, 129, 277-282.
- 226. Steed, J. W.; McCool, B. J.; Junk, P. C. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1998, 3417-3423.
- 227. Lu, T.; Gan, X.; Tan, M.; Yu, K. Polyhedron 1993, 12, 621-625.
- 228. Aspinall, H. C.; Bradley, D. C.; Hursthouse, M. B.; Sales, K. D.; Walker, N. P. C. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1985, 1585–1586.
- 229. McCollum, B. C.; Dudis, D. S.; Lachgar, A.; Corbett, J. D. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 2030-2032.
- 230. Böhmer, N.; Meyer, G. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 2001, 627, 1248-1252.
- 231. Fjellvag, H.; Karen, P. Acta Chem. Scand. 1994, 48, 294-297.
- 232. Haarland, A.; Martinsen, K.-G.; Shorokhov, D. J.; Girichev, G. V.; Sokolov, V. I. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1998, 2787–2792.
- 233. Ripert, V.; Hubert-Pfalzgraf, L. G.; Vaissermann, J. Polyhedron, 999, 18, 1845-1851.
- 234. Willey, G. R.; Meehan, P. R.; Drew, M. G. B. Polyhedron 1997, 16, 3485-3487.
- 235. Rabe, G. W.; Berube, C. D.; Yap, G. P. A. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 2682-2685.
- 236. Willey, G. R.; Woodman, T. J.; Errington, W. Transition Met. Chem. 1998, 23, 387-390.
- 237. Sobota, P.; Utko, J.; Szafert, S. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 5203-5206.
- 238. Lachgar, A.; Dudis, D. S.; Corbett, J. D. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 3321-3326.
- 239. Hwu, S.-J.; Corbett, J. D. J. Solid State Chem. 1986, 64, 331-346.
- 240. Hwu, S.-J.; Dudis, D. S.; Corbett, J. D. Inorg. Chem. 1987, 26, 469-473.
- 241. Dudis, D. S.; Corbett, J. D. Inorg. Chem. 1987, 26, 1933-1940.
- 242. Dudis, S. D.; Corbett, J. D.; Hwu, S.-J. Inorg. Chem. 1986, 25, 3434-3438.
- 243. Hughbanks, T.; Corbett, J. D. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 27, 2022-2026.
- 244. Hector, A. L.; Levason, W.; Webster, M. Inorg. Chim. Acta. 2000, 298, 43-49.
- 245. Ma, J.-F.; Jin, Z.-S.; Ni, J.-Z. Polyhedron 1995, 14, 563-566.
- 246. Zhang, Y.-W.; Wang, Z.-M.; Jia, J.-T.; Liao, C.-S.; Yan, C.-H. Acta Crystallogr. 1999, C55, 1418–1420.
- 247. Shaver, A. Polypyrazolylborates and Related Ligands. In *Comprehensive Coordination Chemistry*; Wilkinson, S. G., Ed.; Pergamon, Oxford, 1987; Vol. 2. pp 245–259.
- 248. Reger, D. L.; Lindeman, J. A.; Lebioda, L. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 27, 1890-1896.
- 249. Reger, D. L.; Lindeman, J. A.; Lebioda, L. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 27, 3923-3929.
- 250. Reger, D. L.; Lindemann, J. A.; Lebioda, L. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1987, 139, 71-73.
- 251. Lee, L.; Berg, D. J.; Einstein, F. W.; Batchelor, R. J. Organometallics 1997, 16, 1819-1821.

- 252. Duchateau, R.; Brussee, E. A. C.; Meetsma, A.; Teuben, J. H. Organometallics 1997, 16, 5506-5516.
- Calligaris, M.; Randaccio, L. Schiff Bases and Acyclic Polydentate Ligands. In *Comprehensive Coordination Chemistry*; Wilkinson, S. G., Ed.; Pergamon, Oxford, 1987; Vol. 2. pp 715–738.
- 254. Evans, W. J.; Fujimoto, C. H.; Ziller, J. W. Chem. Commun. 1999, 311-312.
- 255. Runte, O.; Piermeier, T.; Anwander, R. Chem. Commun. 1996, 1385-1386.
- 256. Emslie, D. J. H.; Piers, W. E.; McDonald, R. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 2002, 293-294.
- 257. Fryzuk, M. D.; Jafarpour, L.; Kerton, F. M.; Love, J. B.; Patrick, B. O.; Rettig, S. J. Organometallics 2001, 20, 1387-1396.
- 258. Pernin, C. G.; Ibers, J. A. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 1222-1226.

Comprehensive Coordination Chemistry II

ISBN (set): 0-08-0437486

^{© 2003,} Elsevier Ltd. All Rights Reserved No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in any retrieval system or transmitted in any form or by any means electronic, electrostatic, magnetic tape, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise, without permission in writing from the publishers

4.2 Titanium

S. B. SMITH and D. W. STEPHAN University of Windsor, Ontario, Canada

4.2.1 INTRO	DUCTION	33
4.2.2 TITAN	IUM(IV)	33
4.2.2.1 Bor	on-based Ligand Complexes	33
4.2.2.2 Silic	con-based Ligand Complexes	33
4.2.2.3 Niti	ogen-based Ligand Complexes	34
4.2.2.3.1	Neutral nitrogen ligand complexes	34
4.2.2.3.2	Nitrido ligand complexes	35
4.2.2.3.3	Azido and hydrazido ligand complexes	36
4.2.2.3.4	Amido ligand complexes	36
4.2.2.3.5	Carbimido ligand complexes	37
4.2.2.3.6	Phosphinimido ligand complexes	37
4.2.2.3.7	Imido ligand complexes	38
4.2.2.3.8	Miscellaneous monodentate ligands	40
4.2.2.3.9	Amidinato and guanidinato ligand complexes	41
4.2.2.3.10	Bis-amino phosphinato ligand complexes	41
4.2.2.3.11	Sulfodiimido ligand complexes	41
4.2.2.3.12	Pyrazolyl ligand complexes	41
4.2.2.3.13	Amidopyridine ligand complexes	41
4.2.2.3.14	Aminotroponiminato ligand complexes	41
4.2.2.3.15	Miscellaneous monoanionic bidentate ligand complexes	42
4.2.2.3.16	Dianionic bidentate ligand complexes	42
4.2.2.3.17	Miscellaneous bidentate-dianionic ligand complexes	43
4.2.2.3.18	Neutral tridentate ligand complexes	43
4.2.2.3.19	Monoanionic tridentate ligand complexes	44
4.2.2.3.20	Tris(pyrazolyl)borate ligand complexes	44
4.2.2.3.21	Dianionic tridentate ligand complexes	44
4.2.2.3.22	Trianionic tripodal ligand complexes	45
4.2.2.3.23	Dianionic tetradentate ligand complexes	45
4.2.2.3.24	Porphyrin and porphyrinogen ligand complexes	47
4.2.2.3.25	Phthalocyaninate ligand complexes	48
4.2.2.3.26	Tetraanionic tridentate ligand complexes	49
4.2.2.3.27	Tetraanionic tetradentate ligand complexes	50
4.2.2.3.28	Trianionic hexadentate ligand complexes	50
4.2.2.4 Pho	sphorus Ligand Complexes	50
4.2.2.4.1	Neutral phosphorus ligand complexes	50
4.2.2.5 Oxy	gen-based Ligand Complexes	50
4.2.2.5.1	Neutral oxygen ligand complexes	50
4.2.2.5.2	Oxide, hydroxide, and peroxo ligand complexes	52
4.2.2.5.3	Alkoxide ligand complexes	52
4.2.2.5.4	Aryloxide ligand complexes	54
4.2.2.5.5	Siloxide ligand complexes	55
4.2.2.5.6	Miscellaneous anionic oxygen ligand complexes	55
4.2.2.5.7	Heterometallic alkoxide complexes	55
4.2.2.5.8	Diketonate ligand complexes	58
4.2.2.5.9	O ₂ -monoanionic bidentate ligand complexes	58
4.2.2.5.10	Carboxylate, carbamate, and oxolate ligand complexes	58
4.2.2.5 11	Bidentate alkoxide ligand complexes	50
4.2 2 5 12	Bidentate arvloxide ligand complexes	50
4.2 2 5 13	Disiloxane ligand complexes	60
4.2.2.5.14	Borate ligand complexes	61
	0 1	

4 2 2 5 1 5	Nitrate and sulfate ligand complexes	61
4.2.2.5.16	Phosphate and phosphonate ligand complexes	62
4.2.2.5.17	Dianionic tridentate ligand complexes	62
4.2.2.5.18	Trianionic tridentate ligand complexes	62
4.2.2.5.19	Calix[n]arene complexes	62
4.2.2.5.20	Higher denticity ligand complexes	63
4.2.2.6 Sulf	ur, Selenium, and Tellerium Ligand Complexes	63
4.2.2.6.1	Neutral sulfur, selenium, and tellerium-based ligand complexes	63
4.2.2.6.2	Sulfide, selenide, and telluride complexes	64
4.2.2.6.3	Thiolato, selenolato, and tellurolato ligand complexes	64
4.2.2.6.4	Dithiocarbamate and dithiophosphate ligand complexes	65
4.2.2.7 Halo	ometallate Complexes	65
4.2.2.8 Meta	al–Metal Bonded Compounds	66
4.2.2.9 Hyd	ride Ligand Complexes	66
4.2.2.10 Mi	xed Donor Ligand Complexes	66
4.2.2.10.1	C,N ligand complexes	66
4.2.2.10.2	Neutral N,O bidentate ligand complexes	67
4.2.2.10.3	Monoanionic N,O bidentate ligand complexes	67
4.2.2.10.4	Dianionic N,O bidentate ligand complexes	68
4.2.2.10.5	N ₂ C tridentate ligand complexes	68
4.2.2.10.6	N_2O tridentate ligand complexes	68
4.2.2.10.7	NO_2 tridentate ligand complexes	69
4.2.2.10.8	N,O tripodal ligand complexes	70
4.2.2.10.9	N,O tetradentate ligand complexes	71
4.2.2.10.10	4 denticity N,O ligand complexes	73
4.2.2.10.11	N,S ligand complexes	73
4.2.2.10.12	N,Se bidentate ligand complexes	74
4.2.2.10.13	<i>O,P</i> bidentate ligand complexes	74
4.2.2.10.14	O,S bidentate ligand complexes	74
4.2.2.10.15	O_2E (E=S, Te) tridentate ligand complexes	74
4.2.2.10.16	O,N,S tridentate ligand complexes	74
4.2.3 TITANI		74
4.2.3.1 Bord	on-based Ligand Complexes	75
4.2.3.2 Bord	bhydride Ligand Complexes	75
4.2.3.3 Cart	bon-based Ligand Complexes	75
4.2.3.4 Nitr	ogen-based Ligand Complexes	75
4.2.3.4.1	Neutral nitrogen ligand complexes	75
4.2.3.4.2	Amido ligand complexes	76
4.2.3.4.3	Imao ligana complexes	11
4.2.3.4.4	Amianato ligana complexes	11
4.2.3.4.5	Diketinimato ligana complexes	11
4.2.3.4.0	Miscellaneous bidentate ligana complexes	//
4.2.3.4.7	Monoanionic iriaeniaie ligana complexes	/8 79
4.2.3.4.8	Tris(pyrazolyi) borate ligana complexes	/8 79
4.2.3.4.9	Dianionici ritaentale ligana complexes	/8
4.2.3.4.10	Diamonic lerradentale ligana complexes	70
4.2.3.4.11 4.2.3 Dha	rompien complexes	78
4.2.3.5 FIIO	sphorus-based Ligand Complexes	79
4.2.3.0 OXy	Nautal arygen down ligad complexes	79
4.2.3.0.1	Hydroxide ligand complexes	79
42363	Alkovide ligand complexes	79
42364	Silovide ligand complexes	80
42365	Dikatonata ligana complexes	81
42366	Carboxylate carboxate and oxalate ligand complexes	81
42367	Miscellaneous oxveen ligand complexes	81
4 2 3 7 Sulfi	in based Ligand Complexes	81
4238 Mix	ed Donor Lizza d'Omplexes	82
4 2 3 8 1	NO hidentate ligand complexes	82
4 2 3 8 2	NO ₂ tridentate ligand complexes	82
4.2.3.8.3	NO tetradentale ligand complexes	82
4.2.3.8.4	Hexa- and octadentate N.O ligand complexes	83
4.2.3.8.5	N.S. bidentate ligand complexes	83
4.2.3.8.6	O,P bidentate ligand complexes	83
4.2.3.9 Hali	de Complexes	83
4.2.3.9.1	Metal—metal bonded complexes	84
4.2.4 TITANI	UM(II)	84
4.2.4.1 Nitr	ogen-based Ligand Complexes	84
4.2.4.1.1	Nitrogen-based ligand complexes	84
4.2.4.1.2	Amido ligand complexes	84
4.2.4.1.3	Porphyrin complexes	85
4.2.4.1.4	Phosphine ligand complexes	86
4.2.4.2 Oxy	gen-based Ligand Complexes	86
4.2.5	TITANIUM(0)	86
-------	---------------	----
4.2.6	TITANIUM(-II)	87
4.2.7	REFERENCES	87

4.2.1 INTRODUCTION

Titanium chemistry has seen a burgeoning growth since the early 1980s. Much of the effort in this area has been spurred by the potential for applications in stoichiometric synthesis, catalysis, and materials chemistry. For example, in recent years the push for "single-site" olefin polymerization catalysts has prompted the development of many new ligands and the resulting studies of Ti coordination chemistry. Similarly, efforts to uncover molecular precursors to TiN have led to the study of the chemistry of coordination compounds designed to degrade thermally. Applications aside, many studies of unique Ti coordination compounds have been prompted simply by intellectual curiousity and creativity.

In this chapter, we review the progress in coordination chemistry of Ti since the early 1980s. This chapter was written as an extension of the previous issue of Comprehensive Coordination Chemistry (*CCC*, 1987) and in defining the scope of this review, we have specifically limited the discussion to exclude compounds deemed to be principally organometallic in nature.

4.2.2 TITANIUM(IV)

4.2.2.1 Boron-based Ligand Complexes

Carborane ligand complexes $TiX_2(\eta^5-Et_2C_2B_4H_4)L_2$ (X = Cl, Me, OBu^t; $L_2 = 2PMe_3$, $Me_2P(CH_2)_nPMe_2$, n=2, 3) were prepared from reaction of $TiCl_4(PMe_3)_2$, $Li[Et_2C_2B_4H_4]$ and phosphine.¹ Related Ti-dicarborollide complexes $Ti(\eta^5-C_2B_9H_{11})(NR_2)(NHR_2)$ (R = Me, Et) were prepared by amine elimination reactions of $Ti(NR_2)_4$ with $C_2B_9H_{13}$.² The related dianionic and trianionic amino and amido-bridged carborane ligands were incorporated into Ti complexes yielding $TiCl((NHCH_2)(\eta^5-C_2B_9H_{10}))^3$ and $TiCl_2((Me_2NCH_2)(\eta^5-C_2B_9H_{10}))$ (1).⁴



The latter compound showed moderate activity as an ethylene polymerization catalyst.

Azaborolinyl–Ti complexes have been reported, including $TiBr_2(\eta^5-(Bu^t)NB(Me)C_3H_3)$. X-ray data revealed an interaction between B and Br.⁵

4.2.2.2 Silicon-based Ligand Complexes

Isolable Ti–Si compounds that lack ancillary Cp-ligands are rare. The metathetical reaction of TiCl(CH₂R)₃ (R = Bu^t, SiMe₃) with Li[Si(SiMe₃)₃] afforded the crystallographically characterized complexes Ti(Si(SiMe₃)₃)(CH₂R)₃.^{6,7} *Ab initio* calculations suggested synthetic strategies to Ti–Si multiple bonds, although these have not been prepared as of yet.^{8–10}

4.2.2.3 Nitrogen-based Ligand Complexes

4.2.2.3.1 Neutral nitrogen ligand complexes

A number of articles have focused on the general issues of structure, stability, donor properties, and ligand strength of neutral ligand–TiCl₄ adducts. Generally these works have involved use of various spectroscopic techniques including NQR, X-ray fluorescence, and NMR spectroscopy.^{11–15}

In more specific work, adducts of the form TiCl_4L_2 have been prepared and reported. These include complexes where L = TMEDA,¹⁶ benzotriazole,¹⁷ benzothiazole,¹⁸ 2-aminobenzimidazole,¹⁹ 2-methyl-2-oxazoline, thiazole and a variety of oxazole-derivatives.²⁰ Similarly, complexes of the form TiCl_4L (L = RC₆H₄NH₂, R = Bu^t, Cl, NO₂, Me^{21,22} isoxazole, 5-methylisoxazole,²⁰ 2-aminobenzimidazole, 2(2'-aminophenyl)benzimidazole,¹⁹ 2-pyridylphenylacetonitrile²²) have been reported. Schiff base adducts of TiCl₄ derived from *N*-methylpyrrole-2-carboxaldehyde, 4-methylbenzaldehyde, salicylaldehyde, and aromatic or aliphatic amines have also been characterized.^{23–25} A variety of 2:1 substituted silyl-amine-Ti adducts have also been reported.^{26–28}

Matrix isolation work and IR spectroscopy have identified the amine adducts $TiF_4(NH_3)$ and $TiF_4(NMe_3)$ at low temperature.²⁹ Winter and co-workers have prepared $TiCl_4(NH_3)_2$, and have used it as a single-source precursor for the deposition of TiN films.³⁰

The reaction of TiCl₄ with SbCl₅ in MeCN afforded the salt fac-[TiCl₃(MeCN)₃][SbCl₆]. Crystallographic data revealed a distorted octahedral Ti environment.³¹

A number of related Ti/N-donor complexes have been synthesized and crystallographically characterized. These include monomeric adducts of TiCl₄ such as TiCl₄(NC₅H₅)₂,^{32,33} TiCl₄(NC₅H₃Me₂), TiCl₄(NC₅H₄Me)³⁴, TiX₄(NC₅H₃Me₂), TiX₄(NC₅H₄Me) (X = Cl, Br),^{35–37} In contrast, the trimethylsilylimidazole adduct was confirmed as Ti₂Cl₆(μ -Cl)₂(NC₃H₃NSiMe₃)₂.³⁸ In addition, the ionic complexes [HNC₃H₃NMe]₂[TiCl₅(NC₃H₃NMe₂)][TiCl₆]_{0.5},³⁴ [HNC₅H₄Me] [TiCl₅(NC₅H₄Me)],³⁹ and [TiL₂]Cl₄ (L = furfuraldazine, 2-thiophenaldazine, 2-pyridinaldazine)⁴⁰ have been reported. TiCl₄(Si(SCN)((OCH₂CH₂)₃N)) was reported as the first example of a silatrane adduct. IR data suggested coordination via the thiocyanate nitrogen atom.⁴¹

 S_4N_4 reacted with TiCl₄ forming what was thought to be the 1:1 adduct TiCl₄(S_4N_4).⁴² This complex was subsequently shown to be dimeric, forming an eight-membered Ti₂N₄S₂ ring (2).⁴³



The related adduct $TiCl_4(S_2N_2)^{44}$ has also been reported.

Spectroscopic methods have probed the properties of N₂-bridged Ti complexes derived from the reaction of *trans*-ReCl(N₂)(PMe₂Ph)₄ with TiCl₄.^{45,46} Raman and ¹⁵N NMR spectral data for TiCl₄ ((μ -N₂)ReCl(PMe₂Ph)₄)₂indicate a TiN₂Relinkage.^{45,46}

TiCl₄ adducts of acetyl and benzoyl nitrile ligands were isolated and formulated as chlorobridged dimers.⁴⁷ Crystallographic studies established a *cis* arrangement of the nitrile ligands in TiCl₄((Me₃Si)₂NC₆H₄CN)₂.⁴⁸ The reaction of TiCl₄ with the dinitrile NC(CH₂)₅CN resulted in the formation of a one-dimensional polymer.⁴⁹ The trimetallic complexes TiCl₄ (Fe(C₅H₄HgSCN)₂) and TiCl₄-(Fe(C₅H₄HgSeCN)₂) were synthesized by reaction of TiCl₄ and Fe(C₅H₄HgSCN)₂.⁵⁰ Subsequently, use of the tetra-nitrile Si(C₆H₄CN)₄ was shown to form a coordination network. Within this network (3) each ligand coordinates to four Ti centers via the nitrile N atoms.⁵¹

A recent study has shown the coordination of phosphinimine ligands in the complex $TiCl_4$ (SiMe₂(NPEt₃)₂) to be a pseudo-octahedral chelate.⁵²



4.2.2.3.2 Nitrido ligand complexes

A review has described transition metal nitrides.⁵³ The majority of Ti nitrido compounds have been stabilized by somewhat sterically encumbering organometallic ligands.⁵⁴⁻⁵⁶ However, $(Ti((Pr^iNCH_2CH_2)_3N))_2(\mu^3-N)Na(THF)$ (4) was unexpectedly synthesized by the reaction of $ClTi(Pr^iNCH_2CH_2)_3N)_3$ and $Na[NH_2]$ in THF. Structural evidence supports Ti—N π bonding.⁵⁷



In recent work, the Ti^{IV}/Re^V complexes TiCl₅(μ -N)ReCl(PMe₂Ph)₃(MeCN) and TiCl₄((μ -N)ReCl₂(PMe₂Ph)₃)₂⁵⁸ have been prepared via reaction of Ti^{IV} precursors and ReCl₂(N)(PMe₂Ph)₃(MeCN). Similarly, the simple nitrido coordination compound (Ti₂Cl₅(NC₅H₃Me₂)₅)(μ -N) has been recently reported from the reaction of TiCl₄ with HN(SiMe₃)₂ in the presence of a pyridine donor ligand.⁵⁹

4.2.2.3.3 Azido and hydrazido ligand complexes

The explosive azide compounds $TiBr_2(N_3)_2$ and $TiI_3(N_3)$ were prepared from the reaction of TiX_4 (X = Br, I) with IN₃ and characterized by IR spectroscopy.⁶⁰ Alternatively, oxidation of TiCl₃ ((MeNCH₂CH₂)₃) by NaN₃ followed by the addition of Na[BPh₄] was reported to give [TiCl₂-((MeNCH₂CH₂)₃)(N₃)][BPh₄].⁶¹ In the same year, Gross and Siegrist crystallographically characterized (Ti(NMe₂)(N₃)(μ -NMe₂))₃(μ ³-N₃)(μ ³-NH) (**5**), which was derived from the reaction of Ti(NMe₂)₄ and Me₃SiN₃.⁶² In a similar synthesis, the oxidation of Ti(N(Bu^t)C₆H₃Me₂)₂(CH (SiMe₃)₂)(NCMe) by Me₃SiN₃ gave Ti(N₃)(N(Bu^t)C₆H₃Me₂)₂(CH(SiMe₃)₂).⁶³

Roesky and co-workers isolated several Ti^{IV} azido complexes from the reaction of Ti(NMe₂)₄, Me₃SiN₃, and N-donors, including Ti(NMe₂)₂(N₃)₂(NC₅H₅)₂, Ti(NMe₂)₂(N₃)₂(bipy), and Ti (NMe₂)₃(N₃)(bipy). These complexes yielded TiN when heated to 300–400 °C.⁶⁴ In a similar vein, (TiCl(NBu^t)(μ -N₃)(NC₅H₅)₂)₂ and (Ti(NCy)(μ -N₃)₂(NC₅H₅)₂)₂ were prepared from TiCl₂(NR)(H₂NBu^t)₃.⁶⁵ Ti-azides have found applications as reagents for the regio-specific ring opening of 2,3-epoxy alcohols⁶⁶ or as catalysts for the syntheses of O-protected azidohydrins.⁶⁷

Few Ti^{IV}–hydrazido complexes exist without Cp-ligands. The reactions of HNMeNMe₂ and HNPhNH₂ with TiCl₃((N₂C₃H₂)₃BH) yielded the complexes, TiCl₃((N₂C₃H₂)₃BH)(η^2 -NMeNMe₂) and TiCl₃((N₂C₃H₂)₃BH)(NPhNH₂). Both of these complexes were structurally characterized, confirming the η^2 -bonding mode of the hydrazido ligand.⁶⁸ More recently, the reaction of two equivalents of HNSiMe₃N(SiMe₃)₂ with TiCl₄ yielded TiCl₂(η^2 -HNN-(SiMe₃)₂)₂.⁶⁹ Addition of a third equivalent of hydrazine afforded TiCl(η^2 -HNN(SiMe₃)₂)₃. Alternatively, treatment of TiCl₄ with dilithiated 1,1- and 1,2-substituted hydrazines afforded complexes such as TiCl₂(μ^2 -NSiMe₃NSiMe₃)₂. This complex was also structurally characterized.⁶⁹ Winter and co-workers synthesized and structurally characterized the first Ti^{IV}–triazenido complex Ti(NR₂)₂(PhNNNPh)₂ (R = Me, Et).⁷⁰

The pyrazolate-hydrazido complex TiMe(η^2 -HNN(CH₂CH₂)₂NMe)(η^2 -N₂C₃HBu^t₂)₂ (6) was derived from the reaction 1-amino-4-methylpiperazine and TiMe₂(η^2 -N₂C₃HBu^t₂)₂.⁷¹ In a similar fashion, the porphyrin hydrazido complexes Ti(TTP)(NNR₂) (R = Me, Ph) were synthesized by treatment of TiCl₂(TTP) with H₂NNR₂ in the presence of piperidine.⁷²



While the complexes $TiMe_2((Bu^tN)_2Si(CH_2)_3)$ and $TiMeCl((Bu^tN)_2Si(CH_2)_3)$ react with O₂ to give the dimers $(TiX(\mu-OMe)((Bu^tN)_2Si(CH_2)_3))_2$ (X = Cl, Me), $TiCl_2((Bu^tN)_2Si(CH_2)_3)$ reacted with O₂ to give the hydrazido complex $(TiCl_2((Bu^tN)_2SiO(CH_2)_3))_2$ (7).⁷³

4.2.2.3.4 Amido ligand complexes

In the early 1980s the adducts $Ti(NMe_2)_2(\mu-NMe_2)_2MX_4$ (M = Sn, Zr, Hf; X = Cl, Br) were isolated and characterized spectroscopically.⁷⁴ The complexes $TiX_2(N(SiMe_3)_2)_2$ (X = Cl, Me) were prepared via facile metathesis.⁷⁵ In a similar manner, $TiX(N(SiMe_3)_2)_3$ (X = Me,⁷⁶ F⁷⁷) and $TiCl_n(N(SiCl_3)_2)_{4-n}$ (n = 2,3)^{78,79} have been isolated and structurally characterized. A crystal structure of TiCl (NEt₂)₃ confirmed the expected pseudo-tetrahedral geometry about Ti and the planar nature of the N atoms.⁸⁰ Similar geometries were also confirmed for TiCl(NCy₂)₃,⁸¹ Ti(OC₆H₂Bu^t₂Ph)₂(NMe₂)₂,⁸² and Ti(OC₆H₃Bu^t₂)₂(NMe₂)₂.⁸³

CVD techniques employing Ti-amides have been probed as routes to TiN films. Precursors include Ti(NMe₂)₄, Ti(NEt₂)₄, TiBu^t(NMe₂)₃, and (Ti(μ -NBu^t)(NMe₂)₂)₂^{84,85} and (Ti(NMe₂)(N₃)-(μ -NMe₂))₃(μ ³-N₃)(μ ³-NH).⁶² A related *ab initio* analysis of small-molecule (HX) elimination from Ti-amides (TiH₂(NH₂)X) to Ti-imides (TiH₂(NH)) suggested that precursors with higher Ti-H interaction led to lower activation barriers.⁸⁶

Cummins and co-workers showed that addition of Li[Bu^t-d⁶NC₆H₃Me₂] to TiCl₂(NMe₂)₂ afforded Ti(NMe₂)₂(Bu^t-d⁶NC₆H₃Me₂)₂. This complex reacted subsequently with MeI affording TiI₂(Bu^t-d⁶NC₆H₃Me₂)₂.⁸⁷ A variety of similar Ti–amido complexes containing halide or aryl-oxide ligands have been prepared. Alternatively, oxidation of Ti((Me₂ (Ph)C)NC₆H₃Me₂)₂(μ -Cl)₂-Li(TMEDA) with CHCl₃ afforded the product TiCl₂((Me₂(Ph)C)NC₆H₃Me₂)₂.⁸⁸

Ti^{IV} dialkylamide complexes have been utilized as reagents in organic transformations. For example, Ti(NR₂)₄ (R = Me, Et) have been used as chemoselective protecting agents for the addition of Grignard reagents to ketones in the presence of aldehydes.⁸⁹ Alternatively, the compounds Ti(NR₂)_{4-n}Cl_n (n = 0, 2-4) have been used in dialkylamino/alkoxide group exchanges with phosphoryl substrates,^{90,91} while the complex Ti (OPrⁱ)₂(N(O₃SCF₃)₂)₂ acts as a highly efficient catalyst for Friedel–Crafts acylations.⁹²

More recently, plumbylene-amides were used as reagents to prepare TiCl₃(NR(SiMe₃)) (R = SiMe₃, Bu^t, 9-BBN).⁹³ In a similar manner, the bis(amide) derivatives TiCl₂(N(9-BBN)(SiMe₃))₂, TiCl₂(N-Bu^t(SiMe₃))(NR(SiMe₃)) (R = SiMe₃, 9-BBN) TiCl₂(N(SiMe₃)₂)(N(9-BBN)SiMe₃)TiCl₂(N(SiMe₃)₂) were prepared.⁹⁴ The syntheses and spectroscopic data for the compounds Ti(NMe₂)₃(N(B(NMe₂)₂) (Si(NMe₂)₃)) and Ti(NMe₂)₃(N(SiMe₃)(Si(NMe₂)₃)) have also been reported.⁹⁵

4.2.2.3.5 Carbimido ligand complexes

The reaction of Me₃SiNC(CF₃)₂ with TiCl₄ afforded the complex Ti(NC(CF₃)₂)₄(THF).⁹⁶ Subsequently, the related carbimide derivatives (TiCl₃(μ -NC(NMe)₂C₂H₂))₂ (8) and TiCl₃(NC-(NMe)₂C₂H₂)(MeCN)₂ were described. Crystallographic characterization confirmed the bridging and terminal nature of the carbimide ligands.⁹⁷



4.2.2.3.6 Phosphinimido ligand complexes

Dehnicke and co-workers have reported on the syntheses and crystallographic structures of the monometallic Ti^{IV} phosphinimide complexes TiCl₃(NPPh₃),⁹⁸ TiCl₂(NPPh₃)₂,⁹⁹ Ti(NPPh₃)₄,¹⁰⁰ and TiCl₃(NPEt₃)(THF)₂.⁵² While the Ti–N–P angle in TiCl₂(NPPh₃)₂ was found to be 166.6(2)°, steric crowding in Ti(NPPh₃)₄ accounted for the reduced average Ti–N–P angle of 150.4°. The bimetallic derivatives (TiCl₂(μ -Cl)(NPMe₂Ph)(MeCN))₂,⁹⁹ and (TiF₂(μ -F)(NPPh₃)-(HNPPh₃))₂¹⁰¹ were found to be halide bridged whereas in the dimers (TiCl₃(μ -NPR₃))₂, (R = Me,¹⁰² Et⁵²) and Ti₂Cl₅-(μ -NPMe₂Ph)₂(NPMe₂Ph)¹⁰² phosphinimide groups linked the metal centers. In higher-order aggregates, [Ti₃Cl₆(NPMe₃)₅][BPh₄] (9),¹⁰² and [Ti₃Cl₈(NPMe₃)₃][Cl]¹⁰³ terminal, double and triple bridging phosphinimide ligands were confirmed crystallographically.

In related work, Roesky and co-workers showed that the reaction of TiCl₄ with an excess of Me₃SiNPPh₂(N(SiMe₃)₂) gave TiCl₂((Me₃SiN)₂PPh₂)(NPPh₂(NSiMe₃)₂).¹⁰⁴ Similarly, reaction

of $Me_3SiNP(Ph)_2NP(Ph)_2N(SiMe_3)_2$ with $TiCl_4$ resulted in the formation of $TiCl_3(NP(Ph)_2-NP(Ph)_2N(SiMe_3)_2)$.¹⁰⁵ A crystallographic study confirmed that this ligand was bound as a monodentate phosphinimide, with a dangling NPNPN backbone.

More recently, Stephan and co-workers have synthesized a series of compounds TiCl_{4-n} (NPBu^t₃)_n (n = 1, 2, 3), and TiR_{4-n} (NPBu^t₃)_n (R = alkyl; n = 1, 2).^{106,107} Several of these complexes have been shown upon activation to yield remarkably active and thermally stable catalysts for the polymerization of olefins under commercially relevant conditions.



4.2.2.3.7 Imido ligand complexes

This area of Ti chemistry has advanced rapidly in recent years and has been reviewed.^{108–110} In addition, theoretical studies have probed in detail the nature of the Ti–imide bond.^{111–115}

In addition, theoretical studies have probed in detail the nature of the Ti–imide bond.^{111–115} Before 1990 the Ti^{IV} imido derivatives, $(TiCl_2(NSiMe_3))_n^{116}$ and $(TiCl_2 (NBu^t)(NH_2Bu^t)_2)_n^{117}$ were reported but poorly characterized. Subsequently, reaction of $(TiCl_2(NSiMe_3))_n$ with PPh₄Cl gave [PPh₄]₂[TiCl₃(μ -NSiMe₃)]₂ which has been crystallographically characterized.¹¹⁸

The first monomeric Ti-imido complex reported was the structurally characterized complex $Ti(NP(S)Ph_2)Cl_2(NC_5H_5)_3$ (Ti-N = 1.720(2)Å) by Roesky *et al.*¹¹⁹ Subsequently they showed that reaction of $(SiMe_3)_2NP(S)Pr_2^i$ with TiCl₄ in MeCN yielded the dimeric species $(Ti(\mu-NP(S)Pr_2^i)Cl_2(MeCN))_2$ in which the imido groups bridge the two Ti centers.¹²⁰

Also in 1990, Rothwell and co-workers reported the five-coordinate Ti-imido complex, Ti(NPh)(OC₆H₃Prⁱ₂)₂(py')₂, (Ti-N = 1.719(3) Å) (py' = 4-pyrrolidinopyridine) which was derived from thermolysis of Ti(PhNNPh)(OC₆H₃Prⁱ₂)₂(py')₂¹²¹ Similarly, thermolysis of Ti(OC₆H₃Ph₂)₂ (C₄Et₄) with two equivalents of benzo[c]cinnoline yielded the terminal arylimido complex Ti(OC₆H₃Ph₂)₂(η^2 -N₂C₁₂H₈)(NC₆H₄(NC₄Et₄))) (**10**).¹²² Subsequently, reaction of N donors with Ti(OC₆H₃R₂)₂(NHPh)₂ (R = Prⁱ, Ph) generated terminal Ti-imido species Ti(OC₆H₃R₂)₂(NPh)L₂ (L = NC₅H₅, NC₅H₄(NC₄H₈)).¹²³

Gambarotta and co-workers have also reported that the oxidative addition of azobenzene to $TiCl_2(TMEDA)_2$ afforded $TiCl_2(NPh)(TMEDA)$. In a similar reaction with MeCN, $(TiCl_2(TMEDA))_2(\mu$ -NC(Me)C(Me)N) (11) was isolated. This reaction was proposed to proceed through dimerization of a diradical.¹²⁴

In 1991, Wolczanski and co-workers reported the transient imido species Ti(NSiBu^t₃)(NHSi-Bu^t₃)₂ from the reaction of TiBr(NHSiBu^t₃)₃ and MeLi, which was trapped as Ti(NSiBu^t₃)(NH-SiBu^t₃)₂(OEt₂). TiX(NSiBu^t₃)(NHSiBu^t₃)(THF) (X = Cl, Br, Me, Bu^t) were obtained in an analogous manner. Subsequent hydrogenation afforded the imido bridged Ti^{1II} complex (Ti(NHSiBu^t₃)(μ -NSiBu^t₃))₂. The amido protons of Ti(NSiBu^t₃)(NHSiBu^t₃)₂(OEt₂) were deuterated through addition/elimination of C₆D₆.¹²⁵ In a related system the putative complex Ti(OSiBu^t₃)₂(NSiBu^t₃) also reacted with C₂H₄ to give the azametallocycle Ti(OSiBu^t₃)₂(CH₂CH₂NSiBu^t₃). In addition, the donor adducts Ti(OSiBu^t₃)₂(NSiBu^t₃)₂(NSiBu^t₃). (L = Et₂O or THF) were isolated and structurally characterized.



The dimeric $(Ti(\mu-NBu^t)(NMe_2)_2)_2$ was used as a precursor for the CVD of TiN.⁸⁴ Subsequent work by Winter and co-workers led to a high-yield synthesis of $(TiCl_2(\mu-NBu^t)(H_2NBu^t)_2)_3$ from TiCl₄. This compound was converted to $TiCl_2(NBu^t)(L)$ ($L = Me_2NCH_2CH_2NMe_2$, MeHNCH₂CH₂NHMe), both of which have been crystallographically characterized.¹²⁸ Treatment with OPPh₃ afforded the bis-adduct TiCl₂ (NBu^t)(OPPh₃)₂.¹²⁹ The related TiCl₂(NH)(OPPh₃)₂ was also prepared from treatment of TiCl₄(NH₃)₂ with NaH followed by addition of OPPh₃.¹³⁰

In a more recent study, reaction of $(TiCl_2(NBu^t)(H_2NBu^t)_2)_3$ with Me₃SiN₃ gave the dimeric species $(TiCl(NBu^t)(\mu-N_3)(NC_5H_5)_2)_2$. Alternatively, reaction of $(Ti(NMe_2)_2(N_3)(\mu-N_3)(NC_5H_5)_2)_2$ and CyNH₂ resulted in the formation of $(Ti(NCy)(N_3)(\mu-N_3)(NC_5H_5)_2)_2$. The solid state structures of these dimers confirmed that the two Ti atoms are bridged by a pair of azide ligands. Pyrolysis studies showed that these materials were not effective TiN precursors.⁶⁵

Reaction of TiCl₄ and Li[N(SiMe₃)₂] produced (TiCl(N(SiMe₃)₂)(μ -NSiMe₃))₂ and TiCl(N(SiMe₃)₂)(μ -NSiMe₃)(μ -HNSiMe₂NMe(SiMe₃))TiN(SiMe₃)₂ (**12**).¹³¹ In a similar manner (Ti(NMe₂)₂(μ -NSi(NMe₂)₃))₂ was prepared and characterized.⁹⁵

In 1994, Mountford and co-workers synthesized the TiCl₂(NBu^t)(NC₅H₄Bu^t)₂ via the reaction of H₂NBu^t with TiCl₄ followed by addition of the pyridine donor. This compound was prepared on a relatively large scale in high yield. This product was used as a precursor to a variety of monomeric Ti–imido complexes including tris(pyrazolyl)borate,^{132–134} macrocyclic ligand,^{133,135} and porphyrin derivatives.¹³⁶ Alternatively, reaction of TiCl₂(TTP) with two equivalents of Li[NHR] (R = Ph, C₆H₄Me, Cy) yielded the corresponding imido complexes Ti(TTP)NR¹³⁷ (see Section 4.2.2.4.23).

Exchange of the imido functionality of $TiCl_2(NBu^t)(NC_5H_5)_2$ with arylamines gave $TiCl_2(NR)(NC_5H_5)_n$ (n = 2, 3; R = Ph, C_6H_4Me , $C_6H_4NO_2$, $C_6H_3Pr^i_2$, $C_6H_3Me_2$, $C_6Me_4NH_2$, $C_6H_4N-(SiMe_3)_2$).^{132,138,139} It was proposed that the greater basicity of the Bu^tN group was a driving force in the exchange process.¹³²

Diazabutadiene complexes of the form TiCl₂(NR)L (L = PhNC(Me)C(Me)NPh, R = C₆H₃Prⁱ₂, C₆H₃Me₂; L = MeC₆H₄NC(Me)C(Me)NC₆H₄Me, R = C₆H₃Prⁱ₂, Bu^t) were prepared and characterized. In the absence of methyl groups on the butadiene backbone, imine–imide metathesis was observed. For example, reaction of TiCl₂(NBu^t)(NC₅H₅)₂ with ArNCHCHNAr (Ar = C₆H₃Prⁱ₂, C₆H₃Me₂) gave TiCl₂(NAr)(NC₅H₅)₂, Bu^tNCHCHNAr and Bu^tNCHCHNBu^t.¹⁴⁰

An attempt to uncover an alternative strategy to Ti–imido complexes involved the reaction of $(HNBu^t)_2SiMe_2$ with TiCl₄. This led to a mixture of products including the imido complex (TiCl- $(\mu$ -Cl)(NBu^t)(H₂NBu^t)(MeCN))_2 and the ketimido complex TiCl₃(NC(Me)NHBu^t)(MeCN)₂(13).¹⁴¹

The triazacyclohexane and trithiacyclononane adducts $TiCl_2(NR)L$ (L = (MeNCH₂)₃, (Bu⁴NCH₂)₃, (SCH₂CH₂)₃;¹⁴² R = Bu⁴, C₆H₃Prⁱ₂,^{143,144}) were prepared from $TiCl_2(NR)(NC_5H_5)_2$, and a number of these complexes have been structurally characterized. The related linked macrocyclic–imido complexes $TiCl_2((RNCH_2CH_2)_2N(CH_2CH_2)(CH_2)_3N)$ and $TiCl_2((RNCH_2CH_2)_2N(CH_2CH_2)(CH_2)_3N)$ (14) (R = Me, Prⁱ) have been described^{144,145} and shown to exhibit low ethylene polymerization activity.¹⁴⁵ More recently, related macrocyclic derivatives with pendent donors $TiCl(NR)((PrⁱNCH_2CH_2))_2-N(CH_2CH_2)CH_2C_6H_4N)$ (I = Bu⁴, SiMe₃) have been reported.¹⁴⁶

Substitution reactions of $TiCl_2(NR)L_3$ ($R = Bu^t$, $C_6H_3Me_2$, $C_6H_3Pr_2^i$; $L = NC_5H_5$, $NC_5H_4Bu^t$)¹³² with $Li[OC_6H_3R'_2]$ (R' = Me, Pr^i , Bu^t) produced $Ti(OC_6H_4R'_2)_2(NR)L_2$. At



elevated temperatures, loss of pyridine afforded $(Ti(OC_6H_4Me_2)_2(NBu^t))_2$.¹⁴⁷ Similarly, reaction with amidinate salts afforded complexes of the form $TiCl(NR)((Me_3SiN)_2CPh)(NC_5H_5)_2$ and $(TiCl-(\mu-NR)((Me_3SiN)_2CPh))_2$ ($R = Bu^t$, $C_6H_4Me_2$, $C_6H_4Pr^i_2$)¹⁴⁸ Related amidinate derivatives $(Ti(\mu-NR)-(\mu-(PhN)_2CH)((PhN)_2CH))_2$ ¹⁴⁹ and $TiCl(NBu^t)((Pr^1N)_2CPh)(NC_5H_5)$,¹⁵⁰ the diminophosphinate derivative $TiCl(NBu^t)((Me_3SiN)_2PPh_2)(NC_5H_5)$)¹⁵⁰ and the related pyrollide derivative $TiCl(NBu^t)(NC_4H_3CH_2NMe_2)(NC_5H_5)$ (NBut) (NC₄H₃CH₂NMe₂)(NC₅H₅)) (NC₅H₅) (NC₅H₅) (NC₅H₅)) (NC₅H₅) (NC₅H₅) (NC₅H₅) (NC₅H₅) (NC₅H₅)) (NC₅H₅) (NC₅H₅)) (NC₅H₅) (NC₅H₅) (NC₅H₅)) (NC₅H₅) (NC₅H₅) (NC₅H₅)) (NC₅H₅) (NC₅H₅)

Cycloaddition of Ti(Me₄taa)(NR) (R = C₆H₃Me₂, Ph) and isocyanates has been shown by Blake *et al.* to produce *N,N*-bound ureate complexes.¹⁵² Similarly, they have described the use of TiCl₂(NR)(NC₅H₅)₂ to prepare the tridentate chelate derivative Ti(NBu^t)((Me₃SiNCH₂)₂ CMe(C₅H₄N))(NC₅H₅). This compound was shown to react with MeCN effecting cycloaddition to the imido group yielding Ti(Bu^tNC₄H₃N₂Me(NMe))((Me₃SiNCH₂)₂ CMe(NC₅H₄)).¹⁵³ In subsequent work the complexes TiCl₂(NR)(NC₅H₅)₂ (R = Ph, Et, Pr¹) reacted with Bu^tCP to give TiCl₂((Bu^tCP)NR(CBu^tP)) in low yields.¹⁵⁴ In a related reaction, Ti(NBu^t)((Me₃SiNCH₂)₂-CMe(C₅H₄N))(NC₅H₅) reacted with Bu^tCP affording Ti(C(Bu^t)PNBu^t)((Me₃SiNCH₂)₂-CMe(C₅H₄N)) (**15**). In this complex the geometry at Ti is pseudo-tetrahedral, as the pyridine group of the chelating ligand is pendent. Similarly, MeCN led to cycloaddition affording (Ti(μ -NC(Me)NBu^t)((Me₃SiNCH₂)₂C(Me)C₅H₄N))₂.¹⁵⁵ Related cycloadditions of acetylenes, allenes, isocyanates, and isocyanides giving metallacycles have also been described recently.^{156,157}

Winter and co-workers reacted the Ti-bis(pyrazolato) complex $TiMe_2(N_2C_3HBu_2^t)_2$ with Bu^tNH_2 in the presence of pyridine to obtain the $TiMe_2(NBu^t)(N_2C_3HBu_2^t)_2(NC_5H_5)$. In contrast, reaction of $TiCl_2(N_2C_3HBu_2^t)_2$ gave $(TiCl(\mu-NBu^t)(N_2C_3HBu_2^t))_2$. Both of these products were crystallographically characterized.⁷¹



4.2.2.3.8 Miscellaneous monodentate ligands

Ti-thiocyanate complexes $Ti(OR)_n(NCS)_{4-n}$, $(R = Pr^i, Et, n = 2, 3)$ have been reported. IR data indicated coordination via N.¹⁵⁸

4.2.2.3.9 Amidinato and guanidinato ligand complexes

In 1988, $(\text{TiCl}_2(\mu\text{-Cl})((\text{Me}_3\text{SiN})_2\text{CPh}))_2$ was prepared and structurally characterized.¹⁵⁹ In the same year, Roesky and co-workers reported the related monomeric complex $\text{TiCl}_2((\text{Me}_3\text{SiN})_2\text{-CPh})_2$. X-ray data indicated a *trans*-octahedral geometry about Ti.¹⁶⁰ Subsequently the dimer $(\text{TiCl}_2(\mu\text{-Cl})((\text{MeN})_2\text{CPh}))_2$ was prepared and converted to the monomeric complexes TiCl_3 - $(\text{MeN})_2\text{CPh})(\text{L})(\text{L} = \text{THF}, \text{PMe}_3)$ in the presence of donors. These species were only moderately active as olefin polymerization catalysts.¹⁶¹ In a similar manner, the related complexes TiCl_3 - $((\text{Me}_3\text{SiN})_2\text{CPh})(\text{L})(\text{L} = \text{THF}, \text{PMe}_3)$ were prepared while attempted methylations led to the formation of TiMe_2 ($(\text{Me}_3\text{SiN})_2\text{CPh})_2$ and TiMe_4 .¹⁶¹ Similarly, $\text{TiMe}_2((\text{Me}_3\text{SiN})_2\text{CPh})_2$ was synthesized via protonolysis of TiMe_4 with the neutral ligand.¹⁶² This bis-ligand complex was employed in the syndiospecific polymerization of styrene but exhibited low activity for ethylene polymerization.¹⁶¹ Similarly, the complexes ($\text{TiCl}_2(\mu\text{-Cl})((\text{MeN})_2\text{Ce}_{\text{H}_5}\text{Me})$)₂ and $\text{TiCl}_3((\text{MeN})_2\text{C}_{\text{H}_5}\text{Me})(\text{L})$ (L = THF, PMe_3) showed moderate activity for styrene and ethylene polymerization.¹⁶³ Modification of the ligands as in $\text{TiMe}_2((\text{CyN})_2\text{CMe})_2^{164}$ or $\text{TiCl}_2((\text{CyN})_2\text{CPh})_2$ and $\text{TiMe}_2((\text{Pr}^{\text{IN}})_2\text{CPh})_2^{165}$ improved the catalytic activity. This was attributed to the steric inhibition of β -hydrogen elimination processes.

4.2.2.3.10 Bis-amino phosphinato ligand complexes

Reaction of $(Me_3SiN)PPh_2(N(SiMe_3)_2)$ with TiCl₄ in MeCN gave the complex TiCl₃($(Me_3SiN)_2PPh_2)(MeCN)$.¹⁰⁴ The related complexes TiCl₃($(Me_3SiN)_2PXY$) (X = OMe, Cl, Y = OMe, Cl, CCl₃, XY = (CF₃CS)₂) and TiCl₂($(Me_3SiN)_2P(CF_3CS)_2$) have also been prepared and reported.¹⁶⁶

4.2.2.3.11 Sulfodiimido ligand complexes

The complex TiCl₃((Bu^tN)₂SPh) contains a four-membered chelate ring¹⁶⁷ and reacts with H₂O to give (TiCl₂((Bu^tN)₂SPh))₂(μ -O). Crystallographic data confirmed that each of the sulfodiimido ligands remains chelated to Ti.¹⁶⁷

4.2.2.3.12 Pyrazolyl ligand complexes

In recent years Winter and co-workers have described a number of Ti–pyrazolyl complexes. Ti(NMe₂)₄ reacted with N₂C₃H₂R₂ (R = Me, Ph) to give the monomeric complexes Ti(N₂C₃HR₂)₄ (**16**). Crystallographic characterization confirmed that the four ligands were bound in an η^2 fashion.¹⁶⁸ Similarly, treatment of TiCl₄ with N₂C₃H₂Bu^t₂ in the presence of NEt₃, or use of K[N₂C₃HBu^t₂] or Me₃SiN₂C₃HBu^t₂ provided access to the complexes TiCl_{4-n}(N₂C₃HBu^t₂)_n (*n* = 1, 2, 3).^{169,170} Adducts of the general formula TiCl₄(N₂C₃H₂R₂)₂ were shown to be intermediates en route to these complexes.¹⁶⁸ Subsequent studies focused on the preparation of related imido derivatives.⁷¹

4.2.2.3.13 Amidopyridine ligand complexes

Reaction of NC₅H₄(HNR) (R = Me, Ph) and NC₅H₃Me(HNSiMe₃) with TiCl(NMe₂)₃ afforded TiCl(NMe₂)(NC₅H₄(NR))₂, TiCl(NC₅H₄(NR))₃, and TiCl(NMe₂)(NC₅H₃Me(NSiMe₃))₂. Several of these compounds were characterized crystallographically.¹⁷¹ Similarly, NC₅H₃Me(HNSiMe₃) reacted with TiCl₂(NMe₂)₂ to give TiCl₂(NMe₂)(NC₅H₃Me(NSiMe₃))(HNMe₂).¹⁷² In contrast, the reaction between TiCl₄ and NC₅H₄(HNPh) produced the salt [NC₅H₄(PhNH₂)]-[TiCl₄(NC₅H₄(NPh))].¹⁷³ A similar strained geometry was observed for the tetradentate bis(aminopyridinato) Ti complex Ti(NMe₂)₂ (μ -O (SPrⁱⁱ₂(N(NC₅H₄Me))₂) (17).¹⁷⁴ The related ligand complexes TiCl₃(NC₅H₄ CH₂CH₂NR) (R = SiMe₃, SiMe₂Bu^t, Ph) have been prepared.¹⁷⁵

4.2.2.3.14 Aminotroponiminato ligand complexes

The monoanionic bidentate ligand complex $TiCl_2((MeN)_2C_7H_5)_2$ was derived from reaction of $TiCl_2(NMe_2)_2$ with two equivalents of the aminotroponiminato ligand. Subsequent reactions

afforded Ti(OSO₂CF₃)₂((MeN)₂C₇H₅)₂ as well as Ti(NC₆H₃Prⁱ₂)((MeN)₂C₇H₅)₂ and (Ti(μ -O)-((MeN)₂C₇H₅)₂)₂ (**18**).¹⁷⁶ The reduced Ti complex Ti((MeN)₂C₇H₅)₂ reacted with CO and carbonyl compounds to form Ti–diolate complexes of the form Ti((MeN)₂C₇H₅)₂(OCR₂CR₂O). Subsequent acid hydrolysis liberated the diol.¹⁷⁷

4.2.2.3.15 Miscellaneous monoanionic bidentate ligand complexes

Reaction of the amine–aminoborane $H_2NC_{10}H_8HN(9-BBN)$ with $Ti(NMe_2)_4$ afforded $Ti(NMe_2)_3(HNC_{10}H_8HN(\mu-9-BBN))$. This complex contains an amine–amido ligand in which the boron atom of 9-BBN bridges the two nitrogen atoms.¹⁷⁸



Chiral bis(oxazoline) (BOX) complexes of the form $TiX_2(BOX)_2$ have been synthesized from Ti-halides. These complexes effected the reduction of ketones in the presence of silanes.¹⁷⁹

4.2.2.3.16 Dianionic bidentate ligand complexes

 Ti^{IV} complexes containing chelating bis(amido) ligands have continued to be explored over the last two decades. The general synthetic methods used to produce bis-amido chelate complexes involve reactions of dilithio salts or bis(Me₃Si) derivatives of the diamine with TiCl₄ or protonolysis of Ti(NR₂)₄ or TiR₄ with the parent amine. For example, reaction of Li₂[(Me₃SiNCH₂)₂] and TiCl₄ gave the complex Ti(Me₃SiNCH₂)₂)₂. ¹⁸⁰ The redistribution reaction of Ti(Me₃SiNCH₂)₂)₂ and TiCl₄(THF)₂ provided TiCl₂((Me₃SiNCH₂)₂). This compound catalyzes olefin polymerization upon activation.

McConville and co-workers utilized ligands with bulky alkylsubstituted aryl groups to create TiCl₂(((C₆H₃R₂)NCH₂)₂CH₂) (R = Prⁱ, Me).¹⁸²⁻¹⁸⁴ The corresponding methyl derivatives, upon activation with B(C₆F₅)₃, formed TiMe (MeB(C₆F₅)₃)((C₆H₃R₂)NCH₂)₂CH₂) which acted as a living catalyst for the polymerization of α -olefins. The complex TiMe(MeB(C₆F₅)₃)(((C₆H₃R₂)NCH₂)₂CH₂) slowly evolved CH₄ affording Ti(C₆F₅)(CH₂B(C₆F₅)₂)(((C₆H₃R₂)NCH₂)₂CH₂).¹⁸⁵ Similarly, TiCl₂((R₃SiN)₂C₆H₁₀), Ti((R₃SiN)₂C₆H₁₀)₂, (R₃ = Me₃, Me₂Ph, MePh₂)¹⁸⁶ TiCl₂(1,8-(R₃SiN)₂ C₁₀H₆) (R₃ = Me₃, BuMe₂, Prⁱ₃)^{187,188} and TiCl₂((Bu¹Ph₂SiNCH₂)₂ CMe₂)¹⁸⁹ have been synthesized and characterized. Several of these systems have been assessed as potential olefin polymerization¹⁸⁸⁻¹⁹⁰ and copolymerization¹⁹¹ catalysts. A dissymmetric diamide ligand has been employed to prepare complexes of the form TiCl₂(Me₃SiNC₆H₄(CH₂NSiMe₃). These proved to be only moderately active polymerization catalysts upon treatment with an activator.¹⁹² Recently, the chelating aryl-diamido complexes TiCl₂((HN)₂C₆H₄)(NC₅H₅)_n and TiCl₂((HN)₂C₆H₄)(TMEDA) were derived from TiCl₂ (Bu¹N)(NC₅H₅)₂.¹³⁹

In efforts to increase the electrophilicity of the Ti center, π -accepting boryl–amide chelates were employed to prepare the complexes TiCl₂(((R₂B)NCH₂)₂) (R = C₆H₂Me₃, Cy) and related alkyl

derivatives. However, these compounds, upon activation with $B(C_6F_5)_3$, produced minimally active olefin polymerization catalysts.^{193,194}

The related bidentate ligand $MeN(B(Ph)N(Me)SiMe_3)_2$ gave rise to the complexes Ti_2Cl_4 - $(\mu$ -NMe)(μ -MeNB(Ph)NMe) and $Ti_2Cl_6(\mu$ -MeN(B(Ph)NMe)z) (19). In both dimers the bridging nature of the ligands was confirmed crystallographically.¹⁹⁵

Boron-bridged diamide ligand complexes $Ti((RN)_2BPh)_2$ have also been derived from the reaction of $Li_2[(RN)_2BPh]$ ($R = Bu^t$, $SiMe_2Bu^t$) and $TiCl_4$.¹⁹⁶ The diborane-bridged bis-amido complex $TiCl_2((C_6H_3Pr^i_2)NB(NMe_2))_2$ was synthesized by reaction of the dilithio salt of the ligand with $TiCl_3(THF)_3$ followed by oxidation with $PbCl_2$.¹⁹⁷ These complexes provided active olefin polymerization catalysts upon activation. The disilyl-bridged complex $TiCl_2((Bu^tNSiMe_2)_2)$ was synthesized and converted to $(TiF(\mu-F)((Bu^tNSiMe_2)_2))_2$ via treatment with Me_3SnF .¹⁹⁸

An early report described the synthesis and structure of $TiCl_2((NBu^t)_2SiMe_2)$, which was derived from the reaction of the silyldiamine with $TiCl_4$.¹⁹⁹ Thermolysis of $TiCl_3$ ((Me_3SiN)_2PPh_2)(MeCN) afforded the dimeric derivative ($TiCl_2(\mu$ -NPPh_2(NSiMe_3)(MeCN))_2 (**20**) with the elimination of Me_3SiCl.¹⁰⁴ The related ligand HN(SiMe_3)SiMe_2Cl reacted with TiCl_4 yielding ($TiCl_2(\mu$ -Cl)(N(SiMe_2Cl)(SiMe_2NH_2)))_2. The crystal structure indicated that the NH₂ group formed a weak coordinative bond to Ti yielding a planar four-membered N–Ti–N–Si ring.²⁰⁰ Recently, related complexes of the form $TiX_2((NBu^t)_2Si(CH_2)_n)$ (n = 3-5) and TiX_2 ((NBu^t)_2Si(CH_2CH)_2) (X = Cl, NMe_2)²⁰¹ and (TiCl(μ -OMe)₂ ((NBu^t)_2Si(CH_2)_n))_2 were described.⁷³

Siddiqi and co-workers have reported the heterobimetallic complexes $TiCl_2(CuCl_2 (\mu-HNCH_2CH_2NCH_2)_2)$ and $TiCl_2(CuCl_2(\mu-HNCH_2CH_2NH_2)_2)$.^{202,203} Related dithiocarbamate and borohydride derivatives have also been described.^{204,205} The fused diferrocenyl diamine was used to prepare $TiCl_2(OAr)_2((NHMeCHC_5H_4FeCp)_2)$ (21). X-ray studies confirmed a distorted octahedral geometry about Ti.²⁰⁶ Reaction of the related ferrocenyl–diamido ligand with $TiCl_4$ afforded the complex $TiCl_2(Me_3SiNC_5H_4)_2Fe$. The first two of these complexes have been crystallographically characterized and shown to adopt a pseudo-tetrahedral geometry at Ti.²⁰⁷ Subsequently, the related compound $Ti(NMe_2)_2(PhNC_5H_4)_2Fe$ was described.²⁰⁸



4.2.2.3.17 Miscellaneous bidentate-dianionic ligand complexes

The reaction of TiCl₄ with Ph₂S(NSiMe₃)₂ yielded the dimeric species (TiCl₃(THF)₂)₂(μ -N₂SPh₂). Crystallographic data affirmed that the N₂S fragment linked the two metal centers.¹⁰⁵

The ethylamido–pyridine complexes TiCl₃(RNCH₂CH₂C₅H₄N) (R = SiMe₃, SiMe₂Bu^t) all converted to the dimer (TiCl₂(μ -NCH₂CH₂C₅H₄N))₂ with the loss of trialkylsilyl chloride under thermolysis conditions. This species was crystallographically characterized, confirming the presence of the imido bridges. The corresponding phenyl amido complex TiCl₃(PhNCH₂CH₂C₅H₄N) was thermally stable.¹⁷⁵

4.2.2.3.18 Neutral tridentate ligand complexes

Coordination of the triazacyclononane ligand to $TiCl_4$ afforded $[TiCl_3(MeNCH_2CH_2)_3]Cl$. Oxidation of $TiCl_3((MeNCH_2CH_2)_3)$ by Me_3SiN_3 in the presence of $Na[BPh_4]$ afforded $[TiCl_2(N_3)(MeNCH_2CH_2)_3][BPh_4]$, whereas oxidation of $Ti(SCN)_3((MeNCH_2CH_2)_3)$ by O_2 gave $TiO(NCS)_2((MeNCH_2CH_2)_3)$.

A variety of oxidations of $TiX_3((RNCH_2CH_2)_3)$ (X = Cl, Br; R = Me, Prⁱ) have been used to prepare [TiBr_n(OMe)_{3-n}((MeNCH₂CH₂)₃)][ClO₄] (n = 0-2), TiCl₂(O₂)((MeNCH₂CH₂)₃), TiCl₂O((MeNCH₂CH₂)₃), Ti(NCO)₂(O₂)((MeNCH₂CH₂)₃), Ti(NCS)₂O((PrⁱNCH₂CH₂)₃), and $Ti(NCO)_2O((Pr^iNCH_2CH_2)_3)$. The six-coordinate geometry of a number of these complexes has been confirmed crystallographically.²⁰⁹

4.2.2.3.19 Monoanionic tridentate ligand complexes

The salt metathesis reaction of TiCl₄ with Li[N(SiMe₂CH₂NMe₂)₂] yielded TiCl₃(N(SiMe₂-CH₂NMe₂)₂). The crystal structure revealed a distorted octahedral geometry about Ti in which the ligand was bound in a *meridonal* fashion.²¹⁰

4.2.2.3.20 Tris(pyrazolyl)borato ligand complexes

The monoanionic tris(pyrazolyl)borate ligand ($(N_2C_3H_3)_3BH$) binds strongly to Ti ions via three of the N atoms. Crystal structures of TiCl₂($(N_2C_3H_3)_3BH$)(NMeNMe₂) and TiCl₂($(N_2C_3H_3)_3BH$)(NPhNH₂) were published in 1989.⁶⁸ Tris(pyrazolyl)borate ligands have also been employed as ancillary ligands in Ti–imido complexes^{133,134} (see Section 4.2.2.3.7). The chiral menthol derivatives TiCl₃($(N_2C_3HC_4H_6 MeR)_3BH$) (R = Bu^t, Prⁱ) (**22**) have been prepared from the reactions of the corresponding Ti salts with TiCl₄.²¹¹ While a variety of derivatives of TiCl₃($(N_2C_3H_3)_3BH$) have previously been reported, a recent paper has described an alternative synthesis of this compound via reaction of SnCl₃($(N_2C_3H_3)_3BH$) and TiCl₄.²¹²

A series of related derivatives with the general formulas $\text{TiCl}_n(\text{OR})_{3-n}((N_2\text{C}_3\text{H}_3)_3\text{BH})$ (n = 1, 2), TiCl(CH₂SiMe₃)(OR)((N₂C₃H₃)₃BH), and TiCl_n(O(CH₂)_mPPh₂)_{3-n}((N₂C₃H₃)₃BH), (n = 0-2; m = 1-3) have been prepared.^{213,214} The latter series have been employed to prepare the heterobimetallic complexes TiCl((N₂C₃H₃)₃BH)(O(CH₂)_nPPh₂)₂Mo (CO)₄.²¹⁴

Very recently, TiCl(NBu^t)($(N_2C_3HMe_2)_3C$)(THF) (23) was prepared via deprotonation of the corresponding tris(pyrazolyl)methane complex TiCl₂(NBu^t)($(N_2C_3HMe_2)_3CH$). This species is the first structurally authenticated *sp*³-hybridized carbanion derivative.²¹⁵



4.2.2.3.21 Dianionic tridentate ligand complexes

The syntheses and structures of the five-coordinate diamido–pyridine tripodal ligand complexes $TiX_2((Me_3SiNCH_2)_2CHC_5H_4N)$ (X = Cl, Br) were reported in 1993.²¹⁶ The related complexes $TiCl_2((RNCH_2)_2NC_5H_3)$ (R = SiMe_3, Bn, CH_2SiMe_3) and the corresponding alkyl analogues were prepared and reported.²¹⁷ Some of these derivatives were investigated as ethylene polymerization catalysts.²¹⁸

The related amino–diamido complex $TiCl_2((Me_3SiNCH_2CH_2)_2NSiMe_3)$ and alkyl derivatives exhibit spectroscopic and structural data indicating weak coordination of the central amino N-atom to Ti.²¹⁹ The related dimethyl complex $TiMe_2((Me_3C_6H_2NCH_2CH_2)_2NH)$ was also obtained in a one-pot synthesis in low yield.²²⁰ A related amino–dipyrrolylide ligand complex $Ti(NMe_2)_2((NC_4H_3CH_2)_2NMe)$ displayed a trigonal bipyramidal geometry.²²¹

Complexes of tridentate dianionic donor ligands such as $Ti(NR)((Me_3SiNCH_2)_2-C(Me)C_5H_4N)L$ and $Ti(NR)(Me_3SiN(CH_2CH_2NSiMe_3)_2)L$ ($L = NC_5H_5$, PMe₃, OC_4H_8 ; $R = Bu^t$, $C_6H_3Pr^i_2$, $C_6H_3Me_2$) have been reported.^{222,223} Cycloadditions to the imido group with isocyanides, phosphaalkynes, and alkynes have been studied.^{153–156,224} For example, $Ti(NBu^t)((Me_3SiNCH_2)_2C(Me)C_5H_4N)(NC_5H_5)$ reacted with $Me_2C_6H_3NC$ to effect double insertion affording $Ti(C(NC_6H_3Me_2)C(NC_6H_3Me_2)NBu^t)((Me_3SiNCH_2)_2C(Me)C_5H_4N)$ (24). Further reaction with RNC (R = Et, Pr^i , Bu, Bu^t , CH_2Ph , PhMe and CHMePh) afforded the related derivatives $Ti(N(C_6H_3Me_2)C(CNR)C(C_6H_3Me_2)NBu^t)((Me_3SiNCH_2)_2C(Me)C_5H_4N)$. Similar reactions with isocyanides containing H atoms α the CN group led to $Ti((CNCH_2R)(C_4H_2RN_2CH_2R)NCBu^t)-((Me_3SiNCH_2)_2C(Me)C_5H_4N)$ (R = H, Me, Pr, Ph) and $Ti((NCHRR')(C_4HRR'N_2CHRR')-NBu^t)((Me_3SiNCH_2)_2C(Me)C_5H_4N)$ (25) (R = Me, C_5H_{10} ; R' = Me, Ph).¹⁵⁷



4.2.2.3.22 Trianionic tripodal ligand complexes

The first azatitanatrane, Ti(NMe₂)((MeNCH₂CH₂)₃N), was prepared by the protonolysis of Ti(NMe₂)₄ with the (MeHNCH₂CH₂)₃N by Verkade and co-workers.²²⁵ Subsequently, related N-silylated^{226,227} and N-alkylated azatitanatranes^{228,229} have been prepared via salt metathesis reactions. Another synthetic pathway to azatitanatranes was demonstrated by the reaction of B(MeNCH₂CH₂)₃N with Ti(OPrⁱ)₄ yielding Ti(OPrⁱ)((MeNCH₂CH₂)₃N).²³⁰ A variety of substituted derivatives of the form TiX((RNCH₂CH₂)₃N) have also been characterized.^{57,226,228,229,231}

Complexes containing similar tripodal ligands (TiX((RNCH₂)₃CMe))₂ (X = Cl, Br; R = Me, SiMe₃, SiMe₂Bu^t) have been reported and the Cl derivatives characterized crystallographically.²³² The related complexes TiX((RC₆H₄NSiMe₂)₃CH) (X = Cl, Br; R = Me, F),²³³ TiX((MeC₆H₄NSi-Me₂)₃SiMe) (X = Cl, Br), and TiX((FC₆H₄NSiMe₂)₃SiMe) (X = Cl, O₃SCF₃, Me)²³⁴ have also been reported.²³⁵ In the latter compound weak ortho-F interactions with the Ti centers were implied. Hydrolysis of TiX((RNCH₂)₃CMe) (X = Cl, Br) yielded the oxo-bridged complexes (Ti((Me₃SiNCH₂)₃CMe))₂ (µ-O) and (Ti(µ-Cl)((PrNCH₂)₂(Pr¹NHCH₂)CMe))₂(µ-O).²³⁶

Analogous complexes that incorporated chiral substituents on the N-atoms of the tridentate trianionic ligands have recently been reported. These include $TiCl(((Bu^t(Me)HC)NCH_2)_3CH)^{237}$ and $TiCl((C_9H_9NSiMe_2)_3CH)$ (26).²³⁸

4.2.2.3.23 Dianionic tetradentate ligand complexes

The macrocyclic Ti complex TiCl₂(Me₄taa) was first synthesized by Goedken and Ladd via the reaction of TiCl₄ with the ligand under basic conditions.²³⁹ Alternatively, the Li₂ salt of the ligand reacted with TiCl₄ to give TiCl₂(Me₄taa), while the sandwich-type complex Ti(Me₄taa)₂ was prepared using a 2:1 ratio of ligand salt to metal.²⁴⁰ Treatment of TiCl₂(Me₄taa) with NH₄OH/MeCN gave TiO(Me₄taa). This oxo complex and the corresponding sulfido complex were shown to react with a variety of reagents resulting in derivatives including Ti(S₂C₆H₄)(Me₄taa), Ti(O₂C₆H₄)(Me₄taa), TiS(Me₄taa) Ti(S₂)(Me₄taa), Ti(O₂SO)(Me₄taa), Ti(O₂CD₆(CF₃))(Me₄taa), Ti(OCF₂CF(CF₃)O)(Me₄taa), Ti(OS₂PC₆H₄O-Me)(Me₄taa), and Ti(O₂C)₂C₆H₄(Me₄taa).^{241,242} The oxo derivative was also employed to



generate a series of mixed metal oxo-bridged complexes such as $Ti(\mu-O)(Me_4taa)$ -(Fe(OC₆H₄NCH₂)₂).^{242,243} The heavier chalcogenide derivatives, TiSe(Me₈taa) and TiTe(Me₈taa), were prepared and the latter was crystallographically characterized.²⁴⁴ In addition, the imido analogues Ti(NR)(Me_4taa) (R = Ph, C₆H₄Me) react with isocyanates to give *N*,*N*-bound ureate complexes.152 Aminopyridinato fragments have also been incorporated into a taa-type ligand derivative as in TiO(NC₅H₄NHCHCRCHN)₂ (R = Me, C₆H₄Me (27)).²⁴⁵

The piperazine derivatives $Ti(NR)((Me_3SiNC_6H_3R'CH_2NCH_2CH_2)_2)$ (**28**) ($R = Bu^t$, C_6H_4Me ; R' = H, Bu^t) were prepared from the precursor $TiCl_2(NBu^t)(NC_5H_5)_3$ and the corresponding piperazine Li salt. The chelating nature of this N_4 ligand was confirmed crystallographically.²⁴⁶ The related tetradentate ligand complex $TiCl_2(((MeN)C_7H_5N)_2C_6H_{10})$ (**29**) was prepared and structurally characterized. Derivatives including $Ti(OCPh_2)_2(((MeN)C_7H_5N)_2C_6H_{10})$ and $Ti(Bu^tNCMe_2)(((MeN)C_7H_5N)_2C_6H_{10})$ were also reported.²⁴⁷





The tetradentate bis(aminopyridinato) ligands $(NC_5H_3RNHSiR'_2)_2O$ (R = Me, H; R' = Me, Prⁱ) reacted with Ti(NMe₂)₄ and TiCl(NMe₂)₃ to afford the siloxane-bridged Ti complexes Ti(NMe₂)₂((NC₅H₃MeNHSiR'₂)₂O) and TiCl(NMe₂)(NHMe₂)((NC₅H₃MeNHSiR'₂)₂O). The

related derivatives based on pyrimidines, $Ti(NMe_2)_2((N_2C_4H_2MeNHSiR'_2)_2O)$ and $TiCl(NMe_2)(NHMe_2)((N_2C_4H_2MeNHSiR'_2)_2O)$, $(R' = Me, Pr^i)$ have also been described.^{174,248,249} The diamido derivative was shown to react with caprolactam to give $Ti(NMe_2)-(NOC_6H_{10})((N_2C_4H_2MeNHSPr^i_2)_2O)$ (**30**).¹⁷⁴ A ferrocenyl backbone has also been incorporated into the bridge of a bis(aminopyridinato) ligand, affording the complexes $Ti(NMe_2)X(NC_5H_3MeN-SiMe_2C_5H_4)_2Fe$ (X = NMe₂, Cl).²⁵⁰

More recently, the tripodal pyridyl-amino-bis(amido) ligand complex $Ti(NR)(NC_5H_4CH_2N-(CH_2CH_2NSiMe_3)_2)$ was prepared, structurally characterized, and its chemistry examined. Crystallographic data showed a pseudo-trigonal bipyramidal geometry at Ti.²⁵¹



4.2.2.3.24 Porphyrin and porphyrinogen ligand complexes

Continuing studies of porphyrin complexes have addressed the mechanism of the reaction of H_2O_2 with TiO(TPyP) to give Ti(O_2)(TPyP).^{252–254} Similarly, Ti(O_2)(TPP) was formed from reaction of TiO(TPP) and ROOH.²⁵⁵ The complexes Ti(O_2)(TPP) and Ti(O_2)(OEP) have also been shown to react with SO₂ to give Ti(SO₄)(TPP) and Ti(SO₄)(OEP) respectively.^{256,257} Donors such as BuNH₂, Bu^tNH₂, and Et₂NH weakly coordinate to TiO(TPP).²⁵⁸ TiO(TPP) has been employed as a catalyst for the oxidation of cyclohexene to cyclohexenone, cyclohexeneol, and cyclohexylepoxide.²⁵⁹ It also has been investigated as an initiator in a variety of polymerization reactions.²⁶⁰

Ti(O₂)(TPP) did not react in the presence of electron-rich or electron-deficient olefins or BuLi, however, it did oxidize PPh₃ to give TiO(TPP) and OPPh₃.²⁶¹ The analogous complexes Ti(E₂)(TPP) (E=S, Se) have been prepared via reduction of TiF₂(TPP) and subsequent oxidation with Cp₂TiE₅.^{262,263} The complexes TiX₂(TPP) (X = F, Cl, Br) were prepared via reaction of TiO(TPP) and HX. Similarly, Ti(O₂C₆H₄)(TPP) and Ti(S₂C₆H₃Me)(TPP) were derived from the reactions of (TPP)TiO with catechol or toluenedithiol.²⁶⁴

A series of derivatives of TiO(TTP) incorporating a variety of fluorinated and chlorinated-aryl rings has been synthesized and characterized. These include $TiO(TPPF_8)$, $TiO_2(TPPF_8)$, $TiO_2(TPPF_{20})$, $TiO_2(TPPF_{20})$, $TiO(TTPCl_8)$, and $TiO(TTPCl_{20})$.²⁶⁵

The imido derivatives, Ti(NR)(TTP) (R = Ph, C₆H₄Me, Cy), have also been prepared and crystallographically characterized. Hydrolysis or treatment with S₈ of this complex gave TiO(TTP) or Ti(S₂)(TTP) respectively.¹³⁷ More recently, the imido derivative Ti(NPrⁱ)(TTP) reacted with PhNO gave PrⁱNNPh and TiO(TTP).⁷² The related hydrazido complexes Ti(NNR₂)(TTP) (R = Me, Ph) were shown to undergo reactions with PhOH or H₂O to give Ti(OPh)₂(TTP) and TiO(TTP). The related derivatives TiX₂(TTP) and TiClX(TTP) (X = OPh, OMe, OBu^t, NPh₂) were prepared via straightforward ligand replacement reactions. In addition, oxidation of the Ti^{II} species Ti(EtCCEt)(TTP) with PhNNPh afforded Ti(NPh)(TTP).²⁶⁶

Studies of the physical properties of Ti–porphyrin complexes have included examinations of the details of the photoexcitation of TiO(TPP),²⁶⁷ and the electrochemical properties of Ti(O₂)(TPP) and TiO(TPP).²⁶⁸ In addition, mass spectral studies of Ti(O₂)(TPP) and TiO(TPP),²⁶⁹ synchrotron X-ray powder diffraction of TiCl₂(TPP),²⁷⁰ crystallographic and EXAFS studies of



 $\text{TiF}_2(\text{TPP})$,²⁶⁴ optical absorption and laser photolysis of $\text{Ti}(O_2)(\text{TPP})$,²⁷¹ and EXAFS studies of $\text{Ti}(O_2)(\text{TPP})^{272}$ have been reported.

Floriani and co-workers established the synthesis of the porphyrinogen complex $Ti(OEP')(THF)_2$ from the reaction of $TiCl_4$ with the Li salt of tetraanionic OEP'.²⁷³ $Ti(OEP')(THF)_2$ has been shown to react with PhCHO to add to the ring affording $Ti(\eta^1 - \eta^1 - \eta^1 - \eta^5 - OEP'(OCPhH))$.²⁷⁴ Subsequent reaction with Li in the presence of ethylene gave [Li(THF)_4]_2[(Ti(OEP')_2(\mu-C_2)]] (**31**) which was characterized by X-ray crystallography.²⁷³ The reaction of alkyl and aryl derivatives with CO resulted in the ring expansion of one of the pyrrole rings of OEP' affording the dimer Li_2[(TiO(Et_8(NC_4H_2)_3(NC_5H_2Me)))_2] which was transformed to the monomeric salt [Li(NC_5H_5)_3][TiO(Et_8(NC_4H_2)_3(NC_5H_2Me))] (**32**) in the presence of pyridine.²⁷⁵

Subsequent liberation of the tris(pyrrole)pyridine ligand and complexation with Ti gave $TiCl(Et_8(NC_4H_2)_3(NC_5H_3))$. Alkylation and insertion of CO afforded the complex $TiO(Et_8(NC_4H_2)_2(NC_5H_3)_2)$.^{276,277}

4.2.2.3.25 Phthalocyaninate ligand complexes

A variety of substituted phthalocyanine (PC) complexes of the form TiCl₂(PC) (**33**), and TiL(PC) $(L = O_2C_6H_4, C_2O_4, O_2)$ have been prepared and reported.²⁷⁸ A structural study of TiCl₂(PC) confirmed the *cis* arrangement of the Cl-ligands. The reaction of TiCl₂(PC) with excess of the dianion of PC afforded the unique complex Ti(5,5';19,19'-(PC)₂). This complex, which was described and crystallographically characterized, has two phthalocyanine rings linked by interring C—C bonds.²⁷⁹ When oxidized with iodine or nitric acid, the salts [Ti(5,5'; 19,19'-(PC)₂)][I₃]_{0.66} and [Ti(5,5';19,19'-(PC)₂)][NO₃] were obtained. The electrical conductivity properties of these compounds were investigated.²⁸⁰

Related Ti complexes in which a variety of peripheral substituents were incorporated into the PC ligands have been described. For example, octa-substituted phthalocyanines have been used to prepare the analogous complexes TiO(R₈PC) (R = C₇H₁₅, OC₅H₁₁,²⁸¹ Bu^{t 282}). Alternatively, replacement of the ancillary chloride ligands of TiCl₂(PC) afforded a variety of derivatives including Ti(O₂C₆HRR'R'')(PC) (R = H, CHO, Bu^t; R'=H, CHO, Bu^t, CO₂H, CN; R''=H, Bu^t), Ti(S₂C₆H₄)(PC), and Ti(O₂C₁₀H₆)(PC).²⁸³ A more sophisticated analogue of the phenolate-substituted PC complexes has been recently reported by Kobayashi *et al.* They describe the reaction of TiO(Bu^t₄PC) with an octahydroxy-substituted PC resulting in the tetrameric compound of the formula (Ti(Bu^t₄P-C))₄(O₈PC) (**34**).²⁸⁴



A variety of different studies involving the physical properties of TiO(PC) have been reported including absorption^{285–289} thermochromic,^{290,291} spectroscopic,²⁹² and photochemical properties,^{293–296} and photoconductivity.^{297–299}

Functionalized alkoxy derivatives of phthalocyanine complexes have been used to prepare polymeric PC materials and a number of studies have investigated the physical and mesomorphic properties of these and related polymers.^{300–306}

4.2.2.3.26 Tetraanionic tridentate ligand complexes

The dimeric complexes $(TiX((Me_3SiNCH_2)_2(\mu-NCH_2)CMe))_2$ (35) (X = Cl, Br) were isolated as by-products in the syntheses of TiX((Me_3SiNCH_2)_3CMe). A single-crystal X-ray structure confirmed the dimeric structure.²³²



4.2.2.3.27 Tetraanionic tetradentate ligand complexes

The Ti complex $(Ti(NCH_2CH_2CH_2)_4)_2$ (**36**) was prepared via protonolysis of $Ti(NMe_2)_4$ with the neutral ligand. The crystal structure confirmed the dimeric nature in which one of the N-atoms from each ligand bridged the Ti centers. Hydrolysis of this compound afforded $(Ti(NCH_2CH_2CH_2)_3HNCH_2CH_2CH_2)_2(\mu-O).^{307}$



The dissymmetric imido ligand complex $(Ti((N(CH_2CH_2CH_2NPr')_2)CH_2CH_2N))_2$ was derived from the reaction of $(N(CH_2CH_2CH_2NPr')_2)CH_2CH_2NH_2$ and $Ti(NMe_2)_4$. Crystallographic studies confirmed the dimeric nature in which the imido N atoms bridge the two Ti centers.⁵⁰⁸

4.2.2.3.28 Trianionic hexadentate ligand complexes

The tris(aminopyridinato) ligand complex TiCl($(NC_5H_3MeNSiMe_2)_3CH$) (37) was prepared by reaction of the neutral ligand with TiCl(NMe_2)₃. Crystallographic data confirmed a sevencoordinate metal center.³⁰⁹

4.2.2.4 Phosphorus Ligand Complexes

4.2.2.4.1 Neutral phosphorus ligand complexes

The reaction of TiCl₄ and PH₂Cy afforded the octahedral TiCl₄(PH₂Cy)₂. Thermolysis of this compound between 350 °C and 600 °C showed that it was effective as a single-source precursor for the production of Ti—P films.³¹⁰

The related monomeric complex $TiCl_4(DMPE)_2$ was unintentionally synthesized via reaction of the ligand and $TiCl_4$ in the presence of $ZnEt_2$.³¹¹ In the solid state, $TiCl_4(DMPE)$ exhibited a distorted eight-coordinate geometry. This chelate complex was also readily alkylated.³¹²

4.2.2.5 Oxygen-based Ligand Complexes

4.2.2.5.1 Neutral oxygen ligand complexes

Both *cis* and *trans* isomers of the THF adduct of TiCl₄ have been reported, ^{11,313,314} crystallographically characterized, ³¹³ and commonly employed as starting materials for a variety of Ti compounds. The related adducts, TiCl₄L_n (L = EtO₂CR (R = Me, H, Ph), ³¹⁵ Me₃C₆H₂COH, PhCOMe, PhSCOMe EtCO(NCO₂CH₂CH(Prⁱ)), ³¹⁶ (n = 1, 2) have also been characterized spectroscopically.

A number of crystallographic studies of TiCl₄ adducts of esters have been reported. The monomeric complexes TiCl₄(CHCH₂CO₂CH(Me)CO₂Et),³¹⁷ TiCl₄(C₆H₄ (CO₂CH₂CHMe₂)₂),³¹⁸

TiCl₄(C₆H₄(CO₂CH₂CH₂Ph)₂), TiCl₄(C₂O₄(CH₂CH₂Ph)₂),³¹⁹ TiCl₄(CH₂(CO₂Et)₂), TiCl₄(C₂H₄-(CO₂CH₂OPh)₂),³²⁰ TiCl₄(*cis*-Me₂C₂(CO₂Et)₂), TiCl₄(*cis*-Et₂C₂(CO₂Et)₂), TiCl₄(*cis*-C₂H₂(CO₂Et)₂), TiCl₄(CHCMe(CO₂Et)₂), TiCl₄(C₆H₄(1,2-CO₂Me)₂), and TiCl₄(C₆H₁₀(CO₂CH₂-CHMe₂))³²¹ have been characterized. The related monomer TiCl₄(CH(CO₂Et)₃) formed a chelated six-coordinate complex with one pendent ester group.³²² Similarly, TiCl₄(C₄H₇OCH₂CO₂Me) (**38**) was shown to be monomeric with the ligand chelated through both the ether and ester oxygen atoms.³²³ In contrast (TiCl₃(μ -Cl)(MeCO₂CH₂CHCH₂))² ³²⁴ was determined to be a chloro-bridged dimer and crystallographic studies showed that (TiCl₄ (μ -C₆H₄(CO₂CH₂CH₂Ph)₂))³²⁵ and (TiCl₄(μ -C₆H₄-(CO₂Et)₂))^{326,327} were ester-bridged dimers. Moreover, the reaction of TiCl₄ with C₆H₄(CO₂Me)₂ formed a polymeric chain with the formula (TiCl₄(μ -C₆H₄(CO₂Me)₂))^{.318} Similarly, the reaction of TiCl₄ with C₆H₃(CO₂Me)₃))₂, while the analogous reaction using a 1:3.5 ratio in dichloroethane led to the two-dimensional polymer (TiCl₄(C₆H₃(CO₂Me)₃))^{.328}

Monomeric ketone donor adducts such as TiCl₄(Ph₃PCHC(O)R)(THF) (R = Me, Ph),³²⁹ TiCl₄(Me₂C(COMe)₂),³³⁰ TiCl₄(Ph₂CO)₂³³¹ and TiCl₄ (C₁₀H₁₄O₂) (**39**)³³² have been described. Solid state ¹³C NMR spectroscopy was used to study the chelation in ketone,³³³ dike-

Solid state ¹³C NMR spectroscopy was used to study the chelation in ketone,³³³ diketone,³³⁴ ethylacetate,³³⁵ and dialkyl phthalate adducts of TiCl₄.³³⁶ Related studies of such adducts employing EXAFS, XANES,^{337,338} and theoretical calculations^{339,340} have also been reported.

Treatment of TiCl₄ with 18-crown-6 formed the corresponding 1:1 adduct in which the crown coordinated to Ti in a bidentate fashion.³⁴¹ The reaction of TiCp₂Cl₂ with HCl and 18-crown-6 led to the isolation of $[(H_3O)(18\text{-crown-6})][TiCl_5(H_2O)]$.³⁴² The ionic compound $[TiCl_3(15\text{-crown-5})(MeCN)][SbCl_6]$ was prepared by the reaction of TiCl₄ with 15-crown-5, and SbCl₅. Crystal-lographic studies revealed an octahedrally coordinated Ti center, with the chloride ligands adopting a *facial* arrangement.³⁴³ The corresponding reaction of 12-crown-4 with $[TiCl_3-(MeCN)_3][SbCl_5]$ after inadvertent hydrolysis yielded the oxo dimer $[TiCl(\mu-O)(12\text{-crown-4})]_2$ - $[SbCl_6]_2$ (40).³⁴⁴



A variety of neutral heteroatom-based oxygen donors have formed neutral adducts with TiCl₄. Such complexes include TiCl₄(OP(NMe₂)₃)₂,³⁴⁵ TiCl₄(OP(NC₅H₁₀)₃)₂,³⁰ (Ti(μ -Cl)Cl₃(SO₂))₂(C₆H₆)₂, (Ti(μ -Cl)Cl₃(SO₂))₂(C₆H₂Me₄)₂,³⁴⁶ (TiCl₄)₂(S₆N₄(μ -O₄)),³⁴⁷ TiCl₄(ONPh)₂,³⁴⁸ TiCl₄(EtOCOC₅-H₄NO), TiCl₄(C₈H₆N₂O), TiCl₄(C₁₀H₈N₂O), TiCl₄(C₈H₆(NO)₂),³⁴⁹ and the benzofuroxan derivatives TiCl₄ (C₆H₄N₂O₂), TiCl₄(C₆H₃N₂O₂(OMe)), TiCl₄(C₆H₃N₂O₂(Me)), TiCl₄(C₆H₃N₂O₂(OMe)), TiCl₄(C₆H₄N₂O₂), TiCl₄(C₆H₃N₂O₂(Cl))₂, TiCl₄(C₆H₃N₂O₂(Cl))₂, TiCl₄(C₆H₃N₂O₂(Cl))₂, and TiCl₄(C₆H₄N₂O₂Me)₂, ³⁵⁰ More recently, the X-ray crystal structure of the dimeric sulfoxide adduct, (TiCl₃ (μ -Cl)(SOCl₂))₂, was solved.³⁵¹ Co and Ni bis-dialkoxyphosphate complexes, M(O₂P(OR)₂)₂, also coordinate to TiCl₄. Coordination is thought to occur via the alkoxide oxygen atoms.³⁵²

Reaction of TiCl₄ and 4,4'-methylenebis(antipyrine) (also called diantipyrylmethane or dam) in perchloric acid afforded the salt $[Ti(dam)_3][ClO_4]_4$.³⁵³ Crystallographic data revealed that this Ti cation was six coordinate with unusual eight-membered chelate rings. Aromatic ring stacking was presumed to be responsible for the orange color.

TiCl₄ is used extensively as a Lewis acid in numerous organic transformations, forming adducts that mediate reactivity. Such reactions include Diels Alder,^{354,355} hetero Diels Alder,³⁵⁶ cyclization of olefinic aldehydes,³⁵⁷ Hosomi–Sakurai allylic coupling reactions,³⁵⁸ cyclopropanations,³⁵⁹ chalcogen-Baylis–Hillman,³⁶⁰ Mukaiyama Aldol reactions,^{361–363} reductions of ketones to alcohols,³⁶⁴ and stereoselective nucleophilic additions to aldehydes.³⁶⁵

4.2.2.5.2 Oxide, hydroxide, and peroxo ligand complexes

Several peroxo complexes of the form $Ti(O_2)(X)_2(L)$ (X = monoanionic ligand and L = neutral ligand) have been prepared. Those that have been crystallographically characterized include $Ti(O_2)(C_6H_4NO_2)_2(OP(NMe_2)_3)$,³⁶⁶ $Ti(O_2)(C_4H_4N_2(CO_2)(CO_2H))(OC(Me)CHC(Me)O)(OP(NMe_2)_3)$,³⁶⁷ $Ti(O_2)(NCO)_2(MeNCH_2CH_2)_3$ and $Ti(O_2)Cl_2$ (MeNCH₂CH₂),²⁰⁹ A variety of ligands such as ethylenediamine and 2-aminopyridine aided in the stabilization of a number of Ti-peroxo and Ti-bis(peroxo) complexes.^{368,369} Many of these peroxo complexes were found to react with phosphines and sulfide to affect phosphine and sulfide oxidations.^{366,368,370}

A number of Ti–alkylperoxide complexes such as the Bu^{t} –peroxide complex (Ti(O₂Bu^t)-(N(CH₂-CH₂O)₃))₂ have been structurally characterized and studied by ¹⁷O NMR.^{371–373}

The tetrameric salt $[NH_4]_8[Ti_4(C_6H_4O_7)(O_2)_4]$ (41) has been structurally characterized.³⁷⁴ Peroxo complexes of porphyrins are described in Section 4.2.2.4.24.



4.2.2.5.3 Alkoxide ligand complexes

The chemistry of mono^{375–379} and hetero^{376,380,381}-metallic alkoxides has been extensively reviewed. Such compounds have also been employed in a variety of organic transformations.^{382–386}

Reaction of Ti(OR)₄ (R = Prⁱ, Et) with excess fluoroalcohols (R^fOH (R^f = CH(CF₃)₂, C₆F₅, C₆H₃F₂, C₆H₄F)) yielded a series of complexes of the general formula Ti(OR^f)_x(OR)_{4-x}(HOR)_n (x = 2-4, n = 0, 1).^{387,388} X-ray crystallographic data of Ti(OCH (CF₃)₂)₂(OEt)₂ and Ti(OC₆F₅)₃(OPrⁱ) confirmed dimeric complexes with two alkoxide bridges.³⁸⁷ The monomeric complexes TiCl₃(OCH₂CF₃) (THF)₂ were shown to polymerize alkyl isocyanates at 25 °C.^{389–391}

The facile reactions of TiCl₃(OPrⁱ), with a variety of O and N donors gave octahedral adducts.³⁹² In the case of pinacolone (OC(Me)(Bu^t)) a 1:2 adduct was formed and exchange of free and bound pinacolone was shown to proceed via a dissociative mechanism. An X-ray crystal structure established the dimeric nature of $(TiCl_2(\mu-Cl)(OC(Me)(Bu^t)))_2(\mu-O_2C_6H_9Me)$ (42).³⁹³ Other dimeric derivatives of TiCl₃(OPrⁱ) have also been described.^{394,395}

The dimer $(\text{TiCl}_2(\mu\text{-Cl})(\text{OPr}^i)(\text{PhCHO}))_2$ reacted with oxygen donors to give the monomeric derivatives $\text{TiCl}_3(\text{OPr}^i)(\text{PhCHO})L$ (L = DMF, DMSO, Pr^iOH). The weakly coordinated PhCHO accounts for the highly dynamic nature of these compounds.³⁹⁶ Similarly, dynamic interactions of $\text{TiCl}_3(\text{OPr}^i)$ with bidentate ligands containing methoxy and hydroxyl groups have been reported. The reaction of $\text{TiCl}_3(\text{OPr}^i)$ with $\text{HOCH}_2\text{CH}_2\text{OMe}$ in benzene yielded $\text{TiCl}_3(\text{OPr}^i)(\text{HOCH}_2\text{-CH}_2\text{OMe})$, while analogous reactions in the presence of NEt₃ in CH₂Cl₂ or in THF yielded [HNEt₃][TiCl₃(OPrⁱ)(OCH₂CH₂OMe)] and $\text{TiCl}_3(\text{OPr}^i)(\text{HOCH}_2\text{CH}_2\text{OMe})$ (THF) respectively. Similarly, when $\text{TiCl}_3(\text{OPr}^i)$ was reacted with DME, $\text{TiCl}_3(\text{OPr}^i)(\text{DME})_2$) formed. The solid



state structure of TiCl₃(OPrⁱ)(HOCH₂CH₂OMe) showed the OH group *trans* to the OPrⁱ group.³⁹⁷ The reaction of TiCl₃(OPrⁱ) with C₆H₄(NH₂)OH in CH₂Cl₂ gave the dimer (TiCl₃-(OPrⁱ)(OC₆H₄NH₃))₂, however, when conducted in THF the monomeric zwitterionic product formulated as TiCl₃(OPrⁱ)(OC₆H₄NH₃)(THF) formed. Addition of NEt₃ to the reaction mixture afforded the salt [HNEt₃][TiCl₃(OPrⁱ)(OC₆H₄NH₂)].³⁹⁸

The Ti-tritox (tritox = tri-*tert*-butylmethoxide) complexes TiCl_n(OCBu^t₃)_{4-n}³⁹⁹ when alkylated, reacted with O₂ to form TiMe_n(OMe)_{3-n}(OCBu^t₃). A bimolecular methyl-methoxy exchange mechanism was proposed.⁴⁰⁰ Theoretical and FTIR studies have probed the nature of Ti—O multiple bonding in Ti^{IV} alkoxide complexes.^{401,402}

Titanium tetrabutoxide formed 1:2 adducts with Si(OBu)₄ and (Me₃Si)₂O.⁴⁰³ Solid state structures of the six-coordinate complexes formed from reactions of TiCl₃(OPrⁱ) with donor ligands such as aldehydes, chlorides, esters, THF, and diethyl ether indicated the bonding order: OPrⁱ > Cl⁻ > THF > Et₂O > PhCHO > μ -Cl⁻ > RC(O)OMe. This study suggested that the lability of ligands *trans* to the alkoxide may contribute to the efficiency of Ti alkoxides as catalysts or reagents.³⁹²

The alcoholysis of Ti(OPrⁱ)₄ gave a variety of dimeric trigonal bipyramidal complexes including $(Ti(\mu-OC_6H_3F_2)(OC_6H_3F_2)_2(OPr^i))_{2,387}$ $(Ti(\mu-OCH_2Bu^t)(OCH_2Bu^t)_{3)_2,404}$ and $(Ti(OC_6H_2Me_3)_{2,405}$ (μ -OPrⁱ)(OPrⁱ)_{2,2,405} More recently the compound $[NBu_4][(Ti(OPr^i)_3)_2(\mu-F)_2(\mu-OPr^i)]$ was derived from the reaction of Ti(OPrⁱ)_4 and $[NBu_4][HF_2]_{406}^{406}$

Dimeric six-coordinate Ti complexes have also been structurally characterized including (TiCl₂- $(\mu$ -OCH₂CH₂X)(OCH₂CH₂X)(HOCH₂CH₂X))₂ (X = Cl, Br, I)⁴⁰⁷ (TiCl₂(μ -OPrⁱ)(OPrⁱ) (HOPrⁱ))₂, (TiCl₃(μ -Cl)(HOPrⁱ))₂, (TiCl₂(μ -Cl)(OPrⁱ)(HOPrⁱ))₂, ³⁹⁴ and (TiCl₂(μ -Cl)(OPrⁱ)(PhCHO))₂.

A number of Ti–oxo–alkoxide aggregates based on a triangular arrangement of three Ti atoms have been characterized. These include $Ti_3(\mu^3-O)(\mu-OPr^i)_3(\mu^3-X)(OPr^i)_6$, $(X = OPr^i, OMe, ^{408} F^{409})$, $Ti_3(\mu^3-O)(\mu^3-Cl)(\mu-OCH_2Bu^1)_3(OCH_2Bu^1)_6, ^{404}$ $Ti_3(\mu^3-O)(\mu^3-OPr^1)_2(OPr^i)_5(O_2CCCl_3)_3, ^{410}$ $Ti_3(\mu^3-O)(\mu-OPr^i)_3(OPr^i)_4(Me_2C(O)CHC(O)CH_2C(O)Me_2)$ (43). ⁴¹¹ In contrast, both the complexes $Ti_3((OC_6H_4CH_2CH_2CHO)_2C_2H_2(O_2CEt_2))_3$ and $Ti_3(OPr^1)_6(C_6H_9O_3)_2^{413}$ adopted linear arrangements of Ti atoms. Other reports have described related Ti–oxo–alkoxide aggregates.



(43)

More recently, the reaction of $[Ph_3PCH_2C(O)Ph]Br$ with $Ti(NMe_2)_4$ formed the zwitterionic Ti alkoxide $TiBr_2(NMe_2)_2(OC(Ph)CHPPh_3)$. This complex was shown to adopt a trigonal-bipyramidal geometry.⁴¹⁵

The combination of Ti(OPrⁱ)₄ and (Bu^tO)₂ or Bu^tO₂H has been utilized in a number of organic transformations including the Sharpless epoxidation,⁴¹⁶ the conversion of alcohols to carbonyl compounds,⁴¹⁷ the oxidation of phenols to quinones or ketols,⁴¹⁸ and the oxidation of Ti enolates to α -hydroxyketones.⁴¹⁹

4.2.2.5.4 Aryloxide ligand complexes

Aryloxide complexes have been studied for some time. In an early report, Ti(CH₂CHCH-CH₃)(OPh)₃ has been utilized as a catalyst for diastereoselective syntheses of alcohols.⁴²⁰ The complexes TiCl_{4-n}(OC₆H₄X)_n (X = Cl,^{421,422} Bu^t, Ome⁴²³) and TiCl_{4-n}(OC₆H₂Me₃)_n (n = 1-3)⁴²⁴ were generated by the reaction of TiCl₄ with the corresponding phenol. The chlorophenoxy titanium derivative reacted with a variety of α -hydroxy aldehydes and ketones, whereas the latter compounds reacted with neutral donors (L = pyridine, THF, bipy, picoline) to form adducts of the form TiCl_{4-n}(OC₆H₂Me₃)_nL₂.

A series of reports have described complexes incorporating varying stoichiometries of substituted phenolate ligands.^{426–439} Alcoholysis of Ti(OPrⁱ)₄ by HOC₆H₄NH₂ yielded Ti(OC₆H₄NH₂)₄. Ligand redistribution reactions of this complex with TiCl₄ in varying ratios led to the mono-, di-, and tri-substituted aryloxide–Ti complexes TiCl_n(OC₆H₄NH₂)_{4–n}.⁴⁴⁰ A number of these complexes were crystallographically characterized and were also observed to form adducts with donor ligands.^{424,441,442} For example, the complexes TiCl_{4–n}(OPh)_nL₂ (L=PMe₃, PPh₃, PhCOMe, Ph₂CO) and TiCl_{4–n}(OPh)_nL (L=Me₂PCH₂CH₂PMe₂, Bu₂PCH₂CH₂PBu₂, TMEDA)^{443,444} have been prepared and characterized.

Ti(NEt₂)₂(OC₆H₃MeBu^t)₂ and Ti(NMe₂)₂(OC₆H₂Bu^t₃)₂ were synthesized by reacting Ti(NR₂)₄ with the corresponding phenol.^{445,446} Procedures for converting these amido derivatives to the corresponding chloride derivatives were based on reactions with SiCl₄ and Me₃SiCl respectively. In a similar manner, TiCl₂(OC₆H₃MeBu^t)₂ was converted to TiX₂(OC₆H₃MeBu^t)₂ (X = Br, I) via reaction with BX₃.⁴⁴⁷ Ti–oxo–aryloxide derivatives TiO(OC₆H₃Prⁱ₂)₂(NC₅H₄(NC₄H₈)) and (Ti(μ -O)-(OC₆H₃Prⁱ₂)₂(NC₅H₄(NC₄H₈)))₂ containing terminal⁴⁴⁸ or bridging⁴⁴⁹ oxo groups, respectively, have also been characterized.

Similarly, the naphthoxide complexes $\text{TiCl}_{4-n}(\text{OC}_{10}\text{H}_7)_n$ (n = 1-4) have been prepared.⁴⁵⁰ Formation of adducts with alcohols,⁴⁵⁰ carbonyl compounds,⁴⁵¹ N bases,⁴⁵² formamides, acetamides, sulfoxides, phosphorous oxides,⁴⁵³ amine oxides,⁴⁵⁴ and acetoacetanilide⁴⁵⁵ have been described. Complexes containing linked aryloxide fragments were derived from the reaction of bis(dimethyl-ethyl)fluorene-1,8-diol with TiCl₄. The products Ti₂Cl₆(O₂C₁₃H₆Bu^t₂) (44) and Ti₂Cl₆(O₂C₁₃H₆Bu^t₂)-(OC(C₆H₄Me)₂) were both crystallographically characterized.⁴⁵⁶

Titanium complexes containing polymerizable vinyl-substituted aryloxide ligands have been employed to prepare polystyrene/divinylbenzene-based polymers that incorporate Ti–aryloxide fragment into the matrix.⁴⁴⁶ Such materials have been used to catalyze Diels–Alder reactions with high diastereoselectivity and at rates only three to five times slower than the corresponding homogeneous reactions.^{446,447}



4.2.2.5.5 Siloxide ligand complexes

The addition of three equivalents of Na[OSiBu^t₃] to TiCl₄ yielded TiCl(OSiBu^t₃)₃. Reduction with Na/Hg and subsequent oxidation with Ph₂CO gave the Ti–ketyl complex Ti(OSiBu^t₃)₃(OCPh₂) in which dissymmetric dimerization afforded Ti(OSiBu^t₃)₃(OCPh₂)C₆H₅C(Ph)OTi(OSiBu^t₃)₃ (**45**). Subsequent addition of Ph₃SnH gave Ti(OSiBu^t₃)₃(OCHPh₂).⁴⁵⁷ In more recent work, it was shown that Ti(OSiBu^t₃)₃ could be readily oxidized in reactions with CCl₄. RhCl(PPh₃)₃, Br₂, I₂, MeI, *neo*-PnBr to TiX(OSiBu^t₃)₃ (X = Cl, Br, I, Me, *neo*-Pn) respectively. Similarly, reaction of Ti(OSiBu^t₃)₃ with THF gave the dimer (Ti(OSiBu^t₃)₃)₂(μ -OCH₂CH₂CH₂CH₂); however, when conducted in the presence of Ph₃SnH both the dimer and the monomeric complex Ti(OSiBu^t₃)₃-(OCH₂CH₂CH₂CH₂Me) were produced. Photolysis of TiBn₂(OSiBu^t₃)₂ in THF gave (Ti(OSiBu^t₃)₂-(OCH₂CH₂CH₂CH₂CH₂))₂.



The addition of two equivalents of Na[OSiBu^t₃] to TiCl₄ yielded TiCl₂(OSiBu^t₃)₂. Subsequent reaction with Li[NHSiBu^t₃] afforded TiCl(OSiBu^t₃)₂(HNSiBu^t₃). An archive of alkyl, aryl, alkenyl, and hydrido derivatives TiR(OSiBu^t₃)₂(HNSiBu^t₃) have been synthesized. Kinetic studies of 1,2-RH elimination reactions supported a first order process for the C—H activation and the equilibrium measurements allowed for the derivation of a relative free energy scale.^{126,127} In related work, inter- and intramolecular equilibrium isotope effects and absolute Ti—R bond enthalpies for TiR(OSiBu^t₃)₂(HNSiBu^t₃) have been reported.^{459,460}

The complex TiCl₃(OSiPh₃) was prepared by the protonolysis of TiCl₄ with HOSiPh₃. A comparison of the crystal structure of this complex to that of TiCl₃(NPPh₃) showed that both contained tetrahedral Ti atoms.⁹⁸ The octahedral complex TiCl₂(OSiPh₃)₂(THF)₂ was prepared and activated to catalyze the selective formation of methylenecyclopentane from 1,5-hexadiene.⁴⁶¹ However, in the complexes Ti(OSiPh₃)₄ and Ti(OGePh₃)₄, steric congestion about the Ti atoms is believed to contribute to the catalytic inactivity toward the epoxidation of alkenes.⁴⁶²

 $(Cy)_8Si_8O_{10}(OH)_2$ has been shown to react with TiX₄ (X = Cl, Bn) to give oligometric materials formulated as $((TiX_3)_2(Cy)_8Si_8O_{12})_n$. These materials were active homogeneous catalysts for alkene epoxidation reactions.⁴⁶³

4.2.2.5.6 Miscellaneous anionic oxygen ligand complexes

Ti–alkoxide complexes have been used to effect alkoxide group exchange with phosphorus diesters. For example, $Ti(OBu^t)_4$ reacted with $(MeO)_2P(O)H$ to give $(MeO)(Bu^tO)P(O)H$, while the analogous reaction with $Ti(OEt)_4$ gave $(EtO)_2P(O)H$.⁴⁶⁴ The reaction of $Ti(OR)_4$ (R = Et, Prⁱ) with $(OBu^t)_2P(O)(OH)$ yielded $Ti_2(OR)_6(O_2P(OBu^t)_2)_2$.⁴⁶⁵

Treatment of TiCl₄ with six equivalents of AgOTeF₅ afforded [Ag]₂[Ti(OTeF₅)₆]. A crystallographic study of [Ag]₂[Ti(OTeF₅)₆] (**46**) revealed octahedral Ti and Te cores.^{**466**} The reaction of TiCl₄ with [Ph₄P][OSPCl₂] led to the formation of [Ph₄P]₂[Ti(μ -Cl)Cl₃(OSPCl₂)]₂. Crystallographic data confirmed the dimeric nature of the complex and coordination of the oxygen atom to titanium.^{**118**}

4.2.2.5.7 Heterometallic alkoxide complexes

A plethora of other heterometallic alkoxide complexes containing Ti have been reported and reviewed.^{379,380,467–470}

Compounds with the general formula $M[Ti(OPr^i)_5]$ (M = Li, Na, K) have been reported.^{471,472} Within this family of complexes only the Li salt, (Li[Ti(OPr^i)_5])₂, was isolated as a dimer. This compound contained two approximate trigonal–bipyramidal Ti centers.⁴⁷¹ In contrast, the Na and



K analogues were linear and nonlinear polymers respectively.⁴⁷² All of the analogous *neo*-pentyloxide derivatives (MTi(OCH₂Bu¹)₅)₂ (M = Li, Na, K) were characterized as dimers, presumably as a result of the increased steric bulk of the ligand.⁴⁷³ The related Al complex Al₂Ti(μ -OPrⁱ)₄(OPrⁱ)₆ (47) was prepared from the reaction of Al turnings and Ti(OPrⁱ)₄.⁴⁷⁵

The mixed metal alkoxide $Bi(\mu$ -OPrⁱ)₂(μ_3 -O)(Ti₂(μ -OPrⁱ)₂(OPrⁱ)₅) was obtained from the controlled hydrolysis of a reaction mixture of Ti(OPrⁱ)₄ and BiO(OPrⁱ). Both Ti centers are six-coordinate while the Bi center is four-coordinate with a stereochemically active lone pair of electrons.⁴⁷⁶

A series of reactions have been carried out in which $K[Ti_2(OPr^i)_9]$ has been employed as a synthon for heterometallic alkoxides. For example, CdI_2 reacted with this complex to give the compound $[CdI][Ti_2(OPr^i)_9]$. Subsequent reaction of $[CdI][Ti_2(OPr^i)_9]$ with $K[Ba(OPr^i)_3]$ gave the heterometallic complex $(Cd[Ti_2(OPr^i)_9]Ba(OPr^i)_3)_2$ (48). Structural data revealed that metal rearrangements led to alkoxide bridging between Ba and Ti and between Ba and Cd.⁴⁷⁷ Subsequent







(48)

studies applied similar strategies to obtain $Cl_2Y(Ti_2(OPr^i)_9)$, $ClY(Ti_2(OPr^i)_9)_2$, $ClCu(Ti_2(OPr^i)_9)$, $(Ba(Ti_2(OPr^i)_{10}))_2$, $Ba(Ti(OPr^i)_5)(Ti_2(OPr^i)_9)$), $Ba(Ti_2(OPr^i)_9)_2^{478}$ The tin salt $[Ti_3(OPr^i)_{11}][(Sn_2I_6(\mu - OPr^i)_3]$ was obtained in the reaction of SnI_4 and $KTi_2(OPr^i)_9$. However, reaction of $[ClSn(Ti_2(OPr^i)_9)]_2$ with $SnCl_2$ afforded $[SnTi_2(OPr^i)_9][SnCl_3]$.

Lead acetate (Pb(O₂CMe)₂(H₂O)₃) and Ti tetraalkoxides act as precursors to lead titanate, PbTiO₃, a ferroelectric material with applications in microelectronics.^{480–485} A number of studies have attempted to identify precursors to PbTiO₃ in solution.^{486–489} Related investigations have suggested the complexes Pb₂Ti₂(O)(O₂CR)₂(OPrⁱ)₈ (R = C₃F₇, Bu^t), Pb₃Ti₃(O)₄(O₂CMe)₂(OPrⁱ)₇(OC(Me)-CHC(Me)O), Pb₂Ti₂(O)(OEt)₈(OC (Me)CHC (Me)O)₂, and Pb₂Ti₂(O)(O₂CR)₂(OPrⁱ)₈.⁴⁹⁰ Similarly, the reaction of Ti(OPrⁱ)₄ with Pb₄O(OPrⁱ)₆ or Pb₆O₄(OPrⁱ)₄ yielded Pb₃TiO(OPrⁱ)₈.⁴⁹¹ The X-ray crystallographic structures of the precursors to PbTiO₃, Pb₂Ti₂(μ^4 -O)(μ^3 -OPrⁱ)₂(μ -OPrⁱ)₄(OPrⁱ)₄ (49),⁴⁹² and Pb₂Ti₂(μ^4 -O)(μ -O₂CMe)₂(OPrⁱ)₈.⁴⁹³ have been determined.

Transition-metal-based heterometallic alkoxide complexes have been prepared. For example, the heterometallic complex Fe(Al(OBu^t)₄)(Ti₂(OPrⁱ)₉) was reported but not structurally characterized.⁴⁹⁴ The reaction of (Rh(μ -OH)(COD))₂ with TiMe(OBu^t)₃ at low temperatures afforded (Ti(OBu^t)₂)₂-(μ -O³)(Rh(COD))₄ (**50**)⁴⁹⁵ In the same vein, the Ti/Rh complex (Ti(OPr)₆Rh(COD))₂ was obtained.⁴⁹⁶



The protonolysis of Ti(OR)₄ with $Co_3(CO)_9(\mu^3$ -CCO₂H) led to a series of novel Co_3 Ti clusters including Ti₂Co₂((OCH₂)₃CMe)(OPrⁱ)₂(μ -(CO)₉Co₃(μ^3 -CCO₂))₄ and (TiCo₃(OMe)₆(HOMe)(THF)-(μ -(CO)₉Co₃(μ^3 -CCO₂))₁)₂.⁴⁹⁷ The Zr–Ti complex TiZr₂(OCMe₂CMe₂O)₄(OCMe₂ CMe₂OH)₂(OPrⁱ)₂, and Ti₂Zr₂(OCMe₂CMe₂O)₆(OPrⁱ)₄ were derived from reactions of Zr₂(OCMe₂ CMe₂O)₂(OCMe₂C-Me₂OH)₄ and Ti(OPrⁱ)₄ respectively.⁴⁹⁸ The related Ti–Zr complexes Ti₂Zr₄O₄- (OBu)₂(O₂C(Me)-CCH₂)₁₄ and Ti₂Zr₆O₆(O₂C(Me)CCH₂)₂₀ were isolated from reactions of Ti(OBu)₄, Zr(OBu)₄ and methacrylic acid. The structures of these compounds are based on a zig-zag chain of TiO₆ and ZrO₈ or ZrO₇ units.⁴⁹⁹

The Sm–Ti complex $\text{Sm}_4\text{Ti}(\mu^5\text{-O})(\mu^3\text{-OPr}^i)_2(\mu\text{-OPr}^i)_6(\text{OPr}^i)_6$ (51) was derived from reaction of SmI₂ with Na[Ti(OPrⁱ)₅].⁵⁰⁰ The Ce–Ti mixed alkoxide complexes, TiCe₂(OCMe₂ CMe₂O)₂(OPrⁱ)₈ and Ti₂Ce₂O₂(OCMe₂CMe₂O)₄(OPrⁱ)₄(HOPrⁱ)₂, were isolated and the latter compound has been structurally characterized.⁵⁰¹



4.2.2.5.8 Diketonate ligand complexes

Various diketonate ligands, such as acetylacetone (acac), have been incorporated into Ti–halide, $^{502-508}$ Ti–alkoxide, $^{509-513}$ Ti–fatty acid⁵¹⁴ and Ti–oxo⁵¹⁵⁻⁵¹⁷ complexes. Related tris(ketone) homometallic derivatives such as Ti₂(OCMeCHC(CH₂COMe)O)₄(μ -O)₂ have been reported, 518 along with heterometallic derivatives such as $TiCl_2(OC(Bu^t)CHCO(C_6H_4PPh_2)_2PtCl_2.$ ⁵¹⁹

For the symmetrically substituted complexes, $Ti(OCRCHCRO)_2(OR')_2$, (R = Me, Bu';R' = Bn, Pr^{i} , $CH_{2}Pr^{i}$, $C(Me)_{2}Ph$)) in the *cis*-geometry, there are two possible enantiomeric forms (Δ and Λ). These have been shown to interconvert at high temperatures.⁵²⁰ Some of these derivatives were tested as photocatalysts for oxygenation of α -pinene with O_2^{521} and as antitumor agents.508

4.2.2.5.9 O₂-monoanionic bidentate ligand complexes

Titanium complexes containing methylsalicylate, phenolphthalein,⁵²² furoic acid, isotan and picolinic acid ligands have been described.⁵²³ Keto–alkoxide complexes such as $TiCl_3(O_2C_6H_7)^{524}$ and various maltolato derivatives^{525,526} have been prepared and characterized.

Aryloxide–ether bidentate complexes such as $TiCl_2(OC_6H_4OMe)_2$, $(TiCl_2(\mu-Cl)(OC_6H_4OMe))_2$, $(\text{TiCl}(\mu-\text{Cl})(\text{OPr}^{i})(\text{OC}_{6}\text{H}_{4}\text{OMe}))_{2}$, $(\text{TiCl}(\text{OC}_{6}\text{H}_{4}\text{OMe})_{2})_{2}(\mu-\text{O})$, and $\text{TiCl}_{2}(\text{OPr}^{i})(\text{OC}_{6}\text{H}_{4}\text{OMe})_{2}$ (HOPrⁱ) were prepared via the reaction of the phenol with TiCl_{4} .^{526,527} Crystallographic data confirmed a *cis* arrangement of the Cl atoms for $TiCl_2(OC_6H_4OMe)_2$ and $(TiCl_2(\mu-Cl)-Cl)_2(\mu-Cl)-Cl)$ $(OC_6H_4OMe))_2$.

Other monoanionic bidentate oxygen-based ligand complexes include $TiCl_2((OPR_2)_2N)_2$ (R = Cl, Ph,⁵²⁸ OPh,⁵²⁹), $TiCl_2(OPPh_2CH_2CH(Me)O)_2$, $TiCl_2(OPPh_2 CH_2CH(Ph)O)_2$,⁵³⁰ $TiCl_2(OC_{20}H_{12}P(O)Ph_2)_2$,⁵³¹ and $Ti(OPr)_3(OP(OMe)_2CH(OPr^i)O)$,⁵³². Similarly, a disulfone ligand has been used to prepare $Ti_2(\mu$ -OPrⁱ)_2(OPrⁱ)_4(HC(SO_2CF_3)_2)_2 from $TiCl(OPr^i)_3$. The reaction of TiCl₄ with Cl_2O_6 led to the formation of Ti(ClO₄)₄ in which the oxygen atoms of the perchlorate ligands bound to Ti in a bidentate fashion.⁵³⁴

Metal (Cu, Ni, Co) complexes containing ligands with pendent oxygen donors such as acids,⁵³⁵ oxime donors,⁵³⁶ enaminoketonates, or enaminoiminates,⁵³⁷ have been reported to complex to titanium. Alternatively, the heterotrimetallic complex, $Ti(NMe_2)(OC(NMe_2))Fe(CO)_4(OC)$ $(NMe_2)_2Fe(CO)_3$, in which one of the two Fe centers forms a metallocyclic chelate ligand on Ti, was derived from the reaction of Fe(CO)₅ with Ti(NMe₂)₄.⁵³⁸

4.2.2.5.10 Carboxylate, carbamate, and oxolate ligand complexes

The reactions of several carboxylic acids (HCO_2R) or the corresponding alkali salts $(NaCO_2R)$ yielded a series of derivatives of the form $Ti(O_2CR)_4^{539,540}$ and $TiX_{4-n}(O_2CR)_n$ $(X = OPr^i, OC(Me)CHC(Me)O, OBu, Cl, aldehydes, ketones, Schiff bases).^{410,541-547}$ The crystal structures of $(TiCl_3(O_2CBu^i))_3$, and $Ti_2Cl_7(O_2CR)(HO_2CR)$ $(R = C_6H_4Cl, CHCHMe)^{544,545}$ have been been for the form $TiCl_3(O_2CBu^i)_3$ and $Ti_2Cl_7(O_2CR)(HO_2CR)$ and $Ti_2Cl_7(O_2CR)(HO_2CR)$ of $(R = C_6H_4Cl, CHCHMe)^{544,545}$ have been for the form $TiCl_3(O_2CBu^i)_3$ and $Ti_2Cl_7(O_2CR)(HO_2CR)$ and $TiCl_3(O_2CBu^i)_3$ and $TiCl_3(O_2CB)(HO_2CR)$ and $TiCl_3(O_2CB)(HO_2CB)$ and $TiCl_3(O_2CB)(HO_2CB)$ and $TiCl_3(O_2CB)(HO_2CB)$ and $TiCl_3(O_2CB)(HO_2CB)$ and $TiCl_3(O_2CB)(HO_2CB)(HO_2CB)$ and $TiCl_3(O_2CB)(HO_2CB)(HO_2CB)$ and $TiCl_3(O_2CB)(HO_2CB)(HO_2CB)$ and $TiCl_3(O_2CB)(HO_2CB)(HO_2CB)(HO_2CB)$ and $TiCl_3(O_2CB)(HO_2CB)(HO_2CB)(HO_2CB)(HO_2CB)$ and $TiCl_3(O_2CB)(HO_2CB)$ reported. The bonding modes observed for the carboxylate ligands included monodentate, 541,542 chelated bidentate, 539,540 or bridging bidentate.

Similarly, the reaction of $Ti(OMe)_4$ with $O(OCCF_3)_2$ gave $Ti(OMe)_2(O_2CCF_3)_2$. Warming the analogous ethoxide derivative afforded $Ti_2O(O_2CCF_3)_6$. The related oxo-bridged derivatives $(\text{TiCl}_2(\mu-O_2CR)(\text{HO}_2CR))_2(\mu-O)$ (R = Me, Et, Bu^t) and $(\text{TiCl}_3(\mu-O_2CEt)_5(\mu^3-O)_2$ have also been structurally characterized.^{549,550} The mononuclear oxo derivative TiO(O₂CCH(Et)Bu)₂ was prepared via treatment of Ti(OR)₄ (R = *n*Bu, Prⁱ, MeOC₂H₄) with HO₂CCH(Et)Bu)₂ was pre-pared via treatment of Ti(OR)₄ (R = *n*Bu, Prⁱ, MeOC₂H₄) with HO₂CCH(Et)Bu)₂.⁵⁵¹ Partial hydrolysis of TiCl_n(O₂CR)_{4-n} gave (TiCl₂(μ -O₂CR))₂(μ -O).⁵⁵² Similarly, the bridging oxo Ti^{III}/ Ti^{IV} complex Ti₂(μ -O)Cl₃(O₂CPh)₂(THF)₃ has been characterized.⁵⁵³ Ti complexes of Schiff-base carboxylate ligands,^{554,555} isoindole-acetate ligands⁵⁵⁶ and 2-furylacrylate ligands⁵⁵⁷ have been described. Several examples of the applications of carbamate intermediate complexes in organic syntheses have also been reported.^{558–560} Treatment of TiCl₄

with secondary amines and CO₂ yielded the monomeric eight-coordinate complexes $Ti(O_2 - CNEt_2)_4$ and $Ti(O_2 CNPr^i_2)_4$.⁵⁶¹ Treatment of $Ti(O_2 CNPr^i_2)_4$ with Ph₃SiOH afforded $Ti(O_2 CN-r^i_2)_4$ with Ph₃SiOH afforded $Ti(O_2 CN-r^i_2)_4$. $Pr^{i}_{2}_{2}(OSiPh_{3})_{2}.$ ⁵⁶²

The oxolate salts $[NEt_4]_5[(TiO)_3(C_2O_4)_5(OH)]$, $[NEt_4]_6[(TiO)_4(C_2O_4)_6(OH)_2]$, and $[NEt_4]_8$ - $[(TiO)_6(C_2O_4)_8(OH)_4]$ have also been characterized.

4.2.2.5.11 Bidentate alkoxide ligand complexes

The first practical asymmetric epoxidation was reported by Katsuki and Sharpless.⁴¹⁶ The catalyst that was used in the epoxidation of allylic alcohols by $(Bu^tO)_2$ was prepared *in situ* with Ti(OPrⁱ)₄ and diethyltartrate. Since then, synthetic applications and mechanistic details of these reactions have been widely explored and utilized.^{564,565} Only a sampling of relevant reports have been cited.^{416,566–575}

In 1984 the crystal structures of $(Ti(OPr^i)_2(OC(ONHCH_2Ph))_2)_2$ (52) and $(Ti(OEt)(OC-(OEt))_2)(ON(Ph)CPh))_2$ (53) were determined.⁵⁷⁶ Since then the propensity of the tartrate ligand to adopt multiple binding modes was confirmed by a number of other crystal structures.⁵⁷⁷

Various tetraaryl-1,3-dioxolane-4,5-dimethanol (TADDOL) ligands have been employed in the syntheses of a series of Ti–TADDOL derivatives⁵⁷⁸ such as TiCl₂(TADDOL),⁵⁷⁹ TiCl₂(TAD-DOL)(THF)₂ (**54**),⁵¹⁵ and Ti(OC(Ph)CHC(Ph)O)(TADDOL)(THF)₂.⁵⁸⁰ Much of this chemistry has been reviewed.^{383,386,581} Ti complexes of these ligands have been extensively used in asymmetric synthesis.^{515,582–591}



A variety of other titanium complexes containing dihydroxy ligands, such as dihydroxycoumarins, ⁵⁹² glycolates, ⁵⁹³ arylbis(5-hydroxy-3-methyl-1-phenyl-4-pyrazolyl)methane, ^{594,595} 1-(*o*-hydroxybenzyl)-2-(*o*-hydroxyphenyl)benzimidazole, ⁵⁹⁶ and derivatives of ascorbic acid⁵⁹⁷ have been described. The dimeric nature of the Ti–diolate complex (Ti((OCHMe)₂CH₂)₂)₂ was determined by X-ray diffraction studies. In the gas phase this complex remained dimeric as shown by DCI–MS experiments. ⁵⁹⁸ Treatment of bis(dimethyldioxolanyl)ethanediol with Ti(OPrⁱ)₄ afforded two dimeric species Ti₂(OPrⁱ)₄(μ -diolate)₂ and Ti(diolate)(OPrⁱ)(μ -OPrⁱ)Ti(OPrⁱ)₃. These complexes catalyzed the enantioselective addition of ZnEt₂ to aldehydes.⁵⁹⁹ Related asymmetric diols were used *in situ* to prepare Ti complexes that were subsequently used in asymmetric reductions of ketones.^{600,601}

4.2.2.5.12 Bidentate aryloxide ligand complexes

Neutral catechol derivatives of the form $TiCl_2(O_2C_6H_3R)L$ (R = H, Me, Bu^t; L = bipy, THF, OEt₂)⁶⁰² have been prepared and used as catalysts in a variety of organic transformations.^{603–606}

Synthetic methods used to prepare tris(catecholate)Ti salts have been standardized.⁶⁰⁷ Related derivatives including $[NH_4]_2[Ti(O_2C_6H_4)_3]$, $Ba[Ti(O_2C_6H_4)_3]$, $Gamma (HNEt_3)_2[Ti(O_2C_6H_4)_3]$, $K_4[TiO(O_2C_6H_4)_2]_2$, $[HNEt_3]_2[Ti(O_2C_6H_2Bu^t_2)_2(HO_2C_6H_2Bu^t_2)]_2$, $Gamma (Cs_2[Ti(O_2C_6H_2PPh_2)_3]^{610}$ have been described. Several complexes with substituted biphenols of the form $(TiX_2(OC_6-M_2Cl_2)_2)_2$ (X = Cl, OPrⁱ) (55) have been structurally characterized illustrating that the biphenol ligands bridge the two Ti centers affording 14-membered rings.⁶¹¹

Several dicatechol derivatives with the general formula $1,2-(OH)_2C_6H_4RC_6H_4(OH)_2$ ($R = C_2H_4$,⁶¹² C_6H_4 ,⁶¹³ CH_2 ,^{614,615} $CH_2NHCOCHRNHCO^{616,617}$) have been incorporated into Ti complexes of formulas [M]₄[Ti₂L₃] or [M]₂[Ti₂L₂(OMe)₂] (M = Li, Na, K). The former type of complex was described as having a triple-stranded dinuclear Ti center (**56**),⁶¹³ while the latter forms a double-stranded dinuclear Ti center.



Naphthalenediols were used to prepare the dinuclear complexes $Ti_2Cl_6(C_{10}H_6O_2)$ and (TiCl $(\mu$ -Cl) $(C_{10}H_6O_2)(OCPr^i_2))_2$.⁶¹⁸ Structural parameters of a few Ti binaphtholate complexes derived from the reaction of Ti $(OPr^i)_4$ and binaphthol have been determined by X-ray crystallography.^{619,620} Ti derivatives of the chiral ligand 2,2'-dihydroxy-1,1'-binaphthol such as $(TiCl_2(O_2C_{20}H_{10}Me_2))_2$.⁶²¹ TiCl $_2(O_2C_{20}H_{12})$, and $(Ti(\mu-O)(O_2C_{20}H_{12}))_2$ ⁶²² have been prepared and employed in enantioselective catalysis of a number of organic reactions.^{621,623}

A variety of Ti complexes with substituted binaphthalenediolate ligands have been reported.^{624–629} Some of these derivatives have been employed in a variety of enantioselective catalytic reactions.^{622,630–635} A related octahydrobinaphthol ligand has been employed to prepare (TiCl₂-(C₂₀H₂₀O₂))₂ and (Ti₂(OPrⁱ)₄(μ -O)(C₂₀H₂₀O₂))₂.⁶²⁶

A series of bis(phenol) complexes such as TiCl₂((OC₆H₄)₂CMe₂), TiX₂((OC₆H₂MeBu^t)₂CH₂) (X = Cl, Br, I, OMe, OPrⁱ, OBu^t), TiCl₂((OC₆H₂MeBu^t)₂CH₂)(L) (L = THF, Bu^tNC), and Ti((OC₆H₂RBu^t)₂CH₂)₂ have been reported.^{602,636-642} Subsequently, Ti(η^3 -BH₄)₂((OC₆H₂Me-Bu^t)₂CH₂) was prepared and structurally characterized.⁶⁴³ A number of these complexes have been assessed as olefin polymerization pre-catalysts.^{638,642}

A relatively recent report has described the heterobimetallic diolate complex Ti $(OPr^i)_2$ -((OCPh₂C₅H₄)₂Fe) derived from a substituted ferrocene ligand.⁶⁴⁴

4.2.2.5.13 Disiloxane ligand complexes

A number of Ti complexes containing di- or tri-siloxanediolate ligands have been obtained in metathesis reactions between TiCl₄ and the corresponding diolate. In this fashion the compounds cis-Ti(OSiPh₂OSiPh₂OSiPh₂OSiPh₂OSiPh₂O)₂ (57),⁶⁴⁵ and Ti(OSiPh₂OSiPh₂OSiPh₂O)₂(NC₅H₅)₂^{646,647} were obtained. These complexes contain 10- and 8-membered titanasiloxane chelate rings respectively. In a more recent study the titanium salt [Na(NC₅H₅)]₂[Ti(OSiPh₂OSiPh₂O)₃] was prepared.

The presence of three six-membered titanasiloxane chelate rings in this compound was confirmed crystallographically.⁶⁴⁸

The organosiloxane $Bu_2^tSi(OH)_2$ reacted with Ti halides to give the dimeric complexes (TiX₂- $(\mu$ -O₂SiBu₂^t))₂ (X = Cl, Br, I). X-ray data confirmed that these compounds contained eightmembered rings as a result of the bridging nature of the siloxane ligand.⁶⁴⁹ Similarly, the reaction of Ti(OC(Me)CHC(Me)O)₂(OPrⁱ)₂ with (Bu^tO₂)Si(OH)₂ gave the cyclic compound (Ti(OC(Me)CHC(Me)O)₂(μ -O₂Si(OBu^t)₂))₂ (58) in which the oxygen atoms of the silanediolate bridged the two Ti centers.⁶⁵⁰



A more recent report has employed a silsesquioxane–disilanol ligand to prepare the complexes $Ti((Cy)_7Si_7O_{11}(OSiMe_3))_2^{651,652}$ and $Ti((C_5H_9)_7Si_7O_{11}(OSiMe_3))_2$ (59)⁶⁵³ via reaction with $Ti(Bn)_4$ and $Ti(OPr^i)_4$ respectively.



4.2.2.5.14 Borate ligand complexes

The reaction of $(Ti(\mu-O)(OC(Me)CHC(Me)O)_2)_2$ with $B(C_6F_5)_3$ afforded the complex Ti(OB- $(C_6F_5)_3)(OC(Me)CHC(Me)O)_2$.

4.2.2.5.15 Nitrate and sulfate ligand complexes

The Ti sulfate complexes $\text{TiCl}_n(\text{MeSO}_3)_{4-n}$ (n = 1-3) were reported to react with mono-, di-, and trichloroacetic acids to give the corresponding complexes with the general formula $\text{Ti}(\text{MeSO}_3)_{n-1}$ $(O_2\text{CCl}_m\text{H}_{3-m})_{4-n}$ (n = 1-3, m = 1-3). These complexes formed adducts with pyridine and bipyridine.⁶⁵⁵ The complex Ti(OMe)_2(SO_3F)_2 was synthesized via the reaction between Ti(OMe)_4 and excess S_2O_5F_2.⁶⁵⁶

The triflate derivatives $\text{TiCl}_n(\text{F}_3\text{CSO}_3)_{4-n}$ (n=1-3), $\text{Ti}(\text{NO}_2)_2(\text{F}_3\text{CSO}_3)_6$, and $\text{Ti}(\text{OEt})_2$ - $(\text{F}_3\text{CSO}_3)_2$ were obtained from triflic acid hydrolysis of the appropriate Ti precursor.^{548,657}

Thermal degradation led to the oxo compounds including $[(NO_2)NO)][TiO(F_3CSO_3)_4]$. Ti^{IV} triflate complexes efficiently catalyze a variety of reactions including the conversion of acetophenones to 1,3,5-triarylbenzenes,⁶⁵⁸ the nucleophilic ring opening of epoxides,⁶⁵⁹ Diels–Alder reactions,⁶⁶⁰ selective Claisen and Dieckmann ester condensations,⁶⁶¹ esterification reactions,⁶⁶² Fries rearrangements,⁶⁶³ homoaldol reactions,⁶⁶⁴ sequential cationic and anionic polymerizations,⁶⁴¹ and the stereoselective synthesis of *cis*-arabinofuranosides.⁶⁰⁶

4.2.2.5.16 Phosphate and phosphonate ligand complexes

In 1986 the use of Ti phosphate ester derivatives as flame retardants and as hardening agents were patented.⁶⁶⁵ In 1992, Thorn and Harlow synthesized the related compounds $Ti_2Cl_5(\mu-Cl)_2$ - $(\mu-O_2P(OSiMe_3)_2)(OP(OSiMe_3)_3)$ and $(TiNR'(\mu-O_2P(OR)_2)_2)_2$ ($R = Bu^t$, $SiMe_3$; $R' = Bu^t$, $C(Me)_2(Et)$).⁶⁶⁶ The complex ($TiCl_3(\mu-O_2PCl_2)(OPCl_3)$)₂ was shown to be a centrosymmetric dimer.⁶⁶⁷ The related complexes ($Ti(OR)_3(\mu-O_2P(OR')_2)$)₂ (R = Et, Pr^i ; $R' = Bu^t$)⁴⁶⁵ and ($Ti(OPr^i)_3(\mu-O_2P(R_2)_2 (R_2 = Ph_2, Bu^t/OSiMe_3)^{668}$ have also been prepared. Crystallographic data confirmed these complexes as centrosymmetric dimers with trigonal bipyramidal geometries at Ti.

4.2.2.5.17 Dianionic tridentate ligand complexes

Oxidation of the ligand $(HOC_6H_2MeBu^t)_2S$ permitted the preparation of the O₃ ligand complexes $(TiX_2(OC_6H_2MeBu^t)_2SO)_2$ (X = Cl, OPrⁱ) and Ti($(OC_6H_2MeBu^t)_2SO)_2$.⁶⁶⁹ The related complex TiCl₂($(OCH_2CH_2)_2O$)(THF) was prepared via the reaction of the diol with TiCl₄. This ligand was shown to bind in a *meridional* fashion.⁶⁷⁰

4.2.2.5.18 Trianionic tridentate ligand complexes

Complexes of the general form $(TiX((Cy)_7Si_7O_{12}))_n$ (X = Bn, NMe₂, OSiMe₃, OEt, OPrⁱ; n = 1, 2) were prepared and structurally characterized. Ti(OSiMe₃)((Cy)₇Si₇O₁₂) (**60**) was found to be monomeric⁶⁵¹ while $(Ti(\mu$ -OPrⁱ)((C₅H₉)₇Si₇O₁₂))_2^{671} and $(Ti(\mu$ -OEt) ((Cy)₇Si₇O₁₂) HOEt)_2 were found to be dimeric.⁶⁵² These compounds are models for heterogeneous titanosilicate catalysts and are active and selective catalysts for alkene epoxidation reactions.⁶⁵¹ Such compounds have been employed in high-speed catalyst optimization experiments.⁶⁷²



4.2.2.5.19 Calix[n]arene complexes

The macrocyclic calix[4]arene complex $(Ti(Bu^t-calix[4]arene))_2$ was prepared from $Ti(NMe_2)_4$ and the neutral ligand. One of the four O atoms of each ligand bridges the two titanium centers.⁶⁷³ The related complex $TiCl(Bu^t-calix[4]arene(OMe)(O)_3)$ (61) was synthesized by a salt metathesis reaction. Subsequent displacement of the Cl by alkyl or aryl groups was readily accomplished.⁶⁷⁴

Similarly, $Ti(NR)(calix[4]arene(OMe)_2)^{675}$ and $Ti(OC(Me)CHC(Me)O)(oxacalix[3]arene)^{676}$ have been prepared. Related ligand complexes in which two of the adjacent calix[4]arene O atoms are functionalized by P and Si groups have also been reported.^{677–679}



4.2.2.5.20 Higher denticity ligand complexes

A macrobicyclic tris(catecholate) bicapped cryptand ligand (BCT) was used to encapsulate the Ti ion in the complex $K_2[Ti(BCT)]$ (62).^{680,681}



4.2.2.6 Sulfur, Selenium, and Tellerium Ligand Complexes

4.2.2.6.1 Neutral sulfur, selenium, and tellerium-based ligand complexes

TiCl₄ adducts of thio-crown-ethers such as TiCl₄((SCH₂)₃)_n (n = 1, 2),^{682,683} TiCl₄((SCH₂CH₂)₃),⁶⁸⁴ TiCl₄((SCH₂CH₂)₂)₂, TiCl₄(SCH₂)_n)_m (n = 4, 5; m = 1, 2), and TiCl₄(SCHMe)₃⁶⁸³ have been reported. Similarly, the neutral chelating bis(thioarbamate) complex TiCl₄((S₂C(NC₅H₁₀))₂ CH₂),⁶⁸⁵ and diphenylthiourea complexes TiCl₄(SC(NPh₂)₂)_n (n = 1, 2)⁶⁸⁶ have been described. The related dithiooxamide S₂-chelate complexes TiCl₄((SCNHR)₂) (R = Me, Et, CH(Me)₂Bu, Cy, Bn) have been described. ⁶⁸⁷ Moran and Cuadrado reported Ti adducts of several neutral phosphinosulfide ligands. Examples of these neutral ligands include Me₂P(S)NHP(S)Me₂, Ph₂P(S)NHC(S)NEt₂, and R₂P(S)SSP(S)R₂ (R = Et, OEt, OPrⁱ).⁶⁸⁸ Similarly, dithiophosphoric acids reacted with TiCl₄ to

give complexes of the form $TiCl_4(HS(S)P(O_2R)_2)_2$.⁶⁸⁹ The adducts of bidentate sulfur donors $TiCl_4(Et_2NC(S)NHC(S)Ph)$ and $TiCl_4((CH_2CH_2OCH_2CH_2N)C(S) NHC(S)Ph)$ have also been characterized.⁶⁹⁰

Winter and co-workers have utilized the coordination chemistry of Ti–S compounds for applications in materials chemistry. Adducts of TiCl₄ with organothiols (HSR),^{691,692} organosulfides (SR₂),⁶⁹² and organodisulfides (RSSR)⁶⁹² were prepared and characterized. The complexes TiCl₄(HSCy)₂ and TiCl₄(HSC₅H₉)₂ were employed as single-source precursors yielding high-quality TiS₂ films containing low C and Cl contaminants.⁶⁹¹

Matrix isolation techniques have been employed to characterize 1:1 intermediate complexes in reactions between TiCl₄ and H₂S, MeSH, or Me₂S.⁶⁹³ Organoselenide and organodiselenide adducts such as TiCl₄(SeMe₂)₂, TiCl₄(SeEt₂)₂, TiCl₄(EtSeSeEt), and TiCl₄(MeSeSeMe) have also been prepared by conventional methods. TiCl₄(SeEt₂)₂ was utilized as a precursor for the production of TiSe₂ films.⁶⁹⁴ Related seleno–ether complexes with the general formula TiX₄ (RSe)₂(CH₂)_n (X = Cl, Br; R = Me, Ph; n = 1, 2) and TiX₄ (RSe)₂C₆H₄ were also reported.⁶⁹⁵

4.2.2.6.2 Sulfide, selenide, and telluride complexes

Examples of Ti/S complexes include the crystallographically characterized $[PPh_4]_2[TiSCl_4]$ and $[NEt_4]_2[TiSCl_4]$. In the presence of O₂, $[PPh_4]_2[Ti_3O(S_2)_3Cl_6]$ was obtained.⁶⁹⁶ The complexes $Ti(S_2)_2(NC_5H_4R)_2$ (R = H, Bu^t) and $Ti(S_2)_2(N_2C_3H_3Me)_3$ were prepared from the reaction of $TiCl_4$ and ZnS_6 in the presence of a donor. The latter was oxidized to $(Ti_2S_6(O)(N_2C_3H_3Me)_4)$ (63) by O₂.



4.2.2.6.3 Thiolato, selenolato, and tellurolato ligand complexes

TiCl₄ reacted with Li[SBu^t] in the presence of a neutral chelating ligand (L) such as Me₂AsCH₂-CH₂AsMe₂, Me₂PCH₂CH₂PMe₂, or Ph₂PCH₂CH₂PPh₂ to give the complexes TiCl₂(SBu^t)₂(L). X-ray diffraction studies showed that TiCl₂(SBu^t)₂(Me₂AsCH₂CH₂AsMe₂) has a distorted octahedral geometry in which the Cl atoms are *trans* and the thiolate groups adopt a *cis* configuration.⁶⁹⁸ A related series of complexes of the form Ti(OPrⁱ)₂(SR)₂ was derived from thiolysis of Ti(OPrⁱ)₄. These complexes formed adducts with N donors such NC₅H₅ and bipy.⁶⁹⁹ [NEt₄]₂ [Ti(SCH₂CH₂S)₃] was the first homoleptic thiolate Ti complex to be structurally characterized by X-ray crystallography. The geometry at Ti was found to be a trigonally distorted octahedral geometry.⁷⁰⁰ A variety of studies including X-ray absorption, coulometry, and cyclic voltammetry have been performed on this compound.^{701,702} The related homoleptic species [NH₂Me₂]₂ [Ti(S₂C₆H₄)₃] was synthesized and characterized crystallographically. In the solid state this ionic molecule adopted a skewed trapezoidal bipyramidal geometry.⁷⁰³ Analogous reactions of Ti(NMe₂)₄ with sterically less demanding thiols afforded dinuclear complexes such as [NH₂Me₂] [Ti₂(μ -SMe)₃(SMe)₆] and the trinuclear complexes Ti₃(μ -SMe)₆(SMe)₆ (64). In both cases three thiolate ligands bridged each pair of Ti centers.⁷⁰⁴ Similar face-sharing bioctahedron motifs were determined for [Li(C₄H₈O)₄][Ti₂(μ -SC₆H₅)₃(SC₆H₅)₆]⁷⁰⁵ and [NH₂Et₂]₂[Ti₂-(μ -SBn)₃(SBn)₆].⁷⁰⁶ Recently, an analogous homoleptic dianionic Ti complex containing

monodentate thiolate ligands $[NEt_4]_2[Ti(SPh)_6]$ was synthesized and structurally determined.⁷⁰⁷ Interest in Ti thiolate complexes as precursors to TiS₂ thin films has prompted the synthesis of the neutral homoleptic compound Ti(SBu^t)₄.^{708,709} Ti thiolate derivatives have been reviewed.⁷¹⁰



The reaction of Ti(NEt₂)₄ with excess HSC₆F₅ afforded the ionic complex [NEt₂H₂] [Ti(SC₆F₅)₅], which is the first confirmed 5-coordinate homoleptic Ti thiolate complex, whereas the reaction of four equivalents of thiol and Ti(NEt₂)₄ afforded the related salt [NEt₂H₂] [Ti(SC₆F₅)₄(NEt₂)].⁷¹¹ A series of thiolate derivatives of the form Ti(SR)(OCH₂CH₂)₃N were prepared by the thiolysis of Ti(NMe₂)-(OCH₂CH₂)₃N.²²⁵ Ti complexes containing (*S*,*S'*)-ferrocenyldithiolate ligands Ti(NMe₂)₂-(SC₅H₄)₂Fe were prepared by thiolysis of Ti(NMe₂)₄ with (HSC₅H₄)₂Fe. Treatment of this diamide complex with trimethylaluminum afforded the dimethyl species which reacted with MAO to form an ethylene polymerization catalyst that exhibited low activity.⁷¹²

Selenolate and tellurolate Ti complexes are rare. To the best of our knowledge Ti(SeSi- $(SiMe_3)_3)_4$, Ti(TeSi(SiMe_3)_3)_4, and Ti(SeSi(SiMe_3)_3)_3(Bn) are the only selenolate and tellurolate Ti complexes reported in the last 20 years that do not contain a Cp-ligand.⁷¹³

4.2.2.6.4 Dithiocarbamate and dithiophosphate ligand complexes

Ligand exchange or substitution reactions have been employed to prepare a variety of dithiocarbamate complexes of the forms $Ti(S_2CNR_2)_4$,^{714–717}) $TiX_3(S_2CNR_2)$ (X = Cl, Br, I)⁷¹⁸ and $TiCl_2(S_2CN(CH_2)_4)_2$.⁷¹⁵ The oxo complex $TiO(S_2CNCH_2CH(Me)NCH_2CH_2)_2$ ⁷¹⁹ and the bimetallic complex prepared $TiCl_2(S_2CNC_4H_8)_2(CH_2N(CH_2CH_2NH_2))_2)Cu^{204}$, as well as a variety of related derivatives incorporating salicylate and dithiocarbamate ligands⁷²⁰ have been described. The *N*,*N*'-dialkylmonothiocarbamate complexes $TiCl_2$ (SOCNMe₂)₂ and $TiCl_2(SOCNEt_2)$ have been reported.⁷²¹ Kinetic studies found that Ti-centered rearrangements and rotation about the C—N bonds in $Ti(OSCNMe_2)_4$ are much slower than in the analogous dithiocarbamate Ti complexes $Ti(S_2CNEt_2)_4$ and $Ti(S_2CNPr_2)_4$.⁷²²

The dithiophosphate complexes of the form $\text{TiCl}_{4-n}(\text{S}_2\text{PR}_2)_n$ $(n=2-4)^{723}$ $\text{Ti}(\text{OPr}^i)_{4-n}$ $(\text{S}_2\text{PR}_2)_n$ ⁷²⁴ and $\text{Ti}(\text{OR})_2(\text{S}_2\text{P}(\text{OMe})_2)_2$ ⁷²⁵ have been prepared and characterized. In addition, the oxo complex $\text{TiO}(\text{S}_2\text{P}(\text{OMe})_2)_2$ ⁷¹⁹ was synthesized. Both this complex and $\text{TiO}(\text{S}_2\text{CNCH}_2\text{CH}(\text{Me})\text{NCH}_2\text{CH}_2)_2$, when reacted with HgCl₂, formed the corresponding HgCl₂ adducts.⁷¹⁹

4.2.2.7 Halometallate Complexes

In matrix isolation work, the dimerization of $TiCl_4$ has been shown to occur at 12 K. IR data suggested a bridged dimer with C_{2h} symmetry.⁷²⁶

The reaction of TiCl₄(THF)₂ with [NBu₄][MgCl₄] in THF resulted in the formation of [NBu₄]₂-[TiCl₆].⁷²⁷ Depending on the stoichiometric amounts used, treatment of a Grignard reagent or [MgR₂(THF)₂] with TiCl₄(THF)₂ yielded [Mg(THF)₆][TiCl₅(THF)]₂, [Mg(μ -Cl)₂ (THF)₄][TiCl₄], and [Mg₂(μ -Cl)₃(THF)₆][TiCl₅(THF)].⁷²⁸

The coordination of TiCl₄ with MgCl₂ and O donors gave products formulated as TiCl₄- $(\mu$ -Cl)₂MgL₄ (L = MeO₂CEt, HCO₂Et, THF) and TiCl₄Mg(μ -Cl)₂(MeO₂CEt)₂L₂ (L = RCO₂Et, R = H, Ph, Me).³¹⁵ In the case of the related species TiCl₃(μ -Cl)₂(μ -CO₂CH₂Cl)Mg-(EtCO₂CH₂Cl)₃, one of the ester ligands was also thought to be bridging.⁷²⁹

4.2.2.8 Metal—Metal Bonded Compounds

Studies showed that the Ti-ligand framework in $(TiX(RNCH_2)_3CMe)_2$ (R = SiMe₃, C₆H₄Me) was useful in the synthesis of heterobimetallic complexes such as Ti(Co(CO)₃PPh₃)(RNCH₂)₃CMe. These compounds are described as rare examples of thermally stable dinuclear complexes with highly polar unsupported metal—metal bonds.⁷³⁰

The complexes Ti(NMe₂)₃Fe(CO)₂(Cp),⁷³¹ Ti(NMe₂)(OC₆H₃Me₂)₂Ru(CO)₂(Cp), Ti(NMe₂)₂ (OC₆H₃Me₂)Ru(CO)₂(Cp),⁷³² TiBn₃Co(CO)₄, TiBn₂(Co(CO)₄)₂,⁷³³ and Ti(NPh₂)₂(Co(CO)₄)₂,⁷³⁴ were prepared via protonolysis reactions, whereas Ti(OBu⁺)₃Co(CO)₄, ^{735,736} Ti(OR)_{4-n}(Co(CO)₄)_n-(R = Prⁱ, Bu^t, n = 1, 2),⁷³³ were prepared via metal anion displacement of Ti-bound halides.

More recently, a series of complexes incorporating a Ti-bound tripodal ligand afforded Ti((Si-Me₂N(C₆H₄Me))₃SiMe)(Co(CO)₃L) (L = CO, PPh₃, P(C₆H₄Me)₃). Crystallographic and theoretical data affirmed that the Ti—Co bond is highly polarized.⁷³⁷ In a similar vein the complexes Ti(SiMe₂N(C₆H₄Me))₃SiMe)(M(CO)₂Cp) (M = Fe, Ru) were described.^{738,739}

4.2.2.9 Hydride Ligand Complexes

Ti-hydride complexes that do not contain Cp-ligands are rare. The reaction of $TiCl_2(OC_6H_3Pr_{2}^i)_2$ with Li[BH₄] afforded $Ti(OC_6H_3Pr_{2}^i)_3(\eta^3-BH_4)$ and the Ti^{III} species $(Ti(OC_6H_3Pr_{2}^i)(\mu^3-BH_4)_2)_2$. In the presence of PMe₃ $Ti(OC_6H_3Pr_{2}^i)_3(\eta^3-BH_4)$ lost BH₃ forming $TiH(OC_6H_3Pr_{2}^i)_3(PMe_3)$. PMe₃ dissociates reversibly from this product yielding $TiH(OC_6H_3Pr_{2}^i)_3$.⁴⁴¹ Subsequently, Bennett and Wolczanski reported the siloxy titanium hydride complex $TiH(OSiBu_{3}^i)_2(HNSiBu_{3}^i)$.¹²⁶

4.2.2.10 Mixed Donor Ligand Complexes

4.2.2.10.1 C,N ligand complexes

Reduction of TiCl₂(N(SiMe₃)₂)₂ with Na resulted in C—H activation and the formation of the proposed dimer $Ti_2(\mu^2$ -CHSiMe₂N(SiMe₃))₂(N(SiMe₃)₂)₂. The crystal structure of the Zr analogue was determined.⁷⁵

Pyrrolyl ligands have been reported to mimic cyclopentadienyl ligands affording Ti- η^5 -pyrrolyl complexes. Examples include TiCl₃(η^5 -NC₄H(Bu^t)₂SiMe₃), TiCl₃(η^5 - NC₄H₂Bu^t₂),^{740,741} TiX₃-(η^5 -NC₄Me₄) (X = NMe₂,⁷⁴² Cl, SPh), and TiCl₂(η^5 -NC₄Me₄)₂ and Ti(SPh)Cl₂(η^5 -NC₄Me₄) (65).⁷⁴³ These compounds were prepared via reactions of Li-pyrrolide with TiCl₄ or pyrroles with Ti(NMe₂)₄.



The complex Ti(OC₆H₃Ph₂)₂(C₄Et₄) reacted with PhNNPh or (PhNCMe)₂ yielding Ti(OC₆H₃Ph₂)₂(PhNCR)₂ (R = Me, Et).⁷⁴⁴ Similarly, reaction of Ti(OC₆H₃Ph₂)₂(BnNCH(Ph)-CH₂CH₂) with PhCN gave Ti(OC₆H₃Ph₂)₂(BnNCH(Ph)C(Ph)N), which rearranged after two days to the ene–diamide complex Ti(OC₆H₃Ph₂)₂ (BnNC(Ph)C(Ph)NH).⁷⁴⁵ In related but more recent work, the bis(iminoacyl) complex Ti(OC₆H₃Ph₂)₂((C₆H₃Me₂)NC(C₆H₃Ph₂))₂ has been shown to rearrange over several days affecting C—C coupling and giving the ene–diamide complex.⁷⁴⁶

A series of ene-diamide complexes, $Ti(OC_6H_3Ph_2)_2(RNC(C_6H_3R'_2))_2$ ($R = Bu^t$, $C_6H_3Me_2$; R' = Me, Bu^t , Pr^i), were prepared via reaction of $TiMe_2(OC_6H_3Ph_2)_2$ with isocyanates.⁷⁴⁷ The related ene-diamide complexes $TiCl_2((RN)_2C_2H_2)$ and $Ti((RN)_2C_2H_2)_2$ (**66**) were prepared via direct reaction of $Li[(RN)_2C_2H_2]$ ($R = Pr^i$, Bu^t) and $TiCl_4$. Substitution reactions afforded

complexes of the form TiClX((RN)₂C₂H₂) (X = N(SiMe₃)₂, CH₂Bu^t; R = Prⁱ, Bu^t).⁷⁴⁸ Similarly, TiCl₂((Prⁱ₃SiN)₂C₆H₄) and TiMe₂((Prⁱ₃SiN)₂C₆H₄)⁷⁴⁹ were prepared and shown to be fluxional due to arene ring flipping. In similar metathesis reactions the complexes TiCl ((Bu^tN)₂C₂H₂)(BH₄) and Ti((Bu^tN)₂C₂H₂)(BH₄)₂ were prepared.⁷⁵⁰ More recently, TiCl₂((RN)₂C₂H₂) (R = Prⁱ, Cy) have been prepared and shown to be stabilized by intra-molecular chlorine—hydrogen bonding.⁷⁵¹

A molecular orbital analysis of the ene-diamide complex $TiCl_2((HN)_2C_2H_2)$ indicated that π interactions between the metal and the alkenyl linkage are negligible and that donation of two electrons from filled p_{π} N orbitals to the metal results in ligand folding.⁷⁵²

4.2.2.10.2 Neutral N,O bidentate ligand complexes

Neutral N,O adducts of TiCl₄ that were formed with Schiff bases derived from salicylaldehyde,²⁴ aminoethyltetrahydrofuran,⁷⁵³ and phenoxyimines,⁷⁵⁴ were thought to coordinate through both the pyridine N and phenolic O atoms. In the case of reactions of TiCl₄ with β -aminoketones the adducts TiCl₄(PrⁱN(H) C(Me)CHC(Me)O)₂ and TiCl₄(CH₂CHCH₂N(H)C(Me)CHC(Me)O)₂ were obtained and characterized crystallographically.⁷⁵⁵

4.2.2.10.3 Monoanionic N,O bidentate ligand complexes

A variety of monoanionic N,O-chelate complexes have been described. These include ligands derived from phenolic–diazo compounds,⁷⁵⁶ a variety of Schiff-base derivatives,^{757–761} aldehyde–hydrazone ligands,⁷⁶² thiazolidin-4-ones,^{763,764} and salicylideneamino-3,5-dimercapto-1,2,4-triazoles.⁷⁶⁰ Similarly, the complexes Ti(OPrⁱ)_{4–n}(NHC(O)R)_n (R = Me, Ph, NC₅H₄, n = 1–4) are thought to be coordinated via the carbonyl group of the amide functional group.⁷⁶⁵

More recently, Ti complexes of β -aminoketonates, TiCl₂(PhNCMeCHCMeO)₂ and TiCl₂ (MeOC₆H₄NCMeCHCMeO)₂, were synthesized via metathesis of the alkali metal salts of the β -amino-ketones with TiCl₄.⁷⁵⁵ Similarly, Schiff-base ligands derived from the condensations of salicylalde-hyde or 3-methoxy-2-hydroxybenzaldehyde with 2-aminofluorene were used to prepare *N*,*O*-ligand complexes such as TiCl₃((OC₆H₄CHNC₁₃H₉)) when reacted with TiCl₄.⁷⁶⁶ whereas the analogous reaction with Ti(Bn)₄ gave Ti(OC₆H₄CHNC₁₃H₉)₂(OC₆H₄CH(Bn)NHC₁₃H₉)₂ (**67**).⁷⁶⁶ In addition, complexes of the Nasalt of N-(salicylidene)anthranilicacid were thought to bind via N,Oatoms.⁷⁶⁷



Oxaazaphosphatitanetidine complexes of the form $Ti(OR)_{3-n}X_n(R'OP(NSiMe_3)_2NR)$ (n = 1-3) contain TiOPN-chelate rings and have been shown to react with amines and R_2NBr to give diminophosphine derivatives.⁷⁶⁸

Hydroxylamido derivatives such as Ti(ONR₂)₄ (R = Et, Bn)⁷⁶⁹ were prepared via protonolysis of Ti(OPrⁱ)₄ with HONR₂. The crystal structure of Ti(ONEt₂)₄ revealed a monomeric octacoord-inated Ti center. More recently, the analogous compound Ti(ONMe₂)₄ was reported.⁷⁷⁰

The reactions of pyridine alcohols with $Ti(NMe_2)_4$ gave the complexes of the form $Ti(NMe_2)_2((NC_5H_4)C(C_6H_4R)_2O)_2$ (R = Bu^t, CF₃, Ph, NEt₂) and $Ti(NMe_2)_2((NC_5H_4)CR_2O)_2$

 $(R_2 = \text{fluorenyl}, (C_{12}H_8)$ dibenzosuberyl). Single-crystal X-ray diffraction studies of the complexes Ti(NMe₂)₂((NC₅H₄)CC₁₂H₈O)₂ and Ti(NMe₂)₂((NC₅H₄)C(C₆H₄NEt₂)₂O)₂ revealed distorted tetrahedral geometries with the alkoxide ligands bound in a *trans* fashion.⁷⁷¹ These complexes provided active olefin polymerization catalysts.

Phenoxyimines formed adducts with TiCl₄ which upon treatment with base gave the complexes $TiCl_2(OC_6H_4CHNR)_2$ (R = Ph, $C_6H_3Pr_2^i$). While the crystal structures showed distorted octahedral Ti environments in both chelate complexes, in the $C_6H_3Pr_2^i$ derivative the N atoms were *cis* to one another while in the Ph derivative the O atoms were *trans*.⁷⁵⁴ These complexes also yielded catalysts for olefin polymerization. Using a rapid screening process, it was found that $TiCl_2(OC_6H_4CHNC_6H_3Bu^t_2)_2$ was an effective catalyst for the production of syndiotactic polypropylene.⁷⁷² $TiCl_2(OC_6H_3Bu^tCHNC_6F_5)_2$ promoted the living polymerization of ethylene with high activity.⁷⁷³

The glycinate complex $(Ti(OEt)_2(\mu-OEt)(H_2NCH_2CO_2))_2$ was prepared via protonolysis of $Ti(OEt)_4$ with glycine. Crystallographic data confirmed the dimeric nature of this compound.⁷⁷⁴

Bis(hydroxyphenyl)oxazoline Ti complexes were prepared via salt metathesis reactions of TiCl₄ with the corresponding salts.⁷⁷⁵ The monoanionic bidentate nature of the ligands was confirmed in the crystal structure of TiCl₂(OC₆H₄(CNOC(Me)₂CH₂))₂, which revealed a *cis* arrangement of the N and Cl atoms.⁷⁷⁵ Other Ti complexes containing N,O chelates include those derived from reactions of Ti(NMe₂)₄ with an assortment of N-substituted amino alcohols⁷⁷⁶ such as HOCH-(Bu^t)CH₂NH(C₆H₃Me₂), and HOCH₂CH₂ NH(C₆H₃Me₂).⁷⁷⁷

4.2.2.10.4 Dianionic N,O bidentate ligand complexes

The eight-membered heterocyclic complex $(TiCl_2(\mu$ -OPPh₂N))_2 was the unexpected product derived from the reaction of SiMe₃NPPh₂(OSiMe₃) and TiCl₄.⁷⁷⁸ Chiral N,O chelates have been implied as intermediates in stereoselective Aldol and Me₃Si cyanation reactions.^{779,780} Complexes related to these intermediates, specifically $(TiX_2(\mu$ -OCHPhCHPhNR))_2 (X = NMe₂, NEt₂; R = SO₂CF₃, SO₂C₆H₂Me₃, CH₂C₆H₂Me₃) and Ti(NEt₂)₂(OCHPhCHPhNSO₂CF₃) (NC₅H₄NMe₂), were derived from the protonolysis of Ti(OR)₄ (R = OPrⁱ, NMe₂ and NEt₂) with amino alcohols. A series of crystal structures of these complexes was also reported.⁷⁷⁶ The similar dimers $(Ti(NMe_2)_2(\mu$ -OCHRCH₂NC₆H₃Me₂))_2 (R = H, Bu^t) have also been described more recently.⁷⁷⁷

4.2.2.10.5 N₂C tridentate ligand complexes

The bis(phosphinimine) ligand ((SiMe₃N)Ph₂PCH₂)₂ reacted with TiCl₄ resulting in metallation of one of the methylene groups affording TiCl₃(((SiMe₃N)Ph₂PCH₂)₂) (**68**).⁷⁸¹ Cavell and co-workers reported a bis-phosphinimine ligand complex TiCl₂(((SiMe₃NPPh₂)₂C)) that was synthesized via salt metathesis of TiCl₄ with Li₂[(SiMe₃NPPh₂)₂C]. The bridged carbon atom within the ligand was found to be multibonded to the titanium atom.⁷⁸²

 $Ph \qquad Cl \qquad Ph \\ Ph \qquad P \qquad Ph \qquad Ph \\ N \qquad Ti \qquad N \qquad SiMe_3$ $Me_3Si \qquad Cl \qquad (68)$

4.2.2.10.6 N₂O tridentate ligand complexes

A variety of N_2O -ligands are thought to bind titanium in a tridentate fashion in a number of complexes including pyridyl-hydrazone derivatives⁷⁶² and the histidine complex
$TiO(O_2CCH(NH_2)(CH_2N_2C_3H_2))$.⁷⁸³ Related compounds containing *N*-salicylidene–amino acid ligands were reported to catalyze the asymmetric oxidation of sulfides to sulfoxides by Bu^tOOH.⁷⁸⁴

Titanium N_2O ligand complexes of the form $TiX_2((RNC_6H_4)_2O)$ ($R = Bu^t d^6$, SiMe₃, $C_6H_2Me_3$)^{785–788} and $TiX_2((RNCH_2CH_2)_2O)$ ($R = C_6H_3Me_2$, $C_6H_3Pr_2^i$, $C_6H_3Et_3$)^{789,790} have been prepared by Schrock and co-workers. Several structural studies have confirmed the tridentate nature of the N₂O-ligands. These complexes have also been examined as precursors to olefin polymerization catalysts.

4.2.2.10.7 NO₂ tridentate ligand complexes

Many NO₂-ligands are thought to chelate to titanium in a tridentate fashion. Such complexes include a series of Schiff-base derivatives,⁷⁹¹ alkylpyruvate–benzoylhydrazone derivatives,⁷⁹² and N-(o-hydroxy substituted benzyl) amino acid derivatives (namely alanines⁷⁹³ and glycines⁷⁹⁴). Based on formulations, these ligands are thought to act as mono-, di- or tri-anions depending on the stoichiometric amounts used.^{793,794} This, however, was not unambiguously confirmed.

The octahedral complexes containing tridentate dianionic benzoylhydrazone and benzoylhydrazine ligand derivatives $Ti(OC(Ph)CHNC(Me)CHC(Me)O)_2$ and $Ti((OC(Ph)CHC(Me))_2N)_2$ have been prepared and crystallographically characterized.⁷⁹⁵ Ti complexes bearing related tridentate ligands include $(Ti(OH)(H_2O)(OC(Ph)NHNCHC_6H_4O))_2(\mu-O)$,⁷⁹⁶ $Ti(OC(Ph)NHNCH-C_6H_4O)_2$,^{797,798} and $Ti(OC(Ph)NHNC(Ph)C_3MeN_2Ph)_2$.⁷⁹⁹

Ti-pyridine diolate ligand complexes of the form $\text{TiCl}_2(\text{C}_5\text{H}_3\text{N}(\text{CH}_2\text{CR}_2\text{O})_2)^{800}$ and $\text{Ti}(\text{C}_5\text{H}_3\text{N}(\text{CHC}(\text{Ph})\text{O})_2)_2^{801}$ have been prepared. The latter was structurally characterized revealing the six-coordinate nature of the complex with each ligand adopting a *meridional* geometry.⁸⁰¹ The related complex Ti(OPr¹)_2(\text{C}_5\text{H}_3\text{N}(\text{CHC}(\text{Bu}^t)\text{O})_2) catalyzed the asymmetric epoxidation of (E)- α -phenylcinnamyl alcohol in 40% ee.⁸⁰²

A number of tridentate dianionic NO₂–Schiff-base ligand Ti complexes of the form TiCl₃(L) have been readily prepared via conventional methods.^{767,803–808} Structural data for TiCl(OC(Me)CHC (Me)O)(OC₁₀H₆CHNCMe₂CH₂O) confirmed a *meridional* geometry for the tridentate ligand.⁸⁰⁸ Related alkoxy–ketoiminate ligand complexes have also been reported.⁸⁰⁹ A number of these Schiffbase complexes catalyzed asymmetric organic transformations such as the Me₃Si cyanation of benzaldehydes,^{803,805} the hydrocyanation of imines,⁸¹⁰ oxidation of sulfides,⁷⁸⁴ the enantioselective reaction of diketenes with aldehydes,⁸⁰⁴ and Diels–Alder reactions.⁸⁰⁶

Reaction of TiCl₄ with a ketone and an isocyanide ester led to the formation of the anionic NO₂ ligand complex TiCl₃(μ^3 -OC(Me)(Ph)C(Cl)NCH₂CO₂Et) (**69**). This complex, upon hydrolysis, gave the corresponding α -hydroxy amide.⁸¹¹ Alternatively, reaction of dibutylcatechol with NH₃ and TiCl₃ afforded the tridentate diquinone ligand Ti^{IV} complex Ti((OC₆H₂Bu^t₂)₂NH)₂.^{812,813} Other tridentate diquinone ligand complexes have also been described and their electronic properties probed.^{814,815} These complexes exhibit large intramolecular ferromagnetic interactions.



(69)

Protonolysis of Ti(OPrⁱ)₄ was employed to prepare Ti(OPrⁱ)₂((OC₆H₂R₂CH₂)₂NPr) and Ti((OC₆H₂R₂CH₂)₂NPr)₂ (R = Me, Bu^t). The octahedral nature of the latter was confirmed crystallographically.^{816,817} The dibenzyl derivative TiBn₂((OC₆H₂Bu^t₂CH₂)₂NPr) was found to provide an active catalyst for the polymerization of 1-hexene.⁸¹⁸ The complex Ti((OCH₂CH₂)₂NMe)₂ has been synthesized by reaction of hydrated titania with

(HOCH₂CH₂)₂NMe. X-ray crystallography showed that the tridentate ligands adopted a *facial* binding geometry.⁸¹⁹

4.2.2.10.8 N,O tripodal ligand complexes

The reaction of Ti(OPrⁱ)₄ with triethanolamine afforded the dimeric complex (Ti(OPrⁱ)-(OCH₂CH₂)₃N)₂. The crystallographic characterization of this complex revealed hexacoordinate Ti atoms asymmetrically bridged via one of the O atoms from each ligand.⁸²⁰ A series of analogous complexes have been prepared via protonolysis of TiR₄ (R = OBu^t, NEt₂, NPrⁱ₂) with triethanolamine to give Ti(R)((OCH₂CH₂)₃N) (R = Me, Et, Prⁱ).^{225,821,822} Several of these monomeric and dimeric products were structurally characterized.

Reactions with chiral trialkanolamine ligands afforded the complexes Ti(OPr¹)((CH₂-C(R)O)₃N) (R = Me, Ph), which were subsequently converted to TiCl((CH₂C(R)O)₃N) via treatment with MeCOCl.⁸²³ Similarly, reactions with ROOH afforded the complexes Ti(OOR)-((OC(R)CH₂)₃N). These complexes act as catalysts for the enantioselective oxidation of sulfides.^{824,825} Partial hydrolysis of such complexes led to the isolation of Ti₃(μ ₂-O)((HO(CH₂)₂)₂) N(CH₂)₂O)-((O(CH₂)₂)(μ ₂-O(CH₂)₂)N)₂((O(CH₂)₂)(μ ₂-O(CH₂)₂)N)₂ and (Ti₃(μ ₂-O)(OCH(Me)₂)-((O(CH₂)₂)(μ ₂-O(CH₂)₂)N)₂((O(CH₂)₂)(μ ₂-O(CH₂)₂)N)₂ (T0).⁸²⁶ In addition, a number of salts of the dianion [Ti(OCH₂CH₂)₃N)₂]²⁻ have also been reported.⁸²⁷ Related chemistry has recently been extended to include the Ti–triphenolate amine complexes Ti(OPrⁱ)(OC₆H₃R₂)₃N-(R = Me, Bu^t).⁸²⁸



The N₃O and N₂O₂ tripodal ligand complexes of the form TiX₂((OC₆H₂R₂)₂N(CH₂CH₂R))-(R = NMe₂, OMe)^{816,817} were prepared and characterized. These compounds gave rise to living polymerization catalysis of 1-hexene.^{818,829} Related N₂O₂ tripodal Schiff-base ligand complexes derived from the dissymmetric substitution of ethylenediamine TiO(H₂NCH₂CH₂NC-(C₆H₃(R)O)CHCH(C₆H₃(R)O)) (R = H, Me, Cl) and TiCl₂(H₂NCH₂CH₂NC(C₆H₃(R)O)CHCH-(C₆H₃(R)O)) have also been described.⁸³⁰

An amine oxide ligand has also been used as a tripodal-type ligand yielding the complex $[Ca(H_2O)_4][Ti((ON(CH_2CO_2)_2)_2]$.⁸³¹ The related tetramethylammonium salt $[NMe_4]_2$ - $[Ti((ON(CH_2CO_2)_2)_2]$ (71) was synthesized via reaction of the ligand with TiO(OC(Me)CHC-(Me)O)_2 and $[NMe_4][OH]$.⁸³²

A salt metathesis reaction was employed to prepare the N₃O tripodal ligand complex $TiCl_3((N_2C_3HMe_2)_2CHCO_2)$ in which the bis(3,5-dimethylpyrazoyl-1-ylacetate ligand binds in a N₃O tripodal fashion to Ti. Interestingly, when the compound was refluxed in THF, ring opening of the THF molecule occurred, forming $TiCl_2((N_2C_3HMe_2)_2CHCO_2)(O(CH_2)_4Cl)$.⁸³³

4.2.2.10.9 N,O tetradentate ligand complexes

The ligand $(HOC_6H_2(Bu^t)_2CH_2)_2NCH_2CH_2NMe_2$ was used to prepare $TiBn_2((OC_6H_2-(Bu^t)_2CH_2)_2NCH_2CH_2NMe_2)$ (72). The crystal structure revealed a slightly distorted octahedral geometry about Ti. Upon activation by $B(C_6F_5)_3$, this complex provided a living catalyst for the polymerization of 1-hexene.⁸¹⁸

A series of N_2O_2 Schiff-base mononuclear Ti imido complexes Ti(NBu^t)(OC₆H₄CHNCH₂)₂, Ti(NBu^t)(OC₆H₃(Et)CHNCH₂)₂, Ti(NBu^t)((OC₆H₄CHN)₂C₆H₄), and Ti(NBu^t)(OC₆H₃(Bu^t)C-(Bu^t)NCH₂)₂ and the binuclear Ti imido complex (Ti(NBu^t)(OC₆H₃(OMe)CHNCH₂)₂)₂ (73) have been prepared from TiCl₂(NBu^t)(NC₅H₅)₃. The monomeric complexes were shown to undergo imide/arylamine exchange reactions, whereas the dimeric complexes did not.⁸³⁴



A series of tetradentate Schiff-base ligands based on ethylenediamine have been used to form a variety of Ti complexes.^{639,835–839} For example, the previously reported complex TiCl₂(OC₆H₄CHNCH₂)₂ reacted with Li[BH₄] to give (Ti(BH₄)₂(μ -OC₆H₄CHNCH₂)₂)₂.⁸⁴⁰ X-ray data confirmed the dimeric formulation. The related complexes Ti(OMe)₂(OC₆H₄-CHNCH₂)₂, Ti (OMe)₂((OC₆H₄CHN)₂C₆H₄) were prepared via reaction of the Na salt of the

ligand with TiCl₂(OMe)₂.⁸⁴¹ Methylation of TiCl₂((OC₆H₄CHNCH₂)₂) afforded the analogous dimethyl species, whereas attempted arylations led to substitution on the imine C atom affording Ti(C₆H₂R₃)(OC₆H₄CHNCH₂CH₂N(C₆H₂R₃)CHC₆H₄O)(THF) (**74**) (R = H, Me).^{837,842}



Recently, it was found that the analogous complex $TiCl_2((OC_6H_4CHNCH_2)_2)$ adopted a *trans*-Cl geometry.⁸⁴³ Reaction of $M((OC_6H_4CHNCH_2)_2)$ (M = Ge, Sn, Pb) with $TiCl_4$ gave the salts $[TiCl(OC_6H_2R_2HNCH_2)_2][MCl_3]$.⁸⁴⁴

Reactions of TiCl₂((OC₆H₄CHNCH₂)₂) with chiral α -hydroxy-carboxylic acids proceeded to give complexes of the form Ti(O₂CC(O)CH₂Ph)((OC₆H₄CHNCH₂)₂) in a stereoselective manner.⁵⁵⁵ A variety of other substituted derivatives TiX₂((OC₆H₂R₂CHNCH₂)₂) (X = Cl, Br; R = OMe, SiMe₃) have also been described.⁸⁴⁵ The monomeric structures of Ti(OC₆H₄Bu¹)₂ ((OC₆H₄CHNCH₂)₂)⁸³⁹ and TiCl₂(OC₆H₂MeBu¹CHNCH₂)₂⁸³⁸ have been confirmed. The Ti^{III} complex TiCl ((OC₆H₄CHNCH₂)₂) was oxidized to give linear Ti—O oligomers and polymeric chains.⁸⁴⁶ The related chiral derivatives (TiCl(OC₆H₄CHN)₂CHRCHR)₂(μ -O) (R = Me, Ph) and (TiCl((OC₆H₄CHN)₂C₆H₁₀))₂(μ -O) were prepared, and the latter was structurally characterized.⁸⁴⁷ These chiral derivatives were used to catalyze the oxidation of sulfides.⁸⁴⁸ More recently, similar substituted ligand complexes with the general formula Ti(OPr¹)₂((OC₆H₄CHN)₂C₆H₃R) were tested for activity in olefin polymerization.⁸⁴⁹ The related aryl analogues TiCl₂((OC₆H₄CR)N)₂C₆H₁₀))₂(μ -O) (R = Et, Ph),⁸⁵⁰ Ti(OMe)₂((OC₆H₄CHN)₂C₆H₄),^{851,852} and TiCl₂((OC₆H₂(Bu¹)₂CHN)₂C₆H₁₀))₂C₆H₁₀) were characterized by X-ray crystallography. Complexes of the latter type were employed in the asymmetric addition of Me₃SiCN to PhCOH.⁸⁵³

Analogous ligand complexes based on binaphthyldiamine⁸⁵⁴ and diamino–dimethylbiphenyl units⁸⁵⁵ were prepared. In the latter case the dibenzyl derivative $TiBn_2((OC_6H_2Bu^t_2CHN)_2C_{12}H_6Me_2)$ was found to be thermally unstable. Benzyl group migration to one of the imine carbon atoms afforded $TiBn((OC_6H_2Bu^t_2CHN)(OC_6H_2Bu^t_2CH(Bn)N)(C_{12}H_6Me_2))$ (75) stereoselectively.

The diamido–diphenoxide chelate complex Ti($(OC_6H_4CH(Ph)NCH_2)_2$) was prepared via reduction of the Schiff-base ligand followed by reaction with TiCl₄, while hydrolysis of the dianionic chelate complex gave (TiO $(OC_6H_4CH(R)NHCH_2)_2$)_n.⁷⁶⁶ In a similar manner, diastereoselective reduction of the precursor Schiff-base ligands afforded the complexes Ti $(OPr^i)_2((OC_6H_2Bu^t_2CH_2NMeCH_2)_2)$ and Ti $(OPr^i)_2((OC_6H_2Bu^t_2CH_2NMe)_2C_6H_{10})$, which were characterized by X-ray methods.⁸⁵⁶

A variety of bis(sulfonamide) complexes of the form $TiX_2(C_6H_{10}(NSO_2R)_2)$,^{857–861} $TiX_2(PhCH(NSO_2R))_2$, and $Ti((PhCH(NSO_2R)_2))_2^{862}$ have been prepared. A number of these complexes have been structurally characterized. In addition, these and related compounds have been used as catalysts for enantioselective addition of alkyl groups to aldehydes.

A trianionic tetradentate N,O ligand comprised of linked catechol and aminophenol fragments was used to prepare the Ti complex $K[Ti_2(O_2C_6H_3CH_2C_6H_3NO)_3]_2$. In the presence of $Ga(NO_3)_2$, $K_3[GaTi((O_2C_6H_3CH_2C_6H_3NO)_3)]$ was obtained. The latter was crystallographically characterized.⁸⁶³

A bis(amidate) ligand reacted with $Ti(NR_2)_4$ (R = Me, Et) to give the dimeric complex $(Ti(NR_2)_2(C_6H_4(NC(O)C_6H_4Bu^t)_2))_2$. Subsequent reaction with Me₃SiCl gave the analogous TiCl₂ derivative.⁸⁶⁴

A Schiff-base ligand, with a pendent phosphine donor bound to titanium, chelated to Pd affording the crystallographically characterized $(Ti(\mu-O)(PhCHNCHC_6H_3O(PPh_2))PdI_2)_2$.⁸⁶⁵



The related Ti^{IV}/Rh^I complexes TiCl₂(PhCHNCHC₆H₃O(PPh₂))₂Rh(CO)Cl and [TiCl₂-(PhCHNCHC₆H₃O(PPh₂))₂-Rh(COD)][BF₄] were employed in asymmetric hydroformylation.⁸⁶⁶

4.2.2.10.10 4 denticity N,O ligand complexes

A number of Ti complexes containing multidentate dihydrazone ligands $HOC_6H_4CHN_2$ - $HC(O)CH_2(CH_2)_n$ (n = 1, 2, 4, 8) have been synthesized although they have not been crystal-lographically characterized.^{867,868}

In 1985, the seven-coordinate compound $Ti((O_2CCH_2)_2NCH_2)_2)(H_2O)$ containing the hexacoordinate ethylenediaminetetraacetate ligand (EDTA) was structurally characterized.⁸⁶⁹ Similarly, the reaction of $Ti(OPr^i)_4$ with ((HOCH(Me)CH_2)_2NCH_2)_2 gave ($Ti((OCH(Me)-CH_2)_2NCH_2)_2)_2$. In this compound each Ti-atom is also seven-coordinate with one of the alkoxy groups of each ligand bridging the two Ti centers.⁸⁷⁰ A related hexadentate ligand gave rise to the octahedral complex $Ti((OC_6H_4CH_2)_2NCH_2)_2$.

A derivative of triazacyclononane was used to prepare the titanium salt $[Ti((OC_6H_3-Bu^t)NCH_2CH_2)_3)][BPh_4]$.⁸⁷² Most recently, the ligand (*N*-ethoxo)ethylenediaminetriacetate (EEDTA) was used to prepare the seven-coordinate compound (Ti(EEDTA) (H₂O))(H₂O)₂.⁸⁷³

4.2.2.10.11 N,S ligand complexes

A series of neutral *N*-alkylphenothiazine derivatives were proposed to chelate Ti through both the nitrogen and sulfur atoms.⁸⁷⁴ The related thienylbenzylideneamines, N,S-chelate complexes TiCl₄(SC₄H₃CH₂NCHC₆H₄R) have been prepared and reported.⁸⁷⁵ A variety of thiocarbazone ligands have been incorporated into titanium isopropoxide and titanium chloride complexes.^{876–878} The related tetradentate ligand complex [TiCl₂(HONC(C-MeN₂HC(NH₂)S)₂)]Cl₂⁸⁷⁹ and a macrocyclic diaminodithiocarbamate titanium complex have also been described.⁸⁸⁰

Reaction of Me₂NC(S)SN(SiMe₃)₂ with TiCl₄ afforded (TiCl(N(SiMe₃)₂)(μ -NSC(S)(NMe₂)))₂ (76),⁸⁸¹ TiCl₂(NS(S)C(NMe₂)), and TiCl₂(NSC(S)(NMe₂))(NC₅H₅)₂. The latter were crystallographically characterized.⁸⁸²

The Ti sulfenamido compounds $TiCl_2(\eta^2-Bu^tNSR)_2$ (R = Ph, C₆H₂Me₃) were prepared by ligand salt metathesis reactions with TiCl₄. The X-ray crystal structure of $TiCl_2(\eta^2-Bu^tNSPh)_2$ showed a tetrahedral $TiCl_2N_2$ core with weak Ti—S interactions.⁸⁸



(76)

4.2.2.10.12 N,Se bidentate ligand complexes

Bochmann and co-workers have described complexes derived from the ligand Li[Bu^t₂PSe(NR)]- $(R = Pr^{i}, Cy)$. The selenophosphinic complexes TiCl₂(Bu^t₂PSe(NCy))₂ and TiCl₃(Bu^t₂PSe(NPrⁱ)) were prepared and the former complexes crystallographically characterized.⁸⁸³

4.2.2.10.13 O,P bidentate ligand complexes

The reaction of TiCl₄ with BnP(CH₂CH₂OEt)₂ resulted in the formation of TiCl₄(BnP(CH₂-CH₂OEt)₂). This species contained a distorted-octahedral geometry in which the ligand was coordinated to the Ti center via one of the O-atoms and the P-atom.⁸⁸⁴

4.2.2.10.14 O,S bidentate ligand complexes

Monothio- β -diketones have been used to prepare complexes of the form Ti(OR)₂(R'CSCHCOR")₂-(R = Prⁱ, Bu^t; R' = Me, Ph; R" = Me, Ph), which are thought to be mixtures of *cis* and *trans* isomers.⁸⁸⁵ The mercaptophenol derivatives [NBnMe₃]₂ [Ti(C₆H₄OS)₃], [NEt₄]₂[(Ti(C₆H₄OS)₂-(μ -OMe))₂],⁸⁸⁶ and [NEt₄]₂[(Ti(C₆H₄OS)₃Na (MeOH)₂)₂]⁸⁸⁷ were prepared and fully characterized.

4.2.2.10.15 O_2E (E = S, Te) tridentate ligand complexes

The five-coordinate complexes $TiX_2((OC_6H_2MeBu^t)_2S)$ and $(TiX(\mu-Cl)(OC_6H_2MeBu^t)_2Te)_2-(X=Cl, OPr^i)$ have been prepared and characterized.⁸⁸⁸⁻⁸⁹⁰ Some of these compounds have been evaluated as catalysts in polymerization and copolymerization of olefins.^{888,891-893}

The complexes $TiX_2((OC_6H_2MeBu^tS)_2)$ (X = I, Br), $(TiR(\mu-R)((OC_6H_2MeBu^tS)_2))_2$ (R = OPrⁱ, OBu), and $(Ti(OPr^i)_2(\mu-OPr^i))_2((OC_6H_2MeBu^tS)_2)$ have been prepared and structurally characterized. Interaction of the Ti with one or both of the S atoms was observed.⁸⁹⁴

4.2.2.10.16 O,N,S tridentate ligand complexes

Schiff-base ligands coordinated to Ti via chelated S, N, and O-atoms are proposed in several systems including those derived from dithiocarbazates,^{895–897} benzothiazoline,⁸⁹⁸ and 2-(salicyl-ideneamino)benzenethiol.⁸⁹⁹

4.2.3 TITANIUM(III)

Titanium(III) complexes have been shown to facilitate and catalyze a variety of organic transformations. This has been reviewed.^{900–903}

4.2.3.1 Boron-based Ligand Complexes

The Ti-boratabenzene complex $Ti(C_5H_5BPh)(N(SiMe_3)_2)_2$ (77) was synthesized via reaction of $TiCl(N(SiMe_3)_2)_2$ and $Li[C_5H_5BPh]$ and has been crystallographically characterized.⁹⁰⁴



4.2.3.2 Borohydride Ligand Complexes

A series of Ti^{III} adducts Ti(BH₄)₃(PR₃)₂ (R₃ = Me₃, Et₃, Me₂Ph, (OMe)₃) have been prepared by Girolami and co-workers.^{905,906} X-ray data established a *trans* arrangement of the phosphine ligands in Ti(BH₄)₃(PMe₃)₂ and suggested a Ti···HB agostic interaction. *Ab initio* calculations for Ti(BH₄)₃(PH₃)₂ predicted an η^2, η^2, η^3 -coordination mode for the borohydrides although an η^1, η^1, η^2 -coordination mode was observed experimentally.⁹⁰⁷

Electron diffraction and UV photoelectron spectroscopy indicated that gaseous Ti(BH₄)₃ contained three tridentate BH₄-ligands creating a monomeric compound with C_{3h} symmetry. In contrast, osmometry measurements inferred that this complex was dimeric in solution.⁹⁰⁸ Studies of the reactions of Ti(OR)₄ (R = CPh₃, Bu^t, Prⁱ, Et) with excess BH₄⁻ was shown to yield Ti(BH₄)₃. Nöth *et al.* have identified the Ti(OR)(BH₄)₂ as an intermediate in this process.⁹⁰⁹ Subsequently, Ti(OPrⁱ)₂(BH₄) was prepared from the reaction of [NBnEt₃][BH₄] and TiCl₂(OPrⁱ)₂- and was employed to facilitate selective 1,2-reduction of α , β -unsaturated carbonyl complexes yielding the corresponding allylic alcohols.⁹¹⁰ Similarly, Ti(BH₄)₃, prepared via the reaction of TiCl₄ with [NBnEt₃][BH₄], reacted with alkenes to effect anti-Markovnikov additions affording the corresponding alcohols upon aqueous workup.⁹¹¹

Reaction of TiCl₂(OC₆H₃Prⁱ₂)₂ with LiBH₄ afforded Ti(OC₆H₃Prⁱ₂)₃(η^3 -BH₄) and the Ti^{III} complex (Ti(OC₆H₃Prⁱ₂)(η^3 -BH₄)₂)₂. The latter reacted with PMe₃ to give Ti(OC₆H₃Prⁱ₂) (η^2 -BH₄)₂(PMe₃)₂.⁴⁴¹ Crystallographic structural data for Ti(OBu^t)(BH₄)₂(THF)₂ and Ti(BH₄)₃(THF)₂ indicates an η^2 -coordination mode for the BH₄ groups to the Ti center. A similar bonding mode was observed for Ti(N(SiMe₃)₂)₂(BH₄)(THF) crystallographically.⁹¹² In the presence of pyridine, this complex underwent ligand redistribution yielding Ti(N(SiMe₃)₂)-(BH₄)₂(NC₅H₅)₂.

4.2.3.3 Carbon-based Ligand Complexes

The synthesis and crystal structure of $[NEt_4]_3[Ti(CN)_6]$ was reported by Girolami and co-workers.⁹¹³ This complex was the first documented case where a d¹ ion exhibited an octahedral geometry in a strong ligand field.

4.2.3.4 Nitrogen-based Ligand Complexes

4.2.3.4.1 Neutral nitrogen ligand complexes

The pentacoordinate and hexacoordinate complexes, $TiCl_3((CH(CN)Ph(C_5H_4N))_2)$ and $TiCl_3((CH(CN)Ph(C_5H_4N))_3)$ respectively, were formed via reaction of $TiCl_3$ with $CH(CN)Ph(C_5H_4N)$. Based on IR data, the ligand was proposed to bind through the pyridine N-atom.⁹¹⁴ Similarly, binding in $TiCl_3((C(CN)Ph(C_5H_4N))_2)$ inferred a binuclear species,⁹¹⁴

while $TiCl_3(NC_5H_5)_3^{915}$ was monomeric. The ligand bis (vanillin)benzidine (vn₂bz) has six possible coordination sites; however, only the azomethine N atoms were proposed to coordinate to the Ti center in $[TiCl_2(vn_2bz)(H_2O)_2]_2Cl_2^{.916}$

Coordination of triazacyclononane derivatives ((RNCH₂CH₂)₃) to TiCl₃ afforded TiCl₃((MeNCH₂CH₂)₃) and TiCl₃((PrⁱNCH₂CH₂)₃).^{61,917} Subsequent derivatization gave TiX₃-((MeNCH₂CH₂)₃) (X = O₃SCF₃, NCS),⁶¹ Ti(NCS)₃((PrⁱNCH₂CH₂)₃), and Ti(NCO)₂(OMe)-((PrⁱNCH₂CH₂)₃).⁹¹⁷ Surprisingly, reaction of TiBr₄ with ((MeNCH₂CH₂)₃) in MeCN afforded the Ti^{III} species TiBr₃ ((MeNCH₂CH₂)₃).⁶¹ Conversely, TiCl₂ reacted with NC₅H₅ and MeCN to give the Ti^{III} complex TiCl₃(NC₅H₅)₃.^{918,919} Reaction of these complexes with H₂O resulted in the formation of (TiCl₂((MeNCH₂CH₂)₃))₂(μ -O).⁹¹⁷

The 1,4,7-trimethyl–1,4,7-triazacyclononane Ti complex $(Ti_2Cl_4((MeNCH_2CH_2)_3)_2(\mu-O))$ was prepared from refluxing TiCl₃((MeNCH_2CH_2)_3) and Na(O₂CPh) in air and was shown to exhibit a temperature-independent magnetic moment corresponding to one unpaired electron.⁹²⁰ This complex was reversibly oxidized in two one-electron steps. The mixed valent Ti^{IV}/Ti^{III} product $[Ti_2Cl_4((MeNCH_2CH_2)_3)_2(\mu-O)]Cl$ was crystallographically characterized.⁹²¹

The ionic Ti^{III²} compound [NH₂Me₂][TiCl₄(HNMe₂)₂] was prepared by reacting HN(SiMe₃)-(SiMeCl₂) with Ti(NMe₂)₄. X-ray diffraction studies showed that the four Cl atoms occupied a planar arrangement about Ti.⁹²²

4.2.3.4.2 Amido ligand complexes

The majority of Ti amido complexes have been synthesized by the addition of amido salts to $TiCl_3(THF)_3$. For example, $TiCl(N(SiMe_3)_2)(THF)$,⁹¹² $Ti(N(SiMe_3)_2)_3$,⁷⁶ and $TiCl_2(N(SiMe_3)_2)(THF)_2$ ⁹²³ have been prepared in this fashion. Use of two equivalents of $Na[N(SiMe_3)_2]$ in the presence of 12-crown-4 ether afforded the ionic compound $[Na(12-crown-4)][TiCl_2-(N(SiMe_3)_2)_2]$.⁹²³ Similarly, [Li(TMEDA)] $[TiCl_2(N(SiMe_3)_2)_2]$ has also been reported.⁹²⁴ Alternatively, photolysis of TiMe (N(SiMe_3)_2)_3 has been shown to give a product formulated as $Ti(N(SiMe_3)_2)_3$.

Employing the precursor *trans*-TiCl₂(TMEDA)₂, reaction with Li[N(SiMe₃)₂] and NC₅H₅ gave the thermally robust compound (TiCl(N(SiMe₃)₂)(NC₅H₅)₂)₂(μ -N₂) (**78**),⁹²⁴ while reaction of TiCl(N(SiMe₃)₂)₂(THF) or [Li(TMEDA)₂][Ti(μ -Cl)₂(NCy₂)₂] with CH₂PPh₃ yielded the zwitterionic complex TiCl(NR₂)₂(CH₂PPh₃).⁹²⁵



The reduction of TiCl₂(N(SiMe₃)₂)₂ by a Na/Hg amalgam yielded the Ti–carbene complex (Ti((CHSiMe₂)NSiMe₃)N(SiMe₃)₂)₂.⁷⁵ The complexes Ti(RNC₆H₃Me₂)₂(μ -Cl)₂Li(TMEDA)-(R = Bu^t-d⁶, C(CD₃)₂Ph) were derived directly from reaction of the amide salts with TiCl₃(THF)₃.⁶³ Alkylation of the former complex gave Ti(Bu^t-d⁶NC₆H₃Me₂)₂(CH(SiMe₃)₂), which contained an η^3 -bound amido-aryl group. Subsequent reaction with pivalonitrile gave the corresponding Ti^{III}– pivalonitrile adduct, whereas the reaction with benzonitrile led to the dimeric complex (Ti(Bu^t-d⁶NC₆H₃Me₂)(CH(SiMe₃)₂))₂(μ -NC(Ph)C(Ph)N). In a related effort, the complex TiCl(Bu^t-d⁶NC₆H₃Me₂)₃ was reduced to Ti(Bu^t-d⁶NC₆H₃Me₂)₃.⁹²⁶ The addition of V(O)(OPrⁱ)₃ to Ti(Bu^t-d⁶NC₆H₃Me₂)₃ afforded the bimetallic complex (OPrⁱ)₃VOTi(Bu^t-d⁶NC₆H₃Me₂)₃ (79). Crystallographic studies revealed that the Ti–O–V connection was positioned on a three-fold axis.⁹²⁶

4.2.3.4.3 Imido ligand complexes

Recently, oxidation of $(Ti((OC_6H_4CHN)_2C_6H_4)THF)_2$ with N₃Ph or N₃SiMe₃ has been shown to provide an effective route to imido-bridged complex $(Ti((OC_6H_4CHN)_2C_6H_4))_2(\mu$ -NR) (R = Ph, SiMe₃).⁹²⁷

4.2.3.4.4 Amidinato ligand complexes

Synthetic routes to Ti^{III}-amidinato complexes involved either reduction of Ti^{IV} complexes or reaction of Ti^{III} chlorides with amidinato salts. Compounds prepared via one of these routes include (Ti-(μ -Cl)(HC(NR)₂)(μ -HC(NR)₂))₂ (**80**) (R = Ph, C₁₂H₁₀, ⁹²⁸ Cy⁹²⁹) and Ti(HC(NPh₂)₃).¹⁴⁹ Ti(PhC(NSiMe₃)₂)₂(μ -Cl)₂Li(TMEDA) was prepared by the reaction of TiCl₂(TMEDA)₂ or TiCl₃(THF)₃ with Li[PhC(NSiMe₃)₂]. Subsequent reaction with Li[BH₄] gave the monomeric species Ti(BH₄)(PhC (NSiMe₃)₂)₂; it was proposed that the steric hindrance precluded dimerization.⁹³⁰ Reduction of the Ti^{IV} precursor under N₂ afforded (Ti(PhC(NSiMe₃)₂)₂)(μ -N₂) which was crystallographically characterized. This diamagnetic complex gave relatively short Ti–N distances; however, the oxidation state of Ti was not clear.⁹³¹ In contrast, reduction under CO afforded (Ti(PhC(NSiMe₃)₂)₂)(μ -O)⁹³¹ while a Na/Hg reduction of TiClMe(PhC(NSiMe₃)₂)₂ gave TiMe-(PhC(NSiMe₃)₂)₂. In a more recent study, reaction of TiCl₂(C₆H₄(Me)C(NSiMe₃)₂)₂ with K in NH₃(l) produced the Ti^{III} complex Ti(C₆H₄(Me)-C(NSiMe₃)₂)₃³²



4.2.3.4.5 Diketinimato ligand complexes

The Ti^{III} complex TiCl₂(THF)₂(PhNC(Me)CHC(Me)NPh) was prepared and the structure determined by X-ray crystallography.⁹³³ In the presence of excess methylaluminoxane (MAO), this compound generates a catalyst for homo- and copolymerization of α -olefins. Also, the related compounds TiCl₂((C₆H₂Me₃)NC(R)CHC(R)N(C₆H₂Me₃)) (**81**) (R = Me, Bu^t) have been reported and have been shown to adopt tetrahedral metal environments. Reaction of the TiMe₂ derivatives with B(C₆F₅)₃ also produced catalysts for α -olefin polymerization.⁹³⁴

4.2.3.4.6 Miscellaneous bidentate ligand complexes

The chelate stabilized metal amide complex $Ti(NC_4H_7CH_2NMe_2)_3$ was synthesized employing amino–pyrrolide ligands.⁹³⁵ Although crystallographic data was not reported, the structure of the Cr^{III} analogue was determined. A related amido–pyridine complex $Ti(NC_5H_3Me(NSiMe_3))_3$ was prepared via reduction of $TiCl(NMe_2)(NC_5H_3Me(NSiMe_3))_2$ by Na.⁹³⁶

Reduction of the pyrazolate complex $TiCl_2(N_2C_3HBu^t_2)_2$ by Na/Hg in THF or toluene gave $TiCl(N_2C_3HBu^t_2)_2(THF)_2$ or $(TiCl(N_2C_3HBu^t_2)_2)_2$ (82) respectively.⁹³⁷ Structural data reported for both products confirmed the bidentate binding of the pyrazolato ligands to Ti.

NMR data for $Ti(bipy)_3$ was used to suggest that this species was best considered as a Ti^{III} complex of the bipyridyl anion.⁹³⁸ Subsequent reaction with Ph₂CO led to a Ti^{IV} complex containing a pinacol dianion, further supporting this view.

Reduction of TiCl₄(THF)₂ with Mg in the presence of excess (RNC(Ph))₂ (R = Ph, C₆H₄Me, C₆H₄OMe) led to the formation of diaza-diene complexes Ti(RNC(Ph))₂)₃.⁹³⁹ Alternatively, the analogous Ti(PrⁱNCH)₂)₃ was prepared by metathesis using the corresponding Li ligand salt.⁹⁴⁰ The molecular structure of the latter octahedral complex was determined.⁹⁴⁰



4.2.3.4.7 Monoanionic tridentate ligand complexes

The ligand $[N(CH_2CH_2NEt_2)_2]^-$ was used to prepare $TiCl_2(N(CH_2CH_2NEt_2)_2)$.^{941,942} Crystallographic data was reported for the V^{III} analogue.

4.2.3.4.8 Tris(pyrazolyl)borate ligand complexes

The Ti^{III} tris(pyrazolyl)borate ligand complexes $TiCl_2((N_2C_3HMe_2)_3BH)(C_3H_2Me_2N_2)$ and $[NHMe_2NHMe][TiCl_3((N_2C_3HMe_2)_3BH)]$ were prepared from $TiCl_3((N_2C_3HMe_2)_3BH)$ and hydrazines. These products were crystallographically characterized and were shown to exhibit a distorted octahedral geometry at Ti.⁹⁴³

4.2.3.4.9 Dianionic tridentate ligand complexes

The polydentate diamido–amine ligand $[Me_3SiN(CH_2CH_2NSiMe_3)_2]^{2-}$ has been used to prepare the Ti^{III} dimer Ti₂(μ -Cl)₂(Me_3SiN(CH₂CH₂NSiMe_3)₂)₂ (**83**). Subsequent alkylation with Li[CH-(SiMe_3)_2] gave the monomeric species Ti(CH(SiMe_3)_2)(Me_3SiN(CH_2CH_2NSiMe_3)_2) which was transformed to the stable diamagnetic Ti^{III}-hydride Ti₂(μ -H)₂(Me_3SiN(CH₂CH₂NSiMe_3)_2) upon hydrogenolysis.⁹⁴⁴



4.2.3.4.10 Dianionic tetradentate ligand complexes

The Ti^{III} compound, TiCl(Me₄taa) (84), was isolated and transformed to a variety of organometallic derivatives.⁹⁴⁵

4.2.3.4.11 Porphyrin complexes

Five-coordinate Ti porphyrin complexes are known to have an affinity for oxygen-based ligands. Reaction of TiF(TPP) with Na[SMe] and methanol yielded Ti(OMe)(TPP).⁹⁴⁶

4.2.3.5 Phosphorus-based Ligand Complexes

TiCl-phosphine complexes have the tendency to form dinuclear Cl-bridged complexes. For example, the series of compounds $(TiCl_2L)_2(\mu$ -Cl)_2 $(L = Pr_2^iPCH_2CH_2PPr_2^{i}, {}^{947} 2PMe_3, {}^{928} Et_2PCH_2CH_2PEt_2$ and DMPE³¹²) consist of two octahedra that share a common edge. Alternatively, two octahedra fused by a common face are exemplified by the complexes $[PPh_4][(TiCl_2L)_2(\mu$ -Cl)_3] $(L = PEt_3, PMe_2Ph, {}^{915,948})$. A dissymmetric bioctahedral analogue $Ti_2(\mu$ -I)_2I_4(PMe_3)_4 (85) has also been reported.⁹⁴⁹ In addition, the monomeric Ti^{III} adducts $TiCl_3(THF)(Pr_2PCH_2CH_2 PPr_2)^{947}$ and $TiCl_3(P(SiMe_3)_3)_2^{950}$ have been synthesized.

4.2.3.6 Oxygen-based Ligand Complexes

4.2.3.6.1 Neutral oxygen donor ligand complexes

A number of THF adducts of Ti chlorides including $[TiCl_2(THF)_4][ZnCl_3(THF)]$,⁹⁵¹ $[TiCl_2(THF)_4][SnCl_5(THF)]^{952}$ and $(TiCl_2(THF)_2)_2(\mu$ -Cl)2⁹⁵³ have been synthesized. Interestingly, reduction of TiCl_4(THF)_2 by Al in THF gave TiCl_3(THF)_3, while the same reaction in CH₂Cl₂ gave $(TiCl_2(THF)_2)_2(\mu$ -Cl)2⁹⁵³ In addition, the crystal structures of TiCl_2(THF)_2 (\mu-Cl)2¹ $(\mu$ -Cl)2¹ $(THF)_2$,^{954,955} TiCl_3(THF)(OC₄H₇CH₂OH),⁹⁵⁶ and $(TiCl_2(C_6H_4(CO_2Et)_2))_2 (\mu$ -Cl)2⁹⁵⁷ have been reported.

The complex [NBu₄]₂[TiCl₆] was reduced photochemically to the Ti^{III} complex [NBu₄] [TiCl₄(THF)₂]. Alternatively, this anion was prepared directly from the reaction of TiCl₃(THF)₃ and [NBu₄]₂[MgCl₄].⁷²⁷ Aqueous Ti^{III} has been utilized as a reducing agent in a wide variety of redox reactions.^{958–969}

Aqueous Ti^{III} has been utilized as a reducing agent in a wide variety of redox reactions.⁹⁵⁸⁻⁹⁶⁹ In addition, a variety of tools have been employed to study Ti^{III} aqua complexes. For example, the reduction of H_2O_2 and O_2 by [Ti(EDTA)(H_2O)]⁻ and [Ti(H_2O)₆]³⁺ were studied using radical traps.⁹⁷⁰ The SCF MS-X α method suggested that the most stable configuration of *trans*-[TiCl₂(H_2O)₄]⁺ was with the plane of each H_2O molecule oriented parallel to the Cl–Ti–Cl axis.⁹⁷¹ Magnetization and Raman studies of the [Ti(H_2O)₆]³⁺ cation demonstrated the influence of Jahn–Teller coupling on the magnetic properties.⁹⁷² Finally, crystallographic studies have been performed on [Ti(H_2O)₆][C₆H₄MeSO₃]₃ and [NMe₄][TiF₂(H₂O)₄][TiF₆].^{973,974}

4.2.3.6.2 Hydroxide ligand complexes

Partial hydrolysis of Ti^{III} in the presence of [PPh₄]Cl in acetone gave the dinuclear species [PPh₄]₂[Ti₂- $(\mu$ -Cl)Cl₆(μ -OH)(H₂O)(OCMe₂)] and the mononuclear compound TiCl₃(H₂O)₃.⁹⁷⁵

4.2.3.6.3 Alkoxide ligand complexes

A series of Ti^{III} alkoxides with the formulas TiCl₂(OR) and TiCl(OR)₂ (R = Me, Et, Bu) were reported from the reactions of anhydrous TiCl₃ and trialkylorthoformates. These materials were thought to be polymeric in nature.⁹⁷⁶ Reaction of TiCl₃(THF)₃ with Na[OC₆H₃Bu^t₂] led to the monomeric five-coordinate Ti complex TiCl₂(OC₆H₃Bu^t₂)(THF)₂, which was shown to have trigonal bipyramidal coordination geometry.⁹⁷⁷

In related work, Ti(OC₆H₃Bu^t₂)₃ was obtained from TiCl₃(NMe₃)₂ and excess Li[OC₆H₃Bu^t₂]. An electrochemical study showed that Ti(OC₆H₃Bu^t₂)₂X₂ (X = Cl, Br) were reversibly reduced to the corresponding Ti^{III} monoanions.⁴²⁶ In contrast, reduction of the Ti^{IV} precursor in a non-donor solvent led to the formation of the dimer (Ti(OC₆H₃Ph₂)₂)₂(μ -Cl)₂.⁹⁷⁸

The complex Ti(OC₆H₃Prⁱ₂)₂Bn(Bu^tNCBn) reacted with pyridine effecting alkyl transfer, elimination of imine, and reductive coupling of a pyridine, affording the intermediate Ti^{III} complex (Ti(OC₆H₃Prⁱ₂)₂(NC₅H₅)₂)₂(μ^2 -NC₅H₄C₅H₄N) (**86**).⁹⁷⁹

Reactions of TiCl₂(TMEDA)₂ with Na[OR] (R = Ph, C₆H₃Bu^t₂) formed the trimer Ti₃-(μ -OPh)₄(OPh)₅(TMEDA)₂ (87) and the dimer (TiCl(OC₆H₃Bu^t₂)₂(TMEDA))₂(μ -OC₆H₃Bu^t₂)₂ respectively. Alternatively, the reaction of $Ti(N(SiMe_3)_2)_3$ with HOC₆H₃Me₂ gave $(Ti(OC_6H_3Me_2)_2(\mu-OC_6H_3Me_2))_2$, while the reaction of Li[OC₆H₃Me₂] with TiCl₃(THF)₃ gave the monometallic salt [Li(TMEDA)₂][Ti(OC₆H₃Me₂)₄].⁹⁸⁰

Floriani and co-workers have synthesized the Ti^{III} complex Li₃[Ti(DAG)₆] (88) that contained ligand, di-*o*-isopropylidene- α -D-glucofuranose (DAG⁻). The alkoxide fragments of the glucose ligands bridged the Ti and Li atoms and gave the pseudo-octahedral geometry about Ti.⁹⁸¹





The reduction of TiCl(OSiBu^t₃)₃ using a Na/Hg amalgam in DME yielded Ti(OSi-Bu^t₃)₃(DME).⁴⁵⁷ Reactions with a variety of Lewis bases were carried out in order to prepare Ti(OSiBu^t₃)₃L (L = Me₂O, CNMe, CNBu^t, NCBu^t, PMe₃, NC₅H₅, NH₃)⁹⁸² In contrast, reaction with ketones and aldehydes gave ketyl derivatives via electron transfer.⁹⁸³

The Ti^{III} dimer (Ti(Cy₇Si₇O₁₂))₂ was derived from the reaction of the trisilanol (Cy₇Si₇O₁₂H₂) with TiCl₃(NMe₃)₂ and characterized by X-ray crystallography.⁹⁸⁴ This compound reacted with pyridine to give the dissymmetric dimer Ti₂(Cy₇Si₇O₁₂)₂(NC₅H₅)₂ (**89**). In this latter complex the two Ti centers adopt distorted tetrahedral and octahedral geometries respectively.⁹⁸⁴ An isomorphous siloxy bridged Ti^{III}–V^{III} dimer, [Ti(Cy₇Si₇O₁₂)(NC₅H₅)₂][V(Cy₇Si₇O₁₂)] has also been reported.⁹⁸⁵

4.2.3.6.5 Diketonate ligand complexes

The compounds $Ti(OC(Me)CHC(Me)O)_3$ and $Ti(OC(CF_3)CHC(CF_3)O)_3$ have been studied by FT-ion cyclotron mass spectrometry. The trends in ligand binding energies in these complexes were analyzed in terms of ligand field theory.⁹⁸⁶

4.2.3.6.6 Carboxylate, carbamate, and oxalate ligand complexes

The carboxylate bridged dimer $[Ti_2(\mu-O_2CPh)_2((MeNCH_2CH_2)_3)_2(\mu-O)][PF_6]_2$ was prepared from a refluxing mixture of $TiCl_3((MeNCH_2CH_2)_3)$ and $Na[O_2CPh]$ in air followed by treatment with $Na[PF_6]$. A crystallographic study of this diamagnetic complex confirmed the linear arrangement of the Ti–O–Ti vector.⁹²¹

The reaction of TiCl₃(THF)₃ with PhCO₂H gave the mixed valent compound Ti₂Cl₃(μ -O)-(μ -O₂CPh)₂(THF)₃. Crystallographic data showed an unusual asymmetric Ti^{III}/Ti^{IV} bridged complex.⁵⁵³ A series of Ti^{III} tetrachlorophthalate salts of the form K[Ti(Cl₄C₆ (CO₂)₂)₂(L)₂] have been prepared and characterized by conductivity and magnetic moment measurements.⁹⁸⁷

The complex $Ti(O_2CNPr_{2}^{i})_4$ reacted with excess ligand to give the anionic dimer $[NH_2Pr_{2}^{i}][Ti_2(O_2CNPr_{2}^{i})_4(\mu-O_2CNPr_{2}^{i})_3]$ (90). The X-ray crystal structure revealed three bridging carbamate ligands and two terminal carbamate groups providing six-coordinate Ti centers.⁹⁸⁸

The oxalate complex $K_3[Ti(C_2O_4)_3(H_2O)]$ was prepared by the addition of excess $K_2[C_2O_4]$ to a solution of $[Ti((H_2N)_2CO)_6]Cl_3$. The crystal structure revealed a seven-coordinate pentagonal bipyramidal geometry about the Ti center.⁹⁸⁹ The kinetics of electron transfer reactions between Ti¹¹¹ oxalate complexes with Ru and Co complexes have been studied in detail.^{969,990,991}

4.2.3.6.7 Miscellaneous oxygen ligand complexes

Treatment of $[(Ph_3P)_2N]_2[Fe_3(CO)_9(CCO)]$ with TiCl₃(DME)_{1.5} in the presence of a Zn–Cu couple produced three products including $[(Ph_3P)_2N][(TiCl(CCO)(THF)_4)Fe_3(CO)_9]$ (91) in low yield.⁹⁹² This compound was characterized by X-ray crystallography, EPR spectroscopy, and magnetic susceptibility.⁹⁹²



The compound $Ti(H_3O)(SO_4)_2(H_2O)_3$ was obtained from reactions of the metal sulfate and SO_3 in water. The crystal structure revealed distorted TiO_6 octahedra which share corners with SO_4 tetrahedra.⁹⁹³

4.2.3.7 Sulfur-based Ligand Complexes

The addition of TiCl₃ to a solution of 1,4,7-trithiacyclononane $(SCH_2CH_2)_3$ was reported to yield TiCl₃($(SCH_2CH_2)_3$).⁶⁸⁴

4.2.3.8 Mixed Donor Ligand Complexes

4.2.3.8.1 N,O bidentate ligand complexes

Reaction of equimolar amounts of 1,4-bis(2'-hydroxyphenylazomethine)phenylene and Ti^{III} cations resulted in a product which was proposed to be a coordination compound. IR data suggested N,O chelation to the Ti^{III} centers.⁹⁹⁴ Similarly, the complex containing gallacetophenone–phenylhydrazone, TiCl(OC₆H₂(OH)₂(CMeNNHPh))₂(H₂O)₂, has been reported and proposed to bind in a bidentate N,O fashion.⁹⁹⁵

The metathesis reaction between the sodium salt of hydroxyphenyloxazoline with $TiCl_3(THF)_3$ yielded the complex $TiCl(OC_6H_4(C_3H_2Me_2ON)_2)(THF)$ (92) and the N,O chelation was verified crystallographically.⁷⁷⁵



4.2.3.8.2 NO₂ tridentate ligand complexes

The ionic compound $K_2[Ti(C_{13}H_9NO_2)(SCN)_3]$, containing a dianionic tridentate Schiff-base ligand, has been reported recently and is presumed to adopt a pseudo-octahedral geometry.⁹⁹⁶

4.2.3.8.3 N,O tetradentate ligand complexes

Reaction of TiCl₃(THF)₃ and Na₂[(OC(Me)CH₂C(Me)NCH₂)₂] yielded TiCl((OC(Me)CH₂C-(Me)NCH₂)₂)(THF).⁹⁹⁷ Crystallographic data confirmed the *trans* arrangement of the Cl and THF ligands in a pseudo-octahedral coordination geometry. Reactions involving $M[(OC(Me)CH_2C(Me)NCH_2)_2]$ (M = Co, Fe) with TiCl₃(THF)₃ gave the complexes [Ti((OC-(Me)CH₂C(Me)NCH₂)₂)(THF)₂][CoCl₃(THF)] (93) and [Ti((OC(Me)CH₂C(Me)NCH₂)₂)-(THF)₂]⁹⁹⁸



The reaction of the related Schiff-base complexes $TiX_2((OC_6H_4CNCH_2)_2)$ (X = Cl, Br) with AlMe₃ afforded the hetero-bimetallic Ti^{III} complex Ti((OC₆H₄CNCH₂)₂)(μ -X)(AlMe₂)-(μ -X)(AlMe₂R) (94) (R = Cl, Br).^{835,836}

Ligand-based reduction occurred in the reaction of $TiCl((OC_6H_4CHN)_2C_6H_4)(THF)$ with Na. The product $Ti_2((OC_6H_4CHN)_2C_6H_4)_2)_2(THF)_2$ (95), in which the two ligands were coupled via C—C bond formation, exhibited temperature-dependent magnetic moments, typical of antiferromagnetic-coupled Ti^{III} centers.⁹²⁷

4.2.3.8.4 Hexa- and octadentate N,O ligand complexes

 $Ti_2((OC_6H_4CHN)_2C_6H_4)_2)_2(THF)_2$ underwent an additional C—C bond formation upon further reduction. This yielded the ionic complex $Na_2[Ti_2(salophen^*)(THF)_6]$ (96) where salophen* is an octadentate, octaanionic ligand derived from the dimerization of two of the original ligands.⁹²⁷ This latter compound showed a residual temperature-independent paramagnetism.



Initially, $(Ti(HEDTA)(H_2O))$ (97) was thought to have adopted a six-coordinate structure with the ligand binding in a pentadentate fashion.⁹⁶⁰ However, a recent crystallographic study revealed a seven-coordinate complex in the solid state in which the ligand is hexadentate.⁸⁷³

4.2.3.8.5 N,S bidentate ligand complexes

Complexes of 3-(4-pyridyl)triazoline-5-thione⁹⁹⁹ and thiobenzoylhydantoins¹⁰⁰⁰ have been reported and were presumed to chelate via N and S, although this was not confirmed unambiguously.

The Ti^{III} complexes Ti(Et₂P(S)NR)₃ (R = Me, Et, Bu^t, Cy, Ph) have been synthesized by a salt metathesis reaction between Li[Et₂P(S)NR] and TiCl₃.¹⁰⁰¹ These ligands formed four-membered chelate rings on Ti.

4.2.3.8.6 O,P bidentate ligand complexes

The alkoxy–phosphine complex $TiCl(OC(Bu^t)_2CH_2PMe_2)_2$ was prepared by the metathesis reaction of $TiCl_3$ and $Na[OC(Bu^t)_2CH_2PMe_2]$. Structural characterization revealed a trigonal bipyramidal geometry about Ti.¹⁰⁰²

4.2.3.9 Halide Complexes

Reduction of $TiCl_4$ with Me₃SiSiMe₃ was suggested to yield $TiCl_2$.¹⁰⁰³ However, it has been shown that $TiCl_3$ is the major product based on the Ti:Cl ratio.¹⁰⁰⁴

The reaction of TiCl₃(THF)₃ with chloride salts gave $[NEt_4]_3[Ti_2(\mu-Cl)_3Cl_6]^{553}$ Reduction of TiCl₄ with HSnBu₃ followed by treatment with varying amounts of a chloride salt produced $[PPh_4]_3[Cl_3Ti(\mu-Cl)_3TiCl_3]$ and $[PPh_4]_3[Cl_3Ti(\mu-Cl)_3TiCl_3]$, which were determined crystallographically.⁹¹⁵

4.2.3.9.1 Metal—metal bonded compounds

The reduction of TiCl(μ^2 -OCMe₂CH₂Ph₂P)₃RhCl afforded the formally Ti^{III}/Rh(0) species Ti(μ^2 -OCMe₂CH₂Ph₂P)₃Rh (98), which was reported to have a Ti—Rh bond distance of 2.2142(11) Å.¹⁰⁰⁵



4.2.4 TITANIUM(II)

Transient Ti^{II} complexes have been inferred as reagents in a variety of organic transformations.^{903,1006–1010} For example, the reactive species $(TiH(Cl)(THF) \sim 0.5)_x$ was generated by the reduction of TiCl₃(THF)₃ with MgH₂ and shown to be the active species in the McMurry reaction.^{1010–1013}

4.2.4.1 Nitrogen-based Ligand Complexes

4.2.4.1.1 Neutral nitrogen ligand complexes

The reduction of TiCl₃(THF)₃ with Li in the presence of TMEDA (TMEDA = Me₂NCH₂-CH₂NMe₂) yielded monomeric *trans*-TiCl₂(TMEDA)₂.¹⁰¹⁴ Facile ligand exchange gave TiCl₂L₂-(L = Me₂NCH₂CH₂NMeH, bipy) and TiCl₂(NC₅H₅)₄. Alternatively, TiCl₂(NC₅H₅)₄¹⁰¹⁵ was produced directly by reduction of TiCl₄ by Na in the presence of NC₅H₅.¹⁰¹⁶

4.2.4.1.2 Amido ligand complexes

The addition of Li[N(SiMe₃)₂] to TiCl₂(TMEDA)₂ at $-80 \,^{\circ}$ C yielded the binuclear complex (TiCl(TMEDA)(N(SiMe₃)₂))₂(μ -N₂) (**99**). The bridging N₂ moiety adopted an end-on binding mode. Alternatively, two equivalents of the amide salt gave (Ti(N(SiMe₃)₂)₂(μ -N₂))₂ (**100**), where the N₂ units were bound in a side-on fashion.¹⁰¹⁷ The corresponding reaction with LiNPh₂ gave [*N*,*N*'-(Ti((η^6 -Ph)PhN)₂)Ti(NPh₂)₂]⁻ (**101**)¹⁰¹⁸ whereas treatment of *trans*-TiCl₂(TMEDA)₂ with NaPPh₂ afforded the corresponding salt of [Ti₃Cl₅(TMEDA)₃]⁺ (**102**),¹⁰¹⁸ inferring a complicated ligand redistribution.



Reduction of TiCl₄(THF)₂ with Mg in the presence of RNC(Ph)C(Ph)NR (R = Ph, C₆H₄Me, C₆H₄OMe, Prⁱ) gave Ti(RNC(Ph)C(Ph)NR)₂.⁹³⁹ Coordination of the nitrogen atoms and the olefinic carbons to Ti were indicated crystallographically.

4.2.4.1.3 Porphyrin complexes

In 1991 the first Ti^{II} porphyrin complexes Ti(OEP)(η^2 -PhCCPh) (103) and Ti(TTP)(η^2 -PhCCPh) (OEP = octaethylporphyrinato, TTP = *meso*-tetra-*p*-tolyl-porphyrinato) were made and characterized by Woo *et al.*¹⁰¹⁹ The syntheses involved reduction of TiCl₂-porphyrin complexes by LiAlH₄ in the presence of PhCCPh. Structural data confirmed a nearly planar porphyrin core for Ti(OEP)(η^2 -PhCCPh).



The Ti^{II} porphyrin complexes Ti(por)(η^2 -RCCR) and Ti(por)(L)₂ (por = TTP, OEP; R = Me, Et, H; L = NC₅H₄Me, NC₅H₅, THF, Bu^tNC, PEt₃, OP(C₈H₁₈)₃) have also been reported.¹⁰²⁰⁻¹⁰²² Ti(TTP)(η^2 -EtCCEt) and Ti(TTP)(THF)₂ act as dechlorinating agents, reacting with chloroalk-anes and chloroalkenes producing TiCl₂(TTP). Ti(TTP)(η^2 -EtCCEt) also deoxygenates sulfoxides or epoxides to form TiO(TTP) and the corresponding sulfides or olefins.¹⁰²³ Similarly, a variety of Ti–porphyrin complexes containing hydrazido, sulfido, persulfido, selenido, perselenido, oxo,

peroxo, and imido ligands have been synthesized via oxidation of Ti^{II} porphyrin complexes^{1020–1022} (see Section 4.2.2.3.24).

The reduction of Ti(OEP)(THF)₂ in THF with Li under C_2H_4 led to the formation of the dimeric Ti^{II} porphyrin complex with C₂-bridged Ti atoms and two Li cations supported by the porphyrin ligands.²⁷³

4.2.4.1.4 Phosphine ligand complexes

The monomeric *trans*-TiCl₂(DMPE)₂ was generated using a one-pot mixture of TiCl₄, DMPE, and Mg in THF.¹⁰²⁴ A series of derivatives—TiX₂(dmpe)₂ (X = OPh and Cl, OPh,¹⁰²⁵ BH₄, Me)—have also been prepared.¹⁰²⁶ Interestingly, TiCl₂(DMPE)₂ and Ti(BH₄)₂(DMPE)₂ were found to be paramagnetic and thus had a triplet ground state, whereas TiCl(OPh)(DMPE)₂, Ti(OPh)₂(DMPE)₂, and TiMe₂(DMPE)₂ were diamagnetic complexes and correspondingly had a singlet ground state. These differences were attributed to the electronegativity and ligand field differences between the ancillary ligands.^{1025,1027}

The thermally unstable carbonyl complex $TiCl_2(CO)_2(DMPE)_2$ (104) was prepared at $-70^{\circ}C$ from reaction of $TiCl_2(DMPE)_2$ with CO. NMR data suggested a bicapped octahedronal geometry about Ti.¹⁰²⁸ The reaction of $TiCl_4(DMPE)$ with Bu^tMgCl gave (TiCl_2(DMPE))_3 (105), which was the first Ti^{II} cluster isolated and structurally characterized.³¹²



4.2.4.2 Oxygen-based Ligand Complexes

The complex $Ti(OC_6H_3Pr_2^i)_2(Bu^tNCBn_2)(NC_5H_5)$ reacted with bipy effecting elimination of imine affording $Ti(OC_6H_3Pr_2^i)_2(bipy)_2$.⁹⁷⁹ Electrochemical and spectroscopic data support the Ti^{II} formulation.

The syntheses of the purported Ti^{II} complexes $\text{Ti}X_2Y_2(\text{H}_2\text{O})_z$ (X = hyrdoxamic acids, Y = RNCS, H₂NCH₂CH₂NH₂; z = 0.5, 1, 2, 3) were reported although these formulations were based only on IR data.

4.2.5 **TITANIUM(0)**

The seven-coordinate complex Ti(CO)₃(DMPE)₂ was prepared by reduction of TiCl₄(THF)₂ by Na[C₁₀H₈] in the presence of phosphine ligand, at -70 °C under Ar, followed by carbonyl-ation.^{1031,1032} Prolonged exposure to CO converted Ti(CO)₃(DMPE)₂ to Ti(CO)₅(DMPE). Reaction with K[(N₂C₃H₃)₃BH], Na[SnPh₃], and Na[GePh₃], followed by cation exchange afforded [NEt₄][Ti(CO)₄(N₂C₃H₃)₃BH], [AsPh₄][Ti(CO)₄(DMPE)SnPh₃], and [AsPh₄][Ti(CO)₄-(DMPE)GePh₃], respectively. Other Ti–CO complexes that have been synthesized recently include Ti(CO)₄((Me₂PCH₂)₃CMe),¹⁰³³ Ti(CO)₄((Me₂PCH₂)₃SiBu^t),¹⁰³⁴ Ti(CO)₄((HNCH₂CH₂)₃), Ti(CO)₄-((MeNCH₂CH₂)₃),¹⁰³⁵ Ti(CO)₃ (C₆H₄(AsMe₂)₂)₂, and Ti(CO)₄((Ph₂PCH₂)₃CMe).¹⁰³⁶ Reductive carbonylation in the presence of PMe₃ followed by the addition of appropriate nucleophiles gave [Ti(CO)₅(SnPh₃)₂]²⁻ and [Ti(CO)₅(GePh₃)₂]^{2-,1036} while [K(15-crown-5)₂]₂[Ti(CO)₆] reacted with BH₃(THF) at -60 °C affording [K(15-crown-5)₂][Ti(CO)₄(η^3 -BH₄]]. Subsequent reaction of

 $[Ti(CO)_6(\eta^3-BH_4)]^-$ with K[NC₄H₄] gave $[Ti(CO)_4(\eta^5-NC_4H_4)]^-$.¹⁰³⁷ Reaction of $[K(15\text{-crown-5})_2]_2$ -[Ti(CO)₆] with SnClR₃ or PhNNPh generated the anions $[Ti(CO)_6SnR_3]^-$ (R = Ph, Me, Cy)¹⁰³⁸ and $[Ti(CO)_4(PhNNPh)]^{2-}$,¹⁰³⁹ respectively. Hydrolysis of $[Ti(CO)_4(PhNNPh)]^{2-}$ resulted in formation of $[Ti_2(\mu-OH)_2(CO)_8]^{2-}$.¹⁰³⁹ Similarly, $[K(15\text{-crown-5})_2]_2[Ti(CO)_6]$ reacted with PhOH or MeOH to give $[Ti(CO)_4(OPh)]_2^{2-}$ and $[Ti(CO)_4 (OMe)]_2^{2-}$.¹⁰⁴⁰ Metal vapor synthesis provided a synthetic route to $Ti(\mu^6-NC_5H_3Me_2)_2$.^{1041,1042} Similarly, respectively.

Metal vapor synthesis provided a synthetic route to $Ti(\mu^{\circ}-NC_5H_3Me_2)_2$.^{1041,1042} Similarly, co-condensation of Ti vapor in the presence of an excess of $(Pr^iNCH)_2$ gave the six-coordinate Ti complex $Ti((Pr^iNCH)_2)_3$. The analogous reaction with the bulkier ligand $(Bu^tNCH)_2$ led to the four-coordinate complex $Ti((Bu^tNCH)_2)_2$.¹⁰⁴³ Altenatively, four- and six-coordinate diazadiene derivatives were obtained from reduction of $TiCl_4(THF)_2$ with Mg in the presence of $(RNCPh)_2$ (R = Ph, C₆H₄Me, C₆H₄OMe).⁹³⁹

Reduction of $TiCl_4(THF)_2$ with $[Et_3BH]^-$ was proposed to yield a Ti-H complex which under vacuum generated a Ti-THF complex (Ti⁰·THF). This was formulated based on IR data.¹⁰⁴⁴

4.2.6 **TITANIUM (-II)**

Stable dianionic derivatives of the Ti carbonyl complex $[Ti(CO)_6]^{2-}$ have been synthesized, isolated, and characterized.¹⁰⁴⁵ The $[Ti(CO)_6]^{2-}$ ion was obtained via reductive carbonylation of Ti(CO)₃(DMPE)₂ or TiCl₄(DME) by KC₁₀H₈ in the presence of a crown ether or cryptand.¹⁰⁴⁵ An octahedral environment about Ti in [K(cryptand 2.2.2)]₂[Ti(CO)₆] was confirmed both in solution by the observation of a septet resonance in the ⁴⁹Ti NMR spectrum for the ¹³CO complex and crystallographically.¹⁰⁴⁶ Related complexes with weakly solvated alkali metal cations readily decomposed.¹⁰⁴⁷

The reaction of $[K(15\text{-crown-5})]_2[Ti(CO)_6]$ with AuCl(PR₃) (R = Cy, Et) yielded [K(15-crown-5)] [Ti(CO)₆(AuPR₃)] (106).¹⁰⁴⁸ Structural data for the anion revealed a seven-coordinate geometry about Ti with a Ti—Au bond length of 2.719(1)Å. Distortion of the coordination sphere was attributed to the approach of a CO ligand to Au.



4.2.7 REFERENCES

- 1. Dodge, T.; Curtis, M. A.; Russell, J. M.; Sabat, M.; Finn, M. G.; Grimes, R. N. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 10573-10580.
- 2. Bowen, D. E.; Jordan, R. F.; Rogers, R. D. Organometallics. 1995, 14, 3630-3635.
- 3. Zhu, Y.; Vyakaranam, K.; Maguire, J. A.; Quintana, W.; Teixidor, F.; Vinas, C.; Hosmane, N. S. Inorg. Chem. Commun. . 2001, 4, 486-489.
- 4. Kim, D.-H.; Won, J. H.; Kim, S.-J.; Ko, J.; Kim, S. H.; Cho, S.; Kang, S. O. Organometallics. 2001, 20, 4298-4300.
- 5. Schmid, G.; Amirkhalili, S.; Hoehner, U.; Kampmann, D.; Boese, R. Chem. Ber. 1982, 115, 3830-3841.
- 6. Xue, Z. Comments Inorg. Chem. 1996, 18, 223-247.
- McAlexander, L. H.; Hung, M.; Li, L.; Diminnie, J. B.; Xue, Z.; Yap, G. P. A.; Rheingold, A. L. Organometallics. 1996, 15, 5231–5235.
- 8. Cundari, T. R.; Gordon, M. S. J. Phys. Chem. 1992, 96, 631-636.
- 9. Cundari, T. R.; Gordon, M. S. Organometallics. 1992, 11, 3122-3129.
- 10. Cundari, T. R.; Gordon, M. S. Theochem. 1994, 119, 47-54.
- 11. Turin, E.; Nielson, R. M.; Merbach, A. E. Inorg. Chim. Acta. 1987, 134, 67-78.
- 12. Turin, E.; Nielson, R. M.; Merbach, A. E. Inorg. Chim. Acta. 1987, 134, 79-85.
- 13. Poleshchuk, O. K.; Elin, V. P.; Koput, J.; Nogaj, B.; Dolenko, G. N. J. Mol. Struct. 1995, 344, 107-110.
- Dolenko, G. N.; Poleshchuk, O. K.; Gostewskii, B. A.; Latosinska, J. N.; Ostafin, M. J. Mol. Struct. 2000, 522, 201–208.
- Poleshchuk, O. K.; Nogaj, B.; Kasprzak, J.; Koput, J.; Dolenko, G. N.; Elin, V. P.; Ivanovskii, A. L. J. Mol. Struct. 1994, 324, 215–222.
- 16. Sobota, P.; Utko, J.; Szafert, S.; Szczegot, K. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1997, 679-683.
- 17. Reedijk, J.; Siedle, A. R.; Velapoldi, R. A.; Van Hest, J. A. M. Inorg. Chim. Acta. 1983, 74, 109-118.
- 18. Jalil, N. S. N. Synth. React. Inorg. Met.-Org. Chem. 1990, 20, 1285-1300.

- 19. Tamayo, P.; Mendiola, M. A.; Masaguer, J. R.; Molleda, C. Transition Met. Chem. (London). 1989, 14, 283-286.
- 20. Alvarez Boo, P.; Freijanes, E.; Garcia Martinez, E.; Casas, J. S.; Sordo, J. Synth. React. Inorg. Met.-Org. Chem. 1995, 25. 115-125.
- 21. Camazon, M. J.; Masaguer, J. R. Synth. React. Inorg. Met.-Org. Chem. 1985, 15, 1005-1022.
- 22. Masaguer, J. R.; Mendiola, M. A. Transition Met. Chem. (Weinheim, Ger.). 1985, 10, 243-246.
- 23. Pokhariyal, G. P. Asian J. Chem. 1989, 1, 305-306.
- 24. Parrado, C.; Bastida, R.; Macias, A.; Rodriguez, A.; Sousa, A. Synth. React. Inorg. Met.-Org. Chem. 1994, 24, 1613-1629.
- 25. Arquero, A.; Souza, P.; Garcia-Vazquez, J. A.; Masaguer, J. R. Transition Met. Chem. (Weinheim, Ger.). 1985, 10, 424-426.
- 26. Narula, S. P.; Kapur, N. Inorg. Chim. Acta. 1983, 73, 183-187.
- 27. Narula, S. P.; Shankar, R.; Kumar, S. Indian J. Chem., Sect. A. 1984, 23A, 661-663.
- 28. Narula, S. P.; Kapur, N.; Chodha, A.; Shankar, R.; Malhotra, R. Indian J. Chem., Sect. A. 1987, 26A, 135-138.
- 29. Ault, B. S. J. Phys. Chem. A. 1998, 102, 7245-7249.
- 30. Winter, C. H.; Proscia, J. W.; Rheingold, A. L.; Lewkebandara, T. S. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 1227-1229.
- 31. Claire, P. P. K.; Willey, G. R.; Drew, M. G. B. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1987, 1100-1102.
- 32. Mazo, G. N.; Bobylev, A. P.; Troyanov, C. I. Vestn. Mosk. Univ., Ser. 2: Khim. 1987, 28, 459-462
- 33. Sevast'yanova, T. N.; Luchinina, E. N.; Suvorov, A. V.; Smirnov, Y. E. Russ. J. Gen. Chem. 1997, 67, 9-14.
- 34. Hensen, K.; Lemke, A.; Bolte, M. Acta Crystallogr., Sect. C: Cryst. Struct. Commun. 1999, C55, 863-867.
- 35. Hensen, K.; Lemke, A.; Bolte, M. Z. Naturforsch., B: Chem. Sci. 2000, 55, 877-881.
- Hensen, K.; Lemke, A.; Bolte, M. Acta Crystallogr., Sect. C: Cryst. Struct. Commun. 2000, C56, 1196–1197.
 Hensen, K.; Lemke, A.; Bolte, M. Acta Crystallogr., Sect. C: Cryst. Struct. Commun. 2000, C56, C565–C566.
- 38. Hensen, K.; Lemke, A.; Naether, C. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1997, 623, 1973-1977.
- 39. Hensen, K.; Pickel, P.; Lemke, A.; Bolte, M. Acta Crystallogr., Sect. C: Cryst. Struct. Commun. 1997, C53, 1583-1585.
- 40. Daoud, K. M.; Dawood, Z. F.; Mohammad, M. A. J. Indian Chem. Soc. 1991, 68, 433-434.
- 41. Narula, S. P.; Shankar, R.; Kumar, M.; Chadha, R. K.; Janaik, C. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 1268-1273.
- 42. Roesky, H. W.; Anhaus, J.; Schmidt, H. G.; Sheldrick, G. M.; Noltemeyer, M. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1983, 1207 - 1209.
- 43. Thewalt, U.; Holl, K. Z. Naturforsch., B: Chem. Sci. 1988, 43, 467-471.
- 44. Roesky, H. W.; Anhaus, J.; Sheldrick, W. S. Inorg. Chem. 1984, 23, 75-79.
- 45. Donovan-Mtunzi, S.; Richards, R. L.; Mason, J. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1984, 2429-2433.
- 46. Kachapina, L. M.; Borshch, V. N.; Kichigina, G. A.; Makhaev, V. D.; Borisov, A. P. Nouv. J. Chim. 1982, 6, 253-258.
- 47. Nicholls, D.; Thomson, A. C.; Varney, A. J. Inorg. Chim. Acta. 1986, 115, L13-L14.
- 48. Roesky, H. W.; Meller-Rehbein, B.; Noltemeyer, M. Z. Naturforsch., B: Chem. Sci. 1991, 46, 1059-1064.
- 49. Liu, L. K.; Liu, Y. C. L.; Liu, T. J. Acta Crystallogr., Sect. C. Cryst. Struct. Commun. 1986, C42, 289-291.
- 50. Singh, P. P.; Dixit, V.; Gupta, D. S. Indian J. Chem., Sect. A: Inorg., Bio-inorg., Phys., Theor. Anal. Chem. 1993, 32A, 226-231.
- 51. Liu, F.-Q.; Tilley, T. D. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 1998, 103-104.
- 52. Stahl, M. M.; Faza, N.; Massa, W.; Dehnicke, K. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1998, 624, 209-214.
- 53. Dehnicke, K.; Straehle, J. Angew. Chem. 1992, 104, 978-1000(See also Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl., 1992, 1031(1004), 1955-1078.
- 54. Abarca, A.; Gomez-Sal, P.; Martin, A.; Mena, M.; Poblet, J. M.; Yelamos, C. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 642-651.
- 55. Gomez-Sal, P.; Martin, A.; Mena, M.; Yelamos, C. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1995, 2185-2186.
- 56. Roesky, H. W.; Bai, Y.; Noltemeyer, M. Angew. Chem. 1989, 101, 788-789.
- 57. Duan, Z.; Naiini, A. A.; Lee, J.-H.; Verkade, J. G. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 5477-5482.
- 58. Gauch, E.; Hoppe, H.; Strahle, J. J. Organomet. Chem. 2000, 593-594, 175-179.
- 59. Carmalt, C. J.; Mileham, J. D.; White, A. J. P.; Williams, D. J. New J. Chem. 2000, 24, 929-930.
- 60. Dehnicke, K.; Krueger, N. Chem.-Ztg. 1982, 106, 187–188.
 61. Bodner, A.; Jeske, P.; Weyhermueller, T.; Wieghardt, K.; Dubler, E.; Schmalle, H.; Nuber, B. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 3737-3748.
- 62. Gross, M. E.; Siegrist, T. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 4898-4899.
- 63. Johnson, A. R.; Davis, W. M.; Cummins, C. C. Organometallics. 1996, 15, 3825-3835.
- 64. Carmalt, C. J.; Cowley, A. H.; Culp, R. D.; Jones, R. A.; Sun, Y. M.; Fitts, B.; Whaley, S.; Roesky, H. W. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 3108-3112.
- 65. Carmalt, C. J.; Whaley, S. R.; Lall, P. S.; Cowley, A. H.; Jones, R. A.; McBurnett, B. G.; Ekerdt, J. G. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1998, 553-557.
- 66. Caron, M.; Carlier, P. R.; Sharpless, K. B. J. Org. Chem. 1988, 53, 5185-5187.
- 67. Blandy, C.; Choukroun, R.; Gervais, D. Tetrahedron Lett. 1983, 24, 4189-4192.
- 68. Hughes, D. L.; Leigh, G. J.; Walker, D. G. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1989, 1413-1416.
- 69. Goetze, B.; Knizek, J.; Noth, H.; Schnick, W. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 1849-1854.
- 70. Guzei, I. A.; Liable-Sands, L. M.; Rheingold, A. L.; Winter, C. H. Polyhedron 1997, 16, 4017-4022.
- 71. Yelamos, C.; Heeg, M. J.; Winter, C. H. Organometallics 1999, 18, 1168-1176.
- 72. Thorman, J. L.; Woo, L. K. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 1301-1304.
- 73. Kim, S.-J.; Jung, I. N.; Yoo, B. R.; Cho, S.; Ko, J.; Kim, S. H.; Kang, S. O. Organometallics **2001**, *20*, 1501–1503. 74. Wade, S. R.; Wallbridge, M. G. H.; Willey, G. R. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. **1982**, 271–274.
- 75. Planalp, R. P.; Andersen, R. A.; Zalkin, A. Organometallics 1983, 2, 16-20.
- 76. Bradley, D. C.; Chudzynska, H.; Backer-Dirks, J. D. J.; Hursthouse, M. B.; Ibrahim, A. A.; Motevalli, M.; Sullivan, A. C. Polyhedron. 1990, 9, 1423-1427.
- 77. Laurent, F.; Cyr-Athis, O.; Legros, J. P.; Choukroun, R.; Valade, L. New J. Chem. 1994, 18, 575-580.
- 78. Schwarze, B.; Milius, W.; Schnick, W. Z. Naturforsch., B: Chem. Sci. 1997, 52, 819-822.
- 79. Schwarze, B.; Milius, W.; Schnick, W. Chem. Ber./Recl. 1997, 130, 701-704.
- 80. Dick, D. G.; Rousseau, R.; Stephan, D. W. Can. J. Chem. **1991**, 69, 357–362. 81. Duan, Z.; Thomas, L. M.; Verkade, J. G. Polyhedron. **1997**, 16, 635–641.

- 82. Visciglio, V. M.; Fanwick, P. E.; Rothwell, I. P. Inorg. Chim. Acta. 1993, 211, 203-209.
- Visciglio, V. M.; Fanwick, P. E.; Rothwell, I. P. Acta Crystallogr., Sect. C: Cryst. Struct. Commun. 1994, C50, 896–898.
- 84. Fix, R. M.; Gordon, R. G.; Hoffman, D. M. Chem. Mater. 1990, 2, 235-241.
- 85. Fix, R.; Gordon, R. G.; Hoffman, D. M. Chem. Mater. 1991, 3, 1138-1148.
- 86. Cundari, T. R.; Gordon, M. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 4210-4217.
- 87. Johnson, A. R.; Wanandi, P. W.; Cummins, C. C.; Davis, W. M. Organometallics. 1994, 13, 2907-2909.
- Hankin, D. M.; Danopoulos, A. A.; Wilkinson, G.; Sweet, T. K. N.; Hursthouse, M. B. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1996, 1309–1321.
- 89. Reetz, M. T.; Wenderoth, B.; Peter, R. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1983, 406-408.
- 90. Vather, S. M.; Modro, T. A. Phosphorus Sulfur. 1986, 26, 383-385.
- 91. Froneman, M.; Cheney, D. L.; Modro, T. A. Phosphorus, Sulfur Silicon Relat. Elem. 1990, 47, 273-281.
- 92. Mikami, K.; Kotera, O.; Motoyama, Y.; Sakaguchi, H.; Maruta, M. Synlett. 1996, 171-172.
- 93. Wrackmeyer, B.; Weidinger, J.; Milius, W. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1998, 624, 98-102.
- 94. Wrackmeyer, B.; Weidinger, J. Z. Naturforsch., B: Chem. Sci. 1999, 54, 1391-1395.
- 95. Wagner, O.; Jansen, M.; Baldus, H. P. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1994, 620, 366-370.
- 96. Roesky, H. W.; Schrumpf, F.; Edelmann, F. Z. Naturforsch., B: Chem. Sci. 1987, 42, 874-876.
- 97. Kuhn, N.; Fawzi, R.; Steimann, M.; Wiethoff, J. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1997, 623, 769-774.
- Ruebenstahl, T.; Wolff von Gudenberg, D.; Weller, F.; Dehnicke, K.; Goesmann, H. Z. Naturforsch., B: Chem. Sci. 1994, 49, 15–20.
- 99. Ruebenstahl, T.; Weller, F.; Wocadlo, S.; Massa, W.; Dehnicke, K. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1995, 621, 953-958.
- 100. Li, J. S.; Stahl, M.; Faza, N.; Massa, W.; Dehnicke, K. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1997, 623, 1035-1036.
- 101. Gruen, M.; Harms, K.; Meyer zu Koecker, R.; Dehnicke, K.; Goesmann, H. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1996, 622, 1091–1096.
- 102. Ruebenstahl, T.; Weller, F.; Harms, K.; Dehnicke, K. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1994, 620, 1741-1749.
- 103. Miekisch, T.; Harms, K.; Wocadlo, S.; Massa, W.; Neumueller, W.; Frommen, C.; Dehnicke, K. Z. Naturforsch., B: Chem. Sci. 1997, 52, 1484–1490.
- 104. Witt, M.; Roesky, H. W.; Stalke, D.; Pauer, F.; Henkel, T.; Sheldrick, G. M. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1989, 2173–2177.
- 105. Hasselbring, R.; Leichtweis, I.; Noltemeyer, M.; Roesky, H. W.; Schmidt, H. G.; Herzog, A. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1993, 619, 1543–1550.
- 106. Stephan, D. W.; Guerin, F.; Spence, R. E.v.H.; Koch, L.; Gao, X.; Brown, S. J.; Swabey, J. W.; Wang, Q.; Xu, W.; Zoricak, P.; Harrison, D. G. Organometallics 1999, 18, 2046–2048.
- 107. Guerin, F.; Stewart, J. C.; Beddie, C.; Stephan, D. W. Organometallics 2000, 19, 2994-3000.
- 108. Mountford, P. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 1997, 2127-2134.
- 109. Gade, L. H.; Mountford, P. Coord. Chem. Rev. 2001, 216-217, 65-97.
- 110. Wigley, D. E. Prog. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 42, 239-482.
- 111. Cundari, T. R. Chem. Rev. (Washington, D. C.). 2000, 100, 807-818.
- 112. Cundari, T. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 7879-7888.
- 113. Cundari, T. R. Organometallics. 1993, 12, 1998-2000.
- 114. Cundari, T. R. Organometallics. 1993, 12, 4971-4978.
- 115. Kaltsoyannis, N.; Mountford, P. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1999, 781-790.
- 116. Vasisht, S. K.; Sharma, R.; Goyal, V. Indian J. Chem., Sect. A. 1985, 24A, 37-39.
- 117. Nielson, A. J. Inorg. Chim. Acta. 1988, 154, 177-182.
- 118. Wollert, R.; Wocadlo, S.; Dehnicke, K.; Goesmann, H.; Fenske, D. Z. Naturforsch., B: Chem. Sci. 1992, 47, 1386–1392.
- 119. Roesky, H. W.; Voelker, H.; Witt, M.; Noltemeyer, M. Angew. Chem. 1990, 102, 712-713.
- 120. Roesky, H. W.; Raubold, T.; Witt, M.; Bohra, R.; Noltemeyer, M. Chem. Ber. 1991, 124, 1521-1523.
- 121. Hill, J. E.; Profilet, R. D.; Fanwick, P. E.; Rothwell, I. P. Angew. Chem. 1990, 102, 713-715.
- 122. Hill, J. E.; Fanwick, P. E.; Rothwell, I. P. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 1143-1144.
- 123. Zambrano, C. H.; Profilet, R. D.; Hill, J. E.; Fanwick, P. E.; Rothwell, I. P. Polyhedron. 1993, 12, 689-708.
- 124. Duchateau, R.; Williams, A. J.; Gambarotta, S.; Chiang, M. Y. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 4863–4866.
- 125. Cummins, C. C.; Schaller, C. P.; Van Duyne, G. D.; Wolczanski, P. T.; Chan, A. W. E.; Hoffmann, R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 2985–2994.
- 126. Bennett, J. L.; Wolczanski, P. T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 10696-10719.
- 127. Bennett, J. L.; Wolczanski, P. T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 2179-2180.
- 128. Lewkebandara, T. S.; Sheridan, P. H.; Heeg, M. J.; Rheingold, A. L.; Winter, C. H. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 5879–5889.
- 129. Winter, C. H.; Sheridan, P. H.; Lewkebandara, T. S.; Heeg, M. J.; Proscia, J. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 1095–1097.
- 130. McKarns, P. J.; Yap, G. P. A.; Rheingold, A. L.; Winter, C. H. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 5968-5969.
- 131. Ovchinnikov, Y. E.; Ustinov, M. V.; Igonin, V. A.; Struchkov, Y. T.; Kalikhman, I. D.; Voronkov, M. G. J. Organomet. Chem. 1993, 461, 75–80.
- 132. Blake, A. J.; Collier, P. E.; Dunn, S. C.; Li, W.-S.; Mountford, P.; Shishkin, O. V. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1997, 1549–1558.
- 133. Dunn, S. C.; Batsanov, A. S.; Mountford, P. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1994, 2007–2008.
- 134. Dunn, S. C.; Mountford, P.; Shishkin, O. V. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 1006-1012.
- 135. Mountford, P.; Swallow, D. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1995, 2357-2359.
- 136. Swallow, D.; McInnes, J. M.; Mountford, P. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1998, 2253–2260.
- 137. Berreau, L. M.; Young, V. G., Jr.; Woo, L. K. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 527-529.
- 138. Collier, P. E.; Dunn, S. C.; Mountford, P.; Shishkin, O. V.; Swallow, D. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1995, 3743–3745.
- 139. Dorado, I.; Garces, A.; Lopez-Mardomingo, C.; Fajardo, M.; Rodriguez, A.; Antinolo, A.; Otero, A. Dalton 2000, 2375–2382.

- 140. McInnes, J. M.; Blake, A. J.; Mountford, P. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1998, 3623-3628.
- 141. Mommertz, A.; Leo, R.; Massa, W.; Dehnicke, K. Z. Naturforsch., B: Chem. Sci. 1998, 53, 887-892.
- 142. Wilson, P. J.; Blake, A. J.; Schroder, M. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 1998, 1007-1008.
- 143. Wilson, P. J.; Cooke, P. A.; Blake, A. J.; Mountford, P.; Schroder, M. New J. Chem. 1999, 23, 271-273.
- 144. Male, N. A. H.; Skinner, M. E. G.; Bylikin, S. Y.; Wilson, P. J.; Mountford, P.; Schroeder, M. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 5483-5491.
- 145. Male, N. A. H.; Skinner, M. E. G.; Wilson, P. J.; Mountford, P.; Schroder, M. New J. Chem. 2000, 24, 575-577.
- 146. Gardner, J. D.; Robson, D. A.; Rees, L. H.; Mountford, P. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 820-824.
- 147. Collier, P. E.; Blake, A. J.; Mountford, P. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1997, 2911-2919.
- 148. Stewart, P. J.; Blake, A. J.; Mountford, P. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 3616-3622.
- 149. Cotton, F. A.; Wojtczak, W. A. Polyhedron. 1994, 13, 1337-1341.
- 150. Mueller, E.; Mueller, J.; Olbrich, F.; Brueser, W.; Knapp, W.; Abeln, D.; Edelmann, F. T. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 87-91.
- 151. Huang, J.-H.; Chi, L.-S.; Huang, F.-M.; Kuo, P.-C.; Zhou, C.-C.; Lee, G.-H.; Peng, S.-M. J. Chin. Chem. Soc. (Taipei) 2000, 47, 895-900.
- 152. Blake, A. J.; Mountford, P.; Nikonov, G. I.; Swallow, D. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 1996, 1835-1836.
- 153. Blake, A. J.; Collier, P. E.; Gade, L. H.; McPartlin, M.; Mountford, P.; Schubart, M.; Scowen, I. J. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 1997, 1555–1556.
- 154. Cloke, F. G. N.; Hitchcock, P. B.; Nixon, J. F.; James Wilson, D.; Mountford, P. Chemical Communications (Cambridge) 1999, 661-662.
- 155. Pugh, S. M.; Troesch, D. J. M.; Wilson, D. J.; Bashall, A.; Cloke, F. G. N.; Gade, L. H.; Hitchcock, P. B.; McPartlin, M.; Nixon, J. F.; Mountford, P. Organometallics 2000, 19, 3205-3210.
- 156. Troesch, D. J. M.; Collier, P. E.; Bashall, A.; Gade, L. H.; McPartlin, M.; Mountford, P.; Radojevic, S. Organometallics 2001, 20, 3308-3313.
- 157. Bashall, A.; Collier, P. E.; Gade, L. H.; McPartlin, M.; Mountford, P.; Pugh, S. M.; Radojevic, S.; Schubart, M.; Scowen, I. J.; Troesch, D. J. M. Organometallics 2000, 19, 4784-4794.
- 158. Gorsi, B. L.; Mehrotra, R. C. J. Indian Chem. Soc. 1984, 61, 189-190.
- 159. Fenske, D.; Hartmann, E.; Dehnicke, K. Z. Naturforsch., B: Chem. Sci. 1988, 43, 1611-1615.
- 160. Roesky, H. W.; Meller, B.; Noltemeyer, M.; Schmidt, H. G.; Scholz, U.; Sheldrick, G. M. Chem. Ber. 1988, 121, 1403-1406.
- 161. Flores, J. C.; Chien, J. C. W.; Rausch, M. D. Organometallics 1995, 14, 1827-1833.
- 162. Theile, K.-H.; Windisch, H.; Windisch, H.; Edelmann, F. T.; Kilimann, U.; Noltemeyer, M. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1996, 622, 713-716.
- 163. Flores, J. C.; Chien, J. C. W.; Rausch, M. D. Organometallics 1995, 14, 2106-2108.
- 164. Littke, A.; Sleiman, N.; Bensimon, C.; Richeson, D. S.; Yap, G. P. A.; Brown, S. J. Organometallics 1998, 17, 446-451.
- 165. Richter, J.; Edelmann, F. T.; Noltemeyer, M.; Schmidt, H.-G.; Shmulinson, M.; Eisen, M. S. J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem. 1998, 130, 149-162.
- 166. Witt, M.; Noltemeyer, M.; Schmidt, H. G.; Lubben, T.; Roesky, H. W. J. Organomet. Chem. 1999, 591, 138-147.
- 167. Roesky, H. W.; Mainz, B.; Noltemeyer, M. Z. Naturforsch., B: Chem. Sci. 1990, 45, 53-58.
- 168. Guzei, I. A.; Winter, C. H. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 4415-4420.
- 169. Yelamos, C.; Heeg, M. J.; Winter, C. H. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 3892-3894.
- 170. Yelamos, C.; Heeg, M. J.; Winter, C. H. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 1871-1878.
- 171. Kempe, R.; Arndt, P. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 2644-2649.
- 172. Fuhrmann, H.; Brenner, S.; Arndt, P.; Kempe, R. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 6742-6745.
- 173. Polamo, M.; Leskelka, M. Acta Crystallogr., Sect. C: Cryst. Struct. Commun. 1996, C52, 2975-2977.
- 174. Kempe, R.; Oberthur, M.; Spannenberg, A. Z. Kristallogr. New Cryst. Struct. 1997, 212, 481-482.
- 175. Ascenso, J. R.; de Azevedo, C. G.; Dias, A. R.; Duarte, M. T.; Eleuterio, I.; Ferreira, M. J.; Gomes, P. T.; Martins, A. M. J. Organomet. Chem. 2001, 632, 17-26.
- 176. Steinhuebel, D. P.; Lippard, S. J. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 6225-6233.
- 177. Steinhuebel, D. P.; Lippard, S. J. Organometallics 1999, 18, 109-111.
- 178. Bar-Haim, G.; Shach, R.; Kol, M. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 1997, 229-230.
- 179. Bandini, M.; Cozzi, P. G.; Negro, L.; Umani-Ronchi, A. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 1999, 39-40.
- 180. Herrmann, W. A.; Denk, M.; Albach, R. W.; Behm, J.; Herdtweck, E. Chem. Ber. 1991, 124, 683-689.
- 181. Tinkler, S.; Deeth, R. J.; Duncalf, D. J.; McCamley, A. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 1996, 2623–2624.
- 182. Scollard, J. D.; McConville, D. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 10008-10009.
- 183. Scollard, J. D.; McConville, D. H.; Payne, N. C.; Vittal, J. J. Macromolecules 1996, 29, 5241-5243.
- 184. Scollard, J. D.; McConville, D. H.; Vittal, J. J.; Payne, N. C. J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem. 1998, 128, 201-214.
- 185. Scollard, J. D.; McConville, D. H.; Rettig, S. J. Organometallics 1997, 16, 1810-1812.
- 186. Tsuie, B.; Swenson, D. C.; Jordan, R. F.; Petersen, J. L. Organometallics 1997, 16, 1392-1400.
- 187. Nomura, K.; Naga, N.; Takaoki, K.; Imai, A. J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem. 1998, 130, L209-L213.
- 188. Lee, C. H.; La, Y.-H.; Park, S. J.; Park, J. W. Organometallics 1998, 17, 3648-3655.
- 189. Lorber, C.; Donnadieu, B.; Choukroun, R. Organometallics 2000, 19, 1963-1966.
- Nomura, K.; Naga, N.; Takaoki, K. Macromolecules 1998, 31, 8009–8015.
 Nomura, K.; Oya, K.; Imanishi, Y. Polymer 2000, 41, 2755–2764.
- 192. Jeon, Y.-M.; Heo, J.; Lee, W. M.; Chang, T.; Kim, K. Organometallics 1999, 18, 4107-4113.
- 193. Warren, T. H.; Schrock, R. R.; Davis, W. M. Organometallics 1996, 15, 562-569.
- 194. Warren, T. H.; Schrock, R. R.; Davis, W. M. Organometallics 1998, 17, 308-321.
- 195. Koch, H. J.; Roesky, H. W.; Bohra, R.; Noltemeyer, M.; Schmidt, H. G. Angew. Chem. 1992, 104, 612-613 (See also Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl., 1992, 1931(1995), 1598-1999.
- 196. Fest, D.; Habben, C. D.; Meller, A.; Sheldrick, G. M.; Stalke, D.; Pauer, F. Chem. Ber. 1990, 123, 703-706.
- 197. Patton, J. T.; Feng, S. G.; Abboud, K. A. Organometallics 2001, 20, 3399-3405.
- 198. Jaeger, F.; Roesky, H. W.; Dorn, H.; Shah, S.; Noltemeyer, M.; Schmidt, H. G. Chem. Ber./Recl. 1997, 130, 399-403.

- 199. Jones, R. A.; Seeberger, M. H.; Atwood, J. L.; Hunter, W. E. J. Organomet. Chem. 1983, 247, 1-6.
- 200. Buheitel, R.; Milius, W.; Schnick, W. Z. Naturforsch., B: Chem. Sci. 1996, 51, 1141-1144.
- 201. Kim, S.-J.; Jung, I. N.; Yoo, B. R.; Kim, S. H.; Ko, J.; Byun, D.; Kang, S. O. Organometallics 2001, 20, 2136-2144.
- 202. Siddiqi, K. S.; Aqra, F. M. A. M.; Zaidi, S. A. A. Transition Met. Chem. (London) 1993, 18, 420-422.
- 203. Siddiqi, K. S.; Aqra, F. M. A. M.; Shah, S. A.; Zaidi, S. A. A.; Casabo, J.; Teixidor, F. Polyhedron 1993, 12, 949-953.
- 204. Siddiqi, K. S.; Aqra, F. M. A. M.; Shah, S. A.; Zaidi, S. A. A. Synth. React. Inorg. Met.-Org. Chem. 1993, 23, 1435-1444.
- 205. Siddiqi, K. S.; Aqra, F. M.d.A. M. d.; Shah, S. A.; Zaidi, S. A. A. Transition Met. Chem. (London) 1994, 19, 305-306.
- 206. Larsen, A. O.; Taylor, R. A.; White, P. S.; Gagne, M. R. Organometallics 1999, 18, 5157-5162.
- 207. Shafir, A.; Power, M. P.; Whitener, G. D.; Arnold, J. Organometallics 2001, 20, 1365-1369.
- 208. Siemeling, U.; Kuhnert, O.; Neumann, B.; Stammler, A.; Stammler, H.-G.; Bildstein, B.; Malaun, M.; Zanello, P. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 913-916.
- 209. Jeske, P.; Haselhorst, G.; Weyhermueller, T.; Wieghardt, K.; Nuber, B. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 2462-2471
- 210. Fryzuk, M. D.; Hoffman, V.; Kickham, J. E.; Rettig, S. J.; Gambarotta, S. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 3480-3484.
- 211. LeCloux, D. D.; Keyes, M. C.; Osawa, M.; Reynolds, V.; Tolman, W. B. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 6361-6368.
- Oshiki, T.; Mashima, K.; Kawamura, S.-i.; Tani, K.; Kitaura, K. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 2000, 73, 1735–1748.
 Ipaktschi, J.; Sulzbach, W. J. Organomet. Chem. 1992, 426, 59–70.
- 214. Ipaktschi, J.; Sulzbach, W. J. Organomet. Chem. 1992, 434, 287-302.
- 215. Lawrence, S. C.; Skinner, M. E. G.; Green, J. C.; Mountford, P. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 2001, 705-706.
- 216. Friedrich, S.; Gade, L. H.; Edwards, A. J.; McPartlin, M. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1993, 2861-2862.
- 217. Guerin, F.; McConville, D. H.; Payne, N. C. Organometallics 1996, 15, 5085-5089.
- 218. Kang, K. K.; Hong, S.-P.; Jeong, Y.-T.; Shiono, T.; Ikeda, T. J. Polym. Sci., Part A: Polym. Chem. 1999, 37, 3756-3762.
- 219. Clark, H. C. S.; Cloke, F. G. N.; Hitchcock, P. B.; Love, J. B.; Wainwright, A. P. J. Organomet. Chem. 1995, 501, 333-340.
- 220. Liang, L.-C.; Schrock, R. R.; Davis, W. M.; McConville, D. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 5797-5798.
- 221. Harris, S. A.; Ciszewski, J. T.; Odom, A. L. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 1987-1988.
- 222. Collier, P. E.; Pugh, S. M.; Clark, H. S. C.; Love, J. B.; Blake, A. J.; Cloke, F. G. N.; Mountford, P. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 2001-2005.
- 223. Blake, A. J.; Collier, P. E.; Gade, L. H.; Mountford, P.; Lloyd, J.; Pugh, S. M.; Schubart, M.; Skinner, M. E. G.; Troesch, D. J. M. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 870-877.
- Cloke, F. G. N.; Hitchcock, P. B.; Nixon, J. F.; James Wilson, D.; Tabellion, F.; Fischbeck, U.; Preuss, F.; Regitz, M.; 224. Nyulaszi, L. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 1999, 2363-2364.
- 225. Naiini, A. A.; Menge, W. M. P. B.; Verkade, J. G. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 5009-5012.
- 226. Cummins, C. C.; Schrock, R. R.; Davis, W. M. Organometallics 1992, 11, 1452-1454.
- 227. Cummins, C. C.; Lee, J.; Schrock, R. R.; Davis, W. M. Angew. Chem. 1992, 104, 1510–1512 (See also Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl., 1992, 1531(1511), 1501-1513.
- 228. Schubart, M.; O'Dwyer, L.; Gade, L. H.; Li, W.-S.; McPartlin, M. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 3893-3898.
- 229. Schrock, R. R.; Cummins, C. C.; Wilhelm, T.; Lin, S.; Reid, S. M.; Kol, M.; Davis, W. M. Organometallics 1996, 15, 1470-1476.
- 230. Pinkas, J.; Wang, T.; Jacobson, R. A.; Verkade, J. G. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 5244-5253.
- 231. Schubart, M.; O'Dwyer, L.; Gade, L. H.; Li, W.-S.; McPartlin, M. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 4290.
- 232. Friedrich, S.; Gade, L. H.; Edwards, A. J.; McPartlin, M. Chem. Ber. 1993, 126, 1797-1805.
- 233. Memmler, H.; Gade, L. H.; Lauher, J. W. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 3064-3071.
- 234. Findeis, B.; Schubart, M.; Gade, L. H.; Moeller, F.; Scowen, I.; McPartlin, M. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1996, 125-132.
- 235. Schubart, M.; Findeis, B.; Gade, L. H.; Li, W.-S.; McPartlin, M. Chem. Ber. 1995, 128, 329-334.
- 236. Friedrich, S.; Gade, L. H.; Li, W.-S.; McPartlin, M. Chem. Ber. 1996, 129, 1287-1291.
- 237. Renner, P.; Galka, C. H.; Gade, L. H.; Radojevic, S.; McPartlin, M. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 1425-1430.
- 238. Gade, L. H.; Renner, P.; Memmler, H.; Fecher, F.; Galka, C. H.; Laubender, M.; Radojevic, S.; McPartlin, M.; Lauher, J. W. Chem.Eur. J. 2001, 7, 2563-2580.
- 239. Goedken, V. L.; Ladd, J. A. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1982, 142-144.
- 240. De Angelis, S.; Solari, E.; Gallo, E.; Floriani, C.; Chiesi-Villa, A.; Rizzoli, C. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 2520-2527.
- 241. Housmekerides, C. E.; Pilato, R. S.; Geoffroy, G. L.; Rheingold, A. L. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1991, 563-566.
- 242. Housmekerides, C. E.; Ramage, D. L.; Kretz, C. M.; Shontz, J. T.; Pilato, R. S.; Geoffroy, G. L.; Rheingold, A. L.; Haggerty, B. S. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 4453-4468.
- 243. Yang, C. H.; Ladd, J. A.; Goedken, V. L. J. Coord. Chem. 1988, 19, 235-251.
- 244. Kisko, J. L.; Hascall, T.; Parkin, G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 7609-7610.
- 245. Davies, D. L.; Grist, A. J. Inorg. Chim. Acta. 1995, 236, 89-93.
- 246. Lloyd, J.; Vatsadze, S. Z.; Robson, D. A.; Blake, A. J.; Mountford, P. J. Organomet. Chem. 1999, 591, 114-126.
- 247. Steinhuebel, D. P.; Lippard, S. J. Organometallics 1999, 18, 3959-3961.
- 248. Oberthuer, M.; Arndt, P.; Kempe, R. Chem. Ber. 1996, 129, 1087-1091.
- 249. Oberthuer, M.; Hillebrand, G.; Arndt, P.; Kempe, R. Chem. Ber./Recl. 1997, 130, 789-794.
- 250. Spannenberg, A.; Arndt, P.; Oberthuer, M.; Kempe, R. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1997, 623, 389-393.
- 251. Skinner, M. E. G.; Cowhig, D. A.; Mountford, P. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 2000, 1167-1168.
- Inamo, M.; Funahashi, S.; Tanaka, M. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1983, 76, L93–L94.
 Inamo, M.; Funahashi, S.; Tanaka, M. Inorg. Chem. 1983, 22, 3734–3737.
- 254. Inamo, M.; Funahashi, S.; Tanaka, M. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1986, 59, 2629-2630.
- 255. Ledon, H. J.; Varescon, F. Inorg. Chem. 1984, 23, 2735-2737.
- 256. Miksztal, A. R.; Valentine, J. S. Inorg. Chem. 1984, 23, 3548-3552.
- 257. Guilard, R.; Lecomte, C. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1985, 65, 87-113.

- 258. Ozawa, T.; Hanaki, A. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1988, 141, 49-51.
- 259. Mansour, E. M. K.; Maillard, P.; Krausz, P.; Gaspard, S.; Giannotti, C. J. Mol. Catal. 1987, 41, 361-366.
- 260. Aida, T.; Inoue, S. Acc. Chem. Res. 1996, 29, 39-48.
- 261. Sisemore, M. F.; Selke, M.; Burstyn, J. N.; Valentine, J. S. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 979-984.
- 262. Ratti, C.; Tabard, P. R. A.; Guilard, R. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1989, 69-70.
- 263. Guilard, R.; Ratti, C.; Tabard, A.; Richard, P.; Dubois, D.; Kadish, K. M. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 2532-2540.
- 264. Marchon, J. C.; Latour, J. M.; Grand, A.; Belakhovsky, M.; Loos, M.; Goulon, J. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 57-67.
- 265. Esser, P. E.; Englert, U.; Keim, W. Chem. Ber. 1996, 129, 833-836.
- 266. Gray, S. D.; Thorman, J. L.; Adamian, V.; Kadish, K. M.; Woo, L. K. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 1-4.
- 267. Hoshino, M.; Imamura, M.; Watanabe, S.; Hama, Y. J. Phys. Chem. 1984, 88, 45-49.
- 268. Malinski, T.; Chang, D.; Latour, J. M.; Marchon, J. C.; Gross, M.; Giraudeau, A.; Kadish, K. M. Inorg. Chem. 1984, 23, 3947-3955.
- 269. Forest, E.; Marchon, J. C.; Ulrich, J.; Virelizier, H. Inorg. Chem. 1986, 25, 3570-3572.
- 270. Noerlund Christensen, A.; Grand, A.; Lehmann, M. S.; Cox, D. E. Acta Chem. Scand. 1990, 44, 103-105.
- 271. Hoshino, M.; Yamamoto, K.; Lillis, J. P.; Chijimatsu, T.; Uzawa, J. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1994, 132, 235-242.
- 272. Friant, P.; Goulon, J.; Fischer, J.; Ricard, L.; Schappacher, M.; Weiss, R.; Momenteau, M. Nouv. J. Chim. 1985, 9, 33-40.
- 273. DeAngelis, S.; Solari, E.; Floriani, C.; Chiesi-Villa, A.; Rizzoli, C. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1995, 34, 1092–1094.
- 274. Solari, G.; Solari, E.; Lemercier, G.; Floriani, C.; Chiesi-Villa, A.; Rizzoli, C. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 2691-2695.
- 275. Solari, E.; Musso, F.; Floriani, C.; Chiesi-Villa, A.; Rizzoli, C. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1994, 2015–2017.
- 276. Crescenzi, R.; Solari, E.; Floriani, C.; Re, N.; Chiesi-Villa, A.; Rizzoli, C. Organometallics 1999, 18, 606-618.
- 277. Crescenzi, R.; Solari, E.; Floriani, C.; Chiesi-Villa, A.; Rizzoli, C. Organometallics 1996, 15, 5456-5458.
- 278. Goedken, V. L.; Dessy, G.; Ercolani, C.; Fares, V. Inorg. Chem. 1985, 24, 991-995.
- 279. Ercolani, C.; Paoletti, A. M.; Pennesi, G.; Rossi, G.; Chiesi-Villa, A.; Rizzoli, C. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1990, 1971-1977.
- 280. Capobianchi, A.; Ercolani, C.; Paoletti, A. M.; Pennesi, G.; Rossi, G.; Chiesi-Villa, A.; Rizzoli, C. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 4605-4611.
- 281. Law, W.-F.; Liu, R. C. W.; Jiang, J.; Ng, D. K. P. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1997, 256, 147-150.
- 282. Yao, J.; Yonehara, H.; Pac, C. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1995, 68, 1001-1005.
- 283. Barthel, M.; Hanack, M. J. Porphyrins Phthalocyanines 2000, 4, 635-638.
- 284. Kobayashi, N.; Muranaka, A.; Ishii, K. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 2256-2257.
- 285. Harazono, T.; Takagishi, I. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1993, 66, 1016-1023.
- 286. Henari, F.; Davey, A.; Blau, W.; Haisch, P.; Hanack, M. J. Porphyrins Phthalocyanines 1999, 3, 331-338.
- 287. Mizuguchi, J.; Rihs, G.; Karfunkel, H. R. J. Phys. Chem. 1995, 99, 16217-16227.
- 288. Yamashita, A.; Maruno, T.; Hayashi, T. J. Phys. Chem. 1993, 97, 4567-4569.
- 289. Zhou, J.; Wang, Y.; Qiu, J.; Cai, L.; Ren, D.; Di, Z. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 1996, 2555–2556.
- 290. Saito, T.; Iwakabe, Y.; Kobayashi, T.; Suzuki, S.; Iwayanagi, T. J. Phys. Chem. 1994, 98, 2726–2728.
- 291. Kakui, M.; Yokoyama, K.; Yokoyama, M. Chem. Lett. 1991, 867-870.
- 292. Law, W.-F.; Lui, K. M.; Ng, D. K. P. J. Mater. Chem. 1997, 7, 2063-2067.
- 293. Saito, T.; Sisk, W.; Kobayashi, T.; Suzuki, S.; Iwayanagi, T. J. Phys. Chem. 1993, 97, 8026-8031.
- 294. Nalwa, H. S.; Saito, T.; Kakuta, A.; Iwayanagi, T. J. Phys. Chem. 1993, 97, 10515-10517.
- 295. Scrocco, M.; Paoletti, A. M.; Ercolani, C. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 4788-4790.
- 296. Klofta, T. J.; Danziger, J.; Lee, P.; Pankow, J.; Nebesny, K. W.; Armstrong, N. R. J. Phys. Chem. 1987, 91, 5646-5651.
- 297. Law, K. Y. Chem. Rev. 1993, 93, 449-486.
- 298. Haisch, P.; Winter, G.; Hanack, M.; Luer, L.; Egelhaaf, H. J.; Oelkrug, D. Adv. Mater. (Weinheim, Ger.) 1997, 9, 316-321.
- 299. Winter, G.; Heckmann, H.; Haisch, P.; Eberhardt, W.; Hanack, M.; Lueer, L.; Egelhaaf, H.-J.; Oelkrug, D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 11663-11673.
- 300. Bannehr, R.; Jaeger, N.; Meyer, G.; Woehrle, D. Makromol. Chem. 1981, 182, 2633-2639.
- 301. Van der Pol, J. F.; Neeleman, E.; Van Miltenburg, J. C.; Zwikker, J. W.; Nolte, R. J. M.; Drenth, W. Macromolecules 1990, 23, 155-162.
- 302. Wohrle, D.; Suvorova, O. N.; Trombach, N.; Schupak, E. A.; Gerdes, R.; Semenov, N. M.; Bartels, O.; Zakurazhnov, A. A.; Schnurpfeil, G.; Hild, O.; Wendt, A. J. Porphyrins Phthalocyanines 2001, 5, 381-389.
- 303. Han, D. S.; Li, Y.-J.; Kim, J. S.; Kim, E. Synth. Met. 1999, 101, 62-63.
- 304. Ogawa, K.; Yao, J.; Yonehara, H.; Pac, C. J. Mater. Chem. 1996, 6, 143-148.
- 305. Han, D. S.; Lee, Y. J.; Kim, J. S.; Kim, E. Synth. Met. 2001, 117, 203-205.
- 306. Liu, W.; Wang, Y.; Gui, L.; Tang, Y. Langmuir 1999, 15, 2130-2133.
- 307. Olmstead, M. M.; Power, P. P.; Viggiano, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1983, 105, 2927-2928.
- 308. Duan, Z.; Verkade, J. G. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 4311-4316.
- 309. Hillebrand, G.; Spannenberg, A.; Arndt, P.; Kempe, R. Organometallics **1997**, *16*, 5585–5588. 310. Lewkebandara, T. S.; Proscia, J. W.; Winter, C. H. Chem. Mater. **1995**, *7*, 1053–1054.
- 311. Cotton, F. A.; Matonic, J. H.; Murillo, C. A.; Petrukhina, M. A. Inorg. Chim. Acta. 1998, 267, 173-176.
- 312. Cotton, F. A.; Murillo, C. A.; Petrukhina, M. A. J. Organomet. Chem. 1999, 573, 78-86.
- 313. Lis, T.; Ejfler, J.; Utko, J.; Sobota, P. Pol. J. Chem. 1992, 66, 93-99.
- 314. Manzer, L. E. Inorg. Synth. 1982, 21, 135-140.
- 315. Gordon, D.; Wallbridge, M. G. H. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1984, 88, 15-20.
- 316. Cozzi, P. G.; Solari, E.; Floriani, C.; Chiesi-Villa, A.; Rizzoli, C. Chem. Ber. 1996, 129, 1361-1368.
- 317. Poll, T.; Metter, J. O.; Helmchen, G. Angew. Chem. 1985, 97, 116-118.
- 318. Sobota, P.; Utko, J.; Lis, T. J. Organomet. Chem. 1990, 393, 349-358.
- 319. Sobota, P.; Szafert, S.; Utko, J.; Lis, T. J. Organomet. Chem. 1992, 423, 195-210.
- 320. Sobota, P.; Szafert, S.; Lis, T. J. Organomet. Chem. 1993, 443, 85-91.
- 321. Kakkonen, H. J.; Pursiainen, J.; Pakkanen, T. A.; Ahlgren, M.; Iiskola, E. J. Organomet. Chem. 1993, 453, 175-184.
- 322. Sobota, P.; Szafert, S.; Glowiak, T. Journal of Organomet. Chem. 1996, 526, 329-333.

- 323. Sobota, P.; Wroblewska, M.; Szafert, S.; Glowiak, T. J. Organomet. Chem. 1994, 481, 57-62.
- 324. Lis, T.; Utko, J.; Sobota, P. Acta Crystallogr., Sect. C: Cryst. Struct. Commun. 1993, C49, 2089-2091.
- 325. Sobota, P.; Utko, J.; Lis, T. J. Organomet. Chem. 1991, 417, 389-396.
- 326. Utko, J.; Sobota, P.; Lis, T. J. Organomet. Chem. 1987, 334, 341-345.
- 327. Utko, J.; Sobota, P.; Lis, T. J. Organomet. Chem. 1989, 373, 63-69.
- 328. Sobota, P.; Utko, J.; Lis, T. J. Organomet. Chem. 1993, 447, 213-220.
- 329. Albanese, J. A.; Staley, D. L.; Rheingold, A. L.; Burmeister, J. L. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 2209-2213.
- 330. Maier, G.; Seipp, U.; Boese, R. Tetrahedron Lett. 1987, 28, 4515-4516.
- 331. Carofiglio, T.; Cozzi, P. G.; Floriani, C.; Chiesi-Villa, A.; Rizzoli, C. Organometallics. 1993, 12, 2726-2736.
- 332. Quinkert, G.; Becker, H.; Del Grosso, M.; Dambacher, G.; Bats, J. W.; Durner, G. Tetrahedron Lett. 1993, 34, 6885-6888.
- 333. Maier, G.; Kalinowski, H.-O.; Weber, C.; Henrich, M. Magn. Reson. Chem. 1995, 33, 290-296.
- 334. Maier, G.; Seipp, U.; Kalinowski, H.-O.; Henrich, M. Chem. Ber. 1994, 127, 1427-1436.
- 335. Clayden, N. J.; Holmes, S.; Jones, P. J. V. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1988, 1289-1291.
- 336. Clayden, N. J.; Jones, P. J. V. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 2 1990, 175-178.
- 337. Assfeld, X.; Garcia, J.; Garcia, J. I.; Mayoral, J. A.; Proietti, M. G.; Ruiz-Lopez, M. F.; Sanchez, M. C. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1994, 2165-2166.
- 338. Assfeld, X.; Garcia, J.; Garcia, J. I.; Mayoral, J. A.; Proietti, M. G.; Ruiz-Lopez, M. F.; Sanchez, M. C. J. Org. Chem. 1996, 61, 1636-1642.
- 339. Branchadell, V.; Oliva, A. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 3433-3439.
- 340. Jonas, V.; Frenking, G.; Reetz, M. T. Organometallics 1993, 12, 2111-2120.
- 341. Bott, S. G.; Prinz, H.; Alvanipour, A.; Atwood, J. L. J. Coord. Chem. 1987, 16, 303-309.
- 342. Alvanipour, A.; Atwood, J. L.; Bott, S. G.; Junk, P. C.; Kynast, U. H.; Prinz, H. J. Chem.Soc., Dalton Trans.: Inorg. Chem. 1998, 1223-1228.
- 343. Plate, M.; Frenzen, G.; Dehnicke, K. Z. Naturforsch., B: Chem. Sci. 1993, 48, 149-155.
- 344. Willey, G. R.; Palin, J.; Alcock, N. W. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1992, 1117-1120.
- 345. Clegg, W.; O'Neil, P. A.; Henderson, K. W.; Mulvey, R. E. Acta Crystallogr., Sect. C: Cryst. Struct. Commun. 1993, C49, 2108-2109.
- 346. Solari, E.; Floriani, C.; Schenk, K. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1990, 963-964.
- 347. Roesky, H. W.; Emmert, R.; Gries, T. Chem. Ber. 1984, 117, 404-407.
- 348. Cameron, M.; Gowenlock, B. G. Polyhedron 1992, 11, 2781-2782.
- 349. Agrawal, R. K.; Rawat, H. K. J. Inst. Chem. (India). 1988, 60, 93-94.
- 350. Muro, C.; Fernandez, V. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1987, 134, 215-219.
- 351. Calderazzo, F.; D'Attoma, M.; Marchetti, F.; Pampaloni, G.; Troyanov, S. I. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1999, 2275-2278.
- 352. Airoldi, C.; Bradley, D. C.; Chudzynska, H.; Hursthouse, M. B.; Malik, K. M. A.; Raithby, P. R. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1980, 2010-2015.
- 353. Yuchi, A.; Shiro, M.; Wada, H.; Nakagawa, G. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1991, 64, 760-765.
- 354. Oppolzer, W.; Rodriguez, I.; Blagg, J.; Bernardinelli, G. Helv. Chim. Acta 1989, 72, 123-130.
- Springer, J. B.; Corcoran, R. C. J. Org. Chem. 1996, 61, 1443–1448.
 Danishefsky, S. J.; Myles, D. C.; Harvey, D. F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 862–867.
 Andersen, N. H.; Hadley, S. W.; Kelly, J. D.; Bacon, E. R. J. Org. Chem. 1985, 50, 4144–4151.
- 358. Hosomi, A.; Imai, T.; Endo, M.; Sakurai, H. J. Organomet. Chem. 1985, 285, 95-107.
- 359. Friedrich, E. C.; Lunetta, S. E.; Lewis, E. J. J. Org. Chem. 1989, 54, 2388-2390.
- 360. Kataoka, T.; Iwama, T.; Tsujiyama, S.-i. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 1998, 197-198.
- 361. Heathcock, C. H.; Davidsen, S. K.; Hug, K. T.; Flippin, L. A. J. Org. Chem. 1986, 51, 3027-3037.
- 362. Mahrwald, R. Chem. Ber. 1995, 128, 919-921.
- 363. Cozzi, P. G.; Floriani, C.; Chiesi-Villa, A.; Rizzoli, C. Organometallics 1994, 13, 2131-2134.
- 364. Ballini, R.; Bosica, G.; Marcantoni, E.; Vita, P.; Bartoli, G. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 65, 5854-5857.
- 365. Keck, G. E.; Castellino, S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108, 3847-3849.
- 366. Mimoun, H.; Postel, M.; Casabianca, F.; Fischer, J.; Mitschler, A. Inorg. Chem. 1982, 21, 1303-1306.
- 367. Postel, M.; Casabianca, F.; Gauffreteau, Y.; Fischer, J. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1986, 113, 173-180.
- 368. Tarafder, M. T. H.; Islam, M. S.; Bhattacharjee, P.; Quaraishi, S. B. Indian J. Chem., Sect. A: Inorg., Bio-inorg., Phys., Theor. Anal. Chem. 1994, 33A, 676-678.
- 369. Chaudhuri, M. K.; Das, B.; Lal, R. A. J. Molecular Catalysis 1989, 51, 59.
- 370. Jorgensen, K. A. J. Chem. Soc. Perkin Trans. 1994, 117.
- 371. Reynolds, M. S.; Butler, A. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 2378-2383.
- 372. Boche, G.; Moebus, K.; Harms, K.; Marsch, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 2770-2771.
- 373. Talsi, E. P.; Shalyaev, K. V. J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem. 1996, 105, 131-136.
- 374. Kakihana, M.; Tada, M.; Shiro, M.; Petrykin, V.; Osada, M.; Nakamura, Y. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 891-894.
- 375. Bradley, D. C. Chem. Rev. 1989, 89, 1317-1322.
- 376. Mehrotra, R. C.; Singh, A. Chem. Soc. Rev. 1996, 25, 1-13.
- 377. Mehrotra, R. C.; Singh, A. Prog. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 46, 239-454.
- 378. Turova, N. Y.; Turevskaya, E. P.; Yanovskaya, M. I.; Yanovsky, A. I.; Kessler, V. G.; Tcheboukov, D. E. Polyhedron 1998, 17, 899–915.
- 379. Hubert-Pfalzgraf, L. G. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1998, 178-180, 967-997.
- 380. Veith, M.; Mathur, S.; Mathur, C. Polyhedron 1998, 17, 1005-1034.
- 381. Mehrotra, R. C. Indian J. Chem., Sect. A: Inorg., Bio-inorg., Phys., Theor. Anal. Chem. 1992, 31A, 492-494.
- 382. Mikami, K.; Tereda, M.; Korenaga, T.; Matsumoto, Y.; Ueki, M.; Angeluad, R. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2000, 39, 3532-3556.
- 383. Duthaler, R. O.; Hafner, A. Chem. Rev. 1992, 92, 807-832.
- 384. Kagan, H. B.; Riant, O. Chem. Rev. 1992, 92, 1007-1019.
- 385. Waldmann, H. Synthesis 1994, 535-551.

- 386. Mikami, K.; Shimizu, M. Chem. Rev. 1992, 92, 1021-1050.
- 387. Campbell, C.; Bott, S. G.; Larsen, R.; Van Der Sluys, W. G. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 4950-4958.
- 388. Fisher, J.; Van Der Sluys, W. G.; Huffman, J. C.; Sears, J. Synth. React. Inorg. Met.-Org. Chem. 1993, 23, 479-491.
- 389. Patten, T. E.; Novak, B. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 5065-5066.
- 390. Patten, T. E.; Novak, B. M. Polym. Prepr. (Am. Chem. Soc., Div. Polym. Chem.) 1991, 32, 625-626.
- 391. Patten, T. E.; Novak, B. M. Makromol. Chem., Macromol. Symp. 1993, 67, 203-211.
- 392. Gau, H.-M.; Lee, C.-S.; Lin, C.-C.; Jiang, M.-K.; Ho, Y.-C.; Kuo, C.-N. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 2936-2941.
- 393. Bachand, B.; Wuest, J. D. Organometallics 1991, 10, 2015-2025.
- 394. Wu, Y.-T.; Ho, Y.-C.; Lin, C.-C.; Gau, H.-M. *Inorg. Chem.* 1996, *35*, 5948–5952.
 395. Porri, L.; Ripa, A.; Colombo, P.; Miano, E.; Capelli, S.; Meille, S. V. J. Organomet. Chem. 1996, *514*, 213–217.
- 396. Hwang, T. Y.; Cho, J. Y.; Jiang, M. K.; Gau, H. M. Inorg. Chim. Acta 2000, 303, 190-198.
- 397. Lee, C.-S.; Kuo, C.-N.; Shao, M.-Y.; Gau, H.-M. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1999, 285, 254-261.
- 398. Ho, Y.-C.; Hwang, T.-Y.; Gau, H.-M. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1998, 278, 232-236.
- 399. Lubben, T. V.; Wolczanski, P. T.; Van Duyne, G. D. Organometallics 1984, 3, 977-983.
- 400. Lubben, T. V.; Wolczanski, P. T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1985, 107, 701-703.
- 401. Dobado, J. A.; Molina, J. M.; Uggla, R.; Sundberg, M. R. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 2831-2836.
- 402. Velasco, M. J.; Rubio, F.; Rubio, J.; Oteo, J. L. Spectrosc. Lett. 1999, 32, 289-304.
- 403. Postnikova, I. I.; Khonina, T. G.; Kochneva, N. A.; Suvorov, A. L. Zh. Obshch. Khim. 1996, 66, 1818–1820.
- 404. Boyle, T. J.; Alam, T. M.; Mechenbier, E. R.; Scott, B. L.; Ziller, J. W. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 3293-3300.
- 405. James, S. C.; Norman, N. C.; Orpen, A. G. Acta Crystallogr., Sect. C: Cryst. Struct. Commun. 1998, C54, 1261–1263.
- 406. Chakraborty, D.; Horchler, S.; Roesky, H. W.; Noltemeyer, M.; Schmidt, H.-G. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 3995-3998.
- 407. Winter, C. H.; Sheridan, P. H.; Heeg, M. J. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 1962-1964.
- 408. Day, V. W.; Eberspacher, T. A.; Chen, Y.; Hao, J.; Klemperer, W. G. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1995, 229, 391-405.
- 409. Schormann, M.; Varkey, S. P.; Roesky, H. W.; Noltemeyer, M. J. Organomet. Chem. 2001, 621, 310-316.
- 410. Pandey, A.; Gupta, V. D.; Noth, H. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 1351-1357.
- 411. Barkley, J. V.; Cannadine, J. C.; Hannaford, I.; Harding, M. M.; Steiner, A.; Tallon, J.; Whyman, R. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 1997, 1653-1654.
- 412. Corey, E. J.; Cywin, C. L.; Noe, M. C. Tetrahedron Lett. 1994, 35, 69-72.
- 413. Corden, J. P.; Errington, W.; Moore, P.; Partridge, M. G.; Wallbridge, M. G. H. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1999, 2647-2649.
- 414. Steunou, N.; Dromzee, Y.; Robert, F.; Sanchez, C. Mater. Res. Soc. Symp. Proc. 1996, 435, 487-493.
- 415. Spannenberg, A.; Baumann, W.; Rosenthal, U. Appl. Organomet. Chem. 2000, 14, 611-615.
- 416. Katsuki, T.; Sharpless, K. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1980, 102, 5974-5976.
- 417. Krohn, K.; Khanbabaee, K.; Rieger, H. Chem. Ber. 1990, 123, 1357-1364.
- 418. Krohn, K.; Rieger, H.; Khanbabaee, K. Chem. Ber. 1989, 122, 2323-2330.
- 419. Schulz, M.; Kluge, R.; Schuessler, M.; Hoffmann, G. Tetrahedron 1995, 51, 3175-3180.
- 420. Widler, L.; Seebach, D. Helv. Chim. Acta 1982, 65, 1085-1089.
- 421. Chaudhry, S. C.; Gupta, J. Indian J. Chem., Sect. A 1985, 24A, 150-153.
- 422. Chaudhry, S. C.; Gupta, J.; Sharma, N. J. Indian Chem. Soc. 1993, 70, 152-154.
- 423. Chaudhry, S. C.; Bhatt, S. S.; Sharma, N. Indian J. Chem., Sect. A: Inorg., Bio-inorg., Phys., Theor. Anal. Chem. **1996**, *35A*, 520–522.
- 424. Shah, A.; Singh, A.; Mehrotra, R. C. Polyhedron. 1986, 5, 1285-1290.
- 425. Malhotra, K. C.; Mehta, S.; Gupta, J.; Chaudhry, S. C. J. Indian Chem. Soc. 1988, 65, 153-155.
- 426. Lateskey, S.; Keddington, J.; McMullen, A. K.; Rothwell, I. P.; Huffman, J. C. Inorg. Chem. 1985, 24, 995-1001.
- 427. Dilworth, J. R.; Hanich, J.; Krestel, M.; Beck, J.; Straehle, J. J. Organomet. Chem. 1986, 315, C9-C12.
- 428. Duff, A. W.; Kamarudin, R. A.; Lappert, M. F.; Norton, R. J. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1986, 489-498.
- 429. Gupta, R.; Singh, A.; Mehrotra, R. C. Indian J. Chem., Sect. A. 1990, 29A, 596-598.
- 430. Kanehisa, N.; Kai, Y.; Kasai, N.; Yasuda, H.; Nakayama, Y.; Takei, K.; Nakamura, A. Chem. Lett. 1990, 2167-2170.
- 431. Goyal, M.; Singh, A. Main Group Met. Chem. 1996, 19, 587-597.
- 432. Toth, R. T.; Stephan, D. W. Can. J. Chem. 1991, 69, 172-178.
- 433. Chaudhry, S. C.; Kumar, A.; Bhatt, S. S.; Sharma, N. Synth. React. Inorg. Met.-Org. Chem. 1992, 22, 1-9.
- 434. Shah, A.; Singh, A.; Mehrotra, R. C. Indian J. Chem., Sect. A: Inorg., Bio-inorg., Phys., Theor. Anal. Chem. 1993, 32A, 632-635.
- 435. Malhotra, K. C.; Sharma, N.; Bhatt, S. S.; Chaudhry, S. C. Polyhedron 1992, 11, 2065–2068.
- 436. Matilainen, L.; Klinga, M.; Leskela, M. Polyhedron 1996, 15, 153-156.
- 437. Malhotra, K. C.; Sharma, N.; Bhatt, S. S.; Chaudhry, S. C. J. Indian Chem. Soc. **1994**, 71, 139–141. 438. Malhotra, K. C.; Sharma, N.; Bhatt, S. S.; Chaudhry, S. C. J. Indian Chem. Soc. **1990**, 67, 830–831.
- 439. Yasuda, H.; Nakayama, Y.; Takei, K.; Nakamura, A.; Kai, Y.; Kanehisa, N. J. Organomet. Chem. 1994, 473, 105 - 116.
- 440. Lafuente, M.; Royo, P. Transition Met. Chem. (London) 1989, 14, 237.
- 441. Noeth, H.; Schmidt, M. Organometallics 1995, 14, 4601-4610.
- 442. Larsen, A. O.; White, P. S.; Gagne, M. R. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 4824-4828.
- 443. Gordon, D.; Wallbridge, M. G. H. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1986, 111, 77-81.
- 444. Malhotra, K. C.; Sharma, N.; Chaudhry, S. C. Proc. Indian Natl. Sci. Acad., Part A 1982, 48, 244-247.
- 445. Jones, R. A.; Hefner, J. G.; Wright, T. C. Polyhedron. 1984, 3, 1121-1124.
- 446. Santora, B. P.; Larsen, A. O.; Gagne, M. R. Organometallics 1998, 17, 3138-3140.
- 447. Santora, B. P.; White, P. S.; Gagne, M. R. Organometallics 1999, 18, 2557-2560.
- 448. Hill, J. E.; Fanwick, P. E.; Rothwell, I. P. Inorg. Chem. 1989, 28, 3602-3604.
- 449. Hill, J. E.; Fanwick, P. E.; Rothwell, I. P. Acta Crystallogr., Sect. C: Cryst. Struct. Commun. 1991, C47, 541-544.
- 450. Malhotra, K. C.; Mahajan, K. C.; Chaudhry, S. C. J. Indian Chem. Soc. 1983, 60, 636-639.
- 451. Malhotra, K. C.; Mahajan, K. C.; Chaudhry, S. C. Indian J. Chem., Sect. A. 1984, 23A, 246-247.
- 452. Malhotra, K. C.; Mahajan, K. C.; Chaudhry, S. C. Polyhedron 1984, 3, 125-128.

- 453. Malhotra, K. C.; Mahajan, K. C.; Chaudhry, S. C. J. Indian Chem. Soc. 1984, 61, 658-660.
- 454. Malhotra, K. C.; Mahajan, K. C.; Chaudhry, S. C. *Indian J. Chem., Sect. A* **1984**, *23A*, 614–615. 455. Malhotra, K. C.; Mahajan, K. C.; Chaudhry, S. C. *J. Indian Chem. Soc.* **1985**, *62*, 184–186.
- 456. Saied, O.; Simard, M.; Wuest, J. D. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 2620-2625.
- 457. Covert, K. J.; Wolczanski, P. T. Inorg. Chem. 1989, 28, 4565-4567.
- 458. Covert, K. J.; Mayol, A.-R.; Wolczanski, P. T. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1997, 263, 263-278.
- 459. Bennett, J. L.; Vaid, T. P.; Wolczanski, P. T. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1998, 270, 414-423.
- 460. Slaughter, L. M.; Wolczanski, P. T.; Klinckman, T. R.; Cundari, T. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 7953-7975.
- 461. Schweder, B.; Gorls, H.; Walther, D. Inorg. Chim. Acta. 1999, 286, 14-23.
- 462. Johnson, B. F. G.; Klunduk, M. C.; Martin, C. M.; Sankar, G.; Teate, S. J.; Meurig Thomas, J. J. Organomet. Chem. 2000, 596, 221-225.
- 463. Abbenhuis, H. C. L.; Krijnen, S.; van Santen, R. A. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 1997, 331-332.
- 464. Froneman, M.; Modro, T. A. Tetrahedron Lett. 1988, 29, 3327-3330.
- 465. Lugmair, C. G.; Tilley, T. D. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 1821-1826.
- 466. Van Seggen, D. M.; Hurlburt, P. K.; Anderson, O. P.; Strauss, S. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 10995-10997.
- 467. Sabat, M.; Gross, M. F.; Finn, M. G. Organometallics 1992, 11, 745-751.
- 468. Mehrotra, R. C.; Singh, A. Polyhedron 1998, 17, 689-704.
- 469. Hubert, P.; Liliane, G. Polyhedron 1994, 13, 1181-1195.
- 470. Caulton, K. G.; Hubert-Pfalzgraf, L. G. Chem. Rev. 1990, 90, 969-995.
- 471. Hampden-Smith, M. J.; Williams, D. S.; Rheingold, A. L. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 4076-4081.
- 472. Boyle, T. J.; Bradley, D. C.; Hampden-Smith, M. J.; Patel, A.; Ziller, J. W. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 5893-5899.
- 473. Boyle, T. J.; Alam, T. M.; Tafoya, C. J.; Mechenbier, E. R.; Ziller, J. W. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 2422-2428.
- 474. Day, V. W.; Eberspacher, T. A.; Klemperer, W. G.; Liang, S. Chem. Mater. 1995, 7, 1607-1608.
- 475. Tudyka, S.; Pflanz, K.; Aldinger, F.; Borrmann, H.; Fischer, P.; Brunner, H. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1997, 623, 1163-1167.
- 476. Parola, S.; Papiernik, R.; Hubert-Pfalzgraf, L. G.; Jagner, S.; Hkansson, M. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1997, 4631-4636.
- 477. Veith, M.; Mathur, S.; Huch, V. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 7295-7303.
- 478. Veith, M.; Mathur, S.; Huch, V. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 2391–2399. 479. Veith, M.; Mathur, S.; Huch, V. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 1997, 2197–2198.
- 480. Chandler, C. D.; Hampden-Smith, M. J. Chem. Mater. 1992, 4, 1137-1139.
- 481. Calzada, M. L.; Milne, S. J. J. Mater. Sci. Lett. 1993, 12, 1221-1223.
- 482. Lakeman, C. D. E.; Payne, D. A. J. Am. Ceram. Soc. 1992, 75, 3091-3096.
- 483. Pardo, L.; Calzada, M. L.; Milne, S. J.; Ricote, J.; Jimenez, B. J. Phys. Chem. Solids 1995, 56, 15-25.
- 484. Sirera, R.; Calzada, M. L.; Carmona, F.; Jimenez, B. J. Mater. Sci. Lett. 1994, 13, 1804–1805.
- 485. Yamaguchi, O.; Narai, A.; Komatsu, T.; Shimizu, K. J. Am. Ceram. Soc. 1986, 69, C256-C257.
- 486. Ramamurthi, S. D.; Payne, D. A. Mater. Res. Soc. Symp. Proc. 1990, 180, 79-84.
- 487. Ramamurthi, S. D.; Payne, D. A. J. Am. Ceram. Soc. 1990, 73, 2547-2551.
- 488. Ma, J.; Cheng, H.; Zhao, Z.; Qiang, D. Chem. Mater. 1991, 3, 1006-1009.
- 489. Phillips, N. J.; Milne, S. J. J. Mater. Chem. 1991, 1, 893-894.
- 490. Spiccia, L.; West, B. O.; Zhang, Q. Polyhedron. 1998, 17, 1851-1861.
- 491. Teff, D. J.; Caulton, K. G. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 2554-2562.
- 492. Daniele, S.; Papiernik, R.; Hubert-Pfalzgraf, L. G.; Jagner, S.; Hakansson, M. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 628-632.
- 493. Hubert-Pfalzgraf, L. G.; Daniele, S.; Papiernik, R.; Massiani, M.-C.; Septe, B.; Vaissermann, J.; Daran, J.-C. J. Mater. Chem. 1997, 7, 753-762.
- 494. Gupta, R.; Singh, A.; Mehrotra, R. C. Indian J. Chem., Sect. A: Inorg., Bio-inorg., Phys., Theor. Anal. Chem. 1991, 30A, 592-595.
- 495. Selent, D.; Pickardt, J.; Claus, P. J. Organomet. Chem. 1994, 468, 131-138.
- 496. Day, V. W.; Eberspacher, T. A.; Hao, J.; Klemperer, W. G.; Zhong, B. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 3549-3552.
- 497. Lei, X.; Shang, M.; Fehlner, T. P. Organometallics 1997, 16, 5289-5301.
- 498. Zechmann, C. A.; Huffman, J. C.; Folting, K.; Caulton, K. G. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 5856-5861.
- 499. Moraru, B.; Kickelbick, G.; Schubert, U. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 1295-1301.
- 500. Daniele, S.; Hubert-Pfalzgraf, L. G.; Daran, J. C.; Halut, S. Polyhedron 1994, 13, 927-932.
- 501. Hubert-Pfalzgraf, L. G.; Abada, V.; Vaissermann, J. Polyhedron. 1999, 18, 3497-3504.
- 502. Ferguson, G.; Glidewell, C. Acta Crystallogr., Sect. C: Cryst. Struct. Commun. 2001, C57, 264-265.
- 503. Shao, M.-Y.; Ho, Y.-C.; Gau, H.-M. J. Chin. Chem. Soc. (Taipei) 2000, 47, 901-906.
- 504. Glidewell, C.; Turner, G. M.; Ferguson, G. Acta Crystallogr., Sect. C: Cryst. Struct. Commun. 1996, C52, 11-14.
- 505. Comba, P.; Jakob, H.; Nuber, B.; Keppler, B. K. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 3396-3400.
- 506. Saxena, S.; Singh, Y. P.; Rai, A. K. Synth. React. Inorg. Met.-Org. Chem. 1982, 12, 501-519.
- 507. Matilainen, L.; Klinga, M.; Leskela, M. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1996, 219-225.
- 508. Keppler, B. K.; Friesen, C.; Vogel, E.; Heim, M. E. Met. Ions Biol. Med., Proc. Int. Symp., 2nd 1992, 163-166.
- 509. Leaustic, A.; Babonneau, F.; Livage, J. Chem. Mater. 1989, 1, 240-247.
- 510. Kissa, E. Anal. Chim. Acta 1993, 281, 385-389.
- 511. Serpone, N.; Bickley, D. G. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1982, 57, 211-216.
- 512. Schubert, U.; Buhler, H.; Hirle, B. Chem. Ber. 1992, 125, 999-1003.
- 513. Wang, J.; Miao, F.; Fan, X.; Feng, X.; Wang, J. Acta Crystallogr., Sect. C: Cryst. Struct. Commun. 1990, C46, 1633-1635.
- 514. Jha, N. K.; Jha, R. K.; Bajaj, P. Synth. React. Inorg. Met.-Org. Chem. 1990, 20, 1253-1272.
- 515. Shao, M.-Y.; Gau, H.-M. Organometallics. 1998, 17, 4822-4827.
- 516. Grobe, J.; Zimmermann, H. Z. Naturforsch., B: Anorg. Chem., Org. Chem. 1984, 39B, 808-811.
- 517. Groshens, T. J.; Klabunde, K. J. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 2979-2982.
- 518. Casellato, U.; Tamburini, S.; Vigato, P. A.; De Stefani, A.; Vidali, M.; Fenton, D. E. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1983, 69, 45-51.

- 519. Wrobleski, D. A.; Day, C. S.; Goodman, B. A.; Rauchfuss, T. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1984, 106, 5464-5472.
- 520. Fay, R. C.; Lindmark, A. F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1983, 105, 2118-2127.
- 521. Stich, R.; Weber, L.; Rehorek, D.; Hennig, H. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1991, 600, 211-220.
- 522. Deshpande, S. S.; Awasarkar, P. A.; Gopinathan, S.; Gopinathan, C. Indian J. Chem., Sect. A. 1984, 23A, 957–958.
- 523. Deshpande, S. G.; Jain, S. C. Indian J. Chem., Sect. A. 1990, 29A, 1215-1218.
- 524. Blackburn, C.; Childs, R. F.; Kennedy, R. A. Can. J. Chem. 1983, 61, 1981–1986.
- 525. Alshehri, S.; Burgess, J.; Fawcett, J.; Parsons, S. A.; Russell, D. R. Polyhedron 2000, 19, 399-405.
- 526. Sobota, P.; Przybylak, K.; Utko, J.; Jerzykiewicz, L. B.; Pombeiro, A. J. L.; Da Silva, M. F. C. G.; Szczegot, K. Chem.-Eur. J. 2001, 7, 951–958.
- 527. Kuo, C. N.; Huang, T. Y.; Shao, M. Y.; Gau, H. M. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1999, 293, 12-19.
- 528. Mazzah, A.; Gosink, H. J.; Liebermann, J.; Roesky, H. W. Chem. Ber. 1991, 124, 753-756.
- 529. Riesel, L.; Pauli, J.; Buslaev, Y. A.; Il'in, E. G.; Ignatov, M. E. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1988, 563, 167-172.
- 530. Cross, R. J.; Farrugia, L. J.; Newman, P. D.; Peacock, R. D.; Stirling, D. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1996, 1637–1643.
- 531. Cross, R. J.; Farrugia, L. J.; Newman, P. D.; Peacock, R. D.; Stirling, D. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1996, 4449-4458.
- 532. Reetz, M. T.; Von Itzstein, M. J. Organomet. Chem. 1987, 334, 85-90.
- 533. Siedle, A. R.; Huffman, J. C. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 3131-3134.
- 534. Fourati, M.; Chaabouni, M.; Belin, C. H.; Charbonnel, M.; Pascal, J. L.; Potier, J. Inorg. Chem. 1986, 25, 1386–1390.
- 535. Biradar, N. S.; Divakar, M. C.; Aminabhavi, T. M. Indian J. Chem., Sect. A 1984, 23A, 586-588.
- 536. Chandra, R.; Singh, R. R.; Singh, R. M. Synth. React. Inorg. Met.-Org. Chem. 1992, 22, 311-320.
- 537. Uflyand, I. E.; Kurbatov, V. P.; Pomogailo, A. D. Transition Met. Chem. (London) 1992, 17, 501-505.
- 538. Petz, W. J. Organomet. Chem. 1993, 456, 85-88.
- 539. Puri, J. K.; Miglani, A.; Malhotra, M.; Sharma, V. K. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1990, 170, 103-107.
- 540. Puri, J. K.; Miller, J. M. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1985, 101, 135-140.
- 541. Singh, B.; Narula, A. K.; Kapoor, R. N.; Kapoor, P. N. Indian J. Chem., Sect. A 1983, 22A, 156-158.
- 542. Awasarkar, P. A.; Gopinathan, S. M.; Gopinathan, C. Indian J. Chem., Sect. A 1983, 22A, 1076–1077.
- 543. Kapoor, R.; Bahl, B. K.; Kapoor, P. Indian J. Chem., Sect. A 1986, 25A, 271-274.
- 544. Alcock, N. W.; Brown, D. A.; Illson, T. F.; Roe, S. M.; Wallbridge, M. G. H. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1991, 873-881.
- 545. Alcock, N. W.; Brown, D. A.; Illson, T. F.; Roe, S. M.; Wallbridge, M. G. H. Polyhedron 1989, 8, 1846–1847.
- 546. Yoshino, N.; Shiraishi, Y.; Hirai, H. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1991, 64, 1648-1651.
- 547. Sayilkan, H.; Arpac, E. Chim. Acta Turc. 1994, 22, 213-220.
- 548. Niyogi, D. G.; Singh, S.; Saini, A.; Verma, R. D. J. Fluorine Chem. 1994, 66, 153-158.
- 549. Barrow, H.; Brown, D. A.; Alcock, N. W.; Clase, H. J.; Wallbridge, M. G. H. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1994, 195–199.
- 550. Barrow, H.; Brown, D. A.; Alcock, N. W.; Errington, W.; Wallbridge, M. G. H. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1994, 3533–3538.
- 551. Rogova, T. V.; Yanovskaya, M. I.; Grudtsyna, D. U.; Grudtsyn, Y. D.; Kovsman, E. P. Russ. J. Gen. Chem. 1997, 67, 1068–1077.
- 552. Alcock, N. W.; Bartlett, P. N.; Gordon, D.; Illson, T. F.; Wallbridge, M. G. H. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1986, 614-615.
- 553. Castro, S. L.; Streib, W. E.; Huffman, J. C.; Christou, G. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 1996, 2177-2178.
- 554. Jalil, N. S. N.; Hameed, L. T. Phosphorus, Sulfur Silicon Relat. Elem. 1996, 112, 171-178.
- 555. Carroll, K. M.; Schwartz, J.; Ho, D. M. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 2707-2708.
- 556. Saxena, A. K.; Saxena, S.; Rai, A. K. Synth. React. Inorg. Met.-Org. Chem. 1990, 20, 21-37.
- 557. Saraswati, R.; Kapoor, P. N. Transition Met. Chem. (Weinheim, Ger.) 1984, 9, 35-38.
- 558. Hanko, R.; Hoppe, D. Angew. Chem. 1982, 94, 378-379.
- 559. Weidmann, B.; Seebach, D. Angew. Chem. 1983, 95, 12-26.
- 560. Hoppe, D.; Riemenschneider, C. Angew. Chem. 1983, 95, 64-65.
- 561. Calderazzo, F.; Ianelli, S.; Pampaloni, G.; Pelizzi, G.; Sperrle, M. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1991, 693-698.
- 562. Dell'Amico, D. B.; Calderazzo, F.; Ianelli, S.; Labella, L.; Marchetti, F.; Pelizzi, G. Dalton. 2000, 4339-4342.
- 563. Feltz, A.; Daszler, A. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1991, 604, 141-150.
- 564. Canali, L.; Karjalainen, J. K.; Sherrington, D. C.; Hormi, O. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 1997, 123-124.
- 565. Suresh, P. S.; Srinivasan, M.; Pillai, V. N. R. J. Polym. Sci., Part A: Polym. Chem. 2000, 38, 161-169.
- 566. Sharpless, K. B.; Woodard, S. S.; Finn, M. G. Pure Appl. Chem. 1983, 55, 1823-1836.
- 567. Corey, E. J. J. Org. Chem. 1990, 55, 1693-1694.
- 568. Finn, M. G.; Sharpless, K. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 113-126.
- 569. Woodard, S. S.; Finn, M. G.; Sharpless, K. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 106-113.
- 570. Lu, L. D. L.; Johnson, R. A.; Finn, M. G.; Sharpless, K. B. J. Org. Chem. 1984, 49, 728-731.
- 571. Groaning, M. D.; Rowe, B. J.; Spilling, C. D. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 5485-5488.
- 572. Potvin, P. G.; Fieldhouse, B. G. Can. J. Chem. 1995, 73, 401-413.
- 573. Bianchet, S.; Potvin, P. G. Can. J. Chem. 1992, 70, 2256-2265.
- 574. Potvin, P. G.; Gau, R.; Kwong, P. C. C.; Bianchet, S. Can. J. Chem. 1989, 67, 1523-1537.
- 575. Potvin, P. G.; Kwong, P. C. C.; Brook, M. A. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1988, 773-775.
- 576. Williams, I. D.; Pedersen, S. F.; Sharpless, K. B.; Lippard, S. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1984, 106, 6430–6431. 577. Sharpless, K. B. Chem. Scr. 1987, 27, 521–524.
- 578. Beck, A. K.; Bastani, B.; Plattner, D. A.; Petter, W.; Seebach, D.; Braunschweiger, H.; Gysi, P.; La Vecchia, L. Chimia. 1991, 45, 238-241.
- 579. Iwasawa, N.; Sugimori, J.; Kawase, Y.; Narasaka, K. Chem. Lett. 1989, 1947-1950.
- 580. Shao, M. Y.; Sheen, W. S.; Gau, H. M. Inorg. Chim. Acta 2001, 314, 105-110.
- 581. Blaser, H. U. Chem. Rev. 1992, 92, 935-952.

- 582. Ito, Y. N.; Ariza, X.; Beck, A. K.; Bohac, A.; Ganter, C.; Gawley, R. E.; Kuehnle, F. N. M.; Tuleja, J.; Wang, Y. M.; Seebach, D. Helv. Chim. Acta 1994, 77, 2071-2110.
- 583. Seebach, D.; Beck, A. K.; Imwinkeiried, R.; Roggo, S.; Wonnacott, A. Helv. Chim. Acta 1987, 70, 954-974.
- 584. Schmidt, B.; Seebach, D. Angew. Chem. 1991, 103, 100-101 (See also Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl., 1991, 1930 (1991), 1999-1101
- 585. Pagenkopf, B. L.; Carreira, E. M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 9593-9596.
- 586. Gothelf, K. V.; Hazell, R. G.; Jorgensen, K. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 4435-4436.
- 587. Haase, C.; Sarko, C. R.; DiMare, M. J. Org. Chem. 1995, 60, 1777-1787.
- 588. Gothelf, K. V.; Joergensen, K. A. J. Org. Chem. 1994, 59, 5687-5691.
- 589. Jensen, K. B.; Gothelf, K. V.; Jorgensen, K. A. Helv. Chim. Acta 1997, 80, 2039-2046.
- 590. Jensen, K.; Gothelf, K. V.; Hazell, R. G.; Jorgensen, K. A. J. Org. Chem. 1997, 62, 2471-2477.
- 591. Gothelf, K. V.; Joergensen, K. A. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 2 1997, 111-115.
- 592. Singh, H. B.; Srivastava, S.; Maheshwari, S. J. Inst. Chem. (India) 1982, 54, 276-280.
- 593. Sharma, M. K.; Singh, A.; Mehrotra, R. C. Indian J. Chem., Sect. A: Inorg., Bio-inorg., Phys., Theor. Anal. Chem. 2001, 40A, 236-240.
- 594. Stefan, S. L.; Ishak, M. F. Synth. React. Inorg. Met.-Org. Chem. 1994, 24, 845-853.
- 595. Stefan, S. L.; Ishak, M. F. Pol. J. Chem. 1995, 69, 1097-1102.
- 596. Prabhakar, L. D.; Prakash, K. M. M. S.; Chowdary, M. C. Indian J. Chem., Sect. A. 1987, 26A, 142-145.
- 597. Jabs, W.; Gaube, W.; Fehl, C.; Lukowski, R. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1990, 175, 273-276.
- 598. Damo, S. M.; Lam, K.-C.; Rheingold, A.; Walters, M. A. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 1635–1638.
- 599. You, J.-S.; Shao, M.-Y.; Gau, H.-M. Organometallics 2000, 19, 3368–3373. 600. Almqvist, F.; Torstensson, L.; Gudmundsson, A.; Frejd, T. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1997, 36, 376–377.
- 601. Sarvary, I.; Almqvist, F.; Frejd, T. Chem.-Eur. J. 2001, 7, 2158-2166.
- 602. Gomez-Carrera, A.; Mena, M.; Royo, P.; Serrano, R. J. Organomet. Chem. 1986, 315, 329-335.
- 603. Hara, R.; Mukaiyama, T. Chem. Lett. 1989, 1909-1912.
- 604. Mukaiyama, T.; Hara, R. Chem. Lett. 1989, 1171-1174.
- 605. Suda, S.; Mukaiyama, T. Chem. Lett. 1991, 431-434.
- 606. Mukaiyama, T.; Yamada, M.; Suda, S.; Yokomizo, Y.; Kobayashi, S. Chem. Lett. 1992, 1401-1404.
- 607. Davies, J. A.; Dutremez, S. G. Inorg. Synth. 1997, 31, 11-14.
- 608. Ali, N. J.; Milne, S. J. Br. Ceram. Trans. J. 1987, 86, 113-117.
- 609. Borgias, B. A.; Cooper, S. R.; Koh, Y. B.; Raymond, K. N. Inorg. Chem. 1984, 23, 1009-1016.
- 610. Sun, X.; Johnson, D. W.; Caulder, D. L.; Raymond, K. N.; Wong, E. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 2752-2763.
- 611. Corey, E. J.; Letavic, M. A.; Noe, M. C.; Sarshar, S. Tetrahedron Lett. 1994, 35, 7553-7556.
- 612. Albrecht, M. Synlett 1996, 565-567.
- 613. Albrecht, M.; Schneider, M.; Frohlich, R. New J. Chem. 1998, 22, 753-754.
- 614. Albrecht, M. Chem.-Eur. J. 1997, 3, 1466-1471.
- 615. Albrecht, M.; Kotila, S. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 1996, 2309-2310.
- 616. Albrecht, M.; Napp, M.; Schneider, M.; Weis, P.; Frohlich, R. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge, U.K.) 2001, 409-410.
- 617. Albrecht, M.; Napp, M.; Schneider, M.; Weis, P.; Frohlich, R. Chem.-Eur. J. 2001, 7, 3966-3975.
- 618. Poirier, M.; Simard, M.; Wuest, J. D. Organometallics 1996, 15, 1296-1300.
- 619. Eilerts, N. W.; Heppert, J. A. Polyhedron 1995, 14, 3255-3271.
- 620. Davis, T. J.; Balsells, J.; Carroll, P. J.; Walsh, P. J. Org. Lett. 2001, 3, 699-702.
- 621. Boyle, T. J.; Eilerts, N. W.; Heppert, J. A.; Takusagawa, F. Organometallics 1994, 13, 2218-2229.
- 622. Terada, M.; Motoyama, Y.; Mikami, K. Tetrahedron Lett. 1994, 35, 6693-6696.
- 623. Berrisford, D. J.; Bolm, C.; Sharpless, K. B. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1995, 34, 1059-1070.
- 624. Kitajima, H.; Ito, K.; Aoki, Y.; Katsuki, T. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1997, 70, 207-217.
- 625. Boyle, T. J.; Barnes, D. L.; Heppert, J. A.; Morales, L.; Takusagawa, F.; Connolly, J. C. Organometallics 1992, 11, 1112-1126.
- 626. Eilerts, N. W.; Heppert, J. A.; Kennedy, M. L.; Takusagawa, F. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 4813-4814.
- 627. Mikami, K.; Motoyama, Y.; Terada, M. Inorg. Chim. Acta. 1994, 222, 71-75.
- 628. Martyn, L. J. P.; Pandiaraju, S.; Yudin, A. K. J. Organomet. Chem. 2000, 603, 98-104.
- 629. Chan, S. C. A.; Fu-Yao, Zhang; Yip, C.-W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 4080–4081.
 630. Mikami, K.; Terada, M.; Nakai, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 3949–3954.
- 631. Mikami, K.; Terada, M.; Narisawa, S.; Nakai, T. Org. Synth. 1992, 71, 14.
- 632. Kodama, H.; Ito, J.; Nagaki, A.; Ohta, T.; Furukawa, I. Appl. Organomet. Chem. 2000, 14, 709-714.
- 633. Sellner, H.; Faber, C.; Rheiner, P. B.; Seebach, D. Chem.-Eur. J. 2000, 6, 3692-3705.
- 634. Matsukawa, S.; Mikami, K. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 1997, 8, 815-816.
- 635. Mikami, K.; Matsukawa, S. Nature (London) 1997, 385, 613-617.
- 636. Chisholm, M. H.; Huang, J.-H.; Huffman, J. C.; Streib, W. E.; Tiedtke, D. Polyhedron 1997, 16, 2941–2949.
- 637. Okuda, J.; Fokken, S.; Kang, H.-C.; Massa, W. Chem. Ber. 1995, 128, 221-227.
- 638. van der Linden, A.; Schaverien, C. J.; Meijboom, N.; Ganter, C.; Orpen, A. G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 3008-3021.
- 639. Floriani, C.; Corazza, F.; Lesueur, W.; Chiesi-Villa, A.; Guastini, C. Angew. Chem. 1989, 101, 93-94.
- 640. Mulford, D. R.; Fanwick, P. E.; Rothwell, I. P. Polyhedron 2000, 19, 35-42.
- 641. Takeuchi, D.; Aida, T. Macromolecules 2000, 33, 4607-4609.
- 642. Takeuchi, D.; Nakamura, T.; Aida, T. Macromolecules 2000, 33, 725-729.
- 643. Corazza, F.; Floriani, C.; Chiesi-Villa, A.; Guastini, C. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 145-148.
- 644. Zhang, W.; Yoneda, Y.-I.; Kida, T.; Nakatsuji, Y.; Ikeda, I. J. Organomet. Chem. 1999, 574, 19-23.
- 645. Hursthouse, M. B.; Hossain, M. A. Polyhedron 1984, 3, 95-97.
- 646. Hossain, M. A.; Hursthouse, M. B.; Mazid, M. A.; Sullivan, A. C. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1988, 1305–1306.
- 647. Hossain, M. A.; Hursthouse, M. B.; Ibrahim, A.; Mazid, M.; Sullivan, A. C. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1989, 2347-2352.

- 648. Lazell, M.; Motevalli, M.; Shah, S. A. A.; Simon, C. K. S.; Sullivan, A. C. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1996, 1449-1454.
- 649. Haoudi-Mazzah, A.; Mazzah, A.; Schmidt, H. G.; Noltemeyer, M.; Roesky, H. W. Z. Naturforsch., B: Chem. Sci. 1991, 46, 587-592.
- 650. Gunji, T.; Kasahara, T.; Fujii, A.; Abe, Y.; Kawano, M. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1995, 68, 2975-2979.
- 651. Crocker, M.; Herold, R. H. M.; Orpen, A. G. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 1997, 2411-2412.
- 652. Edelmann, F. T.; Giessmann, S.; Fischer, A. J. Organomet. Chem. 2001, 620, 80-89.
- 653. Duchateau, R.; Abbenhuis, H. C. L.; van Santen, R. A.; Meetsma, A.; Thiele, S. K. H.; van Tol, M. F. H. Organometallics 1998, 17, 5663-5673.
- 654. Galsworthy, J. R.; Green, M. L. H.; Muller, M.; Prout, K. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1997, 1309-1313.
- 655. Kumar, S.; Mahajan, R. K.; Kapila, V. P. Indian J. Chem., Sect. A 1983, 22A, 490-493.
- 656. Niyogi, D. G.; Singh, S.; Verma, R. D. Can. J. Chem. 1989, 67, 1895-1897.
- 657. Moulay el Mustapha, H.; Pascal, J. L. J. Fluorine Chem. 1991, 55, 63-78.
- 658. Iranpoor, N.; Zeynizaded, B. Synlett 1998, 1079-1080.
- 659. Iranpoor, N.; Zeynizadeh, B. Synth. Commun. 1999, 29, 1017-1024.
- 660. Motoyama, Y.; Tanaka, M.; Mikami, K. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1997, 256, 161-163.
- 661. Tanabe, Y. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1989, 62, 1917-1924.
- 662. Izumi, J.; Shiina, I.; Mukaiyama, T. Chem. Lett. 1995, 141-142.
- 663. Kobayashi, S.; Moriwaki, M.; Hachiya, I. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1997, 70, 267-273.
- 664. Martins, E. O.; Gleason, J. L. Org. Lett. 1999, 1, 1643-1645.
- 665. Sugerman, G.,; Monte, S. J. In Eur. Pat. Appl.; (Kenrich Petrochemicals, Inc., USA) Ep, 1986, p 35.
- 666. Thorn, D. L.; Harlow, R. L. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 3917-3923.
- 667. Claire, P. P. K.; Willey, G. R.; Drew, M. G. B. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1989, 57-60.
- 668. Chakraborty, D.; Chandrasekhar, V.; Bhattacharjee, M.; Kraetzner, R.; Roesky, H. W.; Noltemeyer, M.; Schmidt, H.-G. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 23-26.
- 669. Okuda, J.; Fokken, S.; Kang, H.-C.; Massa, W. Polyhedron 1998, 17, 943-946.
- 670. Sobota, P.; Jozef Utko, Z.; Sztajnowska, K.; Jerzykiewicz, L. B. New J. Chem. 1998, 22, 851-855.
- 671. Maschmeyer, T.; Klunduk, M. C.; Martin, C. M.; Shephard, D. S.; Thomas, J. M.; Johnson, B. F. G. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 1997, 1847-1848.
- 672. Pescarmona, P. P.; Van der Waal, J. C.; Maxwell, I. E.; Maschmeyer, T. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2001, 40, 740-743.
- 673. Olmstead, M. M.; Sigel, G.; Hope, H.; Xu, X.; Power, P. P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1985, 107, 8087-8091.
- 674. Zanotti-Gerosa, A.; Solari, E.; Giannini, L.; Floriani, C.; Re, N.; Chiesi-Villa, A.; Rizzoli, C. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1998, 270, 298-311.
- 675. Radius, U.; Friedrich, A. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1999, 625, 2154-2159.
- 676. Hampton, P. D.; Daitch, C. E.; Alam, T. M.; Bencze, Z.; Rosay, M. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 4750-4758.
- 677. Ozerov, O. V.; Brock, C. P.; Carr, S. D.; Ladipo, F. T. Organometallics 2000, 19, 5016-5025.
- 678. Ozerov, O. V.; Patrick, B. O.; Ladipo, F. T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 6423–6431. 679. Ozerov, O. V.; Rath, N. P.; Ladipo, F. T. J. Organomet. Chem. 1999, 586, 223–233.
- 680. Karpishin, T. B.; Stack, T. D. P.; Raymond, K. N. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 182-192.
- 681. Albrecht, M.; Franklin, S. J.; Raymond, K. N. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 5785-5793.
- 682. Wade, S. R.; Willey, G. R. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1983, 72, 201-204.
- 683. Schmidt, M.; Weck, M. Phosphorus Sulfur 1985, 25, 21-24.
- 684. Willey, G. R.; Palin, J.; Lakin, M. T.; Alcock, N. W. Transition Met. Chem. (London) 1994, 19, 187-190.
- 685. Aqra, F. M. A. M.; Shah, S. A.; Siddiqi, K. S. Synth. React. Inorg. Met.-Org. Chem. 1995, 25, 85-92.
- 686. Gaur, G.; Singh, Y.; Singh, B.; Kapoor, R. N. Indian J. Chem., Sect. A. 1985, 24A, 968-969.
- 687. Drew, M. G. B.; Kisenyi, J. M.; Willey, G. R.; Wandiga, S. O. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1984, 1717-1721.
- 688. Cuadrado, I.; Moran, M. Transition Met. Chem. (Weinheim, Ger.) 1984, 9, 96-103.
- 689. Yadav, J. S.; Mehrotra, R. K.; Srivastava, G. Phosphorus, Sulfur Silicon Relat. Elem. 1991, 62, 169-175.
- 690. Fernandez, V.; Muro, C.; Beyer, L.; Hartung, J.; Weber, G. Z. Chem. 1989, 29, 385-386.
- 691. Winter, C. H.; Lewkebandara, T. S.; Proscia, J. W.; Rheingold, A. L. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 3807-3808.
- 692. Lewkebandara, T. S.; McKarns, P. J.; Haggerty, B. S.; Yap, G. P. A.; Rheingold, A. L.; Winter, C. H. Polyhedron 1998, 17, 1-9.
- 693. Ault, B. S. J. Mol. Struct. 1997, 406, 23-28.
- 694. McKarns, P. J.; Lewkebandara, T. S.; Yap, G. P. A.; Liable-Sands, L. M.; Rheingold, A. L.; Winter, C. H. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 418-424.
- 695. Levason, W.; Patel, B.; Reid, G.; Tolhurst, V.-A.; Webster, M. Dalton 2000, 3001-3006.
- 696. Krug, V.; Koellner, G.; Mueller, U. Z. Naturforsch., B: Chem. Sci. 1988, 43, 1501-1509.
- 697. Verma, A. K.; Chou, J.-H.; Rauchfuss, T. B. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 5960-5963.
- 698. Jones, R. A.; Schwab, S. T.; Whittlesey, B. R. Polyhedron 1984, 3, 505-507.
- 699. Jones, J.; Douek, J. A. Polyhedron 1989, 8, 2893-2895.
- 700. Dorfman, J. R.; Rao, C. P.; Holm, R. H. Inorg. Chem. 1985, 24, 453-454.
- 701. Mukherjee, R. N.; Pulla Rao, C.; Holm, R. H. Inorg. Chem. 1986, 25, 2979-2989.
- 702. Rao, C. P.; Dorfman, J. R.; Holm, R. H. Inorg. Chem. 1986, 25, 428-439.
- 703. Koenemann, M.; Stueer, W.; Kirschbaum, K.; Giolando, D. M. Polyhedron 1994, 13, 1415-1425.
- 704. Stueer, W.; Krischbaum, K.; Giolando, D. M. Angew. Chem. 1994, 106, 2028-2030 (See also Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl., 1994, 2033(2019), 1981-2023).
- 705. Puke, C.; Schmengler, K.; Kirschbaum, K.; Conrad, O.; Giolando, D. M. Acta Crystallogr., Sect. C: Cryst. Struct. Commun. 2000, C56, e542.
- 706. Carmalt, C. J.; Dinnage, C. W.; Parkin, I. P.; Steed, J. W. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 2693-2695.
- 707. Kim, J. T.; Park, J. W.; Koo, S. M. Polyhedron 2000, 19, 1139-1143.
- 708. Bochmann, M.; Hawkins, I.; Wilson, L. M. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1988, 344-345.
- 709. Cheon, J.; Gozum, J. E.; Girolami, G. S. Chem. Mater 1997, 9, 1847-1853.
- 710. Stephan, D. W.; Nadasdi, T. T. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1996, 147, 147-208.

- 711. Carmalt, C. J.; Dinnage, C. W.; Parkin, I. P.; White, A. J. P.; Williams, D. J. Dalton 2000, 3500-3504.
- 712. Gibson, V. C.; Long, N. J.; Martin, J.; Solan, G. A.; Stichbury, J. C. J. Organomet. Chem. 1999, 590, 115-117.
- 713. Gerlach, C. P.; Christou, V.; Arnold, J. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 2758-2766.
- 714. Siddiqi, K. S.; Khan, N. H.; Kureshy, R. I.; Tabassum, S.; Zaidi, S. A. A. Indian J. Chem., Sect. A 1987, 26A, 70-73.
- 715. Siddiqi, K. S.; Aqra, F. M. A. M.; Shah, S. A.; Zaidi, S. A. A. Synth. React. Inorg. Met.-Org. Chem. 1994, 24, 353-363.
- 716. Bhat, G. S.; Sawant, A. D. Asian J. Chem. 1994, 6, 307-312.
- 717. Kureshy, R. I.; Khan, N. H.; Tabassum, S.; Majid, S. J.; Zaidi, S. A. A.; Siddiqi, K. S. Indian J. Chem., Sect. A 1985, 24A, 784-785.
- 718. Jalil, N. S. N. Synth. React. Inorg. Met.-Org. Chem. 1989, 19, 1069-1083.
- 719. Gogoi, P. K.; Phukan, D. P. Synth. React. Inorg. Met.-Org. Chem. 1988, 18, 1007-1021.
- 720. Bhargava, S.; Bohra, R.; Mehrotra, R. C. Transition Met. Chem. (London) 1991, 16, 622-625.
- 721. Gupta, V. D.; Gupta, V. K. Indian J. Chem., Sect. A 1983, 22A, 250-252.
- 722. Hawthorne, S. L.; Bruder, A. H.; Fay, R. C. Inorg. Chem. 1983, 22, 3368-3375.
- 723. Yadav, J. S.; Mehrotra, R. K.; Srivastava, G. Polyhedron 1987, 6, 1687-1693.
- 724. Yadav, J. S.; Mehrotra, R. K.; Srivastava, G. Phosphorus Sulfur 1987, 34, 21-30.
- 725. Gau, H. M.; Fay, R. C. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 4974-4983.
- 726. Rytter, E.; Kvisle, S. Inorg. Chem. 1985, 24, 639-640.
- 727. Sobota, P.; Mustafa, M. O.; Lis, T. Polyhedron 1989, 8, 2013-2016.
- 728. Sobota, P.; Utko, J.; Janas, Z. J. Organomet. Chem. 1986, 316, 19-23.
- 729. Bart, J. C. J.; Bassi, I. W.; Calcaterra, M.; Albizzati, E.; Giannini, U.; Parodi, S. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1983, 496, 205-216.
- 730. Friedrich, S.; Memmler, H.; Gade, L. H.; Li, W. S.; McPartlin, M. Angew. Chem. 1994, 106, 705-708 (See also Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl., 1994, 1933(1996), 1676-1998.
- 731. Sartain, W. J.; Selegue, J. P. Organometallics 1987, 6, 1812-1815.
- 732. Sartain, W. J.; Selegue, J. P. Organometallics 1989, 8, 2153-2158.
- 733. Bartik, T.; Happ, B.; Sieker, A.; Stein, S.; Sorkau, A.; Thiele, K. H.; Kriebel, C.; Palyi, G. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1992, 608, 173-183.
- 734. Bartik, T.; Windisch, H.; Sorkau, A.; Thiele, K.-H.; Kriebel, C.; Herfurth, A.; Tschoerner, C. M.; Zucchi, C.; Palyi, G. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1994, 227, 201-205
- 735. Selent, D.; Beckhaus, R.; Pickardt, J. Organometallics 1993, 12, 2857-2860.
- 736. Selent, D.; Beckhaus, R.; Bartik, T. J. Organomet. Chem. 1991, 405, C15-C18.
- 737. Jansen, G.; Schubart, M.; Findeis, B.; Gade, L. H.; Scowen, I. J.; McPartlin, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 7239-7251.
- 738. Findeis, B.; Schubart, M.; Platzek, C.; Gade, L. H.; Scowen, I.; McPartlin, M. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 1996, 219 - 220
- 739. Schubart, M.; Mitchel, G.; Gade, L. H.; Kottke, T.; Scowen, I. J.; McPartlin, M. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 1999, 233-234.
- 740. Kuhn, N.; Stubenrauch, S.; Boese, R.; Blaeser, D. J. Organomet. Chem. 1992, 440, 289-296.
- 741. Boese, R.; Blaeser, D.; Kuhn, N.; Stubenrauch, S. Z. Kristallogr 1994, 209, 188
- Dias, A. R.; Galvao, A. M.; Galvao, A. C. Collect. Czech. Chem. Commun. 1998, 63, 182–186.
 Dias, A. R.; Galvao, A. M.; Galvao, A. C.; Salema, M. S. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1997, 1055–1061.
- 744. Hill, J. E.; Fanwick, P. E.; Rothwell, I. P. Organometallics 1990, 9, 2211-2213.
- 745. Hill, J. E.; Fanwick, P. E.; Rothwell, I. P. Organometallics 1992, 11, 1775-1777.
- 746. Thorn, M. G.; Fanwick, P. E.; Rothwell, I. P. Organometallics 1999, 18, 4442-4447.
- 747. Chamberlain, L. R.; Durfee, L. D.; Fanwick, P. E.; Kobriger, L. M.; Latesky, S. L.; McMullen, A. K.; Steffey, B. D.; Rothwell, I. P.; Foltin, K.; Huffman, J. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 6068-6076.
- 748. Tom Dieck, H.; Rieger, H. J.; Fendesak, G. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1990, 177, 191-197.
- 749. Kalai, K.; Tilley, T. D.; Aoyagi, K.; Gantzel, P. K. Organometallics 1996, 15, 923-927.
- 750. Herrmann, W. A.; Denk, M.; Scherer, W.; Klingan, F.-R. J. Organomet. Chem. 1993, 444, C21-C24.
- 751. Spaniel, T.; Gorls, H.; Scholz, J. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 1998, 37, 1862-1865.
- 752. Galindo, A.; Ienco, A.; Mealli, C. New J. Chem. 2000, 24, 73-75.
- 753. Parrado, C.; Bastida, R.; Sousa, A. An. Quim. 1992, 88, 333-336.
- 754. Strauch, J.; Warren, T. H.; Erker, G.; Frohlich, R.; Saarenketo, P. Inorg. Chim. Acta 2000, 300-302, 810-821.
- 755. Jones, D.; Roberts, A.; Cavell, K.; Keim, W.; Englert, U.; Skelton, B. W.; White, A. H. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1998, 255-262.
- 756. Pujar, M. A.; Siddappa, K. Asian J. Chem. 1993, 5, 984-987.
- 757. Pandit, S. K.; Gopinathan, M. S.; Gopinathan, C. Indian J. Chem., Sect. A 1982, 21A, 1004-1006.
- 758. Pardhy, M. S. A.; Gopinathan, M. S.; Gopinathan, C. Synth. React. Inorg. Met.-Org. Chem. 1983, 13, 385-395.
- 759. Uttamchandani, J.; Kapoor, R. N. Indian J. Chem., Sect. A 1985, 24A, 242-243.
- 760. Shivaprasad, K. H.; Angadi, S. D.; Kulkarni, V. H.; Patil, B. R. Asian J. Chem. 2000, 12, 1347-1349.
- 761. El-Saied, F. A.; Ayad, M. I.; Aly, S. A. Transition Met. Chem. (London) 1993, 18, 279-282.
- 762. Tossidis, I. A.; Bolos, C. A. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1986, 112, 93-97.
- 763. Khan, N. H.; Siddiqi, K. S.; Kureshy, R. I.; Tabassum, S.; Zaidi, S. A. A. Indian J. Chem., Sect. A 1987, 26A, 763-765.
- 764. Siddiqi, K. S.; Tabassum, S.; Zaidi, S. A. A.; Khan, N. H.; Kureshy, R. I. Indian J. Chem., Sect. A 1989, 28A, 83-85.
- 765. Rizvi, S. S. A. Bull. Chem. Soc. Ethiop. 1991, 5, 7-10.
- 766. Coles, S. J.; Hursthouse, M. B.; Kelly, D. G.; Toner, A. J. Polyhedron 2000, 19, 177-183.
- 767. Singh, M. S.; Narayan, P. Indian J. Chem., Sect. A: Inorg., Bio-inorg., Phys., Theor. Anal. Chem. 2001, 40A, 633-637.
- 768. Brusilovets, A. I.; Bdjhola, V.; Lis, T.; Savitsky, A. Phosphorus, Sulfur Silicon Relat. Elem. 1999, 144–146, 729–732.
- 769. Wieghardt, K.; Tolksdorf, I.; Weiss, J.; Swiridoff, W. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1982, 490, 182-190.
- 770. Mitzel, N. W.; Parsons, S.; Blake, A. J.; Rankin, D. W. H. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1996, 2089–2093.

- 771. Kim, I.; Nishihara, Y.; Jordan, R. F.; Rogers, R. D.; Rheingold, A. L.; Yap, G. P. A. Organometallics 1997, 16, 3314-3323.
- 772. Tian, J.; Coates, G. W. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2000, 39, 3626-3629.
- 773. Saito, J.; Mitani, M.; Mohri, J.-I.; Yoshida, Y.; Matsui, S.; Ishii, S.-I.; Kojoh, S.-I.; Kashiwa, N.; Fujita, T. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2001, 40, 2918-2920.
- 774. Schubert, U.; Tewinkel, S.; Moeller, F. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 995-997.
- 775. Cozzi, P. G.; Floriani, C.; Chiesi-Villa, A.; Rizzoli, C. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 2921-2930.
- 776. Armistead, L. T.; White, P. S.; Gagne, M. R. Organometallics 1998, 17, 4232-4239.
- 777. Rhodes, B.; Chien, J. C. W.; Wood, J. S.; Chandrasekaran, A.; Rausch, M. D. J. Organomet. Chem. 2001, 625, 95-100.
- 778. Witt, M.; Stalke, D.; Henkel, T.; Roesky, H. W.; Sheldrick, G. M. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1991, 663-667.
- 779. Xiang, Y.; Olivier, E.; Ouimet, N. Tetrahedron Lett. 1992, 33, 457-460.
- 780. Bolm, C.; Mueller, P. Tetrahedron Lett. 1995, 36, 1625-1628.
- 781. Sarsfield, M. J.; Thornton-Pett, M.; Bochmann, M. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1999, 3329-3330.
- 782. Cavell, R. G.; Babu, R. P. K.; Kasani, A.; McDonald, R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 5805-5806.
- 783. Casella, L.; Gullotti, M.; Pintar, A.; Colonna, S.; Manfredi, A. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1988, 144, 89-97.
- 784. Colonna, S.; Manfredi, A.; Spadoni, M.; Casella, L.; Gullotti, M. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1. 1987, 71-73.
- 785. Baumann, R.; Davis, W. M.; Schrock, R. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 3830-3831.
- 786. Schrock, R. R.; Baumann, R.; Reid, S. M.; Goodman, J. T.; Stumpf, R.; Davis, W. M. Organometallics 1999, 18, 3649-3670.
- 787. Schrock, R. R.; Liang, L. C.; Baumann, R.; Davis, W. M. J. Organomet. Chem. 1999, 591, 163-173.
- 788. Liang, L.-C.; Schrock, R. R.; Davis, W. M. Organometallics 2000, 19, 2526-2531.
- 789. Schrock, R. R.; Schattenmann, F.; Aizenberg, M.; Davis, W. M. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 1998, 199-200.
- 790. Aizenberg, M.; Turculet, L.; Davis, W. M.; Schattenmann, F.; Schrock, R. R. Organometallics 1998, 17, 4795-4812.
- 791. Joseph, K.; Pardhy, M. S. A.; Gopinathan, S.; Gopinathan, C. Indian J. Chem., Sect. A 1982, 21A, 1137–1139.
- 792. Bhagi, A. K.; Tyagi, S. B.; Singh, B.; Kapoor, R. N. Indian J. Chem., Sect. A 1989, 28A, 995–997.
- 793. Shah, R.; Aman, R.; Chandra, M. Asian J. Chem. 1995, 7, 76-84.
- 794. Aman, R.; Mishra, S. B.; Pandey, H.; Chandra, M. Asian J. Chem. 1999, 11, 1159-1166.
- 795. Diamantis, A. A.; Manikas, M.; Salam, M. A.; Snow, M. R.; Tiekink, E. R. T. Aust. J. Chem. 1988, 41, 453–468. 796. Dua, S. K.; Kapur, V.; Sahni, S. K. Croat. Chem. Acta 1984, 57, 109–118.
- 797. Ludwig, E.; Hefele, H.; Schilde, U.; Uhlemann, E. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1994, 620, 346-352.
- 798. Ludwig, E.; Schilde, U.; Uhlemann, E.; Weller, F.; Dehnicke, K. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1993, 619, 669-674.
- 799. Kraudelt, H.; Schilde, U.; Hefele, H.; Ludwig, E.; Uhlemann, E. Z. Naturforsch., B: Chem. Sci. 1996, 51, 1240-1244.
- 800. Edema, J. J. H.; Libbers, R.; Ridder, A. M.; Kellogg, R. M.; van Bolhuis, F.; Kooijman, H.; Spek, A. L. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1993, 625-627.
- 801. Hefele, H.; Ludwig, E.; Uhlemann, E.; Noeth, H. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1995, 621, 1431-1435.
- 802. Hawkins, J. M.; Sharpless, K. B. Tetrahedron Lett. 1987, 28, 2825-2828.
- 803. Hayashi, M.; Miyamoto, Y.; Inoue, T.; Oguni, N. J. Org. Chem. 1993, 58, 1515-1522.
- 804. Oguni, N.; Tanaka, K.; Ishida, H. Synlett 1998, 601-602.
- 805. Flores-Lopez, L. Z.; Parra-Hake, M.; Somanathan, R.; Walsh, P. J. Organometallics 2000, 19, 2153-2160.
- 806. Manickam, G.; Sundararajan, G. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 1999, 10, 2913-2925.
- 807. De Blas, A.; Bastida, R.; Fuentes, M. J. Synth. React. Inorg. Met. Org. Chem. 1991, 21, 1273-1298.
- 808. Rao, P. V.; Pulla Rao, C.; Wegelius, E. K.; Kolehmainen, E.; Rissanen, K. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1999, 4469-4474.
- 809. Doherty, S.; Errington, R. J.; Housley, N.; Ridland, J.; Clegg, W.; Elsegood, M. R. J. Organometallics 1999, 18, 1018-1029.
- 810. Sigman, M. S.; Jacobsen, E. N. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 4901-4902.
- 811. Carofiglio, T.; Floriani, C.; Chiesi-Villa, A.; Rizzoli, C. Organometallics 1991, 10, 1659-1660.
- 812. Caneschi, A.; Dei, A.; Gatteschi, D. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1992, 630-631.
- 813. Bruni, S.; Caneschi, A.; Cariati, F.; Delfs, C.; Dei, A.; Gatteschi, D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 1388-1394.
- 814. Ren, T. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1995, 229, 195-202.
- 815. Pontillon, Y.; Bencini, A.; Caneschi, A.; Dei, A.; Gatteschi, D.; Gillon, B.; Sangregorio, C.; Stride, J.; Totti, F. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2000, 39, 1786-1788.
- 816. Tshuva, E. Y.; Goldberg, I.; Kol, M.; Goldschmidt, Z. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 4263-4270.
- 817. Tshuva, E. Y.; Versano, M.; Goldberg, I.; Kol, M.; Weitman, H.; Goldschmidt, Z. Inorg. Chem. Commun. 1999, 2, 371-373.
- 818. Tshuva, E. Y.; Goldberg, I.; Kol, M.; Goldschmidt, Z. Inorg. Chem. Commun. 2000, 3, 611-614.
- 819. Kemmitt, T.; Al-Salim, N. I.; Gainsford, G. J.; Henderson, W. Aust. J. Chem. 1999, 52, 915-919.
- 820. Harlow, R. L. Acta Crystallogr., Sect. C: Cryst. Struct. Commun. 1983, 1344-1346.
- 821. Menge, W. M. P. B.; Verkade, J. G. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 4628-4631.
- 822. Naiini, A. A.; Ringrose, S. L.; Su, Y.; Jacobson, R. A.; Verkade, J. G. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 1290-1296.
- 823. Nugent, W. A.; Harlow, R. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 6142-6148.
- 824. Bonchio, M.; Licini, G.; Modena, G.; Moro, S.; Bortolini, O. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 1997, 869-870.
- 825. Bonchio, M.; Licini, G.; Modena, G.; Bortolini, O.; Moro, S.; Nugent, W. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 6258-6268.
- 826. Kemmitt, T.; Al-Salim, N. I.; Gainsford, G. J. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 6067-6071.
- 827. Sharma, M. K.; Singh, A.; Mehrotra, R. C. Indian J. Chem., Sect. A: Inorg., Bio-inorg., Phys., Theor. Anal. Chem. 2000, 39A, 410-414.
- 828. Kol, M.; Shamis, M.; Goldberg, I.; Goldschmidt, Z.; Alfi, S.; Hayut-Salant, E. Inorg. Chem. Commun. 2001, 4, 177 - 179.
- 829. Tshuva, E. Y.; Goldberg, I.; Kol, M.; Goldschmidt, Z. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge, U. K.) 2001, 2120-2121.
- 830. Angadi, S. D.; Gaonkar, D. R.; Kulkarni, V. H. Natl. Acad. Sci. Lett. (India) 1994, 17, 131-135.

- 831. Harben, S. M.; Smith, P. D.; Beddoes, R. L.; Collison, D.; Garner, C. D. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1997, 36, 1897 - 1898.
- 832. Harben, S. M.; Smith, P. D.; Helliwell, M.; Collison, D.; David Garner, C. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1997, 4517-4524.
- 833. Otero, A.; Fernandez-Baeza, J.; Antinolo, A.; Carrillo-Hermosilla, F.; Tejeda, J.; Diez-Barra, E.; Lara-Sanchez, A.; Sanchez-Barba, L.; Lopez-Solera, I.; Ribeiro, M. R.; Campos, J. M. Organometallics 2001, 20, 2428-2430.
- 834. McInnes, J. M.; Swallow, D.; Blake, A. J.; Mountford, P. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 5970-5977.
- 835. Kelly, D. G.; Toner, A. J.; Walker, N. M.; Coles, S. J.; Hursthouse, M. B. Polyhedron 1996, 15, 4307-4310.
- 836. Coles, S. J.; Hursthouse, M. B.; Kelly, D. G.; Toner, A. J.; Walker, N. M. J. Organomet. Chem. 1999, 580, 304-312. 837. Solari, E.; Floriani, C.; Chiesi-Villa, A.; Rizzoli, C. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1992, 367-373.
- 838. Repo, T.; Klinga, M.; Leskela, M.; Pietikainen, P.; Brunow, G. Acta Crystallogr., Sect. C: Cryst. Struct. Commun.
- 1996, C52, 2742-2745.
- 839. Chen, H.; White, P. S.; Gagne, M. R. Organometallics 1998, 17, 5358-5366.
- 840. Dell'Amico, G.; Marchetti, F.; Floriani, C. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1982, 2197-2202.
- 841. Dey, K.; Koner, D.; Biswas, A. K.; Ray, S. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton Trans. 1982, 911-913.
- 842. Floriani, C.; Solari, E.; Corazza, F.; Chiesi-Villa, A.; Guastini, C. Angew. Chem. 1989, 101, 91-93.
- 843. Choudhary, N. F.; Hitchcock, P. B.; Leigh, G. J. Inorg. Chim. Acta 2000, 306, 24-29.
- 844. Agustin, D.; Rima, G.; Gornitzka, H.; Barrau, J. Organometallics 2000, 19, 4276-4282.
- 845. Coles, S. J.; Hursthouse, M. B.; Kelly, D. G.; Toner, A. J.; Walker, N. M. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1998, 3489-3494.
- 846. Gallo, E.; Solari, E.; Franceschi, F.; Floriani, C.; Chiesi-Villa, A.; Rizzoli, C. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 2495-2496.
- 847. Aoyama, T.; Ohba, S.; Saito, Y.; Sasaki, C.; Kojima, M.; Fujita, J.; Nakajima, K. Acta Crystallogr., Sect. C: Cryst. Struct. Commun. 1988, C44, 1309-1311.
- 848. Sasaki, C.; Nakajima, K.; Kojima, M.; Fujita, J. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1991, 64, 1318-1324.
- 849. Yong, L.; Huang, J.-L.; Lian, B.; Qian, Y.-L. Chin. J. Chem. 2001, 19, 429–432. 850. Corden, J. P.; Errington, W.; Moore, P.; Wallbridge, M. G. H. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 1999, 323–324.
- 851. Leung, W.-H.; Chan, E. Y. Y.; Chow, E. K. F.; Williams, I. D.; Peng, S.-M. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1996, 1229–1236.
- 852. Tararov, V. I.; Hibbs, D. E.; Hursthouse, M. B.; Ikonnikov, N. S.; Abdul Malik, K. M.; North, M.; Orizu, C.; Belokon, Y. N. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 1998, 387–388. 853. Belokon, Y. N.; Caveda-Cepas, S.; Green, B.; Ikonnikov, N. S.; Khrustalev, V. N.; Larichev, V. S.; Moscalenko, M.
- A.; North, M.; Orizu, C.; Tararov, V. I.; Tasinazzo, M.; Timofeeva, G. I.; Yashkina, L. V. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 3968-3973.
- 854. Zhou, X.-G.; Huang, J.-S.; Ko, P.-H.; Cheung, K.-K.; Che, C.-M. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1999, 3303–3309.
- 855. Woodman, P. R.; Alcock, N. W.; Munslow, I. J.; Sanders, C. J.; Scott, P. Dalton 2000, 3340-3346.
- 856. Balsells, J.; Carroll, P. J.; Walsh, P. J. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 5568-5574.
- 857. Balsells, J.; Walsh, P. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 3250-3251.
- 858. Pritchett, S.; Gantzel, P.; Walsh, P. J. Organometallics 1997, 16, 5130-5132.
- 859. Balsells, J.; Betancort, J. M.; Walsh, P. J. Angewandte Chemie, International Edition 2000, 39, 3428-3430.
- 860. Royo, E.; Betancort, J. M.; Davis, T. J.; Carroll, P.; Walsh, P. J. Organometallics 2000, 19, 4840-4851.
- 861. Pritchett, S.; Gantzel, P.; Walsh, P. J. Organometallics 1999, 18, 823-831.
- 862. Armistead, L. T.; White, P. S.; Gagne, M. R. Organometallics 1998, 17, 216-220.
- 863. Albrecht, M.; Froehlich, R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 1656-1661.
- 864. Giesbrecht, G. R.; Shafir, A.; Arnold, J. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 6069-6072.
- 865. Kless, A.; Lefeber, C.; Spannenberg, A.; Kempe, R.; Baumann, W.; Holz, J.; Boerner, A. Tetrahedron 1996, 52, 14599-14606.
- 866. Quirmbach, M.; Kless, A.; Holz, J.; Tararov, V.; Borner, A. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 1999, 10, 1803-1811.
- 867. Havanur, G. H.; Revankar, V. K.; Mahale, V. B. Indian J. Chem., Sect. A 1988, 27A, 803-805.
- 868. Chandra, R.; Kapoor, R. N. Ann. Chim. (Rome) 1982, 72, 309-316.
- 869. Fackler, J. P.Jr.; Kristine, F. J.; Mazany, A. M.; Moyer, T. J.; Shepherd, R. E. Inorg. Chem. 1985, 24, 1857-1860.
- 870. Evans, D. F.; Parr, J.; Rahman, S.; Slawin, A. M. Z.; Williams, D. J.; Wong, C. Y.; Woollins, J. D. Polyhedron 1993, 12, 337-341.
- 871. Hefele, H.; Ludwig, E.; Bansse, W. U. E.; Luegger, T.; Hahn, E.; Mehner, H. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1995, 621, 671–674.
- 872. Auerbach, U.; Weyhermueller, T.; Wieghardt, K.; Nuber, B.; Bill, E.; Butzlaff, C.; Trautwein, A. X. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 508-519.
- 873. Tofan, D. C.; Dickman, M. H.; Earley, J. E. Inorg. Chim. Acta 2001, 319, 63-66.
- 874. Keshavan, B.; Seetharamappa, J. Indian J. Chem., Sect. A 1988, 27A, 815-818.
- 875. Macias, A.; Garcia, C.; De Blas, A.; Rodriguez, T.; Bastida, R.; Sousa, A. An. Quim. 1992, 88, 337-341.
- 876. Singh, Y.; Sharan, R.; Kapoor, R. N. Indian J. Chem., Sect. A 1985, 24A, 972-974.
- 877. Swarup, R.; Singh, B.; Singh, M. P.; Singh, Y. Synth. Met. 1993, 55, 809-814.
- 878. Singh, M. S.; Khan, S.; Tripathi, U. N. Phosphorus, Sulfur Silicon Relat. Elem. 1997, 130, 107-113.
- 879. Shetti, S. N.; Murty, A. S.; Tembe, G. L. Transition Met. Chem. (London) 1993, 18, 467-472.
- 880. Arjmand, F.; Tabassum, S.; Zaidi, S. A. A.; Siddiqi, K. S. Main Group Met. Chem. 1994, 17, 619-622.
- 881. Roesky, H. W.; Meller-Rehbein, B.; Noltemeyer, M. Z. Naturforsch., B: Chem. Sci. 1991, 46, 1117-1121.
- 882. Meller-Rehbein, B.; Roesky, H. W.; Noltemeyer, M. Chem. Ber. 1991, 124, 523-526.
- 883. Bochmann, M.; Bwembya, G. C.; Whilton, N.; Song, X.; Hursthouse, M. B.; Coles, S. J.; Karaulov, A. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1995, 1887-1892.
- 884. Chadwell, S. J.; Coles, S. J.; Edwards, P. G.; Hursthouse, M. B. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1996, 1105-1112.
- 885. Kanjolia, R. K.; Narula, C. K.; Gupta, V. D. Curr. Sci. 1982, 51, 983-986. 886. Wen, T.-B.; Kang, B.-S.; Su, C.-Y.; Wu, D.-X.; Wang, L.-G.; Liao, S.; Liu, H.-Q. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1998, 71, 2339-2343.
- 887. Wen, T.-B.; Wu, D.-X.; Shi, J.-C.; Chen, C.-N.; Liu, H.-Q.; Kang, B.-S. J. Coord. Chem. 1997, 42, 11-23.
- 888. Sernetz, F. G.; Muelhaupt, R.; Fokken, S.; Okuda, J. Macromolecules 1997, 30, 1562–1569.

- 889. Fokken, S.; Spaniol, T. P.; Kang, H.-C.; Massa, W.; Okuda, J. Organometallics 1996, 15, 5069-5072.
- Nakayama, Y.; Watanabe, K.; Ueyama, N.; Nakamura, A.; Harada, A.; Okuda, J. Organometallics 2000, 19, 2498–2503.
- 891. Kakugo, M.; Miyatake, T.; Mizunuma, K. Stud. Surf. Sci. Catal. 1990, 56, 517-529.
- 892. Miyatake, T.; Mizunuma, K.; Kakugo, M. Makromol. Chem., Macromol. Symp. 1993, 66, 203-214.
- 893. Miyatake, T.; Mizunuma, K.; Seki, Y.; Kakugo, M. Makromol. Chem., Rapid Commun. 1989, 10, 349-352.
- 894. Okuda, J.; Fokken, S.; Kleinhenn, T.; Spaniol, T. P. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 1321-1326.
- 895. Srivastava, P. C.; Kumar, R. J. Indian Chem. Soc. 1983, 60, 14-18.
- 896. Degaonkar, M. P.; Gopinathan, S.; Gopinathan, C. Indian J. Chem., Sect. A 1989, 28A, 678-682.
- 897. Degaonkar, M. P.; Gopinathan, S.; Gopinathan, C. Synth. React. Inorg. Met. Org. Chem. 1989, 19, 613-625.
- 898. Tandon, J. P.; Singh, R. V.; Mookerjee, M. N.; Mital, S. P. Curr. Sci. 1982, 51, 333-335.
- 899. Singh, M. S.; Narayan, P.; Singh, A. K. Phosphorus, Sulfur Silicon Relat. Elem. 1999, 155, 245-252.
- 900. Matsubara, S.; Ukai, K.; Mizuno, T.; Utimoto, K. Chem. Lett. 1999, 825-826.
- 901. Hashimoto, Y.; Mizuno, U.; Matsuoka, H.; Miyahara, T.; Takakura, M.; Yoshimoto, M.; Oshima, K.; Utimoto, K.; Matsubara, S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 1503–1504.
- 902. Hashimoto, Y.; Mizuno, U.; Matsuoka, H.; Miyahara, T.; Takakura, M.; Yoshimoto, M.; Oshima, K.; Utimoto, K.; Matsubara, S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 4869.
- 903. Fuerstner, A.; Bogdanovic, B. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1996, 35, 2443-2469.
- 904. Putzer, M. A.; Lachicotte, R. J.; Bazan, G. C. Inorg. Chem. Commun. 1999, 2, 319-322.
- 905. Jensen, J. A.; Girolami, G. S. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1986, 1160-1162
- 906. Jensen, J. A.; Wilson, S. R.; Girolami, G. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1988, 110, 4977-4982.
- 907. Volatron, F.; Duran, M.; Lledos, A.; Jean, Y. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 951-954.
- 908. Dain, C. J.; Downs, A. J.; Goode, M. J.; Evans, D. G.; Nicholls, K. T.; Rankin, D. W. H.; Robertson, H. E. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1991, 967–977.
- 909. Noeth, H.; Thomann, M.; Bremer, M.; Wagner, G. Spec. Publ. R. Soc. Chem. 1994, 143, 387-391.
- 910. Ravikumar, K. S.; Baskaran, S.; Chandrasekaran, S. J. Org. Chem. 1993, 58, 5981–5982.
- 911. Kumar, K. S. R.; Baskaran, S.; Chandrasekaran, S. Tetrahedron Lett. 1993, 34, 171-174.
- 912. Scoles, L.; Gambarotta, S. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1995, 235, 375-380.
- 913. Entley, W. R.; Treadway, C. R.; Wilson, S. R.; Girolami, G. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 6251-6258.
- 914. Salinero, M. C.; Mendiola, M. A.; Masaguer, J. R.; Molleda, C. Transition Met. Chem. (London) 1987, 12, 381-384.
- 915. Chen, L.; Cotton, F. A. Polyhedron 1998, 17, 3727-3734.
- 916. Arvind, ; Sayeed, M.; Iftikhar, K.; Ahmad, N. Indian J. Chem., Sect. A: Inorg., Bio-inorg., Phys., Theor. Anal. Chem. 1995, 34A, 79–82.
- 917. Jeske, P.; Wieghardt, K.; Nuber, B. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 47-53.
- 918. Troyanov, S. I.; Furkalyuk, M. Y.; Simonov, M. A. Vestn. Mosk. Univ., Ser. 2: Khim. 1989, 30, 281-285.
- 919. Troyanov, S. I.; Yanovskii, A. I.; Struchkov, Y. T. Russ. J. Coord. Chem. (Transl. of Koord. Khim.) 1995, 21, 318-320.
- 920. Bodner, A.; Drueke, S.; Wieghardt, K.; Nuber, B.; Weiss, J. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1990, 29, 68-70.
- 921. Bodner, A.; Della Vedova, B. S. P. C.; Wieghardt, K.; Nuber, B.; Weiss, J. J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Commun. 1990, 1042–1043.
- 922. Bettenhausen, R.; Milius, W.; Schnick, W. Z. Naturforsch., B: Chem. Sci. 1998, 53, 239-241.
- 923. Putzer, M. A.; Magull, J.; Goesmann, H.; Neumueller, B.; Dehnicke, K. Chem. Ber. 1996, 129, 1401-1405.
- 924. Beydoun, N.; Duchateau, R.; Gambarotta, S. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1992, 244-246.
- 925. Berno, P.; Gambarotta, S.; Kotila, S.; Erker, G. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 1996, 779-780.
- 926. Wanandi, P. W.; Davis, W. M.; Cummins, C. C.; Russell, M. A.; Wilcox, D. E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 2110–2111.
- 927. Franceschi, F.; Solari, E.; Floriani, C.; Rosi, M.; Chiesi-Villa, A.; Rizzoli, C. Chem.-Eur. J. 1999, 5, 708-721.
- 928. Cotton, F. A.; Wojtczak, W. A. Gazz. Chim. Ital. 1993, 123, 499-507.
- 929. Hao, S.; Feghali, K.; Gambarotta, S. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 1745-1748.
- 930. Dick, D. G.; Edema, J. J. H.; Duchateau, R.; Gambarotta, S. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 1959-1962.
- 931. Hagadorn, J. R.; Arnold, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 893-894.
- 932. Bai, G.; Roesky, H. W.; Noltemeyer, M.; Hao, H.; Schmidt, H.-G. Organometallics 2000, 19, 2823–2825.
- 933. Kim, W.-K.; Fevola, M. J.; Liable-Sands, L. M.; Rheingold, A. L.; Theopold, K. H. Organometallics 1998, 17, 4541–4543.
- 934. Budzelaar, P. H. M.; Van Oort, A. B.; Orpen, A. G. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 1485–1494.
- 935. Drevs, H.; Schmeisser, A.; Hartung, H.; Baumeister, U. Chem. Ber. 1996, 129, 853-857.
- 936. Spannenberg, A.; Tillack, A.; Arndt, P.; Kirmse, R.; Kempe, R. Polyhedron 1998, 17, 845-850.
- 937. Mosch-Zanetti, N. C.; Kratzner, R.; Lehmann, C.; Schneider, T. R.; Uson, I. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 13-16.
- 938. Flamini, A.; Giuliani, A. M. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1986, 112, L7-L9.
- 939. Goddard, R.; Krueger, C.; Abdul Hadi, G.; Thiele, K. H.; Scholz, J. Z. Naturforsch., B: Chem. Sci. 1994, 49, 519-528.
- 940. Thiele, K.-H.; Richter, B.; Neumueller, B. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1994, 620, 1627–1630.
- 941. Wills, A. R.; Edwards, P. G.; Short, R. L.; Hursthouse, M. B. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1988, 115-117.
- 942. Wills, A. R.; Edwards, P. G. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1989, 1253-1257.
- 943. Hughes, D. L.; Leigh, G. J.; Walker, D. G. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1988, 1153-1157.
- 944. Love, J. B.; Clark, H. C. S.; Cloke, F. G. N.; Green, J. C.; Hitchcock, P. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 6843-6849.
- 945. Ciurli, S.; Floriani, C.; Chiesi-Villa, A.; Guastini, C. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1986, 1401–1403.
- 946. Boreham, C. J.; Buisson, G.; Duee, E.; Jordanov, J.; Latour, J. M.; Marchon, J. C. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1983, 70, 77-82.
- 947. Hermes, A. R.; Girolami, G. S. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 313-317.
- 948. Chen, L.; Cotton, F. A.; Dunbar, K. R.; Feng, X.; Heintz, R. A.; Uzelmeir, C. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 7358-7363.
- 949. Troyanov, S. I.; Meetsma, A.; Teuben, J. H. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1998, 271, 180-186.
- 950. Fenske, D.; Grissinger, A.; Hey-Hawkins, E. M.; Magull, J. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1991, 595, 57-66.
- 951. Folting, K.; Huffman, J. C.; Bansemer, R. L.; Caulton, K. G. Inorg. Chem. 1984, 23, 3289–3292.

- 952. Janas, Z.; Sobota, P.; Lis, T. Polyhedron 1988, 7, 2655-2658.
- 953. Sobota, P.; Ejfler, J.; Szafert, S.; Szczegot, K.; Sawka-Dobrowolska, W. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1993, 2353–2357.
- 954. Rabe, G. W.; Rheingold, A. L.; Concolino, T. E. Z. Kristallogr. New Cryst. Struct. 1999, 214, 574-576.
- 955. Neumueller, B.; Heshmatpour, F.; Dehnicke, K. Z. Naturforsch., B: Chem. Sci. 1996, 51, 602-604.
- 956. Oleinik, Z.; Lis, T.; Utko, J.; Sobota, P. Acta Crystallogr., Sect. C: Cryst. Struct. Commun. 1996, C52, 847-850.
- 957. Sobota, P.; Ejfler, J.; Utko, J.; Lis, T. J. Organomet. Chem. 1991, 410, 149-157.
- Robinson, E. A.; Earley, J. E. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 4128–4131.
 Barone, P.; Earley, J. E. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 27, 1378–1382.
- 960. Liu, B. Y.; Wagner, P. A.; Earley, J. E. Inorg. Chem. 1984, 23, 2772–2777.
- 961. Bose, R. N.; Earley, J. E. Polyhedron 1984, 3, 639.
- 962. Bose, R. N.; Wagner, P. A.; Earley, J. E. Inorg. Chem. 1984, 23, 1132-1134.
- 963. Bose, R. N.; Earley, J. E. Inorg. Chim. Acta. 1984, 82, L7.
- 964. Bose, R. N.; Earley, J. E. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1983, 59-60.
- 965. Earley, J. E.; Bose, R. N.; Berrie, B. H. Inorg. Chem. 1983, 22, 1836-1839.
- 966. Kelley, R. A.; Earley, J. E. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1983, 76, L167.
- 967. Berrie, B. H.; Earley, J. E. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1982, 471-472.
- 968. Berrie, B. H.; Earley, J. E. Inorg. Chem. 1984, 23, 774-778.
- 969. Olubuyide, O.; Lu, K.; Oyetunji, A. O.; Earley, J. E. Inorg. Chem. 1986, 25, 4798-4799.
- 970. Johnson, C. R.; Myser, T. K.; Shepherd, R. E. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 27, 1089–1095.
- 971. Makhyoun, M. A. Theor. Chim. Acta 1988, 74, 157–163.
- 972. Tregenna-Piggott, P. L. W.; Guedel, H.-U. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 5497-5506.
- 973. Aquino, M. A. S.; Clegg, W.; Liu, Q.-T.; Sykes, A. G. Acta Crystallogr., Sect. C: Cryst. Struct. Commun. 1995, C51, 560–562.
- 974. Kiriazis, L.; Mattes, R. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1991, 593, 90-98.
- 975. Chen, L.; Cotton, F. A. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1998, 267, 271-279.
- 976. Giannetti, E.; Albizzati, E. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1983, 74, 215-220.
- 977. Mazzanti, M.; Floriani, C.; Chiesi-Villa, A.; Guastini, C. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1989, 1793–1798.
- 978. Hill, J. E.; Nash, J. M.; Fanwick, P. E.; Rothwell, I. P. Polyhedron 1990, 9, 1617-1619.
- 979. Durfee, L. D.; Fanwick, P. E.; Rothwell, I. P.; Folting, K.; Huffman, J. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 4720-4722.
- 980. Minhas, R.; Duchateau, R.; Gambarotta, S.; Bensimon, C. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 4933–4938.
- 981. Piarulli, U.; Rogers, A. J.; Floriani, C.; Gervasio, G.; Viterbo, D. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 6127–6133.
- 982. Covert, K. J.; Neithamer, D. R.; Zonnevylle, M. C.; LaPointe, R. E.; Schaller, C. P.; Wolczanski, P. T. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 2494–2508.
- 983. Covert, K. J.; Wolczanski, P. T.; Hill, S. A.; Krusic, P. J. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 66-78.
- 984. Feher, F. J.; Gonzales, S. L.; Ziller, J. W. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 27, 3440-3442.
- 985. Feher, F. J.; Walzer, J. F. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 1604-1611.
- 986. Sharpe, P.; Eyler, J. R.; Richardson, D. E. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 2779-2787.
- 987. Islam, M. S.; Alam, M. A. J. Indian Chem. Soc. 1999, 76, 255-257.
- 988. Belli Dell'Amico, D.; Calderazzo, F.; Giurlani, U.; Pelizzi, G. Chem. Ber. 1987, 120, 955-964.
- 989. Eve, D. J.; Niven, M. L. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1990, 174, 205-208.
- 990. Oyetunji, A. O.; Olubuyide, O.; Ojo, J. F.; Earley, J. E. Polyhedron 1991, 10, 829-835.
- 991. Lu, K.; Ojo, J. F.; Earley, J. E. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 27, 2325-2330.
- 992. Eveland, R. W.; Raymond, C. C.; Shriver, D. F. Organometallics 1999, 18, 534-539.
- 993. Trojanov, S.; Stiewe, A.; Kemnitz, E. Z. Naturforsch., B: Chem. Sci. 1996, 51, 19-24.
- 994. Hassan, M. K.; Abd-Alla, M. A.; Hasan, R. M. J. Macromol. Sci., Chem. 1990, 1501-1512.
- 995. Reddy, K. R.; Reddy, K. L.; Reddy, K. A. Indian J. Chem., Sect. A 1989, 28A, 916-918.
- 996. Islam, M. S.; Farooque, A.; Bodruddoza, M. A. K. Orient. J. Chem. 2000, 16, 257-264.
- 997. Mazzanti, M.; Rosset, J. M.; Floriani, C.; Chiesi-Villa, A.; Guastini, C. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1989, 953-957.
- 998. Solari, E.; Corazza, F.; Floriani, C.; Chiesi-Villa, A.; Guastini, C. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1990, 1345–1355.
- 999. Singh, B.; Tiwari, H. N. J. Indian Chem. Soc. 1983, 60, 526-528.
- 1000. Kumar, M.; Sharma, S.; Sharma, T. J. Indian Chem. Soc. 1988, 65, 709-710.
- 1001. Fuchs, M.; Kuchen, W.; Peters, W. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1987, 545, 75-82.
- 1002. Hitchcock, P. B.; Lappert, M. F.; MacKinnon, I. A. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1993, 1015-1017.
- 1003. Narula, S. P.; Sharma, H. K. Inorg. Synth. 1986, 24, 181-182.
- 1004. Hermes, A. R.; Girolami, G. S. Inorg. Synth. 1998, 32, 309-310.
- 1005. Slaughter, L. M.; Wolczanski, P. T. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 1997, 2109-2110.
- 1006. Eisch, J. J.; Shi, X.; Lasota, J. Z. Naturforsch., B: Chem. Sci. 1995, 50, 342-350.
- 1007. Matsubara, S.; Hashimoto, Y.; Okano, T.; Utimoto, K. Synlett 1999, 1411-1412.
- 1008. Mukaiyama, T.; Kagayama, A.; Shiina, I. Chem. Lett. 1998, 1107-1108.
- 1009. Kagayama, A.; Igarashi, K.; Mukaiyama, T. Can. J. Chem. 2000, 78, 657-665.
- 1010. Aleandri, L. E.; Becke, S.; Bogdanovic, B.; Jones, D. J.; Roziere, J. J. Organomet. Chem. 1994, 472, 97-112.
- 1011. Pons, J. M.; Santelli, M. Tetrahedron 1988, 44, 4295-4312.
- 1012. Villiers, C.; Ephritikhine, M. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1997, 36, 2380-2382.
- 1013. Dams, R.; Malinowski, M.; Westdorp, I.; Geise, H. J. Org. Chem. 1982, 47, 248-259.
- 1014. Edema, J. J. H.; Duchateau, R.; Gambarotta, S.; Hynes, R.; Gabe, E. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 154-156.
- 1015. Araya, M. A.; Cotton, F. A.; Matonic, J. H.; Murillo, C. A. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 5424-5428.
- 1016. Klinga, M.; Leskela, M.; Matilainen, L. Z. Kristallogr. 1996, 211, 506.
- 1017. Duchateau, R.; Gambarotta, S.; Beydoun, N.; Bensimon, C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 8986-8988.
- 1018. Edema, J. J. H.; Gambarotta, S.; Duchateau, R.; Bensimon, C. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 3585-3587.
- 1019. Woo, L. K.; Hays, J. A.; Jacobson, R. A.; Day, C. L. Organometallics 1991, 10, 2102-2104.
- 1020. Woo, L. K.; Hays, J. A.; Young, V. G.Jr.; Day, C. L.; Caron, C.; D'Souza, F.; Kadish, K. M. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 4186–4192.

- 1021. Wang, X.; Gray, S. D.; Chen, J.; Woo, L. K. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 5-9.
- 1022. Thorman, J. L.; Young, V. G.Jr.; Boyd, P. D. W.; Guzei, I. A.; Woo, L. K. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 499–506. 1023. Wang, X.; Woo, L. K. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 63, 356–360.
- 1024. Girolami, G. S.; Wilkinson, G.; Galas, A. M. R.; Thornton-Pett, M.; Hursthouse, M. B. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1985, 1339–1348.
- 1025. Morris, R. J.; Girolami, G. S. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 4167-4169.
- 1026. Jensen, J. A.; Wilson, S. R.; Schultz, A. J.; Girolami, G. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 8094-8096.
- 1027. Simpson, C. Q. II; Hall, M. B.; Guest, M. F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 2898-2903.
- 1028. Spencer, M. D.; Girolami, G. S. J. Organomet. Chem. 1994, 483, 99-106.
- 1029. Hassiruzzaman, M.; Mustafa, A. I.; Hossain, M. A. Bangladesh J. Sci. Ind. Res. 1996, 31, 71-79.
- 1030. Hassiruzzaman, M.; Mustafa, A. I.; Hossain, M. A. Bangladesh J. Sci. Ind. Res. 1997, 32, 53-56.
- 1031. Chi, K. M.; Frerichs, S. R.; Stein, B. K.; Blackburn, D. W.; Ellis, J. E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1988, 110, 163-171.
- 1032. Domaille, P. J.; Harlow, R. L.; Wreford, S. S. Organometallics 1982, 1, 935-938.
- 1033. Blackburn, D. W.; Chi, K. M.; Frerichs, S. R.; Tinkham, M. L.; Ellis, J. E. Angew. Chem. 1988, 100, 408-409.
- 1034. Gardner, T. G.; Girolami, G. S. Organometallics 1987, 6, 2551-2556.
- 1035. Ellis, J. E.; DiMaio, A. J.; Rheingold, A. L.; Haggerty, B. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 10676-10677.
- 1036. Chi, K. M.; Frerichs, S. R.; Ellis, J. E. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1988, 1013-1015.
- 1037. Fischer, P. J.; Young, V. G.Jr.; Ellis, J. E. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2000, 39, 189-191.
- 1038. Ellis, J. E.; Yuen, P. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 4998-4999.
- 1039. Tripepi, G.; Young, V. G.Jr.; Ellis, J. E. J. Organomet. Chem. 2000, 593-594, 354-360.
- 1040. Fischer, P. J.; Yuen, P.; Young, V. G.Jr.; Ellis, J. E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 5980-5981.
- 1041. Wucherer, E. J.; Muetterties, E. L. Organometallics 1987, 6, 1691-1695.
- 1042. Wucherer, E. J.; Muetterties, E. L. Organometallics 1987, 6, 1696-1702.
- 1043. Cloke, F. G. N.; De Lemos, H. C.; Sameh, A. A. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1986, 1344-1345.
- 1044. Boennemann, H.; Korall, B. Angew. Chem. 1992, 104, 1506–1508(See also Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl., 1992, 1531(1511), 1490–1502.
- 1045. Chi, K. M.; Frerichs, S. R.; Philson, S. B.; Ellis, J. E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1988, 110, 303-304.
- 1046. Ellis, J. E.; Chi, K. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 6022-6025.
- 1047. Ellis, J. E. Polyhedron 1989, 8, 1611-1614.
- 1048. Fischer, P. J.; Young, V. G.Jr.; Ellis, J. E. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 1997, 1249-1250.

Comprehensive Coordination Chemistry II

ISBN (set): 0-08-0437486

No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in any retrieval system or transmitted in any form or by any means electronic, electrostatic, magnetic tape, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise, without permission in writing from the publishers
4.3 Zirconium and Hafnium

E. HOLLINK and D. W. STEPHAN University of Windsor, ON, Canada

4.3.1 INTRODUCTION	106
4.3.2 ZIRCONIUM(IV) AND HAFNIUM(IV)	106
4.3.2.1 Boron-based Ligand Complexes	106
4.3.2.1.1 Carborane ligand complexes	106
4.3.2.2 Silicon-based Ligand Complexes	107
4.3.2.3 Tin-based Ligand Complexes	108
4.3.2.4 Nitrogen-based Ligand Complexes	108
4.3.2.4.1 Neutral nitrogen ligand complexes	108
4.3.2.4.2 Amido ligand complexes	109
4.3.2.4.3 Phosphinimido ligand complexes	110
4.3.2.4.4 Imido ligand complexes	110
4.3.2.4.5 Aminidato and guanidinato ligand complexes	112
4.3.2.4.6 Diketinimato ligand complexes	112
4.3.2.4.7 Amido-bidentate ligand complexes	113
4.3.2.4.8 Miscellaneous monoanionic bidentate ligand complexes	114
4.3.2.4.9 Dianionic bidentate ligand complexes	115
4.3.2.4.10 Monoanionic tridentate ligand complexes	117
4.3.2.4.11 Pyrazolylborate ligand complexes	118
4.3.2.4.12 Dianionic tridentate ligand complexes	118
4.3.2.4.13 Trianionic tripodal ligand complexes	120
4.3.2.4.14 Dianionic tetradentate ligand complexes	120
4.3.2.4.15 Trianionic tetradentate ligand complexes	121
4.3.2.4.16 Porphyrinato ligand complexes	121
4.3.2.4.17 Porphyrinogen ligand complexes	123
4.3.2.4.18 Tetraazaporphyrin and phthalocyaninate ligand complexes	125
4.3.2.4.19 Tetraanionic tetradentate ligand complexes	126
4.3.2.5 Phosphorus Ligand Complexes	126
4.3.2.5.1 Neutral phosphorus ligand complexes	126
4.3.2.5.2 Phosphido ligand complexes	127
4.3.2.6 Oxygen-based Ligand Complexes	127
4.3.2.6.1 Neutral oxygen ligand complexes	127
4.3.2.6.2 Oxide, hydroxide, and peroxo ligand complexes	128
4.3.2.0.3 Alkoxide ligand complexes	129
4.3.2.0.4 Suoxide ligand complexes	130
4.3.2.6.5 Heterometallic alkoxide complexes	131
4.3.2.6.0 Diketonate ligana complexes	133
4.3.2.6.7 Keto-alkoxiae blaentate ligana complexes	134
4.3.2.6.8 Carboxylate, carbamate, and oxylate figuna complexes	154
4.3.2.6.9 Curbonale complexes	155
4.3.2.6.11 Disilorano ligand complexes	130
4.3.2.6.12 Nituate and sulfate ligand complexes	13/
4.3.2.6.12 Nutrate and subjute ligand complexes	130
4.3.2.6.14 Dianionic tridentate ligand complexes	130
4.3.2.6.15 Trianionic tridentate ligand complexes	130
4.3.2.6.16 Monoanionic trinodal ligand complexes	139
4.3.2.6.17 Trianionic tripodal ligand complexes	139
4.3.2.6.18 Dianionic tetradentate ligand complexes	140
4.3.2.6.10 Trianionic tetradentate ligand complexes	140
1.5.2.5.17 I nanone ten adenate ugana complexes	171

4.3.2.6.20 Higher denticity ligand complexes	141
4.3.2.7 Sulfur, Selenium, and Tellerium Ligand Complexes	141
4.3.2.7.1 Neutral sulfur, selenium, and tellerium ligand complexes	141
4.3.2.7.2 Sulfide, selenide, and telluride complexes	142
4.3.2.7.3 Thiolato, selenolato, and tellurolato ligand complexes	143
4.3.2.7.4 Dithiocarbamate and dithiophosphate ligand complexes	143
4.3.2.7.5 Selenocyanato complexes	143
4.3.2.8 Halometallate Complexes	143
4.3.2.8.1 Fluorometallate complexes	143
4.3.2.8.2 Chlorometallate complexes	144
4.3.2.8.3 Mixed halide metallate complexes	145
4.3.2.9 Hydride and Borohydride Ligand Complexes	145
4.3.2.9.1 Hydride ligand complexes	145
4.3.2.9.2 Borohydride ligand complexes	146
4.3.2.9.3 Mixed hydride–borohydride complexes	147
4.3.2.10 Metal–Metal Bonded Compounds	147
4.3.2.11 Mixed Donor Ligand Complexes	148
<i>4.3.2.11.1 C, N bidentate ligand complexes</i>	148
4.3.2.11.2 C, P bidentate ligand complexes	149
4.3.2.11.3 Monoanionic N, O bidentate ligand complexes	149
4.3.2.11.4 Dianionic N, O bidentate ligand complexes	150
4.3.2.11.5 N_2O tridentate ligand complexes	150
4.3.2.11.6 NO_2 tridentate ligand complexes	151
4.3.2.11.7 N, O tripodal ligand complexes	153
4.3.2.11.8 N, O tetradentate ligand complexes	153
4.3.2.11.9 >4 Denticity N, O ligand complexes	154
4.3.2.11.10 N, P ligand complexes	155
<i>4.3.2.11.11</i> N, S bidentate ligand complexes	156
4.3.2.11.12 O, P bidentate ligand complexes	156
4.3.2.11.13 O, S bidenate ligand complexes	156
4.3.2.11.14 O, N, S tridentate ligand complexes	156
4.3.3 ZIRCONIUM(III) AND HAFNIUM(III)	157
4.3.4 ZIRCONIUM(II) AND HAFNIUM(II)	158
4.3.5 ZIRCONIUM(0) AND HAFNIUM(0)	159
4.3.6 NEGATIVE OXIDATION STATES OF ZIRCONIUM AND HAFNIUM	160
4.3.7 REFERENCES	160

4.3.1 INTRODUCTION

There has been tremendous growth in the chemistry of zirconium and hafnium since the 1960s. Many of the developments have been the result of efforts to uncover new applications. One of the major driving forces has been the rising importance of "single-site" alkene polymerization catalysis and catalysis in general. Other motivations have included a variety of strategies to develop molecular compounds as precursors to specific solid-state materials. In all cases, the fundamental chemical issues often are reduced to the development of new coordination chemistry.

In this chapter, we review the progress in coordination chemistry of zirconium and hafnium from the 1960s to 2002. Thus, this chapter was written as an extension of the previous issue of *Comprehensive Coordination Chemistry (CCC*, 1987). In defining the scope of this review, we have specifically limited the discussion to exclude compounds deemed to be principally organometallic in nature.

4.3.2 ZIRCONIUM(IV) AND HAFNIUM(IV)

4.3.2.1 Boron-based Ligand Complexes

4.3.2.1.1 Carborane ligand complexes

The zwitterionic complex $[Li(THF)_2]$ $[ZrCl{C_2B_4H_4(SiMe_3)_2}_2(THF)]$ (1) was prepared and characterized crystallographically. The carborane ligands were bound in a η^5 -fashion, thus resembling a metallocene.¹ A subsequent study expanded the chemistry to include related carborane derivatives, as well as Hf analogs.²

Related Zr carborane complexes $Zr(por)(\eta^5-1,2-C_2B_9H_{11})$ (por = TPP, octaethylporphyrin (OEP)) that incorporate porphyrin ligands were readily synthesized from reaction of the

 $ZrCl_2(por)$ precursor with the Tl or Na salt of the dianionic carborane.^{3,4} X-ray structural data for Zr(OEP) (η^5 -1,2-C₂B₉H₁₁) confirmed the η^5 -bonding mode of the carborane.

Using an alternative synthetic approach, $Zr(\eta^{5}-1,2-C_2B_9H_{11})(NEt_2)_2(NHEt_2)$ was derived from reaction of the neutral carborane ligand $C_2B_9H_{13}$ with $Zr(NEt_2)_4$. The amine donor was readily exchanged with THF or 4-picoline.⁵ Alternatively, the amido ligands were replaced by Cl atoms upon reaction with $[NH_2Et_2]Cl$, providing $ZrCl_2(\eta^{5}-1,2-C_2B_9H_{11})(NHEt_2)$. Upon activation, the bis-amido species $Zr(\eta^{5}-1,2-C_2B_9H_{11})(NEt_2)_2(NHEt_2)$ exhibited good activity for the polymerization of C_2H_4 and copolymerization of C_2H_4 /norbornene.^{6,7}

The complexes $M(\eta^5 - \eta^1 - RC_2B_9H_9 - CH_2NMe_2)_2$ (M = Zr (2), Hf) and *closo*-1-ZrCl[(NHCH₂)- $\eta^5 - C_2B_9H_{10}$](THF)^{8,9} with chelating amino or amido groups were prepared. The former species were obtained by addition of the monoanionic ligand to MCl₄, whereas the latter was derived employing the dianionic salt of the ligand. Evaluation of these compounds as precatalysts for polymerization has yet to be reported.

The species $ZrCl_2(Et_2C_2B_4H_4)(PMe_3)_2$ was derived from the reaction of $ZrCl_4(PMe_3)_2$ with one equivalent of $Li_2[Et_2C_2B_4H_4]$.¹⁰ Although it decomposed in solution, exchange of PMe₃ with $(Me_2PCH_2)_2CH_2$ gave the air-sensitive but thermally stable analog $ZrCl_2(Et_2C_2B_4H_4)[(Me_2PCH_2)_2-CH_2]$ (3).



4.3.2.2 Silicon-based Ligand Complexes

Zr—Si bonds in the absence of anionic π -donor ligands are quite rare. The compound Zr(OBu¹)₃ [Si(SiMe₃)₃]¹¹ was prepared via treatment of ZrCl(OBu^t)₃ with LiSi(SiMe₃)₃. Subsequently, ZrCl(OSiMe₃)₂(SiPh₂Buⁱ)¹² was also described. These compounds have been characterized structurally and the Zr—Si bond lengths were found to be 2.848(3) Å and 2.753(4) Å, respectively. It was suggested that the presence of the π -donating alkoxide ligands provided stability. This was consistent with preliminary results that indicated Zr(OBu^t)₃ [Si(SiMe₃)₃] did not react with CO, C₂H₄, or PhSiH₃.¹¹ The compounds ZrR₃[Si(SiMe₃)₃] (R = CH₂Bu^t, CH₂SiMe₃) were prepared and found to be photosensitive but thermally stable in the solid state.^{13,14} RNC insertions into Zr—Si bonds of ZrR₃[Si(EMe₃)₃] (E = C, Si) were found to depend on the steric properties of the ancillary ligands and the substrates.^{15,16}

Amido ligands have also been exploited to stabilize Zr and Hf silyl complexes. Metathesis of halides with Li-silylides was used to prepare $M(NMe_2)_2(NR^1_2)(SiR^2_3)$ (M = Zr, Hf; R¹ = Me, SiMe_3; R² = (SiMe_3)_3, Ph_2Bu^t). Of these, only those containing the bulky silyl ligand Si(SiMe_3)_3 were thermally robust.¹⁷ Reaction with excess LiSiPh_2Bu^t afforded the salt Li[Zr(NMe_2)_3(SiPh_2Bu^t)_2] (4), which was characterized crystallographically.¹⁸ The two Si-groups adopted a *trans* disposition of a distorted trigonal bipyramidal geometry, with relatively long Zr—Si distances of 2.933,1(14) Å.

In a recent report, reaction of $M(NMe_2)_4$ (M = Zr, Hf) with SiR¹PhH₂ (R¹ = H, Me, Ph) yielded equilibria among Zr(NMe₂)₃[Si(SiMe₃)₃], Zr(NMe₂)₂[Si(SiMe₃)₃]H, SiPhR²H₂, and SiPhR²(NMe₂)H.¹⁹ It is noteworthy that the Zr—Si bonds in this series of compounds were unreactive.



4.3.2.3 Tin-based Ligand Complexes

Sn-based donor complexes are rare for Zr and Hf. However, $ZrCl_4[SnCl_2(NC_5H_5)]_2$ was prepared from the reaction of the Sn^{II} species with ZrCl₄. The Mössbauer spectrum of this product suggested that the 5*s* electron density of the Sn donors remained localized at the Sn sites.²⁰ A more recent report described the synthesis of the Zr–Sn complex $Zr[{(MeC_6H_4)NSiMe_2}_3SiMe]$ (SnPh₃).²¹

4.3.2.4 Nitrogen-based Ligand Complexes

4.3.2.4.1 Neutral nitrogen ligand complexes

Simple amine adducts of Zr and Hf have been known for many years. A recent study has described the syntheses of $MF_4(NH_3)$ (M = Zr, Hf) via oxidation of the metal with NH_4HF_2 .²² Additional monodentate N-donors including benzothiazole²³ and 2-methylthiazoline²⁴ have been used to form adducts of the form MCl_4L_2 . In a similar fashion, use of the sterically demanding amine (TMS)₂NH formed ZrCl₄[(TMS)₂NH].²⁵ Upon pyrolysis above 1,075 °C, this adduct gave ZrN.

Phosphinimine ligands have also been exploited to prepare $ZrCl_4(Ph_3PNSiMe_3)$. The fivecoordinate nature of this species was attributed to the steric demands of the ligand, which presumably precluded coordination of a second equivalent of the phosphinimine to the metal center.²⁶ The related oxo-bridged product $Zr_2OCl_6(TMSNPMe_3)_2$ was also characterized structurally.²⁷ Very recently, a related bimetallic adduct $(ZrCl_4)_2[(SiMe_3NPPh_2)_2C_5H_3N]$ was prepared from the bis-phosphinimine-pyridine ligand.²⁸

Other bidentate N-donor ligands such as 2,2'-bi-2-thiazoline (bt) and 2,2'-bi-thiazine (btz) formed adducts with $ZrCl_4$.²⁹ In the former case, $ZrCl_4(bt)_2$ was formally eight coordinate, while the latter $ZrCl_4(btz)$ adopted a more conventional pseudo-octahedral geometry. The difference was attributed to steric crowding. In the complex $Zr(NO_3)_4(PA)_2$ (PA = pyrrolealdazine), IR spectroscopy suggested that the N₄-ligand was in fact tridentate.³⁰

The species $ZrCl_4 \cdot 1.5(Me_2NCH_2CH_2NMe_2)$ was described as a polymeric material.³¹ Similarly, the Schiff-bases, 5,5'-methylene-bis(salicyaldehyde)³² and *N*,*N*-bis(8-acetyl-7-hydroxy-4-methyl-coumarin)hydrazone³³ were used to prepare complexes MCl₄(L). A series of Schiff-bases derived from the condensation of acetylferrocene with diamines have also been used to complex HfCl₄.³⁴ Two additional reports described tetradentate macrocyclic Schiff-base complexes of ZrOX₂ formulated generally as ZrOX₂(L) (X = ClO₄, NO₃, BF₄, Cl, SCN) and Zr(OH)₂Cl₂(L).^{35–38} Finally, the complex ZrCl₄(DAD) (DAD = 1,4-diaza-1,2,3,4-tetraphenyl-1,3-butadiene)³⁹ was prepared and formulated as a typical pseudo-octahedral complex.

Complexation of MCl₄ (M = Zr, Hf) with the metal-amide complex Ti(NMe₂)₄ has been described. The products were thought to contain two bridging amide groups and thus *cis*-six-coordinate Zr or Hf centers.⁴⁰ Unique mixed-metal complexes were derived from coordination of *trans*-ReCl(N₂)(PMe₂Ph)₄ to MCl₄ (M = Zr, Hf). The derived compounds MCl₄[(μ -N₂) ReCl(PMe₂Ph)₄]₂ were studied by ¹⁵N NMR spectroscopy.⁴¹ In more recent work, pseudo-octahedral

Zr and Hf adducts of 1,10-phenanthroline-5,6-dione were prepared. The accessible-ketonic O-atoms were then employed to bind a second metal fragment such as Cp_2Ti , Cp_2V , or MCl_4 (M = Zr, Hf) (5) providing electronic communication between the M-centers.⁴²

The macrocyclic ligand 1,4,7-triazacyclononane was used to stabilize the eight-coordinate compounds [{M(MeCOCHCOMe)₂(NCH₂CH₂)₃}₂(μ -O)][ClO₄]₂.⁴³ In a related approach, the smaller, substituted macrocycles (RNCH₂)₃ (R = Me, Bu^t) supported the imido complexes ZrCl₂(NC₆H₃Prⁱ₂)(RNCH₂)₃ (6).⁴⁴ While preparative scale syntheses of the Zr complexes were difficult, Ti analogs were isolated, and several were characterized crystallographically.

4.3.2.4.2 Amido ligand complexes

Compounds of the form $Zr(NR_2)_4$ were detailed in the (*CCC*, 1987) although many contemporary advances have been reported.⁴⁵ Specifically, the structure of $Zr(NMe_2)_4$ has been detailed in two studies. In the gas-phase, electron diffraction showed this species was monomeric although the geometry of Zr remained unclear.⁴⁶ In contrast, a crystallographic study revealed a dimeric structure.⁴⁷ In both studies, the Zr-NC₂ units were planar, indicative of a considerable degree of π -bonding between N and the metal center. When excess LiNMe₂ was added, Li₂[Zr(NMe₂)₆(ether)₂] (ether = Et₂O,⁴⁸ THF (7)⁴⁷) were isolated as nonvolatile solids. The geometry about the Zr centers in these compounds approached octahedral symmetry, with each of the Li atoms bridging three N atoms.

In a recent report, reaction of $Fe(CO)_5$ with $[Zr(NMe_2)_4]_2$ resulted in the generation of $[(OC)_3Fe(\mu-OCNMe_2)_2]_2[Zr(NMe_2)]_2(\mu-NMe_2)(OCNMe_2)Fe(CO)_4$ (8).⁴⁹



A number of mixed chloro(*bi*salkyl)amido Zr and Hf compounds have been prepared and characterized, including ZrCl₃(NEt₂)·Et₂O,⁵⁰ [ZrCl(NMe₂)₃]₂,⁵¹ ZrCl(NCy₂)₃,⁵² MCl₂(NR₂)₂ (THF)₂ (M = Zr, Hf and R = Me; M = Zr and R = Et),⁵³ and the unusual bridged complexes Zr(NMe₂)₃(μ -Cl)₂(μ -NMe₂)Zr(NMe₂)₂(THF) and ZrCl(Me₂N)₂(μ -Cl)₂(μ -NMe₂)Zr(NMe₂)₂(THF).⁵⁴ Typically, these compounds were synthesized via ligand redistribution reactions or by traditional metathesis routes. In either case, the stoichiometry and reaction conditions were crucial. The most notable of this series of compounds were the asymmetric dimeric products. An alternative synthetic strategy involved the use of the amide transfer reagent Mg(NBn₂)₂. Reaction with ZrCl₄(THF)₂ afforded ZrCl₂(NBn₂)₂(THF)₂ which displayed a distorted octahedral geometry about the Zr center.⁵⁵

The complex $\operatorname{ZrCl[N(C_6H_3Me_2)(adamantyl)]_3}$, containing bulky amido ligands was prepared via a metathesis reaction involving the Li amide and $\operatorname{ZrCl_4(THF)_2}^{56}$ Similarly, the species $\operatorname{ZrCl(NHSiBut_3)_3}$ was prepared.⁵⁷ The complexes $\operatorname{MX_2[N(SiMe_3)(C_6H_3 \operatorname{Pr}_2)]_2}$ (M = Zr, Hf; X = F, Cl) were also prepared and found to yield low activities for alkene polymerization catalysis upon activation.^{58,59}

Efforts to study homoleptic complexes have drawn limited attention. The species $Zr[N(SO_2F)_2]_4$ formed adducts with NC₅H₅, MeCN, or Ph₃PO.⁶⁰ In contrast, the complexes M(NPh₂)₄ (M = Zr,⁶¹ Hf⁶²) and M(NHC₆H₃-Prⁱ₂)₄⁶³ have been characterized crystallographically and confirmed to be monomeric. Transamination proved an unsuccessful route to homoleptic species, yielding instead Zr(NMe₂)₂(carbazolide)₂(NHMe₂) (carbazolide = C₁₂H₁₀N, Bu^tC₁₂H₉N). However, protonolysis of Zr(CH₂Ph)₄ with carbazole successfully generated Zr(carbazolide)₄.⁶⁴ The compounds $ZrR_2[N(SiMe_3)_2]_2$ (R = Me, Et, CH₂SiMe₃) were reported⁶⁵ to undergo thermolysis with elimination of alkane and formation of bridging carbene complexes. In an earlier report, use of a sterically less demanding amide gave rise to the species $[ZrCl(\mu-Cl){N(SiHMe_2)_2}_2]_2$ (9). The dimeric formulation was confirmed crystallographically.⁶⁶ Of particular interest was the close approach of the Si—H to Zr (Zr···H—Si 2.40(3)Å). Subsequently, reaction of B(C₆F₅)₃ with Zr(CH₂Ph)₂[N(SiMe_3)_2]_2 gave a cationic Zr species that cyclized to Zr(TMSNSiMe₂CH₂)[N(SiMe_3)_2][PhCH₂B(C₆F₅)₃] and [Zr(TMSNSiMe₂CH₂){N(SiMe₃)₂}(THF)₂][PhCH₂B(C₆F₅)₃] with concurrent elimination of toluene.^{67,68}

Cationic *tris*(amido) complexes of Zr and Hf have also been prepared. $[M{N(SiMe_3)_2}_3]$ $[MeB(C_6F_5)_3]$ (M = Zr, Hf) were generated by abstraction of a methyl group from the precursor complex.⁶⁹ This species has been used as an initiator for the cationic polymerization of isobutene and the co-polymerization of isobutene and isoprene.⁷⁰ An alternative synthetic approach involved protonolysis of *tetrakis*(amido) metal complexes with [NHEt₃][BPh₄] yielding [M(NMe₂)₃(THF)₂][BPh₄] (M = Zr, Hf).⁷¹ The unexpected salt [Zr(NEt₂)₃(THF)₂][(Et₂N)(TMS)₂-B₁₀H₁₀] was formed from the reaction of the (TMS)₂B₁₀H₁₀ cluster with Zr(NEt₂)₄ in THF.⁷²

A unique amido donor ligand is azacyclopentadienyl. Zr and Hf complexes of the formula $MCl_3(NC_4Bu_2^tRH)$ (R = H, SiMe₃) have been prepared and characterized by mass spectrometry. By analogy to the Ti compound, this ligand was presumed to bind in an η^5 fashion.⁷³

The complex Mg(THF)₂[Mo(N₂){(TMSNCH₂CH₂)₃N}] reacted with ZrCl₄ to give the complexes ZrCl₃[Mo(μ -N₂)(TMSNCH₂CH₂)₃N], ZrCl[Mo(μ -N₂){(TMSNCH₂CH₂)₃N}]₃, and ZrCl₂[Mo-(μ -N₂)(TMSNCH₂CH₂)₃N]₂ (**10**). The latter species was characterized structurally.⁷⁴



4.3.2.4.3 Phosphinimido ligand complexes

Heating of MCl₄ with various stoichiometries of Me₃PNSiMe₃ or (CsNPPh₃)₄ resulted in the isolation of a series of phosphinimide complexes including: $[Zr_3Cl_6(NPMe_3)_5][Zr_2Cl_6(NPMe_3)_3]$ (11),²⁶ [Hf₃Cl₆(NPMe₃)₅][Hf₂Cl₇(NPMe₃)₂],²⁶ Zr₂Cl₄(μ -NPMe₃)₂(NPMe₃)₂(μ -HNPMe₃),⁷⁵ Hf(NPPh₃)₄,⁷⁶ and HfCl₂(NPPh₃)₂(HNPPh₃)₂.⁷⁶ The steric demands of the substituents on the phosphinimide appeared to impact on the degree of aggregation. This view was supported by the isolation of ZrCl(NPBu^t₃)₃. Facile ligand redistribution reactions in this case precluded the isolation of the mono- and disubstituted analogs.⁷⁷

4.3.2.4.4 Imido ligand complexes

Synthetic methods to such species and their applications have been the subject of considerable experimental and theoretical interest.^{78,79} Several terminal imido complexes that lack Cp-ligands have been synthesized and characterized, including $M(NR)(NHR)_2(py')_2$ (M = Zr, Hf; $R = C_6H_3Pr_2^{i}, 6^3$ Bu^t, ⁸⁰ SiBu^t, ^{81,82}), Zr(NAr)(NHAr)_2(NC_5H_5)_2, ⁸³ ZrCl[N(Pr_2^iC_6H_3)] [NH(C_6H_3Pr_2)](NC_5H_5)_2, ⁸⁴ MCl_2[N(C_6H_3Pr_2)](L)_2 (M = Zr, Hf; L = THF, NC_5H_5), ⁸⁴ Zr[N(C_6H_3Pr_2)](NHAr)[N(SiMe_3)_2](NC_5H_5)_2, ⁸⁴ Zr(NPh)[NH(C_6H_3Pr_2)]_2(py')_2, ⁶³ and Zr(NPh) [O(C_6H_3Pr_2)]_2(py')_2, ⁸⁵ (py' = 4-pyrrolidinopyridine). In general, structures of these species feature short M—N bonds. In the absence of bulky donor ligands, dimerization was observed as in Zr₂Cl₄(μ -NPh)₂(THF)₄.⁸⁶ A list of crystallographically determined Zr-imido-N distances is compiled in Table 1.

Formula	$M \cdots N$ distance (Å)
$\begin{split} &Zr_2Cl_4(\mu\text{-NPh})_2(\text{THF})_4\\ &Zr(\text{OC}_6\text{H}_3\text{-}2,6\text{-}\text{Pr}^i_2)_2(\text{NPh})(\text{NC}_5\text{H}_5)_2{}^a\\ &Zr(\text{NHSiBu}^i_3)_2(\text{NSiBu}^i_3)(\text{THF})\\ &Zr(\text{NHC}_6\text{H}_3\text{-}2,6\text{-}\text{Pr}^i_2)_2(\text{NC}_6\text{H}_3\text{-}2,6\text{-}\text{Pr}^i_2)(\text{NC}_5\text{H}_5)_2\\ &Zr(\text{NHC}_6\text{H}_3\text{-}2,6\text{-}\text{Pr}^i_2)_2(\text{NC}_6\text{H}_3\text{-}2,6\text{-}\text{i}\text{Pr}_2)(\text{Py}')_2{}^a\\ &Hf(\text{NHC}_6\text{H}_3\text{-}2,6\text{-}\text{Pr}^i_2)_2(\text{NC}_6\text{H}_3\text{-}2,6\text{-}\text{i}\text{Pr}_2)(\text{Py}')_2{}^a\\ &Zr[(\text{NC}_6\text{H}_3\text{-}2,6\text{-}\text{Pr}^i_2)_2(\text{NC}_6\text{H}_3\text{-}2,6\text{-}\text{i}\text{Pr}_2)(\text{Py}')_2{}^a\\ &Zr[(\text{NC}_6\text{H}_3\text{-}2,6\text{-}\text{Pr}^i_2)_2(\text{NC}_6\text{H}_3\text{-}2,6\text{-}\text{i}\text{Pr}_2)(\text{NC}_5\text{H}_5)\\ &Zr(\text{TTP})(\text{ NC}_6\text{H}_3\text{-}2,6\text{-}\text{Pr}^i_2)\\ &Hf(\text{TTP})(\text{ NC}_6\text{H}_3\text{-}2,6\text{-}\text{Pr}^i_2) \end{split}$	$\begin{array}{c} 2.068(2),\ 2.051(2)^{123}\\ 1.844(9)^{85}\\ 1.978(8)^{88}\\ 1.853(5)^{198}\\ 1.868(3)^{85}\\ 1.850(3)^{63}\\ 1.976(4)^{198}\\ 1.863(2)^{252}\\ 1.859(2)^{252}\\ \end{array}$

 Table 1
 Zr—N bond distances in Zr and Hf imido compounds.

^a Py' = 4-pyrrolidinopyridine.



The unusual reactivity⁸⁷ of imide-complexes is exemplified by $Zr(NSiBu^{t}_{3})(NHSiBu^{t}_{3})_{2}$ (13). This compound, generated from the thermolysis of $ZrMe(NHSiBu^{t}_{3})_{3}$ (12), activated $C_{6}H_{6}$ affording $Zr(NHSiBu^{t}_{3})_{3}$ (Ph) (14). Similar C—H activation reactions occurred with hydrocarbons. In inert solvents, the imido complex reacted with H₂ to generate $ZrH(NHSiBu^{t}_{3})_{3}$ (15).⁸² Extensions of this work included an elegant study that investigated the kinetic isotope effect of the interaction of CH₄ with the transient imido complex,⁸¹ as well as a thorough mechanistic study of hydrocarbon activation.⁸⁸



4.3.2.4.5 Aminidato and guanidinato ligand complexes

Since $[ZrCl_3{PhC(NSiMe_3)_2}]_2$ was first reported in 1988,^{89,90} numerous studies of alkyl- and arylamidinate ligand complexes have emerged. The original synthesis involved the addition of PhC(NSi-Me_3)N(SiMe_3)_2 to MCl_4,⁹⁰ with elimination of TMSCl. Later endeavors used the Li salt of the ligand resulting in the species $ZrCl_2[PhC(NSiMe_3)_2]_2$ (16)⁹¹ and $ZrCl[PhC(NSiMe_3)_2]_3$.⁹² Modification of the substituent on the backbone of the ligand was straightforward and exchange of the halide with alkyl, alkoxide-, amide, selenolate, and tellerolate ligands was also readily achieved.⁹²⁻⁹⁴ Alterations of the *N*-substituents were accomplished affording $ZrCl_2[(CF_3)_3C_6H_2C(NCy)_2]_2$.⁹⁵ $ZrX_2[RC(NCy)_2]_2$ (R = Me, Bu^t ; X = Cl, Me),⁹⁶ and $ZrCl[PhC(N-myrtanyl)NSiMe_3]_3$.⁹⁷ Compounds of the form $ZrX_2[RC(NCy)_2]_2$ were found to be active as C_2H_4 polymerization catalysts^{92,96-100} while the species $ZrCl[PhC(N-myrtanyl)NSiMe_3]_3$ produced elastomeric polypropylene and syndiotactic (PhCHCH₂)_n. Of related interest were complexes containing aminophosphinimide ligands, $ZrCl_3R_2P(NSiMe_3)_2(MeCN)$ (R = Ph,¹⁰¹ OMe¹⁰²).

The benzamidinate complex $\operatorname{ZrCl_2[PhC(NSiMe_3)_2]_2}$, was reduced with Na/Hg in the presence of PhCCPh to give the $\operatorname{Zr^{IV}}$ product $\operatorname{Zr(C_4Ph_4)[PhC(NSiMe_3)_2]_2}$. In the absence of $\operatorname{C_2H_2}$, the highly reactive intermediate oxidatively cleaved one of the C—N bonds of a benzamidinate ligand, yielding the dimeric species [Zr{PhC(NSiMe_3)_2}(\eta^2-PhCNSiMe_3)(\mu-NSiMe_3)]_2 (17).¹⁰³

Related guanidinate complexes including $ZrBn_3[CyNC{N(SiMe_3)_2}NCy]$,¹⁰⁴ MCl₂((NR²₂)C(NR¹)₂)₂ (M = Zr, Hf; R¹ = Prⁱ or Cy; R² = SiMe₃,¹⁰⁵ M = Zr; R¹ = Prⁱ; R² = Me),¹⁰⁶ Zr(Bn)₃[{(SiMe_3)_2N}C(CyN)_2],¹⁰⁵ and [Li(L)_x][MCl₄{(SiMe_3)_2N}C(CyN)_2] (M = Zr, (L)_x = (OEt₂)₂; M = Hf, (L)_x = (THF)₃)¹⁰⁵ have also been prepared and characterized crystallographically.

In a recent effort, the amidinate-like complexes have been derived from oxalic acid.¹⁰⁷ The resulting ligand was used to prepare the mono- and bimetallic Zr complexes $ZrCl[\eta^2-(Bu^tN)C(NPh)C(NHBu^t)NPh][N(SiMe_3)_2]_2$ and $Zr_2[\eta^4-(Bu^tN)C(NPh)C(NHBu^t)NPh](NMe_2)_4$ (18), respectively.



4.3.2.4.6 Diketinimato ligand complexes

The syntheses of the β -diketinimato complexes MCl₃(RNCMeCHCMeNR) (M = Zr, Hf; R = Me, Ph, C₆H₄Me, C₆H₃Me₂, C₆H₃Prⁱ₂, ¹⁰⁸ C₆H₄CF₃¹⁰⁹) were achieved via the reactions of the Li salts of the ligands with the appropriate MCl₄. The species ZrCl₃[TMSNC(Bu^t)CHC(Ph)NSiMe₃] contained a five-coordinate Zr center with a distorted trigonal bipyramidal geometry, ¹¹⁰ whereas ZrCl₃[(C₆H₃Prⁱ₂)NC(Me)CHC(Me)N(C₆H₃Prⁱ₂)](THF) exhibited a distorted octahedral geometry. ¹⁰⁸ Alternatively, ZrX₃[(Ar)NC(Me)CHC(Me)N(Ar)] and ZrX₂[ArNC(Me)CHC(Me)NAr]₂ (X = NMe₂, Bn; Ar = Ph, C₆H₃Prⁱ₂, MePh, CF₃Ph) were prepared via protonolysis of Zr(NMe₂)₄ or ZrBn₄ with the parent diimine. Subsequently, these species were converted to the corresponding Zr—Cl species by reaction with TMSCl.^{109,111} Several of these complexes have been characterized crystallographically and the conformation observed depended on the steric demands of the substituents. In general, these Zr species exhibited good activities for the polymerization of C₂H₄ when activated by methylaluminoxane (MAO).^{108,112}

The related troponiminato complexes $MX_2[(Pr^iN)_2(C_7H_5)]_2$ (M = Zr (19), Hf) have been prepared via typical salt metathesis or protonolysis routes.¹¹³ The NMR data for the dichloride derivatives indicated stereochemical nonrigidity and thus rapid interconversion of diastereotopic geometries.



The reaction of $Mg(C_5H_5)_2$ with PhCN gave a novel bidentate–monoanionic–diketimine ligand. The resulting Zr complexes $ZrCl_3[C_5H_3\{C(Ph)NH\}_2](THF)$ (20) and $ZrCl[C_5H_3\{C(Ph)NH\}_2]_3$ (21) were isolated from a mixture of products originating from reaction of the zwitterionic ligand $H[C_5H_3\{C(Ph)NH\}_2]$ with $ZrCl_4(THF)_2$.¹¹⁴ Structural data suggested a degree of formal charge separation that induced greater electrophilic character at Zr. A related complex of formula $ZrCl_2(NHCPhCMeCPhNPh)_2$ was subsequently reported.¹¹⁵

4.3.2.4.7 Amido-bidentate ligand complexes

Chelating pyridyl- and quinolyl-1-azaallyl ligands have also been used as β -diketinimato analogs to generate $ZrCl_2[N(SiMe_3)C(Ph)CR(C_5H_4N)]_2$ (22) and $ZrCl_2[N(SiMe_3)C(Ph)CR(C_9H_6N)]_2$ (R = H, SiMe₃ (23)).^{116,117} Subsequent ligand redistribution reactions with $ZrCl_4$ afforded $ZrCl_3[N(SiMe_3)C(Ph)CR(C_9H_6N)].$

Several iminopyrrolyl Zr complexes have been prepared either by transamination of the neutral ligand with $Zr(NR_2)_4$ (R = Me, Et) or by metathesis of $ZrCl_4$ with Li salts of the ligands. these include $ZrX_{3}[{N(C_{6}H_{3}Pr^{1}_{2})CH}_{2}(C_{4}H_{2}N)],$ Complexes prepared in ways $ZrX_{2}[\{N(C_{6}H_{3}Pr^{i}_{2})CH\}_{2}(C_{4}H_{2}N)]_{2}, ZrX_{2}[\{N(C_{6}H_{3}Pr^{i}_{2})CH\}(C_{4}H_{3}N)]_{2}, \\ ^{118}ZrX_{2}\{(NArCH)_{2}(C_{4}H_{2}N)\}_{2}, ZrX_{2}[\{N(C_{6}H_{3}Pr^{i}_{2})CH\}(C_{6}H_{3}N)]_{2}, \\ ^{118}ZrX_{2}\{(NC_{6}H_{3}Pr^{i}_{2})CH\}(C_{6}H_{3}N)]_{2}, \\ ^{118}ZrX_{2}\{(NC_{6}H_{3}N)]_{2}, \\ ^{118}ZrX_{2}\{(NC_{6}H$ $Ar = C_6H_3Me_2$, C₆H₄OMe, $C_6H_4OMe),^{119}$ (24); $C_6H_3Pr_2^1$, (X = Cl, NEt_2 and $ZrX_2[Me_2NCH_2(C_4H_3N)]_2$.¹²⁰ In all of these compounds the ligands were bound in a bidentate manner and NMR data revealed that these molecules were fluxional. Similarly, the bidentate ligand complexes adopted two geometric isomers, which interconverted at 70 °C.



2-Amidopyridine ligands have been used to generate a series of complexes including $ZrCl_2(NEt_2)[(TMSN)MeC_5H_3N],^{121,122}$ $Zr_2Cl_2(\mu-Cl_2)[(PhN)C_5H_4N]_4,^{123}$ $ZrX_2[(adamantyl-N)RC_5H_3N]_2$ (R = H, Me; X = Cl, NMe₂, CH₂Ph, CH₂Bu¹),^{124}</sup> ZrX[(TMSN)MeC_5H_3N]_3 (X = Cl, Me, Ph, CCPh, NMe_2^{125-127} C_4SiMe_3^{128}), Zr[(TMSN)MeC_5H_3N]_4 (25),¹²⁸ and Hf[(PhN)C_5H_4N]_4.¹²⁹ The majority of these have been characterized crystallographically. The prevalence of *tris*-substituted complexes was attributed to kinetic stability provided by the propeller-like arrangement of the ligands. However, use of sterically more demanding ligands on N as in the adamantyl derivative, gave complexes of the form $ZrCl_2L_2.^{124}$ In these cases, the products demonstrated moderate activity for the polymerization of C₂H₄ when activated.^{121,124}



4.3.2.4.8 Miscellaneous monoanionic bidentate ligand complexes

A variety of complexes of unique monoanionic bidentate N-based ligands have also been prepared. For example, adducts of $Zr(NCS)_4$ have been reported.¹³⁰ The complex $Zr(O-Bu^t_2C_6H_3)_2$ -Me(PhNNPhH) (26) was prepared and NMR data was consistent with η^2 -bonding of the hydrazido ligand.¹³¹ In a related study, the *tris*- and *tetrakis*(pyrazolato) compounds MCl(Bu^t_2C_3HN_2)_3 (M = Zr (27), Hf) and M(Bu^t_2C_3HN_2)_4 were obtained through reactions of K[Bu^t_2C_3N_2] with MCl₄.¹³² The Hf species HfCl(Bu^t_2C_3HN_2)_3 was characterized crystallographically, revealing a seven-coordinate metal center, in which the pyrazolato ligands exhibited idealized η^2 -bonding.

The homoleptic compound $Zr(PhNNNPh)_4$ was prepared via protonolysis of $Zr(NR_2)_4$ (R = Me, Et) with the parent triazene. Structural data showed the resulting complex had a distorted dodecahedral geometry, reminiscent of the analogous aminidinato complexes.¹³³

Partial reduction of bipyridine or phenathroline ligands via intramolecular alkylation was observed upon reaction of $ZrBn_2(OC_6H_3Bu^t_2)_2$ with bidentate donors. The resulting amidoimine complexes $ZrBn(OC_6H_3Bu^t_2)_2(C_{10}H_6R_2BnN_2)$ (R = H (28), Me) and $ZrBn(OC_6H_3-Bu^t_2)_2(C_{12}H_8BnN_2)$ were characterized by NMR spectroscopy.¹³⁴

Finally, 1,8-diamino-naphthalene reacted with 9-borobicycloborane (9-BBN) affording a novel diaminoborate ligand. Subsequent reaction with $Zr(NMe_2)_4$ gave the unusual complex $Zr(NMe_2)_3[\{(9-BBN)HN\}C_{10}H_6NH]$ (29).¹³⁵



4.3.2.4.9 Dianionic bidentate ligand complexes

Zr complexes containing bidentate amido ligands have received recent attention. The complexes $ZrBn_2[(RC_6H_4CH_2N)_2C_{12}H_6Me_2]$ ($R = Bu^t$ (30), Ph)¹³⁶ and $ZrBn_2[(C_6F_5N)_2(CH_2)_3]$ (31)¹³⁷ were prepared in quantitative yields via protonolysis of $ZrBn_4$. Crystallographic data revealed the close approach of an *ortho*-F to Zr ($Zr \cdots$ F: 2.511(1)Å) in the latter complex. This complex exhibited low C_2H_4 polymerization activity upon activation, and this was attributed to the persistence of a Zr—F interaction in solution.



Following reports of living-polymerization with Ti-diamido complexes, transamination was used to prepare $Zr(NMe_2)_2[(Pr^i_2C_6H_3N)_2(CH_2)_3]$.¹³⁸ $ZrCl_2[(Pr^i_2C_6H_3N)_2(CH_2)_3]$ was obtained via reaction with TMSCl while alkyl derivatives and $ZrCl_2[(Pr^i_2C_6H_3N)_2(CH_2)_3](C_5H_5N)_2$ (32) were also synthesized.¹³⁹ Further reaction with two equivalents of Me_2PhCCH_2MgBr resulted in the orthometallation of a C₅H₅N ring, yielding Zr(CH₂CMe₂Ph)[(Prⁱ_2C_6H_3N)_2(CH_2)_3] (η^2 -C₅H₄N) (33).



Several examples of complexes of bidentate ligands incorporating silylamido groups including $MCl_2[(TMSN)_2(CH_2)_2]$ (M = Zr, Hf),¹⁴⁰ $Zr[(TMSN)_2(CH_2)_2]_2$,¹⁴⁰ $Zr[(MePh_2SiN)_2(CH_2)_3]_2$,¹⁴¹ $Zr[(TMSN)_2C_6H_{10}]_2$,¹⁴² and $MCl_2[(Bu^{1}Ph_2SiN)_2(CH_2CMe_2CH_2)]^{143}$ have also been reported. Aryl spacers between the amido donors have also been exploited, as in $Zr[(NSiPr^i_3)_2C_6H_4]_2$, $Zr(OBu^1)_2[(NSiPr^i_3)_2C_6H_4],^{144} Zr_2(NMe_2)_2(\mu-NMe_2)_2[(RN)_2C_6H_4]_2$ ($R = SiMe_3$, $SiMe_2(CHCH_2)$), and $Zr_2Cl_2(\mu-Cl)_2[Me_2SiN(CHCH_2)_2C_6H_4]_2(THF)_2$.¹⁴⁵ Such ligands were observed to alternate between η^2 and η^4 donation as a result of coordination of phenylene C-atoms.¹⁴⁴ The species $Zr_2Cl_2(\mu-Cl)_2[Me_2SiN(CHCH_2)_2C_6H_4]_2(THF)_2$ was rendered monomeric by reaction with $Me_2NCH_2CH_2NMe_2$.¹⁴⁵ In a similar fashion, the compounds formulated as $ZrX_2[(NR)_2C_{10}H_6]$ ($X = NMe_2$, $R = SiMe_3$, $i^{146} X = Cl$, $R = SiMe_3$, $SiPr^i_3$)¹⁴⁷ and $Zr[(NR)_2C_{10}H_6]_2$ (R = Me, Pr^i) were prepared. Structural studies revealed that $Zr_2Cl_2(\mu-Cl)_2[(NSiR_3)_2C_{10}H_6]$ (R = Me, Pr^i) were dimeric in the solid state. In contrast, the structure of $ZrCl_2((Pr^i_3SiNCH_2)_2C_6H_4)^{148}$ was shown

to be monomeric in the solid state. This species acted as a catalyst precursor for the polymerization of α -alkenes, generating polymers with relatively low polydispersities.

Bidentate ligands in which silyl groups are incorporated into the linking unit have also been prepared. An early report described the silyl-bridged complexes $MCl_2[(TMSN)_2SiMe_2]$ (M = Zr, Hf), M[(TMSN)_2SiMe_2]_2 (M = Zr, Hf), ¹⁴⁹ and Zr[(Bu^tN)_2SiMe_2]_2.¹⁵⁰ These species were thermally stable, presumably due to the bulky groups on N. A later report described the related compounds $ZrCl_2[(RN)_2(SiMe_2)_2]$ (R = Bu^t, C₆H₃Prⁱ₂ (**34**), 4F-C₆H₄).¹⁵¹ Subsequently, the complexes $ZrX_2(Me_2C_6H_3NSiMe_2CH_2)_2$ (X = NMe₂ (**35**), Me) were reported. The related species $Zr(NMe_2)_2[(Me_2C_6H_3N)_2(SiPh_2)](NMe_2H)^{152}$ was prepared in a similar fashion and shown to be a five-coordinate monomer in the solid state. The complex $Zr(NMe_2)_2[(Me_2C_6H_3N)_2(SiPh_2)](NMe_2H)$ (**36**) demonstrated negligible activity.¹⁵²



Horton *et al.* have described the syntheses of the related products formulated as $Zr_2Cl_2-(\mu-Cl)_2[(Bu^tN)_2SiMe_2]_2(THF)_2$ and $ZrR_2[(Bu^tN)_2SiMe_2]$ (R = Bn, CH_2SiMe_3).¹⁵³ Zwitterionic and cationic derivatives were generated employing B(C₆F₅)₃ or [PhMe₂NH] [B(C₆F₅)₄], respectively. These products catalyzed the polymerization of MeCHCH₂ and EtCHCH₂, although the rates were found to be highly dependent on the nature of the anion.

A related but novel ligand was derived from a cyclodisilazane. Lithiation and reaction with MCl₄ afforded MX₂[(MeSiNBu^t)₂(NBu^t)₂] (M = Zr, Hf; X = Cl, Me).¹⁵⁴ A similar ligand geometry was derived from cyclodiphosphazane in the synthesis of MCl₂(Bu^tNP)₂(NBu^t)₂ (M = Zr, Hf).¹⁵⁵ These latter species were remarkably resistant to decomposition by O₂ or H₂O. In subsequent work, ZrCl₂[(Bu^tNP)₂(NBu^t)₂] (**37**) reacted with KH in liquid NH₃, affording the dimer [Zr(η^3 -Bu^tNP)_2NBu^t₂(μ -NH)₂]₂ (**38**) in which the Zr atoms were bridged by imido groups.¹⁵⁶

The borylamide bidentate complexes, $ZrCl_2[(R_3C_6H_2)_2BNCH_2]_2$ (R = Me (**39**), Prⁱ)¹⁵⁷ and MI₂[(Cy₂BNCH₂)₂] (M = Zr, Hf)¹⁵⁸ were prepared and subsequently converted to a variety of alkyl and zwitterionic derivatives. Related species in which B was incorporated into the ligand backbone have also been reported. Reaction of the Li salt Li[C₆H₃Prⁱ₂NB(NMe₂)] with ZrCl₂Bn₂ afforded the species ZrBn₂[C₆H₃Prⁱ₂NB(NMe₂)]₂ (**40**). Upon activation, all of these species generated catalysts that showed only low polymerization activities.¹⁵⁹



Dissymmetric chelating diamide ligands were used to prepare a number of complexes formulated as $ZrX_2[C_6H_4(CH_2NR^1)NR^2]$ (X = NMe₂, Cl) and $Zr[C_6H_4(CH_2NR^1)NR^2]_2$ (R¹ = SiMe₃,

SiMePh₂, $R^2 = SiMe_3$, SiMe₂Bu^t, SiMePh₂).^{160,161} Structural studies revealed that one of the Cl derivatives was actually the dimer [ZrCl(μ -Cl){C₆H₄(CH₂NSiMe₂Bu^t)(NSiMe₂Bu^t)}]₂ (41).



Binuclear products have been prepared from diamide ligands derived from the *meta-* and *para*diamidobenzenes. Reaction of $Zr(NMe_2)_4$ with the appropriate diamines afforded the 1,3 (**42**) and 1,4 isomers of $[Zr(NMe_2)_2C_6H_4(NSiMe_3)_2]_2$. Both of these species were characterized crystallographically and exhibited a macrocyclic structure in which the arene rings were approximately parallel.¹⁶²

Complexes of DAD ligands (RNCR)₂ were accessible via several different approaches. For example, the species $Zr(PhNCMe)_2(OC_6H_3Bu^t_2)_2$, derived from isocyanide insertion of $ZrR_2(OC_6H_3Bu^t_2)_2$, underwent thermolytic cyclization to give the mixed ligand complexes $[(R^1CNR^2)_2]M(OC_6H_3Bu^t_2)_2$ (M = Zr, Hf; R¹ = Me, CH₂Ph; R² = Ph, C_6H_3Me_2).¹⁶³ The kinetics for this process have also been reported.¹⁶⁴ Dilithio salts of DAD derivatives reacted with MCl₄(DAD), giving the complexes M[(RC₆H₄N)₂C₂Ph₂]₃ (R = H (42) (43), Me, OMe).^{39,165} The electronic nature of the three ligands was indistinguishable in the solid state, although charge balance dictates one of the ligands was formally a neutral donor.



Heterobimetallic complexes of the form $ZrX_2(RNC_5H_4)_2Fe$ and $Zr[(RNC_5H_4)_2Fe]_2$ (R = SiMe₃, Ph; X = Bn, NMe₂, Cl) have been reported, and several of these ferrocene-based compounds were characterized crystallographically.^{166,167} Oxidation of the Fe center with [Cp₂Fe] [PF₆] gave the species [Zr(NMe₂)₂(NMe₂H){(PhNC₅H₄)₂Fe}] [PF₆] (44).¹⁶⁸ In another series of heterobimetallic compounds, Cu-ethylenediamine¹⁶⁹ or triethylene tetraamine (TETA) complexes reacted with ZrCl₄ to provide bridged Cu—Zr bi- and trimetallic species.^{170,171} The structures of these compounds were proposed to be bis-amido-bridged compounds although evidence for this conclusion was limited.

4.3.2.4.10 Monoanionic tridentate ligand complexes

Several synthetic approaches to monoanionic-tridentate N₃-ligand complexes have been described. For example, salt metathesis was exploited to generate $ZrCl_3[N(CH_2CH_2NEt_2)_2]$ in low yield.¹⁷² The same methodology was employed to prepare $MCl_3[N(Si Me_2CH_2NMe_2)_2]$ from $MCl_4(C_4H_8S)_2$ (M = Zr, Hf) in better yields. These compounds were isostructural with distorted bicapped tetrahedral geometries.¹⁷³ The related complex $Zr(NEt_2)_3[(CH_2NMe_2)_2(C_4H_2N)]$ was

prepared via transamination. This species reacted with $CDCl_3$ at ambient temperatures to afford the corresponding trichloride derivative.¹²⁰

Di-substituted triazacyclononane macrocycles have also acted as monoanionic ligands as in $ZrX_3[Pr_2^i(NCH_2CH_2)_3]$ (X = Cl, NEt₂, Bn (45)). Ring opening of the triazacyclononane ring occurred upon heating of the *tris*(benzyl) derivative, giving the species $ZrBn_2[CH_2CHN(CH_2)_2NPr^i(CH_2)_2NPr^i]$ (46).¹⁷⁴



4.3.2.4.11 Pyrazolylborate ligand complexes

A number of complexes containing poly(pyrazolyl)borate ligands have been prepared including $ZrCl_3[R^1B(R^2_2C_3HN_2)_3]$ ($R^1=H$, Pr^1 , Bu^n ; $R^2=H$ (47), Me)¹⁷⁵ and $ZrX_3[HB(Me_2C_3HN_2)_3]$ (X=Cl,^{175,176} MeCOCHCOMe,¹⁷⁷ OC₆H₄R, R=H, NO₂, F, OBu¹).^{178,179} Though such metal complexes were typically prepared from reaction of the lithiated ligand with MCl₄, an alternative strategy involved the use of SnClBu₂[HB(Me₂C₃HN₂)₃] as a ligand-transfer reagent.¹⁸⁰ Complexes without methyl groups on the pyrazolyl rings decomposed on exposure to air, moisture, or heating, whereas additional steric protection enhanced stability. Substitution for chloride was readily achieved affording $ZrCl_2(OR)[HB(Me_2C_3HN_2)_3]$ (R=Me,¹⁷⁵ Bu^t ¹⁸¹) and $ZrR_2(OBu^t)$ [HB(Me₂C₃HN₂)₃] (R=Me, CCPh).¹⁸² Complexes of this series containing hindered hydrido*tris*(pyrazolyl)borates effected C₂H₄ polymerization catalysis when activated by a Lewis acid.^{183,184}

The related complex $ZrCl_3B(C_3H_3N_2)_4$ has been prepared. Although the ligand is potentially tetradentate, NMR evidence indicates that one of the pyrazolyl arms dangles free from coordination.¹⁸¹

4.3.2.4.12 Dianionic tridentate ligand complexes

The dilithio salt of a diamido-tridentate ligand reacts with $ZrCl_4(THF)_2$ to give the dimer $(ZrCl_2(TMSN(CH_2)_2)_2NSiMe_3)_2$.¹⁸⁵ This complex was readily functionalized to give monomeric derivatives, including $ZrX_2[SiMe_3N(CH_2)_2]_2(NSiMe_3)$ (X = BH₄,¹⁸⁵ Me, Bn¹⁸⁶) and $ZrX[CH(SiMe_3)_2]$ [TMSN(CH₂)₂]₂(NSiMe₃).¹⁸⁵ The dibenzyl derivative reacted with B(C₆F₅)₃, leading to C—H activation of one of the SiMe groups, ultimately giving the zwitterionic species $Zr[CH_2SiMe_2-NCH_2CH_2N(SiMe_3)CH_2CH_2N SiMe_3]$ [BnB(C₆F₅)₃] (47) (48).



The related amido–amine ligand in which the amino donor is terminal has been employed to synthesize the species $ZrX_2[Me_2N(CH_2)_2N(SiMe_2)NBu^t]$ (X = NMe₂, Cl, Bn, CH₂SiMe₃).¹⁸⁷ It is noteworthy that the dichloride derivative was isolated as a dimeric MgCl₂-adduct [ZrX₂{MgCl₂Me₂N(CH₂)₂N(SiMe₂)NBu^t}]₂ (49), in which the neutral amine donor was bound to Mg.

Related tridentate ligand complexes such as $ZrCl_2[(Me_3C_6H_2)N(CH_2)_2]_2NR$ (R = H, Me) have been developed. The corresponding dimethyl derivatives, upon activation by $[Ph_3C][B(C_6F_5)_4]$, effectively polymerized 1-hexene.¹⁸⁸ The cationic species $[ZrMeL\{Me_3C_6H_2N(CH_2)_2\}_2NMe][BPh_4]$ (L = Et₂O (**50**), NHMe₂Ph) and the neutral precursor $ZrMe_2[Me_3C_6H_2N(CH_2)_2]_2NMe$ was isolated and characterized crystallographically. Thermolysis of the etherate cation resulted in C—H activation of a methyl group of a *N*-bound mesityl substituent, although generation of the cation in the presence of 1-hexene resulted in living polymerization.^{189–191}



Pyridine–diamide ligands have been explored as alternative tridentate donors. McConville's group reported the preparation of the species $ZrX_2[(R_2C_6H_3NCH_2)_2C_5H_3N]$ (R = alkyl, X = Cl).^{192–194} The related species $ZrBn_2[(C_6F_5NCH_2)_2C_5H_3N]$ possessed strong Zr-F interactions which were proposed to be responsible for diminished catalytic polymerization activity.¹³⁷

Related tripodal dianionic ligands have also been exploited to prepare the pentacoordinate complexes $MX_2[MeC(C_5H_4N)(CH_2NR)_2]$ (M = Zr, R = SiMe₃;¹⁹⁵ M = Zr, Hf, R = Me_3C_6H_2^{196,197}). These complexes were readily alkylated. A subsequently generated Hf cation showed remarkable stability to β -hydride elimination, even in the presence of 1-hexene.¹⁹⁷ The related complex Zr[HC(C₅H₄N)(CH₂NSiMe₃)₂]₂ has also been isolated.¹⁹⁵ A dianionic tripodal ligand has been employed in the stabilization of the monomeric imido complex Zr(NPrⁱ₂C₆H₃) [MeC(C₅H₄N)(CH₂NSiMe₃)₂](NC₅H₅) (**51**).¹⁹⁸



4.3.2.4.13 Trianionic tripodal ligand complexes

A number of compounds containing tripodal, trianionic ligands have been prepared in recent years. These were generally prepared via metathesis using the trilithio salts of the ligands. The LiCl adducts of $ZrX[HC(SiMe_2NR)_3][LiCl(THF)_2]$ (X = H, Cl (52); Me, O_3SCF_3, Bn; $R = C_6H_4F$, C_6H_4Me , $CHMeBu^t$),^{199,200} [LiCl(OEt_2)_3][ZrX{(RNSiMe_2)_3CH}],²⁰¹ and the related species $ZrCl(RNSiMe_2)_3SiMe$ ($R = C_6H_4Me$, C_6H_4OMe),^{201–203} MCl[MeSi{Si-Me_2N(C_6H_4Me)}_3] (M = Zr, Hf)²⁰⁴ and Hf[HC(SiMe_2NR)_3](OEt_2)2²⁰¹ have been prepared and isolated. In the case of the C_6H_4F derivative, the F atoms provided weak donation to Zr, though these interactions were displaced by alkylation with bulky groups. In recent work, Gade and co-workers have described the complexes [Li(OEt_2)_4][Zr_2Cl_3{HC(SiMe_2NCHMePh)_3}_2] and $ZrX[HC(SiMe_2NR)_3]$ (R = CHMePh, C_9H_9 ; X = Cl, alkyl; R = CHMeBu^t; X = Cl).^{203,205} Alkyl derivatives of these chiral tripodal complexes effected stereoselective insertions, albeit with low enantioselectivity.

4.3.2.4.14 Dianionic tetradentate ligand complexes

The complexes of a related dissymmetric tripodal ligand $ZrX_2[N(CH_2CH_2NSiMe_3)_2(CH_2C_5H_4N)]$ (X = Cl, NMe₂) and ZrCl(Bn)[N(CH₂CH₂NSiMe₃)₂(CH₂C₅H₄N)] were prepared via the metathetical reaction of the dithio-salt of the ligand with ZrCl₄.²⁰⁶ Addition of B(C₆F₅)₃ to the dimethyl derivative afforded [Zr{CH₂SiMe₂N(CH₂CH₂NSiMe₃)(CH₂C₅H₄N)}][BPh₄] (**53**), in which one of the SiMe₃ substituents was metallated. In contrast, the analogous reaction of the chloro-benzyl analog gave the stable cation, [ZrCl{N(CH₂CH₂NSiMe₃)₂(CH₂C₅H₄N)}][BnB(C₆F₅)₃] (**54**).



Macrocyclic Schiff-base ligands act as dianionic, tetradentate ligands.^{207,208} Reaction of a variety of such macrocycles with metal precursors afforded the series of complexes of the general formula MCl₂(L) (L = Me₄taa (55), Me₈taa, Me₄taen (56); where taa = dibenzotetraazaannulene and taen = tetraazacyclotetradecatraene). Floriani and co-workers reported the alkylation of such complexes affording MR₂(Me₄taa).^{209,210} Similarly, complexes of the form MR₂(Me₄taen) (M = Zr, R = alkyl;²¹¹ M = Zr, R = OBu^t; M = Hf, R = NMe₂;²¹² M = Zr, R = NMe₂, Me²¹³), ZrR₂(Me₈taa) (R = Cl, Me, Bn, CH₂SiMe₃),^{211,214} and M(CCPh)₂(Me₄taen)(NHMe₂)²¹² were prepared employing standard salt metathesis procedures or by treatment of the neutral ligand with MR₄ precursors. The disubstituted products Zr(Me₄taa)₂²¹⁰ and Zr(Me₄taen)₂²¹³ were also prepared when two equivalents of the dilithio-salt of the ligand were employed.

Jordan and co-workers described the generation of cationic derivatives via protonolysis of dialkyl complexes with [NHMe₂Ph] [B(C₆F₅)₄].²¹¹ Neutral and cationic complexes containing the [Me₈taa]²⁻ ligand have been reported, including MR₂(Me₈taa) (M = Zr, Hf; R = alkyl;²¹¹ M = Zr, Hf; R = Cl, alkyl, NMe₂^{214,215}).

Reaction of $ZrCl_2(N-C_6H_3Pr_2)(C_5H_5N)_3$ with Me_4taaH_2 gave $Zr(N-C_6H_3Pr_2)(Me_4taa)(C_5H_5N)$, which in turn reacted with amine or isocyanate to give $Zr(NHC_6H_3Pr_2)_2(Me_4taa)$ and $Zr[Bu^tNC(O)NHC_6H_3Pr_2](Me_4taa)$, respectively.^{216,217} In related work, reaction of $ZrCl_2(Me_4taa)$ with Li amides or alternatively, reactions of $Zr(CH_2SiMe_3)_2(Me_4taa)$ with amines, were used as synthetic routes to the diamide complexes $Zr(NHC_6H_3R_2)_2(Me_4taa)$ (R = Me, Pr¹).²¹⁸ The same product was obtained from reaction of the neutral ligand with $Zr(NC_6H_3Me_2)(NHC_6H_3Me_2)_2(C_5H_5N)_2$. In a related example, reaction of $[Zr(NHR)_2(\mu-NR)]_2$ with Me_4taaH_2 resulted in the isolation of $Zr(\mu-NR)_2$ (Me_4taa)Zr(NHR)_2 (R = Bu^t, Me_2C_6H_3).²¹⁸

Complexes of macrocyclic ligands known as tropocoronands (TC) have also been described.²¹⁹ These were prepared by reaction of the Li₂-ligand salt with the corresponding MCl₄. A variety of

macrocycles were prepared in a similar manner. The resulting species of the general formula $MCl_2(TC)$ were readily alkylated.²²⁰ In a subsequent study, reactions involving alkyl and aryl isocyanides provided complexes of the general formula $M(RNCBn)_2(TC)$. Coupling or insertion reactions gave η^2 -iminoacyl or enediamido products, respectively, which was confirmed by X-ray crystallography.²²¹ In a further study, reaction of Ph₂CO in the presence of a proton source with HfBn₂(TC) yielded the cationic species [Hf(TC){ η^1 -OCPh₂(CH₂Ph)}][BPh₄] (57).²²²



There are two Zr compounds reported that contain saturated tetradentate amido ligands. In an early report, complexes proposed to contain heptacoordinate Zr were formulated as $Zr(O)(O_2)[(H_2NCH_2CH_2)_3N]$.²²³ In a later report in 1997, the complexation of the ligand 1,4,8,11-tetraazacyclotetradecane (cyclamH₄) yielded ZrCl₂(cyclamH₂) (**58**), confirming the dianionic tetradentate nature of the ligand.²²⁴



The preparation of the tetradentate ligand complex $ZrBn_2(NC_4H_3CHNCH_2)_2$ has been recently reported. It was derived from a di-pyrrolate Schiff-base, N₄-donor ligand.¹⁴²

4.3.2.4.15 Trianionic tetradentate ligand complexes

Tripodal ligands incorporating a basal N-donor have been used to prepare the volatile products $M(NMe_2)[N(CH_2CH_2NR)_3]$ (R = Prⁱ, SiMe_3, SiMe_2Bu^t (59)), which acted as metalorganic chemical vapor deposition (MOCVD) precursors to metal nitrides.²²⁵ Alternatively these ligands reacted with ZrBn₄ to give ZrBn[N(CH₂CH₂NR)₃], the product of which was used to generate the corresponding chloride derivative via reaction with BCl₃. Treatment with H₂ resulted in C—H activation of a methyl group in the silyl substituent to generate Zr[CMe₂C(Me) (Bu^t)]N(CH₂CH₂NSiMe₂Bu^t)₂.²²⁶ Attempts to prepare analogs with *N*-aryl substituents via reaction of the tri-amine with ZrBn₄ resulted in loss of only two equivalents of C₆H₅Me, affording ZrBn₂[(ArNCH₂CH₂)₂NCH₂CH₂NHAr] (60).²²⁷

4.3.2.4.16 Porphyrinato ligand complexes

The bis(porphyrinate) complexes $M(OEP)_2$ and $M(TPP)_2$ (M = Zr, Hf) were reported by two groups independently.^{228,229} Crystallographic characterization confirmed eight-coordinate,

pseudo-sandwich-type structures. Characterization by spectroscopy, ^{228–232} cyclic voltammetry, ^{228,233} X-ray crystallography, ²³⁴ optical, IR, and Raman spectroscopy has also been performed. In addition, the radical cation [Zr(por)₂][SbCl₆] was generated from reaction with SbCl₅. Spectroscopic analysis indicated that the charge was delocalized over the entire complex, consistent with an enhanced π - π interaction between the ligands.^{230–234}



More recently, a variety of derivatives of TPP with substituted aryl groups have provided access to chiral bis(phorphyrinate) complexes. Such compounds were resolved by chiral chromatography.²³⁵ The rates of racemization have been studied and revealed that the neutral species racemized at rates 21 and 99 times faster than the monocationic and dicationic derivatives, respectively.²³⁶

Porphyrin complexes have also been derivatized to give a variety of complexes in which ligands replace halides. In an early report, complexes of the form M(por)L, (M = Hf, Zr; por = OEP, TPP, L = ethylenebis(salicylaldimine) and analogs) were prepared from Zr(OEP)(MeCOCH COMe)₂. NMR data were consistent with a square antiprismatic geometry about the metal center. Electrochemical measurements demonstrated that the redox-active portion involved only the porphyrin ligand.²³⁷ Monoporphyrinato complexes of the form ZrCl₂(TPP),²³⁸ as well as several of related *cis*-dialkyl or diaryl derivatives ZrR₂(OEP)^{239–241} have been prepared. The related zwitterionic species [Li(THF)] [Zr(OEP)(CCR)₃] (R = Ph, SiMe₃) have also been reported and characterized structurally.²⁴²

The compounds [{Zr(OEP)}₂(μ -OH)₃][C₂B₉H₁₂] and [Zr(OEP)(μ -OH)]₂(μ -O)^{4,243} were obtained from reaction of the precursors with Tl[C₂B₉H₁₂] and adventitous H₂O.⁴ The related species [Zr(TPP)(μ -OH)₂]₂ has also been characterized crystallographically.²⁴⁴ Hf analogs²⁴⁵ were prepared via analogous reactions, and the derivatives (Hf(TPP)(μ -OH))₂(μ -O)^{246,247} and Hf(TPP)(S₂C₆H₄)²⁴⁶ were isolated and characterized. Cationic complexes such as [M(OEP)(CH₂-SiMe₃)][BPh₄] (M = Zr, Hf) were prepared; however, these proved to be inactive as C₂H₄ polymerization catalysts.²⁴⁵

A variety of heteroatomic derivatives have been prepared. For example, the carborane derivative $Zr(OEP)(\eta^{5}-1,2-C_2B_9H_{11})$ has been described.⁴ Other reports have shown that the *bis*-carboxylate derivatives $ZrX_2(TPP)$ (X = O₂CMe, O₂CBu^t, 1,2-(O₂C)₂C₆H₄) catalyzed the ethylalumination of alkynes with highly efficient regio- and stereoselectivity.²⁴⁸ Subsequently, a number of *O*-ligated derivatives have been prepared, several of which have been characterized structurally. These compounds included: $ZrR_2(TPP)$ (R = O₂CMe,²⁴⁹ OBu^t, OSiMe₃, OTf, OAc²⁴⁰), [Zr(TPP)-(μ -OH)₂]₂,²⁴⁴ Hf(TPP)(O₂C Me)₂,²⁵⁰ Hf(H₂O)Cl₂(OEP), and [NBu₄][Hf(OEP)(P₃O₉)].²⁴⁶ Metathesis of halides with amides gave the complex ZrCl(TPP)N(SiMe₃)₂ that was character-

Metathesis of halides with amides gave the complex $ZrCl(TPP)N(SiMe_3)_2$ that was characterized structurally.²⁵¹ In related chemistry, reaction of $HfCl_2(TTP)$ (TTP = meso-tetra-*p*-tolylporphyrinate) with a Li amide reagent gave the diamido derivative $Hf(NHC_6H_3Pr_2)_2(TTP)$. Subsequent elimination of primary amine gave the imido species $Hf(NC_6H_3Pr_2)(TTP)$.²⁵² The analogous Zr chemistry proceeded directly to the imido-derivative (**61**). Structural data confirmed the monomeric nature of these imido complexes.²⁵² Reaction with isocyanate produced the insertion product $Zr[OC(NBu^t)N(Pr_2C_6H_3)](TTP)$ (**62**), while reaction with carbodimide afforded the related guanidinato-derivative. The imido species also reacted with pinacolone, yielding $Zr[OC(Bu^t)CHC(Bu^t)MeO](TTP)$. In contrast, reaction with PhNO afforded $[Zr(TTP)(\mu-O)]_2$, while reaction with H₂O directly gave $[Zr(TTP)(\mu-OH)]_2(\mu-O).^{252,253}$



Treatment of $Zr(TPP)_2$ with I_2 and $AgNO_2$ resulted in the monofunctionalization of one of the porphryin rings with a NO_2 group, giving $Zr(TPP)(TPP-NO_2)$. Subsequent reduction in the presence of Pd/C afforded the corresponding monoamino complex $Zr(TPP)(TPP-NH_2)$.²⁵⁴ The asymmetry of these systems was expected to invoke nonlinear optical properties. Further functionalization incorporated anthraquinone and pyromellitimide units to give complexes of the form Zr(TPP)(TPP-quinone). These compounds were the first porphyrin sandwich complexes with electron acceptors bonded directly to the porphyrin ring²⁵⁵ and were, therefore, examined as potential models for the photosynthetic reaction center. A related functionalized-OEP, octaethyl-5-methylporphyrin (OEMEP) was used to prepare the complex $Zr(OEMEP)_2$. This species was found to be more readily oxidized than $Zr(OEP)_2$, a feature attributed to the electron-donating methyl substituents present in the ligand.²⁵⁶

In a bioinorganic study, $ZrCl_2(TPP)$ complexes were used to mimic the reaction of nucleases in phosphate diester transesterification, as this species catalyzed solvolysis of model for RNA- and DNA-phosphates.^{257,345} Kinetic and mechanistic studies suggested that the active species was dinuclear and it was likened to $[Zr(TPP)(\mu-Me_2PO_3)]_2(\mu-MePO_4)$ (63), which was characterized crystallographically.

4.3.2.4.17 Porphyrinogen ligand complexes

Disruption of the conjugation of porphyrin rings gave the tetraanionic phorphyrinogen ligands (Et₈N₄). The complex $Zr(\eta^5 - \eta^1 - \eta^5 - \eta^1 - Et_8N_4)$ (64) was prepared, and crystallographic data confirmed η^5 - and η^1 -bound pyrrolato groups.²⁵⁸ This finding prompted theoretical²⁵⁹ and reactivity studies.



Porphyrinogen complexes acted as carriers for alkali metal hydrides as illustrated in $[Zr(\eta^5-\eta^1-\eta^5-\eta^1-Et_8N_4)(\mu-MH)]_2$ (M = Na,²⁶⁰ K²⁶¹). These species were stabilized by pyrrolyl interactions with the alkali metal ions. Subsequent crystallographic characterization of the LiH derivative revealed the formulation to be $[Zr(\eta^5-\eta^1-\eta^5-\eta^1-Et_8N_4)(\mu-Li_2H_2)]_2$, where (LiH)₄ was sandwiched between two porphyrinogen complexes.²⁶² In a similar manner, Zr-porphyrinogen complexes encapsulated Li₂O, affording the dimer $[Zr(\eta^5-\eta^1-\eta^5-\eta^1-Et_8N_4)Li_2O]_2$.

The KH derivative reacted with alkenes and alkynes to give the corresponding alkyl and vinyl derivatives,²⁶⁰ while reaction with CO gave $[Zr(\eta^5-\eta^1-\eta^5-\eta^1-Et_8N_4)O(\mu-K)]_2$.²⁶¹ The related enolate adduct $[Zr(\eta^5-\eta^1-\eta^5-\eta^1-Et_8N_4)]_2[\mu$ -OCPh(CH₂)K]_2 was derived from the reaction of

 $Zr(\eta^5 - \eta^1 - \eta^5 - \eta^1 - Et_8N_4)$ with K(PhCOCH₂). This species reacted with excess Ph₂CO to drive the Aldol condensation, affording $[Zr(\eta^5 - \eta^1 - \eta^5 - \eta^1 - Et_8N_4)]_2 [\mu$ -OCMe(Ph)CH₂C(Ph)O)K]_n.²⁶³

A study by Floriani and co-workers revealed a unique approach to the derivatization of porphyrinogen ligands.²⁶⁴ The alkali metal-hydride adducts induced C–H activation of an Et-group from the porphyrinogen ligand to give $[Zr(\eta^5-\eta^1-\eta^5-\eta^1-Et_7(CH_2CH_2)N_4]HM(THF)_n$ and $[Zr(\eta^5-\eta^1-\eta^5-\eta^1-Et_6(CH_2CH_2)_2N_4]HM(THF)_n$ (n = 1, M = Li (65), Na; n = 2, M = K).²⁶⁴ The former reacted with Bu^tNC, undergoing insertion into the Zr–C bond to yield $Zr[\eta^5-\eta^1-\eta^5-\eta^1-Et_7\{CH_2CH_2CN_2CN_4H_4N\}(C_4H_2N)_3](NHPh)$ (66). Similarly, it reacted with either CO or Mo(CO)₆ to give $[Zr\{\eta^5-\eta^1-\eta^5-\eta^1-Et_7(CH_2CH_2CSH_2N)(C_4H_2N)_3]ZrOLi]_2$, which contained one pyridine and three pyrrole rings.



Treatment of $[Zr(\eta^5-\eta^1-\eta^5-\eta^1-Et_8N_4)\mu-MH]_2$ with CO gave $[Zr\{\eta^5-\eta^1-\eta^5-\eta^1-Et_8(C_5H_3N)(C_4H_2N)_3\}$ OM]₂, which contained an octaethyltrispyrrolemonopyridine ligand.²⁶⁵ Alternatively, reaction of $[ZrR(\eta^5-\eta^1-\eta^5-\eta^1-Et_8N_4)(\mu-M)]_2$ with CO gave the species $[Zr\{\eta^5-\eta^1-\eta^5-\eta^1-Et_8(C_5H_2RN)(C_4H_2N)_3\}$ OM]₂ that contained the analogous alkylated pyridine. Isolation of the free ligand was achieved, and this was subsequently used to prepare $HfX[\eta^5-\eta^1-\eta^5-\eta^1-Et_8(C_5H_3N)(C_4H_2N)_3]$ (X = Cl, Me (67)). Further reaction of the methyl derivative with CO afforded $HfO[\eta^5-\eta^1-\eta^5-\eta^1-Et_8(C_5H_3N)(C_4H_2N)_2]$ (68), which contained two adjacent pyridine groups in the ligand.^{266,267}



Related reactions of $Zr(\eta^5 - \eta^1 - \eta^5 - \eta^1 - Et_8N_4)$ with PhCHO resulted in addition of the carbonylcarbon to the pyrrolic rings. This prompted ligand cleavage and the isolation of $(Zr{Et_4N_2-(PhCO)_2}(OCH_2Ph)_2]_2$ (69).²⁶⁸

Two and four electron reductions of tetraethyl-porphyrinogen (70) ligands gave the porphomethene (Et₄H₃PM) (71) and porphodimethene (Et₄H₂PDM) (72) macrocycles.²⁶⁹ The latter ligand was used to prepare complexes of the form $ZrX_2(PDM)$ (X = Cl, Me, Bn, Ph). The derivative $ZrMe_2(Et_6PDM)$ effected C—H bond activation of a peripheral Et-group upon thermolysis, affording $Zr[Et_4(CHMe)PDM]$ (73). In contrast, the dibenzyl derivative $ZrBn_2(Et_6PDM)$ gave Bn-group transfer to the ligand affording the product $ZrBn(BnEt_6PM)(THF)$ (74).²⁷⁰





4.3.2.4.18 Tetraazaporphyrin and phthalocyaninate ligand complexes

The ligands octaphenyltetraaza-phorphyrin (OPTAP) and octaethylthiotetraaza-porphyrin (OETTAP) (75) are ligands that are related to porphyrinates. The corresponding *bis*-ligand complexes ML_2 have been prepared and characterized structurally.^{271,272} In the case of $Zr(OETTAP)_2$, ligand-based oxidations gave radical cations, similar to those observed for porphyrinato-species.²⁷²

In recent work, $Zr(OETAP)_2$, Zr(OEP)(OETAP) and the related radical cations [Zr(OEP)-(OETAP)][SbCl₆], and [$Zr(OETAP)_2$][SbCl₆] were prepared and characterized. The former cation possessed nonlinear optical properties. In related work, solvent-dependent charge-transfer complexes were prepared from the 1:1 co-crystallization of $Zr(OEP)_2$ with $M(OETAP)_2$ (M = Gd, Lu). The lanthanides partially oxidized the Zr complex in solution, and magnetic susceptibility measurements suggested weak intermolecular interactions.²⁷³

Related to these systems were those containing the phthalocyanin ligand (76). Though Ti phthalocyaninates (Pcs) are more common, several Zr and Hf Pcs have been reported in recent years. The *bis*-ligand product $Zr(Pc)_2$ was prepared from the reaction of diaminoisoindoline with $ZrCl_4$ in quinoline.²⁷⁴ Monoligand complexes of the form $MCl_2(Pc)$ (M = Zr, Hf) were prepared from reaction of MCl_4 with phthalodinitrile in 1-chloronaphthaline at elevated temperatures.^{275,276} The chloride substituents were replaced with bidentate O-ligands containing pendant sulfinate or carboxylic acid functional groups, yielding $M(O_2R)(pc)$. These species were stable in H₂O for an extended period of times.²⁷⁷ Alternatively, the metallates [Ph₃PNPPh₃][ZrCl₃Pc]²⁷⁵ or [NBu₄][MF₃Pc] (M = Zr, Hf)²⁷⁶ were isolated in the presence of halide salts and characterized crystallographically.

Mixed M(por)(Pc) (M = Zr, Hf; por = TPP, OEP) complexes have been prepared and studied electrochemically. All were found to undergo two reversible ring-centered oxidations and reductions.²⁷⁸

4.3.2.4.19 Tetraanionic tetradentate ligand complexes

Tetradentate tetraanionic ligands are rare. However, Floriani's group has shown that the compounds $ZrR_2(Me_4taa)$ (R = Me, Bn) undergo successive migration of the alkyl groups into the macrocycle under thermal duress.²⁷⁹ An intermediate trianionic species was isolated and converted to $Zr(R_2Me_4taa)(L)$ (77) in the presence of THF or C_5H_5N . This latter species contained a macrocyclic ligand which provided four amido donors to the metal center.



One other example of a tetradentate tetraanionic ligand complex has been reported. The ligand cyclamH₄ was used to prepare complexes in which the ligand acted as either a dianionic or tetraanionic donor, yielding $ZrCl_2(cyclamH_2)$ and Zr(cyclam) (see Section 4.3.2.4.14). The latter was prepared free of LiCl by reaction of the neutral ligand with $Zr(NMe_2)_4$.²²⁴

4.3.2.5 Phosphorus Ligand Complexes

4.3.2.5.1 Neutral phosphorus ligand complexes

Mononuclear phosphine adducts of MX₄ have adopted several geometries. For example, $ZrCl_4(PEt_3)_2$,³¹ *trans*- $ZrI_4(PMe_2Ph)_2$,²⁸⁰ $ZrI_4(PMe_3)_3$,²⁸¹ and $HfI_4(PMe_3)_{2.5}$ have been characterized crystallographically. The latter species was a statistical mixture of two compounds incorporating either two or three equivalents of PMe₃ per Hf, thus generating six- and seven-coordinate Hf centers.²⁸¹ Analogous complexes containing bidentate phosphines such as $ZrCl_4(Bu_2PCH_2CH_2PBu_2)$, $HfCl_4(Ph_2PCH_2CH_2PPh_2)$, and $HfCl_4[Ph_2P(CH_2)_3PPh_2]^{282}$ possessed typical pseudo-octahedral geometries.

The eight-coordinate complex $ZrCl_4(Me_2PCH_2CH_2PMe_2)_2$ reacted with MgMe₂ to give $ZrCl_2Me_2(Me_2PCH_2CH_2PMe_2)_2$ or $ZrMe_4(Me_2PCH_2CH_2PMe_2)_2$.²⁸³ It is noteworthy that the species $ZrMe_4$ is not readily accessible or stable in the absence of the phosphine donor. In a subsequent paper, reaction of $Zr(CH_2SiMe_3)_4$ with $Me_2PCH_2CH_2PMe_2$ gave $Zr(CH_2SiMe_3)_4$ (Me_2PCH_2CH_2PMe_2), which exhibited an agostic $Zr\cdots$ H interaction (2.48 Å).²⁸⁴

Dinuclear products have also been characterized from reactions of sterically less demanding phosphines with $ZrCl_4$. For example, use of PMe₃ resulted in the isolation of $Zr_2Cl_5(\mu-Cl)_3(PMe_3)_2^{285}$ and $Zr_2Cl_6(\mu-Cl)_2(PMe_3)_4$.²⁸⁰ The former species was dissymmetric with three bridging Cl atoms, while the latter was a symmetric doubly bridged dimer. In a similar case, use of PPh₃ gave the dissymmetric product $Zr_2Cl_5(\mu-Cl)_3(PPh_3)_2$.²⁸⁶

4.3.2.5.2 Phosphido ligand complexes

Few Zr phosphido complexes that lack a stabilizing cyclopentadienyl ligand have been reported. In 1983, Baker *et al.* described the synthesis of the homoleptic complexes [Li(DME)] [M(PCy₂)₅] (M = Zr, Hf) from the addition of excess LiPCy₂ to MCl₄. The Hf derivative was characterized crystallographically, revealing a five-coordinate metal center.²⁸⁷ In a later study, Danopoulos *et al.* described a series of Zr phosphide complexes of the forms ZrCl₂[P(CH₂CH₂PR₂)₂]₂, [ZrCl₂(μ -Cl){P(CH₂CH₂PR₂)₂]₂ (**78**), and Zr₂Cl₅(μ -H)[P(CH₂CH₂PR₂)₂]₂. These compounds were derived from the reaction of varying stoichiometries of LiP(CH₂CH₂PR₂)₂ (R = Me, Et) with ZrCl₄.²⁸⁸



A P-containing analog of the Cp-ligand is the phospholyl anion $[C_4Me_4P]^-$. The first Zrphospholyl complex $ZrCl_2(C_4Me_4P)_2$ was prepared via reaction of the Li salt of the ligand with ZrCl₄. A crystallographic study confirmed the η^5 -binding mode.²⁸⁹ A number of related substituted bis(phospholyl) Zr compounds have been described in the literature.^{290–292} Upon treatment with Lewis-acid activators, these compounds generally gave rise to only moderately active catalysts for MeCHCH₂ polymerization. Interestingly, when two very bulky groups were located adjacent P, the catalysts were inactive.

Coordination of another metal to the accessible lone pair of electrons on the P atom of the phospholyl ligand has also been exploited to prepare heterobimetallic complexes. In this fashion, the species $[ZrCl_2(C_4HMe_2PhP)_2]Mo(CO)_4,^{293}$ $[ZrCl_2(C_4Me_4P)_2]M(CO)_n$ (M = W, n = 4; M = Fe, n = 3),²⁹⁴ $[ZrCl_2(C_4Me_4P)_2]RuHCl(PPh_3)_2,^{295}$ and $[{ZrCl_2(C_4HMe_2PhP)_2}Rh(binap)]^+$ (79)²⁹⁶ (binap = 2,2'-bis(diphenylphosphino)-1,1'-binaphthylene) have been prepared. In the bimetallic Zr–Mo and Zr–Rh complexes, resolution of the *rac* and *meso* forms was realized. The applications of these species in catalysis have not been fully explored.



4.3.2.6 Oxygen-based Ligand Complexes

4.3.2.6.1 Neutral oxygen ligand complexes

Ether adducts of Zr and Hf halides have been characterized crystallographically. The coordination of a cyclic polyether to MCl₄, as in ZrCl₄(12-crown-4), was first prepared in 1986. This species was indefinitely stable in ethereal solvents.²⁹⁷ The mononuclear complexes, *trans*-ZrCl₄(Et₂O)₂⁵⁰ and *cis*-MCl₄(THF)₂ (M = Zr,²⁹⁸ Hf²⁹⁹) exhibited distorted octahedral geometries. In all cases, coordination of the O donors rendered the complex more soluble in hydrocarbons, thus providing valuable precursors for organometallic syntheses. The symmetric dimer $Zr_2Cl_6(\mu-Cl)_2(THF)_2^{300}$ has been characterized structurally, although it was isolated in low yield. This stands in contrast to the monomeric adducts described above which were isolated in good yields in general.

Related oxo-bridged complexes of formulas $[ZrCl_3(MeOCH_2CH_2OMe)_2]_2(\mu-O)^{301}$ and $[ZrCl_3(THF)_2]_2(\mu-O)^{302}$ have also been synthesized and characterized. These dinuclear species were obtained only in low yields as the source of the oxo-bridge was inferred to be adventitious O₂.

 $ZrCl_4$ has been used as a Lewis acid catalyst in a variety of organic transformations.^{303–307} Intermediates in such reactions were proposed to be O-donor adducts. Several have been isolated, providing valuable mechanistic insight. For example, the stoichiometric reaction of $ZrCl_4$ with ethyl acetate³⁰⁸ or *n*-hexyl acetate³⁰⁹ gave $[ZrCl_2(\mu-Cl)_2(MeCO_2R)]_2$. These species have been tested as C_2H_4 oligomerization precatalysts and the catalyst derived from $[ZrCl_2(\mu-Cl)_2-{MeCO_2(CH_2)_5Me}]_2$ displayed moderate activity upon activation.³⁰⁹

Coordination of ketonic O-donors gave $ZrCl_4(L)_2$ (L = phenazone, amidopyrine),³¹⁰ as well as $ZrOX_2[OP(NMe_2)_2]_2$ (X = Cl, Br, I, NO₃, NCS, NCSe, BPh₄).³¹¹ A related 1:1 adduct was prepared via reaction of $ZrCl_4$ with SOCl₂, although this product was thought to be a dimer.³¹² In a more recent study, reaction of $ZrCl_4$ with SeOCl₂ gave both 1:1 and 1:2 adducts.^{313,314} Similarly, reaction of $ZrCl_4$ with poly(4-vinylpydridineNO) yielded what was proposed to be a *trans*-octahedral complex.³¹⁵ In the same way, R₃PO coordinated to MCl₄, affording both five-and six-coordinate adducts, MCl₄L_n (n = 1, 2; M = Zr, Hf). Studies of ligand exchange activation parameters, as well as relevant *cis/trans* isomerization processes have been reported.^{316,317}

Other O-donor adducts have included species derived from α -keto-ylids and barbituric acid, MCl₄[Ph₃PCHC(O)R] (M = Zr, Hf; R = Me, Ph)³¹⁸ and ZrCl₄(C₄O₃N₂H₄)₂,³¹⁹ respectively. Similarly, reaction of Ph₃AsNSO₂(C₆H₅Me) with ZrCl₄ resulted in the formation of the dimeric adduct [ZrCl₄(Ph₃AsNSO₂C₆H₅Me)]₂ in which the ligand bridges the two metal centers.³²⁰ Independent reports of the crystallographic characterizations of [ZrF₄(Me₂SO)₂]₂ have appeared.^{321,322} The Zr centers were bridged by F-atoms and displayed pentagonal bipyramidal geometries. The related adduct ZrF₄(Me₂SO)(H₂O)₂ was also characterized, revealing a sevencoordinate mononuclear complex.³²² More recently, crystallographic characterization of the serendipitously obtained eight-coordinate species [Zr(Me₂SO)₈]Cl₄ was reported.³²³ Heterobimetallic complexes obtained from the interaction of Cu^{II} Schiff-base complexes with ZrCl₄ were also described, and were proposed to involve O bridges.³²⁴

In recent studies, a series of ketone-bound adducts $ZrCl_4[R^2HNC(R^3)CHC(R^1)O]_2$ ($R^2 = Pr^i$, Ph, $R^3 = R^1 = Me$; $R^2 = C_6H_4OMe$, $R^3 = Me$; $R^1 = CF_3$) and $ZrCl_4[R^2_2NC(Me)CHC(Me)O]_2$ ($R^2 = Et$, Ph) were prepared.³²⁵ $ZrCl_4[Pr^iHNC(Me)CHC(Me)O]_2$ was characterized crystallographically and it adopted a *trans* conformation, with intramolecular H-bonding between the amine groups and the O atoms. NMR spectroscopy, *ab initio* and DFT calculations suggested the formation of 1:1 and 2:1 formaldehyde: $ZrCl_4$ adducts.³²⁶

4.3.2.6.2 Oxide, hydroxide, and peroxo ligand complexes

Polymeric complexes of ZrOX₂ that contain substituted hydrazine donors have been described. ^{327,328} Similarly, Schiff-bases, ^{329–331} ethoxycarbonylaminopyridine, ³³² 4-(*N*-benzoyl)-amino-antipyrine, ³³³ and aminopyridine³³⁴ ligands have been used to generate adducts of ZrOX₂ (X = Cl, Br, I, NCS, BPh₄). Reaction of thionyl chloride with ZrCl₄ gave ZrOCl₂(H₂O)₃. ³¹² The related complexes ZrOX₂ (X = halogen, NCS, NO₃, ClO₄, BPh₄) were also reported but were poorly characterized. Similarly, (Me₂N)₃PO coordinated to ZrOX₂ to provide compounds formulated as ZrOX₂[(Me₂N)₃PO]_n (n = 2, 4, 6).

The tetrameric Zr complexes $[Zr(OH)_2(H_2O)_2L]_4X_8$ (L = bipyridyl, phenanthroline, various Schiff-bases; X = Cl, NCS) were the presumed products from the reaction of ZrOCl₂ with various heterocyclic bidentate ligands.³³⁶ The interaction of H₂O with ZrO(ClO₄)₂ or ZrO(NO₃)₂ was probed by NMR spectroscopy.^{337,338} In the latter case, the cation $[Zr_4(OH)_8(H_2O)_{16}]^{8+}$ (**80**) was proposed as the product.³³⁸ The related trimer $[ZrO_2C_{12}H_8(\mu^2-OH)]_3(\mu^3-O)Li_5(THF)_8(H_2O)_5$ (**81**) was isolated from the hydrolysis product of an organometallic precursor. X-ray structural data confirmed the planarity of the six-membered $Zr_3(\mu^2-OH)_3$ core.³³⁹ In related work, protometric studies of Zr hydroxide complexes have probed thermodynamic stability,³⁴⁰ while FT IR and theoretical investigations have addressed the details of laser-ablated group IV metal atoms that



co-deposited at 11 K with water. In the latter study, the species HMOH and $H_2M(OH)_2$ (M = Ti, Zr, Hf) provided H_2MO upon annealing.³⁴¹

A series of papers have reported Zr peroxo derivatives.^{334,342–352} While Raman, IR, and ¹³C NMR data supported their structural formulations, no X-ray data have appeared.

4.3.2.6.3 Alkoxide ligand complexes

The mixed amido alkoxide Zr complex $Zr(OC_6H_2Bu_3^t)_2(NMe_2)_2$ was prepared via protonolysis of $Zr(NMe_2)_4$ with the phenol.³⁵³ Similarly, protonolysis has been used to synthesize hydroxychalcone and diactoneglucose complexes $Hf(OPr^i)_{4-n}(OR)_n$ $(n = 1-3)^{354}$ and $M(OR)_4$,³⁵⁵ respectively. In contrast, treatment of MCl₄ (M = Zr, Hf) with Li(O-Bu^t₂C₆H₃) gave only the species $MCl(OC_6H_3Bu^t_2)_3$, regardless of stoichiometry.^{356,357} Salt metathesis was also exploited to generate the disubstituted product $ZrCl_2(OAr)_2$ (Ar = C₆H₂MeBu^t₂).³⁵⁸ In later work, an alternate synthetic strategy using sterically less demanding aryloxide precursors was described. Me₂C₆H₃O SiMe₃ reacted with MCl₄ to give the products $ZrCl_3(OC_6H_3Me_2)$ and $ZrCl_2(OC_6H_3Me_2)_2$ via TMSCl elimination.^{359,360} The solvated adduct $ZrCl_2(OC_6H_3 Me_2)_2(THF)_2$ was characterized crystallographically, revealing that Zr adopted a slightly distorted octahedral geometry. Reaction of trimethylphenol with $ZrCl_4$ generated $ZrCl_{4-n}(OAr)_n$ (n = 1-3), which were characterized as adducts with pyridine, bipyridine, or THF.³⁶¹ Protonolysis of ZrBn₄ with alcohols yielded $ZrBn_2(OC_6H_3Bu^t_2)_2$.³⁶² Subsequent thermolysis in the presence of pyridine resulted in C—H activation of one of the Me-groups on the Bu^t fragment.³⁶²

The sterically bulky alkoxide $[Bu_{3}^{t}CO]^{-}$ dubbed "tritox" has been described as a steric equivalent to Cp-ligand.³⁶³ Salt metathesis of ZrCl₄ with the Li salt of tritox readily afforded ZrCl₃(OR)₂·Li(OEt₂)₂ and ZrCl₂(OR)₂, while controlled hydrolysis of ZrR₄ (R = Bn, CH₂Bu^t) with the corresponding alcohol produced ZrR₃(OR).³⁶³ Reaction of MCl₄ (M = Zr, Hf) with three equivalents of LiOR, followed by *in situ* addition of LiSi(SiMe₃)₃ provided Zr(OR)₃Si(SiMe₃)₃.¹¹ Treatment of ZrMe₂(OR)₂ with dry O₂ afforded Zr(OMe)₂(OR)₂,³⁶⁴ and mechanistic information was offered for this insertion process. Alcoholysis of ZrR₄ (R = Bn, CH₂(FC₆H₄)) with HOC₆H₃-Bu^t₂ generated the complexes ZrR₃(OC₆H₃Bu^t₂) and ZrR₂(OC₆H₃Bu^t₂)₂.³⁶⁵ Subsequent reaction of ZrBn₂(OC₆H₃Bu^t₂)₂ with the Lewis acid B(C₆F₅)₃ afforded a zwitterionic product that displayed η^{6} -coordination to the aryl ring of the [BnB(C₆F₅)₃]⁻ anion. This was confirmed by X-ray crystallography.^{366,367}

Employing protonolysis, complexes of the form $[Zr(OPr^i)_2{OC_6H_3(OMe)(CH_2CHCH_2)}-(\mu-OPr^i)]_2$ and $[Me_2NH_2][{Zr(OC_6H_3Me_2)_3}_2(\mu-OCH_2CHCH_2)_3]$ (82) have been isolated and characterized structurally.³⁶⁸ In a related reaction of $Zr(OEt)_4$ with $K(O-C_6H_3Me_2)$, the cluster $[K_2Zr{OC_6H_3(OMe)CH_2CHCH_2}_4(OEt)]_2(\mu-O)$ (83) was produced.

The monomeric Zr enolate derivative, $ZrMe[N(SiMe_3)_2](OCMeCMe_2)$, was isolated as a by-product in the reaction of $ZrMe_2[N(SiMe_3)_2]$ with CO. The mechanism of formation of this species was not fully understood; however, labeling studies showed the enolate carbons were

derived from CO. It should be noted that the major product of this reaction was [ZrMe{N(Si-Me_3)_2}]_2O. Interestingly, no reaction occurred with the analogous Hf precursor.³⁶⁹ A related report detailed the reaction of the allyl-species $Zr(C_3H_5)_4$ with CO₂ to result in the isolation of equimolar amounts of carboxylic acid and alcohol derivatives, which implied the formation of [ZrO{OC(C_3H_5)_3}(O_2CC_3H_5)]_n.³⁷⁰ Similar organic products were isolated for the corresponding reaction of ZrBn₄. In contrast, Zr(Bu^t)₄ afforded predominantly Bu^t₂CO with a smaller amount of Bu^tCO₂H, presumably reflecting steric congestion at the metal center.



A unique approach to alkoxide derivatives was exemplified by the reaction of bulky phosphines with $ZrCl_4(THF)_2$. In these cases, simple ligand exchange products were not obtained, rather nucleophilic attack of coordinated THF afforded the dinuclear species $[ZrCl_4{O(CH_2)_4PR_3}]_2$ (R = Cy, Ph).²⁸⁵

The species $Zr_2(OPr^i)_8(Pr^iOH)_2^{371}$ and $[Zr_2(\mu-OCHMe_2)(OCH_2Bu^t)_3(HOCH_2Bu^t)]_2^{372}$ have been characterized spectroscopically and crystallographically. A combination of techniques demonstrated that H-bonding interactions between the coordinated alcohol and the alkoxide ligands persisted in solution and in the solid state. In addition, the alkoxide clusters $Zr_3(\mu^3-X)(\mu^3-O)(OCH_2Bu^t)_9(X = Cl, OH)$,³⁷³ Hf₆(μ^3-O)₂(OEt)₂₀(EtOH)₂(84), and $Zr_3(\mu^3-O)(\mu^3-OBu^t)(OBu^t)_9$ (85)³⁷⁴ have also been prepared and characterized structurally.



A variety of papers have described the applications of Zr and Hf alkoxides as precursors for metal oxide thin films and ceramics. In addition, these species have been used as Lewis acid catalysts in a variety of organic transformations.^{375–381}

4.3.2.6.4 Siloxide ligand complexes

The homoleptic derivatives $M(OSiR_3)_4$ (M = Zr, R = Ph;²⁹⁷ M = Zr, Hf, R = Bu^t) have been prepared from reaction of the MR₄ precursors with the appropriate silanol. Alternatively, the complexes $ZrCl_2(OSiPh_3)_2(MeOCH_2CH_2OMe)$,²⁹⁷ $ZrX_2(OSiBu^t_3)_2$, $ZrX(OSiBu^t_3)_3$ (X = Cl, Bn),^{382,383} MCl₂(OSiPh_2Bu^t)₂(THF)₂, and MCl(OSiPh_2Bu^t)(OSiMe₃)₂(THF)₂ (M = Zr, Hf)¹² were prepared from MCl₄ and the silyloxide ligand. Replacement of THF with donor ligands

such as MeOCH₂CH₂OMe, Ph₂PCH₂CH₂PPh₂, and bipyridine was also described.³⁰⁰ In a related example, the cyclozirconosiloxane was synthesized by the addition of $(Bu^tO)_2Si(OH)_2$ to $Zr(OPr^i)_2$ -(MeCOCHCOMe)₂. X-ray data confirmed the dimeric formulation [Zr(MeCOCHCOMe)₂{O₂Si-(OBu^t)₂}]₂.³⁸⁴

Heating of M(OSiBu^t₃)₄ afforded the materials MO₂·4SiO₂ (M = Zr, Hf).³⁸⁵ Alternatively, hydrolysis of M[OSi(OBu^t)₃]₄ was investigated, and with precise control of the stoichiometry of water, the adducts M[OSi(OBu^t)₃]₄·(H₂O)_n (n = 1, 2) were isolated. However, an excess of H₂O resulted in the formation of the gel MO_x(OH)_y(OH₂)_z.³⁸⁶

The interaction of Zr and Hf with silica has been probed via the study of well-defined silicaand alumina-³⁸⁷ supported alkyl Zr complexes. This work has been reviewed recently.³⁸⁸ Related organometallic Zr silsesquioxane compounds have also been prepared for grafting to silica and use in alkene polymerization catalysis.³⁸⁹

4.3.2.6.5 Heterometallic alkoxide complexes

Homo- and heteroleptic Zr or Hf alkoxide complexes have been employed to prepare mixed metal species incorporating Ba, Sr, Al, Tl, Sn, Pb, transition, or lanthanide metals. This area has been reviewed thoroughly.^{390–392}

Building on earlier synthetic reports in this area, the Zr/Al bimetallic derivatives $ZrAl_2X_n(OPr^i)_{10-n}$, $[ZrAlX_3(OPr^i)_4]_3(Pr^iOH)_2$ (n = 1, 2; X = Cl, Br, MeCOCHCOMe),³⁹³ and $ZrAl(OPr^i)_{7-n}L_n$ (n = 1, 2; L = RCOCHCOMe (R = Me, Ph), MeCOCH CO₂Me (R = Me, Et))³⁹⁴ were prepared. However, it was not until the X-ray crystallographic study of the related Hf complex $Al_2Hf(OPr^i)_{10}$ (**86**) that the nature of these trimetallics was well understood.³⁹⁵ This compound was prepared via prolonged refluxing of the respective metal alkoxides.



Related mixed metal species incorporating Ba have also drawn attention. Reaction of $Zr_2(OPr^i)_8(Pr^iOH)_2$ with Ba granules or Ba[N(SiMe_3)_2]_2(THF)_2 gave the complexes [BaZr_2(OPr^i)_{10}]_2 (87) and Ba[Zr₂(OPrⁱ)_9]_2.³⁹⁶ Hydrolysis of the latter gave the cluster BaZr₄ (OH)(OPrⁱ)_{17}.^{397,398} Increasing the steric demands of the alkoxide precluded large cluster formation providing instead BaZr₂(OBu^t)_{10}, Ba_2Zr(OBu^t)_8(Bu^tOH)(THF), and BaZr(OBu^t)_6(THF)_2. These compounds were shown to serve as precursors to morphologically pure BaZrO₃ ceramics.³⁹⁹ Interestingly, hydrolysis of [BaZr(OBu^t)_6]_n with H₂O and isopropanol afforded [BaZr(OH)(OPrⁱ)_5(PrⁱOH)_3]_2.

Reaction of the component metal alkoxides afforded the species $Tl_2Zr[OCH(CF_3)_2]_6$. X-ray data confirmed a hexacoordinate Zr center while the Tl atoms were coordinated to alkoxide O and F of the alkoxide substituents.⁴⁰⁰ Variable-temperature ¹⁹F and ²⁰⁵Tl NMR spectroscopy indicated the F····Tl interactions persisted in solution although the structure was fluxional.

Indicated the F¹¹¹ Interactions persisted in solution although the structure was fluxional. Employing metathesis methods, a series of other mixed-metal derivatives have been prepared. These included: $MXZr_2(OPr^i)_9$ and $M[Zr_2(OPr^i)_9]_2$; M = Cd (X = Cl, ⁴⁰¹ I⁴⁰²), Mn (X = Cl, OPr^i , OBu^t),⁴⁰³ Fe (X = Cl, OPr^i , OBu, OBu^t , MeCOCHCOMe),^{404–406} Co (X = Cl, OMe, OPr, OPr^i , OBu, OBu^t ,⁴⁰⁷ MeCOCHCOMe⁴⁰⁸), Ni (X = Cl, OPr^i , OBu^t),⁴⁰⁹ and Cu (X = Cl, MeCOCHCOR; R = Me, CF_3 , (CF_3CO)₂CH, $OC_6H_3Me_2$, OC_6H_4Cl).^{410–414} In addition, hydrolysis of Cu₂Zr₂ (OPr^i)₁₀ afforded Cu₄Zr₄O(OPr^i)₁₈. Subsequent treatment with O₂ gave the Cu^{II} species Cu₄Zr₄O₃(OPr^i)₁₈ (**88**).^{414,415}

Other oxo-containing aggregates have been characterized, including $Zr_2Co_4(\mu^6-O)(\mu^2-OPr^i)_8$ (OPrⁱ)₂(MeCOCHCOMe)₄⁴¹⁶ and FeZr₃O(OPrⁱ)₁₀(MeCOCHCOMe)₃.⁴¹⁷ In both cases, the source of the oxide was not reported.



A collection of bimetallic compounds containing either Sn or Pb with Zr or Hf have been synthesized and their volatilities, thermal behavior, and aggregation tendencies have been summarized succinctly.⁴¹⁸ The Sn derivatives included SnXM₂(OPrⁱ)₉ (M = Zr, Hf; X = Cl,^{419,420} Cp⁴²⁰), SnI[Zr₂(OPrⁱ)₉]₂,⁴²¹ SnI₃Zr(OPrⁱ)₅(PrⁱOH),⁴²² and Sn[M₂(OPrⁱ)₉]_n(OR)_{4-n} (n = 1-3, R = Prⁱ, Bu^t).⁴²³ X-ray data confirmed the monomeric nature of SnCpM₂(OPrⁱ)₉ and revealed that the species [SnClM₂(OPrⁱ)₉] was in fact dimeric. Further reaction of [SnClM₂(OPrⁱ)₉]₂ with SnCl₂ gave the salt [SnZr₂(OPrⁱ)₉] [SnCl₃].⁴²⁴ The simpler bimetallic species MZr(OBu¹)₆ (M = Sn, Pb) were prepared via the reaction of constituent alkoxides. Use of the smaller alkoxide afforded Pb₄Zr₂(OPrⁱ)₁₆ and Pb₂Zr₄(OPrⁱ)₂₀.⁴²⁵⁻⁴²⁷ Subsequent work described a related product formulated as Pb₃ZrO (OPrⁱ)₈.⁴²⁸⁻⁴³⁰ Use of these materials in chemical vapor deposition (CVD) gave crystalline lead metal deposits mixed with amorphous ZrO₂.⁴³⁰

The $[Zr_2(OPr^i)_9]^-$ anion has also been used to bind lanthanide halides.⁴³¹ A series of derivatives including $LnX_2[Zr_2(OPr^i)_9]$ (X = Cl, Ln = Er, Yb; X = I, Ln = Tm), $[Ln(\mu-I)Zr_2(OPr^i)_9]_2$ (Ln = Sm, Eu, Yb) and $[LnCl(\mu-Cl)Zr_2(OPr^i)_9]_2$ (Ln = Ce, Nd, Ho) have been prepared from the reaction of the appropriate LaX₃ with $KZr_2(OPr^i)_9$.^{432,433} Analogous reactions in the presence of carboxylic acid salts gave $[Nd(\mu-Cl)(O_2CBu^1)Zr_2(OPr^i)_9]_2^{432}$ and $Zr_2(OPr^i)_4[Co(CO)_9(CCO_2)_2]$ [Co₃(CO)₉(CCO₂)].⁴³⁴ Alternatively, reaction of Gd(O₂CMe)₃ and $Zr_2(OPr^i)_8(Pr^iOH)_2$ afforded Gd₂Zr₆(μ^4 -O)₂(μ -O₂CMe)₆(μ -OPrⁱ)₁₀(OPrⁱ)₁₀ (**89**).^{162,435}



Reaction of $[Sm(\mu-I)Zr_2(OPr^i)_9]_2$ with $K_2C_8H_8$ afforded the related lanthanide species $Sm(C_8H_8)Zr_2(OPr^i)_9,^{436}$ while reaction of $[Yb(\mu-I)Zr_2(OPr^i)_9]_2$ with the appropriate amide gave YbN(SiMe_3)_2Zr_2(OPr^i)_9. Subsequent protonolysis gave the salt $[Yb(THF)_2Zr_2(OPr^i)_9][BPh_4]$ (90).⁴³⁷ This and other work has lead to the comparison between the anion $[Zr_2(OPr^i)_9]^-$ and the Cp-ligand.

Early reports have described species of formulation $M[Al(OBu^t)_4]M'_2(OPr^i)_9$ (M = Fe,⁴³⁸ Ni,⁴⁰⁹ Co;⁴³⁹ M' = Zr, Hf) although none were characterized crystallographically. Complexes containing

Zr (or Hf), Ba, and Cd represented by $[Cd(OPr^i)_3BaM_2(OPr^i)_9]_2$ (M = Zr, Hf) were derived from the reaction of $XCd[M_2(OPr^i)_9]^{401,402}$ with $KBa(OPr^i)_3$.^{402,440,441} The related Sr-containing species $Cd(OPr^i)_3Sr[M_2(OPr^i)_9]_2$ were obtained and characterized from the reaction of $ICdM_2(OPr^i)_9$ with $KSr(OPr^i)_3$.^{442,443}



4.3.2.6.6 Diketonate ligand complexes

Acetylacetonate complexes have been studied at length and the previous issue of (*CCC*, 1987) summarized a vast number of derivatives. Since then, the homoleptic compounds $M(CF_3COCHCOMe)_4$ (M = Zr, Hf)⁴⁴⁴ and Zr(CF_3COCHCOCF_3)_4⁴⁴⁵ were prepared by metathesis. X-ray structural data for the latter compound confirmed an eight-coordinate geometry while electron diffraction has revealed D₂ symmetry in the gas phase.⁴⁴⁶ The kinetics and mechanism of exchange of M(MeCOCH COMe)_4 (M = Zr, Hf) with free acetylacetone has been determined to proceed via a nine-coordinate intermediate.^{447,448} The related *tris*-substituted complexes ZrClL₃ (L = Bu^tCOCHCOBu^t,⁴⁴⁹ PhCOCHCOPh⁴⁵⁰) have also been characterized crystallographically, confirming a seven-coordinate, capped octahedral geometry. Contemporary investigations have utilized Zr(MeCOCHCOMe)_4 to effect copolymerization of biodegradable polymers,⁴⁵¹ as co-catalysts for the synthesis of poly(butylene terephthalate)⁴⁵² and polyurethanes⁴⁵³ and to effect terpenic alkene epoxidation.⁴⁵⁴ In addition, incorporation of long-chain substituents in Zr(RCOCHCOR)_4 complexes resulted in liquid crystalline materials.⁴⁵⁵

Numerous additional derivatives containing β -diketonate ligands have been prepared to compliment the already sizable inventory. Typically, syntheses involved the *in situ* generation of acetylacetonate anions and subsequent reaction with a metal halide precursor.⁴⁵⁶ In this manner, β -diketonate ligands incorporating heterocyclic substituents have been employed to prepare Zr complexes.^{457,458} In an unusual example, reaction of MCl(MeCOCHCOMe)₃ (M = Zr, Hf) with NaCo(CO)₄ gave M(MeCOCHCOMe)₃[OCCo₃(CO)₉] (M = Zr, Hf).⁴⁵⁹ The X-ray structure of this species confirmed the anticipated seven-coordinate geometry of Zr. An alternative synthetic strategy has exploited ligand exchange. For example, reaction of Zr(PhCOCHCOMe)₄ or M(OR)₄ (R = Pr, Bu¹) was used to prepare Zr(PhCOCHCOMe)_n(OR)_{4-n} (n = 2, 3).⁴⁶⁰ Protonolysis of acetylacetonate or alkoxide ligands was also used to prepare a variety of derivatives including Zr(MeCOCHCOMe)₃[HB(3,5-Me₂C₃HN₂)₃],¹⁷⁷ M₂(OPr¹)₆(Bu^tCOCHCOBu¹)₂ (M = Zr, Hf),⁴⁶¹ Zr(MeCOCHCOMe)₃(OC₆H₄NO₂), and [Zr(MeCOCHCOMe)₃(OC₆H₄O)]₂.⁴⁶² In a similar manner, reactions of catechol derivatives have yielded Zr₃(MeCOCHCOMe)₄(O₂C₆H₄)-(MeOH)₂, [Zr(MeCOCHCOMe)₂(O₂-3,5-Bu¹₂C₆H₂)]₂, and the corresponding hydrolysis product Zr₄(μ^4 -O)(MeCOCHCOMe)₄(O₂-3,5-Bu¹₂C₆H₂)₃(OMe)₄(MeOH).⁴⁶³

Activation of $\text{ZrCl}_2(\text{MeCOCHCOMe})_2$ by MAO in the presence of alkenes gave an assortment of polymer products, including high molecular weight polyethylene⁴⁵⁶ and syndiotactic (PhCHCH₂)_n.⁴⁶⁴ In more recent work, an improved synthesis of ZrCl_2 (MeCOCH-COMe)₂ and its use as a catalyst precursor for the production of elastomeric (MeCHCH₂)_n was reported.⁴⁶⁵

Complexes of a related anionic bidentate di-carboxamido-cyclopentadienyl ligand, $ZrCl_3[C_5H_3(CONHBu^t)_2](THF)$ and $ZrCl_2[C_5H_3(CONHBu^t)_2]_2$ (91) have also been described. This ligand chelates to Zr via the carbonyl O-atoms in a manner similar to diketonates. Structural data were consistent with π -delocalization of electron density in the ligand.⁴⁶⁶



4.3.2.6.7 Keto-alkoxide bidentate ligand complexes

Chelating keto-alkoxide ligands complexes of dihydroxy-benzoquinone⁴⁶⁷ and methylenebis(salicylaldehyde)³² have been reported, although these compounds were poorly characterized. Subsequent studies have described the salicylaldehyde derivatives $ZrCl_3[OC_6H_23-Bu^t-5-Me(CHO)]_2$.⁴⁶⁸ In a related system, the keto-alkoxide adducts were thought to be intermediates in the Lewis acid catalysis of Diels-Alder cyclizations.⁴⁶⁹ In a recent report, the compound $Zr(OPr^i)_2[(OC_6H_23-Bu^t-5-Me)C(Ph)O]_2$ was successfully employed as a Lewis acid catalyst for asymmetric allylations.⁴⁷⁰

Å related ligand complex, $ZrCl_2[(OC_{10}H_6)(OPPh_2C_{10}H_6)]_2$ was derived from the monophosphine-oxide derivative of binaphthol. NMR and X-ray crystallographic data suggested an all-*cis* arrangement of the ligands.⁴⁷¹

4.3.2.6.8 Carboxylate, carbamate, and oxylate ligand complexes

Carboxylate ligand complexes $Zr(OPr^{i})_{4-n}(O_2CR)_n$ (n = 1-3) and $ZrCl_2(O_2CR)_2$ that have substituents comprised of heterocycles^{472,473} or Schiff-base units⁴⁷⁴ have been reported. Homoleptic Zr-carboxylates such as $Zr(CHBr_2CO_2)_4$ and $Zr(CBr_3CO_2)_4$ were obtained from the reaction of the appropriate acid with $ZrCl_4$ in the presence of base.^{475,476} A variety of other carboxylate complexes have been reported, including: $Zr(O_2CMe)_2(SO_3F)_2$, $Zr(O_2CMe)_3(SO_3F),^{477}$ $Zr(OMe)_2(O_2CCF_3)_2$, $Zr(O_2CCF_3)_4,^{478}$ $Zr_2O(OH)_5(O_2CC_6H_4NO_2)$, and $Zr_2O(OH)_4(O_2CC_6H_4NO_2)_2,^{479}$ as well as a series of heptafluorobutyric acid derivatives including $ZrF_2(C_3F_7CO_2)_2,^{480}$ the clusters $Zr_4(C_3F_7CO_2)_8(OH)_8$ and $Zr_4(C_3F_7CO_2)_{10}(OH)_6$, and the mixed-valent species $Zr_8(C_3F_7CO_2)_{14}(OH)_{16}.^{481,482}$ Although these formulations were not confirmed crystallographically, it is of interest to note that the formation of $ZrF_2(C_3F_7CO_2)_2$ implied C—F bond activation.

Complexes incorporating a constrained bis-carboxylate ligand, $ZrX_2(XDK)$ (X = Bn, NMe₂; XDK = *m*-xylylenediamine bis(Kemp's triacid imide)) and $Zr(XDK)_2$ have been synthesized and characterized structurally. This ligand was derived from Kemp's tri-acid imide derivative of *m*-xylylenediamine (92) and shown to chelate through the two carboxylic acid fragments.⁴⁸³

The methacrylic acid derivatives $Zr(OPr^n)_3[O_2CC(Me)CH_2]$ and $Zr(OPr^n)_2[O_2CC(Me)CH_2]_2$ have been prepared and the subsequent hydrolysis products $[Zr_3O_3(OH)(OPr^n)_2\{O_2CC-(Me)CH_2\}_3]_n$ and $[ZrO\{O_2CC(Me)CH_2\}_2]_n$ were characterized.⁴⁸⁴ A closely related Zr complex $Zr(OPr)_3(O_2CCHCH_2)$ was prepared and functionalized by addition of HPPh₂ to the pendant alkene to give $Zr(OPr)_3(O_2CCH_2CH_2CH_2PPh_2)$ (93).⁴⁸⁵ Alternatively, this species was obtained via reaction of $Zr(OPr)_3(O_2CCH_2CH_2CH_2CI)$ with LiPPh₂. NMR data indicated that there was no significant interaction between the tethered phosphine and Zr.

The propensity of carboxylates for bridging was demonstrated in the crystal structures of $Zr_6(OH)_8(OMe)_4(O_2CCHPh_2)_{12}^{486}$ and $Zr_6O_6(OH)_2(O_2CCHPh_2)_{10}(C_{14}H_8N_2).^{487}$ Similarly, bridging ligands were observed in $[Zr_2(\mu-OH)_2\{\mu-CpMo(CO)_2Co_2(CO)_6(\mu^3-CCO_2)\}_2],^{488}$ [PbZr₂(μ -O)(O₂CMe)₂(OCH₂Me)₆]₂, and

 $Fe_2Zr_2(\mu^3-O)_2(O_2CPh)_6$ (OBu^t)₄(NC₅H₅)₂.⁴⁹⁰ The latter cluster was studied as a potential precursor for the deposition of metal-oxide films.³⁴³



Carbamate complexes of the formula $M(O_2CNR_2)_4$ (M = Zr, Hf; R = Et,⁴⁴⁵ Prⁱ⁴⁹¹) have been prepared by reaction of the $M(NR_2)_4$ with CO₂. Crystallographic studies have confirmed eight-coordinate geometry about Zr or Hf.

Several well-characterized Zr oxalate complexes have been reported recently, including $[K_2{Zr(C_2O_4)_3}H_2C_2O_4H_2O]_n$,⁴⁹² $K_6[{Zr(C_2O_4)_3}_2(\mu$ -C₂O₄)] (94),⁴⁹³ and Na₆[ZrOH(C₂O₄)₃].⁴⁹⁴ All of these species were crystallized from reactions of ZrOCl₂·8H₂O with oxalic acid, potassium oxalate, or oxalic acid 2-hydrate in the presence of base. The oxalate ligand displayed both bidentate and bridging coordination modes.



4.3.2.6.9 Carbonate complexes

Interest in Zr carbonates in part originates from their presence in nuclear waste.⁴⁹⁵ Equilibrium constants for the formation of $[M(CO_3)_4]^{4-}$ have been measured,⁴⁹⁶ and the coordination mode and kinetic behavior have been determined by dynamic NMR and Raman polarization studies.⁴⁹⁵ The interactions of carbonate ions with Zr has been investigated by potentiometry, NMR spectroscopy,⁴⁹⁷ and electrospray mass spectrometry.⁴⁹⁸ Although four-coordination modes are possible, the data suggested a bidentate binding mode for the carbonates in $[Zr(CO_3)_4]^{4-}$. The Zr carbonate complex $[C(NH_2)_3]_6[Zr(\mu-OH)(CO_3)_3]_2$ (95)⁴⁹⁴ has been previously reported,

The Zr carbonate complex $[C(NH_2)_3]_6[Zr(\mu-OH)(CO_3)_3]_2$ (95)⁴⁹⁴ has been previously reported, however it has only been recently characterized crystallographically. The related derivative $[CN_3H_6]_2[Zr\{(O_2CCH_2)_2NCH_2\}_2CO_3]^{499}$ has also been characterized crystallographically. These structures revealed a bidentate binding mode of the carbonate ligands and formally eightcoordinate Zr metal centers.



4.3.2.6.10 Bidentate alkoxide ligand complexes

Typical metathesis, protonolysis, or alkoxide exchange methods have been used to obtain complexes containing dianionic O-ligands. For example, $MCl_2(O_2C_6H_4)$ (M = Zr, Hf),⁵⁰⁰ ZrMe₂(O₂C₆X₄) (X = H, Cl),³⁸¹ Zr(NMe₂)₂[(OC₆H₂MeBu^t)₂CH₂]₂, and Zr₂[(OC₆H₂MeBu^t)₂ CH₂]₂[(μ -OC₆H₂MeBu^t)₂CH₂]⁵⁰¹ have been prepared and characterized structurally. Partial hydrolysis of a related species afforded the cluster Zr₃(μ ³-O) (OMe₂CCH₂CMe₂O)₄(HOMe₂ CCH₂CMe₂O)₂.⁵⁰² A related derivative of ethanediolate of the proposed formulation [Zr(OCH₂CH₂O)(η ²-OCH₂CH₂O)(ROH)₂]₂ (R = Pr, Bu) has been incorporated into hybrid materials that exhibited remarkable thermal stability.⁵⁰³

Another example of bidentate diphenoxide binding was demonstrated by the metallation of calix-4-resorcinarenes with zirconocene fragments. The resulting organometallic product contained four Zr atoms, each bound to the phenolate groups in a bidentate fashion.⁵⁰⁴

Ti has been incorporated into a Zr-pinacolate complex, affording the products $TiZr_2(OCMe_2C-Me_2O)_4(OCMe_2CMe_2OH)_2(OPr^i)_2$ (96) and $Ti_2Zr_2(OCMe_2CMe_2O)_6(OPr^i)_4$ (97). Both of these species were characterized crystallographically, confirming that the pinacolate ligands acted in either terminal chelating or bridging fashion.⁵⁰⁵ In a related system, two-dimensional diphenolate bridged networks were obtained from the reaction of $Zr(OEt)_4$ with 1,4-(HO)₂C₆H₄ in the presence of base. The products were comprised of interpenetrating sheets, providing a dense material that precluded intercalation of simple aromatic hydrocarbons.⁵⁰⁶ The related diolate complexes $Zr(OBu^1)_2(OCR_2CH_2CR_2O)$ (R = Me, Ph) have been used in the catalysis of the formation of β -cyanohydrins.⁵⁰⁷



The binaphtholate and biphenolate complexes $ZrX_2(OC_{10}H_5SiR_3)_2$ (X = Cl, Bn, CH₂SiMe₃, R₃ = Me₃, MePh₂, Ph₃), $ZrX_2(OC_6H_2MeBu^t)_2$, and $ZrCl_2(THF)_2(OC_6H_2Bu^t)_2$ have been used as

catalysts for polymerization. The species $[ZrBn(OC_{10}H_5SiPh_3)_2]$ $[BPh_4](98)$ and $ZrBn(OC_{10}H_5SiPh_3)_2(\eta^6-CH_2PhB(C_6F_5)_3)$ were made by treatment of the precursor with [PhNMe₂H] [BPh₄] and B(C₆F₅)₃, respectively. Upon activation with Al co-catalysts, the products served as active catalysts for the oligomerization of α -alkenes and butadiene, and for the catalytic cyclotrimerization of terminal alkynes. Steric modifications of the ligands exerted influence over the tacticity of poly(1-hexene).⁵⁰⁸

Complexes of a variety of binaphtholate derivatives of general formulas $Zr(OR)_2(OC_{10}H_5R)_2$, $Zr[(OC_{10}H_5R)_2]_2L_2$ (R = H, Br, Cl; L = donor),⁴⁷⁰ and $Zr(OBu^t)_2(OPhBrC_{10}H_5)_2^{509}$ have been prepared. The chirality of these binaphthol derivatives has prompted applications as catalysts for enantioselective organic transformations. These included alkylation of aldehydes,⁵¹⁰ Mannichtype reactions,^{511–513} allylation of imines,^{514–517} aza-Diels-Alder reactions,^{509,518} asymmetric prop-2-ynylation,⁵¹⁹ aldol reactions,^{520,521} and alkene polymerization.^{508,522,523}

4.3.2.6.11 Disiloxane ligand complexes

Bidentate siloxane ligands were used to prepare the octahedral complexes $Li_2[M(OSiPh_2OSiPh_2O)_3]$ (M = Zr,⁵²⁴ Hf⁵²⁵). The related expanded chelate complex Hf(OSiPh_2OSiPh_2OSiPh_2O)_2(C_5H_5N)_2 was derived from the reaction of Na₂[(OSiPh_2)_2O] with HfCl₄.⁵²⁶ The related ligand Bu^t₂Si(OH)₂ reacted with MCl₄(THF)₂ to give [MCl₂(O₂SiBu^t₂)(THF)₂]₂ (M = Zr (99),⁵²⁷ Hf⁵²⁸), which contained an eight-membered ring and octahedral metal centers.



Monosubstituted silsesquioxane ligands also acted as bidentate dianionic ligands as in the complexes $Zr(THF)_2[(c-C_5H_9)_7Si_7O_{11}(OSiMe_3)]_2$ (100), $Zr[(c-C_5H_9)_7Si_7O_{11}(OSiMe_3)]_2$, and $ZrCl_2[(c-C_5H_9)_7Si_7O_{11}(OSiMe_3)](THF)_2$.⁵²⁹ In a related study of alumina-bound alkoxy Zr complexes, spectroscopy suggested bonding to the surface occurred in a bidentate fashion.^{530,531}



The organometallic complexes of $(C_6H_3Pr_2)N(SiMe_3)Si(OH)_3$ such as $[ZrCp_2\{O_2Si(OH)NC_6H_3-Pr_2(SiMe_3)\}]_2$, in which the siloxane acted as a bidendate ligand have been reported.⁵³² However, no simple coordination compounds of this ligand have been reported to date.

4.3.2.6.12 Nitrate and sulfate ligand complexes

N-donor adducts of Zr-nitrate, $Zr(O)(NO_3)_2L_2$ have been reported.⁵³³ The product of the reaction of N₂O₅ with ZrCl₄, NO₂(NO)₃[Zr(NO₃)₅]₄, has also been characterized, revealing both bidentate and monodentate coordination of the nitrate groups to Zr.⁵³⁴

The Zr-chlorosulfate and fluorosulfate complexes, $Zr(SO_3Cl)_4$, $Zr(SO_3Cl)_4L$, $Zr(O)(SO_3Cl)_2L$ (L = pyridine, pyridine *N*-oxide, phenanthroline), $Zr(O)(SO_3Cl)_2$,⁵³⁵ $Zr(OH)_2(CF_3SO_3)_2$ -(H₂O)₄,⁵³⁶ $Zr(SO_3F)_4$, $Zr(O)(SO_3F)_2$, $Zr(O_2CMe)_2(SO_3F)_2$, $Zr(O_2CMe)_3$ (SO₃F), and $Zr(OMe)_2(O_3SCF_3)_2$ ⁴⁷⁷ have been detailed. Although no X-ray structural data has been reported, IR spectroscopy suggested the chlorosulfate ligands were bridging. An improved synthetic route to a number of these species has been described employing the reaction of $Zr(OR)_4$ (R = Me, Et) with the corresponding anhyrides.⁴⁷⁸ Two sulfate complexes, $[Zr(H_3O)_2(SO_4)_3]_{\alpha}$ and $[Zr(OPr)(O_3SMe)_3]_{\alpha}$, have been characterized crystallographically, and both form infinite arrays in the solid state.^{537,538} In the former, three distinct SO₄ polyhedra and distorted ZrO_7 polyhedra are connected via common corners and edges, with the layers connected by H_3O^+ ions. In the latter species, sulfate groups adopted both bridging and bidentate coordination modes.

4.3.2.6.13 Phosphate and phosphonate ligand complexes

Li[Zr₂(PO₄)₃] has been prepared, although the nature of phosphate binding is not clear.⁵³⁹ The related complex Zr(PO₄)F(OSMe₂) adopted a layered structure in the solid state and the phosphate was found to bridge four Zr centers.⁵⁴⁰ The related derivatives $MH_2(PO_3E)_2$ (M = Zr, $E = Se;^{541} M = Zr$, Hf, $E = S^{542}$) have also been described. Edwards *et al.* have detailed the syntheses of the complexes $Zr(NO_3)_2[O_2P(OBu)_2]_2$ and $Zr(NO_3)_2[O_2P(OBu)_2]_2[OP(OH)(OBu)_2]_4$, which were proposed to contain eight-coordinate Zr centers.⁵⁴³ The related phosphonate ligand Ph₂P(O)(OH) was used in the synthesis of the species $M(OPr^i)_3(\mu$ -OPrⁱ)_2(μ -O₂PPh₂)M(OPrⁱ)_2Ph_2-P(O)(OH) (M = Zr, Hf) (101).⁵⁴⁴ Crystal-lographic data revealed that the phosphonate acted as both a bridging and terminal bidentate ligand.

Zirconium phosphate derivatives have been investigated for a number of applications. Thiophosphate derivatives,⁵⁴² as well as $[PhNH_3]_2[Zr(PO_4)_3]$,⁵⁴⁵ have been employed as ion-exchange media. Similarly, a variety of materials derived from pillared Zr phosphates offered promise as selective ion-exchange materials.^{546–549}

Zr phosphates and phosphites have played a variety of roles in organic transformations, acting as a catalyst support media,⁵⁵⁰ as heterogeneous catalysts for tetrahydropyranylation of alcohols and phenols,⁵⁵¹ and as catalysts for the hydrolysis of phosphodiester compounds.^{552–556}

4.3.2.6.14 Dianionic tridentate ligand complexes

Complexes of the dianionic tridentate ligand, oxydiacetic acid have been recently reported. The eight-coordinate Zr center in $Zr[(O_2CCH_2)_2O]_2(H_2O)_2^{557}$ has been confirmed crystallographically. The oxydiacetato ligands acted in a tridentate fashion. More recent work has described related oxydiacetic acid complexes $[Zr\{(O_2CCH_2)_2O\}]^{2+}$, $Zr[(O_2CCH_2)_2O]_2$, and $[Zr\{(O_2CCH_2)_2O\}_3]^{2-}$ (102) which exist in equilibrium. The nine-coordinate nature of the last dianion has also been characterized crystallographically.⁵⁵⁸



4.3.2.6.15 Trianionic tridentate ligand complexes

Few tridentate O-ligand complexes have been reported. Feher *et al.* originally developed organometallic Zr–silsesquioxane complexes which served as a model for silica-supported catalysts.⁵⁵⁹ More recently, the coordination complexes $(MBn\{(c-C_5H_9)_7Si_7O_{12}\}_2)_2$ (M = Zr, Hf) have been reported by Duchateau *et al.* These species were effective catalysts for the polymerization of C_2H_4 when activated with $B(C_6F_5)_3$ and were considered as soluble models for silica-supported catalysts. In addition, the inorganic derivative $Zr(OBu^t)[(c-C_6H_{11})_7Si_7O_{12}]$ (103) has been synthesized and shown to exist as monomer–dimer equilibrium in solution.⁵⁶⁰ In contrast to the Ti analog, this species exhibited minimal activity for the decomposition of Bu^tO_2H . This was attributed to the lower Lewis acidity of Zr.

A unique tridentate trianionic ligand derived from trimetaphosphimic acid has been reported. Reaction with $MOCl_2(H_2O)_8$ (M = Zr, Hf) gave the isotypic complexes $Na_4[M_4(\mu^4-O)(\mu-OH)_6(PO_2NH)_3]_4$ (M = Zr (104), Hf). These clusters adopted an adamantanoid M—O cage where the trimetaphosphimato ligand chelated each of the metal centers of the $[M_4(\mu^4-O)(\mu-OH)_6]^{8+}$ core.⁵⁶¹



Zr and Hf nitrilotriacetate complexes have been prepared via addition of the neutral ligand to mixtures of $MOCl_2(H_2O)_8$ (M = Zr, Hf) and various alkali carbonates.⁵⁶² A series of these salts have been characterized crystallographically.^{563–576} Typical of these structures was the species $[Me_2NH_2]_2[Zr{N(CH_2CO_2)_3}_2]$, in which the Zr center was coordinated to six O atoms of the two tridentate ligands.⁵⁷⁶

4.3.2.6.16 Monoanionic tripodal ligand complexes

The metal complexes $[CoCp(PR_2O)_3]^-$ (R = OEt, Et) have been used as a tripodal ligand to prepare complexes of the form $[Zr\{(OPR_2)_3CoCp\}_2][X]_2$ (X = OSO₂C₆H₄Me, Cl) and ZrCl₃ [{OP(OEt)_2}_3CoCp] (105).⁵⁷⁷ In the reaction with ZrCl₄(THF)₂, the tripodal complex underwent an Arbuzov dealkylation to give the dimeric complex Zr₂[{OP(OEt)_2}_2(O_2PR) CoCp]₄, which contained seven-coordinate Zr centers. This dealkylation resulted in the formal conversion of the chelate to a dianionic ligand.

4.3.2.6.17 Trianionic tripodal ligand complexes

Two tripodal, O-donor ligands have been used to complex Zr. The ligand *tris*(hydroxymethylethane) produced $Zr_4[(OCH_2)_3CMe]_2(\mu$ -OPrⁱ)_2(OPrⁱ)_8 (106). The central core consisted of a Zr_4O_8 ring, with eight O atoms supplied from two isopropoxide and two tripodal ligands.⁵⁷⁸ This compound was used as a precursor to ceramic thin films which exhibited less macroscopic cracking and porosity relative to those derived from $Zr_2(OPr^i)_8(HOPr^i)_2$.



4.3.2.6.18 Dianionic tetradentate ligand complexes

Dimethylated calix-4-arenes have been used to prepare $ZrCl_2[OC_6H_2Bu^t(CH_2)]_2[MeOC_6H_2Bu^t(CH_2)]_2$ (107).⁵⁷⁹ The distortion of the structure from $C_{2\nu}$ symmetry was addressed in a DFT study. The results suggested that packing effects were not the cause, but that the tethered calix-4-arene ligand imposed constraints on O—Zr—O bond angles.⁵⁸⁰ Replacement of the metal chloride afforded a variety of dialkyl and alkyl-cation derivatives.⁵⁸¹ The corresponding butadiene derivative has also been prepared and its chemistry and bonding probed in detail.⁵⁸² Insertion reactions of the dialkyl derivatives with CO have been investigated via a theoretical study.⁵⁸³


4.3.2.6.19 Trianionic tetradentate ligand complexes

A calix-8-arene complex, $[RNH_3][(ZrOPr^i)_2(Hcalix[8]arene)]$, has been synthesized. Although crystallographic data has only been obtained for the Ti analog, NMR data suggested that the Zr analog had a similar structure.^{584,585}

The hydrolysis of dimethylated calix-4-arenes was used as a route to the trianionic monomethylated analog.⁵⁸⁶ Complexation of this ligand by $ZrCl_4(THF)_2$ yielded a dimeric product formulated as $[ZrCl\{(OC_6H_2Bu^tCH_2)_3(MeOC_6H_2Bu^tCH_2)\}]_2$. Alternatively, the complex $ZrCl_2(OC_6H_2Bu^tCH_2)_2[MeOC_6H_2Bu^t(CH_2)]_2$ reacted with base, resulting in the loss of one of the ether methyl groups giving complexes containing a formally trianionic ligand as in the species $[MeNEt_3][ZrCl_2\{(OC_6H_2Bu^tCH_2)_3(MeOC_6H_2Bu^tCH_2)\}]$ or $Zr(O_3SCF_3)(C_5H_5N)(OC_6H_2-Bu^tCH_2)_3(MeOC_6H_2Bu^tCH_2)_2]$ with base afforded $[ZrBn(OC_6H_2Bu^tCH_2)_3(MeOC_6H_2Bu^tCH_2)]_2$, with concurrent loss of EtC_6H_5 .⁵⁸⁶ In a related study, thiacalix-4-arenes were used to extract Zr or Hf from aqueous solution although the precise nature of the complexes was not determined.⁵⁸⁷

4.3.2.6.20 Higher denticity ligand complexes

Decyclization of 18-crown-6 with ZrCl₄ resulted in the isolation of a seven-coordinate Zr complex [ZrCl₂{O(CH₂CH₂O)₅CH₂CH₂Cl]] [ZrCl₅(THF)] (**108**).⁵⁸⁸ In contrast, the analogous Hf reaction did not effect ring opening of the crown, yielding instead [Na(18-crown-6] [HfCl₅(THF)].⁵⁸⁹ Eight-coordinate Zr and Hf derivatives of the tetraanionic ligand ethylenedioxydiethylenedinitrilotetraacetic acid were synthesized from the reaction of MOCl₂ in NH₄OH solution.⁵⁹⁰ The two compounds M[(O₂CCH₂)₂NCH₂CH₂OCH₂]₂ (M = Zr, Hf (**109**)) were found to be isostructural in the solid state, although NMR spectroscopy indicated that the Hf derivative had a higher degree of symmetry in solution.



4.3.2.7 Sulfur, Selenium, and Tellerium Ligand Complexes

4.3.2.7.1 Neutral sulfur, selenium, and tellerium ligand complexes

Metal halide adducts of S and Se of the general formula MCl_4L_2 (M = Zr, L = SCNH₂Me;⁵⁹¹ M = Zr, Hf; L = SMe₂, SeMe₂; M = Zr, L = SR₂, R = Et, Prⁱ, Buⁱ³¹⁶) have been prepared in a straightforward manner. The relative stabilities of the *cis* vs. *trans* isomers of these complexes were examined in an NMR study.³¹⁶

Accounts purporting the formation of disulfide adducts of $ZrOCl_2$ and $Zr(NO_3)_4^{592}$ or adducts of 2-thio-3-phenylquinazoline-4-one⁵⁹³ have appeared, although the binding mode of these ligands was not confirmed unambiguously.

4.3.2.7.2 Sulfide, selenide, and telluride complexes

The S₂ bridged dimers M₂(TPP)(μ - η^2 -X₂)₂, were prepared via the reaction of MCl₂(TPP) (M = Zr, Hf) with Li₂S₂ or Li₂Se₂. In these cases, the geometry of the M₂X₄ (X = S (110), Se) core was a distorted octahedron, with an unusual M₂(μ - η^2 -X₂)₂ core.⁵⁹⁴ The reaction of the imido porphyrin derivatives M(TTP)(NC₆H₃Prⁱ₂) (M = Zr, Hf; TTP = *meso*-tetra-*p*-tolylporphyrinato) with Bu^tNCS or Bu^tNCSe generated [Zr(TTP)(μ -E)]₂ (E = S, Se).²⁵²

Coucouvanis *et al.* have synthesized and characterized structurally Zr–S clusters. Reaction of $Zr(BH_4)_4$ with Bu^tSH resulted in the formation of $Zr_3(\mu$ -S)₃(SBu^t)₂(BH₄)₄(THF)₂ and $Zr_6(\mu$ -S)₆(SBu^t)₄(BH₄)₈(THF)₂.⁵⁹⁵ The parallel reaction involving ZrBn₄ and Bu^tSH gave the species $Zr_3(\mu$ -S)(SBu^t)₁₀ (111).^{596,597} In each of these clusters the sulfide was derived via C–S cleavage.



Recently, the crystal structures of Rb_2MS_4 (M = Zr, Hf) and K_2ZrS_4 have been determined showing an extended chain of S-bridged metal centers, with S_2 ligands bound to each metal center (112).⁵⁹⁸ Gas phase experiments have also probed the interactions of Zr and Hf with S_8 ,⁵⁹⁹ while Green *et al.* have investigated the intercalation of Mo organometallic species into ZrS₂.⁶⁰⁰



Treatment of the compound M[TeSi(SiMe₃)₃]₄(Me₂PCH₂CH₂PMe₂) (M = Zr, Hf) with a second equivalent of phosphine prompted elimination of R₂Te and the formation of the terminal Te complex MTe[TeSi(SiMe₃)₃]₂(Me₂PCH₂CH₂PMe₂)₂ (**113**). Crystallographic data revealed Hf—Te and Zr—Te bond lengths of 2.637(2) Å and 2.650(1) Å, respectively.^{601,602} Similarly, treatment of M[SeSi(SiMe₃)₃]₄ with phosphine prompted loss of R₂Se but gave [M(μ -Se){SeSi(SiMe₃)₃}₂-(μ -Me₂PCH₂CH₂PMe₂)₂]₂ (**114**).



4.3.2.7.3 Thiolato, selenolato, and tellurolato ligand complexes

Reaction of $ZrBn_4$ with PhSH in the presence of BnMgCl afforded the disordered salt [MgTHF₆] [$Zr_2(SPh)_{7,2}(Bn)_{1,8}$]₂.⁵⁹⁷ The anion contains three bridging thiolate groups between the octahedral metal centers. Thiolate ligands have also been employed to replace the halides in OEP complexes. For example, the related dithiolate derivative Hf(OEP)(1,2-S_2C_6H_4) has been reported.⁶⁰³

The homoleptic selenolate and tellurolate complexes $M[ESi(SiMe_3)_3]_4$ (M = Zr, Hf; E = Se, Te) were formed by straightforward protonolysis, yielding simple adducts with isocyanates. In addition, these species have been prepared via a salt metathesis reaction. The complexes $MBn[SeSi-(SiMe_3)_3]_3$ were prepared in a similar manner with appropriate control of the stoichiometry.⁶⁰² Zr selenolate and tellurolate complexes with supporting benzamidinate ligands of the form ZrCl[PhC(NSiMe_3)_2]_2ESi(SiMe_3)_3 (E = Se, Te) were prepared via a metathesis route in moderate yields.⁹⁴

Ferrocenyldithiol ligands have also been used to prepare $Zr(NMe_2)_2[(C_5H_4S)_2Fe]$ from $Zr(NMe_2)_4$.⁶⁰⁴ Preliminary C_2H_4 polymerization experiments revealed that it was moderately active when activated with MAO.

4.3.2.7.4 Dithiocarbamate and dithiophosphate ligand complexes

Numerous reports describing the syntheses of complexes incorporating a variety of substituted monoanionic dithiocarbamate ligands of the form $MX_{4-n}(S_2CNR)_n$ (n = 1-4) and $MO(S_2CNR)_2$ have appeared.⁶⁰⁵⁻⁶¹³ NMR spectroscopic studies have determined the barriers to rotation about the C—N bond in $Zr(S_2CNPr_2)_4$.⁶¹⁴ A crystallographic study of $ZrCl_3(S_2CNMe_2)(C_5H_5N)_2$ confirmed the bidentate coordination mode of the dithiocarbamate ligand and the seven-coordinate nature of the Zr center.⁶¹⁵ One report proposed the formation of a heterobimetallic derivative in which a Schiff-base ligand bridges Cu and Zr-bis-dithiocarbamate fragments; however, this species was poorly characterized.⁶¹⁶

Related dithiophosphate ligands have also been used to prepare complexes including as $ZrO[S_2P(OMe)_2]_2$,⁶¹⁷ $[Zr(OPr^i)_3(S_2PO_2R)]_2$,⁶¹⁸ and $ZrCl_{4-x}(S_2POR)_x$ (x = 2-4; $R = CMe_2CMe_2$, CHMeCHMe, CH₂CMe₂CH₂, CH₂CEt₂CH₂).⁶¹⁹

A recent report has described the antifungal, antibacterial, and anticancer activity of a zirconylcomplex of the Schiff-base of S-benzyldithiocarbazate, although the exact nature of the product was not fully understood.⁶²⁰

4.3.2.7.5 Selenocyanato complexes

A series of adducts of $ZrO(SeCN)_2$ have been reported, however, the mode of coordination of the selenocyanate was not addressed.⁶²¹

4.3.2.8 Halometallate Complexes

4.3.2.8.1 Fluorometallate complexes

A recent review has detailed stereochemical issues of Zr and Hf fluorometallate salts.⁶²² Synthetic advances in this domain focused mainly on the isolation of fluorometallate salts of N-based cations. The pyridinium salts of penta- and hexafluorozirconates, $[HNC_5H_5][ZrF_5]$ and $[HNC_5H_5]_2[Cu(NC_5H_5)_4][ZrF_6]_2$ have been reported.^{623,624} Both are obtained from arduous synthetic procedures and were characterized by IR spectroscopy and crystallography. In the case of $[HNC_5H_5][ZrF_5]$, IR data were consistent with H-bonding between the cation–anion, which lowered the symmetry of the $[ZrF_5]^-$ ion in the crystal lattice. Alternatively, in $[HNC_5H_5]_2[Cu(NC_5H_5)_4][ZrF_6]_2$, the zirconate adopted an octahedral structure with coordination of one of the fluorine atoms to Cu^{II}, resulting in a comparatively long Zr—F bond. The electronic structure and solid-state vibrational transitions of $[ZrF_6]^{2-}$ have also been investigated at the SCF, MP2, and Becke3LYP levels of computational theory.⁶²⁵

In related work, the ammonium salts $[NH_4][MF_5]$ (M = Zr, Hf) have been prepared via oxidation of the metal with $[NH_4]$ [HF₂], followed by pyrolysis in a sealed vessel.⁶²⁶ Analysis of single crystals revealed that the structure is isotypic to TlZrF₅.

Mononuclear $[HfF_6]^{2-}$ and binuclear $[Hf_2F_{10}(H_2O)_2]^{2-}$ salts were isolated with a $[{H_3N(CH_2)_3}_2]^+$ counterion.^{627,628} The $[HfF_6]^{2-}$ ion had an octahedral geometry, with all six F-atoms involved in H-bonding with ammonium centers of the counter ion. In contrast, $[Hf_2F_{10}(H_2O)_2]^{2-}$ adopted slightly distorted pentagonal bipyramidal coordination geometries with asymmetrically bridging F-atoms (115). In this species, H-bonding was also evident in the solid state between the cation and terminal F atoms and water molecules of the hafnate fragment. Recent solid-state VT-NMR studies of $[NH_4]_2[HfF_6]$, $Tl_2[HfF_6]$, and $[NH_4]Tl[HfF_6]$ have examined ionic mobility and the corresponding activation energies. In addition, the latter two salts underwent phase changes above 350 °C.⁶²⁹



4.3.2.8.2 Chlorometallate complexes

Monometallic chlorometallates are also well known. The anion $[ZrCl_5(THF)]^-$ was first characterized from the reaction of $ZrCl_4$ with 18-crown-6. This reaction resulted in C—O bond cleavage and the isolation of the species $[ZrCl_2(OCH_2CH_2)_5OCH_2CH_2Cl][ZrCl_5(THF)]$.⁵⁸⁸ A mechanism for this reaction was proposed based on Lewis acid attack of the crown ether. Sobota *et al.* showed in the same year that the stoichiometry of the reaction of $ZrCl_4(THF)_2$ and $MgCl_2(THF)_2$ determined the formation of $[Mg(THF)_6][ZrCl_6]$ and $[Mg(THF)_6][ZrCl_5(THF)]_2$.⁶³⁰ In a more straightforward synthesis, reaction of $ZrCl_4(DAD)$ with HCl produced $[DAD-H][ZrCl_5(THF)]$.⁶³¹ The analogous Li salt $[Li(THF)_4][ZrCl_5(THF)]$ was obtained from the reaction of LiNPh₂ with $ZrCl_4$ in THF. This species lost THF above $-5 \,^{\circ}C$ affording $[Li(THF)_3][ZrCl_5(THF)]$, which was stable at ambient temperatures.⁶³² In the former case where the Li atom was coordinatively saturated, the anion $[ZrCl_5(THF)]^-$ displayed only a slightly distorted octahedral geometry. However, in the latter cases where loss of THF has occurred, the Li coordination site was completed by a Zr—Cl interaction. A recent synthesis of the pentachlorozirconate derivative $[Ph_4P][ZrCl_5(NCMe)]$ from the reaction of $[Ph_4P]Cl$, acetonitrile, $ZrCl_4$, and S_2Cl_2 has also described by Rabe *et al.*⁶³³

In addition to the above pentachlorozirconates, hexachlorozirconates are also accessible. In earlier work conductiometric studies of SO_2Cl_2 solutions containing NH₄Cl and ZrCl₄ or ZrOCl₂·8H₂O suggested the presence of salts of both penta- and hexachlorozirconates.⁶³⁴ Varying the protocols and stoichiometry resulted in the isolation of the species [Me₄N][ZrCl₅] and [Me₄N]₂[ZrCl₆].

The related complex, $[Ph_4P]_2[ZrCl_6]$ was isolated by combination of $[Ph_4P]Cl$ and $ZrCl_4$.⁶³⁵ The related salt $[Ph_3PH]_2[ZrCl_6]$ was prepared from the reaction of $ZrCl_4$ with HCl, followed by exposure to $[Ph_3PH]Cl$.⁶³⁶ This compound was seen to be remarkably resistant to decomposition, being destroyed only upon heating in H₂O. In 1996, Beck *et al.* reported the metallate $[SeCl_3]_2[MCl_6]$ (M = Zr, Hf) obtained from the reaction of the corresponding MCl₄ with SeCl₄.⁶³⁷ Structural data showed that the metallate anion was very slightly distorted from octahedral symmetry, with each of the Cl atoms bridging to a $[SeCl_3]^+$ fragment, providing five-coordinate Se centers in the solid state. In subsequent work, reaction of $ZrCl_4(SeOCl_2)_2$ with SOCl₂ liberated SO₂, affording an alternate route to the chlorometallate salt $[SeCl_3]_2[ZrCl_6]$.³¹⁴

As with the fluorometallates, dimeric chlorometallate salts are common. Reaction of $ZrCl_4$ with (NSCl)₃ afforded [S₃N₃Cl₂]₂[Zr₂Cl₁₀]. The crystallographic study of this species represented the

first to confirm the dimeric nature of the dianion. In this salt, each Zr atom adopted a distorted octahedral geometry with two Cl atoms bridging the Zr centers.⁶³⁸ The analogous salts $[Ph_3C]_2[M_2X_{10}]$ (M = Zr, X = Br; M = Hf, X = Cl, I) have been prepared from the reaction of excess Ph₃CX with the appropriate metal reagent M(BH₄)₄.⁶³⁹ Crystallographic characterization of the Hf dianion [Hf₂Cl₁₀]²⁻ confirmed the similarity to the Zr analog. In more recent studies, the related salts [bis(1,3,5-trimethoxyphenylium)] [Zr₂Cl₁₀]⁶⁴⁰ and [4-Bu^tPhCH₂PPh₂NH-(SiMe₃)]₂[Zr₂Cl₁₀]²⁸ were characterized.

Complex chlorometallates containing transition metal cations have also been prepared. The solvent dependence of interactions of p and d-block metals with Zr and Hf halides was reviewed.⁶⁴¹ In more recent studies, the compounds $[CoCp'_2][MCl_5(THF)]$ (Cp' = Cp, Cp^* ; M = Zr, Hf) were synthesized by reaction of the metal tetrahalide with $CoCp_2Cl$ or $CoCp^*_2.^{642}$ The bimetallic Cu/Zr compound Cu₂ZrCl₆ was prepared by thermolysis of CuCl and ZrCl₄ at 450 °C. Heating this species in C₆H₆ afforded Zr[(C₆H₆)CuCl₃]₂, whereas reaction in the presence of [H₂NMe₂]Cl gave [H₂NMe₂][CuZrCl₆].^{643,644} In these complexes, Cl atoms bridge the Cu and Zr. The solid-state structure of Zr[(C₆H₆)CuCl₃]₂ was analogous to corresponding phosphonate salt Zr(O₃PR)₂, whereas the structure of [H₂NMe₂]Cu[ZrCl₆] was found to be analogous to that of Zr(S₄P)₂. The species ZrCl₅(μ -N)ReCl(PMe₂Ph)₃(MeCN), in which a nitride bridged two metal centers, was derived from the reaction of ZrCl₄ with ReNCl₂(PMe₂Ph)₃.

4.3.2.8.3 Mixed halide metallate complexes

Mixed halozirconates have also been reported. The species $[Na-15-crown-5]_2[ZrF_2Cl_4]$ was synthesized from the reaction of $[PhC(NSiMe_3)_2ZrCl_3]_2$ with NaF in the presence of 15-crown-5.⁶³⁵ In this case, distortion from octahedral symmetry of the zirconate resulted from the interaction of the sodium ions with both F and Cl atoms of the anion.

4.3.2.9 Hydride and Borohydride Ligand Complexes

4.3.2.9.1 Hydride ligand complexes

Significant progress in the domain of group IV metal-hydride complexes has been made in recent years. These have included a variety of theoretical and synthetic studies. Related but complex Zr—H clusters have been prepared and studied. These systems have been reviewed.^{646–648}

Theoretical studies of simple homoleptic hydride derivatives MH_4 (M = Zr, Hf) have been addressed in an *ab initio* study. The rate of site exchange of the hydrogen atoms and the corresponding transition state energy in these species was interrupted by electrostatic interaction of the cationic metal center with a H_3^- fragment.⁶⁴⁹ Theoretical studies have compared trends in bond energies, vibrational frequencies, metal-orbital hybridizations, and equilibrium geometries of ZrH⁺ to those of other transition metal analogs.⁶⁵⁰

In synthetic efforts, hydrogenation of the transient imido complex $Zr(NSiBu^t_3)(NHSiBu^t_3)_2$ afforded the hydride $Zr(NHSiBu^t_3)_3H$.⁸² In a subsequent study, the reaction of this hydride species and CO resulted in the isolation of $Zr(NHSiBu^t_3)_3(OCH)_2$. Mechanistic details were also investigated.⁵⁷ Related reactions of the amido-species $M(NMe_2)_4$ (M = Zr, Hf) with silanes, such as SiPhH₃, SiPh₂H₂, SiPhMeH₂, or Si(NMe₂)Ph₂H, gave the unusual trimer M[(Me₂N)₃M-(μ -H)(μ -NMe₂)₂]₂ (M = Zr, Hf) (**116**). Mechanistic studies that exploited isotope labeling with deuterium later confirmed the presence of an equilibrium between $Zr(NMe_2)_3Si(SiMe_3)_3$ and $SiPh_2H_2$ with $Zr(NMe_2)_2[Si(SiMe_3)_3]H$ and $Si(NMe_2)Ph_2H$. The implications of this chemistry with respect to the role of silanes in CVD of thin films of TiN from Ti(NMe₂)₄ was also considered.^{19,651} Related tripodal amido ligands have been used to prepare the Zr—H species [$Zr(MeC_6H_4NSiMe_2)_3CH(\mu-H)]_2$. The bridging nature of the hydrides was affirmed by a crystallographic study.²⁰⁰ Recent advances in Zr porphyrinogen–hydride chemistry have been discussed above (see Section 4.3.2.4.17)

Fryzuk's group has also prepared and characterized the Hf-hydride compound, $[HfCl_2N(SiMe_2CH_2PMe_2)_2]_2(\mu-H)_2$.⁶⁵² Using a related tridentate ligand, addition of the phosphide ligand to ZrCl₄ followed by exposure to Al₂Me₆ afforded Zr₂Cl₄(μ -Cl)-(μ -H)[P(CH₂CH₂PMe₂)₂]₂. Although this species was isolated in low yield, it was characterized structurally.²⁸⁸

Zirconium and Hafnium

In ground-breaking work, Fryzuk *et al.* have developed related chemistry employing macrocyclic ligands. Interaction of molecular hydrogen or primary silanes with the N₂ complex $[Zr(P_2N_2)]_2$ (μ - η^2 -N₂) ((P_2N_2) = PhP(CH₂SiMe₂NSiMe₂CH₂)₂PPh) produced what was initially proposed to be a bridging N₂-H₂ complex. This species isomerized in solution to the complex containing a (μ - η^2 -N₂H)(μ -H) bridging fragment.⁶⁵³ A single-crystal neutron diffraction study subsequently confirmed the latter structure.^{654,655} Theoretical considerations suggested that incorporation of one or two additional hydrogen molecules may also be possible.⁶⁵⁶ Furthermore, the studies indicated that the formation of the isolable [Zr(P₂N₂)]₂(μ - η^2 -N₂H)(μ -H) (117) proceeded via a metathesis-like transition state, where Zr—H and N—H bonds were simultaneously formed with concurrent breakage of the H—H and N—N bonds.⁶⁵⁴



Zr and Hf hydrides have been proposed as intermediates or by-products in heterogeneous and homogeneous catalysis of alkene isomerization, polymerization, and trimerization reactions.^{388,657–659} For example, heating the well-characterized silica-bound Zr(neopentyl)_n (n = 1, 2) with dihydrogen afforded silica supported Zr-hydrides as indicated by IR spectroscopy.⁶⁵⁸ Interestingly, this silica-supported Zr hydride exchanged via σ -bond metathesis with alkanes to produce the corresponding Zr alkyl derivatives.^{388,660,661}

4.3.2.9.2 Borohydride ligand complexes

Zr and Hf tetrakis(tetrahydroborate) complexes are of interest due to their application in CVD of ZrB₂ and HfB₂ films.⁶⁶² Alternatively, these species acted as regenerable reducing agents when supported on polymers.⁶⁶³ These applications have prompted theoretical,⁶⁶⁴ and spectroscopic studies^{665,666} as well as applications in hydroboration catalysis.⁶⁶⁷ Synthetic efforts have targeted homoleptic Zr compounds of the formula $Zr(BH_3R)_4$ (R = Me,⁶⁶⁸ H, Bu^t, C(SiMe₃)₃⁶⁶⁹). Structural studies have confirmed the expected symmetry of these species. A neutron diffraction study of Hf(BH₄)₄ confirmed the η^3 -binding mode of the BH₄ ligands.⁶⁷⁰

Hf-BH₄ complexes of the formulas Hf(BH₄)₃N(SiMe₂CH₂PR₂)₂ (R = Me, Prⁱ) and Hf(BH₄)₂(CH₂SiMe₃)N(SiMe₂CH₂PR₂)₂ have been synthesized and shown to be mononuclear.^{652,671} NMR and IR data suggested η^2 -binding of the BH₄ ligands. The related complex containing the tridentate diamido ligand Zr(BH₄)₂(SiMe₃NCH₂CH₂)₂N SiMe₃ was also prepared from the reaction of the corresponding dihalide with BH₄.¹⁸⁵ Crystallographic data suggested η^2 -binding of the BH₄ ligands.

The complex ZrCl[BH₃{C(SiMe₃)₃}]₃ was synthesized and crystallographic evidence indicated the presence of η^3 -bound borate ligands.⁶⁷² In contrast, the eight-coordinate BH₄ complex Zr(μ -BH₄)₂[CH₂(3-Me-6-Bu^tC₆H₂O)₂](THF) (**118**) was derived from the reaction of the dichloride precursor with LiBH₄.⁶⁷³ Structural data showed that the BH₄ ligands were bound in η^2 and η^3 fashions. X-ray data confirmed the formulation of the related complex Zr(Bu^tNCHCHNBu^t)-(η^3 -BH₄)₂.⁶⁷⁴ In more recent efforts, reaction of the sterically encumbered ZrCl(NAdAr)₃ (Ad = adamantyl, Ar = 3,5-Me₂Ph) with NaBH₄ resulted in the complex Zr(η^3 -BH₄)(NAdAr)₃.⁵⁶

Finally, one brief report has described a heterobimetallic derivative that was formulated as Cu(TETA)(BH₄)₂Zr(BH₄)₂. Based on IR data, the authors proposed η^2 coordination of the borate ligands.⁶⁷⁵



4.3.2.9.3 Mixed hydride-borohydride complexes

Addition of bases such PMe₃ or NMe₃ to Hf(BH₄)₃[N(SiMe₂CH₂PMe₂)₂] resulted in the generation of Hf₂H₄(BH₄)₂[N(SiMe₂CH₂PMe₂)₂]₂ and Hf₂H₃(BH₄)₃[N(SiMe₂CH₂PMe₂)₂]₂.^{652,671} Spectroscopic data indicated that these molecules were fluxional in solution. Furthermore, it was shown that the mechanism of formation of these species did not involve simple dissociation of BH₃. A similar synthetic protocol was used to prepare a series of Zr and Hf hydride-BH₄ species including M₂H₃(BH₄)₅(PMe₃)₂, M₃H₆(BH₄)₆(PMe₃)₄, M₂H₄(BH₄)₄(dmpe)₂, Zr₂H₄(BH₄)₄(PMe₃)₄,⁶⁷⁶ MH(BH₄)₃(dmpe), and MH₂(BH₄)₂(dmpe)₂ (dmpe = 1,2-bis(dimethylphosphino)ethane). Complexes containing the bidentate phosphine ligands were conformationally stable at room temperature, despite the high formal coordination numbers. However these molecules did undergo an unusually high-energy intramolecular fluxional process.^{677,678}

4.3.2.10 Metal–Metal Bonded Compounds

In a 1989 report, reaction of $ZrBn_4$ with $HCo(CO)_4$ yielded $ZrBn_3[Co(CO_4)]$ while subsequent reaction with PPh₃ gave $ZrBn_3[Co(CO)_3(PPh_3)]$.⁶⁷⁹ A further study described related compounds of the general formulas $ZrR_{4-x}[Co(CO)_4]_x$ (R = Bn, NR₂ (R = Me, Et) and (R = Prⁱ, Buⁿ), x = 1, 2).⁶⁸⁰

Heterobimetallic bi- and trinuclear complexes $ZrCl[TMSN(CH_2)_2NSiMe_3][MCp(CO)_2]$, $Zr[TMSN(CH_2)_2NSiMe_3][MCp(CO)_2]_2$ (M = Fe, Ru (119)), and $ZrCl[TMSN(CH_2)_2NSiMe_3]$ $[Co(CO)_3PPh_3]$ have been prepared from $ZrCl_2[TMSN(CH_2)_2NSiMe_3](THF)_2$ via reaction with $K[CpM(CO)_2]$ (M = Fe, Ru) or Na[Co(CO)_3(PPh_3)].^{681,682} Crystallography has confirmed the presence of the metal-metal bond. Preliminary reactivity studies have demonstrated that these species react with MeNC to give $Zr[TMSN(CH_2)_2NSiMe_3]$ [MCp(CO)_2] [η^2 -MeNC(MCo(CO)_2] (M = Fe, Ru).



Tripodal ligands supporting analogous compounds of Zr and Hf have also been used to make complexes containing metal-metal bonds. For example, complexes of the form Zr[(MeC₆H₄NSi-Me₂)₃SiMe][MCp(CO)₂],^{683,684} Zr[(SiMe₂NAr)₃CH][MCp(CO)₂] (Ar = MeC₆H₄, M = Fe (120), Ru;^{199,685} Ar = C₆H₂F₃, M = Fe, Ru;^{686,687} Ar = C₆H₃F, M = Fe⁶⁸⁸), and Zr[(MeC₆H₄NSi-Me₂)₃CH][Co(CO)₃L] (L = CO, PPh₃, P(MeC₆H₅)₃)⁶⁸⁹ have been prepared using methods analogous to those described above. These compounds also exhibited similar reactivity inserting a variety of organic unsaturates into the metal-metal bonds. For example, reaction with 1,2-diphenylcyclopropenone afforded Zr[(ArNSiMe₂)₃CH][O₂CMCp(CO)(C₃Ph₂)], which contained a bridging $\mu^2 - \eta^3$ -CO₂ ligand arising from O-atom migration.^{687,688} Other work has shown that treatment of Zr[(MeC₆H₄NSiMe₂)₃SiMe][Co(CO)₄] with Bu^tNC resulted in cleavage of the Zr—Co bond and subsequent formation of the salt Zr[(MeC₆H₄NSiMe₂)₃SiMe(CNBu^t)₃]-[Co(CO)₄].

4.3.2.11 Mixed Donor Ligand Complexes

4.3.2.11.1 C, N bidentate ligand complexes

A series of studies have examined complexes containing iminocacyl groups. The species $M(OAr)_2(\eta^2-BnCNBu^1)_2$, $Zr(OAr)(\eta^2-BnCNBu^1)_3$ (M = Zr, Hf, $Ar = Bu^1_2C_6H_3$, $Me_2C_6H_3$), and $M(OAr)_2(\eta^2-R^1CNR^2)_2$ (M = Zr, Hf, $R^1 = Me$, Bn, $R^2 = Ph$, MeC_6H_3 , $C_3H_4F_3$, C_6H_4OMe , C_6H_4Cl , $C_6H_4NMe_2$) have been prepared by insertion of isocyanates into the precursor metal dialkyl derivatives. X-ray data has confirmed this mode of chelation. Intramolecular rearrangements affording enediamide derivatives have been studied in detail.^{163,164,691-693} These processes have also been the subject of a theoretical investigation, which has demonstrated that these transformations are strongly exothermic.⁶⁹⁴ Several other Zr-iminoacyl complexes have been characterized structurally by X-ray crystallography, including $Zr(\eta^2-Me_2PhNCCH_2Ph)_2(XDK)$ (see Section 4.3.2.6.8),⁴⁸³ $ZrX_3[\eta^2-(TMS)_3SiCNC_6H_4Me_2]$, $ZrX_2[\eta^2-(TMS)_3SiCNC_6H_3Me_2](\eta^2-RCH_2-CNC_6H_4Me_2)_2$, and $Zr[\eta^2-(TMS)_3SiCNC_6-H_3Me_2](\eta^2-RCH_2CNC_6H_4Me_2)_2$, and $Zr[\eta^2-(TMS)_3SiCNC_6-H_3Me_2](\eta^2-RCH_2CNC_6H_4Me_2)_2$, $Si(SiMe_3)_3$).^{15,16}

In 1983, the thermolysis of $ZrR_2[N(SiMe_3)_2]_2$ (R = Me, Et, CH_2SiMe_3) prompted elimination of alkane and the formation of the bridging carbene complex [$Zr\{N(SiMe_3)_2\}(CHSiMe_2NSiMe_3)]_2$ (**121**),⁶⁵ and addition of $Me_2PCH_2CH_2PMe_2$ generated $M(CH_2SiMe_2NSiMe_3)_2$ (dmpe).^{65,695} In related chemistry, the compound $ZrCl_3[N(SiMe_3)_2]^{696}$ was prepared in a conventional manner. However, excess $Na[N(SiMe_3)_2]$ led to formation of the metallacycle, $ZrCl_2(CH_2SiMe_2NSiMe_3)$ (**122**). Similarly, the species $ZrMe N(SiMe_3)_2]_3^{697}$ was found to yield $Zr[N(SiMe_3)_2]_2(CH_2SiMe_2NSiMe_3)$.

SiMe₃ Me₃Si SiMe₃ Me Me₃Si Me Me CI Me Ν н SiMe₃ Me₃Si SiMe₃ (121)(122)

Another report in 1983 described metallation of quinolines to give complexes of the form $ZrCl_2(NC_9H_6)_2$.⁶⁹⁸ In a related system, reaction of lithiated dimethylpyridine with HfCl₂-(OBu^t₂C₆H₃)₂ gave Hf(OBu^t₂C₆H₃)₂(CH₂C₅H₃NMe)₂.⁶⁹⁹ C, N chelation and the six-coordinate geometry of the metal center was confirmed by X-ray methods. More recently, lithiation of benzyl or methyl-naphthalene substituents of amines has generated C₂N chelate complexes of the form ZrBn₂(MeC₆H₃CH₂)₂NMe and ZrBn₂(C₁₀H₆CH₂)₂NMe.⁷⁰⁰ Both of these species have been characterized crystallographically. The corresponding cations derived from reaction with borate salts have also been characterized.

Metallation of bis(phosphinimine) ligands has recently been employed to prepare a series of Zr and Hf carbene complexes. For example, the compounds $ZrBn_2C(Ph_2PNR)_2$ (R = SiMe₃, C₁₀H₁₆) were derived from the reaction of the neutral ligand with $ZrBn_4$.⁷⁰¹ Alternatively, reaction of the isolable dilithio salt of the ligand with $ZrCl_4$ has yielded $ZrCl_2C(Ph_2PNSiMe_3)_2$ (**123**).⁷⁰² X-ray crystallographic data confirmed the incorporation of the Zr–C bond in two adjacent four-membered rings. In a similar manner, reaction of HfCl₂[N(SiMe_3)_2]₂ with the ligand afforded the Hf complexes HfCl₂C(R₂PNSiMe₃)₂ (R = Cy, Ph).⁷⁰³ The spirocyclic complex Zr[C(Me₂PN-SiMe₃)₂]₂ has also been reported.⁷⁰⁴ Both Hf(CH₂Bu^t)₂C(R₂PNSiMe₃)₂ and MCl₂C(R₂PNSiMe₃)₂(L) (M = Zr, L = CNMe₂C₆H₄; Hf, L = THF, C₁₀H₁₆) have been prepared and characterized structurally. In addition, isocyanates and CO₂ undergo cycloaddition to the carbene, forming the complexes MCl₂C(R₂PNSiMe₃)₂(YCX) (M = Zr, Hf; X = O, NC₁₀H₁₆, NCy; Y = O, NC₁₀H₁₆, NC₆H₄Me, NCy (**124**)) that contain new N₂CO and N₃O tripodal ligands.⁷⁰⁵



One other example of Zr-mediated C—H activation of a phosphinimine ligand has been described recently. The complex $ZrCl_3CHCH_2(Ph_2PNSiMe_3)_2$ was obtained from the reaction of the bis-phosphinimine with $ZrCl_4$.²⁸

4.3.2.11.2 C, P bidentate ligand complexes

The phosphinomethanide complexes $\text{ZrCl}_{4-x}(\text{CH}(\text{PMe}_2)\text{SiMe}_3)_x$ (x = 1-4) have been synthesized.⁷⁰⁶ Of these compounds, the symmetric *trans*-octahedral product $\text{ZrCl}_2[\text{C}(\text{PMe}_2)_2(\text{SiMe}_3)]_2$ was prepared in high yield. Interestingly, both η^1 and η^2 coordination was observed for P—C linkages in $\text{Zr}[\text{CH}(\text{PMe}_2)(\text{SiMe}_3)]_4$.

4.3.2.11.3 Monoanionic N, O bidentate ligand complexes

A variety of other monoanionic ligands that contain O and N functional groups have been reported to complex Zr and Hf. For example, hydroxy-pyridionate,⁷⁰⁷ substituted-thiazolidin-4-ones,^{708,709} cycloserine,⁷¹⁰ *N*-furfurylidnearylamines,⁷¹¹ azopyrazolones,^{712–714} substituted aroylhydrazone,⁷¹⁵ benzoyl hydrazones,^{716–718} 6-amino-penicillinic acid,⁷¹⁹ aniline-carboxylate,⁷²⁰ aminoantipyrine,⁷²¹ and bis-salicyloyl hydrazides⁷²² have been employed in the preparation of various halide and oxide derivatives. The majority of these complexes have been characterized by IR spectroscopy and elemental analysis alone.

Oximes were proposed to coordinate to group IV metals in a bidentate fashion, although the nature of binding was not unambiguously established.⁷²³ In contrast, hydroxy-amides reacted with $Zr(OR)_4$ to give $Zr(ONR_2)_4$ (R = Et, Bn).⁷²⁴ Crystallographic evidence later affirmed an eight-coordinate Zr center in the homoleptic $Zr(ONMe_2)_4$.⁷²⁵

A series of amino-alkoxide ligand compounds of formulas $Zr(OR)_2(Me_2NCH_2CH_2O)_2$, $Zr_2(OR)_6$ -(Me₂NCH₂CH₂CH₂O)₂, $Zr_2(OR)_6[(Me_2NCH_2)_2CHO]_2$, and $Zr_2(OBu^t)_3[(Me_2NCH_2)_2CHO]_4(OH)$ (R = Prⁱ, Bu^t) have been constructed in good yields from heating the neutral alcohol with the appropriate Zr tetraalkoxide precursor.⁷²⁶ Structural studies revealed that the amino-alkoxide O atoms bridge the metal centers in the dimers. In the case of $Zr_2(OBu^t)_3[(Me_2NCH_2)_2CHO]_4(OH)$, the hydroxide group bridged the metals with one or two of the amino groups of the diamino-alkoxide ligands dangling free. Use of the related hydroxphenyl–oxazaoline ligands provided access to the species $ZrCl_2[OC_6H_4(CNOC(R^1)(R^2)CHR^3)]_2$ (R¹=H, Me, Bn, Prⁱ; R²=Me, H; R³=H, Ph). A crystallographic study has confirmed the bidentate ligands adopted a *cisoid* geometry.⁷²⁷

A variety of substitutents have been employed to prepare a number of phenoxy-imine chelate complexes of the form $ZrCl_2[(OC_6H_3R_2^1)CHNR_2^2]_2$ ($R^1 = H$, Me, cumyl, Pr^i , Bu^t, adamantyl; $R^2 = Ph$, C_6H_{11} , MeC_6H_4 , $Pr^iC_6H_4$, $Bu^tC_6H_4$, $Pr^i_2C_6H_3$, $Bu^t_2C_6H_3$). Upon activation, these complexes catalyzed the polymerization of C_2H_4 , and some exhibited extremely high turnover frequencies.^{728–732}

Complexes containing pyridine-alkoxide ligands, $M(NMe_2)_2(OCAr_2C_5H_4N)_2$ (M = Zr, Hf; Ar = substituted arene) have been prepared and characterized.⁷³³ Crystallographic data confirmed the chelating nature of these ligands. Related benzyl derivatives have also been prepared. Cationic analogs of these species were generated by reaction with $B(C_6F_5)_3$. These compounds acted as catalyst precursors for the polymerization of C_2H_4 and hexene, although the resulting polymers were of low molecular weight.⁷³⁴

Related 8-quinolinolato complexes of the form $ZrX_2(NC_9H_3MeR_2O)$ (X = Bn, CH₂Bu^t, CH₂SiMe₃, Cl; R = Me, H, Br)⁷³⁵ have also been reported. NMR and X-ray crystallographic studies showed that the cations [ZrBn(NC₉H₃MeR₂O)]⁺, derived from these species assumed a pseudo-square pyramidal structure with an η^2 -bound benzyl ligand.⁷³⁵ These compounds also exhibited low activities in alkene polymerization.

Salts of the anionic β -ketoiminato ligands were prepared by deprotonation of a β -aminoketone. A variety of complexes have been prepared, including ZrCl₂(RNCMeCHCMeO)₂ (R = Prⁱ, Ph (125), C₆H₄Me, C₆H₄OMe).³²⁵ Crystallographic analysis of ZrCl₂(PhNCMeCHCMeO)₂ indicated delocalization of the charge over the bidentate chelate. Protonolysis with the neutral ligand was employed to prepare Zr(NMe₂)₂(RNCMeCHCMeO)₂ and Zr(NMe₂)₃(RNCMeCHCMeO) (R = *p*-MeC₆H₄, Prⁱ₂C₆H₄ (126)). Subsequent conversion to the analogous Cl or alkoxide derivatives was straightforward.⁷³⁶ Several complexes of the general formula ZrCl₂(R²NCRCHCR¹O)₂, when activated with MAO, were moderately active catalysts for the polymerization of C₂H₄.^{737,738} A density functional study demonstrated that the barrier for the insertion was lowered for ligands incorporating bulky substituents.⁷³⁹



4.3.2.11.4 Dianionic N, O bidentate ligand complexes

The complex $Zr[OC(CH_2)SiMe_2N(SiMe_3)]_2(Me_2PCH_2CH_2PMe_2)$ containing a dianionic bidentate N, O ligand was derived from the insertion of CO into the precursor metallacycle.⁶⁵ Similarly, insertion of CO into Zr η^2 -iminoacyl complexes afforded Zr(OBu^t₂C₆H₃)₂ [OC(Bn)C(Bn)NBu^t].⁶⁹¹ Theoretical investigations of these coupling reactions indicated that the presence of the O atom directly influenced the activation barrier.⁶⁹⁴

4.3.2.11.5 N₂O tridentate ligand complexes

The reaction of $Hf(OPr^{1})_{4}$ with semicarbazones was proposed to give five-coordinate complexes, in which the ligand acts in a tridentate fashion. However, this was not unambiguously confirmed.⁷⁴⁰

A tridentate ligand complex resulted from the reaction of 1,4-diaza-1,3-diene(DAD) Zr or Hf complex with Ph₂CO or MePhCO. This resulted in a [3+2] cycloaddition, giving M[(Bu^tNCH)₂-(OCRPh)]₂ (R = Me, Ph (127)).⁷⁴¹ Decomplexation and isolation of the newly formed tridentate

ligand was readily achieved, although the mechanistic details of this unusual reaction have yet to be determined.



Schrock's group has detailed a series of tridentate diamido ligand complexes in recent years. Reaction of $O[C_6H_4N(Bu^t-d^6)H]_2$ with $Zr(NMe_2)_4$ gave the complex $Zr(NMe_2)_2(NBu^t-d^6C_6H_4)_2O$. Subsequent reaction with MeI gave the analogous iodide complex. N, O, N chelation was confirmed crystallographically. Generation of the zwitterion [ZrMe(Bu^t-d⁶NC₆H₄)₂O] [MeB(C₆F₅)₃] was achieved via reaction with B(C₆F₅)₃ and this complex proved to be a living catalyst for the polymerization of 1-hexene.⁷⁴² NMR spectroscopy demonstrated that insertion of 1-hexene into the metal alkyl bond occurred in a 1,2 manner and that β -H elimination happened at a much slower rate than insertion. This was attributed to steric congestion at the metal center provided by the ligand.⁷⁴³ A series of related complexes MX₂[(RNC₆H₄)₂O] (M = Zr, X = Me, alkyl;⁷⁴⁴ M = Zr, Hf, R = SiMe₃;⁷⁴⁵ M = Zr, Hf, R = C₆H₄Me₂⁷⁴⁶⁻⁷⁴⁸) have also been prepared and studied. Methylation of ZrCl₂(CH₂SiMe₃] led to double C—H bond activation giving the unusual dissymmetric product $Zr_2(CH_2SiMe_3)_2((CH_2SiMe_2NC_6H_4)_2O)(CH_2SiMe_2NC_6H_4)(CH_2SiMeCHNC_6H_4O)$ (129).⁷⁴⁵ A series of related complexes derived from ligands that incorporated furan rings as the ether donor were also used to prepare analogous complexes, such as $ZrCl_2(Me_2C_6H_3NHCH_2)_2 - (C_4H_6O)$.⁷⁴⁹ In addition, the closely related species ZrBn₂ (CyNSiMe₂)₂O and Zr[(RNSiMe₂)₂O]₂(R = Bu^t, Cy)¹⁴² have also been reported and characterized crystallographically.



The dialkyl complexes $ZrX_2(RNC_6H_4)_2O$ (X = Et, Prⁱ; R = Bu^t, CH₂CHMe₂) reacted with phosphine to give stable alkene complexes such as $Zr(CH_2CH_2)(RNC_6H_4)_2O$.⁷⁵⁰ These Zr complexes also proved effective in alkene polymerization, although the Hf complexes were not well behaved.

4.3.2.11.6 NO₂ tridentate ligand complexes

A series of chelating ligand complexes derived from Schiff-base derivatives of salicylaldehyde,^{751–757} anthranilic acid,⁷⁵⁸ picoloylhydrazones,⁷⁵⁹ and benzoylhydrazones⁷⁶⁰ have been reported. These

systems have not been characterized crystallographically. In contrast, tridentate O, N, O ligands based on the Schiff-base salicylidneaminoethanolate⁷⁶¹ reacted with $Zr(OCMeCHCMeO)_4$ to give the complex [$Zr(OCMeCHCMeO)_2(OCH_2CH_2NCHC_6H_4O)$]₂ (130). The dimeric formulation with bridging alkoxide O atoms was confirmed by X-ray crystallography.⁷⁶² In addition, it was demonstrated that this species was an active catalyst for the hydrolysis or transesterification of phosphate diesters.



Acylation of substituted pyridines was achieved via insertion of CO into $MR_2(OC_6H_3Bu_2^t)_2$ (R = Me, Bn) to yield the O, N, O ligand complexes $Zr(OC_6H_3Bu_2^t)_2(OCHR)_2C_5H_2XN$ (R = Me (131), Bn, X = H, Ph, Me) and $M(OC_6H_3Bu_2^t)_2[(OCHMe)_2C_5H_3N]_2$.⁷⁶³

A related ligand bis-menthoxo-pyridyl, has been employed to synthesize $ZrBn_2(OC_6H_8Me-Pr^i)_2C_5H_3N$. This species reacted with $B(C_6F_5)_3$ or $[Ph_3C]$ [$B(C_6F_5)_4$] to give $ZrBn[(OC_6H_8Me-Pr^i)_2C_5H_3N]$ [BnB(C_6F_5)_3] and [$ZrBn(OC_6H_8MePr^i)_2C_5H_3N$][$B(C_6F_5)_4$], respectively.⁷⁶⁴ These compounds undergo single insertions of C_2H_4 or alkenes to produce a diastereotopic mixture of [$Zr(\eta^1-\eta^6-CH_2CH_2CH_2Ph)$ {($OC_6H_8MePr^i$)}_2C_5H_3N][BnB(C_6F_5)_3] (132) and [$Zr(\eta^1-\eta^6-CH_2CH_2CH_2CH_2Ph)$ -($OC_6H_8MePr^i$)}_2C_5H_3N][BnB(C_6F_5)_3] (133). The authors attributed this phenomenon to the stabilizing effect of the benzyl group.



Zr complexes that contain amine-bis(phenolate) or aminodiolate ligands have been recently reported in the literature. For example, $ZrBn_2(OBu^t_2C_6H_2CH_2)_2NPr,^{765} ZrX(OCR_2CH_2CH_2)_2NEt$ (X = Me, Bn, Cl, CH_2SiMe_3; R = Me, Ph),⁷⁶⁶ and Zr[(OCR¹₂CH₂CH₂)₂NR²]₂ (R¹ = Me, Ph; R² = Me, Bu^t, CHMe(Ph))⁷⁶⁷ have been prepared. These products exhibited pseudo-trigonal bipyramidal geometries. A series of related ligands that incorporated a second N donor have also been developed. For example, in the complex ZrBn₂(OBu^t₂C₆H₂CH₂)₂NCH₂CH₂CH₂CH₂NMe₂, the dimethylamino group did not interact with the metal center. In contrast, ZrBn₂(OBu^t₂C₆H₂CH₂)₂NCH₂CH₂CH₂NMe₂ possessed a pendant amino group that did chelate to the metal center. These systems exhibited moderate utility as alkene oligomerization/polymerization catalysts.⁷⁶⁸

4.3.2.11.7 N, O tripodal ligand complexes

The complexes $ZrCl[(OCH_2CH_2)_3N]_n$ and $Zr(O_2CMe)(OCH_2CH_2)_3N$ were prepared from the reaction of $ZrCp_2Cl_2$ with the hydrochloride salt of the ligand in the presence of NEt₃.^{769,770} During the 1990s, a number of research groups employed chiral tri(alkanol)amines to generate chiral Lewis acid catalysts. These were shown to effect a series of organic transformations, including enantioselective additions to epoxides^{771–773} and stereoselective sulfoxidations.^{774,775} Hydrolysis of $Zr(OBu^t)[CH_2CH(OH)Me]_3N$ resulted in the isolation of a hydroxy-bridged dimer.⁷⁷¹ Addition of $Zr[(OCH_2CH_2)_2NCH_2CH_2OH]_2$ to Al $(OPr^i)_3$ was proposed to give hetero-bimetallic derivatives, although the precise structural details were not determined.⁷⁷⁶

The complex of the ligand oxyiminodipropionate, $[Ca(H_2O)_5][Zr((O_2CCH_2)_2NO)_2(H_2O)]$, has been prepared and characterized crystallographically. The Zr was coordinated to one N and three O atoms of the ligand as well as to a water molecule, producing a formally nine-coordinate Zr center.⁷⁷⁷

As mentioned above, complexes derived from neutral NN'O₂ ligands reacted with Zr(NMe₂)₄, ZrBn₄, or ZrCl₂(CH₂SiMe₃)₂, bonding to Zr in a tripodal fashion. For example, the Zr complexes ZrBn₂[(O-2,4-Bu^t₂-6-CH₂)₂NCH₂CH₂R] (R = NMe₂, C₅H₄N)^{765,768} and ZrBn[(OCMe₂CH₂CH₂)₂ NCHMe(C₆H₄)CH(C₁₀H₇)O]⁷⁶⁶ have been prepared and characterized. The latter compound was derived from the insertion of aldehyde into ZrBn[(OCMe₂CH₂CH₂)₂NCHMeC₆H₄] (134) yielding Zr[(OCMe₂CH₂CH₂)₂NCHMeC₆H₄ C(R)ArO] (135).⁷⁶⁶



In another related and recent report, the ligand $NC_5H_4CH_2NH(CH_2CH_2NSiMe_3)_2$ was complexed to Zr, affording the octahedral species $ZrCl_2[NC_5H_4CH_2N(CH_2CH_2NSiMe_3)_2]$.²⁰⁶

4.3.2.11.8 N, O tetradentate ligand complexes

A variety of tetradentate Schiff-base-enolate ligands have been used to complex Zr. In an early study, Illingsworth and Archer described the coordination compound $Zr[(OC_6H_4CHN)_2C_6H_3(CO_2Et)]_2$. This species was proposed to be eight coordinate.⁷⁷⁸ Using a closely related ligand, $Zr[(OC_6H_4CHN)_2C_6H_3R]_2$ ($R = NO_2$, NH_2) were prepared and the latter was confirmed crystal-lographically to contain an eight-coordinate Zr center.⁷⁷⁹ Subsequent reactions of acid anhydrides or halides with the exo-cyclic amino group afforded preparation of oligomeric materials.^{779,780} Block copolymers of organic segments and the Zr Schiff-base complexes have been prepared and character-ized.⁷⁸¹ Related polymeric coordination compounds of formula [$Zr\{(OC_6H_4CHN)_4C_6H_2\}$]_n were derived from the ligand based on tetra-aminobenzene.⁷⁸² The unique polymers have been character-ized by a variety of techniques such as elemental analysis, gel-permeation chromatography (GPC), viscosity measurements, and IR spectroscopy.⁷⁸²⁻⁷⁸⁴ Inclusion of a Zr(OH)₂ functionality at the end of these polymers permitted adhesion to silica and alumina.⁷⁸⁵

A series of closely related Schiff-base ligand complexes based on cyclohexyl- or alkyl diamines have been prepared and characterized.^{786–789} Crystallographic studies have confirmed that the ML₂ complexes were eight coordinate,⁷⁹⁰ while the related complexes MCl₂L and MCl₂L(donor) adopted *cis*- or *trans*-octahedral or seven-coordinate geometry.⁷⁹¹

Several Schiff-base ligands derived from the condensation of diamines and 1,3-diones were employed as tetradentate ligands for Zr. For example, the complexes $ZrCl_2[OCRCHC-(Me)NCH_2]_2$ ($R = CF_3$, Me) were derivatized and subsequently the salt [$Zr(CH_2CMe_3){OC(CF_3)CHC(Me)NCH_2}_2(NMe_2Ph)$] [$B(C_6F_5)_4$] was prepared and characterized crystallographically. Interestingly, in CH_2Cl_2 this species was unstable, affording instead a Cl-bridged, cationic dimer [$\{Zr(CH_2CMe_3)(OC(CF_3)CHC(Me)NCH_2)_2\}_2(\mu-Cl)\}$ [B(C₆F₅)₄].⁷⁹² A separate report has detailed the structure of the complex Zr[$\{OC(CF_3)CHC(CF_3)NCH_2\}_2$].⁷⁹³

The redox properties of the complexes $ZrCl_2(THF)[(OC_6H_4CHN)_2C_6H_4]_2$ and $Zr[\{(OC_6H_4CHN)_2C_6H_4\}_2]_2$ were investigated. Upon reduction with Mg, the former gave reductive C–C coupling of the Schiff-base ligands. The resulting binuclear complex was characterized crystallographically (136).⁷⁹⁴



The related complex $ZrCl_2(THF)(OC_6H_4CHNCH_2)_2$ lost THF upon heating. The resulting product was effective as a homogeneous alkene polymerization catalyst precursor. Alternatively, deposition on silica gave a moderately active heterogeneous catalyst.⁷⁹⁵ A more recent study has evaluated a series of Schiff-base complexes for the polymerization of C_2H_4 .⁷⁹⁶ Suitable substitution of the Schiff-base afforded a C_2 -symmetric complex of the formula $MCl_2(OC_6H_2-Bu^t_2CH_2NC_6H_3Me)_2$ (M = Zr, Hf). This species was likened to an *ansa*-metallocene. Although the Cl ligands could be replaced with hard donors such as amides and alkoxides, alkylation was unsuccessful.^{797,798}

In a recent paper, zirconyl derivatives of tetradentate Schiff-base ligands have exhibited high activity for the inhibition of growth of a variety of organisms including *Escherichia coli*, *Staphylococcus aureus*, *Aspergillus niger*, and *Candida albicans*.⁷⁹⁹

Reduction of Schiff-bases to the corresponding diamines yielded O_2N_2 donor complexes $ZrBn_2[OC_6H_2R_2CH_2N(Me)CH_2]_2$ (R = Me, Bu^t).⁸⁰⁰ In a recent report, diamido-diether ligands have been used to form the complexes $ZrX_2(RNCH_2CH_2OCH_2)_2$ (X = Cl, Bn; R = C₆F₅, C₆H₃(CF₃)₂)⁸⁰¹ which were precursors to moderately active C₂H₄ polymerization catalysts.

4.3.2.11.9 >4 Denticity N, O ligand complexes

A report in 1984 described the coordination of the neutral ligand diacetylpyridine-bis-(semicarbazone) to Zr. This ligand was proposed to act in a pentadentate fashion in the complexes $[ZrO(H_2O){H_2NCONHNC(Me)}_2C_5H_3N]Cl_2$ and $[Zr(OH)_2{H_2NCONHNC(Me)}_2C_5H_3N]Cl_2$.⁸⁰² Other reports have described multidentate phenoxy-imine Schiff-base ligand complexes of Zr, although the nature of the chelation has not been confirmed.^{791,803–805}

The thermodynamically stable, triaqua adducts of M[(O₂CCH₂)₂NCH₂CH₂OCH₂]₂ (M = Zr, Hf (137)) have been synthesized. The Hf complex was characterized crystallographically, confirming the octadentate nature of this ligand.⁵⁹⁰ A related octadentate ligand complex based on the tetraacetic acid derivative of tetraazacyclododecane was prepared. NMR data for Zr(O₂CCH₂NCH₂CH₂)₄(H₂O) indicated two isomers in solution. Crystallographic data for the Zr complex was not obtained, although the structure of a Y analog was determined.⁸⁰⁶

The thermally stable $ZrBn_2[(NC_{10}H_6)NSiMe_2]_2O$ (138) was obtained from reaction of the pentadentate neutral ligand with $ZrBn_4$. Structural data revealed the ligand was bound in a pentadentate N₄O fashion.¹⁴² The hexadentate (N₂O₄) 4,13-diaza-18-crown-6 ligand was used to prepare the complex $ZrBn_2(NCH_2CH_2OCH_2CH_2OCH_2)_2$, which existed as a mixture of the *cis* and *trans* isomers.⁸⁰⁷ The zwitterionic species [ZrBn(NCH₂CH₂OCH₂OCH₂OCH₂)_2] [BnB(C₆F₅)₃] catalyzed the dimerization of tolylalkyne to ditolylbutenyne.



4.3.2.11.10 N, P ligand complexes

Tridentate amido-phosphine ligands have been used to prepare $MCl_2(SiMe_2CH_2PR_2)_2$ (R = Me, Ph),⁸⁰⁸ $MCl_3N(SiMe_2CH_2PR_2)_2$ (R = Me, Prⁱ, Bu^t; M = Zr, Hf),⁸⁰⁹ and $ZrCl_2[N(CH_2CH_2PMe_2)_2]_2$.⁸¹⁰ The derivatives $MCl_3N(SiMe_2CH_2PR_2)_2$, $MMe_3[N(SiMe_2CH_2PR_2)_2]$, and $M(BH_4)_3N(SiMe_2CH_2PR_2)_2$ (R = Me, Prⁱ, Bu^t) were readily prepared and characterized.^{652,671,811}

Reduction of $ZrCl_3N(SiMe_2CH_2PPr_{2}^{1})_2$ by Na/Hg under N₂ produced [ZrClN(SiMe_2CH_2PR_2)_2]_2(μ - η^2 : η^2 -N₂) (139), formally a Zr^{IV} product, since the N₂ was irreversibly reduced to an (N₂)⁴⁻ hydrazido ligand.^{812,813} A series of derivatives of the general formula ZrCl₂XN(SiMe_2CH_2PR_2)_2 (X = OMe_2C_6H_3, OBu^t, OCHPh₂, NPh₂) have also been prepared. Only in the case of X = OMe_2C_6H₃ was the analogous N₂ species, [Zr(OMe_2C_6H_3)N(SiMe_2CH_2PR_2)_2]_- (μ - η^2 : η^2 -N₂), accessible.⁸¹⁴



(139)

An extension of these efforts involved the preparation of the macrocyclic derivatives $ZrX_2PhP(CH_2SiMe_2NSiMe_2CH_2)_2PPh$ (X = Cl, Me, Bn, NBu^t).⁸¹⁵ Reduction of the dichloride complex by KC₈ under N₂ gave the species [Zr(PhPCH_2SiMe_2NSiMe_2CH_2)_2]_2(μ - η^2 : η^2 -N₂). This compound reacted with H₂ (see Section 4.3.2.9.1).^{653–656,816}

The related diamido-phosphine ligand complexes $ZrX_2PhP(CH_2CH_2NSiMe_3)_2$ (X = Cl, Me, Bn, Buⁱ) and $ZrX_2PhP(CH_2SiMe_2NR)_2$ (X = Cl, Me; R = Bu^t, Me₂C₆H₃) have also been prepared. The species $ZrCl_2PhP(CH_2SiMe_2NBu^t)_2$ (140) reacted with LiMe to effect N—C bond cleavage affording [ZrMe{PhP(CH_2SiMe_2NBu^t)CH_2SiMe_2N}]_2 (141).⁸¹⁷

The homoleptic compound $Zr(NPhPPh_2)_4$ has been reported recently. Crystallography confirmed the eight-coordinate structure, with each of the ligands interacting with Zr via N and P. In solution, VT-³¹P NMR experiments suggested six-coordinate geometry. This compound exhibited moderate activities for the polymerization of propylene, the isomerization and oligomerization of 1-octene, and the isomerization of allylbenzene to *trans*-methylstyrene.⁸¹⁸



4.3.2.11.11 N, S bidentate ligand complexes

A series of complexes containing a variety of N and S heteroatomic ligands include systems based on thiotriazoles,⁵⁹² azinates,⁸¹⁹ dithiodianiline,⁸²⁰ ferrocenylthiotriazoles,⁸²¹ dithiocarbazates,^{822,823} tetrazoles,⁸²⁴ phenothiozines,⁸²⁵ dithiocarboxylic acids,⁸²⁶ diacetylpyridinebis-(thiosemicarbazone),⁸²⁷ thioamide,⁸²⁴ amino-cyclopentenedithiocarboxylic acids,⁷⁴⁰ quinoline sulphon-ates,⁸²⁸ and thiazolidinones.⁷⁰⁸ A macrocyclic compound containing the diamino-dithiocarbamate ligand was thought to yield a macrocyclic complex of Zr.⁸²⁹ In these reports, the ligands were thought to be N, S chelates, although this was not confirmed unambiguously.

Extremely air-sensitive compounds, of formulation $ZrCl(NBu^{t}SPh)_{3}$ and $Zr(NBu^{t}SPh)_{4}$, were obtained from reaction of $ZrCl_{4}$ with the lithiated amide. Crystallographic characterization of the former species confirmed a bidentate N, S chelation and seven-coordinate Zr.⁸³⁰

The tridentate ligand complexes $ZrX_2(R_2C_6H_3NCH_2CH_2)_2S$ (X = Cl, Me, CH₂CHMe₂, NMe₂; R = Me, Et, Prⁱ) and $ZrX_2(RNC_6H_4)_2S$ (X = Cl, NMe₂, Me; R = Bu^t, Prⁱ) were reported.^{748,831} X-ray data confirmed the tridentate nature of the ligand. Dialkyl and cationic derivatives appeared to be less stable than those derived from the ether analogs. Consequently, cationic complexes generated by reaction with [Ph₃C] [B(C₆F₅)₄] exhibited only moderate activity for the polymerization of 1-hexene.

The pyrimidine-thiolate derivative $ZrCl_2HB(Me_2C_3HN_2)_3(Me_2C_2HN_2S)$ has been prepared and the barrier to rotation about the S bond studied in detail by ¹H NMR spectroscopy.¹⁷⁶

4.3.2.11.12 O, P bidentate ligand complexes

The bidentate P, O ligand complexes $ZrX_2[OC(Bu^t)_2CH_2PPh_2]_2$ (X = Cl, Me, CH₂Bu^t) and $ZrX[OC(Bu^t)_2CH_2PPh_2]_3$ (X = Cl, Me) have been prepared and characterized by Baxter and Wolczanski. NMR spectroscopy revealed fluxional behavior in solution.⁸³²

4.3.2.11.13 O, S bidenate ligand complexes

The compound $Zr(SCMeCHCMeO)_4$ was prepared from reaction of the monoanionic ligand with $ZrCl_4$.⁸³³ Crystallographic data confirmed an eight-coordinate metal center, and solution NMR studies indicate that the molecule was fluxional. Thiocarbamate ligands have been used to prepare complexes of the form $Zr(OSCNR_2)_4$ (R = Me, Et, Prⁱ). These eight-coordinate complexes rearranged more slowly than the analogous dithiocarbamates.⁸³⁴ $Zr(O Pr^i)_2(OC_6H_2MeBu^t)_2S$ has been prepared and used as a precatalyst in alkene polymerization, though this species was only moderately active.⁸³⁵

4.3.2.11.14 O, N, S tridentate ligand complexes

A series of Zr and Hf complexes supported by dianionic phenolate-thiolate Schiff-base ligands have been reported.^{825,827,836–840} While it is thought that these ligands give rise to O, N, S chelates, this has not been confirmed unambiguously.

4.3.3 ZIRCONIUM(III) AND HAFNIUM(III)

Few monomeric Zr^{III} coordination compounds are known. In 1983, Baker *et al.* reported the homoleptic phosphide Zr^{III} -metallate salt [Li(DME)] [Zr(PCy_2)_4], which exhibited a characteristic ESR spectrum.²⁸⁷ The dissymmetric Zr^{III} -phosphide dimer $Zr_2Cl_3[P(CH_2CH_2PMe_2)_2]_3$ (142) was prepared via reaction of three equivalents of Li[P(CH_2CH_2PMe_2)_2] with ZrCl_4. This compound featured two bridging phosphido groups in addition to a bridging Cl, presumably accounting for the diamagnetism of the compound.⁸⁴¹



The reaction of ZrX₃ (X = Cl, Br) with NH₃ gave ZrX₃(NH₃)₆.⁸⁴² The Br adduct was relatively stable and the formulation was proposed to be [Zr(NH₃)₆]Br₃ based on IR data. The Cl analog, however, lost NH₃ at 25 °C, yielding a paramagnetic product formulated as ZrCl₃(NH₃)_{2.5}. Dimeric Zr^{III} and Hf^{III} complexes of the form M₂X₆L₄(X = Cl, Br, I; L = various PR₃) (143)

Dimeric Zr^{III} and Hf^{III} complexes of the form $M_2X_6L_4(X = Cl, Br, I; L = various PR_3)$ (143) proved to be more stable. The general synthetic route to these compounds involved reduction of MCl₄ with Na/Hg (for Zr) or Na/K (for Hf) in the presence of a PR₃ ligand.^{281,843–847} Crystallographic data revealed these dimers displayed edge-sharing bioctahedral geometry with M—M distances of 3.0–3.4 Å (143) (Table 2). Use of a bidentate phosphine as in Zr₂Cl₆(Ph₂PCH₂CH₂PPh₂)₂ and Hf₂Cl₆(Prⁱ₂PCH₂CH₂PPrⁱ₂)₂ resulted in a reduced M—M distance. This was attributed to a decreased P–M–P bite angle.^{843,849} Support for the presence of "super long" M—M single bonds in these compounds was derived from extended Hückel and *ab initio* self-consistent field theory calculations.⁸⁵⁰



 Table 2
 Metal-metal distances for Zr and Hf^{III} dimers.

Formula	$\begin{array}{c} M \cdots M \ distance \\ (\text{\AA}) \end{array}$	Formula	$\begin{array}{c} M \cdots M \ distance \\ (\text{\AA}) \end{array}$
$Zr_2Cl_6(PMe_3)_4$	3.132(1) ⁸⁴⁷	$Hf_2I_6(PMe_3)_4$	4.328(1) ²⁸¹
$Zr_2Cl_6(PEt_3)_4$	$3.169(1)^{843}$	$Hf_2Cl_6(PEt_3)_4$	$3.104(1)^{846}$
$Zr_2Br_6(PMe_3)_4$	$3.200(1)^{281}$	$Hf_2Cl_6(PMe_2Ph)_4$	$3.088,6(3)^{844}$
$Zr_2I_6(PMe_3)_4$	4.393(2) ⁸⁴⁵	$Hf_2I_6(PMe_2Ph)_4$	4.394,8(6) ⁸⁴⁵
$Zr_2Cl_6(PMe_2Ph)_4$	3.127(1) ⁸⁴³	Hf ₂ Cl ₆ [Pr ⁱ ₂ PCH ₂ CH ₂ PPr ⁱ ₂] ₂	3.099(1) ⁸⁴⁹
$Zr_2I_6(PMe_2Ph)_4$	3.439,0(6) ⁸⁴⁵	Hf metal	3.159 ⁸⁴⁹
Zr ₂ Cl ₂ (Ph ₂ PCH ₂ CH ₂ PPh ₂) ₂	3.099(2), 3.109(2) ⁸⁴³	Zr metal	3.118 ⁸⁴⁸

Ligand replacement reactions were employed to synthesize the analogous pyridine dimers $Zr_2Cl_6(NC_5H_4R)_4$ (R=H, Bu^t, CHBu₂) from $Zr_2Cl_6(P-Bu^n_{3})_4$.⁸⁵¹ Subsequent reaction with MeCN resulted in formation of $Zr_2Cl_6(NC_5H_4R)_3(\sigma,\pi-NCBu^t)$ (144). The σ,π -bonding mode of nitriles has been rarely seen. In related work, the compounds $M_2X_6(PEt_3)_4$ (M = Zr, Hf; X = Cl, Br) reacted with C_2H_4 to give $M_2X_6(PEt_3)_4(CH_2CH_2)$ (145). These species were the first examples in which an alkene was bound orthogonally to the M–M axis.^{852,853}



4.3.4 ZIRCONIUM(II) AND HAFNIUM(II)

The majority of coordination compounds of Zr^{II} and Hf^{II} utilize P-donor ligands to render them more stable. For example, $HfI_2(CO)_2(Me_2PCH_2CH_2PMe_2)_2$ was obtained by the reduction of $HfI_4(Me_2PCH_2CH_2PMe_2)_2$ with $K[C_{10}H_8]$ in the presence of CO.⁸⁵⁴ While the Zr analog was not isolated, the Hf species was thermally stable in the solid state, decomposing in solution or on storage in the absence of a CO atmosphere.



Coordination of arene rings with Zr^{II} or Hf^{II} has been reported for the species $M_2X_4(\eta^6 - PhPMe_2)_2(PMe_2Ph)_2$ (146) (M = Zr, X = I; M = Hf, X = Br). In these dimers, the metals coordinate to both the P and the aryl substituent of a phosphine ligand.⁸⁵⁵⁻⁸⁵⁷ Similarly, the hexameric species $Zr_6Cl_{12}(PMe_2Ph)_6^{855-857}$ was obtained, albeit in low yield. In this species, the higher degree of aggregation observed in the $Zr_6Cl_{12}P_6$ core (147) presumably precluded M-arene interactions. An alternative mode of arene-M^{II} interaction was described for $Hf_2L_4(PMe_2Ph)_4(u_rn^{12}-Ar)$

of aggregation observed in the $Zr_6Cl_{12}P_6$ core (147) presumably precluded M-arene interactions. An alternative mode of arene-M^{II} interaction was described for Hf₂I₄(PMe₂Ph)₄(μ - η ¹²-Ar) (Ar = C₆H₆, MeC₆H₅) and Hf₂I₄(PMe₃)₄(μ - η ¹²-C₆H₆) (148) where two Hf^{II} atoms interact with either side of an arene ring resulting in a puckering of the ring. These species were obtained via reduction of HfCl₄ with Na/Hg in the presence of the arene and PR₃ donor.^{281,858}

reduction of HfCl₄ with Na/Hg in the presence of the arene and PR₃ donor.^{281,858} The bis-boratabenzene Zr^{II} complexes $Zr(C_5H_5BR)_2(PMe_3)_2$ (149) (R = NPrⁱ₂, Ph) were isolated as stable PMe₃ adducts.⁸⁵⁹ Like the related Zr^{II} organometallic compound ZrCp₂(PMe₃)₂, the bis-boratabenzene derivatives were readily oxidized with reagents such as MeI or PhSSPh, while the P donors were readily displaced by bidentate phosphines. In contrast, reaction with alkynes resulted in an unusual addition to the boratabenzene affording Zr(C₅H₅BR)(C₉H₅R²₄BR) (R² = H, Me, Ph (150) that contained a newly formed boratanaphthalene ligand. The Zr centers of these zwitterionic molecules remained formally Zr^{II} , ^{859–861} although this reaction was thought to be a Zr^{IV} -mediated transformation.





Sn ligands complexes such as $[Pr^{n}_{4}N]_{2}[M(SnPh_{3})_{4}(CO)_{4}]$ (M = Zr, Hf) were obtained via reduction with K[C₁₀H₈] under CO in the presence of Ph₃SnNa,⁸⁶² followed by cation exchange. Crystallographic studies confirmed the eight-coordinate nature of the metal. Further, the analogous SnMe₃-complex [Zr(SnMe₃)_4(CO)_4]²⁻ was uncovered as a decomposition product (see Section 4.3.5).⁸⁶²

As a final example, the Zr^{II} species $Zr(TPP)Me_2$ (TPP = tetraphenylporphinato) was photochemically reduced in visible light to give $Zr(TPP)(OEt_2)_2$. This was a surprising result, given the thermal stability of the precursor.²³⁸

4.3.5 ZIRCONIUM(0) AND HAFNIUM(0)

The reduction of MCl₄ by Na/Hg in the presence of bipyridine, afforded $M(bipy)_3$ (M = Zr, Hf; bipy = 2,2'-bipyridyl).⁸⁶³ In contrast, reduction of ZrCl₄ by vinyl-Li in the presence of bipyridine yielded a species formulated as $M(bipy)_4$.⁸⁶⁴ However, the latter formulation was supported only by elemental analysis.



Subsequent work on M^0 compounds has been largely restricted to organometallic complexes; however, the seven-coordinate Zr^0 complex $[Zr(SnMe_3)_2(CO)_5]^{2-}$ (151) was prepared in moderate yield by reaction of $[Zr(C_{10}H_8)_3]^{2-}$ with Me₃SnCl, followed by carbonylation. Crystallographic data for $[K(15\text{-crown-5})_2]_2[Zr(SnMe_3)_2(CO)_5]$, as well as the related anionic Zr^0 species $[K(15\text{-crown-5})_2]$ $[ZrSnMe_3(CO)_4(Ph_2PCH_2CH_2PPh_2)]$ were reported. The former Zr^0 species is very air sensitive

and readily decomposed to the more robust Zr^{II} anion $[Zr(SnMe_3)_4 CO)_4]^{2-.865}$ Employing a similar procedure, the complexes M(CO)₄(Me₂PCH₂)₃CMe (152) containing a tripodal phosphine ligand were synthesized. The Zr derivative was confirmed crystallographically to have a seven-coordinate geometry.⁸⁶⁶ The species $Zr(MeNCH_2CH_2)_3(CO)_4$ was prepared by ligand displace-ment of the tripodal phosphine ligand.⁸⁶⁷ Attempts to prepare the Hf analog gave only intractable products. In contrast, the Ti analog Ti(NCH₂CH₂)₃(CO)₄ was characterized crystallographically.

4.3.6 NEGATIVE OXIDATION STATES OF ZIRCONIUM AND HAFNIUM

In pioneering work, Ellis and co-workers have prepared the CO complexes [K(cryptand 2.2.2)]₂[M(CO)₆] (M = Zr, Hf) via reduction of MCl₄(THF)₂ with K[C₁₀H₈] under CO.868,869 The ⁹¹Zr NMR spectrum provided evidence for a symmetric hexacoordinate compound. Later, crystallographic characterization confirmed the geometry.⁸⁶⁹ The intermediate of this reaction, [K(cryptand 2.2.2)]₂[Zr($C_{10}H_8$)₃], was also characterized, although the formal oxidation state of the metal center could not be unambiguously assigned.⁸⁷⁰ A complimentary theoretical investigation detailed the dissociation energy and vibrational frequencies of $[Hf(CO)_6]^{2-.871}$ More recently, in matrix isolation work, IR data from laser excitation of Zr and Hf atoms in a CO/Ne environment were consistent with the formation of $M(CO)_2^{-.872}$

The syntheses of the related compounds [Li₃(THF)₉Cl][Zr(bipyridine)₃], [Li₃(THF)₉Cl] [Hf(Me₄-biphosphinine)₃], and [Li₃(DME)₆Cl][Zr(Me₄-biphosphinine)₃] were reported recently.⁸⁷³ Crystallographic data implied that the (-II) oxidation state of the metal centers was merely a formality, as the aromaticity of the ligands was disrupted.

4.3.7 REFERENCES

- 1. Siriwardane, U.; Zhang, H.; Hosmane, N. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 9637-9638.
- 2. Hosmane, N. S.; Zhang, H.; Jia, L.; Colacot, T. J.; Maguire, J. A.; Wang, X.; Hosmane, S. N.; Brooks, K. A. Organometallics 1999, 18, 516-522.
- 3. Arnold, J.; Johnson, S. E.; Knobler, C. B.; Hawthorne, M. F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 3996–3997.
- 4. Kim, H. J.; Whang, D.; Kim, K.; Do, Y. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 360-362.
- 5. Bowen, D. E.; Jordan, R. F.; Rogers, R. D. Organometallics 1995, 14, 3630-3635.
- 6. Saccheo, S.; Gioia, G.; Grassi, A.; Bowen, D. E.; Jordan, R. F. J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem. 1998, 128, 111-118.
- 7. Altamura, P.; Grassi, A. Macromolecules 2001, 34, 9197-9200.
- 8. Kim, D.-H.; Won, J. H.; Kim, S.-J.; Ko, J.; Kim, S. H.; Cho, S.; Kang, S. O. Organometallics 2001, 20, 4298-4300.
- 9. Zhu, Y.; Vyakaranam, K.; Maguire, J. A.; Quintana, W.; Teixidor, F.; Vinas, C.; Hosmane, N. S. Inorg. Chem. Commun. 2001, 4, 486-489.
- 10. Dodge, T.; Curtis, M. A.; Russell, J. M.; Sabat, M.; Finn, M. G.; Grimes, R. N. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 10573-10580.
- 11. Heyn, R. H.; Tilley, T. D. Inorg. Chem. 1989, 28, 1768-1769.
- 12. Wu, Z.; Diminnie, J. B.; Xue, Z. Organometallics 1998, 17, 2917-2920.
- 13. Xue, Z.; Li, L.; Hoyt, L. K.; Diminnie, J. B.; Pollitte, J. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 2169-2170.
- 14. McAlexander, L. H.; Hung, M.; Li, L.; Diminnie, J. B.; Xue, Z.; Yap, G. P. A.; Rheingold, A. L. Organometallics 1996, 15, 5231-5235.
- 15. Wu, Z.; Diminnie, J. B.; Xue, Z. Organometallics 1999, 18, 1002-1010.
- 16. Wu, Z.; McAlexander, L. H.; Diminnie, J. B.; Xue, Z. Organometallics 1998, 17, 4853-4860.
- 17. Wu, Z.; Diminnie, J. B.; Xue, Z. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 6366-6372.
- 18. Wu, Z.; Diminnie, J. B.; Xue, Z. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 4300-4301.
- 19. Liu, X.; Wu, Z.; Cai, H.; Yang, Y.; Chen, T.; Vallet, C. E.; Zuhr, R. A.; Beach, D. B.; Peng, Z.-H.; Wu, Y.-D.; Concolino, T. E.; Rheingold, A. L.; Xue, Z. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 8011-8021.
- 20. Siddiqi, K. S.; Aqra, F. M. A. M.; Shah, S. A. Syn. React. Inorg. Met. 1999, 29, 635-641.
- 21. Lutz, M.; Findeis, B.; Haukka, M.; Pakkanen, T. A.; Gade, L. H. Organometallics 2001, 20, 2505-2509.
- 22. Plitzko, C.; Strecker, M.; Meyer, G. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1997, 623, 79-83.
- Jalil, N. S. N. Syn. React. Inorg. Met. 1990, 20, 1285–1300.
 Jalil, N. S. N.; Oluwabunmi, A. V. Phosphorus, Sulfur 1996, 119, 151–159.
- 25. Narula, C. K.; Allard, L. F. J. Mater. Chem. 1998, 8, 1881-1884.
- 26. Gruen, M.; Weller, F.; Dehnicke, K. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1997, 623, 224-230.
- Ruebenstahl, T.; Weller, F.; Dehnicke, K. Z. Kristallogr. 1995, 210, 385–386.
 Sarsfield, M. J.; Said, M.; Thornton-Pett, M.; Gerrard, L. A.; Bochmann, M. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 2001, 822-827
- 29. Johnson, R. A.; Von Dreele, R. B.; Brown, T. M. Inorg. Chem. 1984, 23, 4302-4309.
- 30. Daoud, K. M.; Dawood, Z. F.; Mohammad, M. A. J. Indian Chem. Soc. 1994, 71, 263-264.
- 31. Gordon, D.; Wallbridge, M. G. H. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1986, 111, 77-81.
- 32. Siddiqi, K. S.; Khan, N. H.; Kureshy, R. I.; Tabassum, S.; Zaidi, S. A. A. Indian J. Chem. 1987, 26A, 492-494.
- 33. Pokhariyal, G. P. Asian J. Chem. 1989, 1, 305-306.

- 34. Mishra, K. N.; Pandey, O. P.; Sengupta, S. K. Syn. React. Inorg. Met. 1997, 27, 661-671.
- 35. Shukla, P. R.; Srivastava, S.; Narain, G. J. Indian Chem. Soc. 1987, 64, 57-58.
- 36. Yadav, H. S. Asian J. Chem. 1993, 5, 335-339.
- 37. Shukla, P. R. M.; Bhatt, M.; Sharma, M. C. J. Indian Chem. Soc. 1989, 66, 192-193.
- 38. Yadava, H. D. S.; Sengupta, S. K.; Tripathi, S. C. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1987, 128, 1-6.
- 39. Richter, B.; Scholz, J.; Neumueller, B.; Weimann, R.; Schumann, H. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1995, 621, 365-372.
- 40. Wade, S. R.; Wallbridge, M. G. H.; Willey, G. R. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1982, 271-274.
- 41. Donovan-Mtunzi, S.; Richards, R. L.; Mason, J. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1984, 2429–2433.
- 42. Calderazzo, F.; Marchetti, F.; Pampaloni, G.; Passarelli, V. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1999, 4389-4396.
- 43. Jeske, P.; Wieghardt, K.; Nuber, B.; Weiss, J. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1992, 193, 9-15.
- 44. Wilson, P. J.; Blake, A. J.; Mountford, P.; Schroder, M. J. Organomet. Chem. 2000, 600, 71-83.
- 45. Kempe, R. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 2000, 39, 468-493.
- 46. Buchholz, N.; Leimkuhler, M.; Kiriazis, L.; Mattes, R. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 27, 2035-2039.
- 47. Chisholm, M. H.; Hammond, C. E.; Huffman, J. C. Polyhedron 1988, 7, 2515–2520.
- 48. Kempe, R. Z. Krist.-New Cryst. St. 2000, 215, 275-276.
- 49. Petz, W.; Weller, F.; Avtomonov, E. V. J. Organomet. Chem. 2000, 598, 403-408.
- 50. Avtomonov, E. V.; Rufanov, K. A. Z. Naturforsch. B 1999, 54, 1563-1567.
- 51. Kempe, R.; Hillebrand, G.; Spannenberg, A. Z. Krist.-New Cryst. St. 1997, 212, 490.
- 52. Duan, Z.; Thomas, L. M.; Verkade, J. G. Polyhedron 1997, 16, 635-641.
- 53. Brenner, S.; Kempe, R.; Arndt, P. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1995, 621, 2021–2024.
- 54. Wu, Z.; Diminnie, J. B.; Xue, Z. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 2570-2574.
- 55. Henderson, K. W.; Kennedy, A. R.; McKeown, A. E.; Mulvey, R. E. Acta Crystallogr. 2001, C57, 674-675.
- 56. Kasani, A.; Gambarotta, S.; Bensimon, C. Can. J. Chem. 1997, 75, 1494-1499.
- 57. Cummins, C. C.; Van Duyne, G. D.; Schaller, C. P.; Wolczanski, P. T. Organometallics 1991, 10, 164-170.
- Shah, S. A. A.; Dorn, H.; Voigt, A.; Roesky, H. W.; Parisini, E.; Schmidt, H.-G.; Noltemeyer, M. Organometallics 1996, 15, 3176–3181.
- Shah, S. A. A.; Dorn, H.; Roesky, H. W.; Parisini, E.; Schmidt, H.-G.; Noltemeyer, M. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1996, 4143–4146.
- 60. Vij, A.; Singh, S.; Kaur, G.; Verma, R. D. Indian J. Chem. 1993, 32A, 232-235.
- 61. Polamo, M.; Mutikainen, I.; Leskela, M. Z. Kristallogr. 1996, 211, 641-642.
- 62. Polamo, M.; Multikainen, I.; Leskelaa, M. Acta Crystallogr. 1996, C52, 1348-1350.
- 63. Zambrano, C. H.; Profilet, R. D.; Hill, J. E.; Fanwick, P. E.; Rothwell, I. P. Polyhedron 1993, 12, 689-708.
- 64. Riley, P. N.; Fanwick, P. E.; Rothwell, I. P. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 2001, 181-186.
- 65. Planalp, R. P.; Andersen, R. A. Organometallics 1983, 2, 1675-1680.
- 66. Herrmann, W. A.; Huber, N. W.; Behm, J. Chem. Ber. 1992, 125, 1405-1407.
- 67. Horton, A. D.; de With, J. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 1996, 1375-1376.
- 68. Wright, J. M.; Landis, C. R.; Ros, M. A. M. P.; Horton, A. D. Organometallics 1998, 17, 5031-5040.
- 69. Galsworthy, J. R.; Green, M. L. H.; Maxted, N.; Muller, M. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1998, 387-392.
- 70. Carr, A. G.; Dawson, D. M.; Bochmann, M. Macromol. Rapid Commun. 1998, 19, 205-207.
- 71. Boisson, C.; Berthet, J. C.; Ephritikhine, M.; Lance, M.; Nierlich, M. J. Organomet. Chem. 1997, 531, 115-119.
- 72. Wesemann, L.; Ramjoie, Y.; Trinkaus, M.; Ganter, B.; Muller, J. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1998, 37, 1412–1415.
- 73. Kuhn, N.; Stubenrauch, S.; Boese, R.; Blaeser, D. J. Organomet. Chem. 1992, 440, 289-296.
- 74. O'Donoghue, M. B.; Davis, W. M.; Schrock, R. R.; Reiff, W. M. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 243-252.
- 75. Stahl, M. M.; Faza, N.; Massa, W.; Dehnicke, K. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1997, 623, 1855-1856.
- 76. Grob, T.; Harms, K.; Dehniecke, K. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 2001, 627, 1801-1806.
- 77. Guerin, F.; Stewart, J. C.; Beddie, C.; Stephan, D. W. Organometallics 2000, 19, 2994-3000.
- 78. Cundari, T. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 7879-7888.
- 79. Cundari, T. R.; Gordon, M. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 4210-4217.
- 80. Bai, Y.; Roesky, H. W.; Noltemeyer, M.; Witt, M. Chem. Ber. 1992, 125, 825-831.
- 81. Schaller, C. P.; Bonanno, J. B.; Wolczanski, P. T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 4133-4134.
- 82. Cummins, C. C.; Baxter, S. M.; Wolczanski, P. T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1988, 110, 8731-8733.
- 83. Blake, A. J.; Nikonov, G. I.; Mountford, P. Acta Crystallogr. 1997, C53, 874-876.
- 84. Arney, D. J.; Bruck, M. A.; Huber, S. R.; Wigley, D. E. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 3749-3755.
- 85. Profilet, R. D.; Zambrano, C. H.; Fanwick, P. E.; Nash, J. J.; Rothwell, I. P. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 4362-4364.
- 86. Polamo, M.; Mutikainen, I.; Leskela, M. Acta Crystallogr. 1996, C52, 1082-1084.
- 87. Yamamoto, Y. Chemtracts: Org. Chem. 1989, 2, 328-329.
- 88. Schaller, C. P.; Cummins, C. C.; Wolczanski, P. T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 591-611.
- 89. Dehnicke, K.; Ergezinger, C.; Hartmann, E.; Zinn, A.; Hoesler, K. J. Organomet. Chem. 1988, 352, C1-C4.
- 90. Fenske, D.; Hartmann, E.; Dehnicke, K. Z. Naturforsch. B 1988, 43, 1611-1615.
- 91. Roesky, H. W.; Meller, B.; Noltemeyer, M.; Schmidt, H. G.; Scholz, U.; Sheldrick, G. M. Chem. Ber. 1988, 121, 1403-1406.
- 92. Walther, D.; Fischer, R.; Goerls, H.; Koch, J.; Schweder, B. J. Organomet. Chem. 1996, 508, 13-22.
- 93. Thiele, K.-H.; Windisch, H.; Edelmann, F. T.; Kilimann, U.; Noltemeyer, M. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1996, 622, 713–716.
- 94. Hagadorn, J. R.; Arnold, J. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1997, 3087-3096.
- 95. Richter, J.; Belay, M.; Brueser, W.; Edelmann, F. T. Main Group Met. Chem. 1997, 20, 191-194.
- 96. Littke, A.; Sleiman, N.; Bensimon, C.; Richeson, D. S.; Yap, G. P. A.; Brown, S. J. Organometallics 1998, 17, 446-451.
- 97. Averbuj, C.; Tish, E.; Eisen, M. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 8640-8646.
- 98. Volkis, V.; Shmulinson, M.; Averbuj, C.; Lisovskii, A.; Edelmann, F. T.; Eisen, M. S. Organometallics 1998, 17, 3155–3157.
- 99. Herskovics-Korine, D.; Eisen, M. S. J. Organomet. Chem. 1995, 503, 307-314.
- 100. Flores, J. C.; Chien, J. C. W.; Rausch, M. D. Organometallics 1995, 14, 1827-1833.

- 101. Witt, M.; Stalke, D.; Henkel, T.; Roesky, H. W.; Sheldrick, G. M. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1991, 663-667.
- 102. Witt, M.; Noltemeyer, M.; Schmidt, H. G.; Lubben, T.; Roesky, H. W. J. Organomet. Chem. 1999, 591, 138-147.
- 103. Hagadorn, J. R.; Arnold, J. Organometallics 1994, 13, 4670-4672.
- 104. Giesbrecht, G. R.; Whitener, G. D.; Arnold, J. Organometallics 2000, 19, 2809-2812.
- 105. Wood, D.; Yap, G. P. A.; Richeson, D. S. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 5788-5794.
- 106. Duncan, A. P.; Mullins, S. M.; Arnold, J.; Bergman, R. G. Organometallics 2001, 20, 1808-1819.
- 107. Chen, C.-T.; Rees, L. H.; Cowley, A. R.; Green, M. L. H. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 2001, 1761-1767.
- 108. Jin, X.; Novak, B. M. Macromolecules 2000, 33, 6205-6207.
- 109. Rahim, M.; Taylor, N. J.; Xin, S.; Collins, S. Organometallics 1998, 17, 1315-1323.
- 110. Hitchcock, P. B.; Lappert, M. F.; Liu, D.-S. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1994, 2637-2638.
- 111. Qian, B.; Scanlon, W. J.; Smith, M. R., III; Motry, D. H. Organometallics 1999, 18, 1693-1698.
- 112. Vollmerhaus, R.; Rahim, M.; Tomaszewski, R.; Xin, S.; Taylor, N. J.; Collins, S. Organometallics 2000, 19, 2161–2169.
- 113. Dias, H. V. R.; Jin, W.; Wang, Z. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 6074-6079.
- 114. Etkin, N.; Ong, C. M.; Stephan, D. W. Organometallics 1998, 17, 3656-3660.
- 115. Roesky, H. W.; Meller-Rehbein, B.; Noltemeyer, M. Z. Naturforsch. B 1991, 46, 1053-1058.
- 116. Deelman, B.-J.; Hitchcock, P. B.; Lappert, M. F.; Lee, H.-K.; Leung, W.-P. J. Organomet. Chem. 1996, 513, 281-285.
- 117. Deelman, B.-J.; Hitchcock, P. B.; Lappert, M. F.; Leung, W.-P.; Lee, H.-K.; Mak, T. C. W. Organometallics 1999, 18, 1444–1452.
- 118. Dawson, D. M.; Walker, D. A.; Thornton-Pett, M.; Bochmann, M. Dalton 2000, 459-466.
- 119. Matsuo, Y.; Mashima, K.; Tani, K. Chem. Lett. 2000, 1114-1115.
- 120. Huang, J.-H.; Kuo, P.-C.; Lee, G.-H.; Peng, S.-M. J. Chin. Chem. Soc. (Taipei) 2000, 47, 1191–1195.
- 121. Fuhrmann, H.; Brenner, S.; Arndt, P.; Kempe, R. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 6742-6745.
- 122. Kempe, R.; Spannenberg, A.; Brenner, S. Z. Kristallogr. 1996, 211, 497-498.
- 123. Polamo, M.; Leskela, M. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1996, 4345-4349.
- 124. Morton, C.; O'Shaughnessy, P.; Scott, P. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 2000, 2099-2100.
- 125. Kempe, R.; Brenner, S.; Arndt, P. Organometallics 1996, 15, 1071-1074.
- 126. Kempe, R.; Spannenberg, A.; Brenner, S. Z. Kristallogr. 1996, 211, 569-570.
- 127. Kempe, R.; Spannenberg, A.; Brenner, S. Z. Kristallogr. 1996, 211, 499-500.
- 128. Oberthur, M.; Hillebrand, G.; Arndt, P.; Kempe, R. Chem. Ber./Recl. 1997, 130, 789-794.
- 129. Polamo, M.; Leskela, M. Acta Chem. Scand. 1997, 51, 69-72.
- 130. Tarafder, M. T. H.; Nath, B. J. Bangladesh Chem. Soc. 1988, 1, 59-65.
- 131. Zambrano, C. H.; Fanwick, P. E.; Rothwell, I. P. Organometallics 1994, 13, 1174-1177.
- 132. Yelamos, C.; Heeg, M. J.; Winter, C. H. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 1871-1878.
- 133. Guzei, I. A.; Liable-Sands, L. M.; Rheingold, A. L.; Winter, C. H. Polyhedron 1997, 16, 4017-4022.
- 134. Kobriger, L. M.; McMullen, A. K.; Fanwick, P. E.; Rothwell, I. P. Polyhedron 1989, 8, 77-81.
- 135. Bar-Haim, G.; Shach, R.; Kol, M. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 1997, 229-230.
- 136. Cloke, F. G. N.; Geldbach, T. J.; Hitchcock, P. B.; Love, J. B. J. Organomet. Chem. 1996, 506, 343-345.
- 137. Ziniuk, Z.; Goldberg, I.; Kol, M. Inorg. Chem. Commun. 1999, 2, 549-551.
- 138. Scollard, J. D.; McConville, D. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 10008-10009.
- 139. Scollard, J. D.; McConville, D. H.; Vittal, J. J. Organometallics 1997, 16, 4415-4420.
- 140. Mack, H.; Eisen, M. S. J. Organomet. Chem. 1996, 525, 81-87.
- 141. Garcia-Yuste, S.; Hellmann, K. W.; Gade, L. H.; Scowen, I. J.; McPartlin, M. Z. Naturforsch. B 1999, 54, 1260-1264.
- 142. Male, N. A. H.; Thornton-Pett, M.; Bochmann, M. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1997, 2487-2494.
- 143. Lorber, C.; Donnadieu, B.; Choukroun, R. Organometallics 2000, 19, 1963-1966.
- 144. Aoyagi, K.; Gantzel, P. K.; Kalai, K.; Tilly, T. D. Organometallics 1996, 15, 923-927.
- 145. Daniele, S.; Hitchcock, P. B.; Lappert, M. F.; Merle, P. G. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 2001, 13-19.
- 146. Lee, C. H.; La, Y.-H.; Park, J. W. Organometallics 2000, 19, 344-351.
- 147. Lee, C. H.; La, Y.-H.; Park, S. J.; Park, J. W. Organometallics 1998, 17, 3648-3655.
- 148. Jeon, Y.-M.; Park, S. J.; Heo, J.; Kim, K. Organometallics 1998, 17, 3161-3163.
- 149. Brauer, D. J.; Buerger, H.; Liewald, G. R.; Wilke, J. J. Organomet. Chem. 1986, 310, 317-332.
- 150. Buerger, H.; Geschwandtner, W.; Liewald, G. R. J. Organomet. Chem. 1983, 259, 145-156.
- 151. Jaeger, F.; Roesky, H. W.; Dorn, H.; Shah, S.; Noltemeyer, M.; Schmidt, H. G. Chem. Ber./Recl. 1997, 130, 399-403.
- 152. Gibson, V. C.; Kimberley, B. S.; White, A. J. P.; Williams, D. J.; Howard, P. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 1998, 313-314.
- 153. Horton, A. D.; de With, J. Organometallics 1997, 16, 5424-5436.
- 154. Grocholl, L.; Huch, V.; Stahl, L.; Staples, R. J.; Steinhart, P.; Johnson, A. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 4451-4457.
- 155. Grocholl, L.; Stahl, L.; Staples, R. J. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 1997, 1465-1466.
- 156. Bai, G.; Roesky, H. W.; Schmidt, H.-G.; Noltemeyer, M. Organometallics 2001, 20, 2962-2965.
- 157. Warren, T. H.; Schrock, R. R.; Davis, W. M. Organometallics 1996, 15, 562-569.
- 158. Warren, T. H.; Schrock, R. R.; Davis, W. M. Organometallics 1998, 17, 308-321.
- 159. Patton, J. T.; Feng, S. G.; Abboud, K. A. Organometallics 2001, 20, 3399-3405.
- 160. Jeon, Y.-M.; Heo, J.; Lee, W. M.; Chang, T.; Kim, K. Organometallics 1999, 18, 4107-4113.
- 161. Gauvin, R. M.; Lorber, C.; Choukroun, R.; Donnadieu, B.; Kress, J. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 2337-2346.
- 162. Daniele, S.; Hitchcock, P. B.; Lappert, M. F. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 1999, 1909-1910.
- 163. Chamberlain, L. R.; Durfee, L. D.; Fanwick, P. E.; Kobriger, L. M.; Latesky, S. L.; McMullen, A. K.; Steffey, B. D.;
- Rothwell, I. P.; Foltin, K.; Huffman, J. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 6068–6076.
- 164. Durfee, L. D.; McMullen, A. K.; Rothwell, I. P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1988, 110, 1463-1467.
- 165. Thiele, K. H.; Richter, B. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1994, 620, 519-522.
- 166. Siemeling, U.; Kuhnert, O.; Neumann, B.; Stammler, A.; Stammler, H.-G.; Bildstein, B.; Malaun, M.; Zanello, P. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 913–916.
- 167. Shafir, A.; Power, M. P.; Whitener, G. D.; Arnold, J. Organometallics 2001, 20, 1365-1369.
- 168. Gibson, V.-C.; Long, N. J.; Marshall, E. L.; Oxford, P. J.; White, A. J. P.; Williams, D. J. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 2001, 1162–1164.

- 169. Siddiqi, K. S.; Aqra, F. M. A. M.; Zaidi, S. A. A. Transition Met. Chem. (London) 1993, 18, 420-422.
- 170. Siddiqi, K. S.; Aqra, F. M. A. M.; Shah, S. A.; Zaidi, S. A. A.; Casabo, J.; Teixidor, F. Polyhedron 1993, 12, 949-953.
- 171. Siddiqi, K. S.; Aqra, F. M. A. M.; Shah, S. A.; Zaidi, S. A. A.; Casabo, J.; Teixidor, F. *Transition Met. Chem.* (London) **1994**, 19, 350–352.
- 172. Wills, A. R.; Edwards, P. G. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1989, 1253-1257.
- 173. Fryzuk, M. D.; Hoffman, V.; Kickham, J. E.; Rettig, S. J.; Gambarotta, S. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 3480-3484.
- 174. Giesbrecht, G. R.; Shafir, A.; Arnold, J. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 2000, 2135-2136.
- 175. Reger, D. L.; Tarquini, M. E. Inorg. Chem. 1982, 21, 840-842.
- 176. Antinolo, A.; Carrillo-Hermosilla, F.; Corrochano, A. E.; Fernandez-Baeza, J.; Lanfranchi, M.; Otero, A.; Pellinghelli, M. A. J. Organomet. Chem. 1999, 577, 174–180.
- 177. Satish, C. D.; Gururaj, M. V.; Bajgur, C. S. Indian J. Chem. 2000, 39A, 446-449.
- 178. Kresinski, R. A.; Hamor, T. A.; Isam, L.; Jones, C. J.; McCleverty, J. A. Polyhedron 1989, 8, 845-847.
- 179. Kresinski, R. A.; Isam, L.; Hamor, T. A.; Jones, C. J.; McCleverty, J. A. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1991, 1835–1842.
- 180. Mashima, K.; Oshiki, T.; Tani, K. Organometallics 1997, 16, 2760-2762.
- 181. Reger, D. L.; Tarquini, M. E. Inorg. Chem. 1983, 22, 1064-1068.
- 182. Reger, D. L.; Tarquini, M. E.; Lebioda, L. Organometallics 1983, 2, 1763-1769.
- 183. Furlan, L. G.; Gil, M. P.; Casagrande, O. L., Jr. Macromol. Rapid Commun. 2000, 21, 1054-1057.
- 184. Nakazawa, H.; Ikai, S.; Imaoka, K.; Kai, Y.; Yano, T. J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem. 1998, 132, 33-41.
- 185. Cloke, F. G. N.; Hitchcock, P. B.; Love, J. B. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1995, 25-30.
- 186. Horton, A. D.; de With, J.; van der Linden, A. J.; van de Weg, H. Organometallics 1996, 15, 2672-2674.
- 187. Schattenmann, F. J.; Schrock, R. R.; Davis, W. M. Organometallics 1998, 17, 989-992.
- 188. Liang, L.-C.; Schrock, R. R.; Davis, W. M.; McConville, D. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 5797-5798.
- 189. Schrock, R. R.; Bonitatebus, P. J., Jr.; Schrodi, Y. Organometallics 2001, 20, 1056-1058.
- 190. Schrock, R. R.; Casado, A. L.; Goodman, J. T.; Liang, L.-C.; Bonitatebus, P. J., Jr.; Davis, W. M. Organometallics 2000, 19, 5325–5341.
- 191. Schrodi, Y.; Schrock, R. R.; Bonitatebus, P. J., Jr. Organometallics 2001, 20, 3560-3573.
- 192. Guerin, F.; McConville, D. H.; Vittal, J. J. Organometallics 1996, 15, 5586-5590.
- 193. Guerin, F.; McConville, D. H.; Vittal, J. J.; Yap, G. A. P. Organometallics 1998, 17, 5172-5177.
- 194. Guerin, F.; Del Vecchio, O.; McConville, D. H. Polyhedron 1998, 17, 917-923.
- 195. Friedrich, S.; Schubart, M.; Gade, L. H.; Scowen, I. J.; Edwards, A. J.; McPartlin, M. Chem. Ber./Recl. 1997, 130, 1751–1759.
- 196. Mehrkhodavandi, P.; Bonitatebus, J.; Peter, J.; Schrock, R. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 7841-7842.
- 197. Mehrkhodavandi, P.; Schrock, R. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 10746-10747.
- 198. Blake, A. J.; Collier, P. E.; Gade, L. H.; Mountford, P.; Lloyd, J.; Pugh, S. M.; Schubart, M.; Skinner, M. E. G.; Troesch, D. J. M. *Inorg. Chem.* 2001, 40, 870–877.
- 199. Memmler, H.; Walsh, K.; Gade, L. H.; Lauher, J. W. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 4062-4068.
- 200. Jia, L.; Ding, E.; Rheingold, A. L.; Rhatigan, B. Organometallics 2000, 19, 963-965.
- 201. Renner, P.; Galka, C.; Memmler, H.; Kauper, U.; Gade, L. H. J. Organomet. Chem. 1999, 591, 71-77.
- 202. Schubart, M.; Findeis, B.; Gade, L. H.; Li, W.-S.; McPartlin, M. Chem. Ber. 1995, 128, 329-334.
- 203. Renner, P.; Galka, C. H.; Gade, L. H.; Radojevic, S.; McPartlin, M. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 1425–1430.
- 204. Findeis, B.; Schubart, M.; Gade, L. H.; Moeller, F.; Scowen, I.; McPartlin, M. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1996, 125-132.
- 205. Gade, L. H.; Renner, P.; Memmler, H.; Fecher, F.; Galka, C. H.; Laubender, M.; Radojevic, S.; McPartlin, M.; Lauher, J. W. Chem.-Eur. J. 2001, 7, 2563–2580.
- 206. Skinner, M. E. G.; Cowhig, D. A.; Mountford, P. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 2000, 1167-1168.
- 207. Yadav, H. D. S.; Sengupta, S. K.; Tripathi, S. C. Syn. React. Inorg. Met. 1987, 17, 115-127.
- 208. Chaibi, J.; Henry, M.; Zarrouk, H.; Gharbi, N.; Livage, J. J. Non-Cryst. Solids 1994, 170, 1.
- 209. Floriani, C.; Ciurli, S.; Chiesi-Villa, A.; Guastini, C. Angew. Chem. 1987, 99, 86-88.
- 210. De Angelis, S.; Solari, E.; Gallo, E.; Floriani, C.; Chiesi-Villa, A.; Rizzoli, C. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 2520-2527.
- 211. Uhrhammer, R.; Black, D. G.; Gardner, T. G.; Olsen, J. D.; Jordan, R. F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 8493-8494.
- 212. Black, D. G.; Jordan, R. F.; Rogers, R. D. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 103-108.
- 213. Black, D. G.; Swenson, D. C.; Jordan, R. F.; Rogers, R. D. Organometallics 1995, 14, 3539–3550.
- 214. Corden, J. P.; Errington, W.; Moore, P.; Wallbridge, M. G. H. Acta Crystallogr. 1999, C55, 706-707.
- 215. Martin, A.; Uhrhammer, R.; Gardner, T. G.; Jordan, R. F.; Rogers, R. D. Organometallics 1998, 17, 382-397.
- 216. Blake, A. J.; Mountford, P.; Nikonov, G. I.; Swallow, D. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 1996, 1835-1836.
- 217. Blake, A. J.; McInnes, J. M.; Mountford, P.; Nikonov, G. I.; Swallow, D.; Watkin, D. J. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1999, 379–392.
- 218. Nikonov, G. I.; Blake, A. J.; Mountford, P. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 1107-1112.
- 219. Scott, M. J.; Lippard, S. J. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1997, 263, 287-299.
- 220. Scott, M. J.; Lippard, S. J. Organometallics 1997, 16, 5857-5868.
- 221. Scott, M. J.; Lippard, S. J. Organometallics 1998, 17, 1769-1773.
- 222. Scott, M. J.; Lippard, S. J. Organometallics 1998, 17, 466-474.
- 223. Tarafder, M. T. H.; Bhattacharjee, P.; Sarkar, A. K. Polyhedron 1992, 11, 795-798.
- 224. Rogers, A. J.; Solari, E.; Floriani, C.; Chiesi-Villa, A.; Rizzoli, C. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1997, 2385–2386.
- 225. Duan, Z.; Naiini, A. A.; Lee, J.-H.; Verkade, J. G. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 5477-5482.
- 226. Morton, C.; Munslow, I. J.; Sanders, C. J.; Alcock, N. W.; Scott, P. Organometallics 1999, 18, 4608-4613.
- 227. Morton, C.; Gillespie, K. M.; Sanders, C. J.; Scott, P. J. Organomet. Chem. 2000, 606, 141-146.
- 228. Buchler, J. W.; De Cian, A.; Fischer, J.; Hammerschmitt, P.; Weiss, R. Chem. Ber. 1991, 124, 1051-1058.
- 229. Kim, K.; Lee, W. S.; Kim, H.-J.; Cho, S.-H.; Girolami, G. S.; Gorlin, P. A.; Suslick, K. S. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 2652–2656.
- 230. Lee, M.; Song, O.-K.; Seo, J.-C.; Kim, D.; Kim, H.-J.; Kim, K. J. Phys. Chem. 1992, 96, 8374-8377.
- 231. Kim, H. J.; Whang, D.; Kim, J.; Kim, K. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 3882-3886.

- 232. Martin, P. C.; Arnold, J.; Bocian, D. F. J. Phys. Chem. 1993, 97, 1332-1338.
- 233. Collman, J. P.; Kendall, J. L.; Chen, J. L.; Eberspacher, T. A.; Moylan, C. R. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 5603-5608.
- 234. Buchler, J. W.; De Cian, A.; Elschner, S.; Fischer, J.; Hammerschmitt, P.; Weiss, R. Chem. Ber. 1992, 125, 107-115.
- 235. Tashiro, K.; Konishi, K.; Aida, T. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1997, 36, 856-858.
- 236. Tashiro, K.; Konishi, K.; Aida, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 7921-7926.
- 237. Buchler, J. W.; Hammerschmitt, P. Liebigs Ann. Chem. 1991, 1177-1188.
- 238. Shibata, K.; Aida, T.; Inoue, S. Chem. Lett. 1992, 1173-1176.
- 239. Brand, H.; Arnold, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 2266-2267. 240. Brand, H.; Arnold, J. Organometallics 1993, 12, 3655-3665.
- 241. Kim, H.-J.; Jung, S.; Jeon, Y.-M.; Kim, K. Chem. Commun. 1997, 2201-2202.
- 242. Kim, H.-J.; Jung, S.; Jeon, Y.-M.; Whang, D.; Kim, K. Chem. Commun. 1999, 1033-1034.
- 243. Kim, H. J.; Whang, D.; Do, Y.; Kim, K. Chem. Lett. 1993, 807-810.
- 244. Huhmann, J. L.; Corey, J. Y.; Rath, N. P.; Campana, C. F. J. Organomet. Chem. 1996, 513, 17-26.
- 245. Brand, H.; Capriotti, J. A.; Arnold, J. Organometallics 1994, 13, 4469-4473.
- 246. Ryu, S.; Whang, D.; Kim, J.; Yeo, W.; Kim, K. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1993, 205-209.
- 247. Ryu, S.; Kim, J.; Yeo, H.; Kim, K. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1995, 228, 233-236.
- 248. Shibata, K.; Aida, T.; Inoue, S. Tetrahedron Lett. 1992, 33, 1077-1080.
- 249. Huhmann, J. L.; Corey, J. Y.; Rath, N. P. Acta Crystallogr. 1995, C51, 195-196.
- 250. Huhmann, J. L.; Rath, N. P.; Corey, J. Y. Acta Crystallogr. 1996, C52, 2486-2488.
- 251. Kim, H.-J.; Kim, K. Acta Crystallogr. 1999, C55, 1814-1815.
- 252. Thorman, J. L.; Guzei, I. A.; Young, V. G., Jr.; Woo, L. K. Inorg. Chem. **1999**, *38*, 3814–3824. 253. Thorman, J. L.; Guzei, I. A.; Young, V. G., Jr.; Woo, L. K. Inorg. Chem. **2000**, *39*, 2344–2351.
- 254. Girolami, G. S.; Gorlin, P. A.; Suslick, K. S. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 626-627.
- 255. Girolami, G. S.; Hein, C. L.; Suslick, K. S. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1996, 35, 1223-1225.
- 256. Buchler, J. W.; Heinz, G. Chem. Ber. 1996, 129, 201-205.
- 257. Stulz, E.; Burgi, H.-B.; Leumann, C. Chem.-Eur. J. 2000, 6, 523-536.
- 258. Jacoby, D.; Floriani, C.; Chiesi-Villa, A.; Rizzoli, C. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1991, 790-792.
- 259. Rosa, A.; Ricciardi, G.; Rosi, M.; Sgamellotti, A.; Floriani, C. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1993, 3759–3766.
- 260. Jacoby, D.; Floriani, C.; Chiesi-Villa, A.; Rizzoli, C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 3595–3602. 261. Jacoby, D.; Floriani, C.; Chiesi-Villa, A.; Rizzoli, C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 7025–7026.
- 262. Floriani, C.; Solari, E.; Solari, G.; Chiesi-Villa, A.; Rizzoli, C. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1998, 37, 2245–2248.
- 263. Solari, G.; Solari, E.; Floriani, C.; Chiesi-Villa, A.; Rizzoli, C. Organometallics 1997, 16, 508-510.
- 264. Jacoby, D.; Isoz, S.; Floriani, C.; Chiesi-Villa, A.; Rizzoli, C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 2805–2816. 265. Jacoby, D.; Isoz, S.; Floriani, C.; Chiesi-Villa, A.; Rizzoli, C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 2793–2804.
- 266. Floriani, C. Pure Appl. Chem. 1996, 68, 1-8.
- 267. Jacoby, D.; Isoz, S.; Floriani, C.; Schenk, K.; Chiesi-Villa, A.; Rizzoli, C. Organometallics 1995, 14, 4816–4824.
- 268. Solari, G.; Solari, E.; Lemercier, G.; Floriani, C.; Chiesi-Villa, A.; Rizzoli, C. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 2691-2695.
- 269. Benech, J.-M.; Bonomo, L.; Solari, E.; Scopelliti, R.; Floriani, C. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1999, 38, 1957–1959.
- 270. Bonomo, L.; Toraman, G.; Solari, E.; Scopelliti, R.; Floriani, C. Organometallics 1999, 18, 5198-5200.
- 271. Kulinich, V. P.; Vasil'ev, S.-I.; Shaposhnikov, G. P.; Maizlish, V. E.; Doroshina, O. A.; Smirnov, R. P. Russ. J. Coord. Chem. (Transl. of Koord. Khim.) 1997, 23, 737-740.
- 272. Ricciardi, G.; De Benedetto, L.; Lelj, F. Polyhedron 1996, 15, 3183-3191.
- 273. Collman, J. P.; Kendall, J. L.; Chen, J. L.; Collins, K. A.; Marchon, J.-C. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 1661–1667.
- 274. Silver, J.; Lukes, P. J.; Hey, P. K.; O'Connor, J. M. Polyhedron 1989, 8, 1631-1635.
- 275. Gorsch, M.; Franken, A.; Sievertsen, S.; Homborg, H. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1995, 621, 607-616.
- 276. Schweiger, K.; Hueckstaedt, H.; Homborg, H. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1998, 624, 1298-1302.
- 277. Tomachynski, L. A.; Chernii, V. Y.; Volkov, S. V. J. Porphyrins Phthalocyanines 2001, 5, 731-734.
- 278. Guilard, R.; Barbe, J.-M.; Ibnlfassi, A.; Zrineh, A.; Adamian, V. A.; Kadish, K. M. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 1472-1481.
- 279. Giannini, L.; Solari, E.; De Angelis, S.; Ward, T. R.; Floriani, C.; Chiesi-Villa, A.; Rizzoli, C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1995**, *117*, 5801–5811.
- 280. Cotton, F. A.; Wojtczak, W. A. Acta Crystallogr. 1994, C50, 1662-1664.
- 281. Troyanov, S. I.; Meetsma, A.; Teuben, J. H. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1998, 271, 180-186.
- 282. Cotton, F. A.; Kibala, P. A.; Wojtczak, W. A. Acta Crystallogr. 1991, C47, 89-92.
- 283. Girolami, G. S.; Wilkinson, G.; Thornton-Pett, M.; Hursthouse, M. B. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1984, 2789–2794.
- 284. Cayias, J. Z.; Babaian, E. A.; Hrncir, D. C.; Bott, S. G.; Atwood, J. L. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1986, 2743–2744.
- 285. Breen, T. L.; Stephan, D. W. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 4019-4022.
- 286. Cotton, F. A.; Kibala, P. A. Acta Crystallogr. 1991, C47, 270-272.
- 287. Baker, R. T.; Krusic, P. J.; Tulip, T. H.; Calabrese, J. C.; Wreford, S. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1983, 105, 6763-6765.
- 288. Danopoulos, A. A.; Edwards, P. G.; Harman, M.; Hursthouse, M. B.; Parry, J. S. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1994, 977-985.
- 289. Nief, F.; Mathey, F.; Ricard, L.; Robert, F. Organometallics 1988, 7, 921-926.
- 290. de Boer, E. J. M.; Gilmore, I. J.; Korndorffer, F. M.; Horton, A. D.; van der Linden, A.; Royan, B. W.; Ruisch, B. J.; Schoon, L.; Shaw, R. W. J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem. 1998, 128, 155-165.
- 291. Janiak, C.; Lange, K. C. H.; Versteeg, U.; Lentz, D.; Budzelaar, P. H. M. Chem. Ber. 1996, 129, 1517-1529.
- 292. Janiak, C.; Versteeg, U.; Lange, K. C. H.; Weimann, R.; Hahn, E. J. Organomet. Chem. 1995, 501, 219-234.
- 293. Bellemin-Laponnaz, S.; Lo, M. M. C.; Peterson, T. H.; Allen, J. M.; Fu, G. C. Organometallics 2001, 20, 3453-3458. 294. Nief, F.; Mathey, F.; Ricard, L. J. Organomet. Chem. 1990, 384, 271-278.
- 295. Desmurs, P.; Visseaux, M.; Baudry, D.; Dormond, A.; Nief, F.; Ricard, L. Organometallics 1996, 15, 4178-4181.
- 296. Hollis, T. K.; Wang, L.-S.; Tham, F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 11737-11738.
- 297. Babaian, E. A.; Hrncir, D. C.; Bott, S. G.; Atwood, J. L. Inorg. Chem. 1986, 25, 4818-4821.
- 298. Eberle, M.; Roehr, C. Acta Crystallogr. 1996, C52, 566-568.
- 299. Duraj, S. A.; Towns, R. L. R.; Baker, R. J.; Schupp, J. Acta Crystallogr. 1990, C46, 890-892.

- 300. Schweder, B.; Gorls, H.; Walther, D. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1999, 286, 14-23.
- 301. Babaian-Kibala, E.; Cotton, F. A.; Kibala, P. A. Acta Crystallogr. 1991, C47, 1305-1307.
- 302. Guan, J.; Siebel, E.; Fischer, R. D. Acta Crystallogr. 1999, C55, 1449-1451.
- 303. Shi, M.; Jiang, J.-K.; Cui, S.-C.; Feng, Y.-S. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 2001, 390-393.
- 304. Sibi, M. P.; Ji, J.; Sausker, J. B.; Jasperse, C. P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 7517-7526.
- 305. Phillipson, N.; Anson, M. S.; Montana, J. G.; Taylor, R. J. K. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1997, 2821–2829.
- 306. Nakamura, S.; Ishihara, K.; Yamamoto, H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 8131-8140.
- 307. Imamura, K.-i.; Yoshikawa, E.; Gevorgyan, V.; Yamamoto, Y. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 5339-5340.
- 308. Sobota, P.; Mustafa, M. O.; Lis, T. J. Organomet. Chem. 1989, 377, 69-74.
- 309. Young, D. A. J. Mol. Catal. 1989, 53, 433-442.
- 310. Hajela, B. P.; Jain, S. C. Indian J. Chem. 1982, 21A, 530-532.
- 311. Agarwal, R. K.; Rastogi, S. C. Croat. Chem. Acta 1985, 58, 277-281.
- 312. Buscaglione, I.; Stables, C.; Sutcliffe, H. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1987, 128, 7-9.
- 313. Calderazzo, F.; D'Attoma, M.; Marchetti, F.; Pampaloni, G.; Troyanov, S. I. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1999, 2275-2278.
- 314. Calderazzo, F.; D'Attoma, M.; Marchetti, F.; Pampaloni, G. Dalton 2000, 2497-2498.
- 315. Jamhour, R. M. A. Q. Syn. React. Inorg. Met. 1997, 27, 221-230.
- 316. Turin-Rossier, M.; Hugi-Cleary, D.; Merbach, A. E. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1990, 167, 245-252.
- 317. Turin-Rossier, M.; Hugi-Cleary, D.; Frey, U.; Merbach, A. E. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 1374-1379.
- 318. Albanese, J. A.; Staley, D. L.; Rheingold, A. L.; Burmeister, J. L. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 2209-2213.
- Jalil, N. S. N.; Aminu, S. Syn. React. Inorg. Met. 1996, 26, 385–398.
 Mai, H.-J.; Weller, F.; Dehnicke, K.; Maichle-Moessmer, C.; Straehle, J. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1994, 620, 851–855.
- 321. Alcock, N. W.; Errington, W.; Golby, S. L.; Patterson, S. M. C.; Wallbridge, M. G. H. Acta Crystallogr. 1994, C50, 226-227.
- 322. Gao, Y.; Guery, J.; Jacoboni, C. Acta Crystallogr. 1993, C49, 963-965.
- 323. Klinga, M.; Jany, G.; Repo, T.; Leskela, M. Z. Krist.-New Cryst. St. 1998, 213, 317-318.
- 324. Siddiqi, K. S.; Aqra, F. M. A. M.; Shah, S. A.; Zaidi, S. A. A.; Khan, N. H.; Kureshy, R. I. Syn. React. Inorg. Met. 1993, 23, 1645-1654.
- 325. Jones, D.; Roberts, A.; Cavell, K.; Keim, W.; Englert, U.; Skelton, B. W.; White, A. H. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1998, 255-262.
- 326. Bernardi, N.; Bottoni, A.; Casolari, S.; Tagliavini, E. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 65, 4783-4790.
- 327. Srivastava, A. K.; Agarwal, R. K.; Srivastava, M.; Kapur, V.; Sharma, S.; Jain, P. C. Transition Met. Chem. (Weinheim, Ger.) 1982, 7, 41-44.
- 328. Agarwal, R. K. Pol. J. Chem. 1991, 65, 1709-1713.
- 329. Agarwal, R. K.; Chakraborti, I. Pol. J. Chem. 1994, 68, 1491-1500.
- 330. Agarwal, R. K.; Singh, G. Pol. J. Chem. 1987, 61, 41-53.
- 331. Agrawal, S. K.; Kumar, R.; Pokhariyal, G. P.; Tyagi, D. K. Asian J. Chem. 1991, 3, 467-469.
- 332. Arora, K.; Sharma, D. P.; Sharma, S. Asian J. Chem. 1999, 11, 1357-1360.
- 333. Agarwal, R. K.; Rawat, H. K. Orient. J. Chem. 1988, 4, 12-16.
- 334. Tarafder, M. T. H.; Islam, M. S.; Bhattacharjee, P.; Quaraishi, S. B. Indian J. Chem. 1994, 33A, 676-678.
- 335. Srivastava, A. K.; Agarwal, R. K.; Srivastava, T. N. Croat. Chem. Acta 1981, 54, 329-333.
- 336. Mishra, P. K.; Chakravortty, V.; Dash, K. C. Indian J. Chem. 1989, 28A, 581-584.
- 337. Coddington, J. M.; Howe, R. F.; Taylor, M. J. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1989, 166, 13-15.
- 338. Aberg, M.; Glaser, J. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1993, 206, 53-61.
- 339. Walther, D.; Ritter, B.; Gorls, H.; Zahn, G. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1997, 623, 1125-1130.
- 340. Veyland, A.; Dupont, L.; Pierrard, J.-C.; Rimbault, J.; Aplincourt, M. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 1765-1770.
- 341. Zhou, M.; Zhang, L.; Dong, J.; Qin, Q. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 10680-10688.
- 342. Tarafder, M. T. H.; Howlader, M. B. H.; Nath, B.; Khan, R.; Anowarul Islam, A. A. M. Polyhedron 1989, 8, 977-981.
- 343. Tarafder, M. T. H.; Islam, A. A. M. A. Polyhedron 1989, 8, 109-112.
- 344. Islam, M. S.; Uddin, M. M. Indian J. Chem. 1993, 32A, 355-357.
- 345. Tarafder, M. T. H.; Khan, A. R. Polyhedron 1991, 10, 819-822.
- 346. Islam, M. S.; Begum, M.; Roy, H. N.; Pal, S. C.; Ahmed, S. Syn. React. Inorg. Met. 1997, 27, 17-28.
- 347. Islam, M. S.; Khanum, T. Bangladesh J. Sci. Ind. Res. 1998, 33, 210-213.
- 348. Tofazzal, M.; Tarafder, H.; Khan, A. R. Indian J. Chem. 1993, 32A, 781-784.
- 349. Dengel, A. C.; Griffith, W. P. Polyhedron 1989, 8, 1371-1377.
- 350. Agarwal, D. D.; Jain, R.; Bhatnagar, R. P.; Srivastava, S. Polyhedron 1990, 9, 1405-1409.
- 351. Tarafder, M. T. H.; Miah, M. A. L. Inorg. Chem. 1986, 25, 2265-2268.
- 352. Tarafder, M. T. H.; Khan, A. R. J. Indian Chem. Soc. 1997, 74, 489-491.
- 353. Jones, R. A.; Hefner, J. G.; Wright, T. C. Polyhedron 1984, 3, 1121-1124.
- 354. Verma, V.; Kher, S.; Kapoor, R. N. Acta Chim. Hung. 1984, 115, 21-25.
- 355. Williams, D. N.; Piarulli, U.; Floriani, C.; Chiesi-Villa, A.; Rizzoli, C. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1994, 1243-1250.
- 356. Chamberlain, L.; Huffman, J. C.; Keddington, J.; Rothwell, I. P. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1982, 805-806.
- 357. Latesky, S.; Keddington, J.; McMullen, A. K.; Rothwell, I. P.; Huffman, J. C. Inorg. Chem. 1985, 24, 995-1001.
- 358. Duff, A. W.; Kamarudin, R. A.; Lappert, M. F.; Norton, R. J. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1986, 489-498.
- 359. Kanehisa, N.; Kai, Y.; Kasai, N.; Yasuda, H.; Nakayama, Y.; Takei, K.; Nakamura, A. Chem. Lett. 1990, 2167-2170.
- 360. Yasuda, H.; Nakayama, Y.; Takei, K.; Nakamura, A.; Kai, Y.; Kanehisa, N. J. Organomet. Chem. 1994, 473, 105-116.
- 361. Shah, A.; Singh, A.; Mehrotra, R. C. Polyhedron 1986, 5, 1285-1290.
- 362. Latesky, S. L.; McMullen, A. K.; Rothwell, I. P.; Huffman, J. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1985, 107, 5981–5987.
- 363. Lubben, T. V.; Wolczanski, P. T.; Van Duyne, G. D. Organometallics 1984, 3, 977-983.
- 364. Lubben, T. V.; Wolczanski, P. T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1985, 107, 701-703.

- 365. Latesky, S. L.; McMullen, A. K.; Niccolai, G. P.; Rothwell, I. P.; Huffman, J. C. Organometallics 1985, 4, 902-908.
- 366. Thorn, M. G.; Etheridge, Z. C.; Fanwick, P. E.; Rothwell, I. P. Organometallics **1998**, *17*, 3636–3638. 367. Thorn, M. G.; Etheridge, Z. C.; Fanwick, P. E.; Rothwell, I. P. J. Organomet. Chem. **1999**, *591*, 148–162.
- 368. Evans, W. J.; Ansari, M. A.; Ziller, J. W. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 1160-1164.
- 369. Planalp, R. P.; Andersen, R. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1983, 105, 7774-7775.
- 370. Bougeard, P.; McCullough, J. J.; Sayer, B. G.; McGlinchey, M. J. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1984, 89, 133-138.
- 371. Vaartstra, B. A.; Huffman, J. C.; Gradeff, P. S.; Hubert-Pfalzgraf, L. G.; Daran, J. C.; Parraud, S.; Yunlu, K.; Caulton, K. G. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 3126-3131.
- 372. Boyle, T. J.; Gallegos, J. J., III; Pedrotty, D. M.; Mechenbier, E. R.; Scott, B. L. J. Coord. Chem. 1999, 47, 155-171.
- 373. Evans, W. J.; Ansari, M. A.; Ziller, J. W. Polyhedron 1998, 17, 869-877.
- 374. Starikova, Z. A.; Turevskaya, E. P.; Kozlova, N. I.; Turova, N. Y.; Berdyev, D. V.; Yanovsky, A. I. Polyhedron 1999, 18, 941-947.
- 375. Barrett, A. G. M.; Robyr, C.; Spilling, C. D. J. Org. Chem. 1989, 54, 1233-1234.
- 376. Kobayashi, S.; Moriwaki, M.; Hachiya, I. Tetrahedron Lett. 1996, 37, 2053-2056.
- 377. Kobayashi, S.; Iwamoto, S. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 4697-4700.
- 378. Tsuchimoto, T.; Maeda, T.; Shirakawa, E.; Kawakami, Y. Chem. Commun. 2000, 1573-1574.
- 379. Waller, F. J.; Barrett, A. G. M.; Braddock, D. C.; Ramprasad, D. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 1641-1642.
- 380. Okitsu, O.; Suzuki, R.; Kobayashi, S. J. Org. Chem. 2001, 66, 809-823.
- 381. Duncan, D.; Livinghouse, T. Organometallics 1999, 18, 4421-4428.
- 382. Covert, K. J.; Wolczanski, P. T.; Hill, S. A.; Krusic, P. J. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 66-78.
- 383. Covert, K. J.; Mayol, A.-R.; Wolczanski, P. T. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1997, 263, 263-278.
- 384. Gunji, T.; Kasahara, T.; Fujii, A.; Abe, Y.; Kawano, M. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1995, 68, 2975-2979.
- 385. Terry, K. W.; Tilly, T. D. Chem. Mater. 1991, 3, 1001-1003.
- 386. Lugmair, C. G.; Tilley, T. D. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 764-769.
- 387. Miller, J. B.; Schwartz, J.; Carroll, K. M. Organometallics 1993, 12, 4204-4206.
- 388. Lefebvre, F.; Basset, J. M. J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem. 1999, 146, 3-12.
- 389. Duchateau, R.; Cremer, U.; Harmsen, R. J.; Mohamud, S. I.; Abbenhuis, H. C. L.; Van Santen, R. A.; Meetsma, A.; Thiele, S. K. H.; Van Tol, M. F. H.; Kranenburg, M. Organometallics 1999, 18, 5447-5459.
- 390. Mehrotra, R. C.; Singh, A.; Sogani, S. Chem. Rev. 1994, 94, 1643-1660.
- 391. Caulton, K. G.; Hubert-Pfalzgraf, L. G. Chem. Rev. 1990, 90, 969-995.
- 392. Bradley, D. C. Chem. Rev. 1989, 89, 1317-1322.
- Jain, R.; Rai, A. K.; Mehrotra, R. C. Syn. React. Inorg. Met. 1985, 15, 789–803.
 Jain, R.; Rai, A. K.; Mehrotra, R. C. Polyhedron 1986, 5, 1017–1021.
- 395. Turevskaya, E. P.; Berdyev, D. V.; Turova, N. Y.; Starikova, Z. A.; Yanovsky, A. I.; Struchkov, Y. T.; Belokon, A. I. Polyhedron 1997, 16, 663-670.
- 396. Vaartstra, B. A.; Huffman, J. C.; Streib, W. E.; Caulton, K. G. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 3068-3072.
- 397. Kuhlman, R.; Vaartstra, B. A.; Streib, W. E.; Huffman, J. C.; Caulton, K. G. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 1272-1278.
- 398. Mehrotra, R. C. Chemtracts: Inorg. Chem. 1993, 5, 56-58.
- 399. Veith, M.; Mathur, S.; Huch, V.; Decker, T. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 1327-1332.
- 400. Samuels, J. A.; Zwanziger, J. W.; Lobkovsky, E. B.; Caulton, K. G. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 4046-4047.
- 401. Sogani, S.; Singh, A.; Bohra, R.; Mehrotra, R. C.; Nottemeyer, M. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1991, 738-739.
- 402. Veith, M.; Mathur, S.; Huch, V. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 7295-7303.
- 403. Dubey, R. K.; Singh, A.; Mehrotra, R. C. Indian J. Chem. 1992, 31A, 156-159.
- 404. Shah, A.; Singh, A.; Mehrotra, R. C. Indian J. Chem. 1992, 31A, 886-888.
- 405. Shah, A.; Singh, A.; Mehrotra, R. C. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1988, 141, 289–294. 406. Shah, A.; Singh, A.; Mehrotra, R. C. Indian J. Chem. 1987, 26A, 485–488.
- 407. Dubey, R. K.; Singh, A.; Mehrotra, R. C. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1988, 143, 169-175.
- 408. Schmid, R.; Mosset, A.; Galy, J. Acta Crystallogr. 1991, C47, 750-752.
- 409. Garg, G.; Singh, A.; Mehrotra, R. C. Indian J. Chem. 1991, 30A, 866-871.
- 410. Vaartstra, B. A.; Samuels, J. A.; Barash, E. H.; Martin, J. D.; Streib, W. E.; Gasser, C.; Caulton, K. G. J. Organomet. Chem. 1993, 449, 191-201.
- 411. Dubey, R. K. Transition Met. Chem. (London) 1993, 18, 243-247.
- 412. Dubey, R. K.; Singh, A.; Mehrotra, R. C. J. Organomet. Chem. 1988, 341, 569–574.
 413. Dubey, R. K.; Singh, A.; Mehrotra, R. C. Polyhedron 1987, 6, 427–433.
- 414. Samuels, J. A.; Chiang, W.-C.; Huffman, J. C.; Trojan, K. L.; Hatfield, W. E.; Baxter, D. V.; Caulton, K. G. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 2167-2179.
- 415. Samuels, J. A.; Vaartstra, B. A.; Huffman, J. C.; Trojan, K. L.; Hatfield, W. E.; Caulton, K. G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 9623-9624.
- 416. Schmid, R.; Mosset, A.; Galy, J. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1991, 179, 167-170.
- 417. Schmid, R.; Ahamdane, H.; Mosset, A. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1991, 190, 237-240.
- 418. Mehrotra, R. C. Chemtracts: Inorg. Chem. 1995, 7, 184-186.
- 419. Mathur, S.; Singh, A.; Mehrotra, R. C. Polyhedron 1993, 12, 1073-1077.
- 420. Veith, M.; Mathur, C.; Mathur, S.; Huch, V. Organometallics 1997, 16, 1292-1299.
- 421. Veith, M.; Mathur, S.; Huch, V. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1996, 2485-2490.
- 422. Veith, M.; Mathur, S.; Mathur, C.; Huch, V. Organometallics 1998, 17, 1044-1051.
- 423. Mathur, S.; Singh, A.; Mehrotra, R. C. Indian J. Chem. 1995, 34A, 454-458.
- 424. Veith, M.; Mathur, S.; Huch, V. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 1997, 2197-2198.
- 425. Teff, D. J.; Huffman, J. C.; Caulton, K. G. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 2981-2987.
- 426. Teff, D. J.; Huffman, J. C.; Caulton, K. G. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 2491-2492.
- 427. Vaartstra, B. A. Mater. Res. Soc. Symp. Proc. 1993, 282, 689.
- 428. Teff, D. J.; Huffman, J. C.; Caulton, K. G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 4030-4035.
- 429. Teff, D. J.; Caulton, K. G. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 2554-2562.
- 430. Teff, D. J.; Minear, C. D.; Baxter, D. V.; Caulton, K. G. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 2547-2553.

- 431. Mehrotra, R. C.; Singh, A. Chemtracts 1998, 11, 632-637.
- 432. Evans, W. J.; Greci, M. A.; Ansari, M. A.; Ziller, J. W. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1997, 4503-4508.
- 433. Evans, W. J.; Johnston, M. A.; Greci, M. A.; Ansari, M. A.; Brady, J. C.; Ziller, J. W. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 2125–2129.
- 434. Lei, X.; Shang, M.; Fehlner, T. P. Organometallics 1997, 16, 5289-5301.
- 435. Daniele, S.; Hubert-Pfalzgraf, L. G.; Daran, J. C.; Toscano, R. A. Polyhedron 1993, 12, 2091–2096.
- 436. Evans, W. J.; Greci, M. A.; Johnston, M. A.; Ziller, J. W. Chem.-Eur. J. 1999, 5, 3482-3486.
- 437. Evans, W. J.; Johnston, M. A.; Ziller, J. W. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 3421-3423.
- 438. Gupta, R.; Singh, A.; Mehrotra, R. C. Indian J. Chem. 1991, 30A, 592-595.
- 439. Garg, G. M.; Singh, A.; Mehrotra, R. C. Indian J. Chem. 1991, 30A, 688–691.
- 440. Veith, M.; Mathur, S.; Huch, V. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 903–904.
- 441. Mehrotra, R. C. Chemtracts: Inorg. Chem. 1995, 7, 182–183.
 442. Veith, M.; Mathur, S.; Huch, V. Phosphorus, Sulfur 1997, 124–125, 493–496.
- 443. Veith, M.; Mathur, S.; Mathur, C.; Huch, V. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. **1997**, 2101–2108.
- 444. Matsubara, N.; Kuwamoto, T. Inorg. Chem. 1985, 24, 2697–2701.
- 445. Calderazzo, F.; Englert, U.; Maichle-Mossmer, C.; Marchetti, F.; Pampaloni, G.; Petroni, D.; Pinzino, C.; Strahle, J.; Tripepi, G. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1998, 270, 177–188.
- 446. Ezhov, Y. S.; Komarov, S. A.; Sevast'yanov, V. G. J. Struct. Chem. 1998, 39, 36-43.
- 447. Jung, W. S.; Nakagawa, T.; Tomiyasu, H. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1993, 209, 79-83.
- 448. Jung, W.-S.; Ishizaki, H.; Tomiyasu, H. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1995, 1077–1081.
- 449. Casellato, U.; Fregona, D.; Graziani, R. Z. Krist.-New Cryst. St. 1997, 212, 115-116.
- 450. Janiak, C.; Scharmann, T. G. Acta Crystallogr. 1998, C54, 210-212.
- 451. Dobrzynski, P.; Kasperczyk, J.; Janeczek, H.; Bero, M. Macromolecules 2001, 34, 5090-5098.
- 452. Banach, T. E.; Berti, C.; Colonna, M.; Fiorini, M.; Marianucci, E.; Messori, M.; Pilati, F.; Toselli, M. Polymer 2001, 42, 7511–7516.
- 453. Versteegen, R.-M.; Sijbesma, R. P.; Meijer, E. W. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1999, 38, 2917–2919.
- 454. Fdil, N.; Romane, A.; Allaoud, S.; Karim, A.; Castanet, Y.; Mortreux, A. J. Mol. Catal. A.: Chemical 1996, 108, 15-21.
- 455. Trzaska, S. T.; Zheng, H.; Swager, T. M. Chem. Mater. 1999, 11, 130-134.
- 456. Janiak, C.; Scharmann, T. G.; Lange, K. C. H. Macromol. Rapid Commun. 1994, 15, 655-658.
- 457. Jyothi, A.; Rao, G. N. Syn. React. Inorg. Met. 1988, 18, 487-496.
- 458. Saxena, S.; Singh, Y. P.; Rai, A. K. Syn. React. Inorg. Met. 1983, 13, 855-866.
- 459. Kluwe, K.; Thiele, K. H.; Sorkau, A.; Sisak, A.; Neumuller, B. J. Organomet. Chem. 2000, 604, 68-71.
- 460. Schubert, U.; Buhler, H.; Hirle, B. Chem. Ber. 1992, 125, 999-1003.
- 461. Fleeting, K. A.; O'Brien, P.; Otway, D. J.; White, A. J. P.; Williams, D. J.; Jones, A. C. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 1432-1437.
- 462. Evans, W. J.; Ansari, M. A.; Ziller, J. W. Polyhedron 1998, 2-3, 299-304.
- 463. Chi, Y.; Lan, J.-W.; Ching, W.-L.; Peng, S.-M.; Lee, G.-H. Dalton 2000, 2923–2927.
- 464. Longo, P.; Proto, A.; Oliva, L. Macromol. Rapid Commun. 1994, 15, 151-154.
- 465. Shmulinson, M.; Galan-Fereres, M.; Lisovskii, A.; Nelkenbaum, E.; Semiat, R.; Eisen, M. S. Organometallics 2000, 19, 1208–1210.
- 466. Klass, K.; Duda, L.; Kleigrewe, N.; Erker, G.; Froehlich, R.; Wegelius, E. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 11-19.
- 467. Dhar, M. L.; Magazine, N. J. Indian Chem. Soc. 1992, 69, 277-279.
- 468. Matilainen, L.; Klinga, M.; Leskela, M. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1996, 219-225.
- 469. Park, D. H.; Kim, S. H.; Kim, S. M.; Kim, J. D.; Kim, Y. H. Chem. Commun. 1999, 963-964.
- 470. Hanawa, H.; Kii, S.; Asao, N.; Maruoka, K. Tetrahedron Lett. 2000, 41, 5543-5546.
- 471. Cross, R. J.; Farrugia, L. J.; Newman, P. D.; Peacock, R. D.; Stirling, D. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1996, 4449–4458.
- 472. Nahar, K. R.; Solanki, A. K.; Bhandari, A. M. Syn. React. Inorg. Met. 1982, 12, 805-813.
- 473. Saxena, A. K.; Saxena, S.; Rai, A. K. Indian J. Chem. 1990, 29A, 1027-1029.
- 474. Jalil, N. S. N.; Hameed, L. T. Phosphorus, Sulfur 1996, 112, 171-178.
- 475. Puri, J. K.; Miller, J. M. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1985, 101, 135-140.
- 476. Puri, J. K.; Miglani, A.; Malhotra, M.; Sharma, V. K. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1990, 170, 103-107.
- 477. Singh, S.; Bedi, M.; Verma, R. D. J. Fluorine Chem. 1982, 20, 107-119.
- 478. Niyogi, D. G.; Singh, S.; Saini, A.; Verma, R. D. J. Fluorine Chem. 1994, 66, 153-158.
- 479. Brzyska, W.; Sadowski, P. Pol. J. Chem. 1992, 66, 1575-1581.
- 480. Holmes, R.; Sutcliffe, H. J. Fluorine Chem. 1990, 48, 1-5.
- 481. Stables, C. M.; Sutcliffe, H. J. Less-Common Met. 1987, 135, 247-256.
- 482. Hall, G.; Sutcliffe, H. J. Mater. Sci. Lett. 1991, 10, 1156-1157.
- 483. Steinhuebel, D. P.; Fuhrmann, P.; Lippard, S. J. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1998, 270, 527-536.
- 484. Schubert, U.; Arpac, E.; Glaubitt, W.; Helmerich, A.; Chau, C. Chem. Mater. 1992, 4, 291-295.
- 485. Buhler, H.; Schubert, U. Chem. Ber. 1993, 126, 405-406.
- 486. Reza, M. Y.; Matsushima, H.; Koikawa, M.; Nakashima, M.; Tokii, T. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1998, 71, 155-160.
- 487. Reza, M. Y.; Matsushima, H.; Koikawa, M.; Nakashima, M.; Tokii, T. Polyhedron 1999, 18, 787-792.
- 488. Shimomura, H.; Lei, X.; Shang, M.; Fehlner, T. P. Organometallics 1997, 16, 5302-5311.
- 489. Ma, L.; Payne, D. A. Chem. Mater. 1994, 6, 875-877.
- 490. Ammala, P. S.; Cashion, J. D.; Kepert, C. M.; Murray, K. S.; Moubaraki, B.; Spiccia, L.; West, B. O. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 2001, 2032–2041.
- 491. Calderazzo, F.; Ianelli, S.; Pampaloni, G.; Pelizzi, G.; Sperrle, M. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1991, 693-698.
- 492. Baggio, R.; Garland, M. T.; Perec, M. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 737-739.
- 493. Baggio, R.; Garland, M. T.; Perec, M. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 3198-3200.
- 494. Morris, S.; Almond, M. J.; Cardin, C. J.; Drew, M. G. B.; Rice, D. A.; Zubavichus, Y. Polyhedron 1998, 17, 2301–2307.

- 495. Veyland, A.; Rimbault, J.; Dupont, L.; Pierrard, J.-C.; Aplincourt, M.; Bourg, S.; Nuzillard, J.-M.; Angiboust, J.-F. Helv. Chim. Acta 1999, 82, 2003-2014.
- 496. Joao, A.; Bigot, S.; Fromage, F. Bull. Soc. Chim. Fr. 1987, 6, 943-947.
- 497. Veyland, A.; Dupont, L.; Rimbault, J.; Pierrard, J.-C. Helv. Chim. Acta 2000, 83, 414-427.
- 498. Veyland, A.; Dupont, L.; Pierrard, J. C.; Rimbault, J.; Aplincourt, M.; Devoldere, L. Inorg. Chem. Commun. 2000, 3, 600-607.
- 499. Haussuhl, E.; Gramlich, V. Z. Krist.-New Cryst. St. 2000, 251, 375-376.
- 500. Gomez-Carrera, A.; Mena, M.; Royo, P.; Serrano, R. J. Organomet. Chem. 1986, 315, 329-335.
- 501. Chisholm, M. H.; Huang, J.-H.; Huffman, J. C.; Streib, W. E.; Tiedtke, D. Polyhedron 1997, 16, 2941-2949.
- 502. Walters, M. A.; Lam, K.-C.; Damo, S.; Sommer, R. D.; Rheingold, A. L. Inorg. Chem. Commun. 2000, 3, 316-318. 503. Di Maggio, R.; Fambri, L.; Guerriero, A. Chem. Mater. 1998, 10, 1777-1784.
- 504. Solari, E.; Lesueur, W.; Klose, A.; Schenk, K.; Floriani, C.; Chiesi-Villa, A.; Rizzoli, C. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 1996, 807-808.
- 505. Zechmann, C. A.; Huffman, J. C.; Folting, K.; Caulton, K. G. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 5856-5861.
- 506. Tanski, J. M.; Vaid, T. P.; Lobkovsky, E. B.; Wolczanski, P. T. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 4756-4765.
- 507. Yamasaki, S.; Kanai, M.; Shibasaki, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 1256-1257.
- 508. van der Linden, A.; Schaverien, C. J.; Meijboom, N.; Ganter, C.; Orpen, A. G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 3008-3021.
- 509. Kobayashi, S.; Kuskabe, K.-I.; Komiyama, S.; Ishitani, H. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 64, 4220-4221.
- 510. Casolari, S.; Cozzi, P. G.; Orioli, P. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 1997, 2123-2124.
- 511. Ishitani, H.; Kitazawa, T.; Kobayashi, S. Tetrahedron Lett. 1999, 40, 2161-2164.
- 512. Ishitani, H.; Ueno, M.; Kobayashi, S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 7153-7154.
- 513. Ishitani, H.; Ueno, M.; Kobayashi, S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 8180-8186.
- 514. Gastner, T.; Ishitani, H.; Akiyama, R.; Kobayashi, S. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 2001, 40, 1896-1898.
- 515. Ishitani, H.; Komiyama, S.; Kobayashi, S. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1998, 37, 3186-3188.
- 516. Kobayashi, S.; Ishitani, H.; Ueno, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 431-432.
- 517. Ishitani, H.; Komiyama, S.; Hasegawa, Y.; Kobayashi, S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 762-766.
- 518. Kobayashi, S.; Komiyama, S.; Ishitani, H. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1998, 37, 979-981.
- 519. Yu, C.-M.; Yoon, S.-K.; Choi, H.-S.; Baek, K. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 1997, 763-764.
- 520. Ishitani, H.; Yamashita, Y.; Shimizu, H.; Kobayashi, S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 5403-5404.
- 521. Xue, S.; Yu, S.; Deng, Y.; Wulff, W. D. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 2001, 40, 2271-2274.
- 522. Zandona, N.; Ciardelli, F. Polymer 1991, 32, 1131-1134.
- 523. Froese, R. D. J.; Musaev, D. G.; Matsubara, T.; Morokuma, K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 7190-7196.
- 524. Hossain, M. A.; Hursthouse, M. B.; Ibrahim, A.; Mazid, M.; Sullivan, A. C. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1989, 12, 2347-2352.
- 525. Motevalli, M.; Shah, D.; Sullivan, A. C. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1993, 18, 2849-2855.
- 526. Lazell, M.; Motevalli, M.; Shah, S. A. A.; Simon, C. K. S.; Sullivan, A. C. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1996, 1449-1454.
- 527. Haoudi-Mazzah, A.; Mazzah, A.; Schmidt, H. G.; Noltemeyer, M.; Roesky, H. W. Z. Naturforsch. B 1991, 46, 587-592.
- 528. Liu, F.-Q.; Uson, I.; Roesky, H. W. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1996, 622, 819-822
- 529. Duchateau, R.; Abbenhuis, H. C. L.; van Santen, R. A.; Meetsma, A.; Thiele, S. K. H.; van Tol, M. F. H. Organometallics 1998, 17, 5663-5673.
- 530. VanderKam, S. K.; Lu, G.; Bernasek, S. L.; Schwartz, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 11639-11642.
- 531. Schwartz, J.; Bernasek, S. L.; Lu, G.; Keegan, J. P.; Purvis, K.; VanderKam, S. J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem. 1999, 146, 45 - 52
- 532. Voigt, A.; Murugavel, R.; Roesky, H. W.; Schmidt, H.-G. J. Mol. Struct. 1997, 436-437, 49-57.
- 533. Srivastava, A. K.; Srivastava, M.; Agarwal, R. K. Croat. Chem. Acta 1982, 55, 429-434.
- 534. Kaiser, V.; Ebinal, S.; Menzel, F.; Stumpp, E. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1997, 623, 449-455.
- 535. Zaidi, S. A. A.; Zaidi, S. R. A.; Shaheer, S. A.; Khan, T. A. Indian J. Chem. 1987, 26A, 1056-1058.
- 536. Sutcliffe, H.; Thornton, A. J. Fluorine Chem. 1985, 28, 171-182.
- 537. Lorenz, A.; Kickelbick, G.; Schubert, U. Chem. Mater. 1997, 9, 2551-2560.
- 538. Trojanov, S.; Stiewe, A.; Kemnitz, E. Z. Naturforsch. B 1996, 51, 19-24.
- 539. Casciola, M.; Costantino, U.; Merlini, L.; Andersen, I. G. K.; Andersen, E. K. Solid State Ionics 1988, 26, 229-235.
- 540. Poojary, D. M.; Zhang, B.; Clearfield, A. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1994, 2453-2456.
- 541. Qureshi, S. Z.; Rahman, N. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1987, 60, 2627-2633.
- 542. Gash, A. E.; Dorhout, P. K.; Strauss, S. H. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 5538-5546.
- 543. Edwards, H. G. M.; Hughes, M. A.; Smith, D. N.; Courtney, B. J. Mol. Struct. 1995, 351, 65-76.
- 544. Chakraborty, D.; Chandrasekhar, V.; Bhattacharjee, M.; Kraetzner, R.; Roesky, H. W.; Noltemeyer, M.; Schmidt, H.-G. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 23-26.
- 545. Singh, D. K.; Mehrotra, P. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1990, 63, 3647-3652.
- 546. Zhang, B.; Clearfield, A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 2751-2752.
- 547. Clearfield, A.; Poojary, D. M.; Zhang, B.; Zhao, B.; Agnes, D.-K. Chem. Mater. 2000, 12, 2745–2752.
- 548. Okuno, S.; Matsubayashi, G.-E. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1995, 233, 173–177. 549. Amicangelo, J. C.; Leenstra, W. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 6181–6182.
- 550. Villemin, D.; Jaffres, P.-A.; Nechab, B.; Courivaud, F. Tetrahedron Lett. 1997, 38, 6581-6584.
- 551. Curini, M.; Epifano, F.; Marcotullio, M. C.; Rosati, O.; Costantino, U. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 8159-8162.
- 552. Moss, R. A.; Ragunathan, K. G. Tetrahedron Lett. 2000, 41, 3275-3278.
- 553. Ott, R.; Kramer, R. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1998, 37, 1957-1960.
- 554. Berkessel, A.; Herault, D. A. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1999, 38, 102-105.
- 555. Moss, R. A.; Zhang, J.; Ragunathan, K. G. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 1529–1532.
- 556. Moss, R. A.; Morales-Rojas, H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 7457-7458.
- 557. Baggio, R.; Garland, M. T.; Perec, M.; Vega, D. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 1961-1963.

- 558. Ma, W.; Van Koningsveld, H.; Peters, J. A.; Maschmeyer, T. Chem.-Eur. J. 2001, 7, 657-663.
- 559. Feher, F. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108, 3850-3852.
- 560. Crocker, M.; Herold, R. H. M.; Orpen, A. G.; Overgaag, M. T. A. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1999, 3791-3804.
- 561. Stock, N.; Herrendorf, W.; Beck, J.; Schnick, W. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 469-476.
- 562. Davidovich, R. L.; Samsonova, I. N.; Teplukhina, L. V.; Shchelokov, R. N. Russ. J. Coord. Chem. (Transl. of Koord. Khim.) 1997, 23, 327-329.
- 563. Haussuhl, E.; Giester, G.; Tillmanns, E. Z Kristallogr. 1996, 211, 577-578.
- 564. Haussuhl, E.; Giester, G.; Tillmanns, E. Z. Krist.-New Cryst. St. 1997, 212, 171-172.
- 565. Haussuhl, E.; Held, P. Z Kristallogr. 1998, 213, 377-378.
- 566. Haussuhl, E.; Giester, G.; Tillmanns, E. Z. Krist.-New Cryst. St. 1999, 214, 373-374.
- 567. Haussuhl, E.; Giester, G.; Tillmanns, E. Z. Krist.-New Cryst. St. 1999, 214, 375-376.
- 568. Haussuhl, E.; Giester, G.; Tillmanns, E. Z. Krist.-New Cryst. St. 1999, 214, 571-573.
- 569. Haussuhl, E.; Schreuer, J. Z. Kristallogr. 1999, 214, 71-73.
- 570. Haussuhl, E.; Haussuhl, S.; Schreuer, J. Z. Krist.-New Cryst. St. 2000, 215, 98-100.
- 571. Haussuhl, E.; Giester, G.; Tillmanns, E. Z. Krist.-New Cryst. St. 2000, 215, 101-102.
- 572. Haussuhl, E. Z. Krist.-New Cryst. St. 2000, 215, 373-374.
- 573. Haussuhl, E.; Gramlich, V. Z. Krist.-New Cryst. St. 2000, 215, 375–376. 574. Haussuhl, E.; Tillmanns, E. Z. Krist.-New Cryst. St. 2000, 215, 103–104.
- 575. Haussuhl, E.; Tillmanns, E. Z. Krist.-New Cryst. St. 2001, 216, 273-274.
- 576. Haussuhl, E.; Giester, G.; Tillmanns, E. Z. Krist.-New Cryst. St. 2001, 216, 275-276.
- 577. Ward, T. R.; Duclos, S.; Therrien, B.; Schenk, K. Organometallics 1998, 17, 2490-2494.
- 578. Boyle, T. J.; Schwartz, R. W.; Doedens, R. J.; Ziller, J. W. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 1110-1120.
- 579. Giannini, L.; Solari, E.; Zanotti-Gerosa, A.; Floriani, C.; Chiesi-Villa, A.; Rizzoli, C. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1996, 35, 85-87.
- 580. Fantacci, S.; Maseras, F.; Lledos, A. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1999, 315, 145-149.
- 581. Giannini, L.; Caselli, A.; Solari, E.; Floriani, C.; Chiesi-Villa, A.; Rizzoli, C.; Re, N.; Sgamellotti, A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 9709-9719.
- 582. Caselli, A.; Giannini, L.; Solari, E.; Floriani, C.; Re, N.; Chiesi-Villa, A.; Rizzoli, C. Organometallics 1997, 16, 5457-5469.
- 583. Fantacci, S.; De Angelis, F.; Sgamellotti, A.; Re, N. Organometallics 2001, 20, 4031-4039.
- 584. Hofmeister, G. E.; Hahn, F. E.; Pedersen, S. F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989, 111, 2318-2319.
- 585. Hofmeister, G. E.; Alvarado, E.; Leary, J. A.; Yoon, D. I.; Pedersen, S. F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 8843-8851.
- 586. Giannini, L.; Caselli, A.; Solari, E.; Floriani, C.; Chiesi-Villa, A.; Rizzoli, C.; Re, N.; Sgamellotti, A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 9198–9210.
- 587. Morohashi, N.; Iki, N.; Sugawara, A.; Miyano, S. Tetrahedron 2001, 57, 5557-5563.
- 588. Prinz, H.; Bott, S. G.; Atwood, J. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108, 2113-2114.
- 589. Alvanipour, A.; Atwood, J. L.; Bott, S. G.; Junk, P. C.; Kynast, U. H.; Prinz, H. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1998, 1223-1228.
- 590. Evans, D. F.; Griffiths, G. W.; O'Mahoney, C.; Williams, D. J.; Wong, C. Y.; Woollins, J. D. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1992, 2475-2479.
- 591. Jalil, N. S. N.; Tolorunjo, F. Syn. React. Inorg. Met. 1997, 27, 1581-1591.
- 592. Pandey, R. N.; Sharma, R. N.; Sahay, A. N.; Choudhary, R. R.; Das, J. N. Asian J. Chem. 1993, 5, 639-643.
- 593. Pandey, R. N.; Sharma, R. N.; Choudhary, L. M. R.; Sharma, P. J. Indian Chem. Soc. 1992, 69, 719-722.
- 594. Ryu, S.; Whang, D.; Kim, H.-J.; Kim, K.; Yoshida, M.; Hashimoto, K.; Tatsumi, K. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 4607-4609.
- 595. Coucouvanis, D.; Lester, R. K.; Kanatzidis, M. G.; Kessisoglou, D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1985, 107, 8279-8280.
- 596. Coucouvanis, D.; Hadjikyriacou, A.; Kanatzidis, M. G. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1985, 1224-1225.
- 597. Coucouvanis, D.; Hadjikyriacou, A.; Lester, R.; Kanatzidis, M. G. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 3645–3655.
- 598. Rumpf, C.; Bensch, W. Z. Naturforsch. B 2000, 55, 695-698.
- 599. Dance, I. G.; Fisher, K. J.; Willett, G. D. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 4177-4184.
- 600. Green, M. L. H.; Ng, D. K. P.; Wong, H. V. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1993, 3213-3217.
- 601. Christou, V.; Arnold, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 6240-6242.
- 602. Gerlach, C. P.; Christou, V.; Arnold, J. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 2758-2766.
- 603. Ryu, S.; Whang, D.; Yeo, H.; Kim, K. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1994, 221, 51-54.
- 604. Gibson, V. C.; Long, N. J.; Martin, J.; Solan, G. A.; Stichbury, J. C. J. Organomet. Chem. 1999, 590, 115-117.
- 605. Siddiqi, K. S.; Aqra, F. M. A. M.; Shah, S. A.; Zaidi, S. A. A. Syn. React. Inorg. Met. 1993, 23, 685-693.
- 606. Kumar, S.; Kaushik, N. K. Syn. React. Inorg. Met. 1982, 12, 159-171.
- 607. Kumar, S.; Kaushik, N. K. Indian J. Chem. 1982, 21A, 182-184.
- 608. Shukla, P. R.; Srivastava, S. K. Indian J. Chem. 1987, 26A, 352-354.
- 609. Kureshy, R. I.; Khan, N. H.; Tabassum, S.; Majid, S. J.; Zaidi, S. A. A.; Siddiqi, K. S. Indian J. Chem. 1985, 24A, 784-785
- 610. Verma, V.; Kher, S.; Kapoor, R. N. Syn. React. Inorg. Met. 1983, 13, 943-952.
- 611. Manhas, B. S.; Kalia, S. B. Syn. React. Inorg. Met. 1998, 28, 415-422.
- 612. Tyagi, S. B.; Singh, B.; Kapoor, R. N. Transition Met. Chem. (Weinheim, Ger.) 1985, 10, 73-75
- 613. Siddiqi, K. S.; Khan, N. H.; Kureshy, R. I.; Tabassum, S.; Zaidi, S. A. A. Indian J. Chem. 1987, 26A, 70-73.
- 614. Lindmark, A. F.; Fay, R. C. Inorg. Chem. 1983, 22, 2000-2006.
- 615. Roesky, H. W.; Meller-Rehbein, B.; Noltemeyer, M. Z. Naturforsch. B 1991, 46, 1117-1121.
- 616. Siddiqi, K. S.; Aqra, F. M. A. M.; Shah, S. A.; Zaidi, S. A. A. Syn. React. Inorg. Met. 1993, 23, 1435-1444.
- 617. Gogoi, P. K.; Phukan, D. P. Syn. React. Inorg. Met. 1988, 18, 1007-1021.
- 618. Yadav, J. S.; Mehrotra, R. K.; Srivastava, G. Indian J. Chem. 1990, 29A, 1212-1214.
- 619. Yadav, J. S.; Mehrotra, R. K.; Srivastava, G. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1989, 162, 227-232.
- 620. Tofazzal, M.; Tarafder, H.; Ali, A. M.; Elias, M. S.; Crouse, K. A.; Silong, S. Transit. Met. Chem. 2000, 25, 706-710.
- 621. Chopra, J. R.; Pandey, A. N.; Sharma, S. P.; Agarwal, R. K. Croat. Chem. Acta 1982, 55, 283-286.

- 622. Davidovich, R. L. Russ. J. Coord. Chem. 1998, 24, 751-768.
- 623. Singh, R. N.; Padma, D. K. J. Fluorine Chem. 1994, 68, 67-69.
- 624. Heier, K. R.; Norquist, A. J.; Wilson, C. G.; Stern, C. L.; Poeppelmeier, K. R. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 76-80.
- 625. Gutowski, M.; Boldyrev, A. I.; Simons, J.; Rak, J.; Blazejowski, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 1173-1180.
- 626. Plitzko, C.; Meyer, G. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1998, 624, 169-170.
- 627. Tkachev, V. V.; Atovmyan, L. O.; Logvinova, V. B.; Davidovich, R. L. Russ. J. Coord. Chem. (Transl. of Koord. Khim.) 1996, 22, 779-782.
- 628. Tkachev, V. V.; Atovmyan, L. O.; Logvinova, V. B.; Davidovich, R. L. Russ. J. Coord. Chem. (Transl. of Koord. Khim.) 1996, 22, 635–638.
- 629. Kavun, V. Y.; Sergienko, V. I.; Gabuda, S. P.; Davidovich, R. L. J. Struct. Chem. 2001, 41, 597-602.
- 630. Sobota, P.; Utko, J.; Janas, Z. J. Organomet. Chem. 1986, 316, 19-23.
- 631. Scholz, J.; Richter, B.; Goddard, R.; Krueger, C. Chem. Ber. 1993, 126, 57-62.
- 632. Polamo, M.; Leskela, M. Acta Chem. Scand. 1997, 51, 44-48.
- 633. Rabe, S.; Muller, U. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 2001, 627, 201-205.
- 634. Hughes, T. G.; Meredith, C.; Sutcliffe, H. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1988, 143, 209-212.
- 635. Hartmann, E.; Dehnicke, K.; Fenske, D.; Goesmann, H.; Baum, G. Z. Naturforsch. B 1989, 44, 1155-1160.
- 636. Buscaglioni, I.; Stables, C. M.; Sutcliffe, H. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1988, 146, 33-35.
- 637. Beck, J.; Biedenkopf, P.; Mueller-Buschbaum, K.; Richter, J.; Schlitt, K. J. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1996, 622, 292-296.
- 638. Eicher, J.; Mueller, U.; Dehnicke, K. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1985, 521, 37-43.
- 639. Calderazzo, F.; Pallavicini, P.; Pampaloni, G.; Zanazzi, P. F. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1990, 2743-2746.
- 640. Coles, S. J.; Hursthouse, M. B.; Kelly, D. G.; Walker, N. M. Acta Crystallogr. 1999, C55, 1789-1791.
- 641. Berdonosov, S. S.; Kharisov, B. I.; Garnovskii, A. D. Russ. J. Coord. Chem. (Transl. of Koord. Khim.) 1995, 21, 671-673.
- 642. Biagini, P.; Calderazzo, F.; Pampaloni, G.; Francesco Zanazzi, P. Gazz. Chim. Ital. 1987, 117, 27-37.
- 643. Dattelbaum, A. M.; Martin, J. D. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 6200-6205.
- 644. Dattelbaum, A. M.; Martin, J. D. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 2369-2374.
- 645. Gauch, E.; Strahle, J. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 2000, 626, 1313-1316.
- 646. Cotton, F. A.; Lu, J.; Shang, M.; Wojtczak, W. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 4364-4369.
- 647. Chen, L.; Cotton, F. A.; Wojtczak, W. A. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1995, 34, 1877-1879.
- 648. Chen, L.; Cotton, F. A. J. Cluster Sci. 1998, 9, 63-91.
- 649. Neuhaus, A. H.; Glendening, E. D.; Streitwieser, A. Organometallics 1996, 15, 3688-3695.
- 650. Schilling, J. B.; Goddard, W. A., III; Beauchamp, J. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 5565–5573.
- 651. Liu, X.; Wu, Z.; Peng, Z.; Wu, Y.-D.; Xue, Z. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 5350-5351.
- 652. Fryzuk, M. D.; Williams, H. D. Organometallics 1983, 2, 162-164.
- 653. Fryzuk, M. D.; Love, J. B.; Rettig, S. J.; Young, V. G. Science (Washington, D. C.) 1997, 275, 1445-1447.
- 654. Basch, H.; Musaev, D. G.; Morokuma, K.; Fryzuk, M. D.; Love, J. B.; Seidel, W. W.; Albinati, A.; Koetzle, T. F.; Klooster, W. T.; Mason, S. A.; Eckert, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 523-528.
- 655. Woo, L. K.; Caulton, K. G. Chemtracts 1999, 12, 368-374.
- 656. Basch, H.; Musaev, D. G.; Morokuma, K. Organometallics 2000, 19, 3393-3403.
- 657. Averbuj, C.; Eisen, M. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 8755-8759.
- 658. King, S. A.; Schwartz, J. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 3771-3774.
- 659. Corker, J.; Lefebvre, F.; Lecuyer, C.; Dufaud, V.; Quignard, F.; Choplin, A.; Evans, J.; Basset, J.-M. Science 1996, 271, 966.
- 660. Quignard, F.; Choplin, A.; Basset, J.-M. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1994, 2411-2414.
- 661. Casty, G. L.; Matturro, M. G.; Myers, G. R.; Reynolds, R. P.; Hall, R. B. Organometallics 2001, 20, 2246-2249.
- 662. Jensen, J. A.; Gozum, J. E.; Pollina, D. M.; Girolami, G. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1988, 110, 1643-1644.
- 663. Tamami, B.; Goudarzian, N. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1994, 1079.
- 664. Hohl, D.; Roesch, N. Inorg. Chem. 1986, 25, 2711-2718.
- 665. Hitchcock, A. P.; Nguyen, H.; Werstiuk, N. H.; McGlinchey, M. J.; Ziegler, T. Inorg. Chem. 1982, 21, 793-798.
- 666. Green, J. C.; Shinomoto, R.; Edelstein, N. Inorg. Chem. 1986, 25, 2718-2720.
- 667. Villiers, C.; Ephritikhine, M. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1995, 979-980.
- 668. Shinomoto, R.; Gamp, E.; Edelstein, N. M.; Templeton, D. H.; Zalkin, A. Inorg. Chem. 1983, 22, 2351-2355.
- 669. Welling, U.; Paetzold, P.; Englert, U. *Inorg. Chim. Acta* **1995**, *231*, 175–180. 670. Broach, R. W.; Chuang, I. S.; Marks, T. J.; Williams, J. M. *Inorg. Chem.* **1983**, *22*, 1081–1084.
- 671. Fryzuk, M. D.; Rettig, S. J.; Westerhaus, A.; Williams, H. D. Inorg. Chem. 1985, 24, 4316-4325.
- 672. Paetzold, P.; Geret, L.; Boese, R. J. Organomet. Chem. 1990, 385, 1-11.
- 673. Corazza, F.; Floriani, C.; Chiesi-Villa, A.; Guastini, C. *Inorg. Chem.* **1991**, *30*, 145–148. 674. Herrmann, W. A.; Denk, M.; Scherer, W.; Klingan, F. R. *J. Organomet. Chem.* **1993**, *444*, C21–C24.
- 675. Siddiqi, K. S.; Aqra, F. M. d. A. M. d.; Shah, S. A.; Zaidi, S. A. A. Transit. Met. Chem. 1994, 19, 305-306.
- 676. Mayo, S. C.; Bown, M.; Lloyd, V. K. Acta Crystallogr. 1994, C50, 367-369.
- 677. Gozum, J. E.; Girolami, G. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 3829-3837.
- 678. Gozum, J. E.; Wilson, S. R.; Girolami, G. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 9483-9492
- 679. Bartik, T.; Happ, B.; Sorkau, A.; Thiele, K. H.; Palyi, G. Organometallics 1989, 8, 558-560.
- 680. Bartik, T.; Happ, B.; Sieker, A.; Stein, S.; Sorkau, A.; Thiele, K. H.; Kriebel, C.; Palyi, G. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1992, 608, 173-183.
- 681. Friedrich, S.; Gade, L. H.; Scowen, I. J.; McPartlin, M. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1996, 35, 1338-1341.
- 682. Gade, L. H.; Friedrich, S.; Troesch, D. J. M.; Scowen, I. J.; McPartlin, M. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 5295-5307.
- 683. Findeis, B.; Schubart, M.; Platzek, C.; Gade, L. H.; Scowen, I.; McPartlin, M. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 1996, 219-220.
- 684. Fabre, S.; Findeis, B.; Trosch, D. J. M.; Gade, L. H.; Scowen, I. J.; McPartlin, M. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 1999, 577-578.
- 685. Memmler, H.; Kauper, U.; Gade, L. H.; Scowen, I. J.; McPartlin, M. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 1996, 1751–1752.
- 686. Gade, L. H.; Memmler, H.; Kauper, U.; Schneider, A.; Fabre, S.; Bezougli, I.; Lutz, M.; Galka, C.; Scowen, I. J.; McPartlin, M. Chem.-Eur. J. 2000, 6, 692-708.

- 687. Lutz, M.; Haukka, M.; Pakkanen, T. A.; Gade, L. H. Organometallics 2001, 20, 2631-2634.
- 688. Schneider, A.; Gade, L. H.; Breuning, M.; Bringmann, G.; Scowen, I. J.; McPartlin, M. Organometallics 1998, 17, 1643-1645.
- 689. Jansen, G.; Schubart, M.; Findeis, B.; Gade, L. H.; Scowen, I. J.; McPartlin, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 7239-7251.
- 690. Schubart, M.; Mitchel, G.; Gade, L. H.; Kottke, T.; Scowen, I. J.; McPartlin, M. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 1999, 233-234
- 691. McMullen, A. K.; Rothwell, I. P.; Huffman, J. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1985, 107, 1072-1073.
- 692. Latesky, S. L.; McMullen, A. K.; Niccolai, G. P.; Rothwell, I. P.; Huffman, J. C. Organometallics 1985, 4, 1896–1898. 693. Chamberlain, L. R.; Durfee, L. D.; Fanwick, P. E.; Kobriger, L.; Latesky, S. L.; McMullen, A. K.; Rothwell, I. P.;
- Folting, K.; Huffman, J. C.; Streib, W. E.; Wang, R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 390-402.
- 694. Hardesty, J. H.; Albright, T. A.; Kahlal, S. Organometallics 2000, 19, 4159-4168.
- 695. Planalp, R. P.; Andersen, R. A.; Zalkin, A. Organometallics 1983, 2, 16-20.
- 696. Vasisht, S. K.; Sharma, R.; Goyal, V. Indian J. Chem. 1985, 24A, 37-39
- 697. Bradley, D. C.; Chudzynska, H.; Backer-Dirks, J. D. J.; Hursthouse, M. B.; Ibrahim, A. A.; Motevalli, M.; Sullivan, A. C. Polyhedron 1990, 9, 1423-1427.
- 698. Siddiqi, K. S.; Zaidi, F. R.; Khan, T. A.; Zaidi, S. A. A. Bull. Soc. Chim. Fr. 1983, 140-142.
- 699. Beshouri, S. M.; Fanwick, P. E.; Rothwell, I. P.; Huffman, J. C. Organometallics 1987, 6, 2498–2502.
- 700. Bouwkamp, M.; Van Leusen, D.; Meetsma, A.; Hessen, B. Organometallics 1998, 17, 3645-3647.
- 701. Babu, R. P. K.; McDonald, R.; Decker, S. A.; Klobukowski, M.; Cavell, R. G. Organometallics 1999, 18, 4226-4229.
- 702. Cavell, R. G.; Babu, R. P. K.; Kasani, A.; McDonald, R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 5805-5806.
- 703. Kamalesh Babu, R. P.; Cavell, R. G.; McDonald, R. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 2000, 481-482.
- 704. Aparna, K.; Babu, R. P. K.; McDonald, R.; Cavell, R. G. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 2001, 40, 4400-4402.
- 705. Babu, R. P. K.; McDonald, R.; Cavell, R. G. Organometallics 2000, 19, 3462-3465.
- 706. Karsch, H. H.; Grauvogl, G.; Kawecki, M.; Bissinger, P.; Kumberger, O.; Schier, A.; Mueller, G. Organometallics 1994, 13, 610-618.
- 707. Riley, P. E.; Abu-Dari, K.; Raymond, K. N. Inorg. Chem. 1983, 22, 3940-3944.
- 708. Khan, N. H.; Siddiqi, K. S.; Kureshy, R. I.; Tabassum, S.; Zaidi, S. A. A. Indian J. Chem. 1987, 26A, 763-765.
- 709. Siddiqi, K. S.; Tabassum, S.; Zaidi, S. A. A.; Khan, N. H.; Kureshy, R. I. Indian J. Chem. 1989, 28A, 83-85. 710. Forghieri, F.; Preti, C.; Tosi, G.; Zannini, P. Aust. J. Chem. 1983, 36, 1125-1132.
- 711. Panda, C. R.; Chakravortty, V.; Dash, K. C. Indian J. Chem. 1987, 26A, 914-918.
- 712. Adam, F. A.; El-Haty, M. T.; Amrallah, A. H.; Abdalla, N. A. Bull. Soc. Chim. Fr. 1988, 605-609.
- 713. El-Haty, M. T.; Adam, F. A.; Abdalla, N. A. Pak. J. Sci. Ind. Res. 1988, 31, 398-403.
- 714. Mahmoud, M. R.; Adam, F. A.; Yousef, K.; El-Haty, M. T. Bull. Soc. Chim. Belg. 1983, 92, 13-19.
- 715. Angadi, S. D.; Kulkarni, V. H. Asian J. Chem. 1995, 7, 50-54.
- 716. Dua, S. K.; Kapur, V.; Sahni, S. K. Croat. Chem. Acta 1984, 57, 109-118.
- 717. Verma, V.; Kher, S.; Kapoor, R. N. Transit. Met. Chem. 1983, 8, 34-36.
- 718. Verma, V.; Kher, S.; Kapoor, R. N. Croat. Chem. Acta 1983, 56, 97-102.
- 719. Kamrah, S.; Sodhi, G. S.; Kaushik, N. K. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1985, 107, 29-33.
- 720. Tarafder, M. T. H.; Khan, A. R.; Nath, B. J. Bangladesh Chem. Soc. 1988, 1, 149-154.
- 721. El-Saied, F. A.; Ayad, M. I.; Aly, S. A. Transit. Met. Chem. 1993, 18, 279–282.
 722. Yin, D.-D.; Zhai, J.-F.; Wang, Z.-W.; Shen, Y.-Q. Chin. J. Chem. 1998, 16, 473–477.
- 723. Tyagi, S. B.; Singh, B.; Kapoor, R. N. Indian J. Chem. 1987, 26A, 162-164.
- 724. Wieghardt, K.; Tolksdorf, I.; Weiss, J.; Swiridoff, W. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1982, 490, 182-190.
- 725. Mitzel, N. W.; Parsons, S.; Blake, A. J.; Rankin, D. W. H. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1996, 2089–2093.
- 726. Fleeting, K. A.; O'Brien, P.; Jones, A. C.; Otway, D. J.; White, A. J. P.; Williams, D. J. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1999, 2853-2859.
- 727. Cozzi, P. G.; Floriani, C.; Chiesi-Villa, A.; Rizzoli, C. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 2921-2930.
- 728. Matsui, S.; Mitani, M.; Saito, J.; Tohi, Y.; Makio, H.; Tanaka, H.; Fujita, T. Chem. Lett. 1999, 1263-1264.
- 729. Matsui, S.; Mitani, M.; Saito, J.; Matsukawa, N.; Tanaka, H.; Nakano, T.; Fujita, T. Chem. Lett. 2000, 554-555.
- 730. Matsui, S.; Fujita, T. Catal. Today 2001, 66, 63-73.
- 731. Matsui, S.; Mitani, M.; Saito, J.; Tohi, Y.; Makio, H.; Matsukawa, N.; Takagi, Y.; Tsuru, K.; Nitabaru, M.; Nakano, T.; Tanaka, H.; Kashiwa, N.; Fujita, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 6847–6856.
- 732. Matsukawa, N.; Matsui, S.; Mitani, M.; Saito, J.; Tsuru, K.; Kashiwa, N.; Fujita, T. J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem. 2001, 169, 99-104.
- 733. Kim, I.; Nishihara, Y.; Jordan, R. F.; Rogers, R. D.; Rheingold, A. L.; Yap, G. P. A. Organometallics 1997, 16, 3314-3323.
- 734. Tsukahara, T.; Swenson, D. C.; Jordan, R. F. Organometallics 1997, 16, 3303-3313.
- 735. Bei, X.; Swenson, D. C.; Jordan, R. F. Organometallics 1997, 16, 3282-3302.
- 736. Kakaliou, L.; Scanlon, W. J.; Qian, B.; Baek, S. W.; Smith, M. R., III; Motry, D. H. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 5964-5977
- 737. Kim, J.; Hwang, J. W.; Kim, Y.; Hyung Lee, M.; Han, Y.; Do, Y. J. Organomet. Chem. 2001, 620, 1-7.
- 738. Jones, D.; Cavell, K.; Keim, W. J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem. 1999, 138, 37-52.
- 739. Vyboishchikov, S. F.; Musaev, D. G.; Froese, R. D. J.; Morokuma, K. Organometallics 2001, 20, 309-323.
- 740. Tyagi, S. B.; Singh, B.; Kapoor, R. N. Indian J. Chem. 1985, 24A, 965-967.
- 741. Scholz, J.; Goerls, H. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 4378-4382.
- 742. Baumann, R.; Davis, W. M.; Schrock, R. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 3830-3831.
- 743. Baumann, R.; Schrock, R. R. J. Organomet. Chem. 1998, 557, 69-75.
- 744. Baumann, R.; Stumpf, R.; Davis, W. M.; Liang, L.-C.; Schrock, R. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 7822-7836.
- 745. Schrock, R. R.; Liang, L. C.; Baumann, R.; Davis, W. M. J. Organomet. Chem. 1999, 591, 163-173.
- 746. Schrock, R. R.; Schattenmann, F.; Aizenberg, M.; Davis, W. M. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 1998, 199-200.
- 747. Liang, L.-C.; Schrock, R. R.; Davis, W. M. Organometallics 2000, 19, 2526-2531.
- 748. Aizenberg, M.; Turculet, L.; Davis, W. M.; Schattenmann, F.; Schrock, R. R. Organometallics 1998, 17, 4795-4812.

- 749. Flores, M. A.; Manzoni, M. R.; Baumann, R.; Davis, W. M.; Schrock, R. R. Organometallics 1999, 18, 3220-3227.
- Schrock, R. R.; Baumann, R.; Reid, S. M.; Goodman, J. T.; Stumpf, R.; Davis, W. M. Organometallics 1999, 18, 3649–3670.
- 751. Dey, K.; Ray, S.; Bhattacharyya, P. K.; Gangopadhyay, A.; Bhasin, K. K.; Verma, R. D. J. Indian Chem. Soc. 1985, 62, 809–814.
- 752. Syamal, A.; Kumar, D. Pol. J. Chem. 1981, 55, 1747-1750.
- 753. Syamal, A.; Kumar, D. Syn. React. Inorg. Met. 1984, 14, 467-476.
- 754. Syamal, A.; Kumar, D. Indian J. Chem. 1984, 23A, 700-702.
- 755. Syamal, A.; Kumar, D. Indian J. Chem. 1985, 24A, 62-64.
- 756. Syamal, A.; Maurya, M. R. Indian J. Chem. 1985, 24A, 836–840.
- 757. Syamal, A.; Maurya, M. R. Syn. React. Inorg. Met. 1986, 16, 39-60.
- 758. Pokhariyal, G. P. J. Indian Chem. Soc. 1985, 62, 416-417.
- 759. Agarwal, S. K.; Chand, S. Asian J. Chem. 2000, 12, 843-846.
- 760. Bhagi, A. K.; Tyagi, S. B.; Singh, B.; Kapoor, R. N. Indian J. Chem. 1989, 28A, 995–997.
- 761. Mishra, P. K.; Chakravortty, V.; Dash, K. C. Transit. Met. Chem. 1991, 16, 73-75.
- 762. Stulz, E.; Leumann, C. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 1999, 239-240.
- 763. Zambrano, C. H.; McMullen, A. K.; Kobriger, L. M.; Fanwick, P. E.; Rothwell, I. P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 6565–6570.
- 764. Gauvin, R. M.; Osborn, J. A.; Kress, J. Organometallics 2000, 19, 2944-2946.
- 765. Tshuva, E. Y.; Goldberg, I.; Kol, M.; Weitman, H.; Goldschmidt, Z. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 2000, 379-380.
- 766. Shao, P.; Gendron, R. A. L.; Berg, D. J.; Bushnell, G. W. Organometallics 2000, 19, 509-520.
- 767. Shao, P.; Gendron, R. A. L.; Berg, D. J. Can. J. Chem. 2000, 78, 255-264.
- 768. Tshuva, E. Y.; Goldberg, I.; Kol, M.; Goldschmidt, Z. Organometallics 2001, 20, 3017–3028.
- 769. Taube, R.; Knoth, P. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1990, 581, 89-98.
- 770. Sharma, M. K.; Singh, A.; Mehrotra, R. C. Indian J. Chem. 2001, 40A, 568-572.
- 771. Nugent, W. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 2768-2769.
- 772. McCleland, B. W.; Nugent, W. A.; Finn, M. G. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 63, 6656-6666.
- 773. Nugent, W. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 7139-7140.
- 774. Bonchio, M.; Licini, G.; Di Furia, F.; Mantovani, S.; Modena, G.; Nugent, W. A. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 64, 1326-1330.
- 775. Licini, G.; Bonchio, M.; Modena, G.; Nugent, W. A. Pure Appl. Chem. 1999, 71, 463-472.
- 776. Sharma, M. K.; Singh, A.; Mehrotra, R. C. Syn. React. Inorg. Met. 2001, 31, 371-379.
- 777. Harben, S. M.; Smith, P. D.; Beddoes, R. L.; Collison, D.; Garner, C. D. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1997, 36, 1897–1898.
- 778. Illingsworth, M. L.; Archer, R. D. Polyhedron 1982, 1, 487-496.
- 779. Illingsworth, M. L.; Rheingold, A. L. Inorg. Chem. 1987, 26, 4312-4318.
- 780. He, L.; Wagner, S. R.; Illingsworth, M. L.; Jensen, A. J.; Yap, G. P.; Rheingold, A. L. Chem. Mater. 1997, 9, 3005–3011.
- 781. Tong, W.; Archer, R. D. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 3332-3335.
- 782. Archer, R. D.; Illingsworth, M. L.; Rau, D. N.; Hardiman, C. J. Macromolecules 1985, 18, 1371-1376.
- 783. Archer, R. D.; Wang, B. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 39-43.
- 784. Cronin, J. A.; Palmer, S. M.; Archer, R. D. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1996, 251, 81-87.
- 785. Wang, B.; Archer, R. D. Chem. Mater. 1993, 5, 317-322.
- 786. Ghose, B. N.; Bako, R. A. Acta Chim. Hung. 1987, 124, 459-465.
- 787. Tyagi, S. B.; Singh, B.; Kapoor, R. N. Transit. Met. Chem. 1987, 12, 405-407.
- 788. Raman, M.; Ramalingam, S. K.; Jeyasubramanian, K.; Shanthi, W. Indian J. Chem. 1995, 34A, 919-921.
- 789. Leung, W.-H.; Chan, E. Y. Y.; Chow, E. K. F.; Williams, I. D.; Peng, S.-M. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1996, 1229–1236.
- 790. Illingsworth, M. L.; Cleary, B. P.; Jensen, A. J.; Schwartz, L. J.; Rheingold, A. L. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1993, 207, 147–163.
- 791. Corazza, F.; Solari, E.; Floriani, C.; Chiesi-Villa, A.; Guastini, C. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1990, 1335–1344.
- 792. Tjaden, E. B.; Swenson, D. C.; Jordan, R. F.; Petersen, J. L. Organometallics 1995, 14, 371-386.
- 793. Bastianini, A.; Battiston, G. A.; Benetollo, F.; Gerbasi, R.; Porchia, M. Polyhedron 1997, 16, 1105–1110.
- 794. Solari, E.; Maltese, C.; Franceschi, F.; Floriani, C.; Chiesi-Villa, A.; Rizzoli, C. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1997, 2903–2910.
- 795. Repo, T.; Klinga, M.; Pietikaeinen, P.; Leskelae, M.; Uusitalo, A.-M.; Pakkanen, T.; Hakala, K.; Aaltonen, P.; Loefgren, B. *Macromolecules* **1997**, *30*, 171–175.
- 796. Huang, J.; Lian, B.; Yong, L.; Qian, Y. Inorg. Chem. Commun. 2001, 4, 392-394.
- 797. Woodman, P.; Hitchcock, P. B.; Scott, P. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 1996, 2735–2736.
- 798. Woodman, P. R.; Munslow, I. J.; Hitchcock, P. B.; Scott, P. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1999, 4069-4076.
- 799. Warad, D. U.; Satish, C. D.; Kulkarni, V. H.; Bajgur, C. S. Indian J. Chem. 2000, 39A, 415-420.
- 800. Tshuva, E. Y.; Goldberg, I.; Kol, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 10706-10707.
- 801. O'Connor, P. E.; Morrison, D. J.; Steeves, S.; Burrage, K.; Berg, D. J. Organometallics 2001, 20, 1153-1160.
- 802. Yadav, H. D. S.; Sengupta, S. K.; Tripathi, S. C. Syn. React. Inorg. Met. 1984, 14, 993-1003.
- 803. Singh, M.; Mathur, B. L.; Gharia, K. S.; Mehta, R. Inorg. Nucl. Chem. Lett. 1981, 17, 291-294.
- 804. Singh, M. Pol. J. Chem. 1982, 56, 393-397.
- 805. El-Haty, M. T.; Adam, F. A.; Abdalla, N. A. J. Chin. Chem. Soc. (Taipei) 1984, 31, 49-54.
- 806. Parker, D.; Pulukkody, K.; Smith, F. C.; Batsanov, A.; Howard, J. A. K. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1994, 689-693.
- 807. Lee, L.; Berg, D. J.; Bushnell, G. W. Organometallics 1997, 16, 2556-2561.
- 808. Fryzuk, M. D.; Williams, H. D.; Rettig, S. J. Inorg. Chem. 1983, 22, 863-868.
- 809. Fryzuk, M. D.; Carter, A.; Westerhaus, A. Inorg. Chem. 1985, 24, 642-648.
- 810. Danopoulos, A. A.; Edwards, P. G.; Parry, J. S.; Wills, A. R. Polyhedron 1989, 8, 1767-1769.
- 811. Fryzuk, M. D.; Carter, A.; Rettig, S. J. Organometallics 1992, 11, 469-472.

- 812. Fryzuk, M. D.; Haddad, T. S.; Rettig, S. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 8185-8186.
- 813. Fryzuk, M. D.; Haddad, T. S.; Mylvaganam, M.; McConville, D. H.; Rettig, S. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 2782-2792
- 814. Cohen, J. D.; Fryzuk, M. D.; Loehr, T. M.; Mylvaganam, M.; Rettig, S. J. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 112-119.
- 815. Fryzuk, M. D.; Love, J. B.; Rettig, S. J. Organometallics 1998, 17, 846-853.
- 816. Basch, H.; Musaev, D. G.; Morokuma, K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 5754-5761.
- 817. Schrock, R. R.; Seidel, S. W.; Schrodi, Y.; Davis, W. M. Organometallics 1999, 18, 428-437.
- 818. Kuhl, O.; Koch, T.; Somoza, F. B.; Junk, P. C.; Hey-Hawkins, E.; Plat, D.; Eisen, M. S. J. Organomet. Chem. 2000, 604. 116-125.
- 819. Daoud, K. M.; Dawood, Z. F.; Mohammad, M. A. J. Indian Chem. Soc. 1991, 68, 433-434.
- 820. Shukla, P. R.; Misra, M. Asian J. Chem. 1992, 4, 661-663.
- 821. Srivastava, B. K.; Srivastava, S. K.; Pandey, O. P.; Sengupta, S. K. Gazz. Chim. Ital. 1997, 127, 827-830.
- 822. Srivastava, B. K.; Srivastava, S. K.; Pandey, O. P.; Sengupta, S. K. Indian J. Chem. 1996, 35A, 57-59.
- 823. Tarafder, M. T. H.; Roy, S. Indian J. Chem. 1988, 27A, 407-410.
- 824. Sharma, R. N.; Pandey, R. N. Asian J. Chem. 1993, 5, 818-825.
- 825. Keshavan, B.; Seetharamappa, J. Syn. React. Inorg. Met. 1988, 18, 449-456.
- 826. Tyagi, S. B.; Singh, B.; Kapoor, R. N. *Transit. Met. Chem.* **1986**, *11*, 74–76. 827. Yadava, H. S.; Sengupta, S. K.; Tripathi, S. C. *Acta Chim. Hung.* **1987**, *124*, 217–221.
- 828. El-Haty, M. T.; Adam, F. A. Bull. Soc. Chim. Fr. 1986, 351-354.
- 829. Arjmand, F.; Tabassum, S.; Zaidi, S. A. A.; Siddiqi, K. S. Main Group Met. Chem. 1994, 17, 619-622.
- 830. Hankin, D. M.; Danopoulos, A. A.; Wilkinson, G.; Sweet, T. K. N.; Hursthouse, M. B. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1996, 1309-1321.
- 831. Graf, D. D.; Schrock, R. R.; Davis, W. M.; Stumpf, R. Organometallics 1999, 18, 843-852.
- 832. Baxter, S. M.; Wolczanski, P. T. Organometallics 1990, 9, 2498-2509.
- 833. Silver, M. E.; Chun, H. K.; Fay, R. C. Inorg. Chem. 1982, 21, 3765-3771.
- 834. Hawthorne, S. L.; Bruder, A. H.; Fay, R. C. Inorg. Chem. 1983, 22, 3368-3375.
- 835. Miyatake, T.; Mizunuma, K.; Seki, Y.; Kakugo, M. Makromol. Chem., Rapid Commun. 1989, 10, 349-352.
- 836. Agrawal, A. K.; Agrawal, S.; Agrawal, N.; Kansal, B. D. J. Chim. Chem. Soc. (Taipei) 1982, 29, 55-60.
- 837. Syamal, A.; Kumar, D. Syn. React. Inorg. Met. 1984, 14, 325-337.
- 838. Syamal, A.; Kumar, D. Indian J. Chem. 1993, 32A, 625-628.
- 839. Tandon, J. P.; Singh, R. V.; Mookerjee, M. N.; Mital, S. P. Curr. Sci. 1982, 51, 333-335.
- 840. Pandey, O. P. Syn. React. Inorg. Met. 1988, 18, 575-591.
- 841. Edwards, P. G.; Howard, J. A. K.; Parry, J. S.; Al-Soudani, A. R. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1991, 1385–1387.
- 842. Boyle, E. L.; Dodsworth, E. S.; Nicholls, D.; Ryan, T. A. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1985, 100, 281-284.
- 843. Cotton, F. A.; Diebold, M. P.; Kibala, P. A. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 27, 799-804.
- 844. Cotton, F. A.; Kibala, P. A.; Wojtczak, W. A. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1990, 177, 1-3.
- 845. Cotton, F. A.; Shang, M.; Wojtczak, W. A. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 3670-3675.
- 846. Riehl, M. E.; Wilson, S. R.; Girolami, G. S. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 218-222.
- 847. Cotton, F. A.; Wojtczak, W. A. Gazz. Chim. Ital. 1993, 123, 499-507.
- 848. Aurelio, G.; Guillermet, A. F. J. Alloys and Compds 1999, 292, 31-37.
- 849. Morse, P. M.; Wilson, S. R.; Girolami, G. S. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 3200-3202.
- 850. Rohmer, M. M.; Benard, M. Organometallics 1991, 10, 157-163.
- 851. Hoffman, D. M.; Lee, S. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 2675-2676.
- 852. Cotton, F. A.; Kibala, P. A. Polyhedron 1987, 6, 645-646.
- 853. Cotton, F. A.; Kibala, P. A. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 3192-3196.
- 854. Ellis, J. E.; Frerichs, S. R.; Chi, K. M. Organometallics 1990, 9, 2858-2859.
- 855. Cotton, F. A.; Wojtczak, W. A. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1994, 217, 187-190.
- 856. Cotton, F. A.; Kibala, P. A.; Shang, M.; Wojtczak, W. A. Organometallics 1991, 10, 2626-2630.
- 857. Cotton, F. A.; Wojtczak, W. A. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1994, 223, 93-95.
- 858. Cotton, F. A.; Kibala, P. A.; Wojtczak, W. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 1462-1463.
- 859. Ashe, A. J., III; Al-Ahmad, S.; Kampf, J. W.; Young, V. G., Jr. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1997, 36, 2014–2016.
- 860. Ashe, A. J., III; Al-Ahmad, S.; Kampf, J. W. Organometallics 1999, 18, 4234-4236.
- 861. Ashe, A. J., III; Al-Ahmad, S.; Kampf, J. W. Phosphorus, Sulfur 1997, 124-125, 295-303.
- 862. Ellis, J. E.; Chi, K. M.; DiMaio, A.; Frerichs, S. R.; Stenzel, J. R.; Rheingold, A. L.; Haggerty, B. S. Angew. Chem. 1991, 103, 196-197.
- 863. Quirk, J.; Wilkinson, G. Polyhedron 1982, 1, 209-211.
- 864. Beckhaus, R.; Thiele, K. H. J. Organomet. Chem. 1986, 317, 23-31.
- 865. Ellis, J. E.; Yuen, P.; Jang, M. J. Organomet. Chem. 1996, 507, 283-286.
- 866. Blackburn, D. W.; Chi, K. M.; Frerichs, S. R.; Tinkham, M. L.; Ellis, J. E. Angew. Chem. 1988, 100, 408-409.
- 867. Ellis, J. E.; DiMaio, A. J.; Rheingold, A. L.; Haggerty, B. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc 1992, 114, 10676–10677.
- 868. Chi, K. M.; Frerichs, S. R.; Philson, S. B.; Ellis, J. E. Angew. Chem. 1987, 99, 1203-1204.
- 869. Ellis, J. E.; Chi, K. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 6022-6025.
- 870. Jang, M.; Ellis, J. E. Angew. Chem. 1994, 106, 2036-2038.
- 871. Ehlers, A. W.; Ruiz-Morales, Y.; Baerends, E. J.; Ziegler, T. Inorg.Chem. 1997, 36, 5031-5036.
- 872. Zhou, M.; Andrews, L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 1531-1539.
- 873. Rosa, P.; Mezailles, N.; Ricard, L.; Mathey, F.; Le Floch, P. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 2000, 39, 1823-1826.

© 2003, Elsevier Ltd. All Rights Reserved

Comprehensive Coordination Chemistry II ISBN (set): 0-08-0437486

Volume 4, (ISBN 0-08-0443265); pp 105-173

No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in any retrieval system or transmitted in any form or by any means electronic, electrostatic, magnetic tape, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise, without permission in writing from the publishers

4.4 Vanadium

D. C. CRANS and J. J. SMEE Colorado State University, Fort Collins, CO, USA

4.4.1 INTRODUCTION, PERSPECTIVE, AND ORGANIZATION	176
4.4.2 VANADIUM(V)	177
4.4.2.1 Aqueous Vanadate (V^{v}) Chemistry	177
4.4.2.2 Oxygen Ligands	177
4.4.2.2.1 Monodentate, one oxygen donor	177
4.4.2.2.2 Bidentate, two oxygen donors	182
4.4.2.2.3 Bidentate, one oxygen donor	186
4.4.2.2.4 Polydentate, three or more oxygen donors	187
4.4.2.2.5 Polydentate, two oxygen donors	188
4.4.2.3 Nitrogen Ligands	193
4.4.2.3.1 Mono- and bidentate, one or two nitrogen donors	193
4.4.2.3.2 Polydentate, two or more nitrogen donors	194
4.4.2.4 Sulfur Ligands	195
4.4.2.5 Halides	195
4.4.2.6 Other Ligands	195
443 VANADIUM(IV)	196
44.3.1 Aqueous Vanadyl (V ^{IV}) Chemistry	196
4432 Oxygen Ligards	196
4.4.3.2.1 Monodentate one oxygen donor	196
1.1.3.2.1 Monouchate, one oxygen donors	190
1.1.3.2.2 Bidentate, one oxygen donor	190
4.4.3.2.4 Balydentate three or ware or year denors	200
4.4.2.25 Polydentate, three or more oxygen abouts	200
4.4.3.2. Nitragen Liganda	200
4.4.5.5 Millogen Elgands	203
4.4.3.5.1 Monodentiale, one nitrogen donor	203
4.4.5.5.2 Bidentiale, one and two nurogen donors	204
4.4.3.3.3 Polydentate, two or more nitrogen donors	204
4.4.4.4 Sulfur Ligands	206
4.4.3.5 Halides	207
4.4.3.6 Phosphorus and Other Ligands	208
4.4 VANADIUM(III)	208
4.4.4.1 Chemistry of Hydrated V ^{III} Ions	208
4.4.2 Oxygen Ligands	208
4.4.4.2.1 Monodentate, one oxygen donor	208
4.4.4.2.2 Bidentate, one or two oxygen donors	210
4.4.4.2.3 Polydentate, two or more oxygen donors	210
4.4.4.3 Nitrogen Ligands	211
4.4.4.3.1 Monodentate, one nitrogen donor	211
4.4.4.3.2 Bidentate, one or two nitrogen donors	213
4.4.4.3.3 Polydentate, two or more nitrogen donors	213
4.4.4 Sulfur Ligands	214
4.4.4.5 Halides	215
4.4.4.6 Phosphorus and Other Ligands	216
4.4.5 VANADIUM(II)	216
4.4.5.1 Oxygen Ligands	216
4.4.5.2 Nitrogen Ligands	217
4.4.5.3 Sulfur Ligands	218
4.4.5.4 Halides	219

4.4.5.5 Other Ligands	220
4.4.5.6 Mixed O-, N-, P-, and S-Donor Ligands	220
4.4.6 VANADIUM IN LOW OXIDATION STATES (BELOW +2)	221
4.4.6.1 Vanadium(I)	221
4.4.6.2 Vanadium(0)	221
4.4.6.3 Vanadium(–I)	222
4.4.7 TOPICAL SUMMARY OF PROGRESS IN VANADIUM CHEMISTRY	222
4.4.8 REFERENCES	225

4.4.1 INTRODUCTION, PERSPECTIVE, AND ORGANIZATION

Progress in the chemistry of vanadium in the IV, III, II, 0, and –I oxidation states has been exponential since the previous review on vanadium chemistry in *Comprehensive Coordination Chemistry* (*CCC*, 1987).^{1,2} This growth is now reflecting the rich complexity of aqueous vanadium chemistry under a variety of conditions (see Figure 1).³ Dramatic progress has been reported since the early 1980s, particularly in vanadium(V) chemistry, which presumably can be attributed to the fact that complexes with this oxidation state are diamagnetic and can readily be subjected to NMR analysis. Furthermore, the discovery of the haloperoxidases which involve peroxovanadium(V) compounds, the synthetic utility of some vanadium(V) complexes in catalysis and as materials, and the fact that contrary to previous expectations, vanadium(V) complexes have insulin-enhancing properties have all contributed to the rapid growth in this area of vanadium chemistry. However, progress has continued for vanadium(IV) and (III) chemistry and well over 3,000 papers have been reported since the mid-1980s for vanadium coordination chemistry as a whole. The coordination chemistry of the lower oxidation states (+2 and below), however, has failed to accumulate 100 papers over the same time period.

This review will summarize the progress in the coordination chemistry of vanadium in the V, IV, III, II, I, 0, and –I oxidation states. The coordination number of vanadium compounds varies from four to eight depending on the ligands used and the oxidation state of the metal. A number of complexes are illustrated and when one ligand type has been used the charges have been indicated (Figures 2–22, Structures 1–235). Vanadium is typically found to have distorted coordination geometries. Since the area is too large to fully do justice to all the work, we must rely on previous reviews that have described various specialized areas of vanadium chemistry. Comprehensive reviews have been reported on bioinorganic vanadium chemistry, ^{4–17} vanadium compounds as insulin-enhancing compounds, ^{18–21} peroxovanadium(V) chemistry, ²² applications of vanadium chemistry, ^{33,34} aqueous vanadate chemistry, ³⁵ vanadate as a phosphate analog and related biochemistry, ^{36,37} haloperoxidases, ^{38–40} and the modeling of nitrogenase and vanadium–nitrogenase.^{8,41,42}



Figure 1 Diagram of potential (vs. SHE) vs. pH for vanadium species present in dilute solutions. The upper and lower dashed lines represent 1 atm O₂ and 1 atm H₂, respectively (reproduced with permission from Baes and Mesmer;³ © 1976,Wiley. This material is used by permission of Wiley).

Vanadium

The organization of the main body of this review is structural in the sense that complexes are described in the order of mono-, bi- and polydentate ligands containing first O-donors, then N-donors and S-donors followed by halides and other donor atoms. The chemistry will be categorized based on the amounts of work carried out since the mid-1980s. Furthermore, since the previous review did not describe V^V chemistry, the review of this oxidation state has been made slightly more extensive. Attempts have been made to include the most significant contributions, however, in areas such as Schiff base complexes, this review focuses on a description of the diversity of vanadium compounds by the scientific community rather than a complete report of all the contributions from any particular research group. A section has been added at the end of this review with a topical perspective to enhance the coverage and usefulness of this review as a starting point for information to vanadium chemists. In view of the limited space, we refer the readers to the previous review by Vila Boras and Pessoa² and the many other reviews mentioned above because their excellent descriptions of many areas of vanadium chemistry go beyond the scope of this review.

4.4.2 VANADIUM(V)

4.4.2.1 Aqueous Vanadate (V^V) Chemistry

Vanadate in the solid state exists in four- and five-coordinate forms such as NH₄VO₃, KVO₃·2H₂O and V₂O₅.²⁷ In solution, all of these species will form oxometalates (see Figure 2) which are based on the H₂VO₄⁻ anion (1) and can be dimeric (2), trimeric (only a very minor species in a limited pH range),^{43,44} tetrameric (the major species under many conditions) (3), pentameric (4),⁴³⁻⁴⁶ plus higher forms described elsewhere in this series. Some solid state characterization of trinuclear (5),⁴⁷ tetranuclear (4)⁴⁸ and pentanuclear (6)^{45,49} species isolated from organic solvents have been reported and may be related to the species existing in aqueous solution.^{47,48} The specific species that exist (see Figure 2) are best viewed in speciation diagrams and will vary with pH, ionic strength, concentration and temperature.^{3,43-46,50} Although speciation diagrams of the simple vanadate system were reported some time ago, new studies have taken this speciation to the current level of accuracy.⁴³⁻⁴⁶ Formation constants, pK_a values and ⁵¹V NMR chemical shifts for the major V^V species in solution are shown in Table 1. Below pH 3 the anionic forms all convert to the hydrated form of VO₂⁺, which is the fundamental *cis*-dioxovanadium unit often found in vanadium(V) complexes. Line-broadening of the ⁵¹V NMR signal for VO₂⁺ has been attributed to the exchange reaction between the VO₂⁺ cation and a mixed-valence VO₂⁺ – VO²⁺complex.⁵¹ The cation VO₂⁺ is redox active and the rate law of the reaction is sensitive to the nature of the acidic medium⁵² and the reducing agent.⁵³ The H₂VO₄⁻ anion is often referred to as a phosphate analog given the structural and electronic similarities with this anion.^{9–12,29,35–37,54,55} In fact, the pK_a values for phosphate (2.1, 7.2, and 12.7) correspond closely with those of vanadate (3.5, 7.8, and 12.5).⁹ In contrast to the high stability of H₃PO₄, the existence of H₃VO₄ was previously disputed.^{45,46} Further

⁵^ΓV NMR spectroscopy is a particularly useful method for solution studies of vanadium(V) complexes. Several correlations of the shielding in vanadium(V) complexes have been reported and have been used as empirical guides to the coordination number of the vanadium.^{57–64} Application of these correlations should, however, be used cautiously. ¹⁷O NMR spectroscopy⁶⁵ and extended X-ray absorption fine structure (EXAFS) spectroscopy have been used for the characterization of solution complexes.⁶⁶ Methods including potentiometry, X-ray diffraction, and UV–visible and IR spectroscopic techniques are also widely used in the characterization of the properties of vanadium complexes. Other methods for the characterization of low-level (sub-microgram) vanadium complexes have been described.^{67,68}

4.4.2.2 Oxygen Ligands

4.4.2.2.1 Monodentate, one oxygen donor

Vanadium(V) forms complexes with monodentate ligands such as alkoxides and carboxylates. Given the analogy between $H_2PO_4^-$ and $H_2VO_4^-$, vanadium(V) alkoxides are often referred to as


Figure 2 Structural illustrations of (1–17).

esters (7-11) and complexes with carboxylic acids (12,13) are referred to as carboxylates or anhydrides.

(i) Alkoxides and phenoxides (esters)

Vanadium(V) alkoxides have been known since 1913,⁶⁹ and in Table 2 we show some of the known alkoxides, the parent alcohol, and the nature of the complex in organic solvents and in aqueous solution. Alkoxides have been prepared from methanol, ethanol, isopropanol, *t*-butanol, silsequioxanes, cyclopentanol, cyclohexanol, norborneol, adamantanol, phenol, and other alcohols (see Table 2).^{70–90} The simple complexes associate in organic solvents and dimerization in the presence of alkoxide is observed with the isopropanol complex.⁷⁰ The more sterically hindred alcohols are less reactive and do not hydrolyze completely in the presence of small amounts of water.⁷³ The first simple alkoxide to be structurally characterized was the methoxide complex (14) and the vanadium was found to be a six-coordinate dinuclear species; however, the structure of this compound did not refine very well.⁹¹ This was the first report of the diamond core $\{V-O-V-O\}$ unit, albeit associated with two six-coordinate vanadium atoms. The diamond core $\{V-O-V-O\}$ (11), which has since then been found to be a typical structural unit for these complexes, was distinctly asymmetric revealing a difference in the interactions between the two mononuclear parts of the molecule. The first monodentate alkoxide found to contain

Species	Abbreviation	$\delta ({}^{51}V)(\text{ppm})^{c}$	pK _a	<i>p</i> , <i>q</i>	$log \beta_{pq}^{\ b}$
VO4 ³⁻	V ₁	-541.2		-2.1	-21.31
HVO_4^{2-}	V_1'	-538.8	14.4	-1,1	-7.91
$H_2VO_4^-$	V_1''	-560.4	7.91	0,1	
$\overline{VO_2^+}$	-	-545		2,1	6.97
$V_2 O_7^{4-}$	V_2	-561.0		-2,2	-15.13
$HV_2O_7^{3-}$	V_2'	-563.5	9.74	1,2	-5.39
$H_2V_2O_7^{2-}$	$V_2^{\prime\prime}$	-572.7	8.29	0,2	2.90
$V_4O_{13}^{6-}$		$-566 \text{ to } -585^{\text{d}}$		-2,4	-8.5
$HV_4O_{13}^{5-}$		$-566 \text{ to } -585^{\text{d}}$	8.9	-1,4	0.4
$V_4O_{12}^{4-}$	V_4	-577.6		0,4	10.04
$V_5O_{15}^{5-}$	V_5	-586.0		0,5	12.43
$V_{10}O_{28}^{6-}$	V_{10}	-422, -496, -513		4,10	51.98
$HV_{10}O_{28}^{5-}$	V_{10}'	-424, -500, -516	6.14	5,10	58.12
$H_2V_{10}O_{28}^{4-}$	$V_{10}^{\prime\prime}$	-425, -506, -524	3.68	6,10	61.80
$H_3V_{10}O_{28}^{3-}$	V_{10}'''	-427, -515, -534	1.57	7,10	63.37

Table 1	Stoichiometry, formation constants, pK_a values and ⁵¹ V NMR chemical shifts for the major V
	species in aqueous solution (ionic strength $= 0.6 \text{ M NaCl}$). ^a

^a Data is taken from ref. 45. ^b $\log \beta$ for the equilibrium $pH^+ + qH_2VO_4^- (H^+)_p(H_2VO_4^-)_q$. ^c Relative to VOCl₃. ^d A value within the indicated range has been reported.

five-coordinate vanadium was the 2-chloroethoxide derivative, which has a diamond core unit.⁷⁸ Mononuclear complexes have only been observed with sterically hindered, monodentate ligands such as cyclopentanol^{71,74,87} and phenol^{90,92} (see Table 2). Four-coordinate oxovanadium alkoxides have been prepared from monodentate alkoxides, including oxovanadium *t*-butyl,^{69,73,78,84,88,89,93} adamantyl⁷⁴ and norbornyl⁷⁴ alkoxides (see Table 2). Examples of such complexes that have been structurally characterized involve aryloxide⁹⁴ and trisilyloxide⁷² as ligands. Recently, the X-ray structure of tris(2,6-diisopropylphenoxo)oxovanadium(V) was reported to show a four-coordinate V^V center.⁸¹

In many cases the charged mono- and dialkoxides have been observed in aqueous solution and are often described as monoesters, and diesters.^{73,93,95–100} These esters form upon mixing vanadate with alcohol in aqueous solution⁹⁵ and are characterized with ⁵¹V NMR spectroscopy. The low stability of these esters precludes characterization with other routine methods. The formation constants for aliphatic and aromatic alcohols in aqueous solution are very small, typically about 0.2 M^{-1} for the formation of alkyl esters^{73,93,95–99} and about 1.0 M^{-1} for phenyl and tyrosyl vanadate esters.⁹² The formation of vanadate tyrosinate moieties by vanadylation of protein tyrosine hydroxyls may have some significance in cell signaling.¹⁰¹ The phenoxide complex with the stabilizing tris(pyrazolyl)borate ligand (tpb) has been made as a model complex for the active site of bromoperoxidase.¹⁰²

Stabilizing the vanadium with auxiliary ligands makes it possible to form complexes with various functionalities including the alkoxy functionality. Such classes of ligands include pyrazolyl borates $(15)^{102}$ and Schiff bases, and will be described in the appropriate multidentate ligand section.

(*ii*) Carboxylates (anhydrides)

The complexes derived from simple monodentate carboxylates are not stable, and only one mononuclear complex with a sterically hindered carboxylate has been successfully isolated, $[VO(O_2C^tBu)_3]$ (13).¹⁰³ Attempts to prepare carboxylates in organic solvents often led to the formation of oligomeric cluster compounds with a variety of interesting structural types.¹⁰³ In aqueous solutions, these vanadium complexes appear to contain six-coordinate vanadium.^{60,104} Even carbonate has been found to form a weak vanadium(V) complex in solution.¹⁰⁵

Even carbonate has been found to form a weak vanadium(V) complex in solution.¹⁰⁵ Weak complexes form between vanadate and phosphate,^{59,99} pyrophosphate,⁵⁹ arsenate,⁵⁹ and chromate.¹⁰⁶ The formation constant for the simple phosphovanadate is about 20 M^{-1} .⁹⁹ Structural characterization has been reported for interesting cluster structures of vanadium with organophosphonates¹⁰⁷ and with sulfate.¹⁰⁸ Divanadium(V) complexes with either monodentate or bidentate nitrate (NO₃⁻) groups have been reported.¹⁰⁹

Table 2 Known alkoxide, d	lialkoxide, aryloxide, diaryloxide,	and dicarboxylate vanadium(V) complexes at systems.	nd their characterization in both or	rganic and aqueous solvent
Ligand	Species in organic solvents	Organic solvents (references)	Species in aqueous solution	Aqueous solution (references)
НОСН3	[V0(0CH ₃) ₃]	EA, X-ray, ¹ H, ⁵¹ V NMR (69,82–84,91)	$[VO_2(OH)(OCH_3)]^-,$ $[VO_2(OCH_3)_2]^-$	⁵¹ V NMR (99)
HOCH ₂ CH ₃	[V0(0CH ₂ CH ₃) ₃]	EA, ¹ H, ¹³ C, ⁵¹ V NMR (69,82,83,85)	$[VO_2(OH)(OCH_2CH_3)]^-,$ $[VO_2(OCH_2CH_3)_2]^-$	⁵¹ V NMR (73,95)
HOCH(CH ₃) ₂	[VO(OCH(CH ₃) ₂) ₃] [VOCl(OCH(CH ₃) ₂) ₂] [VOCl ₂ (OCH(CH ₃) ₂)] [VO(OCH(CH ₃) ₂) ₄]	EA, ¹ H, ⁵¹ V NMR (70,82-84)	[VO ₂ (OH)(OCH(CH ₃) ₂)] ⁻ , [VO ₂ (OCH(CH ₃) ₂) ⁻] ⁻	⁵¹ V NMR (73,93)
HOC(CH ₃) ₃	[VO(OC(CH ₃) ₃) ₃]	EA, ¹ H, ¹³ C, ⁵¹ V NMR (69,78,84,88,89)	$[VO_2(OH)(OC(CH_3)_3)]^-$ $[VO_2(OC(CH_3)_3)_2]^-$	⁵¹ V NMR (73,93)
HOCH ₂ CH ₂ Cl	[VO(OCH ₂ CH ₂ CI) ₃]	EA, X-ray, ⁵¹ V NMR (78)	[VO ₂ (OH)(OCH ₂ CH ₃)] ⁻	⁵¹ V NMR (73)
Cyclopentanol (C ₅ H ₉ OH)	[VO(OC ₅ H ₉) ₃] [VO(OC ₅ H ₉) ₃] ₂	X-ray, ¹ H, ¹³ C, ⁵¹ V NMR (71,74,87)	[VO ₂ (OH)(OC ₅ H ₉)] ⁻	⁵¹ V NMR (87)
Cyclohexanol	[VO(OC ₆ H ₁₁) ₃]	EA, ¹ H, ⁵¹ V NMR (74,82,84)	NA	NA
Adamantanol	$[VO(OC_{10}H_{15})_3]$	EA, ¹ H, ¹³ C, ⁵¹ V NMR (74)	NA	NA
(C ₁₀ H15UH) Norborneol (C ₇ H ₁₁ OH)	[VO(OC ₇ H ₁₁) ₃]	EA, ¹ H, ¹³ C, ⁵¹ V NMR (74)	NA	NA
Phenol (C ₆ H ₅ OH)	[VO(OPh) ₃]	EA (90)	$H[VO_3(OC_6H_5)]^-$ $[VO_2(OC_6H_5)_2]^-$	⁵¹ V NMR (92)
2,6-diisopropyl-phenol (C ₁₂ H ₁₇ OH)	$[VO(OC_6H_3Pr^1_2-2,6)_3]$	EA, IR, ¹ H, ⁵¹ V NMR, X-ray (81)	NA	NA
HOSiPh ₃ (C ₁₈ H ₁₅ SiOH)	$[VO(OSiPh_3)_3]$	EA, IR, ¹ H NMR, X-ray (72,86)	NA	NA

Ethanediol (ethylene glycol)	1:2 for both [VO ₂] and [VOCI] units	EA, ¹ H, ¹³ C, ¹⁷ O, ⁵¹ V NMR (112,113,126)	1:2 ^a	⁵¹ V NMR (97)
Pinacol (C ₆ H ₁₄ O ₂)	1:2 for [VOCI] unit	EA, X-ray, ¹ H, ¹³ C, ⁵¹ V NMR (55)	NA	NA
1,2-Cyclohexanediol (C ₆ H ₁₂ O ₂)	NA	NA	2:2	⁵¹ V NMR (110)
Sugars	NA	ΝΑ	2:2	EA, X-ray, ¹ H, ¹³ C, ⁵¹ V NMR (110,121)
Adenosine	1:2	EA, X-ray, ¹ H, ⁵¹ V NMR (115)	2:2 ^a	¹ H, ¹³ C, ⁵¹ V NMR (100,111,116,119,122)
Cytidine	NA	NA	2:2 ^a	¹ H, ¹³ C, ⁵¹ V NMR (116,119)
Guanosine	NA	NA	2:2ª	¹ H, ⁵¹ V NMR (119)
Inosine	NA	NA	2:2	¹ H, ⁵¹ V NMR (54)
Uridine	NA	NA	2:2 ^a	¹ H, ¹³ C, ⁵¹ V NMR (116,117,119)
Glyceric acid (C ₃ H ₆ O ₄)	NA	NA	1:1, 1:2 ^b	⁵¹ V NMR (60)
Oxalic acid (C ₂ H ₂ O ₄)	NA	NA	2:1 ^a	⁵¹ V NMR (60)
Ethylhydroxybutanoic acid (C ₆ H ₁₂ O ₃)	NA	NA	2:2	X-ray, IR, ¹ H, ¹³ C, ⁵¹ V NMR (120)
Catechol (C ₆ H ₆ O ₂)	[VO (C ₆ H ₄ (O)OH) ₃] ^c	EA (90)	NA	NA
^a 1:1 complex is a minor species in s	olution. ^b 2:2 complex is observed as	a minor product. ^c Ligand is readily oxidized.		

4.4.2.2.2 Bidentate, two oxygen donors

(i) Alkoxide ligands

Four-coordinate vanadium complexes (7,8,10) are structural models of the ground state product of phosphate ester hydrolysis while five-coordinate vanadium complexes (9,11) are structural models of the transition state. Vanadate reacts with 1,2-diols to form several products the major of which is a 2:2 complex (11)^{97,110–113} (although one report has appeared to the contrary¹¹⁴). The structure of this basic unit has been characterized for a number of different diols both in the solid state and in solution (see Table 2). The 2:2 complex is significantly stabilized when the vanadium is complexed to the *cis*-coplanar arrangement of the 2',3'-hydroxyls in a ribose ring or cyclohexane diols,¹¹⁰ in pyranose forms of various protected monosaccharides¹¹⁰ and in nucleosides.^{54,73,115–117} The structure of these complexes is of interest because vanadate is a much more potent inhibitor for ribonuclease in the presence of a nucleoside¹¹⁸ and complex formation is anticipated. Although the 2:2 complex is most stable, the complex binding to the enzyme is likely to be a 1:1 vanadium–nucleoside complex. Ternary ligands such as tris(hydroxymethyl)aminomethane¹¹⁹ and imidazole⁷³ have been shown to effectively compete with the formation of the 2:2 complexes and generate stable vanadate–nucleoside–ligand complexes in aqueous solution. It is possible that the ribonucleoside in the vanadate–nucleoside–ribonuclease moiety is a stabilizing ternary ligand.

The first structural model complex for the ribonuclease system employed pinacol as a ligand;⁵⁵ several examples of this type of system, each focusing on different aspects of the complex, have now appeared.^{115,120,121} The vanadium is five-coordinate with the diamond core {V-O-V-O} motif forming in all of these complexes (11).¹¹⁵ Spectroscopic evidence suggests that the dimerization constant is on the order of $10^6 M^{-1}$ or $10^7 M^{-1}$ and accordingly the 1:1 species will exist in comparably low concentrations regardless of its formation constant.¹²² Mono- and dinuclear complexes form with Schiff base ligands and serve to mimic the presumed transition state of vanadium complexes in ribonuclease.¹²³ Other systems are models for the nitrogenase active site and the reactivities of these complexes with cysteine and other biometabolites have been investigated.¹²⁴

Oxovanadium(V) alkoxides have also been reported with bidentate alkoxy ligands. A ligand such as tris(pyrazolyl)borate $(15)^{125}$ can be used to help stabilize these complexes. The isolated ethylenediol compound does not contain the diamond core motif even though the complex is dinuclear (10).¹²⁶ Ab initio and electrostatic calculations were done on the pinacol and ethylenediol complexes⁷⁶ to investigate this structural preference. Relatively few simple complexes have been reported with diols (excluding the 1,2-diols) because they typically form oligomeric species such as that from 1,3-propanediolate;¹²⁷ however, an appropriately chosen ternary ligand will promote complex formation.^{77,128-130} A monomeric complex was, however, found for an aryl-oxide with a C4-fragment (extending over two phenyl groups) between the OH groups.⁹⁴

The aqueous speciation of the vanadate–maltol system has been characterized, describing complexes which chelate the vanadium(V) in a bidentate manner (16,17).¹³¹ The formation of the corresponding vanadium(V) complex of 2-hydroxycyclohexanone (analogous to 17) has been proposed as an intermediate in the oxidation of cyclohexanone.¹³² Squaric acid forms a series of mono- and dinuclear complexes with vanadium(IV) and (V).¹³³ Subtle differences in the structure are observed depending on the oxidation state of the vanadium, and are induced by the rigid ligand structure.

(ii) Carboxylates

⁵¹V NMR spectroscopic studies have been carried out with simple dicarboxylates and simple mixed alkoxide–carboxylate systems.⁶⁰ The complexes that form are generally stable in the acidic pH range. Recent investigations employ a combination of both solid state¹²⁴ and solution studies, and provide benchmark data for one of the classes of α -hydroxycarboxylate complexes which form in aqueous solution (VL⁻, VL₂⁻, V₂L₂²⁻, and V₃L₂⁻).⁹⁸

and provide benchmark data for one of the classes of α -hydroxycarboxylate complexes which form in aqueous solution (VL⁻, VL₂⁻, V₂L₂²⁻, and V₃L₂⁻).⁹⁸ A number of ternary complexes with simple dicarboxylic acid complexes supported by other ligands have been reported. These include the mixed valence V^{IV,V} complex with 2,2'-bipyridine (bpy) as the supporting ligand¹³⁴ and the dinuclear vanadium(V) oxalate-bridged complex.¹³⁵ The structure-reactivity relationship in the redox series V^{V,IV,III} chelated to 2-ethyl-2-hydroxybutanate

differs from that which is observed for $Cr^{V,IV,III}$.¹³⁶ The structural change observed between the V^{IV,III} are consistent with the expected change between oxidation states IV and III.¹³⁶ Vanadium-(IV) and (V) complexes with oxyoxime have been characterized in solution using EXAFS spectroscopy.⁶⁶

(iii) Catechol complexes

Vanadium complexes with catechols have been of interest to chemists^{80,98} due to the catalytic properties of such complexes,^{137,138} and the possible involvement of catecholate complexes in the tunicate accumulation and reduction of vanadium.^{40,63,139,140} Several new vanadium(V) catecholate complexes have been reported. Of particular interest are the non-oxovanadium(V) complexes with 2,2'-bipyridine and 1,10-phenanthroline (phen) serving as auxiliary ligands.¹⁴¹

(iv) Peroxovanadium complexes

Peroxovanadium complexes are among the most versatile vanadium complexes with regard to both structure and reactivity. In aqueous solution, a number of peroxovanadium(V) complexes are produced, including mono-, bis-, tris- and tetraperoxo complexes. Their reactivities have been investigated.²² A number of these complexes have been structurally characterized (Table 3).^{22,142} Mononuclear vanadium complexes have been described and contain one O_2^{2-} unit (18–23),^{143–167} two O_2^{2-} units (24–26),^{168–183} three O_2^{2-} units (27)^{174,184} and four O_2^{2-} units (28).¹⁸⁵ Binuclear complexes include ones with two (29–31),^{186–194} three (32,35),^{195,196} and four O_2^{2-} units (33–35).^{197–202} Their catalytic properties are of great interest because of their role in the oxidation catalyzed by haloperoxidases,^{38,39} and their unsurpassed activation of insulin receptor-mediated protein phosphorylation.²¹ In addition, some peroxo hetero ligand vanadate complexes have shown anti-tumor activity.²⁰³

In the absence of reducing substrates, diperoxovanadium(V) compounds are generally hydrolytically quite stable in the neutral and slightly alkaline pH ranges. Although most reported complexes contain one $O_2^{2^-}$ unit, the diperoxovanadium complexes (24–26) are the most stable under a range of conditions.^{204,205} Compounds with O- and N- donor ligands make up the bulk of the monoperoxovanadium(V) complexes (18–23). These ligands include *N*-(carbamoylmethyl)iminodiacetate, ^{162,164} histidine and derivatives, ^{160,206} glycine,²⁰⁷ and 3,5-dimethylpyrazole.²⁰⁶ Peroxovanadates in aqueous solution coordinate a large number of ancillary ligands, including substituted carboxylic acids, ^{181,208,209} amino acids,²¹⁰ peptides, ^{143,211} nicotinic acid,²¹² and nucleosides²¹³ to form both mono- and bisperoxovanadium–ligand complexes. These types have been studied even more extensively than the parent systems because of their favorable catalytic properties and their potent insulin-enhancing properties. The phenanthroline diperoxovanadium(V) complex has been reported to cleave DNA.²¹⁴ A few mono- and dinuclear complexes have been reported with all O-donors as the supporting ligand in addition to the $O_2^{2^-}$ unit.^{194,215}

The dinuclear peroxo complexes exhibit an additional level of complexity (29–35). Their compositions are closely tied to the denticity of the coordinating ligand: bidentate and tridentate ligands tend to form complexes with a V: O_2^{2-} ratio of 1:1,^{186–194} whereas more complex systems form with monodentate ligands^{195,197–202} (see Table 3). ¹H and ⁵¹V NMR spectroscopic studies report the first dinuclear peroxovanadium complex containing an oxovanadium center on one of the vanadium atoms.²¹⁵ Interesting oligomeric systems include a tetranuclear vanadium(V) complex with eight peroxo groups.²¹⁶

Aqueous-methanolic vanadate solutions (acidified by HClO₄) in the presence of hydrogen peroxide will mimic the reaction of the vanadium bromoperoxidase enzyme.²¹⁷ Mechanistic studies are in general complicated by the light- or metal ion-initiated disproportionation of peroxovanadium(V) centers which leads to the release of oxygen and water. However, peroxovanadates complexed to ternary ligands in aqueous solution are, in general, even better oxidants. Numerous studies have been carried out with simple systems, both on the complexation of vanadate by hydrogen peroxide^{29,40,204,217-224} and on the oxidative reactivity of the peroxovanadium complexes formed.²²⁵ Studies on various peroxo complexes^{29,40,226,227} show that these complexes also are competent to alkylate,²²⁸ iodinate^{165,166,229,230} and brominate.^{205,231} Mechanistic studies with the parent system²²⁴ and with a series of tetradentate ligands (including *N*,*N*-bis(2-pyridylmethyl)glycine, *N*-(2-pyridylmethyl)imidodiacetic acid, *N*-(2-amidomethyl)iminodiacetic acid and nitrilotriacetic

		monda igound is an is commentation in and in is	a cumacione de la como	compress.	
Peroxo ligands	CN	Other $ligand(s)^{a}$	Ligand denticity	Structural illustration ^b	References
1	6	Glycylglycine	3	18	143
1	7c	Iminodiacetic acid	Э	19	144
_	Γ	Picolinic acid, $H_2O \times 2/Bipyridine$, Fluoride $\times 2/Phenanthroline$, $H_2O \times 2$	2,1,1	20	145-147
_	٦	Oxalic acid × 2/Bipyridine × 2/ Phenanthroline × 2/Picolinic acid, Bipyridine/Picolinic acid × 2/ Picolinic acid, Phenanthroline/ Pyrazine-2-carboxylic acid × 2	2,2	21	147–151
_	7	Dipicolinicacid,H ₂ O/1-(2-pyridylazo-)- 2-naphthol,pyridine/ Tris(3,5- diisopropyl-pyrazol-1-yl)borate, H ₂ O	3,1	22	152–154
_	7	Nitrilotriacetic acid (4 structures)/ D,L- <i>N</i> -Carboxymethyl-histidine/ Ethylenediamine-tetraacetic acid(2 structures)/ <i>N</i> -(carbamoylethyl)- iminodiacetatic acid (2 structures)/ <i>N</i> -(carbamoylmethyl)-iminodi- acetatic acid (2 structures)/ <i>N</i> -(2- hydroxyethyl)-iminodiacetic acid/ <i>N</i> , <i>N</i> -bis(2-pyridylmethyl)- <i>β</i> -alanine <i>N</i> , <i>N</i> -bis(2-pyridylmethyl)- <i>β</i> -alanine	4	53	155-167
2	Q	Ammonia/Fluoride (2 structures)/ Fluoride°/Imidazole	1	24	168–172
2	7	Fluoride $\times 2$	1,1	25	173

Table 3 Summary of the structural features of the crystallographically characterized peroxo complexes.^{a,b}

7	٦	Oxalic acid (3 structures)/Carbonate/ Bipyridine (4 structures)/Picolinic acid/3-hydroxy-picolinic acid/2,4- pyridine dicarboxylic acid/3- acetatoxy-picolinic acid/5-nitro- phenanthroline	7	26	174–183
3	7	Hydroxide/Fluoride ^{d,c}	1	27	174,184
4	8	NA	NA	28	185
7	6,6	Glycolic acid $\times 2/D$ -lactic acid, L-lactic acid (2 structures)/L-lactic acid $\times 2/M$ and elic acid $\times 2$	2,2	29	186–189
2	$7,7$ or $6,6^{f}$	Citric acid (2 structures)/Malic acid (4 structures)	3,3	30	190–193
2	7,7	L-tartaric acid $\times 2$, H ₂ O(L')	2,2,1	31	194
3	7,7	Fluoride ×3	1, 1, 1	32	195
4	6,6	H ₂ O (3 structures)	Π	33	197–199
4	7,7	Oxide (2 structures)/Hydroxide	П	34	200-202
З	7,7	PO_4	2	35	196
^a The ligand sets of each structure same complex appear in parenthese	e are separated by a '/'. If two (c s. ^b The key to the structura	r three) of the same ligands are present in a given structure, then the nu illustrations is shown in Figure 3. ^c The complex forms an extended	umber of such ligands is denoted by ed array with an adjacent V=O gro	1×2 or $\times 3$; the number of struction serving as the seventh ligar	ctures of th nd. ^d Th

structure drawn is derived from diffraction data that is only refined to R = 0.25. ^e The complex crystallizes as polymeric chains linked by weak interactions between a carboxylate oxygen and an adjacent vanadium center. ^f The terminal carboxylate oxygens trans to the doubly bonded oxo ligands weakly interact with the vanadium (V-O_{carboxylate} distance of $\sim 2.5 \text{ Å}$).



Figure 3 Structural illustrations of vanadium peroxo compounds (18–35). The charges are given for structure types in which all the complexes have the same charge. For structure types that have differently charged ligands, no charge is given.

acid) showed that peroxide binds to a protonated form of the vanadium complex in an associative manner followed by the loss of hydroxide or water.²³² These studies were supported by recent investigations of the reaction of phenol red with simple peroxovanadates which suggested that the active species is the vanadium complex.²³³

The first evidence for activation of exogenous O_2 on a vanadium(IV) center was obtained recently.¹⁵⁴ The reaction of vanadium(IV) hydroxo tris(3,5-diisopropylpyrazol-1-yl)borate with O_2 resulted in the corresponding peroxo complex, which was structurally characterized and found to belong to the class of compounds illustrated in (22).¹⁵⁴

4.4.2.2.3 Bidentate, one oxygen donor

Complexes of isoelectronic analogs of the peroxo ligand, mono-deprotonated hydroxylamines (NH_2O^-) and hydroxamic acids $(RC(=O)NHO^-)$ have been characterized. The Wieghardt group studied several of these complexes more than two decades ago.^{234–237} Since then the reaction of vanadate with hydroxylamine was investigated in aqueous solution,^{238,239} and the structural characterization of several derivatives illustrates the rich coordination chemistry of these complexes.²⁴⁰ Interestingly, with monodentate ligands, the NH₂ groups are coordinated cis (**36**), but when the auxiliary ligand is bidentate, the O⁻ groups are *cis* (**37**).²⁴⁰ Differences in reactivity between the hydroxylamido and peroxo complexes are observed with sulfur-containing ligands such as cysteine.²⁴¹ Alkylated hydroxylamido vanadium(IV) complexes have been of

long-standing interest due to the occurrence of the natural product amavadine.^{242–247} Although the natural product contains V^{IV}, the corresponding V^V complexes have also been reported.^{4,6,243,244} Vanadium complexes with hydroxylamido ligands have been shown to be potent inhibitors of several protein tyrosine phosphatases.²⁴⁸

Simple complexes of hydroxamic acids with vanadium(V) have been reported, including ones with a variety of nuclearities.^{249,250} A wide range of *N*-substituted mono- and dihydroxamic acids undergo oxygen abstraction upon reaction with V^{III} and V^{IV} to form V^V hydroxamate complexes and the respective amides and diamides.²⁵¹

A variety of other NO donor ligands including pyrazine-2-carboxylate, *o*-amino-benzoate, picolinate and pyrazine-2-carboxylate have been prepared and their roles in catalysis discussed.¹⁵¹ Amino acids and aminoethanol ligands only form weak complexes with vanadate.²⁵² However, simple amino acids have been investigated in detail.^{210,253} With glycine (gly), potentiometric experiments suggest that two types of complexes form, $[VO_2(gly)]$ and $[VO_2(gly)_2]^{-}$.²⁵³ The carbonyl amide oxygen binds to the vanadium center in organic solvents, and a series of these complexes have been structurally characterized.²⁵⁴ Quinolate forms strong complexes with vanadate and a variety of complexes have been reported.^{255,256} Complexes with a chiral alkoxide/ quinolate ligand give rise to the observation of diastereomers.²⁵⁶

4.4.2.2.4 Polydentate, three or more oxygen donors

Relatively few complexes with this type of polydentate ligand have been reported. Citrate is found to form a dinuclear complex with the diamond core $\{V-O-V-O\}$.^{190,191,257,258} A mixed valence $V^V-V^{IV}-V^V$ trinuclear complex has been reported with quinic acid.²⁵⁹ This compound contains one diamond core $\{V-O-V-O\}$ bridged by an ethylenediol unit and a second one bridged by propylenediol.²⁵⁹ It also features a distorted six-membered ring, propylenediol moiety (i.e., a metallo-1,3-diol chelate ring) that has remained elusive in aqueous solution. Another ligand used by several groups is tris(hydroxylmethyl)methane. The resulting complexes are usually polynuclear as seen in the isolated tetramers²⁶⁰ and decamers.²⁶¹ The use of this ligand has revealed important information on the redox chemistry of these oxovanadate clusters.²⁶¹

The natural product amavadine and its derivatives continue to generate interest due to their unique structures and reactivities. Besides the tetraperoxovanadium(V) complex,¹⁸⁵ these compounds are the only known octacoordinate vanadium(V) complexes. New analogs continue to be reported, such as complexes of *meso-2*,2'-(hydroxyimino)dibutyric acid.²⁴³ The properties of the parent amavadine and analogs have been examined leading to the structural characterization of both monomeric²⁴³ and cluster type derivatives containing vanadium(V).²⁴³

The solid-state and solution chemistry of triethanolamine complexes has been investigated. While the solid-state structure was maintained in organic solvent (**38**), a different structure was observed in aqueous solution.²⁶² ¹⁷O NMR spectroscopy was used to demonstrate that the two oxo groups were different and in combination with ¹H and ¹³C NMR data, defined the structure as (**39**).²⁶² Speciation studies and a detailed characterization of this class of compounds were important because the ligand is a commonly used buffer in biology and the complexes are model systems for interactions with proteins.^{61,263} The thermodynamic parameters were determined for several derivatized diethanolamine ligand–vanadium(V) complexes, and represent some of the few vanadium complexes for which such parameters are known.⁶² The structure of (nitrilotriacetato)dioxovanadate was reinvestigated.²⁶⁴



Figure 4 Structural illustrations of (36–39).

4.4.2.2.5 Polydentate, two oxygen donors

Vanadium(V) complexes with derivatives of di- and triethanolamine (see also above)^{61,62,252,262,265,266} and 1,1,1-tris(hydroxymethyl)aminomethane derivatives^{266–268} are examples of complexes formed from simple O- and N- donor ligands. A series of vanadium(V) complexes with substituted diethanolamine ligands were found to show a pH-dependent stability.^{252,263} Corresponding pyridine carboxylates or alkoxides have also been successfully investigated.^{265,269} In contrast to the five-coordinate complexes with triethanolamine, substitution of one hydroxyl group with a carboxylate group leads to six-coordinate complexes. Complexes in which the hydroxyl groups have been substituted with carboxylate groups, a carboxyamide, amino, pyridine, benzimidazole and imidazole groups have also been reported.²⁷⁰ By condensation of two such functionalities, extensive polydentate ligand frameworks result; such ligands lead to complexes of higher nuclearities, (e.g., tetranuclear).²⁷¹ Some of these complexes are chiral.^{262,265} Others are linked by sodium cations in the solid state structures.²⁶⁹ Vanadium(V) complexes with 2,2'-thiobis(4-methyl-6-tert-butylphenol) were prepared and the alkoxide or hydroxide dimers were structurally characterized.²⁷²

(i) Schiff base ligands

Schiff base complexes continue to intrigue chemists with regard to structure and reactivity. Their geometries are strongly influenced by the ligands and tend to be five- or six-coordinate. Monoand dinuclear complexes are the most prevalent (40–67 in Figure 5 and Table 4) and examples have been isolated with oxidation states V^{V} , 77,123,128,268,273–310 V^{IV} , 275–277,284,295,296,298,305,311–360 and V^{III} , 322,328,361–369 In this section progress with vanadium(V) systems is highlighted (43–46,48– 50,54,55,57,59,63,64 in Figure 5 and Table 4). Compounds of simple aromatic aldehydes and ketones with a range of diamines including aliphatic amines (54, 55), ^{277,298} ethanolamines (48)²⁶⁸ and simple amino acids²⁸⁹ are known. Schiff base complexes with ethanolamines have higher aqueous stabilities compared to others (*vide infra*).²⁶⁸ Alkoxo-rich Schiff bases of potentially tri-, tetra- and pentadentate alcohols such as 2-amino-2-methylpropan-1-ol, quinoline, triethanolamine, tris(hydroxymethyl)-aminomethane and *N*-[tris(hydroxymethyl)methyl]glycine have been reported.^{266,370,371} Dioxovanadium(V) complexes of *N*,*N*-bis(2-pyridylmethyl)-glycine, N-(2-pyridylmethyl)imidodiacetic acid, *N*-(2-amidomethyl)iminodiacetic acid and nitrilotriacetic acid were characterized and their reactions with hydrogen peroxide investigated.²³²

The electrochemistry of dinuclear vanadium o-N-salicylideneamino-ethylphenyl complexes were investigated.³⁷² Conversion of V^{IV}–V^{IV} dimers to V^V–V^V dimers was reported and serves as a representative model system for oxidation reactions.^{294,296} A related class of these dinuclear complexes form mixed valence vanadium(IV/V) complexes upon oxidation and exhibit an unusual electron delocalization over the {V₂O₃}³⁺ core.³¹⁰ A V^{III}–V^{IV} mixed valent, dinuclear bis(salicy-lidene)ethylenediamine (salen) complex underwent multielectron oxidation with dioxygen to yield a V^V–V^{IV} mixed valence complex.³⁰²

Schiff base complexes have been extensively used to mimic the molecular reaction of bromoperoxidases by treating the pre-formed complex with hydrogen peroxide.^{276,277,282} Decreasing the imine hydrolysis of the Schiff ligand base by reducing the imine functionality to an amine functionality promised to extend the lifetime of applications of this class of compounds. A series of such vanadium complexes have been prepared and evaluated;³⁷³ they are very stable in aqueous solution, but so stable that they fail to exhibit the desired bromoperoxidase activity.³⁷³ The reactions of these Schiff base complexes with L-ascorbic acid or L-cysteine ethyl ester were investigated.³⁷¹ Employing these types of complexes as catalysts for the selective epoxidation of olefins was reported to give yields ranging from 40% to 98%.³⁷⁴

New complexes containing azo- and hydrazinato-derivatized Schiff base ligands^{298,375} continue to be used for the analytical determination of vanadium.³⁷⁶ The vanadium complex was characterized for the Schiff base derived from the condensation reaction of benzoyl acetone and Girard's reagent P.³⁷⁷ Azophenolates of mononuclear and mixed valence dinuclear species have been reported.³⁷⁸ Naphthanol- or quinolinol-derivatized ligands prefer to chelate iron over vanadium.³⁷⁹

The first example of a μ -oxo-bis(μ -carboxylato)dioxovanadium(IV,V) complex has been reported (68).³⁸⁰ Coupling reactions have been used in the preparation of ligands containing amide groups. One condensation reaction led to the first structurally characterized, deprotonated vanadium(V)–amide product (69).³⁸¹ This coordination mode was later observed for other amide



Figure 5 Structural illustrations of (40–67). Structures 43–46, 48–50, 54, 55, 57, 59, 63, 64 contain V^V. The charges are given for structures and for structure types in which all the complexes have the same charge. For structure types that have differently charged ligands, no charge is given.

ligands³⁵⁴ including those forming complexes in aqueous solution (70).^{382–384} Extensive ligand frameworks were designed and the inclusion of an imidazole moiety was found to lead to very versatile ligands. A six-coordinate complex formed with the 4-(2-(salicylideneamino)ethyl)imidazole ligand and was the first reported vanadium(V)–imidazole complex (71).³⁸⁵ A similarly constructed histidine–vanadium(V) complex contained a five-coordinate vanadium center, but

				Ctratotano			
Denticity	Donor $atom(s)$	CN	Other ligands ^a	or motif) ^b	V^V (references)	V^{IV} (references)	V^{III} (references)
Bidentate	$\begin{array}{c} 0N\times 3\\ 0N\times 2\\ N_2\\ N_2 \end{array}$	6 4 5	Oxo or Cl×2 N	40 41 42		296,311,312	361 362
Tridentate/ Bidentate	ON_2/ON	9	Охо	43	273,274	275,313	
Tridentate	$0N_2$	9	Oxo,O, N or Oxo,	44	275	275,276,314	
	O/S/O	6,6 65 6	$\begin{array}{c} 0, 0_2 \\ 0x_0, \mu - 0x_0 \times 2 \\ 0 \times 2 \end{array}$	45 46 7	123,276–278 123,279	315,316	
Tridentate	$O_2N\times 2$	6		48a		316,617,618	
Tridentate	O_2N	6 or 5	Oxo,N,N Oxo,O,O	48b	77,128,268,280–291	284, 296, 317 - 320	
		5,5 6,6 or 6,5	υχο,υ υχο,υ,ν Οχο, μ-Οχο Οχο,μ-Οχο, οr Η ₂ Ο	49 50	292–295 296,297		
Tridentate	$ m N_3 imes 2$	5	$Cl \times 2$ or $\times 3$	51			363

Table 4 Summary of the structural features of crystallographically characterized Schiff base complexes of V(V, IV, and III).^{a,b}

Tetradentate ON_3 O_2N_2	5 6 or 5	Oxo CI×2 or Oxo or	52 53		321 322,323	322,328,364,365
	5,5 or 6 6,6 or 6,5	U of S, $N \times 2$ Oxo, S or O or H_2O Oxo, μ -Oxo $(\mu$ -Oxo	54 55	277,300,303–305 298–302	277,325–328 324	366
	s S	or μ-F Uxo, μ-Uxo/μ-Uxo Sulfido Oxo	56 57	303,306	329 295,298,305,312,325,327,	
	6,5	Oxo, μ -Oxo	28		348 348	
N_{2}^{ON} or N_{3}^{ON} N ₄	6,0 01 0 5 6 0r 5	Oxo or O,O Oxo Cl×2 or O, Cl	6 6 6	706,501	353,354 355–357	367
Pentadentate O_2N_3 O_3N_2	6 6 or 6,6	Cl or Ο Oxo or N,O or μ ₃ -Oxo	62 63a,b	308,309	358,359 360	364 368
Heptadentate O_3N_4	or 6,6,5 6,6	Oxo, μ -O	64	310		
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	7,7 6,6	$H_2O imes 2$ N	65 66			369 366
^a The donor atom(s) of each ligand is	s listed: oxo is indicate	d to differentiate between other O-donor ligan	ds. ^b The str	uctures/motifs are shown in Fig-	ure 5.	



Figure 6 Structural illustrations of (68–77).

lacked coordination of the imidazole functionality (72).²⁹⁰ By oxidative cyclization of the ligand, the vanadium(V) complex of 3-(2-hydroxyphenyl)-1-pyridin-2-yl-imidazo-[1,5, α]-pyridine was isolated and structurally characterized.³⁸⁶ Although the vanadium(V) complex formed with N,N,N',N'-ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) was characterized some time ago,³⁸⁷ related complexes continue to provide fundamental information on the coordination chemistry of vanadium complexes. An asymmetric complex (β) retaining the *cis*-dioxo unit was structurally characterized with ethylenediamine-N,N'-diacetic acid.³⁸⁸

One subset of Schiff base complexes are the hydrazone complexes which have a R–C=N–N functional group instead of the R–C=N–C functionality. These compounds have been prepared as models for bromoperoxidase³⁸⁹ and other biological systems.³⁹⁰ In the solid state, the hydrazones have coordination patterns similar to those of the Schiff bases and the majority of the complexes are oxovanadium(V) hexadentate or pentacoordinate complexes with tridentate O_2N donor sets (see Table 5). While most structures contain alkoxide donors,^{390–403} complexes have been reported with diols and catechols,^{129,404,405} hydroxamic acids,^{288,391} hydroxy quinolinate,^{406,407} and benzoylhydrazine.⁴⁰⁸ In addition, dioxo,^{375,409–412} oxo-bridged dinuclear^{393–395,413} complexes and a ligand-bridged dinuclear⁴¹⁰ complexe (73–75) have been isolated. Protonation of a *cis*-dioxovanadium(V) complex was found to preferentially take place at the hydrazide nitrogen atom over the oxo groups.⁴¹¹ Thiocarbazone and semithiocarbazone derivative complexes of the type represented in (76,77) have also been isolated and structurally characterized.

Denticity	Donor atoms	CN	Other ligands	Structure (or motif) ^b	References
Bidentate	$ON \times 3$	6		40	763 ^c
Tridentate	O_2N	6	Oxo, ON	48	408
Tridentate	O ₂ N	6 6 5 5	Oxo, $O \times 2$ Oxo, OO Oxo, ON Oxo, O Oxo, O Oxo $\times 2$	48 48 48 48 48 48	390–392 129,288,391,404,405 406,407 393–403 409,411
Tridentate	ON_2 $ONS \times 2$	6,6 5 6	Oxo, μ -oxo Oxo \times 2 NA	45 46 47	413 375,412 392 ^d
Tetradentate	N_2O_2	6	ON	53	639 ^d
Hexadentate	O_4N_2	5,5	Oxo	67	410
Octadentate	O_4N_4	5,5	Oxo	66	639 ^e

 Table 5
 Summary of the structural features of the crystallographically characterized hydrazone complexes.^a

^a The donor atom(s) of each ligand is listed. To differentiate between oxo groups and other O-donor ligands, oxo is used to indicate the presence of an oxo group. ^b The structures/motifs are shown in Figure 5. ^c Vanadium(III) complex. ^d Non-oxovanadium(IV) complex. ^e Oxovanadium(IV) complex.

(ii) Hydroxamic acids

Hydroxamic acid complexes are used as reagents for the spectroscopic detection of vanadium,³⁷⁶ and this ligand moiety is found in siderophores from microorganisms and tunicates and may be involved in the vanadium uptake and reduction by these organisms.^{2,4,5,13,15,29,40,422,423} The first X-ray structures for vanadium hydroxamate complexes were reported in 1989 and demonstrated that the vanadium is six-coordinate in both mono- and dinuclear complexes.⁴²⁴ A variety of hydroxamate and hydrazone ligands have been prepared and characterized.^{301,425} The solution chemistry of a vanadium(V) complex with β -alaninehydroxamic acid was reported.⁴²⁶ Using the hydroxamate as a stabilizing ternary ligand, nucleoside complexes yield spectroscopically characterizable products.²⁵⁶ Tunichromes were found to be able to reduce vanadate to V^{IV} and V^{III}, supporting the hypothesis that tunichromes could generate V^{III} *in vivo* and that an oxidized form of tunichrome could sequester native V^{III.427} The vanadium(V) and (IV) complexes of desferrioxamine B have been characterized in aqueous solution⁴²⁸ and desferrioxamine was used to reactivate vanadate-inhibited ATPase.⁴²⁹ A vanadium(V) complex with a sulfonated hydroxamic acid was found to be a catalyst for the Stretford process.⁴³⁰

4.4.2.3 Nitrogen Ligands

4.4.2.3.1 Mono- and bidentate, one or two nitrogen donors

Aromatic amines, such as pyridine and imidazole, have been found to form weak complexes with vanadate.^{100,104,267} The fact that no vanadium(V) complexes with aliphatic amines, in the absence of stabilizing ligands, have been reported supports the expectation that such complexes will have low stability in aqueous solution. In the presence of ancillary ligands, both aliphatic¹¹⁹ and aromatic⁷³ amines form stable ternary complexes in solution.

(Arylimido)vanadium(V) complexes have been prepared from the reaction of VOCl₃ with various *para*-substituted aryl isocyanates. The reactivity and structure of some of these have been investigated (**78**).⁴³¹ The reactivities of a series of vanadium(V) chalcogens have been reported. The structure of {[(Me₃Si)₂N]₂V(Se)[SeSi(SiMe₃)₃]}⁴³² (**79**) shows that the V=Se double bond contracts by 8% compared to the single bond in a related dimeric vanadium(IV) structure (*vide infra*). The



Figure 7 Structural illustrations of (78–87).

V^V—Se bond is slightly shorter than in the ethanedithiolate derivative as anticipated based on the observed ν_{V-Se} in the IR and the lower oxidation state of the vanadium.⁴³³

Vanadium(V) complexes of 1-oxa-4,7-diazacyclononane-N,N'-diacetate were prepared and undergo one-electron transfer to form the corresponding vanadium(IV) complexes.⁴³⁴

4.4.2.3.2 Polydentate, two or more nitrogen donors

Parent and derivatized vanadium(V)-tacn complexes (tacn = 1,4,7-triazacyclononane) have been prepared and structurally characterized.⁴³⁵ Various auxiliary ligands have been used including acetylacetonate (acac), isothiocyanate (^{-}NCS), azide, and benzoic acid.⁴³⁶ The acac derivative was used in the synthesis of a nitridovanadium(V) complex (80).⁴³⁶

A number of vanadium(V) complexes with the aliphatic ligand tri(ethyleneamine)amine (NN₃) have been investigated.^{437,438} Vanadium(V) imido complexes (**81**) have been prepared by transmetalation from azastannatranes.⁴³⁷ These complexes could also be prepared from the reaction of the four-coordinate vanadium complex with hydrazine.⁴³⁸ An imidovanadium(V) complex containing the [1,4,8,11]tetraazacyclotetradecinato moiety was also reported (**82**).⁴³⁹ One of these complexes was found to undergo cycloaddition with hexafluoroacetone, hexafluoropropene oxide, sulfur trioxide and triflic anhydride.⁴³⁹ Chalcogenide vanadium(V) complexes of the type [LV=E] can be obtained from the reaction of trigonal pyramidal V^{III} complexes with S₈ or ethylene sulfide (E=S), with gray selenium (E=Se), or with propylene oxide (E=O).⁴³⁸ The oxo derivative could also be prepared from VOCl₃.⁴⁴⁰ A vanadium(III) complex with diazapyridinophane was oxidized to vanadium(V) with consecutive replacements of chloride ions by oxo donors while the remaining coordination environment was preserved.⁴⁴¹ Vanadium(V) oxidizes *meso*octaethylprophyrinogen by one electron leading to a vanadium(IV) complex with an oxidized form of the porphyrinogen that has a cyclopropane unit.⁴⁴²

Vanadium(V) mono-, di-, tri-, and tetra(phosphoraniminato) complexes (83)–(86) have been prepared and an acetonitrile solvate of $[V(NPPh_3)_4]Cl$ structurally characterized.⁴⁴³ A tridentate pyrazolylcyclohexanol complex of vanadium(V) has also been synthesized.⁴⁴⁴ A derivatized pyridine ligand is chlorinated by VOCl₃ in the presence of *t*-BuOOH to yield the vanadium(V)

alkoxo complex.⁴⁴⁵ A dinuclear complex that has amino, imino, and phenolate coordinating functionalities has also been described (87).²⁷⁸

Numerous studies on the interactions of peptides and peptide-like ligands with vanadate have been reported.^{68,382–384,446,447} Some of these ligands coordinate through the carboxylate, the amine functionalities and the deprotonated amide nitrogen of the peptide bond,^{238,239,382,447,448} and some examples were described above in the section on polydentate ligands with two oxygen donor atoms.

4.4.2.4 Sulfur Ligands

Tetrasulfidovanadium(V) $[VS_4]^{3-}$, also referred to as thiovanadate, has been prepared⁴⁴⁹ and its reactivity^{449,450} and photochemistry have been explored.⁴⁵¹ Although it is generally believed that thiols reduce vanadate to give vanadyl cation and disulfides, recent reports of several V^V sulfide and thiol complexes document that many of these complexes are sufficiently stable for isolation and characterization.^{7,452–460} That the accessibility of the thiol can be important has been illustrated by the addition of vanadate to glycerol-3-phosphate dehydrogenase.⁴⁵² Despite the presence of the thiol in the active site, the inhibition by vanadate is reversible and may not involve redox chemistry.⁴⁵² The redox chemistry between thiols and vanadate is dependent on the ligand itself, the concentrations of the ligand and metal ion, the pH, and other specific solution conditions, thus explaining the controversy in this area.⁴⁵³ The reaction of vanadate with glutathione disulfide and the inhibition of gluthathione reductase activity by vanadate was investigated.⁴⁵⁴

Vanadium(V) persulfide complexes have been prepared and $(Me_3NCH_2Ph)_2[VS_2(S_2)(SPh)]$ (88)⁴⁵⁵ and $(NEt_4)[VO(S_2)_2(bpy)]$ (89) have been structurally characterized.⁴⁵⁶ In (88), the vanadium(V) center is ligated by three types of sulfur donors, one thiolate (PhS^-) , one persulfido (S_2^{-2}) and two sulfido (S^{2-}) groups.⁴⁵⁵ If the disulfide ligand (S_2^{-2-}) is considered to be one functionality, the coordination geometry around the vanadium is approximately tetrahedral in analogy with the tetraperoxovanadium complex (28).¹⁸⁵

Vanadium(V) complexes of ligands with mixed thiolate-hydroxylate functionalities have been structurally characterized both in solution and in the solid state (90).⁴⁵⁷ Oxidation of this complex resulted in a vanadium(V)- η^2 , η^2 -disulfenate complex with an unprecedented coordination mode (91).⁴⁵⁷ Complexes with 2-thio-3-benzoylhydantoin have also been reported.⁴⁵⁸ In addition, a recent solution study of vanadate with dithiothreitol (DTT) showed that the study of these complexes is quite tractable even in aqueous solution.⁴⁵⁹ The first hydrazide vanadium complex with S-donor ligands was structurally characterized (92).⁴⁶⁰

4.4.2.5 Halides

The structure and electronic configuration of VF₅ was examined using SCF calculations.⁴⁶¹ A solution study of vanadium(V) fluoride and chloride complexes (VOCl₃, VOCl₂F, VOClF₂, VOF₃) in organic solvents was carried out using ⁵¹V and ¹⁹F NMR.⁴⁶²

4.4.2.6 Other Ligands

The geometries of VH_5 and VMe_5 do not conform to the valence shell electron pair repulsion (VSEPR) model, and self-consistent field (SCF) calculations show that the electron density of



Figure 8 Structural illustrations of (88–92).

the outer core has a square pyramidal arrangement corresponding to the geometries of these molecules.⁴⁶¹ Coordination of bridged phosphate was observed in a material formed by hydro-thermal synthesis.⁴⁶³ A complex with triphenylphosphine, *t*-butyl imine, and two chloride ligands was reported.⁴⁶⁴ Silica-supported vanadium catalysts have led to the characterization of some vanadium-containing silsesquioxanes.⁴⁶⁵

4.4.3 VANADIUM(IV)

4.4.3.1 Aqueous Vanadyl (V^{IV}) Chemistry

Progress since the early 1990s in the area of aqueous vanadyl chemistry is limited and the previous review in *Comprehensive Inorganic Chemistry*² remains one of the premier sources for a summary of the state-of-the-art information on vanadyl solution chemistry. Here we will summarize the key points and highlights of the contributions that have appeared since that time. V^{IV} complexes are characterized in the solid state by X-ray crystallography and IR spectroscopy. In solution, the following spectroscopic techniques have been used in addition to potentiometric and electrochemical techniques: electron paramagnetic resonance (EPR), electron nuclear double resonance (ENDOR), UV-visible, EXAFS, electron spin echo envelop modulation (ESEEM), and X-ray absorption near-edge spectroscopy (XANES).

Dissolution of VOSO₄ in acidic aqueous solutions yields the hydrated vanadyl cation $[VO(H_2O)_3]^{2+}$ (93),² commonly abbreviated as VO²⁺; its solvation structure was determined using ENDOR in frozen methanolic solutions.⁴⁶⁶ This species has a pK_a value of 5.9 (94),^{467,468} but after deprotonation, the V^{IV} species will either dimerize, form soluble and insoluble polymers, or oxidize.^{2,9,10,469} Aqueous V^{IV} chemistry can be divided into three regimes: acidic (pH < 6), neutral (pH 6–8) and alkaline (pH > 8). The best understood regime of aqueous V^{IV} chemistry is the acidic region where the $[VO(H_2O)_5]^{2+}$ (93) and $[VO(OH)(H_2O)_4]^+$ (94) cations exist.^{2,470} The alkaline pH region is governed by the presence of the EPR silent dimer $[(VO)_2(OH)_5]^-$ and other oligomers and polymers as well as the EPR active $[VO(OH)_3]^-$ species (95). The latter forms at about pH 9–10 and rapidly replaces the dimeric forms. However, precipitates do form in this pH region when the vanadyl hydroxide solubility product is exceeded ($K_{(sol, VO(OH)_2)} = 6.6 \times 10^{-23} \text{ M}^3$).⁴⁶⁷ In the neutral pH range, these same aqueous equilibria limit the concentration of hydrated monomeric VO²⁺ (in the form of (93) and (94)) to between 10⁻⁶ and 10⁻⁹ M, regardless of the amounts of VOSO₄ added to the solution.⁴⁶⁹ Because of the high affinity of V^{IV} for most oxygen-, nitrogen- and sulfur-containing ligands, complexation can prevent the formation of the aqueous V^{IV} system since the review by Vilas Boas and Pessoa,² is in part due to the fact that few spectroscopic tools that can report on aqueous V^{IV} species because hydrated V^{IV} is EPR silent at neutral pH.

The kinetics of VO²⁺ oxidation in aqueous solution by RuL_3^{3+} and NiL_3^{3+} complexes (L = bpy, phen),⁴⁷¹ a Ni^{III} macrocycle,⁴⁷² metal polypyridines⁴⁷¹ and a carboxylato-bound Cr^{V473} have been reported. The reduction of V^{IV} has been demonstrated in aqueous solution by Vitamin B₁₂ (Cob(I)alamin),⁴⁷⁴ and by OsL₃³⁺ (L = bipy, phen).⁴⁷¹

4.4.3.2 Oxygen Ligands

4.4.3.2.1 Monodentate, one oxygen donor

Vanadium(IV) forms complexes with charged carboxylate, aryloxide and alkoxide functionalities as well as the neutral carbonyl group. The steric crowding of the *t*-butoxides allowed structural characterization of the tetraalkoxide (**96**) by gas-phase electron diffraction.⁴⁷⁵ V^{IV} phenoxide complexes derived from ligands such as 2-(dimethylaminomethyl)phenol and 4-chloro-2-[(dimethylamino)methyl]phenol are active as ethylene and propylene copolymerization agents.⁴⁷⁶ Complexes with silanoxides have been prepared by the oxidation of V^{III} complexes.⁴⁷⁷

A mononuclear complex with formate ligands has been structurally characterized (97).⁴⁷⁸ Each unit of $K_2[VO(HCO_2)_4]$ has the vanadium in a pseudo-octahedral geometry, with the coordination of an adjacent molecule's free carbonyl (C=O) group serving as the sixth ligand.⁴⁷⁸ The



Figure 9 Structural illustrations of (93–114).

stability constants and heats of formation of V^{IV} complexes with acetate and glycolate have been determined in aqueous solution.⁴⁷⁹ A binuclear V^{IV} complex has been described in which the

determined in aqueous solution.⁴⁷⁷ A binuclear V^{1V} complex has been described in which the carbonyl functionality of the isonicotinic acid hydrazide coordinates to the vanadium atom in a monodentate fashion.⁴⁸⁰ Several V^{IV} materials form via complexation with different protonation states of phosphate^{481–484} and pyrophosphate^{485,486} and have been characterized in the solid state. Corresponding studies with V^{IV} hypophosphites⁴⁸⁷ and arsenates^{488–490} have also been reported. Imidophosphinato complexes with the vanadyl cation are characterized in the solid state and in solution.⁴⁹¹ The

 $[VO(H_2O)_2L]^{2+}$ moiety has a much lower affinity for sulfate^{492,493} than the corresponding dehydrated unit $[VOL]^{2+}$.⁴⁹² This difference in selectivity was proposed to be a model for vanadylsulfate interactions in *Ascidians*.⁴⁹² Many such materials have been prepared by hydrothermal synthesis to generate materials with intriguing structures and interesting sorptive properties.⁴⁹⁴

4.4.3.2.2 Bidentate, two oxygen donors

Bidentate O,O-containing ligands include diols, catechols, acetylacetonates, hydroxycarboxylates, dicarboxylates, phosphocarboxylates, protected nucleosides and nucleotides. Only a few alkoxide complexes with V^{IV} have been reported and most of these include bifunctional ligands with an alkoxide group and some other functionality. A mononuclear complex of 2-ethyl-2-hydroxybu-tanate⁴⁹⁵ was reported and is structurally similar to the corresponding mononuclear V^V complex characterized as a model for vanadium–nucleoside interactions (11).¹²⁰ The V^{IV} 2-ethyl-2-hydroxybu-tanate complex was found to inhibit Cr-mediated cleavage of DNA.⁴⁹⁵ The speciation of vanadyl complexes with several ligands, including oxalic, malonic, and kojic acids as well as maltol have been recently reported.⁴⁹⁶ One of the dinuclear complexes with 2-tetrahydrofurfur-oxide⁴⁹⁷ was found to be structurally analogous to the related dinuclear V^V diol complexes (9,11). More complex structures can also be obtained with this ligand.⁴⁹⁷ A non-oxo-V^{IV} complex with two enediolate functionalities was formed in the redox reaction between benzil and [VCl₂(tmeda)₂] (tmeda = N, N, N', N'-tetramethylethylenediamine).⁴⁹⁸

The bis(ethylmaltolato)oxovanadium(IV) complex $[VO(malto)_2]$ (98) is currently in clinical trials for the treatment of diabetes.¹⁸ In vitro studies with $[VO(acac)_2]$ demonstrated that this simple 1,3-diketonate V^{IV} complex (99) induced a significantly greater insulin-enhancing response on lipogenesis than vanadyl sulfate.⁴⁹⁹ Animal studies have shown that this complex at low dosage has effects similar to those of $[VO(malto)_2]$ (98) in the treatment of diabetic rats.^{500,501} These newly discovered biological effects show that more studies are warranted to explore the chemistry of related compounds. Solution studies of both $[VO(malto)_2]^{502}$ and $[VO(acac)_2]^{501}$ show that both complexes form cis and trans adducts in aqueous solution as well as undergo a slow redox reaction in the presence of oxygen.

slow redox reaction in the presence of oxygen. Bridging oxalate groups have been found to form materials with a variety of different structural motifs and properties. A ferromagnetic- μ -oxalato Cu^{II}-V^{IV} complex has been crystallographically and spectroscopically characterized.⁵⁰³ Observations were also reported for an anti-ferromagnetically coupled Mn^{II}-V^{IV}O pair.⁵⁰⁴ A series of bimetallic vanadium complexes show weak anti-ferromagnetic pairwise interactions.⁵⁰⁵ Other carboxylate ligands, such as isophthalate, have found similar uses.⁵⁰⁶ Hydrogen peroxide does not form an isolable V^{IV} complex and any chemistry with V^{IV} involves redox chemistry. The oxidation of V^{IV} by alkyl hydroperoxides in acidic solutions has been characterized and the complexation of alkylperoxides by VO₂⁺ was demonstrated.^{154,507}

(i) Catechol ligands

A variety of catecholate complexes and their characterization have been reported (100)–(105).^{137,140,508–511} While most catecholate complexes contain vanadium(IV), complexes with other oxidation states have been isolated (*vide infra*). Information on the kinetics of complex formation and ligand oxidation was reported in 1974 but still remains timely for current investigations.^{512,513} Structural and electrochemical investigations of the simple V^{III} catecholate and semiquinone complexes lead to the formation of the dianionic V^{IV} complex of a 1:3 metal to ligand stoichiometry in organic solvents.¹⁴⁰ Aqueous speciation studies show formation of 1:1 (103), 1:2 (104), and 1:3 (105) species in various protonation states.^{514–516} Ternary complexes containing catecholate and bipyridine have many properties analogous to those containing only catecholate ligands.^{510,517} Studies have shown that the nature of the catechol does not significantly affect the magnitude of the formation constants.^{514,515} In contrast, different g_o and A_o values are observed by EPR and ENDOR depending on the electronic structure of the chelating catecholate and the stoichiometry of the complex (1:1 or 1:2) suggesting that the complex is sensitive to small differences in catecholate structure.^{518,519} Redox reactions in several cases resulted in ligand-based redox processes.^{138,520} The ligand–metal electron transfer reaction can vary depending on the solvent and evidence for the oxidized metal, reduced quinone form is obtained

in polar solvents; however, solid state studies support the reduced metal, oxidized ligand formulation.^{137,140,520} Model complexes for Tunichrome B1 analogs have been prepared, and the catechol complexation is critical for these complexes.⁵⁰⁹ The V^{IV} complexes with these ligands are often polymeric; monomeric complexes are only consistently observed for V^{III} derivatives.⁵⁰⁹ Magnetic studies on model complexes and the whole and freeze-dried tunicate blood samples are consistent with V^{III} complexes being the major species in the tunicates.⁵⁰⁸ The enterobactin V^{IV} complex was crystallized and in this complex the catecholate groups were found to be the coordinating functionalities; a similar observation was noted for the simplest geometrically unrestricted model complex with three *N*-ethyl-3,4-dihydroxybenzamide.⁵¹¹ Spectroscopic characterization showed that the stability and Δ chirality of the complex originates from the preferential conformation of the trimeric serine backbone.⁵¹¹

(ii) Acetylacetonate ligands

Bis(acac)oxovanadium(IV) (99) complexes represent an important class of complexes that have existed for nearly a century.^{2,521} The kinetics of ligand replacement in bis(malonato)oxovanadium(IV) has been investigated.⁵²² The mechanism proposed involves partial hydrolysis, followed by one slow step of ligand–H₂O substitution.⁵²² *Ab initio* theoretical methods,⁵²³ UV-photoelectron spectroscopy⁵²³ EPR/ENDOR spectroscopy,⁵²⁴ symmetry correlations,⁵²⁵ and electronic spectroscopy⁵²³ have examined the bonding in this class of compounds. The vanadyl interaction is axial in nature and possesses partial triple-bond character. The equatorial bonding involves mostly sigma bonding between the lone pairs on the ligand oxygen atoms and the V $3d_{xy}$ orbital.⁵²³ Investigations of the physical properties of these compounds include thermal and kinetic studies of adduct formation⁵²⁶ oxidation in methanolic solutions⁵²⁷ and thermal stability of pyridine adducts in the solid state.⁵²⁸ New complexes with 2,2,6,6-tetramethyl-3,5-heptanedionate,⁵²⁹ asymmetric complexes⁵³⁰ and the tris(3,5-dimethylpyrazolyl)borate ligand.⁵³¹ In a melt reaction of [VO(acac)₂] and *N*,*N*'-diphenylformamidine (phad) the corresponding [VO(phad)₂] forms the less common trans isomer (106).⁵³² The first discotic di(oxovanadium(IV)) liquid-crystalline complexes have been prepared.⁵³³

A rapidly growing class of compounds is the ternary complexes in which one β -diketonato group, an oxo group and an additional ligand complete the coordination sphere of the vanadium complex.⁵³⁴ The ternary ligands used include mono- and dialkoxides,^{284,295,535,536} catechols,⁵³⁴ purines and pyrimidines,⁵³⁷ tris(pyrazolyl)borates^{538,539} and other ligands.⁵⁴⁰⁻⁵⁴⁴ These ternary complexes retain some of the favorable properties of the VO(acac)₂-type complex as well as showing additional hydrolytic and redox stability over the parent complexes.⁵³⁴ When the supporting ligand is polydentate, di-, tri- and tetranuclear complexes have resulted⁵³⁵ and distinctive differences between the [V^{IV}O(acac)]⁺ unit and the [V^VO(acac)]²⁺ unit are observed. Although most of the complexes with this class of ligand contain the V = O unit, cationic V^{IV} acac-type complexes such as the non-oxo [V(cat)₃]²⁻ (cat = catechol) complex have been prepared and characterized.^{516,545} Given the unique structure of these V^{IV} complexes their redox chemistry is very versatile.⁵⁴⁶

4.4.3.2.3 Bidentate, one oxygen donor

Bidentate ligands in which one of the donor atoms is oxygen and the other is nitrogen have been reported in a variety of different types of V^{IV} complexes. A number of these complexes contain bidentate Schiff bases (**41**, **43**) (see Table 4).^{292,317,361} In one of these compounds (**107**), hydrogen bonding between the V=O and the HN group resulted in the stabilization of the complex, which in contrast to similar V^{IV} complexes was not reduced to V^{III} complexes.³⁶¹ The solution interaction of V^{IV} with a series of amino acids and simple dipeptides has been characterized using potentiometry and EPR spectroscopy.^{547–556} The 1:2 V^{IV}-picolinate complex (**108**) was synthesized in NaY zeolite cages; however, no difference in their catalytic activity was observed.⁵⁵⁷ This complex is a key compound showing insulin-enhancing properties in diabetic animal model systems.^{558–571} The related bis(1-oxy-2-pyridinethiolato)oxovanadium(IV) complex (**109**) also shows insulin-enhancing effects in diabetic rats.^{559,568} A hydroxymentholpyridine ligand (1-pyridin-2-yl-menthol) was investigated for the preparation of a chiral V^{IV} complex.⁵⁷²

Diluting single crystals of oxobis(2-methylquinolin-8-olato)vanadium(IV) complexes in the solid state to overcome the difficulties of neighboring paramagnetic centers has allowed the determination of the *g* tensor and an estimation of the hyperfine coupling constant.⁵⁷³ Four simple hydroxamates form six different types of complexes with V^{IV} in solution that were characterized by EPR spectroscopy.⁵⁷⁴ The 1:2 complexes were also investigated in the solid state (110)–(112) and serve as important model systems for the amavadine complex which has been isolated from the mushroom *Amanita muscaria*.⁵⁷⁴

Several complexes with OS donor ligands have been prepared. The spectroscopic properties, magnetic properties and structures of the complexes with 2-mercaptophenol and the methyl-substituted derivative were determined (113,114).⁵⁷⁵ Spectroscopic studies with 2-mercaptoethanol have also been carried out.⁵⁷⁶

4.4.3.2.4 Polydentate, three or more oxygen donors

Vanadium(IV) tartrate complexes have been investigated, and the studies include structural characterization of a 2:2 complex in which the tetradentate ligand bridges two vanadium atoms (115).⁵⁷⁷ An antiferromagnetically coupled, dinuclear V^{IV} complex with two tridentate 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutarate ligands was isolated.⁵⁷⁸ A dinuclear complex (116) of the citrate ligand was characterized and the configuration of the anions was found to be anti-coplanar.⁵⁷⁹ Low-temperature EPR spectra with zero-field splitting and 15 line hyperfine patterns on the parallel and perpendicular features, characteristic of two equivalent vanadium atoms, confirms the presence of a spin triplet.⁵⁷⁹ A correlation was discovered between the structure and the magnetic properties of complexes with ligands containing O₃N-functionalities coordinating to the vanadium.⁵⁸⁰

Rhizoferrin is a carboxylate-containing siderophore, and has been found to form strong complexes with V^{IV}.⁵⁸¹ Solution studies of complexes formed with D-galacturonic,⁵¹⁹ polygalacturonic,⁵¹⁹ and lactobionic⁵⁸² acids were carried out using ENDOR spectroscopy or potentiometry. Representative potentiometric studies have been carried out for a variety of biologically interesting chelating ligands such as sugars⁵⁸³ and sugar phosphates.^{583,584} Some of these systems have been further characterized using EPR and ENDOR spectroscopic techniques.^{585,586} A V^{IV} complex with 2,2'-oxydiacetic acid was synthesized and found to exhibit anti-apoptotic activity.⁵⁸⁷

The solid state properties of a complex with N,N-bis(2-hydroxybenzyl)aminoacetic acid (117) were investigated.⁵⁸⁰ The kinetics of ligand substitution and oxidation of [((phosphonomethyl)-imino)diacetato]oxovanadium(IV) were found to be consistent with a hydrogen bond between a coordinated water molecule and the phosphonate arm.⁵⁸⁸ Structural studies failed to confirm this interaction (118), however, several species exist under various conditions, showing the versatility of the system.⁵⁸⁹ A range of oxovanadium(IV) complexes with ethylenediaminepolyacetic acid ligands have been prepared and their solution properties characterized (119).⁵⁹⁰ Additional new members of this class of compounds and their structural characterization continue to be reported (117)–(119).^{270,580,587,591-595} Spectroscopic studies have shown that stoichiometries, determined by potentiometry, and structural studies are needed to understand these systems fully. A pentadentate ligand generated by the functionalization of ethylenediamine with three phenolate coordinating moieties forms a complex that by UV-visible and EPR spectroscopy gives the same spectra as that of the vanadyl–transferrin complex.⁵⁹⁶ Since 1998, several vanadium binding proteins, "vanabins," have been isolated and show high selectivity for V^{IV.597–600}

4.4.3.2.5 Polydentate, two oxygen donors

Vanadium(IV) complexes with two dipeptides glycyl-tyrosine and glycyl-phenylalanine (Gly-Tyr and Gly-Phe, respectively) and their oxovanadium(IV) and (V) complexes have been observed.^{382,601} The complex formed with Gly-Tyr showed coordination by the peptide backbone moieties, and no interaction from the distal phenolic hydroxy group.⁶⁰¹ A histidine-tyrosine derivatized peptide was shown to complex V^{IV} in a pentadentate manner (**120**).⁵⁶⁴ The adduct between V^{IV} and a model of the active-site peptide of protein tyrosine phosphatases has been spectroscopically characterized.⁶⁰² Similar characterization of V^{IV} in serum suggests that protein complexes form, and that both V^{IV} and V^V can exist as complexes with transferrin and albumin.⁶⁰³ ESEEM has been used to characterize the complexes of apoferritin with VO²⁺ and suggests that the carboxylates, one water molecule, and one histidine ligand fill the coordination sites of the vanadium.⁶⁰⁴



Figure 10 Structural illustrations of (115–125).

The coordination chemistry and oxidative reactivity of a series of mononuclear V^{IV} complexes containing nitriloacetate-derived ligands have been investigated.⁶⁴ Substituting an OH group in nitrilotriacetic acid with an NH₂ group gives *N*-(2-aminoethyl)iminodiacetic acid (see (**118**) where the PO₃H group would be substituted with a OH/NH₂ group). Substituting one carboxylic acid group with a hydroxyl group, an amino group, or a pyridyl group gives a wide range of ligands, all of which were found to form mononuclear V^{IV} complexes.⁶⁴ Using EPR and ESEEM to characterize the solution chemistry of these systems provided key information in understanding the EPR data for the reduced form of bromoperoxidase.⁶⁴

the EPR data for the reduced form of bromoperoxidase.⁶⁴ It was found that the simple V^{IV} complex with N,N'-ethylenediaminediacetate (EDDA) had insulin-enhancing properties.⁶⁰⁵ The corresponding complex with N,N'-ethylene bis(S)-methionine was found to have a lesser effect with regard to inhibition of the free fatty acid release from diabetic rat adipocytes.⁶⁰⁵ The kinetics of the oxidation of V^{IV} complexes in solution with $[IrCl_6]^{2-}$ were investigated^{588,606} and the redox properties of the V^{IV} complex are different from those anticipated.^{606,607} The structure of the *N*,*N'*,*N'*-ethylenediaminetriacetate was reported;⁵⁹¹ spectral properties of V^{IV} complexes with two spin-labeled derivatives of EDTA were described.⁶⁰⁸ Vanadium(IV) complexes with tetraanionic diamidate–diphenolate ligands have been prepared and the strongly σ -donating ligands constructed on a disubstituted propanediamide backbone are found to stabilize the highly oxidized V^{IV} center.⁶⁰⁹ Functionalization of the phenolato ring in the 5-position changes the reduction potential for the reversible VO³⁺/VO²⁺ redox couple by ca. 0.5 V relative to that of the parent complex (–0.047 V vs. SCE).⁶⁰⁹

(i) Schiff base complexes

A large number of V^{IV} complexes have been reported with polydentate Schiff bases (**41**, **43**, **44**, **47**, **48**, **52**, **53**, **54–58**, **60–63**, see Figure 5). The largest group of these complexes contains ligands with two oxygen donors (**48**, **53**, **54–58**, **62**, **63**, see Figure 5 and Table 4).^{277,284,295,296,298,305,312, 317–321,324–352,358–360} The V^{IV} Schiff base complexes are derived from the salen ligand, ^{295,298,305,312,325,327,330–352} and contain a five-^{284,295,296,298,305,312,317–320,322,323,325,327,329–352 or six-coordinate⁶¹⁰ vanadium centers. Some of these complexes are mononuclear, ^{348,360} dinuclear, ^{275–277,284,295,296,298,305,311–323,325–360} chiral, ⁶¹¹ or Lewis acid complexes.³⁴⁹ Examples of complexes with S-donor ligands, ^{315,316,329,353,354} water-soluble complexes, ⁶¹² and complexes with interesting reactivities and magnetic properties³²³ have been reported.}

The properties of the complexes are sensitive to the nature of the ligand, as exemplified by the reported magnetic properties of two different series of complexes. Antiferromagnetic behavior is found for dinuclear $Gd^{III}-V^{IV}$ complexes,³²³ whereas ferromagnetic properties was found in macrocyclic dinuclear V^{IV} and dinuclear $V^{IV}-Ni^{II}$ complexes.⁶¹³ The magnetic properties of a Cu^{II} -vanadyl Schiff base system have been investigated.⁶¹⁴ Complexes often contain the Schiff base ligands and additional ligands such as 8-quinolinol,⁶¹⁰ and halides.³⁶⁵ The iodide-containing complexes with N₂O₂ Schiff base ligands with hydrazines have an intramolecular H bond to an I⁻ counterion.³⁶⁵ The elusive [VI₂(salen)] and some of its homologs have been prepared and are found to undergo autoredox reactions (Equation (1)) in ionizing solvents.³⁴⁷ Vanadium(IV) complexes with assymmetrical N₂O₂ Schiff bases have the vanadium atom displaced far from the basal plane and may, in part, explain the solvent-independence of the EPR parameters of a series of complexes.^{277,326,360}

$$2\mathbf{V}^{\mathrm{IV}} + 2\mathbf{I}^{-} \to 2\mathbf{V}^{\mathrm{III}} + \mathbf{I}_{2} \tag{1}$$

The redox reactivity of divanadium-salen⁶¹⁵ and other complexes⁵⁵⁵ have been investigated. Disproportionation of [{V(salen)}₂(μ -O)] was observed under electrochemical conditions.⁶¹⁵ The reduced, [V^{III}(salen)]⁺ complex was found to be the essential species in the catalysis of the electroreduction of O₂ by four electrons in CH₂Cl₂.⁶¹⁶ While [{V(salen)}₂(μ -O)] was proposed to be the active species in the redox reaction, more recently [V^{III}(salen)]⁺ was identified as a reservoir from which the active species forms.⁶¹⁶ Schiff base complexes encapsulated in zeolite Y are catalytically active in the oxidation of thioanisole with H₂O₂.¹⁴ Acid-promoted disproportion-ation of a V^{IV} phenolate under anaerobic conditions was proposed as a model reaction for the vanadium uptake in tunicates.¹³⁹

(ii) Non-oxo- V^{IV} complexes

The vanadyl group is stabilized in high oxidation states by $p\pi$ - $d\pi$ interactions which facilitate the loss of electrons from the appropriate d orbital and shorten the V=O bond length.⁶¹⁷ It has been postulated that some multianionic ligands involved are modest π -donors and acceptors and thus can stabilize the V^{IV} oxidation state via $p\pi$ - $d\pi$ interactions.⁶¹⁷ In fact, increasing numbers of V^{IV} compounds have been reported with no V=O groups.^{139,141,316,353,435,514,516,517,545,590,615,617-626} Initial reports in this area referred to these complexes as "bare vanadium(IV)" complexes due to the lack of an oxo ligand, but the more preferred term is "non-oxovanadium(IV)" which will be used throughout this review. Several classes of these complexes exist; the two largest are the hydroxamates (**111,112**) and the Schiff bases (**41, 47, 53, 61, 62**). However, a number of additional

ligands have been found to generate non-oxovanadium(IV) complexes containing different supportive ligands and geometric environments.⁶²⁷ None of the oxygen atoms in these supportive ligands can be assigned as part of a vanadyl group.

Non-oxovanadium(IV) complexes were first reported in complexes modeling the natural product amavadine (121) from the mushroom *Amanita muscaria*.¹⁵ Although the biological role of the compound is not known, structurally this complex is of interest since amavadine is an example of an eight-coordinate non-oxovanadium(IV) complex.^{619,628-630} Since the first discoveries of this class of V^{IV} complexes, a series of these non-oxo eight-coordinate vanadium-containing complexes have been reported.^{246,619,628} They are unusually stable ($\log\beta_2 = 23$) and are surpassed in stability only by vanadyl porphyrins and some siderophore complexes.²⁴⁷ The natural product amavadine consists of an almost equal mixture of the Δ and Λ isomers of the complex with each ligand containing two chiral centers with S stereochemistry.⁶³¹⁻⁶³³ The redox properties continue to be of interest, given the possibility that the role of this natural product involves redox chemistry.^{634,635}

A number of non-oxovanadium(IV) complexes have been generated by Schiff base ligands containing O_2N donor sets. To date all the structurally characterized complexes contain two alkoxy or phenoxy functionalities and one imine-type functionality (48).^{316,617,618} The effects on varying substituents on the phenoxo groups have been investigated.⁶²⁰ The structure of bis[salicylaldehyde-2-hydroxyanilinato(2-)]V^{IV},³¹⁶ shows the vanadium to have a nearly octahedral coordination environment.

The vanadyl cation has been found to cleave DNA in the presence of hydroxamic acid.⁶³⁶ Ligands with hydroxamic acid groups joined in the carbon framework furthermore have the possibility of creating polydentate ligands that will produce complexes with non-oxo-V^{IV} atoms.¹⁵ Although no solid state structures have been reported for complexes with desferrioxamine B, this ligand has the potential to form such a vanadium complex and this is supported by spectroscopic data.⁶³⁷ The kinetics and equilibria of the interaction between aqueous V^{IV} and desferrioxamine B methanesulfonate was characterized.⁶³⁸ It was found that the unwrapping of the vanadyl tetradentate complex is about 50 times faster than that of the analogous ferric complex, and that the hydrolyzed form of V^{IV} reacts with the siderophore ca. 105 times faster than the vanadyl oligomeric and polymeric forms.⁶³⁸

The structures of bis(pentane-2,4-dione benzoylhydrazonato)V^{IV} (122) and bis(pentane-2,4dione salicyloylhydrazonato)V^{IV} (123) show that the vanadium atom is in a trigonal-prismatic coordination geometry.⁶¹⁷ For these tridentate ligands, the four negatively charged enolic oxygen atoms effectively substitute for the $d\pi$ - $p\pi$ interaction of the displaced oxo group. Evidence for such π interactions include V—O bond lengths which are shorter than 1.95–1.99 Å found in, for example, β -diketonato or diketonato-Schiff base complexes.⁶¹⁷ A tridentate NOS hydrazonato ligand was shown to produce a non-oxovanadium(IV) complex (124).³⁹² A dinuclear complex has been synthesized with three O₂N₂ hydrazonato ligands and has been structurally characterized (74).⁶³⁹

A related family of these non-oxovanadium complexes contains Schiff base ligands with O_2N_2 donor sets. Examples can be made from [VO(salen)] and SOCl₂ to generate *trans*-[VCl₂(salen)], which upon treatment with dilthium benzilate generates the benzilate–salen complex containing a non-oxovanadium(IV) center (**125**).³⁴⁶ A μ -oxo dimer was prepared from [VO(salen)] by O atom extraction with Ph₃C⁺ to yield [{V(salen)}₂(μ -O)}]²⁺.⁶¹⁵

N, N, N', N'-tetrakis(2-hydroxybenzyl)ethylenediamine forms a non-oxovanadium derivative.⁶⁴⁰ The electrochemical properties of this derivative have been determined in dimethylformamide and two well-defined reversible one-electron-transfer events were detected at +0.16 V for $E_{1/2}^1$ and at -0.84 V for $E_{1/2}^2$ (vs. Fc⁺/Fc); these potentials correspond to the V^{5+/4+} and V^{4+/3+} redox couples, respectively.⁶⁴⁰

4.4.3.3 Nitrogen Ligands

4.4.3.3.1 Monodentate, one nitrogen donor

The tetrahedral complex tetrakis(dimethylamido)vanadium(IV) has been prepared (**126**).⁶⁴¹ The nitrogen and methyl groups of each ligand are nearly coplanar with the vanadium center. This versatile complex has been used as a precursor to other imido– V^{IV} complexes. Treatment with one equivalent of aniline generates [V(NMe₂)₂(NHMe₂)₂ (=NAr)], which upon treatment with excess Me₃SiCl produces [V(NHMe₂)₂(=NAr)Cl₂] (**127**).⁶⁴² Other amido complexes have been



Figure 11 Structural illustrations of (126–132).

reported.^{643–646} Imidodiphosphinoselenido complexes contain both five- and six-coordinate V atoms.⁶⁴⁷ Several dinuclear V^{IV} complexes in which the two vanadium atoms are bridged by two single atoms are known. In one dinuclear compound, these two atoms are oxygen atoms utilizing bis(trimethylsilyl)amines as the supporting ligands.⁶⁴⁸ Complexes of V^{IV} chlorides with acetyl and benzoyl cyanides have been prepared.⁶⁴⁹

4.4.3.3.2 Bidentate, one and two nitrogen donors

A number of V^{IV} and V^V complexes with the inorganic $H_3N_3S_2$ ($H_3N_3S_2$ = aminothiosulfur dimine) ligand have been prepared.^{517,622–626} The α and β isomers of [VCl₂(N_3S_2)] have been structurally characterized; the only structural difference is that the coordination polymer chains in the β form are rotated 11° relative to those in the α form.^{622,623} In addition to the mononuclear species, a dinuclear complex has been isolated.⁶²² EPR spectroscopy detected superexchange coupling of the electron spins in some V^{IV}–V^{IV} dinuclear enaminoketone complexes.⁶⁵⁰

In addition to complexes with ON donor sets, complexes with bidentate N-donor atoms and other donors have been described. For example, after several solution studies the crystal structure of the bis(L-cysteine methyl ester)oxovanadium(IV) complex showed that the vanadium is coordinated by the amido nitrogens and thiolate sulfurs (128).⁵⁶¹ The complexes and reactivity of a series of pyridine-2-thiolate complexes of V(IV, III, and II) have been characterized (129–131).⁶⁵¹ The mass spectrometric fragmentation patterns of two of these complexes were investigated and show the formation of six 1:1 complexes and one 1:2 complex in the gas phase.⁶⁵¹

4.4.3.3.3 Polydentate, two or more nitrogen donors

Mononuclear V^{IV} complexes of substituted hydroxamates have been characterized with 1,10phenanthroline or 2,2'-bipyridine as supporting ligands. A seven-coordinate vanadium atom was proposed to exist in these complexes, although a six-coordinate complex may be more likely.⁶⁵² A range of hydroxamate-containing complexes have been prepared and were subsequently found to facilitate transport of V^{IV} into cells.⁶⁵³

Complexes with tetradentate N-donor ligands have been prepared. Although most of the studies reported for porphyrin-type complexes will be reviewed elsewhere, a few points regarding the properties of these complexes will be highlighted here. The structural characterization of V^{IV} porphyrin derivatives (132) has been reported.⁶⁵⁴ The axial ligation of Lewis bases to the

metalloporphyrins to explore the preferential sizes of ligands and specific steric restrictions has also been explored.⁶⁵⁴ Resonance Raman analysis shows that the frequency of the V=O stretch is sensitive to interactions with a second axial ligand which weaken the V=O interaction.⁶⁵⁵ Electrochemical studies in DMF have shown that porphyrin substituent groups strongly influence the redox chemistry of vanadyl porphyrins.⁶⁵⁶ Spectroscopic techniques have been used to examine structural deformations in radical cation⁶⁵⁷ or radical anion⁶⁵⁸ vanadyl porphyrins. Vanadyl porphyrins can dimerize in solution and for one representative porphyrin the dimer formation constant was determined to be $1.7 \, \text{M}^{-1}$.⁶⁵⁹ A vanadium porphyrin complex with a hexadecylpyridiniumyl substituent formed micelles in ethanol–water or dimethylformamide–water mixtures.⁶⁶⁰

A complex containing macrocyclic diamidate ligands with the {VOCl} functionality and intramolecular hydrogen bonding has been reported.⁶⁶¹ A dimeric μ -oxo V^{IV} complex with tris(2-pyridylmethyl)amine has also been characterized.⁶⁶² Other V^{IV}-amide metallocyclic complexes have been prepared from ligands prepared by condensation of picolinic acid with 1,2-diaminobenzene (133) or 1,2-diaminocyclohexane.⁶⁶³ Complexes with tris(3,5-dimethylpyrazo-lyl)borate have been isolated and resulted in a trigonally distorted octahedral geometry (134).^{541,664-666} An unusual bidentate bonding mode was observed for the same tris(pyrazolyl)-borate ligand when solvents other than DMF were used; the use of non-DMF solvents led to the decomposition of the original complex (134) into (135).⁶⁶⁷ One complex that contains a coordinating ferrocenecarboxylate ligand is EPR active; upon oxidation of the ferrocenecarboxylate ligand the complex becomes EPR silent.⁶⁶⁴ Most of the dibridged V^{IV} tris(pyrazolyl)borate dimers are moderately antiferromagnetically coupled.⁶⁶⁶



Figure 12 Structural illustrations of (133–142).

A pentadentate O_3N_2 -donor ligand was found to bind two vanadyl ions. One amino and one alkoxy donor from each ligand bind to each vanadium while a third alkoxy donor bridges the two vanadium atoms; the square–pyramidal coordination spheres are completed by a bridging pyrazolate molecule.⁶⁶⁸

A number of macrocyclic ligands containing three N-donor and more functionalities have also been shown to bind V^{IV}. A macrocycle designed to bind two metals only complexed one oxovanadium(IV), however a sulfate moiety was associated with two protonated amine groups (136).⁶⁶⁹ Examples of non-oxo-V^{IV} complexed to cage-like macrocycles have also been reported.^{621,670} For the V^{IV} cage complex of the ligand derivative which contains two terminal $-NH_3^+$ groups, the X-ray crystal structure was determined and based upon charge considerations, two of the six coordinating amino groups must be deprotonated (137).⁶²¹ Because of the disorder in the crystal, spectroscopic studies were undertaken to establish which nitrogen donors were deprotonated, however these studies were inconclusive.⁶⁷⁰ A non-oxo-V^{IV} ion bound to a pendant-arm macrocycle based on 1,4,7-triazacyclononane was found to co-crystallize with the analogous Zn^{II} complex to form a dimer linked by hydrogen-bonding interactions (138).⁶⁷¹ Complexes with two different, potentially hexadentate ligands (O₂N₄ and O₃N₃) containing phenolate, hydroxyl, imidazole, or pyridyl-type functionalities were investigated;⁶⁷² only five of the donor atoms in each ligand coordinate to the vanadium. Dinuclear μ -hydroxo, μ -oxo, and μ -carboxylato V^{IV} tacn complexes (139) show $d_{x^2-y^2}^{-1}$

 \overline{C} omplexes of ligands with O-donors and two or three N-donors are known. The kinetics of the outer-sphere oxidation of *cis*-aquaoxovanadium(IV) complexes of [2-(pyridylmethyl)imino]diacetate and its derivatives were determined.⁶⁷⁵ Complexes with Schiff bases have been used to mimic the structure and chemistry of vanadium bromoperoxidase.²⁷⁵ The ligation of an imidazole functionality in the ligand has been found to readily dissociate, and is important to the functional aspects of this complex.²⁷⁵ A variety of five-coordinate complexes with tridentate Schiff base complexes have been prepared, several of which have been found to form supramolecular polymeric structures through association between the V=O groups in a $\{V=O \cdots V=O \cdots V=O\}$ pattern (140).⁶²⁷

Several oxovanadium(IV) complexes (141) with ON-donor ligands were prepared from $[VOCl_2(thf)_2]$ (thf = tetrahydrofuran) and *ortho*-substituted phenols to study the electronic effects of *para* substituents in order to develop better $[VCl_2(OR)_2]$ -type olefin polymerization catalysts.⁶⁷⁶ The hyperfine coupling constants, the HOMO–LUMO transitions, and the oxidation potentials were all found to be linearly related to the Hammett σ constant of the substituent on the monoanionic aryloxy ring.⁶⁷⁶

A structurally characterized complex of N,N'-bis(2-pyridylmethyl)-(S)-histidine was also found to have insulin-enhancing properties (142).⁵⁶⁴ Complexes with ligands such as pyrrolidine-N-carbo-dithioate⁵⁶² and N-2-(pyridylmethyl)-(S)-histidine⁵⁶⁴ exhibited similar insulin-enhancing properties.

4.4.4.4 Sulfur Ligands

Only a few examples of monodentate S-donor ligands have been reported and include thiourea complexes with V^{IV_677} A simple coupling product from the reaction of terpyridine with the tetrathiolatovanadate anion has been prepared and structurally characterized (143).⁶⁷⁸ The reactions of VO₂⁺ with various phosphodithiolates have been reviewed.⁶⁷⁹ The parent and V=S substituted complexes with ethane-1,2-dithiolate ligands have a square–pyramidal coordination geometry around the vanadium atoms (144).⁶⁸⁰ The oxidation potentials of these systems were unusually low compared to VS(acen)₂ (acen = N,N'-ethylene-bis(acetylacetonylidene-amine)).⁶⁸¹ Dithiocarbamate complexes (145) have been synthesized and tested for insulin-enhancing properties.^{562,563} A tris(dithiolene)V^{IV} complex [V(SC₂H₂S)₃] (146) was prepared and its structure was found to have D_{3h} symmetry; EPR measurements are consistent with a V^{IV} center, thus implying that a formal charge of -4 is delocalized over the three ligands.⁶⁸² Complexes derived from more bulky dithiolene ligands exhibited distorted octahedral geometries.⁶⁸² Compounds with ligands of even higher sulfur to carbon ratios have been described.⁶⁸³ The reaction between the vanadyl cation and 1,2-dicyanoethylene-1,2-dithiolate forms a complex that has been characterized both in solution and in the solid state (147).⁶⁸⁴ The synthesis of dihalobis(dialkyl-dithiocarbamato)vanadium(IV) complexes and their characterization has been reported for both the chloro and bromo derivatives.⁶⁸⁵ The stoichiometric reaction of [VCl(dipp)₂(thf)₂]



Figure 13 Structural illustrations of (143–154).

(dipp = 2, 6-diisopropylphenoxide) with 2,2'-oxydiethanethiol, O(EtSH)₂, forms an oxidized product $[V{O(CH_2CH_2S)_2}_2]$ (148) and a reduced product $[V(CH_3CN)_6][VCl_2{O(CH_2CH_2S)_2}_2]$ (149).⁶⁸⁶

Bidentate ligands containing OS donors, particularly in conjunction with carboxylate moieties, form strong complexes at pH values near the pK_a value for the thiol.^{584,602,687–689} The reduction of V^{IV} to V^{III} by cysteine methyl ester in water has been found to be enhanced in the presence of amino polycarboxylates.⁶⁹⁰ The ligand 2-mercapto-4-methylphenol forms a square–pyramidal five-coordinate complex with the vanadyl cation (**150**); the reported crystal structure is of the cis isomer.⁶⁹¹ The bidentate ligand 2-aminocyclopent-1-ene-1-carbodithioic acid forms non-oxo-V^{IV} complexes; based on spectroscopic studies and chemical precedence, an eight-coordinate vanadium atom is inferred.⁶⁹²

Contrary to hard and soft acid-base predictions, the first example of a vanadyl-thioether complex has been made (151).⁶⁹³ The crown thioether 1,4,7-trithiacyclononane forms a stable 1:1 coordination complex upon reaction with VCl₃; the presence of adventitious water likely explains the hydrolysis/oxidation of V^{III} to form V^{IV}O^{2+.693} Complexes with a variety of bi- and tetradentate S-donor functionalities have been prepared as model complexes for nitrogenase.^{498,694} These complexes have some structural similarities to the binding site of nitrogenase, however, in contrast to the cofactor they fail to convert N₂ to NH₃.

Glutathione is another ligand that has been investigated for complex formation.^{689,695,696} Given the sensitivity of the EPR parameters to the equatorial coordination sphere of the vanadium atom, structural predictions have been made based on solution studies for a range of glutathione model complexes.⁶⁹⁷

4.4.3.5 Halides

The structure of a vanadyl tetrachloride salt has been characterized with the 1-ethyl-3-methylimidazolium cation (152).⁶⁹⁸ The coordination chemistry of VO²⁺ with F⁻ was investigated in ionic melts.⁶⁹⁹ X(α) calculations were carried out to characterize the electronic structures and *d*-*d* spectra of V^{IV} and VO²⁺ complexes; these calculations correctly predicted the energy level scheme for the $[VOCl_4]^{2-}$ species.⁷⁰⁰ Monodentate and bidentate adducts of $[VOCl_2]$ with alkoxides and ketones were described and their solvation properties were documented.⁷⁰¹ The chlorination reactions of a number of tetra-, tri-, and bidentate Schiff base V^{IV} complexes with SOCl₂ and SeOCl₂ were characterized by EPR spectroscopy and their solvation properties investigated.⁷⁰²

4.4.3.6 Phosphorus and Other Ligands

Vanadium(IV) complexes with triphenylphosphine and dimethylphenylphosphine have been prepared and their properties evaluated.⁷⁰³ The selenolates { V^{IV} [SeSi(SiMe₃)₃]₄} (153) and { V^{II} [Se-Si(SiMe₃)₂]_n} were formed from a disproportionation reaction of the corresponding V^{III} dimer complex; the monomeric V^{III} complex could be isolated with an appropriate neutral monodentate ligand (154).⁷⁰⁴ Vanadium(IV) complexes with 1,2-diselenosquarate have been prepared.⁷⁰⁵ The topic of V^{IV} –C compounds has been described more thoroughly in the companion series *Comprehensive Organometallic Chemistry*; some examples include [V(mes)₃(OSiMe₂^tBu)] and [V(mes)₃(OSiPh₃)] (mes = mesityl).⁴⁷⁷

 $[V(mes)_3(OSIPh_3)]$ (mes = mesity).⁴⁷⁷ Dinuclear Cu^{II} – V^{IV} complexes exhibit ferromagnetic coupling for the single unpaired electron in the d⁹ and d¹ ions.⁷⁰⁶ Other heterodinuclear complexes in which superhyperfine coupling has been observed include the dinuclear V^{IV} – Tl^I enzyme complexes in pyruvate kinase⁷⁰⁷ and *S*-adenosylmethionine synthase.⁷⁰⁸

4.4.4 VANADIUM(III)

4.4.4.1 Chemistry of Hydrated V^{III} Ions

Although water (and solvent) exchange is critical to understand complex formation and reactivity of metal ions in solution, experimental information with regard to the V^{III} and V^{II} systems has only recently emerged because of the difficulty of directly measuring water and solvent exchange for these ions. Experiments to measure the activation parameters by high-pressure NMR methods and theoretical methods have recently addressed these questions both in water^{709,710} and in dimethylsulfoxide.⁷¹¹ An associative (I_a) mechanism seems to be favored in general;^{709–712} and an analysis of the ligand field stabilization energies has been carried out.⁷¹³ The stereochemistry and electronic structure of the [V(OH₂)₆]³⁺ cation can result in structural abnormalities which may be observed in the solid state.⁷¹⁴

4.4.4.2 Oxygen Ligands

4.4.4.2.1 Monodentate, one oxygen donor

Vanadium(III) alkoxides with the formula $[V(OR)_3]$ tend to be inert and fail to react with ligands even under forcing conditions. However, ligands in which the alkoxide is derivatized with electronegative substituents, such as haloethoxides, result in $\{V(OR)_3\}$ species that forms complexes with pyridine, picolinic acid, and ethers (155).⁷¹⁵ The first homoleptic V^{III} complex with a derivatized D-glucofuranoside was structurally characterized and found to react with pyridine.⁷¹⁶ In the presence of alkali cations, this compound also adds an additional three ligands to generate a complex with pseudo-octahedral geometry.⁷¹⁷

Phenoxide complexes have been of interest in catalysis because of their role as procatalysts for ethylene polymerization^{25,718} and because in biology these complexes are found in certain organisms such as tunicates.^{40,719–721} A variety of mononuclear $(156,157)^{81,718,722-724}$ and dinuclear $(158–161)^{718,722,725}$ V^{III} complexes have been made with simple⁷²³ and sterically hindered^{81,718,722} phenoxide ligands. The phenoxide can coordinate in a terminal (158) or bridging (158,159) manner. Complexes in which esters are bound through the C=O groups have also been reported (160).⁷²⁵

Two major groups of oxo-bridged dimers are the linear (μ -oxo) core (162) and the ligand-supported (μ -oxo)-bis(μ -carboxolato) core (163). The {V^{III}- μ -O-V^{III}} complexes (162) show



Figure 14 Structural illustrations of (155–167). The charges are given for structures and for structure types in which all the complexes have the same charge. For structure types that have differently charged ligands, no charge is given.

ferromagnetic coupling of the two V^{III} (d²) ions. A theoretical study suggests that the occurrence of either ferromagnetism or antiferromagnetism is attributed to the balance of covalent and charge-transfer configurations.⁷²⁶ Members of the class of compounds described by the structural motif in (163) show strong ferromagnetic coupling interactions. Protonation of (163) results in (164) which is now antiferromagnetically coupled.^{727,728} To permit the structural characterization of these systems (163,164) a stabilizing ligand such as tris(pyrazolyl)borate ligand was used.⁷²⁹ Additional structural motifs have been reported including (165,166). A particularly interesting example of (164) was reported in which H-bonding was observed between the bridging proton and a tetrahydrofuran molecule sandwiched between the stabilizing tris(pyrazolyl)borate ligand.⁷²⁹ Several variations on the (163,164) motif have been reported,⁷³⁰ including the class of complexes illustrated by the trinuclear structure (165).⁷³¹ The structural motif found in (166),

coined the "butterfly" (or "diamond core") structure of the {V—O—V—O} type, is described in detail for the analogous V^V complexes (*vide supra*). In (166) two additional vanadium atoms supported by a bidentate ligand make up the tetranuclear cluster with several carboxylate groups chelated to the various vanadium centers in pair-wise fashion.⁷³² In addition to representing a beautiful solid state structure, these compounds remain intact in solution, and exhibit out-of-phase a.c. susceptibility signals, a signature of single-molecule magnets.^{732,733} Some of these compounds possess both ferro- and antiferromagnetic exchange interactions leading to spin-frustration effects and an S = 3 ground state.^{732,733}

A number of phosphate and phosphonate complexes have been reported. These are important because of the role of $[(VO)_2P_2O_7]$ in the selective oxidation of *n*-butane to maleic anhydride.⁷³⁴ Representative complexes include V^{III} bound to various protonation states of phosphate/pyrophosphate,^{734,735} complexes containing additional cations,⁷³⁶ and other anions.^{737,738} A variety of structural motifs can form, and some of these are structural analogs of V^{III}–DNA interactions.⁷³⁹ These types of complexes and interactions are of interest since it has been shown that various forms of vanadium can cleave DNA.^{740,741}

The interaction of sulfate with V^{III} is of importance with regard to understanding the role of V^{III} in tunicates.⁷⁴²⁻⁷⁴⁴ Various types of model complexes have been reported showing that the sulfate can be either monodentate or bidentate in the presence or absence of stabilizing ligands.^{745,746} Spectroscopic studies have been carried out on the tunicate *Ascidia ceratodes* showing that V^{III} ions in the tunicates exist as a mixture of monomeric $[V(H_2O)_6]^{3+}$ and $[(VSO_4)(H_2O)_{4-5}]^+$ (167).⁷⁴² Recently a protein that complexes vanadium has been isolated from tunicates, and its selectivity for vanadium has been demonstrated.^{17,214,740}

4.4.4.2.2 Bidentate, one or two oxygen donors

Adenine complexes forming with V^{III} were characterized using potentiometry and UV-vis spectroscopy.⁷⁴⁷ In contrast to their mononuclear structure (**168**),⁵⁰⁹ catecholate ligands form dinuclear complexes with V^{III} (**162**), which may be of interest because of their potential as ethylene polymerization catalysts.^{25,718} Bidentate alkoxy ligands such as 2-tetrahydrofurfuroxide form complexes containing both V^{III} and Mg^{II} which may be potential polymerization procatalysts and N₂ activators.⁷⁴⁸ A series of 1:3 (metal:ligand) complexes of acac have been reported (**168**).⁷⁴⁹ The acac ligand serves to stabilize the vanadium, allowing a range of other heteroligand complexes to be isolated including ether⁷⁴⁹ and halide^{749,750} complexes. Small solvent guest molecules co-crystallize with these compounds,⁷⁵¹ and cluster compounds larger than the 1:3 complex were observed by mass spectroscopy.⁷⁵² Acac groups incorporated in a greater ligand framework can lead to dinuclear complexes.⁷⁵³ but such ligand extensions do not enhance the Ziegler–Natta catalytic properties of these complexes.⁷⁵⁴ A similar complex with the general structure (**168**) was reported with the ligand 2-(diphenylphosphinoyl)propanoic acid.⁷⁵⁵ Oxalate forms a monomeric, six-coordinate complex with V^{III} (**169**);⁷⁵⁶ however, if sulfate is present a coordination polymer is formed (**170**).⁷⁴⁶ The synthesis and characterization of a V^{III} complex with picolinic acid (**171**) showed that this complex remained stable in solution for saveral days and survived heating up to 180°C without

The synthesis and characterization of a V^{III} complex with picolinic acid (**171**) showed that this complex remained stable in solution for several days and survived heating up to 180 °C without oxidative decomposition.⁷⁵⁷ Complexes with amino acids including proline, phenylalanine, tryptophan, and valine have also been prepared and characterized.⁷⁵⁸ The complex that forms with histidine was investigated in the solid state^{759,760} and in solution by potentiometry.⁷⁶¹ A mixed complex with both picolinate and dipicolinate ligands containing seven-coordinate V^{III} was reported.⁷⁶² A V^{III} complex with a bidentate Schiff base hydrazone was prepared and represents a rare example of one of the few structurally characterized V^{III} Schiff base complexes and the only structurally characterized V^{III} hydrazone complex (**172** and see Tables 4 and 5).⁷⁶³ (Hydroxyphenyl) oxazoline–vanadium(III) complexes have a high conformational rigidity in the oxazoline ligand which is attributed to an intramolecular H bond.⁷⁶⁴

4.4.4.2.3 Polydentate, two or more oxygen donors

The structure of a V^{III}-tetraethylene glycol complex was reported (**173**), and its V^V/V^{III} redox couple in acidic organic solutions was described.⁷⁶⁵ Metalation of monomethoxycalix[4]arene with $[V(mes)_3thf]$ led to various derivatives which were characterized by X-ray crystallography.⁷⁶⁶ The vanadium cap could be topped off with an oxo group, a diphenylhydrazine ligand, or by



Figure 15 Structural illustrations of (168–177). The charges are given for structures and for structure types in which all the complexes have the same charge. For structure types that have differently charged ligands, no charge is given.

dimerization. These complexes were utilized to model the interaction of vanadium compounds with oxo surfaces.⁷⁶⁶

Nitrilotriacetae and related ligands form 1:1 V^{III} complexes with three water molecules completing the coordination sphere (174).^{767–769} When one acetate group is exchanged with a pyridyl group, dinuclear complexes are isolated with ferromagnetically coupled spins.⁷⁶⁹ A wide range of EDTA-related ligands have been used to form V^{III} complexes. The structure of the parent complex,⁷⁷⁰ its monoprotonated form (175),⁷⁷¹ and a complex in which two propionate groups replace two of the acetate groups⁷⁶⁸ have been structurally characterized. The two-electron transfer process was investigated for a complex in which one carboxylate group in the ligand was substituted with an alkoxy group; an intermediate species was characterized (176).⁷⁷² The ethylene diamine unit has also been substituted with propylenediamine,⁷⁷³ 2-propanol-1,3-diamine,⁷⁷³ and 1,3-propanediamine.⁷⁷⁴ Other ligands with this basic structural motif but with important differences in coordinating donor atoms and their V^{III} complexes have been reported such as (177).⁷⁷⁵ Some of these complexes yield oxo-bridged dinuclear complexes upon base hydrolysis.^{768,774} In one complex a sulfate anion that is free in solution was found to coordinate to V^{III} in the solid state.⁷⁷⁶ The spectral differences between six- and seven-coordinate complexes, particularly in the near-infrared region, are diagnostic in both the solid state and in solution.⁷⁷⁷

4.4.4.3 Nitrogen Ligands

4.4.4.3.1 Monodentate, one nitrogen donor

Three pyridine ligands coordinate to V^{III} in a meridional configuration with the pyridines planes twisted significantly from the metal–ligand planes (178).⁷⁷⁸ The synthesis and structural



Figure 16 Structural illustrations of (178-188).

characterization of $N(SiMe_3)_2 - V^{III}$ complexes have been reported.³⁶² The silylamino(disilylamido) ligand was found to support a dimeric, non-metallocene V^{III} hydride-bridging structure (179).⁷⁷⁹

Vanadium(III) chloride in acetonitrile generates isomers of the $[VCl_3(CH_3CN)_3]$ adduct (the facial isomer is shown in (180)); solvent exchange takes place by two different mechanisms at two different types of CH₃CN sites in the complex.⁷⁸⁰ The kinetics of formation and dissociation of $[V(H_2O)_5NCS]^{2+}$ are consistent with an associative interchange (I_a) mechanism;⁷⁸¹ these results are in agreement with kinetic data obtained for the hexahydrate complex (*vide supra*). A dinuclear isocyanide complex capped with two phenolate groups was isolated from the reaction of isocyanide with a chlorovanadium(III) precursor rather than the expected product which would result from the insertion of isocyanide into the V—Cl bond.⁷⁸² A bulky amide has been designed for the purpose of preparing a coordinatively unsaturated vanadium complex, which resulted in the first mononuclear, homoleptic V^{III} amide complex (181).⁷⁸³ This complex reacts with chalcogens to yield diamagnetic, terminal chalcogenide derivatives.⁷⁸³

4.4.4.3.2 Bidentate, one or two nitrogen donors

(i) Amidinate ligands

A bidentate, amidinate ancillary ligand with a pendant tertiary amine functionality forms a complex with V^{III} in which the ligand adopts a facial geometry (182).⁷⁸⁴ This type of complex, in the presence of a co-catalyst, is effective in ethylene polymerization catalysis. Related complexes have been reported with the formamidinate ligand^{785,786} and a representative crystal structure shows the vanadium to have a severely distorted octahedral coordination environment (183).⁷⁸⁶ Benzamidate ligands were also investigated with regard to the structure of the metal complex and its activity in catalytic ethylene oligomerization.⁷⁸⁷ The pentafluorobenzamidinate ligand forms catalysts that are superior to the parent compounds.⁷⁸⁷

The vanadium-containing *Azotobacter vinelandii* nitrogenase enzyme reduces N₂ to produce NH₃ and trace amounts of N₂H₄. This enzymatic reaction prompted investigations of complex formation between V^{III} and N₂H₄ and its derivatives.⁸ Substituted hydrazines form dinuclear V^{III} complexes in which the hydrazide bridges the two V atoms (184).⁷⁸⁸ In mononuclear complexes, the two hydrazine groups are coordinated head-on in a trans configuration.⁷⁸⁸ While most hydrazide complexes coordinate in a head-on fashion, some have been proposed to coordinate in a side-on manner.⁷⁸⁹

 N_2 coordination by metal complexes is considered the first step in the N_2 fixation processes. The activation of N_2 , by forming end-on or bridging N_2 adducts in dinuclear systems, has been studied for several years.⁷⁹⁰ This reaction is particularly effective with early transition metal complexes where octahedral complexes tend to favor the high spin states of the metal.⁷⁹⁰ In dinuclear complexes the N_2 can be poorly to strongly activated depending on the charge of the complex, the presence of alkali atoms, and the spin state of the complex.⁷⁹¹ In mononuclear complexes N_2 is always poorly activated⁷⁹¹ and not surprisingly, no mononuclear { V^{III} — N_2 } complexes have been observed. The preparation and characterization of a { V^{III} — N_2 — V^{III} } complex has been reported (185).⁷⁹²

Dimeric oxo-bridged V^{III} complexes with bipy or phen as supportive ligands (**186**) were found to cleave DNA without the addition of exogenous oxidants or reductants.⁷⁴⁰ The dinuclear V^{III} complex formed from 2-(dimethylamino)ethanethiol has a linear $\{V-O-V\}^{4+}$ unit (**187**).⁷⁹³ This compound was the first example of a class of dinuclear complexes containing NS donors.⁷⁹³

Although the description of most organometallic complexes is beyond the scope of this review, some of these types of complexes are relevant to the goal of developing catalysts that fix N_2 . The V^{III} complex with the (dimethylamino)methylphenyl ligand (**188**) is an example of such a complex and is stable in solution.⁷⁹⁴

4.4.4.3.3 Polydentate, two or more nitrogen donors

A dinuclear V^{III} complex forms with the ligand 1,2-bis(2,2'-bipyridyl-6-yl)ethane and shows strong ferromagnetic coupling between the V atoms with $J > 100 \text{ cm}^{-1}$ (S = 2 ground state).⁷⁹⁵ A variety of heptadentate ligands designed to have bridging alkoxy groups were used to characterize binuclear V^{III} complexes; showing either ferromagnetic coupling (for the mixed alkoxide/ carboxylate-bridged systems) or antiferromagnetic coupling (for the dialkoxide-bridged system).⁷⁹⁶ The polydentate ligands serve as excellent supports for the metal ions as in, for example, the design of a μ -hydroxo dimer with three different functional groups coordinating the vanadium (189).⁷⁹⁷

A tetradentate N-donor ligand was used to form a monopyramidal V^{III} complex (190) that failed to bind even strong π acceptors such as CO; upon oxidation the complex dimerized.⁷⁹⁸ An interesting structure is observed for the mixed valence complex $[V_3Cl_5(tmeda)][V(NPh_2)_4]$ in which the three vanadium(II) ions are coordinated by tmeda ligands and bridging chlorides while the single vanadium(III) ion is coordinated solely by four diphenylamido ligands.⁷⁹⁹ A tridentate N-donor ligand such as 1,4,7-triazacyclononane facilitates self-assembly of the $\{V_2(\mu-O)(\mu-MeCO_2)_2\}^{2+}$ core.⁸⁰⁰ The tris(pyrazolyl)borate complex (191), on the other hand, has been used in the preparation of the V^{III} half-sandwich complex [η^5 -CpVCl₂] (Cp = cyclopentadienyl).⁸⁰¹

A tridentate N-donor ligand such as 1,4,/-triazacyciononane facilitates sen-assembly of the $\sqrt{2}(\mu^{-1}O)(\mu^{-}MeCO_{2})^{2^{+}}$ core.⁸⁰⁰ The tris(pyrazolyl)borate complex (**191**), on the other hand, has been used in the preparation of the V^{III} half-sandwich complex [η^{5} -CpVCl₂] (Cp = cyclopentadienyl).⁸⁰¹ The first V^{III} porphyrin species was isolated by electrochemical reduction of the corresponding non-oxo-V^{IV} porphyrin⁸⁰² and shortly thereafter the first structure of a V^{III} porphyrin was reported (**192**).⁸⁰³ These studies were supplemented by the structural characterization of a related V^{III} phthalocyanine complex.⁸⁰⁴ Bis(pyridyl)ketone undergoes reductive coupling in the presence


Figure 17 Structural illustrations of (189–193).

of vanadium⁸⁰⁵ and forms the corresponding V^{III} complex with a hexadentate coupled ligand (193).⁸⁰⁶ Coupling acac with ethylene diamine results in a tetradentate ligand that, upon complex formation, allows versatile chemistry to take place at the vanadium (54).³²⁸ Vanadium(III) Schiff base complexes with the structural motifs found in (40,42,51,53,54,61–63,65,66) have been prepared generating mononuclear and polymeric arrays (see Tables 4 and 5).^{364,807} A vanadium(III) dimeric μ -oxo Schiff base complex has been isolated.⁸⁰⁷ Heptadentate and octadentate ligands formed by Schiff base coupling reactions are found to form either a mononuclear vanadium complex with an O₃N₃ coordination sphere,⁸⁰⁸ or dinuclear vanadium complexes.^{369,809}

4.4.4.4 Sulfur Ligands

The V^{III} complex with L-cysteine was prepared and characterized; the crystal structure shows a 1:2 stoichiometry and that the two S-donors are trans to one another while the O- and N-donors are cis to one another (194).⁸¹⁰ With three different donor functionalities, this 1:2 complex illustrates key aspects of V^{III} coordination chemistry. To identify the mode of action of cellular vanadium species and the roles of cysteine and glutathione in cellular redox chemistry, the redox and complexation chemistry of vanadium with sulfur-containing ligands must be better



Figure 18 Structural illustrations of (194–199).

understood. A heteroleptic pentacoordinate V^{III} complex was obtained from the reaction of vanadium(III) and the bulky 2,4,6-tri(isopropyl)benzenethiolate in thf (**195**).⁸¹¹ Vanadium(III) complexes with dithiocarbamate have been prepared and structurally characterized showing that the dithiocarbamate group acts as a bidentate ligand (**196**).⁸¹²

The reactions of three different unsaturated vicinal thiolates with V^{III} led to several products, one of which was characterized by X-ray crystallography (197).⁸¹³ Extended Hückel molecular orbital calculations and structural data suggest that (197) is best described as a V^{III} complex with one oxidized ligand.⁸¹³ The reaction of V^{III} with ethanethiolate generates a mixed-valence binuclear complex (198) and a {V^{III}- μ -S-V^{III}- μ -S-V^{III}} trinuclear complex (199).⁸¹⁴ The structural, spectroscopic, and magnetic properties of these complexes were characterized in great detail. In the dimer the electrons are coupled in an antiferromagnetic manner, whereas the trimer has an S = 3 ground state that indicates ferromagnetic coupling between the V^{III} centers.⁸¹⁴

The sulfur-containing analogs of acac (with either one or two S atoms) have been prepared, and the V^{III} complexes described.⁸¹⁵ Vanadium(III) forms a linear trinuclear complex with 2-aminoethanethiolate and Rh^{III} or Ir^{III.816} A new class of ethylene polymerization catalysts has been introduced, the parent complex being a V^{III} complex with the 2,2'-oxydiethanethiolate ligand.⁸¹⁷ The V^{III} complex with two 3-thiapentane-1,5-dithiolato ligands forms a zigzag chain structure in the presence of Li⁺ ions.⁸¹⁸ These compounds were explored as potential ethylene polymerization catalysts in the presence of an aluminum co-catalyst; mechanistic studies suggest that when the O(CH₂CH₂S)₂²⁻ ligand migrates to an aluminum ion, it produces an "inactive" V^{II} species.⁶⁸⁶ When vanadium is incorporated into an iron–sulfur cluster [VFe₃S₄]²⁺ moieties are generated; these species are capable of catalyzing the reduction of hydrazine by cobaltocene/ lutidine hydrochloride.⁸¹⁹

4.4.4.5 Halides

The $[V_2Cl_9]^{3-}$ anion has been prepared and the structure shows three bridging chlorides (200).⁸²⁰ The six terminal chlorides of $[V_2Cl_9]^{3-}$ are readily exchanged with tetrahydrofuran to form $[(thf)_3V-\mu-Cl_3-V(thf)_3]^{3+}$ (201).⁸²¹ A dinuclear system with a bridging chloride and hydroxide demonstrates that even the bridging chlorides can be exchanged (201).⁸²² Mononuclear complexes have also been reported in which a {Li(thf)}⁺ unit coordinates to two of the four chlorides that are bound to the vanadium (202).⁸²³ VBr₃ was produced from the halide exchange reaction of VCl₄ with dry HBr at temperatures of ca. $-50 \degree C$ to $+30 \degree C$.⁸²⁴ A trichlorodiphosphine V^{III} complex has been reported into $[VCl_3(MeCN)(PPh_2Me)]$.⁸²⁵ Equilibrium studies on the complexation of Al^{III} and V^{III} by fluoride were investigated in molten KSCN.⁸²⁶ $[VF_5O]^{2-}$ and $[(VF_3O_2)]$ have been structurally characterized.⁸²⁷



Figure 19 Structural illustrations of (200–205).

4.4.4.6 Phosphorus and Other Ligands

The complex *trans-mer*-[VCl₃(OPMe₂Ph)(PMe₂PH)₂] has been prepared and structurally characterized; in solution, the chloride ligands are rapidly displaced by solvent or phosphine molecules.⁸²⁸ V^{III} reacts with aminotriphosphine to generate a complex which gives access to a new class of organometallic compounds (by reaction with alkyl or aryl lithium reagents).⁸²⁹ Other V^{III} complexes with monodentate phosphines have been structurally characterized (**203**).^{825,830} V^{III} tetraborohydride complexes have been prepared and structurally characterized (**204**,205).⁸³¹ Mononuclear complexes^{831,832} were prepared as well as one dinuclear complex (**205**) containing a

 V^{III} tetraborohydride complexes have been prepared and structurally characterized (204,205).⁸³¹ Mononuclear complexes^{831,832} were prepared as well as one dinuclear complex (205) containing a linear μ -oxo bridge.⁸³¹ An unusual feature of this compound is that it contains both a μ -oxo bridge and BH_4^- ligands which would not seem very likely to coexist in the same molecule. The organometallic $[V_2N_2(mes)_6]$ complex⁸³³ produces NH_4^+ and/or $N_2H_5^+$ with protic reagents.

4.4.5 VANADIUM(II)

The known V^{2+} complexes thus far reported contain primarily N-, O-, P-, and halide donor ligands. The predominant coordination geometry is octahedral, although some four- and five-coordinate complexes have been reported (*vide infra*). Because most V^{II} complexes are rather air sensitive and require oxygen-free environments for both synthesis and storage, contamination of V^{II} compounds with higher oxidation states is a problem.² Accordingly, aqueous salts of V^{II}, including the hexahydrate salt of VSO₄,⁸³⁴ were prepared initially from the electrolytic reduction of aqueous vanadyl sulfate solutions.² The production of V^{II} salts by treating vanadium metal with HCl or HBr in either water or acetic acid solutions were the first examples of chemically generated V^{II},⁸³⁵ a Zn/Hg amalgam has also been used to reduce solutions of V^{III} to V^{II.836} The solid-state structures of several vanadium(II) hydrates have been determined either by X-ray crystallographic or neutron diffraction techniques.^{834,837–841} A comparison of the V—O_{H2O} bond lengths⁸³⁷ shows that these bonds range from 2.10 Å to 2.15 Å; the 0.05 Å difference is the smallest of all the metals in the first transition series.⁸³⁹

A theoretical study that calculated the volume of activation of the water exchange process in $[V(H_2O)_6]^{2+}$ led to the proposal that water exchange proceeds via an I_a mechanism^{712,842} rather than a dissociative mechanism, the commonly accepted one.^{843,844} Stopped-flow methods showed that when the concentration of $[V(H_2O)_6]^{2+}$ exceeded 0.1 M, V^{II} reacted with dioxygen to yield vanadyl cations.⁸⁴⁵ Because no free peroxide was detected, the mechanism of this oxidation process was proposed to involve an equilibrium process between a V^{II}-dioxygen adduct and a μ -peroxo-V^{III} dimer (see Equation (2)). The one electron oxidation of $V(H_2O)_6^{2+}$ by cobalt(III) complexes with N-donor ligands⁸⁴⁶ or with pentacyanocobalt(III) complexes⁸⁴⁷ was found to involve outer-sphere mechanisms. In one of these systems the cobalt ion ligand framework contained a free phenanthroline unit,⁸⁴⁸ and the two-step process for the reduction of the cobalt ion involved binding of the V²⁺ to the free phenanthroline unit followed by subsequent electron transfer via an outer sphere process.⁸⁴⁸ Vanadium(II) hexahydrate ions have been shown to react with alkyl radicals to form alkanes and vanadium(III) hexahydrate ions.⁸⁴⁹

$$\left\{ \mathbf{V}^{\mathrm{II}}\mathbf{O}_{2}\right\}^{2+} + \mathbf{V}^{\mathrm{II}} \rightleftharpoons \left\{ \mathbf{V}^{\mathrm{III}} - \mathbf{O} - \mathbf{O} - \mathbf{V}^{\mathrm{III}}\right\}^{4+} \rightarrow 2\left\{ \mathbf{V}^{\mathrm{IV}}\mathbf{O}\right\}^{2+}$$
(2)

4.4.5.1 Oxygen Ligands

Mononuclear acetic acid complexes were prepared via the reaction of vanadium metal with acetic acid and HX gas (X = Br or Cl) giving a complex in which the carbonyl oxygens rather than the hydroxy oxygens of the acetic acid ligands bind to the vanadium (**206**).^{835,850} A series of V^{II} complexes with sterically hindered phenoxides have been prepared by ligand exchange reactions and have been structurally characterized (**207**).⁷²⁴ Nonaqueous sulfate salts of mono- and bidentate amino ligands are easily prepared from $[V(H_2O)_6]SO_4$ resulting in varying structural motifs; for example, $[V(bpy)_2SO_4]$ shows that the sulfate acts as a bidentate donor to the vanadium.⁸⁵¹ The first V^{II} ligated acac complex has been structurally characterized (**208**).⁷⁵³ A carboxylate-bridged dinuclear vanadium complex with a small amount of antiferromagnetic



Figure 20 Structural illustrations of (206–216).

coupling $(J = -21 \text{ cm}^{-1})$ was prepared from $[V_2(\mu-Cl_3)(\text{thf})_6]_2[\text{Zn}_2\text{Cl}_6]_2$ and NaO₂CCF₃.⁸⁵² While most V^{II} complexes contain six-coordinate vanadium,² a four-coordinate complex was obtained with 2,6-diisopropylphenol (**209**).⁸⁵³ This compound has a nearly square–planar vanadium atom with two pairs of *cis*-phenolate donors linked by a single {Li(thf)}⁺ unit.⁸⁵³ The V^{II} complex [H(thf)_n][V(CF₃CO₂)₃] was formed from the reaction of dimesitylvanadium(0) with triflic acid.⁸⁵⁴ Based upon IR and magnetic data, the complex was proposed to be mononuclear with a sixcoordinate vanadium center. The triflate moiety was susceptible towards nucleophiles and its reaction with methyl iodide yielded the methylated complex [V(CF₃CO₂)₂(CF₃CO₂CH₃)].⁸⁵⁴

4.4.5.2 Nitrogen Ligands

Monomeric V^{II} complexes with diamino, pyridyl, and pyrrolidyl ligands can be obtained from $[V_2(\mu-Cl_3)(thf)_6]_2[Zn_2Cl_6]$.⁸⁵⁵ The well-characterized *trans*-[V(tmeda)_2Cl_2] (**210**)⁸⁵⁵

has been used as a starting material for several metal complexes, including those with organic amidinate (RNC(R')NR⁻) and acetanilide (PhNC(Me)O⁻) ligands.^{856,857} A five-coordinate, square-pyramidal V^{II} complex was obtained with the 2,5-dimethylpyrrolyl ligand (**211**).

A cyanohydridoborato vanadium(II) complex, *trans*-[V(NCBH₃)₂(thf)₄], has been synthesized and structurally characterized (**212**).⁸⁵⁸ Additional oligomeric complexes have been prepared; complexes that have been characterized include trinuclear vanadium complexes,^{859–862} dinuclear V–Fe complexes,⁸⁶³ and the first tetranuclear V^{II} species [V₄(μ_3 -Cl)₂(μ -Cl)₂(μ -CF₃CO₂)₂(thf)₆].⁸⁶⁴ The addition of tris(pyrazolyl)borate ligand to the tetranuclear species results in the dissociation of the complex to form a neutral dimeric species [V(tpb)-(μ -Cl)(μ -CF₃CO₂)₂V(thf)₃] (**213**) in which one of the vanadium centers is facially coordinated by tpb.⁸⁶⁴

Amides and amidinate ligands (RNC(R')NR⁻) have been employed as precursors for dinuclear compounds with metal-metal bonds as well as N₂-bridged dinuclear vanadium complexes (**214–216**).^{857,865–867} The strong metal-metal bonds (1.97 Å) are readily cleaved by pyridine to yield a mononuclear complex [V(RNC(R')NR)₂(py)₂].⁸⁵⁷ The dinitrogen-bridged complex (**214**) has V—N and N—N bond lengths of 1.76 Å and 1.24 Å, respectively; these dinuclear complexes can be easily cleaved by the addition of thf, which results in the release of N₂ gas and the formation of a monomeric complex with the formula [V(RNC(R')NR)₂(thf)₂].⁸⁵⁷ Restricted Hartree–Fock (RHF) and configuration interaction *ab initio* calculations on N₂-bridged V^{II} and V^{III} hydrido complexes suggested that N₂ activation is greater for V^{II} bimetallic systems.⁷⁹¹ In contrast, neither the V^{III} bimetallic nor the monomeric V^{II} and V^{III} complexes showed significant activation of N₂.⁷⁹¹ A later theoretical study suggested that pseudo-octahedral V^{II} centers should have a larger degree of N₂ activation than pseudo-tetrahedral centers.⁷⁹⁰ This effect was attributed to the ability of an octahedral coordination environment to stabilize higher spin states that more easily facilitate N₂ activation.⁷⁹⁰

A vanadium(II) porphyrin complex was synthesized by the one-electron reduction of the corresponding V^{III} porphyrin with NaBEt₃H in thf.⁸⁶⁸ An octaethylporphyrinogen V^{II} complex was found to form a μ -N dinuclear V^{III} complex.⁸⁶⁹ If this monomeric porphyrinogen complex is left in thf solution for extended periods of time, it will abstract an oxygen atom from the solvent and form a vanadyl porphyrinogen.⁸⁶⁹

and form a vanadyl porphyrinogen.³⁰⁹ Polypyridyl V^{II} complexes have been obtained from V^{III} precursors by the disproportionation of V³⁺ to V²⁺ and VO²⁺⁸³⁶ and by the one-electron chemical reduction of V³⁺ by reducing agents such as Zn/Hg amalgam.⁸³⁶ Complexes reported include [V(trpy)(bpy)CI]⁺, [V(trpy)(bpy)H₂O]²⁺, [V(trpy)(bpy)CH₃CN]²⁺, and [V(trpy)₃]²⁺ (trpy = 2,2':6',2"-terpyridine).⁸³⁶ These ligands stabilize vanadium in the +3 to -1 oxidation states.⁸³⁶ Reaction of these complexes⁸³⁶ or of hexaaqua-vanadium(II) ions⁸⁴⁵ with dioxygen led to the formation of mononuclear vanadyl complexes via a {V³⁺-(μ -O)-V³⁺} bimetallic species. Although the electronic absorbance spectra and one-electron reduction of V^{II} polypyridyl complexes are sensitive to ligand coordination, the one-electron oxidation process showed little ligand dependence.⁸⁷⁰ Upon irradiation of [V(phen)₃]²⁺, a short-lived (<2 ns) excited state is observed. This excited state then decays into either a [V(phen)₃]³⁺ or a [V³⁺(phen)₂(μ -OH)₂V³⁺(phen)₂]⁴⁺ complex, depending on the oxidant used.⁸⁷¹ Studies have established that these lowest excited states are primarily metal to ligand charge transfer in character.⁸⁷² The first example of a photo-initiated two-electron oxidation in a d³ metal was achieved by irradiating a solution of [V(phen)₃]²⁺ and methyl viologen at pH 8; the resulting products are vanadyl cation and the reduced methyl viologen monocation.⁸⁷³

4.4.5.3 Sulfur Ligands

A vanadium(II)-tmeda complex with 2,6-dichlorothiophenolate has been reported with both S- and Cl-donor atoms (217).⁸⁷⁴ The thiolate donor atoms are trans to each other while the Cl atoms are trans to the N atoms in the tmeda ligand.⁸⁷⁴ The complex will react with azobenzene to give the phenylimido complex where one of the chloro-donor ligands is now trans to the imido nitrogen (218);⁸⁷⁴ this complex is structurally similar to other imidovanadium(IV) complexes.⁶⁴³⁻⁶⁴⁶ A V^{II} cysteine methyl ester complex has been shown to reduce water to H₂ but the mechanism of this process is not known.⁸⁷⁵



Figure 21 Structural illustrations of (217–229).

4.4.5.4 Halides

Complexes of the type $[L_3V(\mu-Cl)_3VL_3][BPh_4]$ (L = thf or 3-Me-thf) were synthesized from $[V_2(\mu-Cl_3)(thf)_6]_2[Zn_2Cl_6]$ and NaBPh₄ (L = thf) or from VCl₃, 3-Me-thf, NaBPh₄ and AlEt₂(OEt)₂ (L = 3-Me-thf).⁸⁷⁶ The dimeric $[V_2Cl_3(thf)_6][AlCl_2Et_2]$ reacts with methanol to form either $[V(MeOH)_6]Cl_2$ or $[VCl_2(MeOH)_4]$, depending on the method of isolation.⁸⁷⁷ Addition of trimethylphosphine (PMe₃) displaces the thf ligands without causing dissociation of the dimer as shown by X-ray crystallography.⁸⁷⁷ Another useful starting material, $[V_2(\mu-Cl_3)(thf)_6]_2[Zn_2Cl_6]$, can be prepared by the reduction of $[VCl_3(thf)_3]$ with zinc powder.⁸⁷⁸ This complex reacts with triphenylphosphine in benzene to form $[V_2(\mu-Cl_3)(thf)_5(PPh_3)]_2[Zn_2Cl_6]$,⁸⁷⁹ in thf to form $[Cl_2Zn(\mu-Cl_2V(thf)_4]$ (**219**) and in CH_2Cl_2 to form an oligomeric species containing one vanadium and two zinc centers, $[Cl(PPh_3)Zn(\mu-Cl)_2V(thf)_2(\mu-Cl)_2Zn(PPh_3)Cl]$ (**220**).⁸⁷⁹ Each tetrahedral zinc center is bridged by two chloride ions to the octahedrally coordinated vanadium with

two thf ligands.⁸⁷⁹ In an attempt to synthesize a vanadium(II) iodide complex, $[V(MeCN)_6][I_4]$, with the unusual tetraiodide dianion (I_4^{2-}) was structurally characterized.⁸⁸⁰ Utilizing $[V_2Cl_3(thf)_6][AlCl_2Et_2]$ as the vanadium precursor, $[VI_2(thf)_4]$ could be obtained; the complex is reactive and the thf ligands can readily be displaced by MeCN, MeOH, diamine, or diphosphine.⁸⁸⁰ The diethylphosphinoethane (depe) complex, $[VI_2(depe)_2]$, was crystallized and the iodide ligands were found to be trans to one another (**221**).

Addition of dimethylphosphinomethane (dmpm) to $[V_2(\mu-Cl_3)(thf)_6]_2[Zn_2Cl_6]$ in the presence of excess LiBH₄ leads to the formation of an edge-shared bioctahedron complex, $[VCl(dmpm)(BH_4)]_2$ (222).⁸⁸¹ The crystal structure shows each vanadium center to be bridged by two chlorides and the two diphosphine ligands; the BH₄⁻ ligand is presumed to be bidentate with the H-donors *trans* to the chloride bridges.⁸⁸¹ This structure is similar to one obtained earlier with diphenylphosphinomethane (dppm).⁸⁸² $[V_2(\mu-Cl_3)(thf)_6]_2[Zn_2Cl_6]$ is employed in organic synthesis. Some examples include the synthesis of HIV protease inhibitors,⁸⁸³ the synthetic removal of an α -hydroxy group in acyloin and its derivatives,⁸⁸⁴ and in the stereoselective synthesis of 1,2-diols via the pinacol cross-coupling of aldehydes.⁸⁰⁵

4.4.5.5 Other Ligands

The ability of phosphines to act as both a σ -donor to stabilize higher metal oxidation states and as a π acceptor to relieve electron density from lower metal oxidation states explains, in part, the observation that diphosphines stabilize the +3, +1, and 0 oxidation states at the expense of the +2 oxidation state.⁸⁷⁰ Vanadium(II) diphosphine halides, [V(dmpe)₂X₂] (dmpe=dimethyldimethylphosphinoethane, X = Br or I), were prepared as side products in the synthesis of [XV(CO)₂(dmpe)₂].⁸⁸⁵ The structurally characterized diphosphino V^{II} tetrahydroborate complex, *trans*-[V(BH₄)₂(dmpe)₂], (**223**) was synthesized via the reduction of similar vanadium(III) precursors.⁸³² The reaction of a vanadium(II) chloride salt with dmpe afforded the *trans*-[VCl₂(dmpe)₂] complex which can be alkylated with MeLi or MgMe₂ to afford the organometallic *trans*-[V(Me)₂(dmpe)₂]. Compound, which in turn reacts with thiocyanate to form *trans*-[V(NCS)₂(dmpe)₂]. Acetonitrile or propionitrile readily displace the chlorides from *trans*-[VCl₂(dmpe)₂] to form *trans*-[V(NCR)₂(dmpe)₂][BPh₄]₂ (R = Me or Et); the acetonitrile derivative reacts with HCPh(SO₂CF₃)₂ in acetonitrile solvent to yield the hexacetonitrile species [V(NCMe)₆]^{2+.887}

4.4.5.6 Mixed O-, N-, P-, and S-Donor Ligands

Saccharin and VSO₄ were employed to synthesize V^{II} complexes that could be employed as starting materials in different solvents.^{834,888} In the 1:2 complex the saccharinate ligands bind via their nitrogen donor atoms in a trans configuration (**224**).⁸³⁴ However, when (**224**) reacts with pyridine it generates an adduct with a ratio of V:saccharin:pyridine = 1:2:4 (**225**); the saccharin ligands are bound through a carbonyl oxygen donor presumably to lessen the steric crowding arising from the coordinated pyridine ligands.⁸³⁴ Pyridine carboxylate and sulfonate ligands have been utilized to generate complexes containing six-coordinate V^{II} (**226,227**) which are relatively air stable.⁸⁴¹ In the case of the chelated picolinic acid, the ligand is bidentate whereas for pyridine-3-sulfonate, the ligand is monodentate.⁸⁴¹ The reduction of $[Co(en)_3]^{3+}$ by $[V(pic)_3]^-$ proceeds by an outer sphere mechanism with a rate constant of 3,100 M⁻¹ s^{-1,889}

A mixed NS donor environment was obtained from the reaction of *trans*-[V(tmeda)₂Cl₂] with 1,2-bis(2-sulfido-phenylsulfanyl)ethane(2–) to yield (**228**) which is the first thioether V^{1I} complex isolated.⁶⁹⁴ Due to a side reaction, a trimetallic complex was isolated (**229**). While this product would formally be considered to have a V⁵⁺/V²⁺/V⁵⁺ configuration, a (V⁴⁺)₃ configuration is also possible.⁶⁹⁴

A theoretical evaluation of ligands that would stabilize a vanadium–vanadium triple bond was undertaken and concluded that O- and N-donors in amidates would yield the greatest stability.⁸⁹⁰ A lantern-type metal–metal bonded dinuclear V^{II} complex was synthesized by the reduction of $[VCl_3(thf)_3]$ with NaHBEt₃ followed by addition of the lithium salt of N,N'-di-p-tolylformamidate (**215**).⁸⁶⁵ The crystal structure shows the V ··· V distance to be 1.98 Å, which is consistent with a fairly strong metal–metal triple bond.⁸⁶⁵

4.4.6 VANADIUM IN LOW OXIDATION STATES (BELOW +2)

The chemistry of vanadium in oxidation states lower than +2 is comprised primarily of organometallic compounds (described more thoroughly in the companion series *Comprehensive Organometallic Chemistry*). These compounds are generally air and moisture sensitive. There is a limited number of ligands that stabilize low-valent vanadium; these typically include ligands with some π -acceptor capability such as bipyridine, nitric oxide, and phosphines. Depending on their electronic structure, V^I and V^{-I} complexes may be diamagnetic, which permits their study by NMR spectroscopy.^{891–896} EPR spectroscopy has been used to study paramagnetic V⁰ complexes.

4.4.6.1 Vanadium(I)

A V^I nitrosyl complex was synthesized with triethanolamine (tea)⁸⁹⁹ and was subsequently characterized by X-ray crystallography (230).^{891,899} The product, while formally considered to have a V^I center, is better described as a {V(NO)}⁵ species according to the Enemark–Feltham notation.⁹⁰⁰ The vanadium in [V(NO)(tea)]⁻ is in a distorted, trigonal–bipyramidal geometry with the amine and nitrosyl nitrogen donors in the axial positions and the three ethoxy oxygens in the meridional positions.^{891,899} A series of complexes based on derivatized triethanolamine ligands was prepared and spectroscopically characterized.⁸⁹¹ The reaction between [V(NO)(tea)]⁻ and CN⁻ initially formed a six-coordinate complex [V(NO)(tea)(CN)]²⁻ (231);^{891,899} additional equivalents of CN⁻ sequentially displaced all the oxygen donors to produce the previously isolated complex [V(CN)₆(NO)]⁴⁻.⁹⁰¹

4.4.6.2 Vanadium(0)

EPR spectroscopy was used to study the [V(bpy)₃] complex.⁸⁹⁷ The combined observation of an isotropic signal at ambient temperature, ^{898,902,903} and an axial signal in a frozen sample,⁸⁹⁷ led to the conclusion that the single unpaired electron is extensively delocalized on the bipyridyl ligand and has ~30% 3d metal character.⁸⁹⁷ The neutral V⁰ homoleptic hexakis(trifluorophosphine) complex [V(PF₃)₆] (**232**) has been prepared via the oxidation of [Na(diglyme)₂][V(PF₃)₆] with benzenediazonium tetrafluoroborate.⁹⁰⁴ The [V(PF₃)₆] complex was shown to oxidize sandwich compounds to form [MCp₂][V(PF₃)₆] salts (M = Fe³⁺, Co³⁺, Ni³⁺).⁹⁰⁴



Figure 22 Structural illustrations of (230–235).

4.4.6.3 Vanadium(-I)

Nitrosyl ligands stabilize V⁻¹ complexes because they are π acceptors which serve to remove electron density from electron-rich metals. Addition of bpy (or phen) to an aqueous solution of $[V(CN)_5(NO)]^{3-}$ produced a bis(bipyridyl) dinitrosyl complex $[V(NO)_2L_2][CN]$ (233).⁹⁰⁵ Similar products were obtained from mixtures of H₂VO₄⁻, hydroxylamine hydrochloride and pseudohalides such as NCS⁻ or N₃⁻.⁹⁰⁶ The vanadium centers having a formal -1 charge are also described as {V(NO)₂}⁶ moieties using the Enemark–Feltham notation.⁹⁰⁰ Phosphine and diphosphine ligands are used to stabilize V⁻¹ complexes produced from the

Phosphine and diphosphine ligands are used to stabilize V^{-1} complexes produced from the reduction of V^{III} salts in the presence of N_2 to yield *cis*- and *trans*-bis(dinitrogen) complexes as well as mono(dinitrogen) complexes.⁹⁰⁷⁻⁹⁰⁹ The *cis* isomers are the generally kinetic products while the trans isomers are typically the thermodynamically favored products, however most of the complexes are quite unstable in the solid state even under a dinitrogen atmosphere.⁹⁰⁹ An X-ray crystal structure was obtained for the trans diphenylphosphinoethane derivative (234).⁹⁰⁸ The series of V^{-1} complexes has been expanded to include systems with monodentate and tetradentate phosphine ligands; a *cis*-bis(dinitrogen) complex was obtained for (235).⁹⁰⁹ Inspection of the spectroscopic data indicates an ion-pair interaction of the type $V-N=N\cdots M^+$.⁹⁰⁹ Results from computational studies on the model complex [V(PH_3)₄(N₂)₂]⁻ suggest that the anionic vanadium center favors metal to ligand π -back backbonding while hampering ligand to metal σ donation.⁹¹⁰ This is consistent with the observed reductive protonation of these types of complexes by acids to form NH⁴₄ ⁹⁰⁷⁻⁹⁰⁹ and the ability of CO and isocyanides to easily displace coordinated N₂.⁹⁰⁹ These reactivity patterns are consistent with weak $V-N\equiv N$ interactions.

4.4.7 TOPICAL SUMMARY OF PROGRESS IN VANADIUM CHEMISTRY

As indicated by the preceding review of the literature, the knowledge and understanding of vanadium chemistry has undergone incredible growth since the early 1980s. In this review we have mainly described the advances in vanadium chemistry from a structural viewpoint, but in this section we will highlight areas in which important advances of relevance to vanadium chemistry occurred. This section will thus give the reader a topical overview with keywords and some surnames of contributing groups to provide rapid avenues of access into vanadium chemistry. Since the objective with this section is to expand the scope of the review, references will be made to scientists/teams in vanadium chemistry, biochemistry and/or biology, regardless of whether their recent work has been within the scope of this review.

Vanadium solution chemistry is very complex. Nevertheless, these reactions remain a crucial cornerstone because the species present in solution and their reactivity patterns are likely to affect the studies and properties of several other classes of compounds. Generally, the aqueous solution chemistry is more complex than the solution chemistry in organic solvents. Both environments, however, are relevant to bioinorganic chemistry and reactions catalyzed by vanadium or other transition metal catalysts. Solution studies investigating the different species that form in aqueous solution are often carried out using potentiometry. Several groups have been using this method for many years (Pettersson and Kiss). However, complementary methods such as NMR, EPR, and UV-visible spectroscopy as well as electrochemistry are being increasingly used for studies that characterize the species that exist in solution (Howarth, Tracey, Crans, Redher, Costa Pessoa, Pecoraro, Collison, de Silva, Kanamori, Cortizo, Etcheverry, and Williams). Furthermore, additional spectroscopic tools continue to provide fundamental information regarding the properties of vanadium compounds (le Brutto, Dikanov, Eaton, and Makinen).

Fundamental coordination chemistry has developed on many fronts. Peroxovanadium compounds have been the center of many studies (Conte, Butler, Pecoraro, Schwendt, Shaver, Sivak, Stomberg, Won, Sergienko and Kanamori) due to their intriguing structures and reactivities as well as their potential applications in catalysis. Coordination complexes continue to be reported by numerous groups, and include reactions with naturally occurring ligands such as amino acids as well as the gamut of synthetic ligands. Reactions of polydentate ligands with vanadium in various coordination environments have been tackled by many groups and resulted in many new classes of compounds. Of these classes the salen-type vanadium–ligand complexes are the largest group. Among the Schiff base vanadium complexes a great variety is found in reactivity although the structural changes are relatively small (see Table 4). Other new classes of compounds such as the vanadium–sulfur-type complexes have emerged as particularly interesting classes of compounds (Rehder, Cornman, and Sobota). The majority of contributions to vanadium chemistry

each year is in the general area of coordination compounds (this review) and organometallic vanadium compounds (reviewed in the companion series *Comprehensive Organometallic Chemistry*). The groups involved with unraveling the fundamental vanadium chemistry and novel classes of coordination compounds are too many to name. Readers interested in this area should consult the body of this review and the original literature cited therein.

The bioinorganic chemistry and biochemistry of vanadium continues to grow and at this time contains several distinct, thriving areas worldwide. Perhaps the areas with greatest numbers of investigators are the modeling and studies of haloperoxidases (Vilter, Butler, Wever, Pecoraro, Rehder, Messerschmidt, Littlechild, Conte, and Plass), and the various aspects of studies with vanadium compounds as potential insulin enhancers (Shechter, Sakurai, McNeill/Orvig, Posner, Brichard and Crans/Willsky). Other areas of interest to the biochemist include the ability of vanadate to act as a phosphate analog (Gresser, Crans), to act as a phosphatase inhibitor (van Etten, Gresser, Tracey, Crans, Cornman, Rusnak, Shechter, and Posner), to act as an inhibitor for phosphorylases or ribonucleases (Cantley, Lindquist/Lienhard, and Berger) and the role of vanadium in vanadium-containing nitrogenases (Eady, Hales, Holm, Coucouvanis, and Armstrong). Some time ago, the investigation into the ability of vanadate to affect the Na⁺-, K⁺-ATPase was of interest to many biochemists (see reviews by Kustin and Nechay), considering its effect on transport and the reported affinity of about 10^{-9} M. The use of vanadate to photolytically cleave myosin at one specific amino acid (Cremo, Yount, and Mocz) and the NADPH-induced oxidase activity (Fridovich and Willsky) were also very active areas of research during the ten years up to 2002. Transferrin and human serum albumin binds vanadium both in oxidation states IV and V (Chasteen). Many additional areas have emerged, such as the identification of proteins that bind vanadium called vanabins (Michibata), anti-tumor properties of vanadium complexes (Marks, Djordevic and Chasteen), and the effects of vanadium compounds on cell growth and/or apoptosis (Willsky, Crans, Etcheverry, Galindo, Shi, Cortizo, Okazaki, and Sakurai). The inhibitory effects of vanadate on lactamases (Pratt) document that vanadate can also be inhibitory towards enzymes that do not catalyze reactions involving phosphate-containing substrates or co-factors. The ability of peroxovanadium compounds to react with DNA (Carrano and Ley) is likely to be investigated further now that the direct effects of metal ions on transcription factors have been reported. Thus, there is no doubt that the growth in this area is likely to continue to accelerate and as a deeper understanding of the mode of action of vanadium compounds is unraveled, applications of greater importance are to be anticipated.

Related areas include the investigations into the nutritional value of vanadium. Regardless of whether vanadium is essential, multiple researchers support the position that a low level of vanadium has beneficial effects, whereas others are convinced of its toxicity. Vanadium is present at low levels in most vitamins, however, the controversy regarding whether or not vanadium is a nutritional element continues to rage, with even the premier researchers in this area changing positions as new results come to light (Nielsen). High levels of vanadium are indeed toxic with the initial symptoms being diarrhea and "green tongue."

Environmental aspects of vanadium chemistry include vanadium chemistry in solution, gaseous, and solid states, and thus span a wide range of the properties of vanadium compounds. The recent compendium of reviews of the environmental chemistry of vanadium has shown that this area does have many contributors (contributed to and edited by Nriagu). Vanadium is a side product from refining coal, because vanadyl porphyrins are very stable (their stability is exceeded only by the nickel porphyrins).

In the *Amanita muscaria* mushrooms a naturally occurring vanadium-containing compound, amavadine, exists and the unusual structure and properties of this complex were elucidated in the last decade (Bayer, Carrondo, da Silva, Pombeiro, and Garner). Amavadine contains eight-coordinate vanadium with each of the two hydroxylamido ligands being tetradentate. However, amavadine is not the only type of naturally occurring vanadium complex; some siderophores have been shown to bind vanadium (Raymond, Carrano, Pecoraro and Butler). The most dramatic example of the accumulation of vanadium compounds is found for the ascidians, which are also referred to as tunicates. These organisms can accumulate vanadium up to about 200–300 mM, which is $\sim 10^6$ times the concentration of vanadium in seawater (Kustin, Frank, Hodgson, Hawkins, and Michibata). A vanadium accumulating polychaete worm has also been reported (Ishii).

In addition to the bulk industrial applications of vanadium oxides in preparation of maleic anhydride from *n*-butate, vanadium compounds have for some time been useful catalysts in organic synthesis. The number of contributions in this area has increased tremendously aided by key contributions from several synthetic groups (Hirao, Modena, Furia, Conte, Pedersen,

Bolm, Yamamoto, Uang, Chen, Hessen, Feringa, and Hage). The most generally known agent, vanadyl acac, is still used successfully as an oxidizing agent although many more applications are now known with other vanadium compounds. The early applications of vanadium catalysts involved the oxidation of alcohols to ketones and oxidation reactions continue to be an important application of vanadium complexes, however the scope of the oxidation has dramatically expanded (Hirao, Bolm, and Yamamoto). At this time oxidation reactions being performed in the presence of vanadium complexes include dehydrogenation, oxygenation, oxidative coupling, oxidative decarbonylation, desilylation and oxidation of carbonyl compounds and heteroatom-containing compounds. The reductive chemistry reported includes dehalogenation, deoxygenation, hydrogenation, and coupling reactions such as C—C bond formation reactions between aldehydes, alkenes, alkynes and dienes, and organotin compounds (Pedersen, Hirao, Hage, Hessen, and Nishiguchi). Recent emphasis has also been on carrying out transformations in an enantiomeric manner; for example, strategies have been reported for enantioselective sulfide oxidations (Bolm) and enantioselective epoxidations of allylic alcohols (Bolm and Sharpless).

Applications of vanadium complexes in catalysis are well illustrated by the increasing number of reports involving vanadium complexes in various aspects of olefin polymerizations (Karol, Gambarotta, Green, Gibson, Sobota, Hessen, Sato, and Nomura). A variety of polymers and polymer molecular weights have been prepared using vanadium co-catalysts (Karol, Gambarotta, Hessen, Sobota, and Tsuschida). The objectives are to prepare polymers of desired and defined lengths, properties (e.g., tacticity) and purity. This area of vanadium chemistry is nonaqueous and often involves organometallic reagents, although vanadium coordination complexes are now solidifying a role in this chemistry, whether as co-catalysts (Gambarotta, Hessen, Sobota, Sato, and Nomura) or more recently as catalysts (Sobota). A wide variety of vanadium coordination complexes have been found to be effective in catalytic processes including imido, aryloxo and thiolato complexes. In general, these complexes contain vanadium(III), although vanadium(IV) catalysts have also been reported. The vanadium catalysts designed to activate N_2 (Schrock and Yamamoto) link the areas of catalyst development and bioinorganic modeling reactions of nitrogenase (Holm, Coucouvanis, Armstrong, and Rehder). At this stage both some structural and functional model systems have been prepared and the effects of compound nuclearity and ligand selection are being investigated.

Magnetic properties of vanadium compounds continues to be of interest (Wieghardt, Staemmler, Müller, Christou, Hendrickson, Hitchcock, Carrano, Costes, and Glebov) in part because the rich redox chemistry allows for a wide range of electronic states, supporting essentially all types of magnetic properties. V^V complexes are typically diamagnetic; V^{IV} , V^{II} and V^0 complexes are generally paramagnetic, and V^{III} , V^I and V^{-1} complexes can be either diamagnetic or paramagnetic. The magnetism of the compounds has been examined both in the solid state and in solution, and complexes that have been of particular interest are dinuclear mixed valence complexes or larger mixed-valence clusters. Heterometallic complexes have also been investigated, which allowed the characterization of complexes with ferromagnetic and antiferromagentic properties (Wieghardt, Hitchcock, Staemmler, Costes, and Glebov). Studies on some $V^{III} - \mu$ -O-V^{III} complexes reveal that ferromagnetic coupling between the two V^{III} (d²) ions is observed. However, when the balance of covalent and charge-transfer configurations is favorable, antiferromagnetic coupling can be observed by, for example, protonation of the bridging oxo ligand of the $V^{III} - \mu$ -O-V^{III} unit (Wieghardt). The "butterfly" (or diamond core) structures consist of a dinuclear $\{V_2O_2\}$ core to which two additional vanadium atoms are added, supported by a bidentate ligand (Christou). These compounds remain intact in solution, and exhibit out-of-phase a.c. susceptibility signals, a signature of single-molecule magnets. Some of these compounds possess both ferro- and antiferromagnetic exchange interactions leading to spin-frustration effects and an S = 3ground state.

The solid state properties of vanadium-containing materials of which vanadium oxide (Kniep, Stiegman, Carrano, Zubieta, and Khan) is an important member due to its role in the oxidation of *n*-butate to maleic anhydride. Although many solid state systems are polymeric and cannot be characterized as coordination complexes, the determination of the solid state structures does provides clues to properties of the smaller unit. Important progress has taken place in the area regarding the development of new materials, their surface properties, and electron transfer processes. The areas of vanadium-containing organometallics, compounds in which the vanadium is part of an oxometalate cluster, and heteropolyoxometalates continue to grow. The vanadium can take on the role as a cluster scaffold or as a substituting metal ion and provides changes in the properties of the complexes as described by Pope and Hill elsewhere in this volume.

Many of the current studies on vanadium systems in the lower oxidation states (II, I, 0, -I) are addressing fundamental investigations regarding structure, complex formation, and solvent exchange. Applied studies have primarily focused on utilizing vanadium catalysts in organic synthesis and in nitrogen fixation (*vide supra*). The complexes are quite oxygen sensitive and are not stable unless appropriate precautions have been taken; while V^{II} complexes are moderately stable in aqueous solution, the lower oxidation state of vanadium tend to be much less stable. The number of studies investigating the coordination chemistry of these oxidation states (Cotton, Armstrong, Gambarotta, Rehder, Rotzinger, Wasada, Neves, Taube, Johnson, and Leigh) has so far been much smaller than the number of studies on vanadium complexes with higher oxidation states (+3 and higher).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

D.C.C. would like to thank the National Institute of General Medical Sciences at the National Institutes of Health for funding.

4.4.8 REFERENCES

- 1. See the main abbreviation list for the abbreviations used in this chapter.
- Vilas Boas, L. V.; Costa Pessoa, J. In Comprehensive Coordination Chemistry; Wilkinson, G., Gillard, R. D., McCleverty, J. A., Eds.; Pergamon Press: New York, 1987; Vol. 3, pp 453–584.
- 3. Baes, C. F., Jr.; Mesmer, R. E. In The Hydrolysis of Cations; John Wiley & Sons: New York, 1976, pp 193-211.
- 4. Sigel, H.; Sigel, A. Vanadium and Its Role for Life; Marcel Dekker: NewYork, 1995; Vol. 31.
- 5. Tracey, A. S.; Crans, D. C. ACS Symp. Ser. 1998, 711.
- 6. Srivastava, A. K.; Chiasson, J.-L. Mol. Cell. Biochem, 1995, 153, 244.
- 7. Nriagu, J. O., Ed., Vanadium in the Environment; John Wiley & Sons: New York, 1998; Vol. 30-31.
- 8. Rehder, D. J. Inorg. Biochem. 2000, 80, 133-136.
- 9. Chasteen, N. D., Ed. Vanadium in Biological Systems; Kluwer Academic: Dordrecht, The Netherlands 1990.
- 10. Chasteen, N. D. Struct. Bonding 1983, 53, 105-138.
- 11. Rehder, D. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1991, 30, 148-167.
- 12. Crans, D. C. Met. Ions Biol. Syst. 1995, 31, 147-209.
- 13. Rehder, D. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1999, 297-322.
- 14. Van de Velde, F.; Arends, I. W. C. E.; Sheldon, R. A. J. Inorg. Biochem. 2000, 80, 81-89.
- Garner, C. D.; Armstrong, E. M.; Berry, R. E.; Beddoes, R. L.; Collison, D.; Cooney, J. J. A.; Ertok, S. N.; Helliwell, M. *J. Inorg. Biochem.* **2000**, *80*, 17–20.
- 16. Baran, E. J. J. Coord. Chem. 2001, 54, 215-238.
- 17. Chen, F.; Vallyathan, V.; Castranova, V.; Shi, X. Mol. Cell. Biochem. 2001, 222, 183-188.
- 18. Thompson, K. H.; McNeill, J. H.; Orvig, C. Chem. Rev. 1999, 99, 2561-2571.
- 19. Thompson, K. H.; Orvig, C. Coord. Chem. Rev. 2001, 219-221, 1033-1053.
- 20. McNeill, J. H.; Yuen, V. G.; Dai, S.; Orvig, C. Mol. Cell. Biochem. 1995, 153, 175-180.
- 21. Posner, B. I. Y. C. R.; Shaver, A. ACS Symp. Ser. 1998, 711, 316-328.
- 22. Butler, A.; Clague, M. J.; Meister, G. E. Chem. Rev. 1994, 94, 625-638.
- 23. Hirao, T. Chem. Rev. 1997, 97, 2707-2724.
- 24. Vedrine, J. C.; Millet, J. M. M.; Volta, J.-C. Catal. Today 1996, 32, 115-123.
- 25. Karol, F. J.; Kao, S.-C. Stud. Surf. Sci. Catal. 1994, 89, 389-403.
- 26. Sobota, P. S., S. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 2001, 1379-1386.
- 27. Cotton, F. A.; Wilkinson, G.; Murillo, C. A.; Bochman, M. Advanced Inorganic Chemistry, 6th ed.; Wiley Interscience: New York, 1999.
- Butler, A. In Vanadium in Biological Systems: Physiology and Biochemistry; Chasteen, N. D., Ed.; Kluwer Academic: Boston, 1990, pp 25–49.
- 29. Butler, A.; Carrano, C. J. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1991, 109, 61-105.
- 30. Page, E. M.; Wass, S. A. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1997, 164, 203-259.
- 31. Page, E. M. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1998, 172, 111-156.
- 32. Chen, Q.; Zubieta, J. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1992, 114, 107-167.
- Crans, D. C.; Amin, S. S.; Keramidas, A. D. In Vanadium in the Environment. Part 1: Chemistry and Biochemistry, Nriagu, J. O., Ed.; John Wiley & Sons: New York, 1998; Vol. 30, pp 73–96.
- Nriagu, J. O. In Vanadium in the Environment. Part 1: Chemistry and Biochemistry; Nriagu, J. O., Ed.; John Wiley & Sons: New York, 1998; Vol. 30, pp 25–36.
- 35. Crans, D. C. Comments Inorg. Chem. 1994, 16, 1-31.
- 36. Stankiewicz, P. J.; Tracey, A. S.; Crans, D. C. Met. Ions Biol. Syst. 1995, 31, 287-324.
- 37. Gresser, M. J.; Tracey, A. S. In Vanadium in Biological Systems: Physiology and Biochemistry, Chasteen, N. D., Ed.; Kluwer Academic: Boston, 1990, pp 63–79.
- 38. Butler, A.; Baldwin, A. H. Struct. Bonding 1997, 89, 109-132.
- 39. Butler, A.; Walker, J. V. Chem. Rev. 1993, 93, 1937-1944.
- 40. Wever, R.; Kustin, K. Adv. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 35, 81-115.
- 41. Smith, B. E. Adv. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 47, 159-218.

- 42. Coucouvanis, D.; Demadis, K. D.; Malinak, S. M.; Mosier, P. E.; Tyson, M. A.; Laughlin, L. J. ACS Symp. Ser. 1996, 653, 117–134.
- 43. Heath, E.; Howarth, O. W. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1981, 1105-1110.
- 44. Howarth, O. W. Prog. NMR Spec. 1990, 22, 453-483.
- 45. Pettersson, L.; Hedman, B.; Andersson, I.; Ingri, N. Chem. Scrip. 1983, 22, 254-264.
- 46. Pettersson, L.; Andersson, I.; Hedman, B. Chem. Scrip. 1985, 25, 309-317.
- 47. Hamilton, E. E.; Fanwick, P. E.; Wilker, J. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 78-82.
- 48. Day, V. W.; Klemperer, W. G.; Yagasaki, A. Chem. Lett. 1990, 1267-1270.
- 49. Crans, D. C.; Rithner, C. D.; Theisen, L. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 2901-2908.
- 50. Tracey, A. S.; Jaswal, J. S.; Angus–Dunne, S. J. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 5680–5685.
- 51. Okamoto, K.; Jung, W. S.; Tomiyasu, H.; Fukutomi, H. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1988, 143, 217-221.
- 52. Martire, D. O.; Feliz, M. R.; Capparelli, A. L. Polyhedron 1991, 10, 359-364.
- Issa, F. A.; Grzeskowiak, K.; Halliday, C.; Henry, A.; Pittenger, S. T.; Hicks, K. W. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1987, 130, 85–91.
- 54. Richter, J.; Rehder, D. Z. Naturforsch. 1991, 46B, 1613-1620.
- 55. Crans, D. C.; Felty, R. A.; Miller, M. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 265-269.
- 56. Cruywagen, J. J.; Heyns, J. B. B.; Westra, A. N. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 1556-1559.
- 57. Rehder, D.; Weidemann, C.; Duch, A.; Priebsch, W. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 27, 584-587.
- 58. Galeffi, B.; Tracey, A. S. Inorg. Chem. 1989, 28, 1726-1734.
- 59. Gresser, M. J.; Tracey, A. S.; Parkinson, K. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108, 6229-6234.
- 60. Tracey, A. S.; Gresser, M. J.; Parkinson, K. M. Inorg. Chem. 1987, 26, 629-638.
- 61. Crans, D. C.; Shin, P. K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 1305-1135.
- 62. Crans, D. C.; Boukhobza, I. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 8069-8078.
- 63. Slebodnick, C.; Pecoraro, V. L. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1998, 283, 37-43.
- Hamstra, B. J.; Houseman, A. L. P.; Colpas, G. J.; Kampf, J. W.; LoBrutto, R.; Frasch, W. D.; Pecoraro, V. L. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 4866–4874.
- 65. Reynolds, M. S.; Butler, A. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 2378-2383.
- Collison, D.; Garner, C. D.; Grigg, J.; McGrath, C. M.; Mosselmans, J. F. W.; Pidcock, E.; Roper, M. D.; Seddon, J. M. W.; Sinn, E.; Tasker, P. A.; Thornton, G.; Walsh, J. F.; Young, N. A. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1998, 2199–2204.
- 67. Martin, D. M.; Chasteen, N. D. Meth. Enzym. 1988, 158, 402-421.
- 68. Crans, D. C.; Bunch, R. L.; Theisen, L. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989, 111, 7597-7607.
- 69. Prandtl, W.; Hess, L. Z. Anorg. Chem. 1913, 82, 103-129.
- 70. Howarth, O. W.; Trainor, J. R. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1987, 127, L27-L28.
- 71. Hillerns, F.; Rehder, D. Chem. Ber. 1991, 124, 2249-2254.
- 72. Feher, F. J.; Walzer, J. F. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 1689-1694.
- 73. Crans, D. C.; Schelble, S. M.; Theisen, L. A. J. Org. Chem. 1991, 56, 1266-1274.
- 74. Crans, D. C.; Chen, H.; Felty, R. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 4543-4550.
- 75. Crans, D. C.; Felty, R. A.; Chen, H.; Eckert, H.; Das, N. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 2427-2438.
- 76. Kempf, J. Y.; Maigret, B.; Crans, D. C. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 6485-6494.
- 77. Mondal, S.; Rath, S. P.; Dutta, S.; Chakravorty, A. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1996, 99-103.
- 78. Priebsch, W.; Rehder, D. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 3013-3019.
- 79. Turevskaya, E. P.; Kozlova, N. I.; Turova, N. Y.; Kessler, V. G. Koord. Khim. 1988, 14, 926-933.
- 80. Joseph, K.; Deshpande, S. S.; Gopinathan, S.; Gopinathan, C. Ind. J. Chem. 1983, 22A, 159-160.
- Henderson, R. A.; Hughes, D. L.; Janas, Z.; Richards, R. L.; Sobota, P.; Szafert, S. J. Organomet. Chem. 1998, 554, 195–201.
- 82. Lachowicz, A.; Höbold, W.; Thiele, K.-H. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1975, 418, 65-71.
- 83. Rehder, D. Z. Naturforsch. 1977, 32b, 771-775.
- 84. Mittal, R. K.; Mehrotra, R. C. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1964, 327, 311-314.
- 85. Paulsen, K.; Rehder, D.; Thoennes, D. Z. Naturforsch 1978, 33, 834-839.
- 86. Sekiguchi, S.; Kurihara, A. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jap. 1969, 42, 1453-1454.
- 87. Hillerns, F.; Olbrich, F.; Behrens, U.; Rehder, D. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1992, 31, 447-448.
- 88. Orlov, N. F.; Voronkov, M. G. Bull. Acad. of Sci., USSR Div. Chem. Sci. 1959, 899-900.
- 89. Witke, K.; Lachowicz, A.; Brüser, W.; Zeigan, D. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1980, 465, 193-203.
- 90. Jospeh, K.; Deshpande, S. S.; Gopinathan, S.; Gopinathan, C. Ind. J. Chem. 1983, 22A, 159-160.
- 91. Caughlan, C. N.; Smith, H. M.; Watenpaugh, K. Inorg. Chem. 1966, 5, 2131-2134.
- 92. Galeffi, B.; Tracey, A. S. Can. J. Chem. 1988, 66, 2565-2569.
- 93. Tracey, A. S.; Gresser, M. J. Can. J. Chem. 1988, 66, 2570-2574.
- Toscano, P. J.; Schermerhorn, E. J.; Dettelbacher, C.; Macherone, D.; Zubieta, J. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1991, 933–934.
- 95. Gresser, M. J.; Tracey, A. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1985, 107, 4215-4220.
- 96. Tracey, A. S.; Galeffi, B.; Mahjour, S. Can. J. Chem. 1988, 66, 2294-2298.
- 97. Gresser, M. J.; Tracey, A. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108, 1935-1939.
- 98. Hati, S.; Batchelor, R. J.; Einstein, F. W. B.; Tracey, A. S. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 6258-6265.
- 99. Tracey, A. S.; Gresser, M. J.; Galeffi, B. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 27, 157-161.
- 100. Elvingson, K.; Crans, D. C.; Pettersson, L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 7005-7012.
- 101. Tracey, A. S.; Gresser, M. J. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci., USA 1986, 83, 609-613.
- 102. Holmes, S.; Carrano, C. J. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 1231-1235.
- 103. Rehder, D.; Priebsch, W.; von Oeynhausen, M. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1989, 28, 1221-1222.
- 104. Tracey, A. S.; Li, H.; Gresser, M. J. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 2267-2271.
- 105. Meier, R.; Werner, G.; Kirmse, R.; Stach, J.; Dunsch, L. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1990, 583, 209-222.
- 106. Howarth, O. W.; Winter, D. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans 1991, 399-402.
- 107. Harrison, W. T. A.; Dussack, L. L.; Jacobson, A. J. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 1461-1467.

- 108. Eriksen, K. M.; Nielsen, K.; Fehrmann, R. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 480-484.
- 109. Arrowsmith, S.; Dove, M. F. A.; Logan, N.; Batsanov, A. Polyhedron 1998, 17, 421-428.
- 110. Tracey, A. S.; Gresser, M. J. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 27, 2695-2702.
- 111. Zhang, X.; Tracey, A. S. Acta Chem. Scand. 1992, 46, 1170-1176.
- 112. Ray, W. J., Jr.; Crans, D. C.; Zheng, J.; Burgner, J. W., II; Deng, H.; Mahroof-Tahir, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 6015–6026.
- 113. Crans, D. C.; Felty, R. A.; Eckert, H.; Das, N. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 2427-2438.
- 114. Geraldes, C. F. G. C.; Castro, M. M. C. A. J. Inorg. Biochem. 1989, 37, 213-232.
- 115. Angus-Dunne, S. J.; Batchelor, R. J.; Tracey, A. S.; Einstein, F. W. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 5292–5296.
- 116. Geraldes, C. F. G. C.; Castro, M. M. C. A. J. Inorg. Biochem. 1989, 35, 79-93.
- 117. Tracey, A. S.; Gresser, M. J.; Liu, S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1988, 110, 5869-5874.
- 118. Lindquist, R. N.; Lynn, J. L., Jr.; Lienhard, G. E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1973, 95, 8762-8768.
- 119. Tracey, A. S.; Jaswal, J. S.; Gresser, M. J.; Rehder, D. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 4283-4288.
- 120. Hambley, T. W.; Judd, R. J.; Lay, P. A. Inorg. Chem. **1992**, 31, 343–345.
- 121. Zhang, B.; Zhang, S.; Wang, K. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1996, 3257–3263.
- 122. Tracey, A. S.; Leon-Lai, C. H. *Inorg. Chem.* **1991**, *30*, 3200–3204. 123. Mokry, L. M.; Carrano, C. J. *Inorg. Chem.* **1993**, *32*, 6119–6121.
- 125. MOKIY, L. M., Callano, C. J. *Morg. Chem.* **1995**, 52, 0119–0121.
- 124. Biagioli, M.; Strinna-Erre, L.; Micera, G.; Panzanelli, A.; Zema, M. Inorg. Chim. Acta 2000, 310, 1-9.
- 125. Carrano, C. J.; Mohan, M.; Holmes, S. M.; de la Rosa, R.; Butler, A.; Charnock, J. M.; Garner, C. D. *Inorg. Chem.* **1994**, *33*, 646–655.
- 126. Crans, D. C.; Felty, R. A.; Anderson, O. P.; Miller, M. M. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 247-248.
- 127. Crans, D. C.; Marshman, R. W.; Gottlieb, M. S.; Anderson, O. P.; Miller, M. M. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 4939-4949.
- 128. Mondal, S.; Rath, S. P.; Rajak, K. K.; Chakravorty, A. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 1713–1719.
- 129. Rath, S. P.; Rajak, K. K.; Chakravorty, A. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 4376-4377.
- 130. Mondal, S.; Ghosh, P.; Chakravorty, A. Ind. J. Chem. 1996, 35A, 171-173.
- 131. Elvingson, K.; Baro, A. G.; Pettersson, L. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 3388-3393.
- 132. Panigrahi, G. P.; Swain, R. Indian J. Chem., Sect. A: Inorg., Bio-inorg., Phys., Theor. Anal. Chem. 2000, 39A, 775–778.
- 133. Khan, M. I.; Chang, Y.-D.; Chen, Q.; Salta, J.; Lee, Y.-S.; O'Connor, C. J.; Zubieta, J. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 6340–6350.
- 134. Costisor, O.; Brezeanu, M.; Journaux, Y.; Mereiter, K.; Weinberger, P.; Linert, W. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 2061–2066.
- 135. Bernalte, A.; Barros, F. J. G.; Cavaco, I.; Costa Pessoa, J.; Gillard, R. D.; Higes, F. J.; Tomaz, I. Polyhedron 1998, 17, 3269–3274.
- 136. Ghosh, M. C.; Gould, E. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 3167-3173.
- 137. Cass, M. E.; Gordon, N. R.; Pierpont, C. G. Inorg. Chem. 1986, 25, 3962-3967.
- 138. Galeffi, B.; Postel, M.; Grand, A.; Rey, P. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1987, 129, 1-5.
- 139. Bonadies, J. A.; Pecoraro, V. L.; Carrano, C. J. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1986, 1218-1219.
- 140. Simpson, C. L.; Pierpont, C. G. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 4308-4313.
- 141. Kabanos, T. A.; Slawin, A. M. Z.; Williams, D. J.; Woollins, J. D. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1992, 1423-1427.
- 142. Schwendt, P.; Sivak, M. ACS Symp. Ser. 1998, 711, 117-125.
- 143. Einstein, F. W. B.; Batchelor, R. J.; Angus-Dunne, S. J.; Tracey, A. S. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 1680-1684.
- 144. Djordjevic, C.; Craig, S. A. Inorg. Chem. 1985, 24, 1281-1283.
- 145. Mimoun, H.; Saussine, L.; Daire, E.; Postel, M.; Fischer, J.; Weiss, R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1983, 105, 3101-3110.
- 146. Sergienko, V. S.; Borzunov, V. K.; Porai-Koshits, M. A. Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 1988, 301, 1141–1144.
- 147. Sergienko, V. S.; Porai-Koshits, M. A.; Borzunov, V. K.; Ilyukhin, A. B. Koord. Khim. 1993, 19, 767-781.
- 148. Stomberg, R. Acta Chem. Scand., Ser. A 1986, A40, 168-176.
- 149. Sergienko, V. S.; Borzunov, V. K.; Porai-Koshits, M. A.; Loginov, S. V. Rus. J. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 33, 913-914.
- 150. Szentivanyi, H.; Stomberg, R. Acta Chem. Scand. 1983, A37, 709-714.
- 151. Süss-Fink, G.; Stanislas, S.; Shul'pin, G. B.; Nizova, G. V.; Stoeckli-Evans, H.; Neels, A.; Bobillier, C.; Claude, S. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1999, 3169–3175.
- 152. Drew, R. E.; Einstein, F. W. B. Inorg. Chem. 1973, 12, 829-835.
- 153. Meicheng, S.; Xun, D.; Youqi, T. Scientia Sinica 1988, 31, 789-799.
- 154. Kosugi, M.; Hikichi, S.; Akita, M.; Moro-oka, Y. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1999, 1369-1372.
- 155. Sivak, M.; Joniakova, D.; Schwendt, P. Transition Met. Chem. (London) 1993, 18, 304-308.
- 156. Lapshin, A. E.; Smolin, Y. I.; Shepelev, Y. F. Acta Crystallogr. 1993, C49, 867-870.
- 157. Kuchta, L.; Sivák, M.; Pavelcík, F. J. Chem. Res., Synop. 1993, 393-393.
- 158. Da-Xu, W.; Xin-Jian, L.; Rong, C.; Mao-Chun, H. Chin. J. Struct. Chem. 1992, 12, 65-57.
- 159. Kanamori, K.; Nishida, K.; Miyata, N.; Okamoto, K. Chem. Lett. 1998, 1267-1268.
- 160. Kanamori, K.; Nishida, K.; Miyata, N.; Okamoto, K. I.; Miyoshi, Y.; Tamura, A.; Sakurai, H. J. Inorg. Biochem. 2001, 86, 649–656.
- 161. Schwendt, P.; Sivak, M.; Lapshin, A. E.; Smolin, Y. I.; Shepelev, Y. F.; Gyepesova, D. Transition Met. Chem. (London) 1994, 19, 34-36.
- 162. Sivak, M.; Sucha, V.; Kuchta, L.; Marek, J. Polyhedron 1999, 18, 93-99.
- 163. Kuchta, L.; Sivak, M.; Marek, J.; Pavelcik, F.; Casny, M. New J. Chem. 1999, 23, 43-46.
- 164. Sivak, M.; Tyrselova, J.; Pavelcik, F.; Marek, J. Polyhedron 1996, 15, 1057-1062.
- 165. Colpas, G. J.; Hamstra, B. J.; Kampf, J. W.; Pecoraro, V. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 3469-3478.
- 166. Colpas, G. J.; Hamstra, B. J.; Kampf, J. W.; Pecoraro, V. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 3627-3628.
- 167. Casny, M.; Rehder, D. Chem. Commun. 2001, 921-922.
- 168. Drew, R. E.; Einstein, F. W. B. Inorg. Chem. 1972, 11, 1079-1083.
- 169. Stomberg, R.; Olson, S. Acta Chem. Scand. 1984, A38, 821-823.
- 170. Stomberg, R. Acta Chem. Scand. 1984, A38, 223-228.
- 171. Stomberg, R.; Olson, S. Acta Chem. Scand. 1984, A38, 801-806.

- 172. Crans, D. C.; Keramidas, A. D.; Hoover-Litty, H.; Anderson, O. P.; Miller, M. M.; Lemoine, L. M.; Pleasic-Williams, S.; Vandenberg, M.; Rossomando, A. J.; Sweet, L. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 5447-5448.
- 173. Stomberg, R. Acta Chem. Scand. 1984, A38, 541-545.
- 174. Drew, R. E.; Einstein, F. W. B.; Field, J. S.; Begin, D. Acta Crystallogr. 1975, A31, 5135.
- 175. Begin, D.; Einstein, F. W. B.; Field, J. Inorg. Chem. 1975, 14, 1785-1790.
- 176. Campbell, N. J.; Capparelli, M. V.; Griffith, W. P.; Skapski, A. C. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1983, 77, L215-L216.
- 177. Stomberg, R. Acta Chem. Scand. 1985, 39A, 725-731.
- 178. Szentivanyi, H.; Stomberg, R. Acta Chem. Scand. 1983, A37, 553-559.
- 179. Stomberg, R.; Szentivanyi, H. Acta Chem. Scand. 1984, A38, 121-128.
- 180. Szentivanyi, H.; Stomberg, R. Acta Chem. Scand. 1984, A38, 101-107.
- 181. Shaver, A.; Ng, J. B.; Hall, D. A.; Soo Lum, B.; Posner, B. I. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 3109-3113.
- 182. Shaver, A.; Hall, D. A.; Ng, J. B.; Lebuis, A.-M.; Hynes, R. C.; Posner, B. I. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1995, 229, 253-260.
- 183. Shaver, A.; Ng, J. B.; Hynes, R. C.; Posner, B. I. Acta Crystallogr. 1994, C50, 1044-1046.
- 184. Westermann, K.; Leimkühler, M.; Mattes, R. J. Less Common Met. 1988, 137, 181-186.
- 185. Won, T.-J.; Barnes, C. L.; Schlemper, E. O.; Thompson, R. C. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 4499-4503.
- 186. Svancarek, P.; Schwendt, P.; Tatiersky, J.; Smatanova, I.; Marek, J. Monatsh. Chem. 2000, 131, 145-154.
- 187. Schwendt, P.; Svancarek, P.; Smatanova, I.; Marek, J. J. Inorg. Biochem. 2000, 80, 59–64. 188. Demartin, F.; Biagioli, M.; Strinna-Erre, L.; Panzanelli, A.; Micera, G. Inorg. Chim. Acta 2000, 299, 123–127.
- 189. Smatanova, I. K.; Marek, J.; Svancarek, P.; Schwendt, P. Acta Crystallogr. 2000, C56, 154-155.
- 190. Djordjevic, C.; Lee, M.; Sinn, E. Inorg. Chem. 1989, 28, 719-723.
- 191. Tsaramyrsi, M.; Kavousanaki, D.; Raptopoulou, C. P.; Terzis, A.; Salifoglou, A. Inorg. Chim. Acta 2001, 320, 47-59.
- 192. Djordjevic, C.; Leerenslo, M.; Sinn, E. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1995, 233, 97-102.
- 193. Kaliva, M.; Giannadaki, T.; Salifoglou, A.; Raptopoulou, C. P.; Terzis, A.; Tangoulis, V. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 3711-3718.
- Schwendt, P.; Svancarek, P.; Kuchta, L.; Marek, J. Polyhedron 1998, 17, 2161–2166.
 Lapshin, A. E.; Smolin, Y. I.; Shepelev, Y. F.; Schwendt, P.; Gyepesova, D. Acta Crystallogr. 1990, C46, 1753–1755.
- 196. Schwendt, P.; Tyrselová, J.; Pavelcík, F. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 1964-1966.
- 197. Sucha, V.; Sivak, M.; Tyrselova, J.; Marek, J. Polyhedron 1997, 16, 2837-2842.
- 198. Lapshin, A. E.; Smolin, Y. I.; Shepelev, Y. F. Acta Crystallogr. **1989**, C45, 1477–1479. 199. Lapshin, A. E.; Smolin, Y. I.; Shepelev, Y. F. Acta Crystallogr. **1990**, C46, 738–741.
- 200. Svensson, I. B.; Stomberg, R. Acta Chem. Scand. 1971, 25, 898-910.
- 201. Stomberg, R.; Olson, S.; Svensson, I.-B. Acta Chem. Scand. 1984, A38, 653-656.
- 202. Campbell, N. J.; Flanagan, J.; Griffith, W. P.; Skapski, A. C. Transition Met. Chem. (Weinheim, Ger.) 1985, 10, 353-354.
- 203. Djordjevic, C.; Wampler, G. L. J. Inorg. Biochem. 1985, 25, 51-55.
- 204. Conte, V.; Di Furia, F.; Moro, S. J. Mol. Catal. 1994, 94, 323-333.
- 205. Conte, V.; Di Furia, F.; Moro, S. ACS Symp. Ser. 1998, 711, 136-145.
- 206. Mukherjee, J.; Ganguly, S.; Bhattacharjee, M. Ind. J. Chem. 1996, 35A, 471-474.
- 207. Bhattacharjee, M.; Chaudhuri, M. K.; Islam, N. S.; Paul, P. C. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1990, 169, 97-100.
- 208. Sivak, M.; Schwendt, P. Transition Met. Chem. (London) 1989, 14, 273-276.
- 209. Wieghardt, K. Inorg. Chem. 1978, 17, 57-64.
- 210. Tracey, A. S.; Jaswal, J. S. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 4235-4243.
- 211. Jaswal, J. S.; Tracey, A. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 5600-5607.
- 212. Djordjevic, C.; Puryear, B. C.; Vuletic, N.; Abelt, C. J.; Sheffield, S. J. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 27, 2926-2932.
- 213. Djordjevic, C.; Wilkins, P. L.; Sinn, E.; Butcher, R. J. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1995, 230, 241-244.
- 214. Hiort, C.; Goodisman, J.; Dabrowiak, J. C. Biochemistry 1996, 35, 12354-12362.
- 215. Justino, L. L. G.; Ramos, M. L.; Caldeira, M. M.; Gil, V. M. S. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 1617-1621.
- 216. Schwendt, P.; Oravcova, A.; Tyrselova, J.; Pavelcik, F. Polyhedron 1996, 15, 4507-4511.
- 217. De la Rosa, R. I.; Clague, M. J.; Butler, A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 760-761.
- 218. Stern, A.; Yin, X.; Tsang, S.-S.; Davison, A.; Moon, J. Biochem. Cell Biol. 1993, 71, 103-112.
- 219. Harrison, A. T.; Howarth, O. W. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton Trans. 1985, 1173-1177.
- 220. Jaswal, J. S.; Tracey, A. S. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 3718-3722.
- 221. Djordjevic, C.; Vuletic, N.; Renslo, M. L.; Puryear, B. C.; Alimard, R. Mol. Cell. Biochem. 1995, 153, 25-29.
- 222. Shaver, A.; Ng, J. B.; Hall, D. A.; Posner, B. I. Mol. Cell. Biochem. 1995, 153, 5-15.
- 223. Chakravorti, M. C.; Ganguly, S.; Bhattacharjee, M. Polyhedron 1994, 13, 695-699.
- 224. Clague, M. J.; Butler, A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 3475-3484.
- 225. Bhattacharjee, M. N.; Chaudhuri, M. K.; Islam, N. S. Inorg. Chem. 1989, 28, 2420-2423.
- 226. Conte, V.; Di Furia, F.; Moro, S. J. Mol. Catal. 1995, 104, 159-169.
- 227. Gekhman, A. E.; Stolarov, I. P.; Moiseeva, N. I.; Rubaijlo, V. L.; Vargaftik, M. N.; Moiseev, I. I. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1998, 275-276, 453-461.
- 228. Puryear, B. C.; Abelt, C. J.; Djordjevic, C. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1988, 149, 15-17.
- 229. Butler, A.; Tschirret-Guth, R. A.; Simpson, M. T. ACS Symp. Ser. 1998, 711, 202-215.
- 230. Butler, A.; Clague, M. J. Adv. Chem. Ser. 1995, 246, 329-349.
- 231. Bora, U.; Chaudhuri, M. K.; Dey, D.; Dhar, S. S. Pure Appl. Chem. 2001, 73, 93-102.
- 232. Hamstra, B. J.; Colpas, G. J.; Pecoraro, V. L. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 949-955.
- 233. Totaro, R. M.; Williams, P. A. M.; Apella, M. C.; Blesa, M. A.; Baran, E. J. Dalton 2000, 4403-4406.
- 234. Wieghardt, K.; Quilitzsch, U.; Nuber, B.; Weiss, J. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1978, 17, 351-352.
- 235. Quilitzsch, U.; Wieghardt, K. Z. Naturforsch. 1979, 34b, 640-641.
- 236. Nuber, B.; Weiss, J. Acta Crystallogr. 1981, B37, 947-948.
- 237. Wieghardt, K.; Quilitzsch, U. Z. Naturforsch. 1981, 36b, 683-686.
- 238. Paul, P. C.; Angus-Dunne, S. J.; Batchelor, R. J.; Einstein, F. W. B.; Tracey, A. S. Can. J. Chem. 1997, 75, 183-191.
- 239. Paul, P. C.; Angus-Dunne, S. J.; Batchelor, R. J.; Einstein, F. W. B.; Tracey, A. S. Can. J. Chem. 1997, 75, 429-440.
- 240. Keramidas, A. D.; Miller, S. M.; Anderson, O. P.; Crans, D. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 8901-8915.

- 241. Nxumalo, F.; Tracey, A. S. J. Biol. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 3, 527-533.
- 242. Saito, K.; Sasaki, Y. Pure & Appl. Chem. 1988, 60, 1123-1132
- 243. Smith, P. D.; Berry, R. E.; Harben, S. M.; Beddoes, R. L.; Helliwell, M.; Collison, D.; Garner, C. D. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1997, 4509-4516.
- 244. Armstrong, E. M.; Beddoes, R. L.; Calviou, L. J.; Charnock, J. M.; Collison, D.; Ertok, N.; Naismith, J. H.; Garner, C. D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 807-808.
- 245. Kneifel, H.; Bayer, E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108, 3075-3077.
- 246. Carrondo, M. A. A. F. d.C. T.; Duarte, M. T. L. S.; Pessoa, J. C.; Silva, J. A.; Frausto da Silva, J. J. R.; Vaz, M. C. T. A.; Vilas-Boas, L. F. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1988, 1158–1159.
- 247. Bayer, E.; Koch, E.; Anderegg, G. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1987, 26, 545-546.
- 248. Nxumalo, F.; Glover, N. R.; Tracey, A. S. J. Biol. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 3, 534-542.
- 249. Pecoraro, V. L. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1989, 155, 171-173.
- 250. Banerjee, T. K.; Brahma, S. K.; Bag, S. P. Ind. J. Chem. 1992, 31A, 202-204.
- 251. Brown, D. A.; Boegge, H.; Coogan, R.; Doocey, D.; Kemp, T. J.; Mueller, A.; Neumann, B. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 1674-1679.
- 252. Crans, D. C.; Shin, P. K. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 27, 1797-1806.
- 253. Lagrange, P.; Schneider, M.; Zare, K.; Lagrange, J. Polyhedron 1994, 13, 861-867.
- 254. Soulti, K. D.; Troganis, A.; Papaioannou, A.; Kabanos, T. A.; Keramidas, A. D.; Deligiannakis, Y. G.; Raptopoulou, C. P.; Terzis, A. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 6785-6794.
- 255. Nakasuka, N.; Tanaka, M. Acta Crystallogr. 1989, C45, 1303-1306.
- 256. Weidemann, C.; Priebsch, W.; Rehder, D. Chem. Ber. 1989, 122, 235-243.
- 257. Wright, D. W.; Humiston, P. A.; Orme-Johnson, W. H.; Davis, W. M. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 4194-4197.
- 258. Zhou, Z.-H.; Zhang, H.; Jiang, Y.-Q.; Lin, D.-H.; Wan, H.-L.; Tsai, K.-R. Transition Met. Chem. (Dordrecht, Neth.) 1999, 24, 605-609.
- 259. Codd, R.; Hambley, T. W.; Lay, P. A. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 877-882.
- 260. Crans, D. C.; Jiang, F.; Chen, J.; Anderson, O. P.; Miller, M. M. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 1038-1047.
- 261. Khan, M. I.; Chen, Q.; Goshorn, D. P.; Zubieta, J. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 672-680.
- 262. Crans, D. C.; Chen, H.; Anderson, O. P.; Miller, M. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 6769-6776.
- 263. Crans, D. C.; Ehde, P. M.; Shin, P. K.; Pettersson, L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 3728–3736. 264. Lee, M.-H.; Heo, N. H.; Hayashi, S. Polyhedron 1997, 17, 55–62.
- 265. Bellemin-Laponnaz, S.; Coleman, K. S.; Dierkes, P.; Masson, J.-P.; Osborn, J. A. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 1645-1649.
- 266. Plass, W. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1997, 623, 461-477.
- 267. Tracey, A. S.; Gresser, M. J. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 27, 1269-1275.
- 268. Asgedom, G.; Sreedhara, A.; Kivikoski, J.; Valkonen, J.; Kolehmainen, E.; Rao, C. P. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 5674-5683
- 269. Julien-Cailhol, N.; Rose, E.; Vaisserman, J.; Rehder, D. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1996, 2111-2115.
- 270. Crans, D. C.; Keramidas, A. D.; Amin, S. S.; Anderson, O. P.; Miller, S. M. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1997, 2799-2812.
- 271. Kumagai, H.; Kawata, S.; Kitagawa, S.; Kanamori, K.; Okamoto, K.-I. Chem. Lett. 1997, 249-250.
- 272. Cornman, C. R.; Geiser-Bush, K. M.; Kampf, J. W. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 4303-4308.
- 273. Rajak, K. K.; Rath, S. P.; Mondal, S.; Chakravorty, A. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 3283-3289.
- 274. Rajak, K. K.; Rath, S. P.; Mondal, S.; Chakravorty, A. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton Trans. 1999, 2537–2540.
- 275. Cornman, C. R.; Kampf, J.; Lah, M. S.; Pecoraro, V. L. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 2035-2043.
- 276. Li, X.; Lah, M. S.; Pecoraro, V. L. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 27, 4657-4664.
- 277. Root, C. A.; Hoeschele, J. D.; Cornman, C. R.; Kampf, J. W.; Pecoraro, V. L. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 3855-3861.
- 278. Duncan, C. A.; Copeland, E. P.; Kahwa, I. A.; Quick, A.; Williams, D. J. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1997, 917-919
- 279. Asgedom, G.; Sreedhara, A.; Kivikoski, J.; Kolehmainen, E.; Rao, C. P. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1996, 93-97.
- 280. Rajak, K. K.; Mondal, S.; Rath, S. P. Polyhedron 2000, 19, 931-936.
- 281. Nakajima, K.; Kojima, M.; Toriumi, K.; Saito, K.; Fujita, J. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1989, 62, 760-767.
- 282. Clague, M. J.; Keder, N. L.; Butler, A. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 4754-4761.
- 283. Asgedom, G.; Sreedhara, J.; Kivikoski, J.; Rao, C. P. Polyhedron 1997, 16, 643-651.
- 284. Bashirpoor, M.; Schmidt, H.; Schulzke, C.; Rehder, D. Chem. Ber. 1997, 130, 651-657.
- 285. Fulwood, R.; Schmidt, H.; Rehder, D. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Comm. 1995, 1443-1444.
- 286. Asgedom, G.; Sreedhara, A.; Kivikoski, J.; Valkonen, J.; Rao, C. P. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1995, 2459-2466. 287. Kaitner, B.; Pavlovic, G. Croat. Chem. Acta 1999, 72, 607-620.
- 288. Chen, W.; Gao, S.; Liu, S.-X. Acta Crystallogr. 1999, C55, 531-533.
- 289. Mondal, S.; Dutta, S.; Chakravorty, A. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1995, 1115-1120. 290. Vergopoulos, V.; Priebsch, W.; Fritzsche, M.; Rehder, D. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 1844-1849.
- 291. Liu, S.-X.; Gao, S. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1998, 282, 149-154.
- 292. Pessoa, J. C.; Silva, A. L.; Vieira, A. L.; Vilas-Boas, L.; O'Brien, P.; Thornton, P. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1992, 1745-1749.
- 293. Mondal, S.; Ghosh, P.; Chakravorty, A. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 59-63.
- 294. Dai, J.; Akiyama, S.; Munakata, M.; Mikuriya, M. Polyhedron 1994, 13, 2495-2499.
- 295. Schmidt, H.; Bashirpoor, M.; Rehder, D. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1996, 3865-3870.
- 296. Carrano, C. J.; Nunn, C. M.; Quan, R.; Bonadies, J. A.; Pecoraro, V. L. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 944-951.
- 297. Gruning, C.; Schmidt, H.; Rehder, D. Inorg. Chem. Commun. 1999, 2, 57-59.
- 298. Choudhary, N. F.; Connelly, N. G.; Hitchcock, P. B.; Leigh, G. J. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1999, 4437-4446.
- 299. Fairhurst, S. A.; Hughes, D. L.; Leigh, G. J.; Sanders, J. R.; Weisner, J. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1994, 2591-2598.
- 300. Choudhary, N. F.; Hitchcock, P. B.; Leigh, G. J. Inorg. Chim. Acta 2000, 310, 10-20.
- 301. Hills, A.; Hughes, D. L.; Leigh, G. J.; Sanders, J. R. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans 1991, 61-64.

- 302. Oyaizu, K.; Yamamoto, K.; Yoneda, K.; Tsuchida, E. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 6634-6635.
- 303. Tsuchimoto, M.; Yasuda, E.; Ohba, S. Chem. Lett. 2000, 562-563.
- 304. Hazell, A.; Lund, P.; Saugbjerg, A. Acta Crystallogr. 2001, C57, 257-259.
- 305. Fairhurst, S. A.; Hughes, D. L.; Kleinkes, U.; Leigh, G. J.; Sanders, J. R.; Weisner, J. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1995. 321-326.
- 306. Bonadies, J. A.; Butler, W. M.; Pecoraro, V. L.; Carrano, C. J. Inorg. Chem. 1987, 26, 1218-1222.
- 307. Zerbib, V.; Robert, F.; Gouzerh, P. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1994, 2179-2180.
- 308. Plass, W. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1994, 620, 1635-1644.
- 309. Dutton, J. C.; Murray, K. S.; Tiekink, E. R. T. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1989, 166, 5-8.
- 310. Copeland, E. P.; Kahwa, I. A.; Mague, J. T.; McPherson, G. L. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1997, 2849-2852.
- 311. Burgess, J.; Fawcett, J.; Palma, V.; Gilani, S. R. Acta Crystallogr. 2001, C57, 277-280.
- 312. Cornman, C. R.; Geiser-Bush, K. M.; Rowley, S. P.; Boyle, P. D. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 6401-6408.
- 313. Smith, T. S.; Root, C. A.; Kampf, J. W.; Rasmussen, P. G.; Pecoraro, V. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 767-775.
- 314. Cornman, C. R.; Colpas, G. J.; Hoeschele, J. D.; Kampf, J.; Pecoraro, V. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 9925–9933.
- 315. Farahbakhsh, M.; Nekola, H.; Schmidt, H.; Rehder, D. Chem. Ber. 1997, 130, 1129-1133.
- 316. Hefele, H.; Ludwig, E.; Uhlemann, E.; Weller, F. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1995, 621, 1973–1976.
- 317. Cavaco, I.; Costa Pessoa, J.; Costa, D.; Duarte, M. T.; Gillard, R. D.; Matias, P. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton Trans. 1994, 149-157.
- 318. Pessoa, J. C.; Cavaco, I.; Correia, I.; Duarte, M. T.; Gillard, R. D.; Henriques, R. T.; Higes, F. J.; Madeira, C.; Tomaz, I. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1999, 293, 1-11.
- 319. Hamalainen, R.; Turpeinen, U.; Ahlgren, M. Acta Crystallogr. 1985, C41, 1726-1728.
- 320. Cavaco, I.; Pessoa, J. C.; Duarte, M. T.; Gillard, R. D.; Matias, P. Chem. Commun. 1996, 1365-1366.
- 321. Cornman, C. R.; Zovinka, E. P.; Boyajian, Y. D.; Geiserbush, R. M.; Boyle, P. D.; Singh, P. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 4213-4219.
- 322. McCollum, D. G.; Yap, G. P. A.; Liable-Sands, L.; Rheingold, A. L.; Bosnich, B. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 2230-2235.
- 323. Costes, J.-P.; Dahan, F.; Donnadieu, B.; Garcia-Tojal, J.; Laurent, J.-P. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 363–365.
- 324. Yamamoto, K.; Oyaizu, K.; Tsuchida, E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 12665-12672.
- 325. Uemura, R.; Tsuchimoto, M.; Ohba, S. Acta Crystallogr. 2000, E56, e199-e200.
- 326. MacLachlan, M. J.; Park, M. K.; Thompson, L. K. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 5492-5499.
- 327. Tsuchimoto, M.; Hoshina, G.; Uemura, R.; Nakajima, K.; Kojima, M.; Ohba, S. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 2000, 73, 2317-2323.
- 328. Mazzanti, M.; Floriani, C.; Chiesi-Villa, A.; Guastini, C. Inorg. Chem. 1986, 25, 4158-4164.
- 329. Sato, M.; Miller, K. M.; Enemark, J. H.; Strouse, C. E.; Callahan, K. P. *Inorg. Chem.* **1981**, *20*, 3571–3573. 330. Zamian, J. R.; Dockal, E. R.; Castellane, G.; Oliva, G. *Polyhedron* **1995**, *14*, 2411–2418.
- 331. Bu, X. R.; Mintz, E. A.; You, X. Z.; Wang, R. X.; Qi, Y.; Meng, Q. J.; Lu, Y. J. Polyhedron 1996, 15, 4585-4591.
- 332. Hoshina, G.; Tsuchimoto, M.; Ohba, S. Acta Crystallogr. 2000, C56, e190-e190.
- Wang, X.; Zhang, X. M.; Liu, H. X. Transition Met. Chem. 1994, 19, 611–613.
 Serrette, A.; Carroll, P. J.; Swager, T. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 1887–1889.
- 335. Hoshina, G.; Tsuchimoto, M.; Ohba, S.; Nakajima, K.; Uekusa, H.; Ohashi, Y.; Ishida, H.; Kojima, M. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 142-145.
- 336. Riley, P. E.; Pecoraro, V. L.; Carrano, C. J.; Bonadies, J. A.; Raymond, K. N. Inorg. Chem. 1986, 25, 154-160.
- 337. Hoshina, G.; Ohba, S.; Tsuchimoto, M. Acta Crystallogr. 1999, C55, 1451-1453.
- 338. Schmidt, H.; Rehder, D. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1998, 267, 229-238.
- 339. Hoshina, G.; Tsuchimoto, M.; Ohba, S. Acta Crystallogr. 1999, C55, 1812-1813.
- 340. Hoshina, G.; Ohba, S.; Nakajima, K.; Ishida, H.; Kojima, M.; Tsuchimoto, M. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1999, 72, 1037-1041.
- 341. Hoshina, G.; Ohba, S.; Tsuchimoto, M. Acta Crystallogr. 1999, C55, 1082-1084.
- 342. Kasahara, R.; Tsuchimoto, M.; Ohba, S.; Nakajima, K.; Ishida, H.; Kojima, M. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 7661–7665.
- 343. Nakajima, K.; Kojima, M.; Azuma, S.; Kasahara, R.; Tsuchimoto, M.; Kubozono, Y.; Maeda, H.; Kashino, S.; Ohba, S.; Yoshikawa, Y.; Fujita, J. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1996, 69, 3207-3216.
- 344. Tsuchimoto, M.; Kasahara, R.; Nakajima, K.; Kojima, M.; Ohba, S. Polyhedron 1999, 18, 3035-3039.
- 345. Vergopoulos, V.; Jantzen, S.; Julien, N.; Rose, E.; Rehder, D. Z. Naturforsch. 1994, B49, 1127-1136.
- 346. Vergopoulos, V.; Jantzen, S.; Rodewald, D.; Rehder, D. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1995, 377-378.
- 347. Hughes, D. L.; Kleinkes, U.; Leigh, G. J.; Maiwald, M.; Sanders, J. R.; Sudbrake, C.; Weisner, J. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1993, 3093-3096.
- 348. Plass, W. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1996, 35, 627-631.
- 349. Cashin, B.; Cunningham, D.; Gallagher, J. F.; McArdle, P.; Higgins, T. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1989, 1445-1446.
- 350. Choudhary, N. F.; Hitchcock, P. B.; Leigh, G. J.; Ng, S. W. Inorg. Chim. Acta. 1999, 293, 147-154.
- 351. Hughes, D. L.; Kleinkes, U.; Leigh, G. J.; Maiwald, M.; Sanders, J. R.; Sudbrake, C. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1994, 2457-2466.
- 352. Tsuchimoto, M.; Hoshina, G.; Yoshioka, N.; Inoue, H.; Nakajima, K.; Kamishima, M.; Kojima, M.; Ohba, S. J. Solid State Chem. 2000, 153, 9-15.
- 353. Dutton, J. C.; Fallon, G. D.; Murray, K. S. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 27, 34-38.
- 354. Keramidas, A. D.; Papaioannou, A. B.; Vlahos, A.; Kabanos, T. A.; Bonas, G.; Makriyannis, A.; Rapropoulou, C. P.; Terzis, A. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 357-367.
- 355. Lee, S.; Floriani, C.; Chiesivilla, A.; Guastini, C. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans 1989, 145-149.
- 356. Feldhaus, R.; Koppe, J.; Mattes, R.; Voet, U. Z. Naturforsch. 1996, B51, 1449-1458.
- 357. Tolis, E. J.; Soulti, K. D.; Rapropoulou, C. P.; Terzis, A.; Deligiannakis, Y.; Kabanos, T. A. Chem. Commun. 2000, 601-602.
- 358. Nishida, Y.; Tokii, T.; Watanabe, I. Z. Naturforsch., B: Chem. Sci. 1992, 47, 905-910.
- 359. Alyea, E. C.; Dee, T. D.; Ferguson, G. J. Crystallogr. Spectrosc. Res. 1985, 15, 29-43.
- 360. Mikuriya, M.; Fukuya, M. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1996, 69, 679-683.

- 361. Choudhary, N.; Hughes, D. L.; Kleinkes, U.; Larkworthy, L. F.; Leigh, G. J.; Maiwald, M.; Marmion, C. J.; Sanders, J. R.; Smith, G. W.; Sudbrake, C. Polyhedron 1997, 16, 1517–1528.
- 362. Gerlach, C.; Arnold, J. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton Trans. 1997, 4795-4805.
- 363. Reardon, D.; Conan, F.; Gambarotta, S.; Yap, G.; Wang, Q. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 9318–9325.
- 364. Gambarotta, S.; Mazzanti, M.; Floriani, C.; Chiesi-Villa, A.; Guastini, C. Inorg. Chem. 1986, 25, 2308-2314.
- 365. Hills, A.; Hughes, D. L.; Leigh, G. J.; Sanders, J. R. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1991, 325-329.
- 366. Franceschi, F.; Solari, E.; Floriani, C.; Rosi, M.; Chiesi-Villa, A.; Rizzoli, C. Chem. Eur. J. 1999, 5, 708-721.
- 367. Kabanos, T. A.; Keramidas, A. D.; Papaioannou, A. B.; Terzis, A. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1993, 643-645.
- 368. Chaudhuri, P.; Hess, M.; Weyhermuller, T.; Bill, E.; Haupt, H. J.; Florke, U. Inorg. Chem. Commun. 1998, 1, 39-42.
- 369. Dutton, J. C.; Fallon, G. D.; Murray, K. S. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1990, 64-65.
- 370. Rao, C. P.; Sreedhara, A.; Rao, P. V.; Verghese, M. B.; Rissanen, K.; Kolehmainen, E.; Lokanath, N. K.; Sridhar, M. A.; Prasad, J. S. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1998, 2383–2394.
- 371. Asgedom, G.; Sreedhara, A.; Rao, C. P. Polyhedron 1995, 14, 1873-1879.
- 372. Dai, J.; Wang, H.; Mikuriya, M. Polyhedron 1996, 15, 1801-1806.
- 373. Colpas, G. J.; Hamstra, B. J.; Kampf, J. W.; Pecoraro, V. L. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 4669-4675.
- 374. Mimoun, H.; Mignard, M.; Brechot, P.; Saussine, L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108, 3711-3718.
- 375. Pal, S.; Pal, S. Acta Crystallogr. 2001, C57, 141-142.
- 376. Rezaie, B.; Zabeen, R.; Goswami, A. K.; Purohit, D. N. Rev. Anal. Chem. 1993, 12, 1-200.
- 377. Liu, H.-X.; Wang, W.; Wang, X.; Tan, M.-Y. J. Coord. Chem. 1994, 33, 347-352.
- 378. Dutta, S.; Basu, P.; Chakravorty, A. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 5343-5348.
- 379. Huang, H.; Kai, F.; Shoda, T.; Nakamura, M. J. Coord. Chem. 1993, 28, 155-165.
- 380. Fukuda, I.; Matsushima, H.; Maeda, K.; Koikawa, M.; Tokii, T. Chem. Lett. 1997, 463-464.
- 381. Cornman, C. R.; Geiser-Bush, K. M.; Singh, P. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 4621-4622.
- 382. Crans, D. C.; Holst, H.; Keramidas, A. D.; Rehder, D. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 2524-2534.
- 383. Jaswal, J. S.; Tracey, A. S. Can. J. Chem. 1991, 69, 1600-1607.
- 384. Elvingson, K.; Fritzsche, M.; Rehder, D.; Pettersson, L. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1994, 48, 878-885.
- 385. Cornman, C. R.; Kampf, J.; Pecoraro, V. L. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 1981–1983.
- 386. Ligtenbarg, A. G. J.; Spek, A. L.; Hage, R.; Feringa, B. L. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1999, 659-662.
- 387. Scheidt, W. R.; Countryman, R.; Hoard, J. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1971, 93, 3878-3882.
- 388. Crans, D. C.; Keramidas, A. D.; Mahroof-Tahir, M.; Anderson, O. P.; Miller, M. M. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 3599–3606.
- 389. Chakravarty, J.; Dutta, S.; Chakravorty, A. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1993, 1091–1092.
- 390. Maurya, M. R.; Khurana, S.; Schulzke, C.; Rehder, D. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 779-788.
- 391. Gao, S.; Weng, Z.-Q.; Liu, S.-X. Polyhedron 1998, 17, 3595-3606.
- 392. Bansse, W.; Ludwig, E.; Uhlemann, E.; Weller, F.; Dehnicke, K.; Herrmann, W. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1992, 613, 36-44.
- 393. Diamantis, A. A.; Frederiksen, J. M.; Salam, M. A.; Snow, M. R.; Tiekink, E. R. T. Aust. J. Chem. 1986, 39, 1081–1088.
- 394. Sundheim, A.; Mattes, R. Z. Naturforsch., B: Chem. Sci. 1993, 48, 1848-1850.
- 395. Sangeetha, N. R.; Pal, S. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 2000, 73, 357-363.
- 396. Yan, S.-P.; Wang, G.-L.; Wang, H.-G.; Yao, X.-K. Jiegou Huaxue 1992, 11, 47-50.
- 397. Rajak, K. K.; Baruah, B.; Rath, S. P.; Chakravorty, A. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 1598-1601.
- 398. Palacios, M. S.; Rocio, M. J.; Dominiquez, S.; Gili, P.; Ruiz-Perez, C.; Rodriguez-Romero, F. V.; Dance, J.-M. Polyhedron 1997, 16, 1143–1147.
- 399. Moon, M.; Pyo, M.; Myoung, Y. C.; Ahn, C. I.; Lah, M. S. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 554-557.
- 400. Wang, W.; Zeng, F.-L.; Wang, X.; Tan, M.-Y. Polyhedron 1996, 15, 1699-1703.
- 401. Wang, W.; Wang, X.; Liu, H.-X.; Tan, M.-Y. J. Coord. Chem. 1995, 36, 49-55.
- 402. Charistos, D.; Voulgaropoulos, B.; Voutsas, G. Struct. Chem. 2001, 12, 67-72.
- 403. Ludwig, E.; Hefele, H.; Friedrich, A.; Kallies, B.; Schilde, U.; Uhlemann, E.; Hahn, E. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1995, 621, 488–494.
- 404. Rath, S. P.; Mondal, S.; Chakravorty, A. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1997, 263, 247-253.
- 405. Rath, S. P.; Rajak, K. K.; Mondal, S.; Chakravorty, A. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1998, 2097-2101.
- 406. Chakravarty, J.; Dutta, S.; Dey, A.; Chakravorty, A. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1994, 557-561.
- 407. Liu, S.-X.; Gao, S. Polyhedron 1998, 17, 81-84.
- 408. Sundheim, A.; Theers, C. Z. Naturforsch., B: Chem. Sci. 1994, 49, 176-185.
- 409. Wang, X.; Zhang, X. M.; Liu, H. X. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1994, 223, 193-197.
- 410. Zhang, X.-M.; You, X.-Z. Polyhedron 1996, 15, 1793-1796.
- 411. Plass, W.; Pohlmann, A.; Yozgatli, H.-P. J. Inorg. Biochem. 2000, 80, 181-183.
- 412. Pal, S.; Radhika, K. R.; Pal, S. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 2001, 627, 1631–1637.
- 413. Pal, S.; Pal, S. J. Chem. Crystallogr. 2000, 30, 329–333.
- 414. Arion, V. B.; Kravtsov, V. C.; Goddard, R.; Bill, E.; Gradinaru, J. I.; Gerbeleu, N. V.; Levitschi, V.; Vezin, H.; Simonov, Y. A.; Lipkowski, J.; Bel'skii, V. K. *Inorg. Chim. Acta* 2001, 317, 33–44.
- 415. Dutta, S. K.; Samanta, S.; Kumar, S. B.; Han, O. H.; Burckel, P.; Pinkerton, A. A.; Chaudhury, M. *Inorg. Chem.* **1999**, *38*, 1982–1988.
- 416. Petrovic, A. F.; Leovac, V. M.; Ribar, B.; Argay, G.; Kalman, A. Transition Met. Chem. (Weinheim, Ger.) 1986, 11, 207–213.
- 417. Milanesio, M.; Viterbo, D.; Hernandez, R. P.; Rodriguez, J. D.; Ramirez-Ortiz, J.; Valdes-Martinez, J. Inorg. Chim. Acta 2000, 306, 125–129.
- 418. Dutta, S. K.; Tiekink, E. R. T.; Chaudhhury, M. Polyhedron 1997, 16, 1863-1871.
- Dutta, S. K.; Kumar, S. B.; Bhattacharyya, S.; Tiekink, E. R. T.; Chaudhhury, M. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 4954–4960.
 Gerbeleu, N. V.; Arion, V. B.; Simonov, S. A.; Bourosh, P. N.; Dvorkin, A. A.; Indrichan, K. M. Zh. Neorg. Khim. 1990, 35, 918–925.
- 421. Wang, D.; Ebel, M.; Schulzke, C.; Gruning, C.; Hazari, S. K. S.; Rehder, D. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 935-942.

- 422. Smith, T. S. II.; LoBrutto, R.; Pecoraro, V. L. Coord. Chem. Rev. 2002, 228, 1-18.
- 423. Frausto da Silva, J. J. R. Chem. Spec. Bioavailab. 1989, 1, 139-150.
- 424. Fisher, D. C.; Barclay-Peet, S. J.; Balfe, C. A.; Raymond, K. N. Inorg. Chem. 1989, 28, 4399-4406.
- 425. Butler, A.; De la Rosa, R.; Zhou, Q.; Jhanji, A.; Carrano, C. J. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 5072-5077.
- 426. Yamaki, R. T.; Paniago, E. B.; Carvalho, S.; Lula, I. S. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1999, 4407-4412.
- 427. Ryan, D. E.; Ghatlia, N. D.; McDermott, A. E.; Turro, N. J.; Nakanishi, K.; Kustin, K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114 9659-9660
- 428. Buglyó, P.; Culeddu, N.; Kiss, T.; Micera, G.; Sanna, D. J. Inorg. Biochem. 1995, 60, 45-59.
- 429. Butler, A.; Parsons, S. M.; Yamagata, S. K.; De la Rosa, R. I. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1989, 163, 1-3.
- 430. Jhanji, A. K.; Carrano, C. J. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1993, 214, 141-144.
- 431. Devore, D. D.; Lichtenhan, J. D.; Takusagawa, F.; Maatta, E. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 7408-7416.
- 432. Gerlach, C. P.; Arnold, J. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 5770-5780.
- 433. Nicholson, J. R.; Huffman, J. C.; Ho, D. M.; Christou, G. Inorg. Chem. 1987, 26, 3030-3034.
- 434. Neves, A.; Walz, W.; Wieghardt, K.; Nuber, B.; Weiss, J. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 27, 2484-2489.
- 435. Auerbach, U.; Della Vedova, B. S. P. C.; Wieghardt, K.; Nuber, B.; Weiss, J. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1990, 1004-1006.
- 436. Niemann, A.; Bossek, U.; Haselhorst, G.; Wieghardt, K.; Nuber, B. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 906-915.
- 437. Plass, W.; Verkade, J. G. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 3762-3765.
- 438. Cummins, C. C.; Schrock, R. R.; Davis, W. M. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 1448-1457.
- 439. Schumann, H. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 1808-1813.
- 440. Nomura, K.; Schrock, R. R. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 3695-3701.
- 441. Kelm, H.; Krueger, H.-J. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 3533-3540.
- 442. Piarulli, U.; Solari, E.; Floriani, C.; Chiesi-Villa, A.; Rizzoli, C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 3634-3642.
- 443. Aistars, A.; Doedens, R. J.; Doherty, N. M. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 4360-4365.
- 444. Glas, H.; Kohler, K.; Herdtweck, E.; Maas, P.; Spiegler, M.; Thiel, W. R. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 2075-2080.
- 445. Glas, H.; Herdtweck, E.; Artus, G. R. J.; Thiel, W. R. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 3644–3646.
- 446. Rehder, D. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 27, 4312-4316.
- 447. Tracey, A. S.; Jaswal, J. S.; Nxumalo, F.; Angus-Dunne, S. J. Can. J. Chem. 1995, 73, 489-498.
- 448. Keramidas, A. D.; Miller, S. M.; Anderson, O. P.; Crans, D. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 5447-5448.
- 449. Do, Y.; Simhon, E. D.; Holm, R. H. Inorg. Chem. 1985, 24, 4635-4642.
- 450. Halbert, T. R.; Hutchings, L. L.; Rhodes, R.; Stiefel, E. I. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108, 6437-6438.
- 451. Vogler, A.; Kunkely, H. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 27, 504-507.
- 452. Crans, D. C.; Simone, C. M. Biochemistry 1991, 30, 6734-6741.
- 453. Crans, Unpublished results 2002.
- 454. Cohen, M. D.; Sen, A. C.; Wei, C.-I. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1987, 138, 91-93.
- 455. Sendlinger, S. C.; Nicholson, J. R.; Lobkovsky, E. B.; Huffman, J. C.; Rehder, D.; Christou, G. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 204-210.
- 456. Castro, S. L.; Martin, J. D.; Christou, G. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 2978-2980.
- 457. Cornman, C. R.; Stauffer, T. C.; Boyle, P. D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 5986-5987.
- 458. Kumar, M.; Chaudhary, A. M.; Sharma, S. Ind. J. Chem. **1986**, 25A, 281–282. 459. Paul, P. C.; Tracey, A. S. J. Biol. Inorg. Chem. **1997**, 2, 644–651.
- 460. Davies, S. C.; Hughes, D. L.; Janas, Z.; Jerzykiewicz, L. B.; Richards, R. L.; Sanders, J. R.; Silverston, J. E.; Sobota, P. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 3485-3498.
- 461. Gillespie, R. J.; Bytheway, I.; Tang, T.-H.; Bader, R. F. W. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 3954–3963.
- 462. Hibbert, R. C. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1986, 751-753.
- 463. Zhang, Y.; Haushalter, R. C.; Zubieta, J. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1997, 260, 105-110.
- 464. Preuss, F.; Steidel, M.; Vogel, M.; Overhoff, G.; Hornung, G.; Towae, W.; Frank, W.; Reiss, G.; Muller-Becker, S. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1997, 623, 1220-1228.
- 465. Feher, F. J.; Blanski, R. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 5886-5887.
- 466. Mustafi, D.; Makinen, M. W. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 27, 3360-3368.
- 467. Komura, A.; Hayashi, M.; Imanaga, H. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1977, 50, 2927-2931.
- 468. Henry, R. P.; Mitchell, P. C.; Prue, J. E. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton Trans. 1973, 1156-1159.
- 469. Chasteen, N. D. In Biological Magnetic Resonance; Berliner, L., Reuben, J., Eds.; Plenum Press: New York, 1981; pp 53-119.
- 470. Miyanaga, T.; Watanabe, I.; Ikeda, S. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1990, 63, 3282-3287.
- 471. Macartney, D. H. Inorg. Chem. 1986, 25, 2222-2225.
- 472. Macartney, D. H.; McAuley, A.; Olubuyide, O. A. Inorg. Chem. 1985, 24, 307-312.
- 473. Fanchiang, Y. T.; Bose, R. N.; Gelerinter, E.; Gould, E. S. Inorg. Chem. 1985, 24, 4679-4684.
- 474. Pillai, G. C.; Bose, R. N.; Gould, E. S. Inorg. Chem. 1987, 26, 3120-3123.
- 475. Haaland, A.; Rypdal, K.; Volden, H. V.; Andersen, R. A. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1992, 891-895.
- 476. Hagen, H.; Boersma, J.; Lutz, M.; Spek, A. L.; Van Koten, G. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 117-123.
- 477. Rost, M.; Goerls, H.; Imhof, W.; Seidel, W.; Thiele, K. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1998, 624, 1994-2000.
- 478. Gilson, T. R.; Thom-Postlethwaite, I. M.; Webster, M. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1986, 895-897.
- 479. di Bernardo, P.; Tomat, G.; Zanonato, P.; Portanova, R.; Tolazzi, M. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1988, 145, 285-288.
- 480. Yang, P.; Zhang, X. J. Inorg. Biochem. 1989, 37, 61-68.
- 481. Berrah, F.; Guesdon, A.; Leclaire, A.; Borel, M. M.; Provost, J.; Raveau, B. J. Solid State Chem. 1999, 148, 189-196.
- 482. Berrah, F.; Borel, M. M.; Leclaire, A.; Daturi, M.; Raveau, B. J. Solid State Chem. 1999, 145, 643-648.
- 483. Fratzky, D.; Worzala, H.; Goetze, T.; Meisel, M. Acta Crystallogr. 1999, C55, 156-157.
- 484. Worzala, H.; Goetze, T.; Fratzky, D.; Meisel, M. Acta Crystallogr. 1998, C54, 283-285.
- 485. Herron, N.; Thorn, D. L.; Harlow, R. L.; Coulston, G. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 7149-7150.
- 486. Johnson, J. W.; Johnston, D. C.; King, H. E., Jr.; Halbert, T. R.; Brody, J. F.; Goshorn, D. P. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 27, 1646-1648.
- 487. Le Bail, A.; Marcos, M. D.; Amoros, P. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 2607-2613.

- 488. Aranda, M. A. G.; Attfield, J. P.; Bruque, S.; Martinez-Lara, M. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 1045-1049.
- 489. Wang, S. L.; Lee, W. C. Acta Crystallogr. 1991, C47, 1709-1711.
- 490. Benes, L.; Melanova, K.; Zima, V.; Trchova, M.; Uhlirova, E.; Matejka, P. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 895-900.
- 491. Rietzel, M.; Roesky, H. W.; Katti, K. V.; Noltemeyer, M.; Symons, M. C. R.; Abu-Raqabah, A. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1991, 1285–1290.
- 492. Pifferi, C.; Picchi, M. P.; Cini, R. Polyhedron 2000, 19, 69-76.
- 493. Khan, M. I.; Cevik, S.; Doedens, R. J. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1999, 292, 112-116.
- 494. Khan, M. I.; Lee, Y.-S.; O'Connor, C. J.; Haushalter, R. C.; Zubieta, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 4525–4526.
- 495. Barr-David, G.; Hambley, T. W.; Irwin, J. A.; Judd, R. J.; Lay, P. A.; Martin, B. D.; Bramley, R.; Dixon, N. E.; Hendry, P.; et al. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 4906-4908.
- 496. Buglyó, P.; Kiss, E.; Fábián, I.; Kiss, T.; Sanna, D.; Garriba, E.; Micera, G. Inorg. Chim. Acta 2000, 306, 174-183.
- 497. Janas, Z.; Sobota, P.; Klimowicz, M.; Szafert, S.; Szczegot, K.; Jerzykiewicz, L. B. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1997, 3897-3901.
- 498. Farahbakhsh, M.; Schmidt, H.; Rehder, D. Chem. Commun. 1998, 2009-2010.
- 499. Li, J.; Elberg, G.; Crans, D. C.; Shechter, Y. Biochemistry 1996, 35, 8314-8318.
- 500. Reul, B. A.; Amin, S. S.; Buchet, J.-P.; Ongemba, L. N.; Crans, D. C.; Brichard, S. M. Br. J. Pharm. 1999, 126, 467-477.
- 501. Amin, S. S.; Cryer, K.; Zhang, B.; Dutta, S. K.; Eaton, S. S.; Anderson, O. P.; Miller, S. M.; Reul, B. A.; Brichard, S. M.; Crans, D. C. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 406-416.
- 502. Caravan, P.; Gelmini, L.; Glover, N.; Herring, F. G.; Li, H.; McNeill, J. H.; Rettig, S. J.; Setyawati, I. A.; Shuter, E.; Sun, Y.; Tracey, A. S.; Yuen, V. G.; Orvig, C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 12759-12770.
- 503. Cortes, R.; Urtiaga, M. K.; Lezama, L.; Arriortua, M. I.; Rojo, T. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 829-832.
- 504. Sun, X.-R.; Miao, M.-M.; Cheng, P.; Liao, D.-Z.; Jiang, Z.-H.; Wang, G.-L. Polyhedron 1996, 15, 2927–2930.
- 505. Triki, S.; Berezovsky, F.; Pala, J. S.; Garland, M.-T. Inorg. Chim. Acta 2000, 308, 31-36.
- 506. Li, Y.-T.; Yan, C.-W.; Guo, B.-R.; Liao, D.-Z. Polyhedron 1997, 16, 4379-4384.
- 507. Ma, R.; Bakac, A.; Espenson, J. H. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 1925-1930.
- 508. Lee, S.; Kustin, K.; Robinson, W. E.; Frankel, R. B.; Spartalian, K. J. Inorg. Biochem. 1988, 33, 183-192.
- 509. Bulls, A. R.; Pippin, C. G.; Hahn, F. E.; Raymond, K. N. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 2627-2632.
- 510. Kabanos, T. A.; White, A. J. P.; Williams, D. J.; Woollins, J. D. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1992, 17–18. 511. Karpishin, T. B.; Dewey, T. M.; Raymond, K. N. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 1842–1851.
- 512. Kustin, K.; Liu, S.-T.; Nicolini, C.; Toppen, D. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1974, 96, 7410-7415.
- 513. Kustin, K.; Nicolini, C.; Toppen, D. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1974, 96, 7416-7420.
- 514. Buglyó, P.; Dessi, A.; Kiss, T.; Micera, G.; Sanna, D. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1993, 2057–2063.
- 515. Buglyó, P.; Kiss, T. J. Coord. Chem. 1991, 22, 259-268.
- 516. Branca, M.; Micera, G.; Dessí, A.; Sanna, D.; Raymond, K. N. Inorg. Chem 1990, 29, 1586-1589.
- 517. Kabanos, T. A.; Woollins, J. D. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1991, 1347-1350.
- 518. Branca, M.; Micera, G.; Dessi, A. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1989, 1289-1291
- 519. Branca, M.; Micera, G.; Dessi, A.; Kozlowski, H. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1989, 1283-1287.
- 520. Luneva, N. P.; Mironova, S. A.; Lysenko, K. A.; Antipin, M. Y. Russ. J. Coord. Chem. (Transl. of Koord. Khim.) 1997, 23, 844-849.
- 521. Morgan, G. T.; Moss, H. W. J. Chem. Soc. 1914, 103, 78-90.
- 522. Kim, J. S.; Jung, W.-S.; Asu, H. T.; Fukutomi, H. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1987, 128, 87-92.
- 523. Di Bella, S.; Lanza, G.; Gulino, A.; Fragala, I. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 3885-3890.
- 524. Yordanov, N. D.; Zdravkova, M. Polyhedron 1993, 12, 635-639.
- 525. Perrin, C. L.; Kim, Y.-J. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 3902-3910.
- 526. Lozano, R.; Martinez, J.; Martinez, A.; Roman, J.; De Jesus, F. Polyhedron 1989, 8, 2611-2614.
- 527. Grybos, R.; Samotus, A.; Popova, N.; Bogolitsyn, K. Transition Met. Chem. (London) 1997, 22, 61-64.
- 528. Shibutani, Y.; Shinra, K. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1989, 62, 1477-1481.
- 529. Urs, U. K.; Anitha, K. C.; Raghunathan, K. L.; Shivashankar, S. A.; Robinson, W. T.; Row, T. N. G. Acta Crystallogr. 2001, E57, m242-m243.
- 530. Crans, D. C.; Khan, A. R.; Mahroof-Tahir, M.; Mondal, S.; Miller, S. M.; la Cour, A.; Anderson, O. P.; Jakusch, T.; Kiss, T. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 2001, 3337-3345.
- 531. Marsh, R. E. Acta Crystallogr., Sect. C: Cryst. Struct. Commun. 1994, C50, 1596-1598.
- 532. Arnold, D. I.; Cotton, F. A.; Matonic, J. H.; Murillo, C. A. Chem. Commun. 1996, 2113-2114.
- 533. Lai, C. K.; Lin, F.-J. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1997, 17-19.
- 534. Hawkins, C. J.; Kabanos, T. A. Inorg. Chem. 1989, 28, 1084-1087.
- 535. Jiang, F.; Anderson, O. P.; Miller, S. M.; Chen, J.; Mahroof-Tahir, M.; Crans, D. C. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 5439-5451.
- 536. Mikuriya, M.; Kotera, T.; Adachi, F.; Bandow, S. Chem. Lett. 1993, 945-948.
- 537. Farrell, N.; Barczewski, S. B. J. Inorg. Biochem. 1987, 30, 309-315.
- 538. Beddoes, R. L.; Eardley, D. R.; Mabbs, F. E.; Moorcroft, D.; Passand, M. A. Acta Crystallogr. 1993, C49, 1923-1926.
- 539. Kosugi, M.; Hikichi, S.; Akita, M.; Moro-oka, Y. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 2567-2578.
- 540. Knopp, P.; Wieghardt, K.; Nuber, B.; Weiss, J. Z. Naturforsch., B: Chem. Sci. 1991, 46, 1077-1084.
- 541. Collison, D.; Mabbs, F. E.; Passand, M. A.; Rigby, K. Polyhedron 1989, 8, 1827-1829.
- 542. Ghosh, P.; Ghosh, S.; Navara, C.; Narla, R. K.; Benyumov, A.; Uckun, F. M. J. Inorg. Biochem. 2001, 84, 241-253.
- 543. Carofiglio, T.; Solari, E.; Floriani, C.; Chiesi-Villa, A.; Rizzoli, C. Polyhedron 1996, 15, 4435–4440.
- 544. Salta, J.; Zubieta, J. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1996, 252, 431-434.
- 545. Hambley, T. W.; Hawkins, C. J.; Kabanos, T. A. Inorg. Chem. 1987, 26, 3740-3745.
- 546. Yamaguchi, K.; Sawyer, D. T. Inorg. Chem. 1985, 24, 971-976.
- 547. Pessoa, J. C.; Boas, L. F. V.; Gillard, R. D.; Lancashire, R. J. Polyhedron 1988, 7, 1245-1262.
- 548. Pessoa, J. C.; Boas, L. F. V.; Gillard, R. D. Polyhedron 1989, 8, 1173-1199.
- 549. Pessoa, J. C.; Marques, R. L.; Boas, L. F. V. Polyhedron 1990, 9, 81-98.

- 550. Pessoa, J. C.; Boas, L. F. V.; Gillard, R. D. Polyhedron 1990, 9, 2101-2125.
- 551. Pessoa, J. C.; Antunes, J. L.; Vilas Boas, L. F.; Gillard, R. D. *Polyhedron* **1992**, *11*, 1449–1461. 552. Pessoa, J. C.; Luz, S. M.; Duarte, R.; Moura, J. J. G.; Gillard, R. D. *Polyhedron* **1993**, *12*, 2857–2867.
- 553. Pessoa, J. C.; Luz, S. M.; Cavaco, I.; Gillard, R. D. Polyhedron 1994, 13, 3177-3198.
- 554. Pessoa, J. C.; Luz, S. M.; Gillard, R. D. Polyhedron 1995, 14, 1495-1515.
- 555. Pessoa, J. C.; Duarte, M. T.; Gillard, R. D.; Madeira, C.; Matias, P. M.; Tomaz, I. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1998, 4015-4020.
- 556. Kiss, T.; Petrohan, K.; Buglyó, P.; Sanna, D.; G, M.; Costa Pessoa, J.; Madeira, C. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 6389-6391.
- 557. Kozlov, A.; Asakura, K.; Iwasawa, Y. Chem. Lett. 1997, 313-314.
- 558. Kiss, E.; Garriba, E.; Micera, G.; Kiss, T.; Sakurai, H. J. Inorg. Biochem. 2000, 78, 97-108.
- 559. Sakurai, H.; Sano, H.; Takino, T.; Yasui, H. Chem. Lett. 1999, 913-914.
- 560. Fukui, K.; Fujisawa, Y.; Ohya-Nishiguchi, H.; Kamada, H.; Sakurai, H. J. Inorg. Biochem. 1999, 77, 215-224.
- 561. Sakurai, H.; Taira, Z. E.; Sakai, N. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1988, 151, 85-86.
- 562. Watanabe, H.; Nakai, M.; Komazawa, K.; Sakurai, H. J. Med. Chem. 1994, 37, 876-877.
- 563. Sakurai, H.; Watanabe, H.; Tamura, H.; Yasui, H.; Matsushita, R.; Takada, J. Inorganica Chimica Acta 1998, 283, 175 - 183.
- 564. Kawabe, K.; Suekuni, T.; Inada, T.; Yamato, K.; Tadokoro, M.; Kojima, Y.; Fujisawa, Y.; Sakurai, H. Chem. Lett. 1998, 1155-1156.
- 565. Sakurai, H.; Tsuchiya, K.; Nukatsuka, M.; Sofue, M.; Kawada, J. J. Endocrinol. 1990, 126, 451-459.
- 566. Sakurai, H.; Tsuchiya, K.; Nukatsuka, M.; Kawada, J.; Ishikawa, S.; Yoshida, H.; Komatsu, M. J. Clin. Biochem. Nutr. 1990, 8, 193-200.
- 567. Sakurai, H.; Fujii, K.; Watanabe, H.; Tamura, H. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 1995, 214, 1095-1101.
- 568. Sakurai, H.; Sano, H.; Takino, T.; Yasui, H. J. Inorg. Biochem. 2000, 80, 90-105.
- 569. Yasui, H.; Takechi, K.; Sakuari, H. J. Inorg. Biochem. 2000, 78, 185-196.
- 570. Takino, T.; Yasui, H.; Yoshitake, A.; Hamajima, Y.; Matsushita, R.; Takada, J.; Sakurai, H. J. Biol. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 6, 133-142.
- 571. Rangel, M.; Tamura, A.; Fukushima, C.; Sakurai, H. J. Biol. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 6, 128-132.
- 572. Bellemin-Laponnaz, S.; Coleman, K. S.; Osborn, J. A. Polyhedron 1999, 18, 2533-2536.
- 573. Collison, D.; Gahan, B.; Mabbs, F. E. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1987, 111-117.
- 574. Dessi, A.; Micera, G.; Sanna, D.; Erre, L. S. J. Inorg. Biochem. 1992, 48, 279-287.
- 575. Klich, P. R.; Daniher, A. T.; Challen, P. R.; McConville, D. B.; Youngs, W. J. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 347-356.
- 576. Crans, D. C.; Zhang, B.; Gaidamauskas, E.; Keramidas, A. D.; Willsky, G. R.; Roberts, C. R. Submitted for publication 2003.
- 577. Pizarro, J. L.; Garcia-Jaca, J.; Rojo, T.; Arriortua, M. I. Acta Crystallogr., Sect. C: Cryst. Struct. Commun. 1994, C50, 1394-1396.
- 578. Castro, S. L.; Cass, M. E.; Hollander, F. J.; Bartley, S. L. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 466-472.
- 579. Velayutham, M.; Varghese, B.; Subramanian, S. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 1336-1340.
- 580. Ceccato, A. S.; Neves, A.; De Brito, M. A.; Drechsel, S. M.; Mangrich, A. S.; Werner, R.; Haase, W.; Bortoluzzi, A. J. J. Chem Soc., Dalton Trans. 2000, 1573-1577.
- 581. Carrano, C. J.; Drechsel, H.; Kaiser, D.; Jung, G.; Matzanke, B.; Winkelmann, G.; Rochel, N.; Albrecht-Gary, A. M. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 6429-6436.
- 582. Kozlowski, H.; Bouhsina, S.; Decock, P.; Micera, G.; Swiatek, J. J. Coord. Chem. 1991, 24, 319-323.
- 583. Williams, P. A. M.; Etcheverry, S. B.; Baran, E. F. J. Inorg. Biochem. 1997, 65, 133-136.
- 584. Williams, P. A. M.; Baran, E. J. J. Inorg. Biochem. 1993, 50, 101-106.
- 585. Mustafi, D.; Telser, J.; Makinen, M. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 6219-6226.
- 586. Jiang, F. S.; Makinen, M. W. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 1736-1744.
- 587. del Rio, D.; Galindo, A.; Tejedo, J.; Bedoya, F. J.; Ienco, A.; Mealli, C. Inorg. Chem. Commun. 2000, 3, 32-34.
- 588. Wang, B.; Sasaki, Y.; Okazaki, K.; Kanesato, K.; Saito, K. Inorg. Chem. 1986, 25, 3745-3749.
- 589. Crans, D. C.; Jiang, F.; Anderson, O. P.; Miller, S. M. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 6645-6655.
- 590. Alberico, E.; Micera, G.; Sanna, D.; Dessi, A. Polyhedron 1994, 13, 1763-1771.
- 591. Kanamori, K.; Miyazaki, K.; Okamoto, K. I. Acta Crystallogr. 1997, C53, 673-675.
- 592. Shi, J. M.; Xu, J. Q.; Yu, W. T.; Liu, L. D.; Wu, C. J. Pol. J. Chem. 2001, 75, 1695-1701.
- 593. Crans, D. C.; Jiang, F.; Boukhobza, I.; Bodi, I.; Kiss, T. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 3275-3282.
- 594. Zhang, X.-M.; Tong, M.-L.; Lee, H. K.; Chen, X.-M. J. Solid State Chem. 2001, 160, 118-122.
- 595. Mahroof-Tahir, M.; Keramidas, A. D.; Goldfarb, R. B.; Anderson, O. P.; Miller, M. M.; Crans, D. C. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 1657-1668.
- 596. Neves, A.; Ceccatto, A. S.; Erasmus-Buhr, C.; Gehring, S.; Haase, W.; Paulus, H.; Nascimento, O. R.; Batista, A. A. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1993, 1782-1784.
- 597. Uyama, T.; Ueki, T.; Suhama, Y.; Kanamori, K.; Michibata, H. Zool. Sci. 1998, 15, 815-821.
- 598. Kanamori, K.; Sakurai, M.; Kinoshita, T.; Uyama, T.; Ueki, T.; Michibata, H. J. Inorg. Biochem. 1999, 77, 157-161.
- 599. Ueki, T.; Uyama, T.; Yamamoto, K.; Kanamori, K.; Michibata, H. Biochim. Biophys Acta 2000, 1494, 83-90.
- 600. Ueki, T.; Uyama, T.; Adachi, T.; Kawano, S.; Aoshima, M.; Tamaguchi, N.; Kanamori, K.; Michibata, H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 6352-6353.
- 601. Tasiopoulos, A. J.; Deligiannakis, Y. G.; Woollins, J. D.; Slawin, A. M. Z.; Kabanos, T. A. Chem. Commun. 1998, 569-570.
- 602. Cornman, C. R.; Zovinka, E. P.; Meixner, M. H. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 5099-5100.
- 603. Chasteen, N. D.; Grady, J. K.; Holloway, C. E. Inorg. Chem. 1986, 25, 2754–2760.
 604. Gerfen, G. J.; Hanna, P. M.; Chasteen, N. D.; Singel, D. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 9513–9519.
- 605. Kawabe, K.; Tadokoro, M.; Kojima, Y.; Fujisawa, Y.; Sakurai, H. Chem. Lett. 1998, 9-10.
- 606. Sasaki, Y.; Kanesato, M.; Okazaki, K.; Nagasawa, A.; Saito, K. Inorg. Chem. 1985, 24, 772–775.
- 607. Kato, N. Polyhedron 1989, 8, 1949-1951.
- 608. More, K. M.; Eaton, G. R.; Eaton, S. S. Inorg. Chem. 1986, 25, 2638-2646.

- 609. Borovik, A. S.; Dewey, T. M.; Raymond, K. N. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 413-421.
- 610. Liu, S.-X.; Gao, S. Polyhedron 1997, 17, 81-84.
- 611. Bunce, S.; Cross, R. J.; Farrugia, L. J.; Kunchandy, S.; Meason, L. L.; Muir, K. W.; O'Donnell, M.; Peacock, R. D.; Stirling, D.; Teat, S. J. Polyhedron 1998, 17, 4179-4187.
- 612. Evans, D. F.; Missen, P. H. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1987, 1279-1281.
- 613. Mohanta, S.; Nanda, K. K.; Ghosh, S.; Mukherjee, M.; Helliwell, M.; Nag, K. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1996, 4233-4238
- 614. de Loth, P.; Karafiloglou, P.; Daudey, J. P.; Kahn, O. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1988, 110, 5676-5680.
- 615. Yamamoto, K.; Oyaizu, K.; Iwasaki, N.; Tsuchida, E. Chem. Lett. 1993, 1223-1226.
- 616. Tsuchida, E.; Oyaizu, K.; Dewi, E. L.; Imai, T.; Anson, F. C. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 3704-3708.
- 617. Diamantis, A. A.; Manikas, M.; Salam, M. A.; Snow, M. R.; Tiekink, E. R. T. Aust. J. Chem. 1988, 41, 453-468.
- 618. Ludwig, E.; Hefele, H.; Uhlemann, E.; Weller, F.; Klaeui, W. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1995, 621, 23-28.
- 619. Carrondo, M. A. A. F. D. T.; Duarte, M. T. L. S.; da Silva, J. J. R. F.; da Silva, J. A. L. Struct. Chem. 1992, 3, 113-119.
- 620. Ramesh, K.; Lal, T. K.; Mukherjee, R. N. Polyhedron 1992, 11, 3083-3089.
- 621. Comba, P.; Engelhardt, L. M.; Harrowfield, J. M.; Lawrance, G. A.; Martin, L. L.; Sargeson, A. M.; White, A. H. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1985, 174-176.
- 622. Christophersen, R.; Willing, W.; Mueller, U.; Dehnicke, K. Z. Naturforsch., B: Anorg. Chem., Org. Chem. 1986, 41B, 1420-1425.
- 623. Christophersen, R.; Klingelhofer, P.; Muller, U.; Dehnicke, K.; Rehder, D. Z. Naturforsch. 1985, B40, 1631-1637.
- 624. Hanich, J.; Willing, W.; Muller, U.; Dehnicke, K.; Rehder, D. Z. Naturforsch. 1985, B40, 1457-1462.
- 625. Rehder, D. Z. Naturforsch. 1989, B44, 1385-1392.
- 626. El-Kholi, A.; Christophersen, R.; Müller, U.; Dehnicke, K. Z. Naturforsch. 1987, B42, 410-414.
- 627. Aly, M. M. J. Coord. Chem. 1998, 43, 89-113.
- 628. Koch, E.; Kneifel, H.; Bayer, E. Z. Naturforsch. 1987, C42, 873-878.
- 629. Carrondo, M. A. A. F. d. C. T.; Duarte, M. T. L. S.; Silva, J. A.; Fraústo da Silva, J. J. R. Polyhedron 1991, 10, 73-77.
- 630. Carrondo, M. A. A. F. d. C. T.; Duarte, M. T. L. S.; Pessoa, J. C.; Silva, J. A.; Fraústo da Silva, J. J. R.; Vaz, M. C. T. A.; Vilas-Boas, L. F. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1988, 1158-1159.
- 631. Armstrong, E. M.; Collison, D.; Deeth, R. J.; Garner, C. D. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1995, 191–195. 632. Armstrong, E. M.; Collison, D.; Ertok, N.; Garner, C. D. Talanta 2000, 53, 75–87.
- 633. Berry, R. E.; Armstrong, E. M.; Beddoes, R. L.; Collison, D.; Ertok, S. N.; Helliwell, M.; Garner, C. D. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1999, 38, 795-797.
- 634. Nawi, M. A.; Riechel, T. L. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1987, 136, 33-39.
- 635. Fraústo da Silva, J. J. R.; Guedes da Silva, M. F. C.; da Silva, J. A. L.; Pombeiro, A. J. L. In Molecular Electrochemistry of Inorganic, Bioinorganic, and Organometallic Compounds; Pombeiro, A. J. L., McCleverty, J. A., Eds.; Kluwer Academic: Boston, 1993.
- 636. Hashimoto, S.; Nakamura, Y. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1995, 1413-1414.
- 637. Keller, R. J.; Rush, J. D.; Grover, T. A. J. Inorg. Biochem. 1991, 41, 269-276.
- 638. Batinic-Haberle, I.; Birus, M.; Pribanic, M. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 4882-4887.
- 639. Kopka, K.; Mattes, R. Z. Naturforsch., B: Chem. Sci. **1995**, 50, 1281–1286. 640. Neves, A.; Ceccato, A. S.; Vencato, I.; Mascarenhas, Y. P.; Erasmus-Buhr, C. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. **1992**, 652-654.
- 641. Dubberley, S. R.; Tyrrell, B. R.; Mountford, P. Acta Crystallogr. 2001, C57, 902-904.
- 642. Lorber, C.; Donnadieu, B.; Choukroun, R. Dalton 2000, 4497-4498.
- 643. Wiberg, N.; Haering, H. W.; Schubert, U. Z. Naturforsch. 1980, 35B, 599-603.
- 644. Preuss, F.; Becker, H.; Kaub, J.; Sheldrick, W. S. Z. Naturforsch. 1988, 43B, 1195-1200.
- 645. Gambarotta, S.; Chiesi-Villa, A.; Guastini, C. J. Organomet. Chem. 1984, 270, C49-C52.
- 646. Osborne, J. H.; Rheingold, A. L.; Trogler, W. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1985, 107, 7945-7952.
- 647. Bereau, V.; Sekar, P.; McLauchlan, C. C.; Ibers, J. A. Inorg. Chim. Acta 2000, 308, 91-96.
- 648. Duan, Z.; Schmidt, M.; Young, V. G., Jr.; Xie, X.; McCarley, R. E.; Verkade, J. G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 5302-5303.
- 649. Nicholls, D.; Thomson, A. C.; Varney, A. J. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1986, 115, L13-L14.
- 650. Szydlowska, J.; Krowczynski, A.; Gorecka, E.; Pociecha, D. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 4879-4885.
- 651. Reynolds, J. G.; Sendlinger, S. C.; Murray, A. M.; Huffman, J. C.; Christou, G. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 5745-5752.
- 652. Banerjee, T. K.; Brahma, S. K.; Bag, S. P. Indian J. Chem. 1993, 32A, 776-780.
- 653. Kofman, V.; Dikanov, S. A.; Haran, A.; Libman, J.; Shanzer, A.; Goldfarb, D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 383-391.
- 654. Duval, H.; Bulach, V.; Fischer, J.; Weiss, R. Acta Crystallogr. 1998, C54, 1781-1784.
- 655. Su, Y. O.; Czernuszewicz, R. S.; Miller, L. A.; Spiro, T. G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1988, 110, 4150-4157.
- 656. Kadish, K. M.; Sazou, D.; Araullo, C.; Liu, Y. M.; Saoiabi, A.; Ferhat, M.; Guilard, R. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 27, 2313-2320.
- 657. Czarnecki, K.; Proniewicz, L. M.; Fujii, H.; Ji, D.; Czernuszewicz, R. S.; Kincaid, J. R. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 1543-1547.
- 658. Lin, C.-Y.; Spiro, T. G. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 5237-5243.
- 659. Banci, L. Inorg. Chem. 1985, 24, 782-786.
- 660. Guilard, R.; Senglet, N.; Liu, Y. H.; Sazou, D.; Findsen, E.; Faure, D.; Des Courieres, T.; Kadish, K. M. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 1898-1905.
- 661. Vlahos, A. T.; Kabanos, T. A.; Raptopoulou, C. P.; Terzis, A. Chem. Commun. 1997, 269-270.
- 662. Toftlund, H.; Larsen, S.; Murray, K. S. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 3964-3967.
- 663. Cornman, C. R.; Zovinka, E. P.; Boyajian, Y. D.; Olmstead, M. M.; Noll, B. C. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1999, 285, 134-137.
- 664. Collison, D.; Mabbs, F. E.; Turner, S. S.; Powell, A. K.; McInnes, E. J. L.; Yellowlees, L. J. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1997, 1201-1204.

- 665. Mohan, M.; Holmes, S. M.; Butcher, R. J.; Jasinski, J. P.; Carrano, C. J. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 2029-2034.
- 666. Dean, N. S.; Bond, M. R.; O'Connor, C. J.; Carrano, C. J. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 7643-7648.
- 667. Kime-Hunt, E.; Spartalian, K.; DeRusha, M.; Nunn, C. M.; Carrano, C. J. Inorg. Chem. 1989, 28, 4392-4399.
- 668. Mikuriya, M.; Minowa, K.; Nagao, N. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 2001, 74, 871-872.
- 669. Ghosh, S.; Mukherjee, M.; Mukherjee, A. K.; Mohanta, S.; Helliwell, M. Acta Crystallogr. 1994, C50, 1204–1207.
- 670. Comba, P.; Sargeson, A. M. Aust. J. Chem. 1986, 39, 1029-1033.
- 671. Fallis, I.; Farrugia, L. J.; Macdonald, N. M.; Peacock, R. D. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 779-780.
- 672. Neves, A.; de Moraes Romanowski, S. M.; Bortoluzzi, A. J.; Mangrich, A. S. Inorg. Chim. Acta 2001, 313, 137-148.
- 673. Ozarowski, A.; Reinen, D. Inorg. Chem. 1986, 25, 1704-1708.
- 674. Koeppen, M.; Fresen, G.; Wieghardt, K.; Llusar, R. M.; Nuber, B.; Weiss, J. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 27, 721-727.
- 675. Nishizawa, M.; Sasaki, Y.; Saito, K. Inorg. Chem. 1985, 24, 767-772.
- 676. Hagen, H.; Barbon, A.; van Faassen, E. E.; Lutz, B. T. G.; Boersma, J.; Spek, A. L.; van Koten, G. *Inorg. Chem.* **1999**, *38*, 4079–4086.
- 677. Bristow, S.; McAvilley, S. C. M.; Clegg, W.; Collison, D. Polyhedron 1989, 8, 87-90.
- 678. Al-Ani, F. T.; Hughes, D. L.; Pickett, C. J. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1988, 1705-1707.
- 679. Larin, G. M. Russ. Chem. Bull. 1998, 47, 1425-1435.
- 680. Money, J. K.; Huffman, J. C.; Christou, G. Inorg. Chem. 1985, 24, 3297-3302.
- 681. Seangprasertkij, R.; Riechel, T. L. Inorg. Chem. 1984, 23, 991-994.
- 682. Kondo, M.; Minakoshi, S.; Iwata, K.; Shimizu, T.; Matsuzaka, H.; Kamigata, N.; Kitagawa, S. Chem. Lett. 1996, 489–490.
- 683. Olk, R.-M.; Dietzsch, W.; Kirmse, R.; Stach, J.; Hoyer, E. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1987, 128, 251-259.
- 684. Collison, D.; Mabbs, F. E.; Temperley, J.; Christou, G.; Huffman, J. C. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1988, 309-314.
- 685. Jones, E. L.; Reynolds, J. G.; Huffman, J. C.; Christou, G. Polyhedron 1991, 10, 1817-1825.
- 686. Janas, Z. J. L. B.; Przybylak, S.; Richards, R. L.; Sobota, P. Organometallics 2000, 19, 4252–4257.
- 687. Etcheverry, S. B.; Ferrer, E. G.; Braan, E. J. Z. Naturforsch. 1989, 44B, 1355-1358.
- 688. Alberico, E.; Dewaele, D.; Kiss, T.; Micera, G. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton Trans. 1995, 425-430.
- 689. Dessi, A.; Micera, G.; Sanna, D. J. Inorg. Biochem. 1993, 52, 275-286.
- 690. Kanamori, K.; Kinebuchi, Y.; Michibata, H. Chem. Lett. 1997, 423-424.
- 691. Challen, P. R.; McConville, D. B.; Youngs, W. J. Acta Crystallogr. 2000, C56, 310-311.
- 692. Kumar, S. B.; Chaudhury, M. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1992, 3439-3443.
- 693. Willey, G. R.; Lakin, M. T.; Alcock, N. W. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1991, 1414-1416.
- 694. Tsagkalidis, W.; Rodewald, D.; Rehder, D. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 1943-1945.
- 695. Tasiopoulos, A. J.; Troganis, A. N.; Deligiannakis, Y.; Evangelou, A.; Kabanos, T. A.; Woollins, J. D.; Slawin, A. J. Inorg. Biochem. 2000, 79, 159–166.
- 696. Garner, M.; Reglinski, J.; Smith, W. E.; McMurray, J.; Abdullah, I.; Wilson, R. J. Biol. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 2, 235-241.
- 697. Tasiopoulos, A. J.; Troganis, A. N.; Evangelou, A.; Raptopoulou, C. P.; Terzis, A.; Deligiannakis, Y.; Kabanos, T. A. *Chem. Eur. J.* **1999**, *5*, 910–921.
- 698. Hitchcock, P. B.; Lewis, R. J.; Welton, T. Polyhedron 1993, 12, 2039-2044.
- 699. Jarring, K.; Holmberg, B. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 27, 1363-1367.
- 700. Deeth, R. J. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1991, 1467-1477.
- 701. Phan Viet Minh, T.; Sharma, V.; Wuest, J. D. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 3026-3032.
- 702. Jezierski, A. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1985, 98, L1-L2.
- 703. Cotton, F. A.; Lu, J. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 2639-2644.
- 704. Gerlach, C. P.; Arnold, J. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 2393-2399.
- 705. Drutkowski, U.; Wenzel, B.; Tews, D.; Strauch, P. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 2001, 627, 1888-1894.
- 706. Hazell, A.; McKenzie, C. J.; Moubaraki, B.; Murray, K. S. Acta Chem. Scand. 1997, 51, 470-475.
- 707. Lord, K. A.; Reed, G. H. Inorg. Chem. 1987, 26, 1464-1466.
- 708. Markham, G. D.; Leyh, T. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 599-600.
- 709. Åkesson, R.; Pettersson, L. G. M.; Sandström, M.; Wahlgren, U. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 8691-8704.
- 710. Åkesson, R.; Pettersson, L. G. M.; Sandström, M.; Wahlgren, U. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 8705-8713.
- 711. Dellavia, I.; Sauvageat, P. Y.; Helm, L.; Ducommun, Y.; Merbach, A. E. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 792-797.
- 712. Rotzinger, F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 5230-5238.
- 713. Johnson, D. A.; Nelson, P. G. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 4949-4955.
- 714. Tregenna-Piggott, P. L. W.; Best, S. P.; Gudel, H. U.; Weihe, H.; Wilson, C. C. J. Solid State Chem. 1999, 145, 460-470.
- 715. Chadha, S. L.; Sharma, V. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1987, 132, 237-240.
- 716. Ruiz, J.; Floriani, C.; Chiesi-Villa, A.; Guastini, C. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1991, 2467-2469.
- 717. Piarulli, U.; Williams, D. N.; Floriani, C.; Gervasio, G.; Viterbo, D. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1994, 1409-1410.
- 718. Mazzanti, M.; Floriani, C.; Chiesi-Villa, A.; Guastini, C. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1989, 1793-1798.
- 719. Smith, M. J.; Ryan, D. E.; Nakanishi, K.; Frank, P.; Hodgson, K. O. Met. Ions Biol. Syst. 1995, 31, 423-490.
- 720. Smith, M. J. Experientia 1989, 45, 452-457.
- 721. Meier, R.; Boddin, M.; Mitzenheim, S. Bioinorg. Chem. 1997, 69-97.
- 722. Gambarotta, S.; Van Bolhuis, F.; Chiang, M. Y. Inorg. Chem. 1987, 26, 4301-4303.
- 723. Wilisch, W. C. A.; Scott, M. J.; Armstrong, W. H. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 27, 4333-4335.
- 724. Minhas, R. K.; Edema, J. J. H.; Gambarotta, S.; Meetsma, A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 6710-6717.
- 725. Sobota, P.; Ejfler, J.; Szafert, S.; Glowiak, T.; Fritzky, I. O.; Szczegot, K. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1995, 1727-1732.
- 726. Fink, K.; Fink, R.; Staemmler, V. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 6219-6229.
- 727. Knopp, P.; Wieghardt, K. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 4061-4066.
- 728. Hotzelmann, R.; Wieghardt, K. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 114-116.
- 729. Bond, M. R.; Czernuszewicz, R. S.; Dave, B. C.; Yan, Q.; Mohan, M.; Verastegue, R.; Carrano, C. J. *Inorg. Chem.* **1995**, *34*, 5857–5869.

- 730. Kanamori, K.; Yamamoto, K.; Okamoto, K. Chem. Lett. 1993, 1253-1254.
- 731. Castro, S. L.; Streib, W. E.; Sun, J.-S.; Christou, G. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 4462-4468.
- 732. Sun, Z.; Hendrickson, D. N.; Grant, C. M.; Castro, S. L.; Christou, G. Chem. Commun. 1998, 721-722.
- 733. Castro, S. L.; Sun, Z.; Bollinger, J. C.; Hendrickson, D. N.; Christou, G. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1995, 2517-2518.
- 734. Vaughey, J. T.; Harrison, W. T. A.; Jacobson, A. J.; Goshorn, D. P.; Johnson, J. W. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 2481-2487.
- 735. Palkina, K. K.; Maksimova, S. I.; Chibiskova, N. T.; Schlesinger, K.; Ladwig, G. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1985, 529, 89-96.
- 736. Lii, K. H.; Wen, N. S.; Su, C. C.; Chueh, B. R. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 439-442.
- 737. Engelhardt, H.; Borrmann, H.; Schnelle, W.; Kniep, R. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 2000, 626, 1647-1652.
- 738. Engelhardt, H.; Borrmann, H.; Kniep, R. Z. Kristallogr. New Cryst. Struct. 2000, 215, 203-204.
- 739. Dean, N. S.; Mokry, L. M.; Bond, M. R.; O'Connor, C. J.; Carrano, C. J. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 2818–2825.
- 740. Otieno, T.; Bond, M. R.; Mokry, L. M.; Walter, R. B.; Carrano, C. J. Chem. Commun. 1996, 37-38.
- 741. Heater, S. J.; Carrano, M. W.; Rains, D.; Walter, R. B.; Ji, D.; Yan, Q.; Czernuszewicz, R. S.; Carrano, C. J. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 3881-3889.
- 742. Frank, P.; Kustin, K.; Robinson, W. E.; Linebaugh, L.; Hodgson, K. O. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 5942-5949.
- 743. Frank, P.; Hedman, B.; Hodgson, K. O. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 260-270.
- 744. Ryan, D. E.; Grant, K. B.; Nakanishi, K.; Frank, P.; Hodgson, K. O. Biochemistry 1996, 35, 8651-8861.
- 745. Kanamori, K.; Kameda, E.; Okamoto, K.-i. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1996, 69, 2901–2909.
- 746. Kanamori, K.; Kunita, N.; Okamoto, K.; Hidaka, J. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1993, 66, 2574-2578.
- 747. Bukietynska, K.; Krot-Lacina, K. Polyhedron 2001, 20, 2353-2361.
- 748. Janas, Z.; Sobota, P.; Kasprzak, M.; Glowiak, T. Chem. Commun. 1996, 2727-2728.
- 749. Solari, E.; De Angelis, S.; Floriani, C.; Chiesi-Villa, A.; Guastini, C. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 141-144.
- 750. Seidel, W.; Kreisel, G. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1989, 577, 229-233.
- 751. Pang, G.-S.; Feng, S.-H.; Xu, R.-R. Chem. Res. Chin. Univ. 1998, 14, 351-355.
- 752. Dean, L. K. L.; DiDonato, G. C.; Wood, T. D.; Busch, K. L. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 27, 4622-4627.
- 753. Bonitatebus, P. J., Jr.; Mandal, S. K.; Armstrong, W. H. Chem. Commun. 1998, 939-940.
- 754. Milani, F.; Casellato, U.; Vigato, P. A.; Vidali, M.; Fenton, D. E.; Gonzalez, M. S. L. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1985, 103, 15 - 18.
- 755. Cross, R. J.; Farrugia, L. J.; Newman, P. D.; Peacock, R. D.; Stirling, D. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1996, 1087-1092.
- 756. Grey, I. E.; Madsen, I. C.; Sirat, K.; Smith, P. W. Acta Crystallogr. 1985, C41, 681-683.
- 757. Chatterjee, M.; Ghosh, S.; Nandi, A. K. Polyhedron 1997, 16, 2917-2923
- 758. Magill, C. P.; Floriani, C.; Chiesi-Villa, A.; Rizzoli, C. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 2729-2735.
- 759. Kanamori, K.; Teraoka, M.; Maeda, H.; Okamoto, K. Chem. Lett. 1993, 1731-1734.
- 760. Czernuszewicz, R. S.; Yan, Q.; Bond, M. R.; Carrano, C. J. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 6116-6119.
- 761. Bukietynska, K.; Karwecka, Z.; Podsiadly, H. Polyhedron 1997, 16, 2613-2620.
- 762. Chatterjee, M.; Maji, M.; Ghosh, S.; Mak, T. C. W. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1998, 3641-3646.
- 763. Hughes, D. L.; Leigh, G. J.; Sanders, J. R. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1990, 3235-3237.
- 764. Cozzi, P. G.; Floriani, C.; Chiesi-Villa, A.; Rizzoli, C. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 2921–2930.
- 765. Neumann, R.; Assael, I. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989, 111, 8410-8413.
- 766. Castellano, B.; Solari, E.; Floriani, C.; Scopelliti, R.; Re, N. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 3406-3413.
- 767. Okamoto, K.; Hidaka, J. Acta Crystallogr. 1992, C48, 1025-1027.
- 768. Kanamori, K.; Kumada, J.; Yamamoto, M.; Okayasu, T.; Okamoto, K.-i. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1995, 68, 3445-3451.
- 769. Kanamori, K.; Kameda, E.; Kabetani, T.; Suemoto, T.; Okamoto, K.-i.; Kaizaki, S. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1995, 68, 2581-2859.
- 770. Shimoi, M.; Saito, Y.; Ogino, H. Chem. Lett. 1989, 1675-1678.
- 771. Miyoshi, K.; Wang, J.; Mizuta, T. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1995, 228, 165-172.
- 772. Ogino, H.; Shimoi, M.; Saito, Y. Inorg. Chem. 1989, 28, 3596-3600.
- 773. Robles, J. C.; Matsuzaka, Y.; Inomata, S.; Shimoi, M.; Mori, W.; Ogino, H. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 13-17.
- 774. Kanamori, K.; Kyotoh, A.; Fujimoto, K.; Nagata, K.; Suzuki, H.; Okamoto, K.-I. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 2001, 74, 2113-2118
- 775. Neves, A.; Ceccato, A. S.; Erthal, S. M. D.; Vencato, I. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1991, 187, 119-121.
- 776. Kanamori, K.; Ino, K.; Maeda, H.; Miyazaki, K.; Fukagawa, M.; Kumada, J.; Eguchi, T.; Okamoto, K.-i. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 5547-5554.
- 777. Meier, R.; Boddin, M.; Mitzenheim, S.; Schmid, V.; Schonherr, T. J. Inorg. Biochem. 1998, 69, 249-252.
- 778. Sorensen, K. L.; Ziller, J. W.; Doherty, N. M. Acta Crystallogr. 1994, C50, 407-409.
- 779. Clancy, G. P.; Clark, H. C. S.; Clentsmith, G. K. B.; Cloke, F. G. N.; Hitchcock, P. B. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1999, 3345-3347.
- 780. O'Brien, J. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1988, 149, 285-288.
- 781. Sauvageat, P. Y.; Ducommun, Y.; Merbach, A. E. Helv. Chim. Acta 1989, 72, 1801-1808.
- 782. Carofiglio, T.; Floriani, C.; Chiesi-Villa, A.; Guastini, C. Inorg. Chem. 1989, 28, 4417–4419.
- 783. Ruppa, K. B. P.; Desmangles, N.; Gambarotta, S.; Yap, G.; Rheingold, A. L. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 1194-1197.
- 784. Brandsma, M. J. R.; Brussee, E. A. C.; Meetsma, A.; Hessen, B.; Teuben, J. H. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 1867–1870. 785. Cotton, F. A.; Poli, R. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1988, 141, 91-98.
- 786. Cotton, F. A.; Daniels, L. M.; Murillo, C. A. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 2881-2885.
- 787. Brussee, E. A. C.; Meetsma, A.; Hessen, B.; Teuben, J. H. Chem. Commun. 2000, 497-498.
- 788. Le Floc'h, C.; Henderson, R. A.; Hitchcock, P. B.; Hughes, D. L.; Janas, Z.; Richards, R. L.; Sobota, P.; Szafert, S. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1996, 2755-2762.
- 789. Tsagkalidis, W.; Woitha, C.; Rehder, D. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1993, 205, 239-243.
- 790. Re, N.; Rosi, M.; Sgamellotti, A.; Floriani, C. *Inorg. Chem.* 1995, 34, 3410–3417.
 791. Re, N.; Rosi, M.; Sgamellotti, A.; Floriani, C.; Solari, E. *Inorg. Chem.* 1994, 33, 4390–4397.

- 792. Desmangles, N.; Jenkins, H.; Ruppa, K. B.; Gambarotta, S. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1996, 250, 1-4.
- 793. Money, J. K.; Folting, K.; Huffman, J. C.; Christou, G. Inorg. Chem. 1987, 26, 944-948.
- 794. Spek, A. L.; Edema, J. J. H.; Gambarotta, S. Acta Crystallogr. 1994, C50, 1209-1211.
- 795. Grant, C. M.; Stamper, B. J.; Knapp, M. J.; Folting, K.; Huffman, J. C.; Hendrickson, D. N.; Christou, G. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1999, 3399–3405.
- 796. Kanamori, K.; Yamamoto, K.; Okayasu, T.; Matsui, N.; Okamoto, K.-i.; Mori, W. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1997, 70, 3031–3040.
- 797. Kanamori, K.; Okayasu, T.; Okamoto, K. -I. Chem. Lett. 1995, 105-106.
- 798. Rosenberger, C.; Schrock, R. R.; Davis, W. M. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 123-125.
- 799. Edema, J. J. H.; Meetsma, A.; Gambarotta, S. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1990, 951-953.
- 800. Wieghardt, K.; Koeppen, M.; Nuber, B.; Weiss, J. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1986, 1530-1532.
- 801. Rehder, D.; Gailus, H.; Schmidt, H. Acta Crystallogr. 1998, C54, 1590-1592.
- 802. Reeb, P.; Mugnier, Y.; Guilard, R.; Laviron, E. Inorg. Chem. 1987, 26, 209-210.
- 803. Berreau, L. M.; Hays, J. A.; Young, V. G. Jr.; Woo, L. K. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 105-108.
- 804. Ejsmont, K.; Kubiak, R. Acta Crystallogr. 1998, C54, 1844-1846.
- 805. Freudenberger, J. H.; Konradi, A. W.; Pedersen, S. F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989, 111, 8014-8016.
- 806. Kumagai, H.; Kawata, S.; Kondo, M.; Kitagawa, S.; Katada, M. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1994, 224, 199-201.
- 807. Amer, S. A.; Gaber, M.; Issa, R. M. Polyhedron 1988, 7, 2635-2640.
- 808. Ramesh, K.; Mukherjee, R. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1991, 3259-3262.
- 809. Kruger, P. E.; Moubaraki, B.; Murray, K. S. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1996, 1223-1228.
- 810. Maeda, H.; Kanamori, K.; Michibata, H.; Konno, T.; Okamoto, K. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1993, 66, 790-796.
- 811. Randall, C. R.; Armstrong, W. H. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1988, 986-987.
- 812. Zhu, H.-P.; Deng, Y.-H.; Huang, X.-Y.; Chen, C.-N.; Liu, Q.-T. Acta Crystallogr. 1997, C53, 692-693.
- 813. Chung, G.; Bereman, R.; Singh, P. J. Coord. Chem. 1994, 33, 331-346.
- 814. Rambo, J. R.; Castro, S. L.; Folting, K.; Bartley, S. A.; Heintz, R.; Christou, G. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 6844–6852.
- 815. Boyd, P. D. W.; Hope, J.; Martin, R. L. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1986, 887-889.
- 816. Miyashita, Y.; Hamajima, M.; Yamada, Y.; Fujisawa, K.; Okamoto, K.-I. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 2001, 2089–2094.
- 817. Janas, Z.; Jerzykiewicz, L. B.; Sobota, P.; Richards, R. L. Chem. Commun. 1999, 1015–1016.
- 818. Kawaguchi, H.; Tatsumi, K.; Nakamura, A. Chem. Commun. 1995, 111-112
- 819. Malinak, S. M.; Demadis, K. D.; Coucouvanis, D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 3126-3133.
- 820. Ruhlandt-Senge, K.; Bacher, A. D.; Koellner, G.; Siewert, B.; Müller, U. Z. Naturforsch. 1992, 47B, 814-818.
- 821. Pampaloni, G.; Englert, U. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1995, 231, 167-173.
- 822. Kondo, M.; Ohrui, T.; Kawata, S.; Kitagawa, S. Acta Crystallogr. 1996, C52, 2448-2450.
- 823. Chitsaz, S.; Iravani, E.; Pauls, J.; Neumüller, B. Z. Naturforsch. 2001, 56B, 759-764.
- 824. Calderazzo, F.; Maichle-Mossmer, C.; Pampaloni, G.; Straehle, J. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1993, 655-658.
- 825. Bultitude, J.; Larkworthy, L. F.; Povey, D. C.; Smith, G. W.; Dilworth, J. R. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1986, 2253–2258.
- 826. Jarring, K.; Holmberg, B. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 27, 2531-2534.
- 827. Stomberg, R. Acta Chem. Scand. 1986, A40, 325-330.
- 828. Henderson, R. A.; Hills, A.; Hughes, D. L.; Lowe, D. J. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1991, 1755-1760.
- 829. Danopoulos, A. A.; Edwards, P. G. Polyhedron 1989, 8, 1339-1344.
- 830. Holt, D. G. L.; Larkworthy, L. F.; Povey, D. C.; Smith, G. W.; Leigh, G. J. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1993, 207, 11-19.
- 831. Jensen, J. A.; Girolami, G. S. Inorg. Chem. 1989, 28, 2114-2119.
- 832. Jensen, J. A.; Girolami, G. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1988, 110, 4450-4451.
- 833. Ferguson, R.; Solari, E.; Floriani, C.; Osella, D.; Ravera, M.; Re, N.; Chiesi-Villa, N.; Rizzoli, C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 10104–10115.
- 834. Cotton, F. A.; Falvello, L. R.; Llusar, R.; Libby, E.; Murillo, C. A.; Schwotzer, W. Inorg. Chem. 1986, 25, 3423-3428.
- 835. Holt, D. G. L.; Larkworthy, L. F.; Povey, D. C.; Smith, G. W.; Leigh, G. J. Polyhedron 1989, 8, 1823-1824.
- 836. Dobson, J. C.; Taube, H. Inorg. Chem. 1989, 28, 1310-1315.
- 837. Cotton, F. A.; Falvello, L. R.; Murillo, C. A.; Pascual, I.; Schultz, A. J.; Tomas, M. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 5391–5395.
- 838. Holt, D. G. L.; Larkworthy, L. F.; Povey, D. C.; Smith, G. W.; Leigh, G. J. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1990, 169, 201-205.
- 839. Cotton, F. A.; Daniels, L. M.; Murillo, C. A.; Quesada, J. F. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 4861-4867.
- 840. Deeth, R. J.; Figgis, B. N.; Forsyth, J. B.; Kucharski, E. S.; Reynolds, P. A. Aust. J. Chem. 1988, 41, 1289-1294.
- 841. Cotton, F. A.; Daniels, L. M.; Montero, M. L.; Murillo, C. A. Polyhedron 1992, 11, 2767-2774.
- 842. Rotzinger, F. P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 6760-6766.
- 843. Tsutsui, Y.; Wasada, H.; Funahashi, S. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1998, 71, 1771-1779.
- 844. Rotzinger, F. P. Helv. Chim. Acta 2000, 83, 3006-3020.
- 845. Rush, J. D.; Bielski, B. H. J. Inorg. Chem. 1985, 24, 4282-4285.
- 846. Neves, A.; Franco, C. V. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1989, 160, 223-227.
- 847. Balahura, R. J.; Johnson, M. D. Inorg. Chem. 1989, 28, 4548-4551.
- 848. Balahura, R. J.; Johnson, M. D. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1994, 225, 245-250.
- 849. Espenson, J. H.; Bakac, A.; Kim, J. H. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 4830-4833.
- 850. Holt, D. G. L.; Larkworthy, L. F.; Povey, D. C.; Smith, G. W.; Leigh, G. J. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1990, 3229–3233.
- 851. Daniels, L. M.; Murillo, C. A.; Rodriguez, K. G. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1995, 229, 27-32.
- 852. Gelmini, L.; Armstrong, W. H. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1989, 1904–1905.
- 853. Scott, M. J.; Wilisch, W. C. A.; Armstrong, W. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 2429-2430.
- 854. Calderazzo, F.; De Benedetto, G. E.; Detti, S.; Pampaloni, G. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton Trans. 1997, 3319-3324.
- 855. Edema, J. J. H.; Stauthamer, W.; Van Bolhuis, F.; Gambarotta, S.; Smeets, W. J. J.; Spek, A. L. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 1302–1306.

- 856. Edema, J. J. H.; Gambarotta, S.; Meetsma, A.; Spek, A. L.; Veldman, N. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 2062-2066.
- 857. Berno, P.; Hao, S.; Minhas, R.; Gambarotta, S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 7417-7418.
- 858. Hedelt, R.; Schulzke, C.; Rehder, D. Inorg. Chem. Commun. 2000, 3, 300-302.
- 859. Hitchcock, P. B.; Hughes, D. L.; Larkworthy, L. F.; Leigh, G. J.; Marmion, C. J.; Sanders, J. R.; Smith, G. W.; de Souza, J. S. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1997, 1127-1135.
- 860. Hughes, D. L.; Larkworthy, L. F.; Leigh, G. J.; McGarry, C. J.; Sanders, J. R.; Smith, G. W.; de Souza, J. S. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1994, 2137-2138.
- 861. Edema, J. J. H.; Hao, S.; Gambarotta, S.; Bensimon, C. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 2584-2586.
- 862. Edema, J. J. H.; Duchataeau, R.; Gambarotta, S.; Bensimon, C. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 3585-3587.
- 863. Evans, D. J.; Hitchcock, P. B.; Leigh, G. J.; Nicholson, B. K.; Niedwieski, A. C.; Nunes, F. S.; Soares, J. F. Inorg. Chim. Acta 2001, 319, 147-158.
- 864. Bonitatebus, P. J., Jr.; Armstrong, W. H. Chem. Commun. 1999, 55-56.
- 865. Cotton, F. A.; Daniels, L. M.; Murillo, C. A. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1992, 31, 737-738.
- 866. Berno, P.; Gambarotta, S. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1995, 34, 822-824.
- 867. Song, J.-I.; Berno, P.; Gambarotta, S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 6927-6928.
- 868. Wang, X.; Gray, S. D.; Chen, J.; Woo, L. K. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 5-9.
- 869. Jubb, J.; Scoles, L.; Jenkins, H.; Gambarotta, S. Chem. Eur. J. 1996, 2, 767-771.
- 870. Shah, S. S.; Maverick, A. W. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1987, 2881-2884.
- 871. Shah, S. S.; Maverick, A. W. Inorg. Chem. 1986, 25, 1867-1871.
- 872. Maverick, A. W.; Shah, S. S.; Kirmaier, C.; Holten, D. Inorg. Chem. 1987, 26, 774-776.
- 873. Shah, S. S.; Maverick, A. W. Inorg. Chem. 1987, 26, 1559–1562.
 874. Davis, J. A.; Davie, C. P.; Sable, D. B. Chem. Commun. 1998, 1649–1650.
- 875. Konstantatos, J.; Kalatzis, G.; Vrachnou-Astra, E.; Katakis, D. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1985, 2461–2468.
- 876. Canich, J. A. M.; Cotton, F. A.; Duraj, S. A.; Roth, W. J. Polyhedron 1987, 6, 1433-1437.
- 877. Cotton, F. A.; Duraj, S. A.; Manzer, L. E.; Roth, W. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1985, 107, 3850-3855.
- 878. Cotton, F. A.; Duraj, S. A.; Roth, W. J. Inorg. Chem. 1985, 24, 913-917.
- 879. Cotton, F. A.; Duraj, S. A.; Roth, W. J.; Schmulbach, C. D. Inorg. Chem. 1985, 24, 525-527.
- 880. Hitchcock, P. B.; Hughes, D. L.; Leight, J.; Sanders, R. J.; de Souza, J.; McGarry, C. J.; Larkworthy, L. F. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1994, 3683-3687.
- 881. Cotton, F. A.; Duraj, S. A.; Falvello, L. L.; Roth, W. J. Inorg. Chem. 1985, 24, 4389-4393.
- 882. Cotton, F. A.; Duraj, S. A.; Roth, S. A. Inorg. Chem. 1984, 23, 4113-4115.
- 883. Kammermeier, B.; Beck, G.; Holla, W.; Jacobi, D.; Napierski, B.; Jendralla, H. Chem. Eur. J. 1996, 2, 307-315.
- 884. Inokuchi, T.; Kawafuchi, H.; Torii, S. Chem. Lett. 1992, 1895-1896.
- 885. Süssmilch, F.; Olbrich, F.; Gailus, H.; Rodewald, D.; Rehder, D. J. Organomet. Chem. 1994, 472, 119-126.
- 886. Girolami, G. S.; Wilkinson, G.; Galas, A. M. R.; Thornton-Pett, M.; Hursthouse, M. B. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton. Trans. 1985, 1339-1348.
- 887. Anderson, S. J.; Wells, F. J.; Wilkinson, G.; Hussain, B.; Hursthouse, M. B. Polyhedron 1988, 7, 2615-2626.
- 888. Cotton, F. A.; Libby, E.; Murillo, C. A.; Valle, G. Inorg. Synth. 1990, 27, 306-310.
- 889. Toma, H. E.; Lellis, F. T. P. Polyhedron 1985, 4, 993-997.
- 890. Cotton, F. A.; Diebold, M. P.; Shim, I. Inorg. Chem. 1985, 24, 1510-1516.
- 891. Kitagawa, S.; Munakata, M.; Ueda, M. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1989, 164, 49-53.
- 892. Rehder, D. Bull. Magn. Reson. 1982, 4, 33-83.
- 893. Näumann, F.; Rehder, D. Z. Natuforsch. 1984, 39b, 1654-1661.
- 894. Rehder, D. Magn. Reson. Rev. 1984, 9, 125-237.
- 895. Rehder, D.; Wieghardt, K. Z. Naturforsch. 1981, 36B, 1251-1254.
- 896. Herberhold, M.; Trampisch, H. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1983, 70, 143-146.
- 897. Rieger, A. L.; Scott, J. B.; Rieger, P. H. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 621-622.
- 898. Davison, A.; Edelstein, N.; Holm, R. H.; Maki, A. H. Inorg. Chem. 1965, 4, 55-59.
- 899. Wieghardt, K.; Kleine-Boymann, M.; Swirdoff, W.; Nuber, B.; Weiss, J. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton Trans. 1985, 2493-2497.
- 900. Enemark, J. H.; Feltham, R. D. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1974, 13, 339-406.
- 901. Müller, A.; Werle, P.; Diemann, E.; Aymonino, P. Chem. Ber. 1972, 105, 2419-2420.
- 902. Elschner, B.; Herzog, S. Arch. Sci. (Geneva) 1958, 11, 160-164.
- 903. König, E. Z. Naturforsch. 1964, 19a, 1139-1147.
- 904. Collong, W.; Kruck, T. Chem. Ber. 1990, 123, 1655-1656.
- 905. Srivastava, R.; Sarkar, S. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1990, 176, 27-29.
- 906. Mallik, M.; Ghosh, P. N.; Bhattacharyya, R. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton Trans. 1993, 1731-1736.
- 907. Woitha, C.; Rehder, D. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1990, 29, 1438-1440.
- 908. Rehder, D.; Woitha, C.; Priebsch, W.; Gailus, H. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1992, 4, 364-365.
- 909. Gailus, H.; Woitha, C.; Rehder, D. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1994, 3471-3477.
- 910. Deeth, R. J.; Langford, S. A. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1995, 1-4.

© 2003, Elsevier Ltd. All Rights Reserved

Comprehensive Coordination Chemistry II ISBN (set): 0-08-0437486

No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in any retrieval system or transmitted in any form or by any means electronic, electrostatic, magnetic tape, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise, without permission in writing from the publishers

4.5 Niobium and Tantalum

T. WATERS and A. G. WEDD

The University of Melbourne, Parkville, Victoria, Australia

and

M. ZIOLEK and I. NOWAK

A. Mickiewicz University, Poznan, Poland

4.5.1 INTRODUCTION	242
4.5.2 NIOBIUM(V) AND TANTALUM(V)	243
4.5.2.1 Carbon Donor Ligands	243
4.5.2.1.1 Homoleptic alkyl complexes	243
4.5.2.1.2 Alkylidene ligands	243
4.5.2.1.3 Alkylidyne ligands	248
4.5.2.2 Nitrogen Donor Ligands	248
4.5.2.2.1 Amido ligands	248
4.5.2.2.2 Imido ligands	254
4.5.2.2.3 Nitrido ligands	257
4.5.2.2.4 Hydrazido ligands	258
4.5.2.3 Phosphorous, Arsenic, Antimony, and Bismuth Donor Ligands	260
4.5.2.4 Oxygen Donor Ligands	260
4.5.2.4.1 Mononuclear oxo complexes	260
4.5.2.4.2 Polynuclear oxo complexes	262
4.5.2.4.3 Peroxo ligands	265
4.5.2.4.4 Alkoxo ligands	265
4.5.2.4.5 Aryloxo ligands	266
4.5.2.4.6 Carboxylato and related ligands	270
4.5.2.4.7 Oxyanion complexes	270
4.5.2.5 Sulfur, Selenium, and Tellurium Donor Ligands	270
4.5.2.5.1 Chalcogenido ligands	271
4.5.2.5.2 Thiolato ligands	274
4.5.2.5.3 Thiocarbamato and related ligands	275
4.5.2.6 Halo Ligands	276
4.5.2.6.1 Fluoro ligands	276
4.5.2.6.2 Chloro ligands	276
4.5.2.6.3 Bromo and iodo ligands	277
4.5.2.7 Hydrido Ligands	278
4.5.2.7.1 Alkoxo or aryloxo co-ligands	278
4.5.2.7.2 Cyclopentadienyl co-ligands	278
4.5.3 NIOBIUM(IV) AND TANTALUM(IV)	280
4.5.3.1 Nitrogen Donor Ligands	280
4.5.3.1.1 Amido ligands	280
4.5.3.1.2 Imido ligands	281
4.5.3.1.3 Hydrazido ligands	281
4.5.3.2 Phosphorous Donor Ligands	281
4.5.3.3 Oxygen Donor Ligands	282
4.5.3.3.1 Polynuclear oxo complexes	282
4.5.3.3.2 Alkoxo and aryloxo ligands	283
4.5.3.3.3 Carboxylato and related ligands	283
4.5.3.3.4 Multidentate ligands	284

4.5.3.4 Sulfur, Selenium, and Tellurium Ligands	284
4.5.4.5 Halo Ligands	285
4.5.3.6 Hydrido Ligands	286
4.5.4 NIOBIUM(III) AND TANTALUM(III)	286
4.5.4.1 Carbon Donor Ligands	287
4.5.4.2 Nitrogen and Phosphorous Donor Ligands	289
4.5.4.3 Oxygen Donor Ligands	290
4.5.4.4 Halo Ligands	291
4.5.4.5 Hydrido Ligands	292
4.5.5 NIOBIUM(II) AND TANTALUM(II)	292
4.5.6 NIOBIUM(I) AND TANTALUM(I)	293
4.5.6.1 Carbon Donor Ligands	293
4.5.6.1.1 Carbonyl ligands	293
4.5.6.1.2 Isocyanide ligands	293
4.5.6.1.3 Alkyne ligands	293
4.5.6.2 Nitrogen Donor Ligands	295
4.5.6.3 Phosphorous Donor Ligands	295
4.5.6.3.1 Polyphospho ligands	295
4.5.6.3.2 Phosphorane ligands	295
4.5.6.4 Oxygen Donor Ligands	296
4.5.6.5 Hydrido Ligands	297
4.5.7 NIOBIUM(0) AND TANTALUM(0)	297
4.5.7.1 Carbon Donor Ligands	297
4.5.7.2 Nitrogen Donor Ligands	297
4.5.7.3 Phosphorous Donor Ligands	297
4.5.8 NIOBIUM(-I) AND TANTALUM(-I)	298
4.5.8.1 Carbon Donor Ligands	298
4.5.8.2 Phosphorous Donor Ligands	299
4.5.8.3 Hydrido Ligands	299
4.5.9 NIOBIUM(-III) AND TANTALUM(-III)	299
4.5.10 ASPECTS OF HETEROGENEOUS CATALYSIS	299
4.5.11 REFERENCES	301

4.5.1 INTRODUCTION

In the fifteen years since publication of the first edition of *Comprehensive Coordination Chemistry* (*CCC*, 1987), group 5 chemistry has been part of the intensive development of ceramic, optical, and magnetic materials based upon metal borides, nitrides, phosphides, oxides, and sulfides. A major impetus came from the discovery of the high-temperature superconducting oxides. In addition, the search for new routes to these materials via sol–gel or chemical vapor deposition techniques has spurred growth in metal amido, oxo, alkoxo, thio, and carboxylato chemistry.

Such species are also part of the evolution of homogeneous and heterogeneous catalysts, including key oxidation and olefin polymerization processes. A burgeoning area is controlled immobilization of reactive centers on solid surfaces. In recognition, this Chapter concludes with a commentary on the development of heterogeneous catalysis and the synthesis of surfaces with controlled properties.

The Chapter covers the coordination chemistry of niobium and tantalum reported since 1984. Earlier work is described in *CCC* (1987).¹ Nb and Ta coordination chemistry has also been surveyed regularly in Coordination Chemistry Reviews (see, for example, ref. 2), and yearly reviews on the chemistry of V, Nb, and Ta have appeared in Annual Reports on the Progress of Chemistry (see, for example, ref. 3).

Detailed surveys of the organometallic chemistry of Nb and Ta can be found in *Comprehensive* Organometallic Chemistry I and $II.^{4,5}$ In addition, periodical reviews can be found in the series Organometallic Chemistry (see, for example,⁶).

Other useful reviews are referenced in the appropriate sections of this Chapter. The importance of metal-ligand multiple bonding in Nb and Ta chemistry makes the book by Nugent and Mayer a valuable resource.⁷

The use of M in the text implies both Nb and Ta. Common abbreviations are defined in the Abbreviations Section. They include $Cp = \eta^5 \cdot C_5 H_5$ with superscripts to identify derivatized ligands (e.g., $Cp^* = \eta^5 \cdot C_5 Me_5$). In the same way, Tp = hydrotrispyrazol-1-ylborate and $Tp^* = hydrotris(3,5-dimethylpyrazol-1-yl)borate$. Finally, common abbreviations for specialized ligands used by particular research groups (e.g., $[N_3N]^{3-}$, $[P_2N_2]^{2-}$, silox) are also employed and defined when first mentioned in the text and in the Abbreviations Section.

4.5.2 NIOBIUM(V) AND TANTALUM(V)

4.5.2.1 Carbon Donor Ligands

Discussion of the chemistry of carbon-based ligands is selective in order to emphasize more recent aspects of coordination chemistry. As a result, this section focuses on homoleptic alkyl complexes, as well as alkylidene and alkylidyne species that do not contain cyclopentadienyl or related ligands. Acyl (η^2 -C,O-RCO) and iminoacyl (η^2 -C,N-RCNR') ligands are not discussed generally. These and other aspects of carbon-based ligands can be found in *Comprehensive Organometallic Chemistry I* and II.^{4,5}

4.5.2.1.1 Homoleptic alkyl complexes

The structure of TaMe₅(g) was studied by electron diffraction. A square pyramidal geometry was proposed with Ta—C bond lengths of 2.11(2) (ax) and 2.180(5)Å (eq).⁸ Theoretical calculations suggested that this geometry is about 30 kJ mol⁻¹ more stable than the trigonal bipyramidal counterpart predicted by VSEPR theory, a consequence of a second order Jahn–Teller effect.⁹ This result also correlates with the observation that Ta(CH₂Ar)₅ (Ar=4-Me-C₆H₄) is square pyramidal in the solid state.¹⁰ Elimination of methane from MMe₅ to form M(=CH₂)Me₃ has been studied theoretically. The activation energy of an intermolecular mechanism was found to be much lower than that of a unimolecular mechanism.¹¹ The decomposition of penta-alkyl complexes Ta(CH₂EMe₃)₅ (E = C, Si) to alkylidene species Ta(=CHEMe₃)(CH₂EMe₃)₃ via elimination of EMe₄ has been studied experimentally.¹² Steric crowding of the alkyl ligands appears to disfavor an intermolecular mechanism in these cases.

[Li(OEt₂)₃][MMe₆] were prepared by addition of LiMe to M_4F_{20} .¹³ Both species exhibited essentially trigonal prismatic stereochemistry. DFT calculations indicated that this geometry is favored over octahedral by more favorable M-CH₃ σ bonding and by core polarization effects.¹⁴ [Li(thf)₄][TaPh₆]·4C₆H₆ was produced by reaction of Ta₂Cl₁₀ with 12 eq LiPh in C₆H₆/ether and was also trigonal prismatic.¹⁵ The polyacetylide species A[Ta(C=CSiBu^t₃)₆] (A = Li, K, [K(crypt-2.2.2)]) exhibited a twisted trigonal prismatic geometry (D₃).¹⁶ The deviation from D_{3h} geometry was proposed to be due to steric factors.

4.5.2.1.2 Alkylidene ligands

Sections on Nb and Ta were included in a review on high-oxidation-state species containing metal–carbon multiple bonds.¹⁷ A perspective on metal–carbon multiple bonds is also available.¹⁸

The principle resonance contributions to the bonding in $(H)_3M(=CH_2)$ were studied theoretically using a multi-reference wave function.¹⁹ The thermochemistry of Ta^V-alkylidene formation was examined, revealing a very large Ta=C bond enthalpy.²⁰

Reaction of Ta(=CHBu^t)Cl₃(thf)₂ with the potentially tridentate aryldiamine ligand LiL_{2,6} (HL_{2,6}=2,6-(Me₂NCH₂)₂-C₆H₄) in ether afforded *fac*-L_{2,6}Ta(=CHBu^t)Cl₂ ((1); Scheme 1).²¹ This reacted with acetone or benzaldehyde to provide binuclear [L_{2,6}Cl₂Ta]₂(μ -O)₂, while reaction with PhCH=NMe produced L_{2,6}Ta(=NMe)Cl₂.²¹ The reactivity of (1) towards alkenes was investigated.^{21,22}

Treatment of (1) with >1 eq of the bulky alkoxide LiOBu^t in C₆H₆ at rt produced fivecoordinate L_{2,6}Ta(=CHBu^t)(OBu^t)Cl (2) with a free CH₂NMe₂ substituent.²³ Reaction with 2 eq LiOBu^t at 80 °C yielded the rearranged product L_{2,4}Ta(=CHBu^t)(OBu^t)₂ (3).²⁴ This $6 \rightarrow 4$ rearrangement was shown to occur via isomerization of the intermediate monoalkoxo complex (2) to L_{2,4}Ta(=CHBu^t)(OBu^t)Cl (4), both of which were prepared and characterized independently.²⁴ Alternatively, the dialkoxo complex (5) could be prepared without rearrangement by reaction of Ta(=CHBu^t)Cl(OBu^t)₂(PMe₃) with LiL_{2,6} (Scheme 1).²³ Both (2) and (5) reacted with Me₃SiCH=CH₂ to produce the (trimethylsilyl)methylidene analog via alkene metathesis reactions.²³ Ta^V-alkylidene complexes containing a related aryldiamine ligand have been prepared by similar methods (e.g., (6); Scheme 1).²⁵ Their activity as ring-opening metathesis polymerization catalysts was examined.

Addition of LiEAr (E=O, S) to $Ta(=CHBu^{t})Cl_{3}(thf)_{2}$ produced $Ta(=CHBu^{t})(EAr)_{3}(thf)$ (ArOH = 2,6-Prⁱ₂-C₆H₃OH; ArSH = 2,4,6-Prⁱ₃-C₆H₂SH).²⁶ The reactivity of these species as



polymerization catalysts was examined.^{26–28} Only Ta(=CHBu^t)(OAr)₃(thf) reacted cleanly with ethylene and 2-butyne to form the tantalacyclo–butane and –butene species, $(ArO)_3Ta-CH_2CH_2CH_2$] and $(ArO)_3Ta-C(Me)=C(Me)CHBu^t$, respectively.^{26,28} Addition of py to the latter resulted in ring opening and formation of the vinylalkylidene complex $(ArO)_3$ -Ta[=C(Me)C(Me)=CHBu^t], which was active in the polymerization of 2-butyne.²⁸

The electronic absorption spectra and photochemical reactivity of the series $MX_2(CH_2R)_3$ (X = Cl, OPrⁱ, 2,6-disubstituted aryloxo; R = H, SiMe₃, Ph) have been studied.²⁹ The spectra were dominated by an intense band assigned as alkyl-to-metal charge transfer in character. Irradiation of this band for TaX₂(CH₃)₃ (X = 2,6-Bu^tC₆H₃O) ((7); Scheme 2) produced the alkyl-alkylidene complex TaX₂(=CH₂)(CH₃) (8) with a quantum efficiency of 0.9(1).²⁹ This rearranged on standing to the cyclometalated species (9).³⁰ In contrast to the photochemical reaction, thermolysis of (7) eliminated CH₄ with cyclometallation of both aryloxo ligands to form (10).³⁰ Alkyl-alkylidene species related to (8), Ta(=CHR) (CH₂R)(OAr)₂ (ArOH = 2,6-Prⁱ₂- or 2,6-Bu^t₂-C₆H₃OH; R = SiMe₃, Ph), have also been prepared.³¹ The effect of aryloxide substituents on the tendency of these species to undergo cyclometallation was examined (e.g., (8) \rightarrow (9)).^{32,33} A significant reduction in cyclometallation rates was observed with bulkier substituents at the *meta* position of the aryloxo ligands.



Photolysis of $[P_2N_2]TaMe_3$ ($[P_2N_2] = [PhP(CH_2SiMe_2NSiMe_2CH_2)_2PPh]^{2-}$) produced themethyl-methylidene complex $[P_2N_2]Ta(=CH_2)Me$ via elimination of methane.³⁴ In the presence of ethylene, this complex converted slowly to $[P_2N_2]Ta(\mu-C_2H_4)Et$ with $[P_2N_2]Ta(\mu-C_2H_4)Me$ observed as a minor product only.³⁵

Nb^V-alkylidene species supported by the tetraanion $[p-Bu^{t}-calix[4]arene-(O)_{4}]^{4-}$ of calixarene (11) have been prepared (Scheme 32).³⁶ Ketones and aldehydes RR'CO reacted with binuclear (12) via metathesis of the C=O and Nb^{III}=Nb^{III} double bonds to form equimolar quantities of the oxo- and alkylidene-Nb^V species, (13) and (14), respectively.³⁶ Interesting protonation equilibria are observed with (14) (Scheme 32) and the reactivity of the Nb^V=CRR' bond was explored in some detail.³⁶ This chemistry has been reviewed.³⁷

A variety of alkyl, alkylidene, alkene, and alkyne species supported by the triamido-amine ligand $[N_3N] = [(Me_3SiNCH_2CH_2)_3N]^{3-}$ have been prepared (Scheme 15). Alkylation of (15) with 2 eq CH₃CH₂MgCl produced the ethylene complex $[N_3N]Ta^{III}(\eta^2-H_2C=CH_2)$, presumed to be formed by β -hydrogen abstraction from an intermediate $[N_3N]Ta^{V}(CH_2CH_3)_2$ with elimination of ethane.^{38,39} $[N_3N]Ta(\eta^2-H_2C=CH_2)$ was unstable and decomposed via cleavage of a C–N bond of the N₃N ligand to (16).³⁸ Isomerization of $[N_3N]Ta(\eta^2-H_2C=CH_2)$ to the alkylidene complex $[N_3N]Ta(=CHCH_3)$ was catalyzed by PhPH₂ (Scheme 15).³⁸ Alkylation of (15) with PhCH₂MgCl provided the related alkylidene species $[N_3N]Ta^V(=CHPh)$. This was presumed to be formed by α -hydrogen abstraction from intermediate $[N_3N]Ta^V(CH_2Ph)_2$ with loss of CH₃Ph.^{38,39}

Alkylation of (15) with 2 eq of bulkier alkyl Grignard reagents RCH_2CH_2MgX (R = Me, Et, Pr^i , Bu^t ; X = Cl, Br) produced mixtures of alkylidenes $[N_3N]Ta(=CHCH_2R)$ with other products whose NMR spectra were analogous to that of (16).³⁸ The relative yields were dependent on the steric bulk of R, consistent with competition between α - and β -hydrogen abstraction in intermediates $[N_3N]Ta(CH_2CH_2R)_2$. The alkene complexes $[N_3N]Ta(H_2C=CHR)$ formed by the β -hydrogen abstractions were proposed to decompose further to form species related to (16) (Scheme 15).³⁸ When the bulkier ligand $[N_3N^*] = [(Et_3SiNCH_2CH_2)_3N]^{3-}$ was used, β -hydrogen abstraction in $[N_3N^*]Ta(CH_2CH_2R)_2$ being favored in the more crowded coordination pocket formed by the SiEt₃ substituents of $[N_3N^*].^{40}$

Alkyne complexes $[N_3N]Ta(\eta^2-HC\equiv CH)$ and $[N_3N]Ta(\eta^2-C_6H_4)$ were prepared via treatment of (15) with 2 eq H₂C=CHMgBr and LiPh, respectively (Scheme 15).^{38,39} In contrast, under the same conditions with H₂C=CHMgBr, $[N_3N^*]TaCl_2$ afforded an approximately equimolar mixture of $[N_3N^*]Ta(HC\equiv CH)$ and binuclear $[N_3N^*]Ta=CHCH_2CH_2CH=$ $Ta[N_3N^*].^{40}$

Treatment of $TaNp_2Cl_3$ (Np = neopentyl, CH_2Bu^t) with the phosphoranealkoxo ligand (17) in ether produced complex (18), which converted slowly in solution to the alkylidene species (19) with liberation of neopentane (Scheme 3).⁴¹



Scheme 3

Ta-alkylidene complexes containing bidentate benzamidinato ligands $L = [PhC(NSiMe_3)_2]^$ have been prepared.⁴² Treatment of $LTa(CH_2Ph)_3Cl$ with $LiN(SiMe_3)_2$ afforded $LTa(=CHPh)(CH_2Ph)_2$, while deprotonation of cationic $[L_2Ta(CH_3)_2]^+$ with $Me_3P=:CH_2$ afforded the methylidene complex $L_2Ta(=:CH_2)(CH_3)$.

Reaction of $(RCH_2)_3TaCl_2$ $(R = SiMe_3)$ with 2 eq LiSiPh₂Bu^t in tol provided the silyl-alkylidene complex $(RCH_2)_2Ta(=CHR)(SiPh_2Bu^t)$ ((20); Scheme 4) with elimination of silane HSiPh₂Bu^t.^{43,44} Addition of 2 eq PMe₃ to (20) produced the bis(alkylidene) complex $(RCH_2)Ta(=CHR)_2(PMe_3)_2$ (21) with trigonal bipyramidal geometry and axial PMe₃ ligands. In the absence of PMe₃, (20) decomposed to the alkylidyne complex $[(RCH_2)_2Ta]_2(\mu_2-CR)_2$ (22).⁴⁴ Treatment of (21) with diphenylsilane H₂SiPh₂ resulted in evolution of H₂ and formation of a novel metallasilacyclobutadiene complex (23).⁴⁵



 $Tp*Ta(=CHBu^t)X_2$ (X = Cl, Br; Tp* = hydrotris(3,5-dimethylpyrazol-1-yl)borate) were prepared by reaction of KTp* with $Ta(=CHBu^t)X_3(thf)_2$ in thf.⁴⁶ A number of Tp*-supported complexes containing five-membered niobacycles have been prepared from Nb^{III} precursors with a coordinated alkyne ligand (see, e.g., Scheme 5).⁴⁷⁻⁵⁰



Treatment of Ta(=NAr)Cl₃(thf)₂ (Ar = 2,6-Prⁱ₂-C₆H₃) with 1 eq LiL (HL = 1,4-Prⁱ₂-1,4,7-triazacyclononane, (**24**)) in thf produced LTa(=NAr)Cl₂ ((**25**); Scheme 6).⁵¹⁻⁵⁴ Ligand (**24**) offers the possibility of dissociation of amino nitrogens to expose additional coordination sites at the metal center for further reactivity. For example, (**25**) reacted with 3 eq Me₃SiCH₂Li in tol to give a heterobimetallic Ta–Li center with a bridging alkyl ligand and a μ_2 - η^1 : η^3 ligand L (**26**).⁵¹ Gentle heating of (**26**) resulted in α -hydrogen abstraction to form a μ_2 -alkylidene species (**27**).⁵¹ This in turn reacted with [RhCl(cod)]₂ (cod = 1,5-cyclooctadiene) or [FeCl₂(tmeda)]₂ (tmeda = N, N, N', N'-tetramethylethylenediamine) to form binuclear complexes (**28**) and (**29**).⁵³ The reactivity of (**27**) towards a range of electrophilic organic substrates was examined, with insertion reactions observed for unsaturated substrates (e.g., reaction with CH₃CN produced (**30**)). Reaction with H₂ produced the bridging hydride (**31**).⁵⁴ Other heterobimetallic complexes with bridging alkylidene ligands (cf, (**28**), (**29**)) have also been described, ^{55,56} including a number of Cp-supported species (see, for example⁵⁷⁻⁵⁹).



Wolczanski and co-workers have developed the chemistry of Nb and Ta centers supported by siloxo ligands.⁶⁰ Addition of 2 eq Na(silox) (silox = Bu¹₃SiO⁻) to TaCl₂(CH₂Bu¹)₃ in C₆H₆ provided (silox)₂Ta(=CHBu¹)(CH₂Bu¹).⁶¹ Treatment of (silox)₃Ta^{III} ((**32**); Scheme 44) with CO produced (silox)₃Ta=O and binuclear [(silox)₃Ta]₂(μ_2 - η^1 : η^1 -C₂). Different reaction conditions also produced the ketenylidene complex (silox)₃Ta=C=C=O (Scheme 44).^{62,63} The mechanism of formation of these species was studied in detail.

Binuclear $[(silox)_2 Ta^{IV}H_2]_2$ ((33); Scheme 44) cleaved CO to give (34) which reacted further with CO to produce (35). The latter decomposed to $[(silox)_2 Ta^V]_2(\mu_2$ -O)₂(μ_2 -CHMe) (36) which

contains a bridging ethylidene ligand.^{64,65} This sequence of reactions was proposed as a model for Fischer–Tropsch chemistry.

4.5.2.1.3 Alkylidyne ligands

The reactivity of the alkylidyne-bridged binuclear species $[(RCH_2)_2Ta]_2(\mu_2-CR)_2$ ((22); R = SiMe₃, (Scheme 4) towards a variety of 2,6-disubstituted phenols and mono- and di-substituted 1-napthyl phenols has been examined.^{66,67} For example, reaction with 2 eq ArOH = 2,6-Bu^t₂-C₆H₃OH yielded the asymmetric 1,1-disubstituted species (RCH₂)₂Ta(μ_2 -CR)₂Ta(OAr)₂ (37). Silica-supported (22) catalyzed the hydrogenation of benzene and substituted benzenes.⁶⁸

Treatment of (22) with CbH = carbazole (38) in hydrocarbon solvents gave $[Cb_2M]_2(\mu_2-CR)_2$ ((39); Scheme 4). The reactivity of this species towards hydrogenation (M = Ta) and to organic isocyanides was studied.^{69,70} Reaction of (39) with 1 eq EtC = CEt produced the di-metallacyclic compound (40) by alkyne insertion into one of the bridging alkylidyne groups.^{71,72}

Addition of 2 eq HCl to (22) in ether produced a thermally unstable bis(alkylidene) complex, which upon addition of excess PMe₃ generated binuclear (41). The bridging alkylidyne ligands of (41) exhibited inequivalent Ta—C bond lengths of 2.073(6)-2.099(6) Å and 1.922(6)-1.942(7) Å, consistent with the different nature of the Ta centers.^{73,74}

A binuclear calixarene-supported niobium–alkylidyne complex ((42); Scheme 32) was prepared by deprotonation of a mononuclear alkylidene species (14).³⁶ The chemistry of calixarene-supported species containing metal–carbon bonds has been reviewed.³⁷

Heterobimetallic Ta–Zn–alkylidyne complexes have been prepared via α -H abstraction from a Ta–alkylidene fragment by ZnR₂ or ZnClR (R = CH₂Bu^t, CMe₂Ph) ((**43**)–(**46**))^{75–78} (**44**) reacted with acetylenes to yield products in which two acetylene molecules and an alkylidyne ligand were coupled to form a cyclopentadienyl ligand.⁷⁶ Species (**45**) was prepared via direct reaction of (**44**) with the Li⁺ salt of the aryldiamine ligand or in higher yield via α -H abstraction from an alkylidene complex with the aryldiamine ligand already in place.⁷⁷



4.5.2.2 Nitrogen Donor Ligands

Nitrogen ligands are particularly versatile in high-valent, early transition metal chemistry. Deprotonation of amines, amides, and hydrazines generates multiply bonding ligands which help to stabilize the high oxidation states. Aspects of metal–amido and metal–imido chemistry have been reviewed.^{79,80}

4.5.2.2.1 Amido ligands

A safer procedure for the synthesis of Ta(NMe₂)₅ has been described.⁸¹ Electron diffraction indicated a square pyramidal stereochemistry with Ta—N bond lengths of 1.937 (ax) and 2.040 (eq)Å.⁸² Its solid-state electronic spectrum exhibited absorption bands assigned to $N \rightarrow Ta^V$ ligand-to-metal charge transfer transitions.⁸³

Treatment of Ta(NMe₂)₅ with two equivalents of CbH ((**38**), Scheme 4) generated trigonal bipyramidal *trans*-Ta(NMe₂)₃Cb₂.⁸¹ Reaction of Ta₂Cl₁₀ with excess Me₃SiL (LH = tetrahydro-tetrahydroquinoline) in tol produced TaL₃Cl₂, which could be converted to TaL₅ via reaction with 2 eq of LiL.⁸⁴

Homoleptic amido species $M(NR_2)_5$ have been used as precursors for chemical vapor deposition of metal-nitride thin films. For example, $Ta(NMe_2)_5$ and NH_3 afforded Ta_3N_5 thin films with low carbon contamination at temperatures between 200 °C and 400 °C.⁸⁵

Reaction of M_2Cl_{10} with 2 eq Me₃SiNEt₂ in Et₂O produced six-coordinate M(NEt₂)Cl₄(OEt₂), formulated as the *trans* isomers.⁸⁶ Reaction of Ta₂Cl₁₀ with excess Me₃SiNEt₂ led to binuclear [Cl₂(Et₂N)₂Ta]₂(μ_2 -Cl)₂, which reacted with N-donor solvents L = py, HNMe₂ to form mononuclear *cis,mer*-Ta(NEt₂)₂Cl₃L ((47); Scheme 7).⁸⁷ The corresponding reaction with O-donor solvents L' = Et₂O, thf generated *trans,mer*-Ta(NEt₂)₂Cl₃L' (48).⁸⁶ Reaction of Ta₂Cl₁₀ with 10 eq Me₂NH produced *cis,mer*-Ta(NMe₂)₂Cl₃(HNMe₂) (isostructural with (47)), while reaction with 8 eq provided the salt *cis*-[Me₂NH₂][TaCl₄(NMe₂)₂].⁸⁸



Treatment of M_2Cl_{10} with 4 eq substituted 2-aminopyridines in tol or under melt conditions produced *pseudo*-pentagonal bipyramidal complexes bis(amidopyridine)MCl₃ (Scheme 8).^{89–92}



Scheme 8

The series TaL_nCl_{5-n} (LH = tetrahydroquinoline, n = 1-5) was prepared from reaction of Ta_2Cl_{10} with Me₃SiL or LiL in tol.⁸⁴ TaL_2Cl_3 is trigonal bipyramidal with equatorial amido ligands. Related species TaL'_nCl_{5-n} (thf) (L'H = indolene, n = 1,2) were also prepared.

Treatment of Ta₂Cl₁₀ with the bulky diamine ligand LH₂ = ArNH(CH₂)₃NHAr (Ar = 2,6-Prⁱ₂-C₆H₃) in tol afforded six-coordinate (LH)TaCl₄. Further reaction with MeMgBr produced five-coordinate LTaMe₃.⁹³

Amido-silyl complexes $(Me_2N)_4Ta(SiR_3)$ and $(Me_2N)_3Ta(SiR_3)Cl$ $(SiR_3 = Si(SiMe_3)_3$, SiPh₂-Bu¹) were synthesized from reaction of Li(thf)₃SiR₃ with $(Me_2N)_4TaCl$ and $(Me_2N)_3TaCl_2$, respectively.^{94,95} These species adopted a trigonal bipyramidal geometry with the silyl ligand in an equatorial position. Reaction of $(Me_2N)_4Ta[Si(SiMe_3)_3]$ with 1 eq O₂ led to insertion into Ta—N and Ta—Si bonds to yield the oxidation product $(Me_2N)_3Ta(\eta^2-ONMe_2)[OSi(SiMe_3)_3]$.⁹⁵

The groups of Rothwell and Wigley have prepared a number of mixed amido–aryloxo complexes with bulky aryloxo ligands. Treatment of $Ta(OAr)_nCl_{5-n}(OEt_2)$ (ArOH = 2,6-Prⁱ₂-C₆H₃OH, n = 1, 2) with equimolar Me₃SiNEt₂ afforded Ta(NEt₂)(OAr)_nCl_{4-n}(OEt₂).⁸⁶ Addition of 2 eq Ar'OH = 2,4-Bu^t-6-Ph-C₆H₂OH to Nb(NMe₂)₅ in benzene produced Nb(OAr')₂(NMe₂)₃ with a severely distorted trigonal bipyramidal geometry ($\angle N_{ax}$ -Nb-N_{ax} = 169.1°).⁹⁶ The reaction of M(NMe₂)₅ with 3 eq Ar'OH = 2,6-Ph₂-C₆H₃OH in tol produced trigonal bipyramidal M(OAr'')₃(NMe)(HNMe₂) with an equatorial imido group.⁹⁷ TaL(OAr)Cl₃(OEt₂) (LH = tetrahy-tetrahydroquinoline) was prepared from reaction of TaL₂Cl₃(OEt₂) with Me₃SiL, while TaL₂(OAr)₂Cl(OEt₂) was prepared from reaction of TaL₂Cl₃(OEt₂) with excess LiOAr.⁸⁴

Reaction of cis,mer-Ta(NMe₂)₂Cl₃(HNMe₂) ((**49**); Scheme 9) with 2 eq ArOH = 2,3,5,6-Ph₄-C₆HOH or 2,6-Prⁱ₂-C₆H₃OH in benzene produced a mixture of cis,cis- and trans,trans-Ta(OAr)₂Cl₂(NMe₂)(HNMe₂) ((**50**), (**51**); Scheme 9).⁸⁸ The cis,cis isomer was found to convert thermally to the more stable trans,trans form, which could be prepared independently by addition of excess HNMe₂ to Ta(OAr)₂Cl₃. Addition of 2,2'-methylenebis(6-phenylphenol) to (**49**) produced (**52**).



Scheme 9

(i) Pyrazolato and related ligands

Winter and co-workers have prepared a number of complexes bearing η^1 -, η^2 -, and "slipped" η^2 -pyrazolato ligands. Treatment of Ta(NMe₂)₅ with 5 eq LH = 3,5-Me₂-pyrazole in refluxing toluene produced TaL₅ (**53**) with two monodentate and three bidentate ligands, while 2 eq L'H = 3,5-Bu^t₂-pyrazole yielded TaL'₂(NMe₂)₃ (**54**) with two bidentate pyrazolato ligands.⁹⁸ One of the pyrazolato ligands in the latter complex exhibited "slipped" η^2 binding, with the two Ta—N bond lengths differing by 0.17 Å.⁹⁸ Treatment of M₂Cl₁₀ with 6 eq KL' in tol produced ML'₃Cl₂ (**55**).⁹⁹ Low-temperature ¹H NMR revealed that (**55**) undergoes a Berry *pseudo*-rotation process that interconverts inequivalent Bu^t sites.⁹⁹ Complexes containing 1,2,4-triazolato or tetrazolato ligands have also been prepared (e.g., (**56**).



Reaction of Ta_2Cl_{10} with 4 eq of the diphenyldipyrrolide dianion $L = [Ph_2C(C_4H_3N)_2]^{2-1}$ produced $[TaL_2Cl_2]^{-1}$ (57).¹⁰¹ Further reaction with NaHBEt₃ resulted in partial hydrogenation of one of the ligand phenyl rings.

(ii) Phosphoraneiminato and related ligands

A common synthetic route involves reaction of the metal halides with silylated phosphoraneimines Me₃SiNPR₃. The chemistry of these ligands has been reviewed.¹⁰² Treatment of Nb₂Cl₁₀ with 4 eq Me₃SiNPPh₃ in MeCN produced NbCl₃(NPPh₃)₂,¹⁰³ while the analogous reaction with Ta₂Cl₁₀ gave the salt [Ta^V(NPPh₃)₄][Ta^VCl₆].¹⁰⁴ Reaction of 2 eq Me₃SiNPPrⁱ₃ with Ta₂Cl₁₀ produced binuclear [Cl₃(Prⁱ₃PN)Ta]₂(μ_2 -Cl)₂ and reaction with a further 2 eq formed mononuclear TaCl₃(NPPrⁱ₃).¹⁰⁵ The equivalent Nb species resulted from reaction of NbOCl₃ with 2 eq Me₃SiNPPrⁱ₃ in CCl₄ with elimination of O(SiMe₃).¹⁰⁵ Formation of *tris* derivatives MCl₂(NPR₃)₃ required 3 eq LiNPR₃ (R = Bu^t, NMe₂).¹⁰⁶ The phosphoraneiminato complex TaCl₄(NPCl₃) was prepared from reaction of Ta₂Cl₁₀ with 2 eq Me₃SiNPCl₃.¹⁰⁷ Redox-active ferrocene-functionalized phosphoraneiminato ligands have been incorporated at Nb centers.^{108,109}

Reaction of Nb₂Cl₁₀ with 2 eq of the bifunctional phosphazene salt $[H_2NPPh_2NPPh_2NH_2]Cl$ produced the metallacycle (**58**) (Scheme 10).¹¹⁰ Reaction with 1 eq (Me₃SiN=PPh₂CH₂)₂ produced (**59**) which abstracted oxygen from thf to yield the nine-membered metallacycle (**60**).¹¹¹

(iii) Amidinato, guanidinato, and related ligands

Amidinates $[RC(NR)_2]^-$ are isoelectronic with carboxylates. Reaction of Ta_4F_{20} with 8 eq LiL $(L = [PhC(NSiMe_3)_2]^-)$ in tol yielded seven-coordinate L_2TaF_3 with distorted pentagonal




bipyramidal geometry.¹¹² TaMe₃Cl₂ with 2 eq LiL yielded the equivalent trimethyl complex, L₂TaMe₃ ((**61**); Scheme 11).⁴² Two equivalents of CO inserted into two Ta—Me bonds of (**61**) to form an ene-diolato ligand (**62**).⁴² Reaction of (**61**) with [Me₂NPhH][BPh₄] produced the salt [L₂TaMe₂][BPh₄] (**63**). Deprotonation of (**63**) yielded L₂Ta(=CH₂)Me (**64**), which transferred methylidene to pyridine-N-oxides to form the oxo complex L₂Ta(=O)Me (**65**).¹¹³ Related bis-benzamidinato complexes L₂M(=E)Cl (M = Nb, E = O, NBu^t; M = Ta, E = NAr) are also available.^{42,114}



Scheme 11

Reaction of M_2Cl_{10} with the lithium salt of the bulky ligand $L = [2,4,6-Pr^i_3-C_6H_2C(NSiMe_3)_2]^$ in tol produced the mono-benzamidinato complexes LMCl₄.¹¹⁵ Other mono-amidinato complexes have also been prepared.^{116,117}

The possibility of amidinates undergoing a variety of transformations under reducing conditions has been explored.¹¹⁸ For example, treatment of Ta_2Cl_{10} with LiL (L=[HC(NPh)]⁻) and excess LiBH₄ produced the seven-coordinate imido complex L₃Ta(NPh), with the imido group derived from reduction and C—N bond cleavage of the amidinate.¹¹⁹

Treatment of M_2Cl_{10} with 2 eq of the phosphoranimine $Cl_2P(NR)(NR_2)$ ($R = SiMe_3$) yielded complexes $[Cl_2P(NR)_2]MCl_4$ (**66**) by desilylation (Scheme 12).^{107,120} Reaction with 2.5 eq gave a complex series of products, from which the binuclear complexes (**67**) and (**68**) were identified.¹²⁰ (**67**) features a Nb₂(μ_2 -N)₂ core, with bridging desilylated nitrogen atoms, while (**68**) displayed a planar CINbNPNNb metallacycle.



Scheme 12

 $Ta(NMe_2)_5$ reacted with $O_2S(NHBu^t)_2$ in tol to produce five-coordinate $[O_2S(NBu^t)_2]Ta(NMe_2)_3$, with both nitrogen centers of the dianionic bis-sulfamide ligand coordinated to the metal center.¹²¹

Richeson and co-workers have studied the coordination chemistry of guanidinato ligands at Nb and Ta centers. Guanidinates are related to amidinates but can adopt monoanionic $[R_2N-C-(NR)_2]^-$ or dianionic $[RN=C(NR)_2]^{2^-}$ forms. Reaction of $M(NMe_2)_5$ with trialkylguanidines $RN=C(NHR)_2$ ($R=Pr^i$, cy) resulted in release of two amide ligands as amine and formation of five-coordinate $[RN=C(NR)_2]M(NMe_2)_3$ (69) with a bidentate *dianionic* guanidinato ligand (Scheme 13).¹²² On the other hand, the dialkylcarbodiimides RN=C=NR ($R=Pr^i$, cy) inserted into a metal–amide bond of $M(NMe_2)_5$ to give six-coordinate $[Me_2NC(NR)_2]M(NMe_2)_4$ (70) with

a bidentate *monoanionic* guanidinato ligand.¹²³ Protonation and elimination of an amido ligand of Ta(NMe₂)₄Cl with triisopropyl guanidinate produced six-coordinate [Prⁱ(H)NC(NPrⁱ)₂]-Ta-(NMe₂)₃Cl (71).¹²⁴ Subsequent deprotonation of the monoanionic guanidinato ligand with LiNMe₂ provided a second route to five-coordinate (69).¹²⁴ The reactivity of (69) and (71) towards Me₃SiCl and ArNC (Ar = 2,6-Me₂C₆H₃) was studied.¹²⁵



Scheme 13

In contrast to reaction with amide precursors, reaction of M_2Cl_{10} with $RN=C(NHR)_2$ (R=Pr') produced $[RN(H)C(NR)_2]_2M(=NR)Cl$ ((72); Scheme 13), where the imido ligand resulted from cleavage of the parent guanidine.¹²⁶ Reaction between Ta₂Cl₁₀ and Li[(RN)₂C-NHR] yielded a binuclear species [(RN)₃C)Ta(=NR)Cl]₂ (73) featuring two bridging guanidinato ligands.¹²⁶

(iv) Ene-diamido ligands

Bidentate 1,4-diaza-1,3-diene ligands (RN=C(R')-C(R')=NR) are usually present at M^V centers in their reduced dianionic ene-diamide forms [RN-C(R')=C(R')-NR]²⁻. Thermolysis of the bis(η^2 iminoacyl) complex (ArO)₃Ta(η^2 -R'C=NR)₂ (ArOH=2,6-Me₂-C₆H₃OH, R=2,6-Me₂C₆H₃, R'=C₆H₅CH₂) afforded the enediamido complex (ArO)₃Ta(η^2 -N,N-RNCR'=CR'NR).^{127,128} The two ligand nitrogen atoms occupy axial and equatorial positions of a trigonal bipyramid as part of an essentially planar five-membered chelate ring. Reaction of Nb₂Cl₁₀ with 2 eq Li₂[RNCH=CHNR] (R=cy, Prⁱ) produced Nb(η^2 -N,N-RNCH=CHNR)Cl₃(thf) ((74), (75); Scheme 14), also with planar chelate rings.¹²⁹ In contrast, the ring is not planar in the Bu^t derivative (76). This variation in behavior may be related to hydrogen bonding interactions possible for the cy and Prⁱ derivatives but not for the Bu^t analog.¹³⁰



Scheme 14

Reaction of Nb₂Cl₁₀ with 4 eq Li₂[NRCH=CHNR] (R = Bu^t) provided the five-coordinate bis-enediamido derivative (77) (Scheme 14).¹³⁰ Reaction with 5 eq led to the binuclear complex (78), which features five [RNCHCHNR]^{2–} ligands in three different bonding modes.¹³¹ Reaction with 6 eq produced the hetero-binuclear complex (79).¹³¹

 M_2Cl_{10} reacted with 4 eq Li₂L (L²⁻ = 1,2-(Me₃SiN)₂-4,5-Me₂-C₆H₂) at 90 °C in ether to afford the bis(phenylenediamido) compounds $ML_2Cl_1^{132}$ The metal adopted a distorted square pyramidal geometry with two equatorial bidentate phenylenediamido ligands.

(v) Triamido-amine and related ligands

Arnold and Schrock pioneered the use of tetradentate triamidoamine ligands such as $[N_3N] = [(Me_3SiNCH_2CH_2)_3N]^{3-.133,134}$ These ligands provide a protected pocket around the vacant coordination site of the metal atom. The $[N_3N]Ta^V$ group features (σ , 2π) frontier orbitals directed into this pocket for multiple bonding to small ligand fragments (e.g., oxo, imido, alkylidene, phosphinidene).¹³⁵ For example, $[N_3N]Ta=E$ (E=O, NR, CHR, PR, Se, Te) have all been prepared and are discussed elsewhere in this Chapter (Scheme 15).^{38,39,133,134}



Scheme 15

The convenient starting material $[N_3N]TaCl_2$ ((15), Scheme 15) was prepared by addition of 2 eq Li₃ $[N_3N]$ to Ta₂Cl₁₀ in Et₂O.^{133,134} Reaction of (15) with LiMe produced $[N_3N]Ta(CH_3)_2$ which could be converted to $[N_3N]Ta(CH_3)(OTf)$ (Scheme 15). This complex featured a long Ta—N—amine bond of 2.536 Å compared to 2.29 Å and 2.376 Å for $[N_3N]Ta(HC)$ and $[N_3N]Ta$ —Pcy, respectively. This flexibility appears to be another significant feature of this ligand system, allowing variation of the effective size of the protected pocket.

The equivalent Nb chemistry is much less developed. $[N_3N]Nb=E$ (E = O, NSiMe₃) have been isolated. The oxo compound is nucleophilic and was converted to $[LNb(OR)]^+$ cations which could be reduced to $[N_3N]Nb(OR)$ (R = Me, SiMe₃).¹³⁶

A variety of complexes supported by diamido–amine ligands have been prepared. These tridentate ligands can adopt either *fac* or *mer* geometries depending on the detailed ligand structure ((80)-(84)).^{137–139} Interchange between diamido–amine and triamido coordination has been observed. For example, TaMe₅ reacted with $[(Ar_FN)_2N]^{2-} = (C_6F_5NCH_2CH_2)_2NH$ to yield first $[(Ar_FN)_2NH]$ -TaMe₃ (83) which then decomposed with loss of methane to produce $[(Ar_FN)_2N]$ TaMe₂ (84).¹³⁹



4.5.2.2.2 Imido ligands

Deprotonation of amine or amide reagents (NH₂R, Me₃SiNHR, LiNHR) interacting with M_2Cl_{10} provides a general entry into imido complexes M=NR. Intermediate binuclear imido complexes can be converted to their mononuclear counterparts by addition of appropriate neutral donor ligands. A review of organoimido complexes includes sections on Nb and Ta.⁸⁰

(i) Mononuclear imido complexes

A variety of complexes of general formula *mer,cis*-M(NR)X₃L₂ (X = halide; L = neutral donor ligand) have been prepared. Reaction of M₂Cl₁₀ with Me₃SiNHR (R = Bu¹) yielded species formulated as binuclear [M(NR)Cl₃(NH₂R)]₂.¹⁴⁰ Further reaction with excess L produced series of compounds formulated as *mer,cis*-M(NR)Cl₃L₂ (L₂=2 PMe₃, 2 picoline; tmeda, bipy = 2,2'-bipyridyl).^{140,141} Related species Ta(NAr)Cl₃L₂ (Ar = 2,6-Pr¹₂-C₆H₃; L₂=2 thf, 2 py, 2 C₄H₈S; dme = 1,2-dimethoxyethane) were prepared directly from reaction of Ta₂Cl₁₀ with Me₃SiNHAr in benzene in the presence of L.⁸⁷ Addition of NHR'₂ (R' = Me₃Si) to M₂Cl₁₀ produced binuclear [M(NR')Cl₃(NH₂R')]₂ which were converted to M(NR')Cl₃(py) (M = V, Nb, Ta) in the presence of py.¹⁴² Similarly, [Nb(NAr')Cl₃ (MeCN)₂] (Ar' = *p*-Me₃SiOC₆H₄) was prepared by reaction of Nb₂Cl₁₀ with Ar'N(SiMe₃)₂ in MeCN.¹⁴³ A synthetic modification involved the use of an insoluble inorganic base or a soluble organic base and ZnCl₂ to remove by-product HCl from the reaction mixture.¹⁴⁴

Related *mer,cis*-M(NAr)X₃L₂ complexes (Ar = 2,6-Prⁱ₂-C₆H₃; M = Nb, X = Cl, L₂ = dme; M = Ta, X = Cl, Br, L₂ = dme, tmeda) have been characterized.¹⁴⁵ M—N bond lengths (M = Ta, 1.771(6)–1.785(6) Å; M = Nb, 1.746(4) Å) were relatively insensitive to the nature of M, X, and L and were characteristic of a formal metal–nitrogen triple bond. M–N–C angles were all close to linear (>174°). X-ray crystal structures of Nb(NBu¹)Cl₃(dme) (Nb–N = 1.72 Å) and Ta-(NBu¹)Cl₃(py)₂ (Ta–N = 1.745(5) Å) have also been reported.^{144,146}

The luminescence properties of species of general formula *mer,cis*-M(NAr)X₃L₂ have been investigated.^{144,145,147-149} Electronic absorption spectra exhibited a weak low-energy band in the range 19,000–22,000 cm⁻¹ assigned to π -(M \equiv NAr) $\rightarrow d_{xy}$ due to its lack of sensitivity to changes in X and L.¹⁴⁷ The effect of variation of the imido substituent was also investigated.^{148,149} A similar series of compounds has been investigated by FT-Raman spectroscopy, revealing bands attributed to M–X bending and stretching modes (160–360 cm⁻¹) and five bands associated with the MNAr fragment (990–1,600 cm⁻¹).¹⁴⁵

Reaction of *mer,cis*-Ta(NAr)Cl₃L₂ (Ar = 2,6-Prⁱ₂-C₆H₃, L₂ = 2 thf, dme) with 1 eq LiOAr produced the imido alkoxo derivatives Ta(NAr)(OAr)Cl₂L₂ with *trans* Cl and *cis* L ligands.⁸⁷ On the other hand, treatment of Ta(NAr)Cl₃(dme) with 3 eq LiOBu^t gave Ta(NAr)(OBu^t)₃, which underwent imido/oxo exchange with OsO₂R₂.¹⁵⁰ Reaction of M(NBu^t)Cl₃(py)₂ with 2 or 3 eq KL' (L'H = 3,5-Bu^t₂-pyrazole) in tol produced M(NBu^t)L'₂Cl(py) and M(NBu^t)L'₃, respectively.¹⁵¹

Treatment of $(silox)_3Ta^{III}$ ((32), Scheme 44) with PhNH₂ resulted in oxidative addition of an N—H bond to afford the hydride $(silox)_3Ta(NHPh)(H)$. This in turn eliminated dihydrogen to form $(silox)_3Ta(NPh)$.¹⁵² In contrast, the same reaction with *p*-CF₃-C₆H₄NH₂ produced $(silox)_3$ -Ta $(NH_2)(C_6H_4$ -*p*-CF₃) from oxidative addition of a C—N bond (Scheme 44).¹⁵³ The competition between N–H and C–N activation was investigated for a variety of substituted anilines, with electron-withdrawing substituents found to favor C–N activation.

Ta-imido complexes supported by the triamido-amine ligand $[N_3N]^{3-}$ have been prepared. For example, $[N_3N]TaCl_2$ ((15), Scheme 15) reacted with LiNHR (R = H, Bu^t, Ph) to produce RNH₂ and the imido complexes $[N_3N]Ta=NR$.^{38,39}

A number of imido complexes supported by diamido donor ligands have also been prepared. These systems have been reviewed.¹⁵⁴ Treatment of $M(NBu^t)Cl_3(py)_2$ with $Li_2[N_2N_{py}]$ $(H_2[N_2N_{py}] = (85)$; Scheme 16) in benzene yielded six-coordinate $fac-[N_2N_{py}]M(NBu^t)Cl(py)$ (86).¹⁵⁵ For M = Nb, (86) reacted with Li[PhC(NSiMe_3)_2] to produce the six-coordinate benzamidinato complex (87), while reaction with LiN(SiMe_3)_2 yielded four-coordinate (88), with the pyridine of the $[N_2N_{py}]$ ligand unbound.¹⁵⁶ Reaction of Ta(NBu^t)Cl₃(py)₂ with Li₂[N₂N] $(H_2[N_2N] = (89))$ in benzene produced a mixture of (90) and (91).¹⁵⁷ (90) was characterized by X-ray crystallography and contained a bidentate modified ligand. (91) was assigned as binuclear by NMR. Finally, reaction of Ta(NBu^t)Cl₃(py)₂ with H₂[N₂NN_{py}] (92) or its Li salt provided $[N_2NN_{py}]Ta(NBu^t)Cl (93).^{158}$



Scheme 16

A number of complexes containing imido ligands and an ancillary Tp* ligand have been reported. They are usually prepared from reaction of the parent metal-imido complex with KTp*. Thus, treatment of Ta(NAr)Cl₃(thf)₂ with KTp* yielded Tp*Ta(NAr)Cl₂ (Ar = 2,6-Prⁱ₂-C₆H₃).¹⁵⁹ Further reaction with Na/Hg in wet thf produced Tp*Ta(NAr)Cl(OBuⁿ), with the butoxo ligand proposed to arise from ring opening of solvent thf. Similarly, Tp*M(NBu^t)-Cl₂ was prepared by reaction of KTp* with M(NBu^t)Cl₃(py)₂.¹⁶⁰ Addition of the phosphido azide N₃P(NPrⁱ₂)₂ to Tp*NbCl(Et)(PhC=CEt) in tol resulted in migratory insertion of the ethyl group onto the alkyne and N₂ extrusion to form the related phosphoranoimido complex Tp*Ta(=CHBu^t)Cl₂ ((94); Scheme 17) with LiNMe₂ produced the alkylidene-amido complex (95) while reaction with KNHPh yielded the alkyl-imido complex (96).



Scheme 17

Reaction of M_2Cl_{10} with H_2NAr (Ar = 2,6-Pr¹₂-C₆H₃) produced insoluble species formulated as $[H_3NAr]_2[M(NAr)Cl_5]$.¹⁶² Treatment of these salts with 4-Bu^t-py afforded [4-Bu^t-pyH]₂[M-(NAr)Cl₅]. The related anion $[Nb(NPh)Cl_5]^{2-}$ has been prepared from the reaction of *N*-allyl-phenylamine and Nb₂Cl₁₀ in tol.¹⁶³

Reaction of $Ta(NR_2)_2Cl_3$ (R = SiMe_3) with 3 eq LiNHBu^t in pentane produced mononuclear $Ta(NBu^t)(NR_2)_2Cl$, while reaction with LiNHEt led to $Ta(NEt)(NR_2)_2(NHEt)$.^{164,165}

Treatment of MOCl₃ with 3 eq LiNR₂ ($R = SiMe_3$) in ether provided M(NR)(NR₂)₂-(OR), while reaction with LiNR'₂ ($R' = SiHMe_2$) yielded M(NR')(NR')₃.^{166,167} Reaction of NbOCl₃ with Bu^tNH₂ in the presence of [Ph₃PCH₂Ph]Cl and py in tol produced

trans-[Ph₃PCH₂Ph][Nb(NBu^t)Cl₄(py)].¹⁶⁸ The related salt [pyH][Ta(NAr)Cl₄(py)] (Ar = 2-Bu^t-C₆H₄) was prepared by imido exchange between [Ta(NBu^t)Cl₃(py)₂] and ArNH₂.¹⁶⁹

Reaction of Ta_2Cl_{10} with NH₂(OCH₃) and bipy in CH₂Cl₂ produced the alkoxylimido complex Cl₃(bipy)Ta(NOMe).¹⁷⁰ A similar ligand was reported in CpCl₂Nb(NOBu^t).¹⁷¹

Ta complexes containing imido and silyl ligands have been studied as potential precursors to Ta–Si–N ternary materials. Treatment of binuclear $[Cl(R_2N)(RN)Ta]_2(\mu_2-Cl)_2$ (R = SiMe₃) with 2 eq LiNMe₂ followed by 2 eq LiSiPh₂Bu^t produced yellow Ta(NR)(NR₂)(NMe₂)(SiPh₂Bu^t), characterized by X-ray crystallography.¹⁷²

Tris(amido)–imido complexes M(NAr)(NMe₂)₃ (Ar = 2,6-Prⁱ₂-C₆H₄) were prepared by reaction of M(NMe₂)₅ with NH₂Ar.¹⁷³ An X-ray structure of Nb(NAr)(NMe₂)₃ revealed Nb–N bond lengths of 1.794(2) Å and 1.974(2)–2.023(2) Å for the imido and amido ligands, respectively.

Reaction of the chiral Schiff-base ligand H₂L ((97); Scheme 18) with Nb^{IV}(NEt₂)₄ produced $LNb^{V}(NEt)(NEt_{2})$ (98) (43%) and L'Nb(NEt₂)₂ (99) (16%) with modified ligand L'.¹⁷⁴ Radical pathways were suggested.



Scheme 18

Treatment of the binuclear nitride complex $\{Na[(N)NbL_3]\}_2$ (HL = HNBu^tAr, Ar =3,5-Me₂-C₆H₃)¹⁷⁵ ((100); Scheme 20) with PCl₃ in thf produced the dichlorophosphinimido complex L₃Nb(NPCl₂) (101).¹⁷⁶ Addition of excess Bu^tNH₂/NEt₃ to (101) modified the phosphinimido ligand to provide (102). Subsequent addition of excess Me₃SiCl led to (103).¹⁷⁶ Dehydrohalogenation of the latter with LiN(SiMe₃)₂ yielded the yellow *tert*-butyliminophosphinimido complex L₃Nb(NP=NBu^t) (104).

Reaction of the η^2 -N,C-pyridine complex (105) (Scheme 19, X = Cl) with LiBEt₃H afforded the seven-membered metallocycle (106) (Ta-N = 1.779(8)Å) via C–N bond scission.^{177,178} Thermolysis



Scheme 19

of (105) (X = Me, Ph) produced the related species (107) via intramolecular migration of ligand X.^{178,179}

(ii) Binuclear imido complexes

Refluxing $TaCl_3(NR_2)_2$ (R = SiMe₃) in boiling tol produced binuclear [Cl(R₂N)(RN)Ta]₂-(μ_2 -Cl)₂.¹⁶⁵ In the presence of Me₃SiX (X = Br, I) or LiX (X = OMe), the related [X(R₂N)(RN)Ta]₂(μ_2 -X)₂ species were generated.^{164,165}

Reaction of M_2Cl_{10} and Bu^tNH_2 yielded binuclear [Cl(Bu^tNH_2)(Bu^tNH)(Bu^tN)M]₂(μ_2 -Cl)₂ which featured imido, amido, and amine ligands.^{162,180} ¹³C NMR indicated that these species exist as a number of isomeric forms in solution.¹⁶² They have been examined as potential single-source precursors for metal–nitride thin films.¹⁸¹ At 500–600 °C, the Nb analog decomposed to NbN, while the Ta analog gave Ta₃N₅.

Reaction of M_2Cl_{10} with $Me_3SiNHBu^t$ provided species formulated as binuclear complexes $[(Bu^tNH_2)Cl_2(Bu^tN)M]_2(\mu_2-Cl)_2$ which yielded the equivalent ethoxo-bridged species upon treatment with 2 eq EtOH.¹⁴⁰ [Cl(R_2N)(RN)Nb]_2(\mu_2-OMe)_2 (R = SiMe_3) was prepared by treatment of NbCl_3(OMe)_2 with LiNR_2.¹⁸² Similar species [(Me_2S)Cl_2(PhN)M]_2(\mu_2-Cl)_2 have been prepared from reaction of $M^{III}_2Cl_6(SMe_2)_2$ with azobenzene PhN=NPh in reactions described as "double bond metathesis" between M=M and N=N to generate two M=N imido linkages.^{183,184} The Nb compound has also been prepared by reaction of Nb_2Cl_6(SMe_2)_2 with PhN_3.¹⁸⁵

Treatment of Nb₂Cl₁₀ with *o*-, *m*-, or *p*-N-silylated phenylenediamines in MeCN produced binuclear L₂Cl₃Nb=NC₆H₄N=NbCl₃L₂ complexes (L = MeCN).¹⁸⁶

(iii) Bis- and tris-imido complexes

Addition of 2 eq LiNHAr (Ar = 2,6-Prⁱ₂-C₆H₃) to Ta(NEt₂)₂Cl₃(OEt₂) in thf followed by py produced the bis(imido) complex Ta(NAr)₂Cl(py)₂.¹⁸⁷ The molecule is trigonal bipyramidal with axial py ligands. Analogous Nb complexes Nb(NAr')₂Cl(py)₂ (Ar' = 2,6-Prⁱ₂-C₆H₃, 2,4,6-Me₃-C₆H₂) were prepared in parallel procedures from binuclear [Cl₂(Et₂N)₂Nb]₂(μ_2 -Cl)₂.^{187,188} This compound was also converted to Nb(NAr)₂Cl(PMe₃)₂ by sequential addition of 2 eq LiNHAr and PMe₃, and the same product was prepared by treatment of Nb^{IV}Cl₄(PMe₃)₂ with 2 eq LiNHAr.¹⁸⁹

Thermolysis of Me₂Ta(NR)(NHR) (R = SiBu^t₃) in either py or thf produced trigonal bipyramidal MeTa(NR)₂L₂ (L = py, thf) with elimination of CH₄.¹⁹⁰ The kinetics of alkane R'H elimination from mono(imido) R'Ta(NR)(NRH)₂ (R' = Me, Ph, CH₂Ph, CH₂Bu^t) to form transient bis(imido) complexes Ta(NR)₂(NHR) was studied in detail.¹⁹⁰ The reverse of this process, i.e., methane activation by bis(imido) complexes M(NH)₂(NH₂), has been studied theoretically.¹⁹¹

Addition of ≥ 6 eq LiNHAr (Ar = 2,4,6-Me₃-C₆H₂) to binuclear [Cl₂(Et₂N)₂M]₂(μ_2 -Cl)₂ produced the tris(imido) anions [M(NAr)₃(NHAr)]^{2-.188} The amido ligand of the Nb anion could not be deprotonated with BuⁿLi.¹⁸⁸ Treatment of binuclear [Cl(RNH₂)(RNH)(RN)Ta]₂(μ_2 -Cl)₂ (R = Bu^t) with 10 eq LiNHR produced {M(NR)₃(NHR)]Li₂}₂, comprised of 2 tetrahedral M(NR)₃(NHR) units linked by 6 Li···N··Li bridges with 2/3 occupancy.¹⁹² Two of the three imido groups of each unit are involved in these bridging links (Nb–N = 1.949(6)–2.029(7) Å), while the third is a terminal ligand (Nb–N = 1.782(6)–1.810(6) Å).

4.5.2.2.3 Nitrido ligands

Reaction of $L_3Nb^{IV}Cl$ ((108); Scheme 20; HL = HNRAr; $R = Bu^t$, $Ar = 3,5-Me_2-C_6H_3$) with excess Na(OCN) in thf in the presence of 15-crown-5 produced $L_3Nb(NCO)$ (109).¹⁷⁵ Treatment of (109) with excess Na/Hg resulted in decarbonylation to form the binuclear anionic nitride $\{Na[(N)NbL_3]\}_2$ (100).¹⁷⁵

Treatment of (108) (R = Pr¹) with the dinitrogen compound Na[(N₂)Mo(NBu^tAr)₃] provided the binuclear N₂-bridged complex (110) (Scheme 20).¹⁹³ Reduction of the latter produced the anion [L₃NbN]⁻ (111) whose reaction with I₂ in tol yielded a mixture of products from which cyclic [(L₂Nb(μ_2 -N)]₃ (112) was isolated. The latter contained both "short" (1.791(7)Å) and "long" (2.004(6)Å) Nb–N bonds.¹⁹³



Ta species related to (112) have also been prepared. For example, ammonolysis of Cp*TaMe₄ (Cp*=C₅Me₅) resulted in release of 3 eq CH₄ per Ta and formation of trinuclear [Cp*MeTa- $(\mu_2$ -N)]₃.¹⁹⁴ In contrast to (112), this complex featured equivalent Ta—N bond lengths of 1.89(2) Å.¹⁹⁴ [Cp*ClTa(μ_2 -N)]₃ has been prepared as well, and also has equivalent Ta—N bond lengths (1.88(2) Å).¹⁹⁵ Ammonolysis of Ta(CHBu^t)(CH₂Bu^t)₃ with 5 eq NH₃ in benzene produced pentanuclear [(Bu^tCH₂)₂TaN]₅ (113) which featured alternating (Bu^tCH₂)₂TaN units in a roughly planar ladder structure.¹⁹⁶ Three triply bridging nitrido ligands adopt a T-shaped coordination geometry.



Addition of 6 eq LiBHEt₃ in thf to [LNbCl₂]₂ ((114); Scheme 31, LH₃ = (115), R = Bu^t) in tol under N₂ produced binuclear [Li(thf)]₂{[LNb]₂(μ_2 -N)₂} (116).¹⁹⁷

Mononuclear and binuclear calixarene-supported nitrido complexes have been prepared ((117), (118); Scheme 32).^{198,199} These species are discussed in Section 4.5.2.2.4 in the context of N₂ activation. NH₄⁺ salts of D_{4h} binuclear anions {[Cl₅M]₂(μ_2 -N)}³⁻ were prepared by treatment of M₂Cl₁₀ with NH₄Cl at 400 °C or by the prolonged high-temparature reaction of NH₄Cl with tantalum metal.^{200,201}

4.5.2.2.4 Hydrazido ligands

The reaction of excess Me₃Si(Me)NNMe₂ with L₃TaBr₂ (L=Et₂NCS₂⁻) yielded the salt [L₃Ta(MeNNMe₂)]Br containing an η^2 -hydrazido(-1) ligand with Ta—N bond lengths of 1.932 Å and 2.209 Å.²⁰² Protonation with HBr gave trimethylhydrazine and [L₃TaBr₂].

Reaction of Nb₂Cl₁₀ with Me₂NNH₂ in benzene followed by addition of Me₃SiL $(L = Et_2NCS_2^{-})$ produced the η^1 -hydrazido(2-) complex $[L_3Nb(NNMe_2)]^{203}$ Its reaction with HBr in MeCN was proposed to proceed via $[L_3Nb(NHNHMe_2)]^{2+}$ which decomposed slowly to yield $[L_3NbBr_2]$ and Me₂NNH₂.²⁰⁴

Improved syntheses for the binuclear hydrazido(4-) complexes $[(thf)_2Cl_3M]_2(\mu_2-\eta^1:\eta^1-N_2)$ involved reaction of M_2Cl_{10} with (Me₃Si)RNNR(SiMe₃) (R = SiMe₃, H) in CH₂Cl₂.²⁰⁵ These complexes provide useful starting materials for species based upon the binuclear { $[M]_2(\mu_2-\eta^1:\eta^1-N_2)$ }⁶⁺ core. Reaction with 6 eq Me₃SiL (L = Et₂NCS₂⁻) produced [L₃M]₂(μ_2 -N₂), the first dinitrogen complexes in which the co-ligands are exclusively sulfur donors.²⁰⁵ Reaction with HX (X = Cl, Br) yielded

hydrazine and L₃MX₂. The kinetics and mechanisms of these reactions have been studied in detail.^{206,207} Similarly, reaction of $[(thf)_2Cl_3Ta]_2(\mu_2-N_2)$ with 6 eq ArEH (ArEH = 2,6-Prⁱ_2-C_6H_3OH, 2,6-Prⁱ_2-C_6H_3SH, 2,4,6-Prⁱ_3-C_6H_2SH) yielded the related complexes $[(ArE)_3Ta]_2(\mu_2-N_2)$.²⁰⁸ Reaction of Nb^{IV}Cl₄(thf)₂ with 3 eq LiNcy₂ in tol resulted in partial dehydrogenation of a cy

Reaction of Nb¹VCl₄(thf)₂ with 3 eq LiNcy₂ in tol resulted in partial dehydrogenation of a cy ring and formation of diamagnetic (cy₂N)₂ClNb(η^2 -C,N-C₆H₁₀Ncy) ((**119**); Scheme 21) which contains a three-membered NbNC niobaaziridine ring.²⁰⁹ Further reaction with NaHBEt₃ under N₂ produced binuclear [(Cy₂N)₃Nb]₂(μ_2 -N₂) (**120**).²⁰⁹



Scheme 21

Aspects of N₂ activation by complexes containing tridentate or tetradentate amido-phosphorane ligands have been reviewed.²¹⁰ Reaction of NbCl₃(dme) with Li₂[NPN] ([NPN] = [PhP(CH₂SiMe₂NPh)₂]²⁻) under N₂ produced {[NPN]ClNb}₂(μ_2 -N₂).²¹¹ Similarly, reaction of the Ta alkylidene complexes [PNP]TaCl₂(=CHR) (R = Bu^t, Ph; [PNP] = [N(SiMe₂CH₂PPrⁱ₂)₂]⁻) with N₂ provided {[PNP]Ta(=CHR)}₂(μ_2 -N₂).²¹²

with N₂ provided {[PNP]1a(=CHR)}₂(μ_2 -N₂). Treatment of TaMe₃Cl₂ with Li₂[NPN] yielded [NPN]TaMe₃, which reacted with H₂ to form diamagnetic binuclear {[NPN]Ta^{IV}}₂(μ_2 -H)₄ ((**121**), Scheme 22).²¹¹ Reaction with N₂ displaced H₂ and formed {[NPN]Ta}₂(μ_2 -H)₂(μ_2 - η^2 : η^1 -N₂) (**122**), with the N₂⁴⁻ ligand bound in the unusual side-on, end-on mode.²¹¹ Propene inserted into the Ta—H—Ta bonds of (**122**) to generate {[NPN]TaPrⁿ}₂(μ_2 - η^1 : η^1 -N₂) (**123**) with the N₂⁴⁻ ligand adopting the more familiar end-on binding mode.²¹¹ (**122**) was alkylated with PhCH₂Br to form {[NPN]Ta}(μ_2 - η^2 : η^1 -N₂CH₂Ph)-(μ_2 -H)₂{TaBr[NPN]}.²¹¹ It also reacted with 9-borabicyclononane (HBC₈H₁₄) in thf to form {[NPN](H)Ta}(μ_2 -H)₂(μ_2 - η^2 : η^1 -N₂-BC₈H₁₄){Ta[NPN]}, which was thermally unstable and gradually decomposed to an imido–nitrido complex.²¹³



Scheme 22

Dinitrogen inserted into the Nb^{III}=Nb^{III} bond of the calixarene supported species (12) (Scheme 32) as a four-electron reduced $[\mu_2 - \eta^1 : \eta^1 - N_2]^{4-}$ ligand (124).^{198,199} This interpretation is supported by short Nb–N (1.75(1)Å) and long N–N (1.39(2)Å) bonds and the fact that reaction with PhCHO gives 2 eq of the oxo derivative (13) and the expected azine PhCH=N-N=HCPh. Reduction of (124) with Na cleaved the N–N bond with formation of the Nb^V₂(μ_2 -N)₂ nitrido complex (117). The latter was proposed to be in equilibrium in solution with the mononuclear nitrido complex (118). Two distinct pathways for the transformation of (12) \rightarrow (117) were identified as a function of the solvent used. These reactions have been discussed in detail.¹⁹⁹ Exposure of seven-coordinate Ta^{III}Cl(H)₂(PMe₃)₄ to N₂ resulted in release of 1 eq PMe₃/Ta

Exposure of seven-coordinate $Ta^{111}Cl(H)_2(PMe_3)_4$ to N_2 resulted in release of 1 eq PMe₃/Ta and formation of a product assigned as $[(PMe_3)_3ClTa(H)_2]_2(\mu_2-\eta^1:\eta^1-N_2)$ on the basis of IR and NMR measurements.²¹⁴ In contrast, the related species $TaCl(H)_2(dmpe)_2$ (dmpe = 1,2-bis-(dimethylphosphino)ethane) with bidentate phosphorane ligands was stable in the presence of N_2 .

4.5.2.3 Phosphorous, Arsenic, Antimony, and Bismuth Donor Ligands

 $[N_3N]TaCl_2$ ((15); Scheme 15) reacted with 2 eq LiPHR (R = Ph, cy, Bu^t) in ether to form the phosphinidenato complexes $[N_3N]Ta=PR$. An X-ray structure of the R = cy derivative revealed a Ta—P bond length of 2.145(7)Å and an approximately linear TaPR unit.¹³³ $[N_3N]Ta=PR$ reacted with aldehydes R'HCO to produce $[N_3N]Ta=O$ and the corresponding phosphaalkenes RP=CHR'.¹³³ Attempts to prepare the parent phosphinidenato $[N_3N]Ta=PH$ or the terminal phosphido $\{[N_3N]Ta\equiv P\}^-$ complexes were unsuccessful.³⁸

Treatment of $(silox)_3$ Ta^{III} ((**32**); Scheme 44) with 1 eq PhPH₂ in benzene afforded the hydride $(silox)_3$ Ta(PHPh)(H) which eliminated dihydrogen to form $(silox)_3$ Ta=PPh.¹⁵² The phosphinidenato unit was bent (\angle Ta=P=C = 110.2°) with a Ta=P bond length of 2.317(4)Å, longer than that reported for $[N_3N]$ Ta=Pcy.¹³³ Related species $(silox)_3$ Ta=EPh (E=N, As) were prepared by similar methods.¹⁵²

The series of compounds $Cp_2M(H)_2(ER_2)$ (M = Nb, E = As, R = Me, Et; E = Sb, R = Ph; E = Bi, R = Ph; M = Ta, E = P, R = Ph) have been prepared.^{215–219} Synthetic routes involved reaction of XER₂ (X = Br, Cl) with the trihydride $Cp_2M(H)_3$ to generate the salt $[Cp_2M(H)_2(HER_2)]X$, which was deprotonated to yield $Cp_2M(H)_2(ER_2)$.

4.5.2.4 Oxygen Donor Ligands

Oxo complexes are important aspects of the high valent chemistry of Nb and Ta. Much of the interest derives from their use as soluble reactivity models of metal–oxo fragments relevant to heterogeneous oxidation catalysis. Volatile or hydrolysable alkoxo species have been explored as precursors for oxide films.

4.5.2.4.1 Mononuclear oxo complexes

(i) Halo co-ligands

Molecular cations of TaOX₃ (X = F, Cl) have been identified in the gas phase by mass spectrometry.²²⁰

 $(NH_4)_3[NbOF_6]\cdot 1.5H_2O$ was prepared by a solid state route and its structural and thermal stabilities compared with those of the vanadium analog.²²¹ The solids K₂[MOF₅] resulted from thermal decomposition of the fluoroperoxo salts K₂[M(O₂)F₅]·H₂O.²²² The structure of Na₂-[NbOF₅] is isomorphous with neither Li₂[NbOF₅] nor K₂[NbOF₅].²²³ [C(NH₂)₃]₂[NbOF₅] has been crystallized from an acid solution by addition of guanidinium fluoride.²²⁴ The solids A₃[MO₂F₄] (A = Na, K) result from thermal decomposition of the fluoroperoxo salts A₃[M(O₂)₂F₄].²²²

Addition of oxide to the melt LiF-NaF-KF-K₂[NbF₇] at 650 °C allowed detection of a ν (Nb=O) vibrational mode at 921 cm^{-1,225} The data are consistent with the presence of mononuclear [NbOF₅]²⁻ ($C_{4\nu}$) and/or [NbOF₆]³⁻ (C_s). A higher proportion of oxide led to bands at 878 and 815 cm⁻¹, consistent with the symmetric and asymmetric modes of a *cis*-Nb^VO₂ center.^{225,226} The total data suggested the presence of mononuclear [NbO₂F₄]³⁻ ($C_{2\nu}$). Melts saturated with oxide appeared to contain anions [NbO₃F_n]⁽¹⁺ⁿ⁾⁻ and/or [NbO₄F_n]⁽³⁺ⁿ⁾⁻ which may be polymeric.²²⁵⁻²²⁷ Equivalent Ta^V species were observed under similar conditions.^{228,229}

Phase studies of metal oxides dissolved in $(HF)_x/pyridine/water solutions under hydrothermal conditions have led to isolation of salts containing <math>[M'(py)_4]^{2+}$ (M' = Cu, Zn, Cd) and $[MOF_5]^{2-}.^{230,231}$ Infinite chains of alternating cations and anions occur in $[M'(py)_4][MOF_5]$ with $[MOF_5]^{2-}$ anions supplying *trans*-fluoro ligands to square planar $[M'(py)_4]^{2+}$ units. Discrete "cluster" anions with equivalent stereochemistry were found in $(pyH)_2[M'(py)_4(MOF_5)_2]$. "Reverse clusters" exist in { $(CuF(py)_4)_2[TaOF_5]$ }(H₃O)₂F₂ where the Ta anion supplies the sixth ligand to the Cu cations. The nature of local distortions and O/F ordering in the Cd compounds was examined by solid state ¹⁷F, ⁹³Nb, and ¹¹³Cd NMR.²³² Aligned [MOF₅]²⁻ (M = Nb, Ta) anions (a requirement for large, non-linear optical effects)

Aligned $[MOF_5]^{2-}$ (M = Nb, Ta) anions (a requirement for large, non-linear optical effects) were detected in $[CuL_2][MOF_5] \cdot 2H_2O$ (L = 2,2'-dipyridylamine).^{233,234} A linear chain structure is induced by the amine, which acts as a bidentate ligand to Cu^{II} and an H-bond donor to an F ligand of Nb^V.

The liquid system CsCl-NbCl₅-NbOCl₃ has been studied in the range 340–650 °C.²³⁵ Molten NbOCl₃ exhibited Raman bands typical of both terminal and bridging oxo ligands. The mononuclear ions $[NbCl_6]^-$, $[NbOCl_5]^{2-}$, and $[NbOCl_4]^-$ have been identified in basic melts, and polymeric ions appear to be present in acidic melts. Interpretation of the vibrational spectra was assisted by *ab initio* calculations. The molecular and electronic structures of $[MOCl_5]^{2-}$ have also been calculated with DFT methods and compared with those of the group 6 analogs.²³⁶

NbECl₃ (E = O, S) and their simple adducts remain very useful synthons (see, e.g., ref. 237–241). The systems NbECl₃(PR₃)_{2,3} (E = O, S)^{240,241} have been at the forefront of the controversy concerning distortional (bond stretch) isomers.^{242–246}

Nb^VCl₅ and Nb^{IV}Cl₄ are sources of the [Nb^VO]³⁺ center via oxygen abstraction from ether solvents such as the or Et₂O. For example, *trans*-[NbOCl₄(thf)]⁻ was synthesized in this manner for testing as a catalyst for alkene polymerization.²⁴⁷ The structures of [Mg(thf)₄][NbOCl₄(thf)]₂. solvent and [AlCl(thf)₃][NbOCl₄(thf)]₂ revealed the presence of essentially linear Nb=O-M' -O=Nb fragments (M' = Mg: Nb=O, 1.72; Mg–O, 2.11; M' = Al: Nb=O, 1.74; Al–O, 1.90 Å).

 Ph_4P^+ salts of six-coordinate *trans*-[NbOCl₄(OH₂)]⁻ and -[NbOCl₄(O₂PCl₂)]²⁻ have been characterized structurally.²⁴⁸

(ii) Nitrogen donor co-ligands

A four-coordinate NbOL₃ molecule resulted from the reaction of NbCl₄(thf)₂ and $LiL = LiN(SiMe_3)_2$ via oxygen abstraction from solvent thf. The low coordination number is imposed by the steric demands of the amido ligand.²⁴⁹ An equivalent structure resulted from reaction of MOCl₃ with a lithiated aza-2,5-disila-cyclo-pentane ligand (125).²⁵⁰



(125)

The reaction of MOCl₃ with KTp* produced mononuclear six-coordinate complexes Tp*MOCl₂.¹⁶⁰ Another route to the Nb complex is available (Scheme 23).²⁵¹ Controlled hydrolysis of Tp*NbOCl(OR) (R = Me, Et) produced binuclear [Tp*NbOCl]₂(μ_2 -O) (Nb-O-Nb, 169.8(3)°).

 $[NbCl_{3}(OR)_{2}]_{2} \xrightarrow{KTp^{*}, H_{2}O} \xrightarrow{Tp^{*}NbOCl(OR)} \xrightarrow{Me_{3}SiCl} Tp^{*}NbOCl_{2}$ $\downarrow H_{2}O$ $[Tp^{*}NbOCl]_{2}(\mu_{2}-O)$ Scheme 23

(iii) Oxygen donor co-ligands

The reaction of NbOCl₃(MeCN)₂ with LiOAr (Ar = $2,6-R_2C_6H_3$; R = Me, Bu^t) produced fourcoordinate NbO(OAr)₃ in good yield.²⁵²

NbOL₃ (L = bidentate tropolonato, $C_7H_5O_2^{-1}$) is formed by hydrolysis of eight-coordinate [NbL₄]⁺.²⁵³ It is seven-coordinate with a distorted pentagonal bipyramidal stereochemistry.²⁵⁴ The sulfur and selenium analogs are postulated to have equivalent structures.²⁵⁴ The species NbOL₃ (L = 8-quinolinato-N,O) has a similar structure.²⁵⁵

4.5.2.4.2 Polynuclear oxo complexes

(i) Homometallic complexes

Reaction of $[Nb^{IV}_2(\mu_2 - \eta^2 - S_2)_2]^{4+}(aq)$ and K_3L $(LH_3 = N(CH_2CO_2H)_3)$ in aqueous solution followed by oxidation in air led to *anti*- $K_2\{[NbOL]_2(\mu_2 - OH)_2\}^{256}$

The salts $A_2\{[NbCl_5]_2(\mu_2-O)\}$ (A = Te₄⁺⁷, $A_2 = [Hg(PMe_2Ph)_4]^{2+}$) contained linear Nb–O–Nb links.²⁵⁷ [Ph₄P]₂{[TaCl_5]_2(\mu_2-O)} was a product of the reaction of Ta₂Cl₁₀ and Ph₄PCl in MeCN and featured a centrosymmetric anion with short Ta–O bonds (1.89 Å).²⁵⁸ The source of oxygen appeared to be trace water. A Ph₄P⁺ salt of [Ta₂OCl₉]₂²⁻ was also isolated which displayed two [Ta₂OCl₁₀] fragments in which one Cl ligand from each unit acted as a bridge to the second unit. In this case, the essentially linear Ta–O–Ta moeity featured differing bond lengths of 1.79 Å and 2.03 Å. A K(18-crown-6)⁺ salt of [Ta₄O₆Cl₁₂]⁴⁻ was isolated from the reaction of Ta₂Cl₁₀, K₂S₅ and the crown ether in CH₂Cl₂. The anion featured an adamantane-like Ta₄O₆ core.

A trinuclear Nb^V₃(μ_2 -O)₃ core is present in [NbOCl₃(OCRR')₃]₃ ((126)R = C₆H₅, R' = *m*-Me-C₆H₄) formed via reaction of Nb^{III}₂Cl₆(SMe₂)₃ with the ketone.²⁵⁹ It featured a closed set of Nb=O-Nb bonds and is a rare example of a ketone bound directly to a metal atom.



The classic vanadium organometallic oxides CpVOCl₂ and Cp*VOCl₂ are mononuclear while the Ta analog $[Cp*Cl_2Ta]_2(\mu_2-O)_2$ is binuclear ((127), Scheme 24) and unstable to hydrolysis.^{260,261} Hydrolysis of CpNbCl₄ in thf gave a mixture of products $[CpNbX_4]_2(\mu_2-O)$ where X₄ was a combination of H₂O and terminal or bridging Cl.²⁶² $[CpNbCl_3(H_2O)]_2(\mu_2-O)$ was characterized structurally.²⁶² Well-defined hydrolysis steps in the Cp*TaCl₄ system produced a series of bi- and tri-nuclear complexes (Scheme 24).^{260,261,263} (128) and (129) feature Ta₃(μ_3 -O)(μ_2 -O)₃ and Ta₃(μ_3 -O)₂-(μ_2 -O)₃ cores, respectively.



Scheme 24

In addition, oxidation of Cp*₂Nb^{IV}Cl₂ by O₂ in wet thf gave $[Cp*Nb^VCl_2]_2(\mu_2-Cl)(\mu_2-OH)-(\mu_2-O)$ which existed as two isomers distinguished by the relative orientation of the Cp* and bridging ligands.²⁶⁴ Mixed-oxidation-state trinuclear species were derived from this system.

Reactions between M_2Cl_{10} and arylcarboxylic acids $ArCO_2H$ are complex and the products isolated are dependent upon M, Ar, and the reaction conditions (reactant ratios, solvent, temperature). Ta₂Cl₁₀ reacted cleanly with 2 eq $ArCO_2H$ (Ar = p-Cl-C₆H₄) to generate binuclear $[Cl_4Ta]_2(\mu_2-\eta^1;\eta^1-O_2CAr)_2$ ((130); Scheme 25).²⁶⁵ The NbCl₅ system is more complex, but an equivalent Nb compound ($Ar = C_6F_5$) was obtained. Under different conditions, oxo abstraction occurred with formation of aroyl chlorides. With the ratio Nb:PhCO₂H = 2:3, the oxo-bridged species $[Cl_3Nb]_2(\mu_2-O)(O_2CPh)_2$ resulted ((131); Scheme 25).²⁶⁶ With the ratio Ta:ArCO₂H = 1:2 (Ar = p-Me-C₆H₄), tetranuclear $[TaOCl_2(O_2CAr)]_4$ was isolated ((132); Scheme 25).²⁶⁷ In the presence of ethanol, oxo abstraction was suppressed in the Nb system and binuclear $[Cl_2(EtO)_2Nb]_2$ - $(O_2CPh)_2$ was isolated ((133); Scheme 25).²⁶⁸





Reaction of Nb₂(OPr¹)₁₀ with acid led to tetranuclear clusters [NbO(OPr¹)₂(O₂CR)]₄ (R = Me, C(Me)CH₂).^{269,270} The centrosymmetric Nb₄(μ_2 -O)₄ core supported by carboxylato bridges is related to (132). The structure of the acetato cluster was confirmed by NMR in solution and in the solid state.²⁶⁹

The products of reaction of Nb₂(OR)₁₀ (R = Et, Prⁱ) and pinacol LH₂ = HOCMe₂CMe₂OH in tol depended upon the stoichiometries employed.²⁷¹ A trinuclear cluster [Nb₃O₂L₅(LH)] (134) featured a bent open-shell framework and an intramolecular hydrogen bond while tetranuclear [Nb₄O₄L₂(OPrⁱ)₈] (135) contained an Nb₄(μ_2 -O)₂(μ_3 -O)₂ rhombus.²⁷² In the presence of Ce₂-(OPrⁱ)₈(PrⁱOH)₂, tetranuclear (136) was identified.



A new route to Nb₈(μ_3 -O)₂(μ_2 -O)₈(μ_2 -OEt)₆(OEt)₁₄ based upon condensation of NbO(OEt)₃ is available and its structure has been confirmed.^{273,274} The tantalum analog has an equivalent structure.²⁷⁵ Three other oxo-alkoxo clusters of Ta have been characterized structurally: binuclear Ta₂(μ_2 -O)(μ_2 -OPrⁱ)(OPrⁱ)₇(PrⁱOH), pentanuclear Ta₅(μ_3 -O)₄(μ -O)₃(μ_2 -OBu^t)(OBu^t)₁₀, and heptanuclear Ta₇(μ_3 -O)₃(μ_2 -O)₆(μ_2 -OPrⁱ)₄(OPrⁱ)₁₃.^{275,276}

(ii) Heterometallic complexes

Such species are potential precursors of mixed metal oxides and alloys.

Reaction of M'(OAc)₂ (M' = Mg, Cd, Pb) with Nb₂(OPrⁱ)₁₀ led to trinuclear clusters M'Nb₂-(μ_2 -OAc)₂(μ_2 -OPrⁱ)₄(OPrⁱ)₆ ((137); Scheme 26).^{277,278} Thermal decomposition in solution of (137) (M' = Pb) gave Pb₂Nb₄O₅(OAc)₂(OPrⁱ)₁₂ (138).





Tetranuclear clusters are observed in the reaction of $Ce_2(OPr^i)_8(Pr^iOH)_2$ and $Nb_2(OPr^i)_{10}$ in the presence of $LH_2 = pinacol$, $HOCMe_2CMe_2OH$.²⁷² Two products of stoichiometry Ce_2Nb_2 were isolated, one of which was positively identified as $Ce_2Nb_2O_2L_4(OPr^i)_6$ (136).

Reaction of ZnI₂ and K[Ta(OPrⁱ)₆] in refluxing tol produced [ZnTa₂IO₂(OPrⁱ)₇]₂ (139) which features two triangular ZnTa₂(μ_3 -O)(μ_2 -OPrⁱ)₃ units linked by two linear oxo bridges involving the Ta centers on each unit.²⁷⁹



Partial hydrolysis of mixtures of $Mo^{VI}O(OMe)_4$ and $Ta_2(OMe)_{10}$ yielded centrosymmetric $Mo^{VI}_2Ta^V_4O_8(OMe)_{16}$ (140).²⁸⁰ Reflux of the equivalent *iso*-propoxo starting materials led to $Mo^V_4M^V_2O_8(OPr^i)_{14}$ which contained two reduced *cis*- $[Mo^V_2O_2(\mu_2-O)_2]$ units bridged by two OPrⁱ ligands.²⁸¹ The molecules are capped at each end by $[(Pr^iO)_3M^V(\mu_2-OPr^i)_3]$ groups. Oxidation of the Ta species produced $Mo^{VI}_4Ta^V_4O_{16}(OPr^i)_{12}$ in which the metal atoms sit at the corners of a distorted cube.²⁸⁰

Reaction of $M_2(OMe)_{10}$ with $Re^{VII}_2O_7$ provided centrosymmetric $[(ReO_4)(MeO)_3M]_2(\mu_2-OMe)_2$ ((141), Scheme 27) whose structure is closely related to those of $M_2(OMe)_{10}$ and $M'_2O_2(OMe)_8$ (M' = Mo, W) due to the π bonding capabilities of the $[ReO_4]^-$ ligands.^{282,283} Different reaction conditions produced $M^V_4O_2(OMe)_{14}(ReO_4)_2$ (142) whose $M^V_4(\mu_2-O)_2(\mu_2-OMe)_4$ core is derived from two units of (141).²⁸³ The thermal decomposition and sublimation properties of these potential precursors of mixed oxides were examined.

Series of soluble bi- and tri-metallic species such as $M'[M(OR)_6]_n$ have been reported from reactions between the metal alkoxides or halides in alcohol solutions (e.g., see 284, 285 and refs. therein; Section 4.5.2.4.4 below). They are of interest as precursors for sol–gel procedures. A number of oxo clusters have been described, apparently products of hydrolysis or oxidation. $Pb^{II}_6Nb_4O_4(OEt)_{24}$ features an octahedral cluster $[Pb_6(\mu_3-O)_4(\mu_3-OEt)_4]$ whose faces are capped by the bridging ligands. The oxo ligands are also coordinated to Nb(OEt)₅ groups.²⁸⁶

 $Li_2Nb_2O_2(OEt)_8(EtOH)_2$ has a metal-oxygen core similar to that in $Ti_4(OMe)_{16}$, while $[Ba_4Nb_4O_4(OEt)_{20}(EtOH)_4]$ features a $Ba_4(\mu_3-O)_4$ cubane unit whose O vertices are occupied by the oxo ligands of $[NbO(OEt)_5]$ octahedra.²⁸⁵

The cluster $Pb_2Nb_4O_5(OAc)_2(OPr^i)_{12}$ ((138), Scheme 26) was generated by thermal decomposition of $PbNb_2(OAc)_2(OPr^i)_{10}$ (137) in solution and characterized in solution by NMR.²⁷⁷



Scheme 27

4.5.2.4.3 Peroxo ligands

Colorless $K_3[Ta(\eta^2-O_2)_4]$ was crystallized from solutions of $Ta_2O_5.aq$ dissolved in basic H_2O_2 .²⁸⁷ The compound is isostructural with $K_3[Cr(\eta^2-O_2)_4]$.

 γ -Irradiation of single crystals of K₂[Nb(O₂)F₅]·H₂O led to a paramagnetic species that was stable at room temperature.²⁸⁸ EPR data were consistent with the primary reaction being loss of an electron, rather than reduction to Nb^{IV}. The stable "hole" species is the [Nb(O₂)F₅]⁻ radical with the unpaired electron delocalized onto the peroxo ligand, i.e., it is formally a superoxo complex [Nb^V(O₂)F₅]⁻.

A range of peroxo-carboxylato complexes $K_3[LM(O_2)_3] \cdot nH_2O$ (LH₂ = tartrate, glycolate, citrate, malate, etc.) have been synthesized and characterized spectroscopically.²⁸⁹ Similar data is available for K[L'Nb(O_2)_2(OH)] \cdot 2H_2O and K[L'₂Nb(O₂)₂] $\cdot nH_2O$ (L'H = 8-quinolinate).²⁹⁰

4.5.2.4.4 Alkoxo ligands

The structure and reactivity of metal alkoxo and aryl oxo compounds, including those of Nb and Ta, have been reviewed in detail.²⁹¹ The present account concentrates on more recent synthetic and structural aspects.

The key synthons $M(OR)_5$ are all dimeric in solution when R is primary but usually monomeric when R is secondary or tertiary.²⁹² A monomer–dimer equilibrium is present for $R = Pr^i$ at lower temperatures. Recent synthetic aspects include improved procedures for anodic dissolution of the metals into alcohols containing electrolytes. For example, binuclear Ta₂(OR)₁₀ (R = Me, Et, Buⁿ) and Ta₂O(OPrⁱ)₈·PrⁱOH were isolated (electrolyte, LiCl).²⁷⁶ The latter molecule features a Ta₂(μ_2 -O)-(μ_2 -OPrⁱ) core and may be hydrolyzed to heptanuclear Ta₇O₉(OPrⁱ)₁₇.

Metal–ethoxo cations derived from solutions of $B(C_6F_5)_3$ and $M_2(OEt)_{10}$ were observed in the gas phase by electrospray mass spectrometry.²⁹³ They included $[M(OEt)_4]^+$, $[M_2(OEt)_9]^+$, and $[M_2O(OEt)_7]^+$ as well as heterometallic analogs when both metals were present in the sprayed solutions. Their fragmentation behavior under collision-induced dissociation was examined.

Six-coordinate complexes $Ta(OR)_4L$ and $TaCl_2(OR)_2L$ (LH = 2,2,6,6-tetramethylheptane-3,5-dione or 2,4-pentanedione(acacH)) have been characterized structurally and tested as precursors for the deposition of Ta_2O_5 films.^{294,295}

The reaction of Nb₂(OPrⁱ)₁₀ and CH₂=CMeCO(OC₂H₄OH) allowed isolation of Nb₄-(OC₂H₄O)₅(OPrⁱ)₁₀ ((**143**), Scheme 28) containing two seven- and two six-coordinate niobium atoms.²⁹⁶ The ethyleneglycolato ligands arise from activation of the methacrylate reactant by the metal.



Scheme 28

Niobium and Tantalum

Series of soluble bi- and tri-metallic species such as $M'[M(OR)_6]_n$ (M' = Li-Cs, Mg-Ba, Al, Ga, Cr, Mn, Fe, Co, Ni, Cu; R = alkyl) have been described (e.g., see 284,285,297, and refs. therein). They are of interest as precursors in the production of oxide materials by the sol–gel process. However, complex equilibria exist in solution and the exact nature of isolated products often depends upon conditions, especially the presence of trace O₂ or H₂O.²⁸⁵ Limited structural information only is available.

LiNb(OEt)₆ (144) features a polymeric helix.²⁹⁸ Alternating Nb(OEt)₆ octahedra are *cis*-linked to four-coordinate Li ions. It produced epitaxial LiNbO₃ films upon spray chemical vapor deposition.^{299,300} The presence of H atoms β to O allowed production of water via the classic autocatalytic decomposition pathway. This in turn led to production of oxide via hydrolysis.³⁰¹ In contrast, although the binuclear analog [LiNb(OCH₂SiMe₃)₆]₂ (145) pyrolyzed to crystalline LiNbO₃, it did not deposit films upon spray deposition, apparently due to the lack of β H atoms.³⁰¹



The anion in the salts A[Nb(OCH(CF₃)₂)₆] (A = Li, Ph₃C) has a single negative charge shared by 36 peripheral fluorine atoms. Consequently, it is weakly coordinating and the Li⁺ salt exhibits useful properties as a Lewis acid catalyst.³⁰² Related salts of [M(OC₆F₅)₆]⁻ are also available.³⁰³

Two trinuclear heterobimetallic molecules with alkoxo ligands are known: $BaNb_2(OPr^i)_{12}$ (PrⁱOH)₂ (146) contains a non-linear Nb(μ_2 -O)₂Ba(μ_2 -O)₂Nb core while LaNb₂(OPrⁱ)₁₃ (147) contains a non-linear Nb(μ_2 -O)₃La(μ_2 -O)₂Nb core.²⁸⁵



Bimetallic derivatives resulted from heating $M_2(OMe)_{10}$ and the acac complexes of M' = Mg, Co, Ni, Zn in 1:3 proportions in tol.³⁰⁴ The structure of centrosymmetric $M_2M'_2(acac)_2(OMe)_{12}$ (148) is based upon that of Ti₄(OMe)₁₆.

The use of multifunctional ligands allows generation of multinuclear species which may be tested as molecular precursors of mixed metal oxides. For example, LH_2 = salicylaldehyde generated $Bi_2M_2L_4(LH)_4(OR)_4$ and L'H = 1,3-bis(dimethylamino)propan-2-ol generated $SrTa_2(OEt)_6(\mu_2-OEt)_4(\mu_2-O-L')_2$.

A soluble and volatile tetranuclear species $[La^{III}L_2{Nb(OPr^i)_4}_3]$ featured two tetradentate ligands $LH_3 =$ triethanolamine in bicapped trigonal antiprismatic coordination around the La ion.³⁰⁷ The alkoxo substituents of L bridge the Nb^V(OPrⁱ)₄ fragments forming a cluster with threefold symmetry.

4.5.2.4.5 Aryloxo ligands

(i) Monodentate ligands

These ligands can be tuned both electronically and sterically via ring substitution. Consistently larger MOC bond angles are found in aryloxo relative to alkoxo complexes as ligand oxygen in the

former is attached to two π -accepting groups that compete for its electron density. However, simple correlations between MO π bonding and the bond angles and bond distances are not apparent. For example, r(MO) = 1.9 Å is associated with MOC bond angles ranging from 135° to 180°.³⁰⁸

An extended range of synthons of stoichiometry $M(OAr)_5$ and $M(OAr)_{5-n}X_n$ (X = halo, alkyl; mono-, or binuclear depending upon ligand bulk) are available as well as six-coordinate complexes $M(OAr)_5L$ (L = neutral donor).^{291,309} In addition, the reaction of bulky aryloxides such as LiOAr (ArOH = 2,6-Me₂-C₆H₃OH) with Nb₂Cl₁₀ produced both mononuclear [Li(thf)₃][Nb^V-O-(OAr)₄] (**149**) and binuclear [Li(thf)₂]₂{[Nb^{IV}(OAr)₂Cl₂]₂(μ_2 -Cl)₂} (**150**) species.³¹⁰



A significant development has seen the synthesis of aryloxo hydrido complexes and their application in homogeneous arene hydrogenation and related processes.^{311,312} For Ta, these were formed by hydrogenolysis or reaction with Bu₃SnH in the presence of phosphorane ligands. The observed stoichiometry and the stereochemistry depend upon the steric properties of the aryloxo ligands (Scheme 29). These molecules are rigid on the ¹H NMR time scale.³¹³ Reduced species result from the equivalent reactions employing niobium. Complexes Cp*Ta(H)₂(OAr)₂ result from the reaction of bulky ArOH with Cp*Ta(H)₂(PMe₃)(η^2 -CH₂PMe₃).³¹⁴



Scheme 29

(ii) Multidentate ligands

The neutral mononuclear complexes *cis*-TaLX₂ ((151); X = OEt, NMe₂) result from reaction of Ta₂X₁₀ with a *tris*(phenol)amine ligand LH₃.³¹⁵ The X ligands exhibit significant differences in substitutional lability attributed to the stronger *trans* effect induced by the phenolato functions of ligand L relative to the amino function.



Derivatives of the chiral ligand binol have been introduced successfully to Ta chemistry by use of an amido precursor (Scheme 30).³¹⁶



Scheme 30

Reaction of Nb₂Cl₁₀ with Li₂L (LH₂ = 2,2'-methylenebis(4,6-di-*t*-butyl-phenol) produced trigonal bipyramidal NbL₂Cl.³¹⁷ Each bidentate ligand provided one equatorial and one axial aryloxo ligand atom. On the other hand, reaction of Ta₂Cl₁₀ or Ta(NMe₂)₅ with Li₂L' (L'H₂ = 2,2'-methylenebis(4-methyl-6-*t*-butylphenol)) provided TaL'X₃ (X = Cl, NMe₂).³¹⁸

The products observed in the reaction of Nb₂Cl₁₀ with linear aryloxo trimer ligands LH₃ ((115), Scheme 31) depend upon the nature of the aryl ring substituents and the solvent basicity.³¹⁹ For example, when $R = Bu^t$, the retro-Friedel–Crafts reaction can lead to loss of Bu^t substituent induced by HCl unless lithiated forms of the ligand are employed or basic MeCN is used as solvent. Complexes characterized in both the solid state and in solution included mononuclear species with a bidentate ligand, *mer*-Nb(LH)Cl₃(MeCN) and *cis*-Nb(LH)₂Cl(MeCN). A tridentate ligand was present in trigonal bipyramidal NbL(SBu^t)₂. Binuclear species [NbLCl₂]₂ featured different isomers. One was centrosymmetric with a planar Nb₂(μ -O)₂ core and each tridentate ligand L bound *mer* to a single Nb center (114). One O ligand atom bridged to the second Nb center. A second isomer featured a *pseudo-C*₂ axis of symmetry with each ligand L spanning both Nb centers (152).



Scheme 31

The cavities of calixarenes can enclose small molecules ((11), Scheme 32). Electron-deficient fragments CpM^V were bound to calixarene ligands with the aim to produce cavities with enhanced nucleophile binding capabilities.³²⁰ CpTaL for LH₄=*p*-Bu^t-calix[4]arene (11) exhibited

an eliptical distortion of the ligand fourfold symmetry, allowing an unusual sideways positioning of toluene in the *endo*-calix site. When a MeCN molecule was included in the cavity of CpTaL, it was bound via a Ta—N bond, an orientation inverted relative to that observed in a related calixarene in the absence of metal.





Floriani has explored the way in which the calixarene skeleton can impose a quasi-planar O_4 donor set which allows the metal centers to provide (σ , 2π) frontier orbitals for M—X multiple bonding. Tuning the ligand charge via methylation of the ligating oxygen atoms was an additional design feature. Useful starting materials (153)–(155) (Scheme 32) were generated by reaction of M_2Cl_{10} with (11) or its derivatives. The di-methoxy form provided the demethylated product (154).³²¹ The reactivity of the ligand alkyl derivatives of the Ta systems was explored.^{322,323}

Binuclear complexes (156) (Scheme 32) could be converted to mononuclear species (157) by interaction with alkali metal phenoxides.^{321,324} The negatively charged calixarene ligand promoted binding of alkali metal cations M* in its cavity. Two calixarene and two thf oxygen atoms provided four ligand atoms for M* whose coordination environment was completed by cation– π -arene interactions. The nature of the latter varied with the size of M*, being bis- η^6 for K⁺, η^6 for Na⁺, and η^3 for Li⁺. Non-interacting arene rings were pushed outwards to accommodate the coordination spheres of M*. Azeotropic distillation in hexane allowed removal of the thf ligands for M* = Na (158). These complexes acted as alkali metal ion carriers in hydrocarbon media.

Ketones and aldehydes RR'CO oxidatively added across the Nb^{III}=Nb^{III} bond in (12) (Scheme 32) to form equimolar quantities of the oxo- and alkylidene-Nb^V species ((13),(14)) which were easily separated.³⁶ Dinitrogen inserted into the Nb^{III}=Nb^{III} of (12) as the 4e⁻ reduced

hydrazido ligand (124).^{198,199} Further reaction with PhCHO gave the oxo derivative (13) and the expected azine PhCH=N-N=HCPh. Reduction of (124) with Na cleaved the NN bond with formation of the Nb^V₂(μ_2 -N)₂ nitrido complex (117).^{198,199}

(12) also reduced CO (1 atmos; $-40 \,^{\circ}$ C) by four electrons to form the oxyalkylidyne dianion (159) (Scheme 32).³²⁵ Reduction of (159) with 2 eq Na cleaved the residual C—O bond to form (160) which contains μ_2 -oxo and μ_2 -carbido bridging ligands stabilized by interactions with sodium ions. Further reduction of (160) removed the oxo function and converted the unique bent mode of the bridging carbido ligand to the linear mode in (161). This species was paramagnetic and its spectroscopic properties were consistent with a Nb^V=C=Nb^{IV} center with a delocalized unpaired electron. (161) was oxidized to (162) which contained an Nb^V=C=Nb^V center.

4.5.2.4.6 Carboxylato and related ligands

Mononuclear dialkylcarbamato complexes $M(O_2CNR_2)_n$ (n=4,5) are eight coordinate, as demonstrated for Nb^{IV}(O₂CNEt₂)₄ and Ta^V(O₂CNEt₂)₅.³²⁶ The niobium compound is dodecahedral with four bidentate ligands while the tantalum example is essentially square antiprismatic with three bi- and two monodentate ligands (as seen previously in Nb^V(O₂CNMe₂)₅³²⁷).

Reaction of $M_2(OEt)_{10}$ with $LH_3 = N$ -hydroxyiminodiacetic acid allowed isolation of salts of $[ML_2]^-$, isostructural with the V^V system.³²⁸ The anion is eight coordinate with each ligand providing a η^2 -NO group and two monodentate carboxylates. The anions are related to the V^{IV} centers present in the natural product amavadin isolated from mushrooms of the genus *Amanita*.

4.5.2.4.7 Oxyanion complexes

Oxidation of M(s) by the peroxide $S_2O_6F_2$ in HSO₃F formed acid solutions apparently containing $[H_2SO_3F]^+$ and $[M(SO_3F)_6]^-$ ions.³²⁹ Supporting evidence included isolation of complexes $Cs_n[M(SO_3F)_{5+n}]$ (n = 1, 2).

Reaction of Nb₂Cl₁₀ with AgOTeF₅ in 1,1,2-trichloritrifluorethane produced AgNb(OTeF₅)₆ which is soluble in chlorinated hydrocarbons and chorofluorocarbons.³³⁰ The anion $[Nb(OTeF_5)_6]^-$ is useful as a weakly coordinating anion.

A tantalum-siloxane cage complex (163) has been synthesized by two routes and characterized structurally (Scheme 33).³³¹ A tetranuclear Ta₂Si₂ unit is the basis of a distorted bicapped cubane core $[Ta_2Si_2(\mu_3-O)_2(\mu_2-O)_4]^{6+,331}$ Other cyclic Nb— and Ta— siloxanes based on Bu^t₂Si(OH)₂ have been prepared.³³²





Tantalasilsequioxanes based upon $LH_3 = cy_7Si_7O_{12}H_3$ ((164), Scheme 34) have been synthesized as structural models of silica-bound heterogeneous catalysts.³³³ Compounds $LTa(NMe_2)_2$ and $[H_2NMe_2][TaL_2]$ were synthesized from $Ta(NMe_2)_5$ (Scheme 34).

4.5.2.5 Sulfur, Selenium, and Tellurium Donor Ligands

A number of useful reviews on chalcogenido species (E^{2-} , HE^{-} , RE^{-}) as ligands are available.^{334–338} The versatility of these ligands may be appreciated from the observation of S^{2-} as a terminal



Scheme 34

or bridging ligand (μ_2 , μ_3 , μ_4 , μ_6), S_2^{2-} as a terminal or bridging ligand (μ_2), and higher sulfides S_n^{2-} as bidentate or bridging ligands (μ_2 , μ_3).

4.5.2.5.1 Chalcogenido ligands

 K^+ and Cs^+ salts of tetrathiometalates $[MS_4]^{3-}$ and tetraselenometalates $[MSe_4]^{3-}$ were formed by direct reaction of the elements at 850 °C.³³⁹ Although these have some solubility in nonaqueous solvents, the more soluble salts Li₃[MS₄]solv (solv = 4 MeCN, 2 tmeda) were accessible in the system M₂(OEt)₁₀/(Me₃Si)₂S/LiOMe (1:8:6) in MeCN.³⁴⁰ These materials are useful precursors of metal cluster species (see Chapter 4.12).

The thiohalides MSX₃ (X = Cl, Br) were obtained by reaction of suspended M_2X_{10} and $H_2S(g)$ in CCl₄ or (Me₃Si)₂S in CH₂Cl₂.^{341,342} When carried out in MeCN, the chloro systems provided the solvent adducts MSCl₃·2MeCN.³⁴¹

Treatment of $[N_3N]TaCl_2$ (15) with 2 eq $(thf)_2LiESi(SiMe_3)_3$ (E=Se, Te) eliminated neutral E{Si(SiMe_3)_3}₂ with formation of five-coordinate $[N_3N]Ta(=E)$ (Scheme 15).³⁴³ The Ta=E bond lengths of 2.33 (Se) Å and 2.57 (Te) Å are consistent with the estimated difference in radii of E. Single resonances were observed in ⁷⁷Se{¹H} and ¹²⁵Te{¹H} NMR spectra in C₆D₆.

 $Ph_4P[NbCl_6]$ reacted with $(Me_3Si)_2S$ in CH_2Cl_2 to produce $(Ph_4P)_2[NbSCl_5].2CH_2Cl_2$ while the equivalent bromo system led to $Ph_4P[NbSBr_4].^{342}$ $(Ph_4P)_2[TaSCl_5].2CH_2Cl_2$ resulted from reaction of TaSCl_3 and Ph_4PCl in CH_2Cl_2 . The salt $[Nb(S_2CNEt_2)_4]_2[NbSCl_5]$ has been characterized crystallographically.²⁰⁵

Although the reaction occurs rarely for arenethiolates, the alkylthiolate ion RS⁻ is a convenient source of thio ligand via metal-induced C—S bond cleavage. With Nb₂Cl₁₀:Bu^tS⁻ = 1:4 in MeCN, the [NbSCl₄]⁻ anion formed and was readily converted to square pyramidal [NbS(SPh)₄]⁻ (Scheme 35).³⁴⁴ With increasing proportions of Bu^tS⁻, trigonal bipyramidal [NbS(SBu^t)₄]⁻ and then tetra-hedral [Nb(S)₂(SBu^t)₂]⁻ were obtained.³⁴⁵ If elemental sulfur or selenium was included, tetrahedral [Nb(E)₃(SBu^t)]²⁻ (E=S, Se) resulted (Scheme 35).³⁴⁶ [Ta(S)₃(SBu^t)]²⁻ was isolated from the equivalent route. These C—S bond cleavage reactions appear to involve generation of isobutene (via heterolytic β -elimination) or isobutane (via homolytic free radical formation and extraction of proton from solvent MeCN or trace H₂O).³⁴⁶



Scheme 35

 $[Nb(S)_3(SBu^t)]^{2-}$ reacted with S₈ and stoichiometric H₂O in dmf to form pentagonal pyramidal $[NbO(\eta^2-S_2)_2(SH)]^{2-}$ (165) which was converted to tetrahedral $[Nb(S)_3(SH)]^{2-}$ by PEt₃ ((166); Scheme 35).³⁴⁷ The thio donor BzSSSBz (Bz = benzyl, CH₂Ph) in wet MeCN reversed the latter reaction. ¹H resonances for the SH ligands were detected for both anions. In the presence of controlled concentrations of NEt₃ and H₂O in MeCN, $[Nb(S)_3(SBu^t)]^{2-}$ was converted to binuclear $\{[(S)_3Nb]_2(\mu_2-O)\}^{4-}$ (167) with a linear Nb–O–Nb bridge. In equivalent reactions, $[Nb(Se)_3(SBu^t)]^{2-}$ was the source of binuclear $\{[(Se)_3Nb]_2(\mu_2-O)\}^{4-}$ and pentagonal pyramidal $[NbO(\eta^2-Se_2)_2(SEH)]^{2-}$.³⁴⁸ When oxidized by 2 eq Se, two units of the latter center became linked by an Se₄²⁻ bridge in $\{[NbO(\eta^2-Se_2)_2]_2(\mu_2-Se_4)\}^{4-}$. $[NbO(\eta^2-S_2)_2(SPh)]^{2-}$ (isostructural with (165)) resulted from the interaction of $[NbO(SPh)_4]^-$ with S₈ under controlled conditions.³⁴⁹ Unexpectedly, it reacted with NaBH₄ to produce the thio derivative $[NbS(\eta^2-S_2)_2(SPh)]^{2-}$.

edly, it reacted with NaBH₄ to produce the thio derivative $[NbS(\eta^2-S_2)_2(SPh)]^{2-}$. The Nb=S bond distances in $[Nb(S)_2(SBu^t)_2]^-$, $[Nb(S)_3(SBu^t)]^{2-}$, and $[NbS_4]^{3-}$ show an essentially monotonic increase (2.187(2) < 2.230(6) < 2.274(1) Å), reflecting an increase in both anionic charge and the number of thio ligands.³⁴⁶ The bond length of the Nb^V=S group in known systems varies within the range 2.09–2.28 Å, depending on its electronic environment.^{346,350}

 $[Nb(SCH_2CH_2S)_3]^-$ ((168), Scheme 36) underwent an unusual isomerization in the presence of trace water or MeOH.³⁵¹ Proton attack upon ligand thiolate appeared to induce C—S bond cleavage and subsequent rearrangement to (169).



Scheme 36

In the reaction of $[NbO(SPh)_4]^-$ with S₈ in the presence of bpy in toluene, reduction of S₈ by ligand thiolate led to $[NbO(\eta^2-S_2)_2(bipy)]^-$ (170) with distorted pentagonal bipyramidal geometry.³⁵² The nucleophiles CS₂ and dimethyl ethynedicarboxylate added across one η^2 -dithio ligand to produce anions containing, respectively, the ligands thiocarbonato $[NbO(CS_3)(S_2)(bpy)]^-$ and enedithiolato $[NbO\{S_2C_2(CO_2Me)_2\}(S_2)(bpy)]^-$.



The reaction of NaL (L = S₂CNEt₂) with $M^{III}_{2}Cl_6(SC_4H_8)_3$ provided the pentagonal bipyramidal complexes L₂ $M^{V}S(\eta^2$ -SCNEt₂) (171).³⁵³ The thio and thiocarbamyl ligands appear to be generated by oxidative addition of a dithiocarbamato C—S bond to an M^{III} center with concomitant cleavage of the M=M bond in the precursor.

The eight-coordinate dithio derivative $L_3Nb(\eta^2-S_2)$ (172) was one of the products of the reaction of L_3NbO with B_2S_3 in CH_2Cl_2 .³⁵⁴ Similarly, $L_3Ta(\eta^2-S_2)$ was isolated in the reactions of NaL with TaSBr₃ in CS₂ and with Ta₂Cl₁₀ in MeCN.^{355,356}

Reaction of Cp*TaCl₄ with 4–5 eq of "Li₂S₂" or "Li₂S" produced [Cp*TaS₃Li₂(thf)₂]₂ whose hexagonal prismatic Ta₂S₆Li₄ core contained the [Cp*Ta(S)₃]^{2–} unit (**173**), isostructural with Cp*Re(O)₃.^{357,358} This species is also formed if Cp*TaS(SCPh₃)Cl is treated with "Li₂S".³⁵⁹

The reaction of the trihydrido complex Cp'_2TaH_3 ($Cp' = C_5H_4Bu^t$) with propylene sulfide proceeded via a regioselective ring opening followed by desulfurization to yield the thio-thiolato complex $Cp'_2Ta(S)(SPr^i)$ ((174); Scheme 37).³⁶⁰ Protonation and alkylation reactions occured at

the thio ligand (Scheme 37), while the unsaturated fragments $W(CO)_5$ and $W(CO)_4$ bound at the thio and thio/thiolato sites, respectively ((175), (176)). Complexes $Cp'_2Ta(H)(S-M(CO)_5)$ (M = Cr, Mo, W) related to (175) are also known.³⁶¹



Scheme 37

Reaction of CpNb(η^7 -C₇H₇) with MeCS₂H in Et₂O led to CpNb(η^2 -S₂)(η^2 -S₂CMe)₂.³⁶² The S₂ ligand apparently arose from acid- and metal-induced C—S bond cleavage. In contrast, reduction of S₈ with Cp'₂NbH₃ in tol led directly to η^2 -S₂ ligands and a polythio S₅²⁻ bridge in Cp'₄Nb₂S₉ (177).³⁶³ A number of intermediates were observed and identified in subsequent work employing a range of cyclopentadienyl ligands. Reaction of Cp*₂NbBH₄ with S₈ gave a complex with a planar NbS₃ core whose structural and spectroscopic properties supported the formulation Cp*₂Nb(η^2 -S₂)-(SH) (S-S = 2.17(1) Å).³⁶⁴ The equivalent compound for Cp[†] = C₅Me₄Et could be isolated as well as the structural isomers Cp[†]₂Nb(η^2 -S₂)H and Cp[†]₂Nb(S)(SH) (Scheme 38).³⁶⁵ Similar chemistry was found for Ta (Scheme 39).³⁶⁴ The monohydride Cp'₂Ta(S)H reacted with Na/Hg in thf in the presence of H₂O to produce the dihydride Cp'₂Ta(SH)(H)₂.³⁶⁶ For both metals, these mononuclear complexes reacted further to produce clusters discussed in Chapter 4.12.³⁶⁷ In addition, reactions between Me substituents on the Cp* ring and the metals and sulfur fragments were observed.^{368,369}



Mononuclear complexes $Cp_{2}^{\dagger}Nb(\eta^{2}-S_{2})H$, $Cp_{2}^{\prime}Ta(\eta^{2}-S_{2})H$, and $Cp_{2}^{\prime}Ta(SH)(H)_{2}$ added $M'(CO)_{5}$ (M' = Cr, Mo, W) fragments to their $\eta^{2}-S_{2}$ or SH ligands producing bi- and trinuclear species (e.g., Scheme 39).^{366,370} In addition, $Cp_{2}^{*}Nb(\eta^{2}-S_{2})H$ reacted with Fe₂(CO)₉ and Co₂(CO)₈ to produce trinuclear complexes with an M'S₄ tetrahedron (M' = Fe, Co) bound to two niobocene molecules (**178**).³⁷¹

Chemistry related to that outlined in Schemes 38 and 39 led to equivalent species with selenium and tellurium replacing sulfur.^{372–375} In addition, a selection of the molecular variants (179)–(182) have been characterized.



Scheme 39

Salts $[Ph_4P]_2\{[Cl_2(\eta^2-S_2)M]_2(\mu_2-O)(\mu_2-\eta^2:\eta^2-S_2)\}$ (183) were produced by reacting Nb₂Cl₁₀ with Li₂S₂ and by heating Ta₂Cl₁₀ with Li₂S and S₈ in MeCN.³⁷⁶



The ionic compound $[Ta(Se_2)_2]_2[TaBr_6]$ was prepared in high yield from the elements by stoichiometric reaction at 450 °C.³⁷⁷ The positively charged polymeric component (formally $[Ta^VTa^{IV}]$) is constructed from chains of $Ta(\mu_2 - \eta^2 - Se_2)_2Ta$ units. The ionic lattice is completed by $[Ta^VBr_6]^-$ anions.

 $K_4Ta_2S_{11}$ was produced by interaction of K_2S , Ta, and S_8 at 800 °C. It contains the {[TaS- $(\eta^2-S_2)]_2(\mu_2-S)(\mu_2-\eta^2:\eta^1-S_2)_2$ ⁴⁻ ion (184).³⁷⁸ Bridging S_2 ligands are also seen in [Bu₄N]₂-{[(C₃S₅)₂Nb]₂($\mu_2-\eta^2:\eta^2-S_2)_2$ } (185), formed from the reaction of Nb₂Cl₁₀ and [Bu₄N]₂[Zn(C₃S₅)₂] in MeCN.³⁷⁹

The reaction of Nb₂Cl₁₀ and K₂Te₄ in dmf followed by the addition of Ph₄PBr led to $[Ph_4P]_3[NbTe_{10}]$, a novel Zintl compound (**186**).³⁸⁰ The anion features *pseudo-C₃* point symmetry with distorted capped trigonal prismatic stereochemistry around the Nb atom. The compound is diamagnetic and its electronic structure was explored via Extended Huckel calculations.³⁸¹

4.5.2.5.2 Thiolato ligands

Reaction of Ta₂Cl₁₀ with LiSAr (ArSH = 2,3,5,6-Me₄-C₆HSH) or reaction of Nb(NMe₂)₅ with ArSH = 2,6-Me₂-C₆H₃SH led to M(SAr)₅.^{382,383} While the MS₅ geometries were nominally trigonal bipyramidal, steric crowding induced substantial axial and equatorial distortions with bond angles S_{ax} -M- $S_{ax} \sim 156^{\circ}$ and $105 < S_{eq}$ -M- $S_{eq} < 130^{\circ}$. Such distortions were not apparent in Ta(SAr)₄(NMe₂), formed in the reaction of Ta(NMe₂)₅ with ArSH = 2,6-Me₂-C₆H₃SH.³⁸⁴ The complex exhibits molecular C₂ symmetry with the ligand NMe₂ occupying an equatorial site.

Reaction of Nb₂Cl₁₀with NaSAr (ArSH = 4-Me-C₆H₄SH) in thf led to [Na(thf)₃][Nb(SAr)₆] which features a nearly trigonal prismatic [Nb(SAr)₆]⁻ unit, apparently stabilized against spontaneous reduction by significant interactions of the Na(thf)₃⁺ cation with ArS⁻ ligands.³⁸⁵ Reaction of Ta₂Cl₁₀with NaSPh and 15-crown-5 in Et₂O led to [Na(15-crown-5)][Ta(SPh)₆] which features an octahedral anion. The favored stereochemistry apparently depends on detailed electronic and crystal packing forces.³⁸⁶

 $Cp*Ta(SPh)_4$ was isolated from the reaction of $Cp*TaCl_4$ with NaSPh at $-78 \circ C.^{387}$ The molecule has a distorted four-legged piano-stool structure with two different sets of Cp*-Ta-S bond angles averaging 104.1° and 117.2°, respectively. These seem to be determined largely by electronic factors with a less important $S \cdots S$ repulsion effect.

Dimethyl ethynedicarboxylate added across the η^2 -dithio ligand of Nb(S₂)L₃ (L = S₂CNEt₂) to create the mono(enedithiolato) complex Nb{S₂C₂(CO₂Me)₂}L₃ (187).³⁸⁸

Homoleptic tris-dithiolato complexes $[M^{V}L_{3}]^{-}$ are formed typically by reaction of $M_{2}X_{10}$ with $Li_{2}L$ or of amides $M(NR_{2})_{5}$ with $H_{2}L$.^{386,389–391} Again, the tendency to the extremes of octahedral and trigonal trismatic geometries (related by a trigonal twist deformation) are determined by a complex mixture of electronic and crystal packing factors. The enedithiolato anions exhibit geometries closest to trigonal prismatic: ligand torsion angles ϕ average 0.7° for $[Ph_{4}As][Nb(1,2-S_{2}C_{6}H_{4})_{3}]$. However, they are 30° and 43° for $[Ph_{4}As][Nb(SCH_{2}CH_{2}S)_{3}]$ and $[Ph_{4}As][Nb(SCH_{2}CH_{2}CH_{2}S)_{3}]$, respectively, which feature saturated ligands. The structural complexity is highlighted by the case of $A[ML_{3}]$ (L = norbornane-*exo*-2,3-dithiolato).³⁸⁶ The geometry observed is *synclastic* for (A⁺ = Ph_{4}As, M = Ta; larger cation) and *anticlastic* for (A = Et_{4}N, M=Nb; smaller cation) ((188), (189)) although solution data indicate similar relative stabilities for these isomers. In addition, the TaS₆ core in (188) is trigonally twisted while the NbS₆ core in (189) is distorted towards a bicapped tetrahedron.

Reaction of Nb₂(OEt)₁₀ with $LH_2 = 2$ -mercapto-4-methylphenol and Et₃N led to [Et₃NH][NbL₃].³⁹² Significant distortion (twist angle 41.5°) away from the trigonal prism was observed for this mixed O,S-arene donor ligand complex, in contrast with [Ph₄As][Nb-(1,2-S₂C₆H₄)₃] discussed above.

The chloro ligands in Cp*MCl₄ may be substituted by bidentate enedithiolato ligands L.^{393,394} The presence in solution of orientationally inequivalent ligands L in Cp*ML₂ (190) was detected, the ligand folding being attributed to alkene-to-metal bonding interactions. The lack of such interactions accounts for the observation of a single coformer in solution for the dithiolato complex Cp*Ta(SCH₂CH₂S)₂ (191).³⁹³ A single rigid geometry is also observed for the norbornane-*exo*-2,3-dithiolato complex with the dithiolato ligands assuming opposite orientations with respect to Cp* (192).³⁹⁵ Related tridentate species (e.g., (193)) have been isolated.³⁹⁶



4.5.2.5.3 Thiocarbamato and related ligands

Reaction of M_2X_{10} (X = Cl, Br) with NaL (L = N,N'-disubstituted dithiocarbamate) is complicated by side reactions and solvent dependency. In CH₂Cl₂, the two product salts [ML₄][MX₆] and [ML₄]X have similar solubilities.³⁹⁷ A selection of both forms was isolated, as were the monothiocarbamato salts [M(OSCNMe₂)₄][MCl₆] which formed cleanly at -78 °C. Variable-temperature ¹H NMR was employed in a detailed study of the stereoisomerism and metal-centered rearrangements of the eight-coordinate [ML₄]⁺ ions.³⁹⁷ The *mmmm* dodecahedral arrangement is present in [Nb(S₂CNEt₂)₄]Br.³⁵⁶

Use of the reagent SiMe₃L (L = S₂CNEt₂) with Nb₂Cl₁₀ in CH₂Cl₂ at 0 °C allowed separation of [NbL₄][NbCl₆] from its coordination isomer NbCl₃L₂.³⁹⁸ The latter is pentagonal bipyramidal with one chloro and two L ligands in the equatorial plane. The same compound resulted from oxidative addition of tetraethyldithiuram disulfide to Nb^{III}₂Cl₆(SMe₂)₃ with cleavage of the Nb=Nb bond.³⁹⁹ A similar stereochemistry was present in solution in *trans*-Nb(OR)₂ClL₂ complexes obtained from the reaction of [NbCl₃(OR)₂]₂ with NaL.⁴⁰⁰

 $Cp*_2NbO(OH)$ reacted with PhNCS to form $Cp*_2NbO\{SC(O)NHPh\}$ which features oxo and η^1 -S-thiocarbamato ligands.⁴⁰¹

4.5.2.6 Halo Ligands

A comprehensive review of the molecular structure of metal halides included sections on the tetrahalides and pentahalides of Nb and Ta. 402

4.5.2.6.1 Fluoro ligands

 TaF_5 and TaF_xCl_{5-x} have been identified in the gas phase by mass spectrometric detection of their primary ions.²²⁰ The crystal structure of the salt [Ph₃PMe][TaF₆] has been reported.⁴⁰³ The gas-phase molecular structure, vibrational frequencies, and vertical electron detachment energy for [TaF₆]⁻ were examined theoretically at HF, MP2, and DFT levels of theory.⁴⁰⁴

There has been an increasing interest in the chemistry of Nb and Ta in molten salts in the context of electrodeposition of these expensive metals. The salts $K_2[MF_7]$ are important precursors in the commercial manufacture of high-purity Nb and Ta, being employed as low-melting electrolytes. The anions are heptacoordinate with a capped trigonal prismatic stereochemistry.⁴⁰⁵ $K_2[NbF_7]$ was studied by solid state ⁹³Nb and ¹⁷F NMR, leading to chemical shielding and electric field gradient tensors and to the nuclear quadrupole coupling constant for ⁹³Nb.⁴⁰⁶ An irreversible phase transition was observed at about 160 °C. Thermal vibrational amplitudes for $K_2[MF_7]$ have been defined and rationalized,⁴⁰⁷ and luminescence properties reported.⁴⁰⁵

Vibrational spectroscopy of Ta^V in molten and solidified LiF-NaF-KF melts has confirmed the presence of the $[TaF_7]^{2-}$ ion and excluded the presence of $[TaF_8]^{3-}$.^{228,229,408,409} The spontaneous reduction of Nb^V in CsCl-KCl-NaCl-K₂[NbF₇] melts at 973–1,073 K led to a

The spontaneous reduction of Nb^{ν} in CsCl-KCl-NaCl-K₂[NbF₇] melts at 973–1,073 K led to a decrease in the F:Nb mole ratio from the starting value of 7:1 to 6:1, consistent with F⁻/F₂ being the reductive couple.⁴¹⁰

4.5.2.6.2 Chloro ligands

The molecular structures of MCl₅(g) have been redetermined by electron diffraction.^{411,412} Structural refinements for TaCl₅ based upon models of D_{3h} point symmetry led to satisfactory agreement between experimental and calculated intensities, yielding bond distances r_{ax} 2.313(5), r_{eq} 2.226(4), and Δr 0.04(7)Å. The results were consistent with extensive HF and DFT calculations.^{9,411} MX₅ (X = Cl, Br) molecules have been frozen out in argon and dinitrogen matrices at low temperature and probed by IR spectroscopy.⁴¹³ In argon, the matrix was found to play a significant role. For each system, initial deposition followed by controlled diffusion led to a mixture of isomers of D_{3h} and $C_{4\nu}$ point symmetry, plus at least one other isomer of lower symmetry. In contrast, in the dinitrogen matrix, the square pyramidal ($C_{4\nu}$) isomer only was observed, apparently a consequence of stabilization by binding of N₂ at the sixth coordination site.

The crystal structures of two extra polymorphs of Nb₂Cl₁₀ have been defined.^{414,415} As for the original polymorph,⁴¹⁶ the molecules consist of edge-sharing bioctahedra [Cl₄Nb]₂(μ_2 -Cl)₂ but different three-dimensional packing leads to different crystal structures.

Detailed calorimetric data have been reported for M_2Cl_{10} and $AMCl_6$ (A = Rb, Cs).⁴¹⁷ Enthalpy contents and molar heat capacities were measured as functions of temperature. The ionic compounds underwent allotropic solid–solid transformations.

 Nb_2Cl_{10} promotes the hydrolysis of MeCN to NH_4Cl . The reaction mechanism has been examined.⁴¹⁸ M₂Cl₁₀ have proven to be versatile Lewis acids in organic synthesis (see refs. 419 and 420 for lead references) and in polymerization of alkenes (e.g., see ref. 421). They were included in a classification of Lewis acids that is based upon activity and selectivity.⁴²²

A new modification of KNbCl₆ has been obtained by crystallization from SOCl₂ solution.⁴²³ The salts $[Al(MeCN)_6][MCl_6]_3$ were obtained from reaction of M_2Cl_{10} and $AlCl_3$ in MeCN.⁴²⁴ Unusual problems of disorder and/or twinning were encountered in determination of their crystal structures due to the high symmetry of the space groups.

structures due to the high symmetry of the space groups. The electronic spectra of Nb^V and Ta^V chlorides and some reduced forms have been defined in alkali chloride and oxychloride melts.⁴²⁵ Nb^V was detected as [NbCl₆]⁻ in the basic ionic liquid medium AlCl₃-[emim]Cl (emim = 1-ethyl-3-methylimidazolium).⁴²⁶ The addition of oxide produced [NbOCl₅]²⁻. The nature of Ta^V in NaCl—AlCl₃ melts at 175 °C was studied by potentiometry and spectrophotometry.⁴²⁷ For 1.1 < pCl < 4.5 and 0 < [Ta^V] < 0.3 M, the results were consistent with the following equilibrium: [TaCl₆]⁻ \leftrightarrow TaCl₅ + Cl⁻. Reduction led to Ta^{IV} followed by dimerization and further reduction to Ta_6Cl_{14} and possibly other clusters. Formation of metallic Ta was not observed.

The six-coordinate synthon NbCl₅(MeCN) has been characterized structurally.⁴²⁸ Six-coordinate addition compounds MCl₅L also resulted from reaction of the halide with L = 7-azaindole.⁴²⁹ TaCl₅(OSCl₂) and MCl₅(OSeCl₂) were prepared from M₂Cl₁₀ and the chalcogen oxydichloride.⁴³⁰ NbCl₅(OSeCl₂) reacted with SOCl₂ to afford [SeCl₃][NbCl₆] which contains trigonal pyramidal [SeCl₃]⁺ cations and octahedral [NbCl₆]⁻ anions. Additional interactions between Se and chloro ligands result in effective six-coordination of the Se atoms.

The electrochemical properties of the Nb^V systems NbCl₅(MeCN) and Et₄N[NbCl₆] have been determined in dried MeCN (10^{-3} M H₂O).⁴³¹ Two one-electron processes corresponding to the Nb^V/Nb^{IV} and Nb^{IV}/Nb^{III} couples were observed. The behavior of NbCl₅(MeCN) is complicated by chemical reactions which follow the initial one-electron reduction.

¹H, ¹³C, and ⁹³Nb NMR has identified the substitution products produced by reaction of M_2Cl_{10} with MeOH(D) in both coordinating and non-coordinating solvents.^{432,433} Depending on conditions, all the mononuclear products NbCl_{5-x}(OMe)_x (x = 1-5) were observed. Condensation to bi- or polynuclear species with bridging methoxo groups can lead to the elimination of products such as MeCl and Me₂O.

Reactions between Nb₂Cl₁₀ and the disulfides S_2R_2 (R = Me, Pr^{*i*}) were examined in a search for precursors of NbS₂ films.⁴³⁴ The products were hydrolysis-sensitive salts [NbCl₄-(η^2 -S₂R₂)₂][NbCl₆] which could be purified by sublimation. Crystallization from CH₂Cl₂ led to salts containing the 8-coordinate cations [NbCl₄(η^2 -S₂R₂)₂]⁺ (**194**) and a tetranuclear dianion (**195**), apparently formed via hydrolysis with trace water.



Quantum chemical calculations were used to explore the initial reactions involved in chemical vapor deposition of Ta_2O_5 from $TaCl_5$ and $H_2O.^{435}$ The adduct $TaCl_5(OH_2)$ is predicted to eliminate HCl and convert to $TaCl_4(OH)$ which can react further with H_2O to form $TaCl_3(OH)_2$. Formation of $TaOCl_3$ in the unimolecular decompositions of $TaCl_4(OH)$ and of $TaCl_3(OH)_2$ had similar barriers of about 20 kcal mol⁻¹. However, the catalytic effect of an assisting H_2O molecule opened barrierless channels to $TaOCl_3$ from either of these precursors.

Nb₂Cl₁₀ and Al₂Cl₆ reacted at ~200 °C to produce crystalline Cl₄Nb(μ_2 -Cl)₂AlCl₂.⁴³⁶ Complexes of equivalent stoichiometry MGaCl₈ and point symmetry ($C_{2\nu}$) were identified by Raman spectroscopy in binary mixtures M₂Cl₁₀–GaCl₃ in the liquid and vapor states.⁴³⁷ Similarly, a new component which appeared in vapor phase mixtures of Nb₂Cl₁₀ and SnCl₂ was assigned to Cl₄Nb(μ_2 -Cl)₂SnCl.⁴³⁸

Conversion of Cp*NbCl₄ to Cp*NbF₄ has been reported.⁴³⁹ CpNbCl₄ reacted with ligands PMe_xPh_{3-x} (x = 1-3) to form stable 1:1 adducts.⁴⁴⁰ However, spontaneous subsequent reactions occur in solution (with rates increasing in the order x = 1-3) which led to the formation of Cl radicals and Nb^{IV} species. The solid state structures of adducts CpNbCl₄(PMePh₂)_y (y = 1, 2) were defined. Cp*MCl₄ also formed 1:1 adducts with a number of primary and tertiary phosphoranes.^{441,442} The reagent SbCl₅ in MeCN was used to remove chloro ligands sequentially from CpNbCl₄.⁴⁴³ The cations [CpNbCl(MeCN)₄]³⁺ and [CpNb(MeCN)₆]⁴⁺ were characterized structurally and exhibit distorted *pseudo*-octahedral and -pentagonal bipyramidal stereochemistries, respectively.

4.5.2.6.3 Bromo and iodo ligands

 M_2Br_{10} and MI_5 were prepared by halide exhange from M_2Cl_{10} with either HX or Pr^iBr .⁴⁴⁴ These syntheses offer an alternative to direct halogenation of the metal. The sublimation pressures of

 Nb_2Br_{10} and MI_5 have been determined.⁴⁴⁵ MX₅ (X = Cl, Br) molecules were studied in argon and dinitrogen matrices at low temperature and probed by IR spectroscopy (Section 4.5.2.6.2).⁴¹³

Photoelectron spectra (AlK α , HeI) of NbI₅, Nb₃I₈, Nb₆I₁₁, HNb₆I₁₁, Nb₆I₈(MeNH₂)₆, Nb₆I₈(PrNH₂)₆, and Nb(s) have been measured.⁴⁴⁶ The binding energy of the Nb core levels depended linearly on the formal oxidation state of niobium, estimated as the ratio I/Nb.

4.5.2.7 Hydrido Ligands

A comprehensive review of early transition metal hydrides including those of Nb and Ta is available.⁴⁴⁷ Hydrido-metallocene systems are discussed in detail there. The present account concentrates on other ligand systems, although mono- or polynuclear metallocene systems with interesting structural features are covered. Polyhydride systems have been reviewed from a theoretical standpoint.⁴⁴⁸

The square pyramidal $(C_{4\nu})$ form of TaH₅ is predicted to be 20 kcal mol⁻¹ more stable than its trigonal bipyramidal (D_{3h}) isomer.⁹ This contradicts the VSEPR rules, a consequence of second-order Jahn–Teller effects.

Treatment of $TaCl_4(dmpe)_2$ with LiBHEt₃ produced $TaH_5(dmpe)_2$ ·LiBHEt₃ (196) where the Li atom is linked to one H–B and two Ta–H fragments.⁴⁴⁹



Reaction of Ta(NMe₂)₅ with H₂SiRPh (R=Me, Ph) provided binuclear [(Me₂N)₂Ta]₃(μ_2 -H)₂(μ_2 -N- η^2 -N,C-CH₂NMe) (197) through C—H activation of an amide ligand via β -H abstraction.

4.5.2.7.1 Alkoxo or aryloxo co-ligands

The dihydrido complex *trans*-(silox)₃Ta(H)₂ ((**198**); Scheme 44) was prepared by reduction of the equivalent chloro species under H₂.^{65,451} It underwent reversible cyclometalation and reacted with MeI and C₂H₄ to yield monohydrido complexes ((**199**)–(**201**); Scheme 44). This chemistry was extended as a model of Ziegler–Natta copolymerizations.

Hydrogenation of Ta(OAr)₃R₂ (Ar = 2,6-Pr¹₂-C₆H₃; R = *p*-Me-C₆H₄CH₂) in the presence of phosphorane ligands L produced distorted six-coordinate dihydrido complexes Ta(OAr)₃(H)₂L (Scheme 29).⁴⁵² Treatment of Ta(OAr)₂Cl₃L with one or two eq of Bu₃SnH and L produced the seven-coordinate mono- and dihydrido compounds Ta(OAr)₂Cl₂HL₂ or Ta(OAr)₂Cl(H)₂L₂.³¹³ The latter features chemically equivalent hydrido ligands and is also produced via hydrogenation of Ta^{IV}(OAr)₂Cl(CH₂SiMe₃) in the presence of L.⁴⁵³ Ta(OAr)₂(CH₂SiMe₃)₃ provided the trihydride Ta(OAr)₂(H)₃L₂ for L = PMe₂Ph. Trihydrides were also produced for Ar = 2,6-diphenylphenyl but the phenyl substituents in the 2 and 6 positions were hydrogenated to cyclohexyl substituents (Scheme 29). These observations have been developed into procedures for the catalytic hydrogenation of arene rings.³¹¹

The "trans" hydrido ligands in *pseudo*-octahedral complexes $Ta(H)_2L(OAr)_2X$ (L = PR₃; X = Cl, OAr) are bent away from the sterically less-demanding ligand X towards the bulkier phosphorane ligand L (Scheme 29). *Ab initio* calculations indicate that this distortion arises form the relative π -acceptor ability of L relative to X.⁴⁵⁴

4.5.2.7.2 Cyclopentadienyl co-ligands

Photolysis of Cp_2MH_3 in Ar and N₂ matrices yielded the 16e species Cp_2MH .⁴⁵⁵ In CO matrices, $Cp_2MH(CO)$ was formed which reacted further to $Cp_2M(CO)$ (17e).

Reaction of Cp*₂Ta(CH₂)H with water or aniline produced Cp*₂Ta(E)H (E=O, NPh) in which the reducing hydrido ligand co-existed with an oxo or phenylimido ligand.⁴⁵⁶ Unexpectedly, the TaNC bond in the phenylimido species was linear, consistent with a 20-electron count and the presence of a Ta \equiv N bond. However, the TaN and TaO bond distances are intermediate between the values expected for double and triple bonds, indicating that the second π interaction is relatively weak. This conclusion is supported by the low energy (850 cm⁻¹) of the ν (TaO) stretching mode.

The formal 1σ , 2π donor analogy between cyclopentadienyl $[\eta^5 \cdot C_5 R_5]^-$ and imido $[RN=]^{2-}$ has been used to synthesize isoelectronic analogs with differing overall charge. In particular, Tilley has explored certain Ta systems (see ref. 457 and refs therein). For example, Cp*(ArN)-TaCl(SiR₃) (ArNH₂=2,6-Prⁱ₂-C₆H₃-NH₂) underwent hydrogenolysis to yield binuclear $[Cp^*(ArN)ClTa]_2(\mu_2-H)_2$.

Reaction of Cp₂Nb^V(H)₃ or Cp₂Nb^{III}BH₄ with tertiary silanes HSiR₃ provided Cp₂Nb^V(H)₂(SiR₃). The presence of base promoted the reactions and electron-accepting groups R provided more stable dihydrido compounds.^{458,459} Two isomers were detected at 50 °C for SiR₃ = SiMe₂Cl with the silyl ligand in a lateral or a central position. At 90 °C, H₂ elimination yielded Cp₂NbH(SiMe₂Cl)₂. A neutron diffraction study of this complex, augmented by solution NMR measurements and DFT calculations, confirmed $C_{2\nu}$ point symmetry with the hydrido ligand located in the central position with r(NbH) = 1.816(8) Å.⁴⁶⁰ This long bond is apparently imposed by interligand interactions between the hydrido and silyl ligands. A non-classical hypervalent interaction was proposed in which the Nb—H bonding orbital overlaps with Si—Cl anti-bonding orbitals. This model can rationalize the observed structures in a number of the mono- and dihydrido complexes analogous to those described above.^{459,461} An X-ray diffraction study reported that Cp₂TaH(SiMe₂H)₂ has an unsymmetrical structure, ⁴⁶² but subsequent *ab initio* calculations favored a symmetric ($C_{2\nu}$) structure analogous to Cp₂NbH(SiMe₂Cl)₂.⁴⁶¹

The (dihydrogen)hydrido C_s structures (η^5 -C₅H_{5-n}R_n)₂Nb^{III}H(η^2 -H₂) (R = SiMe₃; n = 0-2) are more stable than the trihydrido C_{2v} structures (η^5 -C₅H_{5-n}R_n)₂Nb^V(H)₃ whereas the opposite is true for the Ta compounds.⁴⁶³ In the mid-1980s, dihydrogen was discovered to act as a ligand,⁴⁶⁴ and large temperature-dependent H—H couplings were observed in certain polyhydrido complexes. Systems derived from the complexes (η^5 -C₅H_{5-n}R_n)M^VH₃ played important roles in understanding the latter phenomenon.⁴⁶⁵⁻⁴⁶⁸ Further discussion is given in Section 4.5.4.5 for M^{III} hydrido complexes.

In related work, reduction of $(\eta^5-C_5H_3RR')_2Nb^{IV}Cl_2$ (R, R'=H, SiMe₃) (see, e.g., refs. 469 and 470) followed by hydrolysis gave trihydrido species $(\eta^5-C_5H_3RR')_2Nb^V(H)_3$ which reacted with sources of M'=Cu^I, Ag^I, and Au^I to provide trinuclear cations {[$(\eta^5-C_5H_3RR')_2Nb(H)_3$]₂M'}^{+.471,472}. The magnitude of the H—H exchange couplings varied with M'. The observations were rationalized with a model proposing two isomeric states (H)Nb(μ_2 -H)₂M' and $(\eta^2$ -H₂)Nb(μ_2 -H)M' that are close in energy. The results supported the proposal that rotational tunneling of coordinated H₂ ligands is the origin of the quantum mechanical H—H coupling in these systems.

Reaction of Cp₂TaH₃ with $[M'(PPh_3)][PF_6]$ (M' = Cu, Au) provided binuclear complexes $[Cp_2TaH(\mu_2-H)_2M'(PPh_3)][PF_6]$.⁴⁷³ Detailed NMR studies revealed intramolecular exchange between the terminal and *one* of the bridging hydrido ligands as well as intermolecular exchange of phosphorane ligand.

Reaction of CuX (X = Cl, I) with Cp₂Ta(H)₃ or Cp'₂Ta(H)₃ produced adducts which IR spectroscopy indicated contained both terminal and bridging hydrido ligands.⁴⁷⁴ Structural characterization of the iodo systems indicated the presence of Cu(μ_2 -I)Cu fragments ((202), (203)). For the Cp system, two Cu₂I₂ fragments were connected to two Cp₂TaH₃ moieties by Ta(μ_2 -H)Cu links (202). In contrast, for the Cp' system, a single Cu₂I₂fragment was connected to two Cp'₂Ta(H)₃ moieties by Ta(μ_2 -H)Cu links (203). Adducts were also formed in the reaction of Cp₂Ta(H)₃ with various M^{II} halides. The derivative Cp₂HTa(μ_2 -H)₂ZnCl₂(thf) featured Zn in a distorted trigonal bipyramidal coordination sphere.⁴⁷⁵

The reaction of $Cp_2Ta^V(H)_3$ with $Ir^IX(CO)(dppe)$ (X = Br, I; dppe = 1,2-bis(diphenylphosphino)ethane) was rapid and led to clean formation of *fac*-Ir^{III}(H)₃(CO)(dppe) and $Cp_2Ta^{III}X$ or $Cp_2Ta^{III}XL$ (in the presence of added L = CO, C_2H_4 , PrC=CPr).⁴⁷⁶ The total results were consistent with the formation of hydrido- and halo-bridged intermediates in which transfer of all hydrido and halo ligands occurred before dissociation into the mononuclear products.



4.5.3 NIOBIUM(IV) AND TANTALUM(IV)

4.5.3.1 Nitrogen Donor Ligands

4.5.3.1.1 Amido ligands

A small number of M^{IV} amido complexes have been prepared, usually by metathesis reactions from synthons such as $MCl_4(thf)_2$. The homoleptic amido species $M(NMe_2)_4$ have been examined as precursors of metal nitride thin films.^{85,477}

NbCl₄(thf)₂ reacted with 2 eq LiNR₂ (R = Me₃Si) to give Nb(NR₂)₂Cl₂ or with 4 eq LiNPh₂ to give Nb(NPh₂)₄.¹⁸⁹ Nb(NR₂)₂ClPh resulted from reaction of Nb(NR₂)₂Cl₂ with ZnPh₂.⁴⁷⁸ NbCl₄(thf)₂ reacted with 3 eq LiL (L = NArAd, Ar = 3,5-Me₂-C₆H₃, Ad = adamantyl) in ether to yield NbL₃Cl.⁴⁷⁹ Further treatment with LiR produced NbL₃R (R = Me, Ph), while treatment with LiCH₂CMe₂Ph produced the enolate NbL₃(OCH=CH₂) from cleavage of solvent thf.⁴⁷⁹ Nb(NRAr)₃Cl was prepared by reaction of NbCl₄(thf)₂ with 3 eq Li(NRAr) (R = Bu^t, Ar = 3,5-Me₂-C₆H₃).¹⁷⁵ Similarly, treatment of NbCl₄(thf)₂ with either 1 or 2 eq of the terdentate diamino-amido ligand LiL' (L' = (Et₂NCH₂CH₂)₂N) in thf yielded NbCl₃L' and NbCl₂L'₂, respectively.^{480,481} Reduction of Ta^V(NR₂)₂Cl₃ with excess Na/Hg in hexane produced Ta^{IV}(NR₂)₂Cl₂ (R = SiMe₃)

while $Ta^{V}(NE_{2})_{2}Cl_{3}$ with Na/Hg and LiNPh₂ yielded $Ta^{IV}(NPh_{2})_{2}(NE_{2})_{2}(R = SIMe_{3})$

Nb complexes containing potentially tridentate diphosphorano-amido ligands have been prepared.⁴⁸¹ Treatment of NbCl₄(thf)₂ with 1 or 2 eq of Li[PNP] ([PNP] = [N(CH₂CH₂PPrⁱ₂)₂]⁻) in tol produced *mer*-LNbCl₃ (**204**) and *trans*-L₂NbCl₂ (**205**), respectively. In contrast, when the Prⁱ groups of ligand [PNP] were replaced with Me, reaction with 2 eq produced binuclear (**206**).⁴⁸¹



Benzamidinato and guanidinato complexes *trans*-Cl₂Nb(η^2 -N,N-RNCR'NR)₂ (R = SiMe₃, R' = ptolyl; R = cy, R' = N(SiMe₃)₂) were prepared by reaction of NbCl₄(thf)₂ with 2 eq Li[RNCR'NR] in tol.¹¹⁷

Reaction of Nb^{III}₂Cl₆(tmeda)₂ with the amide LiNArAd (Ar = 3,5-Me₂-C₆H₃) in refluxing thf produced the binuclear intermediate (tmeda)₃Nb^{II}₂Cl₅Li ((**207**), Scheme 40) which reacted further to form [(ArAdN)ArNb^{IV}]₂(μ_2 -NAd)₂ (**208**).^{483,484} The imido and aryl ligands of (**208**) were proposed to be generated by oxidative addition of the N—Ar bond of [NArAd]⁻ to (**207**).

(207) reacted with a different amide, LiNcy₂, to produce the nitrido-bridged Nb^VNb^{IV} mixedvalence species (209).⁴⁸⁴ The nitrido ligands were presumed to arise from N₂ activation. Treatment of (207) with the dimethylpyrrole lithium salt Li[2,5-Me₂-C₄H₂N] in the yielded the salt (210) and neutral (211).⁴⁸⁵ The anion in (210) contains two Nb centers (Nb^{IV}₂ or Nb^{III}Nb^V) linked by bridging nitrido and dienediyl ligands, both originating from denitrogenation of



Scheme 40

dimethylpyrrole. The cation is the one-electron oxidized form of (207). Neutral (211) is a mixed-valence Nb^{III}Nb^{IV} species. The methylidine and hydrido ligands were presumed to arise from cleavage of a CH_3 –N bond of tmeda followed by oxidative addition of the resultant CH_3 .⁴⁸⁵

4.5.3.1.2 Imido ligands

Reduction of Ta(NR)(NR₂)Cl₂(thf) with Na/Hg yielded binuclear $[(R_2N)ClTa]_2(\mu_2-NR)_2$ (R = SiMe₃) with a Ta—Ta distance of 2.621(1)Å.⁴⁸⁶ Treatment of Nb(NBu^t)Cl₃(py)₂ with the *ansa* ligand [PhP(C₅Me₄)₂]Li₂ in tol produced binuclear [ClNb]₂(μ_2 -NBu^t)₂(μ_2 - η^5 : η^5 -(C₅Me₄)₂PPh).⁴⁸⁷ Other Cp-supported binuclear M^{IV}-imido species have also been prepared.

4.5.3.1.3 Hydrazido ligands

Reduction of $[P_2N_2]Nb^{III}Cl$ by KC₈ under N₂ produced $\{[P_2N_2]Nb^V\}_2(\mu_2-N_2)$ ((212), Scheme 41).⁴⁹¹ EPR and variable-temperature magnetic studies were consistent with the presence of two Nb^{IV} centers and a hydrazido N₂⁴⁻ bridging ligand. Thermolysis of (212) produced the Nb^VNb^{III} species (213) with a bridging nitride via insertion of nitrogen into the $[P_2N_2]$ ligand. Addition of 2 eq PhCCH to (212) resulted in displacement of the dinitrogen ligand to form (214).⁴⁹¹

4.5.3.2 Phosphorous Donor Ligands

Compounds of general formula $MX_4(PR_3)_2$ (X = halo) display complex chemistry with stereochemistry and nuclearity often dependent on R. *trans*-NbCl₄(PR₃)₂ (R₃ = Et₃, EtPh₂) are both



mononuclear.⁴⁹² In contrast, although they may be mononuclear in solution, analogous species with less bulky ligands PMe_2R (R = Me, Ph) are binuclear in the solid state. [$(PMe_2R)_2Cl_2Nb]_2(\mu_2-Cl)_4$ are centrosymmetric with two square antiprismatic Nb(PMe_2R)_2Cl_6 units sharing a square Cl₄ face.⁴⁹²⁻⁴⁹⁴ Related species with ligands PH₂R (R = Ph, cy) have been examined as potential precursors for niobium(III) phosphide films.⁴⁹⁵ [$(PMe_3)_2Cl_2Ta]_2(\mu-Cl)_4$ has also been characterized.^{494,496} trans-TaCl₄(PEt₃)₂ is homologous with its Nb counterpart, while *cis*-TaCl₄(PMe₂Ph)₂ displays different stereochemistry, and, in contrast with the Nb analog, is mononuclear in the solid state.⁴⁹⁷ A species originally formulated as Ta^{III}Br₃(PMe₂Ph)₂⁴⁹⁸ was proposed later to be Ta^{IV}Cl₂Br₂(PMe₂Ph)₂ on the basis of a reinterpretation of the original crystallographic data.⁴⁹⁹

HF and CI calculations were used to interpret the EPR spectra of mononuclear d¹ pseudo- D_{4h} species of general formula NbCl₄(PR₃)₂.⁵⁰⁰ These calculations indicated that the previously reported spectra were inconsistent with such species. This conclusion was supported by a later study which suggested that the spectra may have been due to minor hydrolysis products such as Nb^{IV}OCl₂(PEt₃)₂.⁵⁰¹

Seven-coordinate species $MCl_4(PMe_3)_3$ have also been prepared.^{494,496,497} NbBr₄(PMe₂Ph)₃ was prepared from reaction of Nb₂Br₁₀ with excess PMe₂Ph in tol.⁵⁰²

The reaction of Nb^{III}Cl₃(dme) with the macrocycle $L = [12]ane(PEt)_3$ in CH₂Cl₂ in air provided LNb^{IV}OCl₂ (**215**).



4.5.3.3 Oxygen Donor Ligands

4.5.3.3.1 Polynuclear oxo complexes

Reduction of $[CpNb^VX_4]_2(\mu_2-O)$ (X₄ is a combination of H₂O and terminal or bridging Cl) by Al in thf gave the cluster Cp₃Nb^{IV}₃Cl₆O(OH).thf (**216**).²⁶² The compound features a Nb₃ isosceles triangle with one Nb–Nb bond (2.823(1) Å) and two non-bonding Nb···Nb distances (3.24–3.25 Å). This model was supported by a magnetic moment of 1.39 μ_B (295 K) and detection of an EPR spectrum. Analysis of the latter indicated that the unpaired electron is localized in the d_z^2



Hydrolysis of Nb^{III}Cl₃(dme) in HCl provided the aqua cation {[(H₂O)₃Nb]₃(μ_3 -Cl)(μ_2 -O)₃}⁴⁺, assigned as a Nb^{IV}₂Nb^{III} cluster.⁵⁰⁵ Water-exchange kinetic experiments identified two distinct aqua ligand environments consistent with an incomplete cuboidal triangular structure: ligands *trans* to the capping Cl (one per Nb) were more inert than those *trans* to the bridging oxo groups (two per Nb). Treatment of this cation with ethanolic KTp (Tp=hydrotrispyrazol-1-ylborate) provided the cluster {[TpNb^{IV}]₃(μ_3 -O)₃(μ_3 -BO₃(OH))} (**217**).⁵⁰⁶ The borate ligand was derived by degradation of Tp.

4.5.3.3.2 Alkoxo and aryloxo ligands

The complexes $(silox)_3 M^V Cl_2$ $(silox = Bu^t_3 SiO)$ undergo one-electron reduction to $[(silox)_3 - M^{IV} Cl_2]^{-.507}$ These anions are subject to loss of Cl⁻ but salts $[Bu_4N][(silox)_3 M^{IV} Cl_2]$ were isolated in substance, as was $(silox)_3 Nb^{IV} Cl$. The latter forms adducts $(silox)_3 NbCl \cdot L$ (L = py, thf).

An extensive series of complexes *trans*-M^{IV}(OAr)₂X₂L₂ (ArOH = 2,6- or 2,4,6-substituted phenols; X = Cl, Br; L = py, PR₃) have been generated by reduction of the corresponding adducts $M^{V}(OAr)_{2}X_{3}L_{2}$ in the presence of excess L.⁵⁰⁸

Tetranuclear $[\text{Li}(\text{thf})_2\text{Nb}^{IV}\text{Cl}_3(\text{OAr})_2]_2$ (150) was obtained as one of the products in the reaction of LiOAr (ArOH = 2,6-Me₂-C₆H₃OH) with Nb^V₂Cl₁₀.³¹⁰

4.5.3.3.3 Carboxylato and related ligands

The stereochemistry of Nb(O_2CNEt_2)₄ was essentially dodecahedral, as expected from the small bite angle of 1.01 Å for the ligand.⁵⁰⁹

Zinc reduction of Nb₂Cl₁₀ in EtOH followed by the addition of LH = 2-pyridinecarboxylic acid provided Nb^{IV}L₄·2EtOH in good yield.⁵¹⁰ The four bidentate ligands spanned the *m* edges of a dodecahedron to give a D_{2d} mmmm stereoisomer. This complex provided the first experimental evidence for Orgel's postulate⁵¹¹ that eight-coordinate d¹ M(A-B)₄ complexes will favor occupation of the A sites of the dodecahedron by the π -donor ligands while the B sites will favor π -acceptor ligands.

Depending upon the exact nature of the countercations A, the anion in $A_4[Nb(C_2O_4)_4]$ in the solid state can adopt distinctly different geometries intermediate between the square antiprismatic and dodecahedral extremes.⁵¹² A convenient route to $K_4[Nb(C_2O_4)_4]$ involved adding oxalate to a solution of Nb₂Cl₁₀ reduced with Zn in conc. HCl/EtOH.⁵¹³ A related synthesis produced [Nb(edta)(OH₂)₂]·2H₂O which featured a hexadentate edta⁴⁻ ligand and two aqua ligands in a *pseudo*-square antiprismatic stereochemistry.⁵¹⁴

The complex *trans*-Nb^{IV}Cl₂L₂ (LH = 2,2,6,6-tetramethylheptane-3,5-dione) was isolated as two polymorphs.⁵¹⁵ Both exhibited *pseudo-D*_{2h} point symmetry, but there were distortions in the chelate plane of one form, postulated to be due to packing forces. The EPR spectrum in solution was a decet (g, 1.930; A, 149 G) due to hyperfine interaction with ⁹³Nb (I=9/2).

4.5.3.3.4 Multidentate ligands

Sequential two-electron reduction of calixarene-supported (156) by Na generated (218), (12), and (219) (Scheme 32) with bond distances 2.757(1), 2.659(1), and 2.385 Å, respectively, characteristic of Nb^{IV}—Nb^{IV}, Nb^{III}=Nb^{III}, and Nb^{II}=Nb^{III} bonds.^{36,198,199}

The reduction of $LNb^{V}Cl_3$ ((220), $LH_2 = a Bu^{t}$ -substituted *N*,*N'-o*-phenylenebis(salicylideneamine)) led to the binuclear complex (221) (Scheme 42).⁵¹⁶ This neutral compound contained both an Nb^{IV} — Nb^{IV} bond and two C—C bonds formed across the imino groups of ligands L which were converted to a binucleating ligand of charge 8-. (Scheme 42). Further reduction led to the Nb^{III} — Nb^{III} compound (222). As outlined in Scheme 42, (221) and (222) could transfer one and two electrons pairs, respectively, with consequent cleavage of the Nb—Nb and Nb=Nb bonds. A theoretical treatment suggested that, while formation of the C—C bonds in (221) competed with that of the Nb—Nb bond during reduction of (220), the latter bond was the first one to be involved in electron transfer reactions.



Scheme 42

4.5.3.4 Sulfur, Selenium, and Tellurium Ligands

Additional bi- and polynuclear systems are discussed in Chapters 4.9 and 4.12, respectively. MS_2 molecules have been stabilized in Ar matrices at low temperature.⁵¹⁷ Analysis of IR spectra, augmented by DFT calculations, indicated bond angles of $107(3)^\circ$.

Fusion of KNCS and polymeric NbS₂Cl₂ followed by dissolution of the melt in water and addition of cations led to isolation of salts of the centrosymmetric dithio anion $\{[(SCN)_4Nb^{IV}]_2(\mu_2-\eta_2:\eta_2-S_2)_2\}^{4-}$ (223).^{518,519} This species features eight-coordinate Nb^{IV} and a formal Nb—Nb single bond. One-electron oxidation provided a species whose EPR properties were consistent with an unpaired electron interacting with two equivalent Nb atoms in a Nb^{V,IV}₂ core.



285

The NCS ligands in anion (223) were easily displaced by bidentate 1,1-dithio acid ligands R_2NCS_2 , $ROCS_2$, or $(RO)_2PS_2$.^{354,518} In addition, acid treatment of the anion allowed access to $[Nb_2(S_2)_2]^{4+}(aq)$ which reacted with other bidentate ligands to produce $Nb_2(S_2)_2L_4$ (e.g., L = 1,3-enolato ligand such as acac, etc.) or $A_4[Nb_2(S_2)_2(C_2O_4)_4]$ (A = K, Cs, NH_4).^{520,521} If the acid was concentrated aqueous HX (X = Cl, Br), double salts $A_5[Nb_2(S_2)_2X_8]X$ (A = Cs, H_3O) resulted.⁵²² The aqua cation itself was isolated as $[Nb_2(S_2)_2(OH_2)_8](pts)_4 \cdot 4H_2O$ (ptsH = *p*-toluenesulfonic acid) or as $[Nb_2(S_2)_2(OH_2)_8]Cl_4 \cdot C^* \cdot 15H_2O$ ($C^* =$ cucurbituril macrocyclic cavitand). The latter resulted from crystallization of $Cs_5[Nb_2(S_2)_2Cl_8]Cl$ and C^* in aqueous HCl.^{519,523} Substitution of ligands.⁵¹⁹

However, those bridging dithio ligands are labile. For example, PEt₃ formally extracted 2 eq of sulfur from $[Nb_2(S_2)_2(OH_2)_8]^{4+}$ and $Nb_2(S_2)_2(acac)_4$ to provide the $Nb^{IV}_2(\mu_2-S)_2$ derivatives.^{519,524} Reaction of $Nb_2(S_2)_2L_4$ (L = Et₂NCS₂) with chalcogen transfer reagents PEt₃Y (Y = Se, Te) allowed isolation of $Nb_2(Se_2)_2L_4$ and $[L_2Nb]_2(\mu_2-S)(\mu_2-\eta^2:\eta^2-Te_2)$.⁵²⁴ One-electron oxidation of the former provided $[Nb_2(Se_2)_2L_4]^+$, characterized by EPR spectroscopy.

In related work, polymeric $[Nb_2(\mu_2-\eta^2:\eta^2-Se_2)_2]I_{8/2}$ underwent an extrusion reaction in the presence of elemental Te and I₂ at high temperature to form isolated molecules of $[(Te_2I_6)Nb]_2(\mu_2-\eta^2:\eta^2-Se_2)_2$ (224).⁵²⁵ Similar compounds $Nb_2(Se_2)_2Cl_4L_4$ (L = Me₂S, C₄H₈S) were isolated by recrystallization of the products from the reaction of Nb^VSeCl₃ with L.^{526,527}

The reaction of Nb₂Cl₁₀ with 8 eq NaSPh in EtCN at 90 °C provided [(EtCN)-Cl(PhS)Nb^{IV}]₂(μ_2 -SPh)₄ in 10% yield.³⁸⁵ A similar reaction with 12 eq NaSPh and 2 eq Ph₄PBr in boiling MeCN provided paramagnetic, homoleptic [Ph₄P]₂[Nb(SPh)₆] in 10% yield.

4.5.4.5 Halo Ligands

The vapor pressures of NbCl₄ and NbBr₄⁵²⁸ and the enthalpies of formation of NbBr₄ and NbI₄⁵²⁹ have been measured.

The nucleophilic stable carbene L = 1,3-dimethylimidazolin-2-ylidene displaced pyridine from $MCl_4(py)_2$ to form MCl_4L_2 .⁵³⁰

The oxidation of six-coordinate $[MCl_{6-n}(NCMe)_n]^{n-2}$ complexes (n = 0-2) was studied using cyclic voltammetry.⁵³¹ Ease of oxidation decreased with increasing substitution of chloride.

In the presence of DBU = 1,8-diazabicyclo(5.4.0)undec-7-ene, $Cp^*Ta^VCl_4(PH_2R)$ species were reduced to the salt [(DBU)H][Cp*Ta^{IV}Cl_4] with production of the diphosphoranes $P_2H_2R_2$ or their decomposition products.⁵³²

The four-legged piano-stool complexes $Cp^*Ta^VX_4$ (X = Cl, Br) were reduced by Na/Hg to $[Cp^*Ta^{IV}X_2]_2(\mu_2-X)_2$ (225) and then to $[Cp^*Ta^{III}]_2(\mu_2-X)_4$ (226) which features a Ta=Ta bond (Scheme 43).⁵³³ The Ta—Ta distance of 4.1230(9) Å in the related intermediate $[Cp^{\dagger}Ta^{IV}Br_2]_2(\mu_2-Br)_2$ suggested no intermetallic bonding interactions in the solid state. This was consistent with the observation of a triplet state in solution (μ_{eff} , 2.92 μ_B per Ta₂; no EPR signal at 8 K; single broad ¹H NMR resonance).



Scheme 43

SnTa₄Cl₁₈ was a minor product of the reaction of Ta₂Cl₁₀ and Buⁿ₃SnH.⁵³⁴ Its constituents are Sn²⁺ and face-sharing bioctahedral $[Ta^{IV}_{2}Cl_{9}]^{-}$ ions. The latter are distorted from D_{3h} point symmetry by packing forces.

4.5.3.6 Hydrido Ligands

A comprehensive review on early transition metal hydrides including those of Nb and Ta is available.⁴⁴⁷ Hydrido-metallocene systems are discussed in detail there.

Laser-vaporized Nb and Ta were condensed in D_2 or codeposited with H_2 in rare gas matrices at low temperature.⁵³⁵ EPR spectra detected MH_4 as molecules of D_{2d} point symmetry in 2B_1 ground states imposed by a static Jahn–Teller effect. IR spectra indicated an H–Nb–H bond angle of 130°.

A compound originally formulated as $[Cl(cy_2N)_2Ta^{III}]_2$ with an unsupported Ta=Ta bond⁵³⁶ was reformulated as $[Cl(cy_2N)_2Ta^{IV}]_2(\mu_2-H)_2$ with five-coordinate stereochemistry at the metal atoms.⁵³⁷

trans-M^{II}Cl₂L₄ (L = PR₃) oxidatively added H₂ in Et₂O under ambient conditions to form paramagnetic eight-coordinate complexes M^{IV}(H)₂Cl₂L₄ in good yields.⁵³⁸ Ta(H)₂Cl₂(PMe₃)₄ adopted a distorted dodecahedral geometry in the solid state while Ta(H)₂Cl₂(dmpe)₂ was closer to square antiprismatic. EPR spectra were informative due to the presence of ¹H, ³¹P, ⁹³Nb, and ¹⁸¹Ta magnetic nuclei and demonstrated that the magnetic orbital was based upon the $d_{x^2-y^2}$ atomic orbital.⁵³⁹

Ta(H)₂Cl₂L₄ (L = PMe₃) decomposed in solution at elevated temperatures to binuclear $[L_2Cl_2Ta]_2(\mu_2-H)_4$ which features four bridging hydrido ligands.⁵⁴⁰ The planar (μ_2 -H)₄ moeity is staggered by 45° relative to the eclipsed pyramidal L₂Cl₂Ta endgroups leading to D_{2d} point symmetry. The same compound resulted from oxidative addition of H₂ to $[L_2Cl_2Ta]_2(\mu_2-H)_2(\mu_2-H)_2$ while addition of Cl₂ and HCl provided quadruply bridged $[L_2Cl_2Ta]_2(\mu_2-H)_2(\mu_2-Cl)_2$ and $[L_2Cl_2Ta]_2(\mu_2-H)_3(\mu_2-Cl)$, respectively.

The centrosymmetric, binuclear complex $[L_2CbTa^{IV}H]_2(\mu_2-H)_4$ ((227); Scheme 4, CbH = carbazole, (38); L = PMe_2Ph), was synthesized by reaction of the alkylidyne species $[Cb_2Ta^V]_2(\mu_2-CSiMe_3)_2$ (39) with H₂ in the presence of L.⁷⁰

The methyl complex [NPN]Ta^VMe₃ underwent hydrogenolysis to produce {[NPN]Ta^{IV}}₂(μ_2 -H)₄ ((**121**); Scheme 22).⁵⁴¹ Reaction with N₂ led to loss of H₂ and incorporation of N₂ as an unsymmetrical bridging ligand in {[NPN]Ta}₂(μ_2 -H)₂(μ_2 -H)₂(μ_2 - η^1 : η^2 -N₂) (**122**).⁵⁴² Reaction of the latter with propene yielded {[NPN]TaPrⁿ}₂(μ_2 - η^1 : η^1 -N₂) (**123**) with an end-on bound N₂⁴⁻ ligand.²¹¹

The harder, more electronegative character of silox = $Bu_{3}^{t}SiO^{-}$ ligands has allowed isolation of reactive Ta^{IV} – and Ta^V–hydrido complexes (see Section 4.5.2.7.1 for Ta^V).⁶⁵ Photolysis of (silox)₂Cl₂Ta^VCH₂Ph under H₂ (3 atmos) afforded a mixture of (silox)₂Ta^VCl₃ and binuclear [(silox)₂Ta^{IV}Cl]₂(μ_2 -H)₂ ((228), (229); Scheme 44).⁶⁵ Reduction of (228) with Na/Hg under H₂ (1 atmos) for 15 days afforded (229) as an intermediate which reacted further to binuclear [(silox)₂Ta^{IV}(H)₂]₂ (33). The latter exhibited D_{2d} point symmetry and a direct Ta—Ta bond. (33) can be converted to (229) with HCl. Oxidation of (33) with Me₃NO furnished the μ_2 -oxo binuclear hydrides (230), (231) (C_2 isomers). Oxidation of (33) with O₂ provided di- μ_2 -oxo bridged (232). The reactivity of these binuclear hydrido complexes has been explored in the context of critical C—O bond-breaking and C—H and C—C bond-making events in the Fischer–Tropsch process for production of hydrocarbons from CO and H₂. The facile processes which interchange Ta—H and H—H bonds (Scheme 44) can be viewed as a σ -bond metathesis mechanism, driven by the electrophilicity of the 16e⁻ species *trans*-(silox)₃Ta^VH₂ (198) and the 14e⁻/Ta species [(silox)₂Ta^{IV}(H)₂]₂ (14e⁻) (33), assuming silox to be a 3e⁻ donor.⁶⁵

Reduction of $Ta^{III}_{2}Cl_{6}(SMe_{2})_{3}$ by Na/Hg in the presence of 2 eq bidentate ligand dppp = $Pr^{i}_{2}P(CH_{2})_{3}PPr^{i}_{2}$ under H₂ (4 atmos) provided [(dppp)Ta^{IV}(H)Cl]₂(μ_{2} -S)(μ_{2} -H)₂ in 70% yield (233).⁵⁴³ Although the hydrido ligands were not detected crystallographically, NMR data supported the proposed structure. Product ethane was detected in the synthesis, indicating that S—C bond cleavage had occurred to convert a bridging SMe₂ ligand to a bridging thio ligand. On the other hand, an equivalent synthesis with the closely related tetrahydrothiophene reactant $Ta^{III}_{2}Cl_{6}(SC_{4}H_{8})_{3}$ produced [(dppp)Ta^{III}H₂]₂(μ_{2} -H)₂. NMR and IR spectral data is consistent with (234). These synthetic reactions are obviously complex.

The reaction of Cp*TaCl₄ with 2 eq Bu₃SnH provided [Cp*TaCl₂]₂(μ_2 -H)₂ in high yield.⁵⁴⁴

4.5.4 NIOBIUM(III) AND TANTALUM(III)

Synthetic and structural aspects of many binuclear M^{III} species are discussed in Chapter 4.9.


Scheme 44



(233)



4.5.4.1 Carbon Donor Ligands

The reactions of NbX₃(dme)_n (X = Cl, Br) with alkynes in solvents thf or dme led to Nb^{III}X₃L₂(η^2 -RC \equiv CR) (L₂=2 thf, dme).⁵⁴⁵ NbCl₃(dme)(RC \equiv CR) reacted with Na(S₂CNR'₂) to give Nb(RC \equiv CR)(S₂CNR'₂)₃.⁵⁴⁶ The related complex NbCl₃(dme)(η^2 -PhCH=NCH₂Ph) features a bidentate imine ligand.⁵⁴⁷

Reaction of $[Nb^{-I}(CO)_6]^-$, $F_3CC \equiv CCF_3$, and pyHBr in thf led to $[Nb^{III}(\eta^2 - F_3CC \equiv CCF_3)(py)Br_4]^-$.⁵⁴⁸ On the other hand, reaction of $Nb^V_2Cl_{10}$ with PhC \equiv CPh provided $[Nb^{III}Cl_3(\eta^2 - PhC \equiv CPh)]_4$ (235).⁵⁴⁹ The tetrameric structure of the Nb_4Cl_6 core may be regarded as a distorted double hexahedron with two corners missing.

The salts $[M^{III}I_2L_6]I$ (L = CNBu^t) resulted from the oxidation of $[M^{-I}(CO)_6]^-$ with I₂ in the presence of L in dry thf.^{550,551} The structures may be described as bicapped trigonal prisms with ligands I capping two of the tetragonal planes (236). In wet thf, protons induced formation of $[NbI_2L_4(\eta^2-Bu^tHNC\equiv CNHBu^t)]I$ where two of the isonitrile ligands may be considered to have approached sufficiently close to couple. Variation of conditions allowed isolation of NbX₃L₃ (X = Br, I).⁵⁵¹

Treatment of Na[$M^{-I}(CO)_2(dmpe)_2$] with Prⁱ₃SiCl produced the carbyne species [$M^{III}(\equiv COSiPr^i_3)(CO)(dmpe)_2$], which reacted with an equivalent of Me₃SiCl to give the η^2 -acetylene complex [$M^{I}(Me_3SiOC \equiv COSiPr^i_3)(dmpe)_2Cl$] (see Section 4.5.6.1.3).^{552–555} The Ta compound reacted with aqueous HCl to yield the salt [Ta^{III}H(HOC \equiv COH)(dmpe)_2Cl]Cl containing hydrido and dihydroxyacetylene ligands.⁵⁵⁶

Cotton and co-workers have reported a number of Nb^{III}–alkyne complexes of varying nuclearity.^{557–562} Clusters incorporating both cyclic (square) and "C-shaped" C₄Ph₄ moieties have been observed. The anion $[Nb_4OCl_8(C_4Ph_4)_2]^{2-}$ (237) was prepared by reduction of NbCl₃(PhCCPh)(thf)₂ with Na/Hg or by reduction of NbCl₄(thf)₂ with Mg in the presence of PhCCPh, yielding salts with Na⁺ or $[Mg_2Cl_3(thf)_6]^+$ counterions, respectively.⁵⁵⁷ The anion contains a rectangular Nb₄ unit (Nb–Nb = 2.605(3), 3.340(3)Å) with an oxygen at the center of the rectangle (mean Nb–O = 2.118Å). The longer Nb–Nb edges are bridged by two Cl ligands. The shorter Nb–Nb edges are clasped by a C-shaped PhC–C(Ph)C(Ph)–CPh chain that is perpendicular to the Nb₄O plane. The C–C distances in this chain are essentially equal at 1.458(9)Å.⁵⁵⁷ The electronic structure and bonding in the anion (237) were considered by theoretical methods, and results were consistent with assignment of a formal oxidation state of III for each of the Nb atoms.⁵⁵⁸



The salt $[Nb_2Cl_3(C_4Ph_4)(thf)_4]_2[Nb_4OCl_8(C_4Ph_4)_2]$ contains an anion identical to (237). The cation incorporates major features of one half of anion (237).⁵⁵⁹ A related species $[Nb_4O_2Cl_4(Ph_4C_4)_2(thf)_4]$ (238), containing the $Nb_2(Ph_4C_4)$ cores observed in (237), has also been prepared.⁵⁶⁰ The two equivalent $[Nb_2(Ph_4C_4)Cl_2(thf)_2]$ units of (238) are bridged by two oxo ligands.

Reduction of Nb₂Cl₁₀ with Buⁿ₃SnH followed by addition of PhCCPh produced the salt [Buⁿ₃Sn][Nb₆Cl₁₉(Ph₄C₄)₃] in moderate yield.⁵⁶¹ The anion features a central triangular Nb₃(μ_3 -Cl)(μ_2 -Cl)₃ cluster (Section 4.5.4.4, c.f. (**254**)) with a (μ_2 -Cl)₃NbCl₂(*cyclo*-C₄Ph₄) unit attached to each of the central Nb atoms. Those units are *pseudo*-octahedral (assuming that the *cyclo*-C₄Ph₄ ligand occupies a single coordination site).

ligand occupies a single coordination site). The species NbCl₃(dme)(PhC \equiv CR)^{545,563} provide a convenient entry into tris (pyrazolyl)borate-supported Nb^{III} complexes with alkyne ligands. Thus, reaction of NbCl₃(dme)(PhC \equiv CR) CR) (R = Me, Et, Prⁿ) with KTp* in thf produced Tp*NbCl₂(PhC \equiv CR) in high yield.^{49,564} An X-ray structure of Tp*NbCl₂(PhC \equiv CMe) revealed that the alkyne ligand lies in a molecular mirror plane, consistent with solution phase NMR data. The barrier to alkyne rotation in these species was investigated.⁵⁶⁵ Tp*NbCl₂(PhC \equiv CR) reacted with 2 eq LiMe to give the methylated derivatives Tp*NbMe₂(PhC \equiv CR).^{49,564} The activity of these species as ethylene polymerization catalysts was examined.⁵⁶⁶

Tp*NbCl₂(PhC=CMe) reacted with 1 eq RMgCl (R=Et, CH₂Ph) to yield Tp*NbCl(R)(PhC=CMe).^{161,567} Tp*NbCl(Et)(PhC=CMe) featured an interesting α -agostic interaction in the ethyl group, apparently a result of the bulky Tp* ligand preventing a more conventional β -agostic interaction.^{161,567} In contrast, Tp*NbCl(CH₂Ph)(PhC=CMe) did not display the same α -agostic interaction. Thermolysis of Tp*NbCl(Et)(PhC=CMe) led to Tp*NbCl(Me)(PhC=CEt), formed via exchange of the α -agostic Et ligand and the Me substituent of the coordinated alkyne.^{161,568} Significantly, Tp*NbCl(CH₂Ph)(PhC=CMe), which did not display an α -agostic interaction, did not undergo the equivalent rearrangement.^{161,568}

On the other hand, the complex Tp*NbCl(CHMe₂)(PhC \equiv CMe) displayed evidence of both α - and β -agostic interactions.^{569,570} X-ray diffraction revealed a β -agostic interaction in the solid state, while ¹H NMR in solution was consistent with the presence of a dynamic equilibrium between α - and β -agostic forms. This interpretation was supported by the observation of a thermodynamic isotope effect in favor of the α -agostic form in the partially deuterated species Tp*NbCl(CH(CD₃)₂)(PhC \equiv CMe).^{569,570} Finally, treatment of Tp*TaCl(Et)(PhC \equiv CMe) with LiMe in ether produced the mixed methyl–ethyl tantalum species Tp*Ta(Me)(Et)(PhC \equiv CMe).⁵⁷¹ This possessed a single α -agostic interaction occurring exclusively at the ethyl group.

4.5.4.2 Nitrogen and Phosphorous Donor Ligands

Reaction of NbCl₃(dme)_n with an excess of bidentate bis(pyrazol-1-yl)methane ligands L provided binuclear complexes [NbCl₃L]₂.^{572,573} Reaction with alkynes converted these species to mononuclear complexes NbCl₃L(η^2 -RC \equiv CR). These, in turn, reacted with Na(S₂CNR'₂) to give Nb(RC \equiv CR)(S₂CNR'₂)₃.⁵⁴⁶ Reaction of NbCl₃(RC \equiv CR) with tridentate tris(pyrazol-1-yl) methane ligands L and one eq AgBF₄ provided salts [NbCl₂L(RC \equiv CR)][BF₄]. All species were characterized spectroscopically.

The anionic scorpionate ligand LiL (LH = bis(3,5-dimethylpyrazol-1-yl)acetic acid; (239)) and its reduced ethanol form reacted with NbCl₃(dme)(η^2 -RC=CR') to produce LNb^{III}Cl₂(η^2 -RC=CR').⁵⁷⁴ The alkyne ligands are *trans* to one of the pyrazole rings of the tridentate ligands. Compounds proposed to have the binuclear structures [LNbCl]₂(μ_2 -Cl)₂ were also reported.

$$Me \xrightarrow[N \cdot N]{N - Me} Me \xrightarrow[N \cdot N]{-X} X = CO_2Li, CH_2OH$$

$$Me \xrightarrow[N - Me]{Me} Me$$
(239)

Reduction of *mer*- $[N_2N]Ta^VCl_3$ (80) with excess Na/Hg in the presence of alkynes produced $[N_2N]Ta^{III}Cl(RC \equiv CR)$.^{137,575}

Treatment of Li₂^R[P₂N₂] (^R[P₂N₂]²⁻ = [RP(CH₂SiMe₂NSiMe₂CH₂)₂PR], R = cy, Ph) with NbCl₃ (dme)₂ yielded species of stoichiometry ^R[P₂N₂]Nb^{III}Cl ((**240**); Scheme 45). The R = cy derivative was structurally characterized as mononuclear in the solid state, while the R = Ph derivative was proposed to exist as a Cl-bridged dimer in the solid state on the basis of magnetic susceptibility measurements.⁵⁷⁶ The Cl ligand was substituted by reaction with LiCH₂SiMe₃ to provide ^R[P₂N₂]NbCH₂SiMe₃ (**241**).⁵⁷⁶ Hydrogenolysis of the latter in benzene resulted in formal hydride addition to a solvent molecule and formation of the π -complexes ^R[P₂N₂]Nb(η^{5} -C₆H₇) (**242**).⁵⁷⁷ Reduction of ^{Ph}[P₂N₂]NbCl with KC₈ under N₂ produced dinitrogen complex {^{Ph}[P₂N₂]Nb}₂(μ - η^{1} : η^{1} -N₂) ((**212**); Scheme 41, Section 4.5.3.1.3). In the absence of N₂, the product was ((**243**), Scheme 45) where reduced phenyl rings from each ^{Ph}[P₂N₂] unit were coupled and also coordinated to the second Nb center.⁵⁷⁸

Treatment of NbCl₃(PhC \equiv CSiMe₃) with Li₃L (LH₃ is a tris(amino-pyridine) ligand) in hex produced LNb(PhC \equiv CSiMe₃) (244), with two of the aminopyridinato arms coordinated at the amido and pyridine N atoms, but the third coordinated at the amido N atom only.⁵⁷⁹

 $Nb_2Cl_6(tmeda)_2$ reacted with 1 eq of the potassium salt of tris(2,2',2''-pyrrolyl)methane K_3L to afford the novel binuclear species $[LNb(thf)]_2$ (245).⁵⁸⁰ The salt $[Nb_4Cl_{11}(K(thf)_2)_2][L_2NbK]_2$ was also



Scheme 45

isolated and contains mixed-valence $[Nb_4Cl_{11}(K(thf)_2)_2]^{2+}$ cations and polymeric $[L_2NbK]^-$ anions. In contrast, reaction with the lithium salt Li₃L produced mononuclear $[Li(thf)_4]_2[L_2Nb^{IV}]$ (246).⁵⁸⁰



Reaction of the binuclear Nb^{II}-tmeda species (207) with the lithium salt of 2,2'-dipyridylamide in thf produced (247) (Scheme 40). The bridging μ_2 - η^2 : η^2 -C,N-[C₅H₄N]⁻ and μ_2 -[N-2-C₅H₄N]²⁻ ligands were formed from C—N bond cleavage.⁵⁸¹ In contrast, reaction with KNPh₂ produced (248) from ligand C—H bond cleavage.^{581,582} Two other species were isolated from the reaction mixture: diamagnetic (249) (formally Nb^{IV}Nb⁰) and [(tmeda)ClNb]₂(μ_2 -Cl)₃ (Nb^{III}Nb^{II}), which is related structurally to (207).⁵⁸²



4.5.4.3 Oxygen Donor Ligands

Reduction of $(silox)_3 Ta^V Cl_2$ $(silox = Bu^t_3 SiO)$ with Na/Hg in thf provided the synthon $(silox)_3 Ta^{III}$ ((32), Scheme 44).^{63,583} It cyclometalated thermally to (199), complicating some of its chemistry. It reacted readily with unsaturated ligands to provide $(silox)_3 TaL$ $(L = RC \equiv CR, R_2C = CR_2, H_2CO)$. Ligands L also included η^2 -cycles such as py and benzene which were activated for reaction (Scheme 44). Reduction of $(silox)_3 Nb^V Cl_2$ with Na/Hg in the presence of 4-picoline afforded $(silox)_3 Nb(\eta^2-N,C-NC_5H_4Me)$ which acts as an effective source of $(silox)_3 Nb^{III}$.⁵⁰⁷ For example, both this Nb complex and $(silox)_3 Ta^{III}$ abstracted an O atom from N₂O, NO, and C₂H₄O to provide $(silox)_3 M^VO$ (Scheme 44) and both compounds are useful deoxygenation reagents.⁵⁸⁴ In these systems, Ta^{III} has a greater affinity for picolines than does Nb^{III}. Consequently, an equimolar solution of $(silox)_3 Ta^{III}$ and $(silox)_3 Nb(\eta^2-N,C-NC_5H_4Me)$ in benzene led to isolation of 1 eq of $(silox)_3 Ta(\eta^2-N,C-NC_5H_4Me)$ and 0.5 eq of binuclear $[(silox)_3Nb]_2(\mu_2-\eta^2;\eta^2-C_6H_6)$.

Reduction of Nb^V₂(OAr)₁₀ (ArOH = 3,5-Me₂-C₆H₃OH) with 1 eq Na/Hg in the presence of dmpe led to the salt *trans*-[Nb^{III}(OAr)₂(dmpe)₂][Nb^V(OAr)₆] which featured a low-spin d^2 cation.⁵⁸⁵ Oxidation of Nb^{II}(OAr)₂(dmpe)₂ provided the same product.

Binuclear $[L^{Me}Nb^{V}Cl_{2}]_{2}$ ((114), Scheme 31) which featured the linked trianionic aryl ligand $H_{3}L^{Me} = (115)$ (R = Me) reacted with LiBHEt₃ in thf to form binuclear $[Li_{4}(thf)_{4}Cl_{2}]$ { $[L^{Me}Nb^{III}(thf)]_{2}(\mu_{2}-H)(\mu_{2}-Cl)$ } (250).¹⁹⁷ This contrasted with the analogous reaction with R = Bu^t when activation of N₂ occurred with formation of (116) (Scheme 31). The ability of the calixarene complex (12) with its Nb^{III}=Nb^{III} bond to induce four-electron

The ability of the calixarene complex (12) with its Nb^{III}=Nb^{III} bond to induce four-electron reduction of N₂, aldehydes, and ketones has been discussed in Sections 4.5.2.1.2, 4.5.2.2.4, and 4.5.2.4.5.(ii) (Scheme 32).

4.5.4.4 Halo Ligands

Reduction of Ta₂Cl₁₀ with the potassium graphite KC₈ in Et₂O in the presence of py provided *mer*-TaCl₃(py)₃.⁵⁸⁶ The edge-sharing bioctahedral compound $[(SC_4H_8)(\eta^2-PhC\equiv CPh)Cl_2Nb^{III}]_2$ (μ_2 -Cl)₂ reacted with py to produce [pyH][Nb^{III}Cl₄(py)(PhC\equiv CPh)].⁵⁸⁷

Reduction of $[L_2Cl_2Ta^{III}]_2(\mu_2-Cl)_2$ (L = 4-Me-py) by pulse radiolysis in O₂-free MeCN led to a transient $[Ta^{2.5+}]_2$ species of suggested bond order 1.5 ($\sigma^2 \pi^2 \delta^{*1}$).^{588,589}

Reactions of $M_2Cl_6(SMe_2)$ with isocyanides RNC provided products of stoichiometry $M_2Cl_6(RNC)_6$. These contain, in fact, dimerized isocyanides as bridging ligands (251).⁵⁹⁰

Reduction of Cp*Ta^VX₄ (X = Cl, Br) with 4 eq Na/Hg in tol produced [Cp*Ta^{III}]₂(μ_2 -X)₄ ((226), Scheme 43).⁵⁹¹

DFT calculations have been used to understand the detailed electronic and geometric structures of the binuclear d^2-d^2 anions { $[M^{III}X_3]_2(\mu_2-X)_3$ }³⁻ (X = halo) which feature face-sharing bioctahedral stereochemistry.⁵⁹² The occupation of the trigonal $t_{2g}(a_1 + e)$ single-ion orbitals determined the geometry and the extent of MM bonding. The $[a_1e + a_1e]$ spin-triplet state (where complete delocalization of the σ and δ_{π} electrons occurs in a M=M bond) was found to be the global minimum. The predictions of relatively short MM internuclear distances were in good agreement with available structural data.

Binuclear compounds $M^{III}_2Cl_6L_4$ (L = neutral ligand) usually exhibit edge-sharing bioctahedral geometry. Thus, $[(SC_4H_8)(\eta^2-PhC\equiv CPh)Cl_2Nb^{III}]_2(\mu_2-Cl)_2$ has been isolated in the reaction of Nb₂Cl₆(SC₄H₈)₃ and PhC \equiv CPh.⁵⁸⁷ Two isomeric forms have been observed with bidentate ligands. For example, reduction of M_2Cl_{10} with 4 eq Na/Hg in the presence of dcpm = bis (dicyclohexylphosphorano)methane provided $[Cl_2M]_2(\mu_2-Cl)_2(\mu_2-\eta^1:\eta^1-dcpm)_2$ (252).⁵⁹³ The steric size of the cyclohexyl substituents appears to favor isomer (252) rather than (253) (observed for L = dmpm ⁵⁹⁴).

On the other hand, binuclear compounds $M^{III}_{2}Cl_{6}L_{3}$ (L = neutral ligand) exhibit face-sharing bioctahedral stereochemistry. The tetrameric compound $Ta_{4}Cl_{12}(SC_{4}H_{8})_{2}(dppe)_{2}$ was comprised of two of these units linked by two dppe ligands, {[Cl_{2}Ta]_{2}(\mu_{2}-Cl)_{2}(\mu_{2}-SC_{4}H_{8})_{2}(\mu_{2}-\eta^{1}:\eta^{1}-dppe)_{2}.⁵⁹⁵ The complex pathways encountered in the use of Nb^{TV}Cl₄(thf)₂ under reducing conditions have

The complex pathways encountered in the use of Nb^{1V}Cl₄(thf)₂ under reducing conditions have been discussed. In particular, the conversion from edge-sharing bioctahedral [(PR₃)₂Cl₂Nb^{III}]₂(μ_2 -Cl)₂ complexes to face-sharing bioctahedral {[(PR₃)Cl₂Nb^{III}]₂(μ_2 -Cl)₃}⁻ anions to triangular {[(PR₃)Cl₂Nb^{III}]₃(μ_3 -Cl)(μ_2 -Cl)₃}⁻ anions was highlighted.⁵⁹⁶ The M₃(μ_3 -Cl)(μ_2 -Cl)₃ core (C_{3ν}) in the latter anion is found in Nb₃Cl₈ and in clusters surrounded by nine terminal ligands, three per M atom (**254**).^{597,598} In {[(PEt₃)Cl₂M^{III}]₃(μ_3 -Cl)(μ_2 -Cl)₃}⁻, the six electrons from the M^{III}(d²) centers are involved formally in three M–M bonds. In f(PMe₂Ph)₂ClNbl₂(μ_2 -Cl)₄-Cl)₄, the intermetallic distances in the Nb^{III}Nb^{III} core are 0.15 Å

The $M_3(\mu_3-Cl)(\mu_2-Cl)_3$ core $(C_{3\nu})$ in the latter anion is found in Nb₃Cl₈ and in clusters surrounded by nine terminal ligands, three per M atom (254).^{597,598} In {[(PEt₃)Cl₂M^{III}]₃(μ_3 -Cl)(μ_2 -Cl)₃]⁻, the six electrons from the M^{III}(d²) centers are involved formally in three M—M bonds. In [(PMe₂Ph)₂ClNb]₃(μ_3 -Cl)(μ_2 -Cl)₃, the intermetallic distances in the Nb^{III}Nb^{II}₂ core are ~0.15 Å shorter than in the above anions, consistent with the extra two electrons occupying a singly degenerate bonding orbital. An electronically dissimilar cluster Nb₃Cl₈(CNBu¹)₅ (255) featured a μ_3 -CNBu^t ligand.⁵⁹⁹ Spectroscopic characterization favored the presence of a Nb^{III} ₂Nb^{II} core.



4.5.4.5 Hydrido Ligands

In the mid-1980s, dihydrogen was discovered to act as a ligand,⁴⁶⁴ and at about the same time, large temperature-dependent H–H couplings were observed in certain polyhydrido complexes. Systems derived from the complexes $Cp_2M^VH_3$ played important roles in understanding the latter phenomenon.⁴⁶⁶⁻⁴⁶⁸ For example, the Ta^{III} cation $[Cp_2Ta^{III}(\eta^2-H_2)(CO)]^+$ was a dihydrogen complex while $[Cp_2Ta^V(H)_2(P(OMe)_3))]^+$ was a dihydrido complex and exhibited exchange couplings. The greater electron-releasing tendency of the phosphite ligand favors the dihydrido tautomer. Cations such as $[Cp_2M(\eta^2-HD)L]^+$ (L=CO, P(OEt)_3, PMe_2Ph) were synthesized from reactions of $Cp_2M^VH_3$ with L followed by deuteration with acid. For $[Cp_2Nb(\eta^2-HD)(PMe_2Ph)]^+$, endo and exo isomeric forms (similar J_{HD}; very different J_{HP}) were observed at 203 K, consistent with freezing of the HD rotation ($\Delta G^{\neq}_{C} = 46 \text{ kJ/mol}$). Detailed NMR studies for this and related systems such as M = Ta, L = CO demonstrated that no kinetic isotope effect is observed for the classical rotation of H₂ in these complexes. This strongly suggested that rotational tunneling of coordinated H₂ ligands (whose classical rotation is blocked on the NMR timescale) is the origin of the quantum mechanical H–H coupling observed in d^2 metal polyhytic.

Ta^{IV}(H)₂Cl₂L₄ (L = PMe₃) was reduced by Na/Hg in the presence of additional L under Ar to Ta^{III}(H)₂ClL₄.²¹⁴ This exhibited pentagonal bipyramidal stereochemistry with axial ligands L and *cis* ligands H (HTaH, 66°; TaH, 1.8 Å). It reacted with N₂ to provide [L₃ClH₂Ta^V]₂ (μ_2 - η^1 : η^1 -N₂). Reduction of [L₂Cl₂Ta^{IV}]₂(μ_2 -H)₂(μ_2 -Cl)₂ with Na/Hg gave [L₂Cl₂Ta^{III}]₂(μ_2 -H)₂ whose non-hydrogen framework exhibited D_{2d} point symmetry and resembles closely that of W^{II}₂Cl₄L₄ with its quadruple bond.⁵⁴⁰

Reaction of $[Cp^*Ta^{III}]_2(\mu_2-X)_4$ (X = Cl, Br) (226) with 4 eq LiBH₄ in Et₂O yielded $[Cp^*Ta^{III}]_2(\mu_2-\eta^2,\eta^2-B_2H_6)_2$ ((256), Scheme 43).⁶⁰⁰ Intermediate species with one B₂H₆ ligand were detected. The free $[B_2H_6]^{2-}$ anion is unknown. Reaction of M^I(Me₃SiOC=COSiMe₃)(dmpe)₂Cl with aqueous HCl produced $[M^{III}H^{-1}]_2(\mu_2-\mu_2^2+\mu_$

Reaction of $M^{1}(Me_{3}SiOC \equiv COSiMe_{3})(dmpe)_{2}Cl$ with aqueous HCl produced $[M^{11}H-(HOC \equiv COH)(dmpe)_{2}Cl]Cl$ by hydrolysis of $Me_{3}SiOC \equiv COSiMe_{3}$ and oxidative addition of H^{+} to the metal center.^{556,601} The related species $Ta^{111}H(Me_{3}SiOC \equiv COBF_{3})(dmpe)_{2}Cl$ with an anionic acetylene ligand was prepared from reaction of $Ta(Me_{3}SiOC \equiv COSiMe_{3})(dmpe)_{2}Cl$ with HBF_{4} .⁶⁰¹ Similarly, treatment of $Ta\{(Me_{3}Si)(Me)NC \equiv COSiMe_{3}\}(dmpe)_{2}Cl$ with aqueous acid produced [TaH (MeHNC $\equiv COH$)(dmpe)_{2}Cl]Cl.⁶⁰²

4.5.5 NIOBIUM(II) AND TANTALUM(II)

Using zero electron kinetic energy photoelectron spectroscopy, the structures of Nb₃N₂ and its cation were assigned as $C_{2\nu}$. The two N atoms bridge two sides of an isosceles triangle of Nb atoms.⁶⁰³ Similar conclusions have been drawn for the Nb₃C₂ system and for $[M_3O]^x$ (x = -1, 0, +1).⁶⁰⁴

The synthon *trans*-NbCl₂(py)₄ was prepared by reduction of NbCl₄(thf) in thf/py.⁶⁰⁵ *trans*-MCl₂L₄ (L = PMe₃) were isolated from reduction of M₂Cl₁₀ with Na/Hg in Et₂O in the presence of excess L.⁵³⁸ Analogous species *trans*-MCl₂(dmpe)₂ resulted from reduction of MCl₄(dmpe)₂ in thf. The bromo complex TaBr₂L₄ (L = PMe₂Ph) displayed a *cis* geometry and was distorted significantly towards a bicapped tetrahedron.⁶⁰⁶

Reduction of Nb^V(OAr)₅ (ArOH = 4-Me-C₆H₄OH or 3,5-Me₂-C₆H₃OH) with 6 eq Na/Hg in the presence of 4 eq dmpe led to *trans*-Nb^{II}(OAr)₂(dmpe)₂.⁵⁸⁵ Spectroscopic and magnetic characterization were consistent with low-spin d³ centers.

Photolysis of Cp*Ta^I(CO)₄ in solution in the presence of RSSR species produced diamagnetic $[Cp^{*}(CO)_{2}Ta^{II}]_{2}(\mu_{2}$ -SR)₂.⁶⁰⁷ For R = Ph, the Ta₂(μ_{2} -SPh)₂ core is folded with *cis* Cp* ligands and *syn*-equatorial Ph substituents.

Diamagnetic, binuclear species $[Cp'(CO)_2M^{II}](\mu_2-Cl)_2$ were produced by reduction of M^{III} precursors by Na/Hg in thf.⁶⁰⁸ Their structures feature folded $M_2(\mu_2-Cl)_2$ centers which contrast with the related species $[Cp(ArC=CAr)_2Nb^{II}](\mu_2-Cl)_2$ (Ar = 4-Me-C₄H₄) whose Nb₂(μ_2 -Cl)₂ core is planar.

related species $[Cp(ArC \equiv CAr)_2Nb^{II}](\mu_2-Cl)_2$ (Ar = 4-Me-C₆H₄) whose Nb₂(μ_2 -Cl)₂ core is planar. Heating of $[Nb^{III}Cl_3(tmeda)]_2$ with 6 eq LiN(Prⁱ)₂ in thf produced (tmeda)₃Nb^{II}₂Cl₅Li (**207**) whose Nb₂ core is based upon a face-sharing bioctahedron (Scheme 40).⁴⁸³

The classic cluster cores $[M_6X_8]^{x+}$ and $[M_6X_{12}]^{y+}$ contain an M_6 octahedron with halo ligands X bridging all faces or edges, respectively. They continue to be important building blocks for materials design (lead references for these and related clusters include).^{609–611}

4.5.6.1 Carbon Donor Ligands

4.5.6.1.1 Carbonyl ligands

Gas phase photoelectron spectroscopy has investigated the bonding in $(\eta^5-C_5H_4R)M(CO)_4$ (R = H, SiMe₃, COCH₃).⁶¹² The lowest energy ionizations arise from the two orbitals that are occupied by the electrons of the formal d^4 metal configuration. However, the absorption bands are dominated by extensive CO stretching vibrational progressions indicative of extensive carbonyl character in the valence electronic structure. This influence diminishes any trends in properties with metal substitution $V \rightarrow Nb \rightarrow Ta$ down Group 5 or with substitutions in the Cp rings.

Photolysis of LM(CO)₄ (L=Cp or C₉H₇ (indenyl)) in polyethylene matrices under a high pressure of reactant gas provided a range of photoproducts.⁶¹³ Under helium, LM(CO)₃ and LNb(CO)₂ were observed while, under N₂, LM(CO)₃(N₂) and LNb(CO)₂(N₂)₂ were seen. Under H₂, the classical dihydrides LM^{III}(CO)₃(H)₂ were observed for Cp, whereas the non-classical dihydrogen complex (η^5 -C₉H₇)Nb^I(CO)₃(η^2 -H₂) was observed in the Nb-indenyl system. CpM(CO)₃(Xe) was characterized in supercritical Xe solution at room temperature.⁶¹⁴

The anions $[M^{-I}(CO)_6]^-$ are oxidized by H⁺ and X₂ (X = Cl, Br, I) to the anions $\{[(CO)_4M^I]_2(\mu_2-X)_3\}^-$.

4.5.6.1.2 Isocyanide ligands

Routes to homoleptic isocyanide complexes have been defined in thf (Scheme 46).⁶¹⁶ $[M^{I}L_{7}]^{+}$ (L = xylyl isocyanide) are fluxional in solution but do not exchange ligand with free L. The cation in $[ML_{7}][BF_{4}]$ is very crowded with the shortest Me···Me contact being 4.59 Å. The TaC₇ core has a geometry intermediate between the capped octahedron ($C_{3\nu}$) and capped trigonal prism ($C_{2\nu}$).



Scheme 46

Mixed carbonyl–isocyanide species MCl(CO)(CNR)(dmpe)₂ (M = Nb, R = Me, cy, Bu^t; M = Ta, R = Me, Et, Bu^t) were isolated from the photolysis of a suspension of MCl(CO)₂(dmpe)₂ in tol in the presence of CNR.^{617–619} NbCl(CO)(CNBu^t)(dmpe)₂ exhibited Cl-capped trigonal prismatic stereochemistry with a severely bent CNC linkage (144°), consistent with a carbene-like isocyanide moiety (Nb–C=NR↔Nb=C=NR).⁶¹⁷ The bis(isocyanide) TaCl(CNMe)₂(dmpe)₂ was prepared by reduction of TaCl₄(dmpe)₂ in the presence of CNMe, and displayed bent CNC angles close to 120°.⁶¹⁸ Capped trigonal prismatic *cis*-NbI(CO)₂(CNR)₂(dppe) (R = Bu^t, cy) were isolated by reaction of NbI(CO)₄(dppe) with CNR in thf at low temperature.^{550,620} Complexes Nb^IX(CO)₂(CNR)₄ have been identified in the systems [Nb(CO)₆]⁻/CNR/X₂ which generate Nb^{III} systems (see Section 4.5.4.1).⁵⁵¹ The equivalent Ta system for R = Bu^t led to TaI(CO)₃(CNR)₃ and TaI (CO)₃(CNR)(dppe).

4.5.6.1.3 Alkyne ligands

Treatment of the $\eta^2(4e)$ -alkyne complex Tp*Nb(CO)₂(PhC=CMe) with nitriles RC=N (R=Me, Et, Ph) led to the chiral mixed $\eta^2(3e)$ -alkyne/ $\eta^2(3e)$ -nitrile complexes

Tp*Nb^I(CO)(PhC=CMe)(RC=N) (Scheme 47).⁶²¹ The assigned formal electron counts on the alkyne and nitrile ligands are compatible with detailed ¹³C NMR data. Electrochemical studies indicated that an equilibrium existed in solution between the η^2 (3e)-alkyne/ η^2 (3e)-nitrile and η^2 (4e)-alkyne/ η^1 (2e)-nitrile complexes.⁵⁰ PhCN is displaced by PMe₂Ph or PhC=CMe to provide Tp*Nb(CO)(PhC=CMe)(PMe₂Ph) and Tp*Nb(CO)(PhC=CMe)₂, respectively. Protonation of these species can induce intramolecular redox coupling reactions to produce Nb^V metallocycles (e.g., Scheme 47).



Scheme 47

Excess alkyne RC=CR reacted with TaI(CO)₃L₃ (L = PR'₃) to form six-coordinate complexes TaI(CO)₂L₂(η^2 -RC=CR).⁶²² ¹H and ¹³C solution spectra were compatible with the alkynes acting as 4e donors. The solid state structure of *all-trans*-TaI(CO)₂(PMe₃)₂(η^2 -RC=CR) was established. Similar reactions produced equivalent Nb compounds (Scheme 48).^{623–625} Although no unambiguous structural assignment was possible, ¹³C NMR shift data favored halo-bridged binuclear structures for [NbX(CO)₂(RC=CR)₂]₂. Each alkyne formally donates 3e for the metal to attain an 18e count. In a complex photo reaction, *all-trans*-NbI(CO)₂(PMe₂Ph)₂(Ph₂PC=CPPh₂) reacted with M(CO)₆ to form a bridging tetra-phosphorane ligand with a buta-1,3-diene backbone ((257); Scheme 48).⁶²⁶



Scheme 48

Lippard and co-workers have demonstrated the reductive coupling of CO ligands at M centers to generate coordinated alkyne ligands. Treatment of $[M(CO)_2(dmpe)_2Cl]$ ((258), Scheme 49) with 40% Na/Hg in thf followed by addition of Me₃SiCl produced $[M(Me_3SiOC \equiv COSiMe_3)(dmpe)_2Cl]$ (261). Earlier work in this area has been reviewed,⁶²⁷ and similar chemistry has been observed for related vanadium species.^{628–630}



Scheme 49

The mechanisms and intermediates involved in this process were investigated in detail.^{552–555, 629–633} Two-electron reduction of (**258**) with 40% Na/Hg in thf produced the M^{-1} intermediate Na[M-(CO)₂(dmpe)₂] (**259**) with *cis*-carbonyl ligands.⁵⁵³ Addition of 1 eq only of $Pr_{3}^{i}SiCl$ to (**259**)

afforded the M^{III} siloxycarbyne-carbonyl species $[M(CO)(\equiv COSiPr^{i}_{3})(dmpe)_{2}]$ (260).^{552,553} Further addition of Me₃SiCl caused coupling of the carbyne and carbonyl ligands of (260) to yield the asymmetric acetylene complex $[M(Me_{3}SiOC \equiv COSiPr^{i}_{3})(dmpe)_{2}Cl]$ (261).^{552,553} Ta forms of (258)–(261) were all characterized by X-ray crystallography.

The kinetics of reaction of the carbyne–carbonyl complex $[M(CO)(\equiv COSiPr^{1}_{3})(dmpe)_{2}]$ (260) with Me₃SiCl were investigated in detail. The rate determining step was proposed to be electrophilic attack of the silyl reagent upon the terminal CO ligand.^{554,555} The silylated intermediate was modeled by addition of AlEt₃ to a solution of (260) to generate the Lewis acid adduct $[M(COA-lEt_{3})(\equiv COSiPr^{i}_{3})(dmpe)_{2}]$. A comparison of structural parameters for this adduct and for (260) (R₃ = Bu¹Ph₂) revealed that addition of AlEt₃ to the terminal CO ligand resulted in a reduction in the C—Ta—C angle and a reduction in distance between the two metal-bound carbon fragments.^{554,555}

The coupling of carbonyl-isocyanide and isocyanide-isocyanide ligands at Ta centers has also been demonstrated. Treatment of $[Nb(CNMe)(CO)(dmpe)_2Cl]$ with Na/Hg in thf followed by addition of 2 eq Me₃SiCl gave the cross-coupled product $[M\{(Me_3Si)(Me)NC\equiv COSiMe_3\}(dmpe)_2Cl]$, which contained the previously unknown RR'NC \equiv COR ligand (R = SiMe₃, R' = Me).^{602,619} The coupling of two isocyanide ligands has been demonstrated in similar systems.

4.5.6.2 Nitrogen Donor Ligands

A range of seven-coordinate complexes $MX(CO)_4L$ (L = bidentate diamine; X = Cl, I) were prepared via oxidative halogenation of $[M^{-1}(CO)_6]^-$ anions with $[LH_2]Cl_2$ or with methyl viologen diiodide in the presence of L.⁶³⁴ Similar species were obtained by oxidation of $[Ta(CO)_6]^-$ with I₂ also in the presence of L.⁶³⁵

Addition of AgBPh₄ to M^0L_3 (L=PrⁱN=CH-CH=NPrⁱ) led to $[M^IL_3]^+$ which exhibit distorted octahedral stereochemistries⁶³⁶ However, these mononuclear 16e d^4 complexes are diamagnetic. A DFT study suggested that the t_{2g} orbitals are strongly split in the D_3 local symmetry with the e subset being stabilized strongly by π back-bonding. A configuration e^4 is consistent with the observed diamagnetism. The LUMO is a ligand-based orbital which is occupied in M^0L_3 (see Section 4.5.7.2).

4.5.6.3 Phosphorous Donor Ligands

4.5.6.3.1 Polyphospho ligands

Thermolysis of LNb(CO)₄ (L = η^5 -1,3-Bu^t-C₅H₃) and P₄ in decalin afforded the triple-decker sandwich complexes [LNb]₂(μ_2 - η^6 : η^6 -P₆) (**262**).^{637,638} Although the P₆ ligand is essentially planar, it exhibits pronounced in-plane distortions with three pairs of P—P interatomic distances of 2.105(2), 2.116(3), and 2.347(3)Å. Extended Huckel calculations suggested that the distortion is due to the presence of two electrons in nearly degenerate $2e_2'$ antibonding orbitals.

In contrast, photolysis of the equivalent Ta system produced $L(CO)_2Ta(\eta^4-P_4)$ (263), $[L(CO)Ta]_2(\mu_2-\eta^2:\eta^2-P_2)_2$ (264), and $[L_3(CO)_3Ta_3(P_2)_2]^{.639}$ In turn, photolysis of (263) and $Cp^*Nb(CO)_4$ allowed isolation of $Cp^*(CO)Nb(\mu_2-\eta^6:\eta^6-P_6)Ta(CO)L$ (c.f. (262)) and $[L(CO)Ta][Cp^*(CO)_2Nb][Cp^*Nb](\mu_3-\eta^2:\eta^1:\eta^1-P_2)_2$ (265) with its novel coordination mode for P_2 .

 $Cp*Fe^{II}(\eta^5-P_5)$ contains the pentaphosphacyclopentadienyl ligand. Brief photolysis in the presence of LTa(CO)₄ led to $[Cp*Fe](\mu_2-\eta^5:\eta^1-P_5)[Ta(CO)_2L]$ with the *cyclo*-P₅ ligand coordinated terminally to the Ta fragment.⁶⁴⁰ Photochemical or thermal elimination of CO led to (**266**) with cleavage of a P—P bond.

Reaction of $LTa^{I}(CO)_{4}$ with P_{4} in decalin at 190 °C provided $[LTa]_{3}(\mu_{3}-P_{2})(\mu_{3}-P_{4})$ which could be converted to $[LTa]_{3}(\mu_{3}-P_{2})(\mu_{3}-P_{4})$ {Fe(CO)₄} (**267**).⁶⁴¹ The latter features a P_{2} ligand in the phosphido–phosphinidene coordination mode.

4.5.6.3.2 Phosphorane ligands

New or improved preparations have been reported for seven-coordinate complexes $MCl(CO)_2L_2$ (L = dmpe, depe, dppe, dbpe; depe = 1,2-bis(diethylphosphino)ethane, dbpe = 1,2-bis(dibutylphos-



phino)ethane), MCl(CO)₃L' (L' = MeP(CH₂CH₂CH₂PMe₂)₂), and NbX(CO)₃(PMe₂Ph)₃ (X = Cl, Br, I, CN).^{629,642-644} The capped trigonal prismatic complex Ta¹Cl(CO)₃L₃ (L = PMe₃) was obtained in two ways: by elimination of H₂ from Ta^{III}Cl(H)₂L₄ in Et₂O in the presence of CO (3 atmos) or by oxidation of $[Ta^{-1}(CO)_6]^-$ by Ta^V₂Cl₁₀ in Et₂O in the presence of L.⁶⁴⁵ In the latter reaction, the Ta^V chloride acted as a 2e oxidant and chloro ligand source and was converted to an uncharacterized Ta^{III} product. The bromo and iodo analogs TaX(CO)₃L₃ were obtained by oxidation of $[Ta^{-1}(CO)_6]^-$ by X₂ in Et₂O in the presence of L. Related compounds MX(CO)₄(dppe) and MX(CO)₂(dppe)₂ were synthesized similarly via oxidative halogenation with pyHX.^{620,646} The Ta^I (d⁴) complexes exhibited low levels of paramagnetism, possibly due to population of low-lying triplet states.⁶⁴⁷ A wider series of Nb^I species NbX(CO)₃(PR₃)₃ (X = Cl, Br, I) was obtained by similar means.⁶²⁰ Treatment of {[(CO)₄M^I]₂(μ_2 -X₃)}⁻ with tripodal ligand L = Bu^tSi(CH₂PMe₂)₃ under reflux in dme/thf afforded LM^II(CO)₃ of capped trigonal prismatic stereochemistry (cap = I).⁶⁴⁸

The electrochemistry of a range of these seven-coordinate species was explored.⁶⁴⁹ Chemical reactions followed oxidation or reduction of most species. However, the more highly substituted complexes $MX(CO)_2(dppe)_2$ (X = H, Cl, Br, I) exhibited chemically reversible $1e^-$ oxidations in CH_2Cl_2/Bu_4NPF_6 and the 17e [M^{II}X(CO)_2L_2]⁺ cations were characterized by EPR spectroscopy (A(⁹³Nb) ~113 G for X = Cl, H).

 $Ta^{III}H_2ClL_4$ (L = PMe₃) reacted with C_2H_4 to furnish $Ta^1Cl(\eta^2-C_2H_4)L_4$ and with CO to provide $Ta^1Cl(CO)_3L_3$.²¹⁴ The latter is a capped trigonal prism with Cl capping a quadrilateral face comprised of one CO and the three ligands L.

The reaction of Ta₂Cl₁₀ with LiBH₄ in the presence of dmpm produced the BH₃-bridged complex $[(\eta^2 - BH_4)Ta^I]_2(\mu_2 - BH_3)(\mu_2 - dmpm)_3$ (**268**).⁶⁵⁰ The bonding scheme in (**269**) was suggested as the best description of the detailed structural features. It includes donation of *d*-electron density from the Ta^I centers to the electron-deficient bridging BH₃ ligand.



4.5.6.4 Oxygen Donor Ligands

Treatment of *trans*-Nb^{II}(OAr)₂(dmpe)₂ (ArOH = 3,5-Me₂-C₆H₃OH) with CO (1 atmos) led to Nb^I(OAr)(CO)₂(dmpe)₂.⁵⁸⁵ The stereochemistry is monocapped trigonal prismatic with ArO as the capping group. The CNbC angle is only $66.7(2)^{\circ}$.

The anions $[M^{-1}(CO)_6]^-$ are oxidized by the acetylacetonato (acac) complexes of Ni^{II} and Fe^{III} in the to seven-coordinate $M^{I}(acac)(CO)_4(thf)$.⁶⁵¹ The the ligand is labile and easily substituted.

4.5.6.5 Hydrido Ligands

Protonation of $[M^{-I}(PF_3)_6]^-$ by conc. H_2SO_4 yielded volatile, thermally unstable species $[M^{I}H(PF_3)_6]^{.652,653}$ The formulation was consistent with ¹H NMR and mass spectrometric studies for M = Nb. For M = Ta, ¹H NMR detected a septet at δ , -8.7 ppm, consistent with coupling of six equivalent PF₃ ligands to ligand H in a fluxional seven-coordinate species.

UV irradiation of $[Ta^{-1}(CO)_6]^-$ in the presence of dppe provided, after chromatography on silica gel, the complex $Ta^{I}H(CO)_4$ (dppe) whose ¹H and ³¹P NMR were interpreted in terms of an H-capped octahedral structure.⁶⁵⁴ Photolysis converted this complex to $TaH(CO)_2$ (dppe)₂ which, in the solid state, exhibited pentagonal bipyramidal stereochemistry with axial CO ligands.⁶⁴⁴

4.5.7 NIOBIUM(0) AND TANTALUM(0)

There has been a longstanding interest in readily available sources of Nb⁰ and Ta⁰. The failure to generate paramagnetic species $M^0(CO)_6$ contrasts with the stability of $V^0(CO)_6$ and also with the ready generation of $[M^{-II}(CO)_6]^-$ and $[M^{-III}(CO)_5]^{3-}$.

4.5.7.1 Carbon Donor Ligands

Co-condensation of M(g) with CO provided M(CO)₆ at 4 K.⁶⁵⁵ Analysis of ⁹³Nb hyperfine structure in the EPR spectrum of Nb(CO)₆ indicated that this 17e species was axial, being distorted from octahedral by Jahn–Teller effects associated with the expected t_{2g}^{5} low spin configuration. Spectra of the Ta system were very broad, apparently due to a significant quadrupolar interaction with ¹⁸¹Ta allowing forbidden $\Delta M_{\rm I} = \pm 2$ transitions to appear strongly. DFT calculations suggested that Ta(CO)₆ would also be axially distorted.⁶⁵⁶

Routes to homoleptic isocyanide complexes have been defined in thf (Scheme 46).⁶¹⁶ M^0L_6 (L = xylyl isocyanide) are fluxional in solution but do not exchange ligand with free L.

Co-condensation of Nb(g) with tol has allowed isolation of Nb⁰(η^{6} -tol)₂.⁶⁵⁷ The tol rings are parallel with eclipsed Me groups.

4.5.7.2 Nitrogen Donor Ligands

Co-condensation of M(g) with N_2 provided $M(N_2)_6$ at 4 K.⁶⁵⁵ Their EPR spectra were analyzed in the same manner as that described for the $M(CO)_6$ complexes discussed above (see Section 4.5.7.1).

Reduction of Ta₂Cl₁₀ with 10 eq sodium napthalenide in dme at -60 °C followed by addition of the bidentate α -diimine ligand L = PrⁱN=CH-CH=NPrⁱ led to Ta⁰L₃.⁶³⁶ The Nb equivalent was more conveniently obtained from NbCl₄(thf)₂ and Na sand. These 17e complexes adopted D_3 stereochemistries (distorted octahedral) with planar ligands L and were paramagnetic (μ_{eff} , 1.66 down to 11 K for M = Ta). However, their EPR spectra were broad with no resolved hyperfine structure. This was consistent with a DFT investigation which indicated that the HOMO is ligand-based.

4.5.7.3 Phosphorous Donor Ligands

Co-condensation of M(g) and dmpe allowed isolation of *pseudo*-octahedral M^0 (dmpe)₃.⁶⁵⁸

The 17e metal-based radical Ta⁰(CO)₄(dppe) was formed via hydrogen atom extraction from Ta¹H(CO)₄(dppe).⁶⁵⁹ In solution, this radical abstacted halogen atoms from many organic halides RX to give Ta¹X(CO)₄(dppe). Ta⁰(CO)₄(dppe) existed in solution as an equilibrium mixture of monomer and dimer [(dppe)(CO)₃Ta](μ_2 -CO)₂. The latter is the form stable in the solid state. While no crystal structures are available, DFT calculations indicated a stable *pseudo*-octahedral stereochemistry for the monomer and several possible (μ_2 -CO)₂ structures for the dimer.⁶⁵⁶ Each of the latter featured linear, semi-bridging carbonyls supporting a weak, delocalized Ta—Ta interaction.

Reaction of anions $[M^{-1}(CO)_4(dmpe)]^-$ with AgX (X = weakly coordinating anions $[NO_2]^-$, $[BF_4]^-$) provided hexanuclear clusters Ag₃M₃(CO)₁₂(dmpe)₃ (**270**) of D₃ point symmetry.⁶³⁵ These

clusters were proposed to feature novel $Ag_{3}^{0}M_{3}^{0}$ cores on the basis of (i) relatively high energy $\nu(CO)$ vibrational bands; (ii) the Ag-Ag separation being similar to that in the metal; and (iii) the following chemical reactivity: $Ag_{3}^{0}M_{3}^{0}(CO)_{12}(dmpe)_{3} + 3$ HI(g) $\rightarrow 3$ Ag⁰(s) + 3 $M^{I}I(CO)_{4}(dmpe) + 3/2$ H₂(g). The alternative products Ag^II and M^IH(CO)_{4}(dmpe) were expected for a Ag_{3}^{I}M_{3}^{-1} cluster.



(270)

4.5.8 NIOBIUM(-I) AND TANTALUM(-I)

4.5.8.1 Carbon Donor Ligands

Detailed emission, excitation, and vibrational spectra have been reported for $[Ph_4P][Ta^{-I}(CO)_6]$.⁶⁶⁰ The emission spectrum was assigned to a single ligand field transition and contained a resolved vibrational progression in the symmetric Ta–C stretching normal mode.

Reductive carbonylation of Nb^{IV}Cl₄(thf)₂ by NaAr (Ar = napthalenide, anthracenide) in the presence of CO (1 atmos) provided improved access to $[Nb^{-1}(CO)_6]^-$ as the $[NEt_4]^+$ salt.⁶⁵³ An equivalent procedure is available for $[Ta^{-1}(CO)_6]^-$.⁶⁵² Reaction of $[M^{-III}(CO)_5]^{3-}$ with Ph₃SnCl provided salts $[NEt_4]_2[M^{-1}(CO)_5(SnPh_3)]$. Protonation of $[M^{-1}H(CO)_5]^{2-}$ in NH₃(1) provided A[M⁻¹(CO)₅(CNBu¹)]⁻. In addition, reaction of $[Ta(CO)_5(NH_3)]^-$ with L = PR₃, AsPh₃, SbPh₃ in NH₃/thf at 0 °C provided salts $[NEt_4][Ta^{-1}(CO)_5L]$.⁶⁶¹ Reaction with CN⁻ yielded $[NEt_4]_2[Ta^{-1}(CO)_5(CN)]$.

Routes to homoleptic isocyanide complexes have been defined in thf (Scheme 46).⁶¹⁶ Ta⁰L₆ (L = xylyl isocyanide) was reduced by AC₈ (A = K, Cs) to $[Ta^{-1}L_6]^-$. This anion appears to be octahedral. Its ¹³C NMR resonance occured at ~210 ppm, the most downfield shift observed for a diamagnetic homoleptic isocyanide complex. Reaction with the NO source N-methyl-N-nitroso-*p*-toluenesulfonamide provided Ta⁻¹(NO)L₅ whose essentially linear NbNO fragment is consistent with the formal presence of ligand NO⁺. Direct nitrosylation of $[M^{-1}(CO)_6]^-$ with 2 eq $[NO][PF_6]$ in the presence of L in CH₂Cl₂ at $-60 \,^{\circ}$ C provided *cis*- $[M^{-1}(NO)_2L_4]^+$.⁶⁶² The reaction represents a rare example of non-oxidative displacement of all CO ligands from a homoleptic carbonylmetalate.

Reduction of NbCl₄(thf)₂ or Ta₂Cl₁₀ with alkali metal arenides in ether solvents at $-60 \,^{\circ}\text{C}$ provided, after work-up, salts of the homoleptic arene complexes $[M^{-1}L_3]^-$ ((271); L = η^4 -naphthalene, 1-4- η^4 -anthracene).^{663,664}



298

(271)

4.5.8.2 Phosphorous Donor Ligands

Reductive carbonylation of NbCl₄(thf)₂ or Ta₂Cl₁₀ by NaAr (Ar = napthalenide, anthracenide) in the presence of PF₃ allowed isolation of salts of $[M^{-I}(PF_3)_6]^{-}$.^{652,653} The observation of a doublet of decets in the ¹⁷F NMR spectrum (³¹P, I = 1/2; ⁹³Nb, I = 9/2) of the Nb anion was consistent with octahedral stereochemistry in solution. $[Nb(PF_3)_6]^{-}$ is almost one volt more difficult to oxidize than is $[Nb(CO)_6]^{-}$.

 $CoCp*_2$ reduced M^II(CO)₄(dppe) to form the salt $[CoCp*_2][M^{-I}(CO)_4(dppe)]$.⁶³⁵ Reduction of LM^II(CO)₃ (L = tripodal ligand Bu^tSi(CH₂PMe₂)₃) with 2 eq NaH followed by the non-oxidative nitrosylating agent *N*-methyl-*N*-nitroso-*p*-toluenesulfonamide provided *pseudo*-octahedral LM⁻¹(CO)₂(NO).^{648,665}

4.5.8.3 Hydrido Ligands

Protonation of $[M^{-III}(CO)_5]^{3-}$ in NH₃(l) at $-70 \,^{\circ}$ C allowed isolation of the salts $[NEt_4]_2[M^{-1}H(CO)_5]^{.653} \,^{1}H\{^{93}Nb\}$ NMR detected a sharp singlet at δ , $-1.89 \,\text{ppm}$ for $[NbH(CO)_5]^{2-}$, a value similar to that observed for $[TaH(CO)_5]^{2-.652}$ In addition, the $^{93}Nb\{^{1}H\}$ NMR spectrum of $[NbH(CO)_5]^{2-}$ (^{13}C , 99 atom%) was a well-resolved sextet, consistent with the presence of a fluxional pentacarbonyl.

4.5.9 NIOBIUM(-III) AND TANTALUM(-III)

Treatment of $[Nb^{-I}(CO)_6]^-$ with Na in NH₃(l) allowed access to $[Nb^{-III}(CO)_5]^{3-}$.⁶⁵³ Its solution properties are complementary to those of $[M^{-III}(CO)_5]^{3-}$ (M = V, Ta) which have been reported previously.^{652,666,667}

4.5.10 ASPECTS OF HETEROGENEOUS CATALYSIS

A most significant aspect of the chemistry of niobium and tantalum has been the development of heterogeneous catalysis and its relationship to the surface and bulk properties of the solid supports.^{668–679} In this concluding section, molecular connections between fundamental coordination chemistry and surface and bulk properties of solids, particularly the oxides, are emphasized. A broad description of Nb compounds and heterogeneous catalysis is available.⁶⁷⁰

The oxides $M^{V_2}O_5$ have complex structures and display extensive polymorphism as a function of temperature. This highlights the challenge of obtaining molecular information about surface reactivity. Reduction leads to further complexity. For example, between Nb^V₂O₅ and Nb^{IV}O₂, there exists a homologous series of structurally related phases having the general formula Nb_{3n+1}O_{8n-2} where n=5, 6, 7, 8.⁶⁸⁰ In addition, paramagnetic oxides of formula Nb₁₂O₂₉ (12Nb₂O₅ - 2O) and Nb₉₄O₂₃₂ (47 Nb₂O₅ - 3O) have been reported.⁶⁸¹⁻⁶⁸³

The melting points of Nb₂O₅ (1,785 K) and Ta₂O₅ (2,145 K) determine important catalytic properties as surface atoms on crystal planes begin to diffuse at the Tammann temperature, $T_{Tam} = \sim 1/2$ T_{mp} . Consequently, under typical catalytic reaction conditions (473–873 K), the metal atoms cannot diffuse and so the bulk oxides exhibit acidic properties but not redox ones. In order to change the diffusion properties and reducibility, supported metal oxides or mixed oxides have been targeted.

Another important factor is surface area, as those of bulk $M^V_2O_5$ are very low (a few m² g⁻¹). Therefore, since the early 1990s, there has been an emphasis on synthesis and catalytic testing of mesoporous oxides exhibiting high surface areas (a few hundred m² g⁻¹).^{684–689}

The acidity of bulk and supported Nb₂O₅ was probed by absorption of py. Raman and IR spectroscopy of the adsorbed pyridine indicated that highly distorted surface NbO₆ octahedral sites corresponded to Lewis acid sites (the Raman band between 850 and 1,000 cm⁻¹) and that slightly distorted surface NbO₆ sites, as well as NbO₇ and NbO₈ sites, corresponded to Brønsted acid centers (Raman bands between 500 and 700 cm⁻¹).^{690,691} The acidic character of hydrated niobia (niobic acid Nb₂O₅·*n*H₂O) depended on calcination temperature. Niobic acid calcined at moderate temperatures of 373–573 K showed acidic character but it became almost neutral when calcined at 873 K.⁶⁹² The presence or absence of water determines Lewis or Brønsted acidity of a given metal site (Scheme 50).⁶⁹³



Scheme 50

When the oxides M_2O_5 are supported on other oxides or materials, surface M species can become either acidic or redox centers.^{670,694} The supported oxide often shows different catalytic activity from its bulk form. The formation and location of surface oxo species are controlled usually by the substrate's surface hydroxyl chemistry. For example, Ta₂O₅ supported on silica via impregnation exhibited a tetrahedral (\equiv Si-O)₃Ta \equiv O species which was photoactive.⁶⁹⁵ This center showed catalytic photoactivity in the oxidation of CO. The Ta \equiv O bond was activated to an exciton Ta⁴⁺-O⁻ which reacted with O₂ to form a T-type ozonide [Ta-O-O₂]⁻. This in turn reacted with CO forming the intermediate product [O₃-CO]⁻.

reacted with CO forming the intermediate product $[O_3-CO]^-$. Tantalum can be grafted onto silica surfaces as Ta^V-alkoxo or organometallic species ((272)–(275)).^{696–699} (272) is the active phase in epoxidation of allyl alcohols.⁶⁹⁶ Similarly, the chemistry of Ta-alkylidene species on silica surfaces has been investigated to provide insights into the elementary reactions occurring at surfaces during heterogeneous catalysis.⁶⁹⁹ The reaction of Ta(=CHBu^t)(CH₂Bu^t)₃ with a silica dehydroxylated at 500 °C produced a mixture of (\equiv SiO)₂Ta(=CHBu^t)(CH₂Bu^t) and (\equiv SiO)Ta(=CHBu^t)(CH₂Bu^t)₃ (\equiv CHBu^t)(CH₂Bu^t) and (\equiv SiO)Ta(=CHBu^t)(CH₂Bu^t)₂ ((274), (275), respectively) in an approximately 1:1 ratio.⁶⁹⁸ This ratio was found to be dependent on the temperature used for silica dehydroxylation, with higher temperatures favoring the latter species with only one covalent bond to silica (275).⁶⁹⁷ High-resolution, solid-state 1D and 2D NMR were used to investigate the structures of these surface complexes and results were compared with those for a silsesquioxane molecular analog (276).⁷⁰⁰ The mixture of (274) and (275) was active for the stoichiometric cross-metathesis of alkenes.⁷⁰¹ The surface chemistries of Ta(=CHBu^t)(CH₂Bu^t)₃ and Cp₂Ta(=CH₂)(CH₃) on partially dehydroxylated silica were compared.⁷⁰² The latter was proposed to be converted to the "cation-like" species Cp₂Ta(CH₃)₂⁺ via addition of a proton from the silica surface.



Generation of the surface-bound hydrido complex (\equiv Si-O)₂Ta^{III}-H has been particularly well characterized. Treatment of a dehydroxylated silica with Ta^V(=CHBu^t)(CH₂Bu^t)₃ followed by H₂ (1 atmos) up to 200 °C provided this center as the major surface species.⁷⁰³ The hydrido ligand could be exchanged with D by reaction with D₂. The center was highly electrophilic, eliminating CH₄ from MeI. It catalyzed H/D exchange between CH₄ and CD₄ at 150 °C leading to the statistical distribution of all methane isotopomers, indicative of an ability to cleave the C–H bonds of this most thermodynamically stable of alkanes.^{704,705} The C–H bonds of cycloalkanes were also cleaved, leading to surface metal–cycloalkyl complexes.^{703,706,707} Hydrogenolysis of alkanes was enhanced by (\equiv Si-O)₂Ta^{III}-H, most notably of ethane, which cannot be cleaved by the corresponding Group 4 metal hydrides. In addition, the (\equiv Si-O)₂Ta^{III}-H center catalyzed the metathesis of alkanes, an unprecedented

In addition, the $(\equiv$ Si-O)₂Ta^{III}-H center catalyzed the metathesis of alkanes, an unprecedented process affording higher and lower homologs. For example, in the metathesis of propane to ethane and butanes, formation of four-centered intermediates was postulated (Scheme 51).⁷⁰⁸ In the first step, the C—H bond is activated to yield (\equiv Si-O)₂Ta^{III}-Prⁿ and (\equiv Si-O)₂Ta^{III}-Prⁱ

complexes. The subsequent transfer of a Me group from a second propane molecule to these intermediates evolves *n*-butane and *iso*-butane with the formation of $(\equiv Si-O)_2 Ta^{III}$ -Et. This, in turn, yields ethane, regenerating the active site.



Scheme 51

While Nb and Ta containing heterogeneous catalysts have been studied extensively, they have not been widely used as acid catalysts in practice. Recently, Tanabe reported the first application of niobic acid in industry.⁷⁰⁹ The redox properties of catalytic materials containing niobium or tantalum are attractive and surely will be utilized in the future.

4.5.11 REFERENCES

- 1. Hubert-Pfalzgraf, L. G.; Postel, M.; Riess, J. G. Niobium and Tantalum. In Comprehensive Coordination Chemistry; 1st ed.; Wilkinson, G., Gillard, R. D., McCleverty, J. A., Eds.; Pergamon: Oxford, 1987; Vol. 3, p 585.
- 2. Kee, T. P. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1998, 169, 129-152.
- 3. Malito, J. Annu. Rep. Prog. Chem., Sect. A 2002, 98, 139-152.
- 4. Labinger, J. A. Niobium and Tantalum, In Comprehensive Organometallic Chemistry; Wilkinson, G., Stone, F. G. A., Abel, E. E., Eds.; Pergamon: Oxford, 1982; Vol. 3, p 705.
- 5. Wigley, D. E.; Gray, S. D. Niobium and Tantalum, In Comprehensive Organometallic Chemistry II; Abel, E. W., Stone, F. G. A., Wilkinson, G., Eds.; Pergamon: Oxford, 1995; Vol. 5, p 57.
- 6. Page, E. M. Organomet. Chem. 2001, 29, 256-269.
- 7. Nugent, W. A.; Mayer, J. M. Metal-Ligand Multiple Bonds, 1st edn., Wiley: New York, 1988.
- 8. Pulham, C.; Haaland, A.; Hammel, A.; Rypdal, K.; Verne, H. P.; Volden, H. V. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1992, 31, 1464
- 9. Kang, S. K.; Tang, H.; Albright, T. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 1971-1981.
- 10. Piersol, C. J.; Profilet, R. D.; Fanwick, P. E.; Rothwell, I. P. Polyhedron 1993, 12, 1779–1783.
- 11. Wu, Y.-D.; Chan, K. W. K.; Xue, Z. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 9259-9264.
- 12. Li, L.; Hung, M.; Xue, Z. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 12746-12750.
- 13. Kleinhenz, S.; Pfennig, V.; Seppelt, K. Chem.-Eur. J. 1998, 4, 1687-1691.
- 14. Kaupp, M. Chem.-Eur. J. 1998, 4, 1678-1686.
- 15. Kleinhenz, S.; Schubert, M.; Seppelt, K. Chem. Ber./Recueil 1997, 130, 903-906.
- 16. Vaid, T. P.; Veige, A. S.; Lobkovsky, E. B.; Glassey, W. V.; Wolczanski, P. T.; Liable-Sands, L. M.; Rheingold, A. L.; Cundari, T. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 10067-10079.
- 17. Schrock, R. R. Chem. Rev. 2002, 102, 145-179
- 18. Schrock, R. R. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton. Trans. 2001, 2541-2550.
- 19. Cundari, T. R.; Gordon, M. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 5231-5243.
- 20. Luo, L.; Li, L.; Marks, T. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 8574-8575.
- 21. Abbenhuis, H. C. L.; Feiken, N.; Grove, D. M.; Jastrzebski, J. T. B. H.; Kooijman, H.; Van der Sluis, P.; Smeets, W. J. J.; Spek, A. L.; Van Koten, G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 9773-9781.
- 22. Abbenhuis, H. C. L.; Feiken, N.; Haarman, H. F.; Grove, D. M.; Horn, E.; Kooijman, H.; Spek, A. L.; Van Koten, G. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1991, 30, 996.
- 23. Abbenhuis, H. C. L.; Rietveld, M. H. P.; Haarman, H. F.; Hogerheide, M. P.; Spek, A. L.; van Koten, G. Organometallics 1994, 13, 3259-3268.
- 24. Rietveld, M. H. P.; Klumpers, E. G.; Jastrzebski, J. T. B. H.; Grove, D. M.; Veldman, N.; Spek, A. L.; van Koten, G. Organometallics 1997, 16, 4260-4267.
- 25. Rietveld, M. H. P.; Teunissen, W.; Hagen, H.; van de Water, L.; Grove, D. M.; van der Schaaf, P. A.; Muehlebach, A.; Kooijman, H.; Smeets, W. J. J.; Veldman, N.; Spek, A. L.; van Koten, G. Organometallics 1997, 16, 1674–1684.
- 26. Wallace, K. C.; Liu, A. H.; Dewan, J. C.; Schrock, R. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1988, 110, 4964-4977.
- 27. Wallace, K. C.; Davis, W. M.; Schrock, R. R. Inorg. Chem. **1990**, *29*, 1104–1106. 28. Wallace, K. C.; Liu, A. H.; Davis, W. M.; Schrock, R. R. Organometallics **1989**, *8*, 644–654.
- 29. Chamberlain, L. R.; Rothwell, I. P. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton. Trans. 1987, 163-167.
- 30. Chamberlain, L. R.; Rothwell, I. P.; Huffman, J. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108, 1502-1509.
- Chamberlain, L. R.; Rothwell, I. P.; Folting, K.; Huffman, J. C. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton. Trans. 1987, 155–162.
 Lockwood, M. A.; Clark, J. R.; Parkin, B. C.; Rothwell, I. P. Chem. Comm. 1996, 1973–1974.
- 33. Vilardo, J. S.; Lockwood, M. A.; Hanson, L. G.; Clark, J. R.; Parkin, B. C.; Fanwick, P. E.; Rothwell, I. P. J. Chem.
- Soc. Dalton Trans. 1997, 3353-3362.

- 34. Fryzuk, M. D.; Johnson, S. A.; Rettig, S. J. Organometallics 1999, 18, 4059-4067.
- 35. Fryzuk, M. D.; Johnson, S. A.; Rettig, S. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 1602-1612.
- 36. Caselli, A.; Solari, E.; Scopelliti, R.; Floriani, C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 8296-8305.
- 37. Floriani, C.; Floriani-Moro, R. The M-C bond functionalities bonded to an oxo-surface modeled by calix[4] arenes. In Advances in Organometallic Chemistry; West, R. and Hill, A. F. Eds.; Academic Press: San Diego, 2001; Vol. 47, p 167.
- 38. Freundlich, J. S.; Schrock, R. R.; Davis, W. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 3643-3655.
- 39. Freundlich, J. S.; Schrock, R. R.; Cummins, C. C.; Davis, W. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 6476-6477.
- 40. Freundlich, J. S.; Schrock, R. R.; Davis, W. M. Organometallics 1996, 15, 2777-2783.
- 41. van Doorn, J. A.; van der Heijden, H.; Orpen, A. G. Organometallics 1994, 13, 4271-4277.
- 42. Dawson, D. Y.; Arnold, J. Organometallics 1997, 16, 1111-1113.
- 43. Li, L.; Diminnie, J. B.; Liu, X.; Pollitte, J. L.; Xue, Z. Organometallics 1996, 15, 3520-3527.
- 44. Diminnie, J. B.; Hall, H. D.; Xue, Z. Chem. Comm. 1996, 2383-2384.
- 45. Diminnie, J. B.; Blanton, J. R.; Cai, H.; Quisenberry, K. T.; Xue, Z. Organometallics 2001, 20, 1504-1514.
- 46. Boncella, J. M.; Cajigal, M. L.; Abboud, K. A. Organometallics 1996, 15, 1905-1912.
- 47. Etienne, M.; White, P. S.; Templeton, J. L. Organometallics 1993, 12, 4010-4015.
- Biasotto, F.; Etienne, M.; Dahan, F. Organometallics 1995, 14, 1870–1874.
 Etienne, M.; Biasotto, F.; Mathieu, R.; Templeton, J. L. Organometallics 1996, 15, 1106–1112.
- 50. Etienne, M.; Carfagna, C.; Lorente, P.; Mathieu, R.; de Montauzon, D. Organometallics 1999, 18, 3075-3086.
- 51. Schmidt, J. A. R.; Chmura, S. A.; Arnold, J. Organometallics 2001, 20, 1062-1064.
- 52. Fletcher, J. S.; Male, N. A. H.; Wilson, P. J.; Rees, L. H.; Mountford, P.; Schroder, M. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton. Trans. 2000, 4130-4137.
- 53. Schmidt, J. A. R.; Arnold, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 8424-8425.
- 54. Schmidt, J. A. R.; Arnold, J. Organometallics 2002, 21, 3426-3433.
- 55. Baxter, S. M.; Wolczanski, P. T. Organometallics 1990, 9, 2498-2509.
- 56. Lohner, P.; Fischer, J.; Pfeffer, M. Inorg. Chim. Acta 2002, 330, 220-228.
- 57. Butts, M. D.; Bergman, R. G. Organometallics 1994, 13, 1899-1910.
- 58. Butts, M. D.; Bergman, R. G. Organometallics 1994, 13, 2668-2676.
- 59. Wheatley, N.; Kalck, P. Chem. Rev. 1999, 99, 3379-3419.
- 60. Wolczanski, P. T. Polyhedron 1995, 14, 3335-3362
- 61. LaPointe, R. E.; Wolczanski, P. T.; Van Duyne, G. D. Organometallics 1985, 4, 1810-1818.
- 62. Neithamer, D. R.; LaPointe, R. E.; Wheeler, R. A.; Richeson, D. S.; Van Duyne, G. D.; Wolczanski, P. T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989, 111, 9056-9072.
- 63. LaPointe, R. E.; Wolczanski, P. T.; Mitchell, J. F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108, 6382-6384.
- 64. Toreki, R.; LaPointe, R. E.; Wolczanski, P. T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 7558-7560.
- 65. Miller, R. L.; Toreki, R.; LaPointe, R. E.; Wolczanski, P. T.; Van Duyne, G. D.; Roe, D. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 5570-5588.
- 66. Fanwick, P. E.; Ogilvy, A. E.; Rothwell, I. P. Organometallics 1987, 6, 73-80.
- 67. Riley, P. N.; Thorn, M. G.; Vilardo, J. S.; Lockwood, M. A.; Fanwick, P. E.; Rothwell, I. P. Organometallics 1999, 18, 3016-3024.
- 68. Profilet, R. D.; Rothwell, A. P.; Rothwell, I. P. Chem. Commun. 1993, 42-44.
- 69. Riley, P. N.; Profilet, R. D.; Fanwick, P. E.; Rothwell, I. P. Organometallics 1996, 15, 5502-5506.
- 70. Profilet, R. D.; Fanwick, P. E.; Rothwell, I. P. Polyhedron 1992, 11, 1559-1561.
- 71. Riley, P. N.; Profilet, R. D.; Salberg, M. M.; Fanwick, P. E.; Rothwell, I. P. Polyhedron 1998, 17, 773-779.
- 72. Profilet, R. D.; Fanwick, P. E.; Rothwell, I. P. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 1992, 31, 1261.
- 73. Li, L.; Xue, Z.; Yap, G. P. A.; Rheingold, A. L. Organometallics 1995, 14, 4992-4993.
- 74. Liu, X.; Li, L.; Diminnie, J. B.; Yap, G. P. A.; Rheingold, A. L.; Xue, Z. Organometallics 1998, 17, 4597-4606.
- 75. Gal, A. W.; Van der Heijden, H. Chem. Commun. 1983, 420-422.
- 76. Van der Heijden, H.; Gal, A. W.; Pasman, P.; Orpen, A. G. Organometallics 1985, 4, 1847-1853.
- 77. Abbenhuis, H. C. L.; Feiken, N.; Haarman, H. F.; Grove, D. M.; Horn, E.; Spek, A. L.; Pfeffer, M.; van Koten, G. Organometallics 1993, 12, 2227-2235.
- 78. Rietveld, M. H. P.; Lohner, P.; Nijkamp, M. G.; Grove, D. M.; Veldman, N.; Spek, A. L.; Pfeffer, M.; Van Koten, G. Chem.-Eur. J. 1997, 3, 817-822
- 79. Kempe, R. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2000, 39, 468-493.
- 80. Wigley, D. E. Prog. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 42, 239-482.
- 81. Riley, P. N.; Parker, J. R.; Fanwick, P. E.; Rothwell, I. P. Organometallics 1999, 18, 3579–3583.
- 82. Hagen, K.; Holwill, C. J.; Rice, D. A.; Runnacles, J. D. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 4733-4736.
- 83. Kunkely, H.; Vogler, A. Inorg. Chem. Commun. 2001, 4, 252-253.
- 84. Fox, P. A.; Gray, S. D.; Bruck, M. A.; Wigley, D. E. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 6027-6036.
- 85. Fix, R.; Gordon, R. G.; Hoffman, D. M. Chem. Mater. 1993, 5, 614-619.
- 86. Chao, Y. W.; Polson, S.; Wigley, D. E. Polyhedron 1990, 9, 2709-2716.
- 87. Chao, Y. W.; Wexler, P. A.; Wigley, D. E. Inorg. Chem. 1989, 28, 3860-3868.
- 88. Schweiger, S. W.; Tillison, D. L.; Thorn, M. G.; Fanwick, P. E.; Rothwell, I. P. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton. Trans. 2001, 2401-2408.
- 89. Polamo, M.; Leskela, M. Acta Chem. Scand. 1997, 51, 449-454.
- 90. Polamo, M. Acta Crystallogr. C. 1996, C52, 2977-2980.
- 91. Polamo, M.; Leskela, M. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton. Trans. 1996, 4345-4349.
- 92. Polamo, M.; Leskela, M. Acta Chem. Scand. 1997, 51, 709-713.
- 93. Feng, S.; Roof, G. R.; Chen, E. Y. X. Organometallics 2002, 21, 832-839.
- 94. Wu, Z.; Diminnie, J. B.; Xue, Z. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 4300-4301.
- 95. Wu, Z.; Cai, H.; Yu, X.; Blanton, J. R.; Diminnie, J. B.; Pan, H.-J.; Xue, Z.; Bryan, J. C. Organometallics 2002, 21, 3973-3978.
- 96. Visciglio, V. M.; Fanwick, P. E.; Rothwell, I. P. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1993, 211, 203-209.

- 97. Chesnut, R. W.; Fanwick, P. E.; Rothwell, I. P. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 27, 752-754.
- 98. Guzei, I. A.; Yap, G. P. A.; Winter, C. H. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 1738-1739.
- 99. Yelamos, C.; Heeg, M. J.; Winter, C. H. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 1871-1878.
- 100. Yelamos, C.; Gust, K. R.; Baboul, A. G.; Heeg, M. J.; Schlegel, H. B.; Winter, C. H. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 6451-6462.
- 101. Aharonian, G.; Gambarotta, S.; Yap, G. P. A. Organometallics 2002, 21, 4257-4263.
- 102. Dehnicke, K.; Krieger, M.; Massa, W. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1999, 182, 19-65.
- 103. Weller, F.; Nusshaer, D.; Dehnicke, K. Z. Anorg. Chem. 1992, 615, 7-10.
- 104. Nusshaer, D.; Weller, F.; Neuhaus, A.; Frenking, G.; Dehnicke, K. Z. Anorg. Chem. 1992, 615, 86-92.
- 105. Philipp, G.; Harms, K.; Dehnicke, K.; Maichle-Moessmer, C.; Abram, U. Z. Anorg. Chem. 1996, 622, 1927–1934.
- 106. Weber, K.; Korn, K.; Schulz, M.; Korth, K.; Sundermeyer, J. Z. Anorg. Chem. 1999, 625, 1315–1320.
- 107. Rivard, E.; Honeyman, C. H.; McWilliams, A. R.; Lough, A. J.; Manners, I. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 1489-1495.
- 108. Siemeling, U.; Stammler, A.; Stammler, H.-G.; Kuhnert, O. Z. Anorg. Chem. 1999, 625, 845-847.
- 109. Siemeling, U.; Neumann, B.; Stammler, H.-G.; Kuhnert, O. Z. Anorg. Chem. 2000, 626, 825-826.
- 110. Roesky, H. W.; Katti, K. V.; Seseke, U.; Schmidt, H. G.; Egert, E.; Herbst, R.; Sheldrick, G. M. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton. Trans. 1987, 847-849.
- 111. Roesky, H. W.; Liebermann, J.; Noltemeyer, M.; Schmidt, H.-G. Chem. Ber. 1989, 122, 1641-1643.
- 112. Mullins, S. M.; Hagadorn, J. R.; Bergman, R. G.; Arnold, J. J. Organomet. Chem. 2000, 607, 227-232.
- 113. Mullins, S. M.; Bergman, R. G.; Arnold, J. Organometallics 1999, 18, 4465-4467.
- 114. Stewart, P. J.; Blake, A. J.; Mountford, P. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 1982-1986.
- 115. Chen, C.-T.; Doerrer, L. H.; Williams, V. C.; Green, M. L. H. Dalton 2000, 967-974.
- 116. Chen, C.-T.; Rees, L. H.; Cowley, A. R.; Green, M. L. H. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton. Trans. 2001, 1761–1767.
- 117. Decams, J. M.; Hubert-Pfalzgraf, L. G.; Vaissermann, J. Polyhedron 1999, 18, 2885-2890.
- 118. Cotton, F. A.; Daniels, L. M.; Matonic, J. H.; Wang, X.; Murillo, C. A. Polyhedron 1997, 16, 1177-1191.
- 119. Cotton, F. A.; Matonic, J. H.; Murillo, C. A.; Wang, X. Bull. Soc. Chim. France 1996, 133, 711-720.
- 120. Rivard, E.; McWilliams, A. R.; Lough, A. J.; Manners, I. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton. Trans. 2002, 2173-2179.
- 121. Mills, R. C.; Doufou, P.; Abboud, K. A.; Boncella, J. M. Polyhedron 2002, 21, 1051-1055.
- 122. Tin, M. K. T.; Yap, G. P. A.; Richeson, D. S. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 6728-6730.
- 123. Tin, M. K. T.; Yap, G. P. A.; Richeson, D. S. Inorg. Chem. **1999**, 38, 998–1001. 124. Tin, M. K. T.; Thirupathi, N.; Yap, G. P. A.; Richeson, D. S. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton. Trans. **1999**, 2947–2951.
- 125. Thirupathi, N.; Yap, G. P. A.; Richeson, D. S. Organometallics 2000, 19, 2573-2579.
- 126. Thirupathi, N.; Yap, G. P. A.; Richeson, D. S. Chem. Commun. 1999, 2483-2484.
- 127. Chamberlain, L. R.; Rothwell, I. P.; Huffman, J. C. Chem. Commun. 1986, 1203-1205.
- 128. Chamberlain, L. R.; Durfee, L. D.; Fanwick, P. E.; Kobriger, L. M.; Latesky, S. L.; McMullen, A. K.; Steffey, B. D.; Rothwell, I. P.; Foltin, K.; Huffman, J. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 6068-6076.
- 129. Spaniel, T.; Gorls, H.; Scholz, J. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 1998, 37, 1862-1865.
- 130. Scholz, J.; Gorls, H. Polyhedron 2002, 21, 305-312.
- 131. Richter, B.; Scholz, J.; Sieler, J.; Thiele, K.-H. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 1995, 34, 2649-2651.
- 132. Decams, J. M.; Daniele, S.; Hubert-Pfalzgraf, L. G.; Vaissermann, J.; Lecocq, S. Polyhedron 2001, 20, 2405-2414.
- 133. Cummins, C. C.; Schrock, R. R.; Davis, W. M. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 1993, 32, 756-759.
- 134. Christou, V.; Arnold, J. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 1993, 32, 1450-1452.
- 135. Schrock, R. R. Acc. Chem. Res. 1997, 30, 9-16.
- 136. Freundlich, J. S.; Schrock, R. R. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 7459-7461.
- 137. Guerin, F.; McConville, D. H.; Vittal, J. J.; Yap, G. A. P. Organometallics 1998, 17, 1290-1296.
- 138. Araujo, J. P.; Wicht, D. K.; Bonitatebus, P. J., Jr.; Schrock, R. R. Organometallics 2001, 20, 5682-5689.
- 139. Schrock, R. R.; Lee, J.; Liang, L.-C.; Davis, W. M. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1998, 270, 353-362.
- 140. Bates, P. A.; Nielson, A. J.; Waters, J. M. Polyhedron 1985, 4, 1391-1401.
- 141. Nielson, A. J. Polyhedron 1988, 7, 67-75.
- 142. Jones, C. M.; Lerchen, M. E.; Church, C. J.; Schomber, B. M.; Doherty, N. M. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 1679-1682.
- 143. Benito, J. M.; Arevalo, S.; de Jesus, E.; de la Mata, F. J.; Flores, J. C.; Gomez, R. J. Organomet. Chem. 2000, 610, 42 - 48
- 144. Korolev, A. V.; Rheingold, A. L.; Williams, D. S. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 2647-2655.
- 145. Heinselman, K. S.; Miskowski, V. M.; Geib, S. J.; Wang, L. C.; Hopkins, M. D. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 5530-5538.
- 146. Chiu, H.-T.; Chuang, S.-H.; Tsai, C.-E.; Lee, G.-H.; Peng, S.-M. Polyhedron 1998, 17, 2187-2190.
- 147. Heinselman, K. S.; Hopkins, M. D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 12340-12341.
- 148. Williams, D. S.; Thompson, D. W.; Korolev, A. V. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 6526-6527.
- 149. Williams, D. S.; Korolev, A. V. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 3809-3819.
- 150. LaPointe, A. M.; Schrock, R. R.; Davis, W. M. Organometallics 1995, 14, 2699-2703.
- 151. Gust, K. R.; Heeg, M. J.; Winter, C. H. Polyhedron 2001, 20, 805-813.
- 152. Bonanno, J. B.; Wolczanski, P. T.; Lobkovsky, E. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 11159-11160.
- 153. Bonanno, J. B.; Henry, T. P.; Neithamer, D. R.; Wolczanski, P. T.; Lobkovsky, E. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 5132-5133
- 154. Gade, L. H.; Mountford, P. Coord. Chem. Rev. 2001, 216-217, 65-97.
- 155. Pugh, S. M.; Blake, A. J.; Gade, L. H.; Mountford, P. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 3992-4001.
- 156. Pugh, S. M.; Troesch, D. J. M.; Skinner, M. E. G.; Gade, L. H.; Mountford, P. Organometallics 2001, 20, 3531-3542.
- 157. Collier, P. E.; Pugh, S. M.; Clark, H. S. C.; Love, J. B.; Blake, A. J.; Cloke, F. G. N.; Mountford, P. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 2001-2005.
- 158. Skinner, M. E. G.; Cowhig, D. A.; Mountford, P. Chem. Commun. 2000, 1167-1168.
- 159. Boncella, J. M.; Cajigal, M. L.; Gamble, A. S.; Abboud, K. A. Polyhedron 1996, 15, 2071-2078.
- 160. Sundermeyer, J.; Putterlik, J.; Foth, M.; Field, J. S.; Ramesar, N. Chem. Ber. 1994, 127, 1201-1212.
- 161. Etienne, M.; Mathieu, R.; Donnadieu, B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 3218-3228.
- 162. Jayaratne, K. C.; Yap, G. P. A.; Haggerty, B. S.; Rheingold, A. L.; Winter, C. H. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 4910-4920.
- 163. Polamo, M.; Leskela, M. Acta Crystallogr. C. 1996, C52, 1631-1634.

- 164. Bradley, D. C.; Hursthouse, M. B.; Malik, K. M. A.; Nielson, A. J.; Chota Vuru, G. B. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton. Trans. 1984, 1069-1072.
- 165. Bradley, D. C.; Hursthouse, M. B.; Howes, A. J.; Jelfs, A. N. D. M.; Runnacles, J. D.; Thornton-Pett, M. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton Trans. 1991, 841-847.
- 166. Herrmann, W. A.; Denk, M.; Dyckhoff, F.; Behm, I. Chem. Ber. 1991, 124, 2401-2403.
- 167. Herrmann, W. A.; Huber, N. W.; Haerter, P.; Denk, M.; Dyckhoff, F. Chem. Ber. 1992, 125, 117-118.
- 168. Clegg, W.; Errington, R. J.; Hockless, D. C. R.; Redshaw, C. Polyhedron 1991, 10, 1959-1961.
- 169. Nielson, A. J.; Glenny, M. W.; Rickard, C. E. F.; Waters, J. M. Dalton 2000, 4569-4578.
- 170. Haug, K.; Hiller, W.; Straehle, J. Z. Anorg. Chem. 1986, 533, 49-54.
- 171. Green, M. L. H.; James, J. T.; Sanders, J. F. Chem. Commun. 1996, 1343-1344.
- 172. Wu, Z.; Xue, Z. Organometallics 2000, 19, 4191-4192.
- 173. Herrmann, W.; Baratta, W.; Herdtweck, E. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 1996, 35, 1951-1953.
- 174. Woodman, P. R.; Sanders, C. J.; Alcock, N. W.; Hitchcock, P. B.; Scott, P. New. J. Chem. 1999, 23, 815-817.
- 175. Fickes, M. G.; Odom, A. L.; Cummins, C. C. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 1997, 1993-1994.
- 176. Brask, J. K.; Fickes, M. G.; Sangtrirutnugul, P.; Dura-Vila, V.; Odom, A. L.; Cummins, C. C. Chem. Commun. 2001, 1676-1677.
- 177. Gray, S. D.; Smith, D. P.; Bruck, M. A.; Wigley, D. E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1992**, 114, 5462–5463. 178. Gray, S. D.; Weller, K. J.; Bruck, M. A.; Briggs, P. M.; Wigley, D. E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1995**, 117, 10678–10693.
- 179. Weller, K. J.; Gray, S. D.; Briggs, P. M.; Wigley, D. E. Organometallics 1995, 14, 5588-5597.
- 180. Jones, T. C.; Nielson, A. J.; Rickard, C. E. F. Chem. Commun. 1984, 205-206.
- 181. Winter, C. H.; Jayaratne, K. C.; Proscia, J. W. Mater. Res. Soc. Symp. Proc. 1994, 327, 103-108.
- 182. Antinolo, A.; Otero, A.; Urbanos, F.; Garcia-Blanco, S.; Martinez-Carrera, S.; Sanz-Aparicio, J. J. Organomet. Chem. 1988, 350, 25-34.
- 183. Cotton, F. A.; Duraj, S. A.; Roth, W. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1984, 106, 4749-4751.
- 184. Canich, J. A. M.; Cotton, F. A.; Duraj, S. A.; Roth, W. J. Polyhedron 1986, 5, 895-898.
- 185. Hubert-Pfalzgraf, L. G.; Aharonian, G. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1985, 100, L21-L22.
- 186. Dorado, I.; Garces, A.; Lopez-Mardomingo, C.; Fajardo, M.; Rodriguez, A.; Antinolo, A.; Otero, A. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton. Trans. 2000, 2375-2382.
- 187. Chao, Y. W.; Wexler, P. A.; Wigley, D. E. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 4592-4594.
- 188. Smith, D. P.; Allen, K. D.; Carducci, M. D.; Wigley, D. E. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 1319-1320.
- 189. Bott, S. G.; Hoffman, D. M.; Rangarajan, S. P. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 4305-4310.
- 190. Schaller, C. P.; Wolczanski, P. T. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 131-144.
- 191. Cundari, T. R. Organometallics 1994, 13, 2987-2994.
- 192. Danopoulos, A. A.; Hay-Motherwell, R. S.; Wilkinson, G.; Sweet, T. K. N.; Hursthouse, M. B. Polyhedron 1997, 16, 1081-1088.
- 193. Mindiola, D. J.; Meyer, K.; Cherry, J.-P. F.; Baker, T. A.; Cummins, C. C. Organometallics 2000, 19, 1622-1624.
- 194. Holl, M. M. B.; Kersting, M.; Pendley, B. D.; Wolczanski, P. T. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 1518-1526.
- 195. Plenio, H.; Roesky, H. W.; Noltemeyer, M.; Sheldrick, G. M. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 1988, 27, 1330.
- 196. Holl, M. M. B.; Wolczanski, P. T.; Van Duyne, G. D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 7989-7994.
- 197. Kawaguchi, H.; Matsuo, T. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2002, 41, 2792-2794.
- 198. Zanotti-Gerosa, A.; Solari, E.; Giannini, L.; Floriani, C.; Chiesi-Villa, A.; Rizzoli, C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 437-438.
- 199. Caselli, A.; Solari, E.; Scopelliti, R.; Floriani, C.; Re, N.; Rizzoli, C.; Chiesi-Villa, A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 3652-3670.
- 200. Deflon, V. M.; Niquet, E.; Strahle, J. Z. Anorg. Chem. 1999, 625, 1357-1361.
- 201. Simon, M.; Meyer, G. Eur. J. Solid State and Inorg. Chem. 1997, 34, 73-84.
- 202. O'Flaherty, F. P.; Henderson, R. A.; Hughes, D. L. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton. Trans. 1990, 1087-1091.
- 203. Tan, L. S.; Goeden, G. V.; Haymore, B. L. Inorg. Chem. 1983, 22, 1744-1750.
- 204. Henderson, R. A.; Oglieve, K. E. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton. Trans.: 1990, 1093-1096.
- 205. Dilworth, J. R.; Henderson, R. A.; Hills, A.; Hughes, D. L.; Macdonald, C.; Stephens, A. N.; Walton, D. R. M. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton Trans. 1990, 1077-1085.
- 206. Henderson, R. A.; Morgan, S. H.; Stephens, A. N. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton. Trans. Inorg. 1990, 1101-1106.
- 207. Henderson, R. A.; Morgan, S. H. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton. Trans. 1990, 1107-1109.
- 208. Schrock, R. R.; Wesolek, M.; Liu, A. H.; Wallace, K. C.; Dewan, J. C. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 27, 2050-2054.
- 209. Berno, P.; Gambarotta, S. Organometallics 1995, 14, 2159-2161.
- 210. Fryzuk, M. D. Modern Coord. Chem. 2002, 187-207.
- 211. Fryzuk, M. D.; Johnson, S. A.; Patrick, B. O.; Albinati, A.; Mason, S. A.; Koetzle, T. F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 3960-3973.
- 212. Fryzuk, M. D.; Haddad, T. S.; Mylvaganam, M.; McConville, D. H.; Rettig, S. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 2782-2792
- 213. Fryzuk, M. D.; MacKay, B. A.; Johnson, S. A.; Patrick, B. O. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2002, 41, 3709-3712.
- 214. Luetkens, M. L. Jr.; Hopkins, M. D.; Schultz, A. J.; Williams, J. M.; Fair, C. K.; Ross, F. K.; Huffman, J. C.; Sattelberger, A. P. Inorg. Chem. 1987, 26, 2430-2436.
- 215. Nikonov, G. I.; Lorberth, J.; Harms, K.; Lemenovskii, D. A. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 2461-2463.
- 216. Nikonov, G. I.; Kuzmina, L. G.; Mountford, P.; Lemenovskii, D. A. Organometallics 1995, 14, 3588-3591.
- 217. Nikonov, G. I.; Lemenovskii, D. A.; Lorberth, J. Polyhedron 1996, 15, 1565-1566.
- 218. Nikonov, G. I.; Kuzmina, L. G.; Howard, J. A. K. Organometallics 1997, 16, 3723–3725.
- 219. Nikonov, G. I.; Blake, A. J.; Lorberth, J.; Lemenovskii, D. A.; Wocadlo, S. J. Organomet. Chem. 1997, 547, 235-242.
- 220. Gibson, J. K. J. Fluorine Chem. 1991, 55, 299-311.
- 221. Rao, U. R. K.; Venkateswarlu, K. S.; Wani, B. N. J. Fluorine Chem. 1986, 31, 29-35.
- 222. Ghosh, J. K.; Jere, G. V. J. Fluorine Chem. 1987, 35, 669-676.
- 223. Stomberg, R. Acta Chem. Scand. A 1984, A38, 603-607.
- 224. Calov, U.; Schneider, M.; Leibnitz, P. Z. Anorg. Chem. 1991, 604, 77-83.

- 225. Von Barner, J. H.; Christensen, E.; Bjerrum, N. J.; Gilbert, B. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 561-566.
- 226. Vik, A. F.; Dracopoulos, V.; Papatheodorou, G. N.; Ostvold, T. J. Alloys Compounds 2001, 321, 284-299.
- 227. Matthiesen, F.; Jensen, P. T.; Ostvold, T. Acta Chem. Scand. 1998, 52, 1000-1005.
- 228. Vik, A. F.; Dracopoulos, V.; Papatheodorou, G. N.; Ostvold, T. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton. Trans. 2001, 2164-2172.
- 229. Von Barner, J. H.; Berg, R. W.; Bjerrum, N. J.; Christensen, E.; Rasmussen, F. Mater. Sci. Forum 1991, 73-75, 279-283.
- 230. Halasyamani, P.; Willis, M. J.; Stern, C. L.; Poeppelmeier, K. R. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 1367-1371.
- 231. Norquist, A. J.; Heier, K. R.; Stern, C. L.; Poeppelmeier, K. R. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 6495-6501.
- 232. Du, L.-S.; Schurko, R. W.; Kim, N.; Grey, C. P. J. Phys. Chem. A 2002, 106, 7876-7886.
- 233. Norquist, A. J.; Stern, C. L.; Poeppelmeier, K. R. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 3448-3449.
- 234. Heier, K. R.; Norquist, A. J.; Wilson, C. G.; Stern, C. L.; Poeppelmeier, K. R. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 76-80.
- 235. Rosenkilde, C.; Voyiatzis, G.; Jensen, V. R.; Ystenes, M.; Oestvold, T. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 4360-4369.
- 236. Bridgeman, A. J.; Cavigliasso, G. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton. Trans. 2001, 3556-3563.
- 237. Stroebele, M.; Meyer, H.-J. Z. Anorg. Chem. 2002, 628, 488-491.
- 238. Schaefer, H.; Poelert, W. Z. Anorg. Chem. 1985, 522, 117-121.
- 239. Gibson, V. C.; Kee, T. P.; Shaw, A. Polyhedron 1988, 7, 2217-2219.
- 240. Gibson, V. C.; Kee, T. P. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton. Trans. 1993, 1657-1659.
- 241. Bashall, A.; Gibson, V. C.; Kee, T. P.; McPartlin, M.; Robinson, O. B.; Shaw, A. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 1991, 30, 980-982.
- 242. Desrochers, P. J.; Nebesny, K. W.; LaBarre, M. J.; Lincoln, S. E.; Loehr, T. M.; Enemark, J. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 9193-9200.
- 243. Parkin, G. Acc. Chem. Res. 1992, 25, 455-460.
- 244. Parkin, G. Chem. Rev. 1993, 93, 887-911.
- 245. Mayer, J. M. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 1992, 31, 286.
- 246. Gibson, V. C.; McPartlin, M. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton. Trans. 1992, 947-956.
- 247. Sobota, P.; Utko, J.; Szafert, S. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 2227-2229.
- 248. Klingelhoefer, P.; Mueller, U. Z. Anorg. Chem. 1984, 516, 85-92.
- 249. Hubert-Pfalzgraf, L. G.; Tsunoda, M.; Le Borgne, G. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton. Trans. 1988, 533-535.
- 250. Herrmann, W. A.; Dvckhoff, F.; Herdtweck, E. Chem. Ber. 1992, 125, 2651-2656.
- 251. Antinolo, A.; Carrillo-Hermosilla, F.; Fernandez-Baeza, J.; Lanfranchi, M.; Lara-Sanchez, A.; Otero, A.; Palomares, E.; Pellinghelli, M. A.; Rodriguez, A. M. Organometallics 1998, 17, 3015-3019.
- 252. Kee, T. P.; Gibson, V. C. Polyhedron 1992, 11, 587-589.
- 253. Muetterties, E. L.; Wright, C. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1965, 87, 4706–4717. 254. Drew, M. G. B.; Rice, D. A.; Williams, D. M. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1986, 118, 165–168.
- 255. Garcia-Granda, S.; Diaz, M. R.; Serra, L.; Sanz-Medel, A.; Gomez-Beltran, F. Acta Cryst. C 1990, C46, 753-755.
- 256. Sokolov, M.; Imoto, H.; Saito, T. Inorg. Chem. Commun. 2000, 3, 96-98.
- 257. Collins, M. J.; Gillespie, R. J.; Kolis, J. W.; Sawyer, J. F. Acta Cryst. C. 1987, C43, 2033–2036.
- 258. Nolt, A.; Muller, U. Z. Anorg. Chem. 1999, 625, 1721-1725.
- 259. Canich, J. A.; Cotton, F. A.; Duraj, S. A. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1989, 156, 41-46.
- 260. Gibson, V. C.; Kee, T. P. Chem. Commun. 1989, 656-657.
- 261. Jernakoff, P.; De Meric de Bellefon, C.; Geoffroy, G. L.; Rheingold, A. L.; Geib, S. J. Organometallics 1987, 6, 1362 - 1364
- 262. Bottomley, F.; Keizer, P. N.; White, P. S.; Preston, K. F. Organometallics 1990, 9, 1916–1925.
- 263. Kwon, D.; Curtis, M. D.; Rheingold, A. L.; Haggerty, B. S. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 3489-3490.
- 264. Bottomley, F.; Karslioglu, S. Organometallics 1992, 11, 326-337.
- 265. Brown, D. A.; Wallbridge, M. G. H.; Li, W.-S.; McPartlin, M. Polyhedron 1994, 13, 2265-2270.
- 266. Brown, D. A.; Wallbridge, M. G. H.; Alcock, N. W. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton. Trans. 1993, 2037–2039.
- 267. Brown, D. A.; Errington, W.; Wallbridge, M. G. H. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton. Trans. 1993, 1163-1164.
- 268. Brown, D. A.; Wallbridge, M. G. H.; Li, W.-S.; McPartlin, M.; Scowen, I. J. *Inorg. Chim. Acta* **1994**, *227*, 99–104. 269. Steunou, N.; Bonhomme, C.; Sanchez, C.; Vaissermann, J.; Hubert-Pfalzgraf, L. G. *Inorg. Chem.* **1998**, *37*, 901–910.
- 270. Hubert-Pfalzgraf, L. G.; Abada, V.; Halut, S.; Roziere, J. Polyhedron 1997, 16, 581-585.
- 271. Hubert-Pfalzgraf, L. G.; Abada, V.; Vaissermann, J.; Roziere, J. Polyhedron 1999, 18, 845–850. 272. Hubert-Pfalzgraf, L. G.; Abada, V.; Vaissermann, J. Polyhedron 1999, 18, 3497–3504.
- 273. Bradley, D. C.; Mehrotra, R. C.; Rothwell, I. P.; Singh, A. Alkoxo and Aryloxo Derivatives of Metals, 1st ed.; Academic Press: San Diego, 2001, Chapter 5, 384.
- 274. Kessler, V. G.; Turova, N. Y.; Yanovskii, A. I.; Belokon, A. I.; Struchkov, Y. T. Russ. J. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 36, 938.
- 275. Abrahams, I.; Bradley, D. C.; Chudzynska, H.; Motevalli, M.; O'Shaughnessy, P. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton. Trans. 2000, 2685-2691.
- 276. Turova, N. Y.; Korolev, A. V.; Tchebukov, D. E.; Belokon, A. I.; Yanovsky, A. I.; Struchkov, Y. T. Polyhedron 1996, 15, 3869-3880.
- 277. Boulmaaz, S.; Papiernik, R.; Hubert-Pfalzgraf, L. G.; Septe, B.; Vaissermann, J. J. Mater. Chem. 1997, 7, 2053–2061.
- 278. Boulmaaz, S.; Papiernik, R.; Hubert-Pfalzgraf, L. G.; Daran, J. C.; Vaissermann, J. Chem. Mater. 1991, 3, 779-781.
- 279. Boulmaaz, S.; Hubert-Pfalzgraf, L. G.; Halut, S.; Daran, J. C. Chem. Commun. 1994, 601-602.
- 280. Johansson, A.; Kessler, V. G. Polyhedron 2000, 19, 1791-1798.
- 281. Johansson, A.; Roman, M.; Seisenbaeva, G. A.; Kloo, L.; Szabo, Z.; Kessler, V. G. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton. Trans. 2000, 387-394.
- 282. Seisenbaeva, G. A.; Kessler, V. G. Inorg. Chem. Communications 2001, 4, 534-536.
- 283. Shcheglov, P. A.; Drobot, D. V.; Seisenbaeva, G. A.; Gohil, S.; Kessler, V. G. Chem. Mater. 2002, 14, 2378–2383.
- 284. Dubey, R. K.; Singh, A.; Mehrotra, R. C. Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan 1988, 61, 983-987.
- 285. Turevskaya, E. P.; Turova, N. Y.; Korolev, A. V.; Yanovsky, A. I.; Struchkov, Y. T. Polyhedron 1995, 14, 1531-1542.
- 286. Papiernik, R.; Hubert-Pfalzgraf, L. G.; Daran, J. C.; Jeannin, Y. Chem. Commun. 1990, 695-697.
- 287. Wehrum, G.; Hoppe, R. Z. Anorg. Chem. 1993, 619, 1315-1320.

- 288. Geetha, R.; Rao, P. S.; Babu, V.; Subramanian, S. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 1630-1635.
- 289. Dengel, A. C.; Griffith, W. P. Polyhedron 1989, 8, 1371-1377.
- 290. de Oliveira, V.; San Gil, R. A. D. S.; Lachter, E. R. Polyhedron 2001, 20, 2647-2649.
- 291. Bradley, D. C.; Mehrotra, R. C.; Rothwell, I. P.; Singh, A. Alkoxo and Aryloxo Derivatives of Metals, 1st ed.; Academic Press: San Diego, 2001.
- 292. Bradley, D. C.; Mehrotra, R. C.; Rothwell, I. P.; Singh, A. Alkoxo and Aryloxo Derivatives of Metals, 1st ed.; Academic Press: San Diego, 2001, Chapter 1, pp 66–67.
- 293. Zemski, K. A.; Castleman, A. W., Jr.; Thorn, D. L. J. Phys. Chem. A 2001, 105, 4633-4639.
- 294. Davies, H. O.; Leedham, T. J.; Jones, A. C.; O'Brien, P.; White, A. J. P.; Williams, D. J. Polyhedron 1999, 18, 3165–3172.
- 295. Pollard, K. D.; Puddephatt, R. J. Chem. Mater. 1999, 11, 1069-1074.
- 296. Hubert-Pfalzgraf, L. G.; Abada, V.; Vaissermann, J. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton. Trans. 1999, 2407–2408.
- 297. Mishra, S.; Singh, A. Trans. Met. Chem. 2002, 27, 541-545.
- 298. Eichorst, D. J.; Howard, K. E.; Payne, D. A.; Wilson, S. R. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 1458–1459.
- 299. Wernberg, A. A.; Gysling, H. J. Chem. Mater. 1993, 5, 1056-1058.
- 300. Wernberg, A. A.; Gysling, H. J.; Braunstein, G. J. Crystal Growth 1994, 140, 57-64.
- 301. Goel, S. C.; Hollingsworth, J. A.; Beatty, A. M.; Robinson, K. D.; Buhro, W. E. Polyhedron 1998, 17, 781–790. 302. Rockwell, J. J.; Kloster, G. M.; DuBay, W. J.; Grieco, P. A.; Shriver, D. F.; Strauss, S. H. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1997,
- 263, 195–200.
- 303. Sun, Y.; Metz, M. V.; Stern, C. L.; Marks, T. J. Organometallics 2000, 19, 1625-1627.
- 304. Werndrup, P.; Kessler, V. G. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton. Trans. 2001, 574-579.
- 305. Thurston, J. H.; Whitmire, K. H. Inorg. Chem. 2002, 41, 4194-4205.
- 306. Davies, H. O.; Jones, A. C.; Leedham, T. J.; O'Brien, P.; White, A. J. P.; Williams, D. J. J. Mater. Chem. 1998, 8, 2315–2316.
- 307. Kessler, V. G.; Hubert-Pfalzgraf, L. G.; Halut, S.; Daran, J. C. Chem. Commun. 1994, 705-706.
- Bradley, D. C.; Mehrotra, R. C.; Rothwell, I. P.; Singh, A. Alkoxo and Aryloxo Derivatives of Metals, 1st ed.; Academic Press: San Diego, 2001, Chapter 6, pp 466–477.
- 309. Clark, J. R.; Pulvirenti, A. L.; Fanwick, P. E.; Sigalas, M.; Eisenstein, O.; Rothwell, I. P. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 3623–3631.
- 310. Park, S. K.; Koo, S. M.; Lee, Y. E. Polyhedron 2000, 19, 1037-1041.
- 311. Rothwell, I. P. Chem. Commun. 1997, 1331-1338.
- 312. Bradley, D. C.; Mehrotra, R. C.; Rothwell, I. P.; Singh, A. Alkoxo and Aryloxo Derivatives of Metals, 1st ed.; Academic Press: San Diego 2001, Chapter 6, 563-612.
- 313. Parkin, B. C.; Clark, J. R.; Visciglio, V. M.; Fanwick, P. E.; Rothwell, I. P. Organometallics 1995, 14, 3002–3013.
- 314. Gibson, V. C.; Kee, T. P. J. Organomet. Chem. 1993, 444, 91-94.
- Groysman, S.; Segal, S.; Shamis, M.; Goldberg, I.; Kol, M.; Goldschmidt, Z.; Hayut-Salant, E. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton. Trans. 2002, 3425–3426.
- 316. Weinert, C. S.; Fanwick, P. E.; Rothwell, I. P. Organometallics 2002, 21, 484-490.
- 317. Higham, L.; Thronton-Pett, M.; Bochmann, M. Polyhedron 1998, 17, 3047-3051.
- 318. Chisholm, M. H.; Huang, J.-H.; Huffman, J. C.; Streib, W. E.; Tiedtke, D. Polyhedron 1997, 16, 2941–2949.
- 319. Matsuo, T.; Kawaguchi, H. Inorg. Chem. 2002, 41, 6090-6098.
- 320. Acho, J. A.; Doerrer, L. H.; Lippard, S. J. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 2542-2556.
- 321. Corazza, F.; Floriani, C.; Chiesi-Villa, A.; Guastini, C. Chem. Commun. 1990, 1083-1084.
- 322. Castellano, B.; Zanotti-Gerosa, A.; Solari, E.; Floriani, C.; Chiesi-Villa, A.; Rizzoli, C. Organometallics 1996, 15, 4894-4896.
- 323. Castellano, B.; Solari, E.; Floriani, C.; Re, N.; Chiesi-Villa, A.; Rizzoli, C. Chem.-Eur. J. 1999, 5, 722-737.
- 324. Zanotti-Gerosa, A.; Solari, E.; Giannini, L.; Floriani, C.; Chiesei-Villa, A.; Rizzoli, C. Chem. Commun. 1997, 183-184.
- 325. Caselli, A.; Solari, E.; Scopelliti, R.; Floriani, C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 538-539.
- 326. Arimondo, P. B.; Calderazzo, F.; Englert, U.; Maichle-Moessmer, C.; Pampaloni, G.; Straehle, J. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton. Trans. 1996, 311-319.
- 327. Chisholm, M. H.; Extine, M. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1977, 99, 792-802.
- 328. Smith, P. D.; Harben, S. M.; Beddoes, R. L.; Helliwell, M.; Collision, D.; Garner, C. D. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton. Trans. 1997, 685–691.
- 329. Cicha, W. V.; Aubke, F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989, 111, 4328-4331.
- 330. Van Seggen, D. M.; Hurlburt, P. K.; Anderson, O. P.; Strauss, S. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 10995-10997.
- 331. Gouzyr, A. I.; Wessel, H.; Barnes, C. E.; Roesky, H. W.; Teichert, M.; Uson, I. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 3392-3393.
- 332. Gosink, H.-J.; Roesky, H. W.; Schmidt, H.-G.; Noltemeyer, M.; Irmer, E.; Herbst-Irmer, R. Organometallics 1994, 13, 3420-3426.
- 333. Fei, Z.; Busse, S.; Edelmann, F. T. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton. Trans. 2002, 2587-2589.
- 334. Stephan, D. W.; Nadasdi, T. T. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1996, 147, 147-208.
- 335. Trnka, T. M.; Parkin, G. Polyhedron 1997, 16, 1031-1045.
- 336. Parkin, G. Prog. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 47, 1-165.
- 337. Peruzzini, M.; De Los Rios, I.; Romerosa, A. Prog. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 49, 169-453.
- 338. Kuwata, S.; Hidai, M. Coord. Chem. Rev. 2001, 213, 211–305. 339. Latroche, M.; Ibers, J. A. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 1503–1505.
- 340. Lee, S. C.; Li, J.; Mitchell, J. C.; Holm, R. H. *Inorg. Chem.* **1992**, *31*, 4333–4338.
- 341. Gibson, V. C.; Shaw, A.; Williams, D. N. Polyhedron 1989, 8, 549-550.
- 342. Siewert, B.; Koellner, G.; Ruhlandt-Senge, K.; Schmock, F.; Mueller, U. Z. Anorg. Chem. 1991, 593, 160-168.
- 343. Christou, V.; Arnold, J. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 1993, 32, 1450.
- 344. Seela, J. L.; Huffman, J. C.; Christou, G. Polyhedron 1989, 8, 1797–1799.
- 345. Coucouvanis, D.; Al-Ahmad, S.; Kim, C. G.; Koo, S. M. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 2996–2998.
- 346. Coucouvanis, D.; Chen, S. J.; Mandimutsira, B. S.; Kim, C. G. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 4429-4430.

- 347. Mandimutsira, B. S.; Chen, S. J.; Demadis, K. D.; Coucouvanis, D. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 2267-2268.
- 348. Mandimutsira, B. S.; Chen, S. J.; Reynolds R.A., III; Coucouvanis, D. Polyhedron 1997, 16, 3911-3920.
- 349. Park, J. W.; Koo, S. M. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 4898-4900.
- 350. Do, Y.; Holm, R. H. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1985, 104, 33-40.
- 351. Tatsumi, K.; Sekiguchi, Y.; Nakamura, A.; Cramer, R. E.; Rupp, J. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108, 1358-1359.
- 352. Kim, B. J.; Park, J. W.; Koo, S. M. Polyhedron 2001, 20, 2279-2284.
- 353. Gilletti, P. F.; Femec, D. A.; Keen, F. I.; Brown, T. M. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 4008-4012.
- 354. Yan, X. F.; Fox, B. L.; Tiekink, E. R. T.; Young, C. G. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton. Trans. 1994, 1765–1767.
- 355. Drew, M. G. B.; Williams, D. M.; Rice, D. A. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1984, 89, L19-L20.
- 356. Drew, M. G. B.; Rice, D. A.; Williams, D. M. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1985, 1821-1828.
- 357. Tatsumi, K.; Inoue, Y.; Nakamura, A.; Cramer, R. E.; VanDoorne, W.; Gilje, J. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989, 111, 782-783.
- 358. Tatsumi, K.; Inoue, Y.; Kawaguchi, H.; Kohsaka, M.; Nakamura, A.; Cramer, R. E.; VanDoorne, W.; Taogoshi, G. J.; Richmann, P. N. Organometallics 1993, 12, 352-364.
- 359. Kawaguchi, H.; Tatsumi, K. Organometallics 1997, 16, 307-309.
- 360. Sadorge, A.; Sauvageot, P.; Blacque, O.; Kubicki, M. M.; Moise, C.; Leblanc, J.-C. J. Organomet. Chem. 1999, 575, 278-285.
- 361. Brunner, H.; Challet, S.; Kubicki, M. M.; Leblanc, J.-C.; Moise, C.; Volpato, F.; Wachter, J. Organometallics 1995, 14, 3623-3624.
- 362. Andras, M. T.; Duraj, S. A. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 2874-2880.
- 363. Brunner, H.; Klement, U.; Wachter, J.; Tsunoda, M.; Leblanc, J. C.; Moise, C. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 584-585.
- 364. Bach, H. J.; Brunner, H.; Wachter, J.; Kubicki, M. M.; Leblanc, J. C.; Moise, C.; Volpato, F.; Nuber, B.; Ziegler, M. L. Organometallics 1992, 11, 1403-1407.
- 365. Brunner, H.; Gehart, G.; Meier, W.; Wachter, J.; Nuber, B. J. Organomet. Chem. 1993, 454, 117-122.
- 366. Challet, S.; Blacque, O.; Gehart, G.; Kubicki, M. M.; Leblanc, J.-C.; Moise, C.; Brunner, H.; Wachter, J. New J. Chem. 1997, 21, 903-908.
- 367. Leblanc, J.-C.; Moise, C.; Volpato, F.; Brunner, H.; Gehart, G.; Wachter, J.; Nuber, B. J. Organomet. Chem. 1995, 485, 237-242.
- 368. Brunner, H.; Gehart, G.; Meier, W.; Wachter, J.; Burgemeister, T. J. Organomet. Chem. 1995, 493, 163-166.
- 369. Brunner, H.; Wachter, J.; Gehart, G.; Leblanc, J.-C.; Moiese, C. Organometallics 1996, 15, 1327-1330.
- 370. Brunner, H.; Gehart, G.; Leblanc, J.-C.; Moise, C.; Nuber, B.; Stubenhofer, B.; Volpato, F.; Wachter, J. Organomet. Chem. 1996, 517, 47-51.
- 371. Brunner, H.; Kubicki, M. M.; Gehart, G.; Lehrl, E.; Lucas, D.; Meier, W.; Mugnier, Y.; Nuber, B.; Stubenhofer, B. J. Organomet. Chem. 1996, 510, 291-295.
- 372. Blacque, O.; Brunner, H.; Kubicki, M. M.; Nuber, B.; Stubenhofer, B.; Wachter, J.; Wrackmeyer, B. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 1997, 36, 352-353.
- 373. Brunner, H.; Kubicki, M. M.; Leblanc, J.-C.; Meier, W.; Moise, C.; Sadorge, A.; Stubenhofer, B.; Wachter, J.; Wanninger, R. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 843-848
- 374. Shin, J. H.; Parkin, G. Organometallics 1994, 13, 2147-2149.
- 375. Shin, J. H.; Parkin, G. Organometallics 1995, 14, 1104-1106.
- 376. Bosing, M.; Conrad, O.; Hommerich, B.; Kirschbaum, K.; Kovari, E.; Krebs, B.; Pinkerton, A. A.; Steinforth, W. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1998, 274, 251-256.
- 377. Sokolov, M.; Imoto, H.; Saito, T.; Fedorov, V. Polyhedron 1998, 17, 3735-3738.
- 378. Schreiner, S.; Aleandri, L. E.; Kang, D.; Ibers, J. A. Inorg. Chem. 1989, 28, 392-393.
- 379. Matsubayashi, G.; Natsuaki, K.; Nakano, M.; Tamura, H.; Arakawa, R. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1997, 262, 103-107.
- 380. Flomer, W. A.; Kolis, J. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1988, 110, 3682-3683.
- 381. Tremel, W. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 1030-1033.
- 382. Corwin, D. T. Jr.; Corning, J. F.; Koch, S. A.; Millar, M. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1995, 229, 335-342.
- 383. Carmalt, C. J.; Dinnage, C. W.; Parkin, I. P.; White, A. J. P.; Williams, D. J. *Inorg. Chem.* **2002**, *41*, 3668–3672. 384. Carmalt, C. J.; Dinnage, C. W.; Parkin, I. P.; White, A. J. P.; Williams, D. J. *J. Chem. Soc. Dalton. Trans.* **2001**, 2554-2558.
- 385. Koo, S. M.; Bergero, R.; Salifoglou, A.; Coucouvanis, D. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 4844-4846.
- 386. Tatsumi, K.; Matsubara, I.; Inoue, Y.; Nakamura, A.; Miki, K.; Kasai, N. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989, 111, 7766-7777.
- 387. Curnow, O. J.; Curtis, M. D.; Rheingold, A.; Haggerty, B. S. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 4043-4047.
- 388. Lim, P. J.; Gable, R. W.; Young, C. G. Inorg. Chim. Acta 2000, 310, 120-125.
- 389. Tatsumi, K.; Sekiguchi, Y.; Nakamura, A.; Cramer, R. E.; Rupp, J. J. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 1986, 25, 86.
- 390. Tatsumi, K.; Matsubara, I.; Sekiguchi, Y.; Nakamura, A.; Mealli, C. Inorg. Chem. 1989, 28, 773-780.
- 391. Martin, J. L.; Takats, J. Can. J. Chem. 1989, 67, 1914-1923.
- 392. Challen, P. R.; Peapus, D. H.; Magnus, K. A. Polyhedron 1997, 16, 1447-1451.
- 393. Tatsumi, K.; Takeda, J.; Sekiguchi, Y.; Kohsaka, M.; Nakamura, A. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 1985, 24, 332-333.
- 394. Jourdain, I. V.; Guyon, F. Can. J. Chem. 2000, 78, 1570-1574.
- 395. Tatsumi, K.; Inoue, Y.; Nakamura, A. J. Organomet. Chem. 1993, 444, C25-C27.
- 396. Fandos, R.; Hernandez, C.; Lopez-Solera, I.; Otero, A.; Rodriguez, A.; Ruiz, M. J.; Terreros, P. Organometallics 2000, 19, 5318-5324.
- 397. Weir, J. R.; Fay, R. C. Inorg. Chem. 1986, 25, 2969-2976.
- 398. Henderson, R. A.; Hughes, D. L.; Stephens, A. N. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton. Trans. 1990, 1097-1099.
- 399. Canich, J. A. M.; Cotton, F. A. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1989, 159, 163-168.
- 400. Antinolo, A.; Carrillo-Hermosilla, F.; Fernandez-Baeza, J.; Garcia-Yuste, S.; Otero, A.; Palomares, E.; Rodriguez, A. M.; Sanchez-Barba, L. F. J. Organomet. Chem. 2000, 603, 194-202.
- 401. Blacque, O.; Brunner, H.; Kubicki, M. M.; Leblanc, J.-C.; Meier, W.; Moise, C.; Mugnier, Y.; Sadorge, A.; Wachter, J.; Zabel, M. J. Organomet. Chem. 2001, 634, 47-54.
- 402. Hargittai, M. Chem. Rev. 2000, 100, 2233-2301.
- 403. McLoughlin, M. A.; Keder, N. L.; Kaska, W. C. Acta Cryst. C 1992, C48, 1098-1099.

- 404. Gutowski, M.; Boldyrev, A. I.; Simons, J.; Rak, J.; Blazejowski, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 1173-1180.
- 405. Torardi, C. C.; Brixner, L. H.; Blasse, G. J. Solid State Chem. 1987, 67, 21-25.
- 406. Du, L.-S.; Schurko, R. W.; Lim, K. H.; Grey, C. P. J. Phys. Chem. A 2001, 105, 760-768.
- 407. Favas, M. C.; Harrowfield, J. M.; Kepert, D. L.; Skelton, B. W.; Vitolo, L. M.; White, A. H. Aust. J. Chem. 1992, 45, 1547-1557.
- 408. Bjerrum, N. J.; Berg, R. W.; Christensen, E.; Kerridge, D. H.; von Barner, J. H. Anal. Chem. 1995, 67, 2129-2135.
- 409. Robert, E.; Christensen, E.; Gilbert, B.; Bjerrum, N. J. Electrochim. Acta 1999, 44, 1689-1696.
- 410. Alimova, Z.; Polyakov, E.; Polyakova, L.; Kremenetskii, V. J. Fluorine Chem. 1992, 59, 203-210.
- 411. Faegri, K. Jr.; Haaland, A.; Martinsen, K.-G.; Strand, T. G.; Volden, H. V.; Swang, O.; Anderson, C.; Persson, C.; Bogdanovic, S.; Herrmann, W. A. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton. Trans. 1997, 1013-1018.
- 412. Gove, S. K.; Gropen, O.; Faegri, K.; Haaland, A.; Martinsen, K. G.; Strand, T. G.; Volden, H. V.; Swang, O. J. Mol. Struct. 1999, 485-486, 115-119.
- 413. Bellingham, R. K.; Graham, J. T.; Jones, P. J.; Kirby, J. R.; Levason, W.; Ogden, J. S.; Brisdon, A. K.; Hope, E. G. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton. Trans. 1991, 3387-3392
- 414. Hoenle, W.; Von Schnering, H. G. Z. Kristallogr. 1990, 191, 139-140.
- 415. Cotton, F. A.; Kibala, P. A.; Matusz, M.; Sandor, R. B. W. Acta Cryst. C 1991, C47, 2435-2437.
- 416. Douglass, R. M.; Staritzky, E. Anal. Chem. **1957**, *29*, 315–316. 417. Shawki, E. E.; Flengas, S. N.; Sadoway, D. R. Can. J. Chem. **1989**, *67*, 1193–1199.
- 418. Lee, G. R.; Crayston, J. A. Polyhedron 1996, 15, 1817-1821.
- 419. Andrade, C. K. Z.; Oliveira, G. R. Tetrahedron Lett. 2002, 43, 1935-1937.
- 420. Guo, Q.; Miyaji, T.; Gao, G.; Hara, R.; Takahashi, T. Chem. Commun. 2001, 1018-1019.
- 421. Murtuza, S.; Harkins, S. B.; Long, G. S.; Sen, A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 1867-1872.
- 422. Kobayashi, S.; Busujima, T.; Nagayama, S. Chem.-Eur. J. 2000, 6, 3491-3494.
- 423. Henke, H. Z. Anorg. Chem. 1993, 619, 311-317.
- 424. Babian-Kibala, E.; Chen, H.; Cotton, F. A.; Daniels, L. M.; Falvello, L. R.; Schmid, G.; Yao, Z. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1996, 250, 359-364.
- 425. Bachtler, M.; Rockenberger, J.; Freyland, W.; Rosenkilde, C.; Ostvold, T. J. Phys. Chem. 1994, 98, 742-747.
- 426. Sun, I. W.; Hussey, C. L. Inorg. Chem. 1989, 28, 2731-2737.
- 427. Von Barner, J. H.; McCurry, L. E.; Joergensen, C. A.; Bjerrum, N. J.; Mamantov, G. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 1034-1039.
- 428. Willey, G. R.; Woodman, T. J.; Drew, M. G. B. Polyhedron 1997, 16, 351-353.
- 429. Poitras, J.; Beauchamp, A. L. Can. J. Chem. 1994, 72, 1675-1683.
- 430. Calderazzo, F.; D'Attoma, M.; Pampaloni, G.; Troyanov, S. I. Z. Anorg. Chem. 2001, 627, 180-185.
- 431. Kirk, J. R.; Page, D.; Prazak, M.; Katovic, V. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 27, 1956-1963.
- 432. Lee, G. R.; Crayston, J. A. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton. Trans. 1991, 3073-3076.
- 433. Karaliota, A.; Kamariotaki, M.; Hatzipanayioti, D. Trans. Met. Chem. 1997, 22, 411-417.
- 434. McKarns, P. J.; Heeg, M. J.; Winter, C. H. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 4743-4747.
- 435. Siodmiak, M.; Frenking, G.; Korkin, A. J. Phys. Chem. A 2000, 104, 1186-1195.
- 436. Krebs, B.; Janssen, H.; Bjerrum, N. J.; Berg, R. W.; Papatheodorou, G. N. Inorg. Chem. 1984, 23, 164-171.
- 437. Boghosian, S.; Voyiatzis, G. A. Polyhedron 1993, 12, 2965-2971.
- 438. Fields, M.; Devonshire, R.; Edwards, H. G. M.; Fawcett, V. J. Chem. Soc., Faraday Trans. 1995, 91, 1445-1449.
- 439. Roesky, H. W.; Schrumpf, F.; Noltemeyer, M. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton. Trans. 1990, 713-714.
- 440. Fettinger, J. C.; Keogh, D. W.; Poli, R. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 2343-2347.
- 441. Alcalde, M. I.; de la Mata, J.; Gomez, M.; Royo, P.; Sanchez, F. J. Organomet. Chem. 1995, 492, 151-155.
- 442. Blaurock, S.; Hey-Hawkins, E. Z. Anorg. Chem. 2002, 628, 2515-2522.
- 443. Willey, G. R.; Butcher, M. L.; Woodman, T. J.; Drew, M. G. B. Chem. Commun. 1994, 2721-2722.
- 444. Calderazzo, F.; Pallavicini, P.; Pampaloni, G.; Zanazzi, P. F. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton. Trans. 1990, 2743-2746.
- 445. Loose, W.; Monheim, B.; Schaefer, H. Z. Anorg. Chem. 1985, 522, 108-116.
- 446. Geyer-Lippmann, J.; Simon, A.; Stollmaier, F. Z. Anorg. Chem. 1984, 516, 55-66.
- 447. Hoskin, A. J.; Stephan, D. W. Coord. Chem. Rev. 2002, 233-234, 107-129.
- 448. Maseras, F.; Lledos, A.; Clot, E.; Eisenstein, O. Chem. Rev. 2000, 100, 601-636.
- 449. Dawson, D. M.; Meetsma, A.; Roedelof, J. B.; Teuben, J. H. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1997, 259, 237-239.
- 450. Cai, H.; Chen, T.; Wang, X.; Schultz, A. J.; Koetzle, T. F.; Xue, Z. Chem. Commun. 2002, 230-231.
- 451. Strazisar, S. A.; Wolczanski, P. T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 4728-4740.
- 452. Visciglio, V. M.; Fanwick, P. E.; Rothwell, I. P. Chem. Commun. 1992, 1505–1507.
- 453. Ankianiec, B. C.; Fanwick, P. E.; Rothwell, I. P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 4710-4712.
- 454. Bayse, C. A.; Hall, M. B. Organometallics 1998, 17, 4861-4868.
- 455. Baynham, R. F. G.; Chetwynd-Talbot, J.; Grebenik, P.; Perutz, R. N.; Powell, M. H. A. J. Organomet. Chem. 1985, 284, 229-242.
- 456. Parkin, G.; Van Asselt, A.; Leahy, D. J.; Whinnery, L.; Hua, N. G.; Quan, R. W.; Henling, L. M.; Schaefer, W. P.; Santarsiero, B. D.; Bercaw, J. E. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 82-85.
- 457. Burckhardt, U.; Casty, G. L.; Gavenonis, J.; Tilley, T. D. Organometallics 2002, 21, 3108-3122.
- 458. Nikonov, G. I.; Kuzmina, L. G.; Howard, J. A. K. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton. Trans. 2002, 3037–3046.
- 459. Nikonov, G. I.; Kuzmina, L. G.; Vyboishchikov, S. F.; Lemenovskii, D. A.; Howard, J. A. K. Chem.-Eur. J. 1999, 5, 2947-2964.
- 460. Bakhmutov, V. I.; Howard, J. A. K.; Keen, D. A.; Kuzmina, L. G.; Leech, M. A.; Nikonov, G. I.; Vorontsov, E. V.; Wilson, C. C. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton. Trans. 2000, 1, 1631-1635.
- 461. Fan, M.-F.; Lin, Z. Organometallics 1998, 17, 1092-1100.
- 462. Jiang, Q.; Carroll, P. J.; Berry, D. H. Organometallics 1991, 10, 3648-3655.
- 463. Antinolo, A.; Chaudret, B.; Commenges, G.; Fajardo, M.; Jalon, F.; Morris, R. H.; Otero, A.; Schweltzer, C. T. Chem. Commun. 1988, 1210-1212.
- 464. Kubas Gregory, J. Acc. Chem. Res. 1988, 21, 120-128.
- 465. Heinekey, D. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 6074-6077.

- 466. Barthelat, J. C.; Chaudret, B.; Daudey, J. P.; De Loth, P.; Poilblanc, R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 9896-9898.
- 467. Jalon, F. A.; Otero, A.; Manzano, B. R.; Villasenor, E.; Chaudret, B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 10123–10124.
- 468. Sabo-Etienne, S.; Chaudret, B.; Abou el Makarim, H.; Barthelat, J.-C.; Daudey, J.-P.; Ulrich, S.; Limbach, H.-H.; Moise, C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 11602–11603.
- 469. Bell, R. A.; Cohen, S. A.; Doherty, N. M.; Threlkel, R. S.; Bercaw, J. E. Organometallics 1986, 5, 972–975.
- 470. Gibson, V. C.; Bercaw, J., E.; Bruton, W. J. Jr.; Sanner, R. D. Organometallics 1986, 5, 976–979.
- 471. Antinolo, A.; Carrillo, F.; Chaudret, B.; Fajardo, M.; Fernandez-Baeza, J.; Lanfranchi, M.; Limbach, H.-H.; Maurer, M.; Otero, A.; Pellinghelli, M. A. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 5163-5164.
- 472. Antinolo, A.; Carrillo-Hermosilla, F.; Chaudret, B.; Fajardo, M.; Fernandez-Baeza, J.; Lanfranchi, M.; Limbach, H.-H.; Maurer, M.; Otero, A.; Pellinghelli, M. A. *Inorg. Chem.* **1996**, *35*, 7873–7881.
- 473. Bakhmutov, V. I.; Vorontsov, E. V.; Bakhmutova, E. V.; Boni, G.; Moise, C. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 1121-1125.
- 474. Arkhireeva, T. M.; Bulychev, B. M.; Sizov, A. I.; Sokolova, T. A.; Bel'skii, V. K.; Soloveichik, G. L. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1990, 169, 109–118.
- 475. Arkhireeva, T. M.; Bulychev, B. M.; Sokolova, T. A.; Soloveichik, G. L.; Belsky, V. K.; Boiko, G. N. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1988, 141, 221–226.
- 476. Deutsch, P. P.; Maguire, J. A.; Jones, W. D.; Eisenberg, R. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 686-690.
- 477. Fix, R. M.; Gordon, R. G.; Hoffman, D. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 7833-7835.
- 478. Bott, S. G.; Hoffman, D. M.; Rangarajan, S. P. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton. Trans. 1996, 1979–1982.
- 479. Ruppa, K. B. P.; Gambarotta, S.; Yap, G. P. A. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1998, 280, 143-149.
- 480. Wills, A. R.; Edwards, P. G. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton. Trans. 1989, 1253–1257.
- 481. Al-Soudani, A.-R. H.; Edwards, P. G.; Hursthouse, M. B.; Malik, K. M. A. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton. Trans. 1995, 355-361.
- 482. Suh, S.; Hoffman, D. M. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 5015-5018.
- 483. Tayebani, M.; Kasani, A.; Feghali, K.; Gambarotta, S.; Bensimon, C. Chem. Commun. 1997, 2001–2002.
- 484. Tayebani, M.; Feghali, K.; Gambarotta, S.; Bensimon, C. Organometallics 1997, 16, 5084-5088.
- 485. Tayebani, M.; Gambarotta, S.; Yap, G. P. A. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 1998, 37, 3002-3005.
- 486. Hoffman, D. M.; Suh, S. Chem. Commun. 1993, 714-715.
- 487. Shin, J. H.; Parkin, G. Inorg. Chem. Communications 1999, 2, 428-430.
- 488. Schmidt, S.; Sundermeyer, J. J. Organomet. Chem. 1994, 472, 127-138.
- 489. Radius, U.; Schorm, A.; Kairies, D.; Schmidt, S.; Moller, F.; Pritzkow, H.; Sundermeyer, J. J. Organomet. Chem. 2002, 655, 96–104.
- 490. Nikonov, G. I.; Putala, M.; Kazennova, N. B.; Lemenovskii, D. A.; Batsanov, A. S.; Struchkov, Y. T. J. Organomet. Chem. 1994, 482, 187–190.
- 491. Fryzuk, M. D.; Kozak, C. M.; Bowdridge, M. R.; Patrick, B. O.; Rettig, S. J. Nitride. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 8389–8397.
- 492. Cotton, F. A.; Duraj, S. A.; Roth, W. J. Inorg. Chem. 1984, 23, 3592-3596.
- 493. Cotton, F. A.; Roth, W. J. Inorg. Chem. 1984, 23, 945-947.
- 494. Boyd, P. D. W.; Nielson, A. J.; Rickard, C. E. F. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton. Trans. 1987, 307-314.
- 495. Scheper, J. T.; Jayaratne, K. C.; Liable-Sands, L. M.; Yap, G. P. A.; Rheingold, A. L.; Winter, C. H. *Inorg. Chem.* 1999, *38*, 4354–4360.
- 496. Cotton, F. A.; Diebold, M. P.; Roth, W. J. Polyhedron 1985, 4, 1103-1108.
- 497. Cotton, F. A.; Duraj, S. A.; Roth, W. J. Inorg. Chem. 1984, 23, 4046-4050.
- 498. Hovnanian, N.; Hubert-Pfalzgraf, L. G.; Le Borgne, G. Inorg. Chem. 1985, 24, 4647-4651.
- 499. Cotton, F. A.; Diebold, M. P.; Roth, W. J. Inorg. Chem. 1986, 25, 1728-1729.
- 500. Cotton, F. A.; Hall, M. B.; Pietsch, M. A. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 1473-1475.
- 501. Cotton, F. A.; Lu, J. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 2639-2644.
- 502. Cotton, F. A.; Diebold, M. P.; Roth, W. J. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1985, 105, 41-49.
- 503. Baker, R. J.; Davies, P. C.; Edwards, P. G.; Farley, R. D.; Liyanage, S. S.; Murphy, D. M.; Yong, B. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 2002, 1975–1984.
- 504. Curtis, M. D.; Real, J. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 27, 3176-3180.
- 505. Minhas, S.; Richens, D. T. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton. Trans. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 703-708.
- 506. Minhas, S.; Devlin, A.; Richens, D. T.; Benyei, A. C.; Lightfoot, P. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton. Trans. 1998, 953-958.
- 507. Veige, A. S.; Kleckley, T. S.; Chamberlin, R. M.; Neithamer, D. R.; Lee, C. E.; Wolczanski, P. T.; Lobkovsky, E. B.; Glassey, W. V. J. Organomet. Chem. 1999, 591, 194–203.
- 508. Schweiger, S. W.; Freeman, E. E.; Clark, J. R.; Potyen, M. C.; Fanwick, P. E.; Rothwell, I. P. Inorg. Chim. Acta 2000, 307, 63–70.
- Calderazzo, F.; Englert, U.; Maichle-Mossmer, C.; Marchetti, F.; Pampaloni, G.; Petroni, D.; Pinzino, C.; Strahle, J.; Tripepi, G. *Inorg. Chim. Acta* 1998, 270, 177–188.
- 510. Ooi, B.-L.; Sakane, G.; Shibahara, T. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 7452-7454.
- 511. Orgel, L. E. J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem. 1960, 14, 138-139.
- 512. Cotton, F. A.; Diebold, M. P.; Roth, W. J. Inorg. Chem. 1987, 26, 2889-2893.
- 513. Ooi, B.-L.; Shihabara, T.; Sakane, G.; Mok, K.-F. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1997, 266, 103-107.
- 514. Ooi, B.-L.; Xu, Q.; Shibahara, T. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1998, 274, 103-107.
- 515. Cotton, F. A.; Diebold, M. P.; Roth, W. J. Polyhedron 1985, 4, 1485-1491.
- 516. Floriani, C.; Solari, E.; Franceschi, F.; Scopelliti, R.; Belanzoni, P.; Rosi, M. Chem.-Eur. J. 2001, 7, 3052-3061.
- 517. Liang, B.; Andrews, L. J. Phys. Chem. A 2002, 106, 3738-3743.
- Sokolov, M.; Virovets, A.; Nadolinnyi, V.; Hegetschweiler, K.; Fedin, V.; Podberezskaya, N.; Fedorov, V. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 3503–3509.
- 519. Sokolov, M. N.; Hernandez-Molina, R.; Elsegood, M. R. J.; Health, S. L.; Clegg, W.; Sykes, A. G. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton. Trans. 1997, 2059–2065.
- 520. Sokolov, M.; Gerasko, O.; Virovets, A.; Fedorov, V.; Hegetschweiler, K. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1998, 271, 222-227.
- 521. Sokolov, M.; Virovets, A.; Clegg, W. Z. Anorg. Chem. 2001, 627, 119-123.
- 522. Sokolov, M.; Imoto, H.; Saito, T.; Fedorov, V. Z. Anorg. Chem. 1999, 625, 989-993.

- 523. Fedin, V. P.; Virovets, A. V.; Dybtsev, D. N.; Gerasko, O. A.; Hegetschweiler, K.; Elsegood, M. R. J.; Clegg, W. Inorg. Chim. Acta 2000, 304, 301-304.
- 524. Sokolov, M.; Imoto, H.; Saito, T.; Fedorov, V. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton. Trans. 1999, 85-90.
- 525. Fedin, V. P.; Fedorov, V. E.; Imoto, H.; Saito, T. Polyhedron 1997, 16, 995-998.
- 526. Drew, M. G. B.; Rice, D. A.; Williams, D. M. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton. Trans. 1984, 1087-1090.
- 527. Drew, M. G. B.; Rice, D. A.; Williams, D. M. Acta Cryst. C 1984, C40, 1547-1549.
- 528. Schaefer, H.; Loose, W.; Monheim, B. Z. Anorg. Chem. 1985, 522, 99-107.
- 529. Monheim, B.; Schaefer, H. Z. Anorg. Chem. 1985, 520, 87-92.
- 530. Herrmann, W. A.; Oefele, K.; Elison, M.; Kuehn, F. E.; Roesky, P. W. J. Organomet. Chem. 1994, 480, C7-C9.
- 531. Bursten, B. E.; Green, M. R.; Katovic, V.; Kirk, J. R.; Lightner, D., Jr., Inorg. Chem. 1986, 25, 831-834.
- 532. Blaurock, S.; Hey-Hawkins, E. Z. Anorg. Chem. 2002, 628, 37-40.
- 533. Ting, C.; Messerle, L. Inorg. Chem. 1989, 28, 171-173.
- 534. Cotton, F. A.; Babaian-Kibala, E.; Falvello, L. R.; Shang, M. *Inorg. Chem.* **1990**, *29*, 2591–2593. 535. van Zee, R. J.; Li, S.; Weltner, W. Jr. *J. Chem. Phys.* **1995**, *102*, 4367–4374.
- 536. Scoles, L.; Ruppa, K. B. P.; Gambarotta, S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 2529-2530.
- 537. Cotton, F. A.; Daniels, L. M.; Murillo, C. A.; Wang, X. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 12449-12450.
- 538. Luetkens, M. L.; Elcesser, W. L.; Huffman, J. C.; Sattelberger, A. P. Inorg. Chem. 1984, 23, 1718–1726. 539. Raynor, J. B.; Sattelberger, A. P.; Luetkens, M. L. Jr. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1986, 113, 51–54.
- 540. Scioly, A. J.; Luetkens, M. L., Jr.; Wilson, R. B. Jr.; Huffman, J. C.; Sattelberger, A. P. Polyhedron 1987, 6, 741-757.
- 541. Fryzuk, M. D.; Johnson, S. A.; Rettig, S. J. Organometallics 2000, 19, 3931-3941.
- 542. Fryzuk, M. D.; Johnson, S. A.; Rettig, S. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 11024-11025.
- 543. Fryzuk, M. D.; McConville, D. H. Inorg. Chem. 1989, 28, 1613-1614.
- 544. Lee, T.-Y.; Messerle, L. J. Organomet. Chem. 1998, 553, 397-403.
- 545. Hartung, J. B. Jr.; Pedersen, S. F. Organometallics 1990, 9, 1414-1417.
- 546. Fernandez-Baeza, J.; Jalon, F. A.; Otero, A.; Rodrigo-Blanco, M. E.; Etienne, M. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton. Trans. 1998, 769-773.
- 547. Takai, K.; Ishiyama, T.; Yasue, H.; Nobunaka, T.; Itoh, M.; Oshiki, T.; Mashima, K.; Tani, K. Organometallics 1998, 17, 5128-5132.
- 548. Felten, C.; Olbrich, F.; Rehder, D. Organometallics 1993, 12, 982-984.
- 549. Hey, E.; Weller, F.; Dehnicke, K. Z. Anorg. Chem. 1984, 514, 25-38.
- 550. Collazo, C.; Rodewald, D.; Schmidt, H.; Rehder, D. Organometallics 1996, 15, 4884-4887.
- 551. Rehder, D.; Bottcher, C.; Collazo, C.; Hedelt, R.; Schmidt, H. J. Organomet. Chem. 1999, 585, 294-307.
- 552. Vrtis, R. N.; Rao, C. P.; Warner, S.; Lippard, S. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1988, 110, 2669-2670.
- 553. Vrtis, R. N.; Liu, S.; Rao, C. P.; Bott, S. G.; Lippard, S. J. Organometallics 1991, 10, 275-285.
- 554. Protasiewicz, J. D.; Masschelein, A.; Lippard, S. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 808-810.
- 555. Protasiewicz, J. D.; Bronk, B. S.; Masschelein, A.; Lippard, S. J. Organometallics 1994, 13, 1300-1311.
- 556. Vrtis, R. N.; Rao, C. P.; Bott, S. G.; Lippard, S. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1988, 110, 7564-7566.
- 557. Cotton, F. A.; Shang, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 1584-1590.
- 558. Cotton, F. A.; Feng, X. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 3697-3701.
- 559. Cotton, F. A.; Shang, M. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 2619-2622
- 560. Cotton, F. A.; Shang, M. Organometallics 1990, 9, 2131-2137.
- 561. Cotton, F. A.; Shang, M. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 2614-2618.
- 562. Cotton, F. A.; Shang, M. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 508-514.
- 563. Roskamp, E. J.; Pedersen, S. F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 6551-6553.
- 564. Etienne, M.; White, P. S.; Templeton, J. L. Organometallics 1991, 10, 3801-3803.
- 565. Etienne, M.; Donnadieu, B.; Mathieu, R.; Baeza, J. F.; Jalon, F.; Otero, A.; Rodrigo-Blanco, M. E. Organometallics 1996, 15, 4597-4603.
- 566. Jaffart, J.; Nayral, C.; Choukroun, R.; Mathieu, R.; Etienne, M. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 425-428.
- 567. Etienne, M. Organometallics 1994, 13, 410-412.
- 568. Etienne, M.; Biasotto, F.; Mathieu, R. Chem. Commun. 1994, 1661-1662.
- 569. Jaffart, J.; Mathieu, R.; Etienne, M.; McGrady, J. E.; Eisenstein, O.; Maseras, F. Chem. Commun. 1998, 2011-2012.
- 570. Jaffart, J.; Etienne, M.; Maseras, F.; McGrady, J. E.; Eisenstein, O. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 6000-6013.
- 571. Hierso, J.-C.; Etienne, M. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 839-842.
- 572. Fernandez-Baeza, J.; Jalon, F. A.; Otero, A.; Rodrigo-Blanco, M. E. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton. Trans. 1995, 1015–1021.
- 573. Antinolo, A.; Carrillo-Hermosilla, F.; Diez-Barra, E.; Fernandez-Baeza, J.; Fernandez-Lopez, M.; Lara-Sanchez, A.; Moreno, A.; Otero, A.; Rodriguez, A. M.; Tejeda, J. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton. Trans. 1998, 3737-3744.
- 574. Otero, A.; Fernandez-Baeza, J.; Tejeda, J.; Antinolo, A.; Carrillo-Hermosilla, F.; Diez-Barra, E.; Lara-Sanchez, A.; Fernandez-Lopez, M. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton. Trans. 2000, 2367-2374.
- 575. Guerin, F.; McConville, D. H.; Vittal, J. J. Organometallics 1995, 14, 3154-3156.
- 576. Fryzuk, M. D.; Kozak, C. M.; Bowdridge, M. R.; Jin, W.; Tung, D.; Patrick, B. O.; Rettig, S. J. Organometallics 2001, 20, 3752-3761.
- 577. Fryzuk, M. D.; Kozak, C. M.; Bowdridge, M. R.; Patrick, B. O. C. Organometallics 2002, 21, 5047-5054.
- 578. Fryzuk, M. D.; Kozak, C. M.; Mehrkhodavandi, P.; Morello, L.; Patrick, B. O.; Rettig, S. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 516-517.
- 579. Hillebrand, G.; Spannenberg, A.; Arndt, P.; Kempe, R. Organometallics 1997, 16, 5585-5588.
- 580. Tayebani, M.; Conoci, S.; Feghali, K.; Gambarotta, S.; Yap, G. P. A. Organometallics 2000, 19, 4568–4574.
- 581. Tayebani, M.; Gambarotta, S.; Yap, G. Organometallics 1998, 17, 3639-3641.
- 582. Tayebani, M.; Feghali, K.; Gambarotta, S.; Yap, G. Organometallics 1998, 17, 4282-4290.
- 583. Covert, K. J.; Neithamer, D. R.; Zonnevylle, M. C.; LaPointe, R. E.; Schaller, C. P.; Wolczanski, P. T. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 2494-2508.
- 584. Veige, A. S.; Slaughter, L. M.; Wolczanski, P. T.; Matsunaga, N.; Decker, S. A.; Cundari, T. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2001**, 123, 6419-6420.

- 585. Coffindaffer, T. W.; Steffy, B. D.; Rothwell, I. P.; Folting, K.; Huffman, J. C.; Streib, W. E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989, 111, 4742-4749
- 586. Cotton, F. A.; Murillo, C. A.; Wang, X. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1996, 245, 115-118.
- 587. Cotton, F. A.; Roth, W. J. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1984, 85, 17-21.
- 588. Koulkes-Pujo, A. M.; Le Motais, B.; Hubert-Pfalzgraf, L. G. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton. Trans. 1986, 1741-1742.
- 589. Goursot, A.; Le Motais, B.; Daul, C.; Penigault, E.; Koulkes-Pujo, A. M. Chem. Phys. Lett. **1987**, 138, 339–345. 590. Cotton, F. A.; Duraj, S. A.; Roth, W. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1984**, 106, 6987–6993.
- 591. Ting, C.; Baenziger, N. C.; Messerle, L. J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Commun. 1988, 1133-1135.
- 592. Stranger, R.; McGrady, J. E.; Lovell, T. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 6795-6806.
- 593. Riley, P. N.; Clark, J. R.; Fanwick, P. E.; Rothwell, I. P. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1999, 288, 35-39.
- 594. Cotton, F. A.; Duraj, S. A.; Falvello, L. L.; Roth, W. J. Inorg. Chem. 1985, 24, 4389-4393.
- 595. Gilletti, P. F.; Young, V. G.; Brown, T. M. Inorg. Chem. 1989, 28, 4034-4036.
- 596. Cotton, F. A.; Shang, M. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 969-976.
- 597. Cotton, F. A.; Diebold, M. P.; Feng, X.; Roth, W. J. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 27, 3413-3421.
- 598. Babaian-Kibala, E.; Cotton, F. A.; Shang, M. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 5148-5156.
- 599. Cotton, F. A.; Roth, W. J. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1987, 126, 161-166.
- 600. Ting, C.; Messerle, L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989, 111, 3449-3450.
- 601. Vrtis, R. N.; Bott, S. G.; Rardin, R. L.; Lippard, S. J. Organometallics 1991, 10, 1364-1373.
- 602. Carnahan, E. M.; Lippard, S. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 4166-4174.
- 603. Yang, D.-S.; Zgierski, M. Z.; Berces, A.; Hackett, P. A.; Martinez, A.; Salahub, D. R. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1997, 277, 71-78.
- 604. Green, S. M. E.; Alex, S.; Fleischer, N. L.; Millam, E. L.; Marcy, T. P.; Leopold, D. G. J. Chem. Phys. 2001, 114, 2653-2668
- 605. Araya, M. A.; Cotton, F. A.; Matonic, J. H.; Murillo, C. A. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 5424-5428.
- 606. Hubert-Pfalzgraf, L. G.; Zaki, A.; Toupet, L. Polyhedron 1993, 12, 1411-1413.
- 607. Herberhold, M.; Peukert, J.; Kruger, M.; Daschner, D.; Milius, W. Z. Anorg. Chem. 2000, 626, 1289-1295.
- 608. Kwon, D.; Real, J.; Curtis, M. D.; Rheingold, A.; Haggerty, B. S. Organometallics 1991, 10, 143-148.
- 609. Lin, Z.; Fan, M.-F. Struct. Bond. 1997, 87, 35-80.
- 610. Ogliaro, F.; Cordier, S.; Halet, J.-F.; Perrin, C.; Saillard, J.-Y.; Sergent, M. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 6199-6207.
- 611. Naumov, N. G.; Cordier, S.; Perrin, C. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2002, 41, 3002–3004.
 612. Lichtenberger, D. L.; Fan, H.-J.; Gruhn, N. E.; Bitterwolf, T. E.; Gallagher, S. Organometallics 2000, 19, 2012–2021.
- 613. Childs, G. I.; Gallagher, S.; Bitterwolf, T. E.; George, M. W. Dalton 2000, 4534-4541.
- 614. Grills, D. C.; Childs, G. I.; George, M. W. Chem. Commun. 2000, 1841-1842.
- 615. Calderazzo, F.; Castellani, M.; Pampaloni, G.; Zanazzi, P. F. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton. Trans. 1985, 1989–1995.
- 616. Barybin, M. V.; Young, V. G. Jr.; Ellis, J. E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 9237-9238.
- 617. Aharonian, G.; Hubert-Pfalzgraf, L. G.; Zaki, A.; Le Borgne, G. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 3105-3107.
- 618. Carnahan, E. M.; Rardin, R. L.; Bott, S. G.; Lippard, S. J. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 5193-5201.
- 619. Carnahan, E. M.; Lippard, S. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 3230-3231.
- 620. Felten, C.; Rodewald, D.; Priebsch, W.; Olbrich, F.; Rehder, D. J. Organomet. Chem. 1994, 480, 51-63.
- 621. Lorente, P.; Carfagna, C.; Etienne, M.; Donnadieu, B. Organometallics 1996, 15, 1090-1092.
- 622. McGeary, M. J.; Gamble, A. S.; Templeton, J. L. Organometallics 1988, 7, 271-279.
- 623. Calderazzo, F.; Felten, C.; Pampaloni, G.; Rehder, D. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton. Trans. 1992, 2003–2007.
- 624. Felten, C.; Rehder, D.; Pampaloni, G.; Calderazzo, F. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1992, 202, 121-122.
- 625. Rodewald, D.; Schulzke, C.; Rehder, D. J. Organomet. Chem. 1995, 498, 29-35.
- 626. Rodewald, D.; Rehder, D. Chem. Commun. 1996, 1603-1604.
- 627. Carnahan, E. M.; Protasiewicz, J. D.; Lippard, S. J. Acc. Chem. Res. 1993, 26, 90-97.
- 628. Protasiewicz, J. D.; Lippard, S. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 6564-6570.
- 629. Bronk, B. S.; Protasiewicz, J. D.; Lippard, S. J. Organometallics 1995, 14, 1385-1392.
- 630. Bronk, B. S.; Protasiewicz, J. D.; Pence, L. E.; Lippard, S. J. Organometallics 1995, 14, 2177-2187.
- 631. Bianconi, P. A.; Williams, I. D.; Engeler, M. P.; Lippard, S. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108, 311-313.
- 632. Bianconi, P. A.; Vrtis, R. N.; Rao, C. P.; Williams, I. D.; Engeler, M. P.; Lippard, S. J. Organometallics 1987, 6, 1968-1977.
- 633. Vrtis, R. N.; Bott, S. G.; Lippard, S. J. Organometallics 1992, 11, 270-277.
- 634. Bernieri, P.; Calderazzo, F.; Englert, U.; Pampaloni, G. J. Organomet. Chem. 1998, 562, 61-69.
- 635. Calderazzo, F.; Pampaloni, G.; Englert, U.; Straehle, J. J. Organomet. Chem. 1990, 383, 45-57.
- 636. Daff, P. J.; Etienne, M.; Donnadieu, B.; Knottenbelt, S. Z.; McGrady, J. E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 3818–3819.
- 637. Scherer, O. J.; Vondung, J.; Wolmershaeuser, G. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 1989, 28, 1355.
- 638. Reddy, A. C.; Jemmis, E. D.; Scherer, O. J.; Winter, R.; Heckmann, G.; Wolmershaeuser, G. Organometallics 1992, 11. 3894-3900.
- 639. Scherer, O. J.; Winter, R.; Wolmershaeuser, G. Z. Anorg. Chem. 1993, 619, 827-835.
- 640. Detzel, M.; Mohr, T.; Scherer, O. J.; Wolmershauser, G. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 1994, 33, 1110.
- 641. Scherer, O. J.; Winter, R.; Wolmershaeuser, G. Chem. Commun. 1993, 313-314.
- 642. Protasiewicz, J. D.; Bianconi, P. A.; Williams, I. D.; Liu, S.; Rao, C. P.; Lippard, S. J. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 4134-4142.
- 643. Felten, C.; Richter, J.; Priebsch, W.; Rehder, D. Chem. Ber. 1989, 122, 1617-1622.
- 644. Fornalczyk, M.; Suessmilch, F.; Priebsch, W.; Rehder, D. J. Organomet. Chem. 1992, 426, 159-172.
- 645. Luetkens, M. L., Jr.; Santure, D. J.; Huffman, J. C.; Sattelberger, A. P. Chem. Commun. 1985, 552-553.
- 646. Calderazzo, F.; Pampaloni, G.; Pelizzi, G.; Vitali, F. Organometallics 1988, 7, 1083-1092.
- 647. Koeslag, M. A. D.; Hunter, B. K.; MacNeil, J. H.; Roszak, A. W.; Baird, M. C. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 6937-6943.
- 648. Hayton, T. W.; Daff, P. J.; Legzdins, P.; Rettig, S. J.; Patrick, B. O. Inorg. Chem. 2002, 41, 4114-4126.
- 649. Blaine, C. A.; Ellis, J. E.; Mann, K. R. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 1552-1561.
- 650. Cotton, F. A.; Murillo, C. A.; Wang, X. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 9594-9599.
- 651. Calderazzo, F.; Pampaloni, G.; Zanazzi, P. F. Chem. Ber. 1986, 119, 2796-2814.
- 652. Ellis, J. E.; Warnock, G. F.; Barybin, M. V.; Pomije, M. K. Chem.-Eur. J. 1995, 1, 521-527.
- 653. Barybin, M. V.; Ellis, J. E.; Pomije, M. K.; Tinkham, M. L.; Warnock, G. F. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 6518-6527.

- 654. Rehder, D.; Fornalczy, M.; Oltmanns, P. J. Organomet. Chem. 1987, 331, 207-219.
- 655. Parrish, S. H.; Van Zee, R. J.; Weltner, W. Jr., J. Phys. Chem. A 1999, 103, 1025-1028.
- 656. Miller, T. F. III; Strout, D. L.; Hall, M. B. Organometallics 1998, 17, 4164-4168.
- 657. Clark, D. L.; Gordon, J. C.; McFarlan, J. T.; Vincent-Hollis, R. L.; Watkin, J. G.; Zwick, B. D. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1996, 244, 269–272.
- 658. Cloke, F. G. N.; Fyne, P. J.; Gibson, V. C.; Green, M. L. H.; Ledoux, M. J.; Perutz, R. N.; Dix, A.; Gourdon, A.; Prout, K. J. Organomet. Chem. 1984, 277, 61–73.
- 659. Koeslag, M. A.; Baird, M. C.; Lovelace, S.; Geiger, W. E. Organometallics 1996, 15, 3289-3302.
- 660. Bitner, T. W.; Zink, J. I. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 10631-10639.
- 661. Ellis, J. E.; Fjare, K. L.; Warnock, G. F. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1995, 240, 379-384.
- 662. Barybin, M. V.; Young, V. G. Jr.; Ellis, J. E. Organometallics 1999, 18, 2744-2746.
- 663. Brennessel, W. W.; Ellis, J. E.; Pomije, M. K.; Sussman, V. J.; Urnezius, E.; Young, V. G., Jr., J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 10258–10259.
- 664. Brennessel, W. W.; Ellis, J. E.; Roush, S. N.; Strandberg, B. R.; Woisetschlaeger, O. E.; Young, V. G. Chem. Commun. 2002, 2356–2357.
- 665. Daff, P. J.; Legzdins, P.; Rettig, S. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 2688-2689.
- 666. Warnock, G. F. P.; Philson, S. B.; Ellis, J. E. Chem. Commun. 1984, 893-894.
- 667. Warnock, G. F. P.; Sprague, J.; Fjare, K. L.; Ellis, J. E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1983, 105, 672.
- 668. Tanabe, K. Catalysis Today 1990, 8, 1-11.
- 669. Tanabe, K.; Okazaki, S. Appl. Catal. A: General 1995, 133, 191-218.
- 670. Nowak, I.; Ziolek, M. Chem. Rev. 1999, 99, 3603-3624.
- 671. Wachs, I. E.; Briand, L. E.; Jehng, J. M.; Burcham, L.; Gao, X. Catalysis Today 2000, 57, 323-330.
- 672. Ushikubo, T. Catalysis Today 2000, 57, 331-338.
- 673. Aiken, J. D. III; Finke, R. G. J. Mol. Catal. A 1999, 145, 1-44.
- 674. Grasselli, R. K. Catalysis Today 1999, 49, 141-153.
- 675. Iwasawa, Y. Stud. Surf. Sci. Catal. 1996, 101, 21-34.
- 676. Ezhilvalavan, S.; Tseng, T. Y. J. Mater. Sci. 1999, 10, 9-31.
- 677. Wildes, A. R.; Mayer, J.; Theis-Brohl, K. Thin Solid Films 2001, 401, 7-34.
- 678. Cardarelli, F.; Taxil, P.; Savall, A. Int. J. Refract. Met. Hard Mater. 1996, 14, 365-381.
- 679. Berg, R. W. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1992, 113, 1-130.
- 680. Greenwood, N. N.; Earnshaw, A. The Chemistry of Elements, 2nd Ed., Butterworth-Heinemann: Oxford, 1997, Chapter 22, pp 981–983.
- 681. Llunell, M.; Alemany, P.; Canadell, E. J. Solid State Chem. 2000, 149, 176-179.
- 682. Sayagues, M. J.; Hutchison, J. L. J. Solid State Chem. 1999, 146, 202-210.
- 683. Sayagues, M. J.; Hutchison, J. L. J. Solid State Chem. 1996, 124, 116-122.
- 684. Abe, R.; Shinohara, K.; Tanaka, A.; Hara, M.; Kondo, J. N.; Domen, K. Chem. Mater. 1997, 9, 2179-2184.
- 685. Bizeto, M. A.; De Faria, D. L. A.; Constantino, V. R. L. J. Mater. Sci. 2002, 37, 265-270.
- 686. Paulis, M.; Martin, M.; Soria, D. B.; Diaz, A.; Odriozola, J. A.; Montes, M. Appl. Catal. A 1999, 180, 411-420.
- 687. Antonelli, D. M.; Ying, J. Y. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. in English 1996, 35, 426-430.
- 688. Antonelli, D. M.; Ying, J. Y. Chem. Mater. 1996, 8, 874-881.
- 689. Kominami, H.; Miyakawa, M.; Murakami, S.-Y.; Yasuda, T.; Kohno, M.; Onoue, S.-I.; Kera, Y.; Ohtani, B. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* **2001**, *3*, 2697–2703.
- 690. Jehng, J. M.; Wachs, I. E. Catalysis Today 1990, 8, 37-55.
- 691. Jehng, J. M.; Wachs, I. E. J. Phys. Chem. 1991, 95, 7373-7379.
- 692. Iizuka, T.; Ogasawara, K.; Tanabe, K. . Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn 1983, 56, 2927-2931.
- 693. Ushikubo, T.; Wada, K. Appl. Catal. 1990, 67, 25-38.
- 694. Wachs, I. E.; Jehng, J. M.; Deo, G.; Hu, H.; Arora, N. Catalysis Today 1996, 28, 199-205.
- 695. Tanaka, T.; Nojima, H.; Yamamoto, T.; Takenaka, S.; Funabiki, T.; Yoshida, S. Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys. 1999, 1, 5235–5239.
- 696. Meunier, D.; Piechaczyk, A.; De Mallmann, A.; Basset, J.-M. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 1999, 38, 3540–3542.
- 697. Lefort, L.; Chabanas, M.; Maury, O.; Meunier, D.; Coperet, C.; Thivolle-Cazat, J.; Basset, J.-M. J. Organomet. Chem. 2000, 593-594, 96-100.
- 698. Dufaud, V.; Niccolai, G. P.; Thivolle-Cazat, J.; Basset, J.-M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 4288–4294.
- 699. Coperet, C.; Chabanas, M.; Saint-Arroman, R. P.; Basset, J.-M. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2003, 42, 156-181.
- 700. Chabanas, M.; Quadrelli, E. A.; Fenet, B.; Coperet, C.; Thivolle-Cazat, J.; Basset, J.-M.; Lesage, A.; Emsley, L. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2001, 40, 4493–4496.
- 701. Coperet, C.; Maury, O.; Thivolle-Cazat, J.; Basset, J.-M. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2001, 40, 2331-2334.
- 702. Ahn, H.; Marks, T. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 7103-7110.
- 703. Vidal, V.; Theolier, A.; Thivolle-Cazat, J.; Basset, J.-M.; Corker, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 4595–4602.
- 704. Lefort, L.; Coperet, C.; Taoufik, M.; Thivolle-Cazat, J.; Basset, J.-M. Chem. Commun. 2000, 663-664.
- 705. Vidal, V.; Theolier, A.; Thivolle-Cazat, J.; Basset, J.-M. Chem. Commun. 1995, 991–992.
- 706. Maury, O.; Lefort, L.; Vidal, V.; Thivolle-Cazat, J.; Basset, J.-M. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 1999, 38, 1952–1955.
- 707. Maury, O.; Saggio, G.; Theolier, A.; Taoufik, M.; Vidal, V.; Thivolle-Cazat, J.; Basset, J.-M. C. R. Acad. Sci. IIc: Chimie 2000, 3, 583–587.
- 708. Vidal, V.; Theolier, A.; Thivolle-Cazat, J.; Basset, J.-M. Science 1997, 276, 99-102.
- 709. Tanabe, K. Catal. Today 2003, 78, 65-77.

© 2003, Elsevier Ltd. All Rights Reserved

No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in any retrieval system or transmitted in any form or by any means electronic, electrostatic, magnetic tape, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise, without permission in writing from the publishers Comprehensive Coordination Chemistry II ISBN (set): 0-08-0437486

Volume 4, (ISBN 0-08-0443265); pp 241-312

4.6 Chromium

P. A. LAY and A. LEVINA University of Sydney, NSW, Australia

4.6.1 INTRODUCTION	314
4.6.2 CHROMUIM(VI)	315
4.6.2.1 C-donor Ligands	315
4.6.2.2 N- and P-donor Ligands	315
4.6.2.3 O- and S-donor Ligands	316
4.6.2.3.1 Oxo complexes: solution speciation and structural studies	316
4.6.2.3.2 Peroxo complexes	319
4.6.2.3.3 Chromates(VI) as ligands	319
4.6.2.3.4 Oxidations by Cr^{V1} : mechanistic studies and applications	320
4.6.2.3.5 Toxicity of Cr^{VI}	321
4.6.3 CHROMIUM(V)	321
4.6.3.1 C-donor Ligands	321
4.6.3.2 Imido Complexes	321
4.6.3.3 Nitrido Complexes	323
4.6.3.4 Oxo and Peroxo Complexes	323
4.6.3.4.1 Syntheses and structural characterizations	323
4.6.3.4.2 Studies by EPR spectroscopy	325
4.6.3.4.3 Reactivities	326
4.6.4 CHROMIUM(IV)	327
4.6.4.1 C- and H-donor Ligands	327
4.6.4.2 N-, P-, and S-donor Ligands	327
4.6.4.2.1 Open-chain ligands	327
4.6.4.2.2 Porphyrinates and related ligands	327
4.6.4.3 O-donor Ligands	327
4.6.4.3.1 Oxo and aqua ligands	327
4.6.4.3.2 Oxo and carboxylato ligands	328
4.6.4.3.3 Other O-donor ligands	330
4.6.4.4 Cr^{1V} Intermediates in Reduction of Cr^{V1} or Oxidation of Cr^{11}	330
4.6.4.5 Solid-state Chemistry of Cr^{IV}	331
4.6.5 CHROMIUM(III)	331
4.6.5.1 C-donor Ligands	331
4.6.5.1.1 Cyanides	331
4.6.5.1.2 Alkyls and aryls	332
4.6.5.2 N-donor Ligands	334
4.6.5.2.1 Ammonia, amines, and N-heterocycles as unidentate ligands	334
4.6.5.2.2 Unidentate amido ligands	336
4.6.5.2.3 N-thiocyanates and N-cyanates	336
4.6.5.2.4 Other unidentate N-donor ligands	337
4.6.5.2.5 Polydentate (open-chain) amine ligands	338
4.6.5.2.6 Macrocyclic amine ligands	339
4.6.5.2.7 Polydentate and macrocyclic imine ligands	341
4.6.5.2.8 Polydentate ligands with amine and imine donors	343
4.6.5.2.9 Polydentate N-donor ligands with amido donors	343
4.6.5.2.10 Porphyrins, corroles, and phthalocyanines	345
4.6.5.3 P-, As-, and Sb-donor Ligands	347
4.6.5.4 O-donor Ligands	347
4.6.3.4.1 Aqua and hydroxo ligands	347
4.0.3.4.2 Superoxo and peroxo ligands	348
4.6.5.4.3 Oxo anions as unidentate ligands	348

4.6.5.4.4 Other unidentate O-donor ligands	350
4.6.5.4.5 β -Ketoenolates (β -diketonates) and related ligands	350
4.6.5.4.6 Dioxolene ligands	351
4.6.5.4.7 Dicarboxylates	352
4.6.5.4.8 Other bidentate O-donor ligands	354
4.6.5.4.9 Polydentate and macrocyclic O-donor ligands	356
4.6.5.5 S- and Se-donor Ligands	356
4.6.5.6 Halide Ligands	357
4.6.5.7 H-donor Ligands	358
4.6.5.8 Mixed Donor Atom Systems	358
4.6.5.8.1 Bidentate N–O, N–S, and O–S donor ligands	358
4.6.5.8.2 Tridentate N–O donor ligands	359
4.6.5.8.3 Aminopolycarboxylates (complexones)	361
4.6.5.8.4 Tetradentate Schiff base N–O donor ligands (salen and its derivatives)	362
4.6.5.8.5 Other polydentate and macrocyclic mixed-donor ligands	365
4.6.5.9 Polynuclear and Heteropolynuclear Complexes	367
4.6.5.9.1 Cyano-bridging groups	367
4.6.5.9.2 N-donor bridging groups	367
4.6.5.9.3 Hydroxo-bridging groups	367
4.6.5.9.4 Hydrolytic polymers	369
4.6.5.9.5 H_3O_2 - and related bridging groups	369
4.6.5.9.6 Oxo bridging groups	371
4.6.5.9.7 Alkoxo and aryloxo bridging groups	371
4.6.5.9.8 Monocarboxylates and other oxo anions as bridging groups	372
4.6.5.9.9 Dicarboxylates as bridging groups	374
4.6.5.9.10 Other O-donor bridging groups	374
4.6.5.9.11 N-O donor bridging groups	376
4.6.5.9.12 Bridging groups containing P- or S-donors	376
4.6.5.9.13 Halide bridging groups	3/6
4.6.5.10 Polymers as ligands	3/6
4.6.5.11 Biomolecules as Ligands	381
4.0.5.11.1 Amino acias	381
4.0.5.11.2 Peptiaes and proteins	382
4.0.5.11.5 Nucleotides and nucleic actas	382
4.0.5.11.4 Other biomolecules	283
4.6.0 CHROMIUM(II)	202
4.6.6.2 Nidonor Ligands	202
4.6.6.2.1 Unidental ligands	383
4.0.0.2.1 Ontwenture rightas	384
4.66.2.3 Macroovelic liands	386
4.6.5.2. P-donor Ligands	386
4.6.6.4 O-donor Ligands	387
46641 Anua ligands	387
4.6.6.4.2 Other O-donor ligands	388
4.6.6.5 S-donor Ligands	389
4.6.6.6 Halide Donor Ligands	389
4.6.6.7 H-donor Ligands	389
4.6.6.8 N–O Donor Ligands	391
4.6.7 CHROMIUM(I) AND CHROMIUM(0)	391
4.6.7.1 Nitrosyl Complexes of Cr ^{1/II/III}	391
4.6.7.2 Other Cr ^I Complexes	392
4.6.7.3 Chromium(0) Complexes	393
4.6.8 REFERENCES	393

4.6.1 INTRODUCTION

Chromium, molybdenum, and tungsten are the transition metals in Group 6 of the periodic table. Chromium metal has the outer electronic configuration $3d^54s^1$ and forms compounds in oxidation states II– to VI+.¹ The extensive organometallic chemistry of Cr is covered in the accompanying *Comprehensive Organometallic Chemistry* series, and this review is generally restricted to the coordination complexes (oxidation states 0 to VI+).

The previous review on Cr in *Comprehensive Coordination Chemistry*(*CCC*) was published in 1987,¹ and covered the literature until 1984 inclusive, as well as some articles published in 1985. Therefore, the current review will mainly consider the literature published between 1985 and 2001 inclusive (as well as some earlier works where appropriate); some important articles published in 2002 were added in revision. The primary literature search for this review was performed with the

SciFinder Scholar 2001 software, using the *Chemical Abstracts* database (with "chromium complexes" or "Cr complexes" as the main search concepts). Given the enormous progress in Cr chemistry since 1985, it will not be possible to cover all of the literature in a comprehensive manner, and only the more completely characterized systems will be discussed. More detailed coverage is provided by series of annual reviews on Cr coordination chemistry (although there are some significant gaps, particularly after 1996).^{2–8} In addition, some important developments in Cr chemistry between 1985 and 1995 have been discussed elsewhere.⁹ Gas-phase coordination chemistry of transition metal ions, including Cr, has been reviewed recently.¹⁰ A detailed recent review on the relations between chemical properties and biological activities of Cr complexes is available.¹¹ More specialized reviews will be cited where appropriate.

Some of the major trends in Cr coordination chemistry since the mid-1980s have been the following:

- (i) A decrease in the research activity on Cr^{II} complexes (except for the dimers with multiple Cr—Cr bonds, Chapter 4.9).
- (ii) A shift of the main interest in Cr^{III} chemistry from the mechanistic studies of ligandexchange reactions to the syntheses of materials with interesting properties (Volumes 6 and 7), as well as to a possible role of Cr^{III} as an essential micronutrient for humans.¹²
- (iii) A dramatic increase of knowledge on the chemistry of Cr^{IV} and Cr^{V} complexes, particularly in relation to their possible roles in Cr^{VI} -induced genotoxicity and carcinogenicity.¹³

The ligand abbreviations¹⁴ are explained in the text or in the footnotes to the tables.

4.6.2 CHROMUIM(VI)

4.6.2.1 C-donor Ligands

Imido complexes of Cr^{VI}, containing alkyl,^{15,16} aryl,¹⁷ or alkylidene¹⁸ ligands, are studied extensively as potential catalysts of alkene polymerization (see Section 4.6.5.1.2).^{19–21} These complexes are described in the *Comprehensive Organometallic Chemistry* series, and some typical examples for their syntheses are given in Section 4.6.2.2.

4.6.2.2 N- and P-donor Ligands

Since the first synthesis of a Cr^{VI} diimido complex, (1) (Scheme 1; Conditions: (i) RMgBr (C₆H₁₂, ~20 °C);^{22,23} (ii) BCl₃ (CH₂Cl₂, 0 °C);²⁴ (iii) LiNHBu^t (MePh, -78 °C);²⁴ (iv) BuⁿLi (C₆H₁₂/Et₂O, -78 °C);²⁴ (v) Bu^tNCO (C₆H₁₂, reflux);²⁵ (vi) Me₂PPh (MePh, ~20 °C);²⁴ (vii) Ag(OSO₂CF₃) (MeCN, ~20 °C);²⁴ (viii) Py, ~20 °C;²⁴ (ix) [9]aneN₃(tacn) (THF, -30 °C);²⁶ (x) (Ph₂SiOH)₂O (Et₃N/MePh, ~20 °C);²⁷ (xi) RNCO (C₈H₁₈, reflux);²⁶ (xii) LiNHR (THF, -78 °C).²⁹), by Nugent and Harlow in 1980,¹ extensive coordination chemistry of such complexes (e.g., (2)–(12) in Scheme 1) has been developed, primarily from studies by Wilkinson and co-workers.^{22–28,30–33} Substitution reactions similar to those of (3) (Scheme 1) have been observed for diarylimido^{26,29} and bis(adamantylimido)³² Cr^{VI} complexes. Complex (13), synthesized from (3) via a ligand-exchange process (Scheme 2a), undergoes unusual imido-transfer reactions (e.g., Scheme 2b).³⁴ A mono-imido complex (14) has been synthesized by a nitrosyl-cleavage process (Scheme 2c).¹⁶ Complexes (2), (6)–(9), and (11)–(14) have been characterized by X-ray crystallography; typical Cr^{VI}—N(imido) bond lengths are 1.62–1.65 Å.^{16,22–28,31,32,34} Complex (14) is distinguished by a strongly bent imido group (the Cr–N–C angle, 146°; whereas this value is close to 180° for the other Cr^{VI} imido complexes), which was attributed to an oxo-imido π -conflict, based on the results of density functional theory (DFT) calculations.¹⁶ Some of the Cr^{VI} diimido complexes, such as [Cr(NR)₂Cl₂] (R = 2,6-C₆H₃Cl₂ or 2,4,6-C₆H₂Br₃), have been used as catalysts for the cyclopropanation of activated monosubstituted alkenes.³⁵

panation of activated monosubstituted alkenes.³⁵ A general synthetic method for Cr^{VI} nitrido complexes (e.g., (**15**)–(**20**) in Scheme 3; Conditions: (i) Et₂O, 25 °C; (ii) [V^{III}(mes)₃(THF)], MePh, 65 °C (mes = 2,4,6-Me₃C₆H₂);³⁶ (iii) CHCl₃, 30 °C; (iv) Et₂O, $-90 \rightarrow 28$ °C;³⁷ (v) MePh, $-35 \rightarrow 25$ °C; (vi) MePh, 30 °C; (vii) C₆H₁₂, $-90 \rightarrow 28$ °C;³⁸ (viii) C₆H₆, 28 °C; (ix) Et₂O, $-90 \rightarrow 28$ °C.²⁹) involves the use of Cr^{III} amides (Section 4.6.5.2.2) and nitrosyls (Section 4.6.7.1) as precursors.^{36–38} A slightly different method has been used for the



syntheses of (21) and (22) (Scheme 3).²⁹ Complexes (15), (17), (21), and (22) have been characterized by X-ray crystallography; typical Cr^{VI} —N bond lengths are 1.54Å and 1.82–1.84Å for the nitrido and amido donors, respectively.^{29,36,37} Several other Cr^{VI} complexes with amido, imido, and nitrido donors are mentioned in Section 4.6.2.3.1.

4.6.2.3 O- and S-donor Ligands

4.6.2.3.1 Oxo complexes: solution speciation and structural studies

The pH- and concentration-dependent speciation in aqueous solutions involving $[CrO_4]^{2-}$, $[HCrO_4]^{-}$, and $[Cr_2O_7]^{2-}$ as the main components is a key factor in the biological activity of



Scheme 2

 Cr^{VI} , as well as in many of its industrial applications (Sections 4.6.2.3.4 and 4.6.2.3.5). In addition to a large amount of early work (mainly by UV–visible spectroscopy),^{1,39} several new methods have been applied recently to studies of this speciation, including: X-ray absorption fine structure (XAFS),^{40,41} ¹⁷O NMR⁴² and Raman⁴³⁻⁴⁵ spectroscopies, and electrospray mass spectrometry (ESMS),^{46,47} as well as multivariate analysis of UV–visible spectroscopic data.⁴⁸ The recent debate in the literature on the existence of [HCrO₄]⁻ has been reviewed.⁹ The absence of detectable amounts of [HCrO₄]⁻ in aqueous solutions of Cr^{V1} has been implied from some of UV–visible and Raman spectroscopic studies.^{43,49} However, more recent studies by these and other instrumental methods are consistent with the presence of [HCrO₄]⁻.^{40–42,44,48,50,51} These species have also been directly detected by ESMS of aqueous and nonaqueous Cr^{V1} solutions.^{46,47} A detailed study by ¹⁷O NMR and UV–visible spectroscopies led to values of $pK_a = 5.80$ and $K_d = 81 M^{-1}$ (both at I = 1.0 M, 25 °C) for the deprotonation and dimerization of [HCrO₄]⁻, [HCrO₄]⁻, [Cr₂O₇]²⁻, [H₂CrO₄], and [HCr₂O₇]^{-,51} and vibrational energies in [CrO₄]²⁻ have been determined by DFT calculations.⁵² A crystal structure of (Ph₄P)[HCrO₄] (synthesized by decomposition of a Cr^{V1} peroxo complex in nonaqueous media)⁵³ has been reported.⁵⁴ The first applications of the X-ray emission (L-edge) and ⁵³Cr NMR spectroscopies for the studies of chromates(VI) in the solid state have been reported recently.^{55,56}

Several Cr^{VI} oxo complexes have been characterized by X-ray crystallography since 1985 ((23)-(28)).⁵⁷⁻⁶² A general synthetic pathway to such complexes involves the reactions of the ligands with Cr^{VI} precursor compounds (CrO_3 , CrO_2Cl_2 , or $K_2Cr_2O_7$),^{57,59-62} while the oxo-amido complexes (24a,b) are synthesized by the reactions of $Cr^{II/III}$ amido complexes with O_2 .⁵⁸ The crystal structures of (Me_4N)₂ [Cr_2O_7] and (Me_4N)₂[Cr_3O_{10}] have also been determined.⁶³ The formation of Cr^{VI} oxo-alkoxido complexes by the reactions of CrO_2Cl_2 with epoxides has been studied by NMR spectroscopy,⁶⁴ and [$CrO_3(OMe)$]⁻, produced from the reaction of $K_2Cr_2O_7$ with MeOH, has been detected by ESMS.⁴⁷ Characterization of (25)–(28) is the first unambiguous evidence for the formation of chromate(VI) esters (or thioesters) as the first intermediates during the Cr^{VI} reduction by alcohols or thiols.⁷ Complex (26) may serve as a model of catalytic Cr^{VI} sites at the surface of silica.⁶⁰ The formation of chromate thioesters (e.g., (28)) is probably relevant to the application of $K_2Cr_2O_7$ for "curing" of polysulfide prepolymers, used as



Scheme 3

sealants.^{62,65} Other crystallographically characterized Cr^{VI} complexes with monodentate thiolato donors contained nitrido or imido groups ((29) or (30)).^{38,66} Reactions of $[HCrO_4]^-$ with glutathione (γ -Glu-Cys-Gly) (Cys = L-cysteine, Glu = glutamine, Gly = glycine) and other biological thiols (general formula RSH) in aqueous solutions at pH ≤ 6 led to the formation of relatively stable $[CrO_3SR]^-$ species, characterized by multinuclear NMR, UV–visible, and Raman spectroscopies, as well as ESMS.^{13,67–69} Complexation of Cr^{VI} by the ubiquitous biological ligand, glutathione, is likely to be relevant to the genotoxic effects of Cr^{VI} (Section 4.6.2.3.5).^{13,67}



4.6.2.3.2 Peroxo complexes

The chemistry of Cr^{VI} peroxo complexes (general formula $[CrO(O_2)_2L]$, where L is a neutral uni- or bidentate ligand) was reviewed in 1994.⁷⁰ A recent XAFS spectroscopic study⁷¹ of a species formed by the mixing of concentrated aqueous solutions of Na₂Cr₂O₇ and H₂O₂ supported the assignment of this complex as $[CrO(O_2)_2(OH_2)]$ (probably a pentagonal pyramid).^{1,70} The Cr—O bond lengths, determined from the XAFS data, were 1.57 Å, 1.68 Å, and 1.93 Å for the oxo, peroxo, and aqua ligands, respectively.⁷¹ Several kinetic and mechanistic studies of the Cr^{VI} + H₂O₂ reaction (where $[CrO(O_2)_2(OH_2)]$ or its deprotonated analogs are formed as intermediates) have been published.⁷²⁻⁷⁴ The reaction of Cr^{VI} with H₂O₂ may be relevant to the toxic effects of Cr^{VI} (Section 4.6.2.3.5); for instance, it can occur during the phagocytosis of inhaled insoluble chromate particles by lung macrophages (which can be distinguished from most other mammalian cells by their relatively high H₂O₂ concentrations).^{11,75} Peroxo complexes of Cr^{VI} (as well as those of Mo^{VI} and W^{VI}) are used as reagents for alkene epoxidation.⁷⁶ Recently, a comparative DFT study of the reaction pathways for these three metal ions has been performed.⁷⁶ Catalytic applications of Cr^{VI} peroxo complexes are discussed in Section 4.6.2.3.4.

4.6.2.3.3 Chromates(VI) as ligands

A detailed review on the subject appeared in 1999.⁷⁷ Typical structures of metal complexes with chromato or dichromato bridges ((**31**) or (**32**)) have been determined by X-ray crystallog-raphy.^{78,79} Some of the more recently reported complexes of these types are $[M^{II}(py)_4(Cr_2O_7)]$

(M = Cu, Zn, or Cd; py = pyridine),⁸⁰ [Ni (bpy)₂(OH₂)(Cr₂O₇)] (where bpy = 2,2'-bipyridine),⁸¹ [NpO₂(CrO₄){OC(NH₂)₂}],⁸² and [Ag₃Cl(CrO₄)]⁸³ (all crystallographically characterized). Binding of [CrO₄]²⁻ to transition metal complexes (e.g., [Cu(bpy)₂]²⁺) markedly decreases the mutagenicity of Cr^{VI} in bacterial tests (probably because of the reduced permeability to the cells, Section 4.6.2.3.5),⁸⁴ but this is unlikely to be applicable to *in vivo* systems.¹³ Formation of supramolecular adducts between [CrO₄]²⁻ or [HCrO₄]⁻ and calixarenes or crown ethers is used for the extraction of Cr^{VI} from aqueous solutions.^{85,86}



4.6.2.3.4 Oxidations by Cr^{VI}: mechanistic studies and applications

General mechanisms of Cr^{VI} reduction to Cr^{III} , including the formation of Cr^{V} , Cr^{IV} , and Cr^{II} intermediates, have been reviewed.^{9,13,87} Since 1985, the main focus of the mechanistic studies has shifted from the reactions of Cr^{VI} with model substances, such as alcohols in strongly acidic aqueous media,⁸⁷ to the reactions of biological substrates at pH ~ 7 (in relation to the genotoxicity of Cr^{VI} , Section 4.6.2.3.5).¹³ Major developments in such studies are related to:

- (i) The availability of information on the structures and reactivities of the possible intermediates, including Cr^{VI} esters (Section 4.6.2.3.1) and $Cr^{V/IV}$ complexes (Sections 4.6.3.4 and 4.6.4.4).
- (ii) Application of new methods for the acquisition and analysis of kinetic data (e.g., global kinetic analysis).^{13,88}

Since the structures of kinetically inert Cr^{III} products reflect those of labile $Cr^{V/IV}$ intermediates,⁸⁸ studies of the reaction products by ESMS can provide valuable information on the mechanisms of Cr^{VI} reduction.⁸⁹ The effects of micelle-forming reagents on the kinetics of Cr^{VI} reduction by organic substances in aqueous solutions have been investigated in relation to the biological and environmental processes involving $Cr^{VI.90}$

As the use of Cr^{VI} as a selective oxidant in organic synthesis⁹¹ decreases due to environmental considerations, research efforts have focused on the applications of heterogeneous or catalytic Cr^{VI} -based reagents. Typical recent examples for the former include:

- (i) [CrO₂(OSiMe₃)₂] or (NH₄)[CrO₃Cl] supported on montmorillonite K-10.^{92,93}
- (ii) Chromium(VI) trapped within a silica matrix by a sol-gel method.⁹⁴
- (iii) Chromium(VI) peroxo complexes (Section 4.6.2.3.2), supported on poly(2-vinylpyridine) or poly(4-vinylpyridine).⁹⁵

Applications of Cr^{VI} compounds as redox catalysts in organic synthesis were reviewed in 1992.⁹⁶ Typical recent examples include the selective oxidations of allylic alcohols,⁹⁷ alkenes,⁹⁸ arenes,⁹⁹ or adamantane¹⁰⁰ to carbonyl compounds by Bu^tOOH or H₅IO₆ in the presence of 5–10 mol.% of CrO₃ in organic solvents (such as CH₂Cl₂ or MeCN). The formation of [CrO₂(OH)(OOBu^t)] as an intermediate in such reactions has been proposed from the NMR- and UV–visible spectroscopic data.¹⁰¹

Gelatin, treated with $(NH_4)_2Cr_2O_7$, is widely used as a holographic recording material.¹⁰² A recent study by X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy¹⁰² suggested that microscopic grains of CrO₂ formed during the photo-assisted reduction of Cr^{VI} are the centers of a latent image. Further reduction during the development process leads to Cr^{III}-cross-linked sites in gelatin, which

form a hologram.¹⁰² Photo-catalytic oxidation of organic substances by Cr^{VI} in the presence of TiO₂ can be used in the treatment of waste waters.¹⁰³ Geochemical processes, leading to the conversion of Cr^{VI} to Cr^{III} and vice versa, were reviewed in 1999,¹⁰⁴ and detailed mechanistic studies on the role of the Mn^{III/II} redox couple in these processes have been performed recently.^{105,106} A characteristic high preedge absorbance peak in the XANES spectra of Cr^{VI} (due to the $1s \rightarrow 3d$ transition) is used for the quantitative determination of Cr^{VI} in environmental samples,^{107,108} and to follow the intracellular reduction of carcinogenic Cr^{VI} .¹⁰⁹ Much attention has been paid recently to the possibilities of bioremediation of Cr^{VI} -contaminated soils and ground waters, using chromate-reducing bacteria or plants (reviewed in 2001).¹¹⁰

4.6.2.3.5 Toxicity of Cr^{VI}

The association between Cr^{VI} exposure and cancers of the respiratory tract has been acknowledged for over a century. Currently, Cr^{VI} compounds are among 87 recognized (class I) human carcinogens (only 33 of these are discrete chemicals or groups of chemicals), according to the classification of the International Agency for Research on Cancer.^{111,112} Lung and nasal cancers, caused by exposure to Cr^{VI}, have been observed mainly in chrome electroplating, stainless steel welding, pigment production, and wood preservation industries.¹¹¹ Despite the implementation of workplace hazard reduction procedures¹¹³ and extensive research towards replacement of Cr^{VI} in some industrial applications,^{114,115} cancers and other adverse health effects arising from Cr^{VI} exposure in industry still remain a concern, as indicated by the results of recent epidemiological studies.^{116,117} In recent years, contamination of ground waters with Cr^{VI} and subsequent reported health

In recent years, contamination of ground waters with Cr^{VI} and subsequent reported health problems, including cancers, in the exposed general population have received much public attention, as highlighted in the lawsuit against Pacific Gas & Electric (Hinkley, CA, USA), and in the film "Erin Brockovich."¹¹⁸ However, there is ongoing debate as to whether the exposure to relatively low doses of Cr^{VI} in drinking water can lead to cancer.^{119,120}

A framework for understanding the chemical mechanisms of Cr^{VI} -induced genotoxicity and carcinogenicity was conceived by Wetterhahn's uptake-reduction model in the early 1980s.^{1,121} The current state of knowledge (reviewed in 2001 and 2003),^{11,13} is that the following chemical properties of Cr are thought to be responsible for its mutagenicity and carcinogenicity. Tetrahedral $[Cr^{VI}O_4]^{2-}$ ions (resembling $[SO_4]^{2-}$ and $[HPO_4]^{2-}$) permeate easily across cell membranes through anion channels, while insoluble Cr^{VI} particles (such as PbSO₄) enter the cells by phagocytosis; however, Cr^{VI} itself is unreactive towards DNA or most proteins under physiological conditions. Once inside the cells, or while passing through the cell membranes, Cr^{VI} is reduced by a variety of compounds, such as ascorbate, glutathione, NADH, and tocopherols, resulting in the formation of highly reactive $Cr^{V/IV}$ and organic radical intermediates. These are capable of causing oxidative damage to DNA and proteins, as well as inducing chain reactions, leading to O_2 activation and oxidative stress. The $Cr^{V/IV}$ intermediates are capable of existing in cells as relatively long-lived species, stabilized by biological ligands such as 2-hydroxycarboxylates or 1,2-diolates, including carbohydrates and glycoproteins (Sections 4.6.3.4 and 4.6.4.4). Kinetically inert Cr^{UI} with biomolecules may be reoxidized by cellular enzymatic systems with the formation of DNA-damaging $Cr^{V/IV}$ species.^{11,13}

4.6.3 CHROMIUM(V)

4.6.3.1 C-donor Ligands

Complexes of Cr^V with cyclopentadienyl ligands^{31,122–124} are described in the *Comprehensive* Organometallic Chemistry series.

4.6.3.2 Imido Complexes

The first syntheses of monomeric Cr^V mono-imido complexes (starting from a Cr^{VI} diimido complex (3), Scheme 1) were reported in 1990.¹²⁵ Typical synthetic pathways to such compounds

((33)–(40)) are summarized in Scheme 4 (conditions: (i) Cl_2 , CH_2Cl_2 ;^{125,126} (ii) MeO-(CH₂)₂OMe;¹²⁶ (iii) [9]aneS₃ in CH₂Cl₂, then Ag(OSO₂CF₃) in MeOH;¹²⁷ (iv) 8-hydroxyquinoline, NEt₃, CH₂Cl₂;¹²⁶ (v) PEtPh₂, CH₂Cl₂;¹²⁵ (vi) (Ph₄P)Cl, CH₂Cl₂;¹²⁶ (vii) recrystallization from CH₂Cl₂/Et₂O;¹²⁸ (viii) (HSCHCN)₂, MeOH¹²⁶). All the syntheses were performed under inert atmosphere at ambient temperature.¹²⁵⁻¹²⁸ All the complexes except (33) and (38) have been characterized by X-ray crystallography; typical Cr^V =N bond lengths are 1.58–1.64 Å.¹²⁵⁻¹²⁸



The crystallographically characterized dimeric (amido-bridged) Cr^{V} imido complexes ((41) and (42)) have been synthesized by reductions of Cr^{VI} diimido complexes ((3) or (11) in Scheme 1).^{28,33} A dimeric Cr^{V} complex with imido and oxo donors is described in Section 4.6.3.4.1.


4.6.3.3 Nitrido Complexes

A list of crystallographically characterized Cr^{V} nitrido complexes is given in Table 1 and selected structures ((43) and (44)) are illustrated.^{37,129–138} The most studied compounds of this type are the relatively stable complexes of general formula $[CrNL]^{n+}$ (n=0 or 2), where L is a tetradentate open-chain ligand. These compounds are synthesized by oxidative photolysis of the corresponding Cr^{III} azido complexes.^{132–138} The Cr^{V} nitrido complexes with substituted porphyrinato ligands react with Cr^{III} porphyrinates by the nitrido transfer mechanism (Section 4.6.5.2.10).¹³⁹ Studies on the electronic structure of the $Cr \equiv N$ bond (by EPR spectroscopy and DFT calculations) revealed its strongly covalent nature, with the electron density being approximately equally distributed between the Cr and N atoms.^{130,140}



4.6.3.4 Oxo and Peroxo Complexes

4.6.3.4.1 Syntheses and structural characterizations

Structurally characterized mono- and dinuclear Cr^{V} oxo complexes (as well as a tetraperoxo complex) are illustrated ((45)–(57)).^{57,58,141–154} Such complexes have been synthesized either by reduction of Cr^{V1} compounds ((45)–(50), (54)–(57)),^{57,58,141–149,154} or by oxidation of Cr^{0} , Cr^{II} , or Cr^{III} complexes ((51)–(53)).^{150–153} The complexes were characterized by X-ray crystallography ((45)–(48), (49a,b), (50)–(54), (56)–(57)) or XAFS spectroscopy (49c,55). An unusual rearrangement of bisadamantylidene epoxide during its oxidation with Cr^{V1} led to a Cr^{V} complex (50).¹⁴⁹ Formation of six-coordinate adducts (e.g., (51b)) of Cr^{V} complexes with salen derivatives (e.g., (51a)) is important for the catalytic functions of such complexes (Sections 4.6.3.4.3 and 4.6.5.8.4).^{150,151} Stabilization of Cr^{V} with a corrolato(3–) ligand in (52) has been reported recently¹⁵² (by contrast, porphyrinato(2–) ligands preferentially stabilize Cr^{IV} oxo complexes, Section 4.6.4.2.2).

Table 1 Crystallographically characterized Cr^V nitrido complexes.

Complex ^a	Geometry	$Cr \equiv N(\text{\AA})$	References
Ba ₅ [CrN ₄]N	Tetrahedral	1.75	129
$[CrN(CN)_5]^{3-}$	Octahedral	1.59	130,131
[CrN(bpb)] (43)	Square pyramidal	1.56	132
[CrN(salen)]	Square pyramidal	1.54	133,134
[CrN(salphen)]	Square pyramidal	1.55	135
[CrN(salpn)]	Square pyramidal ^b	1.56	136
trans-[CrN(cyclam)(NCMe)] ²⁺	Octahedral	1.56	137
$[\{trans-[CrN(cyclam)]\}_2(\mu-N_3)]^{3+}$	Octahedral	1.56	137
[CrN(Me ₄ tpp)]	Square pyramidal	1.565	138
$[{Cr(NPr_{2}^{i})_{2}}_{2}(\mu-N)_{2}]$ (44)	Square planar	1.74	36

^a Designations of the ligands: H₂bpb = 1,2-bis(2-pyridinecarboxamido)benzene; H₂salophen = N,N'-bis(salicylidene)-1,2-phenylenediamine; H₂salpn = N,N'-bis(salicylidene)-1,3-propanediamine; cyclam = 1,4,8,11-tetraazacyclotetradecane; Me₄tpp = 5,10,15,20-tetrakis-*p*-methyl-phenylporphyrinato(2-); H₂salen = N,N'-bis(salicylidene)-1,2-ethanediamine. Typical structures are (**43**) and (**44**). ^b A linear Cr \equiv N ··· Cr \equiv N chain in the solid state.



Many Cr^{V} complexes are difficult to crystallize due to their low stabilities in solution. In such cases, XAFS spectroscopy can be used for structural characterization of the complexes (which can be isolated as amorphous solids or snap-frozen in solutions).¹¹ Recently, this method has been applied for the first detailed characterizations of Cr^{V} complexes with natural ligands, quinic acid (49c)¹⁴⁸ and L-alanine (55).¹⁵⁴ The Cr=O bond lengths in (45)–(57) vary from 1.52 Å to 1.61 Å.^{57,58,141–154} The values of Cr–O bond lengths in the complexes, containing only O-donors, can be used for the determination of the oxidation state of Cr by the bond valence sum method.¹⁴³



4.6.3.4.2 Studies by EPR spectroscopy

Mononuclear Cr^{V} complexes (d^{1} species) usually possess intense sharp EPR signals at room temperature. Applications of EPR spectroscopy for the structural characterization of Cr^{V} complexes have been extensively reviewed.^{11,13,155,156} By contrast, dinuclear Cr^{V} complexes are usually EPR-silent at room temperature due to the spin coupling of two unpaired *d*-electrons.¹⁵⁵ EPR spectroscopic methods are typically used in studies of reactive Cr^{V} intermediates, formed under biologically relevant conditions (e.g., during the reductions of Cr^{V1} , oxidations of Cr^{III} , or ligandexchange reactions of relatively stable Cr^{V} complexes), in relation to Cr-induced genotoxicity and carcinogenicity (Section 4.6.2.3.5).^{13,154,156–180} Numerous EPR-spectroscopic studies have been performed on the formation of Cr^{V} intermediates during the reactions of Cr^{VI} with biological media, including blood,^{181,182} saliva,¹⁸³ mammalian tissues (such as liver or kidney),^{184,185} whole living animals,^{186,187} or plants.¹⁸⁸

Although transient Cr^V species are formed during the reactions of Cr^{VI} with major cellular reductants, ascorbate and glutathione, ^{157–160,165,178} the most abundant Cr^V complexes in biological media are likely to be formed with 1,2-diolato ligands, such as carbohydrates (particularly D-glucose) and glycoproteins.^{11,13} Various pH-dependent linkage isomerization reactions in aqueous solutions have been observed for the Cr^V complexes of the ligands, containing both the 2-hydroxycarboxylato and 1,2-diolato moieties, with the latter bound preferentially at $pH \ge 7$.¹⁶⁹ Detailed EPR-spectroscopic studies of the $Cr^{VI} + oxH_2$ and (**49b**) + oxH_2 reactions ($oxH_2 = oxalic$ acid) in acidic aqueous solutions revealed the formation of several mononuclear Cr^V species, as well as the mixed-oxidation-state ($Cr^V - Cr^{VI}$ or $Cr^V - Cr^{III}$) oxalato complexes.¹⁸⁹ Photo-induced reductions of Cr^{VI} in acidic aqueous solutions¹⁹⁰ or in gelatin gels¹⁹¹ led to detectable Cr^V intermediates. A quantitative EPR-spectroscopic method for the determination of Cr^V , formed in biological or environmental samples treated with Cr^{VI} (e.g., animal tissues or soil extracts) has been proposed.¹⁹² A highly sensitive EPR-spectroscopic detection of the Cr^V species, bound to ion-exchanging resins, can be used to establish the presence of traces of toxic Cr^{VI} in water samples.¹⁹³

Detailed analyses of EPR spectra have been performed for $[CrO(ehba)_2]^-$ (ehba = 2-ethyl-2hydroxybutanoato(2-)) (49b),^{155,194,195} $[CrO(hca)_2]^-$ (hcaH₂ = 1-hydroxycyclohexanecarboxylicacid),¹⁹⁶ [CrN(bpb)] (43), $[Cr(NBu^t)(bpb)Cl]$,¹⁴⁰ and Cr^V porphyrinato complexes.^{197,198} Solution structures of the Cr^V complexes with 1,2-diolato or 2-hydroxycarboxylato complexes have been studied by ¹H ENDOR spectroscopy.^{199,200} For the latter complexes, the existence of at least two geometric isomers in solutions has been detected,²⁰⁰ in agreement with the EPR spectroscopic data.^{148,155,169} An empirical correlation between the g_{iso} values for mononuclear Cr^V complexes (including imido, nitrido, and oxo species), and the nature of the ligands, has been proposed (Equation (1)):¹¹

$$g_{\rm iso} = 2.0023 - \Sigma \Delta g_{\rm iso} \tag{1}$$

where 2.0023 is the g_{iso} value of a free electron and Δg_{iso} is a correction coefficient for each donor group (Table 2). This correlation can be used to predict the structures of unstable Cr^V complexes (particularly those formed in biological media) from their EPR spectra.^{11,156} In recent years, ESMS has been used to assist in structural studies of Cr^V complexes generated in aqueous solutions in complex mixtures with other Cr species.¹¹

4.6.3.4.3 Reactivities

A large majority of the reactivity studies have been performed using the well-characterized Cr^{V} complexes of 2-hydroxycarboxylates (particularly (**49b**)), or [CrO(salen)]⁺ (salenH₂ = N,N'-bis(salicylidene)-1,2-ethanediamine). Krumpolc and Roček^{201,202} developed a convenient method for the syntheses of Cr^V 2-hydroxycarboxylates and established that the decomposition of these complexes (such as (**49b**)) in aqueous solutions proceeds through parallel disproportionation (Equation (2), dominant in neutral and basic media) and ligand oxidation (Equation (3), dominant in acidic media):

$$3Cr^{V} \rightarrow 2Cr^{VI} + Cr^{III}$$
 (2)

$$Cr^{V}-L \rightarrow Cr^{III}-L_{ox}$$
 (3)

While the practically complete decomposition of (**49b**) in aqueous solutions at ambient conditions takes hours (at pH 3–5) or minutes (at pH 1–3 or 5–10),²⁰² this complex is stable for months in polar aprotic solvents (such as DMF or DMSO), or for years in the solid state.¹⁴⁷ The dependence of the redox potential of the $Cr^{V/IV}$ couple on the nature of the solvent has been studied for (**49b**).¹⁴⁷ A series of mechanistic studies of the electron-transfer reactions of (**49b**) with inorganic or organic reductants have been performed; several reviews of these studies are available.^{13,155,203–205} Applications of (**49b**) for the selective oxidations of some alcohols or organic sulfides have been proposed.^{202,206,207}

A detailed kinetic study on the disproportionation of (**49b**) in neutral aqueous solutions has been performed recently in relation to the mechanisms of oxidative DNA cleavage promoted by this complex.²⁰⁸ Such Cr^{V} oxo complexes are among the few known types of metal complexes that cause oxidative DNA cleavage in the absence of reactive oxygen species.²⁰⁹ The interactions of (**49b**) or [CrO(salen)]⁺ with DNA have been studied in detail and several possible mechanisms of these reactions have been proposed (reviewed in 2000–2003).^{11,13,210} Several mechanistic studies on the reactions of [CrO(salen)]⁺ and related complexes with organic reductants have been performed in relation to the roles of these complexes in Cr^{III} –salen-catalyzed oxo-transfer reactions (Section 4.6.5.8.4).^{211–215}

Table 2 Isotropic EPR Δg_{iso} parameters (Equation (1)) for different donor groups in Cr^{V} complexes.^a

Donor group	$\Delta g_{ m iso}$	Donor group	$\Delta g_{ m iso}$
R ₂ P	-0.00625	RO^{-}	0.00505
R ₂ S	-0.00083	OH^-	0.00505
N ³⁻	0.00000	RCO_2^-	0.00593
RNCOR ⁻	0.00030	H ₂ O ²	0.00604
RS ⁻	0.00035	\tilde{RN}^{2-}	0.00630
Cl ⁻	0.00175	RNH_2	0.00667
O^{2-}	0.00210	$R_2 C = NR$	0.00730
R ₂ O	0.00270	$\tilde{O_2^{2-}}$	0.00750
RO ⁻ (enediol)	0.00475	-	

 $^a\,$ Most of the Δg_{iso} values have been reported previously. 11 The values for the R₃P, R₂S, Cl⁻, R₂O, and NR²⁻ donor groups have been calculated from the data of ref. 126.

4.6.4 CHROMIUM(IV)

4.6.4.1 C- and H-donor Ligands

Complexes of Cr^{IV} with alkyl,²¹⁶ alkylidene,²¹⁷ or η -carborane²¹⁸ ligands are extensively studied as model compounds for Cr-based alkene polymerization catalysts (Section 4.6.5.1.2). These complexes are described in detail in the *Comprehensive Organometallic Chemistry* series. A Cr^{IV} complex with isocyanide ligands is described in Section 4.6.4.2.1.

4.6.4.2 N-, P-, and S-donor Ligands

4.6.4.2.1 Open-chain ligands

Crystallographically characterized Cr^{IV} complexes ((58)–(68))^{28,33,66,219–223} contain the following types of donor groups: imido ((58), (60)–(63)); amido ((64), (65), (67)); amine (65); imino (59); diazoalkane (60); tripyrazolylborato (66); phosphine ((58)–(60), (63), (68)); thiolato ((61), (62)); and sulfido ((67), (68)). Mixed-valence polynuclear compounds are represented by (62) and (68). Two other Cr^{IV} complexes with amido and/or amine ligands are described in Section 4.6.4.3.3. Typical synthetic methods include the reductions of Cr^{VI} ((60)–(64))^{28,33,66} or the oxidations of Cr^{VI} or Cr^{III} complexes ((58), (59), (65)–(68)).^{219–223} Some Cr^{IV} complexes with amido ligands act as catalysts of alkene polymerization.²²⁴

4.6.4.2.2 Porphyrinates and related ligands

A stable prototype compound of this group, $[Cr^{IV}O(Me_4tpp)]$ (Me₄tpp = 5,10,15,20-tetrakis*p*-methylphenylporphyrinato(2–)), was structurally characterized in the early 1980s.^{1,225} Recently, a closely related complex, $[Cr^{IV}O\{(MeO)_4tpp\}]$, has been characterized by X-ray crystallography and DFT calculations,²²⁶ and the redox chemistry of Cr^{IV} and Cr^V oxo-porphyrinato complexes has been reviewed.²²⁷ A series of Cr^{IV} imido-porphyrinato complexes were characterized by spectroscopic methods, and the imido-transfer reactions of these compounds have been studied.²²⁸ A Cr^{IV} corrolato complex has been generated by the reduction of its stable Cr^V analog (52) and characterized by ¹H NMR spectroscopy.²²⁹ Complexes of Cr^{II}, Cr^{III}, and Cr^{IV} with a porphyrinogen ligand have been synthesized ((69)–(71) in Scheme 5) and characterized by X-ray crystallography.²³⁰

4.6.4.3 O-donor Ligands

4.6.4.3.1 Oxo and aqua ligands

Generation and reactivity of a Cr^{IV} aqua complex (believed to be $[CrO(OH_2)_5]^{2+}$) in acidic aqueous solutions has been investigated.^{231–235} Typical pathways for the formation and decay of Cr^{IV}_{aq} (which has a half-life time of ~20 s at pH 1 and 25 °C) are summarized in Scheme 6.^{231–235} Kinetic studies of the reactions of Cr^{IV}_{aq} are complicated by:

- (i) The absence of significant absorbance of this species in the UV-visible region (earlier statements to the contrary²³⁶ were recently shown to be incorrect).²³⁵
- (ii) The inevitable presence of other reactive species, such as $[Cr^{III}(O_2)(OH_2)_5]^{2+}$, in the reaction medium.²³⁵

Nevertheless, the information obtained on the relative reactivities of $Cr^{IV}_{aq.}$ and other Cr species²³² is very important for understanding the general mechanisms of interconversions of various oxidation states of Cr, and the roles of O₂ in these reactions.⁹ Generation of Cr^{IV} species by pulse radiolysis of Cr^{III} hydroxo-aqua complexes in alkaline aqueous solutions has also been described.²³⁷



4.6.4.3.2 Oxo and carboxylato ligands

The statement made in 1987 that "Cr^{IV} does not have any aqueous solution chemistry,"¹ has been made redundant following extensive research in this area (see also Section 4.6.4.3.1). In 1991, Ghosh and Gould discovered a convenient method for quantitative generation of 2-hydroxycarboxylato Cr^{IV} complexes by the reactions of Cr^{VI} and As^{III} in the presence of an excess ligand in weakly acidic aqueous media (pH 2–4).²³⁸ Such complexes could not be isolated due to their rapid decomposition in the absence of excess ligand.^{239,240} More recently, Lay and co-workers used this



(71)





Scheme 6

method for the first structural characterization of a Cr^{IV} complex ([CrO(ehbaH)₂], (72)) in frozen aqueous solutions (by multiple-scattering analysis of XAFS spectroscopic data at 10 K).^{13,241} Complex (72) is distinguished from its Cr^{V} analog, (49b), by protonation of the alkoxo donors, which is reflected in the elongation by 0.20 Å of the corresponding bond lengths, and explains the lower stability of (72) in solutions (the maximal half-life time is ~20 min at pH 3, [Cr] = 0.10 mM, 25 °C).²⁴² The availability of XAFS spectroscopic data on (72) solved the controversy^{204,243} concerning the structure of this complex and the mechanisms of electron transfer in the $Cr^{V/IV/III}$ -ehba complexes.¹³

In contrast to $[CrO(OH_2)_5]^{2+}$ (Section 4.6.4.3.1), the reactions of (72) (including the formation of deprotonated or partially aquated species), as well as those of the related Cr^{IV} oxo-carboxylato complexes, can be followed easily by UV–visible spectroscopy.^{208,242} Detailed mechanistic studies of the reduction or disproportionation reactions of (72) in weakly acidic aqueous media have been performed (reviewed in 1994).²⁴⁰ More recent studies include those of the reactions of (72) with Sn^{II} , In^{I} , Ge^{II} ,²⁴⁴ hydrazine,²⁴⁵ and hydroxylamine.²⁴⁶

The above-described method for the generation of Cr^{IV} seems to be specific for 2-hydroxycarboxylato complexes such as (72), [CrO(hmbaH)₂] (hmba = 2-hydroxy-2-methylbutanoato(2–)) (related to (49a)) or [CrO(qa)(qaH)]⁻ (qa = quinato(2–) = 1*R*,3*R*,4*R*-1,3,4-trihydroxycyclohexanecarboxylato(2–)) (related to (49c)), but the preformed Cr^{IV} species readily react with some other types of ligands, leading to the formation of Cr^{IV} oxalato or picolinato complexes ([CrO(ox)₂]^{2–} or [CrO(pic)₂]) (ox = oxalato(2–); pic = picolinato(1–) = pyridine-2-carboxylato(1–)).²⁴² Complexes of Cr^{IV} with 2-hydroxycarboxylates are also generated as intermediates during the reduction of Cr^{VI} by anhydrous MeOH in the presence of the corresponding ligands.¹⁴⁸ A remarkable stability of [CrO(qa)(qaH)]⁻ in neutral aqueous media (the maximal half-life time is ~1 h at pH 6, [Cr] = 0.10 mM, 25 °C)²⁴² has been used in the studies of Cr^{IV} reactions with DNA and other biomolecules.^{89,209,247}



4.6.4.3.3 Other O-donor ligands

A few Cr^{IV} complexes with O-donor ligands have been characterized by X-ray crystallography since 1985 ((73) and (74)).^{248,249} An unusual dioxo-bridged complex of a calix[4]arene derivative (74) exhibits a ferromagnetic coupling between the two Cr^{IV} centers.²⁴⁹ Mononuclear complexes of Cr^{III} and Cr^{II} with this ligand are described in Sections 4.6.5.1.2 and 4.6.6.4.2, respectively.

(74) exhibits a ferromagnetic coupling between the two Cr^{-V} centers.^{2-W} Mononuclear complexes of Cr^{III} and Cr^{II} with this ligand are described in Sections 4.6.5.1.2 and 4.6.6.4.2, respectively. The first structural characterization of a volatile Cr^{IV} alkoxide, [Cr(OBu¹)₄],¹ was performed in 1989, using gas-phase electron diffraction.²⁵⁰ This complex is tetrahedral, with an average Cr—O distance of 1.75 Å,²⁵⁰ and has found applications as a precursor for the syntheses of catalytic chromia-silica materials.²⁵¹ The chemistry of Cr^{IV} peroxo complexes, [Cr(O₂)₂L₃]^{*n*} (where L = H₂O, am(m)ine, or CN⁻, and *n* = 0–3), has been reviewed extensively.^{1,70,240} Recently, a long-range ferromagnetic ordering in the achied acta at T c10 K was charmed for [Cr(O₂) (an)(OIL)] (and 1.2 athanediamine) and

The chemistry of Cr^{1v} peroxo complexes, $[Cr(O_2)_2L_3]^{n-}$ (where $L = H_2O$, am(m)ine, or CN^- , and n = 0-3), has been reviewed extensively.^{1,70,240} Recently, a long-range ferromagnetic ordering in the solid state at T < 10 K was observed for $[Cr(O_2)_2(en)(OH_2)]$ (en = 1,2-ethanediamine) and $[Cr(O_2)_2(NH_3)_3]$.^{252,253} However, practical applications of such complexes are limited by their explosive nature.^{1,70,240}

4.6.4.4 Cr^{IV} Intermediates in Reduction of Cr^{VI} or Oxidation of Cr^{III}

The presence of Cr^{IV} intermediates during the reactions of Cr^{VI} with two-electron reductants (e.g., alcohols) has been assumed since the 1940s (reviewed in 1985).⁸⁷ The first direct evidence for the formation of Cr^{IV} was obtained in the reductions of Cr^{VI} in the presence of Cr^{IV} -stabilizing ligands such as ehbaH₂ (the resulting Cr^{IV} complexes, such as (72), are strongly absorbing at

300–600 nm). Similar Cr^{IV} intermediates are formed during the reductions of relatively stable Cr^{V} complexes, such as (49b). The early work in this area was reviewed in 1994;²⁴⁰ more recently, kinetics and mechanisms of the reactions of [HCrO₄]⁻ with H₂PO₂⁻,²⁵⁴ HCO₂H,²⁵⁵ or Ga¹,²⁵⁶ in the presence of ehbaH₂ (in weakly acidic aqueous solutions) have been studied. The formation of a highly colored intermediate (presumably a Cr^{IV} or Cr^{V} complex with edta) during the reaction of Co^{II} –edta with Cr^{VI} at pH 3–4 can be used for spectrophotometric determination of Co^{II} or $Cr^{V1,257}$ Generally, studies of the transient Cr^{IV} species are more difficult than those for Cr^{V} (Section 4.6.3.4.2), as the former species, including the use of Mn^{II} as a selective trap for $Cr^{IV,258}$ or the measurements of dynamic magnetic susceptibility in solutions,²⁵⁹ have been disputed recently.^{11,13}

Formation of relatively stable Cr^{IV}-picolinato intermediates has been observed (by UV–visible spectroscopy) during the reduction of Cr^{VI} ²⁶⁰ oxidation of Cr^{III} ^{261,262} or ligand-exchange reactions of (**72**) and its analogs in the presence of excess picolinate.²⁴² This stabilization of potentially genotoxic²⁰⁹ Cr^{IV} species may contribute to the adverse effects of high doses of a popular nutritional supplement, Cr^{III} picolinate (Section 4.6.5.8.1).^{11,263} Some evidence for the formation of Cr^{IV} during the oxidation of Cr^{III} _{aq.} on the surface of birnessite ([Mn^{III/IV}O_{1.75}(OH)_{0.25}]; a likely model for the oxidation of Cr^{III} in the environment) has been obtained by X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy.¹⁰⁶

4.6.4.5 Solid-state Chemistry of Cr^{IV}

The Cr^{IV} dinitrogen or dihydrogen complexes, $(N_2)_x CrO_2$ or $(H_2)_x CrO_2$, (x = 1 or 2) have been generated from CrO_3 by laser ablation techniques in solid Ar at 11 K, and studied by IR spectroscopy and DFT calculations.^{264,265} An understanding of the nature of H_2 or N_2 binding in such complexes is important for the development of Cr-based catalysts for hydrogenation or nitrogen activation.^{264,265}

A well-known stable ferromagnetic Cr^{IV} oxide, CrO_2 (possessing a six-coordinate rutile-type structure) is widely used in magnetic memory devices.^{1,266} The existence of Cr^{IV} in Cr-doped oxide minerals, Al_2O_3 (ruby) or CaSnOSiO₄ (malayaite), has been suggested from the EPR or Raman spectroscopic data, respectively.^{267,268} Currently, significant attention is being paid to the use of Cr^{IV} -doped crystals in laser devices.²⁶⁹

4.6.5 CHROMIUM(III)

Since 1985 more than 3,000 publications on Cr^{III} coordination chemistry have appeared, including descriptions of hundreds of new complexes. Within the space limitations of this review, priority has been given to the publications including significant new information on Cr^{III} coordination chemistry, crystallographically characterized Cr^{III} compounds, and new practical applications of Cr^{III} complexes. The majority of the Cr^{III} complexes described over the last 15–20 years are polynuclear or heteropoly-

The majority of the Cr^{III} complexes described over the last 15–20 years are polynuclear or heteropolynuclear compounds. Such compounds are discussed in Section 4.6.5.9 and are classified by the type of bridging ligand(s). Typical synthetic methods for Cr^{III} complexes, including the ligand-exchange reactions of Cr^{III} precursors and oxidation of Cr^{II} complexes, have been described in detail previously.¹ Kinetically inert Cr^{III} complexes (as well as those of Co^{III}) are extensively used in the mechanistic

Kinetically inert Cr^{III} complexes (as well as those of Co^{III}) are extensively used in the mechanistic studies of conventional or photo-induced ligand-exchange reactions.¹ However, such studies are generally not included in this review. A general overview of the ligand-exchange and photochemical reactions of transition metal complexes, including those of Cr^{III}, is given in Volumes 1, 7, and 9 of this work. Most of the mechanistic studies of Cr^{III} ligand-exchange reactions were performed before 1991, and these are comprehensively covered in a series of annual reviews,⁷ as well as in several other review articles.^{270–272} Several recent reviews provide a detailed coverage of Cr^{III} photochemistry.^{273–278}

4.6.5.1 C-donor Ligands

4.6.5.1.1 Cyanides

The most significant developments in the chemistry of a well-known¹ $[Cr(CN)_6]^{3-}$ complex are related to its use in the preparation of molecular magnets. The synthesis of a room-temperature magnetic material with a Prussian blue structure, $V^{II}_{0.42}V^{III}_{0.58}[Cr^{III}(CN)_6]_{0.86} \cdot 2.8H_2O$ ($T_c = 315$ K),

was first reported in 1995.²⁷⁹ This and related materials possess polynuclear, cyano-bridged structures, and are described in Section 4.6.5.9.1. A series of $[Cr(CN)_6]^{3^-}$ salts with $[Ru^{II}(phen)_3]^{2^+}$ (phen = 1,10-phenanthroline), $[Ru^{II}(bpy)_3]^{2^+}$, or $[Os^{II}(phen)_3]^{2^+}$ cations have been prepared, characterized by X-ray crystallography, and used for single-crystal photochemical studies.^{280,281} Other mononuclear Cr^{III} cyano complexes, which have been crystallographically characterized since 1985, are the $(NMe_4)_2M^{I}[Cr(CN)_6]$ double salts (where M = K, Cs, Rb, or Tl).^{282,283} Electron-density distributions in single- and double-complex salts ($Cs_2K[Cr(CN)_6]$ vs. $[Co(NH_3)_6][Cr(CN)_6]$) have been studied by polarized neutron diffraction experiments and DFT calculations.²⁸⁴ The effective ionic charges of the $[Cr(CN)_6]^{3^-}$ and $[Co(NH_3)_6]^{3^+}$ units in the double-complex salt are significantly lower than the formal ± 3 values due to the charge transfer through C—N···H—N hydrogen bonds.²⁸⁴

Binding of a paramagnetic, redox-inactive $[Cr(CN)_6]^{3-}$ anion to specific sites of a blue copper protein, amicyanin, has been used in NMR-spectroscopic studies of the protein structure in solutions.²⁸⁵ Ab initio calculations of the ligand-field spectra of $[Cr(CN)_6]^{3-}$ have been performed and the results compared with those for cyano complexes of the other first-row transition metals.²⁸⁶ The role of Cr—C—N bending vibrations in the ${}^2E_g \rightarrow {}^4A_{2g}$ phosphorescence spectra of $[Cr(CN)_6]^{3-}$ has been evaluated by computational methods.²⁸⁷ A critical survey of stability constants of Cr^{III} cyano complexes is available.²⁸⁸ Ligand-exchange reactions and photochemistry of some classes of mixed-ligand species, such as pentacyanochromates(III) or Cr^{III} cyano-ammine complexes, have been reviewed extensively.^{289,290}

4.6.5.1.2 Alkyls and aryls

Most of the Cr complexes with the title ligands are described in the *Comprehensive Organometallic Chemistry* series. This section is limited to the Cr^{III} complexes containing a single alkyl or aryl ligand, acting as a σ -donor, in addition to N-, O-, or Hal-donor ligands (Hal = halide such as F⁻, Cl⁻, Br⁻, or I⁻).

(*i*) Aqua complexes

Data on the syntheses, structures, and reactivities of the $[Cr^{III}(OH_2)_5R]^{2+}$ complexes published before 1992 have been reviewed.²⁹¹ While no solids have been isolated as yet, these complexes are generated in acidic aqueous solutions by the reactions of Cr^{II}_{aq} with alkyl or aryl radicals R['] (Scheme 7a) and purified by column chromatography. Typical sources of these radicals are illustrated in Scheme 7b–d, and Scheme 7e–h summarizes the main reactions of the Cr–C bonds in the $[Cr(OH_2)_5R]^{2+}$ complexes.^{291–293} Formation of transient complexes with Cr^{III} –C bonds in aqueous solutions and further reactions of such complexes (particularly those involving O₂, Scheme 7h) may be relevant to the biological activities of $Cr^{III}_{,1,292}$

In contrast to the Werner-type complexes, such as $[Cr(OH_2)_6]^{3+}$ or $[Cr(OH_2)_5X]^{2+}$ (X = Hal or similar anion) where broad EPR signals with $g \sim 2$ are observed in the solids at ~295 K or in frozen aqueous solutions at 77 K, no EPR signals for $[Cr(OH_2)_5R]^{2+}$ could be detected at $T \ge 20$ K. This difference, together with the analysis of low-temperature EPR spectra, points to the predominantly covalent nature of the Cr—C bonds in the $[Cr(OH_2)_5R]^{2+}$ complexes.²⁹³

(ii) Complexes with other ligands

Reactions similar to those in Scheme 7a–d, in the presence of Cr^{III} -stabilizing ligands (such as polyazamacrocycles or β -ketoenolates), led to isolable complexes containing Cr^{III} —C bonds.²⁹¹ Several such complexes, including (**75**) and (**76**), have been characterized by X-ray crystallography, typical Cr—C bond lengths are 2.05–2.15 Å.^{294–297} Mechanistic studies of the formation²⁹⁸ and reactivity^{294,299} of macrocyclic complexes related to (**75**) have been performed. A prominent feature of (**75**), (**76**), and related complexes is a significant elongation (by 0.10–0.20 Å compared with the usual values) of Cr-ligand bonds *trans* to the Cr—C bond (*trans*-effect), which leads to an increased reactivity of the *trans*-ligands in ligand-exchange reactions.²⁹¹

Reactions of a well-known complex, $[Cr(Me)Cl_2(thf)_3]$,³⁰⁰ with imidazole-based ligands in anhydrous solvents led to the isolation of new Cr^{III} methyl complexes (e.g., (77)).³⁰¹

a:
$$[Cr^{II}(OH_2)_6]^{2+} + R = [(H_2O)_5Cr^{III}-R]^{2+} + H_2O$$

b: $[Cr^{II}(OH_2)_6]^{2+} + CHX_3 \longrightarrow [Cr^{III}(OH_2)_5X]^{2+} + CHX_2$ (X = CI, Br)
c: $[Cr^{II}(OH_2)_6]^{2+} + H_2O_2 + CH(CH_3)_2OH \longrightarrow [Cr^{III}(OH_2)_6]^{3+} + C(Me)_2OH + H_2O + OH^-$
d: $(CH_3)_2SO + OH \longrightarrow CH_3 + CH_3SO_2H$ (pulse radiolysis)
e: $[(H_2O)_5Cr^{III}-R]^{2+} + R' \xrightarrow{H_2O} [Cr^{II}(OH_2)_6]^{3+} + RR'$
f: $[(H_2O)_5Cr^{III}-R]^{2+} \xrightarrow{H_2O, H^+} [Cr^{III}(OH_2)_6]^{3+} + RH$
g: $[(H_2O)_5Cr^{III}-CH(Me_3)_2OH]^{2+} \longrightarrow [Cr^{III}(OH_2)_6]^{3+} + CH_2=CH(Me)$
h: $[(H_2O)_5Cr^{III}-CH(Me_3)_2]^{2+} + O_2 \xrightarrow{H^+} [Cr^{III}(OH_2)_6]^{3+} + (Me)_2CO$
Scheme 7

Five-coordinate Cr^{III} complexes of sterically crowded ligands ((78)–(81)) possessing distorted square-pyramidal or trigonal-bipyramidal geometries have been characterized by X-ray crystallography.^{249,302–304}



(iii) Applications in catalysis

About one-third of all polyethylene is currently produced using the Cr-based Phillips catalyst.³⁰⁵ Preparation of this heterogeneous catalyst consists of the following steps:

- (a) Impregnation of SiO₂ with an inorganic Cr compound (e.g., CrO₃ or a Cr^{III} salt).
- (b) Calcination in the presence of O_2 .
- (c) Reduction of the solid material with C_2H_4 or CO.³⁰⁵

Although the structures of the active centers and reaction mechanisms for the Phillips catalyst are uncertain, it is believed that the key species in the catalytic cycle are Cr^{II} , Cr^{III} or Cr^{IV} -alkene complexes.³⁰⁵ Considerable effort has been devoted to studies of functional homogeneous catalytic models of the Phillips catalyst. A recent summary³⁰⁵ shows that a majority of such models are the sandwich-type Cr complexes with cyclopentadienyl ligands, which are outside the scope of this review (see the *Comprehensive Organometallic Chemistry* series). The recently synthesized compounds (77)–(81) are among the noncyclopentadienyl-containing Cr complexes that act as homogeneous catalysts of alkene polymerization.^{301,303,304} Other such complexes are mentioned in Sections 4.6.2.1, 4.6.4.2.1, 4.6.5.2.6, 4.6.5.2.9, 4.6.5.8.1, 4.6.5.8.2, 4.6.6.2.1, 4.6.6.2.2, 4.6.6.4.2, and 4.6.6.8. A Cr^{III} complex of a calix[4]arene derivative (79) and the related Cr^{IV} and Cr^{II} compounds (Sections 4.6.4.3.3 and 4.6.6.4.2) have been designed to serve as models for the studies of Cr—C bonds over planar oxo surfaces (similar to those in SiO₂-supported Cr catalysts).²⁴⁹

4.6.5.2 N-donor Ligands

4.6.5.2.1 Ammonia, amines, and N-heterocycles as unidentate ligands

(i) Hexaamminechromium(III)

Since the beginning of the twentieth century, $[Cr(NH_3)_6]^{3+}$ remains one of the most thoroughly studied coordination compounds.¹ Several new compounds containing $[Cr(NH_3)_6]^{3+}$ have been synthesized and characterized by X-ray crystallography since 1985. Thus, the structures of the Cs[Cr(NH₃)₆](ClO₄)₂X₂ salts (where X = Cl or Br) have been determined at different temperatures.³⁰⁶ The average Cr—N distances in these compounds are 2.070(3) Å and 2.080(2) Å at 293 K and 10 K, respectively.³⁰⁶ The bulky [Cr(NH₃)₆]³⁺ cation has been used to assist in the crystallization and structural studies of some "exotic" anions, such as heptaiodide³⁰⁷ or pentaazadienides.³⁰⁸ Double-complex salts of [Cr(NH₃)₆]³⁺ with [CuCl₅]³⁻ or [FeCl₆]³⁻ anions have been structurally characterized.^{309–311} A crystal structure of [Cr(NH₃)₆][Cr(CN)₆] was among the first to be determined with the use of short-wavelength synchrotron radiation.³¹² Some of the double-complex salts may find use as magnetic materials,³¹¹ but this area is currently dominated by cyano-bridged complexes (Section 4.6.5.1.1).

Numerous applications of $[Cr(NH_3)_6]^{3+}$ and its derivatives to mechanistic studies of conventional or photo-assisted ligand-exchange reactions have been extensively reviewed.^{7,270–276} Among other common Cr^{III} complexes, $[Cr(NH_3)_6]^{3+}$ has been used for the studies of reactivities of muonium and positronium atoms in aqueous solutions.^{313–315} Several computational methods, including DFT calculations,³¹⁶ a combination of molecular mechanics and angular overlap model calculations,^{317,318} or vibrational analysis³¹⁹ have been used for the prediction and interpretation of electronic spectra and photochemical properties of $[Cr(NH_3)_6]^{3+}$.

(ii) Mixed-ligand species

Despite the enormous amount of early work,¹ the development of selective methods for the synthesis of Cr^{III} am(m)ine complexes with a predetermined structure (for use in mechanistic studies) has continued in recent years. Synthetic pathways to Cr^{III} cyano-am(m)ine complexes were reviewed in 1994.²⁹⁰ Sargeson and co-workers^{320,321} proposed a general method for the synthesis of pentaam(m)ine Cr^{III} complexes (Scheme 8a), based on the relative lability of the trifluoro-methanesulfonato (triflato) ligand. This method has been subsequently used to synthesize the $[Cr(NH_3)_5(NH_2Bu^1)]^{3+}$ complex (characterized by X-ray crystallography), which is a rare example of the use of *tert*-butylamine as a ligand.³²²

Stereoselective synthetic schemes have been proposed for tetra- and triammine complexes (Scheme 8b,c).^{323–325} Scheme 8b represents the first high-yield (\sim 70%) synthesis of *cis*-tetraammine Cr^{III} complexes (published in 1997), while efficient synthetic methods for the corresponding *trans*-complexes have been known for decades.³²⁵ Synthesis, structure determination (by X-ray crystallography), and ligand-exchange reactions of *trans*-[Cr^{III}(NH₂R)₄Cl₂]⁺ complexes (R = Et or Prⁿ) have been reported.^{326,327} Determination of the crystal structures of *mer*[CrL₃Cl₃]

a: Pentaam(m)ine complexes

$$\begin{split} & [Cr(NH_2R)_5CI]^{2+} \xrightarrow{CF_3SO_3H} [Cr(NH_2R)_5(OSO_2CF_3)]^{2+} \xrightarrow{L, H^+} [Cr(NH_2R)_5L]^{3+} \\ & L = H_2O, \text{ MeOH, Me}_2SO, \text{ CHONMe}_2, \text{ CO}(NH_2)_2, \text{ MeCN, PO}(OMe)_2, \text{ HIm, etc.} \\ & R = H, \text{ Me} \end{split}$$

b: *cis*-Tetraammine complexes

$$[Cr(OH_{2})_{6}]^{3+} \xrightarrow{H_{2}Ox} [Cr(OH_{2})_{4}(ox)]^{+} + [Cr(OH_{2})_{2}(ox)_{2}]^{-} \xrightarrow{py} [Cr(py)_{4}(ox)]^{+} + [Cr(py)_{2}(ox)_{2}]^{-} \xrightarrow{NH_{3}(Iiq.)} [Cr(NH_{3})_{4}(ox)]^{+} \xrightarrow{HX, H_{2}O} cis - [Cr(NH_{3})_{4}(OH_{2})X]^{2+} \qquad X = CI \text{ or } Br$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} Cr(OH_{2})_{6}](NO_{3})_{3} & \xrightarrow{NH_{4}F} [Cr(OH_{2})_{6}]F_{3} (95\%) \frac{py}{93-115 \ ^{\circ}C} mer - [Cr(py)_{3}F_{3}] (98\%) \xrightarrow{NH_{3}}{100 \ ^{\circ}C} \\ mer - [Cr(NH_{3})_{3}F_{3}] (98\%) \xrightarrow{12 \ M \ HCl} mer - [Cr(NH_{3})_{3}(OH_{2})_{3}](ClO_{4})_{3} (90\%) \xrightarrow{Y^{-}} mer - [Cr(NH_{3})_{3}(Y)_{3}] \\ CF_{3}SO_{3}H & 70 \ ^{\circ}C \\ fac - [Cr(NH_{3})_{3}(O_{3}SCF_{3})_{3}] (90\%) \xrightarrow{6 \ M \ HClO_{4}}{70 \ ^{\circ}C} fac - [Cr(NH_{3})_{3}(OH_{2})_{3}](ClO_{4})_{3} (96\%) \xrightarrow{Y^{-}} fac - [Cr(NH_{3})_{3}(Y)_{3}] \\ Y^{-} = Br^{-}, N_{3}^{-}, NCS^{-} \\ \end{bmatrix}$$

Scheme 8

(L = pyridine or 4-ethylpyridine) has solved a long-standing controversy regarding the geometry of such complexes, which was based on different interpretations of their UV-visible spectra.^{328,329} The average Cr—N bond distance for the pyridine ligands is 2.11Å.

A well-known complex, $[Cr^{III}(NH_3)_5Cl]^{2+}$, has been characterized by X-ray crystallography for the first time and used for the comparison of π - and H-bonding patterns in the isomorphous series of M^{III} complexes (M = Cr, Co, Rh, Ir, Ru, or Os).³³⁰ Other long-known Cr^{III} complexes that have been crystallographically characterized since 1985 include *trans*-[Cr(NH₃)₄Cl₂]⁺, *trans*-[Cr(NH₃)₄(OH₂)Cl]²⁺,³³¹ *cis*-[Cr(NH₃)₄(OH₂)Cl]²⁺,³³² and *cis,mer*-[Cr(NH₃)₃(OH₂)₂Cl]²⁺.³³³ The ability of en to act as a monodentate ligand (in intermediates formed during the acid hydrolysis of [Cr(en)₃]³⁺) has been confirmed by solving the crystal structure of *cis*-[Cr(en)₂-(enH)Cl]³⁺.³³⁴

There is an ongoing controversy concerning the rates of isotopic H-exchange at C-2, C-4, and C-5 positions of *N*-methylimidazole in (82) and related species. Buncel and co-workers^{335,336} reported an exceptionally high ability of Cr^{III} in (82) to promote such exchange $(10^5-10^6$ -fold higher than for Co^{III}, and ~20-fold higher than for H⁺). This outstanding Lewis acid capability of Cr^{III} could lead to its wider use in catalysis, as well as contribute to an understanding of the mechanisms of its biological activity.¹¹ However, Clark *et al.*³³⁷ using a crystallographically characterized sample of (82), showed that the isotope exchange rates were comparable for the Cr^{III} and Co^{III} complexes, and attributed the results of Buncel and co-workers to erroneous experimental procedures.



(iii) Biochemical and medicinal applications

The $[Cr(NH_3)_6]^{3+}$ ion is widely used as a paramagnetic probe in structural studies of biomolecules (such as proteins, oligonucleotides, or enzyme cofactors) by NMR spectroscopy,^{338–340} and as a promotor of electron transfer in the electrochemistry of redox-active proteins.^{341–343} A series of kinetically inert Cr^{III} complexes, $[Cr(NH_3)_{6-x}(OH_2)_x]^{3+}$ (x = 0–6), have been used for activation of RNase H from *Escherichia coli* (in place of the natural activator, $[Mg(OH_2)_6]^{2+}$) to evaluate the role of hydrogen bonding and electrostatic factors in enzyme activation.³⁴⁴ The $[Cr(NH_3)_5(az)]^{3+}$ complex (az = aziridine) has been synthesized as a part of the search for selective cytotoxic agents for hypoxic cells.³⁴⁵ Aziridine is a potent DNA-alkylating agent, which can be released from $[Cr(NH_3)_5(az)]^{3+}$ in O₂-deficient cells (found in solid tumors but not in healthy tissue) following the conversion of kinetically inert Cr^{III} to labile Cr^{II} by intracellular reductants. However, the majority of work in this area has been performed with Co^{III}/Co^{III} aziridine complexes.³⁴⁵

(iv) Complexes of free radical ligands

Magnetic interactions of a paramagnetic metal center and a free radical ligand are of interest for the development of new types of molecular magnetic materials. Complexes of this type (such as (83)) change their magnetic properties upon irradiation by visible light and can serve as a basis for development of novel photo-activated memory units for electronic devices.^{346,347}

4.6.5.2.2 Unidentate amido ligands

Air- and moisture-sensitive Cr^{III} complexes of a general formula $[Cr(NR_2)_3]$, possessing bulky dialkyl- or disilyl-amide ligands in a trigonal arrangement have been known since the 1970s,¹ but relatively little work has been done on these complexes since 1985. A theoretical study of the structure and bonding (e.g., metal–ligand π -bonding) in three-coordinate amido complexes of the first-row transition metal ions, including Cr^{III} , has been performed;³⁴⁸ this work also provides a useful survey of crystal structures determined before 1999. A new high-yielding synthesis of $[Cr{N(SiMe_3)_2}_3]$ has been proposed recently, and an accurate crystal structure has been determined (the average Cr—N bond length is 1.889(2) Å).³⁴⁹ Another crystallographically characterized compound, $[Cr(NRR')_3]$ (R = adamantyl; R' = 3,5-dimethylphenyl), has been used in the syntheses of Cr^V and Cr^{VI} amido complexes (Sections 4.6.1.2 and 4.6.2.2).⁵⁸ Polymeric Cr^{III} complexes with simple amido ligands, such as $[Cr(NH_2)_3]$, are referred to in Section 4.6.5.9.2.

4.6.5.2.3 N-thiocyanates and N-cyanates

Well-known¹ Cr^{III} *N*-thiocyanate complexes, such as $[Cr(NCS)_6]^{3-}$, $[Cr(NCS)_4 (NH_3)_2]^-$ (Reinecke anion), and their derivatives, are currently extensively used for the syntheses of charge-transfer salts of organic donors (tetrathiafulvalene derivatives) aimed towards the development of

new conductive and magnetic molecular materials.^{350–353} The ability of $[Cr(NCS)_4(NH_3)_2]^-$ and its analogs to form precipitates with protonated *N*-heterocycles is widely used in the analysis of pharmaceutical preparations.^{354,355} A series of supramolecular adducts of $[Cr(NCS)_6]^{3-}$ with Na⁺, K⁺, or NH₄⁺ crown-ether complexes have been studied recently.³⁵⁶ The stereochemistry of the *mer*-[Cr(NCS)₃(py)₃] complex has been established by ²H NMR studies (contrary to its previous assignment as a *fac*-isomer, based on the UV–visible spectroscopic data).³⁵⁷ The first crystal structure of a Cr^{III} complex with *N*-cyanato ligand, $[Cr(NH_3)_5(NCO)]^{2+}$,

The first crystal structure of a Cr^{III} complex with *N*-cyanato ligand, $[Cr(NH_3)_5(NCO)]^{2+}$, has been determined and the ligand-field states of this complex have been calculated.³⁵⁸ The cyanato ligand is linear, with Cr–N, N–C, and C–O distances of 2.09(1) Å, 1.16(1) Å, and 1.21(1) Å, respectively, and there is no significant structural *trans*-effect for the axial ammine ligand.³⁵⁸ Time-resolved resonant emission spectra of $[Cr(NH_3)_5(NCO)]^{2+}$ have also been studied.³⁵⁹

4.6.5.2.4 Other unidentate N-donor ligands

(i) Azido complexes

The isomeric complexes, *fac*- and *mer*-[Cr(NH₃)₃(N₃)₃], have been synthesized (Scheme 7c) and characterized by X-ray crystallography.³²⁴ Nitrozation reactions (Equation (4); R = Me, Et, or CHCH₂) led to nitrile-substituted complexes:³²⁴

$$\left[\operatorname{Cr}(\operatorname{NH}_3)_3(\operatorname{N}_3)_3\right] + 3 \operatorname{NOBF}_4 + 3 \operatorname{RCN} \rightarrow \left[\operatorname{Cr}(\operatorname{NH}_3)_3(\operatorname{NCR})_3\right]^{3+} + 3 \operatorname{BF}_4^- + 3 \operatorname{N}_2\operatorname{O} + 3 \operatorname{N}_2 \quad (4)$$

A series of Cr^{III} azido-pyridine complexes has been prepared and characterized by spectroscopic methods.³⁶⁰ Azido-bridged Cr^{III} complexes are described in Section 4.6.5.9.2. Azido complexes of Cr^{III} are widely used as precursors in photochemical syntheses of Cr^{V} nitrido complexes since the early 1980s (Section 4.6.3.3).¹ Photodecomposition of Cr^{III} complexes containing azido ligands (e.g., $[Cr(N_3)L(OH_2)_2]^{2+}$, where L = triethanolamine) has been used for deposition of thin films of metallic Cr on Si surfaces, with potential applications in the electronic industry.³⁶¹

(ii) Nitrile complexes

Owing to the relative lability of the nitrile ligands, the $[Cr(NH_3)_3(NCR)_3]$ complexes (synthesized according to Equation (4) or Scheme 7a^{321,324} can be used for the syntheses of the $[Cr(NH_3)_3L_3]$ complexes (where L are monodentate N- or O-donors) of predetermined geometry.³²⁴ Recrystallization of Cr^{III} complexes from nitrile solvents can lead to coordination of nitrile ligands to the metal ion, as illustrated by a crystallographically characterized complex, (84), which is also catalytically active in ethylene polymerization (Section 4.6.5.1.2).³⁶²

(iii) Dinitrogen complexes

A series of articles on Cr^{III} dinitrogen complexes, stabilized by aminopolycarboxylato ligands (Section 4.6.5.8.4; general formula $[Cr(N_2)L]^-$), were published in 1984–1985.^{363,364} Dinitrogen binding to Cr^{III} was suggested from the IR spectra.³⁶³ However, to our knowledge, no crystal structures of mononuclear Cr^{III} dinitrogen complexes have been reported, and no such complexes have been mentioned in the literature since 1985. A dinitrogen-bridged Cr^{III} –Re^I complex has recently been described (Section 4.6.5.9.2).

(iv) Nitrosyl complexes

Nitrosyl complexes of Cr^{III} are described in Section 4.6.7.1.

4.6.5.2.5 Polydentate (open-chain) amine ligands

(i) Bidentate ligands

As a part of studies aimed towards magnetic molecular materials, the double complex salts $[Cr(en)_3]_3[FeCl_6]Cl_6 \cdot H_2O$ and $[Cr(en)_3][FeCl_4]Cl_2 \cdot 9H_2O$ have been prepared and characterized by X-ray crystallography.³⁶⁵ Ferromagnetic ordering in these compounds is achieved at very low temperatures (~1 K),³⁶⁵ making their practical application unlikely (Section 4.6.5.9.1). Crystal structures have also been determined for the $[Cr(en)_3]^{3+}$ salts of the $[Hg_3Cl_{12}]^{6-}$ or $[ZnCl_4]^{2-}$ anions.^{334,366} The crystal structure and electron density distribution at 120 K have been determined for $\Delta(\lambda,\lambda,\lambda)$ -[Cr(chxn)_3](NO₃)₃·3H₂O (chxn = *trans*-1,2-cyclohexanediamine).³⁶⁷

Significant binding of $[Cr(en)_3]^{3+}$ to a human glycoprotein occurs *in vitro*, inducing a structural transition of the protein from the native twisted β -sheet to a more compact α -helix.³⁶⁸ However, $[Cr(en)_3]^{3+}$ does not permeate into mammalian cells to any significant extent and is not genotoxic in the *in vitro* micronucleus assay.¹⁷⁶ Ligand-exchange reactions and photochemistry of $[Cr(en)_3]^{3+}$ and related complexes have been studied extensively (reviewed in 1997–2001).^{273–276} The kinetics and mechanism of $[Cr(en)_3]^{3+}$ oxidation to Cr^{VI} by *N*-bromosuccinimide in neutral aqueous solutions have been studied and the importance of the partially aquated intermediate, $[Cr(en)_2(OH_2)_2]^{3+}$, has been emphasized.³⁶⁹ Molecular-mechanical calculations, using a novel approach to model the angular geometry about the metal center, have been performed for $[Cr(en)_3]^{3+}$ and other Cr^{III} polyamine complexes.³¹⁷ Partial molar volumes in H₂O at infinite dilution (25 °C) have been calculated for Cr^{III} polyamine and polyimine complexes.³⁷⁰

Separation of three geometric isomers of a cyano-amine complex, Λ -*cis*-[Cr(CN)₂(*d*-pn)₂]Cl (pn = propylenediamine = 1,2-propanediamine) (**85a**-c), has been achieved by ion-exchange chromatography, and (**85a,b**) have been characterized by X-ray crystallography.³⁷¹ This is the first evidence for the existence of geometric isomers, distinguished by relative positions of the methyl groups, for the complexes of pn ligands.³⁷¹ The first crystal structure of a Cr^{III} complex with aromatic *o*-diamine, [Cr{1,2-(NH₂)₂C₆H₄}Cl₄]⁻, has been reported.²⁴⁸ Reactions of this and related complexes with mild oxidants led to unusual octahedral Cr^{IV} complexes (e.g., (**73**)).²⁴⁸ A Cr^{III} complex of an antihistaminic drug, isothipendyl (proposed structure (**86**)), exhibited strong antibacterial properties.³⁷²



(ii) Tri-, tetra-, penta-, and hexadentate ligands

Stereoselective syntheses, crystallographic characterizations, and ligand-exchange studies of a series of Cr^{III} complexes with tri- and tetradentate aliphatic amines (such as $H_2N(CH_2)_nNH(CH_2)_nNH_2$ or $H_2N(CH_2)_nNH(CH_2)_nNH(CH_2)_nNH_2$, n=2 or 3) have been performed by House and co-workers.^{334,373–378} A series of crystallographically characterized Cr^{III} oxalato-tetraamine complexes have been prepared by the reduction of Cr^{VI} with oxalic acid in the presence of the corresponding amine.^{379,380} Different binding modes of 1,3,5-trideoxy-*cis*-inositol-1,3,5-triamine have been observed in a single Cr^{III} complex ((**87**), characterized by X-ray crystallography) due to the presence of different geometric isomers of the ligand in solutions.³⁸¹ Several novel structurally characterized Cr^{III} complexes with penta- and hexadentate amine ligands have been reported (such as (**88**) and (**89**) in Scheme 19).^{382,383} The [Cr(tren)(OH)(OH₂)]²⁺ complex (tren = N(CH₂CH₂NH₂)₃) has been used as a slow dissociating model for [Fe(OH₂)₆]²⁺ in the mechanistic studies of biological iron storage in ferritin.³⁸⁴

4.6.5.2.6 Macrocyclic amine ligands

This has been one of the most dynamic areas of Cr^{III} chemistry in the past two decades owing mainly to the developments in Cr^{III} photochemistry,^{273–276,278} and, more recently, to the interest in homogeneous catalysts of alkene polymerization (see below). A list of crystallographically characterized complexes is given in Table 3, and the ligand structures (L^1-L^{15}) are shown in Scheme 9.^{294,385–414}

(i) Tridentate ligands: applications in catalysis

Recently, Köhn *et al.*⁴¹⁵ have discovered that the Cr^{III} complexes of [6]aneN₃ derivatives (L¹ in Scheme 9 and Table 3, where R is a C₅–C₁₀ alkyl residue) are efficient homogeneous catalysts of alkene polymerization, resembling the Phillips catalyst (Section 4.6.5.1.2). For instance, [CrL¹Cl₃] with R = n-C₈H₁₇ is a selective catalyst for trimerization of α -alkenes.⁴¹⁶ Several patents for the use of such complexes have been issued, ^{417,418} and the catalytic applications were reviewed in 2001.⁴¹⁹

Studies on Cr^{III} complexes of [9]aneN₃ (1,4,7-triazacyclononane(tacn)) derivatives (L² in Scheme 9 and Table 3) prior to 1987 have been reviewed.^{420,421} Complexes of Cr^{III} with

Complex ^a	References	Complex ^a	References
$\overline{cis-[CrL^1X_3]^b}$	385	cis-[CrL ⁶ (lact)] ^{+g}	405
cis-[CrL ² Cl ₃] ^c	386,387	trans-[CrL ⁷ (NCS)	406
cis-[CrL ² (acac)X] ^d	388	$\frac{(OH_2)}{trans - [CrL^7(R)]}$ $(OH_2)]^{2+h}$	294
$[Cr(L^3)_2]^{3+e}$	389	(s)-trans-[CrL ⁸ Cl ₂] ⁺	407
$trans - [CrL^4(ONO)_2]^+$	390	$[CrL^9]^{3+1}$	408
cis- or trans- $\left[\operatorname{CrL}^{4}(\operatorname{NH}_{3})_{2}\right]^{3+}$		$[CrL^{10}]^{3+}$	408
	391-393		
<i>cis</i> - or <i>trans</i> -[CrL ⁴ (NCS) ₂] ⁺	394	trans-[CrL ¹¹ Cl]	409,410
cis- or trans- $\left[\operatorname{CrL}^{4}(\operatorname{CN})_{2}\right]^{+}$	395,396	trans- $[CrL^{12}Cl]$	409,410
trans- $[CrL^4(X)_2]^+$		$[CrL^{13}]^{3+i}$	411,412
	397-402		
cis-[CrL ⁴ (en)] ³⁺	403	$[CrL^{14}]^{3+}$	413,414
trans- $[CrL^4(OH)(OH_2)]^{2+}$	404	$[CrL^{15}]^{3+}$	413,414
trans- $[CrL^5(ONO)_2]^+$	390		,

 Table 3 Crystallographically characterized Cr^{III} complexes of macrocyclic amines (since 1985).

^a Designations of the ligands correspond to Scheme 9; acac = acetylacetonate(1-) = 2,4 pentanedionato(1-). ^b X = Cl, $R = -CH_2(CH_2)_2CCH$; or X = Br, R = Me. ^c R = Pr'or Buⁿ. ^d X = F or O_2PF_2, R = Me. ^e Crystal structure of a Co^{III} analog has been determined. ^f X = Cl or Br. ^g lact = lactate(2-) = 2-hydroxypropanoate(2-). ^h R = 4-BrC₆H₄CH₂ (75). ⁱ Complexes with two stereoisomers of the ligand.



[6]aneN₃ or [9]aneN₃ derivatives are widely used as building blocks for the syntheses of polynuclear and heteropolynuclear complexes (Section 4.6.5.9).^{422–424} The chemistry of the related $[Cr^{0}L(CO)_{3}]$ complexes (where L is a tridentate macrocyclic amine)^{385,386} is described in the *Comprehensive Organometallic Chemistry* series.

(ii) Tetra-, penta-, and hexadentate ligands

General methods for the syntheses of *trans*- or *cis*-Cr^{III}–cyclam complexes with monoor bidentate ligands were developed in the early 1980s.^{1,425,426} Numerous Cr^{III} complexes of cyclam and its analogs (L^4-L^8 in Scheme 9) have been characterized by X-ray crystallography since 1985 (Table 3), typical Cr—N(macrocycle) bond lengths are 2.07–2.10 Å. Molecular mechanical calculations have been used⁴²⁷ to explain the preference for *cis*- over *trans*-isomer formation in the syntheses of Cr^{III}–cyclam complexes.^{1,425,426} Complexes of Cr^{III} with tetradentate macrocyclic ligands are widely used to stabilize metal ion

Complexes of Cr^{III} with tetradentate macrocyclic ligands are widely used to stabilize metal ion coordination to "unusual" unidentate ligands, such as alkyls (Section 4.6.5.1.2), superoxide (Section 4.6.5.4.2), nitrite, or hydrogen carbonate (Section 4.6.5.4.3), and to study the reactivities of such coordinated ligands, which are often biologically relevant. The chiral *cis*-[CrL⁶Cl₂]⁺ complexes induce the transformations of methylglyoxal, 1,3-dihydroxyacetone, or glyceraldehyde into Cr^{III}-bound *R*- or *S*-lactate (Scheme 10; confirmed by crystal structure determination for the Cr^{III} product).⁴⁰⁵ This system mimics the action of a Zn^{II}-dependent glyoxalase I enzyme. The *cis*-[CrL⁶Cl₂]⁺ complexes also induce the transformations of carbohydrates into Cr^{III}-bound 2-hydroxycarboxylates.⁴²⁸ Some complexes of a radioactive ⁵¹Cr^{III} isotope with *N*-substituted cyclam have been patented as radiodiagnostic agents for the detection of hypoxia and radio-resistance in tumor tissues.⁴²⁹



Scheme 10

Well-characterized Cr^{III} complexes with penta- or hexadentate macrocyclic and macrobicyclic amine ligands (L^9-L^{15} in Scheme 9, including "pendant-arm" macrocycles $L^{11}-L^{13}$) are listed in Table 3. Generally, the chemistry of Cr^{III} complexes with such ligands is much less developed than the corresponding Co^{III} chemistry.⁴¹⁴

4.6.5.2.7 Polydentate and macrocyclic imine ligands

(i) Diimine ligands

Since 1985, research on the well-known Cr^{III} complexes of phen, bpy, and related ligands¹ has been dominated by their photo-induced reactions (reviewed in 1999 and 2001).^{274,277} This section describes the related synthetic, structural, and analytical studies. Since 1996, much attention has also been paid to Cr^{III} dicarboxylato–diimine complexes as building blocks for molecular materials (described in ections 4.6.4.4.7 and 4.6.4.9.9.

Requirements for accurate structural data (to be used in computational studies of electrontransfer processes in $[Cr(diimine)_3]^{3+}$ complexes) led to the determination of crystal structures of several compounds, including $[Cr(phen)_3](ClO_4)_3 \cdot H_2O$,⁴³⁰ *cis*- $[Cr(bpy)_2(OH_2)_2]$ (NO₃)₃,⁴³¹ $[Cr(bpy)_3](ClO_4)_3$,⁴³² and $[Cr(bpy)_3](PF_6)_3$.⁴³³ Crystal structures and UV-visible spectroscopy of the $[Cr(dmb)_2(NCS)_2]I$, $[Cr(dmb)_2(NCS)_2](I_3)$, and $[Cr(bpy)_2(NCS)_2](I_3)$ complexes (dmb = 4,4'dimethyl-2,2'-bipyridine) provided evidence for charge-transfer interactions between the complex cation and the iodide anion in the solid state and in solutions.⁴³⁴ This aided in gaining a mechanistic insight into the redox interactions of structurally similar Ru^{III}/Ru^{II} diimine complexes with the I^-/I_3^- couple in photogalvanic cells.⁴³⁴ A general method for the syntheses

of heteroleptic $[Cr(diimine)_3]^{3+}$ complexes has been proposed recently.⁴³⁵ Capillary electrophoresis has been applied as a powerful analytical method for $[Cr(diimine)_3]^{3+}$ complexes and their photo-aquation products (including separations of enantiomers),^{435,436} as well as for the studies of DNA binding of such complexes (see below).

Quenching of such complexes (see below). Quenching of the exited states of $[Cr(diimine)_3]^{3+}$ complexes by organic reductants can be used for quantitative generation of unstable $[Cr^{II}(diimine)_3]^{2+}$ complexes (Section 4.6.6.2.2),⁴³⁷ or for oxidation of phenols in the presence of O₂ (with the potential application in treatment of waste waters).⁴³⁸ Emission patterns of the $[Cr(diimine)_3]^{3+}$ complexes in aqueous solutions are modified by binding to anionic polyelectrolytes or to micelle-forming substances.^{439,440} This feature can be used for tuning the photocatalytic properties of these complexes, as well as for probing the presence of hydrophobic sites in polyelectrolytes.⁴³⁹ The encapsulation of $[Cr(phen)_3]^{3+}$ in zeolites has been studied as a means of producing a potential catalyst for cyclohexane oxidation.⁴⁴¹

(ii) Biochemical applications

Extensive research has been performed on the DNA binding of $[Cr(diimine)_3]^{3+}$ complexes, leading to chiral separation of the complexes and to photo-catalyzed DNA cleavage; these data have been reviewed recently.²⁷⁷ The complexes with an intercalating dipyridophenazine (dppz) ligand are particularly strong DNA binders.⁴⁴² The *cis*- $[Cr(phen)_2(OH_2)_2]^{3+}$ complex induced oxidative degradation of DNA *in vitro* in the presence of PbO₂ as an oxidant, due to the formation of Cr^V intermediates.¹⁷⁷ Reactions with $[Cr(phen)_3]^{3+}$ have been used in the mechanistic studies of electron transfer in metalloproteins, such as blue copper proteins⁴⁴³ or ferredox-ins.⁴⁴⁴ Unlike the Cr^{III} complexes with aliphatic ligands, the complexes of phen or bpy ligands are genotoxic in bacterial and mammalian cell assays (in the presence of O₂).^{176,445} This can be explained by the formation of highly genotoxic Cr^V intermediates,¹⁷⁶ as well as by the slightly higher permeability towards cell membranes, compared with the Cr^{III} complexes of less lypophilic ligands.⁴⁴⁶

(iii) Tri- and tetradentate polypyridyl ligands

The complexes of tri(2-pyridyl)amine (90) and their analogs with deuterated pyridine rings have been characterized by spectroscopic methods.^{357,447} Complex (90) with X = F shows remarkable solvent dependencies of its UV-visible and ²H NMR spectra, due to π -stacking interactions of the solvent molecules with the pyridyl groups of the ligands.⁴⁴⁷ The *trans*-[CrCl₂L]⁺ complexes with tetradentate polypyridyl ligands (91) have been characterized by X-ray crystallography.^{448,449}



(iv) Polypyrazolyl ligands

The hydrotris(1-pyrazolyl)borato(1–) (Tp) ligand, known since 1966, is distinguished from "classical" polyimine systems (such as phen) by the presence of a delocalized negative charge.⁴⁵⁰ The first crystallographically characterized Cr^{III} complex of the Tp ligand, (**92**), was synthesized in 1985.⁴⁵¹ This complex was not mutagenic in the Ames bacterial assay.⁴⁵¹ The $[Cr(Tp)_2]^+$

complex (93) was first synthesized in 1996,⁴⁵² and its crystal structure was reported subsequently.⁴⁵³ Several complexes of a general formula $[Cr(Tp)X_nL_{3-n}]^{(2-n)+}$ (X = Cl or I; L = H₂O, THF, or pyrazole; n = 2 or 3) have been characterized by spectroscopic methods.^{451,453,454} A Cr^{III} complex of a substituted Tp ligand has been isolated from the decomposition products of the corresponding Cr^{II} complexes (Section 4.6.6.2.2) and characterized by X-ray crystallography.⁴⁵⁵ The Cr–N distances in the Cr^{III}–Tp complexes (typically, 2.04–2.06Å)^{451,453,455} are similar to those in the [Cr(phen)₃]³⁺ complex (2.040–2.055Å).⁴³⁰ The differences in energy level splittings of electronic states between [Cr(Tp)₂]⁺ and the other types of Cr^{III}N₆ complexes have been discussed.⁴⁵² Stabilizing effect of a substituted Tp ligand has been used to isolate the first structurally characterized Cr^{III} superoxo complex (Section 4.6.5.4.2). Complexes of Cr^{III} with fluoroalkyl-substituted Tp ligands have been patented as catalysts of cyclohexane oxidation to cyclohexanone by organic peroxides.⁴⁵⁶

(v) Miscellaneous ligands

A crystallographically characterized complex (94) has been synthesized by a template method (Scheme 11).⁴⁵⁷ Several other Cr^{III} complexes of polydentate heterocyclic ligands^{458,459} or heterocycle-derived Schiff bases^{460,461} have been characterized recently by spectroscopic methods. A Cr^{III} complex of 2-guanidinobenzimidazol (first reported in 1977, no crystal structure available)⁴⁶² acts as an inhibitor of photosynthetic system II in spinach thylakoids.⁴⁶³





4.6.5.2.8 Polydentate ligands with amine and imine donors

Typical crystallographically characterized complexes (95)–(101) are illustrated.^{458,464–469} Complex (96) contains a ubiquitous biological ligand, histamine.⁴⁶⁵ Complex (99) is distinguished by an unusually high (for a Cr^{III} species) rate of base hydrolysis (seconds timescale at pH ~ 7 and 25 °C).⁴⁷⁰ A series of complexes with a hexadentate ligand, N, N, N', N'-tetrakis(2-pyridylmethyl) ethane-1,2-diamine (tpen), have been prepared, including the crystallographically characterized species [Cr(tpen)(OCOMe)]²⁺, [Cr(tpen)]³⁺ (100), [Cr(tpen)(OH)]²⁺, and [Cr(tpen)(OH)₂]^{+.468} The two latter complexes are among the few well-characterized monomeric Cr^{III} complexes with hydroxo ligands (Section 4.6.5.4.1). Some ⁵¹Cr^{III} complexes with hexadentate macrocyclic ligands containing pyridine and amine donors have been patented for application in medical imaging and immunoassays.⁴⁷¹

4.6.5.2.9 Polydentate N-donor ligands with amido donors

Structures of crystallographically characterized complexes (102)–(108) are illustrated.^{220,472–476} Typical Cr—N(amido) bond lengths in such complexes are 1.88 Å (102),²²⁰ 1.97 Å ((107) and (108)),^{475,476} and 2.02–2.05 Å ((103)–(106)).^{472–474} The four-coordinate triamidoamine Cr^{III} complex (102) reacts with mild Cl-containing oxidants, such as AgCl or CuCl₂, with the formation of the corresponding Cr^{IV} complex (65).^{220,477} Complexes (103)–(108) are stabilized by delocalization of the negative charges on amido donors. Five- or six-coordinate Cr^{III} complexes of sterically demanding β -diketoiminates ((103) or (104)) act as alkene polymerization catalysts (Section



4.6.5.1.2).^{303,472,478} For complexes (103) and (104), the presence of O-donor chelates (β -diketonates or carboxylates) was required to obtain mononuclear species. Dinuclear (chloro-bridged) β -diketoiminato complexes are described in Section 4.6.5.9.13. Similar, but less sterically crowded amidiminato ([ArNC(H)NAr]⁻), 2-aminopyridinato, and 2-aminomethylpyrrolato ligands form tris-chelated Cr^{III} complexes (105),⁴⁷³ (106),⁴⁷⁴ and (107),⁴⁷⁵ respectively. A five-coordinate (square-pyramidal, high-spin) complex (108) is formed with a macrocyclic β -diketoiminato donor ligand.⁴⁷⁶



Several Cr^{III} complexes with activated amido donor ligands (e.g., amides of carboxylic or sulfonic acids) have been described, but none of them have been crystallographically characterized.^{132,479} Complexes of Cr^{III} with 2-sulfonamide-1,3,4-thiadiazol derivatives act as potent inhibitors of carbonic anhydrases and may have potential use as anti-inflammatory or antidiabetic drugs.^{479,480}

4.6.5.2.10 Porphyrins, corroles, and phthalocyanines

(i) Syntheses and characterizations of the complexes

There have been relatively few developments in the chemistry of Cr^{III} porphyrinato complexes since 1985. Syntheses of new octahedral Cr^{III} -tpp derivatives (tpp=*meso*-tetraphenylporphyrinato(2–)) used the well-known reactions of a five-coordinate (square pyramidal) [Cr(tpp)Cl] complex, such as the exchange of Cl^- and/or the addition of a sixth neutral *N*- or O-donor ligand.^{1,481} The following complexes have been characterized by X-ray crystallography: [Cr(tpp)Cl(py)],⁴⁸² [Cr(tpp)Cl(MeIm)] (MeIm = 1-methyl- or 1,2-dimethylimidazoles),⁴⁸³ [Cr(tpp)Cl(OH₂)],⁴⁸⁴ [Cr(tpp)(OPh)(thf)],⁴⁸⁵ [Cr(tpp)(OR)(thf)] (R = 2,4-(NO₂)₂C₆H₃),⁴⁸⁶ and [Cr(tpp)(N₃)(py)].⁴⁸⁷ Formation and magnetic properties of Cr^{III} porphyrinato complexes with nitroxyl radicals as axial ligands (such as (83)) have been described in Section 4.6.5.2.1. A crystallographically characterized Cr^{III} complex with a porphyrinogen ligand, possessing a partially hydrogenated porphyrin ring, has been mentioned in Section 4.6.4.2.2 ((70) in Scheme 5).²³⁰

tially hydrogenated porphyrin ring, has been mentioned in Section 4.6.4.2.2 ((70) in Scheme 5).²³⁰ The first crystallographically characterized Cr^{III} corrolato complex, (109), has been recently reported.²²⁹ The corrole ring in (109) is distinguished by the presence of formally three amido and one imine donors (rather than two amido and two imine donors in porphyrin derivatives), which leads to significantly shorter Cr–N(indole) bonds (1.93–1.95 Å in (109) vs. 2.03 Å in [Cr(tpp)Cl(py)]).^{229,482}



A new Cr^{III} phthalocyaninato complex [Cr(pc)I] (110) has been synthesized (Scheme 12a) and characterized by X-ray crystallography.⁴⁸⁸ Another crystallographically characterized complex, *trans*-[Cr(pc)(ONO)₂]⁻ (pc = phthalocyaninato(2–)), has been synthesized using [Cr(pc)(OH₂)₂]⁺ as a precursor.⁴⁸⁹ A general synthetic method for the [Cr(pc)(X)₂]⁻ complexes has been developed (Scheme 12b), and spectral (electronic and vibrational) and electrochemical properties of these complexes have been compared.⁴⁹⁰

(ii) Reactivity

The relative lability of axial ligands in Cr^{III} porphyrinato complexes (leading to an increase in ligandexchange rates by 1–2 orders of magnitude compared with usual Cr^{III} complexes) has been observed by many authors.^{484,491} For instance, the influence of sterically hindered imidazole ligands on the rates of ligand-exchange reactions has been investigated.⁴⁸³ Kinetics and mechanisms of photo-induced ligand exchange in five- or six-coordinate Cr^{III} porphyrinato complexes have also been studied extensively.^{492–494} The photochemistry of Cr porphyrinato complexes was reviewed in 1992.⁴⁹⁵

The oxo-transfer reactions (illustrated by equations (i)–(iii) in Scheme 13) form the basis for the syntheses of stable Cr^{IV} porphyrinato complexes (equations (i) and (ii) in Scheme 13; see also Section 4.6.4.2.2), as well as for the use of [Cr(tpp)Cl] and related complexes in redox catalysis (Equations (ii) and (iii) in Scheme 13).^{1,496,497} The related nitrido-transfer reactions (Equation (iv) in Scheme 13) have also been observed.^{139,498,499}

Mechanistic studies of one-electron oxidations or reductions of Cr^{III} porphyrinato complexes have been performed by pulse-radiolysis and electrochemical methods.^{500,501} The results (summarized in Equations (v)–(vii), Scheme 13) show that the reduction process can be directed either

a:
$$\operatorname{Cr} + \underbrace{(\operatorname{CN} + \operatorname{I}_2 - \frac{t^\circ}{\operatorname{no \ solvent}}}_{\operatorname{CN}} [\operatorname{Cr}(\operatorname{pc})\operatorname{I}]$$

$$[\operatorname{Cr}\operatorname{Cl}_2(\operatorname{OH}_2)_4]\operatorname{Cl} + \underbrace{(\operatorname{CN} - \frac{t^\circ}{\operatorname{no \ solvent}}}_{\operatorname{CN}} "[\operatorname{Cr}(\operatorname{pc})\operatorname{Cl}]" \xrightarrow{\operatorname{KOH}}_{\operatorname{Me}_2\operatorname{CO}/\operatorname{MeOH}}$$
b:

$$\operatorname{K}[\operatorname{Cr}(\operatorname{pc})(\operatorname{OH}_2] \xrightarrow{\operatorname{HI} (\operatorname{conc.})}_{\operatorname{CN}} [\operatorname{Cr}(\operatorname{pc})(\operatorname{OH}_2)_2]\operatorname{I} \xrightarrow{(\operatorname{B}_u \operatorname{A}^n\operatorname{N})X}_{\operatorname{Me}_2\operatorname{CO}} (\operatorname{B}_u \operatorname{A}^n\operatorname{N})[\operatorname{Cr}(\operatorname{pc})(X)_2]_{\operatorname{K}}}_{\operatorname{K} = \operatorname{F, \ Cl, \ Br, \ I}}$$

$$\operatorname{Scheme 12}$$

$$ROOH + [CrIII(tpp)CI] \longrightarrow ROH + [CrVO(tpp)CI]$$
(i)

$$[Cr^{V}O(tpp)Cl] + [Cr^{III}(tpp)Cl] \longrightarrow 2 [Cr^{IV}O(tpp)] + 2 HCI$$
(ii)

 $[Cr^{V}O(tpp)CI] + R'H \longrightarrow R'OH + [Cr^{III}(tpp)CI]$ (iii)

$$[M^{V}N(p^{1})] + [Cr^{III}(p^{2})CI] = [M^{III}CI(p^{1})] + [Cr^{V}N(p^{2})]$$
(iv)

 $M = Cr \text{ or } Mn; p^1 \text{ and } p^2 \text{ are different porphyrin derivatives}$

$$[Cr^{III}(tpp)L^{1}L^{2}] \longrightarrow [Cr^{III}(tpp^{-})L^{1}L^{2}] (L^{1} = CI; L^{2} = ROH) \quad (v)$$

$$[Cr^{III}(tpp^{-})L^{1}L^{2}] (L^{1} = CI; L^{2} = Py) \quad (vi)$$

$$[Cr^{III}(tpp^{+})L^{1}L^{2}] \longrightarrow [Cr^{IV}(tpp)L^{1}L^{2}] \quad (vii)$$

Scheme 13

to the ligand or to the metal ion, dependent on the complex used (Equations (v) and (vi) in Scheme 13).⁵⁰¹ By contrast, the first step in the oxidation process for all the studied complexes was the formation of a ligand-based cation-radical, followed (in some cases) by intramolecular electron transfer with the formation of a Cr^{IV} complex (Equation (vii) in Scheme 13).⁵⁰⁰ The ligand-based oxidation step can lead to the formation of Cr^{III} complexes with oxidized porphyrin rings.⁵⁰² In a related study on phthalocyaninato complexes, the electrochemically oxidized derivative of [Cr^{II} (pc)] was isolated and described as [Cr^{III} (pc⁺)Cl₂] (rather than [Cr^{IV} (pc)Cl₂]) on the basis of its crystal structure (see also Section 4.6.6.2.3).⁵⁰³ Electrochemical studies of $Cr^{III/II}$ porphyrinato and phthalocyaninato complexes were reviewed in 2001.⁵⁰⁴

(iii) Applications

The use of Cr^{III} porphyrinato complexes in catalysis became less prominent over the last 20 years due to developments in the Cr^{III} -salen and related systems (Section 4.6.5.8.4). The most

important recent applications of [Cr(tpp)Cl] as a catalyst include the synthesis of polycarbonates by copolymerization of 1,2-cyclohexene oxide derivatives and CO₂ (using supercritical CO₂ as a solvent),⁵⁰⁵ and epoxidation of alkenes.^{506,507} Patented technical applications of [Cr(tpp)Cl] include its use in the adsorbers of nitrogen oxides from air⁵⁰⁸ and in photovoltaic devices.⁵⁰⁹ Complex (**111**) has been patented (among the other metal ion complexes of porphyrin derivatives) as a photosensitizer in photodynamic therapy of cancer.⁵¹⁰ The [Cr(pc)F] complex has been patented as an inhibitor of viral reverse transcriptase and a potential anti-AIDS agent.⁵¹¹

4.6.5.3 P-, As-, and Sb-donor Ligands

Binding of "soft" P-, As-, or Sb-donors is uncommon for a "hard" acid, Cr^{III} .¹ In agreement with the known trend, ¹ all the mononuclear Cr^{III} complexes with *P*-donor ligands, described since 1985, ^{512–514} are mixed-ligand species with halo or pseudo-halido (CN^- , NCS^- , or N_3^-) ligands. The following complexes have been characterized by X-ray crystallography: *trans*-[$CrCl_4(PMe_3)_2$]⁻, *mer*-[$CrCl_3(PMe_2Ph)(OPMe_2Ph)$], ⁵¹² *fac*-[CrX_3 {MeC(CH_2PMe_2)_3] (X = Cl or CN), ^{513,514} and *trans*-[CrI_2 {Me₂P(CH_2)₃PMe₂}]⁺.⁵¹⁴ Typical Cr—P bond lengths in the Cr^{III} trialkylphosphine complexes are 2.45–2.48 Å. ^{512–514} Complexes with mixed-donor-atom ligands containing P-donors are mentioned in Sections 4.6.5.1.2 and 4.6.5.8.5, and dinuclear species with P-donor bridging ligands are described in Section 4.6.5.9.12. Electronic (UV–visible or MCD) spectra of Cr^{III} complexes with bi- or tridentate phosphine ligands have been compared. ⁵¹⁴ To our knowledge, no nonorganometallic Cr^{III} complexes with As- or Sb-donors, apart from the few previously known species, ¹ have been described.

4.6.5.4 O-donor Ligands

4.6.5.4.1 Aqua and hydroxo ligands

(i) Syntheses and structural characterizations

A crystal structure of a widely used commercial reagent, $[Cr(OH_2)_6](NO_3)_3 \cdot 3H_2O$, was first described in 1991; the Cr–O bond lengths were 1.95–1.97 Å.⁵¹⁵ The crystal structure of a supramolecular assembly, $[Cr(OH_2)_6][Na][calix[4]arenesulfonate](Me_2CO) \cdot 10.5H_2O$, revealed intercalation of $[Cr(OH_2)_6]^{3+}$ into the hydrophilic layer, which consisted of the sulfonate groups and water of crystallization.⁵¹⁶ The $[Cr(OH_2)_5R]^{2+}$ (R = C-donor ligand) complexes are described in Section 4.6.5.1.2.

Anionic Cr^{III} hydroxo complexes, Na₉[Cr(OH)₆]₂(OH)₃·6H₂O and Na₄[Cr(OH)₆]Cl·H₂O, have been isolated from solutions of Cr(OH)₃ or CrCl₃ in concentrated aqueous NaOH and characterized by X-ray crystallography.⁵¹⁷ Other crystallographically characterized mononuclear Cr^{III} complexes with OH⁻ ligands are mentioned in Sections 4.6.5.2.6 and 4.6.5.2.8. Polynuclear OH- or H₃O₂-bridged Cr^{III} species are described in Sections 4.6.5.9.3–4.6.5.9.5.

(ii) Studies by instrumental and computational methods

Numerous studies on conventional and photo-assisted ligand-exchange reactions of Cr^{III} aqua and hydroxo complexes have been reviewed, ^{7,270,274} as have spectroscopic studies of the *trans*-[CrCl₂(OH₂)₄]⁺ complex (the main constituent of the widely used commercial reagent, CrCl₃·6H₂O).⁵¹⁸ Several analytical methods, including capillary electrophoresis linked to induct-ively coupled plasma mass spectrometry (ICPMS),⁵¹⁹ as well as ion-exchange chromatography, electrophoresis, dialysis, and ultrafiltration,⁵²⁰ have been used to detect the formation of mono-nuclear hydroxo intermediates (e.g., [Cr(OH₂)₅(OH)]²⁺) during the base hydrolysis of [Cr(OH₂)₆]³⁺ (see also Section 4.6.5.9.4). Capillary electrophoresis has also been employed for the separation and detection of [Cr(OH₂)₆]³⁺, [Cr(OH₂)₅Cl]²⁺, and [Cr(OH₂)₄Cl₂]⁺.⁵²¹

The $[Cr(OH)(OH_2)_x(Solv)]^{2+}$ ions (x = 0-3, Solv = MeOH or MeCN) have been detected by ESMS in the gas phase, on fast evaporation of solutions of $[Cr(OH_2)_6](ClO_4)_3$ in MeOH or MeCN.⁴⁷ The $[Cr(NH_3)_5(OH)]^{2+}$ complex promotes the phosphorylation (by ATP) of serine and threenine OH-residues in bovine serum albumin in vitro.522

A methodology for structural studies of the first and second coordination shells in $[Cr(OH_2)_6]^{3+}$ and related complexes in aqueous solutions, based on multiple-scattering modeling of XAFS spectra, has been developed by Muñoz-Páez and co-workers.^{523–525} Another technique, recently applied to studying of inner- and outer-sphere H₂O coordination in $[Cr(OH_2)_6]^{3+}$, is ¹H nuclear magnetic relaxation dispersion (NMRD).⁵²⁶ Applications of different instrumental methods led to consistent results, indicating the presence of 13 ± 1 H₂O molecules with an average Cr...O distance of 4.02 Å in the second coordination shell of $[Cr(OH_2)_6]^{3+}$ in aqueous solutions.

The $[Cr(OH_2)_6]^{3+}$ complex is among the most widely used models in theoretical studies of coordination compounds. Recent computational studies, performed mainly by the DFT or molecular dynamics methods, targeted the following problems:

- Electronic structure of the complex.⁵²⁷ (i)
- Thermodynamics and kinetics of aquation of the Cr³⁺ ion.^{528–531} (ii)
- Kinetics and mechanisms of H_2O exchange in the inner and outer coordination spheres.^{532,533} (iii)
- (iv)
- Deprotonation and stability of $[Cr(OH_2)_6]^{3+}$. 534,535 Electron transfer within the $[Cr(OH_2)_6]^{3+/2+}$ couple. 536,537 (v)

(iii) Applications

Replacement of H₂O ligands in $[Cr(OH_2)_6]^{3+}$ or $[CrCl_2(OH_2)_4]^+$ is widely used in the syntheses of new Cr^{III} complexes.¹ The $[Cr(OH_2)_6]^{3+}$ and $[Cr(OH_2)_5Cl]^{2+}$ complexes are among the key species in the redox cycles of the Fe/Cr redox flow storage batteries.^{538,539}

4.6.5.4.2 Superoxo and peroxo ligands

In the last 20 years, the chemistry of Cr^{III} complexes with O₂-derived ligands was developed mainly by Bakac *et al.* as outlined in two reviews (1993 and 1995).^{231,232} Typical reactions of formation and decay of Cr^{III} superoxo, peroxo, and hydroperoxo complexes ((112), (113), and (114), respectively) in acidic aqueous solutions are summarized in Scheme 14.^{231,232,234,540–542} The unstable complexes (112)–(114) have been generated in solutions and studied by spectroscopic (UV–visible, Raman) and kinetic methods. Recently, the first crystal structure of a Cr^{III} superoxo complex, stabilized with a substituted hydrotris (1-pyrazolyl)borato(1-) ligand ((115) in Scheme 14) has been reported, and the nature of the O_2^- ligand has been confirmed by IR spectroscopy.⁵⁴³ An intramolecular rearrangement reaction of a Cr^{III} hydroperoxo complex, $[Cr^{III}(cyclam)(O_2H)(OH_2)]^{3+}$, has been used to generate a Cr^V complex, $[Cr^{V}O(cyclam)]^{3+}$.^{164,174} Kinetics and mechanisms of the reactions of (112) with biological thiols (cysteine, glutathione, and penicillamine) in acidic aqueous solutions have been studied.⁵⁴⁴

4.6.5.4.3 Oxo anions as unidentate ligands

Carboxylates and other oxo anions have a strong tendency to form polynuclear Cr^{III} complexes (Section 4.6.5.9.8). A formato complex, $[Cr(OCHO)_6]^{3-}$, seems to be the only crystallographically characterized mononuclear Cr^{III} carboxylate.⁵⁴⁵ This complex possesses a distorted octahedral geometry, with two Cr–O–C–O units in the *sp*- and four in the *ap*-conformation; the Cr–O bond lengths are 1.97–1.99 Å.⁵⁴⁵

Unidentate coordination of oxo anions can be readily achieved in Cr^{III} complexes with macrocyclic ligands. Thus, nitrito complexes, *trans*-[Cr(cyclam)(ONO)₂]⁺ and *trans*-[Cr(\hat{pc})(ONO)₂]⁺, have been characterized by X-ray crystallography (Sections 4.6.5.2.6 and 4.6.5.2.10, respectively).^{390,489} The photo-induced labilization of a nitrito ligand in the former complex (Scheme 15) can potentially be used for the delivery of NO to biological targets.^{546,547} A hydrogen carbonato complex, *cis*- $[CrL^{6}F(OCO_{2}H)]^{+}$ ($L^{6} = rac$ -Me₆[14]aneN₄, see Scheme 9), has been generated in aqueous



 $[Cr^{II}(OH_2)_6]^{2+}$

O₂

solutions.⁵⁴⁸ This complex undergoes decarboxylation (Equation (5)) in weakly acidic aqueous media, i.e., acts as a partial functional mimic of a Zn^{II} -dependent enzyme, carbonic anhydrase.⁵⁴⁸

$$[CrL6F(OCO_{2}H)]^{+} \rightarrow [CrL6F(OH)] + CO_{2}$$
(5)

The first crystallographically characterized Cr^{III} complex with a monodentate phosphate ligand, *cis*-[Cr(phen)₂(OPO(OPh)₂)(OH₂)]⁺, was reported in 1998.⁵⁴⁹ This complex is stable in neutral aqueous solutions (crystallizes as a H₃O₂-bridged dimer after several days at pH 7.4 and 22 °C, see Section 4.6.5.9.5; while the monomeric complex crystallizes at pH 3.0).⁵⁴⁹ Coordination of a phosphate diester moiety to Cr^{III} is likely to mimic the binding mode in the Cr^{III} –DNA complexes, formed during the intracellular reduction of carcinogenic $[Cr^{VI}O_4]^{2-}$ (Sections 4.6.2.3.5 and 4.6.5.11.3).¹¹ Phosphonato complexes, $[Cr(NH_3)_5(OPHOPh)]^{2+}$ and $[Cr(NH_3)_5(OPO_2Ph)]^{2+}$, have been prepared by ligand-exchange reactions from $[Cr(NH_3)_5(OH_2)_5]^{3+}$.⁵⁵⁰ Syntheses and applications of the $[Cr(NH_2R)_5(OSO_2CF_3)]^{2+}$ complexes are described in Section 4.6.5.2.1 (Scheme 8a).

4.6.5.4.4 Other unidentate O-donor ligands

The chemistry of Cr^{III} complexes with phenoxyl radicals (similar to that for other redox-active ligands, Section 4.6.5.4.6) has been reviewed recently.⁵⁵¹ Although the coordination of dmso to Cr^{III} had been known from spectroscopic studies since the 1950s,¹ the first crystal structures of such complexes were reported in 1998.⁵⁵² At present, the crystallographically characterized complexes include $[Cr(dmso)_6]^{3+}$ and mixed-ligand species with oxalato or polyamine ligands.^{552,553} Several new crystallographically characterized compounds have been synthesized for the well-known urea complex, $[Cr(OC(NH_2)_2)_6]^{3+}$,¹ using $[Co^{III}(dimethylglyoximato)_2(NO_2)_2]^-$, $[ZnCl_4]^{2-}$, or $[Pt^{IV}Cl_5(OH)]^{2-}$ as counterions.^{554–556} The first crystal structure of *mer*-[CrCl₃(thf)₃] was reported in 1986;⁵⁵⁷ this compound has been used extensively as a starting material for the syntheses of Cr^{III} complexes since the 1960s.¹ Similarly to amides (Section 4.6.5.2.2), sterically hindered siloxides form Cr^{III} complexes with low coordination numbers (three to five).^{558,559} including a crystallographically characterized compound, $[Cr{OSi(OBu^1)_3}_3(NHEt_2)_2].^{558}$ Thermal decomposition of Cr^{III} siloxide complexes is used for preparation of ultrapure Cr silicates (for applications in catalysis).⁵⁵⁸

4.6.5.4.5 β -Ketoenolates (β -diketonates) and related ligands

Complexes of Cr^{III} with ligands possessing carbonyl donors in β -positions and a delocalized negative charge have been studied extensively since the 1930s.¹ The prototype compounds of this series are [Cr(acac)₃] (acac = acetylacetonato(1–) = 2,4-pentanedionato(1–), (116)) and [Cr(mda)₃] ((117); mdaH₂ = malonodialdehyde = propanedial). While many $Cr^{III}\beta$ -ketoenolato complexes are known,¹ relatively few of them have been described since 1985 (e.g., (118)–(123); only (119) and (120) have been crystallographically characterized).^{560–565} Nucleophilic substitution in the complexes of brominated ligands (e.g., (116) with R' = Br) has been applied for the syntheses of new derivatives of (116).⁵⁶⁶ Syntheses of polymeric compounds with the covalently bound substituted (116) units (such as (123)) may lead to the development of new materials with useful electrical, magnetic, photosensitive, or catalytic properties (Section 4.6.5.10).^{565,567} Several new synthetic methods for (116) and related complexes, suitable for industrial conditions, have been developed recently, including mechanochemical reactions of solid Cr^{III} salts with the ligands,⁵⁶⁸ and electrolysis of the ligands with a Cr anode and a Ni cathode.⁵⁶⁹

From all the coordination compounds of Cr^{III} , (116) and its analogs with fluoro-substituted ligands have probably the widest range of practical applications. Some of these, such as the formation of thin films of Cr oxides by thermal decomposition of the complexes,⁵⁷⁰ or extraction of Cr^{III} into organic phases (used for Cr recovery from waste waters, as well as in analytical purposes),^{571,572} have been known for decades. These applications employ the well-known general properties of metal β -ketoenolates, namely, the high volatility and solubility in organic solvents.¹ Some recent applications of (116) and its derivatives are summarized in Table 4.^{96,573–580} Compound (116) is widely used as a starting material in the syntheses of Cr^{III} complexes,¹ and the coordination of Cr^{III} to β -ketoenolates is often used to stabilize complexes of less common ligands (e.g., (76) or (103)).

Application	References
Catalyst of alkene polymerization	573,574
(grafted into molecular sieves)	
Reagent in the preparation of Ziegler type catalysts	575
Oxidation catalyst in organic synthesis (review; 1992)	96
Catalyst of photo-induced oxidation	576
(application in organic synthesis)	
Promotor of extraction of lanthanoid(III) ions	577
with β -diketonates	
A component of liquid crystals	578
(3-alkyl-substituted ligands)	
Fire retardant and smoke suppressant	579
(as an addition to polymers)	
Calibrant for magnetic susceptibility measurements	580

Table 4Some recent applications of [Cr(acac)₃] and its derivatives.



Numerous spectroscopic and theoretical studies of (116) and related complexes have been carried out (reviewed in 1997).^{581,582} Recently, theoretical investigations of the electronic⁵⁸³ and vibrational⁵⁸⁴ spectra of (117) have also been performed. Ground and exited states of (116) doped into [Al(acac)₃] have been studied by time-resolved EPR spectroscopy at 77K (as a model of ruby).⁵⁸⁵ Ligand and solvent effects in the electrochemistry of Cr^{III} β -ketoenolates have been reported.⁵⁸⁶ There have been many recent physicochemical studies relating to the main practical applications of (116) and its derivatives. For instance, thermodynamic parameters of bond cleavage and solvation of (116) in gas phase have been performed by NMR spectrometry.⁵⁸⁷ Solvation studies of (116) in the liquid phase have been studied (as an alternative to the use of organic solvents for the extraction of (116)).⁵⁹¹ A study mimicking the conditions of preparation of the Cr/SiO₂ catalysts (by the treatment of preheated SiO₂ with (116) at 160–240 °C) has been performed, and the possible nature of catalytic centers under various preparation conditions has been proposed.⁵⁹² Complex (116) was genotoxic in bacterial and mammalian cell assays; this was attributed to its relatively high permeability across cell membranes, due to its high lipophilicity.⁵⁹³

4.6.5.4.6 Dioxolene ligands

The chemistry of Cr^{III} complexes with catecholate (cat) and its oxidized forms (sq = semiquinonato(1-) and bq = benzoquinone in Scheme 16), as well as with substituted analogs of these ligands, was reviewed in 2001.⁵⁹⁴ The most significant properties of these

complexes are related to the redox activity of the ligands, and to the possibility of redox tautomerism of the complexes (Scheme 16). These features prevent an unambiguous assignment of the Cr oxidation state in the oxidized complexes. Thus, X-ray crystallographic and magnetic data support the structure $[Cr^{III}(sq)_2(cat)]^-$ for the monoanionic complexes of catechol and its substituted analogs.⁵⁹⁵ Alternatively, the XANES spectra (featuring an increased preedge absorption and a shift of the edge to higher energy compared with typical Cr^{III} complexes) and EPR spectra (intense sharp signals with $g_{iso} \sim 1.972$ in solutions at room temperature) of such complexes are characteristic of Cr^{IV} and Cr^{V} , respectively.⁵⁹⁶ Reduction of Cr^{VI} with catechol or its derivatives in aqueous solutions probably leads to a mixture of Cr^{III} complexes with sq and bq ligands (or their $Cr^{V/IV}$ tautomers, Scheme 16).^{175,597}



A catecholato-polyamine complex (**124**) and its semiquinonato analog have been characterized by X-ray crystallography and DFT calculations.^{598,599} Several Cr^{III} complexes of the ligands, related to semiquinones, have been described, but only (**125**) has been crystallographically characterized.⁶⁰⁰⁻⁶⁰² Chromium(III) complexes of halogen-substituted 1,2-semiquinone ligands act as oxidants towards strong electron donors, with the formation of charge-transfer salts (Scheme 17).⁶⁰³⁻⁶⁰⁵ Compounds shown in Scheme 17 have been characterized by X-ray crystallography,⁶⁰³⁻⁶⁰⁵ and some of them possess semiconductor properties.⁶⁰⁴ Complexes of Cr^{III} (or other transition metal ions) with catechol estrogens (such as (**126**)) have been patented as steroid receptor binders and potential antitumor agents.⁶⁰⁶

4.6.5.4.7 Dicarboxylates

In the last 15 years, the well-known $[Cr(ox)_3]^{3-}$ complex¹ has been used extensively in studies aimed towards the design of molecular materials with useful electric, magnetic, photophysical, adsorptive, or catalytic properties. Probably the first example of such a material, Na₂(Me₃-PhN)₅[Cr(ox)₃]₂Cl·5H₂O, was discovered by accident during attempts to isolate Cr^V oxalato complexes (first reported in 1987, published in 1995).⁶⁰⁷ This compound has a two-dimensional





(2D) achiral microporous structure, assembled by the electrostatic attraction of Na⁺ cations to the carbonyl groups of the ligands, as well as by the host–guest interactions between the anionic network and the Me₃PhN⁺ cations (Scheme 18). Subsequently, various types of 2D-networks were prepared using mixed-ligand Cr^{III} complexes with dicarboxylato (oxalato or malonato) and aromatic diimine ligands.^{608–613} Importantly, the use of $[M(bpy)_3]^{2+/3+}$ complexes (where $M = Fe^{II}$, Ni^{II}, Cr^{III}, or Co^{III}) as counterions caused the crystallization of chiral, three-dimensional (3D) anionic networks of a general formula $[M'Cr(ox)_3]^{2-}$ (M' = Li or Na).^{614,615} Similar techniques have been used for the syntheses of 2D- or 3D-networks of a general structure $[N(Alk)_4][M^{II}Cr(ox)_3]$ (where M = Mn, Fe, Co, Ni, Cu, or Zn).⁶¹⁶ These oxalato-bridged complexes of two transition-metal ions are described in Section 4.6.5.9.9. In a search for molecular conducting materials, a series of charge-transfer salts of $[Cr(ox)_3]^{3-}$ and organic radical-cations have been prepared.^{617–619} Some of these compounds exhibit superconducting properties at low temperatures ($T_c \sim 6 K$).⁶¹⁸ These solids contain ion channels (e.g., H₂O/H₃O⁺), and thus bestow both electronic and ionic conductivity.⁶¹⁷

All the above-mentioned molecular materials have been characterized by X-ray crystallography. Other crystallographically characterized compounds (since 1985) include:

- (i) Several $[Cr(ox)_3]^{3-}$ salts with simple or complex cations.^{620–625}
- (ii) A double-complex salt, $[Cr(mal)(OH_2)_4][Cr(mal)_2(OH_2)_2]$ (mal = malonato(2-)).⁶²⁶
- (iii) Mixed-ligand complexes with oxalato and amine/imine ligands.^{608,609,611,612,627}

Solvent effects on the Cr–O bond lengths in $[Cr(ox)_3]^{3-}$ have been studied by XAFS spectroscopy.⁶²⁸ The Cr^{III} oxalato complexes are used in Cr^{III}-based chrome-electroplating solutions, avoiding the use of toxic and carcinogenic Cr^{VI}.^{114,629}



4.6.5.4.8 Other bidentate O-donor ligands

Typical structures of the complexes ((127)–(132)) are illustrated (see also Scheme 19). All the compounds have been characterized by X-ray crystallography, except for (127) and (130); for the latter, the crystal structure of a V^{III} analog is available.^{630–636} In addition, a series of articles by Kanno *et al.* on isomerization and racemization of the Cr^{III} complexes of substituted 2,2'-bipyridine-1,1'-dioxide ligands^{637–639} continued the earlier works of these authors on the stereochemistry of metal complexes with bidentate aromatic *N*-oxide ligands.¹

A novel template method (Scheme 19) has been applied for the preparation of a Cr^{III} complex with oriented hydroxamate ([RC(O)N(O)R']⁻) ligands, (127b); this approach can be used for the syntheses of models of biologically important hydroxamato complexes.⁶³⁰ A model of biological enterobactin ligands, *R*-binaphtol, forms an unusual Cr^{III} complex (128), involving the coordination of [Li(thf)₂]⁺ units.⁶³¹ A similar assembly, involving Li⁺ cations, has been observed in the complex of 1,2:5,6-di-*O*-isopropylidene- α - Δ -glucofuranose (dagH; (129)).⁶³² Complexes (128) and (129) are among the first examples of the use of non-macrocyclic O-donors for the construction of host molecules (in this case, Cr^{III} complexes) for alkali metal ions.^{631,632} Complex (130) possesses a rare phosphynoyl-carboxylato donor set.⁶³³ Chiral Cr^{III} complexes of ATP and other nucleotide polyphosphates are used extensively as substrates in mechanistic studies of enzyme reactions (Section 4.6.5.11.3). To assist in the studies of stereochemistry of such Cr^{III} complexes, a series of model mixed-ligand compounds with pyrophosphato ligands have been prepared ((131) depicts one of the three crystallographically characterized stereoisomers).^{634,635} A rare example of a bidentate ether donor coordination to Cr^{III} is shown in (132).⁶³⁶



Scheme 19



A crystallographically characterized Cr^{III} complex with lactate and cyclic polyamine ligands has been mentioned in Section 4.6.5.2.6. Well-known (but not fully characterized) Cr^{III} complexes of 2-hydroxycarboxylates (such as lactate, citrate, salicylate, or sulfosalicylate)¹ have been successfully applied as a replacement for toxic and carcinogenic Cr^{VI} compounds used as mordants in wool dyeing.⁶⁴⁰

4.6.5.4.9 Polydentate and macrocyclic O-donor ligands

Typical complexes ((133)–(137)) are shown (crystal structures have been determined for all except (137)), see also (79) and (87).^{641–645} The first crystallographically characterized Cr^{III} citrato complex, (133), has been isolated as a product of Cr^{VI} reduction by citric acid in weakly acidic aqueous solutions.⁶⁴¹ In contrast to the N-donors (Sections 4.6.5.2.6– 4.6.4.2.10), complexes of Cr^{III} with macrocyclic O-donor ligands are rare. Thus, reactions of Cr compounds with 15-crown-5 in the presence of water led either to a partial coordination of the O-donor atoms in the macrocyclic ring (134),⁶⁴² or to the formation of supramolecular structures with the macrocyclic molecules in the second coordination sphere of the metal ion (135).⁶⁴³ Similar supramolecular structures have been reported for the adduct of [Cr(NCS)₆]^{3–} with 18-crown-6 (Section 4.6.5.2.3),³⁵⁶ or for that of [Cr(OH₂)₆]³⁺ with calix[4]arenesulfonate (Section 4.6.5.4.1).⁵¹⁶ Syntheses under strictly anhydrous conditions led to Cr^{III} complexes of calixarene ligands ((136) and (79)),^{249,644} as well as to a cage complex (137).⁶⁴⁵ During the synthesis of (136), an unusual activation of a C—H bond in a methylene group of the ligand occurred, leading to the fusion of two calixarene ligands.⁶⁴⁴ A helically chiral complex (137) has been studied as a model for the metal complexes of natural ligands, siderophores (see also Section 4.6.5.8.2).⁶⁴⁵



4.6.5.5 S- and Se-donor Ligands

Coordination of a "hard" metal ion, Cr^{III} , to "soft" S- or Se-donors is regarded as unusual.⁶⁴⁶ Typical structures of crystallographically characterized compounds ((138)–(142)) are illustrated.^{647–651} By far the most numerous known mononuclear complexes of this type are those with 1,1-dithiolato(1–) ligands, including dialkyldithiocarbamates, xanthates, dithiocarboxylates,

dithiophosphinates, and dithiophosphates.¹ One of the reasons for the ongoing interest in these compounds^{647,652–660} is the wide use of dialkyldithiocarbamates ([(Alk)₂NCS₂]⁻) and their metal complexes as analytical reagents, pesticides, fungicides, rubber vulcanization accelerators, and high-pressure lubricants.⁶⁶¹ Optically active dialkyldithiophosphate complexes (e.g., (**138**)) have been studied as typical examples of chiral discrimination in complexes with D_3 symmetry.^{647,658,660}



New types of Cr^{III} complexes with sulfide ligands ((**139**) and (**140**)) have been prepared by the solvothermal method.^{648,649} Compound (**139**) is the first example of a transition metal complex with a $[SbS_3]^-$ ligand.⁶⁴⁸ A series of Cr^{III} complexes with macrocyclic thio- or selenoethers have been prepared, including (**141**) ([CrCl₃([18]aneS₆)]), [CrBr₂([14]aneS₄)]⁺, and [CrCl₂([16]aneS₄)]⁺ (the two latter complexes have been characterized by ESMS and XAFS spectroscopy).^{646,650,662,663} The first Cr^{III} iminodiphosphinoselenido complex, (**142**), was described in 2000.⁶⁵¹ Typical Cr–S(Se) bond lengths are: 2.42–2.44 Å ((**138**) and other 1,1-dithiolato(1–) complexes),^{647,652–659} 2.37–2.39 Å (**139**),⁶⁴⁸ 2.39–2.42 Å (**140**),⁶⁴⁹ 2.44–2.46 Å (**141**),⁶⁵⁰ 2.57 Å ([CrCl₂([16]aneS₄)]⁺ determined by single-scattering modeling of XAFS data),⁶⁶³ and 2.56 Å (**142**).⁶⁵¹ Complexes of Cr^{III} with mixed-donor ligands containing *S*-donors are described in Sections 4.6.5.8.1 and 4.6.5.8.5, and polynuclear Cr^{III} complexes with *S*-donor bridging ligands are described in Section 4.6.5.9.12.

4.6.5.6 Halide Ligands

There is relatively little new information on mononuclear Cr^{III} halido complexes since 1985 (polynuclear halido-bridged complexes are described in Section 4.6.5.9.13). The first crystal structures of $[CrCl_6]^{3-}$ and $[CrBr_6]^{3-}$ have been determined; the Cr—Cl and Cr—Br distances are 2.30–2.33 Å and 2.51–2.52 Å, respectively.^{664,665} The latter anion, which is thermodynamically unstable at ambient conditions,⁶⁶⁴ has been stabilized in an unusual compound, $[4-BrC_6H_4NH_3]_6[CrBr_6]Br_3\cdot 2MeCO_2H.^{665}$ The electronic structure of the ${}^4T_{2g}$ exited state of $[CrF_6]^{3-}$ has been studied by molecular orbital calculations.⁶⁶⁶

Since $CrCl_3$ (anhydrous, polymeric), $[CrCl_2(OH_2)_4]Cl$, and $[CrCl_3(thf)_3]$ are the most commonly used starting materials for the syntheses of new Cr^{III} compounds,¹ mixed complexes with chloro ligands are known for almost every other ligand type. Applications of $CrCl_3$ in organic synthesis were reviewed in 1999.⁶⁶⁷ A series of fluoro-amine^{668–671} and fluoro-oxalato⁶⁷²

complexes have been studied by spectroscopic methods. A new efficient method for the synthesis of $[CrF(NH_3)_5]^{2+}$ (characterized by X-ray crystallography) has been developed.⁶⁷³ A crystallographically characterized complex, *trans*- $[CrF_2(py)_4]^+$, has been obtained by disproportionation of $[Cr^{I}(\eta-C_6H_6)_2](PF_6)$ in pyridine (this also gave Cr^{II} and Cr^0 complexes).⁶⁷⁴ Influences of various halo-donors on the spectroscopic and electrochemical properties of *cis*- and *trans*- $[CrX_2(cyclam)]^+$, and *trans*- $[CrX_2(pc)]^-$ have been investigated (X = F, Cl, Br, or I; see also Sections 4.6.5.2.6 and 4.6.5.2.10).^{490,675}

4.6.5.7 H-donor Ligands

Most of the known Cr hydride complexes are the π -donor, sandwich-type carborane complexes, ^{676,677} which are described in the *Comprehensive Organometallic Chemistry* series. Recently, a "pendant-arm" Cr^{III} carborane complex containing a pyridine donor (**143**) has been prepared and characterized by spectroscopic methods.⁶⁷⁸ Complexes of this type are of interest in the synthesis of new compounds for the treatment of cancer by boron neutron capture therapy and the development of new catalytic systems for alkene polymerization (Section 4.6.5.1.2).⁶⁷⁸

4.6.5.8 Mixed Donor Atom Systems

4.6.5.8.1 Bidentate N–O, N–S, and O–S donor ligands

Typical ligand structures $(L^{1}-L^{13})$ are shown in Scheme 20 (binding sites of the Cr^{III} ion are designated with asterisks); complexes of Cr^{III} with natural amino acids are described in Section 4.6.5.11.1. The redox chemistry of the Cr^{III} *o*-iminobenzosemiquinonato complexes (such as a crystallographically characterized complex $[Cr(L^{1})_{3}]$) and their reduced analogs with *o*-aminophenolato ligands is similar to that of Cr^{III} semiquinonato/catecholato complexes (Scheme 16 in Section 4.6.5.4.6).⁶⁷⁹ Spectroscopic studies (UV–visible, luminescence, MCD, and Raman) of a mixed-ligand complex with a chelating nitronyl nitroxyl radical, $[CrL^{2}(acac)_{2}]^{+}$, revealed exchange coupling between the Cr^{III} and organic radical centers (see also Section 4.6.5.2.1).⁶⁸⁰ The compound $[Cr(L^{3})_{2}Cl(NCMe)]$ (characterized by X-ray crystallography), as well as another complex of this salicylaldiminato ligand ((**81**)), acts as a catalyst of alkene polymerization.³⁰⁴ The $[Cr(L^{4})(OAc)_{2}]^{-}$ complex and its analogs have been patented as catalysts (supported on SiO₂) for the production of alcohol/ketone mixtures by the decomposition of alkyl hydroperoxides.⁶⁸¹ The $[Cr(L^{5})_{3}]$ complex has been characterized by X-ray crystallography, EPR spectroscopy, and electrochemical techniques.⁶⁸² Hydrazidocarboxylato complexes, such as $[Cr(L^{5})_{3}]$, have been studied as possible products of corrosion of stainless steel reservoirs for the storage of hydrazine and its analogs (used as components of rocket fuel).⁶⁸³ A novel mechanochemical method for the synthesis of a β -iminoketonato complex, $[Cr(L^{7})_{3}]$, has been proposed.⁶⁸⁴ A mixed-ligand complex with a biological ligand ($[Cr(L^{8})(ox)_{2}]^{-}$, HL⁸ = vitamin B₆, ox = oxalato(2–)) has been characterized by X-ray crystallography.⁶⁸⁵ 2-mercaptopyridine-*N*-oxide ($[Cr(L^{10})_{3}]$, characterized by X-ray crystallography).⁶⁸⁵ 2-mercaptopyridine-*N*-oxide ($[Cr(L^{10})_{3}]$, characterized by X-ray cr

The first Cr^{III} complexes with N,N'-diphenylthiourea ([$Cr(L^9)_3$], characterized by X-ray crystallography),⁶⁸⁵ 2-mercaptopyridine-N-oxide ([$Cr(L^{10})_3$]),⁶⁸⁶ and 2-mercaptoethylamine (*fac-S*-[$Cr(L^{11})_3$])⁶⁸⁷ have been described. The latter complex has been used for the synthesis of S-bridged heteropolynuclear compounds (Section 4.6.5.9.12).⁶⁸⁷ The recent interest in the Cr^{III} complexes of thiosemicarbazide derivatives (such as [$CrL^{12}(acac)_2$]) is related to their potential antibacterial, antiviral, or antitumor activities.^{688–693}

Probably the most studied Cr^{III} complexes of this type were those with the picolinato (L¹³) ligand. The prototype complex, [Cr(L¹³)₃], has been widely used as a nutritional supplement since the early 1980s,^{12,694,695} though its efficacy and safety have been questioned.^{11,263,696,697} The crystallographically characterized *mer*-[Cr(L¹³)₃] complex was isolated from acidic aqueous solutions (pH ~ 1),⁶⁹⁸ and an increase in the pH value (to ~4.0) led to a hydroxo-bridged dimer (Section 4.6.5.9.3).^{698,699} Detailed studies of the electronic, vibrational, and ¹H NMR spectra of [Cr(L¹³)₃] have been reported.^{699,700} The biological activities of [Cr(L¹³)₃], including the potentially beneficial actions, such as stimulation of glucose and Ca^{II} metabolism, and adverse effects, such as DNA damage, have been reviewed recently.^{11,12,694,695,697} One rather unusual application of [Cr(L¹³)₃] was the generation of reactive Cr^{II} and Cr^{IV} picolinato complexes (see also Sections


4.6.4.4 and 4.6.6.8) in aqueous solutions by pulse radiolysis technique, with a potential use in decontamination of nuclear reactors.²⁶²

4.6.5.8.2 Tridentate N–O donor ligands

Typical ligand structures (L^1-L^{18}) are shown in Scheme 21 (binding sites of the Cr^{III} ion are designated with asterisks); in addition, some Cr^{III} complexes with aminodicarboxylates or tridentate amino acids are described in Sections 4.6.5.8.4 or 4.6.5.11.1, respectively. Complexes of Cr^{III} with amino acids, peptides, and their derivatives have been studied extensively as possible models of a natural Cr^{III}-containing compound, which is thought to be involved in glucose metabolism (Sections 4.6.5.11.1 and 4.6.5.11.2). Three mononuclear Cr^{III} complexes with synthetic dipeptides, *mer*-[Cr(L¹)₂]⁻, *mer*-[Cr(L¹)(3,3-tri)] (H₂L¹ = GlyGly; 3,3-tri = H₂N(CH₂)₃NH(CH₂)₃NH₂), and *mer*-[Cr(L²)₂]⁻ (H₂L² = ProGly), have been characterized by X-ray crystallography.⁷⁰¹⁻⁷⁰³ A related dinuclear Cr^{III} dipeptido complex is described in Section 4.6.5.9.7. Several types of Cr^{III} complexes with amino acid-derived Schiff base ligands (such as [CrL³Cl(OH₂)₂ or [Cr(L⁴)₂]⁻) have been described.^{704,705}

derived Schiff base ligands (such as $[CrL^3Cl(OH_2)_2 \text{ or } [Cr(L^4)_2]^-)$ have been described.^{704,705} Complexes of Cr^{III} with a benzoylhydrazone derivative (*mer*- $[CrL^5(OH_2)_3]^{2+}$),⁷⁰⁶ or with dipicolinic acid ($[Cr(L^6)_2]^-$)⁷⁰⁷ have been crystallographically characterized. A preliminary report⁷⁰⁸ suggests that $[Cr(L^6)_2]^-$ is a potent insulin mimetic in animal models (unlike the Cr^{III} picolinato complex, Section 4.6.5.8.1, which acts as an insulin enhancer).^{11,695} Complexes with salicylaldehyde hydrazone derivatives, such as $[Cr(L^7)_2]^+$, have been screened for cytotoxicity in human colon cancer and leukemia cell lines, but showed low activities compared with the corresponding Cu^{II} complexes.^{709,710} Diastereomeric Cr^{III} complexes, $[Cr(L^8)_2]^-$, of a natural siderophore ligand (used by certain types of microorganisms for the uptake and transport of Fe^{III}) have been synthesized and characterized by X-ray crystallography.⁷¹¹ Due to the similarity in chemical properties of Fe^{III} and Cr^{III}, these two ions can share metabolic pathways in biological systems.¹¹ Several Cr^{III} complexes with synthetic ligands, similar to siderophores (e.g., $[Cr(L^9)_2]^-$ and $[Cr(L^{10})_2]^-$), have also been crystallographically characterized.^{682,712} Complexes such as $[Cr(L^{11})_2]^-$, where L¹¹ is the active ingredient of glyphosate (a widely used herbicide), have been studied in relation to the mechanisms of immobilization and decomposition of the herbicide in soils.⁷¹³



Scheme 21

Many of the Cr^{III} complexes with tridentate N–O ligands possess notable reactivities or catalytic properties. For instance, $[Cr(L^{12})_2]^{9-}$ was used to promote the conversion of *ortho*-positronium to *para*-positronium.⁷¹⁴ The $[Cr(L^{13})_2]^+$ complex was formed (over a timescale of several weeks at ambient temperature) from $[CrCl_2(OH_2)_4]^{3+}$ and bipyridyl ketone in weakly acidic aqueous solutions (thus, the aquation of the ketone to give HL¹³ was promoted by coordination to Cr^{III}).⁷¹⁵ $[Cr(L^{14})Cl_3]$ was used as a catalyst of alkene polymerization (see also Section 4.6.5.1.2).³⁰¹ Chiral $[Cr(L^{15})X_3]$ complexes (the ligand X is not defined) have been patented as catalysts of asymmetric cycloaddition or of stereoselective epoxy ring opening (similar to

the complexes of chiral salen derivatives, Section 4.6.5.8.4).^{716,717} [Cr(L⁶)(bpy)Cl]⁺ and [Cr(L¹⁶)-(bpy)Cl]⁺ have been used as catalysts of oxidation of hydrocarbons by organic peroxides.^{718,719}

The use of Cr^{III} complexes with azo dyes is well known (the stability of the dye increases due to the formation of a kinetically inert Cr^{III} complex).⁷²⁰ Several Cr^{III} -containing special purpose dyes have been patented in recent years; some representative compounds are $[Cr(L^{17})_2]^{6-}$ (a water-soluble dye used in inkjet devices),⁷²¹ or $[Cr(L^{18})_2]^-$ (a dye for anodized Al).⁷²²

4.6.5.8.3 Aminopolycarboxylates (complexones)

(i) Syntheses and characterizations

The chemistry of Cr^{III} complexes with the title ligands, including edta, nitrilotriacetate (nta), and their derivatives, has been studied extensively since the 1940s.¹ The literature published before 1991 has been reviewed (including a detailed description of stereochemistry of the complexes).^{9,723,724} More recently, crystallographic characterizations of the Cr^{III} complexes with L^1-L^{10} ligands (Scheme 22) have been reported.^{725–734} The influence of the lengths of alkyl residues on the geometry of the complexes is illustrated in Scheme 23.⁷²⁹ A solid-state synthesis of K[Cr(edta)] has been performed by the reaction of KCr(SO₄)₂ with Na₂H₂edta at 160 °C.⁷³⁵ A semiempirical molecular orbital study of [Cr(edta)]⁻ and related complexes has been performed recently.⁷³⁶



Scheme 22



Scheme 23

(ii) Reactivity

Although an anomalous lability of the unidentate ligands X in the $[Cr(HL)X]^-$ complexes (where L^{4-} is a hexadentate edta-type ligand) is well known,^{1,9} mechanistic studies of this phenomenon are continuing. For example, recent results of variable-pressure kinetic studies point to the formation of $[CrL]^-$ intermediates as a reason for such lability.^{491,737} The effects of geometric isomerism on the ligand-exchange kinetics in Cr^{III} aminopolycarboxylato complexes have been studied.⁷³⁸ In a series of studies, the kinetics and mechanisms of oxidation of such Cr^{III} complexes to Cr^{VI} compounds in neutral and basic aqueous solutions have been investigated.^{739,740}

Detailed studies of ligand and solvent effects on electrochemical reductions of Cr^{III} aminopolycarboxylates have been performed.^{741,742} The observed differences in electrochemical behavior between *cis*- and *trans*-N₂O₄ Cr^{III} complexes have been explained by different Jahn–Teller distortions (JTD) of their Cr^{II} analogs (Section 4.6.6.8).⁷⁴¹ Electrochemical reduction of Cr^{III} –edta complexes has been used as a model reaction in studies of heterogeneous electron-transfer processes.⁷⁴³

(iii) Applications and biological effects

Several new analytical methods for Cr^{III}, based on its complexation with classical aminopolycarboxylate reagents, have been developed recently, including capillary electrophoresis^{744,745} and liquid chromatography coupled with atomic absorption spectroscopy.⁷⁴⁶ The ⁵¹Cr^{III}–edta complexes are used in environmental analyses (e.g., as tracers in ground water studies)⁷⁴⁷ and in medical tests (e.g., to assess the colonic permeability in ulcerative colitis).⁷⁴⁸ Some Cr^{III} complexes of edta derivatives with lipophilic residues have been patented for use in magnetic resonance imaging.⁷⁴⁹ Complexes of Cr^{III} with amino acid-derived ligands (such as L⁴ in Scheme 22) have been used as selective noncovalent binders for NMR-spectroscopic studies of protein structures.⁷²⁸ Interactions of Cr^{III}–edta complexes with lipid–water interfaces have been studied.⁷⁵⁰ Additions of Na₂H₂edta to Cr^{III}-contaminated soils led to a dramatic increase in Cr^{III} bioavailability, resulting in high toxicity for plants.⁷⁵¹

4.6.5.8.4 Tetradentate Schiff base N–O donor ligands (salen and its derivatives)

(i) Applications in catalysis

The first use of $[Cr(salen)(OH_2)_2]^+$ (144) as a catalyst of oxo-transfer reactions (similar to Equations (i) and (iii) in Scheme 13, Section 4.6.5.2.10) was reported by Kochi and co-workers in 1985.^{1,151} This is now a rapidly developing area, described in several recent reviews.^{214,752–755} In Section 4.6.5.8.4 "salen" is used as a generic name of tetradentate Schiff base ligands, such as those in (144)–(148). The main advantage of Cr^{III}–salen complexes as catalysts, compared with chemically similar Cr^{III} porphyrinato systems (Section 4.6.5.2.10), is the availability of versatile salen-type ligands through simple high-yield syntheses.⁷⁵³ Syntheses of the corresponding Cr^{III} complexes usually involve reactions of Cr^{III} with the ligands, followed by exposure to air.¹⁵¹



Typical recent examples of the applications of Cr^{III} -salen complexes as catalysts in organic syntheses are given in Scheme 24a–f.^{756–762} For instance, a recently discovered reaction (Scheme 24b) provides the first efficient way of chemical CO₂ fixation under mild conditions.^{757,763} The proposed mechanism of this reaction is shown in Scheme 25.⁷⁵⁷ Such reactions have not been reported for the salen complexes of metal ions other than Cr^{III} . Great attention has been paid to the use of chiral Cr^{III} -salen complexes (e.g., (**146a–d**) or (**147**) in asymmetric catalytic syntheses (such as those in Scheme 24c–f).^{214,752–754} Most of these processes are covered by patents,^{716,717,764} which emphasizes their practical importance (mainly in the syntheses of biologically active compounds). Further developments in these catalytic systems include the use of dimeric Cr^{III} -salen complexes,⁷⁶⁵ as well as the complexes covalently attached to polymer chains⁷⁶⁶ or to the surface of SiO₂.⁷⁶⁷ The use of room-temperature ionic liquids (such as 1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium salts) as solvents simplifies the recycling of the Cr^{III} -salen catalysts.⁷⁶⁸

(ii) Syntheses and characterizations of the complexes

Given the practical importance of the Cr^{III}-salen complexes, there have been surprisingly few recent studies on their structures. Apart from (144), known since the early 1970s,¹ only (146a,b)⁷⁵⁸ and (148)⁷⁶⁹ have been characterized by X-ray crystallography. Complex (146a) is used as a chiral catalyst for epoxide ring opening (Scheme 24c, and (146b) is an intermediate in the catalytic cycle.⁷⁵⁸ Complex (148) is formed by a ligand-exchange reaction of (144) with oxalate in aqueous solutions.⁷⁶⁹ Thus, all the structurally characterized Cr^{III}-salen complexes are six-coordinate. The kinetic lability of unidentate axial ligands in such compounds (similar to that in the

a: Selective oxidation of allylic alcohols to carbonyl compounds (Ref. 756)

b: Coupling of CO₂ and epoxides (Ref. 757)

c: Asymmetric ring-opening in epoxides (Ref. 758)



d: Enantioselective diels-alder reactions (Ref. 759)



yield, 10% ee, 78%





Scheme 25

Cr^{III}-porphyrin complexes, Section 4.6.5.2.10) may lead to equilibria between five- and sixcoordinate species in solution.⁷⁶⁷ This suggestion is supported by the significant effects of added monodentate ligands (such as PPNO or DMAP, Scheme 24) on the activities and selectivities of the catalytic systems (illustrated by Scheme 25).^{756,757,762} More sterically crowded species, such as (147) and its analogs (Katsuki's complexes), may be stable in solutions in a fourcoordinate form.^{752,762,770} Elimination of aqua ligands from (144) under conditions of ESMS has been used to study the metal-ligand interactions in this complex.⁷⁷¹

(iii) Biochemical studies

Binding of Cr^{III} -salen complexes to DNA or nucleotides has been studied by UV-visible spectroscopy,⁷⁷² gel-shift assays,¹⁷⁷ and ESMS.⁷⁷¹ Complex (144) caused oxidative cleavage of a human glycoprotein *in vitro* in the presence of H₂O₂.³⁶⁸ Alternatively, highly water-soluble analogs of (144) (with NR₄⁺-substututed ligands) did not cleave DNA in the presence of H₂O₂ (in contrast to the corresponding Ni^{II} complexes).⁷⁷⁴ Complex (144) was weakly genotoxic in bacterial or mammalian cell assays; however, its genotoxicity is significant, taking into consideration a very low permeability of (144) into cells.^{11,176,177}

4.6.5.8.5 Other polydentate and macrocyclic mixed-donor ligands

Structures of the ligands in crystallographically characterized Cr^{III} complexes (L^1-L^8) are shown in Scheme 26 (binding sites of the Cr^{III} ion are designated with asterisks). Extensive studies have been performed on the chemistry of Cr^{III} complexes with redox-active pendant-arm macrocyclic ligands (such as $[CrL^1(acac)]^+$ or $[CrL^2]$).^{775–779} The redox chemistry of such complexes is similar to that of Cr^{III} catecholates (Scheme 16 in Section 4.6.5.4.6). The products of one-electron oxidations of Cr^{III} –L $(L = L^1$ or L^2 , Scheme 26) have been assigned as Cr^{III} –L⁺ (rather than Cr^{IV} –L) complexes, based on X-ray crystallographic, magnetic, and EPR spectroscopic data.^{777,779} Such oxidized complexes may serve as models of active sites of enzymes, containing metal complexes of tyrosyl radicals (such as galactose or glyoxal oxidases).^{777,779} Another notable feature of the $[CrL^2]$ complexes is their ability to form stable supramolecular assemblies with $[M^{II}(OH_2)_6]^{2+}$ (Scheme 26).⁷⁷⁶



Scheme 26

Two different coordination modes have been observed in Cr^{III} complexes with pendant-arm amide ligands, $[CrL^3]^{2+}$ and $[CrL^4]^{3+}$.⁷⁸⁰ The ability to bind the ligands via three amine, two carbonyl, and one deprotonated amido donor (as in L³) is unique for Cr^{III} ; the other first-row transition-metal ions formed complexes with the protonated ligands via three amine and three carbonyl donors (as in L⁴).⁷⁸⁰ Structures of the seven-coordinate (pentagonal-bipyramidal) Cr^{III} complexes with L⁵, first reported in 1975,⁷⁸¹ were reassigned in 1987.⁷⁸² The reaction of the ligand with $[Cr(OH_2)_6]^{3+}$ at $pH \sim 3$ led to a deprotonated form of the complex, $[Cr(L^5-H)(OH_2)_2](NO_3)_2$ (originally reported as $[CrL^5 (OH_2)_2](OH)(NO_3)_2)$,⁷⁸¹ while recrystallization of this product from 1 M HNO₃ led to a novel seven-coordinate complex, $[CrL^5(OH_2)_2](NO_3)_3$.⁷⁸² Binding of Cr^{III} to both protonated and deprotonated forms of a thiosemicarbazone ligand has been observed in $[Cr(L^6)(HL^6)]$.⁷⁸³

semicarbazone ligand has been observed in [Cr(L^{*})(HL)]. Complexes $[CrL^7]^{3+}$ and $[CrL^8]^+$ were the first crystallographically characterized Cr^{III} compounds with macrocyclic or acyclic ligands, respectively, containing thioether donors.^{784,785} Several Cr^{III} complexes with acyclic or macrocyclic S₂P₂-donor ligands have been characterized by ESMS and spectroscopic methods.⁷⁸⁶ In addition, two Cr^{III} complexes with N–P-donor ligands are mentioned in Section 4.6.5.2.1 ((77) and (78)), and the complexes of biological N,O,S-donor ligands, cysteine and penicillamine, are described in Section 4.6.5.11.1.





4.6.5.9.1 Cyano-bridging groups

Early studies of cyano-bridged Cr^{III} complexes¹ concentrated mainly on the mechanisms of photoinduced intramolecular energy transfer (reviewed in 1990).⁷⁸⁷ The recent explosion of interest in such complexes is related to the discovery (published in 1995) of room temperature magnetic ordering ($T_c = 315$ K) in a Prussian blue-type compound (149) (the structure is based on the XAFS spectroscopic data).²⁷⁹ Compound (149) was obtained as an amorphous precipitate by mixing aqueous solutions of K₃[Cr(CN)₆] and (NH₄)₂[V^{II}(OH₂)₆](SO₄)₂ under anaerobic conditions.²⁷⁹ A modified sol–gel method led to the synthesis of a crystalline compound, KV^{II} [Cr^{III}(CN)₆]·2H₂O·0.1KOSO₂CF₃, which retains its magnetism at \leq 380 K, and may serve as a prototype for a new class of practically useful molecular magnetic materials.⁷⁸⁸ A large number of heteropolynuclear Cr^{III} cyano complexes, containing chelating ligands (a typical example, (150), is shown)⁴²³ has been synthesized in search of new materials with

A large number of heteropolynuclear Cr^{III} cyano complexes, containing chelating ligands (a typical example, (150), is shown)⁴²³ has been synthesized in search of new materials with useful magnetic or photophysical properties. The data prior to 2000 have been reviewed,^{789,790} and several crystallographically characterized compounds have been reported since then.^{282,423,791–794} However, none of these compounds retains its magnetic properties at >77 K.^{282,423,789–794}

4.6.5.9.2 N-donor bridging groups

Typical structures ((151)–(161)) are shown; compounds (151), (152), (153), (156), and (160) have been characterized by X-ray crystallography.^{360,795-806}

The formation of a polymeric compound, " $Cr(NH_2)_3$," during the reaction of $[Cr(NH_3)_6]^{3+}$ with KNH₂ in liquid NH₃, has been known since the 1940s.⁸⁰⁷ In 1998, the first crystallographically characterized Cr^{III} amido complex, Rb₃[Cr₂(NH₂)₉]RbNH₂ (**151**), was synthesized by the reaction of " $Cr(NH_2)_3$ " with RbNH₂ and NH₃ at high pressure.⁷⁹⁵ The reactions of CrI₂ with supercritical NH₃ or those of Cr^{III} compounds with KNH₂ and NH₃ led to the amido-bridged am(m)ine complexes, (**152**) and (**153**).^{796–798} Kinetics and mechanisms of the amido-bridge cleavage reactions of (**152**) or (**153**) in acidic aqueous solutions have been studied.^{797,798}

In contrast to the Cr^{III} -cyclam complexes, where both *cis* and *trans* isomers could be obtained in high yields (Section 4.6.5.2.6), only *cis*-complexes (e.g., (**158**)) have been isolated for the *bis*cyclam ligand.^{427,803} Differences in complexation mechanisms of cyclam and *bis*-cyclam ligands to Cr^{III} have been studied by molecular mechanics methods.⁴²⁷ A five-coordinate (square-pyramidal) coordination environment of Cr^{III} in (**159**) has been proposed from microanalytical data, and spectroscopic and magnetic measurements.⁸⁰⁴ A polymeric complex (**160**) exhibited significant antibacterial activity (greater than that of the ligand alone).⁸⁰²

4.6.5.9.3 Hydroxo-bridging groups

Dinuclear or oligonuclear OH-bridged complexes are ubiquitous in Cr^{III} chemistry.¹ Two reviews, although outdated (1988 and 1989), provide a useful introduction into the chemistry of such



complexes.^{808,809} A large number of crystallographically characterized compounds with two to six μ -OH groups (including heteropolynuclear species) have been reported since 1985, selected structures ((162)–(164)) are shown.^{307,458,698,699,810–829} For many of the complexes, low-temperature (<50 K) antiferromagnetic^{698,810,811,813–817,820,821} or ferromagnetic (for Cr^{III}–Cu^{II} or Cr^{III}–Zn^{II} complexes)^{818,819,822} couplings have been reported. Complex (162) possesses a novel adamantane-like Cr₄(OH)₆ core; its magnetic properties have been studied in comparison with those



of dimeric and trimeric Cr^{III} complexes.⁸²⁰ This is a further development of the Glerup–Hodgson– Pedersen (GHP) theory of magnetic interactions in polynuclear metal complexes.⁸⁰⁹ Well-known model complexes,¹ $[Cr_2(\mu-OH)(NH_3)_{10}]^{5+}$ ("acid rhodo") and $[Cr_2(\mu-OH)_2(NH_3)_8]^{4+}$, have been used for detailed EPR-spectroscopic and computational studies of magnetic interactions in OH-bridged Cr^{III} dimers.^{830–832} The OH-bridged species, formed during the base hydrolysis of $[Cr(OH_2)_6]^{3+}$, are described in Section 4.6.5.9.4.

4.6.5.9.4 Hydrolytic polymers

Polymeric Cr^{III} complexes with hydroxo and aqua ligands are the key species in the environmental chemistry of Cr,^{104,833} as well as in industrial applications, such as leather tanning^{834–836} or oil recovery (Section 4.6.5.10). Despite several decades of research (mainly by potentiometric methods), no unambiguous structural information on hydrolytic oligomers of Cr^{III} had been available prior to 1985.¹

Stabilization and crystallization of $[Cr_x(\mu-OH)_y(OH_2)_z]^{(3x-y)+}$ cations have been achieved by exploiting the supramolecular interactions with large anionic assemblies: initially with mesitylene-2-sulfonate or its adduct with 18-crown-6,^{837–839} and subsequently with the adducts of calixarene sulfonates with *N*- or *O*-macrocycles.^{840,841} This approach, illustrated in Scheme 27, allowed the crystal structures of di-, tri- and tetrameric Cr^{III} complexes, (165)–(167),^{837,839–841} as well as that of a heteropolynuclear complex, $[(H_2O)_4Rh(\mu-OH)_2Cr(OH_2)_4]^{4+,838}$ to be determined.

Several new physicochemical methods have been used for the speciation of Cr^{III} hydrolytic oligomers in aqueous solutions. For instance, separation of the complexes (165)–(167) and related species has been achieved by capillary electrophoresis with ICPMS detection, and identification of the oligomeric species has been performed by ESMS.⁵¹⁹ A recent XAFS-spectroscopic study of a leather tanning solution (Cr^{III} sulfate at $pH \sim 4$) showed a predominance of tetrameric Cr^{III} complexes.⁸³⁶ The mechanisms of formation of heteropolynuclear Cr^{III} hydroxo complyxes with various metal ions have been investigated by potentiometric methods.^{842,843} Detailed kinetic studies of the early stages of Cr^{III} hydrolysis have been performed.⁸⁴⁴

4.6.5.9.5 H_3O_2 - and related bridging groups

The concept of H_3O_2 -bridging was first formulated by Ardon *et al.* in 1985–1987,^{845,846} using Cr^{III} complexes with chelating N-donor ligands as examples. Deprotonation of *cis*-diaqua complexes (general structure (**168**) in Scheme 28) leads to dimeric species, (**169**), bridged by two short



(~2.5 Å), strong, and centered hydrogen bonds.⁸⁴⁶ Heating of solid compounds (169) at ~150 °C leads to the formation of the dihydroxo-bridged dimers (170) (olation reaction; Scheme 28).⁸⁴⁶

leads to the formation of the dihydroxo-bridged dimers (170) (olation reaction; Scheme 28).⁶⁴⁰ Stereoselectivity of the olation reactions for the $[Cr_2(chxn)_4(\mu-H_3O_2)_2]^{4+}$ complexes (chxn = (1*S*,2*S*)- or (1*R*,2*R*)-1,2-*trans*-cyclohexanediamine) has been discussed.⁸⁴⁷ Crystallographically characterized H₃O₂-bridged Cr^{III} complexes include dimeric species with one (e.g., [{Cr(en)₂(ONO)}₂(μ -H₃O₂)]³⁺),^{388,549,848,849} two (e.g., *cis*-[{Cr(cyclam)}₂(μ -H₃O₂)₂]⁴⁺);^{846,850,851}, or three ([(CrL)₂(μ -H₃O₂)₃]³⁺; L = N,N',N''-trimethyl-1,1,1-tris(amino-methyl)ethane)⁸⁵² H₃O₂-bridges, as well as infinite chain polymeric species (general structure (171) in Scheme 28).^{853,854} The formation of chain structures seems to be dependent on the nature of counterions; for instance, a trifluoromethanesulfonate calt of trans[Cr(vydem)(OH))(OH))²⁺ of counterions: for instance, a trifluoromethanesulfonate salt of *trans*- $[Cr(cyclam)(OH)(OH_2)]^{2+}$ forms such chains, while a perchlorate salt of the same complex exists in monomeric units.⁸⁵⁴ Formation of the H_5O_3 -bridging groups (with a second H_2O molecule intervening between the H_2O and OH^- ligands) has also been reported.⁸⁵⁴

The H₃O₂-bridged dimers (and to a lesser extent the chain polymers) exhibit magnetic exchange coupling between the Cr^{III} centers.^{848,850,851,854} The extent of such coupling correlates with the Cr^{...}Cr distances (typically, 4.8–5.1 Å for the diH₃O₂-bridged dimers and ~6.1 Å for the chain polymers).^{848,850,851,854} The antiferromagnetic coupling in the diH₃O₂-bridged Cr^{III} dimers is reflected in their low-temperature (<80 K) EPR spectra, which are typical for a quintet electronic



Scheme 28

state.⁸⁵¹ Thus, the formation of H_3O_2 -bridged dimers (Scheme 28) is the first step in polymerization of Cr^{III} complexes, containing aqua ligands.⁸⁴⁶

Hydrogen bonds are often important for crystallization or reactivity of Cr^{III} complexes; some examples are given in Sections 4.6.5.4.9, 4.6.5.8.5, 4.6.5.9.7, and 4.6.5.9.10. Formation of tri-Hbound dimeric Cr^{III} complexes with "pendant-arm" macrocyclic ligands, based on 1,4,7-triazacy-clononane (e.g., (**172**) in Scheme 28, characterized by X-ray crystallography), has also been reported.^{848,855} Similar to the "classical" OH-bridged Cr^{III} dimers (Section 4.6.5.9.3), complex (**172**) exhibits antiferromagnetic interactions between the metal centers.⁸⁴⁸

4.6.5.9.6 Oxo bridging groups

Oxo-bridged dimeric complexes of transition metal ions, including Cr^{III} , are of interest as possible models of intermediate states in enzymatic oxo-transfer reactions.⁸⁵⁶ Studies on the chemistry of a well-known complex, $[Cr_2(\mu-O)(NH_3)_{10}]^{4+}$ ("basic rhodo"),¹ were continued by mechanistic investigations of its base hydrolysis,⁸⁵⁷ as well as by calculations of its electronic structures in the ground and exited states.⁸⁵⁸ A series of novel oxo-bridged Cr^{III} dimers with tetradentate N-donors and monodentate anionic ligands (such as $[{Cr(tmpa)(NCS)}_2(\mu-O)]]$) (tmpa = tris-(pyridylmethyl)amine) have been synthesized and characterized by X-ray crystallography, magnetic measurements, and ligand-exchange studies.⁸⁵⁹⁻⁸⁶³ Two oxo-bridged Cr^{III} -Fe^{III} complexes with porphyrinato ligands, $[(py)(tpp)Cr(\mu-O)Fe(tmtaa)]^{864}$ (tmtaa = 5,7,12,14-tetramethyldibenzo [b,i][1,4,8,11]tetraazacyclotetradeca-2,4,7,9,11,14-hexaneato(2–)) and $[(pip)(tpp)Cr(\mu-O)Fe(tpp)]^{482}$ (pip = piperidine), have been synthesized by X-ray crystallography. The former complex exhibits a strong antiferromagnetic coupling of the metal centers ($2J = -299 \text{ cm}^{-1}$).⁸⁶⁴ For the latter complex, an unusual coordination environment has been found, with both Cr^{III} and Fe^{III} ions significantly protruding from the porphyrin planes.⁴⁸² The $[(tpp)Cr(\mu-O)Ru^{IV}(tpp)(\mu-O)Cr(tpp)]$ complex has been characterized by spectroscopic and magnetic measurements.⁸⁶⁵ Polynuclear Cr^{III} complexes with oxo and carboxylato bridges are described in Section 4.6.5.9.8.

4.6.5.9.7 Alkoxo and aryloxo bridging groups

Typical structures of crystallographically characterized complexes ((173)–(178)) are shown (Cr^{III} binding sites in the ligands are designated with asterisks).^{701,866–871} Compound (173) is one of the



few well-characterized Cr^{III} complexes with dipeptide ligands (other examples are given in Section 4.6.5.8.2).⁷⁰¹ In (175), Cr^{III} is coordinated to an unusual protonated amidooximato ligand.⁸⁶⁷ In (176), an unprecedented rearrangement of a formamidinato ligand occurs, leading to Cr–C binding.⁸⁶⁸ Compounds (177) and (178) are among the few known transition metal complexes with three alkoxo bridges or with aryloxo bridges, respectively.^{869–871}

4.6.5.9.8 Monocarboxylates and other oxo anions as bridging groups

The most numerous Cr^{III} complexes of this type are the symmetric trinuclear oxo-carboxylates, $[Cr_3O(O_2CR)_6L_3]^+$ (general structure (**179**); the charge can vary depending on the nature of the ligands L). Structures of these complexes were first established in the 1960s.¹ Since 1985, more than 20 such compounds have been characterized by X-ray crystallography (typically with R = H, Me, Et, or Ph, and L=H₂O, Py, or F⁻), this includes heteropolynuclear complexes with $Cr_nM_{(3-n)}O$ cores (n=1 or 2; M = Fe^{III}, Co^{II}, Ni^{II}, or Mn^{II}).^{872–893} Complexes (**179**) have been studied by kinetic methods (mechanisms of exchange of the ligands L),^{888,894,895} magnetic



(**179**) (see text)



(180) (Ref. 922)



susceptibility measurements,⁸⁸⁹ ¹H or ²H NMR,⁸⁹⁶ Raman⁸⁹⁷ or XAFS⁸⁹⁸ spectroscopies, mass spectrometry (fast-atom-bombardment or elecrospray ionization),^{892,899–902} and neutron scattering analysis.^{903,904}

Applications of the complexes (179) as redox catalysts,⁹⁰⁵ or as components of porous materials for gas storage⁹⁰⁶ have been proposed. The greatest research effort has been focused on the possible use of (179) (R = Et, $L = H_2O$) as a nutritional supplement or therapeutic agent for improving glucose and fat metabolism (patented by Vincent *et al.* in 2000–2001).^{907,908} This is the only Cr^{III} compound shown to decrease the levels of plasma cholesterol and triglycerides (in rats, intravenous administration).⁹⁰⁹ A proposed mechanism of action of (179) (R = Et, $L = H_2O$) involves the promotion of insulin binding to the cellular insulin receptors,⁹¹⁰ and is thought to mimic the action of a putative natural Cr^{III}-containing factor (Section 4.6.5.11.2).¹² Interestingly, a closely related compound ((179) with R = Me and $L = H_2O$) was not active in insulin potentiation.⁹¹⁰

Other polynuclear or heteropolynuclear Cr^{III} complexes, containing oxo anions as bridging ligands and characterized by X-ray crystallography since 1985, include carboxylato-bridged assemblies with 2–12 metal ions,^{422,890,899,911–932} as well as the complexes bridged by carbonato,^{862,933,934} dialkylcarbamato,⁸⁹³ sulfato,^{935,936} pyrophosphato,⁶³⁴ and polyoxomolybdato (or tungstato)^{937–939} anions. Some typical structures, (**180**)–(**182**), are shown. The carboxylato-bridged Cr^{III} assemblies with n > 3 (such as (**181**)) can be prepared by heating the complexes (**179**) (in the solid state or in aqueous solutions).^{890,927–931} Most of the oxo-anion-bridged Cr^{III} complexes exhibit weak to moderate antiferromagnetic interactions between the adjacent metal ions. The dependencies of the magnetic exchange coupling constant (*J*) on the nature of the complexes have been studied.⁸⁶² In one case, an unusual alteration from antiferromagnetic to ferromagnetic coupling, depending on the nature of counterions, has been reported.⁹¹⁵ Carboxylato-bridged Cr^{III} –Mn^{III/II} complexes have been examined as models for some structural and functional aspects of photosynthetic systems.^{424,920}



4.6.5.9.9 Dicarboxylates as bridging groups

This area is currently dominated by heteropolynuclear oxalato-bridged complexes, synthesized in the search for new molecular materials with useful conductive, magnetic, or nonlinear optical properties (see also Section 4.6.5.4.7).⁹⁴⁰ The syntheses of polymeric compounds of the general formula $\{(NR_4)[M^{II}-Cr(ox)_3]\}_n$ (a typical structural unit is represented by (183)) were first reported in 1992;⁶¹⁶ about 20 such complexes have been characterized since then (by X-ray crystallography and magnetic measurements).^{611,940–957} Three-dimensional architectures of the anionic assemblies are determined by the choice of counter-cations.⁶¹⁴ Recently, the first example of a monodentate coordination of the [Cr(ox)₃]^{3–} unit to Cu^{II}, (184), has been reported.⁹⁵⁷ A series of terephthalato-bridged dinuclear Cr^{III} complexes (185) have been characterized by spectroscopic and magnetic measurements.

4.6.5.9.10 Other O-donor bridging groups

Typical structures of the complexes ((186)–(193)) are shown ((188), (189), and (191)–(193) have been characterized by X-ray crystallography).^{959–966} Complex (186) is formed during the oxidation of Cr^{II} with 1,4-benzoquinone in acidic aqueous solutions (previously, it had been incorrectly assigned as $[(H_2O)_5CrOCr(OH_2)_3]^{4+}$).⁹⁵⁹ Interest in the redox chemistry of Cr^{III} phenolato and catecholato complexes (Sections 4.6.5.4.4 and 4.6.5.4.6) on the one hand, and in the interactions of the metal centers in polynuclear complexes on the other, led to the syntheses and characterizations of several polynuclear Cr^{III} complexes with phenolato ligands, including (187) and (188).^{960,961,967–969} Dimethyldioxime and its derivatives have been used as bridging groups in (189)⁹⁶² and in several related heteropolynuclear $(Cr^{III}-M^{II} \text{ or } Cr^{III}-M^{II}-Cr^{III})$ complexes.^{970–973} The exchange interactions between the metal centers in such complexes have been studied by EPR spectroscopy.⁹⁷⁰ Complex (190), supported on montmorillonites, is thermally stable up to 500 °C and can potentially be used as a catalyst in organic synthesis.⁹⁶³



4.6.5.9.11 N–O donor bridging groups

Typical structures ((194)–(201)) are shown; (194)–(198) have been characterized by X-ray crystallography.^{798,974–981} The exchange interactions between the metal centers in a series of heteropolynuclear complexes with the general structure (194) have been studied by magnetic susceptibility measurements and EPR spectroscopy.⁹⁷⁴ Different stereoisomers of (195) are formed, depending on the alkyl chain lengths in the diamine–dicarboxylato ligands.^{975,976} Complex (196), formed by an oxidative addition reaction from a corresponding Cr^{II} complex in the presence of traces of air and moisture, possesses an unusually short Cr^{···}Cr distance (2.732 Å).⁹⁷⁷ Complex (199) is formed as a result of an unusual Cr^{III} and nitrite-promoted hydration of MeCN.⁹⁷⁹ A large series of oxamido-bridged Cr^{III}–Cu^{II} dimers (e.g., (201)), exhibiting ferromagnetic couplings at ≤ 50 K, have been described.^{981–983}

4.6.5.9.12 Bridging groups containing P- or S-donors

Typical structures of the complexes ((202)–(210)) are shown (all the compounds, except (205), have been characterized by X-ray crystallography).^{687,862,984–990} Among the few structurally characterized P-donor-bridged Cr^{III} compounds are (202),⁹⁸⁴ as well as [{CrCl₃(L)}₂(μ -L)] (L = Me₂P(CH₂)_nPMe₂, n = 1 or 2).^{991,992} A tetranuclear complex (203) ([Cr₄S(OAc)₈(OH₂)₄]²⁺) is structurally similar to the well-known trinuclear oxo-carboxylates (179), but unlike those, (203) exhibits a strong ferromagnetic coupling between the Cr^{III} centers (maximum spin S = 6).⁹⁸⁵ Potential biomedical applications of (203) as a spin label or a NMR contrasting agent have been proposed.⁹⁸⁵ The Cr–S cluster complexes, such as [Cr₂(PS₄)₄]⁶⁻ or [Cr₁₂S₁₆(PEt₃)₁₀],^{93,994} are described in Chapter 4.12 of this edition. The influences of thiolato donors on exchange interactions of the metal centers in the complexes (204)–(206) have been studied by electronic spectroscopy and magnetic measurements.^{862,986,987}

Many heteropolynuclear Cr^{III} complexes with sulfur-containing bridging groups have been described (e.g., (207)–(210)). $^{687,988-990}$ Most of these complexes contain a second metal ion that is "softer" than Cr^{III} and hence has a higher affinity for S-donors (e.g., Ni^{II}, Pt^{II}, or Cu^{II} in (207), (209), or (210), respectively). Several crystallographically characterized compounds, related to (207) ([Ni{Cr(aet)₃}]²⁺; aet=2-amino-ethanethiolato(-)), 687 are also known, namely [Zn₄O{Cr(aet)₃}₄]⁶⁺ and [Cr{M(aet)₃}₂]³⁺ (M = Rh^{III} or Ir^{III}). 687,995 A thiooxalato-bridged complex (208) is related to the numerous heteropolynuclear oxalato-bridged compounds (Section 4.6.5.9.9). An unusual five-coordinate Cr^{III} complex (209) has been synthesized by reduction of a five-coordinate Cr^{III} complex, (210), was reported in 2001.⁹⁹⁰ Numerous related compounds have been synthesized previously by the reactions of [Cr(NCS)₆]³⁻ and its derivatives with transition metal complexes, but the presence of thiocyanato bridges in such compounds was suggested mainly on the basis of IR spectroscopic data.⁹⁹⁶

4.6.5.9.13 Halide bridging groups

Crystallographically characterized compounds (since 1985) include (**211**)–(**214**),^{472,997–999} as well as $[Cr_8(\mu-F)_8(\mu-O_2CBu^t)_{16}]$ (the structure is similar to that of (**181**)).^{1000,1001} A five-coordinate complex (**211**) is catalytically active in alkene polymerization (Section 4.6.5.2.1).⁴⁷²

Detailed studies of the well-known¹ trihalo-bridged $[Cr_2X_9]^{3-}$ complexes have continued in recent years. Crystal structures of $Cs_3[Cr_2Cl_9]^{664}$ and $(Et_4N)_3[Cr_2F_9]^{1002}$ have been reported, and single-crystal absorbtion spectra of the latter compound have been studied.¹⁰⁰³ The ligand dependence of metal–metal bonding in the $[Cr_2X_9]^{3-}$ complexes (X = F, Cl, Br, or I) has been investigated by DFT calculations.¹⁰⁰⁴ In addition, structures of the polymeric K[CrF₄] and K₂[Cr₃Cl₂F₆] compounds have been studied by X-ray crystallography.¹⁰⁰⁵

4.6.5.10 Polymers as ligands

Complexes of Cr^{III} with polymeric ligands have a wide range of practical applications in catalysis, $\frac{505,1006-1008}{1013-1020}$ removal and recovery of Cr^{III} , $\frac{1009-1012}{1009-1012}$ and modification of polymeric materials; $\frac{1013-1020}{1012}$ typical recent examples are listed in Table 5. Complexes of Cr^{III} with biopolymers (proteins or nucleic acids) are described in Section 4.6.5.11.



Apart from a simple addition of a Cr^{III} salt to a polymeric ligand, several synthetic methods for specific complexes have been developed. For example, S₂-linked tris-(β -diketonato) complexes (215) (Scheme 29a) have been synthesized by a reaction of a preformed Cr^{III} complex with S₂Cl₂.¹⁰²¹ Similarly, preformed Cr^{III} complexes with porphyrin or salen ligands have been





 Table 5 Typical Cr^{III} complexes with polymeric ligands and their applications.

Ligand or complex	Donor groups	Application	References
[Cr(tpp)Cl], linked to Argogel chloride beads	see Section 4.6.5.2.10	catalyst for polycarbonate formation	505,1006
Cr ^{III} -salen, linked to styrene-divinylbenzene	see Section 4.6.5.8.3	enantioselective catalyst of epoxide ring opening (low enantiomeric excess)	1007
Modified polyacrylamide	amido	catalyst of H_2O_2 decomposition	1008
Lactose-edta copolymer	amine + carboxylato	biodegradable chelator; potential for chelation therapy	1009
Modified cellulose	carboxylato	removal and recovery of Cr ^{III¹} from waste waters	1010
Chitosan	amine + hvdroxvlato	removal and recovery of Cr ^{III} from waste waters	1011
Poly[(2-hydroxyethyl)-DL- aspartamide]	amido + hydroxylato	separation and concentration of Cr ^{III} by membrane filtration	1012
Copolymer of acrylic acid and tetrafluoroethylene- perfluorovinyl ether	carboxylato	antibacterial material (active against <i>E.coli</i> and <i>S.aureus</i>)	1013
Poly(<i>N</i> -isopropyl- acrylamides)	amido	regulation of swelling properties of hydrogels	1014
Partially hydrolyzed polyacrylamides	amido + carboxylato	cementing of oil wells to increase oil recovery	1015,1016
Polyaniline	imine	photosensitive materials	1017
Viscose or cellulose phosphates	phosphato	flame retardants	1018,1019
Methacrylate	carboxylato	promotor of adhesion of polymers to metal surfaces	1020

Chromium

covalently attached to a polymer support.^{1006,1007} Several Cr^{III}-containing polymers have been synthesized by polymerization of precursor complexes with acrylato ligands (such as [Cr(phen)-(acr)₃(OH₂)] or [Cr₃O(acr)₆(OH₂)₃]⁺; acr = CH₂CHCO₂⁻).^{1022,1023} A template synthesis of a polymeric pseudo-crown ether (**216**) (Scheme 29b)¹⁰²⁴ used the ability of Cr^{III} aqua complexes to form hydrogen-bonded assemblies with polyether ligands (see (**135**)).⁶⁴³ Mechanochemical syntheses of polymeric Cr^{III} complexes have been performed by mixing [Cr(acac)₃] with a polymer ligand under an acoustic wave impact.¹⁰²⁵

Probably the most important industrial application of Cr^{III}-containing polymers is the treatment of oil wells by a hydrophilic polymer (usually polyacrylamide) in the presence of a Cr^{III} salt as a cross-linking agent. This causes the formation of hydrogels, which decrease the permeability of surrounding rock formations, leading to enhanced oil recovery.^{9,1015,1016} Recent thermodynamic studies¹⁰²⁶ suggested that the cross-links are likely to be formed by the coordination of dimeric Cr^{III} species to carboxylato groups of partially hydrolyzed polyacrylamide ((**217**); Scheme 29c).



(217)

Scheme 29

Although no crystallographic characterizations of Cr^{III} complexes with polymeric ligands are available to date, several new techniques have been applied recently for the determination of Cr^{III} coordination environments in such complexes. Energy-dispersive X-ray diffraction spectroscopy has been used in studies of Cr^{III} complexes with a widely used chelating resin, Chelex 100

(containing paired iminodiacetate ions coupled to a styrene–divinylbenzene support).¹⁰²⁷ Coordination of Cr^{III} in chrome-tanned leather has been studied by XAFS spectroscopy.¹⁰²⁸ Other characterization methods for Cr^{III} complexes with polymeric ligands include EPR¹⁰²⁹ and IR¹⁰³⁰ spectroscopies.

4.6.5.11 Biomolecules as Ligands

4.6.5.11.1 Amino acids

Despite several decades of extensive research,¹ there has been relatively little progress in structural characterizations of Cr^{III} complexes with amino acids. Crystallographically characterized complexes (since 1971) are listed in Table 6.^{154,707,874,1031–1037} A series of mixed-ligand Cr^{III} complexes with deuterated amino acid and am(m)ine ligands have been prepared, and binding modes of the ligands have been studied by ²H NMR (which is less sensitive than ¹H NMR to the presence of a paramagnetic Cr^{III} center).¹⁰³⁸ Complexes of Cr^{III} with amino acids have also been studied by fast atom bombardment mass spectroscopy.^{1039,1040} The results of these studies,^{1038–1040} together with the known crystal structures (Table 6), suggest that most amino acids bind to Cr^{III} in a bidentate fashion, through the carboxylato and α -amine groups, while those possessing an additional donor group (thiolato in Cys, carboxylato in Asp, or imidazole in His) bind in a tridentate mode. The mode of coordination of amino acid ligands to Cr^{III} is determined by the preparation

The mode of coordination of amino acid ligands to Cr^{III} is determined by the preparation conditions (mainly the pH value). For example, trinuclear complexes of carboxylato-bound amino acids with protonated amino groups ($[Cr_3O(L)_6(OH_2)_3]^{7+}$; similar to (**179**)) have been isolated from aqueous solutions at pH ~ 2 for Val, Ala, Leu, and Phe.⁸⁷⁴ While a crystallographically characterized complex, [$Cr(cys)_2$]⁻ (Table 6), possesses a tridentate (O,N,S-) binding mode of Cys,¹⁰³³ both bidentate (O,N-) and monodentate (O-) bindings have been proposed (based on IR spectroscopic data) for the complexes isolated under different conditions.^{1041,1042} In acidic aqueous solutions in the presence of O₂, [$Cr(cys)_2$]⁻ undergoes protonation of the Cys thiolato groups, followed by oxidation with the formation of S—S-bound polynuclear species.^{1043,1044} Stereoselectivities of the syntheses of Cr^{III} complexes with amino acids have been studied.^{1045–1047} Electronic spectra of a well-known complex, λ -fac-[$Cr(ala)_3$] (ala = N,O-L-alaninato(1-)),¹ have been investigated.¹⁰⁴⁸ A series of mechanistic studies on the anation of [$Cr(OH_2)_6$]³⁺ with amino acid ions,^{1049,1050} as well as on the oxidation of Cr^{III} amino acid complexes to Cr^{VI},^{1051–1053} have been performed.

have been performed. Many studies on Cr^{III} complexes with amino acids were related to the attempts to model the purported natural "glucose tolerance factor" (a compound isolated from yeasts, containing Cr^{III}, Gly, Glu, Asp, Cys, and nicotinate).^{1,1054,1055} The experimental evidence available to date suggests that yeasts are unlikely to contain a well-defined Cr-dependent biologically active substance, but Cr^{III} amino acid complexes (which can accumulate naturally in plants or fungi, such as yeasts) may promote glucose metabolism in animals and humans.^{11,12} This led to the recent patents on the use of Cr^{III} complexes with Met, His, or Thr as food supplements.^{1056–1058} One of the main challenges in the studies of Cr^{III} complexes, related to biological systems, is the speciation of such complexes in aqueous solutions. The recently developed methods, ESMS and XAFS spectroscopy, are likely to become the major tools in such studies.¹¹

<i>Complex</i> ^a	References	Complex ^a	References
<i>fac</i> -[Cr(gly) ₃]	1031	[Cr(cys)(his)]	1035
[Cr(his)(pen)]	1032	$[Cr_3(\mu_3-O)(\mu-val)_6(OH_2)_3]^{7+}$	874
$[Cr(cys)_2]^-$	1033	$[Cr(pen)_2]^-$	1036
$[Cr(his)_2]^+$		<i>fac</i> -[Cr(aib) ₃]	154
	1034,1035		
		[Cr(acala)(his)]	1037
[Cr(asp)(his)]	1035	$[Cr(asp)(phen)(OH_2)]^+$	707

 Table 6
 Crystallographically characterized Cr^{III} complexes with amino acids.

^a Designations of the ligands: gly = N,O-glycinato(1-); his = N,N',O-L-histidinato(1-); pen = N,O,S-D-penicillaminato(2-); cys = N,O,S-L-cysteinato(2-); asp = O,O'-L-aspartato(2-); val = O,O'-L-valinato (protonated amino group); aib = N,O-2-amino-2-methylpropanoato(1-); acala = N-acetyl-N,O-alaninato(2-).

4.6.5.11.2 Peptides and proteins

Several crystallographically characterized Cr^{III} complexes of synthetic dipeptides are known (Sections 4.6.5.8.2 and 4.6.5.9.7). The main attention ^{1,1059–1064} has focused on Cr^{III} complexes of a natural tripeptide, glutathione (γ -Glu-Cys-Gly). Glutathione is the most abundant intracellular reductant, and it is likely to play a key role in the conversion of carcinogenic Cr^{VI} into relatively nontoxic Cr^{III} complexes of small biomolecules, or to highly genotoxic DNA– Cr^{III} –DNA, protein– Cr^{III} –DNA, or amino acid– Cr^{III} –DNA cross-links (Sections 4.6.2.3.5 and 4.6.5.11.3).¹¹ No definitive structures of the Cr^{III} –glutathione complexes have been established to date. Reduction of Cr^{VI} with glutathione probably leads to a mixture of polynuclear (molecular mass 5–10 kDa)¹⁰⁶⁰ Cr^{III} complexes with the reduced GSH and oxidized GSSG forms of the ligand, where GSH and GSSG provide the *N*,*O*,*S*- and *N*,*O*-binding sites, respectively.^{1059,1061–1064} The Cr^{III}–GSH–GSSG complexes do not bind to DNA to a significant extent and are not genotoxic in bacterial assays.

The hypothesis that Cr^{III} is an essential micronutrient for humans (as an enhancer of the actions of insulin in glucose and fat metabolism) is currently under debate.^{11,12,695,697,1067} Vincent and co-workers related the essentiality of Cr^{III} to the existence of a specific biomolecule, chromodulin, which is purported to be a tetranuclear Cr^{III} assembly (with oxo, hydroxo, or carboxy-lato bridging groups) bound to a small (~1.2 kDa) peptide, consisting of Cys, Glu, Asp, and Gly.^{12,1068} Others questioned the existence of chromodulin, ¹¹ based on the reported method of its isolation (a reaction of exogenous Cr^{VI} with bovine liver homogenate),¹⁰⁶⁸ and on the absence of definitive structural information (e.g., crystal structure of the complex or the polypeptide sequence).

Transferrin, one of the major transport proteins for metal ions,¹⁰⁶⁹ strongly binds to Cr^{III},^{1070,1071} and is believed to be the main Cr^{III} carrier in human blood.¹⁰⁷² One of the mechanistic hypotheses concerning the biological role of Cr^{III} suggests that binding of Cr^{III} to insulin stabilizes the protein structure and prevents its destruction by peptidase enzymes.^{1073,1074} However, more recent evidence suggests that low-molecular-weight Cr^{III} complexes are likely to interact with cellular insulin receptors, rather than with insulin itself.^{12,910,1075} The proposed role of Cr^{III} in the enhancement of insulin action^{695,1067} led to the development of pharmaceutical formulations, including Cr^{III} complexes and insulin.¹⁰⁷⁶ Insertion of the substitutionally inert¹ Cr^{III} ion into the active sites of metal ion-dependent enzymes provides a valuable tool in the methanistic actuation of the substitutionally inert¹ Cr^{III} ion into the active sites of metal ion-dependent enzymes.¹⁰⁷⁷ Dependent of the substitutional structure and insulin.¹⁰⁷⁶

Insertion of the substitutionally inert¹ Cr^{III} ion into the active sites of metal ion-dependent enzymes provides a valuable tool in the mechanistic studies of enzyme actions.¹⁰⁷⁷ Recently, the first example of an active Cr^{III}-modified enzyme (phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase, normally a Mn^{II}-dependent enzyme) has been reported.¹⁰⁷⁸ Interactions of Cr^{III} with collagen have been studied in relation to the use of Cr^{III} in leather tanning.¹⁰⁷⁹ The use of low-molecular-weight Cr^{III} complexes as noncovalent binders in the structural studies of proteins (by NMR spectroscopy) is referred to in Sections 4.6.5.1.1, 4.6.5.2.1, and 4.6.5.8.3.

4.6.5.11.3 Nucleotides and nucleic acids

Disruption of DNA functions due to the formation of DNA–Cr^{III}–DNA, DNA–Cr^{III}–protein, or DNA–Cr^{III}–amino acid cross-links (caused by intracellular reduction of Cr^{VI}) is considered to be among the main reasons of Cr^{VI}-induced genotoxicity (Section 4.6.2.3.5).¹¹ Although it is well known that the addition of acidic Cr^{III} complexes (such as $[Cr(OH_2)_6]^{3+}$ or $[CrCl_2(OH_2)_4]^+$) to isolated DNA causes an extensive Cr^{III}–DNA binding, this effect is not biologically relevant, as Cr^{III} is likely to exist in biological media in the form of nonreactive anionic complexes.^{11,1080} On the basis of equilibria studies and IR spectroscopic data, the most likely Cr^{III} binding sites in DNA and polynucleotides are the phosphate backbone and the *N*-7 atoms of guanine bases.^{1081,1082} In a study directed towards the modeling of DNA–Cr^{III}–protein cross-links, a peptide-dinucleotide conjugate has been synthesized, but no well-defined Cr^{III} complexes of this ligand have been reported to date.¹⁰⁸³ A series of the Cr^{III}–nucleotide–amino acid¹⁰⁸⁴ and Cr^{III}–nucleotide–amine acid¹⁰⁸⁵ complexes have been synthesized and characterized by microanalytical data and spectroscopic methods. In all the reported complexes, the nucleotides appear to bind to Cr^{III} mainly through the phosphate groups.^{1084,1085}

The well-known use of Cr^{III}–ATP complexes in studies of the active sites of kinase enzymes is based on a comparison of enzyme activities with the stereoisomeric Cr^{III}–ATP species (which can be easily resolved) as substrates.^{1,1086} A recent development in this area has been the use of

fluorescent labels attached to the Cr^{III}–ATP complexes for the mapping of ATP-binding sites of Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase.^{1087,1088} Some recent examples of the use of Cr^{III}–nucleotide complexes in enzymology include the studies of DNA polymerase β ,^{1089,1090} or aminoglycoside nucleotidyl-transferase.

4.6.5.11.4 Other biomolecules

Complexes of Cr^{III} with ascorbate, which are likely to form during the reactions of Cr^{VI} with this major intracellular reductant, have been studied (mainly by Cieślak-Golonka and co-workers),^{1062–1064} but no definitive structural information has been obtained to date. Partially characterized Cr^{III} complexes with monosaccharides or their oxidized derivatives (e.g., aldonic acid) have been isolated from the reactions with either $Cr^{III1092}$ or Cr^{VI} .

Complexes of some natural antibiotics with metal ions, including Cr^{III} , are used for the detection of gram-negative bacteria.¹⁰⁹⁵ Some Cr^{III} complexes of natural polyphenols, such as lawsone (henna)⁶⁰² or tannins,¹⁰⁹⁶ have been prepared but not characterized fully. Crystallographically characterized Cr^{III} complexes with a natural siderophore ligand and some biological amines have been described in Sections 4.6.5.2.8, 4.6.5.8.1, and 4.6.5.8.2. Binding of Cr^{III} to humic acids in soil or ground water is important for Cr detoxification, either through the formation of kinetically inert Cr^{III} complexes¹⁰⁹⁷ or through the suppression of Cr^{III} oxidation to Cr^{VI} by MnO_2 .

4.6.6 CHROMIUM(II)

The majority of the newly synthesized (since 1985) Cr^{II} complexes are dimers with quadruple Cr—Cr bonds.^{1099,1100} These complexes are described in Chapter 4.9 of this edition. Comprehensive annual reviews are available (until 1991) on kinetic and mechanistic studies of electron-transfer reactions with a Cr^{II} complex as a reductant (including the numerous studies of the $Cr^{II}_{aq.} + Co^{III}$ reactions).^{7,1101} Applications of Cr^{II} compounds (primarily $CrCl_2$) in organic syntheses were reviewed in 1999 and 2001.^{667,1102} Unless stated otherwise, the Cr^{II} complexes described in this section have been prepared by the reactions of the ligands with Cr^{II} precursor compounds, such as [$CrCl_2(OH_2)_4$], [$CrCl_2(thf)_2$], or [$Cr_2(OAc)_4$]. Synthetic methods for these compounds have been reviewed previously.¹

4.6.6.1 C-donor Ligands

Most of the Cr^{II} complexes with C-donor ligands are described in the accompanying *Comprehensive Organometallic Chemistry* series. Electron delocalization in the known¹ $[Cr(CN)_6]^{4-}$ complex has been evaluated recently using the *ortho*- to *para*-positronium conversion reaction.¹¹⁰³ The thermal stability of $[Cr(CN)_5(CO)]^{3-}$ has been predicted from computational studies.¹¹⁰⁴ Some Cr^{II} complexes with σ -bound alkyl ligands are described in Sections 4.6.6.2.2 and 4.6.6.3.

4.6.6.2 N-donor Ligands

4.6.6.2.1 Unidentate ligands

A list of crystallographically characterized Cr^{II} complexes with unidentate N-donor ligands (since 1985) is given in Table 7,^{28,58,674,1105–1117} and typical reactions of Cr^{II} dialkyl (aryl)amido complexes are shown in Scheme 30.^{58,1113,1114} The Cr^{II} dinitrogen complexes, $(NN)_xCrO$ (x = 1, 2), have been generated in solid Ar (at ~10 K) by laser ablation techniques, and characterized by IR spectroscopy and DFT calculations.²⁶⁵ Octahedral Cr^{II} complexes, such as *trans,trans*-[CrCl₂(py)₂(OH₂)₂] (Table 7), have been used as convenient models for the experimental and computational studies of JTD.¹¹⁰⁶ Some Cr^{II} complexes with pyrrolyl ligands have been applied as alkene polymerization catalysts (see also Section 4.6.5.1.2).¹¹¹⁸ Complexes of Cr^{II} with nitrosyl ligands are described in Section 4.6.7.1.

Chromium

Complex ^a	Type of N-donor	Geometry	Cr-N (Å)	References
[CrCl ₂ (Me ₃ SiNPMe ₃) ₂]	Phosphaneimine	Square planar	2.12	1105
$[Cr(py)_4(PF_6)_2]^b$	Imine	Octahedral	2.11	667
<i>trans-trans</i> -[CrCl ₂ (py) ₂ (OH ₂) ₂]	Imine	Octahedral	2.13	1106
<i>trans</i> ,-[CrCl ₂ (py) ₄]·(Me ₂ CO)	Imine	Octahedral	2.13, 2.17 ^c	1106
<i>trans</i> -[CrBr ₂ (py) ₄]·2py	Imine	Octahedral	2.13, 2.16 ^c	1107
$[CrBr_2(NCMe)_2]_n$	Nitrile	Octahedral ^d	2.07	1108
$[Cr(NCMe)_4(BF_4)_2](BF_4)_2$	Nitrile	Octahedral	2.06 - 2.07	1109
$(Bu_4^nN)_2[Cr(NCS)_4]$	Isothiocyanato	Square planar	2.01	1110
$[Cr(NCS)_2(opd)_2]$	Isothiocyanato +	Square planar	2.04, ^e	1111
	amine		2.16 ^f	
$[Cr(L^{1})_{2}(py)_{3}] \cdot C_{6}H_{5}Me$	Amido + imine	Square	2.06, ^g	1112
2		pyramidal	2.17 ^h	
$[Cr(L^2)_2(py)_2]$	Amido + imine	Square planar	2.04, ^g	1113
			2.14 ^h	
$[\mathrm{Na}_{2}\mathrm{Cr}(\mathrm{L}^{2})_{4}(\mathrm{thf})_{3}]_{n}$	Amido	Square planar	2.07 - 2.09	1114
$[Cr(NPr_{2}^{1})(\mu - NPr_{2}^{1})]_{2}^{1}$	Amido	Trigonal	2.06,	58,1113,1114
		planar; ^j	1.93 ^ĸ	
		tetrahedral ^k	:	
$[Cr(NPh_2)(\mu-NPh_2)(thf)]_2$	Amido	Square planar	2.14,	1114
			2.03 ^K	
$[Cr(NPh_2)_2(py)_2]^{i}$	Amido + imine	Square planar	2.06, ^g	1114
			2.15 ⁿ	
$Na_2[Cr(NPh_2)_4(py)_2]$	Amido	Square planar	2.14	1114
$Li_2[Cr(NHAr)_4(thf)_2]$	Amido	Square planar	2.09 - 2.13	28
<i>trans</i> -[$Cr(nic-N)(OH_2)_4$]	Amido	Octahedral	2.13	1115
$[Cr/Zn(sac-N)_2(OH_2)_4]^1$	Amido	Octahedral	2.20	1116
$[Cr(sac-N)_2(py)_3]$	Amido + imine	Distorted	2.12, ¹	1117
		square	2.33 ^g	
		pyramidal		

 Table 7 Crystallographically characterized Cr^{II} complexes with unidentate N-donor ligands (since 1985).

^a Designations of the ligands: opd = o-phenylenediamine = 1,2-benzenediamine (coordinated unidentately through one of the amine groups); $L^1 = pyrrol-1-yl(1-)$; $L^2 = 2,5$ -dimethylpyrrol-1-yl(1-); Ar = 2,6-PrⁱC₆H₃; R = 3,5-Me₂C₆H₃; R' = adamantyl; nic = nicotinato = 3-pyridinecarboxylato(1-); sac = saccharinato = 1,2-benzisothiazol-3(2H)-one-1,1-dioxidato(1-). ^b Synthesized by disproportionation of [Cr¹(C₆H₆)₂]⁺ in pyridine. ^c The longer Cr–N bonds are observed for the axial ligands (JTD). ^d Br-bridged linear polymer (Cr–Br distances, 2 at 2.54 Å and 2 at 2.98 Å). ^e For the isothiocyanato donor. ^f For the amine donor. ^g For the amido donors. ^h For the imine donor. ⁱ Several related complexes have been synthesized and characterized by X-ray crystallography. ^j For the bridging amido donors. ^l Solid solutions with 33–69 at.% Cr.

4.6.6.2.2 Polydentate (open-chain) ligands

Structures of the ligands in crystallographically characterized complexes $(L^1-L^7, binding sites of the Cr^{II}$ ion are designated with asterisks) are shown in Scheme 31. The $[Cr(L^1)_4]^{2+}$ (with two ligands bound bidentately and the other two monodentately) and $[CrCl_2(L^2)_2]$ complexes are octahedral;^{1111,1119} the latter is distinguished by unusually low rates of Cl⁻ exchange (for kinetically labile Cr^{II}). ¹¹¹⁹ The $[Cr_2(\mu-L^3)_4Cl_2]^{2-}$ complex ((218) in Scheme 31) possesses a classical paddlewheel geometry of Cr^{II} dimers, but the Cr^{···}Cr distance is the longest known for this class of compounds (2.688 Å owing to the choice of bridging and axial ligands), which points to little or no Cr—Cr bonding. ¹¹²⁰ Sterically hindered square-planar complexes, $[Cr(L^4)_2]$ and $[Cr_2(L^5)_{2-}(\mu-Cl)_2]$, are catalytically active in alkene polymerization.^{472,1121,1122} No such activity was observed for $[Cr(L^6)R]$ (R = Et or Ph); an unusual geometry of these complexes has been described as *cis*-divacant octahedral.¹¹²³ Isomerization of a substituted tri(pyrazolyl)borato ligand (L^{7a}) led to a square-pyramidal complex, $[Cr(L^{7a})(L^{7b})]$.

Several methods for the generation (in dilute aqueous solutions) of Cr^{II} complexes with bpy, phen, and related chelating N-donor ligands have been outlined, including: (i) the reactions of the corresponding Cr^{III} complexes with aquated electron (generated by pulse radiolysis)^{1124,1125} and (ii) the quenching of the exited states of the Cr^{III} complexes (generated by laser flash photolysis) with SO₂ or organic reductants.^{1126,1127} Kinetics and mechanisms of the electron-transfer reactions of such Cr^{II} complexes with O₂, or with [Ru(NH₃)₆]³⁺, have been studied.^{437,1127} Thermal decomposition patterns of a series of known¹ Cr^{II} complexes with polyamine ligands have been determined.^{1128,1129}



R = Alk or Ar; L = THF or Py; M = Li or Na





Scheme 31



4.6.6.2.3 Macrocyclic ligands

Several Cr^{II} complexes with macrocyclic N-donor ligands have been described since 1985, including those with saturated ((**219**)) or unsaturated ((**220**)–(**222**)) derivatives of [14]aneN₄,^{1130–1133} as well as with porphyrinogen ((**69**) in Scheme 5, Section 4.6.4.2.2).²³⁰ Only (**69**) and (**221**) have been characterized by X-ray crystallography.^{230,1132} The Cr^{II}–cyclam complexes have been generated in aqueous solutions by chemical,¹¹³⁴ electrochemical-,¹¹³⁵ or photo-induced¹¹³⁶ reductions of the corresponding Cr^{III} species, and ligand-exchange and redox reactions of these complexes have been studied.^{298,1134} The latter reactions, including those with O₂ or with alkyl halides,^{298,1134} are similar to those of $[Cr(OH_{2})_{6}]^{2+}$ (generated *in situ*) has been used as a reductant to prepare the Fe^{II}Fe^{II} forms of [2Fe-2S] ferredoxins.¹¹³⁷ Typical redox reactions of the Cr^{II} complexes with macrocyclic N-donor ligands are shown in Scheme 32, as well as in Scheme 5 (Section 4.6.4.2.2).^{228,230,503,1138}



Complexes of Cr^{II} with porphyrinato or phthalocyaninato ligands have been known since the 1960s.¹ Recent studies of NO adsorption on solid [Cr(tpp)] by near-edge X-ray absorption fine structure (NEXAFS) spectroscopy suggested the involvement of both the metal ion and the ligand in the adsorption.¹¹³⁹ Electrochemical data on Cr^{III/II} complexes with porphyrinato or phthalocyaninato ligands were reviewed in 2001, and correlations between the redox potentials and structures of the ligands have been established.⁵⁰⁴ Molecular-orbital studies of the Cr^{II} complexes with these ligands have also been performed.¹¹⁴⁰

4.6.6.3 P-donor Ligands

Complexes of Cr^{II} with P-donor ligands are more diverse than those of Cr^{III} (Section 4.6.5.3). Structures of the crystallographically characterized (since 1985) (223)–(228) are shown;^{513,1141–1147} another such complex is mentioned in Section 4.6.6.5. Unusually for Cr^{II} (a d^4 ion), the complex (223c) exhibits the spin cross-over from the high- to low-state with decreasing temperature (μ_{eff} =4.84 μ_B at 295 K or 2.85 μ_B at 90 K).^{1142,1148} Notably, closely related complexes with R = Me and X = Cl/Br/I, or with R = Et and X = Cl/Br possess temperature-independent low-spin states (μ_{eff} =(2.8–3.3) μ_B at 90–295 K).^{1141,1142,1148} Thus, relatively minor differences in the ligands can markedly affect the magnetic behavior of Cr^{II} phosphine complexes.¹¹⁴²



Reduction of a Cl-bridged Cr^{III} phosphine complex led to an unusual Cr^{II} dimer (225) (Cr···Cr distance, 3.24 Å), instead of the expected paddlewheel complex with a short Cr—Cr bond.¹¹⁴⁴ A series of Cr^{II} complexes with an amido-phosphine ligand ((226)–(227)) have been prepared, including a strongly antiferromagnetically coupled $(J = -139 \text{ cm}^{-1})$ dihydrido-bridged dimer (227b) (Cr···Cr distance, 2.64 Å).^{1145,1146} A three-center allylic-like ligand acts as both a P- and a C-donor in (228).¹¹⁴⁷

4.6.6.4 O-donor Ligands

4.6.6.4.1 Aqua ligands

Structural studies of $[Cr(OH_2)_6]^{2+}$, as well as of other octahedral d^4 complexes, have attracted considerable attention because of the manifestations of the JTD effect.¹ Thus, a large difference in the lengths of the axial and equatorial Cr–O bonds (2.389 Å and 2.080 Å, respectively) has been detected in the deuterated Tutton salt, $(ND_4)_2[Cr(OD_2)_6](SO_4)_2$, by neutron diffraction studies at 4.3 K.¹¹⁴⁹ Alternatively, the cation in $[Cr(OH_2)_6](SiF_6)$ presents an apparent case of suppressed JTD, being of an essentially regular octahedral structure (as determined by XRD at ~293 K).¹¹⁵⁰ Other crystallographically characterized complexes (all exhibiting JTD) include $[Cr(OH_2)_4](SiF_6)$ (a chain octahedral complex with SiF₆⁻ occupying the axial positions; XRD at ~293 K).¹¹⁵¹ and $(NH_4)_2[Cr_xZn_{(1-x)}(OH_2)_6](SO_4)_2$ (x = 0.10 or 0.22; XRD at ~293 K or neutron diffraction at 11–17 K).¹¹⁵² Several computational studies on the geometry and dissociation energies of $[Cr(OH_2)_6]^{2+}$ have been published since 1985.^{1153–1155}

The $[Cr(OH_2)_6]^{2+}$ ion has been among the most widely used reductants in kinetic and mechanistic studies of the electron-transfer reactions in metal complexes. Most of these studies were published before 1991, and have been covered by comprehensive annual reviews.^{7,1101} Mechanistic studies of the Cr^{II}_{aq.} + O₂ reactions have also been reviewed (see Scheme 14 in Section 4.6.5.4.2).^{231,232} Some

Chromium

of the more recent studies considered the reactions of $Cr_{aq.}^{II}$ with H_2O_2 ,¹¹⁵⁶ 1,2-di(2-pyridyl)ethylene,¹¹⁵⁷ or blue copper proteins.¹¹⁵⁸ A variable-pressure study of the oxidation of $Cr_{aq.}^{II}$ by aliphatic organic radicals (Scheme 7a in Section 4.6.5.1.2) led to the proposal of a dissociative interchange (I_d) mechanism for the Cr^{II} – $OH_2 \rightarrow Cr^{II}$ – R^{\bullet} ligand-exchange reaction (which is the first step of the redox process).¹¹⁵⁹ Ab initio computational studies of ligand-exchange and electrontransfer reactions of $[Cr(OH_2)_6]^{2+}$ have been performed recently.^{532,537} The reduction of $Hg^{II/I}$ to Hg^0 by $Cr^{II}_{aq.}$ is applied in analytical chemistry (including highly sensitive determination of mercury by atomic absorption spectroscopy in environmental samples).¹¹⁶⁰ The well-known¹ catalysis by Cr^{II} of ligand-exchange reactions of Cr^{III} has been used to increase the efficiency. of chrome-electroplating with environmentally, accentable Cr^{III} has determination of the rest of the strange reactions of Cr^{III} has been used to increase the

The reduction of Hg^{II/I} to Hg⁰ by Cr^{II}_{aq.} is applied in analytical chemistry (including highly sensitive determination of mercury by atomic absorption spectroscopy in environmental samples).¹¹⁶⁰ The well-known¹ catalysis by Cr^{II} of ligand-exchange reactions of Cr^{III} has been used to increase the efficiency of chrome-electroplating with environmentally acceptable Cr^{III}-based electrolytes.¹¹⁶¹ Photocatalytic H₂ generation by the CdS/Pd–Cr^{III}–EtOH–H₂O–H⁺ system is based on the formation of Cr^{II}_{aq.} (promoted by the accumulation of electrons in the conductance band of CdS during irradiation at 320 nm), which then reduces H₂O with the formation of H₂.¹¹⁶² Formation of Cr^{II}_{aq.} is also a key step in the Fe–Cr redox energy storage cycle.⁵³⁸

4.6.6.4.2 Other O-donor ligands

Typical structures of crystallographically characterized complexes ((**229**)–(**236**)) are shown.^{249,558,936,1163–1168} Complex (**229**) ([$Cr_2(OCBu_3^t)_2(\mu$ -OCHBu_2^t)_2]) is formed by an unusual C–C bond cleavage reaction of [$Cr(OC Bu_3^t)_2(THF)(LiCl)$] under mild conditions.¹¹⁶³ The Cr–O bond



Chromium

lengths in (229) are 1.84 Å and 1.96 Å for the terminal and bridging alkoxo donors, respectively, and the Cr^{···}Cr distance is 3.07 Å.¹¹⁶³ Prior to the X-ray analysis, the structure of (229) had been wrongly assigned as [Cr(OCBu^t₃)₂(THF)₂].¹ The structural complexity of the Cr^{II} aryloxides (230)–(232) increases with decreasing bulkiness of the ligands.^{1164–1166} The Cr^{II} silyloxo complexes (e.g., (233) and (234)) have been studied as possible precursors of ultrapure Cr silicates (used in catalysis), and as homogeneous models of SiO₂-supported Cr catalysts.⁵⁵⁸ Complex (234a) was catalytically active in alkene polymerization.¹¹⁶⁷ A Cr^{II} complex with a calixarene derivative, (235) (synthesized by reduction of a Cr^{III} precursor), has been studied as a possible model of a catalytic Cr^{II} site over a planar oxo surface (see also Section 4.6.5.1.2).²⁴⁹ Reaction of (235) with O₂ led to a Cr^{IV} dimer ((74), Section 4.6.4.3.3).²⁴⁹ The complex (236) (a sulfato-bridged chain polymer with two different types of Cr^{II} coordination) crystallizes from a solution of CrSO₄·xH₂O in pyridine.⁹³⁶

New polymeric Cr^{II} phosphates, $MCrP_2O_7$ (M = Ca, Sr, or Ba) have been characterized by X-ray crystallography and phase transition equilibria studies.¹¹⁶⁹ Formation of Cr^{II} carbazato complexes by the reactions of Cr^{II} salts with N_2H_4 and CO_2 has been studied in relation to the corrosion of stainless steel reservoirs used for the storage of rocket fuel (containing N_2H_4 or its derivatives).⁶⁸³ Several Cr^{II} complexes with phosphato,¹¹⁷⁰ phosphonato,^{1170,1171} phosphinato,¹¹⁷⁰ phosphoramide,¹¹⁷² and squarato¹¹⁷³ ligands have been isolated and studied by spectroscopic methods.

4.6.6.5 S-donor Ligands

There are few known relatively stable complexes, containing Cr^{II} —S bonds.¹ Structures of the crystallographically characterized compounds ((237)–(239)) are shown.^{1110,1174–1176} The isothiocyanato-thiourea complex (237) presents a previously unknown structural type of Cr^{II} with *trans*planar units stacked in infinite parallel chains with a $Cr\cdots Cr$ separation of 3.97 Å.^{1174,1175} Complex (237) is reasonably air-stable when dry; it possesses a high-spin electronic state ($\mu_{eff} = 4.53\mu_B$ at 291 K) and weak antiferromagnetic interaction between the Cr centers at low temperatures ($J = -2.7 \text{ cm}^{-1}$).¹¹⁷⁴ Complex (239) is a dimeric (blue) form of Cr^{II} isothiocyanate; the monomeric (red) form has been referred to in Section 4.6.6.2.1.¹¹¹⁰

4.6.6.6 Halide Donor Ligands

Complexes of Cr^{II} with halo ligands were studied most extensively in the 1960s and 1970s.¹ Crystallographically characterized compounds (since 1985) include [PhCH₂NH₃][CrBr₄] (a ferromagnet with $T_c = 52 \text{ K}$),¹¹⁷⁷ [CrBr₂(thf)₂],¹¹⁷⁸ [Cr(μ_4 -O)(μ -Cl)₆(thf)₄] (**240**),¹¹⁷⁹ as well as numerous mono- and dinuclear mixed-ligand species with Cl⁻ ligands (derived from CrCl₂ as a synthetic precursor; Sections 4.6.6.2–4.6.6.5). Complex (**240**) is isostructural with the known tetramers of Cu^{II}, Mg^{II}, and Mn^{II. 1179} A comparative analysis of the known crystal structures of CrX_n (X = F, Cl, Br, or I) for Cr^{II}, Cr^{III}, and Cr^{IV} has been performed, with a particular emphasis on the manifestations of JTD in the Cr^{II} compounds.^{1180,1181} The reduction of polymeric¹ anhydrous CrCl₂ with NaBH₄ has been used recently for the preparation of Cr nanoparticles.¹¹⁸²

4.6.6.7 H-donor Ligands

Only a few complexes with Cr^{II} —H bonds were known prior to 1985.¹ New crystallographically characterized complexes of this type (i.e., those with hydrido or borohydrido ligands) include $[CrH\{(Me_2PCH_2)_3CMe\}_2](BEt_4)$,¹¹⁸³ $[CrH(\eta^2-BH_4)\{Me_2P(CH_2)_2PMe_2\}]$,¹¹⁸⁴ $[Cr(\eta^2-BH_4)_2\{Me_2N-(CH_2)_2NMe_2\}]$,¹¹⁸⁵ $[Cr(BH_4)_2(py)_4]$,¹¹⁸⁵ and a trimeric complex (**241**).¹¹⁸⁵ An aluminohydrido complex, $[\{Me_2P(CH_2)_2PMe_2\}_2HCr(\mu-H)_2AIH(\mu-H)]_2$, has been characterized by multinuclear NMR spectroscopy.¹¹⁸⁶ Such complexes are of interest as potential catalysts for hydrogenation or polymerization reactions.¹¹⁸⁵



(244) (Ref. 1188)

4.6.6.8 N–O Donor Ligands

Structures of the crystallographically characterized complexes ((242)–(244)) are shown.^{362,1187,1188} Complexes (242) and (243) were isolated in low yields from the reactions of Cr^{III} salts with the deprotonated ligands (where the ligand probably also acted as a reductant);^{362,1187} (242) acts as a catalyst of alkene polymerization.³⁶² A polymeric complex (244), as well as a related monomeric species, $[CrL_2(py)_4]$ (L = 3-pyridinesulfonate), were crystallized from the aqueous solutions of the ligand and Cr^{II}; both complexes are relatively air-stable.¹¹⁸⁸

ligand and Cr^{II}; both complexes are relatively air-stable.¹¹⁸⁸ Stability constants of some Cr^{II} complexes with amino acids or aminopolycarboxylates have been compared with the corresponding values for Cu^{II} complexes.¹¹⁸⁹ Known (though not fully characterized)¹ Cr^{II} complexes with edta or amino acids have been used as chemo- or enantioselective reductants in organic synthesis.^{1190–1192} Complexes of Cr^{II} with aminopolycarboxylato ligands (generated in aqueous solutions) have also been used as redox mediators in the indirect electrochemical reductions of organic substances,¹¹⁹³ and as components of electrochemical sensors for dissolved O₂.¹¹⁹⁴ Complexes of Cr^{II} with picolinato ligand have been generated by pulse radiolysis from the corresponding Cr^{III} complex (Section 4.6.5.8.1).²⁶² Such generation of highly reactive Cr^{II} species in the presence of ionizing radiation may be used for chemical decontamination of nuclear reactor systems.²⁶²

4.6.7 CHROMIUM(I) AND CHROMIUM(0)

The great majority of Cr^{I} or Cr^{0} complexes, including those with carbonyl, carbene, or η -hydrocarbon ligands, are described in the *Comprehensive Organometallic Chemistry* series.

4.6.7.1 Nitrosyl Complexes of Cr^{I/II/III}

The chemistry of transition metal nitrosyl complexes (including those of Cr) has been reviewed extensively.^{1195–1197} Assignment of the metal oxidation state in the Cr–NO complexes is ambiguous (Cr¹–NO⁺, Cr^{II}–NO⁻, or Cr^{III}–NO⁻).¹ Crystallographically characterized complexes (since 1985) include (**245**)–(**247**),^{1198–1200} as well as [Cr(NO)(OH₂)₅]²⁺,¹²⁰¹ [Cr(NO)(NH₃)₅]²⁺,^{1202,1203} and *mer*-[Cr(NO)(CNCMe₃)₃(Ph₂PCH₂PPh₂)].¹²⁰⁴ A large series of Cr–NO complexes with N- or O-donor ligands have been characterized by spectroscopic methods.^{1205–1207} Such complexes are also formed as intermediates in the syntheses of Cr^{VI} nitrido complexes (Scheme 3 in Section 4.6.2.2.3).³⁶ All the crystallographically characterized complexes possess octahedral coordination geometries and nearly linear (175–180°) Cr–N–O bond angles.^{1198–1204} A polymeric cyanobridged complex (**245**) is distinguished by a relatively long Cr–N(NO) bond (1.87 Å compared with 1.67–1.72 Å in the other compounds); it exhibits ferromagnetic interaction between the Cr and Ni^{II} centers.¹¹⁹⁸ Compound (**248**) (characterized by NMR and other spectroscopic methods) is unusual as it can be formally described as a Cr^{II}–NO⁺ complex.⁸⁶⁷ General synthetic methods for the Cr–NO complexes have been reviewed previously.¹

The $[Cr(NO)(OH_2)_5]^{2+}$ complex, first synthesized in 1962, was crystallographically characterized in 1993 by Ardon *et al.* It was described as being close to Cr^{III} –NO⁻, based on the short Cr–N distance (1.68 Å) indicating a multiple Cr–N bonding, and on the elongation by 0.059 Å of a Cr–O bond *trans* to the NO group (while binding to NO⁺ would lead to a shortening of this bond).¹²⁰¹ Alternatively, *ab initio* calculations of the ground and exited electronic states in $[Cr(NO)(OH_2)_5]^{2+}$ led the values of the net charge on Cr atom in the range +1.65 to +1.84.¹²⁰⁸

The Cr–NO complexes (possessing a d^5 electronic configuration) usually give sharp intense EPR signals at room temperature ($g_{iso} = 1.97-1.99$; reviewed in 1994).¹²⁰⁹ More recently, a detailed EPR spectroscopic study has been performed for [Cr(NO)(OH₂)₅]²⁺, as well as for two Cr–NO–ehba complexes (generated in aqueous solutions by the reactions of [Cr^VO(ehba)₂]⁻ with NH₂OH and separated by ion-exchange chromatography).¹⁹⁵ Kinetics and mechanisms of the redox reactions of [Cr(NO)(OH₂)₅]²⁺ with BrO₃⁻, IO₄⁻, or U^{III} in acidic aqueous solutions, leading to [Cr(OH₂)₆]³⁺ as a main product, have been examined.¹²¹⁰ Comparative computational studies of the [M(NO)(CN)₅]ⁿ⁻ complexes (M = Fe, Mn, or Cr) in relation to their reactivities with oxidants or nucleophiles have been performed.^{1211,1212} The [Cr(NO)(CN)₅]³⁻ complex is not pharmacologically active as a vasodilator (unlike the corresponding Fe^{III} complex).¹²¹²



4.6.7.2 Other Cr^I Complexes

A simple synthetic method for Cr^{I} complexes, based on the reaction of $CrCl_{2}$ with Ag^I complexes, has been proposed (it is believed that EtOH, used as a solvent, also acts as a reductant).¹²¹³ Formation of $[CrL_{3}]^{+}$ complexes (where L is a bidentate N-donor ligand) has been supported by magnetic measurements ($\mu_{eff} \sim 1.9 \,\mu_{B}$ at 298 K) and cyclic voltammetry.¹²¹³ Studies of the

Table 8 Syntheses and/or characterizations of nonorganometallic Cr⁰ complexes (since 1985).

Donor type	Complex	Comment ^a	References	
Phosphine	$[Cr{(Me_2PCH_2)_3CMe}_2]$	Synt., cryst. str.	513	
Phosphine, proton	$[CrH{(Me_2PCH_2)_3CMe}_2]^+$	Synt., cryst. str.	1183	
Phosphine, protonated nitrile	$trans$ - $[Cr(HNCMe)_2L]^{2+b}$	Synt., cryst. str.	219	
Fluorophosphine	$[Cr(PF_2NMe_2)_4](PF_2)_2NMe]$	Synt., cryst. str.	1218	
Nitrosyl, isocyanide, phosphine	cis-[Cr(NO)(CNCMe ₃)(PPh ₃)] ⁺	Synt., electrochem.	1204	
Isocyanide	$[Cr(CN-2,6-Me_2Ph)_6]$	Synt.	1219	
Isocyanide	$[Cr(CN-2,6-Pr^{i}_{2}Ph)_{6}]$	Electrochem.	1214	
Isocyanide	[Cr(CNPh) ₆]	Raman spectroscopy	1220	
Isocyanide	$[Cr(CNAr)_6]$ °	Initiators of alkene polymerization	1221	
Dinitrogen	[Cr(N ₂)] (in gas phase)	Laser ablation, IR spectroscopy, DFT calculations	1222	
Carbonyl	$[Cr(OCMe_2)]$	Computational study	1223	

^a Synt. = synthesis; cryst. str. = determination of the crystal structure; electrochem. = electrochemical study. ^b $L = Me_2P(CH_2)_2PMe_2$;

 c Ar = Ph or its Cl- or Me-substituted derivatives.

Chromium

known¹ $[Cr(bpy)_3]^+$ complex by EPR spectroscopy have been reviewed.¹²⁰⁹ Solvent effects on the electron self-exchange rates in the $Cr^{I/0}$ and $Cr^{II/1}$ couples have been studied using a Cr^{I} iso-cyanide complex, $[Cr(CN-2,6-Pr^{i}_{2}Ph)_{6}](BF_{4})$.¹²¹⁴ Formation of the bare Cr^{+} ion and its adducts (such as $[Cr(MeOOMe)]^+$, $[Cr(OMe)_2]^+$, or $[Cr(NH_3)_2]^+$) in the gas phase has been studied by mass-spectrometric methods.1215-1217

4.6.7.3 Chromium(0) Complexes

Typical examples of nonorganometallic Cr^0 complexes, synthesized and/or characterized since 1985, are listed in Table 8.^{219,513,1183,1204,1214,1218–1223} Generally, such Cr^0 complexes are generated by the reductions of the corresponding Cr^{II} or Cr^{III} complexes, ^{219,513,1183,1204} or, in some cases, by the reactions of Cr metal with the ligands.¹²¹⁸ The former method led to the syntheses of two unusual cationic Cr^0 complexes (Table 8), probably involving the coordination of H⁺ either to the Cr center or to the nitrile ligands (the Cr^0 oxidation state is confirmed by the diamagnetism of such complexes).^{219,1183}

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Financial support of this work was provided by an Australian Research Council Large and Discovery Grants (to P.A.L.). We thank Professor A. G. Wedd (University of Melbourne) for helpful comments, and Dr. A. M. Bonin (University of Sydney) for proofreading the manuscript.

4.6.8 REFERENCES

- 1. Larkworthy, L. F.; Nolan, K. B.; O'Brien, P. In Comprehensive Coordination Chemistry; Wilkinson, G., Gillard, R. D. and McCleverty, J. A., Eds.; Pergamon Press: Oxford, 1987; Vol. 3, pp 699-969.
- 2. Geiger, D. K. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1998, 172, 157-180.
- 3. Geiger, D. K. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1997, 164, 261-288.
- 4. Geiger, D. K. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1996, 152, 359-392.
- 5. Colton, R. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1988, 90, 1-27.
- 6. Colton, R. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1985, 62, 85-130.
- 7. House, D. A. In Mechanisms of Inorganic and Organometallic Reactions; Twigg, M. V., Ed.; Plenum Press: New York, 1994; Vol. 8, pp 97-132, and previous articles of this series.
- 8. Malito, J. Ann. Rep. Progr. Chem. A 2001, 97, 157-182, and previous articles of this series.
- 9. House, D. A. Adv. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 44, 341-373.
- Fisher, K. J. Prog. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 50, 343–432.
 Levina, A.; Codd, R.; Dillon, C. T.; Lay, P. A. Prog. Inorg. Chem. 2003, 51, 145–250.
- 12. Vincent, J. B. Polyhedron 2001, 20, 1-26.
- 13. Codd, R.; Dillon, C. T.; Levina, A.; Lay, P. A. Coord. Chem. Rev. 2001, 216-217, 533-577.
- 14. Leigh, G. J. Nomenclature of Inorganic Chemistry; Blackwell Scientific Publications: Oxford, 1990.
- Meijboom, N.; Schaverien, C. J.; Orpen, A. G. Organometallics 1990, 9, 774–782.
 Jandciu, E. W.; Legzdins, P.; McNeil, W. S.; Patrick, B. O.; Smith, K. M. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 2000, 1809-1810.
- 17. Batsanov, A. S.; Dillon, K. B.; Gibson, V. C.; Howard, J. A. K.; Sequeira, L. J.; Yao, J. W. J. Organomet. Chem. 2001, 631, 181-187.
- 18. Coles, M. P.; Gibson, V. C.; Clegg, W.; Elsegood, M. R. J.; Porrelli, P. A. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 1996, 1963-1964.
- 19. Coles, M. P.; Dalby, C. I.; Gibson, V. C.; Clegg, W.; Elsegood, M. R. J. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1995, 1709-1711.
- 20. Siemeling, U.; Kolling, L.; Stammler, A.; Stammler, H.-G.; Kaminski, E.; Fink, G. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 2000, 1177-1178.
- 21. Jensen, V. R.; Borve, K. J. Organometallics 2001, 20, 616-626.
- 22. Hursthouse, M. B.; Motevalli, M.; Sullivan, A. C.; Wilkinson, G. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1986, 1398-1399.
- 23. Sullivan, A. C.; Wilkinson, G.; Motevalli, M.; Hursthouse, M. B. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1988, 53-60.
- 24. Danopoulos, A. A.; Leung, W.-H.; Wilkinson, G.; Hussain-Bates, B.; Hursthouse, M. B. Polyhedron 1990, 9, 2625–2634.
- 25. Lam, H. W.; Wilkinson, G.; Hussain-Bates, B.; Hursthouse, M. B. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1993, 781-788.
- Chan, M. C. W.; Lee, F.-W.; Cheung, K.-K.; Che, C.-M. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1999, 3197–3201.
 King, L.; Motevalli, M.; Sullivan, A. C. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 2000, 1357–1362.
- 28. Danopoulos, A. A.; Wilkinson, G.; Sweet, T. K. N.; Hursthouse, M. B. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1995, 2111-2123.
- 29. Mindiola, D. J.; Cummins, C. C. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1998, 37, 945-947.
- 30. Coles, M. P.; Dalby, C. I.; Gibson, V. C.; Clegg, W.; Elsegood, M. R. J. Polyhedron 1995, 14, 2455-2459.
- 31. Danopoulos, A. A.; Hankin, D. M.; Wilkinson, G.; Cafferkey, S. M.; Sweet, T. K. N.; Hursthouse, M. B. Polyhedron 1997, 16, 3879-3892.
- 32. Coles, M. P.; Gibson, V. C.; Clegg, W.; Elsegood, M. R. J. Polyhedron 1998, 17, 2483-2489.

Chromium

- 33. Chew, K. C.; Clegg, W.; Coles, M. P.; Elsegood, M. R. J.; Gibson, V. C.; White, A. J. P.; Williams, D. J. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1999, 2633-2640.
- 34. Leung, W.-H.; Wu, M.-C.; Lau, T.-C.; Wong, W.-T. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 4271-4274.
- 35. Jan, D.; Simal, F.; Demonceau, A.; Noels, A. F.; Rufanov, K. A.; Ustynyuk, N. A.; Gourevitch, D. N. Tetrahedron Lett. 1999, 40, 5695-5699.
- 36. Odom, A. L.; Cummins, C. C.; Protasiewicz, J. D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 6613-6614.
- 37. Odom, A. L.; Cummins, C. C. Organometallics 1996, 15, 898-900.
- 38. Odom, A. L.; Cummins, C. C. Polyhedron 1998, 17, 675-688.
- 39. Cieślak-Golonka, M. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1991, 109, 223-249.
- 40. Hoffmann, M. M.; Darab, J. G.; Fulton, J. L. J. Phys. Chem. A 2001, 105, 6876-6885.
- 41. Hoffmann, M. M.; Darab, J. G.; Fulton, J. L. J. Phys. Chem. A 2001, 105, 1772-1782.
- 42. Brasch, N. E.; Buckingham, D. A.; Evans, A. B.; Clark, C. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 7969–7980.
- 43. Michel, G.; Cahay, R. J. Raman Spectrosc. 1986, 17, 79-82.
- 44. Heyns, J. B. B.; Cruywagen, J. J.; Carron, K. T. J. Raman Spectrosc. 1999, 30, 335-338.
- 45. Ramsey, J. D.; Xia, L.; Kendig, M. W.; McCreery, R. L. Corros. Sci. 2001, 43, 1557-1572.
- 46. Lau, T.-C.; Wang, J.; Siu, K. W. M.; Guevremont, R. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1994, 1487-1488.
- 47. Stewart, I. I.; Horlick, G. J. Analyt. Atom. Spectrom. 1996, 11, 1203-1214.
- 48. Sena, M. M.; Scarminio, I. S.; Collins, K. E.; Collins, C. H. Talanta 2000, 53, 453-461.
- 49. Poulopoulou, V. G.; Vrachnou, E.; Koinis, S.; Katakis, D. Polyhedron 1997, 16, 521-524.
- 50. Cruywagen, J. J.; Heyns, J. B. B.; Rohwer, E. A. Polyhedron 1998, 17, 1741-1746.
- 51. Brito, F.; Ascanio, J.; Mateo, S.; Hernández, C.; Araujo, L.; Gili, P.; Martín-Zarza, P.; Domínguez, S.; Mederos, A. Polyhedron 1997, 16, 3835-3846.
- 52. Deeth, R. J.; Sheen, P. D. J. Chem. Soc., Faraday Trans. 1994, 90, 3237-3240.
- 53. Bandyopadhyay, R.; Maiti, S. K.; Bhattacharyya, R. Inorg. Chem. Commun. 2002, 5, 259-263.
- 54. Mukherjee, A. K.; Mukhopadhaya, A.; Mukherjee, M.; Ray, S. Acta Crystallogr. 1994, C50, 1401-1404.
- 55. Ito, Y.; Tochio, T.; Vlaicu, A. M.; Ohsawa, D.; Mukoyama, T.; Muramatsu, Y.; Perera, R. C. C.; Grush, M. M.; Callcott, T. A.; Sherman, E. J. Electron Spectrosc. Relat. Phenom. 1999, 101-103, 851-858.
- 56. Bryce, D. L.; Wasylishen, R. E. Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys. 2001, 3, 5154-5157.
- 57. Lam, H. W.; Wilkinson, G.; Hussain-Bates, B.; Hursthouse, M. B. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1993, 1477-1482.
- 58. Ruppa, K. B. P.; Feghali, K.; Kovacs, I.; Aparna, K.; Gambarotta, S.; Yap, G. P. A.; Bensimon, C. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1998, 1595-1606.
- 59. Stavropoulos, P.; Bryson, N.; Youinou, M.-T.; Osborn, J. A. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 1807-1811.
- 60. Feher, F. J.; Blanski, R. L. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1990, 1614-1616.
- 61. Abbenhuis, H. C. L.; Vorstenbosch, M. L. W.; van Santen, R. A.; Smeets, W. J. J.; Spek, A. L. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 6431-6433.
- 62. Mazurek, W.; Fallon, G. D.; Nichols, P. J.; West, B. O. Polyhedron 1990, 9, 777-779.
- 63. Fosse, N.; Joubert, O.; Ganne, M.; Brohan, L. Solid State Sci. 2001, 3, 121-132.
- 64. Limberg, C.; Wistuba, T. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 64, 6169-6176.
- 65. Mazurek, W.; Nichols, P. J.; West, B. O. Polyhedron 1991, 10, 753-762.
- 66. Danopoulos, A. A.; Wilkinson, G.; Sweet, T. K. N.; Hursthouse, M. B. Polyhedron 1996, 15, 873-879.
- 67. Brauer, S. L.; Wetterhahn, K. E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 3001-3007.
- 68. Brauer, S. L.; Hneihen, A. S.; McBride, J. S.; Wetterhahn, K. E. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 373-381.
- 69. Meloni, P. A.; Czernuszewicz, R. S. Vibrat. Spectrosc. 1993, 5, 205-213.
- 70. Dickman, M. H.; Pope, M. T. Chem. Rev. 1994, 94, 569-584.
- 71. Inada, Y.; Funahashi, S. Z. Naturforsch. B: Chem. Sci. 1997, 52, 711-718.
- 72. Beck, M. T.; Nagy, I. P.; Székely, G. Int. J. Chem. Kinet. 1991, 23, 881-896.
- 73. Perez-Benito, J. F.; Arias, C. J. Phys. Chem. A 1997, 101, 4726-4733.
- 74. El-Ayaan, U.; Reisacher, R.; Linert, W. J. Chem. Res., Synop. 1999, 521.
- Pattison, D. I.; Davies, M. J.; Levina, A.; Dixon, N. E.; Lay, P. A. Chem. Res. Toxicol. 2001, 14, 500-510.
 Valentin, C. D.; Gisdakis, P.; Yudanov, I. V.; Roesch, N. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 65, 2996-3004.
- 77. Gili, P.; Lorenzo-Luis, P. A. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1999, 193-195, 747-768.
- 78. Drücke, S.; Wieghardt, K.; Nuber, B.; Weiss, J.; Fleischhauer, H.-P.; Gehring, S.; Haase, W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989, 111, 8622-8631.
- 79. Jameson, G. B. Acta Crystallogr. 1986, C42, 984-987.
- 80. Norquist, A. J.; Heier, K. R.; Halasyamani, P. S.; Stern, C. L.; Poeppelmeier, K. R. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 2015–2019.
- 81. Fernandez-Gonzalez, L.; Gonzalez-Silgo, C.; Gonzalez-Platas, J.; Gili, P.; Martin-Zarza, P. Acta Crystallogr. 2001, E57, M43-M45.
- 82. Andreev, G. V.; Antipin, M. Y.; Fedosees, A. M.; Budantseva, N. A. Crystallogr. Rep. 2001, 46, 383-384.
- 83. Curda, J.; Peters, E. M.; Klein, W.; Jansen, M. Z. Kristallogr.- New Cryst. Struct. 2001, 216, 180.
- 84. Gasiorowski, K.; Szyba, K.; Wozniak, D.; Cieślak-Golonka, M.; Rzepka-Materny, M. BioMetals 1998, 11, 175-181.
- 85. Aeungmaitrepirom, W.; Hagege, A.; Asfari, Z.; Vicens, J.; Leroy, M. J. Inclusion Phenom. Molec. Recogn. Chem. 2001, 40. 225-229.
- 86. Zouhri, A.; Ernst, B.; Burgard, M. Sep. Sci. Technol. 1999, 34, 1891-1905.
- 87. Mitewa, M.; Bonchev, P. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1985, 61, 241-272.
- 88. Lay, P. A.; Levina, A. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 7709-7717.
- 89. Levina, A.; Bailey, A. M.; Champion, G.; Lay, P. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 6208-6216.
- 90. Das, A. K.; Roy, A.; Saha, B.; Mohanty, R. K.; Das, M. J. Phys. Org. Chem. 2001, 14, 333-342.
- 91. Wiberg, K. B. In Oxidation in Organic Chemistry. Part A; Wiberg, K. B., Ed., Plenum Press: New York, 1965, pp 69–184.
- 92. Tajbakhsh, M.; Bakooie, H.; Heravi, M. M.; Ajami, D.; Ghassemzadeh, M. Int. J. Chem. 2001, 11, 27-29.
- 93. Heravi, M. M.; Hekmatshoar, R.; Beheshtiha, Y. S.; Ghassemzadeh, M. Monatsh. Chem. 2001, 132, 651-654.
- 94. Gruttadauria, M.; Liotta, L. F.; Noto, R.; Deganello, G. Tetrahedron Lett. 2001, 42, 5199-5201.
- 95. Lakouraj, M. M.; Keyvan, A. J. Chem. Res., Synop. 1999, 206-207.
- 96. Muzart, J. Chem. Rev. 1992, 92, 113-140.
- 97. Riahi, A.; Hénin, F.; Muzart, J. Tetrahedron Lett. 1999, 40, 2303-2306.
- 98. Muzart, J.; N'Aït Ajjou, A. New J. Chem. 1994, 18, 731-736.
- 99. Yamazaki, S. Tetrahedron Lett. 2001, 42, 3355-3357.
- 100. Muzart, J.; N'Aït Ajjou, A. J. Mol. Catal. 1993, 84, L15-L19.
- 101. Boitsov, S.; Songstad, J.; Muzart, J. J. Chem. Soc. Perkin Trans. 2 2001, 2318-2323.
- 102. Liang-wen, X.; Shihong, L.; Bi-xian, P. Appl. Opt. 1998, 37, 3678-3684.
- 103. Colon, G.; Hidalgo, M. C.; Navio, J. A. Langmuir 2001, 17, 7174-7177.
- 104. Kimbrough, D. E.; Cohen, Y.; Winer, A. M.; Creelman, L.; Mabuni, C. Crit. Rev. Environ. Sci. Techn. 1999, 29, 1–46.
- 105. Perez-Benito, J. F.; Arias, C. New J. Chem. 2001, 25, 1438-1446.
- 106. Banerjee, D.; Nesbit, H. W. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 1999, 63, 1671-1687.
- 107. Bajt, S.; Clark, S. B.; Sutton, R.; Rivers, M. L.; Smith, J. V. Anal. Chem. 1993, 65, 1800-1804.
- 108. Szulczewski, M. D.; Helmke, P. A.; Bleam, W. F. Environ. Sci. Technol. 2001, 35, 1134-1141.
- 109. Dillon, C. T.; Lay, P. A.; Cholewa, M.; Legge, G. J. F.; Bonin, A. M.; Collins, T. J.; Kostka, K. L.; Shea-McCarthy, G. Chem. Res. Toxicol. 1997, 10, 533-535.
- 110. Cervantes, C.; Campos-García, J.; Devars, S.; Gutiérrez-Corona, F.; Loza-Tavera, H.; Torres-Guzmán, J. C.; Moreno-Sánchez, R. FEMS Microbiol. Rev. 2001, 25, 335-347.
- 111. IARC Monographs on the Evaluation of Carcinogenic Risk to Humans. Vol. 49: Chromium, Nickel and Welding, International Agency for Research on Cancer: Lyon, 1990.
- 112. International Agency for Research on Cancer. Overall Evaluation of Carcinogenicity to Humans 2001. http:// www.iarc.fr.
- 113. Pellerin, C.; Booker, S. M. Environ. Health Perspect. 2000, 108, A402-A407.
- 114. Wynn, P. C.; Bishop, C. Plat. Surf. Finish. 2001, 88, 12-14.
- 115. Duclos, D. Adv. Mater. Proc. 2001, 159, 49-51.
- 116. Gibb, H. J.; Lees, P. S. J.; Pinsky, P. F.; Rooney, B. C. Am. J. Ind. Med. 2000, 38, 127-131.
- 117. Gibb, H. J.; Lees, P. S. J.; Pinsky, P. F.; Rooney, B. C. Am. J. Ind. Med. 2000, 38, 115-126.
- 118. Steinpress, M. G.; Ward, A. C. Ground Water 2001, 39, 321-322.
- 119. Costa, M. Crit. Rev. Toxicol. 1997, 27, 431-442.
- 120. De Flora, S. Carcinogenesis 2000, 21, 533-541.
- 121. Connett, P. H.; Wetterhahn, K. E. Struct. Bonding (Berlin) 1983, 54, 93-124.
- 122. Herberhold, M.; Kremnitz, W.; Razavi, A.; Thewalt, U. Angew. Chem. 1985, 97, 603-604.
- 123. Morse, D. B.; Rauchfuss, T. B.; Wilson, S. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1988, 110, 8234-8235.
- 124. Noh, S.-K.; Heintz, R. A.; Haggerty, B. S.; Rheingold, A. L.; Theopold, K. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 1892-1893.
- 125. Danopoulos, A. A.; Hussain-Bates, B.; Hursthouse, M. B.; Leung, W.-H.; Wilkinson, G. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1990, 1678-1679.
- 126. Leung, W.-H.; Danopoulos, A. A.; Wilkinson, G.; Hussain-Bates, B.; Hursthouse, M. B. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1991, 2051-2061.
- 127. Leung, W.-H.; Wu, M. C.; Wong, T. K. T.; Wong, W. T. Inorg. Chim. Acta 2000, 304, 134–136. 128. Leung, W.-H.; Wu, M.-C.; Wong, K.-Y.; Wang, Y. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1994, 1659–1663.
- 129. Tennstedt, A.; Kniep, R.; Hüber, M.; Haase, W. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1995, 621, 511-515.
- 130. Bendix, J.; Deeth, R. J.; Weyhermüller, T.; Bill, E.; Wieghardt, K. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 930-938.
- 131. Bendix, J.; Meyer, K.; Weyhermüller, T.; Bill, E.; Metzler-Nolte, N.; Wieghardt, K. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 1767-1775.
- 132. Che, C.-M.; Ma, J.-X.; Wong, W.-T.; Lai, T.-F.; Poon, C.-K. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 27, 2547-2548.
- 133. Azuma, N.; Imori, Y.; Yoshida, H.; Tajima, K.; Li, Y.; Yamauchi, J. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1997, 266, 29-36.
- 134. Bendix, J.; Wilson, S. R.; Prussak-Wieckowska, T. Acta Crystallogr. 1998, C54, 923-925.
- 135. Hori, A.; Ozawa, T.; Yoshida, H.; Imori, Y.; Kuribayashi, Y.; Nakano, E.; Azuma, N. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1998, 281, 207-213
- 136. Tsuchimoto, M.; Yoshioka, N.; Ohba, S. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 1045-1049.
- 137. Meyer, K.; Bendix, J.; Bill, E.; Weyhermüller, T.; Wieghardt, K. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 5180-5188.
- 138. Groves, J. T.; Takahashi, T.; Butler, W. M. Inorg. Chem. 1983, 22, 884-887.
- 139. Neely, F. L.; Bottomley, L. A. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 5432-5434.
- 140. Wang, C.-C.; Tang, T.-H.; Wang, Y. J. Phys. Chem. A 2000, 104, 9566-9572.
- 141. Odom, A. L.; Mindiola, D. J.; Cummins, C. C. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 3290-3295.
- 142. Gahan, B.; Garner, D. C.; Hill, L. H.; Mabbs, F. E.; Hargrave, K. D.; McPhail, A. T. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1977. 1726-1729.
- 143. Wood, R. M.; Abboud, K. A.; Palenik, R. C.; Palenik, G. J. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 2065–2068.
- 144. Dalal, N. S.; Millar, J. M.; Jagadeesh, M. S.; Seehra, M. S. J. Chem. Phys. 1981, 74, 1916–1923.
- 145. Nishino, H.; Kochi, J. K. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1990, 174, 93-102.
- 146. Krumpolc, M.; DeBoer, B. G.; Roček, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1978, 100, 145-153.
- 147. Judd, R. J.; Hambley, T. W.; Lay, P. A. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1989, 2205-2210.
- 148. Codd, R.; Levina, A.; Zhang, L.; Hambley, T. W.; Lay, P. A. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 990-997.
- 149. Wistuba, T.; Limberg, C.; Kircher, P. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1999, 38, 3037-3039.
- 150. Srinivasan, K.; Kochi, J. K. Inorg. Chem. 1985, 24, 4671-4679.
- 151. Samsel, E. G.; Srinivasan, K.; Kochi, J. K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1985, 107, 7606-7617.
- 152. Meier-Callahan, A. E.; Gray, H. B.; Gross, Z. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 3605-3607.
- 153. Collins, T. J.; Slebodnick, C.; Uffelman, E. S. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 3433-3436.
- 154. Headlam, H. A.; Weeks, C. L.; Turner, P.; Hambley, T. W.; Lay, P. A. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 5097-5105.
- 155. Farrell, R. P.; Lay, P. A. Comments Inorg. Chem. 1992, 13, 133-175.
- 156. Barr-David, G.; Charara, M.; Codd, R.; Farrell, R. P.; Irwin, J. A.; Lay, P. A.; Bramley, R.; Brumby, S.; Ji, J.-Y.; Hanson, G. R. J. Chem. Soc., Faraday Trans. 1995, 91, 1207-1216.

- 157. Goodgame, D. M. L.; Joy, A. M. J. Inorg. Biochem. 1986, 26, 219-224.
- 158. Goodgame, D. M. L.; Joy, A. M. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1987, 135, 115-118.
- 159. Kitagawa, S.; Seki, H.; Kametani, F.; Sakurai, H. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1988, 152, 251-255.
- 160. O'Brien, P.; Pratt, J.; Swanson, F. J.; Thornton, P.; Wang, G. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1990, 169, 265-269.
- 161. Branca, M.; Dessí, A.; Kozlowski, H.; Micera, G.; Swiatek, J. J. Inorg. Biochem. 1990, 39, 217-226.
- 162. Larin, G. M.; Tuiebaev, M. K.; Minin, V. V. Rus. J. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 37, 1177-1180.
- 163. Quiros, M.; Goodgame, D. M. L. Polyhedron 1992, 11, 1-5.
- 164. Bakac, A.; Wang, W.-D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 10325-10326.
- 165. Zhang, L.; Lay, P. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 12624-12637.
- 166. Sugden, K. D.; Wetterhahn, K. E. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 3727-3728.
- 167. Zhang, L.; Lay, P. A. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 1729-1733.
- 168. Fonkeng, B. S.; Moghaddas, S.; Bose, R. N. J. Inorg. Biochem. 1998, 72, 163-171.
- 169. Codd, R.; Lay, P. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 7864-7876.
- 170. Signorella, S.; Daier, V.; García, S.; Cargnello, R.; González, J. C.; Rizzotto, M.; Sala, L. F. Carbohydr. Res. 1999, 316, 14-25.
- 171. Signorella, S.; Frascaroli, M. I.; García, S.; Santoro, M.; González, J. C.; Palopoli, C.; Daier, V.; Casado, N.; Sala, L. F. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 2000, 1617-1623.
- 172. Roldán, V. P.; Daier, V. A.; Goodman, B.; Santoro, M. I.; González, J. C.; Calisto, N.; Signorella, S. R.; Sala, L. F. Helv. Chim. Acta 2000, 83, 3211-3228.
- 173. Rizzotto, M.; Moreno, V.; Signorella, S.; Daier, V.; Sala, L. F. Polyhedron 2000, 19, 417-423.
- 174. Bakac, A.; Wang, W.-D. Inorg. Chim. Acta 2000, 297, 27-35.
- 175. Pattison, D. I.; Lay, P. A.; Davies, M. J. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 2729-2739.
- 176. Dillon, C. T.; Lay, P. A.; Bonin, A. M.; Cholewa, M.; Legge, G. J. F. Chem. Res. Toxicol. 2000, 13, 742-748.
- 177. Dillon, C. T.; Lay, P. A.; Bonin, A. M.; Dixon, N. E.; Sulfab, Y. Aust. J. Chem. 2000, 53, 411-424.
- 178. Gaggelli, E.; Berti, F.; Gaggelli, N.; Maccotta, A.; Valensin, G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 8858-8859.
- 179. Headlam, H. A.; Lay, P. A. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 78-86.
- 180. Signorella, S.; Daier, V.; Santoro, M.; García, S.; Palopoli, C.; González, J. C.; Korecz, L.; Rockenbauer, A.; Sala, L. F. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 1829-1833.
- 181. Branca, M.; Dessí, A.; Kozlowski, H.; Micera, G.; Serra, M. V. *FEBS Lett.* **1989**, *257*, 52–54. 182. Sakurai, H.; Takechi, K.; Tsuboi, H.; Yasui, H. *J. Inorg. Biochem.* **1999**, *76*, 71–80.
- 183. Codd, R.; Lay, P. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 11799-11800.
- 184. Ueno, S.; Kashimoto, T.; Susa, N.; Furukawa, Y.; Ishii, M.; Yokoi, K.; Yasuno, M.; Sasaki, Y. F.; Ueda, J.; Nishimura, Y.; Sugiyama, M. Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. 2001, 170, 56-62.
- 185. Yuann, J.-M. P.; Liu, K. J.; Hamilton, J. W.; Wetterhahn, K. E. Carcinogenesis 1999, 20, 1267-1275.
- 186. Liu, K. J.; Mäder, K.; Shi, X.; Swartz, H. M. Magn. Reson. Med. 1997, 38, 524-525.
- 187. Liu, K. J.; Shi, X.; Jiang, J.; Goda, F.; Dalal, N.; Swartz, H. M. Ann. Clin. Lab. Sci. 1996, 26, 176-184.
- 188. Appenroth, K. J.; Bischoff, M.; Gabrys, H.; Stoeckel, J.; Swartz, H. M.; Walczak, T.; Winnefeld, K. J. Inorg. Biochem. 2000, 78, 235-242.
- 189. Farrell, R. P.; Lay, P. A.; Levina, A.; Maxwell, I. A.; Bramley, R.; Brumby, S.; Ji, J.-Y. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 3159-3166.
- 190. Testa, J. J.; Grela, M. A.; Litter, M. I. Langmuir 2001, 17, 3515-3517.
- 191. Lafond, C.; Pizzocaro, C.; Lessard, R. A.; Bolte, M. Opt. Eng. 2000, 39, 610-615.
- 192. Chappel, J.; Chiswell, B.; Canning, A. Talanta 1998, 46, 23-28.
- 193. Vishnevskaya, G. P.; Safin, R. S.; Frolova, E. N. Rus. J. Phys. Chem. 1999, 73, 628-632.
- 194. Bramley, R.; Ji, J. Y.; Judd, R. J.; Lay, P. A. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 3089-3094.
- 195. Carruthers, L. M.; Closken, C. L.; Link, K. L.; Mahapatro, S. N.; Bikram, M.; Du, J.-L.; Eaton, S. S.; Eaton, G. R. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 3529-3534.
- 196. Eaton, G. R.; Eaton, S. S. J. Magn. Reson. 1999, 136, 63-68.
- 197. Fujii, H.; Yoshimura, T.; Kamada, H. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 1122-1127.
- 198. Patchkovskii, S.; Ziegler, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 3506-3516.
- 199. Branca, M.; Micera, G.; Segre, U.; Dessí, A. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 2404-2408.
- 200. Branca, M.; Dessí, A.; Micera, G.; Sanna, D. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 578-581.
- 201. Krumpolc, M.; Roček, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1979, 101, 3206-3209.
- 202. Krumpolc, M.; Roček, J. Inorg. Chem. 1985, 24, 617-621.
- 203. Gould, E. S. Acc. Chem. Res. 1986, 19, 66-72.
- 204. Bose, R. N.; Fonkeng, B.; Barr-David, G.; Farrell, R. P.; Judd, R. J.; Lay, P. A.; Sangster, D. F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 7139-7144.
- 205. Gould, E. S.; Ghosh, M. C. Res. Chem. Intermed. 1998, 24, 915-918.
- 206. Bharathy, J. B.; Ganesan, T. K.; Sheriff Ambalam, I. A. M.; Rajagopal, S. Tetrahedron 1997, 53, 1131-1144.
- 207. Ganesan, T. K.; Rajagopal, S.; Bharathy, J. B. Tetrahedron 2000, 56, 5885-5892.
- 208. Levina, A.; Lay, P. A.; Dixon, N. E. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 385-395.
- 209. Levina, A.; Barr-David, R.; Codd, R.; Lay, P. A.; Dixon, N. E.; Hammershøi, A.; Hendry, P. Chem. Res. Toxicol. **1999**, *12*, 371–381.
- 210. Sugden, K. D.; Stearns, D. M. J. Environ. Pathol., Toxicol. Oncol. 2000, 19, 215-230.
- 211. Rihter, B.; Masnovi, J. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1988, 35-37.
- 212. Rihter, B.; SriHari, S.; Hunter, S.; Masnovi, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 3918-3924.
- 213. Sevvel, R.; Rajagopal, S.; Srinivasan, C.; Alhaji, N. I.; Chellamani, A. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 65, 3334-3340.
- 214. Dalton, C. T.; Ryan, K. M.; Wall, V. M.; Bousquet, C.; Gilheany, D. G. *Topics Catal.* **1998**, *5*, 75–91. 215. O'Mahony, C. P.; McGarrigle, E. M.; Renehan, M. F.; Ryan, K. M.; Kerrigan, N. J.; Bousquet, C.; Gilheany, D. G. Org. Lett. 2001, 3, 3435-3438.
- 216. Amor Nait Ajjou, J.; Rice, G. L.; Scott, S. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 13436-13443.
- 217. Amor Nait Ajjou, J.; Scott, S. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 8968-8976.
- 218. Oki, A. R.; Zhang, H.; Maguire, J. A.; Hosmane, N. S.; Ro, H.; Hatfield, W. E. Organometallics 1991, 10, 2996–2998.

- 219. Barron, A. R.; Salt, J. E.; Wilkinson, G.; Motevalli, M.; Hursthouse, M. B. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1987, 2947–2954.
- 220. Schneider, S.; Filippou, A. C. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 4674-4677.
- 221. Hess, A.; Horz, M. R.; Liable-Sands, L. M.; Lindner, D. C.; Rheingold, A. L.; Theopold, K. H. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1999, 38, 166–168.
- 222. Reardon, D.; Kovacs, I.; Ruppa, K. B. P.; Feghali, K.; Gambarotta, S.; Petersen, J. Chem. Eur. J. 1997, 3, 1482–1488.
- 223. Arif, A. M.; Hefner, J. G.; Jones, R. A.; Albright, T. A.; Kang, S. K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108, 1701–1703.
- 224. Firman, T. K.; Ziegler, T. J. Organomet. Chem. 2001, 635, 153-164.
- 225. Groves, J. T.; Kruper, W. J.; Haushalter, R. C.; Butler, W. M. Inorg. Chem. 1982, 21, 1363-1368.
- 226. Lin, H.-M.; Sheu, H.-S.; Wang, C.-C.; Che, C.-M.; Wang, Y. J. Chin. Chem. Soc. (Taipei) 1999, 46, 487-493.
- 227. Watanabe, Y.; Fujii, H. Struct. Bonding (Berlin) 2000, 97, 61-89.
- 228. Moubaraki, B.; Murray, K. S.; Nichols, P. J.; Thomson, S.; West, B. O. Polyhedron 1994, 13, 485-495.
- Meier-Callahan, A. E.; Di Bilio, A. J.; Simkhovich, L.; Mahammed, A.; Goldberg, I.; Gray, H. B.; Gross, Z. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 6788–6793.
- 230. Dionne, M.; Jubb, J.; Jenkins, H.; Wong, S.; Gambarotta, S. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 1874-1879.
- 231. Bakac, A.; Espenson, J. H. Acc. Chem. Res. 1993, 26, 519-523.
- 232. Bakac, A. Prog. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 43, 267-351.
- 233. Bakac, A.; Guzei, I. A. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 736-740.
- 234. Bakac, A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 1092-1097.
- 235. Nemes, A.; Bakac, A. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 2720-2724.
- 236. Scott, S. L.; Bakac, A.; Espenson, J. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 4205-4213.
- 237. Zhao, Z.; Rush, J. D.; Holcman, J.; Bielski, B. H. J. Radiat. Phys. Chem. 1995, 45, 257-263.
- 238. Ghosh, M. C.; Gould, E. S. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 491-494.
- 239. Ghosh, M. C.; Gelerinter, E.; Gould, E. S. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 702-705.
- 240. Gould, E. S. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1994, 135, 651-684.
- 241. Levina, A.; Lay, P. A.; Foran, G. J. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1999, 2339-2340.
- 242. Codd, R.; Lay, P. A.; Levina, A. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 5440-5448.
- 243. Ghosh, M. C.; Gould, E. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 3167-3173.
- 244. Babich, O. A.; Gould, E. S. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 5708-5709.
- 245. Kumar, M.; Ghosh, S. P.; Koley, A. P.; Ghosh, M. C. J. Chem. Res., Synop. 2000, 448-449.
- 246. Kumar, M.; Ghosh, S. P.; Koley, A. P.; Ghosh, M. C. Indian J. Chem. A 2001, 40, 827-830.
- 247. Lay, P. A.; Levina, A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 6704-6714.
- 248. Redshaw, C.; Wilkinson, G.; Hussain-Bates, B.; Hursthouse, M. B. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1992, 1803–1811.
- 249. Hesschenbrouck, J.; Solari, E.; Floriani, C.; Re, N.; Rizzoli, C.; Chiesi-Villa, A. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 2000, 191–198.
- 250. Thaler, E. G.; Rypdal, K.; Haaland, A.; Caulton, K. G. Inorg. Chem. 1989, 28, 2431-2434.
- 251. Fujdala, K. L.; Tilley, T. D. Chem. Mater. 2001, 13, 1817-1827.
- 252. Cage, B.; Leniek, R.; Dalal, N. J. Appl. Phys. 2000, 87, 6010-6012
- 253. Cage, B.; Nguyen, P.; Dalal, N. Solid State Commun. 2001, 119, 597-601.
- 254. Chandra, S. K.; Gelerinter, E.; Gould, E. S. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 4057-4061.
- 255. Chandra, S. K.; Gelerinter, E.; Gould, E. S. Res. Chem. Intermed. 1996, 22, 43-52.
- 256. Swavey, S.; Manivannan, V.; Gould, E. S. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 1312-1315.
- 257. Ohashi, K.; Aramaki, M.; Kaise, M.; Yamamoto, K. Anal. Sci. 1989, 5, 73-77.
- 258. Sugden, K. D.; Wetterhahn, K. E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 10811-10818.
- 259. Bose, R. N.; Moghaddas, S.; Gelerinter, E. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 1987-1994.
- 260. Das, A. K. Inorg. React. Mech. (Amsterdam) 1999, 1, 161-168.
- 261. Mønsted, O.; Nord, G.; Pagsberg, P. Acta Chem. Scand. 1987, A41, 104-109.
- 262. Vinayakumar, C. K.; Dey, G. R.; Kishore, K.; Moorthy, P. N. Radiat. Phys. Chem. 1996, 48, 737-742.
- 263. Stearns, D. M.; Silveira, S. M.; Wolf, K. K.; Luke, A. M. Mutat. Res. 2002, 513, 135-142.
- 264. Zhou, M.; Zhang, L.; Shao, L.; Wang, W.; Fan, K.; Qin, Q. J. Phys. Chem. A 2001, 105, 10747-10752.
- 265. Zhou, M.; Zhang, L.; Qin, Q. J. Phys. Chem. A 2001, 105, 6407-6413.
- 266. Coey, J. M. D.; Venkatesan, M. J. Appl. Phys. 2002, 91, 8345-8350.
- 267. Marshall, S. A.; Yu, C.; Zhang, Y. N. Phys. Stat. Sol. B 1988, 149, 691-695.
- 268. Heyns, A. M.; Harden, P. M. J. Phys. Chem. Solids 1998, 60, 277-284.
- 269. Hong, Z.; Zheng, H.; Chen, J.; Ge, J. Appl. Phys. B 2001, 73, 205-207.
- 270. Mønsted, L.; Mønsted, O. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1989, 94, 109-150.
- 271. Lay, P. A. Comments Inorg. Chem. 1991, 11, 235-284.
- 272. Lay, P. A. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1991, 110, 213-233.
- 273. Endicott, J. F.; Perkovic, M. W.; Heeg, M. J.; Ryu, C. K.; Thompson, D. Adv. Chem. Ser. 1997, 253, 199-220.
- 274. Kirk, A. D. Chem. Rev. 1999, 99, 1607-1640.
- 275. Irwin, G.; Kirk, A. D. Coord. Chem. Rev. 2001, 211, 25-43.
- 276. Derwahl, A.; Wasgestian, F.; House, D. A.; Robinson, W. T. Coord. Chem. Rev. 2001, 211, 45-67.
- 277. Kane-Maguire, N. A. P.; Wheeler, J. F. Coord. Chem. Rev. 2001, 211, 145-162.
- 278. Irwin, G.; Kirk, A. D.; Mackay, I.; Nera, J. Inorg. Chem. 2002, 41, 874-883.
- 279. Ferlay, S.; Mallah, T.; Ouahes, R.; Veillet, P.; Verdaguer, M. Nature 1995, 378, 701-703.
- 280. Otsuka, T.; Sekine, A.; Fujigasaki, N.; Ohashi, Y.; Kaizu, Y. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 3406-3412.
- 281. Otsuka, T.; Takahashi, N.; Fujigasaki, N.; Sekine, A.; Ohashi, Y.; Kaizu, Y. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 1340–1347.
- 282. Schwarten, M.; Babel, D. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 2000, 626, 1921-1928.
- 283. Schwarten, M.; Ziegler, B.; Witzel, M.; Babel, D. Z. Naturforsch., B: Chem. Sci. 1997, 52, 391-397.
- 284. Figgis, B. N.; Kucharski, E. S.; Vrtis, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 176-181.
- 285. Dennison, C.; Kyritsis, P.; Kalverda, A. P.; Canters, G. W.; McFarlane, W.; Sykes, A. G. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1995, 3395–3400.

- 286. Pierloot, K.; Van Praet, E.; Vanquickenborne, L. G.; Roos, B. O. J. Phys. Chem. 1993, 97, 12220-12228.
- 287. Acevedo, R.; Passman, M.; Navarro, G. Acta Phys. Pol., A 2001, 99, 215-231.
- 288. Beck, M. T. Pure Appl. Chem. 1987, 59, 1703-1720.
- 289. Zinato, E.; Riccieri, P. Coord. Chem. Rev. 2001, 211, 5-24.
- 290. Zinato, E. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1994, 129, 195-245.
- 291. Espenson, J. H. Acc. Chem. Res. 1992, 25, 222-227.
- 292. Shaham, N.; Cohen, H.; Meyerstein, D. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1999, 3805-3808.
- 293. Shaham, N.; Cohen, H.; Meyerstein, D.; Bill, E. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 2000, 3082-3085.
- 294. Shi, S.; Espenson, J. H.; Bakac, A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 1841-1846.
- 295. Ogino, H.; Shoji, M.; Abe, Y.; Shimura, M.; Shimoi, M. Inorg. Chem. 1987, 26, 2542-2546.
- 296. Shoji, M.; Shimura, M.; Ogino, H.; Ito, T. Chem. Lett. 1986, 995-998.
- 297. Abe, Y.; Ogino, H. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1989, 62, 56-60.
- 298. Bakac, A.; Butkovic, V.; Espenson, J. H.; Orhanovic, M. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 5886-5888.
- 299. Bakac, A.; Butkovic, V.; Espenson, J. H.; Orhanovic, M. Inorg. Chim. Acta 2000, 300-302, 280-284.
- 300. Nishimura, K.; Kuribayashi, H.; Yamamoto, A.; Ikeda, S. J. Organometal. Chem. 1972, 37, 317-329.
- 301. Rüther, T.; Braussaud, N.; Cavell, K. J. Organometallics 2001, 20, 1247-1250.
- 302. Fryzuk, M. D.; Leznoff, D. B.; Rettig, S. J.; Young, J. V. G. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1999, 147-154. 303. Gibson, V. C.; Newton, C.; Redshaw, C.; Solan, G. A.; White, A. J. P.; Williams, D. J.; Maddox, P. J. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 1998, 1651-1652.
- 304. Gibson, V. C.; Mastroianni, S.; Newton, C.; Redshaw, C.; Solan, G. A.; White, A. J. P.; Williams, D. J. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 2000, 1969-1971.
- 305. Theopold, K. H. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 15-24.
- 306. Figgis, B. N.; Sobolev, A. N.; Reynolds, P. A. Acta Crystallogr. 1998, B54, 613-625.
- 307. Tebbe, K.-F.; Gilles, T. Z. Naturforsch., B: Chem. Sci. 1998, 53, 1127-1134.
- 308. Dieterich, S.; Straehle, J. Z. Naturforsch., B: Chem. Sci. 1993, 48, 1574-1580.
- 309. Ohba, S.; Fujita, T.; Bernal, I. Acta Crystallogr. 1995, C51, 1481-1483.
- 310. Pons, J.; Solans, A.; Bayon, J. C.; Molins, E.; Casabó, J.; Palacio, F.; Plana, F. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1990, 169, 91-95.
- 311. Hatfield, W. E.; Helms, J. H.; Singh, P.; Reiff, W. M.; Takacs, L.; Ensling, J. Transition Met. Chem. (London) 1992, 17, 204-208.
- 312. Nielsen, F. S.; Lee, P.; Coppens, P. Acta Crystallogr. 1986, B42, 359-364.
- 313. Lazzarini, E.; Stadlbauer, J. M.; Venkateswaran, K.; Gillis, H. A.; Porter, G. B.; Walker, D. C. J. Phys. Chem. 1994, 98, 8050-8052.
- 314. Fantola Lazzarini, A. L.; Lazzarini, E. Struct. Chem. 1992, 3, 407-415.
- 315. Fantola Lazzarini, A. L.; Lazzarini, E. Struct. Chem. 1991, 2, 409-418.
- 316. Doclo, K.; Corte, D. D.; Daul, C.; Guedel, H.-U. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 3842-3847.
- 317. Comba, P.; Hambley, T. W.; Stroehle, M. Helv. Chim. Acta 1995, 78, 2042-2047.
- 318. Bernhardt, P. V.; Comba, P. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 2798-2803.
- 319. Acevedo, R.; Diaz, G. An. Quim., Ser. B 1988, 84, 176-185.
- 320. Dixon, N. E.; Lawrance, G. A.; Lay, P. A.; Sargeson, A. M. Inorg. Chem. 1984, 23, 2940-2947.
- 321. Curtis, N. J.; Lawrance, G. A. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1985, 100, 275-278.
- 322. Mettendorf, R.; Buchem, R.; Tebbe, K. F.; Wasgestian, F.; Lober, J. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1996, 245, 17-26.
- 323. Andersen, P.; Døssing, A.; Glerup, J.; Rude, M. Acta Chem. Scand. 1990, 44, 346-352.
- 324. Døssing, A.; Engberg, P.; Hazell, R. Acta Chem. Scand. 1997, 51, 849-854.
- 325. luel-Brockdorff, G.; Weihe, H.; Glerup, J. Acta Chem. Scand. 1997, 51, 1125-1127.
- 326. House, D. A.; Wang, J.; Derwahl, A. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1996, 248, 93-97.
- 327. House, D. A.; Wang, J.; Nieuwenhuyzen, M. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1995, 237, 37-46.
- 328. Howard, S. A.; Hardcastle, K. I. J. Crystallogr. Spectrosc. Res. 1985, 15, 643-649.
- 329. Modec, B.; Brenčič, J. V.; Giester, G. J. Chem. Crystallogr. 2000, 30, 345-349.
- 330. Hambley, T. W.; Lay, P. A. Inorg. Chem. 1986, 25, 4553-4558.
- 331. Brenčič, J. V.; Leban, I.; Zule, J. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1985, 521, 199-206.
- 332. Rheingold, A. L.; Sheats, G. F. Acta Crystallogr. 1987, C43, 995-996.
- 333. Pons, J.; Casabó, J.; Solans, X.; Font Altaba, M. Polyhedron 1987, 6, 1239-1241.
- 334. House, D. A.; McKee, V.; Robinson, W. T. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1989, 157, 15-27.
- 335. Clement, O.; Onyido, I.; Buncel, E. Can. J. Chem. 2000, 78, 474-486.
- 336. Buncel, E.; Clement, O.; Onyido, I. Acc. Chem. Res. 2000, 33, 672-678.
- 337. Clark, C. R.; Blackman, A. G.; Clarkson, A. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 8131-8132.
- 338. Armstrong, F. A.; Driscoll, P. C.; Hill, H. A. O.; Redfield, C. J. Inorg. Biochem. 1986, 28, 171-180.
- 339. Scott, E. V.; Zon, G.; Marzilli, L. G. Prog. Clin. Biochem. Med. 1989, 10, 185-204.
- 340. Mazzini, S.; Mondelli, R.; Ragg, E.; Scaglioni, L. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 2 1995, 285-294.
- 341. Armstrong, F. A.; Bond, A. M.; Hill, H. A. O.; Oliver, B. N.; Psalti, I. S. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989, 111, 9185-9189.
- 342. Rivera, M.; Wells, M. A.; Walker, F. A. Biochemistry 1994, 33, 2161-2170.
- 343. Wang, Y.-H.; Cui, J.; Sun, Y.-L.; Yao, P.; Zhuang, J.-H.; Xie, Y.; Huang, Z.-X. J. Electroanal. Chem. 1997, 428, 39-45
- 344. Black, C. B.; Foster, M.; Cowan, J. A. J. Biol. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 1, 500-506.
- 345. Ware, D. C.; Siim, B. G.; Robinson, K. G.; Denny, W. A.; Brothers, P. J.; Clark, G. R. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 3750-3757
- 346. Kitano, M.; Ishimaru, Y.; Inoue, K.; Koga, N.; Iwamura, H. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 6012-6019.
- 347. Iwamura, H.; Koga, N. Pure Appl. Chem. 1999, 71, 231-238.
- 348. Palacios, A. A.; Alemany, P.; Alvarez, S. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 707-715.
- 349. Koehn, R. D.; Kociok-Koehn, G.; Haufe, M. Chem. Ber. 1996, 129, 25-27.
- 350. Kepert, C. J.; Kurmoo, M.; Truter, M. R.; Day, P. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1997, 607-613.

- 351. Turner, S. S.; Michaut, C.; Durot, S.; Day, P.; Gelbrich, T.; Hursthouse, M. B. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 2000, 905-909.
- 352. Turner, S. S.; Le Pevelen, D.; Day, P.; Prout, K. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 2000, 2739-2744.
- 353. Turner, S. S.; Day, P.; Gelbrich, T.; Hursthouse, M. B. J. Solid State Chem. 2001, 159, 385-390.
- 354. Ganescu, I.; Patroescu, C.; Papa, I.; Ganescu, A.; Chirigiu, L.; Preda, D. Rev. Chim. (Bucharest, Rom.) 2001, 52, 23–27; Chem. Abstr. 2001, 135, 200552.
- 355. Kharitonov, S. V.; Gorelov, I. P. Pharm. Chem. J. 2000, 34, 625-627.
- 356. Yang, G.; Leng, W.; Zhang, Y.; Chen, Z.; Van Houten, J. Polyhedron 1999, 18, 1273-1278.
- 357. Kaizaki, S.; Legg, J. I. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1994, 218, 179-184.
- 358. Schoenherr, T.; Wiskemann, R.; Mootz, D. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1994, 221, 93-98.
- 359. Nierhauve, G.; Schmidtke, H.-H. J. Chem. Phys. 1997, 107, 2819-2828.
- 360. Abu-Youssef, M. A. M.; Fritzer, H. P.; Gatterer, K. Spectrochim. Acta 1993, 49A, 1633-1642.
- 361. Divan, R.; Brezeanu, M.; Antoniu, A.; Cruceru, L. Appl. Surf. Sci. 1999, 144-145, 319-323.
- 362. Gibson, V. C.; Newton, C.; Redshaw, C.; Solan, G. A.; White, A. J. P.; Williams, D. J. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1999, 827-829.
- 363. López-Alcalá, J. M.; Puerta, M. C.; González-Vilchez, F. Transition Met. Chem. (Weinheim) 1985, 10, 247-248.
- 364. López-Alcalá, J. M.; Puerta, M. C.; González-Vilchez, F. Thermochim. Acta 1985, 96, 1-6.
- 365. Moron, M. C.; Palacio, F.; Pons, J.; Casabó, J.; Solans, X.; Merabet, K. E.; Huang, D.; Shi, X.; Teo, B. K.; Carlin, R. L. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 746-753.
- 366. Pons, J.; Casabó, J.; Palacio, F.; Moron, M. C.; Solans, X.; Carlin, R. L. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1988, 146, 161-165.
- 367. Morooka, M.; Ohba, S.; Miyamae, H. Acta Crystallogr. 1992, B48, 667-672.
- 368. Shrivastava, H. Y.; Nair, B. U. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 2001, 285, 915-920.
- 369. Abdel-Khalek, A. A.; Abdel-Hady, A. E. D.; El-Shahat, M. F. Transition Met. Chem. (London) 1995, 20, 430-434.
- 370. Kurotaki, K.; Kawamura, S. J. Chem. Soc., Faraday Trans. 1993, 89, 3039-3042.
- 371. Sakabe, Y.; Sakaguchi, H.; Takayanagi, H.; Ogura, H.; Iitaka, Y. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1991, 183, 97-105.
- 372. Shanmukhappa, S.; Ramappa, P. G. Synth. React. Inorg. Met. -Org. Chem. 1997, 27, 967–983.
- 373. Searle, G. H.; House, D. A. Aust. J. Chem. 1987, 40, 361-374.
- 374. House, D. A.; Robinson, W. T. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1988, 141, 211-220.
- 375. House, D. A.; Schaffner, S.; van Eldik, R.; McAuley, A.; Zhender, M. *Inorg. Chim. Acta* 1994, 227, 11–16. 376. Derwahl, A.; Robinson, W. T.; House, D. A. *Inorg. Chim. Acta* 1996, 247, 19–28.
- 377. House, D. A.; Turnbull, M. M. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1997, 254, 401-405.
- 378. House, D. A.; Svensson, J. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1998, 278, 24-31.
- 379. Kukina, G. A.; Porai-Koshits, M. A.; Shevchenko, Y. N.; Shchurkina, V. N. Koord. Khim. 1990, 16, 189-197; Chem. Abstr. 1990, 113, 70020.
- 380. Kukina, G. A.; Porai-Koshits, M. A. Koord. Khim. 1991, 17, 805-810; Chem. Abstr. 1992, 116, 31979.
- 381. Schmalle, H. W.; Hegetschweiler, K.; Ghisletta, M. Acta Crystallogr. 1991, C47, 2047-2052.
- 382. Elliott, B. L.; Hambley, T. W.; Lawrence, G. A.; Maeder, M.; Wei, G. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1993, 1725-1730.
- 383. Perkovic, M. W.; Heeg, M. J.; Endicott, J. F. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 3140-3147.
- 384. Barnés, C. M.; Theil, E. C.; Raymond, K. N. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 2002, 99, 5195-5200.
- 385. Baker, M. V.; Brown, D. H.; Skelton, B. W.; White, A. H. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 2000, 763-768.
- 386. Haselhorst, G.; Stoetzel, S.; Strassburger, A.; Walz, W.; Wieghardt, K.; Nuber, B. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1993, 83-90
- 387. Wu, F.-J.; Stahly, G. P.; Fronczek, F. R.; Watkins, S. F. Acta Crystallogr. 1995, C51, 18-20.
- 388. Bossek, U.; Haselhorst, G.; Ross, S.; Wieghardt, K.; Nuber, B. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1994, 2041-2048.
- 389. Golding, S. W.; Hambley, T. W.; Lawrance, G. A.; Luther, S. M.; Maeder, M.; Turner, P. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1999, 1975-1980.
- 390. De Leo, M. A.; Bu, X.; Bentow, J.; Ford, P. C. Inorg. Chim. Acta 2000, 300-302, 944-950.
- 391. Derwahl, A.; Wasgestian, F.; House, D. A.; Edwards, R. A. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1999, 285, 313-317.
- 392. Kukina, G. A.; Porai-Koshits, M. A.; Gerda, V. I.; Shevchenko, Y. N.; Shchurkina, V. N. Kristallografiya 1991, 36, 1301-1303; Chem. Abstr. 1991, 115, 291683.
- 393. Kukina, G. A.; Porai-Koshits, M. A.; Gerda, V. I.; Shevchenko, Y. N.; Shchurkina, V. N. Kristallografiya 1991, 36, 1304-1306; Chem. Abstr. 1992, 116, 31943.
- 394. Friesen, D. A.; Quail, J. W.; Waltz, W. L.; Nashiem, R. E. Acta Crystallogr. 1997, C53, 687-691.
- 395. Hemmings, A. M.; Lisgarten, J. N.; Palmer, R. A.; Gazi, D. M. Acta Crystallogr. 1990, C46, 205-207.
- 396. Lessard, R. B.; Heeg, M. J.; Buranda, T.; Perkovic, M. W.; Schwarz, C. L.; Yang, R.; Endicott, J. F. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 3091-3103.
- 397. Bouckaert, J.; Maes, D.; Lisgarten, J. N.; Chattopadhyay, T. K.; Palmer, R. A.; Mazid, M. A.; Gazi, D. M. Acta Crystallogr. 1993, C49, 1361-1363.
- 398. Dealwis, C. G.; Janes, R. W.; Palmer, R. A.; Lisgarten, J. N.; Maes, D.; Flint, C. D.; Gazi, D. M. Acta Crystallogr. 1992, C48, 1754-1756.
- 399. Flores-Vélez, L. M.; Sosa-Rivadeneyra, J.; Sosa-Torres, M. E.; Rosales-Hoz, M. J.; Toscano, R. A. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1991, 3243-3247.
- 400. Forsellini, E.; Parasassi, T.; Bombieri, G.; Tobe, M. L.; Sosa, M. E. Acta Crystallogr. 1986, C42, 563-565.
- 401. Lisgarten, J. N.; Palmer, R. A.; Hemmings, A. M.; Gazi, D. M. Acta Crystallogr. 1990, C46, 396-399.
- 402. Chattopadhyay, T. K.; Palmer, R. A.; Lisgarten, J. N.; Wyns, L.; Gazi, D. M. Acta Crystallogr. 1992, C48, 1756-1759.
- 403. Beveridge, K.; Heyd, D.; Kirk, A. D. Acta Crystallogr. 1993, C49, 1063-1066.
- 404. Palmer, R. A.; Potter, B. S.; Tanriverdi, S.; Lisgarten, J. N.; Flint, C. D.; Gazi, D. M. Acta Crystallogr. 1996, C52, 1177 - 1180.
- 405. Bang, E.; Eriksen, J.; Mønsted, L.; Mønsted, O. Acta Chem. Scand. 1994, 48, 12-19.
- 406. Clegg, W. Acta Crystallogr. 1986, C42, 1463-1464.
- 407. Bang, E.; Eriksen, J.; Mønsted, O. Acta Chem. Scand. 1987, A41, 506-512.
- 408. Chandrasekhar, S.; Fortier, D. G.; McAuley, A. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 1424-1429.

- 409. Lawrance, G. A.; Martinez, M.; Skelton, B. W.; White, A. H. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1992, 823-828.
- 410. Gonzalez, G.; Martinez, M.; Rodriguez, E. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 1333-1338.
- 411. Bernhardt, P. V.; Comba, P.; Curtis, N. F.; Hambley, T. W.; Lawrance, G. A.; Maeder, M.; Siriwardena, A. *Inorg. Chem.* **1990**, *29*, 3208–3213.
- 412. Bernhardt, P. V.; Comba, P.; Hambley, T. W. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 2804-2809.
- 413. Comba, P.; Creaser, I. I.; Gahan, L. R.; Harrowfield, J. M.; Lawrance, G. A.; Martin, L. L.; Mau, A. W. H.; Sargeson, A. M.; Sasse, W. H. F.; Snow, M. R. *Inorg. Chem.* **1986**, *25*, 384–389.
- 414. Brayshaw, P. A.; Buenzli, J.-C. G.; Froidevaux, P.; Harrowfield, J. M.; Kim, Y.; Sobolev, A. N. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 2068–2076.
- 415. Köhn, R. D.; Haufe, M.; Mihan, S.; Lilge, D. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 2000, 1927–1928.
- 416. Köhn, R. D.; Haufe, M.; Kociok-Kohn, G.; Grimm, S.; Wasserscheid, P.; Keim, W. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 2000, 39, 4337-4339.
- 417. Mihan, S.; Lilge, D.; Schweier, G.; Köhn, R.; Seifert, G. (BASF Aktiengesellschaft, Germany). World Pat. Appl. 0,058,369, October 5, 2000; *Chem. Abstr:* 2000, 133, 282219.
- 418. Maas, H.; Mihan, S.; Köhn, R.; Seifert, G.; Tropsch, J. (BASF Aktiengesellschaft, Germany). PCT Int. Appl. 0,058,319, October 5, 2000; *Chem. Abstr.* 2000, *133*, 282216.
- Köhn, R. D.; Seifert, G.; Kociok-Kohn, G.; Mihan, S.; Lilge, D.; Maas, H. In Organometallic Catalysts of Olefin Polymerization, Blom, R., Ed., Springer-Verlag: Berlin, 2001; pp 147–155.
- 420. Chaudhuri, P.; Wieghardt, K. Prog. Inorg. Chem. 1987, 35, 329-436.
- 421. Bhula, R.; Osvath, P.; Weatherburn, D. C. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1988, 91, 89-213.
- 422. Chaudhuri, P.; Winter, M.; Kueppers, H. J.; Wieghardt, K.; Nuber, B.; Weiss, J. Inorg. Chem. 1987, 26, 3302-3310.
- 423. Berseth, P. A.; Sokol, J. J.; Shores, M. P.; Heinrich, J. L.; Long, J. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 9655–9662.
- 424. Jensen, K. B.; McKenzie, C. J.; Pedersen, J. Z. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 5066-5067.
- 425. Kane-Maguire, N. A. P.; Bennett, J. A.; Miller, P. K. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1983, 76, L123–L125.
- 426. Kane-Maguire, N. A. P.; Wallace, K. C.; Miller, D. B. *Inorg. Chem.* **1985**, *24*, 597–605. 427. Miller, J. B.; Chen, Y.; Perkovic, M. W. *Inorg. Chem.* **2001**, *40*, 4500–4501.
- 427. Miller, J. B., Chen, Y., Perković, M. W. *Inorg. Chem.* 2001, 40, 4500–4501. 428. Eriksen, J.; Mønsted, L.; Mønsted, O. *Acta Chem. Scand.* 1995, 49, 713–721.
- 429. Chapman, J. D.; Schneider, R. F.; Engelhardt, E. L. (Fox Chase Cancer Center, USA). PCT Int. Appl. 0,043,004, 2000; *Chem. Abstr.* **2000**, *133*, 131882.
- 430. Luck, R. L.; Gawryszewska, P.; Riehl, J. P. Acta Crystallogr. 2000, C56, e238-e239.
- 431. Casellato, U.; Graziani, R.; Maccarrone, G.; Di Bilio, A. J. J. Crystallogr. Spectrosc. Res. 1986, 16, 695-702.
- 432. Lee, K.-W.; Hoggard, P. E. Polyhedron 1989, 8, 1557-1560.
- 433. Goodwin, K. V.; Pennington, W. T.; Petersen, J. D. Inorg. Chem. 1989, 28, 2016-2018.
- 434. Walter, B. J.; Elliott, C. M. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 5924-5927.
- 435. Barker, K. D.; Barnett, K. A.; Connell, S. M.; Glaeser, J. W.; Wallace, A. J.; Wildsmith, J.; Herbert, B. J.; Wheeler, J. F.; Kane-Maguire, N. A. P. *Inorg. Chim. Acta* 2001, *316*, 41–49.
- 436. Mytykh, O. V.; Martin, S. E.; Wheeler, J. F.; Kane-Maguire, N. A. P. Inorg. Chim. Acta 2000, 311, 143-146.
- 437. Zahir, K. O. Can. J. Chem. 2001, 79, 1124-1127.
- 438. Pagliero, D.; Arguello, G. A. J. Photochem. Photobiol., A 2001, 138, 207-211.
- 439. Ronco, S.; Persing, B.; Mortinsen, R.; Barber, J.; Shotwell, S. Inorg. Chim. Acta 2000, 308, 107-115.
- 440. Pagliero, D.; Arguello, G. A.; Gsponer, H. E. J. Colloid Interface Sci. 1999, 215, 16-22.
- 441. Fan, B.; Li, R.; Cao, J.; Zhong, B. Fenzi Cuihua 1999, 13, 441-446; Chem. Abstr. 2000, 132, 209416.
- 442. Barker, K. D.; Benoit, B. R.; Bordelon, J. A.; Davis, R. J.; Delmas, A. S.; Mytykh, O. V.; Petty, J. T.; Wheeler, J. F.; Kane-Maguire, N. A. P. *Inorg. Chim. Acta* **2001**, *322*, 74–78.
- 443. Brunschwig, B. S.; DeLaive, P. J.; English, A. M.; Goldberg, M.; Gray, H. B.; Mayo, S. L.; Sutin, N. Inorg. Chem. 1985, 24, 3743–3749.
- 444. Lloyd, E.; Tomkinson, N. P.; Sykes, A. G. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1992, 753-756.
- 445. Sugden, K. D.; Burris, R. B.; Rogers, S. J. Mutat. Res. 1990, 244, 239-244.
- 446. Kortenkamp, A.; Beyersmann, D.; O'Brien, P. Toxicol. Environ. Chem. 1987, 14, 23-32.
- 447. Terasaki, Y.; Fujihara, T.; Schonherr, T.; Kaizaki, S. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1999, 295, 84-90.
- 448. Constable, E. C.; Elder, S. M.; Tocher, D. A. Polyhedron 1992, 11, 1337-1342
- 449. Grant, C. M.; Stamper, B. J.; Knapp, M. J.; Folting, K.; Huffman, J. C.; Hendrickson, D. N.; Christou, G. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1999, 3399–3405.
- 450. Shaver, A. In *Comprehensive Coordination Chemistry*; Wilkinson, G., Gillard, R. D.; McCleverty, J. A., Eds.; Pergamon Press: Oxford, 1987; Vol. 2, pp 245–260.
- 451. Abrams, M. J.; Faggiani, R.; Lock, C. J. L. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1985, 106, 69-74.
- 452. Fujihara, T.; Schönherr, T.; Kaizaki, S. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1996, 249, 135-141.
- 453. Li, C.-H.; Chen, J.-D.; Liou, L.-S.; Wang, J.-C. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1998, 269, 302-309.
- 454. Saleh, A. A. Synth. React. Inorg. Met. -Org. Chem. 1998, 28, 947-951.
- 455. Brunker, T. J.; Hascall, T.; Cowley, A. R.; Rees, L. H.; O'Hare, D. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 3170-3176.
- 456. Gorun, S. M.; Stibrany, R. T. (Exxon Research and Engineering Co., USA). U.S. Patent 5,627,164, May 6, 1997; *Chem.Abstr.***1997**, *126*, 350805.
- 457. McLachlan, G. A.; Fallon, G. D.; Spiccia, L. Acta Crystallogr. 1996, C52, 309-312.
- 458. Ceniceros-Gómez, A. E.; Barba-Behrens, N.; Quiroz-Castro, M. E.; Bernès, S.; Nöth, H.; Castillo-Blum, S. E. Polyhedron 2000, 19, 1821–1827.
- 459. Rani, D. S.; Raju, V. J.; Ananthalakshmi, P. V. Indian J. Chem. 1999, 38A, 385-387.
- 460. Dey, K.; Bhowmick, R.; Nag, S. K.; Chakraborty, K.; Biswas, S. J. Indian Chem. Soc. 1999, 76, 427-430.
- 461. Rai, P. K.; Gupta, A. K.; Prasad, R. N. Bull. Korean Chem. Soc. 1993, 14, 179-183.
- 462. Mishra, A. Indian J. Chem. 1977, 15A, 919-920.
- Ceniceros-Gómez, A. E.; King-Diaz, B.; Barba-Behrens, N.; Lotina-Hennsen, B.; Castillo-Blum, S. E. J. Agric. Food Chem. 1999, 47, 3075–3080.
- 464. Ayres, D. J.; House, D. A.; Robinson, W. T. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1998, 277, 177-185.
- 465. Sakagami, N.; Kita, E.; Kita, P.; Wisniewska, J.; Kaizaki, S. Polyhedron 1999, 18, 2001–2007.

- 466. Wong, W.-T.; Leung, W.-H. Acta Crystallogr. 1995, C51, 1494-1495.
- 467. Ugalde-Saldivar, V.; Luna-Canut, M. A.; Sosa-Torres, M. E.; Rosales-Hoz, M. J.; Toscano, R. A.; Tobe, M. L. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1990, 3629-3634.
- 468. Eriksen, J.; Goodson, P.; Hazell, A.; Hodgson, D. J.; Michelsen, K.; Mønsted, O.; Rasmussen, J. C.; Toftlund, H. Acta Chem. Scand. 1999, 53, 1083-1092.
- 469. Fallon, G. D.; McLachlan, G. A.; Moubaraki, B.; Murray, K. S.; O'Brien, L.; Spiccia, L. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1997, 2765-2769.
- 470. Ugalde-Saldivar, V. M.; Sosa-Torres, M. E.; Tobe, M. L. Polyhedron 1996, 15, 2573-2578.
- 471. Snow, R. A.; Delecki, D. J.; Shah, C. R. (Nycomed Imaging A/S, Norway). U.S. Patent 5,760,191, June 2, 1998; Chem. Abstr. 1998, 129, 62029.
- 472. Gibson, V. C.; Newton, C.; Redshaw, C.; Solan, G. A.; White, A. J. P.; Williams, D. J. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 1895-1903.
- 473. Cotton, F. A.; Daniels, L. M.; Maloney, D. J.; Murillo, C. A. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1996, 242, 31-42.
- 474. Spannenberg, A.; Tillack, A.; Arndt, P.; Kirmse, R.; Kempe, R. Polyhedron 1998, 17, 845-850.
- 475. Drevs, H.; Schmeisser, A.; Hartung, H.; Baumeister, U. Chem. Ber. 1996, 129, 853-857.
- 476. Cotton, F. A.; Czuchajowska, J.; Falvello, L. R.; Feng, X. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1990, 172, 135-136.
- 477. Cummins, C. C.; Lee, J.; Schrock, R. R.; Davis, W. M. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1992, 31, 1501-1503.
- 478. Kim, W.-K.; Fevola, M. J.; Liable-Sands, L. M.; Rheingold, A. L.; Theopold, K. H. Organometallics 1998, 17, 4541-4543.
- 479. Jitianu, A.; Ilies, M. A.; Briganti, F.; Scozzafava, A.; Supuran, C. T. Met.-Based Drugs 1997, 4, 1-7.
- 480. Supuran, C. T.; Scozzafava, A.; Briganti, F.; Ilies, M. A.; Jitianu, A. Met.-Based Drugs 1998, 5, 103-114.
- 481. Summerville, D. A.; Jones, R. D.; Hoffman, B. M.; Basolo, F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1977, 99, 8195-8202.
- 482. Oyaizu, K.; Haryono, A.; Nishimura, Y.; Yamamoto, K.; Tsuchida, E. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1999, 72, 1781-1784.
- 483. Inamo, M.; Nakajima, K. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1998, 71, 883-891.
- 484. Inamo, M.; Hoshino, M.; Nakajima, K.; Aizawa, S.-I.; Funahashi, S. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1995, 68, 2293–2303.
- 485. Balch, A. L.; Latos-Grazynski, L.; Noll, B. C.; Olmstead, M. M.; Zovinka, E. P. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 1148-1151.
- 486. Liu, P.; Shu, H.; Li, H. Harbin Ligong Daxue Xuebao 1999, 4, 28-30; Chem. Abstr. 1999, 132, 202210.
- 487. Shu, H.; Gu, S.; Liu, Y.; Jin, R. Yingyong Huaxue 1991, 8, 67-70; Chem. Abstr. 1991, 115, 221775.
- 488. Janczak, J.; Idemori, Y. M. Acta Crystallogr. 2001, C57, 924-925.
- 489. Sievertsen, S.; Assmann, B.; Homborg, H. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1996, 622, 1685-1691.
- 490. Sievertsen, S.; Grunewald, H.; Homborg, H. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1996, 622, 1573-1580.
- 491. Beswick, C. L.; Shalders, R. D.; Swaddle, T. W. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 991-994.
- 492. Inamo, M.; Nakaba, H.; Nakajima, K.; Hoshino, M. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 4417-4423.
- 493. Inamo, M.; Hoshino, M. Photochem. Photobiol. 1999, 70, 596-601.
- 494. Jeoung, S. C.; Kim, D.; Cho, D. W.; Yoon, M. J. Phys. Chem. A 2000, 104, 4816-4824.
- 495. Suslick, K. S.; Watson, R. A. New J. Chem. 1992, 16, 633-642.
- 496. Lee, W. A.; Yuan, L. C.; Bruice, T. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1988, 110, 4277-4283.
- 497. Garrison, J. M.; Bruice, T. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989, 111, 191-198.
- 498. Bottomley, L. A.; Neely, F. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989, 111, 5955-5957.
- 499. Bottomley, L. A.; Neely, F. L. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 5435-5439.
- 500. Guldi, D. M.; Neta, P.; Hambright, P. J. Chem. Soc., Faraday Trans. 1992, 88, 2013-2019. 501. Guldi, D. M.; Hambright, P.; Lexa, D.; Neta, P.; Saveant, J. M. J. Phys. Chem. 1992, 96, 4459-4466.
- 502. Schmidt, E. S.; Bruice, T. C.; Brown, R. S.; Wilkins, C. L. Inorg. Chem. 1986, 25, 4799-4800.
- 503. Moubaraki, B.; Ley, M.; Benlian, D.; Sorbier, J. P. Acta Crystallogr. 1990, C46, 379-385.
- 504. Alexiou, C.; Lever, A. B. P. Coord. Chem. Rev. 2001, 216, 45-54.
- 505. Holmes, A. B.; Mang, S. A. U.K. Patent 2,352,449, January 31, 2001; Chem. Abstr. 2001, 134, 237964.
- 506. Traylor, T. G.; Miksztal, A. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989, 111, 7443-7448.
- 507. Nam, W.; Kim, H. J.; Kim, S. H.; Ho, R. Y. N.; Valentine, J. S. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 1045-1049. 508. Kamya, T.; Hanasato, Y.; Isoda, S.; Myamoto, M.; Oota, N. (Mitsubishi Electric Corp., Japan). Japan Patent 6,165,933, June 14, 1994. Chem. Abstr. 1995, 122, 247159.
- 509. Zhang, J.; Wang, D.; Shi, T.; Wang, B.; Sun, J.; Li, T. Thin Solid Films 1996, 284-285, 596-599.
- 510. Skalkos, D.; Selman, S. H.; Hampton, J. A.; Morgan, A. R. (Medical College of Ohio, University of Toledo, USA). U.S. Patent 5,744,598, April 28, 1998; Chem. Abstr. 1998, 128, 330388.
- 511. Davies, J. F., II; Hostomska, Z.; Hostomsky, Z.; Jordan, S. R.; Matthews, D. A.; Ogden, R. C.; Varney, M. D.; Webber, S. E. (Agouron Pharmaceuticals, USA). World Pat. Appl. 9,217,182, October 15, 1992; Chem. Abstr. 1993, 118, 52422.
- 512. Cotton, F. A.; Luck, R. L. Acta Crystallogr. 1991, C47, 1069-1072.
- 513. Whittlesley, B. R. Inorg. Chem. 1986, 25, 1080-1084.
- 514. Suzuki, T.; Kashiwabara, K.; Usami, T.; Imamura, T.; Kiki, M.; Fujita, J.; Kaizaki, S. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 2001, 74, 1055-1064.
- 515. Lazar, D.; Ribar, B.; Divjakovic, V.; Meszaros, C. Acta Crystallogr. 1991, C47, 1060-1062.
- 516. Atwood, J. L.; Orr, G. W.; Means, N. C.; Hamada, F.; Zhang, H.; Bott, S. G.; Robinson, K. D. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31. 603-606.
- 517. Hinz, D. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 2000, 626, 1004-1011.
- 518. Bussière, G.; Beaulac, R.; Cardinal-David, B.; Reber, C. Coord. Chem. Rev. 2001, 219, 509-543.
- 519. Stewart, I. I.; Olesik, J. W. J. Chromatogr., A 2000, 872, 227-246.
- 520. Davydov, Y. P.; Voronik, N. I. Rus. J. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 43, 1346-1349.
- 521. Gáspár, A.; Buglyó, P. Chromatographia 2000, 51, S143-S147.
- 522. Balamurugan, K.; Vasant, C.; Rajaram, R.; Ramasami, T. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1999, 1427, 357-366.
- 523. Muñoz-Páez, A.; Sánchez Marcos, E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 6931-6932.
- 524. Díaz-Moreno, S.; Muñoz-Páez, A.; Martínez, J. M.; Pappalardo, R. R.; Sánchez Marcos, E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 12654-12664.
- 525. Sakane, H.; Muñoz-Páez, A.; Díaz-Moreno, S.; Martínez, J. M.; Pappalardo, R. R.; Sánchez Marcos, E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 10397-10401.

- 526. Bertini, I.; Fragai, M.; Luchinat, C.; Parigi, G. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 4030-4035.
- 527. Kallies, B.; Meuer, R. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 3101-3112.
- 528. Johnson, D. A.; Nelson, P. G. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 4949-4955.
- Martínez, J. M.; Hernándes-Cobos, J.; Saint-Martin, H.; Pappalardo, R. R.; Ortega-Blake, I.; Sánchez Marcos, E. J. Chem. Phys. 2000, 112, 2339–2347.
- 530. Martínez, J. M.; Pappalardo, R. R.; Sánchez Marcos, E.; Refson, K.; Díaz-Moreno, S.; Muñoz-Páez, A. J. Phys. Chem. B 1998, 102, 3272–3282.
- 531. Balbuena, P. B.; Wang, L.; Li, T.; Derosa, P. A. Theor. Comput. Chem. 1999, 7, 431-469.
- 532. Tsutsui, Y.; Wasada, H.; Funahashi, S. Theochem 1999, 461-462, 379-390.
- 533. Bleuzen, A.; Foglia, F.; Furet, E.; Helm, L.; Merbach, A. E.; Weber, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 12777-12787.
- 534. Chang, C. M.; Wang, M. K. Theochem 1998, 434, 163-167.
- 535. Chang, C. M.; Wang, M. K. Theochem 1997, 417, 237-240.
- 536. Zhang, D.; Zhuang, B.; Feng, D.; Liu, C. Int. J. Quantum Chem. 2000, 78, 32-41.
- 537. Rosso, K. M.; Rustad, J. R. J. Phys. Chem. A 2000, 104, 6718-6725.
- 538. Johnson, D. A.; Reid, M. A. J. Electrochem. Soc. 1985, 132, 1058-1062.
- 539. Heinzel, A. (Siemens A.-G., Fed. Rep. Ger.) Eur. Pat. Appl. 312,875, April 26, 1989. Chem. Abstr. 1989, 111, 61018.
- 540. Bakac, A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 10726-10731.
- 541. Nemes, A.; Bakac, A. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 746-749.
- 542. Nemes, A.; Pestovsky, O.; Bakac, A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 421-427.
- 543. Qin, K.; Incarvito, C. D.; Rheingold, A. L.; Theopold, K. H. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 2002, 41, 2333–2335.
- 544. Perez-Benito, J. F.; Arias, C. J. Phys. Chem. A 1998, 102, 5837-5845.
- 545. Hazell, A. Acta Crystallogr. 1988, C44, 1362-1365.
- 546. De Leo, M. A.; Ford, P. C. Coord. Chem. Rev. 2000, 208, 47-59.
- 547. De Leo, M.; Ford, P. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 1980-1981.
- 548. Eriksen, J.; Mønsted, L.; Mønsted, O. Acta Chem. Scand. 1992, 46, 521-526.
- 549. Ferreira, A. D. Q.; Bino, A.; Gibson, D. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 6560-6561.
- 550. Rajendram, C. R. A.; Hoggard, P. E. Transition Met. Chem. (London) 1996, 21, 61-63.
- 551. Chaudhuri, P.; Wieghardt, K. Prog. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 50, 151-213.
- 552. House, D. A.; Steel, P. J. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1998, 269, 229-234.
- 553. Öhrström, L.; Svensson, G. Inorg. Chim. Acta 2000, 305, 157-162.
- 554. Rau, V. G.; Rau, T. F.; Lebedev, G. O.; Kurkutova, E. N. Kristallografiya 2000, 45, 653-658; Chem. Abstr. 2000, 133, 289080..
- 555. Furmanova, N. G.; Bergo, V. B.; Resnyanskii, V. F.; Sulaimankulov, K. S.; Zhorobekova, S. Z.; Sulaimankulova, D. K. Kristallografiya 1998, 43, 646–652; Chem. Abstr. 1998, 129, 223534.
- 556. Bondar, V. I.; Potekhin, K. A.; Rau, T. F.; Rozman, S. P.; Iu, T. Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 1988, 300, 1372–1374; Chem. Abstr. 1988, 109, 241216.
- 557. Cotton, F. A.; Duraj, S. A.; Powell, G. L.; Roth, W. J. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1986, 113, 81-85.
- 558. Terry, K. W.; Gantzel, P. K.; Tilley, T. D. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 5402-5404
- 559. Blanchard, H.; Hursthouse, M. B.; Sullivan, A. C. J. Organomet. Chem. 1988, 341, 367-371.
- 560. Reutov, V. A.; Litvinova, S. A.; Lim, L. A.; Shapkin, N. P. Russ. J. Gen. Chem. 2000, 70, 11-14.
- 561. Teixidor, F.; Colomer, J.; Llobet, A.; Casabó, J.; Solans, X.; Font-Altaba, M. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1987, 128, 15-20.
- 562. Golic, L.; Heyn, B.; Beyer, L.; Tschoe, H.; Hoyer, E. Z. Chem. 1986, 26, 213-214.
- 563. Mostafa, S. I. Transition Met. Chem. (London) 1998, 23, 397-401.
- 564. Akama, Y.; Iwadate, T.; Tong, A.; Takahashi, Y.; Tanaka, S. J. Chromatogr. A 1997, 789, 479-483.
- 565. Naka, K.; Konishi, G.; Kotera, K.; Chujo, Y. Polym. Bull. (Berlin) 1998, 41, 263-266.
- 566. Gukhman, E. V.; Reutov, V. A.; Shapkin, N. P. Russ. J. Gen. Chem. 1998, 68, 70-72.
- 567. Liao, I. W.; Eichinger, B. E. J. Polym. Sci., Part A: Polym. Chem. 1990, 28, 559-571.
- 568. Makhaev, V. D.; Borisov, A. P.; Aleshin, V. V.; Petrova, L. A. Izv. Akad. Nauk, Ser. Khim. 1995, 1150-1152.
- 569. Shirokii, V. L.; Vinokurov, I. I.; Sedova, L. G.; Kostyuk, N. N.; Dik, T. A.; Erdman, A. A.; Maier, N. A. Russ. J. Gen. Chem. 2000, 70, 556–558.
- 570. Fahlman, B. D.; Barron, A. R. Adv. Mater. Opt. Electron. 2000, 10, 223-232.
- 571. Yamada, M.; Sato, Y.; Sekine, T. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 2000, 73, 2289-2295.
- 572. Maslowska, J.; Starzynski, S. J. Chromatogr. 1990, 502, 221-225.
- 573. Weckhuysen, B. M.; Rao, R. R.; Pelgrims, J.; Schoonheydt, R. A.; Bodart, P.; Debras, G.; Collart, O.; Van Der Voort, P.; Vansant, E. F. Chem. Eur. J. 2000, 6, 2960–2970.
- 574. Ramachandra Rao, R.; Weckhuysen, B. M.; Schoonheydt, R. A. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 1999, 445-446.
- 575. Choukchou-Braham, A.; Goma, J.; Kappenstein, C. Bull. Soc. Chim. Fr. 1989, 761–766.
- 576. Stich, R.; Weber, L.; Rehorek, D.; Hennig, H. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1991, 600, 211-220.
- 577. Kameta, N.; Imura, H. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 2001, 74, 1641-1647.
- 578. Anzai, N.; Machida, S.; Horie, K. Chem. Lett. 2001, 888-889.
- 579. Sharma, S. K.; Srivastava, S. K. J. Polym. Mater. 1993, 10, 145-154.
- 580. Sharma, R. P.; Bhasin, K. K. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1986, 59, 1603-1604.
- 581. Schönherr, T. Top. Curr. Chem. 1997, 191, 87-152.
- 582. Marciniak, B.; Hug, G. L. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1997, 159, 55-74.
- 583. Ribbing, C.; Pierloot, K.; Ceulemans, A. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 5227-5232.
- 584. Slabzhennikov, S. N.; Denisenko, L. A.; Litvinova, O. B. Russ. J. Coord. Chem. 2001, 27, 119-122.
- 585. Ikagawa, T.; Otsuka, T.; Kaizu, Y. J. Phys. Chem. A 1998, 102, 649-653.
- 586. Tsiamis, C.; Hadjikostas, C. C.; Karageorgiou, S.; Manoussakis, G. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1988, 143, 17-23.
- 587. Sharpe, P.; Richardson, D. E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 8339-8346.
- 588. Kanakubo, M.; Ikeuchi, H.; Sato, G. P.; Yokoyama, H. J. Phys. Chem. B 1997, 101, 3827-3833.
- 589. Wakisaka, A.; Sakuragi, H.; Tokumaru, K. J. Chem. Soc., Faraday Trans. 1991, 87, 2167–2171.
- 590. Wang, P. L.; Hwang, L. P. J. Chem. Soc., Faraday Trans. 1 1989, 85, 2335-2345.
- 591. Lagalante, A. F.; Hansen, B. N.; Bruno, T. J.; Sievers, R. E. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 5781–5785.

- 592. Hakuli, A.; Kytokivi, A. Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys. 1999, 1, 1607-1613.
- 593. Gava, C.; Perazzolo, M.; Zentilin, L.; Levis, A. G.; Corain, B.; Bombi, G. G.; Palumbo, M.; Zatta, P. Toxicol. Environ. Chem. 1989, 22, 149-157.
- 594. Pierpont, C. G. Coord. Chem. Rev. 2001, 219-221, 415-433.
- 595. Pierpont, C. G. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 5727-5728.
- 596. Pattison, D. I.; Levina, A.; Davies, M. J.; Lay, P. A. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 214-217.
- 597. Branca, M.; Fruianu, M.; Sau, S.; Zoroddu, M. A. J. Inorg. Biochem. 1996, 62, 223-230.
- 598. Wheeler, D. E.; McCusker, J. K. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 2296-2307.
- 599. Rodriguez, J. H.; Wheeler, D. E.; McCusker, J. K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 12051-12068.
- 600. Deflon, V. M.; Bessler, K. E.; Kretschmar, M.; Abram, U. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 2000, 626, 1545–1549.
- 601. Ali, S. A.; Khalil, M. M. H.; Ramadan, R. M. Transition Met. Chem. (Dordrecht, Neth.) 2000, 25, 121-125.
- 602. Kelkar, V. D.; Gokhale, R. R. Pol. J. Chem. 1998, 72, 655-659.
- 603. Chang, H.-C.; Miyasaka, H.; Kitagawa, S. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 146-156.
- 604. Chang, H.-C.; Kitagawa, S.; Kondo, M.; Ishii, T. Mol. Cryst. Liq. Cryst. Sci. Technol., Sect. A 1999, 335, 895-904.
- 605. Chang, H.-C.; Ishii, T.; Kondo, M.; Kitagawa, S. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1999, 2467-2476.
- 606. Humphries, W.R. (Rowett Research Services Limited, UK). World Pat. Appl., 9,909,050, February 25, 1999; Chem. Abstr. 1999, 130, 205114.
- 607. Farrell, R. P.; Hambley, T. W.; Lay, P. A. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 757-758.
- 608. Muñoz, M. C.; Julve, M.; Lloret, F.; Faus, J.; Andruh, M. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1998, 3125-3132.
- 609. Munno, G. D.; Armentano, D.; Julve, M.; Lloret, F.; Lescouëzec, R.; Faus, J. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 2234–2237.
- 610. Bérézovsky, F.; Hajem, A. A.; Triki, S.; Sala Pala, J.; Molinié, P. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1999, 284, 8-13.
- 611. Marinescu, G.; Andruh, M.; Lescouëzec, R.; Muñoz, M. C.; Cano, J.; Lloret, F.; Julve, M. New J. Chem. 2000, 24, 527-536.
- 612. Lescouëzec, R.; Marinescu, G.; Muñoz, M. C.; Luneau, D.; Andruh, M.; Lloret, F.; Faus, J.; Julve, N.; Mata, J. A.; Llusar, R.; Cano, J. New J. Chem. 2001, 25, 1224-1235.
- 613. Hernández-Molina, M.; Lorenzo-Luis, P. A.; Ruiz-Pérez, C.; Lloret, F.; Julve, M. Inorg. Chim. Acta 2001, 313, 87-94
- 614. Decurtins, S.; Schmalle, H. W.; Schneuwly, P.; Ensling, J.; Gütlich, P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 9521–9528.
- 615. Decurtins, S.; Schmalle, H. W.; Pellaux, R.; Schneuwly, P.; Hauser, A. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 1451-1460.
- 616. Tamaki, H.; Zhong, Z. J.; Matsumoto, N.; Kida, S.; Koikawa, M.; Achiwa, N.; Hashimoto, Y.; Okawa, H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 6974-6979.
- 617. Rashid, S.; Turner, S. S.; Day, P.; Light, M. E.; Hursthouse, M. B.; Firth, S.; Clark, R. J. H. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 2001, 1462-1463.
- 618. Rashid, S.; Turner, S. S.; Day, P.; Howard, J. A. K.; Guionneau, P.; McInnes, E. J. L.; Mabbs, F. E.; Clark, R. J. H.; Firth, S.; Biggs, T. J. Mater. Chem. 2001, 11, 2095-2101.
- 619. Rashid, S.; Turner, S. S.; Le Pevelen, D.; Day, P.; Light, M. E.; Hursthouse, M. B.; Firth, S.; Clark, R. J. H. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 5304-5305.
- 620. Merrachi, E. H.; Cohen-Adad, R.; Chassagneux, F.; Paris, J.; Mentzen, B. F.; Bouix, J. Thermochim. Acta 1989, 152, 77-86.
- 621. Suh, J. S.; Shin, J. Y.; Yoon, C.; Lee, K.-W.; Suh, I. I. H.; Lee, J. H.; Ryu, B. Y.; Lim, S. S. Bull. Korean Chem. Soc. 1994, 15, 245-249.
- 622. Sekine, A.; Otsuka, T.; Ohashi, Y.; Kaizu, Y. Acta Crystallogr. 1994, C50, 1399-1401.
- 623. Niu, S.-Y.; Yang, Z.-Z.; Geo, W.-S. Huaxue Xuebao 1997, 55, 786-793; Chem. Abstr. 1997, 127, 314101.
- 624. Masters, V. M.; Bernhardt, P. V.; Gahan, L. R.; Moubaraki, B.; Murray, K. S.; Berry, K. J. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1999, 2323-2328.
- 625. Hua, X.; Larsson, K.; Neal, T. J.; Wyllie, G. R. A.; Shang, M.; Lappin, A. G. Inorg. Chem. Commun. 2001, 4, 635-639.
- 626. Xie, W.; Weng, L.; Zheng, Y.; Zhang, L.; Zhu, Z.; Fu, G. Wuji Huaxue Xuebao 1993, 9, 210-215; Chem. Abstr. 1994, 121, 25444.
- 627. Bernal, I.; Myrczek, J.; Luger, B. J.; Nguyen, M. L. J. Coord. Chem. 1993, 29, 7-16.
- 628. Sakane, H.; Watanabe, I.; Yokoyama, Y. Polyhedron 1994, 13, 1625-1630.
- 629. Polukarov, Y. M.; Safonov, V. A.; Edigaryan, A. A.; Vykhodtseva, L. N. Protect. Metals. 2001, 37, 447-451.
- 630. Weizman, H.; Libman, J.; Shanzer, A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 2188-2189
- 631. Cross, R. J.; Farrugia, L. J.; McArthur, D. R.; Peacock, R. D.; Taylor, D. S. C. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 5698-5702.
- 632. Piarulli, U.; Rogers, A. J.; Floriani, C.; Gervasio, G.; Viterbo, D. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 6127-6133.
- 633. Cross, R. J.; Farrugia, L. J.; Newman, P. D.; Peacock, R. D.; Stirling, D. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1996, 1087-1092
- 634. Haromy, T. P.; Linck, C. F.; Cleland, W. W.; Sundaralingam, M. Acta Crystallogr. 1990, C46, 951-957.
- 635. Haromy, T. P.; Rawlings, J.; Cleland, W. W.; Sundaralingam, M. Acta Crystallogr. 1990, C46, 2369-2374.
- 636. Lin, C.; Huang, J.; Lu, J. Wuji Huaxue Xuebao 1992, 8, 38-42; Chem. Abstr. 1993, 118, 115328.
- 637. Kanno, H.; Yagi, M.; Utsuno, S.; Fujita, J. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1998, 281, 221-224.
- 638. Kanno, H.; Yamamoto, J.; Utsuno, S.; Fujita, J. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1996, 69, 665-671.
- 639. Kanno, H.; Yamamoto, J.; Murahashi, S.; Utsuno, S.; Fujita, J. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1991, 64, 2936–2941.
- 640. Lewis, D. M.; Yan, G. J. Soc. Dyers Colour. 1995, 111, 316-323.
- 641. Quiros, M.; Goodgame, D. M. L.; Williams, D. J. Polyhedron 1992, 11, 1343-1348.
- 642. Ernst, T.; Dehnicke, K.; Goesmann, H.; Fenske, D. Z. Naturforsch., B: Chem. Sci. 1990, 45, 967-970.
- 643. Junk, P. C.; Atwood, J. L. J. Organomet. Chem. 1998, 565, 179-186.
- 644. Gibson, V. C.; Redshaw, C.; Clegg, W.; Elsegood, M. R. J. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1997, 1605–1606. 645. Baret, P.; Beaujolais, V.; Gaude, D.; Coulombeau, C.; Pierre, J.-L. Chem. Eur. J. 1997, 3, 969–973.
- 646. Pope, S. J. A.; Champness, N. R.; Reid, G. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1997, 1639-1644.
- 647. Kuroda, R.; Biscarini, P. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1990, 3393-3397.
- 648. Schur, M.; Rijnberk, H.; Näther, C.; Bensch, W. Polyhedron 1998, 18, 101-107.
- 649. Rijnberk, H.; Näther, C.; Bensch, W. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1999, 625, 1172-1176.

- 650. Grant, G. J.; Rogers, K. E.; Setzer, W. N.; VanDerveer, D. G. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1995, 234, 35-45.
- 651. Béreau, V.; Sekar, P.; McLauchlan, C. C.; Ibers, J. A. Inorg. Chim. Acta 2000, 308, 91-96.
- 652. Tang, K.; Yang, Q.; Li, Q. Beijing Daxue Xuebao, Ziran Kexueban 1985, 56-60; Chem. Abstr. 1987, 106, 187835.
- 653. Svensson, G.; Albertsson, J. Acta Crystallogr. 1988, C44, 1386-1388.
- 654. Buranda, T.; Pinkerton, A. A. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1990, 170, 81-88.
- 655. Bhargava, S.; Bohra, R.; Mehrotra, R. C. J. Crystallogr. Spectrosc. Res. 1991, 21, 281-285.
- 656. Skrzypczak-Jankun, E.; Pinkerton, A. A. Acta Crystallogr. 1991, C47, 2211-2212.
- 657. Watanabe, I.; Tanaka, M.; Inada, S.; Hattori, C. Anal. Sci. 1993, 9, 891-894.
- 658. Biscarini, P.; Franca, R.; Kuroda, R. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 4618-4626.
- 659. Xiong, R.-G.; You, X.-Z.; Huang, X.-Y. Acta Crystallogr. 1995, C51, 2484-2486.
- 660. Ohta, H.; Kita, M.; Kanno, H.; Kojima, M. Inorg. Chim. Acta 2000, 311, 75-79.
- 661. Coucouvanis, D. Prog. Inorg. Chem. 1979, 26, 301-469.
- 662. Küppers, H. J.; Wieghardt, K. Polyhedron 1989, 8, 1770-1773.
- 663. Levason, W.; Reid, G.; Smith, S. M. Polyhedron 1997, 16, 4253-4256.
- 664. Sassmannshausen, M.; Lutz, H. D. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 2001, 627, 1071-1076.
- 665. Halepoto, D. M.; Larkworthy, L. F.; Povey, D. C.; Siddiqui, R. A.; Smith, G. W. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1994, 227, 167 - 170.
- 666. Barriuso, M. T.; Aramburu, J. A.; Moreno, M. Phys. Status Solidi B 1996, 196, 193-208.
- 667. Wessjohann, L. A.; Scheid, G. Synthesis 1999, 1-36.
- 668. Brenčič, J. V.; Leban, I.; Polanc, I. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1987, 551, 109-115.
- 669. Brenčič, J. V.; Leban, I.; Polanc, I. Acta Crystallogr. 1987, C43, 885-887.
- 670. Brenčič, J. V.; Leban, I. Vestn. Slov. Kem. Drus. 1985, 32, 209-219; Chem. Abstr. 1986, 104, 13305.
- 671. Vaughn, J. W.; Rogers, R. D. J. Crystallogr. Spectrosc. Res. 1985, 15, 281-287.
- 672. Sengupta, A. K.; Bhaumik, B. B.; Bose, P. S. J. Fluorine Chem. 1997, 81, 173-174.
- 673. House, D. A.; McKee, V. Polyhedron 1993, 12, 2335-2341.
- 674. Fochi, G.; Strähle, J.; Gingl, F. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 4669-4671.
- 675. Shevchenko, Y. N.; Gerdav, V. I. Rus. J. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 37, 390-394.
- 676. Kawamura, K.; Shang, M.; Wiest, O.; Fehlner, T. P. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 608-609.
- 677. Forward, J. M.; Mingos, D. M. P.; Powell, A. V. J. Organomet. Chem. 1994, 465, 251-258.
- 678. Oki, A. R.; Sokolova, O.; Barnett, R.; Pardhiva, G. Synth. React. Inorg. Met. -Org. Chem. 1998, 28, 757-769.
- 679. Chun, H.; Verani, C. N.; Chaudhuri, P.; Bothe, E.; Bill, E.; Weyhermüller, T.; Wieghardt, K. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 4157-4166.
- 680. Yoshida, T.; Kanamori, K.; Takamizawa, S.; Mori, W.; Kaizaki, S. Chem. Lett. 1997, 603-604.
- 681. Clark, J.; Fache, E.; Macquarrie, D.; Price, P.; Rafelt, J. (Rhodia Polyamide Intermediates Fr.). World Pat. Appl. 0,144,153, June 21, 2001; Chem. Abstr. 2001, 135, 45793.
- 682. Bardwell, D. A.; Black, D.; Jeffery, J. C.; Schatz, E.; Ward, M. D. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1993, 2321–2327.
- 683. Edwards, D. A.; Thompsett, D.; Bellerby, J. M. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1992, 1761–1767. 684. Borisov, A. P.; Petrova, L. A.; Karpova, T. P.; Makhaev, V. D. Izv. Akad. Nauk, Ser. Khim. 1994, 2227–2229; Chem. Abstr. 1995, 123, 186868.
- 685. Bodensieck, U.; Carraux, Y.; Stoeckli-Evans, H.; Suess-Fink, G. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1992, 195, 135–137. 686. Wen, T.-B.; Shi, J.-C.; Liu, Q.-T.; Kang, B.-S.; Wu, B.-M.; Mak, T. C. W. Acta Crystallogr. 1996, C52, 1204–1206.
- 687. Okamoto, K.; Matsumoto, M.; Miyashita, Y.; Sakagami, N.; Hidaka, J.; Konno, T. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1997, 260, 17 - 26.
- 688. Mazhar-ul-Haque; Hussain, M. S. Transition Met. Chem. (London) 1994, 19, 95-98.
- 689. Singh, N. K.; Srivastava, A.; Sodhi, A.; Ranjan, P. Transition Met. Chem. (Dordrecht, Neth.) 2000, 25, 133-140.
- 690. Singh, N. K.; Srivastava, A.; Thomas, M. J. K. Synth. React. Inorg. Met.-Org. Chem. 1999, 29, 1427-1449.
- 691. Dey, K.; Chakraborty, K. Indian J. Chem., Sect. A 2000, 39A, 1140-1144.
- 692. El-Ayaan, U.; El-Reash, G. A.; Weinberger, P.; Linert, W. Synth. React. Inorg. Met.-Org. Chem. 2000, 30, 1759-1772.
- 693. Tarafder, M. T. H.; Asmadi, A.; Talib, S. M. S.; Ali, A. M.; Crouse, K. A. Transition Met. Chem. (Dordrecht, Neth.) 2001, 26, 170-174.
- 694. Lukaski, H. C. Ann. Rev. Nutr. 1999, 19, 279-302.
- 695. Anderson, R. A. Diabetes Metab. 2000, 26, 22-27.
- 696. Stearns, D. M.; Wise, J. P., Sr.; Patierno, S. R.; Wetterhahn, K. E. FASEB. J. 1995, 9, 1643-1649.
- 697. Stearns, D. M. BioFactors 2000, 11, 149-162.
- 698. Stearns, D. M.; Armstrong, W. H. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 5178-5184.
- 699. Chakov, N. E.; Collins, R. A.; Vincent, J. B. Polyhedron 1999, 18, 2891-2897.
- 700. Broadhurst, C. L.; Schmidt, W. F.; Reeves, J. B. III; Polansky, M. M.; Gautschi, K.; Anderson, R. A. J. Inorg. Biochem. 1997, 66, 119-130.
- 701. Murdoch, C. M.; Cooper, M. K.; Hambley, T. W.; Hunter, W. N.; Freeman, H. C. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1986, 1329-1331
- 702. Subramaniam, V.; Lee, K.-W.; Garvey, R. G.; Hoggard, P. E. Polyhedron 1988, 7, 523-527.
- 703. Choi, J.-H. Acta Crystallogr. 1995, C51, 1745-1748.
- 704. Hassaan, A. M. A. Synth. React. Inorg. Met. -Org. Chem. 1997, 27, 855-861.
- 705. Abdel-Mawgoud, A.-M. M. Transition Met. Chem. (London) 1996, 21, 219-221.
- 706. Hueso-Urena, F.; Moreno-Carretero, M. N.; Penas-Chamorro, A. L.; Debaerdemaeker, T.; Esteve, V.; Amigo, J. M. Z. Kristallogr. - New Cryst. Struct. 2000, 215, 519-520.
- 707. Casellato, U.; Graziani, R.; Bonomo, R. P.; Di Bilio, A. J. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1991, 23-31.
- 708. Yang, L.; Crans, D. C.; Yuen, V. G.; McNeill, J.; Willsky, G. R. Abstr. Pap. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 220, INOR-047. 709. Koh, L. L.; Kon, O. L.; Loh, K. W.; Long, Y. C.; Ranford, J. D.; Tan, A. L. C.; Tjan, Y. Y. J. Inorg. Biochem. 1998, 72, 155-162.
- 710. Ainscough, E. W.; Brodie, A. M.; Denny, W. A.; Finlay, G. J.; Gothe, S. A.; Ranford, J. D. J. Inorg. Biochem. 1999, 77, 125-133.

- 711. Hahn, E.; McMurry, T. J.; Hugi, A.; Raymond, K. N. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 1854–1860.
- 712. Couchman, S. M.; Jeffery, J. C.; Thornton, P.; Ward, M. D. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1998, 1163–1170.
- 713. Heineke, D.; Franklin, S. J.; Raymond, K. N. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 2413-2421.
- 714. Lazzarini, A. L. F.; Lazzarini, E.; Mariani, M. J. Chem. Soc., Faraday Trans. 1996, 92, 1395-1400.
- 715. Sommerer, S.; Jensen, W. P.; Jacobson, R. A. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1990, 172, 3-11.
- 716. Jacobsen, E. N.; Schaus, S. E.; Dossetter, A. G.; Jamison, T. F. (Harvard College, USA) World Pat. Appl. 0,050,365, August 31, 2000; *Chem. Abstr.* 2000, 133, 207808.
- 717. Jacobsen, E. N.; Leighton, J. L.; Martinez, L. E. (Harvard College, USA) U.S. Patent 5,929,232, July 27, 1999; Chem. Abstr. 1999, 131, 129576.
- 718. Chatterjee, D.; Mukherjee, S.; Roy, B. C. React. Kinet. Catal. Lett. 2000, 71, 217-222.
- 719. Samnani, P. B.; Bhattacharya, P. K.; Ganeshpure, P. A.; Koshy, V. J.; Satish, S. J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem. 1996, 110, 89–94.
- 720. Price, R. In *Comprehensive Coordination Chemistry*; Wilkinson, G., Gillard, R. D. and McCleverty, J. A., Eds.; Pergamon Press: Oxford, U.K, 1987; Vol. 6, pp 35–94.
- 721. Yamazaki, M.; Miki, T.; Takano, K. (Hodogaya Chemical Co., Japan). Eur. Pat. Appl. 856,562, August 5, 1998; *Chem. Abstr.* 1998, 129, 176909.
- 722. Korte, K. (Clariant International Ltd.). World Pat. Appl. 0,009,615, February 24, 2000; Chem Abstr. 2000, 132, 182027.
- 723. Radanović, D. J. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1984, 54, 159-261.
- 724. Douglas, B. E.; Radanović, D. J. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1993, 128, 139-165.
- 725. Subramaniam, V.; Lee, K.-W.; Hoggard, P. E. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1994, 216, 155-161.
- 726. Suh, J.-S.; Park, S.-J.; Lee, K.-W.; Suh, I.-H.; Lee, J.-H.; Song, J.-H.; Oh, M.-R. Acta Crystallogr. 1997, C53, 432–434.
- 727. Gladkikh, O. P.; Poznyak, A. L.; Polynova, T. N.; Porai-Koshits, M. A. Russ. J. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 42, 1346–1348.
- 728. Bocarsly, J. R.; Chiang, M. Y.; Bryant, L.; Barton, J. K. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 4898–4907.
- 729. Yonemura, T.; Nakayama, R.; Sakagami, N.; Okamoto, K.; Ama, T.; Kawaguchi, H.; Yasui, T. Chem. Lett. 1998, 215–216.
- 730. Sakagami, N.; Kaizaki, S. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1992, 291-297.
- 731. Sakagami, N.; Kaizaki, S. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1992, 195, 187-191.
- 732. Parvez, M.; Maricondi, C.; Radanović, D. J.; Djuran, M. I.; Douglas, B. E. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1991, 182, 177-186.
- 733. Radanović, D. J.; Sakagami, N.; Ristanović, V. M.; Kaizaki, S. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1999, 292, 16-27.
- 734. Dixon, D. A.; Shang, M.; Lappin, A. G. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1999, 290, 197-206.
- 735. Saxena, A. K. Synth. React. Inorg. Met. -Org. Chem. 1996, 26, 1599-1607.
- 736. Crouch, A. M.; Polhuis, M. Theochem 2000, 530, 171-176.
- 737. Yoshitani, K. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1994, 67, 2115-2120.
- 738. Chatlas, J.; Kaizaki, S.; Kita, E.; Kita, P.; Sakagami, N.; van Eldik, R. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1999, 91-96.
- 739. Abdel-Khalek, A. A.; Sayyah, E.-S. M.; Khaled, E. H. Transition Met. Chem. (London) 1998, 23, 37-40.
- 740. Abdel-Khalek, A. A.; Abdel-Hady, A. E. D. M.; El-Shahat, M. F. Transition Met. Chem. (London) 1993, 18, 283–286.
- 741. Hecht, M.; Schultz, F. A.; Speiser, B. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 5555-5563.
- 742. Hecht, M.; Fawcett, W. R. Electrochim. Acta 1996, 41, 1423-1433.
- 743. Tsirlina, G. A.; Kharkats, Y. I.; Nazmutdinov, R. R.; Petrii, O. A. J. Electroanal. Chem. 1998, 450, 63-68.
- 744. Baraj, B.; Martinez, M.; Sastre, A.; Aguilar, M. J. Chromatogr. A 1995, 695, 103-111.
- 745. Pozdniakova, S. Analyst (Cambridge, U.K.) 1998, 123, 1497-1500.
- 746. Milačič, R.; Štupar, J. Analyst (Cambridge, U.K.) 1994, 119, 627-632.
- 747. Byegard, J.; Skarnemark, G.; Skalberg, M. J. Radioanal. Nucl. Chem. 1999, 241, 281-290.
- 748. Arslan, G.; Atasever, T.; Cindoruk, M.; Yildirim, I. S. Nucl. Med. Commun. 2001, 22, 997-1001.
- Anelli, P. L.; Brocchetta, M.; De Haen, C.; Gazzotti, O.; Lattuada, L.; Lux, G.; Manfredi, G.; Morosini, P.; Palano, D.; Serleti, M.; Uggeri, F.; Visigalli, M. (Bracco International B.V., Neth.). World Pat. Appl. 0,038,738, July 6, 2000; *Chem Abstr.* 2000, 133, 98665.
- 750. Dhathathreyan, A.; Ramasami, T. Colloids Surf. A 1993, 70, 297-301.
- 751. Shahandeh, H.; Hossner, L. R. Int. J. Phytorem. 2000, 2, 269-286.
- 752. Katsuki, T. Recent Res. Dev. Pure Appl. Chem. 1997, 1, 35-44.
- 753. Canali, L.; Sherrington, D. C. Chem. Soc. Rev. 1999, 28, 85-93.
- 754. Bandini, M.; Cozzi, P. G.; Umani-Ronchi, A. Pure Appl. Chem. 2001, 73, 325-329.
- 755. Bandini, M.; Cozzi, P. G.; Umani-Ronchi, A. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 2002, 919-927.
- 756. Adam, W.; Gelalcha, F. G.; Saha-Moeller, C. R.; Stegmann, V. R. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 65, 1915–1918.
- 757. Paddock, R. L.; Nguyen, S. T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 11498-11499.
- 758. Hansen, K. B.; Leighton, J. L.; Jacobsen, E. N. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 10924-10925.
- 759. Huang, Y.; Iwama, T.; Rawal, V. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 7843-7844.
- 760. Bandini, M.; Cozzi, P. G.; Umani-Ronchi, A. Tetrahedron 2001, 57, 835-843.
- 761. Bandini, M.; Cozzi, P. G.; Melchiorre, P.; Morganti, S.; Umani-Ronchi, A. Org. Lett. 2001, 3, 1153-1155.
- 762. Imanishi, H.; Katsuki, T. Tetrahedron Lett. 1997, 38, 251-254.
- 763. Darensbourg, D. J.; Yarbrough, J. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 6335–6342.
- 764. Katsuki, T.(Nissan Chemical Industries, Japan). Japan Patent 10,330,389, December 15, 1998; *Chem. Abstr.* **1998**, *130*, 81394.
- 765. Konsler, R. G.; Karl, J.; Jacobsen, E. N. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 10780-10781.
- 766. Sellner, H.; Karjalainen, J. K.; Seebach, D. Chem. Eur. J. 2001, 7, 2873-2887.
- 767. Zhou, X.-G.; Yu, X.-Q.; Huang, J.-S.; Che, C.-M.; Li, S.-G.; Li, L.-S. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 1999, 1789–1790.
- 768. Song, C. E.; Oh, C. R.; Roh, E. J.; Choo, D. J. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 2000, 1743-1744.
- 769. Lloret, F.; Julve, M.; Mollar, M.; Castro, I.; Latorre, J.; Faus, J.; Solans, X.; Morgenstern-Badarau, I. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1989, 729–738.

- 770. Aikawa, K.; Irie, R.; Katsuki, T. Tetrahedron 2001, 57, 845-851.
- 771. Lee, S.-W.; Chang, S.; Kossakovski, D.; Cox, H.; Beauchamp, J. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 10152–10156.
- 772. Madhusudanan, K. P.; Katti, S. B.; Vijayalakshmi, R.; Nair, B. U. J. Mass Spectrom. 1999, 34, 880-884.
- 773. Vijayalakshmi, R.; Kanthimathi, M.; Subramanian, V.; Nair, B. U. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 2000, 271, 731–734.
- 774. Mandal, S. S.; Kumar, N. V.; Varshney, U.; Bhattacharya, S. J. Inorg. Biochem. 1996, 63, 265-272.
- 775. Auerbach, U.; Weyhermüller, T.; Wieghardt, K.; Nuber, B.; Bill, E.; Butzlaff, C.; Trautwein, A. X. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 508-519.
- 776. Auerbach, U.; Stockheim, C.; Weyhermüller, T.; Wieghardt, K.; Nuber, B. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1993, 32, 714–716.
- 777. Sokolowski, A.; Bothe, E.; Bill, E.; Weyhermüller, T.; Wieghardt, K. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 1996, 1671–1672.
- 778. Martin, L. L.; Taylor, M. R.; Wu, B. Acta Crystallogr. 1999, C55, 41-43.
- 779. Müller, J.; Kikuchi, A.; Bill, E.; Weyhermüller, T.; Hildebrandt, P.; Ould-Moussa, L.; Wieghardt, K. Inorg. Chim. Acta 2000, 297, 265–277.
- 780. Weyhermüller, T.; Weighardt, K.; Chaudhuri, P. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1998, 3805-3814.
- 781. Rychlewska, U.; Palenic, R. C.; King, R. W.; Palenic, G. J. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1975, 799-800.
- 782. Bino, A.; Frim, R.; Van Genderen, M. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1987, 127, 95-101.
- 783. Sonawane, P.; Chikate, R.; Kumbhar, A.; Padhye, S.; Doedens, R. J. Polyhedron 1994, 13, 395-401.
- 784. Bruce, J. I.; Gahan, L. R.; Hambley, T. W.; Stranger, R. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1993, 702-704.
- 785. Pattanayak, S.; Das, D. K.; Chakraborty, P.; Chakravorty, A. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 6556–6558.
- 786. Connolly, J.; Forder, R. J.; Goodban, G. W.; Pope, S. J. A.; Predel, M.; Reid, G. Polyhedron 1999, 18, 3553-3558.
- 787. Scandola, F.; Bignozzi, C. A.; Chiorboli, C.; Indelli, M. T.; Rampi, M. A. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1990, 97, 299-312.
- 788. Holmes, S. M.; Girolami, G. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 5593-5594.
- 789. Mallah, T.; Marvilliers, A.; Rivière, E. Spec. Publ. R. Soc. Chem. 2000, 252, 279-298.
- 790. Ohkoshi, S.-I.; Hashimoto, K. J. Photochem. Photobiol. C 2001, 2, 71-88.
- 791. El Fallah, M. S.; Ribas, J.; Solans, X.; Font-Bardia, M. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 2001, 247-250.
- 792. Kou, H.-Z.; Tang, J. K.; Liao, D.-Z.; Gao, S.; Cheng, P.; Jiang, Z.-H.; Yan, S.-P.; Wang, G.-L.; Chansou, B.; Tuchagues, J. P. *Inorg. Chem.* 2001, 40, 4839–4844.
- 793. Kou, H.-Z.; Gao, S.; Jin, X.-L. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 6295-6300.
- 794. Kou, H.-Z.; Gao, S.; Bai, O.; Wang, Z.-M. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 6287-6294.
- 795. Jacobs, H.; Hennig, T. J. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1998, 624, 1823-1828.
- 796. Zachwieja, U.; Jacobs, H. Z. Kristallogr. 1993, 206, 247-254.
- 797. Andersen, P.; Glerup, J.; Gumm, A.; Nielsen, K. M. Acta Chem. Scand. 1999, 53, 391-398.
- 798. Andersen, P.; Bengaard, H.; Glerup, J.; Gumm, A.; Larsen, S. Acta Chem. Scand. 1998, 52, 1313–1321.
- 799. Zhang, Q.-F.; Chim, J. L. C.; Lai, W.; Wong, W.-T.; Leung, W.-H. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 2470-2471.
- 800. Goher, M. A. S.; Abu-Youssef, M. A. M.; Mautner, F. A.; Fritzer, H. P. Z. Naturforsch., B: Chem. Sci. 1992, 47, 1754–1758.
- 801. Wadle, H.; Dehnicke, K.; Fenske, D. Z. Naturforsch., B: Anorg. Chem., Org. Chem. 1985, 40B, 1314-1319.
- 802. Rani, D. S.; Ananthalakshmi, P. V.; Jayatyagaraju, V. Indian J. Chem., Sect. A 1999, 38A, 843-846.
- 803. Chen, Y.; Perkovic, M. W. Inorg. Chim. Acta 2001, 317, 127-132.
- 804. Singh, D. P.; Rana, V. B. Polyhedron 1995, 14, 2901-2906.
- Ni-iya, K.; Fuyuhiro, A.; Yagi, T.; Nasu, S.; Kuzushita, K.; Morimoto, S.; Kaizaki, S. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 2001, 74, 1891–1897.
- 806. Matsumoto, N.; Inoue, K.; Okawa, H.; Kida, S. Chem. Lett. 1989, 1251-1254.
- 807. Schmitz-Dumont, O.; Pilzecker, J.; Piepenbrink, H. F. Z. Anorg. Allgem. Chem. 1941, 248, 175–207; Chem. Abstr. 1943, 37, 39099.
- 808. Springborg, J. Adv. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 32, 55-169.
- 809. Andersen, P. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1989, 94, 47-65.
- 810. Wieghardt, K.; Guttmann, M.; Ventur, D.; Gebert, W. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1985, 527, 33-44.
- 811. Hodgson, D. J.; Pedersen, E.; Toftlund, H.; Weiss, C. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1986, 120, 177-184.
- 812. Andersen, P.; Bang, E. Acta Chem. Scand., Ser. A 1986, A40, 476-478.
- 813. Teixidor, F.; Colomer, J.; Casabó, J.; Molins, E.; Miravitlles, C.; Palacio, F. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1988, 147, 151-157.
- 814. Hodgson, D. J.; Michelsen, K.; Pedersen, E. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1988, 1558–1559.
- 815. Hodgson, D. J.; Zietlow, M. H.; Pedersen, E.; Toftlund, H. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1988, 149, 111-117.
- 816. Gafford, B. G.; Holwerda, R. A. Inorg. Chem. 1989, 28, 60-66.
- 817. Bang, E.; Michelsen, K.; Nielsen, K. M.; Pedersen, E. Acta Chem. Scand. 1989, 43, 748-753.
- 818. Zhong, Z. J.; Matsumoto, N.; Okawa, H.; Kida, S. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 436-439.
- 819. Glerup, J.; Goodson, P. A.; Hodgson, D. J.; Lynn, M. H.; Michelsen, K. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 4785-4791.
- 820. Glerup, J.; Weihe, H.; Goodson, P. A.; Hodgson, D. J. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1993, 212, 281-288.
- 821. Glerup, J.; Larsen, S.; Weihe, H. Acta Chem. Scand. 1993, 47, 1154-1161.
- 822. Corbin, K. M.; Glerup, J.; Hodgson, D. J.; Lynn, M. H.; Michelsen, K.; Nielsen, K. M. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 18-26.
- 823. Rominger, F.; Müller, A.; Thewalt, U. Chem. Ber. 1994, 127, 797-804.
- 824. Fujihara, T.; Fuyuhiro, A.; Kaizaki, S. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1995, 1813-1821.
- 825. Rominger, F.; Thewalt, U. Z. Naturforsch., B: Chem. Sci. 1996, 51, 1716-1724.
- 826. Gutmann, N.; Müller, B. J. Solid State Chem. 1996, 122, 214-220.
- 827. Harris, P.; Birkedal, H.; Larsen, S.; Güdel, H. U. Acta Crystallogr. 1997, B53, 795-802.
- 828. Kalsbeek, N.; Larsen, S. Acta Chem. Scand. 1999, 53, 149-154.
- 829. Visser, H. G.; Purcell, W.; Basson, S. S. Polyhedron 1999, 18, 2795-2801.
- 830. Glerup, J.; Weihe, H. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 2816-2819.
- 831. Flores, S.; Ellis, D. E. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 6346-6353.
- 832. Castell, O.; Caballol, R. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 668-673.
- 833. Fendorf, S.; Wielinga, B. W.; Hansel, C. M. Int. Geol. Rev. 2000, 42, 691-701.
- 834. Rao, J. R.; Nair, B. U.; Ramasami, T. J. Soc. Leather Technol. Chem. 1997, 81, 234-238.

- 835. Raghava Rao, J.; Gayatri, R.; Rajaram, R.; Nair, B. U.; Ramasami, T. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1999, 1472, 595-602.
- 836. Covington, A. D.; Lampard, G. S.; Menderes, O.; Chadwick, A. V.; Rafeletos, G.; O'Brien, P. Polyhedron 2001, 20, 461-466
- 837. Spiccia, L.; Stoeckli-Evans, H.; Marty, W.; Giovanoli, R. Inorg. Chem. 1987, 26, 474-482.
- 838. Crimp, S. J.; Fallon, G. D.; Spiccia, L. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1992, 197-198.
- 839. Drljaca, A.; Hockless, D. C. R.; Moubaraki, B.; Murray, K. S.; Spiccia, L. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 1988-1989.
- 840. Airey, S.; Drljaca, A.; Hardie, M. J.; Raston, C. L. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 1999, 1137-1138.
- 841. Drljaca, A.; Hardie, M. J.; Raston, C. L.; Spiccia, L. Chem. -Eur. J. 1999, 5, 2295-2299.
- 842. Telushchenko, E. A.; Kirillov, A. M.; Kopylovich, M. N.; Baev, A. K. Russ. J. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 46, 939-941.
- 843. Kopylovich, M. N.; Iponova, N. A.; Baev, A. K.; Kirillov, A. M. Russ. J. Phys. Chem. 2000, 74, 1607–1610.
- 844. Spiccia, L.; Marty, W. Polyhedron 1991, 10, 619-628.
- 845. Ardon, M.; Bino, A. Inorg. Chem. 1985, 24, 1343-1347.
- 846. Ardon, M.; Bino, A.; Michelsen, K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 1986-1990.
- 847. Kaizaki, S.; Azuma, N.; Fuyuhiro, A. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1998, 274, 210-214.
- 848. Bossek, U.; Wieghardt, K.; Nuber, B.; Weiss, J. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1990, 102, 1055-1057.
- 849. McKenna, A. G.; Pennington, W. T.; Fanning, J. C. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1991, 183, 127-129.
- 850. Ardon, M.; Bino, A.; Michelsen, K.; Pedersen, E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 5855-5856.
- 851. Goodson, P. A.; Glerup, J.; Hodgson, D. J.; Michelsen, K.; Rychlewska, U. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 359-366.
- 852. Andersen, P.; Larsen, S.; Pretzmann, U. Acta Chem. Scand. 1993, 47, 1147-1153.
- 853. Ardon, M.; Bino, A.; Michelsen, K.; Pedersen, E.; Thompson, R. C. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 4147-4150.
- 854. Goodson, P. A.; Glerup, J.; Hodgson, D. J.; Jensen, N. B.; Michelsen, K. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 2001, 2783-2790.
- 855. Farrugia, L. J.; Macdonald, N. M.; Peacock, R. D.; Robb, J. Polyhedron 1995, 14, 541-545.
- 856. Holm, R. H. Chem. Rev. 1987, 87, 1401-1449.
- 857. Gafford, B. G.; Holwerda, R. A. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 27, 210-212.
- 858. Sizova, O. V.; Panin, A. I.; Baranovskii, V. I.; Shirokov, D. V. J. Struct. Chem. 1997, 38, 375-381.
- 859. Gafford, B. G.; O'Rear, C.; Zhang, J. H.; O'Connor, C. J.; Holwerda, R. A. Inorg. Chem. 1989, 28, 1720-1726.
- 860. Gafford, B. G.; Holwerda, R. A.; Schugar, H. J.; Potenza, J. A. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 27, 1126-1128.
- 861. Tekut, T. F.; O'Connor, C. J.; Holwerda, R. A. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 324–328. 862. Dalley, N. K.; Kou, X.; O'Connor, C. J.; Holwerda, R. A. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 2196–2201.
- 863. Bessire, D. R.; Holwerda, R. A. Int. J. Chem. Kinet. 1999, 31, 351-356.
- 864. Nichols, P. J.; Fallon, G. D.; Moubaraki, B.; Murray, K. S.; West, B. O. Polyhedron 1993, 12, 2205-2213.
- 865. Berry, K. J.; Moubaraki, B.; Murray, K. S.; Nichols, P. J.; Schulz, L. D.; West, B. O. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 4123-4133.
- 866. Clegg, W. Acta Crystallogr. 1985, C41, 1830-1831.
- 867. Barybin, M. V.; Diaconescu, P. L.; Cummins, C. C. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 2892-2897.
- 868. Clerac, R.; Cotton, F. A.; Murillo, C. A.; Wang, X. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 2001, 205-206.
- 869. Di Vaira, M.; Mani, F. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1990, 191-194.
- 870. Bencini, A.; Di Vaira, M.; Mani, F. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1991, 41-44.
- 871. Nakahanada, M.; Fujihara, T.; Fuyuhiro, A.; Kaizaki, S. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 1315-1316.
- 872. Antsyshkina, A. S.; Porai-Koshits, M. A.; Arkhangel'skii, I. V.; Diallo, I. N. Russ. J. Inorg. Chem. 1987, 32, 1700 - 1703
- 873. Bradshaw, J. E.; Grossie, D. A.; Mullica, D. F.; Pennington, D. E. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1988, 141, 41-47.
- 874. Kato, H.; Nakata, K.; Nagasawa, A.; Yamaguchi, T.; Sasaki, Y.; Ito, T. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1991, 64, 3463-3465.
- 875. Yu, X.; Jiang, Y.; Li, J. Gaodeng Xuexiao Huaxue Xuebao 1991, 12, 1145-1148; Chem. Abstr. 1992, 116, 136476.
- 876. Mullica, D. F.; Pennington, D. E.; Bradshaw, J. E.; Sappenfield, E. L. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1992, 191, 3-6.
- 877. Yu, X.; Jiang, Y. Huaxue Xuebao 1992, 50, 649-653; Chem. Abstr. 1992, 117, 183698.
- 878. Wu, D.; Xie, W.; Zhang, L. Jiegou Huaxue 1992, 11, 212-215; Chem. Abstr. 1993, 118, 136700.
- 879. Lim, M. C.; Chen, W.; Gan, N.; Jelan, A. M.; Butcher, R. J. J. Crystallogr. Spectrosc. Res. 1993, 23, 13-18.
- 880. Anson, C. E.; Chai-Sa'ard, N.; Bourke, J. P.; Cannon, R. D.; Jayasooriya, U. A.; Powell, A. K. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 1502–1507.
- 881. Karu, E.; Anson, C. E.; Cannon, R. D.; Jayasooriya, U. A.; Powell, A. K. Acta Crystallogr. 1993, C49, 1929–1932.
- 882. Harton, A.; Nagi, M. K.; Glass, M. M.; Junk, P. C.; Atwood, J. L.; Vincent, J. B. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1994, 217, 171-179.
- 883. Batsanov, A. S.; Struchkov, Y. T.; Gerbeleu, N. V.; Timko, G. A.; Manole, O. S. Koord. Khim. 1994, 20, 833-837; Chem. Abstr. 1995, 122, 70646.
- 884. Revenko, M. D.; Timko, G. A.; Ursu, A. K.; Mazus, M. D.; Kravtsov, V. K.; Rotaru, V. K. Russ. J. Coord. Chem. 1995, 21, 444-448.
- 885. Anson, C. E.; Bourke, J. P.; Cannon, R. D.; Jayasooriya, U. A.; Molinier, M.; Powell, A. K. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 1265-1267.
- 886. Cui, Y.; Zhang, L.-N.; Huang, X.-Y.; He, L.-J.; Wang, Y.-M.; Cai, S.-H.; Chen, B. Jiegou Huaxue 1997, 16, 247-252; Chem. Abstr. 1997, 127, 59795.
- 887. Blake, A. B.; Sinn, E.; Yavari, A.; Murray, K. S.; Moubaraki, B. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1998, 45-50.
- 888. Fujihara, T.; Aonahata, J.; Kumakura, S.; Nagasawa, A.; Murakami, K.; Ito, T. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 3779–3784.
- 889. Cannon, R. D.; Jayasooriya, U. A.; Sowrey, F. E.; Tilford, C.; Little, A.; Bourke, J. P.; Rogers, R. D.; Vincent, J. B.; Kearley, G. J. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 5675-5677.
- 890. Atkinson, I. M.; Benelli, C.; Murrie, M.; Parsons, S.; Winpenny, R. E. P. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 1999, 285-286.
- 891. Lieberman, R. L.; Bino, A.; Mirsky, N.; Summers, D. A.; Thompson, R. C. Inorg. Chim. Acta 2000, 297, 1-5.
- 892. Palii, S. P.; Richardson, D. E.; Hansen, M. L.; Iversen, B. B.; Larsen, F. K.; Singerean, L.; Timco, G. A.; Gerbeleu, N. V.; Jennings, K. R.; Eyler, J. R. Inorg. Chim. Acta 2001, 319, 23-42.
- 893. Belli Dell Amico, D.; Calderazzo, F.; Gingl, F.; Labella, L.; Straehle, J. Gazz. Chim. Ital. 1994, 124, 375-380.
- 894. Bourke, J. P.; Karu, E.; Cannon, R. D. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 1577-1581.

- 895. Fujihara, T.; Yasui, M.; Ochikoshi, J.; Terasaki, Y.; Nagasawa, A. Inorg. React. Mech. (Amsterdam) 2000, 2, 119-128
- 896. Kingry, K. F.; Royer, A. C.; Vincent, J. B. J. Inorg. Biochem. 1998, 72, 79-88.
- 897. Bourke, J. P.; Cannon, R. D.; Grinter, R.; Jayasooriya, U. A. Spectrochim. Acta, Part A 1993, 49A, 685-690.
- 898. Edwards, A. B.; Charnock, J. M.; Garner, C. D.; Blake, A. B. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1995, 2515-2519.
- 899. Ellis, T.; Glass, M.; Harton, A.; Folting, K.; Huffman, J. C.; Vincent, J. B. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 5522-5527.
- 900. Cui, Y.; Wang, Y.-M.; Chen, B.; Cai, S.-H.; Zhou, W.-B.; He, L.-J.; Zhang, L.-N.; Fu, G.-X.; Qi, W.-N. Jiegou Huaxue 1999, 18, 399-405; Chem. Abstr. 1999, 132, 102011.
- 901. Zhuk, Y. Y.; Strizhakova, N. G.; Maletin, Y. A. *Theor. Exp. Chem.* **2001**, *36*, 215–219. 902. van den Bergen, A.; Colton, R.; Percy, M.; West, B. O. Inorg. Chem. **1993**, *32*, 3408–3411.
- 903. Jayasooriya, U. A.; Cannon, R. D.; Anson, C. E.; Karu, E.; Saad, A. K.; Bourke, J. P.; Kearley, G. J.; White, R. P. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1998, 37, 317-320.
- 904. Stride, J. A.; Jayasooriya, U. A.; Eckert, J. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1999, 38, 116-121.
- 905. Kotseruba, V. A.; Chikhichin, D. G.; Kamalov, G. L.; Gerbeleu, N. V.; Timko, G. A.; Synzheryan, L. D. Theor. Exp. Chem. 1999, 35, 172-178.
- 906. Seki, K.; Mori, K.; Takamizawa, S. (Osaka Gas Co., Japan). Japan Patent 10,316,684, December 2, 1998; Chem. Abstr. 1998, 130, 84008.
- 907. Vincent, J. B. (University of Alabama, USA). U.S. Patent 6,149,948, November 21, 2000; Chem. Abstr. 2000, 133,359244.
- 908. Vincent, J. B.; Davis, C. M. (University of Alabama, USA). U.S. Patent 6,197,816, March 6, 2001; Chem. Abstr. 2001, 134,207223.
- 909. Sun, Y. J.; Mallya, K.; Ramirez, J.; Vincent, J. B. J. Biol. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 4, 838-845.
- 910. Davis, C. M.; Royer, A. C.; Vincent, J. B. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 5316-5320.
- 911. Turowski, P. N.; Bino, A.; Lippard, S. J. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1990, 102, 811-812.
- 912. Brudenell, S. J.; Crimp, S. J.; Higgs, J. K. E.; Moubaraki, B.; Murray, K. S.; Spiccia, L. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1996, 247, 35-41.
- 913. Kaas, K.; Springborg, J. Acta Chem. Scand., Ser. A 1986, A40, 515-521.
- 914. Green, C. A.; Koine, N.; Legg, J. I.; Willett, R. D. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1990, 176, 87-93.
- 915. Fujihara, T.; Fuyuhiro, A.; Kaizaki, S. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1998, 278, 15-23.
- 916. Gafford, B. G.; Marsh, R. E.; Schaefer, W. P.; Zhang, J. H.; O'Connor, C. J.; Holwerda, R. A. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 4652-4657.
- 917. Martin, L. L.; Wieghardt, K.; Blondin, G.; Girerd, J. J.; Nuber, B.; Weiss, J. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1990, 1767-1769.
- 918. Hotzelmann, R.; Wieghardt, K.; Flörke, U.; Haupt, H. J.; Weatherburn, D. C.; Bonvoisin, J.; Blondin, G.; Girerd, J. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 1681-1696.
- 919. Hotzelmann, R.; Wieghardt, K.; Ensling, J.; Romstedt, H.; Gütlich, P.; Bill, E.; Flörke, U.; Haupt, H. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 9470-9483.
- 920. Harton, A.; Terrell, K.; Huffman, J. C.; MacDonald, C.; Beatty, A.; Li, S.; O'Connor, C. J.; Vincent, J. B. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 4875-4882.
- 921. Nagi, M. K.; Harton, A.; Donald, S.; Lee, Y.-S.; Sabat, M.; O'Connor, C. J.; Vincent, J. B. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 3813-3820.
- 922. Bino, A.; Chayat, R.; Pedersen, E.; Schneider, A. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 856-858.
- 923. Donald, S.; Terrell, K.; Vincent, J. B.; Robinson, K. D. Polyhedron 1995, 14, 971-976.
- 924. Pan, W.-Y.; Yu, X.-F. Chin. J. Chem. 1994, 12, 534-541.
- 925. Sakagami, N.; Tsunekawa, M.; Konno, T.; Okamoto, K. Chem. Lett. 1997, 575-576.
- 926. Chaudhuri, P.; Hess, M.; Rentschler, E.; Weyhermuller, T.; Florke, U. New J. Chem. 1998, 22, 553-555.
- 927. Eshel, M.; Bino, A.; Felner, I.; Johnston, D. C.; Luban, M.; Miller, L. L. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 1376-1380.
- 928. Eshel, M.; Bino, A. Inorg. Chim. Acta 2001, 320, 127-132.
- 929. Batsanov, A. S.; Timko, G. A.; Struchkov, Y. T.; Gerbeleu, N. V.; Indrichan, K. M. Koord. Khim. 1991, 17, 662-669; Chem. Abstr. 1991, 115, 125537.
- 930. Parsons, S.; Smith, A. A.; Winpenny, R. E. P. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 2000, 579-580.
- 931. Eshel, M.; Bino, A. Inorg. Chim. Acta 2002, 329, 45-50.
- 932. Royer, A. C.; Rogers, R. D.; Arrington, D. L.; Street, S. C.; Vincent, J. B. Polyhedron 2002, 21, 155-165.
- 933. Bang, E.; Eriksen, J.; Glerup, J.; Mønsted, L.; Mønsted, O.; Weihe, H. Acta Chem. Scand. 1991, 45, 367-372.
- 934. Spiccia, L.; Fallon, G. D.; Markiewicz, A.; Murray, K. S.; Riesen, H. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 1066-1072.
- 935. Larsen, S.; Michelsen, K.; Pedersen, E. Acta Chem. Scand., Ser. A 1986, A40, 63-76.
- 936. Cotton, F. A.; Daniels, L. M.; Murillo, C. A.; Zuniga, L. A. Eur. J. Solid State Inorg. Chem. 1994, 31, 535-544.
- 937. Glerup, J.; Hazell, A.; Michelsen, K. Acta Chem. Scand. 1991, 45, 1025-1031.
- 938. Xu, L.; Liu, H.; Yan, D.; Huang, J.; Zhang, Q. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1994, 2099-2107.
- 939. Wassermann, K.; Lunk, H.-J.; Palm, R.; Fuchs, J.; Steinfeldt, N.; Stoesser, R.; Pope, M. T. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 3273-3279.
- 940. Lacroix, P. G.; Malfant, I.; Bénard, S.; Yu, P.; Rivière, E.; Nakatani, K. Chem. Mater. 2001, 13, 441-449.
- 941. Ohba, M.; Tamaki, H.; Matsumoto, N.; Okawa, H. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 5385-5390.
- 942. Schmalle, H. W.; Pellaux, R.; Decurtins, S. Z. Kristallogr. 1996, 211, 533-538.
- 943. Rochon, F. D.; Melanson, R.; Andruh, M. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 6086-6092.
- 944. Coronado, E.; Galán-Mascarós, J. R.; Giménez-Saiz, C.; Gómez-García, C. J.; Ruiz-Pérez, C.; Triki, S. Adv. Mater. (Weinheim, Ger.) 1996, 8, 737-740.
- 945. Bénard, S.; Yu, P.; Coradin, T.; Rivière, E.; Nakatani, K.; Clément, R. Adv. Mater. (Weinheim, Ger.) 1997, 9, 981-984
- 946. Bénard, S.; Yu, P.; Audière, J. P.; Rivière, E.; Clément, R.; Guilhem, J.; Tchertanov, L.; Nakatani, K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 9444-9454.
- 947. Masters, V. M.; Sharrad, C. A.; Bernhardt, P. V.; Gahan, L. R.; Moubaraki, B.; Murray, K. S. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1998, 413-416.

- 948. Sakagami, N.; Okamoto, K. Chem. Lett. 1998, 201-202.
- 949. Decurtins, S.; Gross, M.; Schmalle, H. W.; Ferlay, S. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 2443-2449.
- 950. Stanica, N.; Stager, C. V.; Cimpoesu, M.; Andruh, M. Polyhedron 1998, 17, 1787-1789.
- 951. Sanada, T.; Suzuki, T.; Yoshida, T.; Kaizaki, S. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 4712-4717.
- 952. Subhan, M. A.; Suzuki, T.; Kaizaki, S. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 2001, 492-497.
- 953. Zhang, X.; Cui, Y.; Zheng, F.; Huang, J. Chem. Lett. 1999, 1111-1112.
- 954. Triki, S.; Bérézovsky, F.; Sala Pala, J.; Coronado, E.; Gómez-García, C. J.; Clemente, J. M.; Riou, A.; Molinié, P. *Inorg. Chem.* **2000**, *39*, 3771–3776.
- 955. Triki, S.; Bérézovsky, F.; Sala Pala, J.; Gómez-García, C. J.; Coronado, E.; Costuas, K.; Halet, J.-F. *Inorg. Chem.* 2001, 40, 5127–5132.
- 956. Andrés, R.; Brissard, M.; Gruselle, M.; Train, C.; Vaissermann, J.; Malézieux, B.; Jamet, J.-P.; Verdaguer, M. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 4633–4640.
- 957. Costisor, O.; Mereiter, K.; Julve, M.; Lloret, F.; Journaux, Y.; Linert, W.; Andruh, M. Inorg. Chim. Acta 2001, 324, 352–358.
- 958. Yan, C.-W.; Li, Y.-T. Synth. React. Inorg. Met.-Org. Chem. 2000, 30, 1519-1534.
- 959. Scott, S. L.; Bakac, A.; Espenson, J. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 4605-4610.
- 960. Bencini, A.; Daul, C. A.; Dei, A.; Mariotti, F.; Lee, H.; Shultz, D. A.; Sorace, L. *Inorg. Chem.* 2001, 40, 1582–1590. 961. Böttcher, A.; Elias, H.; Glerup, J.; Neuburger, M.; Olsen, C. E.; Springborg, J.; Weihe, H.; Zehnder, M. *Acta Chem.*
- Scand. 1994, 48, 981–988. 962. Burdinski, D.; Birkelbach, F.; Gerdan, M.; Trautwein, A. X.; Wieghardt, K.; Charudhuri, P. J. Chem. Soc., Chem.
- Commun. 1995, 963–964.
- 963. Thomas, S. M.; Bertrand, J. A.; Occelli, M. L.; Huggins, F.; Gould, S. A. C. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 2098–2105.
- 964. Beswick, M. A.; Mosquera, M. E. G.; Palmer, J. S.; Wright, D. S.; Choi, N.; McPartlin, M. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 1998, 1341–1342.
- 965. House, D. A.; McKee, V.; Steel, P. J. Inorg. Chem. 1986, 25, 4884-4889.
- 966. Lintvedt, R. L.; Ranger, G.; Ceccarelli, C. Inorg. Chem. 1985, 24, 1819-1821.
- 967. Caneschi, A.; Dei, A.; Lee, H.; Shultz, D. A.; Sorace, L. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 408-411.
- 968. Li, Y.-T.; Yan, C.-W.; Chen, Y.; Zeng, X.-C.; Liao, D.-Z. Chin. J. Chem. 2000, 18, 555-560.
- 969. Youssef, N. S. Synth. React. Inorg. Met.-Org. Chem. 2000, 30, 225-238.
- 970. Burdinski, D.; Bill, E.; Birkelbach, F.; Wieghardt, K.; Chaudhuri, P. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 1160–1166.
- 971. Burdinski, D.; Birkelbach, F.; Weyhermueller, T.; Flörke, U.; Haupt, H.-J.; Lengen, M.; Trautwein, A. X.; Bill, E.; Wieghardt, K.; Chaudhuri, P. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 1009–1020.
- 972. Zhang, S.-W.; Liao, D.-Z.; Jiang, Z.-H.; Wang, G.-L. Polyhedron 1996, 15, 4289-4293.
- 973. Birkelbach, F.; Winter, M.; Flörke, U.; Haupt, H.-J.; Butzlaff, C.; Lengen, M.; Bill, E.; Trautwein, A. X.; Wieghardt, K.; Chaudhuri, P. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 3990–4001.
- 974. Ross, S.; Weyhermuller, T.; Bill, E.; Wieghardt, K.; Chaudhuri, P. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 6656–6665.
- 975. Sakagami, N.; Nakahanada, M.; Ino, K.; Hioki, A.; Kaizaki, S. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 683-688.
- 976. Sakagami-Yoshida, N.; Teramoto, M.; Hioki, A.; Fuyuhiro, A.; Kaizaki, S. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 5717-5724.
- 977. Carlson-Day, K. M.; Eglin, J. L.; Smith, L. T. Inorg. Chim. Acta 2000, 310, 282-284.
- 978. Toftlund, H.; Simonsen, O.; Pedersen, E. Acta Chem. Scand. 1990, 44, 676-682.
- 979. Holwerda, R. A. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1999, 288, 211-214.
- 980. Singh, B.; Sahai, P. Synth. React. Inorg. Met.-Org. Chem. 1998, 28, 61-74.
- 981. Li, Y.-T.; Yan, C.-W.; Jing, Z.-H.; Zeng, X.-C. Synth. React. Inorg. Met.-Org. Chem. 2000, 30, 1301–1315.
- 982. Li, Y.-T.; Yan, C.-W.; Hu, C.-X.; Liao, D.-Z. Chin. J. Chem. 2001, 19, 257-262.
- 983. Li, Y.-T.; Yan, C.-W.; Miao, S.-H.; Liao, D.-Z. Polyhedron 1998, 17, 2491–2496.
- 984. Askham, F. R.; Maverick, A. W.; Stanley, G. G. Inorg. Chem. 1987, 26, 3963–3966.
- 985. Bino, A.; Johnston, D. C.; Goshorn, D. P.; Halbert, T. R.; Stiefel, E. I. Science (Washington DC) 1988, 241, 1479–1481.
- 986. Schenker, R.; Weihe, H.; Güdel, H. U.; Kersting, B. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 3355-3362.
- 987. Nicholson, J. R.; Christou, G.; Wang, R. J.; Huffman, J. C.; Chang, H. R.; Hendrickson, D. N. Polyhedron 1991, 10, 2255–2263.
- 988. Mitsumi, M.; Okawa, H.; Sakiyama, H.; Ohba, M.; Matsumoto, N.; Kurisaki, T.; Wakita, H. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1993, 2991–2994.
- 989. Kitano, K.; Tanaka, R.; Kimura, T.; Tsuda, T.; Shimizu, S.; Takagi, H.; Nishioka, T.; Shiomi, D.; Ichimura, A.; Kinoshita, I.; Isobe, K.; Ooi, S. *Dalton* **2000**, 995–1000.
- 990. Zhang, K.-L.; Chen, W.; Xu, Y.; Wang, Z.; Zhong, Z. J.; You, X.-Z. Polyhedron 2001, 20, 2033–2036.
- 991. Arif, A. M.; Jones, R. A.; Hefner, J. G. J. Crystallogr. Spectrosc. Res. 1986, 16, 673-679.
- 992. Cotton, F. A.; Eglin, J. L.; Luck, R. L.; Son, K. A. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 1802-1807.
- 993. Derstroff, V.; Ksenofontov, V.; Gütlich, P.; Tremel, W. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 1998, 187-188.
- 994. Kamiguchi, S.; Imoto, H.; Saito, T. Chem. Lett. 1996, 555-556.
- 995. Miyashita, Y.; Sakagami, N.; Yamada, Y.; Konno, T.; Hidaka, J.; Okamoto, K. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1998, 71, 661-670.
- 996. Smékal, Z.; Březina, F.; Šindelář, Z.; Klička, R.; Nádvorník, M. Transition Met. Chem. (London) 1997, 22, 299-301.
- 997. Cotton, F. A.; Maloney, D. J.; Su, J. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1995, 236, 21-29.
- 998. Clegg, W.; Errington, R. J.; Hockless, D. C. R.; Glen, A. D.; Richards, D. G. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1990, 1565–1566.
- 999. Sanzenbacher, R.; Böttcher, A.; Elias, H.; Hüber, M.; Haase, W.; Glerup, J.; Jensen, T. B.; Neuburger, M.; Zehnder, M.; Springborg, J.; Olsen, C. E. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 7493–7499.
- 1000. Gérbéléu, N. V.; Struchkov, Y. T.; Timko, G. A.; Batsanov, A. S.; Indrichan, K. M.; Popovich, G. A. Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 1990, 313, 1459–1462; Chem. Abstr. 1991, 114, 134893.
- 1001. van Slageren, J.; Sessoli, R.; Gatteschi, D.; Smith, A. A.; Helliwell, M.; Winpenny, R. E. P.; Cornia, A.; Barra, A.-L.; Jansen, A. G. M.; Rentschel, E.; Timco, G. A. Chem. Eur. J. 2002, 8, 277–285.
- 1002. Kramer, K. W.; Schenker, R.; Hauser, J.; Weihe, H.; Güdel, H. U.; Burgi, H. B. Z. Anorg. Allgem. Chem. 2001, 627, 2511–2516.

- 1003. Schenker, R.; Triest, M.; Reber, C.; Güdel, H. U. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 5787-5794.
- 1004. Stranger, R.; Turner, A.; Delfts, C. D. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 4093–4100. 1005. Dewan, J. C.; Edwards, A. J.; Guy, J. J. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1986, 2623–2627.
- 1006. Stamp, L. M.; Mang, S. A.; Holmes, A. B.; Knights, K. A.; de Miguel, Y. R.; McConvey, I. F. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 2001, 2502-2503.
- 1007. Angelino, M. D.; Laibinis, P. E. J. Polym. Sci., Part A: Polym. Chem. 1999, 37, 3888-3898.
- 1008. Jose, L.; Pillai, V. N. R. Polymer 1997, 39, 229-233.
- 1009. Geckeler, K. E.; Choi, S. J. Macromol. Rapid Commun. 2001, 22, 855-858.
- 1010. Liu, M.-H.; Zhang, H.; Zhang, X.-S.; Deng, Y.; Liu, W.-G.; Zhan, H.-Y. Water Environ. Res. 2001, 73, 322-328.
- 1011. de Castro Dantas, T. N.; Dantas Neto, A. A.; de A. Moura, M. C. P.; Barros Neto, E. L.; de Paiva Telemaco, E. Langmuir 2001, 17, 4256-4260.
- 1012. Choi, S. J.; Geckeler, K. E. Polym. Int. 2000, 49, 1519-1524.
- 1013. El-Sawy, N. M.; Al Sagheer, F. Eur. Polym. J. 2000, 37, 161-166.
- 1014. Varghese, S.; Lele, A. K.; Srinivas, D.; Mashelkar, R. A. J. Phys. Chem. B 1999, 103, 9530-9532.
- 1015. Sydansk, R. D. SPE Reservoir Eng. 1990, 5, 346-352.
- 1016. Sydansk, R. D.; Ibele, L. C. (Marathon Oil Co., USA). Appl. 8 804,718, June 30, 1988; Chem. Abstr. 1988, 109, 213417.
- 1017. Kane-Maguire, N. A. P.; Kane-Maguire, L. A. P. Abstr. Pap.-Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 219, INOR-091.
- 1018. Ko, Y. G.; Choi, U. S.; Ahn, B. G.; Ahn, D. J. J. Polym. Sci., Part A: Polym. Chem. 2000, 38, 2815-2823.
- 1019. Kaur, B.; Jain, R. K.; Gur, I. S.; Bhatnagar, H. L.; Schulten, H. R. J. Anal. Appl. Pyrolysis 1987, 11, 465-498.
- 1020. Kwei, J. Z. (E. I. Du Pont De Nemours and Company, USA). US Patent 5,904,797, May 18, 1999; Chem. Abstr. 1999, 130, 353329.
- 1021. Archer, R. D.; Lauterbach, A.; Ochaya, V. O. Polyhedron 1994, 13, 2043-2048.
- 1022. Uflyand, I. E.; Kokoreva, I. V.; Starikov, A. G.; Sheinker, V. N.; Pomogailo, A. D. Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR, Ser. Khim. 1989, 2468-2474; Chem. Abstr. 1990, 112, 217568.
- 1023. Shul'ga, Y. M.; Chernushevich, I. V.; Dzhardimalieva, G. I.; Roshchupkina, O. S.; Dodonov, A. F.; Pomogailo, A. D. Izv. Akad. Nauk, Ser. Khim. 1994, 1047-1051; Chem. Abstr. 1995, 122, 82137.
- 1024. Elliott, B. J.; Scranton, A. B.; Cameron, J. H.; Bowman, C. N. Chem. Mater. 2000, 12, 633-642.
- 1025. Aleksandrov, A. I.; Zelenetskii, A. N.; Aleksandrov, I. A.; Dubinskii, A. A.; Garkusha, O. G.; Prokof'ev, A. I.; Bubnov, N. N. Dokl. Akad. Nauk 2000, 375, 53-55; Chem. Abstr. 2001, 134, 223106.
- 1026. te Nijenhuis, K. Macromol. Symp. 2001, 171, 189-200.
- 1027. Atzei, D.; Ferri, T.; Sadun, C.; Sangiorgio, P.; Caminiti, R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 2552–2558.
- 1028. Reich, T.; Rossberg, A.; Hennig, C.; Reich, G. J. Am. Leather Chem. Assoc. 2001, 96, 133-147.
- 1029. Vishnevskaya, G. P.; Safin, R. S.; Frolova, E. N.; Prosvirin, A. V. Russ. J. Phys. Chem. 1998, 72, 1487–1490.
- 1030. Xu, Y.; Xu, Z.; Tian, W.; Bian, J.; Weng, S.; Li, L.; Xu, D.; Wu, J.; Xu, G. Proc. SPIE Int. Soc. Opt. Eng. 1993, 2089, 198-199.
- 1031. Bryan, R. F.; Greene, P. T.; Stokely, P. F.; Wilson, E. W. J. Inorg. Chem. 1971, 10, 1468-1473.
- 1032. de Meester, P.; Hodgson, D. J. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1977, 1604-1607
- 1033. de Meester, P.; Hodgson, D. J.; Freeman, H. C.; Moore, C. J. Inorg. Chem. 1977, 16, 1494-1498.
- 1034. Pennington, W. T.; Cordes, A. W.; Kyle, D.; Wilson, E. W. J. Acta Crystallogr. 1984, C40, 1322-1324.
- 1035. Madafiglio, K.; Manning, T. M.; Murdoch, C. M.; Tulip, W. R.; Cooper, M. K.; Hambley, T. W.; Freeman, H. C. Acta Crystallogr. 1990, C46, 554-561.
- 1036. Müller, A.; Johannes, K. U.; Straube, M.; Krickemeyer, E.; Bögge, H. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1993, 619, 1037-1046.
- 1037. Sato, M.; Kosaka, M.; Watabe, M. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1985, 58, 874-880.
- 1038. Green, C. A.; Place, H.; Willett, R. D.; Legg, J. I. Inorg. Chem. 1986, 25, 4672-4677.
- 1039. Santos, T. M.; Pedrosa de Jesus, J. D.; Amado, F. M. L.; Domingues, P. M.; Santana-Marques, M. G.; Ferrer-Correia, A. J. Polyhedron 1996, 15, 2887-2894.
- 1040. Nakata, R.; Isa, K.; Oki, H. Anal. Sci. 2001, 17, 453-456.
- 1041. Morozov, V. P.; Belokopytov, V. V.; Zegzhda, G. D.; Moiseenko, V. N. J. Struct. Chem. 1999, 39, 508-513.
- 1042. Chernushenko, E. A.; Vinichenko, I. G.; Zegzhda, G. D. Ukr. Khim. Zh. (Russ. Ed.) 1998, 64, 77-81; Chem. Abstr. **1999**, *131*, 222531.
- 1043. O'Brien, P.; Pedrosa de Jesus, J. D.; Santos, T. M. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1987, 131, 5-7.
- 1044. Santos, T. M.; Pedrosa de Jesus, J.; O'Brien, P. Polyhedron 1992, 11, 1687-1695.
- 1045. Subramaniam, V.; Hoggard, P. E. J. Inorg. Biochem. 1994, 54, 49-54.
- 1046. Oki, H.; Kitagawa, Y.; Nakata, R. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1994, 67, 1825-1827.
- 1047. Oki, H.; Kuwamura, A. Synth. React. Inorg. Met.-Org. Chem. 1991, 21, 1313-1320.
- 1048. Choi, J.-H. J. Photosci. 1996, 3, 43-47.
- 1049. Kabir ud Din; Khan, G. J.; Khan, Z.; Rafiquee, M. Z. A. J. Chem. Res., Synop. 1996, 178-179.
- 1050. Khan, Z.; ; Rafiquee, M. Z. A.; Kabir ud Din. Transition Met. Chem. (London) 1997, 22, 350-355.
- 1051. Abdel-Khalek, A. A.; Sayyah, E.-S. M.; Ewais, H. A. Transition Met. Chem. (London) 1997, 22, 375-380.
- 1052. Abdel-Khalek, A. A.; Sayyah, E.-S. M., ; Ewais, H. A. Transition Met. Chem. (London) 1997, 22, 557-560.
- 1053. Abdel-Khalek, A. A.; Mohamed, A. A.; Ewais, H. A. Transition Met. Chem. (Dordrecht, Neth.) 1999, 24, 233-238. 1054. El-Shahawi, M. S. Transition Met. Chem. (London) 1993, 18, 385-390.
- 1055. Galuszka, G.; Cieślak-Golonka, M.; Szelag, A.; Starosta, J.; Wojciechowska, A. Polyhedron 1998, 17, 3785-3794.
- 1056. Anderson, R. A.; Polansky, M. M.; Bryden, N. A. World Pat. Appl. 0,127,123, April 19, 2001; Chem. Abstr. 2001,
- 134, 265564.
- 1057. Yu, K.; Kou, F.; Wang, Z. (Beijing Juneng Asia Pacific Life Scientific Research Center, Peop. Rep. China). World Pat. Appl. 0,010,962, March 2, 2000; Chem. Abstr. 2000, 132, 199038.
- 1058. Dong, G.; Zhao, C. Peop. Rep. China Patent 1,218,054, June 2, 1999; Chem. Abstr. 2000, 133, 125313.
- 1059. Abdullah, M.; Barrett, J.; O'Brien, P. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1985, 2085-2089.
- 1060. Wiegand, H. J.; Ottenwaelder, H.; Bolt, H. M. Arch. Toxicol., Suppl. 1985, 8, 319-321.
- 1061. O'Brien, P.; Ozolins, Z.; Wang, G. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1989, 166, 301-304.
- 1062. Cieślak-Golonka, M.; Raczko, M.; Staszak, Z. Polyhedron 1992, 11, 2549-2555.

- 1063. Adach, A.; Janyst, J.; Cieślak-Golonka, M. Spectrosc. Lett. 1995, 28, 1259-1273.
- 1064. Cieślak-Golonka, M.; Adach, A.; Žurowski, K. R. J. Therm. Anal. Calorim. 2001, 63, 91-104.
- 1065. Kortenkamp, A.; Curran, B.; O'Brien, P. Carcinogenesis 1992, 13, 307-308.
- 1066. Gulanowski, B.; Cieślak-Golonka, M.; Szyba, K.; Urban, J. BioMetals 1994, 7, 177-184.
- 1067. Mertz, W. Nutr. Rev. 1998, 56, 174-177.
- 1068. Davis, C. M.; Vincent, J. B. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 1997, 339, 335-343.
- 1069. Sun, H.; Li, H.; Sadler, P. J. Chem. Rev. 1999, 99, 2817-2842.
- 1070. Aisen, P.; Aasa, R.; Redfield, A. G. J. Biol. Chem. 1969, 244, 4628-4633.
- 1071. Li, H.; Sadler, P. J.; Sun, H. Eur. J. Biochem. 1996, 242, 387-393.
- 1072. Clodfelder, B. J.; Emamaullee, J.; Hepburn, D. D. D.; Chakov, N. E.; Nettles, H. S.; Vincent, J. B. J. Biol. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 6, 608–617.
- 1073. Govindaraju, K.; Ramasami, T.; Ramaswamy, D. J. Inorg. Biochem. 1989, 35, 137-147.
- 1074. Govindaraju, K.; Ramasami, T.; Ramaswamy, D. J. Inorg. Biochem. 1989, 35, 127–135. 1075. Davis, C. M.; Vincent, J. B. Biochemistry 1997, 36, 4382–4385.
- 1075. Lau, J. R.; Geho, W. B.; Snedeker, G. H. (SDG, Inc., USA). World Pat. Appl. 9,959,545, November 25, 1999;
- *Chem. Abstr.* **1999**, *131*, 356121. 1077. Van Wart, H. E. *Methods Enzymol.* **1988**, *158*, 95–110.
- 1078. Hlavaty, J. J.; Nowak, T. *Biochemistry* **1998**, *37*, 8061–8070.
- 1079. Gayatri, R.; Rajaram, A.; Rajaram, R.; Govindaraju, K.; Rao, J. R.; Nair, B. U.; Ramasami, T. Proc. Indian Acad. Sci., Chem. Sci. 1997, 109, 307-317.
- 1080. Levina, A.; Lay, P. A.; Dixon, N. E. Chem. Res. Toxicol. 2001, 14, 946-950.
- 1081. Arakawa, H.; Ahmad, R.; Naoui, M.; Tajmir-Riahi, H.-A. J. Biol. Chem. 2000, 275, 10150-10153.
- 1082. Zhitkovich, A.; Song, Y.; Quievryn, G.; Voitkun, V. Biochemistry 2001, 40, 549-560.
- 1083. Civitello, E. R.; Leniek, R. G.; Hossler, K. A.; Haebe, K.; Stearns, D. M. Bioconjugate Chem. 2001, 12, 459-463.
- 1084. Calafat, A. M.; Fiol, J. J.; Terron, A.; Moreno, V.; Goodgame, D. M. L.; Hussain, I. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1990, 169, 133–139.
- 1085. Calafat, A. M.; Mulet, D.; Fiol, J. J.; Terron, A.; Moreno, V. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1987, 138, 105-112.
- 1086. Cleland, W. W.; Mildvan, A. S. Advances in Inorganic Biochemistry; Eichhorn, G. L.; Marzilli, L. G., Eds., Elsevier: New York, 1979, Vol. 1, pp 163–191.
- 1087. Linnertz, H.; Lastres Becker, I.; Krumscheid, R.; Amler, E.; Thoenges, D.; Schoner, W. Physiol. Res. (Prague) 1997, 46, 345–349.
- 1088. Tanfani, F.; Linnertz, H.; Obsil, T.; Krumscheid, R.; Urbanova, P.; Jelinek, O.; Mazzanti, L.; Bertoli, E.; Schoner, W.; Amler, E. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 2000, 1457, 94–102.
- 1089. Arndt, J. W.; Gong, W.; Zhong, X.; Showalter, A. K.; Liu, J.; Dunlap, C. A.; Lin, Z.; Paxson, C.; Tsai, M.-D.; Chan, M. K. *Biochemistry* **2001**, *40*, 5368–5375.
- 1090. Zhong, X.; Patel, S. S.; Tsai, M.-D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 235-236.
- 1091. Ekman, D. R.; DiGiammarino, E. L.; Wright, E.; Witter, E. D.; Serpersu, E. H. Biochemistry 2001, 40, 7017-7024.
- 1092. Brown, D. H.; Smith, W. E.; El-Shahawi, M. S.; Wazir, M. F. K. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1986, 124, L25-L26.
- 1093. Khan, Z.; Kabir ud Din. Indian J. Chem., Sect. A 2000, 39A, 522-527.
- 1094. Signorella, S.; Santoro, M.; Frutos, A.; Escandar, G.; Salas-Peregrin, J. M.; Moreno, V.; Gonzalez-Sierra, M.; Sala, L. F. J. Inorg. Biochem. 1999, 73, 93–100.
- 1095. Olstein, A. D.; Feirtag, J. M. World Pat. Appl. 0,127,628, April 19, 2001; Chem. Abstr. 2001, 134, 307594.
- 1096. Arakawa, H.; Watanabe, N.; Tamura, R.; Rao, C. P. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1998, 71, 1993–1998.
- 1097. Bidoglio, G.; Ferrari, D.; Selli, E.; Sena, F.; Tamborini, G. Environ. Sci. Technol. 1997, 31, 3536-3543.
- 1098. Tanaka, S.; Nakayasu, K.; Fukushima, M. Toxicol. Environ. Chem. 1997, 58, 17-23.
- 1099. Cotton, F. A.; Hillard, E. A.; Murillo, C. A.; Zhou, H.-C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 416-417.
- 1100. Clerac, R.; Cotton, F. A.; Daniels, L. M.; Dunbar, K. R.; Murillo, C. A.; Pascual, I. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 748-751.
- 1101. Macartney, D. H. In *Mechanisms of Inorganic and Organometallic Reactions*; Twigg, M. V., Eds.;Plenum Press: New York and London, 1994; Vol. 8, pp 7–30, and previous articles of this series.
- 1102. Baati, R. Synlett 2001, 722.
- 1103. Lazzarini, A. L. F.; Lazzarini, E.; Mariani, M. Radiat. Phys. Chem. 1999, 54, 253-261.
- 1104. Wasielewska, E.; Ilkowska, E. Polyhedron 1993, 12, 461-465.
- 1105. Miekisch, T.; Mai, H. J.; Meyer zu Köcker, R.; Dehnicke, K.; Magull, J.; Goesmann, H. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. **1996**, 622, 583–588.
- 1106. Cotton, F. A.; Daniels, L. M.; Feng, X.; Maloney, D. J.; Murillo, C. A.; Zúñiga, L. A. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1995, 235, 21–28.
- 1107. Holah, D. G.; Hughes, A. N.; Lundeen, C.; Magnuson, V. R. Polyhedron 1998, 17, 2101-2104.
- 1108. Halepoto, D. M.; Larkworthy, L. F.; Povey, D. C.; Tucker, B. J.; Smith, G. W. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1990, 699-701.
- 1109. Henriques, R. T.; Herdtweck, E.; Kühn, F. E.; Lopes, A. D.; Mink, J.; Romão, C. C. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1998, 1293–1298.
- 1110. Larkworthy, L. F.; Leonard, G. A.; Povey, D. C.; Tandon, S. S.; Tucker, B. J.; Smith, G. W. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1994, 1425–1428.
- 1111. Jubb, J.; Larkworthy, L. F.; Oliver, L. F.; Povey, D. C.; Smith, G. W. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1991, 2045–2050.
- 1112. Edema, J. J. H.; Gambarotta, S.; Meetsma, A.; Van Bolhuis, F.; Spek, A. L.; Smeets, W. J. J. *Inorg. Chem.* **1990**, *29*, 2147–2153.
- 1113. Edema, J. J. H.; Gambarotta, S.; Spek, A. L. Inorg. Chem. 1989, 28, 811-812.
- 1114. Edema, J. J. H.; Gambarotta, S.; Meetsma, A.; Spek, A. L.; Smeets, W. J. J.; Chiang, M. Y. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1993, 789–797.
- 1115. Broderick, W. E.; Pressprich, M. R.; Geiser, U.; Willett, R. D.; Legg, J. I. Inorg. Chem. 1986, 25, 3372-3377.
- 1116. Cotton, F. A.; Falvello, L. R.; Murillo, C. A.; Valle, G. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1986, 540-541, 67-79.

- 1117. Alfaro, N. M.; Cotton, F. A.; Daniels, L. M.; Murillo, C. A. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 2718-2723.
- 1118. Reagen, W. K. Prepr.- Am. Chem. Soc., Div. Pet. Chem. 1989, 34, 583-588.
- 1119. Ferreira, V.; Krause, R. A.; Larsen, S. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1988, 145, 29-38.
- 1120. Cotton, F. A.; Murillo, C. A.; Zhou, H.-C. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 3728-3730.
- 1121. Buijink, J. K.; Noltemeyer, M.; Edelmann, F. T. Z. Naturforsch., B: Chem. Sci. 1991, 46, 1328-1332.
- 1122. Schlund, R.; Lux, M.; Edelmann, F.; Reissmann, U.; Rohde, W. (BASF Aktiengesellschaft, Germany). U.S. Patent 5,707,913, January 13, 1998; Chem. Abstr. 1998, 128, 115368.
- 1123. Kersten, J. L.; Kucharczyk, R. R.; Yap, G. P. A.; Rheingold, A. L.; Theopold, K. H. Chem. Eur. J. 1997, 3, 1668–1674.
- 1124. Lawrance, G. A.; Sangster, D. F. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1987, 1425-1429.
- 1125. Bonifačić, M.; Lovrić, J.; Orhanović, M. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1998, 2879-2886.
- 1126. Simmons, C. A.; Bakac, A.; Espenson, J. H. Inorg. Chem. 1989, 28, 581-584.
- 1127. Zahir, K.; Espenson, J. H.; Bakac, A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1988, 110, 5059-5063.
- 1128. Crouse, K. A.; Badri, M. Thermochim. Acta 1991, 177, 239-251.
- 1129. Crouse, K. A.; Badri, M.; Wong, T. Thermochim. Acta 1998, 313, 155-163.
- 1130. Asato, E.; Kida, S.; Murase, I. Inorg. Chem. 1989, 28, 800-802.
- 1131. Shakir, M.; Varkey, S. P.; Khan, T. A. Indian J. Chem., Sect. A 1995, 34A, 72-75.
- 1132. Hao, S.; Edema, J. H. H.; Gambarotta, S.; Bensimon, C. *Inorg. Chem.* **1992**, *31*, 2676–2678. 1133. Jubb, J.; Larkworthy, L. F.; Povey, D. C.; Smith, G. W. *Polyhedron* **1993**, *12*, 1179–1185.
- 1134. Bakac, A.; Scott, S. L.; Espenson, J. H.; Rodgers, K. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 6483-6488. 1135. Guldi, D.; Wasgestian, F.; Zeigerson, E.; Meyerstein, D. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1991, 182, 131-133.
- 1136. Bakac, A.; Espenson, J. H. J. Phys. Chem. 1993, 97, 12249-12253.
- 1137. Im, S.-C.; Kohzuma, T.; McFarlane, W.; Gaillard, J.; Sykes, A. G. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 1388–1396.
- 1138. Penicaud, A.; Hsu, J.; Reed, C. Mater. Res. Soc. Symp. Proc. 1992, 247, 307-310.
- 1139. Okajima, T.; Yamamoto, Y.; Ouchi, Y.; Seki, K. J. Electron Spectrosc. Relat. Phenom. 2001, 114-116, 849-854.
- 1140. Soares, L. D.; Trsic, M.; Berno, B.; Aroca, R. Spectrochim. Acta, Part A 1996, 52A, 1245-1253.
- 1141. Girolami, G. S.; Wilkinson, G.; Galas, A. M. R.; Thornton-Pett, M.; Hursthouse, M. B. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1985, 1339-1348.
- 1142. Halepoto, D. M.; Holt, D. G. L.; Larkworthy, L. F.; Leigh, G. J.; Povey, D. C.; Smith, G. W. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1989, 1322-1323.
- 1143. Redshaw, C.; Wilkinson, G.; Hussain-Bates, B.; Hursthouse, M. B. Polyhedron 1993, 12, 363-370.
- 1144. Cotton, F. A.; Luck, R. L.; Son, K. A. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1990, 168, 3-4.
- 1145. Fryzuk, M. D.; Leznoff, D. B.; Rettig, S. J. Organometallics 1995, 14, 5193-5202.
- 1146. Fryzuk, M. D.; Leznoff, D. B.; Rettig, S. J.; Thompson, R. C. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 5528-5534.
- 1147. Hao, S.; Song, J. I.; Aghabozorg, H.; Gambarotta, S. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1994, 157-158.
- 1148. Halepoto, D. M.; Holt, D. G. L.; Larkworthy, L. F.; Povey, D. C.; Smith, G. W. Polyhedron 1989, 8, 1821-1822.
- 1149. Figgis, B. N.; Kucharski, E. S.; Forsyth, J. B. Acta Crystallogr. 1991, C47, 419-421.
- 1150. Cotton, F. A.; Falvello, L. R.; Murillo, C. A.; Quesada, J. F. J. Solid State Chem. 1992, 96, 192–198. 1151. Cotton, F. A.; Daniels, L. M.; Murillo, C. A. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 4868–4870.
- 1152. Cotton, F. A.; Daniels, L. M.; Falvello, L. R.; Murillo, C. A.; Schultz, A. J. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 5396-5403.
- 1153. Åkesson, R.; Pettersson, L. G. M.; Sandström, M.; Wahlgren, U. J. Phys. Chem. 1992, 96, 150-156.
- 1154. Waizumi, K.; Ohtaki, H.; Masuda, H.; Fukushima, N.; Watanabe, Y. Chem. Lett. 1992, 1489-1492.
- 1155. Johnson, D. A.; Nelson, P. G. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 5666-5671.
- 1156. Gaede, W.; Van Eldik, R. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 2204-2208.
- 1157. Petrou, A. L. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1993, 3771-3775.
- 1158. Skov, L. K.; Olsen, K.; Christensen, U.; Farver, O. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 4762-4765.
- 1159. Van Eldik, R.; Gaede, W.; Cohen, H.; Meyerstein, D. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 3695-3696.
- 1160. Tanaka, H.; Kouno, M.; Morita, H.; Okamoto, K.; Shimomura, S. Anal. Sci. 1992, 8, 857-861.
- 1161. Watson, A.; Anderson, A. M. H.; El-Sharif, M. R.; Chisholm, C. U. Trans. Inst. Met. Finish. 1991, 69, 26-32.
- 1162. Kuchmii, S. Y.; Kholodenko, Y. V.; Kryukov, A. I. Ukr. Khim. Zh. (Russ. Ed.) 1989, 55, 1157-1161; Chem. Abstr.
- 1990, 112, 146390. 1163. Murray, B. D.; Hope, H.; Power, P. P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1985, 107, 169-173.
- 1164. Edema, J. J. H.; Gambarotta, S.; Van Bolhuis, F.; Smeets, W. J. J.; Spek, A. L. *Inorg. Chem.* **1989**, *28*, 1407–1410. 1165. Edema, J. J. H.; Gambarotta, S.; Van Bolhuis, F.; Spek, A. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1989**, *111*, 2142–2147.
- 1166. Meyer, D.; Osborn, J. A.; Wesolek, M. Polyhedron 1990, 9, 1311-1315.
- 1167. Motevalli, M.; Sanganee, M.; Savage, P. D.; Shah, S.; Sullivan, A. C. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1993, 1132-1133.
- 1168. Abrahams, I.; Lazell, M.; Motevalli, M.; Simon, C. K.; Sullivan, A. C. Chem. Heterocycl. Compd. (N.Y.) 2000, 35, 954-964.
- 1169. Maass, K.; Glaum, R.; Gruehn, R. Z. Anorg. Allgem. Chem. 2001, 627, 2081-2090.
- 1170. Larkworthy, L. F.; Salib, K. A. R. *Transition Met. Chem. (Weinheim, Ger.)* **1986**, *11*, 121–122. 1171. Popova, T. V.; Smotrina, T. V.; Denisova, O. N.; Aksenova, N. V. Russ. J. Coord. Chem. **2001**, *27*, 38–40.
- 1172. Babar, M. A.; Larkworthy, L. F.; Fitzsimmons, B. W. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1988, 148, 25-29.
- 1173. Michelsen, K.; Nielsen, K. M.; Pedersen, E. Acta Chem. Scand. 1988, A42, 724-726.
- 1174. Jubb, J.; Larkworthy, L. F.; Leonard, G. A.; Povey, D. C.; Tucker, B. J. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1989, 1631-1633.
- 1175. Jubb, J.; Larkworthy, L. F.; Povey, D. C.; Smith, G. W. Polyhedron 1989, 8, 1825-1826.
- 1176. Arif, A. M.; Hefner, J. G.; Jones, R. A.; Koschmieder, S. U. J. Coord. Chem. 1991, 23, 13-19.
- 1177. Halepoto, D. M.; Larkworthy, L. F.; Povey, D. C.; Ramdas, V. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1989, 162, 71-74.
- 1178. Twamley, B.; Zehnder, R.; Shapiro, P. J. Acta Crystallogr. 2001, E57, m80-m81.
- 1179. Cotton, F. A.; Murillo, C. A.; Pascual, I. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 2746-2749.
- 1180. Serezhkin, V. N.; Serezhkina, L. B.; Gorbunova, Y. E.; Buslaev, Y. A. Russ. J. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 45, 741-747.
- 1181. Serezhkin, V. N.; Serezhkina, L. B.; Gorbunova, Y. E.; Buslaev, Y. A. Russ. J. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 45, 1250-1257.

- 1182. Green, M.; O'Brien, P. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 2001, 1912-1913.
- 1183. Thaler, E.; Folting, K.; Huffman, J. C.; Caulton, K. G. Inorg. Chem. 1987, 26, 374-377.
- 1184. Barron, A. R.; Salt, J. E.; Wilkinson, G.; Motevalli, M.; Hursthouse, M. B. Polyhedron 1986, 5, 1833-1837.
- 1185. Dionne, M.; Hao, S.; Gambarotta, S. Can. J. Chem. 1995, 73, 1126-1134.
- 1186. Barron, A. R.; Salt, J. E.; Wilkinson, G. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1986, 1329-1332.
- 1187. Toscano, P. J.; DiMauro, P. T.; Geremia, S.; Randaccio, L.; Zangrando, E. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1994, 217, 195-199.
- 1188. Cotton, F. A.; Daniels, L. M.; Murillo, C. A. Polyhedron 1992, 11, 2475-2481.
- 1189. Micskei, K.; Nagypál, I. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1986, 2721-2723.
- 1190. Kovács, G.; Toth, K.; Dinya, Z.; Somsák, L.; Micskei, K. Tetrahedron 1999, 55, 5253-5264.
- 1191. Kovács, G.; Micskei, K.; Somsák, L. Carbohydrate Res. 2001, 336, 225-228.
- 1192. Patonay, T.; Hajdu, C.; Jeko, J.; Lévai, A.; Micskei, K.; Zucchi, C. Tetrahedron Lett. 1999, 40, 1373-1374.
- 1193. Pletcher, D.; White, J. C. P. Electrochim. Acta 1992, 37, 575-583.
- 1194. Sugano, K.; Katayama, T.; Koyama, M.; Okamoto, M. (Toshiba Corp., Japan). Japan Patent 62,137,557, June 20, 1987; Chem. Abstr. 1988, 108, 30980.
- 1195. Michael, D.; Mingos, P.; Sherman, D. J. Adv. Inorg. Chem. 1989, 34, 293-377.
- 1196. Richter-Addo, G. B.; Legzdins, P. Metal Nitrosyls 1992, Oxford University Press: Oxford.
- 1197. Hayton, T. W.; Legzdins, P.; Sharp, W. B. Chem. Rev. 2002, 102, 935-991.
- 1198. Kou, H.-Z.; Gao, S.; Ma, B.-Q.; Liao, D.-Z. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 2000, 713-714.
- 1199. Shiu, K. B.; Chou, J. L.; Wang, Y.; Lee, G. H. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1990, 1989-1991.
- 1200. Sellmann, D.; Seubert, B.; Kern, W.; Knoch, F.; Moll, M. Z. Naturforsch., B: Chem. Sci. 1991, 46, 1435-1448.
- 1201. Ardon, M.; Cohen, S. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 3241-3243.
- 1202. Akashi, H.; Mori, M.; Shibahara, T. Acta Crystallogr. 2001, E57, i75-i76.
- 1203. Shibahara, T.; Akashi, H.; Asano, M.; Wakamatsu, K.; Nishimoto, K.; Mori, M. Inorg. Chem. Commun. 2001, 4, 413-415.
- 1204. Robinson, W. R.; Wigley, D. E.; Walton, R. A. Inorg. Chem. 1985, 24, 918-924.
- 1205. Maurya, R. C.; Verma, R. Indian J. Chem., Sect. A 1997, 36A, 437-439.
- 1206. Maurya, R. C.; Jaiswal, S.; Verma, R. Indian J. Chem., Sect. A 1996, 35A, 998-1000.
- 1207. Maurya, R. C.; Jaiswal, S. K.; Mukherjee, S.; Khan, I. B. Transition Met. Chem. (London) 1992, 17, 530-532.
- 1208. Shim, I.; Gingerich, K. A.; Mandix, K.; Feng, X. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1995, 229, 455-460.
- 1209. Rieger, P. H. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1994, 135, 203-286.
- 1210. Jhanji, A. K.; Gould, E. S. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 3890-3892.
- 1211. Wasielewska, E. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1986, 113, 115-117.
- 1212. Oszajca, J.; Stochel, G.; Wasielewska, E.; Stasicka, Z.; Gryglewski, R. J.; Jakubowski, A.; Cieslik, K. J. Inorg. Biochem. 1998, 69, 121-127.
- 1213. Kharmawphlang, W.; Choudhury, S.; Deb, A. K.; Goswami, S. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 3826-3828.
- 1214. Anderson, K. A.; Wherland, S. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 3822-3828.
- 1215. Schalley, C. A.; Wesendrup, R.; Schroeder, D.; Weiske, T.; Schwarz, H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 7711-7718.
- 1216. Schalley, C. A.; Wesendrup, R.; Schroeder, D.; Schwarz, H. Organometallics 1996, 15, 678-683.
- 1217. Crestoni, M. E.; Fornarini, S. Organometallics 1996, 15, 5695-5700.
- 1218. King, R. B.; Chang, M.; Newton, M. G. J. Organomet. Chem. 1985, 296, 15-30.
- 1219. Yamamoto, Y.; Yamazaki, H. J. Organomet. Chem. 1985, 282, 191-200.
- 1220. Maškova, E.; Vlček, A., Jr. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1996, 242, 17-23.
- 1221. Hargreaves, K. J. Polym. Sci., Polym. Chem. Ed. 1985, 23, 119-123.
- 1222. Andrews, L.; Bare, W. D.; Chertihin, G. V. J. Phys. Chem. A 1997, 101, 8417-8427.
- 1223. Bucci, R.; Magri, A. D.; Magri, A. L.; Napoli, A. Thermochim. Acta 1993, 217, 213-223.

© 2003, Elsevier Ltd. All Rights Reserved

No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in any retrieval system or transmitted in any form or by any means electronic, electrostatic, magnetic tape, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise, without permission in writing from the publishers Comprehensive Coordination Chemistry II

ISBN (set): 0-08-0437486

C. G. YOUNG

University of Melbourne, Victoria, Australia

4.7.1 INTRODUCTION	416
4.7.2 MOLYBDENUM(VI)	417
4.7.2.1 Complexes Containing Carbon-donor Ligands	417
4.7.2.1.1 Carbide and alkylidyne complexes	417
4.7.2.1.2 Alkylidene complexes	419
4.7.2.1.3 Alkyl complexes	420
4.7.2.2 Complexes Containing Nitrogen-donor Ligands	421
4.7.2.2.1 Nitrido complexes	421
4.7.2.2.2 Imido complexes	423
4.7.2.2.3 Amido and phosphiniminato complexes	430
4.7.2.2.4 Hydrazido and organohydrazido complexes	431
4.7.2.2.5 Molybdacyclothiazene, molybdaphosphazene, and related complexes	433
4.7.2.3 Chalcogenido (Oxo, Thio, Selenido) Complexes	434
4.7.2.3.1 Molybdate and related complexes	434
4.7.2.3.2 Trioxo complexes	435
4.7.2.3.3 Dioxo complexes	436
4.7.2.3.4 Monooxo complexes	448
4.7.2.3.5 Oxo-thio complexes	451
4.7.2.4 Phosphido and Arsenido Complexes and Derivatives	451
4.7.2.5 Non-oxo Complexes	452
4.7.3 MOLYBDENUM(V)	452
4.7.3.1 Complexes Containing Carbon-donor Ligands	453
4.7.3.2 Complexes Containing Nitrogen-donor Ligands	453
4.7.3.3 Dioxo and Oxo–Thio Complexes and their Conjugate Acids	454
4.7.3.4 Oxo (Molybdenyl) Complexes	455
4.7.3.4.1 Halide and pseudohalide complexes	455
4.7.3.4.2 Complexes containing nitrogen-donor ligands	456
4.7.3.4.3 Complexes containing sulfur-donor ligands	459
4.7.3.4.4 Pterin complexes	461
4.7.3.5 Thio, Selenido, and Tellurido Complexes	462
4.7.3.6 Non-oxo Complexes	463
4.7.5.6.1 Halide and cyanide complexes	463
4.7.5.6.2 Complexes containing sulfur and mixed sulfur/nitrogen-donor ligands	463
4.7.3.6.3 Complexes containing mixed oxygen/nitrogen-donor ligands	464
4.7.4 MOLYBDENUM(IV)	464
4.7.4.1 Alkyl and Aryl Complexes	464
4.7.4.2 Complexes Containing Nitrogen-donor Ligands	464
4.7.4.2.1 INITIAO COMPLEXES	404
4.7.4.2.2 Imiao complexes	403
4.7.4.2.5 Amido complexes	407
4.7.4.2.4 Hydraziao (2-) and alazentao complexes	40/
4.7.4.5 Oxo Complexes	408
4.7.4.3.1 Cyantae complexes	409
4.7.4.3.2 Complexes containing nurogen-aonor ligands	409
4.7.4.3.5 Complexes containing phosphorus-donor ligands	4/0
4.7.4.5.4 Complexes containing sulfur-aonor liganas	4/0
4744 This Selenido and Tellurido Complexes	4/1
4745 Complexes Containing Polychalcogenide Ligands	472
T. T. T. S. Complexes Containing I Oryenalcogenide Ligands	4/2

4.7.4.6 Non-oxo Complexes	473
4.7.4.6.1 Halide complexes	473
4.7.4.6.2 Cyanide complexes	473
4.7.4.6.3 Phosphido and hydrido-phosphine complexes	474
4.7.4.6.4 Complexes containing aryloxide and related ligands	475
4.7.4.6.5 Complexes containing sulfur-donor ligands	476
4.7.4.6.6 Complexes containing nitrogen/oxygen/sulfur-donor ligands	479
4.7.5 MOLYBDENUM(III) COMPLEXES	479
4.7.5.1 Halide and Cyanide Complexes	479
4.7.5.2 Complexes Containing Nitrogen-donor Ligands	481
4.7.5.2.1 Ammine, cyclam, and related complexes	481
4.7.5.2.2 Triaza and tris(pyrazolyl) ligand complexes	481
4.7.5.2.3 Tris(amido) complexes	481
4.7.5.2.4 Phthalocyanine complexes	482
4.7.5.3 Complexes Containing Phosphorus-donor Ligands	482
4.7.5.4 Complexes Containing Oxygen-donor Ligands	482
4.7.5.5 Complexes Containing Sulfur-donor Ligands	483
4.7.6 MOLYBDENUM(II) COMPLEXES	483
4.7.6.1 Complexes Containing Carbon-donor Ligands	483
4.7.6.1.1 Alkylidyne and acyl complexes	483
4.7.6.1.2 Carbonyl halide complexes	485
4.7.6.2 Complexes Containing Nitrogen-donor Ligands	487
4.7.6.2.1 Imido, amido, and diazenido complexes	487
4.7.6.2.2 Tris(pyrazolyl) and triaza ligand complexes	487
4.7.6.2.3 Nitrosyl and nitrito complexes	488
4.7.6.2.4 Porphyrin and phthalocyanine complexes	489
4.7.6.3 Complexes Containing Phosphorus-donor Ligands	490
4.7.6.3.1 Halide complexes	490
47632 Hydride and other complexes	490
4764 Carboxylate Complexes	491
4765 Complexes Containing Sulfur-donor Ligands	491
4.7.6.5.1 Diblocarbanate and related diblocligand complexes	491
47.652 Thiolate complexes	497
47.65.3 Thiosther complexes	492
47.65.4 Mixed thiolate/thiosther complexes	492
4.7 OIL VEDENLIM(I) COMPLEXES	495
4.7.8 MOLVBDENUM(0) COMPLEXES	495
47.1.5 Moler Burleyes Containing Carbon-donor Ligands	495
4.7.8.1 Tricerbonyl Complexes and their Derivatives	495
4.7.9.2 The bulge complexes	490
4.7.5.2.1 Futteret complexes	490
4.7.5.2.2 Complexes containing introgeneuton donor co ligands	490
4.7.5.2.5 Complexes containing prosphoras-aono co-tiganas	498
4.7.5.2.4 Complexes containing surjuradion of ligands	498
4.7.5.2.5 Complexes containing mixed-aonor co-nganas	501
4.7.0.5 INHOSYL COMPLEXES	501
4.7.0.3.1 Diminosyl complexes	502
4.7.8.3.2 Mononitrosyl complexes	502
4.7.8.4 Complexes Containing Phosphorus-donor Ligands	503
4.7.5.4.1 Formoleptic prosprine complexes	503
4.7.5.4.2 Complexes with carbonyl or organometallic co-liganas	504
4.7.8.4.5 Carbon atoxiae complexes	504
4.7.8.4.4 Dimitrogen complexes	504
4.7.0.3 Complexes Containing Sulfur-donor Ligands	505
4.7.9 ABBREVIATIONS	505
4.7.10 REFERENCES	506

4.7.1 INTRODUCTION

This chapter covers mononuclear Mo chemistry reported from 1985 to late 2002, prior work being covered in a landmark review by Stiefel¹ and in *Comprehensive Coordination Chemistry* (*CCC*, 1987).^{2–5} Prevalent high-valent Mo coordination chemistry is comprehensively reviewed but the treatment of low-valent chemistry, where the boundary between coordination and organometallic chemistry is often blurred, is selective rather than exhaustive (see also *Comprehensive Organometallic Chemistry*⁶). "Global" schemes are provided for systems boasting many species or spanning many oxidation states; presented as the systems are introduced, these act as guides to key papers and signposts to later sections. Communications of fully published work, reports of a purely

Molybdenum compounds are important catalysts in industry, finding applications in, inter alia, olefin metathesis, amm(on)oxidation, epoxidation, hydrodesulfurization, hydroformylation, and chemical and photo-oxidation processes.^{7,8} The technological uses of Mo and its compounds are many and varied.^{7,8} Molybdenum is also an essential trace element found in a wide variety of enzymes responsible for the growth and health of organisms and the cycling of nitrogen, sulfur, and carbon in the geo-bio-spheres; recent reviews of this important aspect of Mo chemistry are available.⁹⁻¹¹ Discernable trends in Mo chemistry since the early 1980s include: (i) the introduction of versatile tris(amido) and triamidoamine ligands supporting novel species and chemistry; (ii) an explosion in the chemistry and catalytic applications of imido and hydrazido complexes and chiral species (especially those with alkyl and alkylidene co-ligands); (iii) sustained development of oxo chemistry and the exploration of chiral dioxo and oxobis(peroxo) complexes for asymmetric synthesis; (iv) increased activity and sophistication in the chemical modeling of molybdoenzyme structure, function, and spectroscopy; (v) progress in the functionalization of dinitrogen at Mo centers (despite an overall decline in this area); and (vi) intense interest in the electro-optical and nonlinear optical behavior of Mo compounds and their use in the construction of devices and supramolecular assemblies. Molybdenum is a truly fascinating and versatile element and the full measure of its coordination chemistry is matched by few other elements.

4.7.2 MOLYBDENUM(VI)

4.7.2.1 Complexes Containing Carbon-donor Ligands

Complexes in this category include carbide ($Mo\equivC$:), alkylidyne ($Mo\equivCR$), alkylidene (Mo=CRR'), and alkyl (Mo=R) species (discussed in that order). Other perspectives on this area may be found in reviews by Schrock^{12,13} and Nugent and Mayer,¹⁴ and in *Comprehensive Organometallic Chemistry*.⁶ From a practical standpoint, alkylidyne and alkylidene complexes are tremendously important as catalysts for olefin metathesis, "living" ring-opening metathesis polymerization (ROMP), ring-closing metathesis reactions, etc.

4.7.2.1.1 Carbide and alkylidyne complexes

Three-coordinate Mo(NRAr)₃ (1=[Mo], R=C(CD₃)₂CH₃, Ar=C₆H₃Me₂-3,5; Section 4.7.5.2.3) is pivotal to the exciting chemistry reported by Cummins and co-workers (Scheme 1). Conversion of (1) to Mo(CO)(NRAr)₃ (2) followed by reductive deoxygenation via Mo{COC(O)¹Bu}(NRAr)₃ (3) produces Mo(CH)(NRAr)₃ (4) (pK_a ca. 30 in thf), that is deprotonated by BzK to yield K[MoC(NRAr)₃] (5) (stabilized by π -arene-K⁺ interactions).^{15,16} A better route to (4) involves elimination of benzene from Mo(σ -C₇H₇)(NRAr)₃ (6).¹⁷ Complex (5) is readily converted to crown ether derivatives K(crown)_n[MoC(NRAr)₃] (7), the K(benzo-15-C-5)₂⁺ salt exhibiting a tetrahedral structure with $d(Mo\equivC)$ 1.713(9)Å (cf. $d(Mo\equivC)$ 1.702(5)Å for (4)).¹⁵ The Mo \equiv ¹³C NMR signal of (5) is very deshielded (δ 501) and anisotropic (806 ppm) and carbide/methylidyne proton self-exchange is very fast ($k = 7 \times 10^6$ M⁻¹ s⁻¹). The carbide anion is a strong reductant and nucleophile forming alkylidyne derivatives (8)–(12).^{15,16} In broadly related work, Schrock and co-workers have defined the chemistry of the triamidoamine ligand, N(CH₂CH₂NSiMe₃)₃⁻¹(N₃N, Scheme 2), and its arylamido analogs.^{18,19} Reactions of MoCl(N₃N) (13=[Mo]-Cl, Section 4.7.4.2.3) with alkyls lithium produce alkyl species, MoR(N₃N) (14, R = alkyl, *c*-alkyl, *c*-C₃H₇, Bz, Ph), that are thermally unstable with respect to alkylidyne complexes such as Mo(CR')(N₃N) (15, R' = H, Pr, ¹Bu, for R = *c*-C₃H₅, *c*-C₄H₇, CH₂¹Bu, respectively).²⁰ Reductive silylation of Mo(CO)(N₃N) (16) also produces an alkylidyne complex, Mo(COSiMe₃)(N₃N) (17).²¹ Aryl analogs of these complexes and many W counterparts are known; W(CSiMe₃)-{N(CH₂CH₂NC₆F₅)₃ adopts a trigonal bipyramidal structure with an axial alkylidyne ligand.²² Diamidoamine species are recent additions to this area.^{23,24}



Scheme 1



Scheme 2

Convenient new syntheses for Mo(CR)(OAd)₃ (R = Me, Et, CH₂SiMe₃) from readily available Mo(NⁱPrAr)₃²⁵ and the investigation of a silica-supported catalyst, \equiv SiO—Mo(\equiv C^tBu)-(CH₂^tBu)₂,²⁶ hint at a resurgence in interest in alkylidyne complexes such as Mo(C^tBu)L₃ (L=CH₂^tBu, OR, SR, O₂CR), last studied in the mid-1980s.²⁷ An alkylidyne, Mo(C^tBu)-{N(Ar)P = CHR'}(OR)₂, has been identified as an intermediate in the formation of Mo{(η^2) = C(^tBu)P(OR)CHR'}(NAr)(OR) in the reactions of ^tBuC \equiv P with Mo (NAr)(CHR')(OR)₂ (R = CMe₂(CF₃), R' = CMe₂Ph).²⁸ Finally, methoxide induces ligand and

proton exchange at $TpMo(CHCMe_2Ph)(NAr)(OTf)$ producing structurally characterized $TpMo(CCMe_2Ph)(NHAr)(OMe)$.²⁹

4.7.2.1.2 Alkylidene complexes

Virtually all chemistry in this area involves alkylidene imido complexes of the type Mo(CHR')-(NAr)(OR)₂ (18), prepared via Mo(CHR')(NAr)(OTf)₂(dme) (19) using the synthetic protocol in Equations (1) and (2); 30,31 the use of py in place of dme and alternatives to step 3 enjoy niche applications.^{32–34} The precursor, Mo(CH^tBu)(NAr)(OTf)₂(dme), exhibits an octahedral structure with *cis* alkylidene ($d(Mo=C)_{av}$ 1.91 Å, $\angle(Mo=C-C)_{av}$ 141.5°) and imido (d(Mo=N) 1.72(1) Å, $\angle(Mo=N-C)_{av}$ 172.3°) groups.³⁰ The work-horses in this area are Mo(CHR')(NAr)(OR)₂ (R' = ^tBu, CMe₂Ph; Ar = C₆H₃ⁱPr₂-2,6; R = CMe(CF₃)₂) and a detailed synthesis for popular Mo(CHCMe₂Ph)(NAr){OCMe(CF₃)₂}₂ has been published;³⁵ derivative chemistry is sampled in Scheme 3. Trigonal bipyramidal syn (kinetic) and anti (thermodynamic) adducts of $L = PMe_3$ (20), as well as *syn/anti* adducts of quinuclidine and py (Ar = C₆H₃Cl₂-2,6) have been prepared and structurally characterized.³⁶ The X-ray structures of Mo(CHCMe₂Ph)- $(NAd){OCH(CF_3)_2}_2$ (lutidine)³⁷ and several chiral derivatives (*vide infra*) confirmed the formation of solvent adducts in other derivatives (nb., these are often represented as 4-coordinate (18)). Reactions of (18) with ethene derivatives or aldehydes such as C_6F_5CHO produce unstable metallacyclobutane (e.g., (21))^{30,38} or 2-oxametallacyclobutane (e.g., (22))³⁹ derivatives, respectively; metallacyclobutanes can be stabilized by pendent groups (e.g., (23)) but 5- and 6-coordinate alkylidene species (e.g., (24)) can also form.⁴⁰ Reduction by ethene derivatives results, e.g., in the formation of an η^2 -vinyltrimethylsilane complex (25) that undergoes exchange producing alkyne and phosphine derivatives such as (26).⁴¹ The interconversion and relative reactivities of syn and anti alkylidene imido complexes have been extensively probed due to their influence on polymerization reactions; high-cis polymers are obtained when syn/anti isomerization rates are negligible on the polymerization timescale, whereas high-trans polymers result when syn/anti isomerization rates are fast (syn and anti refer to the relationship of R' and NAr across Mo=C).^{42,43} Bis(carboxylate) derivatives, e.g., $Mo(CHC_6H_4^{t}Bu-2)(N^{t}Bu)(O_2CCPh_3)_2$ (27), exhibit distorted octahedral structures and initiate cyclopolymerization of diethyldipropargylmalonate in a living manner giving a polymer containing only six-membered rings.⁴⁴ A silsesquioxane derivative is an efficient catalyst for the metathesis of terminal and internal olefins.⁴⁵ Reaction of (19) $(R' = CMe_2Ph)$ with KTp produces TpMo(CHR')(NAr)(OTf) (28),⁴⁶ that can be alkylated to produce TpMo(CHR')(NAr)(Me) (29); salts of [TpMo(CHR')(NAr)L]⁺ (30, $L = OEt_2$, NCMe, thf, PMe₃) and structurally characterized syn-TpMo(CHR')(NAr)(OMe) are also accessible from (28).²⁹ The reactions of (18) with ^tBuC \equiv P result in the formation of orange, phosphametallacyclobutene complexes, $Mo{(\eta^2) = C(^tBu)P(OR)CHR'}(NAr)(OR)$ (31), formed via unstable (32).²⁸ Finally, reaction of Mo(CHCMe₂Ph)(NAr)(O^tBu)₂ with pyridine-2,6bis(2,2-diphenylethanol) yields structurally characterized Mo(CHCMe₂Ph)(NAr)(pdpe):⁴





Scheme 3

Much work has focused on the development of chiral catalysts incorporating optically pure bidentate $-(OR)_2$ ligands into (18) and related species. The first work in this area involved the use of chiral (+)- or (-)-R₄tart (33, R = Ph, Nap) and *rac*-bino (34, R = SiMe₂Ph) complexes in the production of all-*cis* highly tactic poly(2,3-norbornadiene).⁴⁸ Subsequently, complexes containing (*R*)- or (*S*)-bino (34, R = SiMe₂Ph, C₆H₂ⁱPr₃-2,4,6, Ph, Mes)^{49–51} and their bisamido (bina) analogs,⁵² (*R*,*R*)- or (*S*,*S*)-tbec (35),^{53,54} (*R*)- or (*S*)-biphen (36, R = ^tBu, Ad)⁵⁵ and related 3,3',5,5'-tetra-*t*-butyl⁴⁹ and 6,6'-bis(silyl) and Si-linked derivatives,⁵⁶ and bitet (37)⁵⁷ were reported. Some of these complexes are now commerically available and many have been structurally characterized; four-coordinate species such as *syn*-Mo(CHCMe₂Ph)(NAr){(*S*)-^tBu₂biphen} are tetrahedral while five-coordinate solvent adducts have trigonal bipyramidal structures. The properties of selected Mo(CHCMe₂Ph)(NAr)(L)(sol) complexes are summarized in Table 1. Chiral complexes have proven valuable in many applications including asymmetric ring-closing metathesis reactions (and associated kinetic resolutions) producing, e.g., dihydrofurans, small- and medium-ring carbocycles, heterocyclic ethers and siloxanes (and thence tertiary alcohols),^{50,58,59} as well as tandem catalyzed asymmetric ring opening/cross metathesis reactions.⁶⁰ The vast literature relating to the catalytic properties and synthetic applications of alkylidene complexes has been reviewed by Schrock.^{61,62} A unique bis(α -triphenylphosphonio)methylidene complexes has been reviewed by Schrock.^{61,62} A unique bis(α -triphenylphosphonio)methylidene complexes has been reviewed by Schrock.^{61,62} A unique bis(α -triphenylphosphonio)methylidene complexes has been reviewed by Schrock.^{61,62}



4.7.2.1.3 Alkyl complexes

Reaction of MoF₆ with the nonreducing methylating agent ZnMe₂ produces thermally unstable MoMe₆ that reacts with MeLi in diethyl ether to form red [Li(OEt₂)][MoMe₇]. In line with predictions for such σ -donor complexes, all three independent lattice molecules of MoMe₆ exhibit

syn/anti-(L)(solv)	$\delta(=^{13}C)^a$ (ppm)	d(Mo=C) (Å)	لالم=CC) (deg)	d(Mo=N) (Å)	لاسےNC) (deg)	References
$syn-{R-(C_6H_2^{i}Pr_3)_2bino}(py)$	309.4	1.840(12)	149.5(10)	1.715(10)	158.6(8)	50
syn-(S- ^t Bu ₂ biphen)	277.1	1.885(10)	143.8(7)	1.738(6)	169.0(6)	55
anti-(R-Mesphitet)(thf)		1.882(1)	128.4(9)	1.721(9)	164.2(8)	57
$syn{rac-bina(N^{i}Pr)_{2}}$	268.8	1.904(3)	144.0(2)	1.747(2)	172.2(2)	52
anti-(rac-Mes ₂ bino)(thf)	315.0	1.909(7)	130.6(5)	1.734(5)	165.5(4)	51
syn-(rac-Me ₂ Sibiphen)	283.5	1.878(4)	151.1(3)	1.729(3)	172.6(3)	56
<i>syn-{rac-</i> (Me ₃ Si) ₂ biphen}	281.0	1.863(5)	147.0(5)	1.721(5)	171.9(4)	56
syn-(pdpe)	268.6	1.914(3)	141.0(2)	1.745(3)	172.5(2)	47
syn-Tp(OMe)	302.3	1.963(10)	136.8(10)	1.741(9)	169.7(8)	29

Table 1 Properties of selected Mo(CHCMe₂Ph)(NAr)(L)(solv) complexes (Ar = $C_6H_3^{i}Pr_2$ -2,6).

^a ¹³C signals may not arise from crystallographically characterized forms. For *syn*-Mo(CHCMe₂Ph)(NAr)(*rac*-Mes₂bino)(thf), $\delta = 298$. See literature for details of ¹H NMR studies of *syn* and *anti* isomers.

distorted trigonal prismatic (C_{3v}) structures. A capped octahedral geometry is adopted by the anion of [Li(OEt₂)][MoMe₇].⁶⁴ Methylation of MoOCl₄ or MoF_n(OMe)_{6-n} ($n \sim 5$) by ZnMe₂ yields Mo(OMe)Me₅ and, serendipitously, Mo(OMe)₂Me₄. Both complexes exhibit distorted trigonal prismatic geometries.⁶⁵ The distorted octahedral structure of WCl(OMe)₂Me₃ suggests a structural transition upon incorporation of three π -donor ligands into mixed $\sigma(alkyl)/\pi$ -donor complexes.⁶⁵

4.7.2.2 Complexes Containing Nitrogen-donor Ligands

4.7.2.2.1 Nitrido complexes

The structural, spectroscopic and bonding attributes of nitrido complexes are well established.^{2,14,66} Only mono(nitrido)-Mo monomers are observed under normal circumstances but some melt products, e.g., Ba₃[MoN₄] and Sr₄[MoN₄]O, contain tetranitrido-Mo^{VI} units. Four-, five-, and six-coordinate complexes adopt tetrahedral, square pyramidal, and octahedral geometries, respectively; the nitrido ligand occupies apical or axial positions and exerts a strong *trans* influence (>0.3 Å in some cases). Seven-coordinate species are also known. The interaction of nitrido ligands with neighboring metal centers, counterions, and lattice molecules is common.^{66,67} The properties of selected nitrido compounds are presented in Table 2.

Nitrido complexes are usually prepared by metathesis of MoNCl₃ (itself tetrameric) or nitridochloromolybdate species; improved syntheses for (NEt₄)₂[MoNCl₅] and (NEt₄)₂[MoNCl₄] have been reported.⁶⁸ Chloride addition to MoNCl₃ occurs upon reaction with [Cl₃PNPCl₃]Cl, MgCl₂/ thf and LiCl/12-crown-4, yielding [Cl₃PNPCl₃][MoNCl₄], Mg(thf)₄[MoNCl₄(thf)]₂, and Li(12-C-4)-[MoNCl₄], respectively. The first of these adopts a linear chain structure in the solid state and forms the isomeric phosphiniminate, Mo(NPCl₂NPCl₃)Cl₅, in solution.⁶⁹ A trimetallic unit, formed by association of Mg(thf)₄²⁺ and *trans*-[MoNCl₄(thf)]⁻ units, is present in the second, while the third contains square pyramidal anions weakly associated with Li(12-C-4)⁺ units.⁷⁰ Reactions of PPh₄[MoNCl₄] with tris(trimethylsilyl)benzamidine and Me₃SiNPPh₃ produce PPh₄[MoNCl₃{N(SiMe₃)₂}]⁷¹ and [Mo(NPPh₃)₄][MoNCl₂ and paramagnetic NEt₄[Tp*MoNCl₂] (g 1.961) form in the reactions of (NEt₄)₂[MoNCl₅] with KTp* but only Tp*MoN(N₃)₂ is isolated when Na[MoN(N₃)₄] is reacted with NaTp*. The azide complex, Tp*MoN(N₃)₂, exhibits a distorted octahedral geometry with a nitrido *trans* influence of ca. 0.28 Å.⁶⁸ Reaction of MoCl₄-(NCEt)₂ with Me₃SiN₃ followed by addition of NaTp* produces mixed crystals of Tp*MoN(N₃)₂ and Tp*MoNCl(N₃).⁷³ Pentagonal bipyramidal MoN(N₃)₂Cl(terpy) has also been prepared and structurally characterized⁷⁴ and there is evidence for the formation of NEt₄[MoN-Cl₃(OH)(NCMe)] in the reaction of MoNCl₃ with NEt₄Cl·H₂O in NCMe.⁷⁵

Colorless MoN(NPPh₃)₃ is produced in the reactions of [LiNPPh₃]₆ with [MoCl₃(N₃S₂)]₂ or MoNCl₃ in toluene^{76,77} or MoOCl₄ in thf,⁷⁷ the complex adopts a tetrahedral structure⁷⁶ as does the related amide, MoN(NPh₂)₃. An unusual mixed species, viz., [MoN(N₃)₂(terpy)][MoN(N₃)₄]·MoN(N₃)₃(terpy), was

Compound	$ u(\mathrm{Mo} \equiv \mathrm{N}) \ (\mathrm{cm}^{-1}) $	Geometry ^a	d(Mo≡N) (Å)	<i>d</i> (M—L) (Å)	References
MoN(Mes)3	1104	T_{d}	1.649(4)	2.142(4), 2.100(5), 2.133(5)	100
MoN(NPPh ₃) ₃		\mathbf{T}_{d}	1.666(4)	1.928(3), 1.939(3), 1.951(3)	76
MoN(N ^t BuPh),		T_{d}	1.658(5)	1.979(2)	85
$MoN(O^{t}Bu)_{3}$ (-160 °C)	1020	$\mathrm{T}_{\mathrm{d}}^{\mathrm{c}}$	1.673(5)	$1.888(3), Mo \cdots N 2.844(5)$	96
MoN(SAd), ^b		T_{d}	av. 1.625	2.304(7)-2.345(6)	84
Li(12-C-4)[MoNCl4]·CH ₂ Cl ₂	1047	SP	1.628(6)	2.348(2), 2.331(2), 2.332(2), 2.357(2)	70
[Mo(NPPh ₃)4][MoNCl ₃ (NPPh ₃)] ₂ ·C ₇ H ₈ ^b	1030	SP	av. 1.644	av. N 1.847, $Cl 2.381(5)-2.461(4)$	72
$[MoN(N_3)_2(terpy)][MoN(N_3)_4]$		A - PP	1.637(7)	$N_{\rm av}$ 2.238, N_3 2.106	78
$[MoN(N_3)_3(terpy)]$ (AB·C)		B - SP	1.649(7)	$N_{3 \text{ av}} = 2.077$	
		C - PBP	1.656(1)	N_{av} 2.257, N_3 2.075(4), 2.120(3), 2.457(4)	
MoN(OSiMe ₃) ₃ (py) ^b	1059	SP	av. 1.627	av. O 1.909, N _{nv} 2.287	67
$MoN(OSiMe_3)_2{N(SiMe_3)_2}{OSiMe_3}$		SP	1.640(3)	$O_{\rm av}$ 1.922, N 1.973(3), $N_{\rm pv}$ 2.334(3)	98
$PPh_4[MoNCl_3{N(SiMe_3)_2}]$	1059	SP	1.648(3)	$Cl 2.425(1), Cl_{t to N} 2.454(1), N 1.937(3)$	71
NEt ₄ [MoNCl ₃ (OH)(NCMe)]	1055	Oh	1.680(3)	N _{trans} 2.420(4), 2Cl _{av} 2.389,	75
				$Cl_{t to O} 2.4608(12), O 1.963(3)$	
$MoN(C_6H_4CH_2NMe_2-C,N)_2(O^tBu)$		$\mathrm{O_h}$	1.663(2)	N_{trans} 2.742(2), O 1.886(2),	100
				$C_{\rm av.}$ 2.182, N 2.434(2)	
$Tp*MoN(N_3)_2$	1023	Oh	1.646(4)	$N_{\rm trans}$ 2.449(3), $N_{\rm av.}$ 2.168, $N_{\rm 3}$ $_{\rm av.}$ 2.016	68
MoN(N ₃) ₂ Cl(terpy)	1005	PBP	1.662(7)	$N_{\rm av.}$ 2.258, $N_{ m 3~av.}$ 2.095, $Cl_{ m trans}$ 2.719(2)	74

Table 2Properties of selected nitrido-Mo(VI) complexes.

^a Idealized geometry indicated: $T_d =$ tetrahedral, SP = square pyramidal, PP = pentagonal pyramidal, PBP = pentagonal bipyramidal, $O_h =$ octahedral. ^b Average of values for two independent molecules.

isolated from the reaction of Mo(CO)₃(terpy) and Me₃SiN₃ and structurally characterized.⁷⁸ The "thermodynamic sink" in the Mo(NRAr)₃/[N] system (Scheme 1) is four-coordinate MoN(NRAr)₃ (**38**);⁷⁹ the sources of the nitrido ligand include N₂O, aryl azides ^{80,81} other metal–nitrido complexes (usually via isolable μ -nitrido complexes),^{82–84} and N₂ itself (*vide infra*). The reaction of Mo(NRAr)₃ and N₂O (XY) produces equimolar amounts of (**38**) and Mo(NRAr)₃(NO), the selective cleavage of the N—NO bond being under kinetic control.⁸¹ Diamagnetic (**38**) (ν (Mo \equiv N) 1,042 cm⁻¹), MoN(N⁴BuAr)₃,⁸⁵ MoN{N(2-Ad)Ar}₃,⁸¹ and MoN{NR(C₆H₄F-4)}₃⁸³ have been thoroughly characterized. The X-ray structure of MoN-(N⁴BuPh)₃ revealed a tetrahedral geometry with a terminal nitrido ligand nestled in a pocket of *t*-butyl groups.⁸⁵ The reaction of (1) with N₂ proceeds through a μ -dinitrogen complex (**39**), shown by elegant EXAFS and Raman experiments to contain a linear Mo—N—M—Mo bridging unit.⁸⁵ Further, the cleavage of N₂ by Mo(NRAr)₃ is catalyzed by Na/Hg and the anionic dinitrogen complexes involved, e.g., [Na(thf)_x][Mo(N₂)(NRAr)₃] (**40**), have been isolated, characterized and derivatized.⁸⁶ Reaction of Mo(N¹PrAr)₃ udm(N¹PrAr)₃,²⁶ Theoretical studies of N₂O and N₂ cleavage by Mo(NRAr)₃ have been reported.^{89,90} In related triamidoamine systems (Scheme 2),⁹¹ MoN(N₃N) (**41**, ν (Mo \equiv N) 1,001 cm⁻¹) and MoN{N(CH₂CH₂NAr)₃} (Ar = aryl) can be generated by reacting MoCl(N₃N) with Me₃SiN₃⁹² or MoCl{N(CH₂CH₂NAr)₃} with NaN₃,^{19,93} respectively. Parent MoN{N(CH₂CH₂NMe)₃} (ν (Mo \equiv N) 991 cm⁻¹) has been prepared by transmetallation between Sn(Bu){N(CH₂CH₂NMe)₃} and MoN(O¹Bu)₃.⁹⁴ Reduction of (**13**) under N₂ followed by reaction of the product (**42**) with PdCl₂(PPh₃)₂ leads to stable Mo(N₂)(N₃N) (**43**) without N₂ cleavage.⁹⁵ Related reactions occur in the tris(arylamido)amine system.⁹³

Reaction of MoNCl₃ with LiO^tBu yields colorless MoN(O^tBu)₃ that is amenable to ligand exchange giving MoN(OR)₃ (R = Et, ¹Pr, CH₂^tBu). The compounds are monomeric in solution but form linear polymers in the solid state.⁹⁶ Reaction of MoO₂Cl₂(dme) with HN(SiMe₃)₂ in dme produces an oil that can be induced to form crystals of MoN(OSiMe₃)₃(py); in this case, steric crowding in the square pyramidal complex prevents association.⁹⁷ Related complexes, e.g., $MoN(OSiMe_3)_2\{N(SiMe_3)_2\}(py)$, were isolated during the exploration of sol-gel syntheses for molybdenum nitride.⁹⁸ Orange PPh₄[MoN(OPh)₄] (ν (Mo \equiv N) 1,033 cm⁻¹) is produced in the reaction of PPh4[MoNCl4] with NaOPh.99 Reaction of MoN(O'Bu)3 with MesMgBr in diethyl ether at -78 °C produces MoN(Mes)₃, while pseudo-octahedral MoN(C₆H₄CH₂NMe₂-C,N)₂- $(O^{t}Bu)$ results from incomplete metathesis with Li[C₆H₄CH₂NMe₂].¹⁰⁰ Related complexes, such as $MoN(CH_2^{t}Bu)_3$ ($\nu(Mo\equiv N)$ 1,000 cm⁻¹), obtained from $MoN(O^{t}Bu)_3$ and $^{t}BuCH_2MgBr$, behave as monomers in solution and react with HX to form Mo(NH)(CH2^tBu)3X (Section 4.7.2.2.2(iii)).¹⁰¹ Few nitrido thiolate complexes are known. The first reported, (NEt₄)₂-[MoN(bdt)₂Cl] (ν (Mo \equiv N) 1,010 cm⁻¹), resulted from the reaction of (NEt₄)₂[MoNCl₄] and Li₂bdt at -70 °C (to prevent reduction).¹⁰² The thiolate, Ti(SAd)(OⁱPr)₃, and thiols, RSH $(R = {}^{i}Pr, {}^{t}Bu)$, react with MoN(O^tBu)₃ to produce MoN(SR)₃. The Ad and ${}^{t}Bu$ derivatives exist as weakly associated pairs of "thiolate-bridged" pseudo-tetrahedral monomers in the solid state.84,103 Sulfur lone pair combinations are identified as the frontier orbitals in such complexes.¹⁰³

4.7.2.2.2 Imido complexes

This burgeoning field has been stimulated by the role of imido species in amm(on)oxidation reactions and the isolobal relationship of Mo(NR)₂X₂ to active Group 4 catalysts, Cp₂MX₂.^{14,104} Synthetic strategies for imido–Mo complexes include: (i) N—H bond cleavage in amines and amides; (ii) N—Si bond cleavage in silyl-amines and -amides; (iii) imido metathesis involving [2 + 2] reactions with, e.g., isocyanates, phosphinimines, sulfinylamines, and metal–imido species; (iv) oxidations using organic azides or azo compounds; (v) electrophilic attack on nitrido ligands; and (vi) cleavage of hydrazines. The formation of very stable by-products (H₂O, Me₃SiX, (Me₃Si)₂O, CO₂, N₂, etc.) drives many of these reactions. Four-electron, π -donor imido ligands are isoelectronic with the ubiquitous oxo ligand and there are many parallels in their chemistries. There are differences, too, notably the large number of four-coordinate and low-valent imido complexes with no oxo–Mo counterparts. Imido ligands can be classified as bent (\angle (Mo=N–R) < 150°) with an sp² hybridized nitrogen atom or "linear" with an sp hydridized

nitrogen. Only two bona fide cases of bent, nonchelating imido ligands, viz., $Mo(NPh)_2$ (S₂CNEt₂)₂^{2,105} and $Mo(NAr)_2(pdpe)$,⁴⁷ are known, although borderline cases exist (see Table 3). Bis- and mono(imido) species dominate Mo^{VI} imido chemistry. Bis(imido) complexes exhibit coordination numbers ranging from 4 to 6 and tetrahedral, trigonal bipyramidal, square pyramidal, and octahedral geometries. As with other π -donor ligand complexes of Mo^{VI} , a *cis* arrangement of imido ligands allows effective π -donation from the ligands into empty metal orbitals. Further, π -donor ligands prefer to be *cis* to the imido ligands, the weakest π -donors being relegated to the sites *trans* to imido. Mono(imido) species may be 5, 6, or 7-coordinate with trigonal bipyramidal, octahedral, or pentagonal bipyramidal geometries. Steric and crystal packing interactions both impact on aryl orientation and substitutent regiospecificity in the solid state.¹⁰⁶ The structural and spectroscopic properties of imido complexes are well established.^{14,104}

(i) Tetrakis- and tris(imido) complexes

These are limited in number. Deprotonation of $Mo(N^tBu)_2(NH^tBu)_2$ with MeLi in diethyl ether produces moisture-sensitive Li₂[Mo(N^tBu)₄], proposed to be dimeric like its W analog; reaction with AlX₃ (X = Me, Cl) produces AlX₂⁺-stabilized monomers, $Mo(\mu-N^tBu)_4(AlX_2)_2$.^{107,108} The kinetic product of the reaction of $Mo(NAr)_2Cl_2(thf)_2$ with two equivalents of LiNHAr is unstable [Li(thf)₄][Mo(NAr)₃Cl], the thermodynamic product being $Mo(NAr)_2(NHAr)_2$. Derivatives such as $Mo(NAr)_3(PMe_3)$, [Li(thf)₄][Mo(NAr)₃R] (R = Me, CH₂^tBu), and NBu₄[Mo(NAr)₃Br] can be prepared by reacting [Li(thf)₄][Mo(NAr)₃Cl] with PMe₃, LiR, or NBu₄Br, respectively.¹⁰⁹

(ii) Bis(imido) complexes

Bis(imido) complexes, *cis*-Mo(NR)₂Cl₂L₂ (R = alkyl, aryl) ((44), Equation (1)), are commonly prepared in "one-pot" reactions of molybdate, amines or anilines, Me₃SiCl and base (NEt₃) in solvents like dme (L₂), py, or thf (L).^{31,109–111} The loss of thf from Mo(NAr)₂Cl₂(thf)₂ is facile¹⁰⁹ and only Mo(NAr)₂Cl₂(thf) is isolated from the reaction of MoO₂Cl₂ and ArNCO in thf.¹¹² The "one-pot" methodology can be adapted to the synthesis of chelate *ansa*-bis(imido),¹¹³ mixed-imido and oxo-imido complexes^{114,115} but is generally unsuccessful when functionalized anilines are employed (see Section 4.7.2.2.2(iii)).^{115–117} Selected mixed-imido complexes, Mo(NR)-(NR')Cl₂(dme), may be obtained by reacting Mo(NR)₂Cl₂(dme) or Mo(NR)(O)Cl₂(dme) with H₂NR'^{118,119} or by imido ligand exchange between Mo(NR)₂Cl₂(dme) and Mo(NR')₂Cl₂(dme).³³ Imido-for-oxo ligand exchange at MoO₂Cl₂(dme) or Mo(NR)₂Cl₂(dme) has also been demonstrated.¹¹⁶ Structurally characterized *cis,trans,cis*-Mo(NR)₂Cl₂L₂ complexes adopt distorted octahedral geometries.^{33,114–116,120–122} Unusual *cis,cis,trans* structures are adopted by Mo(N'Bu)₂(OTf)₂(NH₂'Bu)₂^{107,108} and Mo(NAr)₂(O'Bu)₂ catalyze imine metathesis reactions in benzene at ca. 80 °C.¹²³

Many bis(imido) complexes may be prepared from Mo(NR)₂Cl₂L (L = dme, thf) by metathesis or ligand exchange. Four-coordinate, tetrahedral complexes such as Mo(NR)₂(O^tBu)₂ (**45**, R = ^tBu, Ar),¹¹⁸ Mo(NAr)₂Cl(NEt₂), Mo(NAr)₂(NHAr)₂,¹¹² and their alkyl analogs (*vide infra*) were among the first prepared; alternative routes to (**45**) include the reactions of Mo₂(O^tBu)₆ with RN₃¹²⁴ and MoO₂Cl₂ with ^tBuN(SiMe₃)₂.¹²⁵ The production of mixed-ligand complexes by acid-catalyzed inter-metal ligand exchange was recently demonstrated.¹²⁶ Grignard reagents react with Mo(NAr)₂Cl₂L_n complexes to form air-sensitive Mo(NAr)₂R₂ (**46**) (Step 2, Equation (1); R includes Me, ^{127,128} CH₂^tBu, Mes, CH₂CMe₂Ph^{30,31,112}). The methyl derivative is stabilized by multiple α -agostic interactions but reacts with PMe₃, PMe₂Ph, thf, and py to form adducts of the type Mo(NAr)₂Cl₂(dme) with Li(thf)₃[E(SiMe₃)₃] (E=Si, Ge) produce Mo(NAr)₂Cl{E(SiMe₃)₃} and Mo(NAr)₂(CH₂^tBu){E(SiMe₃)₃} (**48**), respectively. Reaction of Mo(NAr)₂Cl{Si(SiMe₃)₃} (**49**). The X-ray structures of Mo(NAr)₂Cl{Si(SiMe₃)₃} and (**48**) (E = Si) revealed an α -agostic interaction in the latter.¹³⁰ Reaction of Mo(NPh)₂Cl₂(dme) with RMgCl produces four-coordinate Mo(NPh)₂R₂ (R = CH₂^tBu, CH₂SiMe₃)¹³¹ and related mixed imido complexes are known.^{33,34} The 2,4,6-tris(trifluoromethyl)phenyl (Mes^F) complex, Mo(N^tBu)₂(Mes^F)₂ (**50**), produced in

			And the control				
Compound	Geometry ^b	d(Mo=N) (Å)	∠(Mo=NC) (deg)	$(N=M_0=N)$ (deg)	$d(\mathrm{M-L}_{\mathrm{trans}})$	d(M_L) (Å)	References
[Mo](NHAr)2	T_{d}	1.764(2)	155.7(3) 177 3(3)	114.4(1)		N 1.987(2) N 1.975(2)	112
[Mo]Me,	T,	1.749(4)	159.6(3)	112.6(2)		C 2.109(5)	128
[Mo](µ-C ₆ H ₄ CH ₂ NMe ₂) ₂ Li ^c	T_d	1.770(3)	162.3(4)	121.6(2)		C 2.159(5)	137
[Mo]ČI{Si(SiMe ₃) ₃ }	T_{d}	1.753(4)	151.3(4)	109.3(2)		<i>Cl</i> 2.3093(14)	130
		1.748(4)	155.5(4)			Si 2.562(2)	
$[Mo](CH_2^{t}Bu)\{Si(SiMe_3)_3\}$	T_{d}	1.752(2)	157.4(2)	112.68(11)		C 2.083(3)	130
		1./54(2)	101.0(2)			51 2.6048(9)	
[Mo]Cl{C(CO2Et)NMe2-C,N}	$[T_d]$	1.746(4)	171 174	113.2(2)	$C 2.149(6)^{d}$	<i>Cl</i> 2.336(1)	144
	Ē	(+)22/1	1/1.1(4)	100 4/4/	N 2.198(4)		1 4 4
$[Mo]CI\{CMe_2C(=0)O'Bu-C'O\}$	[] d]	1.730(0)	157.6(8)	105.4(4)	$C 2.208(11)^{-1}$	CI 2.362(3)	144
[Mo](ndne)	TRP	1.720(5) e 1 771(4)	(0)COCI 144 8(5)	105 0(3)	(n)n/c.7 n	0 1 940(2)	47
(cdnd)[cm]		a 1.760(4)	164.7(4)		N 2.390(4)		:
[Mo]Cl(NC4H3CH2NMe2)	TBP	e 1.766(2)	147.55(14)	108.36(8)	~	Cl 2.3911(6)	140
		a 1.762(2)	175.13(14)		N 2.360(2)		
[Mo]Me(NC4H3CH2NMe2)	TBP	e 1.759(4)	148.6(4)	109.3(2)		C 2.219(6)	140
		a 1.745(4)	177.4(4)		N 2.376(5)		
$[Mo]Cl{NC_4H_2(CH_2NMe_2)_2}$	TBP	e 1.757(2)	158.03(13)	110.39(7)		Cl 2.3834(5)	140
		a 1.762(2)	173.13(13)		N 2.362(2)		
$[Mo]Cl2{NH=C(C_6H_5)CH(SiMe_3)_2}$	TBP	e 1.749(2)	151.1(2)	108.07(8)	<i>Cl</i> 2.3940(10)	<i>Cl</i> 2.4415(10)	141
		a 1.752(2)	176.6(2)		N 2.255(2)		
$[Mo]Me_2(PPhMe_2)$	TBP	e 1.759(3)	151.9(2)	111.61(13)		C 2.299(3)	128
		a 1.759(3)	175.9(3)		P 2.6793(10)	C 2.205(4)	
[Mo](OCMe ₂ -2-py)(CH ₂ SiMe ₃)	TBP	e 1.7686(18)	152.52(15)	106.84(8)		C 2.156(2)	136
	(44.7%)	a 1.7529(19)	172.95(18)		N 2.346(2)	O 1.9504(19)	
$[Mo]Me(p-tol)(\mu-C_6H_4CH_2NMe_2)-$	TBP/SP	e 1.770(4)	156.7(4)	116.55(19)	$C_{\rm Ph} 2.239(4)^{\rm d}$	CH ₃ 2.195(6)	137
L1(dme)	(0%4.9%)	e 1.772(4)	1/4.1(3)			$C_{\rm tol}$ 2.216(4)	

Table 3 Structural data for selected bis(imido)– Mo^{VI} complexes containing NAr (Ar = $C_6H_3^{-1}Pr_{2}-2,6)^{-3}$

Compound	Geometry ^b	$d(M_0 = N)$ (Å)	∠(Mo=NC) (deg)	(N=Mo=N)(deg)	$d(M-L_{trans})$ (A)	d(M-L) (Å)	References
[Mo]Me(C ₆ H ₄ CH ₂ NMe ₂ -C,N)	SP	a 1.773(2)	150.37(16)	111.56(10)		CH ₃ 2.177(2)	137
[MolMe{C _s H ₃ (CH ₃ NMe ₃) ₃ }	(73.1%) SP	b 1.7495(13) a 1.758(2)	176.58(17) 151.4(2)	110.78(12)	N 2.383(2)	C 2.176(2) C 2.205(3)	138
	(73.5%)	b 1.749(3)	174.5(2)		N 2.376(4)	CH ₃ 2.194(3)	
$[Mo]Cl{C_6H_3(CH_2NMe_2)_2}$	SP	a 1.759(3)	150.2(3)	154.16(15)	~	C 2.184(5)	138
	(81.3%)	b 1.744(4)	172.0(3)		N 2.335(4)	Cl 2.413(2)	
[Mo]Me{ ⁱ Pr ₂ NC(NCy) ₂ }	ŠP	a 1.756(3)	155.6(2)	109.56(13)	~	N 2.128(2)	141
		b 1.757(2)	175.5(3)		N 2.211(2)	C 2.172(3)	
$[Mo]{PhNC(O^{t}Bu)O-N,O}_{2}$	$[O_h]$	1.759(2)	159.1(2)	104.01(9)	O 2.304(2)	N 2.108(2)	142
		1.754(2)	171.9(2)		O 2.381(2)	N 2.103(2)	
$[Mo]Cl_2\{C_6H_3(CH_2NMe_2)_2H\}$	Oh	1.768(6)	163.9(5)	101.8(3)	$Cl \cdots H 2.721(2)$	Cl 2.4350(17)	138
		1.771(5)	168.9(6)		N 2.430(5)	C 2.198(7)	
[Mo]Cl(ⁱ Pr ₂ -tcn) ^c	Oh	1.779(4)	154.6(3)	102.46(17)	NPr 2.635(2)	Cl 2.4223(11)	147
		1.767(4)	161.5(3)		NPr 2.530(4)	N^{-} 2.003(4)	
$[Mo]Cl_2(py)_2$	Oh	1.773(10)	157.2(7)	102.1(4)	N 2.422(6)	C(1, 2, 395(3))	122
		1.758(9)	166.1(7)		N 2.396(5)	Cl 2.397(3)	

e equatorial) are collected in individual rows, e.g., for the axial imido ligand of trigonal bipyramidal Mo(NAr)₂Me₂(PPhMe₂), d(Mo=N) 1.759(3) Å. Z(Mo=NC) 175.9(3)° and *trans* d(Mo-P) 2.6793(10) Å. Other M—L values are in no particular order. ^b Idealized geometry indicated: T_d = tetrahedral, [T_d] = pseudo-tetrahedral, SP = square pyramidal, TBP = trigonal bipyramidal, O_h = octahedral, [O_h] = pseudo-octahedral. The precentages quoted refer to the distortion along the Berry pseudo-rotation coordinate from TBP (0%) to SP (100%). ^c Data for one of two independent molecules only. ^d These ligands not strictly *trans* to imido.

Table 3 continued

the reaction of Mo(N^tBu)₂Cl₂(dme) with LiMes^F, is stabilized by close Mo^{···}F interactions at ca. 2.47 Å.¹³² Four-coordinate imido thiolates, Mo(NR)₂(SAr)₂ (R=Mes, Ar), have been briefly reported.¹³³ The α -triphenylphosphoniomethylidene complex, Mo(N^tBu)₂(CHPPh₃)Cl,⁶³ reacts with Ph₂C=C=O giving Mo(N^tBu)₂Cl{OC(=CHPPh₃)CPh₂-C,O}¹³⁴ and with axially prostereogenic biaryl lactones giving ring-expanded biaryloxo species.¹³⁵



The scope of $[Mo(NAr)_2]^{2+}$ chemistry is summarized in Scheme 4; selected structural data are presented in Table 3. Five-coordinate Mo(NAr)_2Cl(L-L) (**51**) are generated in the reactions of (**44**) with *one* equivalent of the bidentate ligands **a**–**h** (excluding **d**) and amidinates and guanidinates **i** (R = Cy, R' = Me, NⁱPr₂, N(SiMe₃)₂, etc.), whereas six-coordinate Mo(NAr)₂(L-L)₂ (**52**) are produced with *two* equivalents of **a**–**e**.^{**I**36–**I**41} A bis(carbamate) complex, Mo(NAr)₂{PhNC-(O¹Bu)O-N,O}₂, is also known.^{**1**42} These complexes react with Grignard or organolithium reagents to produce 4- (**53**) or 5-coordinate (**54**, **55**) alkyl or aryl complexes, or 6-coordinate H-bond-stabilized species (**56**) when L–L is **f**-*C*,*N*.^{**I**37,**I**38} Direct protonation of the uncoordinated amine in Mo(NAr)₂R(**f**-*C*,*N*)(R = Cl, Me) also produces (**56**).^{**I**38} A related 8-hydroxyquinolinate (**c**) complex, Mo(N^tBu)₂(Mes)(quin), is known.^{**I**43} Ligand exchange reactions at



Scheme 4

Mo(NAr)₂Cl₂(dme) produce a variety of products (57)–(61) ((60), via Mo(NAr)₂(O^tBu)₂);^{141,144} the carbophilic character of $[Mo(NAr)_2]^{2+}$ is indicated by the formation of (57) and (59).¹⁴⁴ Comparison of the structures of (60) and the alkylidene imido complex, Mo(CHCMe₂Ph)-(NAr)(pdpe), supports the presence of a bent sp²-hybridized imido ligand in (60).⁴⁷ Bis(acetylacetonate) complexes include Mo(NMes)₂(acac)₂, formed in the reaction of Mo(NMes)₂-Cl₂(dme) with Tl(acac).¹⁴⁵ Trispyrazolylborate complexes such as Tp*Mo(N^tBu)₂Cl and [Tp*Mo(N^tBu)(NH^tBu)Cl]BF₄ are known and the structure of Tp*Mo(N^tBu)₂Cl has been determined.¹⁴⁶ Triazacyclononane derivatives include (61) (R = Me, ⁱPr)¹⁴⁷ and salts of [Mo(N^tBu)₂ClL]⁺ (L = tcn, Me₃tcn).¹⁴⁸ Imido complexes bearing CpCo{P(OEt)₂O}₃⁻¹⁴⁵ and PhSN^tBu-*N*,*S*⁻ co-ligands are among the others reported.¹⁴⁹

Bis(imido) dithiocarbamate species of the type $Mo(NR)_2(S_2CNEt_2)_2$ (R = aryl, ^tBu, Ad, C₆F₅, $SO_2C_6H_4Me$) are prepared by: (i) reaction of $MoO_2(S_2CNEt_2)_2$ with RNCO, (ii) reaction of $Mo(NR)_2Cl_2(dme)$ with dithiocarbamates,¹⁰⁵ or (iii) nitrene transfer from organic azides and other reagents to $Mo(CO)_2(S_2CNEt_2)_2$ (for R = $SO_2C_6H_4Me$).¹⁵⁰ New X-ray structures^{105,150} are concordant with previous results.² A ¹³C NMR method for assessing the difference in the bond angles of imido ligands at $[Mo(NR)_2]^{2+}$ centers has been developed.¹⁰⁵ Complexes of this type participate in catalytic imido transfer reactions.¹⁵⁰

The efficacy of *ansa* metallocenes as polymerization catalysts has stimulated research into chelating bis(arylimido) complexes, including those with chiral ligands. The first of these, (**62**), and derivatives (**63**) and (**64**) (n = 1, 2) were reported by Gibson et al. in 1996.¹²¹ The complexes display distorted octahedral structures with d(Mo=N), $\angle(Mo=N-C)$ and $\angle(N=Mo=N)$ in the ranges 1.725–1.754 Å, 155–162° and 100–103°, respectively. Complexes featuring strained, seven-membered, unsymmetrical *ansa* bis(imido ligands), e.g., (**65**), have also been reported.¹¹³ The first chiral bis(imido)-Mo^{VI} complex, C_2 -symmetric (**66**), catalyzes the kinetic resolution of styrene oxide and enantioselective trimethylsilylcyanation of benzaldehyde with 30% and 20% e.e., respectively.¹⁵¹



(iii) Mono(imido) complexes

Mono(imido) complexes featuring alkylidene co-ligands were discussed in Section 4.7.2.1.2. Our treatment of other mono(imido) compounds begins with *trans*-Mo(NH)X(CH₂^tBu)₃ (**67**, X = F, Cl, Br, I, OTf, OPh, OSiR₃), formed in the reactions of MoN(CH₂^tBu)₃ with HX. Trigonal bipyramidal Mo(NH)Br(CH₂^tBu)₃ (d(Mo=N) 1.692(3) Å, $\angle(Mo=N-H)$ 179.5(26)°) associates via NH····Br interactions in the solid state and affords olefin metathesis and ROMP catalysts when supported on silica.^{101,152} Related complexes, including Mo(N^tBu)X(CH₂^tBu)₃ (X = Cl, OC₆F₅), Mo(N^tBu)(OCH₂^tBu)₂(CH₂^tBu)₂, and Mo(N^tBu)(OSiMe₃)(Mes)₃, are formed by alkylation of imido starting materials.^{153,154} Yellow Mo(N^tBu)(OSiMe₃)(Mes)₃ displays a perfect trigonal bipyramidal structure, with d(Mo=N) 1.786(10) Å, d(Mo-O) 1.904(10) Å and d(Mo-C) 2.138(8) Å, and reacts with Me₃SiBr to give the bromo analog.¹⁵⁴ With respect to other halo complexes, reaction of MoCl₄(thf)₂ with *p*-tolylazide in 1,2-dichloroethane at 40 °C yields (**68**), possessing an octahedral structure with d(Mo=N) 1.717(3) Å.^{155,156}



Salts containing anionic, monoimido complexes bearing bidentate amido/amino-carboxylate/ sulfonate co-ligands, e.g., (**69**)–(**71**), are produced when the "bis(imido)" synthesis in step 1 of Equation (1) is performed with functionalized anilines.¹¹⁵ An unusual N₃-donor co-ligand is found in (**72**), produced in the reaction of Li₂[Mo(N^tBu)₄] with PCl₃.¹⁵⁷ Phenylimido complexes of the diamide ligand, *o*-(Me₃SiN)₂C₆H₄²⁻, have been reported by Boncella and co-workers (Scheme 5). Reaction of Mo(NPh)₂Cl₂(dme) with the ligand free acid produces (**73**), which participates in an equilibrium with (**74**) and undergoes aniline displacement giving (**75**) (L = PMe₃ and thf). Purple (**75**) (L = thf) reacts with Grignard reagents to produce dialkyl complexes, (**76**) (R = Me, Ph, Bz, CH₂^tBu, CH₂SiMe₃), several of which convert to imido–alkylidene species (**77**) (E = C, Si).¹³¹ A metallacyclopentane derivative, (**76**) (R₂ = (CH₂)₄), is conveniently prepared by reacting (**75**) with either BrMg(CH₂)₄MgBr *or* EtMgCl and ethene while square pyramidal, oxometallacyclic (**76**) (R₂ = *O*CMe₂CH₂*C*HPh) forms in the reaction of Mo(NPh){(Me₃SiN)₂C₆H₄}(η^2 -PhCH=CH₂) with acetone.¹⁵⁸ Complex (**74**) affords a route into complexes (**78**) (R = CH₂EMe₃ (E = C, Si), cf. (**46**)) upon alkylation. Related chemistry is described in Section 4.7.4.2.2(ii). Imido–Mo^{VI} (**79**) and -Mo^V (**80**) triamidoamine complexes are available from (**41**) (Scheme 2).⁹²



Scheme 5

The calixarenes known to form mononuclear Mo complexes are limited to calix[4]arenes, $(HO)_4^R$ cal (81), 1,3-dialkylcalix[4]arenes, $(HO)_2(RO)_2^{Bu}$ cal, and the larger unsubstituted calix[6]arene. Calix[4]arenes usually act as tetraanionic, quasi-planar O₄-donor ligands, the phenol groups commonly adopting the so-called "cone conformation". The denticity, charge, and conformation of the ligands can be tuned by selective *O*-alkylation. The complexes, Mo(NAr)₂- $(O^tBu)_2$, Mo(N^tBu)₂(NH^tBu)₂, Mo(NMes)₂Cl₂(dme), and (63) (*n*=2), react (variously) with (HO)₄^Rcal giving Mo(NR')(O₄^Rcal)L (82; R=H, R'=Ar or 2-NC₆H₄CH₂CH₂C₆H₄NH₂-2, L=NCMe;^{159,160} R=^tBu, R'=Ar, ^tBu or Mes, L=NCMe, CN^tBu or OH₂).¹⁶¹ These exhibit octahedral structures, the coordination spheres being defined by equatorial phenoxide groups and axial imido and *endo* solvent ligands. Reaction of (63) (*n*=2) with calix[6]arene in toluene produces (83), that converts into an 11-membered, amidine(imido) chelate complex (84) upon workup in NCMe.¹⁶²



Extending previous work,² imido-Mo^{VI} complexes, Mo(NR)Cl₂(S₂CNEt₂)₂ (R = Ph, C₆H₄NH₂-2, etc.), have been prepared by reacting substituted anilines with MoOCl₂(S₂CNEt₂)₂.^{163,164} The X-ray structure of Mo(NC₆H₄NH₂-2)Cl₂(S₂CNEt₂)₂ confirmed the expected pentagonal bipyramidal geometry (d(Mo=N) 1.700(16)Å, $\angle(Mo=N-C)$ 178.0(11)°).¹⁶³ Analogous reactions with 2-aminothiophenol are condition dependent, producing pentagonal bipyramidal Mo-(NC₆H₄S)Cl(S₂CNEt₂)₂, with axial bent imido (d(Mo=N) 1.744(6)Å, $\angle(Mo=N-C)$ 137.7(7)°) and equatorial thiolate donors,¹⁶⁵ or unstable Mo(NC₆H₄S)(OMe)(S₂CNEt₂)₂. Related reactions with alkyl substituted anilines (ArNH₂) yield Mo(NAr)Cl₂(S₂CNEt₂)₂, [Mo(NAr)(S₂CNEt₂)₃]₂-[Mo₆O₁₉], or [Mo(NAr)(S₂CNEt₂)₃]₄[Mo₈O₂₆], depending on conditions and substitution patterns; the mononuclear complexes exhibit pentagonal bipyramidal structures.¹⁶⁶ Seven-coordinate Mo(NR)(S₂)(S₂CNR'₂)₂ (R = aryl (many), 'Bu, Ph, Ad; R' = Me, Et) result from the reactions of MoO₂(S₂CNR'₂)₂ with RNCO¹⁶⁷ or Mo(NR)₂(S₂CNEt₂)₂ with H₂S or Lawesson's reagent.¹⁶⁸ Pentagonal bipyramidal structures with axial imido (d(Mo=N) 1.713(2)–1.759(4)Å, $\angle(Mo=N-C)$ 164.9(8)–179.1(3)°) and equatorial, side-on bonded disulfido ligands pertain.^{167,168} Closely related oxo complexes are well known.²

Finally, reactions of F₂ with Mo(NSCl)Cl₄, [Mo(N₃S₂)Cl₃]₂, or MoNCl₃ produce the *N*-chloroimido complex, Mo(NCl)F₄ (ν (Mo \equiv N) 1,121 cm⁻¹), that converts to Mo(NCl)F₄(sol) (sol = NCMe,¹⁶⁹ thf¹⁷⁰) upon dissolution; Mo(NCl)F₄(NCMe) exhibits an octahedral structure with d(Mo=N)_{av} 1.720 Å, \angle (Mo=N-Cl)_{av} 176.6°.¹⁶⁹ An octahedral anion is also observed for the ionic derivative [Na(15-C-5)][Mo(NCl)F₅] (d(Mo=N) 1.729(3) Å, \angle (Mo=N-Cl) 175.8(2)°).¹⁷⁰ Reaction of MoCl₅ or MoCl₄ with (NSCl)₃ in CH₂Cl₂ produces low yields of black [N(SCl)₂][Mo(NSCl)Cl₅] and Mo(N₃S₂)Cl₃. The anionic chlorothioimido complex has an octahedral geometry with d(Mo=N) 1.75(1) Å and \angle (Mo=N=S) 171.2(9)°.¹⁷¹

(iv) Imido oxo complexes

Imido oxo complexes are relatively rare compared to bis(imido) or dioxo species. Compounds in this class are yellow–orange in color, exhibit ν (Mo=O) at 890 cm⁻¹ and adopt distorted octahedral structures with *cis* imido and oxo ligands and d(Mo=O)_{av} 1.70 Å, d(Mo=N)_{av} 1.77 Å, \angle (O=Mo=N)_{av} 104.3°, and \angle (Mo=N–X) > 153.5° (most > 168°). Complexes of the type *cis*, *trans*-Mo(NR)OCl₂L₂ can be accessed through: (i) "incomplete" reaction of some amines and anilines with molybdate, Me₃SiCl, and NEt₃ in dme or py (L₂=dme, R = C₆H₂Ph₃-2,4,6,¹¹⁷ C₆F₅¹¹⁶ (both structurally characterized), Ad;¹¹⁴ L = py, R = CMe(CF₃)₂¹¹⁹), (ii) reaction of MoO₂Cl₂(MCMe)₂ with one equivalent of RNCO followed by derivatization, ¹⁵³ or (iii) oxo/ imido ligand metathesis of Mo(NMes)₂Cl₂(dme) and MoO₂Cl₂(dme).¹⁴⁵ Derivatives of Mo-(NMes)OCl₂(dme) include Mo(NMes)OCLL (L = Tp*, Cp), Mo(NMes)OCl₂(bpy), Mo(NMes)-O(acac)₂,¹⁴⁵ and Mo(NMes)O(S₂CNR₂)₂ (X = absent, SO₂), can be prepared by autoxidation of Mo(NXC₆H₄Me-4)O(S₂CNEt₂)₂ (X = absent, SO₂), can be prepared by autoxidation of Mo(NXC₆H₄Me-4)O(S₂CNEt₂)₂, is isostructural with its dioxo and bis(imido) analogs.¹⁵⁰ Other trispyrazolylborate complexes, TpMo(NAr)O(CH₂CMe₂Ph) and Tp*Mo(NR)OCl (R = C₆H₄X-4 (X = Me, NH₂, NMe₂), Fc derivatives), have been prepared by hydrolysis of (28) (Schem 3)⁴⁶ or reaction of primary amines with Tp*MoOCl₂ in the presence of NEt₃ and air,¹⁷⁵ respectively. The X-ray structure of octahedral TpMo(NAr)O(CH₂CMe₂Ph) has been determined.⁴⁶ Reaction of MoO₂Cl₂ with two equivalents of NH¹Bu(SiMe₃) in refluxing hexane produces unstable Mo(N¹Bu)O(OSiMe₃)Cl, that is also formed in the reaction of Mo(N¹Bu)₂O(SiMe₃)₂ with 8-hydroxyquinoline forms Mo(N¹Bu)O(quin)₂ through elimination of H₂N¹Bu and (Me₃Si)₂O.⁴³

4.7.2.2.3 Amido and phosphiniminato complexes

Reaction of Mo(NMe₂)₄ with four equivalents of dry O₂ produces a rare homoleptic amido complex, blue Mo(NMe₂)₆, and an oxide by-product. The octahedral complex has been characterized by ¹H (δ 3.22) and ¹³C (δ 51.8) NMR and X-ray diffraction (T_h symmetry, d(Mo–N) 2.0338(14)Å).¹⁷⁶ Reaction of MoNCl₃ with Me₃SiNPR₃ (R = Me, Ph) produces

 $[Mo(NPMe_3)_4]Cl_2^{177}$ and $[Mo(NPPh_3)_4][MoNCl_3(NPPh_3)]_2$,⁷² respectively, while reaction of $MoN(NPPh_3)_3$ with $BF_3 \cdot OEt_2$ in toluene yields $[Mo(NPPh_3)_4](BF_4)_2$.¹⁷⁸ All three compounds have been structurally characterized and contain tetrahedral dications with d(Mo=N) 1.769–1.840 Å, d(N-P) 1.595–1.624 Å, and $\angle(Mo=N-P)$ 142.8–172.8°. Dissolution of $[Cl_3PNPCl_3][MoNCl_4]$ in $CD_2Cl_2/NCMe$ produces isomeric $Mo(NPCl_2NPCl_3)Cl_5$ according to ³¹P NMR data.⁶⁹ Transition metal phosphiniminato complexes were reviewed by Dehnicke.¹⁷⁹

4.7.2.2.4 Hydrazido and organohydrazido complexes

Hydrazido and organohydrazido ligands are intermediates in the reduction or utilization of dinitrogen in biological and chemical systems and are potential catalysts for alkene polymerization and metathesis reactions (cf., related imido species).¹⁸⁰ High-valent (organo)hydrazido(2-) complexes are commonly formed by the condensation of aryl/alkyl hydrazines with dioxo precursors (the stoichiometry providing access to hydrazido–oxo or bis(hydrazido) complexes) or protonation/alkylation of dinitrogen or diazenido species. The bonding and spectroscopic properties of these and allied ligands are discussed elsewhere.^{14,181} Spectroscopic and structural data for representative complexes are summarized in Table 4.

Parallels between imido and hydrazido chemistries have been under examination for some years. Thus, $Mo(N^{t}Bu)_{2}Cl_{2}(dme)$ undergoes ligand exchange with $H_{2}NNPh_{2}$ ·HCl in refluxing dme to produce *cis,trans*-Mo(NNPh₂)_{2}Cl_{2}(dme) (**85**), that exhibits an octahedral structure like its precursor. Treatment of (**85**) with Mg in the presence of PMe₃ produces Mo(NNPh₂)_{2}Cl_{2}(PMe_{3})_{2}; this complex possesses an unusual *cis,cis,trans* structure with linear hydrazido(2-) ligands (cf. Mo(NMes)_{2}Cl_{2}(PMe_{3})_{2} (Section 4.7.2.2.2(ii)) and Mo(NNMePh)_{2}Cl_{2}(PPh_{3})_{2} (*vide infra*)). Attempts to prepare the complex using the "one-pot" synthesis in step 1 of Equation (1) yielded NHEt₃[Mo(NNPh₂)(NHNPh₂)Cl₄] (**86**), containing both hydrazido(2-) and H-bonded hydrazido(1-) ligands.¹⁸² Likewise, all attempts to prepare Mo(NNPh₂)_{2}R_{2} (R = alkyl, aryl) have failed but species such as Mo(NNPh₂)_{2}(OTf)_{2}(py)_{2} (**87**), [Mo(NNPh₂)_{2}(bpy)_{2}](PF_{6})_{2} (**88**), LMo(NNPh₂)_{2}Cl (L = Tp, Tp*), and Mo(NNPh₂)(OTf)Cl(pdpe) (**89**) have been prepared and structurally characterized.¹⁸³ Mono(hydrazido)-Mo^{VI} complexes, Mo(NNRR')Cl₄ (cf. (**68**)), form upon reaction of MoCl₅ with H₂NNMePh or H₂NNPh₂·HCl in CH₂Cl₂ at -78 °C; the complexes are sometimes formulated as Mo(NNRR')Cl₃, their exact nature being uncertain.^{184,185}


Compound	$\frac{IR^{\mathrm{b}}}{(\mathrm{cm}^{-1})}$	d(Mo=N)(A)	d(N-N)(A)	∠(Mo=N-N) (deg)	$d(M-L_{\rm trans})$ (Å)	d(M—L) (Å)	References
Mo(NNPh ₂)(CH ₂ CMe ₂ Ph) ₃ (OC ₆ F ₅) ois-Mo(NNIMePh)(NHNIMePh)(CL(5202)	1588 1500	1.746(2)	1.333(4)	174.5(2)	O 2.011(2) O 2 108(2)	$C_{\rm av.} 2.140$	180
642-1410(1411414161 11)(14111414161 11)C15(909C)	0601	(2) 1.700(2)	1.339(3)	1/2.0(z) 142.9(2)	O(2.103(2))	Cl 2.4336(8)	771
cis-NHEt ₃ [Mo(NNPh ₂)(NHNPh ₂)Cl ₄]	1585	(2-) 1.748 (2)	1.304(3)	174.4(2)	2.4788(7)	2.4448(7)	182
		(1-) 1.958 (2)	1.358(3)	136.0(2)	2.4641(7)	2.4213(7)	
cis,cis,trans-Mo(NNPh ₂) ₂ Cl ₂ (PMe ₃) ₂	1587	1.793(3)	1.306(4)	175.2(2)	Cl 2.5625(11)	P 2.5141(12)	182
cis,trans-Mo(NNPh ₂) ₂ Cl ₂ (PPh ₃)	1595	1.76(1)	1.30(1)	172.9(9)	<i>Cl</i> 2.384(3) ^c	<i>Cl</i> 2.448(4)	193
		1.76(1)	1.33(1)	176.8(8)		P 2.526(4)	
cis,trans-Mo(NNPh ₂) ₂ Cl ₂ (dme)	1586	1.771(2)	1.326(3)	154.6(2)	0 2.331(2)	Cl 2.4451(9)	182
		1.749(2)	1.324(3)	173.4(2)	O 2.322(2)	Cl 2.4380(9)	
cis,cis,trans-Mo(NNPh ₂) ₂ (OTf) ₂ (py) ₂	1588	1.768(7)	1.328(10)	164.2(6)	O 2.266(6)	N 2.212(8)	183
		1.765(8)	1.299(11)	171.7(7)	O 2.203(7)	N 2.216(8)	
cis,trans-Mo(NNPh ₂) ₂ Cl ₂ (phen)	1589	1.773(4)	1.319(5)	170.1(2)	N 2.310(4)	Cl 2.461(1)	194
× 91		1.779(3)	1.309(4)	171.3(4)	N 2.309(3)	Cl 2.457(1)	
cis-Mo(NNPh ₂) ₂ (acac) ₂	1590	1.781(3)	1.310(5)	171.3(3)	O 2.141(3)	O(2.093(3))	191
TpMo(NNMePh) ₂ Cl	1587	1.771(4)	1.308(5)	169.4(3)	N 2.294(4)	N 2.174(5)	195
						Cl 2.435(2)	
cis-Mo(NNMePh) ₂ (SC ₅ H ₃ NSiMe ₃) ₂	1595	1.782(4)	1.310(5)	172.3(3)	N 2.276(4)	S 2.496(1)	188
Mo(NNMePh)Cl ₂ (SC ₅ H ₃ NSiMe ₃) ₂	1563	1.75(1)	1.30(2)	171.3(11)	<i>Cl</i> 2.451(4)	$N_{\rm av.}$ 2.21	188
					<i>Cl</i> 2.416(4) ^d	$S_{\rm av.}$ 2.502	
cis-Mo(NNMePh)O(acac)2 ^e	1600	1.789(3)	1.281(4)	175.6(2)	O 2.145(2)	0 2.047(2)	201
	[915]	1.701(2)			O 2.207(2)	0 2.056(2)	
cis,trans-Mo(NNPh ₂)OCl ₂ (phen) ^e	1587	1.791(4)	1.276(5)	173.1(2)	N 2.286(3)	<i>Cl</i> 2.425(1)	194
	[901]	1.691(2)			N 2.342(3)	<i>Cl</i> 2.419(1)	

Table 4 Structural data for selected hydrazido– Mo^{VI} complexes.^a

^a The values in each row pertain to a particular hydrazido or oxo ligand in the complex. Parameters for the *trans* and non-*trans* donors of bidentate co-ligands are placed in the same row. ^b Data for ν (NN) mode, except for ν (Mo=O) in brackets. ^c Value for the third donor in the trigonal plane defined by Mo(NNPh₂)₂Cl. ^d Value for chloride in pentagonal plane of seven-coordinate complex. ^e Values in the second row of each entry pertain to the oxo ligand.

Alkylation of Mo(NNPh₂)Cl₄ with PhMe₂CCH₂MgCl followed by the addition of HOC₆F₅ produces trigonal bipyramidal Mo(NNPh₂)(CH₂CMe₂Ph)₃(OC₆F₅) ((**90**), cf. (**67**)), an active catalyst precursor in the ROMP of norbornene.¹⁸⁰ A similar reaction with MesMgCl produces Mo(NNPh₂)(NPh₂)(Mes)₂(OC₆F₅), containing an amido ligand formed by hydrazido N—N bond cleavage.¹⁸⁶ Distorted pentagonal bipyramidal structures with apical hydrazido(2-) ligands are observed for Mo(NNMeR){PhP(C₂H₄S)₂-*P*,*S*,*S'*}₂ (R = Me, Ph)¹⁸⁷ and Mo(NNMePh) {PhP(C₆H₄S)₂-*P*,*S*,*S'*}₂ (**91**),^{188,189} produced in the reactions of [Mo(NNMeR)₂ Cl(PPh₃)₂]Cl or Mo(NNMePh)Cl₄ with the ligand free acids.^{187–189} More recently, the reactions of [MoO(μ_s -tmea)]₂ with H₂NNHR (R = Me, Ph) then HBF₄ or [Me₃O]BF₄ were reported to yield [Mo-(NNHR)(tmea)]BF₄.¹⁹⁰ The reaction of MoO₂(acac)₂ with H₂NNRPh in the presence of Na₂SO₄ results in the formation of *cis*-Mo(NNRPh)₂(acac)₂ (R = Me, Ph) (nb. hydrazido oxo species form in the absence of drying agent, *vide infra*). The distorted octahedral complexes feature nearly linear hydrazido ligands (\angle (Mo=N–N) > 171°).¹⁹¹ In contrast, H₂NNRPh·HX (R = Me, Ph; X = Cl, Br, I) react with MoO₂(acac)₂ to produce octahedral *cis*,*trans*-Mo-(NNRPh)(NHNRPh)X₂(acac) with linear hydrazido(2-) and bent hydrazido(1-) ligands in the same molecule.¹⁹² The chloro complex serves as an entry to PR₃, dppe, bpy, phen, and Tp derivatives.¹⁹³⁻¹⁹⁵ Unusual trigonal bipyramidal and *cis*,*cis*,*trans* octahedral structures pertain to Mo(NNPh₂)₂Cl₂(PPh₃)₂ (*vide supra*).¹⁹³

Additional derivatives of the type *cis*-Mo(NNRPh)₂(S₂CNR'₂)₂ (**92**, R = Me, Et, Pr, Bz, allyl, CH₂C=CH, Ph; R' = Me) have been reported.¹⁹⁶ Reactions of (**92**, R = Me, Ph; R' = Me, Et) with one equivalent of HX/NaBPh₄ produce [Mo(NNRPh)(NHNRPh)(S₂CNR'₂)₂]BPh₄ (**93**), while an excess of acid produces Mo(NNRPh)Cl₂(S₂CNR'₂)₂ (**94**); the novel cationic complexes exhibit pentagonal bipyramidal structures with axial hydrazido(2-) and equatorial side-on bonded hydra-zido(1-) ligands.¹⁹⁷ Treatment of (**94**, R = R' = Me) with AgNO₃ in alcohols results in N—N bond cleavage and production of substituted *p*-alkoxyanilines.¹⁹⁶ Related pyridine thiolate derivatives, Mo(NNMePh)Cl₂(SC₅H₃NSiMe₃)₂ (**95**) and Mo(NNMePh)₂(SC₅H₃NSiMe₃)₂ (**96**) are produced in the reactions of MoCl₄(SC₅H₃NSiMe₃)₂ with one or more equivalents of H₂NNMePh, respectively.¹⁸⁸ The reactions of hydroxamate, thiohydroxamate, ¹⁹⁸ and Schiff base¹⁹⁹ complexes with hydrazines are known to produce mixed-ligand diazenido and hydrazido(1-) species.

Hydrazido oxo complexes, Mo(NNRPh)OR'₂(phen) (R = Me, Ph; R' = Me, Ph), have been prepared by reacting Mo(NNRPh)OBr₂(phen) with R'MgX in thf at 0 °C; Mo(NNPh₂)OR'₂-(phen) adopt distorted octahedral structures with d(Mo=N) 1.770(3) Å, d(Mo=O) 1.711(4) Å, near-linear hydrazido units ($\angle(Mo=N-N) > 171^\circ$) and trans R' groups ($\angle(C-Mo-C)$ ca. 150°).²⁰⁰ Related species, e.g., *cis,trans*-Mo(NNRPh)OX₂(bpy) are produced upon hydrolysis of bis(hydrazido) species.¹⁹⁴ In the absence of a drying agent, reaction of H₂NNRPh with MoO₂-(acac)₂ at room temperature yields Mo(NNRPh)O(acac)₂ (R = Me, ²⁰¹ Ph²⁰²) (nb. bis(hydrazido) species form in the presence of drying agent, *vide supra*). The X-ray structure of octahedral Mo(NNMePh)O(acac)₂ revealed *cis* hydrazido(2-) and oxo ligands exerting *trans* influences of ca. 0.1 and 0.16 Å, respectively.²⁰¹ This complex reacts with triethylammonium mercaptobenzoate producing octahedral (NHEt₃)₂[Mo(NNMePh)O(SC₆H₄CO₂)₂]. Further derivatives of the type Mo(NNMe₂)O(S₂CNR₂)₂ (R = ¹Bu, Cy, Bz; NR₂ = piperidinyl, etc.) have been prepared and Mo(NNMe₂)O(S₂CN³Bu)₂ has been structurally characterized.²⁰³ Earlier work includes the synthesis and characterization of trigonal bipyramidal Mo(NNMePh)O₄(SC₆H₄CR₂)₂].²⁰⁴ The X-ray structure of Mo(NNMePh)O(SC₅H₃NSiMe₃)₂ has also been determined.

4.7.2.2.5 Molybdacyclothiazene, molybdaphosphazene, and related complexes

Early metallacyclothiazene chemistry was reviewed in 1986.^{205,206} Since then, an improved synthesis for $[Mo(N_3S_2)Cl_3]_2$ from MoCl₅ and (NSCl)₃ has been devised²⁰⁷ and ligand addition and substitution reactions have produced derivatives such as *mer*-Mo(N_3S_2)Cl_3L (L = py, thf),²⁰⁷ AsPh₄[Mo(N_3S_2)Cl_4],²⁰⁸ [Na(15-C-5)][Mo(N_3S_2)Cl_2F_2],²⁰⁹ Cat[Mo(N_3S_2)(dbc)_2] (Cat = Na⁺, PPN⁺), Mo(N_3S_2)(dbc)Cl(phen), and Mo(N_3S_2)(dbc)Cl(bpy).²¹⁰ The molybdacyclothiazene fragments are invariably planar with *d*(Mo—N) in the range 1.778(3) (*trans* to thf) to 1.973(9) Å (*trans* to dbc) and almost equivalent N—S distances (av. 1.59 Å). An oxidized molybdacyclothiazene ligand is present in (**97**), the product of the reaction of Mo(NCl)Cl₄ with PhS(O)N(SiMe₃)₂ in NCMe.²¹¹



Metallacyclophosphazanes and -phosphazenes have been reviewed by Witt and Roesky.²¹² Phosphazene salts react with MoNCl₃ producing yellow Mo{N₃(PR₂)₂}Cl₃ (R = Ph, C₆H₄Cl-4, N[(CH₂)₂]₂O, NMe₂), that were structurally characterized as their NCMe adducts, (**98**) (R = Ph, NMe₂),^{213,214} mixtures of Mo{N₃(PPh₂)₂}Cl₃ and (**99**) result from similar reactions with MoOCl₄.²¹⁵ Modification of the heterocycle of Mo{N₃(PPh₂)₂}Cl₃ is common and reactions with, e.g., Ph₃SiOH and ^tBuOH, give (**100**) and (**101**), respectively. Electrochemical and theoretical studies of both classes of compound above have been reported.^{216,217}

4.7.2.3 Chalcogenido (Oxo, Thio, Selenido) Complexes

Oxo complexes continue to dominate high-valent Mo chemistry. Previous reviews by Stiefel^{1,2} and Nugent and Mayer¹⁴ provide essential background to this section, which describes molybdate and related species, then trioxo-, dioxo-, mono-oxo, and oxo-thio complexes in that order.

4.7.2.3.1 Molybdate and related complexes

The colorless, tetrahedral molybdate ion, $[MOQ_4]^{2^-}$, lies at the epicenter of high-valent Mo chemistry and biochemistry, being an important starting material and the principal bio-available form of Mo. A timely review of molybdate transport, processing and gene regulation in biological systems has appeared.²¹⁸ Molybdate's size and shape, as well as its ability to participate in strong hydrogen bonding, is essential to its selective binding and transport by proteins. Indeed, hydrogen bonding pervades molybdate and related trioxo–Mo chemistry, a fact reflected in recent X-ray structures of the tris(2-ammonioethyl)amine and guanidinium salts of molybdate, where d(Mo=O) = 1.728-1.776 Å and $\angle(O=Mo=O) = 108.5-112.2^{\circ}$ depending on the extent of hydrogen bonding. The multiple, simultaneous protonation equilibria of $[MoO_4]^{2^-}$ have been extensively studied.²¹⁹ The tetrahedral oxyanion is stable and inert under basic conditions but is readily protonated upon acidification. The first protonation, with log K₁ 3.47, generates $[HMOO_4]^{-}$. The second, occurring with log K₂ 4.74 (~log K₁ due to an accompanying increase in coordination number) yields $MoO_3(OH_2)_3$, $MoO_2(OH_2)_4]^{2^+}$ but these species are observed only at very low Mo concentrations (<10⁻⁴ M). At higher concentrations, condensation leading to polyoxomolybdates occurs (see Chapter 4.10). The nature of the solution species and the role of $MoO_2(OH_2)_2$ or $Mo(OH)_6$ in condensation reactions have been probed by theoretical studies.²²⁰ The existence of six-coordinate, dioxo-Mo^{VI} species in strong acid is supported by (X=C1, Br) from these solutions (Section 4.7.2.3.3(i)). Molybdenum(VI) equilibria in different ionic media and in the presence of organic and amino acids have been extensively studied; lead-in references provide an introduction to relevant literature.^{222,223}

Intensely yellow/red-colored, tetrahedral thiomolybdates, $[MoO_xS_{4-x}]^{2-}$ (x = 0-3), are formed in the reactions of molybdate with H₂S or sulfiding agents in basic solutions. These complexes and their many homo- and heterometallic derivatives have been extensively studied and reviewed.^{5,224,225} Interest in them stems, *inter alia*, from their roles in Cu–Mo antagonism in ruminants and their potential as treatments for Wilson disease.^{226,227} Catalytic, industrial (e.g., lubricants), materials, and electronics applications also stimulate work in this area. The extension of thiomolybdate chemistry to nonaqueous media is facilitated by access to soluble alkylammonium salts and methods for the synthesis of (NH₂R₂)₂[MoS₄] (R = Me, Et)²²⁸ and (NR₄)₂[MoS₄], (R = *n*-alkyl)²²⁹ have been reported. Thiomolybdate salts, including Cs₂[MoS₄], [Ni(en)₃][MoS₄], and $[Co_2L_3][MoS_4]_2$ (L = N(CH₂CH₂NH₂)₃), have been structurally characterized. Photolysis of $[MoS_4]^{2^-}$ in air produces $[MoO_2S_2]^{2^-}$ and S_2 and accounts for the slow deterioration of $[MoS_4]^{2^-}$ salts upon storage.²³⁰ Contrary to earlier reports, the one-electron electrochemical reduction of $[MoS_4]^{2^-}$ is reversible in dry dmf.^{231,232} Spectroscopic (³³S, ¹⁷O, and ⁹⁵Mo NMR) and theoretical studies of thiomolybdates have added to earlier insights.^{1,5} *Ab initio* MO studies suggest that shielding of ⁹⁵Mo in the series $[MoO_xS_{4-x}]^{2^-}$ (x=0-4) is dominated by paramagnetic contributions arising from increased population of the 5p and 4d orbitals of Mo as x decreases.^{233,234} The bonding and extent of electron delocalization in species of this type continue to elicit much interest.²³⁵ Early transition metal thiometallates participate in induced internal redox reactions. For example, the reactions of $[MoS_4]^{2^-}$ and tetraalkylthiuram disulfides afford $Mo(S_2)(S_2CNR_2)_3$,²³⁶ while reactions with disulfides (RSSR) produce dinuclear $[Mo_2S_2(\mu-S)_2(S_2)_2]^{2^-,237}$ These reactions underscore the facile redox interplay of Mo and S.^{225,238,239} Conversion of (PPh_4)₂[MoS_4] to reduced polythiometalates is promoted by a variety of conditions and reagents, including alkyl halides, and intermediates such as PPh₄[MoS₃(S^tBu)] appear to play a role in these reactions; this unstable compound contains a pseudo-tetrahedral anion with $d(Mo=S)_{av} 2.148$ Å, d(Mo-S) 2.341(2) Å and $\angle(Mo-S-C) 111.8(2)^{\circ}$.²⁴⁰ Tatsumi and co-workers have recently used similar methods to prepare related complexes.²⁴¹

Improved syntheses for purple (NEt₄)₂[MoSe₄] from Na₂MoO₄, NEt₄Cl, and [Me(CH₂)₇-SiMe₂]₂Se in basic (NEt₃) acetonitrile,²⁴² and blue (PPh₄)₂[MoSe₄] from Mo(CO)₆ and K₂Se₃ in dmf at 90 °C, followed by precipitation with PPh₄Br,²⁴³ have been reported. The anion in (PPh₄)₂[MoSe₄] has a tetrahedral structure with d(Mo=Se) 2.293(1)Å.²⁴³

The pseudo-tetrahedral complexes, $MoE_2(ONR_2)_2$ (E=O, S, Se),^{2,5} are closely related to the tetrahedral anions above. New dioxo complexes include $MoO_2(ONR_2)_2$ (NR₂=2,2,6,6-tetramethylpiperidine) but thio or seleno derivatives have not been reported since the 1980s.²⁴⁴ The thio derivative, $MoOS(ONC_5H_{10})_2$, reacts with cyanide to produce $MoO_2(ONC_5H_{10})_2$ (50–60%) and SCN⁻ (65–80%) along with free HNC₅H₁₀ and HONC₅H₁₀; the X-ray structure of MoO-Se(ONC₅H₁₀)₂ was also reported.²⁴⁵ A detailed electrochemical examination of MoE₂(ONC₅H₁₀)₂ derivatives revealed complex behavior, including ligand dissociation and reduction as well as interconversion of species, upon reduction.²⁴⁶ The reactions of $MoO_2(ONHMe)_2$ with alkylnitriles, thiocyanate, CS_2 , and isocyanates have been explored and octahedral *cis*-MoO₂{ON-(Me)C(NH^tBu)O-*O*,*N*}₂ has been structurally characterized.²⁴⁷ Attempted conversion of isocyanides $(R = Bu, {}^{t}Bu, Cy)$ to isothiocyanates by sulfur atom transfer from $MoS_2(ONEt_2)_2$ generated thioureas, RHNC(=S)NEt₂, with cleavage of the hydroxylamido ligands.²⁴⁸ Reactions of $MoO_2(ONC_5H_{10})_2$ with catechol and its derivatives (catH₂) produce $MoO(cat)(ONC_5H_{10})_2$. The parent complex exhibits a pentagonal bipyramidal solution and solid state structure with an axial oxo group (d(Mo=O) 1.688(6)Å) and equatorial hydroxylamido ligands. The complexes undergo an irreversible reduction at potentials more positive than the dioxo-Mo^{VI} precursor (cf. the reversible reduction of dithiocarbamate and Schiff base analogs, Section 4.7.2.3.4(ii).²⁴⁹ Reaction of MoO₂(ONR₂)₂ (R = Et, Bz) with the strong Lewis acid B(C₆F₅)₃ produces pseudo-octahedral MoO{OB(C₆F₅)₃}(ONR₂)₂, with d(Mo=O) 1.683(1)Å, d(Mo-OB) 1.808(1)Å and \angle (Mo–O–B) 170.09(8)° (for R = Et).²⁵⁰

4.7.2.3.2 Trioxo complexes

fac-Trioxo–Mo^{VI} complexes are generated under strongly oxidizing conditions in the presence of robust or chelating ligands. Complexes of this type are colorless and exhibit four-coordinate tetrahedral or six-coordinate distorted octahedral structures with d(Mo=O)/(O=Mo=O) in the ranges 1.718–1.746 Å/110.0–113.0° and 1.725–1.759 Å/103.3–107.7°, respectively. The pyramidal MoO₃ unit is invariably "flattened," resulting in disparate O–Mo–O and L–Mo–L angles and a "relative shift" of Mo toward the plane of oxo ligands. IR spectra typically exhibit two MoO₃ stretching modes, A_1 (polarized in Raman) and *E* (depolarized in Raman) under local C_{3v} symmetry, although solid state (H-bonding) effects commonly split the *E* mode. These bands are observed in the 820–920 cm⁻¹ region. 17-Oxygen and ⁹⁵Mo NMR signals appear at δ 680–710 and δ 65–100, respectively.²⁵¹ Electrochemical studies reveal that trioxo complexes undergo a protonassisted, two-electron reduction producing hydroxy/aqua–Mo^{IV} species that comproportionate with starting material to produce electroactive Mo^V dimers.^{252,253}

Redistribution of oxygen in the reaction of $MoO_2(Mes)_2$ with the ylide $H_2C=C(H)PEt_3$ followed by cation exchange yields $PPh_4[MoO_3(Mes)]$,²⁵⁴ whereas reaction of $MoO_2(Mes)_2$ with

MgMes₂ produces [{MoO₃(Mes)}₂{Mg₂Cl₂(thf)₅}₂][MoOCl₃(Mes)]₂·2thf.²⁵⁵ Both trioxo moieties exhibit tetrahedral geometries, the Mo=O distances of the latter (av. 1.737 Å) being longer than those of the former (av. 1.720 Å) due to Mg²⁺ interactions.

A wealth of Mo chemistry (Scheme 6) is supported by triazacyclononane ligands (102, R₃tcn; R = H (tcn), Me, ¹Pr, Bz). Colorless *fac*-(R₃tcn)MoO₃ (103) are prepared from MoO₃ and R₃tcn in hot water^{252,256} or by oxidative decarbonylation of *fac*-(R₃tcn)Mo(CO)₃ (104) using nitric acid²⁵⁷ or H₂O₂/thf at 50 °C.²⁵¹ The X-ray structures of octahedral (tcn)MoO₃·3H₂O, ²⁵⁸ (¹Pr₃tcn)-MoO₃·3H₂O, and (¹Pr₃tcn)MoO₃·(PhNH)₂CO confirmed the molecular *C*_{3v} symmetry inferred by spectroscopic studies.²⁵⁷ In aqueous protic media (103) (R = H, Me) undergo quasi-reversible (2e⁻,4H⁺) reduction to [(R₃tcn)Mo^{1V}O(OH₂)₂]²⁺, that undergo further reduction and di- and trimerization; the complexes are redox-inactive in aprotic media.²⁵² They function as O-donor ligands to Co^{II} and Fe^{II} and abstract BPh₃ and BPh₂⁺ from BPh₄⁻.^{251,259} The X-ray structures of mono-*N*-functionalized derivatives, (Rtcn)MoO₃·nH₂O (R = CH₂CH=CH₂ (*n* = 1), CH₂CH₂CH=CH₂ (*n* = 2), CH₂CH₂OH (*n* = 1), CH₂-2-C₅H₄N (*n* = 3)) reveal intricate H-bonding networks.²⁵⁸ The triazacyclohexane (R₃tch (105)) derivative, (¹Bu₃tch)MoO₃ (106), formed by peroxide oxidation of (¹Bu₃tch)Mo(CO)₃ to yintric acid, or Mo(CO)₃(tpa) (tpa = tris(2-pyridyl-methylamine) by O₂, produces NEt₄[LMoO₃)²·2H₂O (see 107, E = B, *n* = 1),²⁶¹ Tm*MoO₃ (see 107, E = C, *n* = 0),²⁶² and MoO₃(tpa)·H₂O (108),²⁶³ respectively. The anion of NEt₄[TpMoO₃]·2H₂O exhibits a distorted octahedral geometry and a network of H bonds involving all three oxo ligands. In (108), tpa binds in a tridentate fashion, the pendent pyridyl group and lattice water being H bonded to the oxo ligands. The X-ray structure of MoO₃(dien) (dien = diethylenetriamine) has been redetermined.





Complex formation between molybdate and citrate has been investigated by a variety of techniques; mononuclear, dinuclear, and tetranuclear complexes in six different Mo:citrate (cit) ratios and levels of protonation are observed.²⁶⁴ The 1:1 complex, *fac*-K₄[MoO₃(cit)]·2H₂O (**109**), features a six-coordinate anion containing tridentate citrate bound through alkoxide, α -carboxylate, and (one) β -carboxylate groups.²⁶⁵

4.7.2.3.3 Dioxo complexes

Innumerable dioxo—Mo^{VI} complexes, having applications as oxidation catalysts, enzyme and metal oxide surface models, sensors, drugs, etc., have been reported since 1985. These are typically prepared by ligand addition, exchange, and/or metathesis at *cis*- $[MoO_2]^{2+}$ starting materials such as MoO₂X₂, MoO₂X₂L₂ (X = halide, L = H₂O, dmso, OPPh₃, etc.), or



Scheme 6

MoO₂(acac)₂. They are diamagnetic and generally colorless or yellow–orange, although deep red/purple complexes are known; blue or green "dioxo—Mo^{VI}" complexes are suspect. The π -donor oxo ligands are invariably *cis* in order to maximize donation into empty metal orbitals; the resultant complexes are characterized by two ν (MoO₂) IR bands in the region 800–970 cm⁻¹. Coordination numbers range from 4 to 6 and coordination geometries (110)–(113) are heavily represented; structural data for representative complexes are summarized in Table 5. Tetrahedral complexes (110) are restricted to those bearing π -donor co-ligands and examples include: [MoO₂S₂]^{2–}, MoO₂(Mes)₂,²⁶⁶ MoO₂(Mes){=C(Mes)PBu₃},²⁶⁷ MoO₂(NPPh₃)₂,⁷⁷ MoO₂-(OSiPh₃)₂,²⁶⁸ MoO₂(Cc₆H₃⁺Bu₂-2,6)₂,²⁶⁹ and the silsesquioxane, MoO₂{Cy₇Si₇O₉(OSiMe₃)-(O-)₂}.²⁷⁰ Five-coordinate complexes are also relatively rare and include trigonal bipyramidal (11, L/X variously charged/uncharged) MoO₂(Mes)₂(PPh₃),²⁶⁸ MoO₂(Cy₇Si₇O₉(OSiMe₃)(O-)₂)L (L = py, OPPh₃),²⁷⁰ and NO₂- and NS₂-donor ligand complexes, $^{274-277}$ as well as square pyramidal MoO₂L(bdt) (L = OSiPh₃, SC₆H₂⁻iPr₃-2,4,6).²⁷⁸ The majority of dioxo—Mo complexes are six-coordinate species with distorted octahedral geometries. Further, due to the strong *trans* influence of the π -donor oxo ligands, the weakest π -donor ligands (L) coordinate preferentially to the sites *trans* to the oxo ligands, stronger π -donor ligands (X) being mutually *trans* and *cis* to the oxo groups. Thus, almost all 6-coordinate complexes can be described in terms of the *cis,trans,cis*-MoO₂X₂L₂ structure (112).^{2,14} In rare instances, e.g., MoO₂Cl₂(tmeda)²⁷⁹ and MoO₂Cl₂(Me₄cy-clam).²⁸⁰ steric demands force the adoption of the electronically unfavorable *cis,cis,cis* structure (113).²⁸¹ A second, less common skew trapezoidal bipyramidal geometry is observed for *N*-substituted cysteamine complexes;



(i) Complexes containing halide ligands

Compounds such as MoO_2X_2 and $MoO_2X_2L_2$ (X = halide, L = neutral ligand) are key starting materials in dioxo–Mo chemistry and discussion ahead of their derivatives is warranted.

complexes. ^a
5
xo-Mo
cis-dio
for
data
structural
Selected
Table 5

Compound	d(Mo=O) (Å)	d(Mo_L) ^b (Å)	d(Mo_X)° (Å)	∠(O=Mo=O) (deg)	∠(L—Mo—L) ^d (deg)	$(\mathrm{A}-\mathrm{M}_{\mathrm{O}}-\mathrm{X})^{\mathrm{d}}$ (deg)	References
MoO ₂ (Mes) ₂	1.699(3)		C 2.101(3)	109.5(1)		112.5(2)	266
$M_0O_2(NPPh_3)_2$	1.712(3)		N 1.859(3)	108.2(1)		107.7(1)	77
$MoO_2(OSiPh_3)_2$	1.692(7)		O 1.815(5)	106.4(5)		110.0(4)	268
MoO ₂ (Mes) ₂ (CH ₂ PBu ₃)	1.688(5)	C 2.227(7)	C 2.224(6)	113.5(3)		151.0(2)	272
	1.706(5)		CH ₂ 2.249(7)				
$MoO_2(OSiPh_3)_2(PPh_3)$	1.688(7)	O 1.922(6)	O 1.903(6)	110.0(4)		166.5(2)	268
	1.678(7)		P 2.759(3)				
MoO ₂ (169) ⁵	1.698(4)	N 2.163(5)	O 1.898(4) O 1.919(4)	109.7(3)		144.8(2)	275
$M_0O_2(178)$	1.691(6)	N 2.244(7)	S 2.412(2)	110.5(3)		156.4(1)	276
í	1.696(6)		S 2.419(2)			~	
$M_0O_2\{HN(CH_2CH_2S)_2\}$	1.697(4)	N 2.333(4)	S 2.361(1)	110.8(2)		137.8(1)	277
	1.687(4)				c		
$PPh_4[MoO_2(OSiPPh_3)(bdt)]$	$O_{\rm ax} 1.698(4)$		O 1.916(4)	109.2(2)	$79.9(1)^{f}$	$152.27(8)^{g}$	278
	$O_{\rm eq} 1.710(4)$	S 2.467(5)	S 2.452(4)		77.4(2)		
MoO ₂ Cl ₂ (tmeda) [113]	1.681(4)	N 2.464(4)	N 2.278(4)	103.1(2)	82.1(1)	165.2(1)	279
	1.697(4)	<i>Cl</i> 2.449(2)	<i>Cl</i> 2.338(2)				
MoO ₂ Cl ₂ (Me ₄ cyclam) [113]	1.673(7)	N 2.478(8)	N 2.289(8)	101.5(3)	84.2(2)	163.9(3)	280
	1.701(7)	CI 2.486(3)	<i>Cl</i> 2.331(3)				
Na ₂ [MoO ₂ (bdbax)]·3dmso	1.707(2)	m-O 2.186(2)	m-O 2.012(2)	101.87(9)	84.19(7)	151.40(7)	343
(bdbax = 134) [113]	1.734(2)	o-0 2.125(2)	o-0 1.998(2)				
$MoO_2F_2(thf)_2$	1.682(3)	0 2.292(3)	F 1.884(2)	103.4(2)	77.52(11)	150.75(12)	170
	1.680(3)	0 2.275(3)	F 1.887(3)				
MoO ₂ Cl ₂ (diglyme)	1.688(2)	0 2.268(2)	Cl 2.363(1)	104.7(1)	70.96(8)	159.75(3)	288
	1.695(2)	0 2.327(2)	Cl 2.368(1)				
MoO ₂ Br ₂ (NCMe) ₂	1.682(3)	N 2.326(3)	Br 2.5119(4)	104.4(1)	75.75(9)	156.52(2)	289
	1.682(3)	N 2.326(3)	Br 2.5119(4)				
MoO ₂ Cl ₂ (OH ₂) ₂ ·2H ₂ O·18-C-6	1.677(3)	O 2.210(3)	Cl 2.3682(9)	103.5(3)	75.8(2)	159.90(5)	300
$MoO_2(Me)_2(bipyrimidine)$	1.699(2)	N 2.336(2)	C 2.187(3)	110.26(9)	67.41(7)	148.00(12)	307
	1.717(2)	N 2.364(2)	C 2.190(2)				
$MoO_2{NC_5H_3(NR)Me-2,6}_2$	1.692(2)	N 2.350(2)	NR 2.077(2)	105.13(7)	76.19(5)	143.52(6)	316
$(R = SiMe_3)$	1.694(2)	N 2.334(2)	NR 2.076(2)				

(u)	1.096(4) 1.702(4)	N 2.301(4) N 2 346(2)	S 2.402(2) N 2 169(4)	102.6(2)	79.9(2)	157.5(1)	319
	1.705(2)	N 2.338(2)	O 1.865(2)	104.78(8)	78.52(6)	158.69(6)	319
OMe)]BPh4	1.697(2) 1.792(4) 1.783(4)	N 2.346(2) N 2.306(4) N 2 318(4)	N 2.209(2) N 2.258(3) O 1.805(3)	105.9(2)	75.0(1)	159.7(1)	326
py)2	1.687(2) 1.687(2) 1.687(2)	N 2.510(4) N 2.404(4) O 2.568(2)	OR 1.909(2) OR 1.909(2)	104.5(1) 105.0(1)	75.1(2) 79.2(1)	151.7(9) 143.9(1)	333 334
2 ^{Bu} cal}	1.683(2) 1.694(3)	$O_{\rm Me} 2.484(2)$ $O_{\rm Me} 2.394(3)$	$\begin{array}{c} \mathbf{OR} \ 1.924(2) \\ \mathbf{O} \ 1.916(3) \\ \mathbf{O} \ 1.926(3) \\ \mathbf{O}$	101.47(15)	101.55(10)	137.16(12)	337
cam)]•dmf•5H ₂ O	1.690(3) 1.722(7) 1.700(8)	O _{Me} 2.559(3) O 2.176(7) O 2.167(7)	$\begin{array}{c} 0 & 1.920(3) \\ 0 & 1.991(7) \\ 0 & 1 & 007(8) \end{array}$	99.14(4)	89.54(4)	148.93(4)	342
$(\mathbf{R} = \mathbf{H})$	1.705(2)	=02.207(2)	0 1.997(2)	104.8(1)	77.4(1)	154.5(1)	357
$(\mathbf{R} = \mathbf{Et})$	1.09/(2) 1.691(5)	=0 2.242(2) $O_{\rm nz}$ 2.209(6)	O 1.980(2) O 1.981(4)	103.5(4)	77.8(3)	155.4(3)	361
nnt)2]	1.721(6)	<u>S</u> 2.635(3)	S 2.439(2)	104.7(4)	83.3(1)	158.3(1)	362
$(Bu_4dttd = 147)$	1.702(10)	S 2.657(5)	S^{-} 2.413(6)	108.5(7)	79.7(2)	150.2(2)	382
	1.684(4)	N 2.382(5)	O 1.957(3)	106.22(28)	76.16(20)	150.95(21)	386
	1.705(3)	N 2.363(3)	0 1.938(3)	104.5(1)	89.2(1)	146.3(2)	390
Me)	1.705(5)	OH 2.349(4)	O 2.016(4)	106.4(2)	77.6(2)	148.2(2)	399
	1.692(4)	N 2.234(4)	O 1.927(4)				
f) $(pdc = 170)$	1.674(2) 1.702(2)	$O_{ m dmf} 2.308(2)$ N 2.190(2)	O 2.009(2) O 2.010(2)	105.5(1)	71.76(8)	144.68(9)	407
	1.696(4)	N 2.411(5)	S 2.418(2)	107.7(3)	76.2(2)	159.8(1)	420
Me)	1.709(4)	N 2.304(4)	S 2.389(1)	105.7(2)	77.2(1)	150.3(1)	433
x	1.699(3)	O 2.322(4)	S 2.442(1)	~	~	~	
(btap = 184)	1.715(4)	N 2.387(5)	S 2.4406(16)	105.3(2)	74.13(16)	155.17(6)	434
$(L-N_{2}S_{2} = 186)$	1.742(4) 1.697(2)	<i>O</i> 2.079(4) <i>N</i> 2.441(2)	S 2.4729(16) S 2.414(1)	107.4(1)	74.52(5)	159.91(2)	435
1	1.697(2)	N 2.460(2)	S 2.413(1)				

Lare those indicated in structures (110)–(113). The donor atoms are indicated in italics. ^b d(Mo-L) pertains to donor atoms *trans* to the oxo ligands in (112) or their counterparts (L and X) in (113). Parameters for individual oxo/*trans* donor atom pairs are listed in the same row. ^c $d(Mo-X_c)$ pertains to the mutually *trans* donor atoms *cis* to the oxo ligands in (112) or their counterparts (L and X) in (113). Parameters for the *trans* donor atom to the oxo ligands in (111)–(112) or their counterparts (L and X) in (113). Parameters for the *trans* and non-*trans* donors of bidentate ligands are listed in the same row. ^d The angles identified in structures (110)–(112) or their counterparts (L and X) in (113). Parameters for the *trans* and non-*trans* donors of bidentate ligands are listed in the same row. ^d The angles identified in structures (110)–(112) or their counterparts in (113). ^e Data for one of two independent molecules. ^f For this square pyramidal complex, these values represent (S-Mo-S) and (the smaller) (S-Mo-OR), respectively. ^g Larger (S-Mo-OR). р

Exchange of oxide for chloride forms the basis of a new synthesis of MoO_2Cl_2 from $MoOCl_4$ and $(Me_3Si)_2O_2^{283}$ addition of bpy to the reaction yields $MoO_2Cl_2(bpy)$ but the scope of this "modification" has not been explored.²⁸⁴ The gas-phase structures of MoO_2X_2 (X = Cl, Br) have been redetermined using electron diffraction, and molecular C_{2v} symmety is indicated.²⁸⁵ The electrochemistry of MoO_2Cl_2 at Pt in NCMe and methylene or propylene carbonates has been investigated, and $MoO_2^{2+}(sol)$, $[MoO_2Cl_4]^{2-}$, and $[MoO_2Cl_3]^{-}$ are implicated in the behavior observed.²⁸⁶ A theoretical study of oxohalo–Mo anions (citing additional references) has appeared.²⁸⁷

Dissolution of MoO₂X₂ in coordinating solvents (L) produces distorted octahedral complexes, *cis,trans,cis*-MoO₂X₂L₂ (**112**). Complexes prepared in this manner include MoO₂Cl₂(diglyme),²⁸⁸ MoO₂Cl₂(dme) (n.b., alternative synthesis from Na₂MoO₄ and Me₃SiCl in dme¹¹⁶), MoO₂Br₂(NCR)₂ (R = Me, Ph), and MoO₂Br₂(NC^tBu).²⁸⁹ Hydrolysis also affords complexes of this type; e.g., hydrolysis of Mo(NCl)F₄ in thf produces MoO₂F₂(thf)₂.¹⁷⁰ The ready displacement of water from MoO₂Cl₂(OH₂)₂ (*vide infra*) by dmso provides a reliable route to MoO₂Cl₂(dmso)₂ (see *Inorg. Synth., Vol. 31, p. 246*) and related species. Other complexes, such as MoO₂X₂L₂ (X = F, Cl, Br; L = picoline *N*-oxide, pentene-2-ones, L₂ = bpy, phen, bis(oxazoline), and 1,4diazabutadiene derivatives),^{290,291} MoO₂Cl₂(pzH)₂ and MoO₂Cl₂(Me₂Cpz₂) (pz = pyrazolyl),²⁹² may be prepared through ligand exchange. These have been structurally characterized and tested as epoxidation catalysts, the chloro and aromatic N-donor complexes being more active than their bromo or aliphatic analogs.²⁹³ Dioxo-dichloro-Mo^{VI} complexes also serve as precursors to active, heterogeneous, epoxidation catalysts.²⁹³ The oxidation of PPh₃ by dmso or azoxybenzene is catalyzed by MoO₂X₂(dmso)₂ (X = F, Cl, Br).²⁹⁴ Phosphoryl and carbonyl complexes, as well as MoO₂Cl₂(Me₄cyclam) (**114**), are produced in the direct reactions of MoO₂Cl₂ and ligand in a suitable solvent; the latter exhibits the rare all-*cis* ligand configuration (**113**).²⁸⁰ Related complexes formed in unusual ways include PPh₄[MoO₂Cl₂{HON=C(Me)CO₂-*O*,*N*}], produced by ligand fragmentation in the reaction of H₃hidpa (see Section 4.7.3.6.3) with PPh₄[MoO-Cl₄(OH₂)],²⁹⁵ and NEt₄[MoO₂F₂(acac)], prepared by reacting MoO₂(acac)₂ with [NEt₄][HF₂] in NCMe.²⁹⁶

Spectroscopic evidence²⁹⁷ for the existence of aqua complexes in solutions of MoO₃ or $M_2^1MoO_4$ in concentrated hydrohalic acids was corroborated by the isolation of *cis,trans,-cis*-MoO₂X₂(OH₂)₂ (**112**, L=OH₂), in H-bonded solids. Early examples included MoO₂Cl₂-(OH₂)₂·H₂O·NEt₄Cl²⁹⁸ and polyether stabilized MoO₂Cl₂(OH₂)₂·(diglyme)₂.²⁹⁹ Subsequently, extraction of K₂MoO₄/HX solutions with diethyl ether, followed by addition of crown ethers to the organic phase, yielded MoO₂X₂(OH₂)₂·2H₂O·18-C-6, MoO₂Cl₂(MeOH)₂·18-C-6 (after recrystallization from methanol) and [K(18-C-6)][MoO₂Cl₃(OH₂)] (when 18-C-6 was present *in* the extractant).³⁰⁰ Crystals of MoO₂X₂(OH₂)₂·2H₂O·18-C-6 comprise distorted octahedral complexes H-bonded through bound and lattice water to the crown ether moiety. In the lattice of MoO₂Cl₂(MeOH)₂·18-C-6, the weakly coordinated methanol hydroxy groups H-bond to the crown ether.³⁰⁰

(ii) Complexes containing carbon-donor ligands

Virtually all the work in this area builds on the seminal contributions of Heyn, Hoffman, Schrauzer and their co-workers;² an alternative synthesis for $MoO_2(Mes)_2^{255}$ and the X-ray structures of $MoO_2(Mes)_2$ and $[Li(OEt_2)_2][MoO_2(Me)_2(Mes)]^{273}$ augment earlier work. In new chemistry, reactions of $MoO_2(Mes)_2$ with the phosphonium ylide, H_2CPBu_3 , yield trigonal bipyramidal $MoO_2(Mes)_2(CH_2PBu_3)^{272}$ or tetrahedral $MoO_2(Mes)\{=C(Mes)PBu_3\}$,²⁶⁷ depending on reaction temperature. Reactions with $H_2C=C(H)PEt_3$ produce $PPh_4[MoO_3(Mes)]$ (Section 4.7.2.3.2) while other ylides induce polyoxomolybdate formation.²⁵⁴ The reactivity of $MoO_2(Mes)_2$ toward CO, isocyanates, and isocyanides has also been investigated.³⁰¹

Complexes of the type $MoO_2R_2(bpy)$ are prepared by reacting $MoO_2Br_2(bpy)$ with Grignard or organolithium reagents in cold thf, and many new alkyl,³⁰²⁻³⁰⁴ and aryl³⁰⁵ derivatives have been prepared since 1985. Bipyridine has also been replaced by substituted bpy, phen, and 1,4diazabutadiene ligands (L) to produce MoO_2R_2L (R = alkyl and Bz derivatives).³⁰⁶⁻³⁰⁸ Structurally characterized species exhibit distorted octahedral structures (115) with *cis* oxo ligands (*d*(Mo=O) 1.695–1.74 Å, \angle (O=Mo=O) 110.3–113.1°), N-donors *trans* to oxo, and mutually *trans* organyl ligands positioned back from the oxo groups (*d*(Mo=C) 2.187–2.235 Å, \angle (C-Mo=C) 148.0–153.6°). Decomposition pathways are sensitive to the nature of the organyl

ligand.^{306,309} The methyl and ethyl derivatives are efficient catalysts for the ROMP of norbornene with MeMgBr co-catalyst or alone when supported on Montmorillonite K10.³¹⁰ Catalysis of olefin epoxidation by ¹BuOOH has also been demonstrated for MoO₂Me₂L (L = bpy, phen, or 1,4-diazabutadiene derivatives);³⁰⁷ seven-coordinate MoO(Me)₂(OH)(OO^tBu)L are believed to be the active catalysts in these systems.³⁰⁸ Related but ill-defined methyl or μ -methylene species, formed in the reactions of MoO₂Cl₂ and AlMe₃, and their synthetic applications have been reviewed by Kauffmann.³¹¹ Trispyrazolylborate complexes, Tp*MoO₂R (**116**, R = Me, CH₂SiMe₃), are produced in the reactions of Tp*MoO₂Cl with RMgX at <-10 °C in diethyl ether³¹² or AlMe₃ in toluene followed by oxidation.³¹³ An X-ray structure of Tp*MoO₂(Me) revealed a distorted octahedral geometry.³¹³

(iii) Complexes containing nitrogen-donor ligands

Dioxo complexes with monodentate N-donor ligands are rare but include tetrahedral $MoO_2(NPPh_3)_2$, produced in the reaction of MoO_2Cl_2 and $LiNPPh_3$ in thf or through hydrolysis of $MoN(NPPh_3)_3$,⁷⁷ and known $(PPh_4)_2[MoO_2(NCS)_4]$. The thiocyanate complex is an active oxygen atom transfer (OAT) catalyst³¹⁴ but the 4,4'-di-*t*-butyl-2,2'-bipyridine derivative, $MoO_2(NCS)_2(^tBu_2bpy)$, is even more active.³¹⁵ Amido-pyridine complexes, $MoO_2\{C_5H_3N(NR)Me-2,6\}_2$ ($R=SiMe_3$, $SiMe_2^{i}Bu$, $SiPh_2^{i}Bu$),³¹⁶ and bis(amido) species, $MoO_2\{PhC(NSiMe_3)_2\}_2$,³¹⁷ exhibit distorted octahedral structures; the small bite angles of the amido ligands (ca. 60°) exacerbate the canting of "equatorial" MoO_2 and MoN_2 planes.

Many dioxo—Mo^{VI} complexes containing trispyrazolylborate (Tp^x) ligands have been prepared and characterized as part of a broad exploration of bio-relevant Mo^{VI}–Mo^{IV} chemistry (Scheme 7). Reaction of MoO_2X_2 (X = Cl, Br), $MoO_2X_2L_2$ (X = F, Cl, Br; L = OPPh₃, dmso), or (NEt₄)₂- $[MoO_2(NCS)_4]$ with KTp^{*}, KTp^{Pr}, or KTz^{*} yields *fac*-Tp^xMoO_2X (116) (X = F, Cl, Br, NCS). Related complexes (X variously OMe, OEt, OPh, S¹Pr, SPh, SBz, and others) may be generated through methathesis with HX/NEt₃ or alkali metal salts.^{318,319} Complexes of ambidentate ligands, $Tp^{x}MoO_{2}(S_{2}PR_{3}-S)$ (117, R = alkyl, alkoxy^{320,321}), can be accessed by metathesis but oxidation of the corresponding Mo^{IV} complexes, $Tp^{x}MoO(S_{2}PR_{2})$ (118), provides more reliable syntheses. The X-ray structures of $Tp^{*}MoO_{2}(X = S_{2}P(OEt)_{2}-S_{3})$ NCS,³¹⁸ SPh³¹⁹), $Tp^{Pr}MoO_{2}(OMe)$ and $Tz*MoO_2(SPh)$ reveal distorted octahedral geometries defined by fac Tp^x and mutually cis oxo and X ligands. Unlike most dioxo—Mo^{VI} complexes, Tp^x complexes generally undergo reversible or pseudo-reversible, one-electron reductions producing stable EPR-active Mo^V species (119/120) (see Section 4.7.3.3 for a description of isolable species). Redox potentials are influenced greatly by the nature of X and correlate with Hammett functions.^{319,322} These Mo^{VI} complexes are the cornerstones of synthetic enzyme models encompassing many biologically relevant oxidation states, oxo centers, and reactions, and informing electronic structure (Scheme 7).³²³ The OAT and coupled electron-proton transfer chemistries of this and related systems have been reviewed.³²⁴ More recently, $[TmMoO_2X]X$ (X = Cl, Br), $[Bm*MoO_2Cl]Cl$, and $TpMoO_2Cl$ were prepared and tested as epoxidation catalysts.²⁹² Oxidation of Mo^{II} (121), Mo^{III} (122), or Mo^V (123) complexes with nitric acid or H_2O_2 permits isolation of salts of fac-[(Me_3tcn)MoO_2X]⁺ (124, X = Br, I, OMe) (Scheme 6). These were characterized spectroscopically, electrochemically, and crystallographically, the cation in [(Me₃tcn)MoO₂(OMe)]BPh₄ having an octahedral geometry defined by facial Me₃tcn and mutually cis oxo and methoxide ligands.^{325,326} More recently, pseudo-octahedral [(tcn)MoO₂(MeHNO)]ClO₄ has been isolated and structurally characterized.³²⁷

Molybdenum porphyrin chemistry spans a range of oxidation states, most notably +VI through +IV, and has been reviewed.^{328–330} Three types of Mo^{VI} porphyrin complexes are known, viz., *cis*-MoO₂(por) (**125**), *cis*-MoO(O₂)(por) (**126**), and *trans*-Mo(O₂)₂(por) (**127**) (por = 5,10,15,20-R₄-porphyrinato(2-); R = Mes (tmp), Ph (tpp), tol (ttp) etc).² The chemistry, electrochemistry, and photochemistry of these complexes are summarized in Scheme 8 (electrochemical interconversions³³¹ lie inside the dashed boundary, chemical transformations outside). Pyrolysis rather than photolysis of Mo(O₂)₂(tpp) provides better access to bulk quantities of MoO₂(tpp).³³² The tetradentate amido complex, [MoO₂([15]aneN₄-H)]Cl (**128**), is produced in the reactions of MoO₂Cl₂ and 1,4,8,12-tetraazacyclopentadecane ([15]aneN₄) in CH₂Cl₂.²⁸⁰







Scheme 8



(iv) Complexes containing oxygen-donor ligands

(a) Alkoxide, aryloxide, and catecholate complexes. Two four-coordinate, tetrahedral complexes in this class have been structurally characterized. The first, $MoO_2(OSiPh_3)_2$, was prepared by silylation of Ag_2MoO_4 using Ph_3SiCl and reacts with PPh_3 to form trigonal bipyramidal $MoO_2(OSiPh_3)_2(PPh_3)$.²⁶⁸ The second, $MoO_2L_2 \cdot 2HL$ ($L = OC_6H_3^{t}Bu_2-2,6$), is produced in the reaction of MoO_2Cl_2 and Li(L).²⁶⁹ Both complexes appear to be stabilized by significant π donation from the OR^- ligands, the Mo-O-Si/C angles being ca. 163° and 170°, respectively. Derivatives such as $MoO_2(OSiPh_3)_2L$ (L = phen (129), Me_4phen , $4,4'-Me_2bpy$, 5,5'-bpy, and py_2) are also known.³³³ Related oxo-thio complexes are described in Section 4.7.2.3.5. Reaction of $MoO(Cl_4 \text{ or } MoO_2Cl_2 \text{ with Li(dag)}$ in diethyl ether yields $MoO(dag)_4$ and *cis*- $MoO_2(dag)_2$ (130), respectively; these react with bases producing $MoO(dag)_4(py)$ and $MoO_2(dag)_2(phen)$.³³⁴ Reaction of $MoO_2(OR)_2$ (with the expected distorted octahedral structure) upon standing.³³⁵ Reaction of tetraalkylammonium 1,1'-bi-2-naphtholate (bino) with $MoO_2(acac)_2$ results in the generation of $NR_4[MoO_2(bino)(acac)]$, which possesses a severely distorted octahedral structure with asymmetrically coordinated bidentate ligands.³³⁶ Oxo calixarene complexes are of interest as models of heterogeneous metal–oxide catalyst surfaces, centers capable of supporing organometallic transformations, and as building blocks for supramolecular structures. However, only one dioxo-Mo^{VI} derivative, $MoO_2\{O_2(OMe)_2^{Bu}cal\}$ (131), has been reported.³³⁷

More "mononuclear" trioxo and dioxo catecholate complexes have been reformulated as dinuclear species but mononuclear catecholate or pyrogallolate complexes do exist.^{338,339} Insights into monomer–dimer interconversions, especially through ligand autoxidation, have been provided by Pierpont and co-workers.³⁴⁰ Complexes of the catechol amines, adrenaline (H₂ad), noradrenaline (H₂nad), dopa (H₂dp), dopamine (H₂dpm), and isoproterenol (H₂prot) have been prepared and characterized. Bidentate coordination was established for Na₂[MoO₂L₂]·H₂O (L = nad, dopa, prot), (PPh₄)₂[MoO₂(prot)₂]·H₂O, and MoO₂(Hdpm)₂·H₂O.³⁴¹ Siderophore complexes of Mo include K₂[MoO₂(btrencam)], Na₂[MoO₂(bta)₂],³⁴² and Na₂[MoO₂(bdbax)]·3dmso³⁴³ (see (132)–(134) for ligand structures). The *cis*-[MoO₂]²⁺ unit in K₂[MoO₂(btrencam)] is coordinated "outside" the macrobicyclic cavity by two catecholate units H bonded to adjacent amido NH groups; the third catecholate unit is protonated and is directed away from the octahedral Mo center. A distorted octahedral anion with planar intramolecularly H-bonded catecholamine units was established for Na₂[MoO₂(bdbax)]·3dmso.³⁴³ A similar H-bonded motif is observed in (NH₄)₂[MoO₂(dhb)₂]·1.5H₂O (H₂dhb = 2,3-dihydroxybenzoic acid), formed similarly.³⁴⁴ Molyb-date binding to the aminochelin siderophore of *Azotobacter vinelandii* quenches the fluorescence of attached Ru(bpy)-chromophores, affording a sensitive probe for the oxyanion.³⁴⁵



(b) Other O-donor ligand complexes. A detailed synthesis of $MoO_2(acac)_2$, a central precursor for synthesis and catalysis, can be found in *Inorg. Synth. (Vol. 29, p. 129)*. New catalytic applications for the complex include the Meyer–Schuster rearrangement³⁴⁶ and the selective oxidation of alcohols to aldehydes.^{347,348} The Lewis acid adduct, $MoO\{OB(C_6F_5)_3\}(acac)_2$, has been prepared and structurally characterized.³⁴⁹ An unusual feature of the solid state structure of pyH[MoO₂(sal)(Hsal)] is the coordination of one of the bidentate ligands through the carbonyl group of a protonated carboxylate moiety.³⁵⁰ A carbonyl group also assists bidentate coordination of (1R)-endo-(+)-3-(diethoxyphosphoryl)camphor (L) in MoO_2Cl_2L but it is easily displaced by a second phosphoryl group, forming $MoO_2Cl_2L_2$.³⁵¹ Four- and five-coordinate silsesquioxane complexes, $MoO_2\{Cy_7Si_7O_9(OSiMe_3)(O-)_2\}$ and $MoO_2\{Cy_7Si_7O_9(OSiMe_3)(O-)_2\}L$ (L = py, OPPh₃), have been characterized by spectroscopy and X-ray diffraction.²⁷⁰

Hydroxamic acids form very stable metal complexes, a feature making them attractive as siderophores and metal-chelating drugs.² The free acids (LH), (**135**, R=alkyl, R'=H, Me),^{352,353} and the amino acid derivatives (**136**)³⁵⁴ form complexes of the type, *cis*-MoO₂L₂. These possess distorted octahedral structures with bidentate, uninegative hydroxamate ligands bound with their carbonyl oxygens *trans* to oxo. The mixed hydroxamato/hydroximato compound, NH₂Et₂[MoO₂{MeC(O)=N(O)}{MeC(O)N(O)H}], is the unexpected product of the reaction of MoO₂(S₂CNEt₂)₂ with acetonehydroxamic acid.³⁵⁵ Boration of hydroxamato–Mo complexes has been described.²⁵⁰ Complexes containing (deprotonated) hydroxy-4-pyrones (**137**, R=H (maltol), CH₂OH (kojic acid)) or hydroxy-4-pyridinones (**138**, R=H, CH₂OH; R'=Me, Pr, Bz, Ph, and long chains) may be generated by reactions with molybdic acid or ligand elaboration at Mo through double Michael-type addition of the appropriate amine to *cis*-MoO₂-(pyronate)₂.^{356–359} These complexes are of interest as treatments for iron overload, thalassemia, and heart dysfunction in diabetics.^{357,358} Complexes derived from 3-hydroxy-2-pyridinone³⁵⁶ and tropolone³⁶⁰ are also known. A bis(3-H-pyrazol-3-onato) complex, *cis*-MoO₂L₂, is formed when ethanol solutions of (**139**, R = Et) are mixed with molybdate in acid. The X-ray structure of the octahedral complex revealed *C*₂ symmetry, with the acyl oxygens bound *trans* to oxo. The product of the same reaction with (**139**, R = CCl₃) is modified by ethoxylation at an acyl group, the pyrazolyl hydroxy group of the new ligand (**140**) being bound *trans* to oxo.³⁶¹



(v) Complexes containing sulfur-donor ligands

(a) Dithiolene complexes. Modeling of the pterin–dithiolene center in Mo and W enzymes has stimulated work on MO^{VI} — MO^{IV} dithiolene complexes, the contributions of Garner, Holm, Sarkar, Ueyama, and their co-workers being particularly noteworthy (see also Sections 4.7.3.4.3(ii) and 4.7.4.3.4(i)). Complexes such as $[MOO_2(mnt)_2]^2$ – (141), $[MOO_2\{S_2C_2(CO_2Me)_2\}_2]^{2-}$, and $[MOO_2L_2]^{2-}$ (142, L = bdt (R absent), tdt (R = Me-4), S_2C_6H_3SiPh_3-3) are prepared by OAT to the corresponding oxo— MO^{IV} complexes,³⁶² although (141) is more conveniently obtained by reacting Na₂MOO₄ with Na₂mnt in aqueous buffer at pH 6.³⁶³ These red–brown salts are characterized by low-energy $\nu_s(MOO_2)$ and $\nu_{as}(MOO_2)$ IR modes at ca. 890–850 and 850–820 cm⁻¹, respectively. Interestingly, resonance Raman studies suggest that the dithiolenes may exert a *trans* influence *on* the oxo ligands, not vice versa.^{362,364} The anions of $(PR_4)_2[MOO_2(mnt)_2]$ (R = Bu,³⁶³ Ph³⁶²) and $(PPh_4)_2[MOO_2(bdt)_2]^{362}$ exhibit distorted octahedral structures with *cis* oxo groups and very different Mo—S distances (ca. 2.6 vs. 2.4 Å), the longer being *trans* to the oxo ligands. Mo K- and L_{2,3}-edge XAS data for these and related complexes have been reported,³⁶⁵ as have kinetics studies of the reactions of $[MO_2(mnt)_2]^{2-}$ (M = Mo, W) with hydrogensulfite/dimethylsulfite,^{363,366-368} phosphines,³⁶⁶ and phosphites ($k_{Mo}/k_W \sim 10^2 - 10^3$).³⁶⁹ Selected compounds are known to react with sill chlorides to produce mono(oxo) silyloxo derivatives, e.g., NEt₄[MoO(OSi^tBuPh_2)(bdt)_2] (see (143)),³⁷⁰ while NEt₄[MoO(OPh)(S₂C₂Me₂)_2] reacts with Me₃NO to produce NEt₄[MoO(OPh)(S₂C₂Me₂)_2] (detected in solution).³⁷¹ The mono(dithiolene) complex, NEt₄[MoO₂(bdt)(OSiPh₃)], prepared by reacting MoO₂(OSiPh₃)₂ with Li₂bdt, undergoes ligand

exchange producing NEt₄ [MoO₂(bdt)(SC₆H₂ⁱPr₃-2,4,6)], an advanced structural model for sulfite oxidase. Both anions exhibit square pyramidal (pseudo-tetrahedral) structures (see (144)).²⁷⁸



(b) Other sulfur-donor ligand complexes. Work in this mature area was reviewed by Stiefel^{1,2} and lead-in references only are cited. Recent reports describe new derivatives of $MoO_2(S_2CNR_2)_2$ and structural, electrochemical, and (OAT) kinetics studies.^{324,372} Reactions of $MoO_2(S_2CNR_2)_2$ (R = alkyl) with silanes produce silyloxo, halide, pseudo-halide, and tris(dithiocarbamato) species including $MoOX_2(S_2CNEt_2)_2$ (X = I, NCS), [MoO(OSiMe_3)(S_2CNEt_2)_2]OTf, and pentagonal bipyr-amidal $MoO(OSiMe_3)(CN)(S_2CNEt_2)_2$.³⁷³ New derivatives of well-known $MoOC1_2(S_2CNR_2)_2$ ²⁰³ and an undergraduate experiment exploring the chemistry of $MoO_2(S_2CNEt_2)_2$.³⁷⁴ have been published. The synthesis and characterization of $MoO_2\{S_2P(OEt)_2\}_2$ has also been reported.³⁷⁵ Bidentate 2-aminocyclopent-1-ene-1-dithiocarboxylate (145, R = H, acda) and its *N*-alkyl derivatives form many complexes of Mo^{VI} – Mo^{III} ; a summary of acda chemistry follows. The central starting material in this area, maroon $MoO_2(acda)_2$, reacts with excess Hacda, HX (X = F, Cl, Br, I), HX' (X' = BF4, PF6), catechols, and arylhydrazines to give $MoO(acda)_3$, $MoOX_2(acda)_2$, [MoO(acda)_3]X', $MoO(cat)(acda)_2$, and $Mo(N_2R)(acda)_3$, respectively.^{376,377} Complexes such as $Mo(acda)_4$, $MoO(SR)(acda)_2$ (R = Ph, C₆H₄NH₂-2, CH₂CH₂NH₂), $Mo(ONR)X_2(acda)_2$, and $Mo(NR)X_2(acda)_2$ are formed when $MoOX_2(acda)_2$ reacts with Hacda, RSH, RNHOH, and Ph₃PNR, respectively.³⁷⁸ Reaction of [MoO(acda)_3]X' with Hacda, HSC₆H₄NH₂-2, or PPh₃ results in $Mo(acda)_4$, $Mo(SC_6H_4NH_2-2)(acda)_3$, and $Mo(PPh_3)(acda)_3$, respectively.³⁷⁶ while Hacda reacts with $MoOC1_2(S_2CNR_2)_2$ and [MoO(S_2CNR_2)_3]BF4 to produce $Mo(acda)_2(S_2CNR_2)_2$ and $Mo(acda)_2(Racda)_2$, $MoOc(Racda)_2$, $Racda)_2$, $Racda)_2$, and $Mo(acda)_4$, $Racda)_2$, $Mo(acda)_2(Racda)_2$, and Mo(ox)(acda) are also accessible.

The Mo chemistry of the multidentate S- and mixed-donor ligands (146)–(152) has been defined by Sellmann *et al.* Orange, diamagnetic *cis*-MoO₂L (L = dttd, Bu₄dttd, Medttd) exhibit distorted octahedral structures with *cis* oxo groups, *trans* thiolate donors, and thioether donors *trans* to oxo. The electrochemistry and OAT reactions of the complexes have been investigated and related oxo—Mo^V and —Mo^{IV} species are known.^{380–383} The extensive low-valent Mo chemistry of dttd, Bu₄dttd, and related ligands is described in Section 4.7.6.5.4.





(149): X = S, R = H; (150): X = S, R = ^tBu (151): X = O, R = H; (152): X = NH, R = H

(vi) Complexes containing N/O-donor ligands

A range of simple bidentate N/O-donors form *cis*-MoO₂L₂ complexes. These include aminophenolate,³⁸⁴ pyrazolyl alcoholate (**153**),³⁸⁵ pyrazolyl phenolate (**154**),³⁸⁶ benzimidazolyl alcoholate (**155**),^{386,387} and Schiff base ligands (where claims of 8-coordination are doubtful).³⁸⁸ Interest in asymmetric epoxidations has led to the recent investigation of complexes containing chiral NOdonor ligands such as oxazolines (**156**)³⁸⁹ and pyridyl alcoholates including (**157**)–(**159**).^{291,390–393} The complexes display good activity and variable (<26%) optical induction in the asymmetric epoxidation of *trans-β*-methylstyrene.

Schiff base (SB) complexes of the type, cis-MoO₂(SB)L (L = neutral donor), have attracted much attention and early work has been reviewed.³⁹⁴ These complexes generally exhibit distorted octahedral geometries with *mer*-Schiff base ligands. Complexes containing NO₂-donor ligands derived from salicylaldehyde, 3-methoxysalicylaldehyde, and 2-hydroxy-1-naphthaldehyde



(160)–(162)^{395–398} have been prepared and structurally characterized, as have complexes containing the hydrazones (163)–(166).^{395,399–403} The Schiff bases formed from salicylaldehyde and Girard Reagents T and P (166) are unusual in forming cationic complexes, $[MoO_2(SB)(MeOH)]^+$.^{402,403} NO₂-Donor Schiff base complexes are generally poor OAT agents (cf. N/O/S-donors, Section 4.7.2.3.3(vii).³²⁴ Indeed, some Schiff base complexes inhibit rather than accelerate the aerial oxidation of aldehydes, presumably by scavenging radicals.³⁹⁶ Some potentially quinquidentate Schiff bases also form *cis*-MoO₂L complexes, where L acts as a tridentate ligand.⁴⁰⁴ Electrochemical, spectroscopic, and kinetics studies have been reported for many of the complexes above.⁴⁰⁵ Related amino alcoholate and phenolate ligands, (167) (R var. Me, CH₂OH)³⁹⁷ and (168),⁴⁰⁶ form similar complexes. The reaction of MoO₂(acac)₂ with the free acid of (168) produces [MoO₂(168)]₂(μ -O), that is converted to MoO₂X(168) (X=Cl, N₃) upon treatment with Me₃SiX; these complexes are efficient epoxidation catalysts.



Dioxo complexes of 2,6-pyridinedimethanolates (169) are mononuclear in the solid as well as solution states and exhibit trigonal bipyramidal structures with axial alcoholate donors.²⁷⁵ Related complexes, MoO₂(pdc)L (pdc=(170); L=O- or N-donor), are efficient catalysts for the deoxygenation of azoxybenzene with PPh₃ in boiling toluene. Indeed, their reactivity and stability at high temperatures make them valuable in effecting "difficult" OAT reactions.⁴⁰⁷ Many five-coordinate NO₂-donor complexes participate in Mo=O \rightarrow Mo interactions in the solid state.^{1,2} This is the case for *cis*-MoO₂(171) (R=H, Me), that adopt linear polymeric Mo=O \rightarrow Mo structures (d(Mo=O) 1.739(4)Å, $d(O \rightarrow Mo)$ 2.246(4)Å, for R=H),⁴⁰⁸ and MoO₂(172)·C₆H₁₄, that crystallizes as a "diamond core" dimer having Mo=O \rightarrow Mo character ($d(Mo=O)_{av}$ 1.768Å, $d(O \rightarrow Mo)_{av}$ 2.432Å).⁴⁰⁹

The ligands (173) (and its saturated analog),⁴¹⁰ (174) and (175)^{411,412} react with MoO₂(acac)₂ to produce *cis*-dioxo complexes with N bound *trans* to oxo.⁴¹⁰ The complex of (174) ($R = R' = NO_2$, R'' = H) catalyses the oxidation of dmso with benzoin with high efficiency.^{411,412} These and other results⁴⁰⁷ challenge the requirement of S-donors for effective OAT catalysis.



(vii) Complexes containing N/S-donor and mixed chalcogen ligands

N/S-donor ligands like pyridine- or pyrimidine-2-thiolate and ¹BuNSPh-*N*,*S*⁻ form severely distorted complexes as a result of the small bite angles of the ligands; the S-donors are observed to bind *cis* to oxo in the former but *trans* to oxo in the latter.¹⁴⁹ Yellow, diamagnetic $(NH_4)_2[MoO_2\{O_2CC(S)Ph_2-O,S\}_2]$ is produced in the reaction of ammonium molybdate with 2,2-diphenyl-2-mercaptoacetic acid (**176**); the anion possesses a distorted octahedral structure in the NH₄⁺ and NHEt₃⁺ salts.⁴¹³ Electrochemical studies of solution and hydrotalcite-intercalated forms of the complex have been reported,⁴¹⁴ as has the electrocatalytic reduction of nitrite to ammonia by the complex.⁴¹⁵ Moreover, the hydrotalcite-intercalated form is an efficient catalyst for the oxidation of thiols by dioxygen, dmso and aromatic nitro compounds.^{416,417} The reduction of nitrate (or nitrite) by thiols⁴¹⁸ and various OAT reactions are catalyzed by $(NBu_4)_2$ - $[MoO_2\{O_2CC(S)MePh\}_2]$.⁴¹⁹

Dioxo complexes of the sterically bulky (thiolato)pyridine and bis(thiolato)pyridine ligands (177) and (178) have been described by Holm and co-workers; a distorted octahedral structure is observed for *cis*-MoO₂(177),⁴²⁰ whereas MoO₂(178) adopts a trigonal bipyramidal structure with axial thiolate donors.²⁷⁶ The desire to prevent comproportionation and maintain mononuclearity upon OAT was realized in the (thiolato)pyridine system^{420,421} but not the bis(thiolato)pyridine system.⁴²² A trigonal bipyramidal structure is adopted by related NS₂-donor ligand complexes, e.g., *cis*-MoO₂(179).²⁷⁷ Schiff base (SB) and related ligands such as (180) and derivatives,⁴²³⁻⁴²⁶ (181) (R = NHPh, NH₂, Ph, SR etc),⁴²⁷⁻⁴³¹ (182),⁴³² and (183)⁴³³ form complexes of the type *cis,mer*-MoO₂(SB) (associated in the solid state) and *cis,mer*-MoO₂(SB)L (L = neutral donor) that closely resemble the NO₂-donor complexes discussed in Section 4.7.2.3.3(vi). The structural, electrochemical, and chemical properties of these complexes have been well defined⁴²³⁻⁴³³ and their OAT chemistry reviewed.³²⁴ They are generally more active catalysts than their NO₂-donor counterparts but contrary to earlier reports, dinuclear Mo^V species rather than monomeric Mo^{IV} species appear to be the products of reactions with, e.g., phosphines.^{423,433} The multidentate ligand btap (184) in distorted octahedral K[MoO₂(btap)] is positioned such that the O- and N-donors are *trans* to the *cis* oxo groups, the S- donors being *trans* and mutually *cis* to the other ligands.⁴³⁴



The genesis of research on tetradentate, N_2S_2 -donor complexes has been summarized.² Since 1985, dioxo—Mo^{VI} complexes bearing the ligands (185)–(188) have been reported and many have been structurally characterized.⁴³⁵⁻⁴³⁷ The structure of *cis,trans*-MoO₂(L-N₂S₂) (189, Scheme 9; boxed species have been isolated and structurally characterized) is typical, with *cis* oxo and *trans* thiolate donors (hence the *cis,trans* designation). There has been intense study of the electrochemistry of these complexes^{435,437} and of accessible Mo^V species (Section 4.7.3.3).



Scheme 9 $(L = L - N_2 S_2 = 186)$

4.7.2.3.4 Monooxo complexes

(*i*) Porphyrin complexes

Oxo—Mo^{IV} porphyrin complexes, MoO(por) (190), react with O₂ in solution or the solid state forming dark-red MoO(O₂)(por) (126), exhibiting ν (Mo=O) and ν (O–O) IR bands at ca. 910 and 926 cm⁻¹, respectively (see Scheme 8 and Section 4.7.2.3.3(iii).^{438–440} The compounds are stable in the dark but lose O₂ with full or partial regeneration of MoO(por) upon irradiation.⁴⁴⁰ The X-ray structure of *cis*-MoO(O₂)(tmp) reveals *cis* oxo and peroxo ligands and a saddle-shaped porphyrin with Mo 1.0 Å above the N₄-plane. The molecule has effective C_s symmetry with d(Mo=O) 1.697(13) Å and d(O–O) 1.42(3) Å.⁴⁴¹ The structure is retained in solution and appears to be shared by all derivatives.⁴⁴⁰ Chemical or electrochemical oxidation of MoO(O₂)(tmp) results in reduction of the metal center, producing [MoO(tmp)]⁺ or *trans*-MoO(tmp)X (191) (in the presence of X⁻) and O₂. Initial formation of a superoxo species that reduces Mo^{VI} to Mo^V with concomitant production of O₂ is proposed.⁴⁴²

(ii) Diolate, catecholate, and calixarene complexes

Ligand-centered redox has stimulated interest in species containing catecholate and its derivatives (L). Seven-coordinate MoOL(S₂CNEt₂)₂ are produced in the reactions of MoO₂(S₂CNEt₂)₂ with catechols or upon oxidative addition of *o*-quinones to MoO(S₂CNEt₂)₂.⁴⁴³ Pentagonal bipyramidal structures with apical oxo (ν (Mo=O) 922–906 cm⁻¹) and equatorial dithiocarbamate groups are postulated. Related, hydroxylamido complexes, MoOL(ONR₂)₂ (R = Me, Et, Bz; ν (Mo=O) 930–915 cm⁻¹) are produced in the reactions of MoO₂(ONR₂)₂ and catechols in methanol.⁴⁴⁴ The complex electrochemical behavior of these and related dithiocarbamate complexes spans Mo^{VI,V,IV} and (where applicable) catecholate, semiquinone, and quinone oxidation levels.⁴⁴³⁻⁴⁴⁵ Blue–green MoOL(SB) (SB = (160),⁴⁴⁶ (180),⁴⁴⁷ (181) (R = NHPh)⁴⁴⁸) and MoOL(tbp) (tbp = 2,2'-thiobis (phenolate)s),⁴⁴⁹ are also known. These 6-coordinate complexes display a ν (Mo=O) IR band at 950–930 cm⁻¹ and are notable for the reversibility of their Mo^{VI}/Mo^V redox couple (cf. 7-coordinate species). The first mononuclear Mo calixarene complexes reported were oddly

colored $MoO(O_4^{Bu}-cal) \cdot \{(HO)_4^{Bu}cal\} \cdot 2CH_2Cl_2$ and $MoO(O_4^{Bu}cal)(H_2O) \cdot \{(HO)_4^{Bu}cal\} \cdot PhNO_2$. The X-ray structure of the latter revealed discrete $MoO(O_4^{Bu}cal)(H_2O)$ and $(HO)_4^{Bu}cal$ molecules arranged to resemble a Fabergé egg encapsulating a nitrobenzene molecule H-bonded to the aqua ligand.⁴⁵⁰ Related phenyldiazenyl functionalized oxo—Mo^{VI} complexes have recently been reported.⁴⁵¹ Red–purple $MoOCl_2\{O_2(OR)_2^{Bu}cal\}$ (R = Me, Et) are formed in the reactions of $MoOCl_4$ with 1,3-dialkyl *p-tert*-butylcalix[4]arenes in hexane.⁴⁵² The X-ray crystal structure of $MoOCl_2\{O_2(OEt)_2^{Bu}cal\} \cdot CHCl_3$ confirmed the monomeric nature of the complexes and revealed a novel *fac*-tridentate, "collapsed" calixarene moiety. Finally, the synthesis and X-ray structure of $MoO(OTeF_5)_4$ (d(Mo=O) 1.66(2) Å) has been reported by Turowsky and Seppelt.⁴⁵³

(iii) Peroxide complexes

Peroxide complexes are intermediates in industrially important epoxidation reactions and research in this area is focused on mechanism and the development of regioselective, stereoselective, and environmentally benign industrial processes. Oxodiperoxo and oxoperoxo complexes will be discussed in that order. Reviews by Dickman and Pope⁴⁵⁴ and Caradonna⁴⁵⁵ provide full accounts of peroxo complexes and their use as oxidants in the period prior to 1994. So-called "Mimoun-type" peroxo complexes, $[MoO(O_2)_2L_{eq}L_{ax}]^{0/n-}$ (192), are produced by the

So-called "Mimoun-type" peroxo complexes, $[MoO(O_2)_2L_{eq}L_{ax}]^{0/1-}$ (192), are produced by the addition of ligands to solutions of MoO₃ in 30% H₂O₂, acidification of molybdate/ligand solutions in 30% H₂O₂,² or electrosynthesis;⁴⁵⁶ water, amides, ureas, phosphoramides, amino acids, pyridines, N-, P- and As-oxides or combinations thereof, along with bidentate N-, P-, O-, and mixed-donor (ax/eq) ligands are all known to form complexes of this sort and many have been structurally characterized. Mimoun complexes generally exhibit pentagonal bipyramidal structures, with axial oxo (d(Mo=O) 1.659–1.682 Å) and L_{ax} ligands and equatorial side-on bound peroxo and L_{eq} ligands; the peroxide ligands are asymmetrically coordinated, the Mo—O bond proximal to L_{eq} being longer (by <3%) than the other (both in the range 1.898–1.974 Å), while d(O-O) and $\angle(O-MO-O)$ fall into narrow ranges ca. 1.47 Å and 44.5°, respectively. Six-coordinate, pseudo-tetrahedral (or pentagonal pyramidal) PPh₄[MoO(O₂)₂(OSiPh₃)] (193), with symmetrically bound peroxo ligands and a vacant site *trans* to oxo, is structurally unique.⁴⁵⁷ The complexes exhibit three IR bands assignable to $\nu(O-O)$ and $\nu_s(MoO_2)/\nu_{as}(MoO_2)$ modes in the regions 950–800 cm⁻¹ and 660–500 cm⁻¹, respectively; the $\nu(Mo=O)$ IR band appears at ca. 970–950 cm^{-1.458} Mimoun complexes are effective reagents for the selective oxidation of alcohols to aldehydes, amines to nitroso compounds, sulfides to sulfoxides (and thence sulfones), phenols to *o*-quinones, and in the sulfoxidation of thianthrene 5-oxide, etc.⁴⁵⁵ Computional studies of olefin epoxidation by Mimoun complexes support a mechanism involving direct transfer of a peroxide oxygen atom to olefin via a *spiro* transition state.⁴⁵⁹⁻⁴⁶¹ Kinetics studies of the oxidation of bromide⁴⁶² and OAT⁴⁶³ by oxo(peroxo) complexes have been reported.



Djordjevic *et al.*⁴⁶⁴ have described the synthesis and characterization of amino acid complexes $MoO(O_2)_2L_{eq}(OH_2)$ (**192**) and the X-ray structures of the Gly, Ala, and Pro derivatives. Chiral ligands such as (R)/(S)-(**194**), (R)/(S)-(**195**), and (R,R,S)/(R,S,R)-(**196**) form Mimoun complexes, $MoO(O_2)_2L$ and $MoO(O_2)_2L(OH_2)$. IR and ³¹P NMR data, as well as the X-ray structure of pentagonal bipyramidal $MoO(O_2)_2(R,R,S-196)(OH_2)$, indicate the presence of equatorial phosphoryl donors.^{465,466} Enantioselectivity in the stoichiometric epoxidation of pro-chiral olefins was marginal (<10%) except in the case of the binaphthyl derivatives (L = **195**) where e.e.'s of up to 39% were recorded.⁴⁶⁶ Related structures are observed for phosphine oxide^{458,467} and chelate complexes such as $MoO(O_2)_2{OE(^1Pr)_2CH_2CH_2OMe}$ (**197**, E = P, As).^{458,468} An efficient biphasic catalytic epoxidation system based on $MoO(O_2)_2(OPR_3)$ (R = *n*-dodecyl) has been developed and the activity of related complexes assessed.⁴⁶⁰ Earlier attempts to produce aqueous oxidants included the synthesis of water-soluble byy derivatives.



Complexes containing bidentate 2-(pyrazol-3-yl)pyridine ligands (**198**; R = alkyl; X/Y var. H, Cl, Br, Me, NO₂, CF₃, Ph) have been extensively studied by Thiel and co-workers.^{471–477} In the solid state, the pentagonal bipyramidal complexes invariably bind the pyridine and pyrazole units at equatorial and axial sites, respectively, but isomerism is detectable. The stability of isomers A and B of *rac*-MoO(O₂)₂(ppc) and (1*S*,2*S*)-MoO(O₂)₂(ppc) (**199**) is dictated by the H-bonding capabilities of solvents and crystal lattices.⁴⁷⁷ The observation of isomer A is consistent with NMR and theoretical studies supporting the preferential protonation of peroxo rather than oxo atoms in Mimoun complexes.^{474,477} The complexes are effective epoxidation catalysts and the mechanisms of the reactions have been probed.^{471–476} Pyrazolyl–pyridine complexes are also photoactive and produce both singlet and triplet O₂ upon irradiation.⁴⁷⁸ A pentagonal bipyramidal persulfido analog, MoO(S₂)₂(bpy) (**200**), with ν (Mo=O) 930 cm⁻¹, ν (S–S) 540 cm⁻¹, d(Mo=O) 1.69(1) Å and d(S–S) 2.038(6)/2.055(6) Å, has also been reported.⁴⁷⁹

Oxoperoxo complexes, $[MoO(O_2)L_n]^{0/n-}$, are relatively rare. The salts, $(EPh_4)_3[MoO(CN)_5]$ (E = P, As), react with O₂ to produce $(EPh_4)_2[MoO(O_2)(CN)_4]$ (201), that in turn react with AgBF₄ and PPh₃BzCl in hmpa to yield mer-PPh₃Bz[MoO(O₂)(CN)₃(hmpa)]; autoxidation of (PPh₄)₂[MoO(CN)₄(pyrazine)] also yields (PPh₄)₂[MoO(O₂)(CN)₄].⁴⁸⁰ Hydrogen bonding to lattice or solvent water is thought to prevent the autoxidation of other salts of $[MoO(CN)_5]^{3-.481}$ The anionic complexes exhibit pseudo-octahedral structures with orthogonal Mo=O and O-O units and variously facilitate the oxidation of PPh3 and epoxidation of cyclooctene.⁴⁸² Yellow, illdefined MoO(O_2)₂·2quinH, formed in the reaction of MoO₃ with 8-hydroxyquinoline in 30% H_2O_2 , converts to orange, pentagonal bipyramidal $MoO(O_2)(quin)_2$ (202) upon slow recrystallization. The compounds are active catalyst or catalyst precursor, respectively, for the autoxidation of methylbenzenes (e.g., toluene, o-xylene, and p-xylene) to carboxylic acids.⁴⁸³ The formation constants of MoO(O₂)(pdc) (log K_f ca. 23) and $[MoO(O_2)(nta)]^-$ (nta = nitrilotriacetate; log K_f ca. 28) have been measured⁴⁶³ and the X-ray structures of MoO(O₂)(pdc)(hmpa) (**203**)⁴⁸⁴ and K[MoO(O₂)(nta)]·H₂O (**204**)⁴⁶³ determined. Both exhibit pseudo-octahedral geometries with a symmetrical, side-on bound peroxide ligand *cis* and orthogonal to the Mo=O group. An experimental and theoretical electron density distribution study of $MoO(O_2)(pdc)(hmpa)$ revealed significant covalency in the Mo-peroxide unit.⁴⁸⁴ Related oxaziridine complexes, MoO(ONR)(pdc)(hmpa) (R = 4-aryl derivative) are also known.² These thermally unstable complexes are effective catalysts for the oxidation of aryl amines to nitroso compounds by H₂O₂.⁴⁸⁵ Reaction of o-nitrosotoluene with $(PPh_4)_3[MoO(CN)_5]$ at -30 °C produces pentagonal bipyramidal $(PPh_4)_2[MoO(ONAr)(CN)_5]$, having an axial oxo group and a side-on-bonded $[ONAr]^{2-1}$ lying in the equatorial plane.⁴⁸⁶ Finally, incorporation of multidentate ligands into peroxo complexes such as $MoO(O_2)L$ (L = Schiff base) or $MoO_2(O_2)L$ (L = diethylenetriamine, etc.) renders them inactive as oxidants for alkenes, phosphines, and related substrates.⁴⁸⁷



(iv) Dithiocarbamate complexes

Most monooxo, S-donor ligand complexes are dithiocarbamate species. However, $MoO(SC_6H_2^{i}Pr_3-2,4,6)_4^{488}$ and a few dithiolene complexes (Section 4.7.2.3.3.(v)(a)) have been reported. Convenient syntheses and additional characterization data for $MoO(S_2)(S_2CNR_2)_2$ -(R = alkyl) have been reported by Yan and Young,⁴⁸⁹ complexes of this type being effective catalysts for the episulfurization of (*E*)-cycloalkenes by elemental sulfur.⁴⁹⁰ Oxidation of $MoO(S_2)(S_2CNEt_2)_2$ with 3-chloroperoxybenzoic acid or reaction of $Mo_2O_3(S_2CNEt_2)_4$ or $MoO(S_2CNEt_2)_2$ with the S₂O source 4,5-diphenyl-3,6-dihydro-1,2-dithiin 1-oxide produces pentagonal bipyramidal $MoO(S_2O-S,S')(S_2CNEt_2)_2$, having axial oxo (d(Mo=O 1.681(3)Å) and equatorial, side-on bonded S_2O^{2-} ligands (d(S-S) 2.029(1)Å, d(O-S) 1.454(1)Å, $d(Mo-S)_{av} 2.45Å$).⁴⁹¹ A related Mo^V complex, $Mo(S_2O)(S_2CNR_2)_3$, is discussed in Section 4.7.3.6.2. TCNQ radical anion salts of $[MoO(S_2CNR_2)_3]^+$ can be prepared by anion exchange at $[MoO(S_2CNR_2)_3]BF_4$, reaction of $Mo_2O_3(S_2CNR_2)_4$ with TCNQ or reaction of $MoO(S_2CNR_2)_2$ with thiuram disulfides and TCNQ.⁴⁹² The X-ray structure of $[MoO(S_2CNR_2)_3]TCNQ$ reveals a pentagonal bipyramidal cation with an apical oxo group (d(Mo=O) 1.678(2)Å) and dimeric, eclipsed (TCNQ)₂²⁻ anion aggregates. Seven-coordinate catecholate derivatives, $MoOL(S_2CNE_2)_2$, were described in Section 4.7.2.3.4(ii).

4.7.2.3.5 Oxo-thio complexes

Work in this area is motivated by a desire to understand the unique oxo-thio-Mo^{VI} active site in the Mo hydroxylases. Considerable synthetic challenges arise from the redox incompatibility of Mo^{VI} and sulfide and the reactivity of thio–Mo^{VI} moieties.²³⁹ Pseudo-tetrahedral oxo–thio complexes were discussed in Section 4.7.2.3.1. Reaction of MoOCl₄ with (Me₃Si)₂S provides access to MoOSCl₂ but this compound has not been exploited in the synthesis of oxo-thio complexes.²⁸³ The red solutions and isolated solids from the reactions of $Na_2[MoO_3L]$ (L = N,N-bis(ethanoate)-1-amino-2methylthioethane(2-)) with B_2S_3 in methanol are purported to contain $[MoO_2SL]^{2-}$ and $[MoOS_2L]^{2-.493}$ The crystallographic characterization of $[MoO_2Cl_2(OPPh_3)_2 \cdot MoOSCl_2(OPPh_3)_2]$ has also been reported. The above systems are not particularly well characterized. Orange MoOS- $(OSiPh_3)_2L$ (\tilde{L} = phen or bpy derivatives, cf. 129) are formed in the reactions of K₂[MoO₃S] with Ph₃SiCl and L in basic (NEt₃) acetonitrile. X-ray diffraction confirmed the presence of monomers in the disordered phen and Me₄phen derivatives while EXAFS provided accurate metrical data, viz., d(Mo=O) 1.71-1.72 Å, d(Mo=S) 2.18-2.19 Å.³³³ Sulfur atom transfer from propylene sulfide to green $Tp^{x}MoO(S_{2}PR_{2})$ (118, R = alkyl, Ph) produces red $Tp^{x}MoOS(S_{2}PR_{2})$ (205), OAT to $Tp'MoS(S_{2}PR_{2})$ (206) providing an alternative route to related complexes (Scheme 7).^{404,495} Available spectroscopic and structural data, including d(Mo=S) 2.227(2) Å and $d(S \cdots S) 2.396(3) \text{ Å}$ for octahedral Tp*MoOS- $(S_2P^iPr_2)$, are consistent with the stabilization of the oxo-thio center by an S····S interaction.⁴⁹⁵ Reduction or oxidation of the complexes produces Mo^V species (207/208) with concomitant S–S redox.⁴⁹⁶ A related, unperturbed oxo–thio complex, $Tp^{Pr}MoOS(OPh)$ (209), is generated in the reaction of Tp^{Pr}MoO(OPh)(OPEt₃) (see **210**) with propylene sulfide. The properties of the complex, especially the observation of strong $ls \rightarrow \pi^*(Mo=S) S K$ pre-edge XAS features, are consistent with the presence of a monomer in solution but only a redox dimer, $[Tp^{Pr}MoO(OPh)]_2(\mu-S_2)$ (211), has been isolated in the solid state (however, selected derivatives are monomeric in the solid state).⁴⁹⁷ Oxo-thio complexes undergo sulfur rather than oxygen atom transfer to tertiary phosphines and to cyanide.

4.7.2.4 Phosphido and Arsenido Complexes and Derivatives

The first terminal phosphido complexes of Mo were reported simultaneously by groups at MIT.^{498,499} Cummins and co-workers prepared MoP(NRAr)₃ (**212**) by reacting (**1**) with P₄ in diethyl ether (Scheme 1),⁴⁹⁸ a method extended to the synthesis of MoP(N^tBuPh)₃,^{79,83} MoP{N(2-Ad)Ar}⁸¹ and (indirectly) MoP{NⁱPrAr}₃.⁸⁸ The complexes exhibit pseudo-tetrahedral structures with terminal phosphido ligands, $d(Mo \equiv P) 2.107(3)-2.119(4)$ Å. Archetypal MoP(N-RAr)₃ reacts with mesityl azide to produce (**213**)⁴⁹⁸ and with dimethyldioxirane⁵⁰⁰ and sulfur or episulfides⁴⁹⁸ to give (**214**) (E=O, S, respectively). Schrock and co-workers prepared related complexes, MoE(N₃N) (**215**, E=P, As), by reacting (**13**) with LiEHPh (Scheme 2).^{92,499} These have been variously characterized by IR ($\nu(Mo \equiv P)$ 521 cm⁻¹, $\nu(Mo \equiv As)$ 374 cm⁻¹),^{501 31}P NMR ($\delta > 1,200$ with large CSA),⁵⁰² computational,⁵⁰³ and crystallographic studies; trigonal bipyramidal MoAs(N₃N) possesses an axial terminal arsenido ligand with $d(Mo \equiv As) 2.252(3)$ Å.⁹²

4.7.2.5 Non-oxo Complexes

Detailed analyses of the IR and Raman spectra of known Mo(OMe)₆ have been reported;⁵⁰⁴ related distorted octahedral species, viz., Mo(OCH₂CH₂O)₃ and Mo(OC₂Me₄O)₃, are produced in the reactions of nitrido—Mo^{VI} complexes with 1,2-ethanediol or 2,3-dimethyl-2,3-butanediol/base, respectively.⁹⁹ The calixarene complexes Mo(O₄^{Bu}cal){O₂(OH)₂^{Bu}cal} and (NHEt₃)₂[Mo₂(O₄^{Bu}-cal)₂] are produced in the reactions of MoCl₄L₂ (L = OEt₂, SEt₂) with (HO)₄^{Bu}cal and NEt₃ in toluene at 100 °C. The octahedral coordination geometry of Mo(O₄^{Bu}cal){O₂(OH)₂^{Bu}cal} is defined by alkoxide donor atoms from tetradentate O₄^{Bu}cal^{4–} and bidentate 1,2-O₂(OH)₂^{Bu}cal^{2–} ligands. This complex reacts with two equivalents of HCl to give violet *cis*-MoCl₂(O₄^{Bu}cal), a potentially valuable starting material for new calixarene chemistry.⁵⁰⁵ The synthesis and X-ray structure of octahedral Mo(QTeF₅)₆ has also been reported.⁴⁵³

Tris(dithiolene) complexes⁵ are potential radical scavengers, photostabilizers, photocatalysts, and components of electro- and photochemical devices. These dark-red or green complexes are produced by reacting dithiolenic precursors with Na₂MoO₄, MoO₂(acac)₂ (including a convenient synthesis for Mo(bdt)₃⁵⁰⁶), MoCl₅ or MoCl₄(thf)₂, or via oxidation of Mo^V and Mo^{IV} counterparts. Complexes of this type now include bdt (**216**),⁵⁰⁷ ethene-1,2-dithiolate (**217**), ^{508–511} thioether/thiocarbonate ((**217**), R=R'=SR"; (**218**), E=O, S (dmit)),⁵¹² Diels–Alder (**219**),⁵¹³ and crown ether (e.g., (**220**))⁵⁰⁷ derivatives (the charge on Mo^{VI} complexes, *n*, is zero). These are well known for their trigonal prismatic structures, characterized by a twist angle, ϕ (**221**), approaching 0° as observed for Mo{S₂C₂(CF₃)₂} (ϕ ca. 0°)⁵¹⁴ and Mo(S₂C₂Me₂)₃ (ϕ 5.4°).⁵¹⁵ The electronic origins of the trigonal prismatic geometry and discernable bend of the S–C=C–S ligand away from the MoS₂ plane have been assessed by theoretical studies.^{514,516} NMR has been used to probe the fluxional behavior and isomer distribution of asymmetric (**217**) (R = H, R' = Ph and *p*-derivatives).^{517 95}Mo NMR and associated studies support extensive electron delocalization and an M^{VI} oxidation state in neutral tris(dithiolene)–Mo/W complexes.⁵¹⁰ Tris(dithiolene) complexes are members of a reversible, three-member electron-transfer series, [Mo(dithiolene)₃]^{0/1–(2–}, redox potentials being sensitive to the ligand present.^{506–513} Variations in the structural, spectral, and electrochemical properties across the series, [Mo(S₂C₂Me₂)₃]^{0/1–(2–}, are consistent with a principally (ca. 80%) ligand-based redox orbital in all members of the series. Complexes such as Mo(bdt)₃ and Mo(tdt)₃ are susceptible to reduction to Mo^V and Mo^{IV} species by organic bases⁵¹⁸ and NBu₄OH.⁵¹⁹



Very few non-oxo Mo^{VI} halides are known. These include Cs[MoF₇] and NO[MoF₇]·MeCN, prepared by reacting MoF₆ with CatF;⁵²⁰ the anions exhibit capped octahedral structures in line with theoretical predictions.⁵²¹ ¹⁸F-radiotracer experiments have revealed rapid and complete intermolecular fluoride exchange between [MF₇]⁻ and MF₆ (M = Mo, W).⁵²²

4.7.3 MOLYBDENUM(V)

Mononuclear M^V complexes are relatively rare due to the propensity of Mo^V to form di- or polynuclear species. They possess a d^1 electron configuration, are paramagnetic (μ_B 1.65–1.73),

and generally exhibit room-temperature EPR spectra featuring clearly resolved Mo hyperfine coupling.³ The magnetic orbital is orthogonal to strong field ligands such as oxo groups. The observation of EPR active enzyme states has stimulated much of the work in this area.^{10,11}

4.7.3.1 Complexes Containing Carbon-donor Ligands

Thermally unstable MoMe₅, prepared by reacting MoCl₅ with ZnMe₂ in diethyl ether below -20 °C, exhibits a square pyramidal structure and an EPR spectrum (g 1.993) with well-resolved superhyperfine coupling to the basal CH₃ groups; these data are consistent with a magnetic orbital of d_{z^2} and d_{xy} character.⁵²³ The alkylidyne and alkylidene complexes, *trans*-[Mo(CCH₂-^tBu)F(dppe)₂]BF₄·OEt₂ ($d(Mo\equiv C)$ 1.821(7)Å),⁵²⁴ Mo(CHSiMe₃)(CH₂SiMe₃)₃, and Li[Mo(CH-SiMe₃)(CH₂SiMe₃)₄], represent earlier contributions to this area.⁵²⁵

4.7.3.2 Complexes Containing Nitrogen-donor Ligands

Complexes in this category include limited numbers of nitrido, imido, phosphiniminato, and amido/hydrazido(2-) species (discussed in that order). Nitrido—Mo^V complexes are restricted to porphyrin and phthalocyanine derivatives. Red–purple MoN(por) ((**222**), Scheme 10(a); $\nu(Mo\equiv N)$ ca. 1,040 cm⁻¹) are conveniently prepared by reacting Me₃SiN₃ with [Mo(tpp)]₂, [Mo(ttp)]₂, or Mo(tmp) in refluxing α -chloronaphthalene (T = 259 °C); MoN(tmp) exhibits a square pyramidal structure with $d(Mo\equiv N)$ 1.630(4) Å.⁵²⁶ The nitrido ligand undergoes the reactions in Scheme 10(a), producing (**223**)–(**226**).^{527,528} The imido aqua complexes, *trans*-[Mo(N-Me)(tpp)(H₂O)]X (**227**), were isolated from attempts to recrystallize [Mo(NMe)(tpp)]I (**226**) from wet benzene (X = I₃⁻) or toluene (X = I⁻) and the X-ray structure of octahedral *trans*-[Mo(N-Me)(tpp)(H₂O)]I₃ was determined.⁵²⁸ The melt reactions between phthalonitriles and MoNCl₃ yield dark-green phthalocyanine complexes, MoN(R₈Pc) ((**228**), Scheme 11);⁵²⁹ MoNPc (R = H) is also a by-product in the reaction of ammonium molybdate with 1,2-dicyanobenzene in a sealed tube.⁵³⁰ Low $\nu(Mo\equiv N)$ values in the range 974–953 cm⁻¹ are consistent with solid state stacking interactions but the complexes are monomeric in solution, with the exception of unsubstituted MoNPc, which forms exciton dimers. EPR spectra (g 1.97) exhibit rich superhyperfine coupling to the five nitrogen donor atoms.⁵²⁹



Scheme 10



Scheme 11

The most common imido—Mo^V complexes are of the type, mer-Mo(NR)Cl₃L₂ (L = neutral ligand). Structural parameters for such complexes include d(Mo=N) ca. 1.70–1.73 Å and \angle (Mo=N-C) > 175°, the imido *trans* influence being ca. 0.06–0.15 Å. A potentially general synthesis is exemplified by the comproportionation of $Mo(NMes)_2Cl_2(dme)$ with $MoCl_4(thf)_2$ in dme giving mer-Mo(NMes)Cl₃(dme). This complex serves as a starting material for Mo(NMes) Cl(acac)₂, mer-Mo(NMes)Cl₃(dppe), and Mo(NMes)Cl₂[CpCo{P(OEt)₂O}₃].¹⁴⁵ Reduction during the reaction of MoOCl₄, Me₃SiCl, ArNH₂, and 2,6-lutidine in dme leads to the formation of Mo(N-Ar) $Cl_3(dme)$ whereas octahedral Mo(NAr) Cl_3L_2 (L = N-2', 6'-diisopropylphenyl-2,5-dimethylbenzamide-O) forms in the reaction of MoOCl₄ and ArNCO in refluxing p-xylene.⁵³¹ Recrystallization of $Mo(NC_6H_4CN-2)Cl_3$, the product of the reaction of $MoCl_5$ and $(Me_3Si)_2NC_6H_4CN-2$, from NCMe yields *mer*-Mo(NC_6H_4CN-2)Cl_3(NCMe)_2⁵³² while reduction of Mo(NC_6H_4Me-4)Cl_4(thf) with phosphines (L) produces Mo(NC₆H₄Me-4)Cl₃L₂ (L=PMe₃, PPh₃, PEtPh₂; L₂=dppe; μ_B 1.73). The X-ray structure of Mo(NC₆H₄Me-4)Cl₃(PEtPh₂)₂ revealed a *mer,trans* configuration but EPR spectra of the dppe derivative indicate a *mer,cis* structure.¹⁵⁶ A related complex, *mer,trans*- $Mo(NC_6H_4NH_2-2)Cl_3(PMePh_2)_2$, is produced in the reaction of $MoOCl_2(PMePh_2)_3$ with excess *o*-phenylenediamine and NEt₃.⁵³³ Unstable $Mo(NCH_2CH=CH_2)Cl_4(thf)$ reacts with OPPh₃ to yield structurally characterized *mer,cis*-Mo(NCH₂CH=CH₂)Cl₃(OPPh₃)₂; air oxidation leads to MoOCl₃(OPPh₃)₂.⁵³⁴ Thermal activation or BuLi reduction of lithium molybdates(VI) leads to lithium molybdate(V) complexes, e.g., $Mo(NAr)_2(e-C,N)$ (see Scheme 4 for structure of e-C,N), instead of the anticipated alkylidene species. These paramagnetic, EPR-active (g 1.97) species are active polymerization and ROMP catalysts.^{137,139}

Phosphiniminato Mo^V complexes are uncommon. They include octahedral *trans*-Mo(NPPh₃) Cl₄(py)·CH₂Cl₂ (d(Mo=N) 1.719(9)Å, d(N–P) 1.653(9)Å, \angle (Mo=N–P) 176.6(6)°), isolated from the reaction of Mo(N₃S₂)Cl₃(py) with PPh₃ in CH₂Cl₂, ⁵³⁵ and PPh₄[Mo(NPPh₃)Cl₅]·CH₂Cl₂, produced in the reaction of [MoCl₄(NPPh₃)]₂ with PPh₄Cl.⁵³⁶ The crystal structure of *trans*-Mo(N-PPh₃)Cl₄(OPPh₃), a by-product in the reaction of MoCl₂(NO)₂ and PPh₃, has been determined.⁵³⁷

Hydrazido(2-)–Mo^V complexes are also uncommon and are restricted to Mo(NNRR')X₃ species and their phosphine adducts. Purple/black Mo(NNRR')Cl₃ (R = R' = Me, Ph; R = Ph, R' = H, Me) (alternatively formulated as Mo(NNRR')Cl₄, Section 4.7.2.2.4) react with phosphines producing EPR-active species such as Mo(NNMePh)Cl₃(PPh₃), Mo(N-NMePh)Cl₃(PMe₃)₂, and Mo(NNPh₂)Cl₃(dppe).^{184,185} Red Mo(NNH₂)X₃(dppe) (X = Cl, Br), were prepared from Mo(N₂)₂(dppe)(PPh₂Me)₂ upon reaction with HX/ZnX₂; *fac*-Mo(NNH₂)Br₃(dppe) adopts an octahedral geometry with a linear hydrazido(2-) ligand (\angle (Mo=N–N) 173(2)°) and reacts with further acid yielding N₂, NH₃, and NH₂NH₂.⁵³⁸

4.7.3.3 Dioxo and Oxo-Thio Complexes and their Conjugate Acids

Work involving trispyrazolylborate (Scheme 7) and N_2S_2 -donor complexes (Scheme 9) is discussed in that order. Electrochemical or chemical (CoCp₂ or SH⁻) reduction of Tp^xMoO₂X (116) yields long-lived, dioxo–Mo^V anions, [Tp^xMoO₂X]⁻ (120) that can be isolated in some cases, e.g., CoCp₂[Tp^xMoO₂(SPh)] (229).^{319,539} These complexes exhibit broad anisotropic EPR signals at

g ca. 1.92 and very low energy $\nu(MoO_2)$ IR bands (ca. 870 cm⁻¹ and 770 cm⁻¹). They readily protonate forming the conjugate acids, Tp^xMoO(OH)X (**230**), with less anisotropic, doublet EPR signals (g ca. 1.94, A_H ca. 11 × 10⁻⁴ cm⁻¹) and $\nu(Mo=O)$ and $\nu(Mo=O)$ IR bands at 915 cm⁻¹ and 535 cm⁻¹, respectively. The anion of CoCp₂[Tz*MoO₂(SPh)] displays a distorted octahedral structure with d(Mo=O) (1.742(9) Å) and $\angle(O=Mo=O)$ (112.1(4)°) values larger than those of the Mo^{VI} analog (1.700(6) Å and 103.9(2)°, respectively). These data are consistent with a magnetic orbital of significant MoO₂ π^* character. The anions can be trapped as isolable Tp*MoO(OH)X (**230**)⁵³⁹ or Tp^xMoO(OSiMe₃)X complexes (**231**).⁵⁴⁰ Oxo—thio—Mo^V complexes, [Tp^xMoO2]X species with SH⁻; these are characterized by a larger g and reduced anisotropy compared to their dioxo analogs.^{319,321,496} Significantly, brown CoCp₂[Tp^{Pr}MoOS(OPh)] (**234**) has now been isolated from the reaction of CoCp₂ with monomeric Tp^{Pr}MoOS(OPh)].⁴⁹⁷ unlike PPh₄[MoOS(L-N₂S₂)] (*vide infra*), the S K-edge X-ray absorption spectrum of the complex exhibits strong pre-edge features consistent with the presence of a terminal sulfido ligand.

Reduction of aminothiolate complexes such as $MoO_2(188)$ induces proton transfer from the amine units to an oxo group, with concomitant formation of oxo—Mo^V or —Mo^{IV} amidothiolate complexes and water.⁴³⁷ However, reduction of *N*-protected complexes permits *in situ* generation of dioxo— and oxo—thio—Mo^V complexes and/or their conjugate acids. For example, electrochemical reduction of (189) (Scheme 9) produces *cis,trans*-[MoO₂(L-N₂S₂)]⁻ (235) or *cis,trans*-MoO(OH)(L-N₂S₂) (236), the dioxo anion being characterized by a broad, highly anisotropic EPR signal at g 1.9007, its conjugate acid by a doublet signal at g 1.957 (A_H 15.1 × 10⁻⁴ cm⁻¹).^{435,436} However, chemical reduction of (189) with excess SH⁻ eventually produces the oxo-thio anion, *cis,trans*-[MoOS(L-N₂S₂)]⁻ (237); protonation of the anion at low temperature yields *cis,trans*-MoO(SH)(L-N₂S₂) (238), an isomer of which is known (239). The EPR signal of (237) (g 1.9435) is less anisotropic than that of its dioxo analog. Elegant isotope labeling and multi-frequency EPR studies of these compounds have provided important insights into the electronic structure and mechanism of various molybdoenzymes.^{541–543} Singh et al.⁵⁴⁴ have reported the isolation of PPh₄[237] (devoid of S K pre-edge XAS features) and (238) and the geometry, electronic structure, and EPR g-tensors of these and related complexes have been examined by molecular orbital methods.⁵⁴⁵

4.7.3.4 Oxo (Molybdenyl) Complexes

4.7.3.4.1 Halide and pseudohalide complexes

Compounds containing six-coordinate, octahedral $[MoOX_5]^{2-}$ (X = F, Cl, Br, NCS) and $[MoOX_4L]^-$ (X = Cl, Br, I; L = OH₂, ROH, thf, dmf, NCMe, PMe₃) and five-coordinate, square pyramidal $[MoOX_4]^-$ (X = Cl, Br, I) have been extensively studied, some for more than a century.³ Rational syntheses include: (i) the reduction of molybdate in aqueous HX (X = Cl, Br) by hydrazine hydrate followed by addition of ligand/counterion (see Inorg. Synth., Vol. 26, p. 36, for a synthesis of (NH₄)₂[MoOCl₅]), and (ii) ligand exchange, e.g., addition of chloride salts to $MoOCl_3(SPPh_3)$ in CH₂Cl₂.^{546,547} The thermodynamic stability of the complexes also leads to their frequent isolation following adventitious hydrolysis or oxidation reactions. The EPR-active complexes exhibit strong ν (Mo=O) IR bands in the 1,020–940 cm⁻¹ region, with predictable halogen dependences, e.g., for PPh₄[MoOX₄], X = Cl (1,015 cm⁻¹) > Br (1,005 cm⁻¹) > I (970 cm⁻¹).⁵⁴⁸ Syntheses for LH₂[MoOX₅] (X = Cl, Br; L = diamine) and their thermal decomposition to "MoOX₃L" and HX have been reported.⁵⁴⁹ Reaction of MoOCl₃(PMe₃)₂ with HCl or CH₂Cl₂ yields (PHMe₃)₂[MoOCl₅] or PHMe₃[MoOCl₄(PMe₃)], respectively,⁵⁵⁰ whereas the photolytic reaction of PPh₄[MoOCl₄(OH₂)] with PEt₃ produces (PPh₄)₂[MoOCl₅].⁵⁵¹ Photolysis of $anti-(NR_4)_4[Mo_2O_2(\mu-O)(NCS)_8]$ (R = Me, Et) in NCMe in the presence of O₂ affords $(NR_4)_2[MoO(NCS)_5]^{.552}$ The crystal structures of (PHPh₃)₂[MoOCl₅] (d(Mo=O) 1.647(5)Å, $d(Mo-Cl_{cis})_{av}$ 2.39(1)Å, $d(Mo-Cl_{trans})$ 2.563(2)Å), ⁵⁵³ (PPh₄)₂[MoOCl₅] ·2CH₂Cl₂ (disordered), ⁵⁵¹ and (NMe₄)₂[MoO(NCS)₅] (d(Mo=O) 1.646(5) Å, d(Mo-N_{cis})_{av} 2.054 Å, d(Mo-N_{trans}) 2.228(5) Å) revealed distorted octahedral anions.

A heroic study has defined the difficult chemistry involved in the reaction of MoCl₅ with ethanol (and subsequently with other ligands). The products of the reaction depend on stoichiometry and temperature, the unstable monomers H[MoOCl₄]·2EtOH and MoOCl₃(HOEt) being isolated and structurally characterized. The anion of H[MoOCl₄]·2EtOH and neutral MoOCl₃

(HOEt) adopt square pyramidal structures with apical oxo groups (d(Mo=O) 1.668(4) and 1.641(2)Å, respectively). In the absence of ligands, these eliminate HCl ultimately producing dinuclear Mo₂O₂Cl₄(μ -OEt)₂(μ -HOEt). Ligand (MeCH=CH₂, CH₂=CH₂, CO, OPPh₃) addition to MoOCl₃(HOEt) produces MoOCl₃L(HOEt) that also eliminates HCl to produce dinuclear species.⁵⁵⁴ The PPN⁺ (d(Mo=O) 1.646(6), d(Mo-Cl) 2.342Å) and Me₂C=NH₂⁺ (d(Mo=O) 1.641(4)Å, $d(Mo-Cl)_{av}$ 2.355Å) salts of [MoOCl₄]⁻ have also been structurally characterized; the unusual air stability of PPN[MoOCl₄] is attributed to encapsulation of the anions in hydrophobic channels. Dimers, linear polymers, and clusters are observed in solid state materials such as KMoOCl₄, E₄[MoOCl₄]₂, (ECl₃)[MoOCl₄] (E=Se, Te), and [Te₁₅X₄][MoOX₄]₂ (X = Cl, Br).⁵⁵⁵ Air oxidation of [Mo₃X₁₂]³⁻ yields PPN[MoOBr₄], PPh₄[MoOI₄], or PPh₄[MoOI₄(OH₂)], all of which were structurally characterized.⁵⁴⁸

Complexes of the type $[MoOX_4L]^-$ are generated by ligand association or displacement reactions, and numerous salts containing $[MoOCl_4L]^-$ (L = OH₂, thf, dmf, NCMe) and $[MoOX_4L]^-$ (X = Br, I; L = OH₂, thf) have been reported. These exhibit distorted octahedral geometries characterized by short Mo=O bonds (1.62-1.67 Å), long Mo-L_{trans} bonds (>2.3 Å) and the displacement of Mo from the equatorial plane (by ca. 0.3 Å toward oxo). Liquid clathrates are the initial products of the reactions of HCl with $M(CO)_6$ (M = Cr, Mo, W) in the presence of PPh₃ or crown ethers; compounds isolated from these clathrates include structurally characterized (PHPh₃)₂[MoOCl₅], [H₅O₂·15-C-5][MoOCl₄(OH₂)], and [H₃O·18-C-6][MoOCl₄(OH₂)]. Bromo compounds such as $(H_3O \cdot tetraglyme)[MoOBr_4(OH_2)]$ are also known and a review of such species is available.⁵⁵⁶ Reaction of MoOCl₃(thf)₂ with MgCl₂(thf)₂ produces $[Mg(thf)_x][MoOCl_4(thf)]_2$ $(x = 4 (CH_2Cl_2 \text{ solvate}), 6)$ or $[Mg_2(\mu-Cl)_3(thf)_6][MoOCl_4(thf)]$ depending on solvent and stoichiometry. All three compounds have been structurally characterized; the anions in the $[Mg(thf)_x]^{2+}$ salts are coordinated to Mg^{2+} through their oxo groups (d(Mo=O) 1.634(6)–1.674(5)Å, d(Mo-O) 2.308(7)–2.376(6)Å).^{557,558} The charge-transfer salt (DT-TTF⁺)[MoOCl₄(OH₂)] (DT-TTF = bis(ethylenedithio)tetrathiafulvalene) was prepared by anodic electrocrystallization of mixtures of DT-TTF and NEt₄[MoOCl₄(OH₂)] or NEt₄[MoOCl₄] (with addition of water) in 1,1,2trichloroethane. The semiconducting, magnetic material crystallizes with chains of H-bonded $(Mo-O-H\cdots O=Mo)$ anions sandwiched between edge-linked ribbons of DT-TTF⁺ cations.⁵

Molybdenyl chloro complexes are typically green–blue in color, with absorption bands at 600–800 nm (usually vibronically coupled to $\nu(Mo=O)$) and 400–530 nm. The assignment of these bands to $d_{xy} \rightarrow d_{xz}, d_{yz}$ and $d_{xy} \rightarrow d_{x^2-y^2}$ ligand field transitions is supported by polarized, single-crystal electronic spectral⁵⁴⁶ and MCD studies.^{547,560} Higher energy bands are assigned to LMCT transitions. ^{547,560} Pioneering ENDOR/EPR studies by Attanasio *et al.*⁵⁶¹ set the scene for later work on oriented single crystals, solutions, and powders of, *inter alia*, $[MoOX_4(OH_2)]^-$ (X = F (g 1.902, A_{Mo} 68 × 10⁻⁴ cm⁻¹), Cl (g 1.944, A_{Mo} 45 × 10⁻⁴ cm⁻¹), Br (g 1.985, A_{Mo} 44 × 10⁻⁴ cm⁻¹))⁵⁶² and the use of density functional theory in the computation of g values.⁵⁶⁵ Bromo and iodo complexes are brown/yellow to purple in color due to low-energy LMCT transitions. Complexes such as [MoOX₄L]^{*n*-} (L = MeCN, H₂O, absent), [(Me₃tcn)MoOX₂]⁺, and Tp*MoOX₂ fluoresce in solution with excited state lifetimes favorable to bimolecular redox reactions.⁵⁶⁶

Ligand exchange at molybdenyl centers constitutes a general synthetic route for MoOCl₃L₂ complexes. However, complications can arise, as exemplified by the production of oxo—Mo^V, Mo^{IV}, and Mo^{III} species in the thermal and photochemical reactions of PPh₄[MoOCl₄(NCMe)] with phosphines.⁵⁵¹ A *mer* structure is commonly adopted by MoOCl₃L₂ complexes.³ Reaction of MoOCl₃(dme) with 9,10-phenanthrenequinone (L) gives MoOCl₃L with the ligand in the original quinone state. The semiquinone complex, Mo^VCl₄L, and related Mo^{VI} complexes are also accessible.⁵⁶⁷ The X-ray structures of *mer*-MoOCl₃{C₆H₄(CO₂Et)₂-1,2},⁵⁶⁸ *mer*-MoOCl₃{Et₂PCH₂CH₂-P(O)Et₂-*P*,*O*},⁵⁶⁹ *mer*,*cis*-MoOCl₃(OPPh₃)₂, and *mer*,*cis*-MoOCl₃(PMe₃)(OPMe₃)⁵⁵⁰ have been reported. The uncharacteristic spectral and photochemical properties of purple MoOCl₃(PMe₃)₂⁵⁵⁰ and red MoOCl₃(dppe)⁵⁷⁰ are ascribed to their unusual *fac* structures.

4.7.3.4.2 Complexes containing nitrogen-donor ligands

(i) Tris(amido) complexes

Oxidation of (1) with py-O yields brown, paramagnetic (μ_B 1.63), tetrahedral MoO(NRAr)₃ (240, E=O), characterized by IR (ν (Mo=O) 893 cm⁻¹) and EPR (g 1.96) spectroscopy and X-ray

diffraction (d(Mo=O) 1.706(2)Å). The reactions of this complex include *t*-butyl elimination giving MoO(NAr)(NRAr)₂ and oxidation to [MoO(NRAr)₃]OTf ($\nu(Mo=O)$ 972 cm⁻¹).⁵⁷¹ Reaction of MoCl₃(thf)₃ with Li{N^tBu(C₆H₄CF₃-3)} produces traces of the non-oxo Mo^V complex MoF₂{N^tBu(C₆H₄CF₃-3)}₃.⁵⁷²

(ii) Pyrazolylborate and related complexes

An extensive range of complexes, Tp*MoOXY (241), has been prepared and studied by Enemark and co-workers. The central starting material in this area is green, air-stable Tp*MoOCl₂ ((242), Scheme 7) prepared by reacting $MoCl_5$ with thf (giving $MoOCl_3(thf)_2$) and KTp^* (see *Inorg*. Synth., Vol. 33, p. 39).⁵⁷³ Metathesis can be effected by reacting Tp*MoOCl₂ with HX/NEt₃ or NaX and the derivatives listed in Figure 1 have been prepared in this fashion.^{540,573–579} Others, like (**231**)⁵⁴⁰ and Tp*MoOl₂,⁵⁸⁰ are notable for their alternative syntheses. *In situ*-generated, $[Tp^{x}MoO(XY)]^+$ (**243**, $XY = S_2PR_2^-$ or $S_2CNEt_2^-$) and hydroxo species (**244**) are accessible from Mo^{VI/IV} species.^{321,495,581} A related complex, $[Tp^*MoO(OC_6H_4OEt-4)_2]NO_3$, has been isolated from the reaction of Tp*MoO(OC₆H₄OEt-4)₂ with $(NH_4)_2Ce(NO_3)_6$; it is a component of an OAT cycle featuring oxo-Mo^{VI} and desoxo-Mo^{IV} Tp* species.⁵⁸² X-ray structures are available for the derivatives underlined in Figure 1. Distorted octahedral structures with a facial Tp* ligand and mutually *cis* oxo ($d(Mo=O)_{av}$ 1.674Å) and X/Y ligands are observed in all cases. Spectroscopic studies, including IR ($\nu(Mo=O)$ 960–945 cm⁻¹), EPR,^{540,573–578,581} single crystal EPR,^{583,584} resonance Raman,^{585,586} MCD,^{560,586,587} photoelectron spectroscopy⁵⁸⁸ and L-edge XAS,⁵⁶⁵ have contributed to a detailed understanding of the electronic structure of such complexes, particularly those with biologically relevant dithiolene ligands. The complexes generally undergo a quasi-reversible, one-electron reduction at potentials (spanning ca. 1,500 mV!) sensitive to the type, size, conformation, and substituents of X/Y.^{573–575,589} For Tp*MoOCl(OC₆H₄X-4) and Tp*MoO(OC₆H₄X-4)₂, Mo^V/Mo^{IV} potentials correlate with ligand Hammett σ_p parameters while Mo^{VI}/Mo^V potentials correlate with gas phase ionization energies.⁵⁹⁰ More recently, McDonagh et al. reported the synthesis and spectroelectrochemical properties of 1- and 2-naphtholate complexes and observed marked differences in the energy and intensity of the lowest-energy LMCT band of Tp*MoOCl(OAr) and [Tp*MoOCl(OAr)]^{+,591} The synthesis and characterization of Tp^{Pr}MoOCl₂ has also been reported.⁴⁹⁵ Limited studies of TpMoOCl₂ have appeared as it is prone to dinucleation to (**245**).⁵⁹² The complex, [Tm*MoOCl₂]Cl (ν (Mo=O) 979 cm⁻¹), and related catecholate and ethanedithiolate derivatives have been reported.²⁶² Very recently, studies of *cis* and *trans* (re phenolate and oxo donors) $LMoOCl_2$ (L = bis(3,5-dimethylpyrazolyl)(2-phenolato)methanes) inspired a "serine gate" hypothesis for dmso reductase function.⁵

A range of di- and trinuclear complexes containing {Tp*MoOCl} fragments connected by bisor tris-phenolato bridging ligands has been studied by McCleverty, Ward, and co-workers. The



X = CI, Y = Br, NCS, OMe, OEt, OPr, SEt, SPr, S^IPr, SPh; X = OSiMe₃, Y = CI, Br, NCS, OPh, SPh, SBz

Figure 1 Molybdenyl complexes of T_p^* .

main thrust of this work has been to investigate how the strong electronic and magnetic interactions between the metal centers are controlled by the structure and properties of the bridging ligand. This work is summarized in Chapter 2.63 and will not be discussed here. The polynuclear complexes can also show remarkable electronic spectroscopic properties with intense near-IR absorptions in their oxidized forms. This near-IR electrochromic behavior and its possible applications are described in Chapter 9.13.

Nitric acid oxidation of (122) produces green $[(Me_3tcn)MoOX_2]^+$ (246), characterized by IR $(\nu(Mo=O) \text{ ca. } 960 \text{ cm}^{-1})$ and magneto- $(\mu_B \text{ ca. } 1.9)$, and electrochemical data (Scheme 6).^{325,326} Alkoxy derivatives are known and X-ray structures are available for $[(Me_3tcn)MoOX_2]PF_6$ (X = I, OMe).³²⁶ Related dinuclear Mo^V and mixed-valence species have also been reported.^{326,594}

(iii) Porphyrin and phthalocyanine complexes

A wide range of five- and six-coordinate porphyrin complexes of the types $[MoO(por)]^+$ and trans-[MoO(por)X]^{0/+} ((191), Scheme 8; X including OH⁻, Cl⁻, Br⁻, NCS⁻, OR⁻, $^{-}O_2$ CMe, $^{-}O_3$ SPh, NO₃⁻, H₂O, dmso) have been reported. These exhibit axial EPR spectra, with g ca. 1.965–1.977 and A_{Mo} ca. 55 × 10⁻⁴ and 46 × 10⁻⁴ cm⁻¹ for five- and six-coordinate species, respectively; theoretical calculation of the g tensors has advanced considerably.⁵⁹⁵ In six-coord-inate species, superhyperfine coupling to the porphyrin nitrogens $(A_N \sim 2 \times 10^{-4} \text{ cm}^{-1})$ leads to characteristic nine-line resonances. The chemistry, electrochemistry, photochemistry, and catalytic properties of ∞ over Mo^V porphyrins have been reviewed (see Scheme 8).^{328–330} The structures of six-coordinate trans-MoO(tpp)X (X = F^- , NCS⁻, NO₃⁻) and trans-MoO(tmp)(O₃SPh) are typical of MoO(por)X complexes, the Mo atom lying more than 0.3 Å out of the porphyrin plane toward the oxo ligand (d(Mo=O) ca. 1.67 Å).^{596,597} The X-ray structure of MoO(ttp)(ClO₄) reveals a sixcoordinate structure with a weakly bound perchlorate (d(Mo-O) 2.379(2)Å) trans to oxo (d(Mo=O) = 1.658(2) Å); the perchlorate is displaced by water in trans-[MoO(ttp)(OH₂)]ClO₄ (d(Mo=O) 1.658(2) Å, d(Mo-O) 2.301(2) Å).⁵⁹⁸ Photoreduction of MoO(ttp)X results in homolytic cleavage of the Mo-X bond producing MoO(ttp) (190) and a radical derived from the ligand $X^{.599}$ The hydroxy complex, MoO(OH)(tpp), has been incorporated into a hydroxide-selective coated wire electrode.⁶⁰⁰ Compounds containing *meso*-octamethylporphyrinogen have also been described.⁶⁰¹ Electrochemical oxidation of cis-Mo(CO)₄(tmtaaH₂) ((247), from dibenzotetramethyltetraaza[14]annulene) in wet benzonitrile produces $Mo(CO)_6$ and [MoO(tmtaa)]⁺ (248) possibly via trans-Mo(PhCN)₂(tmtaa) and MoO(tmtaa) (Scheme 12);⁶⁰² reaction of $Mo_2(R_2 tmtaa)_2$ (R = H, Me, Cl on aryl) with excess TCNE in air permits the isolation of 1,1,2,3,3-pentacyanopropenide salts (ν (Mo=O) 950 cm⁻¹, g = 1.958, A_{Mo} 34.9 G).⁶⁰³ The $[MoO(tmtaa)]^+$ cation features a square pyramidal structure with d(Mo=O) 1.670(3) Å and exhibits complicated electrochemical behavior.



Molybdenum phthalocyanine (Pc) chemistry is summarized in Scheme 11. The metal-based oxidation of MoOPc (**249**) by FeCl₃ or Br₂ produces MoOXPc (**250**, X = Cl, Br), the reaction being reversed by addition of NaBH₄.⁶⁰⁴ Oxidation of MoOPc in the presence of OH⁻ yields MoO(OH)Pc (**251**).⁶⁰⁵ Photophysical studies of Mo^V tetrasulfophthalocyanine are consistent with reversible dehydrogenation of the ligand upon irradiation.⁶⁰⁶ Black–purple [MoOPc]I₃ (**252**) is produced in the reaction of 1,2-dicyanobenzene, molybdenum oxide, and iodine at 210 °C. The square pyramidal cations in (**252**) contain an axial oxo ligand (d(Mo=O)1.748(3)Å) and are packed in linear arrays with intervening I₃⁻ anions. The compound is paramagnetic ($\mu_{\rm B} = 1.72$) and exhibits a solid state conductivity 10⁶ times greater than unoxidized (**249**).⁶⁰⁷ Earlier, partial oxidation of (**249**) was reported to yield semiconducting MoOI_xPc (x = 1.4-2.6).⁶⁰⁸

4.7.3.4.3 Complexes containing sulfur-donor ligands

(i) Thiolate complexes

Compounds containing $[MoO(SR)_4]^-$ (253; R = Ph, C₆H₄Me-2) were first reported by Wedd and co-workers in 1978.³ Synthetic approaches to these and related complexes now include: (i) reaction of thiols with Mo^V starting materials such as MoOCl₃(thf)₂ (as employed by the original workers),^{609,610} (ii) thiol exchange at $[MoO(SPh)_4]^{-,610,611}$ (iii) reaction of MoO₂(acac)₂ or MoOCl₄ with thiolates,^{488,612–614} (iv) reaction of MoCl₃(thf)₃ with thiols and 4-methylpyridine *N*-oxide, 615 or (v) reaction of MoCl₄(NCMe)₂ with thiolates in wet NCMe. ⁴⁸⁸ New complexes include: (i) $[MoO(SR)_4]^-$, where R = Ph, Nap, C₆H₄X-4 (X = F, Cl, Me), C₆H₄Cl-3, C₆H₃Cl₂-2,6, C₆F₅, ⁶¹⁵C₆HMe₄-2,3,5,6, C₆H₂X₃-2,4,6 (X = Me, ¹Pr),⁴⁸⁸ and C₆H₄NHC(O)R (**254**, R = Me, CF₃, ¹Bu),⁶¹¹ (ii) $[MoOL_2]^-$, where L = S(CH₂)_nS (*n* = 2 (**255**), 3),^{612,613} α -2-toluenedithiolate (**256**),⁶¹⁰ tri- and tetrapeptides,⁶⁰⁹ and 2,2'-dimercaptobiphenyl (**257**).⁶¹⁴ The deep blue–purple complexes display intense low-energy (500–650 nm) charge-transfer bands comprising multiple $S \rightarrow Mo(d_{yy})$ transitions, as revealed by electronic, MCD, and resonance Raman spectral analysis; the transition energies are strongly dependent on the orientation of the S lone-pair orbitals with respect to the magnetic orbital.^{616,617} They are paramagnetic (μ_B ca. 1.9) and EPR-active, with isotropic g and A_{Mo} values in the ranges 1.97–2.00 and $30–35 \times 10^{-4}$ cm⁻¹, respectively ($g_{\parallel} > 2.01$, A_{\parallel} and A_{\perp} ca. 52–57 and 21–24 × 10⁻⁴ cm⁻¹, respectively).⁶¹⁸ The electronic structures of [MOO(SR)₄]⁻ (R = Ph, C₆H₄Cl-4) were very recently probed by anionic photoelectron spectroscopy.⁶¹⁹ The oxo-tetrathiolate anions exhibit square pyramidal geometries with apical oxo groups; IR spectroscopic and structural data for selected compounds are presented in Table 6. The complexes typically undergo a reversible electrochemical reduction, at potentials spanning ca. 1,000 mV depending on R (alkyl < alkyl-arenes < fluoro derivatives < bdt < H-bonded); some complexes belong to the three-member electron-transfer series, $[MoO(SR)_4]^{0/1-/2-.488}$ The influence of intra- and intermolecular NH···S hydrogen bonding on the properties and reactivity of such complexes has been assessed.^{611,614} In related chemistry, reduction of $[MoO_2{O_2CC(S)Ph_2}_2]^{2-1}$ with thiols results in the formation of square pyramidal, EPR-active (g 1.985, A_{Mo} $36 \times 10^{-4} \text{ cm}^{-1}$ [MoO{O₂CC(S)Ph₂}]⁻, isolated and structurally characterized as the NBu₄⁻¹ salt.⁶²⁰ The reduction of nitrate (or nitrite) by thiols is catalyzed by $NBu_4[MoO{O_2CC(S)}-$ MePh $_{2}$.⁴¹⁸



The synthesis of *cis,cis*-MoOCl(L-N₂S₂) ((**258**), Scheme 9) and its thermal isomerization to the *cis,trans* isomer has been reported by Barnard *et al.* A number of derivatives, including *cis,cis*-MoOX(L-N₂S₂) (X = Br, NCS, OMe, OEt) and *cis,trans*-MoOX(L-N₂S₂) (X = Br, NCS, OSiMe₃, OPh, SPh), are accessible via metathesis. Related [MoO(L-N₂S₂)]⁺ species (**259**) can be accessed in a number of ways. The spectroscopic and structural attributes of these paramagnetic complexes have been fully defined, providing an interesting example of isomerism in Mo^V chemistry.⁶²¹ A trace of *mer*-[¹Bu₂C₃HS₂][MoO(SH)₃(tdpm)], characterized by IR spectroscopy (ν (Mo=O) 950 cm⁻¹, ν (S–H) 2,600 cm⁻¹) and X-ray crystallography, is produced in the reaction of Mo₂O₃(O₂CMe)₄ and thiodipivaloylmethane (Htdpm).⁶²² Reaction of (NH₄)₂[MoOCl₅] with dttdH₂ (dttd = (**146**))

Compound	$ u(Mo=0) $ (cm^{-1})	Mo ^{VI/V} (mV)	Mo ^{V/IV} (mV)	$d(M_{0} - E)^{a}$ (Å)	d(M _o –S) (Å)	$(\text{E-Mo-S})^{\text{b}}$ (deg)	$\overset{\Delta}{A}^{c}$	References
PPh4[MoO(SC ₆ H ₄ NHCOMe) ₄]	937^{d}		-360°	1.679(4)	2.383(2) - 2.407(2)	108.7	l	611
$PPh_4[MoO(SCH_2CH_2S)_2]$	020			1.678(5)	av. 2.372(3)	108.8	0.76	612
$PPn_4[MOU(SCH_2CH_2CH_2S)_2]$	930	2	-015	1.60/(8)	2.3/6(3) - 2.398(3)	108.3		013
$NEt_4[MoO(\alpha-tdt)_2]$	940	650 ⁸	-730^{1}	1.688(18)	2.366(7) - 2.431(7)	108.4		610
$NHEt_3[MoO(S_2C_{12}H_8)_2]$	944	560^g	-900^{e}	1.684(8)	2.387(4)-2.406(4)	107.1	0.703	614
$NEt_4[MoO(S_2C_2H_2)_2]$	917			1.677(5)	2.362(3)-2.386(2)	108.6	0.757	370
$NEt_4[MoO(S_2C_2Me_2)_2]$	910	150	-620°	1.677(3)	2.365(1), 2.371(1)	109.0	0.773	515
PPh ₄ [MoO(bdt) ₂]	944		-350^{f}	1.668(3)	av. 2.377	108.1	0.74	623
$NEt_4[MoOCl_2(S_2C_2Me_2)]$	962	570	-730^{e}	1.679(2)	2.3500(8), 2.3620(7)	106.5	0.712	278
$NEt_4[MoO(S-2-Ad)_2(S_2C_2Me_2)]$	924		-1000^{e}	1.692(2)	2.391(1), 2.395(1)	109.3	0.790	278
$(PPh_4)_2[MoO(SC_6H_4CI-4)_4]$	932	$540^{d,g}$	$-650^{d,e}$	1.690(9)	2.395(3) - 2.431(3)	107.7	0.73	753
$(PPh_4)_2[MoO(SC_6H_4NHCOMe)_4]$	902^{d}			1.689(5)	2.401(2) - 2.421(2)	106.5		611
$(NEt_4)_2[MoO(\alpha-tdt)_2]$	922	650^{g}	-730^{f}	1.686(4)	2.362(2) - 2.433(2)	111.0	0.752	754
$(NEt_4)_2[MoO(S_2C_2H_2)_2]^h$	916		-610^{e}	1.739(2)	2.394(1) - 2.406(1)	108.8	0.774	370
$(NEt_4)_2[MoO(S_2C_2Me_2)_2]$	889			1.712(2)	2.3781(6) - 2.3946(6)	108.7	0.765	515
$(NEt_4)_2[MoO(mnt)_2]$	932		480°	1.674(11)	2.376(5) - 2.390(6)	108.3	0.749	370
$(NEt_4)_2[MoO{S_2C_2(CF_3)_2}_2]$	917			1.684(3)	2.365(2)-2.371(2)	109.1		514
$(NEt_4)_2[MoO{S_2C_2(CO_2Me)_2}_2]$	914		18	1.686(6)	2.370(2) - 2.388(2)	108.9	0.71	744/5
$(NPr_4)_2[MoO\{S_2C_2(CONH_2)_2\}_2]^1$	915		536	1.682(6)	2.368(3) - 2.384(3)	108.8		745
$(NEt_4)_2[MoO(bdt)_2]$	905		-350^{f}	1.699(6)	2.388(2)	108.2	0.75	623
$(NEt_4)_2[MoO(tdt)_2]^{h}$, j	905		-460^{f}	1.665(5)	2.371(3) - 2.536(4)	107.5	0.71	742
$(NEt_4)_2[MoO(S_2C_6H_3SiPh_3)_2]\cdot dmf^{h, j}$	910		-450^{f}	1.677(4)	2.368(2) - 2.404(2)	108.6	0.76	742
$(PPh_4)_2[MoO(S_2C_2HPh)_2] \cdot EtOH^k$	879		-480^{f}	1.700(5)	2.366(2)-2.385(2)	109.1	0.78	624
$NEt_4[Mo(O-2-Ad)(S_2C_2Me_2)_2]$				1.839(3)	2.3266(9) - 2.2291(9)	109.1	0.762	371
$NEt_4[Mo(S-2-Ad)(S_2C_2Me_2)_2]$				2.312(1)	2.310(1) - 2.318(1)	108.8	0.746	371
$NEt_4[Mo(Se-2-Ad)(S_2C_2Me_2)_2]$				2.4387(6)	2.314(1)-2.328(1)	108.6	0.740	371
^a Distance from Mo to anical donor atom (—0, 0	R SR or SeR) b	Angle hetween a	ii hae roach leoic	-nlana culfur atome	^c Dicularament of Mo from	auleN ^d Andri lesed o	for NEt. ⁺ calt	* Versus SCF

Table 6 Properties of selected square pyramidal Mo^V and Mo^{IV} thiolate and dithiolene complexes.

41 in MeCN. F Versus SCE in dmf. ⁸ Irreversible. ^h Data for one of two independent molecules.¹ As the 0.5'PrOH dmf solvate.³ anti isomer.^k syn isomer. produces green, EPR-active MoOCl(dttd)³⁸⁰ while reactions of NMe₄[MoO(SR)₄] with *N*-salicy-lidene(2-mercaptoaniline) yield dark-green NMe₄[MoO(180)(SR)₂] (R = Ph, C₆H₄Me-4).⁴²⁴ Oxo-Mo^V complexes of 2-aminocyclopent-1-ene-1-dithiocarboxylate (145) were discussed in Section 4.7.2.3.3(v)(b).

(ii) Dithiolene complexes

Complexes of the type $[MoOL_2]^-$ ((260)–(263), n = 1) are closely related to the thiolate complexes discussed above; they are EPR-active (g ca. 1.98–2.00, A_{Mo} ca. 30×10^{-4} cm⁻¹) and exhibit strong $\nu(Mo=O)$ IR bands, reversible electrochemical reductions and square pyramidal structures with apical oxo ligands (Table 6). They are accessed via ligand exchange at $[MoO(SPh)_4]^-$, as in the synthesis of PPh₄[MoO(bdt)_2] (262, R = H), ⁶²³ or more commonly by oxidation of M^{1V} analogs. Thus, iodine oxidation of (NEt₄)₂[MoO(S₂C₂R₂)₂] yields blue/black NEt₄[MoO(S₂C₂R₂)₂] (R = P, Me, Ph (260); H/CN (261)), the central members of the three-member electron-transfer series, $[MoO(S_2C_2R_2)_2]^{0/1-/2-}$.^{371,515} Similarly, ferrocenium oxidation of $[MoO\{SC(H)C(R)S_2]^2^-$ and $[MoO(qdt)_2]^2^-$ produces $[MoO\{SC(H)C(R)S_2]^-$ ((261), as *syn (cis)* and *anti (trans)* isomers; R = Ph, pyridin-*n*-yl (n = 2, 3, 4), quinoxalin-2-yl and 2-(dimethylaminomethyleneamino)-3-methyl-4-oxopteridin-6-yl)⁶²⁴ and $[MoO(qdt)_2]^-$ (263),⁶²⁵ respectively. The thermochromism of the latter is assigned to a thermally driven intramolecular charge transfer transition.⁶²⁵ However, chemical or electrochemical oxidation of $[MoO(mnt)_2]^2^-$ to $[MoO(mnt)_3]^2^-$ and MoO_3 ; in the presence of chloride, salts of $[MoOC(lmnt)_2]^2^-$ are isolated.³⁶³ Similarly, oxidation of $(NBu_4)_2$ - $[MoO(dmit)_2]$ produces $NBu_4[MoO(dmit)_2]^{626}$ fully or partially oxidized salts exhibit interesting electrical properties.^{627,628} The electronic 629 and anionic photoelectron⁶¹⁹ spectroscopies. The compounds, NEt_4[MoOL_2], react with PhSeCl to produce NEt_4[MoOCl_2L] (L = S_2C_2Me_2, bdt), that in turn undergo ligand exchange to yield black-violet NEt_4[MoOCl(SC-4A)_2(S_2C_2Me_2)], NEt_4[MoO(SR)_2(bdt)] (R = 2-Ad, C₆H₂²Pr₃-2,4,6), and NEt_4[MoOCl(SC_6H₂⁴Pr₃-2,4,6)(bdt)] (264), with $\nu(Mo==O)$ 924–962 cm⁻¹. These novel Mo^V-dithiolenes exhibit square pyramidal geometries w



4.7.3.4.4 Pterin complexes

The presence of a pterin moiety in mononuclear Mo enzymes has stimulated work in this area. Concensus has replaced earlier confusion and controversy concerning the formulations, metal and pterin oxidation states, and electronic descriptions of Mo—pterin complexes. High-valent, monomeric oxo—Mo pterin complexes are diamagnetic yet they are formulated, on the basis of X-ray photoelectron and NMR spectroscopic data, as Mo^V species! This formulation and (partial) representations like (**265**) and (**266**) attempt to reflect the extent of electron pair delocalization in these non-innocent (buffered⁵⁸⁸) systems, not the existence of metal- and pterin-based diradicals.

Reactions of MoO₂Cl₂ with the dihydrochlorides of 6*R*-tetrahydro-L-biopterin, H₄P¹ (**267**),⁶³¹ tetrahydropterin, H₄P² (**268**, R=H),⁶³² or tetrahydro-6,7-dimethylpterin, H₄P³ (**268**, R=Me)^{633,634} produce red-purple complexes, now formulated as trihydropterin species,

mer-MoOCl₃(H₃P^{*n*}) (cf. (**265**)); these are characterized by ν(Mo=O) ca. 985 cm⁻¹ and λ_{max} ca. 485 nm. They exhibit distorted octahedral structures with the pterin carbonyl bound *trans* to the oxo ligand and metrical data indicative of trihydropterin coordination, viz., $d(Mo=O)_{av}$ 1.658 Å, $d(Mo=O)_{av}$ 2.249 Å, and $d(Mo-N)_{av}$ 2.014 Å.⁶³¹⁻⁶³³ Blue complexes, formulated as *mer*-MoOCl₃(HP^{*n*}) (cf. (**266**)) and protonated at N-8 by virtue of pterin reduction and oxidation of Mo¹V, form in the reactions of MoCl₄(NCMe)₂ with fully oxidized 6,7-dimethylpterin, P⁴ (**269**, R = NHC), or 2-pivalolyl-6,7-dimethylpterin, P⁵ (**269**, R = NHC(O)¹Bu) in the presence of trace H₂O; these are characterized by ν(Mo=O) ca. 990 cm⁻¹ and λ_{max} ca. 560 nm. The complex, *mer*-MoOCl₃(HP⁵)·OEt₂, exhibits a structure similar to the aforementioned but with d(Mo-N) 2.082(2) Å, indicative of pterin reduction.⁶³³ Pterin complexes with S-donor co-ligands include [MoO{C₆H₃N(CH₂S)₂-2.6}(H₃P²)]Cl, produced in the reaction of MoO₂{C₆H₃N(CH₂S)₂-2.6} with H₄P²·2HCl, and red dithocarbamate derivatives, MoOCl₂(S₂CNEt₂)(H₃Pⁿ) and [MoOCl(S₂CNEt₂)(H₃Pⁿ)]Cl, formed by reacting H₄P³·2HCl or H₄P⁶(**270**)·2HCl with MoO₂(S₂CNEt₂)(H₃Pⁿ)]Cl. MeOH⁶³⁷ are octahedral with a carbonyl oxygen *trans* to oxo and short Mo-N distances (cf. (**265**)). Hydrogen bonding, particularly in the pseudo-dimer units of [MoOCl(S₂CNEt₂)(H₃P³)]Cl·MeOH, and chloride association/dissociation in the S-donor complexes, impact on solution behavior. Related chemistry, including the X-ray structure of MOOCl₃(HF¹) (protonated at uncoordinated N), has been described for 1,3,7,8-tetramethylallox-azine (**271**) and a dispute over the formulation of Mo-₁avin complexes has been resolved.⁶³³ For complexens, we mention here Mo⁰ complexes, MoL₃, produced from oxidized pterins and Mo(CO)₆ in refluxing NCMe. Photoelectron spectra are consistent with consid



4.7.3.5 Thio, Selenido, and Tellurido Complexes

Thio–Mo^V centers are implicated in the turnover of industrial catalysts and enzymes but mononuclear thiomolybdenyl complexes are rare. The first complex of this type, Tp*MoSCl₂ (**272**), was prepared by sulfidation of Tp*MoOCl₂ (**242**) using B₂S₃ (Scheme 7);⁶³⁸ it has been characterized by IR, UV–visible, EPR,⁶³⁸ resonance Raman,⁵⁸⁵ and X-ray absorption spectroscopy.⁵⁴⁴ More recently, derivatives such as Tp*MoSX₂ (**273**, X = OPh, OC₆H₄X-2 (X = SEt (etp), Pr); X₂ = cat, tdt, bdt) were described.⁶³⁹ These exhibit a single, strong ν (Mo=S) IR band at 505–490 cm⁻¹ and distorted octahedral structures with short Mo=S bonds (2.1279(10) Å for Tp*MoS(etp)₂). The S K-edge X-ray absorption spectra of all derivatives exhibit intense pre-edge S(1s) $\rightarrow \pi^*$ Mo=S transitions characteristic of terminal sulfido ligation.^{544,639} Related cationic complexes, e.g., [Tp'MoS(S₂PR₂)]⁺ (**274**), have been prepared in situ.^{321,495}

The reactions of (1) with sulfur or ethylene sulfide, Se, and Te/PEt₃ produce MoE(NRAr)₃ (240) (Scheme 1), E=S, Se, Te, respectively). The tetrahedral complexes were characterized by IR (ν (Mo=E) 492, 342, 286 cm⁻¹, respectively), EPR, magnetochemical (μ _B 1.6–1.9), and crystallographic data (d(Mo=E) 2.1677(12) Å, 2.3115(6) Å, 2.5353(6) Å, respectively). The Mo=S bond dissociation enthalpy of MoS(NRAr)₃ was determined at 104.4 ± 1.2 kcal mol⁻¹.⁵⁷¹

4.7.3.6 Non-oxo Complexes

4.7.3.6.1 Halide and cyanide complexes

Liquid MoF₆ is a powerful oxidant and its reduction with KBr in anhydrous HF or I₂ in NCMe produces K[MoF₆]⁶⁴⁰ and [I(NCMe)₂][MoF₆],⁶⁴¹ respectively. Oxidation of Ag by MoF₆ in *dry* NCMe produces yellow [Ag(NCMe)₂][MoF₆] rather than the previously reported Ag^{II} salt, while ligand exchange yields [AgL₄][MoF₆] (L = P(OMe)₃, py). Further oxidation of [Ag(py)₄][MoF₆] by MoF₆ gives orange [Ag(py)₄(NCMe)][MoF₆]₃.⁶⁴² A convenient synthesis for MoF₅(NCMe) from MoF₆ and Mo in NCMe has been reported.

Molybdenum pentachloride, a widely used starting material in Mo chemistry, has a solid state structure comprised of edge-shared bioctahedra.³ However, in the gas and low-temperature matrix phases monomeric units with C_{4v} symmetry are observed;⁶⁴⁴ these are unstable with respect to, e.g., $[MoCl_6]^-$. Oxidation of $(\eta^6-C_6Et_6)Mo(CO)_3$ by Cl₂ or PhICl₂ produces EPR-active $[(\eta^6-C_6Et_6)Mo(CO)_3][MoCl_6]$ (g 1.980, A_{Mo} 45.7 × 10⁻⁴ cm⁻¹), containing an octahedral anion with d(Mo-Cl) 2.471(2) Å.⁶⁴⁵ The redox potentials of $[MCl_6]^{n-}$ complexes, including the Mo^{VI/V}, Mo^{V/IV}, and Mo^{IV/III} couples, display periodic trends related to metal core-charge and inter-electron correlation.⁶⁴⁶

The OPCl₃ adduct, MoCl₅(OPCl₃), has been prepared and structurally characterized; the complex reacts with urea eventually yielding tetranuclear [MoNCl₃(OPCl₃)]₄.⁶⁴⁷ Reaction of MoCl₅ with di-*i*-propylcarbodiimide in CCl₄ results in the production of dark-green MoCl₄{ClC-(NⁱPr)₂}. The complex exhibits a severely distorted octahedral (pseudo-trigonal bipyramidal) geometry with a small ligand bite angle of $63.0(2)^{\circ}$ and a "*trans*" Cl—Mo—Cl angle of only 114.0(1)°.⁶⁴⁸ Bromine oxidation of Mo(CC₆H₄Me-4)(CO)₂[CpCo{P(OⁱPr)₂O}₃] produces red, paramagnetic (μ_B 1.94) MoBr₄[CpCo{P(OⁱPr)₂O}₃].⁶⁴⁹

Improved syntheses for $[Mo(CN)_8]^{3-}$ salts based on the use of NaNO₂ in mineral acid as oxidant have appeared; nitrosonium ion, NO⁺, is believed to be the active agent in this proton-assisted reaction.⁶⁵⁰ Thiols such as L-cysteine, penicillamine, and thioglycolic acid are oxidized to disulfides by $[Mo(CN)_8]^{3-}$, with concomitant formation of $[Mo(CN)_8]^{4-}$; kinetics studies of these reactions have been reported.⁶⁵¹ The structural and chemical properties of $[Mo(CN)_8]^{3-}$ and related species have been reviewed.⁶⁵²

4.7.3.6.2 Complexes containing sulfur and mixed sulfur/nitrogen-donor ligands

The central members of the three-electron-transfer series, $[Mo(dithiolene)_3]^{0/1-/2-}$ ((216)–(220), n = 1), are conveniently prepared from their Mo^{VI} (Section 4.7.2.5) or Mo^{IV} (Section 4.7.4.6.5(iii)) counterparts.⁵ The complexes are EPR active (g ca. 2.002, $A_{Mo} 26-33 \times 10^{-4} \text{ cm}^{-1}$) and exhibit distorted trigonal prismatic structures with d(Mo-S) ca. 2.33–2.38 Å. Compounds such as NEt₄- $[Mo(S_2C_2Me_2)_3]$ ·NCMe (twist angle, ϕ , 1.6°),⁵¹⁵ NBu₄[Mo(bdt)_3] (ϕ 33.5°)^{506,519} and salts of $[Mo(tdt)_3]^{-,518}$ are formed by reducing Mo^{VI} species with BH₄⁻, EH⁻ (E=O, S), and organic bases, respectively. Iodine or ferrocenium oxidation of Mo^{IV} species produces Fc[Mo{S_2C_2(CF_3)_2}_3] (ϕ ca. 0°),⁶⁵³ Cat[Mo(qdt)_3] (Cat⁺ = PPh₄⁺ (ϕ 14.6°), NEt₄⁺),⁶⁵⁴ and conducting Fc[Mo(dmit)_3].⁶⁵⁵ Insights into the ground electronic state of such complexes were provided by a multifrequency EPR study of related [Mo(abt)_3]⁻ (abt = *o*-aminobenzenethiolate)⁶¹⁸ and by recent computational studies.⁵¹¹ Finally, *in situ* electrochemical or chemical oxidation of trigonal prismatic [Mo{O_2CC(S)Ph_2}_3]²⁻ is reported to produce [Mo{O_2CC(S)Ph_2}_3]⁻ (g 1.968, A_{Mo} 36 × 10⁻⁴ cm⁻¹).⁶⁵⁶

Reaction of $(NEt_4)_2[MoS_4]$ with $(S_2CNEt_2)_2$ produces brown, EPR-active (g 1.977, A_{Mo} 38 G) $Mo(S_2)(S_2CNEt_2)_3$, that exhibits a pentagonal bipyramidal structure with an apical disulfide ligand; the ⁱBu derivative is also known.^{236,657} The complex reacts with 3-chloroperoxybenzoic acid in CH₂Cl₂ at 0 °C to yield green $Mo(S_2O)(S_2CNEt_2)_3$ (g 1.982, A_{Mo} 39 G), having a pentagonal bipyramidal structure with an asymmetrically bound apical S_2O^{2-} -*S*,*S'* ligand (a related Mo^{VI} complex, $MoO(S_2O)(S_2CNEt_2)_2$, was described in Section 4.7.2.3.4(iv)). Ferrocenium oxidation of $Mo(S_2)(S_2CNEt_2)_3$ in dry or wet solvents yields $[Mo(S_2CNR_2)_4]^+$ or $[MoO(S_2CNR_2)_3]^+$, respectively.⁶⁵⁷ Charge transfer and donor–acceptor coordination compounds of TCNQ and TCNE exhibit unusual magnetic and electrical properties with many potential applications. Reactions of $Mo(S_2CNR_2)_4$ (R = Me, Et) with TCNQ or TCNE produce the radical cation–anion salts $[Mo(S_2CNR_2)_4]TCNQ$, $[Mo(S_2CNR_2)_4]TCNE$, and $[Mo(S_2CNR_2)_4][C_3(CN)_5]$

(from TCNE reaction in air). The TCNQ⁻ salts react with additional TCNQ forming $[Mo(S_2CNR_2)_4](TCNQ)_2$, containing neutral and anionic forms of TCNQ.^{658,659} The X-ray structures of $[Mo(S_2CNR_2)_4]TCNQ$ (R = Me,⁶⁵⁹ Et⁶⁵⁸) reveal similar eight-coordinate, dodecahedral cations but distinctly different anion packings. A regular dodecahedral geometry is also displayed by the anion of paramagnetic (NEt₄)₃[Mo(CS₃)₄].⁶⁶⁰ Reaction of $[MoCl_3(N_3S_2)]_2$ with dithioimidophosphinates produces green, EPR-active $Mo(N_3S_2)\{R_2P(O)NP(S)R_2\}_2$ (R = ⁱPr, Ph); both complexes exhibit octahedral structures with planar, bidentate $N_3S_2^{3-}$ ligands with O-donors *trans* to the *cis* N donor atoms.⁶⁶¹

4.7.3.6.3 Complexes containing mixed oxygen/nitrogen-donor ligands

Mushrooms of the genus *Amanita* accumulate vanadium in the form of Amavadin, Δ , Λ -[V(*S*,*S*-hidpa)₂]²⁻ (**275**), a 1:2 complex of V^{IV} and the proligand *S*,*S*-2,2'-(*N*-hydroxyimino)dipropionic acid (*S*,*S*-H₃hidpa, (**276**)).⁶⁶² Molybdenum(V) analogs of Amavadin have now been reported by Garner and co-workers; these brown/purple compounds include Δ , Λ -PPh₄[Mo(hida)₂]·CH₂-Cl₂ (H₃hida = (*N*-hydroxyimino)diacetic acid (**277**)), Δ -PPh₄[Mo(*R*,*R*-hidpa)(*R*,*S*-hidpa)] (see (**278**) (R = Me) for proligands), H₅O₂[Mo(*R*,*R*-hidpa)₂], PPh₄[Mo(*R*,*S*-hidba)₂]·2H₂O, and Δ , Λ -Na[Mo(*R*,*S*-hidba)₂]·0.25ⁱPr₂O (H₃hidba = 2,2'-(*N*-hydroxyimino)dibutyric acid, (**278**) (R = Et)).^{663,664} Structurally characterized complexes exhibit the eight-coordinate geometry found in Amavadin, the ligands being bound by *trans* κ^2 -NO and unidentate carboxylate groups. Absorption bands at ca. 550 nm (ε 10–47 M⁻¹ cm⁻¹) and 380 nm (ε 60–134 M⁻¹ cm⁻¹) are assigned to $d_{x^2-y^2} \rightarrow (d_{yz}d_{xz})$ and $d_{x^2-y^2} \rightarrow d_{xy}$ transitions, in keeping with the qualitative "electronic equivalence" of *trans*-Mo(κ^2 -NO)₂ and *trans*-MoO₂ moieties. EPR spectra are consistent with a $d_{x^2-y^2}$ ground state and a strong axial ligand field. The complexes are characterized by a reversible oxidation at 0.77–0.96 V vs. SCE, depending on the extent of solvent H-bonding.



4.7.4 MOLYBDENUM(IV)

4.7.4.1 Alkyl and Aryl Complexes

New homoleptic compounds include red/purple MoR₄ (R = 1-norbornyl, C₆H₄Me-2) produced in the reactions of LiR/ether and MoCl₃(thf)₃⁶⁶⁵ or MoCl₄(thf)₂,⁶⁶⁶ respectively, at low temperature. These high-spin d^2 complexes are EPR-active and exhibit tetrahedral structures concordant with computational results.⁶⁶⁷ Aryne complexes, Mo(η^2 -C₆H₃Me-2)(C₆H₄Me-2)₂L₂ (L = PMe₃, PMe₂Ph), are formed when Mo(C₆H₄Me-2)₄ reacts with L; the PMe₃ derivative exhibits a pseudo-trigonal bipyramidal structure with axial phosphine ligands.⁶⁶⁸ Paramagnetic, trigonal bipyramidal alkyl derivatives are recent additions to di- and triamidoamine systems.^{18,23,24}

4.7.4.2 Complexes Containing Nitrogen-donor Ligands

4.7.4.2.1 Nitrido complexes

Yoshida and co-workers have described many Mo complexes containing tetradentate 3,3,7,7,11,11,15,15-octamethyl-1,5,9,13-tetrathiacyclohexadecane (Me₈[16]aneS₄, **279**); Scheme 13 summarizes known Mo^{IV} chemistry and presents the structures and representations used for *syn* and *syn–anti* ligand conformations (see also Sections 4.7.6.5.3 and 4.7.8.5). The nitrido complex,

trans-MoN(N₃)(Me₈[16]aneS₄) (**280**), prepared by reacting trans-Mo(N₂)₂(Me₈[16]aneS₄) (**281**) with Me₃SiN₃, is characterized by ν (Mo \equiv N) and ν (N₃) IR bands at 999 cm⁻¹ and 2,040 cm⁻¹, respectively.⁶⁶⁹ A related reaction between trans-Mo(N₂)₂(depe)₂ and Me₃SiN₃ produces trans-MoN(N₃)(depe)₂ and mixed-valence [MoN(N₃)(depe)₂]₂{ μ -MoN(N₃)₂}.⁶⁷⁰ The X-ray structures of trans-MoN(NCCHCOPh)(dppe)₂⁶⁷¹ and trans-MoN{NCC(CN)COMe}(dppe)₂, two of many derivatives produced by dealkylation of β -ketonitriles by Mo(N₂)₂(dppe)₂, have been reported; the zwitterionic complexes feature anionic enolate ligands and octahedral geometries with d(Mo \equiv N) 1.704(3) Å and 1.704(6) Å, respectively. The mechanism of the dealkylation reactions has been probed.⁶⁷² Cationic complexes, [MoN(NCR)(dppe)₂]BPh₄ (R = Me, Et, Ph, ν (Mo \equiv N) 998–1,030 cm⁻¹), are produced when trans-[Mo(NH)Cl(dppe)₂]Cl reacts with NEt₃ in NaBPh₄/ nitrile solutions.⁶⁷³



4.7.4.2.2 Imido complexes

(*i*) Bis(*imido*) complexes

Although parallels exist, there are stark differences in imido and oxo chemistries at the Mo^{IV} level. The most obvious difference is the formation of many tetrahedral bis(imido)—Mo^{IV} complexes with but one oxo counterpart (Section 4.7.4.3). The imido ligands are linear (>160°) with d(Mo=N) 1.76–1.83 Å and $\angle(N=Mo=N)$ 110–145°. Green Mo(NAr)₂(PMe₃)₂ (**282**) is produced in the reduction of (**44**) (Equation (1)) by Mg in the presence of PMe₃ in thf. This remarkable complex exhibits a distorted tetrahedral geometry with linear imido ligands; it reacts with phosphines and alkenes producing species such as Mo(NAr)₂(PMe₂Ph)₂ and Mo (NAr)₂(PMe₃)₂(η^2 -CH₂CHR) (**283**, R = H, CH=CH₂);⁶⁷⁴ the mesityl analog, Mo(NMes)₂(PMe₃)₂, reacts similarly.⁶⁷⁵ Red–purple Mo(NR)₂(PMe₃)₂(η^2 -C₂H₄) (R = Ar, Mes) adopt trigonal bipyramidal structures with equatorial imido and ethene ligands and axial phosphines, the ethene unit being perpendicular to the equatorial plane.^{675,676} These and related alkene complexes, Mo (NR)₂(PMe₃)₂(η^2 -CH₂CHR') (**284**, R = ^tBu, Ad; R' = H, Me), may be prepared in a one-pot synthesis from Mo(NR)₂(PMe₃)(η^2 -CH₂CHR') with alkynes at room or elevated temperatures, respectively, produce alkyne complexes, Mo(NR)₂(PMe₃)(η^2 -CH₂CHR') (**285**, R = ^tBu, Ar, Ad; R'/R'' = H/Ph).^{111,674} η^2 -Diphosphene complexes, Mo(NR)₂(PMe₃)(Mes^FP=PMes^F-P,P') (**286**, R = Ar, ^tBu; Mes^F = 2,4,6-tris(trifluoromethyl)phenyl), may be similarly prepared.⁶⁷⁷ The Mo

 $(NR)_2(PMe_3)(\eta^2-L)$ complexes exhibit pseudo-tetrahedral structures with the η^2 -ligand aligned with the Mo–P vector (PMe_3 being the weakest π -donor ligand). An unusual "bis(imido)" complex containing *trans* cyanamide ligands, *trans*-Mo(NCN)₂(dppe)₂, is produced in the reaction of *trans*-Mo(N₂)₂(dppe)₂ with N=CNH₂.



(ii) Mono(imido) complexes

Both *trans*-MoN(N₃)(depe)₂ and [MoN(N₃)(depe)₂]₂{ μ -MoN(N₃)₂} serve as precursors for imido complexes such as *trans*-[Mo(NH)X(depe)₂]BPh₄ (X = Cl, N₃) and *trans*-[Mo(NMe)(N₃)-(depe)₂]BPh₄;⁶⁷⁰ an elegant electrochemical study of related dppe complexes revealed a (total) 4e⁻ reduction liberating amine RNH₂ and producing *trans*-Mo(N₂)₂(dppe)₂.⁶⁷⁹ Protonation of (**280**) by HOTf in dme produces orange, air-stable *trans*-[Mo(NH)(OTf)(Me₈[16]aneS₄)]OTf (**287**), that reacts reversibly with acetone or PhCHO in thf to afford red α -hydroxyalkylimido complexes (**288**) and with BPh₄⁻ to produce a yellow BPh₃ adduct (**289**) (Scheme 13). All three complexes have been spectroscopically and structurally characterized, giving d(Mo=N) 1.695–1.718 Å and $\angle(Mo=N-E) > 174^{\circ}.^{669}$ Protonation of the nitrile α -carbon of Mo(N₂)(NCR)(dppe)₂ complexes also permits the isolation of alkyl- and benzylimido complexes such as [Mo-(NCH₂R)X(dppe)₂]PF₆.⁶⁷¹

Diamagnetic complexes, *cis,mer*-Mo(NR)Cl₂(PR'₃)₃, are produced upon reduction of Mo(NR)Cl₃L (L = (PR'₃)₂, dme) by Na/Hg in the presence of PR'₃.^{156,174,531,680} Several, including Mo(NC₆H₄Me-4)Cl₂(PMe₃)₃¹⁷⁴ have been structurally characterized. Derivatives of Mo (NMes)Cl₂(PMe₃)₃ include halide and pseudo-halides (**290**, X = Br, NCS), dppe and L = P(OR)₃, alkenes, alkynes, CO, and CNR complexes (**291**), as well as xanthate (**292–293**, R = Me, ⁱPr), dithiocarbamate, and phosphonium dithiocarboxylate (**294**) species.^{680,681} An octahedral geometry has been established for (**291**) (L = PhC=CPh); here, the linear imido ligand (d(Mo=N) 1.751(4) Å, $\angle(Mo=N-C)$ 176.9(4)°) exerts a minimal *trans* influence (ca. 0.07Å) and the alkyne is bonded roughly orthogonal to the imido ligand.⁶⁸⁰ Oxidative addition of RNCO (R = ^tBu, C₆H₄Me-4) or ^tBuCNC^tBu to MoCl₂(PMePh₂)₄ produces Mo(NR)Cl₂(CO)(PMePh₂)₂ and Mo(Nt^tBu)Cl₂(CN^tBu)(PMePh₂)₂, respectively, but MoCl₂(PMe₃)₄ reacts with 4-MeC₆H₄Me-4)-Cl₂(PMe₃)₃.⁶⁸² A mono(silylimido) complex, Mo(NSiMe₃)Cl₂(PMe₃)₃, is produced when MoCl₂(PMe₃)₄ reacts with Me₃SiN₃; a *cis,mer* structure is supported by spectroscopic data.⁶⁸³ The ethylimido complex, [Mo(NEt)Cl(dmpe)₂]BPh₄, is reported to form when *trans*-[MoCl- $(\eta^x$ -NCMe)(dmpe)₂]BPh₄ (x = 1, 2) in heated in methanol.⁶⁸⁴



In contrast to earlier results (Section 4.7.2.2.2(iii)), reaction of Mo(NPh)Cl₂{(Me₃SiN)₂-C₆H₄}(thf) with Grignard reagents bearing β -hydrogens results in the formation of green alkene (metallacyclopropane) derivatives, exemplified by (**295**); the styrene derivative has been structurally characterized as the *anti* isomer (with reference to alkene phenyl and imido groups).¹⁵⁸ The alkenes are easily displaced by pyridine and imines ArRC=NPh (R=H, Me; Ar=Ph, *p*-C₆H₄OMe) producing Mo(NPh){(Me₃SiN)₂C₆H₄}(py)₂,⁶⁸⁵ (**296**) or (**297**) (with less hindered imines).⁶⁸⁶ Organometallic (arene, butadiene, and thence alkyne) complexes are also

accessible.^{687,688} In more recent work, *mer*-Mo(NPh){(Me₃SiN)₂C₆H₄}(PMe₃)₃ was reacted with H₂ at -10 °C to produce (**298**), which transforms to *mer*-Mo(NPh)(PMe₃)₃{(Me₃SiN)(NH)C₆H₄} and HSiMe₃ at 30 °C. NMR evidence supports the formulation of (**298**) as a stretched dihydrogen complex with d(H-H) = 1.17 Å.⁶⁸⁹



By analogy with related oxo–dithiocarbamate systems, reaction of MoO(NC₆H₄Me-4)-(S₂CNEt₂)₂ with one-half an equivalent or excess of PPh₃ or PEtPh₂ produces purple [Mo-(NC₆H₄Me-4)(S₂CNEt₂)₂]₂(μ -O) (that disproportionates) and Mo(NC₆H₄Me-4)(S₂CNEt₂)₂, respectively.^{173,174} The imido–Mo^{IV} complex has not been isolated but has been trapped with RC≡CR, (dmac, R = CO₂Me) producing pentagonal bipyramidal Mo(NC₆H₄Me-4)(dmac)(S₂C-NEt₂)₂.^{173,690} The complexes catalyze the oxidation of tertiary phosphines by O₂ or dmso.¹⁷³

4.7.4.2.3 Amido complexes

Direct protonation of *trans*-MoN(N₃)(dppe)₂ or *trans*-[Mo(NH)(OMe)(dppe)₂]OTf by triflic acid produces purple *trans*-[Mo(NH₂)(OH)(dppe)₂](OTf)₂; this octahedral complex, with *d*(Mo—N) 2.053(11) Å, is a rare example of NH₂⁻ coordination.⁶⁹¹ Known Mo(NMe₂)₄ reacts with LiNMe₂ (>2 equivalents) to produce red [Li(thf)]₂[Mo(NMe₂)₆], wherein isolated octahedral Mo(NMe₂)₆ units are associated with two (opposite) face-capping Li(thf) units; in solution, Mo(NMe₂)₄ is regenerated through elimination of LiNMe₂.⁶⁹² However, reaction of Mo(NMe₂)₄ with Ph₂PH or LiP^tBu₂ produces air-sensitive, red Mo(NMe₂)₂(PR₂)₂, with monomeric, tetrahedral structures related to Mo(NMe₂)₄ and Mo(PCy₂)₄.⁶⁹³ The π - and δ -bonding in these complexes has been assessed by structural⁶⁹⁴ and spectroscopic⁶⁹⁵ methods. Reaction of Mo(NMe₂)₄ with CNC₆H₃Me₂-2,6 gives the homoleptic metallaamidine Mo(Me₂NCNC₆H₃Me₂-2,6)₄, characterized by IR, ¹H, and ¹³C NMR spectroscopy and X-ray crystallography; the side-on bonded, bidentate ligands are arranged in a distorted dodecahedral array.⁶⁹⁶

Red, paramagnetic MoX(N^tBuAr)₃ (X = Cl, Br) form in the reactions of Mo(N^tBuAr)₃ with X₂ or CH₂Cl₂, while MoCl[N^tBu{C₆H₃(OMe)₂-3,5}]₃ can be generated from MoCl₃(thf)₃ and Li[N^tBu{C₆H₃(OMe)₂-3,5}]. These tetrahedral complexes are active catalysts for an impressive variety of alkyne metathesis reactions.⁵⁷² Related triamidoamine complexes, including (13) (Scheme 2) and many derivatives, are prepared by reacting MoCl₄(thf)₂ or MoCl₃(thf)₃ with ligand lithium salts under argon.^{18,20,697} Purple, paramagnetic (μ_B 2.92) (13) exhibits contact shifted NMR spectra and a trigonal bipyramidal structure with an axial chloro ligand;^{20,697} it supports the chemistry previously summarized (Scheme 2). Alkyl–Mo^{IV} derivatives (14) are generated upon reaction with LiR; the purple/black, paramagnetic complexes have been thoroughly characterized and the X-ray structures of trigonal bipyramidal Mo(CD₃)(N₃N) and Mo(C₆H₁₁)(N₃N) determined. Decomposition to alkylidyne (15), hydride (299), and ligand-activated (300) species is summarized in Scheme 2. Isocyanide (301 (R = ^tBu, C₆H₃Me₂-2,6) and 302) and cyano (303) species are accessible via (43). Dimethylamido complexes (e.g., 304) can be prepared from MoCl(N₃N) and LiNMe₂⁹² or from Mo(NMe₂)₄ and arylated N₃N analogs.¹⁸ Ligand exchange permits the synthesis of other derivatives, e.g., Mo(OTf)(N₃N) (305)²⁰ and Mo(CCR)(N₃N) (306).⁶⁹⁸ Various Mo^{IV} complexes containing diamidoamine have now been reported.^{23,24} The complex, Mo(NMe₂)₂(NHMe₂){MeN(CH₂C₄H₄N)₂}, derived from Mo(NMe₂)₄ and di-*N*,*N*-(pyrrolyl- α -methyl)-*N*-methylamine, readily inserts 3-hexyne forming a new C—N bond.⁶⁹⁹

4.7.4.2.4 Hydrazido(2-) and diazenido complexes

Much of the work in this area builds on earlier results.³ Continued study of the protonation of dinitrogen complexes has led to the isolation of complexes such as *syn,trans*-[Mo
(NNH₂)X(bdpe)(PPh₃)]X, anti,trans-[Mo(NNH₂)X(bdpe)(PPh₂Me)]X, [Mo(NNH₂)X(bdpe-*P*,*P'*)(PMe₂Ph)₂]X, and syn,mer-[Mo(NNH₂)X(bdpe)(PMe₂Ph)]X (X = Cl, Br)^{700,701} and the development of electrochemical methods for the cleavage of hydrazido ligands to form ammonia.⁷⁰² Several of these complexes, along with trans-[Mo(NNH₂)F(dippe)₂]BF₄, have been structurally characterized, with d(Mo–N) 1.69–1.78 Å, d(N–N) 1.31–1.34 Å, and \angle (Mo–N– N) > 172°.^{700,703} The chemistry of related species, viz., cis,mer-Mo(NNH₂)X₂(PMe₂Ph)₃ and trans-[Mo(NNH₂)X(dppe)₂]BF₄, has been explored by Hidai and co-workers.^{704–706} Reactions of [Mo(NNH₂)F(dppe)₂]BF₄ (**307**) include those with 2,5-dimethoxytetrahydrofuran⁷⁰⁷ and 2,5dimethoxy-2,5-dihydrofuran⁷⁰⁸ to give (**308**) and (**309**), respectively, the latter converting to the α,β - isomer with time; development of a system for the conversion of dinitrogen to pyrrole and *N*-aminopyrrole was a significant outcome of related work.⁷⁰⁷ Reaction of (**307**) with carbonyl compounds RCOCH₂R' provides access to complexes such as (**310**) (R/R' = H/Me, Me/H), which can be elaborated by reactions with, for example, PhNCE (E = O, S)/NaBF₄ giving (**311**).⁷⁰⁹ β -Monoalkylation and α,β -difunctionalization of α,β -unsaturated diazoalkane ligands by organocuprates has also been demonstrated.⁷¹⁰ Analogous depe chemistry has been reported.⁷¹¹ Alkylation and benzylation of (**281**) (Scheme 13) produces various hydrazido (and diazenido) species (**312**), consistent with effective p_π donation from the thioether to the Mo–N₂ unit.^{712,713} Likewise, alkylation of (**40**) (Scheme 1) produces Mo(NNR)(NRAr)₃ (**313**).⁸⁶



Octahedral, *cis*-bis(diazenido) complexes bearing bidentate S₂-, NS-, SO-, NO-, and O₂-donor ligands or tetradentate N₂S₂-donor and porphyrin ligands are well known.³ *cis*-Bis(aryldiazenido) complexes are prepared from dioxo precursors and phenyl hydrazines; new examples include Mo(NNPh)₂{Me₂NCH₂CH₂N(CH₂CH₂S)₂},²⁰⁴ Mo(NNC₆H₄R-4)₂(H₂NCH₂CH₂S)₂ (R = H, NO₂),⁷¹⁴ and Mo(NNPh)₂(Bu₄dttd) (Bu₄dttd = **147**),³⁸² having distorted octahedral structures with N- or thioether-donors *trans* to diazenido ligands, and octahedral Mo(NNC₆H₄R-4)₂-(acac)₂ (R = H, Me, OMe, F, NO₂).⁷¹⁵ Mono(diazenido) species include pentagonal bipyramidal Mo(NNPh)L₃ (L = 2-SC₅H₃N-3-SiMe₃), prepared in the reaction of Mo₂Cl₄(*µ*-S₂)(*µ*-L)L₂ with H₂NNHPh,⁷¹⁶ and Mo(NNR)(tmea) (**314**, R = H, Me, Ph), produced in the reaction of [MoO(*µ*₅-tmea)]₂ with H₂NNHR.¹⁹⁰ Reaction of PPh₄[Mo(SC₆H₂ⁱPr₃-2,4,6)₃(CO)₂] with [N₂Ph][BF₄] in NCMe yields green Mo(NNPh) (SC₆H₂ⁱPr₃-2,4,6)₃(NCMe); a trigonal bipyramidal structure with *trans* NNPh and NCMe ligands pertains.⁷¹⁷ The unusual η^2 -RCPh(Me₂pz)₂-*N*,*N'*(R = H, Ph) ligands in *fac*-Mo(CO)₃L are retained in reactions with diazonium salts giving, *inter alia*, structurally characterized [Mo(N₂Ph)(CO)₂L]BF₄ (**315**, R = Ph).⁷¹⁸ Complexes of the type Mo(NNPh)Cl₃L and Mo(NNPh)Cl₂L (L = depe, dppe) have been prepared.⁷¹⁹ Various mixed diazenido hydrazido(1-) complexes are formed in the reactions of alkyldithiocarbazates with dioxo–Mo^{VI} starting materials.^{720,721}

4.7.4.3 Oxo Complexes

The spectroscopic and structural attributes of oxo—Mo^{IV} compounds have been documented elsewhere.^{3,14} Dioxo–Mo^{IV} complexes are extremely rare and almost invariable adopt *trans* octahedral structures.⁷²² Examples include matrix-isolated *trans*-MoO₂(CO)₄, cyanide and phosphine complexes such as *trans*-[MoO₂(CN)₄]^{4–} (Section 4.7.4.3.1), and *trans*-MoO₂(dppe)₂ (Section 4.7.4.3.3). Only one "*cis*" dioxo—Mo^{IV} complex, viz., brown–red (η -C₅H₄SiMe₃)₂Ti(μ -CCSiMe₃)₂MoO₂ (**316**) has been reported.⁷²³ Five-coordinate, square pyramidal and six-coordinate, distorted octahedral oxo—Mo^{IV} complexes are most prevalent. These exhibit ν (Mo=O) IR bands in the range 960–900 cm⁻¹. The terminal oxo group is invariably apical or axial with *d*(Mo=O) ca. 1.66–1.70 Å and exerts a strong *trans* influence.



4.7.4.3.1 Cyanide complexes

Oxo cyano—Mo^{IV} complexes are well known and their chemistry has been extensively reviewed.^{652,724,725} Recent work has included the measurement of the proton, oxygen, and cyanide exchange rates for archetypal (all *trans*) $[MoO_2(CN)_4]^{4-}$, $[MoO(OH)(CN)_4]^{3-}$, and $[MoO(OH_2)(CN)_4]^{2-}$ by NMR spectroscopy,⁷²⁵ the synthesis and characterization of blue/green Cat₃[MoO(CN)₅] (Cat⁺ = K⁺, PPh₄⁺, AsPh₄⁺)⁴⁸² and the X-ray structures of octahedral (PPh₄)₃[MoO(CN)₅]·PPh₄Cl·2MeCN, (PPh₄)₂[MoO(CN)₄]⁻⁶ (L = bpy, phen, pic, acac, salicylaldehyde, and Schiff bases) are prepared by a general method involving adjustment to pH ca. 8 of aqueous solutions of K₃Na[MoO₂(CN)₄]·6H₂O and ligand, followed by addition of precipitating cations.^{726,727} The complexes exhibit ν (Mo=O) and ν (CN) IR bands in the ranges 973–932 cm⁻¹ and 2,116–2,088 cm⁻¹, respectively, and feature six-coordinate, distorted octahedral structures with d(Mo=O) 1.66–1.70 Å.⁷²⁷ Interest in these compounds is stimulated by the characteristic solvatochromism and piezochromism of their MLCT bands. Pentagonal bipyramidal MoO(CN)₂(bped) (**317**, bped = *N*,*N*'-bis[1-(pyridin-2-yl)ethylidene]ethane-1,2-diamine) is formed when K₄[MoO₂(CN)₄] reacts with 2-acetylpyridine and ethylenediamine; the equatorial oxo group is characterized by a low ν (Mo=O) (909 cm⁻¹) but normal d(Mo=O) (1.689(2) Å).⁷²⁸

4.7.4.3.2 Complexes containing nitrogen-donor ligands

Diamagnetic, green Tp*MoOL (L = S₂CNR₂ (**318**; R = Me, Et),⁷²⁹ S₂PR₂ (**118**, R = alkoxy, alkyl, Ph),^{320,321} pyridine-2-thiolate (pyS) (**319**)⁴⁹⁶), are conveniently produced by reacting MoOL₂ with KTp* in refluxing toluene (Scheme 7). Attempts to prepare related complexes of Tp^{Pr} were accompanied by a borotropic shift leading to Tp'MoO(S₂PR₂) (**118**, R = ⁱPr, Ph).⁴⁹⁵ Reaction of (**319**) with propylene sulfide forms the pyridine-2-dithio complex, Tp*MoO(pyS₂) (**320**), that can be reduced *or* oxidized to Mo^V species (**321/322**) with concomitant S—S redox.⁴⁹⁶ Reaction of Tp*MoO₂X with one equivalent of PR₃ in donor solvents such as py, lutidine, NCMe, and dmf produces green Tp*MoOX(sol) (**323**) via a transient OPR₃ complex (**210**) or unsaturated intermediate (**324**).^{318,323} The phosphine oxide complex, Tp^{Pr}MoO(OPh)(OPEt₃), has been isolated and structurally characterized while unstable complexes of Tp* have been detected by mass spectrometry.⁷³⁰ These complexes exhibit a single ν (Mo=O) IR band in the region 950–960 cm⁻¹, the species bearing monodentate ligands being unstable with respect to molybdenyl complexes, Tp^xMoOX(2 (**241**), in chlorinated solvents. The X-ray structures of Tp*MoO(S₂C-NEt₂),⁷²⁹ Tp*MoO{S₂P(OEt)₂},³²⁰ Tp*MoOX(py) (X = Cl,³¹⁸ SPh³²³), Tp'MoO(S₂PⁱPr₂),⁴⁹⁵ and Tp^{Pr}MoO(OPh)(OPEt₃)⁷³⁰ reveal distorted octahedral complexes with short Mo=O bonds

(generally < 1.68 Å) associated with a significant (0.1–0.3 Å) *trans* influence. Many of the complexes above are important in enzyme model systems, the trispyrazolylborate ligands ensuring mononuclearity at Mo^{VI}, Mo^V, and Mo^{IV} levels during biologically relevant OAT and CEPT reactions (Scheme 7); this area was recently reviewed by Young.³²⁴ Dinuclear complexes, [Tp*MoOCl]₂(μ -L) (L = dipyridines), have also been structurally, spectroscopically, and electrochemically characterized by McCleverty and co-workers.⁷³¹ Red–brown NEt₄[Tp*MoO(S₄)] (ν (Mo=O) 912 cm⁻¹) is a hydrolysis by-product in the reaction of NEt₄[Tp*Mo(CO)₃] and S₈ in dmf/ ether.⁷³² Hydrolysis also accounts for the unexpected products, TpMoO{SCC(C₆H₄Me-4)C(O)S} (**325**) and TpMoO(κ^3 -S₂CC₆H₄Me-4) (**326**), obtained in the reactions of TpMo(CC₆H₄Me-4)(CO)L (L = CO, PPh₃) with CS₂⁷³³ and S₈ in refluxing thf,⁷³⁴ respectively. Bis(pyrazolyl)borate oxo—Mo^{IV} complexes include square pyramidal Bp*MoO(S₂PⁱPr₂) (ν (Mo=O 980 cm⁻¹).⁷³⁵ The triazacyclononane complex, (Me₃tcn)MoOI₂ (**327**, Scheme 6) has been structurally characterized.³²⁶

Oxo–Mo^{IV} porphyrin complexes, MoO(por) (190), are formed by chemical,⁷³⁶ electrochemical,³²⁸ or photochemical⁵⁹⁹ reduction (through Mo–X homolysis) of *trans*-MoO(por)X (191) species (Scheme 8). These compounds were fully described in previous reviews.^{3,330} Börschel and Strähle prepared a violet form of MoOPc (249) from the reaction of Mo(CO)₆ and 1,2dicyanobenzene in a sealed tube (Scheme 11). A square pyramidal structure with an apical oxo group (d(Mo=O) 1.668(6)Å) was established.⁶⁰⁸ A second blue modification, prepared by reacting ammonium molybdate or MoO₂Cl₂ with 1,2-dicyanobenzene in a sealed tube, and the interconversion of the two forms, has been reported.^{530,737}

4.7.4.3.3 Complexes containing phosphorus-donor ligands

Phosphine ligands such as PMe₃, dppe, and dppee stabilize bis(chalcogenido)–Mo^{IV} complexes, *trans*-MoE₂P₄, and their derivatives, *trans*-[MoEXP₄]⁺ (E = O (this Section), S, Se, Te (Section 4.7.4.4); P = donor atom of mono- or bidentate phosphine). Pink [MoOXL₂]⁺ (L = dppe, X = F, Cl; L = dppee; X = Cl) undergo hydrolysis in aqueous or alcoholic media to yield disolvates of MoO₂L₂.^{738,739} The X-ray crystal structures of MoO₂L₂·2MeOH (L = dppee,⁷³⁸ dppe⁷³⁹) revealed tetragonally compressed octahedral complexes with equatorial phosphorus donor atoms and axial oxo groups (*d*(Mo=O) 1.804(2)/1.8184(8) Å, \angle (O=Mo=O) 180°). Reactions of MoO₂(dppe)₂ with noncoordinating acids (HX) produce [MoO(OH)(dppe)₂]X, while reactions with coordinating acids or acid/X⁻ mixtures permit the isolation of salts of [MoOX(dppe)₂]⁺ (X = Br, I, NCS, N₃, OMe).⁷³⁹ An accurate X-ray structure of [MoO(OH)(dppe)₂]ClO₄ was facilitated by ClO₄⁻···HO-Mo H-bonding; metrical data include, *d*(Mo=O) 1.7471(11) Å, *d*(Mo=O) 1.9044(12) Å, *d*(Mo–P)_{av} 2.533 Å, and \angle (O=Mo–O) 178.88(5)°. The X-ray crystal structures of [MoOC(OMe)(dppe)₂]OTf, ⁶⁹¹ as well as [MoOCl(dmpe)₂]Cl⁷⁴⁰ and [MoOI(dmpe)₂]I, have been reported. Finally, MoO(SeMes)₂(bd-peO-*P*,*P*',*O*) was isolated from the reaction of MoCl₃(bdpe) with NaSeMes and structurally characterized.⁷⁴¹

4.7.4.3.4 Complexes containing sulfur-donor ligands

(i) Dithiolene complexes

Square pyramidal complexes, $[MoO(dithiolene)_2]^{2-}$ (**260–263**, n = 2), are accessible by a range of synthetic routes, including: (i) reaction of ligand with Mo^{IV} starting materials such as K₄[MoO₂(CN)₄],⁶²⁴ (NEt₄)₂[MoO(SC₆H₄Cl-4)₄],⁷⁴² and [MoOCl(CNMe)₄]PF₆,³⁷⁰ (ii) reaction of ligand with Mo^{VI} or Mo^V complexes in the presence of reducing agents (including excess ligand),^{363,366,626,743} (iii) induced internal redox between (NEt₄)₂[MoO₂S₂] and the oxidant (CF₃)₂C₂S₂,⁵¹⁴ (iv) reaction of alkynes with (NEt₄)₂[MoO(S₄)₂],^{744,745} (v) reduction of oxo—Mo^V or dioxo—Mo^{VI} counterparts,³⁶² (vi) reaction of Mo(CO)₂(S₂C₂R₂)₂ with NEt₄OH solution,⁵¹⁵ and (vii) reaction of nitrido complexes with dioxygen.¹⁰² Route (i), coupled with versatile methodologies for the *in situ* generation of dithiolene salts, has been exploited in the synthesis of salts of well-known [MoO(mt1)₂]²⁻ and [MoO(bd1)₂]²⁻, [MoO(S₂C₂R₂)₂]²⁻ (R = H, CF₃), [MoO(S₂C₂H₂) (mnt1)]^{2-,370} [MoO(td1)₂]²⁻, [MoO(S₂C₆H₃SiPh₃-3)₂]^{2-,742} [MoO{SC(H)C(R)S}₂]²⁻ (R = Ph, pyridin-*n*-yl (*n* = 2, 3, 4), quinoxalin-2-yl, 2-(dimethylaminomethyleneamino)-3-methyl-4-oxopteridin-6-yl),⁶²⁴

and $[MoO(qdt)_2]^{2-.625}$ Spectroscopic and structural data for selected compounds are collected in Table 6. The complexes are reversibly oxidized to Mo^V counterparts and some belong to the threemember electron-transfer series, $[MoO(dithiolene)_2]^{0/1-/2-.370,515}$ Many of these complexes participate in OAT reactions yielding dioxo—Mo^{VI} complexes and reduced "substrates"; these reactions and associated kinetics studies have been reviewed.³²⁴ The influence of NH···S(dithiolene) H-bonding on structure and reactivity has been probed by the synthesis and study of $(NPr_4)_2[MoO\{S_2C_2(CONH_2)_2\}_2]$, the rate of OAT from Me₃NO to the complex being enhanced by 10^4-10^5 through H-bonding.⁷⁴⁵ The Mo K- and L_{2,3}-edge X-ray absorption spectra of $(NEt_4)_2$ -[MoO(bdt)₂] have also been reported.³⁶⁵

Rare oxo—Mo^{IV} monodithiolene complexes, MoO(mnt)L₂(thf) (L₂ = (PPh₃)₂, dppe, tmeda), are generated by reacting MoO₂Cl₂ with Na₂mnt in thf at <-45°C, followed by addition of ligand. The X-ray structure of an acetone adduct, MoO(mnt)(dppe)(Me₂CO), confirmed a distorted octahedral geometry, with acetone weakly bound (d(Mo—O) 2.333(2)Å) trans to the oxo ligand (d(Mo=O) 1.682(2)Å).⁷⁴⁶ The ditelluroene, (PPh₄)₂[MoO{Te₂C₂(CO₂Me)₂}₂] (ν (Mo=O) 950 cm⁻¹; d(Mo=O) 1.683(6)Å) has also been prepared from (PPh₄)₂[MoO(Te₄)₂] and RC=CR (R = CO₂Me).⁷⁴⁷

(ii) Other sulfur-donor ligand complexes

Dithio acid ligand complexes of the type MoOL₂ are well known.³ In line with earlier work,³ cyclooctyne reacts with MoO(S₂CNR₂)₂ (R = Me, Et) to form yellow MoO(S₂CNR₂)₂(η^2 -C₈H₁₂), while halogen oxidation of Mo(S₂CNR₂)₂(CO)(η^2 -C₈H₁₂) yields brown MoX₂(S₂CNR₂)₂(η^2 -C₈H₁₂).⁷⁴⁸ The reductive coupling of terminal alkynes,⁷⁴⁹ intramolecular cyclization of diynes,⁷⁴⁹ stereoselective epoxidation of alkenes,⁷⁵⁰ and episulfurization of (*E*)-cycloalkenes⁴⁹⁰ are all promoted by MoO(S₂CNEt₂)₂. Yellow MoO{S₂C(PMe₃)ER}(S₂CER-*C*,*S*,*S'*) (E=O, R=Me, Et, ⁱPr;⁷⁵¹ E=S, R=ⁱPr⁷⁵²), featuring oxo (ν (Mo=O) ca. 950 cm⁻¹), bentainic phosphonium and η^3 -xanthate ligands, result from the reactions of MoOCl₂(PMe₃)₃ with KS₂COR or KS₂CSR/CS₂ in thf. The *i*-propyl derivatives are square pyramidal with an apical oxo ligand and basal S- and C-donors (*d*(Mo-C) ca. 2.25 Å).⁷⁵¹ Related phosphonium and η^3 -dithio ligand complexes are described in Sections 4.7.6.1.1, 4.7.6.5.1, and 4.7.8.3.2.

described in Sections 4.7.6.1.1, 4.7.6.5.1, and 4.7.8.3.2. New diamagnetic thiolate complexes, $[MoO(SR)_4]^{2-}$ (cf. (253)), have been prepared by: (i) NEt₄BH₄ reduction of the corresponding Mo^V species to produce (NEt₄)₂[MoO{SC₆H₄NH-C(O)R-2}₄] (R = Me, CF₃, [†]Bu),^{611,753} (ii) thiol exchange at (NEt₄)₂[MoO(SC₆H₄Cl-4)₄] (itself prepared by method (i)) yielding (NEt₄)₂[MoO(α -tdt)₂],⁷⁵⁴ and (iii) reaction of MoOCl₂(PPh₂Me)₃ with HSC₆F₅/NEt₃ to give (NHEt₃)₂[MoO(SC₆H₄Cl-4)₄],⁶¹⁵ The X-ray structures of (PPh₄)₂[MoO{SC₆H₄NHC(O)Me-2}₄],⁶¹¹ (PPh₄)₂[MoO(SC₆H₄Cl-4)₄],⁷⁵³ and (NEt₄)₂[MoO(α tdt)₂]·OEt₂⁷⁵⁴ reveal a slight expansion in the coordination sphere compared to Mo^V analogs (Table 6). In a related system, the generation of [MoO{O₂CC(S)MePh}₂]²⁻ and its participation in catalytic OAT reactions have been reported.⁴¹⁹ The thiolate-thioether complexes MoO(dttd) (dttd = (146)) and MoO(dttd)(PPh₂Et) are formed in the reactions of MoO₂(dttd) with PPh₃³⁸¹ and PPh₂Et,³⁸⁰ respectively. Related complexes, MoO(SC₆H₄SMe-2)₂ and MoOL (L = (149)– (152)) are formed upon reaction of MoCl₄(NCMe)₂ with free ligand or NiL in wet thf^{381,755} or upon aerial oxidation of Mo(CO)₂L.⁷⁵⁶ The complexes are characterized by ν (Mo=O) IR bands at 950–920 cm⁻¹ and adopt a common distorted octahedral structure, with X *trans* to oxo and mutually *trans* thiolate and thioether groups (d(Mo=O)_{av} 1.688 Å).^{755,756}

4.7.4.3.5 Halide complexes

New syntheses for *mer*-MoOCl₂L₃ (L = PMe₃, PMePh₂) and novel *cis,cis,trans*-MoO(CO)Cl₂L₂ include oxidation of MoCl₂L₄ with ethylene oxide or CO₂, respectively.⁶⁸² The reaction of Mo₂O₂Cl₄(μ -OEt)₂(μ -HOEt) with PMe₃ also produces structurally characterized *cis,mer*-MoOCl₂(PMe₃)₃.⁵⁵⁰ Related species, e.g., MoOCl₂(dmpe)(PMe₃), [MoOCl(dmpe)₂]Cl, MoOCl₂(PMe₃)₂(CNR) (R = ^tBu, Cy).⁷⁵⁷ and structurally characterized MoOCl₂(dppe)(py)⁷⁵⁸ and MoOX₂(bdpeO) (X = Br,⁷⁵⁹ I⁷⁶⁰) are also known. Careful crystallographic⁷⁶¹ and spectroscopic⁷⁶² studies have revealed the "green" bond-stretch isomer of *cis,mer*-MoOCl₂(PMe₂Ph)₃ to be a binary mixture of blue *cis,mer*-MoOCl₂(PMe₂Ph)₃ and yellow *mer*-MoCl₃(PMe₂Ph)₃. Another case of bond-stretch isomerism proved to be a ternary mixture.⁷⁶³ The broader implications of

compositional disorder, clearly articulated by Parkin,^{764,765} have not quelled interest in bondstretch isomerism.⁷⁶⁶ The separation of conformational isomers of *cis,mer*-MoOBr₂(PMe₂Ph)₃⁷⁶⁷ or their co-existence in samples of *cis,mer*-MoO(NCO)₂(PEt₂Ph)₃⁷⁶⁸ adds another dimension to distortional isomerism.

4.7.4.4 Thio, Selenido, and Tellurido Complexes

Bis(chalcogenido)–Mo^{IV} complexes, *trans*-MoE₂(PMe₃)₄ (E = S, Se, Te), are formed in the reactions of Mo(PMe₃)₆ with H₂S, H₂Se, Se, or Te/PMe₃ and exhibit distorted octahedral geometries with d(Mo=E) 2.254(2) Å, 2.383(2) Å, and 2.597(1) Å, respectively; characteristic ¹H, ¹³C and ³¹P NMR signals are observed at ca. δ 1.6, 22–29, and –15, respectively.⁷⁶⁹ Analogous MoE₂L₂ (L = bidentate diphosphine) complexes, as well as MoOSL₂ and Mo(SO₂)₂L₂, are also accessible from the reactions of Mo(N₂)₂L₂ with chalcogen atom sources or SO₂.^{738,770} The Mo=E distances observed for structurally characterized MoE₂(dppee)₂ are 2.2280(14) Å, 2.356(2) Å, and 2.5615(10) Å, for E = S, Se, Te, respectively, the E=Mo=E units being strictly linear. The bonding in these complexes has been probed by computational studies.⁷²²

Elemental sulfur or ^tBuSH react with (281) to produce *trans*-MoS₂(Me₁₈[16]aneS₄) (328), that exhibits a distorted octahedral structure with d(Mo=S) 2.232(9) Å and 2.245(8) Å for sulfido groups at the open and ligand encumbered sites, respectively (see Scheme 13).⁷⁷¹ Alkylation of (328) produces *trans*-[MoS(SR)(Me₁₈[16]aneS₄)]X (329, R = Me, X = I; R = Bz, X = Br; $\nu(Mo=S)$ ca. 485 cm⁻¹). Red (329) (R = Me, X = I) adopts a *syn* ligand conformation, with sulfido (d(Mo=S) 2.140(5) Å) and thiolate (d(Mo=S) 2.440(6) Å) ligands in the encumbered and open axial sites, respectively.⁷⁷² Protonation with HBF₄ produces a sulfido bridged dinuclear species (330) and *trans*-[MoSF(Me₁₈[16]aneS₄)]BF₄ (331) with d(Mo=S) 2.118(3) Å.⁷⁷³ Reactions of salts of [MoS(S₄)₂]²⁻ with CS₂ under different conditions yield salts of orange *syn-* and *anti*-[MoS(CS₄)₂]²⁻. The five-coordinate anions exhibit square pyramidal structures with apical sulfido groups and d(Mo=S) 2.126 Å, $d(Mo-S)_{av}$ 2.383 Å, and $d(S-S)_{av}$ 2.103 Å.⁷⁷⁴ The complex solution behavior of these and related species has been reviewed.²²⁵

Porphyrin complexes, MoE(ttp) (E=S (332), Se (333)), are prepared according to Scheme 10(b).⁷⁷⁵ These undergo atom transfer reactions with PPh₃ forming EPPh₃ and Mo(ttp)(PPh₃)₂ (334) or Mo(η^2 -PhC=CPh)(ttp) (335). The X-ray structure of (332) reveals a square pyramidal geometry with an apical sulfido ligand (d(Mo=S) 2.100(1)Å, $\nu(Mo=S)$ 542 cm⁻¹).⁷⁷⁶ Yellow-brown Tp*MoS(S₂CNR₂) (336, R = Me, Et)⁷²⁹ and (206) (R = ⁱPr, Ph)⁴⁹⁵ are produced in the reactions of oxo-Mo^{IV} analogs with B₂S₃ (Scheme 7). The distorted octahedral complexes exhibit $\nu(Mo=S)$ IR bands at 510–515 cm⁻¹ and d(Mo=S) 2.129(2)Å and 2.126(3)Å for (336) (R = Et) and (206) (R = Ph), respectively. Reaction of NEt₄[LMo(CO)₃] (L = Tp, Tp*) with an equivalent of S₈ yields red-brown NEt₄[LMoS(S₄)] ($\nu(Mo=S)$ 491 cm⁻¹ and 473 cm⁻¹, respectively). The complexes exhibit distorted octahedral geometries with terminal sulfido (d(Mo=S) 2.144(2)Å and 2.172(1)Å, respectively), bidentate tetrasulfido ($d(Mo=S)_{av}$ 2.247Å and 2.294Å, respectively) and facial L ligands.⁷³²

4.7.4.5 Complexes Containing Polychalcogenide Ligands

Salts containing $[MoE(Se_4)_2]^{2-}$ (E = O, S, Se) have been isolated from the reactions of $(NEt_4)_2$ -[MoSe₄] with adventitious water, SeS₂, and Se₈, respectively.^{242,243} The complexes have been characterized by ⁷⁷Se NMR and IR spectroscopy ($\nu(Mo=E)$ 928 cm⁻¹, 515 cm⁻¹, 360 cm⁻¹, respectively). The anions of $(NEt_4)_2[MoO(Se_4)_2]^{242}$ and $(PPh_4)_2[MoSe(Se_4)_2]^{243}$ possess square pyramidal geometries with apical oxo (d(Mo=O) 1.690(6) Å) or selenido (d(Mo=Se)2.270(4) Å) ligands. Polytellurides react with MoCl₅ in dmf to form square pyramidal [MoO(Te₄)₂]²⁻ isolated and characterized as the PPh₄⁺ salt ($\nu(Mo=O)$ 950 cm⁻¹; d(Mo=O) 1.679(20) Å). Previously reported tetrasulfido species, e.g., $[MoE(S_4)_2]^{2-}$ (E = O, S), are described elsewhere.^{3,225} Non-oxo, mixed-cage ligand complexes such as (NBu₄)₂[Mo(AsSe₅)₂],⁷⁷⁷ (NBu₄)₂[Mo(CO)₂(As₃Se₅)₂], and (NBu₄)₂[Mo(AsSe₅)₂] have also been reported;⁷⁷⁸ the first of these contains a long intramolecular Se⁺⁺⁺Se interaction indicative of partial internal redox.

We also mention here blue/green, non-oxo complexes, $Tp*MoX(S_4)$ (X = F, Cl, Br, NCS), produced by reacting $Tp*MoO_2X$ with B_2S_3 and H_2S mixtures. The very short Mo–S distances

(av. 2.192 Å, X = Cl), alternating S–S distances, planarity, and ring current of the tetrasulfido ligand are suggestive of strong Mo–S π -bonding.⁷⁷⁹

4.7.4.6 Non-oxo Complexes

4.7.4.6.1 Halide complexes

Reduction of K[MoF₆] with KI in anhydrous HF produces $K_2[MoF_6]^{640}$ while reduction of MoOCl₃ or MoCl₅ with TlCl at 350 °C yields Tl₂[MoCl₆].⁷⁸⁰ Related compounds, including (SeCl₃)₂[MoCl₆] ($\mu_B = 2.5$), (TeCl₃)₂[MoCl₆], and (TeCl₃)₃[MoCl₆]Cl, are obtained from ECl₄ (E = Se, Te) and MoCl₄.⁷⁸¹ Reaction of MoX₂(CO)₂(PPh₃)₂ (X = Cl, Br) with S₂Cl₂ produces yellow [PClPh₃]₂[MoCl₆]. A convenient synthesis for MoBr₄, from MoCl₅ and dry HBr, has been reported;⁷⁸² it reacts with PPh₃MeBr in CH₂Br₂ to yield (PPh₃Me)₂[MoBr₆]·2CH₂Br₂.⁷⁸³ All hexahalide–Mo^{IV} anions, including those in ternary solid state materials, exhibit octahedral structures.

In donor solvents, MoCl₅ and MoCl₄ are readily converted to octahedral Mo^{IV} complexes of the type MoCl₄L₂ (L = NCR, thf, OEt₂, 1/2dme, SEt₂); these are important starting materials in Mo chemistry. Improvements to the original syntheses for three widely utilized complexes, MoCl₄(NCR)₂ (R = Me, Et) and MoCl₄(thf)₂, have appeared in *Inorg. Synth. (Vol. 28, p. 34)*. Electrocrystallization of MoCl₄(NCMe)₂ from MoCl₅/NCMe solutions yields the structurally characterized *trans* isomer.⁷⁸⁴ Other new N-donor adducts of MoX₄ include yellow, paramagnetic *cis/trans*-MoCl₄(NH₂^tBu)₂·2NH₂^tBu,⁷⁸⁵ MoBr₄(NCMe)₂, and PPh₃Me[MoBr₅(NCMe)] (μ_B 2.65).⁷⁸⁶

Ether adducts of MoCl₄ are versatile starting materials and orange MoCl₄(OEt₂)₂ may be prepared by reacting MoCl₅ (and olefinic chlorine atom acceptors⁷⁸⁷ or Sn⁷⁸⁸) or MoCl₄⁷⁸⁹ with diethyl ether; the first of these methods has been extended to the synthesis of MoCl₄(dme) and related W complexes.⁷⁹⁰ The diethyl ether ligands are readily displaced by thf, py, pentamethylene oxide, nitriles, phosphines, arsines, bpy, etc., while metathesis or reduction yields Mo(O¹Bu)₄ and MoCl₃(thf)₃.⁷⁸⁸ Complete loss of diethyl ether produces amorphous MoCl₄,⁷⁸⁸ a stated but unrealized aim of early work.⁷⁸⁷ The dark-red thioether analog, *trans*-MoCl₄(SEt₂)₂, is produced in the reaction of MoCl₄ with SEt₂ at 50 °C; the paramagnetic ($\mu_{\rm B}$ = 2.81) complex exhibits the expected octahedral geometry with *d*(Mo–Cl)_{av} 2.331 Å and *d*(Mo–S) 2.534(2) Å. Dark-brown MoCl₄(dme) is also produced when MoCl₅ reacts with dme in toluene or with NaSi/15-crown-5/ dme in toluene, whereupon it crystallizes as MoCl₄(OPPh₃)₂, in a mixed crystal of [MoCl₃(OPPh₃)₂], has been determined.⁵³⁷ Non-oxo alkyne Mo^{1V} complexes are rare but diphenylacetylene reacts with MoCl₅(OPCl₃) in CH₂Cl₂ forming MoCl₄(η^2 -PhC=CPh)(OPCl₃) and PhC(Cl)=C(Cl)Ph.⁷⁹² Reaction of MoCl₄-

Non-oxo alkyne Mo^{IV} complexes are rare but diphenylacetylene reacts with MoCl₅(OPCl₃) in CH₂Cl₂ forming MoCl₄(η^2 -PhC \equiv CPh)(OPCl₃) and PhC(Cl)=C(Cl)Ph.⁷⁹² Reaction of MoCl₄-(SEt₂)₂ with PhC \equiv CSeBu produces *trans*-MoCl₄(SEt₂)(η^2 -PhC \equiv CSeBu), having a pseudo-octahedral geometry.⁷⁹³ Finally, oxidation of (Me₃tcn)MoBr₃ with nitric acid produces red, paramagnetic (μ_B 2.2) *fac*-[(Me₃tcn)MoBr₃]⁺ (**337**), isolated and structurally characterized as the PF₆⁻ salt (Scheme 6).³²⁵ Related compounds are electrochemically accessible from Mo^{III} counterparts.^{257,325}

4.7.4.6.2 Cyanide complexes

Acidification of ice-cold solutions of $K_5[Mo(CN)_7]$ with acetic, hydrochloric, or ascorbic acids, or hydrogen sulfide, produces green, diamagnetic $K_4[MoH(CN)_7] \cdot 2H_2O$, characterized by ¹H (δ 2.3) and ¹³C (δ 162.9, J_{CH} 11.3 Hz) NMR and IR (ν (Mo—H) 1,830 cm⁻¹) spectroscopy. The pK_a of the complex was estimated to be ca. 16.6. The electrochemical and chemical reactions of the complex, including catalytic alkene hydrogenation and SO₂ insertion into the Mo—H bond, have been studied.⁷⁹⁴ The [Mo(CN)₈]⁴⁻ anion exhibits distorted dodecahedral or distorted square antiprismatic geometries in its structurally characterized salts.⁷⁹⁵ Variable-temperature ⁹⁵Mo and ¹⁴N relaxation time measurements are consistent with a dodecahedral (D_{2d}) geometry in aqueous solution.⁷⁹⁶ Magnetic materials such as [Mn^{II}L]₆[Mo^{III}(CN)₇] [Mo^{IV}(CN)₈]₂·19.5H₂O (L = N₅-donor) are currently under study.⁷⁹⁷

4.7.4.6.3 Phosphido and hydrido-phosphine complexes

The homoleptic phosphido complex, $Mo(PCy_2)_4$, is produced by reacting LiPCy₂ with $MoCl_4(thf)_2$ in thf at -80 °C. A distorted tetrahedral structure, with planar MoPC₂ units and an average Mo–P distance of 2.265(2) Å, has been established by X-ray diffraction.⁶⁹³

Improved syntheses for $MoH_4(PR_3)_4$ ($PR_3 = PEt_3$, PBu_3 , $PMePh_2$) and $MoH_4(dppe)_2$ (**338**, Scheme 14), based on reduction of $MoCl_4(thf)_2$ with Li[BHEt_3] rather than NaBH₄, have been reported (see also *Inorg. Synth., Vol. 27, p. 8*).⁷⁹⁸ Protonation of these compounds by anhydrous HX yields paramagnetic derivatives, $PHR_3[MoHX_4(PR_3)_2]$ with $\nu(Mo-H)$ ca. 1,850 cm⁻¹. The anion of PHBu₃[MoHCl₄(PBu₃)_2] exhibits a pentagonal bipyramidal structure with apical chlorides and a hydride positioned between equatorial phosphine ligands.⁷⁹⁸ Reduction of $MoCl_3(bdmp)/PMe_3$ under H₂ produces $MoH_4(PMe_3)(bdmp)$.⁷⁹⁹ Oxidation of $Mo(dmpe)_3$ with HCl/NH_4PF_6 produces $[MoH_2(dmpe)_3](PF_6)_2^{800}$ while co-condensation of Mo with excess dippe yields $MoH_4(dppe)_2$ rather than desired $Mo(dippe)_2$.⁸⁰¹ The X-ray structures of $MoH_4(dppe)_2^{801}$ and $MoH_4(dppe)_2$ thf have been reported; the complexes are dodecahedral with H and P atoms in the A and B sites and Mo-L distances of ca. 1.67 Å and 2.42 Å, respectively.



Reagents. (i) HC=CCO₂R, HBF₄, -H₂;⁸⁰⁴ (ii) HC=CCO₂R, HBr, -CO₂, -H₂;⁸⁰⁴ (iii) RO₂COCH₂CCH₂, hv;¹⁰¹⁹ (iv) RCO₂H, NaBPh₄;⁸⁰² (v) RCO₂CH₂CHCH₂, hv;¹⁰¹⁸ (vi) RNHCOR', hv or Δ ;⁸⁰³ (vii) MeCO₂H;⁸⁰³ (vii) catechols;⁸⁰³ (ix) 2ROH;⁸⁰³ (x) phthalimides;¹⁰²⁰ (xi) CH₂=CMeC(O)OR, Δ or hv;¹⁰²² (xii) HN(C=O)₂R.¹⁰²¹

Scheme 14

Protonation of (338) by carboxylic acids produces cationic $[MoH_2(O_2CR)(dppe)_2]^+$ (R = alkyl, alkenyl) that can be isolated as BPh_4^- salts (339) (Scheme 14). The acetate complex is photochemically unstable with respect to $MoH(O_2CMe)(dppe)_2$ (340) or, in the presence of CO, to *trans*-Mo(CO)₂(dppe)₂.⁸⁰² Tetrahydride (338) also reacts with *N*-alkylamides forming $MoH\{N(R)C(R')O\}(dppe)_2$ (341; R/R' = H, (CH₂)₃, Me, Ph), that react with alcohols producing $MoH_2(OR)_2(dppe)_2$ (342)⁸⁰³ and with catechol derivatives to give $MoH_2(cat)(dppe)_2$ (343);

complexes (**342**) are also unstable with respect to *trans*-Mo(CO)₂(dppe)₂.⁸⁰³ Structural characterization of several catecholate derivatives revealed eight-coordinate distorted dodecahedral geometries.⁸⁰³ Earlier, reactions involving alkynyl esters, HC=CCO₂R (R = Me, Et) and coordinating and noncoordinating acids were reported to produce organometallic derivatives (**344**) and (**345**), respectively.⁸⁰⁴ Related Mo^{II} complexes are discussed in Section 4.7.6.3.2. The complex reaction between MoH₄(dmpe)₂ and CO₂ leads to the formation of formate, CO₂, and carbonate complexes such as MoH₃(O₂CH)(dmpe)₂, MoH₂(O₂CH)₂(dmpe)₂, and MoH₂(CO₃)(dmpe)₂.⁸⁰⁵ An analogous carbonate, MoH₂(CO₃)(PMe₃)₄, results from the reaction of Mo(η^2 -C₂H₄)₂(PMe₃)₄ with H₂/CO₂ mixtures.⁸⁰⁶

The reactions of (**338**) and Ph₂EH₂ (E = Si, Ge unless indicated) produce (**346**); at 100 °C, the Ge derivative eliminates benzene forming (**347**) (E = Ge), complexes (**347**) being directly accessible by reaction of MoH₄(dppe)₂ and PhEH₃.^{807,808} Related alkyl and o/p-tolyl silyl complexes have also been prepared and the reactivity of the various series investigated.^{808–810} Complexes (**347**) react with HO₂CR (R = H, Me, Ph) to produce monodentate carboxylate complexes (**348**), while the silyl derivative of (**347**) reacts reversibly with CO₂ to produce the formate complex (**348**) (E = Si, R = H). Significantly, complexes (**347**) and (**348**) (E = Si) catalyze the formation of dmf from HNMe₂ and CO₂/H₂ (-H₂O) in benzene at 110 °C.⁸¹⁰ Finally, the silyl derivative (**347**) reacts with dioxygen,⁸⁰⁹ PhSiH₃,⁸⁰⁷ and Hacac⁸¹¹ to produce κ^2 -peroxo (**349**), silane (**350**), and dangling-phosphine complexes, respectively. The X-ray structures of many of the complexes above have been determined.



4.7.4.6.4 Complexes containing aryloxide and related ligands

Mononuclear complexes are formed when Mo(NMe₂)₄ reacts with aryloxides (cf. formation of dinuclear species with alkoxides). The products formed depend on the steric bulk of the aryloxide and include Mo(OAr)₄(HNMe₂)₂ (Ar = C₆H₄Me-4, C₆H₃Me₂-3,5, C₆H₃Me₂-2,6), Mo(OC₆H₃⁺Bu-Me-2,6)₃(NMe₂)(HNMe₂), Mo(OC₆H₃⁺Pr₂-2,6)₃(NMe₂)(HNMe₂), and Mo(OC₆H₄Me-4)₄-(PMe₂Ph)₂ (formed from MoH₄(PMe₂Ph)₄).⁸¹² Reaction of 2,6-diphenylphenol (dppH) with Mo(NMe₂)₄ in benzene produces red, paramagnetic Mo(OC₆H₃PhC₆H₄-*C,O*)(dpp)₂(PHMe₂) (**351**), that reacts with pyridine to form Mo(OC₆H₃PhC₆H₄-*C,O*)(dpp)₂(py). Amide assisted cyclometallation of dpp was confirmed by X-ray crystallography, the aryl ligand (Mo–C_{av} 2.075 Å) occupying the apical site in these square pyramidal complexes.⁸¹³ In related chemistry, MoH₄(PMePh₂)₄ reacts with dppH to produce (**352**).⁸¹⁴ Paramagnetic *trans*-Mo(OPh)₄(PMe₃)₂ is produced in the reaction of Mo(PMe₃)₆ with excess phenol in benzene; increasing the steric demands of the aryloxide ligand induces partial oxidation to diamagnetic MoH(OAr)(PMe₃)₄ (Ar = Mes, C₆H₃R₂-2,6 (R = ⁺Pr, Ph))⁸¹⁵ via species containing nonclassical H-bonds, exemplified by structurally characterized (**353**).⁸¹⁶ Density functional calculations on Mo(OPh)₄ are indicative of a pseudo-tetrahedral (flattened) D_{2d} structure.⁸¹⁷



Trigonal bipyramidal η^2 -alkyne aryloxide complexes such as Mo(OAr)₂Cl₂(EtC=CEt), Mo(OAr)₃Cl(EtC=CEt), and Mo(OAr)₄(RC=CR) (**354**; R = Et, Ph) can be prepared by reacting MoCl₄(η^2 -RC=CR)(OEt₂) with LiOC₆H₃ⁱPr₂-2,6 (analogous thiolate complexes are described in the next section).⁸¹⁸ Addition of MoCl₄(thf)₂ to a suspension of (NaO)₄^{Bu}cal·2thf and alkynes in thf at -30 °C, followed by warming, provides access to η^2 -2-metallacyclopropene complexes that are versatile synthons for anionic 1-metallacyclopropene, metallaalkylidyne, and dimetallic–dialkylidene complexes.⁸¹⁹ Oxidative addition of *p-tert*-butyltetrathiacalix[4]arene (L) to *cis*-Mo(N₂)₂(PMe₂Ph)₄ yields MoH₂(PMe₂Ph)₃(L-*S*,*O*,*O'*), characterized by dynamic NMR spectroscopy and X-ray crystallography.⁸²⁰

Dark-purple Mo{TeSi(SiMe₃)₃}₄ is produced in the reaction of Mo(C₆H₄Me-2)₄ and HTeSi-(SiMe₃)₃ at low temperature. The diamagnetic complex exhibits a flattened tetrahedral structure with d(Mo-Te) 2.562(1)-2.582(1)Å.⁸²¹

4.7.4.6.5 Complexes containing sulfur-donor ligands

(i) Thiolate complexes

Sterically hindered thiols form a variety of Mo^{IV} complexes. These include black/brown Mo(SC₆H₂R₃-2,4,6)₄ (R = Me, ⁱPr) formed by reaction of MoCl₄(thf)₂ or MoCl₄(NCMe)₂ with sodium thiolates^{822,823} or by Na/Hg reduction of MoCl(SAr)₄ (formed from MoCl₄ and Me₃Si-SAr).⁷⁸⁹ A flattened tetrahedral structure has been established for Mo(SAr)₄, which reacts with ethyne, 2-butyne, 3-hexyne, ^tBuNC, CO, and diphenyldiazomethane (L) to produce complexes of the type Mo(SAr)₄L.⁷⁸⁹ Red Mo(SAr)₄(η^2 -RC≡CR) (R = Me, Et) are also accessible via reaction of MoCl₄(η^2 -RC≡CR)(OEt₂) with LiSAr, the X-ray structure of Mo(SAr)₄(η^2 -EtC≡CEt) revealing a distorted trigonal bipyramidal geometry with an axial η^2 -alkyne on a pseudo-mirror plane.⁸¹⁸ Reaction of MoCl₃(NCMe)₃ with HSAr/NEt₃ in NCMe produces dark-brown, airsensitive, diamagnetic Mo(SAr)₄(NCMe), possessing a trigonal bipyramidal structure with an apical NCMe ligand.⁸²³ Introduction of CO following the reaction of MoCl₄(NCMe)₂ with NaSAr produces [Mo(SAr)₃(CO)₂]⁻.⁸²⁴

Hindered thiols also stabilize two types of hydrido–Mo^{IV} complex. The first, six-coordinate, 14-electron MoH(SR)₃(PMe₂Ph)₂ (355, R = Mes, C₆H₂ⁱPr₃-2,4,6), are formed in the reactions of Mo(NNH₂)Br₂(PMe₂Ph)₃ and RSH/NEt₃.⁸²⁵ The second, five-coordinate, 12-electron complexes containing bulkier phosphines, $MoH(SR)_3(PR'Ph_2)$ (356, R = Mes, R' = Me; $R = C_6H_2^{i}Pr_3$ -2,4,6, R' = Et), are prepared from $MoH_4(PR'Ph_2)_4$ or $Mo(N_2)_2(PR'Ph_2)_4$ and RSH.⁸²⁶ Compounds of the first type are characterized by hydride (¹H) and ³¹P NMR signals at ca. δ 2.5 ($J_{\text{HP}(A)}$ ca. 100 Hz, $J_{\text{HP}(B)} < 10$ Hz) and δ ca. -110 and -147, respectively, and ν (Mo–H) IR bands at 1,902–1,926 cm⁻¹. The second type exhibit corresponding spectral features at δ ca. 3.3 (J_{HP} ca. 87 Hz), δ –69 to –78, and 1,858–1,940 cm⁻¹. The X-ray structure of MoH(SC₆H₂ⁱPr₃)₃(PMe₂Ph)₂ revealed a trigonal bipyramidal geometry with apical phosphine and equatorial thiolate ligands but failed to locate the hydride. Complexes (355) and (356) provide access to a variety of species by phosphine displacement (e.g., 357), thiol elimination (358, 359), hydride exchange (360), hydrazine disproportionation (361), and/ or ligand addition (362) reactions, as shown in Scheme 15 (reagents are shown below each product). The electronic and steric determinants of structure and reactivity in these compounds have been extensively probed by spectral, electrochemical, and X-ray structural studies. The structures reported include those of (**357**) (L = py, R = $C_6H_2^{-1}Pr_3$ in all cases),⁸²⁶ (**358**),⁸²⁷ (**359**),⁸²⁸ (**361**),⁸²⁹ and (**362**) (R' = Me, L = NH₂NHPh).⁸²⁹ Typically, trigonal bipyramidal structures with an equatorial girdle comprised solely of thiolate ligands are observed. Complex (355) catalyzes the disproportionation or reduction of anhydrous hydrazine, lending support to the possibility of similar reactions at the Mo–S center of nitrogenase.⁸²⁹ Recent work includes the reactions of (355) and (356) with alkynes, yielding structurally characterized phosphonium—alkylidene (**363**) and alkyne—ylide (**364**) oxo—Mo^{IV} complexes, respectively.⁸³⁰ Related thiolato-Mo^{II} compounds are described in Section 4.7.6.5.2. Red, six-coordinate, distorted octahedral $Mo(dmsp)_2(S^tBu)_2$ (dmsp = 2-(diphenylphosphino)ethanethiolate), generated by bmsp-for-thiol exchange at $Mo(S^{L}Bu)_{4}$, is effective in forming heterobimetallic cluster compounds with iron and copper species.⁸³¹



Scheme 15

Tridentate PhP(CH₂CH₂SH)₂ and PhP(C₆H₄SH)₂ react with MoCl₄(PPh₃)₂ in methanol/NEt₃ to produce brown, air-stable, diamagnetic Mo{PhP(CH₂CH₂S)₂}¹⁸⁷ and Mo{PhP(C₆H₄S)₂}₂,¹⁸⁹ respectively; a distorted octahedral geometry with *facial P,S,S'*-bound ligands has been established for the former.¹⁸⁷ Diamagnetic Mo{PhP(C₆H₄S)₂}₂(NCMe) is obtained when the latter reaction is performed in acetonitrile.¹⁸⁹ Reaction of MoCl₂(CO)₂(PPh₃)₂ with PhP(C₆H₄SH)₂ in methanol/base produced Mo{PhP(C₆H₄S)₂}₂(CO) (ν (CO) 1,900 cm⁻¹).¹⁸⁹ Reaction of MoCl₄(thf)₄ with dttdH₂ produces violet, paramagnetic (μ _B 2.61) MoCl₂(dttd) that undergoes metathesis with thiolates (bdt²⁻, edt²⁻, SEt⁻) producing, e.g., Mo(bdt)(dttd).⁸³²

(ii) Dithiocarbamate and related complexes

Novel ligands formed from the melding of dithiocarbamate, sulfur co-ligands, and alkyne units on Mo (and W) have been reported by Young and co-workers.^{833–835} Thus, reactions of disulfido complexes $[Mo_2(\mu-S_2)_2(S_2CNR'_2)_4]^{2+}$, $MoO(S_2)(S_2CNR'_2)_2$ (R' = Me, Et), or $Mo(S_2)(S_2CNEt_2)_3$ with $RC \equiv CR$ (dmac, $R = CO_2Me$) produce isomeric orange (**365**) and green (**366**) complexes, characterized by spectroscopic and crystallographic methods.^{833,834} The same melded ligands are proposed to exist in orange (**367**) and blue (**368**) 1-thio-2-iminoene complexes produced in the reaction of $Mo(NPh)(S_2)(S_2CNEt_2)_2$ with dmac. The presence of a melded ligand in (**368**) was confirmed by X-ray crystallography.^{167,836} Dithiolenic species are the thermodynamic products of these and related reactions.⁸³⁵ The reaction of $MoCl(S_2CNR_2)_3$ (R = Me,Et) with silver triflate results in the formation of brown, diamagnetic $[Mo_2(S_2CNR_2)_6](OTf)_2$, that acts as a source of the tris(dithiocarbamato)– Mo^{IV} cations $[Mo(S_2CNR_2)_3]^+$ in the synthesis of $[MoL(S_2CNR_2)_3]^{n+}$ (L = Cl, I, N₃, n = 0; L = O, NCMe, PR₃, n = 1). Structural characterization of paramagnetic, seven-coordinate $[Mo(S_2CNEt_2)_3(PMe_2Ph)]OTf$ revealed a pentagonal bipyramidal coordination geometry with an apical phosphine ligand.⁸³⁷ Molybdenum(IV) 2-aminocyclopent-1-ene-1-dithiocarboxylate (**145**) complexes were discussed in Section 4.7.2.3.3(v)(b).



(iii) Dithiolene complexes

Improved syntheses for $Mo(CO)_2(S_2C_2R_2)_2$ (R = alkyl, Ph), from $Mo(CO)_3(NCMe)_3$ and Ni(S₂C₂R₂)₂, have underpinned recent developments. Potassium anthracenide reduction of $[Mo(CO)_2(S_2C_2Me_2)_2]^{2-}$ $Mo(CO)_2(S_2C_2Me_2)_2$ produces that comproportionates with $Mo(CO)_2(S_2C_2Me_2)_2$ to yield $[Mo(CO)_2(S_2C_2Me_2)_2]^-$. This allows the isolation of all three members of the series $(NEt_4)_n [Mo(CO)_2(S_2C_2Me_2)_2]$ (n = 0, 1, 2). The complexes exhibit trigonal prismatic structures (369) and structural, spectral, and electrochemical properties consistent with a principally ligand-based (>80%) redox orbital (also probed by DFT calculations).⁵¹¹ Related complexes, $Mo(CO)_2(Bu_2bdt)_2$, $Mo(CO)(PR_3)L_2$, and $Mo(PMe_3)_2L_2$ (R = Me, Ph, Cy; L = bdt, Bu₂bdt), are produced upon thioether S-dealkylation of Mo(CO)₃(Bu₄dttd) or Mo(CO)₂(PR₃)L' (L' = dttd (146), Bu₄dttd (147))⁸³⁸⁻⁸⁴⁰ and in related reactions, e.g., those of PMe₃ with Mo(CO)(PMe₃)(149)⁷⁵⁶ and MoO₂(Bu₄dttd),³⁸² which produce Mo(PMe₃)₂L'₂ (L' = bdt and Bu₂bdt, respectively). Trigonal prismatic strutures are adopted by $Mo(CO)(PPh_3)(Bu_2bdt)_2$ (370)⁸³⁹ and $Mo(PMe_3)_2(bdt)_2$ (371)⁷⁵⁶ in the solid state although octahedral *trans*-Mo(CO)(PR₃)(Bu₂bdt)₂ may exist in solution.⁸³⁹ Further, Mo(PMePh₂)₂(bdt)₂ (371) and isocyanide complexes such as Mo(CN^tBu)₂(S₂C₂H₂)₂ and Mo(CNMe)₂(bdt)₂ (372) can be prepared by reacting $MoCl_4(NCMe)_2$ with dithiolene (L) salts and co-ligands; these complexes all adopt trigonal prismatic structures.³⁷⁰



The reactions of Mo(CO)₂(S₂C₂R₂)₂ with R'O⁻ and NEt₄⁺ salts produce orange/brown NEt₄-[Mo(OR')(S₂C₂Me₂)₂] (R' = iPr, Ph, Ar, 2-Ad, C₆F₅) and NEt₄[Mo(OR')(S₂C₂Ph₂)₂] (R' = Ph, Ar) while reactions with NEt₄OH produce (NEt₄)₂[MoO(S₂C₂R₂)₂] (R = Me, Ph);^{371,515} related sily-loxo complexes are produced in the reactions of [MoOL₂]²⁻ (L = edt, bdt) with ClSi⁺BuPh₂.³⁷⁰ The complex anions all exhibit square pyramidal structures with basal dithiolene ligation (**373**). Kinetics and isotope-labeling studies of the OAT reactions of NEt₄[MoO(OR')(S₂C₂Ph₂)₂] with Se-, N-, and S-oxides are consistent with initial formation of NEt₄[MoO(OR')(S₂C₂Ph₂)₂] (cf. (**143**)) that decay by internal redox to the final product, NEt₄[MoO(S₂C₂Ph₂)₂]. These complexes and reactions are excellent models for the dmso reductases.³⁷¹ The large negative potentials required to reduce NEt₄[Mo(OR')(S₂C₂R₂)₂] account for the absence of Mo^{III} enzyme states. The reactions of Mo(CO)₂(S₂C₂R₂)₂ with thiolates and selenolates are more complicated and two types of product, salts of [Mo(ER')(CO)(S₂C₂R₂)₂]⁻ (R = Me, ER' = SPh, SePh; R = Me, Ph, ER' = SeC₆H₂ⁱPr₃-2,4,6; S = SeC₆H₂ⁱPr₃-2,4,6; ⁵¹⁵ or [Mo(ER')(S₂C₂R₂)₂]⁻ (R = Me, Ph, ER' = SC₆H₂ⁱPr₃-2,4,6; R = Me, ER' = S-2-Ad, Se-2-Ad)^{371,515} are isolated depending on ligand and conditions. The carbonyl anions exhibit trigonal prismatic structures (**374**) while the non-carbonyl complexes are square pyramidal (**373**). Molybdenum K- and L_{2,3}-edge X-ray absorption spectra of the compounds have been reported.^{365,841} Blue/green Tp^{*}MoX(S₄) (X = F, Cl, Br, NCS) (Section 4.7.4.5) react with alkynes to yield mono(dithiolene) complexes such as structurally characterized Tp^{*}Mo(NCS){S₂C₂(CO₂Me)₂}.

Trigonal prismatic tris(dithiolene) complexes, including representatives from (216)–(220) (n = 2) are also well known.⁵ These are typically prepared by reacting a ligand salt or precursor mixture with $[MoS_4]^{2-512,514,744}$ or $MoCl_5^{655}$ or by reduction of Mo^{VI} or Mo^V counterparts. Alternative

syntheses include the reaction of MoO₂(acac)₂ with H₂qdt in 98% H₂SO₄, followed by hydrolytic workup and cation exchange to give Cat₂[Mo(qdt)₃] (Cat = PPh₄⁺, NEt₄⁺).⁸⁴³ As noted previously, complexes of this type are typically members of a reversible three-membered electron-transfer series [Mo(dithiolene)₃]^{0/1-/2-}. Trigonal prismatic structures have been confirmed by the X-ray structures of (PPh₄)₂[Mo{S₂C₂(CO₂Me)₂}] (ϕ 10.6°),⁷⁴⁴ (NBu₄)₂[Mo(dmit)₃] (ϕ 11°),⁶⁵⁵ (PPh₄)₂[Mo(qdt)₃] (ϕ 4.5°),⁸⁴³ (NEt₄)₂[Mo{S₂C₂(CF₃)₂}] (ϕ 106°),⁵¹⁴ Fc₂[Mo{S₂C₂(CF₃)₂}] (ϕ 0°),⁶⁵³ and (NEt₄)₂[Mo(S₂C₂Me₂)₃] (ϕ 2.6°).⁵¹¹ A spectroelectrochemical study of [Mo(mnt)₃]^{*n*-} species has probed the nature of highly reduced [Mo(mnt)₃]^{*n*-} (*n* = 3, 4).⁸⁴⁴ The qdt ring nitrogens of (PPh₄)₂[Mo(qdt)₃] undergo reversible protonation reactions that impact markedly on electrochemical behavior.⁸⁴⁵ Finally, red, diamagnetic (NBu₄)Na[Mo{O₂CC(S)Ph₂-*O*,*S*}]·H₂O·MeOH crystallizes from partially neutralized solutions of (NBu₄)₂[MoO₂{O₂CC(S)Ph₂}] and HO₂CC(SH)Ph₂ (176); the anion exhibits a trigonal prismatic structure (ϕ 4.7°) and is readily oxidized to the Mo^V analog.⁶⁵⁶

4.7.4.6.6 Complexes containing nitrogen/oxygen/sulfur-donor ligands

Paramagnetic *trans*-MoCl₂L (L = acen, salen, salophen, and Bu₄salophen, (**375**)–(**378**)) precipitate when MoCl₄(NCMe)₂ is reacted with LH₂/NBu₃ in thf.^{846,847} The acen⁸⁴⁶ and Bu₄salophen⁸⁴⁷ complexes both exhibit octahedral structures although the N₂O₂ equatorial girdle of the latter is tetrahedrally distorted. Reaction of *trans*-MoCl₂(salophen) thf with Bz₂Mg produces brown Mo(Bz)₂(salophen), while reaction with MesMgBr results in oxidation to Mo^V and arylation at Mo *and* the ligand, producing green–brown Mo(Mes)(Mes₂salophen) (Mes₂salophen = (**379**)). The geometry of the latter is "square pyramidal" with an apical mesityl group.⁸⁴⁷ Pentadentate bis(hydrazone) ligands are also observed to form pentagonal bipyramidal complexes of the type MoCl₂L.⁸⁴⁸



Reaction of pyrimidine-2-thiol/NEt₃ with MoCl₄(thf)₂ in thf produces green-brown Mo(pymS)₄ that features bidentate pyrimidine-2-thiolate (pymS) ligands and a dodecahedral structure. The ligands can be protonated by HBF₄·OEt₂ or methylated by Me₃OBF₄ to produce intensely colored [Mo(RpymS)₄](BF₄)₄ (R = H, Me). Electrochemical and spectroscopic data for these and related compounds have been reported.⁸⁴⁹ Silylated pyridine-2-thiol complexes such as Mo(SC₅H₃N-3-SiMe₃)₄ are also known.

4.7.5 MOLYBDENUM(III) COMPLEXES

In contrast to the plethora of Cr^{III} complexes, mononuclear Mo^{III} species are rare due to their susceptibility to oxidation and proclivity for dinucleation. However, like their Cr^{III} counterparts they are almost invariably octahedral in geometry and paramagnetic due to a high-spin d^3 electron configuration. Halide complexes dominate this oxidation state and *mer*-trihalide species are heavily represented. Consequently, halide complexes are discussed ahead of other species.³

4.7.5.1 Halide and Cyanide Complexes

Most Mo^{III} complexes contain halide ligands and those bearing easily displaced solvent ligands are key starting materials. Indeed, as shown in Scheme 16, most "roads" in Mo^{III}

chemistry lead to or from *mer*-MoX₃(sol)₃ species (boxed). It is convenient to discuss the majority of halide complexes under a single heading, working from hexahalides down to dihalides. Other Mo^{III} complexes, many bearing halide co-ligands, are then discussed under the usual ligand categories.



Scheme 16

A convenient synthesis of $(NH_4)_3[MoCl_6]$ from ammonium molybdate and Sn in hydrochloric acid has been reported in *Inorg. Synth. (Vol. 29, p. 127)*. A related synthesis and the X-ray structure and catalytic properties of $(dppeH_2)_3[MoCl_6]_2 \cdot 12H_2O$ have been reported.⁸⁵⁰ Hexahalo complexes are photochemically active and the absorption and luminescence spectra of K₃[MoX₆] $(X = Cl^- (\lambda \ 1,095 \text{ nm}, \ \tau \ 480 \text{ ns})$,⁸⁵¹ NCS⁻ $(\lambda \ 1,350 \text{ nm}, \ \tau \ 760 \text{ ns})$,⁸⁵² have been probed by magneto-optical studies of Mo^{III} doped in Cs₂NaYCl₆.⁸⁵³ Stepwise exchange of the halide ligands of $(pyH)_3[MoX_6]$ by pyridine, followed by cation metathesis, yields salts of $[MoX_5py]^{2-}$, *cis/trans*-[MoCl₄py₂]⁻, and ultimately *mer*-MoX₃py₃.⁸⁵⁴⁻⁸⁵⁶ The many structurally characterized compounds in this class include: $(Cat)_2[MoCl_5py]$ (Cat = NH₂Me₂⁺, NMe₄⁺, pyH⁺), *cis*-Rb[MoCl₄py₂]·H₂O, *cis*-PPh₄[MoBr₄py₂], *trans*-Cat[MoCl₄py₂] (Cat = C₁₀H₉N₂⁺, NH₄⁺), and *trans*-[MoCl₂py₄](Br₃). Improved syntheses for MoCl₃(thf)₃ have been reported. The reduction of readily prepared

Improved syntheses for MoCl₃(thf)₃ have been reported. The reduction of readily prepared MoCl₄(OEt₂)₂^{789,790} by Sn in thf offers a convenient alternative⁷⁸⁸ to traditional syntheses employing nitrile and thf complexes (see *Inorg. Synth., Vol. 28, p. 36*). The X-ray structure of MoCl₃(OEt₂)₃, prepared by reducing MoCl₄(η^2 -PhC==CPh) by sodium naphthalide in thf, has been determined.⁸⁵⁷ It is relatively unstable and is readily converted to edge- and face-shared bioctahedral species in dichloromethane.⁸⁵⁸ Reliable syntheses for MoBr₃(thf)₃, by bromine oxidation of MoBr₂(CO)₄ in thf⁸⁵⁹ or dissolution of MoBr₄ in thf,⁷⁸² and of MoI₃(thf)₃,⁸⁶⁰ by iodine oxidation of Mo(CO)₃(C₇H₈) or Mo₂I₄(CO)₈, are also available (see *Inorg. Synth., Vol. 32*, *p. 198*). Iodine oxidation of MoI₂(CO)₃(NCMe)₂ provides a convenient route to air-sensitive, redbrown *mer*-MoI₃(NCMe)₃,⁸⁶¹ the propionitrile analog being a minor product in the reaction of [MoI₂(thf)_n]_x with NCEt. The X-ray structures of (all *mer*) MoI₃(thf)₃,⁸⁶⁰ MoI₃(NCMe)₃,⁸⁶¹ and MoI₃(NCEt)₃⁸⁶² have been determined. The chloride, *mer*-MoCl₃(NCMe)₃, is conveniently prepared by reducing MoCl₄(thf)₂]⁻ may be generated by reducing MoCl₄(thf)₂ with Zn metal in alcohol in the presence of base followed by cation metathesis. These compounds undergo ligand exchange producing, e.g., salts of [MoCl₄(PMe₂Ph)₂]⁻, [MoCl₄(dppe)]⁻, and [MoCl₄(py)₂]^{-.863} The reactions of MoX₃(sol)₃ with halides also produce Cat[MoX₄(sol)₂] species, e.g., Cat[MoX₄(thf)₂] (X = Cl, Br, I),⁸⁶⁴ and the X-ray structure of *trans*-PPh₄[MoCl₄(thf)₂] has been determined.⁸⁶³ A compound containing a cyano–Mo¹¹¹ complex, [Mn¹¹L]₆[Mo¹¹¹(CN)₇][Mo^{1V}(CN)₈]₂·19.5H₂O (L = N₅-donor), has also been reported.⁷⁹⁷

4.7.5.2 Complexes Containing Nitrogen-donor Ligands

4.7.5.2.1 Ammine, cyclam, and related complexes

Few ammine–Mo^{III} complexes have been reported. Treatment of MoCl₃(thf)₃ with NH₃, followed by triflic acid, yields yellow *fac*-Mo(OTf)₃(NH₃)₃;⁸⁶⁵ halide derivatives, *fac*-MoX₃(NH₃)₃ (X = Cl, Br, I), can be prepared by metathesis.⁸⁶⁶ The air-sensitive, paramagnetic (μ_B 3.61–4.75) halides display spectral bands due to spin-forbidden ${}^{4}A_{2g} \rightarrow {}^{2}T_{2g}$ (λ 649, 660, 690 nm, respectively) and spin-allowed ${}^{4}A_{2g} \rightarrow {}^{4}T_{2g}$ (Δ_{o} , λ 405, 420, 450 nm, respectively) and ${}^{4}A_{2g} \rightarrow {}^{4}T_{1g}$ transitions (ca. 350 nm). Complexes of the type MoCl₃(NH₂R)₃, NH₃R[MoCl₄(NH₂R)] (R = Et, Pr, ^tBu, Cy), and (NH₂Et₂)_{*n*-3}[MoCl_{*n*}(NHEt₂)_{6-*n*}] (*n*=4, 5) are formed in the reactions of Mo₂Cl₆(thf)₃ with amines.^{867,868} Reaction of MoCl₃(thf)₃ with cyclam (and selected methyl derivatives) in refluxing thf produces *cis*-[MoCl₂(cyclam)]Cl that reacts with triflic acid forming [Mo(OTf)₂(cyclam)]OTf, a source of [Mo(OH₂)₂(cyclam)]³⁺ in solution. Green *cis*-[MoCl₂(cyclam)]Cl exhibits a distorted octahedral structure and spin-allowed transitions at 370 nm and 310 nm.⁸⁶⁹ A structurally related complex, *cis*-[MoCl₃(thf)₃ and 1,4,8,12-tetraazacyclopentadecane ([15]aneN₄).⁸⁷⁰ Complexes of imidazole and its derivatives (L), viz., MoX₃L₃ (X = Cl, Br, NCS), have been partially characterized⁸⁷¹ and the X-ray structures of PPh₄[MoCl₄(bpy)] and *mer*-MoBr₃(1,3-thiazole-*N*)₃ determined.

4.7.5.2.2 Triaza and tris(pyrazolyl) ligand complexes

Oxidation of (104) by SOCl₂, Br₂, or HI produces paramagnetic (μ_B 4.7–3.9) (122) (X = Cl, Br, I; R = Me,^{325 i}Pr²⁵⁷); a thiocyanate analog is also known³²⁵ (Scheme 6). Dinuclear Mo^{III} species form with less sterically hindered triazacyclononane and triazacyclododecane ligands.⁵⁹⁴ The phosphorescence of (Me₃tcn)MoX₃ (X = Cl, Br, I), MoCl₃py₃, and [Tp*MoCl₃]⁻ is assigned to the { ${}^{2}E_{g},{}^{2}T_{1g}$ } $\rightarrow {}^{4}A_{2g}$ transition, excited at ca. 1,050–1,250 nm. Complexes (122) undergo reversible electrochemical³²⁵ and (ir)reversible photochemical oxidations to produce [(Me₃tcn)MoX₃]⁺ (380) and [(Me₃tcn)MoOX₂]⁺ (246).⁸⁷² Related complexes, (¹Bu₃tch)MoX₃ (X = Cl, Br, see (105) for ligand structure), may be similarly prepared.²⁶⁰ Oxidation of Tm*Mo(CO)₃ with SOCl₂, Br₂, or I₂/HI provides access to Tm*MoX₃ (X = Cl, Br, I). These undergo a reversible oxidation to Mo^{IV} species and possess distorted octahedral structures, as evident from the X-ray structure of Tm*MoI₃.²⁶² Oxidation of NEt₄[Tp*Mo(CO)₃] with thiuram disulfides produces orange, paramagnetic (μ_B ca. 3.9) Tp*Mo(S₂CNR₂)₂ (R = Me, Et), containing both mono- and bidentate dithiocarbamate ligands.⁸⁷³

4.7.5.2.3 Tris(amido) complexes

Orange–red, air- and moisture-sensitive (1) is the key starting material for the chemistry summarized in Scheme 1.⁷⁹ The complex is conveniently prepared by reacting MoCl₃(thf)₃ with Li(N-RAr)(OEt₂) in diethyl ether under an argon atmosphere;⁸⁰ relatives such as Mo(N^tBuPh)₃, ^{85,572} Mo{N(Ad)Ar}₃,⁸⁶ Mo{N(2-Ad)Ar}₃,⁸¹ Mo{NR(C₆H₄F-4)}₃,⁸³ and Mo{N^tBu(C₆H₄F-4)}₃,⁵⁷² may be similarly prepared but the reaction is not universal.⁵⁷² Three-coordinate (1) exhibits a trigonal planar structure with d(Mo–N) 1.960(7)–1.977(7) Å and \angle (N–Mo–N) ca. 120°; the nitrogen atoms are also trigonal planar with like substituents in the same hemispheres.⁸⁵ Related structures have been established for Mo{N(Ad)Ar}³⁶ and Mo{N(2-Ad)Ar}₃.⁸¹ The steric bulk of the ligands is critically important in preventing dinucleation and the formation of Mo≡Mo bonded species.⁸⁹ The complexes are paramagnetic (μ_B 3.4–3.9) consistent with an $a(n)^1 e(n)^2$ configuration.⁸⁵ Interestingly, a cyclometallated resting state (**381**) is observed for the *i*-propyl "analog." This paramagnetic (μ_B 2.1) monohydride exhibits a five-coordinate structure with a side-on bonded metallaziridine ligand.⁸⁷ Chemically, it behaves as a source of Mo(NⁱPrAr)₃, the hydride migrating back to carbon during the course of reactions. The complex induces the cleavage of N₂ (Section 4.7.2.2.1) and reductive coupling of nitriles, and binds Ph₂C=O and PhC≡CPh in a side-on η^2 fashion.⁸⁷ Related Mo^{III} complexes include brown, paramagnetic (2) with ν (CO) 1,797 cm⁻¹ (Scheme 1).¹⁵ Attempts to prepare analogous Mo(N₃N) complexes have to date failed. However, Mo^{IIII} complexes such as MoL(N₃N) (L = CO (**16**), N₂ (**43**), RNC (**301**), C₂H₄ (**382**)),

 $[Mo(N_2)(N_3N)]_2[\mu$ -Mg(thf)₂] (42) (Scheme 2) and MoL{N(CH₂CH₂NC₆F₅)₃} (L=CO, RNC) have been described.²¹ Also, a carbonyl complex (383) containing a "tren" ligand modified by net insertion of COMe into an N—Si bond, has been produced in the reaction of (14) (R = Me) with CO.⁸⁷⁴ The susceptibility of N₃N³⁻ to undesired side reactions has encouraged the study of N(CH₂CH₂NAr)₃³⁻ (Ar = aryl) complexes, and dinitrogen, diazenido, and hydrazido complexes are known.

4.7.5.2.4 Phthalocyanine complexes

Reaction of bromine-activated MoOPc (**384**) or MoNPc (**385**) with molten PPh₃/PPNBr yields purple *trans*-PPN[MoBr₂Pc] (**386**) (Scheme 11). The paramagnetic (μ_B 3.84) compound undergoes metal- then Pc-centered reductions and metal-centered oxidations. The anion has an octahedral geometry with d(Mo-N) 2.034(10)Å and d(Mo-Br) 2.588(1)Å. Spectral studies of the compound confirmed the existence of exotic trip-multiplet transitions.⁸⁷⁵

4.7.5.3 Complexes Containing Phosphorus-donor Ligands

Chloro phosphine Mo^{III} complexes are produced by ligand exchange at PPh₄[MoCl₄(thf)₂] or by phosphine reduction and ligand exchange at MoCl₄(thf)₂.⁸⁷⁶ The X-ray structures of *trans*-PPh₄[MoCl₄(PR₃)₂] (PR₃ = PMePh₂, PMe₂Ph, PEt₃), *cis*-PHEt₂Ph[MoCl₄(PEt₂Ph)₂], (PHMe₂Ph)₂[MoCl₅(PMe₂Ph)], and *trans*-MoCl₃(NCMe)(PEtPh₂)₂ have been determined by Cotton and Vidyasagar.⁸⁷⁶ Orange, PMe₄[MoCl₄(PMe₃)₂], produced by decomposition of Mo(η^3 -C₃H₅)₂(PMe₃)₃ in CH₂Cl₂, has also been structurally characterized.⁸⁷⁷ Mononuclear species isolated from the iodide/phosphine/Mo^{III} system are shown in Scheme 16; the structures of *mer*-MoI₃(PMe₂Ph)₂(OPMe₂Ph) and *trans*-PHEt₂Ph[MoI₄(PEt₂Ph)₂] have been determined.⁸⁷⁸

Bidentate dppe reacts with MoX₃(thf)₃ to produce paramagnetic (μ_B 3.13–3.81) *mer*-MoX₃ (dppe)(thf) (X = Cl, Br, I), the iodide being crystallographically characterized. The thf is readily displaced by NCMe or PMe₃ and MoI₃(dppe)(PMe₃) adopts a rare *fac* structure (cf. *mer*-MoI₃(PMe₃)₃).⁸⁵⁹ Tridentate and potentially tetradentate phosphines react with MoX₃(thf)₃ to produce yellow *mer*-MoCl₃L (L = bdmp, bdpp,^{879,880} tdea, tdep⁸⁸¹) and *mer*-MoBr₃(tdea);⁸⁸² several of these have been structurally characterized. Oxidation of *trans*-MoCl₂(dmpe)₂ with AgPF₆ or SnCl₂ yields paramagnetic *trans*-[MoCl₂(dmpe)₂](BF₄)₃, produced by electrochemical oxidation of MoCl₂(dppe)₂, has been reported and variations in the M—P and M—Cl distances in this and related Re complexes have been interpreted in terms of π -effects.⁸⁸³ Finally, chemical oxidation of *trans*-Mo(SR)₂(dppe)₂ (R = alkyl, C₆F₅, C₆H₄X-4) produces rare EPR-active, low-spin *d*³ (μ_B ca. 1.3) complexes, [Mo(SR)₂L₂]⁺, isolated as BPh₄⁻ salts.⁸⁸⁴

4.7.5.4 Complexes Containing Oxygen-donor Ligands

Light-green crystals of Na₃[Mo(HCO₂)₆] (λ 383, 357 nm) precipitate over a period of days from solutions of (NH₄)₂[MoCl₅(OH₂)] in 7 M NaHCO₂/HCO₂H.⁸⁸⁵ The compound contains an octahedral anion featuring six monodentate formate ligands with d(Mo–O)_{av} 2.113 Å. It is a precursor for cesium molybdenum alum, Cs[Mo(OH₂)₆](SO₄)₂·6H₂O, a β -alum containing a perfectly octahedral hexaaqua-Mo^{III} cation (point symmetry S₆, d(Mo–O) 2.089(1)Å).⁸⁸⁶ The trigonal planar structure of the Mo(OH₂) units, confirmed by neutron diffraction, provides strong evidence for the presence of structurally significant Mo–O d_{π} - p_{π} interactions.⁸⁸⁷ Indeed, a beautiful, single-crystal polarized neutron diffraction study of Cs[Mo(OD₂)₆](SO₄)₂·6D₂O has revealed anisotropic spin transfer from the metal to the ligand, principally through d_{π} - p_{π} interactions normal to the plane of the water molecules.⁸⁸⁸ The X-ray structure of (pyH)₂[Mo-Cl₅(OH₂)] has been determined. Well-known Mo(acac)₃ continues to demand the attention of parties interested in epoxidation, hydrotreating, packaging, composites, ballistics, and waste conversion technologies.



4.7.5.5 Complexes Containing Sulfur-donor Ligands

Reactions of MoCl₃(thf)₃ with thioethers produce MoCl₃(ttcn)⁸⁸⁹ and MoCl₃(ttob) (**387**)⁸⁹⁰ but ligand dissociation thwarts their derivatization.⁸⁹⁰ Reaction of MoCl₃(thf)₃ with neat tetrahydrothiophene (tht) produces octahedral *mer*-MoCl₃(tht)₃ that reacts with alkynes to give pseudooctahedral *mer*,*trans*-MoCl₃(tht)₂(η^2 -PhC \equiv CR) (R = Me, Et). These are active catalysts for the selective polymerization and cyclotrimerization of alkynes.⁸⁹¹ A bromo derivative, *trans*-(SMe₃)-[MoBr₄(SMe₂)₂], is generated by reduction of MoBr₄ using excess SMe₂.⁸⁹²

A unique homoleptic molybdenum thiolate, $Mo(\eta^6-dmpt)(dmpt)_2$ (**388**), is produced in the reaction of MoCl₃(thf)₃ with Li(2,6-dimesitylphenylthiolate) in diethyl ether at 0 °C. The paramagnetic ($\mu_B = 3.6$), pseudo-tetrahedral complex features two monodentate thiolates, the third being bound through sulfur and π -arene interactions.⁸⁹³ The investigation of Mo^{III} and Mo^{IV} dithiocarbamates as oil additives and lubricant precursors continues.

4.7.6 MOLYBDENUM(II) COMPLEXES

Molybdenum(II) chemistry is dominated by six- to eight-coordinate mononuclear complexes and quadruply bonded Mo₂⁴⁺ species. Seven-coordinate complexes having a stable 18-electron count are most common. Easily interconvertible capped octahedral, capped trigonal prismatic, pentagonal bipyramidal, and 4:3 structures are observed for species of this type; they are frequently fluxional in solution. Examples of coordinatively and electronically unsaturated, six-coordinate, 16-electron complexes are also well represented. Dicarbonyl complexes of this type usually exhibit distorted octahedral structures with unusually large C—Mo—C angles (ca. 106°) and small *trans* X—Mo—X angles (140–150°). Work in this area has been reviewed in *Comprehensive Organometallic Chemistry*⁶ and elsewhere.⁸⁹⁴ A report of tetrahedral "MoCl₂(PMe₃)₂" was challenged by Cotton and Schmid⁸⁹⁵ leading to the compound's reformulation as the corresponding Zn complex.⁸⁹⁶ The organometallic chemistry of Mo^{II} is extensive and the reader is referred to *Comprehensive Organometallic Chemistry* for a description thereof.⁶

4.7.6.1 Complexes Containing Carbon-donor Ligands

4.7.6.1.1 Alkylidyne and acyl complexes

The alkylidyne complexes, $L_nMo(CR)$ ($L_n = Tp(CO)_2$, (bpy)Br(CO)_2; R, e.g., Ph derivatives), react with one equivalent of propylene sulfide to form thioacyl complexes, $L_nMo(\eta^2-SCR)$. In the case of $Tp(CO)_2Mo(\eta^2-SCC_6H_4Me-4)$ conversion into dithiocarboxylate, mixed thioselenocarboxylate/thiolatocarbene, α -thiolatoalkyl, and α, α -bis(thiolato)alkyl species has been demonstrated.⁸⁹⁷ More recently, related thiocarboxamide and alkoxythiocarbonyl chemistry has been reported.⁸⁹⁸ Moreover, $Mo(CO)L_2$ (L = depe, dppe) react with HC(S)NMe₂ to produce thiocarboxamide hydrides (**389**) that convert at 125 °C to aminomethylidyne hydrosulfides (**390**).⁸⁹⁹

The chemistry of unusual agostic and η^2 -acyl complexes is defined in Scheme 17.⁹⁰⁰ Ligand exchange at Mo{ η^2 -C(O)R}Cl(CO)(PMe_3)_3 (R = Me (**391**), CH₂SiMe_3) produces Mo{C(O)-Me}L(CO)(PMe_3)_2 (L = dithio acid or acac derivative) ((**392**)–(**395**)).^{901,902} the silved derivatives converting to methyl counterparts through C—Si bond heterolysis.⁹⁰³ The equilibria between (**392**) and the phosphonium xanthates (**395**) lie well to the right except when R = Me or CH₂CF₃ (permitting isolation of (**395**)) (other phosphonium species are described in Sections 4.7.4.3.4(ii) and 4.7.6.5.1). The X-ray structures of (**393**) (R₂ = Me₂,⁹⁰³ C₅H₁₀⁹⁰¹), (**395**) (R = CH₂CF₃)⁹⁰¹ and

Mo{ η^2 -C(O)CH₂SiMe₃}(S₂CNMe₂)(CO)(PMe₃)₂⁹⁰² confirm the presence of an agostic interaction and its enhancement by electron-donating co-ligands.⁹⁰² Complexes (**392**) (and related dppe species) are unstable with respect to (**396**), containing η^2 -alkoxythiocarbonyl and monothioacetate ligands. Chemical, spectroscopic, and structural evidence supports the translocation of a sulfur atom through C—S bond breaking/making processes. Reaction of (**396**) with KS₂COR' and CO permits the isolation of (**397**) and (**398**), respectively, the structural characterization of octahedral (**397**) (R = R' = ^tBu) and (**398**) (R = ⁱPr) confirming the presence of the η^2 -alkoxythiocarbonyl ligands.⁹⁰⁴ The acac derivatives (**394**) are unstable with respect to disproportionation.⁹⁰¹ Interestingly, the pyrrole-based dithiocarbamate and Bp and Bp* derivatives (**399**) contain η^2 - rather than agostic acyl ligands.⁹⁰⁵ A variety of species bearing bidentate phosphine (**400**) and/or elaborated acyl ligands (**401**) have been prepared therefrom.⁹⁰⁵





The Bp and Bp* complexes (402) (cf. 399/401) are central to some intriguing reactions shown in Scheme 18 (for CN^tBu only).^{900,906–908} These include: (i) ligand exchange at (402) to produce isocyanide (403) and carbonyl (404) complexes, (ii) thermal isomerization of (403) to give iminoacyl-carbonyls (405), (iii) intramolecular acyl and iminoacyl hydroborations producing (406)–(408) and (409), respectively, and (iv) generation of species with nonclassical B–H–Mo interactions (410). The chemistry in Scheme 18 is supported by spectroscopic and kinetics studies and the X-ray structures for key compounds, e.g., (403) and (405) (R = CH₂SiMe₃),⁹⁰⁷ (408),⁹⁰⁶ and (410) (R = Me).⁹⁰⁰ Red Mo(η^2 -OCCH₂^tBu)X(PMe₃)₄ (X = Cl, Br) are formed in the reactions of Mo(CO₃)(CO)(PMe₃)₄ with ^tBuCH₂MgX; derivatives of these unstable species include Mo(η^2 -OCCH₂^tBu)Cl(CO)₂(η^2 -OCR) (L = Tp, Tp*; R = Me, Et, Ph), are produced in the reactions of NEt₄[LMo(CO)₃] with, e.g., RI and RCOBr.^{910,911} The elaboration of the acyl ligand by

deprotonation and electrophilic attack at the resultant enolate has been extensively explored by Templeton and co-workers.⁹¹¹



Scheme 18

4.7.6.1.2 Carbonyl halide complexes

Work in this expansive area has been reviewed by Baker^{894,912} and the literature cited herein is selective rather than exhaustive. The pivotal synthons in this area, $MoX_2(CO)_3(NCMe)_2$ (411; $X_2 = I_2$, Br₂, ICl, IBr), are prepared by low-temperature reactions of $Mo(CO)_3(NCMe)_3$ with halogens or interhalogens,^{913,914} ligand exchange providing access to nitrile derivatives.⁹¹⁵ Arche-typal $MoI_2(CO)_3(NCMe)_2$ adopts a distorted capped octahedral structure with CO atop a (CO)₂I-face.⁸⁶¹ Complexes (411) react with a wide variety of neutral and anionic mono-, bi-, and polydentate, C, N, P, As, Sb, Bi, O, and S-donor ligands, leading to seven-coordinate mono-and dinuclear species.⁹¹² The catalytic properties of the complexes have been the focus of more recent studies.^{916,917}

Alkynes react with (**411**) to form bis(alkyne) complexes, *cis,trans,cis*-MoX₂(CO)(NCMe)-(η^2 -RC \equiv CR')₂ (**412**; R = R' = Me, Et, Ph; R/R' = Me/Ph), possessing pseudo-octahedral structures with *cis*-aligned alkynes bound *trans* to halide.^{918,919} These react with N- and P-donor ligands to form mixed-ligand complexes such as *cis*-MoI₂(CO)(Me₂phen)(η^2 -PhC \equiv CPh), *cis,trans*-MoI₂(CO)(NCMe){P(OPh)₃}(η^2 -MeC \equiv CPh) (**413**), *cis,cis*-MoI₂(CO){P(OMe)₃}(η^2 -MeC \equiv CMe) (**414**), *cis,trans*-MoI₂{P(OPh)₃}(2CO)(η^2 -MeC \equiv CPh) (**415**), and *cis*-MoI₂(CO)(dppe)(η^2 -EtC \equiv CEt); again, the CO and alkyne ligands adopt a *cis*-aligned configuration in these pseudo-octahedral complexes.⁹¹⁹⁻⁹²¹ Related species, *cis,trans*-MoX₂(PR₃)₂(CO)(η^2 -RC \equiv CR') (cf. (**415**)), are generated when MoX₂(CO)_n(PR₃)₂(NCMe) (n = 1, 2) react with alkynes.^{922,923} Brown Mo(OTf)₂(CO)(PPh₃)₂ mec \equiv CR) (R = Me, Ph), respectively; bis(alkyne) complexes such as [Mo(OTf)(CO)(PPh₃)₂(MeC \equiv CMe)₂]OTf are also accessible.⁹²⁴

N-donor ligands including pyridine, imidazole, pyrazole (L), RN=CHCH=NR ($R={}^{1}Bu$, Cy Ph, C₆H₄OMe), bpy, phen (L₂), and their various derivatives react with (**411**) to form MoX₂-(CO)₃(NCMe)L, MoX₂(CO)₃L₂ and [MoI(CO)₃L₃]I;⁹²⁵⁻⁹²⁷ the mono-substituted species dimerize

 $[Mo(\mu-I)X(CO)_3L]_2$. Yellow/orange $MoBr_2L(CO)_2$, $MoI_2L(CO)_3$ (L = Bm, Bm*. to $H_2C(Me_3pz)_2$), and related complexes are formed when (411) reacts with L or when Mo(CO)₄L react with X_2 . The dicarbonyls are paramagnetic with contact-shifted NMR spectra, while the tricarbonyls are diamagnetic; Bm*MoBr₂(CO)₂ (416) exhibits an octahedral geometry.⁹²⁸ The complexes, $MoX_2(CO)_3(NCMe)(ER_3)$ and $MoX_2(CO)_3(ER_3)_2$ (ER₃ = PPh₃ etc., AsPh₃, SbPh₃, BiPh₃), ^{929,930} as well as mixed-ligand⁹³¹ and phosphite analogs⁹³² have been synthesized and characterized; the mono- and disubstituted complexes slowly convert to $[Mo(\mu-I)X(CO)_3L]_2$ and PR₃H[MoI₃(CO)₃(ER₃)] (more basic phosphine is protonated), respectively.⁹²⁹⁻⁹³¹ Flash photolysis of MoBr₂(CO)₃(PR₃)₂ generates *cis,cis,trans*-MoBr₂(CO)₂(PR₃)₂ (that recombine with CO)⁹³³ while decarbonylation in NCMe produces $MoX_2(CO)_2(NCMe)(PR_3)_2$ (e.g., X = Br; $PR_3 = PMePh_2$, PEtPh₂); the latter convert to $MoX_2(CO)_2(PR_3)_2$ in other solvents.⁹³⁴ Complexes such as $MoBr_2(CO)_2L_2(PPh_3)$ (L = PH₃; L₂ = bpy, dppm) and $[MoBr(CO)_2\{P(OCH_2)_3CMe\}_4]Br$ are formed when $MoBr_2(CO)_2(PPh_3)_2$ reacts with selected ligands; $MoBr_2(CO)_2(dppm)(PPh_3)$ adopts a bromide capped trigonal prismatic structure.⁹³⁵ A similar structure is observed for $MoI_2(CO)_2(dppm)(dppm-P)$, prepared by reacting $NEt_4[MoI_3(CO)_4]$ with dppm.⁹³⁶ However, $Mo(NCS)_2(CO)_2(dppm)(dppm-P)$, produced in the reaction of *fac/mer*-Mo(CO)_3(dppm)(dppm-P) with Hg(NCS)_2, exhibits an intermediate geometry.⁹³⁷ The structures of $MoX_2(CO)_3(R_2POPR_2)$ $(X = I, R = Ph; X = Br, R = C_6H_4Me-4)$, prepared by halogenation of tetracarbonyl-Mo⁰ species, are described as pentagonal bipyramidal with apical carbonyl ligands.⁹³⁸ The reaction of [MoI₂(CO)₄]₂ with smaller, more basic dmpm in refluxing toluene permits the isolation of a pentagonal bipyramidal (CO and I apical) monocarbonyl, MoI₂(CO)(dmpm)₂.⁹³⁹ Ready displacement of Bm* from Bm*MoBr₂(CO)₂ yields the phosphine complexes MoBr₂(CO)₂L_n (L = PMe₃, $P(OMe)_3$, n=3; L=dppm, dppe, n=2); MoBr₂(CO)₂(dppm)₂ exhibits an intermediate geometry and mono- and bidentate dppm ligands.⁹⁴⁰ The reactions of MoX₂(CO)₃(NCMe)(ER₃) with N-donors result in nitrile and/or iodide displacement giving complexes of the type MoX₂- $(CO)_{3}L(PR_{3})$ (L = py, pzH) or [MoI(CO)_{3}L]I (L = py_{2}, (pzH)_{2}, bpy, phen, etc).^{927,941,942} Orange, light-sensitive $MoBr_2(CO)_2L(dppm-P)$ (L = bpy, phen) are formed by reacting $MoBr_2(CO)_3L$ with dppm; irradiation produces green MoBr₂(CO)(bpy)(dppm) that serves as a starting material for $[MoBr(CO)(bpy)(dppm)L']BPh_4$ (L' = CO, PR₃ (R = H, OMe, O'Pr, OPh)) and [Mo(CO)-(bpy)(dppm){P(OCH₂)₃CMe}₂](BPh₄)₂; MoBr₂(CO)(bpy)(dppm) adopts a pentagonal bipyramidal structure, with equatorial bromo, dppm-P, P', and bpy-N-donor atoms.⁹⁴³ Diphosphazanes, $MoI_2(CO)_3[RN{P(OPh)_2}_2]$ (R = Me, Ph), are proposed to have pentagonal bipyramidal structures with carbonyl, iodide, and diphosphazane ligands at equatorial sites.⁹⁴⁴ The X-ray structure of MoI₂(CO)₂^{{i}PrN(PPh₂)(PPh(Me₂pz))} revealed an iodo capped trigonal prismatic geometry and confirmed coordination of the pyrazolyl β -nitrogen atom.⁹⁴⁵ Bidentate and tridentate phosphines have also been incorporated into complexes of the type $MoI_2(CO)_3\{Ph_2P(CH_2)_nPPh_2\}$ (n = 1-6) and MoI₂(CO)₃(bdpe); more recently, the syntheses and X-ray structures of mixed phosphite/phosphine complexes were reported.^{946,947}

Neutral O- and S-donor ligands such as OPPh₃, SPPh₃, and thiourea derivatives react with (**411**) or MoI₂(CO)₃(NCMe)(EPPh₃) forming complexes of the type MoI₂(CO)₃(NCMe)L, MoI₂ (CO)₃L₂, and MoI₂(CO)₃(EPPh₃)L (or μ -iodo complexes).^{948–950} Reactions of (**411**) (X = I) with phosphines, then acetylacetonates yield MoI(acac)(CO)₃(PPh₃) or MoI(acac)(CO)₂(PR₃)₂ (R = Ph, Et). The X-ray structure of MoI(acac)(CO)₂(PEt₃)₂ (**417**) revealed a pentagonal bipyramidal geometry.⁹⁵¹ The complexes MoI(CO)₃(LS₂CNR₂) may be prepared by reacting *in situ*-generated MoI₂(CO)₃(NCMe)L with NaS₂CNR₂ (L = PPh₃, AsPh₃, SbPh₃; R = Me, Et, Bz);⁹⁵² similar reactions have been demonstrated for ethyl xanthate and pyridine- and pyrimidine-2-thiolates.⁹⁵³ Reaction of (**411**) (X = I) with two equivalents of dithioacid ligand produces Mo(S₂CX)₂(CO)_n complexes; the most recent addition to this class, orange Mo{S₂P(OEt)₂}₂(PPh₃)(CO)₂, Mo{S₂P(OEt)₂}₂L(CO) (L = dppm, dppe), and MoOI(dppe){S₂P(OEt)₂}.⁹⁵⁴ Similar reactions with S₂CPCy₃ produce species of the type MoI₂(CO)₃(S₂CPCy₃), [Mo(CO)₃(S₂CPCy₃)₂ and [MoI(CO)₃(S₂CPCy₃)(PPh₃)]I.⁹⁵⁵ Unusual hydrides, MoH(S₂CX)₂(CO)₂(PMe₃)₂, and [MoI(CO)₃(S₂CPCy₃)(PPh₃)]I.⁹⁵⁵ Unusual hydrides, MoH(S₂CX)₂(CO)₂(PMe₃)₂, and Salts of the bidentate ligand.⁹⁵⁶ Neutral di- and tridentate S-donor ligands including RS(CH₂)₂SR (R = Ph, C₆H₄Me-4, C₆H₄F-4),⁹⁵⁷ ttn,⁹⁵⁷ and 2,5.8-trithia[9]orthocyclophane⁹⁵⁸ react with (**411**) to produce air-stable di- and tricarbonyls (**418**)–(**421**), respectively (structures inferred from W analogs). The alkyne derivatives, MoI₂(CO)(NCMe)(η^2 -RC≡CR)₂, also react with a variety of sulfur-donor ligands giving, e.g., (**422**)–(**425**).^{959,960}



4.7.6.2 Complexes Containing Nitrogen-donor Ligands

4.7.6.2.1 Imido, amido, and diazenido complexes

These are relatively rare for Mo^{II} and are treated collectively. The electrochemical reduction of *trans*-[Mo(NR)X(dppe)₂]X' (X = halide, R = alkyl, X' = X or BPh₄) in the absence of protons produces five-coordinate Mo(NR)(dppe)₂.⁶⁷⁹ Brown *cis,cis,trans*-Mo{1,2-(NH)₂-C₆H₄}(CO)₂(PPh₃)₂ (ν (CO) 1,913 cm⁻¹, 1,826 cm⁻¹) is produced in the reaction of MoBr₂(CO)₂-(PPh₃)₂ and 1,2-diaminobenzene under basic conditions. The six-coordinate complex is proposed to possess a pseudo-dodecahedral structure with two phenyl group hydrogens acting as "token ligands." Phosphine displacement is effected by PEt₃, P(OEt)₃, and dppe.⁹⁶¹ The reaction of MoCl₂(dmpe)₂ with LiNEt₂ at -78 °C is reported to produce orange *trans*-Mo(NEt₂)₂(dmpe)₂.⁶⁸⁴

3,5-Dimethylpyrazole-4- and antipyrene-4-diazonium salts react with TmMo(CO)₃, NEt₄[Tp-Mo(CO)₃], and Mo(CO)₄L (L = bpy, phen) producing red [TmMo(CO)₂(NNR)]BF₄, TpMo(CO)₂ (NNR), and [Mo(CO)₃L(NNR)]BF₄, respectively. The diazenido ligand in [TmMo(CO)₂{NN-(Me₂pz)}]BF₄ is bent with \angle (Mo–N–N) 164.5(8)°.⁹⁶² Complexes containing pyridinium-diazenido and chelating pyridylhydrazinium and pyridinediazenido ligands have been reported by Rose et al.⁹⁶³

4.7.6.2.2 Tris(pyrazolyl) and triaza ligand complexes

The reader is referred to *Comprehensive Organometallic Chemistry*⁶ for a description of alkyne, ketenyl, vinylidene, alkylidyne, and allyl Tp^x complexes prepared and exploited in elegant ligand elaborations and organic syntheses by Templeton, Liebeskind and others. Only selected "coordination chemistry" will be presented here. Halogen oxidation of NEt₄[TpMo(CO)₃] produces TpMoX(CO)₃ (X = Br, I) characterized by IR (3 ν (CO) for C_s symmetry), ¹H and ¹³C NMR spectroscopy and X-ray crystallography; TpMoBr(CO)₃ possesses a 4:3 piano stool⁹⁶⁴ (or alternatively, a capped octahedral⁹⁶⁵) structure. Oxidation of NEt₄[Tp*Mo(CO)₃] by PhICl₂ or I₂ yields unstable Tp*MoX(CO)₃ (ν (CO) ca. 2,025, 1,930 cm⁻¹), that convert to paramagnetic (μ_B 2.8–3.0)

Tp*MoX(CO)₂ (X = Cl, I; ν (CO) ca. 2,000, 1,922 cm⁻¹) upon standing.^{580,966} Tris(triazolyl)borate^{967,968} and W⁹⁶⁵ halocarbonyl complexes have also been prepared and structurally characterized. As originally reported by Trofimenko, seven-coordinate hydrides, Tp^xMo(CO)₃H, result from the protonation of [Tp^xMo(CO)₃]⁻. The hydride ligand of Tp*Mo(CO)₃H (ν (Mo–H) ca. 1,886 cm⁻¹, δ (Mo–¹H) –3.41) was located between a pair of CO ligands giving a 4:3 structure.⁹⁶⁹ The rates of the degenerate H⁺ and H transfers between Tp*Mo(CO)₃H, Tp*Mo(CO)₃, and NBu₄[Tp*Mo(CO)₃], as well as the Mo–H bond dissociation energies of various complexes, have been measured.^{969,970}

Halogenation of (104) yields salts of $[(R_3tcn)MoX(CO)_3]^+$ (121, R=H (tcn), Me, X=Br, I);^{325,971} all the cations are proposed to have the 4:3 piano stool geometry established in the case of $[(tcn)MoBr(CO)_3]ClO_4 \cdot H_2O$.⁹⁷¹ A hydrido complex, $[(tcn)MoH(CO)_3]^+$, results from oxidation of $(tcn)Mo(CO)_3$ by HCl(aq).⁹⁷¹ Related complexes, $[(^tBu_3tch)MoX(CO)_3]X_3$ (X = Br, I) and $[(^tBu_3tch)MoH(CO)_3]OTf$, have also been reported.²⁶⁰

4.7.6.2.3 Nitrosyl and nitrito complexes

Nitrosyl–Mo^{II} complexes of the type Tp^xMoXY(NO) ((**426**), Figure 2) have been described by McCleverty and co-workers. These are accessed via metathesis of Tp^xMoX₂(NO) (X = Cl, Br, I), prepared by halogenation of Tp^xMo(CO)₂(NO) (Tp^x = Tp* (*vide infra*)⁴ and to a lesser extent 4-R-Tp* (R = Me, Bu,⁹⁷² Bz⁹⁷³), B(4-Rp2)₄ (R = C₆H₄OMe-4, Cy),⁹⁷⁴ Tp^{Pr}, Tp', ^{975,976} and HB(pz-C₆H₄OMe-4)₃^{977,978}). The dihalides react smoothly with alcohols, phenols, alkyl- and arylamides, and thiols (with added base as necessary) generating the air- and water-stable, mono- (X \neq Y) and di-substituted (X = Y) complexes in Figure 2 and elsewhere.⁴ The monohalides serve as precursors for further mixed-ligand complexes; procedures for the synthesis of frequently used starting materials (X = I; Y = I, OEt, NHEt) can be found in *Inorg. Synth. (Vol. 23, p. 4)*. Recent additions to this class include: (i) complexes containing chiral ligands such as glucofuranose derivatives,⁹⁸¹ (+)/(-)-mentholate,⁹⁸² (+)/(-)-NHCH(Me)Ph,⁹⁸³ and (-)-cholesterol,⁹⁸⁰ (iii) cationic acetylacetonate derivatives, [Tp*Mo(acac)(NO)]⁺, isolated as triiodide salts,⁹⁸⁴ (iv) a variety of cyclic polyether⁹⁸⁵ and cyclophane⁹⁸⁶ derivatives, some containing 25(!)-membered chelate rings, (v) pentachalcogenido species, Tp*Mo(E₅)(NO) (E = S, Se),⁹⁸⁷ (vi) a rare dihydroxo



X = I, CI: Y = variously OH, OR (R = Me, Et, ⁱPr [CI], ^tBu, Hx, (CH₂)₃CI, (CH₂)₃Br [I], (CH₂)₂X, (CH₂)_nOH (n = 2,5,6), phenyl and benzyl derivatives etc.), NHR (R = Et [I], Pr, ⁱPr, Bu, ⁱBu, Hx, Ph, *p*-tol, *o*-tol, CHPh₂, C₃H₅, phenyl and benzyl derivatives etc.), NC₃H₆, NC₄H₈ [I], NC₅H₁₀ [I], NHNMe₂, NMe₂, N=CMe₂, SR (R = Et, Bu, Hx, C₁₆H₃₃, Bz, Ph, *p*-tol), (-)-mentholate [CI], (+)-mentholate, (+)-NHCH(Me)Ph [I], (-)-NHCH(Me)Ph, cholesterolate



Figure 2 Nitrosyl-Mo^{II} complexes of T_p^* .

complex, Tp*Mo(OH)₂(NO), structurally characterized as the H-honded bis(acetone) solvate $(d(Mo-O) \hat{1}.928(2) \text{ Å}), 988$ and (vii) structurally characterized dithiolene complexes, Tp*MoL(NO) $(L = bdt, tdt, S_2C_6H_2Cl_2-3,6)$, examined to define the electronic nature of biologically relevant Mo-dithiolene units.⁹⁸⁹ Complexes containing potentially bridging ligands have also been prepared as precursors and spectral benchmarks for di- and trinuclear species with interesting electronic, spectral, and nonlinear optical properties.^{990,991} Dozens of compounds have been structurally characterized and many of these are underlined in Figure 2 (where necessary, co-ligands are specified in square brackets); distorted octahedral structures with *facial* Tp* ligands and linear nitrosyls are invariable observed. The Mo-X/Y bond distances are shorter and the Mo-X/YY—C(R) angles wider than expected for singly bonded ligands, consistent with considerable p_{π^-} d_{π} bonding between these ligands and the electron-deficient [Tp*Mo(NO)]²⁺ center. The presence of linear NO⁺ ligands is confirmed by the observation of ν (NO) IR bands between 1,730 and $1,600 \text{ cm}^{-1}$. The intense colors of the complexes, ranging from blue (X = Cl, Y = OR) through green (X = I, Y = OR) to red (X = Y = OR) and orange (X = I, Y = NHR), also reflect facile $p_{\pi}-d_{\pi}$ LMCT. The complexes are readily reduced to 17-electron species and extensive electrochemical studies have been reported; reduction is sometimes reversible but more often pseudo-reversible or irreversible. Potentials are ligand dependent in the order: $I > Br > Cl > NC_4H_4 >$ SPh > OPh > NHPh.^{992–994} More subtle substituent and electronic effects have been probed by electrochemistry^{995–997} and ⁹⁵Mo NMR spectroscopy.⁹⁹⁸ Comparisons of the redox and electronic properties of Tp*MoOX₂ (Section 4.7.3.4.2(ii)) and Tp*MoX₂(NO) complexes have been presented. ^{999,1000} Like Tp*MoOX₂, the redox potentials of Tp*MoX₂(NO) species (and related Mo^I and Mo⁰ complexes) can be fine tuned over an impressive range of ca. 2,000 mV. Chemical reduction is associated with displacement of halide producing Tp*MoXL(NO) or $[Tp*MoL_2(NO)]^+$ (L = neutral ligand) (Section 4.7.7).

Nitrosylation of (104) by 0.5 M HNO₃ (R = H (tcn), ⁹⁷¹ Me, ¹⁰⁰¹) or NOBF₄ (R = Bz)¹⁰⁰² produces [(R₃tcn)Mo(CO)₂(NO)]⁺ ((427), Scheme 6), from which orange [(R₃tcn)MoX₂(NO)]⁺ (428), colorless (tcn)Mo(CN)₃(NO), and blue/green [(Me₃tcn)MoX(OEt)(NO)]⁺ are accessible.^{971,1001,1003} The preparation of [(Me₃tcn)MoCl(OMe)(NO)]PF₆ and addition of amines to [(Me₃tcn)MoBr₂(NO)]⁺ have been reported.¹⁰⁰⁴ Nitrosylation of MoO₃ in the presence of tcn yields structurally characterized [(tcn)MoCl(H₂NO)(NO)]CIO₄.³²⁷ Interestingly, hydroxo and oxo nitrosyl complexes such as [(¹Pr₃tcn)Mo(OH)₂(NO)]PF₆ (429) and (¹Pr₃tcn)MoO(OH)(NO) (430, formally an oxo–Mo^{II} species!) are produced in the reactions of [(¹Pr₃tcn)MoBr₂(NO)](Br₃) with H₂O.¹⁰⁰³ Other triazacyclononane—Mo^{II} chemistry is summarized in Section 4.7.6.2.2. Derivatives such as MoCl(OMe)₂L₂(NO) (L = py, L₂ = phen) may be obtained from MoCl(OMe)₂-(MeOH)₂(NO), prepared by nitrosylation of molybdate in refluxing methanol.¹⁰⁰⁵ Nitrosyl complexes of 1,5,9-triazacyclododecane are also known.⁵⁹⁴

An improved synthesis of yellow $MoCl_3(PMe_3)_3(NO)$ from $MoCl_3(PMe_3)_3$ and NO at low temperature has been reported.¹⁰⁰⁶ Reaction of $Mo(acac)_2(NO)_2$ with salicylaldehyde-2-mercaptoanil and PPh₃ in refluxing methanol produces octahedral Mo(SB)L(NO), possessing an apical nitrosyl, a *fac* tridentate Schiff base (SB), and a bidentate 2-hydroxyphenylbenzthiazolate(1-)-*O*,*N* ligand (L) formed upon Schiff base oxidation.¹⁰⁰⁷ The extensive nitrosyl chemistry of S₄-donor ligand complexes is summarized in Section 4.7.6.5.4. Nitrito–Mo species are unstable and appear to be limited to $Mo(NO_2)_2(CO)_2(PPh_3)_2$, prepared by metathesis of $MoBr_2(CO)_2(PPh_3)_2$ and NaNO₂ in methanol.¹⁰⁰⁸

4.7.6.2.4 Porphyrin and phthalocyanine complexes

Reduction of MoCl₂(por) (por = tpp, ttp) with Zn/Hg under an atmosphere of CO produces red, diamagnetic *cis*-Mo(por)(CO)₂ ((**431**), see Scheme 10(b), for por = ttp). A trigonal prismatic geometry with *cis* CO ligands staggered with respect to the Mo–N vectors is observed for Mo(ttp)(CO)₂. An additional ligand (L = 1-methylimidazole, py, OMe⁻, N₃⁻, $^{-}O_2$ CMe) is observed to bind *trans* to the CO ligands to form [Mo(por)(CO)₂L]^{*n*}. Displacement of the organometallic ligands from (**335**) or (**431**) produces *trans*-Mo(por)L₂ (**432**, L = py, 4-picoline); structurally characterized Mo(ttp)(py)₂ possesses an octahedral structure.^{776,1009} The metal–metal bonded dimer, [MoPc]₂, formed in the reaction of MoOPc with molten PPh₃, reacts with molten NBu₄CN producing unstable, red–brown, paramagnetic (μ_B =3.15) *trans*-(NBu₄)₂[Mo(CN)₂Pc] ((**433**), Scheme 11). The UV–vis–NIR spectrum of the complex is highly structured with an intense triplet–triplet transition at 7,780 cm⁻¹.⁵³⁰

4.7.6.3 Complexes Containing Phosphorus-donor Ligands

4.7.6.3.1 Halide complexes

Studies of complexes of the type *trans*-MoX₂P₄ (X = Cl, Br, I; P₄ = monodentate, bidentate, or tridentate phosphine ligand combinations) have continued.⁴ Red-purple, *trans*-MoCl₂L₄ (L = PMe₃, PMePh₂) can be prepared by Na/Hg¹⁰¹⁰ or Mg⁶⁸² reduction of MoCl₄L₃ in thf; the complexes are stable in solution up to 80 °C but thereafter convert to quadruply bonded Mo₂Cl₄L₄.⁶⁸² The half-life for the first phosphine exchange at MoCl₂(PMe₃)₄ has been measured at 18 min ($k = 6.6 \times 10^{-4} \text{ s}^{-1}$) at 24 °C.⁶⁸² Experimental observations and theoretical analyses indicate that the exothermicity of oxidative addition of H₂ to MX₂(PMe₃)₄ depends on the nature of the metal and halogen as follows: Mo < W and I < Br < Cl < F. Moreover, oxidative addition of H₂ to WI₂(PMe₃)₄ is characterized by an *inverse* deuterium isotope effect ($K_{\rm H}/K_{\rm D}$ = 0.063(5) at 60 °C) and occurs at a five-coordinate complex formed by dissociation of PMe₃.¹⁰¹¹ The PMe₂Ph analog, MoCl₂(PMe₂Ph)₄ ($\mu_{\rm B}$ 2.84), has also been prepared by reacting MoCl₅ with Mg or MoCl₃(PMe₂Ph)₃ with BuLi in the presence of PMe₂Ph.¹⁰¹² Thermogravimetric studies have shown that MoCl₂(PMe₃)₄ decomposes to MoCl₂ under an inert atmosphere.¹⁰¹³ Reaction of MoCl₂(PMePh₂)₄ (with amines results in phosphine displacement and the formation of red MoCl₂(NH₂R)(PMePh₂)₃ (R = H, Me, Pr, ⁱPr, Cy, CH₂CF₃, CH₂CH=CH₂) or MoCl₂(en) (PMePh₂)₂, characterized by spectroscopic and mass spectrometric studies.¹⁰¹⁴

A bromo complex, MoBr₂(dppe)₂, has been obtained in low yield from the prolonged reaction of $(NH_4)_4[Mo_2Br_8]$ and dppe in refluxing alcohols¹⁰¹⁵ while MoX₂(dppb)₂ and [MoOX(dppb)₂]X are produced when K₄[Mo₂Cl₈], $(NH_4)_5[Mo_2Cl_9] \cdot H_2O$ or $(NH_4)_4[Mo_2Br_8]$ react with dppb in refluxing 1-propanol; reactions at room temperature in methanol produce dinuclear species.¹⁰¹⁶ The paramagnetic complexes (μ_B ca. 2.8–3.0) have been characterized by IR and UV–vis spectroscopy, cyclic voltammetry, and X-ray crystallography. In MoBr₂(dppe)₂ and MoCl₂(dppb)₂, steric influences prevent the linear X–Mo–X unit from standing perpendicular to the equatorial P₄ plane. Additional structures have also been reported for known *trans*-MoCl₂(dppe)₂. Reaction of MoCl₂ with dmpe yields paramagnetic (μ_B 2.65) *trans*-MoCl₂(dmpe)₂ while reaction of MoCl₂(CO)₄ with dmpe yields [MoCl(CO)₂(dmpe)₂]PF₆ after anion exchange. Both complexes have been structurally characterized, the cation of the latter exhibiting a capped trigonal prismatic geometry.⁷⁴⁰ Isomers of *trans*-[MoCl(η^x -NCMe)(dmpe)₂]BPh₄ (x = 1, 2), as well as *trans*-[Mo(NCMe)₂(dmpe)₂](BPh₄)₂, are formed when MoCl₂(dmpe)₂ is refluxed in NCMe in the presence of NaBPh₄; the η^2 -acetonitrile complex was structurally characterized.⁶⁸⁴ Reaction of *cis*-Mo(N₂)₂(tppea) with MeI produces MoI₂(tppea).¹⁰¹⁷

4.7.6.3.2 Hydride and other complexes

Attempts to prepare dinitrogen complexes by the Na/Hg reduction of MoCl₃(bdmp) in the presence of PR₃ produced only chloro—Mo^{II} species, *trans*-MoCl₂(bdmp)(PR₃) (PR₃ = PMe₃, PMe₂Ph).⁸⁸⁰ The use of dispersed Na or Li as reducing agent yields *trans*-Mo(N₂)₂(bdmp)(PMe₃) but under argon MoH(η^2 -CH₂PMe₂)(PMe₃)(bdmp) or Mo(PMe₃)₃(bdmp) are produced. A hydrogen atmosphere allows the isolation of MoH₂(PMe₃)₂(bdmp). Molybdenum(II) complexes, Mo(CO₃)(CO)(PMe₃)_n(bdmp) (*n*=0, 1), are formed in the reactions of CO₂ with related dinitrogen complexes.⁷⁹⁹

Tetrahydride (338) (Scheme 14) reacts with *N*-alkylamides to form seven-coordinate MoH{N(R)C(R')O}(dppe)₂ (341) through elimination of H₂ and oxidative addition of the N—H bond. A pentagonal bipyramidal structure, with apical P- and N-donor atoms, has been established for MoH{N(Me)C(Me)O}(dppe)₂.⁸⁰³ These complexes react with carboxylic acids giving MoH(O₂CR)(dppe)₂ (340). Carboxylates (340)¹⁰¹⁸ and related carbonates, MoH(O₂-COR)(dppe)₂ (434),¹⁰¹⁹ can be prepared directly from MoH₄(dppe)₂ by irradiation in the presence of allyl esters or allyl carbonates, respectively; pentagonal bipyramidal structures are indicated by spectroscopic and/or crystallographic studies, e.g., of MoH(O₂COEt)(dppe)₂·C₆H₆.¹⁰¹⁹ Alkoxide (342) (R = Me) reacts with functionalized phthalimide derivatives to produce (435).¹⁰²⁰ Related, more robust phthalimide derivatives (436) can be accessed directly from (338).¹⁰²¹ Distorted pentagonal bipyramidal (436) (R = (CH₂)₂) features an equatorial, bidentate O,N-donor phthalimido ligand.¹⁰²¹ Complexes (437) are also produced in thermal or photochemical reactions involving (338) and methacrylic esters.¹⁰²² The complicated reaction between MoH₄(dmpe)₂ and CO₂ leads to the formation of formate, CO₂, and carbonate complexes such as

 $MoX(O_2CH)(dmpe)_2$ (X = H, O_2CH) and $MoH(O_2CH)(CO_2)(dmpe)_2$.⁸⁰⁵ Other hydrido–Mo^{II} phosphine complexes are described in Section 4.7.4.6.4.

Reaction of $Mo(N_2)_2L_2$ (L = dmpe, dppe) and RSH (R = alkyl, C₆F₅, C₆H₄X-4 (X = H, F, Cl, Me, NH₂, OMe) with elimination of N₂ and H₂ produces *trans*-Mo(SR)₂L₂, characterized by spectroscopic and, in the case of *trans*-Mo(SBu)₂(dppe)₂ (**438**), structural methods.^{684,884} The complexes undergo a reversible electrochemical oxidation at potentials correlated with substituent Hammett functions. Chemical oxidation produces EPR-active, low-spin d^3 complexes, [Mo(SR)₂L₂]⁺, isolated as BPh₄⁻ salts.⁸⁸⁴ In contrast, the reactions of Mo(N₂)₂(dppe)₂ with sterically bulky RSH (R = ⁱPr, ^tBu, C₆H₂Me₃-2,4,6, C₆H₂ⁱPr₃-2,4,6, C₆H₂BrⁱPr₂-4,2,6) yields green hydride thiolates, *cis*-MoH(SR)(dppe)₂, that react with CO, CN^tBu (L), and PhSH (LH) to give MoL₂(dppe)₂ (**439**).¹⁰²³ Other notable Mo^{II} complexes prepared from Mo(N₂)₂(dppe)₂ (via Mo(N₂) (CNR)(dppe)₂) include diaminoacetylene complexes (**440**),¹⁰²⁴ an agostic aminoalkylidene (**441**), and a novel hydrido aqua complex (**442**).¹⁰²⁵



4.7.6.4 Carboxylate Complexes

Carboxylate complexes of Mo^{II} are uncommon. Protonation of Mo(CO)₃(PR₃)₃ (R = Me, Et) by trifluoroacetic acid produces [HMo(CO)₃(PR₃)₃]O₂CCF₃ that convert in solution to seven-coordinate Mo(O₂CCF₃)₂(CO)₂(PMe₃)₃ (**443**)¹⁰²⁶ and Mo(O₂CCF₃)₂(CO)₂(PEt₃)₂ (**444**),¹⁰²⁷ respectively; capped trigonal prismatic (or 4:3) structures pertain. Reaction of Mo(CO)₃X₂(PR₃)₂ with NaO₂CR produces Mo(O₂CR')X(CO)₂(PR₃)₂ or Mo(O₂CR')₂(CO)₂(PR₃)₂ (X = Cl, Br; R = Et, Ph; R' = H, Me, Ph, CCl₃ etc.).^{1028,1029} The X-ray structure of seven-coordinate Mo(O₂CCH)₂-(CO)₂(PEt₃)₂ (**445**) revealed a 4:3 piano stool structure with mono- and bidentate formate ligands on the trigonal face.¹⁰²⁸ Related complexes, Mo(O₂CCF₃)Br(CO)₂(PR₃)₂ and Mo(O₂CCF₃)₂-(CO)₂(PR₃)₂, are similarly prepared; MoBr(O₂CCF₃)(CO)₂(PPh₃)₂ (**446**) adopts a 4:3 piano stool structure with bromide and bidentate carboxylate ligands on the trigonal face.¹⁰³⁰ The bis(formate) complex, *trans*-Mo(O₂CH)₂(dmpe)₂, is a product of the reaction of MoH₄-(dmpe)₂ with CO₂,⁸⁰⁵ whereas MoH(O₂CCE)(PMe₃)₄ results from hydrogenation of [MoH(O₂CCH=CH₂)(C₂H₄)(PMe₃)₂]₂ in the presence of PMe₃.⁸⁰⁶ Finally, *cis*-Mo(N₂)₂(tppea) reacts with HO₂CCF₃ to produce Mo(O₂CCF₃)₂(tppea).¹⁰¹⁷



4.7.6.5 Complexes Containing Sulfur-donor Ligands

4.7.6.5.1 Dithiocarbamate and related dithio-ligand complexes

The dithiocarbamate system pioneered by Colton and co-workers has undergone further development and a complete review of this area has been prepared by Baker.⁸⁹⁴ Reports since 1985 describe new syntheses for $Mo(S_2CNR_2)_2(CO)_2$ (R = Me, Et), the assessment of their ligand affinities (halides < NCMe < thiophene < py < P(OR)_3 < PR_3), and the isolation of reactive adducts such as orange

NEt₄[MoX(S₂CNR₂)₂(CO)₂] (X = F, N₃). The fluoro complex exhibits a fluoro-capped trigonal prismatic structure with an acute \angle (C—Mo—C) of 68.20(6)°.¹⁰³¹ Pyrrole-*N*-carbodithioate complexes, Mo(S₂CNC₄H₄)₂(CO)₂L (L = PEt₃, P(OMe)₃, EPh₃ (E = P, As, Sb), OC₄H₈, SC₄H₈), Mo(S₂CNC₄H₄)₂(CO)L₂ (L = PEt₃, P(OMe)₃; L₂ = dppe) and NEt₄[MoX(S₂CNC₄H₄)₂(CO)₂] (X = F, Cl, Br) have also been reported.^{1032,1033} The bonding and stereochemistry in these and related complexes have been addressed theoretically.¹⁰³¹ The X-ray structure of Mo(NS)(S₂CNEt₂)₃ has been determined.¹⁰³⁴ A description of new alkyne and organometallic chemistry supported by dithiocarbamate ligands may be found in *Comprehensive Organometallic Chemistry*.⁶ Other dithiocarbamate—Mo^{II} complexes are described in Section 4.7.6.1. Complexes containing ligands derived from head-to-tail dimerization of CS₂ and η^3 -trimethylphosphonium dithioformate derivatives (and their protonated and alkylated forms) have been described by Carmona and co-workers; the most recent work involved a theoretical study of such complexes.¹⁰³⁵ See also *Comprehensive Organometallic Chemistry*.⁶

4.7.6.5.2 Thiolate complexes

Reaction of $[MoBr_2(CO)_4]_2$ with sterically hindered thiols RSH (R = substituted aryl) in the presence of NEt₃ yields PPh₄[Mo(SR)₃(CO)₂] (**447**) after cation exchange with PPh₄Br. A single ν (CO) IR band at 1,865–1,846 cm⁻¹ is indicative of *trans* carbonyl groups, a fact confirmed by the X-ray structure of PPh₄[Mo(SC₆H₂ⁱPr₃-2,4,6)₃(CO)₂]. This complex reacts with CO and a range of ligands L to produce PPh₄[Mo(SC₆H₂ⁱPr₃)₃(CO)₃] and PPh₄[Mo(SC₆H₂ⁱPr₃)₃(CO)L] (L = NCR (R = Me, Et, ^tBu), PMe₂Ph, CNMe and CN^tBu). Related thiolate chemistry is described in Section 4.7.4.6.5(i).⁷¹⁷ However, reaction of 2,6-diphenylthiophenol with [MoX₂(CO)₄]₂ (X = Cl, Br) in dme produces Mo(SC₆H₃Ph₂-2,6)₂(CO) (**448**). The complex possesses a pseudo-tetrahedral structure with a phenyl group from one of the thiolates bound at one site in an η^6 -fashion. The η^6 -phenyl group is displaced in the formation of, e.g., *trans,cis*-Mo(SC₆H₃Ph₂-2,6)₂(CO)₂L (L = bpy (**449**), phen) or Mo(SC₆H₃Ph₂-2,6)₂(CO)(dppe).¹⁰³⁶ Complexes such as Mo(SR)₂(CO)₂(PR₃)₂ (R = Mes, C₆H₂ⁱPr₃-2,4,6; PR'₃ = PMePh₂, PMe₂Ph)⁸²⁸ and trigonal prismatic ($\phi = 13.7^{\circ}$) Mo(SCH₂CH₂S)(CO)₂(PEt₃)₂ (**450**) have also been reported.¹⁰³⁷



Dark-red Cat[Mo(SR)₄(NO)] (Cat⁺ = NHEt₃⁺, PPh₄⁺; R = Ph, C₆H₄Me-2, C₆H₄Cl-4, C₆H₂Me₃-2,4,6) are produced in the reactions of either MoCl₃(PPh₃)₂(NO) or [Mo(NH₂O)-(H₂O)_x(NO)]_n with thiolates in methanol. Related reactions produce Cat[MoCl(S'Bu)₃(NO)] and Mo(SC₆H₂ⁱPr₃)₃(NH₃)(NO). Structurally characterized NHEt₃[Mo(SPh)₄(NO)], PPh₄ [WCl(SPh)₃(NO)], and Mo(SC₆H₂ⁱPr₃)₃(NH₃)(NO) all exhibit trigonal bipyramidal structures with equatorial thiolate ligands and linear, axial nitrosyl ligands.¹⁰³⁸ Reaction of NHEt₃-[Mo(SPh)₄(NO)] with PhP(C₆H₄SH)₂ in refluxing methanol produces diamagnetic NHEt₃-[Mo{PhP(C₆H₄S)₂}₂(NO)].¹⁸⁹ Recently, the synthesis of Mo(η^5 -C₄H₄S)(η^2 -H₂CPMe₂)(PMe₃)₂ (**451**) from Mo(PMe₃)₆ and thiophene and its conversion to Mo(η^5 -C₄H₅S)(OTf)(PMe₃)₃ upon reaction with HOTf were described.¹⁰³⁹

4.7.6.5.3 Thioether complexes

The Mo^{II}/Mo^{0} coordination chemistry of $Me_{8}[16]aneS_{4}$ is summarized in Scheme 19. Reaction of $[MoBr_{2}(CO)_{4}]_{2}$ and $Me_{8}[16]aneS_{4}$ in refluxing toluene produces *trans*-MoBr_{2}(Me_{8}[16]aneS_{4}) (452), whereas $[MoCl_{2}(CO)_{4}]_{2}$ /refluxing toluene and $MoCl_{4}(NCMe)_{2}/CH_{2}Cl_{2}$ react with $Me_{8}[16]aneS_{4}$ to give *fac*-MoCl_{3}(Me_{8}[16]aneS_{4}) (453), which is reduced by Zn to *trans*-MoCl_{2}(Me_{8}[16]aneS_{4}) (454); all three orange/yellow complexes are paramagnetic.¹⁰⁴⁰ A possible intermediate in the first reaction,

viz., green [MoBr(CO)₂(Me₈[16]aneS₄)][MoBr₃(CO)₄] (**455**), has been isolated and structurally characterized along with an iodide analog; it converts to (**452**) upon heating. The [MoBr(CO)₂(Me₈[16]aneS₄)]⁺ cation exhibits a 4:3 piano stool structure with Mo 1.488(2) Å out of the S₄-plane of a *syn*-Me₈[16]aneS₄ ligand.¹⁰⁴¹ A *syn* conformation is also adopted by the equatorial Me₈[16]aneS₄ ligand of *trans*-MoBr₂(Me₈[16]aneS₄) but the *syn-anti* conformation is observed in the salt (**456**) produced upon oxidation with AgBF₄. A rationalization of the anomalous¹⁰⁴⁰ electrochemical behavior of (**452**) (Scheme 19) rests on this observation.¹⁰⁴² Diazenido (**457**), hydrazido (**458**), and cyano (**459**) Mo^{II} complexes of Me₈[16]aneS₄ are also known.^{712,713}



Scheme 19 $(L=Me_8[16]aneS_4 279)$

Dithiooxamides react with $Mo(CO)_2(PR'_3)_2(NCMe)_2$ (R' = Bu, Ph) producing violet complexes *cis,cis,trans*-Mo{S₂C₂(NR)₂}(CO)₂(PR'_3)₂ ($R_2 = H/alkyl$ or dialkyl). A dithiolenic (reduced ligand) formulation is supported by IR and NMR data and the X-ray structure of *cis,cis,trans*-Mo{S₂C₂(NC₅H₁₀)₂}(CO)₂(PBu₃)₂.^{1043,1044}

4.7.6.5.4 Mixed thiolate/thioether complexes

The Mo chemistry of dttd (146) (Scheme 20), Bu_4 dttd (147) and related ligands has been defined by Sellmann and co-workers. The free ligands or alkali metal salts react with key starting materials producing, e.g., Mo(dttd)(CO)₃ (460), ¹⁰⁴⁵ Mo(dttd)(CO)₂(PMe₃) (461), ⁸³⁸ Mo(dttd)(NO)₂ (462), ¹⁰⁴⁶ and Mo(dttd)Cl(NO) (463), ¹⁰⁴⁷ as well as related Bu_4 dttd derivatives. ^{839,1048} Reduction of MoCl₂(dttd) (464) by Mg under CO provides alternative syntheses for the tri- and dicarbonyls ^{832,840} and Bu_4 dttd derivatives; ^{839,840} seven-coordinate (461) (R = Me, ¹⁰⁴⁹ Cy⁸⁴⁰) have been structurally characterized. The carbonyl complexes convert to bis(benzenedithiolate) derivatives upon thermal

dealkylation (Section 4.7.4.6.5(iii)) or slowly transform into dimeric $[Mo(CO)(\mu-dttd)]_2$ (465, E = C) in solution at room temperature.^{840,1045} The former feature trigonal prismatic structures, the latter distorted octahedral Mo centers bridged via thiolate sulfur atoms in both the syn⁸⁴⁰ and anti¹⁰⁴⁵ isomers. Dinitrosyl (462) is also accessible through Zn reduction of (464) under NO¹⁰⁵⁰ or via a template reaction involving alkylation of $[Mo(bdt)_2(NO)_2]^{2-,1046}$ diastereospecific alkylations using substituted 1,2-dibromoethanes produce chiral derivatives.^{383,1051} The dinitrosyl^{1050,1051} and chloro nitrosyl¹⁰⁴⁷ complexes exhibit distorted octahedral structures with linear (>172°) nitrosyl groups; dttd invariably adopts a cis (thioether) trans (thiolate) binding mode. Reactions of (462) with two equivalents of PR₃ produce $Mo(NPR_3)(dttd)(NO)$ (466, R = alkyl, Ph; PR₃ = PMePh₂ (structurally characterized), PEtPh₂) and OPR₃, while dppe gives Mo{NPPh₂C₂H₄P(O)Ph₂}(dttd)(NO).^{1049,1050} The reactions of (462) with N₂H₄ or NaBH₄ produce seven-coordinate, pseudo-octahedral Mo $(ONH_2)(dttd)(NO)$ (467) (d(Mo-O) 2.053(3) Å, $d(Mo-NH_2)$ 2.103(3) Å, $\angle (O-Mo-N)$ 38.6(1)°) in a process modeling a key step in the biological reduction of NO₃⁻ to NH₃.¹⁰⁵² Metathesis and/or addition at (463) allows thiolate (468, R = Me, Pr, Bu, Ph, C₆H₄SMe-2),^{1045,1053} phenyldithio (469),¹⁰⁵⁴ amido (470, R = H, Me, Et),¹⁰⁴⁷ side-on bonded hydrazido(1-) (471)¹⁰⁵⁵ and chloro phosphine (472)¹⁰⁵³ derivatives to be prepared. Subsequent redox reactions yield EPR-active Mo^I species, including NMe₄[Mo(SR)(dttd)(NO)] (473),¹⁰⁵⁴ Mo(dttd)(PR₃)(NO) (474, R = Me, Et, Pr; $PR_3 = PMe_2Ph$), ¹⁰⁵⁶ as well as Mo(dttd)X(NO) (**475**, X = Br, I). ¹⁰⁵⁶ Structurally characterized six-coordinate derivatives, e.g., (**470**) and (**474**) (R = Me), ^{1047,1056} exhibit distorted octahedral structures whereas seven-coordinate (471) (R = Me) adopts a pseudo-octahedral structure with d(Mo-NH)2.099(11)Å, $d(Mo-NMe_2)$ 2.172(12)Å, and $\angle(N-Mo-N)$ 38.3(4)°;¹⁰⁵⁵ all contain linear nitrosyl ligands. Co-ligand loss from several of these species produces dimeric (465) (E=N) structurally characterized as the *anti* isomer.¹⁰⁵⁵ Protonation or alkylation of the nitrosyl complexes invariably occurs at one of the thiolate sulfur atoms leading to cationic species (476-478).^{1045,1054} The chemistry of related carbonyl and nitrosyl complexes containing backbone^{383,838} and donor-modified¹⁰⁵⁷ tetra-dentate ligands and pentadentate ligands^{756,1058} is less extensive.



Scheme 20 [Mo]=Mo(dttd) fragment; [X-Mo]=S-alkylated or S-protonated Mo(dttd) fragment

4.7.7 MOLYBDENUM(I) COMPLEXES

Most of the relatively few monomeric, 17-electron Mo^I complexes known contain trispyrazolylborate or triazacyclononane ligands. Oxidation of NEt₄[Tp*Mo(CO)₃] with FcPF₆ produces red, borate or triazacyclononane ligands. Oxidation of NEt₄[1p*Mo(CO)₃] with FCPF₆ produces red, paramagnetic (μ_B 2.13) Tp*Mo(CO)₃;¹⁰⁵⁹ unstable TpMo(CO)₃ and (Bpz₄)Mo(CO)₃ are also accessible.¹⁰⁶⁰ Octahedral Tp*Mo(CO)₃ possesses pseudo- C_{3v} symmetry and undergoes degener-ate electron transfer with NBu₄[Tp*Mo(CO)₃] ($k_2 = 1.4 \times 10^6$ M⁻¹ s⁻¹ at -34 °C).⁹⁶⁹ The redox behavior of the LMo(CO)₃/[LMo(CO)₃]⁻ (L = Tp, Tp*) couples has been investigated by cyclic voltammetry⁹⁷⁰ and the factors affecting the redox equilibria between [Tp*Mo(CO)₃]⁻/triarylpyrylium cations and Tp*Mo(CO)₃/pyranyl radicals have been examined.¹⁰⁶¹ The less sterically encumbered complexes react with phosphines producing brown, octahedral TpMo(CO)₂(PR₃) $(R = Me, Bu; R_3 = Me_2Ph, Et_2Ph, MePh_2, EtPh_2)$.¹⁰⁶⁰ A variety of complexes, Tp*MoXL(NO) and $[Tp*MoL_2(NO)]^+$ (479, Figure 3) can be prepared by reducing $Tp*MoX_2(NO)$ in the presence of neutral unsaturated N-heterocycles (L).^{990,1062–1066} Salts of $[Tp*MoX_2(NO)]^-$ (X = Cl, I) can also be prepared by reduction of $Tp*MoX_2(NO)$ in the absence of added ligand.^{1063,1067} These complexes are EPR-active (g 1.97–2.07, A_{Mo} ca. 43–46 × 10⁻⁴ cm⁻¹) and exhibit novel magnetic behavior. The complexes underlined in Figure 3 have been structurally characterized, the Mo-N(amine) bonds being ca. 0.3 Å longer than the Mo–N(amido) bonds in their Mo^{II} counterparts, consistent with the switching off of p_{π} -d_{\pi} interactions upon reduction. The nitrosyl ligands are linear and produce $\nu(NO)$ IR bands in the range $1,600-1,700 \text{ cm}^{-1}$. The complexes undergo further reduction to 18-electron species (Section 4.7.8.3.2). While $[(R_3tcn)Mo(CO)_3]^+$ complexes may be generated electrochemically, oxidation of $(Bz_3tcn)Mo(CO)_3$ with FcPF₆ produces air- and light-sensitive, paramagnetic (μ_B 1.94) [(Bz₃tcn)Mo(CO)₃]PF₆ (480), structurally characterized as the dmf solvate (Scheme 6).¹⁰⁰² The complexes, (Me₃tcn)MoX₂(NO) (X = Cl, Br, I), have been briefly described.¹⁰⁰¹

Other new Mo¹ complexes are restricted to nitrosyl and phosphine complexes. These include $(473)^{1054}$ and $(474)^{1056}$ (Section 4.7.6.5.4, Scheme 20) and *trans,trans,trans*-MoCl₂(PPh₃)₂(NC-Me)(NO) isolated from the reaction of MoCl₂(NO)₂ with PPh₃.⁵³⁷ Orange, paramagnetic (μ_B 1.87) *fac*-MoBr(bdpe)(dmpm) is generated in the reaction of HBr with Mo(N₂)(bdpe)(dmpm)⁷⁰¹ while oxidation of Mo(dmpe)₃ by I₂(or MeI)/NH₄PF₆ produces [Mo(dmpe)₃]PF₆.⁸⁰⁰ The reactions of M(CO)₃(PR₃)₂ (M = Cr, Mo, W) with HSR, H₂S, RSSR, HI, and I₂ produce some interesting Mo¹ compounds, e.g., Mo(SPh)(CO)₃(PR₃)₂ (R = ⁱPr, Cy).¹⁰⁶⁸

4.7.8 MOLYBDENUM(0) COMPLEXES

4.7.8.1 Complexes Containing Carbon-donor Ligands

Zero- and lower-valent Mo chemistry is dominated by organometallic species, mostly metal carbonyls and their derivatives. A wide variety of other complexes, including σ -aryl, σ -alkynyl,



Figure 3 Nitrosyl-Mo^I complexes of T_p^* .

alkyne, and Fischer-type alkylidyne complexes, some with a significant complement of nonorganometallic ligands, also exist. These will not be discussed here as a treatment can be found in *Comprehensive Organometallic Chemistry*.⁶ A discussion of tricarbonyl species is included, as these incorporate ligands and/or undergo reactions of interest to coordination chemists.

4.7.8.2 Tricarbonyl Complexes and their Derivatives

Tricarbonyl complexes are nearly always prepared by the thermal or photochemical reactions of $Mo(CO)_6$ or *fac*-Mo(CO)_3L_3 (L = NCMe, thf, dmf; $L_3 = \eta^6$ -C₇H₈, η^6 -C₆H₃Me₃, etc.) complexes with the ligand of interest. The use of other starting materials, e.g., *fac*-Mo(CO)_3(NCEt)_3 (*Inorg. Synth., Vol. 28, p. 29*) and Mo(CO)_3(py)_3¹⁰⁶⁹ has also been advocated. Tricarbonyl complexes are usually yellow/orange in color, diamagnetic and octahedral with either *fac*- (most commonly) or *mer*- carbonyl ligand arrangements. With the exception of fullerene complexes, we restrict our treatment to ternary (Mo/CO/L) species only.

4.7.8.2.1 Fullerene complexes

Molybdenum and tungsten (M) η^2 -fullerene complexes are readily prepared by reacting carbonyl precursors with the appropriate fullerene. Known compounds include: Mo(η -C₅H₄R)₂(C₆₀) (R=H, Bu),¹⁰⁷⁰ fac/mer-[M(CO)₃(dppe)₂]_x(C₆₀) (x=1, 2),^{1071,1072} mer-M(CO)₃(dppb)(C₆₀),¹⁰⁷³ fac/mer-M(CO)₃(dppf)(C₆₀) (dppf=1,1'-bis(diphenylphosphino)ferrocene),¹⁰⁷⁴ [M(CO)₃(ddh)]₂ (C₆₀)·2.5C₆H₆ (ddh = diacetyl dihydrazone),¹⁰⁷⁵ [M(CO)₂(phen)(dbm)]_n(C₆₀) (dbm = dimethyl maleate; M = Mo, n=1-3;^{1076,1077} M = W, n=1¹⁰⁷⁶), Mo(CO)₃(dppe)₂(C₇₀),¹⁰⁷¹ Mo(CO)₂-(phen)(dbm)(C₇₀),¹⁰⁷⁷ and Mo(CO)₂{bpy(CO₂Bu)₂}(C₆₀)₂.¹⁰⁷⁸ In the C₆₀ complexes, the metal is dihapto linked to a [6:6] bond as evident in the structures of Mo(CO)₃(dppb)₂(C₆₀) (**481**)¹⁰⁷³ and dumb-bell-shaped Mo(CO)₂{bpy(CO₂Bu)₂}(C₆₀)₂ (**482**).¹⁰⁷⁸ The binding of C₇₀ in the predominant isomer (80%) of Mo(CO)₃(dppe)₂(C₇₀) (**483**) is via one of the most geometrically polar [6:6] bonds.¹⁰⁷¹ Binding of the metal leads to pyramidalization of the bonded carbon atoms and a lengthening of the bound and proximal C—C bonds, to ca. 1.48 vs. 1.36(1)Å for [6:6] C₆₀. An increase in electron density over the fullerene ligand as a result of metal — ligand π back-bonding makes multi-electron reductions more difficult, typically by 150–200 mV, compared to the parent fullerene.^{1074,1077,1079}



4.7.8.2.2 Complexes containing nitrogen-donor co-ligands

New reports in this area include an improved synthesis for fac-Mo(CO)₃{MeN(CH₂CH₂NMe₂)₂} (484)¹⁰⁸⁰ and the description of new complexes containing R₃tch ((105, R = Me, ¹Bu, Bz)¹⁰⁸¹ and (485)¹⁰⁸²), a variety of substituted triazacyclononanes ((102, R = ¹Pr,²⁵⁷ Bz,¹⁰⁰²), (486, R = CH₂CH=CH₂, CH₂CH₂CH=CH₂),²⁵⁸ (487, R = H, Me, Ph)¹⁰⁸³), triazacyclododecane (488)⁵⁹⁴ and triaminomethanes derived from 1,5,9-triazacyclododecane (489, R = H, Me).¹⁰⁸⁴ Structurally characterized complexes exhibit an octahedral geometry with *fac* tricarbonyl ligands (ν (CO) ca. 1,880 cm⁻¹, 1,700–1,785 cm⁻¹). The *fac*-Mo(CO)₃(R₃tach) complexes are touted as useful synthons in tricarbonyl-Mo⁰ chemistry.¹⁰⁸⁵

Linear and cyclic polyamines generally react with $Mo(CO)_6$ to afford fac- $Mo(CO)_3L$ complexes despite the potential for greater denticity (larger rings/chains and permethylation even favor the formation of tetracarbonyl complexes^{1086,1087}). Tricarbonyl complexes are known for cyclen (490, R = H, Me), cyclam (491),¹⁰⁸⁷ (492)¹⁰⁸⁸ and *meso-* and *rac-*(493).¹⁰⁸⁹ Available



X-ray structures reveal tridentate coordination of L (through the italicized donors) and the existence of intramolecular H-bonding.^{1088,1089} Interestingly, dinuclear *cis*- $[Mo(CO)_4]_2L$ is produced when (**494**) reacts with Mo(CO)₆.¹⁰⁸⁸ Although displaying a quasi-reversible electrochemical oxidation, complexes of (**493**) are not amenable to chemical oxidation.¹⁰⁸⁹ Selective mono-alkylation of cyclen and cyclam is facilitated by binding to the Mo(CO)₃ moiety (see lead-in references for details^{1090,1091}).



Complexes containing trispyridyl- and related heterocyclic N-donor ligands include (495),²⁶³ fac-Mo(CO)₃(Xpy₃) (496; X = HC,¹⁰⁹² BuSn,¹⁰⁹³ P, EP where E = O, S, AuCl, Au(C₆F₅)) and (497) (E = O, S).^{1094,1095} The X-ray structures of (496) (X = P,¹⁰⁹⁴ BuSn¹⁰⁹³) and (497) (E = S)¹⁰⁹⁵ confirmed the expected octahedral geometries. An example of tridentate coordination of potentially tetradentate N,N'-dimethyl-2,11-diaza[3.3](2,6)pyridinophane (dap) is observed in octahedral fac-Mo(CO)₃(dap) (498); low-energy ν (CO) IR bands are attributed to the strong σ -donor and weak π -acceptor capacity of dap.¹⁰⁹⁶ Finally, mixed bis(benzimidazolyl)amine tricarbonyl complexes have been reported by Crane and Fenton.¹⁰⁹⁷



C-Phenyl bis(pyrazolyl)methane complexes, fac-Mo(CO)₃{ η^2 -RCPh(Me₂pz)₂-N,N'} (R = H, Ph), are formed upon decarbonylation of cis-Mo(CO)₄{RCPh(Me₂pz)₂-N,N'} in refluxing dme¹⁰⁹⁸ or reaction of Mo(CO)₆ and RCPh(Me₂pz)₂ under the same conditions.⁷¹⁸ The X-ray structures of both derivatives revealed an unusual η^2 -interaction between a phenyl group and Mo, with d(Mo-C) 2.46–2.70 Å (cf. **315**).^{718,1098} Mixed pyrazole/phosphazene complexes (**499**) (R = Ph, R₂ = N(Me)CH₂CH₂O) have also been prepared and structurally characterized.¹⁰⁹⁹ The thermal reactions of Mo(CO)₆ or Mo(CO)₃(NCMe)₃ with Tm* or MeSi(Me₂pz)₃ (L) produce neutral tricarbonyls *fac*-LMo(CO)₃;^{262,1100} Mo^{III}, Mo^V, and Mo^{VI} complexes of the former are also known. While new trispyrazolylborate ligands are routinely incorporated into complexes such as Tp^{*}Mo(CO)₂(NO) or Tp^{*}Mo(CO)₂(η^2 -allyl), only hydrotris(2H-benzo[g]-4,5-dihydroindazol-2-yl)borate has been fashioned into an *isolated* tricarbonyl, NEt₄[Tp^{*}Mo(CO)₃].¹¹⁰¹ However, tris(triazolyl)borate complexes of this type have been prepared^{967,968,1102} and the X-ray structures of (MeNC₅H₄CN-4)[Tp*Mo(CO)₃]¹⁰⁶¹ and NEt₄[TpMo(CO)₃]¹¹⁰² have been reported.

4.7.8.2.3 Complexes containing phosphorus-donor co-ligands

Tricarbonyl complexes containing monodentate P-donors are relatively rare. They include *mer*-Mo(CO)₃(PR₃)₂, formed in the reactions of *fac*-Mo(CO)₃(η^6 -C₇H₈) with PR₃ (PR₃ = PⁱPrCy₂, PCy₃) or by elimination of N₂ from [Mo(CO)₃(P^Pr₃)₂]₂(N₂); the presence of an agostic interaction (*v*(CH) 2,613–2,710 cm⁻¹) was confirmed by the X-ray structures of *mer*-W(CO)₃(PR₃)₂ (R = ⁱPr, Cy).¹¹⁰³ Adducts of the type *mer*-Mo(CO)₃(PR₃)₂ (L = H₂ (**500**), N₂, C₂H₄, H₂O, Me₂CO, SEt₂, NCMe, NH₃, NH₂Bu, py, py-O) are readily formed.¹¹⁰³ thermodynamic data are available from H₂, N₂, and py binding studies.¹¹⁰⁴ The dihydrogen complexes (**500**) are conveniently prepared by performing the reaction of Mo(CO)₃(η^6 -C₇H₈) and PR₃ under an atmosphere of H₂¹¹⁰⁵ (see *Inorg*. *Synth., Vol. 27, p. 1*). Complexes of this type have been extensively characterized by complete IR and NMR studies (that provide evidence for equilibria involving dihydride species)¹¹⁰⁵ and by X-ray structures of W analogs.¹¹⁰⁶ Dihydrogen–Mo complexes containing the ligands (**501**) (X = NH, R = Me; X = O, R = N(Me)(CH₂)₂NMe₂),^{1108,1109} (**502**), (**503**),¹¹⁰ P(c-C₂H₄)Ph, and P(c-C₃H₆)Ph¹¹¹¹ are also known. Substituted 2-phosphaindolizines (**504**) form *fac/mer*-Mo(CO)₃L₃, the ligands acting as monodentate P-donors rather than $\eta^5 \pi$ -donors!¹¹² Alkenyl- and alkynyl-phosphine complexes, *fac*-Mo(CO)₃L₃ (L = H₂PCH₂CH=CH₂, H₂PCH₂CH=CH=CH₂, H₂PCH₂C=CH), have been reported by Diel *et al.*;¹¹¹³ the alkenyl complexes undergo radical or photo-initiated cyclotrimerization yielding structure of *fac*-Mo(CO)₃(Pr₃tpcd).¹¹¹⁴ Photolysis of 1:2 mixtures of Mo(CO)₄(dppe), and Mo(CO)₃(dppe)L, rather than the anticipated *trans*-1,2-bis(diphenyl-phosphino)cyclobutane complexes.¹¹¹⁵ Claims that *fac*-Mo(CO)₃(dpmp-P)₃ is produced in the reaction of Mo(CO)₃(NCMe)₃ and dmpm have been challenged.¹¹¹⁶

A wide variety of tripodal diarylphosphine ligands, MeC(CH₂PAr₂)₃ (**506**, Ar = Ph derivative, 1-Nap; PAr₂ = dibenzophospholyl) and RCH₂C(CH₂PPh₂)₃ (R = PhCO₂, many R'O) form *fac*-tricarbonyl complexes.^{1117–1119} These have been spectroscopically characterized and the X-ray structures of the MeC(CH₂PR₂)₃ (R = Me, C₆H₄^tBu-4, 1-Nap)¹¹¹⁷ and PhCO₂CH₂C(CH₂PPh₂)₃¹¹¹⁸ complexes have been determined. A stibine derivative, *fac*-Mo(CO)₃{MeC(CH₂SbPh₂)₃}, has also been reported.¹¹²⁰ Tripodal ligands containing three different phosphine moieties have been incorporated into tricarbonyl complexes¹¹²¹ and the diasteroselectivity of alkylations at MeC[CH₂PPh(Li)]₃ and Mo-coordinated RCH₂C[CH₂PAr(Li)]₃ have been thoroughly investigated; the X-ray structures of the tricarbonyl complexes of MeC(CH₂PPhR)₃ (R = Ph, Et, Bz), (*RRR/SSS*)-RCH₂C(CH₂PPhBz)₃ (R = Me, Ph) and MeC[CH₂P(C₆H₃Me₂-3,5)Bz]₃ were determined in conjunction with these studies.^{1122,1123} The conformational enantiomerization of complexes of MeC(CH₂PPh₂)_{3-n}{CH₂P(C₆H₄Me-2)₂)_n (n = 1-3) has been probed by force field calculations and 1D and 2D NMR experiments.^{1124,1125} Colorless, *fac*-Mo(CO)₃(*S*,*R*)-tdpox, ¹¹²⁶ Cyclohexane-based tripodal ligands (**508**) react with Mo(CO)₃(n⁶-C₇H₈) to produce *fac*-Mo(CO)₃L complexes^{1127,1128} and cyclophosphasilanes (**509**)¹¹²⁹ and the larger macrocycles (e.g., (**510**)¹¹³⁰) form similar compounds. Tricarbonyl complexes containing the pentaphosphacyclopentadienyl ligand, viz. [(η^{5} -P₅)Mo(CO)₃]⁻ (**511**), have been briefly reported.¹¹³¹ A number of phosphenium complexes are known and their properties and reactions have been the subject of recent studies^{1132,1133} and reviews.

4.7.8.2.4 Complexes containing sulfur-donor co-ligands

(i) Thiolate and thioether complexes

Thiolates, including NEt₄SR (R = H, Ph), react with Mo(CO)₆ to yield NEt₄[Mo(CO)₅(SR)]. These decarbonylate to give (NEt₄)₂[Mo₂(CO)₈(SR)₂] and react with phosphines to produce *fac*-NEt₄[Mo(CO)₃L₂(SR)] (L = PMe₃, P(OMe)₃; L₂ = dppe). The dinuclear complexes are cleaved by phosphines yielding *cis*-NEt₄[Mo(CO)₄L(SR)] (L = PMe₃, P(OMe)₃, P(OMe)₃, PPh₃, P(OPh)₃).¹¹³⁶



The chemistry of tripodal S₃-donor ligands has developed rapidly in recent years. The first work in this area involved the synthesis of yellow NBu₄[TtMo(CO)₃] (Tt (**512**) = tetra(methylthiomethyl)borate).¹¹³⁷ This was followed by the synthesis of octahedral tricarbonyl complexes of the neutral thioether podands (**513**) (RE = MeC, ¹¹³⁸ MeSi, ¹¹³⁹ BuSn;¹⁰⁹³ R-R" = alkyl (mostly Me), aryl). Long Mo—S bonds (>2.6 Å) and facile ligand substitution reactions are both indicative of weak binding of the S-donor ligands in these complexes. Thione ligands including (**514**) are also known and have been incorporated via the *in situ*-generated tricarbonyl anions into complexes of the type Mo(**514**)(CO)₂(η^3 -C₃H₅).¹¹⁴⁰



A variety of linear and macrocyclic thioethers, including potentially tetradentate ligands, form *fac*tricarbonyl complexes with ν (CO) 1,910–1,940 cm⁻¹ and 1,780–1,830 cm⁻¹. Reactions of Mo(CO)₃(NCMe)₃ with trn and ttcn in acetonitrile yield (**515**)¹¹⁴¹ and (**516**) (R = H),¹¹⁴² respectively. The reactions of (NMe₄)₂[Mo(CO)₃{S(CH₂CH₂S)₂-*S*,*S'*,*S''*]] with 1,2-dibromoethane or substituted 1,2-dibromoethanes provide template syntheses for ttcn⁸⁸⁹ and C-functionalized ttcn complexes, (**516**) (R = Me, CH₂OH, CH₂OCH₂C₆H₄R'-4 (R' = H, Br, CO₂H, CN)).¹¹⁴³ The complexes (**517**),¹¹⁴⁴ (**518**), and (**519**)¹¹⁴⁵ were subsequently described whereas tridentate coordination of potentially tetradentate ligands in (**520**) and (**521**) had been reported earlier.¹¹⁴⁶ Potentially hexadentate thioethers also fail to displace CO from Mo(CO)₃(NCMe)₃ binding instead in a tridentate fashion.^{1144,1147} The kinetics of thioether decomplexation in dmso has been studied by Durrant et al.⁸⁹⁰

(ii) Sulfur dioxide complexes

Red *mer,trans*-Mo(CO)₃(PR₃)₂(SO₂-S) are formed in the reactions of Mo(CO)₃(η^6 -C₇H₈) with PR₃ (R = ⁱPr, Cy) and SO₂; the *i*-propyl derivative exhibits an octahedral geometry. However, a

side-on bonded SO₂–*S*,*O* complex, lavender-colored *cis,trans*-Mo(CO)₂(PPh₃)₂(SO₂)(NCMe), is produced from Mo(CO)₂(PPh₃)₂(NCMe)₂ and SO₂; displacement of NCMe and/or PPh₃ provides access to *cis,trans*-Mo(CO)₂(PPh₃)₂(SO₂)L (L = py, CNCy, CN^tBu, CNC₆H₄Me-4),¹¹⁴⁸ mixtures of *cis,mer*- and *cis,fac*-Mo(CO)₂(PR₃)₃(SO₂-*S*) and *cis,mer*-Mo(CO)₂(PR₃)₃(SO₂-*S,O*) (PR₃ = PMe₃, PMe₂Ph, PMePh₂, P(OMe)₃), or related tridentate phosphine complexes.¹¹⁴⁹ Octahedral *cis,mer*-Mo(CO)₂(PMe₃)₃(SO₂-*S,O*) has been structurally characterized.¹¹⁴⁹ Reactions of Mo(CO)₃L(NCMe) with SO₂ provide access to red/purple *fac*-Mo(CO)₃L(SO₂-*S,O*) and red *mer*-Mo(CO)₃L(SO₂-*S*) (L = bpy, phen, dppm, dppe, dppp, etc.).^{1148,1150} The reaction of Mo(CO)₂(PPh₃)₂(SO₂)(NCMe) with dppe or dmpe (L) produces Mo(CO)₂(L-*P*)(PPh₃)₂(SO₂) that undergoes slow associative substitution of PPh₃ giving octahedral *trans*-Mo(CO)₂-(L-*P,P'*)(PPh₃)(SO₂-*S*).^{1150,1151} Displacement of SO₂ from *fac*-Mo(CO)₃L(SO₂) (L = bpy, dppe) proceeds by both associative and dissociative mechanisms.¹¹⁵¹ Reaction of SO₂ with Mo(CO)(Ar₂PC₂H₄PAr₂)₂ (Ar = benzyl derivative) produces Mo(CO)(SO₂-*S*)(Ar₂PC₂H₄-PAr₂)₂.¹¹⁵² The reactions of Mo(CO)₃L(SO₂) (L = bidentate phosphine) with diazomethane at 0 °C produce beige sulfene complexes, *mer*-Mo(CO)₃(CH₂SO₂-*C*,*S*)L.¹¹⁵⁰ Several reviews relating to the coordination chemistry of sulfur dioxide are available.¹¹⁵³

4.7.8.2.5 Complexes containing mixed-donor co-ligands

The open and cyclic NP₂-donor ligands (510) (X = NMe)¹¹⁵⁵ and (522)–(527) have been incorporated into Mo(CO)₃L complexes. These include yellow *fac*-Mo(CO)₃(522) (R = Et)¹¹⁵⁶ and *fac/mer*-Mo(CO)₃(522) (R = Bz), that reacts with PPh₃ to give *trans,mer*-Mo(CO)₂(522)(PPh₃).¹¹⁵⁷ Crimson *fac*-Mo(CO)₃(523) is the kinetic product in the reaction of (523) and Mo(CO)₃(η^6 -C₇H₈) in toluene at <0 °C, dark-purple *mer*-Mo(CO)₃(523) being the thermodynamic product obtained upon reflux; the *fac* \rightarrow *mer* isomerism is first order in acetone, with $k_1 = 1.22 \times 10^{-5} \text{ s}^{-1}$ at 19.5 °C.¹¹⁵⁸ Related hydrazone derivatives (524)^{1159,1160} bind in a tridentate-*N*,*P*,*P'* fashion to the Mo(CO)₃(NCMe)(525-*P*,*P'*) are produced in the reactions of (525) with Mo(CO)₃(525-*N*,*P*,*P'*) and *fac*-Mo(CO)₃(NCMe)(525-*P*,*P'*) are produced in the reactions of (525) with Mo(CO)₃(NCMe)₃ or upon heating Mo(CO)₄(525) in heptane; the latter reacts with the diphosphines dppm, dppe, bis(diphenylphosphino)amine, and dppmO (L) to produce *mer*-Mo(CO)₃(525-*P*,*P'*)(L-*P*) via *fac* intermediates and is oxidized to Mo^{II} species.⁹⁴⁵ The coordination chemistry of diphosphinoamines and cyclodiphosphazanes up to 1994 has been reviewed.¹¹⁶⁴ Tridentate coordination of acriphos (526) is observed in conformationally constrained *mer*-Mo(CO)₃(aceriphos).¹¹⁶⁵ More recently, mixed phosphine–pyrazole ligands such as (527) have been incorporated into tricarbonyl species.¹¹⁶⁶



Ether groups generally coordinate weakly to Mo^0 , making them potential hemi-labile ligands. Ether coordination is observed in the *fac*-tricarbonyl complexes of (**528**)–(**530**).^{1167,1168} The major diastereomers of $Mo(CO)_3L(530)$ produced in the reactions of *fac*-Mo(CO)_3(**530**-*P*,*P'*,*O*) with NCMe, py, P(OCH₂)₃CMe, and CO, etc. (L) result from displacement of the ether donor from the coordination sphere.¹¹⁶⁹ Mixed-donor tricarbonyl complexes are formed by the ligands (**531**)-*N*,*N'*,*S*,¹¹⁷⁰ (**532**)-*S*,*P*,*P'*,¹¹⁷¹ and (**533**)-*P*,*S*,*S'*.¹⁸⁹ A wide variety of P/S-donor ligands, (**534**)–(**537**), have been incorporated into octahedral *fac*-tricarbonyl complexes, ^{1138,1172} Mo(CO)₃(**537**-*S*,*S'*,*P*) reacting with CO (1 atm) to form Mo(CO)₄(**537**-*S*,*P*) with dangling thioether groups.¹¹³⁸ Salts of (**534**) and (**535**) react with Mo(CO)₃(NCMe)₃ to produce unstable M[Mo(CO)₃(**534**)] (M = Li⁺ and Na⁺) and Na₂[Mo(CO)₃(**535**)], respectively, the former being stabilized as M(cryptand) [Mo(CO)₃(**534**)] or through alkylation to produce Mo(CO)₃(**536**) (R = Me, Et, Bz). A wide variety

of open and cyclic ten and tten analogs also form *fac*-tricarbonyl complexes; a calorimetric study of these complexes revealed that the basicity of the metal center increases with ligand donor groups in the order $S \leq PPh \ll NR$ (R = Me, Et) and cyclic \lt open.¹¹⁵⁶ The template synthesis and X-ray structure of $Mo(CO)_3(538)$ and related species were reported earlier by Blower et al.¹¹⁷³ The highly enantio- and regioselective alkylation of 1- and 3-monosubstituted allylic substrates is catalyzed by molybdenum complexes containing bis(pyridine) and bis(dihydrooxazole) ligands.¹¹⁷⁴



Interest in thiophene complexes¹¹⁷⁵ stems from a desire to understand industrial hydrodesulfurization processes catalysed by Co-promoted Mo and W sulfide catalysts. However, surprisingly few Mo–thiophene complexes are known. These include yellow, *fac/mer*-Mo(CO)₃[2,5-(Ph₂PCH₂CH₂)₂C₄H₂S], where the thiophene unit is tethered to the metal by two phosphine side-chains (*d*(Mo–S)2.569(1) Å),¹¹⁷⁶ unstable Mo(CO)₅(dbt-*S*) and Mo(CO)₃(η^{6} -dbt) (dbt = dibenzothiophene),¹¹⁷⁷ and Mo(η^{5} -C₄H₄S)(PMe₃)₃.¹⁰³⁹

4.7.8.3 Nitrosyl Complexes

4.7.8.3.1 Dinitrosyl complexes

The dinitrosyl halides, $[MoX_2(NO)_2]_n$, and their many ligand adducts and derivatives are well known and have been reviewed.⁴ In new work, $[Na_2(15-C-5)_2(NCMe)][MoCl_4(NO)_2]$ ($\nu(NO)$ 1,769 cm⁻¹ and 1,639 cm⁻¹) and $[Na(15-C-5)]_2[MoF_4Cl(NO)]$ ($\nu(NO)$ 1,628 cm⁻¹), were isolated from the reaction of $[MoCl_2(NO)_2]_n$ with NaF and 15-crown-5 in NCMe. Close association of the Na(15-C-5)⁺ units to the chloro and fluoro ligands, respectively, was established by X-ray crystallography.¹¹⁷⁸ An analogous reaction with Me₃SiNPPh₃ produces MoCl₂(OPPh₃)₂(NO)₂, the source of OPPh₃ being uncertain.⁵³⁷ The versatile starting materials, *cis*-[MoL₄(NO)₂]X₂ (L = NCMe (see *Inorg. Synth., Vol. 28, p. 63*), MeNO₂, thf; X = PF₆⁻, BF₄⁻), are produced in the reactions of Mo(CO)₆ and NOX or MoCl₂(NO)₂ and AgX in L. Derivatives such as [MoL₄-(NO)₂]X₂ (L = OPPh₃; L₂ = bpy, dppe)¹¹⁷⁹ and *cis*-Mo(O₂CR)₂(NO)₂ (R = alkyl, Ph)^{1180,1181} are readily prepared. The carboxylate complexes are precursors for active olefin polymerization and metathesis catalysts such as Mo(CHMe)(O₂CR)₂(AlCl₂)₂(NO)₂¹¹⁸² and Mo(CHMe)-(ROAlCl₂)₂(NO)₂.¹¹⁸³ A theoretical study of these complexes has been published.¹¹⁸⁴

Dinitrosyl complexes are also accessed via reduction of molybdate by hydroxylamine in the presence of added ligands. Complexes prepared in this fashion include $MoL_2(NO)_2$ ($L = S_2CNR_2^-$, S_2COR^- , OR^- , 2-picolinate (structurally characterized), quin, 2-H₂NC₆H₄O⁻, 2-H₂NC₆H₄S⁻, hydroxamic acids) and $MoCl_2L_2(NO)_2$ ($L = HO^iPr$, py).^{1005,1185–1187} Schiff base complexes of the type *trans*-Mo(SB)₂(NO)₂ result from reactions of *cis*-Mo(acac)₂(NO)₂ and ligand free acids.¹¹⁸⁸ A synthesis of $Mo(S_2CNEt_2)_2(NO)_2$ has been described in *Inorg. Synth.* (*Vol. 28, p. 145*) and related complexes, e.g., Mo(MeSC₆H₄S)₂(NO)₂, are known.¹⁰⁴⁶ The chemistry of *cis*-Mo(dttd)(NO)₂ is described in Section 4.7.6.5.4. Pyridine- and pyrimidine-thiolate complexes, *cis*-MoL₂(NO)₂, adopt distorted octahedral geometries.¹¹⁸⁹

Orange (**496**) (X = CH) reacts under different conditions with NOSbF₆ to form [Mo(CO)(HCpy₃)(NO)₂](SbF₆)₂ (ν (CO) 2,159 cm⁻¹! cf. CO gas 2,143 cm⁻¹) or [MoL(HCpy₃)(NO)₂](SbF₆)₂ (L = NCMe, Me₂C=O). The carbonyl ligand of [Mo(CO)(HCpy₃)(NO)₂](SbF₆)₂ is extremely labile and is displaced by aldehydes, ketones (e.g., Me₂C=O), and esters; the conformational equilibria and relative Lewis acidities of the complexes have been probed.¹⁰⁹² Similarly, (**496**) (X = P) reacts with successive equivalents of NOBF₄ to form *fac*-[Mo(CO)_{3-n}(Ppy₃)(NO)_n](BF₄)_n (*n*=1,2) or *fac*-[MoL(Ppy₃)(NO)₂](BF₄)₂ in the presence of NCMe, NCEt, and CH₃CH=CHCH=O (L). The Lewis acidity of [M(Ppy₃)(NO)₂]²⁺ is comparable to that of TiCl₄.¹⁰⁹⁴ A few tcn dinitrosyls, e.g., [(tcn)MoX(NO)₂]⁺ (X = Br, H), are also known.⁹⁷¹

4.7.8.3.2 Mononitrosyl complexes

Ligand exchange at trans-[Bm*Mo(CO)₂(MeOH)(NO)]BF₄ produces derivatives such as trans*trans*-Bm*MoX(CO)₂(NO) $[Bm*Mo(CO)_2(py)(NO)]BF_4$, (X = monoanion),trans-[Bm*Mo- $(CO)(PR_3)_2(NO)|BF_4$, $Mo(CO)L_2(NO)$ (L = bpy, phen, Me₂bpy, dppm) and dimeric [Mo(S₂CNR₂)- $(CO)_2(NO)]_2$ (R = alkyl).¹¹⁹⁰ Facile dithiocarbamate-bridge cleavage of [Mo(S₂CNEt₂)(CO)₂(NO)]₂ by a variety of nucleophiles yields $Cat[Mo(S_2CNEt_2)X(CO)_2(NO)]$ (Cat⁺ = PPN⁺, NEt₄⁺; X = NCS⁻, NO₃⁻, N₃⁻, Br⁻, Cl⁻) and Mo(S₂CNEt₂)(CO)L₂(NO) (L = PPh₃, PMe₃, P(OMe)₃; L₂ = CO/py, dppe). All complexes, except the dppe derivative, have a *cis,trans*- structure with a linear NO ligand (\angle (Mo–N–O) > 175°) and S-donors *trans* to the π -acceptor CO/NO ligands.¹¹⁹¹ Hydridonitrosyl complexes have been studied by Hillhouse, Berke, and co-workers; selected reactions, centered on the hydride ligand, are shown in Scheme 21. The reactions of (539) with three equivalents of PR₃ (R = Ph, Cy) produce (540), which are converted into the corresponding hydrides (541) by LiBH₄. However, reactions involving four equivalents of PMe₂Ph or PMe₃ produce (542); these react with LiBH₄ to give (543) via an isolable borohydride (544) when $PR_3 = PMe_3$. The carbonyls (541) and (543) may be interconverted, the former reacting with diazonium salts and acids HX to form phenyldiazene (545) or conjugate base complexes.¹¹⁹² The reactions of (543) include alkene-induced coupling of hydride, CO, olefin, acyl, and alkyl ligands¹¹⁹³ and the insertion of aldehydes, CO₂, Fe, and Re carbonyls and bisdihydroproline ester into the Mo-H bond giving, e.g., (546).¹¹⁹⁴ The X-ray structures of (543) ($PR_3 = PMe_3$), (544), and many organometallic derivatives have been determined.¹¹⁹⁴ Reduction of MoCl₃(PMe₃)₃(NO) with Na/Hg in the presence of PMe₃ affords yellow trans-MoCl- $(PMe_3)_4(NO)$. Metathesis permits the preparation of $MoI(PMe_3)_4(NO)$ and $Mo(S_2CX)(PMe_3)_3(NO)$ $(X = NMe_2, OMe)$, which react with CN^tBu and CO to give Mo(S₂CX)(CN^tBu)(PMe₃)₂(NO) and $Mo(S_2CX)(CO)(PMe_3)_2(NO)$, respectively. Direct reaction of $MoCl(PMe_3)_4(NO)$ with CN^tBu and CO yields $MoCl(CN^{L}Bu)_{n}(PMe_{3})_{4-n}(NO)(n = 1, 2)$ and $MoCl(CO)(PMe_{3})_{3}(NO)$, respectively. These complexes contain linear nitrosyl ligands with ν (NO) 1,590–1,530 cm⁻¹. Reaction of MoCl(PMe₃)₄(NO) with CS₂ produces off-white MoCl(η^3 -S₂CPMe₃)(PMe₃)₂(NO), possessing a linear nitrosyl in a pseudo-square pyramidal structure with an apical η^3 -ligand.¹⁰⁰⁶ Brown MoBr(η^3 -S₂CPCy₃)(CO)₂(NO) has been synthesized in three steps from Mo(CO)₃(NCMe)₃ and is used as a building block for bimetallic speces.¹¹⁹⁵ Related η^3 -dithio ligand complexes are described in Section 4.7.4.3.4(ii).



A preparation for orange Tp*Mo(CO)₂(NO) has been published in *Inorg. Synth. (Vol. 23, p. 4)* and related complexes bearing 3-R-Tp (R = ^tBu, Ph, ¹¹⁹⁶ C₆H₄OMe-4⁹⁷⁷), 4-R-Tp* (R = Me, Et, Bu, ⁹⁷² Bz⁹⁷³), B(3-R-pz)₄⁻ (R = ^tBu, Ph, ¹¹⁹⁶ C₆H₄OMe-4, Cy⁹⁷⁴), Tp^{Pr} and Tp' have been reported. Several of these have been structurally characterized, disorder of NO and CO being commonly observed; linear nitrosyl ligands are indicated, in keeping with ν (NO) ca. 1,670 cm⁻¹.⁹⁷⁴ Tris(triazolyl)borate complexes of this type have also been prepared, ^{967,1102} as has the thionitrosyl analog Tp*Mo(NS)(CO)₂.¹¹⁹⁷ The nitrosyl-Tp^x complexes are starting materials for Mo^{II} species (Section 4.7.6.2.3) that can in turn be reduced back to Mo⁰ complexes of the type [Tp*MoClL(NO)]⁻. Spectroelectrochemical studies of Tp*MoClL(NO) (L = substituted pyridine) have revealed a reversible reduction to [Tp*MoClL(NO)]⁻ complexes with intense, low-energy MLCT transitions. Near-IR electrochromism in some 3-substituted pyridine complexes (λ ca. 1,510 nm, ε 12,000 M⁻¹ cm⁻¹) has potential applications in electrochromic dye and electro-optical switching technologies. ¹¹⁹⁸ Nitrosylation of (**104**) by 0.5 M HNO₃ (R = H (tcn),⁹⁷¹ Me¹⁰⁰¹) or NOBF₄ (R = Bz)¹⁰⁰² produces [(R₃tcn)Mo(CO)₂(NO)]⁺ ((**427**), Scheme 6). Related 1,5,9-triaza-cyclododecane complexes are also known.⁵⁹⁴ Reaction of *imer*-[Mo(CO)₃(dppe)(NO)]BF₄, Mo(SC₆H₄-Me-2)(CO)₂(dppe)(NO)]BF₄ to form (**547**) (Scheme 12) and in its reversible deprotonation at the β -carbon. However, a novel tridentate scorpiand ligand is observed in (**548**) (W analog structurally characterized), formed when (**547**) reacts with NCMe.⁶⁰²

4.7.8.4 Complexes Containing Phosphorus-donor Ligands

4.7.8.4.1 "Homoleptic" phosphine complexes

The organometallic chemistry of pyrophoric Mo(PMe₃)₆ and related complexes up to 1995 has been surveyed in *Comprehensive Organometallic Chemistry*.⁶ Now, a convenient synthesis for Mo(PMe₃)₆ from MoCl₅ and Na/K in PMe₃⁷⁶⁹ has superseded the original metal-vapor synthesis described by Brookhart and co-workers.⁴ In solution, Mo(PMe₃)₆ is in equilibrium with MoH(CH₂PMe₂)(PMe₃)₄, with K = 8.6(4) × 10⁻³ in C₆D₆.⁷⁶⁹ Some chemistry of this complex is described in Section 4.7.4.6.4; the arene/heteroarene chemistry currently emerging from Parkin's laboratory is beyond the scope of this review. Co-condensation of Mo vapor with excess dmpe yields Mo(dmpe)₃⁸⁰⁰ while Mo(tmbp)₃ is produced upon reduction of MoCl₅ by Mg in thf solutions of 4,4',5,5'-tetramethyl-2,2'-biphosphine (tmbp).¹²⁰⁰ Contrary to expectations, these complexes adopt trigonal prismatic structures and significant Mo \rightarrow L electron transfer is inferred from structural and computational studies.¹²⁰⁰ Red Mo(tdep)₂ has also been isolated from the reaction of Mo(N₂)₂(PPh₂Me)₄ with tdep; the octahedral complex contains two opposed *fac*-tridentate tdep ligands, each with a pendent arm.¹²⁰¹ The dinitrogen complex, Mo(N₂)₂(dppe)₂, decomposes to (**549**) in refluxing benzene, the yield being enhanced by added dppe. The dpe ligand of (**549**) is displaced by CO (1 atm) forming the corresponding *cis*-dicarbonyl complex.¹²⁰³ The thermally stable phosphinine complex, Mo(PC₅H₅)₆ (M = Cr, Mo, W) have been reported.¹²⁰⁴


4.7.8.4.2 Complexes with carbonyl or organometallic co-ligands

Yellow *cis*-Mo(CO)₂L₂ (L = dppm, dppe, dppp) are produced in the reactions of Mo(CO)₂(η^4 -C₇H₈)₂ with phosphines, and a number of crystal structures are available from the late 1970s onward.¹²⁰⁵ Protonation by HBF₄·OEt₂¹²⁰⁶ or HOTf^{1207,1208} yields pentagonal bipyramidal hydrides, [HMo(CO)₂L₂]X (X⁻ = BF₄⁻, OTf⁻; δ (¹H) –3 to –7). Kinetics studies of the deprotonation of the hydrides by amines are consistent with anion-assisted reactions¹²⁰⁶ while electrochemical studies point to an ECEC oxidation and reduction forming H₂.¹²⁰⁸

Reactions of *trans*-Mo(N₂)₂(R₂PC₂H₄PR₂)₂ (R = Et, ¹Bu, Ph, Bz, CH₂C₆H₄Me-3) with ethyl acetate in refluxing toluene/benzene under argon produce $Mo(CO)(R_2PC_2H_4PR_2)_2$ ((550), R groups excluded in (550)–(553)).^{1152,1209} These compounds feature an agostic interaction between Mo and a γ -C-H bond at the site *trans* to the carbonyl ligand, as evidenced by NMR¹¹⁵² and X-ray diffraction studies ($d(Mo \cdots C)$ 3.007(4) Å for R = ⁱBu,¹²⁰⁹ 3.50(2) Å for R = Ph⁴). They react rapidly with H₂ producing (**551**) (R = Et, ⁱBu; ν (M–H) ca. 1,650 cm⁻¹; δ (¹H) ca. –5, $J_{HD} < 2$ Hz) or (**552**) (R = others, ν (H–H) ca. 2,650 cm⁻¹, δ (¹H) ca. –5, J_{HD} 30–35 Hz); some derivatives participate in a tautomeric equilibrium between (**551**) and (**552**) in solution.¹²¹⁰ The dihydride MoH₂ (CO)(depe)₂ exhibits a pentagonal bipyramidal structure¹²¹⁰ while octahedral structures with square pyramidal heavy atom cores are observed for $M_0(H_2)(CO)(R_2PC_2H_4PR_2)_2$ (R = Ph,¹²¹⁰ $CH_2C_6H_4Me-3^{1152}$). Neutron diffraction and inelastic neutron scattering experiments have probed the structure and dynamics of the dihydrogen ligand in perdeuterated $Mo(H_2)(CO)(dppe)_2$, where $d(H-H) = 0.82 \text{ Å}.^{1210}$ Isocyanide analogs, *trans*-Mo(H₂)(CNR)(dppe)₂ (R = Bu, Ph, C₆H₄NMe₂-4, $\delta(H_2)$ ca. -5), are accessible from *trans*-Mo(N₂)(CNR)(dppe)₂.¹²¹¹ Related σ -bonded silane complexes, e.g., (553), have been reported (some of these equilibrate with oxidative addition products).^{1212,1213} A complete treatise on dihydrogen and σ -bond complexes has been provided by Kubas.¹¹⁰⁷ The X-ray structure of *fac*-Mo(CO)(bdpe)(dppm) and known trans-Mo(CO)(dmf)(dppe)₂¹²¹⁴ have been determined. A rare trigonal bipyramidal, 4-electron-donor mono(acetylene) complex, Mo(HC \equiv CH)(dppe)₂, forms upon reaction of *trans*-Mo(N₂)₂(dppe)₂ with HC \equiv CLi.en in thf.¹²¹⁵ Details of the reactions of *trans*-Mo(N₂)₂(dppe)₂ and related species with alkynes may be found in *Comprehensive Organometallic Chemistry*⁶ and a review by Henderson.¹²¹⁶

4.7.8.4.3 Carbon dioxide complexes

Interest in CO₂ binding and activation by transition metals is piqued by the potential of the molecule as a C₁ feedstock. The first bis(carbon dioxide) metal complex, *trans*-Mo- $(\eta^2$ -CO₂)₂(PMe₃)₄ (554), was prepared by reacting *cis*-Mo(N₂)₂(PMe₃)₄ with CO₂;⁴ MoH(η^3 -C₃H₅)(PMe₃)₄ reacts with CO₂ to give the same product.⁸⁰⁶ IR/Raman studies have shown that the energies of the ν (CO) (1,155 cm⁻¹) and γ (C=O) (ca. 550 cm⁻¹) modes are sensitive to ligand geometry;¹²¹⁷ ¹³C (δ (CO₂) 206) and ³¹P NMR spectra are in accord with staggered CO₂ ligands. The compound reacts with MeI or I₂, CO, COS, and CNR (R = Me, ⁱPr, ^tBu, Cy, Bz) to produce MoI₂(PMe₃)₄, *cis*-Mo(CO)₂(PMe₃)₄, Mo(S₂C=O)(CO)₂(PMe₃)₃, and *trans,mer*-Mo(CO₂)₂(CNR)(PMe₃)₃, respectively. X-ray structures of the latter (R = ⁱPr, Bz) confirmed the presence of η^2 *trans* staggered CO₂ ligands in this class of compound,¹²¹⁸ a result in line with computational studies.¹²¹⁹ Irradiation of (554) produces *cis*-Mo(CO)₂(PMe₃)₄ and OPMe₃ along with small amounts of *fac*-Mo(CO)₃(PMe₃)₃ and Mo(CO)(PMe₃)₅.¹²²⁰ Diphosphine derivatives, *trans*-Mo(CO₂)₂(PMe₃)₂L and *trans*-Mo(CO₂)₂L₂ (L = dmpe, depe, and dmpm), have been prepared and probed by dynamic NMR spectroscopy.¹²²¹ The Mo^{II} complex, MoH(O₂CH)-(CO₂)(dmpe)₂, is formed in the reaction between MoH₄(dmpe)₂ and CO₂.⁸⁰⁵

4.7.8.4.4 Dinitrogen complexes

The desire to understand and harness dinitrogen fixation and functionalization has sustained research in this area.^{4,1222} Mononuclear dinitrogen complexes containing phosphine co-ligands are typically prepared via reduction of high-valent chloro species under dinitrogen in the presence of added phosphine or by ligand displacement reactions; complexes of the type fac-Mo(N₂)₃P₃, cis/trans-Mo(N₂)₂P₄, and cis,mer- and cis,fac-Mo(N₂)P₅ (P = phosphine donor) are well known (see *Inorg. Synth., Vol. 28, p. 38*, for a synthesis of trans-Mo(N₂)₂(dppe)₂). The dinitrogen ligand is invariably bound in a linear end-on fashion, with $d(N \equiv N)$ close to or slightly longer than free

N₂ (1.09–1.15 Å, cf. 1.0976(2) Å for N₂). The spectroscopic characteristics of dinitrogen complexes

N₂ (1.09–1.15 Å, cf. 1.0976(2) Å for N₂). The spectroscopic characteristics of dinitrogen complexes include $\nu(NN)$ IR bands between 1,880 and 2,110 cm⁻¹ (2,331 cm⁻¹ for N₂), ¹⁵N NMR resonances at -35 ppm to -55 ppm (N_{α} > N_{β})⁴ and co-ligand dependent ⁹⁵Mo chemical shifts.¹²²³ Sodium reduction of MoCl₃(PEt₃)₃ under N₂ yields [Mo(N₂)₂(PEt₃)₃]₂(μ -N₂) that reacts with PMe₃ to give known *trans*-Mo(N₂)₂(PMe₃)₄.¹²²⁴ The *cis*- and *trans*- isomers of a related complex, Mo(N₂)₂(PMe₂Ph)₄, have been separated¹²²⁵ and a kinetics study of the decomposition of *trans*-Mo(N₂)₂(L = bidentate Mo(N₂)₂(PMePh₂)₄ has been reported.¹²²⁶ New derivatives of *trans*-Mo(N₂)₂L₂ (L = bidentate dispersively because the optimal state of the set of trans-trans of the optimal state of trans-trans of the optimal state of trans-trans of trans of trans-trans of trans-trans of trans-trans of trans of trans-trans of trans-trans of trans of trans-trans of trans of tran diphosphine) incorporate ligands such as (–)-(2S,3S)-bis(diphenylphosphino)butane (S,S-chira-phos),¹²²⁷ dmpe,⁷⁴⁰ Bz₂PCH₂CH₂PBz₂ derivatives¹¹⁵² and dippe.⁷⁰³ Reduction of MoX₃(tppea) (X = Cl, Br) under similar conditions produces unstable *cis*-Mo(N₂)₂(tppea); subsequent reactions with CO or PMe₃ (L) yield MoL₃(tppea).^{882,1017} The phosphorus analog, *cis*-Mo(N₂)₂(tppep), is also known.¹⁰¹⁷ Complexes such as *trans*-Mo(N₂)₂(PR₃)L (L = E{(CH₂)_nPPh₂}₂ (n=2, 3; E=O, S, NH, NMe, PPh),^{1228,1229} MeP{(CH₂)₃PMe₂}₂¹²³⁰) are produced by reducing MoCl₃L under N₂ in the presence of one equivalent of PR_3 ($R_3 = Me_3$, Ph_3 , $MePh_2$, Me_2Ph , etc). Similar reactions employing two equivalents of PR₃ and limited N₂ produce isomeric mono(dinitrogen) complexes, Mo(N₂)(tppep)L₂ (L=PMe₂Ph; L₂=dmpm, dppm, dppe, etc),¹²³¹ while addition of N₂ to MoH(CH₂PMe₂)(PMe₃)(bdmp) produces Mo(N₂)(PMe₃)₂(bdmp).⁷⁹⁹ Reaction of *trans*-Mo(N₂)₂-(PMe₃)₄ with PMe₃, dmpm, dmpe, depe, or N(CH₂CH₂PMe₂)₃ provides an alternative route to mono(dinitrogen) complexes bearing mono-, bi-, and tridentate co-ligands; the X-ray structure of known $Mo(N_2)(PMe_3)_5$ has been determined.¹²²⁴ NMR studies and the X-ray structures of *cis,mer*-Mo(N₂)(PMe₃)₂(bdmp)¹²³⁰ and *cis,fac*-Mo(N₂)(dppm)(bdpe)¹²³² have defined the isomers present in this system. Ready loss of N_2 from mono(dinitrogen) complexes yields dihydrides (from H_2) and CO and ethene adducts.¹²³¹ The condition-dependent reactions of dinitrogen complexes with acids, producing ammonia, hydrazine, etc, may be found in the references cited.

4.7.8.5 Complexes Containing Sulfur-donor Ligands

Macrocyclic, $Me_8[16]aneS_4$ ((279) Scheme 13) supports the Mo^0 chemistry shown in Scheme 19. Sodium amalgam reduction of (452) in thf under \overrightarrow{CO} or N₂ produces trans-Mo(CO)₂(Me₈[16]aneS₄) $(555, \nu(CO) 1,902, 1,767 \text{ cm}^{-1})^{1040}$ and trans-Mo(N₂)₂(Me₈[16]aneS₄) (281, $\nu(NN)$ 1,955 cm⁻¹ 1,890 cm⁻¹),⁷¹² respectively. The octahedral complexes feature an equatorial syn S₄-donor and axial CO or N_2 ligands. Alkylation and protonation of the dicarbonyl takes place at sulfur giving (556).¹²³³ The dinitrogen complex undergoes alkylation and arylation reactions consistent with effective p_{π} donation from the thioether to the Mo–N₂ unit;^{712,713} it is a versatile starting material for isocyanide (557, 558),¹²³⁴ phenylisocyanate (559),¹²³⁵ and oxidized cyano (459), nitrido, thio, and hydrosulfido species, etc. (see Scheme 13). Therewith ends this review of mononuclear Mo chemistry!

4.7.9 **ABBREVIATIONS**

acac = acetylacetonate(1-) = 2,4-pentanedionate(1-) Ad = 1-adamantyl (2-Ad = 2-adamantyl) Ar = generally C₆H₃Me₂-3,5 and C₆H₃¹Pr₂-2,6 in triamido and imido ligands, respectively **bdme** = bis(dimethylphosphinoethyl)methylphosphine **bdmp** = bis(dimethylphosphinopropyl)methylphosphine **bdpe** = bis(diphenylphosphinoethyl)phenylphosphine **bdpp** = bis(diphenylphosphinopropyl)phenylphosphine **bdt** = benzene-1,2-dithiolate $\mathbf{Bm} = bispyrazolylmethane$ $\mathbf{Bm}^* = bis(3,5-dimethylpyrazolyl)methane$ **Bp** = dihydrobispyrazolylborate $\mathbf{Bp}^* = \text{dihydrobis}(3,5-\text{dimethylpyrazolyl})\text{borate}$ **bpy** = 2,2'-bipyridine $Bu_2bdt = 3.5$ -di-*tert*-butylbenzene-1,2-dithiolate \mathbf{Bu}_{4} dttd = 1,2-bis(2-mercapto-3,5-di-*t*-butylphenylthio)ethane(2-)

cyclam = 1,4,8,11-tetraazacyclotetradecane

dbc = 3,5-di-*tert*-butylcatecholate

dippe = 1, 2-bis(diisopropylphosphino)ethane **dmit** = 4,5-dimercapto-1,3-dithiole-2-thionate dppb = 1,2-bis(diphenylphosphino)benzene **dppe** = 1,2-bis(diphenylphosphino)ethane **dppee** = 1,2-bis(diphenylphosphino)ethene **dppm** = bis(diphenylphosphino)methane $dtdH_2 = 1,2-bis(2-mercaptophenylthio)ethane(2-)$ $\mathbf{Fc} = \text{ferrocenium ion, } [Fe(\eta^5 - C_5H_5)_2]^T$ **hmpa** = hexamethylphosphoramide MCD = magnetic circular dichroism Me₄cyclam = 1,4,8,11-tetramethyl-1,4,8,11-tetraazacyclotetradecane $Me_8[16]aneS_4 = 3,3,7,7,11,11,15,15$ -octamethyl-1,5,9,13-tetrathiacyclohexadecane Mes = 2,4,6-trimethylphenyl (mesityl) Nap = 1-naphthyl N_3N = triamido ligand, N(CH₂CH₂NSiMe₃)₃³⁻ OAT = oxygen atom transfer **OTf** = trifluoromethanesulfonate (triflate) anion Pc = phthalocyaninate(2-)**pdc** = pyridine-2,6-dicarboxylate(2-) $pdpeH_2 = pyridine-2, 6-bis(2, 2-diphenylethanol)$ **phen** = 1,10-phenanthroline **PPN** = bis(triphenylphosphine)iminium cation $\mathbf{p}\mathbf{y} = \mathbf{p}\mathbf{y}\mathbf{r}\mathbf{i}\mathbf{d}\mathbf{i}\mathbf{n}\mathbf{e}$ **quin** = 8-quinolinolate (8-hydroxyquinolate) **ROMP** = ring opening metathesis polymerization **TCNE** = tetracyanoethylene TCNQ = 7,7,8,8-tetracyano-*p*-quinodimethane tdea = tris(diphenylphosphinoethyl)amine tdep = tris(diphenylphosphinoethyl)phosphine terpy = 2,2':6,2''-terpyridineTm = trispyrazolylmethane $\mathbf{Tm}^* = \text{tris}(3,5\text{-dimethylpyrazolyl})$ methane $tmeaH_3 = tris(2-mercaptoethyl)amine$ tmeda = N, N, N', N'-tetramethylethylenediamine tmp = 5,10,15,20-tetramesitylporphyrinato(2-) $\mathbf{T}\mathbf{p} = hydrotripyrazolylborate$ $\mathbf{Tp}^* = hydrotris(3,5-dimethylpyrazolyl)borate$ $\mathbf{Tp}^{\mathbf{Pr}} = hydrotris(3-isopropylpyrazolyl)borate$ Tp' = hydrobis(3-isopropylpyrazolyl)(5-isopropylpyrazolyl)boratetpp = 5,10,15,20-tetraphenylporphyrinato(2-) ttcn = 1,4,7-trithiacyclononane ttp = 5, 10, 15, 20-tetra-*p*-tolylporphyrinato(2-) Tz^{*} = hydrotris(3,5-dimethyl-1,2,4-triazolyl)borate

XAS = X-ray absorption spectroscopy

4.7.10 REFERENCES

- 1. Stiefel, E. I. Prog. Inorg. Chem. 1977, 22, 1-223.
- Stiefel, E. I. Molybdenum(VI). In Comprehensive Coordination Chemistry; Wilkinson, G., Gillard, R. D., McCleverty, J. A., Eds.; Pergamon: Oxford, 1987; Chapter 36.5, pp. 1375–1420.
- Garner, C. D.; Charnock, J. M. Molybdenum(III), (IV) and (V). In *Comprehensive Coordination Chemistry*; Wilkinson, G., Gillard, R. D., McCleverty, J. A., Eds.; Pergamon: Oxford, 1987; Chapter 36.4, pp. 1329–1374.
- Leigh, G. J.; Richards, R. L. Molybdenum(0), molybdenum(1) and molybdenum(1). In Comprehensive Coordination Chemistry; Wilkinson, G., Gillard, R. D., McCleverty, J. A., Eds.; Pergamon: Oxford 1987; Chapter 36.2, pp. 1265–1299.
- Garner, C. D. Molybdenum: special topics. In *Comprehensive Coordination Chemistry*; Wilkinson, G., Gillard, R. D., McCleverty, J. A., Eds.; Pergamon: Oxford, 1987; Chapter 36.6, pp. 1421–1444.
- 6. Abel, E. W.; Stone, F. G. A.; Wilkinson, G. Comprehensive Organometallic Chemistry; Pergamon: Oxford, 1995.
- 7. Stiefel, E. I. Molybdenum. In Kirk Othmer Encyclopedia of Chemical Technology, 4th ed.; Wiley: New York, 1995; Vol. 16, pp. 940.

- 8. Braithwaite, E. R.; Haber, J. (Eds). Molybdenum: an outline of its chemistry and uses; Elsevier: Amsterdam, 1994.
- 9. Hille, R. Chem. Rev. 1996, 96, 2757-2816.
- Pilato, R. S.; Stiefel, E. I. Molybdenum and Tungsten Enzymes. In *Bioinorganic Catalysis*; 2nd ed.; Reedijk, J., Bouwman, E., Eds.; Marcel Dekker: New York, 1999, pp. 81–152.
- 11. Sigel, A., Sigel, H. (Eds). Molybdenum and Tungsten: Their Roles in Biological Processes. Marcel Dekker: New York, 2002; Vol. 39.
- 12. Schrock, R. R. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 2001, 2541-2550.
- 13. Schrock, R. R. Chem. Rev. 2002, 102, 145-179.
- 14. Nugent, W. A.; Mayer, J. M. Metal-Ligand Multiple Bonds; Wiley: New York, 1988.
- 15. Peters, J. C.; Odom, A. L.; Cummins, C. C. Chem. Commun. 1997, 1995-1996.
- 16. Greco, J. B.; Peters, J. C.; Baker, T. A.; Davis, W. M.; Cummins, C. C.; Wu, G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 5003-5013.
- 17. Agapie, T.; Diaconescu, P. L.; Cummins, C. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 2412-2413.
- 18. Greco, G. E.; Schrock, R. R. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 3850-3860.
- 19. Greco, G. E.; Schrock, R. R. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 3861-3878.
- Schrock, R. R.; Seidel, S. W.; Mösch-Zanetti, N. C.; Shih, K.-Y.; O'Donoghue, M. B.; Davis, W. M.; Reiff, W. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 11876–11893.
- 21. Greco, G. E.; O'Donoghue, M. B.; Seidel, S. W.; Davis, W. M.; Schrock, R. R. Organometallics 2000, 19, 1132-1149.
- 22. Seidel, S. W.; Schrock, R. R.; Davis, W. M. Organometallics 1998, 17, 1058-1068.
- 23. Cochran, F. V.; Schrock, R. R. Organometallics 2001, 20, 2127-2129.
- 24. Araujo, J. P.; Wicht, D. K.; Bonitatebus, P. J., Jr.; Schrock, R. R. Organometallics 2001, 20, 5682-5689.
- 25. Tsai, Y.-C.; Diaconescu, P. L.; Cummins, C. C. Organometallics 2000, 19, 5260-5262.
- Saint-Arroman, R. P.; Chabanas, M.; Baudouin, A.; Copéret, C.; Basset, J.-M.; Lesage, A.; Emsley, L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 3820–3821.
- 27. Schrock, R. R. Acc. Chem. Res. 1986, 19, 342-348.
- Jamison, G. M.; Saunders, R. S.; Wheeler, D. R.; Alam, T. M.; McClain, M. D.; Loy, D. A.; Ziller, J. W. Organometallics 1996, 15, 3244–3246.
- 29. Vaughan, W. M.; Abboud, K. A.; Boncella, J. M. Organometallics 1995, 14, 1567-1577.
- 30. Schrock, R. R.; Murdzek, J. S.; Bazan, G. C.; Robbins, J.; DiMare, M.; O'Regan, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 3875–3886.
- Oskam, J. H.; Fox, H. H.; Yap, K. B.; McConville, D. H.; O'Dell, R.; Lichtenstein, B. J.; Schrock, R. R. J. Organomet. Chem. 1993, 459, 185–198.
- 32. Schoettel, G.; Kress, J.; Osborn, J. A. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1989, 1062-1063.
- Bell, A.; Clegg, W.; Dyer, P. W.; Elsegood, M. R. J.; Gibson, V. C.; Marshall, E. L. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1994, 2247–2248.
- Bell, A.; Clegg, W.; Dyer, P. W.; Elsegood, M. R. J.; Gibson, V. C.; Marshall, E. L. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1994, 2547–2548.
- 35. Fox, H. H.; Schrock, R. R. (2,6-diisopropylphenylimido)bis(hexafluoro-tert-butoxide)neophylidenemolybdenum-Mo{OC(CH₃)(CF₃)₂}₂{=C(H)C(CH₃)₂C₆H₅}{=N-2,6-(*i*-C₃H₇)₂C₆H₃}. In Synthetic Methods of Organometallic and Inorganic Chemistry; Herrmann, W. A., Ed.; Georg Thieme Verlag: Stuttgart, 1997; Vol. 7, pp. 149–150.
- Schrock, R. R.; Crowe, W. E.; Bazan, G. C.; DiMare, M.; O'Regan, M. B.; Schofield, M. H. Organometallics 1991, 10, 1832–1843.
- 37. Schrock, R. R.; Luo, S.; Lee, J. C., Jr.; Zanetti, N. C.; Davis, W. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 3883-3895.
- 38. Feldman, J.; Murdzek, J. S.; Davis, W. M.; Schrock, R. R. Organometallics 1989, 8, 2260–2265.
- 39. Bazan, G. C.; Schrock, R. R.; O'Regan, M. B. Organometallics 1991, 10, 1062-1067.
- 40. Fox, H. H.; Lee, J.-K.; Park, L. Y.; Schrock, R. R. Organometallics 1993, 12, 759-768.
- 41. Robbins, J.; Bazan, G. C.; Murdzek, J. S.; O'Regan, M. B.; Schrock, R. R. Organometallics 1991, 10, 2902-2907.
- 42. Oskam, J. H.; Schrock, R. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 11831-11845.
- 43. Feast, W. J.; Gibson, V. C.; Ivin, K. J.; Kenwright, A. M.; Khosravi, E. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1994, 1399-1400.
- 44. Schattenmann, F. J.; Schrock, R. R.; Davis, W. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 3295-3296.
- 45. Feher, F. J.; Hwang, T.-L.; Schwab, J. J.; Shaka, A. J.; Ziller, J. W. Magn. Reson. Chem. 1997, 35, 730-734.
- 46. Vaughan, W. M.; Abboud, K. A.; Boncella, J. M. J. Organomet. Chem. 1995, 485, 37-43.
- 47. Gibson, V. C.; Marshall, E. L.; Redshaw, C.; Clegg, W.; Elsegood, M. R. J. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1996, 4197–4199.
- 48. McConville, D. H.; Wolf, J. R.; Schrock, R. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 4413-4414.
- 49. Totland, K. M.; Boyd, T. J.; Lavoie, G. G.; Davis, W. M.; Schrock, R. R. Macromolecules 1996, 29, 6114-6125.
- Zhu, S. S.; Cefalo, D. R.; La, D. S.; Jamieson, J. Y.; Davis, W. M.; Hoveyda, A. H.; Schrock, R. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 8251–8259.
- 51. Tsang, W. C.; Schrock, R. R.; Hoveyda, A. H. Organometallics 2001, 20, 5658-5669.
- 52. Jamieson, J. Y.; Schrock, R. R.; Davis, W. M.; Bonitatebus, P. J.; Zhu, S. S.; Hoveyda, A. H. Organometallics 2000, 19, 925–930.
- 53. Fujimura, O.; de la Mata, F. J.; Grubbs, R. H. Organometallics 1996, 15, 1865-1871.
- 54. Fujimura, O.; Grubbs, R. H. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 63, 824-832.
- 55. Alexander, J. B.; Schrock, R. R.; Davis, W. M.; Hultzsch, K. C.; Hoveyda, A. H.; Houser, J. H. Organometallics 2000, 19, 3700–3715.
- 56. Hultzsch, K. C.; Bonitatebus, P. J., Jr.; Jernelius, J.; Schrock, R. R.; Hoveyda, A. H. Organometallics 2001, 20, 4705–4712.
- 57. Schrock, R. R.; Jamieson, J. Y.; Dolman, S. J.; Miller, S. A.; Bonitatebus, P. J. J.; Hoveyda, A. H. Organometallics 2002, 21, 409-417.
- 58. Weatherhead, G. S.; Houser, J. H.; Ford, J. G.; Jamieson, J. Y.; Schrock, R. R.; Hoveyda, A. H. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2000**, *41*, 9553–9559.

- 59. Kiely, A. F.; Jernelius, J. A.; Schrock, R. R.; Hoveyda, A. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 2868-2869.
- 60. La, D. S.; Ford, J. G.; Sattely, E. S.; Bonitatebus, P. J.; Schrock, R. R.; Hoveyda, A. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 11603-11604
- 61. Schrock, R. R. Top. Organomet. Chem. 1998, 1, 1-36.
- 62. Schrock, R. R. Tetrahedron 1999, 55, 8141-8153.
- 63. Sundermeyer, J.; Weber, K.; Nürnberg, O. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1992, 1631-1633.
- 64. Roessler, B.; Seppelt, K. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 2000, 39, 1259-1261.
- 65. Roessler, B.; Pfennig, V.; Seppelt, K. Chem. Eur. J. 2001, 7, 3652-3656.
- 66. Dehnicke, K.; Strähle, J. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1992, 31, 955-978.
- 67. Dehnicke, K.; Weller, F.; Strähle, J. Chem. Soc. Rev. 2001, 30, 125-135.
- 68. Young, C. G.; Janos, F.; Bruck, M. A.; Wexler, P. A.; Enemark, J. H. Aust. J. Chem. 1990, 43, 1347-1355.
- 69. Patt-Siebel, U.; Khabou, A.; Müller, U.; Dehnicke, K. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1989, 569, 91-96.
- 70. Dietrich, A.; Neumüller, B.; Dehnicke, K. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1999, 625, 619-624.
- 71. Fenske, D.; Frankenau, A.; Dehnicke, K. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1989, 574, 14-20.
- 72. Nussher, D.; Weller, F.; Dehnicke, K. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1993, 619, 507-512.
- 73. Beck, J.; Strähle, J. Z. Naturforsch. B 1987, 42, 255-259.
- 74. Beck, J.; Schweda, E.; Strähle, J. Z. Naturforsch. B 1985, 40, 1073-1076.
- 75. Janiak, C.; Temizdemir, S. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1999, 295, 248-251.
- 76. Dietrich, A.; Neumüller, B.; Dehnicke, K. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1998, 624, 1247-1249.
- 77. Dietrich, A.; Neumüller, B.; Dehnicke, K. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1999, 625, 1321-1326.
- 78. Beck, J.; Strähle, J. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1987, 554, 50-60.
- 79. Cummins, C. C. Chem. Commun. 1998, 1777-1786.
- 80. Laplaza, C. E.; Odom, A. L.; Davis, W. M.; Cummins, C. C.; Protasiewicz, J. D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 4999-5000.
- 81. Cherry, J.-P. F.; Johnson, A. R.; Baraldo, L. M.; Tsai, Y.-C.; Cummins, C. C.; Kryatov, S. V.; Rybak-Akimova, E. V.; Capps, K. B.; Hoff, C. D.; Haar, C. M.; Nolan, S. P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 7271-7286.
- 82. Laplaza, C. E.; Johnson, A. R.; Cummins, C. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 709-710.
- 83. Johnson, M. J. A.; Lee, P. M.; Odom, A. L.; Davis, W. M.; Cummins, C. C. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1997, 36, 87-91.
- 84. Agapie, T.; Odom, A. L.; Cummins, C. C. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 174-179.
- 85. Laplaza, C. E.; Johnson, M. J. A.; Peters, J.; Odom, A. L.; Kim, E.; Cummins, C. C.; George, G. N.; Pickering, I. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 8623-8638.
- 86. Peters, J. C.; Cherry, J.-P. F.; Thomas, J. C.; Baraldo, L.; Mindiola, D. J.; Davis, W. M.; Cummins, C. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 10053-10067.
- 87. Tsai, Y.-C.; Johnson, M. J. A.; Mindiola, D. J.; Cummins, C. C.; Klooster, W. T.; Koetzle, T. F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 10426-10427.
- 88. Cherry, J. P. F.; Stephens, F. H.; Johnson, M. J. A.; Diaconescu, P. L.; Cummins, C. C. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 6860-6862.
- 89. Hahn, J.; Landis, C. R.; Nasluzov, V. A.; Neyman, K. M.; Rösch, N. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 3947-3951.
- 90. Khoroshun, D. V.; Musaev, D. G.; Morokuma, K. Organometallics 1999, 18, 5653-5660.
- 91. Schrock, R. R. Acc. Chem. Res. 1997, 30, 9-16.
- 92. Mösch-Zanetti, N. C.; Schrock, R. R.; Davis, W. M.; Wanninger, K.; Seidel, S. W.; O'Donoghue, M. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 11037-11048.
- 93. Kol, M.; Schrock, R. R.; Kempe, R.; Davis, W. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 4382-4390.
- 94. Plass, W.; Verkade, J. G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 2275-2276.
- 95. O'Donoghue, M. B.; Davis, W. M.; Schrock, R. R. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 5149-5158.
- 96. Chan, D. M.-T.; Chisholm, M. H.; Folting, K.; Huffman, J. C.; Marchant, N. S. Inorg. Chem. 1986, 25, 4170-4174.
- 97. Chiu, H.-T.; Chen, Y.-P.; Chuang, S.-H.; Jen, J.-S.; Lee, G.-H.; Peng, S.-M. Chem. Commun. 1996, 139-140.
- 98. Chiu, H.-T.; Chuang, S.-H.; Lee, G.-H.; Peng, S.-M. Adv. Mater. 1998, 10, 1475-1479.
- 99. Buth, S.; Wocadlo, S.; Neumüller, B.; Weller, F.; Dehnicke, K. Z. Naturforsch. B 1992, 47, 706-712.
- 100. Caulton, K. G.; Chisholm, M. H.; Doherty, S.; Folting, K. Organometallics 1995, 14, 2585-2588.
- 101. Herrmann, W. A.; Bogdanovic, S.; Poli, R.; Priermeier, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 4989-4990.
- 102. Kondo, M.; Oku, H.; Ueyama, N.; Nakamura, A. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1996, 69, 117-123.
- 103. Chisholm, M. H.; Davidson, E. R.; Pink, M.; Quinlan, K. B. Inorg. Chem. 2002, 41, 3437-3443.
- 104. Wigley, D. E. Prog. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 42, 239-482.
- Barrie, P.; Coffey, T. A.; Forster, G. D.; Hogarth, G. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1999, 4519–4528.
 Nielson, A. J.; Glenny, M. W.; Rickard, C. E. F.; Waters, J. M. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 2000, 4569–4578.
- 107. Danopoulos, A. A.; Wilkinson, G.; Hursthouse, M. B.; Hussain, B. Polyhedron 1989, 8, 2947-2949.
- 108. Danopoulos, A. A.; Wilkinson, G.; Hussain-Bates, B.; Hursthouse, M. B. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1990, 2753-2761.
- 109. Morrison, D. L.; Wigley, D. E. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 2610-2616.
- 110. Fox, H. H.; Yap, K. B.; Robbins, J.; Cai, S.; Schrock, R. R. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 2287-2289.
- 111. Dyer, P. W.; Gibson, V. C.; Howard, J. A. K.; Whittle, B.; Wilson, C. Polyhedron 1995, 14, 103-111.
- Bryson, N.; Youinou, M.-T.; Osborn, J. A. Organometallics 1991, 10, 3389–3392.
 Siemeling, U.; Türk, T.; Schoeller, W. W.; Redshaw, C.; Gibson, V. C. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 4738–4739.
- 114. Copley, R. C. B.; Dyer, P. W.; Gibson, V. C.; Howard, J. A. K.; Marshall, E. L.; Wang, W.; Whittle, B. Polyhedron 1996, 15, 3001-3008.
- 115. Gibson, V. C.; Redshaw, C.; Clegg, W.; Elsegood, M. R. J. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1997, 3207-3212.
- 116. Rufanov, K. A.; Zarubin, D. N.; Ustynyuk, N. A.; Gourevitch, D. N.; Sundermeyer, J.; Churakov, A. V.; Howard, J. A. K. Polyhedron 2001, 20, 379-385.
- 117. Clark, G. R.; Nielson, A. J.; Rickard, C. E. F. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1996, 4265-4268.
- 118. Jolly, M.; Mitchell, J. P.; Gibson, V. C. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1992, 1329-1330.
- 119. Buchmeiser, M.; Schrock, R. R. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 3553-3554.

- 120. del Río, D.; Montilla, F.; Pastor, A.; Galindo, A.; Monge, A.; Gutiérrez-Puebla, E. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 2000. 2433-2437.
- 121. Gibson, V. C.; Redshaw, C.; Clegg, W.; Elsegood, M. R. J.; Siemeling, U.; Türk, T. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1996, 4513-4515.
- 122. King, L.; Motevalli, M.; Sullivan, A. C. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 2000, 1357-1361.
- 123. Cantrell, G. K.; Meyer, T. Y. Organometallics 1997, 16, 5381-5383.
- 124. Chisholm, M. H.; Folting, K.; Huffman, J. C.; Ratermann, A. L. Inorg. Chem. 1982, 21, 978-982.
- 125. Lam, H.-W.; Wilkinson, G.; Hussain-Bates, B.; Hursthouse, M. B. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1993, 1477-1482.
- 126. Blackmore, I. J.; Gibson, V. C.; Graham, A. J.; Jolly, M.; Marshall, E. L.; Ward, B. P. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 2001, 3242-3243.
- 127. Cole, J. M.; Gibson, V. C.; Howard, J. A. K.; McIntyre, G. J.; Walker, G. L. P. Chem. Commun. 1998, 1829-1830 (Erratum: ibid 1998, 2165).
- 128. Gibson, V. C.; Redshaw, C.; Walker, G. L. P.; Howard, J. A. K.; Hoy, V. J.; Cole, J. M.; Kuzmina, L. G.; De Silva, D. S. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1999, 161-166.
- 129. Hao, H.; Roesky, H. W.; Cui, C.; Schmidt, H.-G.; Noltemeyer, M.; Yu, P.; Bai, G. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 2000, 626, 368-373.
- 130. Casty, G. L.; Tilley, T. D.; Yap, G. P. A.; Rheingold, A. L. Organometallics 1997, 16, 4746-4754.
- 131. Ortiz, C. G.; Abboud, K. A.; Boncella, J. M. Organometallics 1999, 18, 4253-4260.
- 132. Dillon, K. B.; Gibson, V. C.; Howard, J. A. K.; Redshaw, C.; Sequeira, L.; Yao, J. W. J. Organomet. Chem. 1997, 528, 179-183.
- 133. Danopoulos, A. A.; Wilkinson, G.; Sweet, T. K. N.; Hursthouse, M. B. Polyhedron 1997, 16, 2631-2636.
- 134. Sundermeyer, J.; Weber, K.; Pritzkow, H. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1993, 32, 731-733.
- 135. Sundermeyer, J.; Weber, K.; Werner, H.; Mahr, N.; Bringmann, G.; Schupp, O. J. Organomet. Chem. 1993, 444, C37-C40.
- 136. Brandts, J. A. M.; Boersma, J.; Spek, A. L.; van Koten, G. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 1727-1733.
- 137. Brandts, J. A. M.; van Leur, M.; Gossage, R. A.; Boersma, J.; Spek, A. L.; van Koten, G. Organometallics 1999, 18, 2633-2641.
- 138. Brandts, J. A. M.; Gossage, R. A.; Boersma, J.; Spek, A. L.; van Koten, G. Organometallics 1999, 18, 2642–2648.
- 139. Brandts, J. A. M.; van de Geijn, P.; van Faassen, E. E.; Boersma, J.; van Koten, G. J. Organomet. Chem. 1999, 584, 246-253.
- 140. Huang, J.-H.; Chen, H.-J.; Hsieh, C.-C.; Lee, G.-H.; Peng, S.-M. Inorg. Chim. Acta 2001, 321, 142-148.
- 141. Hao, H.; Cui, C.; Bai, G.; Roesky, H. W.; Noltemeyer, M.; Schmidt, H.-G.; Ding, Y. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 2000, 626, 1660-1664.
- 142. Gibson, V. C.; Redshaw, C.; Clegg, W.; Elsegood, M. R. J. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1994, 2635-2636.
- 143. Takacs, J.; Cavell, R. G. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 2635-2638.
- 144. Cameron, P. A.; Britovsek, G. J. P.; Gibson, V. C.; Williams, D. J.; White, A. J. P. Chem. Commun. 1998, 737-734.
- 145. Galindo, A.; Montilla, F.; Pastor, A.; Carmona, E.; Gutiérrez-Puebla, E.; Monge, A.; Ruiz, C. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 2379-2385.
- 146. Sundermeyer, J.; Putterlik, J.; Foth, M.; Field, J. S.; Ramesar, N. Chem. Ber. 1994, 127, 1201-1212.
- 147. Fletcher, J. S.; Male, N. A. H.; Wilson, P. J.; Rees, L. H.; Mountford, P.; Schröder, M. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 2000, 4130-4137.
- 148. Chan, M. C. W.; Lee, F.-W.; Cheung, K.-K.; Che, C.-M. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1999, 3197-3201.
- 149. Hankin, D. M.; Danopoulos, A. A.; Wilkinson, G.; Sweet, T. K. N.; Hursthouse, M. B. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1996. 1309-1321.
- 150. Harlan, E. W.; Holm, R. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 186-193.
- 151. Kretzschmar, E. A.; Kipke, J.; Sundermeyer, J. Chem. Commun. 1999, 2381-2382.
- 152. Herrmann, W. A.; Stumpf, A. W.; Priermeier, T.; Bogdanovic, S.; Dufaud, V.; Basset, J.-M. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1996, 35, 2803-2805.
- 153. Ehrenfeld, D.; Kress, J.; Moore, B. D.; Osborn, J. A.; Schoettel, G. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1987, 129-131.
- 154. Laï, R.; Piasco, V.; Belin, C.; Ros, C.; Feneau-Dupont, J.; Declercq, J. P. Polyhedron 1993, 12, 2513-2517.
- 155. Chou, C. Y.; Huffman, J. C.; Maatta, E. A. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1984, 1184–1185. 156. Chou, C. Y.; Huffman, J. C.; Maatta, E. A. Inorg. Chem. 1986, 25, 822–826.
- 157. Danopoulos, A. A.; Wilkinson, G.; Sweet, T. K. N.; Hursthouse, M. B. Polyhedron 1994, 13, 2899-2905.
- 158. Cameron, T. M.; Ortiz, C. G.; Ghiviriga, I.; Abboud, K. A.; Boncella, J. M. Organometallics 2001, 20, 2032-2039.
- 159. Gibson, V. C.; Redshaw, C.; Clegg, W.; Elsegood, M. R. J. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1995, 2371–2372.
- 160. Gibson, V. C.; Redshaw, C.; Clegg, W.; Elsegood, M. R. J. Chem. Commun. 1998, 1969–1970.
- 161. Radius, U.; Attner, J. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 2221-2231.
- 162. Redshaw, C.; Elsegood, M. R. J. Polyhedron 2000, 19, 2657-2659.
- 163. Minelli, M.; Carson, M. R.; Whisenhunt, D. W., Jr.; Hubbard, J. L. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 442-425.
- 164. Hogarth, G.; Norman, T.; Redmond, S. P. Polyhedron 1999, 18, 1221-1227.
- 165. Minelli, M.; Carson, M. R.; Whisenhunt, D. W., Jr.; Imhof, W.; Huttner, G. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 4801-4805.
- 166. Minelli, M.; Hoang, M. L.; Kraus, M.; Kucera, G.; Loertscher, J.; Reynolds, M.; Timm, N.; Chiang, M. Y.; Powell, D. Inorg. Chem. 2002, 41, 5954-5960.
- 167. Coffey, T. A.; Forster, G. D.; Hogarth, G. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1996, 183-193.
- 168. Coffey, T. A.; Hogarth, G.; Redmond, S. P. Inorg. Chim. Acta 2000, 308, 155-159.
- 169. Fenske, D.; Völp, K.; Dehnicke, K. Z. Naturforsch. B 1987, 42, 1398-1402.
- 170. Rhiel, M.; Wacadlo, S.; Massa, W.; Dehnicke, K. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chim. 1996, 622, 1195-1199.
- 171. Müller, U.; Klingelhöfer, P.; Kynast, U.; Dehnicke, K. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1985, 520, 18-24.
- 172. Montilla, F.; Pastor, A.; Galindo, A. J. Organomet. Chem. 1999, 590, 202-207.
- 173. Devore, D. D.; Maatta, E. A. Inorg. Chem. 1985, 24, 2846-2849.
- 174. Chou, C. Y.; Devore, D. D.; Huckett, S. C.; Maatta, E. A.; Huffman, J. C.; Takusagawa, F. Polyhedron 1986, 5, 301-304.

- 175. Lee, S.-M.; Kowallick, R.; Marcaccio, M.; McCleverty, J. A.; Ward, M. D. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1998, 3443–3450.
- 176. Chisholm, M. H.; Hammond, C. E.; Huffman, J. C. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1987, 1423-1424.
- 177. Rhiel, M.; Wocadlo, S.; Massa, W.; Dehnicke, K. Z. Naturforsch. B 1996, 51, 1419-1422.
- 178. Dietrich, A.; Neumüller, B.; Dehnicke, K. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 2000, 626, 1837-1844.
- 179. Dehnicke, K.; Krieger, M.; Massa, W. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1999, 182, 19-65.
- 180. Dilworth, J. R.; Gibson, V. C.; Redshaw, C.; White, A. J. P.; Williams, D. J. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1999, 2701–2704.
- Johnson, B. F. G.; Haymore, B. L.; Dilworth, J. R. Miscellaneous nitrogen-containing ligands. In *Comprehensive Coordination Chemistry*; Wilkinson, G., Gillard, R. D., McCleverty, J. A., Eds.; Pergamon: Oxford, 1987; Chap. 13.3, pp. 99–159.
- 182. Dilworth, J. R.; Gibson, V. C.; Lu, C.; Miller, J. R.; Redshaw, C.; Zheng, Y. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1997, 269–272.
- 183. Dilworth, J. R.; Gibson, V. C.; Davies, N.; Redshaw, C.; White, A. P.; Williams, D. J. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1999, 2695–2699.
- 184. Dilworth, J. R.; Morton, S. Transition Met. Chem. 1987, 12, 41-42.
- Niemoth-Anderson, J. D.; Debord, J. R. D.; George, T. A.; Ross, C. R. II; Stezowski, J. J. Polyhedron 1996, 15, 4031–4040.
- 186. Redshaw, C.; Clegg, W.; Elsegood, M. R. J. Polyhedron 2001, 20, 119-123.
- 187. Blower, P. J.; Dilworth, J. R.; Leigh, G. J.; Neaves, B. D.; Normanton, F. B.; Hutchinson, J.; Zubieta, J. A. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1985, 2647–2653.
- 188. Block, E.; Gernon, M.; Kang, H.; Ofori-Okai, G.; Zubieta, J. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 1736-1747.
- Dilworth, J. R.; Hutson, A. J.; Lewis, J. S.; Miller, J. R.; Zheng, Y.; Chen, Q.; Zubieta, J. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1996, 1093–1104 (Erratum: *ibid* 1996, 2585).
- 190. Davies, S. C.; Hughes, D. L.; Richards, R. L.; Sanders, J. R. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 2000, 719-725.
- 191. Manzur, C.; Bustos, C.; Carrillo, D.; Robert, F.; Gouzerh, P. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1996, 249, 245-250.
- 192. Bustos, C.; Manzur, C.; Carrillo, D.; Robert, F.; Gouzerh, P. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 1427-1433.
- 193. Bustos, C.; Manzur, C.; Carrillo, D.; Robert, F.; Gouzerh, P. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 4937-4944.
- 194. Manzur, C.; Bustos, C.; Carrillo, D.; Boys, D.; Hamon, J.-R. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1997, 255, 73-80.
- 195. Manzur, C.; Carrillo, D.; Robert, F.; Gouzerh, P.; Hamon, P.; Hamon, J.-R. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1998, 268, 199-204.
- 196. Baum, M. M.; Smith, E. H. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1993, 2513–2519.
- 197. Dilworth, J. R.; Henderson, R. A.; Dahlstrom, P.; Nicholson, T.; Zubieta, J. A. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1987, 529–540.
- 198. Fitzroy, M. D.; Fallon, G. D.; Murray, K. S.; Frederiksen, J. M.; Tiekink, E. R. T. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1990, 169, 79–89.
- 199. Retbøll, M.; Møller, E. R.; Hazell, R. G.; Jørgensen, K. A. Acta Chem. Scand. 1995, 49, 278–290.
- 200. Galindo, A. M.; Mardones, M.; Manzur, C.; Boys, D.; Hamon, J.-R.; Carrillo, D. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 387–392.
- 201. Carrillo, D.; Robert, F.; Gouzerh, P. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1992, 197, 209-215.
- Bustos, C.; Manzur, C.; Gonzalez, H.; Schrebler, R.; Carrillo, D.; Bois, C.; Jeannin, Y.; Gouzerh, P. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1991, 185, 25–31.
- 203. Stergiou, A. C.; Bladenopoulou, S.; Tsiamis, C. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1994, 217, 61-69.
- 204. Shaikh, S. N.; Zubieta, J. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1986, 115, L19-L21.
- 205. Kelly, P. F.; Woollins, J. D. Polyhedron 1986, 5, 607-632.
- 206. Chivers, T.; Edelmann, F. Polyhedron 1986, 5, 1661-1699.
- 207. Völp, K.; Willing, W.; Müller, U.; Dehnicke, K. Z. Naturforsch. B 1986, 41, 1196-1200.
- Anhaus, J.; Jones, P. G.; Noltemeyer, M.; Pinkert, W.; Roesky, H. W.; Sheldrick, G. M. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1985, 97, L7–L9.
- 209. Völp, K.; Baum, G.; Massa, W.; Dehnicke, K. Z. Naturforsch. B 1988, 43, 1235-1239.
- 210. Kabanos, T. A.; Slawin, A. M. Z.; Williams, D. J.; Woolins, J. D. Polyhedron 1992, 11, 995–997.
- 211. Lübben, T.; Witt, M.; Roesky, H. W.; Noltemeyer, M.; Schmidt, H.-G. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 4275-4277.
- 212. Witt, M.; Roesky, H. W. Chem. Rev. 1994, 94, 1163-1181.
- 213. Roesky, H. W.; Katti, K. V.; Seseke, U.; Schmidt, H.-G.; Egert, E.; Herbst, R.; Sheldrick, G. M. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1987, 847–849.
- 214. Witt, M.; Roesky, H. W.; Noltemeyer, M. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 3476-3479.
- Rietzel, M.; Roesky, H. W.; Katti, K. V.; Noltemeyer, M.; Symons, M. C. R.; Abu-Raqabah, A. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1991, 1285–1290.
- 216. Moock, K. H.; Macgregor, S. A.; Heath, G. A.; Derrick, S.; Boeré, R. T. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1996, 2067–2076.
- 217. Sundermann, A.; Schoeller, W. W. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 6261-6270.
- 218. Pau, R. N.; Lawson, D. M. Transport, homeostasis, regulation, and binding of molybdate and tungstate to proteins.
- In Metal Ions in Biological Systems; Sigel, A., Sigel, H., Eds.; Marcel Dekker: New York, 2002; Vol. 39, pp. 31-74. 219. Cruywagen, J. J. Adv. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 49, 127-182.
- 220. Ozeki, T.; Adachi, H.; Ikeda, S. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1996, 69, 619-625.
- 221. Yokoi, K.; Matsubayashi, N.; Miyanaga, T.; Watanabe, I.; Ikeda, S. Polyhedron 1993, 12, 911-914.
- 222. Cruywagen, J. J.; Draaijer, A. G.; Heyns, J. B. B.; Rohwer, E. A. Inorg. Chim. Acta 2002, 331, 322-329.
- 223. Cruywagen, J. J.; Heyns, J. B. B.; Rohwer, E. A. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1994, 45-49.
- 224. Müller, A. Polyhedron 1986, 5, 323-340.
- 225. Coucouvanis, D. Adv. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 45, 1-73.
- 226. Laurie, S. H. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 2443-2450.
- 227. Sarkar, B. Chem. Rev. 1999, 99, 2535-2544.
- 228. Chandrasekaran, J.; Ansari, M. A.; Sarkar, S. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 27, 3663-3665.
- 229. Alonso, G.; Yang, J.; Siadati, M. H.; Chianelli, R. R. Inorg. Chim. Acta 2001, 325, 193-197.

- 230. Vogler, A.; Kunkely, H. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 27, 504-507.
- 231. Pratt, D. E.; Laurie, S. H.; Dahm, R. H. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1987, 135, L21-L22.
- 232. Schäfer, R.; Kaim, W.; Moscherosch, M.; Krejcik, M. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1992, 834-835.
- 233. Combariza, J. E.; Barfield, M.; Enemark, J. H. J. Phys. Chem. 1991, 95, 5463-5470.
- 234. Teruel, H.; Sierralta, A. Polyhedron 1996, 15, 2215-2221.
- 235. Zális, S.; Stoll, H.; Baerends, E. J.; Kaim, W. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 6101-6105.
- 236. Pan, W.-H.; Halbert, T. R.; Hutchings, L. L.; Stiefel, E. I. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1985, 927-929.
- 237. Coyle, C. L.; Harmer, M. A.; George, G. N.; Daage, M.; Stiefel, E. I. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 14-19.
- 238. Stiefel, E. I. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1997, 3915-3923.
- 239. Young, C. G. J. Biol. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 2, 810-816.
- 240. Kruhlak, N. L.; Wang, M.; Boorman, P. M.; Parvez, M.; McDonald, R. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 3141-3148.
- 241. Lang, J.-P.; Kawaguchi, H.; Tatsumi, K. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 2002, 2573–2580.
- 242. Wardle, R. W. M.; Mahler, C. H.; Chau, C.-N.; Ibers, J. A. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 27, 2790-2795.
- 243. O'Neal, S. C.; Kolis, J. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1988, 110, 1971-1973.
- 244. Jaitner, P.; Huber, W.; Gieren, A.; Betz, H. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1986, 538, 53-60.
- 245. Traill, P. R.; Tiekink, E. R. T.; O'Connor, M. J.; Snow, M. R.; Wedd, A. G. Aust. J. Chem. 1986, 39, 1287-1295.
- 246. Traill, P. R.; Bond, A. M.; Wedd, A. G. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 5754–5760. 247. Hahn, M.; Wieghardt, K.; Swiridoff, W.; Weiss, J. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1984, 89, L31–L32.
- 248. Byrne, J. J.; Vallée, Y. Tetrahedron Lett. 1999, 40, 489-490.
- 249. Bristow, S.; Enemark, J. H.; Garner, C. D.; Minelli, M.; Morris, G. A.; Ortega, R. B. Inorg. Chem. 1985, 24, 4070-4077.
- 250. Doerrer, L. H.; Galsworthy, J. R.; Green, M. L. H.; Leech, M. A.; Müller, M. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1998, 3191-3194.
- 251. Roy, P. S.; Wieghardt, K. Inorg. Chem. 1987, 26, 1885-1888.
- 252. Herrmann, W.; Wieghardt, K. Polyhedron 1986, 5, 513-520.
- 253. Doménech, A.; Llopis, E.; Cervilla, A.; Vicente, F. Polyhedron 1992, 11, 1517-1522.
- 254. Arzoumanian, H.; Lai, R.; Le Bot, S.; Pierrot, M.; Ridouane, F. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1991, 182, 173-176.
- 255. Kirsten, G.; Görls, H.; Seidel, W. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1998, 624, 322-326.
- 256. Wieghardt, K.; Hahn, M.; Swiridoff, W.; Weiss, J. Inorg. Chem. 1984, 23, 94-99.
- 257. Haselhorst, G.; Stoetzel, S.; Strassburger, A.; Walz, W.; Wieghardt, K.; Nuber, B. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1993, 83-90
- 258. McGowan, P. C.; Podesta, T. J.; Thornton-Pett, M. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 1445-1453.
- 259. Schreiber, P.; Wieghardt, K.; Nuber, B.; Weiss, J. Z. Naturforsch. B 1990, 45, 619-628.
- 260. Baker, M. V.; North, M. R.; Skelton, B. W.; White, A. H. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 4515-4521.
- 261. Wolowiec, S.; Kochi, J. K. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 1215-1221.
- 262. Dhawan, I. K.; Bruck, M. A.; Schilling, B.; Grittini, C.; Enemark, J. H. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 3801-3808.
- 263. Xu, L.; Sasaki, Y.; Abe, M. Chem. Lett. 1999, 163-164.
- 264. Cruywagen, J. J.; Rohwer, E. A.; Wessels, G. F. S. Polyhedron 1995, 14, 3481-3493.
- 265. Zhou, Z.-H.; Wan, H.-L.; Tsai, K.-R. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 59-64.
- 266. Djafri, F.; Lai, R.; Pierrot, M. Acta. Crystallogr., Sect. C 1989, 45, 585-587.
- 267. Arzoumanian, H.; Baldy, A.; Lai, R.; Metzger, J.; Nkeng Peh, M. L.; Pierrot, M. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1985, 1151-1152.
- 268. Huang, M.; DeKock, C. W. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 2287-2291.
- 269. Hanna, T. A.; Incarvito, C. D.; Rheingold, A. L. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 630-631.
- 270. Feher, F. J.; Rahimian, K.; Budzichowski, T. A.; Ziller, J. W. Organometallics 1995, 14, 3920-3926.
- 271. Gosink, H.-J.; Roesky, H. W.; Noltemeyer, M.; Schmidt, H.-G.; Freire-Erdbrügger, C.; Sheldrick, G. M. Chem. Ber. 1993. 126. 279-283.
- 272. Laï, R.; le Bot, S.; Baldy, A.; Pierrot, M.; Arzoumanian, H. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1986, 1208-1209.
- 273. Kirsten, G.; Görls, H.; Seidel, W. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1997, 623, 1661-1664.
- 274. Berg, J. M.; Holm, R. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1984, 106, 3035-3036.
- 275. Hawkins, J. M.; Dewan, J. C.; Sharpless, K. B. Inorg. Chem. 1986, 25, 1501-1503.
- 276. Berg, J. M.; Holm, R. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1985, 107, 917-925.
- 277. Barbaro, P.; Bianchini, C.; Scapacci, G.; Masi, D.; Zanello, P. *Inorg. Chem.* **1994**, *33*, 3180–3186. 278. Lim, B. S.; Willer, M. W.; Miao, M.; Holm, R. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2001**, *123*, 8343–8349.
- 279. Dreisch, K.; Andersson, C.; Stålhandske, C. Polyhedron 1993, 12, 303-311.
- 280. Lachgar, A.; Farrall, P.; Mayer, J. M. Polyhedron 1993, 12, 2603-2609.
- 281. Barea, G.; Lledos, A.; Maseras, F.; Jean, Y. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 3321-3325.
- 282. Willis, L. J.; Loehr, T. M.; Miller, K. F.; Bruce, A. E.; Stiefel, E. I. Inorg. Chem. 1986, 25, 4289-4293.
- 283. Gibson, V. C.; Shaw, A.; Williams, D. N. Polyhedron 1989, 8, 549-550.
- 284. Herrmann, W. A.; Thiel, W. R.; Herdtweck, E. Chem. Ber. 1990, 123, 271-276.
- 285. Thomassen, H.; Hedberg, K. J. Mol. Struct. 1992, 273, 197-206.
- 286. Nyasulu, F. W.; Mayer, J. M. J. Electroanal. Chem. 1995, 392, 35-42
- 287. Bridgeman, A. J.; Cavigliasso, G. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 2001, 3556-3563.
- 288. Dreisch, K.; Andersson, C.; Haakansson, M.; Jagner, S. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1993, 1045–1049.
- 289. Kühn, F. E.; Herdtweck, E.; Haider, J. J.; Herrmann, W. A.; Gonçalves, I. S.; Lopes, A. D.; Romão, C. C. J. Organomet. Chem. 1999, 583, 3-10.
- 290. Kühn, F. E.; Lopes, A. D.; Santos, A. M.; Herdtweck, E.; Haider, J. J.; Ramão, C. C.; Santos, A. G. J. Mol. Catal. A 2000, 151, 147-160.
- 291. Kühn, F. E.; Santos, A. M.; Lopes, A. D.; Gonçalves, I. S.; Rodríguez-Borges, J. E.; Pillinger, M.; Romão, C. C. J. Organomet. Chem. 2001, 621, 207-217.
- 292. Santos, A. M.; Kühn, F. E.; Bruus-Jensen, K.; Lucas, I.; Romão, C. C.; Herdtweck, E. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 2001, 1332-1337.
- 293. Ferreira, P.; Gonçalves, I. S.; Kühn, F. E.; Lopes, A. D.; Martins, M. A.; Pillinger, M.; Pina, A.; Rocha, J.; Ramão, C. C.; Santos, A. M.; Santos, T. M.; Valente, A. A. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 2263-2270.

- 294. Arnaiz, F. J.; Aguado, R.; Martinez de Ilarduya, J. M. Polyhedron 1994, 13, 3257-3259.
- 295. Harben, S. M.; Smith, P. D.; Beddoes, R. L.; Collison, D.; Garner, C. D. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1997, 2777-2784
- 296. Stasch, A.; Schormann, M.; Prust, J.; Roesky, H. W.; Schmidt, H.-G.; Noltemeyer, M. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 2001. 1945-1947.
- 297. Coddington, J. M.; Taylor, M. J. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1990, 41-47.
- 298. Taylor, M. J.; Jirong, W.; Rickard, C. E. F. Polyhedron 1993, 12, 1433-1435.
- 299. Arnaiz, F. J.; Aguado, R.; Sanz-Aparicio, J.; Martinez-Ripoll, M. Polyhedron 1994, 13, 2745-2749.
- 300. Taylor, M. J.; Rickard, C. E. F.; Kloo, L. A. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1998, 3195-3198.
- 301. Laï, R.; Desbois, O.; Zamkotsian, F.; Faure, R.; Feneau-Dupont, J.; Declercq, J.-P. Organometallics 1995, 14, 2145-2147.
- 302. Schrauzer, G. N.; Schlemper, E. O.; Liu, N. H.; Wang, Q.; Rubin, K.; Zhang, X.; Long, X.; Chin, C. S. Organometallics 1986, 5, 2452-2456.
- 303. Djafri, F.; Lai, R.; Pierrot, M.; Regnier, J. Acta Crystallogr., Sect. C 1991, 47, 1374-1376.
- 304. Teruel, H.; Romero, N.; Henriquez, I. Transition Met. Chem. 1995, 20, 426-429.
- 305. Schrauzer, G. N.; Zhang, X.; Liu, N. H.; Schlemper, E. O. Organometallics 1988, 7, 279-282.
- 306. Vetter, W. M.; Sen, A. Organometallics 1991, 10, 244-250.
- 307. Kühn, F. E.; Santos, A. M.; Lopes, A. D.; Gonçalves, I. S.; Herdtweck, E.; Romão, C. C. J. Mol. Catal. A 2000, 164, 25 - 38
- 308. Groarke, M.; Gonçalves, I. S.; Herrmann, W. A.; Kühn, F. E. J. Organomet. Chem. 2002, 649, 108-112.
- 309. Arzoumanian, H.; Krentzien, H.; Teruel, H. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1991, 55-56.
- 310. McCann, M.; Beaumont, A. J. J. Mol. Catal. A 1996, 111, 251-255.
- 311. Kauffmann, T. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1997, 36, 1259-1275.
- 312. Onishi, M.; Ikemoto, K.; Hiraki, K.; Koga, R. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1993, 66, 1849-1851.
- 313. Sundermeyer, J.; Putterlik, J.; Pritzkow, H. Chem. Ber. 1993, 126, 289-296.
- 314. Arzoumanian, H.; Lopez, R.; Agrifoglio, G. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 3177-3179.
- 315. Arzoumanian, H.; Agrifoglio, G.; Krentzien, H. New J. Chem. 1996, 20, 699-705.
- 316. Lee, H. K.; Wong, Y.-L.; Zhou, Z.-Y.; Zhang, Z.-Y.; Ng, D. K. P.; Mak, T. C. W. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 2000, 539-544.
- 317. Roesky, H. W.; Meller, B.; Noltemeyer, M.; Schmidt, H.-G.; Scholz, U.; Sheldrick, G. M. Chem. Ber. 1988, 121, 1403-1406.
- 318. Roberts, S. A.; Young, C. G.; Kipke, C. A.; Cleland, W. E., Jr.; Yamanouchi, K.; Carducci, M. D.; Enemark, J. H. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 3650-3656.
- 319. Xiao, Z.; Bruck, M. A.; Doyle, C.; Enemark, J. H.; Grittini, C.; Gable, R. W.; Wedd, A. G.; Young, C. G. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 5950-5962 (Erratum: ibid 1996, 35, 5752).
- 320. Roberts, S. A.; Young, C. G.; Cleland, W. E., Jr.; Ortega, R. B.; Enemark, J. H. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 27, 3044–3051.
- 321. Laughlin, L. J.; Young, C. G. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 1050-1058.
- 322. Millar, A. J.; Doonan, C. J.; Laughlin, L. J.; Tiekink, E. R. T.; Young, C. G. Inorg. Chim. Acta 2002, 337, 393-406.
- 323. Xiao, Z.; Bruck, M. A.; Enemark, J. H.; Young, C. G.; Wedd, A. G. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 7508-7515.
- 324. Young, C. G. . Biomimetic chemistry of molybdenum. In Biomimetic Oxidations Catalyzed by Transition Metal Complexes; Meunier, B., Ed.; Imperial College Press: London, 2000, pp. 415-459.
- 325. Backes-Dahmann, G.; Herrmann, W.; Wieghardt, K.; Weiss, J. Inorg. Chem. 1985, 24, 485-491.
- 326. Bürger, K. S.; Haselhorst, G.; Stötzel, S.; Weyhermüller, T.; Wieghardt, K.; Nuber, B. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1993. 1987-1997.
- 327. Hauser, C.; Weyhermüller, T.; Wieghardt, K. Collect. Czech. Chem. Commun. 2001, 66, 125–138. 328. Kadish, K. M. Prog. Inorg. Chem. 1986, 34, 435–605.
- 329. Matsuda, Y.; Murakami, Y. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1988, 92, 157-192.
- 330. Brand, H.; Arnold, J. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1995, 140, 137-168.
- 331. Malinski, T.; Hanley, P. M.; Kadish, K. M. Inorg. Chem. 1986, 25, 3229-3235.
- 332. Sugaya, H.; Imamura, T. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1990, 63, 1828-1829.
- 333. Thapper, A.; Donahue, J. P.; Musgrave, K. B.; Willer, M. W.; Nordlander, E.; Hedman, B.; Hodgson, K. O.; Holm, R. H. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 4104-4114.
- 334. Piarulli, U.; Williams, D. N.; Floriani, C.; Gervasio, G.; Viterbo, D. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1995, 3329-3334.
- 335. Kessler, V. G.; Turova, N. Y.; Korolev, A. V.; Yanovskii, A. I.; Struchkov, Y. T. Mendeleev Commun. 1991, 89-91.
- 336. Griffith, W. P.; Nogueira, H. I. S.; White, A. J. P.; Williams, D. J. Polyhedron 1997, 16, 1323-1329.
- 337. Radius, U. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 6637-6642.
- 338. Griffith, W. P.; Pumphrey, C. A.; Rainey, T.-A. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1986, 1125-1128.
- 339. El-Hendawy, A. M.; Griffith, W. P. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1989, 160, 67-70.
- 340. Cass, M. E.; Pierpont, C. G. Inorg. Chem. 1986, 25, 122-123.
- 341. El-Hendawy, A. M.; Griffith, W. P.; Pumphrey, C. A. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1988, 1817-1821.
- 342. Albrecht, M.; Franklin, S. J.; Raymond, K. N. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 5785-5793.
- 343. Duhme, A.-K. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1997, 773-778.
- 344. Griffith, W. P.; Nogueira, H. I. S.; Parkin, B. C.; Sheppard, R. N.; White, A. J. P.; Williams, D. J. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1995, 1775-1781.
- 345. Jedner, S. B.; James, R.; Perutz, R. N.; Duhme-Klair, A.-K. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 2001, 2327–2329.
- 346. Lorber, C. Y.; Osborn, J. A. Tetrahedron Lett. 1996, 37, 853-856.
- 347. Lorber, C. Y.; Pauls, I.; Osborn, J. A. Bull. Soc. Chim. Fr. 1996, 133, 755-758 (Erratum: ibid 1996, 133, 1156).
- 348. Lorber, C. Y.; Smidt, S. P.; Osborn, J. A. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 655-658.
- 349. Galsworthy, J. R.; Green, M. L. H.; Müller, M.; Prout, K. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1997, 1309-1313.
- 350. Edwards, C. F.; Griffith, W. P.; White, A. J. P.; Williams, D. J. Polyhedron 1992, 11, 2711–2712.
- 351. Gahagan, M.; Mackie, R. K.; Cole-Hamilton, D. J.; Cupertino, D. C.; Harman, M.; Hursthouse, M. B. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1990, 2195-2199.
- 352. Fitzroy, M. D.; Frederiksen, J. M.; Murray, K. S.; Snow, M. R. Inorg. Chem. 1985, 24, 3265–3270.

- 353. Brown, D. A.; Bögge, H.; Coogan, R.; Doocey, D.; Kemp, T. J.; Müller, A.; Neumann, B. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 1674–1679.
- 354. Farkas, E.; Csóka, H.; Bell, G.; Brown, D. A.; Cuffe, L. P.; Fitzpatrick, N. J.; Glass, W. K.; Errington, W.; Kemp, T. J. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1999, 2789–2794.
- 355. Lin, S. P.; Khan, M. A.; Nicholas, K. M. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1994, 2425-2426.
- 356. Griffith, W. P.; Mostafa, S. I. Polyhedron 1992, 11, 2997-3005.
- 357. Lord, S. J.; Epstein, N. A.; Paddock, R. L.; Vogels, C. M.; Henningar, T. L.; Zaworotko, M. J.; Taylor, N. J.; Driedzic, W. R.; Broderick, T. L.; Westcott, S. A. Can. J. Chem. 1999, 77, 1249–1261.
- 358. Epstein, N. A.; Horton, J. L.; Vogels, C. M.; Taylor, N. J.; Westcott, S. A. Aust. J. Chem. 2000, 53, 687-691.
- 359. Gagnon, M. K. J.; St. Germain, T. R.; Vogels, C. M.; McNamara, R. A.; Taylor, N. J.; Westcott, S. A. Aust. J. Chem. 2000, 53, 693-697.
- 360. Griffith, W. P.; Pumphrey, C. A.; Skapski, A. C. Polyhedron 1987, 6, 891-896.
- 361. Uzoukwu, B. A.; Gloe, K.; Rademacher, O. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 2001, 627, 108-113.
- 362. Ueyama, N.; Oku, H.; Kondo, M.; Okamura, T.-A.; Yoshinaga, N.; Nakamura, A. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 643-650.
- 363. Das, S. K.; Chaudhury, P. K.; Biswas, D.; Sarkar, S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 9061–9070. 364. Oku, H.; Ueyama, N.; Nakamura, A. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 3667–3676.
- 365. Musgrave, K. B.; Donahue, J. P.; Lorber, C.; Holm, R. H.; Hedman, B.; Hodgson, K. O. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999,
- *121*, 10297–10307.
- 366. Lorber, C.; Plutino, M. R.; Elding, L. I.; Nordlander, E. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1997, 3997-4003.
- 367. Thapper, A.; Deeth, R. J.; Nordlander, E. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 1015-1018.
- 368. Nagarajan, K.; Chaudhury, P. K.; Srinivasan, B. R.; Sarkar, S. Chem. Commun. 2001, 1786–1787.
- 369. Tucci, G. C.; Donahue, J. P.; Holm, R. H. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 1602–1608.
- 370. Donahue, J. P.; Goldsmith, C. R.; Nadiminti, U.; Holm, R. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 12869-12881.
- 371. Lim, B. S.; Holm, R. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 1920-1930.
- 372. Unoura, K.; Yamazaki, A.; Nagasawa, A.; Kato, Y.; Itoh, H.; Kudo, H.; Fukuda, Y. *Inorg. Chim. Acta* **1998**, *269*, 260–268.
- 373. Teruel, H.; Sierraalta, A. Can. J. Chem. 1999, 77, 1521-1527.
- 374. Young, C. G. J. Chem. Educ. 1995, 72, 751-753.
- 375. Thompson, R. L.; Geib, S. J.; Cooper, N. J. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 6076-6083.
- 376. Kumar, S. B.; Chaudhury, M. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1992, 269-274.
- 377. Kumar, S. B.; Chaudhury, M. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1991, 2169-2174.
- 378. Kumar, S. B.; Chaudhury, M. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1987, 3043-3047.
- 379. Kumar, S. B.; Chaudhury, M. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1991, 1149–1154.
- 380. Kaul, B. B.; Enemark, J. H.; Merbs, S. L.; Spence, J. T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1985, 107, 2885–2891.
- 381. Sellmann, D.; Zapf, L. Z. Naturforsch. B 1985, 40, 368-372.
- 382. Sellmann, D.; Grasser, F.; Knoch, F.; Moll, M. Z. Naturforsch. B 1992, 47, 61-73.
- 383. Sellmann, D.; Bail, P.; Knoch, F.; Moll, M. Chem. Ber. 1995, 128, 653-663.
- 384. Griffith, W. P.; Koh, T. Y.; Williams, D. J. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1993, 3459-3462.
- 385. Ehlert, M. K.; Rettig, S. J.; Storr, A.; Trotter, J. Acta Crystallogr., Sect. C 1998, 54, 473-475.
- 386. Sorrell, T. N.; Ellis, D. J.; Cheesman, E. H. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1986, 113, 1-7.
- 387. Capparelli, M. V.; Piggott, B.; Thorpe, S. D.; Wong, S. F.; Sheppard, R. N. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1985, 106, 19-23.
- 388. Rao, N. S.; Mishra, D. D.; Maurya, R. C.; Rao, N. N. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1995, 68, 1589–1592.
- Gómez, M.; Jansat, S.; Muller, G.; Noguera, G.; Teruel, H.; Moliner, V.; Cerrada, E.; Hursthouse, M. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 1071–1076.
- 390. Bellemin-Laponnaz, S.; Coleman, K. S.; Osborn, J. A. Polyhedron 1999, 18, 2533-2536.
- 391. Herrmann, W. A.; Haider, J. J.; Fridgen, J.; Lobmaier, G. M.; Spiegler, M. J. Organomet. Chem. 2000, 603, 69-79.
- 392. Gonçalves, I. S.; Santos, A. M.; Ramão, C. C.; Lopes, A. D.; Rodríguez-Borges, J. E.; Pillinger, M.; Ferreira, P.; Rocha, J.; Kühn, F. E. J. Organomet. Chem. 2001, 626, 1–10.
- 393. Valente, A. A.; Gonçalves, I. S.; Lopes, A. D.; Rodríguez-Borges, J. E.; Pillinger, M.; Romão, C. C.; Rocha, J.; García-Mera, X. New J. Chem. 2001, 25, 959–963.
- 394. Syamal, A.; Maurya, M. R. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1989, 95, 183-238.
- 395. Banße, W.; Fliegner, J.; Sawusch, S.; Schilde, U.; Uhlemann, E. Z. Naturforsch. B 1998, 53, 689-693.
- 396. Liimatainen, J.; Lehtonen, A.; Sillanpää, R. Polyhedron 2000, 19, 1133-1138.
- 397. Rao, C. P.; Sreedhara, A.; Rao, P. V.; Verghese, M. B.; Rissanen, K.; Kolehmainen, E.; Lokanath, N. K.; Sridhar, M. A.; Prasad, J. S. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1998, 2383–2393.
- 398. Nakajima, K.; Yokoyama, K.; Kano, T.; Kojima, M. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1998, 282, 209–216.
- 399. Rao, S. N.; Munshi, K. N.; Rao, N. N.; Bhadbhade, M. M.; Suresh, E. Polyhedron 1999, 18, 2491–2497.
- 400. Banβe, W.; Ludwig, E.; Schilde, U.; Uhlemann, E.; Weller, F.; Lehmann, A. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1995, 621, 1275–1281.
- 401. Zhai, Y.-L.; Xu, X.-X.; Wang, X. Polyhedron 1992, 11, 415-418.
- 402. Wang, X.; Zhang, X. M.; Liu, H. X. J. Coord. Chem. 1994, 33, 223-228.
- 403. Liu, H. X.; Zhang, X. M.; Wang, X. Polyhedron 1994, 13, 441-444.
- 404. Cameron, J. H.; McEwan, J. A. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1993, 211, 111-116.
- 405. Topich, J.; Bachert, J. O. III. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 511-515.
- 406. Mitchell, J. M.; Finney, N. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 862-869.
- 407. Arnáiz, F. J.; Aguado, R.; Pedrosa, M. R.; de Cian, A.; Fischer, J. Polyhedron 2000, 19, 2141–2147.
- 408. Barbaro, P.; Belderrain, T. R.; Bianchini, C.; Scapacci, G.; Masi, D. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 3362-3368.
- 409. Bellemin-Laponnaz, S.; Coleman, K. S.; Dierkes, P.; Masson, J.-P.; Osborn, J. A. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 1645–1649.
- 410. Plass, W. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1997, 623, 997-1005.
- 411. Wong, Y.-L.; Yan, Y.; Chan, E. S. H.; Yang, Q.; Mak, T. C. W.; Ng, D. K. P. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1998, 3057–3064.

- 412. Wong, Y.-L.; Ma, J.-F.; Law, W.-F.; Yan, Y.; Wong, W.-T.; Zhang, Z.-Y.; Mak, T. C. W.; Ng, D. K. P. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 313-321.
- 413. Palanca, P.; Picher, T.; Sanz, V.; Gómez-Romero, P.; Llopis, E.; Domenech, A.; Cervilla, A. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1990, 531-533.
- 414. Doménech, A.; Ribera, A.; Cervilla, A.; Llopis, E. J. Electroanal. Chem. 1998, 458, 31-41.
- 415. Vicente, F.; Garcia-Jareño, J. J.; Tamarit, R.; Cervilla, A.; Domenech, A. Electrochem. Acta 1995, 40, 1121-1126.
- 416. Cervilla, A.; Llopis, E.; Ribera, A.; Corma, A.; Fornés, V.; Rey, F. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1994, 2953–2957.
- 417. Cervilla, A.; Pérez-Pla, F.; Ribera, A.; Llopis, E.; Domenech, A. Int. J. Chem. Kinet. 2001, 33, 212-224.
- 418. Li, H.; Palanca, P.; Sanz, V.; Picher, T.; Navarro, A. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1998, 271, 174-179.
- 419. Li, H.; Palanca, P.; Sanz, V.; Lahoz, L. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1999, 285, 25-30.
- 420. Schultz, B. E.; Gheller, S. F.; Muetterties, M. C.; Scott, M. J.; Holm, R. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 2714–2722.
- 421. Thomson, L. M.; Hall, M. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 3995-4002.
- 422. Doonan, C. J.; Slizys, D. A.; Young, C. G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 6430-6436.
- 423. Craig, J. A.; Harlan, E. W.; Snyder, B. S.; Whitener, M. A.; Holm, R. H. Inorg. Chem. 1989, 28, 2082-2091.
- 424. Hahn, R.; Küsthardt, U.; Scherer, W. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1993, 210, 177-182.
- 425. Hahn, R.; Herrmann, W. A.; Artus, G. R. J.; Kleine, M. Polyhedron 1995, 14, 2953-2960.
- 426. Banβe, W.; Fliegner, J.; Sawusch, S.; Schilde, U.; Uhlemann, E. Z. Naturforsch. B 1998, 53, 275-278.
- 427. Purohit, S.; Koley, A. P.; Prasad, L. S.; Manoharan, P. T.; Ghosh, S. Inorg. Chem. 1989, 28, 3735–3742.
- 428. Bhattacharjee, S.; Bhattacharyya, R. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1992, 1357-1364.
- 429. Bhattacharjee, S.; Bhattacharyya, R. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1993, 1151-1158 (Erratum: ibid 1993, 1631).
- 430. Argay, G.; Kálmán, A.; Leovac, V. M.; Cesljevic, V. I.; Ribár, B. J. Coord. Chem. **1996**, *37*, 165–171. 431. Dutta, S. K.; McConville, D. B.; Youngs, W. J.; Chaudhury, M. Inorg. Chem. **1997**, *36*, 2517–2522.
- 432. Bustos, C.; Burckhardt, O.; Schrebler, R.; Carrillo, D.; Arif, A. M.; Cowley, A. H.; Nunn, C. M. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 3996-4001.
- 433. Stelzig, L.; Kötte, S.; Krebs, B. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1998, 2921-2926.
- 434. Cornman, C. R.; Jantzi, K. L.; Wirgau, J. I.; Stauffer, T. C.; Kampf, J. W.; Boyle, P. D. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 5851-5855.
- 435. Dowerah, D.; Spence, J. T.; Singh, R.; Wedd, A. G.; Wilson, G. L.; Farchione, F.; Enemark, J. H.; Kristofzski, J.; Bruck, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 5655-5665.
- 436. Hinshaw, C. J.; Peng, G.; Singh, R.; Spence, J. T.; Enemark, J. H.; Bruck, M.; Kristofzski, J.; Merbs, S. L.; Ortega, R. B.; Wexler, P. A. Inorg. Chem. 1989, 28, 4483–4491.
 437. Küsthardt, U.; Albach, R. W.; Kiprof, P. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 1838–1843.
- 438. Tachibana, J.; Imamura, T.; Sasaki, Y. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1998, 71, 363-369.
- 439. Fujihara, T.; Sasaki, Y.; Imamura, T. Chem. Lett. 1999, 403-404.
- 440. Fujihara, T.; Hoshiba, K.; Sasaki, Y.; Imamura, T. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 2000, 73, 383-390.
- 441. Fujihara, T.; Rees, N. H.; Umakoshi, K.; Tachibana, J.; Sasaki, Y.; McFarlane, W.; Imamura, T. Chem. Lett. 2000, 102 - 103.
- 442. Fujihara, T.; Myougan, K.; Ichimura, A.; Sasaki, Y.; Imamura, T. Chem. Lett. 2001, 178–179.
- 443. Bradbury, J. R.; Schultz, F. A. Inorg. Chem. 1986, 25, 4416-4422.
- 444. Gheller, S. F.; Newton, W. E.; Pabon de Majid, L.; Bradbury, J. R.; Schultz, F. A. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 27, 359-366.
- 445. Bradbury, J. R.; Schultz, F. A. Inorg. Chem. 1986, 25, 4408-4416.
- 446. Mondal, J. U.; Schultz, F. A.; Brennan, T. D.; Scheidt, W. R. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 27, 3950-3956.
- 447. Sinclair, L.; Mondal, J. U.; Uhrhammer, D.; Schultz, F. A. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1998, 278, 1-5.
- 448. Mondal, J. U.; Zamora, J. G.; Kinon, M. D.; Schultz, F. A. Inorg. Chim. Acta 2000, 309, 147-150.
- 449. Mondal, J. U.; Zamora, J. G.; Siew, S. C.; Garcia, G. T.; George, E. R.; Kinon, M. D.; Schultz, F. A. Inorg. Chim. Acta 2001, 321, 83-88.
- 450. Corazza, F.; Floriani, C.; Chiesi-Villa, A.; Guastini, C. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1990, 640-641.
- 451. Harvey, P. D.; Gagnon, J.; Provencher, R.; Xu, B.; Swager, T. M. Can. J. Chem. 1996, 74, 2279–2288.
- 452. Millar, A. J.; White, J. M.; Doonan, C. J.; Young, C. G. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 5151-5155.
- 453. Turowsky, L.; Seppelt, K. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1990, 590, 23-36.
- 454. Dickman, M. H.; Pope, M. T. Chem. Rev. 1994, 94, 569-584.
- 455. Caradonna, J. P. Oxidation catalysis by transition metal complexes. In Encyclopedia of Inorganic Chemistry; King, R. B., Ed.; Wiley: Chichester, 1994; Vol. 6, pp. 2866-2887.
- 456. Chakravorti, M. C.; Ganguly, S.; Bhattacharjee, M. Polyhedron 1993, 12, 55-58.
- 457. Piquemal, J.-Y.; Halut, S.; Brégeault, J.-M. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1998, 37, 1146–1149.
- 458. Wahl, G.; Kleinhenz, D.; Schorm, A.; Sundermeyer, J.; Stowasser, R.; Rummey, C.; Bringmann, G.; Fickert, C.; Kiefer, W. Chem. Eur. J. 1999, 5, 3237-3251.
- 459. Gisdakis, P.; Yudanov, I. V.; Rösch, N. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 3755-3765.
- 460. Deubel, D. V.; Sundemeyer, J.; Frenking, G. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 1819-1827.
- 461. Sensato, F. R.; Cass, Q. B.; Longo, E.; Zukerman-Schpector, J.; Custodio, R.; Andrés, J.; Hernandes, M. Z.; Longo, R. L. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 6022-6025.
- 462. Reynolds, M. S.; Babinski, K. J.; Bouteneff, M. C.; Brown, J. L.; Campbell, R. E.; Cowan, M. A.; Durwin, M. R.; Foss, T.; O'Brien, P.; Penn, H. R. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1997, 263, 225-230.
- 463. Won, T.-J.; Sudam, B. M.; Thompson, R. C. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 3804-3810.
- 464. Djordjevic, C.; Vuletic, N.; Jacobs, B. A.; Lee-Renslo, M.; Sinn, E. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 1798-1805.
- 465. Cross, R. J.; Farrugia, L. J.; Newman, P. D.; Peacock, R. D.; Stirling, D. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1996, 4149-4150.
- 466. Cross, R. J.; Newman, P. D.; Peacock, R. D.; Stirling, D. J. Mol. Catal. A 1999, 144, 273-284.
- 467. Gresley, N. M.; Griffith, W. P.; Parkin, B. C.; White, A. J. P.; Williams, D. J. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1996, 2039-2045.
- 468. Thiel, W. R.; Priermeier, T.; Bog, T. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1995, 1871-1872.
- 469. Herrmann, W. A.; Thiel, W. R.; Kuchler, J. G. Chem. Ber. 1990, 123, 1953-1961.
- 470. Herrmann, W. A.; Thiel, W. R.; Kuchler, J. G.; Behm, J.; Herdtweck, E. Chem. Ber. 1990, 123, 1963-1970.

- 471. Thiel, W. R.; Angstl, M.; Priermeier, T. Chem. Ber. 1994, 127, 2373-2379.
- 472. Thiel, W. R.; Priermeier, T. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1995, 34, 1737-1738.
- 473. Thiel, W. R. Chem. Ber. 1996, 129, 575-580.
- 474. Thiel, W. R. J. Mol. Catal. A 1997, 117, 449-454.
- 475. Thiel, W. R.; Eppinger, J. Chem. Eur. J. 1997, 3, 696-705.
- 476. Hroch, A.; Gemmecker, G.; Thiel, W. R. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 1107-1114.
- 477. Glas, H.; Spiegler, M.; Thiel, W. R. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 275-281.
- 478. Hatzopoulos, İ.; Thiel, W. R.; Brauer, H.-D. J. Photochem. Photobiol., A 1997, 102, 151-155.
- 479. Chakrabarty, P. K.; Bhattacharya, S.; Pierpont, C. G.; Bhattacharyya, R. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 3573–3577.
- 480. Matoga, D.; Szklarzewicz, J.; Samotus, A.; Burgess, J.; Fawcett, J.; Russell, D. R. Polyhedron 2000, 19, 1503–1509.
- 481. Arzoumanian, H.; Pierrot, M.; Ridouane, F.; Sanchez, J. Transition Met. Chem. 1991, 16, 422-426.
- 482. Arzoumanian, H.; Pétrignani, J.-F.; Pierrot, M.; Ridouane, F.; Sanchez, J. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 27, 3377-3381.
- 483. Bandyopadhyay, R.; Biswas, S.; Guha, S.; Mukherjee, A. K.; Bhattacharyya, R. Chem. Commun. 1999, 1627–1628.
- 484. Macchi, P.; Schultz, A. J.; Larsen, F. K.; Iversen, B. B. J. Phys. Chem. A 2001, 105, 9231-9242.
- 485. Møller, E. R.; Jørgensen, K. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 11814-11822.
- 486. Ridouane, F.; Sanchez, J.; Arzoumanian, H.; Pierrot, M. Acta Crystallogr., Sect. C 1990, 46, 1407-1410.
- 487. Tarafder, M. T. H.; Bhattacharjee, P.; Sarkar, A. K. *Polyhedron* **1992**, *11*, 795–798. 488. Soong, S.-L.; Chebolu, V.; Koch, S. A.; O'Sullivan, T.; Millar, M. *Inorg. Chem.* **1986**, *25*, 4067–4068.
- 489. Yan, X. F.; Young, C. G. Aust. J. Chem. 1991, 44, 361-367.
- 490. Adam, W.; Bargon, R. M. hem. Commun. 2001, 1910-1911.
- 491. Brown, D. S.; Owens, C. F.; Wilson, B. G.; Welker, M. E.; Rheingold, A. L. Organometallics 1991, 10, 871-875.
- 492. Decoster, M.; Conan, F.; Le Mest, Y.; Sala Pala, J.; Leblanc, A.; Molinie, P.; Faulques, E.; Toupet, L. New J. Chem. **1997**, *21*, 215–221.
- 493. Doménech, A.; Llopis, E.; Ramírez, J. A.; Cervilla, A. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1993, 204, 73-78.
- 494. Eagle, A. A.; Laughlin, L. J.; Young, C. G.; Tiekink, E. R. T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 9195-9197.
- 495. Young, C. G.; Laughlin, L. J.; Colmanet, S.; Scrofani, S. D. B. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 5368-5377.
- 496. Hill, J. P.; Laughlin, L. J.; Gable, R. W.; Young, C. G. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 3447-3448.
- 497. Smith, P. D.; Slizys, D. A.; George, G. N.; Young, C. G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 2946-2947.
- 498. Laplaza, C. E.; Davis, W. M.; Cummins, C. C. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1995, 34, 2042–2044. 499. Zanetti, N. C.; Schrock, R. R.; Davis, W. M. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1995, 34, 2044–2046.
- 500. Johnson, M. J. A.; Odom, A. L.; Cummins, C. C. Chem. Commun. 1997, 1523-1524.
- 501. Johnson-Carr, J. A.; Zanetti, N. C.; Schrock, R. R.; Hopkins, M. D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 11305-11306.
- 502. Wu, G.; Rovnyak, D.; Johnson, M. J. A.; Zanetti, N. C.; Musaev, D. G.; Morokuma, K.; Schrock, R. R.; Griffin, R. G.; Cummins, C. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 10654-10655.
- 503. Wagener, T.; Frenking, G. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 1805-1811.
- 504. Tatzel, G.; Greune, M.; Weidlein, J.; Jacob, E. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1986, 533, 83-92.
- 505. Attner, J.; Radius, U. *Chem. Eur. J.* **2001**, *7*, 783–790. 506. Cervilla, A.; Llopis, E.; Marco, D.; Pérez, F. Inorg. Chem. **2001**, *40*, 6525–6528.
- 507. Lowe, N. D.; Garner, C. D. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1993, 2197-2207.
- 508. Boyde, S.; Garner, C. D.; Joule, J. A.; Rowe, D. J. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1987, 800-801.
- 509. Falaras, P.; Mitsopoulou, C.-A.; Argyropoulos, D.; Lyris, E.; Psaroudakis, N.; Vrachnou, E.; Katakis, D. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 4536-4542.
- 510. Argyropoulos, D.; Lyris, E.; Mitsopoulou, C.-A.; Katakis, D. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1997, 615-621.
- 511. Fomitchev, D. V.; Lim, B. S.; Holm, R. H. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 645-654.
- 512. Yang, X.; Freeman, G. K. W.; Rauchfuss, T. B.; Wilson, S. R. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 3034-3038.
- 513. Tian, Z.-Q.; Donahue, J. P.; Holm, R. H. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 5567-5572.
- 514. Wang, K.; McConnachie, J. M.; Stiefel, E. I. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 4334-4341.
- 515. Lim, B. S.; Donahue, J. P.; Holm, R. H. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 263-273.
- 516. Campbell, S.; Harris, S. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 3285-3288.
- 517. Argyropoulos, D.; Mitsopoulou, C.-A.; Katakis, D. Inorg. Chim. 1996, 35, 5549-5554.
- 518. Baricelli, P. J.; Mitchell, P. C. H. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1986, 115, 163-167.
- 519. Cervilla, A.; Pérez-Pla, F.; Llopis, E. Chem. Commun. 2001, 2332-2333.
- 520. Giese, S.; Seppelt, K. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1994, 33, 461-463.
- 521. Lin, Z.; Bytheway, I. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 594-603.
- 522. Ghorab, M. F.; Winfield, J. M. J. Fluorine Chem. 1993, 62, 101-110.
- 523. Roessler, B.; Kleinhenz, S.; Seppelt, K. Chem. Commun. 2000, 1039-1040.
- 524. Amélia, M.; Lemos, N. D. A.; Pombeiro, A. J. L.; Hughes, D. L.; Richards, R. L. J. Organomet. Chem. 1992, 434, C6-C9.
- 525. Andersen, R. A.; Chisholm, M. H.; Gibson, J. F.; Reichert, W. W.; Rothwell, I. P.; Wilkinson, G. Inorg. Chem. 1981, 20, 3934–3936.
- 526. Kim, J. C.; Rees, W. S., Jr.; Goedken, V. L. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 3191-3194.
- 527. Kim, J. C.; Lee, B. M.; Shin, J. I. Polyhedron 1995, 14, 2145-2149.
- 528. Kim, J. C.; Rees, W. S., Jr.; Goedken, V. L. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 2483-2486.
- 529. Frick, K.; Verma, S.; Sundermeyer, J.; Hanack, M. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 1025-1030.
- 530. Gorsch, M.; Homborg, H. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1998, 624, 634-641.
- 531. de la Mata, J. F.; Ziller, J. W. J. Organomet. Chem. 1998, 564, 85-92.
- 532. Roesky, H. W.; Meller-Rehbein, B.; Noltemeyer, M. Z. Naturforsch. B 1991, 46, 1059-64.
- 533. Redshaw, C.; Wilkinson, G.; Sweet, T. K. N.; Hursthouse, M. B. Polyhedron 1993, 12, 2013–2019.
- 534. Du, Y.; Rheingold, A. L.; Maatta, E. A. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 6415-6418.
- 535. Völp, K.; Weller, F.; Dehnicke, K. Z. Naturforsch. B 1987, 42, 947-950.
- 536. Hösler, K.; Weller, F.; Dehnicke, K. Z. Naturforsch. B 1987, 42, 1563-1566.
- 537. Philipp, G.; Wocadlo, S.; Massa, W.; Dehnicke, K.; Fenske, D.; Maichle-Mössmer, C.; Niquet, E.; Strähle, J. Z. Naturforsch. B 1995, 50, 1-10.

- 538. George, T. A.; Kaul, B. B.; Chen, Q.; Zubieta, J. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 1706-1711.
- 539. Xiao, Z.; Gable, R. W.; Wedd, A. G.; Young, C. G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 2912–2921.
- 540. Xiao, Z.; Bruck, M. A.; Enemark, J. H.; Young, C. G.; Wedd, A. G. J. Biol. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 1, 415-423.
- 541. Wilson, G. L.; Kony, M.; Tiekink, E. R. T.; Pilbrow, J. R.; Spence, J. T.; Wedd, A. G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1988, 110, 6923–6925.
- 542. Wilson, G. L.; Greenwood, R. J.; Pilbrow, J. R.; Spence, J. T.; Wedd, A. G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 6803-6812.
- 543. Greenwood, R. J.; Wilson, G. L.; Pilbrow, J. R.; Wedd, A. G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 5385–5392.
- 544. Singh, R.; Spence, J. T.; George, G. N.; Cramer, S. P. Inorg. Chem. 1989, 28, 8-10.
- 545. Peng, G.; Nichols, J.; McCullough, E. A., Jr.; Spence, J. T. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 2857-2864.
- 546. Collison, D. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1990, 2999-3006.
- 547. Sabel, D. M.; Gewirth, A. A. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 148-156.
- 548. Gordon, J. C.; Mattamana, S. P.; Poli, R.; Fanwick, P. E. Polyhedron 1995, 14, 1339–1342.
- 549. Lozano, R.; Roman, J.; Ragel, V.; Ramirez, M. C. Synth. React. Inorg. Met.-Org. Chem. 1989, 19, 125-135.
- 550. Limberg, C.; Büchner, M.; Heinze, K.; Walter, O. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 872-879
- 551. Isovitsch, R. A.; May, J. G.; Fronczek, F. R.; Maverick, A. W. Polyhedron 2000, 19, 1437-1446.
- 552. Secrest, P. C.; Geib, S. J.; Cooper, N. J. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 4182-4186.
- 553. Junk, P. C.; Atwood, J. L. J. Coord. Chem. 1999, 46, 505-518.
- 554. Limberg, C.; Boese, R.; Schiemenz, B. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1997, 1633-1637.
- 555. Rabe, S.; Müller, U. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1999, 625, 842-844.
- 556. Junk, P. C. Rev. Anal. Chem. 2001, 21, 93-124.
- 557. Sobota, P.; Pluzinski, T.; Lis, T. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1986, 533, 215-224.
- 558. Sobota, P.; Ejfler, J.; Pluzinski, T.; Lis, T. Polyhedron 1991, 10, 2457-2461.
- 559. Kepert, C. J.; Kurmoo, M.; Truter, M. R.; Day, P. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1997, 607-613.
- 560. Carducci, M. D.; Brown, C.; Solomon, E. I.; Enemark, J. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 11856-11868.
- 561. Attanasio, D.; Funicello, M.; Suber, L. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1988, 147, 273-278.
- 562. Balagopalakrishna, C.; Kimbrough, J. T.; Westmoreland, T. D. Inorg. Chim. 1996, 35, 7758-7768.
- 563. Swann, J.; Westmoreland, T. D. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 5348-5357.
- 564. Kaupp, M.; Reviakine, R.; Malkina, O. L.; Arbuznikov, A.; Schimmelpfennig, B.; Malkin, V. G. J. Comput. Chem. 2002, 23, 794–803.
- 565. George, G. N.; Cleland, W. E., Jr.; Enemark, J. H.; Smith, B. E.; Kipke, C. A.; Roberts, S. A.; Cramer, S. P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 2541–2548.
- 566. Mohammed, A. K.; Fronczek, F. R.; Maverick, A. W. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1994, 226, 25-31.
- 567. Persson, C.; Andersson, C. Polyhedron 1993, 12, 2569-2575.
- 568. Sobota, P.; Szafert, S.; Utko, J.; Lis, T. J. Organomet. Chem. 1992, 423, 195-210.
- 569. Abu Bakar, M.; Hills, A.; Hughes, D. L.; Leigh, G. J. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1989, 1417-1419.
- 570. Isovitsch, R. A.; Fronczek, F. R.; Maverick, A. W. Polyhedron 1998, 17, 1617-1620.
- 571. Johnson, A. R.; Davis, W. M.; Cummins, C. C.; Serron, S.; Nolan, S. P.; Musaev, D. G.; Morokuma, K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 2071–2085.
- 572. Fürstner, A.; Mathes, C.; Lehmann, C. W. Chem. Eur. J. 2001, 7, 5299-5317.
- 573. Cleland, W. E., Jr.; Barnhart, K. M.; Yamanouchi, K.; Collison, D.; Mabbs, F. E.; Ortega, R. B.; Enemark, J. H. *Inorg. Chem.* **1987**, *26*, 1017–1025.
- 574. Chang, C.-S. J.; Collison, D.; Mabbs, F. E.; Enemark, J. H. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 2261-2267.
- 575. Chang, C.-S. J.; Enemark, J. H. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 683-688.
- 576. Nipales, N. S.; Westmoreland, T. D. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 3374-3377.
- 577. Chang, C.-S. J.; Pecci, T. J.; Carducci, M. D.; Enemark, J. H. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 4106-4110.
- 578. Basu, P.; Bruck, M. A.; Li, Z.; Dhawan, I. K.; Enemark, J. H. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 405-407.
- 579. Küsthardt, U.; LaBarre, M. J.; Enemark, J. H. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 3182-3187.
- 580. Saleh, A. A.; Pleune, B.; Fettinger, J. C.; Poli, R. Polyhedron 1997, 16, 1391-1397.
- 581. Dhawan, I. K.; Enemark, J. H. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 4873-4882.
- 582. Nemykin, V. N.; Davie, S. R.; Mondal, S.; Rubie, N.; Kirk, M. L.; Somogyi, A.; Basu, P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 756–757.
- 583. Collison, D.; Eardley, D. R.; Mabbs, F. E.; Rigby, K.; Bruck, M. A.; Enemark, J. H.; Wexler, P. A. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1994, 1003–1011.
- 584. Nipales, N. S.; Westmoreland, T. D. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 756-757.
- 585. Backes, G.; Enemark, J. H.; Loehr, T. M. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 1839-1842.
- 586. Inscore, F. E.; McNaughton, R.; Westcott, B. L.; Helton, M. E.; Jones, R.; Dhawan, I. K.; Enemark, J. H.; Kirk, M. L. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 1401–1410.
- 587. Helton, M. E.; Gruhn, N. E.; McNaughton, R. L.; Kirk, M. L. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 2273-2278.
- 588. Westcott, B. L.; Gruhn, N. E.; Enemark, J. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 3382-3386.
- 589. McElhaney, A. E.; Inscore, F. E.; Schirlin, J. T.; Enemark, J. H. Inorg. Chim. Acta 2002, 341, 85-90.
- 590. Graff, J. N.; McElhaney, A. E.; Basu, P.; Gruhn, N. E.; Chang, C.-S.; Enemark, J. H. Inorg. Chem. 2002, 41, 2642–2647.
- 591. McDonagh, A. M.; Ward, M. D.; McCleverty, J. A. New J. Chem. 2001, 25, 1236-1243.
- 592. Lincoln, S. E.; Loehr, T. M. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 1907-1915.
- 593. Kail, B.; Nemykin, V. N.; Davie, S. R.; Carrano, C. J.; Hammes, B.; Basu, P. Inorg. Chem. 2002, 41, 1281–1291.
- 594. Wieghardt, K.; Guttmann, M.; Chaudhuri, P.; Gebert, W.; Minelli, M.; Young, C. G.; Enemark, J. H. *Inorg. Chem.* 1985, 24, 3151–3155.
- 595. Patchkovskii, S.; Ziegler, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 3506-3516.
- 596. Imamura, T.; Furusaki, A. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1990, 63, 2726-2727.
- 597. Okuba, Y.; Okamura, A.; Imanishi, K.; Tachibana, J.; Umakoshi, K.; Sasaki, Y.; Imamura, T. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1999, 72, 2241–2247.
- 598. Hamstra, B. J.; Cheng, B.; Ellison, M. K.; Scheidt, W. R. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 3554-3561.
- 599. Matsuda, Y.; Takaki, T.; Murakami, Y. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1986, 59, 1839-1844.

- 600. Abe, H.; Kokufuta, E. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1990, 63, 1360-1364.
- 601. Jacoby, D.; Floriani, C.; Chiesi-Villa, A.; Rizzoli, C. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1991, 220-222.
- 602. Giraudon, J.-M.; Mandon, D.; Sala-Pala, J.; Guerchais, J. E.; Kerbaol, J.-M.; Le Mest, Y.; L'Haridon, P. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 707-713.
- 603. Giraudon, J. M.; Sala-Pala, J.; Guerchais, J. E.; Toupet, L. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 891-899 (Erratum: ibid 1991, 30, 3112).
- 604. Nyokong, T. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1989, 160, 235-239.
- 605. Nyokong, T. Polyhedron 1994, 13, 215-220.
- 606. Ferraudi, G.; Nyokong, T.; Feliz, M.; Perkovic, M.; Rillema, D. P. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1994, 215, 27-32.
- 607. Janczak, J.; Kubiak, R. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 2429-2433.
- 608. Börschel, V.; Strähle, J. Z. Naturforsch. B 1984, 39, 1664-1667.
- 609. Ueyama, N.; Zaima, H.; Nakamura, A. Chem. Lett. 1986, 1099-1102.
- 610. Ueyama, N.; Yoshinaga, N.; Kajiwara, A.; Nakamura, A.; Kusunoki, M. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1991, 64, 2458-2463.
- 611. Ueyama, N.; Okamura, T.; Nakamura, A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 8129-8137. 612. Ellis, R. S.; Collison, D.; Garner, C. D.; Clegg, W. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1986, 1483-1485.
- 613. Bishop, P. T.; Dilworth, J. R.; Hutchinson, J. P.; Zubieta, J. A. Transition Met. Chem. 1990, 15, 177-182.
- 614. Conry, R. R.; Tipton, A. A. J. Biol. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 6, 359–366. 615. Ellis, S. R.; Collison, D.; Garner, C. D. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1989, 413–417.
- 616. McNaughton, R. L.; Tipton, A. A.; Rubie, N. D.; Conry, R. R.; Kirk, M. L. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 5697-5706.
- 617. McMaster, J.; Carducci, M. D.; Yang, Y.-S.; Solomon, E. I.; Enemark, J. H. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 687-702.
- 618. Hanson, G. R.; Wilson, G. L.; Bailey, T. D.; Pilbrow, J. R.; Wedd, A. G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 2609-2616.
- 619. Wang, X.-B.; Inscore, F. E.; Yang, X.; Cooney, J. J. A.; Enemark, J. H.; Wang, L.-S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 10182-10191.
- 620. Sanz, V.; Picher, T.; Palanca, P.; Gómez-Romero, P.; Llopis, E.; Ramirez, J. A.; Beltrán, D.; Cervilla, A. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 3113-3115.
- 621. Barnard, K. R.; Bruck, M.; Huber, S.; Grittini, C.; Enemark, J. H.; Gable, R. W.; Wedd, A. G. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 637-649.
- 622. Kamenar, B.; Korpar-Colig, B.; Cindric, M.; Penavic, M.; Strukan, N. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1992, 2093–2097.
- 623. Boyde, S.; Ellis, S. R.; Garner, C. D.; Clegg, W. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1986, 1541-1543.
- 624. Davies, E. S.; Beddoes, R. L.; Collison, D.; Dinsmore, A.; Docrat, A.; Joule, J. A.; Wilson, C. R.; Garner, C. D. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1997, 3985-3996.
- 625. Helton, M. E.; Gebhart, N. L.; Davies, E. S.; McMaster, J.; Garner, C. D.; Kirk, M. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 10389-10390.
- 626. Matsubayashi, G.-E.; Nojo, T.; Tanaka, T. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1988, 154, 133-135.
- 627. Nojo, T.; Matsubayashi, G.; Tanaka, T. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1989, 159, 49-53.
- 628. Matsubayashi, G.; Nakano, M.; Saito, K.; Yonamine, T.; Arakawa, R. J. Organomet. Chem. 2000, 611, 364-369.
- 629. McNaughton, R. L.; Helton, M. E.; Rubie, N. D.; Kirk, M. L. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 4386-4387.
- 630. Burgmayer, S. J. N.; Kaufmann, H. L.; Fortunato, G.; Hug, P.; Fischer, B. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 2607-2613.
- 631. Fischer, B.; Strähle, J.; Viscontini, M. Helv. Chim. Acta 1991, 74, 1544-1554.
- 632. Fischer, B.; Schmalle, H.; Dubler, E.; Schäfer, A.; Viscontini, M. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 5726–5734.
 633. Kaufmann, H. L.; Carroll, P. J.; Burgmayer, S. J. N. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 2600–2606.
- 634. Burgmayer, S. J. N.; Arkin, M. R.; Bostick, L.; Dempster, S.; Everett, K. M.; Layton, H. L.; Paul, K. E.; Rogge, C.; Rheingold, A. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 5812-5823.
- 635. Burgmayer, S. J. N.; Baruch, A.; Kerr, K.; Yoon, K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989, 111, 4982-4984.
- 636. Fischer, B.; Schmalle, H. W.; Baumgartner, M. R.; Viscontini, M. Helv. Chim. Acta 1997, 80, 103-110.
- 637. Kaufmann, H. L.; Liable-Sands, L.; Rheingold, A. L.; Burgmayer, S. J. N. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 2592-2599.
- 638. Young, C. G.; Enemark, J. H.; Collison, D.; Mabbs, F. E. Inorg. Chem. 1987, 26, 2925-2927.
- 639. Young, C. G.; Gable, R. W.; Hill, J. P.; George, G. N. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 2227-2231.
- 640. Casteel, W., Jr.; Horwitz, T. Eur. J. Solid State Inorg. Chem. 1992, 29, 649-657.
- 641. Anderson, G. M.; Winfield, J. M. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1986, 337-341.
- 642. Iqbal, J.; Sharp, D. W. A.; Winfield, J. M. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1989, 461-464.
- 643. Bao, N.; Winfield, J. M. J. Fluorine Chem. 1990, 50, 339-343.
- 644. Brisdon, A. K.; Graham, J. T.; Hope, E. G.; Jenkins, D. M.; Levason, W.; Ogden, J. S. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1990, 1529-1532.
- 645. Herrmann, W. A.; Thiel, W. R.; Herdtweck, E. Polyhedron 1988, 7, 2027-2030.
- 646. Heath, G. A.; Moock, K. A.; Sharp, D. W. A.; Yellowlees, L. J. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun 1985, 1503–1505.
- 647. Ernst, T.; El-Kholi, A.; Müller, U.; Dehnicke, K. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1988, 566, 7-17.
- 648. Rajca, G.; Schwarz, W.; Weidlein, J.; Dehnicke, K. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1985, 522, 83-91.
- 649. Kläui, W.; Hardt, T.; Schulte, H.-J.; Hamers, H. J. Organomet. Chem. 1995, 498, 63-71.
- 650. Dennis, C. R.; Basson, S. S. Polyhedron 1997, 16, 3857-3860.
- 651. Olatunji, M. A.; Okechukwu, R. C. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1987, 131, 89-94.
- 652. Leipoldt, J. G.; Basson, S. S.; Roodt, A. Adv. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 40, 241-322.
- 653. Heuer, W. B.; Mountford, P.; Green, M. L. H.; Bott, S. G.; O'Hare, D.; Miller, J. S. Chem. Mater. 1990, 2, 764-772.
- 654. Boyde, S.; Garner, C. D.; Enemark, J. H.; Bruck, M. A.; Kristofzski, J. G. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1987, 2267-2271.
- 655. Matsubayashi, G.; Douki, K.; Tamura, H.; Nakano, M.; Mori, W. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 5990-5996.
- 656. Cervilla, A.; Ramírez, J. A.; Llopis, E.; Palanca, P. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 2085-2091.
- 657. Halcrow, M. A.; Huffman, J. C.; Christou, G. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 3639-3644.
- 658. Decoster, M.; Conan, F.; Guerchais, J. E.; Le Mest, Y.; Sala-Pala, J.; Jeffery, J. C.; Faulques, E.; Leblanc, A.; Molinie, P. Polyhedron 1995, 14, 1741-1750.
- 659. Le Stang, S.; Conan, F.; Sala-Pala, J.; Le Mest, Y.; Garland, M.-T.; Baggio, R.; Faulques, E.; Leblanc, A.; Molinié, P.; Toupet, L. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1998, 489-496.

- 660. Simonnet-Jégat, C.; Cadusseau, E.; Dessapt, R.; Sécheresse, F. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 2335-2339.
- 661. Ly, T. Q.; Mabbs, F. E.; McInnes, E. J. C.; Slawin, A. M. Z.; Woollins, J. D. Inorg. Chem. Commun. 1998, 1, 143 - 146
- 662. Garner, C. D.; Armstrong, E. M.; Berry, R. E.; Beddoes, R. L.; Collison, D.; Cooney, J. J. A.; Ertok, S. N.; Helliwell, M. J. Inorg. Biochem. 2000, 80, 17-20.
- 663. Yadav, H. S.; Armstrong, E. M.; Beddoes, R. L.; Collison, D.; Garner, C. D. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1994, 605-606
- 664. Smith, P. D.; Cooney, J. J. A.; McInnes, E. J. L.; Beddoes, R. L.; Collison, D.; Harben, S. M.; Helliwell, M.; Mabbs, F. E.; Mandel, A.; Powell, A. K.; Garner, C. D. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 2001, 3108-3114.
- 665. Kolodziej, R. M.; Schrock, R. R.; Davis, W. M. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 27, 3253-3255.
- 666. Arnold, J.; Wilkinson, G.; Hussain, B.; Hursthouse, M. B. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1989, 2149-2153.
- 667. Landis, C. R.; Cleveland, T.; Firman, T. K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 2641-2649.
- 668. Koschmieder, S. U.; McGilligan, B. S.; McDermott, G.; Arnold, J.; Wilkinson, G.; Hussain-Bates, B.; Hursthouse, M. B. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1990, 3427-3433.
- 669. Yoshida, T.; Adachi, T.; Yabunouchi, N.; Ueda, T.; Okamoto, S. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1994, 151-152.
- 670. Hughes, D. L.; Mohammed, M. Y.; Pickett, C. J. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1990, 2013–2019.
- 671. Seino, H.; Tanabe, Y.; Ishii, Y.; Hidai, M. Inorg. Chim. Acta **1998**, 280, 163–171. 672. Tanabe, Y.; Seino, H.; Ishii, Y.; Hidai, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2000**, 122, 1690–1699.
- 673. Henderson, R. A.; Leigh, G. J.; Pickett, C. J. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1989, 425-430.
- 674. Dyer, P. W.; Gibson, V. C.; Howard, J. A. K.; Wilson, C. J. Organomet. Chem. 1993, 462, C15-C17.
- 675. Radius, U.; Sundermeyer, J.; Pritzkow, H. Chem. Ber. 1994, 127, 1827-1835.
- 676. Dyer, P. W.; Gibson, V. C.; Clegg, W. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1995, 3313-3316.
- 677. Dillon, K. B.; Gibson, V. C.; Howard, J. A. K.; Sequeira, L. J.; Yao, J. W. Polyhedron 1996, 15, 4173-4177.
- 678. Pombeiro, A. J. L. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1992, 198-200, 179-186.
- 679. Alias, Y.; Ibrahim, S. K.; Queiros, M. A.; Fonseca, A.; Talarmin, J.; Volant, F.; Pickett, C. J. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1997, 4807-4815.
- 680. Montilla, F.; Galindo, A.; Carmona, E.; Gutiérrez-Puebla, E.; Monge, A. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1998, 1299-1305.
- 681. Montilla, F.; Pastor, A.; Galindo, A. J. Organomet. Chem. 1999, 587, 127-131.
- 682. Hall, K. A.; Mayer, J. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 10402-10411
- 683. Lichtenhan, J. D.; Critchlow, S. C.; Doherty, N. M. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 439-442.
- 684. Anderson, S. J.; Wells, F. J.; Wilkinson, G.; Hussain, B.; Hursthouse, M. B. Polyhedron 1988, 7, 2615-2626.
- 685. Cameron, T. M.; Abboud, K. A.; Boncella, J. M. Chem. Commun. 2001, 1224-1225.
- 686. Cameron, T. M.; Ortiz, C. G.; Abboud, K. A.; Boncella, J. M.; Baker, R. T.; Scott, B. L. Chem. Commun. 2000, 573-574.
- 687. Ortiz, C. G.; Abboud, K. A.; Cameron, T. M.; Boncella, J. M. Chem. Commun. 2001, 247-248.
- 688. Cameron, T. M.; Ghiviriga, I.; Abboud, K. A.; Boncella, J. M. Organometallics 2001, 20, 4378-4383.
- 689. Cameron, T. M.; Ortiz, C. G.; Ghiviriga, I.; Abboud, K. A.; Boncella, J. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 922-923.
- 690. Devore, D. D.; Maatta, E. A.; Takusagawa, F. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1986, 112, 87-91.
- 691. Adachi, T.; Hughes, D. L.; Ibrahim, S. K.; Okamoto, S.; Pickett, C. J.; Yabanouchi, N.; Yoshida, T. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1995, 1081-1083.
- 692. Chisholm, M. H.; Hammond, C. E.; Huffman, J. C. Polyhedron 1988, 7, 399-400.
- 693. Baker, R. T.; Krusic, P. J.; Tulip, T. H.; Calabrese, J. C.; Wreford, S. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1983, 105, 6763-6765.
- 694. Chisholm, M. H.; Hammond, C. E.; Huffman, J. C. Polyhedron 1989, 8, 1419-1423.
- 695. Beach, D. B.; Jolly, W. L. Inorg. Chem. 1986, 25, 875–876.
 696. Chisholm, M. H.; Hammond, C. E.; Ho, D.; Huffman, J. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108, 7860–7861.
- 697. Duan, Z.; Verkade, J. G. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 1576-1578.
- 698. Shih, K.-Y.; Schrock, R. R.; Kempe, R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 8804-8805.
- 699. Katayev, E.; Li, Y.; Odom, A. L. Chem. Commun. 2002, 838-839.
- 700. George, T. A.; Koczon, L. M.; Tisdale, R. C.; Gebreyes, K.; Ma, L.; Shaikh, S. N.; Zubieta, J. Polyhedron 1990, 9, 545-551.
- 701. George, T. A.; Ma, L.; Shailh, S. N.; Tisdale, R. C.; Zubieta, J. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 4789-4796.
- 702. George, T. A.; Kurk, D. N.; Redepenning, J. Polyhedron 1996, 15, 2377-2379.
- 703. Jimenez-Tenorio, M.; Puerta, M. C.; Valerga, P.; Hughes, D. L. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1994, 2431-2436.
- 704. Aoshima, T.; Mizobe, Y.; Hidai, M.; Tsuchiya, J. J. Organomet. Chem. 1992, 423, 39-50.
- 705. Aoshima, T.; Tamura, T.; Mizobe, Y.; Hidai, M. J. Organomet. Chem. 1992, 435, 85-99.
- 706. Harada, Y.; Mizobe, Y.; Aoshima, T.; Oshita, H.; Hidai, M. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1998, 71, 183-190.
- 707. Seino, H.; Ishii, Y.; Sasagawa, T.; Hidai, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 12181-12193.
- 708. Seino, H.; Ishii, Y.; Hidai, M. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 161-171.
- 709. Ishii, Y.; Miyagi, H.; Jitsukuni, S.; Seino, H.; Harkness, B. S.; Hidai, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 9890-9898.
- 710. Seino, H.; Ishii, Y.; Hidai, M. Organometallics 1994, 13, 364-369.
- 711. Hussain, W.; Leigh, G. J.; Ali, H. M.; Pickett, C. J. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1988, 553-555.
- 712. Yoshida, T.; Adachi, T.; Kaminaka, M.; Ueda, T.; Higuchi, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1988, 110, 4872-4873.
- 713. Yoshida, T.; Adachi, T.; Ueda, T.; Kaminaka, M.; Sasaki, N.; Higuchi, T.; Aoshima, T.; Mega, I.; Mizobe, Y.; Hidai, M. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1989, 28, 1040-1041.
- 714. Debenjak, B.; Bustos, C.; Carrillo, D.; Robert, F.; Gouzerh, P. Polyhedron 1992, 11, 2321-2326.
- 715. Li-Kao, J.; Bustos, C.; Carrillo, D.; Robert, F.; Gouzerh, P. Transition Met. Chem. 1993, 18, 265-270.
- 716. Block, E.; Ofori-Okai, G.; Kang, H.; Zubieta, J. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1991, 190, 179-184.
- 717. Blower, P. J.; Dilworth, J. R.; Hutchinson, J.; Nicholson, T.; Zubieta, J. A. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1985, 2639-2645.
- 718. Shiu, K.-B.; Yeh, L.-Y.; Peng, S.-M.; Cheng, M.-C. J. Organomet. Chem. 1993, 460, 203-211.
- 719. Ali, H. M.; Leigh, G. J. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1986, 213-215.
- 720. Mattes, R.; Scholand, H.; Mikloweit, U.; Schrenk, V. Z. Naturforsch. B 1987, 42, 589-598.

- 721. Mattes, R.; Scholand, H.; Mikloweit, U.; Schrenk, V. Z. Naturforsch. B 1987, 42, 599-604.
- 722. Cotton, F. A.; Feng, X. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 4921-4925.
- 723. Mansilla, N.; Rheinwald, G.; Lang, H. J. Organomet. Chem. 2000, 602, 72-74.
- 724. Leipoldt, J. G.; Basson, S. S.; Roodt, A.; Purcell, W. Polyhedron 1992, 11, 2277-2284.
- 725. Roodt, A.; Abou-Hamdan, A.; Engelbrecht, H. P.; Merbach, A. E. Adv. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 49, 59-126.
- 726. Szklarzewicz, J. Transition Met. Chem. 2001, 26, 189-194.
- 727. Szklarzewicz, J.; Samotus, A.; Burgess, J.; Fawcett, J.; Russell, D. R. Transition Met. Chem. 2001, 26, 1-6.
- 728. Szklarzewicz, J.; Samotus, A.; Burgess, J.; Fawcett, J.; Russell, D. R. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1995, 3057–3061.
- 729. Young, C. G.; Roberts, S. A.; Ortega, R. B.; Enemark, J. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 2938-2946.
- 730. Smith, P. D.; Millar, A. J.; Young, C. G.; Ghosh, A.; Basu, P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 9298-9299.
- 731. Kassim, M. B.; Paul, R. P.; Jeffery, J. C.; McCleverty, J. A.; Ward, M. D. Inorg. Chim. Acta 2002, 327, 160-168.
- 732. Seino, H.; Arai, Y.; Iwata, N.; Nagao, S.; Mizobe, Y.; Hidai, M. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 1677-1682.
- 733. Hill, A. F.; Malget, J. M.; White, A. J. P.; Williams, D. J. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 598-600.
- 734. Hughes, A. K.; Malget, J. M.; Goeta, A. E. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 2001, 1927-1928.
- 735. Laughlin, L. J.; Gulbis, J. M.; Tiekink, E. R. T.; Young, C. G. Aust. J. Chem. 1994, 47, 471-476.
- 736. Bergamini, P.; Sostero, S.; Traverso, O.; Deplano, P.; Wilson, L. J. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1986, 2311-2314.
- 737. Edmondson, S. J.; Mitchell, P. C. H. Polyhedron 1986, 5, 315-317.
- 738. Cotton, F. A.; Schmid, G. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 2267-2278.
- 739. Bendix, J.; Birkedal, H.; Bøgevig, A. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 2702-2703.
- 740. Fong, L. K.; Fox, J. R.; Foxman, B. M.; Cooper, N. J. Inorg. Chem. 1986, 25, 1880-1886.
- 741. Boorman, P. M.; Kraatz, H. B.; Parvez, M. Polyhedron 1993, 12, 601-606.
- 742. Oku, H.; Ueyama, N.; Kondo, M.; Nakamura, A. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 209-216.
- 743. Götz, B.; Knoch, F.; Kisch, H. Chem. Ber. 1996, 129, 33-37.
- 744. Coucouvanis, D.; Hadjikyriacou, A.; Toupadakis, A.; Koo, S.-M.; Ileperuma, O.; Draganjac, M.; Salifoglou, A. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 754–767.
- 745. Oku, H.; Ueyama, N.; Nakamura, A. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 1504-1516.
- 746. Nicholas, K. M.; Khan, M. A. Inorg. Chem. 1987, 26, 1633-1636.
- 747. Flomer, W. A.; Kolis, J. W. Inorg. Chem. 1989, 28, 2513-2517.
- 748. Bennett, M. A.; Boyd, I. W. J. Organomet. Chem. 1985, 290, 165-180.
- 749. Conn, C.; Lloyd-Jones, D.; Kannangara, G. S. K.; Baker, A. T. J. Organomet. Chem. 1999, 585, 134-140.
- 750. Moloy, K. G. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 27, 677-681.
- 751. Carmona, E.; Galindo, A.; Gutiérrez-Puebla, E.; Monge, A.; Puerta, C. Inorg. Chem. 1986, 25, 3804–3807.
- 752. Carmona, E.; Galindo, A.; Guille-Photin, C.; Lai, R.; Monge, A.; Ruiz, C.; Sánchez, L. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 27, 488-492.
- 753. Kondo, M.; Ueyama, N.; Fukuyama, K.; Nakamura, A. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1993, 66, 1391–1396.
- 754. Ueyama, N.; Kondo, M.; Oku, H.; Nakamura, A. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1994, 67, 1840-1847.
- 755. Sellmann, D.; Fünfgelder, S.; Knoch, F. Z. Naturforsch. B 1992, 47, 51-60.
- 756. Sellmann, D.; Hadawi, B.; Knoch, F.; Moll, M. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 5963-5972.
- 757. Carmona, E.; Galindo, A.; Guille-Photin, C.; Sanchez, L. Polyhedron 1988, 7, 1767-1771.
- 758. Chen, J.-D.; Cotton, F. A.; Kang, S.-J. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1991, 190, 103-108.
- 759. Baker, P. K.; Drew, M. G. B.; Meehan, M. M. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1999, 765-771.
- 760. Baker, P. K.; Drew, M. G. B.; Meehan, M. M.; Szewczyk, J. J. Organomet. Chem. 1999, 580, 265-272.
- 761. Yoon, K.; Parkin, G.; Rheingold, A. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 1437-1438.
- 762. Desrochers, P. J.; Nebesny, K. W.; LaBarre, M. J.; Lincoln, S. E.; Loehr, T. M.; Enemark, J. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 9193-9200.
- 763. Desrochers, P. J.; Nebesny, K. W.; LaBarre, M. J.; Bruck, M. A.; Neilson, G. F.; Sperline, R. P.; Enemark, J. H.; Backes, G.; Wieghardt, K. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 15-24.
- 764. Parkin, G. Acc. Chem. Res. 1992, 25, 455-560.
- 765. Parkin, G. Chem. Rev. 1993, 93, 887-911.
- 766. Rohmer, M.-M.; Bénard, M. Chem. Soc. Rev. 2001, 30, 340-354.
- 767. Bashall, A. P.; Bligh, S. W. A.; Edwards, A. J.; Gibson, V. C.; McPartlin, M.; Robinson, O. B. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1992, 31, 1607-1609.
- 768. Cotton, F. A.; Diebold, M. P.; Roth, W. J. Inorg. Chem. 1987, 26, 2848-2852.
- 769. Murphy, V. J.; Parkin, G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 3522-3528.
- 770. Lorenz, I.-P.; Walter, G.; Hiller, W. Chem. Ber. 1990, 123, 979-982.
- 771. Yoshida, T.; Adachi, T.; Matsumura, K.; Kawazu, K.; Baba, K. Chem. Lett. 1991, 1067-1070.
- 772. Yoshida, T.; Adachi, T.; Matsumura, K.; Baba, K. Chem. Lett. 1992, 2447-2450.
- 773. Yoshida, T.; Adachi, T.; Matsumura, K.; Baba, K. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1993, 32, 1621-1623.
- 774. Coucouvanis, D.; Draganjac, M. E.; Koo, S. M.; Toupadakis, A.; Hadjikyriacou, A. I. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 1186-1196.
- 775. Berreau, L. M.; Hays, J. A.; Young, V. G., Jr.; Woo, L. K. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 105-108.
- 776. Berreau, L. M.; Young, V. G., Jr.; Woo, L. K. Inorg. Chem. **1995**, *34*, 3485–3490. 777. O'Neal, S. C.; Pennington, W. T.; Kolis, J. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1991**, *113*, 710–712.
- 778. O'Neal, S. C.; Pennington, W. T.; Kolis, J. W. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 888-894.
- 779. Young, C. G.; McInerney, I. P.; Bruck, M. A.; Enemark, J. H. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 412-416.
- 780. Beck, J.; Hengstmann, M. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1998, 624, 1943-1950.
- 781. Beck, J. Z. Naturforsch. B 1996, 51, 1127-1131.
- 782. Calderazzo, F.; Maichle-Mössmer, C.; Pampaloni, G.; Strähle, J. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1993, 655-658.
- 783. Schmidt, I.; Patt-Siebel, U.; Müller, U.; Dehnicke, K. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1988, 556, 57-61.
- 784. Manteghetti, A.; Belin, C.; Tillard-Charbonnel, M.; Pascal, J.-L.; Clot, E.; Favier, F. New J. Chem. 1999, 165-171. 785. Liu, S.; Zubieta, J. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1990, 168, 43-46.
- 786. Schmidt, I.; Pebler, J.; Patt-Siebel, U.; Müller, U.; Dehnicke, K. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1987, 548, 117-124.
- 787. Castellani, L.; Gallazzi, M. C. Transition Met. Chem. 1985, 10, 194-195.

- 788. Stoffelbach, F.; Saurenz, D.; Poli, R. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 2699-2703.
- 789. Roland, E.; Walborsky, E. C.; Dewan, J. C.; Schrock, R. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1985, 107, 5795-5797.
- 790. Persson, C.; Andersson, C. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1993, 203, 235-238.
- 791. Hey-Hawkins, E.; von Schnering, H. G. Z. Naturforsch. B 1991, 46, 307-314.
- 792. Pauls, I.; Dehnicke, K.; Fenske, D. Chem. Ber. 1989, 122, 481-483.
- 793. Plate, M.; Dehnicke, K.; Abram, S.; Abram, U. Z. Naturforsch. B 1996, 51, 1049-1052.
- 794. Mockford, M. J.; Griffith, W. P. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1985, 717-722.
- 795. Meske, W.; Babel, D. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1998, 624, 1751-1755.
- 796. Brownlee, R. T. C.; Shehan, B. P.; Wedd, A. G. Inorg. Chem. 1987, 26, 2022-2024.
- 797. Sra, A. K.; Andruh, M.; Kahn, O.; Golhen, S.; Ouahab, L.; Yakhmi, J. V. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1999, 38, 2606-2609.
- 798. Dawson, D. M.; Henderson, R. A.; Hills, A.; Hughes, D. L. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1992, 969-972.
- 799. Dahlenburg, L.; Pietsch, B. J. Organomet. Chem. 1989, 378, 199-210.
- 800. Cloke, F. G. N.; Fyne, P. J.; Gibson, V. C.; Green, M. L. H.; Ledoux, M. J.; Perutz, R. N.; Dix, A.; Gourdon, A.; Prout, K. J. Organomet. Chem. 1984, 277, 61-73.
- 801. Cloke, F. G. N.; Gibson, V. C.; Green, M. L. H.; Mtetwa, V. S. B.; Prout, K. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1988, 2227-2229.
- 802. Ito, T.; Takahashi, A.; Tamura, S. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1986, 59, 3489-3494.
- 803. Minato, M.; Sakai, H.; Weng, Z.-G.; Zhou, D.-Y.; Kurishima, S.; Ito, T.; Yamasaki, M.; Shiro, M.; Tanaka, M.; Osakada, K. Organometallics 1996, 15, 4863-4871.
- 804. Kashef, N.; Richards, R. L. J. Organomet. Chem. 1989, 365, 309-315.
- 805. Fong, L. K.; Fox, J. R.; Cooper, N. J. Organometallics 1987, 6, 223-231.
- 806. Alvarez, R.; Carmona, E.; Galindo, A.; Gutiérrez, E.; Marín, J. M.; Monge, A.; Poveda, M. L.; Ruiz, C.; Savariault, J. M. Organometallics 1989, 8, 2430-2439.
- 807. Zhou, D.-Y.; Minato, M.; Ito, T.; Yamasaki, M. Chem. Lett. 1997, 1017-1018.
- 808. Minato, M.; Hirabayashi, R.; Matsumoto, T.; Yamaguchi, Y.; Ito, T. Chem. Lett. 2001, 960-961.
- 809. Zhou, D.-Y.; Zhang, L.-B.; Minato, M.; Ito, T.; Osakada, K. Chem. Lett. 1998, 187-188.
- 810. Minato, M.; Zhou, D.-Y.; Sumiura, K.; Hirabayashi, R.; Yamaguchi, Y.; Ito, T. Chem. Commun. 2001, 2654–2655.
- 811. Ito, T.; Shimada, K.; Ono, T.; Minato, M.; Yamaguchi, Y. J. Organomet. Chem. 2000, 611, 308-313. 812. Beshouri, S.; Coffindaffer, T. W.; Pirzad, S.; Rothwell, I. P. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1985, 103, 111-112.
- 813. Kerschner, J. L.; Yu, J. S.; Fanwick, P. E.; Rothwell, I. P.; Huffman, J. C. Organometallics 1989, 8, 1414-1418.
- 814. Kerschner, J. L.; Torres, E. M.; Fanwick, P. E.; Rothwell, I. P.; Huffman, J. C. Organometallics 1989, 8, 1424–1431.
- 815. Hascall, T.; Murphy, V. J.; Parkin, G. Organometallics 1996, 15, 3910-3912.
- 816. Hascall, T.; Baik, M.-H.; Bridgewater, B. M.; Shin, J. H.; Churchill, D. G.; Friesner, R. A.; Parkin, G. Chem. Commun. 2002, 2644-2645.
- 817. Fantacci, S.; Sgamellotti, A.; Re, N.; Floriani, C. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 1544-1549.
- 818. Walborsky, E. C.; Wigley, D. E.; Roland, E.; Dewan, J. C.; Schrock, R. R. Inorg. Chem. 1987, 26, 1615–1621.
- 819. Guillemot, G.; Solari, E.; Scopelliti, R.; Floriani, C. Organometallics 2001, 20, 2446-2448
- 820. Takemoto, S.; Otsuka, K.; Otsuka, T.; Seino, H.; Mizobe, Y.; Hidai, M. Chem. Lett. 2002, 6-7.
- 821. Gerlach, C. P.; Wuller, S. P.; Arnold, J. Chem. Commun. 1996, 2565-2566.
- 822. Ueyama, N.; Zaima, H.; Nakamura, A. Chem. Lett. 1985, 1481-1482.
- 823. Bishop, P. T.; Dilworth, J. R.; Hughes, D. L. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1988, 2535-2538.
- 824. Dilworth, J. R.; Hutchinson, J.; Zubieta, J. A. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1983, 1034-1035.
- 825. Burrow, T. E.; Hills, A.; Hughes, D. L.; Lane, J. D.; Morris, R. H.; Richards, R. L. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1991, 1813-1820.
- 826. Hughes, D. L.; Lazarowych, N. J.; Maguire, M. J.; Morris, R. H.; Richards, R. L. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1995, 5-15.
- 827. Burrow, T. E.; Lough, A. J.; Morris, R. H.; Hills, A.; Hughes, D. L.; Lane, J. D.; Richards, R. L. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1991, 2519-2526.
- 828. Burrow, T. E.; Hughes, D. L.; Lough, A. J.; Maguire, M. J.; Morris, R. H.; Richards, R. L. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1995, 1315-1323.
- 829. Hitchcock, P. B.; Hughes, D. L.; Maguire, M. J.; Marjani, K.; Richards, R. L. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1997, 4747-4752
- 830. Fairhurst, S. A.; Hughes, D. L.; Marjani, K.; Richards, R. L. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1998, 1899–1904.
- 831. Arikawa, Y.; Kawaguchi, H.; Kashiwabara, K.; Tatsumi, K. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 4549-4553.
- 832. Kaul, B. B.; Sellmann, D. Z. Naturforsch. B 1983, 38, 562-567.
- 833. Young, C. G.; Yan, X. F.; Fox, B. L.; Tiekink, E. R. T. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1994, 2579–2580.
- 834. Lim, P. J.; Gable, R. W.; Young, C. G. Inorg. Chim. Acta 2000, 310, 120-125.
- 835. Lim, P. J.; Cook, V. C.; Doonan, C. J.; Young, C. G.; Tiekink, E. R. T. Organometallics 2000, 19, 5643-5653.
- 836. Forster, G. D.; Hogarth, G. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1997, 2305-2307.
- 837. Seymore, S. B.; Brown, S. N. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 6676-6683.
- 838. Sellmann, D.; Reisser, W. J. Organomet. Chem. 1985, 294, 333-346.
- 839. Sellmann, D.; Grasser, F.; Knoch, F.; Moll, M. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1992, 195, 25-33.
- 840. Sellmann, D.; Kremitzl, H.-J.; Knoch, F.; Moll, M. Z. Naturforsch. B 1995, 50, 1601-1616.
- 841. Musgrave, K. B.; Lim, B. S.; Sung, K.-M.; Holm, R. H.; Hedman, B.; Hodgson, K. O. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 5238-5247.
- 842. Eagle, A. A.; Young, C. G.; Tiekink, E. R. T. Polyhedron 1990, 9, 2965-2969.
- 843. Boyde, S.; Garner, C. D.; Enemark, J. H.; Ortega, R. B. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1987, 297-302.
- 844. Best, S. P.; Ciniawsky, S. A.; Humphrey, D. G. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1996, 2945–2949.
- 845. Boyde, S.; Garner, C. D. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1991, 713-716.
- 846. Pennesi, G.; Corazza, F.; Floriani, C.; Chiesi-Villa, A.; Guastini, C. J. Chem. Res., Synop. 1989, 86-87.
- 847. Solari, E.; Maltese, C.; Latronico, M.; Floriani, C.; Chiesi-Villa, A.; Rizzoli, C. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1998, 2395-2400.

- 848. Al-Shihri, A. S. M.; Dilworth, J. R.; Howe, S. D.; Silver, J.; Thompson, R. M.; Davies, J.; Povey, D. C. Polyhedron 1993, 12, 2297–2305.
- 849. Latham, I. A.; Leigh, G. J.; Pickett, C. J.; Huttner, G.; Jibrill, I.; Zubieta, J. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1986, 1181–1187.
- 850. Herbowski, A.; Sobczak, J. M.; Ziolkowski, J. J. Polyhedron 1986, 5, 399-401.
- 851. Yao, Q.; Maverick, A. W. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 27, 1669-1670.
- 852. Yao, Q.; Maverick, A. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108, 5364-5365.
- 853. Stranger, R.; Moran, G.; Krausz, E.; Güdel, H.; Furer, N. Mol. Phys. 1990, 69, 11-31.
- 854. Brencic, J. V.; Ceh, B. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1989, 160, 143-145.
- 855. Brencic, J. V.; Leban, I.; Modec, B. Polyhedron 1994, 13, 3171-3176.
- 856. Brencic, J. V.; Leban, I.; Modec, B.; Carugo, O. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1995, 229, 421-424.
- 857. Hofacker, P.; Friebel, C.; Dehnicke, K.; Bäuml, P.; Hiller, W.; Strähle, J. Z. Naturforsch. B 1989, 44, 1161–1166.
- 858. Poli, R.; Mui, H. D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 2446-2448.
- 859. Owens, B. E.; Poli, R.; Rheingold, A. L. Inorg. Chem. 1989, 28, 1456-1462.
- 860. Cotton, F. A.; Poli, R. Inorg. Chem. 1987, 26, 1514-1518.
- 861. Baker, P. K.; Meehan, M. M.; Drew, M. G. B. Transition Met. Chem. 1999, 24, 333-336.
- 862. Cotton, F. A.; Poli, R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1988, 110, 830-841.
- 863. Hills, A.; Leigh, G. J.; Hutchinson, J.; Zubieta, J. A. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1985, 1069-1071.
- 864. Fettinger, J. C.; Gordon, J. C.; Mattamana, S. P.; O'Connor, C. J.; Poli, R.; Salem, G. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 7404-7412.
- 865. Jacobsen, C. J. H.; Villadsen, J.; Weihe, H. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 5396-5397.
- 866. Brorson, M.; Jacobsen, C. J. H.; Jensen, C. M.; Schmidt, I.; Villadsen, J. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1996, 247, 189-194.
- 867. Cotton, F. A.; Dikarev, E. V.; Herrero, S. Inorg. Chim. 1999, 38, 2649-2654.
- 868. Cotton, F. A.; Dikarev, E. V.; Herrero, S. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 5862-5868.
- 869. Hyldtoft, J.; Larsen, S.; Mønsted, O. Acta Chem. Scand. 1989, 43, 842-850.
- 870. Jacobsen, C. J. H.; Hyldtoft, J.; Larsen, S.; Pedersen, E. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 840-842.
- 871. Prasad, K. M.; Tripathy, A. N.; Thakur, N. M. Polyhedron 1991, 10, 323-324.
- 872. Mohammed, A. K.; Isovitsch, R. A.; Maverick, A. W. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 2779–2785.
- 873. Young, C. G.; Roberts, S. A.; Enemark, J. H. Inorg. Chem. 1986, 25, 3667-3671.
- 874. Schrock, R. R.; Rosenberger, C.; Seidel, S. W.; Shih, K.-Y.; Davis, W. M.; Odom, A. L. J. Organomet. Chem. 2001, 617-618, 495–501.
- 875. Gorsch, M.; Kienast, A.; Hückstädt, H.; Homborg, H. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1997, 623, 1433-1440.
- 876. Cotton, F. A.; Vidyasagar, K. Polyhedron 1995, 14, 3077-3085.
- 877. Borgmann, C.; Limberg, C.; Driess, A. J. Organomet. Chem. 1997, 541, 367-375.
- 878. Cotton, F. A.; Poli, R. Inorg. Chem. 1986, 25, 3624-3629.
- 879. Dahlenburg, L.; Pietsch, B. Z. Naturforsch. B 1986, 41, 70-75.
- 880. Pietsch, B.; Dahlenburg, L. Inorg. Chem. Acta 1988, 145, 195-203.
- 881. Fernández-Trujillo, M. J.; García Basallote, M.; Valerga, P.; Puerta, M. C.; Hughes, D. L. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1991, 3149-3151.
- 882. George, T. A.; Rose, D. J.; Chang, Y.; Chen, Q.; Zubieta, J. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 1295-1298.
- 883. Al Salih, T.; Duarte, M. T.; Frausto de Silva, J. J. R.; Galvão, A. M.; Guedes da Silva, M. F. C.; Hitchcock, P. B.; Hughes, D. L.; Pickett, C. J.; Pombeiro, A. J. L.; Richards, R. L. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1993, 3015–3023.
- 884. Povey, D. C.; Richards, R. L.; Shortman, C. Polyhedron 1986, 5, 369-376.
- 885. Brorson, M.; Schäffer, C. E. Acta Chim. Scand. 1986, A40, 358-360.
- 886. Brorson, M.; Gajhede, M. Inorg. Chem. 1987, 26, 2109-2112.
- 887. Best, S. P.; Forsyth, J. B.; Tregenna-Piggott, P. L. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1993, 2711–2715.
- 888. Best, S. P.; Figgis, B. N.; Forsyth, J. B.; Reynolds, P. A.; Tregenna-Piggott, P. L. W. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 4605-4610.
- 889. Sellmann, D.; Zapf, L. J. Organomet. Chem. 1985, 289, 57-69.
- 890. Durrant, M. C.; Goerdt, B.; Hauser, C.; Krawinkel, T.; Richards, R. L. Transition Met. Chem. 1995, 20, 583-589.
- 891. Boorman, P. M.; Wang, M.; Parvez, M. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1996, 4533-4542.
- 892. Schumacher, C.; Schmidt, R. E.; Dehnicke, K. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1985, 520, 25-31.
- 893. Buyuktas, B. S.; Olmstead, M. M.; Power, P. P. Chem. Commun. 1998, 1689-1690.
- 894. Baker, P. K. Adv. Organomet. Chem. 1996, 40, 45-115.
- 895. Cotton, F. A.; Schmid, G. Polyhedron 1996, 15, 4053-4059.
- 896. Fromm, K.; Plaikner, M.; Hey-Hawkins, E. Z. Naturforsch. B 1995, 50, 894-898 (Erratum: bid 1996, 51, 1669).
- 897. Cook, D. J.; Hill, A. F. Chem. Commun. 1997, 955-956.
- 898. Anderson, S.; Cook, D. J.; Hill, A. F. Organometallics 2001, 20, 2468-2476.
- 899. Luo, X.-L.; Kubas, G. J.; Burns, C. J.; Butcher, R. J. Organometallics 1995, 14, 3370-3376.
- 900. Contreras, L.; Pizzano, A.; Sánchez, L.; Carmona, E. J. Organomet. Chem. 1995, 500, 61-67.
- 901. Contreras, L.; Monge, A.; Pizzano, A.; Ruiz, C.; Sánchez, L.; Carmona, E. Organometallics 1992, 11, 3971-3980.
- Ujaque, G.; Maseras, F.; Lledós, A.; Contreras, L.; Pizzano, A.; Rodewald, D.; Sánchez, L.; Carmona, E.; Monge, A.; Ruiz, C. Organometallics 1999, 18, 3294–3305.
- 903. Carmona, E.; Sánchez, L.; Marín, J. M.; Poveda, M. L.; Atwood, J. L.; Priester, R. D.; Rogers, R. D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1984, 106, 3214–3222.
- 904. Contreras, L.; Laínez, R. F.; Pizzano, A.; Sánchez, L.; Carmona, E.; Monge, A.; Ruiz, C. Organometallics 2000, 19, 261–268.
- 905. Contreras, L.; Pizzano, A.; Sánchez, L.; Carmona, E. J. Organomet. Chem. 1999, 582, 3-8.
- 906. Pizzano, A.; Sánchez, L.; Gutiérrez, E.; Monge, A.; Carmona, E. Organometallics 1995, 14, 14-16.
- 907. Pizzano, A.; Sánchez, L.; Altmann, M.; Monge, A.; Ruiz, C.; Carmona, E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 1759–1765.
- 908. Conejo, M. M.; Pizzano, A.; Sánchz, L. J.; Carmona, E. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1996, 3687–3691.
- 909. Carmona, E.; Muñoz, M. A.; Rogers, R. D. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 27, 1598-1601.
- 910. Curtis, M. D.; Shiu, K.-B.; Butler, W. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108, 1550-1561.

- 911. Rusik, C. A.; Collins, M. A.; Gamble, A. S.; Tonker, T. L.; Templeton, J. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989, 111, 2550-2560.
- 912. Baker, P. K. Chem. Soc. Rev. 1998, 27, 125-131.
- 913. Baker, P. K.; Fraser, S. G.; Keys, E. M. J. Organomet. Chem. 1986, 309, 319-321.
- 914. Baker, P. K.; Hursthouse, M. B.; Karaulov, A. I.; Lavery, A. J.; Malik, K. M. A.; Muldoon, D. J.; Shawcross, A. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1994, 3493-3498.
- 915. Baker, P. K.; Samson, E.; Veale, P. L.; Drew, M. G. B. Polyhedron 2000, 19, 147-153.
- 916. Bencze, L.; Szalai, G.; Hamilton, J. G.; Rooney, J. J. J. Mol. Catal. A 1997, 115, 193-197.
- 917. Al-Jahdali, M.; Baker, P. K.; Lavery, A. J.; Meehan, M. M.; Muldoon, D. J. J. Mol. Catal. A 2000, 159, 51-62.
- 918. Armstrong, E. M.; Baker, P. K.; Drew, M. G. B. Organometallics 1988, 7, 319-325.
- 919. Aimeloglou, N. G.; Baker, P. K.; Meehan, M. M.; Drew, M. G. B. Polyhedron 1998, 17, 3455-3466.
- 920. Baker, P. K.; Drew, M. G. B.; Evans, D. S.; Johans, A. W.; Meehan, M. M. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1999, 2541-2550.
- 921. Al-Jahdali, M.; Baker, P. K.; Drew, M. G. B. J. Organomet. Chem. 2001, 622, 228-241.
- 922. Winston, P. B.; Burgmayer, S. J. N.; Tonker, T. L.; Templeton, J. L. Organometallics 1986, 5, 1707-1715.
- 923. Brisdon, B. J.; Hodson, A. G. W.; Mahon, M. F.; Molloy, K. C.; Walton, R. A. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 2701-2704.
- 924. Rosendorfer, P.; Beck, W. Chem. Ber. 1995, 128, 729-734.
- 925. Baker, P. K.; Barfield, J.; van Kampen, M. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1989, 156, 179-181.
- 926. Baker, P. K.; van Kampen, M. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1993, 204, 247-250.
- 927. Baker, P. K.; van Kampen, M.; Roos, C.; Spaeth, J. *Transition Met. Chem.* **1994**, *19*, 165–168. 928. Shiu, K.-B.; Liou, K.-S.; Wang, S.-L.; Wei, S.-C. Organometallics **1990**, *9*, 669–675.
- 929. Baker, P. K.; Fraser, S. G. Transition Met. Chem. 1987, 12, 560-564.
- 930. Baker, P. K.; Fraser, S. G.; Matthews, T. M. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1988, 150, 217-221.
- 931. Baker, P. K.; Fraser, S. G.; Drew, M. G. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1988, 2729-2734.
- 932. Baker, P. K.; Coles, S. J.; Harrison, N. S.; Latif, L. A.; Meehan, M. M.; Hursthouse, M. B. J. Organomet. Chem. 1998, 566, 245-250.
- 933. Herrick, R. S.; Peters, C. H.; Duff, R. R., Jr. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 27, 2214-2219.
- 934. Brisdon, B. J.; Hodson, A. G. W. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1987, 128, 51-54.
- 935. Arnaiz, F. J.; García, G.; Riera, V.; Foces Foces, C.; Cano, F. H.; Martinez-Ripoll, M. J. Organomet. Chem. 1987, 332, 299-230.
- 936. Cotton, F. A.; Matusz, M. Polyhedron 1987, 6, 261-267.
- 937. Blagg, A.; Hutton, A. T.; Shaw, B. L. Polyhedron 1987, 6, 95-99.
- 938. Bradley, F. C.; Wong, E. H.; Gabe, E. J.; Lee, F. L.; LePage, Y. Polyhedron 1987, 6, 1103-1110.
- 939. Cotton, F. A.; Poli, R. Inorg. Chem. 1986, 25, 3703-3705.
- 940. Shiu, K.-B.; Yih, K.-H.; Wang, S.-L.; Liao, F.-L. J. Organomet. Chem. 1991, 414, 165-176.
- 941. Baker, P. K.; Fraser, S. G.; Snowden, M. J. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1988, 148, 247-250.
- 942. Baker, P. K.; Bamber, M.; Rogers, G. W. J. Organomet. Chem. 1989, 367, 101-106.
- 943. Arnaiz, F. J.; Garcia, G.; Riera, V.; Dromzée, Y.; Jeannin, Y. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1987, 819-823.
- 944. Balakrishna, M. S.; Krishnamurthy, S. S.; Manohar, H. Organometallics 1991, 10, 2522-2525.
- 945. Babu, R. P. K.; Krishnamurthy, S. S.; Nethaji, M. Organometallics 1995, 14, 2047-2056.
- 946. Baker, P. K.; Drew, M. G. B.; Johans, A. W.; Haas, U.; Latif, L. A.; Meehan, M. M.; Zanin, S. J. Organomet. Chem. 1999, 590, 77-87.
- 947. Baker, P. K.; Drew, M. G. B.; Johans, A. W.; Latif, L. A. J. Organomet. Chem. 2000, 602, 115-124.
- 948. Baker, P. K.; Fraser, S. G. Polyhedron 1987, 6, 2081-2084.
- 949. Baker, P. K.; Flower, K. R.; Thompson, S. M. L. Transition Met. Chem. 1987, 12, 349-351.
- 950. Baker, P. K.; Ap Kendrick, D. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1990, 174, 119-127.
- 951. Baker, P. K.; Clark, A. I.; Drew, M. G. B.; Durrant, M. C.; Richards, R. L. J. Organomet. Chem. 1997, 549, 193-197.
- 952. Baker, P. K.; Fraser, S. G.; Ap Kendrick, D. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1991, 131-136.
- 953. Baker, P. K.; Harman, M. E.; Hughes, S.; Hursthouse, M. B.; Abdul Malik, K. M. J. Organomet. Chem. 1995, 498, 257-266.
- 954. Liu, H.; Calhorda, M. J.; Félix, V.; Drew, M. G. B. J. Organomet. Chem. 2001, 632, 175-187.
- 955. Baker, P. K.; Ap Kendrick, D. J. Organomet. Chem. 1991, 411, 215-223.
- 956. Contreras, L.; Monge, A.; Pizzano, A.; Ruiz, C.; Sánchez, L.; Carmona, E. Organometallics 1993, 12, 4228-4233 (Erratum: ibid 1994, 13, 744).
- 957. Baker, P. K.; Harris, S. D.; Durrant, M. C.; Hughes, D. L.; Richards, R. L. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1994, 1401-1407.
- 958. Baker, P. K.; Coles, S. J.; Durrant, M. C.; Harris, S. D.; Hughes, D. L.; Hursthouse, M. B.; Richards, R. L. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1996, 4003-4010.
- 959. Baker, P. K.; Clark, A. I.; Coles, S. J.; Drew, M. G. B.; Durrant, M. C.; Hursthouse, M. B.; Richards, R. L. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1998, 1281-1288.
- 960. Baker, P. K.; Harris, S. D.; Durrant, M. C.; Richards, R. L. Polyhedron 1996, 15, 3595-3598.
- 961. Anillo, A.; Obeso-Rosete, R.; Lanfranchi, M.; Tiripicchio, A. J. Organomet. Chem. 1993, 453, 71-75.
- 962. Lalor, F.; Concon, D. M.; Ferguson, G.; Parvez, M.; Siew, P. Y. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1986, 103-108.
- 963. Rose, D. J.; Maresca, K. P.; Nicholson, T.; Davison, A.; Jones, A. G.; Babich, J.; Fischman, A.; Graham, W.; DeBord, J. R. D.; Zubieta, J. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 2701-2716.
- 964. Curtis, M. D.; Shiu, K.-B. Inorg. Chem. 1985, 24, 1213-1218.
- 965. Young, C. G.; Thomas, S.; Gable, R. W. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 1299-1306.
- 966. Gamble, A. S.; White, P. S.; Templeton, J. L. Organometallics 1991, 10, 693-702.
- 967. Shiu, K.-B.; Shen, F.-M.; Wang, S.-L.; Wei, S.-C. J. Organomet. Chem. 1989, 372, 251-261.
- 968. Macleod, I. T.; Tiekink, E. R. T.; Young, C. G. J. Organomet. Chem. 1996, 506, 301-306.
- 969. Protasiewicz, J. D.; Theopold, K. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 5559-5569.
- 970. Skagestad, V.; Tilset, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 5077-5083.

- 971. Chaudhuri, P.; Wieghardt, K.; Tsai, Y.-H.; Krüger, C. Inorg. Chem. 1984, 23, 427-432.
- 972. Wlodarczyk, A.; Richardson, R. M.; Ward, M. D.; McCleverty, J. A.; Hursthouse, M. H. B.; Coles, S. J. Polyhedron 1996, 15, 27–35.
- 973. Jeffery, J. C.; Kurek, S. S.; McCleverty, J. A.; Psillakis, E.; Richardson, R. M.; Ward, M. D.; Wlodarczyk, A. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1994, 2559–2564.
- 974. Campo, J. A.; Cano, M.; Heras, J. V.; Pinilla, E.; Monge, A.; McCleverty, J. A. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1998, 3065–3070.
- 975. Cano, M.; Heras, J. V.; Trofimenko, S.; Monge, A.; Gutierrez, E.; Jones, C. J.; McCleverty, J. A. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1990, 3577–3582.
- 976. Cano, M.; Heras, J. V.; Monge, A.; Pinilla, E.; Santamaria, E.; Hinton, H. A.; Jones, C. J.; McCleverty, J. A. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1995, 2281–2288.
- 977. Cano, M.; Heras, J. V.; Monge, A.; Gutierrez, E.; Jones, C. J.; McWhinnie, S. L. W.; McCleverty, J. A. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1992, 2435–2438.
- 978. Cano, M.; Heras, J. V.; Monge, A.; Pinilla, E.; Jones, C. J.; McCleverty, J. A. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1994, 1555–1561.
- 979. Coe, B. J.; Jones, C. J.; McCleverty, J. A. Polyhedron 1992, 11, 547-550.
- 980. Coe, B. J.; Jones, C. J.; McCleverty, J. A. Polyhedron 1994, 13, 2117-2124.
- 981. Wlodarczyk, A.; Kurek, S. S.; Moss, M. A. J.; Tolley, M. S.; Batsanov, A. S.; Howard, J. A. K.; McCleverty, J. A. *J. Chem. Soc.*, *Dalton Trans.* **1993**, 2027–2036.
- 982. Wlodarczyk, A.; Kurek, S. S.; Foulon, J.-D. F.; Hamor, T. A.; McCleverty, J. A. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1992, 981–987.
- 983. Wlodarczyk, A.; Kurek, S. S.; Foulon, J.-D. F.; Hamor, T. A.; McCleverty, J. A. Polyhedron 1992, 11, 217–226.
- 984. Wlodarczyk, A.; Wlodarczyk, A.; Jeffery, J. C.; McCleverty, J. A.; Ward, M. D. Transition Met. Chem. 1995, 20, 559–564.
- 985. Al Obaidi, N. J.; Salam, S. S.; Beer, P. D.; Bush, C. D.; Hamor, T. A.; McQuillan, F. S.; Jones, C. J.; McCleverty, J. A. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 263–267.
- 986. Hinton, H. A.; Chen, H.; Hamor, T. A.; Jones, C. J.; McQuillan, F. S.; Tolley, M. S. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 2933–2942.
- 987. Herberhold, M.; Jin, G.-X.; Rheingold, A. L. Z. Naturforsch. B 1996, 51, 681-685.
- Wlodarczyk, A.; Maher, J. P.; Coles, S.; Hibbs, D. E.; Hursthouse, M. B.; Malik, K. M. A. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1997, 2597–2605.
- 989. Joshi, H. K.; Inscore, F. E.; Schirlin, J. T.; Dhawan, I. K.; Carducci, M. D.; Bill, T. G.; Enemark, J. H. Inorg. Chim. Acta 2002, 337, 275–286.
- 990. Das, A.; Jeffery, J. C.; Maher, J. P.; McCleverty, J. A.; Schatz, E.; Ward, M. D.; Wollermann, G. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1992, 31, 1515–1518.
- 991. Berridge, T. E.; Barton, M. T.; Hamor, T. A.; Jones, C. J.; McQuillan, F. S.; Paxton, K.; Rowley, N. M. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 2000, 4645–4655.
- 992. Wlodarczyk, A.; Maher, J. P.; McCleverty, J. A.; Ward, M. D. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1997, 3287–3298.
- 993. Jones, C. J.; McCleverty, J. A.; Neaves, B. D.; Reynolds, S. J.; Adams, H.; Bailey, N. A.; Denti, G. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1986, 733–741.
- 994. Al Obaidi, N.; Chaudhury, M.; Clague, D.; Jones, C. J.; Pearson, J. C.; McCleverty, J. A.; Salam, S. S. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1987, 1733–1736.
- 995. Al Obaidi, N.; Charsley, S. M.; Hussain, W.; Jones, C. J.; McCleverty, J. A.; Neaves, B. D.; Reynolds, S. J. *Transition Met. Chem.* 1987, 12, 143–148.
- 996. Charsley, S. M.; Jones, C. J.; McCleverty, J. A.; Neaves, B. D.; Reynolds, S. J.; Denti, G. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1988, 293–299.
- 997. Charsley, S. M.; Jones, C. J.; McCleverty, J. A.; Neaves, B. D.; Reynolds, S. J. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1988, 301–307.
- 998. Young, C. G.; Minelli, M.; Enemark, J. H.; Hussain, W.; Jones, C. J.; McCleverty, J. A. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1987, 619–621.
- 999. Westcott, B. L.; Enemark, J. H. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 5404-5405.
- 1000. McCleverty, J. A.; Ward, M. D.; Jones, C. J. Comments Inorg. Chem. 2001, 22, 293-326.
- 1001. Backes-Dahmann, G.; Wieghardt, K. Inorg. Chem. 1985, 24, 4044-4049.
- 1002. Beissel, T.; Della Vedova, B. S. P. C.; Wieghardt, K.; Boese, R. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 1736-1741.
- 1003. Böhmer, J.; Haselhorst, G.; Wieghardt, K.; Nuber, B. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1994, 33, 1473-1476.
- 1004. Coe, B. J.; Jones, C. J.; McCleverty, J. A.; Wieghardt, K.; Stötzel, S. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1992, 719–721.
- 1005. Keller, A.; Szterenberg, L.; Glowiak, T. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1992, 202, 19-25.
- 1006. Carmona, E.; Gutiérrez-Puebla, E.; Monge, A.; Pérez, P. J.; Sánchez, L. J. Inorg. Chem. 1989, 28, 2120-2127.
- 1007. Banße, W.; Fliegner, J.; Sawusch, S.; Schilde, U.; Uhlemann, E. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1998, 269, 350-352.
- 1008. Feltham, R. D.; Rajaseelan, E. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1994, 218, 195-197.
- 1009. Colin, J.; Strich, A.; Schappacher, M.; Chevrier, B.; Veillard, A.; Weiss, R. New J. Chem. 1984, 8, 55-64.
- 1010. Rogers, R. D.; Carmona, E.; Galindo, A.; Atwood, J. L.; Canada, L. G. J. Organomet. Chem. 1984, 277, 403-415.
- 1011. Hascall, T.; Rabinovich, D.; Murphy, V. J.; Beachy, M. D.; Friesner, R. A.; Parkin, G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 11402–11417.
- 1012. Anderson, S. N.; Hughes, D. L.; Richards, R. L. Transition Met. Chem. 1985, 10, 29-30.
- 1013. Fernández-Trujillo, M. J.; Jiménez Tenorio, M.; Puerta, M. C.; Valerga, P. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1989, 158, 43-48.
- 1014. Over, D. E.; Mayer, J. M. Polyhedron 1993, 12, 2593-2602.
- 1015. Agaskar, P. A.; Cotton, F. A.; Derringer, D. R.; Powell, G. L.; Root, D. R.; Smith, T. J. Inorg. Chem. 1985, 24, 2786–2791.
- 1016. Bakir, M.; Cotton, F. A.; Cudahy, M. M.; Simpson, C. Q.; Smith, T. J.; Vogel, E. F.; Walton, R. A. *Inorg. Chem.* **1988**, *27*, 2608–2612.
- 1017. Fernandez-Trujillo, M. J.; Basallote, M. G.; Valerga, P.; Puerta, M. C. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1993, 923–926.
- 1018. Ito, T.; Matsubara, T.; Yamashita, Y. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1990, 2407-2412.

- 1019. Ito, T.; Hamamoto, K.; Kurishima, S.; Osakada, K. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1990, 1645–1650.
- 1020. Minato, M.; Ikeya, M.; Ohkubo, F.; Ito, T. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1997, 70, 2771-2775.
- 1021. Kurishima, S.; Matsuda, N.; Tamura, N.; Ito, T. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1991, 1135-1141.
- 1022. Ito, T.; Tosaka, H.; Yoshida, S.; Mita, K.; Yamamoto, A. Organometallics 1986, 5, 735-739.
- 1023. Henderson, R. A.; Hughes, D. L.; Richards, R. L.; Shortman, C. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1987, 1115-1121. 1024. Wang, Y.; Fraústo Da Silva, J. J. R.; Pombeiro, A. J. L.; Pellinghelli, M. A.; Tiripicchio, A.; Henderson, R. A.; Richards, R. L. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1995, 1183-1191.
- 1025. Seino, H.; Nonokawa, D.; Nakamura, G.; Mizobe, Y.; Hidai, M. Organometallics 2000, 19, 2002-2011.
- 1026. Beauchamp, A. L.; Belanger-Gariepy, F.; Arabi, S. Inorg. Chem. 1985, 24, 1860-1863.
- 1027. Arabi, S.; Berthelot, C.; Barry, J.-P.; Belanger-Gariepy, F.; Beauchamp, A. L. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1986, 120, 159 - 164.
- 1028. Brower, D. C.; Winston, P. B.; Tonker, T. L.; Templeton, J. L. Inorg. Chem. 1986, 25, 2883-2888.
- 1029. Riera, V.; Arnaiz, F. J.; Herbosa, G. G. J. Organomet. Chem. 1986, 315, 51-57.
- 1030. Brisdon, B. J.; Hodson, A. G. W.; Mahon, M. F.; Molloy, K. C. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1993, 245-251.
- 1031. Burgmayer, S. J. N.; Templeton, J. L. Inorg. Chem. 1985, 24, 2224-2230.
- 1032. Herrick, R. S.; Templeton, J. L. Inorg. Chem. 1986, 25, 1270-1276.
- 1033. Carmona, E.; Contreras, L.; Sánchez, L. J.; Gútierrez-Puebla, E.; Monge, A. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1989, 2003-2009.
- 1034. Coffey, T. A.; Forster, G. D.; Hogarth, G. Acta Crystallogr., Sect. C 1996, 52, 2157-2159.
- 1035. Galindo, A.; Mealli, C. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 2406-2408.
- 1036. Bishop, P. T.; Dilworth, J. R.; Nicholson, T.; Zubieta, J. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1991, 385-392.
- 1037. Baker, P. K.; Clark, A. I.; Drew, M. G. B.; Durrant, M. C.; Richards, R. L. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 821-824.
- 1038. Bishop, P. T.; Dilworth, J. R.; Hutchinson, J.; Zubieta, J. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1986, 967-973.
- 1039. Janak, K. E.; Tanski, J. M.; Churchill, D. G.; Parkin, G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 4182-4183.
- 1040. Yoshida, T.; Adachi, T.; Ueda, T.; Watanabe, M.; Kaminaka, M.; Higuchi, T. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1987, 26, 1171-1172.
- 1041. Baker, P. K.; Durrant, M. C.; Harris, S. D.; Hughes, D. L.; Richards, R. L. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1997, 509-517.
- 1042. Adachi, T.; Durrant, M. D.; Hughes, D. L.; Pickett, C. J.; Richards, R. L.; Talarmin, J.; Yoshida, T. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1992, 1464–1467.
- 1043. tom Dieck, H.; Form, M. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1984, 515, 19-35.
- 1044. Barnard, K. R.; Wedd, A. G.; Tiekink, E. R. T. Inorg. Chim. 1990, 29, 891-892.
- 1045. Sellmann, D.; Hadawi, B.; Knoch, F. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1996, 244, 213-220.
- 1046. Sellmann, D.; Zapf, L.; Keller, J.; Moll, M. J. Organomet. Chem. 1985, 289, 71-79.
- 1047. Sellmann, D.; Pöhlmann, G.; Knoch, F.; Moll, M. Z. Naturforsch. B 1989, 44, 312-322.
- 1048. Sellmann, D.; Grasser, F.; Moll, M. J. Organomet. Chem. 1991, 415, 367-374.
- 1049. Sellmann, D.; Keller, J.; Moll, M.; Campana, C. F.; Haase, M. *Inorg. Chim. Acta* **1988**, *141*, 243–251. 1050. Sellmann, D.; Keller, J.; Moll, M.; Beck, H. P.; Milius, W. Z. *Naturforsch. B* **1986**, *41*, 1551–1560.
- 1051. Sellmann, D.; Grasser, F.; Knoch, F.; Moll, M. Z. Naturforsch. B 1991, 46, 1343-1348.
- 1052. Sellmann, D.; Seubert, B.; Knoch, F.; Moll, M. Z. Naturforsch. B 1991, 46, 1449-1458.
- 1053. Sellmann, D.; Kern, W.; Holzmeier, A.; Pöhlmann, G.; Moll, M. Z. Naturforsch. B 1991, 46, 1349-1356.
- 1054. Sellmann, D.; Kremitzl, H.-J.; Knoch, F.; Moll, M. J. Biol. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 1, 127-135.
- 1055. Sellmann, D.; Kern, W.; Pöhlmann, G.; Knoch, F.; Moll, M. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1991, 185, 155-162.
- 1056. Sellmann, D.; Kremitzl, H.-J.; Knoch, F. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1994, 225, 163-171.
- 1057. Sellmann, D.; Käppler, O.; Knoch, F.; Moll, M. Z. Naturforsch. B 1990, 45, 803-816.
- 1058. Sellmann, D.; Kunstmann, H.; Knoch, F.; Moll, M. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 27, 4183-4190.
- 1059. Shiu, K.-B.; Lee, L.-Y. J. Organomet. Chem. 1988, 348, 357-360.
- 1060. MacNeil, J. H.; Roszak, A. W.; Baird, M. C.; Preston, K. F.; Rheingold, A. L. Organometallics 1993, 12, 4402-4412.
- 1061. Bockman, T. M.; Kochi, J. K. New J. Chem. 1992, 16, 39-49.
- 1062. Al Obaidi, N.; Edwards, A. J.; Jones, C. J.; McCleverty, J. A.; Neaves, B. D.; Mabbs, F. E.; Collison, D. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1989, 127-132.
- 1063. Briggs, T. N.; Jones, C. J.; McCleverty, J. A.; Neaves, B. D.; El Murr, N.; Colquhoun, H. M. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1985, 1249-1254.
- 1064. Das, A.; Maher, J. P.; McCleverty, J. A.; Navas Badiola, J. A.; Ward, M. D. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1993, 681-686.
- 1065. McQuillan, F. S.; Green, T. L.; Hamor, T. A.; Jones, C. J.; Maher, J. P.; McCleverty, J. A. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1995, 3243-3250.
- 1066. McWhinnie, S. L. W.; Thomas, J. A.; Hamor, T. A.; Jones, C. J.; McCleverty, J. A.; Collison, D.; Mabbs, F. E.; Harding, C. J.; Yellowlees, L. J.; Hutchings, M. G. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 760-774.
- 1067. McWhinnie, S. L. W.; Jones, C. J.; McCleverty, J. A.; Collison, D.; Mabbs, F. E. Polyhedron 1992, 11, 2639-2643.
- 1068. Lang, R. F.; Ju, T. D.; Kiss, G.; Hoff, C. D.; Bryan, J. C.; Kubas, G. J. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1997, 259, 317-327.
- 1069. Pearson, A. J.; Schoffers, E. Organometallics 1997, 16, 5365-5367.
- 1070. Douthwaite, R. E.; Green, M. L. H.; Stephens, A. H. H.; Turner, J. F. C. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1993, 1522-1523.
- 1071. Hsu, H.-F.; Du, Y.; Albrecht-Schmitt, T. E.; Wilson, S. R.; Shapley, J. R. Organometallics 1998, 17, 1756-1761.
- 1072. Song, L.-C.; Zhu, Y.-H.; Hu, Q.-M. Polyhedron 1998, 17, 469-473.
- 1073. Song, L.-C.; Liu, J.-T.; Hu, Q.-M.; Weng, L.-H. Organometallics 2000, 19, 1643-1647.
- 1074. Song, L.-C.; Liu, J.-T.; Hu, Q.-M.; Wang, G.-F.; Zanello, P.; Fontani, M. Organometallics 2000, 19, 5342-5351.
- 1075. Iglesias, M.; Santos, A. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1996, 248, 67-72.
- 1076. Tang, K.; Zheng, S.; Jin, X.; Zeng, H.; Gu, Z.; Zhou, X.; Tang, Y. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1997, 3585-3587.
- 1077. Zanello, P.; Laschi, F.; Cinquantini, A.; Fontani, M.; Tang, K.; Jin, X.; Li, L. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 1345-1350.
- 1078. Jin, X.; Xie, X.; Tang, K. Chem. Commun. 2002, 750-751.

- 1079. Zanello, P.; Laschi, F.; Fontani, M.; Mealli, C.; Ienco, A.; Tang, K.; Jin, X.; Li, L. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1999, 965–970.
- 1080. Zanotti, V.; Rutar, V.; Angelici, R. J. J. Organomet. Chem. 1991, 414, 177-191.
- 1081. Armanasco, N. L.; Baker, M. V.; North, M. R.; Skelton, B. W.; White, A. H. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1998, 1145–1149.
- 1082. Brunner, H.; Winter, A.; Nuber, B. J. Organomet. Chem. 1998, 558, 213-218.
- 1083. Baker, M. V.; Brown, D. H.; Skelton, B. W.; White, A. H. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 2000, 4607-4616.
- 1084. van Kouwenberg, S. P.; Wong, E. H.; Weisman, G. R.; Gabe, E. J.; Lee, F. L.; Jackson, P. Polyhedron 1989, 8, 2333–2338.
- 1085. Baker, M. V.; North, M. R. J. Organomet. Chem. 1998, 565, 225-230.
- 1086. Le Bris, N.; Yaouanc, J.-J.; Clément, J.-C.; Handel, H.; des Abbayes, H. J. Organomet. Chem. 1995, 487, 131-137.
- 1087. Patinec, V.; Yaouanc, J.-J.; Clément, J.-C.; Handel, H.; des Abbayes, H.; Kubicki, M. M. J. Organomet. Chem. 1996, 494, 215–222.
- 1088. Rossignoli, M.; Bernhardt, P. V.; Lawrance, G. A. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1997, 4247-4250.
- 1089. Hay, R. W.; Fraser, I.; Ferguson, G. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1989, 2183-2186.
- 1090. Patinec, V.; Yaouanc, J. J.; Clément, J. C.; Handel, H.; des Abbayes, H. Tetrahedron Lett. 1995, 36, 79-82.
- 1091. Patinec, V.; Gardinier, I.; Yaouanc, J.-J.; Clément, J.-C.; Handel, H.; des Abbayes, H. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1996, 244, 105–108.
- 1092. Faller, J. W.; Ma, Y. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 1579-1586.
- 1093. Morales, D.; Pérez, J.; Riera, L.; Riera, V.; Miguel, D. Organometallics 2001, 20, 4517–4523.
- 1094. Kuo, C.-Y.; Fuh, Y.-S.; Shiue, J.-Y.; Yu, S. J.; Lee, G.-H.; Peng, S.-M. J. Organomet. Chem. 1999, 588, 260-267.
- 1095. Casares, J. A.; Espinet, P.; Hernando, R.; Iturbe, G.; Villafañe, F.; Ellis, D. D.; Orpen, A. G. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 44-49.
- 1096. Kelm, H.; Krüger, H.-J. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 1381-1385.
- 1097. Crane, J. D.; Fenton, D. E. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1990, 3647-3653.
- 1098. Shiu, K.-B.; Chou, C.-C.; Wang, S.-L.; Wei, S.-C. Organometallics 1990, 9, 286-288 (Erratum: ibid 1990, 9, 2632).
- 1099. Chandrasekaran, A.; Krishnamurthy, S. S.; Nethaji, M. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1994, 63-68.
- 1100. Pullen, E. E.; Rabinovich, D.; Incarvito, C. D.; Concolino, T. E.; Rheingold, A. L. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 1561–1567.
- 1101. Rheingold, A. L.; Ostrander, R. L.; Haggerty, B. S.; Trofimenko, S. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 3666–3676.
- 1102. Shiu, K.-B.; Lee, J. Y.; Wang, Y.; Cheng, M.-C.; Wang, S.-L.; Liao, F.-L. J. Organomet. Chem. 1993, 453, 211–219.
- 1103. Wasserman, H. J.; Kubas, G. J.; Ryan, R. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108, 2294–2301.
 1104. Zhang, K.; Gonzalez, A. A.; Mukerjee, S. L.; Chou, S.-J.; Hoff, C. D.; Kubat-Martin, K. A.; Barnhart, D.; Kubas, G. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 9170–9176.
- 1105. Kubas, G. J.; Unkefer, C. J.; Swanson, B. I.; Fukushima, E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108, 7000-7009.
- 1106. Kubas, G. J.; Ryan, R. R.; Swanson, B. I.; Vergamini, P. J.; Wasserman, H. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1984, 106, 451-452.
- 1107. Kubas, G. J. Metal Dihydrogen and σ-Bond Complexes: Structure Theory and Reactivity. Modern Inorganic Chemistry Series; Fackler, J. P., Jr., Ed.; Kluwer/Plenum: New York, 2001.
- 1108. Bent, E. G.; Schaeffer, R.; Haltiwanger, R. C.; Norman, A. D. J. Organomet. Chem. 1989, 364, C25-C28.
- 1109. Kaukorat, T.; Fischer, A.; Jones, P. G.; Schmutzler, R. Chem. Ber. 1992, 125, 301-307.
- 1110. Alyea, E. C.; Ferguson, G.; Kannan, S. Polyhedron 1997, 16, 3533-3537.
- 1111. Hockless, D. C. R.; Kang, Y. B.; McDonald, M. A.; Pabel, M.; Willis, A. C.; Wild, S. B. Organometallics 1996, 15, 1301–1306.
- 1112. Gupta, N.; Jain, C. B.; Heinicke, J.; Bansal, R. K.; Jones, P. G. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 1079-1086.
- 1113. Diel, B. N.; Brandt, P. F.; Haltiwanger, R. C.; Hackney, M. L. J.; Norman, A. D. Inorg. Chem. 1989, 28, 2811-2816.
- 1114. Coles, S. J.; Edwards, P. G.; Fleming, J. S.; Hursthouse, M. B. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1995, 1139-1145.
- 1115. Maitra, K.; Nelson, J. H. Polyhedron 1998, 18, 203-210.
- 1116. Wong, W. K.; Chiu, K. W.; Wilkinson, G.; Motevalli, M.; Hursthouse, M. B. Polyhedron 1985, 4, 1231-1237.
- 1117. Muth, A.; Walter, O.; Huttner, G.; Asam, A.; Zsolnai, L.; Emmerich, C. J. Organomet. Chem. 1994, 468, 149-163.
- 1118. Seitz, T.; Muth, A.; Huttner, G.; Klein, T.; Walter, O.; Fritz, M.; Zsolnai, L. J. Organomet. Chem. 1994, 469, 155-162.
- 1119. Schober, P.; Soltek, R.; Huttner, G.; Zsolnai, L.; Heinze, K. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 1407-1415.
- 1120. Chiffey, A. F.; Evans, J.; Levason, W.; Webster, M. Organometallics 1996, 15, 1280-1283.
- 1121. Heidel, H.; Huttner, G.; Helmchen, G. Z. Naturforsch. B 1993, 48, 1681-1692.
- 1122. Walter, O.; Klein, T.; Huttner, G.; Zsolnai, L. J. Organomet. Chem. 1993, 458, 63-81.
- 1123. Büchner, M.; Huttner, G.; Winterhalter, U.; Frick, A. Chem. Ber./Recl. 1997, 130, 1379-1392.
- 1124. Hunger, J.; Beyreuther, S.; Huttner, G.; Allinger, K.; Radelof, U.; Zsolnai, L. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 693-702.
- 1125. Beyreuther, S.; Frick, A.; Hunger, J.; Huttner, G.; Antelmann, B.; Schober, P.; Soltek, R. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 597–615.
- 1126. Kless, A.; Holz, J.; Reinke, H.; Börner, A. J. Organomet. Chem. 1998, 553, 99-102.
- 1127. Mayer, H. A.; Otto, H.; Kuehbauch, H.; Fawzi, R.; Steimann, M. J. Organomet. Chem. 1994, 472, 347-354.
- 1128. Mayer, H. A.; Stöbel, P.; Fawzi, R.; Steimann, M. Chem. Ber. 1995, 128, 719-723.
- 1129. Driess, M.; Reisgys, M.; Pritzkow, H. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1992, 31, 1510-1513.
- 1130. Kyba, E. P.; Liu, S.-T. Inorg. Chem. 1985, 24, 1613-1616.
- 1131. Baudler, M.; Etzbach, T. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1991, 30, 580-582.
- 1132. Gudat, D.; Haghverdi, A.; Nieger, M. J. Organomet. Chem. 2001, 617-618, 383-394.
- 1133. Takano, K.; Tsumura, H.; Nakazawa, H.; Kurakata, M.; Hirano, T. Organometallics 2000, 19, 3323-3331.
- 1134. Gudat, D. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1997, 163, 71-106.
- 1135. Nakazawa, H. J. Organomet. Chem. 2000, 611, 349-363.
- 1136. Darensbourg, D. J.; Sanchez, K. M.; Reibenspies, J. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 27, 3636-3643.
- 1137. Ge, P.; Haggerty, B. S.; Rheingold, A. L.; Riordan, C. G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 8406-8407.
- 1138. Soltek, R.; Huttner, G.; Zsolnai, L.; Driess, A. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1998, 269, 143-156.

- 1139. Yim, H. W.; Tran, L. M.; Dobbin, E. D.; Rabinovich, D.; Liable-Sands, L. M.; Incarvito, C. D.; Lam, K.-C.; Rheingold, A. L. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 2211–2215.
- 1140. Garner, M.; Lehmann, M.-A.; Reglinski, J.; Spicer, M. D. Organometallics 2001, 20, 5233-5236.
- 1141. Ashby, M. T.; Enemark, J. H.; Lichtenberger, D. L.; Ortega, R. B. Inorg. Chem. 1986, 25, 3154-3157.
- 1142. Ashby, M. T.; Lichtenberger, D. L. Inorg. Chem. 1985, 24, 636-638.
- 1143. Smith, R. J.; Salek, S. N.; Went, M. J.; Blower, P. J.; Barnard, N. J. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1994, 3165-3170.
- 1144. Grant, G. J.; Carpenter, J. P.; Setzer, W. N.; VanDerveer, D. G. Inorg. Chem. 1989, 28, 4128-4131.
- 1145. de Groot, B.; Loeb, S. J. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 4084-4090.
- 1146. Young, C. G.; Broomhead, J. A.; Boreham, C. J. J. Organomet. Chem. 1984, 260, 91-98.
- 1147. Sellmann, D.; Neuner, H.-P.; Eberlein, R.; Moll, M.; Knoch, F. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1990, 175, 231-239.
- 1148. Kubas, G. J.; Jarvinen, G. D.; Ryan, R. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1983, 105, 1883-1891.
- 1149. Baumann, F. E.; Burschka, C.; Schenk, W. A. Z. Naturforsch. B 1986, 41, 1211-1218.
- 1150. Schenk, W. A.; Nielsen, K.; Burzlaff, N. I.; Hagel, M. Inorg. Chem. 2002, 41, 1079-1085.
- 1151. Shen, J.-K.; Kubas, G. J.; Rheingold, A. L. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1995, 240, 99-104.
- 1152. Luo, X.-L.; Kubas, G. J.; Burns, C. J.; Eckert, J. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 5219-5229.
- 1153. Schenk, W. A. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1987, 26, 98-109.
- 1154. Kubas, G. J. Acc. Chem. Res. 1994, 27, 183-190.
- 1155. Kyba, E. P.; Davis, R. E.; Liu, S.-T.; Hassett, K. A.; Larson, S. B. Inorg. Chem. 1985, 24, 4629–4634.
- 1156. Siclovan, O. P.; Angelici, R. J. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 432-444.
- 1157. Sen Reddy, V. V. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1988, 144, 177-184.
- 1158. Ainscough, E. W.; Brodie, A. M.; Buckley, P. D.; Burrell, A. K.; Kennedy, S. M. F.; Waters, J. M. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 2000, 2663–2671.
- 1159. Perera, S. D.; Shaw, B. L.; Thornton-Pett, M. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1992, 1469-1475.
- 1160. Perera, S. D.; Shamsuddin, M.; Shaw, B. L. Can. J. Chem. 1995, 73, 1010-1018.
- 1161. Hii, K. K.; Perera, S. D.; Shaw, B. L.; Thornton-Pett, M. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1992, 2361–2366.
- 1162. Shaw, B. L.; Perera, S. D.; Shenton, D. J.; Thornton-Pett, M. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1998, 270, 312-325.
- 1163. Perera, S. D.; Shaw, B. L.; Thornton-Pett, M. J. Organomet. Chem. 1992, 428, 59-67.
- 1164. Balakrishna, M. S.; Reddy, V. S.; Krishnamurthy, S. S.; Nixon, J. F.; Burckett St. Laurent, J. C. T. R. *Coord. Chem. Rev.* **1994**, *129*, 1–90.
- 1165. Hillebrand, S.; Bartkowska, B.; Bruckmann, J.; Krüger, C.; Haenel, M. W. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 813-816.
- 1166. Jacobi, A.; Huttner, G.; Winterhalter, U.; Cunskis, S. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 675-692.
- 1167. Adams, H.; Bailey, N. A.; Fenton, D. E.; Hempstead, P. D.; Hewes, B. A.; Kitchen, S. J.; Winter, M. J. Polyhedron 1989, 8, 1857–1858.
- 1168. Mason, M. R.; Su, Y.; Jacobson, R. A.; Verkade, J. G. Organometallics 1991, 10, 2335-2344.
- 1169. Mason, M. R.; Verkade, J. G. Organometallics 1992, 11, 1514-1520.
- 1170. Durrant, M. C.; Hauser, C.; Hughes, D. L.; Maguire, M. J.; Richards, R. L. J. Organomet. Chem. 1994, 476, 219-223.
- 1171. Balakrishna, M. S.; Panda, R.; Mague, J. T. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 5620-5625.
- 1172. Soltek, R.; Huttner, G. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 1417-1424.
- 1173. Blower, P. J.; Jeffrey, J. C.; Miller, J. R.; Salek, S. N.; Schmaljohann, D.; Smith, R. J.; Went, M. J. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 1578–1582.
- 1174. Glorius, F.; Neuburger, M.; Pfaltz, A. Helv. Chim. Acta 2001, 84, 3178-3196.
- 1175. Angelici, R. J. Organometallics 2001, 20, 1259-1275.
- 1176. Alvarez, M.; Lugan, N.; Mathieu, R. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 5652-5657.
- 1177. Reynolds, M. A.; Guzei, I. A.; Logsdon, B. C.; Thomas, L. M.; Jacobson, R. A.; Angelici, R. J. Organometallics 1999, 18, 4075–4081.
- 1178. Rentschler, E.; Massa, W.; Vogler, S.; Dehnicke, K.; Fenske, D.; Baum, G. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1991, 592, 59-72.
- 1179. Legzdins, P.; Oxley, J. C. Inorg. Chem. 1984, 23, 1053-1059.
- 1180. Keller, A.; Szterenberg, L. Z. Naturforsch. B 1992, 47, 1469-1476.
- 1181. Keller, A.; Matusiak, R. J. Mol. Catal. A 1999, 142, 317-324.
- 1182. Keller, A. J. Organomet. Chem. 1992, 436, 199-206.
- 1183. Keller, A. J. Organomet. Chem. 1991, 407, 237-246.
- 1184. Szterenberg, L.; Roszak, S.; Matusiak, R.; Keller, A. Polyhedron 2000, 19, 2565-2572.
- 1185. Perpiñán, M. F.; Ballester, L.; Santos, A.; Monge, A.; Ruiz-Valero, C.; Gutiérrez Puebla, E. Polyhedron 1987, 6, 1523–1532.
- 1186. Bhattacharyya, R.; Ghosh, S. Indian J. Chem. A 1991, 30, 35-40.
- 1187. Banerjee, T. K.; Brahma, S. K.; Bag, S. P. Indian J. Chem. A 1991, 30, 281-282.
- 1188. Rao, N. S.; Mishra, D. D.; Maurya, R. C.; Rao, N. N. Polyhedron 1994, 13, 2653-2658.
- 1189. Yonemura, T.; Nakata, J.; Kadota, M.; Hasegawa, M.; Okamoto, K.; Ama, T.; Kawaguchi, H.; Yasui, T. Inorg. Chem. Commun. 2001, 4, 661–663.
- 1190. Shiu, K.-B.; Lin, S.-T.; Fung, D.-W.; Chan, T.-J.; Peng, S.-M.; Cheng, M.-C.; Chou, J. L. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 854–863.
- 1191. Shiu, K.-B.; Lin, S.-T.; Peng, S.-M.; Cheng, M.-C. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1995, 229, 153-163.
- 1192. Smith, M. R., III; Cheng, T.-Y.; Hillhouse, G. L. Inorg. Chim. 1992, 31, 1535-1538.
- 1193. Cheng, T.-Y.; Southern, J. S.; Hillhouse, G. L. Organometallics 1997, 16, 2335-2342.
- 1194. Liang, F.; Jacobsen, H.; Schmalle, H. W.; Fox, T.; Berke, H. Organometallics 2000, 19, 1950-1962.
- 1195. Miguel, D.; Riera, V.; Wang, M.; Bois, C.; Jeannin, Y. J. Organomet. Chem. 1997, 545-546, 327-336.
- 1196. Trofimenko, S.; Calabrese, J. C.; Thompson, J. S. Inorg. Chem. 1987, 26, 1507-1514.
- 1197. Lichtenberger, D. L.; Hubbard, J. L. Inorg. Chem. 1984, 23, 2718-2720.
- 1198. Kowallick, R.; Jones, A. N.; Reeves, Z. R.; Jeffery, J. C.; McCleverty, J. A.; Ward, M. D. New J. Chem. 1999, 23, 915–921.
- 1199. Gamasa, M. P.; Gimeno, J.; Zhang, L.; Lanfranchi, M.; Tiripicchio, A. J. Organomet. Chem. 1996, 514, 287-297.
- 1200. Rosa, P.; Ricard, L.; Le Floch, P.; Mathey, F.; Sini, G.; Eisenstein, O. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 3154-3158.

- 1201. García-Basallote, M.; Valerga, P.; Puerta-Vizcaíno, M. C.; Romero, A.; Vegas, A.; Martínez-Ripoll, M. J. Organomet. Chem. 1991, 420, 371–377.
- 1202. Arita, C.; Seino, H.; Mizobe, Y.; Hidai, M. Chem. Lett. 1999, 611-612.
- 1203. Hammud, H. H.; George, T. A.; Kurk, D. N.; Shoemaker, R. K. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1998, 281, 153-159.
- 1204. Elschenbroich, C.; Voss, S.; Schiemann, O.; Lippek, A.; Harms, K. Organometallics 1998, 17, 4417-4424.
- 1205. Chow, T. J.; Wang, C.-Y.; Sheu, S.-C.; Peng, S.-M. J. Organomet. Chem. 1986, 311, 339-347.
- 1206. Darensbourg, M. Y.; Ludvig, M. M. Inorg. Chem. 1986, 25, 2894-2898.
- 1207. Sowa, J. R., Jr.; Bonanno, J. B.; Zanotti, V.; Angelici, R. J. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 1370-1375.
- 1208. Marken, F.; Bond, A. M.; Colton, R. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 1705-1710.
- 1209. Luo, X.-L.; Kubas, G. J.; Burns, C. J.; Butcher, R. J.; Bryan, J. C. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 6538-6545.
- 1210. Kubas, G. J.; Burns, C. J.; Eckert, J.; Johnson, S. W.; Larson, A. C.; Vergamini, P. J.; Unkefer, C. J.; Khalsa, G. R. K.; Jackson, S. A.; Eisenstein, O. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 569–581.
- 1211. Seino, H.; Arita, C.; Nonokawa, D.; Nakamura, G.; Harada, Y.; Mizobe, Y.; Hidai, M. Organometallics 1999, 18, 4165–4173.
- 1212. Luo, X.-L.; Kubas, G. J.; Bryan, J. C.; Burns, C. J.; Unkefer, C. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 10312-10313.
- 1213. Luo, X.-L.; Kubas, G. J.; Burns, C. J.; Bryan, J. C.; Unkefer, C. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 1159–1160.
- 1214. Mizobe, Y.; Ishida, T.; Egawa, Y.; Ochi, K.; Tanase, T.; Hidai, M. J. Coord. Chem. 1991, 23, 57-66.
- 1215. Ishino, H.; Kuwata, S.; Ishii, Y.; Hidai, M. Organometallics 2001, 20, 13-15.
- 1216. Henderson, R. A. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1996, 35, 946-967.
- 1217. Jegat, C.; Fouassier, M.; Mascetti, J. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 1521-1529.
- 1218. Alvarez, R.; Carmona, E.; Marín, J. M.; Poveda, M. L.; Gutiérrez-Puebla, E.; Monge, A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108, 2286–2294.
- 1219. Sánchez Marcos, E.; Caballol, R.; Trinquier, G.; Barthelat, J. C. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1987, 2373–2377.
- 1220. Ziegler, W.; Nicholas, K. M. J. Organomet. Chem. 1992, 423, C35-C37.
- 1221. Carmona, E.; Muñoz, M. A.; Pérez, P. J.; Poveda, M. L. Organometallics 1990, 9, 1337-1339.
- 1222. Hidai, M.; Mizobe, Y. Chemical dinitrogen fixation by molybdenum and tungsten complexes: insights from coordination chemistry. In *Metal Ions in Biological Systems*; Sigel, A., Sigel, H., Eds.; Marcel Dekker: New York, 2002; Vol. 39, pp. 121–186.
- 1223. Hughes, M.; Mason, J.; Leigh, G. J.; Richards, R. L. J. Organomet. Chem. 1988, 341, 381-389.
- 1224. Galindo, A.; Gutiérrez, E.; Monge, A.; Paneque, M.; Pastor, A.; Pérez, P. J.; Rogers, R. D.; Carmona, E. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1995, 3801–3808.
- 1225. George, T. A.; Hayes, R. K.; Mohammed, M. Y.; Pickett, C. J. Inorg. Chem. 1989, 28, 3269-3270.
- 1226. Máñez, M. A.; Puerta, M. C.; Valerga, P.; Basallote, M. G. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1992, 1291-1295.
- 1227. Bossard, G. E.; George, T. A.; Lester, R. K.; Tisdale, R. C.; Turcotte, R. L. Inorg. Chem. 1985, 24, 1129-1132.
- 1228. George, T. A.; Jackson, M. A. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 27, 924-926.
- 1229. Talarmin, J.; Al-Salih, T. I.; Pickett, C. J.; Bossard, G. E.; George, T. A.; Duff-Spence, C. M. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1992, 2263–2269.
- 1230. Dahlenburg, L.; Pietsch, B. Chem. Ber. 1989, 122, 2085-2090.
- 1231. George, T. A.; Tisdale, R. C. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 27, 2909-2912.
- 1232. George, T. A.; DeBord, J. R. D.; Heier, K.; Tisdale, R. C.; Davies, M. C.; Haas, E. J.; Ross, C. R., II; Stezowski, J. J. Acta Crystallogr., Sect. C 1997, 53, 1251–1254.
- 1233. Yoshida, T.; Adachi, T.; Sato, K.; Baba, K.; Kanokogi, T. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1993, 1511-1513.
- 1234. Adachi, T.; Sasaki, N.; Ueda, T.; Kaminaka, M.; Yoshida, T. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1989, 1320-1322.
- 1235. Yoshida, T.; Adachi, T.; Kawazu, K.; Yamamoto, A.; Sasaki, N. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1990, 30, 982-984.

© 2003, Elsevier Ltd. All Rights Reserved

No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in any retrieval system or transmitted in any form or by any means electronic, electrostatic, magnetic tape, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise, without permission in writing from the publishers Comprehensive Coordination Chemistry II

ISBN (set): 0-08-0437486

4.8 Tungsten

T. OKAMURA and N. UEYAMA Osaka University, Osaka, Japan

	520
4.8.1 INTRODUCTION	530
4.8.2 THE CHEMISTRY OF W	530
4.8.2.1 W Handes and Derivatives	530
4.8.2.1.1 Complexes containing oxygen and sulfur	530
4.8.2.1.2 Complexes containing chalcogen and nitrogen group (N, P)	531
4.8.2.1.3 Complexes containing nitrogen groups	532
4.8.2.2 W Chalcogenides and Derivatives	534
4.8.2.2.1 Complexes containing only oxygen	534
4.8.2.2.2 Complexes containing oxygen and nitrogen groups (nitrogen and phosphorus) and carbon	534
4.8.2.2.3 Complexes containing sulfur, selenium, or tellurium	536
4.8.2.3 W ¹ Complexes Containing Only Nitrogen Groups' Ligands and Hydride	539
4.8.3 THE CHEMISTRY OF W	540
4.8.3.1 W Halides and Derivatives	540
4.8.3.2 W Chaldsgenides and Derivatives	540
4.8.3.3 $[W(CN)_8]$ salts	541
4.8.4 THE CHEMISTRY OF W	541
4.8.4.1 W ¹ Halides and Derivatives	541
4.8.4.1.1 Complexes containing oxygen coordination	541
4.8.4.1.2 Imido, hydrazido amido, and the related complexes	541
4.8.4.1.3 Hydride complexes	543
4.8.4.2 W ¹ Chalcogenides and Derivatives	544
4.8.4.2.1 Complexes containing only chalcogen	544
4.8.4.2.2 Complexes containing nitrogen groups	545
4.8.4.2.3 Complexes having a W-C bond	546
4.8.4.3 W ¹ V Compounds Lacking Coordination of Halogen and Chalcogen	548
4.8.4.3.1 Complexes containing nitrogen and phosphorus	548
4.8.4.3.2 CO complexes	549
4.8.4.3.3 $[W(CN)_8]^{4-}$ salts	549
4.8.5 THE CHEMISTRY OF W ^{III}	549
4.8.5.1 W ^{III} Halides and Derivatives	549
4.8.5.2 W ^{III} Thiolates and Derivatives	550
4.8.6 THE CHEMISTRY OF W"	550
4.8.6.1 W ^{II} Complexes Lacking CO Ligands	550
4.8.6.1.1 NO ⁺ complexes	550
4.8.6.1.2 Complexes lacking CO and NO ⁺ Ligands	551
4.8.6.2 W ^{II} Halides with CO Ligands	551
4.8.6.2.1 Complexes containing chalcogen	551
4.8.6.2.2 Complexes containing nitrogen group, isocyanido, and aryl ligands	551
4.8.6.3 W ^{II} Chalcogenides with CO Ligands and the Related Compounds	553
4.8.6.3.1 Complexes containing phosphine ligands	553
4.8.6.3.2 Complexes lacking phosphine ligands	554
4.8.6.4 W ⁿ –CO Complexes Lacking Halogen and Chalcogen	554
4.8.7 THE CHEMISTRY OF W	556
4.8.8 THE CHEMISTRY OF W^0	556
4.8.8.1 W ^o Complexes Lacking CO Ligands	557
$4.8.8.1.1 NO^+ \text{ complexes}$	557
4.8.8.1.2 Complexes lacking CO and NO ⁺ ligands	558
4.8.8.2 W ^o Halides with CO Ligands	558
4.8.8.3 W° Chalcogenides with CO Ligands and Related Compounds	559

4.8.8.3.1 Complexes containing tellurium and selenium	559
4.8.8.3.2 Complexes containing sulfur	559
4.8.8.3.3 Complexes containing oxygen	560
4.8.8.4 CO Complexes Lacking Halogen and Chalcogen	561
4.8.8.4.1 Complexes containing arsenic and antimony	561
4.8.8.4.2 Complexes containing phosphorus	561
4.8.8.4.3 Complexes containing nitrogen	564
4.8.8.4.4 Complexes containing carbon groups	564
4.8.9 MIXED VALENCE COMPLEXES	565
4.8.9.1 W^{VI} and W^{V} Mixed Complexes	565
4.8.9.2 W ^{VI} and W ^{IV} Mixed Complexes	566
4.8.9.3 W ^{IV} and W ^{III} Mixed Complexes	566
4.8.10 METAL-COORDINATED COMPLEXES	566
4.8.10.1 Clusters	566
4.8.10.2 Linear and Binuclear Complexes	566
4.8.11 REFERENCES	567

4.8.1 INTRODUCTION

Since the first edition of *Comprehensive Coordination Chemistry* (*CCC*, 1987), the border line between coordination chemistry and organometallic chemistry has became obscure. Generally metal–carbon bonds had been distributed to organometallic chemistry but recently they have been found in biological systems, i.e., hydrogenases have CO and CN^- ligands in the active center.¹ Isoelectronic NO has been known to play a significant biological and physiological role in the central nervous system.² The coordination chemistry of such small molecules, including H₂, O₂, N₂, and CO₂ is very important and is discussed here. In this chapter, tungsten coordination chemistry since 1982 is described, except that of W–W triple-bonded complexes (described in Chapter 4.9) and chalcogeno and halo clusters (Chapters 4.10 and 4.12). The compounds shown here are limited to those whose structures have been confirmed by X-ray crystallography.

4.8.2 THE CHEMISTRY OF W^{VI}

The fundamental chemistry and compounds reported prior to 1984 are summarized in *CCC* (1987). The development and expansion of coordination chemistry provided many possibilities and opportunities for the selection of ligands. Many combinations of coordinated atoms have been reported including halogen, chalcogen, nitrogen, phosphorus, carbon, and hydrogen. Initially, classical halides and their derivatives are described, followed successively by less electronegative atoms.

4.8.2.1 W^{VI} Halides and Derivatives

Tungsten hexahalides are well-known starting materials for the synthesis of W^{VI} or related reduced derivatives. Substitution of ligands or hydrolysis sometimes gave derivatives $[WX_nL_{6-n}]$ (X, halogen; L, any ligand; n = 1-5) by incomplete replacement of the halo ligands.

4.8.2.1.1 Complexes containing oxygen and sulfur

Controlled hydrolysis gave oxohalide derivatives. Using anhydrous HF and boric acid, WF₆ was hydrolyzed uniquely to oxonium (μ -fluoro)bis(tetrafuluorooxotungstate(VI), [H₃O][W₂O₂F₉], where an W=O bond was found *trans* to bridging F^{-.3} [W(CO)₆] and 21-crown-7 in the presence of water and gaseous HCl in toluene gave [H₅O₂⁺(21-crown-7)][WOCl₅⁻] under UV-irradiation conditions.⁴ The coordinated halide allows coordination to another metal ion. The F atom of [*cis*-WO₂F₄]²⁻ coordinates to Cu in the crystal of (pyH)₂[Cu(py)₄(WO₂F₄)₂].⁵

The halide ligand of oxohalides is easily replaced by alkoxide, phenoxide, or thiolate. Calix[4]arene is a polyphenoxo ligand. Reaction of 1,3-dialkyl *p-tert*-butylcalix[4]arene (R₂calH₂; R = Me, Et) with WOCl₄ in hexane gave [(R₂cal)WOCl₂].⁶ When normal calix[4]arene was used, four chloride ions were replaced completely to give a mononuclear monooxocalix[4]arene W^{VI}

Tungsten

complex.⁷ The 1:2 reaction between WOCl₄ and phenol derivatives (ArOH) gave [WOCl₂(OAr)₂].⁸ In the case of aromatic diols, the formation of phenol–phenolate complexes from WOCl₄ was dependent on solvent. Alcoholysis reactions in THF generated the dianionic aryloxide, [WO(OArO) Cl₂(thf)₂], while [WOCl₃(OArOH·OEt₂)] was produced in Et₂O.⁹ Hexamethyl disiloxane effectively removes chloride ion from WOCl₄ via elimination of Me₃SiCl in DME (1,2-dimethoxy ethane) or diglyme to give [WO₂Cl₂(solv)] (solv = DME¹⁰ or C₆H₁₄O₃¹¹). Tungsten oxo salicylate was obtained by the reaction of WCl₆ and salicylic acid.

The chloride ligand is introduced by the addition of equivalent Me₃SiCl to the complex having no chlorine. By this procedure, $(Et_4N)[WO(bdt)_2Cl]$ (bdt = 1,2-benzenedithiolato) was obtained from $(Et_4N)[WO(bdt)_2(OSiBu^tPh_2)]$. This compound is also prepared from WOCl₄ and Li₂(bdt).¹²

Mixed ligand complexes having halide and alkoxo or phenoxo were synthesized by two procedures. One was incomplete replacement of WCl₆ and the other was introduction of halide by halogenated reagent. The fist method gave [W(OAr)₄Cl₂] (Ar = pentafluorophenyl, 2,6-dichlorophenyl),¹³ [W(*p*-Bu^t-calix[4]arene)Cl₂],⁷ and [W(O-2,6-C₆H₃R₂)₂Cl₄] (R = *i*-Pr, Ph).^{14,15} Tungsten hexachloride reacts with salicylic acid to produce an oxochloride complex with evolution of gaseous HCl.¹⁶ Slow recrystallization from THF/hexane gave [W(O)Cl(Hsal·THF)(sal)] (H₂sal = salicylic acid). Reaction of WOCl₄ and salicylic acid in a 1:2 molar ratio gave the same product. The second method gave *trans*-[WCl₂(eg)(OAr)₂] (eg = 1,2-ethanediolate dianion; OAr = OC₆H₂Me₂-2,6, OC₆H₂Prⁱ₂-2,6, OC₆H₂Me₂-2,6,-Br-4)¹⁷ and *trans*-[WI₂(OCMe₃)₄], which revealed the first characterized structurally W^{VI}-I bonds.¹⁸ The former is produced by the reaction of [W(eg)₂(OAr)₂] and gaseous HCl in CH₂Cl₂. When Br₂ was used, bromination was observed at the 4-position of the coordinated phenolate ligand.

A mononuclear octahedral tungsten halide having a terminal sulfide ligand was prepared from $W_2Cl_8S_2$ and S_8 . The resulting crystal was a *cyclo*-octasulfur adduct, [WSCl₄(thf)]·S₈, with the S ligand *trans* to THF.¹⁹

4.8.2.1.2 Complexes containing chalcogen and nitrogen group (N, P)

Heating a suspension of WOF₄ in pyridine at ca. 60 °C gave a pyridine adduct, WOF₄·2C₅H₅N, which decomposed to produce WOF₄·C₅H₅N (Figure 1). The latter adduct was also obtained by the reaction of WOF₄ with equimolar pyridine in dichloromethane.²⁰ When 2-fluoropyridine (F-py) was used, the reaction proceeded at room temperature to give a similar product, WOF₄·F-py.²¹

Polymeric $[WO_2Cl_2]_x$ reacted with neutral ligands, 1,3-dimethylalloxazine (DMA) and bis (1-methylimidazol-2-yl)ketone (BIK) to give monomeric compounds, $[(DMA)WO_2Cl_2]$ and $[(BIK)WO_2Cl_2]$ (Figure 2).²²

Mononuclear phenylimido tungsten(VI) phenoxide, $[WCl_3(=NPh){OC_6H_2(CH_2NMe_2)_2-2,6-Me-4}]$, was synthesized by a ligand-exchange reaction between $[WCl_4(=NPh)(OEt_2)]$ and the lithium phenoxide derivative. One of the two NMe₂ groups is coordinated to W at the position *trans* to the imido ligand.²³

The chloroimido complexes, $[W(NCl)Cl_4(OPR_3)]$ (R = Me, Ph), were produced from $[W(NPR_3)Cl_5]^{24}$ by oxidation on the nitrogen atom. The complexes were also prepared by the reaction of $[W(NCl)Cl_4]_2$ and $R_3P=O$ in a good yield (Scheme 1).²⁵

Oxidative addition of cyclopentanone or acetone to the tungsten(II) complex $[WCl_2(PMePh_2)_4]$ gave an oxo-alkylidene tungsten(VI) complex, $[W(O=C_5H_8)Cl_2(PMePh_2)]$ and $[W(O=CMe_2)Cl_2(PMePh_2)]$ as shown in Scheme 2.^{26,27} The carbonyl moiety coordinates to tungsten ion as an η^2 -ligand and the C–O distance is lengthened and similar to a C–O single bond. The subsequent elimination reaction provided an alkylidene complex. Similar η^2 -carbonyl compounds having chalcogenide ligand have been reported,²⁸ as described in Section 4.8.2.2.3.



Figure 1 Schematic drawing of $WOF_4 \cdot 2C_5H_5N$ and $WOF_4 \cdot C_5H_5N$.



Figure 2 The compounds of WO_2Cl_2 with dimethylalloxazine (DMA) and bis(1-methylimidazol-2-yl)-ketone (BIK).



Scheme 2

4.8.2.1.3 Complexes containing nitrogen groups

The nitrogen atom provides a variety of ligands in the form of amine, amido, imido, nitrido, etc., functions. Combination with tungsten halides provided various derivatives. Tungsten(VI) amidechloride complexes, *fac*-[WCl₃(NR₂)] (Me, Et, pyrrolidine), were synthesized from WSCl₄ and *N*,*N*-dialkyl(trimethylsilyl)amine. Interestingly the use of WCl₆ was not successful.²⁹ The reaction of a half equivalent of 2-fluoropyridine with WF₆ gave mononuclear 7-coodinated WF₆·F-py.²¹ Phosphoraniminato complexes were produced by the reaction of [W(NSiMe₃)Cl₂(PMe₃)₃]³⁰ and

Phosphoraniminato complexes were produced by the reaction of $[W(NSiMe_3)Cl_2(PMe_3)_3]^{30}$ and Cl_2 at $-196 \,^{\circ}C$ and followed by warming up to 22 $^{\circ}C$ accompanied by the elimination Me_3SiCl and PMe_3Cl_2. The speed of the warming determines the product, $[W(NPMe_3)Cl_5]$ (20 min) or $[W(NPMe_3)Cl_4(PMe_3)]$ (rapid warming).²⁴ The stoichiometric reaction of WCl_6 and 1 or 2 equiv. of Cl_3P =NSiMe_3 gave $[WCl_5(N=PCl_3)]$ and $[WCl_4(N=PCl_3)_2]$ with elimination of Me_3SiCl.³¹ Crystallographically characterized *cis*- $[WCl_4(N=PCl_2Ph)_2]$ was synthesized in a similar procedure. Reaction of $[WCl_5(N=PCl_3)]$ with GaCl_3 gave $[Cl_4WNPCl_3][GaCl_4]$, where the chloride of the GaCl_4⁻ anion coordinates weakly to the octahedral tungsten ion $(W-Cl=2.704(4) \,^{\circ}A)$ at the position *trans* to the nitrogen atom.

Trimethylsilyl derivatives are also useful for the introduction of the imido groups. On the reaction of $[W(NAr)Cl_4(thf)]$ (Ar = 2,6-diisopropylphenyl) with 2 equiv. of Me₃SiNHAr in THF, $[W(NAr)_2Cl_2(thf)_2]$ was obtained in 87% yield. Reaction of $[W(NAr)_2Cl_2(thf)_2]$ and 2 equiv. of LiNHAr gave $[Li(thf)_4][W(NAr)_3Cl]$ in high yield (Figure 3).³² The coordinated imido ligand retains coordination ability to the other metal ion = basicity. When protonic acids are used,



Figure 3 Schematic drawing of [W(NAr)₃Cl]⁻.

protonation of the imido nitrogen occurred. Upon addition of HCl to $[W_2(NBut)_8Li_4]$ in Et₂O, the μ -Cl dimeric amino compound, $[\{W(NBu^t)_2(NH_2Bu^t)Cl(\mu$ -Cl)\}_2], was isolated.³³ The chemistry of the imido compound is described in Section 4.8.2.3. Reaction of the organoimido chloro complex, $[W(NR)Cl_4(L)]$ (R = Et, L = none; R = C₆H₄Me-p, L=OEt₂) with N(SiMe₃)₃ in a 2:1 ratio yielded the hexanuclear nitrido complex $[W_2(N)(NR)_2Cl_5]_3$ shown in Figure 4. In the (RN)W(N)W(NR) unit, two imido groups show nearly orthogonal orientation, allowing the central nitride to achieve maximum tungsten–nitrogen π -bonding.

The reaction of $[W^{II}Cl_2(PMe_4)_4]$ with 2 equiv. of trimethylsilyl azide produced a bis(silylimino) tungsten(VI) complex, $[W(NSiMe_3)_2Cl_2(PMePh_2)]$ with evolution of N₂. When 1 equiv. of trimethylsilyl azide was used, oxidative replacement gave the six-coordinate tungsten(IV) mono (silylimido) complex, $[W(NSiMe_3)Cl_2(PMePh_2)_3]$.³⁰ A bis(hydrazido) complex, $[WCl(NNMe_2)_2(PR_3)_2]Cl$, was obtained from $[WCl_4(PR_3)_2]$ and 2 equiv. of Me_3SiNHNMe₂.³⁴ Reaction of $[WCl_4(NNPh)]$ with Me_3SiCH_2MgCl followed by the addition of C₆F₅OH afforded the trialkyl complex, $[W(CH_2SiMe_3)_3(NNPh_2)(OC_6F_5)]$. However, an analogous reaction using PhCH_2MgCl gave $[WCl_2(NNPh_2)(OC_6F_5)_2(thf)]$.³⁵

The hydrazido(1-) tungsten(VI) shown in Figure 5 was produced from the triflate complex $[W(NAr){2,6-NC_5H_3(CH_2NTosyl)_2}{(OTf)Cl}]$ (Ar = 2,6-C₆H₃-*i*-Pr₂) and 2 equiv. of hydrazine.



Figure 4 Schematic drawing of $[W_2(N)(NR)_2Cl_5]_3$ (R = Et, C₆H₄Me-p).



Figure 5 Representation of $[WCl(N-2,6-C_6H_3-i-Pr_2)\{2,6-NC_5H_3(CH_2NTosyl)_2\}(\mu^2-NHNH_2)]$.

The triflate complex was prepared by the reaction of $[WCl_4NAr]$ with the tridentate ligand following elimination of Cl^- using silver triflate.³⁶

4.8.2.2 W^{VI} Chalcogenides and Derivatives

Tungsten trioxide or tungstic acid and the metal salts are very stable but their derivatives have been investigated as synthetic or biological catalysts. Tungstoenzymes catalyze O atom transfer redox reactions using the tungsten(VI) and (IV) oxidation states and are similar to analogous molybdoenzymes.³⁷ The related model compounds have been reported and are also described in this section.

4.8.2.2.1 Complexes containing only oxygen

Monooxotungsten(VI) phenoxide, $[WO{L(O)_4}]$ $(L(OH)_4 = calix[4]arene)$, was prepared by the heating WOCl₄ with L(OH)₄.⁷ One acetic acid molecule weakly coordinated at the position *trans* to the terminal oxo ligand. In the case of siloxide, reaction of 4 equiv. of NaOSiPh₃ with WOCl₄ failed to generate $[WO(OSiPh_3)_4]$ whereas 3 equiv. of siloxide afforded $[WO(Cl)(OSiPh_3)_3]$. Use of cyclic $(Ph_2SiO)_3$ gave a spirocyclic tungstasiloxane $[WO{O(Ph_2SiO)_3}_2(thf)]$.³⁸

The electron-rich oxo anion $[WO_4]^{2-}$ easily reacts with Lewis acids. Reaction with $[B(C_6F_5)_3]$ produced tetrahedral (ⁿPr₄N)₂[WO{OB(C₆F₅)₃].³⁹ WO₃·H₂O reacted with 30% hydrogen peroxide following addition of Ph₂Si(OH)₂ or [Ph₂Si(OH)₂]₂O affording dimeric peroxo compounds [Ph₂SiO₂{W₂O₂(μ -O₂)₂(O₂)₂]²⁻ or [(Ph₂SiO{WO(O₂)₂)₂O]²⁻ which were isolated as PPh₄⁺ salts (Figure 6).^{40,41}

Anodic oxidation of metallic tungsten in methanol afforded a mixture of $[W(OMe)_6]$ and $[WO(OMe)_4]$. After purification and treatment with MeOC₂H₄OH, crystals of $[\{LiWO_2(OC_2H_4O-Me)_3\}_2 \cdot 2Li(HOC_2H_4OMe)_2][W_6O_{19}]$ were obtained.⁴² Single crystals of $W(OMe)_6$ were also prepared by anodic oxidation and subsequent separation from by-product, $[WO(OMe)_4]$.

Reaction of WCl₆ with salicylic acid produced an oxochloride complex with evolution of gaseous HCl as mentioned in Section 4.8.2.1.1. Reaction of WOCl₄ with 3 equiv. of salicylic acid gave the μ -oxo dimer, [W(=O)(Hsal)(sal)]₂O.¹⁶

Tungsten(VI) pinacolate [W(OCMe₂CMe₂)₃] was produced by the reaction of W(NMe₂)₆ with 3 equiv. of pinacol in high yield.⁴⁴ The dimeric catecholate derivative [W₂(Cl₄Cat)₆] (Cl₄Cat = tetrachlorocatecholato) was synthesized by the redox reaction between W(CO)₆ and tetrachloro-1,2-benzoquinone.⁴⁵ The bis(sisesquinoxane)tungsten complex [{(C₆H₁₁)₇Si₇O₉(O)₃}₂W], shown in Figure 7, was afforded by the reaction of WCl₆ with 1 or 2 equiv. of silsesquioxane (C₆H₁₁)₇Si₇O₉(OH)₃.⁴⁶

4.8.2.2.2 Complexes containing oxygen and nitrogen groups (nitrogen and phosphorus) and carbon

Tridentate nitrogen ligand is one of the useful ligands capping coordination sites of metal ions. Hydrotris(pyrazolyl)borate derivatives have been used for this purpose. The starting material, $[LWO_2(OH)]$ (L = hydrotris(3,5-dimethylpyrazol-1-yl)borate) was prepared from $[LWI(CO)_3]$ via transfer of two oxygen atoms from dimethyl sulfoxide. This reaction required water as the source



Figure 6 $[Ph_2SiO_2\{W_2O_2(\mu-O_2)_2(O_2)_2\}^{2-}$ and $[(Ph_2SiO\{WO(O_2)_2\})_2O]^{2-}$.



Figure 7 Schematic drawing of $[\{(C_6H_{11})_7Si_7O_9(O)_3\}_2W]$ where R indicates cyclohexyl group.

of hydroxo ligand. The starting material was reacted with NEt₄OH to give (NEt₄)[LWO₃]·4H₂O and the anion is shown in Figure 8. Reaction of $[LWO_2(\mu-O)WO(CO)L]^{47}$ with *tert*-butyl hydroperoxide afforded $[LWO_2]_2(\mu-O)$.⁴⁸ Triazacyclohexane derivatives present facial tridentate coordination. The oxidation reaction of $[(t-Bu_3tach)W(CO)_3]$ (*t*-Bu_3tach = 1,3,5-tri-tert-butyl-1,3,5-triazacyclohexane) with H₂O₂ gave $[(t-Bu_3tach)W(O)_3]$ (Figure 8) in high yield.⁴⁹

The reaction of $[WO_2(acac)_2]$ and the Schiff base ligand, $H_2(5-t-Busap)$ (2-(5-tert-butylsalicyl-ideneamino)phenol), afforded $[WO_2(5-t-Busap)]$ in yields exceeding 90%.⁵⁰

A linear O=W=OW=O unit was found in $[W_2O_3(CH_2CMe_3)_6]$ which was prepared from the reaction of $[W(CCMe_2)Np_3]$ (Np = CH₂CMe₃) and a large excess of H₂O in tetrahydrofuran.⁵¹

Mononuclear *cis*-dioxo-amido tungsten(VI) compounds were prepared by the reaction of $[WO_2Cl_2(dme)]$ (dme = 1,2-dimethoxyethane) and lithium amide. For pyridine functionalized amido ligands $L = -N(SiMe_3)(2-C_5H_3N-6-Me)$, $-N{Si(t-Bu)Me_2}(2-C_5H_3N-6-Me)$, $[WO_2(L)]$ were isolated.⁵² Similar *cis*-dioxo, oxosulfido, and disulfido complexes, $[WQ_2(OSiPh_3)_2 (Me_4phen)]$ ($Q_2 = O_2$, OS, S_2 , $Me_4phen = 3,4,7,8$ -tetramethyl-1,10-phenanthroline) were prepared by the reaction between $K_2[WO_2Q_2]$, Me_4phen and Ph_3SiCl in acetonitrile.⁵³

Reaction of triplebonded dimeric $W_2(O-t-Bu_2)_6$ with acetonitrile or benzonitrile afforded alkylidyne and nitride compounds.⁵⁴ The nitride compound, $[W(N)(O-t-Bu)_3]$, was easily separated and the polymeric structure was determined X-ray analysis.⁵⁵ The terminal nitride ligand is triply bonded to W and interacts to the neighboring W via a weak dative bond. An analogous compound, $[W_2{OC(CH_2)_2(CF_3)}_6]$, did not react with acetonitrile but reacted with benzonitrile to give the trinuclear triangular complex, $[NW{O(CH_2)_2CF_3}]_3$, having nitride bridge. The W—N bond lengths alternate between 1.72(2) (average) and 2.14(2) Å (average).⁵⁶

Calixarene compounds bearing hydrazido(2-) or isodiazene complexes were produced by the ligand exchange reaction between $[W(NNPh_2)(OBu^t)_4]$ and calixarenes. The near-linear W—N—N angles, short W—N (1.74–1.75Å) and long N—N (ca. 1.32–1.33Å) distances indicate the W=N—N bond character.⁵⁷ The related compound having alkyl groups, $[W(NNPh_2)(CH_2Si-Me_3)(OC_6F_5)]$, was isolated by the reaction of $[WCl_4(NNPh_2)]$ and MeSiCH₂MgCl following the addition of C₆F₅OH.³⁵ The calix[5]arene derivative bearing a Me₂NP moiety reacted with



Figure 8 Schematic drawing of $[LWO_3]^-$ (L = hydrotris(3,5-dimethylpyrazol-1-yl)borate) and $[(t-Bu_3tach)W(O)_3]$ (t-Bu_3tach = 1,3,5-tri-tert-butyl-1,3,5-triazacyclohexane).



Figure 9 Change of W-P interaction in the *p-tert*-butylcalyx[5]arene imido complex.

 $[(Bu^tN)_2W(NHBu^t)_2]$ to give the imidoamido complex shown in Figure 9. This complex was refluxed with HOTf to give a triflate accompanied with an increased W—P interaction.⁵⁸

The four-coordinate tungsten(IV) complex, $[W(NAr)_2(PMe_2Ph)_2]$ (Ar = 2,6-C₆H₃-*i*-Pr₂), reacted with acetone in pentane to give $[W(NAr)_2(PMe_2Ph)(\eta^2-OCMe_2)]$ quantitatively. This compound has a long C—O bond (1.39(1) Å) and no ν (CO) stretch above 1,400 cm⁻¹ features which are characteristic for an oxametallopropane tungsten(VI) complex (Figure 10). Bis(imino)tungsten(VI) Schiff-base complexes were synthesized by alcoholysis of $[W(NBu^t)_2(NHBu^t)_2]$ using diprotonated Schiff-base.⁵⁹ A schematic drawing of the complex $[W(NBu^t)_2(3,5-Bu^t_2)_2salen]$ is shown in Figure 10. The reaction of $[W(NBu^t)_2(NHBu^t)_2]$ with $(Ph_2SiOH)_2O$ gave an imido metallasiloxane, $[W(NBu^t)(NH_2Bu^t)(OSiPh_2OSiPh_2O)_2]$.⁶⁰ Two nitrogen atoms are *trans* to each other and the two *tert*-butyl groups are distinguishable by ¹H NMR.

4.8.2.2.3 Complexes containing sulfur, selenium, or tellurium

A few examples only of tungsten(VI) telluride or selenide compounds are known. The tungsten (IV) bis(chalcogenido) complexes, *trans*-[W^{IV}(PMe₃)₄(E)₂] (E = S, Se, Te) were treated with aldehyde to give the η^2 -aldehyde complexes, [W^{VI}(PMe₃)₂(E)₂(η^2 -OCHR))] shown in Scheme 3. The structural parameters indicate that this complex is a W^{VI} metallaoxirane derivative rather than a W^{VI} aldehyde adducts.^{28,61} Convenient preparation of WSe₄²⁻ from W(CO)₆ and Se₃²⁻ has been reported.⁶²

Treatment of $(Et_4N)[Me_2TpW(CO)_3]$ $(Me_2Tp = tris(3,5-dimethylpyrazol-1-yl)borate)$ with 1 equiv. of S₈ in DMF gave the mononuclear tris(sulfide) complex, $(Et_4N)[Me_2TpWS_3]$. A similar reaction using the Tp (hydrotris(pyrazol-1-yl)borate) derivative in acetonitrile provided $(Et_4N)_2$ [{WO(S₂)₂}₂S] as a by-product.⁶³ The starting materials of *cis*-bis(thio) and -oxothio derivatives



Figure 10 Schematic drawing of $[W(NAr)_2(PMe_2Ph)(\eta^2-OCMe_2)]$ (Ar = 2,6-C₆H₃-*i*-Pr₂) and $[W(NBu^t)_2$ {(3,5-Bu^t₂)₂salen}].



 $E = S, R = H, Me, Ph, C_6H_4Me, C_6H_4OMe$ E = Se, R = H, PhE = Se, R = H, Ph

Scheme 3

having Tp* (=Me₂Tp) were synthesized from Tp*WO₂Cl and B₂S₃ or P₄S₁₀. The isolated [Tp*WS₂Cl] and [Tp*WOSCl] reacted with NaOPh, NaSPh, NaSePh, or sodium (–)-mentholate to give the corresponding products. Molecular structures of [Tp*WS₂(OPh)] and (*R*,*S*)-[Tp*WOS{(–)-mentholate}] were determined.^{64,65} The reaction between [WO_{4-n}S_n]^{2–} (*n*=0–2), Ph₃SiCl, and Me₄phen (3,4,7,8-tetramethyl-1,10-phenanthroline) gave [WO_{2-n}S_n(OSiPh₃)₂(Me₄-phen)] as shown in Figure 11.⁵³ The dimeric disulfide complex [(S)₂W(μ -S)₂W(NNMe₂)₂(PPh₃)] was prepared from [WCl(NNMe₂)₂(PPh₃)₂]Cl and (NBu^a₄)₂[WS₄] in acetonitrile.⁶⁶

Oxidative addition of sulfur to tungsten(IV) complexes afforded sulfido tungsten(VI) derivatives. A solution of $(Et_4N)[W(OPh)(S_2C_2Me_2)_2]$ reacted with dibenzyl trisulfide to produce $(Et_4N)[WS(OPh)(S_2C_2Me_2)_2]$.⁶⁷ A similar procedure using $(Et_4N)[W(bdt)_2(OSiBu^tPh_2)]$ gave $(Et_4N)[WS(bdt)_2(OSiBu^tPh_2)]$. The same product can be prepared by the reaction between $(Et_4N)[WO(bdt)_2(OSiBu^tPh_2)]$ and $(Me_3Si)_2S$.¹²

Dioxotungsten(VI) thiolates have been reported in relation to the active sites of tungstoenzymes in the oxidized state. Dithiolene derivatives, especially, are good models for the pterin cofactor. The first reported dioxotungsten(VI) dithiolate was $(PPh_4)_2[WO_2(bdt)_2]$ (bdt = 1,2-benzenedithiolate), shown in Figure 12, which was synthesized by the oxidation of $(PPh_4)_2[WO^{IV}(bdt)_2]$ by trimethylamine *N*-oxide.⁶⁸ The *trans* influence means that the W—S bonds at the *trans* position (mean 2.597(4)Å) *trans* to the oxo ligand are significantly longer than those at the *cis* position (mean 2.425(4)Å). Similar reactions were effective for analogous compounds. (Et₄N)₂ [WO₂(S₂C₂Me₂)₂] was produced by the oxidation of (Et₄N)₂[WO(S₂C₂Me₂)₂] using Me₃NO.⁶⁷ The reaction of aqueous Na₂WO₄·2H₂O and Na₂nmt (nmt²⁻ = 1,2-dicyanoethylenedithiolate) in the presence of excess NaHSO₃ at pH = 5.5 by the addition of acetic acid gives *cis*-[W^{VI}O₂(nmt)₂]²⁻. The tungsten(IV) complex (Et₄N)₂[W^{IV}O(nmt)₂] was oxidized by elemental sulfur under reflux to (Et₄N)₂[W^{VI}O(η^2 -S₂)(nmt)₂].⁶⁹ A dioxotungsten(VI) selenophenolate complex, [Tp*WO₂(SePh)] (Tp* = hydrotris(3,5-dimethylpyrazol-1-yl)borate) was obtained by the reaction of [Tp*WO₂CI] and LiSePh in tetrahydrofuran.⁷⁰

A solution of $[W(CO)(phen)(SPh)_2(\eta^2-SO_2)]$ (formal oxidation state is II or IV) in dichloromethane converted spontaneously to $[W^{VI}(phen)(SPh)_2(O)_2]$ as shown in Scheme 4.⁷¹



 $Q_1Q_2 = S_2, OS, O_2$ Figure 11 Schematic drawing of [WO_{2-n}S_n(OSiPh₃)₂(Me₄phen)] (n = 0-2).



Figure 12 The anion part of $(PPh_4)_2[W^{VI}O_2(bdt)_2]$.



Scheme 4

Recent crystallographic studies of the active sites of tungstoenzymes suggests the possibility of desoxotungsten(IV) and monooxotungsten(VI) bis(dithiolate) centers with an additional coordination of serine. Some model compounds mimicking the coordination environment around the tungsten atom have been reported. Treatment of $(Et_4N)[W^{IV}(OSiPh_2But)(bdt)_2]$ with 3-fold excess of Me₃NO led to $(Et_4N)[W^{VI}O(OSiPh_2But)(bdt)_2]$.^{12,72} A similar reaction between $(Et_4N)[W^{IV}(OPh)(S_2C_2Me_2)_2]$ and Me₃NO afforded $(Et_4N)[W^{VI}O(OPh)(S_2C_2Me_2)_2]$.⁷³

Reaction of WO³⁺ species with aqueous (NH₄)₂S_x in the presence of 2,2'-bipyridine (bpy) gave the discrete mononuclear complex [WO(η^2 -S₂)₂(bpy)].⁷⁴ The reaction between (NH₄)₂[WO₂S₂], elemental sulfur and NH₂NH₂·2HCl following addition of Et₄NBr gave (Et₄N)₂[{WO(η^2 -S₂)₂)₂(μ_2 -S₇)(μ_2 -NH₂NH₂)]. The anion is shown in Figure 13.⁷⁵ The reaction between (Et₄N)₂[WS₄] and (C₆H₅CS₂)₂ gave (Et₄N)[WO(S₂)₂(S₂CC₆H₅)] (as minor product) and (Et₄N)[W^{VI}S(S₂)₂(S₂CC₆H₅)].⁷⁶

The tungsten(IV) complex $[W(NPh){o-(Me_3SiN)_2C_6H_4}(py)_2]$ (py = pyridine) reacted with 2 equiv. of thiophene to give the S,C-chelate tungsten(VI) complex, $[W(NPh) {o-(Me_3SiN)_2C_6H_4}(SC_4H_4)]$, shown in Scheme 5.⁷⁷

A sulfenamide complex $[W(NBu^t)_2(\eta^2-PhSNBu^t)_2]$ was produced by the interaction of Li₂W (NBu^t)₄ with PhSC1. The molecular structure with distorted bicapped tetrahedral geometry is shown in Figure 14.⁷⁸



Figure 13 Representation of $[{WO(\eta^2-S_2)_2}_2(\mu_2-S_7)(\mu_2-NH_2NH_2)]^{2-}$.



Scheme 5



Figure 14 Molecular structure of $[W(NBu^t)_2(\eta^2 - PhSNBu^t)_2]$.

4.8.2.3 W^{VI} Complexes Containing Only Nitrogen Groups' Ligands and Hydride

The phosphido triamideamine tungsten complex $[([N_3N]]W\equiv P]$ $([N_3N]=Me_3SiNCH_2CH_2)_3N)$ was prepared by the reaction of $[([N_3N])WCI]$ and LiPPhH as shown in Scheme 6. The analogous reaction using LiAsPhH gave only trace of $[([N_3N])W\equiv As]$ with $[([N_3N])WPh]$ as main product. However $[([N_3N])W\equiv As]$ was obtained by the reaction of $[([N_3N])WPh]$ and a slight excess of PhAsH₂. In this reaction approximately 2 equiv. of benzene were formed. The nitrido compound was produced by the reaction of $[([N_3N])WCI]$ and NaN₃. The nitrido, phosphido, and arsenido complexes reacted readily with methyl triflate in toluene to give the imido, phosphinidene, and arsinidene complexes $[\{([N_3N])W=EMe\}](OTf) (E = N, P, As)$, respectively in quantitative yield. The arsinidene complex was characterized crystallographically.⁷⁹



Scheme 6

Treating $[W(NPh)Cl_4]$ with 1 equiv. of MeOH gave $[W(NPh)(OMe)Cl_3]$ that reacts with 4 equiv. of LiNMe₂ to afford $[W(NPh)(NMe_2)_4]$.⁸⁰

Deprotonation of $(Bu^t NH)_2 W(NBu^t)_2$ by methyl lithium gave dimeric $[W_2(NBu^t)_8 Li_4]$, as shown in Figure 15.⁸¹ The bridging NBu^t ligands are coordinated as amido rather than imido. The terminal imido, Bu^tN, exhibits a reasonably short W—N bond (1.723(8)Å). Reaction of $[W_2(NBut)_8 Li_4]$ with Lewis acids gave monomeric $[W{(\mu-NBu^t)_2AlCl_2}_2]$ as shown in Figure 15.³³

Hydrazo compounds are reported as intermediates in nitrogen fixation by molybdenum-containing nitrogenase. Tungsten chemistry has been reported for comparison with molybdenum. Addition of methyl lithium to [W(NPh)Me₃Cl] followed by 1 equiv. of hydrazine afforded [{W(NPh)Me₃}₂(μ - η^{1} , η^{1} -NH₂NH₂)(μ - η^{2} , η^{2} -NHNH)] in good yield.⁸²



Figure 15 Representation of $[W_2(NBu^t)_8Li_4]$ and $[W\{\mu-NBu^t\}_2AlCl_2]_2]$.

The structure of tris(phenyldiisopropylphosphine)tungsten hexahydride [WH₆(PPh-i-Pr₂)₃] was determined by X-ray and neutron diffraction.⁸

THE CHEMISTRY OF W^V 4.8.3

4.8.3.1 W^V Halides and Derivatives

The addition reaction of KWF₆ and KF at elevated temperature under vacuum gave seven-coordinate K_2WF_7 .⁸⁴ Reduction of $[W^{VI}(O-2,6-C_6H_3Cl_2)_4Cl_2]$ by sodium amalgam produced $[W^{V}(O-2,6-C_{6}H_{3}Cl_{2})_{4}Cl(Et_{2}O)]$, where the ether molecule occupies the position *trans* to chloride.¹³ Bis(aryloxide)tungsten(VI) [WCl₄(OAr-2,6-Ph₂)₂] is reduced by excess LiBH₄ or an equivalent of sodium amalgam in the presence of PMe₂Ph to give [WCl₃(OAr-2,6-Ph₂)₂(PMe₂Ph)].¹⁵ [WCl₃(OAr-2,6-Ph₂)₂(thf)] was obtained by treatment with magnesium butadiene in THF.

The reaction between dibenzo-30-crown-10, [W(CO)₆], water, and gaseous HCl in toluene gave oxonium ion complex of the crown, [2H₃O⁺(dibenzo-30-crown-10)][W^{II}(CO)₄Cl₃]₂ and $[2H_3O^+(dibenzo-30-crown-10)][WOCl_4(H_2O)]_2$

Binuclear complexes { $W^{V}OLCl$ }₂(μ -OO) (μ -OO = p-diphenolato) exhibit both reduced electronic and magnetic exchange interactions compared to the Mo analogues. This was ascribed to poorer $d_{\pi}-p_{\pi}$ W—O overlap involving the bridging ligands.⁸⁵

4.8.3.2 W^V Chalcogenides and Derivatives

Some dimeric tungsten(V) selenides have been reported. While tungsten(V) is essentially paramagnetic (d^1). Antiferromagnetic interactions within the dimeric core enabled the use of ¹H and ⁷⁷Se NMR. Acidification of $(NH_4)_2$ [WSe₄] with acetic acid in methanol followed by addition of PPh₄Cl afforded (PPh₄)₂[W₃Se₉], i.e., $[(\eta^2-Se_2)(Se)W(\mu-Se)_2W(Se)(\eta^2-Se_3)]$. The thermal reaction of $[WSe_4]^{2-}$, PPh₄Cl and black selenium gave two isomers of $(PPh_4)_2[W_2Se_{10}]$, i.e., $[(\eta^2-Se_2)(Se)W$ $(\mu$ -Se)₂W(Se)(η^2 -Se₄)]²⁻ and $[(\eta^2$ -Se₃)(Se)W(μ -Se)₂W(Se)(η^2 -Se₃)]²⁻. These isomers may be distinguished by ⁷⁷Se NMR.⁸⁶ The complex (PPh₄)₂[W₂Se₁₀] reacts with dimethyl acetylenedicarboxylate to give the di(μ -Se) diselenene compound, (PPh₄)₂[W₂Se₂{Se₂C₂(COOCH₃)₂}].⁸⁷ (PPh₄)₂[W₂Se₁₀] reacted with NaBH₄ to produce (PPh₄)₂[W₂Se₆], i.e., the [(Se)₂W(μ -Se)₂W(Se)₂]²⁻ anion.⁸⁶

The terminal sulfide thiolate complex $[W_2(S)_2(\mu-S)_2\{S_2P(OEt)_2\}_2]$, was prepared from $[WS_4]^{2-1}$ and $HS_2P(OEt)_2$ or WS_2Cl_2 and $(NH_4)[S_2P(OEt)_2]$. The complex reacted with $Na(S_2CNEt_2)$ to produce the ligand-substituted product $[W_2S_2(\mu-S)_2(S_2CNEt_2)_2]$, which may also be prepared by the oxidation of $[W(CO)_6]$ with $[Et_2NC(S)S-]_2$.

Treatment of sodium tungstate with NH₄SCN in aqueous HCl produced oxotungsten(V) species. The reaction of this solution with polysulfide afforded $[(S_4)(O)W(\mu-S)_2W(O)(S_2)]^{2-}$ and $[(S_4)(O)W(\mu-S)_2W(O)(S_4)]^{2-90}$

Monooxotungsten(V) thiolates have been synthesized as models for the ESR-active species of tungstoenzymes or as analogues of molybdoenzymes. The square-pyramidal alkanedithiolate derivative, $(PPh_4)[WO(SCH_2CH_2S)_2]$ was produced by the ligand exchange reaction between $(PPh_4)[WO(SPh)_4]^{12,91}$ and ethanedithiol.⁹² The substituted arenethiolate compound, [(*n*- Pr_4N [WO(S-2,3,5,6-Me_4C_6H_4)_4] showed similar geometry around the metal center.⁹³ Chelate compounds, $(Et_4N)[WO(bdt)_2]^{68}$ and $(Et_4N)[WO(S_2C_2Me_2)_2]$,⁶⁷ also exhibit similar structures. The reaction of $(Et_4N)[W^{1V}(OPh)(S_2C_2Me_2)_2]$ with 2 equiv. of benzenethiol or benzeneselenol

gave $(Et_4N)[W^V(QPh)_2(S_2C_2Me_2)_2]$ (Q = S, Se). When 1 equiv. of Ph₃CSH is added instead of
benzenethiol, the dimeric compound, $(Et_4N)_2[W_2(\mu-S)_2(S_2C_2Me_2)_4]$ was obtained. This compound was also produced by the reaction of $[W(CO)_2(S_2C_2Me_2)_2]$ and $S_2^{2^-}$ or the oxidation of $[W^{IV}(S)(S_2C_2Me_2)_2]^{2^-}$ by I_2 .⁶⁷ For the synthesis of $(Et_4N)_2[W_2(\mu-S)_2(S_2C_2Ph_2)_4]$, tropylium hexa-fluorophosphate was used as oxidizing agent.⁹⁴ Reductive desulfurization of $[WS(S_2)(S_2CNEt_2)_2]$ using Me₃SiI afforded $[W^V_2(\mu-S_2)_2(S_2CNEt_2)_4]I(I_3)$.⁹⁵ $[W^V(S_2CNR_2)_4][TCNQ]$ was obtained from $[W^V(S_2CNR_2)_4]I$ and Li[TCNQ].⁴

 $[W_2(OCH_2^{-t}-Bu)_8]_n$ reacted with pyridine-*N*-oxide, elemental sulfur, selenium, and tri(*n*-butyl)-phosphine telluride to give $[W_2(\mu-E)(\mu-OCH_2^{-t}-Bu)_2(OCH_2^{-t}-Bu)_6]$ (E = O, S, Se, Te).⁹⁶ The linear oxo-bridged complex, $[(WO\{S_2CN(CH_2Ph)_2\}_2)_2O]$ was obtained by the oxidation of $[W(CO)_3\{S_2CN(CH_2Ph)_2\}_2]$ under oxygen.⁹⁷ Na₂ $[W_2(O)_2(\mu-O)(\mu-S)(\mu-edta)]$ (edta = ethylenediaminetetraacetate) was separated by chromatography of the reaction mixture of $(NH_4)_2[WOCl_5]$ and Na₂(edta) in aqueous H₂S solution.⁹⁸ Asymmetric analogues, $[MoW(O)_2(\mu-O)(\mu-S)(\mu-edta)]^{2-99}$ and $[W_2(O)_2(\mu-O)(\mu-S)(\mu-R-pdta)]^{2-}$ (*R*-pdta = (*R*)-propylenediamine)¹⁰⁰ show similar structures.

The macrocyclic *meso*-octaethylporphyronogen-lithium derivative $[Et_8N_4Li_4(THF)_4]$ reacted with WOCl₄ to give $[(Et_8N_4)W^V = O-Li(THF)_4]$ and oxidized ligand, $[(Et_8N_4)(\Delta)Li_2(THF)_2]$.¹⁰¹

4.8.3.3 [W(CN)₈]³⁻ salts

Because the $[W(CN)_8]^{3-}$ anion has nitrogen atoms on the surface, it retains the capability of coordination or interaction to neighboring metal ions. Recently, some adducts or clusters have been reported. The ternary adduct, $[Pt(en)_2]_3[W(CN)_8]_2$, exhibited electronic coupling in solution and in the solid state.¹⁰² Combination with manganese(II) ions produced magnetically interesting $[Mn^{II}_6(H_2O)_9\{W^V(CN)_8\}_4 \cdot 13H_2O]_n^{103}$ and $[Mn_9\{W(CN)_8\}_6 \cdot 24C_2H_5OH] \cdot 12C_2H_5OH.^{104}$ The latter was high spin (S = 39/2).

4.8.4 THE CHEMISTRY OF W^{IV}

4.8.4.1 W^{IV} Halides and Derivatives

4.8.4.1.1 Complexes containing oxygen coordination

Oxidative addition of CO₂ to $[W^{II}Cl_2(PMePh_2)]$ yielded the oxotungsten(IV) carbonyl complex, [W(O)Cl₂(CO) (PMePh₂)]. Related reactions afforded imido and sulfido complexes.¹⁰⁵ A similar reaction to that described in Section 4.8.3.1 for the tungsten(V) complex was performed. Reduction of [WCl₄(OAr-2,6-Ph₂)₂] by 2 equiv. of sodium amalgam in the presence of PMe₂Ph produced [WCl₂(OAr-2,6-Ph₂)₂(PMe₂Ph)₂].¹⁵ Reaction of [WCl₄(PMe₂Ph)₂] with 2 equiv. of TlOCH₂CF₃ gave [W(OCH₂CF₃)₂Cl₂(PMe₂Ph)₂].¹⁰⁶ trans-[W(O)(F)(dppe)₂](BF₄) (dppe = Ph₂PCH₂CH₂PPh₂) was prepared by the reaction of trans-W(PPh₃)₂Cl₄ and dppe followed by addition of BF₄⁻ anion. The reaction of [W(O)(F)(dppe)₂](BF₄) and NEt₄OH afforded trans-[W(O)₂(dppe)₂]. Addition of HClO₄, Cl⁻, Br⁻, NCS⁻, CH₃I to trans-[W(O)₂(dppe)₂] gave protonated, substituted, or methylated compounds, trans-[W(O)(X) (dppe)₂] (X = Cl, Br, NCS, OCH₃).¹⁰⁷

4.8.4.1.2 Imido, hydrazido amido, and the related complexes

The zwitterionic tungsten(0) complex $[(CO)_5WNPhNPhC(OMe)Ph]^{108}$ reacted with PCl₅, Br₂, or I₂ to give the tungsten(IV) imido complex $[(CO)_2W(NPh)_2(X)(\mu-X)]_2$ shown in Scheme 7.^{109,110} The dimeric complex reacted with donor ligands such as pyridine, phosphine, and acetonitrile to give monomeric imido complexes. Di-imido-bridged tungsten(IV) complexes $[\{WCl_2(PMePh_2)_2(CO)\}_2(\mu-N-X-N)]$ (X = *p*-phenylene or the other rigid groups) were synthesized via oxidative addition of diisocyanates (OCN-X-NCO) to two equiv. of $[WCl_2(PMePh_2)]$.¹¹¹ An analogous reaction using Ar'P=C=O (Ar' = 2,4,6-t-Bu₃C₆H₂) was effective for the synthesis of the phosphinidene complex. $[WCl_2(PMe_3)_4]$ reacted with Ar'PCO to give $[W(PAr')(CO)Cl_2(PMe_3)]$ where the W-P-C bond is essentially linear (168.2(2)°).¹¹²



Scheme 7

Hydrazido tungsten(IV) derivatives have been reported as intermediates in the conversion of dinitrogen to ammonia. Substituted hydrazido compounds have been isolated and characterized crystallographically. [W^{IV}Cl₂(NNPh₂)(PMe₂Ph)₃] was synthesized by Na/Hg-reduction of [W^{VI}(NNPh₂)Cl₄] prepared from WCl₆ and Ph₂NNH₂·HCl. The resulting hydrazido complex reacted with HCl or water to yield ammonia and diphenylamine.¹¹³

The reaction of *trans*-[W(N₂)₂(dtpe)] (dtpe = 1,2-bis(di-*p*-tolylphosphino)ethane) with one equiv. of 1,3-dibromopropane yielded the azetidinylimido complex [WBr(NNC₃H₆)(dtpe)] featuring a 4-membered N(CH₂)₃ ring.¹¹⁴

The acid-catalyzed reaction of the hydrazido(2-) complex $[WF(NHNH_2)(dpp)_2](BF_4)$ (dppe = Ph₂PCH₂CH₂PPh₂; readily derived from *trans*- $[W(N_2)_2(dpp)_2]$ by protonation with HF) condensed with 2,5-dimethoxytetrahydrofuran to afford the pyrrolylimido complex shown in Scheme 8.^{115,116} When the complex was reacted with 2,5-dimethoxy-2,5-dihydrofuran under similar conditions, the kinetic product formed initially gradually isomerized to the thermodynamically more stable compound shown in Scheme 8.¹¹⁷ Related reactions of *cis,mer*- $[WX_2(NHNH_2)(PMe_2Ph)_3]$ (X = Cl, Br) with phthalaldehyde gave the (phthalimidin-2-yl)imido complexes shown in Scheme 9. Treatment of $[W(N_2)_2(PMe_2Ph)_4]$ with HCl under CO afforded $[WCl_2(NNH_2)(CO)(PMe_2Ph)_2]$. This complex reacted with 2,4,6-trimethylpyrylium tetrafluoroborate to give the (1-pyridinio)imino complex $[WCl_2(NNC_5H_2Me_3)(CO)(PMe_2Ph)_2](BF_4)$ in the presence of HCl.^{118,119} Analogous derivatives were synthesized similarly.





The silylimido complex [W(NSiMe₃)Cl₂(PMe₃)₃] was prepared by the reaction of [MCl₂(PMe₃)₄] and trimethylsilyl azide.³⁰ Treatment with PCl₂R₃ (R₃ = Me₃, MePh₂) yielded the phosphoamininato compound [W(NPR₃)Cl₂(PMe₃)₃]Cl. The complex is diamagnetic with an electronic structure analogous to that of the closely related tungsten(IV) imido complex [WCl₂(NR)(PR₃)₃].²⁴

Reaction of the tetradentate triamidoamine ligand $(C_6F_5NHCH_2CH_2)_3N$ with $[WCl_4(Et_2S)_2]$ gave a distorted trigonalbipyramidal compound $[W^{IV}Cl\{(C_6F_5NCH_2CH_2)_3N\}]$.¹²⁰

4.8.4.1.3 Hydride complexes

Some crystallographically characterized hydrido tungsten(IV) complexes have been reported. Reduction of WCl₆ by sodium–potassium alloy in PMe₃ gave [W(PMe₃)₄(η^2 -CH₂PMe₂)H]. This complex was treated with aqueous HF to afford [W(PMe₃)₄H₂(OH₂)F]F.^{121,122} The structure of this compound has been corrected to W(PMe₃)₄H₂F₂(H₂O) or W(PMe₃)₄H₂F₂(FHF).¹²³ A similar procedure gave eight-coordinate [W(PMe₃)₄H₂Cl₂]. Anion exchange using LiBr and NaI provided [W(PMe₃)₄H₂Br₂] and [W(PMe₃)₄H₂I₂]. The reaction is shown in Scheme 10.^{123,124}



4.8.4.2 W^{IV} Chalcogenides and Derivatives

4.8.4.2.1 Complexes containing only chalcogen

Tungsten(VI) hexachloride reacted readily with polytelluride anions $(Te_3^{2-}, Te_4^{2-}, Te_5^{2-})$ in DMF to form $[W^{IV}O(\eta^2-Te_4)_2]^{2-}$ in good yield. Use of WCl₄ or WOCl₄ instead of WCl₆ as the starting material gave the same product in lower yield.¹²⁵

Monomeric polyselenide anions $[WQ(Se_4)_2]^{2^-}$ with Q = Se, S, O were synthesized by the reaction of $[WSe_4]^{2^-}$ and Se_8 , SeS_2 , or $Se_4(NC_5H_{10})_2$, respectively. The crystal structure of $[WS(Se_4)_2]$ was determined by X-ray analysis. The starting material $[MSe_4]^{2^-}$ was prepared from $WO_4^{2^-}$ and bis(dimethyloctylsilyl) selenide.¹²⁶

(Ph₄P)₂[WSe₄] and phosphorus selenide glass, "P₂Se₄", reacted readily to give the $[(PSe_2)W(Se)(PSe_4)]^{2-}$ anion containing terminal selenide, tetrahedral PSe₄³⁻ and heteroallylic PSe²⁻, as shown in Figure 16.¹²⁷ Oxidative decarbonylation of $[W(CO)_6]$ by As₄Se₄ and K₂Se₃ afforded $[W(AsSe_5)_2]^{2-}$ as shown in Figure 16, which was also prepared from $[W(CO)_2(As_2Se_3)]^{2-128}$ [WSe₉]²⁻ or $[W(Se)(\eta^2-Se_4)_2]^{2-}$ reacted with dimethyl acetylenedicarboxy-late to yield the tris(diselenene) complex $[W{Se_2C_2(COOCH_3)_2}_3]^{2-.87}$

Tetrathiapentalenedione $C_2S_4(CO)_2$ reacted with $[WS_4]^{2-}$ to give $[W(S_2C_2S_2CO)_3]^{2-}$.¹²⁹ The tris(dithiolene) complex $[W(S_2C_2Me_2)_3]^{2-}$ was prepared by reduction of $[W(S_2C_2Me_2)_3]$ by Et₄NBH₄.¹³⁰

Dicarbonyl bis(dithiolene) compounds $[W^{IV}(CO)_2(S_2C_2R)_2]$ (R = Me, Ph) reacted with OH⁻, S²⁻, or Se²⁻ to yield the terminal chalcogenides $[W^{IV}Q(S_2C_2R_2)_2]^{2-}$ (Q = O, S, Se).⁹⁴

Bis(dithiolene) and bis(benzenedithiolato) tungsten(IV) complexes have been synthesized for comparison with the active sites of tungstoenzymes. The oxotungsten(IV) complexes $[WO(bdt)_2]^{2-}$ (bdt = 1,2-benzenedithiolato) was synthesized by a simple borohydride reduction of $[W^VO(bdt)_2]^{-68}$ This compound readily reacted with trimethylamine-*N*-oxide to give $[W^{VI}O_2(bdt)_2]^{2-}$. The analogous complex $[W^{IV}O(mnt)_2]^{2-}$ was prepared by the reduction of $[W^{VI}O_2(bdt)_2]^{2-}$. 69 $[W^{IV}O(sdt)_2]^{2-}$ (sdt = styrenedithiolato) and derivatives are synthesized by the reaction of $K_3Na[WO_2(CN)_4] \cdot 6H_2O$ and the corresponding dithiolate as shown in Scheme 11. The products are mixtures of *cis*- and *trans*-isomers, as established by ¹H NMR spectroscopy, but only the *cis*-isomer was crystallized and characterized crystallographically.¹³¹ Treatment of $[WO(bdt)_2]^{2-}$ with 1 equiv. of R₂Bu^tSiCl (R = Ph, Me) afforded the desoxo compound $[W^{IV}(OSiR_2Bu^t)(bdt)_2]^{-1.2,72}$





Scheme 11



Figure 16 Schematic drawing $[(PSe_2)W(Se)(PSe_4)]^{2-}$ and $[W(AsSe_5)_2]^{2-}$.

Desoxo tungsten(IV) compounds have been reported with an additional phenolate, thiolate, or selenolate ligand related to serine, cysteine, or selenocysteine in the enzyme active sites. The reaction of $[W(CO)_2(S_2C_2Me_2)_2]$ with PhO⁻ gave $[W(OPh)(S_2C_2Me_2)_2]^-$ but with ArQ⁻ (Ar = Ph, C_6H_2-2,4,6-Prⁱ₃; Q = S, Se) gave $[W(CO)(QAr)(S_2C_2Me_2)_2]^{-132}$ Analogous reactions were effective for alkoxide and substituted phenols to give $[W^{IV}O(OR)(S_2C_2Me_2)_2]$ (R = Prⁱ, 2-adamantyl, *p*-C₆H₄X where X = CN, Br, Me, OMe, NH₂). The desoxo tungsten(IV) complexes were oxidized to the corresponding oxotungsten(VI) complexes by trimethylamine-*N*-oxide as shown in Scheme 12.⁷³ Treatment of $[W(CO)_2(S_2C_2Me_2)_2]$ with $(Et_4N)(O_2CPh)$ afforded the noncarbonyl compound $(Et_4N)[W(O_2CPh)(S_2C_2Me_2)_2].^{67,132}$



 $(X = H, CN, Br, Me, OMe, NH_2)$

Scheme 12

The monomeric tungsten(IV) phenoxide and thiolate complexes $[W(O-2,6-C_6H_3R_2)]_4]$ (R = Me, *i*-Pr) and $[W(S-t-Bu)_4]$ were produced by the reaction of $[WCl_4(Et_2S)_2]$ and the corresponding phenolate or thiolate anion.^{133,134} The phenolate complexes exhibited nearly square planar geometry.

The trinuclear bioxocapped cluster $[W^{IV}_3(\mu-O)_2(\mu-OCOR)_6(H_2O)_3]^{2+}$ was prepared from $W(CO)_6$ and carboxylic acid. The elution using cation-exchange column afforded hydrogen oxide $(H_3O_2^{-})$ bridging dimeric compound $[\{W^{IV}_3(\mu-O)_2(\mu-OCOEt)_6(H_2O)_2\}_2(H_3O_2)]Br_3$.¹³⁵ In the case of the benzoate compound, the cluster showed stability under strongly acidic conditions and nitration on the benzene ring was achieved with maintenance of the trinuclear unit.¹³⁶ Mixed metal (W₂Mo and WMo₂) derivatives were also prepared by careful and assiduous separation.¹³⁷

4.8.4.2.2 Complexes containing nitrogen groups

The terminal tellurido tungsten(IV) complex [W(PMe_3)_2(Te)_2] was synthesized by the reaction of [W(PMe_3)_4(η^2 -CH₂PMe_2)_2(H)] and elemental tellurium while the analogous reaction with elemental sulfur resulted in complete decomposition of the complex. For synthesis of the sulfido and selenido derivatives, H₂E (E = S, Se) was used instead by elemental Te as shown in Scheme 13. The reaction proceeded via intermediate [W(PMe)_4(E)(H_2)], which was characterized crystallographically in the case of E = Se.^{28,138} When pentane was used as the solvent, intermediate [W(PMe_3)_4(H)_2(SH)_2] was isolated and characterized by IR spectra.⁶¹ The η^2 -ditellurido derivative [W(PMe_3)_4(η^2 -Te_2)_2(H)_2] was synthesized by the reaction of [W(PMe_3)_4(H)_2] with elemental tellurium. The Te—Te bond in the complex was cleaved oxidatively to give the terminal tellurido compound [W(Te)_2(PMe_3)_4].¹³⁹

The terminal sulfido complex [{HB(Me₂pz)₃}W(S)(S₂CNEt₂)] was obtained by the oxidative decarbonylation of (NEt₄)[{HB(Me₂pz)₃}W(CO)₃] by tetraethylthiuram disulfide followed by separation from by-product [W₂(μ -S)(S₂CNEt₂)₄].¹⁴⁰

The bis(thio)tungsten(VI) complex [{HB(Me₂pz)₃}WS₂(OPh)] was combined with dicarbomethylacetylene to produce [{HB(Me₂pz)₃}W(OPh){S₂C₂(CO₂Me)₂}].¹¹⁵ The analogous complex [WS₂(OSiPh₃)₂(Me₄phen)], which is illustrated in Figure 11, reacted readily with dicarbomethylacetylene or diphenylacetylene to afford [W(OSiPh₃)₂(Me₄phen)(S₂C₂R₂)] (R = CO₂Me or Ph) with dithiolene ring closure.⁵³

The reaction of *cis*-[W(N₂)₂(PMe₂Ph)₄] and *tert*-butanethiol in THF gave the dinuclear compound [{W(SBu^t)₂(PMe₂Ph)}₂(μ -S)₂].⁶⁶



500000

The tungsten(VI) complex $[WO(bdt)_2Cl]^-$ was reducible by $P(OEt)_3$ to afford the tungsten(IV) complex $[W(bdt)_2\{P(OEt)_3\}_2]^{.12}$

The S,N₃-tetradentate ligand N(CH₂CH₂SH)₃ reacted with [WI₂(CO)₃(MeCN)] in the presence of triethylamine to give the dinuclear complex [{W[N(CH₂CH₂S)]}₂{ μ -SCH₂CH₂N (CH₂CH₂SH)₂}₂].¹⁴¹ The S,P₂-tridentate ligand PhP(2-C₆H₄SH)₂ reacted with [WCl(NNMePh)₂-(PPh₃)₂](BPh₄) to give [W{PhP(2-C₆H₄S)₂}₂(NNMePh)].¹⁴²

The phosphido-capped tritungsten(IV) alkoxide $[W_3(\mu^3-P)(\mu-OCH_2-t-Bu)_3(OCH_2-t-Bu)_3]$ was prepared by the reaction between $[W_2(OCH_2-t-Bu)_6(HNMe_2)_2]$ and P_4 in hydrocarbon solvents.¹⁴³ This reaction gave another product $[(HNMe_2)(t-BuCH_2O)W(\eta^3-P_3)]$, which had been characterized previously.¹⁴⁴

The reaction of *trans*-[W(N₂)₂(dpe)] (dpe = 1,2-bis(diphenylphosphino)ethane) with HFe Co₃ (CO)₁₂ in methanol afforded methoxide complex *trans*-[W(OCH₃)(NNH₂)(dpe)₂][FeCo₃(CO)₁₂].¹⁴⁵ The dinitrogen complex *cis*-[W(N₂)₂(dpe)] reacted with acetylacetone in methanol to give an alkenyldiazenido complex *mer*-[W(acac)(NNCMeCHCOMe)(PMe₂Ph)₃], which when treated with gaseous HBr in CH₂Cl₂ yielded *mer*-[W(acac)(NNHCMeCHCOMe)(PMe₂Ph)₃]Br, as shown in Figure 17.¹⁴⁶ Treatment of *cis*-[W(N₂)₂(dpe)] with HOTf afforded *trans*-[W(OTf)(NNH₂)(PMe₂-Ph)₄](OTf), which was also prepared from the reaction of *cis*-[W(N₂)₂(dpe)] and 2 equiv. of *trans*-[RuCl(η^2 -H₂)(dppe)₂](OTf) under an atmosphere of H₂.¹⁴⁷

The cyclopentoxyditungsten compound $[W_2(\mu-H)(\mu-O-c-C_5H_9)_2(O-c-C_5H_9)_5(NHMe_2)]$ was prepared by extended reaction of $[W_2(O-c-C_5H_9)_6(NHMe_2)_2]$ with cyclopentanol in hexane. $[W_2(O-c-C_5H_9)_6(NHMe_2)_2]$ was obtained by interaction of $W_2(NMe_2)_6$ and excess cyclopentanol for a short time.¹⁴⁸ Controlled potential electrolysis of $[WH_2(\eta^2-OCOMe)(dppe)]^+$ containing one equiv. of MeCOOH afforded $[WH_3(\eta^1-OCOMe)(dppe)]$ in excellent yield.¹⁴⁹

4.8.4.2.3 Complexes having a W-C bond

Treatment of *trans*-[W(E)₂(PMe₃)₄] (E = S, Se) with RNC gave *trans*-[W(PMe₃)₂(RNR)(E)₂] whereas the reaction between *trans*-[W(E)₂(PMe₃)₄] (E = S, Se) and Bu^tNC gave [W(PMe₃)(CNBu^t)₄(η^2 -Te₂)] by reductive coupling of the two tellurido ligands as shown in Scheme 14.



Figure 17 Schematic drawing of mer-[W(acac)(NNHCMeCHCOMe)(PMe₂Ph)₃]Br.



Scheme 14

The reaction of $[W(CO)_6]$ and $As_4Se_6^{2-}$ generated $[W(CO)_2(As_3Se_3)_2]^{2-}$ in reasonable yield. The molecular structure is shown in Figure 18. Addition of red selenium converted this complex to $[W(AsSe_5)_2]^{2-}$.¹²⁸ $[W(CO)_2(S_2C_2R_2)_2]$ (R = Me, Ph)¹⁵⁰ has been prepared by an improved method, reaction between $[W(CO)_3(MeCN)_3]$ and $[Ni(S_2C_2R_2)_2]$ in 1:2 proportion with formation of $[Ni^{II}(S_2C_2R_2)_2]$ as by-product (Scheme 15).⁹⁴ $[W(CO)(QAr)(S_2C_2Me_2)_2]^-$ (R = Ph, C₆H₂-2,4,6-Pr¹₃; Q = S, Se) were prepared by the reaction between $[W(CO)_2(S_2C_2Me_2)_2]$ and ArQ⁻, as described in Section 4.8.4.2.1.¹³² Adamantane-2-thiol and -selenol derivatives showed analogous reactions (Scheme 15)^{67,132} Reduction of the tungsten(VI) complex $[WO(bdt)_2Cl]^-$ by $P(OEt)_3$ in the presence of Bu^tCN yielded the tungsten (IV) complex $[W(bdt)_2(Bu^tCN)_2]$.





Figure 18 Molecular structure of $[W(CO)_2(As_3Se_3)_2]^{2-}$ anion.



Figure 19 $[LW^{IV}{NC(O)Me}(SPh)(CO)]$ (L = hydrotris(3,5-dimethylpyrazol-1-yl)borate).

Air oxidation of $[LW(CO)_3I]$ (L = hydrotris(3,5-dimethylpyrazol-1-yl)borate) in toluene under reflux conditions yielded [LWO(CO)I].¹⁵¹ The reaction of the $\kappa^2 N$,C nitrile compound $[LW^{II}I (MeCN)(CO)]^{152}$ with pyridine N-oxide afforded the acylimino tungsten(IV) complex $[LW{NC(O)-Me}I(CO)]$ while [LW(S)I(CO)] was generated in high yield by sulfur atom transfer to $[LWI (\eta^2-MeCN)(CO)]$ using propylene sufide.¹⁵³ Sodium benzenethiolate reacted with $[LW{NC(O)-Me}I(CO)]$ to afford $[LW^{IV}{NC(O)Me}(SPh)(CO)]$ as shown in Figure 19.¹⁵⁴ The sulfide derivative crystallized as the dithiophosphinate derivative $[LW^{IV}(S)(S_2PPh_2-S)(CO)]$, which was prepared from $[LW^{II}(\eta^2-MeCN)(S_2PPh_2-S)(CO)]$ and propylene sulfide. The analogous $[LW^{IV}(O)(S_2PPh_2-S)-(CO)]$ was obtained via the oxidation of $[LW^{II}(S_2PPh_2-S)(CO)_2]$ pyridine N-oxide.¹⁵³

The reaction of $[WOCl_2(PMe_3)_2]$ with potassium *O*-alkyl xanthates, KS₂COR (R = ME, Et, *i*-Pr) in tetrahydrofuran gave $[WO\{S_2C(PMe_3)OR-S,S'\}(S_2COR-S,S',C)]$. The zwitterionic ligands, ROC⁻(⁺PMe_3)S⁻₂ are formed by nucleophilic attack of triphenylphosphine on the carbon atom of the CS₂ moiety. Two isomers were found in solution (Figure 20) and the structure of isomer A was determined for the molybdenum analog (R = *i*-Pr).¹⁵⁵

Reduction of the 2,6-diphenylphenoxide complex $[W(OC_6H_3-2,6-Ph_2)_2Cl_4]$ by sodium amalgam in hydrocarbon solvent gave the tungsten(IV) complex $[W(OC_6H_3Ph-C_6H_4-O,C)(PMePh_2)_2]$ featuring two cyclometallated 2,6-diphenylphenoxide ligands with mutually *trans* oxygen atoms and *cis* PMePh₂ ligands.¹⁵⁶ Treatment of this compound with pyridine afforded isostructural $[W(OC_6H_3Ph-C_6H_4-O,C)(py)_2]$ by replacement of PMePh₂.¹⁵⁷

The oxocyano tungsten(IV) complex $(PPh_4)_2[WO(CN)_3(ensal)]$ (ensal = *N*-salicylideneethylenediaminonato) resulted from reaction between $K_3Na[W(CN)_3O_2] \cdot 6H_2O$, salicylaldehyde and ethylenediamine.¹⁵⁸

4.8.4.3 W^{IV} Compounds Lacking Coordination of Halogen and Chalcogen

4.8.4.3.1 Complexes containing nitrogen and phosphorus

 $[W(NPh)\{o-(Me_3SiN)_2C_6H_4\}(p-CH_3C_5H_4N)_2] \text{ was prepared by the reaction of } [W(NPh)(\eta^4-C_6H_5-n-Pr)\{o-(Me_3SiN)_2C_6H_4\}] \text{ and } 4\text{-picoline. The reduction of } [W(NPh)Cl_2(Me_3SiN)_2C_6H_4\}] \text{ by sodium in the presence of } 4\text{-picoline gave the same product. This square pyramidal } 5\text{-coordinate compound reacted with CO in toluene to form octahedral } 6\text{-coordinate } trans-[W(NPh) \{o-(Me_3SiN)_2C_6H_4\}(p-CH_3C_5H_4N)_2(CO)]. }^{159}$

Treatment of $[W(PMe_3)_3H_6]$ with Bu^nLi , NaH or KH gave $[W(PMe_3)_3H_5M]$ (M = Li, Na (15-crown-5) or K(18-crown-6)). The tetranuclear compound $[W(PMe_3)_3H_5Li]_4$ (with bridging by



Figure 20 Two isomers of $[WO{S_2C(PMe_3)OR-S,S'}(S_2COR-S,S',C)]$ (R = ME, Et, *i*-Pr).

lithium ion) and the mononuclear compounds $[Na(15\text{-}crown-5)][W(PMe_3)H_5]$ and $[K(18\text{-}crown-6)][W(PMe_3)H_5]$ were characterized crystallographically. The hydride ligands in the latter salts interacted weakly with K^+ and Na^+ ions in the crystal.^{160,161}

4.8.4.3.2 CO complexes

The dicarbonylamidotungsten(II) complexes $[Tp'(CO)_2W(NHR)]$ (Tp' = hydrotris(3,5-dimethylpyrazoyl)borate; R = Bu^t, Ph) were oxidized by I₂ or trityl hexafluorophosphate to the cationic nitrene tungsten(IV) complex $[Tp'(CO)_2W(NR)]^{+.162}$ The related carbene compound $[Tp'(CO)_2W{=-C(Ph)Me}]^+$ with β -agostic interaction has been reported.¹⁶³ Treatment of the amido complex $[Tp'(CO)_2W^{II}{N(H)Ts}]$ (Ts = tosyl) with AgOTf or I₂ yielded the tosylnitrene complexes $[Tp'(CO)_2W^{IV}(NTs)][X]$ (X = OTf, I₃). These reacted with trimethylphosphine to give the phosphinimine TsN=PMe₃, $[Tp'(CO)_2W(PMe_3)_2]X$ and $[Tp'(CO)_2(PMe_3)W(NTs)]X$.¹⁶⁴

4.8.4.3.3 [W(CN)₈]⁴⁻ salts

 $\begin{bmatrix} W^{IV}(CN)_8 \end{bmatrix}^{4-} \text{ is used as a building block for the construction of oligomeric or polymeric structure. Polymeric [(MeSn)_4W(CN)_8] was formed in a straightforward way by the reaction of K[W(CN_8)] and 4 equiv. of Me_3SnCl.^{165} The hexanuclear complex [{Mn(bpy)_2}_2 (\mu-NC)_2{W(CN)_6}_2(\mu-CN)_2{Mn(bpy)_2}_2] was prepared by the addition of [Mn(bpy)_2Cl_2]·2H_2O·EtOH to K_4[W(CN)_8]·2H_2O in an aqueous medium.^{166} \end{bmatrix}$

4.8.5 THE CHEMISTRY OF W^{III}

Many tungsten(III) complexes have been reported as W–W triple-bonded derivatives, which are described in Chapter 4.9. The other compounds are discussed here, including dimeric tungsten (III) complexes containing bridging ligands are described.

4.8.5.1 W^{III} Halides and Derivatives

Tungsten(III) fluoride K_3WF_6 was obtained as a mixture with K_3WF_6 and K_2WF_7 by the reduction of K_3WF_8 with tungsten metal.⁸⁴

The monomeric tungsten(III) anion $[(HBpz_3)WCl_3]^-$ was prepared by chemical (hydrazine) or electrochemical reduction of $[(HBpz_3)W^{IV}Cl_3]$ (prepared from $(Et_4N)[(HBpz_3)W(CO)_3]$ and thio-nyl chloride). A mixed cation salt $(NH_4)_{0.5}(Et_4N)_{0.5}[HBpz_3)WCl_3]$ was isolated and the structure was determined.¹⁶⁷

Halogen-bridged dinuclear tungsten(III) complexes containing the PMe₂Ph ligand have been isolated. The reduction of WCl₄ by 1 equiv. of reducing agent (sodium amalgam or NaB(C₂H₅)₃H) in toluene followed by the addition of excess PMe₂Ph produced [(PMe₂Ph)₂Cl₂W(μ -Cl)₂WCl₂(PMe₂Ph)₂]. When 1 equiv. of reducing agent and 1.5 equiv. of PMe₂Ph were used, [(PMe₂Ph)₂ClW(μ -Cl)₃WCl₂(PMe₂Ph)] was obtained. The analogous bromide complex [(PMe₂Ph)₂BrW(μ -Br)₃WBr₂(PMe₂Ph)] was obtained by the reduction of WBr₅ with 2 equiv. of reducing agent followed by 1.5 equiv. of PMe₂Ph.

Monomeric $[WCl_3(PMe_2Ph)_3]$ was synthesized by the comproportionation reaction between equimolar WCl_4L_2 (L = PMe_2Ph) and *trans*- WCl_2L_4 . The stable *mer*-isomer was obtained as major product with the *fac*-isomer being isolated from the mother liquor as minor product. The *mer* to *fac* isomerization was catalyzed by WCl_4L_2 but not by WCl_2L_4 . Photolysis of a mixture of $[WCl_3(PMe_2Ph)]_2$ in the presence of excess PMe_2Ph completely converted the dimer to *mer*- $[WCl_3(PMe_2Ph)_3]$. The reverse conversion was not successful.¹⁶⁹

The reaction of $[W(N_2)(dpe)_2]$ (dpe = 1,2-bis(diphenylphosphino)ethane) with HFeCo(CO)₁₂ in water-tetrahydrofuran formed $[W(OH)(NNH_2)(dpe)_2]$ [FeCo₃(CO)₁₂]. The anion could be exchanged by suitable anions to give the hydroxo compounds $[W(OH)(NNH_2)(dpe)_2](X)$ (X = BPh₄, PF₆, BF₄). When the reaction between $[W(N_2)(dpe)_2]$ and HFeCo(CO)₁₂ was performed in dichloromethane, $[WCl_2(dpe)]$ [FeCo₃(CO)₁₂], lacking an hydrazido ligand, was obtained. Anion-exchange yielded $[W^{III}Cl_2(dpe)_2]BF_4 \cdot 1/3(CH_2Cl_2)$ whose structure was

determined by X-ray analysis. The condensation reaction of $[W(OH)(NNH_2)(dpe)_2]PF_6$ and acetone in the presence of a catalytic amount of $HFeCo(CO)_{12}$ proceeded readily to form $[W(OH)(NNCMe_2)(dpe)_2]PF_6$.¹⁷⁰

The alkylation of $[WCl_4(dme)]$ (DME = 1,2-dimethoxyethane) using MesMgBr (Mes = 2,4,6-(CH₃)₃C₆H₃) under nitrogen atmosphere resulted in the intermediate formation of a red solid, which was then extracted with toluene to give a green crystalline material that was characterized as the dimeric compound shown in Scheme 16. Stepwise elongation using controlled stoichiometry successfully produced the tetranuclear compound.¹⁷¹



Scheme 16

The tungsten(II) complex $[WCl_2(PMe_3)_4]$ reacted with SPMe₃ at 80 °C to give dinuclear complex $[W_2(\mu-S)(\mu-Cl)Cl_3(PMe_3)_5]$, which was also obtained by the reaction between $[WCl_2(PMe_3)_4]$ and $[W(S)Cl_2(PMe_3)_2]$.¹⁷²

4.8.5.2 W^{III} Thiolates and Derivatives

The tungsten(III) thiolate compound $(Et_4N)[W^{III}(CO)_2(S_2C_2Me_2)_2]$ was synthesized by the redox reaction between $(Et_4N)_2[W^{IV}(CO)_2(S_2C_2Me_2)_2]$ and $[W^{II}(CO)_2(S_2C_2Me_2)_2]$. This reaction occurred instantly and the structure of the product was determined by X-ray analysis.¹³⁰

4.8.6 THE CHEMISTRY OF W^{II}

4.8.6.1 W^{II} Complexes Lacking CO Ligands

4.8.6.1.1 NO⁺ complexes

Synthesis of the formally $16e^{-1}$ species W(NO)LXY (L = tris(3,5-dimethylpyrazolyl)borate; X, Y = monoanionic ligand) was reviewed in 1983.¹⁷³ Diastereoisomers of [W(NO)LCl(G_f)] (HG_f = 1,3:5,6-di-*O*-isopropylidene-D-glucofuranase) were generated.¹⁷⁴ The thermodynamically stable isomer exhibits S absolute configuration at the W atom.

The reaction of $[W(NO)LCl_2]$ (L = hydrotris(3,5-dimethylpyrazol-1-yl) with excess 2-aminopyridine in the presence of NaH yielded $[W(NO)L(2-NHC_5H_4N)_2]$ while, due to the difference in reduction potential, similar reactions with molybdenum derivatives afforded the paramagnetic complex $[Mo(NO)L(2-NHC_5H_4N)_2]^+$.¹⁷⁵ $[W(SBu^t)_3(NO)(py)]$ was synthesized by the reaction of $[W(OBu^t)_3(NO)(py)]$ and excess Bu^tSH in toluene. The molecular structure showed trigonal bipyramidal geometry with py and NO⁺ ligands in the axial positions. The linear W—NO bond indicated NO⁺ coordination and an oxidation state of +2. The NO stretching mode $\nu(NO)$ was

found at 1,604 cm⁻¹.¹⁷⁶ [W(NO)LI₂] reacted with NEt₃ and 1,4-dihydroxybenzene and the resulting product separated by column chromatography to give *anti,syn*-[W(NO)L(1,4-O₂C₆H₄)]₃ in 11% yield.^{177,178} Analogous reactions using various diols gave cyclic compounds. In the purification process, an unanticipated dimeric compound [W(L)(NO)(OC₆H₄NO₂-4-CH₂CH₂O-3)]₂ was isolated and characterized by X-ray analysis.¹⁷⁹

The electrochemical properties of mononuclear species W(NO)LXY and various binuclear forms have been examined. Mononuclear W forms undergo $1e^{-1}$ reduction at potentials about 0.45 V more cathodic than those of the Mo analogues.^{180,181} Binuclear species featuring bridging *p*-diphenyl ligands such as [HN-C₆H₄-NH]²⁻ exhibited two $1e^{-1}$ reductions steps separated by up to 138 mV, indicative of weak interactions mediated by the bridging ligand.¹⁸²

Linking of donors such as ferrocenyl, OMe or NMe_2 to a $\{W(NO)LX\}^{2+}$ acceptor via azo or stilbene groups has produced interesting nonlinear optical effects.^{183,184}

The tetranuclear alkoxide cluster $[W_4(OCH_2-i-Pr)_{12}]^{185}$ reacted with NO to produce the dimeric compound $[W(\mu-OCH_2-i-Pr) (OCH_2-i-Pr)_2(NO)(py)]_2$. The value of $\nu(NO)$ was 1,568 cm⁻¹ and a short W—NO distance (1.75(1) Å) indicated extensive Wd π -to-NO π^* back-bonding.⁷²

4.8.6.1.2 Complexes lacking CO and NO⁺ Ligands

The tungsten(II) complex [W(PMe₃)(CNBu^t)₂(η^2 -Te₂)] was prepared by the treatment of *trans*-[W^{IV}(PMe₃)₄Te₂] in benzene with excess Bu^tCN. The coupling of two tellurido ligands to an η^2 -ditellurido moiety proceeds as shown Scheme 14.²⁸ The reaction of [WH(tipt)₃(PMe₂Ph)₂] (tipt = SC₆H₃Prⁱ₃-2,4,6) with MeNC in THF yielded *cis*-[W(tipt)₂(CNMe)₄].¹⁸⁶

4.8.6.2 W^{II} Halides with CO Ligands

The dimeric halo carbonyl tungsten(II) compounds [{WBr(CO)₄}₂(μ -Br)₂] and [(CO)₄W(μ -Br)₃WBr(CO)₃] were obtained by the reaction of [W(CO)₆] with Br₂ in dichloromethane at low temperature. The structural variation was induced by filtration through Celite, which was accompanied by copious evolution of CO gas.¹⁸⁷ The reaction of tungsten hexacarbonyl W(CO)₆ with antimony(V) fluoride SbF₅ in the conjugate Brønsted-Lewis superacid HF-SbF₅ afforded [W(CO)₆(FSbF₅)][Sb₂F₁₁] as the main product without any loss of CO.¹⁸⁸

4.8.6.2.1 Complexes containing chalcogen

The tungsten(II) dithiocarbamate complex $[W(CO)_3(S_2CNR_2)_2]$ (R = Me, Et, *i*-Pr) was prepared from $(Et_4N)[W(CO)_4I_3]$ by the improved route of oxidation of $(Et_4N)[W(CO)_5I]$ by elemental iodine. The reaction of $[W(CO)_3(S_2CNR_2)_2]$ and excess $(Et_4N)F \cdot 2H_2O$ gave $(Et_4N)[W$ $(CO)_3(S_2CNR_2)_2F]$. The structure of the molybdenum derivative (R = Et) was determined by X-ray analysis to be a capped trigonal prism. A similar reaction using stoichiometric PPN azide (PPN = bis(triphenylphosphine)nitrogen) yielded (PPN)[W(CO)_3(S_2CNR_2)_2N_3].¹⁸⁹

4.8.6.2.2 Complexes containing nitrogen group, isocyanido, and aryl ligands

 $[WI_2(CO)_3(NCMe)_2]$ was reacted with SbPh₃ in CH₂Cl₂ with PPh₂(C₆H₁₁) being added after 5 min. After 25 min the seven-coordinate complex $[WI_2(CO)_3\{PPh(C_6H_{11})_2\}(SbPh_3)]$ was obtained. A solution in a mixture of CH₂Cl₂ and diethyl ether deposited single crystals of the disproportionated product $[PPh_2(C_6H_{11})H][WI_3(CO)_3 (SbPh_3)]$ over a period of two months. The structure exhibited an approximate capped octahedral geometry.¹⁹⁰ The reaction of WBr₂(CO)₄ with triphenylphosphine initially produced the seven-coordinate 18-electron species $[WBr_2(CO)_3(PPh_3)_2]$, which was converted to the 16-electron compound $[WBr_2(CO)_2(PPh_3)_2]$ by refluxing for 3d in dichloromethane.¹⁹¹

The addition of TlPF₆ to an acetonitrile solution of $[W(bpy)(PMe_3)_2Cl_2]$ produced $[W(bpy)(PMe_3)_2Cl(\eta^2-NCCH_3)](PF_6)$ as shown in Figure 21. The acetonitrile molecule is highly nonlinear (129.6°) with a long C—N bond (1.26 Å) and acts as a four-electron donor.¹⁹² The seven-coordinate isocyanide tungsten(II) complex $[WCl_2(CNBu^t) (CO)(PMe_3)_3]$ was synthesized



Figure 21 Schematic drawing of $[W(bpy)(PMe_3)_2Cl(\eta^2-NCCH_3)](PF_6)$.

by the reaction of $[WCl_2(CO)_2(PMe_3)_2]$ with CNBu^t at room temperature in the presence of 1 equiv. of PMe₃. When the reaction was carried out at low temperature without PMe₃, another compound $[WCl_2(CNBu^t)(CO)_2(PMe_3)_2]$ was obtained in 90% yield.¹⁹³ Previously, seven-coordinate tungsten(II) iodocarbonylisocyanide complexes have been characterized structurally. $[W(CO)_2I_2(t-BuNC)]$ exhibits the C_s 4:3 tetragonal base-trigonal cap piano-stool structure. $[W(CO)I_2(t-BuNC)_4]$ shows capped-octahedral geometry.¹⁹⁴ The seven-coordinate aryl-Schiff base-amine tungsten(II) complex $[W(CO)_3Cl(2-C_6H_4-CH=N-2-C_6H_4NH_2-C,N,N')]$ associates with γ -valerolactam by intermolecular NH · · · Cl hydrogen bonds in solution and in the crystal.¹⁹⁵

Addition of HBF₄·Et₂O to a solution of $[W(CO)_3(PCy_3)_2]$ in toluene- d_8 yielded $[W(H)(BF_4)(CO)_3(PCy_3)_2]$. The BF₄⁻ anion acts an η^1 ligand to W. The hydride ligand was not detected by X-ray analysis because of the disordered CO group but was established by ¹H and ³¹P NMR.¹⁹⁶

When the Schiff base tungsten(0) compound *mer*-[W(CO)(L)] (L = Ph₂PC₆H₄CHNC₆H₄PPh₂; Scheme 17) was exposed to HCl gas, it converted to *cis*-[W^{II}Cl₂(CO)₂(L')] (L' = Ph₂PC₆H₄CH₂NHC₆H₄PPh₂) as the final product. The π -iminium intermediate, i.e., the protonated complex *mer*-[W(CO)₃(LH)]BF₄, and the final product were both characterized structurally. In this reaction, the metal center has undergone a two-electron oxidation (W⁰ to W^{II}) and the original imine bond has been reduced to a secondary amine, as indicated by X-ray analysis and spectroscopic measurements.¹⁹⁷



Scheme 17

The reaction of tertiary phosphines (PR₃) and organic azides (R'N₃) is known to proceed via a reactive intermediate, R'NNNPR₃, which decomposes in a bimolecular process to dinitrogen and the corresponding phosphoramine (R'N=PR₃). The reactive intermediate is stabilized in the tungsten complex. The reaction of R'N₃ (R'=Ph, *p*-CH₃C₆H₄) with [WBr₂(CO)₃(PPh₃)₂] in dichloromethane at RT afforded [WBr₂(CO)₃(R'N₃PPh₃)], N₂ and R'N=PPh₃. The molecule [WBr₂(CO)₃(*p*-CH₃C₆H₄N₃PPh₃)] exhibited capped octahedron geometry as shown in Figure 22.

The oxidation reaction of $[W([9]aneN_3)(CO)_3]$ ([9]aneN₃ = 1,4,7-triazacyclononane) with iodine followed by the addition of NaPF₆ gave $[W^{II}([9]aneN_3)(CO)_3I](PF_6)$. The structure of the analogous molybdenum complex $[Mo^{II}([9]aneN_3)(CO)_3Br](CIO_4)$ was determined by X-ray analysis. The starting material $[W([9]aneN_3)(CO)_3]$ was obtained via the reaction of $[W(CO)_6]$ and $[9]aneN_3$.¹⁹⁹ Analogous halocarbonyltungsten(II) complexes containing the tripodal tris(pyrazolyl)borate ligand $[LWX(CO)_3]$ (L = hydrotris(3,5-dimethylpyrazol-1-yl)borate; X = Br, I) were obtained by the oxidation of (NEt₄)[LW(CO)₃] with iodine or bromine in acetonitrile. In the



Figure 22 Molecular structure of $[WBr_2(CO)_3(p-CH_3C_6H_4N_3PPh_3)]$ where each bond order does not represent the real valence bond structure.

case of bromine, bromination of the ligand gave $[L^{Br}WBr(CO)_3]$ (L^{Br} = hydrotris(4-bromo-3,5-dimethylpyrazol-1-yl)borate) and $[LWBr(CO)_3]$ in a 1:1 ratio. $[LWBr(CO)_3]$ was also obtained from $(NEt_4)[L^{Br}W(CO)_3]$. $[L^{Br}BrW(CO)_3]$ converted to $[L^{Br}WBr(CO)_2]$ by heating in acetonitrile at 70 °C for 30 min and to $[L^{Br}BrW(MeCN)(CO)]$ by refluxing in acetonitrile for 1 h. The molecular structures of $[L^{Pr}WI(CO)_3]$ ·MeOH (L^{Pr} = hydrotris(3-isopropylpyrazol-1-yl)borate) and $[L^{Br}Br(CH_3CN)(CO)]$ have been determined by X-ray analysis (Figure 23). The acetonitrile molecule coordinates to W ion in side-on mode with a C—N bond length of 1.10(2) Å.²⁰⁰

The Schiff base ligand prepared from pentafluorobenzaldehyde and 1,2-diaminobenzene reacted with $[W(CO)_3(EtCN)]$ to give $[W^0(CO)_3(NH_2C_6H_4NCHC_6F_5-N,N')(EtCN)]$ immediately and then the metallacycle $[W^{II}F(CO)_3(NH_2C_6H_4NCHC_6F_4-N,N',C)]$ by cleavage of a C—F bond. The cleaved fluoride atom coordinated to tungsten ion.²⁰¹

4.8.6.3 W^{II} Chalcogenides with CO Ligands and the Related Compounds

4.8.6.3.1 Complexes containing phosphine ligands

Treatment of $[W^{IV}H{SC_6H_2(i-Pr)_3-2,4,6}_3(PMe_2Ph)_2]^{202}$ with CO led to loss of the thiolate and formation of $[W^{II}{SC_6H_2(i-Pr)_3-2,4,6}_2(CO)_2(PMe_2Ph)_2]$. Solid-state samples contained crystalline forms (green, 90%; red, 10%) of two isomers. ¹H NMR spectra also indicated fluxional isomers in solution. The determined structure (red) exhibited trigonal-prismatic geometry.²⁰³ The structure of the green compound was identified for the analogous $[W(SC_6H_2Me_3-2,4,6)_2(CO)_2(PMe_2Ph)_2]$, which exhibited a twisted (35°) trigonal prismatic or distorted octahedral geometry. A similar reaction of $[WH(SeC_6H_3Pr_2^i-2,6)_3(PMe_2Ph)_2]$ with CO afforded $[W(SeC_6H_3Pr_2^i-2,6)_2(CO)_2(PMe_2Ph)_2]$. The structure of the selenolate derivative is similar to that of the red isomer mentioned above, being close to a trigonal prism with the same twist angle of 12°.²⁰⁴ The reaction of $[WI_2(CO)_3L_2]$ ($L_2 = (PEt_3)_2$, (PPh₃)_2, Ph_2P(CH_2)_2PPh_2) with Na₂S₂R (S₂R²⁻ = C₃S₅²⁻ (4,5-disulfanyl-1,3-dithiole-2-thionate), mnt (maleonitriledithiolate) or H₂bdt (1,2-benzenedithiolate) gave the six-coordinate complexes $[W(S_2R)(CO)_2L_2]$.²⁰⁵ A similar reaction for $[WI_2(CO)_3(PEt_3)_2]$ with either 2 equiv. of NaSPh or 1 equiv. of Na₂[S(CH₂)_nS] (n=2,3) yielded analogous complexes $[W(SPh)_2(CO)_2(PEt_3)_2]$ and $[W{S(CH₂)_nS}(CO)_2(PEt_3)_2]$. The benzenethiolate complex exhibits octahedral geometry.²⁰⁶



Figure 23 Molecular structures of $[L^{Pr}W^{II}I(CO)_3]$ and $[L^{Br}W^{II}Br(CH_3CN)(CO)]$.

4.8.6.3.2 Complexes lacking phosphine ligands

The reaction between PySeSePy (2,2'-dipyridyl diselenide) and $[W(C_7H_8)(CO)_4]$ $(C_7H_8 = norbornadiene)$ yielded the seven-coordinate complex $[W^{II}{C_5H_4N(2-Se)-N,Se}_2(CO)_3]$.²⁰⁷ Oxidative addition of 2,2'-pyridine disulfide to $[L_3W(CO)_3]$ $(L_3 = (pyridine)_3, cycloheptatriene)$ in dichloromethane gave the seven-coordinate $[W(\eta^2-mp)_2(CO)_3]$ (mpH = 2-mercaptopyridine). This complex reacted with NO in the presence of additional pyridine disulfide to yield the seven-coordinate tungsten(II) nitrosyl complex $[W^{II}(\eta^2-mp)_3(NO)]$, as well as $[W(\eta^2-mp)_2(NO)_2]$ and a trace amount of $[W^{IV}(\eta^2-mp)_4]$.²⁰⁸

Oxidative decarbonylation of $(NEt_4)[LW(CO)_3]$ (L = hydrotris(3,5-dimethyl-1-pyrazoyl)borate) by tetraethylthiuram disulfide (S₂CNEt₂)₂ gave [LW^{II}(CO)₂(S₂CNEt₂)]. The seven-coordinate monomeric complex exhibited a distorted pentagonal bipyramidal structure with a carbonyl ligand and one nitrogen donor atom of the L occupying the axial positions.²⁰⁹ The related hydrotris(3,5-dimethyl-1-pyrazoyl)borate tungsten(II) thiolate compounds [LW^{II}(CO)₂(SR)] (R = Me, Et, Prⁱ, CH₂Ph, *p*-C₆H₄NO₂) were synthesized by the reaction of [LW^{II}(CO)₂I] and the corresponding thiol or sodium thiolate. Metathesis of the thiolate complexes was possible by thiolate exchange reactions using the sodium thiolates. The starting material [LW^{II}(CO)₂I] was prepared from [LW^{II}(CO)₃I] by reflux in THF for 20 h.²¹⁰ When the latter was refluxed in acetonitrile, the η^2 -acetonitrile complex [LW^{II}(η^2 -MeCN)(CO)I] was obtained. This reacted with (NH₄)[S₂PR*₂] (R* = (-)-mentholate) to give air-stable [LW^{II}(S₂PR*₂-S)(η^2 -MeCN)(CO)] as an 8:1 diastereomeric mixture. The structure of the (*R*)-isomer was determined by X-ray analysis.¹⁵³ (μ -Thio)ditungsten(II) complexes [{LW(CO)₂}₂(μ -S)] (L = hydrotris(3,5-dimethyl-1-pyrazoyl) borate, hydrotris(3-isopropyl-1-pyrazoyl)borate) were synthesized by the reaction of [{HB(Me₂pz)₃}WBr(CO)₂] or [LWH(CO)₃] with propylene sulfide in refluxing 1,2-dichloroethane. The W–S–W angles (171.6(1)°, 175.3(1)°) are nearly linear suggesting multiple bond character which is consistent with the short W–S bonds (2.173–2.184Å).²¹¹

The tungsten(0) complex [W(CO)₃(phen)(EtCN)] underwent oxidative addition with disulfides forming [W(CO)₂(phen)(SR)₂] (R = Ph, CH₂Ph, Me, ¹Bu). The rate of the reaction was in the order Ph > CH₂Ph > Me >> ¹Bu. [W(CO)₂(phen)(SPh)₂] reacted with P(OMe)₃ to give [W(CO){P(OMe)₃}(phen)(SPh)₂]. The structures of [W(CO)₂(phen)(SPh)₂] and [W(CO)-{P(OMe)₃}(phen)(SPh)₂] were determined by X-ray analysis. These molecules exhibit octahedral geometry with the two thiolate ligands in the axial positions.²¹² Treatment of [W(CO)₂(phen)(SPh)₂] or [W(CO){P(OMe)₃}(phen)(SPh)₂] with SO₂ gave a tungsten(II) sulfur dioxide complex [W(CO)(phen)(SPh)₂(η^2 -SO₂)]. The distance (1.588(14) Å) between the coordinated S and O atoms is long indicating the coordination is expressed as oxidative addition. The activated S—O bond is cleaved to afford the dioxotungsten(VI) compound as shown in Scheme 4.⁷¹

The bis(carbonyl)-bis(dithiolene) tungsten(II) complex $(Et_4N)_2[W^{II}(CO)_2(S_2C_2Me_2)_2]$ was synthesized by reduction of $[W^{IV}(CO)_2(S_2C_2Me_2)_2]$ with K(anthracene) in THF followed by addition of Et_4NCl .¹³⁰

The tungsten carbyne complex $[Cl(CO)_2(py)_2W(\equiv CPh)]$ reacted with $(H_2NEt_2)[S_2CNEt_2]$ to yield a neutral thioaldehyde compound $[(Et_2NCS_2)(Et_2NCS-C,S)W^{II}(CO)(PhCHS-C,S)]$. This η^2 -PhCHS tungsten(II) complex can also be formulated as a metallacycle tungsten(IV) complex analogous to η^2 -aldehyde and η^2 -ketone compounds.²⁷ The thioaldehyde ligand was generated by cleavage of a diethyldithiocarbamate ligand to diethylthiocarboxamide and sulfide.

4.8.6.4 W^{II}-CO Complexes Lacking Halogen and Chalcogen

A series of tungsten(II) phosphine complexes $[Tp'W(CO)_3L](PF_6)$ (Tp' = hydrotris(3,5-dimethyl-1pyrazoyl)borate, $L = PMe_3$, PEt₃, PPh₃, PMe₂Ph) were synthesized by oxidation of the Tp'W(CO)₃ radical with ferrocenium followed by addition of phosphine. The complexes $[Tp'W(CO)_3PMe_2R](PF_6)$ (R = Me, Ph) exhibit a capped octahedral geometry as shown in Figure 24.²¹³ Treatment of [Tp/W(CO)₂I] with ammonia in dichloromethane at low temperature afforded $[Tp'W(CO)_2(NH_2)]$. Methylation using lithium diisopropyl amide (LDA) or Bu^tLi and MeI gave structurally. $[Tp'W(CO)_2(NMe_2)],$ which was characterized The amido complex $[Tp'W(CO)_2(NH_2)]$ was with $[Ph_3C][PF_6]$ treated to produce nitrene products $[Tp'W(CO)_2(NR)](PF_6)$ (R = H, CPh₃) in a 4:1 ratio. The former reacted with base (KH, LDA or NEt₃) to yield the nitrido tungsten(IV) complex $[Tp'W(CO)_2(\equiv N)]$. Treatment of this complex with MeOTf and CH₃COCl gave $[Tp'(CO)_2W(NMe)]^+$ and $[Tp'WCl{NC(O)CH_3}]$, respectively.²¹⁴ Heating the tricarbonyl hydride complex $[Tp'WH(CO)_3]$ and tosyl azide TsN₃ in THF



Figure 24 Capped octahedral geometry in $[Tp'W(CO)_3PMe_2R](PF_6)$ (R = Me, Ph).

produced the tosylamido complex $[Tp'W^{II}(CO)_2\{N(H)Ts\}]$.¹⁶⁴ The related reactions are described in Section 4.8.4.3.2. The photolysis of $[Tp'WH(CO)_3]$ in the presence of PhCH₂CN afforded an azavinylidene complex $[Tp'W^{II}(N=CHCH_2Ph)(CO)_2]$ via insertion of nitrile into the W—H bond. Analogous compounds were prepared in a similar manner. The neutral compounds $[Tp'W^{II}(N=CHR)(CO)_2]$ (R = Me, Et, CH₂Ph) were treated with HBF₄ at low temperature to give cationic nitrene compounds $[Tp'W^{IV}(=NCH_2R)(CO)_2](BF_4)$. When $(Ph_3C)(PF_6)$ was used instead by HBF₄, $[Tp'W^{IV}(=NCH(R)CPh_3)(CO)_2](PF_6)$ was obtained.²¹⁵ The reaction between $[Tp'W(CO)_3Br]$ and NaS-*i*-Pr in acetonitrile produced the dimeric compound $[\{Tp'W(CO)_2\}_2$ $\{\mu$ -NC(Me)C(Me)N-N:N'\}] which features a bridging *anti*-butane-2,3-diimino-(2-)-N:N' ligand produced by the coupling of two acetonitrile molecules.²¹⁶

The reaction of *trans*-[W(CO)(N₂)(dppe)] (dppe = Ph₂PCH₂CH₂PPh₂) with excess MeOH or HNR₂ (R₂ = (CH₂)₄, (CH₂)₅, (CH₂)₂O(CH₂)₂) under CO₂ afforded the hydrido–carbonato complex [W^{II}H(η^1 -OCO₂Me)(CO)(dppe)₂] or hydrido–carbamato complexes [W^{II}H(η^2 -O₂CNR₂)(CO)(η^1 -dppe)(η^2 -dppe)], respectively. The structures of [WH(η^1 -OCO₂Me)(CO)(dppe)₂] and [WH(η^2 -O₂CNC₄H₈)(CO)(η^1 -dppe)(η^2 -dppe)] were determined by X-ray analysis but the hydride ligands were not located. Treatment of the latter compound with 1 equiv. of AlEt₃ in THF under CO₂ afforded *trans*-[W(CO)(η^2 -CO₂-C,O)(dppe)].²¹⁷

The reaction between K_3P_7 , 2,2,2-crypt and $[\{C_6H_3(CH_3)_3\}W(CO)_3]$ in ethylenediamine (en) formed $[(\eta^4-P_7)W(CO)_3]^{3-}$ species and the subsequent following addition of Et_4NBr gave $[K(2,2,2-crypt)]_2[((\eta^4-EtP_7)W(CO)_3] \cdot en.$ Schematic drawings of these anions are shown in Figure 25 (a)–(c). The P–P bonds rearranged in the formation of the complex. The oxidation state of the tungsten center was considered to be 2+ formally.²¹⁸ NO complexes show ambiguous metal oxidation states. Linear W–NO bond has been formulated as W–NO⁺ species, analogous to W–CO. Some bent NO complexes have been formulated as M–NO⁻ complexes.^{219,220} According this classification, the bent W–NO (W–N–O=156(2)°, 160(2)°, two disordered positions) complex [W(CO)_3 (NO)(C_{24}H_{27}N_5)](BF_4) should be classified as W^{II}–NO⁻. However, ν (NO) was found at 1,670 cm⁻¹, which is common for W⁰–NO⁺ complexes. In this complex, the contribution of W⁰–NO⁺ is large.²²¹

Bismuthine (MeSi)₂CHBiCl₂ was treated with Na₂[W(CO)₅] to afford [{W(CO)₅}₃(μ_3 - η^2 -Bi₂)] and [W₂(CO)₈(μ - η^2 -Bi₂)(μ -BiMe)W(CO)₅]. The structures of these compounds are shown in Figure 26. The latter complex features a Bi₂ moiety bridging two tungsten ions. If the Bi—Bi bond is a single bond, the formal oxidation state of tungsten is +2. However, the Bi—Bi distance



Figure 25 Schematic drawing of (a) P_7^{3-} , (b) $[(\eta^4 - P_7)W(CO)_3]^{3-}$, (c) $[(\eta^4 - EtP_7)W(CO)_3]^{2-}$ and (d) $[(\eta^2 - HP_7)W(CO)_4]^{2-}$.



(**b**)



Figure 26 Schematic drawing of (a) [{W(CO)₅}₃(μ_3 - η^2 -Bi₂)] and (b) [W₂(CO)₈(μ - η^2 -Bi₂)(μ -BiMe)W(CO)₅].

(2.795(3) Å) is short and corresponds to a bond order of approximately 2. The actual oxidation state is considered to be between +1 and +2.^{222,223}

The terminal borylene complex $[(CO)_5W{=BN(SiMe_3)_2}]$ was obtained by the reaction between Na₂[W(CO)₅] and Br₂BN(SiMe_3)₂. The octahedral structure shows linear W–B–N (177.9(5)°) and short B–N bonds (1.338(8)Å).²²⁴

4.8.7 THE CHEMISTRY OF W^I

Tungsten(I) complexes are rare but are found as dimeric compounds or as reactive species generated by one-electron oxidation of 18-electron compounds.

Treatment of $(Me_3Si)_2CHSbCl_2$ with $Na_2[W(CO)_5]$ followed by purification using column chromatography gave the dimeric compounds $[W(CO)_5]_2\{\mu$ -SbCH $(SiMe_3)]_2$. The W—W distance is too long (4.907(1) Å) for a W—W single bond.²²³ The analogous reaction using $(Me_3Si)_2CH$ -BiCl₂ gave quite different results. The compounds isolated are described in Section 4.8.6.4.

The tungsten(0) complex $[W(CO)_3{P(i-Pr}_3)_2]$ reacted with diphenylsilane to give the dimeric compound $[{W^I(CO)_3[P(i-Pr}_3)]_2(\mu-SiHPh_2)_2]$, which contains W—H agostic interactions.²²⁵

The air- and light-sensitive but thermally stable monomeric tungsten(I) complex $[LW(CO)_3](PF_6)$ (L = 1,4,7-tribenzyl-1,4,7-triazacyclononane) was synthesized by the oxidation of $[LW(CO)_3]$ by $[Cp_2Fe^{III}]PF_6$. The structure of the molybdenum analogue $[LMo (CO)_3](PF_6)$ ·dmf is known (Figure 27(a)).²²⁶

Oxidative addition of disulfide (PhSSPh) or iodine into $[W(CO)_3{P(i-Pr}_3)_2]$ afforded tungsten(I) complexes $[W^I(CO)_3{P(i-Pr}_3)_2(X)]$ (X = SPh, I). The iodo example $[W^I(CO)_3{P(i-Pr}_3)_2I]$ was characterized structurally (Figure 27(b). The structure shows octahedral geometry without any intermolecular interactions in the solid state.¹²⁹

4.8.8 THE CHEMISTRY OF W⁰

An equilibrium between dihydrogen and dihydride forms in solution was observed by ¹H NMR for $[W(CO)_3{P(i-Pr)_3}(H_2)]$ in methylcyclohexane- d_{14} .²²⁷ Consequently, the formal oxidation state



(**b**)



Figure 27 Isolated mononuclear tungsten(I) complexes (a) $[LW(CO)_3](PF_6)$ (L = 1,4,7-tribenzyl-1,4,7-triazacyclononane) and (b) $[W^II(CO)_3\{P(i-Pr)_3\}_2]$.

is not determined exactly. This section includes some compounds formed by oxidative addition of ligand to tungsten(0) centers.

4.8.8.1 W⁰ Complexes Lacking CO Ligands

4.8.8.1.1 NO^+ complexes

As mentioned in Section 4.8.6.4, linear W—N—O coordination has been classified as a W—NO⁺ bond by an analogy with CO compounds. Use of NO⁺ salts is one of the most convenient methods for the introduction of NO⁺ ligand to low-valent tungsten compounds. The reaction of [W(PMe₂Ph)(CO)₅] with 1 equiv. of (NO)[SbF₆] in dichloromethane gave [W(PMe₂Ph)(CO)₃(NO)(η^1 -FSbF₅)], where the SbF₆⁻ anion is coordinated to W by an F atom in the position *trans* to the NO⁺ ligand.²²⁸ Similar reactions of [W(PMe₃)(CO)₅] with (NO)X (X = BF₄ or PF₆) gave the corresponding F-coordinated compounds [W(PMe₃)(CO)₃(NO)(η^1 -X)].²²⁹ *trans*, *trans*-[W(η^1 -FPF₅)(CO)₂(NO)(PPh₃)₂] was prepared in high yield by the reaction of [Ph₃C⁺][PF₆⁻] with *trans*, *trans*-[W(H)(CO)₂(NO)(PPh₃)₂].²³⁰ The weakly coordinated PF₆⁻ anion was replaced by methylhydrazine to give *trans*, *trans*-[W(NH₂NHMe)(CO)₂(NO)(PPh₃)₂](PF₆). The oxidation of the complex by Pb(OAc)₄ selectively occurred at the ligand to afford *trans*, *trans*-[W(NH=NMe)(CO)₂(NO)(PPh₃)₂] (R = Et, Me, Ph, OⁱPr) reacted with BH₃·L (L = THF, SMe₂) to yield air-sensitive *trans*-[W(η^2 -BH₄)(CO)(NO)(PR₃)₂]. In the case of R = Me, the molecular structure with octahedral geometry was determined by X-ray analysis.²³² The tungsten hydride *trans*, *trans*-[W(H)(CO)₂(NO)(PMe₃)₂] reduced β -diketotones selectively to β -hydroxyketones with concomitant formation of *trans*-[W(β -diketonate)(CO)(NO)(PMe₃)₂] in most cases. For example, *trans*-[W{CF₃(CO)CH-(CO)(CH₃-O,O'}(CO)(NO)(PMe₃)₂] was characterized by X-ray analysis.²³³



Scheme 18

 $[LW(CO)_2(NO)]PF_6$ (L = 1-thia-4,7-diazacyclononane) was obtained by the reaction of $[LW(CO)_3]$ with NaNO₂/HCl in water. Prolonged reaction using a source of excess NO⁺ gave the dinitrosylchloro compound $[LWCl(NO)_2]PF_6$. The molybdenum analogues have been characterized structurally.²³⁴

Mono- or disubstituted compounds were obtained from $HW_2(CO)_9(NO)$ and phosphine or pyridine derivatives. Two isomers exist for each compound, but one isomer only was isolated successfully by the column chromatography. $[(CO)_5W(\mu-H)W(CO)_3\{P(p-C_6H_4F)_3\}(NO)]$ and $[(CO)_5W(\mu-H)W(CO)_2L_2(NO)]$ ($L_2 = (py)_2$, $\{P(p-C_6H_4F)_3\}_2$, bipy) were characterized structurally. The latter complexes were also obtained from $HW_2(CO)_7(THF)_2(NO)$.²³⁵ When a sterically more bulky phosphine P^tBu₃ was used, other compounds were isolated. Treatment of $HW_2(CO)_7(THF)_2(NO)$ with $P(t-Bu)_3$ gave $HW_2(CO)_8\{P(t-Bu)_3\}(NO)$ (25%), $[HP(t-Bu)_3]_{(\mu+H)}W_2(CO)_{10}$] (10%) and $[HP(t-Bu)_3]_{(\mu-H)_2}W_3(CO)_{13}(NO)]$ (18.5%). The anion $[(\mu-H)_2W_3(CO)_{13}(NO)]^-$ was also obtained conveniently from the reaction of $HW_2(CO)_9(NO)$ and $[PPN][HW(CO)_5]$ ($PPN^+ = (Ph_3P)_2N^+$). This trinuclear compound reacted with the nucleophile PMe₃ to afford $[HP(t-Bu)_3]_{(\mu-H)_2}W_3(CO)_{12}(PMe_3)(NO)]$ as shown Figure 28.²³⁶

The reaction of gaseous NO with $[W^{II}(phen)(CO)_2(SPh)_2]$ gave $[W^{0}(phen)(NO)(CO)_2(SPh)]$ and PhSNO where NO is *trans* to the SPh ligand. When the toluene-3,4-dithiolate *cis*-[W(phen) (CO)_2(S_2C_6H_3CH_3)] was used, the dinitrosyl compound *cis*-[W(phen)(NO)_2(S_2C_6H_3CH_3)] was obtained. [W(phen)(CO)_3(EtCN)] was combined with RSH (R = t-Bu, Ph) to give the thiol adduct



Figure 28 Anion part of $[HP(t-Bu)_3][(\mu-H)_2W_3(CO)_{12}(PMe_3)(NO)]$. Hydride atoms were not determined by X-ray analysis but ¹H NMR spectra suggest the presence of two bridging H atoms each site between two W atoms.

[W(phen)(CO)₃(*t*-BuSH)] or the thiolate hydride [W(phen)(CO)₃(SPh)(H)]. This latter compound reacted with NO to yield [W(phen)(NO)(CO)₂(SPh)] and HNO, which decomposed to detectable N₂O and HNO₂.²³⁷ The analogous compound [W(η^2 -mp)₂(CO)₃] (mpH = 2-mercaptopyridine) reacted with NO to afford the dinitrosyl [W(η^2 -mp)₂(NO)₂].²⁰⁸

4.8.8.1.2 Complexes lacking CO and NO⁺ ligands

The dinitrogen complexes *cis*-[W(N₂)₂(Ph₂PCH₂PPh₂)₂] and *trans*-[W(N₂)₂(Ph₂PCH=CHPPh₂)₂] were obtained by the reduction of, respectively, WCl₆ and [WCl₄(Ph₂PCH=CHPPh₂)] by Mg under N₂ in the presence of the corresponding phosphine. The structure of the analogous monomeric complex *cis*-[W(N₂)₂(PMe₂Ph)₄] was determined by X-ray analysis.²³⁸ The reaction of *trans*-[W(N₂)₂(dppe)₂] (dppe = 1,2-bis(diphenylphosphino)ethane) with 1,4-diisocyanobenzene or 4-isocyanobenzonitrile under irradiation afforded isostructural *cis*-[(CNC₆H₄NC)₂W(dppe)₂] or *cis*-[(NCC₆H₄NC)₂W(dppe)₂], respectively. The isocyanide ligands exhibit bent C—N—C bond (mean, 139°), long C—N bonds (mean, 1.30 Å) and short W—C bonds (mean, 1.86 Å) which indicate substantial back-donation from the electron-saturated tungsten atom.²³⁹

 $[W(tmbp)_3]$ (tmbp=4,4',5,5'-tetramethyl-2,2'-biphosphinine) was obtained by the reduction of WCl₆ by excess magnesium powder in the presence of 3 equiv. of the ligand. The molecular structure with trigonal geometry is shown in Figure 29. The twist angle θ is calculated to be $15 \pm 0.6^{\circ}$. Octahedral geometry ($\theta = 60^{\circ}$) is usual for tungsten(0) compounds. The results of an *ab initio* calculation suggested a contribution from the partially oxidized state $[W^{n}{(tmpy)_{3}^{n-}}]^{.240}$

4.8.8.2 W⁰ Halides with CO Ligands

The addition of $W(CO)_5$ THF to 1 equiv. of anhydrous Et_4NF in THF resulted in the insoluble product $(Et_4N)_3[W_2(CO)_6(\mu-F)_3]$, which has been characterized structurally. The reaction of this dinuclear complex with excess CO produced the unstable anion $[W(CO)_5F]^-$ with labile CO



Figure 29 Molecular structure of [W(tmbp)₃] with a triginal prismatic geometry.



(**b**)

Figure 30 The structure of the cation part in (a) $[W(CO)_4(\eta^3-Te_3)](SbF_6)_2$ and (b) $[W_2(CO)_{10}Se_4](AsF_6)_2$.

ligands This complex converted easily back to the dimeric compound in the absence of CO or to $W(CO)_6$ with prolonged exposure to $CO.^{241} [W(CO)_5I]^-$ ion was generated easily by very simple reaction between $W(CO)_6$ and LiI·Et₂O. The structure of [Li(dime)₂][W(CO)₅I] (dime = diethylene glycol dimethyl ether) was determined.²⁴²

4.8.8.3 W⁰ Chalcogenides with CO Ligands and Related Compounds

4.8.8.3.1 Complexes containing tellurium and selenium

(a)

The reaction of Te₄(SbF₆)₂ with W(CO)₆ in SO₂–AsF₃ produced [W(CO)₄(η^3 -Te₃)](SbF₆)₂ having a triangular Te₃²⁺ moiety. The molecular structure exhibits 'piano stool' geometry as shown in Figure 30 (a).²⁴³ Anionic polytelluride K₂Te₄ reacted with W(CO)₆ to afford (Ph₄P)₂[(CO)₄W(η^2 -Te₄)] containing a five-membered chelate ring involving Te₄²⁻.²⁴⁴ The iron telluroether compound [(Ph₂Te)Fe^{II}(CO)₃I₂] transferred the coordinated telluroether to W(CO)₅THF. The resultant [(Ph₂Te)W(CO)₅] exhibited octahedral geometry.²⁴⁵ The tellurophosphorane complex [W(CO)₅{(*t*-Bu)₃PTe}] was synthesized by photolysis in the presence of (*t*-Bu)₃P=Te.²⁴⁶

In the case of selenium, the chemistry is slightly different. The reaction of $\text{Se}_4(\text{AsF}_6)_2$ or $\text{Se}_8(\text{AsF}_6)_2$ with W(CO)₆ in liquid SO₂ gave the diamagnetic product [W₂(CO)₁₀Se₄](AsF₆)₂. The structure indicated μ -Se₄⁺ coordination as shown in Figure 30(b). The shorter Se—Se bond lengths (2.286(2)Å) are close to the value of 2.19Å found for gaseous Se₂. The longer Se—Se bonds (3.015(2)Å) suggest that the complex may be formulated as dimeric [W(CO)₅(η^2 -Se⁺)].²⁴⁷

The reaction of $[W(CO)_4(TMPA)]$ (TMPA = N, N, N, N'-tetramethyl-1,3-propanediamine) with [8]aneSe₂ (1,5-diselenacyclooctane) yielded the *cis*-disubstituted tetracarbonyl compound $[W(CO)_4([8]aneSe_2)]$.²⁴⁸

4.8.8.3.2 Complexes containing sulfur

The reaction of $[W(CO)_3(NCMe)_3]$ with $P(i-Pr)_3$ followed by the addition of excess SO₂ gave *mer,trans*- $[W(CO)_3\{P(i-Pr)_3\}_2(\eta^1-SO_2-S)]$.²⁴⁹ Treatment of $[W(CO)_4\{PPh_2(CH_2)_2SCH_3\}]$ with $[(CH_3)_3O]BF_4$ resulted in methylation of the ligand sulfur to yield $[W(CO)_4\{\eta^2-PPh_2(CH_2)_2S(CH_3)_2-P,S\}]BF_4$. This compound reacted with donors L to form six-coordinate $[W(CO)_4(L)\{\eta^1-PPh_2(CH_2)_2S(CH_3)_2-P\}]BF_4$ (L = CO, P(OCH_3)_3, CH_3CN).²⁵⁰ The sulfide osmium cluster $[Os_5(CO)_{15}(\mu_4-S)]$ contains a square pyramidal Os₅ core and a quadruply bridging sulfido ligand. When this cluster reacted with $[W(CO)_5PPh_3]$, the apical sulfido ligand coordinated to the tungsten ion to yield $[Os_5(CO)_{15}(\mu_5-S)\{W(CO)_4(PPh_3)\}]$.²⁵¹ The tungsten(0) thiolate compound (Et₄N)[W(CO)₅(SPh)] (obtained by the reaction of $[W(CO)_5(thf)]$ with Et₄NSPh) converted slowly to $(Et_4N)[W(\mu-S)_2(CO)_8]$ upon gentle heating.²⁵² The tungsten(0) complex *mer*- $[W(CO)_3(dppe)(2,3-DHT)]$ (dppe = Ph₂PCH₂CH₂PPh₂; 2,3-DHT = 2,3-dihydrothiophene) was obtained by the reaction of 2,3-DHT and W(CO)_3(dppe)(thf) (prepared from W(CO)_4(dppe) by irradiation with 254-nm light).²⁵³ The insertion of COS to the W—O bond in (Et₄N)[W(CO)₅(SO)₄(OC)₅(SO)₄(OC)₄(OO)₄(OP)₄] as shown in Scheme 19.²⁵⁴

The cyclic polythioether complex $[W(CO)_4(L)]$ (L = 2,5,8,11-tetrathia[12](2,5)thiophenophane) was prepared by the reaction of $W(CO)_6$ and the ligand with irradiation. The ¹H NMR spectra of the complex show fluxional conformations and the derived molecular structure indicates coordination.²⁵⁵ η^2 -L-S⁵,S⁸ The trimethylphosphonium dithiocarboxylate compound $[W(CO)_2(PMe_3)_2(\eta^3-S_2CPMe_3-S,S',C)]$ obtained elimination is by HCl from $[WH(Cl)(CO)_2(PMe_3)_2]$ upon treatment with CS₂ and PMe₃. The complex was treated with the protic acid HBF₄ to afford the dithioformate species $[W{\eta^2-S_2C(H)PMe_3}(CO)_2(PMe_3)_2]BF_4$ and with MeI to yield the S-methylated compound $[W(CO)_2(PMe_3)_2\{\eta^3-SC(SMe)PMe_3-$ S,S',C{(CO)₂(PMe₃)₂]I.²⁵⁶ mer-(NMe₄)₂[W(CO)₃L] (L = η^3 -(S-(2-C₆H₄)₂PPh-S,S',P) was obtained by the reaction of $(NMe_4)[L]$ and $[W(CO)_3(CH_3CN)]$, which is prepared from $[W(CO)_6]$.¹⁴¹ The reaction of $[W(CO)_5(NCMe)]$ with $2(R)_3(S)$ -dimethylthiirane (*cis*-DMT=SC₂H₂Me₂)) afforded $[W(CO)_5(\eta^1 - cis - DMT - S)]$. When excess thiirane reacted with $[W(CO)_5(NCMe)]$, cyclic polysulfides $(CH_2CH_2SS)_n$ and ethylene were formed catalytically.²⁵⁷ In the case of vinylthiiranes, 3,6dihydro-1,2-dithiine (S₂C₄H₆) was obtained. The tungsten compound [W(CO)₅(η^1 -S₂C₄H₆-S)] was isolated and characterized structurally.²⁵⁸ The monoanion of 1,2-disubstituted benzene [PPN][HX] (PPN⁺ = bis(triphenylphosphoranylidene)ammonium, $X = S,S-C_6H_4$, O,S-C₆H₄, NH,S-C₆H₄) reacted with $[W(CO)_5(thf)]$ to afford $[PPN][W(CO)_5HX]$, which were treated with NaOMe and PPNCl to produce $[PPN]_2[W(CO)_4(X)]$. The tetracarbonyl compounds were slowly converted to tricarbonyl complexes $[PPN]_2[W(CO)_3(X)]$ by bubbling argon into acetonitrile at 40 °C. $[PPN]_2[W(CO)_4(PH_2C_6H_4PH_2)]$ was prepared from $[W(CO)_4(piperidine)_2]$ and dishosphinobenzene. Trigonal bipyramidal structures for $[PPN][W(CO)_3(S,NH-C_6H_4)]$ and $[PPN][W(CO)_3(S,O-C_6H_4)]$ and octahedral structures for $[W(CO)_4(S,S-C_6H_4)]$ and $[W(CO)_4(PH_2C_6H_4PH_2)]$ were determined by X-ray analysis.²⁵⁹ (NEt₄)[W(CO)_5(η^1 -2-thiouracylato-S)] was prepared by the reaction of $[W(CO)_5(MeOH)]$ and $(Et_4N)[2-thiouracilate]$. The pentacarbonyl complex loses one CO ligand to yield (NEt₄)[W(CO)₄(η^2 -2-thiouracylato-S,N)].²⁶⁰ The thioether compound μ -hexakis(pentylsulfanylmethy)benzene- or μ -hexakis(propylsulfanylmethy)benzene-bis(tetracarbonyltungsten) [$\{W(CO)_4\}_2L$] was prepared from [$W(CO)_4(MeCN)$] and the corresponding thioether.²⁶¹ A similar reaction using $[W(CO)_5(thf)]$ and 4-methylthiazole-2-dithiocarboxylate methyl ester (L) afforded a S,N-chelate compound [W(CO)₄(L)].²⁶²



4.8.8.3.3 Complexes containing oxygen

The carbonyl acetato tungsten(0) complex [PNP][W(CO)₅(O₂CCH₃)] was prepared by the reaction of [PNP][W(CO)₅Cl] and AgO₂CCH₃. The resultant complex reacted with triethylphosphine to yield *cis*-[PNP][W(CO)₄(PEt₃)(O₂CCH₃)]. The pentacarbonyl complex in solution was shown to dissociate an equatorial CO ligand but the tetracarbonyl complex was inert towards dissociative CO loss.²⁶³ (Et₄N)[W(CO)₅OR] (R = Ph, C₆H₄CH₃-m), prepared from the reaction of [W(CO)₅(thf)] and (Et₄N)[OR]), reacted with CO₂ to afford the carbonate species (Et₄N)[W (CO)₅{OCO(O)OR}]. Hydrolysis of these compounds, accompanied by loss of CO ligand led to the η^2 -carbonate complex (Et₄N)₂[W(CO)(η^2 -CO₂-O,O')]. While the structures of salts of [W(CO)₅OR]⁻ (R = Ph, O-2,6-Ph₂C₆H₃) were determined by X-ray analysis,^{254,264} this anion is extremely CO labile, decomposing readily to [W₄(CO)₁₂(μ_3 -OR)₄]⁴⁻ in the absence of a CO atmosphere.^{264,265} In the case of [W(CO)₅(OSiMe₃)]⁻, an intermediate dimeric compound was isolated as the salt [K(18-crown-6)]₂[W₂(CO)₈(OSiMe₃)₂].²⁶⁶ An analogous compound

[PPN][W(CO)₈(μ -OCH₂CF₃)₂] was produced from [PPN][W(CO)₅(OCH₂CF₃)] (prepared from [PPN][W(CO)₅CH₃] and HOCH₂CF₃).²⁶⁷ When excess OPh⁻ was present, another dimeric compound (Et₄N)₃[W₂(CO)₆(μ -OPh)₃] was obtained.²⁶⁶ The reaction of the oxalate anion, (Et₄N)₂(C₂O₄) with [W(CO)₅(CH₃CN)] afforded monomeric (Et₄N)₂[W(CO)₄(η^2 -O₂CCO₂)]. A similar reaction using 2 equiv. of [W(CO)₅(CH₃CN)] gave a dimeric compound initially [PPN][W₂(CO)₁₀(μ - η^1 -O₂CCO₂)] and then [PPN][W₂(CO)₈(μ - η^2 - O₂CCO₂)] by removal of two labile CO molecules.²⁶⁸ Bicarbonato compound [PPN][W(CO)₅(η^1 -HCO₃)] was synthesized by the reaction of [W(CO)₅(acetone)] and [PPN](HCO₃), which was also produced by the treatment of [W(CO)₅(OH)]⁻ and CO₂.^{269,270} The glycine derivatives of tungsten(0) complexes (Et₄N)[W(CO)₄(η^2 -O₂CCH₂NRR'-*N*,*O*)] (RR' = H₂, HMe, Me₂) were synthesized by the reaction of [W(CO)₅(thf)] and the corresponding glycine derivatives.²⁷¹ Analogous amino acid and phosphino acid derivatives (Et₄N)[W(CO)₄L] (L = η^2 -O₂CCH(C₆H₅)NH₂-*O*,*N*, η^2 -O₂CCH₂PPh₂-*O*,*P*) were obtained in similar methods.²⁷² The orotate (C₅H₂N₂O₄²⁻), L-dihydroorotate (C₅H₄N₂O₄²⁻) and uracilate derivatives (Et₄N)[W(CO)₄(L]] (L = η^2 -orotato-*N*,*O*, η^2 -L-dihydroorotato-*N*,*O*, η^1 -uracilato-*N*) were prepared in a similar way.²⁷³ The reaction of 2 equiv. of di-*tert*-butylcatecholate (DTBCat) (Et₄N)[DTBCat] with [W(CO)₅(THF)] afforded (Et₄N)₂[W(CO)₄(DTB-Cat)] with [W(CO)₅(THF)] afforded (Et₄N)₂[W(CO)₄(DTB-Cat)] by treatment of five-fold excess of MeONa.²⁷⁵ Binuclear complex bridging by NCH₂CH₂N unit in *N*,*N*'-ethylenebis(salicylideneamine) (H₂salen), (Et₄N)₂[W₂(CO)₈(salen)], was obtained by the reaction of 2 equiv. of [W(CO)₅(thf)] and doubly deprotonated salen.²⁷⁶

4.8.8.4 CO Complexes Lacking Halogen and Chalcogen

4.8.8.4.1 Complexes containing arsenic and antimony

Isostructural pentacarbonyl tungsten(0) compounds $[W(CO)_5(EPh_3)]$ (E = P, As, Sb) were prepared by photolysis of $[W(CO)_6]$ in the presence of the corresponding EPh₃.²⁷⁷ The bis(dimethylstibino)methane Me₂SbCH₂SbMe₂ (dmsm) and bis(diphenylstibino)methane Ph₂SbCH₂SbPh₂ (dpsm) tungsten(0)complexes were prepared by the ligand-exchange reaction of appropriate starting materials. Monomeric complexes $[W(CO)_5(\eta^1-dpsm)]$ and *fac*- $[W(CO)_3(\eta^1-dpsm)_3]$ are prepared from (NEt₄) $[W(CO)_5Br]$ and *fac*- $[W(CO)_3(CH_3CN)_3]$, respectively. Dimeric $[(CO)_5W(\mu-dpsm)W(CO)_5]$, $[(CO)_5W(\mu-dmsm)W(CO)_5]$ and *cis*- $[\{W(CO)_4(L-L)\}_2]$ (L-L = dpsm, dmsm) were obtained from $[W(CO)_5(thf)]$, $[W(CO)_6]$ and $[W(CO)_4(Me_2NCH_2CH_2CH_2NMe_2)]$, respectively.²⁷⁸ Antimony-containing cage compound $[\{W(CO)_5\}_2(\eta^1:\eta^1-P_4Sb_2C_4Bu^t_4-P,Sb)]$ was also produced from $[W(CO)_5(thf)]$.²⁷⁹

4.8.8.4.2 Complexes containing phosphorus

Anionic PR₂⁻ ligand is found in dimeric compound. The dinuclear W^I–W^I compound $[W_2(CO)_8(\mu$ -PPh₂)_2] was synthesized by the reaction of $[W(CO)_5(PPh_2H)]$ with *n*-BuLi. The reduction by 2 equiv. of LiBEt₃H gives tungsten(0) complex $[Li(thf)_3]_2[(CO)_4W(\mu$ -PPh₂)W(CO)_4] accompanying cleavage of W–W bond.²⁸⁰

Ligands having P—O bond coordinated to tungsten(0) by phosphorus to form compounds. The previously known compound [W(CO)₅{P(OCH₂)₃CMe}] was characterized structurally for molybdenum analogue.²⁸¹ The Δ^3 -1,4,2-oxazaphospholene complex having five-membered ring [(CO)₅W{ η^1 -P[CH(SiMe₃)₂]OC[(CH₂)₅]N=CPh-*P*}] was produced by regioselective ring expansion of the *2H*-azaphosphirene tungsten complex [(CO)₅W{ η^1 -P[CH(SiMe₃)₂]N=CPh-*P*}] using cyclohexanone.²⁸²

Some tungsten(0) complexes with ligands having P—N bonds have been reported. Cyclic ligand $[P(Ph)N(Me)N\{P(OCH_2CF_3)_2\}]_2$ reacted with $[W(CO)_4(NHC_5H_{10})_2]$ to yield dimeric complex $[\{W(CO)_4\}_2\{\mu-\{PhPN(Me)N[P(OCH_2CF_3)]\}_2\}]$ where the ligand formed four-membered P—N—P—W chelate ring but not P—N—P—W.²⁸³ The P—N—N—P chelate P(OPh)_2N(Me)N (Me)P(OPh)_2 is found in $[W(CO)_4\{P(OPh)_2N(Me)N(Me)P(OPh)_2\}]$, which was prepared by the reaction of the ligand and *cis*- $[W(CO)_4(NHC_5H_{10})_2]$.²⁸⁴ Photochemical ring opening of 2*H*-aza-phosphirene complex $[(CO)_5W\{\eta^1-P[CH(SiMe_3)_2]N=C(Ph)-P\}]$ in the presence of 2 equiv. of ethyl cyanoformate EtO_2CCN afforded 2H-1,4,2-diazaphosphole complex $[(CO)_5W\{\eta^1-P[CH(SiMe_3)_2]N=C(Ph)N=C(CO_2Et)-P\}]$.²⁸⁵

Ethylenediamine solution of $[(\eta^4-P_7)W(CO)_3]^{3-}$, which was mentioned in Section 4.8.6.4, reacted under 1 atm CO to form $[(\eta^2-P_7)W(CO)_4]^{3-}$. This complex was protonated by methanol to yield $[(\eta^2-HP_7)W(CO)_4]^{2-}$ as shown in Figure 25.²⁸⁶ Ring opening reaction of the cyclic $[(Bu^tP)_3As]^$ anion by electrophiles RX (RX = H₂O, MeI, CH₂=CHCH₂I, PhCH₂Br) yielded triphosphine ligands of the type $[(Bu^tP)(Bu^tRP)_2]$. In the case of R = H, the ligand was combined with $[W(CO)_5(thf)]$ to afford $[W(CO)_4[\eta^2-(P^tBu)_2P^tBu-P,P^*]]$.²⁸⁷ Treatment of the *cyclo*-P₃ complexes $[(triphos)RhP_3]$ (triphos = 1,1,1-tris(diphenylphosphinomethyl)ethane) with stoichiometric amounts of $[W(CO)_5(thf)]$ gave $[(triphos)Rh](\mu,\eta^{3:1}-P_3)\{W(CO)_4(PPh_3)\}]$.³⁰ Dichlorodiphosphene moiety CI-P=P-CI was found in the complex $[W(CO)_5[\mu,\eta^2:\eta^1:\eta^1-P_2Cl_2[W(CO)_5]\}]$, which is prepared by the reaction of Na₂[W₂(CO)₁₀] with PCl₃ accompanying the formation of $[\{W(CO)_5\}_2(\mu-PCl)]$ and $[(CO)_5WPCl_3]$.²⁸⁸

The reaction of $[\eta^{1}-3,4-\text{dimethyl}-1-(\text{ethoxycarbonyl})\text{phosphole-}P]\text{pentacarbonyltungsten with dimethyl acetylenedicarboxylate gave the 7-phosphanornadiene complex as shown in Scheme 20.²⁸⁹ The complex reacted with triethylphosphine to affords phosphoranylidenephosphine complex (Scheme 20).²⁹⁰ The P—P bond (2.156(2) Å) was closer to a single bond than to a double bond, which indicates its zwitterionic character [(CO)₅W{EtO₂P⁻-P⁺Et₃}]. A similar P=P bond was found in the diphosphete derivative²⁹¹ as shown in Scheme 21 (left), which was prepared from the reaction of [W(CO)₅(thf)] and the corresponding ligand. The trimethylsilyl group is replaced by H and the following addition of tetrachloro-$ *o* $-benzoquinone resulted in the cleavage of P=P bond.²⁹² Symmetric coordination (CO)₅WPPh(R)-PPh(R)W(CO)₅ was prepared from the reaction of [(PhP=)W(CO)₅] and phospha[3]radialene.²⁹³ Two equiv. of the diphosphastibolyl five-membered ring anion [1,4,2-P₂SbC₂Bu^t₂]⁻ reacted with FeCl₃ to produce and antimony-containing cage compound P₄Sb₂C₄Bu^t, which reacted with [W(CO)₅(thf)] to give [{W(CO)₅}(<math>\eta^{1}$ -P₄Sb₂C₂Bu^t₄-P)]. The crystal structure exhibits a three-membered PPC diphosphirane ring.²⁹⁴



Scheme 21

The compounds with ligands having P=C bonds have been reported. Treatment of 2,4,6-tris(2,4,6-tri-tert-butylphenyl)-1,3,6-triphosphafulvene with [W(CO)₅(thf)] afforded the corresponding monomeric η^1 -complex.²⁹⁵ The diphoshinidenecyclobutene derivative with 2,4,6-triisopropylphenyl group (Tip), *cyclo*-(TipP=C-C(=PTip)-C(Ph)=C(Ph)), reacted with [W(CO)₅(thf)] to give doubly tungsten-coordinated complex. One is η^2 -chelate (*P*,*P*) and the other is organometallic π -type coordination.²⁹⁶ Treatment of (*Z*)-2-chloro-3,3-diphenyl-1-(2,4,6-tri-*tert*-butylphenyl)-1,3-diphosphapropene ^tBu₃C₆H₂P=C(Cl)PPh₂ with [W(CO)₅(thf)] afforded monodentate compound [(CO)₅W{ η^1 -PPh₂C(Cl)PC₆H₂^tBu₃-*P*,*P'*]]. The photolysis of this complex produces [(CO)₄W{ η^2 -PPh₂C(Cl)PC₆H₂^tBu₃-*P*,*P'*]] which was also obtained from [W(CO)₄(cod)] (cod = cycloocta-1,5-diene).²⁹⁷

The phosphirene compound was prepared from the 7-phosphanorbornadiene complex as shown in Scheme 22.²⁹⁸ The complex converts to 2-keto-1,2-dihydrophosphete complex by insertion of CO into P–C bond via metallacycle intermediates.²⁹⁹ Analogous phosphirene,³⁰⁰ phosphirane,³⁰¹ and the related alkenylidenephosphirane²⁹³ derivatives have been reported.

Dimeric 2,2'-biphosphirirene³⁰² and 2,2'-bisphosphirane³⁰³ derivatives were characterized structurally. Treatment of 2,5-di(2-pyridyl)phosphole (L) with $[W(CO)_5(thf)]$ affords monodentate (P) complex $[(CO)_5W(L)]$.³⁰⁴



Scheme 22

Many carbonyltungsten(0) compounds containing only phosphine derivatives PR_3 have been reported, ^{146,305–317} however, the structures exhibit normal octahedral geometry so further discussions are not shown here.

Treatment of phosphirene compound [(CO)₅W(η^{1} -P(Ph)C(Ph)=CPh)] reacted readily with M(PEt₃)₂(C₂H₄)] to result the insertion of [M(PEt₃)₂] fragment into the P–C bond. The obtained metallacycle [(CO)₅W{P(Ph)C(Ph)C(Ph)Pt(PEt₃)₂]] was characterized structurally.³¹⁸ The phosphoriranepentacarbonyltungsten complex (*E*)-and (*Z*)-[W(CO)₅{ η^{1} -P(Ph)CH(Ph)CHPh}]] with PCC three-membered ring converted to (2*R*,3*S*,4*R*)- and (2*R*,3*S*,4*S*)-[(CO)₅W {P(Ph)CHCH(Ph)}Pd(dppe)] (dppe = 1,2-bis(diphenylphosphanyl)rthane) with PCCPd four-membered ring by insertion of Pd fragment into the P–C bond.³¹⁹

4,5-Dimethyl-2-(2-pyridyl)phosphorin (C₁₂H₁₂NP) which is the analogy of 2,2'-bipyridine reacted with [W(CO)₆] under UV irradiation to afford [W(CO)₄(η^2 -C₁₂H₁₂NP-*N*,*P*)].³²⁰ Tridentate 11-membered phosphino macrocyclic ligand reacted with [W(CO)₆] to give octahedral tri(carbonyl- κ C)[*meso-cis*-2,6,10-triphospha- $\kappa^3 P$ -bicyclo[9.4.0]pentadeca-11(1),12,14-triene]tungsten(0) (C₃₃H₃₁O₃P₃W).³²¹ The solution of [(η^4 -P₇)W(CO)₃]³⁻ anion (Figure 25(b)) in ethylenediamine (en) reacted with [(mesitylene)W(CO)₃] to produce dimeric [(en)(CO)₃W(η^1 , η^4 -P₇)W(CO)₃]³⁻. The W(CO)₃(en) fragment coordinated η^1 to the apical P of [(η^4 -P₇)W(CO)₃]³⁻. The reaction of trimethylsilyldiazomethane anion with [W(CO)₅(PPh₃)] in the presence of Me₃SiCl gave [W(CO)₄(PPh₃){ η^1 -N₂C(SiMe₃)₂] as shown in Scheme 23. The W–N bond (2.161(11) Å) is long and N=N and N–C of 1.165(15) and 1.34(1) Å are intermediate between double and triple, and single and double bonds, respectively.³²² The bent nitrene or hydrazido coordination in *fac*-[(CO)₃(dppe)W=NNMe₂] (dppe = 1,2-bis(diphenylphosphino)ethane) is considered a neutral 2e⁻ donor which is resemble the zero-valent Fischer carbenes than the linear imido complexes. The W=N–N angle is 139(1)°. The complex was prepared by the reaction between [(CO)₅ W=NNMe₂]³²³ and dppe.³²⁴ [W(CO)₃(CH₃CN)] reacted with bis(diphenylphosphino)methane (dppm) to yield *fac*-[W(CO)₃(M₂P)^KC₁₀H₁₅=N-N=C₁₀H₁₅P^KPh₂ and *Z*,*Z*-3,3'-Ph₂P^KC₁₀H₁₅=N-N=C₁₀H₁₅P^KPh₂ and *Z*,*Z*-3,3'-Ph₂P^KC₁₀H₁₅=N-N=C₁₀H₁₅P^KPh₂ (*x* = *exo*, *n* = *endo*). Reaction of *Z*,*Z*-3,3'-Ph₂P^KC₁₀H₁₅=N-N=C₁₀H₁₅P^KPh₂-*P*,*N*,*P'*].³⁸ Analogous compound [W(CO)₃{ η^3 -Ph₂PC(DH₁F=N-N=C₁₀H₁₅P^KPh₂ and [W(CO)₃(PⁱPr₃)₂)(*μ*-N₂)] was treated with 4 equiv. of LiBuⁿ followed by methyl iodide to give dimethylated complex [W(CO)₃(η^3 -Ph₂CH(Me)C(Bu^l)=N-N=C(Bu¹)CH(Me)PP

The compound *cis*-[PNP][(CH₃)W(CO)₄(PMe₃)] was prepared by the alkylation of Na₂[W (CO)₄(PMe₃)] by methyl tosylate followed by addition of [PNP][tosylate]. The phosphine ligand expedited CO₂ insertion into the W–C bond.³²⁷ The bimetallic compounds containing 1,4-diisocyanatobenzene as a bridging ligand [{W(CO)₄(PR₃)}₂(μ -CNC₆H₄NC)] were prepared by the reaction of the bridging ligand and (Et₄N)[W(CO)₄(PEt₃)Cl].³²⁸ Aromatic isocyanide *p*-RC₆H₄NC reacted with *trans*-[W(dppe)₂(N₂)₂] (dppe = 1,2-bis(diphenylphosphino)ethane) to produce *cis*- or *trans*-[(*p*-C₆H₄NC)₂W(dppe)₂] depending on the R group. Subtle differences of π -acidity or steric repulsion determine the structure. The ligands CNC₆H₄NC, CF₃C₆H₄NC, NO₂C₆H₄NC and *p*-CNC₆H₂(CH₃)₂NC give *cis*-isomers while FC₆H₄NC, CH₃C₆H₄NC, and *p*-CNC₆(CH₃)₄NC afforded *trans*-isomers.³²⁹



The first structure of isolable H₂ tungsten complex *mer,trans*-[W(CO)₃{P-(*i*-Pr)₃}₂(η^2 -H₂)] shows slightly longer H—H distance than free H₂. The complex was prepared readily and cleanly by the reaction of [W(CO)₃{P(*i*-Pr)₃}₂] with hydrogen (1 atm).³³⁰ ¹H NMR spectra indicated dynamic equilibrium between the H₂ complex [W(CO)₃{P-(*i*-Pr)₃}₂(η^2 -H₂)] and dihydride complex [W(H)₂(CO)₃{P-(*i*-Pr)₃}₂].²²⁷ The structure of [N(PPh₃)₂][W(CO)₄(H){P(OMe)₃}₃] ³³¹ indicated *cis* arrangement of the hydride and phosphine ligands.³³²

4.8.8.4.3 Complexes containing nitrogen

Monomeric and dimeric pyridine compounds containing alkyne moiety have been reported. The ligands 1,4-bis(4'-pyridylethynyl)benzene, ferrocenyl-4-pyridylacetylene, (4-nitorphenyl)-4'-pyridylacetylene, 4,4'-dipyridylbutadiene reacted with $[W(CO)_4(L)]$ (L = CO, PEt₃, PPh₃, P(OEt)₃, P(OPh)₃ to give the required complexes. The coordinated pyridine groups were found at *cis* position to L.³³³ Treatment of 1,2,3,4 λ^5 -triazaphosphinine with $[W(CO)_5(pip)]$ (pip = piperadine) gave a five-membered cyclophosphazene bonded to $[W(CO)_5(pip)]$ via hydrogen bond.³³⁴ The formally 16-electron compound (Et₄N)₂[W(CO)₃(OC₆H₄-2-NH)] and (Et₄N)₂[W (CO)₃(NHC₆H₄-2-NH)] \cdot (NH₂C₆H₄NH₂) were produced by the reaction of [W(CO)₅(thf)] and (Et₄N) [OC₆H₄-2-NH] with subsequent deprotonation by $(Et_4N)OH$ and the reaction between $[W(CO)_5(thf)]$ and 2 equiv. of $(Et_4N)[NH_2C_6H_4NH_3]$. These compounds exhibited trigonal bipyramidal geometry. The coordinatively and electrochemically unsaturated tungsten(0) complexes were stabilized by π donating amido ligands.³³⁵ The tungsten(0) complex of 1,3,5-tri-*tert*-butyl-1,3,5-triazacyclohexane $(t-Bu_3 \text{tach})$ was obtained by the photolysis of $[W(CO)_6]$ in the presence of the ligand. The reaction of 2-aminopyridine (2PAH) with $[W(CO)_5(thf)]$ afforded $[W(CO)_5(2APH)]$. Deprotonation of the complex by NaH gave dimeric Na₂[W(CO)₄(μ -2AP)]₂ and monomeric [Na₂(18-crown-6)][W(CO)₅(η^{1} -2AP)].³³⁶ The compound *fac*-[W(CO)₃(tbtach)] exhibit piano-stool conformation, which is similar to [WO₃(*t*-Bu₃tach)₃] as shown in Figure 8.³³⁷ The reaction of [W(CO)₄(pip)₂] (pip = piperidine) with 2,6-bis[(4S)-isopropyloxazolin-2-yl] (L) yields *cis*-[W(CO)₄(L)]. The ligand coordinates η^2 to tungsten ion by one N of pyridine and one N of oxazoline. The ¹H NMR spectra showed the presence of fluxional rearrangement by exchange of the two N atoms of the oxazoline.338

4.8.8.4.4 Complexes containing carbon groups

The tetranuclear tungsten(0) compound containing diatomic Pb_2^{2-} ligand $(Ph_4P)_2[\{W(CO)_5\}_4Pb_2]$ was produced by the reaction of $K_2[W_2(CO)_{10}]$ and $Pb(NO_3)_2$. A schematic drawing of the molecular structure is shown in Figure 31. The Pb—Pb distance of 2.816(8) Å is short.³³⁹

Salts of $[Ph_3SnW(CO)_5]^-$ are quite stable and readily prepared by the reaction of $Na_2[W(CO)_5]$ and Ph_3SnCl or $(Et_4N)[ClW(CO)_3]$ and $LiSnPh_3$. The compound was also prepared from Ph_3SnOH and $[PPN][HW(CO)_5]$ accompanying the production of water. The isolated complex exhibits octahedral structure.³⁴⁰ The octahedral compound $[(CO)_5W{SnCl_2(thf)_2}]^{341}$ reacted with $[Fe(CO)_4]^{2-}$ to afford $[Na_2(OEt_2)_4(thf)][\{W(CO)_5Sn(Cl)[Fe(CO)_4]\}_2]$. The $[W(CO)_5]$ moieties are bridged by Sn atoms of dimeric $[\{Fe(CO)_4\}_2(\mu-SnCl)_2]$. The carbonyl groups of the anion interact with Na ion of the cation resulting 2-dimensional sheet.³⁴²





The crystal structure of [PPN][W(CO)₅(SiMe₃)] indicates octahedral geometry. This compound was obtained by the reaction of $Na_2W(CO)_5$ and trimethylsilyl chloride. While the complex is inert toward CO₂, the insertion of SO₂ into W—Si bond was occurred resulting [PPN][W(CO)₅-SO₂SiMe₃].³⁴³

The cyanide-bridged compound $[(CO)_5W(CN)Cu(PPh_3)_3]$ was produced by the reaction of Na[W(CO)_5(CN)] with $[Cu(CH_3CN)_4]BF_4$ and PPh_3. The analogous isocyanide-bridging compound $[(CO)_5W(NC)Cu(PPh_3)_3]$ was prepared by the addition of $[Cu(CN)(PPh_3)_3]$ to $[W(CO)_5(thf)]$ at -78 °C, which was slowly converted to the rearranged cyanide-bridging compound.³⁴⁴

Photochemical reaction of W(CO)₆ in the presence of $B_2H_4 \cdot 2PMe_3$ gave [W(CO)₅(η^1 - $B_2H_4 \cdot 2PMe_3$)] and [W(CO)₄(η^2 - $B_2H_4 \cdot 2PMe_3$)] as shown in Figure 32. Both compounds indicate the presence of W—H—B linkage that is a three-center two-electron bond.³⁴⁵ Analogous reaction in the presence of BH₃·PR₃ (R = Me, Ph) or BH₃·NMe₃ afforded [W(CO)₅(η^1 -BH₃·PR₃)] or [W(CO)₅(η^1 -BH₃·NMe₃)], respectively. The determined structure is shown in Figure 32(c).³⁴⁶

4.8.9 MIXED VALENCE COMPLEXES

4.8.9.1 W^{VI} and W^V Mixed Complexes

The nitride-bridged complex (PClMePh₂)₂[{W₂(N)Cl₉}₂] contains formally tungsten(VI) nitride [W(N)Cl₄]⁻ and neutral tungsten(V) fragment WCl₅ as shown in Figure 33. Two distinct W—N bonds were found in the crystal structure, one is triple bond (1.682(10) Å) and the other is single bond (2.050(10) Å) with almost linear WNW angle (177.6(6)°). This compound was prepared by the reaction of WCl₆ and Me₃SiNPMePh while the reaction WCl₆ and Me₃SiNPh₃ afforded [W(NPPh₃)Cl₅] in high yield.²⁴



Figure 32 Schematic drawing of (a) $[W(CO)_5(B_2H_4\cdot 2PMe_3)]$, (b) $[W(CO)_4(B_2H_4\cdot 2PMe_3)]$ and (c) $[W(CO)_5(BH_3\cdot PR_3)]$ (R = Me, Ph).



Figure 33 Mixed-valence $W^{VI}-W^{V}$ nitride-bridged complex (PClMePh₂)₂[{ $W_2(N)Cl_9$ }₂].

4.8.9.2 W^{VI} and W^{IV} Mixed Complexes

The mixed valence tungsten complexes containing VI and IV are rare. The compound $[{HB(Me_2pz)_3}W^{VI}O_2(\mu-O)W^{IV}O(CO){HB(Me_2pz)_3}]$ (HB(Me_2pz)_3 = hydrotris(3,5-dimethyl-1-pyrazolyl)borate)) was formed upon oxidative hydrolysis of (NEt₄)[{HB(Me_2pz)_3}W(CO)_3]. The *cis*-dioxo-W^{VI} moiety observed in this complex is a common feature in W^{VI} chemistry.⁴⁷

4.8.9.3 W^{IV} and W^{III} Mixed Complexes

The hemicapped structure was found in $[W_3(\mu_3-O)(O_2CCH_3)_6(H_2O)_3][ZnBr_4]\cdot 8H_2O$ as shown in Figure 34. The complex was obtained as a by-product in the preparation of the well-known $[W_3(\mu_3-O)_2(O_2CCH_3)_6(H_2O)_3]^{2+}$ cation from $W(CO)_6$, acetic acid and acetic anhydride in a very low yield after separation by cation-exchange column. The W—W distances (mean 2.710(4) Å) are longer in comparison to the corresponding bicapped compounds. The W—(μ_3 -O) distance is similar to the bicapped compounds. The formal oxidation number is 10/3 (average).³⁴⁷ The improved preparation procedure employed Na₂WO₄·2H₂O instead by W(CO)₆ and granular zinc as reductant. The resultant $[W_3(\mu_3-O)(\mu-O_2CCH_3)_6(H_2O)]^{2+}$ was refluxed in methanol to give $[W_3(\mu_3-O)(\mu-O_2CCH_3)_5(\mu-OCH_3)(H_2O)]^{2+}$, which was isolated $[ZnCl_4]^{2-}$ salt.³⁴⁸ The dimeric tungsten(III/IV) complex $[(Me_2S)Cl_2W(\mu-Cl)(\mu-SPh)_2WCl_2(SMe_2)]$ was prepared by the reaction of $[WCl_4(SMe_2)_2]$ and exact 1 equiv. of SiMe_3(SPh). The obtained very air-sensitive compound was treated with Ph_4AsCl to afford (Ph_4As)_2[Cl_3W(\mu-Cl)(\mu-SPh)_2WCl_3] · 1.4(CH_2Cl_2) as crystals.³⁴⁹ Analogous W^{III}–W^{IV} compound (Ph_4P)_2[Cl_3W(\mu-Cl)(\mu-SePh)_2WCl_3] · 2CH_2Cl_2. Both complexes were obtained as a mixture by the reaction of WCl_4(SMe_2)_2 and Me_3SiSePh followed by addition of PPh_4Cl. The ESR spectra of the single crystal indicate the presence of paramagnetic species in a diamagnetic matrix.³⁵⁰

4.8.10 METAL-COORDINATED COMPLEXES

4.8.10.1 Clusters

The reaction of $[PPN]_2[Fe_3(CO)_{11}]$ with $Cr(CO)_3(CH_3CN)$ afforded $[PPN]_2[FeW(CO)_{14}]$ with pseudotetrahedral Fe₃W core.³⁵¹ Tungsten-centered gold cluster $[W(CO)_4(AuPPh_3)_5](PF_6)$ and $[W(CO)_3(AuPPh_3)_7](PF_6)$ were prepared by the reaction of $[Au(PPh_3)(AuPPh_3)_7](PF_6)_2$ with $[W(CO)_3(C_2H_5CN)_3]$. The former complex reacted with 1 equiv. of AuPPh_3NO_3 to give $[W(CO)_4(AuPPh_3)_6](NO_3)_2$.³⁵²

4.8.10.2 Linear and Binuclear Complexes

The reaction of $[(n-Bu)_4N][{HB(pz)_3}(CO)_2W(CS)]$ with ClAuPPh₃ afforded $[{HB(pz)_3}(CO)_2(CS)WAu(PPh_3)]$, which have a semibridging CO and a semibridging CS. The W-C-O (173.4(7)°) and W-C-S 165.9(5)°) are bent.³⁵³



Figure 34 Hemicapped trinuclear structure in $[W_3(\mu_3-O)(O_2CCH_3)_6(H_2O)_3][ZnBr_4] \cdot 8H_2O$.

The 18-electron compound $[Os(CO)_4(PMe_3)]$ acts as a donor ligand to $W(CO)_5$ unit in $[W(CO)_5(thf)]$ to produce $[(Me_3P)(OC)_4OsW(CO)_5]$ without any bridging ligand, which was established by X-ray analysis. The Os—W bond length is 3.0756(5) Å).³⁵⁴ Similar compound $[(L)(OC)_4OsW(CO)_5]$ (L = P(OCH₂)₃CMe) reacted with $[Os(CO)_4(L)]$ to give linear $(Os-Os-W = 172.07(4)^\circ)$ $[(OC)_3(L)_2OsOs(CO)_4W(CO)_5]$ having two dative bonds Os—Os (2.940(1) Å) and Os—W (3.039(1) Å).³⁵⁵ Analogous tandem structure with isonitrile $[(OC)_4(Bu^t NC)OsOs(CO)_3(CNBu^t)W(CO)_5]$ was successfully determined.³⁵⁶

The reaction of $(Et_4N)[HFe(CO)_4]$ and $[W(CO)_5(thf)]$ gave $(Et_4N)[HFeW(CO)_9]$, which was treated with $(Et_4N)OH$ to yield $(Et_4N)_2[FeW(CO)_9]$. This complex reacted with Ph₃PAuCl to afford $(Et_4N)[Ph_3PAuFeW(CO)_9]$ where Au—Fe—W bond is bent $(82.7(1)^\circ)$.³⁵⁷ The related compounds, $[PPN][HFeW(CO)_9]$ and $[PPN][(OC)_3\{(MeO)_3P\}Fe(H)W(CO)_5]$, were characterized structurally, where the phosphorus atom is *trans* to W.³⁵⁸

 $K_2[W(CO)_5]$ reacted with $EXCl_2$ (E = Al, Ga; X = Cl, Et, ⁱBu) followed by addition of chelating Lewis base, e.g., tmeda (*N*,*N*,*N'N'*-tetramethylethylenediamine) and tmpda (*N*,*N*,*N'*,*N'*-tetramethylpropylenediamine), to yield neutral compound with a W–E bond [(OC)₅WE(X)(L)] (L = tmeda, tmpda). The structures [(CO)₅WAl(Et)(tmeda)] and [(CO)₅WAl(Cl)(tmpda)] were determined by X-ray analysis.³⁵⁹

4.8.11 REFERENCES

- 1. Happe, R. P.; Roseboom, W.; Pierik, A. J.; Albracht, S. P. J.; Bagley, K. A. Nature 1997, 385, 126.
- 2. Culotta, E.; Koshland, D. E. Science 1992, 258, 1862-1865.
- 3. Wu, D.-T.; Chung, C.-S. Inorg. Chem. 1986, 25, 4841–4845.
- 4. Junk, P. C.; Atwood, J. L. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1997, 4393-4399.
- 5. Heier, K. R.; Norquist, A. J.; Halasyamani, P. S.; Duarte, A.; Stern, C. L.; Poeppelmeier, K. R. *Inorg. Chem.* **1999**, *38*, 762–767.
- 6. Millar, A. J.; White, J. M.; Doonan, C. J.; Young, C. G. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 5151-5155.
- 7. Corazza, F.; Floriani, C.; Chiesi-Villa, A.; Rizzoli, C. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 4465–4468.
- 8. Nugent, W. A.; Feldman, J.; Calabrese, J. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 8992-8998.
- Morton, M. D.; Heppert, J. A.; Dietz, S. D.; Huang, W. H.; Ellis, D. A.; Grant, T. A.; Eilerts, N. W.; Barnes, D. L.; Takusagawa, F.; VanderVelde, D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 7916–7917.
- 10. Dreisch, K.; Andersson, C.; Häkansson, M.; Jagner, S. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1993, 1045-1049.
- 11. Dreisch, K.; Andersson, C.; Stålhandske, C. Polyhedron 1991, 10, 2417-2421.
- 12. Lorber, C.; Donahue, J. P.; Goddard, C. A.; Nordlander, E.; Holm, R. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 8102-8112.
- 13. Kolodziej, R. M.; Schrock, R. R.; Dewan, J. C. Inorg. Chem. 1989, 28, 1243-1248.
- 14. Quignard, F.; Leconte, M.; Basset, J.-M.; Hsu, L.-Y.; Alexander, J. J.; Shore, S. G. Inorg. Chem. 1987, 26, 4272-4277.
- 15. Kerschner, J. L.; Fanwick, P. E.; Rothwell, I. P.; Huffman, J. C. Inorg. Chem. 1989, 28, 780-786.
- Kolesnichenko, V.; Mason, M. H.; Botts, J. B.; Botts, A. M.; Baroni, T. E.; Heppert, J. A. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 5010–5016.
- 17. Lehtonen, A.; Sillanpää, R. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 6047-6051.
- 18. Cotton, F. A.; Schwotzer, W.; Shamshoum, E. S. Inorg. Chem. 1984, 23, 4111-4113.
- 19. Baratta, W.; Calderazzo, F.; Daniels, L. M. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 3842-3844.
- 20. Aranudet, L.; Bougon, R.; Ban, B.; Charpin, P.; Isabey, J.; Lance, M.; Nierlich, M.; Vigner, J. *Inorg. Chem.* 1989, 28, 257–262.
- 21. Arnaudet, L.; Bougon, R.; Buu, B.; Lance, M.; Nierlich, M.; Vigner, J. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 1142-1146.
- 22. Hornung, F. M.; Heilmann, O.; Kaim, W.; Zalis, S.; Fiedler, J. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 4052-4058.
- 23. Schaaf, P. A. v. d.; Boersma, J.; Smeets, W. J. J.; Spek, A. L.; Koten, G. V. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 5108-5113.
- 24. Lichtenhan, J. D.; Ziller, J. W.; Doherty, N. M. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 2893-2900.
- 25. Lichtenhan, J. D.; Ziller, J. W.; Doherty, N. M. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 4210-4212.
- 26. Bryan, J. C.; Mayer, J. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 7213-7214.
- 27. Bryan, J. C.; Mayer, J. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 2298-2308.
- 28. Rabinovich, D.; Perkin, G. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 6341-6361.
- 29. Dietz, S.; Allured, V.; DuBois, R. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 5418-5420.
- 30. Lichtenhan, J. D.; Critchlow, S. C.; Doherty, N. M. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 439-442.
- 31. Honeyman, C. H.; Lough, A. J.; Manners, I. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 2988-2993.
- 32. Chao, Y.-W.; Rodgers, P. M.; Wigley, D. E.; Alexander, S. J.; Rheigold, A. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 6326–6328.
- 33. Danopoulos, A. A.; Wilkinson, G.; Hussain-Bates, B.; Hursthouse, M. B. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1990, 2753–2761.
- 34. Chatt, J.; Crichton, B. A.; Dilworth, J. R.; Dahlstrom, P.; Gutkoska, R.; Zunieta, J. Inorg. Chem. 1982, 21, 2383–2391.
- 35. Dilworth, J. R.; Gibson, V. C.; Redshaw, C.; White, A. J. P.; Williams, D. J. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1999, 2701–2704.
- 36. Cai, S.; Schrock, R. R. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 4105-4106.
- 37. Johnson, M. K.; Rees, D. C.; Adams, M. W. W. Chem. Rev. 1996, 96, 2817–2839.
- 38. Shaw, B. L.; Iranpoor, N.; Perera, S. D.; Thornton-Pett, M.; Vessey, J. D. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1998, 1885–1891.
- 39. Barrado, G.; Doerrer, L.; Green, M. L. H.; Leech, M. A. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1999, 1061–1066.

- 40. Piquemal, J.-Y.; Bois, C.; Brégeault, J.-M. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1997, 473-474.
- 41. Piquemal, J.-Y.; Halut, S.; Brégeault, J.-M. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1998, 37, 1146-1149.
- 42. Kessler, V. G.; Panov, A. N.; Turova, N. Y.; Starikova, Z. A.; Yanovsky, A. I.; Dolgushin, F. M.; Pisarevsky, A. P.; Struchkov, Y. T. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1998, 21-29.
- 43. Seisenbaeva, G. A.; Kloo, L.; Werndrup, P.; Kessler, V. G. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 3815-3818.
- 44. Chisholm, M. H.; Parkin, I. P.; Streib, W. E.; Eisenstein, O. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 812-815.
- 45. deLearie, L. A.; Pierpont, C. G. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 27, 3842-3845.
- 46. Smet, P.; Devreese, B.; Verpoort, F.; Pauwels, T.; Svobada, I.; Foro, S.; Beeumen, J. V.; Verdonck, L. Inorg. Chem. **1998**, 37, 6583–6586.
- 47. Young, C. G.; Gable, R. W.; Mackay, M. F. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 1777-1779.
- 48. Eagle, A. A.; George, G. N.; Tiekink, E. R. T.; Young, C. G. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 472-479.
- 49. Baker, M. V.; North, M. R.; Skelton, B. W.; White, A. H. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 4515–4521.
- 50. Yu, S.-B.; Holm, R. H. Inorg. Chem. 1989, 28, 4385-4391.
- 51. Feinstein-Jaffe, I.; Gibson, D.; Lippard, S. J.; Schrock, R. R.; Spool, A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1984, 106, 6305-6310. 52. Lee, H. K.; Wong, Y.-L.; Zhou, Z.-Y.; Zhang, Z.-Y.; Ng, D. K. P.; Mak, T. C. W. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 2000, 539-544.
- 53. Miao, M.; Willer, W.; Holm, R. H. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 2843-2849.
- 54. Schrock, R. R.; Listemann, M. L.; Sturgeoff, L. G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1982, 104, 4291-4293.
- 55. Chisholm, M. H.; Hoffman, D. M.; Huffman, J. C. Inorg. Chem. 1983, 22, 2903-2906.
- 56. Chisholm, M. H.; Folting-Streib, K.; Tiedtke, D. B.; Lemoigno, F.; Eisenstein, O. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1995, 34. 110-112
- 57. Redshaw, C.; Elsegood, M. R. J. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 5164-5168.
- 58. Fan, M.; Zhang, H.; Lattman, M. Chem. Commun. 1998, 99-100.
- 59. Motevalli, M.; Parkin, B. C.; Ramnauth, R.; Sullivan, A. C. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 2000, 2661–2662.
- 60. King, L.; Motevalli, M.; Sullivan, A. C. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1999, 3225-3228.
- 61. Rabinovich, D.; Parkin, G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 5904-5905.
- 62. O'Neal, S. C.; Kolis, J. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1988, 110, 1971-1973.
- 63. Seino, H.; Arai, Y.; Iwata, N.; Nagao, S.; Mizobe, Y.; Hidai, M. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 1677-1682.
- 64. Eagle, A. A.; Harben, S. M.; Tiekink, E. R. T.; Young, C. G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1994**, 116, 9749–9750. 65. Eagle, A. A.; Tiekink, E. R. T.; George, G. N.; Young, C. G. Inorg. Chem. **2001**, 40, 4563–4573.
- 66. Dilworth, J. R.; Richards, R. L. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1983, 1489-1493.
- 67. Sung, K.-M.; Holm, R. H. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 4518-4525.
- 68. Ueyama, N.; Oku, H.; Nakamura, A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 7310-7311.
- 69. Das, S. K.; Biswas, D.; Maiti, R.; Sarkar, S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 1387-1397.
- 70. Eagle, A. A.; Tiekink, E. R. T.; Young, C. G. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 6315-6322.
- 71. Lang, R. F.; Ju, T. D.; Hoff, C. D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 9747-9748.
- 72. Donahue, J. P.; Lorber, C.; Nordlander, E.; Holm, R. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 3259–3260.
- 73. Sung, K.-M.; Holm, R. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 1931-1943.
- 74. Chakrabarty, P. K.; Bhattacharya, S.; Pierpont, C. G.; Bhattacharyya, R. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 3573–3577.
- 75. Shaowu, D.; Nianyong, Z.; Xintao, W.; Jiaxi, L. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 2847-2853.
- 76. McConnachie, C. A.; Stiefel, E. I. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 964-972.
- 77. Mills, R. C.; Abboud, K. A.; Boncella, J. M. Chem. Commun. 2001, 1506-1507.
- 78. Hankin, D. M.; Danopoulos, A. A.; Wilkinson, G.; Sweet, T. K. N. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1995, 1059-1060. 79. Mösch-Zanetti, N. C.; Schrock, R. R.; Davis, W. M.; Wanninger, K.; Seidel, S. W.; O'Donoghue, M. B. J. Am.
- Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 11037-11048. 80. Berg, D. M.; Sharp, P. R. Inorg. Chem. 1987, 26, 2959-2962.
- 81. Danopoulos, A. A.; Wilkinson, G.; Hussain, B.; Hursthouse, M. B. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1989, 896-897.
- 82. Blum, L.; Williams, I. D.; Schrock, R. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1984, 106, 8316-8317.
- 83. Gregson, D.; Mason, S. A.; Howard, J. A. K.; Spencer, J. L.; Turner, D. G. Inorg. Chem. 1984, 23, 4103-4107.
- 84. Eklund, S. E.; Chambers, J. Q.; Mamantov, G.; Diminnie, J.; Barnes, C. E. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 715-722.
- 85. Stobie, K. M.; Bell, Z. R.; Munhoven, T. W.; Maher, J. P.; McCleverty, J. A.; Ward, M. D.; McInnes, E. J. L.; Totti, F.; Gatteschi, D. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 2003, 36-45.
- 86. Wardle, R. W. M.; Chau, C.-N.; Ibers, J. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 1859-1860.
- 87. Ansari, M. A.; Mahler, C. H.; Ibers, J. A. Inorg. Chem. 1989, 28, 2669-2674.
- 88. Lu, Y.-J.; Ansari, M. A.; Ibers, J. A. Inorg. Chem. 1989, 28, 4049-4050.
- 89. Drew, M. G. B.; Hobson, R. J.; Mumba, P. P. E. M.; Rice, D. A.; Turp, N. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1987, 1163-1167.
- 90. Bhattacharyya, R.; Chakrabarty, P. K.; Ghosh, P. N.; Mukherjee, A. K.; Podder, D.; Mukherjee, M. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 3948-3955.
- 91. Hanson, G. R.; Brunette, A. A.; McDonell, A. C.; Murray, K. S.; Wedd, A. G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1981, 103, 1953-1969.
- 92. Ellis, S. R.; Collison, D.; Garner, C. D.; Clegg, W. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1986, 1483-1485.
- 93. Soong, S.-L.; Chebolu, V.; Koch, S. A.; O'Sullivan, T.; Millar, M. Inorg. Chem. 1986, 25, 4068–4069.
- 94. Goddard, C. A.; Holm, R. H. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 5389-5398.
- 95. Young, C. G.; Kocaba, T. O.; Yan, X. F.; Tiekink, E. R. T.; Wei, L.; III, H. H. M.; Coyle, C. L.; Stiefel, E. I. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 6252-6260.
- 96. Bollinger, J. C.; Chisholm, M. H.; Click, D. R.; Folting, K.; Hadad, C. M.; Tiedtke, D. B.; Wilson, P. J. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 2001, 2074-2082.
- 97. Lee, S.; Staley, D. L.; Rheingold, A. L.; Cooper, N. J. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 4391-4396.
- 98. Ikari, S.; Sasaki, Y.; Ito, T. Inorg. Chem. 1989, 28, 447-451.
- 99. Ikari, S.; Sasaki, Y.; Nagasawa, A.; Kabuto, C.; Ito, T. Inorg. Chem. 1989, 28, 1248–1254.
- 100. Ikari, S.; Sasaki, Y.; Ito, T. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 53-56.
- 101. Piarulli, U.; Solari, E.; Floriani, C.; Chiesi-Villa, A.; Rizzoli, C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 3634–3642.

- 102. Podgajny, R.; Sieklucka, B.; Lasocha, W. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 2000, 1799-1803.
- 103. Zhong, Z. J.; Seino, H.; Mizobe, Y.; Hidai, M.; Verdguer, M.; Ohkoshi, S.; Hashimoto, K. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 5095-5101
- 104. Zhong, Z. J.; Seino, H.; Mizobe, Y.; Hidai, M.; Fujishima, A.; Ohkosi, S.; Hashimoto, K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 2952-2953.
- 105. Bryan, J. C.; Geib, S. J.; Rheingold, A. L.; Mayer, J. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 2826-2828.
- 106. Rothfuss, H.; Huffman, J. C.; Caulton, K. G. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 187-191.
- 107. Bendix, J.; Bøgevig, A. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 5992-6001.
- 108. Massey, S. T.; Barnett, N. D. R.; Abboud, K. A.; McElwee-White, L. Organometallics 1996, 15, 4625-4631.
- 109. McGowan, P. C.; Massey, S. T.; Abboud, K. A.; McElwee-White, L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 7419-7420.
- 110. He, Y.; McGowan, P. C.; Abboud, K. A.; McElwee-White, L. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1998, 3373-3378.
- 111. Hogarth, G.; Humphrey, D. G.; Kaltsoyannis, N.; Kim, W.-S.; Lee, M.; Norman, T.; Redmond, S. P. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1999, 2705-2723.
- 112. Cowley, A. H.; Pellerin, B.; Atwood, J. L.; Bott, S. G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 6734-6735.
- 113. DeBord, J. R. D.; George, T. A.; Chang, Y.; Zubieta, J. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 785-786.
- 114. Bakar, M. A.; Hughes, D. L.; Leigh, G. J. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1988, 2525-2534.
- 115. Seino, H.; Ishii, Y.; Hidai, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 7433-7434.
- 116. Seino, H.; Ishii, Y.; Sasagawa, T.; Hidai, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 12181-12193.
- 117. Seino, H.; Ishii, Y.; Hidai, M. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 161-171.
- 118. Ishii, Y.; Tokunaga, S.; Seino, H.; Hidai, M. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 5118-5119.
- 119. Ishino, H.; Tokunaga, S.; Seino, H.; Ishii, Y.; Hidai, M. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 2489-2496. 120. Kol, M.; Schrock, R. R.; Kempe, R.; Davis, W. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 4382-4390.
- 121. Green, M. L. H.; Parkin, G.; Mingqin, C.; Prout, K. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1984, 1400-1402.
- 122. Green, M. L. H.; Parkin, G.; Chen, M.; Prout, K. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1986, 2227-2236.
- 123. Murphy, V. J.; Rabinovich, D.; Parkin, G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 9762-9763.
- 124. Murphy, V. J.; Rabinovich, D.; Hascall, T.; Klooster, W. T.; Koetzle, T. F.; Parkin, G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 4372-4387.
- 125. Flomer, W. A.; Kolis, J. W. Inorg. Chem. 1989, 28, 2513-2517.
- 126. Wardle, R. W. M.; Mahler, C. H.; Chau, C.-N.; Ibers, J. A. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 27, 2790–2795. 127. O'Neal, S. C.; Pennington, W. T.; Kolis, J. W. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1990, 29, 1486–1488.
- 128. O'Neal, S. C.; Pennington, W. T.; Kolis, J. W. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 888-894.
- 129. Lang, R. F.; Ju, T. D.; Kiss, G.; Hoff, C. D.; Bryan, J. C.; Kubas, G. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 7917-7918.
- 130. Fomitchev, D. V.; Lim, B. S.; Holm, R. H. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 645-654.
- 131. Davies, E. S.; Aston, G. M.; Beddoes, R. L.; Collison, D.; Dinsmore, A.; Docrat, A.; Joule, J. A.; Wilson, C. R.; Garner, C. D. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1998, 3647-3656.
- 132. Sung, K.-M.; Holm, R. H. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 1275-1281.
- 133. Listemann, M. L.; Dewan, J. C.; Schrock, R. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1985, 107, 7207-7208.
- 134. Listemann, M. L.; Schrock, R. R.; Dewan, J. C.; Kolodziej, R. M. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 27, 264-271.
- 135. Bino, A.; Gibson, D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1982, 104, 4383-4388.
- 136. Cotton, F. A.; Dori, Z.; Marler, D. O.; Schwotzer, W. Inorg. Chem. 1984, 23, 4033-4038.
- 137. Wang, B.; Sasaki, Y.; Nagasawa, A.; Ito, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108, 6059-6060.
- 138. Rabinovich, D.; Parkin, G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 9421-9422.
- 139. Murphy, V. J.; Rabinovich, D.; Halkyard, S.; Parkin, G. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1995, 1099-1100.
- 140. Young, C. G.; Bruck, M. A.; Enemark, J. H. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 593-598.
- 141. Davies, S. C.; Hughes, D. L.; Richards, R. L.; Sanders, J. R. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 2000, 719-725.
- 142. Dilworth, J. R.; Hutson, A. J.; Lewis, J. S.; Miller, J. R.; Zheng, Y.; Chen, Q.; Zubieta, J. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1996, 1093-1104.
- 143. Chisholm, M. H.; Folting, K.; Pasterczyk, J. W. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 27, 3057-3058.
- 144. Chisholm, M. H.; Huffman, J. C.; Pasterczyk, J. W. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1987, 133, 17-18.
- 145. Nishihara, H.; Mori, T.; Tsurita, Y.; Nakano, K.; Saito, T.; Sasaki, Y. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1982, 104, 4367-4372.
- 146. Hidai, M.; Aramaki, S.; Yoshida, K.; Komada, T.; Takahashi, T.; Uchida, Y.; Mizobe, Y. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108. 1562-1568.
- 147. Nishibayashi, Y.; Takemoto, S.; Iwai, S.; Hidai, M. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 5946-5957.
- 148. Chacon, S. T.; Chisholm, M. H.; Floting, K.; Hampden-Smith, M. J.; Huffman, J. C. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 3122-3125.
- 149. Fairhurst, S. A.; Henderson, R. A.; Hughes, D. L.; Ibrahim, S. K.; Pickett, C. J. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1995, 1569-1570.
- 150. Schrauzer, G. N.; Mayweg, V. P.; Heinrich, W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1966, 88, 5174.
- 151. Feng, S. G.; Luan, L.; White, P.; Brookhart, M. S.; Templeton, J. L.; Young, C. G. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 2582-2584.
- 152. Thomas, S.; Young, C. G.; Tiekink, E. R. T. Organometallics 1998, 17, 182-189
- 153. Thomas, S.; Tiekink, E. R. T.; Young, C. G. Organometallics 1996, 15, 2428-2430.
- 154. Thomas, S.; Lim, P. J.; Gable, R. W.; Young, C. G. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 590-593.
- 155. Carmona, E.; Galindo, A.; Gutiérrez-Puebla, E.; Monge, A.; Puetra, C. Inorg. Chem. 1986, 25, 3804-3807.
- 156. Kerschner, J. L.; Fanwick, P. E.; Rothwell, I. P.; Huffman, J. C. Organometallics 1989, 8, 1431-1438.
- 157. Kriley, C. E.; Fanwick, P. E.; Rothwell, I. P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 5225-5232.
- 158. Nowicka, B.; Samotus, A.; Szklarzewicz, J.; Heinemann, F. W.; Kisch, H. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1998, 4009-4013.
- 159. Mills, R. C.; Wang, S. Y. S.; Abboud, K. A.; Boncella, J. M. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 5077–5082.
- 160. Bandy, J. A.; Berry, A.; Green, M. L. H.; Prout, K. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1985, 1462-1464.
- 161. Berry, A.; Green, M. L. H.; Bandy, J. A.; Prout, K. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1991, 2185–2206.
- 162. Luan, L.; White, P. S.; Brookhart, M.; Templeton, J. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 8190-8192.
- 163. Feng, S. G.; White, P. S.; Templeton, J. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 8192-8193.

- 164. Pérez, P. J.; White, P. S.; Brookhart, M.; Templeton, J. L. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 6050-6056.
- 165. Lu, J.; Harrison, W. T. A.; Jacobson, A. J. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1995, 34, 2557-2559.
- 166. Sieklucka, B.; Szklarzewicz, J.; Kemp, T. J.; Errington, W. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 5156-5158.
- 167. Millar, M.; J, S. L. S. H. C.; Koch, S. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1982, 104, 288-289.
- 168. Cotton, F. A.; Mandal, S. K. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 1267-1274.
- 169. Rothfuss, H.; Barry, J. T.; Huffman, J. C.; Caulton, K. G.; Chisholm, M. H. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 4573-4577.
- 170. Imaeda, M.; Nishihara, H.; Nakano, K.; Ichida, H.; Kobayashi, A.; Saito, T.; Sasaki, Y. Inorg. Chem. 1985, 24, 1246-1250.
- 171. Solari, E.; Hesschenbrouck, J.; Scopelliti, R.; Floriani, C.; Re, N. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 2001, 40, 932-934.
- 172. Hall, K. A.; Mayer, J. M. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 3289-3298.
- 173. McCleverty, J. A. Chem. Soc. Rev. 1983, 12, 331-360.
- 174. Wlodarczyk, A.; Kurek, S. S.; Moss, M. A. J.; Tolley, M. S.; Batsanov, A. S.; Howard, J. A. K.; McCleverty, J. A. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1993, 12, 2027-2036.
- 175. Obaidi, N. A.; Hamor, T. A.; Hones, C. J.; McCleverty, J. A.; Paxton, K. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1987, 1063-1069.
- 176. Chisholm, M. H.; Davidson, E. R.; Huffman, J. C.; Quinlan, K. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 9652-9664.
- 177. McQuillan, F. S.; Berridge, T. E.; Chen, H.; Hamor, T. A.; Jones, C. J. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 4959-4970.
- 178. McQuillan, F. S.; Chen, H.; Hamor, T. A.; Jones, C. J. Polyhedron 1996, 15, 3909–3913.
- 179. Berridge, T. E.; Barton, M. T.; Hamor, T. A.; Jones, C. J.; McQuillan, F. S.; Paxton, K.; Rowley, N. M. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 2000, 4645-4655.
- 180. Obaidi, N. A.; Chaudhury, M.; Clague, D.; Jones, C. J.; Pearson, J. C; McCleverty, J. A.; Salam, S. S. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1987, 1733-1736.
- 181. McCleverty, J. A.; Ward, M. D.; Jones, C. J. Comments Inorg. Chem. 2001, 22, 293-326.
- 182. Charsley, S. M.; Jones, C. J.; McCleverty, J. A.; Neaves, B. D.; Reynolds, S. J. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1988, 301-307.
- 183. Coe, B. J.; Foulon, J.-D.; Hamor, T. A.; Jones, C. J.; McCleverty, J. A.; Bloor, D.; Cross, G. H.; Axon, T. L. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1994, 3427-3439.
- 184. Coe, B. J.; Hamor, T. A.; Jones, C. J.; McCleverty, J. A.; Bloor, D.; Cross, G. H.; Axon, T. L. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1995, 673-684.
- 185. Wang, S. Y.; Borden, W. T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989, 111, 7282-7283.
- 186. Silva, M. F. C. G. d.; Hitchcock, P. B.; Hughes, D. L.; Marjani, K.; Pombeiro, A. J. L.; Richards, R. L. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1997, 3725-3731.
- 187. Cotton, F. A.; Falvello, L. R.; Meadows, J. H. Inorg. Chem. 1985, 24, 514-517.
- 188. Bröchler, R.; Sham, I. H. T.; Bodenbinder, M.; Schmitz, V.; Rettig, S. J.; Trotter, J.; Willner, H.; Aubke, F. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 2172-2177.
- 189. Burgmayer, S. J. N.; Templeton, J. L. Inorg. Chem. 1985, 24, 2224-2230.
- 190. Baker, P. K.; Fraser, S. G.; Drew, M. G. B. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1988, 2729-2734.
- 191. Cotton, F. A.; Meadows, J. H. Inorg. Chem. 1984, 23, 4688-4693.
- 192. Barrera, J.; Sabat, M.; Harman, W. D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 8178-8180.
- 193. Carmona, E.; Contreras, L.; Gutiérrez-Puebla, E.; Monge, A.; Sánchez, L. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 700-706.
- Dewan, J. C.; Roberts, M. M.; Lippard, S. J. Inorg. Chem. 1983, 22, 1529–1533.
 Osterberg, C. E.; Arif, A. M.; Richmond, T. G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1988, 110, 6903–6904.
- 196. Sluys, L. S. V. D.; Kubat-Martin, K. A.; Kubas, G. J.; Caulton, K. G. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 306-310.
- 197. Ainscough, E. W.; Brodie, A. M.; Burrell, A. K.; Kennedy, S. M. F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 10391–10392.
- 198. Hillhouse, G. L.; Goeden, G. V.; Haymore, B. L. Inorg. Chem. 1982, 21, 2064-2071.
- 199. Chaidhuri, P.; Wieghardt, K.; Tsai, Y.-H.; Krüger, C. Inorg. Chem. 1984, 23, 427-432.
- 200. Young, C. G.; Thomas, S.; Gable, R. W. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 1299-1306.
- 201. Richmond, T. G.; Osterberg, C. E.; Arif, A. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 8091-8092.
- 202. Burrow, T. E.; Lane, J.; Lazarowych, N. J.; Morris, R. H.; Richards, R. L. Polyhedron 1989, 8, 1701-1704.
- 203. Burrow, T. E.; Lough, A. J.; Morris, R. H.; Hills, A.; Hughes, D. L.; Lane, J. D.; Richards, R. L. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1991, 2519-2526.
- 204. Burrow, T. E.; Hughes, D. L.; Lough, A. J.; Maguire, M. J.; Morris, R. H.; Richards, R. L. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1995, 1315-1323.
- 205. Baker, P. K.; Drew, M. G. B.; Parker, E. E.; Robertson, N.; Underhill, A. E. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1997, 1429-1433.
- 206. Baker, P. K.; Clark, A. I.; Drew, M. G. B.; Durrant, M. C.; Richards, R. L. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 821-824.
- 207. Kientz, C. O.; Thöne, C.; Jones, P. G. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 3990-3997
- 208. Sukcharoenphon, K.; Capps, K. B.; Abboud, K. A.; Hoff, C. D. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 2402-2408.
- 209. Young, C. G.; Bruck, M. A.; Wexler, P. A.; Carducci, M. D.; Enemark, J. H. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 587-593.

- 210. Poling, C. G., Didax, M. H., Weiter, F. H., Cardaded, M. D., Endandi, C. H. 1993, *32*, 5437–5443.
 211. Thomas, S.; Tiekink, E. R. T.; Young, C. G. *Inorg. Chem.* 1994, *33*, 1416–1420.
 212. Lang, R. F.; Ju, T. D.; Kiss, G.; Hoff, C. D.; Bryan, J. C.; Kubas, G. J. *Inorg. Chem.* 1994, *33*, 3899–3907.
- 213. Phillipp, C. C.; White, P. S.; Templeton, J. L. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 3825-3830.
- 214. Pérez, P. J.; Luan, L.; White, P. S.; Brookhart, M.; Templeton, J. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 7928-7929.
- 215. Feng, S. G.; White, P. S.; Templeton, J. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 8613-8620.
- 216. Young, C. G.; Philipp, C. C.; White, P. S.; Teempleton, J. L. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 6412-6414.
- 217. Ishida, T.; Hayashi, T.; Mizobe, Y.; Hidai, M. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 4481-4485.
- 218. Charles, S.; Fettinger, J. C.; Eichhorn, B. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 5303-5311.
- 219. Chiou, Y.-M.; L. Que, J. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 3270-3278.
- 220. Chen, Y.; Lin, F.-T.; Shepherd, R. E. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 973-983.
- 221. Giraudon, J.-M.; Mandon, D.; Sala-Pala, J.; Guerchais, J. E.; Kerbaol, J.-M.; Mest, Y. L.; L'Haridon, P. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 707-713.
- 222. Arif, A. M.; Cowley, A. H.; Norman, N. C.; Pakulski, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1985, 107, 1062–1063.

- 223. Arf, A. M.; Cowley, A. H.; Norman, N. C.; Pakulski, M. Inorg. Chem. 1986, 25, 4836-4840.
- 224. Braunschweig, H.; Kollann, C.; Englert, U. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1998, 37, 3179-3180.
- 225. Butts, M. D.; Bryan, J. C.; Luo, X.-L.; Kubas, G. J. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 3341-3353.
- 226. Beissel, T.; Vedova, B. S. P. C. D.; Wieghardt, K.; Boese, R. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 1736-1741.
- 227. Kubas, G. J.; Ryan, R. R.; Wrobleski, D. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108, 1339-1341.
- 228. Hersh, W. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1985, 107, 4599-4601.
- 229. Honeychuck, R. V.; Hersh, W. H. Inorg. Chem. 1989, 28, 2869-2886.
- 230. Hillhouse, G. L.; Haymore, B. L. Inorg. Chem. 1987, 26, 1876-1885.
- 231. M. R. Smith, I.; Keys, R. L.; Hillhouse, G. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989, 111, 8312-8314.
- 232. Zeijden, A. A. H. v. d.; Shklover, V.; Berke, H. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 4393-4396.
- 233. Zeijden, A. A. H. v. d.; Veghini, D.; Berke, H. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 5106-5116.
- 234. Hoffmann, P.; Mattes, R. *Inorg. Chem.* **1989**, *28*, 2092–2096.
- 235. Lin, J. T.; Huang, P. S.; Tsai, T. Y. R.; Liao, C.-Y.; Tseng, L.-H.; Wen, Y. S.; Shi, F.-K. *Inorg. Chem.* **1992**, *31*, 4444–4452.
- 236. Lin, J. Y.; Wang, S. Y.; Yeh, A. C.; Tsai, T. Y. R.; Peng, S.-M.; Lee, G. H.; Wen, Y. S. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 1948–1952.
- 237. Capps, K. B.; Bauer, A.; Abboud, K. A.; Hoff, C. D. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 6212-6217.
- 238. Dadkhah, H.; Dilworth, J. R.; Fairman, K.; Kan, C. T.; Hughes, D. L. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1985, 1523-1526.
- 239. Hu, C.; Hodgeman, W. C.; Bennett, D. W. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 1621-1626.
- 240. Rosa, P.; Ricard, L.; Floch, P. L.; Mathey, F.; Sini, G.; Eisenstein, O. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 3154-3158.
- 241. Darensbourg, D. J.; Klausmeyer, K. K.; Reibenspies, J. H. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 4933-4934.
- 242. Palitzsch, W.; Böhme, U.; Roewer, G. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1997, 803-804.
- 243. Faggiani, R.; Gillespie, R. J.; Campana, C.; Kolis, J. W. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1987, 485-486.
- 244. Flomer, W. A.; O'Neal, S. C.; Kolis, J. W.; Jeter, D.; Corfes, A. W. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 27, 969-971.
- 245. Liaw, W.-F.; Chiang, M.-H.; Lai, C.-H.; Chiou, S.-J.; Lee, G.-H.; Peng, S.-M. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 2493–2494.
- 246. Kuhn, N.; Schumann, H.; Wolmershäuser, G. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1985, 1400-1402.
- 247. Collins, M. J.; Gillespie, R. J.; Kolis, J. W.; Sawyer, J. F. Inorg. Chem. 1986, 25, 2057–2061.
- 248. Davies, M. K.; Durrant, M. C.; Levason, W.; Reid, G.; Richards, R. L. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1999, 1077–1083.
- 249. Kubas, G. J.; Jarvinen, G. D.; Ryan, R. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1983, 105, 1883-1891.
- 250. Adams, R. D.; Blankenship, C.; Segmüller, B. E.; Shirallian, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1983, 105, 4319-4326.
- 251. Adams, R. D.; Babin, J. E.; Natarajan, K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108, 3518-3519.
- 252. Darensbourg, D. J.; Sanchez, K. M.; Reibenspies, J. H. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 27, 3636–3643.
- 253. Glavee, G. N.; Daniels, L. M.; Angelici, R. J. Inorg. Chem. 1989, 28, 1751-1754.
- 254. Darensbourg, D. J.; Mueller, B. L.; Bischoff, C. J.; Chojnacki, S. S.; Reibenspies, J. H. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 2418-2424.
- 255. Wu, H.; Lucas, C. R. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 2354-2358.
- 256. Galindo, A.; Gutiérrez-Puebla, E.; Monge, A.; Pastor, A.; Pizzano, A.; Ruiz, C.; Sánchez, L.; Carmona, E. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 5569–5575.
- 257. Adams, R. D.; Queisser, J. A.; Yamamoto, J. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 10674-10675.
- 258. Adams, R. D.; J. W. Long, I.; Perrin, J. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 1922-1923.
- 259. Darensbourg, D. J.; Draper, J. D.; Frost, B. J.; Reibenspies, J. H. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 4705–4714.
- 260. Darensbourg, D. J.; Frost, B. J.; Derecskei-Kovacs, A.; Reibenspies, J. H. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 4715–4723.
- 261. Gormley, F. K.; Gronbach, J.; Draper, S. M.; Davis, A. P. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 2000, 173-179.
- 262. Raubenheimer, H. G.; Marais, E. K.; Cronje, S.; Esterhuysen, C.; Kruger, G. J. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 2000, 3016–3021.
- 263. Cotton, F. A.; Darensbourg, D. J.; Kolthammer, B. W. S.; Kudaroski, R. Inorg. Chem. 1982, 21, 1656–1662.
- 264. Darensbourg, D. J.; Sanchez, K. M.; Reibenspies, J. H.; Rheingold, A. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989, 111, 7094-7103.
- 265. Darensbourg, D. J.; Sanchez, K. M.; Rheingold, A. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 290-292.
- 266. Darensbourg, D. J.; Sanchez, K. M.; Reibenspies, J. H. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 27, 3269-3270.
- 267. Darensbourg, D. J.; Mueller, B. L.; Reibenspies, J. H.; Bischoff, C. J. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 1789-1791.
- 268. Darensbourg, D. J.; Chojnacki, J. A.; Reibenspies, J. H. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 3428-3433.
- 269. Darensbourg, D. J.; Jones, M. L. M.; Reibenspies, J. H. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 4675-4676.
- 270. Darensbourg, D. J.; Jones, M. L. M.; Reibenspies, J. H. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 4406-4413.
- 271. Darensbourg, D. J.; Atnip, E. V.; Klausmeyer, K. K.; Reibenspies, J. H. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 5230-5237.
- 272. Darensbourg, D. J.; Draper, J. D.; Reibenspies, J. H. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 3648-3656.
- 273. Darensbourg, D. J.; Draper, J. D.; Larkins, D. L.; Frost, B. J.; Reibenspies, J. H. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 2538-2546.
- 274. Darensbourg, D. J.; Klausmeyer, K. K.; Mueller, B. L.; Reibenspies, J. H. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1992, 31, 1503–1504.
- 275. Darensbourg, D. J.; Klausmeyer, K. K.; Reibenspies, J. H. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 1529-1534.
- 276. Darensbourg, D. J.; Draper, J. D. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 5383-5386.
- 277. Aroney, M. J.; Buys, I. E.; Davies, M. S.; Hambley, T. W. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1994, 2827-2834.
- 278. Hill, A. M.; Holmes, N. J.; Genge, A. R. J.; Levason, W.; Webster, M.; Rutschow, S. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1998, 825–832.
- 279. Hibbs, D. E.; Hursthouse, M. B.; Jones, C.; Thomas, R. C. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1999, 2627-2631.
- 280. Shyu, S.-G.; Calligaris, M.; Nardin, G.; Wojcicki, A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 3617–3625.
- 281. Aroney, M. J.; Davies, M. S.; Hambley, T. W.; Pierens, R. K. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1994, 91-96.
- 282. Streubel, R.; Neumann, C.; Jones, P. G. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 2000, 2495-2496.
- 283. Reddy, V. S.; Katti, K. V.; Barnes, C. L. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 1273-1277.
- 284. Reddy, V. S.; Katti, K. V.; Barnes, C. L. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 5483-5488.
- 285. Streubel, R.; Wilkens, H.; Jones, P. G. Chem. Commun. 1999, 2127-2128.
- 286. Charles, S.; Fettinger, J. C.; Eichhorn, B. W. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 1540-1548.

- 287. Armstrong, D. R.; Feeder, N.; Hopkins, A. D.; Mays, M. J.; Moncrieff, D.; Wood, J. A.; Woods, A. D.; Wright, D. S. Chem. Commun. 2000, 2483-2484.
- 288. Vogel, U.; Stößer, G.; Scheer, M. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 2001, 40, 1443-1445.
- 289. Holand, S.; Mathey, F. Organometallics 1988, 7, 1796-1801.
- 290. Floch, P. L.; Marinetti, A.; Ricard, L.; Mathey, F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 2407-2410.
- 291. Armbrust, R.; Sanchez, M.; Réau, R.; Bergsträsser, U.; Regitz, M.; Bertrand, G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 10785-10786.
- 292. Sanchez, M.; Réau, R.; Gornitzka, H.; Dahan, F.; Regitz, M.; Bertrand, G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 9720–9728. 293. Komen, C. M. D.; Horan, C. J.; Krill, S.; Gray, G. M.; Lutz, M.; Spek, A. L.; Ehlers, A. W.; Lammertsma, K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 12507-12516.
- 294. Black, S. J.; Hibbs, D. E.; Hursthouse, M. B.; Jones, C.; Malik, K. M. A.; Thomas, R. C. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1997, , 4321-4326.
- 295. Ito, S.; Sugiyama, H.; Yoshifuji, M. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 2000, 39, 2781-2783.
- 296. Yoshifuji, M.; Ichikawa, Y.; Yamada, N.; Toyota, K. Chem. Commun. 1998, 27-28.
- 297. Ito, S.; Yoshifuji, M. Chem. Commun. 2001, 1208-1209.
- 298. Marinetti, A.; Mathey, F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1982, 104, 4484-4485.
- 299. Marinetti, A.; Fischer, J.; Mathey, F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1985**, 107, 5001–5002. 300. Streubel, R.; Wilkens, H.; Jones, P. G. Chem. Commun. **1998**, 1761–1762.
- 301. Wang, B.; Lake, C. H.; Lammertsma, K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 1690-1695.
- 302. Huy, N. H. T.; Ricard, L.; Mathey, F. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1999, 2409-2410.
- 303. Vlaar, M. J. M.; Ehlers, A. W.; Kanter, F. J. J. d.; Schakel, M.; Spek, A. L.; Lammertsma, K. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 2000, 392943-2945.
- 304. Hay, C.; Vilatin, D. L.; Deborde, V.; Toupet, L.; Réau, R. Chem. Commun. 1999, 345-346.
- 305. Al-Jibori, S.; Hall, M.; Hutton, A. T.; Shaw, B. L. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1982, 1069–1071.
- 306. Al-Jibori, S.; Hall, M.; Hutton, A. T.; Shaw, B. L. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1984, 863-867.
- 307. Wasserman, H. J.; Kubas, G. J.; Ryan, R. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108, 2294-2301.
- 308. Hassan, F. S.; Shaw, B. L.; Thornton-Pett, M. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1988, 89-92.
- 309. Darensbourg, D. J.; Bischoff, C. J.; Reibenspies, J. H. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 1144-1147.
- 310. Vaumas, R. d.; Marinetti, A.; Ricard, L.; Mathey, F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1992**, 114, 261–266. 311. Yih, K.-H.; Lin, Y.-C.; Cheng, M.-C.; Wang, Y. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. **1993**, 1380–1382.
- 312. Phang, L.-T.; Au-Yeung, S. C. F.; Hor, T. S. A.; Khoo, S. B.; Zhou, Z.-Y.; Mak, T. C. W. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1993, 165-172.
- 313. Hung, J.-T.; Yang, S.-W.; Chand, P.; Gray, G. M.; Lammertsma, K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 10966–10971.
- 314. Wilkens, H.; Jeske, J.; Jones, P. G.; Streubel, R. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1997, 2317-2318.
- 315. Bauer, E. B.; Ruwwe, J.; Martin-Alvarez, J. M.; Peters, T. B.; Bohling, J. C.; Hampel, F. A.; Szafert, S.; Lis, T.; Gladysz, J. A. Chem. Commun. 2000, 2261-2262.
- 316. Yih, K.-H.; Lee, G.-H.; Wang, Y. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 2445-2451.
- 317. Ainscough, E. W.; Brodie, A. M.; Buckley, P. D.; Burrell, A. K.; Kennedy, S. M. F.; Waters, J. M. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 2000, 2663-2671.
- 318. Carmichael, D.; Hitchcock, P. B.; Nixon, J. F.; Mathey, F.; Pidcock, A. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1986, 762-763.
- 319. Carmichael, D.; Hitchcock, P. B.; Nixon, J. F.; Mathey, F.; Ricard, L. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1989, 1389-1390.
- 320. Brèque, A.; Santini, C. C.; Mathey, F.; Fischer, J.; Mitschler, A. Inorg. Chem. 1984, 23, 3463-3467.
- 321. Kyba, E. P.; Davis, R. E.; Liu, S.-T.; Hassett, K. A.; Larson, S. B. Inorg. Chem. 1985, 24, 4629-4634.
- 322. Menu, M. J.; Crocco, G.; Dartiguenave, M.; Dartiguenave, Y.; Bertrand, G. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1988, 1598-1599.
- 323. Sleiman, H. F.; Arndtsen, B. A.; McElwee-White, L. Organometallics 1991, 10, 541-543.
- 324. Arndtsen, B. A.; Schoch, T. K.; McElwee-White, L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 7041-7047.
- 325. Darensbourg, D. J.; Zalewski, D. J.; Plepys, C.; Campana, C. Inorg. Chem. 1987, 26, 3727-3732.
- 326. Ike, U. U.; Perera, S. D.; Shaw, B. L.; Thornton-Pett, M. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1995, 2057–2065.
- 327. Darensbourg, D. J.; Kudaroski, R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1984, 106, 3672-3673.
- 328. Rommel, J. S.; Weinrach, J. B.; Grubisha, D. S.; Bennett, D. W. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 27, 2945-2949.
- 329. Wagner, N. L.; Laib, F. E.; Bennett, D. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 10856-10867.
- 330. Kubas, G. J.; Ryan, R. R.; Swanson, B. I.; Vergamini, P. J.; Wasserman, H. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1984, 106, 451-452.
- 331. Slater, S. G.; Lusk, R.; Schumann, B. F.; Darensbourg, M. Organometallics 1982, 1, 1662–1666.
- 332. Hynes, R. C.; Preston, K. F.; Spings, J. J.; Williams, A. J. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1990, 3655-3660.
- 333. Lin, J. T.; Sun, S.-S.; Wu, J. J.; Lee, L.; Lin, K.-J.; Huang, Y. F. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 2323–2333.
- 334. Bieger, K.; Bouhadir, G.; Réau, R.; Dahan, F.; Bertrand, G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 1038-1044.
- 335. Darensbourg, D. J.; Klausmeyer, K. K.; Reibenspies, J. H. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 35, 1535-1539.
- 336. Darensbourg, D. J.; Frost, B. J.; Larkins, D. L. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 1993-1999.
- 337. Armanasco, N. L.; Baker, M. V.; North, M. R.; Skelton, B. W.; White, A. H. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1998, 1145-1149.
- 338. Heard, P. J.; Tocher, D. A. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1998, 2169-2176.
- 339. Rutsch, P.; Huttner, G. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 2000, 39, 3697-3699.
- 340. Darensbourg, M. Y.; Liaw, W.-F.; Reibenspies, J. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 27, 2555-2558.
- 341. Balch, A. L.; Oram, D. E. Organometallics 1988, 7, 155-158.
- 342. Balch, A. L.; Olmstead, M. M.; Oram, D. P. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 27, 4309-4312.
- 343. Darensbourg, D. J.; Bauch, C. G.; Reibenspies, J. H.; Rheingold, A. L. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 27, 4203-4207.
- 344. Darensbourg, D. J.; Yoder, J. C.; Holtcamp, M. W.; Klausmeyer, K. K.; Reibenspies, J. H. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 4764-4769.
- 345. Katoh, K.; Shimoi, M.; Ogino, H. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 670-675.

- 346. Shimoi, M.; Nagai, S.; Ichikawa, M.; Kawano, Y.; Katoh, K.; Uruichi, M.; Ogino, H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 11704–11712.
- 347. Ardon, M.; Cotton, F. A.; Dori, Z.; Fang, A.; Kapon, M.; Reisner, G. M.; Shaia, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1982, 104, 5394–5398.
- 348. Bino, A.; Cotton, F. A.; Dori, Z.; Shaia-Gottlieb, M.; Kapon, M. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 27, 3592-3596.
- 349. Ball, J. M.; Boorman, P. M.; Moynihan, K. J.; Patel, V. D.; Richardson, J. F.; Collison, D.; Mabbs, F. E. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1983, 2479–2485.
- 350. Ball, J. M.; Boorman, P. M.; Fait, J. F.; Kraatz, H.; Richardson, J. F.; Collison, D.; Mabbs, F. E. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 3290–3293.
- 351. Horwitz, C. P.; Holt, E. M.; Shriver, D. F. Inorg. Chem. 1984, 23, 2491-2499.
- 352. Kappen, T. G. M. M.; Broek, A. C. V. D.; Schlebos, P. P. J.; Bour, J. J.; Bosman, W. P.; Smits, J. M. M.; Beurskens, P. T.; Steggerda, J. J. *Inorg. Chem.* **1992**, *31*, 4075–4080.
- 353. Kim, H. P.; Kim, S.; Jacobson, R. A.; Angellci, R. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108, 5154-5158.
- 354. Einstein, F. W. B.; Pomeroy, T. J. R. K.; Rushman, P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1984, 106, 2707–2708.
- 355. Batchelor, R. J.; Davis, H. B.; Einstein, F. W. B.; Pomeroy, R. K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 2036-2037.
- 356. Batchelor, R. J.; Einstein, F. W. B.; Pomeroy, R. K.; Shipley, J. A. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 3155–3157.
- 357. Arndt, L. W.; Darensbourg, M. Y.; Fackler, J. P. Jr.; Lusk, R. J.; Marler, D. O.; Youngdahl, K. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1985, 107, 7218–7219.
- 358. Arndt, L. W.; Darensbourg, M. Y.; Delord, T.; Bancroft, B. T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108, 2617–2627.
- 359. Fischer, R. A.; Schulte, M. M.; Weiss, J.; Zsilnai, L.; Jacobi, A.; Huttner, G.; Frenking, G.; Boehme, C.; Vyboishchikov, S. F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 1237–1248.

4.9 Dinuclear Metal–Metal Bonded Systems

J. L. EGLIN

Los Alamos National Laboratory, New Mexico, USA

4.9.1 INTRODUCTION	575
4.9.2 DITITANIUM COMPLEXES	576
4.9.3 DIZIRCONIUM COMPLEXES	577
4.9.4 DIHAFNIUM COMPLEXES	578
4.9.5 DIVANADIUM COMPLEXES	580
4.9.5.1 $V_2^{IV,IV}$ Complexes	580
4.9.5.2 $V_2^{\text{III,III}}$ Complexes	581
4.9.5.3 $V_2^{\Pi,\Pi}$ Complexes	583
4.9.5.4 $V_2^{I,I}$ Complexes	584
$4.9.5.5 V_2^{0.0} \text{Complexes}$	584
4.9.6 DINIOBIUM COMPLEXES	584
4.9.6.1 Nb ₂ ^{V,V} Complexes	584
4.9.6.2 Nb ^{-IV,IV} Complexes	586
4.9.6.3 Nb ^{1II,III} Complexes	588
4.9.6.4 Nb ^{-II,II} Complexes	590
4.9.7 DITANTALUM COMPLEXES	592
4.9.7.1 $Ta_2^{IV,IV}$ Complexes	592
4.9.7.2 Ta ₂ ^{III,III} Complexes	594
4.9.7.3 $Ta_2^{II,II}$ Complexes	598
4.9.8 DICHROMIUM COMPLEXES	599
4.9.8.1 Cr ₂ ^{III,III} Complexes	599
4.9.8.2 $Cr_2^{-\Pi,\Pi}$ Complexes	599
4.9.9 DIMOLYBDENUM COMPLEXES	603
4.9.9.1 Introduction	603
4.9.9.2 $Mo_2^{V,V}$ Complexes	603
4.9.9.3 Mo ^{-IV,IV} Complexes	607
4.9.9.4 Mo ^{TII,III} Complexes	607
4.9.9.5 $Mo_2^{\Pi,\Pi}$ Complexes	611
4.9.9.6 Mo2 ^{I,I} Complexes	615
4.9.10 DITUNGSTEN COMPLEXES	616
4.9.10.1 $W_2^{V,V}$ Complexes	616
4.9.10.2 W ₂ ^{IV,IV} Complexes	619
4.9.10.3 W ^{-III,III} Complexes	620
4.9.10.4 $W_2^{\text{II,II}}$ Complexes	624
$4.9.10.5 \text{ W}_2^{1.1} \text{ Complexes}$	625
4.9.11 REFERENCES	625

4.9.1 INTRODUCTION

Dinuclear group 3–6 metal–metal bonded systems encompass a wide range of compounds with a variety of ligand types. With the use of innovative starting materials or novel synthetic methods, the number of new complexes continues to expand. Several general trends are apparent for known

metal-metal bonded systems of group 3–6. The number of metal-metal bonded complexes increases as one moves across the periodic table from group 3 to group 6. Sulfur-based ligands tend to dominate in higher oxidation state complexes, while nitrogen, phosphorus, and oxygen are more common for lower oxidation states. Overall, cyclopentadienyl ligands play a significant role in the design of metal-metal bonded complexes regardless of the oxidation state.

The present review of metal-metal bonded systems focuses primarily on complexes that are supported by structural evidence. Information for group 6 compounds concentrates on complexes synthesized since 1990. Although several organometallic complexes are discussed, their inclusion is primarily a result of either their use as a starting material or an unusual oxidation state or structure.

Metal-metal bonded dinuclear complexes are absent for the group 3 metals scandium, yttrium, and lanthanum while dititanium chemistry is truly in its infancy.

4.9.2 DITITANIUM COMPLEXES

Dititanium(III, III) edge-sharing bioctahedral complexes have been synthesized from TiCl₄ using formamidinate ligands to result in $Ti_2(\mu-Cl)_2(\mu-H_5C_6NC(H)NC_6H_5)_2(H_5C_6NC(H)NC_6H_5)_2$ and $Ti_2(\mu-Cl)_2(\mu-H_9C_{12}NC(H)NC_{12}H_9)_2(H_9C_{12}NC(H)NC_{12}H_9)_2$.¹ With Ti—Ti bond lengths of 2.890(8)Å and 2.916(3)Å respectively, the formamidinate ligands both chelate to the titanium metal centers and bridge the dinuclear core. Other researchers have successfully investigated the use of $TiCl_3(THF)_3$, $Ti_2Cl_6(THF)_4$, and $TiCl(tmeda)_2$, where tmeda is *N,N,N'*. Tetramethyl-ethylenediamine, as starting materials in the synthesis of the dicyclohexylformamidinate derivative, $Ti_2(\mu-Cl)_2(\mu-H_{10}C_6NC(H)NC_6H_{10})_2(H_{10}C_6NC(H)NC_6H_{10})_2$ with a Ti—Ti bond length of 2.942(2)Å.² A few unrelated complexes with $Ti_2^{II,III}$ mixed oxidation states are known. Addition of two

A few unrelated complexes with $T_{12}^{n,n1}$ mixed oxidation states are known. Addition of two equivalents of C₃H₅MgCl in toluene to TiCl₄(dmpe), where dmpe is (CH₃)₂PCH₂CH₂P(CH₃)₂, at low temperature results in the formation of the mixed valent species Ti₂(μ -Cl)₂Cl₂(dmpe)₂(μ^2 - η^3 -C₃H₅) shown in Figure 1.³ The allyl ligand symmetrically bridges the two titanium centers with Ti–C bond lengths to the terminal carbons of 2.154(6) Å and a Ti–Ti bond length of 2.908(1) Å. The mixed valence hydride complex (η^5 -indenyl)Ti(μ -indenyl)(μ -H)₂Ti(η^5 -indenyl) has a Ti–Ti bond length of 2.745 Å, averaged from the two geometries with the terminal indenyl ligands in either the *syn* or *anti* positions.⁴



Figure 1 ORTEP drawing of $Ti_2(\mu$ -Cl)₂Cl₂(dmpe)₂(μ^2 - η^3 -C₃H₅) (reproduced by permission of Elsevier Science from *J. Organomet. Chem.* **2000**, *593–594*, 1–6).

While predominantly coordinated by cyclopentadienyl ligands, the molecular structure of $(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_3(C_5H_4)Ti_2(C_4H_8O)\cdot C_4H_8O$ provides an example of a Ti—Ti bond (3.336(4) Å) containing a coordinated tetrahydrofuran ligand with the structure shown below in Figure 2.⁵ The basic synthetic pathway, reduction of a Ti^{II} mononuclear complex, is repeated for the synthesis of the compound $[(2,6-(C_6H_5)_2C_6H_3O)_2Ti(\mu-Cl)_2Ti(OC_6H_3(C_6H_5)_2-2,6)_2]$ upon the sodium amalgam reduction of Ti(OC_6H_3(C_6H_5)_2-2,6)_2Cl_2 where OC_6H_3(C_6H_5)_2-2,6 is 2,6-diphenylphenoxide.⁶ The core structure is described as an edge-sharing *bis*-tetrahedron with a Ti—Ti bond length of 2.9827(7) Å.

4.9.3 DIZIRCONIUM COMPLEXES

Metal-metal bonds between zirconium atoms are limited effectively to $Zr_2^{III,III}$ species, with coordination spheres primarily composed of phosphine ligands and halide atoms. In $Zr_2^{III,III}$ compounds, one of the critical characteristics of the Zr–Zr σ^2 bond is the resulting diamagnetism of these complexes. *Ab initio* self-consistent field/configuration interaction calculations indicate that a significant metal-metal bonding interaction is present at Zr–Zr distances greater than 3.5 Å for [ZrCl₃(PH₃)₂]₂ and [$(\eta^5$ -C₅H₅)₂Zr(μ -PH₂)]₂.⁷ The first example of an edge-sharing bioctahedral Zr₂^{III,III} complex was reported in 1981, [ZrCl₃(PBu₃)₂]₂.⁸ The Zr–Zr bond length in this compound is 3.182(1) Å, and the general preparative route to [ZrCl₃L₂]₂ complexes, where L is a monodentate phosphine ligand is shown in Equation (1).

$$ZrCl_4 + 2 L \xrightarrow{toluene} 0.5[ZrCl_3L_2]_2$$
Na/Hg (1)

$$L = PMe_3$$
, PEt₃, PPr₃, PBu₃

The basic synthetic method has been expanded to include both the synthesis of $[ZrBr_3L_2]_2$ and $[ZrI_3L_2]_2$ compounds and the use of bidentate phosphine ligands. There is a significant variation in the metal-metal bond lengths observed for these complexes with a lengthening of the Zr—Zr bond length with an increase in the size of the bridging halide; Cl through I. A representative structure, $Zr_2I_6(P(CH_3)_3)_4$,⁹ is shown in Figure 3 with two bridging halides and the phosphine ligands in the plane of the bridging halides. In the following series, the Zr—Zr distances for the structurally characterized complexes are $Zr_2Cl_6(P(CH_3)_3)_4$ (3.132(1)Å),¹ $Zr_2Cl_6(P(CH_2CH_3)_3)_4$ (3.169(1)Å),¹⁰ $Zr_2Cl_6(P(CH_3)_2(C_6H_5))_4$ (3.127(1)Å),¹⁰ $Zr_2Br_6(P(CH_3)_3)_4$ (3.200(1)Å),¹¹ $Zr_2I_6(P(CH_3)_3)_4$ (3.393(2)Å),⁹ and $Zr_2I_6(P(CH_3)_2(C_6H_5))_4$ (3.490(6)Å).⁹



Figure 2 Drawing of the bonding in $(\eta^5 - C_5H_5)_3(C_5H_4)Ti_2(C_4H_8O) \cdot C_4H_8O$.


Figure 3 ORTEP drawing of $Zr_2I_6(P(CH_3)_3)_4$ (reproduced by permission of the American Chemical Society from *Inorg. Chem.* **1991**, *30*, 3670–3675).

There are few exceptions in zirconium/phosphine compounds to the basic $[ZrCl_3L_2]_2$ structural motif. The presence of the chelating phosphine ligand dppe [bis(diphenylphosphino)ethane] in a toluene solution of ZrCl₄ results in the formation of the green compound, $Zr_2Cl_6(dppe)_2 \cdot 2C_2H_4Cl_2 \cdot 1.5C_6H_5CH_3$, upon addition of dichloroethane.¹⁰ Two independent dinuclear molecules are present in the unit cell with Zr–Zr bond lengths of 3.099(2) Å and 3.109(2) Å, respectively. The chelating phosphine ligand forms a puckered 5-membered ring; ZrP_2C_2. The related compound $Zr_2Cl_6(dippe)_2$ where dippe is $(Pr^i)_2PCH_2CH_2P(Pr^i)_2$ has been synthesized, but not characterized structurally.¹²

Using $HSn(^{n}Bu)_{3}$ as the reducing agent, the face-sharing bioctahedral compound $[NBu_{4}][Zr_{2}I_{7}(P(CH_{2}CH_{3})_{3})_{2}]$ is prepared in low yield from reduction of ZrI_{4} followed by the subsequent addition of $P(CH_{2}CH_{3})_{3}$ and $[NBu_{4}]I.^{13}$ The Zr–Zr bond length of 3.171(3)Å is significantly shorter than the edge-sharing bioctahedral complexes with bridging iodides.

Another significant area of research in zirconium chemistry is the use of cyclopentadienyl ligands in the synthesis of dinuclear complexes.¹⁴⁻¹⁸ However, only the fulvalene zirconium(II) derivative shown in Figure 4, $(\eta^5:\eta^5-C_{10}H_8)[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)Zr(\mu-Cl)]_2$ contains a Zr—Zr bond.¹⁹ $(\eta^5:\eta^5-C_{10}H_8)[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)Zr(\mu-Cl)]_2$ (3.233(1) Å] results from the comproportionation reaction between Zr^{IV} and Zr^{II} reagents, $(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2Zr(L_2 \text{ and } (\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2Zr[P(CH_3)_3]_2$.

4.9.4 DIHAFNIUM COMPLEXES

Metal-metal bonded complexes of dihafnium are similar to dizirconium complexes in regard to both the ligand types used in the synthesis and the structural geometry of the resultant complexes. Compounds have been synthesized from the reduction of the Hf^{IV} halide with Na/Hg amalgam in toluene and the addition of monodentate or bidentate phosphine ligands.^{9,12,20} Rather surprisingly, the first compound containing a Hf—Hf bond was not identified until 1990²⁰ and there remains only a handful of structurally characterized complexes. The structure of the olive–green diamagnetic crystals of Hf₂Cl₆(P(CH₃)₂(C₆H₅))₄ contains a Hf—Hf bond length of 3.0886(3) Å,²⁰ 0.038 Å shorter than the Zr–Zr analog, Zr₂Cl₆(P(CH₃)₂(C₆H₅))₄.¹⁰ As in the case of the Zr₂^{III,III} analogs, there is an increase in the Hf—Hf bond length with an increase in the size of the bridging halide, chloride versus iodide. The phosphorus atoms are found to lie in the same plane as the



Figure 4 ORTEP drawing of $(\eta^5: \eta^5-C_{10}H_8)[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)Zr(\mu-Cl)]_2$ (reproduced by permission of the American Chemical Society from *Organometallics* **1987**, *6*, 897–899).

bridging halides in these edge-sharing bioctahedral structures. For $Hf_2I_6(P(CH_3)_2(C_6H_5))_4$, the Hf—Hf bond length increases from the chloro analog to 3.3948(6) Å with the structure shown in Figure 5.⁹ The highest yield synthesis of a $Hf_2^{III,III}$ complex is $Hf_2Cl_6(dippe)_2$, 57%.¹² In contrast to the synthesis of the monodentate phosphine analogs where the phosphine ligand is added 24 hrs after Na/Hg reduction, the bidentate phosphine ligand is present in the suspension of $HfCl_4$ upon addition of the amalgam.¹²



Figure 5 ORTEP drawing of $Hf_2I_6(P(CH_3)_2(C_6H_5))_4$ (reproduced by permission of the American Chemical Society from *Inorg. Chem.* 1991, *30*, 3670–3675).

4.9.5 DIVANADIUM COMPLEXES

4.9.5.1 V₂^{IV,IV} Complexes

Unlike group 4 dinuclear metal complexes, metal-metal bonded divanadium complexes span a wide range of oxidation states and ligand types. McCarley presents a nice literature review of dinuclear vanadium(IV) complexes with two single-atom bridges, but only a handful with V—V bond lengths between 2.459 Å and 2.970 Å possess metal-metal single bonds.²¹ One of the high-oxidation-state examples is the V₂^{IV,IV} diamagnetic complex V₂(μ -N^lBu)₂(η ²-CH₂ (2,4-(CH₃)₂C₆H₂)CH₂N^tBu)₂ with a vanadium—vanadium single bond, 2.460(1) Å.²² A weak V—V bond is present in the dark green compound V₂(μ -O)₂[N(Si(CH₃)₃)₂] (2.612(2) Å)²¹ with two bridging oxides. V₂(μ -O)₂[N(Si(CH₃)₃)₂] is synthesized by the reduction of vanadyl trichloride upon addition of LiN(Si(CH₃)₃)₂. The deep red sulfur analog, V₂(μ -S)₂[N(Si(CH₃)₃)₂],²³ is synthesized by a slightly different route: the addition of S₈ to a suspension of [((CH₃)₃Si)₂N]₂VCl(THF). The structure of V₂(μ -S)₂[N(Si(CH₃)₃)₂] with a distorted tetrahedral geometry at the vanadium core is shown in Figure 6 and contains a V—V bond length of 2.857(1) Å.

Figure 6 and contains a V—V bond length of 2.857(1) A. Sulfur-based ligands play a more dominant role in V₂^{IV,IV} complexes. A weak metal-metal bond is proposed in the structure of $[V_2(\mu-\eta^2-S_2)_2(CS_3)_4]^{4-}$ (2.8720(59)Å).²⁴ Similar V₂($\mu-\eta^2-S_2)_2$ core structures are observed in the analogous compounds V₂($\mu-\eta^2-S_2)_2$ (CH₃CH₂)₂NCS₂)₄ (2.884(4)Å),²⁵ V₂($\mu-\eta^2-S_2)_2$ (CH₃CS₂)₄ shown in Figure 7 (2.800(2)Å),²⁶ and V₂($\mu-\eta^2-S_2)_2$ (ⁱBu₂NCS₂)₄ (2.851(1)Å).²⁷ This series of structural analogs is the product of a surprising variety of synthetic methods: V₂($\mu-\eta^2-S_2)_2$ (CH₃CS₂)₄²⁶ is synthesized from ($\eta^6-C_6H_6)_2$ V and dithioacetic acid in 56% to 62% yields while V₂($\mu-\eta^2-S_2)_2$ (ⁱBu₂NCS₂)₄²⁷ results from the treatment of a (NH₄)₃ VS₄ solution with tetraisobutylthiuram disulfide in 22% yield.

Further investigations of synthetic routes to the $V_2(\mu-S)_2(\mu-\eta^2-S_2)$ core resulted in a complex containing a vanadium—vanadium single bond, $(\eta^5-C_3H_7C_5H_4)_2V_2(\mu-S)_2(\mu-\eta^2-S_2)$, from the mono-nuclear starting material $(\eta^5-C_3H_7C_5H_4)_2V_2Cl_2$.²⁸ The $V_2^{IV,IV}$ bond length of 2.610(1)Å shortened



Figure 6 ORTEP drawing of $V_2(\mu-S)_2[N(Si(CH_3)_3)_2]$ (reproduced by permission of the American Chemical Society from *Inorg. Chem.* **1997**, *36*, 2191–2194).



Figure 7 ORTEP drawing of the molecule $V_2(\mu-\eta^2-S_2)_2(CH_3CS_2)_4$ (reproduced by permission of the American Chemical Society from *Inorg. Chem.* **1990**, *29*, 1232–1234).

to 2.574(3)Å upon addition of hexafluoro-2-butyne in the synthesis of the dark green complex $(\eta^5-C_3H_7C_5H_4)_2V_2(\mu-\eta^2-S_2C_2(CF_3)_2)(\mu-\eta^2-S_2)$. A related selenium derivative with a $V_2^{IV,IV}$ core synthesized from the reaction of $(\eta^5-CH_3C_5H_4)_2V_2Cl_2$ with H₂Se is shown in Figure 8.²⁹ The V–V bond length in $(\eta^5-CH_3C_5H_4)_2V_2(\mu-Se)(\mu-\eta^2-Se_2)(syn-\mu-Se_2)$ of 2.779(4)Å is elongated in comparison to the sulfur derivative, $(\eta^5-CH_3C_5H_4)_2V_2(\mu-S)(\mu-\eta^2-S_2)(syn-\mu-S_2)(syn-\mu-S_2)(syn-\mu-S_2)(2.658(1)Å).³⁰$

4.9.5.2 V₂^{III,III} Complexes

The vanadium–vanadium bond length in the organometallic complex $(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2V_2(C_4H_8)_2$ (Figure 9) of 2.315(1) Å is somewhat controversial.^{31,32} Similar to μ - $(\eta^5:\eta^5$ -cyclooctatetraene)bis[$(\eta^5-cyclopentadieny)$ divanadium]^{33,34} with a metal–metal distance of 2.439(1) Å, the interpretation of the interaction between the two vanadium centers has been proposed to be a triple bond, a very short single bond,³³ or a weak double bond.³⁵

From the reaction of VO(salophen), where salophen is N,N'-o-phenylenebis(salicylideneiminato), in THF with an equimolar solution of TiCl₃(THF)₃ followed by treatment with sodium



Figure 8 ORTEP drawing of $(\eta^5$ -CH₃C₅H₄)₂V₂(μ -Se)(μ - η^2 -Se₂)(syn- μ -Se₂) (reproduced by permission of the International Union of Crystallography from *Acta Crystallogr.* **1986**, *C42*, 1878–1880).



Figure 9 Crystal structure of $(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2V_2(C_4H_8)_2$ (reproduced by permission of Wiley-VCH from Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1986, 25, 925–927).

sand, $[V_2(salophen)_2Na_2(THF)_6]$ crystallizes upon addition of ether.³⁶ The V–V bond length of 2.406(3)Å is interpreted as a V–V double bond in this diamagnetic complex. In contrast, a "significantly elongated" single V–V bond is proposed for the paramagnetic dication in $[(\eta^5:\eta^5-C_{10}H_8)_2(NCCH_3)_3V_2][PF_6]_2$ with a V–V separation of 3.329(4)Å.³⁷

For vanadium—vanadium bonds, 1983 was the year of the ethane-1,2-dithiolato (edt) ligand with papers received in June, July, and August containing the core anion $[V_2(edt)_4]^{2-.38-40}$ The anion is prepared by either the reaction of VCl₃ with Na₂(edt) or 1,2-ethanedithiolate^{38,39} or the reaction of VO(acac)₂ [Hacac is pentane-1,4-dione] with Na₂(edt).⁴⁰ The color of the crystals varies depending on the cation used in the preparation, $P(C_6H_5)_4^+$: red–brown,³⁹ $N(CH_3)_4^+$ Na⁺: green,⁴⁰ and $(CH_3CH_2)_4N^+$: green.³⁸ The diamagnetic compounds have slightly different V—V bond lengths: 2.616(2) Å for [$(CH_3CH_2)_4N$]₂[$V_2(edt)_4$],³⁸ 2.575(1) Å for [$P(C_6H_5)_4$]₂[$V_2(edt)_4$].⁴CH₃OH, and 2.600(2) Å for [$N(CH_3)_4$]Na [$V_2(edt)_4$].⁴CH₃CH₂OH.⁴⁰ With two terminal and two chelating edt ligands, the structure of [$(CH_3CH_2)_4N$]₂[$V_2(edt)_4$] is shown in Figure 10.³⁸



Figure 10 ORTEP drawing of [(CH₃CH₂)₄N]₂[V₂(edt)₄] (reproduced by permission of the American Chemical Society from *Inorg. Chem.* 1983, *22*, 3179–3181).

4.9.5.3 V₂^{II,II} Complexes

The ability to synthesize triply bonded divanadium complexes was transformed in 1992 with the development of a new synthetic pathway shown in Equation (2).⁴¹ The use of NaB(CH₃CH₂)₃H as the reducing agent with the lithiated ligand precursor provided the route to the first complex with a vanadium—vanadium triple bond possessing fourfold symmetry; the classic paddlewheel complex had been achieved. $V_2[((p-CH_3C_6H_4)_2N)_2C(H))]_4$ has a vanadium—vanadium bond length of 1.978(2) Å. An ORTEP drawing of the diamagnetic copper-colored compound $V_2[((p-CH_3C_6H_4)_2N)_2C(H))]_4$ is shown in Figure 11.^{41,42}



In the further investigation of divanadium paddlewheel complexes, 1,3,4,6,7,8-hexahydro-2H-pyrimido[1,2-a]pyrimidine (Hhpp) shown in Figure 12 coordinated as an anion to form



Figure 11 ORTEP drawing of V₂[((*p*-CH₃C₆H₄)₂N)₂C(H))]₄ (reproduced by permission of Wiley-VCH from *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. Engl.* 1992, *31*, 737–738).



Figure 12 The neutral ligand 1,3,4,6,7,8-hexahydro-2H-pyrimido[1,2-a]pyrimidine (Hhpp).

 $V_2(hpp)_4$ (1.932(1)Å) with the shortest V—V bond length in a complex of this type.⁴³ Other complexes in the series include the green compound $V_2[((C_6H_{10})_2N)_2C(H))]_4$ with a V—V bond length of 1.968(2)Å, prepared by several methods in an expansion of the general synthetic route.⁴⁴ While nitrogen-based ligands provided the example of an unbridged vanadium—vanadium triple bond, the use of oxygen-based anionic ligands such as 2,6-dimethoxyphenyl⁴⁵ (2.200(2)Å) and 2,4,6-trimethoxyphenyl⁴⁶ (2.223(2)Å) provided the first examples of divanadium triple bonds ($\sigma^2 \pi^4$)⁴⁷ with the ligand arrangement shown in Figure 13.

4.9.5.4 V₂^{I,I} Complexes

The structure of dicyclopentadienylpentacarbonyldivanadium elucidated in 1973 with a V–V bond length of 2.463(2) Å, contained two vanadium atoms with 16 (η^5 -C₅H₅ and three CO groups) and 14 electrons (η^5 -C₅H₅ and two CO groups).⁴⁸ Substitution of a carbonyl with the triphenylphosphine ligand on the more electron-deficient vanadium center results in minimal changes in the structure such as the V–V bond length of 2.466(1) Å,⁴⁹ and the work was expanded to include other monodentate and bidentate phosphine ligands.⁵⁰

Upon reacting $[V_2(\mu-Cl)_3(THF)_6]_2ZnCl_6$ with $P(CH_3)(C_6H_5)_2$ in THF followed by the addition of LiBH₄ and subsequent removal of solvent, a red residue, $V_2Zn_2H_4(BH_4)_2(P(CH_3)(C_6H_5)_2)_4$, is formed.⁵¹ With a $V_2^{1,1}$ double bond ($\sigma^2\pi^2$) of 2.400(2) Å in length, the coordination sphere of each of the vanadium atoms is VP_2H_2 in this diamagnetic molecule.⁵¹

4.9.5.5 V₂^{0,0} Complexes

Although an organometallic complex, a triple bond is predicted for the carbonyl compound $[(\eta^6-C_6H_5CH_3)V(CO)_2]_2$ (2.388(2)Å) shown in Figure 14 formed in the reaction of V(CO)₆ with toluene.

4.9.6 DINIOBIUM COMPLEXES

4.9.6.1 Nb₂^{V,V} Complexes

The addition of trimethylsilylmethylmagnesium chloride to NbCl₅ results in the formation of Nb₂(CSi(CH₃)₃)₂(CH₂Si(CH₃)₃)₄ with a --CSi(CH₃)₃ bridging group as shown in Figure 15⁵² In this reddish-brown complex, the Nb--Nb bond length of 2.897(2) Å with a Nb--C--Nb--C core is described as a quasi-aromatic ring. Addition of two equivalents of 2,6-diphenylphenol to a toluene solution of the complex results in the substitution of two of the --CH₂Si(CH₃)₃ groups for --OC₆H₃(C₆H₅)₂. With the aryloxide ligands *trans* in the Nb--C--Nb--C ring, the product Nb₂(CSi(CH₃)₃)₂(CH₂Si(CH₃)₃)₂(OC₆H₅(C₆H₅)₂-2,6)₂ has a Nb--Nb bond length of 2.9082(8) Å.⁵³



Figure 13 Diagrams of the bidentate and tridentate ligand arrangements in $V_2(2,6-dimethoxyphenyl)_4$.



Figure 14 Crystal structure of the triply bonded $V_2(0, 0)$ complex $[(\eta^6-C_6H_5CH_3)V(CO)_2]_2$ (reproduced by permission of the American Chemical Society from *Organometallics* 1993, 12, 1682–1685).



Figure 15 Schematic representation of $Nb_2(CSi(CH_3)_3)_2(CH_2Si(CH_3)_3)_4$.

4.9.6.2 Nb₂^{IV,IV} Complexes

While metal-metal bonded Nb₂^{IV,IV} complexes are dominated by sulfur ligands, a few complexes with nitrogen and phosphorus ligands have been synthesized. Red crystals of Nb₂Cl₆(S(CH₃)₂)(NCH(C₆H₅)CH(C₆H₅)NNCH(C₆H₅)) result upon the addition of benzaldehyde azine to Nb₂Cl₆(S(CH₃)₂)₃⁵⁴ at room temperature.⁵⁵ The Nb–Nb bond length, 2.681(1) Å, is short in comparison to other Nb₂^{IV,IV} species. Two coordination geometries exist for the metal centers; one six-coordinated Nb(μ -N)(μ -Cl)₂Cl₂S and the other seven-coordinated Nb(μ -N)(μ -Cl)₂N₂Cl₂.⁵⁵ The red–brown complex [NbCl₂(P(CH₃)₂)(α -Cl)₃)₂(μ -Cl)₄ shown in Figure 16 contains a Nb–Nb single bond, 2.838(1) Å.⁵⁶ The complex is synthesized by the reduction of NbCl₅ in toluene by sodium amalgam in the presence of the monodentate phosphine ligand. Upon dissolution of the molecule in CH₂Cl₂ or THF, the solution becomes green with a 10-line ESR



Figure 16 ORTEP drawing of the core structure of the $[NbCl_2(P(CH_3)_2(C_6H_5))_2]_2(\mu-Cl)_4$ molecule both perpendicular to and along the Nb—Nb axis (reproduced by permission of the American Chemical Society from *Inorg. Chem.* 1984, 23, 945–947).

spectrum consistent with the presence of mononuclear NbCl₄(P(CH₃)₂(C₆H₅))₂ and reflecting the instability of the molecule [NbCl₂(P(CH₃)₂(C₆H₅))₂]₂(μ -Cl)₄ in solution. The trimethylphosphine analog [NbCl₂(P(CH₃)₃)₂]₂(μ -Cl)₄ has been synthesized. The Nb—Nb bond length of 2.833(1) Å is comparable to the dimethylphenylphosphine analog, and the compound exhibits a similar solution behavior.⁵⁷ The purple complexes [NbCl₂(PH₂(C₆H₅))₂]₂(μ -Cl)₄ (2.7949(10) Å) and [NbCl₂(PH₂C₆H₁)₂]₂(μ -Cl)₄ (2.809(1) Å) are synthesized by the addition of cyclohexylphosphine and phenylphosphine to dichloromethane solutions of NbCl₅ without the addition of a reducing agent.⁵⁸

With Nb–Nb single bonds, the edge-sharing bioctahedral complexes $Nb_2Cl_4(OCH_3)_4(CH_3OH)_2$ and Nb₂Cl₄(OCH₃)₄(CH₃CN)₂ are shown in Figure 17.^{59,60} Purple crystals of Nb₂Cl₄(OCH₃)₄ (CH₃OH)₂ form upon dissolving NbCl₄(CH₃CN)₃ or NbCl₄(THF)₂ in methanol. Addition of acetonitrile to Nb₂Cl₄(OCH₃)₄(CH₃OH)₂ (2.781(1)Å) results in the formation of Nb₂Cl₄(OCH₃)₄(CH₃CN)₂ (2.768(2) Å). Addition of methanol to the salt $[(C_6H_5)_4P]_2[Nb_2(SCH_2CH_2CH_2S)_5]^{61}$ results in the formation of the triply bridged Nb₂^{IV,IV} complex, $[(C_6H_5)_4P][Nb_2(OCH_3)_3(SCH_2CH_2CH_2S)_3]$ with a Nb-Nb bond length of 2.901(1)Å. The blue-purple niobium^(IV) nonamethoxide anion, Nb₂(OCH₃)₉, is prepared by the magnesium reduction of NbCl₅ in methanol or the addition of sodium methoxide to Nb₂Cl₄(OCH₃)₄ (CH₃OH)₂.⁶² Three salts of the face-sharing bioctahedral anion have been characterized by X-ray crystallographic methods with an average Nb-Nb bond length of 2.640(6) Å: [Mg(CH₃OH)₆]₂ [Nb₂(OCH₃)₉]Cl₃, [Mg(CH₃OH)₆][Nb₂(OCH₃)₉]I·CH₃OH, and [Na(CH₃OH)₆][Nb₂(OCH₃)₉].

Several niobium sulfidohalide complexes have been synthesized with the use of the starting materials NbX₃S·2tht producing mononuclear NbX₅·(tht)₂ or NbX₅(tht) complexes in addition to Nb₂X₄S₃·4tht where X is the halide Br or Cl and thi is tetrahydrothiophene.⁶³ The green complexes Nb₂Cl₄S₃·4tht (2.844(2) Å)⁶³ and Nb₂Br₄S₃·4tht (2.830(5) Å⁶³ or 2.8371(7) Å⁶⁴] contain a Nb—Nb single bond with the sulfur atoms bridging the niobium metals centers, μ -S and μ -S₂. Replacement of the reagent CS₂ with Sb₂S₃ results in the preparation of a single niobium-containing product as shown in Equations (3) and (4).⁶⁵ The reaction of Nb₂Cl₄S₃·4tht with triphenylphosphine resulted in the extraction of a sulfur atom and the formation of the edge-sharing bioctahedral complex Nb₂Cl₄S₂·4tht (2.868(2) Å) shown in Figure 18.⁶⁵ Nb₂Cl₄S₂·4THF is prepared by the reaction of NbCl₄(THF)₂ with S(Si(CH₃)₃)₂ in tetrahydrofuran.⁶⁶ The thiophosphate, Rb[Nb₂(S₂)₃(PS₄)] (2.888(2) Å) is prepared by the reaction of Nb, P, and S in the ratio 2:1:10 in RbCl/LiCl.⁶⁷

$$3NbX_3S\cdot 2tht \qquad \longrightarrow \qquad Nb_2X_4S_3\cdot 4tht + NbX_5.ntht (n = 1 \text{ or } 2)$$
(3)

$$2NbX_5 + Sb_2S_3 \longrightarrow Nb_2X_4S_3 + 2SbX_3$$
(4)

Variations in the mononuclear niobium starting materials lead to the syntheses of other edgesharing bioctahedral complexes.^{68,69} [{NbCl₂S(NCCH₃)₂}₂] and [{NbBr₂S(NCCH₃)₂}₂] are prepared by placing NbCl₄(NCCH₃) or NbBr₄(NCCH₃)₂ in an ampoule with SbS₃ and NCCH₃ and heating for 2 days.⁶⁸ The crystals structures of the brown complex [{NbCl₂S(NCCH₃)₂}₂]·2NCCH₃ and the green complex [{NbCl₂S(NCCH₃)₂}₂]·NCCH₃ vary in



Figure 17 The edge-sharing bioctahedral complexes, $Nb_2Cl_4(OCH_3)_4(CH_3OH)_2$ and $Nb_2Cl_4(OCH_3)_4(CH_3CH)_2$.



Figure 18 ORTEP drawing of Nb₂Cl₄S₂'4tht (reproduced by permission of the Royal Society of Chemistry from *J. Chem. Soc. Dalton* **1985**, 417–421).

the number of acetonitrile molecules in the lattice with only a slight variation in the Nb–Nb bond lengths of 2.862(2) Å and 2.872(3) Å, respectively. When NbCl₄(THF)₂ is reacted with Li₂S in THF followed by the subsequent addition of $P(CH_3)_3$, the orange–brown complex Nb₂S₂Cl₄($P(CH_3)_3$)₄ with a Nb–Nb single bond (2.869(1) Å) results.⁶⁹ As in the case of [{NbCl₂S(NCCH₃)₂}₂]·2NCCH₃ and [{NbCl₂S(NCCH₃)₂}₂]·NCCH₃, the neutral ligands, NCCH₃ or $P(CH_3)_3$, occupy the equatorial sites.

 $(\eta^5:\eta^1-C_5H_4)(\eta^5-C_5H_5)Nb_2H_2$ is an unusual diamagnetic complex synthesized from $(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2NbH_3$,⁷⁰ possessing two bridging C₅H₄ ligands and terminal hydrides. The Nb—Nb bond length of 3.105(6) Å and Nb—H bond length of 1.70(3) Å have been determined from X-ray crystallographic data.^{71,72} A two-electron reduction in the related system $[(\eta^5-C_5H_4Si(CH_3)_2OSi(CH_3)_2-\eta^5:\eta^1-C_5H_3)Nb_2H_2][Na(O(CH_2CH_3)_2)_2]_2$ results in the cleavage of the Nb—Nb bond.⁷³

The interaction of $(\eta^5:\eta^{1-}C_5H_4)(\eta^{5-}C_5H_5)Nb_2H_2$ with azoaromatic compounds provides a synthetic route to the Nb^{1II,III} complexes $(\eta^5:\eta^5-C_5H_4C_5H_4)(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2Nb_2(\mu-NC_6H_4R)_2$ where R is H or OCH₃.⁷⁴ Subsequent oxidation of these complexes with either AgBF₄ or HgX₂ results in the formation of the paramagnetic salts, $[(\eta^5:\eta^5-C_5H_4C_5H_4)(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2Nb_2$ (μ -NC₆H₄R)₂]BF₄ and $[(\eta^5:\eta^5-C_5H_4C_5H_4)(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2Nb_2(\mu-NC_6H_4R)_2]BF_4$ and $[(\eta^5:\eta^5-C_5H_4C_5H_4)(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2Nb_2(\mu-NC_6H_4R)_2]_2(HgX_4)$ where X is Cl or Br. The Nb–Nb bond length increases slightly upon oxidation from 2.834(5) Å for $(\eta^5:\eta^5-C_5H_4C_5H_4)(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2Nb_2$ (μ -NC₆H₄OCH₃)₂ to 2.921(1) Å for $[(\eta^5:\eta^5-C_5H_4C_5H_4)$ ($\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2Nb_2(\mu-NC_6H_4OCH_3)_2$]⁺.⁷⁴ $[(\eta^5-C_5(CH_3)_5)_2Nb_2Cl_4]$ is oxidized upon addition of LiP(C₆H₅)₂ to form the oxo/phosphido bridged complex ($(\eta^5-C_5(CH_3)_5)_2Nb_2)(\mu$ -P(C₆H₅)₂)(μ -O) (2.625(5) Å).⁷⁵

4.9.6.3 Nb₂^{III,III} Complexes

Edge-sharing and face-sharing bioctahedral geometries predominate the structural chemistry of Nb₂^{III,III} complexes, regardless of the ligand types. Neutral Nb₂^{III,III} complexes are synthesized from Nb₂Cl₆(S(CH₃)₂)₂ or Nb₂Cl₆(SC₄H₈)₃ and the appropriate chelating phosphine ligand in toluene solutions, forming red or red–purple crystals. The chelating phosphine ligands used to date include (CH₃CH₂)₂PCH₂P(CH₂CH₃)₂ (depe),⁷⁶ (CH₃)₂PCH₂P(CH₃)₂ (dmpm),⁷⁷ dppe,⁷⁸ and (C₆H₅)₂PCH₂P(C₆H₅)₂ (dppm).⁷⁹ The Nb–Nb doubly bonded complexes, $\sigma^2 \pi^2$, form Nb₂Cl₆(depe)₂,

Nb₂Cl₆(dppm)₂, Nb₂Cl₆(dppe)₂, and Nb₂Cl₆(μ -dmpm)₂ with bond lengths of 2.741(3)Å,⁷⁶ 2.696(1)Å,⁷⁹ 2.7383(3)Å,⁷⁸ and 2.711(3)Å, respectively.⁷⁷ Analogous to bidentate phosphine ligands, (CH₃CH₂)₂NCH₂CH₂N(CH₂CH₃)₂ (dene) coordinates to the Nb₂^{III,III} core to form Nb₂Cl₆(dene)₂, with a Nb–Nb bond length of 2.764(1)Å.⁷⁶ Only the (CH₃)₂PCH₂P(CH₃)₂ derivative, Nb₂Cl₆(μ -dmpm)₂, contains a bidentate ligand that bridges the two niobium metal centers as shown in Figure 19.⁷⁷

For the monodentate phosphine ligands $P(CH_3)_3$ and $P(CH_2CH_3)_3$, $Nb_2Cl_6(SC_4H_8)_3$, in the presence of Na/Hg, reacts to result in the simple substitution of monodentate phosphine ligands for the terminal SC_4H_8 ligands.⁸⁰ In addition to the synthesis of monodentate phosphine derivatives, $Nb_2Cl_6(SC_4H_8)(P(CH_2CH_3)_3)_2$ (2.718(1)Å) and $Nb_2Cl_6(SC_4H_8)(P(CH_3)_3)_2$, tetrahydrofuran undergoes a similar reaction to form $Nb_2Cl_6(SC_4H_8)(OC_4H_8)_2$ (2.684(2)Å) as shown in Figure 20.⁸⁰

Use of an alternate starting material, NbCl₄(THF)₂, in a reaction mixture comprised of Mg turnings, Bu₄NBF₄, and the monodentate phosphine ligands P(CH₃)₃ or P(CH₂CH₃)₃, results in the edge-sharing anionic complexes [Nb₂Cl₇(P(CH₃)₃)₂]⁻ or [Nb₂Cl₇(P(CH₂CH₃)₃)₂]⁻, respectively.⁸¹ As in the case of the neutral complexes discussed previously containing these monodentate phosphine ligands, the terminal phosphine ligands are in the *syn* configuration with Nb—Nb bond lengths of 2.683(1) Å and 2.708(3) Å for the trimethylphosphine and triethylphosphine derivatives. The anion Nb₂Cl₉³⁻ is prepared by the reaction of either Nb₂Cl₄(tht)₂ or Nb₂Cl₆(S(CH₃)₂)₂ with (CH₃CH₂)₄NCl or (CH₃CH₂CH₂)₄NCl with the two resultant salts, ((CH₃CH₂)₄N)₃[Nb₂Cl₉] and ((CH₃CH₂CH₂)₄N)₃[Nb₂Cl₉], having slightly different metal–metal bond lengths, 2.7413(3) Å and 2.691(2) Å.⁸²

The addition of an excess of tetramethylammonium acetate to $Nb_2Cl_6(SC_4H_8)_3$ in dichloromethane results in the formation of the diamagnetic purple compound $(N(CH_3))_4$ -



Figure 19 ORTEP drawing of the Nb₂Cl₆(µ-dmpm)₂ molecule (reproduced by permission of the American Chemical Society from *Inorg. Chem.* 1985, 24, 4389–4393).



Figure 20 ORTEP drawing of Nb₂Cl₆(SC₄H₈)(OC₄H₈)₂ (reproduced by permission of the International Union of Crystallography from *Acta Crystallogr*. **1991**, *C47*, 1617–1621).

 $[Nb_2Cl_2(SC_4H_8)(CH_3CO_2)_5]$.⁸³ The five acetato ligands coordinate to the Nb—Nb core (2.764(1) Å) in three different modes: two bridge the dinuclear core, two chelate to each of the metal centers in a *cis* fashion, and one bridges the core through a single oxygen atom to result in seven-coordinate niobium centers. Other examples of oxygen-based ligands include alkoxides.^{59,84} In toluene, addition of CH₃CH₂OH or (CH₃)₂CHOH to Nb₂Cl₆(SC₄H₈)₃ generates yellow–brown products upon removal of solvent. With Nb—Nb bond lengths of 2.891(1) and 2.611(3) Å respectively, Nb₂Cl₅(OCH₂CH₃)(HOCH₂CH₃)₄ and Nb₂Cl₅(OCH(CH₃)₂)(HOOCH(CH₃)₂)₄ are edge-sharing bioctahedral complexes with one bridging chloride, a bridging alkoxide, two equatorial chlorides *cis*, and two axial chlorides, *trans* at the dinuclear core.^{59,84}

Green-brown crystals of Nb₂Cl₄(OC₄H₈)₄(C₆H₅CCC₆H₅) and brown crystals of $[Mg_2Cl_3(OC_4H_8)_6][NbCl_4(OC_4H_8)_4(C_6H_5CCC_6H_5)(OC_4H_8)]$ both form in a 1:3 mass ratio upon the reaction of NbCl₄(OC₄H₈)₂ with magnesium turnings and C₆H₅CCC₆H₅. The C=C bond in C₆H₅CCC₆H₅ is slanted relative to the Nb-Nb axis with Nb-C bond lengths of 2.014(6) Å and 2.453(7) Å and a Nb-Nb bond length of 2.737(1) Å.

The common starting material, Nb₂X₆(SC₄H₈)₃, where X is Cl, Br, or I,⁸⁶ is prepared by the reaction of NbX₄(SC₄H₈)₂⁸⁷ with sodium amalgam in benzene. The edge-sharing bioctahedral complex Nb₂Br₆(SC₄H₈)₃ with a Nb—Nb bond length of 2.728(5) Å is diamagnetic with two bridging chlorides, a bridging tht ligand, and terminal tht ligands in a *cis* configuration. The dimethylsulfide complex, Nb₂X₆(S(CH₃)₂)₃, is synthetically accessible via the Na/K reduction of the appropriate pentahalide in the presence of borane-dimethylsulfide.⁵⁴ Green crystals of the edge-sharing bioctahedral complex, Nb₂Cl₆(S(CH₃)₂)₄ (2.836(2) Å), were obtained by the addition of S(CH₃)₂ and (CH₃)₂SS(CH₃)₂ to Nb₂Cl₆(S(CH₃)₂)₃.⁸⁸ Dark purple crystals of Nb₂Cl₆(dto)₂ where dto is 3, 6-dithiaoctane (CH₃CH₂SCH₂CH₂CH₂SCH₂CH₃) result from the addition of a hexane solution of dto to a toluene solution of Nb₂Cl₆(S(CH₃)₂)₃.⁸⁸ As in the case of Nb₂Cl₆(S(CH₃)₂)₄, Nb₂Cl₆(dto)₂ (2.688(2) Å⁸⁸ or 2.682(3) Å⁸⁹) is an edge-sharing bioctahedral complex with the neutral ligands at the axial coordination sites as shown in Figure 21. Addition of tetrahydrofuran to Nb₂Cl₆(S(CH₃)₂)₃ results in the face-sharing bioctahedral complex Nb₂Cl₆(S(CH₃)₂)(OC₄H₈)₂ (2.684(2) Å) with two μ -Cl ligands, a μ -S(CH₃)₂ ligand, and the two OC₄H₈ ligands in a *cis* configuration.⁹⁰

4.9.6.4 Nb₂^{II,II} Complexes

With the exception of $[(\eta^6-C_5H_3(Bu^t)_2)Nb_2(\mu-\eta^6:\eta^6-P_6)]$ (2.828(1)Å),⁹¹ low oxidation state Nb—Nb triply bonded complexes fall primarily into two categories, anionic face-sharing bioctahedral or paddlewheel complexes. In 1997, NbCl₃(DME), where DME is dimethoxyethane, was reacted with



Figure 21 ORTEP diagram of Nb₂Cl₆(dto)₂ (reproduced by permission of the American Chemical Society from *Inorg. Chem.* 1990, *29*, 4002–4005).

Li(hpp) in THF using KC₈ as the reducing agent.⁹² Shown in Figure 22, the green paddlewheel complex Nb₂(hpp)₄ with a Nb—Nb bond length of 2.2035(9) Å ($\sigma^2 \pi^4$) has a metal-metal bond length 0.27 Å longer than the isostructural vanadium complex. Other reducing agents have been investigated such as lithium naphthalenide and sodium triethylborohydride, NaB(CH₃CH₂)₃H.⁹³



Figure 22 ORTEP drawing of the paddlewheel complex Nb₂(hpp)₄ (reproduced by permission of the American Chemical Society from J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 7889–7890).

Attempts to reduce the Nb₂^{II,II} species further with NaB(CH₃CH₂)₃H result in the incorporation of the reducing agent in the crystal structure and the resultant bond lengths are 2.2064(6) Å and 2.2187(7) Å for Nb₂(hpp)₄·2NaB(CH₃CH₂)₃H and Nb₂(hpp)₄·NaB(CH₃CH₂)₃H, respectively.⁹³ In addition to the hpp ligand, the lithium salt of 7-azaindole, Li(azin) (Figure 23), was synthesized and reacted with NbCl₃(DME) and lithium naphthalenide to form the blue–green complex Nb₂(azin)₄·2LiCl·4THF with a Nb–Nb bond length of 2.278(2) Å. Weak interactions between the Nb center and the axial chloro ligands are observed in the Nb₂(azin)₄·2LiCl·6THF complex (Nb–Nb 2.2683(13) Å and Nb–Cl 2.733(2) Å) synthesized from the alternative Nb^{II} starting material [Nb₂Cl₅Li(TMEDA)₃].^{93,94}

Reduction of the neutral molecule Nb₂Cl₆(SC₄H₈)₃ using sodium amalgam in the presence of the appropriate cation leads to the synthesis of the Nb₂^{II,II} anionic complexes: [Li(THF)₂]₂-[Nb₂Cl₆(SC₄H₈)₃], Na₂[Nb₂Cl₆(SC₄H₈)₃] (2.610(3)Å), and [(CH₃CH₂)₄N]₂[Nb₂Cl₆(SC₄H₈)₃] (2.632(1)Å).⁹⁵ Reduction of the bromide analog, Nb₂Br₆(SC₄H₈)₃, results in the synthesis of Na₂[Nb₂Br₆(SC₄H₈)₃]. Reduction of the tetrahydrofuran adduct, Nb₂Cl₆(SC₄H₈)(OC₄H₈)₂, provides a synthetic route to the [Nb₂(μ -Cl)₂Cl₃(SC₄H₈)(NC₅H₅)₃]⁻ monoanion (Nb–Nb 2.6054(5)Å) with two chlorine atoms and a sulfur atom from the tetrahydrothiophene ligand bridging the Nb–Nb core.⁹⁶

4.9.7 DITANTALUM COMPLEXES

4.9.7.1 Ta₂^{IV,IV} Complexes

Carbon-based ligands in Ta₂^{IV,IV} systems include the 1,3 dimetallacyclobutadiene derivatives such as Ta₂(μ -CSi(CH₃)₃)₂(OC₆HNp-2-(C₆H₅)₃-3,5,6)(CH₂Si(CH₃)₃)₃ (2.8943(6) Å), where OC₆HNp-2-(C₆H₅)₃-3,5,6 is 2-(1-naphthyl)-3,5,6-triphenylphenol, synthesized from the reaction of Ta₂-(μ -CSi(CH₃)₃)₂(CH₂Si(CH₃)₃)₄ with the *o*-arylphenol and one equivalent of Si(CH₃)₄.⁹⁷ The reaction of Ta₂(μ -CSi(CH₃)₃)₂(CH₂Si(CH₃)₃)₄ with 9H-carbazole (cbH) results in the deprotonation of the carbazole ligand and the formation of the metallacycle Ta₂(μ -CSi(CH₃)₃)₂(cb)₄.⁹⁸ Hydrogenation of Ta₂(μ -CSi(CH₃)₃)₂(cb)₄ in the presence of P(CH₃)₂(C₆H₅) leads to the green compound (cb)(P(CH₃)₂(C₆H₅))₂(H)Ta(μ -H)₂Ta(H)(P(CH₃)₂(C₆H₅))₂(cb) with a Ta—Ta bond length of 2.184(4) Å.

From the Ta₂^{III,III} starting material Ta₂Cl₆(S(CH₃)₂)₃ in a tetrahydrofuran solution with the lithium salt of N, N'-diphenylformamidinate, reduction by Zn and Na/Hg results in a diamagnetic Ta₂^{IV,IV} singly bonded compound.⁹⁹ In the presence of zinc metal, the red complex (η^2 -C₆H₅NC(H)NC₆H₅)₂Ta(μ -NC₆H₅)(μ - η^2 -CNC₆H₅)Ta(η^2 -C₆H₅NC(H)NC₆H₅)₂ with a Ta—Ta bond length of 2.9411(7) Å is synthesized. In this molecule, the four formamidinate ligands chelate (two to each metal center) to the Ta metal center with the dinuclear core bridged by an imido and a CNC₆H₅ dianion. As shown in Figure 24, a simple change in the reducing agent from zinc metal to Na/Hg results in the formation of a similar compound, but with a change in the coordination geometry of the formamidinate ligands; two formamidinate ligands chelate while two bridge the dinuclear core in the dark purple complex (η^2 -C₆H₅NC(H)NC₆H₅)Ta(μ -NC₆H₅)Ta(η^2 -C₆H₅NC(H)NC₆H₅)Ta(μ -NC₆H₅)Ta(η^2 -C₆H₅NC(H)NC₆H₅)Ta(μ -NC₆H₅)(μ - η^2 -C₆H₅NC(H)NC₆H₅)Ta(μ -NC₆H₅)Ta(η^2 -C₆H₅NC(H)NC₆H₅)Ta(μ -NC₆H₅)(μ - η^2 -C₆H₅NC(H)NC₆H₅)C(μ - η^2 -CNC₆H₅)Ta(η^2 -C₆H₅NC(H)NC₆H₅)Ta(μ -NC₆H₅)(μ - η^2 -C₆H₅NC(H)NC₆H₅)C(μ - η^2 -CNC₆H₅)Ta(η^2 -C₆H₅NC(H)NC₆H₅). The Ta—Ta single bond is significantly shorter, 2.7825(6) Å, due to the presence of the bridging formamidinate ligands. Formed upon insertion of a B₂H₅⁻ molecule into the formamidinate ligand, the reaction of potassium metal with Ta₂(μ - η^2 -H₆)(CH₃C₆H₄NC(H)NC₆H₄CH₃)₄ produces [(B₂H₅)N(CH₃C₆H₄)C(H)NC₆H₄CH₃]Ta(μ - η -



Figure 23 7-azaindolate ligand, azin



Figure 24 ORTEP drawing of $(\eta^2-C_6H_5NC(H)NC_6H_5)Ta(\mu-NC_6H_5)(\mu-\eta^2-C_6H_5NC(H)NC_6H_5)_2(\mu-\eta^2-C_6H_5)Ta(\eta^2-C_6H_5NC(H)NC_6H_5)$ (reproduced by permission of the American Chemical Society from *Inorg. Chem.* 1997, *36*, 896–901).

NC₆H₄CH₃)₂(μ_2 -CH₃C₆H₄NC(H)NC₆H₄CH₃)₂Ta[(CH₃C₆H₄)NC(H)N(C₆H₄CH₃)B₂H₅] (2.6608(7) Å).¹⁰⁰ Using the mononuclear starting material TaCl₅ with LiBH₄ followed by the addition of the lithium salt of N,N'-diphenylformamidinate results in the cleavage of the formamidinate ligand, but a more symmetric complex, (η^2 -C₆H₅NC(H)NC₆H₅)Ta(μ -NC₆H₅)₂(μ - η^2 -C₆H₅NC(H)NC₆H₅)₂Ta(η^2 -C₆H₅NC(H)NC₆H₅) (2.6608(5) Å), is synthesized.

Edge-sharing bioctahedral complexes with sulfur-based ligands are prepared either from TaCl₅^{69,89} or Ta₂Cl₆(S(CH₃)₂)₃.¹⁰¹ Oxidative addition of diphenyldisulfide to Ta₂Cl₆(S(CH₃)₂)₃ yields the green complex, [TaCl₃((CH₃)₂S)]₂(μ -S(C₆H₅))₂ with a Ta—Ta single bond (3.165(1) Å).¹⁰¹ A deep blue, mixed valent Ta₂^{IV,III} complex is synthesized when diethylsulfide is added to a toluene solution of Ta₂Cl₆(S(CH₃)₂)₃ to form the face-sharing bioctahedral compound Ta₂(μ -SCH₂CH₃)₂(μ -Cl)Cl₄(S(CH₃)₂)₂ with a Ta—Ta bond length of 2.758(1) Å.¹⁰² Addition of the appropriate phosphine ligand to a tetrahydrofuran solution of TaCl₅, Na/Hg, and either diphenyl-disulfide or Li₂S, produces μ -S ligands in the complexes Ta₂(μ -S)₂Cl₄(P(CH₃)₃)₄ (2.865(1) Å)⁶⁹ and Ta₂Cl₆(SC₄H₈)₃ results in oxidative addition to the Ta₂^{III,III} core and the formation of a bridging DTBA ligand.¹⁰³ Subsequent exchange of tetrahydrothiophene for tetrahydrofuran occurs upon dissolving the reaction mixture in THF to form Ta₂Cl₆(DTBA)(OC₄H₈)₂ as shown in Figure 25.¹⁰³

Ta₂^{1V,1V} complexes with bridging hydrides are synthetically accessible using Ta₂Cl₆(P(CH₃)₃)₄ as the starting material.¹⁰⁴ The emerald green diamagnetic compound Ta₂Cl₆(P(CH₃)₃)₄H₂ (2.721(1) Å) with two bridging chlorides and two bridging hydrides is produced by the addition of molecular hydrogen to Ta₂Cl₆(P(CH₃)₃)₄. An alternative synthetic route to Ta₂Cl₆(P(CH₃)₃)₄H₂ is the oxidative addition of Cl₂ to Ta₂Cl₄(P(CH₃)₃)₄H₂.¹⁰⁵ A variation of the oxidizing agent from Cl₂ to HCl or H₂ produces Ta₂Cl₅(P(CH₃)₃)₄H₃ and Ta₂Cl₄(P(CH₃)₃)₄H₄ (2.511(2) Å),¹⁰⁶ respectively. The related complex Ta₂Cl₈(P(CH₃)₃)₄ (2.830(1) Å)¹⁰⁷ has been synthesized as a minor side product¹⁰⁸ and more systematically by the Na/Hg reduction of a toluene slurry of TaCl₅ and trimethylphosphine.¹⁰⁷ A high-yield preparative route¹⁰⁹ to (η^{5} -(C₅(CH₃)₄R))Ta₂(μ -H)₂Cl₄ (2.854(1) Å for R = -CH₂CH₃)¹¹⁰

A high-yield preparative route¹⁰⁹ to $(\eta^5 - (C_5(CH_3)_4R))Ta_2(\mu-H)_2Cl_4(2.854(1) \text{ Å for } R = -CH_2CH_3)^{110}$ where R is $-CH_3$ or $-CH_2CH_3$ has been developed based on the addition of hydridotri(butyl)tin to the mononuclear complex, $(\eta^5 - (C_5(CH_3)_4R))TaCl_4$. A dark green diamagnetic complex, $(\eta^5 - (C_5(CH_3)_5))_2Ta_2(\mu-H)_2(\mu-2, 6-Pr^1_2C_6H_3)SiHC_6H_5)_2$ (2.88472(5) Å), is one of three products



Figure 25 ORTEP drawing of Ta₂Cl₆(DTBA)(OC₄H₈)₂ (reproduced by permission of the American Chemical Society from Inorg. Chem. 1980, 19, 2354-2356).

formed in the reaction of $(\eta^{5}-(C_{5}(CH_{3})_{5}))(2, 6-Pr^{i}_{2}C_{6}H_{3}N)Ta(Si(Si(CH_{3})_{3})H with C_{6}H_{5}SiH_{3}.^{111}$ Based on a theoretical analysis of the Ta—Ta bonding, a weak σ bond is predicted. One of the more controversial cases of a ditantalum hydride complex is $[((H_{10}C_{6})_{2}N)_{2}ClTa-(\mu-H)]_{2}.^{112,113}$ Originally believed to be the first Ta₂^{111,111} complex without bridging ligands and a Ta—Ta bond length of 2.8484(7) Å, ¹¹³ re-evaluation of the structure and ¹H NMR spectroscopy indicated the presence of two bridging hydride ligands.¹¹² A Ta—Ta bond length of 2.720(4) Å has been determined for the unsupported Ta₂^{IV,IV} core in $[(Bu^{t}_{2}SiO)_{2}TaH_{2}]_{2}.^{114}$

4.9.7.2 Ta₂^{III,III} Complexes

Reduction of $(\eta^5-(C_5(CH_3)_4R))_2TaX_4$ where R is $-CH_3$ or $-CH_2CH_3$ and X is Cl or Br with Na/Hg in toluene provides a high-yield (70%) synthetic route to the ditantalum doubly bonded complexes $(\eta^5-(C_5(CH_3)_4R))_2Ta(\mu-X)_4$.¹¹⁵ The crystal structure of $(\eta^5-(C_5(CH_3)_5))_2Ta(\mu-X)_4$. Br)₄ with a Ta-Ta double bond length of 2.748(2) Å bridged symmetrically by four bromo ligands is shown in Figure 26. Reactions of $(\eta^5-C_5H_4CH_3)_2TaCl_4$ with $KP(C_6H_5)_2(dioxane)_2$ led to the phosphanido-bridged complex $[(\eta^5-C_5H_4CH_3)Ta(\mu-P(C_6H_5)_2)(P(C_6H_5)_2)]_2$ with an extremely long Ta—Ta double bond length of 3.024(2) Å.¹¹⁶ The use of 2,4,6-triisopropylphenylphosphine in a similar reaction results in a mononuclear complex, $[(\eta^5-C_5H_4CH_3)TaCl_4[PH_2(2,4,6-Pr^i_3C_6H_2)]]$ and attempts to remove HCl result in the oxidation of the tantalum and the formation of $[(\eta^5 C_5H_4CH_3)TaCl\{\mu$ -P(2,4,6-Pr¹₃C₆H₂)}] with a Ta—Ta single bond, 3.100(3) Å.¹¹⁶

As in the case of niobium, ditantalum complexes with sulfur-based ligands play a key role as starting materials for other $Ta_2^{III,III}$ complexes. Brown crystals of the face-sharing bioctahedral complex $Ta_2(\mu-NC_6H_5)(\mu-Cl)_2Cl_4(H_2NC_6H_5)_2$ (2.644(1)Å) are formed upon the addition and subsequent nitrogen bond cleavage of benzaldehyde azine to a benzene solution of Ta_2Cl_6 - $(S(CH_3)_2)_3$.⁵⁵ When N,N,N',N'-tetraethylethylenediamine (dene) is added slowly to a toluene solution of Ta₂Cl₆(S(CH₃)₂)₃, the green edge-sharing bioctahedral complex Ta₂Cl₆(dene)₂ (2.7776(6)Å) is synthesized with each of the two ethylenediamine ligands chelating to a single tantalum metal center as shown in Figure 27.⁷⁶

Addition of pyridine to a benzene solution of $TaCl_5$ reduced by LiBH₄ results in the formation an edge-sharing bioctahedral complex, but two of the pyridine ligands are in axial positions and two are in equatorial positions.¹¹⁷ The purple crystals of $Ta_2Cl_6(NC_5H_5)_4$ (2.740(1)Å) have a slightly shorter Ta—Ta bond length than the $Ta_2Cl_6(dene)_2$ derivative. Unfortunately, reduction of TaCl₅



Figure 26 ORTEP drawing of $(\eta^5 - (C_5(CH_3)_5))_2 Ta(\mu - Br)_4$ viewed perpendicular to the Ta—Ta axis (reproduced by permission of the Royal Society of Chemistry from *J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Commun.* 1988, 1133–1135).



Figure 27 ORTEP drawing of Ta₂Cl₆(dene)₂ (reproduced by permission of the American Chemical Society from *Inorg. Chem.* 1987, *26*, 4236–4240).

by LiBH₄ can lead to the incorporation of borane by-products in the ditantalum core.¹¹⁸ Reduction of TaCl₅ by LiBH₄ followed by addition of the formamidinate ligands Li[(C₆H₅)NC(H)N(C₆H₅)] and Li[(CH₃C₆H₄)NC(H)N(C₆H₄CH₃)] yields the ditantalum complexes Ta₂(μ_2, η^4 -B₂H₆) ((C₆H₅)NC(H)N(C₆H₅))₄ (2.736(1)Å) and Ta₂(μ_2, η^4 -B₂H₆)((CH₃C₆H₄) NC(H)N(C₆H₄CH₃))₄ (2.7251(11)Å).¹¹⁸ As shown in Figure 28, the B₂H₆ anion bridges the ditantalum core symmetrically via Ta—H bonds.



Figure 28 ORTEP drawing of $Ta_2(\mu_2,\eta^4-B_2H_6)((CH_3C_6H_4)NC(H)N(C_6H_4CH_3))_4$ (reproduced by permission of the American Chemical Society from *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 1996, *118*, 4830–4833).

Several ditantalum complexes have been synthesized with either monodentate or bidentate phosphine ligands; dmpm,¹¹⁹ depe,¹²⁰, dmpe,¹²¹ and trimethylphosphine.^{105,122} For two of the phosphine complexes, the synthetic route involves the addition of the appropriate phosphine ligand, dmpe¹²¹ or dmpm,¹¹⁹ to a solution of either Ta₂Cl₆(S(CH₃)₂)₃ or Ta₂Cl₆(SC₄H₈)₃, respectively. In the case of Ta₂Cl₆(dmpe)₂ (2.710(1)Å), each of the phosphine ligands chelate to a single metal center and lie in the equatorial plane with the bridging chlorine atoms. For Ta₂Cl₆(dmpm)₂ (2.692(2)Å) shown in Figure 29, the phosphine ligands bridge the dinuclear core. While Ta₂Cl₆ (depe)₂¹²⁰ (2.737(1)Å) is prepared by the addition of tri-*n*-butylphosphine and sodium amalgam to



Figure 29 ORTEP drawing of Ta₂Cl₆(dmpm)₂ (reproduced by permission of the American Chemical Society from *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 1986, *108*, 971–976).

a toluene slurry of $Ta_2Cl_6(\mu$ -SC₄H₈)(OC₄H₈)₂ then subsequent addition of the chelating phosphine ligand depe, the complex produced is the same as the one synthesized by direct addition of a chelating phosphine ligand to $Ta_2Cl_6(S(CH_3)_2)_3$ or $Ta_2Cl_6(SC_4H_8)_3$.

Burgundy red crystals of Ta₂Cl₆(P(CH₃)₃)₄ (2.721(1)Å) are obtained by the addition of TaCl₅ and Na/Hg to a toluene solution of P(CH₃)₃.¹²² Shown in Figure 30, the edge-sharing bioctahedral structure has two phosphine ligands in the equatorial plane on one tantalum metal center and two in the axial plane on the other tantalum metal center. Addition of H₂ to Ta₂Cl₆(P(CH₃)₃)₄H₂, discussed earlier.¹⁰⁵ Subsequent reduction of the Ta₂^{IV,IV} complex using sodium amalgam leads to the reductive elimination of chloride and the formation of Ta₂Cl₄(P(CH₃)₃)₄H₂ (2.545(1)Å) with two bridging hydrides. Upon reduction of the dinuclear complex Ta₂Cl₆(SC₄H₈)(OC₄H₈)₂ with sodium amalgam and addition of trimethylphosphine, the tetrahydrofuran ligands are replaced with trimethylphosphine ligands, Ta₂Cl₆(SC₄H₈)(P(CH₃)₃)₂ (2.682(3)Å).⁸⁰ Ta₂Cl₆(S(CH₃)₂)₂ and P(N(CH₃)₂)₃ were mixed in a dichloromethane solution to produce the related red complex Ta₂Cl₆(S(CH₃)₂)(P(N(CH₃)₂)₃)₂ (2.704(1)Å).¹²³

Addition of one equivalent of $C_4H_9CO_2Li$ to $Ta_2Cl_6(tht)_3$ results in the formation of a complex with a bridging carboxylate, $Ta_2Cl_5(O_2CC_4H_9)(S(CH_3)_2)(OC_4H_8)_2$ that crystallizes in two different forms with Ta—Ta double bonds, 2.766(1) Å. and 2.779(1) Å.¹²⁴ A minor product in the synthesis of $Ta_2Cl_6(dmpe)_2$ is the dark green complex $Ta_2Cl_4(dmpe)_2(\mu-O)(\mu-S(CH_3)_2)$ (2.726(1) Å).¹²⁵ When $Ta_2Cl_6(tht)(OC_4H_8)_2$ is reduced by sodium amalgam with the subsequent addition of pyridine, red crystals of $Ta_2Cl_4(\mu-O)(\mu-S(tht)(NC_5H_5)_4)$ are formed with the ligand geometry shown in Figure 31.¹²⁶

Common ditantalum starting materials include the face-sharing bioctahedral species $Ta_2Cl_6(S(CH_3)_2)_3$ (2.691(1)Å)¹²⁷ and $Ta_2Cl_6(SC_4H_8)_3$ (2.681(1)Å)¹²⁷ with Ta—Ta double bonds. The brown crystals of $Ta_2Cl_6(S(CH_3)_2)_3$ (Figure 32) are synthesized by the reduction of a TaCl₅ and $S(CH_3)_2$ mixture using sodium amalgam.¹²⁷ The Ta—Ta bond length increases slightly for $Ta_2Br_6(SC_4H_8)_3$ (2.710(2)Å) in comparison to the chloro analogs.¹²⁸ The sulfur ligands are relatively easy to replace since $Ta_2Cl_6(SC_4H_8)(OC_4H_8)_2$ (2.6695(5)Å) is synthesized simply by layering a tetrahydrofuran solution of $Ta_2Cl_6(SC_4H_8)_3$ with hexanes.⁹⁰ In fact, the tetrahydrothiophene ligands are replaced with chlorides when $Ta_2Cl_6(SC_4H_8)_3$ is layered with (CH₃CH₂)₄NCl in a 1:4 ratio to result in ((CH₃CH₂)₄N)₂[Ta₂Cl₈(SC₄H₈)] (2.688(1)Å).⁸²

Addition of excess $S(CH_3)_2$ to a toluene solution of $Ta_2Cl_6(S(CH_3)_2)_3$ followed by layering of the reaction filtrate with $(CH_3)SS(CH_3)$ converts the face-sharing bioctahedral complex to the edge-sharing bioctahedral complex $Ta_2Cl_6(S(CH_3)_2)_4$ with a Ta—Ta bond length of 2.829(1) Å.⁸⁸ The bidentate sulfur-based ligand 3,6-dithiaoctane (dto) coordinates in a manner similar to the



Figure 30 ORTEP drawing of Ta₂Cl₆(P(CH₃)₃)₄ (reproduced by permission of the American Chemical Society from *Inorg. Chem.* 1982, *21*, 2392–2396).



Figure 31 ORTEP drawing of $Ta_2Cl_4(\mu-O)(\mu-S(tht)(NC_5H_5)_4$ (reproduced by permission of Elsevier Science from *Inorg. Chim. Acta* 1988, 149, 105–110).



Figure 32 ORTEP drawing of Ta₂Cl₆(S(CH₃)₂)₃ (reproduced by permission of the American Chemical Society from *Inorg. Chem.* 1981, 20, 2716–2719).

bidentate phosphine ligands described earlier to result in $Ta_2Cl_6(dto)_2$ (2.841(1)Å and 2.852(1)Å for the two independent molecules in the unit cell). 88

4.9.7.3 Ta₂^{II,II} Complexes

There are only a few ditantalum complexes with the metal centers in lower oxidation states, such as the triply bonded anionic complexes $[Ta_2Cl_6(SC_4H_8)_3]^{2-}$ synthesized by the reduction of either

Ta₂Cl₆(SC₄H₈)₃ or TaCl₅ with sodium amalgam.⁹⁵ In the presence of LiCl, [Li(THF)₂]₂-[Ta₂Cl₆(SC₄H₈)₃] is formed with a Ta—Ta bond length of 2.626(1)Å. Considering the BH₃ group as a 2-electron donor, the purple Ta₂^{II,II} complex Ta₂(μ -BH₃)(μ -dmpm)₃(η ²-BH₄)₂ (2.7708(5) and 2.7875(5)Å for the unsolvated and solvated forms) is synthesized from the LiBH₄ reduction of TaCl₅ followed by the addition of dmpm.¹²⁹ As shown in Figure 33, the tantalum metal centers bond to two of the hydrogen atoms of the bridging BH₃ moiety.

4.9.8 DICHROMIUM COMPLEXES

4.9.8.1 Cr₂^{III,III} Complexes

 $(\eta^{5}-C_{5}H_{5})_{2}Cr_{2}(CO)_{4}(\mu-\eta^{2}-P_{2})$, synthesized from $(\eta^{5}-C_{5}H_{5})_{2}Cr_{2}(CO)_{6}$, reacts with 2 molar equivalents of Cr(CO)₅(OC₄H₈), Mo(CO)₅(OC₄H₈), or W(CO)₅(OC₄H₈) to yield the brown-to-brownish-red diamagnetic di-metallated complexes, $(\eta^{5}-C_{5}H_{5})_{2}Cr_{2}(CO)_{4}(\mu-\eta^{2}-P_{2})[Cr(CO)_{5}]_{2}$, $(\eta^{5}-C_{5}H_{5})_{2}Cr_{2}(CO)_{4}(\mu-\eta^{2}-P_{2})[Cr(CO)_{5}]_{2}$, and $(\eta^{5}-C_{5}H_{5})_{2}Cr_{2}(CO)_{4}(\mu-\eta^{2}-P_{2})[W(CO)_{5}]_{2}$, respectively.¹³⁰ An ORTEP drawing of the structure of $(\eta^{5}-C_{5}H_{5})_{2}Cr_{2}(CO)_{4}(\mu-\eta^{2}-P_{2})[Cr(CO)_{5}]_{2}$ is shown in Figure 34.¹³⁰ The Cr—Cr bond length of the di-metallated species $(\eta^{5}-C_{5}H_{5})_{2}Cr_{2}(CO)_{4}(\mu-\eta^{2}-P_{2})[Cr(CO)_{5}]_{2}$ (3.003(1)Å) decreases only slightly from the parent compound $(\eta^{5}-C_{5}H_{5})_{2}Cr_{2}(CO)_{4}(\mu-\eta^{2}-P_{2})(3.011(1)Å)$.

The Cr₂^{III,III} starting material (η^5 -C₅H₅)₂Cr₂(SC(CH₃)₂)₂S reacts with metal carbonyls such as (η^5 -C₅H₅)Mn(CO)₃, (η^6 -C₆H₆)Cr(CO)₃, Fe₃(CO)₉S₂, and Re₂(CO)₉, to form cluster complexes with the retention of the Cr—Cr bond in the (η^5 -C₅H₅)₂Cr₂(SC(CH₃)₃)-core.^{131–134} An example of the "Bow-Tie" framework is shown in Figure 35 for [(η^5 -C₅H₅)₂Cr₂(SC(CH₃)₃)(μ_3 -S)₂]₂Mn.¹³¹ The length of the Cr—Cr double bond is 2.690(4) Å with only a slight change for [(η^5 -C₅H₅)₂Cr₂(SC(CH₃)₃)(μ_3 -S)₂]₂Cr (2.655(1) Å).¹³² (η^5 -C₅H₅)₂Cr₂(μ -OC(CH₃)₃)₂[OCCo₃(CO)₉] is synthetically accessible through the room-temperature interaction of (η^5 -C₅H₅)₂Cr₂(μ -OC(CH₃)₃)₂ with Co₂(CO)₈ and contains a Cr—Cr bond length of 2.766(1) Å.¹³⁵

4.9.8.2 Cr₂^{II,II} Complexes

 $Cr_2^{II,II}$ complexes can be separated into two primary categories: organometallic complexes with carbon-based ligands such as indenyl,¹³⁶ fulvalene,¹³⁷ and cyclopentadienyl ligands^{135,138,139} and



Figure 33 ORTEP drawing of viewed perpendicular to the Ta—Ta axis in Ta₂(μ -BH₃)(μ -dmpm)₃ (η^2 -BH₄)₂ (reproduced by permission of the American Chemical Society from *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1998**, *120*, 9594–9599).



Figure 34 ORTEP drawing of $(\eta^5 - C_5H_5)_2Cr_2(CO)_4(\mu - \eta^2 - P_2)[Cr(CO)_5]_2$ (reproduced by permission of Elsevier Science from *J. Organomet. Chem.* 1989, 364, 363–371).



Figure 35 The structure of $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2Cr_2(SC(CH_3)_3)(\mu_3-S)_2]_2Mn$ (reproduced by permission of Elsevier Science from J. Organomet. Chem. 1984, 275, 183–189).

quadruply bonded paddlewheel complexes.¹⁴⁰ With an excellent history of dichromium complexes already available,¹⁴⁰ new Cr—Cr bonded compounds synthesized since 1990 will be the focus of the $Cr_2^{II,II}$ section.

The dark red complex $(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2Cr_2(\mu-OC(CH_3)_3)_2$ is prepared by refluxing $(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2Cr$ with *tert*-butyl alcohol in toluene.¹³⁹ The Cr—Cr bond length is 2.632(5) Å and 2.669(6) Å for the two independent molecules in the crystal lattice. Further reaction of $(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2Cr_2(\mu-OC(CH_3)_3)_2$ with $Co_2(CO)_8$ in benzene results in a cluster compound $(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2Cr_2(\mu-OC(CH_3)_3)_2$ [OCCo₂(CO)₉] with a slight increase in the Cr—Cr bond length to 2.766(1) Å.¹³⁵ The Cr—Cr bond length of (indenyl)₃Cr₂Cl (shown in Figure 36) formed from the reaction of CrCl₂ with only one equivalent of sodium indenyl in THF is 2.317(1) Å.¹³⁶ In addition to bridging oxygen-based ligands, the reaction of $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)Cr(CO)_2]_2$ with $(C_6H_5)_2S_2$ in toluene at elevated temperature yields the purple complex $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)Cr(\mu-S(C_6H_5))_2]_2S^{141}$ (2.676(1) Å) as a secondary product.



Figure 36 Structure of (indenyl)₃Cr₂Cl.

The unusual structure shown in Figure 37 results from the reaction of $CrCl_2(THF)_2$ with $LiCH_2N(CH_3)_2$ in ether.¹⁴² The red diamagnetic $Cr_2^{II,II}$ salt [{Li(THF)}_2 $Cr_2(CH_2N(CH_3)_2)_6$] has a Cr—Cr bond length of 1.844(1)Å. In a similar reaction using $LiCH_2Si(CH_3)_3$, two of the six —CH_2Si(CH_3)_3 ligands are proposed to bridge the Cr—Cr bond, based on NMR spectroscopy of the orange–brown complex.¹⁴³ Although the anionic complex [$Li(DMF)_6$][$Cr_2(azin)_4Cl_2$] where Hazin is 7-azaindole with a Cr—Cr distance of 2.688(2)Å is diamagnetic, the presence of a Cr—Cr bond has not been confirmed for this red compound.¹⁴⁴ However, a single or triple bond is proposed based on a metal–metal interaction comprised of both bonding and exchange coupling.

is proposed based on a metal-metal interaction comprised of both bonding and exchange coupling. One of the dominant ligand groups in recent $Cr_2^{II,II}$ chemistry is the amidinate anion. The guanindinate anion $[(C_6H_5N)_2CN(CH_2)_4]^-$ reacts with $CrCl_2$ to result in the classic paddlewheel complex, $Cr_2[(C_6H_5N)_2CN(CH_2)_4]_4$ (1.9049(7) and 1.9025(7)Å).¹⁴⁵ With the addition of AgPF₆, the yellow solution of $Cr_2[(C_6H_5N)_2CN(CH_2)_4]_4$ becomes dark blue upon formation of the $Cr_2^{II,III}$ complex $[Cr_2[(C_6H_5N)_2CN(CH_2)_4]_4]PF_6$ with a slight increase in the Cr—Cr bond length to 1.9249(9)Å. A series of twenty tetraformamidinate¹⁴⁶ dichromium complexes have been synthesized over the last ten years.^{147–150} Of note in the series is the lengthening of the Cr—Cr bond upon coordination of a substituent of the phenyl ring of formamidinate ligand to an axial coordination site of the dichromium core.^{147,148} As shown in Figure 38 for $Cr_2[(C_6F_5N)_2C(H)]_4$,



Figure 37 ORTEP drawing of [{Li(THF)}₂Cr₂(CH₂N(CH₃)₂)₆] (reproduced by permission of the American Chemical Society from *Organometallics* **1998**, *17*, 475–478).



Figure 38 Drawing of the structure of $Cr_2[(C_6F_5N)_2C(H)]_4$ showing the Cr—F interactions (reproduced by permission of the American Chemical Society from *Inorg. Chem.* 1999, *38*, 2182–2187).

the Cr—Cr bond length 2.0121(11)Å has lengthened rather significantly from the more typical value of 1.93Å for complexes of this type.¹⁴⁸

With the expansion of the use of nitrogen-based ligands, more complex ring systems have been used in the synthesis of $Cr_2^{II,II}$ complexes such as the hpp⁻ ligand discussed previously for the divanadium paddlewheel complex.⁴³ $Cr_2(hpp)_4$ has a Cr—Cr bond distance of 1.8517(7) Å⁴³ in comparison to complexes made with the anions of 2,6-di(phenylimino)piperdine,¹⁴⁶ 2,2'-dipyridylamine,¹⁴⁶ 2,6-bis(phenylamino)pyridine,¹⁵¹ and 1',3'-dihydrospiro[cyclohexane-1,2'-[2H]imidazo[4,5-b]pyridine]¹⁵² with Cr—Cr bond lengths of 2.2652(9), 1.858(1), 1.873(2), 2.016(1), and 2.016(1) Å, respectively. Note the lengthening of three of the Cr—Cr bond lengths due to either axial coordination to the dichromium core or divergent angles on the coordinated ligands. Without a bridging bidentate ligand, the bond lengths increase as demonstrated by the Cr—Cr bond length of $Cr_2(tmtaa)_2$ (2.101(1)Å) where tmtaa is the dianion of tetramethyldibenzotetraaza[14]-annulene¹⁵³ where a triple bond is predicted as a result of the loss of δ bonding. In a typical synthesis of $Cr_2^{II,II}$ paddlewheel complexes with nitrogen-based ligands, CrCl₂ and

the appropriate salt of the anion react together in the appropriate stoichiometry.¹⁴⁰ When $CrCl_2$ and $\hat{\text{Li}}[o-\text{ClC}_6\text{H}_4\text{N})_2\text{CH}]$ are reacted in a 2:3 ratio, three formamidinate ligands bridge and one chloro ligand bridge the dinuclear core.¹⁵⁴ The green diamagnetic solid $\text{Cr}_2[o-\text{ClC}_6\text{H}_4\text{N})_2\text{CH}]_3(\mu$ -Cl) (1.940(1)Å) has an acute Cr-Cl-Cr bond angle of 46.67(2) degrees. In the case of the anion of α -carboline (Hcarb), the reaction of excess lithium salt of the anion with CrCl₂ yields the dark red anionic complex $[Cr_2(carb)_4Cl]^-$ (Cr—Cr 2.530(1)Å and Cr—Cl 2.509(2)Å) shown in Figure 39.¹⁵² The sterically demanding N, N'-bis(2,6-xylyl)formamidinate ligand reacted in a 1:1 ratio with CrCl₂ provides a synthetic route to $Cr_2(\mu-Cl)_2((2,6-(CH_3)_2C_6H_3N)_2C(H))_2(THF)_2$ (2.612(1)Å), a molecule without significant metal-metal bonding interaction.¹⁵⁵ Subsequent addition of sodium acetate to a blue solution of $Cr_2(\mu-Cl)_2((2,6-(CH_3)_2C_6H_3N)_2C(H))_2(THF)_2$ results in a mixed acetate:formamidinate quadruply bonded complex with the acetate ligands in a $Cr_2((2,6-(CH_3)_2C_6H_3N)_2C(H))_2(O_2CCH_3)_2$ (2.342(1)Å).¹⁵⁵ trans configuration. Use of $Cr_2(O_2CCH_3)_4$ as the starting material followed by the addition of the formamidinate ligand results in $Cr_2((2.6-(CH_3)_2C_6H_3N)_2C(H))_2(O_2CCH_3)_2$ (2.037(1)Å) with the acetate ligands in a *cis* configuration.¹⁵⁵ Nitrogen-based tri- and tetradentate ligands yield linear chains containing chromium atoms appropriate for building blocks in the synthesis of large extended arrays.¹⁵⁶⁻¹⁶⁴

Dichromium tetracarboxylates typically contain axially coordinated ligands.¹⁴⁰ Indeed, even benzene, p-C₆H₄F₂, and p-C₆H₄(CH₃)₂ will form axial adducts with Cr₂(O₂CC(C₆H₅)₃)₄ to result in Cr—Cr bond length changes based on the ionization potentials of the axially coordinated arene ring; Cr₂(O₂CC(C₆H₅)₃)₄.(p-C₆H₄F₂) (2.176(3)Å) and Cr₂(O₂CC(C₆H₅)₃)₄.(p-C₆H₄(CH₃)₂)



Figure 39 Drawing of the molecular structure of the anion, $[Cr_2(carb)_4Cl]^-$ (reproduced by permission of Elsevier Science from *Inorg. Chim. Acta* **2000**, *300–302*, 319–327).

(2.291(3) Å).¹⁶⁵ Variable temperature ¹H NMR studies of a series of dichromium tetraacetate complexes with different axially coordinated ligands provides an experimental method to easily probe the singlet-triplet separation.¹⁶⁶ To eliminate the coordination of axial ligands, 2,4,6-triisopropylbenzoic acid is refluxed in toluene with $(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2$ Cr to result in the first crystalline dichromium tetracarboxylate with a supershort Cr—Cr bond (1.9662 (5) Å).¹⁶⁷ Coordination of acetonitrile in the axial positions results in an increase in the Cr—Cr bond length to 2.3892(2) Å.¹⁶⁷

Using the dichromium core as a template, several unusual tetracarboxylate complexes have been synthesized as in the case of the iron-containing anion $(\eta^5-C_5H_5)Fe(CO)_2(CH_2CO_2)^{-1.68}$ Synthesized by the addition of $(\eta^5-C_5H_5)Fe(CO)_2(CH_2CO_2H)$ to CrCl₂ prepared *in situ*, the redorange diamagnetic product Cr₂[(O₂CCH₂)(CO)₂Fe($\eta^5-C_5H_5$)]₄·[($\eta^5-C_5H_5$)Fe(CO)₂(CH₂CO₂H)]₂ (2.3070(8) Å) has two neutral ($\eta^5-C_5H_5$)Fe(CO)₂(CH₂CO₂H) ligands coordinated in the axial positions.¹⁶⁸ Using four zwitterionic betaine ligands in the synthesis of [Cr₂(O₂CCH₂N(CH₃)₃)₄(OH₂)₂]⁴⁺ (2.446(2) Å)¹⁶⁹ from CrCl₂, [ZnCl₄]²⁻ acts as the counter anion with only the typical electrostatic interactions between the ions in the solid state.

4.9.9 DIMOLYBDENUM COMPLEXES

4.9.9.1 Introduction

Since excellent reviews of compounds with multiple bonds between dimolybdenum and ditungsten atoms before 1990 exist,^{140,170–172} attention to new complexes synthesized and structurally characterized with the exclusion of organometallic and cluster complexes is the main focus in the review of dimolybdenum metal–metal bonded compounds.

4.9.9.2 Mo₂^{V,V} Complexes

Unlike chromium, dimolybdenum complexes exist in higher oxidation states primarily coordinated by nitrogen-, oxygen-, and sulfur-based ligands. The reaction of $[Mo_2(CO)_6(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2]$ with excess $C_2(C_6H_5)_2$ in boiling octane to result in the formation of $[Mo_2(CO)(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2-(\mu-C_4(C_6H_5)_4)]$ begins a progressive increase in the oxidation state of the metal center. When dissolved in dichloromethane and subsequently exposed to air, $[Mo_2(CO)(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2-(\mu-C_4(C_6H_5)_4)]$ is oxidized to form the brown complex $Mo_2^{IV,IV}$ complex $[Mo_2(O)(\mu-O)-(\mu-C_4(C_6H_5)_4)(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2]$.¹⁷³ Subsequent reaction with $(C_6H_5)NCO$ in refluxing toluene results in the loss of CO₂ and the formation of $[Mo_2(O)(\mu-NC_6H_5)(\mu-C_4(C_6H_5)_4)(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2]$ (2.7654(3) Å) shown schematically in Figure 40a.¹⁷⁴ Alternatively, reaction of $[Mo_2(O)(\mu-O)(\mu-C_4(C_6H_5)_4)(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2]$ with PriSH yielded a mixture of products, the sulfido species $[Mo_2(S)(\mu-O)(\mu-C_4(C_6H_5)_4)(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2]$ and the $Mo_2(V, V)$ species $[Mo_2(O)(\mu-O)(\mu-S)(\eta-C_4(C_6H_5)_4)(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2]$ (2.8129(9) Å) shown in Figure 40b.¹⁷⁴ Other oxidants have been used to add either oxygen or sulfur, such as air oxidation to form μ -O species or S₈ in the synthesis of μ -S complexes. With the solvent acetonitrile in the presence of trimethylamine N-oxide, $[Mo_2(CO)_4(\mu-CH_3O_2CC_2-CO_2CH_3)(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2]$ is oxidized to $[Mo_2O_2(\mu-O)(\mu-CH_3O_2CC_2CO_2CH_3)(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2]$ (2.7875(6) Å).¹⁷⁵ Warming the substituted cylopentadienyl complex $[C_5(CH_2CH_3)(CH_3)_4]_2Mo_2(\mu-\eta^2-S_2)(\mu-S)_2, syn-[C_5(CH_2CH_3)(CH_3)_4]_2Mo_2(\mu-S)_2S_2$ (2.895(1) Å), and *anti*- $[C_5(CH_2CH_3)-(CH_3)_4]_2Mo_2(\mu-S)_2S_2$.

In a direct route to the formation of complexes with two bridging imido groups, $[Mo_2(CO)_6(\eta-C_5H_4(CH_3))_2]$ is reacted with $(C_6F_5)NO_2$ in refluxing toluene to yield $[Mo_2O_2(\mu-N(C_6F_5)_2-(\eta-C_5H_4(CH_3))_2]$ (2.686(1) Å).¹⁷⁷ The use of other fluorinated nitrobenzenes such as $(C_6H_4F_2)NO_2$ or $(C_6H_5(CF_3))NO_2$ yields $[Mo_2O_2(\mu-O)(\mu-N(C_6H_4F_2)(\eta-C_5H_4(CH_3))_2]$ (2.6499(5) Å), and $[Mo_2O_2(\mu-O)(\mu-NC_6H_4CF_3)_2(\eta-C_5H_4(CH_3))_2]$ (2.6591(8) Å), respectively, in low yield (1-2%).¹⁷⁸ When $[Mo_2(CO)_6(\eta-C_5H_4(CH_3))_2]$ is reacted with $(C_6H_5)NO_2$, three products are formed: $[Mo_2O_2(\mu-O)(\mu-NC_6H_5)(\eta-C_5H_4(CH_3))_2]$ (2.645(1) Å), $[Mo_2O_2(\mu-NC_6H_5)_2(\eta-C_5H_4(CH_3))_2]$ (2.691(1) Å), and $[Mo_2O(\mu-O)(NC_6H_5)(\mu-NC_6H_5)_2(\eta-C_5H_4(CH_3))_2]$ in the ratio 3:1:1 with yields of 56%, 18%, and 20% respectively.¹⁷⁹ More elaborate nitrobenzene groups have also been used such as 4'-nitrobenzo-15-crown-5 to form imido complexes.¹⁸⁰ Higher-yield preparative methods (20–65%) involve the use of phenylisocyanate instead of nitrobenzene to yield $[Mo_2(N(C_6H_5)_2)(\mu-N(C_6H_5)(\mu-NC_6H_5)_2\{a-((CH_3)_3SiN)_2C_6H_4\}]$ in toluene results in C—N bond cleavage to form $[Mo_2(NC_6H_5)(\mu-NC_6H_5)_2\{a-((CH_3)_3SiN)_2C_6H_4\}]$ in toluene results in C—N bond cleavage to form $[Mo_2(NC_6H_5)(\mu-NC_6H_5)_2\{\mu-(CH_3)_3SiNC_6H_4\}((CH_3)_3SiN)_{a-((CH_3)_3SiN)_2C_6H_4}]$ (2.5669(4) Å) shown in Figure 41.¹⁸² Heating $Mo_2(\mu-NC_6H_5)_2(\Omega(CH_2CH_3)_2)_2$ in the presence of phenyl isocyanate also reacts with $[Mo_2(\mu-O)_2O_2(\eta-C_5H_4(CH_3))_2]$ in THF at elevated temperatures to form the orange complex $Mo_2(\mu-NC_6H_5)_2(NC_6H_5)_2(NC_6H_5)_2(NC_6H_5)_2(\eta-C_5H_4(CH_3))_2]$ in THF at elevated temperatures to form the orange complex $Mo_2(\mu-NC_6H_5)_2(NC_6H_5)_2(NC_6H_5)_2(\eta-C_5H_4(CH_3))_2$ in THF at elevated temperatures to form the orange complex $Mo_2(\mu-NC_6H_5)_2(NC_6H_5)_2(NC_6H_5)_2(NC_6H_5)_2(NC_6H_5)_2(NC_6H_5)_2(NC_6H_5)_2(NC_6H_5)_2(NC_6H_5)_2(NC_6H_5)_2(NC_6H_5)_2(NC_6H_5)_2(NC_6H_5)_2(NC_6H_$

orange complex $Mo_2(\mu$ -NC₆H₅)₂(NC₆H₅)₂(η -C₅H₄(CH₃))₂ [m⁻ TH⁻ at clevated, clipperturbed to form the orange complex $Mo_2(\mu$ -NC₆H₅)₂(NC₆H₅)₂(η -C₅H₄(CH₃))₂ (2.7175(5) Å).¹⁸⁴ Starting with the mononuclear Mo^V compound [N(CH₂CH₃)₄][MoOI₄(H₂O)], a reaction with OP(C₆H₅)₃ in acetonitrile leads to a mixture of compounds, [MoOI₃(OP(C₆H₅)₃)₂] and [Mo₂O₄I₂(OP(C₆H₅)₃)₃] (2.557 (1) Å).¹⁸⁵ In the dinuclear compound, each metal center is coordinated to two bridging and one terminal oxo ligand with the iodo ligands and the three phosphine ligands unsymmetrically coordinated to result in coordination environments about the central



Figure 40 The structures of $[Mo_2(O)(\mu-N(C_6H_5)(\mu-C_4(C_6H_5)_4)(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2]$ and $[Mo_2(O)(\mu-O)(\mu-S)(\eta-C_4(C_6H_5)_4)(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2]$



Figure 41 ORTEP drawing of $[Mo_2(NC_6H_5)(\mu-NC_5H_5)_2\{\mu-(CH_3)_3SiNC_6H_4\}((CH_3)_3SiN)_2-C_6H_4\}]$ (reproduced by permission of the Royal Society of Chemistry from *J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Commun.* **2001**, 1224–1225).

metal ions of MoO_3I_2 and $MoO_3(OP(C_6H_5)_3)_3$. Using $Mo_2O_3(acac)_4$, where acac is acetylacetonate, as the starting material, the two different ligands ethyl 4-hydroxy-3-[3-(4-methoxyanilino)-2butenoyl]-2H-pyran-2-on-6-carboxylate (Mo-Mo 2.549(1)Å) and ethyl 4-(4-hydroxy-6-methyl-2H-pyran-2-on-3-yl)-2-(4-methoxyanilino)-4-oxo-2-butenoate (2.556(1)Å) react to result in complexes of the general type $Mo_2O_4L_2(HOCH_3)_2$ where L represents the two carboxylate ligands.¹⁸⁶ Complexes with the Mo_2O_4 core have also been prepared from either mononuclear Mo^V , triply bonded $Mo_2^{III,III}$, or quadruply bonded $Mo_2^{II,III}$ starting materials. Using $(C_5H_5NH)_2[M_0Cl_5O]$ and a series of diamine ligands, the dicationic complexes $[Mo_2O_4(tpen)]^{2+}$ (2.546(1)Å) and $[Mo_2O_4(tppn)]^{2+}$ (2.541(2)Å) where tpen and tppn are N,N,N,N-tetrakis(2-pyridylmethyl)ethylenediamine and N,N,N,N'-tetrakis(2-pyridylmethyl)propylenediamine respectively have been prepared and structurally characterized.¹⁸⁷ Mo₂(N(CH₃)₂)₆ is reacted with C₆F₅OH to form the anion $[Mo_2O_2(\mu-O)_2(OC_6F_5)_4]^{2-}$ (2.556(1)Å).¹⁸⁸ In the case of the reaction of $Mo_2(O_2CCH_3)_4$ with 2-pyridyl(diisopropylphosphino)methane in a THF:dichloromethane solvent mixture, an orangeyellow complex $Mo_2O_4Cl_2(\eta^2-2-pyridyl(diisopropylphosphino)methane)_2$ (2.5700(8)Å) shown in Figure 42 results.¹⁸⁹ Simply heating $Mo_2Cl_4(4,4'-dimethyl-2,2'-dipyridyl)_2$ in *o*-dichlorobenzene $Mo_2O_4Cl_2(\eta^2-2-pyridyl(diisopropylphosphino)-methane)_2$ provides the red complex (2.562(2) Å).¹⁹⁰

There is a wide variety of both mono-, di-, and trinuclear complexes used in the synthesis of $Mo_2(V,V)$ sulfur-containing complexes. $Mo_2(O_2CCH_3)_4$ is reacted with $Na_2[S_2C_2(CN)_2]$ and subsequently $(C_4H_9)_4NBr$ in dry methanol to result in the red complex $[Mo_2(\mu-S)_2(O)(S)(S_2C_2(CN)_2)_2]^{2-}$ with a Mo—Mo bond length of 2.858(1) Å.¹⁹⁰ The reaction of $[Mo_2O_2(\mu-O)(\mu-NC_6H_5)(\eta-C_5H_4(CH_3))_2]$ with hydrogen sulfide leads to the substitution of a terminal oxo ligand by a sulfido ligand to form $[Mo_2O(S)(\mu-O)(\mu-NC_6H_5)(\eta-C_5H_4(CH_3))_2]$ (2.660(1) Å) as shown in Figure 43.¹⁹¹ The $Mo_2(\mu-S)(\mu-O)O_2$ core in the anion $[Mo_2(\mu-S)(\mu-O)O_2(\mu-N,N'-C_{10}H_{12}N_2O_8)]^{2-}$ (2.6655(7) Å) is formed by the reduction of $[(MoO_3)_2(\mu-edta)]^{4-}$, where edta is ethylenediaminetetracetate, by dithionite at pH 6.¹⁹² Both *trans*-Mo_2O_2(\mu-Te)(\mu-O)(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2 (2.068(7) Å) and *cis*-Mo_2O_2(\mu-S)(\mu-O)(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2 (2.08(1) Å) are formed upon refluxing $(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2Mo_2Fe_2(CO)_7(\mu_3-S)(\mu_3-Te)$ in the presence of air.¹⁹³ The $[Mo_2(\mu-S)_2(\mu-S)_2(\mu-S)_2(\mu-S)_2(\mu-S)_2(\mu-S)_2(\mu-S)_2(\mu-S)_2(\mu-S)_2(\mu-S)_3(\mu-S)_2(\mu-S)_3$

A high-yield preparation of the complex $[Mo_2S(SC(H)=C(H)S)(\mu-S)_2(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2]$ (2.984(1)Å) has been developed using $[Mo_2(\mu-HCCH)(CO)_4(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2]$ and S_8 .¹⁹⁴ Both of the anions $[Mo_2S_4(S_2C_6H_4)_2]^{2-}$ (2.865(2)Å) and $[Mo_2S_4(S_2)_2]^{2-}$ (2.821(1)Å) are prepared by the addition of benzenethiol to $(NH_4)_2Mo_2(S_2)_6$ ·H₂O under slightly different reaction conditions.¹⁹⁵ Crystallographic



Figure 42 ORTEP drawing of the structure of $Mo_2O_4Cl_2(\eta^2-2\text{-pyridyl}(\text{diisopropylphosphino})\text{methane})_2$ (reproduced by permission of Elsevier Science from *Inorg. Chim. Acta* 2002, 328, 232–236).



Figure 43 Structure of $[Mo_2O(S)(\mu-O)(\mu-N(C_6H_5)(\eta-C_5H_4(CH_3))_2]$ (reproduced by permission of Elsevier Science from *J. Organomet. Chem.* 1991, 405, 207–215).

studies of the MoS₂ core in $[Mo_2(NC_6H_4CH_3)_2(S_2P(OCH_2CH_3)_2)_2(O_2CCH_3)(\mu-S)(\mu-SCH_3)]$ (2.8347(5) Å), $[Mo_2(NC_6H_4CH_3)_2(S_2P(OCH_2CH_3)_2)_2(O_2CCH_3)(\mu-SCH_3)_2]^+$ (2.878(1) Å) shown in Figure 44, and $[Mo_2(NC_6H_4CH_3)_2(S_2P(OCH_2CH_3)_2)$ (S₂P(O)(OCH₂CH₃)₂) (O₂CCH₃)(μ -SCH₂CH₃)₂] (2.8948(9) Å) were undertaken to compare the cationic complex that is activated towards heterolytic C—S and C—O cleavage and the neutral complexes.¹⁹⁶ The related complex $[Mo_2(NC_6H_4CH_3)_2(S_2P(OCH_2CH_3)_2)_2(\mu-O_2CCH_3)(\mu-SI_3)]$ (2.878(1) Å) has also been structurally characterized.¹⁹⁷



Figure 44 ORTEP drawing of the cationic complex $[Mo_2(NC_6H_4CH_3)_2(S_2P(OCH_2CH_3)_2)_2(O_2CCH_3)-(\mu-SCH_3)_2]^+$ (reproduced by permission of the American Chemical Society from *Inorg. Chem.* 1999, *38*, 802–813).

4.9.9.3 Mo₂^{IV,IV} Complexes

In comparison to the variety of Mo₂(V, V) complexes, only several Mo₂^{IV,IV} compounds with predominately cyclopentadienyl- and sulfur-based ligands have been structurally characterized. Synthesized from the Mo₂^{II,II} anion [Mo₂(η^5 -C₅H₅)₂(CO)₄(μ -PH₂)]⁻,¹⁹⁸ [Mo₂(η^5 -C₅H₅)₂(CO)₄(μ , η^2 -PE)] where E is As (Mo—Mo bond length 3.0191(9)Å) or Sb (Mo—Mo bond length 3.0563(11)Å) form upon addition of one equivalent of AsCl₃ and SbCl₃ respectively. The phosphorus:arsenic and phosphorus:antimony are disordered 50:50 over the two crystallographic sites. In related chemistry, the Mo₂^{II,II} core is oxidized by the addition of 4-(CH₃)C₆H₄CCH to an ethylenediamine (en) solution of Mo₂(μ -O₂CCH₃)₄ to result in the formation of the cation [Mo₂(μ -O₂CCH₃)(μ -4-(CH₃)C₆H₄CCH)(en)₄]³⁺ (2.486(3)Å).¹⁹⁹

The reaction of $[Mo_2(\mu-C_2(CO_2CH_3)_2)(CO)_4(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2]$ with $(CH_3S)_2C=S$ results in the insertion of a -CSCH_3 fragment in the bridging alkyne to produce $[Mo_2(\mu-C-(CO_2CH_3)C(SCH_3)C(CO_2CH_3))(\mu-S)(\mu-SCH_3)(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2]$ (2.5605(1)Å).²⁰⁰ Note that the reaction can be generalized to other trithiocarbonates. The reaction of $[Mo_2(\mu-H)(\mu-P(C_6H_5)_2)(CO)_4(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2]$ with PrⁱSH leads to the dealkylation of the thiol to result in the quadruply bridged green product $[Mo_2(\mu-S)_2(\mu-SPr^i)(\mu-P(C_6H_5)_2)(CO)_4(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2]$ (2.623(2)Å).²⁰¹ The red-purple cationic complex $[Mo_2(\mu-S)(\mu-S_2C_4H_2S)(S_2CH_2)\{\eta^5-C_5H_4(CH_3)\}_2]$ Br (2.608(1)Å) forms upon addition of 2-bromothiophene to $[Mo_2(\mu-S)_2(S_2CH_2)\{\eta^5-C_5H_4(CH_3)\}_2]$.²⁰² $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2(CO)_4Mo_2]$ reacts with HSCH₂CO₂CH₂CH₃ to yield $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2(CO)_4Mo_2(\mu-S)_2(\mu-SCH_2CO_2CH_2CH_3)_2]$ (2.590(1)Å).²⁰³

Imido complexes are synthetically accessible by the addition of ethylene to a toluene solution of $Mo(CHBu^t)(NC_6H_3(CH_3)_2-2, 6)(OBu^t)_2$ in a pressure vessel to result in the purple-red complex $[Mo(\mu-NC_6H_3(CH_3)_2-2, 6)(OBu^t)_2]_2$ (2.654(1) Å).²⁰⁴ Imido complexes have also been synthesized as a result of cleavage of formamidinate ligands as in the case of the reaction of $MoCl_3(THF)_3$ with diphenylformamidine and $(C_6H_5)_4PCl$ in refluxing *o*-dichlorobenzene.²⁰⁵ The red anion $[Mo_2\{((C_6H_5)_2N)_2C(H)\}_2(\mu-NC_6H_5)Cl_5]^-$ (2.527(1) Å) can also be synthesized by refluxing $MoCl_4(CH_3CN)_2$ with diphenylformamidine and $(C_6H_5)_4PCl$ in *o*-dichlorobenzene. The starting material $Mo_2S_2Cl_6$ reacts with tetrahydrothiophene to yield the green diamagnetic $Mo_2^{IV,IV}$ complex $Mo_2(\mu-S_2)(\mu-SC_4H_8)Cl_6(SC_4H_8)_2$ (2.769(3) Å).²⁰⁶ Upon reacting $Mo_2S_2Cl_6$ with $S(CH_3)_2$ the brown paramagnetic mixed valent complex $Mo_2(\mu-S_2)(\mu-S_2(1) Å)$ is formed.²⁰⁶

4.9.9.4 Mo₂^{III,III} Complexes

Thiolate-bridged $Mo_2^{III,III}$ complexes play a key role in synthesizing cluster compounds in addition to their biological and catalytic applications as outlined in an extensive review of the

field.²⁰⁷ [Mo₂(η^5 -C₅H₅)₂(μ - η^1 - η^2 -C₂C₆H₄CH₃)(μ -S(CH₃))₃] (2.616(1) Å) has been synthesized via deprotonation of [Mo₂(η^5 -C₅H₅)₂(HCCC₆H₄CH₃)(μ -S(CH₃))₃](BF₄) with N(CH₂CH₃)₃ as part of a study of the activation of alkynes at a sulfur-rich Mo₂^{III,III} core.²⁰⁸ Subsequent protonation of the phenyl derivative, [Mo₂(η^5 -C₅H₅)₂(μ - η^1 - η^2 -C₂C₆H₅)(μ -S(CH₃))₃], using HBF₄·(CH₃CH₂)₂O yields the vinylidene complex [Mo₂(η^5 -C₅H₅)₂(μ - η^1 - η^2 -CC(H)C₆H₅)(μ -S(CH₃))₃](BF₄) (2.622(1) Å). [Mo₂(η^5 -C₅H₅)₂(μ - η^1 - η^3 -CH=CC₆H₅-SCH₃)(μ -SCH₃)₂](BF₄) (2.825(1) Å). Addition of NaBH₄ to μ -vinylidene complexes such as [Mo₂(η^5 -C₅H₅)₂(μ - η^1 - η^2 -CC(H)(CH₂CH₂CH₂CH₂CH₃))(μ -S(CH₃))₃](BF₄) results in the μ -alkylidyne species [Mo₂(η^5 -C₅H₅)₂(μ -CCH₂CH₂CH₂CH₃)(μ -S(CH₃))₃] (2.5846(2) Å) as blue diamagnetic powders.²⁰⁹ However, the reaction of NaBH₄ with [Mo₂(η^5 -C₅H₅)₂(μ -S(CH₃))₃](BF₄) produces the orange diamagnetic tetrahydroborato complex [Mo₂(η^5 -C₅H₅)₂(μ -S(CH₃))₃](BF₄) produces the orange diamagnetic tetrahydroborato complex [Mo₂(η^5 -C₅H₅)₂(μ -S(CH₃))₃](BF₄)] (2.653(1) Å) shown in Figure 45.²¹⁰

S-methylthiophenium derivatives such as $[Mo_2(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2(\mu-\eta^2-\eta^4-C_4H_2(CF_3)_2(SCH_3))-(\mu-S(CH_3))_2](BF_4)$ (2.604(1) Å), shown in Figure 46, and the metallocycle $[Mo_2-(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2(\mu-\eta^2-\eta^4-C(C_6H_4CH_3)=CHC(C_6H_4CH_3)=C(H)SCH_3)(\mu-S(CH_3))_2](BF_4)$ (2.761(2) Å) result from the addition of terminal alkynes to $[Mo_2(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2(CH_3CN)-(\mu-S(CH_3))_3](BF_4)$.^{208,211} The green, diamagnetic, cationic complex, $[Mo_2(\eta^5-C_5H_4CH_3)_2(\mu-SCH_3)_2(\mu-SI)(CO)_2]I_5$ (2.7735(12) Å), is synthesized from the reaction of $[Mo_2(\eta^5-C_5H_4CH_3)_2(\mu-SCH_3)_2(\mu-S)(CO)_2]$ with excess I_2 in methylene chloride.²¹²

The irradiation of a benzene solution of $[Mo_2(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2(CO)_6]$, S₈, and dimethyl acetylenedicarboxylate produces the bridging ligand μ -S₂C₂(CO₂(CH₃)₂)₂ in $[Mo_2(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2(CO)_2-(\mu$ -S₂C₂(CO₂(CH₃)₂)₂)₂] (3.040(2)Å).²¹³ $[Mo_2(\mu$ -SCH₃)(μ -C(CO₂CH₃)C(SCH₃)C(CO₂CH₃)) $(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2]$ reacts with dimethylacetylenedicarboxylate to yield $[Mo_2(\mu$ -C(CO₂CH₃)C(SCH₃)C(SCH₃)C(SCH₃)C(CO₂CH₃)))(\mu-SC(CO₂CH₃)=C(CO₂CH₃))(η^5 -C₅H₅)₂] (2.7201(6)Å).²¹⁴ $[Mo_2(\mu$ -S((μ -SC(CO₂CH₃))=C(CO₂CH₃))(η^5 -C₅H₅)₂] reacts with dimethyl acetylenedicarboxylate but two isomers, $[Mo_2(\mu$ -SC(CO₂CH₃)]=C(CO₂CH₃)-SCH₂CH₂SCC(CO₂CH₃)]=C(CO₂CH₃))(η^5 -C₅H₅)₂] and $[Mo_2(\mu$ -SCH₂CH₂SCC (CO₂CH₃)]=C(CO₂CH₃)]=C(CO₂CH₃)]=C(CO₂CH₃)]=C(CO₂CH₃)]=C(CO₂CH₃)]=C(CO₂CH₃)]=C(CO₂CH₃)]=C(CO₂CH₃)]=C(CO₂CH₃)](η^5 -C₅H₅)₂] led to the oxidized product $[Mo_2(\mu$ -SC (CO₂CH₃)]=C(CO₂CH₃)(η^5 -C₅H₅)₂] led to the oxidized product $[Mo_2(\mu$ -SC (CO₂CH₃)]=C(CO₂CH₃)(η^5 -C₅H₅)₂] (2.727(2)Å). The reaction of $[Mo_2(\mu$ -SCH₂CH₂SCC(CO₂CH₃)]=C(CO₂CH₃)]=C(CO₂CH₃)](η^5 -C₅H₅)₂] with methyl propiolate yields $[Mo_2(\mu$ -SCH₂C(CO₂CH₃)]=C(CO₂CH



Figure 45 ORTEP drawing of $[Mo_2(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2(\mu-S(CH_3))_3(\mu-BH_4)]$ (reproduced by permission of the Royal Society of Chemistry from *J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Commun.* 2000, 2137–2138).



Figure 46 ORTEP drawing of $[Mo_2(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2(\mu-\eta^2-\eta^4-C_4H_2(CF_3)_2(SCH_3))(\mu-S(CH_3))_2](BF_4)$ (reproduced by permission of the American Chemical Society from *Organometallics* 2001, 20, 1230–1242).

The reactivity of $[Mo_2(CO)_4(\mu-(CO_2CH_3)CC(CO_2CH_3))(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2]$ has been investigated with 1,3-dithiole-2-thiones. C=S bond cleavage results in the formation of the green diamagnetic product $[Mo_2(\mu-S)(\mu-SC(CO_2CH_3)=C(CO_2CH_3)SCC(CO_2CH_3)=C(CO_2CH_3))(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2]$ (2.5825(7)Å) upon reacting $[Mo_2(CO)_4(\mu-(CO_2CH_3)CC(CO_2CH_3))(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2]$ with 4,5- bis(methoxylcarbonyl)1, 3-dithiole-2-thione.²¹⁵ $[Mo_2(CO)_4(\mu-(CO_2CH_3)-(\mu-C(CO_2CH_3)C(SCH_3))(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2]$ reacts with dimethyl trithiocarbonate to form $[Mo_2(\mu-S)(\mu-SC+(CO_2CH_3)-(\mu-C(CO_2CH_3)C(SCH_3))(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2]$ (2.5605(10)Å).²¹⁵ $[Mo_2(\mu-S)-(\mu-SC-(CO_2CH_3)-(CCO_2CH_3)SCC(CO_2CH_3)](\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2]$ (2.5770(6)Å) and $[Mo_2(\mu-S)(\mu-SC-(CO_2CH_3)=C(CO_2CH_3)=C(CO_2CH_3)](\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2]$ (2.5770(6)Å) are the mixture of products synthesized from the reaction of $[Mo_2(CO)_4-(\mu-(C_6H_5)-CC(CO_2CH_2CH_3))(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2]$ with 4,5-bis (methoxylcarbonyl)1,3-dithiole-2-thione.²¹⁵

After reacting the mononuclear Mo^{III} complex $(\eta^5 - C_5H_5)Mo(\eta^4 - C_4H_6)(CH_3)$ with one equivalent of $B(C_6F_5)_3$, extraction with CH_2Cl_2 results in the red paramagnetic complex $[(\eta^5 - C_5H_5)Mo(\eta^4 - C_4H_6)(\mu - Cl)(\mu - CH_2)(O)Mo(\eta^4 - C_4H_6)][CH_3B(C_6F_5)_3]$ (2.8801(5)Å) after borane attack at the methyl position.²¹⁶ The complex bis $(\eta^5$ -indenyl)tetrakis $(\mu$ -iodo)dimolybdenum, $Mo_2I_4(C_9H_7)_2$ (2.720(4)Å), is also formed from the reaction of a mononuclear starting material, $MoI_3(THF)_3$, with sodium indenyl and subsequently tetraphenylphosphonium iodide.²¹⁷ $MoCl_3(THF)_3$ forms red crystals of $Mo_2Cl_6(THF)_3$ (2.602(1)Å) upon standing in a methylene chloride for several hours.²¹⁸

In terms of more unusual bridging ligands, the reaction of $(C_6H_5)_2Te_2$, $(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2ZrCl_2$, and $[(\eta^5-CH_3O_2CC_5H_4)_2Mo_2(CO)_4]$ results in the formation of three separate products $[(\eta^5-CH_3O_2CC_5H_4)_2Mo_2(\mu-TeC_6H_5)_4]$ and two isomers of $[(\eta^5-CH_3O_2CC_5H_4)_2Mo_2(\mu-TeC_6H_5)_3(\mu-Cl)]$ with either one or two (2.714(6) Å) of the phenyl groups of the bridging μ -TeC₆H₅ moiety parallel to the Mo—Mo axis.²¹⁹ $[(\eta^5-1,2,4-Bu^t_3C_5H_2)_2Mo(\mu-\eta^5-Sb_5)Mo(\eta^5-1,2,4-Bu^t_3C_5H_2)_2]$ shown in Figure 47 is formed upon the reaction of *cyclo*-Bu^t_4Sb_5 with $[(\eta^5-1,2,4-Bu^t_3C_5H_2)(CO)_3Mo(CH_3)]$ in decaline.²²⁰

Quadruply bonded $Mo_2^{II,II}$ compounds undergo oxidative addition to form a range of products.¹⁴⁰ For example, the reaction of $Mo_2(\mu$ -O₂CCH₃)₄ with $K(\eta^5$ -C₅H₅) in the presence of trimethylphosphine results in the $Mo_2^{III,III}$ complex $Mo_2(\mu$ -O₂CCH₃)₂(η^5 -C₅H₅)₂(μ -CH₃)(μ -P (CH₃)₂) (2.8447(5) Å).²²¹ Addition of AgBF₄ to a solution of $Mo_2(hpp)_4$ leads to the oxidation of the dimolybdenum core and the formation of $Mo_2(hpp)_4(BF_4)_2$ with a molybdenum—molybdenum bond length of 2.142(2) Å.²²² The reaction of the cation [Mo₂(CH₃CN)₈](BF₄)₄ with bis(diphenylphosphino)amine (dppa) in acetonitrile results in



Figure 47 Molecular structure of $[(\eta^{5}-1,2,4-Bu^{t}_{3}C_{5}H_{2})_{2}Mo(\mu-\eta^{5}-Sb_{5})Mo(\eta^{5}-1,2,4-Bu^{t}_{3}C_{5}H_{2})_{2}]$ (reproduced by permission of Wiley-VCH from *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl.* **2000**, *39*, 4148–4150).

bridging acetonitrile species both with $\{Mo_2(\mu-\eta^2-CH_3CN)(\mu-O))(\mu-dppa)_2(CH_3CN)_4](BF_4)_2$ (2.4174(8)Å) and without $\{[Mo_2(\mu-\eta^2-CH_3CN)(\mu-NC(CH_3)P(C_6H_5)_2NP(C_6H_5)_2) (\mu-dppa) (CH_3CN)_5](BF_4)_3$ (2.493(15)Å) the presence of water in the reaction mixture.²²³ A common structural motif in $Mo_2^{III,III}$ complexes is the edge-sharing bioctahedral geometry

A common structural motif in Mo₂^{III,III} complexes is the edge-sharing bioctahedral geometry shown in Figure 48 that can be synthesized directly or by oxidative addition across a Mo₂^{II,II} quadruple bond.¹⁴⁰ A variety of both bridging and terminal ligands has been studied and recent examples include complexes with bridging μ -SCH₂CH₂CH₃²²⁴ and μ -O^{225,226} ligands such as in [Mo₂(μ -O)(μ -OCH₃)(en)₄]³⁺ (2.442(1) Å).²²⁵

One of the most common bridging ligands is a halide atom^{205,227–231} as in the case of Mo₂Cl₄- $(\mu$ -O₂CCH₃)₂(P(CH₂CH₃)₃)₂ (2.612(1) Å) shown in Figure 49.²²⁸ Recent studies include determining the energy of the singlet–triplet gap for edge-sharing bioctahedral complexes using NMR spectroscopy techniques^{227,228,232} and the synthesis of heterobimetallic, MoW^{III,III}, edge-sharing bioctahedral complexes.^{227,232,233}

One of the classic types of triply bonded $Mo_2^{III,III}$ compounds is the ethane-like d^3-d^3 molecules shown in Figure 50.^{140,234} Alkyl groups are common ligands.^{140,234,235} For example, the red diamagnetic compound 1, 2-Mo₂(N(CH₃)₂)(P(C₆H₅)₂)(CH₂Si(CH₃)₃)₄ (2.1911(9)Å) is synthesized from addition of the lithium reagent Li(P(C₆H₅)₂) to a hexane solution of 1,1-Mo₂-(N(CH₃)₂)Br(CH₂Si(CH₃)₃)₄.²³⁶ Neutral ligands such as phosphine ligands will also coordinate, and thereby increase the coordination number at the metal center without changing the bond order as in the case of Mo₂(CH₂C₆H₅)₂(OⁱPr)₄(dmpm) (2.2540(11)Å).²³⁷ In contrast, the reaction of Mo₂(μ -O₂CH₂Bu^t)₆ with trimethylphosphine leads to the mixed valent compound, Mo₂^{II,VI} Mo₂(μ -O₂CH₂Bu^t)(O₂CH₂Bu^t)₃(μ -O)(P(CH₃)₃)₄ (2.4931(9)Å).²³⁸



Figure 48 Edge-sharing bioctahedral geometry at a Mo₂^{III,III} core.



Figure 49 ORTEP drawing of $Mo_2Cl_4(\mu$ -O_2CCH₃)₂(P(CH₂CH₃)₃)₂ (reproduced by permission of the American Chemical Society from *Inorg. Chem.* 1993, *32*, 4871–4875).



Figure 50 Triply bonded ethane-like d^3 -- d^3 molecules

Common ligands include nitrogen-based ligands²³⁹ such as $-N(CH_3)_2^{240-245}$ in the complex $Mo_2(C_9H_7)_2(N(CH_3)_2)_4$ (2.2516(5) Å).²⁴⁰ Other ligand types in triply bonded ethane-like molecules include oxygen-based ligands^{238,246-252,253} such as the homoleptic alkoxide complex $Mo_2(OC(CH_3)_2C_6H_5)_6$ (2.2388(6) Å)²⁵⁴ shown in Figure 51. In the absence of dinitrogen, $Mo(NC(CD_3)_2CH_3)(3,5-C_6H_3(CH_3)_2)_2$ reacts with $NMo(OC(CH_3)_3)_3$ with nitrogen atom transfer from $NMo(OC(CH_3)_3)_3$ to $Mo(NC(CD_3)_2CH_3)(3,5-C_6H_3(CH_3)_2)_2$ and the formation of the triply bonded complex $Mo_2(OC(CH_3)_3)_6$.²⁵⁵

4.9.9.5 Mo₂^{II,II} Complexes

The reaction of $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2Mo_2(CO)_4(\mu-C_2(CO_2(CH_3)_2)_2]$ with $[NO][BF_4]$ leads to the formation of the cation $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2Mo_2(CO)_3(NO)(\mu-C_2(CO_2(CH_3)_2)_2][BF_4]$ (2.9762(9) Å) with loss of a carbonyl ligand.²⁵⁶ The salt $[C_7H_7][BF_4]$ reacts with the mononuclear anion $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)Mo(CO)_2(CH_3CHO)]^-$ to form three different species, $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2Mo_2(CO)_4-(\mu-\eta^2-CH_3CHO)]$ (2.9670(8) Å), $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2Mo_2(CO)_6]$, and $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)(\eta^3-C_7H_7)Mo(CO)_2].^{257}$ However, phosphido-bridged complexes dominate dimolybdenum(II, II) complexes containing the $(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2Mo_2$ core with Mo—Mo bond lengths in the range 2.593–3.333 Å.²⁵⁸⁻²⁶⁴ The chelating



Figure 51 ORTEP drawing of the structure of Mo₂(OC(CH₃)₂C₆H₅)₆ (reproduced by permission of Elsevier Science from *Polyhedron* 1999, *18*, 1293–1301).

phosphine ligand dppm undergoes a ring-opening reaction in the presence of $(\eta^5 - C_5 H_5)_2$ Mo₂(CO)₄(μ -dppm) and CNBu^t with the loss of a carbonyl group to form $(\eta^5 - C_5 H_5)_2$ Mo₂(μ - σ , π -CNBu^t)(CO)₃(μ -dppm-P) (3.1950(5) Å).²⁶⁵ Thiolato-bridged Mo₂^{II,II 207} compounds such as $[(\eta^5 - C_5 H_5)_2 Mo_2(CO)_2(\mu$ -SCF₃)_2] react with KCN

Thiolato-bridged Mo₂^{II,II 207} compounds such as $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2Mo_2(CO)_2(\mu$ -SCF₃)_2] react with KCN in acetonitrile with subsequent addition of $[(CH_3)_3O][BF_4]$ resulting in the formation of the red compound $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2Mo_2(CO)(CNCH_3)(\mu$ -SCF₃)_2] (2.597(1) Å).²⁶⁶ The reaction of alkyne complexes such as $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2Mo_2(CO)_4(\mu$ -C₂CO₂CH₃)] with thiols, with the exception of HSBu^t,²⁶⁷ provides synthetic access to the vinyl complexes.²⁶¹ The structure of $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2Mo_2(CO)_2$ $(\mu$ -SPrⁱ)(μ -C(CO₂CH₃)=C(H)CO₂CH₃)] (2.8621(5) Å) is shown in Figure 52.²⁶¹ $[(\eta^5-C_5H_4CH_3)_2Mo_2(CO)_4]$ reacts with (C₆H₅)₂Te₂ in toluene to result in the brown complex $[(\eta^5-C_5H_4CH_3)Mo_2(CO)_4(\mu$ -TeC₆H₅)₃] (2.9354(8) Å).²⁶⁸

The eclipsed geometry of the eight coordination sites in quadruply bonded Mo₂^{II,II} complexes is shown in Figure 53 with the normal range of Mo—Mo bond lengths between 2.06 Å and 2.17 Å.²⁶⁹ Nitriles and cyano ligands^{270,271} have become more common as either neutral or anionic substituents coordinated to the Mo₂^{II,II} core. Of particular note is the octakis(acetonitrile)dimolybdenum(II) cation, [Mo₂(NCCH₃)₈](BF₄)₄, for which structures have been determined with both two (2.187(1) Å)²⁷² and one (2.180(1) Å: shown in Figure 54)²⁷³ axially coordinated acetonitrile ligands. Acetonitrile ligands have been coordinated to Mo₂^{II,II} compounds containing phosphine,^{274,275} formamidinate,²⁷⁶ acetamidate,²⁷⁷ and acetate ligands.²⁷⁴ Other monodentate nitrogen-based ligands incorporated in Mo₂^{II,II} compounds include pyridine,²⁷⁸ 4-picoline, 3,5-lutidine, 4-*tert*-butylpyridine,^{279,280} and primary^{281,282} and secondary²⁸³ amines. As in the case of Cr₂^{II,II} chemistry, a variety of Mo₂^{II,II} paddlewheel complexes with formamidinate ligands^{284–288} have been synthesized. The oxidative potentials of the complexes can be tuned by changing the electron-donating or withdrawing ability of the remote substituents of the

As in the case of Cr₂^{11,11} chemistry, a variety of $Mo_2^{11,11}$ paddlewheel complexes with formamidinate ligands^{284–288} have been synthesized. The oxidative potentials of the complexes can be tuned by changing the electron-donating or withdrawing ability of the remote substituents of the formamidinate ligands as gauged by the Hammett constants.^{284–288} Mixed oxidation state complexes have been synthesized with formamidinate ligands by the addition of ferrocenium chloride to the tetraformamidinate complex, as in the synthesis of $Mo_2((CH_3C_6H_4)NC(H)N$ $(C_6H_4CH_3))_3Cl_2$ (2.1510(5) Å).²⁸⁹ Dimolybdenum complexes have been synthesized with other bidentate or tetradentate nitrogen-based ligands such as $Mo_2(hpp)_4$,⁴³ $Mo_2(tmtaa)_2$,¹⁵³ and $Mo_2((C_5H_5N)NC(O)CH_2CH_3))_4$.²⁶⁹ Other ligands used in the synthesis of $Mo_2^{11,11}$ paddlewheel complexes include the monoanion of 2,6-bis(phenylamino)pyridine,¹⁵¹ 1',3'-dihydrospiro-[cyclohexane-1,2'-[2H]imidazo[4,5-b]pyridine,¹⁵² and 7-methyl-1,8-naphthyridin-2-one.²⁹⁰ From the paddlewheel $Mo_2^{11,11}$ complex synthesized using the anion of 2,6-diphenyliminopiperdine,



Figure 52 Structure of $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2Mo_2(CO)_2(\mu-SPr^i)(\mu-C(CO_2CH_3))=C(H)CO_2CH_3)]$ (reproduced by permission of the Royal Society of Chemistry from J. Chem. Soc. Dalton Trans. 2000, 2983-2989).



Figure 53 Structural motif of Mo2^{II,II} complexes both perpendicular to and along the metal-metal axis.

the mixed valent cation, Mo2^{III,II} has been structurally characterized, and the metal-metal bond

length found to increase slightly upon oxidation from 2.085(4) Å to 2.122(3) Å.²⁹¹ Mixed-ligand sets such as nitrogen and oxygen^{292–295} are also common as in the case of $[Mo_2(O_2CCH_3)_2(en)_4](O_2CCH_3)_2]$ (2.125(1) Å) with both ethylenediamine and acetate ligands.²⁹⁶ Other nitrogen-containing ligands include the anion of 2-mercaptoquinoline²⁹⁷ or 2-imidazolinethione,²⁹⁸ and the tridentate ligand 2,6-bis(diphenylphosphino)pyridine (bdppp) that forms Mo₂Cl₄(bdppp)₂ (2.149(1)Å), shown in Figure 55, upon reacting with K₄Mo₂Cl₈ in refluxing methanol.²⁹⁹ $Mo_2(\mu-O_2CCH_3)_2(\mu-2-chloro-6-(diphenylphosphino)pyridine)_2](BF_4)_2$ and $Mo_2(\mu-O_2CCH_3)_2(\mu-2-chloro-6-(diphenylphosphino)pyridine)_2](BF_4)_2$ $O_2CCH_3)_2(\mu-2-(diphenylphosphino-6-(pyrazol-1-yl)- pyridine)_2](BF_4)_2$ are synthesized upon reacting the respective derivatives of 2-(diphenyl-phosphino)pyridine with $Mo_2(\mu - O_2CCH_3)_4$.³⁰⁰

The mixed nitrogen:phosphorus ligand bis(diphenylphosphino)pyridine bridges the gap between nitrogen-phosphorus ligand obs(dipholipipilosphilo)pyndific bridges the gap between nitrogen-based and phosphorus-based ligand types. Monodentate phosphine ligands typically coordinate to a $Mo_2^{II,II}$ core to maintain a total of eight ligands, four neutral and four anionic, as in the example $Mo_2(CCH)_4(P(CH_3)_3)_4$ (2.134(1) Å).^{301–303} Other anionic ligands include alkoxides,³⁰⁴ acetates,³⁰⁵ and halides.^{306–310} A synthetic route to mixed metal MoW^{II,II} complexes with monodentate phosphine ligands and halides has been developed and expanded to include both the chloride and bromide derivatives.^{311,312}


Figure 54 ORTEP drawing of the $[Mo_2(NCCH_3)_8(ax-NCCH_3)]^{4+}$ cation (reproduced by permission of Elsevier Science from *Polyhedron* 1998, 17, 2781–2793).



Figure 55 Perspective drawing of Mo₂Cl₄(bdppp)₂ (reproduced by permission of the American Chemical Society from *Inorg. Chem.* 1998, 37, 4611–4616).

As outlined for $Mo_2^{III,III}$ edge-sharing bioctahedral complexes, variable-temperature ³¹P NMR spectroscopy provides a technique to probe the singlet-triplet energy gap in dimolybdenum complexes.^{313,314} Combined with other theoretical and spectroscopic techniques the δ bond energy manifold for quadruply bonded dimolybdenum compounds can be fully explored.^{315,316} The ³¹P NMR spectroscopy technique has been explored for $Mo_2^{II,II}$ compounds with bidentate phosphine ligands.^{313,314} As in the case of $Mo_2Cl_4(\mu$ -dppa)₂ shown in Figure 56, bidentate phosphine ligands have been widely utilized in the synthesis of quadruply bonded dimolybdenum compounds in combination with anionic ligands such as an acetate³¹⁷⁻³²² or halide atoms.^{319-321,323-333} Mixed-metal MoW^{II,II} complexes with bidentate phosphine ligands and halide atoms have also been synthesized and structurally characterized.^{333,334}

Dimolybdenum tetracarboxylate plays not only a key role as a synthetic precursor to other complexes but also in understanding structural and spectroscopic properties and correlations.^{140,335–345} $Mo_2^{II,II}$ compounds with oxygen-based ligands include the cation $Mo_2[O_2P(OC_6H_5)_2]_4^+$ (2.190 Å) shown in Figure 57, prepared from the addition of NOBF₄ to a methylene chloride solution of $Mo_2[O_2P(OC_6H_5)_2]_4$.³⁴⁶ Alkoxide ligands have also been used to synthesize both cationic³⁴⁷ and neutral $Mo_2^{II,II}$ complexes.³⁴⁸ Carboxylate, calixarene, and formamidinate ligands have played a key role in the design of supramolecular assemblies based on Mo_2^{4+} building blocks.^{159,349–372}

4.9.9.6 Mo₂^{I,I} Complexes

The reaction of the anion of 2,6-bis(diphenylphosphino)-*N*-methylaniline [Hdppman] with excess Mo(CO)₆ results in a binuclear complex {[μ -*P*,*N*:*P'*,*N*-dppman][Mo(CO)₄]₂}^{-,373} Treatment of the anion {[μ -*P*,*N*:*P'*,*N*-dppman][Mo(CO)₄]₂}⁻ with Br₂ leads to the synthesis of the neutral Mo₂^{1,1} complex {[μ -*P*,*N*:*P'*,*N*-dppman][μ -Br][Mo(CO)₃]₂}(2.987(2)Å) shown in Figure 58. The related complex, deep violet [(η^5 -C₅H₅)₂(CO)₄Mo₂(μ -P(C₆H₅)₂)]⁻ (3.185(1)Å), is synthesized by the addition of [(η^5 -C₅H₅)₂(CO)₄Mo₂(μ -P(C₆H₅)₂)(μ -H)] to a THF solution containing potassium hydride.²⁶⁴ Deprotonation of [(η^5 -C₅H₅)₂(CO)₄Mo₂(μ -P(C₆H₅)H)(μ -H)] upon the addition of butyllithium at low temperatures followed by the subsequent addition of acryloyl chlorides provides a high-yield synthetic route to *trans*-[(η^5 -C₅H₅)₂(CO)₄Mo₂(η^1 - η^2 -P(C₆H₅)=CH(CH₃))] (3.240(1)Å).³⁷⁴ Upon thermolysis, the *trans* isomer converts to the *cis* isomer with a concurrent shortening of the Mo–Mo bond length to 3.220(1)Å. The red–purple diamagnetic compounds [(μ - η^5 , η^5 -C₅H₄--CH₂--C₅H₄)(CO)₅Mo₂(P(C₆H₅)₃)] (3.173(2)Å) and [(μ - η^5 , η^5 -C₅H₄--CH₂--C₅H₄)



Figure 56 ORTEP drawing of $Mo_2Cl_4(\mu$ -dppa)₂ (reproduced by permission of the American Chemical Society from *Inorg. Chem.* 1996, *35*, 5764–5769).



Figure 57 ORTEP drawing of the structure of $Mo_2[O_2P(OC_6H_5)_2]_4^+$ (reproduced by permission of the American Chemical Society from *Inorg. Chem.* 1994, *33*, 2932–2937).

 $(CO)_5Mo_2(P(CH_2)_3)_2$] (3.1341(12) Å) are synthesized by the photolysis of $[(\mu-\eta^5, \eta^5-C_5H_4-CH_2-C_5H_4)]$ (CO)₅Mo₂] in the presence of the appropriate phosphine ligand.³⁷⁵

4.9.10 DITUNGSTEN COMPLEXES

4.9.10.1 W₂^{V,V} Complexes

The blue homoleptic alkoxide $W_2(OCH_3)_{10}$ is synthesized by the addition of lithium powder to a THF solution of *cis*-WF₂(OCH₃)₄, followed by the addition of excess sodium methoxide.³⁷⁶ The edge-sharing bioctahedral structure has a W–W bond length of 2.7897(8) Å. The triply bonded complex $W_2(OCH_2Bu^t)_6(NC_5H_5)_2$ reacts with cyclopropanecarboxaldehyde in hexane to form dark red $W_2(\mu$ -OCH₂Bu^t)₂(OCH₂Bu^t)₄(μ -CH(C₃H₅))(O)(NC₅H₅) (2.6586(6) Å),^{377,378} similar to the complex $W_2(\mu$ -OCH₂Bu^t)₂(OCH₂Bu^t)₄(μ -CH(C₆H₄CH₃))(O)(NC₅H₅) (2.655(1) Å).³⁷⁹ The reaction of $W_2(OCH_2Bu^t)_6(NC_5H_5)_2$ with aldehydes has been extended, and the structure of $W_2(OCH_2Bu^t)_6(\mu$ -CH(C₆H₄CH₃))(O)(NC₅H₅) determined.³⁷⁸ Subsequent addition of pyridine results in the loss of one equivalent of HOCH₂Bu^t and the formation of $W_2(\mu$ -O)- $(\mu$ -OCH₂Bu^t)_4(\mu-CH(C₃H₅))(NC₅H₅)_2 (2.4456(7) Å) shown in Figure 59.

 $\begin{array}{l} W_2(\mu-O)(\mu-OCH_2Bu^t)_4(\mu-CH(C_3H_5)_2\ (2.443)(NC_5H_5)_2\ (2.4507(6)\ \text{Å})\ \text{as products of the reductive cleavage of the C=O bond.} \end{array} \\ & \text{W}_2(\mu-O)(\mu-OCH_2Bu^t)(OCH_2Bu^t)_4(\mu-CH(C_6H_4OCH_3))(NC_5H_5)_2\ (2.4507(6)\ \text{Å})\ \text{as products of the reductive cleavage of the C=O bond.} \end{array} \\ & \text{enone yields } W_2(O)(OCH_2Bu^t)_6(\mu-OC_{12}H_{16})\ (2.8247(5)\ \text{Å}). \end{array} \\ & \text{A}_{377}^{377}\ \text{Studies of the reactivity of } W_2(OCH_2Bu^t)_6(WC_5H_5)_2\ \text{with cyclohexenone yields } W_2(O)(OCH_2Bu^t)_6(\mu-OC_{12}H_{16})\ (2.8247(5)\ \text{Å}). \end{array} \\ & \text{A}_{377}^{377}\ \text{Studies of the reactivity of } W_2(OCH_2Bu^t)_6(WC_5H_5)_2\ \text{with acrolein } (2.6478(6)\ \text{Å}),\ \text{methyl vinyl ketone } (2.792(1)\ \text{Å}),\ \text{and crotonaldehyde } (2.621(2)\ \text{Å})\ \text{yielded } W_2(V,V)\ \text{species.} \end{array}$

Upon warming a frozen solution of $W_2(\mu-H)(\mu-O-c-C_5H_9)_2(O-c-C_5H_9)_5(HN(CH_3)_2)$ to room temperature in the presence of four equivalents of ethane, the brown diamagnetic compound $W_2(\mu-O-c-C_5H_9)_3(O-c-C_5H_9)_4)((\eta^1-C_2H_5)(\eta^2-C_2H_4)$ (2.6684(12) Å) is formed.³⁸⁰ When two equivalents of cyclopentanone are added to $W_2(\mu-H)(\mu-O-c-C_5H_9)_2(O-c-C_5H_9)_5(HN(CH_3)_2)$ in hexanes, $W_2(\mu-O-c-C_5H_9)_3(O-c-C_5H_9)_5(\eta^2-O-c-C_5H_8)$ (2.6738(1) Å) is isolated, but will decompose after several days at room temperature under a nitrogen atomosphere.³⁸⁰ With the reaction of $W_4(H)_2(OPr^i)_{14}$ and benzophenone in pentane, a dark green diamagnetic $W_2(V, V)$ complex, $W_2(H)(\mu-OPr^i)_3(OPr^i)_4(\eta^2-OC(C_6H_5)_2)$ (2.650(3) Å), is synthesized.³⁸⁰ The reaction of



Figure 58 ORTEP diagram of $\{[\mu-P,N:P',N-dppman][\mu-Br][Mo(CO)_3]_2$ (reproduced by permission of Elsevier Science from J. Organomet. Chem. 1990, 396, 33–47).

 $W_4(H)_2(OPr^i)_{14}$ with benzonitrile leads to coupling of the nitriles and the formation of green diamagnetic $W_2(\mu$ -OPr^i)_2(OPr^i)_5(\mu- η^1 -N, η^1 -N-NC(C₆H₅)C(C₆H₅)N(H)) (2.5909(21) Å).³⁸⁰ The reactivity of $W_2^{III,III}$ complexes with ethylene has also been investigated with $W_2(\mu$ -

The reactivity of $W_2^{III,III}$ complexes with ethylene has also been investigated with $W_2(\mu$ -CCH₃)(OCH₂Bu^t)₆(OBu^t) (2.644(1) Å) formed as a minor product in the reaction between $W_2(OCH_2Bu^t)_6$ and ethylene.³⁸¹ An orange solution of $W_2(OCH_2Bu^t)_6$ (NC₅H₅)₂ turns blueblack upon stirring under an atmosphere of butadiene with the formation of $W_2(OCH_2Bu^t)_6(\mu$ - $\eta^1:\eta^4$ -C₄H₆)(NC₅H₅) (2.4706(8) Å).³⁸² $W_2(OCH_2Bu^t)_6$ reacts with allene to form a variety of products such as $W_2(OCH_2Bu^t)_6(\mu$ -C₂H₄) (2.5828(5) Å)³⁸³ or $W_2(OCH_2Bu^t)_6(\eta^2$ -C₂H₄) (2.5331(9) Å)³⁸⁴ with the allene acting as a four-electron donor or green $W_2(OCH_2Bu^t)_6(C_2H_4)_2$ (2.8548(10) Å) with the allene as a neutral ligand.³⁸³ $W_2(OCH_2Si(CH_3)_2Bu^t)_6(\mu$ -C₂H₄)(NC₅H₅) undergoes a reaction with allene in hydrocarbon solvents at low temperature to form the deep red diamagnetic $W_2(V, V)$ compound with a terminal hydride, $HW_2(OCH_2Si(CH_3)_2Bu^t)_6(\mu$ -CCH=CHCH₃) (2.658(1) Å).³⁸⁵



Figure 59 ORTEP drawing of $W_2(\mu$ -O)(μ -OCH₂Bu^t)(OCH₂Bu^t)₄(μ -CH(C₃H₅))(NC₅H₅)₂ (reproduced by permission of the American Chemical Society from *Organometallics* 2000, *19*, 884–892).

The blue complex $W_2(H)(\mu$ -CCH=CHCH₃)(OSi(Bu^t)(CH₃)₂)₆ (2.658(1)Å) is synthesized in the reaction between ethylene and $W_2(\mu$ -C₂H₂)(OSi(Bu^t)(CH₃)₂)₆(NC₅H₅) in hexane. When the anion Li₂C₄(C₆H₅)₄ is added to 1,2-W₂Cl₂(N(CH₃)₂) the black crystalline compound $W_2(\mu$ -C₃(C₆H₅)₃)(μ -CC₆H₅)(N(CH₃)₂) (2.6709(11)Å) is formed.³⁸⁶

The yellow-brown diamagnetic complex $W_2(O_2CCF_3)_2(OCH_2Bu^{\dagger})_4(NC_5H_5)(O)(\mu-C(CH_3)_2)$ (2.7046(6) Å) is synthesized by the simple addition of HO₂CCF₃ to a hexane solution of $W_2(OCH_2Bu^{\dagger})_6(NC_5H_5)_2(C(CH_3)_2)$.³⁸⁷ The reaction of $W_4(H)_2(OPr^{\dagger})_{14}$ with benzonitrile leads to coupling of the nitriles and the formation of green diamagnetic $W_2(\mu-OPr^{\dagger})_2(OPr^{\dagger})_5)(\mu-\eta^{1}-N, \eta^{1}-N-NC(C_6H_5)C(C_6H_5)N(H))$ (2.5909(21) Å).³⁸⁰ The red-purple diamagnetic compound $W_2(OBu^{\dagger})_5(\mu-SC_4H_4)(\eta^{1}-2-SC_4H_3)$ (2.633(6) Å) is formed by the addition of *tert*-butyl alcohol to a hydrocarbon solution of 1,2-W₂-(\eta^{1}-2-SC_4H_3)_2(N(CH_3)_2)4.³⁸⁸ The reaction of $[W_2(OCH_2Bu^{\dagger})_8]_n$ with pyridine *N*-oxide and elemental sulfur, elemental selenium, and tellurium, provides the complexes $W_2(\mu-O)(\mu-OCH_2Bu^{\dagger})_2(OCH_2Bu^{\dagger})_6$, $W_2(\mu-Se)(\mu-OCH_2Bu^{\dagger})_2(OCH_2Bu^{\dagger})_6$ (shown in Figure 60), and $W_2(\mu-Te)(\mu-OCH_2Bu^{\dagger})_2(OCH_2Bu^{\dagger})_4$] reacts with pyridine to form the dark purple species, $[W_2(\mu-H)_2(\mu-Cl)HCl_2(HNSiBu^{\dagger}_3)_4]$ reacts with pyridine to form the dark purple species, $[W_2(\mu-H)_2(\mu-Cl)HCl_2(HNSiBu^{\dagger}_3)_4]$ (2.7878(6) Å).³⁹⁰

Analogous to the dimolybdenum chemistry, the reaction of $[C_5(CH_2CH_3)(CH_3)_4]_2$ -W₂(CO)₄ with S₈ results in the formation of two different isomers: *syn*-[C₅(CH₂CH₃)-(CH₃)₄]₂W₂(μ -S)₂S₂ (2.891(1) Å) and *anti*-[C₅(CH₂CH₃)(CH₃)₄]₂W₂(μ -S)₂S₂.¹⁷⁶ The blue diamagnetic compound W₂(η^2 -S₂CN(CH₂CH₃)₂)₂(μ -CN(CH₂CH₃)₂)(μ -S)(μ -S₂CN(CH₂CH₃)₂)(μ -S₂SnCH(Si(CH₃)₃)₂) (2.614(2) Å) is synthesized by refluxing the mononuclear compound W₂(η^2 -S₂CN(CH₂CH₃)₂)₂(μ -O₂CCH₃)(μ -SBr)] (2.8315(6) Å) is synthesized by the addition of *N*-bromophthalimide to a cold solution of [W₂(NC₆H₄CH₃)(S₂P(OCH₂CH₃)₂)₂)₄, acetic acid, and triethylamine in chloroform.¹⁹⁷ The W₂S₄²⁺ core in W₂(μ -S)₂S₂Br₂(P(C₆H₅)₃)₂ (2.813(3) Å) is a result of the addition of triphenylphosphine to the anion W₂S₄Br₄^{2-.392} The [WSe₄]²⁻ anion is the precursor to [(CH₃CH₂)₄N]₂[W₂Se₆] (2.8529(8) Å) formed by simply stirring the anion in an acetonitrile–methylene chloride solution containing triphenylphosphine.³⁹³ Further reaction of [(CH₃CH₂)₄N]₂[W₂Se₆] with tricyclohexylphosphine in the presence of copper chloride results in cluster compounds.



Figure 60 ORTEP drawing of the molecule $W_2(\mu$ -Se)(μ -OCH₂Bu^t)₂(OCH₂Bu^t)₆ (reproduced by permission of the Royal Society of Chemistry from *J. Chem. Soc. Dalton Trans.* **2001**, 2074–2082).

4.9.10.2 W₂^{IV,IV} Complexes

The tungsten triple bond in $[W_2(\eta^5-C_5H_4Pr^i)_2Cl_4]$ undergoes an oxidative addition reaction with diphenylphosphine to form the bridging hydride compound $[W_2(\mu-H)(\mu-P(C_6H_5)_2)(\eta^5-C_5H_4Pr^i)_2Cl_4]$ (2.6558(3) Å).³⁹⁴ $[W_2(\mu-H)(\mu-P(C_6H_5)_2)(\eta^5-C_5H_4Pr^i)_2Cl_4]$ reacts further with P(CH₃)₃ to provide the μ -Cl compound $[W_2(\mu-H)(\mu-Cl) (\mu-P(C_6H_5)_2)(\eta^5-C_5H_4Pr^i)_2Cl_3(P(CH_3)_3)]$ (3.1165(2) Å).³⁹⁴ Complexes with bridging chloro ligands can also be synthesized directly from $[W_2(\eta^5-C_5H_4Pr^i)_2Cl_4]$ by the addition of CH₃CH₂CN followed by HCl gas to form CH₃CH₂CNH⁻ as a perpendicular bridging ligand as in $[W_2(\mu-CH_3CH_2CNH)(\mu-Cl)(\eta^5-C_5H_4Pr^i)_2Cl_4](2.9359(4) Å).^{395}$

Methylation of $[W_2(\mu-CO)(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2(\mu-P(C_6H_5)_2)_2]$ with $CH_3SO_2CF_3$ provides the methoxycarbyne complex $[W_2(\mu-COCH_3)(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2(\mu-P(C_6H_5)_2)_2]SO_2CF_3$ (2.5324(8) Å).³⁹⁶ The *nido*icosahedral 7,8-C_2B_9C_{11} cage provides a variation in carbon-based ligands for Group 6 (IV, IV) complexes. Shown in Figure 61, {MoW(μ - η^3 : η^2 -C(Bu¹)CC[=C(H)C_6H_4CH_3]) (CO)_4(η^5 -7,8-C_2B_9C_{11})(η^5 -C_5H_5)}(3.031(2) Å) is produced by the protonation of equivalent amounts of the mononuclear compounds [Mo(CC_6H_4CH_3)(CO)_2(η^5 -C_5H_5]] and [(CH₃CH₂)₄N][W(CCCBu¹) (CO)₂(η^5 -7,8-C_2B_9C_{11}]] using HBF₄·(CH₃CH₂)₂O.³⁹⁷ Several ditungsten complexes with boroncontaining ligands have been synthesized such as [W₂(μ -CC₆H₄CH₃)(CO)₃(PCH₃) (η^5 -C₅H₅){ η^5 -C₂B₉H₈-10-(CH₂C₆H₄CH₃)-2,8-(CH₃)₂] (2.798(1) Å) shown in Figure 61,³⁹⁸ [W₂(μ -CCH₃)(CO)₃ (η^5 -C₅H₅){ η^5 -C₂B₉H₈·(CH₂C₆H₄CH₃) (CH₃)₂] (2.651(1) Å),³⁹⁹ [W₂(μ -CC₆H₄CH₃)(CO)₃ (η^5 -C₅H₅){ η^5 -C₂B₉H₈ (CH₃)₂] (2.657(1) Å),³⁹⁹ [Au(P(C₆H₅)₃)₂][W₂{ μ - η^2 -C(CH₃)-CO}(CO)₃{ η^6 -7,9-(CH₃)₂-7,9-C₂B₁₀H₁₀}{ η^6 -7,9-(CH₃)₂-7,9-C₂B₁₀H₉- 11-(CH₂CH₃)] (2.778(1) Å),⁴⁰⁰ and [MoW(μ -CC₆H₄CH₃)(CO)₂(PCH₃)(η^5 -C₅H₅){ η^5 -C₂B₁₀H₁₀ (CH₃)₂] (2.702(1) Å).³⁹⁹ As in the case of W₂^V complexes, W₂(OCH₂Bu¹)₆ and related compounds are precursors to dinuclear W₂^{IV,IV} materials. W₂(OCH₂Bu¹)₆(NC₅H₅)₂ reacts with both 1,3-butadiene and isoprene

As in the case of $W_2^{v,v}$ complexes, $W_2(OCH_2Bu^t)_6$ and related compounds are precursors to dinuclear $W_2^{IV,IV}$ materials. $W_2(OCH_2Bu^t)_6(NC_5H_5)_2$ reacts with both 1,3-butadiene and isoprene to form the adducts $W_2(OCH_2Bu^t)_6(NC_5H_5)$ (butadiene) (2.4706(8) Å) shown in Figure 62 and $W_2(OCH_2Bu^t)_6(NC_5H_5)$ (isoprene) (2.4644(9) Å), respectively.⁴⁰¹ $W_2Cl_2(N(CH_3)_2)_4$ reacts with Li₂COT, where COT is c-C₈H₈, with the COT ligand acting as a 4⁻ anion bridging the ditungsten core in $W_2(COT)(N(CH_3)_2)_4$ (2.4297(5) Å).⁴⁰² The reaction of $W_2(OCH_2Si(CH_3)_2Bu^t)_6$ with NO



Figure 61 Crystal structure of $[W_2(\mu-CC_6H_4CH_3)(CO)_3(PCH_3)(\eta^5-C_5H_5)\{\eta^5-2,8-C_2B_9H_8-10-(CH_2C_6H_4CH_3)-2,8-(CH_3)_2\}]$ (reproduced by permission of the Royal Society of Chemistry from *J. Chem. Soc. Dalton Trans.* **1992**, 867–875).

in hydrocarbon solvents in the presence of pyridine leads to the formation of tungsten oxo species and loss of W–W bonding.⁴⁰³ An intermediate in the reaction has been isolated, $W_2(\mu-O)(\mu-OCH_2Si(CH_3)_2Bu^t)(OCH_2Si(CH_3)_2 Bu^t)_5(NC_5H_5)_2$ (2.488(1)Å), formed upon coupling of two nitrosyl ligands.⁴⁰³ *Tert*-butoxide ligands also undergo decomposition to form hydride and oxo ligands as in the case of $[W_2(OCH_2Bu^t)_7]^-$ to form the red anion $[W_2(\mu-O)(\mu-H) (OCH_2Si(CH_3)_2Bu^t)_6]^-$ (2.4447(10)Å) with concurrent formation of $(CH_3)_2C=CH_2$.⁴⁰⁴ Other bridging hydride species are formed over time⁴⁰⁵ as in the case of $W_2(O-c-C_5H_9)_6(HN(CH_3)_2)_2$ stirred for four days in the presence of cyclopentanol to yield green $W_2(\mu-H)(\mu-O-c-C_5H_9)_2(O-c-C_5H_9)_5(HN(CH_3)_2)$ (2.4380(14)Å).

4.9.10.3 W₂^{III,III} Complexes

The triply bonded starting materials $[(\eta^5-C_5H_4Pr^i)_2W_2Cl_4]$ and $[(\eta^5-C_5H_4Pr^i)_2W_2Br_4]$ react with alkynes and form demetallatetrahedrane complexes such as $[(\eta^5-C_5H_4Pr^i)_2W_2Cl_4 (\mu-C_4(CH_3)_4]$ (2.9295(7)Å) and $[(\eta^5-C_5H_4Pr^i)_2W_2Cl_4(\mu-C_2(C_6H_5)_2]$ (2.795(3)Å).⁴⁰⁷ $[(\eta^5-C_5H_4Pr^i)_2W_2Cl_4(\mu-C_4(CH_3)_4]$ is hydrolyzed by wet acetone to form the oxo complex $[(\eta^5-C_5H_4Pr^i)_2W_2Cl_2O(\mu-C_4(CH_3)_4]$ (2.9097(6)Å).^{407,408} The μ -alkyne species $[(\eta^5-C_5H_4Pr^i)_2W_2Cl_4(\mu-C_2(CH_2CH_3)_2)]$ reacts with the monodentate phosphine ligand P(CH_3)_3 to form $[(\eta^5-C_5H_4Pr^i)_2W_2 (\mu-Cl)(P(CH_3)_3)Cl_3(\mu-C_2(CH_2CH_3)_2)]$ (2.814(2)Å).⁴⁰⁹ $[(\eta^5-C_5H_4Pr^i)_2W_2Cl_2 (\mu-NC_6H_5)(\mu-C_2(CH_2CH_3)_2)]$ (2.5923(5)Å) is synthesized when three equivalents of aniline are used in place of the monodentate phosphine ligand.⁴⁰⁹ Several mixed-metal, WMo^{III,III} or WMo^{III,III} complexes have recently been prepared



Figure 62 ORTEP drawing of the structure of W₂(OCH₂Bu¹)₆(NC₅H₅)(butadiene) (reproduced by permission of the American Chemical Society from *Organometallics* 1999, *18*, 2300–2308).

such as $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2M_0WCl_2(\mu-(C_6H_5)PC=CH(C_6H_5))(\mu-P(C_6H_5)_2)]$ (2.772(3) Å)⁴¹⁰ and $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2M_0WCl(\mu-HC=CH(C_6H_5))]$.

The brown diamagnetic cation $[W_2(\mu\text{-COCH}_3)(\eta^5\text{-}C_5\text{H}_5)_2(\text{CO})_2(\mu\text{-dppm})]BF_4$ (2.781(3) Å) with a W–W double bond is synthesized by the addition of $(\text{CH}_3)_3\text{OBF}_4$ to a methylene chloride solution of $[W_2(\eta^5\text{-}C_5\text{H}_5)_2(\text{CO})_4(\mu\text{-dppm})].^{412,413}$ Subsequent reaction of $[W_2(\mu\text{-COCH}_3)(\eta^5\text{-}C_5\text{H}_5)_2(\text{CO})_2(\mu\text{-dppm})]BF_4$ with BH₃. THF yields the methylidyne–borane complex $[W_2(\mu\text{-CHBH}_3)(\eta^5\text{-}C_5\text{H}_5)_2(\text{CO})_2(\mu\text{-dppm})]BF_4$ (3.074(1) Å) with a W–W single bond.⁴¹² $[W_2(\mu\text{-COCH}_3)(\eta^5\text{-}C_5\text{H}_5)_2(\text{CO})_2(\mu\text{-dppm})]BF_4$ also reacts with CH₂N₂ to yield the orange diamagnetic complex shown in Figure 63, $[W_2(\mu\text{-CH}_2){\{\mu-\eta^1:\eta^2-C(\text{OCH}_3)(\eta^5\text{-}C_5\text{H}_5)_2(\text{CO})_2(\mu\text{-dppm})]BF_4$ (2.965(1) Å).

For edge-sharing bioctahedral, face-sharing bioctahedral, and ethane-like molecules, ditungsten^(III III) chemistry parallels the dimolybdenum^(III III) chemistry outlined previously. One of the drawbacks to low-oxidation-state dinuclear tungsten complexes is their susceptibility to oxidation.^{140,415–420} However, $W_2(\mu$ -Cl)₂Cl₄(P(CH₃)₂(C₆H₅))₄ (2.6950(9) Å),⁴²¹ W₂(μ -Cl)₂Cl₄(P(CH₂CH₃)₃)₄ (2.7397(7) Å),⁴²² and W₂(μ -Cl)₂Cl₄(P(CH₃)₃)₄ (2.7113(8) Å)⁴²² are synthesized by the reduction of WCl₄ using sodium amalgam and subsequent addition of excess monodentate phosphine ligand. Face-sharing bioctahedral complexes are synthesized by the same general procedure by limiting the monodentate phosphine ligand to tungsten ratio to 1.5:1 as in the case of W₂(μ -Cl)₃Cl₃(P(CH₃)₂(C₆H₅))₃ (2.4433(4) Å) and W₂(μ -Cl)₃Cl₃(P(CH₂CH₃)₃)₅-(2.4705(7) Å).^{421,422} Of note is the synthesis of W₂(μ -Br)₃Br₃(P(CH₃)₂(C₆H₅))₃ (2.4768(9) Å) using WBr₅ as the starting material⁴²¹ and the formation of the anion [W₂(μ -Cl)₃ Cl₄(P(CH₂CH₃)₃)₂]⁻ (2.4377(22) Å) upon addition of water to the neutral species.⁴²²

The halides bridge the two metal centers in both the edge-sharing and face-sharing bioctahedral geometries in the presence of monodentate phosphine ligands, but the halides are the terminal atoms in the presence of sulfur-based ligands.^{423,424} Synthesized by the addition of the appropriate ligands, $S(CH_2CH_3)_2$, 1,4-dithiane, 1,4-thioxane, or pentamethylene sulfide, to WCl₄ reduced by sodium amalgam, the dark red complexes $W_2(\mu$ -S(CH₂CH₃)₂)₃Cl₆ (2.4990(9) Å),⁴²³ $W_2(\mu$ -1,4-dithiane)₃Cl₆ (2.507(1) Å),⁴²⁴ $W_2(\mu$ -1, 4-thioxane)₃Cl₆ (2.529(1) Å),⁴²⁴ and $W_2(\mu$ -pentamethylene sulfide)₃Cl₆ (2.506(2) Å) shown in Figure 64⁴²⁴ have been structurally characterized. The anions, $[W_2(\mu$ -Cl)(μ -1,4-dithiane)₂Cl₆]⁻ (2.481(2) Å)⁴²⁴ and $[W_2(\mu$ -Cl)(μ -1,4-thioxane)₂Cl₆]⁻ (2.496(4) Å),⁴²⁴ are formed as side products in the reactions of 1,4-thioxane and 1,4-dithiane, respectively.⁴²⁴ When S(CH₃)₂ is used in the reaction, the sole product is the anion $[W_2(\mu$ -Cl)



Figure 63 CAMERON drawing of the structure of the cation of $[W_2(\mu-CH_2){\mu-\eta^1:\eta^2-C(OCH_3)CH_2}$ $(\eta^3-C_5H_5)_2(CO)_2(\mu-dppm)]BF_4$ (reproduced by permission of the American Chemical Society from *Organometallics* **2002**, *21*, 1177–1183).



Figure 64 ORTEP drawing of $W_2(\mu$ -pentamethylene sulfide)₃Cl₆ (reproduced by permission of the American Chemical Society from *Inorg. Chem.* 1998, 37, 6023–6029).

 $(\mu$ -S(CH₃)₂)₂Cl₆]⁻ (2.4752(8) Å).⁴²³ Subsequent studies indicate that the products may vary depending on both the temperature of the reaction and the WCl₄ sample.⁴²⁵ The anions, such as [W₂(μ -Cl)(μ -S(CH₂CH₃)₂)₂Cl₆]⁻, are susceptible to nucleophilic attack at the *S* center that results in either displacement of -CH₂CH₃ to yield [W₂(μ -Cl)(μ -S(CH₂CH₃))(μ -S(CH₂CH₃)₂)Cl₆]⁻ (2.4418(6) Å)^{425,426} or ring opening of bridging tetrahydrothiophene ligands upon addition of Cl⁻ to yield [W₂(μ -Cl)(μ -SC₄H₈)(μ -S(CH₂)₄Cl)Cl₆]⁻ (2.4846(8) Å).⁴²⁶

W₂^{III,III} ethane-like molecules provide precursors in the synthesis of complexes for almost every oxidation state discussed. ^{234,427} As outlined previously for Mo₂^{III,III} ethane-like molecules, ditungsten ethane-like molecules contain six anionic ligands such as alkyls⁴²⁸ as in the case of W₂(CH₂Si(CH₃)₂(C₆H₅))₆ (2.2587(5) Å) or a bridging 1,1'-ferrocenyl as in W₂(N(CH₃)₂)₄(μ -(C₅H₄)₂Fe) (2.2877(21) Å).^{242,428} Other ligands include the anions of amines, ^{239,240,242,243,245,390,429–432} calixarenes, ^{248,433} binaphthol, ⁴³⁴ diols, ⁴³⁵ phenols, ²⁴¹ allyls, ⁴²⁹ thiols, ⁴³⁶ thienyls, ^{388,437} alkoxides, ^{239,245,430–432,436,438–440} siloxides, ^{245,441} selenolates, ²⁴⁶ germanides, ^{243,442} cyclopentadienyl, ²⁴⁰ phosphido, ^{242,443} or halides. ^{242,390}

In addition to ethane-like molecules, there are several $W_2^{III,III}$ complexes that are more difficult to classify. Instead of the classic six anionic ligands, these compounds contain a W_2 core supported by eight or nine ligands, six anionic and two or three neutral.^{431,444,445} Examples of complexes of this type have been synthesized by the addition of neutral ligands such as the chelating phosphine ligand dmpm, P(CH₃)₃ or quinuclidine to ethane-like $W_2^{III,III}$ starting materials to form $W_2(CH_2C_6H_5)_2(OPr^i)_4(dmpm)$ (2.3476(13) Å), $W_2(i^2Bu)_2(OPr^i)_4(dmpm)$ (2.3490(7) Å), $W_2(\mu$ -CC₆H₅)(μ -H)(OPr^i)_4(P(CH_3)_3)_3 (2.5374(14) Å), $W_2(\mu$ -CPrⁱ)_2(μ -H)(OPrⁱ)_4(P(CH_3)_3)_3 (2.5030(13) Å), $W_2(\mu$ -CC₆H₅)₂(μ -H)(OPrⁱ)_4(P(CH_3)_3)_2 (2.4697(21) Å), and $W_2(OPr^i)_4(\mu$ -CC₆H₅)₂(μ -H)(quinuclidine)₂ (2.4425(10) Å).⁴⁴⁶ While complexes of this type have an overall W_2^{6+} core, the tungsten atoms may be in different oxidation states.⁴⁴⁶ Ligand types vary as in the cases of $W_2Cl_3(OC(CH_3)_3)_3(NH(CH_3)_2)_2$ (2.3155(5) Å), $W_2Cl_4(NHC_6H_{11})_2(NH_2C_6H_{11})_2$ (2.2884(9) Å),⁴⁴⁷ $W_2Cl_4(NHCH_2CH_3)_2(P(CH_3)_3)_2$ (2.3066(6) Å) shown in Figure 65.⁴⁴⁸ Other complexes of this type have been synthesized with halides, amido ligands, and either monodentate^{449,450} or bidentate^{451,452} phosphine ligands.⁴⁴⁸



Figure 65 ORTEP drawing of W₂Cl₄(NHCH₂CH₃)₂(P(CH₃)₃)₂ (reproduced by permission of the American Chemical Society from *Inorg. Chem.* 1997, *36*, 2670–2677).

Other complexes containing the W_2^{6+} core include the brown diamagnetic complex $W_2(hpp)_4Cl_2$ (2.250(2) Å) synthesized by the reduction of WCl₄ with one equivalent of sodium triethylborohydride followed by the addition of the Lihpp salt.⁴⁵³ A mixed valent complex with a W_2^{6+} core is synthesized by the addition of carbon dioxide to $(Pr^iO)_4W(\mu-H)_2W(\eta^2-dmpe)_2$ to result in the formation of the green compound $(\eta^2-O_2CH)(Pr^iO)_4WW(\eta^2-dmpe)_2H$ (2.5242(9) Å).⁴⁵⁴

4.9.10.4 W₂^{II,II} Complexes

The W₂^{III,II} and W₂^{II,II} compounds $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2(CO)W_2Cl(\mu-P(C_6H_5)_2)_2(\mu-C_6H_5C_2C_6H_5)]$ (2.660(1)Å) and $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2(CO)W_2Cl(\mu-P(C_6H_5)_2)(\mu-C_6H_5C_2C_6H_5)]$ (2.654(1)Å) are prepared by the addition of PCl(C₆H₅)₂ to a refluxing xylene solution of $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2(CO)W_2Cl(\mu-P(C_6H_5C_2C_6H_5)]]$ (2.654(1)Å) are prepared by the addition of PCl(C₆H₅)₂ to a refluxing xylene solution of $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2(\mu-CO)(CO)_4W_2(\mu-C_6H_5C_2C_6H_5)]$. (CO)₄W₂(μ -C₆H₅C₂C₆H₅)].⁴⁵⁵ The molecular structure of the cation $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2W_2(\mu-CI)(\mu-CO)(CO)_2(\mu-dppm)]^+$ (3.040(3)Å) contains a W–W single bond and is one of several complexes synthesized from the dicationic starting material $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2W_2(\mu-CO)_2(\mu-dppm)]^{2+}$.⁴⁵⁶ In the synthesis of $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2W_2(\mu-CO)_2(\mu-dppm)]$, the brown complex $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2W_2(\mu-CH_2P(C_6H_5)_2)(O)(\mu-P(C_6H_5)_2(CO)]$ (2.9500(7)Å) is produced as a secondary product.⁴⁵⁷ Refluxing $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2W_2(CO)_2(P(C_6H_5)_3)(SCH(CH_3)_2)]$ in THF provides a synthetic route to the dark green complex $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2W_2(CO)_2(\mu-SCH(CH_3)_2)_2]$ (2.602(5)Å) with a tungsten-tungsten double bond.⁴⁵⁸

The dominant structural motif in $W_2^{II,II}$ chemistry is the quadruply bonded complex with either monodentate or bidentate ligands providing a total negative charge of four about the dinuclear core. As a result of the extreme sensitivity of the ditungsten core to oxidative addition, the field of quadruply bonded ditungsten complexes is less developed than the analogous dimolybdenum complexes.¹⁴⁰ An example of a $W_2^{II,II}$ complex containing monodentate ligands is $W_2(CCCH_3)_2Cl_2(P(CH_3)_3)_4$ (2.268(1)Å) shown in Figure 66, synthesized by reacting $W_2Cl_4(P(CH_3)_3)_4$ with LiCCCH₃.⁴⁵⁹ Other monodentate and bidentate ligands include carboxylates, ^{354,460–462} phosphines, ^{309,311,314,461–465} halides, ^{309,311,314,461,462,464–467} amines, ^{466,467} and formamidinates and other nitrogen-based chelating ligands.^{149,415,468} The brown $W_2^{III,II}$ species $W_2Cl_5(P(CH_3)_3)_3$ (2.433(1)Å) is synthesized by the addition of $C_6H_5I\cdotCl_2$ to $W_2Cl_4(P(CH_3)_3)_4$.



Figure 66 ORTEP drawing of W₂(CCCH₃)₂Cl₂(P(CH₃)₃)₄ (reproduced by permission of the American Chemical Society from J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 4201–4204).



Figure 67 ORTEP drawing of the structure of $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2W_2(\mu-CO)_2(\mu-dppm)]$ (reproduced by permission of the American Chemical Society from Organometallics 1997, 16, 354-364).

4.9.10.5 W₂^{I,I} Complexes

With a W–W bond length of 3.2731(6) Å, $[(\eta^5 - C_5H_5)_2W_2(CO)_4(\mu - (CH_3CH_2O)_2POP(OCH_2CH_3)_2)]$ is synthesized by the addition of the neutral ligand $(CH_3CH_2O)_2POP(OCH_2CH_3)_2$ to $[(\eta^5 - C_5H_5)_2W_2(CO)_4]$.⁴⁶⁹ An analogous reaction can be performed using other chelating phosphine ligands such as dppm and dmpm, and the structure of $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2W_2(\mu-CO)_2(\mu-dppm)]$ (2.5144 (5)Å) is shown in Figure 67.⁴⁵⁷ The subsequent reaction of $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2W_2(\mu-CO)_2(\mu-dppm)]$ with Bu^tNC results in the oxidation of the ditungsten core and the formation of $[W_2(\mu-\eta^1:\eta^5-C_5H_4)(\eta^5-C_5H_5)(\mu-H)(Bu^tNC)(CO)_2(\mu-dppm)]$ (3.179(2)Å).⁴⁵⁷

4.9.11 REFERENCES

- 1. Cotton, F. A.; Woitczak, W. A. Gaz, Chim. Ital. 1993, 123, 499-507.
- 2. Hao, S.; Feghali, K.; Gambarotta, S. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 1745-1748.
- 3. Cotton, F. A.; Murillo, C. A.; Petrukhina, M. A. J. Organomet. Chem. 2000, 593-594, 1-6.
- 4. Gauvin, F.; Britten, J.; Samuel, E.; Harrod, J. F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 1489-1491.
- 5. Pez, G. P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1976, 98, 8072-8078.
- 6. Hill, J. E.; Nash, J. M.; Fanwick, P. E.; Rothwell, I. P. Polyhedron 1990, 9, 1617-1619.
- 7. Rohmer, M.-M.; Benard, M. Organometallics 1991, 10, 157-163.
- 8. Wengrovius, J. H.; Schrock, R. R.; Day, C. S. Inorg. Chem. 1981, 20, 1844-1849.
- 9. Cotton, F. A.; Shang, M.; Wojtczak, W. A. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 3670-3675.
- 10. Cotton, F. A.; Diebold, M. P.; Kibala, P. A. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 27, 799-804.
- 11. Troyanov, S. I.; Meetsma, A.; Teuben, J. H. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1998, 271, 180-186.
- 12. Morse, P. M.; Wilson, S. R.; Girolami, G. S. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 3200-3202.
- 13. Cotton, F. A.; Wojtczak, W. A. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1994, 216, 9-11.
- 14. Chiang, M. Y.; Gamborotta, S.; vanBolhuis, F. Organometallics 1988, 7, 1864-1865.
- Wieistra, Y.; Gambarotta, S.; Meetsma, A.; DeBoer, J. L. Organometallics 1989, 8, 250–251.
 Wielstra, Y.; Gambarotta, S.; Spek, A. L.; Smeets, W. J. J. Organometallics 1990, 9, 2142–2148.
- 17. Meetsma, Y. W. A.; Gambarotta, S.; Khan, S. Organometallics 1990, 9, 876-879.
- 18. Wielstra, Y.; Gambarotta, S.; Meetsma, A.; Spek, A. L. Organometallics 1989, 8, 2948-2952.
- 19. Gambarotta, S.; Chian, M. Y. Organometallics 1987, 6, 897-899.
- 20. Cotton, F. A.; Kibala, P. A.; Wojtczak, W. A. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1990, 177, 1-3.
- 21. Duan, Z.; Schmidt, M.; Young, V. G.; Xie, X.; McCarley, R. E.; Verkade, J. G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 5302-5303.

- 22. Ruiz, J.; Vivanco, M.; Floriani, C.; Chiesi-Villa, A.; Guastini, C. J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Comm. 1991, 214-215.
- 23. Moore, M.; Feghali, K.; Gambarotta, S. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 2191-2194.
- 24. Sendlinger, S. C.; Nicholson, J. R.; Lobkovsky, E. B.; Huffman, J. C.; Rehder, D.; Christou, G. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 204-210.
- 25. Yang, Y.; Huang, L.; Liu, Q.; Kang, B. Acta Crystallogr. 1991, C47, 2085-2087.
- 26. Duraj, S. A.; Andras, M. T.; Kibala, P. A. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 1232-1234.
- 27. Halbert, T. R.; Hutchings, L. L.; Rhodes, R.; Stiefel, E. I. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108, 6437-6438.
- 28. Bolinger, C. M.; Rauchfuss, T. B.; Rheingold, A. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1983, 105, 6321-6323.
- 29. Rheingold, A. L.; Bolinger, C. M.; Rauchfuss, T. B. Acta Crystallogr. 1986, C42, 1878-1880.
- 30. Bolinger, C. M.; Rauchfuss, T. B.; Rheingold, A. L. Organometallics 1982, 1, 1551-1553.
- 31. Jonas, K.; Russeler, W.; Kruger, C.; Raabe, E. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. Engl. 1986, 25, 925-927.
- 32. Poumbga, C.; Daniel, C.; Benard, M. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 2387-2389.
- 33. Elschenbroich, C.; Heck, J.; Massa, W.; Nun, E.; Schmidt, R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1983, 105, 2905-2907.
- 34. Luthi, H. P.; Bauschlincher, C. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 2046-2049.
- 35. Mougenot, P.; Demuynck, J.; Benard, M.; Bauschlicher, C. W. J. J. Am. Chem Soc. 1988, 110, 4503-4505.
- 36. Gambarotta, S.; Mazzanti, M.; Floriani, C.; Zehnder, M. J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Com. **1984**, 1116–1118. 37. Smart, J. C.; Pinsky, B. L.; Fredrich, M. F.; Day, V. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1979**, 101, 4371–4373.
- 38. Dorfman, J. R.; Holm, R. H. Inorg. Chem. 1983, 22, 3179-3181.
- 39. Szeymies, D.; Krebs, B.; Henkel, G. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1983, 22, 885-887.
- 40. Wiggins, R. W.; Huffman, J. C.; Christou, G. J. Chem. Soc. Chem Comm. 1983, 1313-1315.
- 41. Cotton, F. A.; Daniels, L. M.; Murillo, C. A. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. Engl. 1992, 31, 737–738. 42. Cotton, F. A.; Daniels, L. M.; Murillo, C. A. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 2881–2885.
- 43. Cotton, F. A.; Timmons, D. J. Polyhedron 1998, 17, 179-184.
- 44. Hao, S.; Berno, P.; Minhas, R. K.; Gambarotta, S. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1996, 244, 37-49.
- 45. Cotton, F. A.; Millar, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1977, 99, 7886-7891.
- 46. Cotton, F. A.; Lewis, G. E.; Mott, G. N. Inorg. Chem. 1983, 22, 560-561.
- 47. Cotton, F. A.; Diebold, M. P.; Shim, I. Inorg. Chem. 1985, 24, 1510-1516.
- 48. Cotton, F. A.; Frenz, B. A.; Kruczynski, L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1973, 95, 951–952.
- 49. Huffman, J. C.; Lewis, L. N.; Caulton, K. G. Inorg. Chem. 1980, 19, 2755-2762.
- 50. Lewis, L. N.; Caulton, K. G. Inorg. Chem. 1980, 19, 1840-1846.
- 51. Bansemer, R. L.; Huffman, J. C.; Caulton, K. G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1983, 105, 6163-6164.
- 52. Huq, F.; Mowat, W.; Skapski, A. C.; Wilkinson, G. J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Com. 1971, 1477-1478.
- 53. Torrez, E.; Profilet, R. D.; Fanwick, P. E.; Rothwell, I. P. Acta Crystallogr. 1994, C50, 902-904.
- 54. Allen, A. D.; Naito, S. Can. J. Chem. 1976, 54, 2948-2952.
- 55. Canich, J. A. M.; Cotton, F. A.; Falvello, L. R. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1988, 143, 185-192.
- 56. Cotton, F. A.; Roth, W. J. Inorg. Chem. 1984, 23, 945-947.
- 57. Cotton, F. A.; Duraj, S. A.; Roth, W. J. *Inorg. Chem.* **1984**, *23*, 3592–3596. 58. Scheper, J. T.; Jayaratne, K. C.; Liable-Sands, L. M.; Yap, G. P. A.; Rheingold, A. L.; Winter, C. H. *Inorg. Chem.* 1999, 38, 4354-4360.
- Cotton, F. A.; Diebold, M. P.; Roth, W. J. Inorg. Chem. 1985, 24, 3509–3510.
 Cotton, F. A.; Diebold, M. P.; Roth, W. J. Inorg. Chem. 1987, 26, 3319–3322.
- 61. Tatsumi, K.; Sekiguchi, Y.; Sebata, M.; Nakamura, A.; Cramer, R. E.; Chung, T. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. Engl. 1989, 28, 98-100.
- 62. Cotton, F. A.; Diebold, M. P.; Roth, W. J. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 27, 3596-3600.
- 63. Drew, M. G. B.; Rice, D. A.; Williams, D. M. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton Trans. 1983, 2251-2256.
- 64. Drew, M. G. B.; Baba, I. B.; Rice, D. A.; Williams, D. M. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1980, 44, L217-L218.
- 65. Drew, M. G. B.; Rice, D. A.; Williams, D. M. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton Trans. 1985, 417-421.
- 66. Yoon, M.; Young, V.; Miller, G. J. Acta Crystallogr. 1997, C53, 1041-1043.
- 67. Kim, C.; Yun, H. Acta Crystallogr. 2002, C58, i53-i54.
- 68. Benton, A. J.; Drew, M. G. B.; Hobson, R. J.; Rice, D. A. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton Trans. 1981, 1304-1309.
- 69. Babaian-Kibala, E.; Cotton, F. A. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1991, 182, 77-82.
- 70. Tebbe, F. N.; Parshall, G. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1971, 93, 3793-3795.
- 71. Guggenberger, L. J.; Tebbe, F. N. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1971, 93, 5924-5925.
- 72. Guggenberger, L. J. Inorg. Chem. 1973, 12, 294-301.
- 73. Lemenovskii, D. A.; Fedin, V. P.; Aleksandrov, A. V.; Slovohotov, Y. L.; Struchkov, Y. T. J. Organomet. Chem. 1980, 201, 257-268.
- 74. Lemenovskii, D. A.; Fedin, V. P.; Slovohotov, Y. L.; Struchkov, Y. T. J. Organomet. Chem. 1982, 228, 153-170.
- 75. de la Mata, J.; Gomez, M.; Gomez-Sal, P.; Royo, P. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 5454-5457.
- 76. Canich, J. A. M.; Cotton, F. A. Inorg. Chem. 1987, 26, 4236-4240.
- 77. Cotton, F. A.; Duraj, S. A.; Falvello, L. R.; Roth, W. J. Inorg. Chem. 1985, 24, 4389-4393.
- 78. Cotton, F. A.; Roth, W. J. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1983, 71, 175-178.
- 79. Cotton, F. A.; Roth, W. J. Inorg. Chem. 1983, 22, 3654-3656.
- 80. Babaian-Kibala, E.; Cotton, F. A.; Shang, M. Acta Crystallogr. 1991, C47, 1617-1621.
- 81. Cotton, F. A.; Shang, M. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 969-976.
- 82. Cotton, F. A.; Feng, X.; Gutlich, P.; Kohlhaas, T.; Lu, J.; Shang, M. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 3055-3063.
- 83. Cotton, F. A.; Diebold, M. P.; Matusz, M.; Roth, W. J. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1986, 112, 147-152.
- 84. Cotton, F. A.; Diebold, M. P.; Roth, W. J. Inorg. Chem. 1987, 26, 3323-3327.
- 85. Cotton, F. A.; Shang, M. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 508-514.
- 86. Maas, E. T.; McCarley, R. E. Inorg. Chem. 1973, 12, 1096-1101.
- 87. Hamilton, J. B.; McCarley, R. E. Inorg. Chem. 1970, 9, 1333-1339.
- 88. Canich, J. A. M.; Cotton, F. A. Inorg. Chem. 1987, 26, 3473-3478.
- 89. Babaian-Kibala, E.; Cotton, F. A.; Kibala, P. A. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 4002-4005.
- 90. Cotton, F. A.; Duraj, S. A.; Roth, W. J. Acta Crystallogr. 1985, C41, 878-881.

- 91. Reddy, A. C.; Jemmis, E. D.; Scherer, O. J.; Winter, R.; Heckmann, G.; Wolmershauser, G. Organometallics 1992, 11, 3894-3990.
- 92. Cotton, F. A.; Matonic, J. H.; Murillo, C. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 7889-7890.
- 93. Cotton, F. A.; Matonic, J. H.; Murillo, C. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 6047-6052.
- 94. Tayebani, M.; Feghali, K.; Gambarotta, S.; Yap, G. P. A.; Thompson, L. K. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1999, 38, 3659-3661.
- 95. Cotton, F. A.; Diebold, M. P.; Roth, W. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 5506-5514.
- 96. Cotton, F. A.; Shang, M. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1994, 227, 191-196.
- 97. Riley, P. N.; Thorn, M. G.; Vilardo, J. S.; Lockwood, M. A.; Fanwick, P. E.; Rothwell, I. P. Organometallics 1999, 18, 3016.
- 98. Profilet, R. D.; Fanwick, P. E.; Rothwell, I. P. Polyhedron 1992, 11, 1559-1561.
- 99. Cotton, F. A.; Daniels, L. M.; Murillo, C. A.; Wang, X. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 896-901.
- 100. Cotton, F. A.; Daniels, L. M.; Matonic, J. H.; Wang, X.; Murillo, C. A. Polyhedron 1997, 16, 1177-1191.
- 101. Campbell, G. C.; Canich, J. A. M.; Cotton, F. A.; Duraj, S. A.; Haw, J. F. Inorg. Chem. 1986, 25, 287-290.
- 102. Canich, J. A. M.; Cotton, F. A. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1989, 159, 163-168.
- 103. Cotton, F. A.; Hall, W. T. Inorg. Chem. 1980, 19, 2354-2356.
- Sattelberger, A. P.; Wilson, R. B.; Huffman, J. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1980, 102, 7111–7113.
 Wilson, R. B.; Sattelberger, A. P.; Huffman, J. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1982, 104, 858–860.
- 106. Scioly, A. J.; Luetkens, J. M. L.; Wilson, J. R. B.; Huffman, J. C.; Sattelberger, A. P. Polyhedron 1987, 6, 741-757.
- 107. Cotton, F. A.; Diebold, M. P.; Roth, W. J. Polyhedron 1985, 4, 1103-1108.
- 108. Boyd, P. D. W.; Nielson, A. J.; Rickard, C. E. F. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton Trans. 1987, 307-314.
- 109. Lee, T.-Y.; Messerle, L. J. Organomet. Chem. 1998, 553, 397-403.
- 110. Belmonte, P. A.; Schrock, R. R.; Day, C. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1982, 104, 3082-3089.
- 111. Burckhardt, U.; Casty, G. L.; Tilley, T. D.; Woo, T. K.; Rothlisberger, U. Organometallics 2000, 19, 3830-3841.
- 112. Cotton, F. A.; Daniels, L. M.; Murillo, C. A.; Wang, X. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 12449-12450.
- 113. Scoles, L.; Ruppa, K. B. P.; Gambarotta, S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 2529-2530.
- 114. Miller, R. L.; Toreki, R.; LaPointe, R. E.; Wolczanski, P. T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 5570-5588.
- 115. Ting, C.; Baenziger, N. C.; Messerle, L. J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Comm. 1988, 1133-1135.
- 116. Hadi, G. A. A.; Fromm, K.; Blaurock, S.; Jelonek, S.; Hey-Hawkins, E. Polyhedron 1997, 16, 721-731.
- 117. Babaian-Kibala, E.; Cotton, F. A. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1990, 171, 71-74.
- 118. Cotton, F. A.; Daniels, L. M.; Murillo, C. A.; Wang, X. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 4830-4833.
- 119. Chakravarty, A. R.; Cotton, F. A.; Diebold, M. P.; Lewis, D. B.; Roth, W. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108, 971-976.
- 120. Cotton, F. A.; Diebold, M. P.; Roth, W. J. Inorg. Chem. 1987, 26, 4130-4133.
- 121. Cotton, F. A.; Falvello, L. R.; Najjar, R. C. Inorg. Chem. 1983, 22, 375-377.
- 122. Sattelberger, A. P.; Wilson, R. B.; Huffman, J. C. Inorg. Chem. 1982, 21, 2392-2396.
- 123. Cotton, F. A.; Falvello, L. R.; Najjar, R. C. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1982, 63, 107-111.
- 124. Cotton, F. A.; Diebold, M. P.; Duraj, S. A.; Roth, W. J. Polyhedron 1985, 4, 1479-1484.
- 125. Cotton, F. A.; Roth, W. J. Inorg. Chem. 1983, 22, 868-870.
- 126. Cotton, F. A.; Diebold, M. P.; Roth, W. J. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1988, 149, 105-110.
- 127. Cotton, F. A.; Najjar, R. C. *Inorg. Chem.* **1981**, *20*, 2716–2719. 128. Templeton, J. L.; Dorman, W. C.; Clardy, J. C.; McCarley, R. E. *Inorg. Chem.* **1978**, *17*, 1263–1267.
- 129. Cotton, F. A.; Murillo, C. A.; Wang, X. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 9594-9599.
- 130. Goh, L. Y.; Wong, R. C. S.; Mak, T. C. W. J. Organomet. Chem. 1989, 364, 363-371.
- 131. Eremenko, I. L.; Pasynskii, A. A.; Gasanov, G. S.; Orazsakhatov, B.; Struchkov, Y. T.; Shklover, V. E. J. Organomet. Chem. 1984, 275, 183-189.
- 132. Pasynskii, A. A.; Eremenko, I. L.; Orazsakhotov, B.; Gasanov, G. S.; Shklover, V. E.; Struchkov, Y. T. J. Organomet. Chem. 1984, 269, 147-153.
- 133. Pasynskii, A. A.; Eremenko, I. L.; Nefedov, S. E.; Orazsakhotov, B.; Zharkikh, A. A.; Ellert, O. G.; Novotortsev, V. M.; Yanovsky, A. I.; Struchkov, Y. T. J. Organomet. Chem. 1993, 444, 101-105.
- 134. Eremenko, I. L.; Pasynskii, A. A.; Katugin, A. S.; Zalmanovitch, V. R.; Orazsakhotov, B.; Sleptsova, S. A.; Nekhaev, A. I.; Kaverin, V. V.; Ellert, O. G.; Novotortsev, V. M.; Yanovsky, A. I.; Shklover, V. E.; Struchkov, Y. T. J. Organomet. Chem. 1989, 365, 325-340.
- 135. Nefedov, S. E.; Pasynskii, A. A.; Eremenko, I. L.; Orazsakhotov, B.; Novotortsev, V. M.; Ellert, O. G.; Shestakov, A. F.; Yanovsky, A. I.; Struchkov, Y. T. J. Organomet. Chem. 1990, 384, 279-293.
- 136. Heinemann, O.; Joyy, P. W.; Kruger, C.; Verhovnik, G. P. J. Organometallics 1996, 15, 5462-5463.
- 137. Vollhardt, K. P. C.; Cammack, J. K.; Matzger, A. J.; Bauer, A.; Capps, K. B.; Hoff, C. D. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 2624-2631.
- 138. Knox, S. A. R.; Stansfield, R. F. D.; Stone, F. G. A.; Winter, M. J.; Woodward, P. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton Trans. 1982, 173-185.
- 139. Chisholm, M. H.; Cotton, F. A.; Extine, M. W.; Rideout, D. C. Inorg. Chem. 1979, 18, 120-125.
- 140. Cotton, F. A.; Walton, R. A. Multiple Bonds between Metal Atoms 2nd Edition 1993, Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- 141. Goh, L. Y.; Tay, M. S.; Mak, T. C. W.; Wang, R.-J. Organometallics 1992, 11, 1711–1717.
- 142. Becke, F.; Wiegeleben, P.; Ruffer, T.; Wagner, C.; Boese, R.; Blaser, D.; Steinborn, D. Organometallics 1998, 17, 475-478
- 143. Morse, P. M.; Spencer, M. D.; Wilson, S. R.; Girolami, G. S. Organometallics 1994, 13, 1646-1655.
- 144. Cotton, F. A.; Murillo, C. A.; Zhou, H.-C. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 3728-3730.
- 145. Cotton, F. A.; Daniels, L. M.; Huang, P.; Murillo, C. A. Inorg. Chem. 2002, 41, 317-320.
- 146. Cotton, F. A.; Daniels, L. M.; Murillo, C. A.; Pascual, I.; Zhou, H.-C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 6856-6861.
- 147. Cotton, F. A.; Daniels, L. M.; Murillo, C. A.; Schooler, P. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton Trans. 2000, 2007-2012.
- 148. Cotton, F. A.; Murillo, C. A.; Pascual, I. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 2182-2187.
- 149. Cotton, F. A.; Ren, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 2237-2242.
- 150. Carlson-Day, K. M.; Eglin, J. L.; Lin, C.; Smith, L. T.; Staples, R. J.; Wipf, D. O. Polyhedron 1999, 18, 817-824.

- 151. Cotton, F. A.; Daniels, L. M.; Lei, P.; Murillo, C. A.; Wang, X. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 2778-2784.
- 152. Cotton, F. A.; Daniels, L. M.; Murillo, C. A.; Zhou, H.-C. Inorg. Chim. Acta 2000, 300-302, 319-327.
- 153. Cotton, F. A.; Czuchajowski, J.; Feng, X. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 4329-4335.
- 154. Cotton, F. A.; Murillo, C. A.; Pascual, I. Inorg. Chem. Comm. 1999, 2, 101-103.
- 155. Cotton, F. A.; Daniels, L. M.; Murillo, C. A.; Schooler, P. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton Trans. 2000, 2001-2005.
- 156. Cotton, F. A.; Daniels, L. M.; Murillo, C. A.; Pascual, I. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 10223-10224.
- 157. Clerac, R.; Cotton, F. A.; Daniels, L. M.; Dunbar, K. R.; Murillo, C. A.; Pascual, I. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 748-751.
- 158. Clerac, R.; Cotton, F. A.; Daniels, L. M.; Dunbar, K. R.; Murillo, C. A.; Pascual, I. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 752-756.
- 159. Cotton, F. A.; Murillo, C. A.; Roy, L. E.; Zhou, H.-C. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 1743-1747.
- 160. Clerac, R.; Cotton, F. A.; Daniels, L. M.; Dunbar, K. R.; Murillo, C. A.; Zhou, H.-C. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 3414-3417.
- 161. Cotton, F. A.; Daniels, L. M.; Murillo, C. A.; Wang, X. J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Comm. 1999, 2461-2462.
- 162. Cotton, F. A.; Daniels, L. M.; Murillo, C. A.; Wang, X. Chem. Commun. 1998, 39-40.
- 163. Cotton, F. A.; Daniels, L. M.; Lu, T.; Murillo, C. A.; Wang, X. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton Trans. 1999, 517-518.
- 164. Tanaka, M.; Mashima, K.; Nishino, M.; Takeda, S.; Mori, W.; Tani, K.; Yamaguchi, K.; Nakamura, A. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 2001, 74, 67-75.
- 165. Cotton, F. A.; Daniels, L. M.; Kibala, P. A. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 1865-1869.
- 166. Cotton, F. A.; Chen, H.; Daniels, L. M.; Feng, X. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 8980-8983.
- 167. Cotton, F. A.; Hillard, E. A.; Murillo, C. A.; Zhou, H.-C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 416-417.
- 168. Cotton, F. A.; Schmid, G. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1997, 254, 233-238.
- 169. Clegg, W.; Straughan, B. P.; Yusoff, A. R. Acta Crystallogr. 1992, C48, 1896-1898.
- 170. Manna, J.; John, K. D.; Hopkins, M. D. Adv. Organomet. Chem. 1995, 38, 79-154.
- 171. Chisholm, M. H.; Hoffman, D. M.; Huffman, J. C. Chem. Soc. Rev. 1985, 14, 69-92.
- 172. Chisholm, M. H. Pure Appl. Chem. 1991, 63, 665-680.
- 173. Adams, H.; Gill, L. J.; Morris, M. J. J. Organomet. Chem. 1997, 533, 117-123.
- 174. Adams, H.; Gill, L. J.; Morris, M. J. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton Trans. 1998, 2451-2457.
- 175. Stichbury, J. C.; Mays, M. J.; Raithby, P. R.; Rennie, M.-A.; Fullalove, M. R. J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Comm. 1995, 1269-1270.
- 176. Brunner, H.; Grabl, R.; Meier, W.; Wachter, J.; Nuber, B.; Ziegler, M. L. J. Organomet. Chem. 1992, 434, 63-78.
- 177. Fawcett, J.; Halloway, J. H.; Hope, E. G.; Russell, D. R.; Saunders, G. C.; Atherton, M. J. J. Organomet. Chem. 1994, 464, C20-C22.
- 178. Bhattacharyya, P.; Fawcett, J.; Holloway, J. H.; Hope, E. G.; Saunders, G. C. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton Trans. 1997, 199 - 203.
- 179. Fletcher, J.; Hogarth, G.; Tocher, D. A. J. Organomet. Chem. 1991, 403, 345-352.
- 180. Green, M. L. H.; Hogarth, G.; Saunders, G. C. J. Organomet. Chem. 1991, 421, 233-239.
- 181. Green, M. L. H.; Hogarth, G.; Konidaris, P. C.; Mountford, P. J. Organomet. Chem. 1990, 394, C9-C15.
- 182. Cameron, T. M.; Abboud, K. A.; Boncella, J. M. Chem. Comm. 2001, 1224-1225.
- 183. Forster, G. D.; Hogarth, G. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton Trans. 1993, 2539-2540.
- 184. Green, M. L. H.; Hogarth, G.; Konidaris, P. C.; Mountford, P. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton Trans. 1990, 3781-3787.
- 185. Rabe, P.; Guerchais, J. E.; Pala, J. S.; Khalifa, M. E.; Saillard, J. Y.; Toupet, L. Polyhedron 1993, 12, 1215-1225.
- 186. Cindric, M.; Vrdoljak, V.; Kajfez, T.; Novak, P.; Brbot-Saranovic, A.; Strukan, N.; Kamenar, B. Inorg. Chim. Acta 2002, 328, 23-32.
- 187. Hazama, R.; Umakoshi, K.; Ichimura, A.; Ikari, S.; Sasaki, Y.; Ito, T. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1995, 68, 456-468.
- 188. Abbott, R. G.; Cotton, F. A.; Falvello, L. R. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 514-521.
- 189. Lang, H. F.; Fanwick, P. E.; Walton, R. A. Inorg. Chim. Acta 2002, 328, 232-236.
- 190. Dulebohn, J. I.; Stamatakos, T. C.; Ward, D. L.; Nocera, D. G. Polyhedron 1991, 10, 2813-2820.
- 191. Fletcher, J.; Hogarth, G.; Tocher, D. A. J. Organomet. Chem. 1991, 405, 207-215.
- 192. Valente, E. J.; Zubkowski, J. D.; Hicks, K. W. Acta Crystallogr. 1998, C54, 1265-1268.
- 193. Mathur, P.; Ghose, S.; Hossain, M. M.; Hitchcock, P. B.; Nixon, J. F. J. Organomet. Chem. 1997, 542, 265-269.
- 194. Abbott, A.; Bancroft, M. N.; Morris, M. J.; Hogarth, G.; Redmond, S. P. Chem. Comm. 1998, 389-390.
- 195. Lee, C. C.; Halbert, T. R.; Pan, W. H.; Harmer, M. A.; Wei, L.; Leonowicz, M. E.; Dim, C. O. B.; Miller, K. F.; Bruce, A. E.; McKenna, S.; Corbin, J. L.; Wherland, S.; Steifel, E. I. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1996, 243, 147-160.
- 196. Koffi-Sokpa, E. I.; Calfee, D. T.; Allred, B. R. T.; Davis, J. L.; Haub, E. K.; Rich, A. K.; Porter, R. A.; Mashuta, M. S.; Richardson, J. F.; Noble, M. E. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 802-813.
- 197. Lee, J. Q.; Sampson, M. L.; Richardson, J. F.; Noble, M. E. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 5055-5064.
- 198. Davies, J. E.; Kerr, L. C.; Mays, M. J.; Raithby, P. R.; Tompkin, P. K.; Woods, A. D. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. **1998**, *37*, 1428–1429.
- 199. Kerby, M. C.; Eichhorn, B. W.; Doviken, L.; Vollhardt, K. P. C. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 156-158.
- 200. Adams, H.; Allott, C.; Bancroft, M. N.; Morris, M. J. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton Trans. 1998, 2607-2609.
- 201. Adams, H.; Bailey, N. A.; Bancroft, M. N.; Bisson, A. P.; Morris, M. J. J. Organomet. Chem. 1997, 542, 131-140.
- 202. Lopez, L. L., Bernatis, P., Birnbaum, J., Haltiwanger, R. C., DuBois, M. R. Organometallics 1992, 11, 2424-2435.
- 203. Keim, W.; Zhu, Y.; Herdtweck, E.; Herrmann, W. A. Journal of Molecular Catalysis, 1990, 58, 355-361.
- 204. Robbins, J.; Bazan, G. C.; Murdzek, J. S.; O'Regan, M. B.; Schrock, R. R. Organometallics 1991, 10, 2902-2907.
- 205. Cotton, F. A.; Maloney, D. J.; Su, J. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1995, 236, 21-29.
- 206. Hughes, D. L.; Lane, J. D.; Richards, R. L.; Shortman, C. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton Trans. 1994, 621-626.
- 207. Petillon, F. Y.; Schollhammer, P.; Talarmin, J.; Muir, K. W. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1998, 178-180, 203-247.
- 208. Schollhammer, P.; Cabon, N.; Capon, J.-F.; Petillon, F. Y.; Talarmin, J. Organometallics **2001**, *20*, 1230–1242. 209. Cabon, N.; Schollhammer, P.; Petillon, F. Y.; Talarmin, J.; Muir, K. W. Organometallics **2002**, *21*, 448–450.
- 210. Schollhammer, P.; Cabon, N.; Petillon, F. Y.; Talarmin, J.; Muir, K. W. Chem. Comm. 2000, 2137-2138.
- 211. Capon, J.-F.; Schollhammer, P.; Petillon, F. Y.; Talarmin, J.; Muir, K. W. Organometallics 1999, 18, 2055–2057.
- 212. Schollhammer, P.; Petillon, F. Y.; Talarmin, J.; Muir, K. W.; Fun, H. K.; Chinakali, K. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 5879-5882.

- 213. Sugiyama, T.; Yamanaka, T.; Shibuya, M.; Nakase, R.; Kajitani, M.; Akiyama, T.; Sugimori, A. Chem. Lett. 1998, 501-502.
- 214. Adams, H.; Allott, C.; Bancroft, M. N.; Morris, M. J. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton Trans. 2000, 4520-4526.
- 215. Adams, H.; Allott, C.; Bancroft, M. N.; Morris, M. J. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton Trans. 2000, 4145–4153.
- 216. Grognec, E. L.; Poli, R.; Richard, P.; Llusar, R.; Uriel, S. J. Organomet. Chem. 2001, 640, 113-120.
- 217. Falvello, L. R.; Mattamana, S. P.; Poli, R. Acta Crystallogr. 1995, C51, 569-571.
- 218. Cotton, F. A.; Su, J. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1996, 251, 101-104.
- 219. Song, L. C.; Shi, Y. C.; Zhu, W. F.; Hu, Q. M.; Huang, X. Y.; Du, F.; Mao, X. A. Organometallics 2000, 19, 156-162.
- 220. Breung, H. J.; Burford, N.; Rosler, R. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 2000, 39, 4148-4150.
- 221. Shin, J. H.; Parkin, G. Chem. Comm. 1998, 1273-1274.
- 222. Cotton, F. A.; Daniels, L. M.; Murillo, C. A.; Timmons, D. J. Chem. Comm. 1997, 1449-1450.
- 223. Cotton, F. A.; Kuhn, F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 5826-5827.
- 224. Deavenport, J. L.; Stubbs, R. T.; Powell, G. L.; Sappenfield, E. L.; Mullica, D. F. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1994, 215, 191-198.
- 225. Kiyoda, S.; Akashi, H.; Ohtani, T.; Shibahara, T. Chem. Lett. 1999, 41-42.
- 226. Ardon, M.; Bino, A. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1995, 229, 417-420.
- 227. Cotton, F. A.; Eglin, J. L.; James, C. A.; Luck, R. L. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 5308-5315.
- 228. Cotton, F. A.; Su, J.; Sun, Z. S.; Chen, H. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 4871-4875.
- 229. Cotton, F. A.; Daniels, L. M.; Dunbar, K. R.; Falvello, L. R.; O'Connor, C. J.; Price, A. C. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 2509-2514.
- 230. Cotton, F. A.; Su, J. R.; Yao, Z. G. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1997, 266, 65-71.
- 231. Cotton, F. A.; Hong, B.; Shang, M.; Stanley, G. G. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 3620-3627.
- 232. Cotton, F. A.; Eglin, J. L.; James, C. J. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 687-694.
- 233. Cotton, F. A.; James, C. A.; Luck, R. L. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 4370-4373.
- 234. Chisholm, M. H. Acc. Chem. Res. 1990, 23, 419-425.
- 235. Hill, J. E.; Fanwick, P. E.; Rothwell, I. P. Polyhedron 1992, 11, 2825-2829.
- 236. Chisholm, M. H.; Click, D. R.; Huffman, J. C. Organometallics 2000, 19, 3916–3924.
- 237. Chisholm, M. H.; Folting, K.; Huffman, J. C.; Kramer, K. S.; Tatz, R. J. Organometallics 1992, 11, 4029-4036.
- 238. Budzichowski, T. A.; Chisholm, M. H.; Folting, K.; Kramer, K. S. Polyhedron 1996, 15, 3085-3091.
- 239. Chisholm, M. H.; Parkin, I. P.; Streib, W. E.; Folting, K. S. Polyhedron 1991, 10, 2309-2316.
- 240. Cayton, R. H.; Chisholm, M. H.; Folting, K.; Wesemann, J. L.; Moodley, K. G. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton Trans. 1997, 3161-3165.
- 241. Chisholm, M. H.; Folting, K.; Streib, W. E.; Wu, D.-D. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 50-55.
- 242. Folting, H. S.; Huffman, J. C.; Streib, W. E.; Chisholm, M. H. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 6056-6066.
- 243. Chisholm, M. H.; Gama, G. J.; Parkin, I. P. Polyhedron 1993, 12, 961-965.
- 244. Abbott, R. G.; Cotton, F. A.; Falvello, L. R. Polyhedron 1990, 9, 1821-1827
- 245. Chisholm, M. H.; Parkin, I. P.; Huffman, J. C.; Lobkovsky, E. B.; Folting, K. Polyhedron 1991, 10, 2839-2846.
- 246. Chisholm, M. H.; Parkin, I. P.; Huffman, J. C.; Streib, W. B. J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Comm. 1990, 920-921.
- 247. Piarulli, U.; Williams, D. N.; Floriani, C.; Gervasio, G.; Viterbo, D. J. Organometal. Chem. **1995**, 503, 185–192. 248. Chisholm, M. H.; Folting, K.; Streib, W. E.; Wu, D.-D. Chem. Commun. **1998**, 379–380.
- 249. Chisholm, M. H.; Macintosh, A. M.; Huffman, J. C.; Wu, D. D.; Davidson, E. R.; Clark, R. J. H.; Firth, S. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 3544-3550.
- 250. Chisholm, M. H.; Folting, K.; Huffman, J. C.; Li, H.; Macintosh, A. M.; Wu, D. D. Polyhedron 2000, 19, 375-380.
- 251. Chisholm, M. H.; Folting, K.; Streib, W. E.; Wu, D.-D. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 5219-5229.
- 252. Chisholm, M. H.; Hoffman, D. M.; Northius, J. M.; Huffman, J. C. Polyhedron 1997, 16, 839-847.
- 253. Chisholm, M. H.; Hoffman, D. M.; Northius, J. M.; Huffman, J. C. Polyhedron 1997, 16, 839-847.
- 254. Gilbert, T. M.; Bauer, C. B.; Bond, A. H.; Rogers, R. D. Polyhedron 1999, 18, 1293-1301.
- 255. Laplaza, C. E.; Johnson, A. R.; Cummins, C. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 709-710. 256. Stichbury, J. C.; Mays, M. J.; Davies, J. E.; Raithby, P. R.; Shields, G. P. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton Trans. 1997, 2309-2314.
- 257. Adams, H.; Bailey, N. A.; Gauntlett, J. T.; Winter, M. J.; Woodward, S. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton Trans. 1991, 2217-2221.
- 258. Canole, G.; McPartlin, M.; Mays, M. J.; Morris, M. J. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton Trans. 1990, 2359-2366.
- 259. Canole, G.; Henrick, K.; McPartlin, M.; Horton, A. D.; Mays, M. J.; Sappa, E. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton Trans. 1990, 2367-2374.
- 260. Woodward, S.; Curtis, M. D. J. Organomet. Chem. 1992, 439, 319-325.
- 261. Adams, H.; Biebricher, A.; Gay, S. R.; Hamilton, T.; McHugh, P. E.; Morris, M. J.; Mays, M. J. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton Trans. 2000, 2983-2989.
- 262. Davies, J. E.; Mays, M. J.; Raithby, P. R.; Shields, G. P.; Tompkin, P. K. Chem. Comm. 1997, 361-362.
- 263. Bridgeman, A. J.; Mays, M. J.; Woods, A. D. Organometallics 2001, 20, 2076-2087.
- 264. Hartung, H.; Walther, B.; Baumeister, U.; Bottcher, H.C.; Krug, A.; Rosche, F.; Jones, P. G. Polyhedron 1992, 11, 1563-1568.
- 265. Riera, V.; Ruiz, M. A.; Villafane, F.; Bois, C.; Jeannin, Y. J. Organomet. Chem. 1990, 382, 407-417.
- 266. Abasq, M.-L.; Hughes, D. L.; Petillon, F. Y.; Pichon, R.; Pickett, C. J.; Talarmin, J. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton Trans. 1997, 2279-2291.
- 267. Adams, H.; Bailey, N. A.; Gay, S. R.; Hamilton, T.; Morris, M. J. J. Organomet. Chem. 1995, 493, C25-C28.
- 268. Song, L. C.; Shi, Y. C.; Hu, Q. M.; Chen, Y.; Sun, J. J. Organomet. Chem. 2001, 626, 192-198.
- 269. Cotton, F. A.; Daniels, L. M.; Hillard, E. A.; Murillo, C. A. Inorg. Chem. 2002, 41, 2466-2470.
- 270. Bartley, S. L.; Bernstein, S. N.; Dunbar, K. R. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1993, 213, 213-231.
- 271. Szalay, P. S.; Dunbar, K. R. Inorg. Chem. Comm. 2000, 3, 49-51.
- 272. Cotton, F. A.; Wiesinger, K. J. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 871-873.
- 273. Cotton, F. A.; Daniels, L. M.; Murillo, C. A.; Wang, X. Polyhedron 1998, 17, 2781–2793.

- 274. Cotton, F. A.; Kuhn, F. E. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1996, 252, 257-264.
- 275. Cotton, F. A.; Daniels, L. M.; Haefner, S. C.; Walke, E. N. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1996, 247, 105-112.
- 276. Chisholm, M. H.; Cotton, F. A.; Daniels, L. M.; Folting, K.; Huffman, J. C.; Iyer, S. S.; Lin, C.; Macintosh, A. M.; Murillo, C. A. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton Trans. 1999, 1387-1391.
- 277. Cotton, F. A.; Daniels, L. M.; Haefner, S. C.; Kuhn, F. E. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1999, 287, 159-166.
- 278. Chen, J.-D.; Cotton, F. A.; Kang, S.-J. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1991, 190, 103-108.
- 279. Cotton, F. A.; Dikarev, E. V.; Herrero, S.; Modec, B. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 4882-4887.
- 280. Cotton, F. A.; Dikarev, E. V.; Gu, J. D.; Herrero, S.; Modec, B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 11758-11761.
- 281. Cotton, F. A.; Dikarev, E. V.; Herrero, S. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 609-616.
- 282. Cotton, F. A.; Dikarev, E. V.; Herrero, S. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 2649-2654.
- 283. Cotton, F. A.; Dikarev, E. V.; Herrero, S. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 5862-5868.
- 284. Lin, C.; Protasiewicz, J. D.; Smith, E. T.; Ren, T. J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Comm. 1995, 2257-2258.
- 285. Lynn, M. A.; Selby, H. D.; Carducci, M. D.; Bruck, M. A.; Grittini, C.; Lichtenberger, D. L. Acta Crystallogr. 2001, E57, m57-m58.
- 286. Lynn, M. A.; Selby, H. D.; Carducci, M. D.; Bruck, M. A.; Grittini, C.; Lichtenberger, D. L. Acta Crystallogr. 2001, E57, m70-m71.
- 287. Lichtenberger, D. L.; Lynn, M. A.; Chisholm, M. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 12167-12176.
- 288. Lin, C.; Protasiewicz, J. D.; Smith, E. T.; Ren, T. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 6422-6428.
- 289. Cotton, F. A.; Jordan, G. T.; Murillo, C. A.; Su, J. Polyhedron 1997, 16, 1831-1835.
- 290. Sheldrick, W. S.; Mintert, M. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1994, 219, 23-29.
- 291. Cotton, F. A.; Murillo, C. A.; Zhou, H. C. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 3261-3264.
- 292. Pan, C. Y.; Suen, M. C.; Wu, Y. Y.; Chen, J. D.; Keng, T. C.; Wang, J. C. Inorg. Chim. Acta 2001, 312, 111-116.
- 293. Zou, G.; Ren, T. Inorg. Chim. Acta 2000, 304, 305-308.
- 294. Zinn, A.; Weller, F.; Dehnicke, K. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1991, 594, 106-112.
- 295. Tanase, T.; Igoshi, T.; Kobayashi, K.; Yamamoto, Y. J. Chem. Res. S., 1998, , 538-539. 296. Eichhorn, B. W.; Kerby, M. C.; Haushalter, R. C.; Vollhardt, K. P. C. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 723-728.
- 297. Fanwick, P. E.; Qi, J.-S.; Wu, Y.-P.; Walton, R. A. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1990, 168, 159-161.
- 298. Cayton, R. H.; Chisholm, M. H.; Putilina, E. F.; Folting, K. Polyhedron 1993, 12, 2627-2633.
- 299. Cotton, F. A.; Dikarev, E. V.; Jordan, G. T.; Murillo, C. A.; Petrukhina, M. A. *Inorg. Chem.* **1998**, *37*, 4611–4616. 300. Kuang, S. M.; Fanwick, P. E.; Walton, R. A. *Inorg. Chim. Acta* **2000**, *305*, 102–105.
- 301. Stoner, T. C.; Geib, S. J.; Hopkins, M. D. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. Engl. 1993, 32, 409-411.
- 302. Stoner, T. C.; Dallinger, R. F.; Hopkins, M. D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 5651-5653.
- 303. Cotton, F. A.; Wiesinger, K. J. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 2594-2599.
- 304. Cotton, F. A.; Wiesinger, K. J. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 750-754.
- 305. Yu, S.-B. Polyhedron 1992, 11, 2115-2117.
- 306. Cotton, F. A.; Czuchajowski, J.; Luck, R. L. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton Trans. 1991, 579-585.
- 307. Cotton, F. A.; Daniels, L. M.; Shang, M.; Yao, Z. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1994, 215, 103-107.
- 308. Cotton, F. A.; Wiesinger, K. J. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 920-925.
- 309. Chisholm, M. H.; McInnes, J. M. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton Trans. 1997, 2735-2743.
- 310. Cotton, F. A.; Dikarev, E. V.; Herrero, S. *Inorg. Chem.* **1999**, *38*, 490–495. 311. Cotton, F. A.; Eglin, J. L.; James, C. A. *Inorg. Chem.* **1993**, *32*, 681–686.
- 312. Cotton, F. A.; Falvello, L. R.; James, C. A.; Luck, R. L. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 4759-4763.
- 313. Cotton, F. A.; Eglin, J. L.; Hong, B.; James, C. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 4915-4917.
- 314. Cotton, F. A.; Eglin, J. L.; Hong, B.; James, C. A. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 2104-2106.
- 315. Cotton, F. A.; Nocera, D. G. Acc. Chem. Res. 2000, 33, 483-490.
- 316. Cotton, F. A.; Feng, X. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 1074-1078.
- 317. Xue, W.-M.; Kuhn, F. E.; Zhang, G.; Herdtweck, E.; Raudaschl-Sieber, G. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton Trans. 1999, 4103-4110.
- 318. Tseng, G. W.; Suen, M. C.; Chen, J. D.; Hwang, J. J.; Cheng-Yang, Y. W.; Keng, T. C.; Wang, J. C. J. Chin. Chem. Soc. 1999, 46, 545-550.
- 319. Arnold, D. I.; Cotton, F. A.; Kuhn, F. E. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 4733-4737.
- 320. Wu, Y.-Y.; Chen, J.-D.; Liou, L.-S.; Wang, J.-C. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1997, 258, 193-199.
- 321. Cotton, F. A.; Kuhn, F. E.; Yokochi, A. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1996, 252, 251-256.
- 322. Cotton, F. A.; Eglin, J.; Wiesinger, K. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1992, 195, 11-23.
- 323. Chen, J.-D.; Cotton, F. A. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 6-7.
- 324. Arnold, D. I.; Cotton, F. A.; Kuhn, F. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 5764-5769.
- 325. Cotton, F. A.; Falvello, L. R.; Root, D. R.; Smith, T. J.; Vidyasagar, K. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 1328-1333.
- 326. Chen, J.-D.; Cotton, F. A. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 1797-1802.
- 327. Chen, J.-D.; Cotton, F. A.; Falvello, L. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 1076-1082.
- 328. Chen, J.-D.; Cotton, F. A.; Decano, E. C. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1990, 176, 215-223.
- 329. Cotton, F. A.; Eglin, J. L.; James, C. A. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1993, 204, 175-179.
- 330. Chen, J.-D.; Cotton, F. A.; Hong, B. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 2343-2353.
- 331. Cotton, F. A.; Hong, B. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 2354-2359.
- 332. Lang, H. F.; Fanwick, P. E.; Walton, R. A. Inorg. Chim. Acta 2001, 322, 17-22.
- 333. Cotton, F. A.; Dunbar, K. R.; Hong, B.; James, C. A.; Matonic, J. H.; Thomas, J. L. C. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 5183-5187.
- 334. Cotton, F. A.; James, C. A. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 5298-5307.
- 335. Cotton, F. A.; Silva, D. de. O. Polyhedron 1996, 15, 4079-4085.
- 336. Chisholm, M. H.; Folting, K.; Putilina, E. F. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 1510-1513.
- 337. Cotton, F. A.; Zhong, B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 2256-2260.
- 338. Cotton, F. A.; Daniels, L. M.; Kibala, P.; Matusz, M.; Roth, W. J.; Schwotzer, W.; Wang, W.; Zhong, B. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1994, 215, 9-15.
- 339. Cotton, F. A.; Labella, L.; Shang, M. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1992, 197, 149-158.

- 340. Liwporncharoenvong, T.; Lu, T.; Luck, R. L. Inorg. Chim. Acta 2002, 329, 51-58.
- 341. Cotton, F. A.; Falvello, L. R.; Reid, A. H.; Roth, W. J. Acta Crystallogr. 1990, C46, 1815-1818.
- 342. Chisholm, M. H.; Huffman, J. C.; Iyer, S. S.; Lynn, M. A. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1996, 243, 283-293.
- 343. Cotton, F. A.; Silva, D. de. O. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1996, 249, 57-61.
- 344. Cayton, R. H.; Chacon, S. T.; Chisholm, M. H.; Folting, K. Polyhedron 1993, 12, 415-422.
- 345. Menezes, J. C.; Romao, C. C. Polyhedron 1990, 9, 1237-1239.
- 346. Hsu, T.-L. C.; Chang, I.-J.; Ward, D. L.; Nocera, D. G. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 2932-2937.
- 347. Cayton, R. H.; Chisholm, M. H.; Putilina, E. F.; Folting, K.; Huffman, J. C.; Moodley, K. G. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 2928-2934.
- 348. Chisholm, M. H.; Folting, K.; Huffman, J. C.; Putilina, E. F.; Streib, W. E.; Tatz, R. J. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 3771-3780.
- 349. Cotton, F. A.; Donahue, J. P.; Murillo, C. A. Inorg. Chem. Comm. 2002, 5, 59-63.
- 350. Cayton, R. H.; Chisholm, M. H.; Huffman, J. C.; Lobkovsky, E. B. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. Engl. 1991, 30, 862-864
- 351. Handa, M.; Matsumoto, H.; Namura, T.; Nagaoka, T.; Kasuga, K.; Mikufiya, M.; Kotera, T.; Nukadat, R. Chem. Lett. 1995, 903-904.
- 352. Xue, W.-M.; Kuhn, F. E.; Herdtweck, E.; Li, Q. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 213-221.
- 353. Chisholm, M. H. Acc. Chem. Res. 2000, 33, 53-61.
- 354. Bursten, B. E.; Chisholm, M. H.; Clark, R. J. H.; Firth, S.; Hadad, C. M.; MacIntosh, A. M.; Wilson, P. J.; Woodward, P. M.; Zaleski, J. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 3050-3063.
- 355. Chisholm, M. H.; Wilson, P. J.; Woodward, P. M. Chem. Comm. 2002, 566-567.
- 356. Chisholm, M. H. J. Organomet. Chem. 2002, 641, 15-25.
- 357. Cotton, F. A.; Lin, C.; Murillo, C. A. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton Trans. 1998, 3151-3153.
- 358. Ackermann, H.; Weller, F.; Stief, R.; Kehnicke, K. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 2000, 626, 1496-1498.
- Campana, C.; Dunbar, K. R.; Ouyang, X. *Chem. Comm.* 1996, 2427–2428.
 Cotton, F. A.; Daniels, L. M.; Guimet, I.; Henning, R. W.; Jordan, G. T.; Lin, C.; Murillo, C. A.; Schultz, A. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 12531-12538.
- 361. Cotton, F. A.; Lin, C.; Murillo, C. A. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 472-477.
- 362. Cotton, F. A.; Lin, C.; Murillo, C. A. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 478–484. 363. Cotton, F. A.; Lin, C.; Murillo, C. A. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 575–577.
- 364. Cotton, F. A.; Daniels, L. M.; Jordan, G. T.; Lin, C.; Murillo, C. Inorg. Chem. Comm. 1998, 1, 109-110.
- 365. Cotton, F. A.; Daniels, L. M.; Lin, C.; Murillo, C. A. Chem. Comm. 1999, 841-842.
- 366. Clerac, R.; Cotton, F. A.; Dunbar, K. R.; Murillo, C. A.; Wang, X. P. *Inorg. Chem.* **2001**, *40*, 420–426. 367. Cotton, F. A.; Daniels, L. M.; Jordan, G. T.; Lin, C.; Murillo, C. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1998**, *120*, 3398–3401.
- 368. Handa, M.; Yamada, K.; Nakao, T.; Kasuga, K.; Mikuriya, M.; Koter, T. Chem. Lettters, 1993, 1969–1972.
- 369. Mashima, K.; Nakano, H.; Mori, T.; Takaya, H.; Nakamura, A. Chem. Letters, 1992, 185-188.
- 370. Handa, M.; Matsumoto, H.; Yoshioka, D.; Nukada, R.; Mikuriya, M.; Hiromitsu, I.; Kasuga, K. Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan, 1998, 71, 1811–1816.
- 371. Acho, J. A.; Ren, T.; Yun, J. W.; Lippard, S. J. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 5226-5233.
- 372. Acho, J. A.; Lippard, S. J. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1995, 229, 5-8.
- 373. vanOort, A. B.; Budzelaar, P. H. M.; Frijns, J. H. G.; Orpen, A. G. J. Organomet. Chem. 1990, 396, 33-47.
- 374. Davies, J. E.; Mays, M. J.; Raithby, P. R.; Woods, A. D. Chem. Comm. 1999, 2455-2456.
- 375. Bitterwolf, T. E.; Saygh, A.; Shade, J. E.; Rheingold, A. L.; Yap, G. P. A.; Liable-Sands, L. J. Organomet. Chem. **1998**, *562*, 89–96.
- 376. Bryan, J. C.; Wheeler, D. R.; Clark, D. L.; Huffman, J. C.; Sattelberger, A. P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 3184-3186.
- 377. Chisholm, M. H.; Huffman, J. C.; Lucas, E. A.; Sousa, A.; Streib, W. E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 2710-2712.
- 378. Chisholm, M. H.; Folting, K.; Glasgow, K. C.; Lucas, E.; Streib, W. E. Organometallics 2000, 19, 884-892.
- 379. Chisholm, M. H.; Lucas, E. A.; Sousa, A. C.; Huffman, J. C.; Folting, K.; Lobkovsky, E. B.; Streib, W. E. J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Comm. 1991, 847-849.
- 380. Barry, J. T.; Chacon, S. T.; Chisholm, M. H.; Huffman, J. C.; Streib, W. E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 1974–1990. 381. Chacon, S. T.; Chisholm, M. H.; Cook, C. M.; Hampden-Smith, M. J.; Streib, W. E. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. Engl. 1992, 31, 462-464.
- 382. Chisholm, M. H.; Huffman, J. C.; Lucas, E. A.; Lubkovsky, E. B. Organometallics 1991, 10, 3424-3425.
- 383. Chacon, S. T.; Chisholm, M. H.; Folting, K.; Huffman, J. C.; Hampden-Smith, M. J. Organometallics 1991, 10, 3722-3735.
- 384. Chacon, S. T.; Chisholm, M. H.; Eisenstein, O.; Huffman, J. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 8497-8509.
- 385. Chisholm, M. H.; Cook, C. M.; Huffman, J. C.; Streib, W. E. Organometallics 1993, 12, 2677-2685.
- 386. Chisholm, M. H.; Jansen, R.-M.; Huffman, J. C. Organometallics 1992, 11, 2305–2307.
- 387. Chisholm, M. H.; Folting, K.; Klang, J. A. Organometallics 1990, 9, 602-606.
- 388. Chisholm, M. H.; Haubrich, S. T.; Martin, J. D.; Streib, W. E. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton Trans. 1994, 683-684.
- 389. Bollinger, J. C.; Chisholm, M. H.; Click, D. R.; Folting, K.; Hadad, C. M.; Tiedtke, D. B.; Wilson, P. J. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton Trans. 2001, 2074-2082.
- 390. Holmes, S. A.; Schafer, D. F.; Wolczanski, P. T.; Lobkovsky, E. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 10571-10583.
- 391. Hitchcock, P. B.; Lappert, M. F.; McGeary, M. J. Organometallics 1990, 9, 2645-2646.
- 392. Fedin, V. P.; Mironov, Y. V.; Virovets, A. V.; Podberezskaya, N. V.; Fedorov, V. Y. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1990, 171, 199 - 203
- 393. Zhang, Q.-F.; Lau, K.-K.; Wong, W.-Y.; Leung, W.-H. Inorg. Chim. Acta 2001, 325, 125-129.
- 394. Feng, Z.; Ferrer, M.; Green, M. L. H.; Mountford, P.; Mtetwa, V. S. B.; Prout, K. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton Trans. 1991, 1397-1406.
- 395. Feng, Q.; Ferrer, M.; Green, M. L. H.; McGowan, P. C.; Mountford, P.; Mtetwa, V. S. B. J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Comm. 1991, 552-554.
- 396. Garcia, M. E.; Riera, V.; Rueda, M. T.; Ruiz, M. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 1960-1961.

- 397. Bruce, G. C.; Mullica, D. F.; Sappenfield, E. L.; Stone, F. G. A. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton Trans. 1992, 2685-2692.
- 398. Brew, S. A.; Stone, G. A. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton Trans. 1992, 867-875.
- 399. Brew, S. A.; Carr, N.; Mortimer, M. D.; Stone, F. G. A. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton Trans. 1991, 811-822.
- 400. Carr, N.; Mullica, D. F.; Sappenfield, E. L.; Stone, F. G. A. Organometallics 1993, 12, 1131-1139.
- 401. Barry, J. T.; Bollinger, J. C.; Chisholm, M. H.; Glasgow, K. C.; Huffman, J. C.; Lucas, E. A.; Lubkovsky, E. B.; Streib, W. E. Organometallics 1999, 18, 2300-2308.
- 402. Cayton, R. H.; Chacon, S. T.; Chisholm, M. H.; Folting, K.; Moodley, K. G. Organometallics 1996, 15, 992-997.
- 403. Chisholm, M. H.; Cook, C. M.; Folting, K.; Streib, W. E. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1992, 198-200, 63-77.
- 404. Budzichowski, T. A.; Chisholm, M. H.; Streib, W. E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 389-390.
- 405. Chisholm, M. H.; Huang, J.-H.; Huffman, J. C.; Parkin, I. P. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 1642–1651.
- 406. Chacon, S. T.; Chisholm, M. H.; Folting, F.; Hampden-Smith, M. J.; Huffman, J. C. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 3122-3125.
- 407. Feng, Q.; Green, M. L. H.; Mountford, P. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton Trans. 1992, 2171-2181.
- 408. Green, M. L. H.; Mountford, P. Organometallics 1990, 9, 886-888.
- 409. Green, M. L. H.; McGowan, P. C.; Mountford, P. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton Trans. 1995, 1207-1214.
- 410. Acum, G. A.; Mays, M. J.; Raithby, P. R.; Solan, G. A. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton Trans. 1995, 3049-3056.
- 411. Acum, G. A.; Mays, M. J.; Raithby, P. R.; Solan, G. A. J. Organomet. Chem. 1995, 492, 65–72.
 412. Alvarez, M. A.; Bois, C.; Garcia, M. E.; Riera, V.; Ruiz, M. A. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. Engl. 1996, 35, 102–104.
- 413. Alvarez, M. A.; Garcia, M. E.; Riera, V.; Ruiz, M. A. Organometallics **1999**, *18*, 634–641. 414. Alvarez, M. A.; Garcia, M. E.; Riera, V.; Ruiz, M. A.; Robert, F. Organometallics **2002**, *21*, 1177–1183.
- 415. Carlson-Day, K. M.; Eglin, J. L.; Smith, L. T.; Staples, R. J. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 2216–2220. 416. Carlson-Day, K. M.; Eglin, J. L.; Valente, E. J.; Zubkowski, J. D. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1999, 284, 300–303.
- 417. Concolino, T. E.; Eglin, J. L.; Valente, E. J.; Zubkowski, J. D. Polyhedron 1997, 16, 4137-4141.
- 418. Carlson-Day, K. M.; Concolino, T. E.; Eglin, J. L.; Lin, C.; Ren, T.; Valente, E. J.; Zubkowski, J. D. Polyhedron 1996, 15, 4469-4478.
- 419. Carlson-Day, K. M.; Eglin, J. L.; Valente, E. J.; Zubkowski, J. D. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1996, 244, 151-154.
- 420. Eglin, J. L.; Hines, E. M.; Valente, E. J.; Zubkowski, J. D. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1995, 229, 113-119.
- 421. Cotton, F. A.; Mandal, S. K. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 1267-1274.
- 422. Barry, J. T.; Chacon, S. T.; Chisholm, M. H.; DiStasi, V. F.; Huffman, J. C.; Streib, W. E.; VanDerSluys, W. G. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 2322-2331.
- 423. Boorman, P. M.; Gao, X.; Freeman, G. K. W.; Fait, J. F. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton Trans. 1991, 115-120.
- 424. Boorman, P. M.; Langdon, N. L.; Mozol, V. J.; Parvez, M. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 6023-6029.
- 425. Boorman, P. M.; Gao, X.; Parvez, M. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton Trans. 1992, 25-31
- 426. Boorman, P. M.; Gao, X.; Fait, J. F.; Parvez, M. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 3886-3893.
- 427. Chisholm, M. H.; Heppert, J. A. Adv. Organomet. Chem. 1986, 26, 97-124.
- 428. Gilbert, T. M.; Bauer, C. B.; Rogers, R. D. Polyhedron 1999, 18, 1303-1310.
- 429. Cayton, R. H.; Chisholm, M. H.; Hampdensmith, M. J.; Huffman, J. C.; Moodley, K. G. Polyhedron 1992, 11, 3197-3210.
- 430. Budzichowski, T. A.; Chisholm, M. H.; Tiedtke, D. B.; Gruhn, N. E.; Lichtenberger, D. L. Polyhedron 1998, 17, 705-711.
- 431. Chisholm, M. H.; Kramer, K. S.; Martin, J. D.; Huffman, J. C.; Lobkovsky, E. B.; Strieb, W. E. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 4469-4474.
- 432. Budzichowski, T. A.; Chisholm, M. H.; Folting, K.; Fromhold, M. G.; Streib, W. E. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1995, 235, 339-347.
- 433. Chisholm, M. H.; Folting, K.; Streib, W. E.; Wu, D.-D. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 5219-5229.
- 434. Dietz, S. D.; Eilerts, N. W.; Heppert, J. A.; Velde, D. V. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 1689-1697.
- 435. Chisholm, M. H.; Parkin, I. P.; Folting, K.; Lobkovsky, E. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 1636-1641.
- 436. Chisholm, M. H.; Davidson, E. R.; Huffman, J. C.; Quinlan, K. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 9652-9664.
- 437. Chisholm, M. H.; Haubrich, S. T.; Huffman, J. C.; Streib, W. E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 1634-1647.
- 438. Chisholm, M. H.; Folting, K.; Huffman, J. C.; Lucas, E. A. Organometallics 1991, 10, 535-537.
- 439. Budzichowski, T. A.; Chisholm, M. H.; Folting, K.; Huffman, J. C.; Streib, W. E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 7428-7440.
- 440. Parkin, I. P.; Folting, K. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton Trans. 1992, 2343-2352.
- 441. Chisholm, M. H.; Cook, C. M.; Huffman, J. C.; Streib, W. E. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton Trans. 1991, 929–937. 442. Chisholm, M. H.; Parkin, I. P.; Huffman, J. C. Polyhedron 1991, 10, 1215–1219.
- 443. Buhro, W. E.; Chisholm, M. H.; Folting, K.; Huffman, J. C.; Martin, J. D.; Streib, W. E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 557-570.
- 444. Budzichowski, T. A.; Chisholm, M. H.; Folting, K.; Huffman, J. C.; Streib, W. E.; Tiedtke, D. B. Polyhedron 1998, 17, 857-867.
- 445. Budzichowski, T. A.; Chisholm, M. H.; Tiedtke, D. B.; Huffman, J. C.; Streib, W. E. Organometallics 1995, 14, 2318-2324.
- 446. Blau, R. J.; Chisholm, M. H.; Eichhorn, B. W.; Huffman, J. C.; Kramer, K. S.; Lobkovsky, E. B.; Streib, W. E. Organometallics 1995, 14, 1855-1869.
- 447. Cotton, F. A.; Dikarev, E. V.; Wong, W.-Y. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 3268-3276.
- 448. Cotton, F. A.; Dikarev, E. V.; Wong, W.-Y. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 2670-2677.
- 449. Cotton, F. A.; Dikarev, E. V.; Nawar, N.; Wong, W.-Y. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 559-566.
- 450. Cotton, F. A.; Dikarev, E. V.; Nawar, N.; Wong, W.-Y. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1997, 262, 21-32.
- 451. Cotton, F. A.; Dikarev, E. V.; Wong, W.-Y. *Inorg. Chem.* **1997**, *36*, 902–912. 452. Cotton, F. A.; Dikarev, E. V.; Wong, W.-Y. *Inorg. Chem.* **1997**, *36*, 80–85.
- 453. Clerac, R.; Cotton, F. A.; Daniels, L. M.; Donahue, J. P.; Murillo, C. A.; Timmons, D. J. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 2581-2584.
- 454. Chisholm, M. H.; Folting, K.; Kramer, K. S.; Streib, W. E. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 1549–1554.
- 455. Mays, M. J.; Reinisch, P. F.; Solan, G. A.; McPartlin, M.; Powell, H. R. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton Trans. 1995, 1597-1606.

- 456. Alvarez, M. A.; Garcia, M. E.; Riera, V.; Ruiz, M. A.; Bois, C.; Jeannin, Y. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. Engl. 1993, 32, 1156–1157.
- 457. Alvarez, M. A.; Garcia, M. E.; Riera, V.; Ruiz, M. A.; Falvello, L. R.; Bois, C. Organometallics 1997, 16, 354-364.
- 458. Shaver, A.; Lum, B. S.; Bird, P.; Livingstone, E.; Schweitzer, M. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 1832–1835.
- 459. Stoner, T. C.; Geib, S. J.; Hopkins, M. D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 4201-4204.
- 460. Byrnes, M. J.; Chisholm, M. H.; Gallucci, J.; Wilson, P. J. Organometallics 2002, 21, 2240-2247.
- 461. Eglin, J. L.; Smith, L. T.; Staples, R. J.; Valente, E. J.; Zubkowski, J. D. J. Organomet. Chem. 2000, 596, 136-143.
- 462. Carlson-Day, K. M.; Eglin, J. L.; Lin, C.; Ren, T.; Valente, E. J.; Zubkowski, J. D. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 4727-4732.
- 463. Mountford, P.; Williams, J. A. G. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton Trans, 1993, 877-883.
- 464. Cotton, F. A.; Jennings, J. G.; Price, A. C.; Vidyasagar, K. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 4138-4143.
- 465. Eglin, J. L.; Valente, E. J.; Winfield, K. R.; Zubkowski, J. D. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1996, 245, 81-85.
- 466. Cotton, F. A.; Dikarev, E. V.; Gu, J. D.; Herrero, S.; Modec, B. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 5407-5411.
- 467. Cotton, F. A.; Dikarev, E. V.; Herrero, S. Inorg. Chem. Comm. 1999, 2, 98-100.
- 468. Cotton, F. A.; Falvello, L. R.; Wang, W. N. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1997, 261, 77-81.
- 469. Alvarez, M. A.; Alvarez, C.; Garcia, M. E.; Riera, V.; Ruiz, M. A.; Bois, C. Organometallics 1997, 16, 2581–2589.

© 2003, Elsevier Ltd. All Rights Reserved No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in any retrieval system or transmitted in any form or by any means electronic, electrostatic, magnetic tape, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise, without permission in writing from the publishers

4.10 Polyoxo Anions: Synthesis and Structure

M. T. POPE Georgetown University, Washington, DC, USA

4.10.1 INTRODUCTION	636
4.10.1.1 Definitions and Scope	636
4.10.2 ISOPOLYANIONS	636
4.10.2.1 Vanadates(V)	636
4.10.2.1.1 Aqueous solution species	636
4.10.2.1.2 Non-aqueous polyvanadates(V)	638
4.10.2.2 Niobates(V) and Tantalates(V)	638
4.10.2.3 Molybdates(VI)	638
4.10.2.3.1 Aqueous-solution species	638
4.10.2.3.2 Non-aqueous isopolymolybdates	640
4.10.2.4 Tungstates(VI)	641
4.10.2.5 Mixed-metal Isopolyanions	641
4.10.2.5.1 Molybdovanadates	641
4.10.2.5.2 Tungstovanadates	642
4.10.2.5.3 Molybdotungstovanadates	642
4.10.2.5.4 Niobotungstates	642
4.10.2.5.5 Molybdotungstates	642
4.10.2.6 Reduced and Mixed-valence Isopolyanions	642
4.10.2.6.1 Vanadates	642
4.10.2.6.2 Molybdates and tungstates	643
4.10.3 HETEROPOLYANIONS	643
4.10.3.1 Keggin and Related Plenary Structures	643
4.10.3.1.1 Keggin isomers	644
4.10.3.1.2 Capped Keggin anions	645
4.10.3.1.3 Mixed-addenda Keggin anions	646
4.10.3.1.4 Keggin anions with inversion disorder	647
4.10.3.2 Wells–Dawson and Related Plenary Structures	647
4.10.3.2.1 Isomers	647
4.10.3.2.2 Mixed-addenda Dawson Anions	648
4.10.3.2.3 Semi-vacant Wells–Dawson anions	648
4.10.3.3 The "Preyssler" Anion	649
4.10.3.4 Lacunary Forms of Keggin and Wells–Dawson Anions	649
4.10.3.5 Sandwich-type Structures Based on Trivacant Lacunary Anions	651
4.10.3.3.1 Derivatives of $A_{-}[XW_{9}O_{34}]^{n}$	651
4.10.3.3.2 Derivatives of B- $[XW_9O_{34}]^{"}$ and $[X_2W_{15}O_{56}]^{"}$	651
4.10.3.3.3 Derivatives of $B - \alpha - [XW_9O_{33}]^n$	653
4.10.3.5.4 Derivatives of B- β -[XW ₉ O ₃₃] ⁻	654
4.10.3.6 Augmented Versions of $B-\alpha$ -[XW ₉ O ₃₃] :XW ₁₈ Anions	655
4.10.3.7 Other Heteropolyanions with Tetrahedrally-coordinated Heteroatoms	656
4.10.3.7.1 Tungstophosphates	656
4.10.3.7.2 Anions with diphosphate helero groups	656
4.10.5.7.5 $[AS^{-1}_{2}Mo_{12}U_{42}]^{\vee}$ and related anions	656
4.10.3.8 Anderson and related (small) polyoxometalates	657
4.10.3.9 Lanthaniae and Actinide Heteroatoms	659
4 IU 4 IU PEROXO FIIIORO AND INIO DERIVATIVES	639

4.10.4	REDUCTION: HETEROPOLY BLUES AND BROWNS	663
4.10.5	COMPOSITE AND MESOSCOPIC POLYOXOMETALATES	667
4.10.6	ORGANOMETALLIC AND FUNCTIONALIZED DERIVATIVES	670
4.10.7	REFERENCES	671

4.10.1 INTRODUCTION

4.10.1.1 Definitions and Scope

The explosion of activity and subsequent literature in the polyoxometalate field during the past two decades may reflect the increasing access to reliable methods of characterization in solution (multinuclear NMR) and the solid state (X-ray diffraction), but is certainly stimulated by the realization that there are few fields of science to which these complexes do not have important applications. One result of this expansion has been the necessity to devote two chapters to the chemistry of polyoxometalates—one focusing on structure and one on reactivity—instead of the single chapter in the original *Comprehensive Coordination Chemistry* (*CCC*, 1987).

Polyoxometalates encompass complexes known historically as heteropoly- and isopolyanions (or acids). Other labels, e.g., heteropoly electrolytes, metal–oxygen cluster anions, have also been applied from time to time. The present chapter will discuss only those complexes containing V, Nb, Ta, Mo, and/or W as the major component (the addenda atoms). The relatively small number of polyoxochromates is excluded, since Cr^{VI} is restricted to tetrahedral four-coordination by oxide, and these complexes are if anything more closely related to the nonmetal polyoxoanions like sulfates.

To a large extent the discussion will be limited to those complexes that have a discernible solution chemistry (e.g., by spectroscopy). The boundary between metal-oxide lattices and solid-state materials incorporating known and new polyoxometalate structures is becoming less and less well defined. Although this is an interesting and important area, with many potential applications, it is beyond the scope of the present endeavor.

Since the publication of *CCC* (1987), various aspects of the chemistry of polyoxometalates have been reviewed or assembled in symposia proceedings; see Table 1. Within the same time period, three volumes of *Inorganic Syntheses* have included sections on polyoxometalates (**1985**, *25*, 186–191; **1990**, *27*, 71–135; **1997**, *31*, 167–201).

4.10.2 ISOPOLYANIONS

4.10.2.1 Vanadates(V)

4.10.2.1.1 Aqueous solution species

Aqueous vanadate(V) solutions contain anions with structures based on both four- and sixcoordinate vanadium centers. After decades of investigations, the speciation in such solutions has finally been established by a combination of precise EMF measurements and NMR spectroscopy (⁵¹V and ¹⁷O).¹⁻⁴ Changes in ionic medium (0.6 M Na(Cl) vs. 3.0 M Na(ClO₄)) have relatively minor effects upon the distribution of species, as shown by the predominance diagrams in Figure 1. In weakly acidic solution (pH < 6) the orange decavanadate anions, $[H_x V_{10}O_{28}]^{(6-x)-}$ (x=0-3) are the major species. The decavanadate anion's D_{2d} arrangement of ten edge-shared VO₆ octahedra has been identified in dozens of X-ray structural investigations since 1966. The protonation sites of the anion can be detected by ¹⁷O NMR, and correspond to bridging oxygen atoms.^{5,6} Slowly established equilibria connect the decavanadates to the metavanadate domain (pH ~ 6-8). NMR evidence points to the presence of cyclic $[V_4O_{12}]^{4-}$ and $[V_5O_{15}]^{5-}$ in such solutions, and the exchange rates between these species and $[V_2O_7]^{4-}$ and $[VO_4]^{3-}$ have been probed by ⁵¹V EXSY.⁷ Attempts to crystallize metavanadates from aqueous solution lead to polymeric structures (chains of linked VO₄ or VO₅ polyhedra). Salts of the cyclic tetravanadate have been isolated only from nonaqueous media.

 Table 1
 Recent general references on polyoxometalates.

Year	Title	Citation
1987	Oxomolybdenum(VI) species in aqueous solution	Tytko, K. H. <i>Gmelin Handbook of Inorganic Chemistry</i> , 8th ed., Molybdenum Suppl. B, 3a, 67–358.
1989	Reactions of oxomolybdenum(VI) species in aqueous solution	Tytko, K. H. <i>Gmelin Handbook of Inorganic</i> <i>Chemistry</i> , 8th.ed., Molybdenum Suppl. B, 3b, 1–207.
1989	Oxomolybdenum(VI) species in nonaqueous (organic) solvents	Tytko, K. H. <i>Gmelin Handbook of Inorganic</i> <i>Chemistry</i> , 8th.ed., Molybdenum Suppl. B, 3b, 209–266
1991	Polyoxometalate chemistry: an old field with new dimensions in several disciplines	Pope, M. T.; Müller, A. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl., 30, 34–48.
1991	Molybdenum oxygen chemistry: oxides, oxocomplexes, and polyoxoanions	Pope, M. T. Prog. Inorg. Chem. 30, 181-257.
1992	Zeolite, Clay, and Heteropoly Acid in Organic Reactions	Izumi, Y.; Urabe, K.; Onaka, M., VCH: Weinheim, Germany, pp 1–106.
1994	Polyoxometalates: From Platonic Solids to Anti-retroviral Activity	Pope, M. T.; Müller, A., Eds. Kluwer Academic, Dordrecht, Netherlands, pp 1–411.
1994	Polyoxoanions	Pope, M. T. In <i>Encyclopedia of Inorganic</i> <i>Chemistry</i> , King R. B., Ed.; Wiley, Chichester, UK; pp 3361–71.
1996 1996	Polyoxometalates in catalysis Catalytic chemistry of heteropoly compounds	Hill, C. L., Ed. J. Mol. Catal., 114, 1–371. Okuhara, T.; Mizuno, N.; Misono, M. Adv. Catal. 41, 113–252.
1998	Polyoxometalate complexes in organic oxidation chemistry	Neumann, R. Prog. Inorg. Chem. 47, 317-370.
1998	Polyoxometalates	Hill, C. L., Ed. Chem. Rev. 98, 1-387.
1999	Bond length-bond valence relationships, with particular reference to polyoxometalate chemistry	Tytko, K. H.; Mehmke, J.; Kurad, D. Struct. Bonding (Berlin) 93, 1–66.
1999	A bond model for polyoxometalate ions composed of MO_6 octahedra (MO_k polyhedra with $k > 4$)	Tytko, K. H. Struct. Bonding (Berlim) 93, 67-127.
1999	Bonding and charge distribution in isopolyoxometalate ions and relevant oxides – a bond valence approach	Tytko, K. H.; Mehmke, J.; Fischer, S. Struct. Bonding (Berlin) 93, 129–321.
2000	Acid catalysts for clean production. Green aspects of heteropolyacid catalysts	Misono, M. C. R. Acad. Sci., Ser. IIc: Chim. 3, 471–475.
2001	Unique acid catalysis of heteropoly compounds	Misono, M. Chem. Commun. 1141–1152.
2001	Metal-Oxygen Clusters. The Surface and Catalytic Properties of Heteropoly Oxometalates	Moffat, J. B. Kluwer Academic: Dordrecht, Netherlands; pp 1–320.
2001	Polyoxometalate Chemistry : from Topology via Self-assembly to Applications	Pope, M. T., Müller, A., Eds. Kluwer Academic: Dordrecht, Netherlands; pp 1–467.
2002	Polyoxometalate Chemistry for Nano- composite Design	Yamase, T., Pope, M. T., Eds. Kluwer Academic/Plenum Publishers, pp 1–235.

Two metastable aqueous polyvanadates have been identified. Acidification of neutral vanadate solutions yields a solution with the expected V and O NMR spectra of the decavanadate anion and with additional resonances (two V, 1:12; three O, 1:1:1) that decay with a half-life of 80 min at 25 °C. The spectra are consistent with either a protonated α -Keggin anion or its ε -isomer, $[H_{12}V_{13}O_{40}]^{3-}$.^{8,9} Reaction of VO²⁺ with 50% H₂O₂ and subsequent treatment with tetramethyl-ammonium ion leads to black (NMe₄)₃H₆[V₁₅O₄₂] in 36% yield. The anion has a *trans* bicapped Keggin structure analogous to that of $[PV_{14}O_{42}]^{9-}$ (see below) and has the expected four-line ⁵¹V NMR spectrum (1:2:8:4). At pH 3.5, solutions of the anion are stable for a week at room temperature, and exhibit an initial reduction potential of 0.23 V vs. Ag/AgCl. Acidification leads irreversibly to VO₂⁺.¹⁰



Figure 1 Predominance diagrams for aqueous polyvanadate species (reproduced by permission of Kluwer Academic Press from Pettersson, L. *Mol. Eng.* 1993, *3*, 29–42).

4.10.2.1.2 Non-aqueous polyvanadates(V)

Tetrabutylammonium salts of the decavanadate anion are sources of new organic-solvent-soluble polyvanadates. Neutralization of $(Bu_4N)_3H_3[V_{10}O_{28}]$ in acetonitrile yields $[V_5O_{14}]^{3-}$, with a structure based on a trigonal-bipyramidal arrangement of VO₄ tetrahedra (Figure 2a).¹¹ The bowl-shaped anion, $[V_{12}O_{32}]^{4-}$, incorporating a guest acetonitrile molecule (Figure 2b), resulted from refluxing a solution of $(Bu_4N)_4H_2[V_{10}O_{28}]$ in that solvent.¹² The selectivity of this inorganic cavitand for other nitriles has been investigated.¹³ Prolonged reflux of $(Bu_4N)_3H_3[V_{10}O_{28}]$ in acetone leads to the highly condensed anion $[V_{13}O_{34}]^{3-}$, with a structure of nominal $C_{3\nu}$ symmetry based on 13 edge-shared VO₆ octahedra (Figure 2c). The anion undergoes a quasi-reversible, one-electron reduction at +0.228 V vs. ferrocinium/ferrocene.⁹ The V₁₂ and V₁₃ anions have also been prepared from controlled hydrolyses of VO(OMe)₃.¹⁴ In the presence of [Pd(1,5-COD)Cl₂] in acetonitrile solution, the same decavanadate salt yields a mixed-valence V₁₇ anion (Section 4.10.2.6.1) in high yield.¹⁵

4.10.2.2 Niobates(V) and Tantalates(V)

The aqueous solution chemistry of pentavalent niobium and tantalum, which is limited to highly basic media, is dominated by the hexametalate anions, $[Nb_6O_{19}]^{8-}$ and $[Ta_6O_{19}]^{8-}$, first identified by Lindqvist. A more recent X-ray investigation identifies protonation sites in $[H_2Nb_6O_{19}]^{6-}$.¹⁶ The decaniobate anion, $[Nb_{10}O_{28}]^{6-}$, isostructural with decavanadate, was adventitiously obtained by a nonaqueous route, and has recently been confirmed. Although all known heteropoly niobates (see below) contain the hexaniobate structure as a component, it is possible that other structural types might be accessible under appropriate conditions. Limited numbers of niobium atoms have been incorporated into polytungstate structures; these species are discussed in Sections 4.10.2.5 and 4.10.6.

4.10.2.3 Molybdates(VI)

4.10.2.3.1 Aqueous-solution species

Based on precise EMF measurements and analysis of ¹⁷O and ⁹⁵Mo NMR spectra, the speciation in alkali-metal molybdate solutions is dependent upon the ionic medium.^{17–20} Distribution diagrams for 0.6 M Na(Cl) and 3.0 M Na(ClO₄) are shown in Figure 3.²¹ The predominant species are the heptamolybdates, $H_xMo_7O_{24}^{(6-x)-}$ (x = 1-3). The octamolybdates, $Mo_8O_{26}^{4-}$ and $HMo_8O_{26}^{3-}$, are detected in 0.6 M Na(ClO₄), but not in 0.3 M Na₂(SO₄).²² The equilibrium



Figure 2 (a) [V₅O₁₄]³⁻; (b) [V₁₂O₃₂]⁴⁻ (showing included acetonitrile molecule); (c) [V₁₃O₃₄]³⁻ (reprinted with permission from (a) Day, V. W.; Klemperer, W. G.; Yaghi, O. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989, 111, 4518–4519; (b) Day, V. W.; Klemperer, W. G.; Yaghi, O. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989, 111, 5959–5961; (c) Hou, D.; Hagen, K. S.; Hill, C. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 5864–5866. © 1989, 1992 American Chemical Society).



Figure 3 Distribution diagrams of polymolybdate species in two different ionic media (reproduced by permission of Kluwer Academic Press from Pettersson, L. *Mol. Eng.* 1993, *3*, 29–42).

$Mo_8O_{26}{}^{4-}$ isomer	Cation	Anion structure	References
α	n-Bu ₄ N ⁺	$2 \{MoO_4\} + 6 \{MoO_6\}$	492
β	NH_4^+	$8 \{MoO_6\}$	493
γ	$[Me_3NCH_2CH_2NMe_3]^{2+}$	$2 \{MoO_5\} + 6 \{MoO_6\}$	24
$\dot{\delta}$	$[(RhCp^*)_2(\mu_2SCH_3)_3]^+$	$4 \{MoO_4\} + 4 \{MoO_6\}$	494
ε	$\{[Ni(H_2O)_2(4,4'bpy)_2]^{2+}\}$	$6 \{MoO_5\} + 2 \{MoO_6\}$	495
ξ	$[(Ni(phen)_2)_2Mo_8O_{26}]$	$4 \{MoO_5\} + 4 \{MoO_6\}$	496

Table 2Examples of octamolybdate salts.

species present in more acidic solutions (pH < 2) cannot be reliably identified, although salts of $[Mo_{36}O_{110}(H_2O)_{16}]^{8-}$ (see below) have been isolated from such solutions.

In spite of its rarity as an equilibrium species in aqueous media, many salts of the octamolybdate anion have been crystallized. Six different structural forms of the anion have been characterized (Table 2). These differ in the linkage and types of MoO_n coordination polyhedra. In 1976 Klemperer and Shum had proposed a nondissociative process for the interconversion of the α - and β -isomers.²³ An intermediate in this mechanism was a γ -structure, which was later isolated by Cruywagen and co-workers.²⁴ Other potential intermediates, the so-called α - γ and β - γ structures, are closely related to the observed δ -structure. The final structures listed in Table 2, ε and ξ , have been isolated from hydrothermal processes and appear to be controlled by the coordination demands of the lattice or the countercations.

The large anion $[Mo_{36}O_{110}(H_2O)_{16}]^{8^-}$ has been structurally characterized in both potassium and sodium salts.^{25,26} The structure contains four pentagonal-bipyramidal Mo centers, and is loosely described as a centrosymmetric dimer of $\{Mo_{17}\}$ units linked by two *cis*-MoO₂ groups. The nitrosyl-containing anion $[Mo_{36}(NO)_4O_{108}(H_2O)_{16}]^{12^-}$ is isostructural with $\{(MoNO)^{3+}O_6\}$ in place of $\{(MoO)^{4+}O_6\}$.²⁷ Other nitrosyl polymolybdates are discussed in Section 4.10.3.8.

4.10.2.3.2 Non-aqueous isopolymolybdates

The vibrational spectra of the well-characterized hexamolybdate anion, $[Mo_6O_{19}]^{2-}$ of O_h point symmetry, and of the related species $[W_6O_{19}]^{2-}$ and $[Mo^VMo^{VI}{}_5O_{19}]^{3-}$, have been subjected to a normal coordinate analysis based on total isotopic substitution for the first case.^{28,29} Derivatization of the hexamolybdate anion is discussed in Section 4.10.6. The dimolybdate, $Mo_2O_7^{2-}$, as a tetrabutylammonium salt, continues to be a valuable and convenient synthon for new organicsolvent-soluble derivatives. The unstable and amorphous salt $(Bu_4N)_3 [Mo_5O_{17}H]$ was originally thought to have an anion structure isotypic with that of $[Me_2AsMo_4O_{15}H]^{2-}$. However the structurally characterized anion $[Mo_3O_8(OMe)(MoO_4)_2]^{3-}$ (Figure 4) has an IR spectrum that is almost identical with that of $[Mo_5O_{17}H]^{3-}$, suggesting structural similarity.³⁰



Figure 4 $[Mo_3O_8(OMe)(MoO_4)_2]^{3-}$ (reprinted with permission from Chen, Q.; Ma, L.; Liu, S.; Zubieta, J. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1989**, *111*, 5944–5946. © 1989 American Chemical Society).

4.10.2.4 Tungstates(VI)

Nuclear magnetic resonance studies^{31,32} of aqueous tungstate solutions confirm that above pH 6 the major polytungstate species are $[W_7O_{24}]^{6-}$ (paratungstate-A) and $[H_2W_{12}O_{42}]^{10-}$ (paratungstate-B) which have been isolated in numerous salts. Tungsten NMR chemical shifts are given in Table 3.

Below pH 5.5 equilibria are very slowly established and most polytungstate species, with the exception of the Keggin anion α -[(H₂)W₁₂O₄₀]⁶⁻ (metatungstate), are metastable. Acidification of paratungstate solutions leads to "pseudometatungstate(s)", which ultimately lead to the stable metatungstate anion. The composition of pseudometatungstate has been problematical. From solutions believed to contain this anion, the salt $K_6H_4W_{11}O_{38}$.11H₂O, with an anion of C_s symmetry, has been crystallized.³³ However, the W-NMR spectrum of similar solutions shows a species with 11 resonances of equal intensity, which has tentatively been assigned to $[H_7W_{11}O_{40}]^{7-}$, a lacunary version of paratungstate-B. This solution also shows a two-line NMR spectrum attributable to $[W_{10}O_{32}]^{4-}$, once known as tungstate-Y, a species that is stabilized in nonaqueous solvents, and which has a rich photochemistry.³⁴⁻⁴⁷ The NMR spectra (¹⁸³W, ¹⁷O, ¹H) also reveal the presence of minor amounts of β -[(H₂)W₁₂O₄₀]⁶⁻ (tungstate-X in the early literature) and α - and β -[(H)W₁₂O₄₀]⁷⁻ with single central protons. Recently, Himeno *et al.* have reported $[(H_4)W_{12}O_{40}]^{4-}$, believed on the basis of W- and H-NMR measurements to contain four central protons, and which was isolated as a tetra-*n*-propyl-ammonium salt from aqueous acetonitrile solutions.⁴⁸ Salts containing fragments of the heptatungstate structure, Na₅[H₃W₆O₂₂] and K₇[HW₅O₁₉], have been isolated from concentrated aqueous tungstate solutions, but there is no evidence to suggest that the anions are stable in solution. 49,50

In nonaqueous solutions, the hexa- and decatungstate anions are well characterized (Table 3). In an attempt to synthesize the currently unknown $[W_2O_7]^{2-}$ anion, e.g., by protonation of (Bu₄N)₂WO₄, Errington discovered a new polytungstate with a clean, five-line W-NMR spectrum, but was unable to obtain crystals for structure determination.⁵¹ A polytungstate formulated as $[H_6W_{18}O_{60}]^{6-}$ was isolated in small yield as a tetra-*n*-propylammonium salt from aqueous tungstate solutions at pH 4. In acetonitrile solution the anion exhibits reversible voltammetric behavior, and the W-NMR spectrum in propylene carbonate consists of three lines of equal intensity (Table 3).⁵²

4.10.2.5 Mixed-metal Isopolyanions

4.10.2.5.1 Molybdovanadates

The aqueous system $H^+-HVO_4^{2-}-MoO_4^{2-}$ has been investigated by EMF methods and NMR spectroscopy (⁵¹V, ⁹⁵Mo, ¹⁷O) in 0.6 M Na(Cl) at pH 1.4–7.^{53–55} A very large number of species is involved. The major anions detected are listed in Table 4. Several of these have been independently isolated as crystalline salts and structurally characterized. Other structural types of molybdovanadates have been crystallized from aqueous solutions, e.g., $[V_2Mo_6O_{26}]^{6-}$ (α -octamolybdate structure), $[V_5Mo_8O_{40}]^{7-}$ (*not* a Keggin structure), and $[V_8Mo_4O_{36}]^{8-56-58}$ The Keggin anions $[(V)Mo_{12}O_{40}]^{3-}$, $[(V)V_xMo_{12-x}O_{40}]^{(3+x)-}$ (x = 1-3) with a central V atom, have been prepared in nonaqueous solution and isolated as tetrabutylammonium salts. Their

electrochemical behavior has been briefly investigated.⁵⁹

Anion	$\delta(ppm. vs. external 2M Na_2WO_4)$	
$[WO_4]^{2-}$	-9.5	
$[W_7O_{24}]^{6-}$	+268 (1W), -106 (2W), -189 (4W)	
$[H_2W_{12}O_{42}]^{10-}$	-109 (2W), -114 (2W), -116 (4W), -147 4W)	
α -[(H ₂)W ₁₂ O ₄₀] ⁶⁻	-123	
$\beta - [(H_2)W_{12}O_{40}]^{6-}$	-112 (3W), -127 (6W), -136 (3W)	
α -[(H ₄)W ₁₂ O ₄₀] ⁴⁻	-92^{b}	
$[W_6O_{19}]^{2-}$	$+59^{\circ}$	
$[W_{10}O_{32}]^{4-}$	$-105 (2W), -118 (8W) \{-98, -105\}^{b}$	
$[H_6W_{18}O_{60}]^{6-}$	-111 (6W), -147 (6W), -161 (6W) ^d	

 Table 3 Tungsten-183 chemical shifts of some isopolytungstates.^a

^a in aqueous solution unless otherwise specified. ^b in acetonitrile. ^c in dimethylformamide. ^d in propylene carbonate.

Formula	$\delta(^{51}\mathrm{V})$	Structure type
$[MoV_9O_{28}]^{5-}$	-425-525 (2:2:2:1:1:1)	decavanadate
$cis - [Mo_2 V_8 O_{28}]^{4-}$	-424-525 (2:4:2)	decavanadate
$trans - [Mo_2 V_8 O_{28}]^{4-}$	-427-516 (2:4:2)	decavanadate
$[Mo_4V_5O_{27}]^{5-}$	-440.0-518.6 (1:1:1:1:1)	Figure 5
$cis - [Mo_4 V_2 O_{19}]^{4-}$	-498.0	Hexamolybdate
$[Mo_5VO_{19}]^{3-1}$	-506.4	Hexamolybdate
$[Mo_7VO_{26}]^{5-}$	-537.2	β -octamolybdate

Table 4Major molybdovanadate anions.



Figure 5 $[Mo_4V_5O_{27}]^{5-}$.

4.10.2.5.2 Tungstovanadates

The major confirmed and isolated species are the hexametalate $[V_x W_{6-x} O_{19}]^{(2+x)-}$ (x = 1–3) and Keggin anions $[(V)V_x W_{12-x} O_{40}]^{(3+x)-}$ (x = 1–4), and $[(H_2)W_{11}VO_{40}]^{7-}$. A ⁵¹V NMR investigation of vanadate–tungstate mixtures has revealed the existence of $[WV_9O_{28}]^{5-}$ as a significant component at pH 5, and of the second (*mer*) isomer of $[V_3 W_3 O_{19}]^{5-}$ at pH 6.5.⁶⁰

4.10.2.5.3 Molybdotungstovanadates

All nine possible anions/isomers of cis- $[V_2Mo_xW_{6-x}O_{19}]^{4-}$ have been detected in aqueous solution by ¹⁸³W-NMR spectroscopy.⁶¹

4.10.2.5.4 Niobotungstates

These are all hexametalates, $[Nb_xW_{6-x}O_{19}]^{(2+x)-}$ (x = 1-4). Derivatives of the anions with x = 1 and 2 are discussed in Section 4.10.9. A normal coordinate analysis of the vibrational spectra of $[NbW_5O_{19}]^{3-}$ and $[MoW_5O_{19}]^{2-}$ has been reported.⁶²

4.10.2.5.5 Molybdotungstates

By means of ¹⁸³W and ⁹⁵Mo NMR, it has been established that all possible mixtures of $[(Mo,W)_7O_{24}]^{6-}$ are formed, but that molybdenum substitution into paratungstate-B, $[H_2W_{12}O_{42}]^{10-}$, and metatungstate, α - $[(H_2)W_{12}O_{40}]^{6-}$, is limited to a single site in both cases.⁶³

4.10.2.6 Reduced and Mixed-valence Isopolyanions

4.10.2.6.1 Vanadates

A bewildering variety of reduced and mixed-valence polyvanadates has been reported (Table 5). Several of these can be viewed as clathrates that encapsulate a guest anion or water molecule within a hollow shell (entries 2, 4, 8, 10–14). Technically, some of the entries in Table 5 should be regarded as heteropolyanions, but it is more convenient to discuss them here, in view of their structural similarities. The guest anions in the clathrate structures have been regarded as templates that control the overall structure shape, and these structural data have been successfully used to generate force-field

_	Anion	X	V ^{IV} centers	References
1	$[V^{IV}_{2}V^{V}_{8}O_{26}]^{4-}$		2	64–66
2	$[V_{12}^{IV}O_{42}(H_2O)]^{12-}$		12	67
3	$[H_6V^{IV,V12}O_{30}F_2]^{6-}$		10	68
4	$[As^{III}_{8}V^{IV,V}_{12}O_{40}(HCO_2)]^{n-1}$		6, 8	69,70
5	$[KH_{3}As^{III}_{3}V^{IV,V}_{12}O_{39}(As^{V}O_{4})]^{6-}$		4	71,72
6	$[KH_6(CH_3PO_3)_3V_{12}^{VV}O_{27}(V^VO_4)]^{5-}$		9	73
7	$[As^{V}V_{2}^{V}V_{12}^{V}O_{40}]^{?-}$		2	74
8	$[H_4V^{IV,V}_{14}O_{26}(H_2O)_2]$		12	75
	$(C_6H_5PO_3)_8-\{2NH_4^+,2Cl^-\}]^{6-}$			
9	$[V_{17}^{10}V_{17}O_{42}]^{4-}$		5	15
10	$[A_{5}^{11}_{10}V^{1}_{15}O_{42}(H_2O)]^{6-}$		15	76
11	$[V_{WV}^{1V,V}]_{15}O_{36}(X)]^{n-}$	$Cl^{-}, Br^{-}, CO_{3}^{2-}$	6–12	66,77–80
12	$[V_{,18}^{1v,v}O_{42}(X)]^{n-}$	$Cl^{-}, Br^{-}, I^{-}, SO_{4}^{2-}, PO_{4}^{3-}, VO_{4}^{3-}$	12	77,81–84
13	$[V_{,18}^{1V,V}O_{44}(X)]^{n-}$	N_3^{-}, NO_3^{-}	9, 15	82,84
14	$[V_{WV22}^{1V,V}O_{54}(X)]^{n-}$	ClO_4^- , SCN^- , $CH_3CO_2^-$	8	68,82,85
15	$[V^{1V,V}_{34}O_{82}]^{10-}$		16	86

 Table 5
 Some reduced and mixed-valence polyvanadates.

parameters.⁸⁷ Most of these species listed in Table 5 were first isolated from aqueous solutions at ambient temperatures, but more recently photochemical and hydrothermal processes have been found to yield such anions. The V_{15} and V_{18} species (11–13) are often produced, but with variable numbers of V^{IV} centers. The magnetic properties of these substances have attracted much attention.^{70,72,88–92}

4.10.2.6.2 Molybdates and tungstates

The mixed-valence species (heteropoly blues and -browns) generated by reduction of stable polyoxomolybdates and -tungstates are discussed in Section 4.10.3.7.

Since about 1990, several reduced polymolybdates have been isolated from aqueous solution or via hydrothermal synthesis. Some of these (see Table 6) have structures based on six diamagnetic ${\rm \{Mo^V_2O_4\}^{2+}}$ units assembled into an ε -Keggin conformation (see Figure 6). Recently, a partially-reduced ε -PMo₁₂O₄₀ core has been identified in some lanthanum derivatives.⁹⁸ Even larger species, some with more than 350 metal centers and with dimensions in the multinanometer range, are accessible by similar processes. Discussion of these and other very large polyoxometalates is deferred to Section 4.10.3.8.

4.10.3 HETEROPOLYANIONS

4.10.3.1 Keggin and Related Plenary Structures

The Keggin-structure anions (α -XM₁₂O₄₀), particularly the tungsto- and molybdophosphates and -silicates, continue to be the most frequently investigated polyoxometalates, almost always for potential and realized catalytic applications.

	Formula	Mo^V centers	References
1	$[(H_2)Mo_{12}O_{28}(OH)_{12}(Mo^{VI}O_3)_4]^{6-}$	12	93
2	$[(H_2)Mo_{12}O_{30}(OH)_{10}[Ni(H_2O)_3]_4]$	12	94
3	$[H_{14}M_{037}O_{112}]^{14-}$	26	95
4	$[Na(H_2O)_3H_{13}Mo_{42}O_{109}{(OCH_2)_3C-CH_2OH_7]^9}$	38	96,97
5	$[H_{13}M_{043}O_{112}{OCH_2}_{3}CH_{3}_{7}]^{10-}$	36	96,97
6	$[PMo_{12}O_{36}(OH)_4 \{La(H_2O)_4\}_4]^{5+}$	8	98

Table 6 Some reduced polymolybdates incorporating the ε -Keggin Mo^V₁₂ core.



Figure 6 The Baker–Figgis isomers of the Keggin anion.

4.10.3.1.1 Keggin isomers

Polyhedral representations of the Keggin structure and its possible skeletal ("Baker–Figgis"⁹⁹) isomers are shown in Figure 6, and a list of confirmed species is given in Table 7.

Detailed vibrational (infrared and Raman) spectra of multiple salts of many of the anions listed in the Table have been reported and analyzed.^{107,108} As will be seen from Table 7, the α -isomer is the most common and presumably the thermodynamically stable form, at least for oxidized anions with all addenda (M) atoms identical. In the molybdate system, reduction of the α -anions results in spontaneous isomerization to the β -isomers, since the latter have more positive reduction potentials: see Section 4.10.3.7. Rates of isomerization in the tungstate system are exceedingly slow, so that β -isomers possess considerable kinetic stability. A recent density functional theory treatment¹⁰⁹ of Keggin tungstates with central P, As, Si, Ge, Al, and Ga concludes that the β -isomer becomes relatively more stable as the oxidation state of the central atom decreases; see Table 8.

Isomer	molybdates	tungstates
α	Ga, ^{100,101} Si, Ge, P ^V , As ^V , Sb ^V , V ¹⁰² S ^{V1} ^{103,104}	H ₂ *, Be, B, Al, Ga, Si, Ge, P ^V , As ^V , V, 105 Cr ³⁺ , Fe ³⁺ , Co ^{2+,3+} , Cu ^{1+,2+} , Zn
$egin{array}{c} eta \ \gamma \end{array}$	Si, Ge, P ^V , As ^V	H ₂ , Al, Ga(?), Si, Ge, P^{V100} Si

Table 7 Central heteroatoms, X, in Keggin and isomeric anions, $[XM_{12}O_{40}]^{n-1}$.

*See Section 4.10.2.4 for metastable Keggin anions with one and four central protons.

Table 8 Computed relative stabilities (eV) of α - and β -isomers of oxidized Keggin anions.^a

Central atom	$\Delta E(\beta - \alpha) Mo$	$\Delta E(\beta - \alpha) W$
Р	+0.21	+0.28
Si	+0.14	+0.26
Al	$+0.08^{\mathrm{b}}$	-0.35
As	+0.11	+0.16
Ge	+0.01	+0.21
Ga	-0.02	-0.19

^a Lopez, X.; Maestre, J. M.; Bo, C.; Poblet, J.-M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 9571–9576. ^b anion is currently unknown.

This is consistent with the following experimental observations:

- (i) in aqueous solution an equilibrium is established between α and β -isomers of $[AIW_{12}O_{40}]^{5-110,111}$ Based on ²⁷Al-NMR measurements of 0.1 M solutions of the free acids at 200 °C, $K_{eq}(\beta/\alpha) = 0.11 \pm 0.01$. This value indicates that the α -isomer is more stable than the β -isomer by 2.1 ± 0.5 kcal mol⁻¹. First-order rate constants for approach to equilibrium at 200 °C were $k(\alpha \rightarrow \beta) = 7.68 \times 10^{-7} \text{ s}^{-1}$ and $k(\beta \rightarrow \alpha) = 6.97 \times 10^{-6} \text{ s}^{-1}$.
- (ii) The β -isomers of the Si- and Ge-centered anions have considerable kinetic stability and can be synthesized in high yield¹¹², but there is no evidence of an equilibrium concentration in aqueous solution.
- (iii) The β -isomer of $[PW_{12}O_{40}]^{3-}$ appears to be unstable in aqueous solution,¹¹³ but has been isolated as a tetra-*n*-butylammonium salt from aqueous acetonitrile.¹⁰⁶

The structure of the γ -isomer involves an additional coulombically unfavorable, edge-shared contact between MO₆ octahedra than do the structures of the α - and β -forms. Examples of γ -structure e anions have been synthesized from the lacunary anion (γ)-[SiW₁₀O₃₆]⁸⁻ of $C_{2\nu}$ symmetry, which is lacking the two edge-shared octahedra. Reaction with $[M^V_2O_4(aq)]^{2+}$ (M = Mo, W) and subsequent oxidation leads to metastable γ -Keggin anions which have been structurally characterized.^{112,114,115} A P-centered analogue of the (γ)-decatungstate precursor anion is also known, but it is less stable.

4.10.3.1.2 Capped Keggin anions

So-called capped Keggin structures were first observed with the vanadophosphate and -arsenate anions, $[(T)V_{14}O_{42}]^{9^-}$. These anions contain an α -Keggin core to which are attached two VO³⁺ groups, as shown in Figure 7. The phosphate anion has received the most attention.¹¹⁶ In 0.6 M Na(Cl) at 1.3 < pH < 4.0, the major solute species is $[H_4PV_{14}O_{42}]^{5^-}$ and the transient existence of



Figure 7 Bicapped Keggin anion (reprinted with permission from Kato, R.; Kobayashi, A.; Sasaki, Y. Inorg. Chem. 1982, 21, 240–246. © 1982 American Chemical Society).

the monocapped anion, $[H_xPV_{13}O_{41}]^{(12-x)-}$, was detected.¹¹⁷ Phosphorus-, vanadium-, and oxygen-NMR have been recorded, and oxygen exchange with solvent is most rapid for the oxygens in the VO caps.⁶ Other examples of the capped structure are adopted by $[V_{15}O_{42}]^{9-}$ (Section 4.10.2.1.1) and by mixed-addenda and partially reduced anions, some of which have been formed via hydrothermal methods. Examples include dicapped $[PMo_6^VMo_6^{VI}O_4(V^{IV}O_2)_5^{5-118}]$, mono-capped $[PMo_5^V7O_{40}(VO)]^{7-119}$, and the extended (chain) structure of $[\{(V^VO_4)Mo_8^{VI}V_4O_{36}(V^{IV}O_2)_2\}_n]^{7n-120,121}$ has been reported. Hydrothermal syntheses also lead to a tetracapped anion, ¹²² $[PMo_5^VN_4^VN_4^VO_{40}(V^{IV}O_4)_4]^{5-}$, and to species capped by As^{III} , $[H_4As^VMo_8^VMo_4^VO_{40}As^{III}_2]^{-123}$ and by *cis*-(MoO_2)²⁺ groups, $[SiMo_4^VMo_{40}^{VI}O_{40}(Mo^{VI}O_2)_2]^{4-}$ and $[\{SiMo_4^VMo_{40}^{VI}Mo_{40}^{VI}M_{40}(Mo^{VI}O_2)(Mo^{VI})_2\}_{\{\mu-(H_2O)_2)\}^{6-.124}}$ That no capped polytungstate anions have so far been reported presumably reflects the lower nucleophilicity of oxygens attached to W compared with V and Mo(V).

No examples of anions containing the δ -Keggin core have been reported, but several are known to contain the ε configuration. All involve V and or Mo(V): examples of molybdates are listed in Table 6. Vanadates include mixed-valence $[K(AsO_4)V^{IV,V}_{12}O_{36}(AsOH)_3]^{6-,71}$ and $[H_6K(V^VO_4)V^{IV,V}_{12}O_{36}(PCH_3)_3]^{5-73}$ with capping As(III) and phosphonate groups, respectively, and the vanadomanganate, $[Mn^{IV}_{3}V^V_{12}O_{40}H_3]^{5-,125}$

4.10.3.1.3 Mixed-addenda Keggin anions

Incorporation of more than one type of addendum atom (V, Mo, W) into the Keggin structure raises the issue of isomerism based upon the distribution of the like addenda ("positional isomers"). The numbering scheme for the α and β Keggin frameworks is shown in Figure 8. The theoretical numbers of positional isomers are very large (Table 9), and these have been confirmed in some of the simpler cases by NMR spectroscopy.¹²⁶ Although some of the isomers can be synthesized in pure form by the reaction of appropriate lacunary anions, e.g., the formation of 1,2,3-[SiW₉V₃O₄₀]⁷⁻ from A-[SiW₉O₃₄]¹⁰⁻ (Section 4.10.3.2) and VO₃⁻, in general mixtures of all possible isomers are generated, and these have so far proved to be impossible to separate. An even more intractable situation occurs with the molybdotungstate anions [(T)Mo_xW_{12-x}O₄₀]ⁿ⁻, which bear the same charge for every value of x.

 $[(T)Mo_xW_{12-x}O_{40}]^{n-}$, which bear the same charge for every value of x. A quantitative NMR and EMF investigation of the quaternary system H⁺–MoO₄^{2–}–HVO₄^{2–}–MoO₄^{2–} in 0.6 M Na(Cl) at 25 °C and 90 °C, with (Mo+V):P = 12:1 and Mo:V > 9:3, reveals



Figure 8 Numbering scheme for the α isomers of the Keggin and Wells–Dawson anions. The numbering is retained for the β -isomer of the Keggin anion with the "rotated" triad containing atoms 10, 11, and 12.

anions $[(1)M_xMN_{12-x}O_{40}]^n$.		
x	α -isomer	β -isomer
1	1	3
2	5	14
3	13	43
4	27	90
5	38	142
6	48	166

Table 9Numbers of positional isomers for Keggin
anions $[(T)M_xMN_{12-x}O_{40}]^{n-}$.

the existence and pK_a values of all five isomers of α -[PV₂Mo₁₀O₄₀]⁵⁻ to be close to their expected statistical abundances. Two other isomers, presumably based on the β -framework, were also detected in small quantities.¹²⁷ In solutions where Mo:V = 3.8, several isomers of [PV₃Mo₉O₄₀]⁶⁻ could be identified.¹²⁸

Vanadium-centered Keggin molybdo- and tungstovanadates were mentioned in Sections 4.10.2.5.1 and 4.10.2.5.2. The corresponding P- and Si-centered tungstovanadates have received attention.^{126,129–131}

4.10.3.1.4 Keggin anions with inversion disorder

Several salts of Keggin anions, especially those with mixed addenda (Mo, V) or capped species, crystallize with the anion on an inversion center, i.e., with the central (tetrahedral) atom appearing to be eight-coordinate. This type of disorder, unless carefully analyzed,¹³² leads to erroneous conclusions regarding bond lengths and coordination environments of the addenda atoms.

4.10.3.2 Wells–Dawson and Related Plenary Structures

4.10.3.2.1 Isomers

Baker and Figgis originally proposed six possible skeletal isomers for anions with the so-called Wells–Dawson structure, typified by the tungstophosphates, $[P_2W_{18}O_{62}]^{6-}$. Examples of four of these have now been identified and these are illustrated in polyhedral form in Figure 9. As for the Keggin anions, β - and γ -isomers have structures in which one and two W₃ groups, respectively, have been rotated by 60°. Structures in which the central W₆ belts are staggered rather than eclipsed are denoted with an asterisk; of these, only the γ^* -isomer has been confirmed: see Table 10. The α - and β -isomers of $[P_2W_{18}O_{62}]^{6-}$ are formed simultaneously in the conventional synthesis of this anion and can be separated by fractional crystallization of the ammonium salts.¹³³ Note that in the early literature these were known as the A- (β) and B- (α) forms.

Although the P- and As-centered anions and their isomers are synthesized and are stable (at least kinetically) in aqueous solution, ¹³⁶ the sulfate anions, as a consequence of their lower charge (4–), are prepared in aqueous acetonitrile and have been structurally characterized as tetraalkyl-ammonium salts. The molybdate is an α -isomer, ¹³⁵ but the tungstate isolated proved to be the γ^* -isomer.¹⁴¹ The one-electron reduced anion, [S₂W₁₈O₆₂]^{5–}, isolated as a tetra-*n*-butylammonium salt,



Figure 9 Four Isomers of the Wells–Dawson anion (reprinted with permission of Elsevier from Contant, R.; Thouvenot, R., *Inorg. Chim. Acta* 1993, *212*, 41–50).

Isomer	M = Mo	M = W
$ \begin{array}{c} \alpha \\ \beta \\ \gamma \\ \gamma^* \end{array} $	P, As, S ^{134,135} see text	P, As P, As P, ^{136–139} As ¹³⁶ As ^{136,137,140} S ¹⁴¹

Table 10 Isomers of Wells–Dawson polyoxometalates, $[X_2M_{18}O_{62}]^{n-}$.

was found to have the α -configuration, but no electrochemical distinction could be made between the two isomers.¹⁴²

Early polarographic studies of the (α) molybdodiphosphate and -arsenate anions showed that upon reduction they were slowly transformed into " β " isomers in an analogous manner to the behavior of the corresponding Keggin molybdates.¹⁴³ It has been reported, however, that the P-NMR spectrum of a reduced " β "-[P₂Mo₁₈O₆₂] has one line which is consistent only with an α^* -, γ -, or γ^* -structure.¹³⁶

4.10.3.2.2 Mixed-addenda Dawson Anions

As for the Keggin anions (Section 4.10.3.1.3), there are numerous possibilities for positional isomers, and mixtures are frequently encountered. Almost all of these have been derived from the P- and As-centered tungstates, but a tungstovanadosulfate, $[S_2V_2W_{16}O_{62}]^{6-}$, has been structurally characterized.¹⁴⁴ Individual isomers can often be prepared from appropriate lacunary species, and these are discussed in Section 4.10.3.3.

4.10.3.2.3 Semi-vacant Wells–Dawson anions

The Wells–Dawson tungstophosphate and -arsenate anions are synthesized using a large excess of phosphoric or arsenic acids and, especially for the phosphate isomers, prolonged boiling.^{133,136} When the tungstate is in molar excess (e.g., W/P = 20) new anions $[H_4XW_{18}O_{62}]^{7-}$ (X = P, As) are produced. Based on P-NMR, three isomers of the phosphate are formed initially, but boiling for 60 h yields a single product. No crystallographic investigation has yet been reported, but based upon NMR analysis (Table 11) it was concluded that the anions have the α -Wells–Dawson structure with one phosphorus site vacant.¹⁴⁵ The location of the anion protons is uncertain; no separate ¹H-NMR signal is observed, implying that exchange with solvent is rapid, but this does not rule out the possibility that they are attached to internal oxygen atoms.

	α -XW ₉ group	β -XW $_9$ group	α - $\Box W_9$ group
$ \begin{array}{c} \alpha - \left[P_2 W_{18} O_{62} \right]^{6-} \\ \beta - \left[P_2 W_{18} O_{62} \right]^{6-} \\ \gamma - \left[P_2 W_{18} O_{62} \right]^{6-} \end{array} $	-126.5 (6W), -172 (12W) -129.9 (3W), -170.1 (6W)	-110.6 (3W), -190 (6W) -110.4 (6W), -190.8 (12W)	
α -[H ₄ PW ₁₈ O ₆₂] ⁷⁻ α -[As ₂ W ₁₈ O ₆₂] ⁶⁻	-144.9 (3W), -181.3 (6W) -120.8 (6W), -144.1 (12W)		-135.7 (3W), -127.8 (6W)
$\beta - [As_2W_{18}O_{62}]^{6-} \\ \gamma - [As_2W_{18}O_{62}]^{6-} \\ \gamma^* - [As_2W_{18}O_{62}]^{6-} \\ $	-123.4 (3W), -140.6 (6W)	-106.6 (3W), -160.1 (6W) -106.3 (6W), -160.1 (12W) -109.7 (6W), -166.0 (12W)	
α -[H ₄ AsW ₁₈ O ₆₂] ^{/-}	$-134.6 (3W)^{a}$, -161.3 (6W)		-134.1 (3W) ^a , -112.4 (6W)

Table 11 W-NMR chemical shifts for Wells–Dawson tungstates.

^a The relative assignment of these two lines is uncertain.

4.10.3.3 The "Preyssler" Anion

This anion, originally described by Preyssler as a P_3W_{18} species,¹⁴⁶ is formed as a by-product in the standard synthesis of the Wells–Dawson tungstophosphates, and was later shown to be $[Na(H_2O)P_5W_{30}O_{110}]^{14-}$ with the structure illustrated in Figure 10.^{147,148} This structure can be related to the Keggin and Wells–Dawson structures in the following manner. Removal of a group of three corner-shared WO₆ octahedra from the Keggin structure yields A-type $[PW_9O_{34}]^{9-}$ (see Section 4.10.3.4), two of which can be combined to form the Wells–Dawson anion. If two groups of corner-shared octahedra are removed from the Keggin anion, the remaining $\{PW_6O_{26}\}$ fragment forms one-fifth of the complete structure. The Keggin, Wells–Dawson, and Preyssler structures are topologically analogous to a tetrahedron (methane), two face-shared tetrahedra (ethane), and five face-shared tetrahedra (cyclopentane). A notable feature of this anion is the tightly encapsulated (on the ²³Na NMR timescale) sodium cation and coordinated water molecule. Under forcing conditions the central sodium cation can be replaced by Ca²⁺, trivalent lanthanide cations, and some tetravalent actinides, all of which have similar ionic radii (ca. 1 Å).^{147–152} Spectroscopic, luminescence, and ESR studies have been reported for some of the lanthanide-encrypted anions.^{153–158} All the anions show reversible tungsten-reduction processes, and there is some evidence to suggest that divalent europium is generated in partially reduced $[Eu(H_2O)P_5W_{30}O_{110}]^{n-}$.¹⁵⁹ Proton exchange on the internal water molecule has been traced by NMR measurements.¹⁴⁸ The remarkable hydrolytic (pH 0–11) and thermal stability of the anion has attracted investigations of its catalytic activity, discussed in Chapter 4.11.

No lacunary versions of this anion have been unambiguously identified, but a monosubstituted vanadium(IV) derivative has been isolated and characterized by ESR spectroscopy. Attempts to prepare molybdate or arsenate analogues have been unsuccessful.

4.10.3.4 Lacunary Forms of Keggin and Wells–Dawson Anions

The main lacunary versions of Keggin- and Dawson-type structures that can be isolated as pure salts, and that have kinetic stability in solution, are summarized in Table 12. Some molybdate analogues have been isolated¹⁶⁰ or otherwise identified in equilibrium studies.^{19,161,162} All these lacunary anions have structures in which no MO₆ octahedron has more than two (*cis*) terminal oxygens, and are convenient synthetic precursors of substituted "plenary" anions and functionalized species.

The monovacant anions (entries 1–4, 9–11 in Table 12) generate a vast number of species in which the substituent atom is a metal cation bearing a variety of terminal ligands, or in some cases none (e.g., Sn^{2+} , 163 Co²⁺, 164). These complexes may well be regarded as coordination complexes with the polyoxometalate functioning as a tetra- or pentadentate ligand. If the substituent metal cation is "octahedral" with a small terminal ligand, crystallographic disorder



Figure 10 The "Preyssler" anion, $[Na(H_2O)P_5W_{30}O_{110}]^{14-}$. The central sphere locates the water molecule and eclipsed sodium cation.

	Formula	"Missing" octahedra	X
1	α -[XW ₁₁ O ₃₉] ^{<i>n</i>-}	1	P, As, Si, Ge, B, Al, Ga, Fe ^{III} , Co ^{III}
2	$\beta_1 - [XW_{11}O_{39}]^{n-1}$	1	Si, Ge
3	$\beta_2 - [XW_{11}O_{39}]^{n-1}$	4	Si, Ge
4	$\beta_{3} - [XW_{11}O_{39}]^{n-1}$	10	Si, Ge
5	$\gamma - [XW_{10}O_{36}]^{n-1}$	1, 2	P, Si
6	$A-\alpha-[XW_9O_{34}]^{n-1}$	1, 2, 3	P, As, Si, Ge
7	$A-\beta$ -[XW ₉ O ₃₄] ⁿ⁻	1, 2, 3	P, As, Si, Ge
8	$B-\alpha-[XW_9O_{34}]^{n-1}$	1, 4, 9	P
9	$\alpha_1 - [X_2 W_{17} O_{61}]^{10-1}$	4	Р
10	$\alpha_2 - [X_2 W_{17} O_{61}]^{10-1}$	1	P, As
11	$\alpha_{2} - [H_{4}XW_{17}O_{61}]^{11}$	1	P, As
12	$\alpha - [X_2 W_{15} O_{56}]^{12}$	1, 2, 3	P. As
13	$\alpha - [X_2 W_{12} O_{48}]^{14-}$	1, 4, 5, 10, 11, 16	P

 Table 12
 Some isolable lacunary anions derived from Keggin- and Wells–Dawson-type structures.

generally prevents characterization by X-ray crystallography, but W-NMR has proved to be a reliable alternative.¹⁶⁵ By virtue of the reducibility of the addenda metal atoms adjacent to the substituent, the polyoxometalate exhibits properties commonly associated with pi-acceptor ligands.¹⁶⁶ Since the polyoxometalate ligands are fully oxidized, the potential exists for such complexes with the appropriate substituent metal center to act as particularly robust oxidation catalysts ("inorganic metalloporphyrins").

The divacant anions (5) can in principle be converted to complete γ -Keggin structure types, and this has been achieved with $[SiW_{10}O_{36}]^{8-}$ (the phosphate is less stable and has not yet been intensely investigated), yielding γ - $[SiW_{10}M_2O_{40}]$ (M = W,¹¹⁴ Mo,¹¹⁵ V (the last readily isomerizes to β anions),¹⁶⁷ Mn(III),¹⁶⁸, Fe(III),¹⁶⁹ and η^5 -(C₅H₅)Ti).¹⁷⁰ Attempts to convert $[SiW_{10}O_{36}]^{8-}$ to γ - $[SiW_{12}O_{40}]^{4-}$ in aqueous solution lead to $[Si_2W_{23}O_{77}(OH)]^{9-}$, an anion with only C_s symmetry that incorporates both SiW₁₀ and SiW₁₁ fragments.¹⁷¹ Chromium(III) derivatives with bridging hydroxo and acetate (formate) groups, $[SiW_{10}O_{36}\{(H_2O)Cr-\mu(OH)(OAc)_2-Cr(OH_2)\}]^{5-}$ are also known.¹⁷² See Tables 25 and 27 for other complexes incorporating the SiW₁₀ group.

The trivacant lacunary anions A- $[XW_9O_{34}]^{n-}$ and $[X_2W_{15}O_{56}]^{12-}$ have been used as precursor species for the formation of substituted plenary Keggin and Wells–Dawson anions; see Table 13. In some cases the resulting anions dimerize via oxo or hydroxo bridging between the substituent metal atoms. Examples include the Cr^{III} and Ti^{IV} derivatives; see Figure 11. A hexabromo derivative, β -[PW₉O₂₇Br₆]³⁻, has been prepared as a tetrabutylammonium salt by reaction of PW₁₁ and PW₉ precursors with SOBr₂.¹⁷³

Several solid-state polyoxometalate structures that incorporate $PW_9M^{II}_3$ Keggin units (with edgeshared $M^{II}O_6$ octahedra, and thus formally derived from the A-PW₉O₃₄ anion) have been described and their magnetic properties have been reported. These include $[Ni_3(H_2O)_3PW_{10}O_{39}H_2O]^{7-,194}$

	X	M	References
1,2,3-XW ₉ M ₃	Si (α, β)	Cu, Mn, Ni ^{II} ; Al,Ga,Cr,Fe ^{III}	174
	$Si(\alpha)$	Cr ^{III}	175
	$Si(\alpha)$	Cr, Al (dimers)	176
	Ga	V	177
	$Si(\beta)$	Nb, Nb(dimer)	178
	$Si(\beta) Ge(\beta)$	Ti (dimer)	179–181
	$Si(\alpha, \beta)$	$\{\mathbf{RSn}\}^{3+}$	182
	$P(\alpha, \beta)$	V, Mo	183–187
	$Si(\alpha, \beta)$	$\{CpTi\}^{3+}$	170
1,2,3-XMo ₉ M ₃	Р	$\{BuSn\}^{3+}$	188
X ₂ W ₁₅ M ₃	Р	V	189,190
	Р	Nb, Nb (dimer)	191,192
	Р	$\{RSn\}^{3+}$	193

 Table 13 Plenary structures derived from A-type trivacant lacunary anions.


Figure 11 $[{SiW_9O_{34}(OH)_3Cr_3}_2(\mu-OH)_3]^{11-}$, i.e., all [Cr–O–Cr junctions are protonated.

$$[PW_9O_{34}Ni_4(OH)_3(H_2O)_6]^{4-,195} [M_9(OH)_3(H_2O)_6(HPO_4)_2(PW_9O_{34})_3]^{16-} (M = Ni, Co),^{196} and [Co_7(H_2O)_2(OH)_2(PW_9O_{34})_2(W_7O_{26})]^{16-.197}$$

4.10.3.5 Sandwich-type Structures Based on Trivacant Lacunary Anions

A large number and variety of polytungstate complexes incorporate pairs of trivacant lacunary anions that sandwich three or four metal atoms. Three types of lacunary anions involved in such sandwich structures are shown in Figure 12.

4.10.3.5.1 Derivatives of $A - [XW_9O_{34}]^{n-1}$

These complexes are generally prepared by direct reaction of the appropriate lacunary anion, in the form of a solid salt, with a solution containing the desired heteroatoms. The variety of heteroatoms that have been incorporated is summarized in Table 14. The first entry in the table is the long-known (1896) $[P_2W_{21}O_{71}]^{6-}$ anion, which was structurally characterized some 90 years later.¹⁹⁸ Lacunary versions, $[P_2W_{20}O_{70}]^{10-}$ and $[P_2W_{19}O_{69}]^{14-}$, in which one or two of the "sandwiched" tungsten atoms have been lost, have also been characterized^{210,211} and these offer routes to numerous mixed (W₂M and WM₂) species. The equatorial M (or W) atoms have nominal octahedral or square-pyramidal coordination geometries, and the central cavity of the anion is normally occupied by H₂O or OH⁻ ligands. In the case of the W₂₁ anion, one of the internal ligands is an oxo group. The Pd and Cu derivatives have been shown to incorporate NO₃⁻ or trigonally disordered NO₂⁻ in the internal cavity, if such anions are present in the synthesis solutions.²⁰⁰

4.10.3.5.2 Derivatives of B- $[XW_9O_{34}]^{n-}$ and $[X_2W_{15}O_{56}]^{n-}$

The divalent metal derivatives of the A-type sandwich complexes (Table 14) are readily converted, e.g., by boiling aqueous solutions, to new sandwich species with the general formula $[(XW_9O_{34})_2M_4(H_2O)_2]^{n-}$ that incorporate B-type lacunary anions. The first example of this type of anion, with X = P and M = Co^{II}, had been reported in 1973²¹², but the range of heteroatoms



Figure 12 Trivacant α -Keggin (A- and B-type) and Wells–Dawson structures.

	X	$M^{ m a}$	References
$[(XW_9O_{34})_2M_3]^{n-1}$	P, As	WO ⁴⁺	198
	P	$M^{II} = Mn$, Fe, Co, Ni, Cu, Zn, Pd	199,200
	P, Si	$\{Ce_{3}O_{3}\}^{6+}, \{Zr_{3}(OH)_{3}\}^{9+}, \{Ln_{3}O_{3}\}^{3+}$	200-203
	P, Si	$\{RSn\}^{3+} \{RSi\}^{3+}$	182,199,204,205
	P, Si	Sn ^{II}	206,207
$[(XMo_9O_{34})_2M_3]^{n-1}$	P	$\{BuSn\}^{3+}$	188
$[(XW_9O_{34})_2M_2]^{n-1}$	P, Si	UO_2^{2+}	208,209

 Table 14
 Sandwich complexes derived from A-type trivacant lacunary anions.

 a Unless specified otherwise the oxidation state of M is 2^{+} .

and oxidation states has since been extended; see Table 15. With the exception of the tungstophosphate, which has been identified as a component in a mixture resulting from thermolysis of the sodium salt of the A-PW₉ anion, none of the B-XW₉ groups incorporated in the complexes listed in Table 15 is known to exist as an independent anion, and the process by which the sandwich complexes are formed is unclear. Since many of these complexes contain isolated clusters of four adjacent transition-metal cations in octahedral coordination, their magnetic properties are of interest.^{213–218} In 1991 Tourné reported a less symmetrical (chiral) variant of the sandwich structure in which one of the M-cations was a tungsten(VI) atom. The tungsten atom forms a more inert link between the two lacunary anion layers and makes it possible to exchange two (or all three) of the remaining M-cations to yield a variety of mixed anions: see Table 15.²¹⁹ Neumann has investigated the catalytic activity of several of these species for oxidations with dioxygen and hydrogen peroxide.^{220–225}

A closely related series of sandwich complexes (also shown in Table 15) is formed with the anions derived from the Wells–Dawson structure, $[X_2W_{15}O_{56}]^{12-}$ (X = P, As), since these possess a lacunary surface identical to that of B-[PW₉O₃₄]⁹⁻. Since the precursor lacunary anions are easily isolated, the synthesis of the sandwich complexes is straightforward. Although several Baker–Figgis-type isomeric possibilities exist for anions of this composition,²³³ until recently all confirmed structures have been found to be identical. The exception is $[(P_2W_{15}O_{56})_2Fe^{III}_2Na_2(H_2O)_2]^{16-}$, which has a different connectivity of the lacunary components.²³⁵

4.10.3.5.3 Derivatives of $B-\alpha - [XW_9O_{33}]^{n-1}$

When the heteroatom X has a stereochemically active, unshared pair of electrons, a complete Keggin structure cannot be formed and the trivacant lacunary species must adopt a B-type structure. The As^{III} and Sb^{III} derivatives were first reported in 1930 and have been confirmed more recently.²³⁸ Krebs has described the bismuth analogue and reported the structure of the

	X	$M^{ m a}$	References
$[(XW_9O_{34})_2M_4(H_2O)_2]^{n-1}$	P, As	Co, Cu, Zn, Mn	
	,		212.214.226-228
	Р	Fe ^{III}	229
	Zn, Co ^{II}	{WX ₃ }, {WZnM ₂ }($M = VO^{2+}$, Mn ^{II,III} , Fe ^{II,III} , Co, Ni, Pd, Pt)	219,230
	Zn	$\{WZnRh^{III}_{2}\}, \{WZnRu^{III}_{2}\}$	222,225
	Si	Mn. Cu. Zn	231
	Cu ^{II} , Fe ^{III}	X	232
$[(X_2W_{15})_2M_4(H_2O)_2]^{n-1}$	Р	Co, Cu, Zn, Mn, Ni	
			213,217,227,233
	Р	Fe ^{III}	234
	Р	Fe ^{III} 2Na2	235
	Р	Al ^{III} , Cd. Ga ^{III} , Fe ^{III}	236
	Ās	Zn, Cu, Co, Ni, Mn, Cd	237

 Table 15
 Sandwich complexes derived from B-type trivacant lacunary anions.

^a Unless specified otherwise the oxidation state of M is 2⁺.

	X	M^{a}	References
$B-\alpha - [(XW_9O_{33})_2M_3]^{n-1}$	As ^{III}	WO^{4+}	241
	As ^{III} , Sb ^{III}	Cu, Zn	242,243
	Se ^{IV} , Te ^{IV}	Cu	243
	Sb ^{III} , Bi ^{III}	VO^{2+}	244,245
	Sb ^{III}	U ^{IV} , Mn	246,497
	Bi ^{III}	Cu	247
	As ^{III}	$\{(Hg_{2}^{I})_{2}(WO)\}$	248
	Te ^{IV}	Pd	230
	Se ^{IV}	Cu	230
	As ^{III}	$\{BuSn\}^{3+}, \{RSi\}^{3+}$	205
	Sb ^{III}	{PhSn} ³⁺	249

Table 16 Sandwich complexes derived from α -[XW₉O₃₃]^{*n*-} units.

^a Unless specified otherwise the oxidation state of M is 2⁺.

sodium salt of the antimonite, which reveals pairs of the lacunary anions sandwiching six sodium cations in an assembly of approximate D_{3h} symmetry.²³⁹ The tendency of these XW₉ anions to form sandwich-type complexes with three divalent metals is pronounced, and the recognition of analogous structures based on the so-far-hypothetical Se^{IV} and Te^{IV} derivatives—see Table 16—suggests that this family of complexes will be further expanded. The all-tungsten version of this structure, $[As_2W_{21}O_{69}]^{6-}$, (or $[(AsW_9O_{33})_2(WO)_3(H_2O)]^{6-}$),^{240,241} yields upon partial hydrolysis the lacunary As_2W_{20} and As_2W_{19} derivatives, in an analogous fashion to the P^V₂W₂₁ anion described in Section 3.4.1.^{238,240}

As will become evident in Section 4.10.3.9 below, the X^{III}W₉ anions are found to be components of much larger, composite polyoxoanion assemblies.

4.10.3.5.4 Derivatives of $B-\beta-[XW_9O_{33}]^{n-1}$

Under mildly acidic conditions the (α)-SbW₉ and BiW₉ anions react with excess tungstate to yield new complexes, originally formulated as "[XW₁₁O₃₈H]⁸-"^{250,251}, but more recently shown to have the composition [X₂W₂₂O₇₄(OH)₂]^{12-.239,252} The sandwich nature of these anions is emphasized in Figure 13. Two of the four sandwiched tungsten atoms appear to have three terminal oxygen atoms, in violation of the so-called Lipscomb criterion,²⁵³ but two of these are in fact OH groups. The XW₉ units are derived from a β -Keggin structure, i.e., with one group of three edge-shared WO₆ octahedra rotated by $\pi/3$. An unsupported, unprotonated β -XW₉ structure has not yet been identified, presumably because it too is "anti-Lipscomb". It is relatively straightforward to replace the two external, WO₂(OH), tungstens with di- and trivalent metal cations; see Table 17. As shown in that table, the structural type has recently been extended to incorporate Te^{IV} as the central atom of the lacunary fragments, and to involve replacement of all four sandwiched tungstens with divalent cations.



Figure 13 The structure of $[X_2W_{22}O_{74}(OH)_2]^{12-}$. Two (or all four) of the sandwiched tungsten atoms can be replaced by other metal cations; see Table 17.

	X	M	References
$[(\beta - XW_9O_{33})_2(WO_2)_2M_2]^{n-1}$	Sb, Bi	$\{WO_2(OH)\}^+\}$, Fe ^{III} , Co ^{II} , Zn	239,252,254
	Sb, Bi	Sn ¹¹	255
	Bi	$\{WO_2(OH)\}^+\}, Ni^{II}, Mn^{II}$	256,497
	Bi	Cu	247
	Te ^{IV}	$\{WO_2(OH)\}^+\}, Zn$	257
$[(\beta - XW_9O_{33})_2M_4]^{n-1}$	Te ^{IV}	Mn ^{II} , Co ^{II}	257,497
	Bi	Cu	247

Table 17 Sandwich complexes derived from β -[XW₉O₃₃]^{*n*-} units.

4.10.3.6 Augmented Versions of B- α -[XW₉O₃₃]^{*n*-}:XW₁₈ Anions

The anion $[H_2AsW_{18}O_{60}]^{7-}$, first prepared and structurally characterized several years ago (1979) by Jeannin,²⁵⁸ has the structure shown in Figure 14(a). Subsequently, other examples of this class of structures have been reported, some with the isomeric (b) structure; see Table 18. In much the same way that the Wells–Dawson structure may be considered to be formed by fusion of two A-[PW₉O₃₄]⁹⁻, the structures shown in Figure 14 are based upon fusion of two B-[XW₉O₃₃]⁹⁻ groups. However, the presence of a lone pair on X requires that the second X-site is vacant, and is probably occupied by two or three protons (compare with the metatungstate structures (Table 3)). When the syntheses are carried out in the presence of divalent metal cations (Mn, Co, Ni, Cu, Zn), the Sb- and Bi-centered anions incorporate an additional heteroatom in place of a tungsten, e.g., $[H_3SbW_{17}Co(H_2O)O_{59}]^{8-}$. The heteroatom is believed to occupy one of the "belt" tungsten sites.²⁵⁹



Figure 14 (a) Staggered, and (b) eclipsed forms of $[H_2X^{III}W_{18}O_{60}]^{7-}$ (reproduced by permission of Kluwer Academic Press from Krebs, B.; Klein, R. *Mol. Eng.* **1993**, *3*, 43–59).

X	р	Structure type	References
As ^{III}	2	А	258
Sb ^{III}	2	В	254
Bi ^{III}	3. 2	В	260.261
Sn ^{II}	3	A & B	255
Te ^{IV}	?	?	262

Table 18 $[H_pXW_{18}O_{60}]^{n-}$ anions.

4.10.3.7 Other Heteropolyanions with Tetrahedrally-coordinated Heteroatoms

4.10.3.7.1 Tungstophosphates

The existence of well-defined tungstophosphate complexes with W/P ratios of 2:1, 3:1, and 3.5:1 has long been indicated in the early literature. More recently, these species have been further characterized by crystallographic and spectroscopic methods: see Table 19. All of the anions were isolated as sodium salts from relatively concentrated solutions, acidified to $pH \sim 6$ with acetic acid. The exact conditions required for the isolation of each specific complex do not appear to have been established.

No solution chemistry of $[P_4W_8O_{40}]^{12-}$ has been reported, but W- and P-NMR spectra of the other two anions are consistent with the structures revealed by crystallography. The structure of the anion in crystals of Na₂₀[P₆W₁₈O₇₉].xH₂O (x = 12, 32, 41) reported by Fuchs and Palm²⁶⁴ is identical to that found in Na₁₄H₆[P₆W₁₈O₇₉].37.5H₂O by Acerete *et al.*²⁶⁵ and is not an isomeric version as previously supposed. The P₆W₁₈ anion has a pronounced chiral (C_2) structure, based on two {PW₈O₃₃} groups that are derived from an A-type β -[PW₉O₃₄]⁹⁻ anion by loss of a WO₆ octahedron from the edgeshared W₃O₁₃ triad in the latter. The two PW₈ groups are linked though pairs of additional (nonequivalent, one μ_3 and one μ_4) PO₄ tetrahedra to a central pair of corner-shared WO₆ octahedra. In the presence of L-lysine hydrochloride the three P-31 NMR lines are each split into doublets, indicating that racemization of the enantiomers is slow on the NMR timescale. A lacunary version of this structure, $[P_5W_{18}O_{78}H_3]^{20-}$, in which one of the linking phosphate groups is missing, has been structurally characterized by Fuchs.²⁶⁴ Simultaneous reports of the structure of $[P_4W_{14}O_{58}]^{12-}$ appeared in 1988.^{264,266} This structure is also based upon a lacunary derivative of the A- β - $[PW_9O_{34}]^{9-}$ anion; two PW₇O₂₉ units are linked by two PO₄ tetrahedra into an assembly of C_{2h} symmetry. In addition to P- and W-NMR, the Raman and infrared spectra have been recorded.²⁶⁶

4.10.3.7.2 Anions with diphosphate hetero groups

The diphosphate anion and its hydrolytically inert analogue methylene diphosphonate, $[[O_3PCH_2PO_3]^{4-}$, have been incorporated into polymolybdate and polytungstate structures. The anions $[(O_3PXPO_3)_4W_{12}O_{36}]^{16-}$ (X = O, CH₂)²⁶⁷ have a folded cyclic structure of linked WO₆ octahedra, stapled into shape by external diphosphate groups (Figure 15). The polymetalate core of this structure is analogous to that observed in the molybdosquarate complex, $[Mo_{12}O_{36}(C_4O_4H)_4]^{4-}$, reported by Zubieta.²⁶⁸ The polytungstates have been shown to inhibit HIV-1 Reverse Transcriptase, probably by blocking the DNA-binding cleft of the enzyme.²⁶⁹ The molybdates $[(O_3PXPO_3)Mo_6O_{18}(H_2O)_4]^{4-}$ have an unsymmetrical structure in which one PO₃ group is centered in a ring of six corner- and edge-shared MoO₆ octahedra (Figure 16).^{270,271} It has been proposed that this complex is an intermediate in the molybdate-catalyzed hydrolysis of $[P_2O_7]^{4-}$. In aqueous–organic solvents, Hori *et al.* reported that the diphosphate anion reacts with molybdate to yield yellow, electrochemically active (P₂)Mo₁₈, (P₂)Mo₁₅, and (P₂)Mo₁₂ complexes.^{272–274} The first of these was subsequently shown to have a structure based on fusion of two B-type $[PMo_9O_{34}]$ units, i.e., $[P_2Mo_{18}O_{61}]^4$ containing an internal $[P_2O_7]^{4-}$ group with enforced D_{3h} symmetry.²⁷⁵ The anion formulated by Hori *et al.* as $[H_6(P_2O_7)Mo_{15}O_{48}]^{4-}$ has been shown to be a dimer of the proposed lacunary anion, i.e., $[(P_2O_7)_2Mo_{30}O_{90}]^{8-}$ (Figure 17) in the solid state.²⁷⁶

4.10.3.7.3 $[As^{III}_{2}Mo_{12}O_{42}]^{6-}$ and related anions

Acidic solutions of As^{III} and molybdate yield yellow crystals containing the anion $[As_2Mo_{12}O_{42}]^{6-277}$ The same anion, formulated as an AsMo₆ species, had probably been isolated

W/P	Formula	Anion symmetry	References
2	$[P_4W_8O_{40}]^{12-}$	C_{2v}	263
3	$[P_6W_{18}O_{79}]^{20-}$	$C_2^{\tilde{z}}$	264,265
3.5	$[P_4W_{14}O_{58}]^{12-}$	$\overline{C_{2h}}$	264,266

 Table 19
 Tungstophosphate complexes with high phosphorus content.



Figure 16 $[(O_3PXPO_3)Mo_6O_{18}(H_2O)_4]^{4-}$ (X = O, CH₂).

some 70 years earlier by Rosenheim. Although appearing to have some symmetry, e.g., three slabs of four edge-shared MoO₆ octahedra linked by vertices, the anion structure (Figure 18) possesses no symmetry element other than the identity. The molybdophosphite anion $[(HP)_2Mo_{12}O_{42}]^{4-}$, first reported by Rosenheim and later investigated by Hori *et al.*²⁷⁸, and $[Se_2Mo_{12}O_{42}]^{4-}$ and $[Te_2Mo_{12}O_{42}]^{4-}$,⁷⁹ may prove to be isostructural with the molybdoarsenite.

4.10.3.8 Anderson and related (small) polyoxometalates

Apart from several new structure determinations (Table 20), the chemistry of polyoxoanions incorporating rings of five and six MO_6 octahedra, $[(XO_3)_2M_5O_{15}]^{n-}$, $[(XO_3)_2M_6O_{18}]^{n-}$, $[(XO_6)M_6O_{18}]^{n-}$, and $[{X(OH)_6}M_6O_{18}]^{n-}$, has not developed significantly since about 1980. The majority of these complexes are relatively labile molybdates, and the hexamolybdo anions are occasionally isolated in nonplanar protonated forms.

Bi-capped versions of the Anderson structure are found with $[(As^{III}_{3}O_{3})_{2}(Co^{II}Mo_{6}O_{24})]^{4-307}$ and $[H_{x}XMo_{6}O_{18}{RC(CH_{2}O)_{3}}_{2}]^{(6-m-x)-}(X^{m+}_{2} = Fe^{3+}, Ni^{2+}, Zn^{2+}).^{308}$ The arsenite complex was isolated from a reaction between $Co(H_{2}O)_{6}^{2+}$ and $[As^{III}_{3}Mo_{3}O_{15}]^{3-}$, an anion that was probably first reported in the nineteenth century. The structure of the latter and its tungstate analogue, of



Figure 17 $[(P_2O_7)_2Mo_{30}O_{90}]^{8-}$.



Figure 18 $[As_2Mo_{12}O_{42}]^{6-}$.

Formula	X	References
$[X_2Mo_5O_{15}]^{4-}$	HOPO ₃	280
	HPO ₃	281
	RPO ₃	282-284
	RAsO ₃	285
	OSO ₃	286-288
	SeO ₃	289
$[XMo_6O_{18}]^{n-}$	Cu(OH) ₆	290
	$Al(OH)_6$	291
	$Co^{III}(OH)_6$	292-294
	In ^{III} (OH) ₆	295
	$Pt^{IV}O_6^a$	296-298
	Sb ^V O ₆ ^{-b}	299
$[XW_6O_{18}]^{n-}$	Mn ^{IV} O ₆	300
	Pt ^{IV} O ₆	301,302
	Sb ^V O ₆ ^b	303
	Te ^{VI}	304
$[X_2Mo_6O_{25}H]^{5-}$	RAsO ₃	305
$[X_2W_6O_{25}H]^{5-}$	RAsO ₃	306

Table 20Recent structure determinations of penta- and hexametalate
heteropolyanions.

^a Both D_{3d} (Anderson) and $C_{2\nu}$ (heptamolybdate) structures have been observed. ^b The molybdate has the $C_{2\nu}$ structure and the tungstate has the Anderson (D_{3d}) structure.

approximate C_s symmetry, incorporates a trigonal assembly of three edge-shared MO₆ octahedra to which is attached a "linear" As₃O₄ group.³⁰⁷

The ring of six edge- and corner-shared MoO₆ octahedra observed in the diphosphate complexes, described in the previous section, has also been found recently in an extensive class of amino-acid derivatives $[XMo_6O_{21}(O_2CC(R)NH_3)_3]^{2,3-}$ (X = As^{III}, Sb^{III}, Bi^{III}, Se^{IV}, Te^{IV}).³⁰⁹

4.10.3.9 Lanthanide and Actinide Heteroatoms

Polyoxometalates incorporating lanthanide (Ln) and actinide (An) heteroatoms were, by about 1980, represented by (i) $[LnL_2]^{n-}$ complexes (L = monovacant lacunary anion, $[W_5O_{18}]^{6-}$, $[XM_{11}O_{39}]^{n-}$, and α_2 - $[X_2M_{17}O_{61}]^{n-}$; M = Mo, W) that were initially characterized by Weakley; and (ii) the dodecamolybometalates $[(Ln/An)^{IV}Mo_{12}O_{42}]^{8-}$. In the Weakley-type complexes, the Ln (and subsequently, An^{IV}) heteroatoms adopt an approximately square-antiprism coordination geometry, whereas the heteroatoms in the dodecamolybdates have approximate icosahedral coordination (Figure 19).

In the last two decades, since about 1980, there has been an explosion of papers on these and other lanthanide/actinide polyoxometalates driven by several interests, e.g., radioactive-waste teatment, luminescence and emission, and other solid-state properties.

The Weakley complexes (i) can be viewed as 1:2 coordination complexes of tetradentate lacunary anion ligands. Structural investigations of the decatungstometalates are summarized in Table 21, and the paramagnetic shifts of tungsten NMR lines have been recorded for several of these complexes.³¹⁰ Since about 1990 the variety of monovacant lacunary anion ligands in such complexes has been extended; see Table 22. Some conditional formation constants have been determined, (Table 23) and the 1:1 complexes, $[Ln(L)(H_2O)_x]^{n-}$, where L is a Keggin- or Wells–Dawson-derived lacunary anion, have been characterized in solution by electrochemistry³⁴⁸ and by NMR spectroscopy^{349–351}; the number of coordinated water molecules, *x*, has been determined by luminescence-lifetime measurements^{345,351,352}. The 1:1 complexes are prone to association in solution³⁵³ and yield dimeric anions or extended chain structures upon crystallization (Figure 20).^{349,354} Tungsten-NMR investigations of the 1:2 complexes of the Keggin- and Wells–Dawson-derived lacunary anions which have molecular *C*₂ point symmetry in the solid state reveal that ligand rotation occurs in solution to introduce additional mirror symmetry. The rotation is restricted for complexes of the smaller lanthanides³⁵⁵ and for complexes of the α_1 isomer of $[P_2W_{17}O_{61}]^{10-.341}$ Ligand-exchange reactions have been observed, leading to mixed-ligand complexes such as $[U(PW_{11}O_{39})(P_2W_{17}O_{61})]^{13-}$, $[U(\alpha_1-P_2W_{17}O_{61})-(\alpha_2-P_2W_{17}O_{61})]^{16-}$, and $[Eu(BW_{11}O_{39})(W_5O_{18})]^{10-.356-358}$

Studies of the interaction of lanthanide cations with multivacant lacunary tungstates have shown that a variety of "composite" polyoxoanions are formed. There is currently no end in sight to the range of compositions and structures possible. Although fairly simple sandwich complexes are formed (Table 14) with A- $[XW_9O_{34}]^n$, more elaborate assemblies have been produced, especially from precursors such as B- $[X^{III}W_9O_{33}]^9$, or directly from the components, e.g., AsO₃³⁻, WO₄²⁻, and Ln³⁺. Table 24 lists some structurally characterized behemoths that have been shown to possess solution integrity by NMR spectroscopy.

The incorporation of the uranyl cation UO_2^{2+} into polytungstate structures has recently been investigated. In all cases so far reported (Table 25), the uranium atoms adopt a pentagonal-bipyramidal coordination geometry.

Apart from some Weakley-type complexes (Table 22), there has been little systematic investigation of lanthanide–molybdate complexes. Multinuclear NMR studies of solutions of the well-established dodecamolybdates $[M^{IV}Mo_{12}O_{42}]^{8-}$ (M = Ce, U), with a range of di- and trivalent transition-metal and lanthanide cations, show the formation of complexes incorporating two metal cations. In most cases these complexes are labile on the NMR timescale.^{368–370}

Several examples of anions with the stoichiometry Ln:Mo = 4:29 have been reported. The structures reveal an assembly of four heptamolybdate anions bridged to a central MoO_4^{2-} group by the lanthanide cations, i.e., $[Ln_4(H_2O)_{16}(MoO_4)(Mo_7O_{24})_4]^{14-}$ (Figure 27).³⁷¹⁻³⁷⁴ It is unclear whether this assembly survives in solution.

4.10.4.10 Peroxo, Fluoro, and Thio Derivatives

Peroxo derivatives of polymolybdates and polytungstates were reviewed in 1994.³⁷⁵ The solution chemistry of isopolyoxo(peroxo)molybdates and -tungstates has recently been investigated by ¹⁷O



	0	
Formula	Heteroatom	References
$\frac{\left[\text{Ln}(\text{W}_5\text{O}_{19})_2\right]^{9-}}{\left[\text{An}(\text{W}_5\text{O}_{19})_2\right]^{8-}}$	$Ln^{III} = Pr$, Nd, Sm, Eu, Gd, Tb, Dy $An^{IV} = Np$, Th	311–319 320,321

 Table 21
 Decatungstolanthanates and -actinates.

Table 22Recent examples of Weakley-type polyoxometalate complexes, $[(Ln,An)L_2]^{n-}$.

L	X		References
$\frac{[X^{x+} Mo_{11}O_{39}]^{(12-n)-}}{\alpha - [X^{x+} W_{11}O_{39}]^{(12-n)-}}$	P^V , As^V , Si P^V , As^V , Si, Ge^{IV} ,	Ln ^{III} Ln ^{III}	322-325
	$Ti^{IV}(?), Zr^{IV}(?), Mn(?),$ B. Ga ^{III} , Cu ^{II}		326-335
β_{n} -[SiW ₁₁ O ₃₉] ⁸⁻ α_{2} -[X ₂ M ₁₇ O ₆₁] ¹⁰⁻	P (Mo, W), As (W)	Ln ^{III} Ln ^{III}	331,332
$\alpha_1 - [P_2 W_{17} O_{61}]_{0}^{10-1}$		Ln_{III}^{III} , Th^{IV} , U^{IV}	336–341 341
$\beta - [P_2 W_{17} O_{61}]^{10-1}$		Ln ^{III}	342

Table 23 Formation constants for $[(Ln,An)L_x]^{n-}$ (x = 1, 2).

	$log \beta_I$	$log \beta_2$	Medium	References
$[PW_{11}O_{20}]^{7-}$				
Ce ^{III}	6.2 ± 0.2	10.2 ± 0.2	?	343
	8.7	15.4	1 M LiNO ₃	344
Ce ^{IV}	22.9	33.5	1 M LiNO ₃	344
$[SiW_{11}O_{20}]^{8-}$				
Ce ^{III}	9.4	15.8	1 M LiNO ₂	344
Ce ^{IV}	24.6	35.0	1 M LiNO_2	344
$\alpha_1 - [P_2 W_{17} O_{c1}]^{10-1}$	2	2010	1112 211 (0)3	011
Ce ^{III}	6.6	8.1	1 M LiNO ₂	344
Ce ^{IV}	21.7	27.9	1 M LiNO_2	344
$\alpha_{2} = [P_{2}W_{17}O_{c1}]^{10-1}$	21.7	21.9		511
Ce ^{III}	8.8	14.8	1 M LiNO ₂	344
	1.74 ± 0.05	0.3 ± 0.5	1 M HNO_{2}	344
Nd ^{III}	1 54	0.5 ± 0.5	$2 M HNO_{2}$	345
Am ^{III}	1.54	54	1 M HNO	346
7 x iii	1.9	3.4	$2 M HNO_2$	345
Ce^{IV}	23.1	33.6	1 M Lino	344
ee	15.1 ± 0.3	10.6 ± 0.3	1 M HNO	344
I IIV	13.1 ± 0.3	19.0 ± 0.3	2 M HNO	345
Np ^{IV}	~7	11.4	2 M HNO_3	245
INP Du ^{IV}	$\leq \prime$	>12	$2 M HNO_3$	245
Pu Am ^{IV}	≥ 0	$\frac{\geq 15}{22}$	2 MI IINO_3	343 246
Am		32	pH 0.3-6.0	340
۸V		9	$\frac{1}{1} \text{ MI HNO}_3$	347
Am		0	рн 0.5-6.0	340

NMR spectroscopy and electrospray mass spectrometry.³⁷⁶ Other research in this area has focused mainly on the catalytic activities of the Venturello anion, $[PO_4\{WO(O_2)_2\}_2]^{3-}$,³⁷⁷ and complexes that are structurally related to this. These and other peroxo-containing heteropolyanions that have been reported recently are summarized in Table 26.

Polyoxotungstates in which internal oxygen atoms of Keggin and Wells–Dawson structures had been replaced by one or more fluorines were first described by Chauveau and by Baker in the 1970s. In 1990, Baker *et al.*³⁹¹ showed that the hexafluoro-substituted Wells–Dawson anion contained a nonexchangeable sodium cation at the center of the structure (trigonal prismatic NaF₆ coordination site); a proton is incorporated in each of the two OF₃ central tetrahedra, $[(HOF_3)_2NaW_{18}O_{56}]^{7-}$. Several transition-metal-substituted versions of this anion have been





Figure 20 Association of 1:1 Weakley complexes: $[\{Ce(H_2O)_4(\alpha_2 - P_2W_{17}O_{61})\}_2]^{14-}$ and $\{[Ce(H_2O)_3(\alpha_2 - SiW_{11}O_{39})]^{5-}\}_{\infty}$.

 Table 24
 Examples of large polyoxometalate–lanthanide complexes.

Formula		Molar mass	References
$\overline{[Ln_2(H_2O)_2(SbW_9O_{33})(W_5O_{18})_2]^{15-}}$		5,056	359
(Ln = Y, Sm, Er)			
$[{Ln_3O(OH)_3(H_2O)_3}_2Al_2(Nb_6O_{19})_5]^{26-}$		5,531	360,361
(Ln = Eu, Er, Lu)			
$[Ce_3(CO_3)(SbW_9O_{33})(W_5O_{18})_3]^{20-}$		6,406	362
$[Eu_{3}(H_{2}O)_{3}(SbW_{9}O_{33})(W_{5}O_{18})_{3}]^{18-}$	Figure 21	6,436	363
$[Ce_2(H_2O)_7(WO_2)_2(AsW_9O_{33})_3]^{17-}$	0	7,611	364
$[Ce_4(OH)_2(H_2O)_9(P_2W_{16}O_{59})_2]^{14-}$	Figure 22	8,652	365
$[Y_8(PW_{10}O_{37})_4(W_3O_{18})]^{30-}$	e	8,997	354
$[Ln(Ln_2OH)(H_2O)_{11}(WO_2)_4]$		10,529	366
$(As \tilde{W}_{9}O_{33})_{4}]^{20-11}$,	
(Ln = Ce, Nd, Sm, Gd)			
$[Ln_{16}(H_2O)_{36}(WO_2)_4(W_2O_6)_8$	Figure 23	39,383	367
$(A_{5}W_{9}O_{33})_{12}(W_{5}O_{18})_{4}]^{76-}$	e		
(Ln = Ce, La)			

Table 25	Some polyoxotungstates	incorporating	uranyl	heterogroups.
		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		

Formula		References
$ \begin{array}{l} \hline & [(UO_2)_2(XW_9O_{34})_2]^{n-} (X = P, Si) \\ & [(UO_2)_3(AsW_9O_{33})_3(W_3O_6)(H_2O)_6]^{15-} \\ & [(UO_2)_3(H_2O)_3(AsW_9O_{33})(AsW_8O_{30})_2\{WO(H_2O)\}]^{17-} \\ & [\{M(OH_2)\}_4(UO_2)_4(OH)_2(\gamma-SiW_{10}O_{36})_4]^{22-} (M = Na, K) \\ & [Na(UO_2)_3(OH)(H_2O)_6(As_4W_{40}O_{140})(WO)]^{18-} \end{array} $	Figure 24 Figure 25 Figure 26	208,209 491 209 209 209



Figure 21 $[Eu_3(H_2O)_3(SbW_9O_{33})(W_5O_{18})_3]^{18-}$.



Figure 22 $[Ce_4(OH)_2(H_2O)_9(P_2W_{16}O_{59})_2]^{14-}$.

reported by different groups.^{392–398} Unequivocal structural characterization (location of the substituent atom) of these complexes is denied by crystallographic disorder and (especially for corresponding substituted Keggin anions) nonseparable mixtures of complexes with different numbers of fluorines.³⁹⁹ Terminal fluoro ligands are found in the complexes $[SiW_{11}O_{39}(MF)]^{5-}$ (M = Zr, Hf).⁴⁰⁰ Systematic investigation of polyoxo(thio)metalates has followed two routes. The first involves

Systematic investigation of polyoxo(thio)metalates has followed two routes. The first involves incorporation of thiometal groups into lacunary anions. Examples are $[PW_{11}O_{39}(MX)]^{4-}$ (M = Nb, Ta; X = S, Se)^{401,402}, γ -[SiW₁₀O₃₈M₂S₂]⁶⁻ (M = Mo, W), $[(PW_{11}O_{39})_2 (Mo_2S_2(OH)_2O_2)]^{10-}$, $[(PW_9O_{34})_2 \{Mo_2S_2(OH)_2O_2\}_3]^{10-,403}$ and $[(SiW_{11}O_{39})_2 \{Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_3(OH)\}_2]^{10-,404}$ The second route involves condensation reactions incorporating the $[M^V_2S_2O_2]^{2+}$ (M = Mo, W) building block. The latter process leads to a variety of cyclic structures that are templated by oxoanions and carboxylates.

4.10.4 REDUCTION: HETEROPOLY BLUES AND BROWNS

The reducibility of type-I polyoxometalates, notably the Keggin, Wells–Dawson, and Lindqvist (hexametalate) structures, to mixed-valence heteropoly blues was well established in the 1960s and



Figure 23 $[Ln_{16}(H_2O)_{36}(WO_2)_4(W_2O_6)_8(AsW_9O_{33})_{12}(W_5O_{18})_4]^{76-}$.



Figure 24 $[Na_2(UO_2)_2(SiW_9O_{34})_2]^{14-}$. The incorporated sodium cations are shown as gray spheres.

1970s. Investigation of the one-electron reduced anions by ESR spectroscopy showed that these species could be viewed as Robin–Day Class II mixed-valence systems with a "hopping" electron becoming trapped on a single metal center at low temperatures.⁴⁰⁹ The short residence time of the electron on a particular metal site at room temperature leads to well-resolved ³¹P- and ¹⁷O-NMR spectra from which the rates of intra- and intermolecular electron transfer were estimated and, for



Figure 26 $[{M(OH_2)}_4(UO_2)_4(OH)_2(\gamma-SiW_{10}O_{36})_4]^{22-}$.

 $[PW_{12}O_{40}]^{3/4-}$, compared with Marcus-theory predictions.^{410–414} With the use of mixed-metal polytungstates such as 1,4,9- $[PW_9V^{IV,V,V}_3O_{40}]^{7-}$, the number of sites with which the unpaired electron can interact is limited, and a detailed understanding of the factors affecting activation energies has been determined from variable-temperature ESR studies.^{189,415–420} The general area of



Figure 27 $[Ln_4(H_2O)_{16}(MoO_4)(Mo_7O_{24})_4]^{14-}$.

homogeneous electron transfer between polyoxometalates has been comprehensively reviewed,⁴²¹ and the consequences of ion pairing upon electron-transfer rates have been examined.⁴²²

The two-electron reduced anions are diamagnetic as a result of multipath antiferromagnetic coupling and are therefore ESR-silent, permitting observation of W-NMR spectra from which the time-averaged distribution of the "blue" electrons can be inferred.⁴²³ Circulation of the pairs of blue electrons over the polyanion structures give rise to increased diamagnetic susceptibilities that are attributed to ring currents.⁴²⁴ The magnetic properties of the one- and two-electron blues of Keggin and Wells–Dawson anions that contain paramagnetic ions in the central site and/or in one of the tungsten sites have been investigated, and these show a complicated variation in antiferromagnetic behavior.^{425,426}

Earlier electrochemical investigations had shown that reductions can proceed beyond the twoelectron stage; a recent example is the behavior of $[S_2Mo_{18}O_{62}]^{4-}$ which, like other molybdates, can be reduced by up to six electrons.^{141,427-430} Density functional theory calculations have been reported for Keggin anions treated as clathrates of XO_4^{n-} in a neutral $M_{12}O_{36}$ shell; these provide satisfactory explanations for the relative stabilities of the α - and β -structures (see Table 8) and for the first reduction steps of 2, 2, and 2 electrons.^{109,431} Several structure determinations of heteropoly blues have now been reported but, as expected, none can unambiguously locate the

Formula	References
$[PO_4{WO(O_2)_2}_4]^{3-}$	377
$[HPO_4 \{WO(O_2)_2\}]^{2-}$	378
$[PO_4{VO(O_2)_2}]_4]^{7-}$	379
$[(PhPO_3){MoO(O_2)_2}_2{MoO(O_2)_2(H_2O)}]^{2-}$	380
$[Ph_2PO_2\{WO(O_2)_2\}_2]^-$	381
$[Ph_2PO_2\{MoO(O_2)_2(H_2O)\}]^-$	381
$[Me_2AsO_2\{MoO(O_2)_2\}]^-$	381
$[Ph_2PO_2\{MoO(O_2)_2\}]^{-1}$	381
$[W_4O_6(O_2)_6(OH)_2(H_2O)_2]^{2-}$	380
$[MePO_{3}{MePO_{2}(OH)}W_{6}O_{13}(O_{2})_{4}(OH)_{2}]^{3-}$	382
$[XW_{11}O_{39}(NbO_2)]^{n-}$ (X = P, Si)	383,384
$[SiW_9O_{37}(NbO_2)_3]^7$	383,385
$\alpha_2 - [P_2 W_{17} O_{61} (MO_2)]^{n-}$ (M = Ti, Nb, Ta)	386–388
$\alpha - [P_2 W_{15} O_{59} (MO_2)_3]^{n-}$ (M = Ti, Nb)	387,388
$[P_2W_{12}O_{56}(NbO_2)_6]^{12-}$	389
β_3 -[CoW ₁₁ O ₃₅ (O ₂) ₄] ¹⁰⁻	390

Table 26Polyoxo(peroxo)metalates.^a

^a See also Dickman, M. H.; Pope, M. T. Chem. Rev. 1994, 94, 569-584.

reduced metal centers.^{142,432–435} Tsukerblat *et al.*^{436–438} have described a theoretical treatment of the delocalization of electron pairs in reduced Keggin and Wells–Dawson anions.

Under acidic conditions, certain Keggin polytungstate anions (with central H₂, B, Si) are reduced to heteropoly "browns" in which one or more of the triads of edge-shared WO₆ octahedra are reduced to metal-metal-bonded W^{IV} clusters. Confirmation of this composition has been provided by W-NMR spectroscopy,^{439,440} and by a crystal-structure determination of K₅[BW₉O₃₇{W^{IV}₃(OH₂)}₃].aq ⁴⁴¹ in which the anion was not disordered, in contrast to an earlier investigation of reduced metatungstate.⁴⁴² The reduced anions have been shown to undergo oxygen-atom-transfer reactions, e.g., with sulfoxides, in nonaqueous media.⁴⁴³ Reaction with excess tungstate(VI) in neutral solution leads to novel complexes in which the W^{IV}₃ cluster is capped by a W₈ group (Figure 28), [(XO₄)W^{IV}₃W^{VI}₁₇O₆₂H_x]ⁿ⁻ (X = B, Si, H₂).⁴⁴⁴

4.10.5 COMPOSITE AND MESOSCOPIC POLYOXOMETALATES

Recent years have seen the reports of increasing numbers of very large polyoxometalate anions. These may be divided into two classes: (i) "composite" anions constructed of assemblies of simpler, usually lacunary, polyanions; and (ii) mixed-valence polymolybdate anions which comprise common building blocks, e.g., Mo_8 , Mo_6 , and Mo_2 clusters that have no separate, stable existence.

In keeping with the defined scope of the present review, it would be desirable to limit discussion of these species to those which are known to remain stable in solution. While that is possible in principle for many of the polytungstates, the reduced molybdates present difficulties, as a consequence of the quadrupolar nature of 95 Mo.

The field was comprehensively reviewed in 1998⁴⁴⁵ and more focused reviews of the large polymolybdates have been published since.⁴⁴⁶⁻⁴⁴⁹

In addition to the composite anions listed in Tables 24 and 25, other complexes include $[(BiW_9O_{33})_3Bi_6(OH)_3(H_2O)_3V_4O_{10}]^{12-450}$ and $[As_6W_{65}O_{217}(H_2O)_7]^{26-}$, with a structure based on six $As^{III}W_9$ units (Figure 29).⁴⁵¹ The tetrameric (tetrahedral) assembly $[(P_2W_{15}Ti_3O_{60.5})_4]^{36-}$ proposed by Nomiya *et al.*⁴⁵² has been confirmed.⁴⁵³ A similar type of tetrahedral assembly has recently been reported for $[(UO_2)_{12}(\mu_3-O)_4(\mu_2-H_2O)_{12}(P_2W_{15}O_{56})_4]^{32-}$ by Gaunt *et al.*⁴⁵⁴

By far the most intriguing types of mesoscopic polyoxometalates are the ring-shaped and hollow polymolybdate assemblies that have been reported by Müller and colleagues during the 1990s (Table 27). These are reproducibly generated, by self-assembly processes, by reduction of aqueous molybdate solutions. The common building block in these anions is a cluster formed by an MoO₄(NO) or MoO₅ pentagonal bipyramid surrounded by five edge-shared MoO₆ octahedra. Depending upon the solution acidity, the degree of reduction, and the presence of appropriate linker groups, the pentagonal {Mo₆} clusters can be induced to form spherical (icosahedral) {Mo₇₂(Mo^V₂)₃₀}⁴⁵⁶ or {Mo₇₂(Fe^{III}₃₀)}⁴⁵⁷ "Keplerates" (Figure 30) or the cyclic {Mo₁₅₄},{Mo₁₇₆} structures (Figure 31) that were described earlier.⁴⁴⁵ More recent developments in this area include: (i) the formation and characterization of



Figure 28 $[(XO_4)W^{IV}_3W^{VI}_{17}O_{62}H_x]^{n-}$.



Figure 29 $[As_6W_{65}O_{217}(H_2O)_7]^{26-}$.

surfactant-encapsulated {Mo₁₃₂} and {Mo₅₇V₆} clusters using dimethyldioctylammonium (DODA);^{462–464} (ii) the observation that a Keggin molybdophosphate anion can be incorporated within the {Mo₇₂(Fe^{III}₃₀)} cluster;⁴⁶⁵ and (iii) the formation of a two-dimensional layer structure of {Mo₇₂(Fe^{III}₃₀)} linked by Fe–O–Fe bridges.⁴⁶⁶ The magnetic properties of {Mo₇₂(Fe^{III}₃₀)} (thirty S = 5/2 centers) have been satisfactorily explained using classical and quantum Heisenberg models.⁴⁶⁷

Even larger species have been described: the $\{Mo_{176}\}\$ anion, in aged solutions, can acquire two $\{Mo_{36}\}\$ "hubcaps" to yield an $\{Mo_{248}\}\$ cluster,⁴⁶⁸ and recently the $\{Mo_{368}\}\$ "hedgehog" (Figure 32) has been crystallized from an acidified solution of sodium molybdate and sodium dithionite.⁴⁶⁹

 Table 27
 Examples of mesoscopic polyoxomolybdates.

Formula		References
$\frac{[X_{6}\{Mo^{V}(\mu-H_{2}O)_{2}(\mu-OH)Mo^{V}\}_{3}\{Mo^{VI}_{15}(MoNO)_{2}O_{58}(H_{2}O)_{3}\}^{21-}(X=V^{IV}O(H_{2}O)_{1})}{(H_{2}O)_{2}(H_{2}O)_{2}(H_{2}O)_{2}}$	$\{Mo_{57}X_6\}$	455
$[{Mo^{V}_{2}O_{4}(CH_{3}COO)}_{30}(Mo)Mo_{5}O_{21}(H_{2}O)_{6}]_{12}]^{42-}$	$\{Mo_{132}\}$	456
$[Mo_{72}Fe_{30}O_{252}(CH_{3}COO)_{12}\{Mo_{2}O_{7}(H_{2}O)\}\{H_{2}Mo_{2}O_{8}(H_{2}O)\}(H_{2}O)_{91}]$	$\{Mo_{72}Fe_{30}\}$	457
$ [\{Mo^{VI}O_{3}(H_{2}O)\}_{10}\{V^{IV}O(H_{2}O)\}_{20}\{\{Mo^{VI})Mo^{\overline{V}I}{}_{5}O_{21}\}(H_{2}O)_{3}\}_{10} \\ (\{Mo^{VI}O_{2}(H_{2}O)\}_{5/2})_{2}(\{NaSO_{4}\}_{5})]^{20-} $	$\{Mo_{75}V_{20}\}$	458
$[Mo_{154}O_{420}(NO)_{14}(OH)_{28}(H_2O)_{70}]^{28-2}$	${Mo_{154}}$	459
$[(MoO_3)_{176}(H_2O)_{80}H_{32}]$	{Mo ₁₇₆ }	460,461
$[H_xMo_{368}O_{1032}(H_2O)_{240}(SO_4)_{48}]^{48-}$	{Mo ₃₆₈ }	469



Figure 30 {Mo₁₃₂} (reproduced by permission of Wiley–VCH Verlag from Müller, A.; Krickemeyer, E.; Bögge, H.; Schmidtmann, M.; Peters, F. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1998, 37, 3360).



Figure 31 {Mo₁₅₄} (reproduced by permission of Wiley–VCH Verlag from Müller, A.; Krickemeyer, E.; Meyer, J.; Bögge, H.; Peters, F.; Plass, W.; Diemann, E.; Dillinger, S.; Nonnenbruch, F.; Randerath, M.; Menke, C. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1995, 34, 2122).



Figure 32 {Mo₃₆₈} (reproduced by permission of Wiley–VCH Verlag from Müller, A.; Beckmann, E.; Bögge, H.; Schmidtmann, M.; Dress, A. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl.* 2002, *41*, 1162–1167).

4.10.6 ORGANOMETALLIC AND FUNCTIONALIZED DERIVATIVES

The field of organometallic and functionalized polyoxometalates is enormous and was thoroughly reviewed by Gouzerh and Proust in 1998.³⁰⁸ Subsequent, briefer reviews have focused on functionalized polyoxoanion clusters,^{470,471} and the direct functionalization of $[M_6O_{19}]^{2-}$ (M = Mo, W) by replacement of terminal oxygens with isoelectronic NAr groups has been further developed.^{472–476} The analogous Nb₆ and Ta₆ anions have been derivatized under aqueous conditions to yield $[M_6O_{19} \{MN(CO)_3\}_n]^{(8-n)-}$ (M = Nb, Ta; MN = Mn,Re) and $[Nb_6O_{19}\{Ru(p-cymene)\}_2]^{4-}$.⁴⁷⁷ Errington has explored the synthesis of polyoxometalates via controlled hydrolysis of metal alkoxides, and has reported several new "nonaqueous" species, including $[\{MeOMW_5O_{18}\}_2]^{6-}$ (M = Zr, Hf), $[W_3Nb_3O_{17}(OMe)_2]^{3-}$, $[V_6O_{11}(O_3PPh)_5]^-$, and $[V_9O_{19}(O_3PPh)_4Cl]^{2-}$.¹⁴ Complexes formed by incorporation of $\{RSn\}^{3+}$ and $\{CpTi\}^{3+}$ into lacunary anions are listed in Tables 13, 14, and 16. The products of reaction of organophosphonyl and organosilyl precursors with a variety of lacunary anions lead to a class of organic–inorganic hybrids, Table 28, that have been used for grafting into polymer matrices and the incorporation of magnetic nanoparticles.^{478,479}

 Table 28
 Organophosphonyl and organosilyl derivatives of lacunary polyoxotungstates.

Formula	References
$[{PhP(O)}_{2}XW_{11}O_{39}]^{n-}$ (X = P, Si)	480
$[\{C_6H_{11}P(O)\}_2XW_{11}O_{39}]^{n-}$ (X = P, Si, B, Ga)	481
$\alpha_2 [Q_2 P_2 W_{17} O_{61}]^{6-} \{Q = PhP(O), PhP(S), C_6 H_{11} P(O), C_6 H_{11} P(S)\}$	482
$[{RP(O)}_2(\gamma-SiW_{10}O_{36})]^{4-}$	483
$[\{RSi_2O\}(\gamma - SiW_{10}O_{36})]^{4-}$	484
$[\{RSiO\}_4(\gamma - SiW_{10}O_{36})]^{4-}$	484
$[{t-BuSiOH}_2(\gamma-SiW_{10}O_{36})]^{3-}$	485
$[{RP(O)}_2PW_9O_{34}]^{5-}$	480-482
$\alpha - [Q_2 P W_9 O_{34}]^{5-} \{Q = PhP(S), C_6 H_{11} P(O)\}$	489
$[SiW_9O_{34}(SiR)_3(O_3SiR)]$	490

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

It is a pleasure to acknowledge the long-term support of our polyoxometalate research by the National Science Foundation. I am also grateful to Professors Achim Müller, Lage Pettersson, and Ulrich Kortz for providing some of the Figures, and to Ms. Nebebech Belai for her considerable help in the preparation of all Figures.

4.10.7 REFERENCES

- 1. Tytko, K. H.; Mehmke, J. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1983, 503, 67-86.
- 2. Pettersson, L.; Hedman, B.; Andersson, I.; Ingri, N. Chem. Scr. 1983, 22, 254-264.
- 3. Pettersson, L.; Hedman, B.; Nenner, A. M.; Andersson, I. Acta Chem. Scand., Ser. A 1985, A39, 499-506.
- 4. Pettersson, L.; Andersson, I.; Hedman, B. Chem. Scr. 1985, 25, 309-317.
- 5. Klemperer, W. G.; Shum, W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1977, 99, 3544.
- 6. Harrison, A. T.; Howarth, O. W. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1985, 1953-1957.
- 7. Crans, D. C.; Rithner, C. D.; Theisen, L. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 2901-2908.
- 8. Pettersson, L.; Andersson, I.; Howarth, O. W. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 4032-4033.
- 9. Hou, D.; Hagen, K. S.; Hill, C. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 5864-5866.
- Hou, D.; Hagen, K. S.; Hill, C. L. J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Commun. 1993, 426–428.
 Day, V. W.; Klemperer, W. G.; Yaghi, O. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989, 111, 4518–4519.
 Day, V. W.; Klemperer, W. G.; Yaghi, O. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989, 111, 5959–5961.
- 13. Klemperer, W. G.; Marquart, T. A.; Yaghi, O. M. Mater. Chem. Phys. 1991, 29, 97-104.
- 14. Errington, R. J. In Polyoxometalate Chemistry: From Topology via Self-assembly to Applications; Pope, M. T., Müller, A., Eds.; Kluwer: Dordrecht, Netherlands, 2001; pp 7-22.
- 15. Hayashi, Y.; Fukuyama, K.; Takatera, T.; Uehara, A. Chem. Lett. 2000, 770-771.
- 16. Ozeki, T.; Yamase, T.; Naruke, H.; Sasaki, Y. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn 1994, 67, 3249-3253.
- 17. Tytko, K. H.; Bäthe, G.; Hirschfeld, E. R.; Mehmke, K.; Stellhorn, D. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1983, 503, 43-66.
- 18. Tytko, K. H.; Bäthe, G.; Cruywagen, J. J. Inorg. Chem. 1985, 24, 3132-3136.
- 19. Pettersson, L.; Andersson, I.; Oehman, L. O. Acta Chem. Scand., Ser. A 1985, A39, 53-58.
- 20. Yagasaki, A.; Andersson, I.; Pettersson, L. Inorg. Chem. 1987, 26, 3926-3933.
- 21. Pettersson, L. In Polyoxometalates: From Platonic Solids to Anti-retroviral Activity; Pope, M. T., Müller, A., Eds.; Kluwer: Dordrecht, Netherlands, 1993; pp 27-40.
- 22. Taube, F.; Andersson, I.; Pettersson, L. In Polyoxometalate Chemistry: From Topology via Self-assembly to Applications; Pope, M. T., Müller, A., Eds.; Kluwer: Dordrecht, Netherlands, 2001; pp 161-173.
- 23. Klemperer, W. G.; Shum, W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1976, 98, 8291.
- 24. Niven, M. L.; Cruywagen, J. J.; Heyns, J.; Bernard, B. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1991, 2007-2011.
- 25. Krebs, B.; Paulat-Boeschen, I. Acta Crystallogr. Ser.B 1976, B32, 1697.
- 26. Krebs, B.; Stiller, S.; Tytko, K. H.; Mehmke, J. Eur. J. Solid State Inorg. Chem. 1991, 28, 883-903.
- 27. Müller, A.; Krickemeyer, E.; Dillinger, S.; Bögge, H.; Plass, W.; Proust, A.; Dloczik, L.; Menke, C.; Meyer, J.; Rohlfing, R. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1994, 620, 599-619.
- 28. Rocchiccioli-Deltcheff, C.; Thouvenot, R.; Fouassier, M. Inorg. Chem. 1982, 21, 30-35.
- 29. Rocchiccioli-Deltcheff, C.; Fournier, M.; Franck, R.; Thouvenot, R. J. Mol. Struct. 1984, 114, 49-56.
- 30. Chen, Q.; Ma, L.; Liu, S.; Zubieta, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989, 111, 5944-5946.
- 31. Maksimovskaya, R. I.; Burtseva, K. G. Polyhedron 1985, 4, 1559-1562.
- 32. Hastings, J. J.; Howarth, O. W. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1992, 209-215.
- 33. Lehmann, T.; Fuchs, J. Z. Naturforsch. 43b 1988, 89-93.
- 34. Awad, M. K.; Anderson, A. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 1603.
- 35. Chemseddine, A.; Sanchez, C.; Livage, J.; Launay, J. P.; Fournier, M. Inorg. Chem. 1984, 23, 2609-2613.
- 36. Chojnacka, J.; Hodorowicz, E. J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem. 1981, 43, 3175-3178.
- 37. Duncan, D. C.; Fox, M. A. J. Phys. Chem. A 1998, 102, 4559-4567
- 38. Ermolenko, L. P.; Giannotti, C. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 2 1996, 1205-1210.
- 39. Hodorowicz, E.; Sagnowski, S. J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem. 1981, 43, 3179-3180.
- 40. Kothe, T.; Martschke, R.; Fischer, H. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 2 1998, 503-508.
- 41. Nomiya, K.; Miyazaki, T.; Maeda, K.; Miwa, M. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1987, 127, 65-69.
- 42. Zakrzewski, J.; Giannotti, C. J. Photochem. Photobiol. A 1991, 57, 453-455.
- 43. Yamase, T.; Takabayashi, N.; Kaji, M. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1984, 793-799.
- 44. Yamase, T. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1987, 1597-1604.
- 45. Yamase, T.; Usami, T. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1988, 183-190.
- 46. Jen, S. F.; Anderson, A. B.; Hill, C. L. J. Phys. Chem. 1992, 96, 5658-5662.
- 47. Duncan, D. C.; Netzel, T. L.; Hill, C. L. Inorg. Chem 1995, 34, 4640-4646.
- 48. Himeno, S.; Yoshihara, M.; Maekawa, M. Inorg. Chim. Acta 2000, 298, 165-171.
- 49. Hartl, H.; Palm, R.; Fuchs, J. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1993, 32, 1492-1494.
- 50. Fuchs, J.; Palm, R.; Hartl, H. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1996, 35, 2651-2653.
- 51. Errington, R. J.; Kerlogue, M. D.; Richards, D. G. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1993, 649-651.
- 52. Himeno, S.; Yoshihara, M.; Maekawa, M. Inorg. Chem. Commun. 2001, 4, 5-8.
- 53. Howarth, O. W. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans 1989, 1915-1923.
- 54. Howarth, O. W.; Pettersson, L.; Andersson, I. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1991, 1799-1812.
- 55. Maksimovskaya, R. I.; Chumachenko, N. N. Polyhedron 1987, 6, 1813-1821.
- 56. Bjornberg, A. Acta Crystallogr., Ser.B 1979, B35, 1989.
- 57. Bjornberg, A. Acta Crystallogr. Ser.B 1979, B35, 1995.

- 58. Bjornberg, A. Acta Crystallogr. Ser.B 1980, B58, 1530.
- 59. Himeno, S.; Osakai, T.; Saito, A. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn 1991, 64, 21-28.
- 60. Howarth, O. W.; Hastings, J. J. Polyhedron 1990, 9, 143-146.
- 61. Hastings, J. J.; Howarth, O. W. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1995, 2891-2893.
- 62. Rocchiccioli-Deltcheff, C.; Fournier, M.; Franck, R.; Thouvenot, R. Spectrosc. Lett. 1986, 19, 765-781.
- 63. Andersson, I.; Hastings, J. J.; Howarth, O. W.; Pettersson, L. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1994, 1061–1066.
- 64. Bino, A.; Cohen, S.; Heitner-Wirguin, C. Inorg. Chem. 1982, 21, 429-431.
- 65. Baxter, S. M.; Wolczanski, P. T. Inorg. Chem. 1989, 28, 3263-3264.
- 66. Hayashi, Y.; Miyakoshi, N.; Shinguchi, T.; Uehara, A. Chem. Lett. 2001, 170-171.
- 67. Johnson, G. K.; Schlemper, E. O. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1978, 100, 3645.
- 68. Müller, A.; Rohlfing, R.; Krickemeyer, E.; Bögge, H. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1993, 32, 909.
- 69. Müller, A.; Döring, J.; Bögge, H. J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Commun. 1991, 273-274.
- 70. Gatteschi, D.; Tsukerblatt, B.; Barra, A. L.; Brunel, L. C.; Müller, A.; Döring, J. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 2114-2117.
- 71. Müller, A.; Penk, M.; Döring, J. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 4935-4939.
- 72. Barra, A. L.; Gatteschi, D.; Tsukerblatt, B. S.; Döring, J.; Müller, A.; Brunel, L. C. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 5132–5134.
- 73. Yamase, T.; Makino, H.; Naruke, H.; Wery, A. M. S. J. Chem. Lett. 2000, 1350-1351.
- 74. Müller, A.; Döring, J.; Khan, M. I.; Wittneben, V. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1991, 30, 210-212.
- Müller, A.; Hovemeier, K.; Rohlfing, R. Angew. Chem. 1992, 104, 1214–1216 (See also Angew Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1992, 31(9) 1192–1195).
- 76. Müller, A.; Döring, J. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1988, 27, 1721.
- 77. Müller, A.; Penk, M.; Rohlfing, R.; Krickemeyer, E.; Döring, J. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1990, 29, 926-927.
- 78. Yamase, T.; Ohtaka, K. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1994, 18, 2599-2608.
- 79. Shao, M.; Leng, J.; Pan, Z.; Zeng, H.; Tang, Y. Gaodeng Xuexiao Huaxue Xuebao 1990, 11, 280-285.
- DeBord, J. R. D.; Haushalter, R. C.; Meyer, L. M.; Rose, D. J.; Zapf, P. J.; Zubieta, J. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1997, 256, 165–168.
- 81. Müller, A.; Penk, M.; Krickemeyer, E.; Bögge, H.; Walberg, H. J. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1988, 27, 1719–1721.
- Müller, A.; Krickemeyer, E.; Penk, M.; Rohlfing, R.; Armatage, A.; Bögge, H. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1991, 30, 1674–1677.
- 83. Müller, A.; Reuter, H.; Dillinger, S. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl 1995, 34, 2328-2361.
- 84. Yamase, T.; Suzuki, M.; Ohtaka, K. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1997, 2463-2472.
- 85. Müller, A.; Diemann, E.; Krickemeyer, E.; Che, S. Naturwissenschaften 1993, 80, 77.
- 86. Müller, A.; Rohlfing, R.; Döring, J.; Penk, M. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1991, 30, 588-590.
- 87. Menke, C.; Diemann, E.; Müller, A. J. Mol. Struct. 1997, 436-437, 35-47.
- 88. Gatteschi, D.; Pardi, L.; Barra, A. L.; Müller, A. Mol. Eng 1993, 3, 157-169.
- 89. Barra, A.-L.; Gatteschi, D.; Pardi, L.; Müller, A.; Döring, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 8509-8514.
- 90. Gatteschi, D.; Pardi, L.; Barra, A.-L.; Müller, A. Nature 1991, 354, 463-465.
- Müller, A.; Sessoli, R.; Krickemeyer, E.; Bögge, H.; Meyer, J.; Gatteschi, D.; Pardi, L.; Westphal, J.; Hovemeier, K.; Rohlfing, R.; Döring, J.; Hellweg, F.; Beugholt, C.; Schmidtmann, M. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 5239–5250.
- 92. Gatteschi, D.; Tsukerblat, B. S. Mol. Phys. 1993, 79, 121-143.
- 93. Khan, M. I.; Müller, A.; Dillinger, S.; Bögge, H.; Chen, Q.; Zubieta, J. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1993, 32, 1780–1783.
- 94. Müller, A.; Beugholt, C.; Koegerler, P.; Bögge, H.; Bud'ko, S.; Luban, M. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 5176-5177.
- Müller, A.; Meyer, J.; Krickemeyer, E.; Beugholt, C.; Bögge, H.; Peters, F.; Schmidtmann, M.; Koegerler, P.; Koop, M. J.Chem. -Eur. J. 1998, 4, 1000–1006.
- 96. Khan, M. I.; Zubieta, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 10058-10059.
- 97. Khan, M. I.; Chen, Q.; Salta, J.; O'Connor, C. J.; Zubieta, J. Inorg. Chem 1996, 35, 1880-1901.
- 98. Mialane, P.; Dolbecq, A.; Lisnard, L.; Mallard, A.; Marrot, J.; Secheresse, F. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 2002, 41, 2398–2401.
- 99. Baker, L. C. W.; Figgis, J. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1970, 92, 3794.
- 100. Tsiganok, L. P.; Vishnikin, A. B.; Maksimovskaya, R. I. Polyhedron 1989, 8, 2739-2742.
- 101. Himeno, S.; Kitazumi, I.; Sano, K.-I. Anal. Sci. 1999, 15, 35-40.
- 102. Himeno, S.; Saito, A. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1990, 171, 135-137.
- 103. Himeno, S.; Miyashita, K.; Saito, A.; Hori, T. Chem. Lett. 1990, 799-802.
- 104. Hori, T.; Himeno, S.; Tamada, O. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1996, 10, 2083-2087.
- 105. Khan, M. I.; Cevik, S.; Hayashi, R. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1999, 1651-1654.
- 106. Himeno, S.; Takamoto, M.; Ueda, T. J. Electroanal. Chem. 1999, 465, 129-135.
- 107. Thouvenot, R.; Fournier, M.; Franck, R.; Rocchiccioli-Deltcheff, C. Inorg. Chem. 1983, 23, 598-605.
- 108. Rocchiccioli-Deltcheff, C.; Fournier, M.; Franck, R.; Thouvenot, R. Inorg. Chem. 1983, 22, 207-216.
- 109. Lopez, X.; Maestre, J. M.; Bo, C.; Poblet, J.-M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 9571-9576.
- 110. Weinstock, I. A.; Cowan, J. J.; Barbuzzi, E. M. G.; Zheng, H.; Hill, C. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 10856.
- 111. Weinstock, I. A.; Cowan, J. J.; Barbuzzi, E. M. G.; Zeng, H.; Hill, C. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 4608-4617.
- 112. Tézé, A.; Hervé, G. Inorg. Synth. 1990, 27, 85-96.
- 113. Contant, R. Can. J. Chem. 1987, 65, 568-573.
- 114. Tézé, A.; Canny, J.; Gurban, L.; Thouvenot, R.; Hervé, G. Inorg. Chem 1996, 35, 1001-1005.
- 115. Tézé, A.; Cadot, E.; Bereau, V.; Hervé, G. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 2000-2004.
- 116. Nomiya, K.; Kato, K.; Miwa, M. Polyhedron 1986, 5, 811-813.
- 117. Selling, A.; Andersson, I.; Pettersson, L.; Schramm, C. M.; Downey, S. L.; Grate, J. H. Inorg. Chem 1994, 33, 3141–3150.
- 118. Chen, Q.; Hill, C. L. Inorg. Chem 1996, 35, 2403-2405.
- 119. Hu, C. J.; Duan, C. Y.; Liu, Y. J.; Lu, C. S.; Ren, X. M.; Meng, Q. J. Polyhedron 2001, 20, 2117-2121.
- 120. Müller, A.; Koop, M.; Schiffels, P.; Bögge, H. Chem. Commun. 1997, 1715-1716.
- 121. Luan, G.; Wang, E.; Han, Z.; Li, Y. Inorg. Chem. Commun. 2001, 4, 541-543.

- 122. Xu, Y.; Zhu, H.-G.; Cai, H.; You, X.-Z. Chem. Commun. 1999, 787-788.
- 123. Khan, M. I.; Chen, Q.; Zubieta, J. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 2924-2928.
- 124. Dolbecq, A.; Cadot, E.; Eisner, D.; Secheresse, F. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 4217-4223.
- 125. Ichida, H.; Nagai, K.; Sasaki, Y.; Pope, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989, 111, 586-591.
- 126. Leparulo-Loftus, M. A.; Pope, M. T. Inorg. Chem. 1987, 26, 2112-2120.
- 127. Pettersson, L.; Andersson, I.; Grate, J. H.; Selling, A. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 982-993.
- 128. Selling, A.; Andersson, I.; Grate, J. H.; Pettersson, L. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 1509-1521.
- 129. Domaille, P. J.; Watunya, G. Inorg. Chem. 1986, 25, 1239-1242.
- 130. Maksimovskaya, R. I.; Kuznetsova, L. I.; Subocheva, O. A. Bull. Acad. Sci. USSR, Div. Chem. Sci. 1987, 36, 427-431.
- 131. Domaille, P. J. Inorg. Synth. 1990, 27, 96-104.
- 132. Evans, H.T., Jr.; Pope, M. T. Inorg. Chem. 1984, 23, 501-504.
- 133. Wu, H. J. Biol. Chem. 1920, 43, 189-220.
- 134. Himeno, S.; Hori, T.; Saito, A. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn 1989, 62, 2184-2188
- 135. Hori, T.; Tamada, O.; Himeno, S. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1989, 1491-1497.
- 136. Contant, R.; Thouvenot, R. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1993, 212, 41-50.
- Acerete, R.; Hammer, C. F.; Baker, L. C. W. Inorg. Chem. 1984, 23, 1478–1482.
 Maksimovskaya, R. I.; Maksimov, G. M. Russ. J. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 40, 1319–1321.
- 139. Maksimovskaya, R. I.; Maksimov, G. M. Russ. J. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 40, 1313-1318.
- 140. Neubert, H.; Fuchs, J. Z. Naturforsch. B: Chem. Sci. 1987, 42, 951-958.
- 141. Richardt, P. J. S.; Gable, R. W.; Bond, A. M.; Wedd, A. G. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 703-709.
- 142. Richardt, P. J. S.; White, J. M.; Tregloan, P. A.; Bond, A. M.; Wedd, A. G. Can. J. Chem. 2001, 79, 613-620.
- 143. Contant, R.; Fruchart, J. M. Rev. Chim. Minerale 1974, 11, 123.
- 144. Botar, A.; Fuchs, J. Z. Naturforsch. B: Anorg. Chem., Org. Chem. 37B, 1982, 806-814.
- 145. Contant, R.; Piro-Sellem, S.; Canny, J.; Thouvenot, R. C. R. Acad. Sci., Ser. IIc: Chim. 2000, 3, 157-161.
- 146. Preyssler, C. Bull. Soc. Chim. Fr. 1970, 30.
- 147. Alizadeh, M. H.; Harmalker, S. P.; Jeannin, Y.; Martin-Frère, J.; Pope, M. T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1985, 107, 2662-2669.
- 148. Kim, K.-C.; Pope, M. T.; Gama, G. J.; Dickman, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 11164-11170.
- 149. Creaser, I.; Heckel, M. C.; Neitz, R. J.; Pope, M. T. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 1573-1578.
- 150. Antonio, M. R.; Soderholm, L. Inorg. Chem 1994, 33, 5988-5993.
- 151. Dickman, M. H.; Gama, G. J.; Kim, K.-C.; Pope, M. T. J. Cluster Sci. 1996, 7, 567-583.
- 152. Antonio, M. R.; Williams, C. W.; Soderholm, L. J. Alloys Comp. 1998, 271/3, 846-849.
- 153. Lis, S.; Elbanowski, M.; But, S. Acta Phys. Pol. A 1996, 90, 361-366.
- 154. Szyczewski, A.; Lis, S.; Kruczynski, Z.; Pietrzak, J.; But, S.; Elbanowski, M. Acta Phys. Pol. A 1996, 90, 345-351.
- 155. Lis, S.; But, S. Mater. Sci. Forum 1999, 315-317, 431-438.
- 156. Lis, S.; But, S. J. Alloys Comp. 2000, 300-301, 370-376.
- 157. Lis, S. J. Alloys Comp. 2000, 300-301, 88-94.
- 158. Lis, S. Wiad. Chem. 1998, 27-39.
- 159. Antonio, M. R.; Soderholm, L. J. Alloys Comp. 1997, 250, 541-543.
- 160. Combs-Walker, L. A.; Hill, C. L. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 4016-4026.
- 161. Pettersson, L.; Andersson, I.; Oehman, L. O. Inorg. Chem. 1986, 25, 4726-4733.
- 162. Pettersson, L. Mol. Eng 1993, 3, 29-42.
- 163. Chorghade, G. S.; Pope, M. T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 5134-5138.
- 164. Katsoulis, D. E.; Pope, M. T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1984, 106, 2737-2738.
- 165. Sveshnikov, N. N.; Pope, M. T. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 591-594.
- 166. Rong, C.; Pope, M. T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 2932-2938.
- 167. Canny, J.; Thouvenot, R.; Tézé, A.; Hervé, G.; Leparulo-Loftus, M.; Pope, M. T. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 976-981.
- 168. Zhang, X.-Y.; O'Connor, C. J.; Jameson, G. B.; Pope, M. T. Inorg. Chem 1996, 35, 30-34.
- 169. Nozaki, C.; Kiyoto, I.; Minai, Y.; Misono, M.; Mizuno, N. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 5724-5729.
- 170. Wang, X.-H.; Sun, Z.-G.; Liu, J.-F. Chin. J. Chem. 1999, 17, 526-530.
- 171. Tézé, A.; Michelon, M.; Hervé, G. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 5666-5669.
- 172. Wassermann, K.; Lunk, H.-J.; Palm, R.; Fuchs, J.; Steinfeldt, N.; Stoesser, R.; Pope, M. T.; Berlin, G. Inorg. Chem 1996, 35, 3273-3279.
- 173. Errington, R. J.; Wingad, R. L.; Clegg, W.; Elsegood, M. R. J. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 2000, 39, 3884–3886.
- 174. Liu, J.; Ortega, F.; Sethuraman, P.; Katsoulis, D. E.; Costello, C. E.; Pope, M. T. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1992, 1901-1906.
- 175. Wassermann, K.; Lunk, H.-J.; Palm, R.; Fuchs, J. Acta Crystallogr. Sect. C 1994, C50, 348-350.
- 176. Wassermann, K.; Palm, R.; Lunk, H.-J.; Fuchs, J.; Steinfeldt, N.; Stoesser, R. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 5029-5036.
- 177. Liu, J.; Zhan, X.; Chen, Y.; Li, G.; Wang, J. Transition Met. Chem. 1995, 20, 327-329.
- 178. Finke, R. G.; Droege, M. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1984, 106, 7274-7277.
- 179. Lin, Y.; Weakley, T. J. R.; Rapko, B.; Finke.; Richard, G. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 5095-5101.
- 180. Meng, L.; Liu, J. F. Chin. Chem. Lett 1995, 6, 265-266.
- 181. Yamase, T.; Ozeki, T.; Sakamoto, H.; Nishiya, S.; Yamamoto, A. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn 1993, 66, 103-108.
- 182. Xin, F.; Pope, M. T.; Long, G. J.; Russo, U. Inorg. Chem 1996, 35, 1207-1213.
- 183. Domaille, P. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1984, 106, 7677-7687.
- 184. Kawafune, I.; Matsubayashi, G. Kagaku to Kogyo (Osaka) 1993, 67, 94-98.
- 185. Kawafune, I.; Matsubayashi, G. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn 1996, 69, 359-365.
- 186. Kawafune, I.; Tamura, H.; Matsubayashi, G. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn 1997, 70, 2455-2460.
- 187. Kawafune, I.; Matsubayashi, G. Chem. Lett. 1992, 1869-1872.
- 188. Rusu, M.; Muresan, L.; Tomsa, A. R.; Rusu, D.; Marcu, G. Synth. React. Inorg. Met.-Org. Chem. 2000, 30, 499-511.
- 189. Harmalker, S. P.; Leparulo, M. A.; Pope, M. T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1983, 105, 4286-4292.
- 190. Finke, R. G.; Rapko, B.; Saxton, R. J.; Domaille, P. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108, 2947-2960.

- 191. Edlund, D. J.; Saxton, R. J.; Lyon, D. K.; Finke, R. G. Organometallics 1988, 7, 1692.
- 192. Nomiya, K.; Kaneko, M.; Kasuga, N. C.; Finke, R. G.; Pohl, M. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 1469-1472.
- 193. Xin, F.; Pope, M. T. Organometallics 1993, 13, 4881-4886.
- 194. Gómez-Garcia, C. J.; Coronado, E.; Ouahab, L. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1992, 31, 649-651.
- 195. Kortz, U.; Tézé, A.; Hervé, G. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 2038-2042.
- 196. Galan-Mascaros, J. R.; Gómez-Garcia, C. J.; Borrás-Almenar, J. J.; Coronado, E. Adv. Mater. 1994, 6, 221-223.
- 197. Clemente-Juan, J. M.; Clemente-Leon, M.; Coronado, E.; Forment, A.; Gaita, A.; Gómez-Garcia, C. J.; Martinez-Ferrero, E. In Polyoxometalate Chemistry for Nano-composite Design; Yamase, T., Pope, M. T., Eds.; Kluwer Academic/Plenum: New York, 2002; pp 157–168. 198. Tourné, C. M.; Tourné, G. F.; Weakley, T. J. R. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1986, 2237–2242.
- 199. Knoth, W. H.; Domaille, P. J.; Farlee, R. D. Organometallics 1985, 4, 62-68.
- 200. Knoth, W. H.; Domaille, P. J.; Harlow, R. L. Inorg. Chem. 1986, 25, 1577-1584.
- 201. Finke, R. G.; Rapko, B.; Weakley, T. J. R. Inorg. Chem. 1989, 28, 1573-1579.
- 202. Liu, J.; Liu, Z.; Wang, E.; Qu, L. Huaxue Xuebao 1991, 49, 782-787.
- 203. Meng, L.; Liu, J.-F. Chem. Res. Chin. Univ 1995, 11, 64-66.
- 204. Wang, X. H.; Dai, H. C.; Liu, J. F. Polyhedron 1999, 18, 2293-2300.
- 205. Rusu, M.; Tomsa, A. R.; Rusu, D.; Haiduc, I. Synth. React. Inorg. Met.-Org. Chem. 1999, 29, 951-965.
- 206. Xin, F.; Pope, M. T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 7731-7736.
- 207. Botar, A.; Botar, B.; Gili, P.; Müller, A.; Meter, J.; Bögge, H.; Schmidtmann, M. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1996, 622, 1435-1440.
- 208. Kim, K.-C.; Pope, M. T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 8512-8517.
- 209. Kim, K.-C.; Gaunt, A.; Pope, M. T. J. Cluster Sci. 2002, 13, 423-436.
- 210. Tourné, C. M.; Tourné, G. F. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1988, 2411.
- 211. Tourné, G. F.; Tourné, C. M. Top. Mol. Organ. Eng. 1994, 10, 59-70.
- 212. Weakley, T. J. R.; Evans, H. T. J.; Showell, J. S.; Tourné, G. F.; Tourné, C. M. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1973, 139.
- 213. Gómez-Garcia, C. J.; Casañ-Pastor, N.; Coronado, E.; Baker, L. C, W.; Pourroy, G.; Mizuno, N.; Watanabe, T.; Mori, H.; Misono; Makoto J. Appl. Phys. 1990, 67, 5995-5997.
- 214. Casañ-Pastor, N.; Bas-Serra, J.; Coronado; Eugenio; Pourroy, G.; Baker, L. C. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 10380-10383
- 215. Gómez-Garcia, C. J.; Coronado, E.; Borrás-Almenar, J. J.; Aebersold, M.; Guedel, H. U.; Mutka, H. Physica B (Amsterdam) 1992, 180-181, 238-240.
- 216. Andres, H.; Clemente-Juan, J. M.; Basler, R.; Aebersold, M.; Guedel, H.-U.; Borrás-Almenar, J. J.; Gaita, A.; Coronado, E.; Buettner, H.; Janssen, S. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 1943-1950.
- 217. Gómez-García, C. J.; Borrás-Almenar, J. J.; Coronado, E.; Ouahab, L. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 4016-4022.
- 218. Clemente-Leon, M.; Coronado, E.; Galan-Mascaros, J.-R.; Giménez-Saiz, C.; Gómez-Garcia, C. J.; Fernandez-Otero, T. J. Mater. Chem. 1998, 8, 309-312.
- 219. Tourné, C. M.; Tourné, G. F.; Zonnevijlle, F. J. Chem. Soc. 1991, Dalton Trans., 143-155.
- 220. Neumann, R.; Gara, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc 1995, 117, 5066-5074.
- 221. Neumann, R.; Khenkin, A. M.; Dahan, M. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1995, 34, 1587-1589.
- 222. Neumann, R.; Khenkin, A. M. Inorg. Chem 1995, 34, 5753-5760.
- 223. Neumann, R.; Juwiler, D. Tetrahedron 1996, 52, 8781-8788.
- 224. Neumann, R.; Dahan, M. Nature 1997, 388, 353-355.
- 225. Neumann, R.; Khenkin, A. M. J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem. 1996, 114, 169-180.
- 226. Evans, H. T.; Tourné, C. M.; Tourné, G. F.; Weakley, T. J. R. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1986, 2699-2705.
- 227. Weakley, T. J. R.; Finke, R. G. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 1235.
- 228. Zhang, X.-Y.; Jameson, G. B.; O'Connor, C. J.; Pope, M. T. Polyhedron 1996, 15, 917-922.
- 229. Zhang, X.; Chen, Q.; Duncan, D. C.; Lachicotte, R. J.; Hill, C. L. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 4381-4386.
- 230. Krebs, B.; Droste, E.; Piepenbrink, M. In Polyoxometalate Chemistry: From Topology via Self-assembly to Applications; Pope, M. T., Müller, A., Eds.; Kluwer: Dordrecht, Netherlands, 2001; pp 89-100.
- 231. Kortz, U.; Isber, S.; Dickman, M. H.; Ravot, D. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 2915-2922.
- 232. Limanski, E. M.; Piepenbrink, M.; Droste, E.; Burgemeister, K.; Krebs, B. J. Cluster Sci. 2002, 13, 369-379.
- 233. Finke, R. G.; Droege, M. W. Inorg. Chem. 1983, 22, 1006-1008
- 234. Zhang, X.; Chen, Q.; Duncan, D. C.; Campana, C. F.; Hill, C. L. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 4208-4215.
- 235. Zhang, X.; Anderson, T. M.; Chen, Q.; Hill, C. L. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 418-419.
- 236. Meng, L.; Liu, J.-F. Chem. Res. Chin. Univ. 1998, 14, 1-5.
- 237. Huang, R.; Bi, L.; Wang, E.; Fei, B.; Xu, L.; Hu, C. Chin. Sci. Bull. 1999, 44, 1964-1967.
- 238. Tourné, C.; Revel, A.; Tourné, G.; Vendrel, M. Compt. Rend. Acad. Sci., Ser. C 1973, 277, 643-645.
- 239. Bosing, M.; Loose, I.; Pohlmann, H.; Krebs, B. Chem. Eur. J. 1997, 3, 1232-1237.
- 240. Leyrie, M.; Martin-Frère, J.; Hervé, G. Compt. Rend. Acad. Sci., Ser. C 1974, 279, 895-897.
- 241. Jeannin, Y.; Martin-Frère, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1981, 103, 1664-1667
- 242. Robert, F.; Leyrie, M.; Hervé, G. Acta Crystallogr. Sect. B 1982, B38, 358-362.
- 243. Kortz, U.; Al-Kassem, N. K.; Savelieff, M. G.; Al Kadi, N. A.; Sadakane, M. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 4742-4749.
- 244. Botar, B.; Yamase, T.; Ishikawa, E. Inorg. Chem. Commun. 2001, 4, 551-554.
- 245. Yamase, T.; Botar, B.; Ishikawa, E.; Fukaya, K. Chem. Lett. 2001, 56-57.
- 246. Craciun, C.; David, L.; Rusu, D.; Rusu, M.; Cozar, O.; Marcu, G. J. Radioanal. Nucl. Chem. 2001, 247, 307-310.
- 247. Rusu, D.; Rosu, C.; Craciun, C.; David, L.; Rusu, M.; Marcu, G. J. Mol. Struct. 2001, 563-564, 427-433.
- 248. Martin-Frère, J.; Jeannin, Y. Inorg. Chem. 1984, 23, 3394-3398.
- 249. Sazani, G.; Dickman, M. H.; Pope, M. T. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 939-943.
- 250. Michelon, M.; Hervé, G. C. R. Acad. Sci., Ser. C 1972, 274, 209-212.
- 251. Souchay, P.; Leray, M.; Hervé, G. C. R. Acad. Sci., Ser. C 1970, 271, 1337-1340.
- 252. Loose, L.; Droste, E.; Bösing, M.; Pohlmann, H.; Dickman, M. H.; Rosu, C.; Pope, M. T.; Krebs, B. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 2688-2694.

- 253. Lipscomb, W. N. Inorg. Chem. 1965, 4, 132-134.
- 254. Krebs, B.; Klein, R. Mol. Eng. 1993, 3, 43-59.
- 255. Krebs, B.; Droste, E.; Piepenbrink, M.; Vollmer, G. C. R. Acad. Sci., Ser. IIc: Chim. 2000, 3, 205-210.
- 256. Rodewald, D.; Jeannin, Y. C. R. Acad. Sci., Ser. IIc: Chim. 1998, 1, 175-181.
- 257. Krebs, B.; Droste, E.; Piepenbrink, M. Polyoxometalate Chemistry: From Topology via Self-assembly to Applications. Pope, M. T., Müller, A., Eds.; Kluwer: Dordrecht, Netherlands, 2001; pp 89-99.
- 258. Jeannin, Y.; Martin-Frère, J. Inorg. Chem. 1979, 18, 3010.
- 259. Jeannin, Y. C. R. Acad. Sci., Ser. IIc: Chim. 2001, 4, 683-690.
- 260. Ozawa, Y.; Sasaki, Y. Chem. Lett. 1987, 923-926.
- 261. Rodewald, D.; Jeannin, Y. C. R. Acad. Sci., Ser. IIc: Chim. 1999, 2, 63-67.
- 262. Ganelina, E. S.; Nerevyatkina, N. I. Russ. J. Inorg. Chem. Engl. Trans. 1965, 10, 483.
- 263. Gatehouse, B. M.; Jozsa, A. J. Acta Crystallogr. Sect. C 1990, 1687-1696.
- 264. Fuchs, J.; Palm, R. Z. Naturforsch. B: Chem. Sci. 1988, 43, 1529-1537.
- 265. Acerete, R.; Server-Carrio, J.; Vegas, A.; Martinez-Ripoll, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 9386-7.
- 266. Thouvenot, R.; Tézé, A.; Contant, R.; Hervé, G. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 27, 524-529.
- 267. Kortz, U.; Jameson, G. B.; Pope, M. T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 2659-2660.
- 268. Chen, Q.; Liu, S.; Zubieta, J. Angew. Chem. 1990, 102, 100.
- 269. Sarafianos, S. G.; Kortz, U.; Pope, M. T.; Modak, M. J. Biochem. J. 1996, 319, 619-626.
- 270. Kortz, U.; Pope, M. T. Inorg. Chem 1995, 34, 2160-2163.
- 271. Kortz, U. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 625-626.
- 272. Himeno, S.; Saito, A.; Hori, T. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn 1990, 63, 1602-1606.
- 273. Himeno, S.; Kubo, T.; Saito, A.; Hori; Toshitaka Inorg. Chim. Acta 1995, 236, 167-171.
- 274. Himeno, S.; Ueda, T.; Shiomi, M.; Hori, T. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1997, 262, 219-223.
- 275. Kortz, U.; Pope, M. T. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 5643-5646.
- 276. Kortz, U. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 623-624.
- 277. Ozawa, Y.; Sasaki, Y. Chem. Lett. 1987, 1733-1736.
- 278. Ueda, T.; Sano, K.-I.; Himeno, S.; Hori, T. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn 1997, 70, 1093-1099.
- 279. Himeno, S.; Sano, K.; Niiya, H.; Yamazaki, Y.; Ueda, T.; Hori, T. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1998, 281, 214-220.
- 280. Lyxell, D. G.; Strandberg, R.; Bostroem, D.; Pettersson, L. Acta Chem. Scand. **1991**, 45, 681–686. 281. Ozeki, T.; Ichida, H.; Miyamae, H.; Sasaki, Y. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn **1988**, 61, 4455.
- 282. Lyxell, D. G.; Strandberg, R. Acta Crystallogr. Sect. C 1988, C44, 1535-1538.
- 283. Liu, B.; Ku, Y.; Wang, X. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1989, 161, 233-237.
- 284. Liu, B.; Ku, Y.; Wang, M.; Zheng, P. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 27, 3868.
- 285. Ming, W.; Peiju, Z.; Liu, B.; Gu, Y. Acta Crystallogr. Sect. C 1988, C44, 1503-1505.
- 286. Himeno, S.; Hori, T.; Tanaka, H.; Saito, A. Chem. Lett. 1988, 343-346.
- 287. Hori, T.; Himeno, S.; Tamada, O. J. Chem. Soc. 1992, Dalton Trans., 275-280.
- 288. Maginn, S. J.; Harding, M. M.; Campbell, J. W. Acta Crystallogr. Sect. B 1993, B49, 520-524.
- 289. Ichida, H.; Fukushima, H.; Sasaki, Y. Nippon Kagaku Kaishi 1986, 1521-1523.
- 290. Ito, F.; Ozeki, T.; Ichida, H.; Miyamae, H.; Sasaki, Y. Acta Crystallogr. Sect. C 1989, C45, 946-947.
- 291. Lee, H. Y.; Park, K. M.; Lee, U.; Ichida, H. Acta Crystallogr. Sect. C 1991, C47, 1959–1961.
- 292. Nagano, O.; Lee, U.; Ichida, H.; Sasaki, Y. Bull. Korean Chem. Soc. 1990, 11, 15-19.
- 293. Soriano-Garcia, M.; Panneerselvam, K.; Holguin-Quinones, S. Anal. Sci 1996, 12, 535-537.
- 294. Panneerselvam, K.; Soriano-Garcia, M.; Holguin-Quinones, S.; Holt, E. M. Acta Crystallogr. Sect. C 1996, 52, 1605-1607.
- 295. Osminkina, I. V.; Kaziev, G. Z.; Kin'ones, S. O.; De Ita, A. Zh. Neorg. Khim. 2001, 46, 1073-1075.
- 296. Lee, U.; Sasaki, Y. Chem. Lett. 1984, 1297-1300.
- 297. Joo, H. C.; Park, K. M.; Lee, U. Acta Crystallogr. Sect. C 1994, C50, 1659-1661.
- 298. Park, K. M.; Lee, U. Chem. Lett. 1989, 1943-1946.
- 299. Ogawa, A.; Yamato, H.; Lee, U.; Ichida, H.; Kobayashi, A.; Sasaki, Y. Acta Crystallogr. Sect. C 1988, C44, 1879-1881
- 300. Nolan, A. L.; Burns, R. C.; Lawrance, G. A.; Craig, D. C. Acta Crystallogr. Sect. C 2000, C56, 729-730.
- 301. Lee, U.; Kobayashi, A.; Sasaki, Y. Acta Crystallogr. Sect. C 1983, C39, 817-819.
- 302. Lee, U.; Ichida, H.; Kobayashi, A.; Sasaki, Y. Acta Crystallogr. Sect. C 1984, C40, 5-7.
- 303. Lee, U.; Sasaki, Y. Bull. Korean Chem. Soc. 1987, 8, 1-3.
- 304. Schmidt, K. J.; Schrobilgen, G. J.; Sawyer, J. F. Acta Crystallogr. Sect. C 1986, C42, 1115-1118.
- 305. Liu, B.; Xie, G.; Ku, Y.; Wang, X. Polyhedron 1990, 9, 2023-2028.
- 306. Liu, B.; Wang, X.; Xie, G.; Ku, Y. Jiegou Huaxue 1990, 9, 211-216.
- 307. Martin-Frère, J.; Jeannin, Y.; Robert, F.; Vaissermann, J. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 3635-3639.
- 308. Gouzerh, P.; Proust, A. Chem. Rev. 1998, 98, 77-111.
- 309. Kortz, U.; Savelieff, M. G.; Abou Ghali, F. Y.; Khalil, L. M.; Maalouf, S. A.; Sinno, D. I. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 2002, 41, 4070-4073.
- 310. Shiozaki, R.; Inagaki, A.; Nishino, A.; Nishio, E.; Maekawa, M.; Kominami, H.; Kera, Y. J. Alloys Comp. 1996, 234, 193-198.
- 311. Ozeki, T.; Yamase, T. Acta Crystallogr. Sect. C 1993, C49, 1574-1577.
- 312. Ozeki, T.; Yamase, T. J. Alloys Comp. 1993, 192, 28-29.
- 313. Yamase, T.; Ozeki, T. Acta Crystallogr. Sect. C 1993, C49, 1577-1580.
- 314. Yamase, T.; Ozeki, T.; Ueda, K. Acta Crystallogr. Sect. C 1993, C49, 1572-1574.
- 315. Ozeki, T.; Yamase, T. Kidorui 1993, 22, 14-15.
- 316. Ozeki, T.; Yamase, T. Acta Crystallogr. Sect. C 1994, C50, 327-330.
- 317. Ozeki, T.; Yamase, T. Acta Crystallogr. Sect. B: Struct. Sci. 1994, C50, 128-134.
- 318. Yamase, T.; Ozeki, T.; Tosaka, M. Acta Crystallogr. Sect. C: Cryst. Struct. Commun. 1994, C50, 1849-1852.
- 319. Sugeta, M.; Yamase, T. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn 1993, 66, 444-449.
- 320. Charushnikova, I. A.; Garnov, A. Y.; Krot, N. N.; Katser, S. B. Radiochemistry 1997, 39, 424-429.

- 321. Griffith, W. P.; Morley-Smith, N.; Nogueira, H. I. S.; Shoair, A. G. F.; Suriaatmaja, M.; White, A. J. P.; Williams, D. J. J. Organomet. Chem. 2000, 607, 146–155.
- 322. Chen, Q.; Cai, X. Fujian Shifan Daxue Xuebao, Ziran Kexueban 1989, 5, 55-61.
- 323. Chen, H.; Chen, Q.; Chen, C. Fujian Shifan Daxue Xuebao, Ziran Kexueban 1986, 2, 69-76.
- 324. Liu, Z.; Shan, Y.; Wang, E.; Jin, Z.; Wei, G.; Liu, Y. Gaodeng Xuexiao Huaxue Xuebao 1991, 12, 1-5.
- 325. Shan, Y.; Liu, Z.; Zhou, H.; Wang, E. Zhongguo Xitu Xuebao 1989, 7, 5-9.
- 326. Fedotov, M. A.; Maksimov, G. M.; Matveev, K. I. Koord. Khim. 1990, 16, 203-6.
- 327. Liu, J.; Rong, C.; Wang, E. Gaodeng Xuexiao Huaxue Xuebao 1986, 7, 565-568.
- 328. Zhu, Z.; Liu, J.; Zhao, B. Gaodeng Xuexiao Huaxue Xuebao 1990, 11, 322-324.
- 329. Wang, E.; Liu, L.; Shen, E.; Wang, Z. Gaodeng Xuexiao Huaxue Xuebao 1991, 12, 1576-1578.
- 330. Wang, W.; Zhu, X.; You, W.; Liu, J. Wuji Huaxue Xuebao 1993, 9, 347-351.
- 331. Niu, Z.; Qu, L.; Chen, Y.; Peng, J.; Liu, J. Yingyong Huaxue 1992, 9, 46-50.
- 332. Qu, L.; Niu, Z.; Liu, J.; Chen, Y.; Zhao, B.; Peng, J. Gaodeng Xuexiao Huaxue Xuebao 1991, 12, 1434-1436.
- 333. Rong, C.; Liu, J.; Chen, X.; Wang, E. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1987, 130, 265-269.
- 334. Liu, J.; Wang, W.; Wang, G.; Zhao, B.; Sun, S. Polyhedron 1994, 13, 1057-1061.
- 335. Liu, J.; Wang, W.; Zhu, Z.; Wang, E.; Wang, Z. Transition Met. Chem. (London) 1991, 16, 169-172.
- 336. Wang, E.; Zhang, L.; Wang, Z.; Shen, E.; Zhang, S.; Zhan, R.; Liu, Y. Chin. Chem. Lett. 1991, 2, 877-880.
- 337. Wang, E.; Huang, R. Zhongguo Xitu Xuebao 1991, 9, 13-16.
- 338. Liu, J.; Chen, X.; Wang, E.; Yan, D.; Liu, Z. Huaxue Xuebao 1988, 46, 1168.
- 339. Wang, E.; Zhang, L.; Wang, Z.; Huang, R.; Zhang, B.; Zhan, R.; Liu, Y. Huaxue Xuebao 1993, 51, 352–357.
- 340. Xi, X.; Wang, G.; Liu, B.; Dong, S. Electrochim. Acta 1995, 40, 1025-1029.
- 341. Ostuni, A. M. S. Thesis, Georgetown University, 1998.
- 342. Qu, L.; Wang, S.; Peng, J.; Chen, Y.; Yu, M. Chin. Sci. Bull 1993, 38, 1087-1091.
- 343. Peacock, R. D.; Weakley, T. J. R. J. Chem. Soc. A 1971, 1836.
- 344. Ciabrini, J. P.; Contant, R. J. Chem. Res. (Microfiche) 1993, 2720.
- 345. Adnet, J. M.; Thesis, Institut National Polytechnique de Toulouse, 1991.
- 346. Milyukova, M. S.; Litvina, M. N.; Myasoedov, B. F. Radiochemistry (Engl. Transl.) 1983, 25, 665.
- 347. Erin, E. A.; Kopytov, V. V.; Vasil'ev, V. Y.; Rykov, A. G. Radiokhimiya 1983, 25, 51-58.
- 348. Haraguchi, N.; Okaue, Y.; Isobe, T.; Matsuda, Y. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 1015-1020.
- 349. Sadakane, M.; Dickman, M. H.; Pope, M. T. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 2000, 39, 2914-2916.
- 350. Sadakane, M.; Dickman, M. H.; Pope, M. T. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 2715-2719.
- 351. Bartis, J.; Dankova, M.; Lessmann, J. J.; Luo, Q.-H.; De Horrocks, W., Jr.; Francesconi, L. C. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 1042–1053.
- 352. Yusov, A. B.; Fedoseev, A. M. Zh. Prikl. Spektrosk. 1988, 49, 929-935.
- 353. Sadakane, M.; Ostuni, A.; Pope, M. T. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 2002, 63-67.
- 354. Luo, Q.; Howell, R. C.; Francesconi, L. C. In *Polyoxometalate Chemistry for Nano-composite Design*; Yamase, T., Pope, M. T., Eds.; Kluwer Academic/Plenum: New York, 2002; pp 73–81.
- 355. Bartis, J.; Sukal, S.; Dankova, M.; Kraft, E.; Kronzon, R.; Blumenstein, M.; Francesconi, L. C. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1997, 1937–1944.
- 356. Naruke, H.; Yamase, T. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn 2000, 73, 375-382.
- 357. Belai, N.; Sadakane, M.; Pope, M. T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 2087-2088.
- 358. Belai, N.; Dickman, M. H.; Kim, K.-C.; Ostuni, A.; Pope, M. T.; Sadakane, M.; Samonte, J. L.; Sazani, G.; Wassermann, K. In *Polyoxometalate Chemistry for Nano-composite Design*; Yamase, T., Pope, M. T., Eds.; Kluwer Academic/Plenum: New York, 2002; pp 17–26.
- 359. Naruke, H.; Yamase, T. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn 2001, 74, 1289-1294.
- 360. Ozeki, T.; Yamase, T.; Naruke, H.; Sasaki, Y. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 409-410.
- 361. Naruke, H.; Yamase, T. J. Alloys Compd. 1997, 255, 183-189.
- 362. Naruke, H.; Yamase, T. J. Alloys Compd. 1998, 268, 100-106.
- 363. Yamase, T.; Naruke, H.; Sasaki, Y. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1990, 1687-96.
- 364. Pope, M. T.; Wei, X.; Wassermann, K.; Dickman, M. H. C. R. Acad. Sci., Ser. IIc 1998, 1, 297-304.
- 365. Ostuni, A.; Pope, M. T. C. R. Acad. Sci. Ser. IIc: Chim. 2000, 3, 199-204.
- 366. Wassermann, K.; Pope, M. T. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 2763-2768.
- 367. Wassermann, K.; Dickman, M. H.; Pope, M. T. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1997, 36, 1445-1448.
- 368. Petrukhin, M. A.; Fedotov, M. A.; Tat'yanina, I. V.; Torchenkova, E. A. Zh. Neorg. Khim. 1989, 34, 849-852.
- 369. Petrukhina, M. A.; Fedotov, M. A.; Tat'yanina, I. V.; Torchenkova, E. A. Zh. Neorg. Khim. 1989, 34, 3118–3123.
- 370. Samokhvalova, E. P.; Fedotov, M. A.; Tat'yanina, I. V.; Torchenkova, E. A. Zh. Neorg. Khim. 1990, 35, 2104-2109.
- 371. Fedoseev, A. M.; Grigor'ev, M. S.; Yanovskii, A. I.; Struchkov, Y. T.; Spitsyn, V. I.; Allongue, P.; Cachet, H.; Fournier, M.; Yao, N. A. Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 1987, 297, 693.
- 372. Naruke, H.; Ozeki, T.; Yamase, T. Acta Crystallogr. Sect. C 1991, C47, 489-492.
- 373. Cai, X.-Z.; Wang, S.-M.; Guan, H.-M.; Huang, J.; Feng; Lin, Y.-H.; Xing, Y. Jiegou Huaxue 1997, 16, 239-246.
- 374. Huang, J.-F.; Wang, S.-M.; Lin, S.; Cai, X.-Z.; Lin, X. Jiegou Huaxue 2000, 19, 432-439.
- 375. Dickman, M. H.; Pope, M. T. Chem. Rev. 1994, 94, 569-584.
- 376. Howarth, O. W.; Pettersson, L.; Andersson, I. In *Polyoxometalate Chemistry: From Topology via Self-assembly to Applications*; Pope, M. T., Müller, A., Eds.; Kluwer: Dordrecht, Netherlands, 2001; pp 145–159.
- 377. Venturello, C.; D'Aloisio, R.; Bart, J. C. J.; Ricci, M. J. Mol. Catal. 1985, 32, 107-110.
- 378. Salles, L.; Aubry, C.; Thouvenot, R.; Robert, F.; Doremieux-Morin, C.; Chottard, G.; Ledon, H.; Jeannin, Y.; Bregeault, J. M. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 871–878.
- 379. Schwendt, P.; Oravcova, A.; Tyrselova, J.; Pavelcik, F. Polyhedron 1996, 15, 4507-4511.
- 380. Griffith, W. P.; Parkin, B. C.; White, A. J. P.; Williams, D. J. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1995, 19, 3131-3138.
- 381. Gresley, N. M.; Griffith, W. P.; Parkin, B. C.; White, A. J. P.; Williams, D. J. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1996, 10, 2039–2045.
- 382. Griffith, W. P.; Parkin, B. C.; White, A.; J, P.; Williams, D. J. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1995, 21, 2183-2184.
- 383. Kim, G.-S.; Judd, D. A.; Hill, C. L.; Schinazi, R. F. J. Med. Chem. 1994, 37, 816-820.

- 384. Ma, R.-H.; Liu, C.-T.; Qu, L.-Y. Yingyong Huaxue 2000, 17, 487-490.
- 385. Droege, M. W.; Finke, R. G. J. Mol. Catal. 1991, 69, 323-338.
- 386. Qu, L. Y.; Fang, J. B.; Gong, J.; Chen, B. Chin. Chem. Lett. 1994, 5, 719-720.
- 387. Gong, J.; Chen, Y.; Qu, L.; Liu, Q. Polyhedron 1996, 15, 2273-2277.
- 388. Qu, L.-Y.; Shan, Q.-J.; Gong, J.; Lu, R.-Q.; Wang, D.-R. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1997, 4525-4528.
- 389. Judd, D. A.; Chen, Q.; Campana, C. F.; Hill, C. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 5461-5462.
- 390. Server-Carrio, J.; Bas-Serra, J.; Gonzalez-Nuñez, M. E.; Garcia-Gastaldi, A.; Jameson, G. B.; Baker, L. C. W.; Acerete, R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 977-984.
- 391. Jorris, T. L.; Kozik, M.; Baker, L. C. W. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 4584-4586.
- 392. Jorris, T. L. Diss. Abstr. Int. B 1989, 49, 2639.
- 393. Wasfi, S. H.; Costello, C. E.; Rheingold, A. L.; Haggerty, B. S. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 1788-1792.
- 394. Wasfi, S. H.; Tribbitt, S. A. Synth. React. Inorg. Met.-Org. Chem. 1994, 24, 487-498.
- 395. Wasfi, S. H.; Tribbitt, S. A. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1998, 268, 329-333.
- 396. Wasfi, S. H.; Johnson, W. L. III Synth. React. Inorg. Met.-Org. Chem. 1999, 29, 697-724.
- 397. Ben-Daniel, R.; Khenkin, A. M.; Neumann, R. Chem. -Eur. J. 2000, 6, 3722-3728.
- 398. Khenkin, A. M.; Neumann, R. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 3455-3462.
- 399. Glick, D. C. Diss. Abstr. Int. B 1996, 56, 6106.
 400. Roesky, H. W.; Siefken, R. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1998, 624, 171–172.
- 401. Radkov, E.; Lu, Y.-J.; Beer, R. H. Inorg. Chem 1996, 35, 551-552.
- 402. Cadot, E.; Bereau, V.; Secheresse, F. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1995, 239, 39-42.
- 403. Cadot, E.; Salignac, B.; Dolbecq, A.; Secheresse, F. In Polyoxometalate Chemistry: From Topology via Self-assembly to Applications; Pope, M. T., Müller, A., Ed.; Kluwer: Dordrecht, Netherlands, 2001; pp 39-53.
- 404. Müller, A.; Fedin, V. P.; Kuhlmann, C.; Bögge, H.; Hauptfleisch, B.; Fenske, H.-D.; Baum, G. Chem. Commun. 1999, 1189-1190.
- 405. Secheresse, F.; Cadot, E.; Simonnet-Jegat, C. Met. Clusters Chem. 1999, 1, 124–142. 406. Secheresse, F.; Cadot, E.; Dolbecq-Bastin, A.; Salignac, B. In Polyoxometalate Chemistry for Nano-composite Design; Yamase, T., Pope, M. T., Eds.; Kluwer Academic/Plenum: New York, 2002; pp 59-71.
- 407. Dolbecq, A.; Salignac, B.; Cadot, E.; Secheresse, F. Bull. Pol. Acad. Sci., Chem. 1998, 46, 237-271.
- 408. Cadot, E.; Dolbecq, A.; Salignac, B.; Secheresse, *Chem. Eur. J.* **1999**, *5*, 2396–2403. 409. Sanchez, C.; Livage, J.; Launay, J. P.; Fournier, M.; Jeannin, Y. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1982**, *104*, 3194–3202.
- 410. Kozik, M.; Hammer, C. F.; Baker, L. C. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108, 7627-7630.
- 411. Kozik, M.; Baker, L. C. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 7604-7611.
- 412. Piepgrass, K.; Barrows, J. N.; Pope, M. T. J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Commun. 1989, 10-12.
- 413. Barrows, J. N.; Pope, M. T. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1993, 213, 91-98.
- 414. Kirby, J. F.; Baker, L. C. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc 1995, 117, 10010-10016.
- 415. Lee, C. W.; So, H.; Lee, K. R. Bull. Korean Chem. Soc. **1986**, 7, 39–41. 416. Lee, C. W.; So, H.; Lee, K. R. Bull. Korean Chem. Soc. **1986**, 7, 108–110.
- 417. So, H.; Lee, C. W. Bull. Korean Chem. Soc. 1990, 11, 115-118.
- 418. Park, J.; So, H. Bull. Korean Chem. Soc 1994, 15, 752-757.
- 419. So, H.; Lee, C. W.; Lee, D.; Guenter, J. R.; Bensch, W. Bull. Korean Chem. Soc. 1987, 8, 384-388.
- 420. Lee, C. W.; So, H. Bull. Korean Chem. Soc. 1986, 7, 318-320.
- 421. Weinstock, I. A. Chem. Rev. 1998, 98, 113-170.
- 422. Grigoriev, V. A.; Cheng, D.; Hill, C. L.; Weinstock, I. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 5292-5307.
- 423. Kozik, M.; Hammer, C. F.; Baker, L. C. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108, 2748-2749.
- 424. Baker, L. C. W.; Kozik, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1988, 110, 7697.
- 425. Casañ-Pastor, N.; Baker, L. C. W. Mol. Eng. 1993, 3, 141-155.
- 426. Casañ-Pastor, N.; Baker, L. C. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 10384-10394.
- 427. Cooper, J. B.; Way, D. M.; Bond, A. M.; Wedd, A. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 2416-2420.
- 428. Bond, A. M.; Way, D. M.; Wedd, A. G.; Compton, R. G.; Booth, J.; Eklund, J. C. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 3378–3384.
- 429. Way, D. M.; Cooper, J. B.; Sadek, M.; Vu, T.; Mahon, P. J.; Bond, A. M.; Brownlee, R. T. C.; Wedd, A. G. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 4227-4233.
- 430. Way, D. M.; Bond, A. M.; Wedd, A. G. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 2826-2833.
- 431. Maestre, J. M.; Lopez, X.; Bo, C.; Poblet, J.-M.; Casañ-Pastor, N. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 3749-3758.
- 432. Barrows, J. N.; Jameson, G. B.; Pope, M. T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1985, 107, 1771-1773.
- 433. Müller, A.; Krickemeyer, E.; Penk, M.; Wittneben, V.; Döring, J. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1990, 29, 88-90.
- 434. Wang, E.; Zhang, L.; Wang, Z.; Huang, R.; Zhang, S.; Lin, Y. Gaodeng Xuexiao Huaxue Xuebao 1992, 13, 1017-1021.
- 435. Neier, R.; Trojanowski, C.; Mattes, R. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1995, 15, 2521-2528.
- 436. Borrás-Almenar, J. J.; Clemente, J. M.; Coronado, E.; Tsukerblat, B. S. Chem. Phys 1995, 195, 1-15.
- 437. Borrás-Almenar, J. J.; Clemente, J. M.; Coronado, E.; Tsukerblat, B. S. *Chem. Phys* **1995**, *195*, 29–47. 438. Borrás-Almenar, J. J.; Clemente, J. M.; Coronado, E.; Tsukerblat, B. S. *Chem. Phys* **1995**, *195*, 17–28.
- 439. Piepgrass, K.; Pope, M. T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 1586-1587.
- 440. Boskovic, C.; Sadek, M.; Brownlee, R. T. C.; Bond, A. M.; Wedd, A. G. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 2001, 187-196.
- 441. Yamase, T.; Ishikawa, E. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1996, 1619.
- 442. Jeannin, Y.; Launay, J. P.; Seid Sedjadi, M. A. Inorg. Chem. 1980, 19, 2933.
- 443. Piepgrass, K.; Pope, M. T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989, 111, 753.
- 444. Dickman, M. H.; Ozeki, T.; Evans, J. H. T.; Rong, C.; Jameson, G. B.; Pope, M. T. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 2000, 149–154.
- 445. Müller, A.; Peters, F.; Pope, M. T.; Gatteschi, D. Chem. Rev. 1998, 98, 239-271.
- 446. Müller, A.; Kögerler, P. Bull. Pol. Acad. Sci., Chem. 1998, 46, 207-219.
- 447. Müller, A.; Kögerler, P.; Kuhlmann, C. Chem. Commun. 1999, 1347-1358.
- 448. Müller, A.; Kögerler, P.; Bögge, H. Struct. Bonding 2000, 96, 203-236.
- 449. Müller, A.; Serain, C. Acc. Chem. Res. 2000, 33, 2-10.

- 450. Botar, B.; Yamase, T.; Ishikawa, E. Inorg. Chem. Commun. 2000, 3, 579-584.
- 451. Kortz, U.; Savelieff, M. G.; Bassil, B. S.; Dickman, M. H. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 2001, 40, 3384-3386.
- 452. Nomiya, K.; Arai, Y.; Shimizu, Y.; Takahashi, M.; Takayama, T.; Weiner, H.; Nagata, T.; Widegren, J. A.; Finke, R. G. *Inorg. Chim. Acta* **2000**, *300–302*, 285–304.
- 453. Kortz, U.; Hamzeh, S. S.; Nasser, N. A. Chem. Eur. J., 2003, in press.
- 454. Gaunt, A. J.; May, I.; Collison, D.; Holman, K. T.; Pope, M. T. J. Mol. Struct. 2003, in press.
- 455. Müller, A.; Plass, W.; Krickemeyer, E.; Dillinger, S.; Bögge, H.; Armatage, A.; Proust, A.; Beugholt, C.; Bergmann, U. Angew. Chem. 1994, 106, 897–899.
- 456. Müller, A.; Krickemeyer, E.; Bögge, H.; Schmidtmann, M.; Peters, F. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1999, 37, 3360–3363.
- 457. Müller, A.; Sarkar, S.; Shah, S. Q. N.; Bögge, H.; Schmidtmann, M.; Sarkar, S.; Kögerler, P.; Hauptfleisch, B.; Trautwein, A. X.; Schunemann, V. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1999, 38, 3238–3241.
- 458. Müller, A.; Koop, M.; Bögge, H.; Schmidtmann, M.; Peters, F.; Kögerler, P. Chem. Commun. 1999, 1885-1886.
- 459. Müller, A.; Krickemeyer, E.; Meyer, J.; Bögge, H.; Peters, F.; Plass, W.; Diemann, E.; Dillinger, S.; Nonnenbruch, F.; Randerath, M.; Menke, C. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1995, 34, 2122–2124.
- 460. Müller, A.; Krickemeyer, E.; Bögge, H.; Schmidtmann, M.; Beugholt, C.; Kögerler, P.; Lu, C. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 1998, 37, 1220–1222.
- 461. Müller, A.; Koop, M.; Bögge, H.; Schmidtmann, M.; Beugholt, C. Chem. Commun. 1998, 1501–1502.
- 462. Kurth, D. G.; Lehmann, P.; Volkmer, D.; Colfen, H.; Koop, M. J.; Müller, A.; Du Chesne, A. *Chem. -Eur. J.* **2000**, *6*, 385–393.
- 463. Volkmer, D.; Chesne, A. D.; Kurth, D. G.; Lehmann, P.; Koop, M. J.; Müller, A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 1995–1998.
- 464. Kurth, D. G.; Lehmann, P.; Volkmer, D.; Müller, A.; Schwahn, D. Dalton Trans. 2000, 3989–3998.
- 465. Müller, A.; Das, S. K.; Bögge, H.; Schmidtmann, M.; Botar, A.; Patrut, A. Chem. Commun. 2001, 657–658.
- 466. Müller, A.; Krickemeyer, E.; Das, S. K.; Kögerler, P.; Sarkar, S.; Bögge, H.; Schmidtmann, M.; Sarkar, S. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 2000, 39, 1612–1614.
- 467. Müller, A.; Luban, M.; Schroder, C.; Modler, R.; Kögerler, P.; Axenovich, M.; Schnack, J.; Canfield, P.; Bud'ko, S.; Harrison, N. Chem. Phys. Chem. 2001, 2, 517–521.
- 468. Müller, A.; Shah, S. Q. N.; Bögge, H.; Schmidtmann, M. Nature 1999, 397, 48-50.
- 469. Müller, A.; Beckmann, E.; Bögge, H.; Schmidtmann, M.; Dress, A. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 2002, 41, 1162–1167. 470. Proust, A. Actual. Chim. 2000, 55–61.
- 471. Proust, A.; Villanneau, R. In Polyoxometalate Chemistry: From Topology via Self-assembly to Applications; Pope, M. T.; Müller, A., Eds.; Kluwer: Dordrecht, Netherlands, 2001; pp 23–38.
- 472. Clegg, W.; Errington, R. J.; Fraser, K. A.; Holmes, S. A.; Schaefer, A. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1995, 4, 455–456.
- 473. Kwen, H.; Young, V. G., Jr.; Maatta, E. A. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1999, 38, 1145-1146.
- 474. Moore, A. R.; Kwen, H.; Beatty, A. M.; Maatta, E. A. Chem. Commun. 2000, 1793-1794.
- 475. Strong, J. B.; Yap, G. P. A.; Ostrander, R.; Liable-Sands, L. M.; Rheingold, A. L.; Thouvenot, R.; Gouzerh, P.; Maatta, E. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 639–649.
- 476. Wei, Y.; Xu, B.; Barnes, C. L.; Peng, Z. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 4083-4084.
- 477. Besserguenev, A. V.; Dickman, M. H.; Pope, M. T. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 2582-2586.
- 478. Mayer, C. R.; Cabuil, V.; Lalot, T.; Thouvenot, R. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1999, 38, 3672-3675.
- 479. Mayer, C. R.; Thouvenot, R.; Lalot, T. Macromolecules 2000, 33, 4433-4437.
- 480. Kim, G. S.; Hagen, K. S.; Hill, C. L. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 5316-5324.
- 481. Sun, Z.-G.; Liu, Q.; Liu, J.-F. Polyhedron 2000, 19, 125-128.
- 482. Sun, Z.-G.; Liu, Q.; Liu, J.-F. Inorg. Chem. Commun. 2000, 3, 328-330.
- 483. Mayer, C. R.; Herson, P.; Thouvenot, R. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 6152-6158.
- 484. Mayer, C. R.; Fournier, I.; Thouvenot, R. Chem. -Eur. J. 2000, 6, 105-110.
- 485. Mazeaud, A.; Dromzee, Y.; Thouvenot, R. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 4735-4740.
- 486. Mayer, C. R.; Thouvenot, R. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1998, 7-14.
- 487. Sun, Z.-G.; Liu, J.-T.; Liu, J.-F.; Li, J. X. Chem. Res. Chin. Univ. 2000, 16, 90-92.
- 488. Sun, Z.-G.; Liu, Q.; Liu, J.-F. Main Group Met. Chem. 2000, 23, 189-191.
- 489. Sun, Z.-G.; Li, J. X.; Liu, Q.; Liu, J.-F. Chin. Chem. Lett. 1999, 10, 971-972.
- 490. Ammari, N.; Hervé, G.; Thouvenot, R. New J. Chem. 1991, 15, 607-608.
- 491. Kim, K.-C.; Pope, M. T. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 2001, 986-990.
- 492. Day, V. W.; Fredrich, M. F.; Klemperer, W. G.; Shum, W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1977, 99, 952.
- 493. Pope, M. T. Prog. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 39, 255.
- 494. Xi, R.; Wang, B.; Isobe, K.; Nishioka, T.; Toriumi, K.; Ozawa, Y. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 833.
- 495. Hagrman, D.; Zubieta, C.; Rose, D. J.; Zubieta, J.; Haushalter, R. C. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1996, 36, 873.
- 496. Xu, J.; Wang, R.; Yang, G.; Xing, Y.; Li, X. J.; Bu, W.; Ye, L.; Fan, Y.; Yang, G.; Xing, Y.; Lin, Y.; Jia, H. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1999, 983.
- 497. Bösing, M.; Nöh, A.; Loose, I.; Krebs, B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 7252-7259.

© 2003, Elsevier Ltd. All Rights Reserved

Comprehensive Coordination Chemistry II ISBN (set): 0-08-0437486

Volume 4, (ISBN 0-08-0443265); pp 635-678

No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in any retrieval system or transmitted in any form or by any means electronic, electrostatic, magnetic tape, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise, without permission in writing from the publishers

4.11 Polyoxometalates: Reactivity

C. L. HILL

Emory University, Atlanta, GA, USA

4.11.1 INTRODUCTION	679
4.11.1.1 Definitions	679
4.11.1.2 Literature and Topics Covered	680
4.11.1.3 Polyoxometalate Properties	681
4.11.2 BASIC THERMAL REACTIONS	684
4.11.2.1 Ion Pairing in POMs	684
4.11.2.1.1 General aspects	684
4.11.2.1.2 Cation association in POMs without specific metal binding sites	685
4.11.2.1.3 Cation association in POMs with specific metal binding sites	690
4.11.2.2 Rearrangements and Isomerizations	691
4.11.2.2.1 General points	691
4.11.2.2.2 Polyoxometalate-water oxygen exchange	692
4.11.2.2.3 Intrapolyoxometalate oxygen exchange	693
4.11.2.2.4 Isomerization of polyanion units	695
4.11.2.2.5 Isomerization of surface bound organometallic units	698
4.11.2.3 Reactions of Surface Groups	699
4.11.2.3.1 Formation of p-block organometallic derivatives of POMs	699
4.11.2.3.2 Organic esters and anhydrides of POMs	704
4.11.2.4 Electron Transfer Reactions	706
4.11.2.5 Adduct Formation and Atom Transfer Reactions	707
4.11.2.5.1 Adduct formation	707
4.11.2.5.2 Oxo transfer from d-electron centers	708
4.11.2.5.3 Oxo transfer from d^0 POMs during catalytic turnover	708
4.11.2.5.4 Oxo transfer to reduced POMs	719
4.11.3 CATALYSIS OF THERMAL REACTIONS	719
4.11.3.1 Basic Modes of POM Redox Reactivity	719
4.11.3.2 Homogeneous Catalysis by <i>d</i> -electron-metal-substituted Polyoxometalates	721
4.11.3.3 Homogeneous Catalysis by d^0 Polyoxometalates	722
4.11.4 PHOTOCHEMICAL PROCESSES	722
4.11.4.1 Some History	722
4.11.4.2 General Features of Reactivity	722
4.11.5 REFERENCES	749

4.11.1 INTRODUCTION

4.11.1.1 Definitions

Polyoxometalates (POMs) are discrete molecular structures composed of metal cations bridged by oxide anions. They are not multi-metal species with metal-metal bonding, one conventional definition of "clusters," but they are clusters in the generic sense of the word. A number of general reviews on POMs have appeared in recent years.¹⁻¹³ Since a great majority of these structures are anionic, and thus salts with obligatory cations, and constituted primarily of early-transition-metal (*d*-block) elements in their highest oxidation states, the

name early-transition-metal-oxygen-anion clusters is generally viewed as appropriate. However, the literature on molecular polyanions is now so large that there are exceptions to each component of this description of POMs. For example, many polyanions are now known with sulfido,^{14–18} alkoxo,^{19,20} or peroxo ligands^{21–28} in place of some or all of the conventional oxo ligands. A review by Dickman and Pope on peroxo and superoxo complexes of chromium, molybdenum, and tungsten with overlap with the POM literature appeared in 1994.²⁹ In addition, there are metal oxide cluster species that are neutral or cationic. Most of these are polyalkoxyoxometalates (polyalkoxyoxoanions)¹⁹ or polyhydroxoaluminum cluster cations.^{30–33} This review focuses on early-transition-metal polyanions. The term POM or polyoxoanion is in most frequent use, as are the terms heteropolyanions (HPAs) or heteropoly compounds which refer to the largest sub-family of POMs. For convenience, the term "POM" will be used in this review.

4.11.1.2 Literature and Topics Covered

There has been such a dramatic increase in the number of publications on POMs since the first edition of *Comprehensive Coordination Chemistry* (*CCC*, 1987), that the single chapter in *CCC* by Pope³ has now become two in *Comprehensive Coordination Chemistry II* (*CCC-II*). *CCC-II* is mandated to cover the literature starting in 1982. Since POM reactivity was not covered as such in *CCC* a few seminal papers in this area published prior to 1982 are cited in this review. A search solely on the terms "POM" and "heteropoly" from 1982 to 2002, the years addressed in *CCC-II*, identified 11,378 publications. The literature on the synthesis and physical properties of POMs, the subject of Chapter 4.10 by Michael Pope, has increased several-fold since 1982, and the literature on the dynamic properties (reactivities, mechanisms, etc.), the subject of this chapter, has increased by a comparable or even greater percentage over this time interval. While there have been edited volumes on POMs (effectively "proceedings" of meetings),^{4,7,10–12} the last monograph on the subject was that by Pope completed 20 years ago.¹ To cover the current literature comprehensively would require a multi-volume series, which would be out of date shortly after it was published.

Given the space limitations, this review is confined to the reactivity of the POM units themselves and reactivity in solution, including processes facilitating catalysis. A mitigating factor in this selective coverage is that recent reviews in several areas of POM chemistry other than the above that loosely fall under the rubric of "POM reactivity" have appeared. The following topics are beyond the purview of this article: (i) reactivities that arise in context with routine POM synthesis, including preparation of inorganic–organic nanocomposites, Langmuir–Blodgett films, and other POM-containing materials;^{34–38} (ii) electron delocalization in POMs ("heteropoly blue" chemistry)^{39–48} and the somewhat related area of electron donor–acceptor salts with noteworthy magnetic properties,^{36,49–51} (iii) POM electrochemistry (electrode modification, electrocatalysis, electroactive, or electrochromic materials, etc.);^{52–56} (iv) thermodynamic speciation studies,^{57–59} except in cases where actual kinetic information on intermediates (and hence insight regarding POM reactivity) are reported; and (v) heterogeneous catalysis by POMs.^{60,61}

Pope addresses POM synthesis, heteropoly blue chemistry, and speciation work in Chapter 4.10. Recent reviews on inorganic–organic nanocomposites, including those containing POMs, by Sanchez *et al.*³⁴ and Stein *et al.*⁶² as well as a review on porous materials⁶³ have appeared. These complement recent reviews on POM electrocatalysis, ⁵⁴ electrochromism, ⁵² and electrode modification. ^{53,64,65} In addition, the use of POMs in heterogeneous catalysis has been repeatedly reviewed by Misono^{60,66–74} and a recent monograph on this subject by Moffat just appeared. ^{61,75} A very thorough and informative but not entirely complete review on the routes of formation of heteropolytungstates and their structures by Contant and Hervé appeared while this article was nearing completion.¹³ Many other review articles on POMs that relate indirectly to the subject matter of this review have appeared and these will be cited in each of the appropriate sections below. However, the majority of these reviews cannot claim to be either comprehensive or critical. A consequence of this limited coverage and analysis is that such reviews have proportionally limited "shelf lives."

This review chapter has three sections. The first involves reactions of the POM units themselves, including ion-pairing interactions with POM surface oxygens, rearrangements, isomerizations, and reaction of these oxygens with organic groups. The second involves thermal reactions with external reagents, primarily oxidants, and the role of POMs in homogeneous catalysis. The third involves the role of POMs in photochemical and photocatalytic processes. The first section constitutes the bulk of this review, in part because the data therein are fundamental to all POM chemistry, including that in the latter two sections. In this chapter, a great majority of the relevant articles are cited but emphasis will be placed on those that are the most insightful and informative. Only a modest percentage of the multitude of publications on POMs probes the basic properties of this large and growing class of compounds. Our understanding of POM reactivity (and associated potential utility and application) derives from a relatively modest percentage of the papers, those that address fundamental properties in a rigorous way. This follows, in part, because most investigators working with POMs are structurally oriented and not trained to investigate dynamic chemistry, including reaction mechanisms. Before we turn to these three sections, we will review some general properties of POMs that relate directly or indirectly to reactivity.

4.11.1.3 Polyoxometalate Properties

Isopolyanions ("IPAs;" generic formula: $H_x M_q O_y^{z^-}$) form from stoichiometric quantities of hydrogen ion (*p*) and a monomeric oxometal form of the *d*-electron early-transition-metal ion (*q*), typically $MO_4^{r^-}$ (Equation (1)). The starting ratio of reactants, p/q (= Z value) defines the stoichiometry. Pope has noted that the Z value has been used to mean three different things: (i) the above (mole ratio of reactants), (ii) the p/q value for a solution at equilibrium, and (iii) the p/q value for POM(s) that crystallize(s) from that solution.¹ These are not necessarily the same. The p/q value dictates the POM, or more accurately in most cases, the distribution of POMs formed. (Clearly an isolated POM will have one precise p/q value.) HPAs contain one or more "heteroatoms," X^{n+} , in addition to the metal centers, M (Equation (2)):

$$p\mathrm{H}^{+} + q\mathrm{MO}_{4}^{\mathrm{r}-} \rightarrow \mathrm{H}_{x}\mathrm{M}_{q}\mathrm{O}_{v}^{z^{-}} + (4q - y)\mathrm{H}_{2}\mathrm{O}$$
(1)

$$pH^{+} + qMO_{4}^{r-} + XO_{4}^{n-} \rightarrow (H_{x}X^{n+}M_{q}O_{y})^{n-} + qH_{2}O$$
 (2)

The heteroatoms can be *p*-, *d*-, or *f*-block elements, and they are present in lesser quantities than M. They typically occupy a single location, as in the common Keggin family of complexes, $X^{n+}M_{12}O_{40}^{(8-n)-}$, or one type of location based on the symmetry of the parent (unsubstituted) POM. Figure 1 illustrates four parent (nondefect or nonsubstituted) POMs in polyhedral notation. The Keggin structure, which dominates catalytic applications and, to a lesser extent, reactivity studies of the polyanion units themselves, contains one central heteroatom and 12 "addenda" atoms that surround it in four M_3O_{13} triads. The POM reactivity addressed in this review can involve either the heteroatom(s) or the addenda atoms. These addenda atoms can be either the d^0 early-transition-metal ions that form POMs such as W^{VI} , Mo^{VI} , and V^V , they can be *d*-electron-containing, or occasionally *f*-electron-containing ions.

In practice, POMs are most frequently prepared by one-pot, proton-induced condensationdehydration reactions in water. Unfortunately, these self-assembly processes are almost never monitored with time, so information regarding the POM formation subset of "POM reactivity" is minimal. Typical reactions are given in Equations (3)–(5) for preparation of a representative isopolyanion, heptamolybdate, an unsubstituted HPA, dodecatungstophosphate, and a substituted HPA (a "mixed addenda HPA"), undecatungstodicobaltate(III), respectively:

$$7MoO_4^{2-} + 8H^+ \rightarrow Mo_7O_{24}^{6-} + 4H_2O$$
 (3)

$$12WO_4^{2-} + HPO_4^{2-} + 23H^+ \to PW_{12}O_{40}^{3-} + 12H_2O$$
(4)

$$2Co^{2+} + 11WO_4^{2-} + 10H^+ \to (Co)CoW_{11}O_{39}^{8-} + 5H_2O$$
(5)

d- or *f*-Electron ions in addenda positions, such as in (Co)CoW₁₁O₃₉⁸⁻ in Equation (5), can be incorporated into the POM structure either in the initial one-pot self-assembly synthesis or by preparing a defect ("lacunary") structure first, and then treating this compound in solution in a subsequent step with one equivalent of the final metal to be substituted in the surface site. A great majority of the time, this final metal incorporation involves reaction of aquated first-row and occasionally second-row *d*-block metal ions, $M(H_2O)_6^{z+}$, with a lacunary POM derived from the Keggin (as in Equation (6)), Wells–Dawson, or, less frequently, other POM families:

$$M(H_{2}O)_{6}^{z+} + X^{n+}W_{11}O_{39}^{(4-n)-} \to (MOH_{2}^{z+})X^{n+}W_{11}O_{39}^{(12-n-z)-}$$
(6)



Figure 1 Representative POM structures in polyhedral notation. Top left: the common Keggin structure; top right: the hexametalate structure; bottom left: the Wells–Dawson structure; bottom right: the Pope–Jeannin–Preyssler structure. In polyhedral notation, the center of each MO_6 unit is a metal nucleus and each vertex is an oxygen nucleus.

The principal reactions of POMs are those in which the POM functions as a Brønsted or Lewis acid, or as an oxidant. Acid–base interactions involving POMs not only induce many important reactions by themselves but also influence the redox reactions of POMs. Figure 2 illustrates the cation–polyanion interactions and loci of reactivity in a typical POM, in this case, a mixed acid–metal salt of a HPA. These reactive locations include the oxygens, and perhaps in rare cases the metals, in the POM unit as such as well as sites on the cations. Brønsted acidity derives from POM proton counterions residing on solvent molecules, or if these solvent molecules are removed by high temperature and/or vacuum, protons on the actual POM oxygens. If solvent molecules are present, including H₂O molecules, the protons reside on these because the heteroatom lone pairs of most solvent molecules are more basic, and in most cases far more basic, than the oxygens of most POMs. Nearly all heteropoly acids are prepared in water, in which case the protons are on the H₂O molecules. Protonated water is structurally complex in general⁷⁶ and likely is for heteropolyacids in water, but simple protonated dimers, [H₂O–H–OH₂]⁺, are a common structural motif for the proton counterions in crystalline heteropolyacids based on several X-ray structures.⁷⁷ Heteropolyacids are soluble in polar aprotic solvents and crystal



Figure 2 Cation–polyanion interactions and loci of reactivity in a typical POM. The black addenda atom (frequently a *d*-electron-containing metal) on the right of the POM has the terminal H₂O ligand.

structures of these molecules crystallized from DMA⁷⁸ and tetramethylurea^{79,80} confirm in all cases that the protons exist as protonated dimer counterions, $[Sol-H-Sol]^+$; they do not reside on the less basic POM oxygens. POM X-ray structures indicate that some complex cations comprised of protonated solvent molecules also involve hydrogen bonding to POM oxygens, while some do not. Where hydrogen bonding to POM oxygens is operable, either the less basic terminal oxo groups or the more basic bridging oxo groups can be involved. Heteropolyacids are typically isolated as etherates, and most frequently complexes of diethyl ether. There is less hard structural information on etherates because they are nearly always noncrystalline oils, but it is likely that protonated dimers are present in most of these cases as well. The same goes for solutions of heteropolyacids in the other oxygenated solvents in which they are highly soluble, including acetone. The case of acetonitrile is less clear because the lone pairs on acetonitrile, like the those on the POM oxygens, are extremely weak bases (the p K_a value for the acetonitrilium ion, [MeCNH]⁺, is ~-9).⁸¹

Because Brønsted acidity correlates inversely with the negative charge density of the conjugate base, and POMs have lower negative charge densities than the conjugate bases of even the strongest conventional acids such as HClO₄ or CF₃SO₃H (HOTf or triflic acid), the acid forms (protic "salts") of POMs are extremely strong acids. If the solvent molecules (most commonly the water molecules of heteropolyacids) are driven off by the application of heat and/or vacuum, the proton counter cations of the POM no longer reside on the solvent molecules but now reside on the POM oxygens. Thus, the desolvation process produces a much stronger acid, typically one with a Hammett acidity function value in the superacid range. Superacidity is not limited to dehydrated heteropoly acids but also to mixed proton–metal salts of POMs such as $C_{s_x}H_x[POM^{n-}]$.^{61,82,83} The acid forms of isopolyanions as well as HPAs have also been studied, but less so simply because there are fewer of them and they are less useful in catalysis. One study involving the tetra-*n*-butylammonium (TBA) salt of decavanadate, TBA₃[H₃V₁₀O₂₆]³⁻, revealed the protons were on the bridging oxygens.⁸⁴

Acidity in the useful (functional superacid) POMs can derive not only from the protons in the acid salts but also from the metal counter cations in two respects (Figure 2). These cations can function as Lewis acid sites and/or Brønsted acid sites in that the cations facilitate hydrolysis of their own aqua (H₂O) ligands.⁶⁶ The latter process is enhanced upon oxidation of the cations (for many *d*- and *f*-block cations that have a redox capability). In addition, hydrogen bonding between the cation aqua ligand protons and the POM oxygens can labilize and increase the acidity of these aqua protons. Since hydrogen bond energies correlate with negative electron density on the acceptor, such M—OH₂···O(POM) hydrogen bonding interactions, not surprisingly, are weak and probably perturb the acidity minimally. For *d*-metal-substituted POMs, which have been referred to, among other ways, as "transition-metal-substituted POMs" (TMSPs),^{85–87} the terminal aqua ligand on the *d*-metal center(s) can also undergo hydrolysis and this process is impacted by the oxidation state of the *d*-metal center.^{88–91}

Within the polyanion units themselves, the bridging oxygens are generally more basic than the terminal oxygens. This correlates with the degree of donation of the oxygen-lone-pair electron density to the metal center(s). In the Keggin (general formula, $X^{n+}M_{12}O_{40}^{(8-n)-}$), Wells–Dawson (general formula, $X^{n+}_{2}M_{18}O_{62}^{(16-2n)-}$), and several other structural classes of POMs there are also internal (and often solvent inaccessible) oxygens in addition to the bridging and terminal oxygens. The internal oxygens are almost always trans to a terminal oxygen and thus exhibit the longest M—O bonds and presumably the highest negative charges of the POM oxygens (the word "presumably" is used because the negative charge densities cannot usually be measured experimentally but only assessed computationally).

The ability of most families of POMs, including most isopolyanions and effectively all heteropolyacids and mixed addenda HPAs, to undergo reversible reduction and reoxidation plays an even more significant role in POM reactivity than acidity. Several factors influence POM redox reactivity, but none are more important than reduction potentials of the polyanion unit itself. These potentials depend on, in decreasing order of impact, the particular metal that is involved in the redox process, the charge on the polyanion unit, the degree of ion pairing, and the solvent. For the principal d^0 metal centers that constitute the polyanion units, the potentials are in the order $V^{V/IV}$ (highest potential) > $Mo^{VI/V}$ > $W^{VI/V}$ (lowest potential). There is little or no redox chemistry documented for the Ti^{IV} , Nb^V , and Ta^V centers in POMs, because the reduced forms of these species are generally inaccessible by either conventional electrochemical or common chemical methods of reduction. The reason for this is not clear, but more than likely reflects thermodynamic rather than kinetic barriers. For the most common *d*-metals substituted in surface sites (defining mixed addenda POMs or TMSPs), the standard reduction potentials for the corresponding $\sim O_h$ symmetry hexaaquo complex cations are as follows: $\text{Co}^{\text{III/II}} = 1.84 \text{ V} > \text{Mn}^{\text{III/II}} = 1.51 \text{ V} > \text{Fe}^{\text{III/II}} = 0.770 \text{ V} > \text{Cu}^{\text{II/I}} = 0.158 \text{ V}$. Perturbation of the local O_h symmetry of the O_6 coordination polyhedra of such *d*-metal centers upon incorporation from aqueous solution into POMs (e.g., Equation (6)) can change the reduction potential of this metal center by several hundred millivolts. This incorporation results in a lowering of the local symmetry of this *d*-metal center from $\sim O_h$ to $\sim C_{4\nu}$ as depicted in Scheme 1 but rarely results in a spin state change of the incorporated metal for the first-row *d*-block metals.



Scheme 1

Ion pairing between the polyanion unit and the counterions in POMs varies greatly with the medium, and to a lesser extent, negative charge density on the POM, but when present can change the potential of a redox-active metal center in a POM by 150 mV or more.^{92,93} These and solvent effects are addressed in Section 4.11.2.1. The general reactions of POMs with reductants and oxidants are summarized in Section 4.11.3.1.

A detailed knowledge of the electronic structure of POMs, and in particular the Keggin structure, has been sought for years. Such information would be insightful in understanding structural features, assessing spectroscopic signatures, characterizing the delocalization and behavior of added electrons, evaluating the relative energies of different POM structural isomers and electronic configurations, probing electron transfer to other species, and other issues. Needless to say, the complexity of POM structures coupled with the difficulty of parametrizing heavy metals for quantum mechanical and other calculations has made such research problematical at best until recently. Thankfully, the marked advances the last few years in computer hardware and software for density functional theory (DFT) and other calculations is starting to make important calculations on POMs fairly viable. Recent calculations by Poblet and co-workers have been noteworthy.⁹⁴⁻⁹⁶ These investigators have used DFT methods to probe the electronic and magnetic properties of Keggin POMs. For example, their work to date indicates that atomic populations and the distribution of the electron density computed for Keggin polyanions support the hypothesis that the oxidized structure is an XO_4^{n-} clathrate inside a neutral $M_{12}O_{36}$ cage,⁹⁵ a proposal popularized years ago by Day and Klemperer.² Their calculations indicate that the energy gap between the band of occupied orbitals and the unoccupied *d*-metal orbitals is independent of the central ion. (The former and latter orbitals are formally delocalized over the oxo ligands and delocalized over the addenda, respectively.) Recent experimental work by Weinstock, Hill, and co-workers is consistent with these findings.^{97,98}

4.11.2 BASIC THERMAL REACTIONS

4.11.2.1 Ion Pairing in POMs

4.11.2.1.1 General aspects

The interactions of the polyanion units in POMs with the counterions underlies and impacts both the physicochemical and the reactivity properties of POMs. We address these interactions in this section because they can have considerable bearing on processes formally associated with the polyanions. While it has been known for some time that POM counterions impact POM formation and POM distributions in solution,^{99–101} ion pairing interactions in reacting POM systems have largely been ignored until recently. One likely explanation for this is that such interactions are hard to investigate and even harder to quantify meaningfully. They involve potentially complex stoichiometries (ratios of cations to the polyanion), small association constants, and short cation–polyanion association lifetimes in solution. Another general reason they have been

largely ignored is that the main focus of much of POM chemistry has been the structurally and dynamically rich polyanion unit itself.

Reports of ion pairing can be loosely grouped into investigations that focus on the structural and, to a lesser extent, other physical properties of POMs and those that focus on the dynamic properties of POMs. In context with the dynamic properties, a number of studies of POM reduction by electron transfer from a suitable donor (organic or inorganic) have been studied and are reviewed in subsequent sections. One can also define two categories of POMs with respect to cation association: POMs that do not have specific and structurally well-defined metal binding pockets, which includes the majority of POMs; and those which do contain one or more such metal-binding pockets. Ion pairing in the common and general structures, including Keggin and Wells–Dawson complexes, and cation association in POMs with specific structurally well-defined cation binding sites are covered in the next two sections in that order.

4.11.2.1.2 Cation association in POMs without specific metal binding sites

For these general and commonly occurring POMs, ion pairing studies that focus primarily on structural and static POM properties are addressed first, followed by ones that encompass both structural and reactivity properties.

Two studies prior to the start date of this review (1982) should be mentioned as they impact the work after 1982. Contant and Ciabrini in 1977 demonstrated that in the preparation of the monodefect Wells-Dawson complex, $P_2W_{17}O_{61}^{10-}$, the α_1 (or belt defect) isomer is formed in the presence of Li⁺ whereas the α_2 (or cap) isomer is formed in the presence of K⁺.^{102,103} Subsequently Knoth and Harlow showed that $P_2W_5O_{23}^{6-}$, $PW_9O_{34}^{9-}$, and $PW_{11}O_{39}^{7-}$, form in the presence of Cs⁺, K⁺, and Li⁺, respectively, under otherwise identical conditions.¹⁰⁴ Although crystal packing forces cannot be ruled out as partly controlling the ultimate structures that form, the different POMs do persist in solution prior to precipitation and/or crystallization. In 1985, Contant and Tézé showed that the large donut structure, $P_8W_{48}O_{184}^{40-}$, a tetramer of the hexadefect Wells-Dawson POM, $P_2W_{12}O_{48}^{12-}$, is dependent on the presence of K⁺.¹⁰⁵ The following year, Canny *et al.* reported that SiW₁₀O₃₆⁸⁻ is stable with K⁺, Rb⁺, and Cs⁺ but not Na⁺ or Li⁺ counterions.¹⁰⁶ Day *et al.* conducted an NMR and X-ray study on the TBA₃H₃ salt of decavanadate that indicated the three protons reside on the POM oxygens.⁸⁴ A thorough review of the consequences of cations on heteropolytungstate formation modes and final structures by Contant and Hervé appeared recently.¹³ All these publications address the structural consequences of ion pairing in POMs. However, static structures, while informative regarding some physicochemical properties, reveal little about dynamic properties. Isolable POM salt structures including those in X-ray crystallographic investigations, given the intrinsic time scale for data collection in crystallography, may not reside along the reaction coordinate for either an intramolecular process such as isomerization or an intermolecular process such as reaction with an organic molecule or a reductant.

In 1991, Fournier *et al.* investigated solutions of Keggin heteropolytungstates by IR, Raman, and electronic absorption spectroscopies.¹⁰⁷ This effort was a logical application of the vibrational spectroscopy studies of POMs by Rocchiccioli-Deltcheff and Thouvenot that provide most of our current understanding of this subject. They assigned the principal stretching modes of Keggin and hexametalate POMs, ^{108,109} and conducted a normal coordinate analysis of $Mo_6O_{19}^{2-}$ based on total isotopic (¹⁸O, ⁹²Mo, ¹⁰⁰Mo) substitution.¹¹⁰ Subsequent work provided vibrational spectroscopic evidence for polyanion–polyanion electrostatic interactions in solid Keggin heteropolymolybdates and tungstates,¹¹¹ correlations between structural and vibrational features in Keggin ions,¹¹² and a confirmation of the rigidity of the polytungstates from a subsequent normal coordinate analysis (and thus POMs in the solid state), this collaborative team found evidence for aggregation of the counterions in tetraalkylammonium POM salts and polyanion–polyanion interactions in solution (H₂O, MeCN and (Me)₂CO)¹⁰⁷ like those previously documented in the solid state.¹¹¹ In a sidebar, these authors used the absorption maxima of SiM₁₂O₄₀⁴⁻ (M = Mo or W) to assess the effect of cation and solvent on the electronic structure (oxygen-to-metal charge-transfer states) of these POMs and concluded there was almost no effect of either because the maxima (λ_{max} values) were nearly independent of both solvent and counterion. However, caution should be exercised here as Hill and co-workers have quantified substantial effects of cations and solvent, not only on the λ_{max} values, but also on the overall oxygen-to-metal absorption manifold of d^0 POMs. Nearly all the solvent-dependent changes in the UV–visible spectra occur in the absorption tails.^{78-80,114}

In 1995, Finke and co-workers garnered direct, although qualitative, evidence for pairing of Na⁺ with the polyanion unit in the air-sensitive POM-supported organometallic complexes, $TBA_5Na_3[(1,5-COD)M \cdot P_2W_{15}Nb_3O_{62}]$ (COD = cyclooctadiene; M = Ir and Rh), in DMSO solution. Addition of the diazabicyclic crown-ether alkali metal chelating agent, Kryptofix[2.2.2], resulted in a sharpening and/or increasing of the signal to noise of the peaks in ³¹P and ¹⁸³W NMR spectra of these complexes in DMSO. This is consistent with Na^+ complexation by the chelating agent and consequent severing of the ion pairing interaction with the polyanion unit.¹¹⁵ However, the observed spectral changes upon addition of the Na⁺ counterion-chelating agent are complicated by the possibility of positional (point of attachment) isomerism of the $(1,5-COD)M^+$ caps. The most probable metal binding coordination polyhedron in this POM, $P_2W_{15}Nb_3O_{62}^{9-1}$ based on electron density clearly should be the facial κ_3 -O-support site of effective $C_{3\nu}$ symmetry presented by the Nb₃O₉³⁻ end unit of this POM. In subsequent work, this group prepared the TBA⁺₈ and mixed TBA⁺/Na⁺ salts of [Re(CO)₃·P₂W₁₅Nb₃O₆₂]⁸⁻ and [Ir(CO)₂·P₂W₁₅Nb₃O₆₂]⁸⁻ and examined the coordination chemistry of the cationic organometallic capping units, Re(CO)₃⁺ or Ir(CO)₂⁺, by ³¹P and ¹⁸³W NMR and IR.¹¹⁶ While this was a spectroscopic, not a kinetics study, the spectra in the absence and presence of Kryptofix[2.2.2], provide clear evidence of pairing between the polyanion units and the Na⁺ counterions. This ion pairing directly impacts positional isomerism with respect to the capping organometallic units (see below; Section 4.11.2.2.5). In the most recent study (1999), Weiner *et al.* prepared a third class of POM derivatives involving the attachment of complex cationic species to $P_2W_{15}Nb_3O_{62}^{9-.117}$ The complexes entail covalent (or more accurately, dative) bonding (vs. ion pairing via simple electrostatic association) of acetonitrile ligated first-row transition metal cations to this POM. They were prepared as outlined in Equation (7) $(M = Mn^{II}, Fe^{II}, Co^{II}, Ni^{II}, Cu^{I}, Cu^{II}, and Zn^{II})$. The number of solvated cationic units per complex (the value of m), depends of the metal and the reaction stoichiometry (ratio of POM to $[M^{n+}(NCMe)_y](BF_4)_n$ reactants). Ion pairing (electrostatic "outer sphere" association), vs. dative bonding, of the solvated transition metal cations was convincingly demonstrated using ion exchange chromatography. The cationic caps datively bound to the POM were not exchanged with cations on the column and remained firmly bound to the POMs. In contrast, the column quantitatively retained the electrostatically associated cations. For some of the product complexes, $(TBA)_{(9-nxm)}$ $[m\{(MeCN)_x M^{n+1}]/P_2 W_{15} Nb_3 O_{62}^{-9-1}\}$, both types of solvated cationic units were present:¹¹⁷

$$(TBA)_{9}P_{2}W_{15}Nb_{3}O_{62} + m[M^{n+}(NCMe)_{y}](BF_{4})_{n}\frac{MeCN,N_{2}}{2h,25\circ C}(TBA)_{(9-nxm)}$$

$$[m(MeCN)_{x}M^{n+}/P_{2}W_{15}Nb_{3}O_{62}^{9-}] + nxmBF_{4}$$
(7)

In 1998, Baker and Kirby conducted a ³¹P NMR investigation of electron exchange in the twoelectron reduced heteropoly blue complex of $[(P_2W_{17}O_{61})_2Th]^{18-}$ (which contains an equilibrium mixture of oxidized, two-electron- and four-electron-reduced species) as a function of alkali metal counterion, concentration, and temperature. They interpreted their data in terms of Equation (8) in which the more strongly pairing alkali metals (M in Equation (8) = K⁺, Rb⁺, and Cs⁺ but not Li⁺) form an ion bridge between the two defect HPA units in the *syn* isomer. This interaction stabilizes the *syn* isomer and drives an apparent *syn-anti* equilibrium, Equation (8), to the left.¹¹⁸ The change in chemical shifts and other features of the ³¹P NMR spectra of these Th sandwich POM complexes as a function of the counterion defined a qualitative method to estimate the association of monocations with POM polyanions:

$$syn-[M(P_2W_{17}O_{61})_2Th]^{17-} \rightarrow M(H_2O)_n^{+} + [(P_2W_{17}O_{61})_2Th]^{18-}$$
(8)
(primarily *anti*)

where M = alkali metal.

1

In 2000, experiments were conducted that defined the stoichiometry and association of cations with polyanion units undergoing reduction in solution. Grigoriev *et al.* prepared a series of nine 1:1 association complexes between alkali-metal cations ($M = Li^+$, Na^+ , or K^+) and three representative vanadium(V)-substituted α -Keggin heteropolytungstates, α -X^{*n*+}VW₁₁O₄₀^{(9-*n*)-} ($X = P^V$, Si^{IV}, and Al^{III}) (Equation (9); *y* = 1). The medium used was acetate-buffered 2:3 (v/v) H₂O/Bu^tOH at 60 °C which facilitated control of pH, temperature, and ionic strength.⁹² Three lines of evidence are consistent with the formation of 1:1 ion pairs, Equation (9). First, the potentials of the POMs

$$X^{n+}V^{V}W_{11}O_{40}^{(9-n)-} + yM^{+} \to [(M^{+})_{\nu}(X^{n+}V^{V}W_{11}O_{40})]^{(9-n-y)-}$$
(9)
as a function of M⁺ concentration can be fit to the rectangular hyperbolic function in Equation (10), where E_{POM} is the formal one-electron potential of the unpaired polyanion unit (i.e., the $X^{n+}V^{V}W_{11}O_{40}^{(9-n)-}/X^{n+}V^{IV}W_{11}O_{40}^{(10-n)-}$ couple), E_{MPOM} is the reduction potential of the 1:1 ion pair, and K_{MPOM} is the association

$$E = (E_{\rm POM} + E_{\rm MPOM} K_{\rm MPOM} [{\rm M}^+]) / (1 + K_{\rm MPOM} [{\rm M}^+])$$
(10)

constant (Equation (9), where y = 1 or $[\{(M^+)(X^{n+}V^VW_{11}O_{40})\}^{(8-n)-}]/[M^+][X^{n+}V^VW_{11}O_{40}^{(9-n)-}])$ (Figure 3). Second, as the concentration for all three alkali metal cations $[M^+]$ decreases, the nine curves converge to three E_{POM} values. These represent one limiting case of the hyperbolic function of $[M^+]$ and Figure 3, where there is no pairing, and the reduction potentials are those of the unpaired POMs. The other limiting case for the Figure 3 curves is the plateau at high $[M^+]$ where nearly all the POM is present as the 1:1 ion pair. Third, plots of E_{POM} vs. the ion-pair charge are linear (Figure 4). The data in this figure follow a relationship noted by Pope that reduction potentials of isostructural Keggin anions in solution decrease linearly with wholenumber increments in anion charge.^{119,120} This, combined with the other two lines of evidence, confirm the presence of 1:1 ion pairs. In addition, Grigoriev *et al.* used single-step chronoamperometry to calculate the diffusion coefficients, D, for these 1:1 ion pairs which enabled the effective radius of all nine 1:1 reacting ion pairs to be calculated for the first time by using the Stokes–Einstein equation (Equation (11)) where D is the diffusion coefficient of a sphere of radius r in a solvent of viscosity η (k is the Boltzmann constant and T is absolute temperature):

$$D = kT/6\pi\eta r \tag{11}$$

In subsequent work, the effect of the sizes of the cation and the associated $[(M^+)(SiVW_{11}O_{40}{}^{5-})]^{4-}$ $(M^+=Li^+, Na^+, K^+)$ ion pairs—the same ion pairs in Equation (9) above—on both the rate of oxidation of an organic substrate and the energy of electron transfer to these ion pairs was addressed.⁹³ The organic substrate used was a diphenol (DPH₂) because it is oxidized cleanly by these ion pairs to the corresponding diphenoquinone (DPQ) (Equation (12))



Figure 3 Plot of $E_{1/2}$ vs. $[M^+]$: $M^+ = Li^+$ (squares), Na⁺ (triangles), and K⁺ (circles) $[M^+]$ = total cation concentration from MCl, POM countercations, and buffer (reprinted with permission of *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2000**, *122*, 3544–3545; © American Chemical Society).

maximizing the accuracy of kinetics measurements including a full rate law. The general rate law for this oxidation involves a first term for DPH_2 oxidation by the unpaired polyanion and a second term for DPH_2 oxidation by the 1M:1polyanion pair (Equation (13)). Combining Equation (13) with a mass action equation, Equation (14), provides an





Figure 4 Plot of E_{MPOM} vs. ion-pair charge; $M^+ = Li^+$ (squares), Na⁺ (triangles), and K⁺ (circles) (reprinted with permission of *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2000, 122, 3544–3545; © American Chemical Society).

expression for the rate as a function of metal cation concentration, $[M^+]$ (Equation (15)). This, as for the reduction potential data as a function of $[M^+]$ discussed above, is a rectangular hyperbolic function that gives the rate for DPH₂ oxidation by the unpaired POM, k_{POM} , at low $[M^+]$, while the rate for DPH₂ oxidation by the 1M:1POM pair, k_{MPOM} , is asymptotically approached at high $[M^+]$:

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{\mathrm{d}[\mathrm{POM}_{\mathrm{red}}]}{\mathrm{dt}} = \left(\frac{k_{\mathrm{POM}} + k_{\mathrm{MPOM}}K_{\mathrm{MPOM}}[\mathrm{M}^+]}{1 + K_{\mathrm{MPOM}}[\mathrm{M}^+]}\right)[\mathrm{POM}][\mathrm{DPH}_2]$$
(15)

The factors of 1/2 in Equations (13) and (15) derive from the 2:1 stoichiometry (Equation (12)). The thermodynamic association constants (K_{MPOM} , where $M^+ = Li^+$, Na^+ , K^+) and the rate constants for diphenol oxidation (k_{MPOM} , where $M^+ = Li^+$, Na^+ , K^+) associated with each 1:1 ion pair were calculated by simultaneous nonlinear fitting of kinetic data (obtained by using all three cations) to Equation (15). The data and the fits to Equation (15) are shown in Figure 5.⁹³

Formation constants for the 1:1 ion pairs between the same alkali metal cations and the oneelectron reduced form of the POM, SiV^{IV}W₁₁O₄₀⁶⁻, were obtained by using the association constant values for the oxidized POMs (from k_{obs} data) and simultaneously fitting the reduction potential ($E_{1/2}$) values (from cyclic voltammetry) of this POM containing varying concentrations of all three cations to a Nernstian equation describing the dependence of $E_{1/2}$ values on the ratio of thermodynamic formation constants for the 1:1 ion pairs of both the oxidized and reduced POM. These formation constants, $K_{\rm MPOM}$ and $K_{\rm MPOMred}$, and rate constants for diphenol oxidation, $k_{\rm MPOM}$, all increase with the size of M⁺. $K_{\rm LiPOM}=21 < K_{\rm NaPOM}=54 < K_{\rm KPOM}=65 \,{\rm M}^{-1}$; $K_{\rm LiPOMred}=K_{\rm NaPOMred}=570 < K_{\rm KPOMred}=2,000 \,{\rm M}^{-1}$; and $k_{\rm LiPOM}=0.065 < k_{\rm NaPOM}=0.137 < K_{\rm KPOM}=0.225 \,{\rm M}^{-1} \,{\rm s}^{-1}$.

The trend in the crystallographic radii of the alkali metal cations $(\text{Li}^+ < \text{Na}^+ < \text{K}^+)$ is opposite the trend in their hydrodynamic radii $(\text{Li}(\text{H}_2\text{O})_n^+ > \text{Na}(\text{H}_2\text{O})_n^+ > \text{K}(\text{H}_2\text{O})_n^+)$. The larger, less hydrated cations associate more strongly with the polyanion unit, and consequently lower the negative charge density more effectively than the smaller, more hydrated, cations. On this point, it is significant to make clear that the impact of ion pairing on the potential, the driving force for the reaction (and ultimately the rate for electron transfer) depends on not only the pairing of the oxidized species with the counterions but also the pairing of the reduced species with the counterions.^{97,121}



Figure 5 Rate of the outer-sphere electron-transfer oxidation of an organic substrate by a POM (oxidation of 3,3',5,5'-tetra-Bu^t-biphenyl-4,4'-diol by α -SiVW₁₁O₄₀⁵⁻ to form α -SiV^{IV}W₁₁O₄₀⁶⁻ and the DPQ in ~100% selectivity; Equation (12)) as a function of the cation concentration (counterions + added MCl), M⁺ = K⁺ (top curve); Na⁺ (second curve from top); Li⁺ (third curve from top), and THAN (the nitrate salt of the nonpairing cation, tetra-*n*-heptylammonium; bottom curve) (reprinted with permission from *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2001**, *123*, 5292–5307; © American Chemical Society).

Finally, evidence for the presence of solvent separated ion pairs in the case of the $\text{Li}(\text{H}_2\text{O})_n^+$ salts of both POM and POM_{red} was obtained from the changes in the ⁷Li NMR chemical shifts as a function of the concentrations of the two salts, $\text{Li}_5(\text{SiV}^{V}\text{W}_{11}\text{O}_{40})$ and $\text{Li}_6(\text{SiV}^{IV}\text{W}_{11}\text{O}_{40})$.

Thus, work to date is beginning to supply viable experimental approaches and data of value to investigators working with POMs in solution, including information on cation-polyanion association stoichiometries, association constants, and the impact of this pairing on potentials and reactivity. While 1:1 alkali metal-POM pairs can be induced to form when some organic solvent is added to water, it is likely that ion pairing of POMs with typical negative charge densities, including the much-studied Keggin heteropolytungstates, in pure water is minimal. Pairing of divalent cations with POMs in water and pairing of quaternary ammonium or other large hydrophobic cations with the polyanion units in organic solvents has not been examined yet in a compelling or quantitative manner.

4.11.2.1.3 Cation association in POMs with specific metal binding sites

The lacunary or defect forms of most common structural families of POMs have well-defined metal binding sites. Many of the pioneers of POM chemistry in 1950s through the early 1980s including Baker, Souchay, and co-workers; Tourné and Tourné; Pope, Weakley; and others studied the stability of lacunary heteropolytungstates and heteropolymolybdates in the presence of first-row d-block metal cations. Many of these early studies provided information, frequently indirectly and most commonly of a qualitative or semi-quantitative nature, on metal ion binding in structurally defined POM sites. A few articles and reviews are noteworthy.^{88-90,122-128} Some data on association of simple inorganic ligands such as SO_3^{2-} , $Fe(CN)_6^{4-}$, halides, SCN^- , thiourea, with the *d*-electron-metal sites in these POMs are also given in these early papers.⁸⁹ One recent study of ligand binding to d-electron addenda atoms is of note as it provides more information on the electronic nature of such interactions than previous studies. Woo et al. investigated the binding of pyridine and picoline to the paramagnetic POM SiW₉O₃₇Cu₃¹⁰⁻ by ¹H NMR. The complexes with one, two, or three bound picolines could be distinguished and the isotropic shifts of these bound ligands were primarily contact (vs. dipolar) in character. The longitudinal relaxation times (T_1 values) were measured and rationalized in terms of the electronic structure of the three interacting Cu^{II} centers.¹²⁹ Metal binding in the conventional (Keggin, etc.) lacunary POMs or ligand association with the related d-metal-containing (TMSP) species will not be discussed further here as much of this chemistry predates 1982. It should be noted, however, that there are many metal and ligand binding processes in such systems of considerable fundamental interest and practical value in context with applications that have yet to be investigated.

POMs with specific and structurally well-defined cation binding sites include but are not limited to $[As_4W_{40}O_{140}]^{28-130,131}$ [NaSb₉W₂₁O₈₆]^{18-,132-135} and the Pope–Jeannin–Preyssler ion, [NaP₅W₃₀O₁₁₀]^{14-,136,137} Leyrie *et al.* showed that $[As_4W_{40}O_{140}]^{28-}$ exhibits several types of coordination sites that can lead to multi-nuclear complexes of formula $M_1M_{2m}Z_2(H_2O)_2As_4W_{40}O_{140}^{x^-}$ where M₁ and M₂ (m=0 or 1) are alkali metal and/or alkaline earth cations, and Z is a first-row transition metal cation, particularly Co^{II,130} Mononuclear complexes (m=0) are obtained with M₁ = Na^I, Ca^{II}, Cs^I, Sr^{II}, and binuclear ones (m=1) are obtained with M₁ = Na^I or Ca^{II} and M₂=K^I, Rb^I, NH₄⁺, Ba^{II}, or M₁ = M₂ = Sr^{II}. The formation of all these complexes in solution was demonstrated and their relative stability constants were assessed by spectrophotometric measurements. Substitution of carboxylated ligands, pyrimidine or adenosine for the aqua ligands in the coordination sphere of the two Co centers was documented for various complexes. The equilibrium constants for binding of adenosine to the mononuclear complexes where M₁ = Na^I, Ca^{II}, Sr^{II}, are 5 × 10³, 3 × 10³, and 1.6 × 10³, respectively. Association of the alkali metal or alkaline earth cations modulates the reactivity of the Co^{II} center. A structural model was proposed in this early article for the location of the cations M₁ and M₂. This location depends mainly on their size; the cations Na^I, Ca^{III}, and Sr^{II} have no interaction with the oxygens in the coordination sphere of the Co^{II} center. The larger cations are bound to oxygens cis to the H₂O units. The latter cations can be substituted. This research group subsequently studied the metal binding chemistry of these POMs by ¹⁸³W NMR (the six lines were assigned via one-dimensional-COSY and homonuclear $2J_{W-W}$ coupling values).¹³¹ These authors noted the chemical shift of the resonance l The complex $[NaSb_9W_{21}O_{86}]^{18-}$, first structurally characterized by Weiss and co-workers as the $(NH_4)_{17}Na \text{ salt}, ^{132}$ was initially shown by Michelon *et al.* to bind several alkali metal and alkaline earth cations. ¹³³ Subsequently (1992), Liu *et al.* showed this complex binds lanthanide ions by replacing the central clathro-chelated Na^I ion. ¹³⁵ Contemporaneously, this group reported that this same complex binds Mn^{II}, Fe^{III}, Co^{II}, Ni^{II}, and Cu^{II} in the outer sites of this multi-vacant ("multi-nucleating") POM to yield complexes of formula $[NaSb_9W_{21}O_{86}M_4]^{n-}$. Both the *d*-block and *f*-block metal derivatives were fairly well characterized despite the lack of X-ray structures (elemental analysis, visible and IR spectroscopy, magnetic susceptibility, and cyclic voltammetry). ¹³⁴ Shortly thereafter (1994), Thouvenot and colleagues characterized the alkali metal and alkaline earth derivatives, $[MSb_9W_{21}O_{86}]^{n-}$ (M = alkaline or alkaline earth cation) by ¹⁸³W NMR. ¹³¹ None of these studies entailed full quantitative determination of metal association constants. Such measurements are hard to make in this system. This family of complexes ([NaSb₉W₂₁O₈₆]¹⁸⁻ and its metal derivatives) have garnered considerable attention as antiviral agents; however, the role of metal binding in the antiviral activity has been minimally addressed in these biological (*in vitro* and *in vivo*) studies. ¹³⁸⁻¹⁴⁴

Jeannin's 1985 X-ray crystal structure of the $[NaP_5W_{30}O_{110}]^{14-}$ showed that the Na ion is encrypted (clathro-chelated) in the central cavity of this complex.¹³⁶ Its off-center location reduces the symmetry of this aesthetically appealing polyanion from D_{5h} to the observed C_{5v}, and this, in turn explains the ¹⁸³W NMR spectrum of the complex in solution.¹³⁶ In subsequent work, Pope and his co-workers demonstrated that the weakly bound Na cation in the sterically protected central cavity can be exchanged (120–180 °C for several hours in a sealed vessel) for Ca^{II}, Y^{III} the trivalent lanthanide ions of Nd, Sm, Eu, Gd, Tb, Dy, Ho, Er, Tm, Yb, Lu, or the tetravalent ions of Ce and U. The divalent ions of Cd, Sn, Hg, the trivalent ions of Ce and Tl, and the tetravalent ion of Th do not exchange for extended periods up to 180 °C.¹³⁷ The exchanged complexes, characterized by cyclic voltammetry, IR spectra, and ³¹P NMR, are stable from pH 0 to pH 9–10. The biggest single factor in the selectivity of cation binding by this POM appears to be the ionic radius.

In 1999, Kim and Pope prepared the first POMs with uranyl heterogroups. The counterions in these POMs pair with the polyanion units but also control the actual isomers of the POMs that are present. This study is addressed below (Section 4.11.2.2.4).¹⁴⁵

4.11.2.2 Rearrangements and Isomerizations

4.11.2.2.1 General points

The lability of bonds between d^0 transition metals and oxygen that constitute metal oxides and nearly all POMs, underlie nearly all rearrangement and isomerization reactions of POMs. Unfortunately, despite the ubiquity of these bonds in POMs and the importance of their reactions to a host of POM-related or -dependent phenomena, including but not limited to catalysis, this chemistry has largely been ignored in general inorganic texts including Cotton and Wilkinson,¹⁴⁶ Kepert's book on the early transition metals,¹⁴⁷ and Baes and Mesmer's book on the speciation chemistry of coordination complexes in water.¹⁴⁸ These and similar informative books do not significantly address the structural and electronic basis of the relative reactivities of different oxygens or the mechanism of processes involving exchange of these bonds. Fortunately useful reviews on oxygen exchange in low nuclearity oxoanions by Murmann and others have been published.^{149–151}

The lability of these early transition metal-oxygen bonds relates to one fairly general experimental observable, the rate of oxo exchange between POMs and H₂O. In consequence, we will first address these processes (Section 4.11.2.2.2) with the understanding that in many studies of POM oxo-H₂O oxygen exchange, they cannot reasonably and should not be separated from intramolecular POM oxygen exchange ("atom scrambling") processes (Section 4.11.2.2.3). Indeed, rapid intramolecular oxygen exchange can, in principle, transpire subsequent to bimolecular reaction with water en route to the final products actually observed by ¹⁷O NMR. If this does happen, a misleading distribution of isotopically labeled POMs could well be generated. Similarly, it is hard to rule out the involvement of some intermolecular POM oxo-H₂O oxygen exchange in processes that appear to involve strictly intramolecular oxygen scrambling in POMs. Oxygen-17 NMR has been the dominant technique used to probe and quantify both POM oxo-H₂O oxygen exchange and intramolecular POM oxygen exchange processes. It also is the most suitable technique for other aspects of POM chemistry including the interpretation of dynamic NMR spectra, determination of protonation sites, and structure determination of mixed metal POMs.¹⁵²

Unfortunately, the lack of a systematic comparison of the rates of various processes in different POM systems under the same experimental conditions hampers attempts to understand POM reactions, let alone quantitatively predict them.

4.11.2.2.2 Polyoxometalate-water oxygen exchange

General trends and points are first presented followed by discussion of specific literature studies in roughly chronological order. The bonds between d^0 transition metals and oxygen typically increase in strength and decrease in lability as one goes down each column in the *d*-block. This important kinetic phenomenon has been known for some time, but little quantified in POM systems. In particular, Mo^{VI}–O bonds are a little weaker and thus more labile than corresponding W^{VI}–O bonds.^{1,153,154} Although less documented, Nb^V–O bonds are, likewise, more labile than the corresponding Ta^V–O bonds in identical clusters (e.g., M₆O₁₉^{8–}).¹⁵² This greater lability of d^0 transition metal–oxygen bonds in the lighter transition metals has been seen in oxygen exchange between POMs and water,¹⁵² POM substitution reactions,¹⁵⁵ and in the hydrolytic or acid–base chemistry of POMs in general.^{57,156–158}

A related and well-known but effectively unquantified phenomenon is that POM lability is greatly reduced in organic solvents. The addition of even small percentages of either polar protic solvents such as alcohols or polar aprotic solvents such as acetonitrile, DMF, and DMSO to aqueous solutions of POMs greatly reduces the rate of POM reactions.^{107,152,159–162} The medium one is using impacts the rates of intramolecular processes such as rearrangements and isomerizations as well as intermolecular processes.

Specific literature studies begin with that of Geier and Brubaker who used ¹⁸O to probe POM oxo-H₂O oxygen exchange in orthotungstate and $\text{CoW}_{12}\text{O}_{40}^{5-}$. They reported that in aqueous solution at 25 °C, oxygen exchange in the former is complete in minutes but negligible in the latter.¹⁶³ The most studied POM with respect to POM oxo-H₂O oxygen exchange is decavanadate, $V_{10}\text{O}_{28}^{6-}$. First, Harrison and Howarth¹⁶⁴ pointed out that Klemperer and Shum in their ¹⁷O NMR study of the protonation and negative charge distribution in $V_{10}\text{O}_{28}^{6-}$ showed data that indicated all the oxo ligands in $V_{10}\text{O}_{28}^{6-}$ exchanged at the same rate.¹⁶⁵ Shortly thereafter, Murmann and Giese studied both oxygen exchange and POM decomposition for $V_{10}\text{O}_{28}^{6-}$.¹⁶⁶ Oxygen exchange and decomposition kinetics in $V_{10}\text{O}_{28}^{6-}$ was followed using H₂¹⁸O. First, the labeled $V_{10}\text{O}_{28}^{6-}$ in exchanging or reacting aliquots was precipitated as the Cs⁺ salt. Next, the Cs⁺ salt was dried, and all its oxygen atoms were converted to CO₂. Finally, the isotopic composition of the CO₂ was quantified by mass spectrometry. Given the complexity of the decavanadate structure and the difficulty in getting extensive kinetic data using such a laborious data collection procedure, it would be treasonable to expect that minimal insights regarding oxygen exchange and decomposition could be derived from the kinetic data. However, like Klemperer and Shum, these investigators found that all the oxygens exchanged at essentially the same rate. This allowed rate constants and activation parameters to be estimated under pseudo-order conditions. Oxygen exchange for 0.01 M solutions of $V_{10}\text{O}_{28}^{6-}$ in the pH range 4.0–6.3 has a half-life of ~15 h at 25 °C with a small ionic strength dependence. The rate increases dramatically below pH ~ 4.0, and decreases above pH ~ 6.3, reaching essentially zero at pH > 10.0. At pH ~ 6.3, $\Delta V^{4} = -5.0 \pm 2 \, \text{cm}^{3-}$, ΔH^{4}

There was some controversy over the protonation sites in $V_{10}O_{28}^{6-,165,167}$ but a combination X-ray diffraction, vapor pressure osmometry, and multinuclear solution NMR study indicated the protons reside on two OV₂ (doubly bridging) and one OV₃ (triply bridging) oxygens that are roughly colinear in the structure.⁸⁴ However, this work used quaternized organic salts and acetonitrile or mixed acetonitrile/H₂O solutions; whereas, a great majority of the other studies of POMs–water oxygen exchange used purely aqueous media. Extrapolating results from organic media or mixed aqueous–organic media to purely aqueous media could be problematical.

In 1981, Fedotov *et al.* reported the observed rate constants for exchange of the different oxygens in $PW_{12}O_{40}^{3-}$ and $PV_XW_{12-X}O_{40}^{(3+X)-}$ (X = 1-4) under pseudo-order conditions in H₂O by ¹⁷O NMR at two different temperatures (20 °C and 70 °C). Unfortunately, neither the POM concentrations nor the pH values were stated, and the exchange rates could well vary with these parameters. Given this uncertainty, however, the following reactivity order and rates of

exchange $(k_{ex} \times 10^6 \text{ s}^{-1} \text{ at } 70 \text{ °C})$ were found for $PVW_{11}O_{40}^{4-}$: V=O fastest (104) > W=O (97) ~ V-O-W (97) > W-O-W (51). All rates decrease substantially and the rate differences for the different oxygens increase modestly as the vanadium content (the value of *x*) increases. Exchange in the W-O-W groups of $PV_{2-4}W_{8-10}O_{40}^{(5-7)-}$ is very slow (no values given). The parent compound, $PW_{12}O_{40}^{3-}$, shows very little oxygen exchange at 20 °C after 1 year indicating that the V-O bonds have a labilizing role. The authors also state, although no specific data are provided, that the corresponding vanadopolymolybdates, $PV_xW_{12-x}O_{40}^{(3+x)-}$ (*x* = 1-4), are about two orders of magnitude more labile than their vanadopolytungstate analogues.¹⁵⁴

A subsequent (1984) study, that of Besecker *et al.* on the isomers of $[\{(Me)_5C_5\}Rh(cis-Nb_2W_4O_{19})]^{2^-}$, also provides data, qualitative in this case, on the relative rates of POM oxo-H₂O oxygen exchange for oxygens in the same POM but bound to different d^0 metals. In the *cis*-Nb₂W₄O₁₉²⁻ (C_{2v} symmetry) unit, the terminal Nb^V—O oxygens and the Nb^V—O—Nb^V oxygens exchange with H₂O in MeCN solution in less than 10 min at 25 °C, while the Nb^V—O—W^{VI} oxygens require many hours to exchange. The W^{VI}—O—W^{VI} oxygens exchange more slowly still. These highly variable oxygen exchange rates in the POM unit prevented more quantitative investigation of the isomerism of the organometallic unit (see below).¹⁶⁸ Pettersson and co-workers have indicated that equilibrations in the vanadophosphate system in 0.6 M Na(Cl) medium at 25 °C require months to years to reach equilibrium. This is significantly slower than equilibration in mixed vanadomolybdate systems.⁵⁹

In 1985, using ¹⁷O NMR, Harrison and Howarth showed that, in contrast to $V_{10}O_{28}^{6-}$, $HPV_{14}O_{42}^{8-}$ (a dicapped Keggin complex first published by Sasaki and co-workers¹⁶⁹), exchanges different oxygens at different rates like the common Keggin HPAs.¹⁶⁴ They reported rate constants under pseudo-first-order conditions (large excess of H₂O) for POM oxo-H₂O oxygen exchange for all the symmetry distinct oxygens at pH 2, 3, 5.5, and 7. Not surprisingly, the oxygens associated with the cap exchange fairly rapidly at all pH values consistent with these caps being cationic components added to stabilize the Keggin structure by reducing the excessive negative charge.^{169,170} The relative reactivities of the different oxygens are consistent with the likely protonation sites on HPV₁₄O₄₂⁸⁻ suggested by these investigators. The relative exchange rates of the different oxygens change as the pH is lowered. Interestingly, the terminal oxygens exchange very slowly at all pH values. The authors propose that this is because the labilization process(es) involving these oxo ligands themselves.¹⁶⁴ In 1996, Kozhevnikov *et al.*¹⁵³ conducted a revealing ¹⁷O MAS NMR study of oxygen

In 1996, Kozhevnikov *et al.*¹⁵³ conducted a revealing ¹⁷O MAS NMR study of oxygen exchange between solid ¹⁷O-labeled $H_3PMo_{12}O_{40}$ and H_2O at 200–250 °C. Since the ratio of enrichment of the different oxygens in the POM appeared to be independent of temperature and the same within experimental error as that for the fully equilibrated POM in labeled water, they inferred that an intramolecular (intra-Keggin) scrambling process was proceeding far faster than the intermolecular POM oxo-H₂O oxygen exchange process itself. Interestingly, the internal oxygens exchanged far slower under these conditions. The rates of POM oxo-H₂O oxygen exchange for the corresponding heteropolytungstate, $H_3PW_{12}O_{40}$, were far lower but unfortunately, no ratio of rates can be inferred from their data.¹⁵³

In summary, with the limited data currently available, the rates of POM oxo-H₂O oxygen exchange processes appear to depend most of all on the metal to which the oxygen is bound $(Mo^{VI} \text{ faster} > W^{VI}, Nb^{V} > Ta^{V}, and + 5 \text{ metals} > + 6 \text{ metals})$. They also depend significantly on the structure and composition of the POM. Mixed addenda POMs (more than one d^{0} metal in the external or solvent accessible sites) usually but not always exchange more rapidly than POMs with a single metal in these sites. Exceptions are cases where oxygen is bound to at least two fairly labile metal centers. Higher negative charges on the polyanion unit appear to slow exchange. However, studies that report (control) all factors that likely impact these oxygen exchange rates including pH, POM concentration, ionic strength, and metal counterion concentration are needed to be sure of some of these trends and certainly to quantify them. The possibility (probability) of specific or general acid or base catalysis has not been addressed fully. Finally it is unequivocal that organic solvents slow these exchanges as they do other reactions associated with polyanion units.

4.11.2.2.3 Intrapolyoxometalate oxygen exchange

Nearly all quantitative data in this area have appeared in the time-window of this review. In early work, Klemperer and Shum conducted an IR study that indicated both α and β isomers of



Figure 6 The two isomers of octamolybdate with the symmetry-distinct oxygens labeled.

 $Mo_8O_{26}^{4-}$ (Figure 6) equilibrate in acetonitrile solution and at higher temperatures convert irreversibly to $Mo_6O_{19}^{2-}$. A mechanism for the $\alpha-\beta$ isomerization of $Mo_8O_{26}^{4-}$ that preserved the center of inversion was proposed but no experimental evidence for it was offered.¹⁷¹ Subsequently, Day *et al.* conducted a variable temperature ¹⁷O NMR study of $\alpha-Mo_8O_{26}^{4-}$ and showed that the resonances of two of the four symmetry-distinct oxygens (O_B and O_C; see Figure 6) broadened with increasing temperature while those of O_A and O_D did not. They also reported that the H₂O peak remained a triplet even at the highest temperature of the investigation (30 °C).¹⁷² Since line broadening for resonances of different quadrupolar nuclei such as ¹⁷O (I=5/2) in a single molecule (i.e., different symmetry distinct oxygens in a POM) should not change with temperature by differing amounts if the broadening is associated with spin–spin splitting or quadrupolar effects, then the temperature-dependent changes in the line widths in the spectrum of $\alpha-Mo_8O_{26}^{4-}$ are very likely due to chemical exchange. The temperature dependence of peak widths for quadrupolar nuclei is expressed in Equation (16), where η is the electric field gradient asymmetry parameter, (e²Qq/ \hbar) is the quadrupolar coupling constant and τ_c is the correlation time for molecular rotation. The only temperature dependent term is τ_c and this is constant

$$\upsilon_{1/2} = \frac{1}{\pi T_2} = \frac{1}{\pi T_1} = \frac{3}{125\pi} \left(1 + \frac{\eta^3}{3} \right) \left(\frac{e^2 Qq}{\hbar} \right)^2 \tau_c$$
(16)

for different nuclei in the same molecule. In other words, if there is no chemical exchange in a rigid molecule isotropically tumbling in a homogeneous medium, the temperature-dependent change in peak widths for all symmetry equivalent ¹⁷O resonances should be the same. Since the water oxygen peak remained a triplet indicative of no exchange with the POM oxygens, and the terminal and bridging oxygens in the apical or "cap" MoO_4^{2-} units in this POM (O_B and O_C , respectively) were changing with temperature and the terminal and bridging oxygens of the central (MoO_3)₆ ring (O_A and O_D , respectively) were not, these authors concluded that the former POM oxygens were exchanging and the latter POM oxygens were not. This is reasonable given that the cap MoO_4^{2-} units, based on Mo—O bond distances from X-ray structures, are more weakly bound to the (MoO_3)₆ ring portion of the POM than the ring MoO_3 units in the ring are bound to each other.¹⁷² There are a number of POMs based on the mono- or dicapping of (MoO_3)_n rings for which this finding is likely relevant including (AsO_4^{3-})₂(Mo_6O_{18}), ^{173,174} ($C_6H_5AsO_3^{2-}$)₂(Mo_6O_{18}), ^{174,175} ($RAsO_3^{2-}$)₂(Mo_6O_{18}) (R = Me, $p-C_6H_4NH_2$), ¹⁷⁵ (PO_4^{3-})₂(Mo_5O_{15}), ¹⁷⁶ and (RPO_4^{2-})₂(Mo_5O_{15}), $R = NH_3C_2H_4$, the first zwitterionic HPA, and Me.¹⁷⁷

Pope and co-workers contemporaneously prepared and investigated organoarsonate- and organophosphonate-capped hexamolybdates,¹⁷⁸ hexatungstates,¹⁷⁹ and pentatungstates.¹⁸⁰ They investigated interconversion of two such structures in acetonitrile solution and suggested a new pathway for the hydrolysis of polyoxoanion units.¹⁷⁸ They also used NMR line shape analysis to investigate the protonation of bridging hydroxo oxygens and subsequent H₂O exchange in these compounds.¹⁷⁹ Much of this initial work was summarized in a short review article.¹⁸¹



Figure 7 Three dicapped-ring polymolybdates whose rearrangements have been studied by variable temperature ¹⁷O NMR. Only the ipso (connecting) carbon of the phenyl rings is shown (spheres with cross lines).

Subsequently, Pope, Brévard, and co-workers examined isomerization in the organophosphonates, $(C_6H_5PO_3)_2W_5O_{15}^{4-}$ by dynamic ¹⁸³W NMR as well as ¹⁷O NMR.¹⁸⁰ NMR, IR, and X-ray power diffraction data indicated these polytungstates were isostructural to the polymolybdates investigated by the other groups. The ¹⁸³W NMR of this complex in acetonitrile at 235–306 K is a single 1:2:1 triplet ($^2J_{W-O-P}$ =1.95 Hz) which is consistent with a rapid intramolecular rearrangement of the POM structure. The authors propose a pseudorotation of the nonplanar five-membered ring of corner-shared WO₄ tetrahedra capped on both sides by fluxional PhPO₃ groups.¹⁸⁰

In 1985, Klemperer and co-workers followed up their preliminary report of a variabletemperature NMR and structural study on α -Mo₈O₂₆⁴⁻ with a more detailed ¹⁷O NMR study of the intramolecular rearrangements of the capping polymolybdates. They examined α -Mo₈O₂₆⁴⁻ as before but now also two other POMs constituted by cap units on a Mo₆O₁₈ ring, (C₆H₅As)₂Mo₆O₂₄⁴⁻ and (C₆H₅As)Mo₇O₂₅⁴⁻ (Figure 7).¹⁷⁴ In addition to the line broadening experiments they addressed in the earlier report, they also conducted ¹⁷O spin saturation transfer techniques, and ¹⁷O label crossover experiments on all three of these POMs. (C₆H₅As)Mo₇O₂₅⁴⁻ exhibits two types of fluxional behavior, a low temperature process that involves Mo₆O₁₈ ring inversion accompanied by twisting of the C₆H₅AsO₃²⁻ subunit and twisting of the capping MoO₄²⁻ subunit, and a higher temperature process that involves cleavage of stronger Mo—O bonds. The latter process is mechanistically undefined.

In 1988, Howarth and Kelly, using a partially selective ¹⁷O inversion sequence (T_1 and T_2 values were too short to render two-dimensional NOESY and DANTE methods practical) demonstrated that oxygen exchange in the common isopolyanion, Mo₇O₂₄⁶⁻, does not involve the H₂O solvent but rather exchange of terminal and bridging oxygens of the POM.¹⁸² In 1990, these investigators, in a collaboration with Pettersson, used ¹⁷O and ⁹⁵Mo NMR to study Mo^{V1} in aqueous solution from pH 6 to pH 1.2 and obtained evidence for the conversion of Mo₇O₂₄⁶⁻ to β -Mo₈O₂₆⁴⁻ via observing the sequential intermediates in this transformation: monoprotonated Mo₇O₂₄⁶⁻, a second intermediate, and then H₃Mo₈O₂₈⁵⁻, a third intermediate.¹⁸³ In 1996, Andersson *et al.* studied oxygen and vanadium exchange in linear vanadate oligomers at Union.

In 1996, Andersson *et al.* studied oxygen and vanadium exchange in linear vanadate oligomers at pH 10–12.3.¹⁸⁴ They confirmed the existence of V_3 and V_4 species. Peak broadening was largely but not exclusively due to chemical exchange. Line widths and magnetization transfer experiments indicated that oxygen and vanadium exchange is independent of the solvent and the monomeric or the dimeric vanadates also present. The broadenings are consistent with the presence of an intermediate, probably a cyclic structure. Interestingly, simple proton transfer between the oxygens in the monoprotonated monovanadate anion is sufficiently slow to be detectable by NMR spectroscopy.¹⁸⁴

4.11.2.2.4 Isomerization of polyanion units

There have been studies of polyanion unit isomerization in the solid state but such isomerizations are more problematical to quantify and unequivocal inferences from them are harder to come by than from the analogous studies in solution. The difficulty derives in part because high-quality kinetics data are hard to obtain for reactions in the solid state. Nonetheless, some reports on solid-state POM isomerization in the time period of this review afford valuable insights.

In 1995, Wachs and co-workers disclosed that exposure of MoO₃ on silica to water-saturated air for several hours leads to the formation of surface H₄SiMo₁₂O₄₀. This process was followed by *in situ* Raman spectroscopy, TGA, and selective oxidation of MeOH to CH₂=O.¹⁸⁵ A significant and phenomenologically related but hard to categorize investigation by Lambert, Che, and co-workers should be noted here. These chemists demonstrated that suspending alumina in a tungstate solution, even at near-neutral pH values, leads to the formation of polytungstoaluminate species in solution.^{186,187} In 1996, Trifirò, Finke, and co-workers documented (FTIR, XRD, TGA, and TEM) evidence for the solid-state rearrangement of the Wells-Dawson POM, K₆P₂W₁₈O₆₂·10H₂O, to a stable Keggin-type HPA phase.¹⁸⁸ Also in 1996, Kawafune and Matsubayashi gave the rate constants, activation parameters, and the kinetic impact of some ion pairing effects on the solid-state isomerization of A- β -PV₃W₉O₄₀⁶⁻ to its corresponding α isomer.¹⁸⁹

There have been many attempts to rationalize the structure and isomers of Keggin HPAs, the most common and investigated class of POMs. Since component substructures in the Keggin ion, including but not limited to the M_3O_{13} triad, are common to most POMs, understanding the Keggin structure would be insightful to the study of POMs in general. The principal isomers of the Keggin structure result from 60° rotation and re-attachment of one, two, three, and four M_3O_{13} triads that comprise the overall polyanion. These different compounds were referred to as the β , γ , δ , and ε isomers, respectively, by Baker and Figgis.¹⁹⁰ There has been disagreement regarding the relative stabilities of the two most common isomers, α and β , in the regular (fully oxidized) Keggin POMs. The simple electrostatic assessment of bonding in POMs argues that the α and β isomers should be the most stable and of similar energies because all four M₃O₁₃ triads in both structures are connected by corner-shared contacts; whereas, the γ , δ , and ε isomers should be less stable because the intertriad corner-sharing linkages are replaced successively with edgesharing linkages. This follows because the main electrostatic component in the energy of the polyanion unit is M^{VI} — M^{VI} (M = Mo or W) repulsion and corner-sharing (μ -oxo linked) MO₆ octahedra have longer M—M distances than edge-sharing (di- μ -oxo linked) MO₆ octahedra $(d_{W-W} = \sim 3.7 \text{ Å} \text{ and } \sim 3.4 \text{ Å}, \text{ respectively}).^{191}$ However, experimental evidence indicates that α isomers are more stable than β isomers.^{91,192,193} For example, isomerization always proceeds β to α .^{13,106} Indeed, one reason equilibrium concentrations of α and β isomers have not been determined until recently is that these isomerizations proceed to completion (i.e., there is not enough of the less stable β isomer remaining at equilibrium to quantify its concentration). Quantitative experimental data to address this and other stability and lability issues associated with the different isomers of the Keggin and other POM structures have been lacking until recently.

In 1983, Kircher and Crouch conducted a stopped flow kinetics investigation of the formation and decomposition of $PMo_{12}O_{40}^{3-}$ at 25 °C and 3.0 M ionic strength as a function of solution pH and Mo(VI) concentration. The kinetics are complex which prohibited many molecular aspects of the mechanism to be unequivocally determined. They proposed that isomerizations of Keggin species take place through lacunary (defect) intermediates.¹⁹⁴ In 1986, Canny *et al.* also made this proposal based on the isolation of many thoroughly characterized Keggin lacunary and other derivatives.¹⁰⁶

In 1999, Weinstock *et al.* quantified the equilibria between the α and β isomers of a Keggin complex, AlW₁₂O₄₀⁵⁻, and the α and β isomers of the corresponding lacunary form, AlW₁₁O₃₉⁹⁻ in solution. Pure α and β isomers of H₅AlW₁₂O₄₀ were first prepared and then aqueous solutions of each heated to form the same ratio of products. The equilibrium ratio of β to α (k_1/k_{-1}), $K_{eq}(473 \text{ K}, 0.1 \text{ M})$, is 0.11 ± 0.01. This translates (via $\Delta G = -RT \ln K_{eq}$) to the α isomer being more stable than β isomer by 2.1 ± 0.5 kcal mol⁻¹.⁹⁷ First-order rate constants for the approach to equilibrium of α - and β -H₅AlW₁₂O₄₀ at 473 K are $k_{1\alpha\rightarrow\beta}=7.68 \times 10^{-7} \text{ s}^{-1}$ and $k_{-1\beta\rightarrow\alpha}=6.97 \times 10^{-6} \text{ s}^{-1}$ (see Figure 8). Likewise, the pure α and β isomers of K₉AlW₁₁O₃₉ were prepared and solutions of each were equilibrated (0.13 M in D₂O, 333 K at natural pH values of ca. 7) to produce a 60:40 molar $\alpha:\beta$ mixture which translates to a $K_{Equation} = 1.5$, and an energy difference of 0.3 kcal mol⁻¹. A trend was established in the relative stabilities of the β isomers: $X = Al^{III}-\beta$ most stable > Si^{IV} > P^{V.97} Subsequent work by Cowan *et al.* further established the roles of kinetic and thermodynamic control in the formation and isomerization of Keggin polytungstoaluminates.⁹¹

Independently, theoretical work by Poblet and co-workers on the relative energies of α and β Keggin isomers as a function of the heteroatom and other parameters of the polyanion ion unit also indicated that the stability of the β isomer relative to the α isomer decreases in the order $AI^{III} > Si^{IV} > P^{V}$.^{95,195} The higher stability of β - $AI^{III}W_{12}O_{40}^{5-}$ is attributed to an electronic effect of a large, electron-donating heteroatom moiety (AIO_4^{3-}) encapsulated inside a polarizable fixeddiameter β - $W_{12}O_{36}$ shell. No unique structural distortion of the β Keggin structure (or β - $W_{12}O_{36}$



Figure 8 Isomerization of α -AlW₁₂O₄₀⁵⁻ (α -(1); black triangles) and β -AlW₁₂O₄₀⁵⁻ (β -(1); open triangles) and of α -Na₉AlW₁₁O₃₉ (α -(3); black circles) and β -Na₉AlW₁₁O₃₉ (β -(3); open circles). Approach to equilibrium between α -(1) and β -(1) shown by dashed curves; approach to equilibrium between solutions initially containing mostly α -(3) (82% α , 18% β) and mostly β -(3) (87% β , 13% α) in D₂O is shown by solid curves (reprinted with permission from *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 1999, *121*, 4608–4617; © American Chemical Society).

neutral shell) is needed to explain the observed $\beta:\alpha$ ratios in the series of Keggin POMs. These specific structural findings from the DFT computations were confirmed by a detailed analysis of the X-ray crystal structure of the β -Cs_{4.5}K_{0.5}Al^{III}W₁₂O₄₀·7.5H₂O with previously published structures of the α isomer of Al^{III}W₁₂O₄₀⁵⁻ and the α and β isomers of Si^{III}W₁₂O₄₀⁴⁻.98 In 1999, Kim and Pope prepared the first POMs with uranyl hetero groups. Solid Na₉

In 1999, Kim and Pope prepared the first POMs with uranyl hetero groups. Solid Na₉ [A-PW₉O₃₄] was added to aqueous UO₂(NO₃)₂ (0.2 M in NaCl). Adding additional NaCl, KCl, or NH₄Cl produced crystals of formula $[M_2(UO_2)_2(A-PW_9O_{34})_2]^{12-}$, where $M = Na^+$, K⁺, or NH₄⁺, respectively.¹⁴⁵ X-ray crystallography established that the Na⁺ salt is of C_i symmetry with equivalent tetrahedrally coordinated Na⁺ centers in the central cavity. In contrast, the K⁺ and NH₄⁺ salts are of C_s symmetry with one cation in a central site and one external to the structure. Both ³¹P and ¹⁸³W NMR show the solid state structures for all three compounds persist in solution and that addition of either K⁺ or NH₄⁺ salts to the disodium POM results in formation of the C_s symmetry potassium or ammonium POMs.¹⁴⁵ The NMR spectra indicate that the external cation in the latter POMs is in rapid exchange so as not to lower the symmetry of the POMs in solution below C_s . These cation-induced rearrangements are defined by the equilibria in Equation (17), and the equilibrium constants for these processes, K_{eq}, assessed by the same techniques, are 128 ± 12 and 1.8 ± 0.8, for K⁺ and NH₄⁺, respectively. The presence of calcium ions produces a POM with C_i symmetry based on the NMR spectra but the resulting calcium complex was not studied further:

$$\left[\mathrm{Na}_{2}(\mathrm{UO}_{2})_{2}(\mathrm{A}-\mathrm{PW}_{9}\mathrm{O}_{34})_{2}\right]^{12-} + 2\mathrm{M}^{+} \rightarrow \left[\mathrm{M}_{2}(\mathrm{UO}_{2})_{2}(\mathrm{A}-\mathrm{PW}_{9}\mathrm{O}_{34})_{2}\right]^{12-} + 2\mathrm{Na}^{+} \tag{17}$$

where $M = K^+$ or NH_4^+ .

 M_3O_{13} triad attachment (Baker–Figgis) isomerization has also been repeatedly addressed in the Wells–Dawson polyoxotungstates. However, nearly all these studies, like those involving Keggin complexes, are purely structural in nature (synthesis coupled with spectroscopic and/or X-ray crystallographic data).¹³ Quantitative thermodynamic or kinetic information was not reported. Purely structural studies are not the focus of this review but some of these informative studies have been and will be mentioned here to put the reactivity studies in full context.

In 2002, a full kinetic investigation of the Baker-Figgis (β to α) isomerization in the classical polytungstophosphates, α - and β -P₂W₁₈O₆₂⁶⁻, was undertaken.¹⁹⁶ The α isomer was determined to be more stable than the β isomer in the solid state by differential scanning calorimetry (4.36 ± 0.64 kcal mol⁻¹) and in solution by ³¹P NMR (3.80 ± 0.57 kcal mol⁻¹). The k_{obs} for conversion of β -P₂W₁₈O₆₂⁶⁻ to α -P₂W₁₈O₆₂⁶⁻ at 343 K in pH = 4.24 acetate buffer, followed by ³¹P NMR, is 5.3 ± 0.4 × 10⁻⁵ s⁻¹.

Several lines of evidence establish the validity of proposals in the literature that isomerization goes through a lacunary (defect) intermediate.^{106,194} First, the rate is proportional to [OH⁻]. Second, isomerization increases at higher ionic strengths, and a Debye–Hückel plot is consistent with a rate limiting reaction between β -P₂W₁₈O₆₂⁶⁻ and OH⁻ (two species with a charge product = six). Third, alkali metal cations stabilize the bimolecular transition state (K⁺ > Na⁺ > Li⁺) consistent with recent ion pairing studies in POM systems. Fourth, the mono-vanadium substituted products, α_1 - and α_2 -P₂VW₁₇O₆₂⁷⁻ (⁵¹V NMR, $\delta = -554$ ppm), form during isomerization in the presence of VO²⁺ (yield 19%). The known lacunary compounds (α_1 - and α_2 -P₂W₁₇O₆₁¹⁰⁻) also react rapidly with the same vanadium precursor. Fifth, solvent studies establish that isomerization does not occur when OH⁻ is absent. A mechanism is proposed involving attack of OH⁻ on β -P₂W₁₈O₆₂⁶⁻, loss of monomeric W^{V1} from the M₃ (M₃O₁₃) terminal cap, isomerization of the resulting lacunary compound to α -P₂W₁₇O₆₁¹⁰⁻, and finally reaction of this species with monomeric W^{V1} to form the thermodynamic and observed product, α -P₂W₁₈O₆₂⁶⁻.

4.11.2.2.5 Isomerization of surface bound organometallic units

The 1984 study of Besecker *et al.* on the isomers of $[{(Me)_5C_5}Rh(cis-Nb_2W_4O_{19})]^{2-}$ was mentioned in Section 4.11.2.2.2 as providing information on POM oxo-H₂O oxygen exchange. This complex was prepared by a simple displacement reaction in CH₂Cl₂ solution, Equation (18), and

$$2Nb_2W_4O_{19}^{4-} + [\{(Me)_5C_5\}RhCl_2]_2 \rightarrow 2[\{(Me)_5C_5\}Rh(Nb_2W_4O_{19})]^{2-} + 2Cl^-$$
(18)

the ¹H NMR indicates that only two of the possible diastereomers of the product are formed.¹⁶⁸ However, in MeNO₂ or MeCN solution in the presence of $[{(Me)_5C_5}RhS_3]^{2+}$ (S = MeNO₂ or MeCN) at ambient temperature, a third diastereomer is formed. The mechanism proposed for this involves association of a second $[(Me)_5C_5]Rh^{2+}$ with the POM via Equations (19) and (20). Two possible geometries for the 2:1 adduct intermediate, $[{(Me)_5C_5}Rh(Nb_2W_4O_{19})Rh{(Me)_5C_5}]$, were proposed based on spectral data and steric arguments. While is it reasonable that this adduct would be more labile than the 1:1 complex of the reactants, $[{(Me)_5C_5}Rh(Nb_2W_4O_{19})]^2^-$, based on electrostatic arguments, no direct kinetic or other hard evidence for it was provided. Multiple detailed mechanisms could proceed by the general processes in Equations (19) and (20):¹⁶⁸

$$[\{(Me)_5C_5\}Rh(Nb_2W_4O_{19})]^{2-} + [\{(Me)_5C_5\}RhS_3]^{2+} \rightarrow$$

two diastereomers

$$[\{(Me)_5C_5\}Rh(Nb_2W_4O_{19})Rh\{(Me)_5C_5\}] + 3S$$
(19)
$$[\{(Me)_5C_5\}Rh(Nb_2W_4O_{19})Rh\{(Me)_5C_5\}] + 3S \rightarrow$$

third diastereomer

$$[\{(Me)_5C_5\}Rh(Nb_2W_4O_{19})]^{2-} + [\{(Me)_5C_5\}RhS_3]^{2+}$$
(20)

Two subsequent studies by Finke and co-workers also addressed isomerism or potential isomerism of organometallic units bound to the surfaces of POMs. In 1995, Pohl et al. studied

the ¹H, ¹³P, ³¹P, and ¹⁸³W NMR of TBA₅Na₃[(1,5-COD)M·P₂W₁₅Nb₃O₆₂] (M = Ir and Rh) in DMSO solution in the presence and absence of a bicyclic crown chelating agent.¹¹⁵ The spectral changes are likely due to some fluxionality in the binding position of the (1,5-COD)M⁺ unit. A main argument for this fluxionality was indirect, namely Day *et al.* had previously demonstrated that (1,5-COD)Ir₃O₉²⁻, although its cation binding P₃O₉³⁻ surface unit is very similar to that in P₂W₁₅Nb₃O₆²⁹⁻ (a local κ_3 -O-support site of effective $C_{3\nu}$ symmetry), does not bind the Ir⁺ moiety symmetrically. That is, the local IrO₃ unit in (1,5-COD)IrP₃O₉²⁻ has a lower symmetry than $C_{3\nu}$. Furthermore this complex is fluxional in solution down to $-75 \,^{\circ}C.^{197}$ Since the two κ_3 -O-support sites are so structurally and electronically similar in P₃O₉³⁻ and P₂W₁₅Nb₃O₆²⁹⁻, it is a reasonable inference that a similar fluxionality may be present in [(1,5-COD)IrP₂W₁₅Nb₃O₆₂]⁸⁻. In subsequent work, this group prepared two organometallic POM derivatives, [Re(CO)₃·P₂W₁₅Nb₃O₆₂]⁸⁻ and [Ir(CO)₂·P₂W₁₅Nb₃O₆₂]⁸⁻ as both the TBA⁺-only salts and as the mixed TBA⁺/Na⁺ salts. When TBA⁺ is the only counterion, the ³¹P NMR and ¹⁸³W NMR spectra of these complexes are consistent with the presence of only the maximally symmetrical ($C_{3\nu}$) isomer in which the organometallic units are centrally bound to the electron dense Nb₃O₉³⁻ end of the POM.¹¹⁶ However, the ³¹P NMR and ¹⁸³W NMR spectra, and by comparison the IR spectra, of the mixed TBA⁺/Na⁺ salts indicate they do not have $C_{3\nu}$ symmetry. Addition of an equivalent amount of the alkali metal chelating agent, Kryptofix[2.2.2], to solutions of these mixed salts results in immediate complexation of the Na based on the ¹H NMR, but the ³¹P and ¹⁸³W NMR spectra indicate the organometallic units are still bonded to the supporting POM in a nonsymmetrical way(s).

The isomerism in the previously studied organometallic POM derivative, $[(1,5\text{-COD}) \mathbf{M} \cdot \mathbf{P}_2 \mathbf{W}_{15} \mathbf{N} \mathbf{b}_3 \mathbf{O}_{62}]^{8^-}$ (M = Ir and Rh), is very likely analogous to that in the "Re(CO)₃⁺" and "Ir(CO)₂⁺" derivatives, but equilibration of the nonsodium-paired species is significantly faster for the former. The lower mobility of Re(CO)₃⁺ and Ir(CO)₂⁺ vs. the Ir(1,5-COD)⁺ on the Nb₃O₉³⁻ unit surface was attributed to the greater binding affinity of the former organometallic cations vs. the latter. (The CO ligands make the former units significantly better acceptors of the electron density on the Nb₃O₉³⁻ oxygens.)¹¹⁶ In 1999, Weiner *et al.* prepared a third class of POM derivatives involving the attachment of complex cationic species to P₂W₁₅Nb₃O₆₂⁹⁻. However, there is no experimental evidence thus far that the cationic units in these complexes of formula (TBA)_(9-nxm) [m{(MeCN)_xMⁿ⁺}/P₂W₁₅Nb₃O₆₂⁹⁻] (see above; Section 4.11.2.1) are mobile.¹¹⁷

4.11.2.3 Reactions of Surface Groups

4.11.2.3.1 Formation of p-block organometallic derivatives of POMs

There is very little dynamic or mechanistic data currently available on the formation or subsequent reactions of POMs containing appended *p*-block organometallic groups other than what can be inferred from the fully characterized product complexes. However, the formation of these complexes itself constitutes a fairly general type of POM reactivity and is thus included in this review. Gouzerh and Proust have written a thorough and authoritative review (several hundred references) on organic, *p*-block organometallic and *d*-block organometallic derivatives of POMs covering the literature through early 1998.²⁰ This should be consulted for the synthetic and structural chemistry in this area.

There is a substantial literature on reactions of electrophilic species with POMs or POM precursors such as MoO_4^{2-} or WO_4^{2-} to form stable adducts. The electrophilic groups can be *p*-block-based organometallic compounds, organic compounds, or in some instances, *d*-block-based organometallic compounds. Some of the latter were addressed above (Section 4.11.2.2.5 and elsewhere) but these complexes are not addressed in this section. The organic compounds, particularly alcohols or carboxylic acids, are, of course, *p*-block-based species because carbon is a *p*-block element. However, organic POM derivatives are discussed separately below (Section 4.11.2.3.2) because of the unique nature of carbon and potential diversity and utility of such complexes. In nearly all cases, the formation of *p*-block organometallic POM derivatives involves the formation of M^1 —O— M^2 linkages, where $M^1 = p$ -block element and



Reprinted with the permision from *Inorg. Chem.* 36, 1366–1377; © 1997, American Chemical Society.

Scheme 2

 $M^2 = d$ -block (POM forming) element. Two different general synthetic approaches, each with its own implications for POM reactivity, have been used. The first general approach entails reaction with *p*-block acids, most commonly arsonates and phosphonates, with a POM or POM precursor. Although few investigators have addressed it experimentally, such reactions are, in principle, reversible. Evidence of reversibility has been established for alkoxy POMs^{198,199} (species with C—O—M linkages that are covered in Section 4.11.2.3.2 below). If the M—OH group of the *p*-block reagent is viewed as an alcohol analogue, then reaction with the POM "acid" leads to an "ester" where both alcohol and acid component units are inorganic. By the same analogy, if the M—OH group of the *p*-block reagent is viewed as an acid (analogous to a hydroxy group of a carboxylic acid), then its reaction with the POM produces an "anhydride" (Equation (21)). Given that many esters of inorganic acids are effectively metal alkoxides, and such species in most cases are very unstable to hydrolysis, the hydrolytic stability of several *p*-block-element-based organometallic derivatives of POMs is noteworthy. Indeed many are prepared in water. Actual equilibrium constants in general have not been measured, but the generic equilibrium in Equation (21)

lies well to the right in many cases. This fact suggests potential utility and applications based on POMs:



The earliest work on formation of organometallic POM species involved this condensationdehydration approach (Equation (21)) and typically produced capped ring structures in which a ring of 4–6 W^{VI} or Mo^{VI} octahedra bears one cap centrally located above the ring or two caps, each centrally located, one above and one below the ring. The typical pH range of stability of these complexes in aqueous solution is 2–6. First, Pope and co-workers prepared dialkyl- and diarylarsinate adducts of tetramolybdate in which a Me₂AsO₂ tetrahedron caps the Mo₄ moiety. The ¹H NMR and IR spectra of (CN₃H₆)₂[Me₂AsMo₄O₁₄(OH)] are consistent with a proton localized on the oxygen that bridges the four Mo atoms. About the same time, the group also prepared and characterized the pentamolybdobisphosphonates, (RP)₂Mo₅O₂₁^{4–}, where R = H, Me, C₂H₅, C₆H₅, C₂H₄NH₃⁺, and *p*-CH₂C₆H₄NH₃⁺.^{200,201} The following year, Filowitz and Klemperer published the preparation and solution structures (by ¹⁷O NMR) of As₂Mo₆O₂₆^{6–} and (PhAs)₂Mo₆O₂₄^{4–},¹⁷³ while Kwak *et al.* also synthesized several derivatives of this same organoarsonate dicapped POM, (RAs)₂Mo₆O₂₄^{4–} (R = Me, Ph, *p*-NH₂C₆H₄) and an X-ray structure of the [(Me)₄N]₂Na₂ salt of the MeAs derivative.¹⁷⁵ Pope and co-workers followed this investigation with a synthesis and dynamic study of (PhAs)₂Mo₆O₂₅H₂^{4–},¹⁷⁸ and (PhAs)₂Mo₆O₂₅H₂^{4–}, as detailed above in Section 4.11.2.2.3.

Subsequently, Pope's group published three other studies involving preparation and characterization of three more capped POMs. Sethuraman *et al.* described the synthesis and isomerization of heteropolypentatungstobisphosphonates,¹⁸⁰ Barkigia *et al.* reported a neutral zwitterionicderivatized POM, $(p-H_3N^+C_6H_4As)_4Mo_{12}O_{46}^{4-}$, and related derivatives,²⁰² and Katsoulis *et al.* noted organophosphate-capped ring-type POMs of formula (ROPO₃)₂Mo₅O₁₅⁴⁻, where ROPO₃H₂ = riboflavin 5'-monophosphate, AMP, UMP, and glycerophosphoric acid.²⁰³

In the 1990s, Zubieta and co-workers found a variety of novel organophosphonate POMs as well as solid metal phosphonate phases using this general *p*-block acid + POM (or POM precursor) approach (Equation (21)). Some of the reactions were conducted under typical solution conditions and others under hydrothermal conditions. Like the great majority of the publications in this area, dynamic (kinetic and mechanistic) data as such are not given, but the products provide insight into self-assembly and stability issues. In 1993, Chen and Zubieta documented that reaction between PhPO₃H₂ and TBA₄V₅O₁₄ in methanol produced TBA [V₅O₇(OMe)₂(PhPO₃)₅], a POM with alkoxy and organophosphonate ligands, with a vanadyl (V^{IV}=O) group directed into the interior of the cluster space.²⁰⁴ Both protonation and reduction of this structurally unique POM produce other structures. In 1993, this group also demonstrated the hydrothermal synthesis and structural characterization of (NH₄)₅Na₄-[Na{Mo₆O₁₅(HO₃PC₆H₅)₃(O₃PC₆H₅)₃], a polyoxomolybdenum(V) complex with several organophosphonate ligands,²⁰⁵ and followed up this work in 1995 with additional phenylphosphonate Mo^V-based POMs prepared the same way.²⁰⁶ In 1994, they reported the preparation (Ph₄P[VO₂Cl₂] + PhPO₃H₂ in acetonitrile or methanol) and structure of [ClV₇O₁₂(O₃PC₆H₅)₆]²⁻, an oxovanadium(V) organophosphonate cluster encapsulating a chloride ion, and other complexes.²⁰⁷ Khan and Zubieta reviewed much of this work (oxovanadium and oxomolybdenum clusters and solids incorporating oxygen-donor ligands) in 1995, and this publication should be consulted for further chemistry in this area.⁸

In the late 1990s, Thouvenot and co-workers published studies involving the condensation approach (Equation (21)) to make *p*-block organometallic derivatives of Keggin POMs. In 1998, Mayer *et al.* reported the preparation of organophosphoryl polyoxotungstate derivatives TBA₃Na₂[A, α -PW₉O₃₄(RPO)₂] (R = Et, Buⁿ, Bu^t, allyl, or Ph) by reaction of the organophosphonic acids RPO(OH)₂ with the trivacant polytungstophosphate, Na₈[A, β -HPW₉O₃₄] in acetonitrile solution.²⁰⁸ An earlier (1992) synthesis of phosphonyl Keggin derivatives used a different procedure (irreversible reaction with phosphonyl chlorides; see below).²⁰⁹ In 1999, the Thouvenot group also disclosed the preparation of C_{2v} bis(organophosphoryl) decatungstosilicates of formula SiW₁₀O₃₆(RPO)₂⁴⁻ (R = H, Et, Buⁿ, Bu^t, C₂H₄CO₂H, and Ph) using the same synthetic procedure they used in the 1998 study but starting with the divacant $[\gamma$ -SiW₁₀O₃₆]⁸⁻ anion.²¹⁰ The diphenyl derivative was characterized by X-ray crystallography, and multinuclear NMR (¹H, ²⁹Si, ³¹P, and ¹⁸³W) confirmed the same structures existed in solution.

This *p*-block acid + POM condensation approach (Equation (21)) was used to graft polymerizable groups, particularly alkenes, to POMs following by polymerization of the functionalized POMs to make network materials.

The second general approach to POMs bearing *p*-block organometallic groups entails reaction of POMs with *p*-block species that are higher energy than hydroxy compounds (acids). Most frequently acid chlorides have been used. Although rarely if ever addressed, these reactions are, in most cases and under most synthetic conditions used, doubtless irreversible. This attribute distinguishes them from the reactions discussed in the preceding section. Monomeric POM precursor compounds are generally not used in these preparations but rather lacunary (defect) POMs. Both these measures, use of acid chlorides and use of highly charged and consequently more reactive, nucleophilic POMs, usually ensure reaction completion. A noteworthy and related point regarding reactivity is that despite the hydrolytic lability of MCl (M = p-block element) bonds, these reactions have frequently been conducted in water. Indeed, many of them have been conducted in the absence of base to consume the HCl by-product as well.

The groups of Knoth, Klemperer, and Pope first described reactions of organosilyl or organotin chlorides or comparably reactive reagents with POMs, and primarily with lacunary POMs.^{211–214} The products, as in the case of the reactions involving *p*-block hydroxy bearing reactants, are POMs with pendant organometallic groups. Scheme 3 illustrates two typical syntheses involving organometallic acid chlorides and POM fragments and is constructed using coordinates from actual X-ray structures. The top equation illustrates the usual reaction of an organosilyl trichloride with a lacunary POM ($XM_{11}O_{39}^{n-}$) to form a 2:1 adduct, and the bottom equation illustrates a reaction between an organotin trichloride with a trivacant POM to form a 3:2 sandwich complex.





In these early publications, the hybrid *p*-block and *d*-block compounds were touted as models for possible intermediates in catalytic reactions, models for some materials, and simply as new synthetic inorganic chemistry. The work garnered considerable attention from both the organometallic and inorganic communities at the time because both cluster chemistry and exploration of the interface between homogenous and heterogeneous catalysis were very hot topics at that time. (Both topics have continued to be very active in the interim with activity increasing in the last few years. A special journal issue covering the 10th International Symposium on the Relations between Homogeneous and Heterogeneous Catalysis has been published recently.)²¹⁵

More recently (1991), Thouvenot and co-workers reported the reaction of RSiCl₃ (R = alkyl or aryl) in dry acetonitrile with the trivacant heteropolytungstate A, α -[SiW₉O₃₄]^{10-.216} The resulting complex has three HSiO₃ centers. Each of these centers shares two oxygens with two WO₆ units in the POM framework and a third oxygen with a fourth HSi center which symmetrically caps the other three and the overall polyanion. In 1994, Pope and co-workers demonstrated that the reaction of organotin trichlorides with Na₈H[A-PW₉O₃₄] and Na₁₂[α -P₂W₁₅O₅₆] produces the tris(organotin)-substituted Keggin and Wells-Dawson polytungstophosphates of formula [(PhSnOH)₃(PW₉O₃₄)₂]¹²⁻,

[(BuSnOH)₃(PW₉O₃₄)₂]¹²⁻, [(PhSn)₃P₂W₁₅O₅₉]⁹⁻, and [(BuSn)₃P₂W₁₅O₅₉]⁹⁻, respectively.²¹⁷ The X-ray structure of K₁₁H[(PhSnOH)₃(PW₉O₃₄)₂] shows a polyanion of approximate D_{3h} symmetry with three PhSnOH groups sandwiched between two A, β -PW₉O₃₄⁹⁻ units, a structure which is isomerically similar to the sandwich compounds first published by Knoth in 1985 (see Scheme 3 above).²¹⁸ In 1996, Xin *et al.* published the full characterization of eight tris(organotin)-substituted Keggin polytungstosilicates.²¹⁹ Extensive characterization including X-ray structures indicated these POMs were of two basic structural types, tri-substituted Keggin anion replaced by three PhSnO₅ groups (typical formula, (PhSn)₃SiW₉O₃₇⁷⁻), and sandwich structures including [(BuSnOH)₃(SiW₉O₃₄)₂]¹⁴⁻, of approximate D_{3h} symmetry with three BuSnOH groups sandwiched between two A, α -SiW₉O₃₄¹⁰⁻ polyanions. Also in 1996, Mazeaud *et al.* disclosed the reaction of Bu'SiCl₃ with A, α -[PW₉O₃₄]⁹⁻ and B, α -[HAsW₉O₃₃]⁸⁻ to form A, α -[PW₉O₃₄(Bu'SiOH)₃]³⁻ and B, α -[AsW₉O₃₃(Bu'SiOH)₃]³⁻, respectively.²²⁰

Organophosphonate POMs were prepared via this acid chloride + POM route by Kim and Hill in 1992.²⁰⁹ The product complexes $[C_6H_5P(O)]_2X^{n+}W_{11}O_{39}^{(8-n)-}(X^{n+}=P^{5+},Si^{4+})$ were characterized by multinuclear NMR, X-ray crystallography, and other methods. TBA₂H [PhP(O)]₂PW₁₁O₃₉ converts cleanly to the partially hydrolyzed complex TBA2H2[PhP(O)] [PhP(O)(OH)]PW11O39 when dissolved in wet DMSO, and the latter reversibly reverts to the former when placed back in anhydrous acetonitrile. Phosphorus-31 NMR shows that the partially hydrolyzed complex slowly hydrolyzes further to several products in DMSO- d_6 . The rate is dependent on the H₂O concentration with halflives in dry DMSO and wet DMSO (10 equivalents of H_2O) at 296 K of 312 h and 55 h, respectively.²⁰⁹ The Si-based analogue does not exhibit this reversible hydrolysis chemistry. In 2000, Mazeaud et al. prepared some of their organic derivatized POMs using p-block acid chlorides and POMs under phase transfer conditions. Reaction of Bu^tSiCl₃ with Cs₇[$(\gamma$ -PW₁₀O₃₆)] under such conditions affords $[(\gamma-PW_{10}O_{36}) (Bu^{t}SiOH)_2]$.²²¹ The X-ray structure of the TBA₃ salt of this complex shows it has C_s symmetry in the solid state with an open structure in which two structurally nonequivalent Bu^tOH groups are anchored to the POM unit framework. In solution, however, ²⁹Si and ¹⁸³W NMR, indicate the complex adopts the symmetrical $C_{3\nu}$ conformation. It reacts cleanly in anhydrous solution with Me₂SiCl₂ to yield TBA₃[(γ -PW₁₀O₃₆)(Bu^tSiO)₂(SiMe₂)]. Also in 2000, Pope and co-workers published the synthesis and thorough characterization of additional organotin POM derivatives.²²² Phenyltin trichloride reacts with Na₉[α -SbW₉O₃₃] and Na₉[α -AsW₉O₃₃] to produce Cs₆[(PhSn)₃Na₃ (α -SbW₉O₃₃)₂] (D_{3h} symmetry) and Na₉[{(PhSn)₂O}₂ H(α -AsW₉O₃₃)₂] (nominal C_{2h} symmetry), respectively. The latter complex contains four PhSn³⁺ groups sandwiched between two $[\alpha$ -AsW₉O₃₃]⁹⁻ units.

In 2000, Mayer and co-workers used trialkoxysilanes and not trichlorosilanes as the electrophilic *d*-block organometallic precursors to functionalize the surface oxygens of POMs. The M—OR bond, like the M—Cl bond, generally reacts irreversibly with nucleophiles including the oxygens in POMs, alcohols, and water. These investigators prepared two types of functionalized POMs, $[\gamma$ -SiW₁₀-O₃₆(RSi)₂O]⁴⁻ and $[\gamma$ -SiW₁₀O₃₆(RSiO)₄]⁴⁻, and characterized the complexes by multinuclear NMR and matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization time-of-flight (MALDI-TOF) mass spectrometry.²²³

A 1987 paper by Chorghade and Pope involved a new approach to the irreversible covalent modification of POMs. They incorporated an atom with a reactive lone pair of electrons, namely Sn^{II} , into an external position of a POM (an addenda atom on a Keggin ion), and subsequently used this lone pair as a nucleophile for irreversible displacement reactions with organic and organometallic electrophiles.²²⁴ They prepared the polytungstostannate(II) POMs, PSn^{II}W₁₁O₃₉⁵⁻, SiSn^{II}W₁₁O₃₉⁶⁻, GeSn^{II}W₁₁O₃₉⁶⁻, BSn^{II}W₁₁O₃₉⁷⁻, GaSn^{II}W₁₁O₃₉⁷⁻, and α_2 -P₂SnW₁₇O₆₁⁸⁻ and the corresponding polytungstostannate(IV) POMs of formula XSn^{IV}OHW₁₁O₃₉ⁿ⁻, and characterized them by ¹¹B, ³¹P, and ¹¹⁹Sn NMR spectroscopy, cyclic voltammetry, and other methods. $K_6 Si Sn^{II} W_{11}O_{39}$ and the corresponding P- and Ga-centered POMs react with a range of primary and secondary organic halides and one secondary (cholesteryl) tosylate to form products with stable Sn-C bonds. The following POMs were realized: Si(SnR)W₁₁O₃₉⁵⁻ (R = CH₂C₆H₅, (CH₂)₃Br, (CH₂)₄Cl, (CH₂)₁₁Me, (CH₂)₆Br, C₂₇H₄₅ and α_2 -P₂[Sn(CH₂)₁₁Me]W₁₇O₆₁⁷⁻). There is no reaction between these Sn^{II}POMs and the aryl halides, 1-bromonaphthalene and 4,4'-dibromobiphenyl under identical conditions. The reactivity of all the primary and second substrates and the lack of reactivity of the aryl halides argue strongly that these alkylation reactions proceed by a classical S_N^2 mechanism. The product organotin POMs are soluble in aqueous buffer (pH 4.5-5.5) as well as DMSO. Reaction of K₆SiSn^{II}W₁₁O₃₉ with the electrophilic organotransition metal iodide, IFe(CO)₂(C₅H₅), produces $SiW_{11}O_{39}SnFe$ (CO)₂(C₅H₅)^{5-.224} The functionalization of nucleophilic lone pairs on POM addenda atoms, as exemplified by this work, offers considerable potential for attaching POMs to biological and synthetic molecules, macromolecules and surfaces.

4.11.2.3.2 Organic esters and anhydrides of POMs

A host of reactions are now known in which alcohols react with a POM or monomeric POM precursors such as MOQ_4^{2-} or WO_4^{2-} to form POMs where one or all of the oxo ligands have been replaced by alkoxo ligands. Again, the alkoxypolyoxometalates or polyalkoxyoxometalates can be viewed as organic esters of the POM acids. As for the POM functionalization using *d*-block-element acids, acid chlorides, or acid alkoxides (organic esters) addressed in the preceding section, the great majority of papers on POM functionalization by alcohols do not contain kinetic or other mechanistic data *per se*. However, the syntheses themselves constitute an important and general type of POM reactivity. The papers in this area typically report thorough spectroscopic or X-ray crystallographic characterization of the products but some reactivity information can be inferred from the isolated esterified POM products.

The groups of Zubieta, Gouzerh and Proust, Hill, Müller, Klemperer and others have made contributions in this area. Zubieta and co-workers have prepared and structurally characterized a large number of such complexes and reviewed this literature recently.^{8,19} Klemperer and co-workers have developed the chemistry of polyalkoxypolytitanates (titanium oxoalkoxides),^{225–228} including a cluster bearing a terminal organotransition metal group, (1,5-COD)Rh.²²⁹ The review of Gouzerh and Proust is quite comprehensive for the synthesis and structures of organic POM derivatives up to early 1998. This research group has reported many polyalkoxy POMs, including some with both alkoxy and *d*-block organometallic ligands since 1998,²³⁰ and recently addressed the structural relationships, structural preferences, and stereochemical nonrigidity in the organometallic subunits and oxo(alkoxo)molybdenum or tungsten subunits in the appropriate structures.²³¹

The groups of Zubieta, Gouzerh and Proust, Müller, Hill and others have researched the chemistry of one subset of polyalkoxy POMs in particular: the triesters derived from reaction of tris(hydroxymethyl)methane ("tris") derivatives, $RC(CH_2OH)_3$ (R = organic group such as alkyl or an inorganic group such as NO₂) with POMs or POM precursors. Zubieta alone has published many syntheses, most frequently using monomeric or low-nuclearity POM precursors to generate polytris derivatives of V_6 ,^{232–235} V_{10} ,^{236,237} mixed valence $Mn^{II,III}_{10}$,²³⁸ neutral V_{16} ,²³⁹ Fe₆ and Fe₁₀,²⁴⁰ and Mo₄₂, a large cluster with three structural components prepared by hydro-thermal synthesis.²⁴¹ Müller and co-workers explored the cis/trans isomers of bis(trisalkoxy)hexavanadates using UV/visible-, IR- and EPR-spectroscopy, magnetic measurements, cyclic voltammetry, and a single-crystal X-ray crystallography, but not actual isomerization by kinetics.²⁴² This group also addressed the possibility of template effects and nucleation involving tris ligands.²⁴³ Chelate effects are clearly operable in the chemistry of these triester (trisester) POMs but they have yet to be quantified.

The most insightful paper on POM esterification processes (reactions with alcohols and POMs) not involving kinetics is that of Day et al. in which the synthesis, characterization, and interconversion of the alkyl and silvl monoesters of cis-Nb₂W₄O₁₉H³⁻ were disclosed.¹⁹⁸ The transformations are summarized in Scheme 4 taken from this article. Specifically TBA₃Nb₂W₄O₁₉R (R = Me, Et, CHMe₂, CMe₃, SiMe₃, SiMe₂[CMe₃], and SiPh₃) were prepared via $Nb_2W_4O_{19}H^{3-}$ + $ROH \rightarrow Nb_2W_4O_{19}R^{3-} + H_2O$ (TBA = Bu_4N^+). The alkoxy group bridges the two Nb atoms in the case of the methyl and ethyl esters. The more sterically encumbered alkoxy/siloxy groups bond to one terminal oxoNb^V group. When TBA₃Nb₂W₄O₁₉H is dissolved in dry CH₂Cl₂, the anhydride (Nb₂W₄O₁₈)₂O⁶⁻ is formed. Reaction of TBA₄Nb₂W₄O₁₉ with RX (R = Me, Et; X = OSO₂R) yields TBA₃Nb₂W₄O₁₉R as a mixture of five diastereomers in which the R groups around bound to five nonequivalent types of doubly bridging oxygens in the POM unit. Similar reactions of Nb₂W₄O₁₉⁴⁻ with RX (R=CHMe₂, SiMe₂[CMe₃]; $X = O_3SCF_3$; R=SiMe₃, X=Cl, NHSiMe₃) afford $Nb_2W_4O_{19}R^{3-}$ where the R groups are bonded solely to a terminal ONb oxygen in $Nb_2W_4O_{19}^{4-}$. Protonation of the $Nb_2W_4O_{19}^{4-}$ is predominantly at the unique bridging Nb—O—Nb oxygen. From the extensive structural data, the authors can make a strong case that the structure and reactivity of the $Nb_2W_4O_{19}^{4-}$ polyanion and its esters and anhydrides reflect the relative labilities of different types of metal-oxygen bonds, the steric environments of different surface oxygens, and the surface charge distribution in the polyanion unit.¹⁹⁸ The Nb-O bonds are far more labile than W-O bonds, the bridging oxygens occupy a more sterically congested environment than terminal oxygens, the bridging oxygens are more basic/nucleophilic than terminal oxygens, the Nb-O-Nb oxygens are marginally the most basic/nucleophilic bridging oxygens, and the ONb oxygens are by far the most nucleophilic terminal oxygens.

Hou and Hill studied the actual mechanism of ester formation and transesterification using kinetics coupled with a range of spectroscopic methods. Stoichiometric condensation of 1,1,1-tris(hydroxymethyl)ethane compounds with $TBA_5H_4[V_3P_2W_{15}O_{59}]$ in MeCN yield the tris-(or triester)-capped complexes of formula $RC(CH_2O)_3V_3P_2W_{15}O_{59}^{-6-}$, where R = Me, NO₃, and



Reprinted with the permission from *J. Am. Chem. Soc.*109, 6030–6044; © 1997, American Chemical Society.

Scheme 4

CH₂OH, in yields up to 90%. The triester POMs have substantial kinetic stability with respect to hydrolysis (e.g., $\tau_{1/2} \sim 912$ h for 40 mM [MeC(CH₂O)₃V₃P₂W₁₅O₆₂⁶⁻] in D₂O, pD = 0 at 100 °C). No POM intermediates were detectable (¹H, ³¹P, and ⁵¹V NMR) during the synthesis (POM + triol) of these capped complexes. Tungsten-183 NMR and IR coupled with ¹H, ³¹P, and ⁵¹V NMR confirm that the only detectable product in each case is the local- $C_{3\nu}$ -symmetry regioisomer involving replacement of the three μ_2 -oxo edge-bridging oxygens of the V₃ cap in the starting POM, the most basic oxide ions in the complex, with the three μ_2 -oxo-alkoxy groups of the triols. Competitive kinetics methods indicate the relative reactivities of MeOH, MeC(CH₂OH)₃, (HOCH₂)C(CH₂OH)₃, and (NO₂)C(CH₂OH) with this POM are 6:6:5:1, respectively, consistent with the alcohol group functioning as a nucleophile for an electrophilic POM-based species in the rate-limiting step of the esterification process. Triester cap-(triester cap') exchange (or triple transesterification) reactions of the type $R^1C(CH_2OH)_3 + [R^2C(CH_2O)_3HV_3P_2W_{15}O_{59}]^{5-} = [R^1C(CH_2O)_3HV_3P_2W_{15}O_{59}]^{5-} + R^2C(CH_2OH)_3$, where R^1 , $R^2 = NO_2$ or CH_2OH also proceed both readily and in high selectivity at 50 °C in DMF solution (full equilibration in 3 days or less). They indicate a 35-fold preference for binding of the HOCH₂C(CH₂-)₃ cap relative to the $NO_2C(CH_2-)_2$ cap. The triester-capped complexes can be reduced by one electron provided the medium is dry. However, the resulting triester-reduced-POMs, unlike their oxidized counterparts, do hydrolyze fairly readily. Elemental analysis, potentiometric titration, and chemical reactivity confirmed that two different protonation states of the methyl-capped triester-POM, TBA₅H $[MeC(CH_2O)_3HV_3P_2W_{15}O_{59}]$ and $TBA_2H_4[MeC(CH_2O)_3HV_3P_2W_{15}O_{59}]$ can be prepared. The complexes catalyze oxygenation of sulfides by iodosylbenzene, H_2O_2 , and Bu^tOOH. (All such reactions are summarized in Tables 1 and 2 in Section 4.11.3 below.)

The irreversible route to POM esters—alkylation of intact POMs by high-energy electrophilic species—has been attempted rarely. Apart from the work from the Klemperer group discussed above $(TBA_4Nb_2W_4O_{19} + RX)$, where X = Cl or OSO_2R ,¹⁹⁸ Knoth reported the direct alkylation of a $PMo_{12}O_{40}^{3-}$ using trimethyl and triethyl oxonium ions.²⁴⁴ While the product alkylated Keggin complexes are highly unstable to hydrolysis, these investigators successfully obtained a X-ray structure of the methyl derivative, $THA_2(MeO)PMo_{12}O_{39}$ ($THA = (n-C_6H_{13})_4N^+$), which revealed the methyl is bound to an oxygen which is bridging two edge-shared MoO₆ units.

Finally, there is one classic example of anhydride formation involving an organic acid and a POM under equilibrium conditions (i.e., reaction of a carboxylic acid with a POM in water). Adams, Klemperer, and Liu isolated the diformyl POM (formally a mixed carboxylic-POM anhydride), $[(HCO)_2(Mo_8O_{28})]^{6-}$, from reaction of $(NH_4)_6Mo_7O_{24}$ and formic acid in water.²⁴⁵ The $[(HCO)_2(Mo_8O_{28})]^{6-}$ polyanions are isostructural with the protonated $H_2Mo_8O_{28}^{6-}$ with formyl groups replacing the protons.

4.11.2.4 Electron Transfer Reactions

There is now a sizable literature on the electron transfer reactions of POMs. An authoritative and comprehensive review in this area but one limited to those papers with hard kinetics data in them (306 references) was written by Weinstock in 1998.²⁴⁶ As a consequence, this section will be brief. Those interested in the electron transfer chemistry of POMs should consult this review.

Most of the research involving detailed kinetics studies of electron transfer both in the early period (1980s) and more recently has centered around the use of $\text{Co}^{\text{III}/\text{II}}\text{W}_{12}\text{O}_{40}^{5-/6-}$ because this POM has the redox active center (Co^{II} or Co^{III}) completely encapsulated by the polyoxotungstate framework. In consequence, it has been assumed that reactions with this POM approach the outer sphere limit for which Classical Marcus Theory is optimally applicable. Much of the early work involved reductions of $\text{Co}^{\text{III}}\text{W}_{12}\text{O}_{40}^{5-}$ by a range of substrates conducted by three research groups, that of Eberson, ^{247–252} Banerjee, ^{253–263} and Ayoko. ^{264–274} All three research groups also examined electron transfer oxidations of the corresponding reduced complex, $\text{Co}^{\text{III}}\text{W}_{12}\text{O}_{40}^{6-275}$ and many reactions involving other outer sphere reagents (including oxidations by the POM $\text{Ce}^{\text{IV}}\text{Mo}_{12}\text{O}_{42}^{8-}$). ²⁷⁶ These papers generally provide some structure-activity and kinetics information. Both uncatalyzed and metal-ion-catalyzed reactions are addressed. Selected studies are now elaborated in a very brief format.

In 1983, Eberson published a thorough mechanism study of the oxidation of *p*-methoxytoluene by Co^{III}W₁₂O₄₀⁵⁻²⁴⁷ The reaction was first order each in *p*-MeOC₆H₄Me and [AcO⁻] (at [AcO⁻] < 0.25 M) and inverse first order in the final concentration of the reduced POM product, Co^{II}W₁₂O₄₀⁶⁻. Cations strongly affect the observed rate constant (k) which decreases in the order Sr²⁺ > Cs⁺ > Ca²⁺ > Rb⁺ > K⁺ > Li⁺ > Na⁺ > R₄N⁺ (R = Me > Bu > Pr > hexyl > decyl). The rate constant, k, increases with the solvent dielectric constant, and shows a positive salt effect. The isotope effect, $k_{\rm H}/k_{\rm D} = 5$ -7, indicates the rate-limiting step involves proton transfer. The data are consistent with a mechanism involving an initial reversible electron-transfer, followed by rate-limiting deprotonation of the radical cation. The authors attributed the specific cation effect to the cation acting as an electron mediator in the transition state of the electron-transfer step.²⁴⁷ In subsequent work, Eberson noted and analyzed sizable solvent and counter cation effects on the rates of electron transfer reactions involving Co^{III}W₁₂O₄₀^{5-.252} Banerjee's extensive work on electron transfer reactions of POMs was largely in the 1980s. He reported the oxidation of several substrates by Co^{III}W₁₂O₄₀⁵⁻²⁵³ formate,²⁵³ d-fructose, d-glucose, and d-mannose,²⁵⁴ citric acid (catalyzed by alkali metals).²⁵⁵ amine-*N*-carboxylates,²⁵⁶ sulfur(IV).²⁵⁶ ethyl acetoacctate and diethyl malonate,²⁵⁷ cyclic and acyclic ketones,²⁶⁰ thiosulfate,²⁵⁹ *a*-hydroxyacids,²⁶⁰ histidine,²⁶¹ vanadyl ion,²⁶² octacyanomolybdate(IV), and octacyanotungstate(IV).²⁶³ Banerjee also reviewed electron transfer reactions of POMs in 1993.²⁷⁷ Ayoko and co-workers started their research in ~1983 and disclosed oxidation of the following substrates by Co^{III}W₁₂O₄₀⁵⁻: thiols,^{264,265} thiocyanate and iodide,²⁶⁶ hitrous acid,²⁶⁷ hydroxyammonium ion,²⁶⁸ butane-1,4- and pentane-1,5-diols,

After the initial reports of thermal electron transfer processes involving POMs by Eberson, Banerjee, and Ayoko, Bacciochi conducted similar studies involving many organic substrates and POMs (again primarily using Co^{III}W₁₂O₄₀^{5–}).^{282–288} In 1992, Bacciochi *et al.* published a kinetic study of electron-transfer-initiated carbon–silicon bond cleavage reactions of benzyltrialkylsilanes promoted by Co^{III}W₁₂O₄₀^{5–}.^{282,283} The rate law and cation effects were similar to that documented by Eberson for methoxytoluene oxidation by this POM.

Other research groups who have contributed either directly or indirectly to our current understanding of electron transfer processes involving POMs include (alphabetically by correspondence author(s)): Anson (reduction of O₂ to H₂O₂ by PRu^{II}(H₂O)W₁₁O₃₉⁵⁻ in good agreement with Marcus theory²⁸⁹ and related work²⁹⁰⁻²⁹⁴), Balzani (electron-transfer quenching of the luminescence emission of Ru(bpy)₃²⁺ (bpy = 2,2'-bipyridine) by Si CoW₁₁O₃₉⁶⁻)²⁹⁵ and related work,^{296,297} Bond and Wedd (electrochemical investigations including proton coupled electron transfer^{56,298,299}), Darwent,³⁰⁰ Fox (photooxidation of organic substrates; see Section 4.11.4 below),³⁰¹ Nadjo (NADH oxidation by Wells-Dawson POMs),^{302,303} Neumann (electron transfer oxidations of arenes and other classes of organic compounds,^{304,305} and work on other systems³⁰⁶⁻³¹⁰), and Hill and Weinstock (oxidation of organic substrates with simultaneous quantification of ion pairing effects).^{92,93,311-313} Again the reader is referred to the recent review of Weinstock for discussion of all the papers in this area with kinetics data in them.

4.11.2.5 Adduct Formation and Atom Transfer Reactions

There are a growing number of examples of adduct formation and atom transfer reactions involving POMs. These necessarily involve surface or solvent-accessible sites in the polyanion units.

4.11.2.5.1 Adduct formation

In 1984, Katsoulis and Pope demonstrated that the extraction of $XCo^{II}(H_2O)W_{11}O_{39}{}^{n-}$, $X = Si^{IV}$ or B^{III} and $XMn^{II}(H_2O)W_{11}O_{39}{}^{n-}$, $X = Si^{IV}$ or Ge^{IV} into toluene using the highly hydrophobic quaternary ammonium cation, tetra-*n*-heptylammonium ion results in loss of the terminal aqua ligand on the *d*-electron transition metal center (Equation (22)).³¹⁴ The ease of dehydration to the five-coordinate species depends on the central metal, the heteroatom, and the temperature. The electronic absorption spectra strongly suggest that extraction into toluene forms the five-coordinate species as the does the reactivity. The coordinately unsaturated Co POMs bind donor substrates, D in Equation (23), where D = alcohols, acetone, acetonitrile, pyridine, and chloride ion. The coordinately unsaturated

$$\mathbf{M}^{\mathrm{II}}(\mathbf{H}_{2}\mathbf{O})\mathbf{W}_{11}\mathbf{O}_{39}^{n-}(\mathrm{aq}) + \mathbf{THA'Br} \ (\mathrm{toluene}) \rightarrow (\mathbf{THA'})_{n}\mathbf{M}^{\mathrm{II}}\mathbf{W}_{11}\mathbf{O}_{39}(\mathrm{toluene}) + \mathbf{Br}^{-}(\mathrm{aq}) \tag{22}$$

$$(\text{THA}')_n M^{\text{II}}(\text{H}_2\text{O}) W_{11}\text{O}_{39} + \text{D} \to (\text{THA}')_n M^{\text{II}}(\text{D}) W_{11}\text{O}_{39}$$
 (23)

Mn POMs reversibly bind O₂ at low temperature (many cycles are possible), but undergo irreversible oxidation to the Mn^{III} complexes at higher temperature. Addition of H₂O results in complete conversion of the five-coordinate Mn and Co POMs to the conventional six-coordinated aqua complexes, $M^{II}(H_2O)W_{11}O_{39}{}^{n-}$.³¹⁴ Similar chemistry was shown to be operable for other Co-containing POMs. Subsequently, this group disclosed that toluene solutions of THA'-extracted and dehydrated salts of the PCo^{II}W₁₁O₃₉⁵⁻, SiM^{II}W₁₁O₃₉⁶⁻ (M = Mn, Co, Ni, Cu), α_2 -P₂CoW₁₇O₆₁⁸⁻, and Co₄(PW₉O₃₄)₂¹⁰⁻, react rapidly (1–2 min) with gaseous SO₂. The electronic absorption and IR spectra of the resulting solutions are consistent with the presence of metal-coordinated SO₂. The passage of a stream of dry N₂ through the solution converts the SO₂ adduct of Co₄(PW₉O₃₄)₂¹⁰⁻ to the dehydrated form, but this action has no effect on the more strongly bound adducts of the other POMs. Addition of water to the solutions of the SO₂ adducts displaces the SO₂ and restores the original six-coordinate aquated POMs in all cases.³¹⁵

Two years later (1989), the same authors reported the oxygenation and oxidation chemistry of the Mn-substituted POMs $XMn^{II}W_{11}O_{39}^{n-}$ (X = P, Si, Ge, or B) and α_2 -P₂Mn^{II}W₁₇O₆₁^{8-.316} These POMs undergo reversible oxygenation at low temperature in toluene or benzene solution but irreversible oxidation above ~22 °C. The O₂ adduct can be intercepted by the spin trap 5,5-dimethyl-1-pyrroline *N*-oxide (DMPO). EPR spectra indicate formation of a polyanion-O₂-DMPO intermediate that decomposes to the oxidized POM. The nonpolar organic solutions of these POMs catalyze the oxidation of 2,6- and 2,4,6-substituted phenols to benzoquinones or polyphenyl ethers, and a POM-O₂-phenoxy radical intermediate can be detected by EPR.

Other adduct formation reactions involving *d*-electron centers in POMs have been addressed in the preceding sections of the review (e.g., Section 4.11.2.1.3), in the following section, or in various papers in Table 1 (Section 4.11.3.2 below).

Day *et al.* published the synthesis and structural characterization of an inclusion complex $[MeCN \cdot (V_{12}O_{32}^{4-})]$ in which one MeCN molecule was noncovalently bound inside the central bowl-shaped cavity of the isopolyvanadate, $V_{12}O_{32}^{4-}$.³¹⁷ This novel inclusion complex was characterized in solution by Wagner using ${}^{17}O_{-}{}^{51}V$ heteronuclear shift correlation NMR spectroscopy on the ${}^{17}O_{-}$ enriched inclusion complex.³¹⁸ This provocative bowl-shaped polyvanadate is one of many isopolyvanadate structures known, including cages, baskets, belts, bowls, and barrels, that are based on the folding of planar sheets comprised of linked VO₅ square pyramids.³¹⁹

4.11.2.5.2 Oxo transfer from d-electron centers

The *d*-electron centers in TMSPs react with oxygen donors, including but not limited to iodosylarenes, various peroxides, *N*-oxides, and N₂O, to form the corresponding high valent species, and quite frequently oxometal species (Equation (24)). Many of the resulting oxometal POM species ("OM(POM)" in Equations (24) and (25)) can transfer their terminal oxo groups to a variety of inorganic (e.g., halide) or organic (e.g., alkenes, phosphines, etc.) acceptor molecules (Equation (25)). Evidence for Equations (24) and (25) comes from stoichiometric reactions combined with spectroscopic studies and from product and other studies in TMSP-catalyzed processes. Key papers on this chemistry are summarized below in Table 1 or in references contained in these key papers. To avoid redundancy and for sake of simplicity, all the individual POM systems exhibiting this chemistry (Equations (24) and (25)) are neither elaborated nor referenced here. Indirect evidence for these oxo transfer processes also derives from the very extensive studies of analogous reactions involving metalloporphyrins.³²⁰ The thermodynamics of oxo transfer involving many *p*-block and *d*-block has been effectively summarized by Holm:³²¹

$$M_{red}(POM) + DO \rightarrow OM(POM) + D (DO = the oxygen donor)$$
 (24)

$$OM(POM) + A \rightarrow M_{red}(POM) + AO$$
 (oxygen atom acceptor) (25)

There is one case where both Equations (24) and (25) are facile under mild conditions, where the high valent oxometal species have been isolated and fully characterized, ^{322,323} and where their oxo transfer to substrates (alkenes) has been studied in depth. This is the case where $M_{red}(POM) = Cr^{III}X^{n+}W_{11}O_{39}^{(9-n)-}$ and $OM(POM) = (OCr^{V})X^{n} + W_{11}O_{39}^{(9-n)-}$, $X = P^{V}$ or Si^{IV}.³²³

Neumann and co-workers reported a catalytic variation of this chemistry. Labile Keggin heteropolymolybdates such as $K_5PV_2Mo_{10}O_{40}$ after activation by H_2 catalyze the deoxygenation of aldehydes and ketones. For example, PhCOMe is deoxygenated to PhEt in ~100% yield in the presence of $K_5PV_2Mo_{10}O_{40}$ supported on Al_2O_3 .³²⁴

4.11.2.5.3 Oxo transfer from d⁰ POMs during catalytic turnover

In recent work (2000 and 2001) Khenkin, Neumann, and co-workers convincingly demonstrated that the O_2 -based oxidation of alkyl and aromatic compounds catalyzed by the much studied HPA $H_5PV_2Mo_{10}O_{40}$ proceeds by initial electron transfer followed by rate-limiting oxygen transfer from the POM to the substrate cation radical intermediate. The obligatory defect POM is subsequently reoxygenated by the terminal oxidant, O_2 .^{310,325} This is the general Mars-van Krevelen mechanism that has been a mainstay in heterogeneous catalytic oxidations for many years.^{326,327} These investigators used a combination of EPR and NMR spectroscopies and a range of kinetics experiments, including kinetic isotope effect studies, to rule out two well-documented alternative mechanisms for homogeneous catalytic O_2 -based oxidations in these $H_5PV_2Mo_{10}O_{40}$ -catalyzed reactions, namely autooxidation and oxidative nucleophilic substitution and to provide evidence for the Mars-van Krevelen mechanism. When the more easily oxidized substrate xanthene was used, the radical cation intermediate could not be detected. Instead, the radical

	Table 1	Homogeneous catalysis by	y d-electron-mei	tal-substituted POMs. ^a		
Catalyst ^b	Substrate	Products	Oxidant	Solvent	Comment	References
THA' ₆ MnSiW ₁₁ O ₃₉	Alkylphenol	Dione, dimer	0_2	C ₆ H ₅ Me, C ₆ H ₆	25°C, phase transfer,	316
$PW_{11}Fe(H_2O)O_{39}^{5-}$ where $M = Fe$, Co, Ni	H_2S	\mathbf{S}_8	O_2	H ₂ O, pH 3.5–5.0	mecnamism study Initial report of aerobic H ₂ S	395
$\mathrm{Na_5P(FeH_2O)W_{11}O_{39}}$	NO, H ₂ S	HNO ₃ , S ₈	O ₂	H_2O	oxidation by POMs Successful membrane separation of a soluble catalyst from	396,397
Supported Pd(OAc) ₂ + PV _x Mo _{12-x} O ₄₀ ^{$n-2$}	CO	CO ₂	O2	H ₂ O vapor	Fifet of Al ₂ O ₃ , Effect of Al ₂ O ₃ , TiO ₂ , and SiO ₂ supports on the POM and POM/Pd	398
$\mathrm{Na_{10}X_2Fe^{II}}_{\mathrm{wbox}}\mathrm{W_{18}O_{66}},$	NO (coordinated to	HNO_2	O_2	H_2O	catalysis studied Primarily a POM	399
Where $\Delta = As$, as , $or rePCoW_{11}O_{39}^{5-}$	(R)-(+)-limonene, (R)-(+)-limonene, 4-vinyl-1-cyclo hexene,1-methyl-1,4-	Epoxides	O ₂	MeCN or CH ₂ Cl ₂	synness paper; 22 C Aldehyde reductant; quite selective	400
[{Fe ₂ Ni(OAc) ₃ }PW ₉ O ₃₇] ¹⁰⁻	cyclonexautene Adamantane, ethylbenzene, cyclohexane	Alcohols, ketones	O_2	No solvent used except for adamantanerxns	Modest selectivities	401
TBA ₅ PMW ₁₁ O ₃₉ , where M = Co, Mn, Cu, Ni,	Alkenes	Epoxide, allylic ketone, allylic	O_2	MeCN and aldehyde	Aldehyde reductant; quite selective; 303 K	402
01 F5 TBA4H6(Fe2– Ni(OAc)3)PW9O37	Alkane Alkene	Alcohol, ketone Allylic alcohol, allylic ketone,	$\begin{array}{c} O_2 \ { m or} \ H_2 O_2 \ O_2 \ O_2 \end{array}$	MeCN	82°C or 50°C 30°C	403
$[WZnRu^{III}_{2}(OH)(H_{2}O)_{111}(ZnW_{9}O_{34})_{2}]^{11}$	Aldehyde Alkanes	epoxide Carboxylic acids Alcohols, ketones	0 ² 0	CICH2CH2CI	30 °C Catalytic nonradical alkene functional- ization	404

		Table 1	continued			
Catalyst ^b	Substrate	Products	Oxidant	Solvent	Comment	References
$PPdW_{11}O_{39}[PW_{11}O_{39}Pd$ -	Benzene	Phenol	O_2/H_2	$\rm H_2O/C_6H_6$	Pd ⁰ forms and plays	405
$H_{3+x}^{O-PO}P_{x}^{OB}M_{12-x}^{O}O_{40}$, where $M = Mo$, W, or both and $x = 0-5$	Sulfide (THT) ^b	Sulfoxide (THTO)	O_2	MeCN	First combinatorial First combinatorial library of POMs; 99% selectivity for	406
TBA ₅ Na ₃ [(1,5-COD) IrP ₂ W ₁₅ Nb ₃ O ₆₂]	Cyclohexene	Epoxides	02	MeCN, CH ₂ Cl ₂ , CICH ₂ CH ₂ Cl Cl ₂ CHCHCl ₂	surroxide Several control reactions done but presence of Ir ⁰ nanoclusters not yet	407
Pd ^{II} complexes of PW ₁₀ O ₃₉ ⁷⁷ and PW ₉ O ₃₄ , bimetallic Pd ^{II} -Fe ^{III} complexes	Benzene, cyclohexane	Oxygenated organic products	O ₂ /H ₂		realized Bimetallic Pd ^{II} _Fe ^{III} POM species supported on silica	408
with $PW_9O_{34}^{3/2}$ [{ $F_{3-x}N_{1x}(OAc)_{3}$ } PW_9 O_{37}] ^{(9+x)-} where	Alkanes	Alcohols, ketones,	O_2	MeCN	With and without isobutyraldehyde	409
$x = \text{prevolution} y = \sum_{n=1}^{n} [\text{WZnRu}_2(\text{OH})(\text{H}_2\text{O})]$ $ZnW_9O_{34}]^{1-}$	Alkene	Epoxide	O_2	CICH2CH2CI	Initial report of nonradical O ₂ activation and	361
Tetra- <i>n</i> -alkylammonium	Alkenes	Epoxides	O_2	MeCN	selective oxygenation Isobutyraldehyde	410
salts of PCoW ₁₁ O ₃₉ ⁵⁻ , CoW ₁₂ O ₄₀ ⁶⁻					reductant; the superior activity of Co in these reactions is due to its ability to catalyze the chain branching which yields acylperoxy radicals for alkene epoxidation with	
$\begin{bmatrix} WZnRu^{III}_{034}/ZNW_{9} \\ O_{34}/2^{11} \\ Where X = Zn^{II} \text{ or } Co^{II} \end{bmatrix}$	Adamantane, Alkenes	l-Adamantanol, 2-adamantanol, 2-adamantanone	O_2	CICH2CH2CI	nigh selectivity Nonradical-chain aerobic alkane hydroxylation	28

Catalyst precursors 411 well characterized; true catalysts less clear	Complex oxidation processes catalyzed by new class of	POMs Halide free and using only air	Bimetallic Pd ^{II} -Fe ^{III} 414 complexes proposed to be key; Pd ⁰ involved	Isobutyraldehyde 415 reductant, thus isobutyric acid and
CICH ₂ CH ₂ CI	MeCN or CICH2CH2CI	H ₂ O	H2O, C6H6	MeCN
O2	02	02	O_2/H_2	O
Muconic acid anhydride; 4,6- di-Bu ^t -2H-pyran- 2-one; spiro [1,4-benzodioxin -2(3H),2'-[2H]- pyran]-3-one, 4',6,6' 8-tetrakis(1, 1-dimethylethyl); 3,5-di-Bu ^t -5 (carboxymethyl)- 2-furanone; 2,5,4', B,4',4',4',4',4',4',4',4',4',4',4',4',4',	5,ul-bu-1,2- benzoquinone Extradiol products	<i>p</i> -Toluic acid, <i>p</i> -terephthalic acid, <i>p</i> -tolualdehyde,	<i>p</i> -Me benzyl alcohol Phenol	Methyl a-hydroxyisob- utyrate, isobu- twic acid
3,5-Di-Bu ^t -catechol	3,5-Bu ^t catechol	<i>p</i> -Xylene	Benzene	Methyl isobutyrate
TBA ₅ [(MeCN) _x FeSiV ₃ W ₉ O ₄₀] TBA ₅ [(MeCN) _x FeP ₂ V ₃ W ₁₅ O ₆₂]	$(n-\mathrm{Bu}_4\mathrm{N})_7[(\mathrm{MeCN})_x \mathrm{Fe}^{11}\cdot\mathrm{P}_2\mathrm{W}_{15}\mathrm{Nb}_3\mathrm{O}_{62}]$	$[XMLW_{11}O_{39}]^{8-n}$, where X = P and Si, $M =Co^{II}, Cu^{II} and Mn^{II} andL = H_{2}O$	$ \begin{bmatrix} Pd_3(PW_9O_{34})_2 \end{bmatrix}^{12-} \\ \begin{bmatrix} Pd_3(PW_9O_{34})_2 \\ Pd_nO_xH_y \end{bmatrix}^{q}, \\ where \ n = 3; \\ \begin{bmatrix} Pd_2CUPW_9O_{34})_2 \end{bmatrix}^{12-}, \\ \\ Ed_2CUPW_9O_{34})_2 \end{bmatrix}^{12-}, \\ \end{bmatrix} $	$\begin{bmatrix} \operatorname{PdFe}_{2}(\operatorname{PW}_{9O_{34}})_{21}^{10}, \\ \operatorname{PdFe}_{3}(\operatorname{PW}_{9O_{34}})_{21}^{10}, \\ \operatorname{Pd}_{n}(\operatorname{PW}_{9O_{34}})_{21}^{10} + [(\operatorname{VO})_{3}, \\ (\operatorname{PW}_{9O_{34}})_{21}^{10} - [(\operatorname{VO})_{3}, \\ \operatorname{PV}_{n}\operatorname{Mol}_{2-n}\operatorname{O}_{40}^{n}, \\ \\ \operatorname{where} n = 1^{-3}; \\ \\ \operatorname{also cites PMW_{11}O_{39}}, \\ \\ \end{array}$

		Table 1	continued			
Catalyst ^b	Substrate	Products	Oxidant	Solvent	Comment	References
$\begin{array}{l} PW_{11}O_{39}^{7-}, \\ PM(L)W_{11}O_{39}^{n-}, \text{where} \\ L=H_{2}O, OH^{-}, O^{2-} \\ and M=Ti^{N}, V^{V}, Cr^{II}, \\ Mn^{II}, Fe^{III}, Ni^{II}, Cu^{II}, \\ R_{11}N^{C}O^{II}, \end{array}$	Cyclohexene	Cyclohexene oxide, cyclohexanol, cyclohexenone, 1,2-cyclohexane diol, hydroneroxides	H_2O_2	MeCN, C ₆ H ₆	One-phase system	416
Fe ¹¹ 4[(B-PW ₉ O ₃₄) ₂] ¹⁰⁻	Alkene	Epoxide	H_2O_2	MeCN	Initial report of highly selective H ₂ O ₂ -basedepoxida- tion catalyzed by a <i>d</i> -electron-metal sandwich-twe POM	417
Layered double hydroxides pillared with SiW0.4-	2-Hexene, cyclohexene, cyclodoecene	Epoxides and other oxidation products	H_2O_2	H ₂ O/alcohol	Some size selectivity	418
WZnM ₂ (ZnW ₉ O ₃₄) ¹²⁻ where $M = Mn$, Ni, Cu, Co Fe	Alkene	Epoxide, allylic ketone	H_2O_2	CICH ₂ CH ₂ CI	Highly selective epoxidation	419
$\begin{array}{c} K_{12}^{(3)}(X_{2}RPd^{II}_{2}-\\ (H_{2}O)_{2}(ZnW_{9}O_{34})_{2},\\ K_{12}(WZnPt^{I}_{2}(H_{2}O)_{2})-\\ (ZnW_{9}O_{34})_{2},\\ Na_{11}(WZnRu^{III}_{2}(OH)-\\ (H_{2}O))(ZnW_{0}O_{3,2})_{1})\end{array}$	Alkenes, alkanes	Epoxides	H ₂ O ₂ , Bu ⁱ OOH	CICH ₂ CH ₂ CI	Transfer to chlorocarbon using (Cap) ₃ MeN ⁺ , very selective epoxidation	420
Silica particles derivatized with POMs	Alkenes	Epoxide, diol, benzaldehyde, enol, enone, ketone	H_2O_2	No organic solvent	Oxidation rates and selectivities depend on how silica support is derivatized	421
$[WZnMn_2(ZnW_9 O_{24})_2]^{12-}$	Alkenes, secondary alcohols	Epoxides, ketones	H_2O_2	CICH ₂ CH ₂ CI	99% selective epoxidation	422
Range of POMs on high-surface-area supports	Penicillin-G, K ⁺ salt	Sulfoxide	H_2O_2	H ₂ O or H ₂ O/ alcohol media	Some catalysts very selective	423

$PM^{n+}BrMo_{11}^{n+}$ here $M^{n+} = Mn^{n}$, Co ^{II} , Ni ^{II} , Cu ^{II}	Cyclohexene	Cyclohexene epoxide, cyclohexen-1-ol, cyclohexen-1-one	H ₂ O ₂	CICH2CH2CI	Conversion ranges $6.4-20.0\%$; focus of this paper is a reaction mechanism study, the results suggested that the substituted heteropolyoxometalate reacts with H_2O_2 to form an intermediate, and the substituted are substituted transition metal ion seems to be the center of activating H_2O_2	424
]12-	Alkenes, dienes, alkenols, sulfides	Expected epoxida- tion and other oxidation products	H_2O_2	CICH ₂ CH ₂ CI	Summary of reactions with this POM and H ₂ O.	425
${}^{1}_{V11039}{}^{4-}_{V11039}{}^{6-}_{V11039}{}^{6-}_{Z_{11}039}{}^{5-}_{Z_{11}039}{}^{5-}_{Z_{11}0},$	Benzene	Phenol	H_2O_2	MeCN	Significant H ₂ O ₂ decomposition	426
	Cyclohexene	Cyclohexenone, cyclohexenol, cyclohexene oxide; Phenol	H_2O_2	MeCN	Some characterization of high-valent CrPOM intermediates (see ref. 324); oxidations not	427
1 ₉ 0 _{68.} Ru, Min, Co, Fe, Rh	Benzene Organic substrates	Epoxy alcohols, ketones, ketols, hydroxy amines	H ₂ O ₂ , Bu ^t OOH	ClCH ₂ CH ₂ Cl and other media	highly selective Survey rather than mechanism paper; many substrates, oxidants and sandwich POMs evaluated	428
(P2 2- (PW ₀ O ₃),1 ⁶⁻	Alkenes	Epoxides	H_2O_2	MeCN	Low to moderate epoxide selectivities depending on alkene	429,430
Fe, Co, Cu, Fe, Co, Cu, Es, P;	1, 3-Dimethyladaman- tane	Oxidations at tertiary and other carbons	H_2O_2		Selectivity varies considerably with POM	431

		Table 1	continued			
Catalyst ^b	Substrate	Products	Oxidant	Solvent	Comment	References
d-Electron-TMSP complexes	R-(+)-limonene	1-Methyl-4-(1- methyethenyl)-1, 2-evelohexanediol	H_2O_2	Acetone	Highly selective; only indicated diaster- eomer produced	432
$\begin{array}{c} [Fe^{111}_{4}(H_{2}O)_{2}^{-}\\ (P_{2}W_{1}SO_{56})_{2}^{-}\\ [Fe^{112}_{2}(N_{3}H_{2}O)_{2}^{-}\\ (P_{2}W_{1}O_{1}O_{1}^{-})_{1}^{-1}^{-} \end{array}$	Alkenes	Epoxides	H_2O_2	MeCN	Modest to high epoxide selectivities depending on alkene	433
γ-Si[Fe(OH ₂)] ₂ W ₁₀ O ₃₈ ⁶⁻	Alkanes, cyclohexane, <i>n</i> -hexane, <i>n</i> -pentane, adamantane	Oxygenated products	H ₂ O ₂	M¢CN	Low oxygenation selectivity, but $\sim 100\%$ selectivity for H ₂ O ₂ utilization in some cases; (Is O ₂ from H ₂ O ₂ disproportionation involved? see ref.	434
$\begin{array}{l} [\{Mn^{II}(H_{2}O)_{3})_{2}(WO_{2})_{2} \\ (BiW_{9}O_{33})_{2}]^{10-}, \\ [\{Mn^{II}(H_{2}O)_{3}(SbW_{9}-O_{33})_{2}]^{12-}, \\ O_{33})_{2}]^{12-}, \\ [\{Mn^{II}(H_{2}O)_{3})_{2}(Mn^{II}-O_{3}-O_{3})_{2}]^{8-}, \\ (H_{2}O)_{3})_{2}(Mn^{II}-O_{3}-O_{3}-O_{3}-O_{3})^{8-}, \\ (H_{2}O)_{3}(Mn^{II}-O_{3}-O$	Dienes, (e.g., (<i>R</i>)-(+)- limonene)	Epoxides (e.g., 1,2- limonene oxide)	H_2O_2	H ₂ O/CH ₂ Cl ₂	Regioselective epoxi- dation of disubstituted alkenes	435
PTiW ₁₁ O ₄₀	Methyl phenyl sulfide	Sulfoxide, sulfone	H_2O_2	MeCN	Nearly quantitative yield of sulfoxide and sulforne tomether	436
$eta_3 - [(Co^{11}O_4)W_{11}O_{31} - (O_2)_4]^{10-}$	2-Cyclohexenol	Cis- and trans- 2,3-epoxycyclo- hexen-1-ol, 2-cyclohexen-1- one (28.3, 59.3 and 3.6% yields, recordivaly)	H ₂ O ₂	H ₂ 0, CHCl ₃	1 M pH 5 acetic acid buffer/CHCl ₃ biphasic system	437
Cetylpyridinium salts of $LnW_{10}O_{36}^{9-}$ Ln $W_{10}O_{30}^{26-}$ Ln $(PW_{11}O_{39})_{2}^{n-}$ Ln $(PW_{9}O_{34})_{2}^{n-}$	Cyclooctene, cyclohexanol, methyl menthol	Oxidation products	H ₂ O ₂		Extensive H ₂ O ₂ - based degradation of POM	438

439	440	441	442	443	444	445,446	447	448
39% yield, 86% selectivity; optimized solvent	High rates at low temperature	Ten POMs catalyze peroxide bleaching; kinetic data given	39% phenol	20–50 nm nanoparticles	Primarily a POM synthesis and char- acterization paper; the peroxotitanium groups increased	Early papers in this area; some mech- anistic information	Compared to corresponding Co- and Fe-substituted POMs	Radical chain oxidation mechanisms
MeOH	H_2O	H_2O	H_2O	H_2O	H_2O	C ₆ H ₆ , ClCH ₂ CH ₂ Cl, or MeCN	C_6H_6	CCI4, CH ₂ Cl ₂
H_2O_2	H_2O_2	H ₂ O ₂	H_2O_2	H_2O_2	H_2O_2	Bu ^t OOH	Bu ^t OOH	Bu ^t OOH in pre- sence of O ₂
Hydroquinone	Oxygenated products	Bleached products	Dihydroxybenzene	Acetic acid	Maleic acid oxide	Alcohol, ketone, N-alkylaceta- mides, alkyl halides	Cyclohexanone, cyclohexanol alcohols, ketones	Cyclohexanol, cyclohexanone, chlorocyclohex- ane, adamatane-
Phenol	Methane, ethane, cyclooctane, <i>n</i> -hexane,	Methyl orange, crocetin	Phenol	Acetaldehyde	Maleic acid	Alkane	Cyclohexane, <i>n</i> -decane, ethylbenzene	Cyclohexane, adamantane
K _{0.5} (NH4)5.5MnM09O32	γ -Si[Fc(OH ₂)] ₂ W ₁₀ O ₃₈ ⁶⁻	$\begin{array}{c} K_{10}[Mn^{II}_{4}(PW_{9}O_{34})_{2}-\\ (H_{2}O)_{2}]\\ K_{10}[CO^{II}_{4}(PW_{9}O_{34})_{2}-\\ (H_{2}O)_{2}]\\ Na_{12}[Zn_{3}W(ZnW_{9}O_{34})_{2}-\\ (H_{2}O)_{2}]\\ Na_{12}[Co^{III}_{3}W-\\ (Co^{II}W_{9}O_{34})_{2}(H_{2}O)_{2}]\\ K_{1}Na_{3}(Mn^{II}W_{1}V_{1}O_{2})]\\ K_{1}Na_{3}(Mn^{II}W_{1}V_{1}O_{2})]\end{array}$	$CuCl_2 \text{ or } CuCO_3 + U_3 CuCl_2 OL CuCO_3 + U_3 CUCO$	NaH8[PDA]5[PCo ₃ - W9O ₃₇] where PDA =	$\begin{array}{l} \alpha - K_{\rm e} \operatorname{Firsty}_{11} \operatorname{Out}_{10} \\ \alpha - \beta_{\rm e} \operatorname{SiTiW}_{11} \operatorname{Out}_{20} \\ \omega_{\rm 11} \operatorname{O_{39}}_{13} \right), \text{ where} \\ \beta_{\rm 1} = \beta_{\rm 1} \beta_{\rm 2} \beta_{\rm 3} \end{array}$	THA ₅ MPW ₁₁ O ₃₉ , where M = Co, Mn, Cu, or Fe	$SiMW_{11}O_{39}^{5-}$, where $M = Ru$, Rh	PCoW ₁₁ O ₃₉ "- PFeW ₁₁ O ₃₉ 4- PCrW ₁₁ O ₃₉ "-

		Table 1	continued			
Catalyst ^b	Substrate	Products	Oxidant	Solvent	Comment	References
NaN ₃ + POM, where POM = $K_3PW_{12}O_{40}$, $K_4PCrW_{11}O_{39}$, $K_5PCrW_{11}O_{39}N_3$, $K_5PVW_{11}O_{40}N_3$, $H_6PFe_3W_9O_{37}$, $H_6PFe_3W_9O_{37}$, $H_7PFe_2MnW_9O_{37}$, $H_7PFe_2C0W_9O_{37}$, or	Light alkanes	"Valuable oxygenates"	02 Bu ^t OOH	C ₆ H ₆ MeCN	Catalysis promoted by Group 1 metal azides over a range of conditions	449
$H_5P_{10}^{e}P_{10}^{e}V_{20}^{e}O_{38}^{e}$ $H_5P_{2}^{e}Mo_{10}O_{40}^{e}$ and $[ZnWMn_2^{11}$ $(Zn W_9O_{34})_2]^{12-}$ on PEO/PPO_{5-}^{e} modified	Dihydroanthracene alkenes	Anthracene epoxides	HOO'u8	Toluene	POMs bound to silica with PEO, ^b PPO, ^b and quaternary ammonium groups	450
cationic SiO_2 TBA4HMPW ₁₁ O ₃₉ , where M = Mn or Co	Alkane	Alcohol, ketone	[PhIO],, or PFIB ^b	MeCN	Early paper on TMSP-type catalysis; primarily product	360
$TBA_4HMPW_{11O_{39},}_{cr}$	Alkane	No rxn			senurce	
where M = re of Cr TBA4PMnW ₁₁ O ₃₉	Alkane, alkene	Ketone, alcohol Epoxide, and other products	[PhIO]"	MeCN/CH ₂ Cl ₂	Comparisons with corresponding metal- loporphyrin catalysts (MPor); some mechanistic informa-	451
β -SiM ₃ (H ₂ O) ₃ W ₉ O ₃₉ ⁿ⁻ , where M = first-row <i>d</i> -electron transition metals; ZnTiW ₁₁ O ₄₀ ⁸⁻	Alkenes	Epoxides and/or cleavage products	[PhIO] _{<i>m</i>} IO4 ⁻		Cleavage products in high selectivity with IO_4^-	452

$\begin{array}{l} (XO_4)MnW_{11}O_{36}{}^{n-},\\ \text{where }X=P,Si,B,Zn;\\ \gamma-[(SiO_4)Mn_2^{III}-\\W_{11}O_{36}H_6]^{4-},[Mn_4^{III}-\\(H_2O)_2(PW_9O_{34})_2]^{10-}\\ \end{array}$	Cyclohexene, <i>cis</i> - stilbene	Cyclohexene oxide, <i>cis/trans</i> -stilbene epoxides	[PhIO],	CH2Cl2/MeCN	Products vary with POM charge; products from catalytic and stoichiometric reac-	453
$\begin{array}{l} \label{eq:magnetization} MeCN_{x}MM^{n+} + \\ P_{2}W_{15}Nb_{3}O_{2}^{9-} \\ where\;M = Mn^{n}, Fe^{n}, \\ where\;M = Mn^{n}, Cu^{1}, Cu^{n}, \\ Col^{1}, Ni^{1}, Cu^{1}, Cu^{n}, \\ Tou^{2}, \\ Tou^{2}, \\ Tou^{2}, \\ Ni^{2}, \\ Tou^{2}, \\ Ni^{2}, \\ Magnetization, \\ $	Norbornene, cyclohexene	Epoxides	[PhIO] _n	MeCN	Evidence for POM- supported, <i>d</i> -electron center as active catalyst	117
r- and Mn-substituted Keggin heteropolytung-	2-Cyclohexenol	2-Cyclohexanone	[PhIO] ^{n^b}	MeCN or CH ₂ Cl ₂	Selectivity varies with catalyst	454
states HA ₅ (RuH ₂ O)SiW ₁₁ O ₃₉	Alkene	Alcohol, ketone, acid, aldehyde	HOO'u8	CICH ₂ CH ₂ CI	Second paper is mechanism study of IO ₄ ⁻ -based oxidative	455,456
		Acid, aldehyde, epoxide	KHSO ₅	H ₂ O/ClCH ₂ - CH ₂ Cl	cicavage of alkelies	
		Aldehyde, acid	$NaIO_4$	H ₂ O/CICH ₂ -		
		Alcohol, ketone, acid, epoxide aldehvde	[PhIO]"	CICH2CH2CI		
.5(RuH2O)PW11039	Alkane	Alcohol + ketone	NaClO or Bu ^t OOH	CH_2Cl_2/H_2O	22 °C, biphasic reaction; some mechanistic	457
22Ru(OH)Cl ₅ +	Primary alcohols Aldebudes acrolain	Carboxylic acids	KClO ₃	H ₂ O, pH 2	Very high yields of the	458
HA ['] ₅ (CrO)SiW ₁₁ O ₃₉			H ₂ O ₂ or [PhIO] _n OC1 ⁻	C_6H_6	Mechanism of alkene oxidation elucidated; compari- son to corresponding metalloporphyrins	323
$BA_4(CrO)PW_{11}O_{30}$	Alkene	Epoxide, allylic alcohol, allylic ketone		MeCN		

		Table 1	continued			
Catalyst ^b	Substrate	Products	Oxidant	Solvent	Comment	References
THA4(CrO)PW11O39	Alkene	Epoxide, allylic alcohol, allylic ketone		MeCN or C ₆ H ₆		
THA' ₅ (CrO)SiW ₁₁ O ₃₉	Alkene	Epoxide, allylic alcohol, allylic ketone		MeCN or C ₆ H ₆		
	Allylic alcohol Triphenylphosphine	Allylic ketone Triphenylphos- phine oxide		MeCN C6H6		
Co4P ₂ W ₁₈ O ₆₈ ¹⁰⁻ , CoPW ₁₁ O ₃₉ ⁵⁻ , Mn ^{III} PW ₁₁ O ₃₉ ⁵⁻ , Mn ^{III} PW ₁₁ O ₃₉ ⁵⁻ , Fe ^{III} PW ₁₁ O ₃₉ ⁴⁻ , NiPW ₁₁ O ₃₉ ⁴⁻ ,	Cyclohexene	Epoxide, enol, enone	CDMANO ^b	MeCN	Mechanism study	459,460
$Li_{12}[Mn^{II}2ZnW$ (ZnW9O ₃₄)2]	Alkanes, alkylarenes	Ketones, α -oxidation products	Ozone	H ₂ O	Likely metal-ozonide intermediate	461
K ₇ AlCoW ₁₁ O ₃₉	Ascorbic acid, phenol, peroxynitrite	Dehydroascorbic acid, nitrated phenol, nitrate	Peroxynitrite	H ₂ O, pH 7.0 buffer	Initial report of POM catalysis of these reactions; compari- son to metalloporphyrin catalysts made	462
HPW ₁₁ O ₃₀ ⁶⁻ modified with Fe ^{III} , Fe ^{III} , Mn ^{II}	Propane	Oxydehydrogena- tion products	02		Heterogeneous reac- tion involving high-temperature treatment and transformation of POM	463
	-		-	- - - - -	-	

^a Entries are grouped by oxidant. A few reactions conducted under heterogeneous conditions, when the conditions are unusual, are included. Review articles and nonpeer-reviewed publications such as conference proceedings, are not generally included. ^b CDMA = *p*-cyano-*N*.*N*-dimethylaniline, CDMANO = *p*-cyano-*N*.*N*-dimethylaniline, CDMANO = *p*-cyano-*N*.*N*-dimethylaniline, CDMANO = *p*-cyano-*N*. THA, THA, THA, THA, THA, = tetra-*n*-butylammonium, tetra-*n*-hexylammonium, and tetra-*n*-heptylammonium, respectively, TMA = tetramethylammonium; TBHP = Bu^thydroperoxide; THT = tetrahydrothiophene.

cation undergoes fast proton and electron transfer (or hydrogen atom transfer) to yield a stable benzylic cation which is observable by ¹H NMR. Again in this case, the kinetics data are consistent with a rate-limiting oxygen transfer from the POM to the xanthenyl cation, with formation of xanthen-9-one as the only product.

4.11.2.5.4 Oxo transfer to reduced POMs

Most POM reductions (chemical, photochemical or electrochemical) result in the production of "heteropoly blue" species that involve reduction of M^{VI} to M^V , M = Mo or W, and some coupling of spins (frequently antiferromagnetic coupling in polyanions with an even number of electrons). Single-electron-reduced species are by far the most common, but two- and four-electron species are not uncommon, and there are several examples of heteropoly blue," there are several examples of reduced isopolyanions (isopoly compounds) that have similar properties. The structural and electronic properties of these reduced complexes are addressed in older reviews cited in the Introduction (Section 4.11.1) and also in the accompanying chapter by M. T. Pope (Chapter 4.10).

Distinct from these common heteropoly blue complexes are POMs that are reduced by several electrons where the formal oxidation state of M (W or Mo) has now dropped to (IV) and M—M bonding is extant. These compounds have been referred to as "heteropoly browns" from their color, and they are good reducing agents. The best characterized of such species to date are Keggin polyoxotungstates where one edge-sharing triad is reduced and exhibits M—M bonding. Launay initially disclosed the synthesis of the metatungstate derivative by preparative electroreduction of metatungstate $H_2W_{12}O_{40}^{6-}$, ³²⁸ then three other groups further characterized the six-electron-reduced complex $[H_2W_{12}O_{40}]^{12-}$: Kazansky and Launay published the X-ray photo-electron spectra, ³²⁹ Jeannin and co-workers reported a disordered X-ray structure of the Rb₄H₈ salt, ³³⁰ and Piepgrass and Pope disclosed the ¹⁸³W NMR spectra. ³³¹ The latter group also prepared the six-electron-reduced heteropoly browns α -H₆SiW₁₂O₄₀⁴⁻ and α -H₆BW₁₂O₄₀⁵⁻ and characterized them. ³³¹ Yamase and Ishikawa subsequently prepared the diamagnetic six-electron-reduced form of α -K₅BW₁₂O₄₀ by prolonged photolysis of an aqueous MeOH solution of this POM at pH 0.1.³³²

The W^{IV} centers in these complexes have terminal aqua ligands coordinated in place of oxo groups. Piepgrass and Pope demonstrated that in nonaqueous solutions, the terminal aqua ligands on the W^{IV} centers in the Keggin heteropoly browns $XW^{VI}{}_{9}O_{37}W^{IV}{}_{3}(OH_2)_{3}{}^{n-}$ (X = H₂, B, Si; n = 6, 5, 4, respectively) are lost and the resulting apparently five-coordinate metal centers deoxygenate AO (e.g., Me₂SO, Ph₂SO, Ph₃AsO). The corresponding "A" products are formed in moderate to high yields and the oxidized (W^{VI}) HPAs are quantitatively regenerated.³³³ The oxygen from Me₂SO is transferred to the terminal oxo positions of SiW₁₂O₄₀⁴⁻ based on isotope-labeling studies. These experiments represent the first examples of a general oxygen atom transfer involving more than one center in unsubstituted HPAs and the first example of oxygen atom transfer to W^{IV}.

A nonredox reactivity of heteropoly browns is the condensation of the terminal aqua ligands on the W^{IV} centers with additional tungstate in aqueous solution between pH = 4 and 6.5 to form the species of formula, $[(XO_4)W^{IV}_{3}W^{VI}_{17}O_{62}H_x]^{n-}$, where $X = B^{III}$ (the best characterized) and H₂ (the metatungstate analogue).³³⁴

4.11.3 CATALYSIS OF THERMAL REACTIONS

4.11.3.1 Basic Modes of POM Redox Reactivity

POMs exhibit two dominant modes of reactivity in redox processes. There are well-documented variations for each mode. Mode 1, which is the most frequent one when O_2 is used as the oxidant, involves initial substrate oxidation (Equation (26)) followed by reoxidation of the reduced POM (Equation (27)). The net reaction is Equation (28). Mode 2, which is most frequent with oxygen donor oxidants including peroxides, involves initial activation of the oxidant, OX, by the POM with formation of a POM-OX complex (Equation (29)). There are three general fates of these complexes. They can directly react with substrate to form product (Equation (30)), transform to another complex, [POM-OX]' (Equation (31)) which then oxidizes the substrate (Equation (32)), or form freely diffusing oxidizing intermediates that are not bound to the POM catalyst

(Equation (33)), which then oxidize substrate. A prominent example of Equations (29), (31), and (32) is formation of a POM-bound oxygen atom donor, which transforms to a POM oxometal intermediate, which then oxidizes the substrate. The last mode (generation of metal-free oxidizing intermediates) can involve oxygen donors, such as iodosylarenes, peroxides (formation of alkylperoxy, alkoxy radicals, etc.), or O_2 (formation of all the radicals associated with radical chain oxidation or "autoxidation").

$$2 \text{ POM}_{\text{ox}} + \text{SubH}_2 \rightarrow 2 \text{POM}_{\text{red}} + \text{Sub} + 2\text{H}^+$$
(26)

$$2POM_{red} + 1/2 O_2 + 2H^+ \to H_2O + 2POM_{ox}$$
(27)

$$SubH_2 + 1/2 O_2 \xrightarrow{POM(catalyst)} Sub + H_2O$$
(28)

$$POM + OX \rightarrow POM - OX$$
 (29)

$$POM - OX + SubH_2 \rightarrow POM + [SubH_2]_{ox}$$
(30)

$$POM-OX \rightarrow [POM-OX]'$$
 (31)

$$[POM-OX]' + SubH_2 \rightarrow POM + [SubH_2]_{ox}$$
(32)

 $POM-OX \rightarrow metal-free substrate-oxidizing intermediates$ (33)

These and other basic modes of reactivity are summarized in Scheme 5.



Scheme 5

The bottom process in the scheme represents reaction of a metallodioxygen complex with another molecule of a coordinately unsaturated POM to generate two reactive POM molecules.

If these product POMs can oxidize the desired substrate directly without simultaneous generation of oxy radicals and consequent minimally selective autoxidation, an attractive O_2 -based POM-catalyzed chemistry is realized.

Most "homogeneous catalysts" taken from repository containers (bottles, vials, flasks, Schlenkware, etc.) are actually catalyst precursors ("pre-catalysts" in the terminology of Finke), but such materials are referred to as "catalysts" in this review because this is the general convention in the homogenous catalysis literature. In other words, no distinction is made between catalyst precursors and actual catalysts, because it is generally understood the active form(s) of the catalyst are only generated in low concentration during turnover, and that the material in the proverbial bottle is as close to an isolable active catalyst as one typically gets.

The next two sections (Sections 4.11.3.2 and 4.11.3.3) are tables of reactions involving homogeneous catalysis by POMs. The great majority of these reactions are oxidations but some involve acid-dependent or other processes. The coverage is not comprehensive (indeed some of author's own papers are not cited), but it is nearly so. As stated out the outset, this review article does not cover heterogeneous catalysis. A few examples of heterogeneous catalysis by POMs are included in Tables 1 and 2 but only those that entail unusual catalyst immobilization chemistry. The reactions involving homogeneous catalysis by POMs have been divided up into two groups: Table 1 summarizes the reactions catalyzed by POMs that contain one or more *d*-electron-containing active site(s), and Table 2 summarizes the reactions catalyzed by d^0 POMs (most frequently mixed addenda HPAs). Several reviews have appeared on portions of this chemistry.^{86,87,307,339–356} Three other references are pertinent.^{357–359}

The purpose of this review is not to critically analyze this now substantial body of work or to discuss mechanism in detail but to present a reasonably comprehensive tabulation of the reactions. While fairly in-depth analyses of many of these reactions have been published recently,^{86,352} a truly critical review of the mechanisms in POM-catalyzed oxidations that is also reasonably comprehensive would require a book-sized review. Such a review is needed.

4.11.3.2 Homogeneous Catalysis by *d*-electron-metal-substituted Polyoxometalates

The initial impetus for the development of such catalysts was that they represent oxidatively resistant versions of the much-studied metalloporphyrins.³²⁰ In short, both the *d*-electron-containing TMSPs and metalloporphyrins share key positive features pertinent to oxo transfer oxidation (oxygenation). These include but are not limited to a redox-functional active site firmly held by a chelating ligand that simultaneously has a redox capacity.³⁴³ The redox chemistry of the multi-dentate ligand facilitates formation of highly reactive (and frequently quite selective) high-valent oxometal species (e.g., M=O, where $M = Fe^{IV}$, the equivalent of Fe^V, Mn^{IV}, Mn^V, Cr^{IV}, Cr^V, and others). Importantly however, TMSPs unlike metalloporphyrins and metal complexes of other macrocyclic ligands, are oxidatively resistant and, in most cases, readily prepared in quantity. The initial reports of adduct formation were by Katsoulis and Pope and other groups (addressed in Section 4.11.2.5.1 above and elsewhere in the review), and the initial report of a TMSP catalyzing substrate oxygenation (oxygen atom rebound oxidation from a formal oxygen donor, analogous to the shunt mechanism with the cytochrome P-450 enzymes) was by Brown and Hill in 1986.³⁶⁰ Since then the groups of Neumann, Finke, Pope, Lyons, and Ellis, and others have contributed to this approach. The findings in the principal papers involving catalysis by TMSPs are summarized in Table 1.

The principal mechanistic paradigm in such POM-catalyzed oxidations is that of oxo transfer via high-valent oxygenated TMSPs (Equations (24) and (25), which are subsets of the general processes in Equations (29) and (30) above). However, with all oxygen donor oxidants, including those that appear to be optimally constrained to follow an oxo rebound mechanism such as *N*-oxides or iodosylarenes, the mechanisms are frequently more complex. Reactions with most peroxo species and even more so with O_2 as terminal oxidant, are almost always more complex. The detailed mechanistic aspects of TMSP-catalyzed H_2O_2 activation and H_2O_2 -based oxidations have been thoroughly addressed, but many questions remain. The same is true for the one oxidant that is more environmentally and economically attractive— O_2 . While POMs are known that activate O_2 and facilitate oxidations of organic substrates that proceed with minimal or no intervention of radical chain processes^{361,362} the development of this promising area is in its infancy.

4.11.3.3 Homogeneous Catalysis by d^0 Polyoxometalates

This class of catalyzed oxidations dates to the mid-1970s and the research of Matveev and co-workers. Articles by Matveev and Kozhevnikov in the early part of the time period of *CCC II* (early 1980s) review this early work.^{339,340} The most prominent and attractive general process catalyzed by these d^0 POMs is the O₂-based oxidation of organic substrates. Most frequently H₂O is the by-product (thus the overall process is oxidative dehydration; net reaction is Equation (28)), but other overall processes (stoichiometries) can be observed. The principal mechanistic paradigm associated with homogeneous catalysis by d^0 POMs involves an initial oxidation of the substrate by the POM, followed by reoxidation of the reduced POM with O₂ (Equations (26) and (27)). As for the TMSP-catalyzed reactions addressed in the previous section and in Table 1; however, the mechanisms of these processes can be quite complex. The substrate oxidation step (Equation (26)) can proceed by different mechanisms although outer sphere electron transfer followed by deprotonation of the substrate cation radical appears to be the most common. In addition, the second step ($POM_{red} + O_2$; Equation (27)) can proceed either by an outer sphere or inner sphere process. The reduced forms of the minimally labile polyoxotungstates appear to be reoxidized by O_2 by outer sphere processes, or more rigorously, processes that do not involve exchange of POM oxo oxygens with O_2 oxygen.³⁶³ In contrast, the reduced forms of the more labile and also heavily investigated mixed addenda vanadopolyoxomolybdates appear to be reoxidized by inner sphere processes, and in some cases by donation of a POM oxygen atom to the substrate followed by replenishment of the POM oxo oxygen by oxygen from O_2 (the Mars-van Krevelen mechanism).^{310,325} The findings in the principal papers involving catalysis by d^0 POMs are summarized in Table 2.

4.11.4 PHOTOCHEMICAL PROCESSES

4.11.4.1 Some History

Reports of the photosensitivity of POMs in the presence of organic compounds date to at least 1916;³⁶⁴ however, the first systematic study of POM photochemistry was the work of Yamase who studied the photochromism of alkyl- and dialkylammonium polymolybdates^{365,366} and subsequently the structural and spectroscopic (largely EPR) properties of irradiated alkylammonium molybdates.^{367–372} In key early work involving POMs as photocatalysts, Papaconstantinou reported the photocatalytic oxidation of alcohols by O₂ in 1982 (Equation (34)),³⁷³ Darwent published the anaerobic photocatalytic production of H₂ from alcohols later that same year (Equation (35)),³⁷⁴ and Hill showed the breadth of the photocatalytic oxidation of organic compounds by POMs in 1985.³⁷⁵ In the intervening years, many features of POM photochemistry have been elucidated. The key papers in this and other areas and their principal findings are summarized in Table 3:

$$R^{1}R^{2}CHOH + 1/2 O_{2} + h\nu \xrightarrow{H_{3}PW_{12}O_{40}(cat)}_{H_{2}O,air,25^{\circ}C} R^{1}R^{2}CO + H_{2}O$$
(34)

$$\mathbf{R}^{1}\mathbf{R}^{2}\text{CHOH} + h\nu \xrightarrow[\text{H}_{2}\text{O}_{40}(\text{cat})]{} \mathbf{R}^{1}\mathbf{R}^{2}\text{CO} + \mathbf{H}_{2}$$
(35)

where R^1 and $R^2 = alkyl$ or hydrogen.

A number of reviews on POM photochemistry and photocatalysis have appeared over the years by the principal investigators in this area (alphabetically): Ferry, a recent arrival to this field,³⁷⁶ Giannotti,^{377,378} Hill,^{342,343,345,347,379–383} Maldotti,³⁸⁴ Papaconstantinou,^{385–390} Tanielian,³⁹¹ Yamase,^{52,392,393} and others. Most of these reviews target, understandably and conventionally, the work of the researcher's group itself, but a few are comprehensive³⁸² or at least comprehensive for a particular subtopic, e.g., alkane functionalization,³⁸³ intermediates in decatungstate photochemistry,³⁹¹ or photochemistry of composite systems.³⁸⁴

4.11.4.2 General Features of Reactivity

Most organic molecules and many inorganic ones can function as electron donors (reductants) to POMs of many structural classes (generic acceptors and oxidants). Indeed a multitude of processes
		Table 2 Homogene	ous catalysis by	y d ⁰ POMs. ^a		
Catalyst ^b	Substrate	Products	Oxidant	Solvent	Comments	References
$\mathrm{Na}_{5}\mathrm{H}_{2}\mathrm{PV}_{4}\mathrm{Mo}_{8}\mathrm{O}_{40}$	СО	CO ₂ , Me ₂ CO ₃ , Et ₂ CO ₃ , EtO ₂ CCO ₂ Et	02	M¢CN, EtOH, H2O	Co-catalysis by Pd ^{II} salts	464
Vanadomolybdo- phosphates	Toluene, <i>p</i> -xylene, mesitylene, durene, pentame- thylbenzene, hexam- ethylbenzene	Alcohols, aldehydes diarylmethanes	02		Cation radical intermediates demonstrated	465
Vanadomolybdo- phosphoric acid	CO	CO ₂	O2		Aqueous Pd^{II} ; $POM + Pd^{II}$ salts; increase in H_2O concentration increases yield of CO_2	466
${ m H_5PV_2Mo_{10}O_{40}}$	Phenolic compound, alkene, ketone	<i>p</i> -Bromo derivative, vicinal dibromide α -bromoketone	O ₂ / HBr	CICH ₂ CH ₂ CI tetraglyme	Effective oxybromination catalyzed by a POM; tetraglyme was used as a complexing agent to enable dissolution of PV ₂ Mo ₁₀ O ₄₀ ⁵⁻ in its acidic form in nonpolar organic solvents; several other complexing agents were examined	467
${ m H_4PVW_{11}O_{40}} { m H_6PV_3W_9O_{40}}$	CO	CO ₂	O_2		Catalysis occurs in presence of aqueous PdSO ₄ ; article concentrates on rate data	468
Na ₃ H ₃ PV ₃ Mo ₉ O ₄₀	Larixol	Acetate, dienes	02	Acetic acid	Oxidation studied under three conditions; yield and selectivity good with optimal system	469

lvsis hv d⁰ POMs^a È

		Table 2	continued			
Catalyst ^b	Substrate	Products	Oxidant	Solvent	Comments	References
$H_{3+n}PV_nMo_{12-n}O_{40},$ where $n = 0-3$ $H_{3+n}PV_nW_{12-n}O_{40},$ where $n = 0-1$	Benzylic ketone	Acid, benzaldehyde; for $n = 0$, only trace amounts of products were observed; for n = 1, benzoic acid, a dione, and <i>trans</i> - stilbene were produced as minor	O ₂	MeCN or substrate	High yield oxidative cleavage of ketones	470
$\mathrm{H_5PV_2Mo_{10}O_{40}}$	α -Substituted cyclic ketone	Ketoacid	O_2	MeCN, H ₂ O, or AcOH/H ₂ O	High selectivity oxidative cleavage under mild $(60 ^{\circ}\text{C})$ $MeCN 2-6 \text{h})$ conditions	471
$\mathrm{H_6PV_3Mo_9O_{40}}$	4-Oxoalkyl-substituted 2,6-di-Bu ^t -phenol	Dienones, quinones	02	C ₆ H ₆ , MeOH	Acidic conditions due to presence of heteropolyacid; reaction is sensitive to the solvent used; oxidation occurs via differing routes depending on whether one- electron oxidants, dioxygen, or photochemical irradiation is used	472
$\mathrm{H_6PV_3Mo_9O_{40}}$	4-(3,5-Di-Bu ^t -4-hydro- xyphenyl)butan-2-one,	4-Hydroxy-4- (3-oxobutyl)-2,6-di- Bu ^{t-} 2,5-cyclohexa- dien-1-one and	02	C ₆ H ₆	Catalyzed and uncatalyzed reactions proceed by different mechanisms	473
	methyl ester of β -(3,5- di-Bu ^t -4-hydroxyphe- nyl)propionic acid	<i>p</i> -benzoquinone <i>p</i> -benzoquinone, spirolactone, dienone, and quinol		C ₆ H ₆ or MeOH		
TBA ₅ Na ₃ (1,5-CO- D)IrP ₂ W ₁₅ Nb ₃ O ₆₂	Alkene	No rxn	O ₂ /H ₂ , H ₂ O ₂	CH ₂ Cl ₂	POM-supported Ir ⁺ complexes are precatalysts; later research showed Ir ⁰ nanoclusters are formed	474
$\mathrm{H_{5}PV_{2}Mo_{10}O_{40}}$	Dialkyl phenols	Diphenoquinones	02	<i>n</i> -Hexanol or CH ₃ CH ₂ OH	Rate depends on oxidation potential of substrate and proceeds by electron transfer	304

$H_{3+n}PV_nMo_{12-n}O_{40}$ where $n = 2, 4$, or 6	2,4,6-Trimethylphenol, 2,3,6-trimethylphenol	2,3,5-Trimethyl-1, 4-benzoquinone	02	AcOH/H ₂ O, CH ₃ OH/H ₂ O, CH ₃ CN/H ₂ O, (CH ₃) ₂ CO/H ₂ O, CH ₂ O, CH ₂ O, or CH ₂ O.	86% yields at 100% conversion of substrate; VO^{2+} proposed to be the oxidizing intermediate	475,476
$\mathrm{H_5PV_2Mo_{10}O_{40}}$	<i>d</i> -Terpinene	<i>p</i> -Cymene	O_2	MeCN	Early kinetics and mechanism study of Keggin polymolybdates catalyzing O. oxidations	305
$(NH_4)_5H_4PV_6W_6O_{40}, (NH_4)_5PW_{12}O_{40}, (NH_4)_5PW_{12}O_{40}, (NH_4)_5PM_{012}O_{40}, or (NH_4)_5PM_{012}O_{40}, or (NH_4)_5PW_2O_{40}, or (NH_4)_6PW_2O_{40}, or (NH_4)_6P$	Alkene, aldehyde	Epoxide	02	CICH ₂ CH ₂ CI	Aldehyde co-reductant	477
$H_3PW_{12}O_{40}$, or H,PMG, O	Alkene, aldehyde	No reaction				
$(NH_4)_5H_4PV_6M0_6O_{40}$	Aldehyde Ketone Thianthrene 5-oxide	Acid or ester Ester Thianthrene dioxides				
(NH4)5H4PV6M06O40,	Indan isochroman benzvlamine	1-Indanone 3,4- dihydroisocoumarin Schiff-base imine	02	C ₆ H ₅ CH ₃	High-selectivity reactions, 100°C	478
$(NH_4)_5H_4PV_6W_6O_{40},$ $(NH_4)_3HPVM_{011}O_{40},$ $H_4PVM_{011}O_{40},$ $H_3PM_{012}O_{40},$ $H_3PW_{12}O_{40},$ $H_3PW_{12}O_{40},$ $H_3DVM_{20}O_{40},$	Benzylamine	Schiff-base imine				
H ₇ PV ₄ M0 ₈ O ₄₀	lpha-Subst. cyclic ketone	Ketoacid	O_2	H_2O	Product distribution is very demendent on solvent	479
TBA ₅ PV ₂ Mo ₁₀ O ₄₀	Cyclic ketone a-Subst. cyclic ketone	Acid No rxn		AcOH/H ₂ O MeCN	00 °C	
H ₅ PV ₂ Mo ₁₀ O ₄₀	Cyclic ketone	Acid		MeCN, H ₂ O, Bu ^t OH, C ₂ H ₅ OH, AcOH/H ₂ O	65–70 ° C	
$egin{array}{c} { m K}_{14}{ m NaP_5}{ m W}_{30}{ m O}_{110}, { m K_7}{ m PW}_{11}{ m O}_{39}, { m K_8}{ m SiW}_{11}{ m O}_{39} \end{array}$	ScH	S_8	O_2	H ₂ O	60°C; highly selective and stable catalysts	480

		Table 2	continued			
Catalyst ^b	Substrate	Products	Oxidant	Solvent	Comments	References
TBA ₅ P($Z^{n+}L$)M ₁₁ O ₃₉ , where M = Mo, W; Z = Mn ¹¹ , Fe ¹¹¹ , Co ¹¹ , Ni ¹¹¹ , Cu ¹¹² , L = unknown	Cyclohexene	Epoxide, allylic alcohol, allylic ketone	O_2	CICH ₂ CH ₂ CI	Mild reaction conditions; transition-metal center responsible for activation of dioxysen	481
TBA ₅ P(Z–L) $M_{011}O_{40}$, where Z = Mn, Fe, or Cu and L = unknown	Cyclohexene	Cyclohexene epoxide, cyclohexen-1-ol, cyclohexen-1-one	O_2	CH_2Cl_2	Conversion of cyclohexene 50–70%; product ratios are tynical for autoxidation	482
Hydrotalcites intercalated with TMSP	Cyclohexene	2-Cyclohexene-1-one, 2-cyclohexene-1-ol	O_2		Heterogeneous catalyst	483
$H_{3+n}PV_nMo_{12-n}O_{40}$	2-Methyl-I-naphthol	2-Methyl-1,4-naphtho- quinone (menadione, or vitamin K3)	O ₂	Benzene, hexane, other organic solvents	"Vikasib' technology overcomes problem of hard-to-procure raw material through use of naphthol-1; ways to increase catalyst selectivity are presented; biphasic solvent system	484
Soluble and supported	Benzylic and allvlic alcohols	Aldehydes, ketones	O_2	Several used	Catalytic activity enhanced	485
vanadomolybdo- phosphates	2,3,5,5,5,5,5,5,5,7,5,7,5,7,5,7,5,7,5,7,5	trimethyl- <i>p</i> -benzo- quinone				
$\mathrm{H}_{5}\mathrm{PV}_{2}\mathrm{Mo}_{10}\mathrm{O}_{40}$	THT ^b	THTO ^b	O_2	MeCN	Initial report of a combinatorial approach for POM catalvsts	406
Na ₅ PV ₂ Mo ₁₀ O ₄₀	Lignin, polysachharide fragments	CO ₂ , H ₂ O	O_2	H_2O	Wet oxidation (oxidative mineralization) via radical-chain	486
PV ₅ M070 ₄₀ ⁸⁻	Lignin	CO2	O ₂	H ₂ O	Pulps of commercially acceptable quality acceptable quality are produced using this system; technology is fairly environmentally benign; retention of viable pulp viscosities requires EtOH as co-solvent	487,488

489	411	490	491 309	325
Isobutyraldehyde coreductant; POM supported on mesoporous MCM-41, and amino-modified MCM-41; acylperoxy radical inter- mediates oxidize substrate	Four new polyoxoanion-based dioxygenase precatalysts described; very high turnover numbers	Aldehyde coreductant; POM- aldehyde interaction examined; system has high selectivity for ketone formation; acylperoxy radical intermediates oxidize substrate	Organic (substrate)—aqueous (POM) biphasic system Quinones are effective co- catalysts for both homogeneous and supported POM-based catalytic oxidative dehydrogenation of alcohols	Electron transfer oxidation; evidence for Mars-van Krevelen mechanism (see ref. 311)
CICH ₂ CH ₂ CI	CICH ₂ CH ₂ CI	Acetone, MeCN, acetic acid	11 different solvents A range of solvents	McCN
02	O2	02	0202	02
Cyclohexene oxide1- and 2-substituted alcohols benzylic ketones	Muconic acid anhydride; 4,6- di- <i>t</i> -Butyl-2H-pyra- n-2-one; spiro [1,4- benzodioxin-2(3H), 2'-[2H]pyran]-3-one; 4',6',8-tetrakis (1,1-dimethylethyl); 3,5-di- <i>t</i> -butyl-5 (carboxymethyl) -2-furanone; 3, 5-di- <i>t</i> -butyl-1, 2-benzodimone	Ketones	2,6-Dialkyl-1, 4-benzoquinones Aldehydes	Anthraquinone xanthone fluorenone benzoquinone
Cyclohexene adamantane arylalkane	3,5-Di- <i>i</i> -Butylcatechol	Aldehydes, alkanes	2,6-Dimethyl- and 2,6- di- <i>t</i> -Butylphenols Benzylic and allylic alcohols	Anthracene xanthene fluorene diphenylmethane
H ₅ PV ₂ Mo ₁₀ O ₄₀ -SiO ₂ H ₅ PV ₂ Mo ₁₀ O ₄₀ - SiO ₂ ·NH ₃ ⁺	TBA ₇ SiV ₃ W ₉ O ₄₀ TBA ₉ P ₂ V ₃ W ₁₅ O ₆₂ TBA ₅ [(MeCN) _x FeSi V ₃ W ₉ O ₄₀] TBA ₅ [(MeCN) _x FeP ₂ V ₃ W ₁₅ O ₆₂]	$\mathrm{H_5PV_2Mo_{10}O_{40}}$	Vanadomolybdo- phosphoric acids $M_5PV_2Mo_{10}O_{40}$, where $M = Na^+$ or TBA^+	$H_5PV_2Mo_{10}O_{40}$

		Table 2	continued			
Catalyst ^b	Substrate	Products	Oxidant	Solvent	Comments	References
$\mathrm{H_{5}PV_{2}Mo_{10}O_{40}}$	Acetaldehyde 1-propanethiol THT ⁶	Acetic acid dipropyl disulfide THTO ^b	02	Chlorobenzene	POM deposited on cotton cloth, polyacrylic fiber, nylon fiber, Ambersorb TM , and Smoklin TM ; facile reaction at 25°C with 1 atm	492
$\begin{array}{l} H_2F_6NaV^VW_{17}O_{56}^{8-}\\ XV^{IV}W_{11}F_nO_{40-m},\\ \text{where } X=H_2, V, W\\ \text{and } n=1-4 \end{array}$	Alkyl aromatic compounds	Oxydehydrogenation products	02	No solvent	Biphasic (water-catalyst and substrate) media. The ratio of autoxidation to oxydehydrogenation depends on substrate, T and O. presente	493
HsPV2M010O40+ TEMPO	Primary and secondary alcohols	Aldehydes, ketones	O_2	Acetone	O2 pressure Synergistic co-catalysis; selectivities very high; some mechanistic features establiched	494
HsPV2M010O40	Anthracene, xanthene	Anthraquinone, xanthen-9-one	02	MeCN	Mars-van Krevelen thoroughly established; mode of substrate oxidation more likely electron transfer than H transfer	310
Library of POMs	Alcohols	Aldehydes, ketones	02	<i>t</i> -Butanol, EtOAc, ^b MeCN, MIBK; ^b 15 different	High throughput screening of combinatorial library; supported catalysts included	495
AIV ^V W ₁₁ O ₄₀ ⁶⁻ as component of equilibrating POM	Lignin in wood	CO ₂ , H ₂ O	02	H_2O	Self-buffering, thermodynami- cally stable catalyst	496
SiV ^W W ₁₁ O ₄₀ ⁵⁻ H ₅ PV ₂ Mo ₁₀ O ₄₀	Phenolic lignin Alcohols	CO ₂ , H ₂ O Aldehydes	$\begin{array}{c} O_2\\ O_2\\ \end{array}$	H ₂ O Polyethylene ølvcol	Self-buffering, stable catalyst Catalyst-solvent phase can be recovered and re-used	311 497
	Cyclic dienes Sulfides	Dehydrogenation products Sulfoxides				

$PV_x Mo_{12-x} O_{40}^{3+x-}$, where $x = 0, 2$	Benzylic, allylic and aliphatic alcohols	Aldehydes, ketones	02	DMSO	Sulfoxide is shown to be the oxygen donor; mechanism and kinetics of ven	498
H ₃ PW ₁₂ O ₄₀ H ₃ PM ₀₁₂ O ₄₀ , H ₃ PW ₁₂ O ₄₀ , K4SiM ₀₁₂ O ₄₀ , H ₄ GeM ₀₁₂ O ₄₀ , H ₃ PM ₀₁₀ W ₂ O ₄₀ ,	Allyl alcohol Cyclopentene	Glycerol 61% glutaraldehyde	$H_{2}O_{2}$ $H_{2}O_{2}$	Tributylphosphate solution	Peroxotungstate intermediates 35°C; mixed-addenda heteropoly acids of Mo and W are particularly effective	499 500
$H_{3,4}XM_{12}O_{40}$, where X = P or Si $Na_3PM_{12}O_{40}$, where M = W or Mo	2,6-Di- <i>t</i> -Butyl-4-me- thylphenol	2,6-Di- <i>tert</i> -Butyl-4-hy- droperoxy-4-methyl- 2,5-cyclohexadien-1- one, 2,6-di- <i>tert</i> - butyl-4-hydroxy-4- methyl-2,5-cyclohex- adien-1-one, 2,6-di- <i>tert</i> -Butyl-p-benzo-	H ₂ O ₂	MeCO ₂ H	30°C, N ₂	501,502
H3PM012040, H4SiM012040, H3PW12040	3,4,5-Trimethoxy- toluene	2,6-Dimethoxy- <i>p</i> - benzoquinone	H_2O_2	MeCO ₂ H, MeOH, MeCN, or HCO2H	50–60% yields at 30°C, N_2	503
CP salts of uncharacterized	Vic-diols	α -Hydroxy ketones	H_2O_2	CHCl ₃	Biphasic conditions	504
puipperoxoumgsates TBA ₆ H ₂ Si ₂ Nb ₆ W ₁₈ O ₇₇	Alkene allylic alcohol maleic acid	No rxn triol <i>d,l</i> -HO ₂ CCH(OH)- CH(OH)CO ₂ H	H_2O_2	MeCN	The POM breaks down to form the actual catalyst	505
$ m H_3PMo_{12}O_{40}$	Cyclohexene	Cyclohexene oxide, trans-1,3-cyclohexa-	H_2O_2		Reaction affected by concentration of H ₂ O and POM redox notential	506
$\begin{array}{c} H_5BW_{12}O_{40}, \\ H_4SiW_{12}O_{40}, \\ H_6P_2W_{18}O_{62} \end{array}$	Alkene	No rxn	H_2O_2	CHCl ₃	Degradation of H ₃ PW ₁₂ O ₄₀ by H ₂ O ₂ to form polyperoxometalates clearly shown binhasic medium	507
$\begin{array}{l} H_3 P M o_{12} O_{40}, \\ H_3 P W_{12} O_{40}, K_4 W_{10} O_{32}, \\ (NH_4)_{10} H_2 W_{12} O_{42}, \\ (NH_4)_6 M o_7 O_{24} \end{array}$	Alkene	Epoxide				

		Table 2	continued			
Catalyst ^b	Substrate	Products	Oxidant	Solvent	Comments	References
$TBA_3PW_{12}O_{40}, TBA_5H_2PW_{11}O_{39}$	Alkene	Epoxide	H_2O_2	MeCN	H ₂ O ₂ decomposition as well as cyclohexene epoxidation	416
Uncharacterized polyperoxotungstates (CP salt)	Primary and secondary aliphatic and aromatic amines	Oximes, nitrones, nitroso compounds and nitrobenzene	H_2O_2	CHCI ₃	Biphasic or homogeneous conditions; the catalytically active intermediates were correctly identified by other	508
${\rm H_5PV_2Mo_{10}O_{40}},$	Alkyl aromatic compounds	Ketone acetate	H_2O_2	МеСООН	groups later 110°C or 60°C; POM not degraded during catalytic cycles; benzyl radicals are	509
	Alkyl benzene	Ketone		DMF, CH ₃ OH, or	intermediates	
${ m H_5PV_2W_{10}O_{40}}$	Alkyl aromatic	Ketone acetate		formic acid MeCOOH		
$H_4PVMo_{11}O_{40}$	compounds Alkyl aromatic	Ketone acetate		МеСООН		
$H_5 SiV_2 Mo_{10}O_{40}$	compounds Alkyl aromatic	Ketone acetate		MeCOOH		
$H_3PMo_{12}O_{40}$ or	compounds Alkyl aromatic	Ketone		MeCOOH		
нз ^г W ₁₂ O40 THA5PV2M010O40 H5PV2M010O40	compounds Alkyl benzene Alkyl benzene	Ketone Ketone alcohol		CICH ₂ CH ₂ CI MeCN, ethylene glycol, (CH ₃) ₂		
Uncharacterized polyperoxotungstates (CP salt)	Anilines	Nitroso- or nitrobenzenes	H_2O_2	CO, or sulfolane CHCl ₃ , Bu ^t OH, or MeOH	25°C; reasonable yields of oxidized nitrogen compounds; in the case of methanol solvent,	510
CP salts of uncharacterized polyperoxomolyb- dates and	Sulfide	Sulfoxide, sulfone	H ₂ O ₂	CHCl ₃	nitrosobenzene is the only product 25°C; different catalyst preparation protocols give quite different selectivities; nitrosobenzene is the only product	511
Pulypurvouungourso					hronet	

${\rm H_{3}PM_{12}O_{40}}$	Alkenes	Epoxides	H_2O_2	H ₂ O/CHCl ₃ with biphasic condi- tions	Mechanistic information on formation and reactivity of polyperoxometalate intermediates	24
TMA4[(Mc2ASO2) {MoO(O2)2}2, TBA4[(Ph2PO2) {WO(O2)2}2, TMA4[(Ph2PO2) {MoO(O2)2}2, NH4[(Ph2PO2) {MoO(O2)2}3, NH4[(Ph2PO2) {MoO(O2)2}12,	Alkenes, alcohols, tertiary amines	Epoxides aldehydes, ketones <i>N</i> -oxides	$H_2O_2 H_2O_2 H_2O_2 H_2O_2$	Benzene benzene toluene	Second paper in a series; investigates influence of η^2 , η^1 -peroxo groups on the catalytic oxidation properties of title compounds	512
H ₅ PV ₂ MO ₁₀ O ₄₀ — PEO-SiO ₂ THA ₃ PO ₄ [W(O)(O ₂)] ₄ — PEO/PPO-SiO,	Ayclooctene cyclooctene	Cyclooctene oxide cyclooctene oxide	$\mathrm{IBA}^\mathrm{b}/\mathrm{O}_2, \mathrm{H}_2\mathrm{O}_2$	1,2-Dichloroethane no org. solvent	Solvent-anchored, supported, liquid-phase catalysts	513
H ₇ P ₂ VMo ₁₇ O ₆₂ , ⁻ Cpyr ₈ P ₂ V ₂ Mo ₁₆ O ₆₂	Ethylbenzene	Acetophenone	H ₂ O ₂	Various solvents used, including DMF, ^b MeCN, MeOH, acetone, acetic acid, formic acid, ethylene glycol, CICH,CH,CH,CI	Role of intermediate peracid is not clear; V in POM is important for reaction; highest conversion was obtained in acetic acid, which is 29.4%; selectivity for acetophenone can reach up to 100%	514
"PVMo ₁₁ O ₄₀ 4 prepared 3 different ways	Benzene	Phenoi	H₂O₂, M€CO₃H	Biphasic reaction system; organic layer contains C ₆ H ₆ and CH ₃ CN, and aqueous layer contains MeCN and 30% H ₂ O ₂	Different activities attributed to different isomers (mono- vs. di- and tri-vanadium POMs and different positional isomers)	515
Vanadium-substituted heteropolymolybdates	Alkylbenzenes	Range of oxidation products, aromatic ring hydroxylation products	H ₂ O ₂ , Bu ^t OOH	MeCN	H ₂ O ₂ leads to both allylic and ring oxidation products; Bu [†] OOH leads primarily to allylic products	516
A,β -(NbO ₂) $_{3}PW_{9}O_{37}^{6-}$	Alkenes	Epoxides	H_2O_2		The active catalyst is shown to be a low nuclearity tungstate from peroxide degradation of the reactant POM	517

		Table 2	2 continued			
Catalyst ^b	Substrate	Products	Oxidant	Solvent	Comments	References
$PZnMo_2W_9O_{39}^{5-}$	Alkenes, alkylaromatic	Epoxides	H_2O_2	Chloroform	Epoxide selectivity ranges from 80% to 100%	518
$H_3PMo_{12}O_{40}$ $H_3PVMo_{11}O_{40}$ $H_5PV_2Mo_{10}O_{40}$ $H_6PV_3Mo_9O_{40}$ $H_3PMo_6W_6O_{40}$	Organic sulfides	Phenyl sulfoxide, propyl and phenyl sulfone	H_2O_2	MeCN	Comparison of reactivities of unsubstituted and V/Ti- substituted heteropolycom- pounds vs. substituted silicalites for oxidation of	519
$Q_3(PO_4(WO(Q_2)_{2})_4), \ Where Q = C_{18}H_{37}, \ (CH_3)_3N^+, \ C_{16}H_{33}, \ (CH_3)_3N^+, \ C_{16}H_{33}, \ C_{5}H_5N^+, \ (C_8H_{17})_3CH_3N^+$	Octadecanol	Octadecanoic acid	H ₂ O ₂	No solvent	organic surfaces Conversion ranges from 20% to 70%; yield of octadecanoic acid ranges from 16% to 53%, depending on the quaternary alkyl ammonium cation, the pH of solution, and temperature; H ₂ O ₂ decomposed completely after	520
Heteropolyacids + phase	Benzyl alcohol	Benzaldehyde	H_2O_2	H ₂ O/organic	6 h under reaction conditions Biphasic with phase-transfer	521
transfer catalysts $H_3PW_{12}O_{40}$	Hexanol	Hexanal	H_2O_2	solvent H_2O , hexanol	catatysts Biphasic liquid-liquid system	522
H6F2 W 18U62 Keggin-type	Hexanol	Hexanal	H_2O_2	H ₂ O, hexanol	Biphasic liquid-liquid system	523
Vanadium-substituted molybdophosphoric	Benzene	Phenol	H ₂ O ₂ , AcOOH	MeCN	Nearly quantitative selectivity to phenol at reasonable conversions of henzene	524
K ₁₅ [La(PM09V ₂ O ₃₉) ₂]	Toluene	Benzoic aldehyde	H_2O_2	Different solvents were used, including acetic acid, methanol, THF, DMF, acetone, aceto- nitrile, etc.	Reactions were carried out under both homogeneous and heterogeneous conditions; the best results were in homogeneous acctonitrile (19% yield and 25% selectivity)	525

526	527	528	529	199	530	531	532	450	533	534
Mechanism and side-chain vs. ring oxidation of toluene addressed	Highest yield is 27.2%,	Liquid-solid biphasic system	30°C	Triester linkage to POM stable under turnover conditions	99.9% selective; reaction inhibited by H ₂ O	Correlating catalytic activity	POM supported on carbons; 000/ supported on carbons;	PP/06 Selective for summaries POMs bound to silica with PEO, PPO, and quaternary ammonium groups	Reactions proceed under	Biphasic (POM in H_2O , substrate in benzene)
Substrate and MeCN in organic layer; MeCN + 30% H ₂ O ₂ in	No solvent		MeCOOH	M¢CN	MeCN	MeCN	Toluene	Toluene	MeOH	Benzene, MeOH
H_2O_2	H_2O_2	H_2O_2	Bu ^t OOH	Bu ^t OOH, H ₂ O ₂ , PhIO	Bu ^t OOH	Bu ^t OOH	Bu ^t OOH	Bu ^t OOH	Tl ^{III}	
o-Cresol, m-cresol, p-cresol, benzyl alcohol, benzaldehyde	Allantoin	Benzoic acid	Peroxy ketone, quinone, dimer derived from substrate	Sulfoxide	Sulfoxides	<i>p</i> -Cymene	Sulfoxides	Anthracene	Oxetane, epoxides, diol	Oxaspirodecadienone (major), 2,6-di-Bu ¹ - <i>p</i> -benzoquinone (minor)
Toluene, nitrobenzene	Glyoxal	Benzaldehyde	<i>p</i> -Substituted phenols	Thioether	Sulfides	lpha-Terpinene	Sulfides	Dihydroanthracene	Sclareol	γ -(3,5-Dialkyl-4-hy- droxyphenyl)propa- nols
$\begin{array}{l} Y_4 PVMo_{11}O_{40}, \\ Y=TBA^+; K^+; Na^+ \\ Y_4 KPV_2 W_{10}O_{40}, \\ Y=TBA^+; K^+ \\ K_7 P_2 VMo_2 W_{15}O_{62} \end{array}$	$K_{15}H_2[Ce(P_2W_{15}-W_{12$	HPDA[H2PDA]2- [A s. ^{III} AsV.Mos.0.1]	$H_3PM_{12}O_{40}$, $H_3PM_{12}O_{40}$, where $H_4SiM_{12}O_{40}$, where M = W or Mo	TBA ₂ H ₄ [CH ₃ C- (CH ₂ O) ₃ P ₂ V ₃ W ₁₅ O ₅₉] TBA ₅ H ₄ P ₂ V ₃ - W ₁₅ O ₆₂ ,TBA ₆ P ₂ - W ₁₈ O ₆₂ , TBA ₅ H[CH ₃ C	(СН2U)3 ^{P2} V3W15U59] Н3PW12O40, Н3PM012O40, Н DV M6.10	$H_4PVMo_{11}O_{40}$	${ m H}_5{ m PV}_2{ m Mo}_{10}{ m O}_{40}$	$H_5PV_2Mo_{10}O_{40}$ and $[ZnWMn_2^{11}(ZnW_9-O_{34})_2]^{12-}$ —PEO/PPO	cattollic SIO ₂ Na ₄ PTIW ₁₁ O ₃₉	$\mathrm{H_6PV_3Mo_9O_{40}}$

		Table 2	continued			
Catalyst ^b	Substrate	Products	Oxidant	Solvent	Comments	References
${ m H_{5}PV_{2}Mo_{10}O_{40}}{ m H_{5}SiVW_{11}O_{40}}$	CH ₄ and CO	Acetic acid	$\mathrm{K_2S_2O_8}$	CF ₃ COOH	Catalytic system that converts methane and CO to acetic	535
PMo ₁₂ O ₄₀ ³⁻	Alkylarenes	Oxygenated products	Sulfoxides	CICH ₂ CH ₂ CI	A good correlation of heterolytic benzylic C—H bond energies and alkylarene oxidation rates; the formation of 9- phenylfluorene from triphenylmethane and other data imply rate-limiting bydride abstraction by	536
$\begin{array}{c} Cs_{2,5}H_{0,5}PW_{12}O_{40}\\ H_{3}PW_{12}O_{40}\end{array}$	Alkene	H ₂ O and alcohol addition products		H_2O, C_6H_6	POM-sulfoxide complex Biphasic liquid–liquid and solid catalyst–liquid reactions ("water-tolerant"	537
	Esters and oligosugars nitrile + alcohol formalin + henzene	Hydrolysis products N-alkylamide dinhenvlmethane			catalysts)	
H ₃ PW ₁₂ O ₄₀	17-α-hydroxyproges- terone	17-α-Capronate, 3,17-α-dicapronate	N/A^{c}	MeCN, or CH ₂ Cl ₂	POM-acid catalyzed esterification and acetylization of steroids; 40 °C; (AMCO) ₂ 0 was	538
$H_3PM_{12}O_{40}$, where M = Mo or W	Aldehyde	Trioxane	N/A^{c}	Substrate, hexane, or diethyl ether	Cyclotrimerization of aliphatic aldehydes catalyzed by POM orige (75 °C)	539
$\begin{array}{l} H_{m}XW_{12}O_{40}, \text{ where} \\ X = P, Si, Ge, B, \text{ or} \\ Co \end{array}$	Isobutyl propionate	Isobutylene + propionic acid	N/A^{c}		POM acid catalyzed reactions; PTS, ^b 128°C, N ₂ for esterification	540
${ m H_6P_2W_{18}O_{62}}$	Isobutyl propionate, MeCOOH isobutyl propionate, <i>n</i> -propyl alcohol Propionic acid	Isobutyl acetate + propionic acid propyl propionate + isobutyl alcohol Isobutyl propionate		Isobutyl alcohol		

541	12,543	aseous thioether ms of [T =
Direct correlation of POM acidity with other catalytic activity	POM-acid catalyzed 54 epimerization of <i>d</i> -mannose to <i>d</i> -glucose; binding and rate constants given	rvolving standard heterogeneous catalytic oxidation (gr r = hexadecylpyridinium; EtOAc = ethyl acetate; HD = c(HPDA and H ₂ PDA are mono- and diprotonated for um; TEMPO = 2,2,6,6-tetramethylpiperidine-1-oxy; THN/A = not applicable.
	MeCN-H ₂ O mixtures	n chemistry. No reactions i acid; Bu'H = t-butanol; Cp; ide; PDA = propanediamin THA = tetra-tr-hexylammon tal-substituted POM.
$\mathbf{N}/\mathbf{A}^{\mathrm{c}}$	$\mathbf{N}/\mathbf{A}^{c}$	rrthy POM immobilization propanol; AcOH = acetic : HPI = <i>N</i> -hydroxyphthalimi letta- <i>n</i> -butylammonum; T = <i>d</i> -electron-transition-me
	D-glucose	hese involve unusual or notewo are included. ^b 2-PrOH = 2-1 K = methyl isobutyl ketone; NF <i>p</i> -toluenesulfonic acid; TBA = 1 tetramethylammonium; TMSP
isobutyl propionate	D-mannose, D-xylone, D-lyxose	eneous catalysts are included. T d catalyst at high temperature) IBP =isobutyl propionate; MIB A = phase transfer agent; PTS = .hydrothiophene oxide; TMA =
$H_m X W_{12} O_{40}$, where $X = P$, Si, Ge, B, Fe, or Co	(NH4) ₆ Mo ₇ O ₂₄	^a A few reports involving heterog reactants and/or products over soli mustard; IBA = isobutryaldehyde; J PDA); PhIO = iodosylbenzene, PT ¹ tetrahydrothiophene; THTO = tetra

		Table 3 Photocatal	ytic and photoassisted re-	actions of POMs. ^a		
Catalyst ^b	Substrate	Products	$Oxidant^{c}$	Solvent	Comments	References
H4SiW ₁₂ O ₄₀	Methanol	Organic oxidation products + H ₂	Protons from medium	H_2O	Initial report of POM- photocatalyzed dehydro- genation of an organic substrate (H ₂ evolution)	374
TBA4W10O32	TDA counterion	1-Butene, butyraldehyde (after addition of H ₂ O)	Protons from medium (RuO ₂ , IrO ₂ and Pt ⁰ used as H ₂ evolution catalysts)	MeCN MeCN-H ₂ O, MeCN-alcohols	Initial time-resolved flash photolysis study of $W_{10}O_{32}^{4-}$ (microsecond time frame); early spectroscopic and electrochemical study of the photococo chemicative study of	544
	MeCN	Succinonitrile			and purchased and an and	
$XW_{12}O_{40}^{n-}$, where $X = P$, Si, Fe, Co or H_2	Methanol, ethanol, 1-propanol, 2-propanol,	Aldehydes, ketone	Protons from medium or O_2	H ₂ O	Quantum yields and reaction rates measured; microsecond flash photolvsis data	300
H ₃ PW ₁₂ O ₄₀	Alkanes	Methyl ketones, <i>N</i> -alkylacetamides and alkenes	Protons from medium	MeCN	Initial report of alkane and unactivated C—H bond oxidation by POM excited states; some machanistic information	545
$BW_{12}O_{40}{}^{5-}$	Methanol	Formaldehyde $+$ H ₂	Protons from medium	H ₂ O (pH 2–9) medium	Energetic and chemical properties of reduced	546
$(NMP_2H)_3$ $PW_{12}O_{40}$	NMP ^b	NMP-derived oxidation products	Protons from medium	NMP ^b	Early report of time- resolved photoredox behavior of organic donor-POM acceptor complexes; reduced POM appears to be generated ~90 ps after irradiation	114

	Alkanes Alkanes cvcloaltanes	Tri- and tetra-substituted alkenes Alkenes, <i>N-alk-vlacetamides</i>	Protons from medium Protons from medium	MeCN MeCN with or without acid	Initial report of high- selectivity alkane dehydrogenation by photoexcited POM Yields and quantum yields for nhorooxidation of	547 548
C) CI CALINATI	S	alkylalkane (dimer)		(TFA ^b or HClO ₄) ^b	alkenes as a function of solution conditions	
NMP, TMU or DMEU	Ĵ,	Oxidation including demethylation products derived from substrate	Protons from medium	NMP, TMU, DMEU or MeCN	Organic substrate donor- POM acceptor complexes; irradiation of EDA band shows at least two distinct species formed in <80 ps	80
Alkenes		Primarily dimers from coupling of allylic radicals	Protons from medium (RuO ₂ and Pt ⁰ used as H ₂ evolution catalysts)	MeCN	Early report of time- resolved flash photolysis data on $W_{10}O_{32}^{4-}$ (transient absorbance on nanosecond time scale); $HW_{10}O_{32}^{4-}$ dispropor- tionates to $H_2W_{10}O_{32}^{4-}$ and $W_{10}O_{32}^{4-}$; NMR data on electron-hopping rates in reduced POM	549
Cyclooctane 2-butanol Cyclooctt 2-butanol	ine,	Cyclooctene, 2-butanone Cyclooctene, dimer 2-butanone	Protons from medium	MeCN	Photocatalytic transforma- tion of unactivated C—H bonds by POMs varies greatly with the POM and its post-irradiation thermal chemistry; comparative vs. competitive kinetics indicate alcohol-POM precomplexation	550

		T	able 3 continued			
Catalyst ^b	Substrate	Products	0xidant ^c	Solvent	Comments	References
$TBA_4W_{10}O_{32}$ H_3PW_{12}O_{40}	Cyclooctane Cis-2-decalone	Cyclooctene, cyclooctarl (dimer) <i>Trans-2</i> -decalone	Protons from medium	MeCN	Unconventional intermole- cular selectivities (alkane more reactive than alcohol in some solutions), and intramolecular selectivities (selective epimerization of a saturated unactivated C—H bond in a ketone, 2-decalone)	45
Na4W10O32, TBA4W10O32	Caged hydrocar- bon derivatives	Acylated hydrocarbons	Protons from medium; Pt ⁰ facilitates POM re-oxidation	MeCN	Demonstration that alkyl radical from POM- catalyzed photooxidation of alkenes could be reduced <i>in situ</i> to	551
W ₁₀ O ₃₂ ⁴⁻	Cyclohexene	3,3'-Dicyclohexene	Protons from medium	Organic solvents	Theoretical study of allylic H abstraction by photo- excited W ₁₀ O ₃₂ ⁴⁻ and dimerization of resulting radicals; substrate oxidation is atom transfer, not electron	552
$\begin{array}{c} {\rm TBA_4W_{10}O_{32},} \\ {\rm Na_4W_{10}O_{32},} \\ \alpha {\rm -H_3PW_{12}O_{40}} \end{array}$	Alkanes	Alkenes and other organic oxidation products	Protons from medium	MeCN	Protonation of the reactant (oxidized) and product (reduced) forms of the POM takes place in the presence of strong acids; solvent-induced pertur- bations of the POM complex do not affect the photoredox chemistry as much as protonation- induced ones	553

554	555	556	557
Photocatalytic transforma- tion of unactivated C—H bonds by POMs varies greatly with the POM and its post-irradiation	thermal chemistry Four types of experiments are consistent with radical abstraction (hydrogen atom transfer) as the usual rate-limiting process between POM and alkane	Effective trapping of intermediate alkyl radicals by ethylene or acetylene affords the respective products in	high selectivity Upon irradiation of $V_4O_{12}^{4-}$, CO_3^{2-} in medium becomes incorporated into $V_{15}O_{36}$ -type POM
MeCN	MeCN	MeCN	H ₂ O, MeOH
Protons from medium	Protons from medium	Protons from medium	Protons from medium
Octalones, trans-decalin	Usual products of these substrates (not focus of article)	Ethylated and vinylated alkanes	α-Hydroxy radicals
Cis-2-decalone, cis-decalin	Cyclohexane, cyclohexanol	Alkanes	Alcohols
${ W_{10} O_{32} }^{4-}, \ { \alpha - P_2 W_{18} O_{62} }^{6-}, \ { \alpha - P W_{12} O_{40} }^{5-},$	TBA ₄ W ₁₀ O ₃₂ TBA ₃ PW ₁₂ O ₄₀ TBA ₅ P ₂ W ₁₈ O ₆₂ TBA ₃ PM0 ₁₂ O ₄₀ TBA ₃ H ₅ V ₁₀ O ₂₆ TBA ₄ M0 ₈ O ₅₆ TBA ₃ H ₅ V ₁₀ O ₂₈ TBA ₃ W ₆ O ₁₉	TBA ₂ Mo ₀ O ₁₉ TBA ₄ W ₁₀ O ₃₂ TBA ₃ PW ₁₂ O ₄₀	V4O ₁₂ ⁴⁻

			Table 3 continued			
Catalyst ^b	Substrate	Products	$Oxidant^{c}$	Solvent	Comments	References
${\rm TBA_4W_{10}O_{32}} \\ {\rm TBA_3PW_{12}O_{40}} \\$	Alkanes	Aldehydes	Protons from medium	MeCN	Effective trapping of intermediate alkyl radicals by CO affords aldehydes in high selectivity	558
$TBA_4W_{10}O_{32}$ Na $_4W_{10}O_{32}$	MeCN 2-butanol, cyclohexene	Oxidized products	Protons from medium	MeCN	Initial necessary of $W_{10}O_{32}^{-1}$; transients of <30 ps and many	559
$W_{10}O_{32}^{4-}$	Alkanes	Usual products	Protons from medium or O ₂	MeCN	Photoexcited $W_{10}O_{32}^{4-}$ transients of <30 ps and ~ 55 ns	560
$TBA_4W_{10}O_{32}$	Propan-2-ol, adamantane	Acetone, H ₂ O ₂ , hydroperoxides	02	MeCN	Laser flash photolysis, pulse radiolysis and continuous photolysis information on W ₁₀ O ₃₂ ⁴⁻	561
TBA ₄ W ₁₀ O ₃₂	MeCN Toluene Ethylbenzene Diphenylme- thane Cyclopentane <i>i</i> -Butylbenzene Diethyl ether Tetrahydrofuran <i>p</i> -Cresol Methanol and others	Cyanomethyl Benzyl I-Phenylethyl Diphenylethyl Cyclopentyl Neophyl I-Ethoxyethyl 2-Tetrahydrofuryl Hydroxybenzyl Hydroxymethyl	Protons from medium	MeCN	Use of CW-EPR spectroscopy and time- resolved laser flash photolysis in the microsecond time range to show high yields of cross- disproportionation products result from the persistency of the $H^+W_{10}O_{32}^{5-}$ intermediate	562
TBA4W ₁₀ O ₃₂ Na4W ₁₀ O ₃₂	Aromatic amines, thianthrene, thiocyanate, alkenes		Protons from medium	MeCN	First three substrates quench photoexcited $W_{10}O_{32}^{4-}$ by diffusion-controlled electron transfer and last three quench by slower $(10^7-10^8 M^{-1} s^{-1})$ atom transfer	563

564	378	565	373	375
Irradiation of $W_{10}O_{32}^{4-}$ or $PW_{12}O_{40}^{3-}$, alkanes, and methyl cyanoformate in MeCN solution produces either the corresponding nitriles or α -iminoesters with high selectivity, depending on the temperature, via a mechanism involving two roles for the	polyoxotungstate Initial report on sub- picosecond flash photolysis characterization of POM photoredox chemistry (nanoseconds); clarifica- fentoseconds); clarifica-	Further characterization of the photoredox dynamics of $W_{10}O_{32}^{4-}$ on the ns	Initial report of O ₂ oxidation of organic compounds photocata- hyzed by a DOM	Paper showing diversity of POM-based photocatalysis with respect to organic substrate and POM
MeCN	M€CN, H₂O		H ₂ O	Various
Protons from medium			O ₂	O ₂ or protons from medium
Nitriles and α -iminoesters	Usual products		Acetone	Oxidized products
Alkane	MeCN		2-propanol	Alcohols, ethers, amides, alde- hydes, carboxyl- ic acids, ketones, nitriles
$W_{12}O_{40}^{3}, PW_{12}O_{40}^{3}$	W ₁₀ O ₃₂ ⁴⁻	$Na_4W_{10}O_{32}$	$PW_{12}O_{40}{}^{3-}$	$\begin{array}{c} Nb_{6}O_{19}^{8-} \\ Ta_{6}O_{19}^{8-}, \\ V_{10}O_{28}^{16-}, \\ PW_{12}O_{40}^{3-} \end{array}$

			Table 3 continued			
Catalyst ^b	Substrate	Products	0 xidant ^c	Solvent	Comments	References
TBA ₄ W ₁₀ O ₃₂	Isopropyl alcohol	Acetone	02	MeCN	The catalytic cycle and photochemistry of W ₁₀ O ₃₂ ⁴⁻ and Keggin heteropolytungstates are	566
$\begin{array}{c} H_{3}PW_{12}O_{40},\\ K_{4}W_{10}O_{32},\\ TBA_{3}PW_{12}O_{40},\\ TBA_{3}W_{12}O_{40},\\ \end{array}$	Secondary alcohols	Ketones	O ₂	H ₂ O, MeCN	Effect of counterions on the redox cycle is examined	567
PW ₁₂ O ₄₀ WO ₂ (OR) ₂ FeW ₁₂ O ₄₀ CoW ₁₂ O ₄₀ CoW ₁₂ O ₄₀ (NH4) ₆ P ₂ W ₁₈ O ₆₂ (NH4) ₁₄ [NaP ₅ W ₃₀ O ₁₁₀] TBA ₄ H ₃ SiV ₃	Methanol 1-propanol 2-butanol cyclobutanol <i>t</i> -butanol <i>t</i> -butanol <i>t</i> -butanol <i>t</i> -butanol <i>t</i> -butanol <i>t</i> -butanol <i>t</i> -butanol <i>t</i> -butanol	Formaldehyde 1-propanal 2-butanone cyclobutanone acetone, formaldehyde benzophenone benzaldehyde, benzyl alcohol	02	H2O, MeCN, DMF	An early paper comparing the photocatalytic properties of POMs and semiconductor metal oxides; photooxidation of alcohols involves preassociation with the POM	301
$TBA_4W_{10}O_{32}$	benzyl methyl ether diphenyl methane Isobutane	methyl benzoate benzophenone TBHP, cyclohexane, cyclohexene, ethyl- benzene	O ₂	MeCN	Demonstration that POMs can be catalytic initiators of radical-chain autoxidation processes in	568
$\begin{array}{c} H_{3}PW_{12}O_{40},\\ (Bu_{4}N)_{3}\\PW_{12}O_{40}\end{array}$	<i>p</i> -Xylene	<i>p</i> -Tolualdehyde, <i>p</i> -toluic acid (aerobic condi- tions),1,2-di- <i>p</i> - tolylethane (anaerobic conditions)	O ₂ or protons from medium	MeCN	the presence of light PtO ₂ used as hydrogen evolution co-catalyst	569

570	571	572	394	573	574	381
Characterization of photochemical and subsequent thermal processes leading to various alkene products; selectivity for products systematically controlled	Redox catalysis involving substrate photooxidation (by POM) with catalyst regeneration by substrate reduction	Allylic products in good yield; TBA ₃ VW ₅ O ₁₉ and TBA ₂ W ₆ O ₁₉ reported to be photocatalytically inactive	Early paper on use of POMs as catalysts for photodegradation of organic compounds; comparison of metal oxides and POMs as photocatalysts	Rate study of reaction of reduced POMs in aqueous solution with O_2 and H_2O_2	Successful application of POM photochemistry to the synthesis of a natural product; workup involves chlorochromate	Emission of W ₁₀ O ₃₂ ^{4–} measured; mechanistic information (kinetics and product studies) given
MeCN	MeCN	MeCN	MeCN	H_2O	MeCN	MeCN, H ₂ O
O ₂ , Ar	O ₂ or protons from medium	O2	O ₂ or protons from medium	O ₂ , H ₂ O ₂	02	0 ₂ , Ar
Thermodynamic (most substituted) and nonthermody- namic (least substituted) alkenes	Sulfoxides, sulfones hydrocarbon, dimer	Carbonyl derivatives, carboxylic acid and other minor products	Range of oxidized and other degradation products	Oxidized products (not focus of study)	5- and 6-keto derivatives of 1,8-cineole	Cyclooctene, 2,3-dihydrofuran, tributyl amine, bicyclooctyl, and other products
Alkanes	Thioethers	Alkylbenzenes	Thiother	Organic compounds	1,8-Cineole	Cyclooctane, tetrahydrofuran
$\begin{array}{l} TBA_4W_{10}O_{32},\\ \alpha-TBA_3P-\\ W_{12}O_{40},\\ \alpha-H_3PW_{12}O_{40},\\ \alpha-H_3PW_{12}O_{40},\\ TBA_2W_6O_{19},\\ \alpha-(NH_4)_6P_2-\\ W_{18}O_{62},\\ W_{18}O_{62},\\ \end{array}$	$W_{10}O_{32}^{402}$	W ₁₀ O ₃₂ ⁴⁻	$\begin{array}{c} W_{10}O_{32}^{2-4},\\ PW_{12}O_{40}^{3-3},\\ Cu^{11}PW_{11}O_{32}^{3-3},\\ P_2W_{18}O_{62}^{6-6}, \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} P_2 W_{18} O_{62}^{6-} \\ Si W_{12} O_{40}^{6-} \\ H_2 W_{12} O_{40}^{6-} \end{array}$	$TBA_4W_{10}O_{32}$	$W_{10}O_{32}^{4-} + Pt^{0}$

Catalyst ^b	Substrate	Products	$Oxidant^{c}$	Solvent	Comments	References
$TBA_4W_{10}O_{32}$	Cyclohexylamine	44% C_6H_{10} =NOH, 18% C_6H_{10} =O, 22% $C_6H_{11}NO_2$, ~1% C_6H_{10} = NC $_6H_{11}$, 14% C_2H_{11} ,NHOH	O ₂	M¢CN	Aminium cation radical and HO radical intermediates detected by EPR	575
W- and Mo- containing POMs with cations containing petro- leum sulfide fragments: C _{30.7H78} ,60 ₄₆ - PS ₃ W ₁₂ - C _{30.7H78} ,60 ₄₆ - PS ₃ W ₁₂ - S ₃ W ₁₂ - S ₃ W ₁₂ - S ₃ W ₁₂ - S ₃ W ₁₂ -	Adamantane	Adamantan-1-ol, adamantan-2-ol	H ₂ O ₂	CICH ₂ CH ₂ CI	New sulfonium salts of POMs catalyze the photooxidation of adamantanes by H ₂ O ₂ ; neither POMs nor oxidation mechanisms significantly characterized	576
$W_{10}^{4,1}$ W $_{10}^{2,1}$ W $_{10}^{2,0}$ $_{22}^{4,}$ PW $_{12}^{2,0}$ $_{40}^{4,}$ SiW $_{12}^{2,0}$ $_{40}^{4,}$	Chlorophenols	CO ₂ , CI ⁻	O ₂	H ₂ O	Some mineralization in the absence of O ₂ ; efficiency of photocatalytic degradation comparable to TiO.	577
${f W_{10}O_{32}^{2-4-}}, {f PW_{12}O_{40}}, {f S_{3-}^{3-}}, {f SiW_{12}O_{40}}, {f d_{4-}^{4-}}$	Phenol, <i>p</i> -cresol	CO ₂ , hydroxylation products, dimeri- zation products	O_2	H_2O	Complete mineralization achieved	578
TBA,9P2W15- Nb3O62 TBA6P2W18O62 TBA9H19P4W32- Ti6O132	Cyclohexanol 1-Hexanol 2-Hexanol Cyclohexanol	Cyclohexanone Hexanal 2-Hexanone Cyclohexanone	O2	MeCN	Pseudo-first-order rate constants for these processes were compared; no POM significantly more active than the others	579

580	581,582	583	584	585	586	587	588
These POMs are at least as effective as TiO ₂ as catalysts for photodegradation of these organics; the <i>d</i> -electron metals Cu ^{II} and Mn ^{II} reduce the effectiveness	Kinetics suggest complex formation between POM	Complex homogeneous reactions; some organic intermediates detected; OH rediciols infermed	Conventional radical mechanism involving ROOH intermediates	Nucleosed Nitrile solvents and the organic counterions compete with alkane for POM excited state	POM-Fe ^{III} porphyrin complexes photooxidize alkanes with higher selectivity for alcohols (vs. POMs only); Fe ^{II} porphyrin intermediates	Colloids of solid POM and TiO ₂ compared	Hydroxylated products, EPR spin trapping experiments and potential of POM excited state lead to proposal of HO radical intermediates
H_2O	H_2O	H_2O	MeCN-H ₂ O (98:2 v/v)	MeCN-H ₂ O	MeCN/2-propanol, CH2Cl2/MeCN	$\rm H_2O$	H_2O
O ₂	02	02	02	02	O ₂	O_2	O ₂ , Ar
CO ₂ , H ₂ O, CI ⁻	Hydroquinone	CO ₂ , HCl	Adamantan-1-ol, adamantan-2-ol, adamantanone	Adamantan-1-ol, adamantan-2-ol, adamantanone	Cyclohexanol, cyclohexanone	<i>N</i> -methylsuccinimide and succinimide	CO ₂ , H ₂ O
4-Nitrophenol, 2,4-dimethyl- phenol, acetic acid, 1,1,2- trichloroethane	4-Chlorophenol	Chlorophenols	Adamantane	Adamantane	Cyclohexane	<i>N</i> -methylpyrroli- dinone	Propan-2-ol
$\begin{array}{l} K_4 W_{10} O_{32}, \\ H_3 P W_{12} O_{40}, \\ H_4 S W_{12} O_{40}, \\ K_6 H_2 S i Cu^{II} \\ W_{11} O_{40}, \\ K_6 H_2 S i Mn^{II} \\ W_{11} O_{40} \end{array}$	$\mathrm{H_3PW_{12}O_{40}}$	${f W_{10}O_{34}}^{-4-}, {f PW_{12}O_{40}}^{-3-}, {f SiW_{12}O_{40}}^{-3-}, {f SiW_{12}O_{40}}^{-4-}, {f SiW_{12}O_{40}}^{-$	$\begin{array}{l} X^{n+}W_{12}O_{40}^{8-n},\\ \text{where }X=Si,\\ C_{0}^{11},C_{0}^{111}\end{array}$	$Q_4W_{10}O_{32}$, where $Q = TMA$, TPA, TBA, TBA, TBA, TBA, TBA, TBA, TBA, TB	TBA ₃ PW ₁₂ O ₄₀ , TBA ₄ W ₁₀ O ₃₂ , TEA ₄ W ₁₀ O ₃₂	$\mathrm{Cs_3PW}_{12}\mathrm{O}_{40}$	PW ₁₂ O ₄₀ ³⁻

		Ta	ble 3 continued			
Catalyst ^b	Substrate	Products	$Oxidant^{\circ}$	Solvent	Comments	References
Na4W10O32	Atrazine, including ¹⁴ C ring-labeled derivative	Primarily dealkylated products	O ₂	H ₂ O+HClO ₄ (pH 2.4)	Like TiO ₂ , Na ₄ W ₁₀ O ₃₂ partially degrades the persistent pesticide atrazine upon irradiation but by a different	589
Na4W10O32	Phenol, 4-chlorophenol, 2,4-dichlorophe- nol, bromoxynil, atrazine, imidachloprid, oxamyl	Oxidative degradation products	õ	H_2O	Photodegradation studied by nanosecond laser flash photolysis; photodegra- dation chemistry different from that of TiO ₂ ; effects of formulation using SDS and Triton X100 on	377
H ₃ PW ₁₂ O ₄₀ - SiO ₂ , H ₄ SiW ₁₂ O ₄₀ - SiO ₂	Hexachlorocyclo- hexane, pentachloronitro- benzene	Ultimately, CO ₂ and HCl	0 ²	H_2O	pnotodegradation noted Complete mineralization of trace quantities of organochlorine pesticides by irradiation of silica-	590
$\begin{array}{l} HNa_{2}PW_{12}O_{40}, \\ H_{4}SiW_{12}O_{40}, \\ H_{3}PMo_{12}O_{40} \end{array}$	1,2-Dichloro- benzene	Oxidized products	O_2		Effect of scavengers Br^- , 2-propanol, acetone and acetone- d_6 studied;	591
PW ₁₂ O ₄₀ ³⁻ TiO ₂ , SiW ₁₂ O ₄₀ ⁴⁻ TiO ₂ , 4TiO.	1,2-Dichloroben- zene	Chlorophenols	O ₂	H_2O	Additions of POMs to TiO ₂ suspensions significantly increased photooxidation of substrate	592
$PW_{12}O_{40}^{32}$ -1102 $PW_{12}O_{40}^{3-}$, $SiW_{12}O_{40}^{4-}$	Atrazine (CIET) ^b	Cyanuric acid, NO ₃ ⁻ , Cl ⁻ , H ₂ O	02	H_2O	Intermediates: OIET, CIAT, CAET, OAAT, OOAT ^b	593

$XW_{11}O_{39}$ units bound to silica, where X = Si, Ge or P (POM-silica	Formic acid	$CO_2 + H_2O$	O2	H ₂ O	Focus of article is material preparation and characterization (spin-coated co-gels from POM + TEOS ^b)	594
Na ₆ W ₇ O ₂₄ -SiO ₂ H ₄ W ₁₀ O ₃₂ -SiO ₂ H ₃ PW ₁₂ O ₄₀ - SiO ₂ H ₆ P ₂ W ₁₈ O ₆₂ - SiO ₂ SiO ₂	Aqueous 4-chlorophenol	Hydroquinone, <i>p</i> -benzoquinone; ultimately CO ₂ , CI ⁻	O ₂	H ₂ O	POM-silicates made by hydrolysis of solutions of TEOS and POM; hydroquinone and <i>p</i> -barcoquinone inter-	595
H ₂ ND2 H ₂ NaPW ₁₂ O ₄₀ , H ₄ SiW ₁₂ O ₄₀ , H ₃ PM0 ₁₂ O ₄₀	1,2-Dichloro- benzene	2,3-Dichlorophenol, $3,4$ -dichlorophenol, in $<5\%$ yields	O ₂	H ₂ O	Keggin POMs supported on NaY zeolite; photooxidation rates higher for supported POMs than POMs alone	596
${f H_{3}PW_{12}O_{40}-SiO_2,\ H_4SiW_{12}O_{40}-SiO_2,\ SiO_2,\ Na_4W_{10}O_{32}-Na_4W_{10}O_{32}-SiO_3-SiO_3}$	Hydroxy butanedioic acid (malic acid, MA)	CO ₂ , H ₂ O	O ₂	H ₂ O	Oxalic acid, glyceric acid, tartaric acid, butenedioic acid, acetic acid, and formic acid intermediates were detected	597
Alkylammonium polymolybdates	Usually counterion	Reduced POM	Anaerobic reactions	H ₂ O	Series of early papers on the EPR and other spectroscopic properties of photoexcited alkylammonium poly- molvbdates	371,372
H ₃ PW ₁₂ O ₄₀ Na ₄ W ₁₀ O ₃₂ TBA ₄ W ₁₀ O ₃₂	2-Propanol or DMF (reductant) and CCl ₄ (oxidant)	Acetone, N-methylformamide, CHCl ₃ and C ₂ Cl ₆	See "comments"	Alcohol or DMF	Photoexcited POM oxidizes alcohol or DMF and resulting reduced POM reductively dehalogenates CCI4 (i.e., POM catalyzes reductive dehalogenation	598
W ₁₀ O ₃₂ ⁴⁻	Nitroxyl radical	Nitrosonium salt		MeCN	Photoinduced electron transfer followed by EPR	599

Catalyst ^b	Substrate	Products	$Oxidant^{c}$	Solvent	Comments	References
${W_{10}O_{32}}^{4-}$ ${PW_{12}O_{40}}^{3-}$	Secondary alcohols or tertiary amides (reductant) and aliphatic or aromatic halo- carbon (oxi-	Oxidized alcohol products (alde- hydes, ketones, etc.) and dehalogenated hydrocarbons + HCl	See "comments"; most reactions run under anaerobic conditions, some under aerobic conditions	MeCN or 100% substrate reduc- tant (alcohol or DMF)	Three modes for catalytic dehalogenation of halocarbons established, one thermal and two photocatalytic; mechan- istically complicated chemistry	600
(TMU ₂ H) ₃ PMo ₁₂ 0 ₄₀	TMU ^b	TMU-derived oxida- tion products	Reduced POM not re-oxidized	TMU ^b	Initial report of organic substrate donor-POM acceptor photoredox-	79
$(DMA_2H)_3$ $PMo_{12}O_{40}$	DMA ^b	DMA-derived oxida- tion products	Reduced POM not re-oxidized	DMA ^b	active complex The second report of organic substrate donor- POM acceptor photoredox-active com-	78
W- and Mo- containing POMs with cations containing petroleum sulfide fragments: C _{30.7} H _{78.6} Mo ₁₂ - O ₄₆ PS ₃ , C _{30.7} H _{78.6} O ₄₆ - PS ₃ W ₁₂ . C _{50.6} H _{116.8} O ₄₀ - S ₄ W ₁₀	Adamantane	Adamantan-1-ol, adamantan-2-ol	H ₂ O ₂	CICH ₂ CH ₂ CI	piex New sulfonium salts of POMs catalyze the photooxidation of adamantanes by H ₂ O ₂ ; neither POMs nor oxidation mechanisms significantly characterized	576
- - - -			27 W L 7 27 V L L L			

^a Reports involving supported POM catalysts are included. The type of immobilization is addressed in the "catalyst" or "comments" columns. ^b CAET = 2-chloro-4-amino-6-(ethylamino)-s-triazine; CIAT = ²-chloro-4-(isopropylamino)-6-(ethylamino)-5-(ethylamino

Table 3 continued

involving the oxidation of an organic or inorganic substrate and reduction of a POM oxidant take place thermally, as we have seen in the preceding sections. Upon absorption of light by a POM (irradiation of the oxygen-to- d^0 -metal charge transfer transition), however, a great many more substrate oxidation–POM reduction processes (photoredox processes) become both thermodynamically and kinetically favorable. The absorption of light adds the energy intrinsic in the wavelength of light to the ground state potential of the POM, and most photoexcited POMs are sufficiently reactive to oxidize even conventionally inert compounds such as alkanes at room temperature.

The partitioning of the POM excited state between productive processes (photoredox reactions involving substrate) and nonproductive processes (radiationless decay including internal conversion, bimolecular quenching, or emission) depends on the structure and elemental composition of the POM, and to a lesser extent other parameters. The quantum yields for the photoredox processes of POMs in solution can be quite high (well over 50%). The presence of *d*-electron containing metal centers lowers the quantum yields for substrate oxidation by quenching the excited states.

The photoredox process generally proceeds by atom transfer from the substrate to the photoexcited POM for organic molecules with relatively high ionization potentials and C—H bonds. This is basically a hydrogen atom abstraction process (or proton coupled electron transfer). This mechanism is definitely operable for alkane oxidation by photoexcited POMs. In contrast, electron transfer from the substrate to the photoexcited POM appears to be the dominant mechanism for the oxidation of electron rich aromatics and other organic substrates with low ionization potentials and strong C—H bonds. One caveat: some substrates that are easily oxidized by electron transfer likely quench POM excited states by back electron transfer (i.e., the reduced ground-state POM resulting from substrate photooxidation transfers its electron back to the substrate cation radical).

Much of our quantitative knowledge of POM excited states is based on time-resolved photolysis studies of decatungstate, $W_{10}O_{32}^{4-}$. The groups of Yamase, Duncan, and Hill; Duncan and Fox; Tanielian; and Giannotti (roughly in chronological order of initial research activity) using increasingly rapid (microsecond to femptosecond) laser systems, have all contributed to our understanding in this area. The nature of POM excited states, their partitioning between different pathways, their perturbation by solvent and counterions, and their mechanisms of substrate oxidation are also now fairly clear. The same is true for the rich thermal chemistry in substrate-POM systems following photooxidation of the substrate. The publications summarized and footnoted in Table 3 address all the above issues.

The view that POMs might represent molecular versions of semiconductor metal oxide particles has been addressed repeatedly by several groups.^{301,389,394} While POMs and colloidal semiconductor metal oxide particles have some features in common, some features of the both the excited states and the reduced ground states resulting from photoredox chemistry of the two types of clusters are clearly distinct.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The author wishes to thank Jane P. Gonzales, Ira A. Weinstock, Travis M. Anderson, and Michelle D. Ritorto for manuscript preparation or comments.

4.11.5 **REFERENCES**

- 1. Pope, M. T. Heteropoly and Isopoly Oxometalates 1983, Springer-Verlag: Berlin.
- 2. Day, V. W.; Klemperer, W. G. Science 1985, 228, 533-541.
- Pope, M. T. Isopolyanions and Heteropolyanions. In *Comprehensive Coordination Chemistry*; Wilkinson, G.; Gillard, R. D., McCleverty, J. A., Eds.; Pergamon Press: Oxford, 1987; Chapter 38.
- 4. Pope, M. T.; Müller, A., Eds. *Polyoxometalates: from Platonic Solids to Anti-retroviral Activity* **1993**, Kluwer Academic Publishers: Dordrecht.
- Pope, M. T. Molybdenum Oxygen Chemistry: Oxides, Oxo Complexes, and Polyoxoanions; In Prog. Inorg. Chem.; Lippard, S. J., Ed.; Wiley: New York, 1991pp 181–257.
- 6. Chae, H. K.; Klemperer, W. G.; Marquart, T. A. Progress in Inorganic Chemistry. In Coord. Chem. Rev. 1993, 128, 209-224.
- 7. Pope, M. T.; Müller, A. Mol. Eng. 1993, 3, 1-8.
- 8. Khan, M. I.; Zubieta, J. Prog. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 43, 1-149.
- 9. Hill, C. L. Chem. Rev. 1998, 98, 1-389.

- 10. Pope, M. T.; Müller, A., Eds. Polyoxometalate Chemistry from Topology via Self-Assembly to Applications 2001, Kluwer Academic Publishers: Dordrecht.
- 11. Yamase, T.; Pope, M. T., Eds. Polyoxometalate Chemistry for Nano-composite Design 2002.
- 12. Coronado, E.; Kazansky, L.; Müller, A.; Pope, M. T., Eds. Polyoxometalate Molecular Science; Kluwer Academic Publishers, Plenum Publishers, New York: Dordrecht.
- 13. Contant, R.; Hervé, G. Rev. Inorg. Chem. 2002, 22, 63-111.
- 14. Bhattacharyya, R.; Chakrabarty, P. K.; Ghosh, P. N.; Mukherjee, A. K.; Podder, D.; Mukherjee, M. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 3948-3955.
- 15. Cadot, E.; Bereau, V.; Secheresse, F. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1995, 239, 39-42.
- 16. Salignac, B.; Riedel, S.; Dolbecq, A.; Secheresse, F.; Cadot, E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 10381–10389.
- 17. Cadot, E.; Marrot, J.; Secheresse, F. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 2001, 40, 774-777.
- 18. Dolbecq, A.; du Peloux, C.; Auberty, A.-L.; Mason, S. A.; Barboux, P.; Marrot, J.; Cadot, E.; Secheresse, F. Chem. Eur. J. 2002, 8, 349-356.
- 19. Chen, Q.; Zubieta, J. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1992, 114, 107-167.
- 20. Gouzerh, P.; Proust, A. Chem. Rev. 1998, 98, 77-112.
- 21. Salles, L.; Aubry, C.; Robert, F.; Chottard, G.; Thouvenot, R.; Ledon, H.; Brégeault, J.-M. New J. Chem. 1993, 17, 367-375.
- 22. Salles, L.; Aubry, C.; Thouvenot, R.; Robert, F.; Dorémieux-Morin, C.; Chottard, G.; Ledon, H.; Jeannin, Y.; Brégeault, J.-M. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 871-878.
- 23. Bailey, A. J.; Griffith, W. P.; Parkin, B. C. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1995, 1833-1837.
- 24. Duncan, D. C.; Chambers, R. C.; Hecht, E.; Hill, C. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 681-691.
- 25. Schmidt, H.; Andersson, I.; Rehder, D.; Pettersson, L. J. Inorg. Biochem. 2000, 80, 149-151.
- 26. Schmidt, H.; Andersson, I.; Rehder, D.; Pettersson, L. Chem. Eur. J. 2001, 7, 251-257.
- 27. Deery, M. J.; Howarth, O. W.; Jennings, K. R. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1997, 4783-4788.
- 28. Neumann, R.; Dahan, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 11969-11976.
- 29. Dickman, M. H.; Pope, M. T. Chem. Rev. 1994, 94, 569-584.
- 30. Choi, H.; Kwon, Y.-U.; Han, O. H. Chem. Mater. 1999, 11, 1641-1643.
- 31. Son, J.-H.; Choi, H.; Kwon, Y.-U. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 7432-7433.
- 32. Allouche, L.; Gerardin, C.; Loiseau, T.; Ferey, G.; Taulelle, F. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 2000, 39, 511–514. 33. Son, J.-H.; Kwon, Y.-U. Bull. Korean Chem. Soc. 2001, 22, 1224–1230.
- 34. Sanchez, C.; Soler-Illia, G. J. d.A. A.; Ribot, F.; Lalot, T.; Mayer, C. R.; Cabuil, V. Chem. Mater. 2001, 13, 3061-3083.
- 35. Clemente-Leon, M.; Coronado, E.; Delhaes, P.; Gomez-Garcia, C. J.; Mingotaud, C. Adv. Mater. 2001, 13, 574-577.
- 36. Clemente-Leon, M.; Coronado, E.; Galan-Mascaros, J. R.; Gimenez-Saiz, C.; Gomez-Garcoa, C. J.; Martinez-Ferrero, E. Synth. Met. 2001, 120, 733-734.
- 37. Cheng, S.; Fernandez-Otero, T.; Coronado, E.; Gomez-Garcia, C. J.; Martinez-Ferrero, E.; Gimenez-Saiz, C. J. Phys. Chem. B 2002, 106, 7585-7591.
- 38. Klemperer, W. G.; Wall, C. G. Chem. Rev. 1998, 98, 297-306.
- Kozik, M.; Hammer, C. F.; Baker, L. C. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108, 7627–7630.
 Kozik, M.; Hammer, C. F.; Baker, L. C. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108, 2748–2749.
 Kozik, M.; Baker, L. C. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 3159–3160.
 Kozik, M.; Baker, L. C. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 7604–7611.

- 43. Borshch, S. A.; Bigot, B. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1993, 212, 398-402.
- 44. Borshch, S. A. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 3116-3118.
- 45. Hill, C. L.; Renneke, R. F.; Combs, L. A. New J. Chem. 1989, 13, 701-706.
- 46. Kozik, M.; Baker, L. C. W. Blue Electron Distributions in Diamagnetic Reduced Heteropolytungstates. Insights Concerning Conduction Pathways and Spin Coupling Patterns. ¹⁸³W NMR Chemical Shift Calculations. In Polyoxometalates: from Platonic Solids to Anti-retroviral Activity; Pope, M. T.; Müller, A., Eds.; Kluwer Academic Publishers: Dordrecht, 1994, pp 191-202.
- 47. Duncan, D. C.; Hill, C. L. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 5828-5835.
- 48. Kazansky, L. P.; McGarvey, B. R. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1999, 188, 157-210.
- 49. Ouahab, L. Solid State Chem. Crystal Chem. 1998, 2, 369-380.
- 50. Coronado, E.; Gómez-García, C. J. Chem. Rev. 1998, 98, 273-296.
- 51. Coronado, E.; Mingotaud, C. Adv. Mater. 1999, 11, 869-872.
- 52. Yamase, T. Chem. Rev. 1998, 98, 307-326.
- 53. Keita, B.; Nadjo, L.; Contant, R. J. Electroanal. Chem. 1998, 443, 168-174.
- 54. Sadakane, M.; Steckhan, E. Chem. Rev. 1998, 98, 219-238.
- 55. Keita, B.; Nadjo, L. Mater. Chem. Phys. 1989, 22, 77-103.
- 56. Bond, A. M.; Way, D. M.; Wedd, A. G.; Compton, R. G.; Booth, J.; Eklund, J. C. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 3378-3384. 57. Pettersson, L. Equilibria of Polyoxometalates in Aqueous Solution. In Topics in Molecular Organization and Engineer-
- ing Polyoxometalates: from Platonic Solids to Anti-retroviral Activity; Pope, M. T.; Müller, A., Eds.; Kluwer Academic Publishers; Dordrecht, 1993, pp 27-40.
- 58. Pettersson, L.; Andersson, I.; Selling, A.; Grate, G. H. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 982-993.
- 59. Selling, A.; Andersson, I.; Pettersson, L.; Schramm, C. M.; Downey, S. L.; Grate, J. H. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 3141-3150.
- 60. Okuhara, T.; Mizuno, N.; Misono, M. Adv. Catal. 1996, 41, 113-252.
- 61. Moffat, J. B. Metal-oxygen Clusters: the Surface and Catalytic Properties of Heteropoly Oxometalates 2001, 9, Kluwer Academic/Plenum Publishers: New York.
- 62. Stein, A.; Melde, B. J.; Schroden, R. C. Adv. Mater. 2000, 12, 1403-1419.
- 63. Barton, T. J.; Bull, L. M.; Klemperer, W. G.; Loy, D. A.; McEnaney, B.; Misono, M.; Monson, P. A.; Pez, G.; Scherer, G. W.; Vartuli, J. C.; Yaghi, O. M. Chem. Mater. 1999, 11, 2633-2656.
- 64. Kulesza, P. J.; Faulkner, L. R.; Chen, J.; Klemperer, W. G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 379-381.
- 65. Ingersoll, D.; Kulesza, P. J.; Faulkner, L. R. J. Electrochem. Soc. 1994, 141, 140-147.

- 66. Misono, M. Catal. Rev.-Sci. Eng. 1987, 29, 269-321.
- 67. Misono, M. Mater. Chem. Phys. 1987, 17, 103-120.
- 68. Misono, M.; Okuhara, T.; Mizuno, N. Stud. Surf. Sci. Catal. 1989, 44, 267-278.
- 69. Misono, M.; Nojiri, N. Appl. Catal. 1990, 64, 1-30.
- 70. Misono, M.; Okuhara, T. ChemTech 1993, 23, 23-29.
- 71. Misono, M. Mol. Eng. 1993, 3, 193-203.
- 72. Mizuno, N.; Misono, M. J. Mol. Catal. 1994, 86, 319-342.
- 73. Mizuno, N.; Misono, M. Chem. Rev. 1998, 98, 199-218.
- 74. Okuhara, T.; Mizuno, N.; Misono, M. Appl. Catal. A 2001, 222, 63-77.
- 75. Moffat, J. B. Metal-oxygen Clusters: the Surface and Catalytic Properties of Heteropoly Oxometalates 2001, 8, Kluwer Academic/Plenum Publishers: New York.
- 76. Steiner, T. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 2002, 41, 48-76.
- 77. Brown, G. M.; Noe-Spirlet, M. R.; Busing, W. R.; Levy, H. A. Acta Cryst. B 1997, B33, 1038-1046.
- 78. Williamson, M. M.; Bouchard, D. A.; Hill, C. L. Inorg. Chem. 1987, 26, 1436-1441.
- 79. Prosser-McCartha, C. M.; Kadkhodayan, M.; Williamson, M. M.; Bouchard, D. A.; Hill, C. L. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Comm. 1986, 1747-1748.
- 80. Hill, C. L.; Bouchard, D. A.; Kadkhodayan, M.; Williamson, M. M.; Schmidt, J. A.; Hilinski, E. F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1988, 110, 5471-5479.
- 81. Hendrickson, J. B.; Cram, D. J.; Hammond, G. S. Chemical Reactivity and Molecular Structure. In Organic Chemistry, 3rd ed.; McGraw-Hill: New York, 1970, pp 304-307.
- 82. Misono, M.; Okuhara, T. Mater. Res. Soc. Symp. Proc. 1995, 368, 215-221.
- 83. Na, K.; Okuhara, T.; Misono, M. J. Chem. Soc., Faraday Trans. 1995, 91, 367-373.
- 84. Day, V. W.; Klemperer, W. G.; Maltbie, D. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 2991-3002.
- 85. Hill, C. L. Activation and Functionalization of Alkanes 1989, Wiley: New York.
- 86. Neumann, R. Prog. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 47, 317-370.
- 87. Neumann, R. Heteropolyanions for Organic Synthesis. In Transition Metals for Organic Synthesis; Weinheim, Germany, 1998; Beller, M., Bolm, C., Eds.; Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH: Weinheim, Germany.
- 88. Tourné, C.; Tourné, G. Bull. Soc. Chim. Fr. 1969, 4, 1124-1136.
- Zonnevijlle, F.; Tourné, C. M.; Tourné, G. F. Inorg. Chem. 1983, 22, 1198–1202.
 Zonnevijlle, F.; Tourné, C. M.; Tourné, G. F. Inorg. Chem. 1982, 21, 2742–2750.
- 91. Cowan, J. J.; Bailey, A. J.; Heintz, R. A.; Do, B. T.; Hardcastle, K. I.; Hill, C. L.; Weinstock, I. A. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 6666-6675.
- 92. Grigoriev, V. A.; Hill, C. L.; Weinstock, I. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 3544-3545.
- 93. Grigoriev, V. A.; Cheng, D.; Hill, C. L.; Weinstock, I. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 5292-5307.
- 94. Maestre, J. M.; Poblet, J. M.; Bo, C.; Casañ-Pastor, N.; Gomez-Romero, P. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 3444-3446.
- Maestre, J. M.; Lopez, X.; Bo, C.; Poblet, J.-M.; Casañ-Pastor, N. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 3749–3758.
 Lopez, X.; Maestre, J. M.; Bo, C.; Poblet, J.-M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 9571–9576.
- 97. Weinstock, I. A.; Cowan, J. J.; Barbuzzi, E. M. G.; Zeng, H.; Hill, C. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 4608-4617.
- 98. Neiwert, W. A.; Cowan, J. J.; Hardcastle, K. I.; Hill, C. L.; Weinstock, I. A. Inorg. Chem. 2002, 41, 6950-6952.
- 99. Sasaki, Y.; Sillen, L. G. Ark. Kemi 1968, 29, 253-277.
- 100. Yagasaki, A.; Anderson, I.; Pettersson, L. Inorg. Chem. 1987, 26, 3926-3933.
- 101. Tytko, K. H.; Baethe, G.; Cruywagen, J. J. Inorg. Chem. 1985, 24, 3132-3136.
- 102. Contant, R.; Ciabrini, J. P. J. Chem. Res. (S) 1977, 222.
- 103. Contant, R. Potassium Octadecatungstodiphosphates(V) and Related Lacunary Compounds. In Inorganic Synthesis; Ginsberg, A. P., Ed.; Wiley: New York, 1990; pp 104-111.
- 104. Knoth, W. H.; Harlow, R. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1981, 103, 1865-1867.
- 105. Contant, R.; Tézé, A. Inorg. Chem. 1985, 24, 4610-4614.
- 106. Canny, J.; Tézé, A.; Thouvenot, R.; Hervé, G. Inorg. Chem. 1986, 25, 2114-2119.
- 107. Fournier, M.; Thouvenot, R.; Rocchiccioli-Deltcheff, C. J. Chem. Soc. Faraday Trans. 1991, 87, 349-356.
- 108. Rocchiccioli-Deltcheff, C.; Thouvenot, R.; Franck, R. Spectrochim. Acta 1976, 32A, 587-597.
- 109. Rocchiccioli-Deltcheff, C.; Thouvenot, R. J. Chem. Res., Synop. 1977, 2, 46-47.
- Rocchiccioli-Deltcheff, C.; Thouvenot, R.; Fouassier, M. Inorg. Chem. 1982, 21, 30–35.
 Rocchiccioli-Deltcheff, C.; Fournier, M.; Franck, R.; Thouvenot, R. Inorg. Chem. 1983, 22, 207–216.
- 112. Thouvenot, R.; Fournier, M.; Franck, R.; Rocchiccioli-Deltcheff, C. Inorg. Chem. 1984, 23, 598-605.
- 113. Rocchiccioli-Deltcheff, C.; Fournier, M.; Franck, R.; Thouvenot, R. J. Mol. Struct. 1984, 114, 49-56.
- 114. Schmidt, J. A.; Hilinski, E. F.; Bouchard, D. A.; Hill, C. L. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1987, 138, 346-351.
- 115. Pohl, M.; Lyon, D. K.; Mizuno, N.; Nomiya, K.; Finke, R. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 1413-1429.
- 116. Nagata, T.; Pohl, B. M.; Weiner, H.; Finke, R. G. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 1366-1377.
- 117. Weiner, H.; Hayashi, Y.; Finke, R. G. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 2579-2591.
- 118. Kirby, J. F.; Baker, L. C. W. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 5537-5543.
- 119. Pope, M. T.; Varga, G. M. Jr. Inorg. Chem. 1966, 5, 1249-1254.
- 120. Altenau, J.; Pope, M. T.; Prados, R. A.; So, H. Inorg. Chem. 1975, 14, 417-421.
- 121. Butler, J. N.; Cogley, D. R. Ionic Equilibrium: Solubility and pH Calculations 1998, Wiley: New York.
- 122. Baker, L. C. W.; McCutcheon, T. P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1956, 78, 4503-4510.
- 123. Souchay, P. Ions Minéraux Condensés 1969, Masson et Cie: Paris.
- 124. Tézé, A.; Souchay, P. C. R. C. R. Acad. Sci. Ser. C 1973, 276, 1525-1528.
- 125. Tourné, C. M.; Tourné, G. F.; Malik, S. A.; Weakley, T. J. R. J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem. 1970, 32, 3875-3890.
- 126. Baker, L. C. W.; Weakley, T. J. R. J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem. 1966, 28, 447-454.
- 127. Tourné, C. M.; Tourné, G. F.; Zonnevijlle, F. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1991, 1, 143-155.
- 128. Liu, J. G.; Ortega, F.; Sethuraman, P.; Katsoulis, D. E.; Costello, C. E.; Pope, M. T. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1992, 1901-1906.
- 129. Woo, H. Y.; So, H.; Pope, M. T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 621-626.
- 130. Leyrie, M.; Thouvenot, R.; Tézé, A.; Hervé, G. New J. Chem. 1992, 16, 475-481.

- 131. Thouvenot, R.; Michelon, M.; Tézé, A.; Hervé, G. Top. Mol. Organ. Eng. 1994, 10, 177-190.
- 132. Fischer, J.; Ricard, L.; Weiss, R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1976, 98, 3050-3052
- 133. Michelon, M.; Hervé, G.; Leyrie, M. J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem. 1980, 42, 1583-1586.
- 134. Liu, J. F.; Liu, S. X.; Qu, L. Y.; Pope, M. T.; Rong, C. Y. *Transition Met. Chem.* **1992**, *17*, 314–316. 135. Liu, J. F.; Liu, S. X.; Qu, L. Y.; Pope, M. T.; Rong, C. Y. *Transition Met. Chem.* **1992**, *17*, 311–313.
- 136. Alizadeh, M. H.; Harmalker, S. P.; Jeannin, Y.; Martin-Frère, J.; Pope, M. T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1985, 107, 2662 - 2669
- 137. Creaser, I.; Heckel, M. C.; Neitz, R. J.; Pope, M. T. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 1573-1578.
- 138. Cibert, C.; Jasmin, C. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 1982, 108, 1424-1433.
- 139. Berry, J. P.; Galle, P. Exp. Mol. Path. 1990, 53, 255-264.
- 140. Kimberlin, R. H.; Walker, C. A. Arch. Virol. 1983, 78, 9-18.
- 141. Ono, K.; Nakane, H.; Matsumoto, T.; Barre-Sinoussi, F.; Chermann, J. C. Nucl. Acids Res. Symp. 1984, 15, 169-172.
- 142. Rosenbaum, W.; Dormont, D.; Spire, B.; Vilmer, E.; Gentilini, M.; Griscelli, C.; Montagnier, L.; Barre-Sinoussi, F.;
- Chermann, J.-C. Lancet 1985, 450-451.
- 143. Moskovitz, B. L. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 1988, 32, 1300-1303.
- 144. Rhule, J. T.; Hill, C. L.; Judd, D. A.; Schinazi, R. F. Chem. Rev. 1998, 98, 327-357.
- 145. Kim, K. C.; Pope, M. T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 8512-8517.
- 146. Cotton, F. A.; Wilkinson, G. Advanced Inorganic Chemistry; 5th ed.; Wiley: New York, 1988.
- 147. Kepert, D. L. The Early Transition Metals 1972, Academic Press: London.
- 148. Baes, J.; Charles, F.; Mesmer, R. E. The Hydrolysis of Cations 1976, Wiley: New York.
- 149. Gamsjaeger, J.; Murmann, R. K. Adv. Inorg. Bioinorg. Mech. 1983, 2, 317-380.
- 150. Roodt, A.; Abou-Hamdan, A.; Engelbrecht, H. P.; Merbach, A. E. Adv. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 49, 59-126.
- 151. Hinch, G. D.; Wycoff, D. E.; Murmann, R. K. Polyhedron 1986, 5, 487-495.
- 152. Filowitz, M.; Ho, R. K. C.; Klemperer, W. G.; Shum, W. Inorg. Chem. 1979, 18, 93-103.
- 153. Kozhevnikov, I. V.; Sinnema, A.; van Bekkum, H.; Fournier, M. Catal. Lett. 1996, 41, 153–157.
- 154. Fedotov, M. A.; Maksimovskaya, R. I.; Begalieva, D. U.; II'yasova, A. K. Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR, Ser. Khim. 1980, 7, 1477-1480.
- 155. Combs-Walker, L. A.; Hill, C. L. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 4016-4026.
- 156. Marchal, C.; Davidson, A.; Thouvenot, R.; Hervé, G. J. Chem. Soc., Faraday Trans. 1993, 89, 3301–3306. 157. Contant, R.; Ciabrini, J. P. J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem. 1981, 43, 1525–1528.
- 158. Casey, W. H.; Ludwig, C. Nature 1996, 381, 506-509.
- 159. Fruchart, J. M.; Souchay, P. C. R. Acad. Sci., Paris, Ser. C 1968, 266, 1571-1574.
- 160. Souchay, P.; Contant, R. C. R. Acad. Sci., Ser. C 1967, 265, 723–726.
 161. Filowitz, M.; Klemperer, W. G.; Messerle, L.; Shum, W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1976, 98, 2345–2346.
- 162. Tézé, A.; Canny, J.; Gurban, L.; Thouvenot, R.; Hervé, G. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 1001-1005.
- 163. Geier, G.; Brubaker, C. H. J. Inorg. Chem. 1966, 5, 321-322.
- 164. Harrison, A. T.; Howarth, O. W. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1985, 1953-1957.
- 165. Klemperer, W. G.; Shum, W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1977, 99, 3544-3545.
- 166. Murmann, R. K.; Giese, K. C. Inorg. Chem. 1978, 17, 1160-1166.
- 167. Howarth, O. W.; Jarrold, M. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1978, 503–506.
 168. Besecker, C. J.; Day, V. W.; Klemperer, W. G.; Thompson, M. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1984, 106, 4125–4136.
 169. Kato, R.; Kobayashi, A.; Sasaki, Y. Inorg. Chem. 1982, 21, 240–246.
- 170. Hou, D.; Hagen, K. S.; Hill, C. L. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Comm. 1993, 426-428.
- 171. Klemperer, W. G.; Shum, W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1976, 98, 8291-8293.
- 172. Day, V. W.; Fredrich, M. F.; Klemperer, W. G.; Shum, W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1977, 99, 952-953.
- 173. Filowitz, M.; Klemperer, W. G. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Comm. 1976, 233-234.
- 174. Klemperer, W. G.; Schwartz, C.; Wright, D. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1985, 107, 6941-6950.
- 175. Kwak, W.; Rajkovic, L. M.; Stalick, J. K.; Pope, M. T.; Quicksall, C. O. Inorg. Chem. 1976, 15, 2778-2783.
- 176. Strandberg, R. Acta Chem. Scand. 1973, 27, 1004-1018.
- 177. Stalick, J. K.; Quicksall, C. O. Inorg. Chem. 1976, 15, 1577-1584.
- 178. Kwak, W.; Rajkovic, L. M.; Pope, M. T.; Quicksall, C. O.; Matsumoto, K. Y.; Sasaki, Y. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1977, 99, 6463-6464.
- 179. Wasfi, S. H.; Kwak, W.; Pope, M. T.; Barkigia, K. M.; Butcher, R. J.; Quicksall, C. O. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1978, 100, 7786-7787.
- 180. Sethuraman, P. R.; Leparulo, M. A.; Pope, M. T.; Zonnevijlle, F.; Brévard, C.; Lemerle, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1981, 103, 7665-7666.
- 181. Pope, M. T.; Quicksall, C. O.; Kwak, W.; Rajkovic, L. M.; Stalick, J. K.; Barkigia, K. M.; Scully, T. F. J. Less-Common Met. 1977, 54, 129-134.
- 182. Howarth, O. W.; Kelly, P. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Comm. 1988, 1236-1238.
- 183. Howarth, O. W.; Kelly, P.; Pettersson, L. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1990, 81-84.
- 184. Andersson, I.; Pettersson, L.; Hastings, J. J.; Howarth, O. W. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1996, 3357-3361.
- 185. Banares, M. A.; Hu, H. C.; Wachs, I. E. J. Catal. 1995, 155, 249-255.
- 186. Carrier, X.; de la Caillerie, J. B. D. E.; Lambert, J. F.; Che, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 3377-3381.
- 187. Lambert, J.-F.; Che, M. J. Mol. Cat A: Chem. 2000, 162, 5-18.
- 188. Comuzzi, C.; Dolcetti, G.; Trovarelli, A.; Cavani, F.; Trifiro, F.; Llorca, J.; Finke, R. G. Catal. Lett. 1996, 36, 75-79.
- 189. Kawafune, I.; Matsubayashi, G. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1996, 69, 359-365.
- 190. Baker, L. C. W.; Figgis, J. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1970, 92, 3794-3797.
- 191. Kepert, D. L. Inorg. Chem. 1969, 8, 1556-1558.
- 192. Pope, M. T. Inorg. Chem. 1976, 15, 2008-2010.
- 193. Tézé, A.; Hervé, G. J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem. 1977, 39, 2151-2154.
- 194. Kircher, C. C.; Crouch, S. R. Anal. Chem. 1983, 55, 242-248.
- 195. Murakami, H.; Kozeki, T.; Suzuki, Y.; Ono, S.; Ohtake, H.; Sarukura, N.; Ishikawa, E.; Yamase, T. Appl. Phys. Lett. 2001, 79, 3564-3566.

- 196. Anderson, T. M.; Hill, C. L. Inorg. Chem. 2002, 41, 4252-4258.
- 197. Klemperer, W. G.; Main, D. J. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 2355-2360.
- 198. Day, V. W.; Klemperer, W. G.; Schwartz, C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 6030-6044.
- 199. Hou, Y.; Hill, C. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 11823-11830.
- 200. Kwak, W.; Pope, M. T.; Scully, T. F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1975, 97, 5735-5738.
- 201. Kwak, W. S.; Pope, M. T.; Sethuraman, P. R. Bis(µ-5-organophosphato-O,O',O")-Penta µ-oxo-pentakis (dioxomolybdates,-tungstates)-(4-)(pentametallobisphosphates). Inorganic Synthesis; Ginsberg, A. P., Ed.; Wiley: New York, 1990; pp 123-135.
- 202. Barkigia, K. M.; Rajkovic-Blazer, L. M.; Pope, M. T.; Quicksall, C. O. Inorg. Chem. 1981, 20, 3318-3323.
- 203. Katsoulis, D. E.; Lambrianidou, A. N.; Pope, M. T. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1980, 46, L55-L57.
- 204. Chen, Q.; Zubieta, J. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1993, 32, 261-263.
- 205. Khan, M. I.; Chen, Q.; Zubieta, J. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1993, 206, 131-133.
- 206. Khan, M. I.; Chen, Q.; Zubieta, J. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1995, 235, 135-145.
- 207. Chang, Y. D.; Salta, J.; Zubieta, J. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1994, 33, 325-327.
- 208. Mayer, C. R.; Thouvenot, R. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1998, 7-13.
- 209. Kim, G. S.; Hagen, K. S.; Hill, C. L. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 5316-5324.
- 210. Mayer, C. R.; Herson, P.; Thouvenot, R. *Inorg. Chem.* **1999**, *38*, 6152–6158. 211. Knoth, W. H. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1979**, *101*, 759–760.
- 212. Knoth, W. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1979, 101, 2211-2213.
- 213. Ho, R. K. C.; Klemperer, W. G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1978, 100, 6772-6774.
- 214. Zonnevijlle, F.; Pope, M. T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1979, 101, 2731-2732.
- 215. J.-M. Basset, E. J. Mol. Cat A: Chem. 2002, 182-183.
- 216. Ammari, N.; Hervé, G.; Thouvenot, R. New J. Chem. 1991, 15, 607-608.
- 217. Xin, F. B.; Pope, M. T. Organometallics 1994, 13, 4881-4886.
- 218. Knoth, W. H.; Domaille, P. J.; Farlee, R. D. Organometallics 1985, 4, 62-68.
- 219. Xin, F. B.; Pope, M. T.; Long, G. J.; Russo, U. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 1207-1213.
- 220. Mazeaud, A.; Ammari, N.; Robert, F.; Thouvenot, R. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1996, 35, 1961-1964.
- 221. Mazeaud, A.; Dromzee, Y.; Thouvenot, R. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 4735-4740.
- 222. Sazani, G.; Dickman, M. H.; Pope, M. T. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 939-943.
- 223. Mayer, C. R.; Fournier, I.; Thouvenot, R. Chem. Eur. J. 2000, 6, 105-110.
- 224. Chorghade, G. S.; Pope, M. T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 5134-5138.
- 225. Chen, Y. W.; Klemperer, W. G.; Park, C. W. Better Ceramics through Chemistry V 1992, 57-63.
- 226. Day, V. W.; Eberspacher, T. A.; Klemperer, W. G.; Park, C. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 8469-8470.
- 227. Day, V. W.; Eberspacher, T. A.; Chen, Y.; Hao, J.; Klemperer, W. G. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1995, 229, 391-405.
- 228. Campana, C. F.; Chen, Y.; Day, V. W.; Klemperer, W. G.; Sparks, R. A. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1996, 691-702.
- 229. Day, V. W.; Eberspacher, T. A.; Hao, J. L.; Klemperer, W. G.; Zhong, B. X. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 3549-3552.
- 230. Villanneau, R.; Delmont, R.; Proust, A.; Gouzerh, P. Chem. Eur. J. 2000, 6, 1184-1192.
- 231. Proust, A.; Villanneau, R.; Delmont, R.; Artero, V.; Gouzerh, P. Organometallic Oxometal Clusters. In Polyoxometalate Chemistry; Pope, M. T., Mueller, A., Eds.; Kluwer Academic Publishers: Dordrecht, 2001; pp 55-67.
- 232. Khan, M. I.; Chen, Q.; Goshorn, D. P.; Hope, H.; Parkin, S.; Zubieta, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 3341-3346.
- 233. Chen, Q.; Goshorn, D. P.; Scholes, C. P.; Tan, X.-I.; Zubieta, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 4667-4681.
- 234. Khan, M. I.; Chen, Q.; Hope, H.; Parkin, S.; Oconnor, C. J.; Zubieta, J. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 2929-2937.
- 235. Chen, Q.; Zubieta, J. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Comm. 1993, 1180-1182.
- 236. Khan, M. I.; Chen, Q.; Zubieta, J. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1992, 305-306.
- 237. Khan, M. I.; Chen, Q.; Goshorn, D. P.; Zubieta, J. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 672-680.
- 238. Cavaluzzo, M.; Chen, Q.; Zubieta, J. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Comm. 1993, 131-133.
- 239. Khan, M. I.; Lee, Y. S.; Oconnor, C. J.; Zubieta, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 5001-5002.
- 240. Finn, R. C.; Zubieta, J. J. Cluster Sci. 2000, 11, 461-482.
- 241. Khan, M. I.; Zubieta, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 10058-10059.
- 242. Müller, A.; Meyer, J.; Bogge, H.; Stammler, A.; Botar, A. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1995, 621, 1818–1831.
- 243. Müller, A.; Meyer, J.; Bögge, H.; Stammler, A.; Botar, A. Chem. Eur. J. 1998, 4, 1388–1397.
- 244. Knoth, W. H.; Harlow, R. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1981, 103, 4265-4266.
- 245. Adams, R. D.; Klemperer, W. G.; Liu, R.-S. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Comm. 1979, 256-257.
- 246. Weinstock, I. A. Chem. Rev. 1998, 98, 113-170.
- 247. Eberson, L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1983, 105, 3192-3199.
- 248. Eberson, L.; Ekström, M. Acta Chem. Scand. B 1988, 42, 113-121.
- 249. Eberson, L.; Ekström, M. Acta Chem. Scand. B 1988, 42, 101-112.
- 250. Eberson, L. In Selective Reactions of Metal-Activated Molecules. Proceedings of the 1st Symposium. 1991; Werner, H., Ed.; Vieweg, Braunschweig/Wiesbaden, Germany; pp 87-89.
- 251. Eberson, L. Electron Transfer Reactions in Organic Chemistry 1987, Springer-Verlag: Berlin.
- 252. Carloni, P.; Eberson, L. Acta Chem. Scand. 1991, 45, 373-376.
- 253. Saha, S. K.; Ghosh, M. C.; Banerjee, P. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1986, 1301-1303.
- 254. Gupta, M.; Saha, S. K.; Banerjee, P. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 2 1988, 1781-1785.
- 255. Saha, S. K.; Ghosh, M. C.; Banerjee, P. Int. J. Chem. Kinet. 1988, 20, 699-712.
- 256. Saha, S. K.; Bhattacharya, P.; Ali, M.; Banerjee, P. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1989, 62, 3320-3327.
- 257. Gupta, M.; Saha, S. K.; Banerjee, P. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1990, 63, 609-613.
- 258. Gupta, M.; Saha, S. K.; Banerjee, P. Int. J. Chem. Kinet. 1990, 22, 81-94.
- 259. Ali, M.; Saha, S. K.; Banerjee, P. Indian J. Chem. 1990, 29A, 528-530.
- 260. Gupta, M.; Saha, S. K.; Banerjee, P. Transition Met. Chem. 1991, 16, 160-164.
- 261. Gangopadhyay, S.; Ali, M.; Banerjee, P. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 2 1992, 5, 781-785.
- 262. Ali, M.; Gangopadhyay, S.; Banerjee, P. J. Chem. Res., Synop. 1992, 316-317.
- 263. Dassharma, M.; Ali, M.; Gangopadhyay, S.; Saha, S. K.; Banerjee, P. Indian J. Chem. Sect. A 1994, 33, 243-246.

- 264. Ayoko, G. A.; Olatunji, M. A. Polyhedron 1983, 2, 577-582.
- 265. Ayoko, G. A.; Olatunji, M. A. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1983, 80, L15-L17.
- 266. Olatunji, M. A.; Ayoko, G. A. Polyhedron 1984, 3, 191-197.
- 267. Ayoko, G. A.; Olatunji, M. A. Indian J. Chem. 1984, 23A, 769-770.
- 268. Ayoko, G. A.; Olatunji, M. A. Transition Met. Chem. 1985, 10, 218-220.
- 269. Olatunji, M. A.; Ayoko, G. A. Bull. Soc. Chim. Fr. 1985, 705-708.
- 270. Ayoko, G. A. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1990, 170, 89-93.
- 271. Ayoko, G. A. Transition Met. Chem. 1990, 15, 421-424.
- 272. Ayoko, G. A.; Iyun, J. F.; Mamman, S. Indian J. Chem. 1993, 32A, 1089-1091.
- 273. Ayoko, G. A.; Iyun, J. F.; Mamman, S. Transition Met. Chem. 1993, 18, 475-477.
- 274. Olatunji, M. A.; Ayoko, G. A.; Ohiani, F. O. Transition Met. Chem. 1994, 19, 253-256.
- 275. Ali, M.; Saha, S. K.; Banerjee, P. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1991, 9, 2305-2309.
- 276. Eberson, L.; Jönsson, L. Acta Chem. Scand. B 1986, 40, 79-91.
- 277. Saha, S. K.; Ali, M.; Banerjee, P. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1993, 122, 41-62.
- 278. Ayoko, G. A.; Iyun, J. F.; El-Idris, I. F. Transition Met. Chem. 1991, 16, 145-148.
- 279. Ayoko, G. A.; Iyun, J. F.; El-Idris, I. F. Transition Met. Chem. 1992, 17, 423-425.
- 280. Ayoko, G. A.; Iyun, J. F.; El-Idris, I. F. Transition Met. Chem. 1993, 18, 275-278.
- 281. Ayoko, G. A.; Arabel, J. Transition Met. Chem. 1994, 19, 212-214.
- 282. Baciocchi, E.; Crescenzi, M.; Fasella, E.; Mattioli, M. J. Org. Chem. 1992, 57, 4684-4689.
- 283. Baciocchi, E.; Bernini, R.; Lanzalunga, O. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Comm. 1993, 1691–1692.
- 284. Baciocchi, E.; Bietti, M.; Mattioli, M. J. Org. Chem. 1993, 58, 7106-7110.
- 285. Baciocchi, E.; Fasella, E.; Lanzalunga, O.; Mattioli, M. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1993, 32, 1071-1073.
- 286. Baciocchi, E.; Bietti, M.; Steenken, S. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 2 1996, 1261-1263.
- 287. Bietti, M.; Baciocchi, E.; Engberts, J. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Comm. 1996, 1307-1308.
- 288. Baciocchi, E.; Lanzalunga, O.; Pirozzi, B. Tetrahedron 1997, 53, 12287-12298.
- 289. Bart, J. C.; Anson, F. C. J. Electroanal. Chem. 1995, 390, 11-19.
- 290. Toth, J. E.; Anson, F. C. J. Electroanal. Chem. 1988, 256, 361-370.
- 291. Toth, J. E.; Anson, F. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989, 111, 2444-2451.
- 292. Toth, J. E.; Melton, J. D.; Cabelli, D.; Bielski, B. H. J.; Anson, F. C. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 1952-1957.
- 293. Rong, C.; Anson, F. C. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 1064-1070.
- 294. Rong, C. Y.; Anson, F. C. Anal. Chem. 1994, 66, 3124-3130.
- 295. Ballardini, R.; Gandolfi, M. T.; Balzani, V. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1985, 119, 459-462.
- 296. Ballardini, R.; Mulazzani, Q. G.; Venturi, M.; Bolletta, F.; Balzani, M. Inorg. Chem. 1984, 23, 300-305.
- 297. Ballardini, R.; Gandolfi, M. T.; Balzani, V.; Scandola, F. Gazz. Chim. Ital. 1987, 117, 769-772.
- 298. Bond, A. M.; Eklund, J. C.; Tedesco, V.; Vu, T.; Wedd, A. G. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 2366-2372.
- 299. Prenzler, P. D.; Boskovic, C.; Bond, A. M.; Wedd, A. G. Anal. Chem. 1999, 71, 3133-3139.
- 300. Akid, R.; Darwent, J. R. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1985, 395-399.
- 301. Fox, M. A.; Cardona, R.; Gaillard, E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 6347-6354.
- 302. Keita, B.; Essaadi, K.; Nadjo, L.; Desmadril, M. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1995, 237, 411-418.
- 303. Keita, B.; Essaadi, K.; Nadjo, L.; Contant, R.; Justum, Y. J. Electroanal. Chem. 1996, 404, 271–279.
- 304. Lissel, M.; Jansen in de Wal, H.; Neumann, R. Tetrahedron Lett. 1992, 33, 1795-1798.
- 305. Neumann, R.; Levin, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 7278-7286.
- 306. Neumann, R.; Lissel, M. J. Org. Chem. 1989, 54, 4607-4610.
- 307. Neumann, R. Mixed Addenda Phosphomolybdovanadates as Catalysts for Oxidations with Dioxygen and Hydrogen Peroxide. In *Polyoxometalates: from Platonic Solids to Anti-retroviral Activity*; Pope, M. T., Müller, A., Eds.; Kluwer Academic Publishers: Dordrecht, 1994; pp 307–313.
- 308. Neumann, R.; Dror, I. Appl. Catal. A 1998, 172, 67-72.
- 309. Neumann, R.; Khenkin, A. M.; Vigdergauz, I. Chem. Eur. J. 2000, 6, 875-882.
- 310. Khenkin, A. M.; Weiner, L.; Wang, Y.; Neumann, R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 8531-8542.
- Grigoriev, V.; Hill, C. L.; Weinstock, I. A. Polyoxometalate Oxidation of Phenolic Lignin Models. In Oxidative Delignification Chemistry. Fundamental and Catalysis; Argyropoulos, D. S., Ed., 2001; American Chemical Society; Washington DC. pp 297–312.
- 312. Atalla, R. H.; Weinstock, I. A.; Bond, J. S.; Reiner, R. S.; Sonnen, D. M.; Houtman, C. J.; Heintz, R. A.; Hill, C. G.; Hill, C. L.; Wemple, M. W.; Geletii, Y. V.; Barbuzzi, E. M. G. Polyoxometalate-Based Closed Systems for Oxidative Delignification of Wood Pulp Fibers. In *ACS Symposium Series 2001*; Argyropoulos, D. S., Ed., 2001; American Chemical Society; Washington DC. pp 313–326.
- 313. Weinstock, I. A.; Grigoriev, V. A.; Cheng, D.; Hill, C. L. Role of Alkali-Metal Cation Size in Electron Transfer to Solvent-Separated 1:1[(M⁺)(POM)] (M⁺ = Li⁺Na⁺K⁺) Ion Pairs. In *Polyoxometalate Chemistry for Nano-composite Design*; Yamase, T., Pope, M. T., Eds.; Kluwer Academic/Plenum Publishers: New York, 2002; 103–129.
- 314. Katsoulis, D. E.; Pope, M. T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1984, 106, 2737-2738.
- 315. Katsoulis, D. E.; Tausch, V. S.; Pope, M. T. Inorg. Chem. 1987, 26, 215-216.
- 316. Katsoulis, D. E.; Pope, M. T. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1989, 1483-1489.
- 317. Day, V. W.; Klemperer, W. G.; Yaghi, O. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989, 111, 5959-5961.
- 318. Wagner, G. W. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 1960-1962.
- 319. Klemperer, W. G.; Marquart, T. A.; Yaghi, O. M. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1992, 31, 49-51.
- 320. Meunier, B. Chem. Rev. 1992, 92, 1411-1456.
- 321. Holm, R. H. Chem. Rev. 1987, 87, 1401-1449.
- 322. Katsoulis, D. E.; Pope, M. T. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Comm. 1986, 15, 1186-1188.
- 323. Khenkin, A. M.; Hill, C. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 8178-8186.
- 324. Kogan, V.; Aizenshtat, Z.; Neumann, R. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1999, 38, 3331-3334.
- 325. Khenkin, A. M.; Neumann, R. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 2000, 39, 4088-4090.
- 326. Satterfield, C. N. Heterogeneous Catalysis in Industrial Practice, 2nd ed., 1991, McGraw-Hill: New York.

- 327. Thomas, J. M.; Thomas, W. J. Principles and Practice of Heterogeneous Catalysis 1997, VCH Verlagsgesellschaft: Weinheim.
- 328. Launay, J. P. J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem. 1976, 38, 807-816.
- 329. Kazansky, L. P.; Launay, J. P. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1977, 51, 242-245.
- 330. Jeannin, Y.; Launay, J. P.; Sedjadi, M. A. S. Inorg. Chem. 1980, 19, 2933-2935.
- 331. Piepgrass, K.; Pope, M. T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 1586-1587.
- 332. Yamase, T.; Ishikawa, E. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1996, 1619-1627.
- 333. Piepgrass, K.; Pope, M. T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989, 111, 753-754.
- 334. Dickman, M. H.; Ozeki, T.; Evans, J. H. T.; Rong, C.; Jameson, G. B.; Pope, M. T. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 2000, 2000, 149-154.
- 335. Black, J. F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1978, 100, 527-535.
- 336. Sheldon, R. A.; Kochi, J. K. Metal-catalyzed Oxidations of Organic Compounds 1981, Academic Press: New York.
- 337. Tolman, C. A.; Druliner, J. D.; Nappa, M. J.; Herron, N. Alkane Oxidation Studies in Du Pont's Central Research Department. In Activation and Functionalization of Alkanes; Hill, C. L., Ed., Wiley: New York, 1989; pp 303-361.
- 338. Sheldon, R. A. Industrial Catalytic Oxidations: an Overview. In Dioxygen Activation and Homogeneous Catalytic Oxidation; Simandi, L. I., Ed., Elsevier: Amsterdam, 1991; pp 573-594.
- Kozhevnikov, I. V.; Matveev, K. I. *Russian Chem. Rev.* 1982, *51*, 1075–1088.
 Kozhevnikov, I. V.; Matveev, K. I. *Appl. Catal.* 1983, *5*, 135–150.
- 341. Kozhevnikov, I. V. Russian Chem. Rev. 1987, 56, 811-825.
- 342. Hill, C. L. Adv. Oxygenated Processes 1988, 1, 1-30.
- 343. Hill, C. L. Catalytic Oxygenation of Unactivated C-H Bonds. Superior Oxo Transfer Catalysts and the Inorganic Porphyrin'. In Activation and Functionalization of Alkanes; Hill, C. L., Ed., Wiley: New York, 1989; pp 243-279. 344. Neumann, R.; Levin, M. Molecular Oxygen as Oxidant in Heteropolyanion Catalysed Oxidations. In Dioxygen
- Activation and Homogenous Catalytic Oxidation; Simandi, L. I., Ed.; Elsevier: Amsterdam, 1991; pp 121–127.
- 345. Hill, C. L. Reactive Intermediates. In 1992 McGraw-Hill Yearbook of Science and Technology; McGraw-Hill: New York, 1991; p 391.
- 346. Hill, C. L. The Use of Polyoxometalates in Reactions with Hydrogen Peroxide. In Metal Catalysis in Hydrogen Peroxide Oxidations; Strukul, G., Ed., Kluwer Academic Publishers: Dordrecht, 1992; Chapter 8, pp 253-280.
- 347. Hill, C. L.; Duncan, D. C.; Harrup, M. K. Comments Inorg. Chem. 1993, 14, 367-384.
- 348. Hill, C. L.; Khenkin, A. M.; Weeks, M. S. ACS Symp. Ser. 1993, 523, 67-80.
- 349. Kozhevnikov, I. V. Usp. Khim. 1993, 62, 510-528.
- 350. Kozhevnikov, I. V. Stud. Surf. Sci. Catal. 1994, 90, 21-34.
- 351. Hill, C. L.; Kim, G.-S.; Prosser-McCartha, C. M.; Judd, D. Top. Mol. Organ. Eng. Pope, M. T., Müller, A., Ed., Polyoxometalates in Catalytic Selective Homogeneous Oxidation and Anti-HIV Chemotherapy. 1994, 411. Kluwer Academic Publishers: Dordrecht.
- 352. Hill, C. L.; Prosser-McCartha, C. M. Topics in Molecular Organisation and Engineering. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1995, 143, 407-455.
- 353. Kozhevnikov, I. V. Catal. Rev.-Sci. Eng. 1995, 37, 311-352.
- 354. Kozhevnikov, I. V. Special Publication-Royal Society of Chemistry 1997, 214, 222-236.
- 355. Kozhevnikov, I. V. Usp. Khim. 1987, 56, 1417-1443.
- 356. Kozhevnikov, I. V. Chem. Rev. 1998, 98, 171-198.
- 357. Lin, Y.; Finke, R. G. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 4891-4910.
- 358. Hill, C. L.; Weinstock, I. A. Nature 1997, 388, 332-333.
- 359. Hill, C. L. Nature 1999, 401, 436-437.
- 360. Hill, C. L.; Brown, R. B. Jr. J. Am. Chem. Sec., 1986, 108, 536-538.
- 361. Neumann, R.; Dahan, M. Nature 1997, 388, 353-355.
- 362. Nishiyama, Y.; Nakagawa, Y.; Mizuno, N. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 2001, 40, 3639-3641.
- 363. Duncan, D. C.; Hill, C. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 243-244.
- 364. Rindl, M. S. Afr. J. Sci. 1916, 11, 362.
- 365. Yamase, T. Chem. Lett. 1973, 615.
- 366. Yamase, T.; Hayashi, H.; Ikawa, T. Chem. Lett. 1974, 1055.
- 367. Yamase, T.; Ikawa, T. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1977, 50, 746-749.
- 368. Yamase, T. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1978, 283.
- 369. Yamase, T.; Sasaki, R.; Ikawa, T. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1981, 628-634.
- 370. Yamase, T. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1982, 1987-1991.
- 371. Yamase, T. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1985, 2585-2590.
- 372. Yamase, T.; Suga, M. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1989, 661-669.
- 373. Papaconstantinou, E. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Comm. 1982, 12-13.
- 374. Darwent, J. R. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1982, 14, 798-799.
- 375. Hill, C. L.; Bouchard, D. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1985, 107, 5148-5157.
- 376. Ozer, R. R.; Ferry, J. L. Photocatalytic oxidations with zeolite-supported P₅W₃₀O₁₁₁. In Proceedings of the 223rd ACS National Meeting, Orlando, FL, U.S.A. April 7-11, 2002; Ed.; American Chemical Society, Washington, D. C., 2002.
- 377. Texier, I.; Giannotti, C.; Malato, S.; Richter, C.; Delaire, J. A. Catal. Today 1999, 54, 297-307.
- 378. Texier, I.; Delouis, J.-F.; Delaire, J. A.; Giannotti, C.; Plaza, P.; Martin, M. M. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1999, 311, 139-145.
- 379. Hill, C. L.; Renneke, R. F.; Faraj, M. K. Sustained Thermal and Photochemical Homogeneous Catalytic Functionalization of Hydrocarbons by Polyoxometalates. In The Role of Oxygen in Chemistry and Biochemistry; Ando, W., Moro-Oka, Y. Eds.; Elsevier: New York, 1988; pp 185-191
- 380. Hill, C. L.; Kim, G.-S.; Prosser-McCartha, C. Mol. Eng. 1993, 3, 263-275.
- 381. Hill, C. L.; Kozik, M.; Winkler, J.; Hou, Y. Adv. Chem. Ser. 1993, 238, 243-259.

- 382. Hill, C. L.; Prosser-McCartha, C. M. Photocatalytic and Photoredox Properties of Polyoxometalate Systems. In Photosensitization and Photocatalysis Using Inorganic and Organometallic Compounds; Kalyanasundaram, K., Grätzel, M., Eds.; Kluwer Academic Publishers: Dordrecht, 1993, pp 307-330.
- 383. Hill, C. L. Synlett 1995, 127-132.
- 384. Maldotti, A.; Molinari, A.; Amadelli, R. Chem. Rev. 2002, 102, 3811-3836.
- 385. Papaconstantinou, E.; Argitis, P.; Dimotikali, D.; Hiskia, A.; Ioannidis, A. NATO ASI Ser., Ser. C 1986, 174, 415-431
- 386. Papaconstantinou, E. Chem. Soc. Rev. 1989, 18, 1-31.
- 387. Hiskia, A.; Papaconstantinou, E. Thermal and Photochemical Catalysis by Polyoxometalates. Regeneration of Catalyst by Dioxygen. In Dioxygen Activation and Homogeneous Catalytic Catalytic Oxidation; Simandi, L. I., Ed.; Elsevier: Amsterdam, 1991; pp 429-435.
- 388. Papaconstantinou, E. Trends Photochem Photobiol 1994, 3, 139-143.
- 389. Hiskia, A.; Mylonas, A.; Papaconstantinou, E. Chem. Soc. Rev. 2001, 62-69.
- 390. Hiskia, A.; Androulaki, E.; Mylonas, A.; Troupis, A.; Papaconstantinou, E. Photocatalytic Decontamination by Polyoxometalates. In Polyoxometalate Chemistry: from Topology Via Self-assembly to Applications; Pope, M. T., Mueller, A., Eds.; Kluwer Academic Publishers: Dordrecht, 2001; pp 417-424.
- 391. Tanielian, C. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1998, 178-180, 1165-1181.
- 392. Yamase, T. Kikan Kagaku Sosetsu 1993, 20, 92-111.
- 393. Yamase, T.; Prokop, P. V. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 2002, 41, 466-469.
- 394. Chambers, R. C.; Hill, C. L. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 2776-2781.
- 395. Kuznetsova, N. I.; Yurchenko, E. N. React. Kinet. Catal. Lett. 1989, 39, 399-404.
- 396. Fedotov, M. A.; Il'inich, O. M.; Kuznetsova, L. I.; Semin, G. L.; Vetchinova, Y. S.; Zamaraev, K. I. Catal. Lett. 1990, 6, 417-422.
- 397. Kuznetsova, L. I.; Fedotov, M. A.; Yurchenko, E. N. React. Kinet. Catal. Lett. 1990, 41, 333-338.
- 398. Pavlova, S. N.; Maksimovskaya, R. I.; Kuznetsova, L. I. Kinet. Catal. 1991, 32, 410-416.
- 399. Yurchenko, E. N.; Gutsul, T. D.; Kuznetsova, L. I. Koord. Khim. 1992, 18, 939-943.
- 400. Mizuno, N.; Tateishi, M.; Hirose, T.; Iwamoto, M. Chem. Lett. 1993, 1985-1986.
- 401. Mizuno, N.; Tateishi, M.; Hirose, T. O.; Iwamoto, M. Chem. Lett. 1993, 2137-2140.
- 402. Mizuno, N.; Hirose, T.; Tateishi, M.; Iwamoto, M. *Chem. Lett.* **1993**, 1839–1842. 403. Mizuno, N.; Hirose, T.; Tateishi, M.; Iwamoto, M. *J. Mol. Catal.* **1994**, 88, L125–L131.
- 404. Neumann, R.; Khenkin, A. M.; Dahan, M. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1995, 34, 1587-1589.
- 405. Kuznetsova, N. I.; Detusheva, L. G.; Kuznetsova, L. I.; Fedotov, M. A.; Likholobov, V. A. J. Mol. Cat A: Chem. 1996, 114, 131-139.
- 406. Hill, C. L.; Gall, R. D. J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem. 1996, 114, 103-111.
- 407. Mizuno, N.; Weiner, H.; Finke, R. G. J. Mol. Cat A: Chem. 1996, 114, 15-28.
- 408. Kuznetsova, N. I.; Kuznetsova, L. I.; Detusheva, L. G.; Likholobov, V. A.; Fedotov, M. A.; Koscheev, S. V.; Burgina, E. B. Stud. Surf. Sci. Catal. 1997, 110, 1203-1211.
- 409. Mizuno, N.; Nozaki, C.; Hirose, T.-O.; Tateishi, M.; Iwamoto, M. J. Mol. Cat A: Chem. 1997, 117, 159-168.
- 410. Kholdeeva, O. A.; Khavrutskii, I. V.; Romannikov, V. N.; Tkachev, A. V.; Zamaraev, K. I. Stud. Surf. Sci. Catal. **1997**, 110, 947–955.
- 411. Weiner, H.; Finke, R. G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 9831-9842.
- 412. Weiner, H.; Hayashi, Y.; Finke, R. G. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1999, 291, 426-437.
- 413. Alekar, N. A.; Gopinathan, S.; Gopinathan, C. Indian J. Chem. Sect. A 2000, 39A, 439-441.
- 414. Kuznetsova, L. I.; Kuznetsova, N. I.; Detusheva, L. G.; Fedotov, M. A.; Likholobov, V. A. J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem. 2000, 158, 429-433.
- 415. Ellis, S.; Kozhevnikov, I. V. J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem. 2002, 187, 227-235.
- 416. Kuznetsova, N. I.; Detusheva, L. G.; Kuznetsova, L. I.; Fedotov, M. A.; Likholobov, V. A. Kinet. Catal. 1992, 33, 516-523.
- 417. Khenkin, A. M.; Hill, C. L. Mendeleev Commun. 1993, 3, 140-141.
- 418. Tatsumi, T.; Yamamoto, K. Trans. Mater. Res. Soc. Jpn. 1994, 15A, 141-144.
- 419. Neumann, R.; Gara, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 5509-5510.
- 420. Neumann, R.; Khenkin, A. M. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 5753-5760.
- 421. Neumann, R.; Miller, H. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Comm. 1995, 2277-2278.
- 422. Neumann, R.; Gara, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 5066-5074.
- 423. Brown, S. W.; Johnstone, A.; Jones, C. W.; Lee, A. M.; Oakes, S. C.; Wilson, S. L. Recl. Trav. Chim. Pays-Bas 1996, 115, 244-247.
- 424. Qin, D.; Wang, G. J.; Zhang, L.; Hao, C.; Wu, Y. Fenzi Cuihua 1996, 10, 357-362.
- 425. Neumann, R.; Juwiler, D. Tetrahedron 1996, 52, 8781-8788.
- 426. Kuznetsova, L. I.; Detusheva, L. G.; Fedotov, M. A.; Likholobov, V. A. J. Mol. Cat A: Chem. 1996, 111, 81-90.
- 427. Kuznetsova, N. I.; Kuznetsova, L. I.; Likholobov, V. A. J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem. 1996, 108, 135-143.
- 428. Neumann, R.; Khenkin, A. M.; Juwiler, D.; Miller, H.; Gara, M. J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem. 1997, 117, 169-183.
- 429. Zhang, X.; Chen, Q.; Duncan, D. C.; Campana, C.; Hill, C. L. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 4208-4215.
- 430. Zhang, X.; Chen, Q.; Duncan, D. C.; Lachicotte, R. J.; Hill, C. L. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 4381-4386.
- 431. Karaulova, E. N.; Zaikin, V. G.; Bagrii, E. I. Neftekhimiya 1997, 37, 396-401.
- 432. Cristea, I.; Kozma, E. Chem. Anal. Warsaw 1998, 43, 239-242.
- 433. Zhang, X.; Hill, C. L. Chem. Ind. 1998, 75.
- 434. Mizuno, N.; Nozaki, C.; Kiyoto, I.; Misono, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 9267–9272.
- 435. Boesing, M.; Noeh, A.; Loose, I.; Krebs, B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 7252-7259.
- 436. Kholdeeva, O. A.; Maksimovskaya, R. I.; Maksimov, G. M.; Zamaraev, K. I. React. Kinet. Catal. Lett. 1998, 63, 95-102.
- 437. Server-Carrió, J.; Bas-Serra, J.; González-Núñez, M. E.; Garcia-Gastaldi, A.; Jameson, G. B.; Baker, L. C. W.; Acerete, R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 911-984.
- 438. Yasuhara, Y.; Kominami, H.; Kera, Y. Kidorui 1999, 108-109.

- 439. Lin, S.; Zhen, Y.; Wang, S.-M.; Dai, Y.-M. J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem. 2000, 156, 113-120.
- 440. Mizuno, N.; Misono, M.; Nishiyama, Y.; Seki, Y.; Kiyoto, I.; Nozaki, C. Res. Chem. Intermed. 2000, 26, 193-199.
- 441. Gould, D. M.; Griffith, W. P.; Spiro, M. J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem. 2001, 175, 289-291.
- 442. Zhang, H.; Zhang, X.; Ding, Y.; Yan, L.; Ren, T.; Suo, J. New J. Chem. 2002, 26, 376-377.
- 443. Xu, L.; Li, M.; Wang, E. Mater. Lett. 2002, 54, 303-308.
- 444. Ma, R.-H.; Liu, C.-T.; Qu, L.-Y. Yingyong Huaxue 2002, 19, 342-345.
- 445. Faraj, M.; Hill, C. L. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Comm. 1987, 1487-1489.
- 446. Faraj, M.; Lin, C. H.; Hill, C. L. New J. Chem. 1988, 12, 745-749.
- 447. Matsumoto, Y.; Asami, M.; Hashimoto, M.; Misono, M. J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem. 1996, 114, 161-168.
- 448. Cramarossa, M. R.; Forti, L.; Fedotov, M. A.; Detusheva, L. G.; Likholobov, V. A.; Kuznetsova, L. I.; Semin, G. L.; Cavani, F.; Trifiro, F. J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem. 1997, 127, 85-94.
- 449. Lyons, J. E.; Ellis, Paul, E.; Shaikh, S. N. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1998, 270, 162-168.
- 450. Cohen, M.; Neumann, R. J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem. 1999, 146, 291-298.
- 451. Mansuy, D.; Bartoli, J.-F.; Battioni, P.; Lyon, D. K.; Finke, R. G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 7222-7226.
- 452. Liu, J. F.; Yang, Q. H.; Li, M. X. Chin. Chem. Lett. 1995, 6, 155-158.
- 453. Zhang, X.-y.; Pope, M. T. J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem. 1996, 114, 201-208.
- 454. Adam, W.; Herold, M.; Hill, C. L.; Saha-Moller, C. R. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2002, 941-946.
- 455. Neumann, R.; Abu-Gnim, C. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1989, 1324-1325.
- 456. Neumann, R.; Abu-Gnim, C. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 6025-6031.
- 457. Bressan, M.; Morvillo, A.; Romanello, G. J. Mol. Catal. 1992, 77, 283-288.
- 458. Kuznetsova, L. I.; Likholobov, V. A.; Detusheva, L. G. Kinet. Catal. 1993, 34, 1017-1019.
- 459. Zhang, X.; Hill, C. L. Alkene Epoxidation by p-Cyano-N-N-dimethylaniline N-oxide Catalyzed by d-Electrontransition-metal-substituted Polyoxometalates. In Catalysis of Organic Reactions. Malz, R. E. J., Ed.; Marcel Dekker: New York, 1996; pp 445-450.
- 460. Zhang, X.; Sasaki, K.; Hill, C. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 4809-4816.
- 461. Neumann, R.; Khenkin, A. M. Chem. Commun. 1998, 1967-1968.
- 462. Geletii, Y. V.; Bailey, A. J.; Cowan, J. J.; Weinstock, I. A.; Hill, C. L. Can. J. Chem. 2001, 79, 792-794.
- 463. Nowinska, K.; Sopa, M.; Waclaw, A.; Szuba, D. Appl. Catal. A 2002, 225, 141-151.
- 464. Kuznetsova, L. I.; Matveev, K. I. Kinet. Catal. 1984, 25, 1274-1275.
- 465. Gorodetskaya, T. A.; Kozhevnikov, I. V.; Matveev, K. I.; Sidel'nikov, V. N.; Maksimovskaya, R. I. Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR, Ser. Khim. 1984, 1010-1017.
- 466. Zhizhina, E. G.; Kuznetsova, L. I.; Matveev, K. I. React. Kinet. Catal. Lett. 1986, 31, 113-120.
- 467. Neumann, R.; Assael, I. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1988, 1285-1287.
- 468. Zhizhina, E. G.; Kuznetsova, L. I.; Matveev, K. I. Kinet. Catal. 1988, 29, 130-135.
- 469. Golikova, M. A.; Romanchenko, T. V.; Bolshakova, V. I.; Shmidt, E. N.; Pentegova, V. A.; Maksimov, G. M.; Matveev, K. I. Izv. Sib. Otd. Akad. Nauk SSSR, Ser. Khim. Nauk 1988, 109-114.
- 470. Ali, B. E.; Brégeault, J.-M.; Martin, J.; Martin, C. New J. Chem. 1989, 13, 173-175.
- 471. El Ali, B.; Brégeault, J. M.; Mercier, J.; Martin, J.; Martin, C.; Convert, O. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Comm. 1989, 825-826.
- 472. Titova, T. F.; Matveev, K. I.; Odyakov, V. F.; Krysin, A. P. Zh. Prikl. Khim. 1990, 63, 1761-1765.
- 473. Titova, T. F.; Matveev, K. I.; Odyakov, V. F.; Krysin, A. P. J. Appl. Chem.-Engl. Tr. 1990, 63, 1625-1629.
- 474. Mizuno, N.; Lyon, D. K.; Finke, R. G. J. Catal. 1991, 128, 84-91.
- 475. Kholdeeva, O. A.; Golovin, A. V.; Kozhevnikov, I. V. React. Kinet. Catal. Lett. 1992, 46, 107-113.
- 476. Kholdeeva, O. A.; Golovin, A. V.; Maksimovskaya, R. I.; Kozhevnikov, I. V. J. Mol. Catal. 1992, 75, 235-244.
- 477. Hamamoto, M.; Nakayama, K.; Nishiyama, Y.; İshii, Y. J. Org. Chem. 1993, 58, 6421-6425.
- 478. Nakayama, K.; Hamamoto, M.; Nishiyama, Y.; Ishii, Y. Chem. Lett. 1993, 1699-1702.
- 479. Atlamsani, A.; Brégeault, J. M.; Ziyad, M. J. Org. Chem. 1993, 58, 5663-5665.
- 480. Harrup, M. K.; Hill, C. L. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 5448-5455.
- 481. Qin, D.; Wang, G.; Wu, Y. Stud. Surf. Sci. Catal. 1994, 82, 603-608.
- 482. Qin, D.; Wang, G.; Wu, Y. Gaodeng Xuexiao Huaxue Xuebao 1994, 15, 279-280.
- 483. Guo, J.; Jiao, Q. Z.; Shen, J. P.; Jiang, D. Z.; Yang, G. H.; Min, E. Z. Catal. Lett. 1996, 40, 43-45.
- 484. Matveev, K. I.; Odyakov, V. F.; Zhizhina, E. G. J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem. 1996, 114, 151-160.
- 485. Fujibayashi, S.-y.; Nakayama, K.; Hamamoto, M.; Sakaguchi, S.; Nishiyama, Y.; Ishii, Y. J. Mol. Catal. A 1996, 110, 105-117.
- 486. Sonnen, D. M.; Reiner, R. S.; Atalla, R. H.; Weinstock, I. A. Ind. Eng. Chem. Res. 1997, 36, 4134-4142.
- 487. Evtuguin, D. V.; Pascoal Neto, C.; Pedrosa de Jesus, J. D. J. Pulp Paper Sci. 1998, 24, 133-140.
- 488. Evtuguin, D. V.; Pascoal Neto, C. Holzforschung 1997, 51, 338-342.
- 489. Khenkin, A. M.; Neumann, R.; Sorokin, A. B.; Tuel, A. Catal. Lett. 1999, 63, 189-192.
- 490. Khenkin, A. M.; Rosenberger, A.; Neumann, R. J. Catal. 1999, 182, 82-91.
- 491. Kolesnik, I. G.; Zhizhina, E. G.; Matveev, K. I. J. Molecul. Catal. A: Chem. 2000, 153, 147-154.
- 492. Xu, L.; Boring, E.; Hill, C. J. Catal. 2000, 195, 394-405.
- 493. Khenkin, A. M.; Neumann, R. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 3455-3462.
- 494. Ben-Daniel, R.; Alsters, P.; Neumann, R. J. Org. Chem. 2001, 66, 8650-8653.
- 495. Desrosiers, P.; Guram, A.; Hagemeyer, A.; Jandeleit, B.; Poojary, D. M.; Turner, H.; Weinberg, H. Catal. Today 2001, 67, 397-402.
- 496. Weinstock, I. A.; Barbuzzi, E. M. G.; Wemple, M. W.; Cowan, J. J.; Reiner, R. S.; Sonnen, D. M.; Heintz, R. A.; Bond, J. S.; Hill, C. L. Nature 2001, 414, 191-195.
- 497. Haimov, A.; Neumann, R. Chem. Commun. 2002, 876-877.
- 498. Khenkin, A. M.; Neumann, R. J. Org. Chem. 2002, 7075-7079.
- 499. Kuznetsova, L. I.; Maksimovskaya, R. I.; Fedotov, M. A. Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR, Ser. Khim. 1985, 537-542.
- 500. Furukawa, H.; Nakamura, T.; Inagaki, H.; Nishikawa, E.; Imai, C.; Misono, M. Chem. Lett. 1988, 877-880.
- 501. Shimizu, M.; Orita, H.; Hayakawa, T.; Takehira, K. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1989**, *30*, 471–474. 502. Shimizu, M.; Orita, H.; Hayakawa, T.; Takehira, K. *Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn.* **1990**, *63*, 1835–1837.

- 503. Orita, H.; Shimizu, M.; Hayakawa, T.; Takehira, K. React. Kinet. Catal. Lett. 1991, 44, 209-213.
- 504. Sakata, Y.; Ishii, Y. A. J. Org. Chem. 1991, 56, 6233-6235.
- 505. Droege, M. W.; Finke, R. G. J. Mol. Catal. 1991, 69, 323-338.
- 506. Mizuno, N.; Yokota, S.; Miyazaki, I.; Misono, M. Nippon Kagaku Kaishi 1991, 1066-1072.
- 507. Aubry, C.; Chottard, G.; Platzer, N.; Brégeault, J. M.; Thouvenot, R.; Chauveau, F.; Huet, C.; Ledon, H. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 4409-4415.
- 508. Sakaue, S.; Sakata, Y.; Nishiyama, Y.; Ishii, Y. Chem. Lett. 1992, 289-292.
- 509. Neumann, R.; Delavega, M. J. Mol. Catal. 1993, 84, 93-108.
- 510. Sakaue, S.; Tsubakino, T.; Nishiyama, Y.; Ishii, Y. J. Org. Chem. 1993, 58, 3633-3638.
- 511. Ishii, Y.; Tanaka, H.; Nishiyama, Y. Chem. Lett. 1994, 1-4.
- 512. Gresley, N. M.; Griffith, W. P.; Parkin, B. C.; White, A. J. P.; Williams, D. J. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1996, 2039-2045.
- 513. Neumann, R.; Cohen, M. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1997, 36, 1738-1740.
- 514. Yu, J.; Yang, Y.; Huang, Y.; Wu, T.; Sun, J. Fenzi Cuihua 1997, 11, 167-172.
- 515. Nomiya, K.; Yagishita, K.; Nemoto, Y.; Kamataki, T.-A. J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem. 1997, 126, 43-53.
- 516. Athilakshmi, ; Viswanathan, B. Stud. Surf. Sci. Catal. 1998, 113, 301-308.
- 517. Harrup, M. K.; Kim, G.-S.; Zeng, H.; Johnson, R. P.; VanDerveer, D.; Hill, C. L. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 5550–5556.
- 518. Tangestaninejad, S.; Yadollahi, B. Chem. Lett. 1998, 511-512.
- 519. Viswanathan, B.; Athilakshmi, Indian J. Chem. Sect. B 1998, 37B, 1186-1188.
- 520. Zhou, M.; Wei, C.; Bi, Y.; Zhen, K. Cuihua Xuebao 1999, 20, 437-441.
- 521. Yadav, G. D.; Mistry, C. K. J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem. 2001, 172, 135-149.
- 522. Zhou, G.-D.; Guo, X.-H.; Liu, Y.; Bi, Y.-L.; Zhen, K.-J. Chem. Res. Chin. Univ. 2001, 17, 293-298.
- 523. Zhou, G.-D.; Liu, Y.; Xian, M.; Wang, J.-x.; Cheng, T.-x.; Li, W.-x.; Bi, Y.-l.; Zhen, K.-j. Ningxia Daxue Xuebao, Ziran Kexueban 2001, 22, 112-113.
- 524. Louis, B.; Viswanathan, B.; Iouranov, I.; Renken, A. Indian J. Chem. Sect. A 2001, 40A, 837-840.
- 525. Yu, Y.-q.; Chen, L.-j.; Xu, L.-m.; Lin, S. Ningxia Daxue Xuebao, Ziran Kexueban 2001, 22, 118–120.
- 526. Nomiya, K.; Hashino, K.; Nemoto, Y.; Watanabe, M. J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem. 2001, 176, 79-86.
- 527. Xin, X.-l.; Gao, L.-h.; Wen, L.-l. Jingxi Huagong 2002, 19, 68-70, 82.
- 528. Luan, G.; Wang, E.; Han, Z.; Li, Y.; Hu, C.; Hu, N.; Jia, H. J. Mol. Struct. 2002, 606, 211-215.
- 529. Shimizu, M.; Orita, H.; Hayakawa, T.; Watanabe, Y.; Takehira, K. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1991, 64, 2583-2584.
- 530. Gall, R. D.; Faraj, M.; Hill, C. L. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 5015-5021.
- 531. Hill, C. L.; Zeng, H.; Zhang, X. J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem. 1996, 113, 185-195.
- 532. Gall, R. D.; Hill, C. L.; Walker, J. E. J. Catal. 1996, 159, 473-478.
- 533. Chernenko, G. F.; Golikova, M. A.; Romanchenko, T. V.; Shmidt, E. N.; Matveev, K. I.; Pentegova, V. A. Izv. Sib. Otd. Akad. Nauk SSSR, Ser. Khim. Nauk 1989, 29-35.
- 534. Titova, T. F.; Matveev, K. I.; Zhizhina, E. G.; Krysin, A. P. Zh. Org. Khim. 1991, 27, 1321-1325.
- 535. Taniguchi, Y.; Hayashida, T.; Shibasaki, H.; Piao, D.; Kitamura, T.; Yamaji, T.; Fujiwara, Y. Org. Lett. 1999, 1, 557-559.
- 536. Khenkin, A. M.; Neumann, R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 4198-4199.
- 537. Okuhara, T. Catal. Today 2002, 73, 167-176.
- 538. Timofeeva, M. N.; Grosheva, V. S.; Demchenko, B. I.; Kozhevnikov, I. V. React. Kinet. Catal. Lett. 1991, 45, 215 - 219.
- 539. Sato, S.; Furuta, H.; Sodesawa, T.; Nozaki, F. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 2. 1993, 385-390.
- 540. Hu, C. W.; Hashimoto, M.; Okuhara, T.; Misono, M. J. Catal. 1993, 143, 437-448.
- 541. Okuhara, T.; Hu, C. W.; Hashimoto, M.; Misono, M. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1994, 67, 1186-1188.
- 542. Kolaric, S.; Gelo, M.; Sankovic, M.; Sunjic, V. J. Mol. Catal. 1994, 89, 247-256.
- 543. Kolaric, S.; Gelo, M.; Sankovic, M.; Sunjic, V. J. Mol. Catal. 1993, 79, 365-374.
- 544. Yamase, T.; Takabayashi, N.; Kaji, M. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1984, 793-799.
- 545. Renneke, R. F.; Hill, C. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108, 3528-3529.
- 546. Yamase, T.; Watanabe, R. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1986, 1669-1675.
- 547. Renneke, R. F.; Hill, C. L. New J. Chem. 1987, 11, 763-767.
- 548. Renneke, R. F.; Hill, C. L. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1988, 27, 1526-1527.
- 549. Yamase, T.; Usami, T. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1988, 183-190.
- 550. Hill, C. L.; Renneke, R. F.; Combs, L. Tetrahedron 1988, 44, 7499-7507.
- 551. Prosser-McCartha, C. M.; Hill, C. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 3671-3673.
- 552. Awad, M. K.; Anderson, A. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 1603-1606.
- 553. Renneke, R. F.; Kadkhodayan, M.; Pasquali, M.; Hill, C. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 8357-8367.
- 554. Combs-Walker, L. A.; Hill, C. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 938-946.
- 555. Hou, Y.; Hill, C. L. New J. Chem. 1992, 16, 909-913.
- 556. Jaynes, B. S.; Hill, C. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 12212-12213.
- 557. Yamase, T.; Ohtaka, K. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1994, 2599-2608.
- 558. Jaynes, B. S.; Hill, C. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1995**, 117, 4704–4705. 559. Duncan, D. C.; Netzel, L. T.; Hill, C. L. Inorg. Chem. **1995**, 34, 4640–4646.
- 560. Ermolenko, L. P.; Delaire, J. A.; Giannotti, C. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 2 1997, 25-30.
- 561. Tanielian, C.; Duffy, K.; Jones, A. J. Phys. Chem. B 1997, 101, 4276-4282.
- 562. Kothe, T.; Martschke, R.; Fischer, H. J. Chem. Soc. Perkin Trans. 2 1998, 503-508.
- 563. Duncan, D. C.; Fox, M. A. J. Phys. Chem. A 1998, 102, 4559-4567.
- 564. Zheng, Z.; Hill, C. L. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Comm. 1998, 1998, 2467-2468.
- 565. Texier, I.; Delaire, J. A.; Giannotti, C. Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys. 2000, 2, 1205–1212.
- 566. Nomiya, K.; Sugie, Y.; Miyazaki, T.; Miwa, M. Polyhedron 1986, 5, 1267-1271.
- 567. Nomiya, K.; Miyazaki, T.; Maeda, K.; Miwa, M. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1987, 127, 65-69.
- 568. Chambers, R. C.; Hill, C. L. Inorg. Chem. 1989, 28, 2509-2511.
- 569. Attanasio, D.; Suber, L. Inorg. Chem. 1989, 28, 3779-3781.
- 570. Renneke, R. F.; Pasquali, M.; Hill, C. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 6585-6594.
- 571. Chambers, R. C.; Hill, C. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 8427-8433.
- 572. Attanasio, D.; Suber, L.; Thorslund, K. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 590-592.
- 573. Hiskia, A.; Papaconstantinou, E. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 163-167.
- 574. Zakrzewski, J.; Giannotti, C. J. Photochem. Photobiol. A 1992, 63, 173-177.
- 575. Maldotti, A.; Amadelli, R.; Varani, G.; Tollari, S.; Porta, F. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 2968–2973.
- 576. Karaulova, E. N.; Bagrii, E. I.; Zaikin, V. G. Neftekhimiya 1994, 34, 195-201.
- 577. Mylonas, A.; Papaconstantinou, E. J. Mol. Cat. 1994, 92, 261-267.
- 578. Mylonas, A.; Papaconstantinou, E.; Roussis, V. Polyhedron 1996, 15, 3211-3217.
- 579. Crano, N. J.; Chambers, R. C.; Lynch, V. M.; Fox, M. A. J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem. 1996, 114, 65-75.
- 580. Mylonas, A.; Hiskia, A.; Papaconstantinou, E. J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem. 1996, 114, 191-200.
- 581. Einaga, H.; Misono, M. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1996, 69, 3435-3441.
- 582. Einaga, H.; Misono, M. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1997, 70, 1551-1552.
- 583. Mylonas, A.; Papaconstantinou, E. J. Photochem. Photobiol. A 1996, 94, 77-82.
- 584. Ermolenko, L.; Giannotti, C. J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem. 1996, 114, 87-91.
- 585. Ermolenko, L. P.; Giannotti, C. J. Chem. Soc. Perkin Trans 2 1996, 1205–1210.
- 586. Molinari, A.; Maldotti, A.; Amadelli, R.; Sgobino, A.; Carassiti, V. *Inorg. Chim. Acta* **1998**, *272*, 197–203. 587. Friesen, D. A.; Headley, J. V.; Langford, C. H. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **1999**, *33*, 3193–3198.
- 588. Mylonas, A.; Hiskia, A.; Androulaki, E.; Dimotikali, D.; Papaconstantinou, E. Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys. 1999, 1, 437–440.
- 589. Texier, I.; Ouazzani, J.; Delaire, J.; Giannotti, C. Tetrahedron 1999, 55, 3401-3412.
- 590. Guo, Y.; Wang, Y.; Hu, C.; Wang, Y.; Wang, E.; Zhou, Y.; Feng, S. Chem. Mater. 2000, 12, 3501-3508.
- 591. Ozer, R. R.; Ferry, J. L. J. Phys. Chem. B 2000, 104, 9444-9448.
- 592. Ozer, R. R.; Ferry, J. L. Environ. Sci. Technol. 2001, 35, 3242-3246.
- 593. Hiskia, A.; Ecke, M.; Troupis, A.; Kokorakis, A.; Hennig, H.; Papaconstantinou, E. Environ. Sci. Technol. 2001, 35, 2358–2364.
- 594. Li, D. F.; Guo, Y. H.; Hu, C. W.; Mao, L.; Wang, E. B. Chin. Chem. Lett. 2002, 13, 575-578.
- 595. Yue, B.; Zhou, Y.; Xu, J.; Wu, Z.; Zhang, X.; Zou, Y.; Jin, S. Environ. Sci. Technol. 2002, 36, 1325–1329.
- 596. Ozer, R. R.; Ferry, J. L. J. Phys. Chem. B 2002, 106, 4336-4342.
- 597. Guo, Y.; Hu, C.; Jiang, S.; Guo, C.; Yang, Y.; Wang, E. Appl. Catal. B 2002, 36, 9-17.
- 598. Sattari, D.; Hill, C. L. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Comm. 1990, 634-635.
- 599. Zakrzewski, J.; Giannotti, C. J. Photochem. Photobiol. A 1991, 57, 453-455.
- 600. Sattari, D.; Hill, C. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 4649-4657.

© 2003, Elsevier Ltd. All Rights Reserved

Comprehensive Coordination Chemistry II

ISBN (set): 0-08-0437486

No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in any retrieval system or transmitted in any form or by any means electronic, electrostatic, magnetic tape, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise, without permission in writing from the publishers

4.12 Chalcogenide-containing Metal Clusters

M. N. SOKOLOV and V. P. FEDIN

Russian Academy of Sciences, Novosibirsk, Russia

and

A. G. SYKES

University of Newcastle upon Tyne, UK

4.12.1 INTRODUCTION	762
4.12.2 YTTRIUM	762
4.12.3 TITANIUM AND ZIRCONIUM	762
4.12.3.1 Trinuclear Clusters	762
4.12.3.2 Tetranuclear Clusters	763
4.12.3.3 Pentanuclear Clusters	765
4.12.3.4 Hexanuclear Clusters	766
4.12.4 VANADIUM, NIOBIUM, AND TANTALUM	766
4.12.4.1 Trinuclear Clusters	766
4.12.4.2 Tetranuclear Clusters	770
4.12.4.3 Pentanuclear Clusters	772
4.12.4.4 Hexanuclear Clusters	773
4.12.5 CHROMIUM	774
4.12.5.1 Trinuclear Clusters	774
4.12.5.2 Tetranuclear Clusters	774
4.12.5.3 Pentanuclear Clusters	775
4.12.5.4 Hexanuclear Clusters	775
4.12.6 MOLYBDENUM AND TUNGSTEN	777
4.12.6.1 Trinuclear Clusters with $M_3Q_4^{4+}$ Core	777
4.12.6.1.1 Aquacomplexes $[M_3Q_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$	777
4.12.6.1.2 Reactivity of the aqua ions	778
4.12.6.1.3 Complexes with halides (Cl^{-})	779
4.12.6.1.4 Complexes with O- and N-donors	780
4.12.6.1.5 Sulfur-containing ligands	783
4.12.6.1.6 Complexes with phosphines	784
4.12.6.1.7 Cyanide and η^3 -cyclopentadienyl complexes	787
4.12.6.2 Chalcogen-rich Clusters with M_3Q_7 Cores	787
4.12.6.2.1 Mo ₃ S ₇ clusters	787
$4.12.6.2.2 W_3S_7 \ clusters$	790
$4.12.6.2.3 M_3 \text{Se}_7 \text{ clusters}$	790
4.12.6.2.4 <i>Mo</i> ₃ <i>Te</i> ₇ <i>clusters</i>	791
4.12.6.2.5 $Mo_3O(S_2)_3$ clusters	791
$4.12.6.2.6 Mo_3O(Te_2)_3 \ clusters$	791
$4.12.6.2.7 Mo_3S(Se_2)_3 \ cluster$	792
4.12.6.2.8 $M_3S(S_{eq}-Se_{ax})_3$ clusters	792
4.12.6.2.9 $M_3S(S_{eq}-Se_{ax})_3$ and $M_3Se(S_{eq}-Se_{ax})_3$ clusters	793
4.12.6.3 Mo_3S_5 Core Clusters	793
4.12.6.4 M_4Q_4 Cubes (M = Mo, W; Q = S, Se, Te)	793

4.12.6.4.1 Aqua ions	793
4.12.6.4.2 Derivatives of $[Mo_4S_4(H_2O)_{l_2}]^{5+}$	795
4.12.6.4.3 Complexes with edta	796
4.12.6.4.4 Complexes with S-donors	796
4.12.6.4.5 Cyanides	797
4.12.6.4.6 Cyclopentadienyls	798
4.12.6.4.7 Solid-state chalcogenides and chalcohalides	798
4.12.6.4.8 Electron-poor and electron-rich cube clusters	798
4.12.6.4.9 Raft-type $[M_4(\mu_{\pi}-S)_2(\mu-S)_4]^{2+}$ clusters and their derivatives	799
4.12.6.5 Heterometallic Derivatives of $[Mo_3Q_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ and $[W_3Q_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$	799
4.12.6.5.1 Group 6 (Cr)	800
4.12.6.5.2 Group 7 (Re)	800
4.12.6.5.3 Group 8 (Fe, Ru, Os)	801
4.12.6.5.4 Group 9 (Co, Rh, Ir)	801
4.12.6.5.5 Group 10 (Ni, Pd, Pt)	802
4.12.6.5.6 Group 11 (Cu)	805
4.12.6.5.7 Group 12 (Cd, Hg)	806
4.12.6.5.8 Group 13 (Ga, In, Tl)	808
4.12.6.5.9 Group 14 (Ge, Sn, Pb)	809
4.12.6.5.10 Group 15 (As, Sb, Bi)	812
4.12.6.5.11 Postscript	813
4.12.6.6 Octahedral Clusters M_6Q_8	813
4.12.6.6.1 Mo Clusters	814
4.12.6.6.2 W Clusters	815
4.12.6.6.3 Hexanuclear raft-type clusters with $Mo_6Q_8^{6+}$ cores	816
4.12.7 REFERENCES	817

4.12.1 INTRODUCTION

This chapter is devoted to clusters of early transition elements (Groups 3–6), with elements of the oxygen group referred to as the chalcogens (Q = O, S, Se, Te) in the core. We find it appropriate to apply the term "cluster" in a broader sense and clusters without M-bonding, e.g., Ti and Zr are included. Trinuclear upward (not binuclear) complexes are considered. The reader will see that the same structural type may or may not include M-M bonding. As this chapter needs to fall within the scope of coordination chemistry, the coverage of organometallic examples is restricted. However, for Group 4, to a lesser degree Group 5, and for Cr, almost all known chalcogenide clusters include η^5 -cyclopentadienyl ligands, and some coverage of the published data is included. Studies on early transition-metal chalcogenide clusters are relatively new, and most of the research has been carried out since the mid 1980s, with almost all compounds routinely characterized by X-ray structural analysis. Spectroscopic methods have usually played a secondary role. The main emphasis is on synthesis, yields, structure, stability, reactivity, core rearrangements and interconversions; while spectroscopic and other information is given more selectively. The area has been the subject of several reviews since 1990.¹⁻⁹ Other reviews albeit not strictly dedicated to the present topic are also of interest.^{10–12} Though not covered in this chapter, chalcogenide rhenium clusters show some strong similarities. A review covering this aspect of rhenium chemistry has appeared recently.¹³

4.12.2 YTTRIUM

The only relevant Group 3 polynuclear complex, $[Y_8(\mu_4-O)(\mu_3-OH)_{12}(\mu-Se_4)_4Cl_2(DMF)_{10}]$ 6DMF is prepared from YCl₃ and polyselenide in DMF. It has an octanuclear core, supported by oxo, hydroxo, and tetraselenido bridges with no Y–Y bonds. No Sc or actinide chalcogenide clusters are known. Lanthanide/selenido clusters have recently been isolated.¹⁴

4.12.3 TITANIUM AND ZIRCONIUM

4.12.3.1 Trinuclear Clusters

Very few examples of this type are known in Group 4. Reaction of $TiCl_4$ with $(Me_3Si)_2S$ in CH_2Cl_2 gives a black precipitate, formulated as "TiSCl_2," which reacts with PPh₄Cl or Et₄NCl to



Figure 1 Structure of the $[Ti_3(\mu_3-O)(\mu-S_2)_3Cl_6]^{2-}$ cation.



Figure 2 Structure of the $[Zr_3(\mu_3-S)_2(\mu-^tBuS)_2(\mu-S)(BH_4)_4(THF)_2]$ molecule.

give $[TiSCl_4]^{2-}$ salts as the major products, with small yields of red $(Et_4N)_2[Ti_3O(S_2)_3Cl_6]$ and $(Ph_4P)_2[Ti_3O(S_2)_3Cl_6]$. The X-ray structure of the latter shows the $Ti_3(\mu_3-O)(\mu-S_2)_3^{4+}$ core, more typical of Mo, W, Re clusters. A long Ti–Ti distance of 3.16 Å indicates the absence of Ti–Ti bonding, consistent with Ti^{IV}. The S–S bonds are 2.04 Å (Figure 1). No similar Zr or Hf complexes are known.^{15,16}

The reaction of $Zr(CH_2Ph)_4$ with ^tBuSH in toluene (~20 °C) gives the Zr^{IV} complex $[Zr_3(\mu_3-S)(\mu_3-{}^tBuS)(\mu-{}^tBuS)_3({}^tBuS)_6]$ as yellow needles, 75% yield.^{17,18} Attempts to substitute the capping thiolate result in rapid decomposition. Another $Zr_3{}^{IV}$ cluster with three bridging sulfides is a product of $Zr(BH_4)_4$ with ^tBuSH in THF at 50 °C. This yellow compound has the composition $[Zr_3(\mu_3-S)_2(\mu-{}^tBuS)_2(\mu-S)(BH_4)_4(THF)_2]$ (Figure 2). The structure shows an equilateral triangle with long Zr–Zr distances (3.47 Å), and no M–M bonding. The complex is extremely moisture sensitive. On leaving a concentrated CH₂Cl₂ solution (~20 °C) for 24 h, one THF dissociates and dimerization of the trinuclear units gives hexanuclear $[Zr_3(\mu_3-S)_2(\mu-{}^tBuS)_2($

4.12.3.2 Tetranuclear Clusters

The Ti₄S₄⁴⁺ core exists in Ti^{III} cuboidal clusters $[(\eta^5 - RC_5H_4)_4Ti_4S_4]$ (R = H, Me, ⁱPr). The complex $[(\eta^5 - C_5H_5)_4Ti_4S_4]$ forms in the reaction of $[(\eta^5 - C_5H_5)_2Ti(CO)_2]$ with H₂S at 80 °C in the presence of water, 50% yield.²⁰ Cuboidal clusters are also obtained by reacting $[(\eta^5 - RC_5H_4)TiCl_2(THF)_2]$ with (Me₃Si)₂S. All these clusters are air-sensitive brown solids, extremely reactive towards protic solvents. The structure of $[(\eta^5 - MeC_5H_4)_4Ti_4S_4]$ shows a distorted cubic core (symmetry D_{2d}) with Ti–Ti distances of 2.93–3.01 Å. The clusters give molecular peaks in mass spectra. The ⁱPr derivative does not show reversible redox behavior between +0.6 V and -0.6 V.²¹

Group 4 metals have little affinity for S, Se, and Te, which is confirmed in the aqueous solution chemistry. However, when oxygen is excluded, a variety of chalcogenide derivatives can be incorporated via, e.g., RSH scission. The presence of small amounts of O₂ or H₂O can lead to incorporation of oxygen, and Ti clusters containing O alongside S, Se are formed extensively in processes difficult to control. There are several examples of Ti₄(μ_4 -O)¹⁴⁺ with O at the center of the Ti₄ tetrahedron. When metallic Ti reacts with S and S₂Cl₂ at 160 °C, red air-sensitive [Ti₄(O)(S₂)₄Cl₆] ·S₈. Both



Figure 3 Structure of the $[Zr_3(\mu_3-S)_2(\mu^{-t}BuS)_2(\mu-S)(BH_4)_4(THF)]_2$ molecule. Only oxygen and boron donor atoms of THF and BH₄ ligands are shown.

have essentially the same geometry with distorted tetrahedral arrangement of Ti (idealized symmetry D_{2d}). Four short Ti-Ti edges of the tetrahedron (4.12 Å) are bridged by S₂ groups, and the other two bridged by μ -Cl are longer (3.56 Å). In the absence of Ti-Ti bonding, Fenske-Hall calculations attribute the Ti-Ti shortening to the strong bonding between Ti^{IV} and bridging S₂. Mass spectrometry on [Ti₄(O)(S₂)₄Cl₆] shows a monoprotonated molecular peak at 485 °C.²²

The same Ti₄O¹⁴⁺ core is present in $[(\eta^5 - C_5H_5)_4Ti_4O_2(S_2)_4]$, (5% yield), when products of the reaction of $[(\eta^5 - C_5H_5)_2Ti(CO)_2]$ with H₂S are allowed to stand for eight days after separation of $[(\eta^5 - C_5H_5)_4Ti_4S_4]$.²⁰ The core here is again asymmetrical with one of the Ti-Ti edges bridged by μ_2 -O. The proton NMR in CD₂Cl₂ shows two types of resonances (1:1, 6.21 ppm and 5.65 ppm), and in the mass spectrum the molecular peak appears at 740 m/e.²⁰ The MeC₅H₄ analog, $[(\eta^5 - MeC_5H_4)_4Ti_4O_2(S_2)_4]$ was prepared by treatment of $[(\eta^5 - MeC_5H_4)TiCl_3]$ with 1.5 eq. of Li₂S₂ in THF, followed by exposure to O₂, 15% yield. The structure shows essentially the same geometry (Figure 4). The H¹ NMR spectrum has two non-equivalent MeC₅H₅ rings invariable +80 to -70 °C.²³ Olive-green $[(\eta^5 - C_5H_5)_4Ti_4(\mu_4-O)(Se_2)_2(Se)_3]$ is more distorted, where the Ti₄O¹⁴⁺ core has two μ_3 -Se bridges, two μ_3 -Se bridges and one μ_2 -Se (Figure 5). It forms as one of the products when $[(\eta^5 - C_5H_5)_4Ti_4Se_6]$ is reduced with Bu₃SnH or PBu₃²⁴ or from (Me₃Si)₂Se with $[(\eta^5 - C_5H_5)TiCl_3]$.²⁵

Another Ti₄ cluster is better viewed as a derivative of the hypothetical trinuclear "crownshaped" unit $(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_3$ Ti₃ $(\mu_2-Q)_6$, Q = S, Se. Capping the three chalcogen atoms from one side with a $(\eta^5-C_5H_5)$ Ti group gives $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_4$ Ti₄Q₆] (Ti₄¹⁶⁺ core, no Ti—Ti bonding). Here, the Se derivative $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_4$ Ti₄Se₆] is the only real example.²⁶ Substituting μ –QR for some of μ –Q bridges, while keeping the molecule neutral, gives mixed Ti^{III}–Ti^{IV} clusters, of which $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_4$ Ti₄S₄(SEt)₂] is known. It is formed from $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)$ TiMeCl₂], EtSH, and Et₃N in pentane, 5% yield. This very oxophilic product has an ESR spectrum (g = 1.998 in C₆H₆ at 25 °C). The Ti atoms are clearly non equivalent. The unique capping Ti atom has greater Lewis



Figure 4 Structure of the $[(\eta^5 - MeC_5H_4)_4Ti_4(\mu_4 - O)(\mu_2 - O)(S_2)_4]$ molecule.



Figure 5 Structure of the $[(\eta^5 - C_5H_5)_4Ti_4(\mu_4 - O)(Se_2)_2(Se)_3]$ molecule.

acidity (Ti—S 2.29 Å) and may be regarded as Ti^{IV}, and the three basal Ti have longer Ti—S bonds, 2.38–2.52 Å. The Ti^{III}–Ti^{III} distances do not reflect significant M–M interaction.²⁷ The core in this family $Ti_4(\mu_3$ -S)₃⁷⁺ is unique, formula $[(\eta^5$ -C₅H₅)₄Ti₄ S₃(2,6-*i*Pr₂C₆H₃O)₃].²⁸

4.12.3.3 Pentanuclear Clusters

Capping the $[(\eta^5 - C_5H_5)_4Ti_4Q_6]$ clusters with another $(\eta^5 - C_5H_5)Ti$ unit gives pentanuclear clusters incorporating pentagonal bipyramidal Ti_5^{17+} . Here, all three derivatives are known, Q = S, Se, and Te. The cluster $[(\eta^5 - C_5H_5)_5Ti_5S_6]$ (Figure 6) is made from $[(\eta^5 - C_5H_5)_2Ti(CO)_2]$ and H₂S in toluene (80 °C), yield 73%. This green-brown, moderately air-sensitive product is very soluble in toluene. Its structure shows two sorts of Ti atoms, the apical ones Ti^{1V}-S at 2.28 Å, and three equatorial Ti^{III}—S bonds, 2.47 Å. There are only three electrons available for M—M bonding and they are localized between the equatorial atoms, (Ti–Ti 3.21 Å). The Ti_{ap}–Ti_{eq} distance is 3.08 Å, possibly a secondary effect due to the shortness of the Ti_{ap}-S bonds. The ESR spectrum in toluene (20 °C) gives g = 1.993, and μ_{eff} is only 1.25 B.M., which is low compared to the expected 1.73 B.M. This is attributed to the lack of diamagnetic correction for any of the ligands at the Ti.²⁹ The reaction of $[(\eta^5 - C_5H_5)TiCl_3]$ with PhCH₂SH (1:3) and Et₃N in benzene gives also $[(\eta^5 - C_5H_5)_5Ti_5S_6]$ as one of the products.²⁷ The Se analog is obtained from $[(\eta^5 - C_5H_5)_4Ti_4Se_6]$ and Bu₃SnH or PBu₃.²⁴ It is also prepared by incubation of $[(\eta^5 - C_5H_5)TiCl_2(THF)_2]$ with Et₃N and H₂Se for 24 h, yield 71%.²⁴ Its crystal structure shows the same features as the S analog, with two sets of Ti–Ti distances of 3.37 Å and 3.32 Å and Ti–Se 2.42 Å and 2.64 Å. Two types of cyclopentadienyl protons can be seen in the NMR (15.88 ppm and 9.01 ppm), and the ESR spectrum in toluene gives a single narrow line, g = 1.979 (293 K). The compound (Me₃Si)₂Se can be used as a source of Se in the case of $[(\eta^5-MeC_5H_4)TiCl_3]^{30}$ The Te analog can also be prepared from $[(\eta^5-MeC_5H_4)TiCl_3]$ and $(Me_3Si)_2Te$, 68% yield. Both clusters have been structurally characterized and are paramagnetic.³⁰

The structure of $[(\eta^5 - C_5H_5)_5Ti_5(S_2)(S)_5(O)]$ (Figure 7) is made from $[(\eta^5 - C_5H_5)_2Ti(SH)_2]$ and Zn powder in toluene (~20 °C) alongside $[(\eta^5 - C_5H_5)_5Ti_5S_6]$, is related to the type of compound just discussed, yields 10%. It has one S₂ bridge instead of S, and an interstitial μ_4 -oxygen atom. Thus we have a Ti₅O¹⁷⁺ core, which is paramagnetic with ESR spectrum in toluene, g = 1.980.²⁰



Figure 6 Structure of the $[(\eta^5 - C_5H_5)_5Ti_5S_6]$ molecule.



Figure 7 Structure of the $[(\eta^5 - C_5H_5)_5Ti_5(S_2)(S)_5(\mu_4 - O)]$ molecule.

4.12.3.4 Hexanuclear Clusters

Examples are almost exclusively cyclopentadienyl derivatives of the very common octahedral core $M_6(\mu_3-Q)_8$. With Ti the compound $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_6Ti_6S_4O_4]$ (Figure 8) and $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_6Ti_6Te_6O_2]$ have been prepared, but no corresponding selenide is known. The pure oxo-cluster $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_6Ti_6O_8]$ also exists.³¹ A dark-red sulfide cluster is obtained in low yield from $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_6Ti_6O_8]$ and $PhCH_2SH$ in pentane, which with LiOH deprotonates the thiol, and oxygen is incorporated. The structure of this very oxo-philic product indicates an octahedral Ti₆ core with partially disordered O and S atoms.²⁷ Black platelets of $[(\eta^5-(C_5H_5)_6Ti_6Te_6O_2]$ were obtained in low yield by treating $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2Ti(TeSiPh_3)_2]$ with PPh₃. The Ti–Ti distances vary from 3.27 Å to 3.99 Å,³² and the oxidation state is less than Ti^{IV}, with electrons available for M–M bonding. In the case of Zr, which is bigger and less easy to reduce, the product $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_6Zr_6S_9]$ is obtained where one S acts as interstitial μ_6 ligand inside the Zr₆ octahedron.³³ No electrons are available for M–M bonding in the Zr^{IV} derivative.

Black K₄Ba[Ti₆OS₈(S₂)₆ prepared in a 70% yield from K₂S, BaS, Ti, TiO₂, and S in the molar ratio of 1:0.25:1:0.25:7 at 550–600 °C, has an octahedral core Ti₆(μ_6 –O)(μ_3 –S)₈⁶⁺ with interstitial oxygen. Each titanium has S₂²⁻ bound sideways on the outside. The oxidation state is Ti^{IV} with no Ti–Ti bonds (Ti–Ti ~ 3.23 Å).³⁴

No hafnium chalcogenide clusters have yet been reported.

4.12.4 VANADIUM, NIOBIUM, AND TANTALUM

4.12.4.1 Trinuclear Clusters

The only cluster in this group having the incomplete cuboidal core $V_3S_4^{3+}$ was isolated from a reaction mixture of $Na_2S_2C_2H_4$ (Na_2edt), Et_4NBr , VCl_3 , and sulfur as black ($Et_4N)_3[V_3 S_4(edt)_3] \cdot 2CH_3CN$. The yield was 20%. Its structure shows a triangular arrangement of vanadium atoms (V—V bonds



Figure 8 Structure of the $[(\eta^5 - C_5H_5)_6Ti_6(\mu_3 - S)_4(\mu_3 - O)_4]$ molecule.

2.89–2.92 Å), and the core possesses idealized $C_{3\nu}$ symmetry. The coordination around each V, neglecting V—V bonds, is close to a trigonal bipyramid. The structure shows no evidence to justify a trapped-valence assignment (V^{III}V^{IV}₂). The cluster can be oxidized and reduced reversibly in CV experiment, in CH₃CN, which give reduction potentials (vs. NHF): 3-/4-(-1.51 V) 2-/3-(-0.63 V) both reversible, and 1-/2-(0.00 V) irreversible.³⁵ No Nb or Ta analogs are known, although in the black compound (Me₄N)₃(NH₄)₃[Nb₃ SO₃(NCS)₉] a Nb₃(μ_3 -S)(μ -O)₃³⁺ core is present (Nb—Nb 2.763 Å) (Figure 9). It was prepared by the aquation of tetrahydrothiophene (THT) of Nb₂Cl₆(THT)₃ in HCl and subsequent treatment with NH₄NCS in a 60% yield. Without counting the Nb—Nb bonds the metal has an octahedral coordination.³⁶

The closely related chalcogen-rich cluster core $M_3(\mu_3-S)(\mu-S_2)_3$ is known for vanadium. Reaction of $[V(SPh)_2(bpy)_2]PF_6$ with sulfur in acetonitrile gives $[V_3S_7(bpy)_3]PF_6$ in a 35–40% yield. In this V^{III} derivative, the V–V distances are 2.75–2.77 Å, and six electrons are available to give three single V–V bonds (Figure 10). The calculations show that indeed the HOMO and LUMO are almost pure M–M bonding and antibonding orbitals, respectively. The cluster is diamagnetic both in the solid state and in solution. Cyclic voltammetry shows one-electron reversible oxidation at $-0.47 V vs. Fc^+/Fc$ in acetonitrile.³⁷ The oxidized $V_3S_7^{2+}$ core is found in black (Et₄N)[V_3S_7 (Me_2NCS_2)_3] which forms from (NH₄)₃[VS]₄, CuCl, PhSNa, Na(Me₂NCS₂), and Et₄NCl in DMF in only 3% yield. The cluster is very stable and the solutions are not air sensitive. It is paramagnetic, $\mu_{eff} = 1.76 \text{ B.M.}$ at 300 K. An IR band of 442 cm⁻¹ was assigned to μ_3 –S, and that of 554 cm⁻¹ to S–S of the disulfido bridge, while V–S_{dtc} appears at only 354 cm⁻¹. The vanadium atoms are identical and no separate oxidation states can be ascribed to them, the V–V distances are 2.74–2.75 Å. Cyclic voltammetry shows a reversible reduction at -1.09 V, and a reversible oxidation at 0.04 V.³⁸ The presence of Cu^I is in fact not necessary for the assembly of the V₃S₇ core. The compound (NH₄)₃[VS₄] reacts with (HOCH₂CH₂)₂NCS₂Na and Et₄NCl in CH₃OH to give black (Et₄N)[V₃S₇((HOCH₂-



Figure 9 Structure of the $[Nb_3(\mu_3-S)(\mu-O)_3(NCS)_9]^{6-}$ anion.



Figure 10 Structure of the $[V_3S_7(bpy)_3]^+$ cation.

 $CH_2)_2NCS_2)_3$ in 19% yield. The yield increases when a stream of H_2S is passed through the reaction mixture and a thiol is added. Thus $(Et_4N)[V_3S_7(Et_2NCS_2)_3]$ forms from $(NH_4)_3[VS_4]$, Nadtc, Et_4NCl , and dithiothreitol $(C_4H_{10}O_2S_2)$ under these conditions. It has also been structurally characterized. The redox behavior of all the three dithiocarbamates is very similar.³⁹

In the black air-sensitive compound $(Et_4N)[V_3(\mu-O)_2(\mu-S)_2(O)(Et_2NCS_2)_3]$ only two of the vanadium(IV) atoms are close enough (2.715 Å) to form a single metal-metal bond and they are spin-coupled. The third V atom is present as a typical tetragonal pyramidal vanadyl, VO²⁺, and the ESR spectrum resembles that of $[VO(edt)_2]^{2-}$. In the IR spectrum a band at 971cm⁻¹ was assigned to the V=O group, and another band at 844 cm⁻¹ to the V–O–V. The compound was made from VCl₃, Li₂S, Et₄NBr, and Nadtc·3H₂O (1:2:1:1 molar ratio) in acetonitrile. The ⁵¹V NMR gives two signals with chemical shifts -389 ppm and -519 ppm.⁴⁰

The congeners Nb and Ta do not resemble V in its tendency to form trinuclear chalcogenide clusters. An unusual Nb cluster is obtained from $[(\eta^5-\text{EtMe}_4\text{C}_5)_2\text{Nb}_2(\text{B}_2\text{H}_6)_2]$ and S₈ in decane at 170 °C in a 26% yield (Figure 11). An equilateral triangle Nb₃ is capped by a $[\text{BS}_3(\text{SH})]^{4-}$ anion in a symmetrical way (Nb—S 2.55 Å), so that this unusual anion is able to act as a donor of 12 electrons. There are only 2e to fill M—M bonding orbitals. The S–H group shows a weak band in the IR spectrum at 2,560 cm⁻¹. If the same reaction is done in xylene at 144 °C, the same product forms along with a more sulfur-rich cluster $[(\eta^5-\text{EtMe}_4\text{C}_5)_3\text{Nb}_3\text{S}_8]$ of unknown structure.⁴¹ A very similar cluster is known also for Ta except the capping ligand here is a hydridotrithioborate anion, $[\text{BS}_3(\text{H})]^{4-}$. It was prepared from the mononuclear complex $[(\eta^5-\text{C}_5\text{Me}_5)\text{Ta}(\text{S})(\text{SCPh}_3)_2]$ and NaBH₄ as a green product (plates) in 70% yield. The ¹¹B NMR gives a sharp resonance at -21.3 ppm. The Ta—S (thioborate) distance is 2.54 Å and the Ta—S (bridging sulfide) is shorter, 2.36 Å.⁴² Treatment of $[(\eta^5-\text{C}_5\text{Me}_5)\text{Ta}(\text{L}_4]$ with Li₂S (THF, 0 °C) gives another Ta triangular cluster, isolated as Li₂[($\eta^5-\text{C}_5\text{Me}_5$)_Ta_3S_6]·2THF.⁴³

There are also less symmetrical triangular cores which contain bridging disulfido or trisulfido ligands, often as a part of complex product mixtures. The corresponding $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)MCl_4]$ (M=Nb, Ta) reacts with (Me₃Si)₂Q (Q=S, Se) to form black $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_3Nb_3Se_5Cl_2]$, red $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_3Ta_3S_7Cl_2]$, brown $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_4Ta_4S_{13}]$, and black $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_8Ta_6S_{10}]$ [TaSCl₅].⁴⁴ The Nb cluster has a chain of three Nb atoms bridged by Se and Se₂ (Figure 12). The trinuclear Ta^V cluster shows a triangle of three Ta atoms bridged by μ_2 -S, μ_3 -S, and μ_2 -S₂ (Figure 13). Long Ta-Ta



Figure 11 Structure of the $[(\eta^5 - \text{EtMe}_4\text{C}_5)_3\text{Nb}_3(\text{S}_3\text{BSH})(\mu - \text{S})_3]$ molecule.



Figure 12 Structure of the $[(\eta^5 - C_5H_5)_3Nb_3Se_5Cl_2]$ molecule.



Figure 13 Structure of the $[(\eta^5 - C_5H_5)_3Ta_3S_7Cl_2]$ molecule.

distances of 3.24–3.60 Å indicate no M—M bonding, in agreement with the oxidation state formalism.⁴⁴ The group Nb₃¹⁵⁺ gives even more chalcogen-rich cores. Thermolysis of a polysulfide mixture of $[(\eta^{5}-{}^{t}BuC_{5}H_{4})_{4}Nb_{2}(S_{n})]$ (n=8, 9) in toluene (1 h, 100 °C) gives a mixture of four products: red–orange structurally characterized as $[(\eta^{5}-{}^{t}BuC_{5}H_{4})_{3}Nb_{3}S_{12}]$ and $[(\eta^{5}-{}^{t}BuC_{5}H_{4})_{4}Nb_{4}S_{13}]$ of unknown structure. The first cluster has a Nb₃(μ_{3} -S)(μ_{3} -S₂)(μ -S₂)₂(μ -S₃)(S₂)³⁺ core with three different types of Nb atoms, and in solution its proton magnetic resonance spectrum indicates three different 'BuC₅H₄)₃Nb₃(O)S₁₀] is similar, with μ_{3} -O instead of μ_{3} -S (Nb-O 2.07–2.12 Å) and a μ_{3} -S₂ ligand instead of S₃ (Figure 15). The Nb atoms here are not equivalent and they remain so in solution, as can be seen from ¹H NMR. The Nb-Nb distances are 3.33–3.74 Å.⁴⁵



Figure 14 Structure of the $[(\eta^5 - {}^{t}BuC_5H_4)_3Nb_3(\mu_3 - S)(\mu_3 - S_2)(\mu - S_2)_2(\mu - S_3)(S_2)]$ molecule.



Figure 15 Structure of the $[(\eta^5 - {}^tBuC_5H_4)_3Nb_3(\mu_3 - O)(S_2)_5]$ molecule.

A mixed chalcogenide halide bridged cluster core Nb₃ $(\mu_3-S)(\mu_3-I)(\mu-I)_3^{4+}$ is encountered in a layered compound $Nb_7S_2I_{19}$, that is present as $[Nb_3SI_7]_2[NbI_5]$. This compound forms nearly level sheets of Nb₃ triangular clusters. Each Nb is octahedrally coordinated by one S and five I atoms. The sulfur atom and one of the iodine atoms cap the triangle (Nb–Nb 2.776 Å). The two-dimensional network forms through intercluster bridging iodine atoms, forming nearly hexagonal channels along the c axis. In these channels are isolated NbI₅ molecules. This inclusion compound was made by heating the elements in a molar ratio 7Nb:2S:19I in a quartz ampoule at 1,100 K for 2 days. Another triangular cluster compound, Nb₃IS₇, formed under these conditions as an impurity. Two-probe electrical resistivity measurements indicated $\rho(300 \text{ K}) > 10^4 \Omega \text{ cm}$.⁴⁶ A series of polymeric chalcohalides M_3QX_7 (M = Nb, Ta; Q = S, Se, Te; X = Cl, Br, I) with a $M_3(\mu_3-Q)(\mu-X)_3^{4+}$ core as common unit was prepared by solid-state reactions^{47,48} In a cluster $[Nb_3O(Te_4)(Te_2)_2I_6]$ I the metal core is arranged in the form of an isosceles triangle with the Nb–Nb distances 3.013 Å, 3.048 Å, and 3.861 Å. The core is capped by a μ_3 -O atom. Each of the two short sides if the triangle is bridged by one Te₂ group, while a similar planar Te₄ group (Te-Te 2.797 Å) is bonded in a $\mu - \eta^2 : \eta^2$ fashion to the longer side. The bonding is rationalized in terms of the formalism $[(Nb^{3+})(Nb^{4+})_2(O^{2-})(Te_2^{2-})_2(I^{-})_6]^+$, thus leaving four electrons to form two localized Nb—Nb bonds. The compound, which is black, is obtained in a moderate yield from Nb, NbOI₃, Te, and I₂ (2:1:8:2 molar ratio). It can also be made in low yield directly from the elements (3Nb, 11Te, $2I_2$, at 680 °C).⁴⁹

4.12.4.2 Tetranuclear Clusters

The tetrahedral M_4 unit is present in cuboidal clusters M_4Q_4 , and these are well known for V, Nb, and to a lesser extent, Ta. Vanadium forms a dithiocarbamate $(Et_4N)[V_4S_4(C_4H_8NCS_2)_6]$ in a 67% yield from $(NH_4)_3[VS]_4$, ammonium pyrrolidine dithiocarbamate $NH_4C_4H_8NCS_2$ and PPh₃, in the presence of Et₃N in acetonitrile at room temperature. The V-S distances vary 2.27–2.33 Å, and V–V distances in the $V_4S_4^{5+}$ core (2.77–3.00 Å) indicate M–M bonding, with the involvement of seven electrons.⁵⁰ The cyclopentadienyl derivatives have been long known and can be accessed by various routes. The oxidative sulfurization of $[(\eta^5 - \text{MeC}_5\text{H}_4)_2\text{V}]$ with 'BuSH under reflux in heptane gives relatively air-stable $[(\eta^5 - MeC_4H_5)_4V_4S_4]$, with small amounts of penta-nuclear $[(\eta^5 - MeC_5H_4)_5V_5S_6]$ (Figure 16).⁵¹ The unsubstituted less soluble $[(\eta^5 - C_5H_5)_4 - C_5H_5)_4$ V₄S₄] is made from vanadocene and CH₃C(S)SH (yield 47%, reaction takes four days).⁵² This cluster can also be made from $[(\eta^5 - C_5H_5)_2V]$ and H_2S in THF at room temperature.⁵³ Another approach involves a condensation of two V_2 units. Desulfurization of \hat{S}_2 bridged $[(\eta^5 - \text{MeC}_5\text{H}_4)_2\text{V}_2(\mu - \eta^1 - \text{S}_2)(\text{S})_2]$ with PBu₃ gives a mixture of $[(\eta^5 - \text{MeC}_5\text{H}_4)_4\text{V}_4\text{S}_4]$ and $[(\eta^5 - \text{CH}_3\text{C}_5\text{H}_4)_5\text{V}_5\text{S}_6]^{.54}$ The cube of $[(\eta^5 - \text{C}_5\text{H}_5)_4\text{V}_4\text{S}_4]$ is made from the corresponding $[(\eta^5 - \text{C}_5\text{H}_5)_2\text{V}_2\text{S}_4]$ and PBu₃. Reaction of $[(\eta^5 - \text{C}_5\text{H}_5)_2\text{V}]$ with $[(\eta^5 - \text{CH}_3\text{C}_5\text{H}_4)_2\text{V}_2\text{S}_4]$ gives the mixed species $[(\eta^5 - C_5H_5)_x(MeC_4H_5)_{4-x}V_4S_4]$, which have been characterized by ¹H NMR and mass spectroscopy.^{21,54} Similarly, selenium-rich $[(\eta^5 - C_5H_5)_2V_2Se_5]$ reacts with PBu₃ to give $[(\eta^5 - C_5H_5)_4V_4Se_4]$ (72%, 2h in CH₂Cl₂).⁵⁵ The MeC₅H₄ analog is obtained in a 46% yield from $[(\eta^5 - \text{MeC}_5\text{H}_4)_2\text{V}_2\text{Se}_4]$ and PBu₃ (46%, 4 h in CH₂Cl₂).⁵⁵ The tellurides $[(\eta^5 - \text{RC}_5\text{H}_4)_4\text{V}_4\text{Te}_4]$ (R = H, Me) are obtained by heating $[(\eta^5 - RC_5H_4)_2V_2(CO)_4(Te)_2]$ in toluene at 50–60 °C in almost quantitative yields (R = H, Me).⁵⁵ These cuboidal clusters have 8e available for M—M bonding and are paramagnetic, in agreement with the orbital population pattern $a_1^2 + e^4 + 1t_2^2$. The cube $[(\eta^5 - MeC_5H_4)_4V_4S_4]$ gives the molecular peak in the mass spectrum, with subsequent loss of all the cyclopentadienyl ligands, when the "naked" $V_4S_4^+$ ion appears. X-ray analysis of this cluster shows a regular tetrahedron with V-V bonds 2.88 Å, and V-S 2.30 Å.51,56 The cube $[(\eta^5 - C_5H_5)_4V_4S_4]$ has a very similar structure.⁵² Although cyclic voltammetry experiments



Figure 16 Structure of the $[(\eta^5 - \text{MeC}_5\text{H}_4)_4\text{V}_4]$ molecule.

show that $[(\eta^5 - MeC_5H_4)_4V_4S_4]$ loses reversibly four electrons in four consecutive 1e oxidation steps, only the first oxidation gives a product stable enough to be isolated. It was obtained as $[(\eta^5 - MeC_5H_4)_4V_4S_4]BF_4$ by oxidation with Ph₃CBF₄. The V–V and V–S distances in this cation are very similar to those in the neutral molecule, 2.86 Å and 2.30 Å, respectively.²¹

The Nb₄Q₄⁴⁺ core is found only in the solid state, in chalcohalides Nb₄Q₄X₄ (Q = S, Se; X = Br, I). They are prepared by high-temperature synthesis from the elements. Only the seleno-iodide Nb₄Se₄I₄ could be obtained pure by heating the elements in a sealed quartz ampoule in a 880/850 °C temperature gradient. It is built from the cuboidal units Nb₄Se₄ and I atoms in such a way that a cubic NaCl-type lattice is formed. Each Nb atom is connected to three I's and each I is triply bridging. The Nb–I distance is 3.01 Å and Nb–Nb 2.96 Å, which is appreciably longer than in the isoelectronic V₄S₄ cubes. The Nb₄Se₄Br₄, Nb₄Se₄Br₄, and Nb₄Se₄I₄ compounds are also known but could not be prepared pure.⁵⁷ The cubes GaM₄Q₈ (M = Nb, Ta; Q = S, Se) are prepared by high-temperature reactions from the elements; their structures resemble that of Nb₄Se₄I₄, but with the M₄Q₄ units interconnected by the extra chalcogenide ions instead of iodine.⁵⁸

Examples of incorporation of a μ_4 -O atom at the center of an M₄ tetrahedron M = Nb, Ta are also known. Both the cluster anions [M₄(μ_4 -O)Te₄(CN)₁₂]⁶⁻ are made by heating MTe₄ with KCN at 350–450 °C. They are relatively air stable and have been structurally characterized. The Nb–Nb distances in dark-brown K₆[Nb₄(O)Te₄(CN)₁₂]KOH·K₂CO₃·8H₂O are 3.20 Å, with only four electrons available for M—M bonding. The cluster undergoes a quasi-reversible oxidation at 309 mV followed by irreversible oxidation at 900 mV in 0.1 M Na₂SO₄ solution (vs. NHE).^{59,60}

The tetrahedral arrangement of Ta atoms is also found in $[(\eta^5 - C_5H_5)_4Ta_4S_{13}]$, where the Ta atoms are bridged by four $\mu_2 - S_2$, two $\mu_3 - S$, and one $\mu_4 - S$ ligands (Figure 17). The quadruply bridging sulfide forms rather long bonds with Ta ranging from 2.62 Å to 2.67 Å. No Ta—Ta bonding exists in this Ta^V compound.⁴⁴ The compound $[(\eta^5 - {}^{t}BuC_5 H_4)_4Nb_4S_{13}]$ may have the same structure.⁴⁵

Opening up the M₄ tetrahedron gives square–planar units, represented here by a Nb₄(μ_4 –S)₂⁸⁺ core. The first cluster of this type to be prepared was black Li₄[Nb₄(S)₂(SPh)₁₂], made from [Nb₂Cl₆(Me₂S)₃] and LiSPh (taken in a large excess) in toluene, 55–60% yield. In this diamagnetic cluster, four Nb^{III} atoms have 8e, sufficient to satisfy the requirement of four single metal–metal bonds (Figure 18). The Nb–Nb distances are 2.83 Å. This cluster is rather robust and cannot be oxidized with PhSSPh, nor does it reacts with PPh₃ in a hot toluene.⁶¹ Orange [Nb₄(S)₂(SPh)₈(PMe₂R)₄] (R = Me, Ph) were prepared by reducing NbCl₅ with Na/Hg, adding PhSSPh and then the phosphine, in about 20% yields. The Nb–Nb bonds are somewhat shorter, 2.82 Å (in both clusters), and the Nb–P bonds are rather long (2.69 Å).⁶²

Reduction of a mixture of TaCl₅ and Li₂S with Na/Hg initially gives a green solution, which turns dark orange. Addition of PMe₃ gives a binuclear Ta^{IV} complex [Ta₂(μ -S)₂Cl₄(PMe₃)₄] (20%), together with 2% of green tetranuclear [Ta₄S₄Cl₈(PMe₃)₆] (Figure 19). In the latter Ta^{IV} cluster only four electrons are available for M—M bonding, and this is realized within a zigzag chain Ta(1)–Ta(2)–Ta(2)–Ta(1) with Ta(1)–Ta(2) 3.09 Å, and Ta(2)–Ta(2) 2.90 Å.⁶³ Tetranuclear [Nb₄Se₃Br₁₀(CH₃CN)₄] (Figure 20) is obtained from [NbBr₄(CH₃CN)₂] and Sb₂Se₃ in acetonitrile (50 °C, seven days). Two of its Nb atoms are Nb^{IV}, bridged by Se₂, and form a Nb–Nb bond (2.886 Å). The other two Nb atoms are Nb^{III} and are surrounded with 5Br + 1Se ($C_{3\nu}$ symmetry). They have a low-lying and doubly occupied d_z^2 orbital and do not participate in M—M bonding (Nb^{III}–Nb^{IV} 3.1 Å). The cluster is ESR silent over the –195.8 °C to 20.0 °C temperature range, and is diamagnetic.⁶⁴

cluster is ESR silent over the -195.8 °C to 20.0 °C temperature range, and is diamagnetic.⁶⁴ On carrying out the reaction between VCl₃, Li₂S, Et₄NBr, and Na₂edt in CH₃CN in a reagent ratio different from that used to obtain the trinuclear cluster $[V_3S_4(edt)_3]^{3-,35}$ the tetranuclear

Cp Cp Cp Cp Cp Cp

Figure 17 Structure of the $[(\eta^5 - C_5H_5)_4Ta_4(\mu_4 - S)(\mu_3 - S)_2(\mu_2 - S_2)_4(S_2)]$ molecule.



Figure 18 Structure of the $[Nb_4(S)_2(SPh)_{12}]^{4-}$ anion. Only C atoms bonded to S are shown.



Figure 19 Structure of the $[Ta_4(\mu_3-S)_4Cl_8(PMe_3)_6]$ molecule; Me groups are omitted for clarity.



Figure 20 Structure of the $[Nb_4(\mu_4-Se)(\mu_2-Se_2)Br_{10}(CH_3CN)_4]$ molecule.

vanadium cluster $[V_4S_2(SCH_2CH_2S)_6]^{2-}$ is obtained. In this cluster four vanadium atoms are bonded to two μ_3 -S bridges. The V-V distances range from 2.77 Å to 3.30 Å. The resulting V_4S_{14} fragment is very close to a discrete portion of the $\text{Li}_x VS_2$ phase and displays similar redox chemistry. The cluster can be oxidized at 0.00 V and reduced in two consecutive one-electron steps at -0.41 V and -0.97 V (vs. SCE).⁶⁵

4.12.4.3 Pentanuclear Clusters

These are represented only by cyclopentadienyl derivatives of the V_5S_6 core. The compound $[(\eta^5 - MeC_5H_4)_5V_5S_6]$ can be prepared in low yields either from $[(\eta^5 - MeC_5H_4)_2V]$ and

CH₃C(S)SH or from $[(\eta^5 - MeC_5H_4)_2V_2S_4]$ and PBu₃, the second (major) product always being the cuboidal cluster $[(\eta^5 - MeC_5H_4)_4V_4S_4]$. The V₅ core is trigonal bipyramidal and each triangular face is capped by a μ_3 -S atom. Two types of V-V and V-S distances are observed: V_{ax}-S 2.23 Å; V_{eq}-S 2.39 Å; V_{ax}-V_{eq} 3.07 Å; V_{eq}-V_{eq} 3.21 Å. Treatment of a toluene solution of the pentanuclear cluster with TCNQ precipitates dark green crystals of $[(\eta^5 - MeC_5H_4)_5-V_5S_6](TCNQ)_2]^{.54}$

4.12.4.4 Hexanuclear Clusters

Molecular octahedral clusters are represented here by the octahedral V₆ core only with an interstitial oxygen atom inside, $[(\eta^5 - C_5H_5)_6V_6Se_8(O)(PMe_3)_6]$. This was prepared from $[(\eta^5 - C_5H_5)VCl_2(PMe_3)_2]$ and $(Me_3Si)_2Se$. The V–V distances range from 2.79 Å to 2.84 Å, V–Se 2.52 Å. The cluster is V^{IV} and is diamagnetic³³ High-temperature reactions of Nb₆I₁₁ or of Nb₃I₈ plus niobium with sulfur in a sealed niobium container afford Nb₆I₉S in high yields. It takes up hydrogen to form Nb₆(H)I₉S, with the hydrogen atom probably inside the Nb₆ octahedron. Both clusters are isostructural (Nb₆I₈ type), and can be described as one-dimensional polymeric [(Nb₆I₆)S_{2/2}I_{6/2}], with Nb–Nb 2.92 Å. The octahedra in Nb₆I₉S are tetragonally compressed, whereas in the hydride a more regular arrangement is observed. The product Nb₆I₉S is a one-dimensional semiconductor, with room-temperature conductivity of 30 Ω^{-1} cm⁻¹.⁶⁶

A prismatic Nb₆ cluster having a μ_6 -S as an interstitial atom is found in Rb₃[Nb₆SBr₁₇]. It was made by heating together RbBr, Nb, NbBr₅, and S at 800 °C for five days.⁶⁷ Here the Nb₆SBr₁₈⁴⁻ units are linked through two terminal bromine atoms to form chains. Six bromine atoms lie above the six edges of the triangular faces of the prism (Nb—Br 2.57–2.61 Å), and further six μ_2 -Br lie above the rectangular faces (Nb–Br 2.68–2.79 Å). The S atom is located almost exactly in the center of the prism (Nb–S 2.37 Å). The Nb–Nb distances along the edges of the rectangles (3.28 Å) are longer than along the edges of the triangles (2.95–2.98 Å). A MO treatment has been given to explain the M—M bonding in this cluster.⁶⁷

An interesting hexanuclear vanadium cluster was obtained by treatment of $(Et_4N)Na[VS-(edt)_2]$ with wet Et_3NHCl . Black, diamagnetic, extremely air-sensitive $(Et_4N)_3[V_6S_4(edt)_6(O)_2]$ was isolated from this reaction in a 5–10% yield (Figure 21). It has an open V₆ core, which can be rationalized in terms of a planar V₄ core with two μ_3 –S above and below, and two VO²⁺ groups attached to the core via sulfido bridges and sulfur atoms of some edt ligands. The V–V interactions can be traced along a zigzag chain of all the six vanadium atoms. Their lengths vary from 2.758 Å for the central pair of V atoms to 2.82–2.86 Å for the peripheral bonds. All the other V–V distances are of the order of 3.3 Å. The cluster is ESR silent, and shows reversible redox behavior with reduction wave at -1.82V and two oxidation waves at -1.01V and -0.56V (CH₃CN, vs. SCE). Apparently the vanadyl group is not involved in the redox changes.⁶⁸



Figure 21 Structure of the $[V_4(V=O)_2(\mu_3-S)_4(edt)_6]^{3-}$ anion.

4.12.5 CHROMIUM

4.12.5.1 Trinuclear Clusters

A bicapped Cr₃ cluster is found in $[Cr_3S_5(dmpe)_3]$ (Figure 22). It was obtained in the reaction of anhydrous CrCl₂ with NaSH (-78 °C, methanol) followed by addition of an excess dmpe. A distorted Cr₃ triangle (Cr–Cr 2.647 Å, 2.552 Å, and 2.565 Å) is capped on each side by two sulfur atoms and is bridged by another three sulfides. A second-order Jahn–Teller effect may be responsible for this distortion in the cluster core.⁶⁹ Another bicapped cluster (Et₄N)₂[Cr₃(μ_3 –Se)₂(CO)₁₀] (Cr–Cr 2.85–2.92 Å) was obtained from SeO₂ and [Cr(CO)₆] in a strongly alkaline methanol, followed by addition of Et₄NBr in a 52% yield. This core is asymmetric since two Cr atoms have three terminal CO groups and one has four.⁷⁰

Trinuclear Cr complexes (Ph₄P)₃[Cr₃Q₂₄] (Q = Se, Te) are also known, where a linear array of three Cr atoms is held by six Q₄²⁻ ligands. The Cr–Cr distances are quite long, 3.21 Å for the selenide and 3.41 Å for the telluride. A strong antiferromagnetic coupling is observed between the Cr^{III} centers (Q = Se, μ_{eff} = 5.25 B.M.; Q = Te, 5.74 B.M., both at 300 K).⁷¹

4.12.5.2 Tetranuclear Clusters

The cuboidal $Cr_4S_4^{4+}$ core is found only in cyclopentadienyl derivatives, which can be accessed by a number of different synthetic procedures. $[(\eta^5 - RC_5H_4)_4Cr_4S_4]$ (R = H, CH₃) are made from corresponding $[(\eta^5 - RC_5H_4)_2Cr]$ and Me₃CSH or S₈ in organic solvents with high boiling point.^{72,73} Thermolysis of $[(\eta^5 - C_5H_5)_2Cr_2(S)_2(CO)_5]$ in toluene at 100 °C (or other dimeric carbonylcyclopentadienyl chromium complexes with sulfido bridges) gives $[(\eta^5 - C_5H_5)_4Cr_4S_4]$. The cluster $[(\eta - C_5H_4)_5Cr_4(\mu_3 - S)_2(\mu_3 - CO)_2(CO)_6]$ is also formed in these reactions.⁷⁴⁻⁷⁶ Passing H₂S through a THF solution of $[(\eta^5 - RC_5H_4)_2Cr]$ (R = H, CH₃) converts the latter into the cuboidal clusters.⁷⁷ In addition, $[(\eta^5 - MeC_5H_4)_4Cr_4S_4]$ is obtained by thermolysis of $[(\eta^5 - Me_3C_5H_4)_2Cr_2(\mu - SC-Me_3)_2(\mu - S)]$ or by reacting it with CuBr₂ in THF in the presence of Et₃N.⁷³

The clusters are diamagnetic and contain 60e, with sufficient electrons to fill all six M—M bonding orbitals. The tetrahedron is distorted in such a way that there are two long and four short M–M distances. An electronic density map was obtained from X-ray diffraction experiments on $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_4Cr_4S_4]$.⁷⁸ A mixed S/O bridged core exists in the adduct $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_4Cr_4S_3O]$ ·CuBr₂, where one of the sulfur atoms acts as a donor toward the CuBr₂ molecule.⁷³ The $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_4Cr_4S_2O_2]$ cluster has never been isolated in the free state, only as a component of the crystal lattice of ternary molecular adducts with ratios $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_4Cr_4S_4]$ ·O.4[$(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_4Cr_4S_3O]$ ·O.6[$(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_4Cr_4S_2O_2$].⁷⁴

 $\begin{bmatrix} (\eta^5 - C_5H_5)_4Cr_4S_4 \end{bmatrix} \cdot 0.4[(\eta^5 - C_5H_5)_4Cr_4S_3O] \cdot 0.6[(\eta^5 - C_5H_5)_4Cr_4S_2O_2]).^{74} \\ \text{The corresponding Se and Te bridged cuboidal Cr clusters also exist. Black } \\ \begin{bmatrix} (\eta^5 - RC_5H_4)_4Cr_4Se_4 \end{bmatrix} (R = CH_3, H) \text{ are obtained from } \\ \begin{bmatrix} (\eta^5 - C_5H_5)_2Cr_2(CO)_6 \end{bmatrix} \text{ or } \\ \begin{bmatrix} (\eta^5 - C_5H_5)_2Cr_2(CO)_6 \end{bmatrix} \text{ or } \\ \begin{bmatrix} (\eta^5 - C_5H_5)_2Cr_2(CO)_6 \end{bmatrix} \text{ or } \\ \begin{bmatrix} (\eta^5 - C_5H_5)_2Cr_2(CO)_4Se_2 \end{bmatrix}.^{75,76} \\ \text{The cluster } \\ \begin{bmatrix} (\eta^5 - CH_3C_5H_4)_2Cr \end{bmatrix} \text{ with } \\ H_2Se \text{ in toluene also give } \\ \\ \begin{bmatrix} (\eta^5 - CH_3C_5H_4)_4Cr_4Se_4 \end{bmatrix} \text{ in a } 90\% \text{ yield}.^{77,78} \\ \text{In addition } \\ \\ \begin{bmatrix} (\eta^5 - C_5H_5)_2Cr_2(CO)_6 \end{bmatrix} \text{ and } \\ \\ \text{Phi}_2Se_2 \text{ via } \\ \\ \\ \begin{bmatrix} (\eta^5 - C_5H_5)_2Cr_2(Se)_6 \end{bmatrix}.^{79,80} \\ \\ \text{The X-ray structure of } \\ \\ \\ \begin{bmatrix} (\eta^5 - CH_3C_5H_4)_4Cr_4Se_4 \end{bmatrix} \text{ shows almost no distortion of the Cr_4 tetrahedron. The distances Cr-Cr differ by no more than 0.066 Å from the average value 3.008 Å.^{78} \\ \\ \text{With Te, only mixed Te/O} \\ \end{bmatrix}$



Figure 22 Structure of the $[Cr_3S_5(dmpe)_3]$ molecule.

bridged clusters are known: $[(\eta^5 - C_5H_5)_4Cr_4Te_3O]$ (Cr–Cr 3.191 Å), $[(\eta^5 - C_5H_5)_4Cr_4Te_2O_2]$ (Cr–Cr 3.033 Å) and $[(\eta^5 - C_5H_5)_4Cr_4TeO_3]$ (Cr–Cr 2.90 Å), prepared by thermolysis of $[(\eta^5 - C_5H_5)Cr(CO)_3TePh]$.⁸¹

Electrochemical studies on $[(\eta^5-CH_3C_5H_4)_4Cr_4Q_4]$ (Q=S, Se) show that the cluster cores are capable of losing one or two electrons. For the methycyclopentadienyl derivatives, $E_{1/2}$ values are -0.66 V and -0.06 V (Q=S); -0.52 V and +0.31 V (Q=Se) for +1/0 and +2/+1 couples respectively (vs. Fc⁺/Fc). These Cr clusters are more difficult to oxidize than their Mo analogs. Oxidation of $[(\eta^5-MeC_5H_4)_4Cr_4Q_4]$ (Q=S, Se) with TCNQ, $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_4Fe_4(NO)_4]$ or [Mo(S₂C₂(CF₃)₂)₃] gives the 1:1 charge-transfer salts. In the case of TCNQ, [(MeC₅H₄)₄-Cr₄Q₄](TCNQ)₂ also forms.⁷⁷ Paramagnetic salts of 59e $[(\eta^5-RC_5H_4)_4Cr_4S_4]^+$ (R = H, CH₃) were also prepared directly by cluster assembly reactions from $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2Cr_2(SCMe_3)_2(S)]$ and SnCl₄ or SnCl₂ (20°C, using a C₆H₆/THF mixture), or from $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2Cr_2(SCMe_3)_2(S)]$ and $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)Re(CO)(NO)(PEt_3)_2](CF_3SO_3)$. They were isolated and structurally characterized as salts with [SnCl₅(THF)]⁻ and triflate, respectively. X-ray structure of the pentachlorostannate salt shows that the Cr₄ tetrahedron is distorted: there are five short Cr—Cr bonds (2.80 Å) and one long at 2.84 Å.⁸²⁻⁸⁴ The structure of $[(\eta^5-MeC_5H_4)_4Cr_4S_4]^+$ [$(\eta^5-MeC_5H_4)(CrBr_3]^-$ has been determined.⁸³

The reaction of $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2Cr_2(CO)_6]$ with 1eq. of tetraethylthiuramdisulfide (Et₂NC(S)S)₂ in toluene (90 °C, 2 h) gives a dark-brown mixture, from which six products were isolated by column chromatography (in the order of elution): $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)Cr(CO)_2)_2S]$ (1%), $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_6Cr-(CO)_2(S_2CNEt_2)]$ (22%), $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_4Cr_4S_4]$ (22%), $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_6Cr_8S_8(C(S)NEt_2)_2]$ (6.8%, brown solid), $[Cr(S_2CNEt_2)_3]$ (19%) and $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_6Cr_8S_8(S_2CNEt_2)_2]$ (11%, dark-brown solid).⁸⁴ The structures of both Cr₈ clusters consist of two ($\eta^5-C_5H_5$)_3Cr_3CrS_4 cubes, linked at Cr atoms from which the cyclopentadienyl ligands have been cleaved. In the last product, the double cube is bridged by two dithiocarbamate ligands in a $\mu-\eta^1-S$, η^2-S ,S mode which act as 5e donors. Thus each Cr₄ unit has 60 electrons with Cr–Cr distances 2.87 Å. The other Cr₈ cluster has a thiooxamide ligand Et₂NC(S)–C(S)NEt₂ that links the two cubes in a $\mu-\eta^2$, η^4 -bridging mode, and a weak Cr–Cr bond (3.101 Å and 3.118 Å for two crystallographically independent anions) between the two cubes. Counting the thioamidic bridge as an eight-electron donor, each cuboidal Cr₄ fragment reaches the 60e configuration with Cr–Cr bond lengths of 2.83 Å. Both clusters are diamagnetic, as follows from the normal chemical shifts in their ¹H NMR spectra.⁸⁵

Some heterometallic cuboidal clusters with the $Cr_3M'S_4$ core have been reported. The reaction of $(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2Cr_2(SCMe_3)_2(S)$ with $[(\eta^5-MeC_5H_4)_2V]$ gives the 59e cluster $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_3-Cr_3(\eta^5-CH_3C_5H_4)VS_4]$, which co-crystallizes with $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_4Cr_4S_4]$ as a 1:1 molecular adduct.⁸³ Iron gives the 58e clusters $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_3Cr_3$ (('Bu COO) Fe)S_4]^{86} and $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_3-Cr_3((PhS)Fe)S_4]^{87}$ while for Co, 60e clusters $[(\eta^5-RC_5H_5)_3Cr_3((CO)Co)S_4]$ (R = H, CH₃) are known.^{51,88} It appears that these heterometallic cubes follow the pattern set by homometallic Cr_4Q_4 clusters, i.e., where 58, 59, and 60e cluster states are accessible, at least by electrochemistry. The 64e cluster $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_3Cr_3((CO)_3Co)S_4]$ is no longer a cube: two M—M bonds are broken to give a butterfly-type shape, in accordance with electron count rules.⁸⁹

The reaction of Cr metal powder or $[Cr(CO)_6]$ with S in refluxing AcOH/Ac₂O yields a mixture of soluble cationic species, from which blue $[Cr_4(\mu_4-S)(\mu-OAc)_8(H_2O)_4(BF_4)]\cdot H_2O$ has been isolated. The sulfur atom is located inside an approximately tetrahedral Cr₄ array (Cr–S 2.35 Å). Each metal is hexacoordinated. Although the Cr–Cr edges in the octahedron are bridged by acetates, the M–M distances are long, 3.72–3.91 Å. The spins of the four Cr^{III} are ferromagnetically coupled to give an S=6 ground state. The ESR of the cluster (in frozen methanol solution, at 15 K) shows a single broad peak with $g = 1.983.^{90}$

4.12.5.3 Pentanuclear Clusters

Chromium does not form pentanuclear clusters with a trigonal bipyramidal core, as do Ti and V. The only pentanuclear cluster reported here is a spirane $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_4Cr_5(\mu_3-S)_4(\mu-S^tBu)_2]$ (Figure 23), which can be regarded as Cr^{2+} coordinated by two ligands $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2Cr_2(S)_2(S^tBu)]^{-.91}$

4.12.5.4 Hexanuclear Clusters

An octahedral cluster with a $Cr_6(\mu_3-Te)_8$ core has been synthesized by two routes. The complex [CrCl₂(PEt₃)₂] made *in situ*, was treated with allylmagnesium chloride, to which TePEt₃ was



Figure 23 Structure of the $[(\eta^5 - C_5H_5)_4Cr_5(\mu_3 - S)_4(\mu - S^tBu)_2]$ molecule.

added. Alternatively, and apparently in somewhat better yield (38%), this dark-brown cluster can be made from bis(2,4–dimethylpentadienyl)- chromium $[Cr(\eta^5-C_7H_9)_2]$, by treating with TePEt₃ and an excess PEt₃. The cluster [Cr₆Te₈(PEt₃)₆] is obtained with Cr–Cr distance 2.94 Å, and C–Te 2.65 Å (Figure 24). The cluster is paramagnetic with μ_{eff} of 2.8 B.M. This means that in the 84e cluster the ground state is a triplet, in agreement with theoretical models. Heating the cluster in a sealed evacuated Pyrex tube $(315 \,^{\circ}\text{C}, 19 \,\text{h})$ gives the known binary telluride Cr_3Te_4 . The Cr_6Te_8 core is therefore not preserved in the transformation.⁹² The reaction of anhydrous CrCl_2 with Na₂Se or NaSH with subsequent treatment with PEt₃ in methanol was initially reported to give $[Cr_6Q_8(PEt_3)_6]$ (Q = S, Se). However, a later careful reexamination of the data led the authors to reformulate the sulfido cluster as $[Cr_6S_8(H)(PEt_3)_6]$, with a hydrogen atom incorporated inside the Cr₆ octahedron. An improved method to make this cluster using NaS_xH (x = 1.33) instead of NaSH gives the black crystalline material, 21% yield. With d^4 -methanol as solvent, a partially deuterated cluster $[Cr_6S_8(D)_{0.8}(H)_{0.2}(PEt_3)_6]$ was the product. In the case of the selenide, it was shown to be actually a mixture of both [Cr₆Se₈(PEt₃)₆] and [Cr₆Se₈(H)(PEt₃)₆]. The initial reaction of $CrCl_2$ with Na₂Se_x (x = 1.33) in CH₃OH followed by addition of PEt₃ and extraction gives the mixture indicated. Due to a large difference in the ox-red potentials of $[Cr_6Se_8(PEt_3)_6]$ (oxidation at -0.50 V, reduction at -1.75 V) and $[Cr_6Se_8(H)(PEt_3)_6]$ (oxidation at -0.81 V and reduction at -1.48 V, vs. Fc⁺/Fc in acetonitrile) it was possible to oxidize only the hydrido cluster with a stoichiometrical amount of the ferricinium compound FcPF₆, and to separate [Cr₆Se₈- $(PEt_3)_6$ (4% yield) and $[Cr_6Se_8 (H)(PEt_3)_6]PF_6$ making use of their different solubilities. The $PF_6^$ salt was then reduced with cobaltocene in acetone to give the neutral hydrido cluster (8% yield). The Cr—Cr bond distances in the hydrido cluster are 0.13–0.16 Å shorter than in the hydrogenfree cluster (2.66 Å vs. 2.80 Å) indicating bonding interaction between interstitial hydrogen and chromium atoms. The average Cr–Cr distance in the sulfido cluster $[Cr_6S_8(H)(PEt_3)_6]$ is 2.59 Å. All the three clusters are paramagnetic between 200 and 300 K, with μ_{eff} for [Cr₆Se₈(PEt₃)₆] is 0.2 B.M. (2 K), thus indicating zero ground state. For $[Cr_6Se_8 (H)(PEt_3)_6] \mu_{eff}$ was found to be 2.0 B.M. (2 K), and for $[Cr_6S_8(H)(PEt_3)_6]$ 1.7 B.M. at 4.5 K, which are close to the spin-only magnetic moment for the S = 1/2 state. There are intracluster magnetic interactions between the spins on six Cr atoms.93

Oxidation of 21e $[Cr_6S_8(H)(PEt_3)_6]$ with $FcBF_4$ gives $[Cr_6S_8(H)(PEt_3)_6](BF_4)$ with Cr–Cr distances of 2.81–2.85 Å, ca. 0.2 Å longer than in the starting neutral cluster. The oxidation weakens the antiferromagnetic interaction, and at 0 K the ground state S=0 must apply to this



Figure 24 Structure of the $[Cr_6Te_8(PEt_3)_6]$ molecule.

20e cluster. Attempts to remove hydrogen from the cluster by deprotonation with n-BuNH₂ resulted in the recovery of only the reduced cluster, $[Cr_6S_8(H)(PEt_3)_6]$.⁹⁴ Treatment of $[Cr_6S_8(H)(PEt_3)_6]$ with S₈ removes one PEt₃ (as PEt₃S) to give a dodecanuclear $[Cr_{12}S_{16}(H)_2(PEt_3)_{10}]$ in a 39% yield, characterized by FAB-mass spectroscopy and X-ray analysis. Here, two Cr_6S_8 units are linked by a Cr—Cr and two Cr— μ_4S bonds. The intercluster Cr–Cr distance is 2.952 Å, while the intra-cluster Cr—Cr bonds vary: those including the Cr atom participating in the intercluster bonding are longer (av. 2.79 Å) and the others shorter -2.63 Å. The cluster shows antiferromagnetic behavior with the antiferromagnetism enhanced at lower temperatures, and S=0 is expected to be the ground state.⁹⁵

4.12.6 MOLYBDENUM AND TUNGSTEN

4.12.6.1 Trinuclear Clusters with $M_3Q_4^{4+}$ Core

This is the most-studied family of clusters of all the early transition metals, M = Mo, W. The first cluster reported as having this core was the cyclopentadienyl derivative $[(\eta^5 - C_5H_5)_3 - Mo_3S_4](Me_3SnCl_2)$.⁹⁶ Subsequently, clusters with three anionic or neutral ligands instead of the cyclopentadienide ligands coordinated to each M of Mo_3Q_4 were prepared. If the M—M bonds are ignored, the metal is hexacoordinated and in a distorted octahedral environment. The three M^{IV} atoms possess the required number of electrons to give three single M—M bonds, forming a very stable framework. There is one μ_3 –Q atom capping the M₃ core, and the three M—M edges are bridged by the other chalcogen atoms. Alternatively, the M₃Q₄ core can be referred to as a one-metal depleted or incomplete cube.

4.12.6.1.1 Aquacomplexes $[M_3Q_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$

Green $[Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ can be prepared in a 15% yield; together with some 20% of the $[Mo_4S_4(H_2O)_{12}]^{5+}$ cube (also green) by the reaction of $[Mo(CO)_6]$ with anhydrous Na₂S in acetic anhydride, followed by dissolution in water and cation-exchange chromatography.⁹⁷ An alternative procedure employs the electrochemical reduction of a cysteinato complex of Mo^V, $[Mo_2O_2S_2(cys)_2]^{2-}$, in 2 M HCl using a Hg pool electrode at a constant potential or electrochemically to give a mixture of $[Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ and $[Mo_4S_4(H_2O)_{12}]^{5+.98}$ The reduction of $[Mo_2O_2S_2(cys)_2]^{2-}$ with NaBH₄ in HCl solution followed by air oxidation of the reaction mixture (90 °C) to convert the cube into the trinuclear cluster has been much used, ~20% yield.⁹⁹ The aqua ion is isolated from a solution in 4 M Hpts as $[Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_9](pts)_4.9H_2O$ (Mo–Mo 2.732 Å) (Figure 25).¹⁰⁰ A 20% yield of $[Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ is also achieved by reducing $(NH_4)_2[Mo_2(S_2)_2Cl_8]$ with Pb or In in conc. HCl.¹⁰¹ When $(NH_4)_2[MoS_4]$ is reduced with aqueous NaBH₄, $[Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ is obtained in a 50% yield after air oxidation and Dowex columning.¹⁰² A very efficient way to make the aqua ion involves sulfur abstraction from S₂ bridges in $[Mo_3(S)(S_2)_3Cl_6]^{2-}$ with PPh₃, followed by cation-exchange chromatography. The yields here are almost quantitative.¹⁰³ In 2 M non-complexing acidic solutions $[Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ is stable over long periods (>2 years). The whole range of mixed $[Mo_3O_nS_{3-n}(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ (n = 0-4) aqua ions is also known. They are

The whole range of mixed $[Mo_3O_nS_{3-n}(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ (n=0-4) aqua ions is also known. They are obtained as by-products from the preparations of $[Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ by reduction of $[Mo_2O_2S_2(cys)_2]^{2-}$ or $[MoS_4]^{2-}$ as indicated above.¹⁰² Comproportionation reactions between



Figure 25 Structure of the $[Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ cation showing c- and d-positions of coordinated H₂O ligands.

 $Mo_2O_2S_2^{2+}$ and $[MoCl_6]^{3-}$, or between $Mo_2O_3S_2^{2+}$ and $[MoCl_6]^{3-}$, in 2 M HCl or 2 M Hpts are the best ways to make gray $[Mo_3O_2S_2(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ and red $[Mo_3O_3S(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ respectively in 70–80% yields.¹⁰⁴ The yields of green $[Mo_3OS_3(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ are especially high upon electrolytical reduction of $Mo_2O_2S_2^{2+}$.¹⁰⁵ Treatment of the binuclear complex $[Mo_2O_3S(edta)]^{2-}$ with a solution of K_2CO_3 , followed by acidification and column purification, gives trinuclear $[Mo_3O_3S(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$, 20% yield.¹⁰⁵ The $[Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ product can be a source of the mixed O/S bridged species since it reacts with a large excess of NaBH₄ to give predominantly $[Mo_3OS_3(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ together with smaller amounts of the other species.¹⁰⁶ In all these mixed O/S clusters the capping position is occupied by a sulfur atom. The crystal structure of $[Mo_3OS_3(H_2O)_9](\text{pts})_4 \cdot 7H_2O$ has been determined.¹⁰⁷

Similarly, brown $[Mo_3Se_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ is obtained by a NaBH₄ reduction of $[Mo_2O_2Se_2(cys)_2]^{2-}$ in hydrochloric acid solutions. The products from cation-exchange chromatography give several bands corresponding to trinuclear green $[Mo_3O_2Se_2(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$, yellow-brown $[Mo_3OSe_3(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$, $[Mo_3Se_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ and a green cuboidal $[Mo_4Se_4(H_2O)_{12}]^{5+}$ with the total yield of all products about 10%. The cluster $[Mo_3O_2Se_2(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ is better prepared by an alternative procedure involving reduction of $[Mo_2O_2Se_2(cys)_2]^{2-}$ with $[MoCl_6]^{3-}$ (90 °C, 1 h, 1 M HCl, 70% yield), and red $[Mo_3O_3Se(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ has been obtained by electrochemical reduction of $[Mo_2O_4(cys)_2]^{2-}$ in the presence of gray Se powder in 3% yield. It also forms from $[Mo_3O_2Se_2(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ with a 30-fold excess of NaBH₄.^{108,109} More recently, a much more efficient way to make $[Mo_3Se_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ has been identified by a procedure involving aquation of $(Ph_4P)_2[Mo_3Se_7Br_6]$ in 4 M Hpts and subsequent selenium abstraction from the resulting aqua complex $[Mo_3Se_7(H_2O)_6]^{4+}$ with PPh₃.¹¹⁰ The crystal structure of $[Mo_3Se_4(H_2O)_9](pts)_4 \cdot 10H_2O$ has been determined.¹¹¹ In air, $[Mo_3Se_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ decays (days) with the formation of red selenium.

Purple $[W_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ can be prepared by NaBH₄ reduction of $(NH_4)_2[WS_4]$ in HCl solutions. Using Dowex column purification, different products including red $[W_3O_2S_2(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ (0.3%), $[W_3OS_3(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ (red-purple, 5%) and $[W_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ were separated. In this preparation the yield of the latter was about 25%.¹⁰⁴ All three mixed O/S species $[W_3O_xS_{4-x} (H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ can be made by comproportionation of $(NH_4)_2[WS_4]$ with $K_3[W_2Cl_9]$.¹¹² The complex $[W(CO)_6]$ reacts with Na₂S in acetic anhydride to give the $W_3O_3S^{4+}$ core as the only isolatable product, characterized as the di-propyl- ammonium salt of $[W_3O_3S(NCS)_9]^{5-}$ (W–W 2.612 Å).¹¹⁴ A far more efficient route to $[W_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ employs heating of the polysulfido complex $[W_3S_4(S_4)_3(NH_3)_3]^{2-}$ with conc. HCl,¹¹⁴ or treatment of polymeric $\{W_3S_7Br_4\}_x$ with H_3PO_2 (in hot conc. HCl), in the yield 60–70%. Two solid hydrates $[W_3S_4(H_2O)_9](pts)_4 \cdot xH_2O (x = 7, 9)$ have been isolated and structurally characterized with W–W (2.723 Å), identical to Mo–Mo in analogous aqua ion.¹⁰²

The last cluster in this series to be identified was green $[W_3Se_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$. It was originally made in a low yield (about 5%) by treatment of polymeric $\{W_3Se_7Br_4\}_x$ with aqueous ammonium polysulfide $(NH_4)_2S_x$, followed by heating with conc. HCl.¹¹⁵ Later, a better way was identified, involving reaction of $[W_3Se_7(H_2O)_6]^{4+}$ (aquation product of $(Ph_4P)_2[W_3Se_7Br_6]$ in 4 M Hpts) with PPh₃.¹¹⁰ Even more efficient (yield ~60%) is the reaction of $\{W_3Se_7Br_4\}_x$ with H₃PO₂ in conc. HCl.¹¹⁶ The aqua ion has been structurally characterized as $[W_3Se_4(H_2O)_9](pts)_4 \cdot 12H_2O$.¹¹¹

Reduction of an equimolar mixture of $(NH_4)_2[WS_4]$ and the Mo^V-complex Na₂[Mo₂ O₂S₂(cys)₂] with excess NaBH₄ gives a mixture of sulfido-bridged clusters, which on chromatographic separation yields the mixed-metal incomplete cubes $[Mo_2WS_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ (green, yield 17%) and $[MoW_2S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ (gray, yield 3%).^{117,118} The structures of isomorphous $[MoW_2 S_4(H_2O)_9]$ (pts)₄·9H₂O and $[Mo_2WS_4(H_2O)_9](pts)_4·9H_2O$ have been determined.¹¹⁸ An alternative method to prepare these mixed-metal clusters makes use of selective oxidative degradation of mixed-metal cubes $[Mo_xW_{4-x}S_4(H_2O)_{12}]^{5+}$, where always only one W atom is lost. In this way the tedious column separation of the trinuclear aqua ions is avoided.¹¹⁹

4.12.6.1.2 Reactivity of the aqua ions

Water-exchange ligand substitution studies on the $[Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ ion using ¹⁷O NMR show that there are two types of kinetically distinct water ligand. Those *trans* to the capping sulfur (designated as *c*-H₂O), which exchange about 10⁵ times more slowly than those *trans* to the bridging sulfur and *cis* to the capping sulfur (*d*-H₂O) (Figure 25). Explanation was given in terms of activation at the *d*-H₂O sites via $[Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_8(OH)]^{3+}$, whereas exchange at the *c*-H₂O is not similarly activated. The K_a value for acid dissociation to $[Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_8(OH)]^{3+}$ was found to be 0.18 M at 25 °C, I = 2.00 M.¹²⁰

The substitution of a single H₂O by NCS⁻ has been studied for species $[Mo_3O_nQ_{4-n}(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ (Q = S, Se), and also for $[W_3O_nS_{4-n}(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ (Tables 1 and 2).¹⁰⁹ Different M = Mo, W

n		Mo—S		Mo—Se		
	$k_{\rm f} ({\rm M}^{-1} {\rm s}^{-1})$	$10^2 k_{\rm b}({\rm s}^{-1})$	$K_{\rm eq}~({ m M}^{-1})$	$k_{\rm f} ({\rm M}^{-1}{\rm s}^{-1})$	$10^2 k_{\rm b}({\rm s}^{-1})$	$K_{\rm eq}~({ m M}^{-1})$
4	2.13	0.22	970	2.13	0.22	970
3	0.37	0.016	3210	0.19 ^a	0.0125 ^a	1520 ^a
2	Not determined			2.8	0.062	4250
	7.7	0.27	2850	13.5	0.59	2290
1	23	1.4	1640	52	3.0	1730
	82	2.4	3420	131	9.3	1410
0	212	9.2	2300	480	20	2400

Table 1 Comparisons of forward (k_f) and back (k_b) rate constants $(25 \,^\circ\text{C})$ for the 1:1 equilibration of NCS⁻ at *d*-H₂O (as defined, Figure 25) with $[Mo_3O_nQ_{4-n}(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ (Q = S, Se) in 2.00 M HClO₄. Equilibrium constants K_{eq} (k_f/k_b) are also given.

a 2.00 M Hpts

Table 2 Comparisons of forward (k_f) and back (k_b) rate constants (25 °C) for the 1:1 equilibration of NCS⁻ at *d*-H₂O (as defined, Figure 25) with $[W_3O_nS_{4-n}(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ ions in 2.00 M HClO₄. Equilibrium constants $K_{eq}(k_f/k_b)$ are also given.

n	$k_{\rm f} ({\rm M}^{-1} {\rm s}^{-1})$	$10^2 k_{\rm b} ({\rm s}^{-1})$	$K_{\rm eq}~({ m M}^{-1})$
4	0.110	0.0035	3140
3	0.0080	0.00054	1480
2	0.045	0.006	750
	0.50	0.013	3820
1	0.212	0.041	520
	1.24	0.23	540
0	38.4	2.5	1520

environments give rise to more than one rate constant. From these studies a number of definitive trends have emerged. The replacement of μ_3 -O by μ_3 -S and then by μ_3 -Se on $[Mo_3O_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ results in a retardation in substitution (at d-H₂O), by factors of 6 and 11, respectively. However, replacement of μ -O by μ -S and μ -Se results in labilization, with a factor of 10(S) and 20(Se) for each μ -O replaced.¹²⁰ For mixed-metal $[Mo_2WS_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ and $[MoW_2S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ the first stage is the substitution at Mo.¹¹⁶ Despite the X-ray crystal structures showing a strong affinity of Mo and W for N-bonded NCS⁻, kinetic studies of the reaction of $[W_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ with NCS⁻ suggest that an S-bonded isomer is formed, which then isomerizes into the more stable N-bonded product.¹¹¹ Chloride coordination to $[Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ is weak, and the equilibrium constant for the formation of $[Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_8CI]^{3+}$ is only 3.0 M⁻¹.¹¹⁹ The clusters $[Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ and $[Mo_3OS_3(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ react with acetylene in 1 M HCl with

The clusters $[Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ and $[Mo_3OS_3(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ react with acetylene in 1 M HCl with C—S bond formation, giving new clusters with alkenedithiolate ligands, $[Mo_3(\mu_3-S)(\mu-Q)-(\mu S-C_2H_2-\mu S)(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ (Q=O, S). The crystal structure of $[Mo_3(\mu_3-S)(\mu-Q)-(\mu S-C_2H_2-\mu S)(H_2O)_9](pts)_4\cdot 7H_2O$ indicates considerable changes in the core structure of Mo_3OS_3 except in the $Mo-\mu_3-S$ distances.¹⁰⁷ Neither $[W_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ nor $[W_3OS_3(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ react with acetylene but a reaction with $[W_3OS_3(NCS)_9]^{5-}$ is observed.¹²¹

4.12.6.1.3 Complexes with halides (Cl^{-})

No $[M_3Q_4Cl_9]^{5-}$ species has been detected or isolated (S = Se, S) even from conc. HCl. In 1–3 M HCl, some Cl⁻ coordination takes place to $[M_3Q_4(H_2O)_6Cl_3]^+$. Using cucurbituril (Cuc, $C_{36}H_{36}N_{24}O_{12}$) as a second coordination sphere ligand to promote crystallization through formation of complementary hydrogen bonds between carbonyl groups of Cuc and the water molecules in d-positions of the clusters, it was possible to isolate and determine the crystal structures of the following: (i) monosubstituted { $[W_3S_4(H_2O)_8Cl](pyH \subset Cuc)$ }Cl_4·15.5H₂O and { $[W_3S_4(H_2O)_8Cl]_2(Cuc)$ }Cl_4·12H₂O; (ii) disubstituted { $[W_3S_4(H_2O)_7Cl_2](Cuc)$ } Cl_4·10H₂O;

(iii) trisubstituted { $[Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_6Cl_3]$ [$Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_7Cl_2$](pyH \subset Cuc)}Cl₄·17H₂O and { $[W_3S_4(H_2O)_6-Cl_3]_2$ (pyH \subset Cuc)}Cl₃·18H₂O. The barrel-shaped cucurbituril molecule is effectively closed by one or two cluster "lids"; in some cases a small molecule (pyH⁺) can be included and retained inside the cucurbituril inner cavity. The chloride substitution is always at the *c*-positions, and *d*-H₂O ligands are retained and used for complementary hydrogen bonding.^{122–125} No complexes with other halides (F⁻, Br⁻, I⁻) have been reported.

4.12.6.1.4 Complexes with O- and N-donors

Formato complexes $K_4[Mo_3S_4(HCO_2)_8(H_2O)]$ and $K_6[W_3S_4(HCO_2)_9](HCO_2)\cdot 3H_2O$ were obtained by elution of $[M_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ absorbed on a Dowex-cation column with 5 M KHCO_2 in 5 M formic acid, and precipitation with alcohol. The crystal structure of $K_6[W_3S_4(HCO_2)_9](HCO_2)\cdot 2.27H_2O\cdot 0.73CH_3OH$ shows that all the formato ligands are monodentate, (W–O 2.138 Å). The formato ligands are weakly bound and in, e.g., aqueous CF_3SO_3H the clusters $[M_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ readily reform.¹²⁶

Oxalate complexes $[M_3S_4(C_2O_4)_3(H_2O)_3]^{2-}$ have been prepared and structurally characterized as $Cs_2[Mo_3S_4(C_2O_4)_3(H_2O)_3] \cdot 3H_2O^{97}$ and $(4,4'-bipyH_2)[W_3S_4(C_2O_4)_3(H_2O)_3] \cdot 5H_2O^{127}$ by direct addition of oxalic acid to aqueous solutions of the corresponding aqua ions, followed by the respective cations. The reaction of $(NH_4)_2[Mo_3S_{13}]$ with oxalic acid in DMF also gives the oxalato complex.¹²⁸ Interestingly, attempts to isolate an oxalato complex of the $[Mo_4S_4(H_2O)_{12}]^{5+}$ cube by adding oxalic acid and CsCl produces only crystals of $Cs_2[Mo_3S_4(C_2O_4)_3(H_2O)_3] \cdot 3H_2O.^{97}$ In all these oxalato complexes the water ligands are trans to the capping (μ_3) sulfur atoms, while the oxygen atoms of oxalates are trans to μ_2-S .

Acetylacetonato complexes such as $[M_3Q_4(acac)_3(py)_3]PF_6$ are known for all M = Mo, W and Q = S, Se. They are prepared by treating the aqua ions (in HCl) with Hacac, followed by neutralization with NaHCO₃, addition of pyridine and NH₄PF₆. X-ray structures have been solved for all cases except the Mo₃Se₄ derivative. In these isostructural compounds py is *trans* to the μ_3 -S. In the FAB-MS the peaks of $[M_3Q_4(acac)_3(py)_3]^+$ are observed with subsequent stepwise loss of the py molecules. ¹H NMR indicates the conservation in solution of the molecular structure found in the solid state. CV studies show two quasi-reversible reduction steps attributed to stepwise metal reduction: $M_3^{IV} \rightarrow M_2^{IV}M^{III} \rightarrow M^{IV}M_2^{III}$ with the ease of reduction diminishing in the range $Mo_3S_4 > Mo_3Se_4 > W_3Se_4 > W_3Se_4$.¹²⁹ The complex $[W_3S_4(acac)_3(NH_3)_3]Cl$ has also been prepared and its FAB-MS recorded.¹³⁰

In an acidic medium $(pH = 1.8) [Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ reacts with monovacant lacunary anions $[SiW_{11}O_{39}]^{8-}$ and $[P_2W_{17}O_{61}]^{10-}$ to yield nanosized cluster species $[{(SiW_{11}O_{39})Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_3 - (\mu - OH)_2}]^{10-}$ and $[{(P_2W_{17}O_{61})Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_3(\mu - OH)_2}]^{14-}$, isolated as $Me_2NH_2^+$ salts in high yields and structurally characterized (Figure 26). The central core is built up by two $Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_3^{4+}$ fragments, connected through 2 OH⁻ (*cis* to μ_3 -S). These large clusters are stable in solutions at pH between 1 and 7, quantitatively converting into $[Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ in more acidic media.¹⁴⁹

Complexes of iminodiacetate (ida^{2–}), are also known. A crystalline sample Ca[Mo₃S₄-(ida)₃]·11.5H₂O was prepared from the aqua ion and H₂ida, followed by addition of CaCl₂. The X-ray structure shows that the nitrogen atoms of the three ida groups are trans to μ_3 –S. Cyclic



Figure 26 Structure of the $[{(SiW_{11}O_{39})Mo_3S_4(H_2O_3(\mu-OH))_2]^{10-}}$ anion.

voltammetry experiments show two reversible one-electron reduction waves and another ill-defined process.⁹⁹ Later this reaction was re-examined and using ion-exchange chromatography followed by crystallization of Ca salts, four isomers were isolated. The first one, now reformulated as Ca[Mo₃-S₄(ida)₃]·12H₂O (isomer 1) was found to be identical with that reported in the earlier work. The second, Ca[Mo₃S₄(ida)₃]·21H₂O (isomer 2) is a *trans, trans, cis*-isomer with respect of the mutual positions of capping sulfur and nitrogen. The structure of isomer 3, Ca[Mo₃S₄(ida)₃]·10H₂O has not been established, and isomer 4, Ca[Mo₃S₄ (ida)₃]·14H₂O was found to be the *cis, cis, cis* form. Analysis by HPLC reveal that *cis* \rightarrow *trans* isomerization of the ida ligands occurs one by one, and that at equilibrium 1(18%), 2(68%), and 3(14%) are present, but not 4.¹³¹ The core Mo₃O₃S⁴⁺ coordinates ida to give dark-red products Ca[Mo₃O₃S(ida)₃]·7H₂O and Na₂[Mo₃O₃S(ida)₃]·3H₂O. Cyclic voltammetry of [Mo₃O₃S(ida)₃]·7H₂O has also been reported.¹³³

Nitrilotriacetates can be prepared by addition of H₃nta to the aqua ions, followed by careful adjustment of the pH with NaOH or KOH. In this way, crystalline K₂[Mo₃S₄(Hnta)₃]•9H₂O,¹⁰² Na₂[Mo₃S₄(Hnta)₃]•5H₂O,¹⁰² A(a_{1.5}[Mo₃S₄(Hnta)₂(nta)]•12H₂O,¹³⁵ Na₂[W₃S₄(Hnta)₃]•5H₂O,¹⁰² as well as mixed-metal Na₂[Mo₂WS₄(Hnta)₃]•5H₂O¹¹⁸ and Na₂[MoW₂S₄(Hnta)₃]•5H₂O¹¹⁸ have been prepared. All of these clusters have been structurally characterized except the K⁺ salt. Similarly, Mo₃O₃S⁴⁺ derivatives Na₂[Mo₃O₃S(Hnta)₃]•10H₂O and Ba[Mo₃O₃S(Hnta)₃]•10H₂O are prepared.¹³² The coordination mode of the Hnta²⁻ ligand in all structurally investigated cases is tridentate with one COOH group remaining free. The nitrogen atoms are invariably *trans* to the capping sulfur. Preparation and X-ray structures of complexes of mixed O/S tungsten clusters with Hnta²⁻ have also been reported as K₂[W₃O₃S(Hnta)₃]•9H₂O,¹³⁶ Ba[W₃O₂S₂(Hnta)₃]•9H₂O¹³⁷ and K₂[W₃OS₃(Hnta)₃]•KCl·7H₂O (Figure 27).¹³⁸ In the case of Mo/W mixed-metal clusters the metals are randomly disordered in the crystalline state. Cyclic voltammetry on [Mo_nW_{3-n}S₄(Hnta)₃]²⁻(*n*=0–3) shows three consecutive one-electron steps corresponding to changes from M₃^{IV} to M₃^{III}. The clusters are more readily reduced with increasing number of Mo atoms.¹¹⁸ The reaction of (NH₄)₂[Mo₃S₄(Hnta)₃]²⁻ in 2 M HCl (8 h) gives a clear green solution of [Mo₃S₄(Hnta)₃]⁴⁺.¹²⁸

Complexes of $W_3S_4^{4+}$ and $W_3O_3S^{4+}$ with a number of polyaminopolycarboxylate ligands have been prepared, and evaluated as potential water-soluble X-ray contrast agents. Reaction of $[W_3S_4(H_2O)_9]Cl_4$ with ethyleneglycol-bis(2-aminoethyl)tetraacetic acid (H₄egta) in DMF gives a number of products, of which a purple Na₄[(W₃S₄)₂(egta)₃]·16H₂O was crystallized in a 25–40% yields after size-exclusion chromatography. For each egta ligand, an iminodiacetate (ida) component coordinates a W atom of one cluster unit, while another ida coordinates a W in the second cluster unit. Each ida coordinates in the usual tripodal fashion so that its nitrogen is trans to μ_3 –S.¹³⁹ Red Na₄[(W₃OS)₂(egta)₃]·10H₂O was obtained from the aqua complex and egta ligand in DMF in a 14% yield.¹⁴⁰ Under similar conditions triethylentetraminehexaacetic acid, H₆ttha, gives at least three well-defined species: $[W_3S_4(ttha)]^{2-}$, $[(W_3S_4)_2(ttha)_2]^{4-}$, and $[(W_3S_4)_2(ttha)_3]^{10-}$. It was possible to isolate solid Na₂[W₃S₄(ttha)] in a 17% yield. It has been supposed that the ttha⁶⁻ would be nano-coordinated in this complex, with one free carboxylate group. However, single crystals from aqueous solutions gave Na₃H [(W₃S₄)₂(ttha)₂]·16H₂O, the structure of which shows a decadentate ttha, coordinating one cluster in a hexadentate fashion and the other in a tetradentate fashion.¹⁴¹



Figure 27 Structure of the $[W_3SO_3(Hnta)_3]^{2-}$ anion.

The W₃O₃S⁴⁺ core coordinates a number of long-chained polyaminopoly carboxylates, leading to stable products consisting of two cluster units bonded to three deprotonated ligands. In all cases, solid products could be obtained. Thus, with oxybis (ethylamine)tetraacetic acid (H₄obeta) Na₄[(W₃O₃S)₂(obeta)₃]·10H₂O (35% yield) was obtained, while 1,4-butylendiaminetetraacetic acid (H₄bdta) and its 2-methoxy (H₄MeO-pdta), 2-carboxymethyl (H₅CM-pdta) and 2-hydroxy (H₄HO-pdta) derivatives gave Na₄[(W₃O₃S)₂(pdta)₃]·11H₂O (46% yield), Na₄[(W₃O₃S)₂(HO-pdta)₃]·6H₂O, Na₄[(W₃O₃S)₂(MeO-pdta)₃]·7H₂O (53% yield) and Na₇[(W₃O₃S)₂(CM-pdta)₃]·7H₂O (18% yield). X-ray crystal structures were determined for (PPh₄)₄[(W₃O₃S)₂(pdta)₃]·39H₂O and for (PPh₄)₄[(W₃O₃S)₂(HO-pdta)₃]·27.5H₂O. In both these salts two cluster units are linked by three ligands with local coordination of W atoms by three ida subunits similar to that discussed earlier for the ida complexes.¹⁴⁰

Coordination of $Mo_3S_4^{4+}$ to 1,3,5-triamino-1,3,5-trideoxy-cis-inositol (taci) and with its methylated derivative 1,3,5-tris(dimethyamino)-1,3,5-trideoxy-cis-inositol (taci) has been studied. The $Mo_3S_4^{4+}$ core was generated *in situ* from $(Et_4N)_2[Mo_3S_7Br_6]$ and PPh₃ in ethanol. A 1:3 complex forms, and for $[Mo_3S_4(taci)_3]^{4+}$ it was shown that in aqueous solution isomerization occurs, supported by conformational changes in the ligand to give isomers with N,N,N; N,N,O and N,O,O bonding modes of the ligand. The bonding mode O,O,O was not observed. Attempts to grow single crystals from a water–acetone mixture led to a formation of a Schiff-base from the attack of acetone on one of the amino groups, giving a new ligand 1,3-diamino-5-(isopropylidenamino)-1,3,5-trideoxy-cis-inositol(L). Finally, a complex of composition $Mo_3S_4(L-4H)_4 \cdot 20H_2O$ was obtained and its crystal structure determined. This showed an N,N,O coordination mode of the partially deprotonated ligand (Figure 28). With tdci, green $[Mo_3S_4(tdci)_4]$ $Br_4 \cdot 9.5EtOH \cdot 5H_2O$ was prepared. The ligand coordinates through two deprotonated hydroxo and one NMe₂ groups to each metal, while the other two uncoordinated dimethylamino groups are protonated.¹¹²

A tach complex of composition $[Mo_3S_4(tach)_3](ZnCl_4)(ZnCl_3OH_2)_2 \cdot 3H_2O$ was prepared as bluegreen crystals in a 60% yield from the cube $[Mo_4S_4(H_2O)_{12}]^{5+}$, with amine in excess, followed by adjustment to pH = 2 and addition of $ZnCl_2$. Its crystal structure was determined.¹⁴³ The open-chain tridentate amine dien reacts with $[Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ and $[Mo_3OS_3(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ in HCl to give $[Mo_3S_4 (dien^-)(dien)_2]Cl_3 \cdot 4H_2O$ and $[Mo_3OS_3(dien^-)(dien)_2] Cl_3 \cdot 3H_2O$ respectively, where each cluster has one deprotonated dien. An X-ray crystal structure of the latter shows that the Mo—N(amido) bonds are much shorter than the Mo—N(amino) bonds, 1.99 Å vs. 2.23–2.28 Å. In D₂O solutions NMR indicates that the deprotonated amine receives a D⁺ from D₂O.¹⁴⁴

Reaction of $[Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ and KBHpz₃ leads to a partial hydrolysis of both the ligand and the cluster to give $[{(HBpz_3)_2Mo_3S_4}_2(\mu-O)(\mu-pz)_2]$, where two cluster units are bridged by a triple bridge of one oxide and two deprotonated pyrazolates (Figure 29).¹⁴⁵

Pyridine (py) complexes are also known. Thus, polymeric $\{Mo_3S_7Cl_4\}_x$ reacts slowly under reflux with PPh₃ in py to give green $[Mo_3S_4(py)_5Cl_4]$ in a 33% yield.¹⁴⁶ Treatment of this cluster with I₂ gives $[Mo_3S_4(py)_6Cl_3]I$.0.5py. Crystal structures have been determined.^{146,147}

Thiocyanate complexes are easily obtained from the aqua ions and NCS⁻, which coordinate exclusively through the nitrogen. The following compounds have been prepared and structurally characterized: $(pyH)_5[Mo_3S_2O_2(NCS)_9]\cdot 2H_2O$,¹⁴⁸ $(bpy)_5[W_3S_4(NCS)_9]\cdot 3H_2O$,¹⁰² $(Me_3NH)_5[W_3Se_4(NCS)_9]$,¹¹⁵



Figure 28 Structure of the $[Mo_3S_4(L-4H)_4]$ (L = 1,3-diamino-5-(isopropylidenamino)-1,3,5-trideoxycis-inositol) molecule.



Figure 29 Structure of the [{ $(HBpz_3)_2Mo_3S_4\}_2(\mu-O)(\mu-pz)_2$] molecule.

 $(Me_4N)_5[Mo_3Se_4(NCS)_9]$.^{108,109} Isolation of $(Me_4N)_5[Mo_3S_4(NCS)_9]$ was briefly mentioned.⁹⁸ Heating of polymeric $\{W_3S_7Br_4\}_x$ in a KNCS melt gives green $[W_3S_4(NCS)_9]^{5-}$ in high yield. From this reaction, Cs⁺ and Et₄N⁺ salts were obtained. The complex $[W_3S_4(NCS)_9]^{5-}$ also forms from $[W_3S_7Br_6]^{2-}$ and NCS⁻ under reflux in CH₃CN solutions.¹¹⁴ Heating $\{W_3Se_7Br_4\}_x$ with KNCS leads to stepwise S for Se substitution giving initially a mixture of all possible $[W_3S_nSe_{4-n}(NCS)_9]^{5-}$ forms, finally converting into $[W_3S_4(NCS)_9]^{5-}$ in high yield.¹⁵⁰

Green $[W_3OS_3(NCS)_9]^{5-}$ reacts with acetylene in 1 M HCl (in the presence of excess NCS⁻) with the formation of μ_2 -vinylsulfido complex, $[W(\mu_3-S)(\mu-O)(\mu-S)(\mu-SCHCH_2)(NCS)_9]^{5-}$, isolated and structurally characterized as a mixed K⁺/pyH⁺ salt.¹²²

4.12.6.1.5 Sulfur-containing ligands

Reaction of $(NH_4)_2[Mo_3S_{13}]$ and excess (>9 equivalent) Na₂edt with Et₄NBr in CH₃CN at room temperature gives a deep-violet solution, from which violet–black, moderately air-stable crystals of $(Et_4N)_2[Mo_3S_4(edt)_3]$ can be isolated, 50% yield. This compound features a five-coordinated Mo with Mo—Mo bonds 2.78 Å. Treatment of the product with sulfur gives red $(Et_4N)_2[Mo_3-S_7(edt)_3]$, which again regenerates the starting material with CN^- and PPh_3 .¹⁵¹

Another compound with an M_3S_7 core, polymeric $\{W_3S_7Br_4\}_x$, reacts slowly with $(NH_4)_2S_x$ at room temperature, giving black needles of $(NH_4)_2[W_3S_4(S_4)_3(NH_3)_3]$ ·H₂O. The tetrasulfido ligand is coordinated in a bidentate fashion, and a rather long (2.5 Å) W–S distance explains the easy reaction with conc. HCl to give $[W_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ in high yield.^{114,152}

There exists an extensive series of dithiophosphato ester complexes (dtp, (EtO)₂PS₂) of the cuboidal clusters, especially of the $Mo_3S_4^{4+}$ core. Treatment of $MoCl_3 \cdot 3H_2O$ with $(EtO)_2PS_2H$ in ethanol gives $[Mo_3S_4(dtp)_3(\mu-dtp)(H_2O)]$, which is a valuable starting material.¹⁵³ Its W analog has also been prepared.¹⁵⁴ The water ligand is only weakly bound and undergoes an easy substitution with other bidentate ligands oxazole,¹⁵⁶ bpy,¹⁵⁷ imidazole,¹⁵⁸ PhCH₂CN,¹⁵⁹ PhCH₂SH,¹⁶⁰ PPh₃,¹⁶⁰ thiourea,¹⁶¹ allyl-thiourea¹⁶⁰ to give corresponding [Mo₃S₄(dtp)₄L], all of which have been structurally characterized. The unique bridging dtp is also liable to substitution by other bidentate ligands, such as formate,¹⁶² acetate,¹⁶² propionate,¹⁶³ salicylate,¹⁶⁴ phthalate,¹⁶⁴ and nitro-benzoate.¹⁸⁷ The structures of $[Mo_3S_4(dtp)_3(RCO_2)(py)]$ (R = H,¹⁶² CH₃,¹⁶¹ C₂H₅¹⁶³) and of $[Mo_3S_4(dtp)_3(O-HOC_6H_4CO_2)(py)]^{164}$ have been determined, as well as of $[W_{3}S_{4}(dtp)_{3}(CH_{3}CO_{2})(py)]^{165}$ and $[MO_{3}Se_{4}(dtp)_{3}(CH_{3}CO_{2})(py)]^{166}$ The structure of the O-nitrobenzoate complex is shown in (Figure 30). Even weakly nucleophilic *P*-toluene-sulfonate $CH_3C_6H_4SO_3^{-1}$ is capable of acting as the bridging ligand in $[Mo_3S_4(dtp)_3(\mu-pts)(py)]$.¹⁶⁷ Substitution of more then one dtp is also possible. The structures of $[Mo_3(\mu_3-O) (\mu - S_3(dtp)_2(\mu - RCO_2)_2(py)]$ (R = CH₃, C₆H₅) show that the two carboxylates are bridging while the dtp ligands form bidentate chelates.¹⁶⁸ Monodentate imidazole (Im) appears to be a rather efficient ligand to compete with dtp in the structure of $[Mo_3S_4(dtp)_3(Im)_3](dtp)$, where each of the three imidazole ligands is coordinated to one Mo, leaving one dtp uncoordinated to act as a counterion.¹⁶⁹ Treatment of $[Mo_3S_4(dtp)_3(\mu-dtp)(H_2O)]$ with Fe^{III} perchlorate and oxazole led to a partial hydrolysis of the bridging ligand, and a monothiophosphato bridged complex $[Mo_3S_4(dtp)_3(\mu-SOP (OEt)_2)(oxazole)]$ was obtained.¹⁷⁰ Reaction of the hydrate $MoCl_3 \cdot 3H_2O$



Figure 30 Structure of the $[Mo_3S_4(dtp)_3(o-O_2NC_6H_4CO_2)(py)]$ molecule.

with $(EtO)_2PS_2H$ in ethanol in the presence of oxazole gave also $[Mo_3OS_3(dtp)_4(oxazole)]$.¹⁵⁶ The cluster $[Mo_3(\mu_3-S)(\mu-Se)_3(dtp)_3(\mu-dtp)(py)]$, which represents a very rare type of incomplete cuboidal cluster with two different chalcogen atoms in the core, is also known.¹⁷¹

The complexes $[Mo_3S_4(dtp)_4(CH_3CN)]$ and $[Mo_3OS_3(dtp)_4(CH_3CN)]$ can be made in 80% yield by reacting the corresponding aqua ions with $(EtO)_2PS_2H$ followed by recrystallization from CH₃CN. Black crystals of $[Mo_3OS_3(dtp)_4(H_2O)]$ can be detected before treatment with acetonitrile. Similarly, $[Mo_3O_3S(dtp)_4(H_2O)]$ was obtained (44% yield). Green $[Mo_3O_2S_2(dtp)_4(py)]$ is prepared by treating the aqua ion with $(EtO)_2PS_2H$, followed by recrystallization from CH₃CN in the presence of small amounts of pyridine. Refluxing $[Mo_3OS_3(dtp)_4(CH_3CN)]$ in ethanol with acetic anhydride and pyridine gave crystals of $[Mo_3OS_3(dtp)_2(OAc)(py)_2(OEt)]$. This has a structure with both dtp ligands chelated to a single metal and acetate bridging the $Mo(\mu-O)Mo$ edge. From ³¹P NMR studies on the $[Mo_3O_nS_{4-n}(dtp)_4(L)]$ (n = 0-3) the monodentate ligand is very labile and can easily be exchanged with the bulk solvent used for the NMR studies with the result that the dtp at the same Mo fluctuates around the coordination site.¹⁷²

The reaction between MoCl₃·3H₂O, P₄S₁₀ and H₂S in ethanol under less acidic conditions than used for preparation of $[Mo_3S_4(dtp)_3(\mu-dtp)(H_2O)]$ gives $[Mo_3OS_3(dtp)_3(\mu-dtp)(H_2O)]$. In this case the cluster core is $[Mo(\mu_3-O)(\mu-S)_3]^{4+}$, which can be regarded as isomeric with the more common $[Mo(\mu_3-S)(\mu-O)(\mu-S)_2]^{4+}$. Alternatively, $[Mo_3OS_3(dtp)_3(\mu-dtp)(H_2O)]$ is obtained when $[Mo_3S_4(dtp)_3(\mu-dtp)(H_2O)]$ is refluxed in acidic solutions for a long time. Crystal structures have been determined for some mixed-ligand derivatives of the $Mo(\mu_3-O)(\mu-S)_3^{4+}$ core. These are for $[Mo_3OS_3(\mu-OAc)_2(dtp)_2(py)]$, $[Mo_3OS_3(\mu-OAc)(\mu-dtp)_3(py)]$, and $[Mo_3OS_3(dtp)_3(dtp)_3(py)_3]$ (CdI(dtp))₂.¹⁷³⁻¹⁷⁶

Dithiophosphinates (R₂PS₂) and dithiocarbamates (R₂NCS₂) have been less extensively studied. The reaction of sulfur-rich [Mo₃S₇(Et₂PS₂)₃](Et₂PS₂) with PPh₃ leads to sulfur abstraction with [Mo₃S₄(Et₂PS₂)₃(μ -Et₂PS₂)] as the product.¹⁷⁷ The cluster [Mo₃S₄(Et₂PS₂)₃(py)₃](ZnI₃py) is also known (Figure 31).¹⁷⁸ Analogously, [Mo₃Se₇(Et₂NCS₂)₃] (Et₂NCS₂) reacts with PPh₃ to give [Mo₃Se₄(Et₂NCS₂)₄(PPh₃)].¹⁸⁰ Crystal structures of [Mo₃S₄(dtc)₃(μ -dtc)(py)]·2py·H₂O and of [Mo₃S₄(dtc)₃(μ -dtc)(DMF) (dtc is Et₂NCS₂)] demonstrate much similarity in the coordination behavior of the dtp and dtc ligands.¹⁵⁵

The reaction of $[Mo_3Te_7(({}^{i}PrO)_2PS_2)_3]I$ with Bu_3P in the presence of benzoate or *o*-aminobenzoate gave the first Mo_3Te_4 cluster, which was isolated and structurally characterized as $[Mo_3Te_4(({}^{i}PrO)_2PS_2)_3(\mu-RC_6H_4CO_2)(PBu_3)]$ (Figure 32).¹⁸⁰

4.12.6.1.6 Complexes with phosphines

Polymeric forms $\{M_3Q_7X_4\}_x$ (M = Mo, W; Q = S, Se; X = Cl, Br) react with mono and bidentate phosphines to give phosphine complexes with the $M_3Q_4^{4+}$ cores. In the case of $\{Mo_3S_7Cl_4\}_x$ with



Figure 31 Structure of the $[Mo_3S_4(Et_2PS_2)_3(py)_3]^+$ cation.



Figure 32 Structure of the $[Mo_3Te_4(({}^{i}PrO)_2PS_2)_3(\mu - C_6H_5CO_2)(PBu_3)]$ molecule.

PEt₃ in MeOH at ~20 °C two products are obtained: $[Mo_3S_4Cl_4(PEt_3)_3(MeOH)_2]$ (Figure 33) in a 24% yield, and $[Mo_3S_4Cl_4(PEt_3)_4(MeOH)]$ in a 46% yield,¹⁸¹ while slow reactions of $\{M_3S_7Br_4\}_x$ (M = Mo, W) with PEt₃ in THF at room temperature led to a partial P–C bond scission and phosphine oxidation, giving $[M_3S_4Br_4(PEt_3)_3(OEt_2PH)(H_2O)]$ as products (M = Mo, 32%; M = W, 20%).¹⁸² Reaction of $Mo_3S_7Cl_4$ with PPh₃ in THF (48 h) produces dark-green crystals of $[Mo_3S_4Cl_4(PPh_3)_3(H_2O)_2]$ ·3THF (Figure 34), 35% yield.¹⁸³ The structure of the W analog $[W_3S_4Cl_4(PPh_3)_3(H_2O)_2]$ ·2THF has also been structurally characterized.¹⁸⁴ The compounds $(Et_4N)_2[Mo_3S_7X_6]$ (X = Cl, Br) react with PPh₃ in CH₃OH much faster than $\{Mo_3S_7X_4\}_x$ to give $[Mo_3S_4Cl_4(PPh_3)_3]$ in good yields.¹⁸⁵

Bidentate phosphines (dmpe, dppe) react with polymeric $\{M_3S_7X_4\}_x(M=Mo, W; X=Cl, Br)$ in different solvents to give $[M_3S_4X_3(dmpe)_3]^+$ and $[M_3S_4X_3(dppe)_3]^+$. When this reaction is carried out in a halogenated solvent, halogen exchange occurs: Thus, from $\{W_3S_7Br_4\}_x$ in CH_2Cl_2 , the formation of $[W_3S_4Br_2Cl(dmpe)_3]^+$ and $[W_3S_4BrCl_2(dmpe)_3]^+$ has been observed, together with the expected product $[W_3S_4Br_3(dmpe)_3]^+$. It seems from these studies that dmpe is more reactive than dppe (as expected), $\{Mo_3S_7Cl_4\}_x$ is more reactive than the corresponding bromide, and halogenated solvents are more efficient than THF or acetonitrile. Crystal structures of $[Mo_3S_4Cl_3(dppe)_3]Cl$ and $[Mo_3S_4Cl_{2.25}Br_{0.75}(dppe)_3](BF_4)_{0.5}Cl_{0.5}$ have been determined. Other



Figure 33 Structure of the $[Mo_3S_4Cl_4(PEt_3)_3(MeOH)_2]$ molecule. Only C atoms bonded to P and O of methanols are shown.



Figure 34 Structure of the $[Mo_3S_4Cl_4(PPh_3)_3(H_2O)_2]$ molecule.

products isolated from these reactions and characterized by ³¹P NMR and FAB–MS are $[M_3S_4X_3(dppe)_3]PF_6$ (M = Mo, W; X = Cl, Br), $[Mo_3S_4X_3(dppe)_3]PF_6$ (X = Cl, Br) and $[W_3S_4Br_3(dppe)_3]X$ (X = Br, PF₆).^{183,186} Similarly, from $\{Mo_3Se_7Cl_4\}_x$, brown $[Mo_3Se_4Cl_3-(dppe)_3]Cl$ was obtained,¹⁷⁹ and from $\{W_3Se_7Br_4\}_x$, green products $[W_3Se_4Br_3(dppe)_3]X$ (X = Br, ReO₄, PF₆, BF₄, BPh₄) were obtained, 50–70% yields.¹³⁰ The cluster $[W_3S_xSe_{4-x}(NCS)_9]^{5-1}$ undergoes ligand substitution with dppe to give $[W_3S_xSe_{4-x}(dppe)_3(NCS)_3]^+$, the formation of which was studied by FAB–MS.¹⁵⁰ The cluster $(Et_4N)_2[Mo_3S_7X_6]$ reacts rapidly with dppe in CH₃OH with the formation of $[Mo_3S_4X_3(dppe)_3]X$ (X = Cl, Br) in high yields.¹⁸⁵

Cluster core self-assembly gives an alternative route to access the incomplete cuboidal cluster complexes with bidentate phosphines. Thus, $[MoCl_3(THF)_3]$ with NaSH in THF, followed by addition of dmpe, gives on silica gel column purification (and addition of NH₄PF₆ in methanol) the green compound $[Mo_3S_4Cl_3(dmpe)_3]PF_6$ in 40% yield.¹⁸⁸ Both WCl₄ and WBr₅ can serve as starting compounds in the reaction with NaSH and a phosphine, but WBr₅ requires an extra reducing agent such as NaBH₄ or NaBEt₃H. With WCl₄, $[W_3S_4Cl_3(dmpe)_3]PF_6$ (20%) and $[W_3S_4Cl_3(depe)_3]PF_6$ (15%) were obtained. In the case of WBr₅ the products $[W_3S_4Br_3$ (phosphine)₃]X (phosphine = dmpe, depe; X = Br, PF₆), have been structurally characterized.^{189–192} All the complexes $[M_3Q_4X_3(diphosphine)_3]^+$ have diphosphine ligands with one P atom trans to the capping μ_3 –Q, and the other trans to the bridging μ_2 –Q, thus giving chiral cations.

Reactions of $[W_3S_4Cl_3(dmpe)_3]BPh_4$ with LiBH₄, or of $[W_3S_4Br_3(dppe)_3]PF_6$ with NaBH₄, give the corresponding hydrido complexes $[W_3S_4H_3(dmpe)_3]BPh_4^{190}$ and $[W_3S_4H_3(dppe)_3]PF_6$.¹⁸⁶ The latter hydride is a pink air-stable solid with ¹H NMR signal at 0.97 ppm. It is possible to reduce the core $Mo_3S_4^{4+}$ to $Mo_3S_4^{3+}$ in a phosphine complex. Thus, on treating $\{Mo_3S_7Cl_4\}_x$ with PEt₃, reducing with Mg at -20 °C, and addition of dppe, paramagnetic $[Mo_3S_4Cl_3(dppe)_2(PEt_3)]$ is obtained. The Mo–Mo bonds (2.806 Å) are longer than in analogous complexes of $Mo_3S_4^{4+}$ with phosphines.¹⁹³

4.12.6.1.7 Cyanide and η^5 -cyclopentadienyl complexes

Cyanide has a high affinity for the M_3Q_4 core, and $[M_3Q_4(CN)_9]^{5-}$ complexes are very stable. The cluster $(NH_4)_2[Mo_3S_{13}]$ reacts with KCN (with the formation of SCN⁻), giving green $[Mo_3S_4(CN)_9]^{5-}$, which can be isolated as the double salt $K_5[Mo_3S_4(CN)_9]$ ·3KCN·4H₂O (70% yield).¹⁹⁴ The same product is obtained from MoS₃ and KCN.¹⁹⁵ The product $K_5[Mo_3S_4(CN)_9]$ ·7H₂O has also been identified.¹⁹⁶

The cyano complexes of the incomplete cubes $[Mo_3Se_4(CN)_9]^{5-}$ and $[W_3Se_4(CN)_9]^{5-}$ have been prepared by reacting polymeric $\{M_3Se_7Br_4\}_x$ with KCN in hot aqueous solution. The products have been isolated as isostructural double salts $Cs_5[M_3Se_4(CN)_9]$ ·CsCl·4H₂O. Reduction potentials for $[M_3Se_4(CN)_9]^{5-}$ associated with reduction to the $M^{III}M_2^{IV}$ state are -0.63 V (Mo) and -0.97 V (W) vs. NHE, indicating that the W derivative is more strongly reducing.¹⁹⁷

A high yield conversion of $[Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_9](pts)_4$ into $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_3Mo_3S_4](pts)$ and $[(\eta^5-CH_3C_5H_4)_3Mo_3S_4](pts)$ has been reported.^{198,199} Cyclopentadienyl derivatives of the reduced core $Mo_3S_4^{3+}$ are also known. The reaction of propylenesulfide with $H[Mo(\eta^5-C_5H_5)(CO)_3]$ (1:2 ratio), or with $H[Mo(\eta^5-C_5H_5)(CO)_2(P(OPh)_3)]$ (1:1 ratio) in THF at room temperature gives black oxygen-sensitive $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_3Mo_3S_4]$, which has been characterized spectroscopically. Recently it was reported that reduction of $[(\eta^5-C_5Me_5)Mo(S^tBu)_3]$ with Na/Hg gives green, paramagnetic $[(\eta^5-C_5Me_5)_3Mo_3S_4]$. Its structure shows elongation of both Mo—S and Mo—Mo bonds, compared to $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_3Mo_3S_4]$ (Me_3SnCl₂).²⁰⁰

4.12.6.2 Chalcogen-rich Clusters with M₃Q₇ Cores

Polymeric forms { $M_3Q_7X_4$ }_x (M = Mo, W; Q = S, Se; X = Cl, Br) are prepared by high-temperature reactions (ca. 350 °C) of the elements in a sealed tube. The crystal structures of isostructural { $Mo_3S_7Cl_4$ }_x and { $W_3S_7Br_4$ }_x have been determined and consist of $M_3(\mu_3-S)(\mu-S_2)_3^{4+}$ units, bridged by four halide atoms forming an extended zigzag chain.^{201,202} This cluster core has the same features, e.g., asymmetrical coordination of the S₂ units, as the Ti and V clusters already described. The metal is in oxidation state IV and thus six electrons are available to form three single metal-metal bonds in the triangle. It is believed that the selenides have similar structures. The polymeric structure can be broken under various conditions (some of them are not found in the traditional inventory of inorganic chemistry due to inertness of the starting polymers) to give discrete anions [$M_3Q_7X_6$]²⁻. They can in turn be aquated in 4 M Hpts into corresponding aqua ions [$M_3Q_7(H_2O)_6$]⁴⁺, which are quite stable in acidic solutions but are yet to be isolated as solids.¹¹⁰ The cluster $Mo_3Te_{10}I_{10}$, made by heating the elements at 395 °C, contains the Mo_3Te_7 core, three TeI₃⁻ ligands and one I⁻ as counter ion, interacting strongly with axial Te atoms from the Te₂ units (Te···I, 3.26–3.35 Å). The new TeI₃⁻ ligand is coordinated via both Te and one of its I atoms; two other iodine atoms remain free.²⁰³

Clusters with two different chalcogen atoms (or with oxygen) in the core are known. Thus, clusters with the following cores: $Mo_3(\mu_3-O)(\mu-S_2)_3^{4+}, Mo_3(\mu_3-S)(\mu-Se_2)_3^{4+}, M_3(\mu_3-S)(\mu-SSe)_3^{4+}, M_3(\mu_3-Se)(\mu-SSe)_3^{4+}(M=Mo,W), Mo_3(\mu_3-S)(\mu-Te_2)_3^{4+}$ and $Mo_3(\mu_3-O)(\mu-Te_2)_3^{4+}$ have been reported.

4.12.6.2.1 Mo₃S₇ clusters

Air stable, crystalline $[Mo_3S_7X_6]^{2-}$ (X = Cl, Br, I) (Figure 35), can be made either by melting the polymeric $\{Mo_3S_7X_4\}_x$ with PPh₄X (X = Cl, Br) at 300 °C,²⁰⁴ or mechanochemical reaction with Et₄NBr in a vibration mill.²⁰⁵ The $\{Mo_3S_7X_4\}_x$ is known to be insoluble in organic solvents and requires drastic conditions for the halide group to be replaced, and the cluster core to be excised. Gamma-radiolysis has also been found to be an efficient way of breaking up the $\{Mo_3S_7Br_4\}_x$ and from the irradiated material $[Mo_3S_7Br_6]^{2-}$ can be extracted into hot conc. HBr in high yield.²⁰⁶



Figure 35 Structure of the $[Mo_3S_7Cl_6]^{2-}$ cation showing equatorial and axial sulfur atoms of the bridging $\mu - S_2$ ligands.

The ionic form are readily accessible, from $(NH_4)_6[Mo_7O_{24}]$ and $(NH_4)_2S_x$ at 90 °C, or $\{Mo_3S_7X_4\}_x$ (X = Cl, Br) and $(NH_4)_2S_x$,^{207,208} red $(NH_4)_2[Mo_3S_7(S_2)_3]$ reacts with hot conc. HX acids (X = Cl, Br, I) to give the corresponding $(NH_4)_2[Mo_3S_7X_6]$ salts,^{185,210} and the chloride and bromide (but not the iodide) are also obtainable by treatment of $(NH_4)_2[Mo_3S_7(S_2)_3]$ with Br₂ or Cl₂ in CH₃CN.²⁰⁹ A high-yield access route to $[Mo_3S_7Br_6]^{2-}$ is to treat $(NH_4)_2[Mo_3S_7(S_2)_3]$ with (CH₃)₃CBr (50 °C, DMF).²¹¹ Crystal structures have been determined for $(Ph_4P)_2[Mo_3S_7Cl_6]$,²⁰⁴ (Et₄N)(H₉O₄)[Mo_3S_7X_6] (X = Cl, Br),^{206,210} (Et₄N)_2[Mo_3S_7Br_6]^{210} and $(N_2H_5)_2$ [Mo₃S_7I_6].²¹² In certain conditions, one more additional Cl⁻ or Br⁻ is weakly bound to the three axial sulfur atoms of the S₂ groups, as has been crystallographically verified for $(pyH)_3[[Mo_3S_7Cl_6]Cl\}$,²¹³ (C₅H₇S₂)₃[Mo₃S₇Br₆]Br}, [Eu(DMSO)₇(H₂O)]{[Mo_3S_7Br_6]Br}, and [Tm(DMSO)₆(H₂O)] {[Mo_3S_7Br_6]Br}.²¹⁶ This secondary halogen coordination leads to S···Cl distances around 2.9 Å and S···Br around 3.1 Å.

These salts, in particular (Et₄N)₂[Mo₃S₇Br₆], are good starting materials for preparation of other Mo₃S₇ derivatives by ligand substitution. Thus NCS⁻ converts it into (Et₄N)₂ [Mo₃S₇(NCS)₆],²¹⁷ and aniline into {[Mo₃S₇Br₃(PhNH₂)₃]Br} Et₄NBr (Figure 36).²¹⁸ Dithiocarbamates [Mo₃S₇(Et₂NCS₂)₃]X (Figure 37) (X = Br, Et₂NCS₂),^{153,219} [Mo₃S₇ (pipCS₂)₃]Br²¹⁹ (pip is piperidyl) are obtained in this way. When treated with (Et₂NCS₂)₂ and NaI the compound (NH₄)₂[Mo₃S₇(Et₂NCS₂)₃] yields [Mo₃S₇(Et₂NCS₂)₃]L²¹¹ An extended list of dialkyldithiocarbamate salts [Mo₃S₇(Et₂NCS₂)₃]X (X = Cl,²²⁰ I,^{211,221,222} ClO₄,²²⁵ TCNQ,²²³ Et₂NCS₂,^{152,224} S,^{225,226} C₂H₁₁B₉,²²⁷ as well as other dithiocarbamates [Mo₃S₇(PyrrCS₂)₃]I²²⁸ and [Mo₃S₇(pipCS₂)₃]I²²¹ have been prepared with strong interactions between the axial sulfur atoms and X⁻ donor atoms. A theoretical treatment has been presented for [Mo₃S₇(Et₂NCS₂)₃]X. The covalency of this interaction strongly increases on going from perchlorates (almost pure Coulombic) to sulfide (covalent): ClO₄⁻ < Cl⁻ < I⁻ < S²⁻. A decrease in S-S Raman frequency and S-S distance has been noted for the S₂ ligand.²²⁵ Another interesting example in this series of salts is [Mo₃S₇(Et₂NCS₂)₃]4(SO₄)₂, where the four oxygen atoms of one sulfate interact with four different Mo₃S₇ units, while the other SO₄²⁻ remains free,²²⁵ and cationic {[Mo₃S₇(Et₂NCS₂)₃]2S^{2,29}.

Complexes with dithiophosphate ligands $(RO)_2PS_2^{-}(R = Et, {}^{i}Pr)$ are obtained by substitution,²¹⁹ or by sulfur addition to $[Mo_3S_4((EtO)_2PS_2)_4(H_2O)]$. Several crystal structures $[Mo_3S_7(dtp)_3]X$ have been reported, showing short S…X contacts.^{230,231} Closely related dithiophosphinates $[Mo_3S_7(R_2PS_2)_3]^+(R = Et, n-Pr)$ have been prepared by cluster self-assembly from $[Mo(CO)_6]$ and $R_2P(S)SSP(S)R_2$ (reflux in toluene, 4 h).^{232,233}



Figure 36 Structure of the $[Mo_3S_7Br_3(PhNH_2)_3]^+$ cation.



Figure 37 Structure of the $[Mo_3S_7(Et_2NCS_2)_3]^+$ cation.

Reactions of $(Et_4N)_2[Mo_3S_7Br_6]$ with $K[(Ph_2P(Q))_2N] (Q = S, Se)$ give $[Mo_3S_7\{(Ph_2P(Q))_2N\}_3]Br$ containing six-membered chelate rings.²³⁴ A 3,4-toluenedithiolate complex has been structurally characterized as $(Et_4N)_2[Mo_3S_7(CH_3C_6H_3S_2)_3]$,²³⁵ and the brown catecholate analog from $(Et_4N)_2[Mo_3S_7Br_6]$, Et_3N and H_2 cat has also been prepared, yield 75%.²¹¹ The disulfonated catecholate $(OH)_2C_6H_2(SO_3)_2^{2-}$ also gives a tris-complex, which is too soluble for a well-defined product to be isolated.²³⁷

Reaction of $(NH_4)_2[Mo_3S_7(S_2)_3]$ with C_5H_4N -S-S- C_5H_4N (tpy₂) in DMF gives an orange solution, from which a tris-complex $[Mo_3S_7(tpy)_3]I$ is isolated in 11% yield upon addition of NaI; and a dark solid, converted by treatment with dtc₂ and NaI into a mixed-ligand complex $[Mo_3S_7(tpy)_2(dtc)]I$. This latter product, however, exhibits in the FAB–mass spectra molecular peaks corresponding to $[Mo_3S_7(tpy)_3]^+$, $[Mo_3S_7(tpy)_2(dtc)]^+$ and $[Mo_3S_7(tpy)(dtc)_2]^+$, interpreted as ligand redistribution products under mass spectrometry conditions.²¹¹ Tris-chelated complexes of Mo_3S_7 with bidentate ligands 2-mercapto succinic acid (H₃msa), meso-2,3-dimercapto succinic acid (H₄dsa), 2-mercapto benzoic acid (H₂mba), 3,4-dihydroxybenzoic acid (H₃dba), 8-oxyquino-line (Hoxq) and 6-mercapropurine (Hmp) have been prepared from (Et₄N)₂[Mo_3S_7Br₆] in CH₃CN or DMF and isolated as solids with appropriate counterions.^{211,228,237,238} FAB–MS was applied to study fragmentation patterns of $[Mo_3S_7Br_6]^{2-}$, $[Mo_3S_7(cat)_3]^{2-}$, $[Mo_3S_7(oxq)_3]^+$, $[Mo_3S_7(mba)_3]^{2-}$ and $[Mo_3S_7(mp)_3]^+$.^{211,236-238} As in the Mo_3S_7 core each Mo atom has two non-equivalent coordination sites with respect to the capping sulfide, and formation of different isomers is possible. Crystal structures of $(Et_3NH)_2[Mo_3S_7(mba)_3]$ reveal only one isomer in the solid state with all sulfur atoms *cis* to μ_3 –S (Figure 38).²³⁷ Potentiometric titrations of $[Mo_3S_7(H_2dsa)_3]^{2-}$ with KOH indicate chelating formation of a less symmetrical isomer, with two ligands S,S' and one S,O.²³⁷ Electrochemical reduction of $[Mo_3S_7(mba)_3]^{2-}$, $[Mo_3S_7(Hdba)_3]^{2-}$, $[Mo_3S_7(H_2dsa)_3]^{2-}$ and



Figure 38 Structure of the $[Mo_3S_7(mba)_3]^{2-}$ anion incorporating the mba^{2-} anion of 2-mercaptobenzoic acid (H₂mba).

 $[Mo_3S_7(Hmsa)_3]^{2-}$ occurs in the range $-0.2\,V$ to $-0.9\,V$ vs. Ag/AgCl and is irreversible, due to sulfur loss from the S_2 bridges and formation of $Mo_3S_4{}^{4+,\,237}$

The main characteristic of the M_3Q_7 core is found in the distinction between the equatorial and axial chalcogen atoms in the μ_2-Q_2 ligands (Figure 35). Thus the Mo–S_{eq} bond distance (2.485 Å) in (Ph₄P)₂[Mo₃S₇Cl₆] is longer than Mo–S_{ax} (2.391 Å).²⁰⁴ Consequently, the bond force constant for Mo–S_{eq}. is smaller,¹⁸⁵ and equatorial sulfur is more labile toward abstraction and substitution. This was shown by preparation of a unique series of six isotopomers of (NH₄)₂[Mo₃S₇(S₂)₃] with ⁹²Mo, ¹⁰⁰Mo, ³⁴S isotopes. The reaction of (Et₄N)₂[Mo₃³⁴S₇Br₆] with (NH₄)₂³²S_x gives the expected [Mo₃S₁₃]²⁻ where not only terminal ligands are exchanged, but (selectively) equatorial sulfur atoms, and a unique isotopomeric ³²S-³⁴S product is obtained [Mo₃(μ_3 -³⁴S)(μ -³⁴S_{ax}-³²S_{eq})₃(³²S₂)]²⁻.²³⁹ With conc. HCl this gives [Mo₃(μ_3 -³⁴S)(μ -³⁴S_{ax}-³²S_{eq})₃Cl₆]²⁻, which reacts with PPh₃ to generate the Mo₃S₄⁴⁺ core. Exclusive formation of ³²SPPh₃ demonstrates that sulfur abstraction takes place at the equatorial polysulfide S_x²⁻ cannot add any more sulfur, no attack of the S₂ ligands is observed, and the first elimination step is effectively blocked.¹⁵² Reaction of (Et₄N)₂[Mo₃S₇Br₆] with [$(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2TiS_5$] proceeds without isotopic exchange in the core, and [Mo₃S₁₃]²⁻ is the product.¹⁵² Vibrational spectra (IR and Raman) have been studied in detail for (NH₄)₂[Mo₃S₁₃].

Vibrational spectra (IR and Raman) have been studied in detail for $(NH_4)_2[Mo_3S_{13}]$, $(Ph_4As)_2[Mo_3S_{13}]$ and $(Et_4N)_2[Mo_3S_7Cl_6]$, using isotope substitution. For the first of these only $Mo - \mu_3S$ (462 cm⁻¹) and S–S vibrations (bridging 541, 552 cm⁻¹; terminal 506, 513 cm⁻¹) are clearly defined, and Mo–S, Mo–Mo and Mo–Cl vibrations are mixed.^{185,239,240} The structure of $(Me_4N)_2[Mo_3S_7(S_2)_3]$ has been determined.²⁴⁰

A 50% yield of $K_2[Mo_3S_{13}] \cdot xH_2O$ is obtained from amorphous polymeric MoS_3 (of unknown structure) with 5% aqueous KOH. When a mixture of ⁹²MoS₃ and ¹⁰⁰MoS₃ is used, homoisotopic [⁹²Mo₃S₁₃]²⁻ and [¹⁰⁰Mo₃S₁₃]²⁻ are products. From this it is concluded that MoS_3 is built up of cluster aggregates M_x with $x \ge 3$.²⁴¹

Orange $[Mo_3S_7(H_2O)_6]^{4+}$ reacts with PR_3^{3-} ($R = C_6H_4SO_3$) giving green $[Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ according to a rate law $k = k_1[H^+] + k_{-1}[H^+]^{-1}$ which was interpreted as involvement of a protonated S₂ and an H₂O conjugate-base form; k_1 was found to be $3.14 \times 10^4 M^{-2}s^{-1}$ and $k_{-1} = 2.78 \times 10^4 s^{-1}$. Equilibration rate constants for Cl⁻ or Br⁻ substitution of H₂O are independent of $[H^+]$ and their values are: $(10^4 k_{eq} (M^{-1}s^{-1})) 1.83$ (Cl⁻) and 2.07 (Br⁻). These uniphasic reactions are assigned as substitution of the H₂O *cis* to μ_3 -S at each Mo, giving $[Mo_3S_7Cl_3(H_2O)_3]^+$.¹¹⁰

4.12.6.2.2 W₃S₇ clusters

Clusters with this core are scarce. Polymeric $\{W_3S_7Br_4\}_x$,^{114,183} orthe chloride, (made from WS₃ and PCl₅} are believed to have the same structure.¹¹⁴ In a melt (ca. 290 °C) $\{W_3S_7Br_4\}_x$ reacts with PPh₄Br to give bright red (Ph₄P)₂[W₃S₇Br₆], the crystal structure of which has been determined.¹¹⁴ The structural parameters of the $W_3S_7Br_6^{1+}$, core are very close to those of $Mo_3S_7^{4+}$. Detailed IR and Raman studies on $[W_3S_7Br_6]^{2-}$, including bonds force constants calculations, have been reported.¹¹⁴ Conversion of $\{W_3S_7Br_4\}_x$ into $(Et_4N)_2[W_3S_7Br_6]$ by heating with Et_4NBr in hot conc. HBr (low yields, poor reproducibility),¹¹⁴ or better by mechanochemical reaction with an excess of solid Et_4NBr is possible.²⁴² The chlorides are known, and crystal structures of (PPN)₂[W₃S₇Cl₆]²⁴² and a cucurbituril derivative (H₃O)₄[W₃S₇Cl₆]₂ (C₃₆N₂₄O₁₂H₃₆)·8H₂O have been described.²⁴³ With ammonium polysulfide $\{W_3S_7Br_4\}_x$ is transformed into $W_3S_4^{4+}$ as black $(NH_4)_2[W_3S_4(S_4)_3(NH_3)_3]$.^{114,152}

4.12.6.2.3 M₃Se₇ clusters

These are accessed from $\{M_3Se_7X_4\}_x$ by reaction with PPh₄X (melts) or Et₄NX (vibration mill), X = Cl, Br, leading to $[M_3Se_7X_6]^{2-}$ salts.^{179,242} With Nadtc these are converted into red crystalline dithiocarbamates $[M_3Se_7(dtc)_3](dtc)$ which give strong contacts between Se_{ax} and an S atom of dtc, the Se—Se distance is 2.31 Å (M = Mo, W).¹⁷⁹ Similarly, $(Et_4N)_2[W_3Se_7Br_6]$ is converted into red $[W_3Se_7((EtO)_2PS_2)_3]Br$ by reaction with potassium diethyldithiophosphate in CH₃CN (74%). Solutions in DMF have non-electrolyte properties, indicating short $Se_{ax} \cdots Br$ -contacts (3.07–3.08 Å) as in the solid state.²⁴⁴ Melting $\{M_3Se_7X_4\}_x$ with 1,10-phenanthroline gives red $[M_3Se_7 (phen)_3]^{4+}$, isolated as X⁻ or ZnX₄²⁻ salts after extraction with hot conc. HX (X = Cl, Br).¹⁷⁹

Self-assembly of the M₃Se₇ core has been reported on refluxing [M(CO)₆] (M = Mo, W) with Se and in dtc₂ in 1,2-dichlorobenzene; when red [M₃Se₇(Et₂NCS₂)₃]₂Se products are isolated in ~50% yields as structural analogs of [Mo₃S₇(Et₂NCS₂)₃]₂S.²⁴⁵

Ligand substitution on $(Ph_4P)_2[Mo_3Se_7Br_6]$ gives $[Mo_3Se_7\{(Ph_2P(Se))_2N\}_3]Br$ and $[Mo_3Se_7+((EtO)_2PSe_2)_3]Br$. The crystal structure and ⁷⁷Se and ³¹P NMR spectra have been reported.²⁴⁶

An interesting series of polyselenido complexes of $Mo_3Se_7^{4+}$ has been prepared from MoO_3 and an alkali metal polyselenide under hydrothermal conditions (135 °C), in the presence of K⁺, Me_4N^+ , or Et_4N^+ . Dark-red $(Me_4N)_2[Mo_3Se_7(Se_2)_3]$ has a structure similar to $(Me_4N)_2$ $[Mo_3S_7(S_2)_3]$. In $K_2Mo_3Se_{12.5}O_{0.5}$ both $[Mo_3OSe_6(Se_2)_3]^{2-}$ and $[Mo_3Se_7(Se_2)_3]^{2-}$ are present in a 1:1 ratio. Black $K_6[Mo_6Se_27] \cdot 6H_2O$ has a Se^{2-} ion sandwiched between two $[Mo_3Se_{13}]^{2-}$ units, as in $[M_3Se_7(Et_2NCS_2)_3]_2Se$ ($Se^{2-\cdots}Se_{ax}$ 2.81–3.04 Å).²⁴⁵ Calculations show a significant electron transfer from Se^{2-} to the anti-bonding orbitals of the μ –Se₂ group.^{247,248}

Clusters $[Mo_3Se_{13}]^{2-}$ are present in black $K_8[Mo_9Se_{40}] \cdot 4H_2O$, obtained from MoO₃, K_2Se_2 and H_2O at 135 °C. This compound contains an aggregate of three trinuclear $Mo_3Se_7^{4+}$ units, linked by two Se²⁻. One of the latter is the capping μ_3 atom of an Mo_3Se_7 cluster (Se^{···}Se, 3.13 Å). Another Se²⁻ is sandwiched between two Mo_3Se_7 clusters as in the above-mentioned $Mo_6Se_{27}^{6-}$ aggregate. Thus, the cluster can be described as three $[Mo_3Se_{13}]^{2-}$ and one Se²⁻, linked by short Se^{···}Se contacts.²⁴⁹ Another cluster, $K_2[Mo_3Se_{18}]$, obtained under the same conditions but with a different reagent ratio, has the $Mo_3Se_7^{4+}$ core, coordinated by a Se₃²⁻ and bridging Se₄²⁻, with infinite chains $[Mo_3Se_7(Se_3)(Se_4)_{4/2}]_n^{2n-}$.²⁴⁹

The reaction of Mo metal with K₂Se₄ in H₂O (140 °C) gives black K₁₂[Mo₁₂Se₅₆]. Here, Mo₃Se₇⁴⁺ cluster units are bound into tetrameric aggregates (clusters of clusters) via Se₃ bridges; the Mo atoms, which do not participate in the intercluster bridging, are coordinated by terminal Se₂²⁻, and there are four Se²⁻, each of them bound to the three axial Se atoms in the cluster.²⁴⁹ Even more complicated polymeric structures involving the bridging of Mo₃Se₇⁴⁺ via Se₄²⁻ and Se₅²⁻ are found in [NEt₄]₆[{Mo₃(μ_3 -Se)(μ - η^2 -Se₂)₃(η^2 -Se₂) (μ - η^2 -Se₅)(η^1 -Se₅)}₂-(μ - η^2 -Se₄)].²⁵⁰

Orange $[Mo_3Se_7(H_2O)_6]^{4+}$ reacts with PR_3^{3-} ($R = C_6H_4SO_3$), giving yellow-brown $[Mo_3Se_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$, ~10³ times more slowly than $[Mo_3S_7(H_2O)_6]^{4+}$. Equilibration rate constants for the Cl⁻ or Br⁻ substitution of H₂O are independent of H⁺, and 10⁴ k_{eq} (M⁻¹s⁻¹) is 6.7 (Cl⁻) and 33 (Br⁻). These uniphasic reactions are assigned as substitution of the H₂O *cis* to μ_3 -Se at each Mo.¹¹⁰

4.12.6.2.4 Mo₃Te₇ clusters

Heating Mo, Te and I₂ in an atomic ratio 3:7:4 at 380 °C (98 h) gives an amorphous powder which dissolves in aqueous KCN, producing brown [Mo₃Te₇ (CN)₆]^{2–}. The Mo₃Te₇ in this cluster has a strong affinity for I⁻, forming {[Mo₃Te₇(CN)₆]I}^{3–} through Te_{ax}I contacts (3.576 Å). In the crystal structure of Cs_{4.5}[Mo₃Te₇(CN)₆]I_{2.5}·3H₂O the Mo–Mo distance was found to be 2.891 Å, Te–Te 2.688 Å.²⁵¹ Structures of K_{4.5}[Mo₃Te₇(CN)₆]I_{2.5}·3H₂O and Cs₃{[Mo₃Te₇(CN)₆]I}·2H₂O have also been reported.²⁵² With solid KS₂P(OR)₂ (R = Et, *i*-Pr) at 100 °C under N₂, the cluster Mo₃Te₁₀I₁₀ gives the product [Mo₃Te₇((RO)₂PS₂)₃]I, 20% yield. Short contacts Te_{ax}…I, 3.30–3.40 Å, were found, whereas the sum of Te and I van der Waals radii is 4.35 Å (Figure 39).²⁵³ Trinuclear [Mo₃Te₇(CN)₆]^{2–} is inert to Te abstraction, in stark contrast to its S and Se analogs, and no reaction with PR₃^{3–} (R = C₆H₄SO₃; in H₂O) or PEt₃ (in CH₃OH) is observed at 130 °C.²⁵¹

4.12.6.2.5 Mo₃O(S₂)₃ clusters

These are known only as diethyldithiophosphates $[Mo_3O(S_2)_3((EtO)_2PS_2)_3]X$ (X = Cl, I, I₃). An O instead of S caps the trinuclear Mo₃ and shortens the Mo—Mo bonds significantly, from 2.723 Å to 2.626 Å in the iodide.²⁵⁴ The triiodide made from $[Mo_3 OS_3((EtO)_2PS_2)_4(H_2O)]$ and CuI in air has the composition $[Mo_3(O_{0.58}S_{0.42})(S_2)_3((EtO)_2PS_2)_3]I_3$ and is a semiconductor.²⁵⁵

4.12.6.2.6 Mo₃O(Te₂)₃ clusters

This core is found in α and β modifications of $[Mo_3O(Te_2)_3(en)_3]In_2Te_6$, prepared by solvothermal reaction of Li₂Te, K₂Te, MoCl₅, InCl₃ and Te in ethylenediamine (180 °C, 7 days). The only



Figure 39 Structure of the [Mo₃Te₇((EtO)₂PS₂)₃]I molecule.



Figure 40 Structure of the $[Mo_3O(Te_2)_3(en)_3]$ Te molecule.

difference between these modifications is the different ways of puckering and disposition of the In_2Te_3 rings along the polymeric $In_2Te_6^{2-}$ chains. Capping with O instead of Te draws the Mo atoms nearer (Mo–Mo 2.72Å) (Figure 40).²⁵⁶

4.12.6.2.7 Mo₃S(Se₂)₃ cluster

This core is only found in $[Mo_3(S_{0.65}Se_{0.35})(Se_2)_3((EtO)_2PS_2)_3]Cl$, obtained from $MoCl_3 \cdot 3H_2O$, ZnSe and $Me_4N(S_2P(OEt)_2)$.¹⁷¹

4.12.6.2.8 $M_3S(S_{eq}-Se_{ax})_3$ clusters

Chalcogen-exchange reactions between $[Mo_3S_7Cl_6]^{2-}$ and PPh₃Se or KNCSe result in a selective substitution of the equatorial sulfur atoms. With PPh₃Se, $[Mo_3S_7X_6]^{2-}$ (X = Cl, Br) is converted into $[Mo_3S(SSe)_3X_6]^{2-}$; the W analog has also been prepared.²⁵⁷ Reaction with KNCSe gives (in the presence of excess KNCS) $[M_3S(SSe)_3(NCS)_6]^{2-}$ (M = Mo,²¹⁷ W²⁵⁷). This reaction is irreversible, and the Mo₃S(SSe)₃ core does not revert to Mo₃S(S₂)₃ even when treated with excess PPh₃S or KNCS.^{217,252} Crystal structures were determined for PPN and PPh₃Et salts of $[Mo_3S(SSe)_3Cl_6]^{2-}$.^{217,257} Though $[Mo_3S_7(dtc)_3](dtc)$ does not react with PPh₃Se, it can be converted with KNCSe into $[Mo_3S(SSe)_3(dtc)_3]$ SeCN, which contains practically linear polymeric chains (S–Se···S–Se···S–Se···)_n due to short (2.9–3.3 Å) cation–anion contacts. Bond lengths S–Se are 2.16–2.23 Å.²⁵⁸ In situ Mo₃S₄⁴⁺, generated from (Et₄N)₂[Mo₃S₇Br₆], reacts with Se(dtc)₂ to give $[Mo_3S(SSe)_3(dtc)_3]$ Br.²⁵⁹ Aquation of $[Mo_3S(SSe)_3Br_6]^{2-}$ in 4M Hpts gives

 $[Mo_3S(SSe)_3(H_2O)_6]^{4+}$, which reacts with PPh₃ to generate $[Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$, rate constant $1.48\times10^5\,M^{-1}s^{-1}$ in 2.0 M Hpts.^{110}

4.12.6.2.9 $M_3S(S_{eq}-Se_{ax})_3$ and $M_3Se(S_{eq}-Se_{ax})_3$ clusters

Initially both cluster cores were found in red–orange $[Mo_3(S_{0.65}Se_{0.35})(SSe)_3 ((EtO)_2PS_2)_3]I$, prepared by treatment of $[Mo_3S_{0.65}Se_{0.35}Se_3((EtO)_2PS_2)_4(py)]$ with H_2S in the presence of iodine.¹⁷¹ Aqua ions $[M_3Se_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ (M = Mo, W) react with P_4S_{10} in an EtOH/HCl mixture to give red sulfur addition products, $[M_3Se(S_{eq}-Se_{ax})_3((EtO)_2 PS_2)_3]Cl$. The S–Se distances are ~2.20 Å in both clusters.¹⁶⁶

4.12.6.3 Mo₃S₅ Core Clusters

Reaction of $(NH_4)_2[Mo_3S_{13}]$ with excess PMe₃ in THF at ~20 °C gives black crystalline $[Mo_3(\mu_3-S)_2(\mu-S)_3(PMe_3)_6]$, yield 26%. In this symmetrical structure an equilateral triangle of Mo atoms (Mo–Mo 2.714 Å) is capped by two sulfur atoms (Mo–S 2.421 Å) and bridged by three other sulfur atoms (Mo–S 2.393 Å). All six PMe₃ ligands are equivalent, and give only one sharp ³¹P NMR signal in solution (30.4 ppm). Cyclic voltammetry shows a quasi-reversible reduction ($E_{1/2} = -1.16$ V) and oxidation ($E_{1/2} = +0.06$ V) vs. Ag/AgNO₃ in CH₃CN.²⁶⁰

The self-assembly reaction of $MoCl_3 \cdot 3H_2O$ and H_2S in HCl/EtOH gives [Mo₃- $(\mu_3-S)_2(\mu-Cl)_3Cl_6]^{3-}$, isolated and structurally characterized as the 3,5-dimethyldi-thiolium salt, $(C_3H_7S_2)_2[Mo_3S_2Cl_9]^{.214}$ Its electronic structure has been studied.²⁶¹ The latter can be converted into the neutral dithiophosphate, $[Mo_3S_2(dtp)_3]^{.262}$

4.12.6.4 M_4Q_4 Cubes (M=Mo, W; Q=S, Se, Te)

4.12.6.4.1 Aqua ions

Green $[Mo_4S_4(H_2O)_{12}]^{5+}$ is made (i) either by electrochemical or chemical reduction $(NaBH_4)$ of $[Mo_2O_2S_2(cys)_2]^{2-}$ (ca. 20% yield);¹⁰⁴ (ii) from Na₂S and $[Mo (CO)_6]$ in acetic anhydride (up to 30%);²⁶³ (iii) by reduction of $[Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ with H_3PO_2 (up to 60%).¹⁰³ Reactions are summarized in (Scheme 1).¹⁰³ None of these gives $[Mo_4S_4(H_2O)_{12}]^{5+}$ as sole product. Methods (i) and (ii) also give $[Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ and/or Mo_3 mixed O/S bridged analogs, whereas (iii) generates $[Mo_7S_8(H_2O)_{18}]^{8+}$. Reduction of $[Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ with Mg^{264} or V¹⁰³ gives a mixture of $[Mo_4S_4(H_2O)_{12}]^{5+}$ and $[Mo_7S_8(H_2O)_8]^{8+}$. Finally, reactions of quadruple bonded $[Mo_2Cl_8]^{4-}$ with $[Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ or with $[Mo_3C_4(H_2O)_{12}]^{5+}$ are together with $[Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_{12}]^{4+}$.^{101,103} At 4°C in 2 M Hpts $[Mo_4S_4(H_2O)_{12}]^{5+}$ is stable for weeks when stored O₂-free. Heating in air at 50 °C gives $[Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$, with a half-life of 4 days. In 1 M HCl the same reaction has a half-life ($t_{1/2}$) of 10 h.²⁶⁵

The crystal structure of $[Mo_4S_4(H_2O)_{12}](pts)_5 \cdot 14H_2O$, (from 4 M Hpts) gives an average Mo—Mo of 2.802 Å (Figure 41).²⁶⁶ The cube consists of two interpenetrating Mo₄ and S₄ tetrahedra of different sizes. The cube is therefore distorted and hence the cuboidal description applies. The cluster has 59 electrons and is paramagnetic showing Curie-like behavior with μ_{eff} constant at 1.78 B.M. between 300 K and 20 K, and 1.73 B.M. at 4.2 K.²⁶⁷ The ESR spectrum is shown in (Figure 42).

Green $[Mo_4Se_4(H_2O)_{12}]^{5+}$ is made in a low yield by NaBH₄ reduction of $[Mo_2O_2Se_2(cys)_2]^{2-}$; it is less stable than the sulfido cluster and decays at 20 °C in air to give $[Mo_3Se_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ ($t_{1/2} = 7$ d). The crystal structure was determined for $[Mo_4Se_4(H_2O)_{12}((pts)_5 \cdot 14H_2O).^{108,109}$ Both cuboidal aqua ions can be reversibly reduced from 5+ to 4+ state (at 0.21 V for S, at 0.19 V for Se), and reversibly oxidized to 6+ state (0.86 V for S, 0.79 V for Se; all values are vs. NHE).^{108,109,265} Orange air-sensitive $[Mo_4S_4(H_2O)_{12}]^{4+}$ can be prepared quantitatively by reduction of the 5+ state electrochemically or by NaBH₄, $[V(H_2O)_6]^{2+}$, or $[Cr(H_2O)_6]^{2+}$ reduction. The kinetics of last two reaction shows first-order dependence in the presence of a large excess of the reductant, and outer-sphere mechanism was deduced, with $k = 0.61 \times 10^3 M^{-1}s^{-1} (Cr)$ and $24.5 \times 10^3 M^{-1}s^{-1} (V).^{265}$ Red $[Mo_4S_4(H_2O)_{12}]^{6+}$ is prepared by oxidation of $[Mo_4S_4(H_2O)_{12}]^{5+}$ by controlled stoichiometric amounts of cis- $[VO_2(H_2O)_4]^{+}.^{265,268}$ It is not very stable and decays spontaneously with the formation of $[Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$. Attempts to prepare the 6+ cube by controlled electrolysis of



Scheme 1



Figure 41 Structure of the $[Mo_4S_4(H_2O)_{12}]^{5+}$ cation.



Figure 42 ESR spectrum of $[Mo_4S_4(H_2O)_{12}]^{5+}$ (2 mM) in 2.0 M Hpts at 3.8 K, with microwave frequency 9.25 GHz, power 20 mV and gain $1.25 \times 10^{-3.6}$

 $[Mo_4S_4(H_2O)_{12}]^{5+} \text{ gave } [Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+} \text{ and } [Mo_2O_2S_2(H_2O)_6]^{2+.9} \text{ The } [Mo_4OS_3(H_2O)_{12}]^{5+} \text{ cube has been prepared by reduction of } [Mo_3OS_3(H_2O)_9]^{4+} \text{ with Fe wire. The X-ray structure of } [Mo_4OS_3(H_2O)_{12}] \text{ (pts)}_5 \cdot 14H_2O \text{ has been reported.}^{269}$

The quadruply bonded Mo^{II}_2 complex $K_4[Mo_2Cl_8]$ reacts with $[W_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$, $[Mo_2WS_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$, $[MoW_2S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ and $[W_3Se_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$, giving the heterometallic cubes $[MoW_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{5+}$, $[Mo_3WS_4(H_2O)_9]^{5+}$, $[Mo_2W_2S_4(H_2O)_9]^{5+}$ and $[MoW_3Se_4(H_2O)_9]^{5+}$, respectively. Trends in UV-vis spectra are shown in (Figure 43). The crystal structure of red $[MoW_3-S_4(H_2O)_1](pts)_5 \cdot Hpts \cdot 16H_2O$ exhibits a random occupancy of metal sites (due to similar Mo and W radii). Air oxidation or oxidation by $[Fe(H_2O)_6]^{3+}$, gives first the 6+ cubes, which then fragment by losing exclusively one tungsten atom, e.g., $[MoW_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{5+}$ gives $[MoW_2S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$, etc. Electrochemical studies of these heterometallic cubes indicate two reversible redox processes, corresponding to the 5+/4+ and 6+/5+ couples.¹¹⁹

Trends in E^{o'} values and in UV-vis spectra for these $Mo_xW_{4-x}S_4^{5+}$ cubes allowed predictions to be made for $[W_4S_4(H_2O)_{12}]^{5+}$ (Figure 44).¹²⁰ Recently, brown—red $[W_4S_4(H_2O)_{12}]^{6+}$ was



Figure 43 Trends in UV-vis spectra of $[Mo_3WS_4(H_2O)_{12}]^{5+}$ (----) $[Mo_2W_2S_4(H_2O)_{12}]^{5+}$ (---) and $[MoW_3S_4(H_2O)_{12}]$ (····) in 2 M Hpts.¹¹⁹



Figure 44 Reduction potentials E^{o'} vs. nhe for $[Mo_xW_{4-x}S_4(H_2O)_{12}]^{6+/5+}$ (**■**) and $[Mo_xW_{4-x}S_4(H_2O)_{12}]^{5+/4+}$ (**●**) couples, x = 0-4.^{119,270}

prepared by the [3+1] reaction of $[W_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ with $[W(CO)_6]$ in 2 M HCl under hydrothermal conditions (130 °C).²⁷⁰ The 5+ reduced form (red-brown) is obtained by controlled potential voltammetry, $E^{0'}$ for $[W_4S_4(H_2O)_{12}]^{6+/5+}$ 35 mV (vs. nhe). An estimate of $E^{0'}$ for $[W_4S_4(H_2O)_{12}]^{5+/4+}$ of -627 mV accounts for the difficulty in preparing $[W_4S_4(H_2O)_{12}]^{4+}$.

Extensive kinetics studies on water substitution by thiocyanate in $[Mo_4Q_4(H_2O)_{12}]^{5+}$ (Q = S, Se), $[Mo_4S_4(H_2O)_{12}]^{4+}$ and $[Mo_4S_4(H_2O)_{12}]^{6+}$ have been reviewed recently.⁶ Chloride coordinates to $[Mo_4S_4(H_2O)_{12}]^{5+}$, equilibration constant 1.98 M⁻¹, which is ~10³ times less than for thiocyanate.²⁷¹ A double cube in which an Mo is bonded to two Mo₃S₄ units to give an Mo₃S₄(Mo)S₄Mo₃

A double cube in which an Mo is bonded to two Mo_3S_4 units to give an $Mo_3S_4(Mo)S_4Mo_3$ core, overall composition $[Mo_7S_8(H_2O)_{18}]^{8+}$, has been prepared.¹⁰³ Distance from the nodal Mo to other Mo's, 3.026-3.060 Å, are longer than other Mo–Mo distances 2.766-2.773 Å. Analogs $[Mo_7Se_8(H_2O)_{18}]^{8+}$, $[MoW_6S_8(H_2O)_{18}]^{8+}$ and $[MoW_6Se_8(H_2O)_{18}]^{8+}$ have also been prepared, but less extensively studied. Other corner-shared double cube derivatives of $[Mo_3S_4 (H_2O)_9]^{4+}$, with a heterometal M' at the nodal position giving $[Mo_6M'S_8(H_2O)_{18}]^{8+}$, are considered in later sections.

4.12.6.4.2 Derivatives of $[Mo_4S_4(H_2O)_{12}]^{5+}$

The water molecules in $[Mo_4S_4(H_2O)_{12}]^{5+}$ can be substituted by NCS⁻. In air this reaction is accompanied by cluster core oxidation, the product being purple 58e $[Mo_4S_4(NCS)_{12}]^{6-}$, isolated
as NH₄⁺²⁶² or pyH⁺²⁶⁵ salts. X-ray analysis of (NH₄)₆[Mo₄S₄(NCS)₁₂]·10H₂O revealed $C_{3\nu}$ symmetry in the cuboidal core with two sets of Mo–Mo distances, 2.791 Å and 2.869 Å.²⁶³ Using similar procedures, Mo/W mixed-metal [Mo_xW_{4-x}(NCS)₁₂]⁶⁻ cubes (x = 1,2,3) have been prepared. X-ray analysis of (Me₂NH₂)₆[MoW₃S₄(NCS)₁₂]·0.5H₂O revealed T_d symmetry of the core with M–M distances (the positions of Mo and W are occupied almost statistically) 2.83–2.85 Å.¹¹⁹

Reaction of the $Mo_4S_4^{4+}$ aqua ion with concentrated aqueous ammonia gives 60e $[Mo_4S_4(NH_3)_{12}]Cl_4\cdot 7H_2O$ (Mo—Mo 2.79–2.89Å) isolated in a 33% yield. In air (and with acid) $[Mo_4S_4(H_2O)_{12}]^{5+}$ is restored.²⁶⁶

Reaction of $[Mo_4S_4(H_2O)_{12}]^{5+}$ with KHB(pz)₃ is not accompanied by a redox process, and gives red-brown $[Mo_4S_4(HB(pz)_3)_4(pz)]$ as the product (80%). The core has $C_{2\nu}$ symmetry and the Mo₄ tetrahedron is compressed along the pyrazolyl-bridged edge (Mo—Mo 2.659Å), while five other Mo—Mo are 2.92Å.²⁷²

In the presence of some ligands, cluster degradation may take place. Thus, an attempt to coordinate oxalate to $[Mo_4S_4(H_2O)_{12}]^{5+}$ gives only $[Mo_3S_4(C_2O_4)_3(H_2O)_3]^{2-}.^{97}$ Reaction with tacn depends strongly on pH: at pH ≤ 2 , triangular $[Mo_3S_4(tacn)_3]^{4+}$ forms, whereas without acidification, anti- $[Mo_2O_2S_2(tacn)_2]^{2+}$ is obtained.¹⁴³

4.12.6.4.3 Complexes with edta

Reduction of $Na_2[Mo_2O_2S_2(edta)_2]$ with $NaBH_4$ in aqueous solution, followed by acidification and air-oxidation, gives dark-green crystals of $Na_3[Mo_4S_4(edta)_2] \cdot 10H_2O$. The hexadentate ethylenediaminetetraacetate (edta) ligands are tridentate to each of two Mo's. The Na⁺ counter ion can be exchanged for Ca^{2+} , and the crystal structure of $Ca_{1,5}[Mo_4S_4(edta)_2]$ ·13H₂O has been determined (Mo-Mo 2.76-2.88 Å). In the same way green Na_{2.5}H_{0.5}[Mo₄Se₄(edta)₂]·10H₂O was obtained from [Mo₂O₂Se₂(edta)₂]²⁻ (Mo-Mo 2.81-2.92Å). The 3- ion is reduced by NaBH₄ into orange $[Mo_4S_4(edta)_2]^{4-}$, of which Na⁺, Mg²⁺ and Mn²⁺ salts could be obtained. In Mg₂ [Mo₄S₄(edta)₂]·20H₂O the Mo–Mo distances were found to fall in a narrow range of 2.77– 2.79 Å. Bromine water oxidizes the 3- ion into red $[Mo_4S_4(edta)_2]^{2-}$, isolated in the form of Na⁺, NH_4^+ and Ca^{2+} salts (Mo-Mo 2.74-2.87 Å) in $Na_2[Mo_4S_4(edta)_2] \cdot 6H_2O$. The mean values of Mo-Mo bond lengths and volumes of Mo₄ tetrahedral decrease on going from a 58e to 60e cluster. Both Mg₂[Mo₄S₄(edta)₂]·20H₂O and Mg[Mo₄S₄(edta)₂]·12H₂O were found to be diamagnetic whereas $Na_3[Mo_4S_4(edta)_2] \cdot 10H_2O$ is paramagnetic (S = 1/2 ground state). Aquation of $[Mo_4S_4(edta)_2]^{3-}$ in conc. HCl gives $[Mo_4S_4(H_2O)_{12}]^{5+}$.²⁶⁶ The $[Mo_4Se_4(edta)_2]^{3-}$ complex is oxidized electrochemically into the unstable brown 2-cluster, and is reduced with $Na_2S_2O_4$ into orange-red $[Mo_4Se_4(edta)_2]^{4-.267}$ Studies on the ⁷⁷Se NMR of the mixed valence cluster $[Mo_4Se_4(edta)_2]^{3-}$ are consistent with the presence in solution of a valence-trapped species Mo^{III}_{3-} Mo^{IV} with a lifetime in excess of $10^{-5}s$. However, studies on the ⁹⁵Mo and ⁷⁷Se NMR of $[Mo_4Se_4(edta)_2]^{n-}$ need also to be considered.²⁶⁷

4.12.6.4.4 Complexes with S-donors

These ligands all have a strong tendency to stabilize the 58e cluster cores with 6+ charge. Dithiophosphates (RO)₂PS₂⁻ are available through self-assembly reactions. Thus, MoCl₃·3H₂O reacts with P₄S₁₀ in EtOH to give [Mo₄OS₃(μ -dtp)₃(dtp)₃] (designated as the 3:3 isomer), whereas in the presence of HCl, a mixture of another isomer, [Mo₄OS₃(μ -dtp)₂(dtp)₄] (2:4), and [Mo₄S₄(μ -dtp)₂(dtp)₄], is obtained. Treating a mixture of [Mo(CO)₆] and [MoCl₅] with P₄S₁₀ in ethanol gives [Mo₄O_{0.4}S_{3.6}(μ -dtp)₃(dtp)₃]. Comproportionation of [W(CO)₆] with Na₂[WO₄] in ethanol in the presence of P₄S₁₀ gives the W₄S₄⁶⁺ cluster, [W₄S₄(μ -dtp)₂(dtp)₄], whereas when [W₂Cl₉]³⁻ serves as the unique W source, with the same reagents, the 3:3 isomer is obtained. Crystal structures of all these clusters have been determined.²⁷³ The cluster [Mo₄S₄(μ -dtp)₂(dtp)₄] can also be made by refluxing [Mo(CO)₆] with (EtO)₂P(S)S-S(S)P(OEt)₂ diethyldithiophosphate disulfide (dtp₂) in toluene, 20% yield.²⁷⁴

The bridging dtp ligand in $[Mo_4S_4(\mu-dtp)_2(dtp)_4]$ was found to be labile enough to be substituted by acetate, thus generating paramagnetic $[Mo_4S_4(\mu-O_2CMe)_2(dtp)_4]$.²⁷³ A benzoate derivative $[Mo_4S_4(\mu-O_2CPh)_2(dtp)_4]$ was prepared in a similar manner.²⁷⁵ A [3+1] cluster assembly from $[Mo_3S_4(\mu-dtp)(dtp)_4(H_2O)]$ and $[Mo(CO)_6]$ in an acetic acid/acetic anhydrate

mixture, or from $[Mo_3S_7(dtp)_3]Cl,PPh_3$, $[Mo(CO)_6]$ and NH_4dtp , gives a 59e $Mo_4S_4^{5+}$ derivative, formulated as $H[Mo_4S_4(\mu-O_2CMe)_2(dtp)_4]$.²⁷⁶ X-ray crystal structure analysis of this product and its 1:1 acetone solvate failed to localize the extra hydrogen atom, but the formulation given is supported by ¹H NMR (including H⁺/D⁺ exchange observation), ESR and XPS data.²⁷⁶ Quantum chemical treatment of the bonding in these cluster has been given.^{273,274}

The [3 + 1] assembly strategy of cuboidal clusters was also successful in preparation of black, air-stable [Mo₄S₄(μ -R₂PS₂)₂(R₂PS₂)₄] from [Mo₃S₄(R₂PS₂)₄], [Mo(CO)₆] and (R₂PS₂)₂ (R = Et, 37%; *n*-Pr, 31%), in toluene. The clusters are paramagnetic with μ_{eff} = 1.05 B.M. for R = Et, and μ_{eff} = 1.40 B.M. for R = *n*-Pr. The cube [Mo₄S₄(μ -Et₂PS₂)₂(Et₂PS₂)₄] is antiferromagnetic with μ_{eff} only 0.54 B.M. at 80 K. In the case of Mo/W mixed clusters, 3:3 isomers [Mo₃WS₄(μ -dtp)₃(dtp)₃] and [Mo₂W₂ S₄(μ -dtp)₃(dtp)₃] have been prepared.²⁷⁷⁻²⁷⁹

Heating $[Mo(CO)_6]$ with thiuramdisulfides $[R_2NCS_2]_2$ in toluene in 1:2 ratio gives $[Mo_4S_4(\mu-R_2NCS_2)_2(R_2NCS_2)_4]$ (R = Et; *n*-Oct).²⁷⁴ Prolonged heating of $Mo_2(dtc)_6$ (structure unknown) in toluene gives the same cuboidal cluster, 20–30% yield. The crystal structure of $[Mo_4S_4(\mu-Et_2NCS_2)_2$ (Et₂NCS₂)₄] shows that the two Mo—Mo bonds, spanned by the dtc ligands, contract to 2.74 Å, while the other four bonds are 2.85–2.87 Å. The ¹H NMR spectrum in solution shows two non-equivalent dtc, thus indicating retention of the solid state structure in solution. It is paramagnetic ($\mu_{eff} = 2.96 \mu_B$).²⁸⁰

Other synthetic routes to dithiocarbamates $Mo_4S_4L_6$ are: (i) from $[MoCl_3(CH_3CN)_3]$ and R_2NCS_2K (R = Et, *n*-Oct), ~50% yield; (ii) from $(NH_4)_2[MoCl_5(H_2O)]$ and Et_2NCS_2Na (25%); (iii) thermolysis of $[Mo(Et_2NCS_2)_4]$ in toluene; (iv) reduction of $[Mo_2S_4(R_2NCS_2)_2]$ with NaBH₄ or LiBEt₃H (R = *n*-Pr, *n*-Bu, *n*-Oct, yields vary); (v) [3 + 1] cluster assembly from $[Mo_3S_4$ (*n*-Pr₂NCS₂)₄], $[Mo(CO)_6]$ and (n-Pr₂NCS₂)₂ (70%).²⁷⁴ One or both bridging ligands in $[Mo_4S_4(\mu-Et_2NCS_2)_2(Et_2NCS_2)_4]$ can be exchanged for $EtOCS_2^-$, giving a mixture of $[Mo_4S_4(\mu-Et_2NCS_2)(\mu-EtOCS_2)(Et_2NCS_2)_4]$ and $[Mo_4S_4(\mu-EtOCS_2)_2(Et_2NCS_2)_4]$. Xanthates of the type $[Mo_4S_4(\mu-ROCS_2)_2$ (ROCS₂)₄] are made by: (i) reaction of $[Mo(CO)_6]$ with $(ROCS_2)_2$ (R = Et, *n*-Oct); (ii) refluxing $[Mo(ROCS_2)_4]$ in toluene (R = *n*-Oct). The formation of the 2:4 isomer for R = Et is confirmed by an incomplete X-ray study and ¹H NMR data. A green thioxanathate, $[Mo_4S_4(n-C_{12}H_{25}SCS_2)_6]$, was prepared in a low yield (11%) from $[Mo(CO)_6]$ and $(n-C_{12}H_{25}SCS_2)_2^{274}$.

Cyclic voltammograms of $Mo_4S_4L_6(L = dithiophosphate, dithiocarbamate, xanthate, thioxanthate)$ reveal two quasi-reversible one-electron reduction waves, corresponding to the formation of the $Mo_4S_4^{5+}$ and $Mo_4S_4^{4+}$ states, and two quasi-reversible one-electron oxidation waves suggesting the formation of $Mo_4S_4^{7+}$ and $Mo_4S_4^{8+}$ cores. The potentials vary as much as 670 mV depending on the ligand bridging the cube with the relative ease of reduction as follows: $RSCS_2^- > ROCS_2^- > (RO)_2PS_2^- > R_2NCS_2^{-274}$

4.12.6.4.5 Cyanides

High-temperature reactions of polymeric $\{M_3Q_7Br_4\}_x$ (M = Mo, W; Q = S, Se) or [Mo₃Te₇I₄] with KCN give cuboidal clusters in high yields as cyano complexes $[M_4Q_4(CN)_{12}]^{6-}$ (M = Mo, W; Q = S, Se) or $[Mo_4Te_4(CN)_{12}]^{7-}$. The latter is oxidized by bromine water into $[Mo_4Te_4(CN)_{12}]^{6-}$. The tungsten analog $[W_4Te_4(CN)_{12}]^{6-}$ is made by heating WTe₂ with KCN, while in a KNCS melt chalcogen exchange takes place and $[W_4S_4(CN)_{12}]^{6-}$ is formed.²⁸¹ The products can be extracted into water and crystallized as K^+ , Cs^+ or NH_4^+ salts. Insoluble precipitates are obtained immediately with 3d metal cations, and well-shaped single crystals grown by the gel diffusion technique. The structures of $[M(H_2O)_4][W_4Q_4(CN)_{12}] \cdot xH_2O$ (M = Co, Q = Te; M = Mn, Q = S^{282,283} are polymeric (M is octahedral) with a high degree of porosity. All these cyanide clusters have been structurally characterized. It was found that the M-M bonds decrease systematically on going from M_4Te_4 to M_4S_4 . The symmetry of the cluster core was found to be sensitive to the nature of the counter ion. In isostructural $(NH_4)_6 [M_4Q_4(CN)_{12}] \cdot 6H_2O$ (M = Mo, W; Q = S, Se)²⁸⁴ the cores have ideal T_d symmetry (W—W is 2.845 Å); in KCs₅[W₄S₄(CN)₁₂]·2H₂O·CH₃OH lower C_1 symmetry is observed (W—W 2.80–2.90 Å),²⁸¹ and in K₆[W₄S₄(CN)₁₂]·2H₂O·2CH₃OH the core is C_2 (W—W 2.83–2.91 Å).²⁸⁵ While K₆[W₄Se₄(CN)₁₂]·6H₂O provides an example of a cuboidal core with $C_{2\nu}$ symmetry (W—W 2.88Å),²⁸¹ C_s symmetry is found in K₇[Mo₄Te₄(CN)₁₂]·12H₂O (Mo-Mo bonds 2.97-3.00 Å),²⁸¹ and in Cs₆[Mo₄ Te₄(CN)₁₂]·6H₂O (C_1 symmetry) the Mo–Mo bonds vary within the range 2.860–3.055Å.²⁸¹ CV experiments on the cyanide clusters show two reversible or quasi-reversible redox waves corresponding to the 6-/7and 7-/8- couples. The ease of reduction decreases from Mo to W and from S to Te.

All these clusters are stable in air both as solids and in solutions (pH 2–10 at 95 °C) with no tendency to lose core atoms. Despite the distortions observed in the solid state, the ⁷⁷Se, ¹²⁵Te, ¹⁸³W NMR studies on $[W_4Q_4(CN)_{12}]^{6-}$ demonstrate the equivalence of metal and chalcogen atoms in solution.²⁸¹ It seems that $[Mo_4S_4(CN)_{12}]^{8-}$, reported as a product from reaction between MoS₃ and aqueous KCN, must now be reformulated as the 6-charged cluster.¹⁹⁵

4.12.6.4.6 Cyclopentadienyls

Several η^5 -cyclopentadienyl derivatives of Mo₄S₄ and Mo₄Se₄ clusters have been prepared. The complex $[(\eta^5-iPrC_5H_4)MoCl_2]_2$ reacts with LiHS²⁸⁶ or LiH Se,⁷⁷ giving $[(\eta^5-iPrC_5H_4)_4Mo_4Q_4]$ in high yields. Another route makes use of the [2+2] approach, based on reaction of $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2Mo_2(\mu-CH_3CHCH_2S_2)_2]$ with 2–3 equivalents of $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2Mo_2(CO)_4]$; an attempt to make a Mo₂W₂S₄ derivative using $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2W_2(CO)_4]$ failed. Yields vary between 20% and 40%, $[(\eta^5-MeC_5H_4)_2(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2Mo_4S_4]$ (from $[(\eta^5-MeC_5H_4)_2Mo_2(CO)_4]$); $[(\eta^5-MeC_5H_4)_4-Mo_4S_4]$ and $[(\eta^5-MeC_5H_4)_2(\eta^5-C_5Me_5)_2Mo_4S_4]$ from $[(\eta^5-C_5Me_5)_2Mo_2(CO)_4]$. The cube $[(\eta^5-MeC_5H_4)_2(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2Mo_4S_4]$ is also obtained from $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)Mo(S)(SH)]_2$ and $[(\eta^5-MeC_5H_4)_2(Mo_4S_4)_4]$ in 41% yield.²⁸⁷ It was possible to generate mixed $[(\eta^5-iPrC_5H_4)_4Mo_4S_4]$ (Mo-Mo 2.887Å) can be further oxidized by treatment with dilute acids to $[(\eta^5-iPrC_5H_4)_4Mo_4Q_4](BF_4)$ (Mo-Mo 2.856Å) or, with iodine, one step further, into $[(\eta^5-iPrC_5H_4)_4Mo_4Q_4](I_3)_2$ (Mo-Mo 2.749Å).²⁸⁶ Electrochemically, both the sulfide and selenide clusters undergo reversible redox interconversions between 58e, 59e and 60e clusters; with the Se species the more readily oxidized. Measured against Fc⁺/Fc couple in THF, $E_{1/2}$ values for $[(\eta^5-iPrC_5H_4)_4Mo_4S_4]$ clusters are -0.82V (+1/0), -0.22V (+2/+1); and for $[(\eta^5-iPrC_5H_4)_4Mo_4S_4]$ clusters are -0.82V (+1/0), -0.22V (+2/+1);

An interesting series of "soft" salts with big cations and big anions was prepared by oxidation of $[(\eta^5-iPrC_5H_4)_4Mo_4Q_4]$ (Q=S, Se) with $[Os_6(CO)_{18}]$, $[Fe_4S_4(NO)_4]$, $[Mo(S_2C_2(CF_3)_2)_3]$, $[Ni(S_2C_2(CN)_2)_2]$ and TCNQ. In all cases transfer of only one electron takes place. Crystal structures of $[(\eta^5-iPrC_5H_4)_4Mo_4S_4]$ (TCNQ), $[(\eta^5-iPrC_5H_4)_4Mo_4S_4]$ [Fe₄S₄(NO)₄] and $[(\eta^5-iPr-C_5H_4)_4Mo_4S_4]_2[Os_6(CO)_{18}]$ were determined. The geometry of the Mo–Mo core depends very much on the crystal packing forces and it seems that the non-bonding S…S distances are more important than Mo–Mo interactions.⁷⁷

Reactions of $[(\eta^5 - C_5H_5)_3Mo_3S_4]$ (pts) with $[M(CO)_3(CH_3CN)_3]$ (M = Cr, Mo, W) were reported to give moderate yields of $[(\eta^5 - C_5H_5)_3Mo_3M(CO)_3S_4]$ (pts) (pts⁻ = *p*-CH₃C₆H₄SO₃⁻), which can be regarded as derivatives of Mo₄S₄⁴⁺. A crystal structure of the Mo₃WS₄ cluster indicates Mo—Mo 2.87–2.88 Å, Mo—W 2.96–2.98 Å.¹⁹⁸

4.12.6.4.7 Solid-state chalcogenides and chalcohalides

Solid-state compounds $Mo_4S_4X_4$ (X = Cl, Br, I) and M'Mo_4Q_8 (M' = Al, Ga, Q = S; M' = Ga, Q = Se) are known to contain the $Mo_4Q_4^{4+/5+}$ cores, with each Mo octahedrally coordinated by three chalcogen and three halogen atoms, or six chalcogen atoms. Their tungsten analogs are not known.^{288–291}

4.12.6.4.8 Electron-poor and electron-rich cube clusters

Electron depletion beyond 58e (i.e., $M_4Q_4^{7+}$ and higher) generally leads to degradation of the cuboidal core. However, a unique series of 52e cuboidal clusters has been made, based on (*p*-tolylimido)derivatives of Mo^V and W^V. In the structure of $[Mo_4S_4(tolN)_4(S_2P(OEt)_2)_4]$ each metal atom is bound to one terminal group CH₃C₆ H₄N=, one chelating dtp and three sulfur atoms of the core. As there are only four electrons to form M—M bonds, the two such bonds (2.862 Å) are localized on the opposite edges of the Mo₄ tetrahedron, while the other four distances are non-bonding at 3.69 Å. There is a marked tendency to dissociate in solution into two dimeric molecules $[Mo_2(tolN)_2(\mu-S)_2(S_2P(OEt)_2)_2]$; the dissociation constant was determined to be 0.00063 M⁻¹ in CH₂Cl₂.²⁹² In the case of $[Mo_4S_4(tolN)_4(S_2CN(^iBu)_2)_4]$ this tendency to dissociate is so high that it allowed isolation and crystal structure determination of both the Mo₄S₄ cluster and its dissociation product, $[Mo_2S_2(tolN)_2(S_2CN(^iBu)_2)_2]$. The dissociation is facilitated not only

by the lack of M—M bonding between the two dimeric units within the cluster, but also by long Mo–S distances (2.7–2.8 Å) uniting them.²⁹³ Treatment of $[Mo_4S_4(tolN)_4(S_2P(OEt)_2)_4]$ with CF₃COOH leads to similar dissociation, the product being an SH-bridged dimer, $[Mo_2(tolN)_2(\mu-S)(\mu-SH)(\mu-CF_3COO)(S_2P(OEt)_2)_2]$.²⁹⁵ An oxo/imido cluster, $[Mo_4S_4(tolN)_2 O_2(S_2P(OEt)_2)_4]$ has also been prepared.²⁹⁴ The structure of $[W_4S_4(tolN)_4(S_2P(OEt)_2)_4]$ has been determined.²⁹⁶

As an example of a 54e cluster, $[W_4S_4(en)_4(S)_4]S$ has been prepared by a solvento-thermal reaction from $[W(CO)_6]$, K_2S_4 and ethylenediamine at 300 °C. It gives air-stable black-red crystals (31% yield), insoluble in DMF and water. It has a W_4S_4 cuboidal skeleton (W-W, 2.801-2.878 Å; W- μ_3S , 2.36-2.41 Å) and unusually S²⁻ as counter ion (there are contacts with en through hydrogen bonds, N-H···S, 2.36-2.41 Å). Although the W-S distances (2.54 Å) to the terminal sulfur are long for what is supposed to be a double bond, an alternative formulation as 58e $[W_4S_4(en)_4(SH)_4]S$, which is more consistent with the observed geometry, was not favored as no S-H bands appeared in the IR spectrum. The magnetic susceptibility of the cluster obeys the Curie-Weiss law with μ_{eff} =2.67 BM at 400 K.²⁹⁷

An example of a 68e electron-rich cube is red $K_8[Mo_4S_4(NO)_4(CN)_8]\cdot 4H_2O$, obtained in a low yield from $[Mo_4(NO)_4(S_2)_6(\mu_4-O)]^{2-}$ and KCN. The electron count leaves the possibility of formation of two Mo—Mo bonds, and this is supported by two short (2.99 Å) Mo–Mo distances on opposite edges of the tetrahedron Mo₄; the other four distances are non-bonding (3.67 Å).²⁹⁸ The anion $[Mo_4(NO)_4(S_2)_6(\mu_4-O)]^{2-}$ is a 72e species, and the 18e rule is fulfilled here without the necessity of M—M bonding (Mo—Mo 3.31 and 3.94 Å).²⁹⁹

4.12.6.4.9 Raft-type $[M_4(\mu_3-S)_2(\mu-S)_4]^{2+}$ clusters and their derivatives

Treatment of $(NH_4)_2[Mo_3S_7(S_2)_3]$ by PMe₃ in butylamine gives a raft-type Mo₄ cluster $[Mo_4(\mu_3-S)_2(\mu-S)_4(SH)_2(PMe_3)_6]^{.300}$ Its tungsten analog has been obtained by treating *cis*- $[W(N_2)_2(PMe_2Ph)_4]$ with 2-equivalents of $(Me_3Si)_2S$ in methanol as $[W_4(\mu_3-S)_2-(\mu-S)_4(SH)_2(PMe_2Ph)_6]^{.301}$ These 58e clusters have 10e sufficient to form five M—M bonds, including one between the hinge atoms. There is little variation between Mo—Mo (2.83–2.85 Å); and W—W (2.81–2.84 Å) distances. The presence of an S–H ligand coordinated to two opposite wingtip metal atoms is deduced from: (i) observation of ν (S–H) in the IR spectra (2,516 cm⁻¹ for Mo_4, 2,512 cm⁻¹ for W_4); (ii) long M—SH bond distances (2.410 Å for Mo_4, 2.390 Å for W_4); (iii) in the case of the W₄ cluster, the position of the hydrogen atom was determined from X-ray data (S–H 1.28 Å, angle W–S–H 116.4°).^{300,301}

The SH group can be exchanged for chlorine by heating with SnCl₂ in THF, giving $[Mo_4(\mu_3-S)_2(\mu-S)_4Cl_2(PMe_3)_6]$ and $[W_4(\mu_3-S)_2(\mu-S)_4Cl_2(PMe_2Ph)_6]^{.302}$ This transformation causes only small changes in the M₄ skeleton. The $[W_4(\mu_3-S)_2(\mu-S)_4Cl_2 (PMe_2Ph)_6]$ product undergoes 2e oxidation by Ag⁺ triflate, and $[W_4(\mu_3-S)_2(\mu-S)_4Cl_2 (PMe_2Ph)_6](CF_3SO_3)_2$ was isolated. Although for this 56e cluster a raft-type metal connectivity is preserved, the core no longer has C_{2h} symmetry, but is distorted, with a pair of opposite W—W bonds elongated to 2.937 Å, another pair shortened to 2.738 Å, and only the W—W hinge essentially unchanged at 2.833 Å.³⁰¹ Reduction of $[W_4(\mu_3-S)_2(\mu-S)_4Cl_2(PMe_2Ph)_6]$ with an excess of sodium amalgam gives $[W_4(\mu-S)_6(PMe_2Ph)_4]$ in a low yield. It contains an adamantane-like core, unprecedented for transition-metal chalcogenide clusters. There are 12 electrons in this W^{III} derivative giving six M—M bonds (W—W 2.634 Å). Disregarding the W—W bonds, tungsten is tetrahedrally coordinated (angle S–W–P 89.2°, S–W–S 120.0°).³⁰¹

4.12.6.5 Heterometallic Derivatives of $[Mo_3Q_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ and $[W_3Q_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$

Cube derivatives of the incomplete cubes $[M_3Q_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ (M = Mo, W; Q = S, Se) formed by the uptake of a heterometal have been prepared. Those of $[Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ are most extensive, with exceptions metals from Groups 3–5, Mn/Tc (Group 7), Ag/Au (Group 11), and Zn (Group 12). Fewer derivatives (about half the number) are obtained from $[W_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$.

In this chemistry the heteroatoms M' can occupy the vacant single cube site of $[Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ to give **A**. When M' is tetrahedral an edge-linked double cube **B** can form. When M' is octahedral a corner-shared double-cube **C** is redox accessible.⁷ Key atoms only are used to illustrate these different structures A-C (Scheme 2).



Scheme 2

The reaction giving **B** is a dimerization process. Known examples are with M' = Co, Pd, Cu and Ni (the latter with W containing trinuclear clusters). The conversion $A \rightarrow B$ occurs when the accompanying anions are non-complexing, e.g., pts⁻, ClO₄⁻ and M' is weakly coordinated by solvent H₂O. Reformation of **A** occurs on addition of, e.g., CO, PR₃, Cl⁻, NCS⁻ to coordinate to M' in **B**. Excess $[Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ and a reducing agent $(BH_4^- \text{ or } H_3PO_2)$ are required for the conversion of $A \rightarrow C$, and with oxidants, e.g., $[Fe(H_2O)_6]^{3+}$ and $[Co(dipic)_2]^-$ the reverse action is observed. From X-ray crystallography short Mo—Mo or W—W bonds (2.5–2.8 Å) are present in all **A**, **B**, and **C** cases. Whereas short Mo/W to heterometal M' bonds ~2.7 Å are observed for transition metals in **A** and **B**, long non-bonding >3.5 Å separations are a feature of **A** and **C** when M' is from Groups 12–15, as will emerge in different sections considered below.

Because all known corner-shared double cubes C are 8+ in charge, a formalism $Mo_3S_4^{4+}M'^0Mo_3S_4^{4+}$ has been found to be a useful approximation.³⁰³ Such cubes are most common for M' from Groups 12–15, and $[Mo_7S_8(H_2O)_{18}]^{8+}$ (already considered) is an exception in that an alternative distribution of charge seems to apply. In an extension to this approach, single cubes (M' = Co, Ni, Pd, Cu) have short Mo–M' consistent with metal–metal bonding and the formalism $Mo_3S_4^{4+}M'^0$. Assignments M'⁰ are consistent with the use of the metallic state in preparative procedures. Single cubes with M' from Groups 12–13 are written as, e.g., $Mo_3S_4^{4+}Hg^0$, $Mo_3S_4^{4+}Ga^I$, $Mo_3S_4^{4+}Ge^{II}$ and $Mo_3S_4^{4+}Sb^{III.^7}$. Three categories of M' are apparent, those of Group 6, late transition metals, and post-transition metals.

Extensive use is made of Dowex 50W-X2 cation-exchange column chromatography in the purification of aqua ion derivatives of $[M_3Q_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$. Acidic solutions are required to avoid acid dissociation steps involving H₂O ligands, which can result in aggregation steps. Acids such as Hpts (*p*-toluenesulfonic acid) are widely used, where the weakly coordinating properties of pts⁻ approach those of ClO₄⁻, which is generally regarded as the weakest common donor anion, but can also function as an oxidant. Almost all heterometallic cubes are air-sensitive, and need to be handled e.g., under N₂.

4.12.6.5.1 Group 6 (Cr)

Group 6 examples with M' = Mo, W, i.e., the Mo_4S_4 and Mo_3WS_4 cubes, have already been considered. Although $[Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ does not react with Cr metal, it reacts with $[Cr(H_2O)_6]^{2+}$ giving brown $[Mo_3CrS_4(H_2O)_{12}]^{4+}$, UV-vis peaks $\lambda(nm)$ ($\varepsilon(M^{-1}cm^{-1})$) at 255 (12,000), 510 (387) in 2 M Hpts.³⁰⁴ It is air-sensitive and decays into $[Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ and $[Cr(H_2O)_6]^{3+}$. The aqua ions $[Cr(H_2O)_6]^{2+}$ and $[Cr(H_2O)_6]^{3+}$ are known for their extreme lability and inertness, and H₂O-exchange rate constants with solvent H₂O are $\sim 10^9 s^{-1}$ and $\sim 10^{-6} s^{-1}$ respectively. An assignment $[Mo^{III}_3Cr^{III}S_4(H_2O)_{12}]^{4+}$, analogous to the well-characterized $[Mo^{III}_4S_4(H_2O)_{12}]^{4+}$ is considered here. Kinetic studies on the NCS⁻ substitution of H₂O assigned to reactions at the Cr were found to be quite fast (25.2 M⁻¹ s⁻¹), suggesting labilization of the Cr^{III} by three attached μ_3 -sulfido ligands.³⁰⁴ The $[H^+]^{-1}$ dependence indicates an involvement of a second H₂O on the Cr, which is therefore assigned an octahedral coordination. The reaction of $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_3Mo_3S_4]$ (pts) with $[Cr(CO)_3(CH_3CN)_3]$ produces $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_3Mo_3Cr(CO)_3)S_4]$ (pts).¹⁹⁸

4.12.6.5.2 Group 7 (Re)

No Mn (or Tc) derivatives have been prepared. The reaction of $[Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ with $[Re(CO)_5Br]$ yields $[Mo_3Re(CO)_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{5+}$ in small yields.³⁰⁵ Analyses and the X-ray crystal structure of

 $(Me_2NH_2)[Mo_3Re(CO)_3S_4(NCS)_6]$ are consistent with formation of an Mo_3ReS_4 single cube. On heating $[Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ is reformed and can be recovered by Dowex chromatography.

4.12.6.5.3 Group 8 (Fe, Ru, Os)

The reaction of Fe wire with $[Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ in HCl or HClO₄ gives red–purple $[Mo_3FeS_4(H_2O)_{10}]^{4+}$, UV–vis peaks $\lambda(nm)$ ($\varepsilon(M^{-1} cm^{-1})$) in 2 M HClO₄ 236 (10,390), 503 (730), 603 (448), 970 (122).^{306,307} The crystal structure of $[Mo_3FeS_4(H_2O)_{10}]$ (pts)₄·7H₂O has been determined confirming a tetrahedrally coordinated Fe site.³⁰⁸ The kinetics of the O₂ oxidation have been interpreted in terms of a spectrophotochemically detected intermediate Mo₃Fe(O₂)S₄⁴⁺, which decays further to give Fe²⁺ and $[Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$.³⁰⁹ No reaction is observed between $[Mo_3FeS_4(H_2O)_{10}]^{4+}$ and CO³¹⁰ or the water-soluble phosphine P(C₆H₄SO₃)₃³⁻.³¹¹ In HCl solutions, the Fe site coordinates Cl⁻ to give $[Mo_3(FeCI)S_4(H_2O)_{10}]^{3+}$ in a fast reaction (complete within 2–3 ms); stability constant 560 M⁻¹.³⁰⁷ The air-sensitivity can result in handling difficulties. Although no ESR spectrum is observed down to 4.2 K in 2M HCl or 2M Hpts,³⁰⁷ a solid sample of $[Mo_3FeS_4(H_2O)_{10}](pts)_4$ ·7H₂O was found to be paramagnetic (μ_{eff} 2.83 BM at 22 °C). Magnetic susceptibility data, at temperatures 2–270 K, were fitted to a model having a Fe^{II}Mo^{IV-}Mo^{III}₂ core with $J_1(Mo-Mo)/k_B = -25 K$, $J_2(Mo-Fe)/k_B = -75 K$ (k_B is the Boltzmann constant).³¹² However, Mössbauer spectra at 4.2 K (frozen solutions in 2 M HClO₄) give a chemical isomer shift $\delta = 0.52 \text{ mm s}^{-1}$, quadrupole splitting $\Delta Eq = 0.22 \text{ s}^{-1}$ and linewidth $\Gamma = 0.29 \text{ mm s}^{-1}$ suggesting the presence of Fe^{III} and S = 3/2, effectively spin-coupled at 4.2 K.³⁰⁷ With conc. NH₃, black–purple crystals of $[Mo_3Fe(H_2O)S_4 (NH_3)_9]Cl_4$ separate, and give Mo–Mo 2.68–2.69 Å and Mo–Fe 2.77–2.83 Å (Figure 45).³⁰⁶

A butterfly-type cluster $[(\eta^5 - C_5H_5)_2Mo_2(CO)_2(\mu_3 - S)_2Fe_2(CO)_6]$ reacts with thiophene (large excess) at 150 °C, giving a low yield of cuboidal $[(\eta^5 - C_5H_5)_3Mo_3Fe(SH)S_4]$ (Mo—Mo 2.8–2.87 Å, Mo—Fe 2.7–2.81 Å).³¹³

No Ru or Os derivatives of $[Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ have been prepared. However, the cluster $[(\eta^5-MeC_5H_4)_3Mo_3S_4]$ (pts) reacts with $[Ru(CO)_3(COD)]$, generated *in situ* from $[Ru_3(CO)_{12}]$ and 1,5-COD (cyclooctadiene), to give the brown 60e cuboidal $[(\eta^5-MeC_5H_4)_3Mo_3Ru-(CO)_2S_4]$ (pts), (Mo-Mo 2.85 Å, Mo-Ru 2.88 Å). Solutions in CH₂Cl₂ gradually lose CO to give $[(\eta^5-MeC_5H_4)_3Mo_3S_4Ru_2(\mu-CO)_3]$ (pts)₂, with two Mo₃RuS₄ units held together by a Ru-Ru bond (2.70 Å) bridged by three CO groups.³¹⁴

Similarly, $[(\eta^5 - MeC_5H_4)_3Mo_3O_8(CO)_2S_4]$ (pts) has been prepared and characterized by ¹H NMR, FAB-MS and IR spectra.³¹⁴

4.12.6.5.4 Group 9 (Co, Rh, Ir)

Metallic Co reacts with $[Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ to give a brown air-sensitive solution, from which crystals of the edge-linked double cube $[\{Mo_3CoS_4(H_2O)_9\}_2](pts)_8 \cdot 20H_2O$ have been obtained (Co–Co 2.498 Å).³¹⁵ No clear-cut distinction between the single and double cubes has been possible in solution, e.g., by UV–vis spectra.³¹⁶ Notably in cation-exchange chromatography $[Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ is eluted prior to the Co derivative, indicating retention of the double cube in solution. However, CO gives brown $[Mo_3Co(CO)S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ which is stable in air.³¹⁰ It has been demonstrated that $[Mo_2(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2Co_2(CO)_4(\mu_4-S)(\mu_3-S)_2]$ undergoes transformation into a 60e cube $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_3 Mo_3(CoCO)S_4]$ (Mo–Mo 2.83–2.84 Å, Co–Mo 2.74–2.76 Å) on treatment with





a CO/H₂ mixture (1:4, 150 °C, 200 psi, yield 15–30%), or by heating with py (150 °C, 15% yield).³¹³

A color change to brown is observed on heating $[Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ in 4 M HCl with RhCl₃ on a hotplate (~3 h).³⁰³ The chloro product $[Mo_3RhCl_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ can be separated by Dowex cation-exchange chromatography. On diluting to 0.5M HCl and leaving to stand for a few days $[Mo_3RhS_4(H_2O)_{12}]^{7+}$ forms and is no longer eluted from a Dowex column.³¹⁵ A similar reaction is observed with $[W_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$.³⁰³ Other examples of Rh incorporation are with $[Mo_3(\eta^5-C_5Me_5Rh)S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$, and $[Mo_3(\eta^5-C_5Me_5Rh)S_4(H_2O)_7O]_2^{4+}$.^{317,318} The reaction between $[M'(\mu-Cl)(cyclooctene)_2]_2$, M' = Rh, Ir, with $[(\eta^5-Me\ C_5H_4)_3Mo_3S_4]$

The reaction between $[M'(\mu-Cl)(cyclooctene)_2]_2$, M' = Rh, Ir, with $[(\eta^5 - Me C_5H_4)_3Mo_3S_4]$ (pts) in the presence of PPh₃ in boiling methanol gives a mixture of cationic components, which were identified by FAB⁺ mass-spectroscopy as, e.g., $[(\eta^5 - MeC_5H_4)_3Mo_3(RhCl)S_4]^+$ and $[(\eta^5 - MeC_5H_4)_3Mo_3Rh(pts)S_4]^+$.³¹⁴

4.12.6.5.5 Group 10 (Ni, Pd, Pt)

Blue–green $[Mo_3NiS_4(H_2O)_{10}]^{4+}$, UV–vis spectrum in 2 M Hpts, $\lambda(nm)$ ($\varepsilon(M^{-1}cm^{-1})$): 500 (200), 680 (610) can be prepared as follows: (i) reaction of metallic Ni with $[Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ (in HCl, hours/days);³¹⁹ (ii) reaction of metallic Ni with $[Mo_3S_7Cl_6]^{2-}$;³²³ (iii) reduction of Ni²⁺ with NaBH₄ in the presence of $[Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$;³²⁰ (iv) one-pot synthesis from $(NH_4)_2MoS_4$ and Ni powder in 2 M HCl.³²¹ Method (i) has been used to prepare green $[W_3NiS_4(H_2O)_{10}]^{4+}$, and mixed Mo/W metal cubes $[Mo_2WNiS_4(H_2O)_{10}]^{4+}$ and $[MoW_2NiS_4(H_2O)_{10}]^{4+}$. The Ni is tetrahedral. All four aqua ions have been isolated as pts⁻ salts. Whereas Mo_3Ni and Mo_2WNi crystallize as single cubes $[M_3NiS_4(H_2O)_{10}](pts)_4 \cdot 7H_2O$, the two more tungsten-rich clusters give edge-linked double cubes, $[\{M_3NiS_4(H_2O)_9\}_2](pts)_8 \cdot 20H_2O$ (Ni–Ni 2.549 Å for MoW_2Ni ; 2.560 Å for W_3Ni).³²²

Solutions of $[Mo_3NiS_4(H_2O)_{9}]_{2}^{(112O)}$ $(NI=NI 2.549 \text{ A for MOW}_{2}NI, 2.500 \text{ A for W}_{3}NI)$. Solutions of $[Mo_3NiS_4(H_2O)_{10}]^{4+}$ are stable in air over periods ~1 h. On heating in air Ni²⁺ and $[Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ are obtained.³²⁰ In hydrochloric acid Cl⁻ coordination to Ni occurs with the formation of green $[Mo_3(NiCl)S_4(H_2O)_9]^{3+}$ (K = 97 M⁻¹),³²⁰ which has been isolated as the supramolecular adduct with cucurbituril (C₃₆H₃₆N₂₄O₁₂), { $[Mo_3(NiCl)S_4(H_2O)_7Cl_2](C_{36}H_{36}-N_{24}O_{12})$ } Cl·13H₂O (Ni—Cl 2.238 Å).³²³ When a solution of $[Mo_3(NiCl)S_4(H_2O)_9]^{3+}$ is treated with nitrilotriacetate, the Cl⁻ remains coordinated at the Ni site, and complexation proceeds at the Mo to give, after crystallization in the presence of Ca²⁺, green Ca_{2.5}[Mo₃(NiCl)(Hnta)-(nta)_2]·14H₂O (Ni—Cl 2.240 Å).³¹⁹

Derivatization of the $Mo_3NiS_4^{4+}$ core is also achieved by reacting solid [Mo_3(NiCl)- $S_4(H_2O)_9$]Cl₃ with dppe in methanol, giving dark-brown [Mo_3(NiCl)S_4Cl_3 (dppe)_3], 43% yield. The Cl coordinated at the Ni could not be replaced by CO, PMe₃ or PMe₂Ph.³²⁴

Substitution of seven different ligands including two water-soluble phosphines at the Ni site of $[Mo_3NiS_4(H_2O)_{10}]^{4+}$ have been studied.³¹¹ Formation rate constants $(M^{-1}s^{-1})$ monitored by stopped-flow spectrophotometry are: Cl⁻, 9.4; Br⁻, 14.6; I⁻, 32.3; NCS⁻, 44; CO, 0.66; P(3-SO_3C_6H_4)_3^{3-}, 58; 1,3,5-triaza-7-phosphaadamantane (PTA), 119. With the exception of CO these are consistent with an I_d dissociative interchange mechanism. From $H_2^{17}O$ studies it is concluded that Ni-H₂O water-exchange rate constant on $[Mo_3NiS_4(H_2O)_{10}]^{4+}$ is <10³ s⁻¹. Similarly, formation equilibrium constants are (M^{-1}) : Cl⁻, 9.4; Br⁻, 150; NCS⁻, 690; CO, 5,150; P(3-SO_3C_6H_4)^{3-}, 8,900; PTA, 2,040. The Ni behaves as a soft metal,³¹¹ in its coordination of C₂H₄³²² as well as CO^{320,325} to give $[Mo_3(Ni(L))S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$. The crystal structure of $[Mo_3Ni-(CO)S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ has also been reported.³¹⁰ The IR spectrum of $[Mo_3Ni(CO)-S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ has a CO stretching band at 2,077 cm⁻¹ (for the W analog), 2,045 cm⁻¹. On passing N₂ through solutions loss of CO and reformation of the aqua complex is observed.³²¹

The coordination of ethylene is favored with an increasing number of tungsten atoms in the cores, and crystal structures of isostructural $[Mo_xW_{3-x}Ni(C_2H_4)S_4(H_2O)_9]$ (pts)₄·0.5Hpts·6H₂O (x=0-2) have been determined.³²² ¹H NMR spectra show that the increase in the number of W atoms causes an upfield chemical shift, as electron density increases due to the weaker electron-withdrawing nature of the W atoms.³²²

The cluster $[Mo_3NiS_4(H_2O)_{10}](pts)_4 \cdot 7H_2O$ is antiferromagnetic ($\mu_{eff} = 0.11$ B.M. at 2.0 K, and 1.26 B.M. at 260.7 K). In terms of a Ni^{II}Mo^{IV}Mo^{III}₂ formalism, $J_1(Mo-Mo)/k_B = -35$ K, $J_2(Mo-Ni)/k_B = -60$ K.³¹² However, from other studies the behavior of the tetrahedral Ni is closer to that of Ni⁰ (substitution properties, coordination of π -acids). These contradictory interpretations reflect the difficulty in assigning classical oxidation states to metal atoms involved in M-M



Figure 46 Structure of the [Mo₃(NiPEt₃)₂S₄Cl₄(PEt₃)₃] molecule. All carbon atoms are omitted for clarity.

bonding. Indeed, DV-X α calculations on $[Mo_3NiS_4(H_2O)_{10}]^{4+}$ show that the magnitude of the Ni—Mo bond order is approximately 2/3 of the value for Mo—Mo bonds.³¹²

The reaction of $[Mo_3S_4Cl_4(PEt_3)_4(MeOH)]$ with Ni(COD)₂ generates a penta-nuclear cluster $[Mo_3(NiPEt_3)_2S_4Cl_4(PEt_3)_3]$.³²⁶ X-ray structure determination reveals a square – pyramidal core with an Mo_2Ni_2 base and third Mo at the apex. Short metal–metal distances (Mo–Mo 2.65–2.67 Å; Mo–Ni 2.5–2.67 Å; Ni–Ni 2.71 Å) are indicated. The XPS spectrum is consistent with a formulation as $Mo_3Ni_2^0$ (Figure 46).

The cube $[Mo_3NiS_4(H_2O)_{10}]^{4+}$ has been incorporated into zeolites by an ion exchange procedure, which lead to catalysts for benzothiophene hydrodesulfurization as well as highly selective catalysis for the formation of C₂ species from CO and H₂.^{327,328}

The incomplete cubes $[Mo_3Q_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ (Q = S, Se) in 2 M HCl, but not their W analogs, give with Pd black–blue solutions of $[Mo_3(PdCl)Q_4(H_2O)_9]^{3+}$ (yields ~90%).^{329,330} Crystal structures of the supramolecular adducts with cucurbituril { $[Mo_3(PdCl)S_4(H_2O)_6Cl_3](pyH \subset C_{36}H_{36}N_{24}O_{12})$ } Cl·14H₂O³³¹ and { $[Mo_3(PdCl)Se_4 (H_2O)_7Cl_2](C_{36}H_{36}N_{24}O_{12})$ }Cl·17H₂O have been determined.³³² When Cl⁻ is removed and replaced with Hpts (using ion-exchange chromatography), dimerization to the edge-linked double cubes occurs (purple for Q = S),^{329,333} [$\{Mo_3PdS_4(H_2O)_9\}_2$](pts)₈·20H₂O (Mo–Mo 2.78, Pd–Mo 2.80, Pd–Pd 2.79 Å).³²⁹ Solutions of both the single and double cubes are more air stable than, e.g., M' = Ni, with [$\{Mo_3PdQ_4(H_2O)_9\}_2$]⁸⁺ in Hpts stable for 3–4 weeks. UV–vis spectra are given in (Figure 47).³³² The double cube [$\{Mo_3PdS_4(H_2O)_9\}_2$]⁸⁺ in Hpts reacts with L = Cl⁻, Br⁻, NCS⁻, CO, P(C₆H₄SO₃)₃³⁻ and 1,3,5-triaza-7-phospha adamantane (PTA), with fast stopped-flow cleavage of the intercube Pd–S bonds to give [$Mo_3(PdL)S_4(H_2O)_9$]^{n+.332} Equilibration constants $K(M^{-1})$ were determined: Cl⁻ 490, Br⁻ 8,040, NCS⁻ 630, with CO and the two phosphines binding even more strongly.³³²



Figure 47 UV-vis spectra (1cm path length) of: (A) the purple double cube $[\{Mo_3PdS_4(H_2O)_9\}_2]^{8+}$ (0.23 mM), (B) the effect of addition of a 10-fold excess of Cl⁻ giving predominantly blue $[Mo_3(PdCl)S_4(H_2O)_9]^{3+}$, and (C) the further effect of increasing the Cl⁻ to 1.0 M.

The single cube $[Mo_3(PdCl)S_4(H_2O)_9]^{3+}$ coordinates $HP(O)(OH)_2$ as the tautomeric form $P(OH)_3$, confirmed by the crystal structure of the cucurbituril adduct of $[Mo_3(PdP(OH)_3)S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$, which is the first structurally confirmed example of $P(OH)_3$ as a ligand.³³⁴ Similarly, As(OH)_3 has been isolated as $[Mo_3(PdAs(OH)_3)S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$.³³⁴ The single cubes $[Mo_3(PdCl)Q_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ (Q = S, Se) react 1:1 with excess $SnCl_3^-$ to give $[Mo_3(PdSnCl_3)-Q_4(H_2O)_9]^{3+}$ with Pd—Sn bonding.³³⁰ Formation constants $K(25 \,^\circ\text{C})$ are $1.15 \times 10^3 \,^{M-1}$ (Q = S) and $9.5 \times 10^3 \,(\text{Q} = \text{Se})$ in 2 M HCl. On mixing the heterometal cubes $[Mo_3PdS_4(H_2O)_{10}]^{4+}$ and $[Mo_3SnS_4(H_2O)_{12}]^{6+}$ in 2 M HCl, no Pd—Sn interaction occurs. With $[Pd(H_2O)_4]^{2+}$ and $[Mo_3SnS_4(H_2O)_{10}]^{6+}$ in 2 M HCl, are easily $Mo_3SnS_4^{6+} \rightarrow Mo_3S_4^{4+} + Sn^{II}$ followed by $Sn^{II} + Pd^{II} \rightarrow Sn^{IV} + Pd^0$ are observed with the precipitation of Pd⁰. Treatment of $[Mo_3(PdCl)S_4(H_2O)_9]^{3+}$ with 3.3 equivalents of 1,4,7-triazacyclononane (tacn) gives dark-blue $[Mo_3(PdCl)-S_4(tacn)_3]Cl_3, 40\%$ yield. The product is stable enough to re-crystallize from 2 M HCl without ligand loss.³²⁹ Derivatization is also achieved with dppe in methanol, when brown $[Mo_3(Pd-(\eta^1-dppe))S_4Cl_3(dppe)_3]Cl$ is obtained, 50\% yield. Its structure was deduced from ³¹P NMR data.³²⁴

The Pd site in $[Mo_3(PdCl)S_4(tacn)_3]^{3+}$ is able to bind π -acids such as CO, isonitriles, alkenes and alkynes. With CO, brown $[Mo_3(PdCO)S_4(tacn)_3]^{4+}$ is obtained, which reforms the chloro complex in the presence of excess Cl⁻. Solid $[Mo_3(PdCO)S_4(tacn)_3]Cl(PF_6)_3$ was obtained $(\nu(CO) = 2,087 \text{ cm}^{-1})$ and the crystal structure determined (Pd-CO, 1.95 Å). A dark-red isonitrile complex $[Mo_3(Pd(t-BuNC))S_4(tacn)_3]Cl(BF_4)_3$ was also isolated $(\nu(CN) = 2,202 \text{ cm}^{-1})$. Coordination of alkenes seems to be not very strong, and there is a strong competition by Cl⁻ for the Pd site. By UV-vis, and in some cases by ¹H NMR, alkene coordination of COD, 4-MeC_6H_4CH=CH_2, trans-PhCH=CHMe, PhCH=CH_2, and C_2H_4 has been monitored. Crystals of X-ray quality of $[Mo_3(Pd(cis-OHCH_2CH=CHCH_2OH))S_4(tacn)_3]Cl(ClO_4)_3$ were obtained.³²⁹

Attempts to coordinate activated alkynes (e.g., HC=COOMe, MeOOCC=CCOOMe) to $[Mo_3(PdCl)S_4(tacn)_3]^{3+}$ gave unstable products which could not be isolated. In the presence of CH₃OH, nucleophilic and selective addition of methanol to the activated alkyne was observed, and (Z)-MeOCH=CHCOOMe obtained (97%, 6 h, 40 °C). The reaction is believed to involve a transformation of the π -bonded alkyne complex into a π -bonded vinyl derivative. This and other processes are catalytic,³²⁹ and can be more efficient than the traditional mononuclear Pd^{II} catalysts.⁹

The reaction of $[Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ with $[PtCl_4]^{2-}$ (with H_3PO_2 as reductant) gives on standing for 2–3 days the brown edge-linked cube $[\{Mo_3PtS_4(H_2O)_9\}_2]^{8+}$, which is difficult to elute in cation-exchange chromatography.³⁰⁵ As compared to the Ni and Pd heterometal cubes, the Pt cube is much more inert, and air stable. The $[W_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ analog has been prepared. No reaction of the incomplete cubes with Pt black is observed.³⁰⁵

Reaction of solid $[Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_9]Cl_4$ with $Pt(dba)_2$ (dba = 1,5-diphenyl-1-4-pentadiene-3-3-on) in methanol gives a brown precipitate, which can be treated with 3- equivalents of dppe yielding 60e $[Mo_3(PtCl)S_4Cl_3(dppe)_3]$ (37%).³²⁴ When the amount of dppe is increased $[Mo_3(Pt(\eta^1-dppe))-S_4Cl_3(dppe)_3]Cl$ is obtained, 29% yield. X-ray crystallography on the first of these clusters gives Mo—Mo, 2.81–2.82 Å; Pt—Mo 2.74–2.76 Å (Figure 48); ³¹P NMR on the second cluster gave a signal at $\delta = -10.3$ ppm ascribed to the uncoordinated PPh₂. While $[Mo_3-(PtCl)S_4Cl_3(dppe)_3]$ shows one reversible oxidation wave at 0.67 V (in CH₂Cl₂, vs. Hg₂Cl₂), $[Mo_3(Pt(\eta^1-dppe))S_4Cl_3 (dppe)_3]Cl$ is oxidized irreversibly at 1.41 V. The Pt-coordinated Cl of $[Mo_3(PtCl)S_4Cl_3(dppe)_3]$ could not be replaced with CO, PMe₃, PMe₂Ph or dppe.³²⁴



Figure 48 Structure of the [Mo₃(PtCl)S₄Cl₃(dppe)₃] molecule, only C atoms bonded to P are shown.

4.12.6.5.6 Group 11 (Cu)

Metallic Cu reacts with $[Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$, forming an air-sensitive brown solution of the paramagnetic 61e cluster $[Mo_3CuS_4(H_2O)_{10}]^{4+}$. On crystallization from 4 M Hpts, the edge-linked $[\{Mo_3CuS_4(H_2O)_9\}_2](pts)_8 \cdot 20H_2O$ (Mo—Mo, 2.73 Å; C—Mo, 2.78–2.93 Å; Cu—Cu, 2.43 Å) is obtained (Figure 49).³³⁵ The salt is ESR silent in solid state (77–290 K) and has μ_{eff} of only 0.48 B.M. Solution ESR measurements have proved difficult because of air-sensitivity with tendency to release Cu^{II.337} Elution from a Dowex cation-exchange column with HCl or Hpts occurs before green $[Mo_3S_4 (H_2O)_9]^{4+}$, indicating formation of the single cube.³³⁶ The opposite is true for M'=Co, when there appears to be retention of the double cube.³¹⁶

When $[Mo_3S_4(tdci)_3]Br_4$ reacts with Cu in ethanol at room temperature, reddish-brown $[Mo_3(CuBr)S_4(tdci)_3]Br_3 \cdot 11H_2O \cdot EtOH$ has been isolated, 55% yield, tdci = 1,3,5-tris(dimethyl-amine)-1,3,5-trideoxy-cis-inositol. The presence of a single cube $Mo_3CuS_4^{4+}$ was demonstrated by X-ray diffraction (M—Mo, 2.82 Å; Mo—Cu, 2.90 Å).¹⁴²

The cluster $[Mo_3CuS_4(H_2O)_{10}]^{5+}$ is obtained by Cu^+ addition (as CuCl or metastable Cu^+_{aq}), or by reduction of Cu^{2+} salts with BH_4^- in the presence of $[Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+,336}$ In non-complexing Hpts it tends to disproportionate into aqua Cu^{2+} and $[Mo_3CuS_4 (H_2O)_{10}]^{4+,337}$ In HCl it is more stable, due to Cl⁻ coordination and formation of $[Mo_3(CuCl)S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$. Oxidation of $[Mo_3CuS_4(H_2O)_{10}]^{4+}$ by various oxidants also produces the 5+ state as the first step.³³⁶ The cluster $[Mo_3(FeCl)S_4(H_2O)_9]^{3+}$ reacts with 10:1 excess of aqua Cu^{2+} , giving a mixture of $[Mo_3(CuCl)S_4(H_2O)_9]^{3+}(5\%)$, $[Mo_3(CuCl)S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}(37\%)$, and $[Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}(21\%).^{336}$ By adding nitrilotriacetate to $[Mo_3(CuCl)S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ it is possible to crystallize K⁺ and NH₄⁺ salts of $[Mo_3(CuCl)S_4(Hnta)_3]^{2-}$, the structures of which have been determined.³³⁷ The core in the 5+ cluster (Mo-Mo 2.75 Å; Mo-Cu 2.85 Å) has been formulated as $Mo_3^{1V}Cu^{1}$, and is isoelectronic with Mo_3Ni^0 . The Cu⁺ can be taken out of the cluster by coordination with CO.³¹⁰ When the CO of aqua Cu(CO)⁺ is removed by an N₂ stream, $[Mo_3(CuCl)S_4(H_2O)_{10}]^{4+}$ reforms.

Trinuclear $[W_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ reacts with Cu metal with the formation of green, air-sensitive $[W_3CuS_4(H_2O)_{10}]^{5+}$, UV-vis peaks $\lambda(nm)$ ($\varepsilon(M^{-1}cm^{-1})$) at 288(5,500), 384(1,940), 570 (342).³³⁸ No 4+ W_3CuS_4 core is known. On addition of Cu^I to $[M_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ (M = Mo, W) the kinetics indicate first-order dependencies for each reactant, with Cu⁺ attachment to one S atom occurring in the rate-limiting step. At 25 °C, rate constant M⁻¹s⁻¹ are: 980 (Mo), 1,820 (W).³³⁸ Subsequent reorientation and attachment to other μ -S core atoms occurs. In the case of Mo, a second Cu⁺ independent step is observed.

An attempt to derivatize $[Mo_3CuS_4(H_2O)_{10}]^{4+}$ by NH₃ substitution of H₂O in concentrated ammonia led to one-electron oxidation to the Mo₃CuS₄⁵⁺ cluster, isolated as black $[{(NH_3)_6(H_2O)(OH)Mo_3CuS_4(\mu-O)}_2]Cl_4\cdot 8H_2O$. The structure reveals two cubes with Mo–O–Mo bridges (Mo–O, 1.90–1.93 Å; Mo–O–Mo, 159°).³³⁹

The trinuclear clusters $[Mo_3Q_4X_3(dmpe)_3]PF_6$ (Q = S, Se; X = Cl, Br), and $[W_3S_4X_3(dmpe)_3]PF_6$ (X = Cl, Br) react with Cu^I halides, or with $[Cu(CH_3CN)_4]PF_6$ in the presence of Bu₄NX, to give the corresponding air-stable cuboidal clusters.^{340,341} Crystal structures were determined for $[Mo_3(CuCl)S_4Cl_3(dmpe)_3]PF_6$ (Mo–Mo, 2.78; Cu–Mo, 2.82Å); for $[W_3(CuBr)-S_4Br_3(dmpe)_3]PF_6$ (W–W, 2.78; Cu–W, 2.88Å), and for $[Mo_3CuSe_4Cl(dmpe)_3]PF_6$ (Mo–Mo, 2.84; Cu–Mo, 2.84Å).

Thiophosphate complexes of $M_3CuS_4^{5+}$ (M = Mo, W) have been prepared. Reported structures are $[Mo_3(CuI)S_4(\mu-OAc)((EtO)_2PS_2)_3L]$ (L = DMF,³⁴² DMSO (Figure 50),³⁴³ [Mo_3(CuI)-S_4(\mu-O_2CCF_3)((EtO)_2PS_2)_3(CH_3CN)],³⁴⁴ [W_3(CuI)S_4(\mu-O_2CCI_3)((EtO)_2PS_2)_3(CH_3CN)],³⁴⁵



Figure 49 Structure of the $[{Mo_3CuS_4(H_2O)_9}_2]^{8+}$ cation.



Figure 50 Structure of the $[Mo_3(CuI)S_4(\mu-OAc)((EtO)_2PS_2)_3(DMSO)]$ molecule.

 $[W_3(CuI)S_4(\mu-OAc)((EtO)_2PS_2)_3py]$,³⁴⁶ and $[Mo_3(CuI)(\mu_3-O)S_3(\mu-OAc)((EtO)_2PS_2)_3L]$ (L = py, DMF).³⁴⁷

The preparation and structure of the dithiocarbamate, $[Mo_3(CuI)S_4(\mu-Et_2NCS_2)$ (Et₂-NCS₂)₃py], has been reported. In the case of pyrrolydinedithiocarbamate (pyrrdtc), a closely related oxidized product with one broken Mo–Mo bond results $[Mo_3(CuI)-(O)_2S_4(\mu-OAc)(pyrrdtc)_3py]$.³⁴⁸

Diamagnetic dithiophosphinates $[Mo_3(CuI)S_4(\mu-R_2PS_2)(R_2PS_2)_3py]$ (R = Et, *n*-Pr) are obtained by reacting trinuclear $[Mo_3S_4(\mu-R_2PS_2)((R_2PS_2)_3]$ with CuI and py. For R = *n*-Pr: Mo—Mo, 2.76–2.78 Å; Mo—Cu, 2.84–2.87 Å. A temperature-dependent ³¹P NMR study indicates a possible isomerization around the unique Mo atom bound to py, which becomes frozen out at low temperature.³⁴⁹ Using a similar procedure, trimetallic cuboidal clusters $[Mo_2W-(CuI)S_4(\mu-R_2PS_2)((R_2PS_2)_3py]$ (R = Et, *n*-Pr) have been obtained.³⁵⁰

4.12.6.5.7 Group 12 (Cd, Hg)

A Cd derivative of $[Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ has been prepared by (a) reaction with Cd^{2+} in the presence of H_3PO_2 as reductant in 2M HCl, and (b) addition of Cd granules to $[Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ in 0.5 M Hpts and heating ~70 °C for 1 h.³⁵¹ The orange–brown product is eluted from a Dowex cation-exchange column at low H⁺ using a mix of 2.9 M Lipts+0.1 M Hpts, and has been characterized as $[Mo_3CdS_4(H_2O)_{12}]^{4+}$. With $[Co(dipic)_2]^-$, O_2 and H⁺ as oxidants, the incomplete cube $[Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ is re-formed. The reaction with H⁺ is much faster in Cl⁻ than pts⁻, and the pts⁻ appears to act as an outer-sphere H-bonded protective sheath as in corner-shared double cube crystal structures. The reaction with H⁺ yields H₂, and in 1 M HCl the half-life is ~5 min. The kinetics of the reaction with H⁺ suggests a dominant $[H^+]^2$ dependence.³⁵¹

Corner-shared double cubes $[CdMo_6S_8(Hnta)_6]^{4-}$ and $[CdMo_6S_8(dtp)_8(CH_3CN)_2]$ are obtained by reacting metallic Cd with $[Mo_3S_4(Hnta)_3]^{2-}$ or $[Mo_3S_4(dtp)_4(CH_3CN)_2]$ respectively. The structures have been confirmed by X-ray crystallography. No Mo—Cd bonding is apparent.³⁵²

structures have been confirmed by X-ray crystallography. No Mo–Cd bonding is apparent.³⁵² Metallic Hg reacts with [M₃S₄(H₂O)₉]⁴⁺ to give the intense purple corner-shared double cube [Mo₆HgS₈(H₂O)₁₈]^{8+.315,353} For conditions specified the reaction requires ~40 h in 2 M HCl, is less rapid in 2 M Hpts (120 h), and extremely slow in 2 M HClO₄ (days). From solutions in 4 M Hpts crystals [Mo₆HgS₈ (H₂O)₁₈](pts)₈·20H₂O were obtained (Hg–S, 2.84 Å).³¹⁵ In HCl a partial substitution of Cl⁻ for coordinated water takes place, and with the addition of cucurbituril to facilitate crystallization, the blue supramolecular adduct [Mo₆HgS₈Cl₄(H₂O)₁₄](C₃₆H₃₆N₂₄O₁₂)Cl₄·14H₂O is obtained in (Figure 51) and extended structure as in (Figure 52).³⁵⁴ Cucurbituril has an annular shape with six carboxyl groups exposed in either side of the ring, and these serve to H-bond to H₂O ligands on the cluster to give an extended supramolecular arrangement (Figure 52). The crystal structure indicates Mo–Mo but no Mo–Hg bonding. The coordination around the Hg atom is distorted octahedral, with two short bonds trans to each other (Hg–S, 2.768 Å); and four long bonds (Hg–S, 2.902 Å).³⁵⁴ The long Hg–S bonds favor an Hg⁰ assignment, with the latter



Figure 51 Structure of the $[Mo_6HgS_8Cl_4(H_2O)_{14}]^{4+}$ double cube, and its interaction with cucurbituril $C_{36}H_{36}N_{24}O_{12}$.^{353,354}



Figure 52 Supermolecular arrangement of cucurbituril and the corner-shared double cube.

sandwiched between two $Mo_3S_4^{4+}$ moieties. Kinetic studies favor a rate determining step first-order in $[Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ and formation of the single cube, $Mo_3HgS_4^{4+}$, which reacts rapidly with a second $[Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+354}$. Equilibrium studies including a Beer's Law plot on $[Mo_6HgS_8(H_2O)_{18}]^{8+}$ indicate an $[Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ square dependence.³⁵⁴ The interconversions in (Scheme 3) are unique in that the second stage giving the double cube does not involve redox changes. Mercury also reacts with $[Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ and $[W_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ (but not $[W_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$), to give cucurbituril adducts isostructural with the $[Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ derivative.^{353,354}

A particularly striking feature of the supermolecular cucurbituril double-cube structures is that they are isostructural with assemblies incorporating, e.g., two $[W_3Se_4(H_2O)_8Cl]^{3+}$ units as in $[W_3Se_4(H_2O)_8Cl]_2(C_{36}H_{36}N_{24}O_{12})Cl_6\cdot 12H_2O$. Here, the two W_3Se_4 units are held together by Se—Se interactions (3.617–3.740 Å), and are embedded between cucurbituril molecules in exactly

$$\begin{array}{rcl} \mathsf{Mo}_3\mathsf{S}_4{}^{4+} + \mathsf{Hg}^0 \begin{array}{c} \overrightarrow{\leftarrow} & \mathsf{Mo}_3\mathsf{Hg}\mathsf{S}_4{}^{4+} \\ & \overrightarrow{\leftarrow} & \mathsf{Mo}_6\mathsf{Hg}\mathsf{S}_8{}^{8+} \, (\text{purple}) \\ & - \mathsf{Mo}_3\mathsf{S}_4{}^{4+} \\ & + \mathsf{CI}^- \downarrow \uparrow - \mathsf{CI}^- \\ & \mathsf{Mo}_6\mathsf{Hg}\mathsf{S}_8\mathsf{Cl}_4{}^{4+} \, (\text{blue}) \end{array}$$

Scheme 3

the same way as the double cubes.³⁵³ Similar dimeric interactions have been reported previously for $[W_3Se_4(NCS)_9]^{5-}$ and $[W_3Se_4(CN)_9]^{5-}$ as well as in other M_3Q_4 (M = Mo, W; Q = S, Se) structures.¹⁹⁷ Of interest, in binary MQ₂ chalcogenides of early transition metals, the chalcogenide atoms of neighboring layers interact with each other in a similar manner.⁷ Thus, the structures are formally related to those of a matrix and intercalator (e.g., Hg), and the two W_3Se_4 units mimic closely the QMQ–QMQ layered structure in MQ₂. The results suggest that structures of MQ_2 are related to the chemistry of small molecular clusters in a way not previously recognized.

4.12.6.5.8 Group 13 (Ga, In, Tl)

In this group the single cubes $[Mo_3GaS_4(H_2O)_{12}]^{5+}$, $[Mo_3InS_4(H_2O)_{12}]^{5+}$, and double cubes $[Mo_6InS_8(H_2O)_{18}]^{8+}$, $[Mo_6TlS_8(H_2O)_{18}]^{8+}$ have been prepared from $[Mo_3S_4 (H_2O)_9]^{4+.355}$ No evidence for $[Mo_3TlS_4(H_2O)_{12}]^{5+}$, $[Mo_6GaS_8(H_2O)_{18}]^{8+}$, or confirmation of the 6+ analog of $[Mo_3GaS_4(H_2O)_{12}]^{5+}$ has been obtained.^{355,356} Of the nine Group 13–15 heteroatoms studied, Ga is the only one that does not give a double cube using existing procedures.

Metallic Ga reacts with $[Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ in 2 M HCl (at 90 °C), giving the red-brown cuboidal cluster $[Mo_3GaS_4(H_2O)_{12}]^{5+}$, which can be crystallized from 4 M Hpts as $[Mo_3Ga$ $S_4(H_2O)_{12}$](pts)₅·14H₂O (Mo-Mo 2.71 Å; Ga-Mo 3.52 Å).³⁵⁶ Alternatively, Ga can be dissolved in 4 M HCl as Ga^{III} and added to $[Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ in the presence of NaBH₄.³⁵⁵ In 4 M HCl a low yield (10%) of H_2 gas was evolved over 3 days from H^+ oxidation, and was determined by gas chromatography over 3 days. No reaction is observed between Ga and $[W_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$, or of GaCl₃ and NaBH₄ with $[W_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+.7}$

Similar procedures can be used to prepare [Mo₃InS₄(H₂O)₁₂]⁵⁺. Thus, when metallic In is treated with $[Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ in 4 M Hpts, brown needle-like crystals of the single cube $[Mo_3In(\eta^1-pts)_2H_2O)S_4(H_2O)_9](pts)_3 \cdot 13H_2O$ separate. The structure gives Mo-Mo 2.69Å; Mo—In 3.72 Å.³⁵⁷ Dark-blue $[W_3InS_4(H_2O)_{12}]^{5+}$ and its blue–green Se analog are obtained in the same way.^{355,358} Quantitative additions of aqua In⁺ to $[M_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ (M = Mo, W) is fast.^{355,358} When In³⁺ is reduced with H₃PO₂ in the presence of $[M_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ (M = Mo, W), the W reactant gives $[W_3InS_4(H_2O)_{12}]^{5+}$, but the Mo reaction proceeds to $[Mo_6InS_8(H_2O)_{18}]^{8+}$, which is stable only in the presence of excess H_3PO_2 .³⁵⁵ (Figure 53) illustrates typical UV-vis spectra of single and double cube derivatives.

Red-orange $[Mo_6InS_8(H_2O)_{18}]^{8+}$ is also obtained by a reductive addition of $[Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ to $[Mo_3InS_4(H_2O)_{12}]^{5+}$ in the presence of NaBH₄. Attempts to elute from a cation-exchange column at $[H^+] \ge 1$ M result in rapid oxidation to $[Mo_3In S_4(H_2O)_{12}]^{5+,355}$ At a lower $[H^+]$ (0.1 M Hpts) crystals of [Mo₆InS₈(H₂O)₁₈](pts)₈·xH₂O were isolated, but only the geometry of the cluster core could be established due to severe disorder.³⁶⁰ Less reactive $[Mo_6-InO_2S_6(H_2O)_{18}]^{8+}$ is obtained from In metal and $[Mo_3OS_3(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ in 4 M Hpts, and crystallizes as $[Mo_6InO_2S_6(H_2O)_{18}](pts)_8 \cdot 30H_2O$, 54% yield. The latter is not stable in HCl solutions when, as a result of H^+ oxidation, it decays into In^{3+} and $[Mo_3OS_3(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ with the transient formation of $[Mo_3InOS_3 (H_2O)_{12}]^{5+,355,360}$

The double and single In cubes react with H^+ to give H_2 determined by GC. The reaction of $[Mo_6InO_2S_6(H_2O)_{18}]^{8+}$ is first order in $[H^+]$ ($k = 4.9 \times 10^{-3} M^{-1} s^{-1}$). When equimolar amounts of $[W_3InS_4(H_2O)_{12}]^{5+}$ and $[Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ are mixed, a rapid and quantitative In⁺ transfer takes place with the formation of $[W_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ and $[Mo_3InS_4(H_2O)_{12}]^{5+}$.³⁵⁸ Blue–green $[Mo_6TlS_8(H_2O)_{18}]^{8+}$ is formed in the reaction of $[Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ with Tl metal in

2 M HClO₄, or more effectively by addition of TlCl with BH_4^- or H_3PO_2 as reductant.³⁶¹ The product



Figure 53 UV-vis spectra of red-brown $[Mo_3InS_4(H_2O)_{12}]^{5+}$ (----) (ε 's per Mo_3), and red-orange $[Mo_6InS_8(H_2O)_{18}]^{8+}$ (---) (ε 's per Mo_6) in 2 M HCl. The spectrum of green $[Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ (····) (ε 's per Mo_3) is also given.

is air-sensitive, and is oxidized by H⁺ to Tl⁺ and $[Mo_3S_4 (H_2O)_9]^{4+}$. Column purification is carried out preferably at 0 °C. The reaction with H⁺ is first-order in [H⁺], $k = 0.25 \times 10^{-3}$ M⁻¹s⁻¹.^{355,361}

4.12.6.5.9 Group 14 (Ge, Sn, Pb)

All three heterometals give corner-shared double cubes with $[Mo_3Q_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ (Q = S, Se). Single cubes have been characterized for Ge and Sn.

The red-purple Ge double cube is obtained by the reaction of GeO with $[Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$, by heating with Ge powder at 90 °C, or by heating with GeO₂ in the presence of H₃PO₂ at 90 °C.³⁶² Reaction with GeO is almost quantitative and most likely proceeds by disproportionation of the Ge^{II} to give reactive Ge⁰ *in situ* along with Ge^{IV}. The crystal structure of $[Mo_6Ge-S_8(H_2O)_{18}]$ (pts)₈·28H₂O indicates Mo—Mo (2.69 Å) but no Mo—Ge bonding (3.56 Å). Difference in UV–vis spectra in 2.0 M HCl and 2.0 M Hpts are illustrated in (Figure 54). The dark-green Se analog $[Mo_6GeSe_8(H_2O)_{18}]^{8+}$ displays similar properties. In the case of the trinuclear clusters $[W_3Q_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}(Q = S, Se)$ with GeO or GeO₂/H₃PO₂ the single cubes $[W_3GeQ_4(H_2O)_{12}]^{4+}$ are obtained. Conversion to the double cubes is achieved by reductive addition with BH₄⁻ in the presence of a further equivalent of $[W_3Q_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$. Crystals of $[W_6GeS_8(H_2O)_{18}]$ (pts)₈·23H₂O were obtained from 4 M Hpts and give W—W 2.67 Å, W—Ge 3.60 Å.³⁶²

Studies on $[W_3GeS_4(H_2O)_{12}]^{6+}$ in aqueous solution suggest that three H₂O's are coordinated to the Ge and can be replaced by Cl⁻, with formation of $[W_3(GeCl_3)S_4(H_2O)_9]^{3+}$ approaching



Figure 54 UV-vis spectra of $[Mo_6GeS_8(H_2O)_{18}]^{8+}$ in 2 M HCl (----) and 2 M Hpts (- - -), ε 's per Mo₆. The spectrum of $[Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ (---) is also given, ε 's per Mo₃.

completion at 2.0 M Cl⁻ levels. UV-vis spectra in 2.0 M HCl, Hpts and HClO₄ respectively, are shown in (Figure 55). Rate constants for the $[Co^{III}(dipic)_2]^-$ oxidation of single (two Co^{III} equivalents) and double cubes (four Co^{III} equivalents), rate laws first-order in Co^{III} indicating rate controlling first stages, are of interest (Table 3). The rate constants for $[W_6GeS_8(H_2O)_{18}]^{8+}$ are ~10⁵ times bigger than those for $[Mo_6GeS_8(H_2O)_{18}]^{8+}$, and $[W_3GeS_4(H_2O)_{12}]^{6+}$. For the double cube $[Mo_6GeS_8(H_2O)_{18}]^{8+}$ and (for comparison) $[Mo_6SnS_8(H_2O)_{18}]^{8+}$ the ratio of rate constants in 2.0 M Cl⁻ and 2.0 M pts⁻ exhibit large 160-fold differences favoring Cl⁻. A possible explanation is that pts⁻ and solvent H₂O form some sort of protective hydrogen-bonded sheath around the 8+ ions, as in the crystal structures (Figure 56). The effect is not as apparent with $[W_6GeS_8(H_2O)_{18}]^{8+}$ possibly due to the much faster reaction at the limit of the stopped-flow range.

A comparison of rate constants for the oxidation of $[Mo_6M'S_8(H_2O)_{18}]^{8+}$ is given in (Table 4), showing that the Ge cube is the least reactive, with Sn next. Both are Group 14 and have an even number of electrons.³⁶³ A molecular orbital treatment has been considered for $[Mo_6SnS_8(H_2O)_{18}]^{8+}$. Group 13, (In, Tl) containing double cubes have one electron less, and the Group 15 cubes (As, Sb, Bi) one electron more in LUMO, orbitals. Both effects result in increased reactivity.

Metallic tin shot reacts with $[Mo_3Q_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ (Q = S, Se) to give purple $[Mo_6Sn S_8(H_2O)_{18}]^{8+}$, 364 and brown $[Mo_6SnSe_8(H_2O)_{12}]^{8+}$, and pts⁻ crystals are obtained salts from 4 M Hpts solutions. The X-ray crystal structure of $[Mo_6SnS_8(H_2O)_{18}](pts)_8$ gives Mo—Mo 2.69 Å and Mo—Sn 3.71 Å.³⁶⁴ X-ray crystal structure of double cubes have been determined.^{359,364} The single and not double cube is obtained in the reaction of tin shot with $[W_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$. Purple–red, extremely air-sensitive $[W_6SnS_8(H_2O)_{18}]^{8+}$ is obtained by NaBH₄ reductive addition of $[W_3(SnCl_3)S_4(H_2O)_9]^{3+}$ and $[W_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$. Reductive coupling has also been used to prepare $[Mo_3W_3SnS_8(H_2O)_{18}]^{8+}$, $[Mo_6SnS_4Se_4(H_2O)_{18}]^{8+}$, and $[Mo_3W_3SnS_4Se_4(H_2O)_{18}]^{8+}$ (Scheme 4). ^{358,359} All the tin double cubes are oxidized by O₂, $[Fe(H_2O)_6]^{3+}$ or Co(dipic)₂⁻ in two steps, giving first



Figure 55 UV-vis spectra of $[Mo_3GeSe_4(H_2O)_{12}]^{6+}$ in 2 M HCl (---), 2 M Hpts (---) and 2.0 M HClO₄ (--).

Table 3 Rate constants k_{Co} (25 °C) for the oxidation of germanium containing single and double cubes in aqueous solutions, (1–6) × 10⁻⁵ M, with [Co(dipic)₂]⁻ in large excess, [H⁺]=0.5–2.0 M, I=2.00 M (LiCl) and 2.0 (Lipts) as indicated.³⁶²

	$k_{\rm Co} ({ m M}^{-1}{ m s}^{-1})$ (2.0 MCl ⁻)	$k_{\rm Co} \ ({\rm M}^{-1}{\rm s}^{-1})$ (2.0 M pts ⁻)	Ratio ^a
$[M_{0},GeS_{2}(H_{2}O)_{12}]^{8+}$	12.8	7.7×10^{-2}	166
$[W_6GeS_8(H_2O)_{18}]^{8+}$	2.8×10^4	7.3×10^{3}	3.8
$[Mo_6GeSe_8(H_2O)_{18}]^{8+}$	>145	6.9	>21
$[Mo_3GeS_4(H_2O)_{12}]^{6+}$	$3.2 imes 10^{-2}$	$4.6 imes 10^{-2}$	0.70
$[W_3GeS_4(H_2O)_{12}]^{6+}$	1.17	1.49	0.79
$[W_3GeSe_4(H_2O)_{12}]^{6+}$	1.04		
$[Mo_6SnS_8(H_2O)_{18}]^{8+}$	2.32×10^{3b}	14.9 ^c	156

^a $k_{\rm Co}$ in 2.0 M Cl⁻: $k_{\rm Co}$ in 2.0 M pts⁻. ^b Seo M.-S. and Sykes A. G., unpublished work. ^c Ref ³⁵⁹.



Figure 56 Arrangements of *p*-toluenesulfonate (pts⁻) anions (hollow bonds), and water molecules (cross-hatched circles), hydrogen-bonded to a corner-shared double cube, to give a protective sheath around the double cube.

Table 4 Summary of rate constants $k_{\rm Co}$ (25 °C) for the $[{\rm Co}({\rm dipic})_2]^-$ oxidation of heterometal (M') corner-shared derivatives $[{\rm Mo}_6{\rm M}'{\rm S}_8({\rm H_2O})_{18}]^{8+}$ of $[{\rm Mo}_3{\rm S}_4({\rm H_2O})_9]^{4+}$ at $[{\rm H}^+] = 0.5$ –2.0 M, I = 2.0 M (pts⁻). ³⁶²

<i>M</i> ′	$k_{\rm Co} \ ({\rm M}^{-1}{\rm s}^{-1})^{\rm a}$
In	3.09×10^{4}
T1	very fast
Ge	very fast
Sn	14.9
Pb	2.76×10^{5}
As	2.10×10^{4}
Bi	3.6×10^{4}

Rate constants independent of [H⁺] in range 0.5-2.0 M.

 $[M_3SnQ_4(H_2O)_{12}]^{6+}$, and then (with excess oxidant) $[M_3Q_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ and $Sn^{IV}.^{359,365}$ The yellow-green single cube $[Mo_3SnS_4(H_2O)_{12}]^{6+}$ is prepared by direct addition of Sn^{II} to $[Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$. Different spectra are observed in 2.0 M HCl from those in 2.0 M Hpts and 2.0 M HClO₄. The affinity of Sn for Cl⁻ is high and $[Mo_3(SnCl_3)S_4(H_2O)_9]^{3+}$ is formed when 0.05 M Cl^- is added to a 0.13 mM solution. Addition of excess NCS^- to these solutions does not affect the Sn-coordinated Cl⁻, substitution takes place only at the Mo, and in the presence of $Me_2NH_2^+$, crystals of e.g., $[Me_2NH_2]_6[Mo_3(SnCl_3)S_4(NCS)_9]\cdot 0.5H_2O$ are obtained. Structures have been determined for the four cases with M = Mo, W and Q = S, Se.^{116,359,365,366}

Transfer of SnCl₃⁻ can be monitored by UV-vis spectrophotometry on the reaction of $[Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ with $[Mo_3(SnCl_3)Se_4(H_2O)_9]^{3+}$ or $[W_3(SnCl_3)Q_4(H_2O)_9]^{3+}$ (Q = S, Se). No corresponding reactions of $[W_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ with $[W_3(SnCl_3)Se_4(H_2O)_9]^{3+}$, or of $[W_3Q_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ with $[Mo_3(SnCl_3)Se_4(H_2O)_9]^{3+}$ are observed. The reaction of $[Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ with $[Mo_3(SnCl_3)Se_4(H_2O)_9]^{3+}$ gives an equilibrium mix, with K = 4.0. From these studies the affinities of a triangular cluster towards $SnCl_3^-$ are: $Mo_3S_4^{4+} > Mo_3Se_4^{4+} > W_3Se_4^{4+} > W_3Se_4^{$



Scheme 4

Non-aqueous chemistry of $Mo_3SnS_4^{6+}$ clusters has also received attention. When Sn powder is heated with a toluene solution of $[Et_2P(S)S]_2$ and $[Mo_3S_4(Et_2PS_2)_4]$, black, air stable $[Mo_3SnS_4(Et_2PS_2)_6]$ is obtained, 50% yield. Its crystal structure shows the presence of three bridging and three chelating dithiophosphinate ligands. Direct addition of $Sn(Et_2P(S)S)_2$ to $[Mo_3S_4(Et_2PS_2)_4]$ gives the same product.³⁶⁷

A series of $[Mo_3(\mu_3-O)(\mu-S)_3]^{4+}$ derivatives, $[Mo_3OS_3(SnCl_3)(dtp)_3py_3]$, (PPN) $[Mo_3OS_3(SnCl_3)(\mu-OAc)(dtp)_3py]$, and $(Et_4N)[Mo_3OS_3(SnCl_3)(\mu-OAc)_2(dtp)_2py]$ have been prepared and characterized by IR, UV-vis, ³¹P and ⁹⁵Mo NMR and X-ray structure analysis. The addition of $SnCl_3^-$ shortens the Mo—Mo bonds by 0.03–0.04 Å. Reactions of $[Mo_3QS_3(dtp)_4(H_2O)]$ with $SnCl_3^-$ (Q = O, S; X = Cl, Br, I) and py yield $[Mo_3QS_3(SnX_3)(dtp)_3py_3]$.^{368–370}

Extremely air-sensitive, blue–green $[Mo_6PbS_8(H_2O)_{18}]^{8+}$ is obtained when Pb shot is allowed to react with $[Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ in 2 M Hpts or 2 M HClO₄.^{371,372} Similarly, $[Mo_3Se_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ gives dark-green $[Mo_6PbSe_8(H_2O)_{18}]^{8+}$, and $[W_3Se_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ the wine-red $[W_6PbSe_8(H_2O)_{18}]^{8+}$.¹¹¹ However, no reaction is observed with $[W_3S_4 (H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ under similar conditions. The oxidants O₂, $[Fe(H_2O)_6]^{3+}$, and $[Co^{III}(dipic)_2]^-$ oxidize the double cubes rapidly with the formation of Pb²⁺ and trinuclear cluster.

No single-cube derivatives $[M_3PbS_4(H_2O)_{12}]^{6+}$ have been prepared.¹¹¹ However, in non-aqueous media Pb^{II} (as PbI₃⁻) adds to the Mo₃S₄⁴⁺ core in the presence of dtp. The single-cube product $[Mo_3(PbI_3)S_4(dtp)_3(py)_3]$ has been confirmed by crystal structure determination.³⁷³ Syntheses and structures of $[Mo_3(PbI_3)S_4(dtp)_3(C_3H_4N_2)_3]$, $[W_3(PbI_3) S_4(dtp)_3(py)_3]$, $[Mo_3(PbI_3)OS_3(dtp)_3(py)_3]$ and $\{[Mo_3(PbI_3)OS_3(OAc)_2(dtp)_2 (py)_3](\mu-O)_2\}$ have also been reported.³⁷¹

4.12.6.5.10 Group 15 (As, Sb, Bi)

The isolation of the corner-shared double cube $[Mo_6AsS_8(H_2O)_{18}]^{8+}$ is of considerable interest because of the largely non-metallic properties of arsenic. Although gray arsenic does not react with $[M_3Q_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ (M=Mo, W; Q=S, Se) blue–green $[Mo_6AsS_8(H_2O)_{18}]^{8+}$, green $[Mo_6AsSe_8(H_2O)_{18}]^{8+}$ and red $[W_6AsSe_8(H_2O)_{18}]^{8+}$ (yields approaching 100%) are obtained by reduction of NaAsO₂ and $[M_3Q_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ (M=Mo, W; Q=S, Se) with H₃PO₂.^{111,303} Crystal structures give $[Mo_6AsS_8(H_2O)_{18}](pts)_8 \cdot 28H_2O$ (Mo–Mo, 2.72 Å; As–S, 2.46 Å).³⁰³ and $[Mo_6AsSe_8(H_2O)_{18}](pts)_8 \cdot 8H_2O$ (Mo–Mo, 2.76 Å; As–Se, 2.61 Å).¹¹¹ Mo–As separation of 3.55 Å indicates the absence of Mo–As bonds. Oxidants O₂, $[Fe(H_2O)_6]^{3+}$ and $[Co(dipic)_2]^{-}$ react with the double cubes with formation of As^{III} and trinuclear $[M_3Q_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$. No singlecube products are observed as intermediates.^{111,303} The redox chemistry is adequately described by the Mo₃S₄⁴⁺As⁰Mo₃S₄⁴⁺ formalism.

by the $Mo_3S_4^{4+}As^0Mo_3S_4^{4+}$ formalism. Green $[Mo_6SbS_8(H_2O)_{18}]^{8+}$ and dark-green $[Mo_6SbSe_8(H_2O)_{18}]^{8+}$ are obtained in 40% yields when Sb powder is allowed to react with $[Mo_3Q_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ for 7 days.^{111,374} A crystal structure of $[Mo_6SbS_8(H_2O)_{18}](pts)_8 \cdot 24H_2O \text{ (Mo-Mo, } 2.72 \text{ Å; } Mo-Sb, 3.68 \text{ Å}) \text{ shows an absence of direct } Mo-Sb \text{ bonding. The }^{121}Sb \text{ Mössbauer spectrum of this compound } (\delta = -2.64 \text{ mm s}^{-1}, e^2qQ = 18.1 \text{ mm s}^{-1}, \eta = 0.29), \text{ together with the XPS data, were interpreted in terms of an } Sb^{3+} \text{ component.}^{375} \text{ Much of the redox chemistry is, however, better described using the } Mo_3S_4^{4+}Sb^{\circ}Mo_3S_4^{4+} \text{ approximation, with } Mo_3S_4^{4+}Sb^{1II} \text{ applying in the case of the single cube. } Green-blue [W_6SbSe_8(H_2O)_{18}]^{8+} \text{ is best obtained from } SbCl_3, H_3PO_2 \text{ and } [W_3Se_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}. \\ Again, O_2, [Fe(H_2O)_6]^{3+}, \text{ and } [Co(dipic)_2]^{-} \text{ oxidize the double cubes to } Sb^{1II} \text{ and } [M_3Q_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}. \\ No single-cube intermediates were observed in these interconversions.}^{111,374}$

Solutions of $[W_3Se_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ react with SbCl₃ to give a yellow-brown adduct believed to be the single-cube $[W_3(SbCl_3)Se_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$. The same product is observed with Sb shot, prior to formation of the green-blue double cube.¹¹¹ Also, in organic solvents, addition of Sb^{III} (as SbX₃, X = Cl, Br, I) to the dtp complexes of $[M_3S_4 (H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ (M = Mo, W) is observed. Reported products are $[Mo_3(SbCl_3)S_4(dtp)_4L]$ (L = EtOH, oxazole),³⁷⁴ $[Mo_3(SbX_3)OS_3(OAc)(dtp)_3(py)]$ (X = Cl, Br, I), $[Mo_3(SbI_3)OS_3(OOCCH_2Cl)(dtp)_3(py)]$, $[Mo_3(SbBr_3)OS_3(OAc)_2(dtp)_2(py)]$, $[W_3(SbI_3)S_4(OAc) (dtp)_3(DMF)]$, and $[Mo_3(SbI_3)S_4(pyrrdtc)_4(py)]$.³⁶⁹ The SbCl₃ unit is readily replaced by SnCl₃⁻. In some cases, self-assembly of the cubes is possible. Thus, on mixing P₄S₁₀, $MoCl_3 \cdot 3H_2O$, H₂S and SbCl₃ in ethanol, and treatment with acetic acid and pyridine, $[Mo_3(SbCl_3)OS_3(OAc)(dtp)_3(py)]$ is obtained, yield 10%.³⁷⁰

Rapid reaction of $[M_{03}S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ with Bi^{III} in the presence of NaBH₄⁻, or with Bi metal shot (3–4 days at room temperature) gives turquoise–blue $[M_{06}BiS_8(H_2O)_{18}]^{8+}$.³⁷⁶ Reduction of Bi^{III} citrate with H₃PO₂ in the presence of $[M_3Se_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ affords green $[M_{06}BiS_8(H_2O)_{18}]^{8+}$ (λ (nm) (ε (M⁻¹ cm⁻¹)) at 447(12,830), 736(7,120), 800sh(7,000) in 2 M Hpts), and green–blue $[W_6BiSe_8(H_2O)_{18}]^{8+}$ (λ (nm)-(ε (M⁻¹ cm⁻¹)) at 360(16,160), 581(8,244), 706(5,407) in 2 M Hpts).¹¹¹ Oxidants such as O₂, $[Fe(H_2O)_6]^{3+}$, and $[Co(dipic)_2]^-$ oxidize the double cube with the formation of Bi^{III} and the corresponding $[M_3Q_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$. No single-cube intermediate has been observed.^{111,376}

Dtp complexes of M_3S_4 (M = Mo, W) have been shown to form single cubes with BiI₃. Two crystal structures [M₃(BiI₃)S₄(OAc)(dtp)₃L] (M = Mo, L = py; M = W, L = H₂O) have been determined. The W/S cube was obtained in a 8% yield by reaction of BiI₃ with [W₃S₄(dtp)₄H₂O], followed by addition of acetic acid.³⁶⁹ The bridged cube [{Mo₃(BiI₃)-OS₃(μ -OAc)₂(dtp)₂(py)}₂(μ -O)], was obtained from BiI₃ and {[Mo₃OS₃(OAc)₂ (dtp)₂(py)] in the presence of some water.³⁷⁷

4.12.6.5.11 Postscript

All corner-shared double cubes $[Mo_6M'S_8(H_2O)_{18}]^{8+}$ (>10 characterized by crystallography) have an 8+ charge. Similarly, the W₆ corner-shared double cubes are 8+, and the one crystal structure on $[W_6GeS_8(H_2O)_{18}]^{8+}$ shows similar features to the Mo₆ clusters with virtually identical bond lengths. In the case of single as well as corner-shared double cubes, heteroatom derivatives of $[W_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ are less common, and to date only eight derivatives (Mo, Rh, Ni, Pt, Cu, In, Ge, Sn) have been identified, with no reaction in other cases (Fe, Co, Pd, Pb, Sb, Bi, Hg). All sixteen $[Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$ derivatives and others also have been prepared.

(Table 5) summarizes Mo—Mo and Mo—M' bond lengths. For those cases in which the Mo—M' separation is >3.0 Å a non-bonding situation applies. Behavioral aspects can be summarized in terms of at least three categories: those involving early transition metals (Group 6), late transition metals, and post-transition elements. Understandably metal–metal bonding is more likely for transition metals M' with outer-electron configuration of d^{10} or less. The non-bonding situations apply for post-transition elements when M' has $>d^{10}$ outer electrons, general formula Mo₃S₄⁴⁺M'ⁿ⁺ (n=0–3) and Mo₃S₄⁴⁺M'Mo₃S₄⁴⁺.

The double-cube $[Mo_7S_8(H_2O)_8]^{8+}$ is at present the only corner-shared example with M' a transition metal. In this structure each cube has three short (2.77 Å) and three long (3.05 Å) Mo–Mo distances, the latter involving the nodal Mo. Here, a structure approximating to $Mo_3S_4^{4+}Mo'^0Mo_3S_4^{4+}$, with adjacent Mo's assigned as Mo^{IV} and Mo is less satisfactory.

4.12.6.6 Octahedral Clusters M₆Q₈

These clusters are found in Chevrel phases, i.e., solids containing Mo_6Q_8 (Q = S, Se, Te) and ternary phases M'Mo₆Q₈.³⁷⁸ No solid-state (non-molecular) tungsten analogs have been

Core	Mo—Mo (Å)	<i>Mo</i> — <i>M</i> ′ (Å)
Corner-shared double cubes $[Mo_{\epsilon}M'S_{8}(H_{2}O)]_{18}l^{8+}$		
$Mo_6HgS_8^{8+}$	2.713	3.830
$Mo_6InS_6O_2^{8+}$	2.627	3.583
$Mo_6 GeS_8^{8+}$	2.689	3.556
$Mo_6SnS_8^{8+}$	2.688	3.713
$Mo_6AsS_8^{8+}$	2.716	3.554
Mo ₆ SbS ₈ ⁸⁺	2.717	3.680
Edge-linked double cubes $[\{Mo_3M'S_4(H_2O)_9\}_2]^{8+}$		
${Mo_3CoS_4}_2^{8+}$	2.744	2.643
${Mo_3PdS_4}_2^{8+}$	2.773	2.799
${Mo_3CuS_4}_2^{8+}$	2.730	2.887
Single cubes		
$Mo_3FeS_4^{4+}$	2.793	2.683
$Mo_3NiS_4^{4+}$	2.744	2.678
$Mo_3PdS_4^{4+a}$	2.819	2.793
$Mo_3GaS_4^{5+}$	2.713	3.520
$Mo_3InS_4^{5+}$	2.682	3.720
$Mo_3SnS_4^{6+b}$	2.730	3.732
Mo ₃ PbS ₄ ^{6+c}	2.747	4.207
$Mo_3BiS_4^{7+c}$	2.732	4.132
Others		
$Mo_7S_8^{8+d}$	2.770	3.046
$Mo_{3}S_{4}^{4+}$	2.732	
$Mo_4S_4^{5+}$	2.802	
$Mo_4S_4^{4+}$	2.797	

Table 5Summary of metal-metal distances from X-ray crystallography for aqua ions of double and single
cube heteroatom (M') derivatives of $[Mo_3S_4(H_2O)_9]^{4+}$, and related structures.

^a tacn ligands. ^b NCS⁻ and Cl⁻ ligands. ^c dtp ligands. ^d Mo is at nodal postion of double cube.

clearly identified. The compounds have structures in which the Mo_6Q_8 clusters are tightly crosslinked by Mo–Q bonds into three-dimensional networks. In the 1970s and 1980s they attracted interest because they exhibit diverse physical and chemical properties, such as high-critical-field (H_{c2}) superconductivity,³⁷⁹ magnetic ordering,³⁸⁰ fast ion conductivity,³⁸¹ and catalytic activity for hydrodesulfurization.³⁸²

The literature dealing with this subject is enormous, and the reader should consult the references cited rather than any attempt be made to cover the subject in this review. Given the interesting properties of Chevrel phases, a considerable effort has recently been made to prepare molecular complexes with M_6Q_8 cluster cores. These serve both as molecular models and (in the case of tungsten) molecular precursors of solid-state materials.

4.12.6.6.1 Mo Clusters

Reductive coupling of $[Mo_3Q_4Cl_4(PEt_3)_x]$ (x = 3, 4; Q = S, Se) with Mg as the reductant gave the first molecular clusters Mo_6Q_8 as air-stable $[Mo_6S_8(PEt_3)_6]$ (red-violet, 32%) and $[Mo_6Se_8(PEt_3)_6]$ (blue, 21%). These 20e clusters possess a regular octahedral core with Mo—Mo distances 2.662–2.664Å in the case of S and 2.697–2.708Å in the case of Se.³⁸³ A transformation of $Mo_6Cl_8^{4+}$ into Mo_6S_8 is also achieved by treatment of Mo_6Cl_{12} with NaSH, NaO^tBu and pyridine. A product of composition $Na_{0.8}Mo_6S_{8.4}(py)_2$ was isolated and converted upon prolonged extraction with py into dark-brown $Mo_6S_8(py)_6\cdot 2py$ (Mo—Mo, 2.644Å). The same product, when treated with PrNH₂ gives amorphous $[Mo_6S_8(PrNH_2)_{6-x}]$, which can be converted into $[Mo_6S_8(pyr)_6]$ pyrr (Mo—Mo, 2.648Å) or $[Mo_6S_8(pip)_6]\cdot7pip$ (Mo—Mo, 2.649Å) upon treatment with pyrrolidine and piperidine, respectively.³⁸⁵

The above-mentioned PEt₃ complexes in THF solution exhibit a single oxidation and two reduction steps. The one-electron reduced 21e clusters obtained by Na/Hg reduction have been isolated as (PPN)[Mo₆Q₈(PEt₃)₆] (Q=S, orange; Q=Se, red), and their structures determined.

The metal octahedron of the 21e clusters is distorted to a measurable degree, and the Mo–Mo distances are slightly longer than in the neutral clusters.³⁸⁴ Reaction of $[Mo_6S_8(PEt_3)_6]$ with NOBF₄ in CH₂Cl₂ gives green $[Mo_6S_8(NO)(PEt_3)_5]$ (21%) and brown $[Mo_{12}S_{16}(PEt_3)_{10}]$ (15%) as products. The former has a distorted octahedral metal core: the Mo–Mo bonds involving the unique Mo atom bound to NO (Mo–N, 1.795Å; Mo–N–O 175.3°) are much longer than between the rest of Mo atoms (2.63Å). A detailed MO treatment of the bonding within the nitrosyl cluster is given.³⁸⁶ The second, dodecanuclear cluster has two octahedral Mo₆S₈ cores connected to each other by two Mo– μ_4 –S bonds, which is a similar connection to that mode found in solid-state Chevrel phases.³⁸⁶ This cluster can also be obtained from $[Mo_6S_8(PEt_3)_6]$ by PEt₃ abstraction (as SPEt₃) with 1 eq. of sulfur.³⁸⁷ The Se analog $[Mo_{12}Se_{16}(PEt_3)_{10}]$ is made by a similar procedure from $[Mo_6S_8(PEt_3)_6]$ and S₈.³⁸⁷

The Chevrel phase Mo₆Se₈ reacts with KCN (650 °C) to give three products: the water-soluble blue 21e cluster K₇[Mo₆Se₈(CN)₆] (Figure 57), which is oxidized in air into brown 20e [Mo₆Se₈(CN)₆]⁶⁻, and as main product (up to 85%) black insoluble K₆[Mo₆Se₈(CN)₅]. An X-ray study of the latter shows that the Mo atoms in the basal plane of each Mo₆Se₈ cluster are bound to four terminal CN– ligands, with the clusters linked by CN groups into linear chains, {Mo₆Se₈(μ -CN)⁶⁻}_x This 21e cluster gives an EPR spectrum (T = 10 K) characteristic of axial system, $g_{av} = 2.2891$. The Curie–Weiss law is obeyed over the 1.8–400 K range, with $\mu_{eff} = 1.99$ B.M.. The same products are also obtained by heating KCN with (KMo₃Se₃ + MoSe₂), (KMo₃Se₃ + Se) or (Mo + MoSe₂) mixtures.^{389,390}

Octahedral cluster groups M_6Q_8 with mixed chalcogen-halogen core are found in 23e (Et₄N)₃ [(Mo₆Se₂Cl₆)Cl₆], 24e (Ph₄P)₂(H₃O)₂((Mo₆Se₂Cl₆)Cl₆]³⁹¹ and 24e (Et₄N)₃ [(Mo₆TeCl₇)Cl₆].³⁹²

4.12.6.6.2 W Clusters

Reaction of polymeric W_6Cl_{12} with NaSH and NaOⁿBu in py is complex, and gives dark-red $[W_6S_8(py)_6]$ only if molar ratio W:S is at least 1:12. This diamagnetic product is very insoluble in common solvents, and single crystals were grown only by heating in py at 200 °C for 5 days. At lower W:S ratios (1:8), and longer reaction times, red insoluble 22e $[W_6S_6Cl_2(py)_6]$ was the product, while for 1:6–1:8 ratio (and shorter reaction times in the latter case) red soluble 24e $[(W_6Cl_6S_2)Cl_2(py)_6]$ ·5py is obtained.³⁹³ A more soluble cluster is obtained when 4-tert-butyl-pyridine ('Bupy) is substituted for py in a procedure using W_6Cl_{12} , KSH, KOⁿBu and the ligand in DMF.³⁹⁴ Even better yields of this orange cluster are obtained from $(Bu_4N)_2[W_6Cl_{14}]$ instead of polymeric W_6Cl_{12} . The 'Bupy can then be quantitatively exchanged with pip or PEt₃, to give $[W_6S_8(pip)_6]$ (isostructural with the corresponding Mo cluster), or $[W_6S_8(PEt_3)_6].^{395}$ This PEt₃ complex was the first W_6Q_8 cluster to be made and was prepared by a reductive dimerization reaction of trinuclear $W_3S_4Cl_4(PEt_3)_n]$ (n = 3-4) using Mg in THF.³⁹⁶

The cluster $[W_6S_8L_6]$ (L = PEt₃, $E_{1/2} = 0.11$ V; L = ^tBupy, $E_{1/2} = 0.13$ V vs. Ag/AgCl) is oxidized by FcPF₆ into green paramagnetic 19e $[W_6S_8L_6]PF_6$. The products have S = 1/2 ground state with $\mu_{eff} = 1.71$ MB for L = PEt₃ and 1.60 MB for L = ^tBupy. For L = PEt₃, the W–W distance (2.681 Å) is only marginally longer than in the neutral cluster (2.679 Å).³⁹⁵ The ^tBupy ligand can be replaced by cyanide by heating with KCN or NaCN in dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO), and X-ray structures of Na₆[W₆S₈(CN)₆]·18DMSO and K₆[W₆S₈(CN)₆]·10H₂O have been carried out.³⁹⁷ When [W₆S₈(^tBupy)₆] reacts with the more sterically hindered PCy₃, the substitution stops with only four PCy₃ molecules entering the cluster, and *cis*-[W₆S₈(PCy₃)₄(^tBupy)₂] is the



Figure 57 Structure of the $[Mo_6Se_8(CN)_6]^{7-}$ anion.

only product isolated from this reaction. In order to access the fully substituted $[W_6S_8(PCy_3)_6]$, more weakly bound *n*-BuNH₂ must be used as the ligand to be substituted. Prolonged heating of *cis*- $[W_6S_8(PCy_3)_4({}^{t}Bupy)_2]$ in benzene solution at 100 °C gives the following mixture of ligand redistribution products: *fac*- $[W_6S_8(PCy_3)_3 ({}^{t}Bupy)_3]$ (5.3%), *mer*- $[W_6S_8(PCy_3)_3 ({}^{t}Bupy)_3]$ (5.7%), *trans*- $[W_6S_8(PCy_3)_4 ({}^{t}Bupy)_2]$ (4.4%), *cis*- $[W_6S_8(PCy_3)_4({}^{t}Bupy)_2]$ (73.6%), $[W_6S_8(PCy_3)_5({}^{t}Bupy)]$ (11%).³⁹⁸

From substitution studies with various N, P and C donors it has been shown that the binding free energies increase in the following series: $PhNH_2$, $t-Bu_3P \ll Et_2NH$, $Bu_2NH < {}^{t}BuNH_2 < morph$, $pip \le n-BuNH_2$, $MeNH_2 \le {}^{t}Bupy$, $py < {}^{t}BuNC < PCy_3 < PPh_3$, $P^{n}Bu_3 \le PEt_3$. Crystal structures were determined for all the W₆S₈L₆ members of this series, with the exception of L = PhNH_2, Et_2NH, Bu_2NH and {}^{t}Bu_3P.

Red [W₆Se₈L₆] clusters (L = pip, 74%, L = py, 56%) are accessed by the standard route from W₆Cl₁₂, Na₂Se and L both as ligand and solvent (reflux 3–4 days).⁴⁰⁰ By contrast, reaction of W₆Cl₁₂ with Na₂Se and PEt₃ (W:Se ratio 1:8) in toluene gives only the red—brown 20e mixed Se/Cl cluster [W₆Se₇Cl(PEt₃)₆]Cl(CHCl₃)₆]. In the core, the Cl and Se are randomly distributed over all the eight positions (W—W, 2.699 Å). The chloride is bound through hydrogen bonds to six CHCl₃ molecules (H···Cl 2.41 Å; Cl···C 3.33 Å). Using the Se reagent K₂Se (W:Se 1:10), crystals of [W₆Se₆.4Cl_{1.6}(PEt₃)₆]Cl(CHCl₃)₆] are obtained. The cationic part was shown to be a mixture of diamagnetic 20e [W₆Se₇Cl(PEt₃)₆]⁺ and paramagnetic 21e [W₆Se₆Cl₂ (PEt₃)₆]⁺ in a ratio 40:60.⁴⁰¹

The W₆Te₈ core has been obtained using Na₂Te in the reaction with W₆Cl₁₂ (3d, reflux in pip or py), and in the case of py, gives the 21e reduced cluster, characterized as $[Na(py)_6][W_6Te_8-(py)_6]\cdot py$ (W–W 2.718–2.746Å), and in the case of pip, the 20e cluster darkblue $[W_6Te_8(pip)_6]\cdot 6pip$ (W–W 2.742Å). The latter can be transformed into $[W_6Te_8(py)_6]$ by treatment with py (black powder), and the py complex, by treatment with PEt₃, into dark-purple $[W_6Te_8(PEt_3)_6]$ (W–W, 2.770Å).^{402,403}

4.12.6.6.3 Hexanuclear raft-type clusters with $Mo_6Q_8^{6+}$ cores

Reaction of $[Mo_3Q_4Cl_4L_5]$ (Q = S, Se; L = PEt₃ and/or THF) with Mg in THF at $-20 \degree C$ gives brown $[Mo_6Q_8Cl_6(PEt_3)_6]$ (Q = S, 26%; Q = Se, 11%) (Figure 58). In this structure four Mo₃ triangles are aligned linearly by a process involving edge-sharing. There are 7 Mo–Mo single bonds (14e), and the structure may be viewed as formed by two reduced Mo₃Q₄³⁺ triangular clusters united via a Mo–Mo bond (Q = S, 2.996 Å; Q = Se, 3.062 Å).⁴⁰⁴

A similar structure holds for $[Mo_6S_{10}(SH)_2(PEt_3)_6]$, obtained in a 11% yield from $(NH_4)_2[Mo_3S_{13}]$ and PEt₃ in THF. Here, each of four linearly aligned Mo₃ units is capped by a μ_3 -S, while each peripheral Mo—Mo edge is bridged by a μ -S. The Mo—Mo bonding is again localized in two triangles (6 bonds, 12e) bound through a single bond (2.948 Å) (2e).⁴⁰⁵



Figure 58 Structure of the [Mo₆Se₈Cl₆(PEt₃)₆] molecule.

4.12.7 REFERENCES

- 1. Chisholm, M. H., Ed., Early transition metal clusters with π -donor ligands, **1995**, VCH Publishers: New York.
- 2. Shibahara, T. Adv. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 37, 143-173.
- 3. Shibahara, T. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1993, 123, 73-147.
- 4. Saito, T. Adv. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 44, 45-91.
- 5. Stiefel, E. I.; Matsumoto, K., Ed., Transition metal sulfur chemistry. ACS Symp. Ser. 653, 1996.
- 6. Hernández-Molina, R.; Sykes, A. G. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton Trans. (Perspective) 1999, 3137-3148.
- 7. Hernández-Molina, R.; Sokolov, M. N.; Sykes, A. G. Acc. Chem. Res. 2001, 34, 223-230.
- 8. Simonnet-Jégat, C.; Secheresse, F. Chem. Rev. 2001, 101, 2601-2611.
- 9. Hidai, M.; Kuwata, S.; Mizobe, Y. Acc. Chem. Res. 2000, 33, 46-52.
- 10. Saito, T. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton Trans. 1999, 97-105.
- 11. Holm, R. H. Adv. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 38, 1-71.
- 12. Dance, I.; Fisher, K. Prog. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 41, 637-803.
- 13. Gabriel, J.-C. P.; Boubekeur, K.; Uriel, S.; Batail, P. Chem. Rev. 2001, 101, 2037–2066.
- 14. Kornienka, A.; Melman, J. H.; Hall, G.; Emge, T. J.; Brennan, J. G. Inorg. Chem. 2002, 41, 121-126.
- Müller, U.; Krug, V. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1988, 27, 793–794.
 Krug, V.; Koellner, G.; Müller, U.Z. Natrurforsch. 1988, 43b, 1501–1509.
- 17. Coucouvanis, D.; Hadjikyriacou, A.; Lester, R.; Kanatzidis, M. G. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 3645-3655.
- 18. Coucouvanis, D.; Hadjikyriacou, A.; Kanatzidis, M. G. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Comm. 1985, 1224-1225.
- Coucouvanis, D.; Lester, R. K.; Kanatzidis, M. G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1985, 107, 8279–8280.
 Bottomley, F.; Day, R. W. Can. J. Chem. 1992, 70, 1250–1259.
- 21. Darkwa, J.; Lockemeyer, J. L.; Boyd, P. D. W.; Rauchfuss, T. B.; Rheingold, A. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1988, 110, 141-149
- 22. Cotton, F. A.; Feng, X.; Kibala, P. A.; Sandor, R. B. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc, 1989, 111, , 2148-2151.
- 23. Zank, G. A.; Jones, C. A.; Rauchfuss, T. B.; Rheingold, A. L. Inorg. Chem. 1986, 25, 1886-1891.
- 24. Bottomley, F.; Day, R. W. Organometallics 1996, 15, 809-813.
- 25. Maue, P.; Fenske, D. Z. Naturforsch. 1988, 43b, 1213-1218.
- 26. Bottomley, F.; Day, R. W. Organometallics 1991, 10, 2560-2563.
- 27. Firth, A. V.; Stephan, D. W. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 1260-1262.
- 28. Firth, A. V.; Stephan, D. W. Organometallics 1997, 16, 2183-2188.
- 29. Bottomley, F.; Egharevba, G. O.; White, P. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1985, 107, 4353-4354.
- 30. Fenske, D.; Grissinger, A. Z. Naturforsch. 1990, 43b, 1309-1313.
- 31. Heshmatpour, E.; Wocadlo, S.; Dehnicke, K.; Bottomley, F.; Dery, R. W. Z. Naturforsch. 1994, 49b, 827-830.
- 32. Gindelberger, D. E. Acta Crystallogr. 1996, C52, 2493-2496.
- 33. Fenske, D.; Grissinger, A.; Loos, M.; Magull, J. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1991, 598/599, 121-128.
- 34. Huang, F. Q.; Ibers, J. A. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2001, 40, 2515-2516.
- 35. Money, J. K.; Huffman, J. C.; Christou, G. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 27, 507-514.
- 36. Cotton, F. A.; Diebold, M. P.; Llusar, R.; Roth, W. J. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1986, 1276-1278.
- 37. Dean, N. S.; Folting, K.; Lobkovsky, E.; Christou, G. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1993, 32, 594-596.
- 38. Yang, Y.; Liu, Q.; Wu, D. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1993, 208, 85-89.
- 39. Zhu, H.; Liu, Q.; Deng, Y.; Wen, T.; Chen, C.; Wu, D. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1999, 286, 7-13.
- 40. Lin, F.; Beddoes, R. L.; Collison, D.; Garner, C. D.; Mabbs, F. E. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. **1993**, 496–497. 41. Brunner, H.; Gehart, G.; Nuber, B.; Wachter, J.; Ziegler, M. L. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. **1992**, 31, 1021–1023.
- 42. Kawaguchi, H.; Tatsumi, K. Organometallics 1997, 16, 307-309.
- 43. Tatsumi, K.; Inoue, Y.; Kawaguchi, H.; Kohsaka, M.; Nakamura, A.; Cramer, R. E.; Van Coone, W.; Taogoshi, G. J.; Richmann, P. N. Organometallics 1993, 12, 352-364.
- Fenske, D.; Maue, P. G. Z. Naturforsch. 1989, B44, 531–537.
 Brunner, H.; Meier, W.; Wachter, J.; Nuber, B.; Ziegler, M. L. J. Organomet. Chem. 1990, 381, C7–C12.
- 46. Miller, G. J.; Lin, J. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1994, 33, 334-336.
- 47. Khvorykh, G. V.; Shevelkov, A. V.; Dolgikh, A. A.; Popovkin, B. A. J. Solid State Chem. 1995, 120, 311-315.
- 48. Smith, M.; Miller, G. J. J. Solid State Chem. 1998, 140, 226-232.
- 49. Tremel, W. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Comm. 1992, 126-128.
- 50. Zhu, H.; Liu, Q.; Chen, C.; Wu, D. Inorg. Chim. Acta 2000, 306, 131-136.
- 51. Pasynskii, A. A.; Eremenko, I. L.; Katugin, A. S.; Gasanov, G. Sh.; Turchanova, E. A.; Ellert, O. G.; Struchkov, Yu. T.; Shklover, V. E.; Berberova, N. T.; Sogomonova, A. G.; Okhlobystin, O. Yu. J. Organomet. Chem. 1988, 344, 195-213.
- 52. Duraj, S. A.; Andras, M. T.; Rihter, B. Polyhedron 1989, 8, 2763-2767.
- 53. Davies, C. E.; Green, J. C.; Kaltsoyannis, N.; MacDonald, M. A.; Qiu, J.; Rauchfuss, T. B.; Redfern, C. M.; Stringer, G. H.; Woolhouse, M. G. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 3779-3791.
- 54. Bolinger, C. M.; Darkwa, J.; Gammie, G.; Gammon, S. D.; Lyding, J. W.; Rauchfuss, T. B.; Wilson, S. R. Organometallics 1986, 5, 2386-2388.
- 55. Herberhold, M.; Schrepfermann, M.; Darkwa, J. J. Organomet. Chem. 1992, 430, 61-77.
- 56. Eremenko, I. L.; Pasynskii, A. A.; Katugin, A. S.; Ellert, O. G.; Shklover, V. E.; Struchkov, Yu. T. Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR, Ser. Khim. 1984, 1669-1670.
- 57. Fedorov, V. E.; Evstafiev, V. K.; Kirik, S. D.; Mischenko, A. V. Zh. Neorg. Khim. 1981, 26, 2701-2707.
- 58. Yaich, H. B.; Jegaden, J. C.; Potel, M.; Sergent, M.; Rastogi, A. K.; Tournier, R. J. Less-Common Met. 1984, 102, 9 - 17.
- 59. Fedin, V. P.; Kalinina, I. V.; Virovets, A. V.; Podberezskaya, N. V.; Neretin, I. S.; Slovokhotov, Y. L. Chem. Commun. 1998, 2579-2580.
- 60. Fedin, V. P.; Kalinina, I. V.; Virovets, A. V.; Fenske, D. Russian Chem. Bull. 2000, 930-935.
- 61. Seela, J. L.; Huffman, J. C.; Christou, G. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1987, 1258-1259.
- 62. Babaian-Kibala, E.; Cotton, F. A.; Kibala, P. A. Polyhedron 1990, 9, 1689-1694.
- 63. Babaian-Kibala, E.; Cotton, F. A. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1991, 182, 77-82.

- 64. Benton, A. J.; Drew, M. G. B.; Rice, D. A. Chem. Commun. 1981, 1241-1242.
- 65. Money, J. K.; Huffmann, J. C.; Christou, G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 2210-2211.
- 66. Meyer, H.-J.; Corbett, J. D. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 963-967.
- 67. Womelsdorf, H.; Meyer, H.-J. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed., Engl. 1994, 33, 1943-1944.
- 68. York, K. A.; Folting, K.; Christou, G. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1993, 1563-1264.
- 69. Arif, A. M.; Hefner, J. G.; Jones, R. A.; Albright, T. A.; Kang, S.-K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108, 1701–1703.
- 70. Shie, M.; Ho, L.-F.; Jang, L.-F.; Ueng, C.-H.; Peng, S.-M.; Liu, Y.-H. Chem. Commun. 2001, 1014–1015.
- Flower, W. A.; O'Neal, S. C.; Pennington, W. T.; Jefer, D.; Cordes, A. W.; Kolis, J. W. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1988, 27, 1703–1704.
- 72. Pasynskii, A. A.; Eremenko, I. L.; Kalinnikov, V. T. Izv. AN SSSR., Ser. Khim. 1976, 2843-2844.
- Pasynskii, A. A.; Eremenko, I. L.; Rakitin, Yu. V.; Novotortsev, V. M.; Ellert, O. G.; Kalinnikov, V. T.; Shklover, V. E.; Struchkov, Yu. T.; Lindeman, S. V.; Kurbanov, T. Kh.; Gasanov, G. Sh. J. Organomet. Chem. 1983, 248, 309–320.
- Goh, L. Y.; Hambley, T. W.; Robertson, G. B. Organometallics 1987, 6, 1051–1057.
 Eremenko, I. L.; Pasynskii, A. A.; Katugin, A. S.; Orazsakhatov, B.; Shklover, V. E.; Struchkov, Yu. T. Metalloorg.
- Khim. (Organometallic Chem. in USSR) 1988, 1, 166–178.
- 76. Chen, W.; Goh, L. Y.; Sinn, E. Organometallics 1988, 7, 2020-2026.
- 77. Baird, P.; Bandy, J. A.; Green, M. L. H.; Hamnett, A.; Marseglia, E.; Obertelli, D. S.; Prout, K.; Qin, J. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1991, 2377–2393.
- Slovokhotov, Yu. L.; Antipin, M. Yu.; Gerr, R. G.; Yanovskii, A. I.; Struchkov, Yu. T. Dokl. AN SSSR. 1985, 285, 1413–1418.
- 79. Goh, L. Y.; Tay, M. S.; Mak, T. C. W.; Wang, R.-G. Organometallics 1992, 11, 1712–1717.
- Eremenko, I. L.; Nefedov, S. E.; Pasynskii, A. A.; Orazsakhatov, B.; Ellert, O. G.; Struchkov, Yu. T.; Yanovsky, A. I.; Zagorevsky, D. V. J. Organomet. Chem. 1989, 368, 185–192.
- 81. Goh, L. Y.; Chen, W. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans., 1994, 2697-2704.
- Eremenko, I. L.; Nefedov, S. E.; Veghini, D. A.; Rosenberger, S.; Berke, H.; Ol'shnitskaya, I. A.; Novotortsev, V. M. Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR, Ser. Khim. 1997, 141–151.
- Pasynskii, A. A.; Eremenko, I. L.; Katugin, A. S.; Nefedov, S. E.; Gasanov, G. Sh.; Orazsakhatov, B.; Ellert, O. G.; Shklover, V. E.; Struchkov, Yu. T. Metalloorg. Khim. (Organometallic Chem. in USSR) 1988, 1, 172–178.
- 84. Pasynskii, A. A.; Eremenko, I. L. Zurnal Vsesojuznogo Khimicheskogo Obschestva imeni Mendeleeva 1987, 32, 88–95. 85. Goh, L. Y.; Weng, Z.; Weng, K. L.; Pak, H. L. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2001, 40, 3236–3239.
- Eremenko, I. L.; Pasynskii, A. A.; Orazsakhatov, B.; Ellert, O. G.; Novotortsev, V. M.; Kalinnikov, V. T.; Porai-Koshits, M. A.; Antsyshkina, A. S.; Dikareva, L. M.; Ostrikova, V. N.; Struchkov, Yu. T.; Gerr, R. G. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1983, 73, 225–235.
- Nefedov, S. E.; Pasynskii, A. A.; Eremenko, I. L.; Stomakhina, E. E.; Yanovsky, A. I.; Struchkov, Yu. T. J. Organomet. Chem. 1991, 405, 287–297.
- Pasynskii, A. A.; Eremenko, I. L.; Orazsakhatov, B.; Kalinnikov, V. T.; Aleksandrov, G. G.; Struchkov, Yu. T. J. Organomet. Chem. 1981, 214, 367–372.
- Eremenko, I. L.; Pasynskii, A. A.; Gasanov, G. Sh.; Orazsakhatov, B.; Struchkov, Yu. T.; Shklover, V. E. J. Organomet. Chem. 1984, 275, 71–81.
- 90. Bino, A.; Johnson, D. C.; Goshorn, D. P.; Halbert, T. R.; Stiefel, E. I. Science 1988, 241, 1479-1481.
- Pasynskii, A. A.; Eremenko, I. L.; Orazsakhatov, B.; Gasanov, G. Sh.; Shklover, V. E.; Struchkov, Yu. T. J. Organomet. Chem. 1984, 269, 147–153.
- 92. Hessen, B.; Siegrist, T.; Palstra, T.; Tanzler, S. M.; Steigerwald, M. L. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 5165-5169.
- 93. Kamiguchi, S.; Imoto, H.; Saito, T.; Chihara, T. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 6852-6857.
- 94. Kamiguchi, S.; Saito, T.; Honda, Z. J. Organomet. Chem. 2000, 609, 184-188.
- 95. Kamiguchi, S.; Imoto, H.; Saito, T.; Chihara, T. Solid State Science 1999, 1, 497-508.
- 96. Simon, G. L.; Dahl, L. F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1973, 95, 2164-2174.
- 97. Cotton, F. A.; Dori, Z.; Llusar, R.; Schwotzer, W. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 1985, 107, 6734-6735.
- 98. Kathirgamanathan, P.; Martinez, M.; Sykes, A. G. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1985, 953-954.
- 99. Shibahara, T.; Kuroya, H. Polyhedron 1986, 5, 357-361.
- 100. Akashi, H.; Shibahara, T.; Kuroya, H. Polyhedron, 1990, 9, 1671-1676.
- 101. Sokolov, M. N.; Gerasko, O. A.; Fedorov, V. E. Zh. Neorg. Khim. 1998, 43, 407-412.
- 102. Shibahara, T.; Yamasaki, M.; Sakane, G.; Minami, K.; Yabuki, T.; Ichimura, A. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 640-647.
- 103. Sokolov, M. N.; Coichev, N.; Moya, H. D.; Hernández-Molina, R.; Borman, C. D.; Sykes, A. G. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1997, 1863–1870.
- 104. Martinez, M.; Ooi, B.-L.; Sykes, A. G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 4615-4619.
- 105. Shibahara, T.; Hattori, H.; Kuroya, H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1984, 106, 2710-2711.
- 106. Liu, Q.-T.; Lu, J.; Sykes, A. G. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1992, 200, 623-626.
- 107. Shibahara, T.; Sakane, G.; Mochida, S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 10408-10421.
- Nasreldin, M.; Henkel, G.; Kampmann, G.; Krebs, B.; Lamprecht, G. J.; Routledge, C. A.; Sykes, A. G. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1993, 737–746.
- 109. Lamprecht, G. J.; Martinez, M.; Nasreldin, M.; Routledge, C. A.; Al-Shatti, N.; Sykes, A. G. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1993, 747–754.
- 110. Saysell, D. M.; Fedin, V. P.; Lamprecht, G. J.; Sokolov, M. N.; Sykes, A. G. Inorg. Chem., 1997, 36, 2982–2987.
- 111. Hernández-Molina, R.; Elsegood, M. R. J.; Clegg, W.; Sykes, A. G. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton Trans. 2001, 2173-2178.
- 112. Li, Y.-J.; Routledge, C.; Sykes, A. G. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 5043-5046.
- 113. Dori, Z.; Cotton, F. A.; Llusar, R.; Schwotzer, W. Polyhedron 1986, 5, 907-909.
- 114. Fedin, V. P.; Sokolov, M. N.; Gerasko, O. A.; Kolesov, B. A.; Fedorov, V. Y.; Mironov, A. V.; Yufit, D. S.; Slovokhotov, Y. L.; Struchkov, Y. T. *Inorg. Chim. Acta* 1990, 175, 217–229.
- 115. Fedin, V. P.; Sokolov, M. N.; Virovets, A. V.; Podberezskaya, N. V.; Fedorov, V. Y. Polyhedron 1992, 11, 2973–2974.
- 116. Fedin, V. P.; Sokolov, M. N.; Virovets, A. V.; Podeberezskaya, N. V.; Fedorov, V. E. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1998, 269, 292–296.

- 117. Varey, J. E.; Sykes, A. G. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1993, 3293-3297.
- 118. Shibahara, T.; Yamasaki, M.; Watase, T.; Ichimura, A. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 292-301.
- 119. McLean, I. J.; Hernández-Molina, R.; Sokolov, M. N.; Seo, M. S.; Virovets, A. V.; Elsegood, M. R. J.; Clegg, W.; Sykes, A. G. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1998, 2557-2562.
- 120. Richens, D. T.; Pittet, P.-A.; Merbach, A. E.; Humanes, M.; Lamprecht, G. J.; Ooi, B.-L.; Sykes, A. G. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton Trans 1993, 2305-2311.
- 121. Richens, D. T. The chemistry of aqua-ions 1997, J. Wiley & Sons: Chichester, pp 302-304.
- 122. Maeyama, M.; Sakane, G.; Pierattelli, R.; Bertini, I.; Shibahara, T. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 2111-2119.
- 123. Sokolov, M. N.; Virovets, A. V.; Dybtsev, D. N.; Gerasko, O. A.; Fedin, V. P.; Hernández-Molina, R.; Clegg, W.; Sykes A. G. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2000, 39, 1659-1661.
- 124. Fedin, V. P.; Virovets, A. V.; Sokolov, M. N.; Dybtsev, D. N.; Gerasko, O. A.; Clegg, W. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 40, 2227-2230.
- 125. Dybtsev, D. N.; Gerasko, O. A.; Virovets, A. V.; Sokolov, M. N.; Fedin, V. P. Inorg. Chem. Comm. 2000, 3, 345-349.
- 126. Brorson, M.; Hazell, A.; Jacobsen, J. H.; Schmidt, I.; Villadsen, J. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 1346-1350.
- 127. Fedin, V. P.; Sokolov, M. N.; Virovets, A. V.; Podbererzskaya, N. V.; Fedorov, V. Y. Polyhedron 1992, 11, 853-855. 128. Cotton, F. A. Polyhedron 1986, 5, 3-14.
- 129. Hernández-Molina, R.; Sokolov, M.; Clegg, W.; Esparza, P.; Mederos, A. Inorg. Chim. Acta 2002, in press.
- 130. Sokolov, M. N.; Fedin, V. P.; Müller, A.; Hegetschweiler, K.; Amrein, W.; Fedorov, V. E. Zh. Neorg. Khim. 1993, 38, 891-897.
- 131. Shibahara, T.; Yoshida, Sh.; Maeyama, M.; Kojima, M. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1999, 72, 2271–2275.
- 132. Shibahara, T.; Akashi, H.; Nagahata, Sh.; Hattori, H.; Kuroya, H. Inorg. Chem. 1989, 28, 362-370.
- 133. Shibahara, T.; Miyake, H.; Kobayashi, K.; Kuroya, H. Chem. Lett. 1986, 139-142.
- 134. Yamasaki, M.; Shibahara, T. Anal. Sci. 1992, 8, 727-729.
- 135. Kobayashi, H.; Shibahara, T.; Uryu, N. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1990, 63, 799-802.
- Shibahara, T.; Takeuchi, A.; Nakajima, M.; Kuroya, H. *Inorg. Chim. Acta* 1988, 143, 147–148.
 Shibahara, T.; Takeuchi, A.; Kunimoto, T.; Kuroya, H. *Chem. Lett.* 1987, 867–870.
- 138. Shibahara, T.; Takeuchi, A.; Kuroya, H. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1987, 127, L39-L40.
- 139. Yu, Sh.-B.; Droege, M.; Segal, B.; Downey, Sh.; Sanderson, T.; Fellmann, J.; Watson, A. Inorg. Chim. Acta, 1997, 263, 61-67.
- 140. Yu, Sh.-B.; Droege, M.; Dawney, Sh.; Segal, B.; Newcomb, W.; Sanderson, T.; Croufts, Sh.; Suravajjala, S.; Bacon, E.; Earley, W.; Delecki, D.; Watson, A. D. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 39, 1576-1581.
- 141. Yu, Sh.-B.; Droege, M.; Segal, B.; Kim, S.-H.; Sanderson, T.; Watson, A. D. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 1325–1328.
- 142. Hegetschweiler, K.; Worle, M.; Meienberger, M. D.; Nesper, R.; Schmalle, H. W.; Hancock, R. D. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1996, 250, 35-47.
- 143. Cotton, F. A.; Dori, Z.; Llusar, R.; Schwotzer, W. Inorg. Chem. 1986, 25, 3654-3658.
- 144. Shibahara, T.; Kurimoto, N.; Kiyoda, S.; Kobayashi, Y.; Sakane, G. J. Cluster Sci. 2000, 11, 333-341.
- 145. Cotton, F. A.; Llusar, R.; Schwotzer, W. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1989, 155, 231-236.
- 146. Mizutani, J.; Imoto, H.; Saito, T. Chem. Lett. 1994, 2117-2118.
- 147. Mizutani, J.; Yajima, S.; Omoto, H.; Saito, T. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1998, 71, 631-636.
- 148. Shibahara, T.; Yamada, T.; Kuroya, H.; Hills, E. F.; Kathirgamanathan, P.; Sykes, A. G. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1986, 113, L19-L22.
- 149. Müller, A.; Fedin, V. P.; Kuhlmann, C.; Fenske, H.-D.; Baum, G.; Bögge, H.; Hauptfleisch, B. Chem. Comm., 1999, 1189-1190.
- 150. Fedorov, V. E.; Müller, A.; Fedin, V. P.; Sokolov, M. N. Zh. Neorg. Khim. 1994, 39, 1663-1667.
- 151. Halbert, T. R.; McGauley, K.; Pan, W.-H.; Czernuczewicz, R. S.; Stiefel, E. I. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1984, 106, 1849-1851.
- 152. Fedin, V. P.; Sokolov, M. N.; Kibirev, O. S.; Virovets, A. V.; Podberezskaya, N. V.; Fedorov, V. E. Zh. Neorg. Khim. **1991**, 36, 3089–3095.
- 153. Lin, X.; Lin, Y.; Huang, J.; Huang, J. Kexue Tongbao 1987, 32, 810-814.
- 154. Wu, X.-T.; Wang, Q.-M.; Zhan, H.-Q.; Du, S.-W.; Zheng, Y.-F. Chinese J. Struct. Chem. (Jiegou Huaxue) 1996, 15. 1-7.
- 155. Huang, M.; Lu, S.; Huang, J.; Huang, J. Acta Chim. Sin. 1989, 47, 121-127.
- 156. Lu, S.; Sheng, M.; Huang, J.; Lu, J. J. Sci. Sin., Ser. B. 1988, 31, 147-160.
- 157. Huang, M.; Lu, S.; Huang, J.; Huang, J. Acta Phis. Chim. Sin. 1988, 4, 611-616.
- 158. Lu, S.; Huang, M.; Huang, J.; Huang, J.; Lu, J. Sci. China, Ser. B 1989, 32, 139-147.
- 159. Lu, S.; Huang, J.; Lin, Y.; Huang, J. J. Chinese J. Struct. Chem. (Jiegou Huaxue) 1987, 6, 154-159.
- 160. Lin, X.-T.; Shang, M.-Y.; Huang, J.-L. Chinese J. Struct. Chem. (Jiegou Huaxue) 1993, 12, 155-159.
- 161. Lin, X.; Lin, Y.; Huang, J.; Huang, J. Youji Huaxue (J. Org. Chem.) 1985, 4, 326-328.
- 162. Lu, S.; Huang, J.; Huang, M.; Huang, J. Acta Chim. Sin. 1989, 24-36.
- 163. Hu, J.; Zhuang, H.; Huang, J.; Huang, J. Chinese J. Struct. Chem. (Jiegou Huaxue) 1989, 8, 6-9.
- 164. Wu, L.; Xia, J.; Chen, C.; Huang, X.; Yao, Y.; Lu, J. Polyhedron 1998, 17, 4203-4212.
- 165. Zheng, Y.; Zhan, H.; Wu, X. Acta Crystallogr. 1989, C45, 1424-1426.
- 166. Hernández-Molina, R.; Sokolov, M.; Núñez, P.; Mederos, A. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton Trans. 2002, in press.
- 167. Lu, S.-F.; Huang, J.-Q.; Huang, X.-Y.; Wu, Q.-J. Chinese J. Struct. Chem. (Jiegou Huaxue) 1995, 14, 482-487.
- 168. Lu, S.-F.; Huang, J.-Q.; Huang, Z.-X.; Zhang, B.; Huang, J.-L. Chin. J. Chem. (Huaxue Xuebao) 1992, 10, 500-507.
- 169. Lu, S.-F.; Huang, M.-D.; Huang, J.-Q.; Huang, J.-L.; Lu, J.-X. Sci. China, Ser. B 1989, 32, 139-147.
- 170. Lu, S.-F.; Huang, M.-D.; Huang, J.-Q.; Huang, Z.-X.; Huang, J.-L. Acta Crystallogr. 1990, C46, 2036–2039.
- 171. Hu, J.; Zhuang, H.-H.; Liu, S.-X.; Huang, J.-L. Transition Met. Chem. 1998, 23, 547-552.
- 172. Yao, Y.; Akashi, H.; Sakane, G.; Shibahara, T.; Ohtaki, H. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 42-48.
- 173. Huang, J.-Q.; Huang, J.-L.; Shang, M.-Y.; Lu, S.-F.; Lin, X.-T.; Lin, Y.-H.; Huang, M.-D.; Zhuang, H.-H.; Lu, J.-X. Pure & Appl. Chem. 1988, 60, 1185-1192.

- 174. Wang, Z.-M.; Zhang, B.; Wen, H.; Huang, J.-Q.; Huang, J.-L. Chinese J. Struct. Chem. (Jiegou Huaxue) 1992, 11, 253–258.
- 175. Wang, Z.-M.; Zhang, B.; Wen, H.; Huang, J.-Q.; Huang, J.-L. Chinese J. Struct. Chem. (Jiegou Huaxue) 1992, 11, 127–129.
- 176. Lu, S.-F.; Huang, J.-Q.; Huang, X.-Y.; Wu, Q.-J. Chin. J. Chem. (Huaxue Xuebao) 1997, 15, 296-300.
- 177. Keck, H.; Kuchen, W.; Mathow, J.; Wunderlich, H. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1982, 21, 929-931.
- 178. Diller, H.; Keck, H.; Kuchen, W.; Wunderlich, H. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1994, 216, 177-183.
- 179. Fedin, V. P.; Sokolov, M. N.; Gerasko, O. A.; Virovets, A. V.; Podeberezskaya, N. V.; Fedorov, V. Y. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1991, 187, 81–90.
- 180. Lin, X.; Chen, H.-Y.; Chi, L.-S.; Lu, C.-Z.; Zhuang, H.-H. Polyhedron 2000, 19, 925-929.
- 181. Saito, T.; Yamamoto, N.; Yamagata, T.; Imoto, H. Chem. Lett. 1987, 2025-2028.
- 182. Cotton, F. A.; Kibala, P. A.; Miertschin, C. S. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 548-553.
- 183. Cotton, F. A.; Kibala, P. A.; Matusz, M.; McCaleb, Ch. S.; Sandor, R. B. W. Inorg. Chem. 1989, 28, 2623–2630.
- 184. Sasaki, M.; Sakane, G.; Ouchi, T.; Shibahara, T. J. Cluster Sci. 1998, 9, 25-43.
- 185. Fedin, V. P.; Sokolov, M. N.; Mironov, Y. V.; Kolesov, B. A.; Tkachev, S. V.; Fedorov, V. E. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1990, 167, 39–45.
- 186. Estevan, F.; Felix, M.; Llusar, R.; Mata, J. A.; Uriel, S. Polyhedron 2001, 20, 527-535.
- 187. Xia, J.-B.; Yao, Y.-G.; Wu, L.; Huang, X.-Y.; Lu, J.-X. Acta Crystallogr. 1998, C54, 1612–1615.
- 188. Cotton, F. A.; Llusar, R. Polyhedron 1987, 6, 1741-1745.
- 189. Cotton, F. A.; Llusar, R. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 27, 1303-1305.
- 190. Cotton, F. A.; Llusar, R.; Eagle, C. T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989, 111, 4332-4338.
- 191. Cotton, F. A.; Mandal, S. K. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1992, 192, 71-79.
- 192. Cotton, F. A.; Mandal, S. K.; Shang, M. J. Cluster Sci. 1990, 1, 287-293.
- 193. Mizutani, J.; Imoto, H.; Saito, T. J. Cluster. Sci. 1995, 6, 523-532.
- 194. Müller, A.; Reinsch, U. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1980, 19, 72-73.
- 195. Müller, A.; Jostes, R.; Eltzner, W.; Nie, C. S.; Diemann, E.; Bögge, H.; Zimmermann, M.; Dartmann, M.; Reinsch-Vogell, U.; Che, S.; Cyvin, S. J.; Cyvin, B. N. Inorg. Chem. 1985, 24, 2872–2884.
- Howlander, N. C.; Haight, G. P., Jr.; Hambley, T. W.; Lawrance, G. A.; Rahmoeller, K. M.; Snow, M. R. Aust. J. Chem., 1983, 36, 377–383.
 Fedin, V. P.; Lamprecht, G. J.; Kohzuma, T.; Clegg, W.; Elsegood, M. R. J.; Sykes, A. G. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton
- 197. Fedin, V. P.; Lamprecht, G. J.; Kohzuma, T.; Clegg, W.; Elsegood, M. R. J.; Sykes, A. G. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1997, 1747–1751.
- 198. Rink, B.; Brorson, M.; Scowen, I. J. Organometallics 1999, 18, 2309-2313.
- 199. Herbst, K.; Monari, M.; Brorson, M. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 2979-2985.
- 200. Beck, W.; Danzer, W.; Thiel, G. Angew. Chem., Ent. Ed. Engl. 1973, 85, 625-626.
- 201. Cramer, R. E.; Yamada, K. I.; Kawaguchi, H.; Tatsumi, K. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 1743.
- 202. Marcoll, J.; Rabenau, A.; Mootz, D.; Wunderlich, H. Rev. Chem. Miner. 1974, 11, 607-615.
- 203. Fedin, V. P.; Imoto, H.; Saito, T. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Comm. 1995, 1559-1560.
- Virovets, A. V.; Slovokhotov, Yu. L.; Struchkov, Yu. T.; Fedorov, V. Ye.; Naumov, N. G.; Geras'ko, O. A.; Fedin, V. P. *Koord. Khim.* 1990, 16, 332–338.
- 205. Myakishev, K. G.; Sokolov, M. N.; Fedin, V. P.; Voronina, G. S.; Volkov, V. V. Zh. Neorg. Khim. 1999, 44, 233–236. 206. Fedin, V. P.; Müller, A.; Filipek, K.; Rohlfing, R.; Bögge, H.; Virovets, A. V.; Dziegielewski, J. O. Inorg. Chim. Acta,
- **1994**, 223, 5–7.
- 207. Müller, A.; Krickemeyer, E. Inorg. Synth. 1990, 27, 47-51.
- 208. Fedin, V. P.; Gerasko, O. A.; Mironov, Yu. V.; Fedorov, V. E. Zh. Neorg. Khim. 1988, 33, 2846-2849.
- 209. Fedin, V. P.; Mironov, Yu. V.; Fedorov, V. E. Zh. Neorg. Khim., 1989, 34, 2984-2987.
- 210. Virovets, A. V.; Laege, M.; Krebs, B.; Gerasko, O. A.; Fedorov, V. E.; Shishkin, O. V.; Struchkov, Yu. T. J. Struct. Chem. Engl. Tr. 1996, 37, 666–673.
- 211. Zimmermann, H.; Hegetschweiler, K.; Keller, T.; Gramlich, V.; Schmalle, H. W.; Walter, P.; Schneider, W. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 4336–4341.
- 212. Virovets, A. V.; Sokolov, M. N.; Kalinina, I. V.; Podberezskaya, N. V. Zh. Struct. Khim. 1999, 40, 57-61.
- 213. Lu, S.; Shang, M.; Huang, J. Chinese J. Struct. Chem. (Jiegou Huaxue) 1984, 3, 9-12.
- 214. Huang, J.; Shang, M.; Huang, J.; Zhuang, H.; Lu, S.; Lu, J. Chinese J. Struct. Chem. (Jiegou Huaxue) 1982 1, 1–13.
- 215. Klingelhofer, P.; Müller, U.; Friebel, C.; Pebler, J. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1986, 543, 22-34.
- Fedorov, V. E.; Gerasko, O. A.; Mironov, Y. V.; Hegetschwieler, K.; Stoop, R.; Gallus, J.; Gramlih, F. J. Struct. Chem. Engl. Tr. 1995, 36, 956–978.
- 217. Fedin, V. P.; Sokolov, M. N.; Fedorov, V. Ye.; Yufit, D. S.; Struchkov, Yu. T. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1991, 179, 35-40.
- 218. Fedin, V. P.; Mironov, Y. V.; Virovets, A. V.; Podberezskaya, N. V.; Fedorov, V. Y. Polyhedron 1992, 11, 2083–2088.
- 219. Sokolov, M. N.; Yarovoi, S. S.; Fedin, V. P.; Fedorov, V. E. Zh. Neorg. Khim. 1996, 41, 1862-1866.
- 220. Fedin, V. P.; Sokolov, M. N.; Gerasko, O. A.; Virovets, A. V.; Podberezskaya, N. V.; Fedorov, V. Y. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1992, 192, 153–156.
- 221. Fedin, V. P.; Müller, A.; Bögge, H.; Armatage, A.; Sokolov, M. N.; Yarovoi, S. S.; Fedorov, V. E. Zh. Neorg. Khim 1993, 38, 1677–1682.
- 222. Lu, C.; Tong, W.; Zhuang, H.; Wu, D. Chinese J. Struct. Chem. (Jiegou Huaxue), 1993, 12, 124-128.
- 223. Fedin, V. P.; Sokolov, M. N.; Virovets, A. V.; Podberezskaya, N. V.; Fedorov, V. Y. Inorg. Chim. Acta. 1992, 194, 195–200.
- 224. Zhu, H.; Chen, C.; Liu, Q.; Chen, J. Acta Crystallogr. 1998, C54, 1273-1275.
- 225. Mayor-López, M. J.; Weber, J.; Hegetschweiler, K.; Meienberger, M.; Joho, F.; Leoni, S.; Nesper, R.; Reiss, G. J.; Frank, W.; Kolesov, B. A.; Fedin, V. P.; Fedorov, V. E. *Inorg. Chem.* **1998**, *37*, 2633–2644.
- 226. Meienberger, M. D.; Hegetschweiler, K.; Ruegger, H.; Gramlich, V. Inorg. Chim. Acta. 1993, 213, 157-169.
- 227. Volkov, O. V.; Polyanskaya, T. M.; Il'inchik, E. A.; Volkov, V. V.; Myakishev, K. G.; Kolesov, B. A. Zh. Obshch. Khim. 1999, 69, 607-610.
- 228. Lu, S.; Huang, J.; Chen, H.; Wu, Q. Huaxue Xuebao (Acta Chim. Sinica)(Chin.) 1993, 51, 885-896.
- 229. Zhu, H.; Liu, Q.; Chen, C.; Deng, Y. Chinese J. Struct. Chem. (Jiegou Huaxue) 1998, 17, 142-146.

- 230. Lin, X.; Lu, J.; Huang, J.; Huang, J. Chinese J. Struct. Chem. (Jiegou Huaxue) 1990, 9, 236-241.
- 231. Yu, R.; Lu, S.; Huang, X.; Wu, Q.; Huang, J. Chinese J. Struct. Chem. (Jiegou Huaxue), 1998, 17, 137-141.
- 232. Keck, H.; Kuchen, W.; Mathow, J.; Meyer, B.; Mootz, D.; Wunderlich, H. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1981, 20, 975–976.
- 233. Borgs, G.; Keck, H.; Kuchen, W.; Mootz, D.; Wiskemann, R.; Wunderlich, H. Z. Naturforsch. 1991, B46, 1525–1531.
- 234. Bereau, V.; Pernin, C. G.; Ibers, J. A. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 854-856.
- 235. Lu, S.; Wu, Q.; Chen, H.; Yu, R.; Huang, J. Chinese J. Struct. Chem. (Jiegou Huaxue) 1994, 13, 389-396.
- 236. Hegetschweiler, K.; Keller, T.; Amrein, W.; Schneider, W. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 873–876.
- 237. Hegetschweiler, K.; Keller, T.; Baumle, M.; Rihs, G.; Schneider, W. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 4342-4347.
- 238. Fischer, B.; Dubler, E.; Meienberger, M.; Hegetschweiler, K. Inorg. Chim. Acta. 1998, 279, 136-143.
- 239. Fedin, V. P.; Kolesov, B. A.; Mironov, Y. V.; Fedorov, V. Y. Polyhedron 1989, 8, 2419-2423.
- 240. Müller, A.; Wittneben, V.; Krickemeyer, E.; Bögge, H.; Lenke, M. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1991, 605, 175-188.
- 241. Müller, A.; Fedin, V.; Hegetschweiler, K.; Amrein, W. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1992, 1795-1797.
- 242. Fedin, V.; Sokolov, M.; Mykishev, K.; Gerasko, O.; Fedorov, V.; Macicek, Y. Polyhedron 1991, 10, 1311–1317.
- 243. Gerasko, O. A.; Virovets, A. V.; Dybtsev, D. N.; Clegg, W.; Fedin, V. P. Koord. Khim. 2000, 26, 512-515.
- 244. Fedin, V. P.; Sokolov, M. N.; Gerasko, O. A.; Virovets, A. V.; Podberezskaya, N. V.; Fedorov, V. Y. Polyhedron 1992, 11, 3159–3161.
- 245. Almond, M. J.; Drew, M. G. B.; Redman, H.; Rice, D. A. Polyhedron 2000, 19, 2127-2133.
- 246. Bereau, V.; Ibers, J. Comp. Rend. Ser.II C (Chim) 2000, 3, 123-129.
- 247. Liao, J.-H.; Li, J.; Kanatzidis, M. G. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 2658-2670.
- 248. Liao, J.-H.; Kanatzidis, M. G. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 431-439.
- 249. Liao, J.-H.; Kantatzidis, M. G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 7400-7402.
- 250. Guo, G.-C.; Mak, T. C. W. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans 1997, 709-710.
- 251. Fedin, V. P.; Imoto, H.; Saito, T.; McFarlane, W.; Sykes, A. G. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 5097-5098.
- 252. Pervukhina, N. V.; Podberezskaya, N. V.; Kalinina, I. V.; Fedin, V. P. Zh. Struct. Khim. 2000, 41, 1027-1035.
- 253. Lin, X.; Chen, H.-Y.; Chi, L.-S.; Zhuang, H.-H. Polyhedron 1999, 18, 217–223.
- 254. Shang, M.; Huang, J.; Lu, J. Chinese J. Struct. Chem. (Jiegou Huaxue), 1984, 3, 17-20.
- 255. Feng, Y.; Lu, S.-F.; Fan, H.-J.; Wu, Q.-J.; Yu, R.-M.; Huang, J.-Q. Polyhedron 2000, 19, 733–738.
- 256. Li, J.; Chen, Z.; Emge, T. J.; Proserpio, D. M. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 1437-1442.
- 257. Fedin, V. P.; Mironov, Y. V.; Sokolov, M. N.; Kolesov, B. A.; Fedorov, V. Y.; Yufit, D. S.; Struchkov, Y. T. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1990, 174, 275–282.
- 258. Fedin, V. P.; Sokolov, M. N.; Virovets, A. V.; Podberezskaya, N. V.; Fedorov, V. Y. Polyhedron 1992, 11, 2395–2398.
- 259. Fedin, V. P.; Sokolov, M. N.; Mironov, Y. V.; Virovets, A. V.; Podberezskaya, N. V.; Fedorov, V. E. Zh. Neorg. Khim. 1992, 37, 2205–2214.
- 260. Tsuge, K.; Imoto, H.; Saito, T. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 3404-3409.
- 261. Jiang, Y.; Tang, A.; Hoffmann, R.; Huang, J.; Lu, J. Organometallics 1985, 4, 27-34.
- 262. Shaofang, L.; Lin, Y.; Huang, J.; Lu, J.; Huang, J. Chinese J. Struct. Chem. (Jiegou Huaxue) 1984, 3, 147.
- 263. Cotton, F. A.; Diebold, M. P.; Dori, Z.; Llusar, R.; Schwotzer, W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1985, 107, 6735-6736.
- 264. Shibahara, T.; Yamamoto, T.; Kanadani, H.; Kuroya, H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 3495–3496.
- 265. Ooi, B.-L.; Sharp, C.; Sykes, A. G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989, 111, 125-130.
- 266. Shibahara, T.; Kuroya, H.; Akashi, H.; Matsumoto, K.; Ooi, S. Inorg. Chim. Acta. 1993, 212, 251-263.
- 267. McFarlane, N.; Nasreldin, M.; Saysell, D. M.; Jia, Z.-S.; Clegg, W.; Elsegood, M. R. J.; Murray, K. S.; Moubaraki, B.; Sykes, A. G. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1996, 363–369.
- 268. Hong, M.-C.; Li, Y.-J.; Lu, J.; Nasreldin, M.; Sykes, A. G. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1993, 2613–2619.
- 269. Akashi, H.; Shibahara, T.; Narahara, T.; Tsuru, H.; Kuroya, H. Chem. Lett. 1989, 129-132.
- 270. Sokolov, M. N.; Dybtsev, D. N.; Virovets, A. V.; Fedin, V. P.; Esparza, P.; Hernández-Molina, R.; Fenske, D.; Sykes, A. G. Inorg.Chem. 2002, 41.
- 271. Li, Y.-L.; Nasreldin, M.; Humanes, M.; Sykes, A. G. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 3011-3017.
- 272. Cotton, F. A.; Dori, Z.; Llusar, R.; Schwotzer, W. Inorg. Chem, 1986, 25, 3529-3533.
- 273. Lu, S.-F.; Huang, J.-Q.; Zhuang, H.-H.; Li, J.-Q.; Wu, D.-M.; Huang, Z.-X.; Lu, C.-Z.; Huang, J.-L.; Lu, J.-X. Polyhedron, 1991, 10, 2203–2215.
- 274. Coyle, C. L.; Eriksen, K. A.; Farina, S.; Francis, J.; Gea, Y.; Greaney, M. A.; Guzi, P. J.; Halbert, T. R.; Murray, H. H.; Stiefel, E. I. *Inorg. Chim. Acta* 1992, 198, 565–575.
- 275. Zhuang, H.-H.; Wu, D.-M.; Huang, J.-Q.; Huang, J.-L. Chin. Chem. Lett. 1991, 2, 553-554.
- 276. Lu, S.; Huang, J.; Huang, Z.; Wu, Q.; Chen, W.; Lu, G.; Sun, Q.; Huang, J. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1990, 176, 35-42.
- 277. Keck, H.; Kruse, A.; Kuchen, W.; Mathow, J.; Wunderlich, H. Z. Naturforsch. 1987, B42, 1373-1378.
- 278. Deeg, A.; Keck, H.; Kruse, A.; Kuchen, W.; Wunderlich, H. Z. Naturforsch. 1988, B43, 1541-1546.
- 279. Mootz, D.; Wiskemann, R.; Wunderlich, H. Z. Kryst. Suppl. Issue. 1991, N3, 204.
- 280. Mak, T. C. W.; Jasim, K. S.; Chieh, Ch. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1984, 23, 391-392.
- 281. Fedin, V. P.; Kalinina, I. V.; Samsonenko, D. G.; Mironov, Y. V.; Sokolov, M. N.; Tkachev, S. V.; Virovets, A. V.; Podberezskaya, N. V.; Sykes, A. G. *Inorg. Chem.* **1999**, *38*, 1956–1965.
- 282. Fedin, V. P.; Virovets, A. V.; Kalinina, I. V.; Ikorskii, V. N.; Elsegood, M. R. J.; Clegg, W. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 2341–2343.
- 283. Fedin, V. P.; Kalinina, I. V.; Virovets, A. V.; Fenske, D. Izv. AN. Ser. Khim. 2001, 1451-1454.
- 284. Fedin, V. P.; Virovets, A. V.; Samsonenko, D. G.; Kalinina, I. V.; Naumov, D. Y. Izv. AN. Ser. Khim. 2001, 18-24.
- 285. Elsegood, M. R. J.; Virovets, A. V.; Samsonenko, D. G.; Kalinina, I. V.; Fedin, V. P. Zh. Struct. Chem. 2000, 4, 1290–1293.
- 286. Bandy, J. A.; Davies, C. E.; Green, J. C.; Green, M. L. H.; Prout, K.; Rodgers, D. P. S. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun, 1983, 1395–1397.
- 287. Williams, P. D.; Curtis, M. D. Inorg. Chem. 1986, 25, 4562-4570.
- 288. Perrin, C.; Chevrel, R.; Sergent, M. Compt. Rend. 1975, 280, 949-951.
- 289. Vandenberg, J. M.; Brasen, D. J. Solid State Chem. 1975, 14, 203-208.

- 290. Perrin, C.; Chevrel, R.; Sergent, M. Compt. Rend. 1975, 281, 23-25.
- 291. LeBeuze, A.; Zerrouki, M. C.; Loirat, H.; Lissillour, R. J. Alloys Compd. 1992, 190, 1-11.
- 292. Edelblut, A. W.; Folting, K.; Huffman, J. C.; Wentworth, R. A. D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1981, 103, 1927-1931.
- 293. Wall, K. L.; Folting, K.; Huffman, J. C.; Wentworth, R. A. D. Inorg. Chem. 1983, 22, 2366-2371.
- 294. Noble, M. E.; Folting, K.; Huffman, J. C.; Wentworth, R. A. D. Inorg. Chem. 1983, 22, 3671-3676.
- 295. Noble, M. E.; Huffman, J. C.; Wentworth, R. A. D. Inorg. Chem. 1983, 22, 1756-1760.
- 296. Sampson, M. L.; Richardson, J. E.; Noble, M. E. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 2726-2730.
- 297. Wood, P. T.; Pennington, W. T.; Kolis, J. W.; Wu, B.; O'Connor, C. J. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 129-130.
- 298. Müller, A.; Eltzner, W.; Clegg, W.; Sheldrick, G. M. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1982, 21, 536-537.
- 299. Müller, A.; Eltzner, W.; Bögge, H.; Sarkar, S. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1982, 21, 535-536.
- 300. Tsuge, K.; Imoto, H.; Saito, T. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 4715-4716.
- 301. Kuwata, S.; Mizobe, Y.; Hidai, M. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1997, 1753-1758.
- 302. Tsuge, K.; Mita, S.; Fujita, H.; Imoto, H.; Saito, T. J. Cluster Sci., 1996, 7, 407-421.
- 303. Hernández-Molina, R.; Edwards, A. J.; Clegg, W.; Sykes, A. G. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 4231-4234.
- 304. Routledge, C. A.; Humanes, M.; Li, Y.-L.; Sykes, A. G. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton Trans. 1994, 1275–1282.
- 305. Sokolov, M. N.; Villagra, D.; El-Hendawy, A. M.; Kwak, C.-H.; Elsegood, M. R. J.; Clegg, W.; Sykes, A. G. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans., 2001, 2611-2615.
- 306. Shibahara, T.; Akashi, H.; Kuroya, H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108, 1342-1343.
- 307. Dimmock, P. W.; Dickson, D. P. E.; Sykes, A. G. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 5120-5125.
- 308. Shibahara, T.; Sakane, G.; Naruse, Y.; Taya, K.; Akashi, H.; Ichimura, A.; Adachi, H. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn., 1995, 68, 2769-2782
- 309. Sykes, A. G.; Dimmock, P. W. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1990, 3101-3106.
- 310. Hernández-Molina, R.; Sykes, A. G. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1999, 187, 291-302.
- 311. Saysell, D. M.; Borman, C. D.; Kwak, C.-H.; Sykes, A. G. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 173-178.
- 312. Akashi, H.; Uryu, N.; Shibahara, T. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1997, 261, 53-57.
- 313. Curtis, M. D.; Riaz, U.; Curnow, O. J.; Kampf, J. W.; Rheingold, A. L.; Haggerty, B. S. Organometallics, 1995, 14, 5337-5343.
- 314. Herbst, K.; Monari, M.; Brorson, M. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 2979-2985.
- Shibahara, T.; Akashi, H.; Yamasaki, M.; Hashimoto, K. Chem. Lett. 1991, 689–692.
 Dimmock, P. W.; Saysell, D. M.; Sykes, A. G. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1994, 225, 157–162.
 Akashi, H.; Shibahara, T. Abstracts to the 30th ICCC, Kyoto, Japan, 1994, p. 175.
- 318. Akashi, H.; Nakano, A.; Shibaraha, T. XVII IUCr Congress; Glasgow, UK, 1999, abstract P07.07.041.
- 319. Shibahara, T.; Yamasaki, M.; Akashi, H.; Katayama, T. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 2693-2699.
- 320. Dimmock, P. W.; Lamprecht, G. J.; Sykes, A. G. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1991, 955-960.
- 321. Schmidt, I.; Hyldtoft, J.; Hjortkjær, J.; Jacobsen, C. J. H. Acta Chem. Scand. 1996, 50, 871-874.
- 322. Shibahara, T.; Sakane, G.; Maeyama, M.; Kobashi, H.; Yamamoto, T.; Watase, T. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1996, 251, 207-225
- 323. Fedin, V. P.; Gramlich, V.; Wörle, M.; Weber, T. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 1074-1077.
- 324. Masai, D.; Ishii, Y.; Hidai, M. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 2000, 73, 931-938.
- 325. Shibahara, T.; Mochida, S.; Sakane, G. Chem. Lett. 1993, 89-92.
- 326. Saito, T.; Kajitani, Y.; Yamagata, T.; Imoto, H. Inorg. Chem., 1990, 29, 2951-2955.
- 327. Taniguchi, M.; Imamura, D.; Ishige, H.; Ishii, Y.; Murata, T.; Hidai, M.; Tatsumi, T. J. Catal. 1999, 187, 139-150.
- 328. Taniguchi, M.; Ishii, Y.; Murata, T.; Tatsumi, T.; Hidai, M. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Comm. 1995, 2533-2534.
- 329. Murata, T.; Mizobe, Y.; Gao, H.; Ishii, Y.; Wakabayashi, T.; Nakano, F.; Tanase, T.; Yano, S.; Hidai, M.; Echizen, I.; Nanikawa, H.; Motomura, S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 3389-3398.
- 330. Fedin, V. P.; Seo, M.-S.; Saysell, D. M.; Dybtsev, D. N.; Elsegood, M. R. J.; Clegg, W.; Sykes, A. G. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 2002, 138-143.
- 331. Dybtsev, D. N.; Gerasko, O. A.; Virovets, A. V.; Sokolov, M. N.; Weber, T.; Fedin, V. P. Zh. Neorg. Khim., 2001, 46908-914.
- 332. Sokolov, M. N.; Dybtsev, D. N.; Virovets, A. V.; Hegetschweiler, K.; Fedin, V. P. Russian Chem. Bull, 2000, 491906-1910.
- 333. Saysell, D. M.; Lamprecht, G. J.; Darkwa, J.; Sykes, A. G. Inorg. Chem 1996, 35, 5531–5535.
- 334. Sokolov, M. N.; Virovets, A. V.; Dybtsev, D. N.; Chubarova, E. V.; Fedin, V. P.; Fenske, D. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 4816-4817.
- 335. Shibahara, T.; Akashi, H.; Kuroya, H. J. Am. Chem. Soc, 1988, 110, 3313-3314.
- 336. Nasreldin, M.; Li, Y.-J.; Mabbs, F. E.; Sykes, A. G. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 4283-4284.
- 337. Akashi, H.; Shibahara, T. Inorg. Chim. Acta 2000, 300-302, 572-580.
- 338. Nasreldin, M.; Routledge, C.; Sykes, A. G. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1994, 2809-2814.
- 339. Akashi, H.; Shibahara, T. Inorg. Chim. Acta, 1998, 282, 50-54.
- 340. Feliz, M.; Garriga, J. M.; Llusar, R.; Uriel, S.; Humphrey, M.; Lucas, N. T.; Samoc, M.; Luther-Davies, B. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 6132-6138.
- 341. Llusar, R.; Uriel, S.; Vicent, C. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 2001, 2813-2818.
- 342. Wu, X.; Lu, S.; Zu, L.; Wu, Q.; Lu, J. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1987, 133, 39-42.
- 343. Lu, S.; Zhu, N.; Wu, X.; Wu, Q.; Lu, J. J. Mol. Struct. 1989, 197, 15-31.
- 344. Wu, X.; Zheng, Y.; Zhu, N.; Lu, J. Chinese J. Struct. Chem. (Jiegou Huaxue) 1988, 7, 137-139.
- 345. Zheng, Y.; Zhan, H.; Wu, X. Acta Crystallogr. 1989, C45, 1990-1992.
- 346. Zhan, H.; Zheng, Y.; Wu, X.; Lu, J. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1989, 156, 277-280.
- 347. Lu, S.-F.; Huang, J.-Q.; Chen, Z.-D.; Wu, Q.-J.; Chen, W.-Z.; Huang, X.-Y.; Huang, Z.-X.; Huang, J.-L.; Lu, J.-X. J. Cluster Sci., 1992, 3, 179-185.
- 348. Lu, S.-F.; Chen, H.-B.; Huang, J.-Q.; Wu, Q.-J.; Sun, Q.-L.; Li, J.; Lu, J.-X. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1995, 232, 43-50.
- 349. Diller, H.; Keck, H.; Kuchen, W.; Mootz, D.; Wiskemann, R. Z. Naturforsch. 1993, B48, 291-296.
- 350. Diller, H.; Keck, H.; Wunderlich, H.; Kuchen, W. J. Organomet. Chem. 1995, 489, 123-127.
- 351. McLean, I. J.; Sokolov, M. N.; Hernández-Molina, R.; Sykes, A. G. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 2002, in press.

- 352. Sakane, G.; Kawasaki, H.; Yamasaki, H.; Adachi, H.; Shibahara, T. Chem. Lett. 1999, 631-632.
- 353. Sokolov, M. N.; Virovets, A. V.; Dybtsev, D. N.; Gerasko, O. A.; Fedin, V. P.; Hernández-Molina, R.; Clegg, W.; Sykes, A. G. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2000, 39, 1659-1661.
- 354. Fedin, V. P.; Sokolov, M. N.; Lamprecht, G. J.; Hernandez-Molina, R.; Seo, M.-S.; Virovets, A. V.; Clegg, W.; Sykes, A. G. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 6598-6603.
- 355. Hernández-Molina, R.; Fedin, V. P.; Sokolov, M. N.; Saysell, D. M.; Sykes, A. G. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 4328-4334.
- 356. Shibahara, T.; Kobayashi, S.; Tsuji, N.; Sakane, G.; Fukuhara, M. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 1702-1706.
- 357. Sakane, G.; Shibahara, T. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 777-778.
- 358. Fedin, V. P.; Sokolov, M. N.; Sykes, A. G. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1996, 4089-4092.
- 359. Hernández-Molina, R.; Dybtsev, D. N.; Fedin, V. P.; Elsegood, M. R. J.; Clegg, W.; Sykes, A. G. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 2995-3001.
- 360. Sakane, G.; Yao, Y.; Shibahara, T. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1994, 216, 13-14.
- 361. Varey, J. E.; Sykes, A. G. Polyhedron 1996, 15, 1887-1892.
- 362. Seo, M.-S.; Fedin, V. P.; Sokolov, M. N.; Hernández-Molina, R.; Sokolowski, A.; Elsegood, M. R. J.; Clegg, W.; Sykes, A. G. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 6115-6122.
- 363. Bahn, C. C.; Tan, A.; Harris, S. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 2770-2778.
- 364. Akashi, H.; Shibahara, T. Inorg. Chem. 1989, 28, 2906-2907.
- 365. Varey, J. E.; Lamprecht, G. J.; Fedin, V. P.; Holder, A.; Clegg, W.; Elsegood, M.; Sykes, A. G. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 5525-5530.
- 366. Müller, A.; Fedin, V. P.; Diemann, E.; Bögge, H.; Krickemeyer, E.; Sölter, D.; Guiliani, A. M.; Barbieri, R.; Adler, P. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 2243-2247.
- 367. Keck, H.; Kruse, A.; Kuchen, W.; Mootz, D.; Wiskemann, R.; Wunderlich, H. Z. Naturforsch. 1990, B45, 461-464.
- 368. Yu, R.-M.; Lu, S.-F.; Huang, J.-Q.; Huang, X.-Y.; Wu, Q.-J.; Wu, D.-X. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 5348–5353.
- 369. Huang, J.-Q.; Lu, S.-F.; Huang, X.-Y.; Wu, Q.-J.; Yu, R.-M. J. Cluster Sci. 1997, 8, 47-50.
- 370. Lu, S.-F.; Huang, J.-Q.; Yu, R.-M.; Huang, X.-Y.; Wu, Q.-Y.; Peng, Y.; Chen, J.; Huang, Z.-X.; Wu, D.-X. Polyhedron 2001, 20, 2339-2352.
- 371. Saysell, D. M.; Huang, Z.-X.; Sykes, A. G. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1996, 2623–2628.
- 372. Saysell, D. M.; Sykes, A. G. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 2700-2701.
- 373. Lu, S.-F.; Huang, J.-Q.; Wu, Q.-J.; Huang, X.-Y.; Yu, R.-M.; Zheng, Y.; Wu, D.-X. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1997, 261, 201-209.
- 374. Sakane, G.; Hashimoto, K.; Takohashi, M.; Takeda, M.; Shibahara, T. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 4231-4234.
- 375. Lu, S.-F.; Huang J.-Q.; Lin, Y.-H.; Huang, J.-L. Acta Chim. Sin. 1987, 3, 191-193.
- 376. Saysell, D. M.; Sykes, A. G. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 3536-3539.
- 377. Lu, S.-F.; Huang, J.-Q.; Wu, Q.-J.; Huang, X.-Y.; Wu, D.-X.; Zheng, Y.; Yu, R.-M. Polyhedron 1999, 18, 281–287. 378. Chevrel, R.; Sergent, M.; Prigent, J. J. Solid. State Chem. 1971, 3, 515-519.
- 379. Fischer, O.; Maple, M. B., Eds. Topics in Current Physics, Vol. 32: Superconductivity in Ternary Compounds I: Structural, Electronic, and Lattice Properties; Springer-verlag, New York, 1982.
- 380. Pena, O.; Sergent, M. Prog. Solid State Chem. 1989, 19, 165-281.
- 381. Mulhern, P. J.; Haering, R. R. Can. J. Phys. 1984, 62, 527-531.
- 382. McCarty, K. F.; Anderegg, J. W.; Schrader, G. L. J. Catal. 1985, 93, 375-387.
- Saito, T.; Yamamoto, N.; Yamagata, T.; Imoto, H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 110, 1646–1647.
 Saito, T.; Yamamoto, N.; Nagase, T.; Tsuboi, T.; Kobayashi, K.; Yamagata, T.; Imoto, H.; Unoura, K. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 764-770.
- 385. Hilsenbeck, S. J.; Young, V. G., Jr.; McCarley, R. E. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 1822-1832.
- 386. Mizutani, J.; Amari, S.; Imoto, H.; Saito, T. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1998, 819-825.
- 387. Amari, S.; Imoto, H.; Saito, T. Chem. Lett. 1997, 967-968.
- 388. Amari, S.; Imoto, H.; Saito, T. J. Chin. Chem. Soc. 1998, 45, 445-450.
- 389. Mironov, Y. V.; Virovets, A. V.; Naumov, N. G.; Ikorskii, V. N.; Fedorov, V. E. Chemistry. A European Journal 2000, 6, 1361-1365.
- 390. Magliocchi, C.; Xie, X.; Hughbanks, T. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 5000-5001.
- 391. Ebihara, M.; Toriumi, K.; Sasaki, Y.; Saito, K. Gazz. Chim. Ital. 1995, 125, 87-94.
- 392. Ebihara, M.; Imai, T.; Kawamura, T. Acta Crystallogr. 1995, C51, 1743-1745.
- 393. Zhang, X.; McCarley, R. E. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 2678-2683.
- 394. Ehrlich, G. M.; Warren, C. J.; Vennos, D. A.; Ho, D. M.; Haushalter, R. C.; DiSalvo, F. J. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 4454-4459.
- 395. Venkataraman, D.; Rayburn, L. L.; Hill, L. I.; Jin, S.; Malik, A.-S.; Turneau, K. J.; DiSalvo, F. J. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38, 828-830.
- 396. Saito, T.; Yoshikawa, A.; Yamagata, T.; Imoto, H.; Unoura, K. Inorg. Chem., 1989, 28, 3588-3592.
- 397. Jin, S.; DiSalvo, F. J. Chem. Comm. 2001, 1586-1587.
- 398. Jin, S.; Venkataraman, D.; DiSalvo, F. J. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 2747-2757.
- 399. Jin, S.; Zhou, R.; Scheuer, E. M.; Adamchuk, J.; Rayburn, L. L.; DiSalvo, F. J. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 2666-2674.
- 400. Xie, X.; McCarley, R. E. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 6124-6129.
- 401. Xie, X.; McCarley, R. E. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 4011-4016.
- 402. Xie, X.; McCarley, R. E. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 2713-2714.
- 403. Xie, X.; McCarley, R. E. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 4665-4675.
- 404. Mizutani, J.; Yamada, S.; Imoto, H.; Saito, T. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 244-247.
- 405. Tsuge, K.; Imoto, H.; Saito, T. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 4715-4716.

© 2003, Elsevier Ltd. All Rights Reserved

from the publishers

Comprehensive Coordination Chemistry II No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in any retrieval system or transmitted in any form or by any means electronic, electrostatic, magnetic tape, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise, without permission in writing

Volume 4, (ISBN 0-08-0443265); pp 761-823

ISBN (set): 0-08-0437486